
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2013-CFPB-0007 

In the Matter of: 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.; and 
Chase Bank USA, N.A. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (''CFPB"). through its staff, examined the 

affa irs of Respondents JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Chase Bank USA, N.A., (co llect ively. 

the "Bank" as defined be low) with regard to its bill ing and administrati on of Identity Protect ion 

Products (as de fined be low) and identifi ed violations of law. T he CFPB he reby issues, pursuant 

to 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

I. 

Overview 

T he CFPB finds that the Bank has engaged in violations of Sections I 03 1 and I 036 of the 

CFPA (collectively, ·'Section I 036"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1, 5536, in connection with its billing and 

admini stration of Identity Protection Products to Customers (as defined below), whi ch occurred 

during the period between Octobe r 2005 and June 20 12. 

II. 

Jurisdiction 

I. T he CFPB has jurisdiction over thi s matte r pursuant to Secti ons I 053 and I 055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protecti on Act (''CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563. 5565. 
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Ill. 

Stipulation 

2. The Bank has executed a ''Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of Consent Order," 

dated September J.Q_, 20 13 ("Stipul atio n"), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the CFPB. By this Stipulation, the Bank has consented, witho ut admitting or 

deny ing any findings of fact, any vio lation of law or any wrongdo ing, to the issuance of 

thi s Consent Order ("Order'') by the CFPB pursuant to Sections I 053 and I 055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and admits the CFPB's jurisdiction over the subject 

matter and the Bank in this action. 

IV. 

Definitions 

3 . For purposes of this Order, the fo llowing defini t ions sha ll a pply: 

a. "Add-On Product" or " Product" shall mean any consumer financ ia l product or 

service. as defined by Section I 002(5) of the CFPA. 12 U.S .C. § 548 1 (5), which 

is offered as an optional add-on product to Bank credit cards and/or as an optional 

add-on product to co-branded consumer products of the Bank. 

b. ··sank'' sha ll collective ly mean JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Chase Bank 

USA, N .A., and their successors and assigns. 

c . " Board" shall mean the Bank 's duly e lected and acting Board o r Directors. 

d. "Customer'' means any person who enro lled in an Identity Protecti on Product. 

e. "Effective Date .. sha ll mean the date on which the Order is issued. 

f. .. Enforcement Director·· sha ll mean the Assistant Director of the O ffi ce of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financ ia l Protection Bureau. 
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g. " Identity Protection Product" shall mean either of the two identity theft protection 

products. "Chase Identity Protection" and ''Chase Fraud Detector:' which 

included cred it monitoring and cred it report retrieval services and were marketed 

and sold to Bank customers and other consumers by the Bank or its Vendor. For 

purposes of this Order, Chase Fraud Detector was an " Identity Protection 

Produce on ly to the extent that it included credit monitoring and credit report 

retrieval services, which were offered to certain customers beginning in 2009. 

h. ·'Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the Northeast Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

1. ··vendor'' sha ll mean a third party vendor that provided marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and/or fu lfillment of services for Add-On Products offered pursuant to 

a contractual obligation to the Bank. 

The CFPB finds the following: 

CFPB FINDINGS 

V. 

4. JPMorgan Chase & Co. (JPMC) is a financial holding company incorporated in 

Delaware, with $2.4 trillion in total assets as of January 20 13. JPMorgan Chase Bank. 

N.A. and Chase Bank USA, N.A. are national banks and subsidiaries of JPMC. 

5. From October 2005 to March 2012, the Bank and its Vendors marketed, offered for sa le, 

and so ld Identity Protection Products that purported to monitor Customers· credit 

information to ale11 Customers to activity that could indicate fraud ulent use of their 

financial information or identities. The Bank, in its offering for sa le and sale of Identity 

Protection Products represented that in exchange for a monthly fee, the Bank, through its 

Vendors. would provide features that included a service to monitor Customers· credit 

3 

2013-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 09/19/2013     Page 3 of 26



in formation at three credit reporting agenc ies daily to identify and a lert Customers to 

activity that could suggest fraudulent use of the ir identities. The Bank called thi s product 

feature "3-Bureau Credit Monitoring." 

6. The Bank offered for sale and sold Identity Protection Products as "add-on'' features to 

new or existing customer c redit card accounts as we ll as to retail bank customers and 

non-customers. Once the Customer was enrolled in Identity Protection Prod ucts, the 

Bank delegated the serv icing of these Customers to certain third party Vendo rs: 

Core logic, Inc . (formerly known as First Advantage Membership Services, Inc. (FAMS)) 

fo r Chase Fraud Detector, True Credit for the Chase Ident ity Protection (Chi Ps). and 

Intersect ions, Inc. for Chase Identi ty Protection (IPS). 

7. To acti vate the ·'3-Bureau C redit Monitoring" feature ofthe Identity Protecti on Products, 

the Bank, through its Vendors, was required by the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), I 5 

U.S.C. § 168 1 b. to have a " permiss ibl e purpose" to obta in Custo mers ' credit info rmation 

from the cred it reporting agenc ies. A credit reporting agency may re lease a c redit report 

in accordance with a Customer' s ''wri tten instructions'' for the cred it reporting agency to 

re lease a credit report. I 5 U.S.C. § 1681 b(a)(2). According ly, the Vendor provided 

Customers the materia ls necessary to grant the Vendor authorization to access the ir credit 

informati on from the credi t reporting agenci es in order to activate "3-Bureau Credit 

Monitoring.'' 

8. In many cases, however. some period of time passed before Customers prov ided 

a utho rization, or the Bank 's Vendors never obtained the Customers ' a uthorization. Other 

Customers provided their authorizatio n but one or more credit reporting agenc ies would 

not process the authorization if they were unable to match customer identification 
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information with the agency's own record s. In these circumstances, while the Bank and 

its Vendors were unable to provide part or all of the credit monitoring serv ices, the Bank 

continued to bill these Customers full month ly fees. 

9. The Bank's compliance monitoring, service provider management and quality assurance 

failed to prevent, identify, or correct the billing for serv ices that were not provided. 

I 0. The Bank has begun corrective action, and is committed to taking al l necessary and 

appropr iate steps to remedy the violation of law identified by the CFPB. 

II. The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10,000,000,000 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

12. The Bank is a ·'covered person·· as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (6). 

13. Section I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFPA prohibits " unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices ("UDAAP''). 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( I )(B). 

14. The Bank's acceptance of monthly payments wh ile failing to provide credit monitoring 

services has resulted in substantial injury to more than 2. 1 million consumers in the 

amount of at least $270 million in fees and over-limit charges, as well as more than $39 

million in associated interest fees. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit to the consumers or to 

competition. 

15. Therefore, by reason of the forego ing billing practices for its Identity Protection Products 

as described in Paragraphs 5 to 14. the Bank. through its Vendors, engaged in unfair acts 

and practices in violation ofSection l036(a)( I)(B), 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( I)(B). 
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CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

VI. 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to Sections I 053 and I 055 of the CFPA, that the 

Bank and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, whether acting directly or 

indirectly. shall cease and desist and shall take reasonable measures to ensure that its Vendors 

and other agents cease and desist from engaging in violations of law or regulations in the bi !ling 

and administration of Identity Protection Products, and that the Bank has taken or will take the 

following affirmati ve actions: 

16. The Bank represents that it stopped marketing, so liciting, offering for sale, and selling 

Identity Protection Products on or before March 20 12. The Bank shall be prohibited 

from marketing, so liciting, offering for sale and selling Identity Protection Products, 

unless it submits to the CFPB a compliance plan (the "Compliance Plan .. ) specifically 

designed to prevent all violations of Section I 036 in the administration of Identity 

Protection Products. 

17. Any Compliance Plan concerning Identi ty Protection Products shall : 

a. Address the manner in which the Bank informs Customers that any credit 

monitoring services will not be activated until Customer authorization for the 

Bank to access their credit information at credit reporting agencies; 

b. Describe how the Bank wi ll avoid billing Customers during a period before the 

Bank or Vendor receives authorization to access credit information from each 

credit reporting agency and during a period when the credit reporting agency has 

not yet processed authorizations submitted by Customers. 
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18. The Bank shall submit any Compliance Plan to the Regional Director at least 90 days 

prior to marketing, solic iting, offering for sa le, or selling Identi ty Protection Products ror 

prior determination of supervisory non-objection. 

19. Within 90 days ofthe Effective Date, the Bank shall submit a plan to address the actions 

that are necessary and appropriate to achieve compliance with this Order (the ' 'Action 

Plan .. ). The Board or a Committee thereof shall ensure the Action Plan is submitted to 

the Regional Di rector for prior determination of supervisory non-objection. 

20. The Action Plan shall include the development or revision of a written Vendor 

Management Policy designed to ensure that all Add-On Products which are marketed and 

so ld by the Bank or through Vendors comply with applicable Federal consumer fi nancial 

law, inc luding but not limited to Section I 036, 12 U.S.C. § 5536. At a minimum, the 

Vendor Management Policy shall require: 

a. An analysis to be conducted by the Bank, prior to the Bank entering into a 

contract with the Vendor, of the abil ity of the Vendor to perform the marketing. 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillm ent of services fo r the Product(s) in 

compliance with all appl icable Federal consumer fin ancial laws and the Bank's 

policies and procedures; 

b. For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between the Bank and the 

Vendor, which sets fo rth the responsib ilities of each party, especially: 

i. the Vendor's specific performance responsibilities and duty to maintain 

adequate internal controls over the marketing, sa les, delivery, servicing, 

and fulfillm ent of services fo r the Products; 
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11. the Vendor's responsibilities and duty to provide adequate training on 

app licab le Federal consumer financial law and the Bank's policies and 

procedures to all Vendor employees or agents engaged in the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Product(s); 

111. granting the Bank the authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews of the 

Vendor's controls, performance, and information systems as they relate to 

the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the 

Product(s); and 

IV. the Bank's right to terminate the contract if the Vendor materially fa il s to 

comply with the terms specified in the contract, including the terms 

required by this Paragraph. 

c. Periodic onsite review by the Bank of the Vendor' s controls, performance, and 

information systems. 

2 1. In add ition, within 90 days of this Order, an appropriate independent qualified group 

within the Bank shall deve lop a written Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive Acts or Practices 

Policy ("UDAAP Policy'·) for any Add-On Products that shall require a written ana lysis, 

to be conducted on an annual basis, of: 

a. Any changes to the governance, control, marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, 

and/or fulfillment of Add-On Products that are considered to be at high risk for 

UDAAP that are marketed and sold by the Bank or through Vendors; and 

b. Any new Add-On Products considered to be at high ri sk for UDAAP. 

8 

2013-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 09/19/2013     Page 8 of 26



22. The analysis required by the preceding Paragraph shall be conducted prior to 

implementation of any material changes to existing Add-On Products and at a minimum 

include the following: 

a. An assessment ofthe UDAAP risks of the Add-On Product and of the 

governance, control, marketing, sa les, delivery, servicing, and/or fulfillment of 

services for the Add-On Product; and 

b. An evaluation of the adequacy of the Bank's internal controls and written pol icies 

and procedures to identify, measure, monitor, and control the UDAAP risks 

associated with the Add-On Product. 

23. The UDAAP Policy shall also require: 

a. The recording of al l telephone ca ll s in which Products are marketed or so ld by the 

Bank or through a Vendor to Bank customers, wh ich recordings sha ll be retained 

for a period of at least 25 months from the date of the call ; 

b. The recording of all telephone calls in wh ich a customer enrolled in a Product 

marketed or so ld by the Bank or through a Vendor indicates that he or she did not 

authorize, does not want, does not need. or wishes to cancel the Product. wh ich 

recordings shall be retained for a period of at least 25 months from the date ofthe 

ca ll ; 

c. Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financ ial laws and the Bank"s policies and 

procedures, including but not limited to unfair. deceptive. and abusive acts and 

practices. to appropriate Bank employees and Vendor ca ll agents who market or 

sell Products during in-bound or out-bound telephone calls or who engage in 

9 

2013-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 09/19/2013     Page 9 of 26



retention efforts during telephone calls in which a Bank customer indicates that he 

or she did not authorize, does not want, does not need, or wishes to cancel the 

Product; 

d. Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's policies and 

procedures, including, but not limited to, Section 1036, to appropriate Bank 

employees and Vendor employees or agents monitoring telephone call s; 

e. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifY ing and reporting any 

violation of applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank 's policies 

and procedures by the Bank's employees and Vendor's employees or agents, in a 

timely manner, to a speci tied executive risk manager at the Bank. The manager to 

whom such reports are made shall be independent of the unit overseeing the sa le 

and marketing of the Products; 

f. Deve lopment of training materials relating to identifY ing and responding to 

violations of applicable Federal consumer financial laws that will be incorporated 

into the existing annual compliance training for appropriate employees; 

g. Independent telephone ca ll monitoring by qualified personne l who have training 

in identifY ing and reporting violations of applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws and the Bank's policies and procedures, inc luding, but not limited to, Section 

1036; 

h. Repor1ing. on at least a monthly basis by the independent unit responsible for 

conducting the monitoring required by Paragraph 23g, of its findings from the 
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telephone call monitoring to a spec ified executive risk manager who is 

independent of the unit overseeing the sa les and marketing of these Products; and 

1. Written policies and procedures to ensure the risk management, internal audit, and 

corporate compliance programs have the requisite authori ty and status within the 

Bank so that appropriate reviews of Products marketed or so ld by the Bank or 

through Vendors may occur and deficiencies are identified and properly 

remedied. 

24. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit its Action Plan, the Vendor 

Management Policy and the UDAAP Policy to the Regional Director for prior 

determination of supervisory non-objection. 

25. Upon receipt of a determination of superv isory non-objection from the CFPB to the 

Action Plan, the Vendor Management Policy and the UDAAP Policy, the Board or a 

Committee thereof shall ensure the Bank's adoption. implementation and ad herence to 

the Action Plan, the Vendor Management Policy and the UDAAP Policy. 

26. Any material proposed changes or deviations from the approved Vendor Management 

Pol icy and its UDAAP Policy shall be submitted in writing to the CFPB for 

determination of supervisory non-objection. 

27. The Bank's Internal Audit department sha ll periodically conduct an assessment of the 

Bank's compliance with the Vendor Management Po licy and its UDAAP Policy. Such 

assessments shall occur with in 120 days after the Bank·s receipt of a determination of 

supervisory non-objection to the Vendor Management Policy and the UDAAP Policy. 

and periodically but at least annua lly thereafter, and the findings shall be memoria lized in 
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writing. Within I 0 days of completing each assessment. Internal Audit shall provide its 

written findings to the Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 

VII. 

Consumer Compliance Internal Audit Program 

28. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, the Bank shall develop a written Consumer 

Compl iance Internal Audit Program for all Add-On Products (the ''Interna l Audit 

Program .. ). The Audit Committee shall ensure that the Bank submits this Internal Audit 

Program to the Regional Director for determination of supervisory non-objection. At 

minimum, the Internal Audit Program shall include: 

a. Written policies and procedures for conducting audits of the Bank's compliance 

with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

Section I 036. These policies and procedures shall specify the frequency, scope, 

and depth of these audits; 

b. Written policies and procedures for expanding its sampling when exceptions 

based on potential violations of applicable Federal consumer financial laws are 

detected. 

29. Upon receipt of a determination of supervisory non-objection to the Internal Audit 

Program, the Audit committee shall ensure that the Bank implements and adheres to the 

Interna l Audit Program. Any proposed changes to or deviations from the Internal Aud it 

Program shall be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determinat ion of 

supervi sory non-objection. 
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VIII. 

Audit Committee 

30. The Bank's existing Audit Committee, which is composed of independent directors. shall 

be responsible for monitoring and coordinating the Bank's compliance with the 

provisions of this Order. 

3 1. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 30 days after the end of each 

quarter, the Audit Committee shal l submit a written progress report to the Board setting 

forth in detail the actions taken to comply with this Order, and the results and status of 

those actions. 

32. Upon receiving the Audit Committee's report, the Board shall forward a copy of the 

Audit Committee's report, with any additional comments by the Board, to the Regional 

Director within I 0 days of the first Board meeting following receipt of such report, unless 

additional time is granted by the Regional Director through a written determination of 

supervisory non-objection. 

IX. 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

33. The Board shall ensure that all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, policies, 

and procedures) required by this Order are submitted to the Regional Director. 

34. Although this Order requires the Bank to submit certain documents for the determination 

of non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of the Bank and for ensuring that the 

Bank complies with Federal consumer financial laws and this Order. With the prior non-
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objection ofthe Regional Director, the Board may delegate certain of the approval or 

reporting obligations included herein to the Audit Committee. 

35. In each instance in this Order in which the Board is required to ensure adherence to, or 

undertake to perform certain obligations of the Bank, the Board shall directly, or through 

the Audit Committee: 

a. Authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of the Bank as may be necessary for 

the Bank to perform its ob i igations and undertakings under the terms of this 

Order; 

b. Require the timely reporting by the Bank's management of such actions directed 

by the Bank to be taken under the terms of this Order; and 

c. Requ ire corrective action be taken in a timely and appropriate manner of any 

material non-compliance with such actions. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

X. 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

36. The Bank shall make full redress as defi ned in this Order, in accordance with the Redress 

Plan required in Paragraph 37, to all Eligible Customers as defined in Paragraph 39. 

37. Within 60 days ofthe Effective Date, the Bank shall develop a redress plan (''Redress 

Plan") and submit it to the Regional Director for review and non-objection. The 

Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to 

the Redress Plan or direct the Bank to revise it. In the event the Regional Director directs 

the Bank to rev ise the Redress plan, the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit the 

Redress Plan to the Regiona l Director within 15 days. 

14 

2013-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 09/19/2013     Page 14 of 26



38. The Redress Plan shall describe the redress paid to each Eligible Customer and shall 

inc lude. as applicable to each Eligible Customer: 

a. The sum of: 

i. all fees paid by an Eligible Customer under the Identity Protection 

Product' s terms since the Eligible Customer's Redress Start Date through 

his or her Redress End Date; 

11. all over-l imit fees paid by an Eligible Customer since the Customer' s 

Redress Sta11 Date through his or her Redress End Date because the 

charging ofthe Identity Protection Product' s fees resulted in the Customer 

exceeding his or her credit limit; 

111. all finance charges assessed by the Bank that accrued to the Eligible 

Customer's account as a result of the billing of the fees descri bed in Sub

Paragraph (a)(i); and 

b. Less any amount of redress provided to an Eligible Customer prior to the 

Effecti ve Date. 

39. The Redress Plan shall : 

a. Apply to all "Eligible Customers" defined as Customers who, with respect to each 

Identity Protection Product, paid fo r and, separately, either: 

1. never received credit monitoring services because the Bank did not obtain 

written authorization required to access credit information from the credit 

reporting agencies pursuant to the FCRA; 

11. received partial credit monitoring services for one or more of the 

following reasons: 
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l. the Bank did not obtain written authorization for some period of 

time following the Customer"s enrollment in the Identity 

Protection Product; 

2. the Vendor did not have sufficient information to process such an 

authorization; and/or 

3. one or more credit reporting agency did not match an authorization 

and required additional information to verify the Customer"s 

identity. 

111. failed to receive credit monitoring services for any other reason. 

b. Determine the Eligible Customer's appropriate ''Redress Start Date'' and '·Redress 

End Date" for each Identity Protection Product. The ''Redress Start Date" shall be 

the date, after October 2005, that charges for the Identity Protection Product were 

assessed for those el igible under Sub-Paragraph (a) above. The .. Redress End 

Date'' shall be the date that Customers were no longer eligib le under Sub

Paragraph (a) above; 

c. Provide for processes covering all Eligible Customers regard less of their current 

account status with the Bank, inc luding open accounts, closed accounts with and 

without a balance, and charged-off accounts. The process shall include the 

following requirements: 

1. for any open cred it card account, the Bank shall de li ver a statement credit 

to the account or otherwise send a refund check; 

11. for any closed or inactive ($0 balance) cred it card account, the Bank shal l 

mail a check to any Eligible Customer; 
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111. for any charged-off account, the Bank shall issue a credit decreas ing the 

charged-off balance by the amount of redress. Where the refund is greater 

than the existing charged-off ba lance. the Bank shall mail to the Customer 

a check in the amount of the excess; 

iv. if the account holder is deceased, and the balance is greater than the 

refund, the Bank will provide a statement credit to the account; otherwise, 

a refund check will be sent to the Customer's estate; for accounts with an 

estate, the refund dispos ition will be determined based on the status of the 

estate; and 

v. with respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and sold 

charged-off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in accordance with 

applicable law. 

d. Include a description ofthe fo llowing: 

1. methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential Eligible 

Customers; 

11. methods used to ca lculate the amount of redress to be paid to each Eligible 

Customer as required herein; 

111. procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Eligible Customers; 

1v. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan; and 

e. Notwithstanding Sub-Paragraph (a), no Customer shall be precluded from 

receiving redress with respect to more than one Identity Protection Product. For 

any Eligible Customer who is eligible with respect to more than one Identity 

Protection Product. the Eligible Customer" s redress will be determined for each 
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Identity Protection Product separately pursuant to Sub-Paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) 

above. 

40. The Bank represents that it has completed a plan to provide redress to Eligible Customers 

in accordance with the harm described in this Order. This plan shall be documented as 

part of the Redress Plan required by this Order and be subject to the requirements of this 

Order, and shall include an accounting of amounts that E ligible Customers have a lready 

received in redress from the Bank. 

4 1. The Bank represents that it made reasonable attempts to locate Eligible Customers, 

including a standard address search using the National Change of Address System. 

42. Redress provided by the Bank shall not limit Customers' rights in any way. 

43. With respect to any Eligible Customer's account that receives redress under the Redress 

Plan as a credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-off balance, the Bank shall 

as permitted by law and in accordance with existing procedures: 

a. Report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which the Bank had 

previously furnished balance information for the account; 

b. Delete the account tradeline at each credit reporting agency to which the Bank 

had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

c. In the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, request that such third 

party owner of the debt report the updated balance to, or delete the account 

tradeline at, each cred it reporting agency to which the Bank or the th ird party 

owner of the debt had previously furnished balance information for the account. 
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44. Within 60 days from completion ofthe Redress Plan, the Bank's Internal Audit 

department shall review and assess compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan (the 

·'Redress Review"). 

45. The Redress Review shall include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Eligible Customers, the amount of 

redress for each Eligible Customer, the procedures used to issue and track redress 

payments, the procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of updated 

balances to the credit reporting agencies, and the work of independent consultants that the 

Bank has used to assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

46. The Redress Review shall be summarized in a written report (the ·'Redress Review 

Report"), which shall be completed within 30 days of completion of the Redress Review. 

Within I 0 days of its completion, the Redress Review Report shall be submitted to the 

Regional Director and the Board. 

XI. 

Order To Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Pursuant to Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). by reason ofthe 

violations of law set forth in Section V ofthis Order, and taking into account the factors 

set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Bank shall pay a civil money penalty of$20 

million to the CFPB, as directed by the CFPB and as set forth here in. 

48. Within I 0 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall pay the civil money penalty in the 

form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 
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49. The civi l money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance with Section I 0 17(d) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

50. In the event of any default on the Bank's obligation to make payment under this Section, 

interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 , as amended, shall accru e on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediate ly become due and payable. 

51. The Bank shall relinquish all dominion, control. and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be retu rned to the Bank. 

52. The Bank shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for all 

purposes. Regardless of how the CFPB ultimately uses those funds, the Bank shall not: 

a. Claim. assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit wi th regard to any federa l. 

state, or local tax for any civi l money penalty that the Bank pays pursuant to this 

Order; or 

b. Seek or accept. directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civ il money penalty that the Bank pays pursuant to this 

Order. 

53. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty. in any Related Consumer 

Action, the Bank shall not argue that the Bank is entitled to, nor shall the Bank benefit 

by. any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer 

Action. by any amount of the civi l money pena lty paid in this action ('' Penalty Offset"). 

If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the Bank shall, 
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within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Regional 

Director, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

shall not be deemed an additional civi l money penalty and shall not be deemed to change 

the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

XII. 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

54. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy of this Order to each 

of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any Vendors who have 

responsibi lities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

55 . For a period ofthree years from the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy of this 

Order to any future board members and executive officers. as well as to any Vendors who 

will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume 

their responsibi I ities. 

56. The Bank shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requ irements of the E-Sign 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 700 I et seq., with in 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a 

copy of this Order pursuant to this Section. 

XIII. 

Record keeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. For a period of at least two years from the date a Customer is no longer enrol led in an 

Identity Protection Product, the Bank shall retain the following records. to the extent they 
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exist. For each individual Customer and his or her enrollment in the Identity Protection 

Product: 

a. Records containing, with respect to each Customer. hi s or her name, addresses, 

phone numbers, dollar amounts paid, quantity of Jdentity Protection Products 

purchased, description of the Identity Protection Products purchased, the date on 

which the Identity Protection Products were purchased, a copy of the we lcome kit 

mailed to Customers (if a Customer cancelled an Identity Protection Product, 

include the date the Customer cancelled the Identity Protection Product and the 

reason the Customer cancelled the Identity Protection Product); 

b. For Identity Protection Products, a copy of the Customer's authorization to access 

his or her credit information from the credit reporting agencies in order to activate 

'·3-Bureau Credit Monitoring," and the date on which the Customer was first 

charged for Identity Protection Products; 

c. Records reflecting the expenses and revenues related to the Identity Protection 

Products; 

d. Records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of Customers who cance led 

Identity Protection Products; 

e. All written Customer complaints and refund requests of the fees assessed by the 

Bank or its Vendors (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a 

third party). and any written responses to those complaints or requests; and 

f. Copies of all sales scripts; training material s; advertisements: or other marketing 

materials, including terms and conditions, fulfillment packages. and welcome kits; 

and including any such materials used by a third party on the Bank's behalf. 
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58. For a period of six years from the Effective Date or one year from that date this Order is 

suspended, waived, or terminated, whichever is shorter, the Bank must reta in the 

following record s, to the extent they exist on the Effective Date: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision ofthis Order; and 

b. All records pertaining to the redress, described above in Section X, including, but 

not limited to. documentation of the processes and procedures used to determine 

the Eligible Customers, as that term is defined in Paragraph 39 above. the names, 

contact and account information of the Eligible Customers, any mai ling records, 

and documentation that the appropriate redress was made. 

XIV. 

Notices 

59. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the Regional 

Director, all submissions. requests, communications. consents or other documents 

relating to this Order shall be in writing and shal l be sent by overnight courier (not the 

U.S. Posta l Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

140 East 45th Street 

New York. NY 100 17 

60. The subject line shall begin: In re JPM01gan Chase Bank, N. A. et a/, File No. 20 13-

CFPB-0007. 
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61. Provided however that the Bank may send such reports or notifi cations by first-class 

mail. but only if the Bank contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report 

or notification to: Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XV. 

Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, 

modify any non-material prov isions of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time). 

Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XVI. 

Administrative Provisions 

63. The provisions of this Order shall not bar, estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB, or any 

other federal or state agency or department from taking any other action against the Bank. 

64. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued pursuant 

Section 1053 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not fo rm. and may not 

be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the Un ited States. 

65. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain effective and 

enforceable, except to the extent that, and until such time as. any provisions of this Order 

shall have been amended. suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the CFPB or its 

designated agent. 

66. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

ca lendar days. unless otherwise noted. 
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67. Th is Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against the Bank 

contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Findings set 

forth in this Order. The CFPB releases and discharges the Bank from all potential 

liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or civil 

money penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on the 

Bank's conduct, as described in CFPB Findings of thi s Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred prior to the Effective Date and are known to the CFPB as of the Effective Date 

of the Order. Notwithstand ing the foregoing, the practices alleged in thi s Order may be 

utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank and its affiliates. 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calcu late the amount of any 

penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect any right of the CFPB to determine and 

ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the Order, or to seek penalties for any 

violations thereof. 

68. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. Any violation of this 

Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

69. No promises, representations or warranties other than those set forth in this Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions. or 

understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

70. Noth ing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as allowing the 

Bank. its Board. officers, or employees to violate any law. ru le, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this ___ \~-"""----- day of ~-\'. , 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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SEP 19 2013

CFPB Orders Chase and JPMorgan Chase
to Pay $309 Million Refund for Illegal
Credit Card Practices
Approximately 2.1 Million Consumers Receive Full Refund

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) ordered
Chase Bank USA, N.A. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to refund an estimated $309
million to more than 2.1 million customers for illegal credit card practices. This
enforcement action is the result of work started by the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency (OCC), which the CFPB joined last year. The agencies found that Chase
engaged in unfair billing practices for certain credit card “add-on products” by charging
consumers for credit monitoring services that they did not receive.

“At the core of our mission is a duty to identify and root out unfair, deceptive, and
abusive practices in financial markets that harm consumers,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “This order takes action against such practices and requires Chase to
fully refund more than $300 million to consumers who were charged illegal fees.”

According to the CFPB order, Chase enrolled consumers in credit card “add-on”
products that promised to monitor customer credit and alert consumers to potentially
fraudulent activity. In order for consumers to obtain credit monitoring services,
consumers generally must provide written authorization. Chase, however, charged
many consumers for these products without or before having the written authorization
necessary to perform the monitoring services. Chase charged customers as soon as they
enrolled in these products even if they were not actually receiving the services yet.

The agencies found that Chase engaged in these practices between October 2005, when
Chase first offered the products, and June 2012, when Chase stopped billing consumers
who were not receiving the promised benefits.

As a result of the unfair billing tactics, consumers:

Were charged for services they did not receive: Consumers were charged
fees as soon as they enrolled in these add-on products, which include “identity
theft protection” and “fraud monitoring.” Monthly fees ranged from $7.99 to
$11.99 even though the promised services were not performed. In some cases,
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving all of the
promised benefits.

Unfairly incurred charges for interest and fees: The unfair monthly fees
that customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding their
credit card account limits, which lead to additional fees for the customers. Some
consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.
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Failed to receive product benefits: Consumers were under the impression
that their credit was being monitored for fraud and identity theft, when, in fact,
these services were either not being performed at all, or were only partially
performed.

Enforcement Action

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. Chase has taken steps to correct these unfair practices by ending
the marketing of these services in April 2011 and issuing consumer refunds in October
2012.

To ensure that Chase honors its obligation to repay all affected consumers and that
consumers are no longer subject to these unfair billing practices, the CFPB’s order
requires that Chase Bank USA, N.A. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.:

End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for these
products if they are not receiving the promised benefits. Chase also must take
steps, subject to the Bureau’s approval, to ensure these unlawful acts do not occur
in the future.

Complete repayment, plus interest, to more than two million
consumers: Chase must pay a full refund, approximately $309 million, to more
than two million consumers who enrolled in the credit monitoring product and
were charged for services that were not received. In addition to the amount paid
for the product, Chase must refund interest and any over-the-limit fees resulting
from the charge for the product.

Conveniently repay consumers: If the consumers are still Chase customers,
they received a credit to their accounts. If they are no longer a Chase credit card
holder, they received checks in the mail. Consumers were not required to take any
action to receive their credit or check. Most consumers should have received
refunds by November 30, 2012.

Submit to an independent audit: Chase has engaged an independent auditor
to help ensure the refunds have been provided in compliance with the terms as set
forth in the CFPB’s order.

Improve oversight of third-party vendors: The CFPB is also requiring that
Chase strengthen its management of third-party vendors who manage these
identity protection products.

Pay a $20 million penalty: Chase will make a $20 million penalty payment to
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

This action is the third that the Bureau has taken in coordination with a fellow regulator
to address illegal practices with respect to credit card add-on products. This action is
being taken in coordination with a separate action of the OCC, which initiated the
inquiry in 2011. The OCC is separately ordering restitution of approximately $309
million from Chase Bank USA, N.A. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. The OCC’s order
also includes a separate order for Chase to pay $60 million in civil money penalties in
addition to those ordered by the CFPB.

The Bureau is releasing a Consumer Advisory to make Chase customers aware of this
action. The advisory is available at: http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/explainer-
how-does-the-chase-order-handle-refunds/

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201309_cfpb_jpmc_consent-order.pdf
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NOV 20 2013

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
Takes Action Against Payday Lender For
Robo-Signing
Cash America to Refund up to $14 Million for Robo-Signing and Illegally
Overcharging Servicemembers

Washington, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took
its first enforcement action against a payday lender by ordering Cash America
International, Inc. to refund consumers for robo-signing court documents in debt
collection lawsuits. The CFPB also found that Cash America – one of the largest short-
term, small-dollar lenders in the country – violated the Military Lending Act by illegally
overcharging servicemembers and their families. Cash America will pay up to $14
million in refunds to consumers and it will pay a $5 million fine for these violations and
for destroying records in advance of the Bureau’s examination.

“This action brings justice to the Cash America customers who were affected by illegal
robo-signing, and shows that we will vigilantly protect the consumer rights that
servicemembers have earned,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are also
sending a clear message today to all companies under our watch that impeding a CFPB
exam by destroying documents, withholding records, and instructing employees to
mislead examiners is unacceptable.”

Payday loans are often described as a way for consumers to bridge a cash flow shortage
between paychecks or the receipt of other income. They can offer quick access to credit,
especially for consumers who may not qualify for other credit. Many payday loans are
for small-dollar amounts that must be repaid in full in a short period of time.

Cash America is a publicly traded financial services company headquartered in Fort
Worth, Texas that provides consumer financial products and services, including payday
loans, lines of credit, installment loans, and pawn loans. With hundreds of retail
locations across more than 20 states, it is one of the largest payday lending companies
in the United States. Cash America’s Chicago-based subsidiary, Enova, offers online
loans in 32 states under the brand name CashNetUSA.

Today’s action is the Bureau’s first public enforcement action against a payday lender;
its first public action under the Military Lending Act; and the first public action for a
company’s failure to comply fully with the CFPB’s supervisory examination authority.

Violations
After a routine CFPB examination of Cash America’s operations, the CFPB found
multiple violations of consumer financial protection laws, including:

Robo-signing: Robo-signing generally refers to a practice where important
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documents that require careful review and a signature from a knowledgeable
individual are instead signed by someone else, a machine, or by someone who
does not follow appropriate procedures. Robo-signing can result in inaccurate
court affidavits and pleadings, which may cause consumers to pay false debts,
incorrect debts, or legal costs and court fees. For nearly five years, Cash America’s
debt collection subsidiary in Ohio, Cashland Financial Services, Inc., had been
preparing, executing, and notarizing documents filed in its Ohio collections
litigations without complying with state and court-required signature rules. The
CFPB estimates that about 14,000 consumers paid money as a result of debt
collection litigation which may have involved reliance on improper court filings.
Specifically:

Employees manually stamped attorney signatures on legal pleadings, and
department manager signatures on balance-due and military-status
affidavits, without prior review; and
Legal assistants notarized documents without following proper procedures.

Illegally overcharged servicemembers: Cash America violated the Military
Lending Act, which restricts the rate on certain types of loans given to
servicemembers to 36 percent. Cash America extended payday loans exceeding
that rate to more than 300 active-duty servicemembers or dependents.

Impeded the CFPB exam: During a routine examination of Cash America that
began in July 2012, the company, among other things, carelessly destroyed
records relevant to the Bureau’s onsite compliance examination. Specifically, Cash
America’s online lending subsidiary, Enova Financial:

Instructed employees to limit the information they provided to the CFPB
about their sales and marketing pitches;
Deleted recorded phone calls with consumers; and
Continued to shred documents after the CFPB told them to halt such
activities.
In addition, Cash America withheld an internal audit report related to
collection practices.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions for violations of federal consumer
financial protection laws. To ensure that all impacted consumers are repaid and that
consumers are no longer subject to these illegal practices, Cash America has committed
to:

Refund consumers: Cash America has already voluntarily paid back roughly
$6 million to military borrowers and victims of the robo-signing practices.
Through today’s CFPB order, they have committed to offer an additional $8
million to consumers, for a total refund of up to $14 million. Consumers who were
subject to debt collection lawsuits in the state of Ohio from 2008 through January
2013 are eligible. More information is available at:
www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/our-first-enforcement-action-against-a-payday-
lender

Dismiss pending collections lawsuits: Within months of the CFPB
discovering the robo-signing, Cash America dismissed pending collections
lawsuits, terminated all post-judgment collections activities, cancelled all
judgments obtained, and corrected information it furnished to credit bureaus for
the nearly 14,000 wrongful cases filed in Ohio.

Pay a $5 million fine: Cash America will pay a $5 million civil money penalty

http://twitter.com/cfpb
https://www.facebook.com/CFPB
http://www.flickr.com/photos/cfpbphotos
http://www.youtube.com/cfpbvideo
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mailto:Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov
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in connection with these serious violations. Cash America’s preemptive refunds to
consumers and other actions after the Bureau discovered the conduct were
considered when determining the civil money penalty amount.

Improve internal compliance systems: Cash America will develop and
implement a comprehensive plan to improve its compliance with consumer
financial protection laws, including the Military Lending Act.

The CFPB has authority to oversee the payday loan market and began its supervision of
payday lenders in January 2012. In addition, the CFPB has taken a number of steps to
learn more about the marketplace for payday loans, and released a report on payday
loans  earlier this year. That report found that payday products can lead to a cycle of
indebtedness for many consumers. In early November, the CFPB began accepting
consumer complaints about payday loans. More information is available at:
www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/you-can-submit-a-payday-loan-complaint/

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201311_cfpb_cashamerica_consent-
order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2013-CFPB-0008 

In the Matter of: 

Cash America International, Inc. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") has reviewed the short-term, small 

dollar lending practices of Cash America International, Inc. ("Cash America" or "Respondent" as 

defined below) and has identified the following violations of law: (1) failing to maintain and provide 

records and information relevant to the Bureau examination in violation of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(2); (2) unfair and deceptive acts or practices 

in connection with the preparation and filing of affidavits in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531 and 5536(a)(l )(B); and (3) making loans to covered members of the military or their 

dependents in violation of the Military Lending Act ("MLA"), 10 U.S.C. § 987. Under sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

("Order"). 



I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Cash America has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order," 

dated November 18, 2013 ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Cash America has consented to the issuance of 

this Order by the Bureau pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5563 and 5565, and admits the Bureau's jurisdiction over Cash America and the subject 

matter o f this actio n. 

III 

Definitions 

3. For the purposes of this Order, the following definitions apply: 

a. "Board" shall mean Respondent's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

b. "Cash America" shall mean Cash America International, Inc. 

c. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Order is issued. 

d. "Enova" shall mean E nova International, Inc. 

e. "Relevant Period" shall include the period from January 1, 2008 through November 

30, 2012. 

f. "Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for 

the Bureau's Office of Supervision Examinations. 
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g. "Related Consumer Action" shall mean a private damages action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental entity, 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as set forth in 

Section IV of this Order. 

h. "Respondent" shall mean Cash America International, Inc., including its subsidiary 

Enova International, Inc., all other subsidiaries, and its successors and assigns. 

1. "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in Section 1002(26) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

BUREAU FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

IV 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Cash America is a publicly traded financial services company headquartered in Fort Worth, 

Texas, that engages in offering and providing consumer financial products or services, 

including short-term, small-dollar loans (commonly referred to as payday loans), lines of 

credit, installment loans, and pawn loans. 

5. Cash America offers payday loans through, among other channels, its wholly-owned 

subsidiary and affiliate, Enova, headquartered in Chicago, Illinois. Enova is a licensed lender 

offering consumer loans online in 32 states in the United States under the brand name 

CashNetUSA. 

6. Cash America is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. Enova is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

8. Cash America offers and provides various forms of short-term small-dollar loans, including 

payday loans, each of which is a "conswner financial product or service" as that term is 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 
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Examination Conduct - Unlawful 

9. On July 11, 2012, the Bureau provided a letter ("Exam Letter") to Cash America that 

informed the entity that the Bureau was conducting an examination of the company 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5514, and that the initial examination review period was July 1, 2011 

through June 30, 2012 ("Exam Review Period"). 

10. The Exam Letter further informed Cash America of the subj ect matter of the examination, 

and that Cash America was "required to maintain all materials and information that may be 

responsive to the Bureau requests." The Exam Letter stated that "during the pendency of 

the examination, any routine or non-routine procedures, including procedures pursuant to a 

document retention policy, which could result in the destruction of such material or 

information, including electronically-stored information, should be suspended." 

11. On September 10, 2012, the Bureau commenced the on-site portion of its examination at 

Cash America's headquarters in Fort Worth, Texas. 

12. On September 25, 2012, the Bureau commenced the on-site portion of its examination at 

Enova's headquarters in Chicago, Illinois. 

13. Cash America's subsidiary, Enova, failed to comply with the Exam Letter's requirement to 

preserve all materials that may be responsive to the Bureau's requests by failing to suspend 

routine data and document destruction procedures. Specifically, Enova: 

a. failed to preserve recorded inbound and outbound telephone calls from March 27, 

2012 through June 2, 2012, a 68-day portion of the Exam Review Period, and 

b. failed to cease routine document shredding for 47 days after receiving the Exam 

Letter. 

14. During the examination, Enova managers failed to provide certain information relevant to 

the examination regarding Enova's call center sales activities by: 
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a. directing call center employees to de-emphasize the marketing and sales aspect of the 

call center employees' duties, and, in some instances, specifically directing certain 

employees not to use the word "sales" in describing their job functions to Bureau 

examrners; 

b. removing materials that emphasized sales, collections, and other performance 

metrics from the walls and common areas of the call center; 

c. removing sales-focused materials from call center employee cubicles; and 

d. turning off an auto-dialer normally used to direct outbound marketing calls to 

current, prospective, or past customers, while the Bureau examiners visited the call 

center to review normal and routine call center activities. 

15. Cash America failed to timely provide its 2012 Internal Collections Compliance Audit in 

response to the Exam Letter. 

16. The Bureau is authorized to "require reports and conduct examinations" of nondeposito1y 

institutions, including payday lenders. 12 U.S.C. § 5514(b)(1). 

17. The Bureau is authorized to require supervised nondepositoq institutions "to generate, 

provide, or retain records for the purposes of facilitating supervision of such persons and 

assessing and detecting risks to consumers." 12 U.S.C. § 5514(b)(7) . 

18. It "shall be unlawful" for "any covered person .. . to fail or refuse, as required by Federal 

consumer financial law, or any rule or order issued by the Bureau thereunder- (A) to 

permit access to or copying of records; (B) to establish or maintain records; or (C) to make 

reports or provide information to the Bureau." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(2). 

19. Enova's failure to preserve call recordings and other documents, and Respondent's failure to 

timely provide the 2012 Internal Collections Compliance Audit, as described in Paragraphs 9 
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through 15, constitute "unlawful" acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(2) because 

Respondent failed to maintain records and provide information to the Bureau. 

20. Enova's actions related to the presentation of the marketing and sales activities of its call 

center prior to and during the Bureau examination, as described in Paragraph 14, constitute 

"unlawful" acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(2) because such activities resulted in a 

failure to provide information to the Bureau. 

Ohio Debt Collection Operation - Unfair and Deceptive 

21. Cash America's legal collections operation ("Collections Department") is based in 

Cincinnati, Ohio, and operates through its Ohio-based subsidiary and affiliate, Cash.land 

Financial Services, Inc. ("Cash.land"). 

22. Between January 2008 and September 2012, the Collections Department engaged in the 

following acts or practices related to preparing, executing, and notarizing documents filed in 

Cash America's debt collection litigation in Ohio: 

a. In certain cases, Collections Department legal assistants manually stamped the 

Collections Department manager's signature on balance-due and military-status 

affidavits without the manager's prior review of the affidavits or supporting 

documentation; 

b. Collections Department's in-house collections attorney directed the Collections 

Department manager and legal assistants to stamp the in-house collections attorney's 

signature, or to manually sign the attorney's name, on certain pleadings filed in Ohio 

state court proceedings without the attorney's prior review; and 

c. Collections Department legal assistants notarized documents without, in certain 

instances, following the procedures required by applicable notary law. 
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23. Cash America failed to prevent or timely detect the problematic conduct in its Collections 

Department by failing to conduct adequate internal compliance audits. 

24. As of the Effective Date, Respondent's Voluntary Refund Program identified 14,397 

consumers who paid all or a portion of debts collected while this conduct was ongoing 

("Affected Consumers"); identified a total o f $13,057 ,944 to be made available for 

disbursement to Affected Consumers ("Redress Amount"); funded $6,384,790 for 

distribution ("Disbursed Redress Amount") to 6,499 claimants; and identified $6,673,154 

("Undisbursed Redress Amount") unclaimed by additional eligible claimants. 

25. The CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

26. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it (1) causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (3) such 

injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 

U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

27. As described in Paragraphs 21 through 23, Respondent's Ohio debt collection acts or 

practices during the Relevant Period caused or were likely to cause substantial injury, 

including the filing of inaccurate affidavits and pleadings that could potentially cause 

consumers to pay incorrect debts or legal costs and court fees to defend against invalid or 

excessive claims. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers or outweighed by 

any countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

28. Therefore, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

29. An act or practice may be considered "deceptive" under the CFPA if the act or practice (1) 

misleads or is likely to mislead the consumer; (2) the consumer's interpretation of the act or 
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practice is reasonable under the circumstances; and (3) the misleading act or practice is 

material. 

30. As described in Paragraphs 21 through 23, Respondent's Ohio debt collection acts or 

practices during the Relevant Period were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances into believing the affidavits or other court filings were reviewed, 

executed, and notarized in compliance with applicable law and this information was material 

to consumers subject to debt collection litigation. 

31. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Loans to Militai:y Members and Dependents - MLA 

32. The Military Lending Act ("MLA"), as implemented by regulations of the Department of 

Defense, prohibits a creditor from imposing a " military annual percentage rate" ("MAPR") 

above 36 percent in connection with "consumer credit" extended to an active member of 

the military or their spouse or dependent ("covered borrower"). 10 U.S.C. § 987; 32 C.F.R. 

§§ 232.3 and 232.4. 

33. All loans originated by Enova have .MAPRs that exceed 36 percent. 

34. Prior to December 14, 2012, due in part to systems errors, Enova made 362 payday loans 

that qualified as "consumer credit" under 32 C.F.R. § 232.3 to active-duty milita1y members 

or dependents and now has refunded $33,550 in loan and loan-related fees to those 

customers. 

35. Enova call center representatives are insufficiently trained \.vith respect to ML.A compliance 

and as a result have allowed additional loans to be originated to spouses of active-duty 

military members. 
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36. As described in Paragraphs 32 through 35, Respondent violated the MLA by making loans 

whose MAPR exceeded 36 percent to active members of the military or their spouse or 

dependent. 

CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

v 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 

and 5565, that: 

37. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease and desist from the 

violations described in Paragraphs 38 through 40 and ensure compliance with Federal 

consumer financial law in all of its dealings with consumers and the Bureau. 

38. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease and desist from any 

further violations of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(2) with respect to preserving and providing 

information and records required under the Bureau's supervisory authority. 

39. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease and desist from any 

further violations of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B) with respect to its debt collection 

acts or practices. 

40. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease and desist from any 

further violations of 10 U.S.C. § 987, as implemented by regulations of the Department of 

Defense. 
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VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Cash America shall submit to the Regional Director 

for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan 

("Compliance Plan") designed to ensure that Respondent complies with the terms of this 

Order and all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the MLA and its implementing 

regulations when: 

a. interacting with the Bureau's supervisory function, including, but not limited to, 

document retention and interaction with Bureau examination staff; 

b. undertaking debt collection activities, including, but not limited to, compliance with 

the CFP A prohibitions on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, and 

compliance with applicable law regarding the preparation, review, execution, 

notarization, and filing of documents in any and all debt collection actions; and 

c. lending to military members and their spouses or dependents, including, but not 

limited to, compliance with the MLA. 

42. The Compliance Plan shall, at a minimum: 

a. detail steps for addressing each action required by Section V of this Order; 

b. detail Respondent's consumer compliance organizational and reporting structure; 

c. include written job descriptions of the duties and responsibilities of key consumer 

compliance staff positions that clearly define authority and accountability; 

d. require that Respondent allocate resources to the compliance function that are 

commensurate with Respondent's size, complexity, product lines, and business 
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operations to ensure the implementation of an adequate compliance program, 

including appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced personnel; 

e. include written record retention requirements, reporting requirements, and internal 

control systems to facilitate (i) the oversight of the effectiveness of Respondent's 

compliance program by the Board and Respondent's senior management; and (ii) 

cooperation by Respondent and its directors, officers, employees, agents, and service 

providers with future Bureau examinations; 

f. require ongoing education and training in Federal consumer financial laws and the 

MLA for all appropriate employees, Board members, and other affiliated individuals, 

with training tailored to each individual's responsibilities and duties. Training 

activities shall be documented and the training program must be reviewed and 

updated at least annually to ensure that appropriate personnel are provided with the 

most relevant and pertinent information; 

g. require a formal consumer compliance risk review process before introducing or 

implementing new or changed products or services; and 

h. require updating of the Compliance Plan at least annually, or as required by more 

frequent changes in laws or regulations, or changes in Respondent's business 

strategies, so that the program remains current and effective. 

43. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to 

the Compliance Plan or to direct Cash America to revise it. In the event that the Regional 

Director directs Cash America to revise the Compliance Plan, Cash America shall make the 

revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days. 

11 



44. Once the Regional Director has notified Cash America of the Bureau's non-objection to the 

Compliance Plan, Cash America shall implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. The Board shall review all submissions required by this Order prior to submission to the 

Bureau. 

46. Although this Order requires Cash America to submit certain documents for the review or 

non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for 

proper and sound management of Cash America and for ensuring that Respondent complies 

with Federal consumer financial law, other applicable law, and this Order. 

47. In each instance in this Order in which the Board is required to ensure adherence to, or 

undertake to perform, certain obligations of Cash America, the Board shall: 

a. authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of Respondent as may be necessary for 

Respondent to perform its obligations and undertakings under the terms of this 

Order; 

b. require the timely reporting by Respondent management of such actions directed by 

Respondent to be taken under the terms o f this Order; and 

c. require corrective action be taken in a timely and appropriate manner relating to any 

material non-compliance \vith such actions. 
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MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. On or before the E ffective Date, Cash America shall deposit into a segregated deposit 

account $8,000,000 ("Undisbursed Redress Amount") for the purpose of continuing to 

provide redress to A ffected Consumers as required by this Section. 

49. On or before the Effective Date, Cash America shall begin accepting, processing, and paying 

eligible claims that Affected Consumers make against the Undisbursed Redress Amount in 

the same manner it has to date through the Voluntary Refund Program. Cash America shall 

provide information and accept claims forms through, at a minimum, a dedicated web site 

and toll-free phone number for a period of 180 days from the Effective Date ("Final Claims 

Period") . 

50. Within 30 days following the conclusion of the Final Claims Period, Cash America shall 

provide a final report to the Regional Director detailing the entirety of its efforts to provide 

redress to A ffected Consumers, including a signed report from an internal auditor or third

party auditor certifying Respondent's completion o f the Redress Plan. 

51. \Vith regard to redress paid pursuant to this Section, Respondent may neither seek nor 

receive, directly or indirectly, any reimbursement or indemnification from any insurance 

policy, and shall treat such redress payments in the ordinary course for tax purposes and may 

claim lawful deductions but shall not seek any extraordinary tax credit or other treatment. 
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IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Pursuant to Section 1055( c) of the CI'PA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565( c), by reason of the violations of 

law set forth in Section IV of this Order, and taking into account the factors set forth in 

Section 1055( c)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), including the substantial redress 

provided to consumers and Respondent's cooperation, Cash America shall pay a civil money 

penalty of $5,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

53. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay the civil money penalty in the 

form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau. 

54. The civil money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

55. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligation to pay a civil money penalty as 

required by this Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, 

and shall immediately become due and payable. 

56. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to Respondent. 

57. Respondent shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for all 

purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal, 

state, or local tax for any civil mo ney penalty that Respondent pays pursuant to this 

Order; or 
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b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty that Respondent pays pursuant to this Order. 

58. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related Consumer Action, 

Respondent shall not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor shall Respondent benefit by, 

any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action, 

by any amount of the civil money penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court 

in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent shall, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify tl1e Bureau, and pay tl1e 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be deemed an 

additio nal civil money penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

x 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. For a period of three years from the E ffective Date, Cash America shall noti fy the Bureau of 

any change in Respondent that may affect obligations arising under this Order, including, 

but not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result 

in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, 

or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this order; the proposed filing of 

any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Cash 

America's name or address. 
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60. Cash America shall report any change in the information required to be submitted under this 

Section at least 30 days prior to such change. Provided, h01J1ever, that with respect to any 

proposed change about which Cash America learns less than 30 days prior to the date such 

action is to take place, Cash America shall notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable after 

obtaining such knowledge. 

61. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year thereafter, Cash America shall 

submit to the Regional Director a true and accurate written compliance progress report 

("Compliance Report"), which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Cash America has complied with 

this Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to Section XI of 

this Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

62. After the submission of the Compliance Reports required by paragraph 61, Cash America 

shall submit to the Regional Director additional true and accurate Compliance Reports 

within 30 days of receiving a written request from the Regional Director. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Cash America shall deliver a copy of this Order to 

each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have supervisory responsibilities 

related to the sµbject matter of the Order. 

64. For a period of three years from the Effective Date, Cash America shall deliver a copy of 

this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in 
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Paragraph 59, any future Board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have supervisory 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

65. Cash America shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the E-Sign 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of 

this Order pursuant to this Section. 

XII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Cash America shall create, for at least three years from the Effective Date, and then retain, 

for at least five years, and make available to Bureau representatives upon request, the 

following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, as set forth in Section 

VIII. 

67. For at least three years from the Effective Date, Cash America shall not change its document 

retention practices regarding the location and storage of its documents, unless prior to the 

date of change its Board has: 

a. by resolution authorized the change of location; and 

b. sent a certified copy of the resolution to the Regional Director. 
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XIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a Bureau representative, all submissions, requests, 

communications, consents or other documents relating to this Order shall be in writing and 

shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, N .W. 
Washington, D.C. 20552 

The subject line shall begin: !11 re Cash America International, Inc. File No. 2013-CFPB-

0008. 

XIV 

Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, 

modify any non-material provisions of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be 

in writing. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

xv 

Administrative Provisions 

70. Except as set forth in paragraph 71, the provisions o f this Order shall not bar, estop, or 

otherwise prevent the Bureau, or any other federal or state agency or department, from 

taking any other. action against Respondent. 

71. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for violations of 

law that have been or might have been asserted by the Bureau based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Order, to the extent such practices occurred prior to the 

Effective Date and are known to the Bureau as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the practices alleged in this O rder may be utilized by the Bureau in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern 

or practice o f violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice o f violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect any right of the 

Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the Order, or 

to seek penalties for any violations thereo f. 

72. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued pursuant to 

Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not be 

construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

73. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain e ffective and 

enforceable, except to the extent that, and until such time as, any provisions o f this Order 

shall have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 
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74. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

75. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any violation of this 

Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

76. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement between the 

parties. No promises, representations or warranties other than those set forth in this Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions, or 

understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

77. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as allowing the 

Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this °Q()h day of November, 2013. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2013-CFPB-0009 

In the Matter of 

GE Capital Retail Bank, 
CareCredit LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau has reviewed the business practices of GE 

Capital Retail Bank (the Bank) and its affiliate CareCredit LLC (CareCredit) (collectively, 

Respondent) relating to its health-care credit-card program operating under the CareCredit name, 

and has identified violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this consent order (Order). 

I 

JURISDICTION 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 

STIPULATION 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated December 6, 2013 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by 

the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Order by the 
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Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the below findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits that 

the Bureau has jurisdiction over it and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

3. "CareCredit Card" shall mean the consumer credit card issued and marketed by 

Respondent primarily for health-care services, including dental, veterinarian, cosmetic, vision, and 

audiology services, that may be used by consumers only with Enrolled Providers. 

4. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Order is entered. 

5. "Enrolled Provider" shall mean any provider that has a contract with Respondent 

permitting it to accept CareCredit Cards as financing for services offered to consumers. 

6. "Termination Date" shall mean the date by which the redress process described in 

Section V(B) below shall terminate, which shall be 18 months after the Effective Date. 

7. "Respondent" shall mean GE Capital Retail Bank and its affiliate, CareCredit LLC. 

IV 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The Bureau finds the following: 

8. The Bank, formerly known as GE Money Bank, is a federally-chartered savings 

association, and CareCredit is a California limited-liability company; both are indirect subsidiaries of 

General Electric Capital Corporation (GE Capital). 

9. Respondent issues the CareCredit Card, which is marketed primarily for health-care 

services, including dental, veterinarian, cosmetic, vision, and audiology services. The CareCredit 

Card is a "consumer financial product or service" as that term is defined in section 1002(5) of the 
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CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

10. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined in section 1002(6) of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (6). 

11. The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10,000,000,000 within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

A. CareCredit Card Financing Options 

12. Consumers can use the CareCredit Card only with Enrolled Providers. Enrolled 

Providers offer consumers the CareCredit Card to finance the cost of health-care services. Dental 

practices comprise approximately 55 percent of Respondent's CareCredit business. 

13. Respondent has approximately 175,000 Enrolled Prm·iders and approximately 

.+, 100,000 active CareCredit cardholders. 

14. From 2009 through the E ffective Date, Respondent provided two types of financing 

options for the CareCredit Card, which Respondent described in marketing materials as: 

a. " o Interest if Paid in Full Within 6, 12, 18, or 24 months" (the Promotional 

Option); and 

b. "14.9 percent APR and Fixed Monthly Payments Required Until Paid in 

Full" on qualifying purchases made with the CareCredit Card (the Fixed 

Payment Option). 

15. The Promotional Option is for a defined period. If the consumer does not pay the 

original balance in full within the promotional period, Respondent charges 26.99 percent interest on 

the consumer's declining balance from the date of the consumer's original purchase. A 26.99 percent 

interest rate then applies to the account balance going forward. This type of financing arrangement 

is typically called a deferred-interest promotion. 

16. Approximately 85 percent of CareCredit consumers choose the Promotional Option 
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over the Fixed Payment Option. 

17. Consumers apply for and open a CareCredit Card through one of two channels: the 

"Prm·ider Channel" and the "Consumer Channel." 

18. \'</ hen consumers open a CareCredit Card through the Consumer Channel, they do 

so online, often at their own homes, and they typically are not billed for dental or other health-care 

services at the same time as card enrollment. These consumers receive their initial disclosures 

directly from Respondent. 

19. When consumers open a CareCredit Card through the Provider Channel, they apply 

for and enroll in the card in an Enrolled Provider's office. E nrolled Providers give consumers 

application materials, convey information about the CareCredit Card, and facilitate the submission 

of the application to Respondent. .Aside from the printed application and other written disclosures, 

which arc prepared by Respondent, any additional information the consumer receives regarding the 

card's terms typically comes from an Enrolled Provider's staff member, such as an office manager or 

receptionist. Consumers open the card and are billed for their dental or other health-care se1Yices 

that are typically performed at that time or shortly thereafter. Respondent promptly issues payment 

to the Enrolled Provider for the services charged to the CareCredit Card. 

B. Insufficient Training and Monitoring of the Provider Channel 

20. The Bureau's investigation determined that in some cases Respondent insufficiently 

trained Enrolled Providers on delivering material information to consumers about the Promotional 

Option's terms. In some cases, Respondent also failed to sufficiently monitor Enrolled Providers' 

compliance with Respondent's policies and the law. 

21. The Bureau's investigation found that in some instances, by virtue of the facts 

described in Paragraph 20, Enrolled Providers and their o ffice staff improperly completed 

CareCredit Card application information and submitted the application on behalf of consumers. 
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Some Enrolled Providers com·eyed the terms of the Promotional Option to consumers orally, 

sometimes incorrectly. For example, contrary to Respondent's policies, some Enrolled Providers: 

a. told consumers that the CareCredit Card was "interest free for 12 months," 

as opposed to being a deferred-interest promotion; and 

b. failed to provide consumers with the proper written disclosures or otherwise 

inform consumers that the interest rate would be 26.99 percent at the end of 

the promotional period. 

22. Some co nsumers did not receive the written disclosures creditors are required to 

provide before account opening under Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.5, 1026.6. 

23. Even if a consumer enrolling in the Promotional Option through the Pro,·ider 

Channel received proper, written disclosures, some Enrolled Providers, contrary to Respondent's 

policies, orally provided contradictory or misleading in formation about the card, causing consumers 

to misunderstand the Promotional O ption. 

C. Insufficient Materials 

24. In addition, where the E nrolled Providers provided incorrect information to 

consumers, the consumer-facing materials that Respondent prm·ided to its Enrolled Providers were 

not adequate to counteract the effects o f the incorrect information that consumers received, such as 

a clear explanation that the 26.99 percent interest would accrue from the date of purchase and be 

charged to the consumer's account if the original balance was not paid within the promotional 

period. 

25. The consumer-facing materials used by Respondent to explain the card's terms, 

coupled with the lack o f sufficient procedures to ensure that the E nrolled Providers adequately 

communicated those terms to consumers, resulted in certain consumers misunderstanding the card's 

terms and the steps to take to avoid deferred interest, penalties, and fees . 
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26. Some consumers who enrolled in Respondent's Promotional Option through the 

Provider Channel paid deferred interest because they lacked information about the terms o f the 

CareCredit Card. 

27. Accordingly, some consumers incurred substantial debt that was costly, 

unanticipated, and not reasonably avoidable. 

D. Unfair and Deceptive Practices in Respondent's Provider Channel 

28. As described above, Respondent's failure to adequately train and monitor all 

Enrolled Providers, and Respondent's failure to ensure that material disseminated by the Enrolled 

Providers was capable of counteracting erroneous information given to consumers, caused 

substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable, and was not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. These practices therefore violated section 

103l(c)(1) of the CFPA's prohibition on unfair acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

By virtue of these facts, Respondent engaged in these unfair acts or practices. 

29. , \ s described above, certain Enrolled Providers, in offering Respondent's CareCredit 

Card to consumers, (i) told consumers that the CareCredit Card's Promotional Option was a " no-

interest" credit card rather than a deferred-interest card, and (ii) failed to inform consumers selecting 

the Promotional Option that interest would accrue at a rate o f 26.99 percent from the date of 

purchase if the balance was not paid before the promotional period ended. These were material 

misrepresentations and omissions of fact, likely to mislead consumers, and constituted deceptive and 

misleading statements and practices in violation of section 1031 (a)(1) of the CFPA's prohibition on 

deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). Respondent's operation o f the Provider 

Channel resulted in these deceptive and misleading acts and practices. 
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v 

ORDER 

IT IS H ERE BY ORDERED that Respondent shall cease and desist the unfair and 

deceptive acts or practices described above and shall take affirmative actions set forth below in 

Paragraphs 30 through 51 and described in A ttachments A-1 through A-5, which constitutes the 

Remedial Monitoring Plan. 

IT IS H EREBY ORDERED that Respondent shall, within the timeframes set forth 

below, implement the following Remedial Monitoring Plan to prevent further violations o f sections 

1031 and1036 o f the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536 (the prohibitions o n deceptive and unfair acts 

or practices). 

IT IS H EREBY ORDERED that Respo ndent shall set aside $27,700,000 in a 

Reimbursement Fund to be distributed to consumers in the Appeal Group and the D eferred 

Interest Group, as set forth below in P aragraphs 52 through 55, in the manner set forth in 

Paragraphs 56 through 83, with any remaining funds to be used by the Bureau in its sole discretion 

for such equitable relief or to be transferred to the United States Treasury. Respondent shall also set 

aside an Auxiliary Fund in the amount o f $6,400,000 for the same purpose, except that any 

remaining funds shall return to Respondent. 

IT IS H E REBY ORDERED that Respondent shall bear all costs related to the Remedial 

Monitoring Plan, Reimbursement Fund, Auxiliary Pund, and Credit Bureau Rehabilitation Plan set 

forth below in Section V(A)-(B). 

A. Rem edial Monitoring Plan 

T ransparency Principles 

30. Respondent's E nrolled Provider contracts shall include "Transparency Principles," 

(Attachment A-1 ), requiring that E nrolled Providers accurately describe the terms of the CareCredit 
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Card to consumers. \,'\fithin 60 days from the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Bureau 

for approval a cover letter to Enrolled Providers indicating that the Transparency Principles will 

become a material part of the contract with the Enrolled Provider and that continued participation 

in the CareCredit Card program, including acceptance of CareCredit Cards as payment, will 

constitute consent by the Enrolled Provider to the terms of the Transparency Principles. Within 60 

days of Bureau approval, Respondent shall send the Bureau-approved cover letter with the 

Transparency Principles to Enrolled Providers. 

Charges in Advance of Treatment 

31. Respondent's Enrolled Provider contracts shall prohibit charges for services not yet 

rendered, unless those services (i) include orthodontic services, or are custom products ordered by 

the consumer, or (ii) are intended to be and are completed, or out-o f-pocket costs incurred, within 

30 days of the applicable charge. For all services other than those in (i) above, if services are not 

completed within 30 days, the consum er is entitled to a refund or account credit for all such services 

not yet completed. 

Charges in the Provider Channel over $1,000 

32. For any consumer who wishes to submit a new CareCredit application for dental or 

audiology charges over $1,000, the Enrolled Provider will require the consumer to apply directly 

with Respondent and will provide the consumer with a toll-free number for that purpose. This 

requirement shall not apply to (i) transactions that occur more than three days after an application is 

completed in the Provider Channel, (ii) applications in the Provider Channel other than for dental 

and audiology services, or (iii) applications completed in the Consumer Channel. Respondent will 

provide the toll-free number to Enrolled Providers for this purpose within 120 days o f the Effective 

Date. During the phone application process, Respondent shall inform the consumer of the terms 

and conditions o f the financing by using an approved script, which is attached to the O rder as 
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Attachment A-2. Respondent's Enrolled Provider contracts shall be amended to require this 

process. Respondent will not materially change the language of Attachment A-2 for three years 

without the Bureau's approval unless required by law, in which case Respondent shall provide at 

least 30 days advance not.ice to the Bureau of any anticipated change. 

33. In the event an Enrolled Provider fails to follow the procedure set forth in 

Paragraph 32 for a newly-enrolled consumer, Respondent shall provide that consumer with an 

unqualified right to reverse the covered dental or audiology transact.ion from his or her account, 

even if se1Yices are in fact rendered. 

Enhancements to Disclosures 

3-4-. \'{'ithin 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall include a revised cover page 

to its printed application, (see Attachment A-3), which is approved by the Bureau, and shall 

disseminate it to all Enrolled Providers with instructions to replace any existing applications with the 

new application. Respondent's Enrolled Provider contracts shall require Enrolled Providers to 

maintain the signature page for si.x years. For a period of three years, Respondent will not materially 

change the language in the cover page of Attachment A-3 without approval of the Bureau, unless 

required by law, in which case Respondent shall provide at least 30 days advance notice to the 

Bureau of any anticipated change. Respondent may change the annual percentage rate without the 

Bureau's approval. 

35. Additionally, within 120 days o f the Effective Date, to the extent the disclosures as 

set forth in the cover page to the printed application (see Attachment A-3) are applicable to the 

Consumer Channel, Respondent shall use its best efforts to ensure that they are prominently 

displayed on CareCredit's website alo ng with the application. 

Additional Enhancements 

36. Other than for consumers who incur charges described in Paragraphs 32-33, starting 
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within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall make best efforts to call consumers within 48 

hours, and in no event longer than 72 hours (\\!elcome Call), from the submission of any new 

CareCredit application in the Provider Channel resulting in a same-day charge on a new account. 

The Welcome Call shall provide consumers with (i) the amount of the initial transaction and how 

the consumers can find additional details about their account, (ii) notice that for the services 

charged, those services must be performed within 30 days, and (iii) for consumers who applied for 

the Promotional Option, that interest at the rate of 26.99 percent (or the applicable interest rate at 

that time) will be incurred from the date of purchase and charged if the original balance is not paid 

by the end of the promotional period. A copy of an approved script for the \X!clcome Call is 

attached to this Order as Attachment A-4. 

37. In each of the two billing statements that are sent before the end of the promotional 

period, there shall be a clear and prominent warning of the promotional period's expiration. (See 

Attachment A-5) . 

38. \"Xfithin 120 days of the Effective Date, for consumers who opt out of paper billing 

statements, Respondent shall use its best efforts to send an email in each of the two billing cycles 

before the end of the promotional period, clearly advising in the text of the email that the 

promotional period is expiring. In addition, in those same two cycles, the billing statements available 

to consumers who opt out of paper billing statements shall be substantially similar to the statement 

set forth in Attachment A-5. 

Enrolled Provider Training 

39. Respondent shall enhance its training curriculum for Enrolled Providers, including a 

web-based training program explaining the terms and conditions of the CarcCrcdit Card, applicable 

elements of this Order, and the requirements of the Transparency Principles. Respondent's web-

based training program shall prevent Enrolled Providers from skipping pages, and include post-
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training testing, which the Enrolled Provider must pass to qualify. Respondent shall provide new 

training materials, including the web-based training, to the Bureau for approval within 60 days of the 

Effective Date. Respondent shall retrain all Enrolled Providers within 18 months after the Bureau's 

approval of such training materials (Training Deadline). 

40. Respondent shall obtain a written certification or digital acknowledgement that the 

Enrolled Provider took the new training, which it shall retain for four years. Thereafter, Respondent 

shall require retraining every two years, and keep certifications or acknowledgements of such 

retraining for at least four years. 

41. For any Enrolled Provider who fails to have at least one employee complete the 

training by 30 days after the Training Deadline, Respondent shall suspend that Enrolled Provider's 

ability to process CareCredit applications until the training is completed. 

Rebates to Enrolled Providers 

42. Respondent shall not give kickbacks, rebates, compensation, or in-kind services to 

any Enrolled Provider in exchange for an Enrolled Provider's new loan volume. This prm·ision does 

not prevent Respondent from basing prospective pricing in Enrolled Provider contracts on 

historical volume. 

Use of Paid Endorsements 

43. Respondent shall not use any paid endorsements to professional associations in any 

consumer-facing marketing or related consumer-facing materials. 

Termination of Certain Enrolled Providers 

44. Except for Enrolled Providers described in Paragraph 45 below, Respondent shall 

terminate any Enrolled Provider who has a chargeback rate of more than five percent of its 

financing transactions within a one-year period. 

45. For Enrolled Providers with fewer than 20 CareCredit transactions every SL'> months 
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and more than one chargeback in the same period, Respondent shall monitor such Enrolled 

Providers and take appropriate actions, up to and including termination, where warranted. 

4-6. As part of the annual report described in Section VI of the Order, Respondent shall 

review with the Bureau Enrolled Provider performance to determine whether additional suspensions 

or terminations are warranted based on complaints, monitoring, chargebacks, and other information. 

Prompt Complaint Resolution, Refunds, and Rescission 

47. Respondent shall use its best efforts to resolve consumer complaints within 30 days 

of the date the consumer contacts Respondent, and use its best efforts issue refunds, credits, and 

chargebacks where appropriate within 45 days of receiving a complaint. For purposes of this Order, 

a complaint is any CareCredit cardholder-initiatcd dispute about his or her account. 

48. Respondent shall accept complaints from consumers by telephone or in writing. 

Both oral and written complaints will be used to assess and monitor Enrolled Providers' adherence 

to their CareCredit contracts, as amended by this Order. 

49. While a balance is being carried, Respondent will not impose fees or interes t on the 

disputed balance, or send an account to collection as a result of a consumer's failure to pay a 

disputed balance while a complaint is pending. Respondent may require any complaint to be filed 

within 60 months of the date of the consumer's transaction, but shall not otherwise impose any time 

limits for the filing of complaints . 

50. When a consumer claims that an Enrolled Provider omitted or misrepresented the 

CareCredit Card's terms and conditions in connection with the opening of an account in the 

Provider Channel, Respondent shall require the Enrolled Provider to forward the consumer's 

signature page (see Attachment A-3) and a signed sales receipt. If the Enrolled Prm·ider docs not 

forward these materials to Respondent, Respondent shall close the account, rescind the transaction, 

and charge back any amount incurred on the account. If the Enrolled Provider forwards a signature 
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page (see Attachment A-3) but no sales receipt, Respondent shall refund any disputed amount 

charged to the account. 

51. Respondent agrees to maintain and to implement standardized procedures for 

tracking all complaints and, within 45 days of the Effective Date, shall provide to the Bureau a 

written description of these procedures, which will provide the basis of the complaint reporting in 

CareCredit's annual report to the Bureau, as set forth in Section VI below. 

B . Consumer Redress Process 

Consumers Eligible for Redress Process 

52. Respondent shall identify all consumers who contacted Respondent to dispute a 

charge incurred between January 1, 2009 and nine months after the Effective Date, and whose 

dispute was resolved in favor of the E nrolled Provider or Respondent. Such consumers shall include 

those who enrolled through either the Provider Channel or the Consumer Channel, and who used 

the card for any type of transaction. For purposes o f this Order, these consumers will be referred to 

as the "Appeal G roup." Consumers who are eligible for remediation under the 1\ ssurance of 

Discontinuance entered into by Respondent and the New York Attorney General o n June 3, 2013 

(New York AOD) are not included in the Appeal Group. 

53. Respondent shall inform the Appeal Group that they are entitled to appeal 

Respondent's previous determination of their dispute and may be entitled to rein1bursement. The 

no tice shall explain the procedures to submit certification that the individual: (i) did not receive 

some or all of the products or services for which the individual was charged; (ii) was promised a 

credit refund by the E nrolled Provider that is not yet reflected on the individual's CareCredit 

statement; (iii) did not authorize the CareCredit application or charge; or (i,·) was not adeguately 

informed that they would owe interest if the balance was not paid in full upon expiration of the 

promotional period, the rate o f interest, or that the applicable interest accrues on the outstanding 
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balance during the promotional period from the purchase date. Certifications based on disputes that 

fall outside these four categories will not be reviewed under this Order. 

54. Respondent shall identify all consumers who (i) enrolled through the Provider 

Channel, (ii) completed a deferred-interest transaction for dental or audiology services between 

January 1, 2009 and December 31, 2012, and (iii) were assessed interest on such promotion, as long 

as the interest was assessed by nine months after the Effective Date. Such consumers shall be 

identified as the "Deferred Interest Group." The D eferred Interest Group shall not include: (i) 

consumers who initiated more than one deferred-interest transaction, where the second transaction 

occurred after the expiration of the promotional period for the first deferred-interest transaction on 

the account; (ii) consumers whose deferred interest was charged off, waived, or not paid; (iii) 

consumers who are included in the .Appeal Group; or (iv) consumers who are eligible for 

remediation under the New York AOD. 

55. Respondent shall inform the Deferred Interest Group that they are entitled to file a 

dispute with Respondent and may be entitled to reimbursement if they were not adequately 

informed and did not understand: (i) that they would owe interest if their balance was not paid in 

full upon expiration of the promotional period; (ii) their applicable interest rate; or (iii) that the 

applicable interest rate accrues on the outstanding balance during the promotional period from the 

purchase date. 

Notification and Certification Process for Review 

56. Respondent will send Bureau-approved notices to the Appeal Group. (See 

Attachment 1\ -6.) The notices shall be sent by U.S. Mail. For those consumers with open accounts 

who have elected to receive correspondence relating to their account (e.g., statements) by email, 

notices shall be also sent by email. The notices shall include: 

a. A statement that the consumer may submit a claim if one of the four 
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categories identified in Paragraph 53 is applicable. 

b. A form for the consumer to complete, sign, and return, which sets forth the 

category for relief forming the basis of the claim, and the dates of the charges 

that the consumer believes were improper. The form may be submitted by 

return mail. 

c. A statement that CareCredit has 30 days from receipt of the submission to 

issue reimbursement, or submit the claim to an independent adjudicator for 

review (Independent Adjudicator). 

d. A statement that the consumer must respond within 90 days of receipt for 

their appeal to be reconsidered. The statement must include an address to 

which the consumer shall send a response. 

e. A prepaid return envelope. 

f. A statement requesting the consumer's mailing address for receipt of any 

reimbursement. 

g. For mailed notifications of a claim, a statement on the outer envelope, in 16-

point or larger red font, that the consumer may be owed money. 

Notifications of a claim made through email must include a sta tement in the 

subject line of the email that the consumer may be owed money. The email 

must also alert the consumer that a notice containing a prepaid return 

envelope will be mailed to the consumer. 

57. Respondent will send Bureau-approved notices to the Deferred Interest Group, 

(1\ttachment A-7). The notices shall be sent by U.S. Mail. For those consumers with open accounts 

who have elected to receive correspondence relating to their account (e.g., statements) by email, 

notices shall be also sent by email. The notices shall include: 
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a. A statement that the consumer may submit a claim if the categories identified 

in Paragraphs 54-55 are applicable. 

b. A form for the consumer to complete, sign, and return, which sets forth the 

dates of the charges that the consumer believes were improper, and the basis 

for the consumer's claim that they were not adequately informed and did not 

understand: (i) that they would owe interest if their balance was not paid in 

full upon expiration of the promotional period; (ii) their applicable interest 

rate; or (iii) that the applicable interest rate accrues on the outstanding 

balance during the promotional period from the purchase date. The form 

may be submitted by return mail. 

c. A statement that CareCredit has 60 days from receipt of the reply to approve 

the consumer's entitlement to any reimbursement, or submit the claim to the 

Independent Adjudicator for review. 

d. A statement that the consumer must respond within 90 days of receipt for 

their dispute to be considered. The statement must include an address to 

which the consumer shall send a response. 

e. A prepaid return envelope. 

f. A statement requesting the consumer's mailing address for receipt o f any 

reimbursement. 

g. For mailed notifications of a claim, a statement on the outer envelope, in 16-

point or larger red font, that the consumer may be owed money. 

Notifications of a claim made through email must include a statement in the 

subject line of the email that the consumer may be owed money. The email 

must also alert the consumer that a notice containing a prepaid return 
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envelope will be sent to the consumer 

58. The Independent Adjudicator shall be agreed upon by the Bureau and Respondent 

within 60 days of the Effective D ate. 

59. Within 60 days after the agreement on the Independent Adjudicator, Respondent 

shall send the notices to consumers within the Appeal Group and D eferred Interest Group to the 

last-known address and, for consumers with open accounts who have elected to receive 

correspondence relating to their account (e.g., statements) by email, the last-known email address. 

60. If additional consumers meet the requirements to be part of the Appeal Group or 

the D eferred Interest Group after Respondent sends the initial notices to the Appeal Group and 

Deferred Interest Group, Respondent shall send additional notices in the same manner as set forth 

above on an ongoing basis to such consumers. Respondent shall use its best efforts to ensure that 

such additional notices are sent within 30 days from the date upon which the consumer meets the 

requirements to be part of the Appeal Group or Deferred Interest Group. 

61. Responden t shall make reasonable efforts to ensure the notices are received, 

including contacting the United States Post Office for forwarding addresses for notices returned as 

undeliverable. 

Review Process, Reimbursement Fund, and Auxiliary Fund 

62. Once a certified appeal or certified dispute (collectively, Certifications) is received 

from a consumer in either the Appeal Group or the Deferred Interest Group, Respondent shall not 

assess any interest on the disputed balance on the consumer's CareCredit Card until a decision is 

made by either Respondent or the Independent Adjudicator. 

63. Respondent shall ensure it has adequate staff to handle queries, claims, and 

Certifications pertaining to this Order. 

64. Consumers within the .Appeal Group and the Deferred Interest Group include those 
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with open CareCreclit accounts and those with closed accounts with and without a balance. 

65. Respondent's reimbursement determinations shall include all reguested amounts that 

have not been previously reimbursed by Respondent, which shall include any interest, fees, or 

penalties paid by the consumer, and nine percent annual interest from the date of the first disputed 

charge to the date reimbursement is issued. The Independent Adjudicator's reimbursement 

determinations shall include the amount of reimbursement determined to be owed, which shall 

include any interest, fees, or penalties imposed by Respondent, and nine percent annual interest 

added to the reimbursemen t amount from the date on which the Independent Adjudicator 

determines reimbursement should have been made. \X!hether made by Respondent or the 

Independent Adjudicator, reimbursement determinations will be referred to as "Reimbursement 

Awards" in this Order. 

66. Respondent shall issue Reimbursement Awards as follows: 

a. For any consumer with an open CareCredit account, Respondent shall issue a 

statement credit or send a reimbursement check made payable to the 

consumer and mailed to the consumer's address as set forth in the 

consumer's Certification; 

b. For any consumer with a closed or inactive ($0 balance) CareCredit account, 

Respondent shall send a reimbursement check made payable to the consumer 

and mailed to the consumer's address as set forth in the consumer's 

Certification; 

c. If the consumer is deceased, and the active account balance is greater than 

the Reimbursement Award, Respondent "vill provide a statement credit to 

the account; otherwise, a reimbursement check "vill be sent to the consumer's 

estate; for accounts with an estate, the Reimbursement Award will be 
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determined based on the status of the estate; and 

d. With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, and accounts in litigation, 

Respondent shall make the Reimbursement Award in accordance with 

applicable law. 

67. Within 30 days of receipt of a Certification from an Appeal Group member, 

Respondent shall either (i) issue a Reimbursement Award, or (ii) refer the consumer's Certification 

to the Independent Adjudicator to review the facts and claim set forth in the Certification for a 

decision on the appeal. T he Independent Adjudicator shall use its best efforts to render a decision 

within 60 days o f the Independent Adjudicator's receipt of the Certification. 

68. After the Independent Adjudicator renders a decision, the Independent Adjudicator 

shall promptly notify Respondent of the decision. A fter learning of the Independent Adjudicator's 

decision, Respondent shall use its best efforts to notify the Appeal Group consumer of the decision 

within 30 days. If the Independent Adjudicator determines that the consumer in the Appeal G roup 

is entitled to a Reimbursement Award, Respondent shall send the Reimbursement Award with such 

notification. 

69 . Within 60 days receipt of a Certification from a Deferred Interest Group member, 

Respondent shall either (i) make a determination to issue a Reimbursement Award, or (ii) refer the 

consumer's Certification to the Independent Adjudicator to review the facts and claims for a 

decision on the dispute. T he Independent Adj udicator shall use its best efforts to render a decision 

within 60 days o f the Independent Adjudicator's receipt of the Certification. 

70. After all determinations have been made with respect to Certifications submitted by 

Ap peal Group and D eferred Interest Group members - whether by Respondent or the Independent 

Adjudicator - Respondent shall calculate the Reimbursement Award of each Deferred Interest 

Group member in accordance with Paragraphs 65 and 76 and issue the Reimbursement Awards in 
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accordance with Paragraph 66. 

71. Respondent shall continue to cooperate with the Bureau and promptly resolve all 

consumer complaints that the Bureau submits to it, or otherwise come to its attention. 

72. All Certifications must be submitted and reviewed and all Reimbursement Awards 

made by Respondent or the Independent Adjudicator by the Termination Date. 

Reimbursement Fund and Auxiliary Fund 

73. Respondent shall set aside S27,700,000 to reimburse consumers in the r\ppeal Group 

and the Deferred Interest Group who submit Certifications and for whom Respondent or the 

Independent Adjudicator rule in their favor (Reimbursement Fund). 

74. In addition to the Reimbursement Fund, Respondent shall set aside an additional 

$6,400,000 to reimburse consumers in the Appeal Group and the D eferred Interest Group who 

submit Certifications and for whom Respondent or the Independent Adjudicator rule in their favor 

(Auxiliary Fund). The Auxiliary Fund will be utilized only after the Reimbursement Fund is fully 

utilized. 

75. Any Reimbursement Award, whether determined by Respondent o r the Independent 

Adjudicator, shall be paid to members of the 1\ ppeal Group within 30 days after Respondent's 

decision on the consumer Certification, or Respondent's notice of the Independent Adjudicator's 

decision o n the consumer's Certification. Any Reimbursement Award, whether determined by 

Respondent or the Independent Adjudicator, shall be paid to members of the D eferred Interest 

Group by the Termination Date. 

76. If Reimbursement Awards to consumers in the Deferred Interest Group collecti,·ely 

exceed the amount of money remaining in the Reimbursement Fund and the Fund, each 

consumer in the Deferred Interest Group shall receive a pro rata share of their Reimbursement 

Award. 
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77. \\'ithin 30 days after the Termination Date, if the funds in the Reimbursement Fund 

are not exhausted, Respondent shall be ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer 

to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions 

to be provided by counsel for the Bureau, the difference between the amount of redress in the form 

of Reimbursement Awards provided to consumers in the Appeal Group and the Deferred Interest 

Group, and the amount remaining in the Reimbursement Fund (the Unused Reimbursement 

Funds). Any unused funds in the 1\uxiliary Fund shall return to Respondent. 

78. The Bureau may apply any Unused Reimbursement Funds for such other equitable 

relief, including consumer information remedies, as determined to be reasonably related to the 

violations described in Section IV of this Order. Any funds not used for such equitable relief shall 

be deposited in the United States Treasury. Respondent shall have no right to challenge any actions 

that the Bureau or its representatives may take pursuant to this paragraph. 

79. Respondent shall bear all costs, separate and apart from the amount it sets aside in 

the Reimbursement Fund and Auxiliary Fund, related to the notification, processing, and resolution 

of Certifications submitted to the Independent Adjudicator, including the cost of the Independent 

Adjudicator. 

80. T he notice and claims process described in this Order is designed to fully 

compensate consumers for the violations of law cited herein. Redress provided by Respondent shall 

not limit consumers' rights. 

81. Respondent shall not attach any conditions to the reimbursement provided to 

consumers, including requiring consumers to waive any rights. 

82. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under this 

Order, interest, computed according to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date o f default to the date of payment, and shall immediately 
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become due and payable. 

83. Except to the extent any unused funds in the Auxiliary Fund are returned to 

Respondent pursuant to Paragraph 77, Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to 

the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds shall be returned to 

Respondent. 

Credit Bureau Rehabilitation Plan 

84. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall develop a notice and 

remediation plan for the purpose of providing credit bureau rehabilitation to certain consumers. 

This plan, which must be approved by the Bureau, shall apply to consumers who would othe1wise 

have been eligible for the Deferred Interest Group except that their CareCredit accounts were 

charged off by Respondent and the total amount of payments on their account at time of charge off 

was less than the promotional purchase amount. 

VI 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

A. Reporting Requirements 

85. Respondent shall establish, at its own expense, a compliance monitor for the 

Consumer Redress Process (Compliance Monitor). The Compliance Monitor must be mutually 

agreed upon between the Bureau and Respondent. The Compliance Monitor shall review and verify 

that Respondent adheres to all aspects of the Consumer Redress Process described in Section V(B) . 

86. For every si.." months after the Effective Date until the Termination Date, the 

Compliance Monitor shall prepare a detailed written report verifying Respondent's compliance with 

the Consumer Redress Process (Redress Report). The Redress Report shall also include a list of the 

consumers Respondent sent notices to, a list of consumers who submitted a Certification, whether 

each consumer received a Reimbursement Award and, if so, whether it was at the determination of 
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Respondent or the Independent Adjudicator, whether the Reimbursement Award was a credit to a 

consumer's account or a cash disbursement, and whether the consumer was part of the Appeal 

Group or the Deferred Interest Group. 

87. Within 30 days after the Termination Date and distribution of all Reimbursement 

Awards as set forth in Section V, Respondent shall submit a report to the Bureau setting forth a lis t 

of the consumers who submitted a Certification, whether each consumer received a Reimbursement 

r\ ward and, if so, whether it was at the determination of Respondent or the Independent 

Adjudicator, whether the Reimbursement Award was a credit to a consumer's account or a cash 

disbursement, and whether the consumer was part of the Appeal Group or the Deferred Interest 

Group. The report will provide a detailed accounting of all reimbursement to consumers and an 

accounting of funds remaining, if any, in the Reimbursement Fund, and to be paid to the Bureau as 

set forth in Paragraph 77. 

88. For each of the next three years following the Termination Date, Respondent shall 

submit an annual report to the Bureau describing the results of the measures that Respondent 

under takes as set forth in Section V of this Order concerning complaint-handling, monitoring, and 

enforcement, including but not limited to information relating to termination and suspension of 

E nrolled Providers. 

89. Respondent and the Compliance Monitor shall follow a comprehensive plan that is 

designed to ensure Respondent's relevant conduct complies with all terms of the Order (Compliance 

Plan). The Compliance Plan, which must be submitted to the Bureau within 45 days of the Effective 

D ate, shall include: 

a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order; and 

b. to the extent not already prescribed in this Order, specific timeframes and 

deadlines for implementation of the steps described above. 
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90. The Enforcement Director, or someone acting on the Enforcement Director's 

behalf, shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan 

or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event that the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to 

revise the Compliance Plan, Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan 

to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

91. Upon notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent shall implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Compliance Plan. 

92. Respondent shall notify the Bureau of any change that may affect obligations arising 

under this Order, including but not limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action 

that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the 

proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change 

in Respondent's name or address. To the extent any of the above described events will result in 

Respondent having a new name, Respondent may seek, and the Bureau agrees to consider, an 

extension of the deadlines set forth in Paragraphs 30, 32, 34 and 3.5. 

B. Order Distribution and Acknowledgement 

93. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this Order 

to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, supervisors, or 

other management-level agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the subj ect 

matter of the Order. 

94. For three years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Reporting 

Requirements in Paragraphs 8.5-92, any future Board members and executiYe officers, as well as to 
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any managers, supervisors, or other management-level agents and representatives who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

95. Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the E-

Sign Act, 15 U.S .C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this 

Order pursuant to this Section. 

C. Recordkeeping 

96. Respondent shall create and retain, for at least three years from the Effective Date, 

and make available to Bureau representatives upon request, the following business records: (i) all 

documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this Order, 

including all submissions to the Bureau; (ii) all documents and records pertaining to the Remedial 

Monitoring Plan, Reimbursement Fund, and Auxiliary Fund, as set forth in Section V above; and 

(iii) copies of all scripts used by Respondent's representatives in enrolling consumers, training 

materials, advertisements, websites, and other marketing materials relating to the CareCredit Card. 

D. Notices 

97. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a Bureau representative, Respondent shall 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, consents, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing and by overnight courier (not the United States Postal Service) with the subject line 

of the documents beginning: In re GE Capital Retail Bank, File No. 2013-CFPB-0009, as set out 

below. 

Enforcement Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20552 

Regional Director of Supervision, 
West Region 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
301 Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105. 

E. Compliance and Extensions of Time 

98. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may, in his 

discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time) . 

Any such modification by the Enforcement Director shall be in writing. 

F. Role of the Board 

99. With the exception of documents required to be submitted for Bureau approval 

pursuant to Paragraphs 30, 32, 34, 39, 84, and 89, the Board shall review all material submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Order before 

submission to the Bureau. 

100. Although this Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board shall have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent 

complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Order. 

101. In each instance in this Order in which the Board is required to ensure adherence to, 

or undertake to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board shall: 

a. authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of Respondent as may be 

necessary for Respondent to perform its obligations and undertakings under 

the terms of this Order; 

b. require the timely reporting by Respondent management of such actions 

directed by Respondent management to be taken under the terms of this 

Order; and 
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c. require corrective action be taken in a timely and appropriate manner in the 

case of any material non-compliance with such actions. 

VII 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

102. Except as set forth in Paragraph 107, below, the provisions of this Order shall not 

bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or any other federal or state agency or department, 

from taking any other action against Respondent. 

103. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued under 

12 U.S.C. § 5563(b), and expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract 

binding the Bureau or the United States. 

104. T his Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain effective and 

enforceable, except to the extent that, and until such time as, any provisions of this Order shall have 

been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

105. This O rder is applicable to every state in the United States, excep t the State of ew 

York. Compliance with the New York AOD constitutes compliance with this Order with respect to 

all consumers located in and all activities conducted in the State of New York, except that the 

redress relating to the Deferred Interest Group mus t be conducted pursuant to this Order for 

consumers located in the State of New York. 

106. Calculation of time limita tions shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise no ted. 

107 . This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against 

Respondent contemplated by the Bureau, based on the conduct described in Sectio n IV (Findings 

and Conclusions) of this Order. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential 

liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or civil mo ney 
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penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the Bureau based on Respondent's conduct, as 

described in Section IV of this Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date and arc known to the Bureau as of the Effective Date o f the Order. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the practices described in Section IV o f this Order may be used by the Bureau in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including without limitation to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau 

to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violatio ns thereof. 

108. The provisions of this Order shall be binding upon Respondent, and if Respondent 

is disposed of, spun-off, or sold, such sale, spin-off, or disposition will be contingent upon the new 

entity or purchaser's agreement to abide by the terms of this Order and all obligations imposed on 

or undertaken by Respondent herein as long as the CareCredit Card is offered by the new entity or 

purchaser. 

109. The proYisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. 1\ny violation of 

this Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau o f the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

110. This Order, the attachments to the Order, and the accompanying Stipulation contain 

the complete agreement between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties other than 

those set forth in this Order and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any o f the 

parties. This O rder, the Attachments, and the accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior 

communications, discussio ns, or understandings, if any, o f the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

28 



111. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulatio n shall be construed as 

allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this jQ_ th day of December, 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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 ) 
 ) 
 ) 
Plaintiffs, )  
 ) 
v. ) 
 )   
OCWEN FINANCIAL CORPORATION, ) 
 )  
and OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, ) 
 )         
Defendants. ) 
                                                                              ) 

 
CONSENT JUDGMENT 

 
 WHEREAS, Plaintiffs, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB” or 

“Bureau”), and the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, 

Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, 

Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, 

Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, 

Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, 

Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, the Commonwealths of Kentucky, 

Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and Virginia, and the District of Columbia (collectively, “Plaintiff 

States”) filed their complaint on December 19, 2013, alleging that Ocwen Financial Corporation 

and Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (collectively, “Defendant” or “Ocwen”) violated, among other 

laws, the Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices laws of the Plaintiff States and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010.  

 WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to resolve their claims without the need for 

litigation; 
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 WHEREAS, Defendant has consented to entry of this Consent Judgment without trial or 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law and to waive any appeal if the Consent Judgment is 

entered as submitted by the parties;  

 WHEREAS, Defendant, by entering into this Consent Judgment, does not admit the 

allegations of the Complaint other than those facts deemed necessary to the jurisdiction of this 

Court; 

 WHEREAS, the intention of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the States in 

effecting this settlement is to remediate harms allegedly resulting from the alleged unlawful 

conduct of the Defendant;  

 WHEREAS, the State Mortgage Regulators are entering into a Settlement Agreement and 

Consent Order with Ocwen to resolve the findings identified in the course of multi-state and 

concurrent independent examinations of Ocwen, as well as examinations of Litton Loan 

Servicing, LP and Homeward Residential, Inc., which were subsequently acquired by Ocwen.  

 AND WHEREAS, Defendant has agreed to waive service of the complaint and summons 

and hereby acknowledges the same; 

 NOW THEREFORE, without trial or adjudication of issue of fact or law, without this 

Consent Judgment constituting evidence against Defendant, and upon consent of Defendant, the 

Court finds that there is good and sufficient cause to enter this Consent Judgment, and that it is 

therefore ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED: 

I.  JURISDICTION 
 

1.  This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1367, and under 12 U.S.C. § 5565, and over Defendant.  The 
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Complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted against Defendant.  Venue is 

appropriate in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

II. APPLICABILITY 
 

2.  Defendant’s obligations as set forth in this Consent Judgment and the attached 

Exhibits shall apply equally and fully to Defendant regardless of whether Defendant is servicing 

residential mortgages as a servicer or subservicer. 

III.  SERVICING STANDARDS 
 

3.  Defendant shall comply with the Servicing Standards, attached hereto as Exhibit 

A, in accordance with their terms and Section A of Exhibit D, attached hereto. 

IV. FINANCIAL TERMS 
 

4.  Payments to Foreclosed Borrowers and Administration Costs.  Ocwen shall pay 

or cause to be paid the sum of $127.3 million (the “Borrower Payment Amount”) into an interest 

bearing escrow account established for this purpose by the State members of the Monitoring 

Committee within 10 days of receiving notice from the State members of the Monitoring 

Committee that the account is established.  The State members of the Monitoring Committee and 

the Administrator appointed under Exhibit B will use the funds in this account to provide cash 

payments to borrowers whose homes were sold in a foreclosure sale between and including 

January 1, 2009, and December 31, 2012, and who otherwise meet criteria set forth by the 

Monitoring Committee, and to pay the reasonable costs and expenses of the Administrator, 

including taxes and fees for tax counsel, if any.  Ocwen shall also pay or cause to be paid any 

additional amounts necessary to pay claims, if any, of borrowers whose data is provided to the 

Administrator by Ocwen after Defendant warrants that the data is complete and accurate pursuant 
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to Paragraph 3 of Exhibit B.  The Borrower Payment Amount shall be administered in 

accordance with the terms set forth in Exhibit B. 

5.  Consumer Relief.  Defendant shall provide $2 billion of relief to consumers who 

meet the eligibility criteria in the forms and amounts described in Exhibit C, to remediate harms 

allegedly caused by the alleged unlawful conduct of Defendant.  Defendant shall receive credit 

towards such obligation as described in Exhibit C. 

V. ENFORCEMENT 
 
6.  The Servicing Standards and Consumer Relief Requirements, attached as Exhibits 

A and C, are incorporated herein as the judgment of this Court and shall be enforced in 

accordance with the authorities provided in the Enforcement Terms, attached hereto as Exhibit 

D. 

7.  The Parties agree that Joseph A. Smith, Jr. shall be the Monitor and shall have the 

authorities and perform the duties described in the Enforcement Terms. 

8.  Within fifteen (15) days of the Effective Date of this Consent Judgment, the 

Plaintiffs shall designate an Administration and Monitoring Committee (the “Monitoring 

Committee”) as described in the Enforcement Terms.  The Monitoring Committee shall serve as 

the representative of the Plaintiffs in the administration of all aspects of this Consent Judgment 

and the monitoring of compliance with it by the Defendant. 

VI. RELEASES 
  
9.  The CFPB and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for the terms provided 

herein, for the release of certain claims and remedies as provided in the CFPB Release, attached 

hereto as Exhibit E.  CFPB and Defendant have also agreed that certain claims and remedies are 
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not released, as provided in Paragraph C of Exhibit E.  The releases contained in Exhibit E shall 

become effective upon payment of the Borrower Payment Amount by Defendant. 

10. The Plaintiff States and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for the terms 

provided herein, for the release of certain claims and remedies as provided in the State Release, 

attached hereto as Exhibit F.  The Plaintiff States and Defendant have also agreed that certain 

claims and remedies are not released, as provided in Section IV of Exhibit F.  The releases 

contained in Exhibit F shall become effective upon payment of the Borrower Payment Amount 

by Defendant.   

VII. OTHER TERMS 

11. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and any State Party may withdraw 

from the Consent Judgment and declare it null and void with respect to that party if Ocwen fails 

to make any payment required under this Consent Judgment and such non-payment is not cured 

within thirty (30) days of written notice by the party, except that the Released Parties, as defined 

in Exhibits E and F, other than Ocwen, are released upon the payment of the Borrower Payment 

Amount, at which time this nullification provision is only operative against Ocwen.   

12. This Court retains jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Judgment to 

enforce its terms.  The parties may jointly seek to modify the terms of this Consent Judgment, 

subject to the approval of this Court.  This Consent Judgment may be modified only by order of 

this Court.  

13. In addition to the provisions of paragraph 12, and in accordance with the terms set 

forth in Exhibit D, any Plaintiff State may also bring an action to enforce the terms of this 

Consent Judgment in the enforcing Plaintiff’s state court.  Ocwen agrees to submit to the 

jurisdiction of any such state court for purposes of a Plaintiff State’s enforcement action. 
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14. The Effective Date of this Consent Judgment shall be the date on which the 

Consent Judgment has been entered by the Court and has become final and non-appealable.  An 

order entering the Consent Judgment shall be deemed final and non-appealable for this purpose if 

there is no party with a right to appeal the order on the day it is entered.  

15. This Consent Judgment shall remain in full force and effect for three years from 

the date it is entered (“the Term”), at which time Defendant’s obligations under the Consent 

Judgment shall expire, except that pursuant to Exhibit D, Defendant shall submit a final 

Quarterly Report for the last quarter or portion thereof falling within the Term and cooperate 

with the Monitor’s review of said report, which shall conclude no later than six months after the 

end of the Term.  Defendant shall have no further obligations under this Consent Judgment six 

months after the expiration of the Term, but the Court shall retain jurisdiction for purposes of 

enforcing or remedying any outstanding violations that are identified in the final Monitor Report 

and that have occurred but not been cured during the Term.  The expiration of this Consent 

Judgment shall not affect any Releases.  

16. Each party to this litigation will bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees. 

17. Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall relieve Defendant of its obligation to 

comply with applicable state and federal law. 

18. The sum and substance of the parties’ agreement and of this Consent Judgment 

are reflected herein and in the Exhibits attached hereto.  In the event of a conflict between the 

terms of the Exhibits and paragraphs 1-17 of this summary document, the terms of the Exhibits 

shall govern. 
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SO ORDERED this ____ day of __________________, 20__ 
 

 
    ______________________________________ 
 
    UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE   
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Settlement Term Sheet 
 
The provisions outlined below are intended to apply to loans secured by owner-occupied 
properties that serve as the primary residence of the borrower unless otherwise noted 
herein. 
 
I. FORECLOSURE AND BANKRUPTCY INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION. 
 

Unless otherwise specified, these provisions shall apply to bankruptcy and 
foreclosures in all jurisdictions regardless of whether the jurisdiction has a 
judicial, non-judicial or quasi-judicial process for foreclosures and regardless of 
whether a statement is submitted during the foreclosure or bankruptcy process in 
the form of an affidavit, sworn statement or declarations under penalty of perjury 
(to the extent stated to be based on personal knowledge) (“Declaration”).  
 
A. Standards for Documents Used in Foreclosure and Bankruptcy 

Proceedings.  
 
1. Servicer shall ensure that factual assertions made in pleadings 

(complaint, counterclaim, cross-claim, answer or similar 
pleadings), bankruptcy proofs of claim (including any facts 
provided by Servicer or based on information provided by the 
Servicer that are included in any attachment and submitted to 
establish the truth of such facts) (“POC”), Declarations, affidavits, 
and sworn statements filed by or on behalf of Servicer in judicial 
foreclosures or bankruptcy proceedings and notices of default, 
notices of sale and similar notices submitted by or on behalf of 
Servicer in non-judicial foreclosures are accurate and complete and 
are supported by competent and reliable evidence. Before a loan is 
referred to non-judicial foreclosure, Servicer shall ensure that it has 
reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 
borrower’s default and the right to foreclose, including the 
borrower’s loan status and loan information. 

 
2. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements, and 

Declarations are based on personal knowledge, which may be 
based on the affiant’s review of Servicer’s books and records, in 
accordance with the evidentiary requirements of applicable state or 
federal law. 
 

3. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements and 
Declarations executed by Servicer’s affiants are based on the 
affiant’s review and personal knowledge of the accuracy and 
completeness of the assertions in the affidavit, sworn statement or 
Declaration, set out facts that Servicer reasonably believes would 
be admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent 
to testify on the matters stated. Affiants shall confirm that they 
have reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 
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borrower’s default and the right to foreclose, including the 
borrower’s loan status and required loan ownership information. If 
an affiant relies on a review of business records for the basis of its 
affidavit, the referenced business record shall be attached if 
required by applicable state or federal law or court rule.  This 
provision does not apply to affidavits, sworn statements and 
Declarations signed by counsel based solely on counsel’s personal 
knowledge (such as affidavits of counsel relating to service of 
process, extensions of time, or fee petitions) that are not based on a 
review of Servicer’s books and records. Separate affidavits, sworn 
statements or Declarations shall be used when one affiant does not 
have requisite personal knowledge of all required information. 

 
4. Servicer shall have standards for qualifications, training and 

supervision of employees. Servicer shall train and supervise 
employees who regularly prepare or execute affidavits, sworn 
statements or Declarations. Each such employee shall sign a 
certification that he or she has received the training. Servicer shall 
oversee the training completion to ensure each required employee 
properly and timely completes such training. Servicer shall 
maintain written records confirming that each such employee has 
completed the training and the subjects covered by the training. 

 
5. Servicer shall review and approve standardized forms of affidavits, 

standardized forms of sworn statements, and standardized forms of 
Declarations prepared by or signed by an employee or officer of 
Servicer, or executed by a third party using a power of attorney on 
behalf of Servicer, to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules, 
court procedure, and the terms of this Agreement (“the 
Agreement”). 

 
6. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall accurately 

identify the name of the affiant, the entity of which the affiant is an 
employee, and the affiant’s title. 

 
7. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations, including their 

notarization, shall fully comply with all applicable state law 
requirements. 

 
8. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall not contain 

information that is false or unsubstantiated. This requirement shall 
not preclude Declarations based on information and belief where 
so stated. 
 

9. Servicer shall assess and ensure that it has an adequate number of 
employees and that employees have reasonable time to prepare, 
verify, and execute pleadings, POCs, motions for relief from stay 
(“MRS”), affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations. 
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10. Servicer shall not pay volume-based or other incentives to 

employees or third-party providers or trustees that encourage 
undue haste or lack of due diligence over quality. 
 

11. Affiants shall be individuals, not entities, and affidavits, sworn 
statements and Declarations shall be signed by hand signature of 
the affiant (except for permitted electronic filings). For such 
documents, except for permitted electronic filings, signature 
stamps and any other means of electronic or mechanical signature 
are prohibited. 
 

12. At the time of execution, all information required by a form 
affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration shall be complete. 
 

13. Affiants shall date their signatures on affidavits, sworn statements 
or Declarations. 
 

14. Servicer shall maintain records that identify all notarizations of 
Servicer documents executed by each notary employed by 
Servicer. 
 

15. Servicer shall not file a POC in a bankruptcy proceeding which, 
when filed, contained materially inaccurate information. In cases in 
which such a POC may have been filed, Servicer shall not rely on 
such POC and shall (a) in active cases, at Servicer’s expense, take 
appropriate action, consistent with state and federal law and court 
procedure, to substitute such POC with an amended POC as 
promptly as reasonably practicable (and, in any event, not more 
than 30 days) after acquiring actual knowledge of such material 
inaccuracy and provide appropriate written notice to the borrower 
or borrower’s counsel; and (b) in other cases, at Servicer’s 
expense, take appropriate action after acquiring actual knowledge 
of such material inaccuracy. 
 

16. Servicer shall not rely on an affidavit of indebtedness or similar 
affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration filed in a pending pre-
judgment judicial foreclosure or bankruptcy proceeding which (a) 
was required to be based on the affiant’s review and personal 
knowledge of its accuracy but was not, (b) was not, when so 
required, properly notarized, or (c) contained materially inaccurate 
information in order to obtain a judgment of foreclosure, order of 
sale, relief from the automatic stay or other relief in bankruptcy. In 
pending cases in which such affidavits, sworn statements or 
Declarations may have been filed, Servicer shall, at Servicer’s 
expense, take appropriate action, consistent with state and federal 
law and court procedure, to substitute such affidavits with new 
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affidavits and provide appropriate written notice to the borrower or 
borrower’s counsel. 
 

17. In pending post-judgment, pre-sale cases in judicial foreclosure 
proceedings in which an affidavit or sworn statement was filed 
which was required to be based on the affiant’s review and 
personal knowledge of its accuracy but may not have been, or that 
may not have, when so required, been properly notarized, and such 
affidavit or sworn statement has not been re-filed, Servicer, unless 
prohibited by state or local law or court rule, will provide written 
notice to borrower at borrower’s address of record or borrower’s 
counsel prior to proceeding with a foreclosure sale or eviction 
proceeding. 
 

18. In all states, Servicer shall send borrowers a statement setting forth 
facts supporting Servicer’s or holder’s right to foreclose and 
containing the information required in paragraphs I.B.6 (items 
available upon borrower request), I.B.10 (account statement), I.C.2 
and I.C.3 (ownership statement), and IV.B.13 (loss mitigation 
statement) herein. Servicer shall send this statement to the 
borrower in one or more communications no later than 14 days 
prior to referral to foreclosure attorney or foreclosure trustee. 
Servicer shall provide the Monitoring Committee with copies of 
proposed form statements for review before implementation. 
 

B. Requirements for Accuracy and Verification of Borrower’s Account 
Information. 
 
1. Servicer shall maintain procedures to ensure accuracy and timely 

updating of borrower’s account information, including posting of 
payments and imposition of fees. Servicer shall also maintain 
adequate documentation of borrower account information, which 
may be in either electronic or paper format. 
 

2. For any loan on which interest is calculated based on a daily 
accrual or daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not 
a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, 
Servicer shall promptly accept and apply all borrower payments, 
including cure payments (where authorized by law or contract), 
trial modification payments, as well as non-conforming payments, 
unless such application conflicts with contract provisions or 
prevailing law. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 
payments shall be posted no more than two business days after 
receipt at the address specified by Servicer and credited as of the 
date received to borrower’s account. Each monthly payment shall 
be applied in the order specified in the loan documents. 
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3. For any loan on which interest is not calculated based on a daily 
accrual or daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not 
a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, 
Servicer shall promptly accept and apply all borrower conforming 
payments, including cure payments (where authorized by law or 
contract), unless such application conflicts with contract provisions 
or prevailing law. Servicer shall continue to accept trial 
modification payments consistent with existing payment 
application practices. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 
payments shall be posted no more than two business days after 
receipt at the address specified by Servicer. Each monthly payment 
shall be applied in the order specified in the loan documents. 
 
a. Servicer shall accept and apply at least two non-conforming 

payments from the borrower, in accordance with this 
subparagraph, when the payment, whether on its own or 
when combined with a payment made by another source, 
comes within $50.00 of the scheduled payment, including 
principal and interest and, where applicable, taxes and 
insurance. 
 

b. Except for payments described in paragraph I.B.3.a, 
Servicer may post partial payments to a suspense or 
unapplied funds account, provided that Servicer (1) 
discloses to the borrower the existence of and any activity 
in the suspense or unapplied funds account; (2) credits the 
borrower’s account with a full payment as of the date that 
the funds in the suspense or unapplied funds account are 
sufficient to cover such full payment; and (3) applies 
payments as required by the terms of the loan documents. 
Servicer shall not take funds from suspense or unapplied 
funds accounts to pay fees until all unpaid contractual 
interest, principal, and escrow amounts are paid and 
brought current or other final disposition of the loan. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions above, Servicer shall not be 
required to accept payments which are insufficient to pay the full 
balance due after the borrower has been provided written notice 
that the contract has been declared in default and the remaining 
payments due under the contract have been accelerated. 
 

5. Servicer shall provide to borrowers (other than borrowers in 
bankruptcy or borrowers who have been referred to or are going 
through foreclosure) adequate information on monthly billing or 
other account statements to show in clear and conspicuous 
language:  
 
a. total amount due;  
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b. allocation of payments, including a notation if any payment 

has been posted to a “suspense or unapplied funds 
account”; 
 

c. unpaid principal; 
 

d. fees and charges for the relevant time period; 
 

e. current escrow balance; and 
 

f. reasons for any payment changes, including an interest rate 
or escrow account adjustment, no later than 21 days before 
the new amount is due (except in the case of loans as to 
which interest accrues daily or the rate changes more 
frequently than once every 30 days). 
 

Statements as described above are not required to be delivered with 
respect to any fixed rate residential mortgage loan as to which the 
borrower is provided a coupon book. 
 

6. In the statements described in paragraphs I.A.18 and III.B.1.a, 
Servicer shall notify borrowers that they may receive, upon written 
request: 
 
a. A copy of the borrower’s payment history since the 

borrower was last less than 60 days past due; 
 

b. A copy of the borrower’s note; 
 

c. If Servicer has commenced foreclosure or filed a POC, 
copies of any assignments of mortgage or deed of trust 
required to demonstrate the right to foreclose on the 
borrower’s note under applicable state law; and 
 

d. The name of the investor that holds the borrower’s loan. 
 

7. Servicer shall adopt enhanced billing dispute procedures, including 
for disputes regarding fees. These procedures will include:  
 
a. Establishing readily available methods for customers to 

lodge complaints and pose questions, such as by providing 
toll-free numbers and accepting disputes by email; 
 

b. Assessing and ensuring adequate and competent staff to 
answer and respond to consumer disputes promptly; 
 

c. Establishing a process for dispute escalation; 
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d. Tracking the resolution of complaints; and 

 
e. Providing a toll-free number on monthly billing statements. 

 
8. Servicer shall take appropriate action to promptly remediate any 

inaccuracies in borrowers’ account information, including: 
 
a. Correcting the account information; 

 
b. Providing cash refunds or account credits; and 

 
c. Correcting inaccurate reports to consumer credit reporting 

agencies. 
 

9. Servicer’s systems to record account information shall be 
periodically independently reviewed for accuracy and 
completeness by an independent reviewer. 
 

10. As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send the borrower 
an itemized plain language account summary setting forth each of 
the following items, to the extent applicable: 
 
a. The total amount needed to reinstate or bring the account 

current, and the amount of the principal obligation under 
the mortgage; 
 

b. The date through which the borrower’s obligation is paid; 
 

c. The date of the last full payment; 
 

d. The current interest rate in effect for the loan (if the rate is 
effective for at least 30 days); 
 

e. The date on which the interest rate may next reset or adjust 
(unless the rate changes more frequently than once every 
30 days); 
 

f. The amount of any prepayment fee to be charged, if any; 
 

g. A description of any late payment fees; 
 

h. A telephone number or electronic mail address that may be 
used by the obligor to obtain information regarding the 
mortgage; and 
 

i. The names, addresses, telephone numbers, and Internet 
addresses of one or more counseling agencies or programs 
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approved by HUD 
(http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hcs.cfm). 
 

11. In active chapter 13 cases, Servicer shall ensure that: 
 
a. prompt and proper application of payments is made on 

account of (a) pre-petition arrearage amounts and (b) post-
petition payment amounts and posting thereof as of the 
successful consummation of the effective confirmed plan; 
 

b. the debtor is treated as being current so long as the debtor is 
making payments in accordance with the terms of the then-
effective confirmed plan and any later effective payment 
change notices; and 
 

c. as of the date of dismissal of a debtor’s bankruptcy case, 
entry of an order granting Servicer relief from the stay, or 
entry of an order granting the debtor a discharge, there is a 
reconciliation of payments received with respect to the 
debtor’s obligations during the case and appropriately 
update the Servicer’s systems of record.  In connection with 
such reconciliation, Servicer shall reflect the waiver of any 
fee, expense or charge pursuant to paragraph III.B.1.c.i or 
III.B.1.d. 
 

C. Documentation of Note, Holder Status and Chain of Assignment. 
 
1. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that Servicer or the 

foreclosing entity has a documented enforceable interest in the 
promissory note and mortgage (or deed of trust) under applicable 
state law, or is otherwise a proper party to the foreclosure action. 

 
2. Servicer shall include a statement in a pleading, affidavit of 

indebtedness or similar affidavits in court foreclosure proceedings 
setting forth the basis for asserting that the foreclosing party has 
the right to foreclose. 
 

3. Servicer shall set forth the information establishing the party’s 
right to foreclose as set forth in I.C.2 in a communication to be 
sent to the borrower as indicated in I.A.18. 
 

4. If the original note is lost or otherwise unavailable, Servicer shall 
comply with applicable law in an attempt to establish ownership of 
the note and the right to enforcement. Servicer shall ensure good 
faith efforts to obtain or locate a note lost while in the possession 
of Servicer or Servicer’s agent and shall ensure that Servicer and 
Servicer’s agents who are expected to have possession of notes or 
assignments of mortgage on behalf of Servicer adopt procedures 

http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hcs.cfm
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that are designed to provide assurance that the Servicer or 
Servicer’s agent would locate a note or assignment of mortgage if 
it is in the possession or control of the Servicer or Servicer’s agent, 
as the case may be. In the event that Servicer prepares or causes to 
be prepared a lost note or lost assignment affidavit with respect to 
an original note or assignment lost while in Servicer’s control, 
Servicer shall use good faith efforts to obtain or locate the note or 
assignment in accordance with its procedures. In the affidavit, 
sworn statement or other filing documenting the lost note or 
assignment, Servicer shall recite that Servicer has made a good 
faith effort in accordance with its procedures for locating the lost 
note or assignment. 

 
5. Servicer shall not intentionally destroy or dispose of original notes 

that are still in force. 
 

6. Servicer shall ensure that mortgage assignments executed by or on 
behalf of Servicer are executed with appropriate legal authority, 
accurately reflective of the completed transaction and properly 
acknowledged. 

 
D. Bankruptcy Documents. 

 
1. Proofs of Claim (“POC”). Servicer shall ensure that POCs filed on 

behalf of Servicer are documented in accordance with the United 
States Bankruptcy Code, the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy 
Procedure, and any applicable local rule or order (“bankruptcy 
law”). Unless not permitted by statute or rule, Servicer shall ensure 
that each POC is documented by attaching: 
 
a. The original or a duplicate of the note, including all 

endorsements; a copy of any mortgage or deed of trust 
securing the notes (including, if applicable, evidence of 
recordation in the applicable land records); and copies of 
any assignments of mortgage or deed of trust required to 
demonstrate the right to foreclose on the borrower’s note 
under applicable state law (collectively, “Loan 
Documents”). If the note has been lost or destroyed, a lost 
note affidavit shall be submitted. 
 

b. If, in addition to its principal amount, a claim includes 
interest, fees, expenses, or other charges incurred before the 
petition was filed, an itemized statement of the interest, 
fees, expenses, or charges shall be filed with the proof of 
claim (including any expenses or charges based on an 
escrow analysis as of the date of filing) at least in the detail 
specified in the current draft of Official Form B 10 
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(effective December 2011) (“Official Form B 10”) 
Attachment A. 
 

c. A statement of the amount necessary to cure any default as 
of the date of the petition shall be filed with the proof of 
claim. 
 

d. If a security interest is claimed in property that is the 
debtor’s principal residence, the attachment prescribed by 
the appropriate Official Form shall be filed with the proof 
of claim. 
 

e. Servicer shall include a statement in a POC setting forth the 
basis for asserting that the applicable party has the right to 
foreclose. 
 

f. The POC shall be signed (either by hand or by appropriate 
electronic signature) by the responsible person under 
penalty of perjury after reasonable investigation, stating 
that the information set forth in the POC is true and correct 
to the best of such responsible person’s knowledge, 
information, and reasonable belief, and clearly identify the 
responsible person’s employer and position or title with the 
employer. 
 

2. Motions for Relief from Stay (“MRS”). Unless not permitted by 
bankruptcy law, Servicer shall ensure that each MRS in a chapter 
13 proceeding is documented by attaching: 
 
a. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, a copy 

of the Loan Documents; if such documents were previously 
submitted with a POC, a statement to that effect. If the 
promissory note has been lost or destroyed, a lost note 
affidavit shall be submitted; 

 
b. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, 

Servicer shall include a statement in an MRS setting forth 
the basis for asserting that the applicable party has the right 
to foreclose. 
 

c. An affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration made by 
Servicer or based on information provided by Servicer 
(“MRS affidavit” (which term includes, without limitation, 
any facts provided by Servicer that are included in any 
attachment and submitted to establish the truth of such 
facts) setting forth: 
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i. whether there has been a default in paying pre-
petition arrearage or post-petition amounts (an 
“MRS delinquency”); 
 

ii. if there has been such a default, (a) the unpaid 
principal balance, (b) a description of any default 
with respect to the pre-petition arrearage, (c) a 
description of any default with respect to the post-
petition amount (including, if applicable, any 
escrow shortage), (d) the amount of the pre-petition 
arrearage (if applicable), (e) the post-petition 
payment amount, (f) for the period since the date of 
the first post-petition or pre-petition default that is 
continuing and has not been cured, the date and 
amount of each payment made (including escrow 
payments) and the application of each such 
payment, and (g) the amount, date and description 
of each fee or charge applied to such pre-petition 
amount or post-petition amount since the later of the 
date of the petition or the preceding statement 
pursuant to paragraph III.B.1.a; and 
 

iii. all amounts claimed, including a statement of the 
amount necessary to cure any default on or about 
the date of the MRS. 
 

d. All other attachments prescribed by statute, rule, or law. 
 

e. Servicer shall ensure that any MRS discloses the terms of 
any trial period or permanent loan modification plan 
pending at the time of filing of a MRS or whether the 
debtor is being evaluated for a loss mitigation option. 
 

E. Quality Assurance Systems Review. 
 
1. Servicer shall conduct regular reviews, not less than quarterly, of a 

statistically valid sample of affidavits, sworn statements, 
Declarations filed by or on behalf of Servicer in judicial 
foreclosures or bankruptcy proceedings and notices of default, 
notices of sale and similar notices submitted in non-judicial 
foreclosures to ensure that the documents are accurate and comply 
with prevailing law and this Agreement. 

 
a. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements 

in affidavits, sworn statements, Declarations and 
documents used to foreclose in non-judicial foreclosures, 
the account summary described in paragraph I.B.10, the 
ownership statement described in paragraph I.C.2, and the 
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loss mitigation statement described in paragraph IV.B.13 
by reviewing the underlying information. Servicer shall 
take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are 
identified, including appropriate remediation in individual 
cases. 

 
b. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements 

in affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations submitted 
in bankruptcy proceedings. Servicer shall take appropriate 
remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, including 
appropriate remediation in individual cases. 

 
2. The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by 

Servicer employees who are separate and independent of 
employees who prepare foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, 
sworn statements, or other foreclosure or bankruptcy documents. 
 

3. Servicer shall conduct regular pre-filing reviews of a statistically 
valid sample of POCs to ensure that the POCs are accurate and 
comply with prevailing law and this Agreement. The reviews shall 
also verify the accuracy of the statements in POCs. Servicer shall 
take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, 
including appropriate remediation in individual cases. The pre-
filing review shall be conducted by Servicer employees who are 
separate and independent of the persons who prepared the 
applicable POCs. 
 

4. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its 
internal controls and procedures with respect to its obligations 
under this Agreement and implement appropriate procedures to 
address deficiencies. 
 

II. THIRD-PARTY PROVIDER OVERSIGHT. 
 

A. Oversight Duties Applicable to All Third-Party Providers. 
 
Servicer shall adopt policies and processes to oversee and manage 
foreclosure firms, law firms, foreclosure trustees, subservicers and other 
agents, independent contractors, entities and third parties (including 
subsidiaries and affiliates) retained by or on behalf of Servicer that 
provide foreclosure, bankruptcy or mortgage servicing activities 
(including loss mitigation) (collectively, such activities are “Servicing 
Activities” and such providers are “Third-Party Providers”), including: 
 
1. Servicer shall perform appropriate due diligence of Third-Party 

Providers’ qualifications, expertise, capacity, reputation, 
complaints, information security, document custody practices, 
business continuity, and financial viability. 
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2. Servicer shall amend agreements, engagement letters, or oversight 
policies, or enter into new agreements or engagement letters, with 
Third-Party Providers to require them to comply with Servicer’s 
applicable policies and procedures (which will incorporate any 
applicable aspects of this Agreement) and applicable state and 
federal laws and rules. 

 
3. Servicer shall ensure that agreements, contracts or oversight 

policies provide for adequate oversight, including measures to 
enforce Third-Party Provider contractual obligations, and to ensure 
timely action with respect to Third-Party Provider performance 
failures. 

 
4. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 

foreclosure trustees have appropriate access to information from 
Servicer’s books and records necessary to perform their duties in 
preparing pleadings and other documents submitted in foreclosure 
and bankruptcy proceedings. 

 
5. Servicer shall ensure that all information provided by or on behalf 

of Servicer to Third-Party Providers in connection with providing 
Servicing Activities is accurate and complete. 

 
6. Servicer shall conduct periodic reviews of Third-Party Providers. 

These reviews shall include: 
 

a. A review of a sample of the foreclosure and bankruptcy 
documents prepared by the Third-Party Provider, to provide 
for compliance with applicable state and federal law and 
this Agreement in connection with the preparation of the 
documents, and the accuracy of the facts contained therein; 
 

b. A review of the fees and costs assessed by the Third-Party 
Provider to provide that only fees and costs that are lawful, 
reasonable and actually incurred are charged to borrowers 
and that no portion of any fees or charges incurred by any 
Third-Party Provider for technology usage, connectivity, or 
electronic invoice submission is charged as a cost to the 
borrower; 
 

c. A review of the Third-Party Provider’s processes to provide 
for compliance with the Servicer’s policies and procedures 
concerning Servicing Activities; 
 

d. A review of the security of original loan documents 
maintained by the Third-Party Provider; 
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e. A requirement that the Third-Party Provider disclose to the 
Servicer any imposition of sanctions or professional 
disciplinary action taken against them for misconduct 
related to performance of Servicing Activities; and 
 

f. An assessment of whether bankruptcy attorneys comply 
with the best practice of determining whether a borrower 
has made a payment curing any MRS delinquency within 
two business days of the scheduled hearing date of the 
related MRS. 
 

The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by Servicer 
employees who are separate and independent of employees who prepare 
foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, sworn documents, Declarations or 
other foreclosure or bankruptcy documents. 
 
7. Servicer shall take appropriate remedial steps if problems are 

identified through this review or otherwise, including, when 
appropriate, terminating its relationship with the Third-Party 
Provider. 
 

8. Servicer shall adopt processes for reviewing and appropriately 
addressing customer complaints it receives about Third-Party 
Provider services. 
 

9. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its 
internal controls and procedures with respect to its obligations 
under this Section, and take appropriate remedial steps if 
deficiencies are identified, including appropriate remediation in 
individual cases. 
 

 

B. Additional Oversight of Activities by Third-Party Providers. 
 
1. Servicer shall require a certification process for law firms (and 

recertification of existing law firm providers) that provide 
residential mortgage foreclosure and bankruptcy services for 
Servicer, on a periodic basis, as qualified to serve as a Third-Party 
Provider to Servicer, including that attorneys have the experience 
and competence necessary to perform the services requested. 
 

2. Servicer shall ensure that attorneys are licensed to practice in the 
relevant jurisdiction, have the experience and competence 
necessary to perform the services requested, and that their services 
comply with applicable rules, regulations and applicable law 
(including state law prohibitions on fee splitting). 

 



 
 

A-15 

3. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 
foreclosure trustees have an appropriate Servicer contact to assist 
in legal proceedings and to facilitate loss mitigation questions on 
behalf of the borrower. 

 
4. Servicer shall adopt policies requiring Third-Party Providers to 

maintain records that identify all notarizations of Servicer 
documents executed by each notary employed by the Third-Party 
Provider. 

 

III. BANKRUPTCY. 
 

A. General.  
 

1. The provisions, conditions and obligations imposed herein are 
intended to be interpreted in accordance with applicable federal, 
state and local laws, rules and regulations. Nothing herein shall 
require a Servicer to do anything inconsistent with applicable state 
or federal law, including the applicable bankruptcy law or a court 
order in a bankruptcy case. 

 
2. Servicer shall ensure that employees who are regularly engaged in 

servicing mortgage loans as to which the borrower or mortgagor is 
in bankruptcy receive training specifically addressing bankruptcy 
issues. 

 
B. Chapter 13 Cases. 

 
1. In any chapter 13 case, Servicer shall ensure that: 

 
a. So long as the debtor is in a chapter 13 case, within 180 

days after the date on which the fees, expenses, or charges 
are incurred, Servicer shall file and serve on the debtor, 
debtor’s counsel, and the trustee a notice in a form 
consistent with Official Form B10 (Supplement 2) 
itemizing fees, expenses, or charges (1) that were incurred 
in connection with the claim after the bankruptcy case was 
filed, (2) that the holder asserts are recoverable against the 
debtor or against the debtor’s principal residence, and (3) 
that the holder intends to collect from the debtor. 
 

b. Servicer replies within time periods established under 
bankruptcy law to any notice that the debtor has completed 
all payments under the plan or otherwise paid in full the 
amount required to cure any pre-petition default. 
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c. If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 
paragraph III.B.1.a with respect to a fee, expense or charge 
within 180 days of the incurrence of such fee, expense, or 
charge, then, 

 
i. Except for independent charges (“Independent 

charge”) paid by the Servicer that is either (A) 
specifically authorized by the borrower or (B) 
consists of amounts advanced by Servicer in respect 
of taxes, homeowners association fees, liens or 
insurance, such fee, expense or charge shall be 
deemed waived and may not be collected from the 
borrower. 
 

ii. In the case of an Independent charge, the court may, 
after notice and hearing, take either or both of the 
following actions: 
 
(a) preclude the holder from presenting the 

omitted information, in any form, as 
evidence in any contested matter or 
adversary proceeding in the case, unless the 
court determines that the failure was 
substantially justified or is harmless; or 
 

(b) award other appropriate relief, including 
reasonable expenses and attorney’s fees 
caused by the failure.  
 

d. If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 
paragraphs III.B.1.a or III.B.1.b and bankruptcy law with 
respect to a fee, expense or charge (other than an 
Independent Charge) incurred more than 45 days before the 
date of the reply referred to in paragraph III.B.1.b, then 
such fee, expense or charge shall be deemed waived and 
may not be collected from the borrower. 
 

e. Servicer shall file and serve on the debtor, debtor’s counsel, 
and the trustee a notice in a form consistent with the current 
draft of Official Form B10 (Supplement 1) (effective 
December 2011) of any change in the payment amount, 
including any change that results from an interest rate or 
escrow account adjustment, no later than 21 days before a 
payment in the new amount is due. Servicer shall waive 
and not collect any late charge or other fees imposed solely 
as a result of the failure of the borrower timely to make a 
payment attributable to the failure of Servicer to give such 
notice timely. 
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IV. LOSS MITIGATION. 
 

These requirements are intended to apply to both government-sponsored and 
proprietary loss mitigation programs and shall apply to subservicers performing 
loss mitigation services on Servicer’s behalf. 
 
A. Loss Mitigation Requirements. 

 
1. Servicer shall be required to notify potentially eligible borrowers 

of currently available loss mitigation options prior to foreclosure 
referral. Upon the timely receipt of a complete loan modification 
application, Servicer shall evaluate borrowers for all available loan 
modification options for which they are eligible prior to referring a 
borrower to foreclosure and shall facilitate the submission and 
review of loss mitigation applications. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, Servicer shall have no obligation to solicit 
borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 
 

2. Servicer shall offer and facilitate loan modifications for borrowers 
rather than initiate foreclosure when such loan modifications for 
which they are eligible are net present value (NPV) positive and 
meet other investor, guarantor, insurer and program requirements. 
 

3. Servicer shall allow borrowers enrolled in a trial period plan under 
prior HAMP guidelines (where borrowers were not pre-qualified) 
and who made all required trial period payments, but were later 
denied a permanent modification, the opportunity to reapply for a 
HAMP or proprietary loan modification using current financial 
information. 
 

4. Servicer shall promptly send a final modification agreement to 
borrowers who have enrolled in a trial period plan under current 
HAMP guidelines (or fully underwritten proprietary modification 
programs with a trial payment period) and who have made the 
required number of timely trial period payments, where the 
modification is underwritten prior to the trial period and has 
received any necessary investor, guarantor or insurer approvals. 
The borrower shall then be converted by Servicer to a permanent 
modification upon execution of the final modification documents, 
consistent with applicable program guidelines, absent evidence of 
fraud. 
 

B. Dual Track Restricted. 
 
1. If a borrower has not already been referred to foreclosure, Servicer 

shall not refer an eligible borrower’s account to foreclosure while 
the borrower’s complete application for any loan modification 
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program is pending if Servicer received (a) a complete loan 
modification application no later than day 120 of delinquency, or 
(b) a substantially complete loan modification application (missing 
only any required documentation of hardship) no later than day 
120 of delinquency and Servicer receives any required hardship 
documentation no later than day 130 of delinquency. Servicer shall 
not make a referral to foreclosure of an eligible borrower who so 
provided an application until: 

 
a. Servicer determines (after the automatic review in 

paragraph IV.G.1) that the borrower is not eligible for a 
loan modification, or 

 
b. If borrower does not accept an offered foreclosure 

prevention alternative within 14 days of the evaluation 
notice, the earlier of (i) such 14 days, and (ii) borrower’s 
decline of the foreclosure prevention offer. 

 
2. If borrower accepts the loan modification resulting from Servicer’s 

evaluation of the complete loan modification application referred 
to in paragraph IV.B.1 (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 
responses) or by submitting the first trial modification payment) 
within 14 days of Servicer’s offer of a loan modification, then the 
Servicer shall delay referral to foreclosure until (a) if the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, the last day for 
timely receiving the first trial period payment, and (b) if the 
Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, after the 
borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

3. If the loan modification requested by a borrower as described in 
paragraph IV.B.1 is denied, except when otherwise required by 
federal or state law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled to 
an appeal under paragraph IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a 
foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable): 

 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 
(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
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4. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the 

Servicer receives a complete application from the borrower within 
30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter, 
then while such loan modification application is pending, Servicer 
shall not move for foreclosure judgment or order of sale (or, if a 
motion has already been filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid 
a ruling on such motion), or seek a foreclosure sale. If Servicer 
offers the borrower a loan modification, Servicer shall not move 
for judgment or order of sale, (or, if a motion has already been 
filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid a ruling on such motion), 
or seek a foreclosure sale until the earlier of (a) 14 days after the 
date of the related offer of a loan modification, and (b) the date the 
borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower 
accepts the loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including 
e-mail responses) or by submitting the first trial modification 
payment) within 14 days after the date of the related offer of loan 
modification, Servicer shall continue this delay until the later of (if 
applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the 
first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives 
the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial 
plan. 
 

5. If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in 
paragraph IV.B.4 is denied, then, except when otherwise required 
by federal or state law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled 
to an appeal under paragraph IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a 
foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable): 

 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the failure of 
the Servicer timely to receive the first trial period payment, 
and (iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

6. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter, but more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale is 
scheduled, then while such loan modification application is 
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pending, Servicer shall not proceed with the foreclosure sale. If 
Servicer offers a loan modification, then Servicer shall delay the 
foreclosure sale until the earlier of (i) 14 days after the date of the 
related offer of loan modification, and (ii) the date the borrower 
declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower accepts the 
loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 
responses) or by submitting the first trial modification payment) 
within 14 days, Servicer shall delay the foreclosure sale until the 
later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to 
receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely 
receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches 
the trial plan. 
 

7. If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in 
paragraph IV.B.6 is denied and it is reasonable to believe that more 
than 90 days remains until a scheduled foreclosure date or the first 
date on which a sale could reasonably be expected to be scheduled 
and occur, then, except when otherwise required by federal or state 
law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled to an appeal under 
paragraph IV.G.3.a, Servicer will not proceed to a foreclosure sale 
until the later of (if applicable): 
 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 
 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 
(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

8. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter, but within 37 to 15 days before a foreclosure sale is 
scheduled, then Servicer shall conduct an expedited review of the 
borrower and, if the borrower is extended a loan modification 
offer, Servicer shall postpone any foreclosure sale until the earlier 
of (a) 14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) 
the date the borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the 
borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer (either in 
writing or by submitting the first trial modification payment), 
Servicer shall delay the foreclosure sale until the later of (if 
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applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the 
first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives 
the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial 
plan. 
 

9. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter and less than 15 days before a scheduled foreclosure sale, 
Servicer must notify the borrower before the foreclosure sale date 
as to Servicer’s determination (if its review was completed) or 
inability to complete its review of the loan modification 
application. If Servicer makes a loan modification offer to the 
borrower, then Servicer shall postpone any sale until the earlier of 
(a) 14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) 
the date the borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the 
borrower timely accepts a loan modification offer (either in writing 
or by submitting the first trial modification payment), Servicer 
shall delay the foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable) (A) 
the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the first trial period 
payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial 
period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

10. For purposes of this section IV.B, Servicer shall not be responsible 
for failing to obtain a delay in a ruling on a judgment or failing to 
delay a foreclosure sale if Servicer made a request for such delay, 
pursuant to any state or local law, court rule or customary practice, 
and such request was not approved. 

 
11. Servicer shall not move to judgment or order of sale or proceed 

with a foreclosure sale under any of the following circumstances: 
 
a. The borrower is in compliance with the terms of a trial loan 

modification, forbearance, or repayment plan; or 
 
b. A short sale or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure has been 

approved by all parties (including, for example, first lien 
investor, junior lien holder and mortgage insurer, as 
applicable), and proof of funds or financing has been 
provided to Servicer. 
 

12. If a foreclosure or trustee’s sale is continued (rather than cancelled) 
to provide time to evaluate loss mitigation options, Servicer shall 
promptly notify borrower in writing of the new date of sale 
(without delaying any related foreclosure sale). 
 

13. As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send a statement to 
the borrower outlining loss mitigation efforts undertaken with 
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respect to the borrower prior to foreclosure referral. If no loss 
mitigation efforts were offered or undertaken, Servicer shall state 
whether it contacted or attempted to contact the borrower and, if 
applicable, why the borrower was ineligible for a loan modification 
or other loss mitigation options.  
 

14. Servicer shall ensure timely and accurate communication of or 
access to relevant loss mitigation status and changes in status to its 
foreclosure attorneys, bankruptcy attorneys and foreclosure 
trustees and, where applicable, to court-mandated mediators. 
 

C. Single Point of Contact. 
 
1. Servicer shall establish an easily accessible and reliable single 

point of contact (“SPOC”) for each potentially-eligible first lien 
mortgage borrower so that the borrower has access to an employee 
of Servicer to obtain information throughout the loss mitigation, 
loan modification and foreclosure processes. 
 

2. Servicer shall initially identify the SPOC to the borrower promptly 
after a potentially-eligible borrower requests loss mitigation 
assistance. Servicer shall provide one or more direct means of 
communication with the SPOC on loss mitigation-related 
correspondence with the borrower. Servicer shall promptly provide 
updated contact information to the borrower if the designated 
SPOC is reassigned, no longer employed by Servicer, or otherwise 
not able to act as the primary point of contact. 

 
a. Servicer shall ensure that debtors in bankruptcy are 

assigned to a SPOC specially trained in bankruptcy issues. 
 

3. The SPOC shall have primary responsibility for: 
 
a. Communicating the options available to the borrower, the 

actions the borrower must take to be considered for these 
options and the status of Servicer’s evaluation of the 
borrower for these options; 

 
b. Coordinating receipt of all documents associated with loan 

modification or loss mitigation activities; 
 

c. Being knowledgeable about the borrower’s situation and 
current status in the delinquency/imminent default 
resolution process; and 
  

d. Ensuring that a borrower who is not eligible for MHA 
programs is considered for proprietary or other investor 
loss mitigation options. 
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4. The SPOC shall, at a minimum, provide the following services to 

borrowers: 
  
a. Contact borrower and introduce himself/herself as the 

borrower’s SPOC; 
 

b. Explain programs for which the borrower is eligible; 
 
c. Explain the requirements of the programs for which the 

borrower is eligible;  
 
d. Explain program documentation requirements; 

 
e. Provide basic information about the status of borrower’s 

account, including pending loan modification applications, 
other loss mitigation alternatives, and foreclosure activity; 

 
f. Notify borrower of missing documents and provide an 

address or electronic means for submission of documents 
by borrower in order to complete the loan modification 
application; 

 
g. Communicate Servicer’s decision regarding loan 

modification applications and other loss mitigation 
alternatives to borrower in writing; 

 
h. Assist the borrower in pursuing alternative non-foreclosure 

options upon denial of a loan modification; 
 

i. If a loan modification is approved, call borrower to explain 
the program;  

 
j. Provide information regarding credit counseling where 

necessary;  
 

k. Help to clear for borrower any internal processing 
requirements; and 

 
l. Have access to individuals with the ability to stop 

foreclosure proceedings when necessary to comply with the 
MHA Program or this Agreement. 

 
5. The SPOC shall remain assigned to borrower’s account and 

available to borrower until such time as Servicer determines in 
good faith that all loss mitigation options have been exhausted, 
borrower’s account becomes current or, in the case of a borrower 
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in bankruptcy, the borrower has exhausted all loss mitigation 
options for which the borrower is potentially eligible and has 
applied. 

 
6. Servicer shall ensure that the SPOC is available to borrowers via 

telephone, though such availability can be arranged on an 
appointment basis.  If the SPOC is only reachable on an 
appointment basis, such appointment shall be made available to the 
borrower promptly, but in any event an appointment with the 
SPOC must be offered on a date no later than 7 days from the 
borrower’s request.  Borrowers shall be offered the option of 
scheduling an appointment with another member of the SPOC 
team if their assigned SPOC is unavailable on the borrower’s 
requested date.  In the event the SPOC is unavailable, Servicer 
shall ensure that personnel with access to all information required 
to be maintained under this section are available to the borrower to 
perform the SPOC’s normal duties. 

 
7. Servicer shall ensure that a SPOC can refer and transfer a borrower to 

an appropriate supervisor upon request of the borrower. 
 

8. Servicer shall ensure that relevant records relating to borrower’s 
account are promptly available to the borrower’s SPOC, so that the 
SPOC can timely, adequately and accurately inform the borrower of 
the current status of loss mitigation, loan modification, and 
foreclosure activities.  

 
9. Servicer shall ensure that all regularly maintained records of 

communications between the SPOC and borrower, as well as any 
other notes related to the borrower’s file, are centrally accessible to 
other Servicer staff. 
 

10. Servicer’s management shall supervise the SPOCs’ performance and 
regularly monitor workload, phone logs, call recordings, 
communication logs and complaints to ensure timely responses to 
borrowers. 
 

11. Servicer shall designate one or more management level employees to 
be the primary contact for the Attorneys General, state financial 
regulators, the Executive Office of U.S. Trustee, each regional office 
of the U.S. Trustee, and federal regulators for communication 
regarding complaints and inquiries from individual borrowers who are 
in default and/or have applied for loan modifications. Servicer shall 
provide a written acknowledgment to all such inquiries within 10 
business days. Servicer shall provide a substantive written response to 
all such inquiries within 30 days. Servicer shall provide relevant loan 
information to borrower and to Attorneys General, state financial 
regulators, federal regulators, the Executive Office of the U.S. 
Trustee, and each U.S. Trustee upon written request and if properly 
authorized. A written complaint filed by a borrower and forwarded by 
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a state attorney general or financial regulatory agency to Servicer 
shall be deemed to have proper authorization. 
 

12. Servicer shall establish and make available to Chapter 13 trustees a 
toll-free number staffed by persons trained in bankruptcy to respond 
to inquiries from Chapter 13 trustees. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the assignment of a SPOC to a borrower, the 

Servicer shall not deny the borrower access to loss mitigation through 
the servicer’s personnel or representatives at homeownership and 
public workshops, nonprofit housing counselors, homeownership 
centers, and other avenues for accessing relief in which the servicer 
participates. 
 

D. Loss Mitigation Communications with Borrowers. 
 
1. Servicer shall commence outreach efforts to communicate loss 

mitigation options for first lien mortgage loans to all potentially 
eligible delinquent borrowers (other than those in bankruptcy) 
beginning on timelines that are in accordance with HAMP 
borrower solicitation guidelines set forth in the MHA Handbook 
version 4.3, Chapter II, Section 2.2, or the most recent version, 
regardless of whether the borrower is eligible for a HAMP 
modification. Servicer shall provide borrowers with notices that 
include contact information for national or state foreclosure 
assistance hotlines and state housing counseling resources, as 
appropriate. The use by Servicer of nothing more than prerecorded 
automatic messages in loss mitigation communications with 
borrowers shall not be sufficient in those instances in which it fails 
to result in contact between the borrower and one of Servicer’s loss 
mitigation specialists. Servicer shall conduct affirmative outreach 
efforts to inform delinquent second lien borrowers (other than 
those in bankruptcy) about the availability of payment reduction 
options. The foregoing notwithstanding, Servicer shall have no 
obligation to solicit borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 

 
2. Servicer shall disclose and provide accurate information to 

borrowers relating to the qualification process and eligibility 
factors for loss mitigation programs. 
 

3. Servicer shall communicate, at the written request of the borrower, 
with the borrower’s authorized representatives, including housing 
counselors. Servicer shall communicate with representatives from 
state attorneys general and financial regulatory agencies acting 
upon a written complaint filed by the borrower and forwarded by 
the state attorney general or financial regulatory agency to 
Servicer. When responding to the borrower regarding such 
complaint, Servicer shall include the applicable state attorney 
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general on all correspondence with the borrower regarding such 
complaint. 
 

4. Servicer shall cease all collection efforts while the borrower (i) is 
making timely payments under a trial loan modification or (ii) has 
submitted a complete loan modification application, and a 
modification decision is pending.  Notwithstanding the above, 
Servicer reserves the right to contact a borrower to gather required 
loss mitigation documentation or to assist a borrower with 
performance under a trial loan modification plan. 

 
5. Servicer shall consider partnering with third parties, including 

national chain retailers, and shall consider the use of select bank 
branches affiliated with Servicer, to set up programs to allow 
borrowers to copy, fax, scan, transmit by overnight delivery, or 
mail or email documents to Servicer free of charge. 
 

6. Within five business days after referral to foreclosure, the Servicer 
(including any attorney (or trustee) conducting foreclosure 
proceedings at the direction of the Servicer) shall send a written 
communication (“Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter”) 
to the borrower that includes clear language that: 

 
a. The Servicer may have sent to the borrower one or more 

borrower solicitation communications; 
 

b. The borrower can still be evaluated for alternatives to 
foreclosure even if he or she had previously shown no 
interest; 

 
c. The borrower should contact the Servicer to obtain a loss 

mitigation application package; 
 

d. The borrower must submit a loan modification application 
to the Servicer to request consideration for available 
foreclosure prevention alternatives; 

 
e. Provides the Servicer’s contact information for submitting 

a complete loan modification application, including the 
Servicer’s toll-free number; and 

 
f. Unless the form of letter is otherwise specified by investor 

directive or state law or the borrower is not eligible for an 
appeal under paragraph IV.G.3.a, states that if the borrower 
is contemplating or has pending an appeal of an earlier 
denial of a loan modification application, that he or she 
may submit a loan modification application in lieu of his or 
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her appeal within 30 days after the Post Referral to 
Foreclosure Solicitation Letter. 
 

E. Development of Loan Portals. 
 
1. Servicer shall develop or contract with a third-party vendor to 

develop an online portal linked to Servicer’s primary servicing 
system where borrowers can check, at no cost, the status of their 
first lien loan modifications. 

 
2. Servicer shall design portals that may, among other things: 

 
a. Enable borrowers to submit documents electronically; 

 
b. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; 

 
c. Provide information and eligibility factors for proprietary 

loan modification and other loss mitigation programs; and 
 

d. Permit Servicer to communicate with borrowers to satisfy 
any written communications required to be provided by 
Servicer, if borrowers submit documents electronically. 
 

3. Servicer shall participate in the development and implementation 
of a neutral, nationwide loan portal system linked to Servicer’s 
primary servicing system, such as Hope LoanPort to enhance 
communications with housing counselors, including using the 
technology used for the Borrower Portal, and containing similar 
features to the Borrower Portal. 
 

4. Servicer shall update the status of each pending loan modification 
on these portals at least every 10 business days and ensure that 
each portal is updated on such a schedule as to maintain 
consistency. 
 

F. Loan Modification Timelines. 
 
1. Servicer shall provide written acknowledgement of the receipt of 

documentation submitted by the borrower in connection with a 
first lien loan modification application within 3 business days. In 
its initial acknowledgment, Servicer shall briefly describe the loan 
modification process and identify deadlines and expiration dates 
for submitted documents. 

 
2. Servicer shall notify borrower of any known deficiency in 

borrower’s initial submission of information, no later than 5 
business days after receipt, including any missing information or 
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documentation required for the loan modification to be considered 
complete. 
 

3. Subject to section IV.B, Servicer shall afford borrower 30 days 
from the date of Servicer’s notification of any missing information 
or documentation to supplement borrower’s submission of 
information prior to making a determination on whether or not to 
grant an initial loan modification. 
 

4. Servicer shall review the complete first lien loan modification 
application submitted by borrower and shall determine the 
disposition of borrower’s trial or preliminary loan modification 
request no later than 30 days after receipt of the complete loan 
modification application, absent compelling circumstances beyond 
Servicer’s control. 
 

5. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that second lien loan 
modification requests are evaluated on a timely basis. When a 
borrower qualifies for a second lien loan modification after a first 
lien loan modification in accordance with Section 2.c.i of the 
General Framework for Consumer Relief Provisions, the Servicer 
of the second lien loan shall (absent compelling circumstances 
beyond Servicer’s control) send loan modification documents to 
borrower no later than 45 days after the Servicer receives official 
notification of the successful completion of the related first lien 
loan modification and the essential terms. 
 

6. For all proprietary first lien loan modification programs, Servicer 
shall allow properly submitted borrower financials to be used for 
90 days from the date the documents are received, unless Servicer 
learns that there has been a material change in circumstances or 
unless investor requirements mandate a shorter time frame. 
 

7. Servicer shall notify borrowers of the final denial of any first lien 
loan modification request within 10 business days of the denial 
decision. The notification shall be in the form of the non-approval 
notice required in paragraph IV.G.1 below. 
 

G. Independent Evaluation of First Lien Loan Modification Denials. 
 
1. Except when evaluated as provided in paragraphs IV.B.8 or 

IV.B.9, Servicer’s initial denial of an eligible borrower’s request 
for first lien loan modification following the submission of a 
complete loan modification application shall be subject to an 
independent evaluation. Such evaluation shall be performed by an 
independent entity or a different employee who has not been 
involved with the particular loan modification. 
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2. Denial Notice. 
 
a. When a first lien loan modification is denied after 

independent review, Servicer shall send a written non-
approval notice to the borrower identifying the reasons for 
denial and the factual information considered. The notice 
shall inform the borrower that he or she has 30 days from 
the date of the denial letter declination to provide evidence 
that the eligibility determination was in error. 

 
b. If the first lien modification is denied because disallowed 

by investor, Servicer shall disclose in the written non-
approval notice the name of the investor and summarize the 
reasons for investor denial. 
 

c. For those cases where a first lien loan modification denial 
is the result of an NPV calculation, Servicer shall provide 
in the written non-approval notice the monthly gross 
income and property value used in the calculation. 
 

3. Appeal Process. 
 
a. After the automatic review in paragraph IV.G.1 has been 

completed and Servicer has issued the written non-approval 
notice, in the circumstances described in the first sentences 
of paragraphs IV.B.3, IV.B.5 or IV.B.7,except when 
otherwise required by federal or state law or investor 
directives, borrowers shall have 30 days to request an 
appeal and obtain an independent review of the first lien 
loan modification denial in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement. Servicer shall ensure that the borrower has 
30 days from the date of the written non-approval notice to 
provide information as to why Servicer’s determination of 
eligibility for a loan modification was in error, unless the 
reason for non-approval is (1) ineligible mortgage, (2) 
ineligible property, (3) offer not accepted by borrower or 
request withdrawn, or (4) the loan was previously modified. 

 
b. For those cases in which the first lien loan modification 

denial is the result of an NPV calculation, if a borrower 
disagrees with the property value used by Servicer in the 
NPV test, the borrower can request that a full appraisal be 
conducted of the property by an independent licensed 
appraiser (at borrower expense) consistent with HAMP 
directive 10-15. Servicer shall comply with the process set 
forth in HAMP directive 10-15, including using such value 
in the NPV calculation. 
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c. Servicer shall review the information submitted by 
borrower and use its best efforts to communicate the 
disposition of borrower’s appeal to borrower no later than 
30 days after receipt of the information. 
 

d. If Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, Servicer’s appeal 
denial letter shall include a description of other available 
loss mitigation, including short sales and deeds in lieu of 
foreclosure. 
 

H. General Loss Mitigation Requirements. 
 
1. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and systems for tracking 

borrower documents and information that are relevant to 
foreclosure, loss mitigation, and other Servicer operations. Servicer 
shall make periodic assessments to ensure that its staffing and 
systems are adequate. 
 

2. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and caseload limits for 
SPOCs and employees responsible for handling foreclosure, loss 
mitigation and related communications with borrowers and 
housing counselors. Servicer shall make periodic assessments to 
ensure that its staffing and systems are adequate.  
 

3. Servicer shall establish reasonable minimum experience, 
educational and training requirements for loss mitigation staff. 
 

4. Servicer shall document electronically key actions taken on a 
foreclosure, loan modification, bankruptcy, or other servicing file, 
including communications with the borrower. 
 

5. Servicer shall not adopt compensation arrangements for its 
employees that encourage foreclosure over loss mitigation 
alternatives. 
 

6. Servicer shall not make inaccurate payment delinquency reports to 
credit reporting agencies when the borrower is making timely 
reduced payments pursuant to a trial or other loan modification 
agreement. Servicer shall provide the borrower, prior to entering 
into a trial loan modification, with clear and conspicuous written 
information that adverse credit reporting consequences may result 
from the borrower making reduced payments during the trial 
period. 
 

7. Where Servicer grants a loan modification, Servicer shall provide 
borrower with a copy of the fully executed loan modification 
agreement within 45 days of receipt of the executed copy from the 
borrower. All modifications shall be evidenced in writing.   
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8. Servicer shall not instruct, advise or recommend that borrowers go 

into default in order to qualify for loss mitigation relief. 
 

9. Servicer shall not discourage borrowers from working or 
communicating with legitimate non-profit housing counseling 
services. 
 

10. Servicer shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to 
waive or release claims and defenses as a condition of approval for 
a loan modification program or other loss mitigation relief. 
However, nothing herein shall preclude Servicer from requiring a 
waiver or release of claims and defenses with respect to a loan 
modification offered in connection with the resolution of a 
contested claim, when the borrower would not otherwise be 
qualified for that loan modification under existing Servicer 
programs. 

 
11. Servicer shall not charge borrower an application fee in connection 

with a request for a loan modification. Servicer shall provide 
borrower with a pre-paid overnight envelope or pre-paid address 
label for return of a loan modification application.  However, if 
Servicer makes a copy of the loan modification application 
available free of charge via an internet portal, and allows for 
submission of the packet via electronic means, and the borrower 
elects to submit such documentation electronically, no pre-paid 
envelope or label shall be required. 
 

12. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to 
minimize the risk of borrowers submitting multiple loss mitigation 
requests for the purpose of delay, Servicer shall not be obligated to 
evaluate requests for loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers 
who have already been evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to 
be evaluated consistent with the requirements of HAMP or 
proprietary modification programs, or (b) borrowers who were 
evaluated after the date of implementation of this Agreement, 
consistent with this Agreement, unless there has been a material 
change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is 
documented by borrower and submitted to Servicer. 
 

I. Proprietary First Lien Loan Modifications. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its 

qualification processes, all required documentation and 
information necessary for a complete first lien loan modification 
application, and key eligibility factors for all proprietary loan 
modifications. 
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2. Servicer shall design proprietary first lien loan modification 
programs that are intended to produce sustainable modifications 
according to investor guidelines and previous results. Servicer 
shall design these programs with the intent of providing affordable 
payments for borrowers needing longer term or permanent 
assistance. 
 

3. Servicer shall track outcomes and maintain records regarding 
characteristics and performance of proprietary first lien loan 
modifications. Servicer shall provide a description of modification 
waterfalls, eligibility criteria, and modification terms, on a 
publicly-available website. 
 

4. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for 
proprietary first lien loan modifications. 
 

J. Proprietary Second Lien Loan Modifications. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its 

qualification processes, all required documentation and 
information necessary for a complete second lien modification 
application. 

 
2. Servicer shall design second lien modification programs with the 

intent of providing affordable payments for borrowers needing 
longer term or permanent assistance. 
 

3. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for 
second lien modifications. 
 

4. When an eligible borrower with a second lien submits all required 
information for a second lien loan modification and the 
modification request is denied, Servicer shall promptly send a 
written non-approval notice to the borrower. 
 

K. Short Sales. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on general 

requirements for the short sale process. 
  

2. Servicer shall consider appropriate monetary incentives to 
underwater borrowers to facilitate short sale options. 
  

3. Servicer shall develop a cooperative short sale process which 
allows the borrower the opportunity to engage with Servicer to 
pursue a short sale evaluation prior to putting home on the market. 
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4. Servicer shall send written confirmation of the borrower’s first 
request for a short sale to the borrower or his or her agent within 
10 business days of receipt of the request and proper written 
authorization from the borrower allowing Servicer to communicate 
with the borrower’s agent. The confirmation shall include basic 
information about the short sale process and Servicer’s 
requirements, and will state clearly and conspicuously that the 
Servicer may demand a deficiency payment if such deficiency 
claim is permitted by applicable law.  No such confirmation shall 
be required if Servicer has already provided a written acceptance 
or rejection of the short sale request prior to the passage of 10 
business days. 
 

5. Servicer shall send borrower at borrower’s address of record or to 
borrower’s agent timely written notice of any missing required 
documents for consideration of short sale within 30 days of 
receiving borrower’s request for a short sale. 
 

6. Servicer shall review the short sale request submitted by borrower 
and communicate the disposition of borrower’s request no later 
than 30 days after receipt of all required information and third-
party consents. 
 

7. If the short sale request is accepted, Servicer shall 
contemporaneously notify the borrower whether Servicer or 
investor will demand a deficiency payment or related cash 
contribution and the approximate amount of that deficiency, if such 
deficiency obligation is permitted by applicable law. If the short 
sale request is denied, Servicer shall provide reasons for the denial 
in the written notice. If Servicer waives a deficiency claim, it shall 
not sell or transfer such claim to a third-party debt collector or debt 
buyer for collection. 
 

L. Loss Mitigation During Bankruptcy. 
 
1. Servicer may not deny any loss mitigation option to eligible 

borrowers on the basis that the borrower is a debtor in bankruptcy 
so long as borrower and any trustee cooperates in obtaining any 
appropriate approvals or consents. 
 

2. Servicer shall, to the extent reasonable, extend trial period loan 
modification plans as necessary to accommodate delays in 
obtaining bankruptcy court approvals or receiving full remittance 
of debtor’s trial period payments that have been made to a chapter 
13 trustee. In the event of a trial period extension, the debtor must 
make a trial period payment for each month of the trial period, 
including any extension month. 
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3. When the debtor is in compliance with a trial period or permanent 
loan modification plan, Servicer will not object to confirmation of 
the debtor’s chapter 13 plan, move to dismiss the pending 
bankruptcy case, or file a MRS solely on the basis that the debtor 
paid only the amounts due under the trial period or permanent loan 
modification plan, as opposed to the non-modified mortgage 
payments. 
 

M. Transfer of Servicing of Loans.  
 
1. Ordinary Transfer of Servicing from Servicer to Successor 
 Servicer or Subservicer.  

   
 The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights from Servicer 

to a third-party, including subservicing: 
 
a. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall inform the 

successor servicer (including a subservicer) whether a loss 
mitigation request is pending. 

 
b. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to accept and continue 
processing pending loss mitigation requests. 

  
c. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to honor trial and permanent 
loan modification agreements or other types of loss 
mitigation agreements entered into by prior servicer. 

 
d. Any contract for transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

designate that borrowers are third party beneficiaries under 
paragraphs IV.M.1.b and IV.M.1.c, above. 

 
 

2. Transfer of Servicing to Servicer.  
 

a. When Servicer acquires servicing rights from another 
servicer, Servicer shall ensure that it will accept, and 
continue to process pending loss mitigation requests from 
the prior servicer, and that it will honor trial and permanent 
loan modification agreements or other loss mitigation 
agreements entered into by the prior servicer, as evidenced 
by the prior servicer or the borrower.  If the borrower 
provides a copy of a loss mitigation offer and the borrower 
has complied in good faith with the terms of the offer, that 
shall be deemed evidence of a loss mitigation agreement.  
A borrower making payments that conform to the payment 
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terms of the offer shall be deemed to be the borrower’s 
good faith compliance with the terms of the offer.   

 

3. Transfer of Servicing with Pending Loss Mitigation. 
 

a. Where a loan file indicates that a loss mitigation request 
was pending within 60 days of transfer or a borrower 
indicates the same, and Servicer lacks clear written 
evidence of a loss mitigation denial by the prior servicer,  
Servicer shall take all reasonable steps to obtain 
confirmation from the prior servicer of the status of any 
loss mitigation activity or review of a loss mitigation 
request, and shall:  

 

i. Where the prior servicer’s review was not complete, 
complete the review of the borrower's prior loss 
mitigation request, after notifying the borrower of 
any necessary information missing from such 
application, and afford the borrower an opportunity 
to have the loss mitigation request reviewed through 
the independent evaluation and appeal processes 
under paragraphs IV.G.1&3; or 

ii. Provide the borrower a written denial notice, in 
compliance with paragraph IV.G.2, and provide the 
borrower 30 days to request an appeal under 
paragraph IV.G.3. 

 
b. The Servicer shall not commence, refer to, or proceed with 

foreclosure until the servicer has satisfied all requirements 
under paragraph 3.a. above. 

 

4.  Transfer of Servicing of Loans where the Borrower is in 
Bankruptcy. 

a. The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights 
to  a third party from Servicer, including subservicing: 

 

i. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall inform 
the successor servicer or subservicer whether a 
borrower is a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding. 

ii. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing 
rights shall obligate the successor servicer to ensure 
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that payments for borrowers in active chapter 13 
bankruptcy cases continue to be applied consistent 
with Paragraph I.B.11.a-b.  

b. The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights 
to Servicer from a third party including prior servicers or 
subservicers: 

i. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall 
identify whether a borrower is a debtor in a 
bankruptcy proceeding. 

ii. In any POC, MRS, or other document filed by or on 
behalf of Servicer in a bankruptcy proceeding, 
Servicer shall not impose or collect fees or charges 
assessed by a prior servicer, unless Servicer has 
properly itemized and verified those fees and 
charges, and otherwise complied with the 
requirements of Paragraphs, I.D, III.B, and VI. 

 
 

V. PROTECTIONS FOR MILITARY PERSONNEL. 
  

A. Servicer shall comply with all applicable provisions of the 
Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA), 50 U.S.C. Appx. § 501 et seq., 
and any applicable state law offering protections to servicemembers. 

 
B. When a borrower states that he or she is or was within the preceding 9 

months (or the then applicable statutory period under the SCRA) in active 
military service or has received and is subject to military orders requiring 
him or her to commence active military service, Lender shall determine 
whether the borrower may be eligible for the protections of the SCRA or 
for the protections of the provisions of paragraph V.F. If Servicer 
determines the borrower is so eligible, Servicer shall, until Servicer 
determines that such customer is no longer protected by the SCRA, 

 
1. if such borrower is not entitled to a SPOC, route such customers to 

employees who have been specially trained about the protections 
of the SCRA to respond to such borrower’s questions, or 

 
2. if such borrower is entitled to a SPOC, designate as a SPOC for 

such borrower a person who has been specially trained about the 
protections of the SCRA (Servicemember SPOC). 
 

C. Servicer shall, in addition to any other reviews it may perform to assess 
eligibility under the SCRA, (i) before referring a loan for foreclosure, (ii) 
within seven days before a foreclosure sale, and (iii) the later of (A) 
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promptly after a foreclosure sale and (B) within three days before the 
regularly scheduled end of any redemption period, determine whether the 
secured property is owned by a servicemember covered under SCRA by 
searching the Defense Manpower Data Center (DMDC) for evidence of 
SCRA eligibility by either (a) last name and social security number, or (b) 
last name and date of birth. 

 
D. When a servicemember provides written notice requesting protection 

under the SCRA relating to interest rate relief, but does not provide the 
documentation required by Section 207(b)(1) of the SCRA (50 USC 
Appx. § 527(b)(1)), Servicer shall accept, in lieu of the documentation 
required by Section 207(b)(1) of the SCRA, a letter on official 
letterheadfrom the servicemember’s commanding officer including a 
contact telephone number for confirmation: 
 
1. Addressed in such a way as to signify that the commanding officer 

recognizes that the letter will be relied on by creditors of the 
servicemember (a statement that the letter is intended to be relied 
upon by the Servicemember’s creditors would satisfy this 
requirement); 
 

2. Setting forth the full name (including middle initial, if any), Social 
Security number and date of birth of the servicemember; 
 

3. Setting forth the home address of the servicemember; and 
 

4. Setting forth the date of the military orders marking the beginning 
of the period of military service of the servicemember and, as may 
be applicable, that the military service of the servicemember is 
continuing or the date on which the military service of the 
servicemember ended. 
 

E. Servicer shall notify customers who are 45 days delinquent that, if they are 
a servicemember, (a) they may be entitled to certain protections under the 
SCRA regarding the servicemember’s interest rate and the risk of 
foreclosure, and (b) counseling for covered servicemembers is available at 
agencies such as Military OneSource, Armed Forces Legal Assistance, 
and a HUD-certified housing counselor. Such notice shall include a toll-
free number that servicemembers may call to be connected to a person 
who has been specially trained about the protections of the SCRA to 
respond to such borrower’s questions. Such telephone number shall either 
connect directly to such a person or afford a caller the ability to identify 
him- or herself as an eligible servicemember and be routed to such 
persons. Servicers hereby confirm that they intend to take reasonable steps 
to ensure the dissemination of such toll-free number to customers who 
may be eligible servicemembers. 
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F. Irrespective of whether a mortgage obligation was originated before or 
during the period of a servicemember’s military service, if, based on the 
determination described in the last sentence and subject to Applicable 
Requirements, a servicemember’s military orders (or any letter complying 
with paragraph V.D), together with any other documentation satisfactory 
to the Servicer, reflects that the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile 
Fire/Imminent Danger Pay and (b) serving at a location (i) more than 750 
miles from the location of the secured property or (ii) outside of the 
United States, then to the extent consistent with Applicable Requirements, 
the Servicer shall not sell, foreclose, or seize a property for a breach of an 
obligation on real property owned by a servicemember that is secured by 
mortgage, deed of trust, or other security in the nature of a mortgage, 
during, or within 9 months after, the period in which the servicemember is 
eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent Danger Pay, unless either (i) Servicer 
has obtained a court order granted before such sale, foreclosure, or seizure 
with a return made and approved by the court, or (ii) if made pursuant to 
an agreement as provided in section 107 of the SCRA (50 U.S.C. Appx. § 
517).  Unless a servicemember’s eligibility for the protection under this 
paragraph can be fully determined by a proper search of the DMDC 
website, Servicer shall only be obligated under this provision if it is able to 
determine, based on a servicemember’s military orders (or any letter 
complying with paragraph V.D), together with any other documentation 
provided by or on behalf of the servicemember that is satisfactory to the 
Servicer, that the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent 
Danger Pay and (b) serving at a location (i) more than 750 miles from the 
location of the secured property or (ii) outside of the United States. 
 

G. Servicer shall not require a servicemember to be delinquent to qualify for 
a short sale, loan modification, or other loss mitigation relief if the 
servicemember is suffering financial hardship and is otherwise eligible for 
such loss mitigation. Subject to Applicable Requirements, for purposes of 
assessing financial hardship in relation to (i) a short sale or deed in lieu 
transaction, Servicer will take into account whether the servicemember is, 
as a result of a permanent change of station order, required to relocate 
even if such servicemember’s income has not been decreased, so long as 
the servicemember does not have sufficient liquid assets to make his or her 
monthly mortgage payments, or (ii) a loan modification, Servicer will take 
into account whether the servicemember is, as a result of his or her 
military orders required to relocate to a new duty station at least seventy 
five mile from his or her residence/secured property or to reside at a 
location other than the residence/secured property, and accordingly is 
unable personally to occupy the residence and (a) the residence will 
continue to be occupied by his or her dependents, or (b) the residence is 
the only residential property owned by the servicemember. 
 

H. Servicer shall not make inaccurate reports to credit reporting agencies 
when a servicemember, who has not defaulted before relocating under 
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military orders to a new duty station, obtains a short sale, loan 
modification, or other loss mitigation relief. 
 

VI. RESTRICTIONS ON SERVICING FEES. 
 

A. General Requirements. 
 
1. All default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related service fees, 

including third-party fees, collected from the borrower by Servicer 
shall be bona fide, reasonable in amount, and disclosed in detail to 
the borrower as provided in paragraphs I.B.10 and VI.B.1. 

 
B. Specific Fee Provisions. 

 
1. Schedule of Fees.  Servicer shall maintain and keep current a 

schedule of common non-state specific fees or ranges of fees that 
may be charged to borrowers by or on behalf of Servicer.  Servicer 
shall make this schedule available on its website and to the 
borrower or borrower’s authorized representative upon request. 
The schedule shall identify each fee, provide a plain language 
explanation of the fee, and state the maximum amount of the fee or 
how the fee is calculated or determined. 
 

2. Servicer may collect a default-related fee only if the fee is for 
reasonable and appropriate services actually rendered and one of 
the following conditions is met: 

 
a. the fee is expressly or generally authorized by the loan 

instruments and not prohibited by law or this Agreement; 
 
b. the fee is permitted by law and not prohibited by the loan 

instruments or this Agreement; or 
 

c. the fee is not prohibited by law, this Agreement or the loan 
instruments and is a reasonable fee for a specific service 
requested by the borrower that is collected only after clear 
and conspicuous disclosure of the fee is made available to 
the borrower. 
 

3. Attorneys’ Fees.  In addition to the limitations in paragraph VI.B.2 
above, attorneys’ fees charged in connection with a foreclosure 
action or bankruptcy proceeding shall only be for work actually 
performed and shall not exceed reasonable and customary fees for 
such work. In the event a foreclosure action is terminated prior to 
the final judgment and/or sale for a loss mitigation option, a 
reinstatement, or payment in full, the borrower shall be liable only 
for reasonable and customary fees for work actually performed. 
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4. Late Fees. 
 
a. Servicer shall not collect any late fee or delinquency charge 

when the only delinquency is attributable to late fees or 
delinquency charges assessed on an earlier payment, and 
the payment is otherwise a full payment for the applicable 
period and is paid on or before its due date or within any 
applicable grace period. 

 
b. Servicer shall not collect late fees (i) based on an amount 

greater than the past due amount; (ii) collected from the 
escrow account or from escrow surplus without the 
approval of the borrower; or (iii) deducted from any regular 
payment. 

 
c. Servicer shall not collect any late fees for periods during 

which (i) a complete loan modification application is under 
consideration; (ii) the borrower is making timely trial 
modification payments; or (iii) a written and binding short 
sale offer from a bona fide purchaser is being evaluated by 
Servicer. 
 

C. Third-Party Fees. 
 
1. Servicer shall not impose unnecessary or duplicative property 

inspection, property preservation or valuation fees on the borrower, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

 
a. No property preservation fees shall be imposed on eligible 

borrowers who have a pending application with Servicer 
for loss mitigation relief or are performing under a loss 
mitigation program, unless Servicer has a reasonable basis 
to believe that property preservation is necessary for the 
maintenance of the property, such as when the property is 
vacant or listed on a violation notice from a local 
jurisdiction;  
 

b. No property inspection fee shall be imposed on a borrower 
any more frequently than the timeframes allowed under 
GSE or HUD guidelines unless Servicer has identified 
specific circumstances supporting the need for further 
property inspections; and 
  

c. Servicer shall be limited to imposing property valuation 
fees (e.g., BPO) to once every 12 months, unless other 
valuations are requested by the borrower to facilitate a 
short sale or to support a loan modification as outlined in 
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paragraph IV.G.3.a, or required as part of the default or 
foreclosure valuation process. 
 

2. Default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related services performed by 
third parties shall be at reasonable market value. 
 

3. Servicer shall not collect any fee for default, foreclosure or 
bankruptcy-related services by an affiliate unless the amount of the 
fee does not exceed the lesser of (a) any fee limitation or allowable 
amount for the service under applicable state law, and (b) the 
market rate for the service. To determine the market rate, Servicer 
shall obtain annual market reviews of its affiliates’ pricing for such 
default and foreclosure-related services; such market reviews shall 
be performed by a qualified, objective, independent third-party 
professional using procedures and standards generally accepted in 
the industry to yield accurate and reliable results. The independent 
third-party professional shall determine in its market survey the 
price actually charged by third-party affiliates and by independent 
third party vendors. 
 

4. Servicer shall be prohibited from collecting any unearned fee, or 
giving or accepting referral fees in relation to third-party default or 
foreclosure-related services. 
 

5. Servicer shall not impose its own mark-ups on Servicer initiated 
third-party default or foreclosure-related services. 
 

D. Certain Bankruptcy Related Fees. 
 
1. Servicer must not collect any attorney’s fees or other charges with 

respect to the preparation or submission of a POC or MRS 
document that is withdrawn or denied, or any amendment thereto 
that is required, as a result of a substantial misstatement by 
Servicer of the amount due. 

 
2. Servicer shall not collect late fees due to delays in receiving full 

remittance of debtor’s payments, including trial period or 
permanent modification payments as well as post-petition conduit 
payments in accordance with 11 U.S.C. § 1322(b)(5), that debtor 
has timely (as defined by the underlying Chapter 13 plan) made to 
a chapter 13 trustee. 
 

VII. FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE. 
 

A. General Requirements for Force-Placed Insurance. 
  

1. Servicer shall not obtain force-placed insurance unless there is a 
reasonable basis to believe the borrower has failed to comply with 
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the loan contract’s requirements to maintain property insurance. 
For escrowed accounts, Servicer shall continue to advance 
payments for the homeowner’s existing policy, unless the borrower 
or insurance company cancels the existing policy. 

 
For purposes of this section VII, the term “force-placed insurance” 
means hazard insurance coverage obtained by Servicer when the 
borrower has failed to maintain or renew hazard or wind insurance 
on such property as required of the borrower under the terms of the 
mortgage. 
 

2. Servicer shall not be construed as having a reasonable basis for 
obtaining force-placed insurance unless the requirements of this 
section VII have been met. 

 
3. Servicer shall not impose any charge on any borrower for force-

placed insurance with respect to any property securing a federally 
related mortgage unless: 
 
a. Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a written notice to the 

borrower containing: 
 

i. A reminder of the borrower’s obligation to maintain 
hazard insurance on the property securing the 
federally related mortgage; 
 

ii. A statement that Servicer does not have evidence of 
insurance coverage of such property; 
 

iii. A clear and conspicuous statement of the 
procedures by which the borrower may demonstrate 
that the borrower already has insurance coverage; 
 

iv. A statement that Servicer may obtain such coverage 
at the borrower’s expense if the borrower does not 
provide such demonstration of the borrower’s 
existing coverage in a timely manner; 
 

v. A statement that the cost of such coverage may be 
significantly higher than the cost of the 
homeowner’s current coverage; 

 
vi. For first lien loans on Servicer’s primary servicing 

system, a statement that, if the borrower desires to 
maintain his or her voluntary policy, Servicer will 
offer an escrow account and advance the premium 
due on the voluntary policy if the borrower: (a) 
accepts the offer of the escrow account; (b) provides 
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a copy of the invoice from the voluntary carrier; (c) 
agrees in writing to reimburse the escrow advances 
through regular escrow payments; (d) agrees to 
escrow to both repay the advanced premium and to 
pay for the future premiums necessary to maintain 
any required insurance policy; and (e) agrees 
Servicer shall manage the escrow account in 
accordance with the loan documents and with state 
and federal law; and 

 
vii. A statement, in the case of single interest coverage, 

that the coverage may only protect the mortgage 
holder’s interest and not the homeowner’s interest. 
 

b. Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a second written 
notice, at least 30 days after the mailing of the notice under 
paragraph VII.A.3.a that contains all the information 
described in each clause of such paragraph 

 
c. Servicer has not received from the borrower written 

confirmation of hazard insurance coverage for the property 
securing the mortgage by the end of the 15-day period 
beginning on the date the notice under paragraph VII.A.3.b 
was sent by Servicer. 
 

4. Servicer shall accept any reasonable form of written confirmation 
from a borrower or the borrower’s insurance agent of existing 
insurance coverage, which shall include the existing insurance 
policy number along with the identity of, and contact information 
for, the insurance company or agent. 

 
5. Servicer shall not place hazard or wind insurance on a mortgaged 

property, or require a borrower to obtain or maintain such 
insurance, in excess of the greater of replacement value, last-
known amount of coverage or the outstanding loan balance, unless 
required by Applicable Requirements, or requested by borrower in 
writing. 
 

6. Within 15 days of the receipt by Servicer of evidence of a 
borrower’s existing insurance coverage, Servicer shall: 
 
a. Terminate the force-placed insurance; and 

 
b. Refund to the consumer all force-placed insurance 

premiums paid by the borrower during any period during 
which the borrower’s insurance coverage and the force 
placed insurance coverage were each in effect, and any 
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related fees charged to the consumer’s account with respect 
to the force-placed insurance during such period. 
 

7. Servicer shall make reasonable efforts to work with the borrower 
to continue or reestablish the existing homeowner’s policy if there 
is a lapse in payment and the borrower’s payments are escrowed. 

 
8. Any force-placed insurance policy must be purchased for a 

commercially reasonable price. 
 

9. No provision of this section VII shall be construed as prohibiting 
Servicer from providing simultaneous or concurrent notice of a 
lack of flood insurance pursuant to section 102(e) of the Flood 
Disaster Protection Act of 1973. 
 

VIII. GENERAL SERVICER DUTIES AND PROHIBITIONS. 
 

A. Measures to Deter Community Blight. 
 
1. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to 

ensure that REO properties do not become blighted. 
 
2. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to 

enhance participation and coordination with state and local land 
bank programs, neighborhood stabilization programs, nonprofit 
redevelopment programs, and other anti-blight programs, including 
those that facilitate discount sale or donation of low-value REO 
properties so that they can be demolished or salvaged for 
productive use. 
 

3. As indicated in I.A.18, Servicer shall (a) inform borrower that if 
the borrower continues to occupy the property, he or she has 
responsibility to maintain the property, and an obligation to 
continue to pay taxes owed, until a sale or other title transfer action 
occurs; and (b) request that if the borrower wishes to abandon the 
property, he or she contact Servicer to discuss alternatives to 
foreclosure under which borrower can surrender the property to 
Servicer in exchange for compensation.  
 

4. When the Servicer makes a determination not to pursue foreclosure 
action on a property with respect to a first lien mortgage loan, 
Servicer shall: 
 
a. Notify the borrower of Servicer’s decision to release the 

lien and not pursue foreclosure, and inform borrower about 
his or her right to occupy the property until a sale or other 
title transfer action occurs; and 
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b. Notify local authorities, such as tax authorities, courts, or 
code enforcement departments, when Servicer decides to 
release the lien and not pursue foreclosure. 
 

 
B. Tenants’ Rights. 

 
1. Servicer shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws 

governing the rights of tenants living in foreclosed residential 
properties. 
 

2. Servicer shall develop and implement written policies and procedures 
to ensure compliance with such laws. 
 

C. Notification of Tax Consequences. 
 
1. When the Servicer implements a loan modification, partial or 

complete lien forgiveness, or waives a deficiency resulting from a 
short sale or deed in lieu, the Servicer shall: 

 
a. Notify the borrower that such action may have consequences 

with respect to the borrower’s federal, state, or local tax 
liability, as well as eligibility for any public assistance 
benefits the borrower may receive; 

 
b. Notify the borrower that the Servicer cannot advise the 

borrower on tax liability or any effect on public assistance 
benefits; and  
 

c. Notify the borrower that the borrower may wish to consult 
with a qualified individual or organization about any possible 
tax or other consequences resulting from the loan 
modification, lien forgiveness, short sale, or deed in lieu 
deficiency waiver. 
 

IX. GENERAL PROVISIONS, DEFINITIONS, AND IMPLEMENTATION. 
 

A. Applicable Requirements. 
 
1. The servicing standards and any modifications or other actions 

taken in accordance with the servicing standards are expressly 
subject to, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, (a) 
applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, (b) 
the terms of the applicable mortgage loan documents, (c) Section 
201 of the Helping Families Save Their Homes Act of 2009, and 
(d) the terms and provisions of the Servicer Participation 
Agreement with the Department of Treasury, any servicing 
agreement, subservicing agreement under which Servicer services 
for others, special servicing agreement, mortgage or bond 
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insurance policy or related agreement or requirements to which 
Servicer is a party and by which it or its servicing is bound 
pertaining to the servicing or ownership of the mortgage loans, 
including without limitation the requirements, binding directions, 
or investor guidelines of the applicable investor (such as Fannie 
Mae or Freddie Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, or credit enhancer 
(collectively, the “Applicable Requirements”). 

 
2. In the event of a conflict between the requirements of the 

Agreement and the Applicable Requirements with respect to any 
provision of this Agreement such that the Servicer cannot comply 
without violating Applicable Requirements or being subject to 
adverse action, including fines and penalties, Servicer shall 
document such conflicts and notify the Monitor and the 
Monitoring Committee that it intends to comply with the 
Applicable Requirements to the extent necessary to eliminate the 
conflict. Any associated Metric provided for in the Enforcement 
Terms will be adjusted accordingly. 
 

B. Definitions. 
 
1. In each instance in this Agreement in which Servicer is required to 

ensure adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations, it 
is intended to mean that Servicer shall: (a) authorize and adopt 
such actions on behalf of Servicer as may be necessary for Servicer 
to perform such obligations and undertakings; (b) follow up on any 
material non-compliance with such actions in a timely and 
appropriate manner; and (c) require corrective action be taken in a 
timely manner of any material non-compliance with such 
obligations. 
 

2. References to Servicer shall mean Ocwen Financial Corporation or 
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (“Ocwen”), regardless of whether 
Ocwen is acting as a servicer, master servicer, or sub-servicer, and 
shall include Servicer’s successors and assignees in the event of a sale 
of all or substantially all of the assets of Servicer or of Servicer’s 
division(s) or major business unit(s) that are engaged as a primary 
business in customer-facing servicing of residential mortgages on 
owner-occupied properties.  



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
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BORROWER PAYMENT AMOUNT 
 

1. The Borrower Payment Amount shall be administered under the direction and 

control of the State members of the Monitoring Committee in the following manner. 

2. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Consent Judgment, the State 

members of the Monitoring Committee shall choose and retain a Settlement Administrator (“the 

Administrator”) to administer the distribution of cash payments to individual borrowers under this 

Consent Judgment.  

3. Ocwen shall provide to the Administrator all information already in its 

possession and readily available that is reasonably necessary for the administration of this 

Consent Judgment, within a reasonable time after receipt of the request for information.  

Ocwen is ordered herein to provide such information under 15 U.S.C. § 6802(e)(1)(A), (5) and 

(8) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.  Such information pertaining to individual eligible 

borrowers, including names and other identifying information, may be provided to individual 

states, but only if the information is used solely for the purpose of contacting eligible 

borrowers, responding to inquiries from borrowers regarding their eligibility or concerning the 

award of borrower payments under this Consent Judgment, and/or complying with tax 

reporting and withholding obligations, if any.  The Administrator shall utilize appropriate 

information security protocols to ensure the privacy of borrower information and otherwise 

comply with all applicable privacy laws.  After the completion of the distribution of funds by 

the Administrator (“Borrower Payment Process”), the Administrator shall provide a report to 

Ocwen identifying which borrowers have received payment.  In addition, Ocwen may request 

from the Administrator such interim reports as may be deemed reasonable by State members of 
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the Monitoring Committee, and such agreement, consent, or approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  Interim reports necessary to ensure that borrowers will not receive duplicate 

payments by virtue of litigation or otherwise hereby are deemed reasonable.  Ocwen shall 

warrant to the State Members of the Monitoring Committee at the time of supplying 

information to the Administrator that the information is complete and accurate to the best of its 

knowledge and capability.  Ocwen’s duty to supply complete and accurate information, to the 

best of its knowledge and capability, regarding eligible borrowers shall continue throughout 

the administration process. 

4. The Administrator shall permit reasonable onsite inspection by the State members 

of the Monitoring Committee on the premises of the Administrator to monitor the administration 

of this Consent Judgment. 

5. As a condition to receipt of any payments pursuant to this process, borrowers 

must agree that such payment shall offset and operate to reduce any other obligation Ocwen has 

to the borrowers to provide compensation or other payments.  However, borrowers shall not be 

required to release or waive any other right or legal claim as a condition of receiving such 

payments. 

6. Any cash payment to individual borrowers awarded under the terms of this 
 
Consent Judgment is not and shall not be considered as forgiven debt. 

7. The purposes of the payments described in this Exhibit B are remedial and relate 

to the reduction in the proceeds deemed realized by borrowers for tax purposes from the 

foreclosure sale of residential properties owned by the borrowers allegedly resulting from the 

allegedly unlawful conduct of Ocwen. 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT C



 
 

C-1 
 

Consumer Relief Requirements 

A. Loan Modification Criteria 

Ocwen shall satisfy the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment set forth in Section IV.5 
of the Consent Judgment through principal reduction loan modifications on first lien 
residential mortgage loans.  Ocwen shall receive credit toward this obligation for every 
dollar reduction in a borrower’s principal that lowers the loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”) 
below 120%, including principal reductions under the Making Home Affordable Program 
(including the Home Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) Tier 1 or Tier 2), 
except to the extent that state or federal funds paid to Ocwen in its capacity as an investor 
are the source of Ocwen’s credit claim, provided that: 

1. At the time the modification is offered, the borrower is at least 30 days 
delinquent or otherwise qualifies as being at imminent risk of default due to 
his or her financial situation; 

2. The borrower’s pre-modification LTV is greater than 100%; 

3. The borrower’s post-modification principal and interest payment is at least 
10% lower than the pre-modification payment;  

4. The borrower’s post-modification payment is at or below a debt-to-income 
ratio (“DTI”) of 31%, (or an affordability measurement consistent with 
HAMP guidelines), or in the case of a non-owner occupied property, an 
appropriate measure of affordability;  

5. The borrower’s payments under the modified terms are current as of 90 days 
following the implementation of the modification; and 

6. The borrower’s post-modification LTV is no greater than 120%, which may 
be determined in accordance with HAMP PRA. 

Provided, however, that Ocwen will only receive credit for a principal reduction that is 
achieved through a deferral of principal instead of immediate forgiveness if the 
modification meets criteria 1 through 5 above, and: 

7. The borrower’s post-modification LTV, as calculated at the time of offer, is 
no greater than 95%; and  

8. The modification’s terms entitle the borrower to forgiveness of the entire 
amount of deferred principal over a period of no more than three years, with at 
least 1/3 of the deferred principal forgiven annually, so long as the borrower 
remains current in the mortgage. 
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B. Other Requirements 

9. Ocwen shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to waive or release 
legal claims and defenses as a condition of approval for a loan modification 
under these Consumer Relief Requirements.  However, nothing herein shall 
preclude Ocwen from requiring a waiver or release of legal claims and 
defenses with respect to a loan modification offered in connection with the 
resolution of a contested claim, when the borrower would not otherwise have 
qualified for that loan modification under existing Servicer programs. 

10. Ocwen shall be entitled to receive credits towards its $2 billion Consumer 
Relief commitment for modifications it undertakes pursuant to the Consumer 
Relief Requirements described above on or after November 3, 2013.  

11. If Ocwen fails to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment as set    
forth in these Consumer Relief Requirements within three years of the date the 
Consent Judgment is entered, Ocwen shall pay a cash penalty in an amount 
equal to the unmet commitment amount, subject to the requirements in 
Paragraph 12.   

12. In the event there is a material change in market conditions that Ocwen can 
demonstrate makes it unable to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief 
commitment notwithstanding its good faith efforts to do so, the parties commit 
to engage in good faith discussions regarding an extension or other 
modification of the terms of this commitment. 

13. Ocwen agrees that it will not implement any of the Consumer Relief 
Requirements described herein through policies that are intended to (a) 
disfavor a specific geography within or among states that are a party to the 
Consent Judgment or (b) discriminate against any protected class of 
borrowers.  This provision shall not preclude the implementation of pilot 
programs in particular geographic areas. 

14. Satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements by Ocwen in accordance 
with this Agreement in connection with any residential mortgage loan is 
expressly subject to, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, as applicable, 
the terms and provisions of the Servicer Participation Agreement with the 
U.S. Department of Treasury, any servicing agreement, subservicing 
agreement under which Ocwen services for others, special servicing 
agreement, mortgage or bond insurance policy or related agreement or 
requirements to which Ocwen is a party and by which it or its servicing 
affiliates are bound pertaining to the servicing or ownership of the mortgage 
loans, including without limitation the requirements, binding directions, or 
investor guidelines of the applicable investor (such as Fannie Mae or Freddie 
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Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, or credit enhancer, provided, however, that 
the inability of Ocwen to offer a type, form or feature of the consumer relief 
payments by virtue of an Applicable Requirement as defined in Section 
IX.A.1 of Exhibit A shall not relieve Ocwen of its aggregate consumer relief 
obligations imposed by this Agreement, i.e., Ocwen must satisfy such 
obligations through the offer of other types, forms or features of consumer 
relief payments that are not limited by such Applicable Requirement. 

15. Ocwen shall not receive any credit under the Consumer Relief Requirements 
for any federal or state incentive payments received by Ocwen for 
modifications made under federal or proprietary programs. 
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Enforcement Terms 

A. Implementation Timeline.  Ocwen (hereinafter “Servicer”) anticipates that it 
will phase in the implementation of the Servicing Standards, using a grid 
approach that prioritizes implementation based upon: (i) the importance of the 
Servicing Standard to the borrower; and (ii) the difficulty of implementing the 
Servicing Standard.  In addition to the Servicing Standards that have been 
implemented upon entry of this Consent Judgment, the period for implementation 
will be within 60 days of entry of this Consent Judgment.  For Metrics 6.D.i, 30, 
and 31 in Schedule D-1 hereto, the period for implementation will be within 180 
days of entry of this Consent Judgment.  For Metrics 32 and 33 in schedule D-1 
hereto, the period for implementation will be within 90 days of entry of this 
Consent Judgment.  In the event that Servicer, using reasonable efforts, is unable 
to implement certain standards on the specified timetable, Servicer may apply to 
the Monitor for a reasonable extension of time to implement those standards or 
requirements.   

B. Monitoring Committee.  A committee comprising of representatives of the state 
Attorneys General, State Mortgage Regulators and the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) shall monitor Servicer’s compliance with this 
Consent Judgment (the “Monitoring Committee”).  The Monitoring Committee 
may substitute representation, as necessary.  Subject to Section F, the Monitoring 
Committee may share all Monitor Reports, as that term is defined in Section D.3 
below, with any releasing party. 

C.  Monitor 
Retention and Qualifications and Standard of Conduct 
1. Pursuant to an agreement of the parties, Joseph A. Smith Jr. is appointed 

to the position of Monitor under the Consent Judgment.  If the Monitor is 
at any time unable to complete his or her duties under the Consent 
Judgment, Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall mutually agree 
upon a replacement in accordance with the process and standards set forth 
in this Section C and Paragraph V.7 of the Consent Judgment. 

2. Such Monitor shall be highly competent and highly respected, with a 
reputation that will garner public confidence in his or her ability to 
perform the tasks required under this Consent Judgment.  The Monitor 
shall have the right to employ an accounting firm or firms or other firm(s) 
with similar capabilities to support the Monitor in carrying out his or her 
duties under the Consent Judgment.  Monitor and Servicer shall agree on 
the selection of a “Primary Professional Firm,” which must have adequate 
capacity and resources to perform the work required under this agreement.  
The Monitor shall also have the right to engage one or more attorneys or 
other professional persons to represent or assist the Monitor in carrying 



 

D-2 
 
 

out the Monitor’s duties under the Consent Judgment (each such 
individual, along with each individual deployed to the engagement by the 
Primary Professional Firm, shall be defined as a “Professional”).  The 
Monitor and Professionals will collectively possess expertise in the areas 
of mortgage servicing, loss mitigation, business operations, compliance, 
internal controls, accounting, and foreclosure and bankruptcy law and 
practice.  The Monitor and Professionals shall at all times act in good faith 
and with integrity and fairness towards all the Parties.   

3. The Monitor and Professionals shall not have any prior relationships with 
the Parties that would undermine public confidence in the objectivity of 
their work and, subject to Section C.3(e), below, shall not have any 
conflicts of interest with any Party. 

(a) The Monitor and Professionals will disclose, and will make a 
reasonable inquiry to discover, any known current or prior 
relationships to, or conflicts with, any Party, any Party’s holding 
company, any subsidiaries of the Party or its holding company, 
directors, officers, and law firms. 

(b) The Monitor and Professionals shall make a reasonable inquiry to 
determine whether there are any facts that a reasonable individual 
would consider likely to create a conflict of interest for the 
Monitor or Professionals.  The Monitor and Professionals shall 
disclose any conflict of interest with respect to any Party. 

(c) The duty to disclose a conflict of interest or relationship pursuant 
to this Section C.3 shall remain ongoing throughout the course of 
the Monitor’s and Professionals’ work in connection with this 
Consent Judgment.   

(d) All Professionals shall comply with all applicable standards of 
professional conduct, including ethics rules and rules pertaining to 
conflicts of interest.  

(e) To the extent permitted under prevailing professional standards, a 
Professional’s conflict of interest may be waived by written 
agreement of the Monitor and Servicer. 

(f) Servicer or the Monitoring Committee may move the Court for an 
order disqualifying any Professionals on the grounds that such 
Professional has a conflict of interest that has inhibited or could 
inhibit the Professional’s ability to act in good faith and with 
integrity and fairness towards all Parties.   

4. The Monitor must agree not to be retained by any Party, or its successors 
or assigns, for a period of two years after the conclusion of the terms of 
the engagement.  Any Professionals who work on the engagement must 



 

D-3 
 
 

agree not to work on behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, for a 
period of one year after the conclusion of the term of the engagement (the 
“Professional Exclusion Period”).  Any Firm that performs work with 
respect to Servicer on the engagement must agree not to perform work on 
behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, that consists of advising 
Servicer on a response to the Monitor’s review during the engagement and 
for a period of six months after the conclusion of the term of the 
engagement (the “Firm Exclusion Period”).  The Professional Exclusion 
Period, Firm Exclusion Period, and terms of exclusion may be altered on a 
case-by-case basis upon written agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  
The Monitor shall organize the work of any Firms so as to minimize the 
potential for any appearance of, or actual, conflicts. 

Monitor’s Responsibilities 
5. It shall be the responsibility of the Monitor to determine whether Servicer 

is in compliance with the Servicing Standards and whether Servicer has 
satisfied the Consumer Relief Requirements, in accordance with the 
authorities provided herein, and to report his or her findings as provided in 
Section D.3, below.  

6. The manner in which the Monitor will carry out his or her compliance 
responsibilities under this Consent Judgment and, where applicable, the 
methodologies to be utilized shall be set forth in a work plan agreed upon 
by Servicer and the Monitor, and not objected to by the Monitoring 
Committee (the “Work Plan”). 

Internal Review Group 
7. Servicer will designate an internal quality control group that is 

independent from the line of business whose performance is being 
measured (the “Internal Review Group”) to perform compliance reviews 
each calendar quarter (“Quarter”) in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Work Plan (the “Compliance Reviews”) and in 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements after the (A) end of 
each calendar year (and, in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and 
(B) earlier of the Servicer’s assertion that it has satisfied its obligations 
thereunder and the third anniversary of the Start Date (the “Satisfaction 
Review”).  For the purposes of this provision, a group that is independent 
from the line of business shall be one that does not perform operational 
work on mortgage servicing, and ultimately reports to a Chief Risk Officer, 
Chief Audit Executive, Chief Compliance Officer, or another employee or 
manager who has no direct operational responsibility for mortgage 
servicing. 
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8. The Internal Review Group shall have the appropriate authority, privileges, 
and knowledge to effectively implement and conduct the reviews and 
metric assessments contemplated herein and under the terms and 
conditions of the Work Plan. 

9. The Internal Review Group shall have personnel skilled at evaluating and 
validating processes, decisions, and documentation utilized through the 
implementation of the Servicing Standards.  The Internal Review Group 
may include non-employee consultants or contractors working at 
Servicer’s direction. 

10. The qualifications and performance of the Internal Review Group will be 
subject to ongoing review by the Monitor.  Servicer will appropriately 
remediate the reasonable concerns of the Monitor as to the qualifications 
or performance of the Internal Review Group. 

Work Plan 
11. Servicer’s compliance with the Servicing Standards shall be assessed via 

metrics identified and defined in Schedule D-1 hereto, as supplemented by 
and consistent with the metrics provided in the National Mortgage 
Settlement 2012 Consent Judgment and any additional metrics that may be 
developed in accordance with Section C.22 below (“the “Metrics”).  The 
threshold error rates for the Metrics are set forth in Schedule D-1 (as 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section C.22, below, 
the “Threshold Error Rates”).  The Internal Review Group shall perform 
test work to compute the Metrics each Quarter, and report the results of 
that analysis via the Compliance Reviews.  The Internal Review Group 
shall perform test work to assess the satisfaction of the Consumer Relief 
Requirements within 45 days after the (A) end of each calendar year (and, 
in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and (B) earlier of (i) the end 
of the Quarter in which Servicer asserts that it has satisfied its obligations 
under the Consumer Relief Provisions and (ii) the Quarter during which 
the third anniversary of the Start Date occurs, and report that analysis via 
the Satisfaction Review. 

12. Servicer and the Monitor shall reach agreement on the terms of the Work 
Plan within 90 days of the entry of the Consent Judgment, which time can 
be extended for good cause by agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  If 
such Work Plan is not objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 
days, the Monitor shall proceed to implement the Work Plan.  In the event 
that Servicer and the Monitor cannot agree on the terms of the Work Plan 
within 90 days or the agreed upon terms are not acceptable to the 
Monitoring Committee, Servicer and Monitoring Committee or the 
Monitor shall jointly petition the Court to resolve any disputes.  If the 
Court does not resolve such disputes, then the Parties shall submit all 



 

D-5 
 
 

remaining disputes to binding arbitration before a panel of three arbitrators.  
The Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall each appoint one 
arbitrator, and those two arbitrators shall appoint a third.  The Servicer 
may submit a Work Plan that will satisfy the terms of this Consent 
Judgment and the terms of the National Mortgage Settlement 2012 
Consent Judgment. 

13. The Work Plan may be modified from time to time by agreement of the 
Monitor and Servicer.  If such amendment to the Work Plan is not 
objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 days, the Monitor 
shall proceed to implement the amendment to the Work Plan.  To the 
extent possible, the Monitor shall endeavor to apply the Servicing 
Standards uniformly across all Servicers. 

14. The following general principles shall provide a framework for the 
formulation of the Work Plan: 

(a) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 
procedures that will be used by the Internal Review Group to 
perform the test work and compute the Metrics for each Quarter. 

(b) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 
procedures that will be used by Servicer to report on its 
compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 
Consent Judgment, including, incidental to any other testing, 
confirmation of state-identifying information used by Servicer to 
compile state-level Consumer Relief information as required by 
Section D.2. 

(c) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and procedures 
that the Monitor will use to assess Servicer’s reporting on its 
compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 
Consent Judgment.   

(d) The Work Plan will set forth the methodology and procedures the 
Monitor will utilize to review the testing work performed by the 
Internal Review Group. 

(e) The Compliance Reviews and the Satisfaction Review may include 
a variety of audit techniques that are based on an appropriate 
sampling process and random and risk-based selection criteria, as 
appropriate and as set forth in the Work Plan. 

(f) In formulating, implementing, and amending the Work Plan, 
Servicer and the Monitor may consider any relevant information 
relating to patterns in complaints by borrowers, issues or 
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deficiencies reported to the Monitor with respect to the Servicing 
Standards, and the results of prior Compliance Reviews. 

(g) The Work Plan should ensure that Compliance Reviews are 
commensurate with the size, complexity, and risk associated with 
the Servicing Standard being evaluated by the Metric. 

(h) Following implementation of the Work Plan, Servicer shall be 
required to compile each Metric beginning in the first full Quarter 
after the period for implementing the Servicing Standards 
associated with the Metric, or any extension approved by the 
Monitor in accordance with Section A, has run. 

Monitor’s Access to Information 
15. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 

the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall provide the Monitor with its 
regularly prepared business reports analyzing Executive Office servicing 
complaints (or the equivalent); access to all Executive Office servicing 
complaints (or the equivalent) (with appropriate redactions of borrower 
information other than borrower name and contact information to comply 
with privacy requirements); and, if Servicer tracks additional servicing 
complaints, quarterly information identifying the three most common 
servicing complaints received outside of the Executive Office complaint 
process (or the equivalent).  In the event that Servicer substantially 
changes its escalation standards or process for receiving Executive Office 
servicing complaints (or the equivalent), Servicer shall ensure that the 
Monitor has access to comparable information.   

16. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 
the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall notify the Monitor promptly if 
Servicer becomes aware of reliable information indicating Servicer is 
engaged in a significant pattern or practice of noncompliance with a 
material aspect of the Servicing Standards.   

17. Servicer shall provide the Monitor with access to all work papers prepared 
by the Internal Review Group in connection with determining compliance 
with the Metrics or satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements in 
accordance with the Work Plan. 

18. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 
to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 
noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 
reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers or with any of the Consumer 
Relief Requirements, the Monitor shall engage Servicer in a review to 
determine if the facts are accurate or the information is correct.   
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19. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 
under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 
request information from Servicer in addition to that provided under 
Sections C.16-19.  Servicer shall provide the requested information in a 
format agreed upon between Servicer and the Monitor.   

20. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 
under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 
interview Servicer’s employees and agents, provided that the interviews 
shall be limited to matters related to Servicer’s compliance with the 
Metrics or the Consumer Relief Requirements, and that Servicer shall be 
given reasonable notice of such interviews. 

Monitor’s Powers 

21. Where the Monitor reasonably determines that the Internal Review 
Group’s work cannot be relied upon or that the Internal Review Group did 
not correctly implement the Work Plan in some material respect, the 
Monitor may direct that the work on the Metrics (or parts thereof) be 
reviewed by Professionals or a third party other than the Internal Review 
Group, and that supplemental work be performed as necessary. 

22. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 
to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 
noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 
reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers or tenants residing in 
foreclosed properties, the Monitor shall engage Servicer in a review to 
determine if the facts are accurate or the information is correct.  If after 
that review, the Monitor reasonably concludes that such a pattern exists 
and is reasonably likely to cause material harm to borrowers or tenants 
residing in foreclosed properties, the Monitor may propose an additional 
Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate relating to Servicer’s 
compliance with the associated term or requirement.  Any additional 
Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates (a) must be similar to the 
Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates contained in Schedule D-1, 
(b) must relate to material terms of the Servicing Standards, (c) must 
either (i) be outcomes-based (but no outcome-based Metric shall be added 
with respect to any Mandatory Relief Requirement) or (ii) require the 
existence of policies and procedures required by the Servicing Standards, 
in a manner similar to Metrics 5.B-E, and (d) must be distinct from, and 
not overlap with, any other Metric or Metrics.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Monitor may add a Metric that satisfies (a)-(c) but does not 
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satisfy (d) of the preceding sentence if the Monitor first asks the Servicer 
to propose, and then implement, a Corrective Action Plan, as defined 
below, for the material term of the Servicing Standards with which there is 
a pattern of noncompliance and that is reasonably likely to cause material 
harm to borrowers or tenants residing in foreclosed properties, and the 
Servicer fails to implement the Corrective Action Plan according to the 
timeline agreed to with the Monitor.    

23. If Monitor proposes an additional Metric and associated Threshold Error 
Rate pursuant to Section C.22, above, Monitor, the Monitoring Committee, 
and Servicer shall agree on amendments to Schedule D-1 to include the 
additional Metrics and Threshold Error Rates provided for in Section C.22, 
above, and an appropriate timeline for implementation of the Metric.  If 
Servicer does not timely agree to such additions, any associated 
amendments to the Work Plan, or the implementation schedule, the 
Monitor may petition the court for such additions. 

24. Any additional Metric proposed by the Monitor pursuant to the processes 
in Sections C.22 or C.23 and relating to provision VIII.B.1 of the 
Servicing Standards shall be limited to Servicer’s performance of its 
obligations to comply with (1) the federal Protecting Tenants at 
Foreclosure Act and state laws that provide comparable protections to 
tenants of foreclosed properties; (2) state laws that govern relocation 
assistance payments to tenants (“cash for keys”); and (3) state laws that 
govern the return of security deposits to tenants. 

D.       Reporting   
Quarterly Reports 
1. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will report the results of its 

Compliance Reviews for that Quarter (the “Quarterly Report”).  The 
Quarterly Report shall include:  (i) the Metrics for that Quarter; (ii) 
Servicer’s progress toward meeting its payment obligations under this 
Consent Judgment; and (iii) general statistical data on Servicer’s overall 
servicing performance described in Schedule Y.  Except where an 
extension is granted by the Monitor, Quarterly Reports shall be due no 
later than 45 days following the end of the Quarter and shall be provided 
to:  (1) the Monitor, and (2) the Board of Servicer or a committee of the 
Board designated by Servicer.  The first Quarterly Report shall cover the 
first full Quarter after this Consent Judgment is entered.   

2. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will transmit to each state a 
report (the “State Report”) including general statistical data on Servicer’s 
servicing performance, such as aggregate and state-specific information 
regarding the number of borrowers assisted and credited activities 
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conducted pursuant to the Consumer Relief Requirements as set forth in 
Schedule Y.  The State Report will be delivered simultaneous with the 
submission of the Quarterly Report to the Monitor.  Servicer shall provide 
copies of such State Reports to the Monitor and Monitoring Committee.   

Monitor Reports 
3. The Monitor shall report on Servicer’s compliance with this Consent 

Judgment in periodic reports setting forth his or her findings (the “Monitor 
Reports”).  The first three Monitor Reports will each cover two Quarterly 
Reports.  If the first three Monitor Reports do not find Potential Violations 
(as defined in Section E.1, below), each successive Monitor Report will 
cover four Quarterly Reports, unless and until a Quarterly Report reveals a 
Potential Violation (as defined in Section E.1, below).  In the case of a 
Potential Violation, the Monitor may (but retains the discretion not to) 
submit a Monitor Report after the filing of each of the next two Quarterly 
Reports, provided, however, that such additional Monitor Report(s) shall 
be limited in scope to the Metric or Metrics as to which a Potential 
Violation has occurred.  

4. Prior to issuing any Monitor Report, the Monitor shall confer with 
Servicer and the Monitoring Committee regarding its preliminary findings 
and the reasons for those findings.  Servicer shall have the right to submit 
written comments to the Monitor, which shall be appended to the final 
version of the Monitor Report.  Final versions of each Monitor Report 
shall be provided simultaneously to the Monitoring Committee and 
Servicers within a reasonable time after conferring regarding the 
Monitor’s findings.  The Monitor Reports shall be filed with the Court 
overseeing this Consent Judgment and shall also be provided to the Board 
of Servicer or a committee of the Board designated by Servicer. 

5. The Monitor Report shall: (i) describe the work performed by the Monitor 
and any findings made by the Monitor during the relevant period, (ii) list 
the Metrics and Threshold Error Rates, (iii) list the Metrics, if any, where 
the Threshold Error Rates have been exceeded, (iv) state whether a 
Potential Violation has occurred and explain the nature of the Potential 
Violation,  (v) state whether any Potential Violation has been cured, and 
(vi) state whether the Servicer has complied with the Other Requirements 
set forth in Sections B.9 and 12 of Exhibit C of this Consent Judgment.  In 
addition, following each Satisfaction Review, the Monitor Report shall 
report on the Servicer’s satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, 
including regarding the number of borrowers assisted and number and 
dollar amount of credited loan modifications conducted pursuant to the 
Consumer Relief Requirements, and identify any material inaccuracies 
identified in prior State Reports.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the 
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Monitor Report may be used in any court hearing, trial, or other 
proceeding brought pursuant to the Consent Judgment pursuant to Section 
J, below, and shall be admissible in evidence in a proceeding brought 
under the Consent Judgment pursuant to Section I, below.  Such 
admissibility shall not prejudice Servicer’s right and ability to challenge 
the findings and/or the statements in the Monitor Report as flawed, lacking 
in probative value, or otherwise.  The Monitor Report with respect to a 
particular Potential Violation shall not be admissible or used for any 
purpose if Servicer cures the Potential Violation pursuant to Section E, 
below. 

Satisfaction of Payment Obligations 
6. Upon the satisfaction of any category of payment obligation under this 

Consent Judgment, Servicer, at its discretion, may request that the Monitor 
certify that Servicer has discharged such obligation.  Provided that the 
Monitor is satisfied that Servicer has met the obligation, the Monitor may 
not withhold and must provide the requested certification.  Any 
subsequent Monitor Report shall not include a review of Servicer’s 
compliance with that category of payment obligation. 

Compensation 
7. Within 120 days of entry of this Consent Judgment, the Monitor shall, in 

consultation with the Monitoring Committee and Servicer, prepare and 
present to Monitoring Committee and Servicer an annual budget providing 
its reasonable best estimate of all fees and expenses of the Monitor to be 
incurred during the first year of the term of this Consent Judgment, 
including the fees and expenses of Professionals and support staff (the 
“Monitoring Budget”).  On a yearly basis thereafter, the Monitor shall 
prepare an updated Monitoring Budget providing its reasonable best 
estimate of all fees and expenses to be incurred by Ocwen during that year.  
Absent an objection within 20 days, a Monitoring Budget or updated 
Monitoring Budget shall be implemented.  Consistent with the Monitoring 
Budget, Servicer shall pay all fees and expenses of the Monitor, including 
the fees and expenses of Professionals and support staff.  The fees, 
expenses, and costs of the Monitor, Professionals, and support staff shall 
be reasonable.  Servicer may apply to the Court to reduce or disallow fees, 
expenses, or costs that are unreasonable. 

E.       Potential Violations and Right to Cure 
1. A “Potential Violation” of this Consent Judgment occurs if the Servicer 

has exceeded the Threshold Error Rate set for a Metric in a given Quarter.  
In the event of a Potential Violation, Servicer shall meet and confer with 
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the Monitoring Committee within 15 days of the Quarterly Report or 
Monitor Report indicating such Potential Violation. 

2. Servicer shall have a right to cure any Potential Violation. 

3. Subject to Section E.4, a Potential Violation is cured if (a) a corrective 
action plan approved by the Monitor (the “Corrective Action Plan”) is 
determined by the Monitor to have been satisfactorily completed in 
accordance with the terms thereof; and (b) a Quarterly Report covering the 
Cure Period reflects that the Threshold Error Rate has not been exceeded 
with respect to the same Metric and the Monitor confirms the accuracy of 
said report using his or her ordinary testing procedures.  The “Cure Period” 
shall be the first full quarter after completion of the Corrective Action Plan 
or, if the completion of the Corrective Action Plan occurs within the first 
month of a Quarter and if the Monitor determines that there is sufficient 
time remaining, the period between completion of the Corrective Action 
Plan and the end of that Quarter. 

4. If after Servicer cures a Potential Violation pursuant to the previous 
section, another violation occurs with respect to the same Metric, then the 
second Potential Violation shall immediately constitute an uncured 
violation for purposes of Section I.3, provided, however, that such second 
Potential Violation occurs in either the Cure Period or the Quarter 
immediately following the Cure Period. 

5. In addition to the Servicer’s obligation to cure a Potential Violation 
through the Corrective Action Plan, Servicer must remediate any material 
harm to particular borrowers identified through work conducted under the 
Work Plan.  In the event that a Servicer has a Potential Violation that so 
far exceeds the Threshold Error Rate for a metric that the Monitor 
concludes that the error is widespread, Servicer shall, under the 
supervision of the Monitor, identify other borrowers who may have been 
harmed by such noncompliance and remediate all such harms to the extent 
that the harm has not been otherwise remediated. 

6. In the event a Potential Violation is cured as provided in Sections E.3, 
above, then no Party shall have any remedy under the Consent Judgment 
(other than the remedies in Section E.5) with respect to such Potential 
Violation. 

F.       Confidentiality 
1. These provisions shall govern the use and disclosure of any and all 

information designated as “CONFIDENTIAL,” as set forth below, in 
documents (including email), magnetic media, or other tangible things 
provided by the Servicer to the Monitor in this case, including the 
subsequent disclosure by the Monitor to the Monitoring Committee of 
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such information.  In addition, it shall also govern the use and disclosure 
of such information when and if provided to the Plaintiff States, State 
Mortgage Regulators, or the CFPB. 

2. The Monitor may, at his discretion, provide to the Monitoring Committee 
or to a participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB any 
documents or information received from the Servicer related to a Potential 
Violation or related to the review described in Section C.19; provided, 
however, that any such documents or information so provided shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions of these provisions.  Nothing herein 
shall be construed to prevent the Monitor from providing documents 
received from the Servicer and not designated as “CONFIDENTIAL” to a 
participating state or the CFPB. 

3. The Servicer shall designate as “CONFIDENTIAL” that information, 
document or portion of a document or other tangible thing provided by the 
Servicer to the Monitor, the Monitoring Committee or to any participating 
state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB that Servicer believes 
contains a trade secret or confidential research, development, or 
commercial information subject to protection under applicable state or 
federal laws (collectively, “Confidential Information”).  These provisions 
shall apply to the treatment of Confidential Information so designated.   

4. Except as provided by these provisions, all information designated as 
“CONFIDENTIAL” shall not be shown, disclosed or distributed to any 
person or entity other than those authorized by these provisions.  
Participating states, State Mortgage Regulators, and the CFPB agree to 
protect Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law. 

5. This agreement shall not prevent or in any way limit the ability of a 
participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB to comply with 
any subpoena, Congressional demand for documents or information, court 
order, request under the Right to Financial Privacy Act, or a state or 
federal public records or state or federal freedom of information act 
request; provided, however, that in the event that a participating state or 
the CFPB receives such a subpoena, Congressional demand, court order or 
other request for the production of any Confidential Information covered 
by this Order, the state, State Mortgage Regulator, or CFPB shall, unless 
prohibited under applicable law or unless the state or CFPB would violate 
or be in contempt of the subpoena, Congressional demand, or court order, 
(1) notify the Servicer of such request as soon as practicable and in no 
event more than ten (10) calendar days of its receipt or three calendar days 
before the return date of the request, whichever is sooner, and (2) allow 
the Servicer ten (10) calendar days from the receipt of the notice to obtain 
a protective order or stay of production for the documents or information 
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sought, or to otherwise resolve the issue, before the state, State Mortgage 
Regulator, or CFPB discloses such documents or information.  In all cases 
covered by this Section, the state, State Mortgage Regulator, or CFPB 
shall inform the requesting party that the documents or information sought 
were produced subject to the terms of these provisions.   

G. Dispute Resolution Procedures.  Servicer, the Monitor, and the Monitoring 
Committee will engage in good faith efforts to reach agreement on the proper 
resolution of any dispute concerning any issue arising under the Consent 
Judgment, including any dispute or disagreement related to the withholding of 
consent, the exercise of discretion, or the denial of any application.  Subject to 
Section I, below, in the event that a dispute cannot be resolved, Servicer, the 
Monitor, or the Monitoring Committee may petition the Court for resolution of 
the dispute.  Where a provision of this agreement requires agreement, consent of, 
or approval of any application or action by a Party or the Monitor, such agreement, 
consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

H. Consumer Complaints.  Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall be deemed to 
interfere with existing consumer complaint resolution processes, and the Parties 
are free to bring consumer complaints to the attention of Servicer for resolution 
outside the monitoring process.  In addition, Servicer will continue to respond in 
good faith to individual consumer complaints provided to it by the Consumer 
Financial Protection Bureau, State Attorneys General or State Mortgage 
Regulators in accordance with the routine and practice existing prior to the entry 
of this Consent Judgment, whether or not such complaints relate to Covered 
Conduct released herein. 

I. Enforcement 
1. Consent Judgment.  This Consent Judgment shall be filed in the U.S. 

District Court for the District of Columbia and shall be enforceable therein.  
Servicer and the Releasing Parties shall waive their rights to seek judicial 
review or otherwise challenge or contest in any court the validity or 
effectiveness of this Consent Judgment. Notwithstanding such waiver, any 
State Party may bring an action in that Party’s state court to enforce the 
Judgment.   Servicer and the Releasing Parties agree not to contest any 
jurisdictional facts, including the Court’s authority to enter this Consent 
Judgment.   

2. Enforcing Authorities.  Servicer’s obligations under this Consent 
Judgment shall be enforceable in the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Columbia or in the state court of any State Party that brings an action to 
enforce the Judgment.  An enforcement action under this Consent 
Judgment may be brought by any Party to this Consent Judgment or the 
Monitoring Committee.  Monitor Report(s) and Quarterly Report(s) shall 
not be admissible into evidence by a Party to this Consent Judgment, 
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except in an action in the Court or state court to enforce this Consent 
Judgment.  In addition, unless immediate action is necessary in order to 
prevent irreparable and immediate harm, prior to commencing any 
enforcement action, the CFPB, the State Mortgage Regulator of one of the 
Plaintiff States that are parties to this Consent Judgment, or the Attorney 
General of one of the Plaintiff States that are parties to this Consent 
Judgment must provide notice to the Monitoring Committee of its intent to 
bring an action to enforce this Consent Judgment.  The members of the 
Monitoring Committee shall have no more than 21 days to determine 
whether to bring an enforcement action.  If the members of the Monitoring 
Committee decline to bring an enforcement action, the Party must wait 21 
additional days after such a determination by the members of the 
Monitoring Committee before commencing an enforcement action. 

3. Enforcement Action.  In the event of an action to enforce the obligations 
of Servicer and to seek remedies for an uncured Potential Violation for 
which Servicer’s time to cure has expired, the sole relief available in such 
an action will be: 

(a) Equitable Relief.  An order directing non-monetary equitable relief, 
including injunctive relief, directing specific performance under 
the terms of this Consent Judgment, or other non-monetary 
corrective action. 

(b) Civil Penalties.  The Court or state court may award as civil 
penalties an amount not more than $1 million per uncured Potential 
Violation; or, in the event of a second uncured Potential Violation 
of Metrics 1.a, 1.b, or 2.a (i.e., a Servicer fails the specific Metric 
in a Quarter, then fails to cure that Potential Violation, and then in 
subsequent Quarters fails the same Metric again in a Quarter and 
fails to cure that Potential Violation again in a subsequent Quarter), 
where the final uncured Potential Violation involves widespread 
noncompliance with that Metric, the Court or state court may 
award as civil penalties an amount not more than $5 million for the 
second uncured Potential Violation. 

Nothing in this Section shall limit the availability of remedial 
compensation to harmed borrowers as provided in Section E.5. 

(c) Any penalty or payment owed by Servicer pursuant to the Consent 
Judgment shall be paid to the clerk of the Court or state court or as 
otherwise agreed by the Monitor and the Servicer and distributed 
by the Monitor as follows: 

1. In the event of a penalty based on a violation of a term of 
the Servicing Standards, the penalty shall be allocated, first, 
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to cover the costs incurred by any party in prosecuting the 
violation. 

 
2. In the event of a payment due under Paragraph B.11 of 

Exhibit C, one-third of the payment shall be allocated to the 
CFPB, one-third shall be allocated to the Plaintiff State 
Attorneys General to this Consent Judgment, and one-third 
shall be allocated to the State Mortgage Regulators that are 
parties to the separate Stipulation and Consent Agreement 
with Ocwen identified in this Consent Judgment.  
 

J. Sunset.  This Consent Judgment and all Exhibits shall retain full force and effect 
for three years from the date it is entered (the “Term”), unless otherwise specified 
in the Exhibit.  Servicer shall submit a final Quarterly Report for the last quarter 
or portion thereof falling within the Term, and shall cooperate with the Monitor’s 
review of said report, which shall be concluded no later than six months following 
the end of the Term, after which time Servicer shall have no further obligations 
under this Consent Judgment.  
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Servicing Standards Quarterly Compliance Metrics 
 Executive Summary   
 

Sampling: (a) A random selection of the greater of 100 loans and a statistically  significant sample.  (b) Sample will be selected from the population  as defined in column E 
 

Review and Reporting Period: Results will be reported Quarterly and 45 days after the end of the quarter. 
 

Errors Definition: An error is a measurement  in response to a test question related to the Servicing Standards that results in the failure of the specified outcome.  Errors in response to multiple questions with respect 
to a single outcome would be treated as only a single error. 

Metrics Tested 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
1. Outcome Creates Significant Negative Customer Impact  

A. Foreclosure sale in error Customer is in default, legal standing to 
foreclose, and the loan is not subject to 
active trial, or BK. 

 n/a 1% Population Definition: Foreclosure  Sales that 
occurred in the review period. 

A.    Sample :# of Foreclosure Sales in the 
review period that were tested. 

B.    Error Definition: # of loans that went to 
foreclosure sale in error due to failure of 
any one of the test questions for this 
metric. 

Error Rate = B/A 

1. Did the foreclosing party have legal standing 
to foreclose? 

2. Was the borrower in an active trial period 
plan (unless the servicer took appropriate  
steps to postpone sale)? 

3. Was the borrower offered a loan modification 
fewer than 14 days before the foreclosure  sale 
date (unless the borrower declined the offer 
or the servicer took appropriate  steps to 
postpone the sale)? 

4. Was the borrower not in default (unless the 
default is cured to the satisfaction  of the 
Servicer or investor within 10 days before 
the foreclosure sale date and the Servicer 
took appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 

5. Was the borrower protected from foreclosure 
by Bankruptcy (unless Servicer had notice of 
such protection fewer than 10 days before the 
foreclosure sale date and Servicer took 
appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B. Incorrect Mod denial Program eligibility, all documentation 

received, DTI test, NPV test. 
 5% On income 

errors 
5% Population Definition: Modification Denied In 

the Review Period. 

Error Definition: # of loans that were denied a 
modification  as a result of failure of anyone of 
the test questions for this metric. 

1. Was the evaluation of eligibility Inaccurate ( 
as per HAMP, Fannie, Freddie or proprietary 
modification  criteria)? 

2. Was the income calculation inaccurate? 
3. Were the inputs used in the decision tool 

(NPV and Waterfall test) entered in error or 
inconsistent with company policy? 

4. Was the loan NPV positive? 
5. Was there an inaccurate determination 

that the documents received were 
incomplete? 
           2. Integrity of Critical Sworn Documents  

A. Was AOI properly 
prepared 

Based upon personal knowledge, properly 
notarized, amounts agree to system of 
record within tolerance if overstated. 

 Question 1, 
Y/N; 

Question 2, 
Amounts 

overstated (or, 
for question on 

Escrow 
Amounts, 

understated) 
by the greater 
of $99 or 1% of 

the Total 
Indebtedness 

Amount 

5% Population Definition: Affidavits of 
indebtedness filed in the review period. 

Error Definition: For question 1, yes; for 
question 2, the # of Loans where the sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Taken as a whole and accounting  for 
contrary evidence provided by the Servicer, 
does the sample indicate systemic issues 
with either affiants lacking personal 
knowledge or improper notarization? 

2. Verify all the amounts outlined below 
against the system of record: 

a. Was the correct principal balance used 
Was the correct interest amount (and 
per diem) used? 

b. Was the escrow balance correct? 
c. Were correct other fees used? 
d. Was the correct corporate 

advance balance used? 
e. Was the correct late charge balance 

used? 
f. Was the suspense balance correct? 
g.       Was the total indebtedness amount 

on the Affidavit correct? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B. POC Accurate statement of pre-petition 

arrearage to system of record. 
 Amounts over 

stated by the 
greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
correct Pre- 

Petition 
Arrearage 

5% Population Definition: POCs filed in the 
review period. 

Error Definition: # of Loans where sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Are the correct amounts set forth in the 
form, with respect to pre-petition missed 
payments, fees, expenses charges, and 
escrow shortages or deficiencies? 

C. MRS Affidavits Customer is in default and amount of 
arrearage is within tolerance. 

 Amounts 
overstated (or 

for escrows 
amounts, 

understated) 
by the greater 
of $50 or 3% of 

the correct 
Post Petition 
Total Balance 

5% Population Definition: Affidavits supporting 
MRS’s filed in the review period 
 
Error Definition: # of Loans where the sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Verify against the system of record, 
within tolerance if overstated: 

a. the post-petition  default amount; 
b. the amount of fees or charges applied to 

such pre-petition  default amount or 
post- petition amount since the later of 
the date of the petition or the preceding 
statement; and 

c. escrow shortages or deficiencies. 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
3. Pre-foreclosure Initiation  
A.  Pre Foreclosure  Initiation Accuracy of Account information.  Amounts over 

stated by the 
greater of $99 
or 1% of the 

Total balance 

5% Population Definition: Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral date in the review period. 

 

Error Definition: # of Loans that were referred 
to foreclosure with an error in any one of the 
foreclosure initiation test questions. 

** Verify all the amounts outlined below against 
the system of record. 

 
1. Was the loan delinquent as of the date the 

first legal action was filed? 
2. Was information  contained in the Account 

Statement completed accurately? 
a. The total amount needed to reinstate or 

bring the account current, and the 
amount of the principal; 

b. The date through which the 
borrower’s obligation is paid; 

c. The date of the last full payment; 
d. The current interest rate in effect for 

the loan; 
e. The date on which the interest rate 

may next reset or adjust; 
f. The amount of any prepayment fee to 

be charged, if any; 
g. A description of any late payment fees; 

and 
h. A telephone number or electronic mail 

address that may be used by the obligor 
to obtain information  regarding the 
mortgage. 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B.  Pre Foreclosure Initiation 

Notifications 
Notification  sent to the customer supporting 
right to foreclose along with: Applicable 
information  upon customers request, 
Account statement information,  Ownership 
statement, and Loss Mitigation statement. 
Notifications  required before 14 days prior 
to referral to foreclosure. 

 N/A 5% Population Definition: Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral date in the review period. 

 

Error Definition: # of Loans that were referred 
to foreclosure with an error in any one of the 
foreclosure initiation test questions. 

1. Were all the required notification statements 
mailed no later than 14 days prior to first 
Legal Date (i) Account Statement; (ii) 
Ownership Statement; and (iii) Loss Mitigation 
Statement? 

2. Did the Ownership Statement accurately 
reflect that the servicer or investor has 
the right to foreclose? 

3. Was the Loss Mitigation Statement 
complete and did it accurately state that: 

a. The borrower was ineligible (if 
applicable); or  

b. The borrower was solicited, was the 
subject of right party contact routines, 
and that any timely application  submitted 
by the borrower was evaluated? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 

 4. Accuracy and Timeliness of Payment Application and Appropriateness of Fees   
  

A. Fees adhere to guidance 
(Preservation  fees, Valuation fees 
and Attorney's fees) 

Services rendered, consistent with loan 
instrument,  within applicable requirements. 

 Amounts over 
stated by the 

greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
Total Default 
Related Fees 

Collected 

5% Population Definition:  Defaulted loans (60 +) 
with borrower payable default related fees* 
collected. 

Error Definition: # of loans where the sum of 
default related fee errors exceeds the 
threshold. 

* Default related fees are defined as any fee 
collected for a default-related  service after the 
agreement date. 

For fees collected in the test period: 
 

1. Was the frequency of the fees collected (in 
excess of what is consistent with state 
guidelines or fee provisions in servicing 
standards? 

2. Was amount of the fee collected higher 
 than the amount allowable under the          
 Servicer’s Fee schedule and for which   
 there was not a valid exception? 

B. Adherence to customer 
payment processing 

Payments posted timely (within 2 business 
days of receipt) and accurately. 

 Amounts 
understated  by 

the greater 
$50.00 or 3% 

of the 
scheduled 
payment 

5% Population Definition: All subject payments 
posted within review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error in 
any one of the payment application test 
questions. 

1. Were payments posted to the right 
account number? 

2. Were payments posted in the right 
amount? 

3. Were properly identified conforming 
payments posted within 2 business days of 
receipt and credited as of the date of 
receipt? 

4. Did servicer accept payments within 
  $50.00 of the scheduled payment, including      
 principal and interest and where applicable  
 taxes and insurance as required by the  
  servicing standards? 

5. Were partial payments credited to the 
borrower’s account as of the date that the 
funds cover a full payment? 

6. Were payments posted to principal 
interest and escrow before fees and 
expenses? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
C. Reconciliation of certain 

waived fees. (I.b.11.C) 
Appropriately  updating the Servicer’s 
systems of record in connection  with the 
reconciliation  of payments as of the date of 
dismissal of a debtor’s Chapter 13 
bankruptcy case, entry of an order granting 
Servicer relief from the stay under Chapter 
13, or entry of an order granting the debtor a 
discharge under Chapter 13, to reflect the 
waiver of any fee, expense or charge 
pursuant to paragraphs III.B.1.c.i or III.B.1.d 
of the Servicing Standards (within applicable 
tolerances). 

 Amounts over 
stated by the 

greater of $50 
or 3 % of the 

correct 
reconciliation 

amount 

5% Population Definition:  All accounts where in- 
line reconciliation  routine is completed within 
review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error in 
the reconciliation  routine resulting in 
overstated amounts remaining on the 
borrower account. 

1. Were all required waivers of Fees, 
expense or charges applied and/or 
corrected accurately as part of the 
reconciliation? 

D. Late fees adhere to 
guidance 

Late fees are collected only as permitted 
under the Servicing Standards (within 
applicable tolerances). 

 Y/N 5% Population Definition:  All late fees collected 
within the review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error on 
any one of the test questions. 

1. Was a late fee collected with respect to a 
delinquency attributable solely to late fees or 
delinquency charges assessed on an earlier 
payment? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
5. Policy/Process Implementation  

A. Third Party Vendor 
Management 

Is periodic third party review process in 
place? Is there evidence of remediation  of 
identified issues? 

 Y/N N Quarterly review of a vendors providing 
Foreclosure  Bankruptcy, Loss mitigation and 
other Mortgage services. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the 
test questions for this metric. 

1.     Is there evidence of documented oversight 
policies and procedures demonstrating 
compliance  with vendor oversight 
provisions:  (i) adequate due diligence 
procedures, (ii) adequate enforcement  
procedures (iii) adequate vendor 
performance  evaluation procedures (iv) 
adequate remediation procedures?3

 

2.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling and 
testing of foreclosure documents (including 
notices of default and letters of reinstatement)  
and bankruptcy documents  prepared by 
vendors on behalf of the servicer? 

3.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling of fees 
and costs assessed by vendors to; (i) 
substantiate  services were rendered (ii) fees 
are in compliance  with servicer fee schedule 
(iii) Fees are compliant with state law and 
provisions of the servicing standards? 

4.     Is there evidence of vendor scorecards used to 
evaluate vendor performance that include 
quality metrics (error rate etc)? 

5.     Evidence of remediation  for vendors who fail 
metrics set forth in vendor scorecards and/or 
QC sample tests consistent with the servicer 
policy and procedures? 

B. Customer Portal Implementation  of a customer portal.  Y/N N A Quarterly testing review of Customer 
Portal. 

1.    Does the portal provide loss mitigation 
status updates? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
C. SPOC Implement single point of contact 

(“SPOC”). 
 Y/N 

5% 
for 

Ques
tion 

4 

N 
For 
Que
stio

n 
#4:  
5% 

Quarterly review of SPOC program per 
provisions in the servicing standard. 

 
Population Definition (for Question 4): 
Potentially  eligible borrowers who were 
identified as requesting loss mitigation 
assistance. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the test 
questions for this metric. 

1. Is there evidence of documented policies 
and procedures demonstrating compliance  
with SPOC program provisions? 

2. Is there evidence that a single point of 
contact is available for applicable 
borrowers?   

3. Is there evidence that relevant   records 
relating to borrower’s account are 
available to the borrower’s SPOC? 

4. Is there evidence that the SPOC has been 
identified to the borrower and the 
method the borrower may use to contact 
the SPOC has been communicated to the 
borrower? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
D. Workforce Management Training and staffing adequacy 

requirements. 
 Y/N N Loss mitigation, SPOC and Foreclosure  Staff. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the 
test questions for this metric. 

1.    Is there evidence of documented oversight 
policies and procedures demonstrating 
effective forecasting, capacity planning, 
training and monitoring of staffing 
requirements for foreclosure operations? 

2.    Is there evidence of periodic training and 
certification of employees who prepare 
Affidavits sworn statements or declarations. 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 

E.  Affidavit of Indebtedness 
Integrity. 

Affidavits of Indebtedness  are signed by 
affiants who have personal knowledge of 
relevant facts and properly review the 
affidavit before signing it. 

 Y/N N Annual Review of Policy. 1.    Is there evidence of documented  policies and 
procedures sufficient to provide reasonable 
assurance that affiants have personal 
knowledge of the matters covered by 
affidavits of indebtedness  and have reviewed 
affidavit before signing it? 

F.  Account Status Activity. System of record electronically  documents 
key activity of a foreclosure, loan 
modification,  or bankruptcy. 

 Y/N N Annual Review of Policy. 1. Is there evidence of documented  policies and 
procedures designed to ensure that the system 
of record contains documentation of key 
activities? 
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Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
6. Customer Experiences  

A. Complaint response 
timeliness 

Meet the requirements  of Regulator 
complaint handling. 

 N/A 5% Population Definition:  Government 
submitted complaints and inquiries from 
individual borrowers who are in default 
and/or have applied for loan modifications 
received during the three months prior to 40 
days prior to the review period. (To allow for 
response period to expire). 

Error Definition:  # of loans that exceeded the 
required response timeline. 

1.     Was written acknowledgment regarding 
complaint/inquires sent within 10 business 
days of complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

2.     Was a written response (“Forward Progress”) 
sent within 30 calendar days of 
complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

**receipt= from the Attorney General, state 
financial regulators, the Executive Office for 
United States Trustees/regional offices of the 
United States Trustees, and the federal 
regulators and documented within the 
System of Record. 

B. Loss Mitigation       
i. Loan Modification 

Document Collection timeline 
compliance 

  N/A 5% Population Definition:  Loan modifications 
and loan modification  requests (packages) 
that that were missing documentation at 
receipt and received more than 40 days prior 
to the end of the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timelines as 
defined under each timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.     Did the Servicer notify borrower of any 
known deficiency in borrower’s initial 
submission  of information,  no later than 5 
business days after receipt, including any 
missing information or documentation? 

2.     Was the Borrower afforded 30 days from the 
date of Servicer’s notification of any missing 
information  or documentation to supplement 
borrower’s submission  of information  prior 
to making a determination  on whether or not 
to grant an initial loan modification? 
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Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
ii. Loan Modification 

Decision/Notification timeline 
compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Loan modification 
requests (packages) that are denied or 
approved in the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timelines as 
defined under each timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.     Did the servicer respond to request for a 
modification within 30 days of receipt of all 
necessary documentation? 

2.     Denial Communication: Did the servicer 
notify customers within 10 days of denial 
decision? 

iii. Loan Modification 
Appeal timeline compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Loan modification 
requests (packages) that are borrower appeals 
in the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Did Servicer respond to a borrowers request 
for an appeal within 30 days of receipt? 

iv. Short Sale Decision 
timeline compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Short sale requests 
(packages) that are complete in the three 
months prior to 30 days prior to the end of the 
review period. (to allow for short sale review 
to occur). 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Was short sale reviewed and a decision 
communicated within 30 days of borrower 
submitting completed package? 
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Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
v. Short Sale Document 

Collection timeline compliance 
   5% Population Definition:  Short sale requests 

(packages) missing documentation that are 
received in the three months prior to 30 days 
prior to the end of the review period (to allow 
for short sale review to occur). 

Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.  Did the Servicer provide notice of missing 
documents within 30 days of the request for 
the short sale? 

       
vi. Charge of application  fees for 
Loss mitigation 

   1% Population Definition:  loss mitigation 
requests (packages) that are Incomplete, 
denied, approved and borrower appeals in 
the review period. 

(Same as 6.B.i) 
 

Error Definition: The # of loss mitigation 
applications  where servicer collected a 
processing fee. 

1. Did the servicer assess a fee for processing 
a loss mitigation request? 

vii. Short Sales       
a. Inclusion of 

notice of whether or not a 
deficiency will be required 

Provide information  related to any required 
deficiency claim. 

 n/a 5% Population Definition:  Short sales approved 
in the review period. 

Error Definition: The # of short sales that 
failed any one of the deficiency test questions 

1. If the short sale was accepted, did 
borrower receive notification that 
deficiency or cash contribution  will be 
needed? 

2. Did borrower receive in this notification 
approximate amounts related to deficiency 
or cash contribution? 

viii. Dual Track       
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Metric 

 
 

Measurements 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 

Test Questions 
a. Referred to 

foreclosure in violation of Dual 
Track Provisions 

Loan was referred to foreclosure in error.  n/a 5% Population Definition: Loans with a first legal 
action date in the review period. 

Error Definition: The # of loans with a first 
legal filed in the review period that failed any 
one of the dual tracking test questions. 

1. Was the first legal action taken while the 
servicer was in possession of an active, 
complete loan modification package (as 
defined by the Servicing Standards) that 
was not decisioned as required by the 
standards? 

2. Was the first legal commenced while the 
  borrower was approved for a loan     

    modification but prior to the expiration of the    
     borrower acceptance period, borrower   
   decline of offer or while in an active trial   
    period plan? 

b. Failure to 
postpone foreclosure 
proceedings in violation of Dual 
Track Provisions 

Foreclosure proceedings allowed to proceed 
in error. 

 n/a 5% Population Definition: Active foreclosures 
during review period. 

Error Definition: # of active foreclosures  that 
went to judgment as a result of failure of any 
one on of the active foreclosure dual track test 
question. 

1. Did the servicer proceed to judgment or 
order of sale upon receipt of a complete 
loan modification package within 30 days of 
the Post-Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter?** 

 
**Compliance  of Dual tracking provisions for 
foreclosure sales are referenced in 1.A 

C. Forced Placed Insurance       
i. Timeliness of notices Notices sent timely with necessary 

information. 
 n/a 5% Population Definition: Loans with forced 

placed coverage initiated in review period. 

Error Definition: # of loans with active force 
place insurance resulting from an error in any 
one of the force-place insurance test 
questions. 

1. Did Servicer send all required notification 
letters (ref. V 3a i-vii) notifying the customer 
of lapse in insurance coverage? 

2. Did the notification  offer the customer the 
  option to have the account escrowed to         
  facilitate payment of all insurance    
 premiums and any arrearage by the  
  servicer prior to obtaining force place  
  insurance? 

3. Did the servicer assess forced place 
insurance when there was evidence of a 
valid policy? 

ii Termination of Force 
place Insurance 

Timely termination  of force placed 
insurance. 

  5% Population Definition: Loans with forced 
placed coverage terminated in review period. 

Error Definition: # of loans terminated force 
place insurance with an error in any one of the 
force- place insurance test questions. 

1. Did Servicer terminate FPI within 15 days of 
receipt of evidence of a borrower’s existing 
insurance coverage and refund the pro-
rated portion to the borrower’s escrow 
account? 
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 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

D. Transfer of Servicing Rights  

 

      

i. Transfer of servicing to Servicer  Accept, and continue to process pending loan modification 
requests from the prior servicer and honor loan 
modification  agreements entered into by the prior 
servicer.    

 n/a 5%  Population Definition: Loans or loan servicing 
rights sold or transferred to the servicer during 
the review period, including for subservicing, 
with a pending loan modification request (in 
process) or a trial or permanent modification 
at the time of sale or transfer.  

 

Error Definition: # of loans with an error in 
any one of the transfer or servicing test 
questions.  

 

1. Did the Servicer accept and continue to process 
pending loan modification request of the prior 
servicer? 

2. Did the Servicer honor trial and permanent loan 
modification agreements entered into by the prior 
servicer?  
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 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 30       

Standards: 

N/A  

Loan Modification Process  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 3  

5% 

 

Population Definition: 

1st lien borrowers declined in the review 
period for incomplete or missing documents in 
their loan modification application.4 

 

Error Definition: 

Loans where the answer to any one of the test 
questions is a No. 

1. Is there evidence Servicer or the assigned SPOC 
notified the borrower in writing of the documents 
required for an initial application package for 
available loan modification programs? 

2. Provided the borrower timely submitted all 
documents requested in initial notice of incomplete 
information (“5 day letter”) or earlier ADRL letters, 
did the Servicer afford the borrower at least 30 days 
to submit the documents requested in the Additional 
Document Request Letter (“ADRL”) before declining 
the borrower for incomplete or missing documents?  

3. Provided the borrower timely submitted all 
documents requested in the initial notice of 
incomplete information (“5-day letter”) and earlier 
ADRL letters, did the Servicer afford the borrower at 
least 30 days to submit any additional required 
documents from the last ADRL before referring the 
loan to foreclosure or proceeding to foreclosure 
sale? 
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Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 31       

Standards: 

IV.C.4.g 
IV.G.2.a 

Loan Modification Denial Notice Disclosure  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 2 

5% 

 

Population Definition: 

1st lien borrowers declined in the review 
period for a loan modification application. 

 

Error Definition: 

Loans where the answer to any one of the test 
questions is a No. 

1. Did first lien loan modification denial notices sent to 
the borrower provide: 

a. the reason for denial;  
b. the factual information considered by 

the Servicer; and 
c. a timeframe for the borrower to provide 

evidence that the eligibility 
determination was in error? 

2. Following the Servicer’s denial of a loan modification 
application, is there evidence the Servicer or the 
assigned SPOC communicated the availability of 
other loss mitigation alternatives to the borrower in 
writing? 
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 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 32       

Standards: 

IV.C.2 

 

SPOC Implementation and Effectiveness  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 3 

5% for 
Question 1 

Y/N for 
Questions 2 - 3 

 

 

Population Definition: 

For Question 1: 1st lien borrowers who were 
reassigned a SPOC for loss mitigation 
assistance in the review period 

For Question 2 and 3: Quarterly review of 
policies or procedures 

 

Error Definition: 

Failure on any one of the test questions for 
this Metric. 

1. Is there evidence that Servicer identified and 
provided updated contact information to the 
borrower upon assignment of a new SPOC if a 
previously designated SPOC is unable to act as the 
primary point of contact? 

2. Is there evidence of implementation of management 
routines or other processes to review the results of 
departmental level SPOC scorecards or other 

performance evaluation tools? 
5

 
3. Is there evidence of the use of tools or management 

routines to monitor remediation, when appropriate, 
for the SPOC program if it is not achieving targeted 
program metrics? 
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Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 33       

Standards: 

I.B.5 
 

Billing Statement Accuracy  For test question 1: 
Amounts overstated 
by the greater of 
$99 or 1% of the 
correct unpaid 
principal balance.  

For test questions 2 
and 3: Amounts 
overstated by the 
greater of $50 or 3% 
of the total balance 
for the test question 

5% 

 

Population Definition: Monthly billing 
statements sent to borrowers in the review 
period. 6 

 

Error Definition:  

The # of Loans where the net sum of errors on 
any one of the test questions exceeds the 
applicable allowable tolerance. 

1. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show, 
as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement, the unpaid principal balance? 

2. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show 
as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement each of the following: 

a. total payment amount due; and, 
b. fees and charges assessed for the 

relevant time period? 
3. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show 

as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement the allocation of payments, 
including a notation if any payment has been posted 
to a “suspense or unapplied funds account”? 

       
 

 

 

 

 

1 Loan Level Tolerance for Error: This represents a threshold beyond which the variance between the actual outcome and the expected outcome on a single test case is deemed 
reportable 
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2 Threshold Error Rate: For each metric or outcome tested if the total number of reportable errors as a percentage of the total number of cases tested exceeds this limit then the 
Servicer will be determined to have failed that metric for the reported period. 

 
3 For purposes of determining whether a proposed Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate is similar to those contained in this Schedule, this Metric 5.A shall be excluded 
from consideration and shall not be treated as representative. 
 
4 The population includes only borrowers who submitted the first document on or before the day 75 days before the scheduled or expected foreclosure sale date. 

 
This Metric is subject to applicable investor rule requirements. 
 
Nothing in this Metric shall be deemed to prejudice the right of a Servicer to decline to evaluate a borrower for a modification in accordance with IV.H.12.  Specifically, Servicer shall 
not be obligated to evaluate requests for loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers who have already been evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to be evaluated consistent with 
the requirements of HAMP or proprietary modification programs, or (b) borrowers who were evaluated after the date of implementation of this Agreement, consistent with this 
Agreement, unless there has been a material change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is documented by borrower and submitted to Servicer. 
 
5 The following evidence is considered appropriate using a qualitative assessment: 
• Documents that provide an overview of the program, policy or procedures related to periodic performance evaluations, including the frequency thereof; or 
• Sample departmental level SPOC scorecard or other performance evaluation tools that reflect performance and quality metrics, evidence of the use of thresholds to measure 

non-performance, identifiers when remediation is required and evidence that such remediation was identified by management, when appropriate. 
 

      6 This Metric is N/A for borrowers in bankruptcy or borrowers who have been referred to or are going through foreclosure. 
 

                                                           
 



 
 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT E 
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CFPB RELEASE 

 
WHEREAS, this Release (“Release”) is entered into between the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau (the “Bureau” or “CFPB”), and the Released Parties (hereafter the CFPB and 

the Released Parties are collectively referred to as “the Parties”), through their authorized 

representatives. 

WHEREAS, the Released Parties shall include Ocwen Financial Corporation and Ocwen 

Loan Servicing LLC (collectively “Ocwen”), and Ocwen’s current and former parent 

corporations, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, agents, advisors, shareholders, 

managers, members, partners, directors, officers, and employees. The Released Parties shall also 

include Homeward Residential Holdings Inc., Litton Loan Servicing LP, WL Ross & Co. LLC, 

and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., and each of their respective current and former, direct and 

indirect parent entities, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, shareholders, as well 

as each of the current and former agents, advisors, managers, members, investors, partners, 

directors, officers, and employees of each of the foregoing, but only as to liability for the 

Mortgage Servicing Practices of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. and its direct and indirect 

subsidiaries or Litton Loan Servicing, LP and its direct and indirect subsidiaries.  Additionally, 

the term Released Parties shall not include Altisource Portfolio Solutions, SA and its subsidiaries 

or Homeloan Servicing Solutions, LTD and its subsidiaries. 

WHEREAS, notwithstanding any of the foregoing, this Release does not release any 

claims against OneWest Bank, Morgan Stanley, or any other entity not a party hereto regarding 

conduct relating to loans for which the servicing was acquired by Ocwen from OneWest Bank in 



 
 
 

 E-2  

the second half of 2013, or regarding loans acquired by Ocwen in the transaction wherein Ocwen 

Financial Corporation purchased substantial assets of Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc., from 

Morgan Stanley on April 2, 2012. 

WHEREAS, the CFPB contends that it has certain civil claims against Ocwen based on 

the mortgage servicing practices described in the complaint.   

WHEREAS, to avoid the delay, uncertainty, inconvenience, and expense of protracted 

litigation of the above claims, and in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations of the 

Consent Judgment, the Parties agree and covenant as follows: 

A.  Among other things, the Consent Judgment requires Ocwen to pay or cause to be paid 

$127,300,000.00 (the “Borrower Payment Amount”) by electronic funds transfer no later 

than ten (10) days of receiving notice from the Administrator appointed under Exhibit B.  

Ocwen shall also undertake, for the purposes specified in the Consent Judgment, certain 

consumer relief activities as set forth in Exhibit C to such Consent Judgment, and will be 

obligated to make certain payments (the “Consumer Relief Payments”) in the event that it 

does not or they do not complete the Consumer Relief Requirements set forth in Exhibit 

C to the Consent Judgment.  This Release shall become effective upon payment of the 

Borrower Payment Amount.  The CFPB may declare this Release null and void if Ocwen 

does not make the Consumer Relief Payments required under this Consent Judgment and 

fails to cure such non-payment within thirty (30) days of written notice by the CFPB, 

except that the Released Parties, other than Ocwen, are released upon the payment of the 

Borrower Payment Amount, at which time this nullification provision is only operative 

against Ocwen. 
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B.  Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph C (concerning excluded claims) below, the CFPB 

fully and finally releases the Released Parties from all potential liability that has been or 

might have been asserted by the CFPB relating to mortgage servicing practices described 

in the complaint (the “Mortgage Servicing Practices”) that have taken place as of 11:59 

p.m., Eastern Standard Time, on December 18, 2013. 

C.  Notwithstanding any other term of this Release, the CFPB specifically reserves and does 

not release any liability for conduct other than conduct related to the Mortgage Servicing 

Practices asserted or that might have been asserted in the complaint. Furthermore, the 

CFPB specifically reserves and does not release any liability arising under any provision 

of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, or any other 

statute or law that prohibits discrimination of persons based on race, color, national 

origin, gender, disability, or any other protected status. 

D.  The Released Parties waive and shall not assert any claim for fees, costs or expenses 

against the CFPB, or any of its agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, 

related in any way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Judgment, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not limited to the 

Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness 

Act of 1996; for these purposes, the Parties agree that neither the Released Parties nor the 

CFPB is the prevailing party in this action because the Parties have reached a good faith 

settlement. 

E.  Nothing in this Release shall limit the CFPB’s authority with respect to the Released 

Parties, except to the extent the CFPB has herein expressly released claims. 
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F.  This Release is intended to be and shall be for the benefit only of the Parties and entities 

identified in this Release, specifically including the Released Parties, and no other party 

or entity shall have any rights or benefits hereunder. This Release is binding on, and 

inures to the benefit of, Ocwen and its successors, and assigns. 

G. This Release is governed by the laws of the United States.  The exclusive jurisdiction and 

venue for any dispute arising out of matters covered by this Release is the United States 

District Court for the District of Columbia.  For purposes of construing this Release, this 

Release shall be deemed to have been drafted by all the Parties and shall not, therefore, 

be construed against any party for that reason in any subsequent dispute. 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

 



 

 
 

State Release 

I.  Covered Conduct 

For purposes of this Release, the term “Covered Conduct” means residential mortgage loan 

servicing and residential mortgage foreclosure services, as defined below.  For the purposes of 

this Release, Released Parties shall include Ocwen Financial Corporation and Ocwen Loan 

Servicing LLC (collectively “Ocwen”) and Ocwen’s current and former parent corporations, 

divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, agents, advisors, shareholders, managers, 

members, partners, directors, officers, and employees.  The Released Parties shall also include 

Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc., Litton Loan Servicing LP, WL Ross & Co. LLC, and The 

Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., and each of their respective current and former, direct and indirect 

parent entities, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, shareholders, as well as each 

of the current and former agents, advisors, managers, members, investors, partners, directors, 

officers, and employees of each of the foregoing, but only as to liability for the Covered Conduct 

of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries or Litton Loan 

Servicing, LP and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. Additionally, the term Released Parties 

shall not include Altisource Portfolio Solutions, SA and its subsidiaries or Homeloan Servicing 

Solutions, LTD and its subsidiaries. 

  For purposes of this Section I only, the Released Parties are released from liability for 

the covered conduct acts of their agents (including, without limitation, third-party vendors).  This 

Release does not release the agents (including, without limitation, third-party vendors) 

themselves for any of their conduct.  For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage 

loans” means loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties, irrespective of usage, 

whether in the form of a mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest creating a lien upon 
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such property or any other property described therein that secures the related mortgage note. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, this Release does not release any claims against OneWest 

Bank, Morgan Stanley, or any entity not a party hereto, regarding conduct relating 

to either (1) loans for which the servicing was acquired by Ocwen from OneWest Bank in the 

second half of 2013, or (2) loans acquired by Ocwen in the transaction wherein Ocwen Financial 

Corporation purchased substantial assets of Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc., from Morgan Stanley 

on April 2, 2012.  Moreover, this Release does not release claims by the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts for the obligations of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. pursuant to the 

Settlement Agreement entered into between American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. and the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts with an effective date of November 6, 2011. 

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage loan servicing” means all 

actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties, arising out of or relating to servicing 

(including subservicing and master servicing) of residential mortgage loans from and after the 

closing of such loans, whether for the Released Parties’ account or for the account of others, 

including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Loan modification and other loss mitigation 

activities, including, without limitation, extensions, forbearances, payment plans, short sales and 

deeds in lieu of foreclosure, and evaluation, approval, denial, and implementation of the terms 

and conditions of any of the foregoing; (2) Communications with borrowers relating to borrower 

accounts, including, without limitation, account statements and disclosures provided to 

borrowers; (3) Handling and resolution of inquiries, disputes or complaints by or on behalf of 

borrowers; (4) Collection activity related to delinquent borrower accounts; (5) Acceptance, 

rejection, application or posting of payments made by or on behalf of borrowers, including, 

without limitation, assessment and collection of fees or charges, placement of payments in 
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suspense accounts and credit reporting; (6) Maintenance, placement or payment (or failure to 

make payment) of any type of insurance or insurance premiums, or claims activity with respect 

to any such insurance; (7) Payment of taxes, homeowner association dues, or other borrower 

obligations, and creation and maintenance of any escrow accounts; (8) Use, conduct or 

supervision of vendors, agents and contract employees, whether affiliated or unaffiliated, 

including, without limitation, subservicers and foreclosure and bankruptcy attorneys, in 

connection with servicing, loss mitigation, and foreclosure activities; (9) Adequacy of staffing, 

training, systems, data integrity or security of data that is related to the servicing of residential 

mortgage loans, foreclosure, bankruptcy, and property sale and management services; (10) 

Securing, inspecting, repairing, maintaining, or preserving properties before and after foreclosure 

or acquisition or transfer of title; (11) Servicing of residential mortgage loans involved in 

bankruptcy proceedings; (12) Obtaining, executing, notarizing, endorsing, recording, providing, 

maintaining, registering (including in a registry system), and transferring promissory notes, 

mortgages, or mortgage assignments or other similar documents, or transferring interests in such 

documents among and between servicers and owners, and custodial functions or appointment of 

officers relating to such documents; (13) Decisions on disposition of residential mortgage loans, 

including, without limitation, whether to pursue foreclosure on properties, whether to assert or 

abandon liens and other claims and actions taken in respect thereof, and whether to pursue any 

particular loan modification or other form of loss mitigation; (14) Servicing of residential 

mortgage loans of borrowers who are covered by federal or state protections due to military 

status; (15) Licensing or registration of employees, agents, vendors or contractors, or designation 

of employees as agents of another entity; (16) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, 
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audit testing, oversight, reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the 

foregoing; and (17) Trustee functions related to the servicing of residential mortgage loans. 

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage foreclosure services” means 

all actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties arising out of or relating to foreclosures 

on residential mortgage loans, whether for the Released Parties’ own account or for the account 

of others, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Evaluation of accounts for modification 

or foreclosure referral; (2) Maintenance, assignment, recovery and preparation of documents that 

have been filed or otherwise used to initiate or pursue foreclosures, and custodial actions related 

thereto; (3) Drafting, review, execution and notarization of documents (including, but not limited 

to, affidavits, notices, certificates, substitutions of trustees, and assignments) prepared or filed in 

connection with foreclosures or sales of acquired properties, or in connection with remediation of 

improperly filed documents; (4) Commencement, advancement and finality of foreclosures, 

including, without limitation, any issues relating to standing, fees, or notices; (5) Acquisition of 

title post-foreclosure or in lieu of foreclosure; (6) Pursuit of pre- and post-foreclosure claims by 

the Released Parties, including, without limitation, the seeking of deficiency judgments when 

permitted by law, acts or omissions regarding lien releases, and evictions and eviction 

proceedings; (7) Management, maintenance, and disposition of properties in default or properties 

owned or controlled by the Released Parties, whether prior to or during the foreclosure process 

or after foreclosure, and executing, notarizing, or recording any documents related to the sale of 

acquired properties; (8) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, audit testing, oversight, 

reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the foregoing; and (9) Trustee 

functions related to the foreclosure of residential mortgage loans. 
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II. Release of Covered Conduct 

By their execution of this Consent Judgment, the Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States 

that are parties to this Consent Judgment release and forever discharge the Released Parties from 

the following: any civil or administrative claim, of any kind whatsoever, direct or indirect, that 

an Attorney General has or may have or assert, including, without limitation, claims for 

damages, fines, injunctive relief, remedies, sanctions, or penalties of any kind whatsoever based 

on, arising out of, or resulting from the Covered Conduct occurring on or before the Effective 

Date, except for claims and the other actions set forth in Section IV below (collectively, the 

“Released Claims”). 

This Release does not release any claims against any entity other than the Released 

Parties as defined in Section I above. 

III. Covenants by Ocwen 

1.  Ocwen waives and shall not assert any defenses Ocwen may have to any criminal 

prosecution based on the Covered Conduct that may be based in whole or in part on a contention 

that, under the Double Jeopardy Clause in the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution or under the 

Excessive Fines Clause in the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution, this Release bars a remedy 

sought in such criminal prosecution. 

2.  Ocwen agrees to cooperate with an Attorney General’s investigation of 

individuals and entities not released in this Release.  For purposes of this covenant, cooperation 

shall not include any requirement that Ocwen waive the attorney-client privilege or any other 

applicable privileges or protection, included but not limited to the attorney work product 

doctrine.  Upon reasonable notice, Ocwen agrees not to impair the reasonable cooperation of its 

directors, officers and employees, and shall use its reasonable efforts to make available and 
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encourage the cooperation of former directors, officers, and employees for interviews and 

testimony, consistent with the rights and privileges of such individuals.  Ocwen agrees to waive 

objections to service for subpoenas from the Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States seeking 

documents and other information from Ocwen provided the subpoenas are served on Ocwen's 

registered agent.   

3.  These provisions are intended to supplement and do not supplant or in any way 

restrict the Attorney General Offices’ subpoena power and investigatory authority under any 

state law. 

IV. Claims and Other Actions Exempted from Release 

Notwithstanding the foregoing and any other term of this Consent Judgment, the 

following claims are hereby not released and are specifically reserved: 

1.  Securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase of 

securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, 

regardless of the factual basis of the claim, including such claims of the state or state entities as 

an owner, purchaser, or holder of whole loans, securities, derivatives or similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, or 

structured investment vehicles, and including, but not limited to, such claims based on the 

following: 

a. the creation, formation, solicitation, marketing, assignment, transfer, offer, 

sale or substitution of securities, derivatives, or other similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt 

obligations, collateralized loan obligations, or structured investment vehicles; 
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b. representations, warranties, certifications, or claims made regarding such 

securities or investments, such as representations, warranties, certifications or 

claims regarding origination, funding, and underwriting activities, and including 

the eligibility, characteristics, or quality of the mortgages or the mortgagors; 

c. the transfer, sale, conveyance, or assignment of mortgage loans to, and the 

purchase and acquisition of such mortgage loans by, the entity creating, forming 

and issuing the securities, derivatives or other similar investments relating to such 

mortgage loans; 

d. all servicing-, foreclosure-, and origination-related conduct, but solely to 

the extent that such claims are based on the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, 

or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities; and 

e. all Covered Conduct, but solely to the extent that such claims are based on 

the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, or other conduct in connection with 

investors or purchasers in or of securities. 

For avoidance of doubt, securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase 

of securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, that 

are based on any source of law, including, but not limited to, false claims acts or equivalent laws, 

securities laws, and common law breach of fiduciary duty, are not released. 

 2. Claims against a trustee or custodian or an agent thereof based on or arising out of 

the conduct of the trustee, custodian or such agent related to the pooling of residential mortgage 

loans in trusts, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, collateralized loan 

obligations, or structured investment vehicles, including, but not limited to, the performance of 

trustee or custodial functions in such conduct. 
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 3. Liability based on Ocwen’s obligations created by this Consent Judgment. 

 4. Claims against Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. or MERSCORP, 

INC. 

 5. Claims arising out of alleged violations of fair lending laws that relate to 

discriminatory conduct in lending. 

 6. Claims of state, county and local pension or other governmental funds as 

investors (whether those claims would be brought directly by those pension or other 

governmental funds or by the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing the 

pension or other governmental funds). 

 7. Tax claims, including, but not limited to, claims relating to real estate transfer 

taxes. 

 8. Claims of county and local governments and claims of state regulatory agencies 

having specific regulatory jurisdiction that is separate and independent from the regulatory and 

enforcement jurisdiction of the Attorney General. 

 9. Criminal enforcement of state criminal laws. 

 10. Claims of county recorders, city recorders, town recorders or other local 

government officers or agencies (or, for Hawaii only, where a statewide recording system is 

applicable and operated by the state, claims by Hawaii; and for Maryland, where the recording 

system is the joint responsibility of the counties or Baltimore City and the state, claims of the 

counties or Baltimore City and the state), for fees relating to the recordation or registration 

process of mortgages or deeds of trust, including assignments, transfers, and conveyances, 

regardless of whether those claims would be brought directly by such local government officers 
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or agencies or through the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing such local 

government officers or agencies. 

 11. Claims and defenses asserted by third parties, including individual mortgage loan 

borrowers on an individual or class basis. 

 12. Claims seeking injunctive or declaratory relief to clear a cloud on title where the 

Covered Conduct has resulted in a cloud on title to real property under state law; provided, 

however, that the Attorneys General shall not otherwise take actions seeking to invalidate past 

mortgage assignments or foreclosures in connection with loans serviced and/or owned by the 

Released Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph 13 releases, waives or 

bars any legal or factual argument related to the validity of past mortgage assignments or 

foreclosures that could be made in support of claims not released herein, including, without 

limitation, all claims preserved under paragraphs 1 through 15 of Section IV of this Release. 

 13. Authority to resolve consumer complaints brought to the attention of Ocwen for 

resolution outside of the monitoring process, as described in Section H of the Enforcement 

Terms (Exhibit D). 

14. Claims against Ocwen for reimbursement to mortgage borrowers: 

a. That represent: (i) a fee imposed upon and collected from a mortgage 

borrower by Ocwen and retained by Ocwen which fee is later determined to have 

been specifically prohibited by applicable state law (an “Unauthorized Fee”), 

provided that such determination of impermissibility is not predicated, directly or 

indirectly, on a finding of a violation of any federal law, rule, regulation, agency 

directive or similar requirement; and (ii) an actual overpayment by a borrower 
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resulting from a clear and demonstrable error in calculation of amounts due from 

said borrower; and 

b. That are not duplicative of any prior voluntary or involuntary payment to 

the affected loan borrower by Ocwen, whether directly or indirectly, from any 

State Payment or other source.
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Prepared Remarks of CFPB Director
Richard Cordray on the Ocwen
Enforcement Action Press Call
BY RICHARD CORDRAY

Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, authorities in 49 states, and the
District of Columbia are filing a proposed court order requiring the country’s largest
nonbank mortgage servicer to compensate consumers for years of systemic and
significant servicing errors. Ocwen Financial Corporation and its subsidiary, Ocwen
Loan Servicing, must refund $125 million to people who have already lost their homes.
And they must provide $2 billion in relief to current homeowners who are underwater
and in danger of losing their homes.

The mortgage market is the single largest consumer financial market in the United
States, with consumers owing about $10 trillion. Mortgage servicers, who bear
responsibility for managing these loans, play a central role in the lives of homeowners.
They are the link between a mortgage borrower and a mortgage owner. They collect and
apply payments. They work out modifications to the loan terms. And they handle the
difficult process of foreclosure. Importantly, consumers cannot take their business
elsewhere by voting with their feet. Homeowners are stuck with their mortgage servicer,
no matter how good or bad that servicer may turn out to be.

Ocwen specializes in servicing subprime or delinquent loans and it has been greatly
expanding its business in the years since the housing collapse. Today it is not only the
largest nonbank servicer, but also the fourth-largest mortgage servicer overall in this
country. It has acquired smaller competitors such as Homeward Residential and Litton
Loan Servicing. And it has taken on servicing duties for some of the big banks. Today its
customers number in the millions.

Because Ocwen bought the mortgage servicing rights to millions of existing accounts,
for many borrowers Ocwen was not their first servicer. For these struggling
homeowners, the Consumer Bureau believes that too often trouble began as soon as a
loan transferred to Ocwen, with Ocwen failing to honor trial modifications that were
agreed upon by previous servicers.

We believe that Ocwen violated federal consumer financial laws at every stage of the
mortgage servicing process. In our complaint filed in federal district court today, we
allege that Ocwen took advantage of consumers with servicing shortcuts and
unauthorized fees. It misled consumers about alternatives to foreclosures. It provided
false or misleading information to consumers about the status of their accounts. It
denied loan modifications for eligible homeowners. And it sent documents through the
courts after they were robo-signed during the foreclosure process. After examining the
potential violations, we have concluded that Ocwen made troubled borrowers even
more vulnerable to foreclosure.
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So today’s order, to which Ocwen has agreed, requires Ocwen to provide $125 million in
refunds to consumers who lost their home to foreclosure while being serviced by
Ocwen, Homeward Residential Holdings, or Litton Loan Servicing between 2009 and
2012. In addition, over a three-year period, Ocwen must complete sustainable loan
modifications that result in a reduction in principal totaling $2 billion for homeowners
who are underwater and struggling to pay off their mortgages. This will bring relief to
Ocwen’s victims and it will improve conditions in the mortgage market by reducing the
number of foreclosures.

The Consumer Bureau’s new mortgage servicing rules have been written to stop
problems like the ones that occurred at Ocwen. And if Ocwen’s practices had occurred
under our new rules, even more violations would have been identified. But this action
against Ocwen is not and could not be based on our rules that are not yet in effect.
Rather, it is based on the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act that prohibit servicers from
engaging in activity that is unfair and deceptive – which is exactly what Ocwen did.

In less than a month, the Bureau’s new mortgage servicing rules will take effect and
Ocwen, like other servicers, will be subject to the new standards. In many ways, these
new rules overlap with the Ocwen order. Both set forth specific rules of the road about
handling loss mitigation applications. Both mitigate the harms of dual tracking by
prohibiting borrowers from being referred to foreclosure before an application can be
reviewed. Both demand prompt crediting of payments. Both protect borrowers from
unnecessary force-placed insurance charges. And both require servicers to take steps to
ensure compliance with current state foreclosure laws, including bans against the robo-
signing of documents.

But because of its conduct, as described in our complaint, Ocwen will be subject to
standards above and beyond the rest of the industry. For example, the proposed court
order aims to solve problems surrounding Ocwen’s handling of loan modifications in
transferred loans. This includes a requirement that when consumers have loss
mitigation requests pending with a prior servicer within sixty days of any transfer to
Ocwen, Ocwen must resolve the requests. This includes a requirement that Ocwen
cannot initiate or continue a foreclosure process until it has done so.

Our order also ensures that Ocwen will adhere to these significant new homeowner
protections through greater oversight and a court mandate. A special independent
monitor will have the authority to require Ocwen’s compliance and oversee the
settlement. In addition, like the rest of the mortgage servicing industry, Ocwen will
have to beef up its standards to ensure that when any of its consumers call for help that
they get regular and dependable assistance.

Many of Ocwen’s practices described in today’s order are the same kind of practices that
were also the subject of the 2012 National Mortgage Settlement involving the five
largest mortgage servicers at that time. But while some of Ocwen’s portfolio was part of
the settlement, the substantial majority of it was not, and most of its customers were
not previously entitled to relief. Today’s action extends the standards of that settlement
to the full portfolio of the largest nonbank servicer. In fact, the monitor of the National
Mortgage Servicing Settlement has agreed to oversee the implementation and
compliance of today’s agreement through the Office of Mortgage Settlement Oversight.
This result furthers the Consumer Bureau’s objective of extending its oversight over the
entire mortgage servicing market, including both bank and nonbank participants.

Today’s order came about through a coordinated partnership with state financial
regulators and state attorneys general. Both the Consumer Bureau and the 49 state
attorneys general who are signatories to the order can enforce its terms. In addition,
state regulators can enforce the terms of concurrent administrative orders that they are
also issuing against Ocwen.
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I want to thank our 49 state partners and the District of Columbia for their integral role
in reaching today’s result. I would also like to thank the Federal Trade Commission,
which first initiated the investigation into Ocwen’s servicing practices and whose work
formed the backbone of the Bureau’s own investigation into these matters.

This case stands as a landmark for the new Consumer Bureau, since it is the first time
we have partnered with virtually all state attorneys general as well as state regulators.
Working together toward the singular goal of protecting consumers, we intend to
improve the performance of the mortgage servicing industry for all homeowners,
responsible businesses, and the economy as a whole.

In many ways, this country is still emerging from the financial crisis today, more than
five years after it crested. But for our housing market to fully recover, responsible
homeowners must have opportunities to stay in their homes, people must be treated
fairly, and mortgage servicers must be held accountable for following consumer
financial laws. We are not out of the woods yet and we will not be until all mortgage
servicers understand that they must step up and toe the line. Thank you.

###

*This version has been updated from an earlier version.

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB, State Authorities Order Ocwen to
Provide $2 Billion in Relief to
Homeowners for Servicing Wrongs
Largest Nonbank Servicer Will Also Refund $125 Million to Foreclosure Victims and
Adhere to Significant New Homeowner Protections

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB),
authorities in 49 states, and the District of Columbia filed a proposed court order
requiring the country’s largest nonbank mortgage loan servicer, Ocwen Financial
Corporation, and its subsidiary, Ocwen Loan Servicing, to provide $2 billion in
principal reduction to underwater borrowers. The consent order addresses Ocwen’s
systemic misconduct at every stage of the mortgage servicing process. Ocwen must also
refund $125 million to the nearly 185,000 borrowers who have already been foreclosed
upon and it must adhere to significant new homeowner protections.

“Deceptions and shortcuts in mortgage servicing will not be tolerated,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Ocwen took advantage of borrowers at every stage of the
process. Today’s action sends a clear message that we will be vigilant about making sure
that consumers are treated with the respect, dignity, and fairness they deserve.”

The proposed Ocwen Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent-order_ocwen.pdf

Ocwen, a publicly traded Florida corporation headquartered in Atlanta, Ga., is the
largest nonbank mortgage servicer and the fourth-largest servicer overall in the United
States. As a mortgage servicer, it is responsible for collecting payments from the
mortgage borrower and forwarding those payments to the owner of the loan. It handles
customer service, collections, loan modifications, and foreclosures.

Ocwen specializes in servicing subprime or delinquent loans and places a major
emphasis on resolving delinquency through loss mitigation or foreclosure. In recent
years, it has acquired competitors – including Homeward Residential Holdings LLC
(formerly American Home Mortgage Servicing Inc.) and Litton Loan Servicing LP. It
has also acquired the mortgage servicing rights from the portfolios of some of the
country’s largest banks.

The CFPB is charged with enforcing the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act which protects consumers from unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or
practices by mortgage servicers – whether they are a bank or nonbank. State financial
regulators, state attorneys general, and the CFPB uncovered substantial evidence that
Ocwen violated state laws and the Dodd-Frank Act.

In early 2012, examinations by the Multistate Mortgage Committee, which is comprised
of state financial regulators, identified potential violations at Ocwen. In addition, the
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Federal Trade Commission referred its investigation of Ocwen to the CFPB after the
Bureau opened in July 2011. The Bureau then teamed with state attorneys general and
state regulators to investigate and resolve the issues identified. Today’s settlement is a
multi-jurisdictional collaborative effort.

Borrowers Pushed into Foreclosure by
Servicing Errors
The CFPB and its partner states believe that Ocwen was engaged in significant and
systemic misconduct that occurred at every stage of the mortgage servicing process.
According to the complaint filed in the federal district court in the District of Columbia,
Ocwen’s violations of consumer financial protections put thousands of people across
the country at risk of losing their homes. Specifically, the complaint says that Ocwen:

Took advantage of homeowners with servicing shortcuts and
unauthorized fees: Customers relied on Ocwen to, among other things, treat
them fairly, give them accurate information, and appropriately charge for
services. According to the complaint, Ocwen violated the law in a number of ways,
including:

Failing to timely and accurately apply payments made by borrowers and
failing to maintain accurate account statements;
Charging borrowers unauthorized fees for default-related services;
Imposing force-placed insurance on consumers when Ocwen knew or
should have known that they already had adequate home-insurance
coverage; and
Providing false or misleading information in response to consumer
complaints.

Deceived consumers about foreclosure alternatives and improperly
denied loan modifications: Struggling homeowners generally turn to
mortgage servicers, the link to the owners of the loans, as their only means of
developing a plan for payment. Ocwen failed to effectively assist, and in fact
impeded, struggling homeowners trying to save their homes. This included:

Failing to provide accurate information about loan modifications and other
loss mitigation services;
Failing to properly process borrowers’ applications and calculate their
eligibility for loan modifications;
Providing false or misleading reasons for denying loan modifications;
Failing to honor previously agreed upon trial modifications with prior
servicers; and
Deceptively seeking to collect payments under the mortgage’s original
unmodified terms after the consumer had already begun a loan modification
with the prior servicer.

Engaged in illegal foreclosure practices: One of the most important jobs of
a mortgage servicer is managing the foreclosure process. But Ocwen mishandled
foreclosures and provided consumers with false information. Specifically, Ocwen
is accused of:

Providing false or misleading information to consumers about the status of
foreclosure proceedings where the borrower was in good faith actively
pursuing a loss mitigation alternative also offered by Ocwen; and
Robo-signing foreclosure documents, including preparing, executing,
notarizing, and filing affidavits in foreclosure proceedings with courts and
government agencies without verifying the information.

Remedies: Consumer Protections
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Today’s proposed court order will bar Ocwen from committing such violations in the
future. It requires Ocwen to provide $125 million in refunds to foreclosed-upon
consumers and $2 billion in loan modification relief to its customers through principal
reduction. The refunds and relief also apply to consumers whose loans were previously
serviced by Homeward Residential Holdings and Litton Loan Servicing. According to
the proposed order, Ocwen must:

Provide $2 billion in relief to underwater borrowers: Over a three-year
period, Ocwen must complete sustainable loan modifications that result in
principal reductions totaling $2 billion. For loan modification options, eligible
borrowers may be contacted directly by Ocwen. Or borrowers may contact Ocwen
to obtain more information about specific loan modification programs and to find
out whether they may be impacted by this settlement. Ocwen can be reached at 1-
800-337-6695 or ConsumerRelief@Ocwen.com. If Ocwen fails to meet this
commitment, it must pay a cash penalty in the amount of any shortfall to the
CFPB and the states.

Provide $125 million in refunds to foreclosure victims: Ocwen must
refund $125 million to consumers whose loans were being serviced by Ocwen,
Homeward Residential Holdings, or Litton Loan Servicing, and who lost their
homes to foreclosure between Jan. 1, 2009 and Dec. 31, 2012. All eligible
consumers who submit valid claims will receive an equal share of the $125
million. Borrowers who receive payments will not have to release any claims and
will be free to seek additional relief in the courts. Ocwen will also pay $2.3 million
to administer the refund process. Eligible consumers can expect to hear from the
settlement administrator about potential payments.

Stop robo-signing official documents: Ocwen must ensure that facts
asserted in its documents about borrowers’ loans used in foreclosure and
bankruptcy proceedings are accurate and supported by reliable evidence.
Affidavits and sworn statements must be based on personal knowledge.

Adhere to significant new homeowner protections: Ocwen must change
the way it services mortgages to ensure that borrowers are protected from the
illegal behavior that puts them in danger of losing their homes. To ensure this, the
CFPB and the states are proposing that Ocwen follow the servicing standards set
up by the 2012 National Mortgage Settlement with the five largest banks. Because
of Ocwen’s track record of problems handling the large volume of mortgage
servicing rights it has quickly acquired in recent years, Ocwen is also being
ordered to adhere to additional consumer protections, including how it manages
transferred lans. Among other things, Ocwen must:

Properly process pending requests: For loans that are transferred to
Ocwen, the company must determine the status of in-process loss mitigation
requests pending within 60 days of transfer. Until then, Ocwen cannot start,
refer to, or proceed with foreclosure.
Honor previous loan modification agreements: If the borrower has a
loan modification agreement, Ocwen must honor it under the terms of the
company that transferred the loan.
Ensure continuity of contact for consumers: Ocwen will have to
ensure that consumers get regular and dependable assistance when they call
for help. This includes requiring more than just a single point of contact
assigned to each borrower, but also that other Ocwen employees with access
to the borrower’s information be available if the borrower wants to speak to
someone immediately.
Restrict servicing fees: All servicing fees must be reasonable, bona fide,
and disclosed in detail to borrowers. For example, Ocwen cannot collect any
late fees if a loan modification application is under review or if the borrower

mailto:ConsumerRelief@Ocwen.com


is making timely trial modification payments.
Notify consumers of loss mitigation options and restrict dual
tracking: Ocwen generally cannot refer a borrower’s account to foreclosure
while the borrower’s application for a loan modification is still pending. If
the loan-modification request is denied, the borrower can appeal that
decision and Ocwen cannot proceed to foreclosure until that appeal has
been resolved.

In January 2013, the CFPB released new rules on mortgage servicing that will apply to
every mortgage servicer. The standards that Ocwen must adhere to according to this
court order are in addition to the protections offered to consumers under the new rules
that take effect on Jan. 10, 2014. More information about the CFPB’s new mortgage
rules can be found at: consumerfinance.gov/mortgage.

A factsheet about the proposed order filed today can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_factsheet_ocwen.pdf

Common consumer questions and answers about the order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_common-questions_ocwen.pdf

A copy of the Ocwen complaint that the CFPB and state attorneys general filed today
can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_complaint_ocwen.pdf

The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually violated the
law. The proposed federal court order will have the full force of law only when signed by
the presiding judge.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Updated on June 24, 2014:

The National Ocwen Settlement Administrator will mail claim forms to borrowers who
lost their home to foreclosure between Jan. 1, 2009 and Dec. 31, 2012 and whose loans
were serviced by Ocwen, Litton Loan Servicing LP, and Homeward Residential
Holdings LLC (also known as American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc., or AHMSI).
Borrowers may submit claim forms online using their personalized claimant ID
number, which is located on the claim form they receive. More information can be
found at: nationalocwensettlement.com

Updated on March 4, 2014:

The Ocwen consent judgment entered by the court can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201403_cfpb_entered-judgment-with-
exhibits_ocwen.pdf
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DEC 23 2013

CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$59.5 Million for Illegal Credit Card
Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $16.2 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
ordered American Express to refund an estimated $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers for illegal credit card practices. These practices included unfair billing
tactics and deceptive marketing with respect to credit card “add-on products” such as
payment protection and credit monitoring. American Express will pay an additional
$9.6 million in civil penalties to the CFPB.

“We first warned companies last year about using deceptive marketing to sell credit
card add-on products, and everyone should be on notice of this issue,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Today we are refunding thousands of American Express
customers who were harmed by these illegal practices. Consumers deserve to be treated
fairly and should not pay for services they do not receive.”

The Bureau has been coordinating this public action with the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) to identify
and address these issues. The FDIC is fining American Express Centurion Bank $3.6
million and the OCC is fining American Express Bank, FSB $3 million. This is the
fourth action the Bureau has taken in coordination with fellow regulators to address
illegal practices with respect to credit card add-on products.

Misleading Marketing
CFPB examiners discovered that, beginning in 2000 continuing through 2012, three of
American Express’s subsidiaries and their vendors and telemarketers engaged in
misleading and deceptive tactics to sell some of the company’s credit card add-on
products. One such product, a payment protection product called “Account Protector,”
allowed consumers to request that 2.5 percent of their outstanding balance, up to $500,
be canceled if they encounter certain life events like unemployment or temporary
disability. American Express also marketed its “Lost Wallet” product as being able to
assist card members in Puerto Rico with cancelling and replacing lost or stolen credit
cards, including non-American Express cards, and providing other services, such as
recovering lost or stolen documents. Among other things, American Express misled
consumers about:

The benefits of the payment protection products: Some consumers were
led to believe that if they bought the Account Protector product, their minimum
monthly payment would be cancelled if they experienced a qualifying life event. In
reality, the benefit payment would be limited to 2.5 percent of the consumer’s
outstanding balance, up to $500. In many cases, that amount was less than the
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minimum payment due.

The length of coverage of the payment protection products: Consumers
were led to believe that the benefit periods for Account Protector would last up to
24 months. In fact, only two of the 13 qualifying events with benefit periods had
benefit periods of up to 24 months. The other 11 qualifying events had benefit
periods of only one, two, or three months.

The fees associated with payment protection products: American
Express or its vendors would claim that there would be no fee if the balance in the
account was paid off every month, without disclosing that the account balance had
to be paid off before the end of the billing cycle, which was an earlier date than the
consumer’s statement due date.

The terms and conditions of the Lost Wallet product: American Express
used telemarketing sales calls conducted in Spanish to enroll the vast majority of
Puerto Rico consumers in this product. Yet American Express did not provide
uniform Spanish language scripts for these enrollment calls, and all written
materials provided to consumers were in English. As a result, American Express
did not adequately alert consumers during the calls about the steps necessary to
receive and access the full product benefits.

Unfair Billing and Other Illegal Practices
American Express also engaged in unfair billing practices related to its “identity
protection” add-on products. These products supposedly include a service to monitor
the card members’ credit information. To obtain credit monitoring services, consumers
generally must provide written authorization. American Express, however, charged
many consumers for these products without or before having the written authorization
necessary to perform the monitoring services. As a result, the company:

Billed consumers for services they did not receive: Consumers were
charged fees as soon as they enrolled in identity protection add-on products, even
when American Express or its vendors had not yet obtained the authorization
necessary to begin monitoring the consumers’ credit information. American
Express did not inform consumers that they needed to complete a second step in
the enrollment process to obtain all of the advertised benefits. Approximately 85
percent of consumers who enrolled in the identity protection products paid the
full product fee without receiving all of the advertised benefits. In some cases,
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving all of the
promised benefits.

Unfairly charged consumers for interest and fees: The unfair monthly
fees that customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding
their credit card account limits. This then led to additional fees for the customers.
Some consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.

Failed to inform consumers about their right to a free credit report:
Federal law requires that when telemarketing sales calls are made that include
offers of free credit reports, the call must include a disclosure about the
consumer’s right to a free credit report from a federally authorized source. In
some solicitations, American Express did not make the required disclosure.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
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or abusive practices. In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express
subsidiaries have agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were
harmed by the illegal practices. Specifically, they have agreed to:

Stop deceptive marketing: American Express must cease selling the Account
Protector, Identity Protection, and Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products until
it has submitted a compliance plan to the CFPB. The plan will be designed to
eliminate all deceptive or unfair practices and violations of other laws relating to
the sale, marketing, and administration of these products and to ensure that these
unlawful acts do not occur again.

End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain
identity protection products if they are not receiving the promised benefits.
American Express also must take steps, subject to the Bureau’s approval, to
ensure these unlawful acts do not occur in the future.

Pay restitution of approximately $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers who purchased the products: American Express has already
provided refunds to many consumers and today’s action requires that American
Express make further refunds. These American Express entities will be paying
restitution to consumers who purchased the Account Protector, Identity
Protection, or Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products. American Express must
submit a plan for remediation to the Bureau. Once the Bureau has reviewed the
plan, the American Express entities must begin promptly implementing the
remediation.

Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers: If
the consumers are still American Express customers, they will receive a credit to
their accounts. If they are no longer an American Express credit card holder, they
will receive checks in the mail. Consumers are not required to take any action to
receive their credit or check.

Submit to an independent review: An independent third-party will help
ensure the refunds have been provided in compliance with the terms set forth in
the CFPB’s order.

Review other credit card add-on products: American Express must hire an
independent third-party to review American Express’s other credit card add-on
products for compliance with federal consumer financial laws. If any compliance
issues are found, American Express must submit a plan to the Bureau explaining
how it will correct those violations and provide remediation if necessary.

Improve oversight of third-party vendors: The CFPB is also requiring that
American Express continue to strengthen its management of third-party vendors
who manage these add-on products.

Pay a $9.6 million penalty: The CFPB has ordered that American Express pay
a $9.6 million fine to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Orders for each of the three subsidiaries is available
at:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_centurion_011.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_FSB_012.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_CFPB_Consent_AETRS_013.pdf

###
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DEC 23 2013

CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$59.5 Million for Illegal Credit Card
Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $16.2 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
ordered American Express to refund an estimated $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers for illegal credit card practices. These practices included unfair billing
tactics and deceptive marketing with respect to credit card “add-on products” such as
payment protection and credit monitoring. American Express will pay an additional
$9.6 million in civil penalties to the CFPB.

“We first warned companies last year about using deceptive marketing to sell credit
card add-on products, and everyone should be on notice of this issue,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Today we are refunding thousands of American Express
customers who were harmed by these illegal practices. Consumers deserve to be treated
fairly and should not pay for services they do not receive.”

The Bureau has been coordinating this public action with the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) to identify
and address these issues. The FDIC is fining American Express Centurion Bank $3.6
million and the OCC is fining American Express Bank, FSB $3 million. This is the
fourth action the Bureau has taken in coordination with fellow regulators to address
illegal practices with respect to credit card add-on products.

Misleading Marketing
CFPB examiners discovered that, beginning in 2000 continuing through 2012, three of
American Express’s subsidiaries and their vendors and telemarketers engaged in
misleading and deceptive tactics to sell some of the company’s credit card add-on
products. One such product, a payment protection product called “Account Protector,”
allowed consumers to request that 2.5 percent of their outstanding balance, up to $500,
be canceled if they encounter certain life events like unemployment or temporary
disability. American Express also marketed its “Lost Wallet” product as being able to
assist card members in Puerto Rico with cancelling and replacing lost or stolen credit
cards, including non-American Express cards, and providing other services, such as
recovering lost or stolen documents. Among other things, American Express misled
consumers about:

The benefits of the payment protection products: Some consumers were
led to believe that if they bought the Account Protector product, their minimum
monthly payment would be cancelled if they experienced a qualifying life event. In
reality, the benefit payment would be limited to 2.5 percent of the consumer’s
outstanding balance, up to $500. In many cases, that amount was less than the
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minimum payment due.

The length of coverage of the payment protection products: Consumers
were led to believe that the benefit periods for Account Protector would last up to
24 months. In fact, only two of the 13 qualifying events with benefit periods had
benefit periods of up to 24 months. The other 11 qualifying events had benefit
periods of only one, two, or three months.

The fees associated with payment protection products: American
Express or its vendors would claim that there would be no fee if the balance in the
account was paid off every month, without disclosing that the account balance had
to be paid off before the end of the billing cycle, which was an earlier date than the
consumer’s statement due date.

The terms and conditions of the Lost Wallet product: American Express
used telemarketing sales calls conducted in Spanish to enroll the vast majority of
Puerto Rico consumers in this product. Yet American Express did not provide
uniform Spanish language scripts for these enrollment calls, and all written
materials provided to consumers were in English. As a result, American Express
did not adequately alert consumers during the calls about the steps necessary to
receive and access the full product benefits.

Unfair Billing and Other Illegal Practices
American Express also engaged in unfair billing practices related to its “identity
protection” add-on products. These products supposedly include a service to monitor
the card members’ credit information. To obtain credit monitoring services, consumers
generally must provide written authorization. American Express, however, charged
many consumers for these products without or before having the written authorization
necessary to perform the monitoring services. As a result, the company:

Billed consumers for services they did not receive: Consumers were
charged fees as soon as they enrolled in identity protection add-on products, even
when American Express or its vendors had not yet obtained the authorization
necessary to begin monitoring the consumers’ credit information. American
Express did not inform consumers that they needed to complete a second step in
the enrollment process to obtain all of the advertised benefits. Approximately 85
percent of consumers who enrolled in the identity protection products paid the
full product fee without receiving all of the advertised benefits. In some cases,
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving all of the
promised benefits.

Unfairly charged consumers for interest and fees: The unfair monthly
fees that customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding
their credit card account limits. This then led to additional fees for the customers.
Some consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.

Failed to inform consumers about their right to a free credit report:
Federal law requires that when telemarketing sales calls are made that include
offers of free credit reports, the call must include a disclosure about the
consumer’s right to a free credit report from a federally authorized source. In
some solicitations, American Express did not make the required disclosure.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
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or abusive practices. In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express
subsidiaries have agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were
harmed by the illegal practices. Specifically, they have agreed to:

Stop deceptive marketing: American Express must cease selling the Account
Protector, Identity Protection, and Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products until
it has submitted a compliance plan to the CFPB. The plan will be designed to
eliminate all deceptive or unfair practices and violations of other laws relating to
the sale, marketing, and administration of these products and to ensure that these
unlawful acts do not occur again.

End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain
identity protection products if they are not receiving the promised benefits.
American Express also must take steps, subject to the Bureau’s approval, to
ensure these unlawful acts do not occur in the future.

Pay restitution of approximately $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers who purchased the products: American Express has already
provided refunds to many consumers and today’s action requires that American
Express make further refunds. These American Express entities will be paying
restitution to consumers who purchased the Account Protector, Identity
Protection, or Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products. American Express must
submit a plan for remediation to the Bureau. Once the Bureau has reviewed the
plan, the American Express entities must begin promptly implementing the
remediation.

Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers: If
the consumers are still American Express customers, they will receive a credit to
their accounts. If they are no longer an American Express credit card holder, they
will receive checks in the mail. Consumers are not required to take any action to
receive their credit or check.

Submit to an independent review: An independent third-party will help
ensure the refunds have been provided in compliance with the terms set forth in
the CFPB’s order.

Review other credit card add-on products: American Express must hire an
independent third-party to review American Express’s other credit card add-on
products for compliance with federal consumer financial laws. If any compliance
issues are found, American Express must submit a plan to the Bureau explaining
how it will correct those violations and provide remediation if necessary.

Improve oversight of third-party vendors: The CFPB is also requiring that
American Express continue to strengthen its management of third-party vendors
who manage these add-on products.

Pay a $9.6 million penalty: The CFPB has ordered that American Express pay
a $9.6 million fine to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Orders for each of the three subsidiaries is available
at:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_centurion_011.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_FSB_012.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_CFPB_Consent_AETRS_013.pdf
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DEC 23 2013

CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$59.5 Million for Illegal Credit Card
Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $16.2 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
ordered American Express to refund an estimated $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers for illegal credit card practices. These practices included unfair billing
tactics and deceptive marketing with respect to credit card “add-on products” such as
payment protection and credit monitoring. American Express will pay an additional
$9.6 million in civil penalties to the CFPB.

“We first warned companies last year about using deceptive marketing to sell credit
card add-on products, and everyone should be on notice of this issue,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Today we are refunding thousands of American Express
customers who were harmed by these illegal practices. Consumers deserve to be treated
fairly and should not pay for services they do not receive.”

The Bureau has been coordinating this public action with the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) to identify
and address these issues. The FDIC is fining American Express Centurion Bank $3.6
million and the OCC is fining American Express Bank, FSB $3 million. This is the
fourth action the Bureau has taken in coordination with fellow regulators to address
illegal practices with respect to credit card add-on products.

Misleading Marketing
CFPB examiners discovered that, beginning in 2000 continuing through 2012, three of
American Express’s subsidiaries and their vendors and telemarketers engaged in
misleading and deceptive tactics to sell some of the company’s credit card add-on
products. One such product, a payment protection product called “Account Protector,”
allowed consumers to request that 2.5 percent of their outstanding balance, up to $500,
be canceled if they encounter certain life events like unemployment or temporary
disability. American Express also marketed its “Lost Wallet” product as being able to
assist card members in Puerto Rico with cancelling and replacing lost or stolen credit
cards, including non-American Express cards, and providing other services, such as
recovering lost or stolen documents. Among other things, American Express misled
consumers about:

The benefits of the payment protection products: Some consumers were
led to believe that if they bought the Account Protector product, their minimum
monthly payment would be cancelled if they experienced a qualifying life event. In
reality, the benefit payment would be limited to 2.5 percent of the consumer’s
outstanding balance, up to $500. In many cases, that amount was less than the
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minimum payment due.

The length of coverage of the payment protection products: Consumers
were led to believe that the benefit periods for Account Protector would last up to
24 months. In fact, only two of the 13 qualifying events with benefit periods had
benefit periods of up to 24 months. The other 11 qualifying events had benefit
periods of only one, two, or three months.

The fees associated with payment protection products: American
Express or its vendors would claim that there would be no fee if the balance in the
account was paid off every month, without disclosing that the account balance had
to be paid off before the end of the billing cycle, which was an earlier date than the
consumer’s statement due date.

The terms and conditions of the Lost Wallet product: American Express
used telemarketing sales calls conducted in Spanish to enroll the vast majority of
Puerto Rico consumers in this product. Yet American Express did not provide
uniform Spanish language scripts for these enrollment calls, and all written
materials provided to consumers were in English. As a result, American Express
did not adequately alert consumers during the calls about the steps necessary to
receive and access the full product benefits.

Unfair Billing and Other Illegal Practices
American Express also engaged in unfair billing practices related to its “identity
protection” add-on products. These products supposedly include a service to monitor
the card members’ credit information. To obtain credit monitoring services, consumers
generally must provide written authorization. American Express, however, charged
many consumers for these products without or before having the written authorization
necessary to perform the monitoring services. As a result, the company:

Billed consumers for services they did not receive: Consumers were
charged fees as soon as they enrolled in identity protection add-on products, even
when American Express or its vendors had not yet obtained the authorization
necessary to begin monitoring the consumers’ credit information. American
Express did not inform consumers that they needed to complete a second step in
the enrollment process to obtain all of the advertised benefits. Approximately 85
percent of consumers who enrolled in the identity protection products paid the
full product fee without receiving all of the advertised benefits. In some cases,
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving all of the
promised benefits.

Unfairly charged consumers for interest and fees: The unfair monthly
fees that customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding
their credit card account limits. This then led to additional fees for the customers.
Some consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.

Failed to inform consumers about their right to a free credit report:
Federal law requires that when telemarketing sales calls are made that include
offers of free credit reports, the call must include a disclosure about the
consumer’s right to a free credit report from a federally authorized source. In
some solicitations, American Express did not make the required disclosure.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
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or abusive practices. In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express
subsidiaries have agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were
harmed by the illegal practices. Specifically, they have agreed to:

Stop deceptive marketing: American Express must cease selling the Account
Protector, Identity Protection, and Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products until
it has submitted a compliance plan to the CFPB. The plan will be designed to
eliminate all deceptive or unfair practices and violations of other laws relating to
the sale, marketing, and administration of these products and to ensure that these
unlawful acts do not occur again.

End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain
identity protection products if they are not receiving the promised benefits.
American Express also must take steps, subject to the Bureau’s approval, to
ensure these unlawful acts do not occur in the future.

Pay restitution of approximately $59.5 million to more than 335,000
consumers who purchased the products: American Express has already
provided refunds to many consumers and today’s action requires that American
Express make further refunds. These American Express entities will be paying
restitution to consumers who purchased the Account Protector, Identity
Protection, or Lost Wallet Puerto Rico add-on products. American Express must
submit a plan for remediation to the Bureau. Once the Bureau has reviewed the
plan, the American Express entities must begin promptly implementing the
remediation.

Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers: If
the consumers are still American Express customers, they will receive a credit to
their accounts. If they are no longer an American Express credit card holder, they
will receive checks in the mail. Consumers are not required to take any action to
receive their credit or check.

Submit to an independent review: An independent third-party will help
ensure the refunds have been provided in compliance with the terms set forth in
the CFPB’s order.

Review other credit card add-on products: American Express must hire an
independent third-party to review American Express’s other credit card add-on
products for compliance with federal consumer financial laws. If any compliance
issues are found, American Express must submit a plan to the Bureau explaining
how it will correct those violations and provide remediation if necessary.

Improve oversight of third-party vendors: The CFPB is also requiring that
American Express continue to strengthen its management of third-party vendors
who manage these add-on products.

Pay a $9.6 million penalty: The CFPB has ordered that American Express pay
a $9.6 million fine to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Orders for each of the three subsidiaries is available
at:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_centurion_011.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_cfpb_consent_amex_FSB_012.pdf

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201312_CFPB_Consent_AETRS_013.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 20 13-CFPB-00 12 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_______________________________ ) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

Respondent American Express Bank, FSB ("AEBFSB" or " the Bank") relating to cettain credit 

card add-on products and has identified violations of law. Under sections I 053 and l 055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFP Act"), the CFPB hereby issues, pursuant to 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that AEBFSB has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and 

1036 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

related to certain cred it card add-on products, and vio lations of Regu lation V, 12 C.F.R. 

§ I 022.1 38(b)(7), for failing to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit reports . 

II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over thi s matter pursuant to sections l 053 and l 055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

2013-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 12/24/2013     Page 1 of 27



III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AEBFSB has executed a " Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order'' ("'Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, AEBFSB has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to 

sections I 053 and I 055 of the CFP Act, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of findings of fact or violations of law, except that AEBFSB admits the CFPB's 

jurisdiction over AEBFSB and the subject matter of this action. 

IV. 

DEFINITIONS 

4. For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) "Account Protector" shall mean the Account Protector program, a debt 

cancellation credit card add-on product that AEBFSB marketed and sold to 

Card Members from 2004 - July 20 12 that allowed Card Members to request 

benefit payments toward their minimum balances followi ng certain life 

events, including but not limited to unemployment, disability, and other 

events. 

(b) "Board" shall mean AEBFSB's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

(c) "Card" shall mean any consumer charge card or cred it card issued by 

AEBFSB. 

(d) "Card Member" shall mean any consumer who has applied or applies for, and 

received or receives an AEBFSB consumer charge card or credit card. 
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(e) "Credit Card Add-on Products" or "CCAO Products'' shall mean any fee

based or no-charge products or serv ices AEBFSB markets or offers to Card 

Members as an add-on to a Card and that are supplementary to the credit 

provided by the Card, including but not limited to Account Protector and ID 

Protection Products. 

(f) " Effective Date" shall mean the date on which thi s Order is issued. 

(g) " ID Protection Products" shall mean '' ID Protect'' and " ID Protect Premium:· 

that AEBFSB marketed or sold to Card Members from November 2009 until 

July 2012, and shall include Single Identity - the predecessor to 10 Protect

that provided consumers with reports, updates or monitoring of information 

appearing online and information reported to a credit repotiing agency. The 

10 Protection Premium also provided access to a one-time triple-bureau credit 

report and triple-bureau credit monitoring. 

(h) " Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

( i) ·'Sections 1 031 and I 036" shall mean sections 1 031 and I 036 of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 and 5536. 

U) "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in 

section 1002(26) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 
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v. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

5. AEBFSB is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. With respect to the marketing of Account Protector and ID Protection Products, 

AEBFSB's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality assurance 

resulted in ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or correct certain improper 

practices. 

Account Protector 

8. AEBFSB marketed Account Protector as a means for a Card Member to pay the 

minimum payment due on the Card Member's account following certain life events. 

9. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector paid a monthly fee of0.85 percent 

of the Card Member's balance as of the statement closing date. 

10. The Account Protector benefit payment amount was the lesser of $500 or 2.5% of 

the Card Member's account balance as ofthe date of the qualifying event. A g iven benefit 

payment could be less than a Card Member's minimum monthly payment, requiring the Card 

Member to pay any difference between the benefit payment and minimum payment. For a 

significant percentage of Card Members enrolled in Account Protector who received benefits, the 

benefit payment did not always cover the minimum payment due on the Card Member's account. 

11. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector who submitted a benefit claim that 

was approved received a payment toward the Card Member's minimum payment due each 
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month for the duration of the benefit period. Benefit periods varied based on the nature of the 

qualifying event: 

a. Card Members with approved claims for hospitalization or starting co llege 

received the benefit payment for one month; 

b. Card Members with approved claims for marriage, birth or adoption of 

children, home purchase, ca ll to active military duty, relocation , loss of 

spouse, or divorce received the benefit payment each month for two months; 

c. Card Members with approved claims for a leave of absence from their place 

of employment received the benefit payment each month for up to three 

months; and 

d. Card Members with approved claims for involuntary unemployment or 

disability received the benefit payment each month for up to 24 months. 

12. A Card Member who was unemployed or disabled at the time of enrollment was 

not e ligible for a benefit payment due to unemployment or disability existing at the time of 

enrollment. 

13. With respect to Account Protector, the improper outbound telemarketing practices 

included, but were not limited to, the fo llowing examples: 

(a) Representing that the benefit payment amount wo uld cover the Card 

Member's minimum payment due when, in fact, the benefit payment would be 

2.5% of a Card Member's outstanding balance on the date of the qualifying 

event, up to $500 which frequently did not equal the minimum payment due; 

(b) Implying that benefits would last up to 24 months when, in fact, on ly two of 

the thirteen qualifying events with a benefit period covered by Account 
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Protector included benefit periods of 24 months, and the other e leven 

qualify ing events had benefit periods of only one, two. or three months; 

(c) Representing that there would be no fee if the balance in the account was paid 

off, without disclosing that the account balance had to be paid off before the 

end of the bi II ing cycle, a date that always preceded the statement due date; 

(d) Disclosing on telemarketing calls that there would be no fee for balances 

under $100 when, in fact, the fee for Account Protector is 0.85 percent of the 

Card Member's balance; 

(e) Failing to disclose near the outset of the call that Account Protector was 

optional and not required for the Card Member to activate or use the Card 

Member's account; 

(f) Representing that Account Protector would improve or maintain a Card 

Member's credit score ; and 

(g) Implying that benefits would be immediately available when there was a 

claims process that had to be completed before any benefits were paid. 

14. Section I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits ·'unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U .S.C. § 5536(a)( l )(B). 

15. Statements and omissions by AEBFSB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer"s choice or 

conduct regarding Account Protector and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

16. AEBFSB 's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections I 031 (a) and 1 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 (a), 5536(a)( I )(8). These 
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violations affected over 71.000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 15.1 mill ion in fees and 

over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

17. Therefore, by reason of the forego ing, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of section 1 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

ID Protection Products 

18. AEBFSB marketed the I D Protection Products as protection against identity theft 

for Card Members. AEBFSB, in its offering for sa le and sale of 10 Protection Premium 

represented that in exchange for a month ly fee, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers. would 

provide features that included a service to monitor Card Members ' credit information. 

19. The 10 Protection Products had a two-step enrollment process. Following 

enro llment, an enro lled Card Member was sent a we lcome kit that inc luded add itional 

information concerning the ID Protection Products. Included in the welcome kit was the first 

notice that add itional information was required to fully-activate credit monitoring and public 

records monitoring benefits. Until a Card Member submitted the add itional information to 

AEBFSB, the Card Member would not rece ive the full benefit of ID Protection Products. 

20. AEBFSB did not inform Card Members during the telemarketing or enroll ment 

processes that enro llment was a two-step process. AEBFSB billed Card Members the full 

amount for lD Protection Products whether or not the Card Member completed the second step. 

2 1. Approximately 85 percent of Card Members who enrolled in the ID Protection 

Products did not complete the second step of the two-step process and paid the full product fee 

without receiving a ll of the advertised benefits. 
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22. With respect to the lD Protection Products, the improper practices included , but 

were not limited to, the following examples: 

(a) Using a two-step enrollment process in which Card Members enrolled in ID 

Protection Products and were billed upon enrollment, but in which AEBFSB 

fa iled to inform Card Members that they would not receive the fu ll benefit of 

the ID Protection Products until they provided additional information to 

AEBFSB; and 

(b) In some cases, failing to provide the mandatory di sclosure under Regu lation V 

regarding free credit reports to some Card Members. 

23. Section I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits " unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( l )(B). 

24. AEBFSB' s acceptance of monthly payments while failing to provide cred it 

monitoring services has resu lted in substantial injury to over 26,000 Card Members in the 

amount of at least $3.5 million in fees and over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any 

countervailing benefit to the consumers or to competition. 

25. Therefore, by reason ofthe foregoing billing practices for its 10 Protection 

Products as set forth in the preceding paragraphs, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of secti on I 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( l )(B). 

26. When telemarketing sales calls a re made that include offers of free credit reports, 

Regulation V requires that the call include at the first mention of a free credit report the 

following disclosure : "The following notice is required by law. You have the right to a free 

Page 8 of27 

2013-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 12/24/2013     Page 8 of 27



credit report from AnnuaiCreditReport.com or (877) 322-8228, the only authorized source under 

Federal law.'' 12 C.F .R. § I 022.1 38(b )(7). 

27. In some solicitations, AEBFSB's outbound telemarketing enrollments in certain 

I D Protection Products offered a complimentary "trial period" of 30 days before the Card 

Member incurred product fees. AEBFSB did not make the required disclosure under Regulation 

V in certain calls. 

28. Therefore, by reason of the forego ing sa les practices, AEBFSB vio lated 

Regulation V and the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 12 C.F.R. § I 022. 138(b)(7). 

VI. 

CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AEBFSB, its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist, and that AEBFSB manage its business relationships with Service 

Providers in a manner that ensures that its Service Providers immediately cease and desist from 

engag ing in violations of Sections l 031 and I 036 in connection with the marketing, sa les. and 

administration of Account Protector and 10 Protection Products and from engaging in violations 

of Regulation V in connection with the marketing, sa les, and administration of ID Protection 

Products, and it is fw1her ordered that AEBFSB take affirmative actions as of the Effective Date, 

unless otherwise specified, as follows: 

29. AEBFSB shall correct all violations of law, as described herein, and shall 

implement procedures to prevent their recurrence. AEBFSB's actions as required by this 

paragraph shall be satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at subsequent 

examinations and/or visitations. 
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30. AEBFSB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers. shall cease and 

desist from any marketing or so licitation of Account Protector or ID Protection Products unti l it 

has submitted a compliance plan, specificall y designed to eliminate all violations of Sections 

I 031 and I 036 and Regulation V in the marketing, sales, and administration of these products to 

the Regional Director for non-objection (the "Compliance Plan'"). This Compliance Plan shall be 

designed to comply with all provisions of thi s Order. Within 30 days from the Effecti ve Date, 

AEBFSB shall confirm with the Regional Director that it has withdrawn or suspended any 

marketing or solicitation of Account Protector and ID Protection Products. 

Correct Deceptive Marketing of Account Protector 

31. AEBFSB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of Sections I 031 and I 036 with respect to Account Protector. In add ition, 

AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections 

I 03 1 and I 036 when marketing or selling Account Protector, as described more particularly 

herein. 

32. AEBFSB, its Service Providers, or its representatives shall not make, or allow to 

be made, any deceptive representations, or allow to be made, any deceptive representations, 

statements, or omissions, expressly or by implication, in the marketing materials, telemarketing 

scripts and/or sales presentations used to so licit any Card Member or prospective Card Member 

to enroll in Account Protector, including but not limited to misrepresentations as to the 

fo llowing: 

(a) Any and all fees, costs, expenses and charges associated with Account 

Protector; 
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(b) That Account Protector is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card; 

(c) That Account Protector will improve or maintain a Card Member's credit 

score; 

(d) That Account Protector will cover a Card Member's minimum balance, 

(e) The timing of and mechanism for calculating a Card Member's benefit 

amount available when the Card Member uses Account Protector; 

(f) Payment terms for Account Protector, including the date AEBFSB will use to 

calculate any fee incurred for Account Protector; 

(g) The length of the benefit period, including that most qualify ing events carry a 

benefit period of one, two, or three months; and 

(h) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Account 

Protector. 

Correct Unfair Practices Relating to ID Protection Products 

33. AEBFSB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all unfair acts and practices 

in v iolation of Sections I 031 and 1036 with respect to the I D Protection Products. In addition, 

AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections 

I 031 and 1036 when marketing, selling, or administering the ID Protection Products, as 

described more particularly herein. 

34. AEBFSB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, shall di sclose 

to Card Members during telemarketing solicitations the specific terms and features ofthe ID 

Protection Products. 
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35. AEBFSB shall not charge Card Members for the ID Protection Products until the 

Card Members complete the steps necessary to receive the full benefits of the products. 

Correct Regulation V Violations in Marketing Practices 

36. AEBFSB shal l take all action necessary to make all required disclosures in 

telemarketing sales calls that include offers of a free credit report in compliance with 

Regulation V. In addition, AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future 

compliance with Regulation V when marketing or selling ID Protection Products as described 

more particularly herein. 

37. ff AEBFSB continues to offer ID Protection Products that include a free credit 

report, or offers to Card Members at some time in the future the products or any similar products 

that include a free credit report, AEBFSB shall disclose to card members during telemarketing 

so licitations a di sclosu re consistent with the requirements of Regu lation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022. l 38(b)(7) . 

VII. 

COMPREHENSIVE CREDIT CARD ADD-ON PRODUCT REVIEW 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that AEBFSB take additional affirmative actions as 

fol lows: 

Independent Third Party Review 

38. Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for non-objection the name and qualifications of an independent third party (''Add-On 

Review Consultant") who possesses the appropriate expertise and qualifications to review all 

Cred it Card Add-on Products offered by AEBFSB. At a minimum, the Add-on Review 

Consultant shall: 
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(a) Review and assess all CCAO Products, with the exception of Account 

Protector and JD Protection Products, for compliance with Sections I 031 and 

I 036 and all other applicable Federal consumer financial laws; and 

(b) Provide to the Board a detailed written report containing its analys is, 

assessments, and recommendations, which the Board sha ll rev iew within 60 

days of rece ipt. This rev iew shall be recorded and noted in the Board minutes. 

39. Within 30 days from the rece ipt of non-objection by the Regional Director of the 

selection of the Add-On Review Consultant, the Bank shall develop, in consultation with the 

Add-On Review Consultant, and submit to the Regional Director fo r non-objection, a CCAO 

Product review schedule that shall include, at a minimum: 

(a) A li st grouping all CCAO products to be reviewed with a prioritized review 

schedule; 

(b) The date by which the rev iew will be, or has been, completed fo r each CCAO 

product; and 

(c) The date that the fi nal written reports will be, or have been, completed for a ll 

CCAO products. 

40. AEBFSB shall , within 15 days of the Board' s review of the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report, provide the Regional Director with a copy of the repot1. 

41. If any report prov ided by the Add-On Review Consultant identifies any issues 

regarding compliance with Sections l 031 and I 036 or any other applicable Federal consumer 

financial law, AEBFSB shall : 
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(a) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant's report, submit 

a remediation plan to the Regional Director for non-objection prior to 

implementation; and 

(b) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Rev iew Consultant's report, submit 

to the Regional Director for non-objection an implementation plan for 

corrective measures to address any issues contained in the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report utilizing the Compliance Program and CMS established in 

accordance with the October l , 2012, Consent Order issued by the CFPB, In 

the Matter of AMERJCAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB, SALT LAKE CITY, 

UTAH, Docket Number 20 12-CFPB-0003 (Oct. 1, 20 12) ("October 2012 

Consent Order"). 

42. AEBFSB shall develop and implement a record-keeping system and internal audit 

procedures that are reasonable designed to a llow the CFPB to: 

(a) Review and monitor AEBFSB' s practices relating to the CCAO Products; and 

(b) Confirm that AEBFSB is in compliance with this Order and a ll Federal 

consumer financial laws, including Sections I 031 and I 036. 

VIII. 

ORDER FOR RESTITUTION 

Payment Floor 

43. AEBFSB shall prov ide restitution in an amount not less than $18,600,000, less 

any restitution made by the Bank prior to the Effective Date of this Order that complies with the 

requirements of this Order (" Payment Floor"), for the purpose of providing restitution as 

required by this Section. If AEBFSB claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective 
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Date of this Order that complies with the requ irements ofthis Order, the Bank shall provide 

appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional Director w ithin 30 days of the Effective 

Date. 

44. AEBFSB shall make a ll restitution required by this Order, regard less of whether 

the total of such restitution exceeds the Payment Floor. 

45. Upon completion of al l restitution required by this Order, if the amount of 

restitution made is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days of the Bureau's non-objection to 

the Restitution Report pursuant to Paragraph 65 , AEBFSB is ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the 

form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance with w iring instructions to be provided by counse l for the Bureau, the difference 

between the amount of restitution provided and the Payment Floor. 

46. Any funds paid to the CFPB under Paragraph 45 shall be deposited in the U.S. 

Treasury as di sgorgement. 

47. If the Bank has provided restitution to a Card Member pu rsuant to the order 

issued on December 19, 20 13 by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, then this Order 

shall not be construed as requ iring the Bank to provide a duplicate restitution payment to that 

Card Member. The Bank shall provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional 

Director. 

Restitution Plan for Eligible Consumers 

48. For purposes of thi s resti tuti on, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) Account Protector Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members 

who were subject to the deceptive pricing claims and who did not receive 
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the benefit of the product as the Bank marketed it. Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers fall into one or more of three groups: 

I. Card Members who bought Account Protector through inbound or 

outbound telemarketing ("Telemarketing Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers"); 

2. Card Members who received a benefit payment that was not 

sufficient to meet the minimum payment due in the billing cycle in 

which the payment was received, regardless of the sales channel 

("Min Due Account Protector Eligible Consumers'.); and 

3. Card members who were denied certain benefits because the Card 

Member's life event experienced while enrolled in Account 

Protector began prior to the time of enrollment ("Denied Account 

Protector Eligible Consumers"). 

(b) ID Protection Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members who 

purchased lD Protect and 10 Protect Premium. 

(c) Eligible Consumers are defined as all Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers and ID Protection Eligible Consumers. 

49. Within 90 days after the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit a Restitution Plan 

(the "Restitution Plan"), including samples of letters or other communications sent or to be sent 

to consumers, to the Regional Director for non-objection. 

50. With respect to Account Protector Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall , 

at a minimum, require the Bank to: 
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(a) Refund program fees to Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers as follows: 

I. for those Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers 

who were enrolled in Account Protector for less than twelve 

months, a full refund of all program fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the fees were charged until the 

date of reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card 

Member received during that enrollment; and 

2. for Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers who 

were enrolled in Account Protector for twelve months or more, 

restitution equivalent to twelve months of the Card Member's 

average program fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated 

from the date the fees were charged until the date of 

reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card Member 

received during that enrollment. 

(b) Provide restitution to Min Due Account Protector Elig ible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the difference between the benefit payment the 

Card Member received and an amount equal to at least the minimum 

payment due, any applicable finance charges, late fees, and over-limit 

fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated from the date the finance 

charges and fees were charged until the date of reimbursement. 

Restitution shall include removing any penalty APR triggered as the 
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result of the benefit payment being insufficient to meet the minimum 

payment due. 

(c) Provide restitution to Denied Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the benefit payment amount the Card Member 

wou ld have received (or the minimum due each relevant billing cycle, 

if greater), had the Card Member's benefit request not been denied, for 

the maximum benefit period for each event, including any applicable 

finance charges, late fees, and over-limit fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the finance charges and fees were 

charged until the date of reimbursement. Restitution shall include 

removing any penalty APR triggered as the result of the benefit 

payment being insufficient to meet the minimum payment due. 

5 1. With respect to ID Protection Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at a 

minimum, require the Bank to provide full restitution of fees, including any appl icable finance 

charges and over-limit fees, plus at least 1.3% interest calcu lated from the date fees were charged 

unti I the date of reimbursement. 

52. The Restitution Plan shall provide for processes covering al l Elig ible Consumers 

regardless of their current account status with the Bank, including open accounts, closed 

accounts with and without a balance, and charged-off accounts. The process shall include the 

following requirements: 

(a) For any open cred it card account (including inactive accounts), the Bank shall 

deliver a statement cred it to the account and/or otherwise send a check; 
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(b) For any closed credit card account, the Bank shall decrease the account balance 

(if any) by the amount of the redress, and where the redress is greater than the 

existing account balance, mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(c) For any charged-off account, the Bank shall decrease the charged-off balance by 

the amount of redress, and where the refund is greater than the ex isting charged

off balance, the Bank shall mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(d) If the account holder is deceased, and the balance is greater than the refund, the 

Bank shall provide a statement credit to the account, and otherwise a refund 

check for the remaining refund shall be sent in accordance with appl icable law; 

and 

(e) With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and sold charged

off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in accordance with applicable law. 

53. Within 180 days of receipt of non-objection from the Regional Director. the Bank 

shall implement the Restitution Plan. Restitution provided by the Bank shall not limit 

consumers· rights in any way. 

54. The Bank shall retain for seven years all records pertaining to the Restitution 

Plan, including but not limited to: documentation of the processes and procedures used to 

determine the Eligible Consumers; the names, contact, and account information of the Eligible 

Consumers; any mailing records; and documentation that the appropriate restitution and 

equitable relief were made. 
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Review of Restitution Plan 

55. Prior to submission to the Regional Director, the Restitution Plan shall be 

reviewed by the Compliance Program Consultant retained pursuant to paragraph 16 of the 

October 2012 Consent Order or another independent third party capable of conducting this 

review that is acceptable to the Regional Director. 

Mailing Refunds 

56. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review a plan for mailing refunds, including the proposed text of letters or other 

communications that have been sent or shall be sent to Eligible Consumers regarding restitution 

checks or account credits. For letters sent on or after the Effective Date of the Order, the letters 

shall include satisfactory language explaining the reason AEBFSB is sending a restitution check 

or crediting an account, including that AEBFSB is sending the check or crediting an account as 

the result of an enforcement action by the CFPB. Any letters or other communications sent after 

the Effective Date of this Order shall also include reference to and the web address for any CFPB 

press releases related to this Order. AEBFSB shall then address any comments ofthe Regional 

Director, making such changes as may be required to the proposed letters. The letters, 

incorporating any changes that may be required in response to comments by the Regional 

Director, shall be sent by mail to all Eligible Consumers entitled to receive restitution checks 

and/or credits to their accounts in accordance with this Order. 

57. When AEBFSB makes cash restitution by check made payable to any consumer 

receiving restitution under this Order ("Eligible Consumer"), AEBFSB shall send the check by 

United States Postal Service first-class mail , address correction service requested, to the Eligible 

Consumer's last address as maintained by AEBFSB's records. AEBFSB shall make reasonable 
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a ttempts to obtain a current address for any Eli gible Consumer whose notification letter and/or 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using standard address sea rch methodo logies, and 

sha ll promptl y re-mail all returned letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if any. If 

the check for any eligible consumer is returned to AEBFSB after such second mailing by 

AEBFSB, or if a current mailing address cannot be identified using standard address search 

methodo logies, AEBFSB shall retain the restitutio n amount of such Elig ible Consumer fo r a 

period o f three-hundred sixty (360) days from the date the restituti on check was o rig ina lly 

ma iled, during which period such amount may be c la imed by such Eli gible Consumer upon 

appropriate proof of identity. After such time these monies shall be disposed of in accordance 

with the Restitution Plan. 

Engagement of Independent Accounting Firm 

58. AEBFSB shall utilize, at its own expense, the serv ices of the independent certifi ed 

accounting firm ("F irm") reta ined as part of the October 201 2 Consent Order, or within 15 days 

after the Regional Director' s non-objection pursuant to Paragraph 59, reta in, at its own expense, 

a d ifferent Firm acceptable to the Regional Director to determine compliance w ith the 

Restitut ion Plans. The Firm shall determine compliance in accordance with the attestati on 

standards established by the American Institute of Ce1tified Public Accountants fo r agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

59. [f AEBFSB elects to engage a diffe rent Firm, prior to engagement, and no later 

than 60 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB sha ll submit the name and qua lificatio ns of the 

Firm, together w ith the proposed engagement letter w ith the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon 

procedures, to the Regional Director for no n-objection. If AEBFSB intends to utilize the 

se rvices of the F irm reta ined pursuant to the October 20 12 Consent Order, no later than 60 days 
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from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit notification of that intent, together with the 

proposed engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to the 

Regional Director for non-objection. 

60. The engagement letter between AEBFSB and the Firm shall grant the CFPB 

access to the Firm's staff, work-papers, and materials prepared in the course of the Firm's 

engagement and preparation of the reports required by this Order. 

61. If AEBFSB elects to engage a different Firm, to be acceptable to the Regional 

Director, the Firm must be an objective and unaffiliated third party and, at a minimum, comply 

with the Code of Conduct of the appropriate State Board of Accountancy. 

62. Within 15 days after submission of the Firm's name, the Regional Director shall 

notify AEBFSB in writing of the CFPB 's objection or non-objection thereto. 

63. The Firm shall submit the Restitution Report called for in Paragraph 65 to the 

Regional Director for non-objection within 90 days after the Bank completes implementation of 

the Restitution Plan. 

Report on Restitution 

64. The Firm shall review and verify that the Bank accurately identified the Eligible 

Consumers, calculated restitution correctly, and made the appropriate account credits or cash 

refunds to Eligible Consumers. 

65. The Firm shall prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of AEBFSB's 

campi iance with the Restitution Plan ("Restitution Report"). The Restitution Report shall also 

include the follow ing: 

(a) The processes and procedures by which AEBFSB determined the restitution 

amounts described in Paragraphs 50- 51; 
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(b) The total number of each such class of E ligi ble Consumers; 

(c) The total amount of restitution made to each such class of Eligi ble Consumers 

under the Restitution Plan; and 

(d) The total amount of interest paid . 

IX. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

66. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the violations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section V of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AEBFSB shall pay civ il 

money penalties of$2,000,000 to the CFPB, in accordance with section 101 7(d) ofthe CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth herein. 

67. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, AEBFSB shall pay the civil money penalty 

in the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 

68. T he civ il money penalty paid pursuant to thi s Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance with section I 017(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

69. In the event of any default on A EBFSB's obligation to make payment under thi s 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amo unts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediate ly become due and payable. 

70. AEBFSB shall re linquish a ll dominion, control, and title to the fu nds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AEBFSB. 
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71. AEBFSB shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government 

for all purposes. Regardless of how the CFPB ultimately uses those funds, AEBFSB shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that AEBFSB pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that AEBFSB pays 

pursuant to this Order. 

X. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

72. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter fo llowing the Effective 

Date, AEBFSB shall provide a written progress report address ing each provision of this Order 

and detailing the form , manner, results and dates of any actions taken to secure compliance w ith 

the prov isions of this Order to the Regional Director. A ll progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order shall be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports shall be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of compliance 

signed by the Chairman of the Board and the Bank President. The certification of compliance 

shall include the following: 

(a) A statement confirming that AEBFSB is in compliance with all provisions of 

this Order; or 

(b) If AEBFSB is not in compliance w ith a ll provisions ofthis Order, AEBFSB 

must prov ide: 
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1. A list of the provisions with which AEBFSB is not yet in compliance, 

an explanation of why AEBFSB is not yet in compliance with each 

specific provision, and a description of the actions AEBFSB has taken 

to comply with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AEBFSB wi ll be in fu ll compliance with th is 

Order. 

XI. 

NOTICES 

73. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, a ll submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to this Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Postal Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director, CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94 105 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and sha ll begin: In re American Express Bank, 

FSB. 

74. Prov ided however that AEBFSB may send such reports or notifications by first-

c lass mail, but on ly if AEBFSB contemporaneously sends an e lectronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XII. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 
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75. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

XIII. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

76. Except as set forth in Paragraph 80, the provisions of this Order shall not bar, 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or depattment from 

taking any other action against AEBFSB. 

77. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

78. T his Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

79. Calculation of time limitations for compliance with the terms ofthis Order sha ll 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

80. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Findings and 

Conclusions set forth in thi s Order. The CFPB releases and discharges the Bank from all 

potential liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and des ist or other order or 

c iv il money penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on AEBFSB's 

conduct, as described in the CFPB Findings and Conclusions, to the extent such conduct was 

known to the CFPB as of the Effecti ve Date. Notwithstanding the forego ing, the practices 

alleged in thi s Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank 
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and its affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude 

or affect any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and 

provisions of this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

81. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AEBFSB, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

82. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

83. Any violation of this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

84. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

Issued thi& 'tf"ay of Oe.ce.,Ae.t '2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMTNISTRA TIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 20 13-CFPB- 0013 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL 
RELATED SERVICES COMPANY, INC. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_______________________________) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

American Express Centurion Bank ("'AECB") and American Express Bank, FSB ("AEBFSB") 

and the role of Respondent American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. 

("AETRS") relating to certain credit card add-on products and has identified violations of law. 

Under Sections 1053 and 1055 ofthe Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFP Act"), 

the CFPB hereby issues, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("'Order"'). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. T he CFPB finds that AETRS has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and I 036 

of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 and 5536 ("Sections 1031 and 1 036"), as a service provider 

to its subsidiary banks, AECB and AEBFSB, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices related 

to certain credit card add-on products, and vio lations of Regulation V, 12 C.F .R. 

§ I 022. 138(b)(7), for fai ling to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit reports. 
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II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AETRS has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order .. (" Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, AETRS has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of findings of fact or violations of law, except that AETRS admits the CFPB's jurisdiction over 

AETRS and the subject matter of thi s action. 

IV. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

4. AETRS is a company headquartered in New York and is the parent company of 

subsidiary banks AECB and AEBFSB. 

5. AETRS acts as a service provider to American Express banking subsidiaries 

AECB and AEBFSB. 

6. AETRS is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S. C. § 548 1 (6). 

7. AETRS marketed, processed, and serv iced certain credit card add-on products for 

the card portfolios at AECB and AEBFSB. AETRS al so provided compliance, audit, and 

information technology support to AECB and AEBFSB. 
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8. The CFPB found certain credit card add-on product marketing practices to be in 

violation of Sections 1 031 and 1036 in the Consent Order issued by the CFPB to AECB on 

December 24, 2013 No. 20 13-CFPB-00 II ("AECB Consent Order") and the Consent Order 

issued by the CFPB to AEBFSB on December 24, 2013 No. 20 13-CFPB-00 12 ("AEBFSB 

Consent Order"). 

9. As a service provider with respect to the deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

described in the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order, AETRS violated 

Sections 1031 and 1036. 

V. 

CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AETRS and its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist from engaging in violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 in 

connection with its activities as a service provider in AECB and AEBFSB 's marketing or sales 

of the credit card add-ons that are the subject of the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB 

Consent Order, and it is further ordered that AETRS take affirmative actions as of the date of 

issuance of the Order ("Effective Date"), unless otherwise specified, as follows: 

10. AETRS shall correct all v iolations of Sections 1031 and 1036 and Regulation V 

in connection with its activities as a serv ice provider in AECB's and AEBFSB's marketing, 

sales, and administration of the credit card add-ons that are the subject of the AECB Consent 

Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order, and shall implement procedures to prevent their 

recurrence. AETRS 's actions as required by this paragraph shall be satisfactory to the Regional 

Director for the West Region for the Office of Supervision for the CFPB ("Regional Director'") 

as determined at subsequent examinations and/or visitations. 

Page 3 of 8 

2013-CFPB-0013     Document 1     Filed 12/24/2013     Page 3 of 8



11. AETRS sha ll not take any actions which interfere with AECB or AEBFSB taking 

all action necessary to comply with the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order. 

12. AETRS shall take all action necessary to eliminate its violations of Sections 103 1 

and I 036 in connection w ith the marketing, sales, and administration of Account Protector, 10 

Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from engaging in violations of Regulation V in 

connection with the marketing, sales, and administration of 10 Protection Products. AETRS 

shall take appropriate steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 and 

I 036 in connection with the marketing, sales, and administration of Account Protector, 10 

Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from engaging in vio latio ns of Regulation: V in 

connection w ith the marketing, sales, and administration of 10 Protection Products. 

VI. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

13. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the vio lations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section IV of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AETRS sha ll pay c ivil money 

penalties of $4,000,000 to the CFPB, in accordance w ith section I 017(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth here in. 

14. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, AETRS sha ll pay the c ivil money penalty in 

the form of a w ire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance w ith wiring instructions to be provided by counsel fo r the CFPB. 

15. The c iv il money penalty paid pursuant to this Order sha ll be deposited in the Civ il 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance w ith section I 0 17( d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d) . 
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16. In the event of any default on AETRS's obligation to make payment under this 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1961 , as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediate ly become due and payable. 

17. AETRS shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AETRS. 

18. AETRS shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for 

all purposes. Regardless of how the C FPB ultimately uses those funds, AETRS sha ll not: 

a. C laim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal , 

state, or local tax for any c ivil money penalty that AECB pays pursuant to this 

Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnifi cation from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance 

policy, w ith regard to any c iv il money penalty that AECB pays pursuant to this 

Order. 

VII. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

19. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter following the Effective 

Date, AETRS sha ll provide a written progress report address ing each provision of this Order and 

detailing the form , manner, results and dates of any acti ons taken to secure compliance w ith the 

prov isions of thi s Order to the Reg ional Director. All progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order sha ll be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports sha ll be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of com pi iance 
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signed by the Chairman ofthe Board and the President. The certification of compliance shall 

include the fo llowing: 

a. A statement confirming that AETRS is in compliance with all provisions of the 

Order; or 

b. If AETRS is not in compliance with all provisions of the Order, AETRS must 

provide: 

1. A list of the provisions with which AETRS is not yet in compliance. 

an explanation of why AETRS is not yet in compliance with each 

specific provision, and a description of the actions AETRS has taken 

to comply with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AETRS will be in fu ll compliance with the 

Order. 

VIII. 

NOTICES 

20. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, all submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to thi s Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Posta I Service), as fo I lows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director. CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco. CA 941 05 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and shall begin: In re American Express 

Travel Related Services, Inc. 
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2 1. Provided however that AETRS may send such reports or notifications by first-

class mail, but only if AETRS contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

IX. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

22. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 

(e.g .. reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

X. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

23. Except as set forth in Paragraph 27, the provisions of thi s Order shall not bar. 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or department from 

taking any other action against AETRS. 

24. This Order is intended to be. and shall be construed to be. a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

25. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

26. Calculation of time limitations for compliance with the terms of thi s Order shall 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

27. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against 

AETRS contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Findings and 

Conclusions set forth in thi s Order. The CFPB releases and discharges AETRS from all potentia l 
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liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or civil money 

penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on AETRS's conduct, as 

described in the CFPB Findings and Conclusions, to the extent such conduct was known to the 

CFPB as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices alleged in this 

Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against AETRS and its 

affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice 

ofviolations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect 

any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of this 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

28. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AETRS, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

29. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

30. Any violation ofthis Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civi l money penalties allowed under section l055(c) ofthe CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

31. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

Issued this ,~~'bay of 04U'1'&r , 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMTNISTRA TIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 20 13-CFPB- 0013 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL 
RELATED SERVICES COMPANY, INC. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_______________________________) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

American Express Centurion Bank ("'AECB") and American Express Bank, FSB ("AEBFSB") 

and the role of Respondent American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. 

("AETRS") relating to certain credit card add-on products and has identified violations of law. 

Under Sections 1053 and 1055 ofthe Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFP Act"), 

the CFPB hereby issues, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("'Order"'). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. T he CFPB finds that AETRS has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and I 036 

of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 and 5536 ("Sections 1031 and 1 036"), as a service provider 

to its subsidiary banks, AECB and AEBFSB, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices related 

to certain credit card add-on products, and vio lations of Regulation V, 12 C.F .R. 

§ I 022. 138(b)(7), for fai ling to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit reports. 
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II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AETRS has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order .. (" Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, AETRS has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of findings of fact or violations of law, except that AETRS admits the CFPB's jurisdiction over 

AETRS and the subject matter of thi s action. 

IV. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

4. AETRS is a company headquartered in New York and is the parent company of 

subsidiary banks AECB and AEBFSB. 

5. AETRS acts as a service provider to American Express banking subsidiaries 

AECB and AEBFSB. 

6. AETRS is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S. C. § 548 1 (6). 

7. AETRS marketed, processed, and serv iced certain credit card add-on products for 

the card portfolios at AECB and AEBFSB. AETRS al so provided compliance, audit, and 

information technology support to AECB and AEBFSB. 
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8. The CFPB found certain credit card add-on product marketing practices to be in 

violation of Sections 1 031 and 1036 in the Consent Order issued by the CFPB to AECB on 

December 24, 2013 No. 20 13-CFPB-00 II ("AECB Consent Order") and the Consent Order 

issued by the CFPB to AEBFSB on December 24, 2013 No. 20 13-CFPB-00 12 ("AEBFSB 

Consent Order"). 

9. As a service provider with respect to the deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

described in the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order, AETRS violated 

Sections 1031 and 1036. 

V. 

CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AETRS and its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist from engaging in violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 in 

connection with its activities as a service provider in AECB and AEBFSB 's marketing or sales 

of the credit card add-ons that are the subject of the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB 

Consent Order, and it is further ordered that AETRS take affirmative actions as of the date of 

issuance of the Order ("Effective Date"), unless otherwise specified, as follows: 

10. AETRS shall correct all v iolations of Sections 1031 and 1036 and Regulation V 

in connection with its activities as a serv ice provider in AECB's and AEBFSB's marketing, 

sales, and administration of the credit card add-ons that are the subject of the AECB Consent 

Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order, and shall implement procedures to prevent their 

recurrence. AETRS 's actions as required by this paragraph shall be satisfactory to the Regional 

Director for the West Region for the Office of Supervision for the CFPB ("Regional Director'") 

as determined at subsequent examinations and/or visitations. 
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11. AETRS sha ll not take any actions which interfere with AECB or AEBFSB taking 

all action necessary to comply with the AECB Consent Order and the AEBFSB Consent Order. 

12. AETRS shall take all action necessary to eliminate its violations of Sections 103 1 

and I 036 in connection w ith the marketing, sales, and administration of Account Protector, 10 

Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from engaging in violations of Regulation V in 

connection with the marketing, sales, and administration of 10 Protection Products. AETRS 

shall take appropriate steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 and 

I 036 in connection with the marketing, sales, and administration of Account Protector, 10 

Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from engaging in vio latio ns of Regulation: V in 

connection w ith the marketing, sales, and administration of 10 Protection Products. 

VI. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

13. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the vio lations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section IV of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AETRS sha ll pay c ivil money 

penalties of $4,000,000 to the CFPB, in accordance w ith section I 017(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth here in. 

14. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, AETRS sha ll pay the c ivil money penalty in 

the form of a w ire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance w ith wiring instructions to be provided by counsel fo r the CFPB. 

15. The c iv il money penalty paid pursuant to this Order sha ll be deposited in the Civ il 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance w ith section I 0 17( d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d) . 
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16. In the event of any default on AETRS's obligation to make payment under this 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1961 , as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediate ly become due and payable. 

17. AETRS shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AETRS. 

18. AETRS shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for 

all purposes. Regardless of how the C FPB ultimately uses those funds, AETRS sha ll not: 

a. C laim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal , 

state, or local tax for any c ivil money penalty that AECB pays pursuant to this 

Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnifi cation from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance 

policy, w ith regard to any c iv il money penalty that AECB pays pursuant to this 

Order. 

VII. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

19. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter following the Effective 

Date, AETRS sha ll provide a written progress report address ing each provision of this Order and 

detailing the form , manner, results and dates of any acti ons taken to secure compliance w ith the 

prov isions of thi s Order to the Reg ional Director. All progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order sha ll be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports sha ll be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of com pi iance 
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signed by the Chairman ofthe Board and the President. The certification of compliance shall 

include the fo llowing: 

a. A statement confirming that AETRS is in compliance with all provisions of the 

Order; or 

b. If AETRS is not in compliance with all provisions of the Order, AETRS must 

provide: 

1. A list of the provisions with which AETRS is not yet in compliance. 

an explanation of why AETRS is not yet in compliance with each 

specific provision, and a description of the actions AETRS has taken 

to comply with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AETRS will be in fu ll compliance with the 

Order. 

VIII. 

NOTICES 

20. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, all submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to thi s Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Posta I Service), as fo I lows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director. CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco. CA 941 05 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and shall begin: In re American Express 

Travel Related Services, Inc. 

Page 6 of8 

2013-CFPB-0013     Document 1     Filed 12/24/2013     Page 6 of 8



2 1. Provided however that AETRS may send such reports or notifications by first-

class mail, but only if AETRS contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

IX. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

22. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 

(e.g .. reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

X. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

23. Except as set forth in Paragraph 27, the provisions of thi s Order shall not bar. 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or department from 

taking any other action against AETRS. 

24. This Order is intended to be. and shall be construed to be. a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

25. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

26. Calculation of time limitations for compliance with the terms of thi s Order shall 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

27. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against 

AETRS contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Findings and 

Conclusions set forth in thi s Order. The CFPB releases and discharges AETRS from all potentia l 
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liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or civil money 

penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on AETRS's conduct, as 

described in the CFPB Findings and Conclusions, to the extent such conduct was known to the 

CFPB as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices alleged in this 

Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against AETRS and its 

affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice 

ofviolations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect 

any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of this 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

28. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AETRS, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

29. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

30. Any violation ofthis Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civi l money penalties allowed under section l055(c) ofthe CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

31. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

Issued this ,~~'bay of 04U'1'&r , 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2013-CFPB-0011 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS CENTURION BANK 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

Respondent American Express Centurion Bank ("AECB" or "the Bank") relating to certain 

credit card add-on products and has identified violations of law. Under sections I 053 and 1055 

ofthe Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFP Act"), the CFPB hereby issues, 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that AECB has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and I 036 

of the CFP Act, 12 U.S .C. §§ 5531 and 5536, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

related to certain credit card add-on products, and violations of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1 022.138(b)(7), for failing to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit repo1is. 

II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over th is matter pursuant to sections 1053 and I 055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AECB has executed a ''Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order'' ("'Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By thi s 

Stipulation, AECB has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to secti ons 

I 053 and I 055 of the CFP Act, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denyi ng any 

of findings of fact or vio lations of law, except that AECB admits the CFPB's jurisdict io n over 

AECB and the subject matter of this action. 

IV. 

DEFINITIONS 

4. For purposes of thi s Order, the fo llowing definitions sha ll apply: 

(a) "Account Protector" shall mean the Account Protector program, a debt 

cancellation credit card add-on product that AECB marketed and sold to Card 

Members from 2004 - July 20 12 that allowed Card Members to request 

benefit payments toward their minimum balances following certa in life 

events, includ ing but not limited to unemployment, disabi lity, and other 

events. 

(b) " Board" sha ll mean AECB's duly e lected and acting Board of Directors . 

.(c) "Card" shall mean any consumer charge card or credit card issued by AECB. 

(d) "Card Member' ' sha ll mean any consumer who has applied o r applies for, and 

received or rece ives an AECB consumer charge card or credit card. 

(e) ·'Credit Card Add-on Products'' or '·CCAO Products·· sha ll mean any fee

based or no-charge products or services AECB markets o r offers to Card 
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Members as an add-on to a Card and that are supplementary to the credit 

provided by the Card, including but not limited to Account Protector, ID 

Protection Products, and Lost Wallet Protector. 

(f) "Effective Date" sha ll mean the date on which this Order is issued. 

(g) " ID Protection Products" shall mean "'ID Protect" and "ID Protect Premium," 

that AECB marketed or so ld to Card Members from November 2009 until 

June 2012, and shall include Single Identity- the predecessor to ID Protect 

that provided consumers with reports, updates or monitoring of information 

appearing onl ine and information reported to a credit reporting agency. The 

ID Protection Premium also provided access to a one-time triple-bureau credit 

report and triple-bureau credit monitoring. 

(h) "Lost Wallet Protector" shall mean the Lost Wallet Protector product 

marketed or sold to Card Members since November 20 II , and shall include 

Credit Card Registry- the predecessor to Lost Wallet Protector that was 

marketed or so ld to Card Members prior to November 20 I I - which provided 

ass istance to Card Members in replacing lost or stolen credit cards, passports, 

mobile phones and in making emergency notifications. 

(i) ''Lost Wallet PR" shall mean the Lost Wallet Protector product AECB 

marketed or so ld to Card Members in Puerto Rico unti I September 2012. 

G) "Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

(k) "'Sections I 031 and I 036"' shall mean sections I 031 and I 036 of the CFP Act, 

12 U .S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 
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(l) "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in 

section 1002(26) ofthe CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

V. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

5. AECB is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $1 0 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. With respect to the marketing of Account Protector, 10 Protection Products, and 

Lost Wallet PR, AECB's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality 

assurance resulted in ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or correct certain 

improper practices. 

Account Protector 

8. AECB marketed Account Protector as a means for a Card Member to pay the 

minimum payment due on the Card Member's account following certain life events. 

9. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector paid a monthly fee of 0.85 percent 

of the Card Member's balance as of the statement closing date. 

10. The Account Protector benefit payment amount was the lesser of $500 or 2.5% of 

the Card Member's account balance as of the date of the qualifying event. A given benefit 

payment could be less than a Card Member' s minimum monthly payment, requiring the Card 

Member to pay any difference between the benefit payment and minimum payment. For a 

s ignificant percentage of Card Members enrolled in Account Protector who received benefits, the 

benefit payment did not always cover the minimum payment due on the Card Member's account. 
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II. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector who submitted a benefit claim that 

was approved received a payment toward the Card Member's minimum payment due each 

month for the duration of the benefit period. Benefit periods varied based on the nature of the 

qualifying event: 

a. Card Members with approved claims for hospitalization or starting college 

received the benefit payment for one month; 

b. Card Members with approved claims for marriage, birth or adoption of 

children, home purchase, call to active military duty, relocation, loss of 

spouse, or divorce received the benefit payment each month for two months; 

c. Card Members with approved claims for a leave of absence from their place 

of employment received the benefit payment each month for up to three 

months; and 

d. Card Members with approved claims for involuntary unemployment or 

disability rece ived the benefit payment each month for up to 24 months. 

12. A Card Member who was unemployed or disabled at the time of enro llment was 

not eligible for a benefit payment due to unemployment or disabi lity existing at the time of 

enrol lment. 

13. With respect to Account Protector, the improper outbound telemarketing practices 

included, but were not limited to, the following examples: 

(a) Representing that the benefit payment amount would cover the Card 

Member's minimum payment due when, in fact, the benefit payment wou ld be 

2.5% of a Card Member's outstanding balance on the date ofthe qualify ing 

event, up to $500 which frequently did not equal the minimum payment due; 
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(b) Implying that benefits would last up to 24 months when, in fact, only two of 

the thirteen qualifying events with a benefit period covered by Account 

Protector included benefit periods of 24 months, and the other eleven 

qualifying events had benefit periods of only one, two, or three months; 

(c) Representing that there wou ld be no fee if the balance in the account was paid 

off, w ithout disclosing that the account balance had to be paid off before the 

end of the billing cycle, a date that always preceded the statement due date; 

(d) Disclosing on telemarketing calls that there wou ld be no fee for balances 

under $ 100 when, in fact, the fee for Account Protector is 0.85 percent of the 

Card Member's balance; 

(e) Failing to disclose near the outset of the call that Account Protector was 

optional and not required for the Card Member to activate or use the Card 

Member's account; 

(f) Representing that Account Protector wou ld improve or maintain a Card 

Member' s credit score; and 

(g) Implying that benefits wou ld be immediately available when there was a 

claims process that had to be completed before any benefits were paid. 

14. Section 1 036(a)(l )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( l)(B). 

15. Statements and omissions by AECB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer's choice or 

conduct regarding Account Protector and are like ly to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 
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16. AECB's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of 

sections I 031 (a) and I 036(a)( l )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 (a), 5536(a)( I )(B). These 

vio lations affected over 83,000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 15.1 million in fees and 

over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

17. Therefore, by reaso n of the foregoing, AECB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of section I 036(a)(l)(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

ID Protection Products 

18. AECB marketed the ID Protection Products as protection against identity theft for 

Card Members. AECB, in its offering for sale and sale of ID Protection Premium represented 

that in exchange for a monthly fee, AECB, through its Service Providers, wou ld provide features 

that included a service to monitor Card Members' credit information. 

19. The ID Protection Products had a two-step enrollment process. Fol lowing 

enrol lment, an enrol led Card Member was sent a welcome kit that included add itional 

in formation concerning the ID Protection Products. Included in the welcome kit was the first 

notice that additional information was required to fully-activate credit monitoring and public 

records monitoring benefits. Until a Card Member submitted the add itional information to 

AECB, the Card Member would not receive the full benefit ofiD Protection Products. 

20. AECB did not inform Card Members during the telemarketing or enrollment 

processes that enrollment was a two-step process. AECB billed Card Members the full amount 

for I D Protection Products whether or not the Card Member completed the second step. 
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21. Approximately 85 percent of Card Members who enro lled in the ID Protection 

Products did not complete the second step of the two-step process and paid the fu ll product fee 

without receiving all of the advertised benefits. 

22. With respect to the 10 Protection Products, the improper practices included, but 

were not limited to, the fo llowing examples: 

(a) Us ing a two-step enro llment process in whi ch Card Members enro lled in ID 

Protection Products and were billed upon enro llment, but in wh ich AECB 

failed to inform Card Members that they wou ld not receive the fu ll benefit of 

the ID Protection Products until they provided additional informat ion to 

AECB; and 

(b) In some cases, failing to provide the mandatory disc losure under Regu lation V 

regarding free credit reports to some Card Members. 

23. Section 1036(a)( l)(B) of the CFP Act prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(I)(B). 

24. AECB's acceptance of month ly payments whi le failing to provide c redit 

mo nitoring services has resulted in substantial injury to over 77,000 Card Members in the 

amount of at least $ 11.3 million in fees and over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any 

counterva iling benefit to the consumers o r to competition. 

25. Therefore, by reason of the foregoing billing practices fo r its I D Protection 

Products as set forth in the preceding paragraphs, AECB, through its Serv ice Prov iders, engaged 

in unfair acts and practices in violation of section I 036(a)( I )(B). 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( I )(B). 
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26. When telemarketing sales calls are made that include offers of free credit reports, 

Regulation V requires that the call include at the first mention of a free credit report the 

fo llowing disclosure: "The following noti ce is required by law. You have the rig ht to a free 

c redit report from AnnuaiCreditReport.com or (877) 322-8228, the only authorized source under 

Federal law." 12 C.F.R. § 1022.1 38(b)(7). 

27. In some so licitati ons, AECB's outbound telemarketing enrollments in certain lD 

Protection Products offered a complimentary "tria l period" of 30 days before the Card Member 

incurred product fees. AECB did not make the required disc losure under Regulation V in certain 

calls. 

28. Therefore, by reason ofthe foregoing sales practices, AECB vio lated Regulation 

V and the Fair Credit Rep011ing Act. 12 C.F.R. § I 022. I 38(b)(7). 

Lost Wallet PR 

29. AECB marketed Lost Wallet PR as a tool to ass ist Card Members in Puerto Rico 

with cancelling and rep lac ing lost or stolen credit cards, inc luding non-American Express cards; 

providing key and wallet return; suspending mobile phone services; providing emergency 

contact serv ices; and providing assistance in replacing passports. 

30. N inety-seven percent of Card Members enrolled in Lost Wallet PR enro lled via 

telemarketing call s conducted in Spanish. Customer serv ice representatives used Eng li sh 

te lemarketing scripts and translated the scripts into Spanish for the enro llment calls. AECB did 

not provide uniform approved Spanish language scripts for these enro llment calls. In addition, 

a ll written mate rials provided to Card Members by AECB related to Lost Wallet PR were 

provided in Eng lish. 
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31. As a result of these sales practices, some Card members I ikely did not understand 

how to access a ll benefits of the product or how to register additional credit or charge cards held 

by the Card Member and other items, such as passports, after enrollment. 

32. Only 40 percent of Card Members enrolled in Lost Wallet PR registered any item 

beyond the Card Member's AECB Card, which was automatically registered at the time of 

enrollment. 

33. With respect to Lost Wallet PR, the improper sales practices included, but were 

not limited to, failing to ensure that Card Members enro lled via telemarketing calls conducted in 

Spanish understood the terms of the product. 

34. Section 1036(a)(I)(B) of the CFP Act prohibits ''unfair, deceptive, or abusive'' 

acts or practices. 12 U .S.C. § 5536(a)(1 )(B). 

35. Statements and omissions by AECB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer's choice or 

conduct regarding Lost Wallet PR and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under 

the circumstances. 

36. AECB's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections I 031 (a) and 1 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 (a), 5536(a)( I )(B). These 

violations affected over 79,000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 12.4 million in fees and 

over- limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

37. Therefore. by reason of the foregoing. AECB, through its Serv ice Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of section 1 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

VI. 
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CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AECB, its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist, and that AECB manage its business relationshi ps with Service 

Providers in a manner that ensures that its Service Providers immediate ly cease and des ist from 

engag ing in vio lations of Sections I 03 1 and I 036 in connection with the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of Account Protector, ID Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from 

engaging in violations of Regulation V in connection with the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of I D Protection Products, and it is fut1her ordered that AECB take affirmative 

actions as of the Effective Date, unless otherwise specified , as fo llows: 

38. AECB shall correct all violations of law, as described herein, and shall implement 

procedures to prevent their recurrence. AECB's actions as required by this paragraph shall be 

satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at subsequent examinations and/or 

visitations. 

39. AECB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, sha ll cease and 

desist from any marketing or solicitation of Account Protector, lD Protection Products, or Lost 

Wallet PR until it has submitted a compliance plan, specifically designed to eliminate all 

vio lations of Sections I 03 1 and I 036 and Regulation V in the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of these products to the Regional Director for non-objection (the ·'Compliance 

Plan"). This Compliance Plan shall be designed to comply with all provisions of thi s Order. 

Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall confirm with the Regional Director that it 

has withdrawn or suspended any marketing or soli citation of Account Protector, ID Protection 

Products, and Lost Wallet PR. 
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Correct Deceptive Marketing of Account Protector 

40. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate a ll deceptive acts and practices 

in vio lation of Sections 103 1 and l 036 with respect to Account Protector. In addition, AECB 

shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections l 03 1 and 

1036 when marketing or selling Account Protector, as described more part icularly herein. 

41. AECB, its Service Providers, or its representati ves shall not make, or allow to be 

made, any deceptive representations, or allow to be made, any deceptive representatio ns, 

statements, or omissions, expressly or by implication, in the marketing materia ls, telemarketing 

scripts and/or sales presentations used to solicit any Card Member or prospective Card Member 

to enrol l in Account Protector, including but not limited to misrepresentations as to the 

following: 

(a) Any and a ll fees, costs, expenses and charges associated with Account 

Protector; 

(b) That Account Protector is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card; 

(c) Tha t Account Protector wi ll improve or maintain a Card Member' s cred it 

score; 

(d) That Account Protector w ill cover a Card Member's minimum balance; 

(e) The timing of and mechani sm for calculating a Card Member' s benefit 

amount avail able when the Card Member uses Account Protector; 

(f) Payment terms for Account Protector, including the date AECB w ill use to 

calculate any fee incurred for Account Protector; 
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(g) The length of the benefit period, including that most qualifying events carry a 

benefit period of one, two, or three months; and 

(h) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Account 

Protector. 

Correct Unfair Practices Relating to ID Protection Products 

42. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate a ll unfair acts and practices in 

v iolation of Sections I 031 and I 036 w ith respect to the I D Protection Products. In addition, 

AECB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 

and I 036 when marketing, se lling, or administering the ID Protection Products, as described 

more particularly herein. 

43. AECB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, shall disclose to 

Card Members during telemarketing solicitations the specific terms and features of the 10 

Protection Products. 

44. AECB shall not charge Card Members for the ID Protection Products until the 

Card Members complete the steps necessary to receive the full benefits of the products. 

Correct Regulation V Violations in Marketing Practices 

45. AECB shall take a ll action necessary to make a ll required disclosures in 

telemarketing sales call s that include offers of a free credit report in compliance with 

Regu lation V. In add ition, AECB shall take a ll necessary steps to effect and maintain future 

compliance with Regulation V when marketing or selling ID Protection Products as described 

more particu larly herein. 

46 . lf AECB continues to offer ID Protection Products that include a free credit 

report, or offers to Card Members at some time in the future the products or any similar products 
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that include a free credit rep01t. AECB shall disclose to card members during telemarketing 

so licitations a disclosure consistent with the requirements of Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022. 138(b)(7). 

Correct Deceptive Marketing of Lost Wallet PR 

47. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all decepti ve acts and practices 

in violation of Sections I 031 and I 036 with respect to Lost Wallet PR. In add ition, AECB shall 

take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 and I 036 

when marketing or selling the Lost Wallet PR, as described more particularly herein. 

48. AECB, its Service Providers, or its representatives shall not make, or allow to be 

made, any deceptive representations, statements, or omissions, expressly or by imp! ication, in the 

marketing materials, telemarketing scripts and/or sa les presentations used to solicit any Card 

Member or prospective Card Member to enroll in Lost Wallet PR, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations or omiss ions as to the fo llowing: 

(a) That Lost Wallet PR is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card, 

(b) Any steps the Card Member must take fo llowing enrollment to obtain Lost 

Wallet PR benefits, and 

(c) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Lost Wallet PR. 
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VII. 

COMPREHENSIVE CREDIT CARD ADD-ON PRODUCT REVIEW 

IT IS FU RTHER ORDERED that AECB take additional affirmati ve actions as follows: 

Independent Third Party Review 

49. Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for non-objection the name and qualifi cations of an independent third party (''Add-On 

Review Consultant") who possesses the appropriate experti se and qualifi cations to review a ll 

Credit Card Add-on Products offered by AECB. At a minimum, the Add-on Review Consultant 

shall : 

(a) Review and assess all CCAO Products. with the exception of Account 

Protector, ID Protection Products, and Lost Wallet PR, for compliance with 

Sections 1031 and I 036 and all other applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws; and 

(b) Provide to the Board a detailed wri tten report containing its analys is, 

assessments, and recommendations, which the Board shall review within 60 

days of receipt. This review shall be recorded and noted in the Board minutes. 

50. Within 30 days from the receipt of non-objection by the Regional Director of the 

selection of the Add-On Review Consultant, the Bank shall deve lop, in consultation with the 

Add-On Review Consultant, and submit to the Regional Director for non-objection, a CCAO 

Product review schedule, that sha ll include, at a min imum: 

(a) A li st grouping all CCAO products to be rev iewed with a prioritized rev iew 

schedule; 
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(b) The date by which the review will be, or has been, completed for each CCAO 

product; and 

(c) The date that the final written reports will be, or have been, completed for all 

CCAO products. 

51. AECB shall, within 15 days ofthe Board 's review ofthe Add-On Review 

Consultant' s report, provide the Regional Director with a copy of the report. 

52. If any report provided by the Add-On Review Consultant identifies any issues 

regarding compliance with Sections 1031 and 1036 or any other applicable Federal consumer 

financial law, AECB shall: 

(a) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant's report, submit 

a remediation plan to the Regional Director for non-objection prior to 

implementation; and 

(b) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant' s report, submit 

to the Regional Director for non-objection an implementation plan for 

corrective measures to address any issues contained in the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report utilizing the Compliance Program and CMS established in 

accordance with the October I, 2012, Joint Consent Order issued by the FDIC 

and CFPB, In the Matter of AMERlCAN EXPRESS CENTURJON BANK, 

SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH, Docket N umbers FDIC-12-315b, FDIC-12-216k, 

and 20 12-CFPB-0002 (Oct. I, 20 12) ("October 2012 Consent Order"). 

53. AECB sha ll develop and implement a record-keeping system and internal audit 

procedures that are reasonably designed to allow the CFPB to : 

(a) Review and monitor AECB's practices re lating to the CCAO Products; and 
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(b) Confirm that AECB is in compliance with this Order and all Federal consumer 

financial laws, including Sections I 031 and 1036. 

VIII. 

ORDER FOR RESTITUTION 

Payment Floor 

54. AECB shall provide restitution in an amount not less than $40,900,000, less any 

restitution made by the Bank prior to the Effective Date of this Order that com pi ies with the 

requirements of this Order ('' Payment Floor"), for the purpose of providing restitutio n as 

required by thi s Section. If AECB claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective 

Date of this Order that complies with the requirements of this Order, the Bank shall provide 

appropriate proof of such restitution to the Reg ional Director w ithin 30 days of the Effective 

Date. 

55. AECB shall make a ll restitution required by this Order, regard less of whether the 

total of such restitution exceeds the Payment F loor. 

56. Upon completion of a ll restitution required by this Order, if the amount of 

restitution made is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days of the Bureau 's non-objection to 

the Restitution Report pursuant to Paragraph 77, AECB is ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the 

form of a w ire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance w ith wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau, the difference 

between the amount of restitution prov ided and the Payment Floor. 

57. Any funds paid to the CFPB under Paragraph 56 shall be depos ited in the U.S . 

Treasury as disgorgement. 
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58. If the Bank has provided restitution to a Card Member pursuant to the order 

issued on December 24, 2013 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporatio n, then this Order 

shall not be construed as requiring the Bank to provide a duplicate restitution payment to that 

Card Member. The Bank shall provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional 

Director. 

Restitution Plan for Eligible Consumers 

59. For purposes of thi s restitution, the following definitions shal l apply: 

(a) Account Protector Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members 

who were subject to the deceptive pricing c laims and who did not receive 

the benefit of the product as the Bank marketed it. Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers fall into one or more of three groups : 

1. Card Members who bought Account Protector through inbound or 

outbound telemarketing ("Te lemarketing Account Protector 

El igible Consumers"); 

2. Card Members who received a benefit payment that was not 

suffic ient to meet the minimum payment due in the billing cyc le in 

whi ch the payment was received, regardl ess of the sa les channel 

("Min Due Account Protector Elig ible Consumers .. ); and 

3. Card members who were denied certa in benefits because the Card 

Member's life event experienced while enro lled in Account 

Protector began prior to the time of enro llment (''Denied Account 

Protector Eli gible Consumers"). 
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(b) ID Protection Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members who 

purchased ID Protect and 10 Protect Premium. 

(c) Lost Wallet PR Eligible Consumers are defined as all Puerto Rico Card 

Members who purchased Lost Wallet PR via telemarketing from July 

2000 until September 2012 and did not regi ster any item beyond the Card 

with which the Card Member enro lled. 

(d) Eligible Consumers are defined as all Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers, 10 Protection Eligible Consumers and Lost Wallet PR 

Eligible Consumers. 

60. Within 90 days after the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit a Restitution Plan 

(the ··Restitution Plan''), including samples of letters or other communications sent or to be sent 

to consumers, to the Regional Director for non-objection. 

6 1. With respect to Account Protector Eligible Consumers. the Restitution Plan shall, 

at a minimum. require the Bank to: 

(a) Refund program fees to Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers as fo llows: 

1. for those Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers 

who were enrolled in Account Protector for less than twe lve 

months, a fu ll refund of all program fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the fees were charged unti I the 

date of reimbursement. less any benefit payment the Card 

Member received during that enrollment; and 
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2. for Telemarketing Account Protector Eli gible Consumers who 

were enrolled in Account Protector for twelve months or more, 

restitution equivalent to twelve months of the Card Member's 

average program fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated 

from the date the fees were charged until the date of 

reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card Member 

received during that enrollment. 

(b) Provide restitution to Min Due Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the difference between the benefit payment the 

Card Member received and an amount equal to at least the minimum 

payment due, any applicable finance charges, late fees, and over-limit 

fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated from the date the finance 

charges and fees were charged unti I the date of reimbursement. 

Restitution shall include remov ing any penalty APR triggered as the 

result of the benefit payment being insufficient to meet the minimum 

payment due. 

(c) Provide restitution to Denied Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the benefit payment amount the Card Member 

would have received (or the minimum due each relevant billing cycle. 

if greater), had the Card Member's benefit request not been denied. for 

the maximum benefit period for each event, including any applicable 

finance charges, late fees, and over- limit fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest ca lcu lated from the date the finance charges and fees were 
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charged until the date of reimbursement. Restitution shall include 

removing any penalty APR triggered as the result of the benefit 

payment being insufficient to meet the minimum payment due. 

62. With respect to 10 Protection Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at a 

minimum, require the Bank to provide fu ll restitution ol'fees, including any applicable finance 

charges and over-limit fees, plus at least 1.3% interes1 calculated from the date fees were charged 

until the date of reimbursement. 

63. With respect to Lost Wal let PR Eligi 1' ie Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at 

a minimum, require the Bank to provide I ull restitl ion of fees, including any applicable finance 

charges and over-limit fees. plus at least I .3% intc rest ca lculated from the date fees were charged 

unti I the date of reimbursement. 

64. The Restitution Plan sha ll provi -..: for processes covering all Eligible Consumers 

regardless of the ir current account status with ·he Bank, including open accounts, c losed 

accounts with and without a balance. and cb rged-off accounts. The process shall include the 

following requirements: 

(a) For any open cred it car· account (includ ing inactive accounts), the Bank shall 

deliver a statement cr ditto the account and/or otherwise send a check; 

(b) For any closed credi" ;ard accoun t. the Bank shall decrease the account balance 

(if any) by the amot .t of the redress, and where the redress is greater than the 

existing account ba 1ce, mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(c) For any charged-off tccount, the Bank sha ll decrease the charged-off balance by 

the amount of redre~ ;, and where the refund is greater than the existing charged-
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off balance, the Bank shall mail to the Eligib le Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(d) If the account holder is deceased, and the balance is greater than the refund , the 

Bank shall provide a statement credit to the account, and otherwise a refund 

check for the remaining refund shall be sent in accordance with applicab le law; 

and 

(e) With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and sold charged

off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in accordance with applicable law. 

65. Within 180 days of receipt of non-objection from the Regional Director, the Bank 

shall implement the Restitution Plan. Restitution provided by the Bank shall not limit 

consumers ' rights in any way. 

66. The Bank shall retain for seven years all records pertaining to the Restitution 

Plan, including but not limited to: documentation of the processes and procedures used to 

determine the Eligible Consumers; the names, contact. and account information of the Eligible 

Consumers; any mailing records; and documentation that the appropriate restitution and 

equitable relief were made. 

Review of Restitution Plan 

67. Prior to submission to the Regional Director, the Restitution Plan shall be 

reviewed by the Compliance Program Consultant retained pursuant to paragraph 24 of the 

October 20 I 2 Consent Order or another independent third party capable of conducting thi s 

review that is acceptable to the Regional Director. 

Mailing Refunds 
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68. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review a plan for mailing refunds, including the proposed text of letters or other 

communications that have been sent or sha ll be sent to E lig ible Consumers regarding restitution 

checks or account credits. For letters sent on or after the Effecti ve Date of the Order, the letters 

shall inc lude satisfactory language expla ining the reason AECB is sending a restitution check or 

crediting an account, including that AECB is sending the check or crediting an account as the 

result of an enforcement action by the CFPB. Any letters or other communications sent after the 

Effective Date of this Order sha ll also include reference to and the web address for any CFPB 

press releases related to this Order. AECB shall then address any comments of the Regional 

Director, making such changes as may be required to the proposed letters. The letters, 

incorporating any changes that may be required in response to comments by the Regional 

Director, sha ll be sent by mail to a ll Eligib le Consumers enti t led to receive restitution checks 

and/or credits to their accou nts in accordance with this Order. 

69. When AECB makes cash restitution by check made payable to any consumer 

receiving restitution under thi s Order ("Elig ible Consumer"), AECB sha ll send the check by 

United States Postal Service first-class mail, address correction serv ice requested, to the Elig ible 

Consumer's last address as mainta ined by AECB's records. AECB shall make reasonable 

attempts to obtain a current address for any Elig ible Consumer whose notification letter and/or 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using standard address search methodologies, and 

sha ll promptly re-mail a ll returned letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if any. If 

the check for any e ligible consumer is returned to AECB after such second mailing by AECB, or 

if a current mai ling address cannot be identified using standard address search methodologies, 

AECB sha ll retain the restitution amount of such Elig ible Consumer for a period of three-
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hundred sixty (360) days from the date the restitution check was orig inally mailed, during which 

period such amount may be c laimed by such Elig ible Consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. After such time these monies shall be disposed of in accordance w ith the Restitution 

Plan. 

Engagement of Independent Accounting Firm 

70. AECB shall utilize, at its own expense, the serv ices of the independent certified 

accounting firm ("Firm .. ) retained as part of the October 2012 Consent Order. or w ithin 15 days 

after the Regional Director' s non-objection pursuant to Paragraph 71 , retain, at its own expense, 

a different Firm acceptable to the Regional Director to determine compliance w ith the 

Restitution Plans. The Firm sha ll determine compliance in accordance w ith the attestation 

standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

7 I. lf AECB elects to engage a different Firm, prior to engagement, and no later than 

60 days from the Effective Date. AECB sha ll submit the name and qualifications of the Finn, 

together with the proposed engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon 

procedures, to the Reg ional Director for non-objection. If AECB intends to utilize the services 

of the Firm retained pursuant to the October 20 12 Consent Order, no later than 60 days from the 

Effective Date, AECB shall submit notifi cati on of that intent, together w ith the proposed 

engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to the Regional 

Director for no n-objection. 

72. The engagement letter between AECB and the Firm sha ll grant the CFPB access 

to the Firm·s staff. work-papers, and materia ls prepared in the course of the Firm's engagement 

and preparation of the reports required by this Order. 
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73. If AECB elects to engage a different Firm, to be acceptable to the Regional 

Director, the Firm must be an objective and unaffili ated third party and, at a min imum, comply 

with the Code of Conduct of the appropriate State Board of Accountancy. 

74. Within 15 days after submission of the Firm's name, the Regional Director shall 

notify AECB in writing of the CFPB 's obj ection or non-objection thereto. 

75. The Firm shall submit the Restitution Report called for in Paragraph 77 to the 

Regional Director for non-objection within 90 days after the Bank completes implementation of 

the Restitution Plan. 

Report on Restitution 

76. The Firm shall review and verify that the Bank accurately identified the Eligible 

Consumers, ca lculated restitution correctly, and made the appropriate account cred its or cash 

refunds to Eligible Consumers. 

77. The Firm shall prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of A ECB · s 

compliance with the Restitution Plan ("Restitution Report'"). The Restitution Report shall also 

include the fo ll owing: 

(a) The processes and procedures by which AECB determined the restitution 

amounts described in Paragraphs 61 - 63; 

(b) The total number of each such class of Eligible Consumers; 

(c) The total amount of restitution made to each such class of Eligible Consumers 

under the Restitution Plan; and 

(d) The total amount of interest paid. 
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IX. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

78. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the violations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section V of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AECB shall pay civil money 

penalties of $3,600,000 to the CFPB, in accordance with section 10 17(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth herein. 

79. Within 10 days of the Effective Date. AECB shall pay the civi l money penalty in 

the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 

80. The civil money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance with section 10 17(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

81. In the event of any default on AECB 's obligation to make payment under this 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 , as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediately become due and payable. 

82. AECB shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AECB. 

83. AECB shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for 

all purposes. Regard less of how the CFPB ultimately uses those funds. AECB shall not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that AECB pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that AECB pays 

pursuant to this Order. 

X. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

84. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter following the Effective 

Date, AECB shall provide a written progress report addressing each provision of this Order and 

detailing the form, manner, resu lts and dates of any actions taken to secure compliance with the 

provisions of this Order to the Regional Director. All progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order shall be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports shall be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of compl iance 

signed by the Chairman ofthe Board and the Bank President. The certification of compliance 

shall include the fo llowing: 

(a) A statement confirming that AECB is in compliance with all provisions of thi s 

Order; or 

(b) If AECB is not in compliance with all provisions of this Order, AECB must 

provide: 

t. A I ist of the provisions with which AECB is not yet in com pi iance, an 

explanation of why AECB is not yet in compliance with each specific 
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provision, and a description of the actions AECB has taken to comply 

with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AECB will be in full compliance with this 

Order. 

XI. 

NOTICES 

85. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, all submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to this Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Postal Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director, CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and shall begin: In re American Express 

Centurion Bank. 

86. Provided however that AECB may send such reports or notifications by first-class 

mail, but only if AECB contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XII. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

87. 1T IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in hi s/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 
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(e.g .. reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

XIII. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

88. Except as set forth in Paragraph 92, the provisions of this Order shall not bar, 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or department from 

taking any other action against AECB. 

89. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be. a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

90. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

9 1. Calcu lation oftime limitations for compli ance with the terms of this Order sha ll 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

92. Th is Order constitutes a settlement of the adm inistrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Find ings and 

Conclusions set forth in th is Order. The CFPB releases and di scharges the Bank from all 

potential I iabi I ity (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or 

c ivil money penalty that has been or might have been asse1ted by the CFPB based o n AECB's 

conduct, as described in the CFPB Findings and Conc lusions, to the extent such conduct was 

known to the CFPB as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices 

a lleged in this Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank 

and its afft liates to establi sh a pattern or practice of v io lations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of vio lations or to calcu late the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude 
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or affect any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and 

provisions of this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

93. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AECB, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

94. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

95. Any violation of this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civill!loney penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

96. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

, 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2013-CFPB-0011 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS CENTURION BANK 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

Respondent American Express Centurion Bank ("AECB" or "the Bank") relating to certain 

credit card add-on products and has identified violations of law. Under sections I 053 and 1055 

ofthe Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFP Act"), the CFPB hereby issues, 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that AECB has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and I 036 

of the CFP Act, 12 U.S .C. §§ 5531 and 5536, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

related to certain credit card add-on products, and violations of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1 022.138(b)(7), for failing to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit repo1is. 

II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over th is matter pursuant to sections 1053 and I 055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AECB has executed a ''Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order'' ("'Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By thi s 

Stipulation, AECB has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to secti ons 

I 053 and I 055 of the CFP Act, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denyi ng any 

of findings of fact or vio lations of law, except that AECB admits the CFPB's jurisdict io n over 

AECB and the subject matter of this action. 

IV. 

DEFINITIONS 

4. For purposes of thi s Order, the fo llowing definitions sha ll apply: 

(a) "Account Protector" shall mean the Account Protector program, a debt 

cancellation credit card add-on product that AECB marketed and sold to Card 

Members from 2004 - July 20 12 that allowed Card Members to request 

benefit payments toward their minimum balances following certa in life 

events, includ ing but not limited to unemployment, disabi lity, and other 

events. 

(b) " Board" sha ll mean AECB's duly e lected and acting Board of Directors . 

.(c) "Card" shall mean any consumer charge card or credit card issued by AECB. 

(d) "Card Member' ' sha ll mean any consumer who has applied o r applies for, and 

received or rece ives an AECB consumer charge card or credit card. 

(e) ·'Credit Card Add-on Products'' or '·CCAO Products·· sha ll mean any fee

based or no-charge products or services AECB markets o r offers to Card 
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Members as an add-on to a Card and that are supplementary to the credit 

provided by the Card, including but not limited to Account Protector, ID 

Protection Products, and Lost Wallet Protector. 

(f) "Effective Date" sha ll mean the date on which this Order is issued. 

(g) " ID Protection Products" shall mean "'ID Protect" and "ID Protect Premium," 

that AECB marketed or so ld to Card Members from November 2009 until 

June 2012, and shall include Single Identity- the predecessor to ID Protect 

that provided consumers with reports, updates or monitoring of information 

appearing onl ine and information reported to a credit reporting agency. The 

ID Protection Premium also provided access to a one-time triple-bureau credit 

report and triple-bureau credit monitoring. 

(h) "Lost Wallet Protector" shall mean the Lost Wallet Protector product 

marketed or sold to Card Members since November 20 II , and shall include 

Credit Card Registry- the predecessor to Lost Wallet Protector that was 

marketed or so ld to Card Members prior to November 20 I I - which provided 

ass istance to Card Members in replacing lost or stolen credit cards, passports, 

mobile phones and in making emergency notifications. 

(i) ''Lost Wallet PR" shall mean the Lost Wallet Protector product AECB 

marketed or so ld to Card Members in Puerto Rico unti I September 2012. 

G) "Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

(k) "'Sections I 031 and I 036"' shall mean sections I 031 and I 036 of the CFP Act, 

12 U .S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 
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(l) "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in 

section 1002(26) ofthe CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

V. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

5. AECB is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $1 0 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. With respect to the marketing of Account Protector, 10 Protection Products, and 

Lost Wallet PR, AECB's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality 

assurance resulted in ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or correct certain 

improper practices. 

Account Protector 

8. AECB marketed Account Protector as a means for a Card Member to pay the 

minimum payment due on the Card Member's account following certain life events. 

9. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector paid a monthly fee of 0.85 percent 

of the Card Member's balance as of the statement closing date. 

10. The Account Protector benefit payment amount was the lesser of $500 or 2.5% of 

the Card Member's account balance as of the date of the qualifying event. A given benefit 

payment could be less than a Card Member' s minimum monthly payment, requiring the Card 

Member to pay any difference between the benefit payment and minimum payment. For a 

s ignificant percentage of Card Members enrolled in Account Protector who received benefits, the 

benefit payment did not always cover the minimum payment due on the Card Member's account. 
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II. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector who submitted a benefit claim that 

was approved received a payment toward the Card Member's minimum payment due each 

month for the duration of the benefit period. Benefit periods varied based on the nature of the 

qualifying event: 

a. Card Members with approved claims for hospitalization or starting college 

received the benefit payment for one month; 

b. Card Members with approved claims for marriage, birth or adoption of 

children, home purchase, call to active military duty, relocation, loss of 

spouse, or divorce received the benefit payment each month for two months; 

c. Card Members with approved claims for a leave of absence from their place 

of employment received the benefit payment each month for up to three 

months; and 

d. Card Members with approved claims for involuntary unemployment or 

disability rece ived the benefit payment each month for up to 24 months. 

12. A Card Member who was unemployed or disabled at the time of enro llment was 

not eligible for a benefit payment due to unemployment or disabi lity existing at the time of 

enrol lment. 

13. With respect to Account Protector, the improper outbound telemarketing practices 

included, but were not limited to, the following examples: 

(a) Representing that the benefit payment amount would cover the Card 

Member's minimum payment due when, in fact, the benefit payment wou ld be 

2.5% of a Card Member's outstanding balance on the date ofthe qualify ing 

event, up to $500 which frequently did not equal the minimum payment due; 
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(b) Implying that benefits would last up to 24 months when, in fact, only two of 

the thirteen qualifying events with a benefit period covered by Account 

Protector included benefit periods of 24 months, and the other eleven 

qualifying events had benefit periods of only one, two, or three months; 

(c) Representing that there wou ld be no fee if the balance in the account was paid 

off, w ithout disclosing that the account balance had to be paid off before the 

end of the billing cycle, a date that always preceded the statement due date; 

(d) Disclosing on telemarketing calls that there wou ld be no fee for balances 

under $ 100 when, in fact, the fee for Account Protector is 0.85 percent of the 

Card Member's balance; 

(e) Failing to disclose near the outset of the call that Account Protector was 

optional and not required for the Card Member to activate or use the Card 

Member's account; 

(f) Representing that Account Protector wou ld improve or maintain a Card 

Member' s credit score; and 

(g) Implying that benefits wou ld be immediately available when there was a 

claims process that had to be completed before any benefits were paid. 

14. Section 1 036(a)(l )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( l)(B). 

15. Statements and omissions by AECB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer's choice or 

conduct regarding Account Protector and are like ly to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 
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16. AECB's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of 

sections I 031 (a) and I 036(a)( l )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 (a), 5536(a)( I )(B). These 

vio lations affected over 83,000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 15.1 million in fees and 

over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

17. Therefore, by reaso n of the foregoing, AECB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of section I 036(a)(l)(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

ID Protection Products 

18. AECB marketed the ID Protection Products as protection against identity theft for 

Card Members. AECB, in its offering for sale and sale of ID Protection Premium represented 

that in exchange for a monthly fee, AECB, through its Service Providers, wou ld provide features 

that included a service to monitor Card Members' credit information. 

19. The ID Protection Products had a two-step enrollment process. Fol lowing 

enrol lment, an enrol led Card Member was sent a welcome kit that included add itional 

in formation concerning the ID Protection Products. Included in the welcome kit was the first 

notice that additional information was required to fully-activate credit monitoring and public 

records monitoring benefits. Until a Card Member submitted the add itional information to 

AECB, the Card Member would not receive the full benefit ofiD Protection Products. 

20. AECB did not inform Card Members during the telemarketing or enrollment 

processes that enrollment was a two-step process. AECB billed Card Members the full amount 

for I D Protection Products whether or not the Card Member completed the second step. 
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21. Approximately 85 percent of Card Members who enro lled in the ID Protection 

Products did not complete the second step of the two-step process and paid the fu ll product fee 

without receiving all of the advertised benefits. 

22. With respect to the 10 Protection Products, the improper practices included, but 

were not limited to, the fo llowing examples: 

(a) Us ing a two-step enro llment process in whi ch Card Members enro lled in ID 

Protection Products and were billed upon enro llment, but in wh ich AECB 

failed to inform Card Members that they wou ld not receive the fu ll benefit of 

the ID Protection Products until they provided additional informat ion to 

AECB; and 

(b) In some cases, failing to provide the mandatory disc losure under Regu lation V 

regarding free credit reports to some Card Members. 

23. Section 1036(a)( l)(B) of the CFP Act prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(I)(B). 

24. AECB's acceptance of month ly payments whi le failing to provide c redit 

mo nitoring services has resulted in substantial injury to over 77,000 Card Members in the 

amount of at least $ 11.3 million in fees and over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any 

counterva iling benefit to the consumers o r to competition. 

25. Therefore, by reason of the foregoing billing practices fo r its I D Protection 

Products as set forth in the preceding paragraphs, AECB, through its Serv ice Prov iders, engaged 

in unfair acts and practices in violation of section I 036(a)( I )(B). 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( I )(B). 
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26. When telemarketing sales calls are made that include offers of free credit reports, 

Regulation V requires that the call include at the first mention of a free credit report the 

fo llowing disclosure: "The following noti ce is required by law. You have the rig ht to a free 

c redit report from AnnuaiCreditReport.com or (877) 322-8228, the only authorized source under 

Federal law." 12 C.F.R. § 1022.1 38(b)(7). 

27. In some so licitati ons, AECB's outbound telemarketing enrollments in certain lD 

Protection Products offered a complimentary "tria l period" of 30 days before the Card Member 

incurred product fees. AECB did not make the required disc losure under Regulation V in certain 

calls. 

28. Therefore, by reason ofthe foregoing sales practices, AECB vio lated Regulation 

V and the Fair Credit Rep011ing Act. 12 C.F.R. § I 022. I 38(b)(7). 

Lost Wallet PR 

29. AECB marketed Lost Wallet PR as a tool to ass ist Card Members in Puerto Rico 

with cancelling and rep lac ing lost or stolen credit cards, inc luding non-American Express cards; 

providing key and wallet return; suspending mobile phone services; providing emergency 

contact serv ices; and providing assistance in replacing passports. 

30. N inety-seven percent of Card Members enrolled in Lost Wallet PR enro lled via 

telemarketing call s conducted in Spanish. Customer serv ice representatives used Eng li sh 

te lemarketing scripts and translated the scripts into Spanish for the enro llment calls. AECB did 

not provide uniform approved Spanish language scripts for these enro llment calls. In addition, 

a ll written mate rials provided to Card Members by AECB related to Lost Wallet PR were 

provided in Eng lish. 
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31. As a result of these sales practices, some Card members I ikely did not understand 

how to access a ll benefits of the product or how to register additional credit or charge cards held 

by the Card Member and other items, such as passports, after enrollment. 

32. Only 40 percent of Card Members enrolled in Lost Wallet PR registered any item 

beyond the Card Member's AECB Card, which was automatically registered at the time of 

enrollment. 

33. With respect to Lost Wallet PR, the improper sales practices included, but were 

not limited to, failing to ensure that Card Members enro lled via telemarketing calls conducted in 

Spanish understood the terms of the product. 

34. Section 1036(a)(I)(B) of the CFP Act prohibits ''unfair, deceptive, or abusive'' 

acts or practices. 12 U .S.C. § 5536(a)(1 )(B). 

35. Statements and omissions by AECB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer's choice or 

conduct regarding Lost Wallet PR and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under 

the circumstances. 

36. AECB's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections I 031 (a) and 1 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 (a), 5536(a)( I )(B). These 

violations affected over 79,000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 12.4 million in fees and 

over- limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

37. Therefore. by reason of the foregoing. AECB, through its Serv ice Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in vio lation of section 1 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

VI. 
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CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AECB, its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist, and that AECB manage its business relationshi ps with Service 

Providers in a manner that ensures that its Service Providers immediate ly cease and des ist from 

engag ing in vio lations of Sections I 03 1 and I 036 in connection with the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of Account Protector, ID Protection Products, or Lost Wallet PR and from 

engaging in violations of Regulation V in connection with the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of I D Protection Products, and it is fut1her ordered that AECB take affirmative 

actions as of the Effective Date, unless otherwise specified , as fo llows: 

38. AECB shall correct all violations of law, as described herein, and shall implement 

procedures to prevent their recurrence. AECB's actions as required by this paragraph shall be 

satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at subsequent examinations and/or 

visitations. 

39. AECB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, sha ll cease and 

desist from any marketing or solicitation of Account Protector, lD Protection Products, or Lost 

Wallet PR until it has submitted a compliance plan, specifically designed to eliminate all 

vio lations of Sections I 03 1 and I 036 and Regulation V in the marketing, sa les, and 

administration of these products to the Regional Director for non-objection (the ·'Compliance 

Plan"). This Compliance Plan shall be designed to comply with all provisions of thi s Order. 

Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall confirm with the Regional Director that it 

has withdrawn or suspended any marketing or soli citation of Account Protector, ID Protection 

Products, and Lost Wallet PR. 
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Correct Deceptive Marketing of Account Protector 

40. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate a ll deceptive acts and practices 

in vio lation of Sections 103 1 and l 036 with respect to Account Protector. In addition, AECB 

shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections l 03 1 and 

1036 when marketing or selling Account Protector, as described more part icularly herein. 

41. AECB, its Service Providers, or its representati ves shall not make, or allow to be 

made, any deceptive representations, or allow to be made, any deceptive representatio ns, 

statements, or omissions, expressly or by implication, in the marketing materia ls, telemarketing 

scripts and/or sales presentations used to solicit any Card Member or prospective Card Member 

to enrol l in Account Protector, including but not limited to misrepresentations as to the 

following: 

(a) Any and a ll fees, costs, expenses and charges associated with Account 

Protector; 

(b) That Account Protector is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card; 

(c) Tha t Account Protector wi ll improve or maintain a Card Member' s cred it 

score; 

(d) That Account Protector w ill cover a Card Member's minimum balance; 

(e) The timing of and mechani sm for calculating a Card Member' s benefit 

amount avail able when the Card Member uses Account Protector; 

(f) Payment terms for Account Protector, including the date AECB w ill use to 

calculate any fee incurred for Account Protector; 
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(g) The length of the benefit period, including that most qualifying events carry a 

benefit period of one, two, or three months; and 

(h) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Account 

Protector. 

Correct Unfair Practices Relating to ID Protection Products 

42. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate a ll unfair acts and practices in 

v iolation of Sections I 031 and I 036 w ith respect to the I D Protection Products. In addition, 

AECB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 

and I 036 when marketing, se lling, or administering the ID Protection Products, as described 

more particularly herein. 

43. AECB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, shall disclose to 

Card Members during telemarketing solicitations the specific terms and features of the 10 

Protection Products. 

44. AECB shall not charge Card Members for the ID Protection Products until the 

Card Members complete the steps necessary to receive the full benefits of the products. 

Correct Regulation V Violations in Marketing Practices 

45. AECB shall take a ll action necessary to make a ll required disclosures in 

telemarketing sales call s that include offers of a free credit report in compliance with 

Regu lation V. In add ition, AECB shall take a ll necessary steps to effect and maintain future 

compliance with Regulation V when marketing or selling ID Protection Products as described 

more particu larly herein. 

46 . lf AECB continues to offer ID Protection Products that include a free credit 

report, or offers to Card Members at some time in the future the products or any similar products 

Page 13 of30 

2013-CFPB-0011     Document 1     Filed 12/24/2013     Page 13 of 30



that include a free credit rep01t. AECB shall disclose to card members during telemarketing 

so licitations a disclosure consistent with the requirements of Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022. 138(b)(7). 

Correct Deceptive Marketing of Lost Wallet PR 

47. AECB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all decepti ve acts and practices 

in violation of Sections I 031 and I 036 with respect to Lost Wallet PR. In add ition, AECB shall 

take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections I 031 and I 036 

when marketing or selling the Lost Wallet PR, as described more particularly herein. 

48. AECB, its Service Providers, or its representatives shall not make, or allow to be 

made, any deceptive representations, statements, or omissions, expressly or by imp! ication, in the 

marketing materials, telemarketing scripts and/or sa les presentations used to solicit any Card 

Member or prospective Card Member to enroll in Lost Wallet PR, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations or omiss ions as to the fo llowing: 

(a) That Lost Wallet PR is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card, 

(b) Any steps the Card Member must take fo llowing enrollment to obtain Lost 

Wallet PR benefits, and 

(c) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Lost Wallet PR. 
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VII. 

COMPREHENSIVE CREDIT CARD ADD-ON PRODUCT REVIEW 

IT IS FU RTHER ORDERED that AECB take additional affirmati ve actions as follows: 

Independent Third Party Review 

49. Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for non-objection the name and qualifi cations of an independent third party (''Add-On 

Review Consultant") who possesses the appropriate experti se and qualifi cations to review a ll 

Credit Card Add-on Products offered by AECB. At a minimum, the Add-on Review Consultant 

shall : 

(a) Review and assess all CCAO Products. with the exception of Account 

Protector, ID Protection Products, and Lost Wallet PR, for compliance with 

Sections 1031 and I 036 and all other applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws; and 

(b) Provide to the Board a detailed wri tten report containing its analys is, 

assessments, and recommendations, which the Board shall review within 60 

days of receipt. This review shall be recorded and noted in the Board minutes. 

50. Within 30 days from the receipt of non-objection by the Regional Director of the 

selection of the Add-On Review Consultant, the Bank shall deve lop, in consultation with the 

Add-On Review Consultant, and submit to the Regional Director for non-objection, a CCAO 

Product review schedule, that sha ll include, at a min imum: 

(a) A li st grouping all CCAO products to be rev iewed with a prioritized rev iew 

schedule; 
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(b) The date by which the review will be, or has been, completed for each CCAO 

product; and 

(c) The date that the final written reports will be, or have been, completed for all 

CCAO products. 

51. AECB shall, within 15 days ofthe Board 's review ofthe Add-On Review 

Consultant' s report, provide the Regional Director with a copy of the report. 

52. If any report provided by the Add-On Review Consultant identifies any issues 

regarding compliance with Sections 1031 and 1036 or any other applicable Federal consumer 

financial law, AECB shall: 

(a) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant's report, submit 

a remediation plan to the Regional Director for non-objection prior to 

implementation; and 

(b) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant' s report, submit 

to the Regional Director for non-objection an implementation plan for 

corrective measures to address any issues contained in the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report utilizing the Compliance Program and CMS established in 

accordance with the October I, 2012, Joint Consent Order issued by the FDIC 

and CFPB, In the Matter of AMERlCAN EXPRESS CENTURJON BANK, 

SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH, Docket N umbers FDIC-12-315b, FDIC-12-216k, 

and 20 12-CFPB-0002 (Oct. I, 20 12) ("October 2012 Consent Order"). 

53. AECB sha ll develop and implement a record-keeping system and internal audit 

procedures that are reasonably designed to allow the CFPB to : 

(a) Review and monitor AECB's practices re lating to the CCAO Products; and 
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(b) Confirm that AECB is in compliance with this Order and all Federal consumer 

financial laws, including Sections I 031 and 1036. 

VIII. 

ORDER FOR RESTITUTION 

Payment Floor 

54. AECB shall provide restitution in an amount not less than $40,900,000, less any 

restitution made by the Bank prior to the Effective Date of this Order that com pi ies with the 

requirements of this Order ('' Payment Floor"), for the purpose of providing restitutio n as 

required by thi s Section. If AECB claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective 

Date of this Order that complies with the requirements of this Order, the Bank shall provide 

appropriate proof of such restitution to the Reg ional Director w ithin 30 days of the Effective 

Date. 

55. AECB shall make a ll restitution required by this Order, regard less of whether the 

total of such restitution exceeds the Payment F loor. 

56. Upon completion of a ll restitution required by this Order, if the amount of 

restitution made is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days of the Bureau 's non-objection to 

the Restitution Report pursuant to Paragraph 77, AECB is ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the 

form of a w ire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance w ith wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau, the difference 

between the amount of restitution prov ided and the Payment Floor. 

57. Any funds paid to the CFPB under Paragraph 56 shall be depos ited in the U.S . 

Treasury as disgorgement. 
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58. If the Bank has provided restitution to a Card Member pursuant to the order 

issued on December 24, 2013 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporatio n, then this Order 

shall not be construed as requiring the Bank to provide a duplicate restitution payment to that 

Card Member. The Bank shall provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional 

Director. 

Restitution Plan for Eligible Consumers 

59. For purposes of thi s restitution, the following definitions shal l apply: 

(a) Account Protector Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members 

who were subject to the deceptive pricing c laims and who did not receive 

the benefit of the product as the Bank marketed it. Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers fall into one or more of three groups : 

1. Card Members who bought Account Protector through inbound or 

outbound telemarketing ("Te lemarketing Account Protector 

El igible Consumers"); 

2. Card Members who received a benefit payment that was not 

suffic ient to meet the minimum payment due in the billing cyc le in 

whi ch the payment was received, regardl ess of the sa les channel 

("Min Due Account Protector Elig ible Consumers .. ); and 

3. Card members who were denied certa in benefits because the Card 

Member's life event experienced while enro lled in Account 

Protector began prior to the time of enro llment (''Denied Account 

Protector Eli gible Consumers"). 
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(b) ID Protection Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members who 

purchased ID Protect and 10 Protect Premium. 

(c) Lost Wallet PR Eligible Consumers are defined as all Puerto Rico Card 

Members who purchased Lost Wallet PR via telemarketing from July 

2000 until September 2012 and did not regi ster any item beyond the Card 

with which the Card Member enro lled. 

(d) Eligible Consumers are defined as all Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers, 10 Protection Eligible Consumers and Lost Wallet PR 

Eligible Consumers. 

60. Within 90 days after the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit a Restitution Plan 

(the ··Restitution Plan''), including samples of letters or other communications sent or to be sent 

to consumers, to the Regional Director for non-objection. 

6 1. With respect to Account Protector Eligible Consumers. the Restitution Plan shall, 

at a minimum. require the Bank to: 

(a) Refund program fees to Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers as fo llows: 

1. for those Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers 

who were enrolled in Account Protector for less than twe lve 

months, a fu ll refund of all program fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the fees were charged unti I the 

date of reimbursement. less any benefit payment the Card 

Member received during that enrollment; and 
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2. for Telemarketing Account Protector Eli gible Consumers who 

were enrolled in Account Protector for twelve months or more, 

restitution equivalent to twelve months of the Card Member's 

average program fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated 

from the date the fees were charged until the date of 

reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card Member 

received during that enrollment. 

(b) Provide restitution to Min Due Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the difference between the benefit payment the 

Card Member received and an amount equal to at least the minimum 

payment due, any applicable finance charges, late fees, and over-limit 

fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated from the date the finance 

charges and fees were charged unti I the date of reimbursement. 

Restitution shall include remov ing any penalty APR triggered as the 

result of the benefit payment being insufficient to meet the minimum 

payment due. 

(c) Provide restitution to Denied Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the benefit payment amount the Card Member 

would have received (or the minimum due each relevant billing cycle. 

if greater), had the Card Member's benefit request not been denied. for 

the maximum benefit period for each event, including any applicable 

finance charges, late fees, and over- limit fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest ca lcu lated from the date the finance charges and fees were 
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charged until the date of reimbursement. Restitution shall include 

removing any penalty APR triggered as the result of the benefit 

payment being insufficient to meet the minimum payment due. 

62. With respect to 10 Protection Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at a 

minimum, require the Bank to provide fu ll restitution ol'fees, including any applicable finance 

charges and over-limit fees, plus at least 1.3% interes1 calculated from the date fees were charged 

until the date of reimbursement. 

63. With respect to Lost Wal let PR Eligi 1' ie Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at 

a minimum, require the Bank to provide I ull restitl ion of fees, including any applicable finance 

charges and over-limit fees. plus at least I .3% intc rest ca lculated from the date fees were charged 

unti I the date of reimbursement. 

64. The Restitution Plan sha ll provi -..: for processes covering all Eligible Consumers 

regardless of the ir current account status with ·he Bank, including open accounts, c losed 

accounts with and without a balance. and cb rged-off accounts. The process shall include the 

following requirements: 

(a) For any open cred it car· account (includ ing inactive accounts), the Bank shall 

deliver a statement cr ditto the account and/or otherwise send a check; 

(b) For any closed credi" ;ard accoun t. the Bank shall decrease the account balance 

(if any) by the amot .t of the redress, and where the redress is greater than the 

existing account ba 1ce, mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(c) For any charged-off tccount, the Bank sha ll decrease the charged-off balance by 

the amount of redre~ ;, and where the refund is greater than the existing charged-
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off balance, the Bank shall mail to the Eligib le Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(d) If the account holder is deceased, and the balance is greater than the refund , the 

Bank shall provide a statement credit to the account, and otherwise a refund 

check for the remaining refund shall be sent in accordance with applicab le law; 

and 

(e) With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and sold charged

off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in accordance with applicable law. 

65. Within 180 days of receipt of non-objection from the Regional Director, the Bank 

shall implement the Restitution Plan. Restitution provided by the Bank shall not limit 

consumers ' rights in any way. 

66. The Bank shall retain for seven years all records pertaining to the Restitution 

Plan, including but not limited to: documentation of the processes and procedures used to 

determine the Eligible Consumers; the names, contact. and account information of the Eligible 

Consumers; any mailing records; and documentation that the appropriate restitution and 

equitable relief were made. 

Review of Restitution Plan 

67. Prior to submission to the Regional Director, the Restitution Plan shall be 

reviewed by the Compliance Program Consultant retained pursuant to paragraph 24 of the 

October 20 I 2 Consent Order or another independent third party capable of conducting thi s 

review that is acceptable to the Regional Director. 

Mailing Refunds 
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68. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, AECB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review a plan for mailing refunds, including the proposed text of letters or other 

communications that have been sent or sha ll be sent to E lig ible Consumers regarding restitution 

checks or account credits. For letters sent on or after the Effecti ve Date of the Order, the letters 

shall inc lude satisfactory language expla ining the reason AECB is sending a restitution check or 

crediting an account, including that AECB is sending the check or crediting an account as the 

result of an enforcement action by the CFPB. Any letters or other communications sent after the 

Effective Date of this Order sha ll also include reference to and the web address for any CFPB 

press releases related to this Order. AECB shall then address any comments of the Regional 

Director, making such changes as may be required to the proposed letters. The letters, 

incorporating any changes that may be required in response to comments by the Regional 

Director, sha ll be sent by mail to a ll Eligib le Consumers enti t led to receive restitution checks 

and/or credits to their accou nts in accordance with this Order. 

69. When AECB makes cash restitution by check made payable to any consumer 

receiving restitution under thi s Order ("Elig ible Consumer"), AECB sha ll send the check by 

United States Postal Service first-class mail, address correction serv ice requested, to the Elig ible 

Consumer's last address as mainta ined by AECB's records. AECB shall make reasonable 

attempts to obtain a current address for any Elig ible Consumer whose notification letter and/or 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using standard address search methodologies, and 

sha ll promptly re-mail a ll returned letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if any. If 

the check for any e ligible consumer is returned to AECB after such second mailing by AECB, or 

if a current mai ling address cannot be identified using standard address search methodologies, 

AECB sha ll retain the restitution amount of such Elig ible Consumer for a period of three-
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hundred sixty (360) days from the date the restitution check was orig inally mailed, during which 

period such amount may be c laimed by such Elig ible Consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. After such time these monies shall be disposed of in accordance w ith the Restitution 

Plan. 

Engagement of Independent Accounting Firm 

70. AECB shall utilize, at its own expense, the serv ices of the independent certified 

accounting firm ("Firm .. ) retained as part of the October 2012 Consent Order. or w ithin 15 days 

after the Regional Director' s non-objection pursuant to Paragraph 71 , retain, at its own expense, 

a different Firm acceptable to the Regional Director to determine compliance w ith the 

Restitution Plans. The Firm sha ll determine compliance in accordance w ith the attestation 

standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

7 I. lf AECB elects to engage a different Firm, prior to engagement, and no later than 

60 days from the Effective Date. AECB sha ll submit the name and qualifications of the Finn, 

together with the proposed engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon 

procedures, to the Reg ional Director for non-objection. If AECB intends to utilize the services 

of the Firm retained pursuant to the October 20 12 Consent Order, no later than 60 days from the 

Effective Date, AECB shall submit notifi cati on of that intent, together w ith the proposed 

engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to the Regional 

Director for no n-objection. 

72. The engagement letter between AECB and the Firm sha ll grant the CFPB access 

to the Firm·s staff. work-papers, and materia ls prepared in the course of the Firm's engagement 

and preparation of the reports required by this Order. 
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73. If AECB elects to engage a different Firm, to be acceptable to the Regional 

Director, the Firm must be an objective and unaffili ated third party and, at a min imum, comply 

with the Code of Conduct of the appropriate State Board of Accountancy. 

74. Within 15 days after submission of the Firm's name, the Regional Director shall 

notify AECB in writing of the CFPB 's obj ection or non-objection thereto. 

75. The Firm shall submit the Restitution Report called for in Paragraph 77 to the 

Regional Director for non-objection within 90 days after the Bank completes implementation of 

the Restitution Plan. 

Report on Restitution 

76. The Firm shall review and verify that the Bank accurately identified the Eligible 

Consumers, ca lculated restitution correctly, and made the appropriate account cred its or cash 

refunds to Eligible Consumers. 

77. The Firm shall prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of A ECB · s 

compliance with the Restitution Plan ("Restitution Report'"). The Restitution Report shall also 

include the fo ll owing: 

(a) The processes and procedures by which AECB determined the restitution 

amounts described in Paragraphs 61 - 63; 

(b) The total number of each such class of Eligible Consumers; 

(c) The total amount of restitution made to each such class of Eligible Consumers 

under the Restitution Plan; and 

(d) The total amount of interest paid. 
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IX. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

78. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the violations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section V of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AECB shall pay civil money 

penalties of $3,600,000 to the CFPB, in accordance with section 10 17(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth herein. 

79. Within 10 days of the Effective Date. AECB shall pay the civi l money penalty in 

the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 

80. The civil money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance with section 10 17(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

81. In the event of any default on AECB 's obligation to make payment under this 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 , as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediately become due and payable. 

82. AECB shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AECB. 

83. AECB shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government for 

all purposes. Regard less of how the CFPB ultimately uses those funds. AECB shall not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that AECB pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that AECB pays 

pursuant to this Order. 

X. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

84. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter following the Effective 

Date, AECB shall provide a written progress report addressing each provision of this Order and 

detailing the form, manner, resu lts and dates of any actions taken to secure compliance with the 

provisions of this Order to the Regional Director. All progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order shall be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports shall be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of compl iance 

signed by the Chairman ofthe Board and the Bank President. The certification of compliance 

shall include the fo llowing: 

(a) A statement confirming that AECB is in compliance with all provisions of thi s 

Order; or 

(b) If AECB is not in compliance with all provisions of this Order, AECB must 

provide: 

t. A I ist of the provisions with which AECB is not yet in com pi iance, an 

explanation of why AECB is not yet in compliance with each specific 
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provision, and a description of the actions AECB has taken to comply 

with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AECB will be in full compliance with this 

Order. 

XI. 

NOTICES 

85. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, all submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to this Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Postal Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director, CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and shall begin: In re American Express 

Centurion Bank. 

86. Provided however that AECB may send such reports or notifications by first-class 

mail, but only if AECB contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XII. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

87. 1T IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in hi s/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 
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(e.g .. reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

XIII. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

88. Except as set forth in Paragraph 92, the provisions of this Order shall not bar, 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or department from 

taking any other action against AECB. 

89. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be. a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

90. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

9 1. Calcu lation oftime limitations for compli ance with the terms of this Order sha ll 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

92. Th is Order constitutes a settlement of the adm inistrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Find ings and 

Conclusions set forth in th is Order. The CFPB releases and di scharges the Bank from all 

potential I iabi I ity (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or 

c ivil money penalty that has been or might have been asse1ted by the CFPB based o n AECB's 

conduct, as described in the CFPB Findings and Conc lusions, to the extent such conduct was 

known to the CFPB as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices 

a lleged in this Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank 

and its afft liates to establi sh a pattern or practice of v io lations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of vio lations or to calcu late the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude 
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or affect any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and 

provisions of this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

93. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AECB, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

94. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

95. Any violation of this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civill!loney penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

96. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

, 2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 20 13-CFPB-00 12 

In the Matter of 

AMERICAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_______________________________ ) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

Respondent American Express Bank, FSB ("AEBFSB" or " the Bank") relating to cettain credit 

card add-on products and has identified violations of law. Under sections I 053 and l 055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFP Act"), the CFPB hereby issues, pursuant to 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

I. 

OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that AEBFSB has engaged in violations of sections I 031 and 

1036 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, for deceptive and unfair marketing practices 

related to certain cred it card add-on products, and vio lations of Regu lation V, 12 C.F.R. 

§ I 022.1 38(b)(7), for failing to provide the mandatory disclosure related to free credit reports . 

II. 

JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over thi s matter pursuant to sections l 053 and l 055 of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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III. 

STIPULATION 

3. AEBFSB has executed a " Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order'' ("'Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, AEBFSB has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to 

sections I 053 and I 055 of the CFP Act, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of findings of fact or violations of law, except that AEBFSB admits the CFPB's 

jurisdiction over AEBFSB and the subject matter of this action. 

IV. 

DEFINITIONS 

4. For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) "Account Protector" shall mean the Account Protector program, a debt 

cancellation credit card add-on product that AEBFSB marketed and sold to 

Card Members from 2004 - July 20 12 that allowed Card Members to request 

benefit payments toward their minimum balances followi ng certain life 

events, including but not limited to unemployment, disability, and other 

events. 

(b) "Board" shall mean AEBFSB's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

(c) "Card" shall mean any consumer charge card or cred it card issued by 

AEBFSB. 

(d) "Card Member" shall mean any consumer who has applied or applies for, and 

received or receives an AEBFSB consumer charge card or credit card. 
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(e) "Credit Card Add-on Products" or "CCAO Products'' shall mean any fee

based or no-charge products or serv ices AEBFSB markets or offers to Card 

Members as an add-on to a Card and that are supplementary to the credit 

provided by the Card, including but not limited to Account Protector and ID 

Protection Products. 

(f) " Effective Date" shall mean the date on which thi s Order is issued. 

(g) " ID Protection Products" shall mean '' ID Protect'' and " ID Protect Premium:· 

that AEBFSB marketed or sold to Card Members from November 2009 until 

July 2012, and shall include Single Identity - the predecessor to 10 Protect

that provided consumers with reports, updates or monitoring of information 

appearing online and information reported to a credit repotiing agency. The 

10 Protection Premium also provided access to a one-time triple-bureau credit 

report and triple-bureau credit monitoring. 

(h) " Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

( i) ·'Sections 1 031 and I 036" shall mean sections 1 031 and I 036 of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 553 1 and 5536. 

U) "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in 

section 1002(26) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 
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v. 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

5. AEBFSB is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. With respect to the marketing of Account Protector and ID Protection Products, 

AEBFSB's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality assurance 

resulted in ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or correct certain improper 

practices. 

Account Protector 

8. AEBFSB marketed Account Protector as a means for a Card Member to pay the 

minimum payment due on the Card Member's account following certain life events. 

9. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector paid a monthly fee of0.85 percent 

of the Card Member's balance as of the statement closing date. 

10. The Account Protector benefit payment amount was the lesser of $500 or 2.5% of 

the Card Member's account balance as ofthe date of the qualifying event. A g iven benefit 

payment could be less than a Card Member's minimum monthly payment, requiring the Card 

Member to pay any difference between the benefit payment and minimum payment. For a 

significant percentage of Card Members enrolled in Account Protector who received benefits, the 

benefit payment did not always cover the minimum payment due on the Card Member's account. 

11. A Card Member enrolled in Account Protector who submitted a benefit claim that 

was approved received a payment toward the Card Member's minimum payment due each 
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month for the duration of the benefit period. Benefit periods varied based on the nature of the 

qualifying event: 

a. Card Members with approved claims for hospitalization or starting co llege 

received the benefit payment for one month; 

b. Card Members with approved claims for marriage, birth or adoption of 

children, home purchase, ca ll to active military duty, relocation , loss of 

spouse, or divorce received the benefit payment each month for two months; 

c. Card Members with approved claims for a leave of absence from their place 

of employment received the benefit payment each month for up to three 

months; and 

d. Card Members with approved claims for involuntary unemployment or 

disability received the benefit payment each month for up to 24 months. 

12. A Card Member who was unemployed or disabled at the time of enrollment was 

not e ligible for a benefit payment due to unemployment or disability existing at the time of 

enrollment. 

13. With respect to Account Protector, the improper outbound telemarketing practices 

included, but were not limited to, the fo llowing examples: 

(a) Representing that the benefit payment amount wo uld cover the Card 

Member's minimum payment due when, in fact, the benefit payment would be 

2.5% of a Card Member's outstanding balance on the date of the qualifying 

event, up to $500 which frequently did not equal the minimum payment due; 

(b) Implying that benefits would last up to 24 months when, in fact, on ly two of 

the thirteen qualifying events with a benefit period covered by Account 
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Protector included benefit periods of 24 months, and the other e leven 

qualify ing events had benefit periods of only one, two. or three months; 

(c) Representing that there would be no fee if the balance in the account was paid 

off, without disclosing that the account balance had to be paid off before the 

end of the bi II ing cycle, a date that always preceded the statement due date; 

(d) Disclosing on telemarketing calls that there would be no fee for balances 

under $100 when, in fact, the fee for Account Protector is 0.85 percent of the 

Card Member's balance; 

(e) Failing to disclose near the outset of the call that Account Protector was 

optional and not required for the Card Member to activate or use the Card 

Member's account; 

(f) Representing that Account Protector would improve or maintain a Card 

Member's credit score ; and 

(g) Implying that benefits would be immediately available when there was a 

claims process that had to be completed before any benefits were paid. 

14. Section I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits ·'unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U .S.C. § 5536(a)( l )(B). 

15. Statements and omissions by AEBFSB or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer"s choice or 

conduct regarding Account Protector and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

16. AEBFSB 's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections I 031 (a) and 1 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 (a), 5536(a)( I )(8). These 
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violations affected over 71.000 Card Members in the amount of at least $ 15.1 mill ion in fees and 

over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

17. Therefore, by reason of the forego ing, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of section 1 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( I )(B). 

ID Protection Products 

18. AEBFSB marketed the I D Protection Products as protection against identity theft 

for Card Members. AEBFSB, in its offering for sa le and sale of 10 Protection Premium 

represented that in exchange for a month ly fee, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers. would 

provide features that included a service to monitor Card Members ' credit information. 

19. The 10 Protection Products had a two-step enrollment process. Following 

enro llment, an enro lled Card Member was sent a we lcome kit that inc luded add itional 

information concerning the ID Protection Products. Included in the welcome kit was the first 

notice that add itional information was required to fully-activate credit monitoring and public 

records monitoring benefits. Until a Card Member submitted the add itional information to 

AEBFSB, the Card Member would not rece ive the full benefit of ID Protection Products. 

20. AEBFSB did not inform Card Members during the telemarketing or enroll ment 

processes that enro llment was a two-step process. AEBFSB billed Card Members the full 

amount for lD Protection Products whether or not the Card Member completed the second step. 

2 1. Approximately 85 percent of Card Members who enrolled in the ID Protection 

Products did not complete the second step of the two-step process and paid the full product fee 

without receiving a ll of the advertised benefits. 
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22. With respect to the lD Protection Products, the improper practices included , but 

were not limited to, the following examples: 

(a) Using a two-step enrollment process in which Card Members enrolled in ID 

Protection Products and were billed upon enrollment, but in which AEBFSB 

fa iled to inform Card Members that they would not receive the fu ll benefit of 

the ID Protection Products until they provided additional information to 

AEBFSB; and 

(b) In some cases, failing to provide the mandatory di sclosure under Regu lation V 

regarding free credit reports to some Card Members. 

23. Section I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFP Act prohibits " unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)( l )(B). 

24. AEBFSB' s acceptance of monthly payments while failing to provide cred it 

monitoring services has resu lted in substantial injury to over 26,000 Card Members in the 

amount of at least $3.5 million in fees and over-limit charges, as well as associated interest fees. 

This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any 

countervailing benefit to the consumers or to competition. 

25. Therefore, by reason ofthe foregoing billing practices for its 10 Protection 

Products as set forth in the preceding paragraphs, AEBFSB, through its Service Providers, 

engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of secti on I 036(a)( I )(B), 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)( l )(B). 

26. When telemarketing sales calls a re made that include offers of free credit reports, 

Regulation V requires that the call include at the first mention of a free credit report the 

following disclosure : "The following notice is required by law. You have the right to a free 
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credit report from AnnuaiCreditReport.com or (877) 322-8228, the only authorized source under 

Federal law.'' 12 C.F .R. § I 022.1 38(b )(7). 

27. In some solicitations, AEBFSB's outbound telemarketing enrollments in certain 

I D Protection Products offered a complimentary "trial period" of 30 days before the Card 

Member incurred product fees. AEBFSB did not make the required disclosure under Regulation 

V in certain calls. 

28. Therefore, by reason of the forego ing sa les practices, AEBFSB vio lated 

Regulation V and the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 12 C.F.R. § I 022. 138(b)(7). 

VI. 

CORRECTIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAWS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that AEBFSB, its officers, agents, servants and employees 

immediately cease and desist, and that AEBFSB manage its business relationships with Service 

Providers in a manner that ensures that its Service Providers immediately cease and desist from 

engag ing in violations of Sections l 031 and I 036 in connection with the marketing, sa les. and 

administration of Account Protector and 10 Protection Products and from engaging in violations 

of Regulation V in connection with the marketing, sa les, and administration of ID Protection 

Products, and it is fw1her ordered that AEBFSB take affirmative actions as of the Effective Date, 

unless otherwise specified, as follows: 

29. AEBFSB shall correct all violations of law, as described herein, and shall 

implement procedures to prevent their recurrence. AEBFSB's actions as required by this 

paragraph shall be satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at subsequent 

examinations and/or visitations. 
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30. AEBFSB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers. shall cease and 

desist from any marketing or so licitation of Account Protector or ID Protection Products unti l it 

has submitted a compliance plan, specificall y designed to eliminate all violations of Sections 

I 031 and I 036 and Regulation V in the marketing, sales, and administration of these products to 

the Regional Director for non-objection (the "Compliance Plan'"). This Compliance Plan shall be 

designed to comply with all provisions of thi s Order. Within 30 days from the Effecti ve Date, 

AEBFSB shall confirm with the Regional Director that it has withdrawn or suspended any 

marketing or solicitation of Account Protector and ID Protection Products. 

Correct Deceptive Marketing of Account Protector 

31. AEBFSB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of Sections I 031 and I 036 with respect to Account Protector. In add ition, 

AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections 

I 03 1 and I 036 when marketing or selling Account Protector, as described more particularly 

herein. 

32. AEBFSB, its Service Providers, or its representatives shall not make, or allow to 

be made, any deceptive representations, or allow to be made, any deceptive representations, 

statements, or omissions, expressly or by implication, in the marketing materials, telemarketing 

scripts and/or sales presentations used to so licit any Card Member or prospective Card Member 

to enroll in Account Protector, including but not limited to misrepresentations as to the 

fo llowing: 

(a) Any and all fees, costs, expenses and charges associated with Account 

Protector; 
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(b) That Account Protector is optional and not required for the Card Member to 

activate or use his or her Card; 

(c) That Account Protector will improve or maintain a Card Member's credit 

score; 

(d) That Account Protector will cover a Card Member's minimum balance, 

(e) The timing of and mechanism for calculating a Card Member's benefit 

amount available when the Card Member uses Account Protector; 

(f) Payment terms for Account Protector, including the date AEBFSB will use to 

calculate any fee incurred for Account Protector; 

(g) The length of the benefit period, including that most qualify ing events carry a 

benefit period of one, two, or three months; and 

(h) Any material conditions, benefits and restrictions related to Account 

Protector. 

Correct Unfair Practices Relating to ID Protection Products 

33. AEBFSB shall take all action necessary to eliminate all unfair acts and practices 

in v iolation of Sections I 031 and 1036 with respect to the I D Protection Products. In addition, 

AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future compliance with Sections 

I 031 and 1036 when marketing, selling, or administering the ID Protection Products, as 

described more particularly herein. 

34. AEBFSB, whether acting directly or through its Service Providers, shall di sclose 

to Card Members during telemarketing solicitations the specific terms and features ofthe ID 

Protection Products. 
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35. AEBFSB shall not charge Card Members for the ID Protection Products until the 

Card Members complete the steps necessary to receive the full benefits of the products. 

Correct Regulation V Violations in Marketing Practices 

36. AEBFSB shal l take all action necessary to make all required disclosures in 

telemarketing sales calls that include offers of a free credit report in compliance with 

Regulation V. In addition, AEBFSB shall take all necessary steps to effect and maintain future 

compliance with Regulation V when marketing or selling ID Protection Products as described 

more particularly herein. 

37. ff AEBFSB continues to offer ID Protection Products that include a free credit 

report, or offers to Card Members at some time in the future the products or any similar products 

that include a free credit report, AEBFSB shall disclose to card members during telemarketing 

so licitations a di sclosu re consistent with the requirements of Regu lation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022. l 38(b)(7) . 

VII. 

COMPREHENSIVE CREDIT CARD ADD-ON PRODUCT REVIEW 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that AEBFSB take additional affirmative actions as 

fol lows: 

Independent Third Party Review 

38. Within 30 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for non-objection the name and qualifications of an independent third party (''Add-On 

Review Consultant") who possesses the appropriate expertise and qualifications to review all 

Cred it Card Add-on Products offered by AEBFSB. At a minimum, the Add-on Review 

Consultant shall: 
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(a) Review and assess all CCAO Products, with the exception of Account 

Protector and JD Protection Products, for compliance with Sections I 031 and 

I 036 and all other applicable Federal consumer financial laws; and 

(b) Provide to the Board a detailed written report containing its analys is, 

assessments, and recommendations, which the Board sha ll rev iew within 60 

days of rece ipt. This rev iew shall be recorded and noted in the Board minutes. 

39. Within 30 days from the rece ipt of non-objection by the Regional Director of the 

selection of the Add-On Review Consultant, the Bank shall develop, in consultation with the 

Add-On Review Consultant, and submit to the Regional Director fo r non-objection, a CCAO 

Product review schedule that shall include, at a minimum: 

(a) A li st grouping all CCAO products to be reviewed with a prioritized review 

schedule; 

(b) The date by which the rev iew will be, or has been, completed fo r each CCAO 

product; and 

(c) The date that the fi nal written reports will be, or have been, completed for a ll 

CCAO products. 

40. AEBFSB shall , within 15 days of the Board' s review of the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report, provide the Regional Director with a copy of the repot1. 

41. If any report prov ided by the Add-On Review Consultant identifies any issues 

regarding compliance with Sections l 031 and I 036 or any other applicable Federal consumer 

financial law, AEBFSB shall : 
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(a) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Review Consultant's report, submit 

a remediation plan to the Regional Director for non-objection prior to 

implementation; and 

(b) Within 120 days of receiving the Add-On Rev iew Consultant's report, submit 

to the Regional Director for non-objection an implementation plan for 

corrective measures to address any issues contained in the Add-On Review 

Consultant's report utilizing the Compliance Program and CMS established in 

accordance with the October l , 2012, Consent Order issued by the CFPB, In 

the Matter of AMERJCAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB, SALT LAKE CITY, 

UTAH, Docket Number 20 12-CFPB-0003 (Oct. 1, 20 12) ("October 2012 

Consent Order"). 

42. AEBFSB shall develop and implement a record-keeping system and internal audit 

procedures that are reasonable designed to a llow the CFPB to: 

(a) Review and monitor AEBFSB' s practices relating to the CCAO Products; and 

(b) Confirm that AEBFSB is in compliance with this Order and a ll Federal 

consumer financial laws, including Sections I 031 and I 036. 

VIII. 

ORDER FOR RESTITUTION 

Payment Floor 

43. AEBFSB shall prov ide restitution in an amount not less than $18,600,000, less 

any restitution made by the Bank prior to the Effective Date of this Order that complies with the 

requirements of this Order (" Payment Floor"), for the purpose of providing restitution as 

required by this Section. If AEBFSB claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective 
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Date of this Order that complies with the requ irements ofthis Order, the Bank shall provide 

appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional Director w ithin 30 days of the Effective 

Date. 

44. AEBFSB shall make a ll restitution required by this Order, regard less of whether 

the total of such restitution exceeds the Payment Floor. 

45. Upon completion of al l restitution required by this Order, if the amount of 

restitution made is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days of the Bureau's non-objection to 

the Restitution Report pursuant to Paragraph 65 , AEBFSB is ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the 

form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance with w iring instructions to be provided by counse l for the Bureau, the difference 

between the amount of restitution provided and the Payment Floor. 

46. Any funds paid to the CFPB under Paragraph 45 shall be deposited in the U.S. 

Treasury as di sgorgement. 

47. If the Bank has provided restitution to a Card Member pu rsuant to the order 

issued on December 19, 20 13 by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, then this Order 

shall not be construed as requ iring the Bank to provide a duplicate restitution payment to that 

Card Member. The Bank shall provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional 

Director. 

Restitution Plan for Eligible Consumers 

48. For purposes of thi s resti tuti on, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) Account Protector Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members 

who were subject to the deceptive pricing claims and who did not receive 
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the benefit of the product as the Bank marketed it. Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers fall into one or more of three groups: 

I. Card Members who bought Account Protector through inbound or 

outbound telemarketing ("Telemarketing Account Protector 

Eligible Consumers"); 

2. Card Members who received a benefit payment that was not 

sufficient to meet the minimum payment due in the billing cycle in 

which the payment was received, regardless of the sales channel 

("Min Due Account Protector Eligible Consumers'.); and 

3. Card members who were denied certain benefits because the Card 

Member's life event experienced while enrolled in Account 

Protector began prior to the time of enrollment ("Denied Account 

Protector Eligible Consumers"). 

(b) ID Protection Eligible Consumers are defined as all Card Members who 

purchased lD Protect and 10 Protect Premium. 

(c) Eligible Consumers are defined as all Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers and ID Protection Eligible Consumers. 

49. Within 90 days after the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit a Restitution Plan 

(the "Restitution Plan"), including samples of letters or other communications sent or to be sent 

to consumers, to the Regional Director for non-objection. 

50. With respect to Account Protector Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall , 

at a minimum, require the Bank to: 
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(a) Refund program fees to Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible 

Consumers as follows: 

I. for those Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers 

who were enrolled in Account Protector for less than twelve 

months, a full refund of all program fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the fees were charged until the 

date of reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card 

Member received during that enrollment; and 

2. for Telemarketing Account Protector Eligible Consumers who 

were enrolled in Account Protector for twelve months or more, 

restitution equivalent to twelve months of the Card Member's 

average program fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated 

from the date the fees were charged until the date of 

reimbursement, less any benefit payment the Card Member 

received during that enrollment. 

(b) Provide restitution to Min Due Account Protector Elig ible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the difference between the benefit payment the 

Card Member received and an amount equal to at least the minimum 

payment due, any applicable finance charges, late fees, and over-limit 

fees plus at least 1.3% interest calculated from the date the finance 

charges and fees were charged until the date of reimbursement. 

Restitution shall include removing any penalty APR triggered as the 
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result of the benefit payment being insufficient to meet the minimum 

payment due. 

(c) Provide restitution to Denied Account Protector Eligible Consumers. 

The restitution shall be the benefit payment amount the Card Member 

wou ld have received (or the minimum due each relevant billing cycle, 

if greater), had the Card Member's benefit request not been denied, for 

the maximum benefit period for each event, including any applicable 

finance charges, late fees, and over-limit fees plus at least 1.3% 

interest calculated from the date the finance charges and fees were 

charged until the date of reimbursement. Restitution shall include 

removing any penalty APR triggered as the result of the benefit 

payment being insufficient to meet the minimum payment due. 

5 1. With respect to ID Protection Eligible Consumers, the Restitution Plan shall, at a 

minimum, require the Bank to provide full restitution of fees, including any appl icable finance 

charges and over-limit fees, plus at least 1.3% interest calcu lated from the date fees were charged 

unti I the date of reimbursement. 

52. The Restitution Plan shall provide for processes covering al l Elig ible Consumers 

regardless of their current account status with the Bank, including open accounts, closed 

accounts with and without a balance, and charged-off accounts. The process shall include the 

following requirements: 

(a) For any open cred it card account (including inactive accounts), the Bank shall 

deliver a statement cred it to the account and/or otherwise send a check; 
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(b) For any closed credit card account, the Bank shall decrease the account balance 

(if any) by the amount of the redress, and where the redress is greater than the 

existing account balance, mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(c) For any charged-off account, the Bank shall decrease the charged-off balance by 

the amount of redress, and where the refund is greater than the ex isting charged

off balance, the Bank shall mail to the Eligible Consumer a check in the amount 

of the excess; 

(d) If the account holder is deceased, and the balance is greater than the refund, the 

Bank shall provide a statement credit to the account, and otherwise a refund 

check for the remaining refund shall be sent in accordance with appl icable law; 

and 

(e) With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and sold charged

off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in accordance with applicable law. 

53. Within 180 days of receipt of non-objection from the Regional Director. the Bank 

shall implement the Restitution Plan. Restitution provided by the Bank shall not limit 

consumers· rights in any way. 

54. The Bank shall retain for seven years all records pertaining to the Restitution 

Plan, including but not limited to: documentation of the processes and procedures used to 

determine the Eligible Consumers; the names, contact, and account information of the Eligible 

Consumers; any mailing records; and documentation that the appropriate restitution and 

equitable relief were made. 
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Review of Restitution Plan 

55. Prior to submission to the Regional Director, the Restitution Plan shall be 

reviewed by the Compliance Program Consultant retained pursuant to paragraph 16 of the 

October 2012 Consent Order or another independent third party capable of conducting this 

review that is acceptable to the Regional Director. 

Mailing Refunds 

56. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review a plan for mailing refunds, including the proposed text of letters or other 

communications that have been sent or shall be sent to Eligible Consumers regarding restitution 

checks or account credits. For letters sent on or after the Effective Date of the Order, the letters 

shall include satisfactory language explaining the reason AEBFSB is sending a restitution check 

or crediting an account, including that AEBFSB is sending the check or crediting an account as 

the result of an enforcement action by the CFPB. Any letters or other communications sent after 

the Effective Date of this Order shall also include reference to and the web address for any CFPB 

press releases related to this Order. AEBFSB shall then address any comments ofthe Regional 

Director, making such changes as may be required to the proposed letters. The letters, 

incorporating any changes that may be required in response to comments by the Regional 

Director, shall be sent by mail to all Eligible Consumers entitled to receive restitution checks 

and/or credits to their accounts in accordance with this Order. 

57. When AEBFSB makes cash restitution by check made payable to any consumer 

receiving restitution under this Order ("Eligible Consumer"), AEBFSB shall send the check by 

United States Postal Service first-class mail , address correction service requested, to the Eligible 

Consumer's last address as maintained by AEBFSB's records. AEBFSB shall make reasonable 
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a ttempts to obtain a current address for any Eli gible Consumer whose notification letter and/or 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using standard address sea rch methodo logies, and 

sha ll promptl y re-mail all returned letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if any. If 

the check for any eligible consumer is returned to AEBFSB after such second mailing by 

AEBFSB, or if a current mailing address cannot be identified using standard address search 

methodo logies, AEBFSB shall retain the restitutio n amount of such Elig ible Consumer fo r a 

period o f three-hundred sixty (360) days from the date the restituti on check was o rig ina lly 

ma iled, during which period such amount may be c la imed by such Eli gible Consumer upon 

appropriate proof of identity. After such time these monies shall be disposed of in accordance 

with the Restitution Plan. 

Engagement of Independent Accounting Firm 

58. AEBFSB shall utilize, at its own expense, the serv ices of the independent certifi ed 

accounting firm ("F irm") reta ined as part of the October 201 2 Consent Order, or within 15 days 

after the Regional Director' s non-objection pursuant to Paragraph 59, reta in, at its own expense, 

a d ifferent Firm acceptable to the Regional Director to determine compliance w ith the 

Restitut ion Plans. The Firm shall determine compliance in accordance with the attestati on 

standards established by the American Institute of Ce1tified Public Accountants fo r agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

59. [f AEBFSB elects to engage a diffe rent Firm, prior to engagement, and no later 

than 60 days from the Effective Date, AEBFSB sha ll submit the name and qua lificatio ns of the 

Firm, together w ith the proposed engagement letter w ith the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon 

procedures, to the Regional Director for no n-objection. If AEBFSB intends to utilize the 

se rvices of the F irm reta ined pursuant to the October 20 12 Consent Order, no later than 60 days 
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from the Effective Date, AEBFSB shall submit notification of that intent, together with the 

proposed engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to the 

Regional Director for non-objection. 

60. The engagement letter between AEBFSB and the Firm shall grant the CFPB 

access to the Firm's staff, work-papers, and materials prepared in the course of the Firm's 

engagement and preparation of the reports required by this Order. 

61. If AEBFSB elects to engage a different Firm, to be acceptable to the Regional 

Director, the Firm must be an objective and unaffiliated third party and, at a minimum, comply 

with the Code of Conduct of the appropriate State Board of Accountancy. 

62. Within 15 days after submission of the Firm's name, the Regional Director shall 

notify AEBFSB in writing of the CFPB 's objection or non-objection thereto. 

63. The Firm shall submit the Restitution Report called for in Paragraph 65 to the 

Regional Director for non-objection within 90 days after the Bank completes implementation of 

the Restitution Plan. 

Report on Restitution 

64. The Firm shall review and verify that the Bank accurately identified the Eligible 

Consumers, calculated restitution correctly, and made the appropriate account credits or cash 

refunds to Eligible Consumers. 

65. The Firm shall prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of AEBFSB's 

campi iance with the Restitution Plan ("Restitution Report"). The Restitution Report shall also 

include the follow ing: 

(a) The processes and procedures by which AEBFSB determined the restitution 

amounts described in Paragraphs 50- 51; 
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(b) The total number of each such class of E ligi ble Consumers; 

(c) The total amount of restitution made to each such class of Eligi ble Consumers 

under the Restitution Plan; and 

(d) The total amount of interest paid . 

IX. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

66. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of the violations of law and/or 

regulations set forth in Section V of this Order, and after taking into account the Stipulation and 

taking into account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3): AEBFSB shall pay civ il 

money penalties of$2,000,000 to the CFPB, in accordance with section 101 7(d) ofthe CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the CFPB and as set forth herein. 

67. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, AEBFSB shall pay the civil money penalty 

in the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 

68. T he civ il money penalty paid pursuant to thi s Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the CFPB in accordance with section I 017(d) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

69. In the event of any default on A EBFSB's obligation to make payment under thi s 

Section, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on any 

outstanding amo unts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediate ly become due and payable. 

70. AEBFSB shall re linquish a ll dominion, control, and title to the fu nds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to AEBFSB. 
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71. AEBFSB shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government 

for all purposes. Regardless of how the CFPB ultimately uses those funds, AEBFSB shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that AEBFSB pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that AEBFSB pays 

pursuant to this Order. 

X. 

NOTIFICATION AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

72. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter fo llowing the Effective 

Date, AEBFSB shall provide a written progress report address ing each provision of this Order 

and detailing the form , manner, results and dates of any actions taken to secure compliance w ith 

the prov isions of this Order to the Regional Director. A ll progress reports and other written 

responses to this Order shall be reviewed by the Board and made a part of the Board minutes. 

The progress reports shall be true and accurate and accompanied by a certification of compliance 

signed by the Chairman of the Board and the Bank President. The certification of compliance 

shall include the following: 

(a) A statement confirming that AEBFSB is in compliance with all provisions of 

this Order; or 

(b) If AEBFSB is not in compliance w ith a ll provisions ofthis Order, AEBFSB 

must prov ide: 
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1. A list of the provisions with which AEBFSB is not yet in compliance, 

an explanation of why AEBFSB is not yet in compliance with each 

specific provision, and a description of the actions AEBFSB has taken 

to comply with the provision; and 

11. A statement as to when AEBFSB wi ll be in fu ll compliance with th is 

Order. 

XI. 

NOTICES 

73. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by the 

Regional Director, a ll submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents 

relating to this Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. 

Postal Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 
Regional Director, CFPB Western Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
30 I Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94 105 

The subject line shall include the Docket Number and sha ll begin: In re American Express Bank, 

FSB. 

74. Prov ided however that AEBFSB may send such reports or notifications by first-

c lass mail, but on ly if AEBFSB contemporaneously sends an e lectronic version of such report or 

notification to: Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XII. 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 
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75. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon a written showing of good cause, the 

Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

XIII. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

76. Except as set forth in Paragraph 80, the provisions of this Order shall not bar, 

estop or otherwise prevent the CFPB or any other federal or state agency or depattment from 

taking any other action against AEBFSB. 

77. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to section I 053 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and 

may not be construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

78. T his Order shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

79. Calculation of time limitations for compliance with the terms ofthis Order sha ll 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

80. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the CFPB Findings and 

Conclusions set forth in thi s Order. The CFPB releases and discharges the Bank from all 

potential liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and des ist or other order or 

c iv il money penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on AEBFSB's 

conduct, as described in the CFPB Findings and Conclusions, to the extent such conduct was 

known to the CFPB as of the Effecti ve Date. Notwithstanding the forego ing, the practices 

alleged in thi s Order may be utilized by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank 
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and its affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude 

or affect any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and 

provisions of this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

81. The provisions of this Order shall be binding on AEBFSB, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, other institution-affiliated parties, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

82. The provisions of this Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the 

extent that and until such time as any provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set 

aside by the CFPB. 

83. Any violation of this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §5565(c). 

84. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. 

Issued thi& 'tf"ay of Oe.ce.,Ae.t '2013. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues For-Profit College Chain ITT
For Predatory Lending
ITT Pushed Consumers into High-Cost Student Loans Likely to Fail

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
filed a lawsuit against ITT Educational Services, Inc., accusing the for-profit college
chain of predatory student lending. The CFPB alleges that ITT exploited its students
and pushed them into high-cost private student loans that were very likely to end in
default. The CFPB is seeking restitution for victims, a civil fine, and an injunction
against the company.

“ITT marketed itself as improving consumers’ lives but it was really just improving its
bottom line,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We believe ITT used high-pressure
tactics to push many consumers into expensive loans destined to default. Today’s action
should serve as a warning to the for-profit college industry that we will be vigilant about
protecting students against predatory lending tactics.”

Like the mortgage market in the lead-up to the financial crisis, the for-profit college
industry may be experiencing misaligned incentives. These colleges benefit when
students take out large amounts of loans, regardless of the students’ long-term success.
The CFPB is concerned that some of these corporations may be employing practices to
coax consumers into taking out more federal and private student loans. Today’s
announcement is the Bureau’s first public enforcement action against a company in the
for-profit college industry.

ITT Educational Services, Inc. is an Indiana-based for-profit provider of post-secondary
technical education. Tens of thousands of students are enrolled online or at one of ITT’s
roughly 150 institutions in nearly 40 states. ITT’s tuition costs are among the highest in
the country in the for-profit industry. Earning an associate’s degree at ITT can cost
more than $44,000. Bachelor’s degree programs can cost $88,000. That is significantly
higher than the cost of similar degrees at a community college or a public four-year
institution.

Most of ITT’s students borrow large sums to pay the high tuition costs and the majority
of this money is borrowed from federal student loan programs. But private student
loans also provide critical revenue for ITT. Because most ITT students’ federal aid does
not cover the full cost of an ITT program, most students face a “tuition gap” requiring
them to find other sources of funding.

The CFPB’s lawsuit alleges that ITT encouraged new students to enroll at ITT by
providing them funding for this tuition gap with a zero-interest loan called “Temporary
Credit.” This loan typically had to be paid in full at the end of the student’s first
academic year. But ITT knew from the outset that many students would not be able to
repay their Temporary Credit balances or fund their next year’s tuition gap.

S IGN  UP

Search

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#zh
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#vi
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ko
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#tl
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ru
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ar
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ht
http://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-sues-for-profit-college-chain-itt-for-predatory-lending/&t=CFPB%20Sues%20For-Profit%20College%20Chain%20ITT%20For%20Predatory%20Lending
http://twitter.com/intent/tweet/?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-sues-for-profit-college-chain-itt-for-predatory-lending/&via=CFPB
http://api.addthis.com/oexchange/0.8/forward/email/offer?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-sues-for-profit-college-chain-itt-for-predatory-lending/&title=CFPB%20Sues%20For-Profit%20College%20Chain%20ITT%20For%20Predatory%20Lending&pubid=ra-4da354ee346886d2
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/CFPB_2tone_Horiz_RGB.png
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201402_cfpb_photo_richard-cordray.jpg
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201405_cfpb_photo_steve-antonakes.jpg
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/the-bureau/about-rich-cordray/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/the-bureau/about-steve-antonakes/
mailto:Jennifer.Howard@cfpb.gov
mailto:Walter.Suskind@cfpb.gov
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
tel:+18554112372
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom-feed/


Twitter Facebook Flickr Youtube

Mallory.Mclean@cfpb.gov

Moira Vahey
Spokesperson
(202) 435-9151
Moira.Vahey@cfpb.gov

Sam Gilford
Spokesperson
(202) 435-7673
Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov

Stay connected

Archive

▼ 2014

OCTOBER 2014 (9)

SEPTEMBER 2014 (23)

AUGUST 2014 (12)

JULY 2014 (17)

JUNE 2014 (13)

MAY 2014 (11)

APRIL 2014 (14)

MARCH 2014 (12)

FEBRUARY 2014 (11)

JANUARY 2014 (13)

► 2013

► 2012

► 2011

► 2010

The CFPB lawsuit alleges that between July 2011 and December 2011, ITT pushed its
students into repaying their Temporary Credit and funding their second-year tuition
gaps through high-cost private student loan programs. Students were left in the dark
about the fact that taking out these high-cost loans would be required to continue their
studies. However, ITT’s CEO revealed in investor calls that converting the temporary
loans to long-term loans was the company’s “plan all along.”

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. Specifically, in today’s lawsuit, the Bureau alleges the following conduct by
ITT:

Pressured into predatory loans: ITT used its financial aid staff to rush
students through an automated application process without affording them a fair
opportunity to understand the loan obligations involved. In some cases, students
did not even know they had a private student loan until they started getting
collection calls. The loans were high-cost. For borrowers with credit scores under
600, for example, the costs of the private student loans included 10 percent
origination fees and interest rates as high as 16.25 percent.

Credits not transferable: ITT was accredited by a national organization that
accredits many for-profit schools, but the credits that students earned typically
did not transfer to local community colleges or other nonprofit schools such as
public or private colleges. ITT used the prospect of expulsion and the loss of the
money already spent during the student’s first year to coerce students into taking
out the private loans.

Misleading future job prospects: The Bureau believes that ITT’s
representations led students to think that when they graduated they were likely to
land good jobs and enough salary to repay their private student loans. In this way,
ITT exploited student expectations while it knew that a majority of students
would default.

Loans likely to fail: ITT knew that most of its students would ultimately default
on their private student loans; it projected a default rate for its students of 64
percent. Defaulting on private student loans can have grave consequences for
consumers. It can make it difficult to get any kind of loan for years and even affect
a borrower’s job prospects. And, because private student loans are difficult to
discharge in bankruptcy, the debt can be very difficult to recover from.

The complaint against ITT can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201402_cfpb_complaint_ITT.pdf

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually
violated the law.

To assist student loan borrowers who may be in delinquency or default, the CFPB
recently launched an updated version of the Repay Student Debt interactive tool.

The CFPB also recently finalized a rule allowing it to supervise certain nonbank
servicers of federal and private student loans. The rule takes effect on March 1.

CFPB takes complaints about student loans. To submit a complaint,
consumers can:

Go online at consumerfinance.gov/complaint
Call the toll-free phone number at 1-855-411-CFPB (2372) or TTY/TDD phone
number at 1-855-729-CFPB (2372)
Fax the CFPB at 1-855-237-2392

http://twitter.com/cfpb
https://www.facebook.com/CFPB
http://www.flickr.com/photos/cfpbphotos
http://www.youtube.com/cfpbvideo
mailto:Mallory.Mclean@cfpb.gov
mailto:Moira.Vahey@cfpb.gov
mailto:Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/10/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/09/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/08/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/07/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/06/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/05/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/04/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/03/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/02/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/01/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201402_cfpb_complaint_ITT.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/paying-for-college/repay-student-debt/#Question-1
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-to-oversee-nonbank-student-loan-servicers/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/complaint
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 

THE STATE OF ALABAMA, 
Alabama Attorney General's Office 
501 Washington Avenue 
Montgomery, AL 36130 

THE STATE OF ALASKA, 
Alaska Attorney General's Office 
1031 W. 4th Avenue, Ste. 200 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA, 
Arizona Attorney General's Office 
1275 W. Washington 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

THE STATE OF ARKANSAS, 
Office of the Attorney General 
323 Center Street, Suite 200 
Little Rock, AK 72201 

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
California Attorney General's Office 
455 Golden Gate Avenue, Ste. 11000 
San Francisco, CA 94102-7007 

THE STATE OF COLORADO, 
Colorado Attorney General's Office 
Ralph L. Carr Colorado Judicial Center 
1300 Broadway, 7th Floor 
Denver, CO 80203 

THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT, 
Office of the Connecticut Attorney General 
55 Elm Street, P.O. Box 120 
Hartford, CT 06141-0120 
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THE STATE OF DELAWARE, 
Delaware Attorney General's Office 
820 N. French Street 
Wilmington, DE 19801 

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, 
Department of Legal Affairs 
Office of the Attorney General 
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 325 
Tampa, FL 33607 

THE STATE OF GEORGIA, 
Georgia Department of Law 
40 Capitol Square, S.W. 
Atlanta, GA 30334 

THE STATE OF HAWAII, 
Department of the Attorney General 
425 Queen Street 
Honolulu, HI 96813 

THE STATE OF IDAHO, 
Office of the Idaho Attorney General 
700 W. Jefferson St. 
P.O. Box 83720 
Boise, ID 83720-0010 

THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, 
Office of the Illinois Attorney General 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, IL 62706 

THE STATE OF INDIANA, 
Indiana Office of the Attorney General 
302 West Washington St., IGCS 5th Fl. 
Indianapolis, IN 46204 

THE STATE OF IOWA, 
Iowa Attorney General's Office 
1305 E. Walnut St. 
Des Moines, IA 50319 

THE STATE OF KANSAS, 
Office of the Kansas Attorney General 
120 SW 10th Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Topeka, KS 66612 
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THE COMMONWEALTH 
OF KENTUCKY, 
Office of the Attorney General of Kentucky 
State Capitol, Suite 118 
700 Capital Avenue 
Frankfort, KY 40601-3449 

THE STATE OF LOUISIANA, 
Louisiana Attorney General's Office 
1885 N. Third Street 
Baton Rouge, LA 70802 

THE STATE OF MAINE, 
Maine Attorney General's Office 
Burton Cross Office Building, 6th Floor 
111 Sewall Street 
Augusta, ME 04330 

THE STATE OF MARYLAND, 
Office of the Attorney General of Maryland 
200 Saint Paul Place 
Baltimore, MD 21202 

THE COMMONWEALTH 
OF MASSACHUSETTS, 
Massachusetts Attorney General's Office 
One Ashburton Place 
Boston, MA 02108 

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, 
Michigan Department of Attorney General 
525 W. Ottawa Street 
PO Box 30755 
Lansing, MI 48909 

THE STATE OF MINNESOTA, 
Minnesota Attorney General's Office 
445 Minnesota Street, Suite 1200 
St. Paul, MN 55101-2130 

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, 
Mississippi Attorney General's Office 
Post Office Box 22947 
Jackson, MS 39225-2947 
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THE STATE OF MISSOURI, 
Missouri Attorney General's Office 
PO Box 899 
Jefferson City, MO 65102 

THE STATE OF MONTANA, 
Montana Department of Justice 
215 N. Sanders 
Helena MT 59624 

THE STATE OF NEBRASKA, 
Office of the Attorney General 
2115 State Capitol 
Lincoln, NE 68509-8920 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
Nevada Office of the Attorney General 
100 North Carson Street 
Carson City, NV 89701 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE, 
New Hampshire Department of Justice 
33 Capitol Street 
Concord, NH 03301 

THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY, 
New Jersey Attorney General's Office 
124 Halsey Street — 5th Floor 
P.O. Box 45029 
Newark, NJ 07101 

THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO, 
Office of the New Mexico Attorney General 
PO Drawer 1508 
Santa Fe, NM 87504-1508 

THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
Office of the New York State 
Attorney General 
120 Broadway 
New York, NY 10271 

THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, 
North Carolina Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 629 
Raleigh, NC 27602 
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THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA, 
Office of the Attorney General 
Gateway Professional Center 
1050 E Interstate Ave, Ste. 200 
Bismarck, ND 58503-5574 

THE STATE OF OHIO, 
Ohio Attorney General's Office 
30 E. Broad St., 15th Floor 
Columbus, OH 43215 

THE STATE OF OREGON, 
Oregon Department of Justice 
1515 SW 5th Avenue, Ste. 410 
Portland, OR 97201 

THE COMMONWEALTH 
OF PENNSYLVANIA, 
Office of the Attorney General 
16th Floor, Strawberry Square 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND, 
Rhode Island Department 
of Attorney General 
150 South Main Street 
Providence, RI 02903 

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
South Carolina Attorney General's Office 
1000 Assembly Street, Room 519 
Columbia, SC 29201 

THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA, 
South Dakota Attorney General's Office 
1302 E. Highway 14, Suite 1 
Pierre, SD 57501 

THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 
Office of the Tennessee Attorney General 
425 Fifth Avenue North 
Nashville, TN 37243-3400 

5 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 5 of 65



THE STATE OF TEXAS, 
Texas Attorney General's Office 
401 E. Franklin Avenue, Suite 530 
El Paso, TX 79901 

THE STATE OF UTAH, 
Division of Consumer Protection 
Utah Attorney General's Office 
350 North State Street, #230 
Salt Lake City, UT 84114-2320 

THE STATE OF VERMONT, 
Office of the Attorney General 
109 State Street 
Montpelier, VT 05609 

THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, 
Office of the Virginia Attorney General 
900 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
Washington State Attorney General's Office 
1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 
PO Box 2317 
Tacoma, WA 98402-4411 

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 
West Virginia Attorney General's Office 
State Capitol, Room 26E 
Charleston, WV 25305-0220 

THE STATE OF WISCONSIN, 
Wisconsin Department of Justice 
Post Office Box 7857 
Madison, WI 53707-7857 

THE STATE OF WYOMING, and 
Wyoming Attorney General's Office 
123 State Capitol Bldg. 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, 
Office of the Attorney General 
441 Fourth Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20001 
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) 
) 
) 

Plaintiffs, ) 
) 

v. ) 
) 

OCWEN FINANCIAL CORPORATION, ) 
) 

and OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, ) 

) 
Defendants. ) 
 ) 

CONSENT JUDGMENT 

WHEREAS, Plaintiffs, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "CFPB" or 

"Bureau"), and the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, 

Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, 

Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, 

Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, 

Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, 

Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, the Commonwealths of Kentucky, 

Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and Virginia, and the District of Columbia (collectively, "Plaintiff 

States") filed their complaint on December 19, 2013, alleging that Ocwen Financial Corporation 

and Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (collectively, "Defendant" or "Ocwen") violated, among other 

laws, the Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices laws of the Plaintiff States and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010. 

WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to resolve their claims without the need for 

litigation; 
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WHEREAS, Defendant has consented to entry of this Consent Judgment without trial or 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law and to waive any appeal if the Consent Judgment is 

entered as submitted by the parties; 

WHEREAS, Defendant, by entering into this Consent Judgment, does not admit the 

allegations of the Complaint other than those facts deemed necessary to the jurisdiction of this 

Court; 

WHEREAS, the intention of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the States in 

effecting this settlement is to remediate harms allegedly resulting from the alleged unlawful 

conduct of the Defendant; 

WHEREAS, the State Mortgage Regulators are entering into a Settlement Agreement and 

Consent Order with Ocwen to resolve the findings identified in the course of multi-state and 

concurrent independent examinations of Ocwen, as well as examinations of Litton Loan 

Servicing, LP and Homeward Residential, Inc., which were subsequently acquired by Ocwen. 

AND WHEREAS, Defendant has agreed to waive service of the complaint and summons 

and hereby acknowledges the same; 

NOW THEREFORE, without trial or adjudication of issue of fact or law, without this 

Consent Judgment constituting evidence against Defendant, and upon consent of Defendant, the 

Court finds that there is good and sufficient cause to enter this Consent Judgment, and that it is 

therefore ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED: 

I. JURISDICTION 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1367, and under 12 U.S.C. § 5565, and over Defendant. The 
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Complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted against Defendant. Venue is 

appropriate in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(0. 

II. APPLICABILITY 

2. Defendant's obligations as set forth in this Consent Judgment and the attached 

Exhibits shall apply equally and fully to Defendant regardless of whether Defendant is servicing 

residential mortgages as a servicer or subservicer. 

III. SERVICING STANDARDS 

3. Defendant shall comply with the Servicing Standards, attached hereto as Exhibit 

A, in accordance with their terms and Section A of Exhibit D, attached hereto. 

IV. FINANCIAL TERMS 

4. Payments to Foreclosed Borrowers and Administration Costs. Ocwen shall pay 

or cause to be paid the sum of $127.3 million (the "Borrower Payment Amount") into an interest 

bearing escrow account established for this purpose by the State members of the Monitoring 

Committee within 10 days of receiving notice from the State members of the Monitoring 

Committee that the account is established. The State members of the Monitoring Committee and 

the Administrator appointed under Exhibit B will use the funds in this account to provide cash 

payments to borrowers whose homes were sold in a foreclosure sale between and including 

January 1, 2009, and December 31, 2012, and who otherwise meet criteria set forth by the 

Monitoring Committee, and to pay the reasonable costs and expenses of the Administrator, 

including taxes and fees for tax counsel, if any. Ocwen shall also pay or cause to be paid any 

additional amounts necessary to pay claims, if any, of borrowers whose data is provided to the 

Administrator by Ocwen after Defendant warrants that the data is complete and accurate pursuant 
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to Paragraph 3 of Exhibit B. The Borrower Payment Amount shall be administered in 

accordance with the terms set forth in Exhibit B. 

5. Consumer Relief. Defendant shall provide $2 billion of relief to consumers who 

meet the eligibility criteria in the forms and amounts described in Exhibit C, to remediate harms 

allegedly caused by the alleged unlawful conduct of Defendant. Defendant shall receive credit 

towards such obligation as described in Exhibit C. 

V. ENFORCEMENT 

6. The Servicing Standards and Consumer Relief Requirements, attached as Exhibits 

A and C, are incorporated herein as the judgment of this Court and shall be enforced in 

accordance with the authorities provided in the Enforcement Terms, attached hereto as Exhibit 

D. 

7. The Parties agree that Joseph A. Smith, Jr. shall be the Monitor and shall have the 

authorities and perform the duties described in the Enforcement Terms. 

8. Within fifteen (15) days of the Effective Date of this Consent Judgment, the 

Plaintiffs shall designate an Administration and Monitoring Committee (the "Monitoring 

Committee") as described in the Enforcement Terms. The Monitoring Committee shall serve as 

the representative of the Plaintiffs in the administration of all aspects of this Consent Judgment 

and the monitoring of compliance with it by the Defendant. 

VI. RELEASES 

9. The CFPB and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for the terms provided 

herein, for the release of certain claims and remedies as provided in the CFPB Release, attached 

hereto as Exhibit E. CFPB and Defendant have also agreed that certain claims and remedies are 
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not released, as provided in Paragraph C of Exhibit E. The releases contained in Exhibit E shall 

become effective upon payment of the Borrower Payment Amount by Defendant. 

10. The Plaintiff States and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for the terms 

provided herein, for the release of certain claims and remedies as provided in the State Release, 

attached hereto as Exhibit F. The Plaintiff States and Defendant have also agreed that certain 

claims and remedies are not released, as provided in Section IV of Exhibit F. The releases 

contained in Exhibit F shall become effective upon payment of the Borrower Payment Amount 

by Defendant. 

VII. OTHER TERMS 

11. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and any State Party may withdraw 

from the Consent Judgment and declare it null and void with respect to that party if Ocwen fails 

to make any payment required under this Consent Judgment and such non-payment is not cured 

within thirty (30) days of written notice by the party, except that the Released Parties, as defined 

in Exhibits E and F, other than Ocwen, are released upon the payment of the Borrower Payment 

Amount, at which time this nullification provision is only operative against Ocwen. 

12. This Court retains jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Judgment to 

enforce its terms. The parties may jointly seek to modify the terms of this Consent Judgment, 

subject to the approval of this Court. This Consent Judgment may be modified only by order of 

this Court. 

13. In addition to the provisions of paragraph 12, and in accordance with the terms set 

forth in Exhibit D, any Plaintiff State may also bring an action to enforce the terms of this 

Consent Judgment in the enforcing Plaintiffs state court. Ocwen agrees to submit to the 

jurisdiction of any such state court for purposes of a Plaintiff State's enforcement action. 
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14. The Effective Date of this Consent Judgment shall be the date on which the 

Consent Judgment has been entered by the Court and has become final and non-appealable. An 

order entering the Consent Judgment shall be deemed final and non-appealable for this purpose if 

there is no party with a right to appeal the order on the day it is entered. 

15. This Consent Judgment shall remain in full force and effect for three years from 

the date it is entered ("the Term"), at which time Defendant's obligations under the Consent 

Judgment shall expire, except that pursuant to Exhibit D, Defendant shall submit a final 

Quarterly Report for the last quarter or portion thereof falling within the Term and cooperate 

with the Monitor's review of said report, which shall conclude no later than six months after the 

end of the Term. Defendant shall have no further obligations under this Consent Judgment six 

months after the expiration of the Term, but the Court shall retain jurisdiction for purposes of 

enforcing or remedying any outstanding violations that are identified in the final Monitor Report 

and that have occurred but not been cured during the Term. The expiration of this Consent 

Judgment shall not affect any Releases. 

16. Each party to this litigation will bear its own costs and attorneys' fees. 

17. Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall relieve Defendant of its obligation to 

comply with applicable state and federal law. 

18. The sum and substance of the parties' agreement and of this Consent Judgment 

are reflected herein and in the Exhibits attached hereto. In the event of a conflict between the 

terms of the Exhibits and paragraphs 1-17 of this summary document, the terms of the Exhibits 

shall govern. 
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SO ORDERED this day of old 

Pfd Ire /ti 
UNITED STATE DISTRICT JUDGE 
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For the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

Lucy Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
lucy.morrisacfpb.gov 
202-435-7154 
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Date  Osi /0( l 3 

For the State of Alabama: 

Noel S. Barnes 
Assistant Attorney General 
501 Washington Avenue 
PO Box 300152 
Montgomery, Alabama 36130 
nbarnesr✓ago.state.al.us 
(334) 353-9196 
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For the State of Alaska: 

t<  / /4---- 
Cf --ithia C. Drinl&Vater 
Sr. Assistant Attorney General 
Alaska Department of Law 
1031 W. 4th Avenue, Ste. 200 
Anchorage, AK 99501 
Cynthia.DrinkwaterQalaska.gov 
(907) 269-5200 

16 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 16 of 65



f)ate 

For the to of Arizona: 

Jeremy Shork 
Assistant Attorney General 
400 W. Congress Street, Suite 5315 
Tucson, Arizona 85701 
Jeremy.Shorbei,Vazag.gov 
(520) 628-6504 
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Date 

For the State of Arkansas: 

s B. DePriest 
Deputy Attorney General 
323 Center Street, Suite 500 
jitn.depriest@arkansasag.gov 
(301)682-5028 
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Date: December 12, 2013 

For the State of California: 

FP 71, XL"' 
rances T. Grunder 

Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General 455 Golden Gate Avenue, Suite 11000 
San Francisco, CA 94102 
Frances.Grunder@doj.ca.gov 415-703-5500 
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Date: December 13, 2013 

For the State of Colorado, ex rel. 
John W. Suthers, Attorney General: 

Andy Mc 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Section 
Ralph L. Carr Colorado Judicial Center 
1300 Broadway — 7th Floor
Denver, Colorado 80203 
Andrew.McCallin@State.CO.US 
(720) 508-6215 
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Date: December 12, 2013 

For the State of Connecticut: 

p y \ 1 
Joiepla Charhbers ^ -
Assistant Attorney General 
P.O. Box 120 
55 Elm Street 
Hartford, CT 06141-0120 
(860) 808-5270 
josephchambers@ct.gov 
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Date: 12/13/13 

For the State of De are: 

Matthew F. Lintner 
Director, Fraud and Consumer Protection Div. 
820 N. French Street, 5411 Floor 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
Matthew.Lintner@state.de.us 
(302) 577-8935 
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December , 2013. 

r the State of Florida: 

ttiti 
Pamela Jo ondi 
Attorney General 
The Capitol PL-01 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 
Tel: 850-245-0140 
Fax: 850-413-0632 

Office of the Attorney General 

Vctoria A. Butler 
Assistant Attorney General 
Bureau Chief 
Michael G. Moore 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Tampa, Consumer Protection Division 
Office of the Attorney General, Pam Bondi 
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 325 
Tampa, FL 33607 
Tel: 813-287-7950 
Fax: 813-281-5515 
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Da  

For the State of Georgia: 

1 • 
Jeffrey W. Stump 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Georgia Department of Law 
40 Capitol Square, SW 
Atlanta, Georgia 30334 
jstump@law.ga.gov 
(404) 656-3337 
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Date /Rh/ /13

For the State of Hawaii: 

Deborah Day • n 
Supervising Dep ty Attorney General 
425 Queen Street, Honolulu HI 96813 
Deborah.D.Emerson@Hawaii.Gov 
(808) 586-1180 
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For the State of Idaho 

anie Guyo (Id &a Bar No. 5989) 
cputy Attom 

P.O. Box 83720 
Boise, ID 83720-0010 
stephanic.guyo6T,azidaho.gov 
(208) 334-413 
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For the State of Illinois: 

usan N. Ellis 
Bureau Chief, Consumer Fraud 
Office of the Illinois Attorney General 
100 West Randolph Street 
Chicago, IL 60601 
sellis@atg.state.il.us 
312-814-3000 
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For the State o 

ABIGA LA LIS KUZMA 
Direct() and Chief Counsel 
Consumer Protection Division 
Indiana Office of the Attorney General 
302 West Washington St., IGCS 51h Fl. 
Abigail.Kuzma@atg.in.gov 
Tel: 317-234-6843 

28 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 28 of 65



Date:  /=.:K1 // 7//3 

For the State of Iowa: 

Patrick Madigan 
Assistant Attorney General 
Iowa Attorney General's Office 
1305 East Walnut Street 
Des Moines, IA 50319 
Patrick.Madigan@Iowa.gov 
(515) 281-5926 
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For the State of Kansas: 

Meghan E. Stoppel 
Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Kansas Attorney General 
120 SW le Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Topeka, Kansas 66612 
Meghan.Stoppel(a)ksitg.oig 
(785) 296-3751 
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Date - 1().-Ao13 

For the Commonwealth of Kentucky: 

Jacic-Conyva 
Attom neral of Kentucky 
700 ap. al Avenue, Suite 11 
Frankfort, KY 40601 
susan.britton@ag.ky.gov 
502-696-5643 
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Date: -11-1.0%3 For the State of Louisiana: 

James D. "Bu dy" aldwell 
Louisiana Attorney General 
Post Office Box 94005 
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70804-9005 
E-mail: Caldwellb!cTag.state.la.us 
Phone Number: 225-326-6705 
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Date 1 ai i 4 /  3 

For the State of Maine 

LINDA J. CONTI 
Assistant Attorney eneral 
Office of the Attorney General 
6 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333-0006 
Linda,conti@maine.gov 
(207) 626-8591 
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Date December 13, 2013 For the State of Maryland: 

, 
Lucy A. Cardwell 
Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
Office of the Maryland Attorney General 
200 St. Paul Place 
Baltimore, MD 21202 
lcardwell@oag.state.md.us 
410-576-6337 
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Date December 17, 2013 

For the Commonwealth of Massachusetts: 

Glenn S. Kaplan 
Assistant Attorney General 
One Ashburton Place, 18th Floor 
Boston, MA 02108 
(ikon. anl an(i4statc.mq.ps 
617-963-2453 
D.C. Bar No. 429052 
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Date  /P. -/3  • /3 

For the State of Michigan: 

auge...01 2 
D.J. Pascoe 
Assistant Attorney General 
Corporate Oversight Division 
P.O. Box 30755 
Lansing, MI 48909 
pascoedl@michigan.gov 
(517) 373-1160 
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Date: December 13, 2013 For the State of Minnesota: 

LORI SWANSON 
Attorney General 
State of Minnesot 

THAN BR AN 
puty Atto icy General 

45 Minnesota Street, Suite 1200 
St. Paul, Minnesota 55101-2130 
nate.brennaman@ag.state.mn.us 
(651) 757-1415 (Voice) 
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Date: December 12, 2013 

For the State of Mississippi: 

r‘f 

gFti W. Wiggins
Sp, cial ssistant Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
Post Office Box 22947 
Jackson, MS 39225 
bwill()ago.state.ms.us 
(601) 359-4279 
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Date  I z. /10/z,cA3 

For the State of Missouri: 

--) 11.p.
Ryan S.(Asbridge 
Assistant Attorney General 
P.O. Box 899, Jefferson City, MO 65102 
ryan.asbridge@ago.mo.gov 
573-751-7677 
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Date: 

For the State of Montana: 

Chuck Munson 
Assistant Attorney General 
215 N. Sanders 
P.O. Box 201401 
Helena, MT 59620 
cmunson@mt.gov 
(406) 444-2026 
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For the State of Nebraska: 

/V Se 

Abigail M. Stempson 
Assistant Attorney General 
Chief, Consumer Protection Division 
2115 State Capitol 
Lincoln, NE 68509-8920 
abigail.stempson@nebraska.gov 
(402) 471-2683 
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For the State of Nevada: 

Kristine M. Kuzcmka 
Senior Deputy Attorney General 
555 E. Washington Avenue, Suite 3900 
kkuzemka@ag.nv.gov 
(702) 486-3420 
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Date NaC ,, /4 02043 

For the State of New H shire: 

Ann M. Rice 
Deputy Attorney General 
33 Capitol Street, Concord, NH 03301 
Ann.Rice@doj.nh.gov 
603-271-1238 
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Date:  tOeCefhi)e( P-1 9-0Y. 

JOHN J. HOFFMAN 
ACTING ATTORNEY GENERAL F NEW JERSEY 

By: 
e K. Rak 
Attorney Gener 

Consumer Fraud osecution Section 

alsey Street — 5th Floor 
P. . Box 45029 
Newark, New Jersey 07101 
Lorraine.Rak@dol.lps.state.nj.us 
(973) 877-1280 
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Date i Z436 3 

For the State of New Mexico 

Gary K. King 
Attorney G eral 
408 Galisteo Street 
Santa Fe, NM 87501 
Gking@nmag.gov 
(505) 827-5843 
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December 10, 2013 

For the State of New York 

)7/)
e M. Azia 

ureau Chief 
Bureau of Consumer Frauds & Protection 
Office of the New York State Attorney 
General 
120 Broadway 
New York, NY 10271 
Jane.azia(ii),ag.ny.gov 
(212) 416-8727 
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December 11, 2013 

For the State of North C 

Phillip K. Woods 
Special Deputy Attorney 
1 14 West Edenton Street 
Raleigh, NC 27602-0629 
Email: pkvoods@ncdoi.gov 
Telephone: (919) 716-6052 
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For he State of North Dakota 

Parrell D. Grossman (NDBI #04684) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Director, Consumer Protection & Antitrust 
Division 
Office of Attorney General 
Gateway Professional Center 
1050 East Interstate Ave. Ste. 200 
Bismarck, ND 58503-5574 
pgrossman@nd.gov 
(701)328-5570 

48 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 48 of 65



Date: December 11, 2013 
For the State of Ohio 

MIKE DeWINE 
The Attorney General of Ohio 

X zi- a/4 
MATTHEW J. i  AMPKE ( 067973) 
Mortgage Foreclosure Counsel 
30 East Broad Street, 15th Floor 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 
(614) 466-8569 - Telephone 
(866) 403-3979 - Facsimile 
Matthew.Lampke@OhioAttorneyGeneral.gov 

Trial Counsel for Ohio 
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Date  I z. / it, /--/.._ 0 i3 

For the State of Oregon: 

Simon . hang, 
Assistant Attorney General 
Financial Fraud/Consumer Protection Sectn. 
Oregon Department of Justice 
1515 SW Fifth Ave Ste 410 
Portland, OR 97201 
simon.c.whang@doj.state.or.us 
971-673-1880 
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For the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
KATHLEEN G. KANE, Attorney General: 

Jobn iM Abel 
Seni r eputy Attorney General 
Penn,Ilvania Office of Attorney General 
Bureau of Consumer Protection 
15th Floor, Strawberry Square 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
jabelriliattorneygeneral.gov 
Tel: 717-783-1439 
Fax: 717-705-3795 
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December 13, 2013 

For the. State of Rhode Island: 

"t. 

V Edmund F. Murray, Jr. 
Special Assistant Attorney General 
Rhode Island Department of Attorney General 
150 South Main Street 
Providence, Rhode Island 02903 
(4(11) 274-4400 ext. 2401 
ern ui-ray'@riag.ri.gov 
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Date  / 

For the State of South Carolina: 

C. Havird J , Jr. 
Assistant Deputy Attorney General 
PO Box 11549 
Columbia, SC, 29211 
SJones@scag.gov 
803-734-3654 
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Date: December 10, 2013 
On Behalf of the State of South Dakota: 

MARTY J. JACKLEY 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

Bethanna M. Feist 
South Dakota Attorney General's Office 

1302 E. Highway 14, Suite 1 
Pierre, SD 57501-8501 

Telephone: (605) 773-3215 
Facsimile: (605) 773-4106 

Email: Bethanna.Feist@state.sd.us 
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Date: 2/13/13 

For the State of Tennessee: 

Ro lert E. Cooper, Jr. 
Att )rney General and Reporter 
Office of the T 'nnessee Attorney General 
425 Fifth Avenue North 
Nashville, Ten essee 37243-3400 
bob.cooper@ag.tn.gov 
(61 5) 741-3491 
DC Bar No. 39 3721 (inactive) 
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Date December 13. 2013 

For the State of Texas: 

-"`Jasties A. Daross 
Regional Managing Attorney 
Consumer Protection Division 
Office of the Attorney General of Texas 
401 E. Franklin Ave., Suite 530 
El Paso, Texas 79901 
jp)e1/4..darossw texasattornevuenerai.uo% 

915-834-5801 (Direct) 
915-834-5800 (Main) 
915-542-1546 (FAX) 
Texas Bar No. 05391500 
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Date December 16, 2013 

For the Sta Rah and the Division of 
Consume 'otConsume otcction 

Brian L. Tarbet 
Utah Attorney General (Acting) 
350 North State Street, Suite 230 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84114 
btarbet@utah.gov 
(801) 538-1191 
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For the State of Vermont: 

Elliot Burg 
Assistant Attorney General 
Vermont Attorney General's Office 
109 State Street 
Montpelier, VT 05609 
eburg@atg.state.vt.us 
(802) 828-2153 
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Date  Z)e. c_f,,„,e.,, ‘,01,7013 

For the COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA, 
EX REL, KENNETH T. CUCCINELLI, II, 
ATTORNEY GENERAL: 

et.‘jyJ 
DAVID B. IRVIN SB #23927) 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
MARK S. KUBIAK (VSB #73119) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Office of Virginia Attorney General 
900 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
Telephone: 804-786-4047 
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Date / 'V/ 0 /2 0 i 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

ID W. HUEY, WSBA # 31380 
Senior Counsel 
1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 
PO Box 2317 
Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 
DavidH3@atg.wa.gov 
(253)593-5057 
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Date 12/13/2013 

For the State of West Virginia 

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney General 
State Capitol Bldg. 1, Room 26-E 
Charleston, WV 25305-0220 
Patrick.J.Morrisey@wvago.gov 
304-558-2021 

61 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 61 of 65



Date  / /  3 

For the State of Wisconsin: 

J.B. VAN HOLLEN 
Attorney General 

HOLLY C. POMRANING 
Assistant Attorney General 
Wisconsin Department of Justice 
Post Office Box 7857 
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 
Email: pomraninghc@doj.state.wi.us 
Tel: 608-266-5410 
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Date  /0003 

For the State of Wyoming: 

Peter K. Michael 
Attorney General 
123 Capitol Building 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
Peter.michael@wyo.gov 
(307) 777-7841 

63 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12   Filed 02/26/14   Page 63 of 65



Dated: December 11, 2013 

Respectfully submitted, 

IRVIN B. NATHAN 
Attorney General for the District of Columbia 

ELLEN A. EFROS 
Deputy Attorney General 
Public Interest Division 

BENNETT RUSHKOFF (D.C. Bar 6925) 
Chief, Public Advocacy Section 

GARY M. T (D.C. Bar # 987796) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General 
441 4th Street, N.W., Suite 600 South 
Washington, DC 20001 
Telephone: (202) 727-6241 
Email: Gary.Tan@dc.gov 

Attorneys for the District of Columbia 
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Date /2-4 3 

Omen Financial Corporation and Ocwen 
Loan Servicing, LLC 

By: 
Timothy M. Hayes 
Executive Vice President and General 
Counsel 
2002 Summit Blvd Fl 6 
Atlanta, Ga 30319-1560 
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Settlement Term Sheet 
 
The provisions outlined below are intended to apply to loans secured by owner-occupied 
properties that serve as the primary residence of the borrower unless otherwise noted 
herein. 
 
I. FORECLOSURE AND BANKRUPTCY INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION. 
 

Unless otherwise specified, these provisions shall apply to bankruptcy and 
foreclosures in all jurisdictions regardless of whether the jurisdiction has a 
judicial, non-judicial or quasi-judicial process for foreclosures and regardless of 
whether a statement is submitted during the foreclosure or bankruptcy process in 
the form of an affidavit, sworn statement or declarations under penalty of perjury 
(to the extent stated to be based on personal knowledge) (“Declaration”).  
 
A. Standards for Documents Used in Foreclosure and Bankruptcy 

Proceedings.  
 
1. Servicer shall ensure that factual assertions made in pleadings 

(complaint, counterclaim, cross-claim, answer or similar 
pleadings), bankruptcy proofs of claim (including any facts 
provided by Servicer or based on information provided by the 
Servicer that are included in any attachment and submitted to 
establish the truth of such facts) (“POC”), Declarations, affidavits, 
and sworn statements filed by or on behalf of Servicer in judicial 
foreclosures or bankruptcy proceedings and notices of default, 
notices of sale and similar notices submitted by or on behalf of 
Servicer in non-judicial foreclosures are accurate and complete and 
are supported by competent and reliable evidence. Before a loan is 
referred to non-judicial foreclosure, Servicer shall ensure that it has 
reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 
borrower’s default and the right to foreclose, including the 
borrower’s loan status and loan information. 

 
2. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements, and 

Declarations are based on personal knowledge, which may be 
based on the affiant’s review of Servicer’s books and records, in 
accordance with the evidentiary requirements of applicable state or 
federal law. 
 

3. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements and 
Declarations executed by Servicer’s affiants are based on the 
affiant’s review and personal knowledge of the accuracy and 
completeness of the assertions in the affidavit, sworn statement or 
Declaration, set out facts that Servicer reasonably believes would 
be admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent 
to testify on the matters stated. Affiants shall confirm that they 
have reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 
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borrower’s default and the right to foreclose, including the 
borrower’s loan status and required loan ownership information. If 
an affiant relies on a review of business records for the basis of its 
affidavit, the referenced business record shall be attached if 
required by applicable state or federal law or court rule.  This 
provision does not apply to affidavits, sworn statements and 
Declarations signed by counsel based solely on counsel’s personal 
knowledge (such as affidavits of counsel relating to service of 
process, extensions of time, or fee petitions) that are not based on a 
review of Servicer’s books and records. Separate affidavits, sworn 
statements or Declarations shall be used when one affiant does not 
have requisite personal knowledge of all required information. 

 
4. Servicer shall have standards for qualifications, training and 

supervision of employees. Servicer shall train and supervise 
employees who regularly prepare or execute affidavits, sworn 
statements or Declarations. Each such employee shall sign a 
certification that he or she has received the training. Servicer shall 
oversee the training completion to ensure each required employee 
properly and timely completes such training. Servicer shall 
maintain written records confirming that each such employee has 
completed the training and the subjects covered by the training. 

 
5. Servicer shall review and approve standardized forms of affidavits, 

standardized forms of sworn statements, and standardized forms of 
Declarations prepared by or signed by an employee or officer of 
Servicer, or executed by a third party using a power of attorney on 
behalf of Servicer, to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules, 
court procedure, and the terms of this Agreement (“the 
Agreement”). 

 
6. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall accurately 

identify the name of the affiant, the entity of which the affiant is an 
employee, and the affiant’s title. 

 
7. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations, including their 

notarization, shall fully comply with all applicable state law 
requirements. 

 
8. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall not contain 

information that is false or unsubstantiated. This requirement shall 
not preclude Declarations based on information and belief where 
so stated. 
 

9. Servicer shall assess and ensure that it has an adequate number of 
employees and that employees have reasonable time to prepare, 
verify, and execute pleadings, POCs, motions for relief from stay 
(“MRS”), affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations. 
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10. Servicer shall not pay volume-based or other incentives to 

employees or third-party providers or trustees that encourage 
undue haste or lack of due diligence over quality. 
 

11. Affiants shall be individuals, not entities, and affidavits, sworn 
statements and Declarations shall be signed by hand signature of 
the affiant (except for permitted electronic filings). For such 
documents, except for permitted electronic filings, signature 
stamps and any other means of electronic or mechanical signature 
are prohibited. 
 

12. At the time of execution, all information required by a form 
affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration shall be complete. 
 

13. Affiants shall date their signatures on affidavits, sworn statements 
or Declarations. 
 

14. Servicer shall maintain records that identify all notarizations of 
Servicer documents executed by each notary employed by 
Servicer. 
 

15. Servicer shall not file a POC in a bankruptcy proceeding which, 
when filed, contained materially inaccurate information. In cases in 
which such a POC may have been filed, Servicer shall not rely on 
such POC and shall (a) in active cases, at Servicer’s expense, take 
appropriate action, consistent with state and federal law and court 
procedure, to substitute such POC with an amended POC as 
promptly as reasonably practicable (and, in any event, not more 
than 30 days) after acquiring actual knowledge of such material 
inaccuracy and provide appropriate written notice to the borrower 
or borrower’s counsel; and (b) in other cases, at Servicer’s 
expense, take appropriate action after acquiring actual knowledge 
of such material inaccuracy. 
 

16. Servicer shall not rely on an affidavit of indebtedness or similar 
affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration filed in a pending pre-
judgment judicial foreclosure or bankruptcy proceeding which (a) 
was required to be based on the affiant’s review and personal 
knowledge of its accuracy but was not, (b) was not, when so 
required, properly notarized, or (c) contained materially inaccurate 
information in order to obtain a judgment of foreclosure, order of 
sale, relief from the automatic stay or other relief in bankruptcy. In 
pending cases in which such affidavits, sworn statements or 
Declarations may have been filed, Servicer shall, at Servicer’s 
expense, take appropriate action, consistent with state and federal 
law and court procedure, to substitute such affidavits with new 
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affidavits and provide appropriate written notice to the borrower or 
borrower’s counsel. 
 

17. In pending post-judgment, pre-sale cases in judicial foreclosure 
proceedings in which an affidavit or sworn statement was filed 
which was required to be based on the affiant’s review and 
personal knowledge of its accuracy but may not have been, or that 
may not have, when so required, been properly notarized, and such 
affidavit or sworn statement has not been re-filed, Servicer, unless 
prohibited by state or local law or court rule, will provide written 
notice to borrower at borrower’s address of record or borrower’s 
counsel prior to proceeding with a foreclosure sale or eviction 
proceeding. 
 

18. In all states, Servicer shall send borrowers a statement setting forth 
facts supporting Servicer’s or holder’s right to foreclose and 
containing the information required in paragraphs I.B.6 (items 
available upon borrower request), I.B.10 (account statement), I.C.2 
and I.C.3 (ownership statement), and IV.B.13 (loss mitigation 
statement) herein. Servicer shall send this statement to the 
borrower in one or more communications no later than 14 days 
prior to referral to foreclosure attorney or foreclosure trustee. 
Servicer shall provide the Monitoring Committee with copies of 
proposed form statements for review before implementation. 
 

B. Requirements for Accuracy and Verification of Borrower’s Account 
Information. 
 
1. Servicer shall maintain procedures to ensure accuracy and timely 

updating of borrower’s account information, including posting of 
payments and imposition of fees. Servicer shall also maintain 
adequate documentation of borrower account information, which 
may be in either electronic or paper format. 
 

2. For any loan on which interest is calculated based on a daily 
accrual or daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not 
a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, 
Servicer shall promptly accept and apply all borrower payments, 
including cure payments (where authorized by law or contract), 
trial modification payments, as well as non-conforming payments, 
unless such application conflicts with contract provisions or 
prevailing law. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 
payments shall be posted no more than two business days after 
receipt at the address specified by Servicer and credited as of the 
date received to borrower’s account. Each monthly payment shall 
be applied in the order specified in the loan documents. 
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3. For any loan on which interest is not calculated based on a daily 
accrual or daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not 
a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, 
Servicer shall promptly accept and apply all borrower conforming 
payments, including cure payments (where authorized by law or 
contract), unless such application conflicts with contract provisions 
or prevailing law. Servicer shall continue to accept trial 
modification payments consistent with existing payment 
application practices. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 
payments shall be posted no more than two business days after 
receipt at the address specified by Servicer. Each monthly payment 
shall be applied in the order specified in the loan documents. 
 
a. Servicer shall accept and apply at least two non-conforming 

payments from the borrower, in accordance with this 
subparagraph, when the payment, whether on its own or 
when combined with a payment made by another source, 
comes within $50.00 of the scheduled payment, including 
principal and interest and, where applicable, taxes and 
insurance. 
 

b. Except for payments described in paragraph I.B.3.a, 
Servicer may post partial payments to a suspense or 
unapplied funds account, provided that Servicer (1) 
discloses to the borrower the existence of and any activity 
in the suspense or unapplied funds account; (2) credits the 
borrower’s account with a full payment as of the date that 
the funds in the suspense or unapplied funds account are 
sufficient to cover such full payment; and (3) applies 
payments as required by the terms of the loan documents. 
Servicer shall not take funds from suspense or unapplied 
funds accounts to pay fees until all unpaid contractual 
interest, principal, and escrow amounts are paid and 
brought current or other final disposition of the loan. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions above, Servicer shall not be 
required to accept payments which are insufficient to pay the full 
balance due after the borrower has been provided written notice 
that the contract has been declared in default and the remaining 
payments due under the contract have been accelerated. 
 

5. Servicer shall provide to borrowers (other than borrowers in 
bankruptcy or borrowers who have been referred to or are going 
through foreclosure) adequate information on monthly billing or 
other account statements to show in clear and conspicuous 
language:  
 
a. total amount due;  
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b. allocation of payments, including a notation if any payment 

has been posted to a “suspense or unapplied funds 
account”; 
 

c. unpaid principal; 
 

d. fees and charges for the relevant time period; 
 

e. current escrow balance; and 
 

f. reasons for any payment changes, including an interest rate 
or escrow account adjustment, no later than 21 days before 
the new amount is due (except in the case of loans as to 
which interest accrues daily or the rate changes more 
frequently than once every 30 days). 
 

Statements as described above are not required to be delivered with 
respect to any fixed rate residential mortgage loan as to which the 
borrower is provided a coupon book. 
 

6. In the statements described in paragraphs I.A.18 and III.B.1.a, 
Servicer shall notify borrowers that they may receive, upon written 
request: 
 
a. A copy of the borrower’s payment history since the 

borrower was last less than 60 days past due; 
 

b. A copy of the borrower’s note; 
 

c. If Servicer has commenced foreclosure or filed a POC, 
copies of any assignments of mortgage or deed of trust 
required to demonstrate the right to foreclose on the 
borrower’s note under applicable state law; and 
 

d. The name of the investor that holds the borrower’s loan. 
 

7. Servicer shall adopt enhanced billing dispute procedures, including 
for disputes regarding fees. These procedures will include:  
 
a. Establishing readily available methods for customers to 

lodge complaints and pose questions, such as by providing 
toll-free numbers and accepting disputes by email; 
 

b. Assessing and ensuring adequate and competent staff to 
answer and respond to consumer disputes promptly; 
 

c. Establishing a process for dispute escalation; 
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d. Tracking the resolution of complaints; and 

 
e. Providing a toll-free number on monthly billing statements. 

 
8. Servicer shall take appropriate action to promptly remediate any 

inaccuracies in borrowers’ account information, including: 
 
a. Correcting the account information; 

 
b. Providing cash refunds or account credits; and 

 
c. Correcting inaccurate reports to consumer credit reporting 

agencies. 
 

9. Servicer’s systems to record account information shall be 
periodically independently reviewed for accuracy and 
completeness by an independent reviewer. 
 

10. As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send the borrower 
an itemized plain language account summary setting forth each of 
the following items, to the extent applicable: 
 
a. The total amount needed to reinstate or bring the account 

current, and the amount of the principal obligation under 
the mortgage; 
 

b. The date through which the borrower’s obligation is paid; 
 

c. The date of the last full payment; 
 

d. The current interest rate in effect for the loan (if the rate is 
effective for at least 30 days); 
 

e. The date on which the interest rate may next reset or adjust 
(unless the rate changes more frequently than once every 
30 days); 
 

f. The amount of any prepayment fee to be charged, if any; 
 

g. A description of any late payment fees; 
 

h. A telephone number or electronic mail address that may be 
used by the obligor to obtain information regarding the 
mortgage; and 
 

i. The names, addresses, telephone numbers, and Internet 
addresses of one or more counseling agencies or programs 
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approved by HUD 
(http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hcs.cfm). 
 

11. In active chapter 13 cases, Servicer shall ensure that: 
 
a. prompt and proper application of payments is made on 

account of (a) pre-petition arrearage amounts and (b) post-
petition payment amounts and posting thereof as of the 
successful consummation of the effective confirmed plan; 
 

b. the debtor is treated as being current so long as the debtor is 
making payments in accordance with the terms of the then-
effective confirmed plan and any later effective payment 
change notices; and 
 

c. as of the date of dismissal of a debtor’s bankruptcy case, 
entry of an order granting Servicer relief from the stay, or 
entry of an order granting the debtor a discharge, there is a 
reconciliation of payments received with respect to the 
debtor’s obligations during the case and appropriately 
update the Servicer’s systems of record.  In connection with 
such reconciliation, Servicer shall reflect the waiver of any 
fee, expense or charge pursuant to paragraph III.B.1.c.i or 
III.B.1.d. 
 

C. Documentation of Note, Holder Status and Chain of Assignment. 
 
1. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that Servicer or the 

foreclosing entity has a documented enforceable interest in the 
promissory note and mortgage (or deed of trust) under applicable 
state law, or is otherwise a proper party to the foreclosure action. 

 
2. Servicer shall include a statement in a pleading, affidavit of 

indebtedness or similar affidavits in court foreclosure proceedings 
setting forth the basis for asserting that the foreclosing party has 
the right to foreclose. 
 

3. Servicer shall set forth the information establishing the party’s 
right to foreclose as set forth in I.C.2 in a communication to be 
sent to the borrower as indicated in I.A.18. 
 

4. If the original note is lost or otherwise unavailable, Servicer shall 
comply with applicable law in an attempt to establish ownership of 
the note and the right to enforcement. Servicer shall ensure good 
faith efforts to obtain or locate a note lost while in the possession 
of Servicer or Servicer’s agent and shall ensure that Servicer and 
Servicer’s agents who are expected to have possession of notes or 
assignments of mortgage on behalf of Servicer adopt procedures 
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that are designed to provide assurance that the Servicer or 
Servicer’s agent would locate a note or assignment of mortgage if 
it is in the possession or control of the Servicer or Servicer’s agent, 
as the case may be. In the event that Servicer prepares or causes to 
be prepared a lost note or lost assignment affidavit with respect to 
an original note or assignment lost while in Servicer’s control, 
Servicer shall use good faith efforts to obtain or locate the note or 
assignment in accordance with its procedures. In the affidavit, 
sworn statement or other filing documenting the lost note or 
assignment, Servicer shall recite that Servicer has made a good 
faith effort in accordance with its procedures for locating the lost 
note or assignment. 

 
5. Servicer shall not intentionally destroy or dispose of original notes 

that are still in force. 
 

6. Servicer shall ensure that mortgage assignments executed by or on 
behalf of Servicer are executed with appropriate legal authority, 
accurately reflective of the completed transaction and properly 
acknowledged. 

 
D. Bankruptcy Documents. 

 
1. Proofs of Claim (“POC”). Servicer shall ensure that POCs filed on 

behalf of Servicer are documented in accordance with the United 
States Bankruptcy Code, the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy 
Procedure, and any applicable local rule or order (“bankruptcy 
law”). Unless not permitted by statute or rule, Servicer shall ensure 
that each POC is documented by attaching: 
 
a. The original or a duplicate of the note, including all 

endorsements; a copy of any mortgage or deed of trust 
securing the notes (including, if applicable, evidence of 
recordation in the applicable land records); and copies of 
any assignments of mortgage or deed of trust required to 
demonstrate the right to foreclose on the borrower’s note 
under applicable state law (collectively, “Loan 
Documents”). If the note has been lost or destroyed, a lost 
note affidavit shall be submitted. 
 

b. If, in addition to its principal amount, a claim includes 
interest, fees, expenses, or other charges incurred before the 
petition was filed, an itemized statement of the interest, 
fees, expenses, or charges shall be filed with the proof of 
claim (including any expenses or charges based on an 
escrow analysis as of the date of filing) at least in the detail 
specified in the current draft of Official Form B 10 
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(effective December 2011) (“Official Form B 10”) 
Attachment A. 
 

c. A statement of the amount necessary to cure any default as 
of the date of the petition shall be filed with the proof of 
claim. 
 

d. If a security interest is claimed in property that is the 
debtor’s principal residence, the attachment prescribed by 
the appropriate Official Form shall be filed with the proof 
of claim. 
 

e. Servicer shall include a statement in a POC setting forth the 
basis for asserting that the applicable party has the right to 
foreclose. 
 

f. The POC shall be signed (either by hand or by appropriate 
electronic signature) by the responsible person under 
penalty of perjury after reasonable investigation, stating 
that the information set forth in the POC is true and correct 
to the best of such responsible person’s knowledge, 
information, and reasonable belief, and clearly identify the 
responsible person’s employer and position or title with the 
employer. 
 

2. Motions for Relief from Stay (“MRS”). Unless not permitted by 
bankruptcy law, Servicer shall ensure that each MRS in a chapter 
13 proceeding is documented by attaching: 
 
a. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, a copy 

of the Loan Documents; if such documents were previously 
submitted with a POC, a statement to that effect. If the 
promissory note has been lost or destroyed, a lost note 
affidavit shall be submitted; 

 
b. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, 

Servicer shall include a statement in an MRS setting forth 
the basis for asserting that the applicable party has the right 
to foreclose. 
 

c. An affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration made by 
Servicer or based on information provided by Servicer 
(“MRS affidavit” (which term includes, without limitation, 
any facts provided by Servicer that are included in any 
attachment and submitted to establish the truth of such 
facts) setting forth: 
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i. whether there has been a default in paying pre-
petition arrearage or post-petition amounts (an 
“MRS delinquency”); 
 

ii. if there has been such a default, (a) the unpaid 
principal balance, (b) a description of any default 
with respect to the pre-petition arrearage, (c) a 
description of any default with respect to the post-
petition amount (including, if applicable, any 
escrow shortage), (d) the amount of the pre-petition 
arrearage (if applicable), (e) the post-petition 
payment amount, (f) for the period since the date of 
the first post-petition or pre-petition default that is 
continuing and has not been cured, the date and 
amount of each payment made (including escrow 
payments) and the application of each such 
payment, and (g) the amount, date and description 
of each fee or charge applied to such pre-petition 
amount or post-petition amount since the later of the 
date of the petition or the preceding statement 
pursuant to paragraph III.B.1.a; and 
 

iii. all amounts claimed, including a statement of the 
amount necessary to cure any default on or about 
the date of the MRS. 
 

d. All other attachments prescribed by statute, rule, or law. 
 

e. Servicer shall ensure that any MRS discloses the terms of 
any trial period or permanent loan modification plan 
pending at the time of filing of a MRS or whether the 
debtor is being evaluated for a loss mitigation option. 
 

E. Quality Assurance Systems Review. 
 
1. Servicer shall conduct regular reviews, not less than quarterly, of a 

statistically valid sample of affidavits, sworn statements, 
Declarations filed by or on behalf of Servicer in judicial 
foreclosures or bankruptcy proceedings and notices of default, 
notices of sale and similar notices submitted in non-judicial 
foreclosures to ensure that the documents are accurate and comply 
with prevailing law and this Agreement. 

 
a. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements 

in affidavits, sworn statements, Declarations and 
documents used to foreclose in non-judicial foreclosures, 
the account summary described in paragraph I.B.10, the 
ownership statement described in paragraph I.C.2, and the 
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loss mitigation statement described in paragraph IV.B.13 
by reviewing the underlying information. Servicer shall 
take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are 
identified, including appropriate remediation in individual 
cases. 

 
b. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements 

in affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations submitted 
in bankruptcy proceedings. Servicer shall take appropriate 
remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, including 
appropriate remediation in individual cases. 

 
2. The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by 

Servicer employees who are separate and independent of 
employees who prepare foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, 
sworn statements, or other foreclosure or bankruptcy documents. 
 

3. Servicer shall conduct regular pre-filing reviews of a statistically 
valid sample of POCs to ensure that the POCs are accurate and 
comply with prevailing law and this Agreement. The reviews shall 
also verify the accuracy of the statements in POCs. Servicer shall 
take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, 
including appropriate remediation in individual cases. The pre-
filing review shall be conducted by Servicer employees who are 
separate and independent of the persons who prepared the 
applicable POCs. 
 

4. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its 
internal controls and procedures with respect to its obligations 
under this Agreement and implement appropriate procedures to 
address deficiencies. 
 

II. THIRD-PARTY PROVIDER OVERSIGHT. 
 

A. Oversight Duties Applicable to All Third-Party Providers. 
 
Servicer shall adopt policies and processes to oversee and manage 
foreclosure firms, law firms, foreclosure trustees, subservicers and other 
agents, independent contractors, entities and third parties (including 
subsidiaries and affiliates) retained by or on behalf of Servicer that 
provide foreclosure, bankruptcy or mortgage servicing activities 
(including loss mitigation) (collectively, such activities are “Servicing 
Activities” and such providers are “Third-Party Providers”), including: 
 
1. Servicer shall perform appropriate due diligence of Third-Party 

Providers’ qualifications, expertise, capacity, reputation, 
complaints, information security, document custody practices, 
business continuity, and financial viability. 
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2. Servicer shall amend agreements, engagement letters, or oversight 
policies, or enter into new agreements or engagement letters, with 
Third-Party Providers to require them to comply with Servicer’s 
applicable policies and procedures (which will incorporate any 
applicable aspects of this Agreement) and applicable state and 
federal laws and rules. 

 
3. Servicer shall ensure that agreements, contracts or oversight 

policies provide for adequate oversight, including measures to 
enforce Third-Party Provider contractual obligations, and to ensure 
timely action with respect to Third-Party Provider performance 
failures. 

 
4. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 

foreclosure trustees have appropriate access to information from 
Servicer’s books and records necessary to perform their duties in 
preparing pleadings and other documents submitted in foreclosure 
and bankruptcy proceedings. 

 
5. Servicer shall ensure that all information provided by or on behalf 

of Servicer to Third-Party Providers in connection with providing 
Servicing Activities is accurate and complete. 

 
6. Servicer shall conduct periodic reviews of Third-Party Providers. 

These reviews shall include: 
 

a. A review of a sample of the foreclosure and bankruptcy 
documents prepared by the Third-Party Provider, to provide 
for compliance with applicable state and federal law and 
this Agreement in connection with the preparation of the 
documents, and the accuracy of the facts contained therein; 
 

b. A review of the fees and costs assessed by the Third-Party 
Provider to provide that only fees and costs that are lawful, 
reasonable and actually incurred are charged to borrowers 
and that no portion of any fees or charges incurred by any 
Third-Party Provider for technology usage, connectivity, or 
electronic invoice submission is charged as a cost to the 
borrower; 
 

c. A review of the Third-Party Provider’s processes to provide 
for compliance with the Servicer’s policies and procedures 
concerning Servicing Activities; 
 

d. A review of the security of original loan documents 
maintained by the Third-Party Provider; 
 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 14 of 47



 
 

A-14 

e. A requirement that the Third-Party Provider disclose to the 
Servicer any imposition of sanctions or professional 
disciplinary action taken against them for misconduct 
related to performance of Servicing Activities; and 
 

f. An assessment of whether bankruptcy attorneys comply 
with the best practice of determining whether a borrower 
has made a payment curing any MRS delinquency within 
two business days of the scheduled hearing date of the 
related MRS. 
 

The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by Servicer 
employees who are separate and independent of employees who prepare 
foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, sworn documents, Declarations or 
other foreclosure or bankruptcy documents. 
 
7. Servicer shall take appropriate remedial steps if problems are 

identified through this review or otherwise, including, when 
appropriate, terminating its relationship with the Third-Party 
Provider. 
 

8. Servicer shall adopt processes for reviewing and appropriately 
addressing customer complaints it receives about Third-Party 
Provider services. 
 

9. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its 
internal controls and procedures with respect to its obligations 
under this Section, and take appropriate remedial steps if 
deficiencies are identified, including appropriate remediation in 
individual cases. 
 

 

B. Additional Oversight of Activities by Third-Party Providers. 
 
1. Servicer shall require a certification process for law firms (and 

recertification of existing law firm providers) that provide 
residential mortgage foreclosure and bankruptcy services for 
Servicer, on a periodic basis, as qualified to serve as a Third-Party 
Provider to Servicer, including that attorneys have the experience 
and competence necessary to perform the services requested. 
 

2. Servicer shall ensure that attorneys are licensed to practice in the 
relevant jurisdiction, have the experience and competence 
necessary to perform the services requested, and that their services 
comply with applicable rules, regulations and applicable law 
(including state law prohibitions on fee splitting). 
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3. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 
foreclosure trustees have an appropriate Servicer contact to assist 
in legal proceedings and to facilitate loss mitigation questions on 
behalf of the borrower. 

 
4. Servicer shall adopt policies requiring Third-Party Providers to 

maintain records that identify all notarizations of Servicer 
documents executed by each notary employed by the Third-Party 
Provider. 

 

III. BANKRUPTCY. 
 

A. General.  
 

1. The provisions, conditions and obligations imposed herein are 
intended to be interpreted in accordance with applicable federal, 
state and local laws, rules and regulations. Nothing herein shall 
require a Servicer to do anything inconsistent with applicable state 
or federal law, including the applicable bankruptcy law or a court 
order in a bankruptcy case. 

 
2. Servicer shall ensure that employees who are regularly engaged in 

servicing mortgage loans as to which the borrower or mortgagor is 
in bankruptcy receive training specifically addressing bankruptcy 
issues. 

 
B. Chapter 13 Cases. 

 
1. In any chapter 13 case, Servicer shall ensure that: 

 
a. So long as the debtor is in a chapter 13 case, within 180 

days after the date on which the fees, expenses, or charges 
are incurred, Servicer shall file and serve on the debtor, 
debtor’s counsel, and the trustee a notice in a form 
consistent with Official Form B10 (Supplement 2) 
itemizing fees, expenses, or charges (1) that were incurred 
in connection with the claim after the bankruptcy case was 
filed, (2) that the holder asserts are recoverable against the 
debtor or against the debtor’s principal residence, and (3) 
that the holder intends to collect from the debtor. 
 

b. Servicer replies within time periods established under 
bankruptcy law to any notice that the debtor has completed 
all payments under the plan or otherwise paid in full the 
amount required to cure any pre-petition default. 
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c. If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 
paragraph III.B.1.a with respect to a fee, expense or charge 
within 180 days of the incurrence of such fee, expense, or 
charge, then, 

 
i. Except for independent charges (“Independent 

charge”) paid by the Servicer that is either (A) 
specifically authorized by the borrower or (B) 
consists of amounts advanced by Servicer in respect 
of taxes, homeowners association fees, liens or 
insurance, such fee, expense or charge shall be 
deemed waived and may not be collected from the 
borrower. 
 

ii. In the case of an Independent charge, the court may, 
after notice and hearing, take either or both of the 
following actions: 
 
(a) preclude the holder from presenting the 

omitted information, in any form, as 
evidence in any contested matter or 
adversary proceeding in the case, unless the 
court determines that the failure was 
substantially justified or is harmless; or 
 

(b) award other appropriate relief, including 
reasonable expenses and attorney’s fees 
caused by the failure.  
 

d. If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 
paragraphs III.B.1.a or III.B.1.b and bankruptcy law with 
respect to a fee, expense or charge (other than an 
Independent Charge) incurred more than 45 days before the 
date of the reply referred to in paragraph III.B.1.b, then 
such fee, expense or charge shall be deemed waived and 
may not be collected from the borrower. 
 

e. Servicer shall file and serve on the debtor, debtor’s counsel, 
and the trustee a notice in a form consistent with the current 
draft of Official Form B10 (Supplement 1) (effective 
December 2011) of any change in the payment amount, 
including any change that results from an interest rate or 
escrow account adjustment, no later than 21 days before a 
payment in the new amount is due. Servicer shall waive 
and not collect any late charge or other fees imposed solely 
as a result of the failure of the borrower timely to make a 
payment attributable to the failure of Servicer to give such 
notice timely. 
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IV. LOSS MITIGATION. 
 

These requirements are intended to apply to both government-sponsored and 
proprietary loss mitigation programs and shall apply to subservicers performing 
loss mitigation services on Servicer’s behalf. 
 
A. Loss Mitigation Requirements. 

 
1. Servicer shall be required to notify potentially eligible borrowers 

of currently available loss mitigation options prior to foreclosure 
referral. Upon the timely receipt of a complete loan modification 
application, Servicer shall evaluate borrowers for all available loan 
modification options for which they are eligible prior to referring a 
borrower to foreclosure and shall facilitate the submission and 
review of loss mitigation applications. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, Servicer shall have no obligation to solicit 
borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 
 

2. Servicer shall offer and facilitate loan modifications for borrowers 
rather than initiate foreclosure when such loan modifications for 
which they are eligible are net present value (NPV) positive and 
meet other investor, guarantor, insurer and program requirements. 
 

3. Servicer shall allow borrowers enrolled in a trial period plan under 
prior HAMP guidelines (where borrowers were not pre-qualified) 
and who made all required trial period payments, but were later 
denied a permanent modification, the opportunity to reapply for a 
HAMP or proprietary loan modification using current financial 
information. 
 

4. Servicer shall promptly send a final modification agreement to 
borrowers who have enrolled in a trial period plan under current 
HAMP guidelines (or fully underwritten proprietary modification 
programs with a trial payment period) and who have made the 
required number of timely trial period payments, where the 
modification is underwritten prior to the trial period and has 
received any necessary investor, guarantor or insurer approvals. 
The borrower shall then be converted by Servicer to a permanent 
modification upon execution of the final modification documents, 
consistent with applicable program guidelines, absent evidence of 
fraud. 
 

B. Dual Track Restricted. 
 
1. If a borrower has not already been referred to foreclosure, Servicer 

shall not refer an eligible borrower’s account to foreclosure while 
the borrower’s complete application for any loan modification 
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program is pending if Servicer received (a) a complete loan 
modification application no later than day 120 of delinquency, or 
(b) a substantially complete loan modification application (missing 
only any required documentation of hardship) no later than day 
120 of delinquency and Servicer receives any required hardship 
documentation no later than day 130 of delinquency. Servicer shall 
not make a referral to foreclosure of an eligible borrower who so 
provided an application until: 

 
a. Servicer determines (after the automatic review in 

paragraph IV.G.1) that the borrower is not eligible for a 
loan modification, or 

 
b. If borrower does not accept an offered foreclosure 

prevention alternative within 14 days of the evaluation 
notice, the earlier of (i) such 14 days, and (ii) borrower’s 
decline of the foreclosure prevention offer. 

 
2. If borrower accepts the loan modification resulting from Servicer’s 

evaluation of the complete loan modification application referred 
to in paragraph IV.B.1 (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 
responses) or by submitting the first trial modification payment) 
within 14 days of Servicer’s offer of a loan modification, then the 
Servicer shall delay referral to foreclosure until (a) if the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, the last day for 
timely receiving the first trial period payment, and (b) if the 
Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, after the 
borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

3. If the loan modification requested by a borrower as described in 
paragraph IV.B.1 is denied, except when otherwise required by 
federal or state law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled to 
an appeal under paragraph IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a 
foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable): 

 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 
(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
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4. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the 

Servicer receives a complete application from the borrower within 
30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter, 
then while such loan modification application is pending, Servicer 
shall not move for foreclosure judgment or order of sale (or, if a 
motion has already been filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid 
a ruling on such motion), or seek a foreclosure sale. If Servicer 
offers the borrower a loan modification, Servicer shall not move 
for judgment or order of sale, (or, if a motion has already been 
filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid a ruling on such motion), 
or seek a foreclosure sale until the earlier of (a) 14 days after the 
date of the related offer of a loan modification, and (b) the date the 
borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower 
accepts the loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including 
e-mail responses) or by submitting the first trial modification 
payment) within 14 days after the date of the related offer of loan 
modification, Servicer shall continue this delay until the later of (if 
applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the 
first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives 
the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial 
plan. 
 

5. If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in 
paragraph IV.B.4 is denied, then, except when otherwise required 
by federal or state law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled 
to an appeal under paragraph IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a 
foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable): 

 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the failure of 
the Servicer timely to receive the first trial period payment, 
and (iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

6. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter, but more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale is 
scheduled, then while such loan modification application is 
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pending, Servicer shall not proceed with the foreclosure sale. If 
Servicer offers a loan modification, then Servicer shall delay the 
foreclosure sale until the earlier of (i) 14 days after the date of the 
related offer of loan modification, and (ii) the date the borrower 
declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower accepts the 
loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 
responses) or by submitting the first trial modification payment) 
within 14 days, Servicer shall delay the foreclosure sale until the 
later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to 
receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely 
receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches 
the trial plan. 
 

7. If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in 
paragraph IV.B.6 is denied and it is reasonable to believe that more 
than 90 days remains until a scheduled foreclosure date or the first 
date on which a sale could reasonably be expected to be scheduled 
and occur, then, except when otherwise required by federal or state 
law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled to an appeal under 
paragraph IV.G.3.a, Servicer will not proceed to a foreclosure sale 
until the later of (if applicable): 
 
a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 
 
b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if 

applicable) (i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days 
after the letter denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends 
borrower a letter granting his or her appeal and offering a 
loan modification, 14 days after the date of such offer, (iii) 
if the borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer 
(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses), or by 
making the first trial period payment), after the Servicer 
fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 
(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 
payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

8. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter, but within 37 to 15 days before a foreclosure sale is 
scheduled, then Servicer shall conduct an expedited review of the 
borrower and, if the borrower is extended a loan modification 
offer, Servicer shall postpone any foreclosure sale until the earlier 
of (a) 14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) 
the date the borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the 
borrower timely accepts the loan modification offer (either in 
writing or by submitting the first trial modification payment), 
Servicer shall delay the foreclosure sale until the later of (if 
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applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the 
first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives 
the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial 
plan. 
 

9. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the 
Servicer receives a complete loan modification application more 
than 30 days after the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter and less than 15 days before a scheduled foreclosure sale, 
Servicer must notify the borrower before the foreclosure sale date 
as to Servicer’s determination (if its review was completed) or 
inability to complete its review of the loan modification 
application. If Servicer makes a loan modification offer to the 
borrower, then Servicer shall postpone any sale until the earlier of 
(a) 14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) 
the date the borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the 
borrower timely accepts a loan modification offer (either in writing 
or by submitting the first trial modification payment), Servicer 
shall delay the foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable) (A) 
the failure by the Servicer timely to receive the first trial period 
payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial 
period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 
 

10. For purposes of this section IV.B, Servicer shall not be responsible 
for failing to obtain a delay in a ruling on a judgment or failing to 
delay a foreclosure sale if Servicer made a request for such delay, 
pursuant to any state or local law, court rule or customary practice, 
and such request was not approved. 

 
11. Servicer shall not move to judgment or order of sale or proceed 

with a foreclosure sale under any of the following circumstances: 
 
a. The borrower is in compliance with the terms of a trial loan 

modification, forbearance, or repayment plan; or 
 
b. A short sale or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure has been 

approved by all parties (including, for example, first lien 
investor, junior lien holder and mortgage insurer, as 
applicable), and proof of funds or financing has been 
provided to Servicer. 
 

12. If a foreclosure or trustee’s sale is continued (rather than cancelled) 
to provide time to evaluate loss mitigation options, Servicer shall 
promptly notify borrower in writing of the new date of sale 
(without delaying any related foreclosure sale). 
 

13. As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send a statement to 
the borrower outlining loss mitigation efforts undertaken with 
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respect to the borrower prior to foreclosure referral. If no loss 
mitigation efforts were offered or undertaken, Servicer shall state 
whether it contacted or attempted to contact the borrower and, if 
applicable, why the borrower was ineligible for a loan modification 
or other loss mitigation options.  
 

14. Servicer shall ensure timely and accurate communication of or 
access to relevant loss mitigation status and changes in status to its 
foreclosure attorneys, bankruptcy attorneys and foreclosure 
trustees and, where applicable, to court-mandated mediators. 
 

C. Single Point of Contact. 
 
1. Servicer shall establish an easily accessible and reliable single 

point of contact (“SPOC”) for each potentially-eligible first lien 
mortgage borrower so that the borrower has access to an employee 
of Servicer to obtain information throughout the loss mitigation, 
loan modification and foreclosure processes. 
 

2. Servicer shall initially identify the SPOC to the borrower promptly 
after a potentially-eligible borrower requests loss mitigation 
assistance. Servicer shall provide one or more direct means of 
communication with the SPOC on loss mitigation-related 
correspondence with the borrower. Servicer shall promptly provide 
updated contact information to the borrower if the designated 
SPOC is reassigned, no longer employed by Servicer, or otherwise 
not able to act as the primary point of contact. 

 
a. Servicer shall ensure that debtors in bankruptcy are 

assigned to a SPOC specially trained in bankruptcy issues. 
 

3. The SPOC shall have primary responsibility for: 
 
a. Communicating the options available to the borrower, the 

actions the borrower must take to be considered for these 
options and the status of Servicer’s evaluation of the 
borrower for these options; 

 
b. Coordinating receipt of all documents associated with loan 

modification or loss mitigation activities; 
 

c. Being knowledgeable about the borrower’s situation and 
current status in the delinquency/imminent default 
resolution process; and 
  

d. Ensuring that a borrower who is not eligible for MHA 
programs is considered for proprietary or other investor 
loss mitigation options. 
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4. The SPOC shall, at a minimum, provide the following services to 

borrowers: 
  
a. Contact borrower and introduce himself/herself as the 

borrower’s SPOC; 
 

b. Explain programs for which the borrower is eligible; 
 
c. Explain the requirements of the programs for which the 

borrower is eligible;  
 
d. Explain program documentation requirements; 

 
e. Provide basic information about the status of borrower’s 

account, including pending loan modification applications, 
other loss mitigation alternatives, and foreclosure activity; 

 
f. Notify borrower of missing documents and provide an 

address or electronic means for submission of documents 
by borrower in order to complete the loan modification 
application; 

 
g. Communicate Servicer’s decision regarding loan 

modification applications and other loss mitigation 
alternatives to borrower in writing; 

 
h. Assist the borrower in pursuing alternative non-foreclosure 

options upon denial of a loan modification; 
 

i. If a loan modification is approved, call borrower to explain 
the program;  

 
j. Provide information regarding credit counseling where 

necessary;  
 

k. Help to clear for borrower any internal processing 
requirements; and 

 
l. Have access to individuals with the ability to stop 

foreclosure proceedings when necessary to comply with the 
MHA Program or this Agreement. 

 
5. The SPOC shall remain assigned to borrower’s account and 

available to borrower until such time as Servicer determines in 
good faith that all loss mitigation options have been exhausted, 
borrower’s account becomes current or, in the case of a borrower 
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in bankruptcy, the borrower has exhausted all loss mitigation 
options for which the borrower is potentially eligible and has 
applied. 

 
6. Servicer shall ensure that the SPOC is available to borrowers via 

telephone, though such availability can be arranged on an 
appointment basis.  If the SPOC is only reachable on an 
appointment basis, such appointment shall be made available to the 
borrower promptly, but in any event an appointment with the 
SPOC must be offered on a date no later than 7 days from the 
borrower’s request.  Borrowers shall be offered the option of 
scheduling an appointment with another member of the SPOC 
team if their assigned SPOC is unavailable on the borrower’s 
requested date.  In the event the SPOC is unavailable, Servicer 
shall ensure that personnel with access to all information required 
to be maintained under this section are available to the borrower to 
perform the SPOC’s normal duties. 

 
7. Servicer shall ensure that a SPOC can refer and transfer a borrower to 

an appropriate supervisor upon request of the borrower. 
 

8. Servicer shall ensure that relevant records relating to borrower’s 
account are promptly available to the borrower’s SPOC, so that the 
SPOC can timely, adequately and accurately inform the borrower of 
the current status of loss mitigation, loan modification, and 
foreclosure activities.  

 
9. Servicer shall ensure that all regularly maintained records of 

communications between the SPOC and borrower, as well as any 
other notes related to the borrower’s file, are centrally accessible to 
other Servicer staff. 
 

10. Servicer’s management shall supervise the SPOCs’ performance and 
regularly monitor workload, phone logs, call recordings, 
communication logs and complaints to ensure timely responses to 
borrowers. 
 

11. Servicer shall designate one or more management level employees to 
be the primary contact for the Attorneys General, state financial 
regulators, the Executive Office of U.S. Trustee, each regional office 
of the U.S. Trustee, and federal regulators for communication 
regarding complaints and inquiries from individual borrowers who are 
in default and/or have applied for loan modifications. Servicer shall 
provide a written acknowledgment to all such inquiries within 10 
business days. Servicer shall provide a substantive written response to 
all such inquiries within 30 days. Servicer shall provide relevant loan 
information to borrower and to Attorneys General, state financial 
regulators, federal regulators, the Executive Office of the U.S. 
Trustee, and each U.S. Trustee upon written request and if properly 
authorized. A written complaint filed by a borrower and forwarded by 
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a state attorney general or financial regulatory agency to Servicer 
shall be deemed to have proper authorization. 
 

12. Servicer shall establish and make available to Chapter 13 trustees a 
toll-free number staffed by persons trained in bankruptcy to respond 
to inquiries from Chapter 13 trustees. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the assignment of a SPOC to a borrower, the 

Servicer shall not deny the borrower access to loss mitigation through 
the servicer’s personnel or representatives at homeownership and 
public workshops, nonprofit housing counselors, homeownership 
centers, and other avenues for accessing relief in which the servicer 
participates. 
 

D. Loss Mitigation Communications with Borrowers. 
 
1. Servicer shall commence outreach efforts to communicate loss 

mitigation options for first lien mortgage loans to all potentially 
eligible delinquent borrowers (other than those in bankruptcy) 
beginning on timelines that are in accordance with HAMP 
borrower solicitation guidelines set forth in the MHA Handbook 
version 4.3, Chapter II, Section 2.2, or the most recent version, 
regardless of whether the borrower is eligible for a HAMP 
modification. Servicer shall provide borrowers with notices that 
include contact information for national or state foreclosure 
assistance hotlines and state housing counseling resources, as 
appropriate. The use by Servicer of nothing more than prerecorded 
automatic messages in loss mitigation communications with 
borrowers shall not be sufficient in those instances in which it fails 
to result in contact between the borrower and one of Servicer’s loss 
mitigation specialists. Servicer shall conduct affirmative outreach 
efforts to inform delinquent second lien borrowers (other than 
those in bankruptcy) about the availability of payment reduction 
options. The foregoing notwithstanding, Servicer shall have no 
obligation to solicit borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 

 
2. Servicer shall disclose and provide accurate information to 

borrowers relating to the qualification process and eligibility 
factors for loss mitigation programs. 
 

3. Servicer shall communicate, at the written request of the borrower, 
with the borrower’s authorized representatives, including housing 
counselors. Servicer shall communicate with representatives from 
state attorneys general and financial regulatory agencies acting 
upon a written complaint filed by the borrower and forwarded by 
the state attorney general or financial regulatory agency to 
Servicer. When responding to the borrower regarding such 
complaint, Servicer shall include the applicable state attorney 
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general on all correspondence with the borrower regarding such 
complaint. 
 

4. Servicer shall cease all collection efforts while the borrower (i) is 
making timely payments under a trial loan modification or (ii) has 
submitted a complete loan modification application, and a 
modification decision is pending.  Notwithstanding the above, 
Servicer reserves the right to contact a borrower to gather required 
loss mitigation documentation or to assist a borrower with 
performance under a trial loan modification plan. 

 
5. Servicer shall consider partnering with third parties, including 

national chain retailers, and shall consider the use of select bank 
branches affiliated with Servicer, to set up programs to allow 
borrowers to copy, fax, scan, transmit by overnight delivery, or 
mail or email documents to Servicer free of charge. 
 

6. Within five business days after referral to foreclosure, the Servicer 
(including any attorney (or trustee) conducting foreclosure 
proceedings at the direction of the Servicer) shall send a written 
communication (“Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter”) 
to the borrower that includes clear language that: 

 
a. The Servicer may have sent to the borrower one or more 

borrower solicitation communications; 
 

b. The borrower can still be evaluated for alternatives to 
foreclosure even if he or she had previously shown no 
interest; 

 
c. The borrower should contact the Servicer to obtain a loss 

mitigation application package; 
 

d. The borrower must submit a loan modification application 
to the Servicer to request consideration for available 
foreclosure prevention alternatives; 

 
e. Provides the Servicer’s contact information for submitting 

a complete loan modification application, including the 
Servicer’s toll-free number; and 

 
f. Unless the form of letter is otherwise specified by investor 

directive or state law or the borrower is not eligible for an 
appeal under paragraph IV.G.3.a, states that if the borrower 
is contemplating or has pending an appeal of an earlier 
denial of a loan modification application, that he or she 
may submit a loan modification application in lieu of his or 
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her appeal within 30 days after the Post Referral to 
Foreclosure Solicitation Letter. 
 

E. Development of Loan Portals. 
 
1. Servicer shall develop or contract with a third-party vendor to 

develop an online portal linked to Servicer’s primary servicing 
system where borrowers can check, at no cost, the status of their 
first lien loan modifications. 

 
2. Servicer shall design portals that may, among other things: 

 
a. Enable borrowers to submit documents electronically; 

 
b. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; 

 
c. Provide information and eligibility factors for proprietary 

loan modification and other loss mitigation programs; and 
 

d. Permit Servicer to communicate with borrowers to satisfy 
any written communications required to be provided by 
Servicer, if borrowers submit documents electronically. 
 

3. Servicer shall participate in the development and implementation 
of a neutral, nationwide loan portal system linked to Servicer’s 
primary servicing system, such as Hope LoanPort to enhance 
communications with housing counselors, including using the 
technology used for the Borrower Portal, and containing similar 
features to the Borrower Portal. 
 

4. Servicer shall update the status of each pending loan modification 
on these portals at least every 10 business days and ensure that 
each portal is updated on such a schedule as to maintain 
consistency. 
 

F. Loan Modification Timelines. 
 
1. Servicer shall provide written acknowledgement of the receipt of 

documentation submitted by the borrower in connection with a 
first lien loan modification application within 3 business days. In 
its initial acknowledgment, Servicer shall briefly describe the loan 
modification process and identify deadlines and expiration dates 
for submitted documents. 

 
2. Servicer shall notify borrower of any known deficiency in 

borrower’s initial submission of information, no later than 5 
business days after receipt, including any missing information or 
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documentation required for the loan modification to be considered 
complete. 
 

3. Subject to section IV.B, Servicer shall afford borrower 30 days 
from the date of Servicer’s notification of any missing information 
or documentation to supplement borrower’s submission of 
information prior to making a determination on whether or not to 
grant an initial loan modification. 
 

4. Servicer shall review the complete first lien loan modification 
application submitted by borrower and shall determine the 
disposition of borrower’s trial or preliminary loan modification 
request no later than 30 days after receipt of the complete loan 
modification application, absent compelling circumstances beyond 
Servicer’s control. 
 

5. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that second lien loan 
modification requests are evaluated on a timely basis. When a 
borrower qualifies for a second lien loan modification after a first 
lien loan modification in accordance with Section 2.c.i of the 
General Framework for Consumer Relief Provisions, the Servicer 
of the second lien loan shall (absent compelling circumstances 
beyond Servicer’s control) send loan modification documents to 
borrower no later than 45 days after the Servicer receives official 
notification of the successful completion of the related first lien 
loan modification and the essential terms. 
 

6. For all proprietary first lien loan modification programs, Servicer 
shall allow properly submitted borrower financials to be used for 
90 days from the date the documents are received, unless Servicer 
learns that there has been a material change in circumstances or 
unless investor requirements mandate a shorter time frame. 
 

7. Servicer shall notify borrowers of the final denial of any first lien 
loan modification request within 10 business days of the denial 
decision. The notification shall be in the form of the non-approval 
notice required in paragraph IV.G.1 below. 
 

G. Independent Evaluation of First Lien Loan Modification Denials. 
 
1. Except when evaluated as provided in paragraphs IV.B.8 or 

IV.B.9, Servicer’s initial denial of an eligible borrower’s request 
for first lien loan modification following the submission of a 
complete loan modification application shall be subject to an 
independent evaluation. Such evaluation shall be performed by an 
independent entity or a different employee who has not been 
involved with the particular loan modification. 
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2. Denial Notice. 
 
a. When a first lien loan modification is denied after 

independent review, Servicer shall send a written non-
approval notice to the borrower identifying the reasons for 
denial and the factual information considered. The notice 
shall inform the borrower that he or she has 30 days from 
the date of the denial letter declination to provide evidence 
that the eligibility determination was in error. 

 
b. If the first lien modification is denied because disallowed 

by investor, Servicer shall disclose in the written non-
approval notice the name of the investor and summarize the 
reasons for investor denial. 
 

c. For those cases where a first lien loan modification denial 
is the result of an NPV calculation, Servicer shall provide 
in the written non-approval notice the monthly gross 
income and property value used in the calculation. 
 

3. Appeal Process. 
 
a. After the automatic review in paragraph IV.G.1 has been 

completed and Servicer has issued the written non-approval 
notice, in the circumstances described in the first sentences 
of paragraphs IV.B.3, IV.B.5 or IV.B.7,except when 
otherwise required by federal or state law or investor 
directives, borrowers shall have 30 days to request an 
appeal and obtain an independent review of the first lien 
loan modification denial in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement. Servicer shall ensure that the borrower has 
30 days from the date of the written non-approval notice to 
provide information as to why Servicer’s determination of 
eligibility for a loan modification was in error, unless the 
reason for non-approval is (1) ineligible mortgage, (2) 
ineligible property, (3) offer not accepted by borrower or 
request withdrawn, or (4) the loan was previously modified. 

 
b. For those cases in which the first lien loan modification 

denial is the result of an NPV calculation, if a borrower 
disagrees with the property value used by Servicer in the 
NPV test, the borrower can request that a full appraisal be 
conducted of the property by an independent licensed 
appraiser (at borrower expense) consistent with HAMP 
directive 10-15. Servicer shall comply with the process set 
forth in HAMP directive 10-15, including using such value 
in the NPV calculation. 
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c. Servicer shall review the information submitted by 
borrower and use its best efforts to communicate the 
disposition of borrower’s appeal to borrower no later than 
30 days after receipt of the information. 
 

d. If Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, Servicer’s appeal 
denial letter shall include a description of other available 
loss mitigation, including short sales and deeds in lieu of 
foreclosure. 
 

H. General Loss Mitigation Requirements. 
 
1. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and systems for tracking 

borrower documents and information that are relevant to 
foreclosure, loss mitigation, and other Servicer operations. Servicer 
shall make periodic assessments to ensure that its staffing and 
systems are adequate. 
 

2. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and caseload limits for 
SPOCs and employees responsible for handling foreclosure, loss 
mitigation and related communications with borrowers and 
housing counselors. Servicer shall make periodic assessments to 
ensure that its staffing and systems are adequate.  
 

3. Servicer shall establish reasonable minimum experience, 
educational and training requirements for loss mitigation staff. 
 

4. Servicer shall document electronically key actions taken on a 
foreclosure, loan modification, bankruptcy, or other servicing file, 
including communications with the borrower. 
 

5. Servicer shall not adopt compensation arrangements for its 
employees that encourage foreclosure over loss mitigation 
alternatives. 
 

6. Servicer shall not make inaccurate payment delinquency reports to 
credit reporting agencies when the borrower is making timely 
reduced payments pursuant to a trial or other loan modification 
agreement. Servicer shall provide the borrower, prior to entering 
into a trial loan modification, with clear and conspicuous written 
information that adverse credit reporting consequences may result 
from the borrower making reduced payments during the trial 
period. 
 

7. Where Servicer grants a loan modification, Servicer shall provide 
borrower with a copy of the fully executed loan modification 
agreement within 45 days of receipt of the executed copy from the 
borrower. All modifications shall be evidenced in writing.   
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8. Servicer shall not instruct, advise or recommend that borrowers go 

into default in order to qualify for loss mitigation relief. 
 

9. Servicer shall not discourage borrowers from working or 
communicating with legitimate non-profit housing counseling 
services. 
 

10. Servicer shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to 
waive or release claims and defenses as a condition of approval for 
a loan modification program or other loss mitigation relief. 
However, nothing herein shall preclude Servicer from requiring a 
waiver or release of claims and defenses with respect to a loan 
modification offered in connection with the resolution of a 
contested claim, when the borrower would not otherwise be 
qualified for that loan modification under existing Servicer 
programs. 

 
11. Servicer shall not charge borrower an application fee in connection 

with a request for a loan modification. Servicer shall provide 
borrower with a pre-paid overnight envelope or pre-paid address 
label for return of a loan modification application.  However, if 
Servicer makes a copy of the loan modification application 
available free of charge via an internet portal, and allows for 
submission of the packet via electronic means, and the borrower 
elects to submit such documentation electronically, no pre-paid 
envelope or label shall be required. 
 

12. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to 
minimize the risk of borrowers submitting multiple loss mitigation 
requests for the purpose of delay, Servicer shall not be obligated to 
evaluate requests for loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers 
who have already been evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to 
be evaluated consistent with the requirements of HAMP or 
proprietary modification programs, or (b) borrowers who were 
evaluated after the date of implementation of this Agreement, 
consistent with this Agreement, unless there has been a material 
change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is 
documented by borrower and submitted to Servicer. 
 

I. Proprietary First Lien Loan Modifications. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its 

qualification processes, all required documentation and 
information necessary for a complete first lien loan modification 
application, and key eligibility factors for all proprietary loan 
modifications. 
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2. Servicer shall design proprietary first lien loan modification 
programs that are intended to produce sustainable modifications 
according to investor guidelines and previous results. Servicer 
shall design these programs with the intent of providing affordable 
payments for borrowers needing longer term or permanent 
assistance. 
 

3. Servicer shall track outcomes and maintain records regarding 
characteristics and performance of proprietary first lien loan 
modifications. Servicer shall provide a description of modification 
waterfalls, eligibility criteria, and modification terms, on a 
publicly-available website. 
 

4. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for 
proprietary first lien loan modifications. 
 

J. Proprietary Second Lien Loan Modifications. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its 

qualification processes, all required documentation and 
information necessary for a complete second lien modification 
application. 

 
2. Servicer shall design second lien modification programs with the 

intent of providing affordable payments for borrowers needing 
longer term or permanent assistance. 
 

3. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for 
second lien modifications. 
 

4. When an eligible borrower with a second lien submits all required 
information for a second lien loan modification and the 
modification request is denied, Servicer shall promptly send a 
written non-approval notice to the borrower. 
 

K. Short Sales. 
 
1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on general 

requirements for the short sale process. 
  

2. Servicer shall consider appropriate monetary incentives to 
underwater borrowers to facilitate short sale options. 
  

3. Servicer shall develop a cooperative short sale process which 
allows the borrower the opportunity to engage with Servicer to 
pursue a short sale evaluation prior to putting home on the market. 
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4. Servicer shall send written confirmation of the borrower’s first 
request for a short sale to the borrower or his or her agent within 
10 business days of receipt of the request and proper written 
authorization from the borrower allowing Servicer to communicate 
with the borrower’s agent. The confirmation shall include basic 
information about the short sale process and Servicer’s 
requirements, and will state clearly and conspicuously that the 
Servicer may demand a deficiency payment if such deficiency 
claim is permitted by applicable law.  No such confirmation shall 
be required if Servicer has already provided a written acceptance 
or rejection of the short sale request prior to the passage of 10 
business days. 
 

5. Servicer shall send borrower at borrower’s address of record or to 
borrower’s agent timely written notice of any missing required 
documents for consideration of short sale within 30 days of 
receiving borrower’s request for a short sale. 
 

6. Servicer shall review the short sale request submitted by borrower 
and communicate the disposition of borrower’s request no later 
than 30 days after receipt of all required information and third-
party consents. 
 

7. If the short sale request is accepted, Servicer shall 
contemporaneously notify the borrower whether Servicer or 
investor will demand a deficiency payment or related cash 
contribution and the approximate amount of that deficiency, if such 
deficiency obligation is permitted by applicable law. If the short 
sale request is denied, Servicer shall provide reasons for the denial 
in the written notice. If Servicer waives a deficiency claim, it shall 
not sell or transfer such claim to a third-party debt collector or debt 
buyer for collection. 
 

L. Loss Mitigation During Bankruptcy. 
 
1. Servicer may not deny any loss mitigation option to eligible 

borrowers on the basis that the borrower is a debtor in bankruptcy 
so long as borrower and any trustee cooperates in obtaining any 
appropriate approvals or consents. 
 

2. Servicer shall, to the extent reasonable, extend trial period loan 
modification plans as necessary to accommodate delays in 
obtaining bankruptcy court approvals or receiving full remittance 
of debtor’s trial period payments that have been made to a chapter 
13 trustee. In the event of a trial period extension, the debtor must 
make a trial period payment for each month of the trial period, 
including any extension month. 
 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 34 of 47



 
 

A-34 

3. When the debtor is in compliance with a trial period or permanent 
loan modification plan, Servicer will not object to confirmation of 
the debtor’s chapter 13 plan, move to dismiss the pending 
bankruptcy case, or file a MRS solely on the basis that the debtor 
paid only the amounts due under the trial period or permanent loan 
modification plan, as opposed to the non-modified mortgage 
payments. 
 

M. Transfer of Servicing of Loans.  
 
1. Ordinary Transfer of Servicing from Servicer to Successor 
 Servicer or Subservicer.  

   
 The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights from Servicer 

to a third-party, including subservicing: 
 
a. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall inform the 

successor servicer (including a subservicer) whether a loss 
mitigation request is pending. 

 
b. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to accept and continue 
processing pending loss mitigation requests. 

  
c. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to honor trial and permanent 
loan modification agreements or other types of loss 
mitigation agreements entered into by prior servicer. 

 
d. Any contract for transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

designate that borrowers are third party beneficiaries under 
paragraphs IV.M.1.b and IV.M.1.c, above. 

 
 

2. Transfer of Servicing to Servicer.  
 

a. When Servicer acquires servicing rights from another 
servicer, Servicer shall ensure that it will accept, and 
continue to process pending loss mitigation requests from 
the prior servicer, and that it will honor trial and permanent 
loan modification agreements or other loss mitigation 
agreements entered into by the prior servicer, as evidenced 
by the prior servicer or the borrower.  If the borrower 
provides a copy of a loss mitigation offer and the borrower 
has complied in good faith with the terms of the offer, that 
shall be deemed evidence of a loss mitigation agreement.  
A borrower making payments that conform to the payment 
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terms of the offer shall be deemed to be the borrower’s 
good faith compliance with the terms of the offer.   

 

3. Transfer of Servicing with Pending Loss Mitigation. 
 

a. Where a loan file indicates that a loss mitigation request 
was pending within 60 days of transfer or a borrower 
indicates the same, and Servicer lacks clear written 
evidence of a loss mitigation denial by the prior servicer,  
Servicer shall take all reasonable steps to obtain 
confirmation from the prior servicer of the status of any 
loss mitigation activity or review of a loss mitigation 
request, and shall:  

 

i. Where the prior servicer’s review was not complete, 
complete the review of the borrower's prior loss 
mitigation request, after notifying the borrower of 
any necessary information missing from such 
application, and afford the borrower an opportunity 
to have the loss mitigation request reviewed through 
the independent evaluation and appeal processes 
under paragraphs IV.G.1&3; or 

ii. Provide the borrower a written denial notice, in 
compliance with paragraph IV.G.2, and provide the 
borrower 30 days to request an appeal under 
paragraph IV.G.3. 

 
b. The Servicer shall not commence, refer to, or proceed with 

foreclosure until the servicer has satisfied all requirements 
under paragraph 3.a. above. 

 

4.  Transfer of Servicing of Loans where the Borrower is in 
Bankruptcy. 

a. The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights 
to  a third party from Servicer, including subservicing: 

 

i. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall inform 
the successor servicer or subservicer whether a 
borrower is a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding. 

ii. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing 
rights shall obligate the successor servicer to ensure 
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that payments for borrowers in active chapter 13 
bankruptcy cases continue to be applied consistent 
with Paragraph I.B.11.a-b.  

b. The following shall apply to all transfers of servicing rights 
to Servicer from a third party including prior servicers or 
subservicers: 

i. At the time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall 
identify whether a borrower is a debtor in a 
bankruptcy proceeding. 

ii. In any POC, MRS, or other document filed by or on 
behalf of Servicer in a bankruptcy proceeding, 
Servicer shall not impose or collect fees or charges 
assessed by a prior servicer, unless Servicer has 
properly itemized and verified those fees and 
charges, and otherwise complied with the 
requirements of Paragraphs, I.D, III.B, and VI. 

 
 

V. PROTECTIONS FOR MILITARY PERSONNEL. 
  

A. Servicer shall comply with all applicable provisions of the 
Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA), 50 U.S.C. Appx. § 501 et seq., 
and any applicable state law offering protections to servicemembers. 

 
B. When a borrower states that he or she is or was within the preceding 9 

months (or the then applicable statutory period under the SCRA) in active 
military service or has received and is subject to military orders requiring 
him or her to commence active military service, Lender shall determine 
whether the borrower may be eligible for the protections of the SCRA or 
for the protections of the provisions of paragraph V.F. If Servicer 
determines the borrower is so eligible, Servicer shall, until Servicer 
determines that such customer is no longer protected by the SCRA, 

 
1. if such borrower is not entitled to a SPOC, route such customers to 

employees who have been specially trained about the protections 
of the SCRA to respond to such borrower’s questions, or 

 
2. if such borrower is entitled to a SPOC, designate as a SPOC for 

such borrower a person who has been specially trained about the 
protections of the SCRA (Servicemember SPOC). 
 

C. Servicer shall, in addition to any other reviews it may perform to assess 
eligibility under the SCRA, (i) before referring a loan for foreclosure, (ii) 
within seven days before a foreclosure sale, and (iii) the later of (A) 
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promptly after a foreclosure sale and (B) within three days before the 
regularly scheduled end of any redemption period, determine whether the 
secured property is owned by a servicemember covered under SCRA by 
searching the Defense Manpower Data Center (DMDC) for evidence of 
SCRA eligibility by either (a) last name and social security number, or (b) 
last name and date of birth. 

 
D. When a servicemember provides written notice requesting protection 

under the SCRA relating to interest rate relief, but does not provide the 
documentation required by Section 207(b)(1) of the SCRA (50 USC 
Appx. § 527(b)(1)), Servicer shall accept, in lieu of the documentation 
required by Section 207(b)(1) of the SCRA, a letter on official 
letterheadfrom the servicemember’s commanding officer including a 
contact telephone number for confirmation: 
 
1. Addressed in such a way as to signify that the commanding officer 

recognizes that the letter will be relied on by creditors of the 
servicemember (a statement that the letter is intended to be relied 
upon by the Servicemember’s creditors would satisfy this 
requirement); 
 

2. Setting forth the full name (including middle initial, if any), Social 
Security number and date of birth of the servicemember; 
 

3. Setting forth the home address of the servicemember; and 
 

4. Setting forth the date of the military orders marking the beginning 
of the period of military service of the servicemember and, as may 
be applicable, that the military service of the servicemember is 
continuing or the date on which the military service of the 
servicemember ended. 
 

E. Servicer shall notify customers who are 45 days delinquent that, if they are 
a servicemember, (a) they may be entitled to certain protections under the 
SCRA regarding the servicemember’s interest rate and the risk of 
foreclosure, and (b) counseling for covered servicemembers is available at 
agencies such as Military OneSource, Armed Forces Legal Assistance, 
and a HUD-certified housing counselor. Such notice shall include a toll-
free number that servicemembers may call to be connected to a person 
who has been specially trained about the protections of the SCRA to 
respond to such borrower’s questions. Such telephone number shall either 
connect directly to such a person or afford a caller the ability to identify 
him- or herself as an eligible servicemember and be routed to such 
persons. Servicers hereby confirm that they intend to take reasonable steps 
to ensure the dissemination of such toll-free number to customers who 
may be eligible servicemembers. 
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F. Irrespective of whether a mortgage obligation was originated before or 
during the period of a servicemember’s military service, if, based on the 
determination described in the last sentence and subject to Applicable 
Requirements, a servicemember’s military orders (or any letter complying 
with paragraph V.D), together with any other documentation satisfactory 
to the Servicer, reflects that the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile 
Fire/Imminent Danger Pay and (b) serving at a location (i) more than 750 
miles from the location of the secured property or (ii) outside of the 
United States, then to the extent consistent with Applicable Requirements, 
the Servicer shall not sell, foreclose, or seize a property for a breach of an 
obligation on real property owned by a servicemember that is secured by 
mortgage, deed of trust, or other security in the nature of a mortgage, 
during, or within 9 months after, the period in which the servicemember is 
eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent Danger Pay, unless either (i) Servicer 
has obtained a court order granted before such sale, foreclosure, or seizure 
with a return made and approved by the court, or (ii) if made pursuant to 
an agreement as provided in section 107 of the SCRA (50 U.S.C. Appx. § 
517).  Unless a servicemember’s eligibility for the protection under this 
paragraph can be fully determined by a proper search of the DMDC 
website, Servicer shall only be obligated under this provision if it is able to 
determine, based on a servicemember’s military orders (or any letter 
complying with paragraph V.D), together with any other documentation 
provided by or on behalf of the servicemember that is satisfactory to the 
Servicer, that the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent 
Danger Pay and (b) serving at a location (i) more than 750 miles from the 
location of the secured property or (ii) outside of the United States. 
 

G. Servicer shall not require a servicemember to be delinquent to qualify for 
a short sale, loan modification, or other loss mitigation relief if the 
servicemember is suffering financial hardship and is otherwise eligible for 
such loss mitigation. Subject to Applicable Requirements, for purposes of 
assessing financial hardship in relation to (i) a short sale or deed in lieu 
transaction, Servicer will take into account whether the servicemember is, 
as a result of a permanent change of station order, required to relocate 
even if such servicemember’s income has not been decreased, so long as 
the servicemember does not have sufficient liquid assets to make his or her 
monthly mortgage payments, or (ii) a loan modification, Servicer will take 
into account whether the servicemember is, as a result of his or her 
military orders required to relocate to a new duty station at least seventy 
five mile from his or her residence/secured property or to reside at a 
location other than the residence/secured property, and accordingly is 
unable personally to occupy the residence and (a) the residence will 
continue to be occupied by his or her dependents, or (b) the residence is 
the only residential property owned by the servicemember. 
 

H. Servicer shall not make inaccurate reports to credit reporting agencies 
when a servicemember, who has not defaulted before relocating under 
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military orders to a new duty station, obtains a short sale, loan 
modification, or other loss mitigation relief. 
 

VI. RESTRICTIONS ON SERVICING FEES. 
 

A. General Requirements. 
 
1. All default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related service fees, 

including third-party fees, collected from the borrower by Servicer 
shall be bona fide, reasonable in amount, and disclosed in detail to 
the borrower as provided in paragraphs I.B.10 and VI.B.1. 

 
B. Specific Fee Provisions. 

 
1. Schedule of Fees.  Servicer shall maintain and keep current a 

schedule of common non-state specific fees or ranges of fees that 
may be charged to borrowers by or on behalf of Servicer.  Servicer 
shall make this schedule available on its website and to the 
borrower or borrower’s authorized representative upon request. 
The schedule shall identify each fee, provide a plain language 
explanation of the fee, and state the maximum amount of the fee or 
how the fee is calculated or determined. 
 

2. Servicer may collect a default-related fee only if the fee is for 
reasonable and appropriate services actually rendered and one of 
the following conditions is met: 

 
a. the fee is expressly or generally authorized by the loan 

instruments and not prohibited by law or this Agreement; 
 
b. the fee is permitted by law and not prohibited by the loan 

instruments or this Agreement; or 
 

c. the fee is not prohibited by law, this Agreement or the loan 
instruments and is a reasonable fee for a specific service 
requested by the borrower that is collected only after clear 
and conspicuous disclosure of the fee is made available to 
the borrower. 
 

3. Attorneys’ Fees.  In addition to the limitations in paragraph VI.B.2 
above, attorneys’ fees charged in connection with a foreclosure 
action or bankruptcy proceeding shall only be for work actually 
performed and shall not exceed reasonable and customary fees for 
such work. In the event a foreclosure action is terminated prior to 
the final judgment and/or sale for a loss mitigation option, a 
reinstatement, or payment in full, the borrower shall be liable only 
for reasonable and customary fees for work actually performed. 
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4. Late Fees. 
 
a. Servicer shall not collect any late fee or delinquency charge 

when the only delinquency is attributable to late fees or 
delinquency charges assessed on an earlier payment, and 
the payment is otherwise a full payment for the applicable 
period and is paid on or before its due date or within any 
applicable grace period. 

 
b. Servicer shall not collect late fees (i) based on an amount 

greater than the past due amount; (ii) collected from the 
escrow account or from escrow surplus without the 
approval of the borrower; or (iii) deducted from any regular 
payment. 

 
c. Servicer shall not collect any late fees for periods during 

which (i) a complete loan modification application is under 
consideration; (ii) the borrower is making timely trial 
modification payments; or (iii) a written and binding short 
sale offer from a bona fide purchaser is being evaluated by 
Servicer. 
 

C. Third-Party Fees. 
 
1. Servicer shall not impose unnecessary or duplicative property 

inspection, property preservation or valuation fees on the borrower, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

 
a. No property preservation fees shall be imposed on eligible 

borrowers who have a pending application with Servicer 
for loss mitigation relief or are performing under a loss 
mitigation program, unless Servicer has a reasonable basis 
to believe that property preservation is necessary for the 
maintenance of the property, such as when the property is 
vacant or listed on a violation notice from a local 
jurisdiction;  
 

b. No property inspection fee shall be imposed on a borrower 
any more frequently than the timeframes allowed under 
GSE or HUD guidelines unless Servicer has identified 
specific circumstances supporting the need for further 
property inspections; and 
  

c. Servicer shall be limited to imposing property valuation 
fees (e.g., BPO) to once every 12 months, unless other 
valuations are requested by the borrower to facilitate a 
short sale or to support a loan modification as outlined in 
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paragraph IV.G.3.a, or required as part of the default or 
foreclosure valuation process. 
 

2. Default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related services performed by 
third parties shall be at reasonable market value. 
 

3. Servicer shall not collect any fee for default, foreclosure or 
bankruptcy-related services by an affiliate unless the amount of the 
fee does not exceed the lesser of (a) any fee limitation or allowable 
amount for the service under applicable state law, and (b) the 
market rate for the service. To determine the market rate, Servicer 
shall obtain annual market reviews of its affiliates’ pricing for such 
default and foreclosure-related services; such market reviews shall 
be performed by a qualified, objective, independent third-party 
professional using procedures and standards generally accepted in 
the industry to yield accurate and reliable results. The independent 
third-party professional shall determine in its market survey the 
price actually charged by third-party affiliates and by independent 
third party vendors. 
 

4. Servicer shall be prohibited from collecting any unearned fee, or 
giving or accepting referral fees in relation to third-party default or 
foreclosure-related services. 
 

5. Servicer shall not impose its own mark-ups on Servicer initiated 
third-party default or foreclosure-related services. 
 

D. Certain Bankruptcy Related Fees. 
 
1. Servicer must not collect any attorney’s fees or other charges with 

respect to the preparation or submission of a POC or MRS 
document that is withdrawn or denied, or any amendment thereto 
that is required, as a result of a substantial misstatement by 
Servicer of the amount due. 

 
2. Servicer shall not collect late fees due to delays in receiving full 

remittance of debtor’s payments, including trial period or 
permanent modification payments as well as post-petition conduit 
payments in accordance with 11 U.S.C. § 1322(b)(5), that debtor 
has timely (as defined by the underlying Chapter 13 plan) made to 
a chapter 13 trustee. 
 

VII. FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE. 
 

A. General Requirements for Force-Placed Insurance. 
  

1. Servicer shall not obtain force-placed insurance unless there is a 
reasonable basis to believe the borrower has failed to comply with 
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the loan contract’s requirements to maintain property insurance. 
For escrowed accounts, Servicer shall continue to advance 
payments for the homeowner’s existing policy, unless the borrower 
or insurance company cancels the existing policy. 

 
For purposes of this section VII, the term “force-placed insurance” 
means hazard insurance coverage obtained by Servicer when the 
borrower has failed to maintain or renew hazard or wind insurance 
on such property as required of the borrower under the terms of the 
mortgage. 
 

2. Servicer shall not be construed as having a reasonable basis for 
obtaining force-placed insurance unless the requirements of this 
section VII have been met. 

 
3. Servicer shall not impose any charge on any borrower for force-

placed insurance with respect to any property securing a federally 
related mortgage unless: 
 
a. Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a written notice to the 

borrower containing: 
 

i. A reminder of the borrower’s obligation to maintain 
hazard insurance on the property securing the 
federally related mortgage; 
 

ii. A statement that Servicer does not have evidence of 
insurance coverage of such property; 
 

iii. A clear and conspicuous statement of the 
procedures by which the borrower may demonstrate 
that the borrower already has insurance coverage; 
 

iv. A statement that Servicer may obtain such coverage 
at the borrower’s expense if the borrower does not 
provide such demonstration of the borrower’s 
existing coverage in a timely manner; 
 

v. A statement that the cost of such coverage may be 
significantly higher than the cost of the 
homeowner’s current coverage; 

 
vi. For first lien loans on Servicer’s primary servicing 

system, a statement that, if the borrower desires to 
maintain his or her voluntary policy, Servicer will 
offer an escrow account and advance the premium 
due on the voluntary policy if the borrower: (a) 
accepts the offer of the escrow account; (b) provides 
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a copy of the invoice from the voluntary carrier; (c) 
agrees in writing to reimburse the escrow advances 
through regular escrow payments; (d) agrees to 
escrow to both repay the advanced premium and to 
pay for the future premiums necessary to maintain 
any required insurance policy; and (e) agrees 
Servicer shall manage the escrow account in 
accordance with the loan documents and with state 
and federal law; and 

 
vii. A statement, in the case of single interest coverage, 

that the coverage may only protect the mortgage 
holder’s interest and not the homeowner’s interest. 
 

b. Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a second written 
notice, at least 30 days after the mailing of the notice under 
paragraph VII.A.3.a that contains all the information 
described in each clause of such paragraph 

 
c. Servicer has not received from the borrower written 

confirmation of hazard insurance coverage for the property 
securing the mortgage by the end of the 15-day period 
beginning on the date the notice under paragraph VII.A.3.b 
was sent by Servicer. 
 

4. Servicer shall accept any reasonable form of written confirmation 
from a borrower or the borrower’s insurance agent of existing 
insurance coverage, which shall include the existing insurance 
policy number along with the identity of, and contact information 
for, the insurance company or agent. 

 
5. Servicer shall not place hazard or wind insurance on a mortgaged 

property, or require a borrower to obtain or maintain such 
insurance, in excess of the greater of replacement value, last-
known amount of coverage or the outstanding loan balance, unless 
required by Applicable Requirements, or requested by borrower in 
writing. 
 

6. Within 15 days of the receipt by Servicer of evidence of a 
borrower’s existing insurance coverage, Servicer shall: 
 
a. Terminate the force-placed insurance; and 

 
b. Refund to the consumer all force-placed insurance 

premiums paid by the borrower during any period during 
which the borrower’s insurance coverage and the force 
placed insurance coverage were each in effect, and any 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 44 of 47



 
 

A-44 

related fees charged to the consumer’s account with respect 
to the force-placed insurance during such period. 
 

7. Servicer shall make reasonable efforts to work with the borrower 
to continue or reestablish the existing homeowner’s policy if there 
is a lapse in payment and the borrower’s payments are escrowed. 

 
8. Any force-placed insurance policy must be purchased for a 

commercially reasonable price. 
 

9. No provision of this section VII shall be construed as prohibiting 
Servicer from providing simultaneous or concurrent notice of a 
lack of flood insurance pursuant to section 102(e) of the Flood 
Disaster Protection Act of 1973. 
 

VIII. GENERAL SERVICER DUTIES AND PROHIBITIONS. 
 

A. Measures to Deter Community Blight. 
 
1. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to 

ensure that REO properties do not become blighted. 
 
2. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to 

enhance participation and coordination with state and local land 
bank programs, neighborhood stabilization programs, nonprofit 
redevelopment programs, and other anti-blight programs, including 
those that facilitate discount sale or donation of low-value REO 
properties so that they can be demolished or salvaged for 
productive use. 
 

3. As indicated in I.A.18, Servicer shall (a) inform borrower that if 
the borrower continues to occupy the property, he or she has 
responsibility to maintain the property, and an obligation to 
continue to pay taxes owed, until a sale or other title transfer action 
occurs; and (b) request that if the borrower wishes to abandon the 
property, he or she contact Servicer to discuss alternatives to 
foreclosure under which borrower can surrender the property to 
Servicer in exchange for compensation.  
 

4. When the Servicer makes a determination not to pursue foreclosure 
action on a property with respect to a first lien mortgage loan, 
Servicer shall: 
 
a. Notify the borrower of Servicer’s decision to release the 

lien and not pursue foreclosure, and inform borrower about 
his or her right to occupy the property until a sale or other 
title transfer action occurs; and 
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b. Notify local authorities, such as tax authorities, courts, or 
code enforcement departments, when Servicer decides to 
release the lien and not pursue foreclosure. 
 

 
B. Tenants’ Rights. 

 
1. Servicer shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws 

governing the rights of tenants living in foreclosed residential 
properties. 
 

2. Servicer shall develop and implement written policies and procedures 
to ensure compliance with such laws. 
 

C. Notification of Tax Consequences. 
 
1. When the Servicer implements a loan modification, partial or 

complete lien forgiveness, or waives a deficiency resulting from a 
short sale or deed in lieu, the Servicer shall: 

 
a. Notify the borrower that such action may have consequences 

with respect to the borrower’s federal, state, or local tax 
liability, as well as eligibility for any public assistance 
benefits the borrower may receive; 

 
b. Notify the borrower that the Servicer cannot advise the 

borrower on tax liability or any effect on public assistance 
benefits; and  
 

c. Notify the borrower that the borrower may wish to consult 
with a qualified individual or organization about any possible 
tax or other consequences resulting from the loan 
modification, lien forgiveness, short sale, or deed in lieu 
deficiency waiver. 
 

IX. GENERAL PROVISIONS, DEFINITIONS, AND IMPLEMENTATION. 
 

A. Applicable Requirements. 
 
1. The servicing standards and any modifications or other actions 

taken in accordance with the servicing standards are expressly 
subject to, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, (a) 
applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, (b) 
the terms of the applicable mortgage loan documents, (c) Section 
201 of the Helping Families Save Their Homes Act of 2009, and 
(d) the terms and provisions of the Servicer Participation 
Agreement with the Department of Treasury, any servicing 
agreement, subservicing agreement under which Servicer services 
for others, special servicing agreement, mortgage or bond 
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insurance policy or related agreement or requirements to which 
Servicer is a party and by which it or its servicing is bound 
pertaining to the servicing or ownership of the mortgage loans, 
including without limitation the requirements, binding directions, 
or investor guidelines of the applicable investor (such as Fannie 
Mae or Freddie Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, or credit enhancer 
(collectively, the “Applicable Requirements”). 

 
2. In the event of a conflict between the requirements of the 

Agreement and the Applicable Requirements with respect to any 
provision of this Agreement such that the Servicer cannot comply 
without violating Applicable Requirements or being subject to 
adverse action, including fines and penalties, Servicer shall 
document such conflicts and notify the Monitor and the 
Monitoring Committee that it intends to comply with the 
Applicable Requirements to the extent necessary to eliminate the 
conflict. Any associated Metric provided for in the Enforcement 
Terms will be adjusted accordingly. 
 

B. Definitions. 
 
1. In each instance in this Agreement in which Servicer is required to 

ensure adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations, it 
is intended to mean that Servicer shall: (a) authorize and adopt 
such actions on behalf of Servicer as may be necessary for Servicer 
to perform such obligations and undertakings; (b) follow up on any 
material non-compliance with such actions in a timely and 
appropriate manner; and (c) require corrective action be taken in a 
timely manner of any material non-compliance with such 
obligations. 
 

2. References to Servicer shall mean Ocwen Financial Corporation or 
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (“Ocwen”), regardless of whether 
Ocwen is acting as a servicer, master servicer, or sub-servicer, and 
shall include Servicer’s successors and assignees in the event of a sale 
of all or substantially all of the assets of Servicer or of Servicer’s 
division(s) or major business unit(s) that are engaged as a primary 
business in customer-facing servicing of residential mortgages on 
owner-occupied properties.  
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BORROWER PAYMENT AMOUNT 
 

1. The Borrower Payment Amount shall be administered under the direction and 

control of the State members of the Monitoring Committee in the following manner. 

2. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of this Consent Judgment, the State 

members of the Monitoring Committee shall choose and retain a Settlement Administrator (“the 

Administrator”) to administer the distribution of cash payments to individual borrowers under this 

Consent Judgment.  

3. Ocwen shall provide to the Administrator all information already in its 

possession and readily available that is reasonably necessary for the administration of this 

Consent Judgment, within a reasonable time after receipt of the request for information.  

Ocwen is ordered herein to provide such information under 15 U.S.C. § 6802(e)(1)(A), (5) and 

(8) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.  Such information pertaining to individual eligible 

borrowers, including names and other identifying information, may be provided to individual 

states, but only if the information is used solely for the purpose of contacting eligible 

borrowers, responding to inquiries from borrowers regarding their eligibility or concerning the 

award of borrower payments under this Consent Judgment, and/or complying with tax 

reporting and withholding obligations, if any.  The Administrator shall utilize appropriate 

information security protocols to ensure the privacy of borrower information and otherwise 

comply with all applicable privacy laws.  After the completion of the distribution of funds by 

the Administrator (“Borrower Payment Process”), the Administrator shall provide a report to 

Ocwen identifying which borrowers have received payment.  In addition, Ocwen may request 

from the Administrator such interim reports as may be deemed reasonable by State members of 
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the Monitoring Committee, and such agreement, consent, or approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  Interim reports necessary to ensure that borrowers will not receive duplicate 

payments by virtue of litigation or otherwise hereby are deemed reasonable.  Ocwen shall 

warrant to the State Members of the Monitoring Committee at the time of supplying 

information to the Administrator that the information is complete and accurate to the best of its 

knowledge and capability.  Ocwen’s duty to supply complete and accurate information, to the 

best of its knowledge and capability, regarding eligible borrowers shall continue throughout 

the administration process. 

4. The Administrator shall permit reasonable onsite inspection by the State members 

of the Monitoring Committee on the premises of the Administrator to monitor the administration 

of this Consent Judgment. 

5. As a condition to receipt of any payments pursuant to this process, borrowers 

must agree that such payment shall offset and operate to reduce any other obligation Ocwen has 

to the borrowers to provide compensation or other payments.  However, borrowers shall not be 

required to release or waive any other right or legal claim as a condition of receiving such 

payments. 

6. Any cash payment to individual borrowers awarded under the terms of this 
 
Consent Judgment is not and shall not be considered as forgiven debt. 

7. The purposes of the payments described in this Exhibit B are remedial and relate 

to the reduction in the proceeds deemed realized by borrowers for tax purposes from the 

foreclosure sale of residential properties owned by the borrowers allegedly resulting from the 

allegedly unlawful conduct of Ocwen. 
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Consumer Relief Requirements 

A. Loan Modification Criteria 

Ocwen shall satisfy the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment set forth in Section IV.5 
of the Consent Judgment through principal reduction loan modifications on first lien 
residential mortgage loans.  Ocwen shall receive credit toward this obligation for every 
dollar reduction in a borrower’s principal that lowers the loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”) 
below 120%, including principal reductions under the Making Home Affordable Program 
(including the Home Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) Tier 1 or Tier 2), 
except to the extent that state or federal funds paid to Ocwen in its capacity as an investor 
are the source of Ocwen’s credit claim, provided that: 

1. At the time the modification is offered, the borrower is at least 30 days 
delinquent or otherwise qualifies as being at imminent risk of default due to 
his or her financial situation; 

2. The borrower’s pre-modification LTV is greater than 100%; 

3. The borrower’s post-modification principal and interest payment is at least 
10% lower than the pre-modification payment;  

4. The borrower’s post-modification payment is at or below a debt-to-income 
ratio (“DTI”) of 31%, (or an affordability measurement consistent with 
HAMP guidelines), or in the case of a non-owner occupied property, an 
appropriate measure of affordability;  

5. The borrower’s payments under the modified terms are current as of 90 days 
following the implementation of the modification; and 

6. The borrower’s post-modification LTV is no greater than 120%, which may 
be determined in accordance with HAMP PRA. 

Provided, however, that Ocwen will only receive credit for a principal reduction that is 
achieved through a deferral of principal instead of immediate forgiveness if the 
modification meets criteria 1 through 5 above, and: 

7. The borrower’s post-modification LTV, as calculated at the time of offer, is 
no greater than 95%; and  

8. The modification’s terms entitle the borrower to forgiveness of the entire 
amount of deferred principal over a period of no more than three years, with at 
least 1/3 of the deferred principal forgiven annually, so long as the borrower 
remains current in the mortgage. 
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B. Other Requirements 

9. Ocwen shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to waive or release 
legal claims and defenses as a condition of approval for a loan modification 
under these Consumer Relief Requirements.  However, nothing herein shall 
preclude Ocwen from requiring a waiver or release of legal claims and 
defenses with respect to a loan modification offered in connection with the 
resolution of a contested claim, when the borrower would not otherwise have 
qualified for that loan modification under existing Servicer programs. 

10. Ocwen shall be entitled to receive credits towards its $2 billion Consumer 
Relief commitment for modifications it undertakes pursuant to the Consumer 
Relief Requirements described above on or after November 3, 2013.  

11. If Ocwen fails to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment as set    
forth in these Consumer Relief Requirements within three years of the date the 
Consent Judgment is entered, Ocwen shall pay a cash penalty in an amount 
equal to the unmet commitment amount, subject to the requirements in 
Paragraph 12.   

12. In the event there is a material change in market conditions that Ocwen can 
demonstrate makes it unable to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief 
commitment notwithstanding its good faith efforts to do so, the parties commit 
to engage in good faith discussions regarding an extension or other 
modification of the terms of this commitment. 

13. Ocwen agrees that it will not implement any of the Consumer Relief 
Requirements described herein through policies that are intended to (a) 
disfavor a specific geography within or among states that are a party to the 
Consent Judgment or (b) discriminate against any protected class of 
borrowers.  This provision shall not preclude the implementation of pilot 
programs in particular geographic areas. 

14. Satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements by Ocwen in accordance 
with this Agreement in connection with any residential mortgage loan is 
expressly subject to, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, as applicable, 
the terms and provisions of the Servicer Participation Agreement with the 
U.S. Department of Treasury, any servicing agreement, subservicing 
agreement under which Ocwen services for others, special servicing 
agreement, mortgage or bond insurance policy or related agreement or 
requirements to which Ocwen is a party and by which it or its servicing 
affiliates are bound pertaining to the servicing or ownership of the mortgage 
loans, including without limitation the requirements, binding directions, or 
investor guidelines of the applicable investor (such as Fannie Mae or Freddie 
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Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, or credit enhancer, provided, however, that 
the inability of Ocwen to offer a type, form or feature of the consumer relief 
payments by virtue of an Applicable Requirement as defined in Section 
IX.A.1 of Exhibit A shall not relieve Ocwen of its aggregate consumer relief 
obligations imposed by this Agreement, i.e., Ocwen must satisfy such 
obligations through the offer of other types, forms or features of consumer 
relief payments that are not limited by such Applicable Requirement. 

15. Ocwen shall not receive any credit under the Consumer Relief Requirements 
for any federal or state incentive payments received by Ocwen for 
modifications made under federal or proprietary programs. 
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Enforcement Terms 

A. Implementation Timeline.  Ocwen (hereinafter “Servicer”) anticipates that it 
will phase in the implementation of the Servicing Standards, using a grid 
approach that prioritizes implementation based upon: (i) the importance of the 
Servicing Standard to the borrower; and (ii) the difficulty of implementing the 
Servicing Standard.  In addition to the Servicing Standards that have been 
implemented upon entry of this Consent Judgment, the period for implementation 
will be within 60 days of entry of this Consent Judgment.  For Metrics 6.D.i, 30, 
and 31 in Schedule D-1 hereto, the period for implementation will be within 180 
days of entry of this Consent Judgment.  For Metrics 32 and 33 in schedule D-1 
hereto, the period for implementation will be within 90 days of entry of this 
Consent Judgment.  In the event that Servicer, using reasonable efforts, is unable 
to implement certain standards on the specified timetable, Servicer may apply to 
the Monitor for a reasonable extension of time to implement those standards or 
requirements.   

B. Monitoring Committee.  A committee comprising of representatives of the state 
Attorneys General, State Mortgage Regulators and the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) shall monitor Servicer’s compliance with this 
Consent Judgment (the “Monitoring Committee”).  The Monitoring Committee 
may substitute representation, as necessary.  Subject to Section F, the Monitoring 
Committee may share all Monitor Reports, as that term is defined in Section D.3 
below, with any releasing party. 

C.  Monitor 
Retention and Qualifications and Standard of Conduct 
1. Pursuant to an agreement of the parties, Joseph A. Smith Jr. is appointed 

to the position of Monitor under the Consent Judgment.  If the Monitor is 
at any time unable to complete his or her duties under the Consent 
Judgment, Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall mutually agree 
upon a replacement in accordance with the process and standards set forth 
in this Section C and Paragraph V.7 of the Consent Judgment. 

2. Such Monitor shall be highly competent and highly respected, with a 
reputation that will garner public confidence in his or her ability to 
perform the tasks required under this Consent Judgment.  The Monitor 
shall have the right to employ an accounting firm or firms or other firm(s) 
with similar capabilities to support the Monitor in carrying out his or her 
duties under the Consent Judgment.  Monitor and Servicer shall agree on 
the selection of a “Primary Professional Firm,” which must have adequate 
capacity and resources to perform the work required under this agreement.  
The Monitor shall also have the right to engage one or more attorneys or 
other professional persons to represent or assist the Monitor in carrying 
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out the Monitor’s duties under the Consent Judgment (each such 
individual, along with each individual deployed to the engagement by the 
Primary Professional Firm, shall be defined as a “Professional”).  The 
Monitor and Professionals will collectively possess expertise in the areas 
of mortgage servicing, loss mitigation, business operations, compliance, 
internal controls, accounting, and foreclosure and bankruptcy law and 
practice.  The Monitor and Professionals shall at all times act in good faith 
and with integrity and fairness towards all the Parties.   

3. The Monitor and Professionals shall not have any prior relationships with 
the Parties that would undermine public confidence in the objectivity of 
their work and, subject to Section C.3(e), below, shall not have any 
conflicts of interest with any Party. 

(a) The Monitor and Professionals will disclose, and will make a 
reasonable inquiry to discover, any known current or prior 
relationships to, or conflicts with, any Party, any Party’s holding 
company, any subsidiaries of the Party or its holding company, 
directors, officers, and law firms. 

(b) The Monitor and Professionals shall make a reasonable inquiry to 
determine whether there are any facts that a reasonable individual 
would consider likely to create a conflict of interest for the 
Monitor or Professionals.  The Monitor and Professionals shall 
disclose any conflict of interest with respect to any Party. 

(c) The duty to disclose a conflict of interest or relationship pursuant 
to this Section C.3 shall remain ongoing throughout the course of 
the Monitor’s and Professionals’ work in connection with this 
Consent Judgment.   

(d) All Professionals shall comply with all applicable standards of 
professional conduct, including ethics rules and rules pertaining to 
conflicts of interest.  

(e) To the extent permitted under prevailing professional standards, a 
Professional’s conflict of interest may be waived by written 
agreement of the Monitor and Servicer. 

(f) Servicer or the Monitoring Committee may move the Court for an 
order disqualifying any Professionals on the grounds that such 
Professional has a conflict of interest that has inhibited or could 
inhibit the Professional’s ability to act in good faith and with 
integrity and fairness towards all Parties.   

4. The Monitor must agree not to be retained by any Party, or its successors 
or assigns, for a period of two years after the conclusion of the terms of 
the engagement.  Any Professionals who work on the engagement must 
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agree not to work on behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, for a 
period of one year after the conclusion of the term of the engagement (the 
“Professional Exclusion Period”).  Any Firm that performs work with 
respect to Servicer on the engagement must agree not to perform work on 
behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, that consists of advising 
Servicer on a response to the Monitor’s review during the engagement and 
for a period of six months after the conclusion of the term of the 
engagement (the “Firm Exclusion Period”).  The Professional Exclusion 
Period, Firm Exclusion Period, and terms of exclusion may be altered on a 
case-by-case basis upon written agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  
The Monitor shall organize the work of any Firms so as to minimize the 
potential for any appearance of, or actual, conflicts. 

Monitor’s Responsibilities 
5. It shall be the responsibility of the Monitor to determine whether Servicer 

is in compliance with the Servicing Standards and whether Servicer has 
satisfied the Consumer Relief Requirements, in accordance with the 
authorities provided herein, and to report his or her findings as provided in 
Section D.3, below.  

6. The manner in which the Monitor will carry out his or her compliance 
responsibilities under this Consent Judgment and, where applicable, the 
methodologies to be utilized shall be set forth in a work plan agreed upon 
by Servicer and the Monitor, and not objected to by the Monitoring 
Committee (the “Work Plan”). 

Internal Review Group 
7. Servicer will designate an internal quality control group that is 

independent from the line of business whose performance is being 
measured (the “Internal Review Group”) to perform compliance reviews 
each calendar quarter (“Quarter”) in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Work Plan (the “Compliance Reviews”) and in 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements after the (A) end of 
each calendar year (and, in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and 
(B) earlier of the Servicer’s assertion that it has satisfied its obligations 
thereunder and the third anniversary of the Start Date (the “Satisfaction 
Review”).  For the purposes of this provision, a group that is independent 
from the line of business shall be one that does not perform operational 
work on mortgage servicing, and ultimately reports to a Chief Risk Officer, 
Chief Audit Executive, Chief Compliance Officer, or another employee or 
manager who has no direct operational responsibility for mortgage 
servicing. 
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8. The Internal Review Group shall have the appropriate authority, privileges, 
and knowledge to effectively implement and conduct the reviews and 
metric assessments contemplated herein and under the terms and 
conditions of the Work Plan. 

9. The Internal Review Group shall have personnel skilled at evaluating and 
validating processes, decisions, and documentation utilized through the 
implementation of the Servicing Standards.  The Internal Review Group 
may include non-employee consultants or contractors working at 
Servicer’s direction. 

10. The qualifications and performance of the Internal Review Group will be 
subject to ongoing review by the Monitor.  Servicer will appropriately 
remediate the reasonable concerns of the Monitor as to the qualifications 
or performance of the Internal Review Group. 

Work Plan 
11. Servicer’s compliance with the Servicing Standards shall be assessed via 

metrics identified and defined in Schedule D-1 hereto, as supplemented by 
and consistent with the metrics provided in the National Mortgage 
Settlement 2012 Consent Judgment and any additional metrics that may be 
developed in accordance with Section C.22 below (“the “Metrics”).  The 
threshold error rates for the Metrics are set forth in Schedule D-1 (as 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section C.22, below, 
the “Threshold Error Rates”).  The Internal Review Group shall perform 
test work to compute the Metrics each Quarter, and report the results of 
that analysis via the Compliance Reviews.  The Internal Review Group 
shall perform test work to assess the satisfaction of the Consumer Relief 
Requirements within 45 days after the (A) end of each calendar year (and, 
in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and (B) earlier of (i) the end 
of the Quarter in which Servicer asserts that it has satisfied its obligations 
under the Consumer Relief Provisions and (ii) the Quarter during which 
the third anniversary of the Start Date occurs, and report that analysis via 
the Satisfaction Review. 

12. Servicer and the Monitor shall reach agreement on the terms of the Work 
Plan within 90 days of the entry of the Consent Judgment, which time can 
be extended for good cause by agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  If 
such Work Plan is not objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 
days, the Monitor shall proceed to implement the Work Plan.  In the event 
that Servicer and the Monitor cannot agree on the terms of the Work Plan 
within 90 days or the agreed upon terms are not acceptable to the 
Monitoring Committee, Servicer and Monitoring Committee or the 
Monitor shall jointly petition the Court to resolve any disputes.  If the 
Court does not resolve such disputes, then the Parties shall submit all 
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remaining disputes to binding arbitration before a panel of three arbitrators.  
The Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall each appoint one 
arbitrator, and those two arbitrators shall appoint a third.  The Servicer 
may submit a Work Plan that will satisfy the terms of this Consent 
Judgment and the terms of the National Mortgage Settlement 2012 
Consent Judgment. 

13. The Work Plan may be modified from time to time by agreement of the 
Monitor and Servicer.  If such amendment to the Work Plan is not 
objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 days, the Monitor 
shall proceed to implement the amendment to the Work Plan.  To the 
extent possible, the Monitor shall endeavor to apply the Servicing 
Standards uniformly across all Servicers. 

14. The following general principles shall provide a framework for the 
formulation of the Work Plan: 

(a) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 
procedures that will be used by the Internal Review Group to 
perform the test work and compute the Metrics for each Quarter. 

(b) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 
procedures that will be used by Servicer to report on its 
compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 
Consent Judgment, including, incidental to any other testing, 
confirmation of state-identifying information used by Servicer to 
compile state-level Consumer Relief information as required by 
Section D.2. 

(c) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and procedures 
that the Monitor will use to assess Servicer’s reporting on its 
compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 
Consent Judgment.   

(d) The Work Plan will set forth the methodology and procedures the 
Monitor will utilize to review the testing work performed by the 
Internal Review Group. 

(e) The Compliance Reviews and the Satisfaction Review may include 
a variety of audit techniques that are based on an appropriate 
sampling process and random and risk-based selection criteria, as 
appropriate and as set forth in the Work Plan. 

(f) In formulating, implementing, and amending the Work Plan, 
Servicer and the Monitor may consider any relevant information 
relating to patterns in complaints by borrowers, issues or 
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deficiencies reported to the Monitor with respect to the Servicing 
Standards, and the results of prior Compliance Reviews. 

(g) The Work Plan should ensure that Compliance Reviews are 
commensurate with the size, complexity, and risk associated with 
the Servicing Standard being evaluated by the Metric. 

(h) Following implementation of the Work Plan, Servicer shall be 
required to compile each Metric beginning in the first full Quarter 
after the period for implementing the Servicing Standards 
associated with the Metric, or any extension approved by the 
Monitor in accordance with Section A, has run. 

Monitor’s Access to Information 
15. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 

the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall provide the Monitor with its 
regularly prepared business reports analyzing Executive Office servicing 
complaints (or the equivalent); access to all Executive Office servicing 
complaints (or the equivalent) (with appropriate redactions of borrower 
information other than borrower name and contact information to comply 
with privacy requirements); and, if Servicer tracks additional servicing 
complaints, quarterly information identifying the three most common 
servicing complaints received outside of the Executive Office complaint 
process (or the equivalent).  In the event that Servicer substantially 
changes its escalation standards or process for receiving Executive Office 
servicing complaints (or the equivalent), Servicer shall ensure that the 
Monitor has access to comparable information.   

16. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 
the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall notify the Monitor promptly if 
Servicer becomes aware of reliable information indicating Servicer is 
engaged in a significant pattern or practice of noncompliance with a 
material aspect of the Servicing Standards.   

17. Servicer shall provide the Monitor with access to all work papers prepared 
by the Internal Review Group in connection with determining compliance 
with the Metrics or satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements in 
accordance with the Work Plan. 

18. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 
to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 
noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 
reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers or with any of the Consumer 
Relief Requirements, the Monitor shall engage Servicer in a review to 
determine if the facts are accurate or the information is correct.   
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19. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 
under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 
request information from Servicer in addition to that provided under 
Sections C.16-19.  Servicer shall provide the requested information in a 
format agreed upon between Servicer and the Monitor.   

20. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 
under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 
satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 
interview Servicer’s employees and agents, provided that the interviews 
shall be limited to matters related to Servicer’s compliance with the 
Metrics or the Consumer Relief Requirements, and that Servicer shall be 
given reasonable notice of such interviews. 

Monitor’s Powers 

21. Where the Monitor reasonably determines that the Internal Review 
Group’s work cannot be relied upon or that the Internal Review Group did 
not correctly implement the Work Plan in some material respect, the 
Monitor may direct that the work on the Metrics (or parts thereof) be 
reviewed by Professionals or a third party other than the Internal Review 
Group, and that supplemental work be performed as necessary. 

22. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 
to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 
noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 
reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers or tenants residing in 
foreclosed properties, the Monitor shall engage Servicer in a review to 
determine if the facts are accurate or the information is correct.  If after 
that review, the Monitor reasonably concludes that such a pattern exists 
and is reasonably likely to cause material harm to borrowers or tenants 
residing in foreclosed properties, the Monitor may propose an additional 
Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate relating to Servicer’s 
compliance with the associated term or requirement.  Any additional 
Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates (a) must be similar to the 
Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates contained in Schedule D-1, 
(b) must relate to material terms of the Servicing Standards, (c) must 
either (i) be outcomes-based (but no outcome-based Metric shall be added 
with respect to any Mandatory Relief Requirement) or (ii) require the 
existence of policies and procedures required by the Servicing Standards, 
in a manner similar to Metrics 5.B-E, and (d) must be distinct from, and 
not overlap with, any other Metric or Metrics.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Monitor may add a Metric that satisfies (a)-(c) but does not 
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satisfy (d) of the preceding sentence if the Monitor first asks the Servicer 
to propose, and then implement, a Corrective Action Plan, as defined 
below, for the material term of the Servicing Standards with which there is 
a pattern of noncompliance and that is reasonably likely to cause material 
harm to borrowers or tenants residing in foreclosed properties, and the 
Servicer fails to implement the Corrective Action Plan according to the 
timeline agreed to with the Monitor.    

23. If Monitor proposes an additional Metric and associated Threshold Error 
Rate pursuant to Section C.22, above, Monitor, the Monitoring Committee, 
and Servicer shall agree on amendments to Schedule D-1 to include the 
additional Metrics and Threshold Error Rates provided for in Section C.22, 
above, and an appropriate timeline for implementation of the Metric.  If 
Servicer does not timely agree to such additions, any associated 
amendments to the Work Plan, or the implementation schedule, the 
Monitor may petition the court for such additions. 

24. Any additional Metric proposed by the Monitor pursuant to the processes 
in Sections C.22 or C.23 and relating to provision VIII.B.1 of the 
Servicing Standards shall be limited to Servicer’s performance of its 
obligations to comply with (1) the federal Protecting Tenants at 
Foreclosure Act and state laws that provide comparable protections to 
tenants of foreclosed properties; (2) state laws that govern relocation 
assistance payments to tenants (“cash for keys”); and (3) state laws that 
govern the return of security deposits to tenants. 

D.       Reporting   
Quarterly Reports 
1. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will report the results of its 

Compliance Reviews for that Quarter (the “Quarterly Report”).  The 
Quarterly Report shall include:  (i) the Metrics for that Quarter; (ii) 
Servicer’s progress toward meeting its payment obligations under this 
Consent Judgment; and (iii) general statistical data on Servicer’s overall 
servicing performance described in Schedule Y.  Except where an 
extension is granted by the Monitor, Quarterly Reports shall be due no 
later than 45 days following the end of the Quarter and shall be provided 
to:  (1) the Monitor, and (2) the Board of Servicer or a committee of the 
Board designated by Servicer.  The first Quarterly Report shall cover the 
first full Quarter after this Consent Judgment is entered.   

2. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will transmit to each state a 
report (the “State Report”) including general statistical data on Servicer’s 
servicing performance, such as aggregate and state-specific information 
regarding the number of borrowers assisted and credited activities 
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conducted pursuant to the Consumer Relief Requirements as set forth in 
Schedule Y.  The State Report will be delivered simultaneous with the 
submission of the Quarterly Report to the Monitor.  Servicer shall provide 
copies of such State Reports to the Monitor and Monitoring Committee.   

Monitor Reports 
3. The Monitor shall report on Servicer’s compliance with this Consent 

Judgment in periodic reports setting forth his or her findings (the “Monitor 
Reports”).  The first three Monitor Reports will each cover two Quarterly 
Reports.  If the first three Monitor Reports do not find Potential Violations 
(as defined in Section E.1, below), each successive Monitor Report will 
cover four Quarterly Reports, unless and until a Quarterly Report reveals a 
Potential Violation (as defined in Section E.1, below).  In the case of a 
Potential Violation, the Monitor may (but retains the discretion not to) 
submit a Monitor Report after the filing of each of the next two Quarterly 
Reports, provided, however, that such additional Monitor Report(s) shall 
be limited in scope to the Metric or Metrics as to which a Potential 
Violation has occurred.  

4. Prior to issuing any Monitor Report, the Monitor shall confer with 
Servicer and the Monitoring Committee regarding its preliminary findings 
and the reasons for those findings.  Servicer shall have the right to submit 
written comments to the Monitor, which shall be appended to the final 
version of the Monitor Report.  Final versions of each Monitor Report 
shall be provided simultaneously to the Monitoring Committee and 
Servicers within a reasonable time after conferring regarding the 
Monitor’s findings.  The Monitor Reports shall be filed with the Court 
overseeing this Consent Judgment and shall also be provided to the Board 
of Servicer or a committee of the Board designated by Servicer. 

5. The Monitor Report shall: (i) describe the work performed by the Monitor 
and any findings made by the Monitor during the relevant period, (ii) list 
the Metrics and Threshold Error Rates, (iii) list the Metrics, if any, where 
the Threshold Error Rates have been exceeded, (iv) state whether a 
Potential Violation has occurred and explain the nature of the Potential 
Violation,  (v) state whether any Potential Violation has been cured, and 
(vi) state whether the Servicer has complied with the Other Requirements 
set forth in Sections B.9 and 12 of Exhibit C of this Consent Judgment.  In 
addition, following each Satisfaction Review, the Monitor Report shall 
report on the Servicer’s satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, 
including regarding the number of borrowers assisted and number and 
dollar amount of credited loan modifications conducted pursuant to the 
Consumer Relief Requirements, and identify any material inaccuracies 
identified in prior State Reports.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the 
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Monitor Report may be used in any court hearing, trial, or other 
proceeding brought pursuant to the Consent Judgment pursuant to Section 
J, below, and shall be admissible in evidence in a proceeding brought 
under the Consent Judgment pursuant to Section I, below.  Such 
admissibility shall not prejudice Servicer’s right and ability to challenge 
the findings and/or the statements in the Monitor Report as flawed, lacking 
in probative value, or otherwise.  The Monitor Report with respect to a 
particular Potential Violation shall not be admissible or used for any 
purpose if Servicer cures the Potential Violation pursuant to Section E, 
below. 

Satisfaction of Payment Obligations 
6. Upon the satisfaction of any category of payment obligation under this 

Consent Judgment, Servicer, at its discretion, may request that the Monitor 
certify that Servicer has discharged such obligation.  Provided that the 
Monitor is satisfied that Servicer has met the obligation, the Monitor may 
not withhold and must provide the requested certification.  Any 
subsequent Monitor Report shall not include a review of Servicer’s 
compliance with that category of payment obligation. 

Compensation 
7. Within 120 days of entry of this Consent Judgment, the Monitor shall, in 

consultation with the Monitoring Committee and Servicer, prepare and 
present to Monitoring Committee and Servicer an annual budget providing 
its reasonable best estimate of all fees and expenses of the Monitor to be 
incurred during the first year of the term of this Consent Judgment, 
including the fees and expenses of Professionals and support staff (the 
“Monitoring Budget”).  On a yearly basis thereafter, the Monitor shall 
prepare an updated Monitoring Budget providing its reasonable best 
estimate of all fees and expenses to be incurred by Ocwen during that year.  
Absent an objection within 20 days, a Monitoring Budget or updated 
Monitoring Budget shall be implemented.  Consistent with the Monitoring 
Budget, Servicer shall pay all fees and expenses of the Monitor, including 
the fees and expenses of Professionals and support staff.  The fees, 
expenses, and costs of the Monitor, Professionals, and support staff shall 
be reasonable.  Servicer may apply to the Court to reduce or disallow fees, 
expenses, or costs that are unreasonable. 

E.       Potential Violations and Right to Cure 
1. A “Potential Violation” of this Consent Judgment occurs if the Servicer 

has exceeded the Threshold Error Rate set for a Metric in a given Quarter.  
In the event of a Potential Violation, Servicer shall meet and confer with 
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the Monitoring Committee within 15 days of the Quarterly Report or 
Monitor Report indicating such Potential Violation. 

2. Servicer shall have a right to cure any Potential Violation. 

3. Subject to Section E.4, a Potential Violation is cured if (a) a corrective 
action plan approved by the Monitor (the “Corrective Action Plan”) is 
determined by the Monitor to have been satisfactorily completed in 
accordance with the terms thereof; and (b) a Quarterly Report covering the 
Cure Period reflects that the Threshold Error Rate has not been exceeded 
with respect to the same Metric and the Monitor confirms the accuracy of 
said report using his or her ordinary testing procedures.  The “Cure Period” 
shall be the first full quarter after completion of the Corrective Action Plan 
or, if the completion of the Corrective Action Plan occurs within the first 
month of a Quarter and if the Monitor determines that there is sufficient 
time remaining, the period between completion of the Corrective Action 
Plan and the end of that Quarter. 

4. If after Servicer cures a Potential Violation pursuant to the previous 
section, another violation occurs with respect to the same Metric, then the 
second Potential Violation shall immediately constitute an uncured 
violation for purposes of Section I.3, provided, however, that such second 
Potential Violation occurs in either the Cure Period or the Quarter 
immediately following the Cure Period. 

5. In addition to the Servicer’s obligation to cure a Potential Violation 
through the Corrective Action Plan, Servicer must remediate any material 
harm to particular borrowers identified through work conducted under the 
Work Plan.  In the event that a Servicer has a Potential Violation that so 
far exceeds the Threshold Error Rate for a metric that the Monitor 
concludes that the error is widespread, Servicer shall, under the 
supervision of the Monitor, identify other borrowers who may have been 
harmed by such noncompliance and remediate all such harms to the extent 
that the harm has not been otherwise remediated. 

6. In the event a Potential Violation is cured as provided in Sections E.3, 
above, then no Party shall have any remedy under the Consent Judgment 
(other than the remedies in Section E.5) with respect to such Potential 
Violation. 

F.       Confidentiality 
1. These provisions shall govern the use and disclosure of any and all 

information designated as “CONFIDENTIAL,” as set forth below, in 
documents (including email), magnetic media, or other tangible things 
provided by the Servicer to the Monitor in this case, including the 
subsequent disclosure by the Monitor to the Monitoring Committee of 
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such information.  In addition, it shall also govern the use and disclosure 
of such information when and if provided to the Plaintiff States, State 
Mortgage Regulators, or the CFPB. 

2. The Monitor may, at his discretion, provide to the Monitoring Committee 
or to a participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB any 
documents or information received from the Servicer related to a Potential 
Violation or related to the review described in Section C.19; provided, 
however, that any such documents or information so provided shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions of these provisions.  Nothing herein 
shall be construed to prevent the Monitor from providing documents 
received from the Servicer and not designated as “CONFIDENTIAL” to a 
participating state or the CFPB. 

3. The Servicer shall designate as “CONFIDENTIAL” that information, 
document or portion of a document or other tangible thing provided by the 
Servicer to the Monitor, the Monitoring Committee or to any participating 
state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB that Servicer believes 
contains a trade secret or confidential research, development, or 
commercial information subject to protection under applicable state or 
federal laws (collectively, “Confidential Information”).  These provisions 
shall apply to the treatment of Confidential Information so designated.   

4. Except as provided by these provisions, all information designated as 
“CONFIDENTIAL” shall not be shown, disclosed or distributed to any 
person or entity other than those authorized by these provisions.  
Participating states, State Mortgage Regulators, and the CFPB agree to 
protect Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law. 

5. This agreement shall not prevent or in any way limit the ability of a 
participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB to comply with 
any subpoena, Congressional demand for documents or information, court 
order, request under the Right to Financial Privacy Act, or a state or 
federal public records or state or federal freedom of information act 
request; provided, however, that in the event that a participating state or 
the CFPB receives such a subpoena, Congressional demand, court order or 
other request for the production of any Confidential Information covered 
by this Order, the state, State Mortgage Regulator, or CFPB shall, unless 
prohibited under applicable law or unless the state or CFPB would violate 
or be in contempt of the subpoena, Congressional demand, or court order, 
(1) notify the Servicer of such request as soon as practicable and in no 
event more than ten (10) calendar days of its receipt or three calendar days 
before the return date of the request, whichever is sooner, and (2) allow 
the Servicer ten (10) calendar days from the receipt of the notice to obtain 
a protective order or stay of production for the documents or information 
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sought, or to otherwise resolve the issue, before the state, State Mortgage 
Regulator, or CFPB discloses such documents or information.  In all cases 
covered by this Section, the state, State Mortgage Regulator, or CFPB 
shall inform the requesting party that the documents or information sought 
were produced subject to the terms of these provisions.   

G. Dispute Resolution Procedures.  Servicer, the Monitor, and the Monitoring 
Committee will engage in good faith efforts to reach agreement on the proper 
resolution of any dispute concerning any issue arising under the Consent 
Judgment, including any dispute or disagreement related to the withholding of 
consent, the exercise of discretion, or the denial of any application.  Subject to 
Section I, below, in the event that a dispute cannot be resolved, Servicer, the 
Monitor, or the Monitoring Committee may petition the Court for resolution of 
the dispute.  Where a provision of this agreement requires agreement, consent of, 
or approval of any application or action by a Party or the Monitor, such agreement, 
consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

H. Consumer Complaints.  Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall be deemed to 
interfere with existing consumer complaint resolution processes, and the Parties 
are free to bring consumer complaints to the attention of Servicer for resolution 
outside the monitoring process.  In addition, Servicer will continue to respond in 
good faith to individual consumer complaints provided to it by the Consumer 
Financial Protection Bureau, State Attorneys General or State Mortgage 
Regulators in accordance with the routine and practice existing prior to the entry 
of this Consent Judgment, whether or not such complaints relate to Covered 
Conduct released herein. 

I. Enforcement 
1. Consent Judgment.  This Consent Judgment shall be filed in the U.S. 

District Court for the District of Columbia and shall be enforceable therein.  
Servicer and the Releasing Parties shall waive their rights to seek judicial 
review or otherwise challenge or contest in any court the validity or 
effectiveness of this Consent Judgment. Notwithstanding such waiver, any 
State Party may bring an action in that Party’s state court to enforce the 
Judgment.   Servicer and the Releasing Parties agree not to contest any 
jurisdictional facts, including the Court’s authority to enter this Consent 
Judgment.   

2. Enforcing Authorities.  Servicer’s obligations under this Consent 
Judgment shall be enforceable in the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Columbia or in the state court of any State Party that brings an action to 
enforce the Judgment.  An enforcement action under this Consent 
Judgment may be brought by any Party to this Consent Judgment or the 
Monitoring Committee.  Monitor Report(s) and Quarterly Report(s) shall 
not be admissible into evidence by a Party to this Consent Judgment, 
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except in an action in the Court or state court to enforce this Consent 
Judgment.  In addition, unless immediate action is necessary in order to 
prevent irreparable and immediate harm, prior to commencing any 
enforcement action, the CFPB, the State Mortgage Regulator of one of the 
Plaintiff States that are parties to this Consent Judgment, or the Attorney 
General of one of the Plaintiff States that are parties to this Consent 
Judgment must provide notice to the Monitoring Committee of its intent to 
bring an action to enforce this Consent Judgment.  The members of the 
Monitoring Committee shall have no more than 21 days to determine 
whether to bring an enforcement action.  If the members of the Monitoring 
Committee decline to bring an enforcement action, the Party must wait 21 
additional days after such a determination by the members of the 
Monitoring Committee before commencing an enforcement action. 

3. Enforcement Action.  In the event of an action to enforce the obligations 
of Servicer and to seek remedies for an uncured Potential Violation for 
which Servicer’s time to cure has expired, the sole relief available in such 
an action will be: 

(a) Equitable Relief.  An order directing non-monetary equitable relief, 
including injunctive relief, directing specific performance under 
the terms of this Consent Judgment, or other non-monetary 
corrective action. 

(b) Civil Penalties.  The Court or state court may award as civil 
penalties an amount not more than $1 million per uncured Potential 
Violation; or, in the event of a second uncured Potential Violation 
of Metrics 1.a, 1.b, or 2.a (i.e., a Servicer fails the specific Metric 
in a Quarter, then fails to cure that Potential Violation, and then in 
subsequent Quarters fails the same Metric again in a Quarter and 
fails to cure that Potential Violation again in a subsequent Quarter), 
where the final uncured Potential Violation involves widespread 
noncompliance with that Metric, the Court or state court may 
award as civil penalties an amount not more than $5 million for the 
second uncured Potential Violation. 

Nothing in this Section shall limit the availability of remedial 
compensation to harmed borrowers as provided in Section E.5. 

(c) Any penalty or payment owed by Servicer pursuant to the Consent 
Judgment shall be paid to the clerk of the Court or state court or as 
otherwise agreed by the Monitor and the Servicer and distributed 
by the Monitor as follows: 

1. In the event of a penalty based on a violation of a term of 
the Servicing Standards, the penalty shall be allocated, first, 
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to cover the costs incurred by any party in prosecuting the 
violation. 

 
2. In the event of a payment due under Paragraph B.11 of 

Exhibit C, one-third of the payment shall be allocated to the 
CFPB, one-third shall be allocated to the Plaintiff State 
Attorneys General to this Consent Judgment, and one-third 
shall be allocated to the State Mortgage Regulators that are 
parties to the separate Stipulation and Consent Agreement 
with Ocwen identified in this Consent Judgment.  
 

J. Sunset.  This Consent Judgment and all Exhibits shall retain full force and effect 
for three years from the date it is entered (the “Term”), unless otherwise specified 
in the Exhibit.  Servicer shall submit a final Quarterly Report for the last quarter 
or portion thereof falling within the Term, and shall cooperate with the Monitor’s 
review of said report, which shall be concluded no later than six months following 
the end of the Term, after which time Servicer shall have no further obligations 
under this Consent Judgment.  
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Servicing Standards Quarterly Compliance Metrics 
 Executive Summary   
 

Sampling: (a) A random selection of the greater of 100 loans and a statistically  significant sample.  (b) Sample will be selected from the population  as defined in column E 
 

Review and Reporting Period: Results will be reported Quarterly and 45 days after the end of the quarter. 
 

Errors Definition: An error is a measurement  in response to a test question related to the Servicing Standards that results in the failure of the specified outcome.  Errors in response to multiple questions with respect 
to a single outcome would be treated as only a single error. 

Metrics Tested 

 
  

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-4   Filed 02/26/14   Page 17 of 38



D1-2 

 
 

 

 
A B   C D E   F  

 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
1. Outcome Creates Significant Negative Customer Impact  

A. Foreclosure sale in error Customer is in default, legal standing to 
foreclose, and the loan is not subject to 
active trial, or BK. 

 n/a 1% Population Definition: Foreclosure  Sales that 
occurred in the review period. 

A.    Sample :# of Foreclosure Sales in the 
review period that were tested. 

B.    Error Definition: # of loans that went to 
foreclosure sale in error due to failure of 
any one of the test questions for this 
metric. 

Error Rate = B/A 

1. Did the foreclosing party have legal standing 
to foreclose? 

2. Was the borrower in an active trial period 
plan (unless the servicer took appropriate  
steps to postpone sale)? 

3. Was the borrower offered a loan modification 
fewer than 14 days before the foreclosure  sale 
date (unless the borrower declined the offer 
or the servicer took appropriate  steps to 
postpone the sale)? 

4. Was the borrower not in default (unless the 
default is cured to the satisfaction  of the 
Servicer or investor within 10 days before 
the foreclosure sale date and the Servicer 
took appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 

5. Was the borrower protected from foreclosure 
by Bankruptcy (unless Servicer had notice of 
such protection fewer than 10 days before the 
foreclosure sale date and Servicer took 
appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B. Incorrect Mod denial Program eligibility, all documentation 

received, DTI test, NPV test. 
 5% On income 

errors 
5% Population Definition: Modification Denied In 

the Review Period. 

Error Definition: # of loans that were denied a 
modification  as a result of failure of anyone of 
the test questions for this metric. 

1. Was the evaluation of eligibility Inaccurate ( 
as per HAMP, Fannie, Freddie or proprietary 
modification  criteria)? 

2. Was the income calculation inaccurate? 
3. Were the inputs used in the decision tool 

(NPV and Waterfall test) entered in error or 
inconsistent with company policy? 

4. Was the loan NPV positive? 
5. Was there an inaccurate determination 

that the documents received were 
incomplete? 
           2. Integrity of Critical Sworn Documents  

A. Was AOI properly 
prepared 

Based upon personal knowledge, properly 
notarized, amounts agree to system of 
record within tolerance if overstated. 

 Question 1, 
Y/N; 

Question 2, 
Amounts 

overstated (or, 
for question on 

Escrow 
Amounts, 

understated) 
by the greater 
of $99 or 1% of 

the Total 
Indebtedness 

Amount 

5% Population Definition: Affidavits of 
indebtedness filed in the review period. 

Error Definition: For question 1, yes; for 
question 2, the # of Loans where the sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Taken as a whole and accounting  for 
contrary evidence provided by the Servicer, 
does the sample indicate systemic issues 
with either affiants lacking personal 
knowledge or improper notarization? 

2. Verify all the amounts outlined below 
against the system of record: 

a. Was the correct principal balance used 
Was the correct interest amount (and 
per diem) used? 

b. Was the escrow balance correct? 
c. Were correct other fees used? 
d. Was the correct corporate 

advance balance used? 
e. Was the correct late charge balance 

used? 
f. Was the suspense balance correct? 
g.       Was the total indebtedness amount 

on the Affidavit correct? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B. POC Accurate statement of pre-petition 

arrearage to system of record. 
 Amounts over 

stated by the 
greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
correct Pre- 

Petition 
Arrearage 

5% Population Definition: POCs filed in the 
review period. 

Error Definition: # of Loans where sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Are the correct amounts set forth in the 
form, with respect to pre-petition missed 
payments, fees, expenses charges, and 
escrow shortages or deficiencies? 

C. MRS Affidavits Customer is in default and amount of 
arrearage is within tolerance. 

 Amounts 
overstated (or 

for escrows 
amounts, 

understated) 
by the greater 
of $50 or 3% of 

the correct 
Post Petition 
Total Balance 

5% Population Definition: Affidavits supporting 
MRS’s filed in the review period 
 
Error Definition: # of Loans where the sum of 
errors exceeds the allowable threshold. 

1. Verify against the system of record, 
within tolerance if overstated: 

a. the post-petition  default amount; 
b. the amount of fees or charges applied to 

such pre-petition  default amount or 
post- petition amount since the later of 
the date of the petition or the preceding 
statement; and 

c. escrow shortages or deficiencies. 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
3. Pre-foreclosure Initiation  
A.  Pre Foreclosure  Initiation Accuracy of Account information.  Amounts over 

stated by the 
greater of $99 
or 1% of the 

Total balance 

5% Population Definition: Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral date in the review period. 

 

Error Definition: # of Loans that were referred 
to foreclosure with an error in any one of the 
foreclosure initiation test questions. 

** Verify all the amounts outlined below against 
the system of record. 

 
1. Was the loan delinquent as of the date the 

first legal action was filed? 
2. Was information  contained in the Account 

Statement completed accurately? 
a. The total amount needed to reinstate or 

bring the account current, and the 
amount of the principal; 

b. The date through which the 
borrower’s obligation is paid; 

c. The date of the last full payment; 
d. The current interest rate in effect for 

the loan; 
e. The date on which the interest rate 

may next reset or adjust; 
f. The amount of any prepayment fee to 

be charged, if any; 
g. A description of any late payment fees; 

and 
h. A telephone number or electronic mail 

address that may be used by the obligor 
to obtain information  regarding the 
mortgage. 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
B.  Pre Foreclosure Initiation 

Notifications 
Notification  sent to the customer supporting 
right to foreclose along with: Applicable 
information  upon customers request, 
Account statement information,  Ownership 
statement, and Loss Mitigation statement. 
Notifications  required before 14 days prior 
to referral to foreclosure. 

 N/A 5% Population Definition: Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral date in the review period. 

 

Error Definition: # of Loans that were referred 
to foreclosure with an error in any one of the 
foreclosure initiation test questions. 

1. Were all the required notification statements 
mailed no later than 14 days prior to first 
Legal Date (i) Account Statement; (ii) 
Ownership Statement; and (iii) Loss Mitigation 
Statement? 

2. Did the Ownership Statement accurately 
reflect that the servicer or investor has 
the right to foreclose? 

3. Was the Loss Mitigation Statement 
complete and did it accurately state that: 

a. The borrower was ineligible (if 
applicable); or  

b. The borrower was solicited, was the 
subject of right party contact routines, 
and that any timely application  submitted 
by the borrower was evaluated? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 

 4. Accuracy and Timeliness of Payment Application and Appropriateness of Fees   
  

A. Fees adhere to guidance 
(Preservation  fees, Valuation fees 
and Attorney's fees) 

Services rendered, consistent with loan 
instrument,  within applicable requirements. 

 Amounts over 
stated by the 

greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
Total Default 
Related Fees 

Collected 

5% Population Definition:  Defaulted loans (60 +) 
with borrower payable default related fees* 
collected. 

Error Definition: # of loans where the sum of 
default related fee errors exceeds the 
threshold. 

* Default related fees are defined as any fee 
collected for a default-related  service after the 
agreement date. 

For fees collected in the test period: 
 

1. Was the frequency of the fees collected (in 
excess of what is consistent with state 
guidelines or fee provisions in servicing 
standards? 

2. Was amount of the fee collected higher 
 than the amount allowable under the          
 Servicer’s Fee schedule and for which   
 there was not a valid exception? 

B. Adherence to customer 
payment processing 

Payments posted timely (within 2 business 
days of receipt) and accurately. 

 Amounts 
understated  by 

the greater 
$50.00 or 3% 

of the 
scheduled 
payment 

5% Population Definition: All subject payments 
posted within review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error in 
any one of the payment application test 
questions. 

1. Were payments posted to the right 
account number? 

2. Were payments posted in the right 
amount? 

3. Were properly identified conforming 
payments posted within 2 business days of 
receipt and credited as of the date of 
receipt? 

4. Did servicer accept payments within 
  $50.00 of the scheduled payment, including      
 principal and interest and where applicable  
 taxes and insurance as required by the  
  servicing standards? 

5. Were partial payments credited to the 
borrower’s account as of the date that the 
funds cover a full payment? 

6. Were payments posted to principal 
interest and escrow before fees and 
expenses? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
C. Reconciliation of certain 

waived fees. (I.b.11.C) 
Appropriately  updating the Servicer’s 
systems of record in connection  with the 
reconciliation  of payments as of the date of 
dismissal of a debtor’s Chapter 13 
bankruptcy case, entry of an order granting 
Servicer relief from the stay under Chapter 
13, or entry of an order granting the debtor a 
discharge under Chapter 13, to reflect the 
waiver of any fee, expense or charge 
pursuant to paragraphs III.B.1.c.i or III.B.1.d 
of the Servicing Standards (within applicable 
tolerances). 

 Amounts over 
stated by the 

greater of $50 
or 3 % of the 

correct 
reconciliation 

amount 

5% Population Definition:  All accounts where in- 
line reconciliation  routine is completed within 
review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error in 
the reconciliation  routine resulting in 
overstated amounts remaining on the 
borrower account. 

1. Were all required waivers of Fees, 
expense or charges applied and/or 
corrected accurately as part of the 
reconciliation? 

D. Late fees adhere to 
guidance 

Late fees are collected only as permitted 
under the Servicing Standards (within 
applicable tolerances). 

 Y/N 5% Population Definition:  All late fees collected 
within the review period. 

 
Error Definition:  # of loans with an error on 
any one of the test questions. 

1. Was a late fee collected with respect to a 
delinquency attributable solely to late fees or 
delinquency charges assessed on an earlier 
payment? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
5. Policy/Process Implementation  

A. Third Party Vendor 
Management 

Is periodic third party review process in 
place? Is there evidence of remediation  of 
identified issues? 

 Y/N N Quarterly review of a vendors providing 
Foreclosure  Bankruptcy, Loss mitigation and 
other Mortgage services. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the 
test questions for this metric. 

1.     Is there evidence of documented oversight 
policies and procedures demonstrating 
compliance  with vendor oversight 
provisions:  (i) adequate due diligence 
procedures, (ii) adequate enforcement  
procedures (iii) adequate vendor 
performance  evaluation procedures (iv) 
adequate remediation procedures?3

 

2.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling and 
testing of foreclosure documents (including 
notices of default and letters of reinstatement)  
and bankruptcy documents  prepared by 
vendors on behalf of the servicer? 

3.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling of fees 
and costs assessed by vendors to; (i) 
substantiate  services were rendered (ii) fees 
are in compliance  with servicer fee schedule 
(iii) Fees are compliant with state law and 
provisions of the servicing standards? 

4.     Is there evidence of vendor scorecards used to 
evaluate vendor performance that include 
quality metrics (error rate etc)? 

5.     Evidence of remediation  for vendors who fail 
metrics set forth in vendor scorecards and/or 
QC sample tests consistent with the servicer 
policy and procedures? 

B. Customer Portal Implementation  of a customer portal.  Y/N N A Quarterly testing review of Customer 
Portal. 

1.    Does the portal provide loss mitigation 
status updates? 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-4   Filed 02/26/14   Page 25 of 38



D1-10 

 
 

 

A B   C D E   F  
 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
C. SPOC Implement single point of contact 

(“SPOC”). 
 Y/N 

5% 
for 

Ques
tion 

4 

N 
For 
Que
stio

n 
#4:  
5% 

Quarterly review of SPOC program per 
provisions in the servicing standard. 

 
Population Definition (for Question 4): 
Potentially  eligible borrowers who were 
identified as requesting loss mitigation 
assistance. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the test 
questions for this metric. 

1. Is there evidence of documented policies 
and procedures demonstrating compliance  
with SPOC program provisions? 

2. Is there evidence that a single point of 
contact is available for applicable 
borrowers?   

3. Is there evidence that relevant   records 
relating to borrower’s account are 
available to the borrower’s SPOC? 

4. Is there evidence that the SPOC has been 
identified to the borrower and the 
method the borrower may use to contact 
the SPOC has been communicated to the 
borrower? 
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Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
D. Workforce Management Training and staffing adequacy 

requirements. 
 Y/N N Loss mitigation, SPOC and Foreclosure  Staff. 

 
Error Definition:  Failure on any one of the 
test questions for this metric. 

1.    Is there evidence of documented oversight 
policies and procedures demonstrating 
effective forecasting, capacity planning, 
training and monitoring of staffing 
requirements for foreclosure operations? 

2.    Is there evidence of periodic training and 
certification of employees who prepare 
Affidavits sworn statements or declarations. 
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A B   C D E 
 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 

E.  Affidavit of Indebtedness 
Integrity. 

Affidavits of Indebtedness  are signed by 
affiants who have personal knowledge of 
relevant facts and properly review the 
affidavit before signing it. 

 Y/N N Annual Review of Policy. 1.    Is there evidence of documented  policies and 
procedures sufficient to provide reasonable 
assurance that affiants have personal 
knowledge of the matters covered by 
affidavits of indebtedness  and have reviewed 
affidavit before signing it? 

F.  Account Status Activity. System of record electronically  documents 
key activity of a foreclosure, loan 
modification,  or bankruptcy. 

 Y/N N Annual Review of Policy. 1. Is there evidence of documented  policies and 
procedures designed to ensure that the system 
of record contains documentation of key 
activities? 
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A B   C D E   F  
 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
6. Customer Experiences  

A. Complaint response 
timeliness 

Meet the requirements  of Regulator 
complaint handling. 

 N/A 5% Population Definition:  Government 
submitted complaints and inquiries from 
individual borrowers who are in default 
and/or have applied for loan modifications 
received during the three months prior to 40 
days prior to the review period. (To allow for 
response period to expire). 

Error Definition:  # of loans that exceeded the 
required response timeline. 

1.     Was written acknowledgment regarding 
complaint/inquires sent within 10 business 
days of complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

2.     Was a written response (“Forward Progress”) 
sent within 30 calendar days of 
complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

**receipt= from the Attorney General, state 
financial regulators, the Executive Office for 
United States Trustees/regional offices of the 
United States Trustees, and the federal 
regulators and documented within the 
System of Record. 

B. Loss Mitigation       
i. Loan Modification 

Document Collection timeline 
compliance 

  N/A 5% Population Definition:  Loan modifications 
and loan modification  requests (packages) 
that that were missing documentation at 
receipt and received more than 40 days prior 
to the end of the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timelines as 
defined under each timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.     Did the Servicer notify borrower of any 
known deficiency in borrower’s initial 
submission  of information,  no later than 5 
business days after receipt, including any 
missing information or documentation? 

2.     Was the Borrower afforded 30 days from the 
date of Servicer’s notification of any missing 
information  or documentation to supplement 
borrower’s submission  of information  prior 
to making a determination  on whether or not 
to grant an initial loan modification? 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-4   Filed 02/26/14   Page 29 of 38



D1-14 

 
 

 

 
 

A B   C D E   F  
 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
ii. Loan Modification 

Decision/Notification timeline 
compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Loan modification 
requests (packages) that are denied or 
approved in the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timelines as 
defined under each timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.     Did the servicer respond to request for a 
modification within 30 days of receipt of all 
necessary documentation? 

2.     Denial Communication: Did the servicer 
notify customers within 10 days of denial 
decision? 

iii. Loan Modification 
Appeal timeline compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Loan modification 
requests (packages) that are borrower appeals 
in the review period. 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Did Servicer respond to a borrowers request 
for an appeal within 30 days of receipt? 

iv. Short Sale Decision 
timeline compliance 

   10% Population Definition:  Short sale requests 
(packages) that are complete in the three 
months prior to 30 days prior to the end of the 
review period. (to allow for short sale review 
to occur). 

 
Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Was short sale reviewed and a decision 
communicated within 30 days of borrower 
submitting completed package? 
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A B   C D E   F  
 
 
 

Metric 

 
 
 

Measurements 

  
Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 
 

Test Questions 
v. Short Sale Document 

Collection timeline compliance 
   5% Population Definition:  Short sale requests 

(packages) missing documentation that are 
received in the three months prior to 30 days 
prior to the end of the review period (to allow 
for short sale review to occur). 

Error Definition: The total # of loans 
processed outside the allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.  Did the Servicer provide notice of missing 
documents within 30 days of the request for 
the short sale? 

       
vi. Charge of application  fees for 
Loss mitigation 

   1% Population Definition:  loss mitigation 
requests (packages) that are Incomplete, 
denied, approved and borrower appeals in 
the review period. 

(Same as 6.B.i) 
 

Error Definition: The # of loss mitigation 
applications  where servicer collected a 
processing fee. 

1. Did the servicer assess a fee for processing 
a loss mitigation request? 

vii. Short Sales       
a. Inclusion of 

notice of whether or not a 
deficiency will be required 

Provide information  related to any required 
deficiency claim. 

 n/a 5% Population Definition:  Short sales approved 
in the review period. 

Error Definition: The # of short sales that 
failed any one of the deficiency test questions 

1. If the short sale was accepted, did 
borrower receive notification that 
deficiency or cash contribution  will be 
needed? 

2. Did borrower receive in this notification 
approximate amounts related to deficiency 
or cash contribution? 

viii. Dual Track       
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A B   C D E   F  

 
 

Metric 

 
 

Measurements 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

 
Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 
 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 
 

Test Questions 
a. Referred to 

foreclosure in violation of Dual 
Track Provisions 

Loan was referred to foreclosure in error.  n/a 5% Population Definition: Loans with a first legal 
action date in the review period. 

Error Definition: The # of loans with a first 
legal filed in the review period that failed any 
one of the dual tracking test questions. 

1. Was the first legal action taken while the 
servicer was in possession of an active, 
complete loan modification package (as 
defined by the Servicing Standards) that 
was not decisioned as required by the 
standards? 

2. Was the first legal commenced while the 
  borrower was approved for a loan     

    modification but prior to the expiration of the    
     borrower acceptance period, borrower   
   decline of offer or while in an active trial   
    period plan? 

b. Failure to 
postpone foreclosure 
proceedings in violation of Dual 
Track Provisions 

Foreclosure proceedings allowed to proceed 
in error. 

 n/a 5% Population Definition: Active foreclosures 
during review period. 

Error Definition: # of active foreclosures  that 
went to judgment as a result of failure of any 
one on of the active foreclosure dual track test 
question. 

1. Did the servicer proceed to judgment or 
order of sale upon receipt of a complete 
loan modification package within 30 days of 
the Post-Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation 
Letter?** 

 
**Compliance  of Dual tracking provisions for 
foreclosure sales are referenced in 1.A 

C. Forced Placed Insurance       
i. Timeliness of notices Notices sent timely with necessary 

information. 
 n/a 5% Population Definition: Loans with forced 

placed coverage initiated in review period. 

Error Definition: # of loans with active force 
place insurance resulting from an error in any 
one of the force-place insurance test 
questions. 

1. Did Servicer send all required notification 
letters (ref. V 3a i-vii) notifying the customer 
of lapse in insurance coverage? 

2. Did the notification  offer the customer the 
  option to have the account escrowed to         
  facilitate payment of all insurance    
 premiums and any arrearage by the  
  servicer prior to obtaining force place  
  insurance? 

3. Did the servicer assess forced place 
insurance when there was evidence of a 
valid policy? 

ii Termination of Force 
place Insurance 

Timely termination  of force placed 
insurance. 

  5% Population Definition: Loans with forced 
placed coverage terminated in review period. 

Error Definition: # of loans terminated force 
place insurance with an error in any one of the 
force- place insurance test questions. 

1. Did Servicer terminate FPI within 15 days of 
receipt of evidence of a borrower’s existing 
insurance coverage and refund the pro-
rated portion to the borrower’s escrow 
account? 
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A B   C D E F    
 

Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

D. Transfer of Servicing Rights  

 

      

i. Transfer of servicing to Servicer  Accept, and continue to process pending loan modification 
requests from the prior servicer and honor loan 
modification  agreements entered into by the prior 
servicer.    

 n/a 5%  Population Definition: Loans or loan servicing 
rights sold or transferred to the servicer during 
the review period, including for subservicing, 
with a pending loan modification request (in 
process) or a trial or permanent modification 
at the time of sale or transfer.  

 

Error Definition: # of loans with an error in 
any one of the transfer or servicing test 
questions.  

 

1. Did the Servicer accept and continue to process 
pending loan modification request of the prior 
servicer? 

2. Did the Servicer honor trial and permanent loan 
modification agreements entered into by the prior 
servicer?  
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A B   C D E F    
 

Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 30       

Standards: 

N/A  

Loan Modification Process  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 3  

5% 

 

Population Definition: 

1st lien borrowers declined in the review 
period for incomplete or missing documents in 
their loan modification application.4 

 

Error Definition: 

Loans where the answer to any one of the test 
questions is a No. 

1. Is there evidence Servicer or the assigned SPOC 
notified the borrower in writing of the documents 
required for an initial application package for 
available loan modification programs? 

2. Provided the borrower timely submitted all 
documents requested in initial notice of incomplete 
information (“5 day letter”) or earlier ADRL letters, 
did the Servicer afford the borrower at least 30 days 
to submit the documents requested in the Additional 
Document Request Letter (“ADRL”) before declining 
the borrower for incomplete or missing documents?  

3. Provided the borrower timely submitted all 
documents requested in the initial notice of 
incomplete information (“5-day letter”) and earlier 
ADRL letters, did the Servicer afford the borrower at 
least 30 days to submit any additional required 
documents from the last ADRL before referring the 
loan to foreclosure or proceeding to foreclosure 
sale? 
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A B   C D E F    
 

Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 31       

Standards: 

IV.C.4 g 
IV.G 2.a 

Loan Modification Denial Notice Disclosure  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 2 

5% 

 

Population Definition: 

1st lien borrowers declined in the review 
period for a loan modification application. 

 

Error Definition: 

Loans where the answer to any one of the test 
questions is a No. 

1. Did first lien loan modification denial notices sent to 
the borrower provide: 

a. the reason for denial;  
b. the factual information considered by 

the Servicer; and 
c. a timeframe for the borrower to provide 

evidence that the eligibility 
determination was in error? 

2. Following the Servicer’s denial of a loan modification 
application, is there evidence the Servicer or the 
assigned SPOC communicated the availability of 
other loss mitigation alternatives to the borrower in 
writing? 
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A B   C D E F    
 

Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 32       

Standards: 

IV.C.2 

 

SPOC Implementation and Effectiveness  Y/N for Questions 1 
- 3 

5% for 
Question 1 

Y/N for 
Questions 2 - 3 

 

 

Population Definition: 

For Question 1: 1st lien borrowers who were 
reassigned a SPOC for loss mitigation 
assistance in the review period 

For Question 2 and 3: Quarterly review of 
policies or procedures 

 

Error Definition: 

Failure on any one of the test questions for 
this Metric. 

1. Is there evidence that Servicer identified and 
provided updated contact information to the 
borrower upon assignment of a new SPOC if a 
previously designated SPOC is unable to act as the 
primary point of contact? 

2. Is there evidence of implementation of management 
routines or other processes to review the results of 
departmental level SPOC scorecards or other 

performance evaluation tools? 
5

 
3. Is there evidence of the use of tools or management 

routines to monitor remediation, when appropriate, 
for the SPOC program if it is not achieving targeted 
program metrics? 
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A B   C D E F    
 

Metric 

 

 

 

Measurements 

 

 

 Loan Level 
Tolerance for 
Error1

 

Threshold 
Error Rate2

 

 

Test Loan Population and Error Definition 

 

      

  

Test Questions 

 

  

# 33       

Standards: 

I.B.5 
 

Billing Statement Accuracy  For test question 1: 
Amounts overstated 
by the greater of 
$99 or 1% of the 
correct unpaid 
principal balance.  

For test questions 2 
and 3: Amounts 
overstated by the 
greater of $50 or 3% 
of the total balance 
for the test question 

5% 

 

Population Definition: Monthly billing 
statements sent to borrowers in the review 
period. 6 

 

Error Definition:  

The # of Loans where the net sum of errors on 
any one of the test questions exceeds the 
applicable allowable tolerance. 

1. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show, 
as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement, the unpaid principal balance? 

2. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show 
as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement each of the following: 

a. total payment amount due; and, 
b. fees and charges assessed for the 

relevant time period? 
3. Does the monthly billing statement accurately show 

as compared to the system of record at the time of 
the billing statement the allocation of payments, 
including a notation if any payment has been posted 
to a “suspense or unapplied funds account”? 

       
 

 

 

 

 

1 Loan Level Tolerance for Error: This represents a threshold beyond which the variance between the actual outcome and the expected outcome on a single test case is deemed 
reportable 
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2 Threshold Error Rate: For each metric or outcome tested if the total number of reportable errors as a percentage of the total number of cases tested exceeds this limit then the 
Servicer will be determined to have failed that metric for the reported period. 

 
3 For purposes of determining whether a proposed Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate is similar to those contained in this Schedule, this Metric 5.A shall be excluded 
from consideration and shall not be treated as representative. 
 
4 The population includes only borrowers who submitted the first document on or before the day 75 days before the scheduled or expected foreclosure sale date. 

 
This Metric is subject to applicable investor rule requirements. 
 
Nothing in this Metric shall be deemed to prejudice the right of a Servicer to decline to evaluate a borrower for a modification in accordance with IV.H.12.  Specifically, Servicer shall 
not be obligated to evaluate requests for loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers who have already been evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to be evaluated consistent with 
the requirements of HAMP or proprietary modification programs, or (b) borrowers who were evaluated after the date of implementation of this Agreement, consistent with this 
Agreement, unless there has been a material change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is documented by borrower and submitted to Servicer. 
 
5 The following evidence is considered appropriate using a qualitative assessment: 
• Documents that provide an overview of the program, policy or procedures related to periodic performance evaluations, including the frequency thereof; or 
• Sample departmental level SPOC scorecard or other performance evaluation tools that reflect performance and quality metrics, evidence of the use of thresholds to measure 

non-performance, identifiers when remediation is required and evidence that such remediation was identified by management, when appropriate. 
 

      6 This Metric is N/A for borrowers in bankruptcy or borrowers who have been referred to or are going through foreclosure. 
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CFPB RELEASE 

 
WHEREAS, this Release (“Release”) is entered into between the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau (the “Bureau” or “CFPB”), and the Released Parties (hereafter the CFPB and 

the Released Parties are collectively referred to as “the Parties”), through their authorized 

representatives. 

WHEREAS, the Released Parties shall include Ocwen Financial Corporation and Ocwen 

Loan Servicing LLC (collectively “Ocwen”), and Ocwen’s current and former parent 

corporations, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, agents, advisors, shareholders, 

managers, members, partners, directors, officers, and employees. The Released Parties shall also 

include Homeward Residential Holdings Inc., Litton Loan Servicing LP, WL Ross & Co. LLC, 

and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., and each of their respective current and former, direct and 

indirect parent entities, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, shareholders, as well 

as each of the current and former agents, advisors, managers, members, investors, partners, 

directors, officers, and employees of each of the foregoing, but only as to liability for the 

Mortgage Servicing Practices of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. and its direct and indirect 

subsidiaries or Litton Loan Servicing, LP and its direct and indirect subsidiaries.  Additionally, 

the term Released Parties shall not include Altisource Portfolio Solutions, SA and its subsidiaries 

or Homeloan Servicing Solutions, LTD and its subsidiaries. 

WHEREAS, notwithstanding any of the foregoing, this Release does not release any 

claims against OneWest Bank, Morgan Stanley, or any other entity not a party hereto regarding 

conduct relating to loans for which the servicing was acquired by Ocwen from OneWest Bank in 
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the second half of 2013, or regarding loans acquired by Ocwen in the transaction wherein Ocwen 

Financial Corporation purchased substantial assets of Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc., from 

Morgan Stanley on April 2, 2012. 

WHEREAS, the CFPB contends that it has certain civil claims against Ocwen based on 

the mortgage servicing practices described in the complaint.   

WHEREAS, to avoid the delay, uncertainty, inconvenience, and expense of protracted 

litigation of the above claims, and in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations of the 

Consent Judgment, the Parties agree and covenant as follows: 

A.  Among other things, the Consent Judgment requires Ocwen to pay or cause to be paid 

$127,300,000.00 (the “Borrower Payment Amount”) by electronic funds transfer no later 

than ten (10) days of receiving notice from the Administrator appointed under Exhibit B.  

Ocwen shall also undertake, for the purposes specified in the Consent Judgment, certain 

consumer relief activities as set forth in Exhibit C to such Consent Judgment, and will be 

obligated to make certain payments (the “Consumer Relief Payments”) in the event that it 

does not or they do not complete the Consumer Relief Requirements set forth in Exhibit 

C to the Consent Judgment.  This Release shall become effective upon payment of the 

Borrower Payment Amount.  The CFPB may declare this Release null and void if Ocwen 

does not make the Consumer Relief Payments required under this Consent Judgment and 

fails to cure such non-payment within thirty (30) days of written notice by the CFPB, 

except that the Released Parties, other than Ocwen, are released upon the payment of the 

Borrower Payment Amount, at which time this nullification provision is only operative 

against Ocwen. 
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B.  Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph C (concerning excluded claims) below, the CFPB 

fully and finally releases the Released Parties from all potential liability that has been or 

might have been asserted by the CFPB relating to mortgage servicing practices described 

in the complaint (the “Mortgage Servicing Practices”) that have taken place as of 11:59 

p.m., Eastern Standard Time, on December 18, 2013. 

C.  Notwithstanding any other term of this Release, the CFPB specifically reserves and does 

not release any liability for conduct other than conduct related to the Mortgage Servicing 

Practices asserted or that might have been asserted in the complaint. Furthermore, the 

CFPB specifically reserves and does not release any liability arising under any provision 

of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, or any other 

statute or law that prohibits discrimination of persons based on race, color, national 

origin, gender, disability, or any other protected status. 

D.  The Released Parties waive and shall not assert any claim for fees, costs or expenses 

against the CFPB, or any of its agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, 

related in any way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Judgment, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not limited to the 

Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness 

Act of 1996; for these purposes, the Parties agree that neither the Released Parties nor the 

CFPB is the prevailing party in this action because the Parties have reached a good faith 

settlement. 

E.  Nothing in this Release shall limit the CFPB’s authority with respect to the Released 

Parties, except to the extent the CFPB has herein expressly released claims. 
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F.  This Release is intended to be and shall be for the benefit only of the Parties and entities 

identified in this Release, specifically including the Released Parties, and no other party 

or entity shall have any rights or benefits hereunder. This Release is binding on, and 

inures to the benefit of, Ocwen and its successors, and assigns. 

G. This Release is governed by the laws of the United States.  The exclusive jurisdiction and 

venue for any dispute arising out of matters covered by this Release is the United States 

District Court for the District of Columbia.  For purposes of construing this Release, this 

Release shall be deemed to have been drafted by all the Parties and shall not, therefore, 

be construed against any party for that reason in any subsequent dispute. 
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State Release 

I.  Covered Conduct 

For purposes of this Release, the term “Covered Conduct” means residential mortgage loan 

servicing and residential mortgage foreclosure services, as defined below.  For the purposes of 

this Release, Released Parties shall include Ocwen Financial Corporation and Ocwen Loan 

Servicing LLC (collectively “Ocwen”) and Ocwen’s current and former parent corporations, 

divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, agents, advisors, shareholders, managers, 

members, partners, directors, officers, and employees.  The Released Parties shall also include 

Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc., Litton Loan Servicing LP, WL Ross & Co. LLC, and The 

Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., and each of their respective current and former, direct and indirect 

parent entities, divisions, affiliates, direct and indirect subsidiaries, shareholders, as well as each 

of the current and former agents, advisors, managers, members, investors, partners, directors, 

officers, and employees of each of the foregoing, but only as to liability for the Covered Conduct 

of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries or Litton Loan 

Servicing, LP and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. Additionally, the term Released Parties 

shall not include Altisource Portfolio Solutions, SA and its subsidiaries or Homeloan Servicing 

Solutions, LTD and its subsidiaries. 

  For purposes of this Section I only, the Released Parties are released from liability for 

the covered conduct acts of their agents (including, without limitation, third-party vendors).  This 

Release does not release the agents (including, without limitation, third-party vendors) 

themselves for any of their conduct.  For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage 

loans” means loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties, irrespective of usage, 

whether in the form of a mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest creating a lien upon 
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such property or any other property described therein that secures the related mortgage note. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, this Release does not release any claims against OneWest 

Bank, Morgan Stanley, or any entity not a party hereto, regarding conduct relating 

to either (1) loans for which the servicing was acquired by Ocwen from OneWest Bank in the 

second half of 2013, or (2) loans acquired by Ocwen in the transaction wherein Ocwen Financial 

Corporation purchased substantial assets of Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc., from Morgan Stanley 

on April 2, 2012.  Moreover, this Release does not release claims by the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts for the obligations of Homeward Residential Holdings, Inc. pursuant to the 

Settlement Agreement entered into between American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. and the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts with an effective date of November 6, 2011. 

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage loan servicing” means all 

actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties, arising out of or relating to servicing 

(including subservicing and master servicing) of residential mortgage loans from and after the 

closing of such loans, whether for the Released Parties’ account or for the account of others, 

including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Loan modification and other loss mitigation 

activities, including, without limitation, extensions, forbearances, payment plans, short sales and 

deeds in lieu of foreclosure, and evaluation, approval, denial, and implementation of the terms 

and conditions of any of the foregoing; (2) Communications with borrowers relating to borrower 

accounts, including, without limitation, account statements and disclosures provided to 

borrowers; (3) Handling and resolution of inquiries, disputes or complaints by or on behalf of 

borrowers; (4) Collection activity related to delinquent borrower accounts; (5) Acceptance, 

rejection, application or posting of payments made by or on behalf of borrowers, including, 

without limitation, assessment and collection of fees or charges, placement of payments in 
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suspense accounts and credit reporting; (6) Maintenance, placement or payment (or failure to 

make payment) of any type of insurance or insurance premiums, or claims activity with respect 

to any such insurance; (7) Payment of taxes, homeowner association dues, or other borrower 

obligations, and creation and maintenance of any escrow accounts; (8) Use, conduct or 

supervision of vendors, agents and contract employees, whether affiliated or unaffiliated, 

including, without limitation, subservicers and foreclosure and bankruptcy attorneys, in 

connection with servicing, loss mitigation, and foreclosure activities; (9) Adequacy of staffing, 

training, systems, data integrity or security of data that is related to the servicing of residential 

mortgage loans, foreclosure, bankruptcy, and property sale and management services; (10) 

Securing, inspecting, repairing, maintaining, or preserving properties before and after foreclosure 

or acquisition or transfer of title; (11) Servicing of residential mortgage loans involved in 

bankruptcy proceedings; (12) Obtaining, executing, notarizing, endorsing, recording, providing, 

maintaining, registering (including in a registry system), and transferring promissory notes, 

mortgages, or mortgage assignments or other similar documents, or transferring interests in such 

documents among and between servicers and owners, and custodial functions or appointment of 

officers relating to such documents; (13) Decisions on disposition of residential mortgage loans, 

including, without limitation, whether to pursue foreclosure on properties, whether to assert or 

abandon liens and other claims and actions taken in respect thereof, and whether to pursue any 

particular loan modification or other form of loss mitigation; (14) Servicing of residential 

mortgage loans of borrowers who are covered by federal or state protections due to military 

status; (15) Licensing or registration of employees, agents, vendors or contractors, or designation 

of employees as agents of another entity; (16) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, 
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audit testing, oversight, reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the 

foregoing; and (17) Trustee functions related to the servicing of residential mortgage loans. 

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage foreclosure services” means 

all actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties arising out of or relating to foreclosures 

on residential mortgage loans, whether for the Released Parties’ own account or for the account 

of others, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Evaluation of accounts for modification 

or foreclosure referral; (2) Maintenance, assignment, recovery and preparation of documents that 

have been filed or otherwise used to initiate or pursue foreclosures, and custodial actions related 

thereto; (3) Drafting, review, execution and notarization of documents (including, but not limited 

to, affidavits, notices, certificates, substitutions of trustees, and assignments) prepared or filed in 

connection with foreclosures or sales of acquired properties, or in connection with remediation of 

improperly filed documents; (4) Commencement, advancement and finality of foreclosures, 

including, without limitation, any issues relating to standing, fees, or notices; (5) Acquisition of 

title post-foreclosure or in lieu of foreclosure; (6) Pursuit of pre- and post-foreclosure claims by 

the Released Parties, including, without limitation, the seeking of deficiency judgments when 

permitted by law, acts or omissions regarding lien releases, and evictions and eviction 

proceedings; (7) Management, maintenance, and disposition of properties in default or properties 

owned or controlled by the Released Parties, whether prior to or during the foreclosure process 

or after foreclosure, and executing, notarizing, or recording any documents related to the sale of 

acquired properties; (8) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, audit testing, oversight, 

reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the foregoing; and (9) Trustee 

functions related to the foreclosure of residential mortgage loans. 
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II. Release of Covered Conduct 

By their execution of this Consent Judgment, the Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States 

that are parties to this Consent Judgment release and forever discharge the Released Parties from 

the following: any civil or administrative claim, of any kind whatsoever, direct or indirect, that 

an Attorney General has or may have or assert, including, without limitation, claims for 

damages, fines, injunctive relief, remedies, sanctions, or penalties of any kind whatsoever based 

on, arising out of, or resulting from the Covered Conduct occurring on or before the Effective 

Date, except for claims and the other actions set forth in Section IV below (collectively, the 

“Released Claims”). 

This Release does not release any claims against any entity other than the Released 

Parties as defined in Section I above. 

III. Covenants by Ocwen 

1.  Ocwen waives and shall not assert any defenses Ocwen may have to any criminal 

prosecution based on the Covered Conduct that may be based in whole or in part on a contention 

that, under the Double Jeopardy Clause in the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution or under the 

Excessive Fines Clause in the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution, this Release bars a remedy 

sought in such criminal prosecution. 

2.  Ocwen agrees to cooperate with an Attorney General’s investigation of 

individuals and entities not released in this Release.  For purposes of this covenant, cooperation 

shall not include any requirement that Ocwen waive the attorney-client privilege or any other 

applicable privileges or protection, included but not limited to the attorney work product 

doctrine.  Upon reasonable notice, Ocwen agrees not to impair the reasonable cooperation of its 

directors, officers and employees, and shall use its reasonable efforts to make available and 
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encourage the cooperation of former directors, officers, and employees for interviews and 

testimony, consistent with the rights and privileges of such individuals.  Ocwen agrees to waive 

objections to service for subpoenas from the Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States seeking 

documents and other information from Ocwen provided the subpoenas are served on Ocwen's 

registered agent.   

3.  These provisions are intended to supplement and do not supplant or in any way 

restrict the Attorney General Offices’ subpoena power and investigatory authority under any 

state law. 

IV. Claims and Other Actions Exempted from Release 

Notwithstanding the foregoing and any other term of this Consent Judgment, the 

following claims are hereby not released and are specifically reserved: 

1.  Securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase of 

securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, 

regardless of the factual basis of the claim, including such claims of the state or state entities as 

an owner, purchaser, or holder of whole loans, securities, derivatives or similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, or 

structured investment vehicles, and including, but not limited to, such claims based on the 

following: 

a. the creation, formation, solicitation, marketing, assignment, transfer, offer, 

sale or substitution of securities, derivatives, or other similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt 

obligations, collateralized loan obligations, or structured investment vehicles; 
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b. representations, warranties, certifications, or claims made regarding such 

securities or investments, such as representations, warranties, certifications or 

claims regarding origination, funding, and underwriting activities, and including 

the eligibility, characteristics, or quality of the mortgages or the mortgagors; 

c. the transfer, sale, conveyance, or assignment of mortgage loans to, and the 

purchase and acquisition of such mortgage loans by, the entity creating, forming 

and issuing the securities, derivatives or other similar investments relating to such 

mortgage loans; 

d. all servicing-, foreclosure-, and origination-related conduct, but solely to 

the extent that such claims are based on the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, 

or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities; and 

e. all Covered Conduct, but solely to the extent that such claims are based on 

the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, or other conduct in connection with 

investors or purchasers in or of securities. 

For avoidance of doubt, securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase 

of securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, that 

are based on any source of law, including, but not limited to, false claims acts or equivalent laws, 

securities laws, and common law breach of fiduciary duty, are not released. 

 2. Claims against a trustee or custodian or an agent thereof based on or arising out of 

the conduct of the trustee, custodian or such agent related to the pooling of residential mortgage 

loans in trusts, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, collateralized loan 

obligations, or structured investment vehicles, including, but not limited to, the performance of 

trustee or custodial functions in such conduct. 

Case 1:13-cv-02025-RMC   Document 12-6   Filed 02/26/14   Page 8 of 11



 

F-8 

 

 3. Liability based on Ocwen’s obligations created by this Consent Judgment. 

 4. Claims against Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. or MERSCORP, 

INC. 

 5. Claims arising out of alleged violations of fair lending laws that relate to 

discriminatory conduct in lending. 

 6. Claims of state, county and local pension or other governmental funds as 

investors (whether those claims would be brought directly by those pension or other 

governmental funds or by the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing the 

pension or other governmental funds). 

 7. Tax claims, including, but not limited to, claims relating to real estate transfer 

taxes. 

 8. Claims of county and local governments and claims of state regulatory agencies 

having specific regulatory jurisdiction that is separate and independent from the regulatory and 

enforcement jurisdiction of the Attorney General. 

 9. Criminal enforcement of state criminal laws. 

 10. Claims of county recorders, city recorders, town recorders or other local 

government officers or agencies (or, for Hawaii only, where a statewide recording system is 

applicable and operated by the state, claims by Hawaii; and for Maryland, where the recording 

system is the joint responsibility of the counties or Baltimore City and the state, claims of the 

counties or Baltimore City and the state), for fees relating to the recordation or registration 

process of mortgages or deeds of trust, including assignments, transfers, and conveyances, 

regardless of whether those claims would be brought directly by such local government officers 
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or agencies or through the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing such local 

government officers or agencies. 

 11. Claims and defenses asserted by third parties, including individual mortgage loan 

borrowers on an individual or class basis. 

 12. Claims seeking injunctive or declaratory relief to clear a cloud on title where the 

Covered Conduct has resulted in a cloud on title to real property under state law; provided, 

however, that the Attorneys General shall not otherwise take actions seeking to invalidate past 

mortgage assignments or foreclosures in connection with loans serviced and/or owned by the 

Released Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph 13 releases, waives or 

bars any legal or factual argument related to the validity of past mortgage assignments or 

foreclosures that could be made in support of claims not released herein, including, without 

limitation, all claims preserved under paragraphs 1 through 15 of Section IV of this Release. 

 13. Authority to resolve consumer complaints brought to the attention of Ocwen for 

resolution outside of the monitoring process, as described in Section H of the Enforcement 

Terms (Exhibit D). 

14. Claims against Ocwen for reimbursement to mortgage borrowers: 

a. That represent: (i) a fee imposed upon and collected from a mortgage 

borrower by Ocwen and retained by Ocwen which fee is later determined to have 

been specifically prohibited by applicable state law (an “Unauthorized Fee”), 

provided that such determination of impermissibility is not predicated, directly or 

indirectly, on a finding of a violation of any federal law, rule, regulation, agency 

directive or similar requirement; and (ii) an actual overpayment by a borrower 
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resulting from a clear and demonstrable error in calculation of amounts due from 

said borrower; and 

b. That are not duplicative of any prior voluntary or involuntary payment to 

the affected loan borrower by Ocwen, whether directly or indirectly, from any 

State Payment or other source.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION 
 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL   ) 
PROTECTION BUREAU,   )  
      ) 
 Plaintiff,    )  
      ) 
  v.    ) Case No. 1:14-cv-292 
      ) 
ITT EDUCATIONAL SERVICES, INC. )     
      ) 
 Defendant.    ) 
 ___________________________________ ) 
  
 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND DAMAGES 

 The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) alleges the following, upon 

information and belief, having occurred between 2009 and the present, unless otherwise specified, 

against ITT Educational Services, Inc. (“ITT” or “Defendant”): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054(a), and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), and 

5565, based on Defendant’s violations of section 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibits unfair, 

deceptive, and abusive acts and practices, and the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., 

and Regulation Z thereunder, 12 C.F.R. Part 1026.   

2. ITT, a publicly traded, for-profit corporation, assures consumers who enroll in classes at one 

of its 149 locations throughout the country, or in its online programs, that it will help them obtain 

more desirable jobs and higher income to better their lives. 

3. This offer comes with a high price tag, however, and the low-income consumers whom ITT 

targets can rarely afford to pay its high tuition out-of-pocket.  Therefore, ITT’s business model relies 

on convincing these consumers to obtain federal aid, mostly loans, to pay ITT. 
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4. Federal aid, mostly loans, taken out by consumers comprises the overwhelming majority of 

ITT’s revenue. 

5. Federal aid, including federal loans, does not typically provide an ITT student with enough 

money to cover ITT’s entire tuition, however.  Few of ITT’s students can afford to cover this tuition 

gap with their own money.   

6. To close this tuition gap, when ITT recruited new students, it offered them zero-interest, 

short-term loans payable in a single payment nominally due nine months later, at the end of that 

academic year.  ITT referred to these loans as “Temporary Credit.”   

7. Through December 2011, ITT’s Temporary Credit operated merely as an entry point to 

private student loans that ITT students would be pushed into in order to repay their Temporary 

Credit and pay for any tuition gap in subsequent years of study. 

8. Students who were given Temporary Credit received no warning of what ITT ultimately 

planned to do.  If students were not able to pay off the Temporary Credit at the end of the academic 

year—something ITT knew few students would be able to do—ITT coerced them into paying off 

their Temporary Credit amounts with high-interest, high-fee private loans payable over ten years.  At 

the same time, to cover the tuition gaps for the upcoming year, students were coerced into taking 

out additional private student loans.  If students were unable to pay off the Temporary Credit and 

pay the second-year tuition gap, and they refused the private loans, they were threatened with 

expulsion. 

9. The ITT staff of campus financial aid offices (the “Financial Aid staff”)—who were 

compensated based in part on how many students they were able to force into these private loans—

engaged in a variety of aggressive tactics, such as pulling students from class or withholding course 

materials or transcripts, to get those students to sign up for these private loans. 

Case 1:14-cv-00292-SEB-TAB   Document 1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 2 of 34 PageID #: 2



3 
 

10. While students were left unaware that the zero-interest Temporary Credit was just an entry 

point for these expensive private loans, ITT did consistently tell its investors, from the time the loan 

programs were put in place, that it was ITT’s “plan all along” that students’ Temporary Credit would 

be paid off through private lending programs.  ITT had established the lending programs to ensure 

that income and free cash flow would improve, which in turn improved the appearance of ITT’s 

financial statements.   

11. Indeed, ITT designed these private loan programs—ostensibly run by third parties, but in 

reality controlled by ITT and backed by an ITT guarantee that protected those third parties from 

loss—to ensure that students with Temporary Credit balances could repay those balances and 

finance future tuition gaps no matter what their credit profile; ITT required in the lending criteria for 

those loan programs that they accept virtually any second-year ITT student who had been given a 

Temporary Credit by ITT.  

12. Default rates for ITT students on all loans have been high, but ITT itself projected, as far 

back as May 2011, that more than 60% of the students who had received the private loans would 

default.  Simply to enhance its financial statements and appearance to investors, ITT sacrificed its 

students’ futures by saddling them with debt on which it knew they would likely default. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it concerns federal 

consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is 

brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

14. Venue is proper in this district because Defendant maintains its headquarters and does 

business in the Southern District of Indiana.  28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 
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PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

15. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and provision of consumer financial products and services under federal consumer financial 

laws.  12 U.S.C. § 5491(a).  It has independent litigating authority.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a) and (b). 

Defendant 

16. ITT is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Carmel, Indiana that is publicly traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “ESI.”  ITT is a for-profit post-secondary 

educational institution that operates 149 locations in 38 states, in addition to offering online 

programs.   

17. At least from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT engaged in offering or providing 

“consumer financial products or services” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5) and 

(15)(A)(i), by offering or providing loans, through certain private loan programs, to its students to 

pay for a portion of ITT’s tuition.   

18.  At least from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT engaged in offering or providing 

“consumer financial products or services” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5) and 

(15)(A)(i), by brokering loans to its students by, among other things, serving as, and holding itself 

out as, an intermediary between lenders offering student loans and ITT’s students, and in arranging 

the loans for the students.  ITT received a benefit in arranging such loans, which were exclusively 

provided to ITT students.   

19. At least from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT engaged in offering or providing 

“consumer financial products or services” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5) and 

(15)(A)(viii), by providing, or purporting to provide, through its Financial Aid staff, substantial 

advice and assistance to students enrolling in ITT programs regarding loans or other available 
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financial aid to cover their ITT tuition, including advising them on what aid programs they could use 

to pay for ITT, completing much of the necessary applications and paperwork on behalf of students 

for such loans and aid, and ensuring that such applications and paperwork were completed so that 

students would obtain the financial aid to pay ITT’s tuition. 

20. At least from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT provided a material service to a 

“covered person,” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26), in connection with the offering or 

provision by such covered person of a “consumer financial product or service” pursuant to the 

CFPA, by participating in “designing, operating, and maintaining” the private loan programs. 

21. Accordingly, at least from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT was a “covered 

person” and a “service provider” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and (26). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

ITT’s Business Model Is Based on Convincing Consumers to Take out Student Loans to 
Pay Its High Cost 
 

22. ITT is a publicly-held company, and its primary duty is to maximize profit for its 

shareholders. 

23. ITT’s revenues come from student tuition and fees.  ITT’s tuition is higher than most other 

for-profit post-secondary institutions.  Since 2009, ITT’s two-year Associate’s degree programs—

which are the programs in which approximately 85% of ITT students are enrolled—have cost 

approximately $44,000, based on a charge of $493 per credit hour.  By the same measure, Bachelor’s 

degree programs have cost approximately $88,000.  

24. ITT students generally have poor credit profiles and low earnings; according to ITT’s Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”), the average ITT student is earning around $18,000 per year and has a 

credit score under 600 at the time he or she enrolls.  Such students can very rarely pay for ITT’s 

tuition out-of-pocket. 
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25. The primary method by which students pay their ITT tuition, and the main source of ITT’s 

cash receipts, is financial aid provided by the federal government under Title IV of the Higher 

Education Act of 1965, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1070 et seq. (“Title IV Aid”).  In its Form 10-K for the year 

2012, filed with United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), ITT reported that it 

obtained approximately 80% of its cash receipts from Title IV Aid programs, most of which came 

from student loans.  ITT also disclosed that approximately 16% of its cash receipts came either from 

federal benefits for servicemembers and veterans or from state aid programs.  Therefore, in 2012, 

about 96% of ITT’s cash receipts came from the government. 

26. In 2011, about 89% of ITT’s cash receipts came from the government, and around 7% came 

from private loans. 

27. The only way ITT can access these funds is by getting consumers in the door to apply for 

these forms of aid.  These students are ITT’s sole source of revenue.   

28. ITT is aware of the financial struggles of its students.  The average ITT student who is single 

with no dependents earns only a few thousand dollars above the poverty line and has a deeply sub-

prime credit profile, and the average student with a family is living below the poverty line.    

To Convince Consumers to Take out Loans to Pay ITT’s High Tuition, ITT Represented 
That It Would Work in Their Interest to Place Them in Desirable Jobs With Good Salaries 
 

29. In order to convince consumers to attend and remain at ITT, ITT represented, through a 

variety of means, that it would work in the interests of its students to better their lives.   

30. ITT represented through television and Internet advertising, as well as in oral and written 

marketing materials, that ITT and the education it provided would help students obtain better jobs.  

For example, ITT broadcast advertisements on television and on the Internet that stated, “We are 

educators helping people build a foundation for their lives.”     
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31. ITT made representations regarding the success of its graduates in job placement through a 

variety of means.  These representations were meant to attract and retain students at ITT and to 

induce them to take out aid, including loans, to pay ITT’s tuition.   

32. On its website and in written materials provided to students, ITT told its students about its 

“placement rates” for “positions that required the direct or indirect use of skills taught in their 

programs of study.”  In addition, ITT provided this information in its Forms 10-K filed with the 

SEC for the years 2010 through 2012, representing that ITT placed approximately 70% of its 

“Employable Graduates” in such positions. 

33. These figures were based on selective data and incomplete information and did not represent 

realistic outcomes for most ITT students.  For example, the placement rates do not include former 

students who did not graduate (which is the most common outcome for students who begin at 

ITT), may include jobs that do not require the degrees students paid for (such as retail jobs), and 

may include positions that were merely seasonal.  These job placement rates were designed to 

mislead consumers about the value of an ITT education.  

34. ITT recruiters made a practice of representing that ITT would help to ‘place’ students in 

order to convince potential students that ITT would help them obtain desirable jobs.  ITT 

maintained only one career counselor per approximately 207 students. 

35. As a part of a mystery shopping program conducted for ITT, a mystery shopper reported 

that although the recruiter would not “guarantee anything about placement,” the recruiter “told me 

after the interview that I was highly place able [sic].”  

36. Another mystery shopper wrote, “I asked if there were programs upon graduation for job 

placement.  She said that they do not use the word guarantee, but that placement is highly 

successful.”  [Punctuation added.] 
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37. Despite making representations to students that ITT would help them find a job in their 

field of study, ITT provided either no help or only minimal assistance in this regard.  Numerous 

students have complained that ITT failed to provide them the career support they expected and that 

they have been unable to obtain positions utilizing their degrees.  

38. In order to convince potential students that attending ITT would better their lives, ITT 

represented through oral and written marketing materials that attending ITT would increase their 

future salaries.   

39. ITT made a practice of instructing its representatives to show prospective students 

presentations that purported to reflect substantially improved earnings and job prospects resulting 

from attending ITT.  For example, ITT provided its recruiting staff with a chart to show prospective 

students entitled “Projected Future Earnings,” which showed that earnings over time would increase 

into the six figures, even with only an Associate’s degree.  The chart said in large letters, “25% 

Annual Return on Investment.”  ITT representatives were instructed to “[r]ecite from memory the 

following statement and interest check word for word:” 

The potential average return on investment for employed graduates is presented in 
the Value Proposition for Employed Graduates disclosure.  Based on the reported 
salary information of the 2006 employed graduates of the ITT Technical Institutes 
across the country, the potential annual return to a 2006 employed graduate over his or her 
working life from his or her monetary investment in an ITT Tech education is, on average, 25%.  
[Emphasis added.] 
 

40. ITT staff made a practice of orally providing prospective students with assurances of large 

salaries or selective local graduate salary information.  

41. One mystery shopper hired by ITT reported that an ITT recruiter told her that graduates of 

ITT’s Programs Management program “usually make six figures.” 

42. Another mystery shopper wrote that a phone representative “quoted the Department 

Director as saying that some of their IT Security graduates are earning six figures after one year of 

work.” 
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43. Another mystery shopper wrote that a Financial Aid Coordinator told her “about salaries at 

90 thousand a year.” 

44. In addition to the foregoing, ITT representatives also provided vague answers, general 

numbers, and misleading salary charts, calculated to give a misimpression of what an ITT education 

would offer. 

45. For example, one mystery shopper who asked about the salaries for graduates of the 

paralegal program reported that, “after the long drawn out application enrollment process, I began 

to get the impression that this school might be a bit of a scam because I talked to so many different 

people who all seemed so intent on being my friend while at the same time avoiding my direct 

questions.”  [Punctuation added.] 

46. In contrast to claims by ITT representatives about large salaries, in its Form 10-K for the 

year 2012, ITT claimed that the “reported annualized salaries initially following graduation averaged 

approximately $32,061 for the Employable Graduates in 2011.”  In its Forms 10-K for the years 

2011 and 2010, ITT disclosed average “annualized salaries” for Employable Graduates as 

approximately $31,300 and $31,600, respectively.   

47. Even those Form 10-K numbers appear to be exaggerated because they were based on a 

flawed survey.  In addition, the numbers were “annualized,” which suggests that they included jobs 

that were temporary, rather than permanent, salaried positions.  

48. In any event, since most ITT students drop out without obtaining a degree, disclosing salary 

numbers only for graduates is inherently misleading. 

49. Numerous students have complained that ITT promised better salary outcomes than they 

have been able to achieve.  
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To Convince Consumers to Take out Loans to Pay ITT’s High Tuition, ITT Made 
Misleading Representations About ITT’s Accreditation and Transferability of Credits 
 

50. In convincing students that it would help them better their lives and was worth incurring a 

significant debt burden, ITT trumpeted its “national accreditation,” which to a consumer not 

knowledgeable about accreditation sounds better than “regional accreditation.”  In fact, regional 

accreditation is preferable for purposes of allowing credits to easily transfer among schools. 

51. Regionally accredited schools, such as community colleges and state universities, will not 

automatically accept credits from institutions accredited by the Accrediting Council for Independent 

Colleges and Schools (“ACICS”), a national accreditation organization that accredits many for-profit 

schools, including ITT.  Rather, regionally accredited schools will accept transfer credits from 

ACICS-accredited institutions only on a case-by-case basis. 

52. ITT exploited a lack of understanding by consumers regarding the distinction between types 

of accreditation and transferability of credits. 

53. For example, ITT falsely told prospective nursing students that the nursing programs either 

were accredited, or would be accredited, by the appropriate bodies to allow them to use their ITT 

degree to obtain a nursing position.  Many students only learned this was untrue after they started at 

ITT. 

54. Mystery shoppers hired by ITT reported that some ITT recruiters lied about accreditation.  

For example, one mystery shopper wrote that a recruiter falsely “explained that ITT was accredited 

by ACICS just like all other schools, noting it is the same system for everyone.”  [Punctuation 

added.]  Another mystery shopper reported that an ITT “representative said that the accreditation 

was the same as any traditional college or university.”  A third said that a recruiter “said that the 

ACICS was the same for ITT as well as other Colleges” and “that all colleges had to be accredited by 

the ACICS.”  A fourth said the recruiter “told me that ITT Tech is accredited by the Department of 

Defense.”  These statements are all false.   
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ITT Used Aggressive and Controlling Tactics to Recruit and Enroll Students, and to 
Convince Them to Take Out Loans to Pay Its Tuition 
 

55. ITT used high-pressure, strong-arm recruiting tactics to get consumers to enroll in ITT 

programs and take out student loans to pay for them.   

56. ITT instructed its recruiters to make 140 calls a day to consumers if they had no 

appointments scheduled, or 100 per day if they had an appointment.  ITT recruiters at times 

contacted consumers several times in the same day. 

57. ITT provided its recruiters with scripted responses intended to get prospective students to 

come to campus.  For example, ITT instructed its recruiters to counter a consumer’s concerns like 

“Was only looking for info to be mailed,” with a series of responses until the recruiter could get the 

student to “give up” and come in.  ITT instructed its recruiters to counter a consumer’s concerns 

about cost with an evasion, such as: “I cannot tell you what your exact cost will be . . . it varies 

student to student, our Financial Aid Administrators are the experts.  You can meet with them when 

you come in for the tour.”  ITT instructed its recruiters to counter a consumer’s concerns about cost 

with a response such as, “Do you want a discount education, or a valuable one that will give you a 

return in the future?”   

58. ITT trained its recruiters to entice potential students to visit a campus in person because 

consumers have a harder time fending off ITT’s high-pressure sales tactics when they are present in 

person. 

59. ITT instructed its staff to engage in a long, hard sell, including the use of many videos and 

presentations designed to wear down prospective students into agreeing to enroll at ITT.  One 

mystery shopper reported, “Too much time was taken on the . . . presentation and not enough on 

financial aid and making a decision.” 
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60. Another mystery shopper wrote, “I was there for over 3 hours and they still were not 

through with the presentation and financial aid process.” 

61. Part of that long process was an admission test that was virtually impossible to fail and was 

used to give prospective students the impression that ITT had admissions standards and that the 

students had achieved something by being admitted to the school.  Despite the test, ITT would 

enroll virtually any student who had access to funding.   

62. For example, a mystery shopper that ITT hired wrote that she “made a point to fail the 12 

minute exam and she came back and said I passed just fine, which made no sense to me.  I think I 

only answered one or two of the math questions, so I don’t see how that was possible . . . .” 

[Punctuation added.]  Another mystery shopper reported that a recruiter “explained even though the 

test has 50 questions and your [sic] only allowed 12 minutes to take it, you only need 13 correct.”  

[Punctuation added.] 

ITT Recruiters and Financial Aid Staff Rushed Students Through the Complex Process of 
Enrollment and Financial Aid, Forcing Students to Rely on ITT to Act in Their Interests 
 

63. After an aggressive sales pitch about how ITT would help students better their lives, ITT 

encouraged consumers to rely on ITT’s staff to get them signed up for the school and for financial 

aid funds.  The enrollment and financial aid processes were inexorably linked, efficiently automated, 

and run by ITT staff so that ITT could be sure students enrolled and obtained funding, bringing in 

revenues.   

64. In contrast to the lengthy sales pitch, the enrollment and financial aid processes were much 

faster, so that many consumers did not know or did not understand what they signed up for. 

65. Recruiters induced prospective students to sign forms without giving them sufficient 

information about what they were signing. 

66.  ITT required potential students to sign an Enrollment Agreement before they could receive 

information about their financial aid options or meet with Financial Aid Staff.  This tactic was aimed 

Case 1:14-cv-00292-SEB-TAB   Document 1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 12 of 34 PageID #: 12



13 
 

at getting the students to commit to enrollment before they were in a position to make an informed 

decision about how they would pay for their program, further encouraging students to rely on ITT 

Financial Aid staff to help them with the process.   

67. Mystery shoppers hired by ITT reported being rushed through e-signing documents such as 

credit check approvals and authorizations to request transcripts, among other documents, without 

understanding what they were agreeing to.  One mystery shopper said of these tactics, “they try to 

trap you into enrollment by going through these steps so soon.” 

68. Another wrote that the ITT representative “wanted me to start classes tonight.  I told her I 

could not  . . .  I told her I needed to know how my financial aid turned out before I committed, so 

she said if I came to classes and then finances did not work out I would not have to pay for 

anything. . . . I never owe anything until I graduate.”  [Punctuation added.]  

69. The financial aid process is complicated and difficult to understand.  Rather than helping 

students better understand the borrowing process and make informed decisions in their best 

financial interests, ITT made a practice of having its Financial Aid staff take control of the students’ 

loan applications and rush them through the process of signing up for loans. 

70. A mystery shopper reported that the financial aid coordinator: 

had me complete some forms explaining briefly what the forms were as I signed off 
of them.  She began the financial application without really explaining to me fully what I was 
about to sign.  I told her that I was not ready to give my SSN for the credit check.  It 
was at this point she told me that I may not be able to take the test If I did not 
provide my SSN and that she wanted to get me enrolled and set up for classes today.  
[Emphasis and punctuation added.] 
 

71. Another mystery shopper wrote, “For example, had I not been aware that a soft check of my 

credit was being performed ahead of time, as indicated in the material for this shop, I would not 

have known that such is taking place.  The option to allow or disallow a credit check was never explained or 

provided.” [Emphasis and punctuation added.] 

Case 1:14-cv-00292-SEB-TAB   Document 1   Filed 02/26/14   Page 13 of 34 PageID #: 13



14 
 

72. Another mystery shopper reported that an ITT representative “forged” her paperwork and 

further noted:  

I saw briefly on the computer screen and asked her to wait because I wanted to see 
what it said.  I said again, ‘let me see.’  She reluctantly slid the mouse to me.  I asked 
her why it said I unknowingly signed forms electronically because I stated multiple 
times that I had not decided . . . .  She said she was trying to help and it was the only 
way she could give me the test to help push me through.  I found the page she 
skipped over and it stated that I electronically signed High School GED certification, 
Transcript Authorization, School Catalog Handbook, Graduation Information 
Agreement . . . . I told her I feel like they are being deceptive . . . my electronic 
signature was fraudulently placed . . . I am absolutely astonished how they are 
attempting to cheat, lie, and fraudulently mislead individuals.  [Punctuation added.] 
 

73. As part of their sales tactics, ITT recruiters pressured prospective students to schedule 

follow-up appointments to complete their financial aid applications either before they had even 

made the decision to enroll, or quickly after enrollment so they would be less likely to change their 

minds. 

74. A mystery shopper wrote that an ITT recruiter indicated that her application “could not 

move on in the computer system unless we filled in an appointment date for the Financial Aid.”  

When the mystery shopper objected, saying he wanted to check his calendar, the recruiter “told me 

that I HAD to pick a date . . . so I picked a date to meet with him.”  

75. Another mystery shopper wrote, the Financial Aid representative “insisted on scheduling an 

appointment with me, telling me that she was required to enter something on her calendar, even if I 

had to change or cancel it.  I told her I could not commit to anything but she insisted anyway.”  

[Punctuation added.] 

76. Another mystery shopper wrote, “I was strongly pressured to attend a meeting on Saturday 

for a grants seminar, and an appointment was made to finish my enrolling and financial aid 

paperwork, despite my declining.  I was told to make it and then I could cancel it later.” 

[Punctuation added.] 
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77. Another mystery shopper wrote that the Financial Aid Coordinator “said she would call me 

Saturday to set up a meeting, and I said that would not be good because I was moving but she 

seemed insistent to do so.  This seemed a bit invasive and suffocating for me since I said I would be in 

contact with them.” [Emphasis and punctuation added.]   

78. ITT Financial Aid staff, like the recruiters, made a practice of rushing new students through 

the financial aid process, leaving many unsure what they were signing and further encouraging 

reliance by the students on what the Financial Aid staff was doing on their behalf.   

79. One mystery shopper reported that, during the financial aid process, the Financial Aid 

Coordinator only explained some of the documents and even signed two of them for the shopper, 

who reported, “The whole meeting went so fast (the [Financial Aid Coordinator] talked very quickly) 

that it was hard to understand what was going on.” 

80. Another mystery shopper wrote, “It was a challenge to keep up with [the Financial Aid 

Coordinator’s] pace, as she was very quick explaining things, and very fast on the computer.  There 

were a few times where I just stopped her and asked her to please explain what she had just said.”  

81. Another mystery shopper reported that the Financial Aid Coordinator discouraged her from 

reading the material on the screen, “telling me it was not necessary to read all the way through.  The 

same for areas needing my signature.  She summarized the paragraphs and told me to put my initials 

and that I could read over it later.”  [Punctuation added.] 

82. Another mystery shopper wrote, “I did not like how quickly [the Financial Aid Coordinator] 

had me e-sign papers on the screen.  Honestly, I really did not want to sign anything, but she was controlling 

the mouse and, as soon as I said everything on the screen was correct, she clicked that I signed it and moved onto 

the next one.  That was off putting.” [Emphasis and punctuation added.] 
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83. Another mystery shopper reported that it was “a bit overwhelming with how quickly we 

went through everything, and I wasn’t exactly clear on everything [the Financial Aid Coordinator] 

was having me sign up for.”  [Punctuation added.] 

84. Another mystery shopper wrote that, “the Financial Aid aspect of the interview . . . was 

conducted quite rapidly and very little information was provided as to what my personal information 

was being used for.” 

ITT Also Pressured and Rushed Continuing Students Through Their Financial Aid 
Appointments, Requiring Them to Rely on ITT to Work in Their Interests  
 

85. The financial aid appointments for continuing students, called “repackaging” or “repack” 

appointments, were similarly rushed and controlled by the Financial Aid staff. 

86. This required continuing students to keep relying on Financial Aid staff to act in their 

interests. 

87. In order to ensure that continuing students (including graduating students) came to the 

Financial Aid staff and signed up for additional financial aid, ITT instructed and incentivized the 

Financial Aid staff to use certain tactics (the “repackaging tactics”) such as emailing students, calling 

them at home, finding them in the bookstore or the library or the student lounge, pulling them from 

class, barring them from class, enlisting the aid of other ITT staff (including professors), and 

withholding course materials, diplomas, and transcripts.  A former Vice President of Finance 

indicated that withholding materials was “leverage” that ITT used to pressure the students to meet 

with Financial Aid staff for repackaging.  

ITT Made a Practice of Encouraging Students to Rely on Financial Aid Staff to Work in 
Students’ Interests 
 

88. ITT instructed its Financial Aid staff to gain students’ trust and appear to work in students’ 

interests.    
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89. ITT Financial Aid staff, through their words and actions, encouraged students to rely on 

them, including in putting together financial aid applications on the students’ behalf.  Indeed, 

Financial Aid staff assisted students in filling out their Free Application for Federal Student Aid, 

commonly called the “FAFSA” form, and required students to provide tax returns. 

90. A former Vice President of Finance at ITT testified that Financial Aid staff were “essentially 

holding [the students’] hands” through the financial aid process, including federal aid and private 

loans. 

91. Part of the way that Financial Aid staff did this ‘hand holding’ was through the automated 

process for financial aid set up by ITT.  ITT provided its Financial Aid staff with software called 

“SmartForms,” which automatically populated and submitted financial aid applications for its 

students to the federal government or other lenders, requiring only e-signatures from students.   

92. Most ITT students obtained their financial aid this way, being encouraged by ITT Financial 

Aid staff to rely on the staff to do all the work for the students and simply tell them where to sign. 

93. One mystery shopper reported that a Financial Aid Coordinator “stated I would get more 

free money that I don’t have to pay back if I let them take care of my paperwork.”  [Punctuation 

added.] 

94. Another mystery shopper wrote that a representative “said that they want what was best for 

me and said that they do not pressure students and they are not on commission.” 

95. Despite words and actions to the contrary, ITT staff was not trained, nor was the staff 

instructed, to safeguard students’ financial interests. 

96. Most of ITT’s metrics for evaluating the performance of Financial Aid staff were related to 

how many students had completed financial aid packages, and to the amount of accounts receivable 

owed to the campus, much of which was related to outstanding Temporary Credit.   
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ITT Coerced Students to Take out Private Student Loans, for ITT’s own Financial Gain, 
Through a Private Student Loan Financing Scheme Involving “Temporary Credit” 
 

97. Using the tactics described above and others, ITT Financial Aid staff coerced students into 

taking out loans that they did not want, did not understand, or did not even realize they were getting.  

ITT Financial Aid staff coerced students into taking out private student loans to cover the tuition 

gap between what federal loans and grants would cover and the high cost of attending ITT. 

98. Through December 2011, ITT sought to have its students pay for the tuition gap with 

ostensible third-party loans because outside sources of payment could be booked as income to the 

company, improving its free cash flow and the appearance of its financial statements, and because 

outside sources of revenue helped ITT meet a requirement by the Department of Education that at 

least 10% of its revenue be derived from sources outside Title IV loans and grants. 

The Temporary Credit 

99. Prior to February 2008, ITT relied on a large third-party lender to provide private loans to its 

students to cover their tuition gap.  In or about 2008, after the third-party funding source dried up, 

to cover tuition beyond what would be covered by Title IV Aid, ITT began offering its students 

loans that it called Temporary Credit.  ITT’s Temporary Credit was a no-interest loan payable in a 

single lump sum payment, with a due date typically nine months after enrollment, the end of the 

academic year for which it was offered. 

100. ITT had minimal credit criteria that students had to meet to be eligible for Temporary 

Credit.  Even if a student did not meet these minimal criteria, staff at ITT headquarters could—and, 

when asked, often did—grant exceptions. 

101. Before ITT provided Temporary Credit to students, it performed credit checks to 

determine if they met the limited credit criteria.  Thus, at the time ITT provided Temporary Credit 

to students, it knew their credit scores. 
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102. Each student who enrolled at ITT and received Temporary Credit was given a “Cost 

Summary Payment Addendum” (“CSPA”), to be signed along with the Enrollment Agreement. 

103. The CSPA gave limited disclosures about Temporary Credit, disclosing little except that the 

credit was nominally due in 9 months, the length of the academic year, and carried no interest 

charge.  

104. Some students who had a Temporary Credit loan obligation did not even know they had 

received Temporary Credit or did not know that it was a loan that would have to be repaid. 

105. ITT also led some students to believe that Temporary Credit would be available to cover 

their tuition gaps for their entire educational program, and that it would only be due to be repaid 

after the students graduated from ITT.   

106. Although the CSPA does not provide any information about having to repay Temporary 

Credit with other private loans, it does refer to “New Temporary Credit” and “Renewal of 

Carryforward Temporary Credit,” which could lead consumers to believe that each year they would 

be provided with Temporary Credit to cover the tuition gap. 

107. An ITT mystery shopper reported that Financial Aid staff told her that any costs above 

those covered by federal aid “would be covered under a new temporary credit and that I would owe 

no money out of pocket.”  Another reported that the ITT staff told her that any costs beyond those 

covered by grants and federal loans “would be picked up by ITT.” 

108. At least one Director of Finance at an ITT campus directed her staff to use the word 

“funding” to describe Temporary Credit, in order to hide the fact that it was a loan and would have 

to be repaid. 

109. ITT knew that the vast majority of students who received Temporary Credit did not, and 

would not, have the resources to make the entire lump sum payment within nine months.   
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110. ITT did not intend to continue offering Temporary Credit to students throughout their 

entire ITT education.  As provided more fully below, in or about 2008, ITT actively solicited, 

created, and guaranteed ostensibly-third-party lending programs to repay Temporary Credit.  In 

2009, those programs began offering private loans, and Financial Aid staff began coercing students 

into repaying their Temporary Credit with those loans.  

111. In some circumstances, students received Temporary Credit more than once, were required 

to pay it off only just before graduation, or were not required to pay it off until after graduation.    

112. From 2009 through 2011, ITT was lending students approximately $100 million to $150 

million per year in Temporary Credit. 

113. ITT believed most students were unlikely to repay the Temporary Credit loans and deeply 

discounted them on its balance sheet, calling them “doubtful accounts.”  However, after putting the 

private loan programs described below into place, ITT no longer had to maintain those deep 

discounts on its balance sheet because it expected students to be forced to repay the Temporary 

Credit with private loans.  

The ITT Private Loan Programs  

114. In 2008, ITT began to build two private loan programs from scratch, later to be called 

Student CU Connect and PEAKS (together, the “ITT Private Loan Programs” or the “ITT Private 

Loans”).  The ITT Private Loan Programs were intended to be the vehicle for students to pay off 

their Temporary Credit, enabling ITT to convert Temporary Credit into immediate income and 

cash-on-hand.  The private loans also financed students’ second year tuition gap. 

115. ITT disclosed to its auditors and its investors that the ITT Private Loan Programs were 

specifically intended, and would be used, to reduce the amount of Temporary Credit outstanding 

and to help ITT avoid lending students any further amounts from its own books after their first 

year.   
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116. Indeed, ITT’s Temporary Credit program operated as a tool to pre-qualify students for the 

ITT Private Loan Programs regardless of their credit profile.  Pursuant to the written underwriting 

criteria for the ITT Private Loans, a continuing ITT student who had received Temporary Credit 

was automatically eligible for an ITT Private Loan so long as he or she had not declared bankruptcy 

within 24 months (“Temporary Credit Exception”). 

117. These underwriting guidelines were established by ITT. 

118. The Temporary Credit Exception meant that the true credit decisions for ITT Private Loan 

Programs were made by ITT at the point when it provided Temporary Credit to its students. 

119. ITT students did not know this, nor were they made aware that ITT would coerce them 

into using the ITT Private Loans to repay Temporary Credit, until the point that Financial Aid staff 

gave them no choice other than to take the ITT Private Loans or be expelled from ITT.  

The Student CU Connect Loan Program 
 

120. The Student CU Connect private loan program (“SCUC”) originated approximately $189 

million in student loans to ITT students from March 2009 until December 2011, and in particular, 

approximately $60 million from July 21, 2011 through December 2011.  SCUC was available only to 

ITT students. 

121. SCUC was the brainchild of ITT or its paid consultants, and ITT was actively involved in 

the creation and support of SCUC by developing the underwriting criteria, providing a credit facility, 

and paying the credit union membership fees in the lead credit union on behalf of the students who 

took out SCUC loans.  ITT was also actively involved in the servicing and collection activities of 

SCUC.  In addition, ITT provided a stop-loss guarantee to the program participants: if defaults 

exceeded 35%, ITT would make the credit unions whole for any further defaults.   

122. ITT served as the sole intermediary between SCUC and ITT students in introducing the 

students to the loans.  ITT Financial Aid staff did most of the work in completing the paperwork for 
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the SCUC loans, and students were encouraged to rely on the Financial Aid staff for this assistance.  

The SCUC loans were disbursed directly to ITT; proceeds were required to be used only to pay ITT 

and could not be used by students for any other purposes. 

123. The interest rate for the SCUC loan, which carried a ten-year term, was based on a student’s 

credit score.  For borrowers with credit scores under 600, the interest rate initially went as high as 

the prime rate plus 10.5%, with an origination fee as high as 10%.  Starting in or around April 2011, 

borrowers with credit scores under 600 were charged an interest rate of prime plus 13%, in addition 

to the 10% origination fee. 

124. The prime rate, since 2009, has been 3.25%; thus the effective interest rate for SCUC loans 

has been 13.75% for some borrowers with credit scores under 600; for borrowers taking out loans 

after April 2011 with credit scores under 600, the SCUC interest rate has been 16.25%.  

Approximately 46% of the SCUC borrowers had credit scores under 600, and thus were subject to 

interest rates of 13.75% or 16.25% and origination fees of 10%.   

125. Since 2009, federal Stafford loans available under Title IV offered interest rates for all 

borrowers that were 3.4% for subsidized loans and 6.8% for unsubsidized loans.  Such loans did not 

have origination fees. 

126. Approximately $149 million, or 79%, of the entire SCUC program went to students who 

had Temporary Credit and who were pushed into SCUC loans to pay it off and to finance their 

tuition gaps for later years at ITT.   

127. As early as May 2011, ITT’s consultant for loan default analysis projected a gross default 

rate of 61.3% for the existing SCUC loans. 

128. As private student loans, SCUC loans are difficult to discharge in bankruptcy, requiring the 

debtor to make a special showing of “undue hardship.” 
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The PEAKS Loan Program 

129. On or around September 24, 2009, ITT solicited other loan originators to provide a private 

loan program, ultimately called PEAKS, which had terms similar to SCUC.   

130. The result of that initial solicitation was a complicated structure comprising a trust created 

in December 2009, finalized in January 2010, and funded by selling student loan asset-backed 

securities to institutional investors.  The originating bank made the loans and then sold them to the 

trust.  ITT served as a guarantor to the trust and the investors, but it maintained the program as an 

off-balance sheet vehicle. 

131.  PEAKS, although structured differently, served the same purpose as SCUC.  It offered 

similar rates and now uses the same servicer as the SCUC program.  Its borrowers had credit 

profiles similar to those of SCUC.  As it did for the SCUC loans, ITT developed the PEAKS lending 

criteria, introduced students to the program, and served as the sole intermediary between students 

and the originating bank.  ITT was also actively involved in the servicing and collection activities of 

PEAKS.  As with the SCUC loans, PEAKS loans were exclusively available to ITT students and 

were disbursed directly to ITT; proceeds were required to be used only to pay ITT and could not be 

used by students for any other purposes. 

132. PEAKS ran out of origination funds in 2011, and it appears that it made no loans after July 

21, 2011. 

The Plan Behind the ITT Private Loan Programs 

133. While failing to disclose to students that the ITT Private Loans were intended from the 

start to be vehicles to pay off its students’ Temporary Credit, ITT did share this fact with investors. 

134. From 2009 through 2011, ITT’s CEO and CFO participated in quarterly earnings calls with 

analysts and investors.  In these calls, the ITT executives repeatedly discussed the ITT Private Loan 

Programs as vehicles for taking Temporary Credit off of ITT’s balance sheet. 
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135.  In the January 21, 2010 earnings call for Fourth Quarter 2009, ITT talked about the 

PEAKS program, which had just begun.  In response to a question from analysts, ITT’s CFO said: 

“the way the program works is, that it is eligible for second year students.  So therefore, those 

students who have had some internal borrowings in year one, would have effectively refinanced 

through the PEAKS program in year two.”  The CEO reinforced this point:  

We still anticipate offering internal financing to first-year students . . . .  Second year 
students then would be eligible for financing through the PEAKS program, to have 
financing for their forward-looking studies, as well as refinancing any institutional 
funding provided to them during the first year. . . .  But it works that way, second-
year students are in the PEAKS program, and first year will continue to be on the 
balance sheet. 
 

136. Later in that same call, the CFO clarified further:   

Basically the way the program is set up, if you think about the balance sheet aspects 
of this, obviously positive cash flow elements there.  And some of that will come 
from AR [accounts receivable, including Temporary Credit] that is going to be 
converted into the PEAKS program, which was our plan all along. [Emphasis added.] 
 

137. This “plan all along” applied to both ITT Private Loan programs, which served the same 

purpose for ITT.  Even as ITT discussed the expiration of the PEAKS program in a July 21, 2011 

earnings call, ITT’s CEO reminded investors that “we actually have other third party lending 

programs, typically I think referred to as the credit union programs,” that is, SCUC.  The CEO went 

on to say that SCUC was “substantially similar for us relative to the PEAKS program so that it’s 

structurally similar and the economics are very, very similar.”   

 “Repackaging” Students into ITT Private Loans 

138. ITT instructed its Financial Aid staff to identify students to repackage into the ITT Private 

Loans as soon as the students had obtained sufficient academic credits to qualify. 

139. Financial Aid staff used all of the “repackaging tactics” described above to get students to 

repackage. 
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140.   Some students objected to the ITT Private Loans, but they were told that if they refused 

to use them, they either had to pay any outstanding Temporary Credit and the next year’s tuition 

gap—which most could not do—or leave the school in the middle of their program and forfeit the 

investment they had made so far.  

141. Some ITT students accepted the ITT Private Loans because they believed ITT Financial 

Aid staff was acting in their interests in signing them up for such loans, and they believed, based on 

ITT’s representations, that ITT in general was acting in their interests to better their lives.  

142. Some ITT students did not even realize they took out the ITT Private Loans because of the 

rushed and automated manner in which ITT Financial Aid staff processed ITT students’ paperwork.  

ITT Failed to Disclose the Finance Charges Associated with Temporary Credit Installment 
Plans 
 

143. Some students who obtained Temporary Credit did not get repackaged into the ITT Private 

Loans, so they had remaining Temporary Credit balances at the time they were due to graduate. 

144. On or about March 2009, ITT began offering students who still had outstanding 

Temporary Credit at graduation a discount of up to 25% on their Temporary Credit balance if they 

agreed to pay off all or a portion of the balance in a lump sum.   

145. Prior to December 2011, if the students who received this offer could not pay off all of 

their loan balance in a lump sum, Financial Aid staff was instructed to push the students into a 

SCUC or PEAKS loan. 

146. If the students could not or would not pay either a lump sum or through an ITT Private 

Loan, ITT offered those students an installment plan of monthly payments ranging, depending on 

the total amount owed, from 6 months to 6½ years (“Temporary Credit Installment Plan”).  

147. After December 2011, ITT continued to offer students a discount of up to 25% for paying 

their Temporary Credit balances in a lump sum upon graduation.  ITT offered Temporary Credit 
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Installment Plans to students who could not, or would not, pay those entire balances in a lump sum. 

It appears this practice continues.  

148. For those students in a Temporary Credit Installment Plan, the foregone discount they 

would have received had they paid off their Temporary Credit balances in a lump sum constitutes a 

finance charge. 

149. Thus, through the Temporary Credit Installment Plan, ITT regularly extends or offers to 

extend credit in the form of loans payable in more than four installments and subject to a finance 

charge. 

150. Upon agreeing to the Temporary Credit Installment Plan, students have been asked to sign 

an acknowledgment of the debt owed to ITT. 

151. That acknowledgment letter contains information regarding “Current Temporary Credit 

Balance,” “Total Payments Required,” “Monthly Payment,” and “Payment Begin Date,” but it does 

not contain a disclosure of a finance charge. 

ITT Students, Left With Unaffordable Loan Payments, Default in Large Numbers  

152. While ITT remains profitable—it reaped approximately $59 million in net income during 

2013—former ITT students, having been coerced by ITT into the ITT Private Loans, face a high 

likelihood of defaulting. 

153. The ITT Private Loans carry a high monthly payment, with higher interest rates, more rigid 

conditions, and fewer options to reduce monthly payments than federal loans offer.  For most 

former ITT students, this monthly payment, on top of all other loan obligations, is unaffordable. 

154. ITT is presently projecting a gross cumulative default rate of 64% for the ITT Private 

Loans.  ITT’s projected gross cumulative default rate for the SCUC pool of loans from 2009, the 

oldest and most seasoned pool of loans, is higher than 70%. 
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155. The ITT Private Loans are unlikely to be discharged in bankruptcy without a special 

showing of “undue hardship.” 

COUNTS 

COUNT ONE 

ITT UNFAIRLY SUBJECTED CONSUMERS TO UNDUE INFLUENCE OR 
COERCED THEM INTO TAKING OUT PRIVATE STUDENT LOANS IN 

VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 
 

156. The allegations in paragraphs 1-155 are incorporated here by reference. 

157. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA where “(A) the act or practice causes or is likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (B) 

such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.”  

12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

158. ITT is a covered person and a service provider under the CFPA.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 

(26). 

159. The ITT Private Loans are consumer financial products.  Offering, providing, and 

brokering the ITT Private Loans and offering and providing financial advisory services are 

consumer financial services.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i), and (15)(A)(viii). 

160. From July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT subjected consumers to undue influence 

or coerced them into taking out ITT Private Loans through a variety of unfair acts and practices 

designed to interfere with the consumers’ ability to make informed, uncoerced choices.  These unfair 

acts and practices included the following, at or around the time the students signed the ITT Private 

Loan contracts: 

a. ITT used the Financial Aid staff’s control of the financial aid process, which was 

rushed and automated according to ITT policies and practices, along with high-

pressure repackaging tactics, including pulling students from class, barring students 
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from class, refusing to provide necessary materials for class, emailing and calling 

students at home, refusing to provide transcripts and diplomas, and threatening 

students with expulsion, to persuade, entice, and coerce students to sign the ITT 

Private Loan contracts;   

b. ITT leveraged the students’ existing Temporary Credit debt, their limited ability to 

pay that debt or any tuition gap, the virtual non-transferability of ITT’s credits, and 

students’ fear of losing their entire investment under the threat of expulsion, to 

persuade, entice, and coerce the students to sign the ITT Private Loan contracts; and   

c. ITT exploited the students’ expectations, which ITT’s representations created, that, 

upon completion of a given ITT program, students were likely to have job 

opportunities and sufficient earnings capacity to enable them to repay the ITT 

Private Loans, to persuade, entice, and coerce the students to sign the ITT Private 

Loan contracts.  

161. From July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT engaged in these unfair acts and practices 

in order to increase its income.  ITT benefited from the use of ITT Private Loans to repay 

Temporary Credit, since those payments improved ITT’s financial statements by reducing accounts 

receivable, assuring payment for doubtful accounts, and increasing cash on hand.  ITT also 

benefited from the use of ITT Private Loans to pay tuition gaps, since those payments improved 

ITT’s financial statements by increasing income and cash on hand. 

162. Since July 21, 2011, these acts and practices have caused substantial injury to consumers.  

As a result of being pressured into doing so by ITT, approximately 8,600 consumers entered into 

loans that they could not afford, did not want, did not understand, or did not even know they had.  

ITT Private Loans were high-fee, high-interest rate, ten-year loans, which have more rigid conditions 

and fewer options to reduce monthly payments than federal loans offer, and which are not 
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dischargeable in bankruptcy without a special showing of undue hardship.  A majority of ITT 

students who took out the ITT Private Loans since July 21, 2011 have defaulted on or are expected 

to default on those loans. 

163. Since July 21, 2011, the injury caused by ITT’s unfair practices was not reasonably avoidable 

by consumers because: 

a. Due to ITT’s handling of the financial aid process, many students either did not 

understand the loan obligations or were not even aware they had signed the ITT 

Private Loan contracts;   

b. ITT credits were typically not transferable to other post-secondary institutions, 

putting students at risk of losing their credits for coursework they had completed 

and had incurred substantial debt to pay for, if they did not agree to the ITT Private 

Loan contract; 

c. The vast majority of ITT students had insufficient income to pay off their 

Temporary Credit or their tuition gap other than through the ITT Private Loans; and 

d. For students without sufficient income, there was an expectation that completing 

ITT would allow them to earn enough money to avoid defaulting on the loans they 

had already incurred.  

164. The injury to the ITT students who took out ITT Private Loans was not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.  

165. Therefore, from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT violated the CFPA by 

engaging in unfair practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 
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COUNT TWO 

ITT TOOK UNREASONABLE ADVANTAGE OF THE INABILITY OF ITT 
STUDENTS TO PROTECT THEIR INTERESTS IN SELECTING OR USING THE 
ITT PRIVATE LOANS IN VIOLATION OF THE CFPA’S PROHIBITION AGAINST 

ABUSIVE PRACTICES 
 

166. The allegations in paragraphs 1-155 are incorporated here by reference. 

167. An “abusive” act or practice includes, inter alia, one that “takes unreasonable advantage of 

. . . the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or using a 

consumer financial product or service . . . .”  12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

168. ITT is a covered person and a service provider under the CFPA.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 

(26). 

169. The ITT Private Loans are consumer financial products.  Offering, providing, and 

brokering the ITT Private Loans and offering and providing financial advisory services are 

consumer financial services.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i), and (15)(A)(viii). 

170. From July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT took unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ inability to protect their interests in selecting or using the ITT Private Loans. 

171. Students were not able to protect their interests in selecting or using ITT Private Loans 

because few students had the resources, particularly in the time permitted, to repay the Temporary 

Credit or pay the tuition gap out of pocket, or to obtain private loans elsewhere.  Given the virtual 

non-transferability of ITT credits, most students were forced to either take the ITT Private Loans or 

forfeit their entire investment.  

172. ITT took unreasonable advantage of ITT students’ inability to protect their interests in 

selecting or using the ITT Private Loans.  ITT knew about these vulnerabilities and exploited them 

by: 

a. Taking control of the complex financial aid process; 

b. Using aggressive repackaging tactics, including the threat of expulsion; 
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c. Pushing students into expensive, high-risk loans that ITT knew were likely to default; 

and 

d. Pushing students into expensive, high-risk loans for the purpose of window-dressing 

ITT’s financial statements and increasing its stock price. 

173. Therefore, from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT violated the CFPA by 

engaging in abusive practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

COUNT THREE 

ITT TOOK UNREASONABLE ADVANTAGE OF ITT STUDENTS’ REASONABLE 
RELIANCE ON ITT TO ACT IN THEIR INTERESTS IN VIOLATION OF THE 

CFPA’S PROHIBITION AGAINST ABUSIVE PRACTICES  
 

174. The allegations in paragraphs 1-155 are incorporated here by reference. 

175. An “abusive” act or practice is defined, inter alia, as one that “takes unreasonable advantage 

of . . . the reasonable reliance by the consumer on a covered person to act in the interests of the 

consumer.”  12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(C). 

176. ITT is a covered person under the CFPA.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

177. The ITT Private Loans are consumer financial products.  Offering, providing, and 

brokering the ITT Private Loans and offering and providing financial advisory services are 

consumer financial services.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i), and (15)(A)(viii). 

178. From July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT took unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ reasonable reliance on ITT to act in their interests. 

179. ITT students relied on ITT and its Financial Aid staff to act in their interests when they 

signed up for their financial aid packages, including the ITT Private Loans.  

180. The reliance by the students on ITT to act in their interests was reasonable because: 

a. ITT held itself out as a school that would help students better their lives; 
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b. The Financial Aid staff held themselves out as subject matter experts who could 

advise the students about financial aid; 

c. Students did not know that the Financial Aid staff was paid like a sales staff; and 

d. The Financial Aid staff solicited students’ reliance and trust, as they were trained to 

do. 

181. ITT did not act in the students’ interests.  Instead, it took unreasonable advantage of the 

students’ reasonable reliance to act in their interests by: 

a. Taking control of the complex financial aid process; 

b. Using aggressive repackaging tactics, including the threat of expulsion; 

c. Pushing students into expensive, high-risk loans that ITT knew were likely to default; 

and 

d. Pushing students into expensive, high-risk loans, for the purpose of window-dressing 

ITT’s financial statements and increasing its stock price. 

182. Therefore, from July 21, 2011 through December 2011, ITT violated the CFPA by 

engaging in abusive practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(C). 

COUNT FOUR 

 ITT’S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE FINANCE CHARGES VIOLATED TILA 

183. The allegations in paragraphs 1-155 are incorporated here by reference. 

184. The Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq. (“TILA”), and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. 

Part 1026, require certain disclosures to be made clearly and conspicuously in writing, in a form that 

the consumer may keep, in connection with the extension of consumer credit.  12 C.F.R. § 

1026.17(a). 

185. The “finance charge” is one item that must be disclosed by a creditor in a closed-end 

transaction pursuant to TILA and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d). 
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186. Under Regulation Z, a “finance charge” includes any discounts offered as an incentive to 

pay by a means other than credit. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.4(b)(9).   

187. ITT is a creditor within the meaning of the TILA and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.2(a)(17), because it regularly extends closed-end consumer credit that is both subject to a 

finance charge and payable by written agreement to ITT in more than four installments, that is, 

Temporary Credit Installment Plans. 

188. From approximately March 2009 through the present, ITT has typically offered a discount 

plan to students at graduation with outstanding Temporary Credit balances.  They are offered a 

discount on their Temporary Credit balance if they pay in a lump sum rather than through the 

Temporary Credit Installment Plans. 

189. To the extent that such discounts are not applied to the Temporary Credit Installment 

Plans, ITT is charging students a finance charge in connection with those extensions of credit.  12 

C.F.R. § 1026.4(b)(9).   

190. From approximately March 2009 through the present, ITT has not disclosed that finance 

charge clearly and conspicuously in writing in the documents provided to students in connection 

with Temporary Credit Installment Plans.   

191. Therefore, from approximately March 2009 through the present, ITT has violated TILA 

and Regulation Z.  15 U.S.C. §§ 1631(b) and 1638, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17 and 1026.18. 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

 The Bureau requests that the Court award: 

1. Equitable relief against ITT; 

2. Restitution to affected consumers against ITT; 

3. Injunctive relief against ITT; 

4. Disgorgement against ITT; 
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5. Rescission against ITT; 

6. Civil Money Penalties against ITT; 

7. Plaintiff’s costs against ITT; and 

8. Additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

  

      Respectfully submitted, 

 
  Anthony Alexis (DC Bar #384545) 

Acting Enforcement Director 
 
Ori Lev (DC Bar #452565) 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Laurel Loomis Rimon (CA Bar #166148) 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
s/ Cynthia Gooen Lesser 
Cynthia Gooen Lesser (NY Bar #2578045) 
Ethan Haim Levisohn (DC Bar #982702) 
Nicholas F. B. Smyth  (PA Bar #307972) 
Maureen Elin McOwen (DC Bar #976749) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-9594 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
e-mail: Cynthia.Lesser@cfpb.gov 
 
Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Bank Of America To Pay
$727 Million In Consumer Relief For
Illegal Credit Card Practices
Millions of Consumers Harmed by Bank’s Deceptive Marketing and
Unfair Credit Card Billing Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) has
ordered Bank of America, N.A. and FIA Card Services, N.A. to provide an estimated
$727 million in relief to consumers harmed by practices related to credit card add-on
products. Roughly 1.4 million consumers were affected by Bank of America’s deceptive
marketing of their add-on products. Bank of America also illegally charged
approximately 1.9 million consumer accounts for credit monitoring and credit reporting
services that they were not receiving. Bank of America will pay a $20 million civil
money penalty to the CFPB.

“We have consistently warned companies about illegal practices related to credit card
add-on products,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Bank of America both
deceived consumers and unfairly billed consumers for services not performed. We will
not tolerate such practices and will continue to be vigilant in our pursuit of companies
who wrong consumers in this market.”

Deceptive Marketing
From 2010 through 2012, Bank of America actively marketed two credit card payment
protection products, “Credit Protection Plus” and “Credit Protection Deluxe.” Both
products allowed customers to request that Bank of America cancel some amount of
credit card debt in the event of certain hardships like involuntary unemployment or
disability and certain life events such as entering college or retirement. The Bureau
found that the telemarketing scripts Bank of America used for these products contained
misstatements. Additionally, telemarketers often went off script to make sales pitches
that were misleading and that omitted pertinent information. Over 1.4 million card
members were affected by this deceptive marketing.

Among other things, Bank of America misled consumers about:

Cost of first 30 days of coverage: Bank of America led some consumers to
believe that the first 30 days of coverage were free of charge when, in fact, by
enrolling, consumers were agreeing to purchase the credit protection products.
Consumers would begin incurring charges unless they cancelled within an initial
30-day review period, in which case any fees previously paid would be
reimbursed.
Enrollment process for credit protection products: Bank of America
misled some consumers about the enrollment process for these products, telling
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them that there were additional steps to enroll in or purchase the products after
the telemarketing call or that, on the call, they were merely agreeing to receive
additional information. In reality, Bank of America was enrolling these consumers
in the products during these calls and then charging consumers for the products.
Benefits of credit protection products: Bank of America misrepresented the
benefits consumers could receive from the products, telling consumers they could
receive benefits for a longer period of time than was allowed under the terms and
conditions of the credit protection products. Bank of America also led some
consumers to believe they would be entitled to a “$25,000 death benefit” by
enrolling in Credit Protection Plus when that was not the case. Telemarketers
misled consumers by implying the benefits of these products were automatic upon
notice of a qualifying event when, in fact, benefits were contingent on the
successful completion of a benefit request submission and approval process.

Unfair Billing Practices
Bank of America also enrolled consumers in identity protection credit card add-on
products, known as “Privacy Guard,” “Privacy Source,” and “Privacy Assist,” that
promised to monitor customer credit and alert consumers to potentially fraudulent
activity. Under federal law, in order for Bank of America or its vendors to obtain
consumers’ credit information, the consumers generally must authorize access to credit
information. Bank of America, however, billed consumers for these products without or
before having the authorization necessary to perform the credit monitoring and credit
report retrieval services. As a result, the company:

Billed consumers for services they did not receive: Bank of America
illegally charged customers for these products as soon as they enrolled even if they
were not actually receiving the services yet.
Unfairly charged consumers for interest and fees: The unfair monthly
fees that customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding
their credit card account limits, which lead to additional fees for the customers.
Some consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.
Illegally charged approximately 1.9 million consumer accounts: Bank of
America engaged in these unfair billing practices from at least October 2000
through September 2011. About 1.9 million consumer accounts were improperly
billed product fees while not receiving the full product services, affecting roughly
1.5 million consumers. The unfair billing practices resulted in about $459 million
in harm to consumers.
Failed to provide product benefits: Consumers may have been under the
impression that their credit was being monitored for fraud and identity theft,
when, in fact, these services were either not being performed at all, or were only
partially performed.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. Bank of America ended the marketing and sales of credit
protection products in August 2012, canceled all existing accounts as of September
2013, and provided six months of no-cost coverage to consumers enrolled as of March
2013. Bank of America stopped marketing the identity protection products in
approximately December 2011.

To ensure that Bank of America honors its obligation to provide relief to affected
consumers and that consumers are no longer subject to these deceptive marketing
tactics and unfair billing practices, the CFPB’s order requires that Bank of America:
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Prohibited from engaging in illegal practices: Bank of America will be
prohibited from marketing any credit protection or credit monitoring add-on
products until it submits a compliance plan to the CFPB.
End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for these
products if they are not receiving the promised benefits. Bank of America will
review and, if necessary, improve its policies to ensure that it does not commit
unlawful acts in the future.
Repayment to affected consumers: Bank of America must provide
approximately $268 million in refunds and additional relief to more than 1.4
million customers subjected to deceptive marketing practices. It also must pay
approximately $459 million to roughly 1.9 million customer accounts,
representing approximately 1.5 million consumers who enrolled in the credit
monitoring products and were charged while Bank of America did not perform all
of the promised services.
Conveniently repay consumers: Bank of America has completed
reimbursement to consumers for the unfair billing practices relating to the
identity protection products. For the credit protection products, if the consumers
are still Bank of America customers, they will receive or already have received a
credit to their accounts. If they are no longer a Bank of America credit card
holder, they will receive or already have received a check in the mail or have
charged-off balances reduced by the amount they were charged in fees.
Consumers are not required to take any action to receive their credit or check.
Pay a $20 million penalty: Bank of America will make a $20 million penalty
payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund .

This enforcement action is the result of the CFPB’s investigation into Bank of America’s
payment protection products and of work started by the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency (OCC) regarding the unfair billing practices of the identity protection
products, which the CFPB joined. This is the fifth action the Bureau has taken in
coordination with a fellow regulator to address illegal practices with respect to credit
card add-on products. The OCC is separately ordering restitution from Bank of America
for the unfair billing practices. The OCC is ordering Bank of America to pay $25 million
in civil money penalties for the unfair billing practices, in addition to those ordered by
the CFPB.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201404_cfpb_bankofamerica_consent-order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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#2012-153 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 

COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY 


In the Matter of: ) 
) AA-EC-2012-63 

Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. ) 
Glen Allen, Virginia 

CONSENT ORDER FOR A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

The Comptroller of the Currency of the United States of America (“Comptroller”), 

through his national bank examiners, has examined the affairs of Capital One Bank (USA), N.A., 

Glen Allen, Virginia (hereinafter the “Bank”), and has identified deficiencies in the Bank’s 

practices that resulted in:  (1) violations of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 45(a)(1), related to:  (a) the marketing and sales practices that occurred between August 

1, 2010 and December 17, 2011 with regard to certain debt cancellation and credit and identity 

monitoring products, coupled with the Bank’s failure, during this same time period, to 

appropriately manage the risks presented by these products; (b) retention practices that occurred 

during cancellation calls between August 1, 2010 and January 9, 2012 with regard to certain debt 

cancellation and credit and identity monitoring products; (c) billing practices that occurred 

between May 13, 2002 and June 21, 2011 with regard to certain credit and identity monitoring 

products; and (2) a violation of 12 C.F.R. § 37.8 as a result of the Bank’s failure, between 

August 1, 2010 and December 17, 2011, to appropriately manage the risks presented by the debt 

cancellation product. 

The Bank, by and through its duly elected and acting Board of Directors (“Board”), has 

executed a Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order, dated July 17, 2012 

(“Stipulation and Consent”), that is accepted by the Comptroller.  By this Stipulation and 



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Consent, which is incorporated by reference, the Bank has consented to the issuance of this 

Consent Cease and Desist Order (“Order”) by the Comptroller.  The Bank has committed to 

taking all necessary and appropriate steps to remedy the deficiencies.  The Bank has begun 

implementing procedures to remediate the practices addressed in this Order. 

ARTICLE I 

COMPTROLLER’S FINDINGS 

The Comptroller finds, and the Bank neither admits nor denies, the following: 

(1) For purposes of this Article and the Order, the following definitions shall 

apply: 

(a)	 “Affinion Credit Monitoring” products are two credit and identity  

monitoring products, “Privacy Guard” and “Credit Line,” previously 

marketed and sold by the Bank and Bank Vendors, as defined herein, to 

consumers regardless of whether they had a Bank credit card or other 

relationship with the Bank. 

(b) 	 “Affinion or Intersections Customer” or “Customer” is a consumer 

who enrolled in either an Affinion Credit Monitoring or Intersections 

Credit Monitoring product, as defined herein, and who is not a Cardholder, 

as defined herein. Once fully activated, the Affinion and Intersections 

Credit Monitoring products provide: (i) quarterly updates to Cardholders 

and Customers regarding their credit score and information reported to a 

credit reporting agency; (ii) assessments of the Cardholder’s or 

Customer’s credit rating; and/or (iii) identity theft protection.   

(c) 	 “Bank Vendor” is a third-party vendor that provides marketing, 
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sales, delivery, servicing, and/or fulfillment of services for consumer 

products offered by the Bank as optional add-ons to Bank credit cards or 

as a co-branded consumer product of the Bank to any consumer pursuant 

to a contractual obligation to the Bank. 

(d) 	 “Cardholder” is a consumer who has applied or applies for and received or 

receives a Bank consumer credit card.  This definition excludes any 

consumer who has applied or applies for and received or receives a 

consumer credit card from non-U.S. divisions or subsidiaries of the Bank, 

Capital One Bank (Canada Branch), or Capital One (Europe) plc, a UK 

Authorized Payment Institution.   

(e) 	 “Intersections Credit Monitoring” products are three credit and identity 

monitoring products, “Credit Inform,” “Credit Inform Premier,” and “ID 

Alert,” marketed and sold by the Bank through Bank Vendors to 

consumers regardless of whether they had a Bank credit card or other 

relationship with the Bank. 

(f) 	 “Payment Protection” product is any debt cancellation product marketed 

and sold by the Bank or Bank Vendors that allows a Cardholder who is 

enrolled in the product to request cancellation of the entire credit card 

account balance up to the credit limit in the event of death or permanent 

disability, or cancellation of up to twelve months of minimum payments in 

certain circumstances such as unemployment, temporary disability, or 

certain life events such as hospitalization, change in marital status, 

relocation, or a new child. The Payment Protection product is subject to 
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various eligibility requirements and exclusions, and a process for claiming 

benefits. 

(g) 	 “Pending Status” refers to the status in which an Affinion or Intersections 

Customer was placed because the authorization or verification required for 

activation of the full benefit of the Affinion Credit Monitoring or 

Intersections Credit Monitoring product had not yet been provided.  

(2) From August 1, 2010 through December 17, 2011, Cardholders who activated, by 

telephone, newly issued and re-issued credit cards that were in the Bank’s subprime portfolio or 

were in the Bank’s prime portfolio with an initial credit line of $5,000 or less were routinely 

routed to a Bank Vendor’s call center.  The Bank Vendor call agents marketed and sold the 

Payment Protection and/or Intersections Credit Monitoring products during these credit card 

activation telephone calls.    

(3) From August 1, 2010 through December 17, 2011, during the credit card 

activation telephone calls described in Paragraph (2) of this Article, some of the Bank Vendor 

call agents utilized certain high-pressure sales tactics and made materially false, deceptive, or 

otherwise misleading oral statements relating to the cost, coverage terms, benefits, and other 

features of the Payment Protection and Intersections Credit Monitoring products marketed and 

sold to the Cardholders described in Paragraph (2) of this Article. 

(4) From August 1, 2010 through January 9, 2012, Cardholders with credit cards that 

were in the Bank’s subprime portfolio or were in the Bank’s prime portfolio with an initial credit 

line of $5,000 or less who called to cancel their enrollment in the Payment Protection and/or 

Intersections Credit Monitoring products were routinely routed to a Bank Vendor’s call-center 

where the Bank Vendor call agents engaged in efforts to retain the Cardholders in the Payment 
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Protection and/or Intersections Credit Monitoring products during these cancellation telephone 

calls. 

(5) From August 1, 2010 through January 9, 2012, during the cancellation telephone 

calls described in Paragraph (4) of this Article, some Bank Vendor call agents engaged in certain 

high-pressure retention tactics and made many of the same materially false, deceptive, or 

otherwise misleading oral statements as in the credit card activation telephone calls. 

(6) From August 1, 2010 through January 9, 2012, the Bank failed to maintain 

effective risk management and control processes over the marketing and sales by Bank Vendors 

of the Payment Protection and Intersections Credit Monitoring products to the Cardholders 

described in Paragraphs (2) and (4) of this Article. 

(7) Until 2001, the Bank and Bank Vendors marketed and sold the Affinion Credit 

Monitoring products to consumers. 

(8) From May 13, 2002 to May 31, 2011, the Bank and Bank Vendors marketed and 

sold the Intersections Credit Monitoring products to consumers.  

(9) Following enrollment in the Affinion Credit Monitoring and Intersections Credit 

Monitoring products, Cardholders and Customers were in some cases required to provide 

additional verification information or proper authorization before their credit bureau reports 

could be accessed. Until the Cardholder or Customer provided this information or authorization, 

he or she was in Pending Status and was being billed for, but not receiving the full benefit of, the 

Affinion Credit Monitoring or Intersections Credit Monitoring product in which he or she was 

enrolled. 

(10) From May 13, 2002 through May 31, 2011, the Bank billed Cardholders and 

Customers enrolled in Intersections Credit Monitoring products that were in Pending Status for 
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the full fee of the product, even though the Cardholders and Customers were not receiving the 

full benefit of the product. 

(11) From March 1, 2006 through June 21, 2011, the Bank billed Affinion Customers 

enrolled in Affinion Credit Monitoring products that were in Pending Status for the full fee of the 

product, even though the Customers were not receiving the full benefit of the product. 

(12) By reason of the foregoing marketing, sales, and retention practices of its Bank 

Vendors for Payment Protection and Intersections Credit Monitoring products as described in 

Paragraphs (2) to (6) of this Article, the Bank engaged in unfair and deceptive practices in 

violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1).  

(13) By reason of the foregoing billing practices for Affinion Credit Monitoring and 

Intersection Credit Monitoring products as described in Paragraphs (9) to (11) of this Article, the 

Bank engaged in unfair practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. 

(14) The Bank’s violations of Section 5 of the FTC Act caused substantial consumer 

injury or were likely to cause substantial consumer injury. 

(15) From August 1, 2010 through December 17, 2011, the Bank violated 12 C.F.R. § 

37.8 by failing to maintain effective risk management and control processes in connection with 

the marketing and sale of the Payment Protection product by Bank Vendors. 

(16) The Bank’s violations of Section 5 of the FTC Act and 12 C.F.R. § 37.8 are part 

of a pattern of misconduct that resulted in financial gain to the Bank. 

ARTICLE II 

ORDER FOR A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

Pursuant to the authority vested in him by the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C.  

§ 1818(i), the Comptroller orders, and the Bank consents to the following: 
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(1) The Bank shall make payment of a civil money penalty in the amount of thirty-

five million dollars ($35,000,000), which shall be paid upon the execution of this Order. 

(a) 	 If a check is the selected method of payment, the check shall be made 

payable to the Treasurer of the United States and shall be delivered to: 

Comptroller of the Currency, P.O. Box 979012, St. Louis, Missouri 

63197-9000. 

(b) 	 If a wire transfer is the selected method of payment, it shall be sent to the 

Comptroller’s account  , ABA Routing # . 

(c) 	 The docket number of this case (AA-EC-2012-63) shall be entered on the 

payment document or wire confirmation and a photocopy of the payment 

document or confirmation of the wire transfer shall be sent immediately, 

by overnight delivery, to the Director of Enforcement and Compliance, 

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, 250 E Street, S.W., 

Washington, D.C. 20219. 

(2) This Order shall be enforceable to the same extent and in the same manner as an 

effective and outstanding order that has been issued and has become final pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 

§ 1818(h) and (i). 

ARTICLE III 


OTHER PROVISIONS
 

(1) The provisions of this Order are effective upon issuance of this Order by the 

Comptroller, through his duly authorized representative whose hand appears below, and shall 

remain effective and enforceable against the Bank and its successors in interest, except to the 
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extent that, and until such time as, any provisions of this Order shall have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated by the Comptroller. 

(2) This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818(i)(2), and expressly does not form, and may not be construed to 

form, a contract binding on the Comptroller or the United States. 

(3) The terms of this Order, including this paragraph, are not subject to amendment or 

modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreements, or prior arrangements between the 

parties, whether oral or written. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 17th day of July 2012. 

_____/s/______________________________ 
Vance S. Price 
Deputy Comptroller for Large Bank Supervision 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 


COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY 


In the Matter of: ) 
) AA-EC-2012-63 

Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. ) 
Glen Allen, Virginia 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO THE ISSUANCE  
OF AN ORDER FOR A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

The Comptroller of the Currency of the United States of America (“Comptroller”), 

intends to initiate a civil money penalty proceeding against Capital One Bank (USA), N.A., Glen 

Allen, Virginia (“Bank”), pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818(i), for its unfair and deceptive practices 

in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1), and its 

failure to appropriately manage the risks presented by a payment protection product, in violation 

of 12 C.F.R. § 37.8. 

The Bank, in the interest of compliance and cooperation, consents to the issuance of a 

Consent Order for a Civil Money Penalty, dated July 17, 2012 (“Order”). 

In consideration of the above premises, the Comptroller, through his authorized 

representative, and the Bank, through its duly elected and acting Board of Directors, stipulate 

and agree to the following: 

ARTICLE I 

JURISDICTION 

(1) The Bank is a national banking association chartered and examined by the 

Comptroller pursuant to the National Bank Act of 1864, as amended, 12 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

(2) The Comptroller is “the appropriate Federal banking agency” regarding the Bank 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 1813(q) and 1818(b). 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

(3) The Bank is an “insured depository institution” within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 1818(b)(1). 

(4) For purposes of, and within the meaning of 12 C.F.R.  §§ 5.3(g)(4), 5.51(c)(6), 

and 24.2(e)(4), this Consent Order shall not be construed to be a “cease and desist order” or 

“consent order,” unless the OCC informs the Bank otherwise in writing. 

ARTICLE II
 

CONSENT
 

(1) The Bank, without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents and agrees to  

issuance of the Consent Order by the Comptroller.   

(2) The Bank consents and agrees that the Consent Order shall be deemed an “order 

issued with the consent of the depository institution” pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818(h)(2), and 

consents and agrees that said Order shall become effective upon its issuance and shall be fully 

enforceable by the Comptroller pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818(i).   

(3) Notwithstanding the absence of mutuality of obligation, or of consideration, or of 

a contract, the Comptroller may enforce any of the commitments or obligations herein 

undertaken by the Bank under his supervisory powers, including 12 U.S.C. § 1818(i), and not as 

a matter of contract law.  The Bank expressly acknowledges that neither the Bank nor the 

Comptroller has any intention to enter into a contract.   

(4) The Bank expressly acknowledges that no officer or employee of the Comptroller 

has statutory or other authority to bind the United States, the United States Treasury Department, 

 the Comptroller, or any other federal bank regulatory agency or entity, or any officer or 

employee of any of those entities to a contract affecting the Comptroller’s exercise of his 

supervisory responsibilities. 
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(5) The terms and provisions of the Stipulation and the Consent Order shall be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors in interest.  

Nothing in this Stipulation or the Consent Order, express or implied, shall give to any person or 

entity, other than the parties hereto, and their successors hereunder, any benefit or any legal or 

equitable right, remedy or claim under this Stipulation or the Consent Order. 

ARTICLE III 


WAIVERS
 

(1) 	 The Bank, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

(a) 	 the issuance of a Notice of Charges pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818(b); 

(b) 	 any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of 

the Consent Order; 

(c) 	 all rights to a hearing and a final agency decision pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 

 § 1818(i), 12 C.F.R. Part 19; 

(d) 	 all rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the 

Consent Order; 

(e) 	 any and all claims for fees, costs or expenses against the Comptroller, or 

any of his agents or employees, related in any way to this enforcement 

matter or this Consent Order, whether arising under common law or under 

the terms of any statute, including, but not limited to, the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 and 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and 

(f) 	 any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 
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ARTICLE IV
 

CLOSING
 

(1) The provisions of this Stipulation shall not inhibit, estop, bar, or otherwise 

prevent the Comptroller from taking any other action affecting the Bank if, at any time, it deems 

it appropriate to do so to fulfill the responsibilities placed upon it by the several laws of the 

United States of America. 

(2) Nothing in this Stipulation shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 

Comptroller to enforce the terms of this Consent Order, and nothing in this Stipulation 

constitutes, nor shall the Bank contend that it constitutes, a waiver of any right, power, or 

authority of any other representative of the United States or an agency thereof, including, without 

limitation, the United States Department of Justice, to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

(3) The OCC releases and discharges the Bank from all potential liability for a civil 

money penalty that has been or might have been asserted by the OCC based on the banking 

practices described in the Comptroller’s Findings set forth in Article I of the Order, to the extent 

known to the OCC as of the effective date of the Order.  However, the banking practices alleged 

in Article I of the Order may be utilized by the OCC in other future enforcement actions against 

the Bank or its institution-affiliated parties, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or 

practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations.  This release shall 

not preclude or affect any right of the OCC to determine and ensure compliance with the terms 

and provisions of this Stipulation or the Order. 

( (4) The terms of the Stipulation and the Consent Order are not subject to amendment 

or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreements or prior arrangements between 

the parties, whether oral or written. 
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IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned, authorized by the Comptroller as his 

representative, has hereunto set his hand on behalf of the Comptroller. 

/s/ 7/17/2012 
Vance S. Price Date 
Deputy Comptroller for 
Large Bank Supervision 
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IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned, as the duly elected and acting Board of 

Directors of the Bank, have hereunto set their hands on behalf of the Bank. 

/s/ 07/13/2012 
W. Ronald Dietz Date 

/s/ 07/16/2012 
Richard D. Fairbank Date 

/s/ 07/16/2012 
Ann Fritz Hackett Date 

/s/ 07/16/2012 
Lewis Hay, III Date 

/s/ 07/16/2012 
Gary L. Perlin Date 

/s/ 07/16/2012 
Ryan M. Schneider Date 
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KENT MARKUS, OH Bar #16005 
Enforcement Director 
LAURA SCHNEIDER, NY Bar#2715449 
(Phone: 202-435-7311) 
(Email: Laura.Schneider@cfpb.gov) 
CRYSTAL R. SUMNER, CA Bar #261435 
(Phone: 202-435-7549) 
(Email: Crystal.Sumner@cfpb.gov) 
CARMEN L. CHRISTOPHER, CA Bar #231508 
(Email: Carmen.Christopher@cfpb.gov) 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

KENT KAWAKAMI, CA Bar #149803 - Local Counsel 
(Phone: 213-894-4858) 
(Email: Kent.Kawakami@usdoj.gov) 
United States Attorney's Office 
Central District of California - Civil Division 
300 North Los Angeles Street, Room 7516 
Los Angeles, CA 90012 
Fax: (213) 894-2380 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
20 

Plaintiff, 
21 

V. 
22 Chance Edward Gordon, an individual, 
23 and also d/b/a Gordon & Associates, 

The Law Offices of Chance E. Gordon, 
24 The Law Offices of C. Edward 

Gordon, The C.E.G. Law Firm, 
25 National Legal Source, Resource Law 
26 Center, Resource Law Group, and 

Resource Legal Group; 
27rrt======~:;;;::::::======~~~~_J 

COURT 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER 
RELIEF 

(FILED UNDER SEAL) 
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The Gordon Law Firm, P.C.,  
    a professional corporation;  
 
Abraham Michael Pessar, an 
individual; 
     
Division One Investment and Loan, 
Inc.,  
    a corporation, and also d/b/a 
Division One Business Solutions, D1 
Companies, Division One, Division 1, 
Home Savers National, D1 Marketing 
Solutions, and Relief Council; and 
 
Processing Division, L.L.C.,  
    a limited liability company, and also 
d/b/a Qualification Intake Department, 
Division One, The Relief Network, and 
Relief Network; 
 

Defendants. 
 
Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB” or “Bureau”), 

alleges: 

1. The Bureau brings this action under (1) Sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054, and 

1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a), 5564, and 5565; and (2) Section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009, 

as amended by Section 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and the Mortgage 

Assistance Relief Services Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 322 (“MARS Rule”), recodified as 

Mortgage Assistance Relief Services, 12 C.F.R. Part 1015 (collectively, “Regulation O”).  

Defendants have violated the CFPA and Regulation O in connection with the marketing 

and sale of their mortgage assistance relief services.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 
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federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345.  

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), and 12 

U.S.C. §§ 2614 and 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. Plaintiff Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

Federal consumer financial laws.  12 U.S.C. § 5491(a).  The Bureau’s regulatory 

authority extends to the provision of financial advisory services to consumers, which 

constitute consumer financial products or services.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5); 

5481(15)(A)(viii).  Financial advisory services include services to assist consumers with 

debt management or debt settlement, modifications to the terms of any extension of 

credit, or foreclosure avoidance.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii); see also id. § 5481(5).   

The Bureau is authorized to take appropriate enforcement action to address violations of 

Federal consumer financial law, including the CFPA and Regulation O.  See 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5511(c)(4); 5512(a); 5564(a).   

5.  Section 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a), prohibits unfair, 

deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, or other violations of Federal consumer financial 

law, by any covered person or service provider.  Regulation O requires mortgage 

assistance relief providers to make certain disclosures, prohibits such providers from 

making certain representations, and prohibits such providers from collecting a fee until 

the consumer has executed a written agreement with their lender or servicer incorporating 

the offer of mortgage assistance relief services obtained by the mortgage assistance relief 

provider.   

6. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its 

own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the CFPA and Regulation O, and to secure such 

relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or reformation of contracts, 
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the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and disgorgement or compensation for unjust 

enrichment.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5564(a) and (b), and 5565.  

DEFENDANTS 

7. Defendant Chance Edward Gordon (“Gordon”) is an individual who, acting 

alone or in concert with others, and through his interrelated companies described below, 

has engaged in the offering or providing of mortgage assistance relief services, as defined 

in Regulation O (16 C.F.R. § 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2), including but not 

limited to loan modifications and foreclosure relief services.  Defendant Gordon has also 

operated and continues to operate businesses that offer to provide or provide mortgage 

assistance relief services.  His businesses include, but are not limited to, National Legal 

Source, Resource Law Center, Resource Law Group,  Resource Legal Group, Gordon & 

Associates, The Law Offices of Chance E. Gordon, The Law Offices of C. Edward 

Gordon, and The C.E.G. Law Firm (collectively, “Gordon Entities”) and The Gordon 

Law Firm, P.C.  At all times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with 

others, Defendant Gordon has directly participated in the acts and practices set forth in 

this complaint.  At all times material to this complaint, Gordon transacts or has transacted 

business in the Central District of California. 

8. Defendant The Gordon Law Firm, P.C. (“Gordon Law Firm”) is a California 

professional corporation owned, directed, and/or controlled by Defendant Gordon with a 

last known physical business address at 5455 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2010, Los 

Angeles, California 90036.  At all times material to this complaint, Gordon Law Firm 

transacts or has transacted business in the Central District of California. 

9. Defendant Abraham Michael Pessar (“Pessar”) is an individual who, acting 

alone or in concert with others, and through his company described below, has engaged 

in the offering or providing of mortgage assistance relief services, as defined in 

Regulation O (16 C.F.R. § 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2), including but not 

limited to loan modification and foreclosure relief services.  Defendant Pessar has also 
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operated and continues to operate businesses that offer to provide or provide mortgage 

assistance relief services.  His businesses include, but are not limited to, Division One 

Investment and Loan, Inc., and Processing Division, L.L.C.  At all times material to this 

complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Defendant Pessar has directly 

participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint.  In connection with the 

matters alleged herein, Pessar transacts or has transacted business in the Central District 

of California. 

10. Defendant Division One Investment and Loan, Inc., d/b/a Division One 

Business Solutions, D1 Companies, Division One, Division 1, Home Savers National, 

and D1 Marketing Solutions, Relief Council (“Division One Investment”) is a California 

corporation owned, directed, and/or controlled by Defendant Pessar with a last known 

physical business address at 5455 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2005, Los Angeles, 

California 90036.   At all times material to this complaint, Division One Investment 

transacts or has transacted business in the Central District of California. 

11. Defendant Processing Division, L.L.C., d/b/a Qualification Intake 

Department, Division One, The Relief Network, and Relief Network (“Processing 

Division”) is a California limited liability company owned, directed, and/or controlled by 

Defendant Pessar with a last known physical business address at 5455 Wilshire 

Boulevard, Suite 1814, Los Angeles, California 90036.  At all times material to this 

complaint, Processing Division transacts or has transacted business in the Central District 

of California. 

12. At all times material to this complaint,  Gordon Law Firm, Division One 

Investment, and Processing Division (collectively, “Corporate Defendants”) have 

operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the violations of Federal consumer 

financial law set forth below.  The Corporate Defendants have conducted the business 

practices described below through an interrelated network of companies that have 

common business functions, employees, and office locations.  Moreover, the Corporate 
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Defendants have also commingled funds and shared marketing materials.  Because the 

Corporate Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is jointly and 

severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below.  Defendants Gordon (who also 

operates through the Gordon Entities) and Pessar are the sole owners of the Corporate 

Defendants that comprise the common enterprise.   

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 

13. Since at least early 2010, Gordon (including the Gordon Entities), Gordon 

Law Firm, Pessar, Division One Investment and Processing Division (collectively 

“Defendants”) have engaged in an ongoing, unlawful mortgage relief scheme that preys 

on financially distressed homeowners nationwide by falsely promising a loan 

modification in exchange for an advance fee.  Defendants attract distressed homeowners 

via websites, mailers, and phone calls, deceptively promising substantial relief from 

unaffordable mortgages and foreclosures.  Defendants promise a substantial reduction in 

the homeowners’ mortgage payments in exchange for an advance fee ranging from 

$2,500 to $4,500.  Rather than helping homeowners modify their mortgage loans or avoid 

foreclosure, Defendants dupe distressed homeowners into paying thousands of dollars 

based on false promises and misrepresentations.  Indeed, Defendants provide little, if any, 

meaningful assistance to modify homeowners’ mortgage loans or prevent foreclosure.   

14. As part of the scheme, Defendants gain consumers’ confidence by 

misrepresenting affiliation with government entities in direct mail solicitations sent to 

consumers.  For example, one solicitation Defendants sent states at the top of the 

solicitation in large, capitalized font “NOTICE OF HUD RIGHTS.”  Defendants also 

make or have made representations on the telephone in the initial sales pitch to 

consumers that Defendants are the government, are affiliated with the government, or that 

they are “sponsored” by a government grant.   

15. During the initial calls and interactions with homeowners, Defendants 

promise homeowners substantial reductions in homeowners’ mortgage payments and 
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interest rates in exchange for an upfront fee.  To entice homeowners into this 

arrangement, Defendants represent to consumers that the firm has successfully obtained a 

large number of modifications in the past and are one of the best firms at obtaining loan 

modifications.     

16. Defendants typically require consumers to sign paperwork indicating that the 

consumer’s upfront payment is for Defendants’ “Pre-Litigation Monetary Claims 

Program” (“Pre-Litigation Program”).  Defendants’ Pre-Litigation Program purportedly 

provides the homeowner with a detailed legal analysis of illegal conduct engaged in by 

their particular lender, often called a “forensic audit.”  At the same time, Defendants 

purport to provide loan modification services for free under the guise of pro bono legal 

services.  Defendants, however, tell consumers that failure to make a payment will result 

in an inability to process the consumer’s paperwork and to submit the documents, 

including the loan modification documents that are purportedly prepared pro bono, to the 

lender.  Defendants’ bifurcated business model involving a fee-based “forensic audit” and 

pro bono “legal services” is specifically designed to avoid the mandates of laws such as 

MARS and Regulation O that prohibit advance fees and deception by mortgage relief 

operations like those run by Defendants.   

17. In reality, Defendants do little or nothing to assist consumers.  Rather, 

Defendants direct consumers to avoid interactions with their lender and to stop making 

their mortgage payments.  While Defendants fail to take any meaningful action, many 

consumers enter foreclosure or lose their properties. 

18. In numerous instances, consumers who paid Defendants’ fee have suffered 

significant economic injury, including foreclosure and the loss of their properties. 

GOVERNMENT MORTGAGE ASSISTANCE 

19. Numerous mortgage lenders and servicers have offered certain borrowers the 

opportunity to modify loans that have become unaffordable. Many of these loan 

modification programs have expanded dramatically as lenders have increased 
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participation in the federal government's "Making Home Affordable" program, a plan to 

stabilize the U.S. housing market and help millions of Americans reduce their monthly 

mortgage payments to more affordable levels.  The Making Home Affordable program 

includes the Home Affordable Modification Program, to which the federal government 

has committed up to $75 billion to keep significant numbers of Americans in their homes 

by preventing avoidable foreclosures.  While Defendants rely on references to the 

Making Home Affordable program to market their services, they are not connected with 

the program and are not affiliated or otherwise associated with, or endorsed, sponsored, 

or approved by, the United States government in any way. 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

20. Since at least early 2010, Defendants, acting alone or in concert with others, 

have engaged in a course of conduct to offer or provide to homeowners mortgage 

assistance relief services, including mortgage loan modification, foreclosure relief 

services, and forensic audit services. 

21. To induce consumers to purchase their services, Defendants have 

disseminated or caused to be disseminated advertisements for mortgage assistance relief 

services.  Defendants market their services using direct mail solicitations that solicit 

inbound calls from homeowners.  Defendants also market their services via outbound 

telephone calls and Internet websites to consumers throughout the United States who are 

in financial distress, behind on their mortgage loans, or in danger of losing their homes to 

foreclosure. 

Defendants’ Deceptive Direct Mail Solicitation 

22. As part of the scheme, Defendants send direct mail solicitations to 

financially distressed homeowners throughout the United States to convince consumers to 

call Defendants to inquire about Defendants’ purported loan modification services. 

23. In numerous instances, Defendants’ direct mail solicitations contain images 

and language representing an affiliation with government entities and a toll-free phone 
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number to call for help.  The solicitations tell consumers that previous attempts have been 

made to contact them and urge consumers to call the listed toll-free number before the 

deadline for the “Stimulus Program” occurs.  

24. For example, one direct mail solicitation Defendants sent to consumers 

states that it is a “Notice of HUD Rights” and refers to “Stimulus Programs HAM[P] or 

HARP” and 2% interest rates for which the consumer may qualify: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Washington, D.C., address provided in this solicitation is actually a UPS Store 

mailbox.  Defendants do not otherwise have a business presence in Washington, D.C.  

Indeed, this address appears to be designed solely to deceive consumers into believing 

that Defendants have an affiliation with Washington, D.C.-based government entities.  

25. The reverse side of the direct mail solicitation indicates that applicants have 

a high likelihood of “qualifying” for mortgage loan modification and foreclosure 
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prevention services, stating:  “It’s a fact: 84% OF ALL HOME MORTGAGES MAY 

QUALIFY even if you think your situation is hopeless.” 

26. In numerous instances, consumers call the toll-free number with the belief 

they are calling the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) or a HUD-

affiliated entity for loan assistance.  Instead, consumers reach Defendants.   

27. Some of Defendants’ direct mail solicitations refer to the Making Home 

Affordable Program and include the consumer’s loan amount, a reference number, an 

indication that the consumer is “pre-qualified,” and an estimated reduction amount.   

28. For example, one direct mail solicitation Defendants sent to consumers 

states: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29. Defendants’ direct mail solicitations fail to disclose in a clear and prominent 

manner that that (1) Defendants’ company is not associated with the government, nor 

approved by the government or consumer’s lender; (2) even if the consumer uses 

Defendants’ service the consumer’s lender may not agree to modify the loan; and (3) if 

Defendants tell a consumer to stop paying their mortgage, that the consumer could lose 

his or her home and damage his or her credit rating.   
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Defendants’ Deceptive Sales Scheme 

30. Consumers who respond to Defendants’ marketing efforts have home 

mortgage loans, and typically are having difficulty making their monthly payments. 

31. Consumers who call the toll-free numbers listed on the postcards or who 

receive outbound telemarketing calls speak with Defendants’ telephone sales 

representatives.  

32. In numerous instances, Defendants promise to obtain loan modifications that 

will substantially lower consumers’ monthly mortgage payments or interest rates in 

exchange for an advance fee.  

33. In numerous instances, Defendants lead consumers to believe that 

Defendants are affiliated with a government entity or that a government entity referred 

Defendants to the consumer.  In some cases, Defendants represent that they are the 

government or that they are “sponsored” by a government grant and are thus affiliated 

with a government agency. 

34. In numerous instances, Defendants tell consumers that Defendants have 

special expertise in modification with mortgage lenders and that they have proven prior 

success in obtaining loan modifications from the consumers’ specific lenders. 

35. In numerous instances, Defendants represent that Defendants will obtain a 

specific reduction in consumers’ mortgage interest rates or payment amounts.  In many 

cases, Defendants promise a specific rate reduction to 2%.   

36. In numerous cases, Defendants claim they can prevent foreclosures or that 

the modification process will stay lenders’ ability to foreclose.  Defendants make such 

representations even to those consumers who inform Defendants that their lenders have 

previously denied modifications or sent foreclosure notices.  

37. In numerous instances, Defendants discourage consumers from 

communicating directly with their lenders.  Defendants tell consumers (including 
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consumers who receive foreclosure notices) not to contact their lenders and claim 

Defendants will handle all communications with consumers’ lenders.   

38. In numerous instances, Defendants encourage consumers to stop making 

mortgage payments, and in some instances tell consumers that delinquency will 

demonstrate the consumers’ hardship to the consumers’ lenders.  In those instances, 

Defendants do not disclose that if consumers stop making mortgage payments they could 

lose their home and damage their credit rating. 

39. In numerous instances, Defendants tell consumers that Defendants are a law 

firm or are affiliated with a law firm that specializes in obtaining loan modifications and 

that this specialized knowledge and expertise will ensure Defendants’ success in 

obtaining loan modifications for consumers.   

40. In numerous instances, typically in subsequent calls or emails, Defendants 

introduce their Pre-Litigation Program to consumers.  Defendants claim their “Pre-

Litigation Program” will provide homeowners with a detailed analysis of illegal conduct 

engaged in by their particular lender to be used as leverage to improve the outcome of 

negotiating a loan modification with the consumer’s lender.  In numerous instances 

Defendants instruct consumers to sign a Pre-Litigation Agreement or a Fee Agreement 

that states consumers’ payment of an upfront fee is for Defendants’ forensic audit 

services.   

41. Defendants generally charge a fee ranging from $2,500 to $4,500.  

Defendants typically tell consumers that they must make the first payment, usually one-

third of Defendants’ fee, before Defendants will begin to provide their services.  

Defendants’ Websites 

42. Defendants maintain or have maintained numerous websites including: 

reliefcouncil.org, thereliefnetwork.org, prelitlaw.com, resourcelawgroup.com, 

resourcelawcenter.com, resourcelegalgroup.com, and nationallegalsource.com.  

Defendants’ websites permit consumers to submit personal information online to request 
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a call-back or submit an email address to subscribe to a newsletter.  The websites indicate 

that the businesses are located at the same address as the Gordon Law Firm. 

43. In numerous instances, Defendants’ websites fail to disclose that the entity is 

not associated with the United States government and that their service is not approved 

by the government or the consumer’s lender. 

44. In numerous instances, Defendants’ websites fail to disclose that even if 

consumers use the modification service, their lender may not agree to change their loan. 

Defendants Do Not Obtain the Promised Modification and  

Cause Consumer Injury 

45. In numerous instances, Defendants fail to obtain a loan modification, 

substantially reduce consumers’ mortgage payments, or stop foreclosure. 

46. In numerous instances, after consumers pay Defendants’ requested advance 

fees, Defendants fail to conduct forensic audits. 

47. In numerous instances, after consumers have paid their fees, Defendants fail 

to answer or return consumers’ telephone calls and emails and fail to provide updates 

about the status of Defendants’ purported communications with lenders.  When 

consumers are able to reach Defendants, Defendants generally assure consumers that 

Defendants are working with the consumers’ lenders and that the lenders will not 

foreclose on the consumers’ homes while processing their applications for a loan 

modification.  

48. Consumers often encounter difficulty in obtaining requested refunds from 

Defendants.  In many instances, consumers only receive refunds after making complaints 

to or threatening to complain to entities such as the Better Business Bureau, the State Bar 

of California, or law enforcement authorities.  In many instances, Defendants do not 

provide any refund or refund an amount substantially less than consumers paid.  

49. In numerous instances, consumers who paid Defendants’ fees suffer 

significant economic injury, including foreclosure and the loss of their properties.   
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Role of Individual Defendant Gordon 

50. Defendant Gordon, acting individually or in concert with others, has 

engaged in the offering or providing of mortgage assistance relief services.  Gordon is the 

sole owner of the Gordon Law Firm.   

51. Defendant Gordon also personally registered numerous fictitious business 

names used by Defendants to solicit consumers, including National Legal Source, 

Resource Law Center, Resource Law Group, Resource Legal Group, Gordon & 

Associates, The Law Offices of Chance E. Gordon, The Law Offices of C. Edward 

Gordon, and The C.E.G. Law Firm. 

52. Defendant Gordon registered and pays for website domains used by 

Defendants to market their services, many of which use his fictitious business names.   

Defendant Gordon also pays for telephone and facsimile numbers used to perpetrate the 

scheme, and pays Defendants’ telemarketer employees.  He is the signatory on contracts 

and fee agreements executed with many consumers.  Defendant Gordon is also the 

authorized signatory for the Gordon Law Firm bank accounts.  

53. Defendant Gordon is licensed to practice law in the state of California only.   

Role of Individual Defendant Pessar 

54. Defendant Pessar, acting individually or in concert with others, has engaged 

in the offering or providing of mortgage assistance relief services.  Pessar is the sole 

owner for Defendants Division One Investment, and Processing Division.   

55. Defendant Pessar is the registrant and billing contact for website domains 

used by Defendants to market their services.  He is the account holder and pays for the 

telephone numbers used by Defendants to conduct their telemarketing and pays 

Defendants’ telemarketer employees.  He also pays for telephone and facsimile numbers 

used by the Gordon Law Firm.  Additionally, Defendant Pessar, on behalf of his 

company Defendant Processing Division, registered the business name Qualification 

Intake Department – the named entity on Defendants’ postcards.  Defendant Pessar is 
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also the authorized signatory for the Defendants Division One Investment and Processing 

Division bank accounts. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

56. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit covered persons from engaging “in any unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice.”  Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3), further 

prohibits any person from “knowingly or recklessly provid[ing] substantial assistance to a 

covered person or service provider in violation of the provisions of section 1031 . . . and 

notwithstanding any provision of [Title X], the provider of such substantial assistance 

shall be deemed to be in violation of that section to the same extent as the person to 

whom such assistance is provided.” 

57. Defendants are “covered person[s]” and “service provider[s]” within the 

meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 5481(25). 

COUNT I 

58. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with 

others, represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers will 

or likely will obtain mortgage loan modifications that substantially reduce consumers’ 

mortgage payments or interest rates, or help consumers avoid foreclosure. 

59. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain for consumers 

mortgage loan modifications that substantially reduce consumers’ mortgage payments or 

interest rates, and generally do not help consumers avoid foreclosure. 

60. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 58 are false 

and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 
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COUNT II 

61. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with 

others, represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers will 

or likely will obtain mortgage loan modifications that substantially reduce consumers’ 

mortgage payments or interest rates as a result of a forensic audit provided by 

Defendants. 

62. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain for consumers 

mortgage loan modifications that will make consumers' mortgage payments substantially 

more affordable as a result of a forensic audit provided by Defendants. 

63. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 61 are false 

and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT III 

64. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with 

others, represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Defendants are 

the United States government or are affiliated with, endorsed or approved by, or 

otherwise associated with the United States government.  

65. In truth and in fact, Defendants are not affiliated with, endorsed or approved 

by, or otherwise associated with the United States government. 

66. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 64 are false 

and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536. 

REGULATION O 

67. In 2009, Congress directed the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) to 

prescribe rules prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage 
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loans.  2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Public Law 111-8, Section 626, 123 Stat. 524, 

678 (Mar. 11, 2009), as clarified by the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and 

Disclosure Act of 2009, Public Law 111-24, Section 511, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 

22, 2009).  Pursuant to that direction, the FTC promulgated the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. 

Part 322, all but one of the provisions of which became effective on December 29, 2010.  

The remaining provision, Section 322.5, became effective on January 31, 2011.  The 

CFPA § 1097, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, transferred rulemaking authority over the MARS Rule 

to the Bureau, which recodified the Rule as 12 C.F.R. Part 1015, and designated it 

“Regulation O.”  The Bureau has authority to enforce Regulation O pursuant to the CFPA 

§ 1097 and § 1054, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538, 5564.   

68. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service” as “any service, 

plan, or program, offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for consideration, that 

is represented, expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt to assist the consumer 

with . . . [n]egotiating, obtaining, or arranging a modification of any term of a dwelling 

loan, including a reduction in the amount of interest, principal balance, monthly 

payments, or fees . . . .”  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(i)(2), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2.  This 

provision also encompasses “‘forensic audits’ and other services in which the provider 

purports to review, and identify potential errors in, loan documents or documents sent by 

a consumer’s lender or servicer in order to avert foreclosure or obtain concessions from 

the lender or servicer.”  Mortgage Assistance Relief Services; Final Rule, 75 Fed. Reg. 

75, 100 n.110 (December 1, 2010) (discussion of Section 322.2 Definitions). 

69. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service provider” as “any 

person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any mortgage 

assistance relief service,” other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a dwelling 

loan, or any agent or contractor of such individual or entity.  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(j), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 
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70. Defendants are “mortgage assistance relief provider[s]” engaged in the 

provision of “mortgage assistance relief services” as those terms are defined in 

Regulation O.  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(j), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2.   

71. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

representing, expressly or by implication, that a consumer cannot or should not contact or 

communicate with his or her lender or servicer.  16 C.F.R. § 322.3(a), recodified as 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(a). 

72. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, the likelihood of negotiating, obtaining, or 

arranging any represented service or result.  16 C.F.R. §§ 322.3(b)(1)-(2), recodified as 

12 C.F.R. §§ 1015.3(b)(1)-(2). 

73. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

failing to place a statement in every general commercial communication disclosing that 

(i) the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not approved by 

the government or any lender, and (ii) in cases where the provider has represented, 

expressly or by implication, that consumers will receive certain services or results, a 

statement disclosing that the lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer 

uses the provider’s service.  16 C.F.R. §§ 322.4(a)(1)-(2), recodified as 12 C.F.R. §§ 

1015.4(a)(1)-(2). 

74. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

failing to place a statement in every consumer-specific commercial communication (i) 

confirming that the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or reject an offer 

of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services, (ii) disclosing that the 

provider is not associated with the government and its service is not approved by the 

government or any lender, and (iii) in cases where the provider has represented, expressly 

or by implication, that consumers will receive certain services or results, disclosing that 
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the lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer uses the provider’s 

service.  16 C.F.R. §§ 322.4(b)(1)-(3), recodified as 12 C.F.R. §§ 1015.4(b)(1)-(3). 

75. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider, in 

cases where the provider has represented that the consumer should temporarily or 

permanently discontinue payments on a dwelling loan, from failing to clearly and 

prominently state in close proximity to any such representation that the consumer could 

lose his or her home and damage his or her credit rating if the consumer stops paying the 

mortgage.  16 C.F.R. § 322.4(c), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(c). 

76. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the consumer has 

executed a written agreement between the consumer and the consumer’s loan holder or 

servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained from the loan holder or 

servicer.  16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a). 

77. Pursuant to the CFPA, § 1097, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, a violation of Regulation 

O constitutes an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the CFPA, in violation 

of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION O 

COUNT IV 

78. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in 

connection with the offering or provision of mortgage assistance relief services, 

Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with others, ask for or receive their payment 

before consumers have executed a written agreement between the consumer and the loan 

holder or servicer that incorporates the offer obtained by Defendants, in violation of 

Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a). 

COUNT V 

79. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in 

connection with the offering or provision of mortgage assistance relief services, 
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Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with others, fail to make the following 

disclosures: 

a. in all general commercial communications – 

i. “[Name of Company] is not associated with the government, and 

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(1), recodified as 

12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(1); and 

ii. “Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender may 

not agree to change your loan,” in violation of Regulation O, 16 

C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(2), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(2); 

b. in all consumer-specific commercial communications – 

i. “You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may 

accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from 

your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the offer, you do not have to 

pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us [insert 

amount or method for calculating the amount] for our services,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(1), recodified as 

12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1); 

ii. “[Name of company] is not associated with the government, and 

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(2), recodified as 

12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(2); and 

iii. “Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender may 

not agree to change your loan,” in violation of Regulation O, 16 

C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(3), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(3); and 

c. in all general commercial communications, consumer-specific 

commercial communications, and other communications in cases where 
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Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, in connection 

with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or 

performance of any mortgage assistance relief service, that the consumer 

should temporarily or permanently discontinue payments, in whole or in 

part, on a dwelling loan, clearly and prominently, and in close proximity 

to any such representation that “[i]f you stop paying your mortgage, you 

could lose your home and damage your credit rating,” in violation of 

Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(c), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(c). 

COUNT VI 

80. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in 

connection with the offering or provision of mortgage assistance relief services, 

Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with others, represent, expressly or by 

implication, that a consumer cannot or should not contact or communicate with his or her 

lender or servicer, in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(a), recodified as 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(a). 

COUNT VII 

81. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in 

connection with the offering or provision of mortgage assistance relief services, 

Defendants, either acting alone or in concert with others, misrepresent, expressly or by 

implication, material aspects of their services, including, but not limited to: 

a. Defendants’ likelihood of obtaining a modification of mortgage loans for 

consumers that will substantially reduce consumers’ mortgage payments, 

in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(1), recodified as 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(1); 

b. Defendants’ likelihood of obtaining a modification of mortgage loan for 

consumers that will substantially reduce consumers’ mortgage payments 

as a result of a forensic audit provided by Defendants, in violation of 
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Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(1), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 

1015.3(b)(1); and 

c. Defendants’ affiliation with, endorsement or approval by, or otherwise 

association with the United States government, a governmental 

homeowner assistance plan, or any Federal, State, or local governmental 

agency, unit, or department, in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 

322.3(b)(3)(i), (ii), and (iii), recodified as 12 C.F.R. §§ 1015.3(b)(3)(i), 

(ii), and (iii). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

82. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA and Regulation O.  In addition, Defendants 

have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.  Absent 

injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap 

unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

83. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate equitable relief 

including, without limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, and monetary relief, to prevent and remedy any 

violation of any provision of law enforced by the Bureau.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a) and 

5565(a).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

84. Wherefore, Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, pursuant to 

Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s own 

equitable powers, requests that the Court: 

a. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be 

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency 
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of this action, and to preserve the possibility of effective final relief, 

including but not limited to a temporary restraining order, a preliminary 

injunction, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and appointment 

of a receiver; 

b. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the CFPA 

and Regulation 0 by Defendants; 

c. A ward such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the CFP A and 

Regulation 0, including but not limited to rescission or reformation of 

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment; and 

d. A ward Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: July 17, 2012 Respectfully Submitted, 

Kent Markus 
Enforcement Director 

~~vL---
Laura Schneider 

(Phone: 202-435-7311) 
(Email: Laura.Schneider@cfpb.gov) 

Crystal R. Sumner 
(Phone: 202-435-7549) 
(Email: Crystal.Sumner@cfpb.gov) 

Carmen L. Christopher 
(Email: Carmen.Christopher@cfpb.gov) 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: 202-435-7722 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ENDING DECEPTIVE MARKETING PRACTICES 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) announced its first public enforcement action with an order 
requiring Capital One to refund approximately $140 million dollars to two million customers who were misled 
into buying credit card “add-on products.” 
 
By the Numbers 

 $140 million:  The estimated total refund to Capital One consumers. 

 2 million: The approximate number of consumers receiving a refund.  

 $25 million:  The additional penalty fee that Capital One will pay to the Civil Penalty Fund.   

Overview 
The Dodd- Frank Act gave the CFPB the authority to pursue institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
practices.  Through the supervision process, CFPB’s examiners discovered Capital One’s call-center vendors 
engaged in deceptive tactics to sell the company’s credit card add-on products.   
 
These products included “payment protection,” which allows consumers to request that the bank cancel up to 
12 months of minimum payments – roughly one percent of their credit card balance – if they encounter certain 
life events like unemployment and temporary disability.  It also provides debt forgiveness in the event of death 
or permanent disability.  Another product was “credit monitoring,” with services such as identity-theft 
protection, access to “credit education specialists,” and, in some cases, daily monitoring and notification.  
 
Deceptive Marketing Practices  
Capital One customers with low credit scores or low credit limits were directed to a third-party call center when 
they wanted to activate newly issued credit cards.  Consumers were offered these products by Capital One’s call 
center representatives when they called to have their credit card activated.  As part of the high-pressure tactics 
Capital One representatives used to sell these add-on products, consumers were: 
 

 Misled about the benefits of the products: Consumers were led to believe that the product would improve 
their credit scores and help them increase the credit limit on their Capital One credit card. 
 

 Deceived about the nature of the products: Consumers were not always told that buying the products was 
optional.  In other cases, consumers were wrongly told they were required to purchase the product in order 
to receive full information about it, but that they could cancel the product if they were not satisfied. Many 
of these consumers later had difficulty canceling when they called to do so.   
 

 Misled about eligibility: Although most of the payment protection benefits kicked in when  consumers 
became disabled or lost a  job, call center representatives marketed and sold the product to  unemployed 
and disabled consumers whose claims would inevitably be denied.   
 

 Misinformed about cost of the products: Consumers were led to believe that they would be enrolling in a 
free product rather than making a purchase.  
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 Enrolled without their consent: Some call center vendors processed the add-on product purchases without 
the consumer’s consent.  Consumers were then automatically billed for the product and often had trouble 
cancelling the product when they called to do so. 

 
CFPB Enforcement Action 
The Bureau has issued a Consent Order to Capital One.  To ensure that all affected consumers are repaid and 
that consumers are no longer subject to these misleading and high pressure tactics, Capital One has agreed to:  

 End deceptive marketing: Capital One must cease all marketing of these products until the Bureau has 
approved a compliance plan to help ensure these violations do not occur in the future.   

 

 Complete repayment plus interest to two million consumers: Capital One will pay approximately $140 
million to 2 million consumers who initially enrolled in a product on or after August 1, 2010, or tried to 
cancel a product on or after August 1, 2010, but kept the product after speaking with a call center 
representative. In addition to the cost of the product, cardmembers will receive a refund of the finance 
charges associated with the fees paid, any over-the-limit fees resulting from the charge for the product, and 
interest.  

 

 Pay claims denied based on ineligibility at enrollment:  For any of these eligible consumers whose payment 
protection claims were previously denied because their loss occurred prior to enrollment (because of 
unemployment, disability, etc.), Capital One will pay their claims as if they had been eligible, if that amount 
is greater than the refund for that consumer. 

 

 Convenient repayment for consumers: If the consumers are still Capital One customers, they will see a 
credit in their account.  If they no longer have a credit card account with Capital One, they will receive a 
check.  

 

 Independent audit: Compliance with the terms of the Consent Order will be assured through the work of an 
independent auditor. 

 

 $25 million penalty: Capital One will pay $25 million in a civil money penalty to the Civil Penalty Fund. 

Other CFPB Action 
In addition to the Consent Order, the Bureau is taking other action to educate and protect consumers by: 
 

 Issuing consumer advisories: One consumer advisory is intended to make Capital One consumers aware of 
the action taken by the CFPB, and the other serves as a warning for consumers who may have gone through 
a similar experience with another financial institution.     

 

 Putting other institutions on notice: The Bureau issued a Compliance Bulletin that warns other financial 
institutions the CFPB will not tolerate deceptive marketing practices.  The bulletin also establishes that 
institutions will be held responsible for the actions of their third party vendors.  The Bureau’s Consumer 
Response Office has received complaints about other credit card add-on products, which the Bureau will 
monitor.   
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Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
and Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau Order Discover to Pay $200
Million Consumer Refund for Deceptive
Marketing
WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) announced a joint public
enforcement action with an order requiring Discover Bank to refund approximately
$200 million to more than 3.5 million consumers and pay a $14 million civil money
penalty. This action results from an investigation started by the FDIC which the CFPB
joined last year. The joint investigation concerned deceptive telemarketing and sales
tactics used by Discover to mislead consumers into paying for various credit card “add-
on products” – payment protection, credit score tracking, identity theft protection, and
wallet protection.

The agencies jointly determined that Discover engaged in deceptive telemarketing
tactics to sell the company’s credit card add-on products. Payment Protection was
marketed as a product that allows consumers to put their payments on hold for up to
two years in the event of unemployment, hospitalization, or other qualifying life events.
Discover also sold its Credit Score Tracker, designed to allow a customer unlimited
access to his or her credit reports and credit score. The third product was Identity Theft
Protection, which was marketed as providing daily credit monitoring. Lastly, Discover’s
Wallet Protection product was sold as a service to help a consumer cancel credit cards
in the event that his or her wallet is stolen.

Discover’s telemarketing scripts contained misleading language likely to deceive
consumers about whether they were actually purchasing a product. Discover’s
telemarketers also often downplayed key terms and spoke quickly during the part of the
call in which the prices and terms of the add-on products were disclosed. Because of the
misleading language in the scripts and the actions of Discover’s telemarketers,
consumers were:

Misled about the fact that there was a charge for the products:
Discover’s telemarketing scripts often used language implying that the products
were additional free “benefits,” rather than products for which a fee would be
applied to their accounts.
Misled about whether they had purchased the products: The
telemarketing scripts frequently suggested that consumers would not be charged
for the products until after having a chance to review printed materials from
Discover. Discover, however, did not provide consumers with the information
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until after Discover had already initiated the consumer’s purchase of a product.
Enrolled without their consent: Discover representatives processed the add-
on product purchases without some consumers’ consent. These consumers were
then charged for the product on their Discover card.
Withheld material information about eligibility requirements for
certain benefits: Discover’s telemarketers typically did not disclose critical
eligibility requirements for certain payment protection benefits, such as
exclusions for pre-existing medical conditions and certain limitations concerning
employment.

Enforcement Action

Under the order, Discover has agreed to:

Stop deceptive marketing: Discover is required to institute certain changes to
its telemarketing of these products that are designed to ensure that these unlawful
acts do not occur again. Discover has also agreed to submit a compliance plan to
the CFPB and the FDIC for approval, and to take specific corrective actions
related to the products.
Pay restitution to consumers who purchased the products: Discover
will pay approximately $200 million in restitution to more than 3.5 million
consumers who were charged for one or more of the products between December
1, 2007 and August 31, 2011. All consumers affected by Discover’s deceptive
practices regarding these products, except those who affirmatively made use of
Payment Protection, will receive restitution with amounts varying depending on
when they purchased, and how long they held, the add-on products. All
consumers will receive at least 90 days’ worth of fees paid (minus any refunds
they have already received), with approximately 2 million consumers receiving
full restitution of all of the fees they paid.
Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers:
Consumers are not required to take any action to receive their credit or check. If
an affected consumer is still a Discover customer, he or she will receive a credit to
his or her account. If an affected consumer is no longer a Discover credit card
holder, the consumer will receive a check in the mail or have any outstanding
balance reduced by the amount of the refund.
Submit to an independent audit: Compliance with the restitution terms of
the order will be assured through the work of an independent auditor, who will
report to the CFPB and FDIC on Discover’s compliance with the joint CFPB-FDIC
Consent Order.
Pay a $14 million penalty: The CFPB and the FDIC imposed civil money
penalties of $14 million. Discover will pay $7 million of that penalty to the U.S.
Treasury and $7 million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the Joint FDIC-CFPB Consent Order with Discover is available at:
www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201209_cfpb_consent_order_0005.pdf

Factsheet on the Consent Order

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Congress created the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation in 1933 to restore public
confidence in the nation’s banking system. The FDIC insures deposits at the nation’s
7,246 banks and savings associations and it promotes the safety and soundness of
these institutions by identifying, monitoring and addressing risks to which they are
exposed. The FDIC receives no federal tax dollars – insured financial institutions fund
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FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION I CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 

In the Matter of 

DISCOVER BANK 
GREENWOOD, DELAWARE 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

(INSURED STATE NONMEMBER BANK) ) 

----------------) 

JOINT 
CONSENT ORDER, 

ORDER FOR RESTITUTION, 
AND ORDER TO PAY 

CIVIL 
MONEY PENALTY 

Docket Numbers FDIC-l l-548b; 
FDIC-l l-55lk & 2012-CFPB-0005 

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") is the appropriate Federal banking 

agency with respect to Discover Bank, Greenwood, Delaware ("Discover"), under section 3(q) of 

the Federal Deposit Insurance Act ("FOi Act"), 12 U.S.C. § l813(q). The Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has jurisdiction over Discover, pursuant to sections I 002(6), l 025 

and 1053(b) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act ("CFP Act"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), 5515 

and 5563(b). The term "Discover" shall include Discover Bank and all institution-affiliated 

parties, as defined in section 3(u) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. § J 813(u), and , in connection with 

the Products as defined herein, all affiliates of Discover who are service providers as defined in 

sections 1002(1) and (26) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(1) and (26). 

The FOfC and CFPB have detennined that Discover has engaged in deceptive acts and 

practices in or affecting commerce, in violation of section 5 of tbe Federal Trade Commission 

Act ("Section 5"), l 5 U.S.C. § 45(a)(l), and in deceptive acts and practices in violation of 

sections 1031 and l 036 of the CFP Act (together "Section 1036"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, in 



connection with the marketing, sales, and operation of Discover's Payment Protection, Identity 

Theft Protection, Wallet Protection and Credit Score Tracker products, as well as any related 

predecessor products (each a "Product" and, collectively, the "Products") that were offered and 

sold to individual holders of Discover consumer credit card accounts (each a "Cardmember") by 

Discover. The FDIC further has determined that Discover has engaged in unsafe or unsound 

banking practices. 

Discover, by and through its duly elected and acting Board of Directors ("Board"), has 

executed a STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO THE ISSUANCE OF A JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER, ORDER FOR RESTITUTION, AND ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

("CONSENT AGREEMENT"), dated September 21, 2012, that is accepted by the FDIC and the 

CFPB. With the CONSENT AGREEMENT, Discover has solely for the purpose of this 

proceeding, without admitting or denying the findings of fact, conclusions of law, or any 

violations of law or regulation for which civil money penalties may be assessed herein, 

consented to the issuance of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, ORDER FOR RESTITUTION, 

AND ORDER TO PAY CNIL MONEY PENALTY (collectively "JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER") by the FDIC and the CFPB. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

The FDIC and the CFPB find, and Discover neither admits nor denies, the following 

facts: 

I. Discover marketed and sold the Products to Cardmembers during the period 

December 1, 2007 through August 31, 2011 (the "relevant time period"). During this time, 

Discover sold one or more Products to approximately 4.7 million Cardmembers. 

2. During the relevant time period, Discover telemarketed the Products to 

Cardmetnbers through both outbound sales calls and inbound customer service calls. Discover 

contracted with telemarketing vendors to conduct outbound sales calls. Additionally, Discover's 

2 



in-house telemarketers marketed the Products when Cardmembers called to activate their 

Discover credit cards or placed other types of customer service calls. 

3. Discover developed numerous versions of telemarketing scripts that were used to 

market each Product. Discover required its in-house and third-party telemarketers to adhere to 

these scripts. The scripts led telemarketers through the introduction and sales of the Products 

and the outbound telemarketing scripts also typically provided the telemarketers with specific 

responses to questions that Cardmembers might raise during a telemarketing call. 

4. Discover' s inbound and outbound telemarketing scripts contained material 

misrepresentations and omissions related to the Products. These misrepresentations and 

omissions were likely to mislead reasonable consumers about whether they were purchasing a 

Product during a telemarketing sales call. Examples of these misrepresentations and omissions 

include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Introductory statements contained in the outbound telemarketing scripts 

that disguised the purpose of an outbound sales call by indicating to 

Cardmembers that Discover was placing a courtesy call and misleadingly 

implied that a Product was a free "benefit" rather than a program for 

which Discover charged an additional fee. 

b. Language in telemarketing scripts that frequently asked Cardmembers if 

they agreed to "be enrolled" in or "become a member" of a Product 

program but omitted the material fact that enrollment or membership 

constituted an agreement to purchase the Product. 

c. Language in telemarketing scripts that frequently solicited Cardmembers' 

interest in "enrolling" in a Product program before providing the Product' s 

price or material terms and conditions. 
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5. 

d. Statements in telemarketing scripts that typically stated that Cardmembers 

wou ld receive a letter describing the Payment Protection Product's 

material terms and conditions before Cardmembers were requ ired to pay 

for that Product, implying that Cardmembers had not purchased the 

Product before receipt of the letter. In fact, Discover sent its 

Cardmembers this letter only after Cardmembers had been enrolled in the 

Payment Protection Product program. 

e. Suggested rebuttal responses in outbound telemarketing scripts that 

implied that Cardmembers cou ld comparison shop by reviewing a 

comprehensive list of Product terms and conditions before they were 

enrolled in a Product program. In fact, Cardmembers were required to 

first purchase a Product before receiving a comprehensive list of Product 

terms and conditions. 

Frequently, Discover's telemarketers spoke more rapid ly during the mandatory 

disclosure portion of the sales call, which included a statement of the Product's price and some -

but not all - material terms and conditions of the Product. Discover' s telemarketers also 

frequently downplayed this mandatory disclosure during their telemarketing sales presentation, 

implying to Cardmembers that the mandatory disclosure was not important, even though it was 

designed to alert Cardmembers to the Product's price and certain terms and conditions . 

6. The impact of Discover's deceptive telemarketing scripts and presentations was 

compounded by the fact that Discover did not need to ask Cardmembers for their credit card 

numbers in order to bill them for the Products because it had access to Cardmembers' credit card 

numbers and cou ld (and did) directly bill the cost of the Products to Cardmembers' Discover 

accounts. 
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7. Discover' s telemarketing scripts for the Payment Protection Product also typically 

failed to disclose material terms and conditions of the Payment Protection Product. For example, 

these scripts failed to state that individuals who are self-employed, unemployed, employed part

time, or suffering from a pre-existing medical condition cannot obtain certain Payment 

Protection Product benefits. 

Having determined that the requirements for issuance of an order under sections 8(b) and 

8(i)(2) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 18l8(b) and 1818(i)(2), and sections 1053(b) and 1055(c) of 

the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(b) and 5565(c), have been satisfied, the FDIC and the CFPB 

hereby jointly issue the following order: 

JOINT CONSENT ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Discover cease and desist from the fo llowing violations 

of law and regulations and from engaging in the fo llowing unsafe or unsound banking practices 

and deceptive acts and practices, aII of which were identified through the investigation by the 

FDIC and the CFPB which focused on the time period December 1, 2007 through August 31, 

20 11: 

(a) operating in violation of Section 5 or of Section 1036; 

(b) engaging in deceptive marketing and sales of the Products in violation of Section 

5 or of Section 1036; 

(c) operating Discover with an inadequate compliance management system to ensure 

compliance with Section 5 and with Section 1036 and all implementing rules and regulations, 

regulatory guidance, and statements of pol icy; 

(d) operating Discover without adequate oversight by the Board and supervision by 

senior management of the Products to ensure compliance with Section 5 and with Section 1036 

and all implementing rules and regulations, regulatory guidance, and statements of policy; and 
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(e) operating Discover with an inadequate system of internal controls and an 

inadequate internal audit system with regard to the Products to ensure compliance with Section 5 

and with Section 1036 and all implementing rules and regulations, regulatory guidance, and 

statements of policy. 

TT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Discover take affirmative actions as follows: 

BOARD OVERSIGHT 

1. The Board shall participate fully in the oversight of Discover' s compliance 

management system, and take full responsibility for ensuring that appropriate policies and 

procedures are in place. The Board shall also ensure that Discover adequately supervises its 

compliance-related activities, consistent with the role and expertise commonly expected for 

directors of banks of comparable s ize and complexity and offering comparable banking products 

and services. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board shall require, consistent 

with this Order, policies and objectives to ensure that a ll marketing, sales, and operations efforts 

relating to the Products comply with Section 5 and with Section 1036, as described more 

particularly herein. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS 

2. (a) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOrNT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall take all actions necessary to eliminate a ll violations of Section 5 and of Section 

I 036 concerning the marketing, sales and/or operation of the Products. In addition, Discover 

shall take a ll necessary steps to ensure future compliance with Section 5 and with Section 1036, 

as described more particularly, and in accordance with the time frames set forth, herein. 

(b) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, unless 

an a lternate timeframe is set forth in this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, Discover shall take all 

actions necessary to ensure the revision of any and all advertising, marketing, and promotional 

materials, and any other oral, written, or e lectronic communications used in connection with any 
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solicitation that mentions any of the Products, to disclose clearly and prominently (1) all material 

conditions, benefits, and restrictions concerning the Products; and (2) that Cardmembers are 

being asked to purchase a Product that is not required for the extension of credit. 

3. (a) Discover shall not make, or allow to be made, any material misleading or 

deceptive representation, statement, or omission, expressly or by implication, in the marketing 

materials, telemarketing scripts and/or sales presentation used to solicit any Cardmember or 

prospective Cardmember, or in any similar communication in connection with any Product. 

(b) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall take all actions necessary to comply with the specific guidance set forth in Unfair 

or Deceptive Acts or Practices by State-Chartered Banks (FIL-26-2004, issued March 11, 2004). 

(c) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Discover shall not make or allow 

to be made, directly or indirectly, any misrepresentation or omission, expressly or by 

implication, about any material term of an offer related to any Product in connection with the 

advertising, marketing (including telemarketing and online marketing), offering, soliciting, 

eligibility, billing, servicing, or account maintenance with respect to a Product, including but not 

limited to misrepresentations or omissions as to the following: 

(i) any and all fees , costs, expenses, and charges associated with the Products; 

(ii) all material conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the Products; 

(iii) the purpose of sales calls and/or sales portions of servicing or other calls; 

(iv) payment terms for a Product, including a description of when a 

Cardmember will be charged for a Product or incur charges for a Product; 

(v) refunds or adjustments for a Product fee and Discover policies for such 

refunds and adjustments; and 

(v i) the balance upon which any percentage fee charge for the Payment 

Protection Product would be based, and the fact that the Cardmember will 
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4. (a) 

be charged a fee for the Payment Protection Product even if the 

Cardmember pays the outstanding balance in full on the due date thereof. 

When soliciting the Products by telephone, Discover shall: 

(i) comply with all requirements of the Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), 

16 C.F.R. Part 31 O; 

(ii) state promptly after beginning an outbound telemarketing call, and 

promptly after beginning discussion of a Product on an inbound 

telemarketing call, that the purpose of the call or portion of the call is to 

determine whether a Cardmember has interest in and wishes to purchase 

an optional Product; 

(iii) for all Products other than the Payment Protection Product, disclose 

clearly, prior to purchase, the total cost of the Product and how frequently 

the fee is assessed , and, as to the Payment Protection Product, disclose 

clearly, prior to purchase, how the fee is calculated and that the 

Cardmember will be charged a fee for the Product at the end of each 

billing cycle during which the Cardmember has a balance, regardless of 

whether the Cardmember paid the balance in full by the due date thereof; 

(iv) disclose clearly, prior to purchase, all material conditions, benefits and 

restrictions relating to a Product; 

(v) disclose clearly, prior to purchase, that the Cardmember is not required to 

purchase the Product, and that the purchase of the Product is voluntary and 

optional; 

(vi) clearly and prominently explain relevant material restrictions on eligibility 

for the Products, including, in the case of the Payment Protection Product, 

explaining to Cardmembers the restrictions on eligibility for benefits, such 
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as those related to being unemployed, self-employed, or on a leave of 

absence from their place of employment, or suffering from a pre-existing 

medical condition; 

(vii) disclose all Product disclosures, including any disclosures required herein 

or otherwise required by law, in a clear manner and at a reasonable speed; 

and 

(viii) after such disclosures are read, require that a Cardmember acknowledge 

that the purchase of the Product is optional and voluntary and that the 

Cardmember affirmatively requests or consents to purchase the Product. 

(b) Directly after a Cardmember purchases a Product by telephone, Discover shall 

disclose clearly the following information during that same telephone call: 

(i) that the Cardmember has purchased the Product; 

(ii) that the Cardmember' s Discover credit card will be charged or that the 

Cardmember' s account will start to incur charges for the Product within 

two billing cycles or less, but no sooner than fifteen days from the date of 

the telephone call, pending completion of additional enrollment 

verification steps and other enrollment procedures and that the charge for 

the Product will appear on the Cardmember' s billing statement; 

(iii) the Product' s cancellation policy and the phone number that the 

Cardmember must use to cancel enrollment in the Product program; and 

(iv) the Product's refund policy, including the time frame within which the 

Cardmember must cancel before incurring a fee. 

(c) When Cardmembers request that additional information about a Product be sent 

prior to purchasing that Product, Discover shall provide the Cardmember with that information, 

including but not limited to the material conditions, benefits, and restrictions of the Product and 
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shall not condition in any way the provision of such materials on the Cardmember agreeing to 

purchase or enroll in a Product program. The materials may be provided in electronic or hard 

copy format. 

(d) Discover shall refrain from marketing or soliciting the Products during or in 

connection with activation calls, unless, prior to any solicitation, the Cardmember is first 

informed that activation is complete; that listening to the Product solicitation is optional; and that 

the Product being sold is optional and not a condition for the extension of credit. 

(e) Within three business days after a Cardmember purchases the Payment Protection 

Product, and within seven business days after a Cardmember purchases any Product other than 

the Payment Protection Product, Discover shall mail the Cardmember a disclosure that clearly 

and prominently presents the following information: 

(i) the fact that the Cardmember has purchased a Product, the date on which 

the Cardmember purchased the Product and the amount of the fee for the 

Product; 

(ii) the Product's material conditions, benefits and restrictions; 

(iii) the fact that the Cardmember's Discover credit card account wi ll incur fee 

charges for the Product and the date when those charges will appear on his 

or her billing statement; 

(iv) the billing period during which the Product fee charges will begin 

appearing on the Cardmember's account statement; 

(v) for all Products other than the Payment Protection Product, the total cost 

of the Product and how frequently the fee is assessed, and, as to the 

Payment Protection Product, how the fee is calculated and that the 

Cardmember will be charged a fee at the end of each billing cycle during 

10 



which the Cardmember maintains a balance, regardless of whether the 

Cardmember pays the balance in full during the appl icable grace period; 

(vi) the Product' s cancellation policy and the phone number the Cardmember 

must use to cancel; and 

(vii) the Product' s refund policy, including the date by which the Cardmember 

must cance l before incurring a fee. 

(f) Discover must obtain the Cardmember' s express affirmative consent to purchase 

the Product, separate from any consent Discover may obtain to pull a Cardmember' s consumer 

report. ln obtaining a Cardmember's consumer report in relation to any of the Products, 

Discover must comply with the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. 

(g) Discover shall include a message on the first three periodic statements on which a 

Product charge appears, highlighting inclusion of the charge. The statement shall be positioned 

in a c lear and conspicuous manner and shall be in 12-point font or any larger type. 

(h) In any telephone conversation in which a Cardmember indicates that he or she did 

not authorize the purchase of, does not want, or wishes to cancel a Product, Discover shall 

immediately agree to cancel the Product, no longer charge that Cardmember for the Product, and 

not attempt to re-sell the Product to that Cardmember during the cancellation call. ln addition, in 

response to a Cardmember's inquiry or complaint that a Product purchase was not agreed to, 

Discover shall review whether any such Product purchase was agreed to by the Cardmember. If 

Discover determines that the purchase was agreed to, Discover shall provide the Cardmember 

with all information providing the basis for this determination, including but not limited to any 

voice recording of a telemarketing sales call or portion of such a call. Discover shall make any 

such determination by reviewing all relevant information, including any voice recording, and this 

determination shall only be made by a Bank employee who is specifically trained to determine 

whether a telemarketing sales cal l complied with the provisions of this JOINT CONSENT 
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ORDER and all other disclosures required by law. If Discover determines that a purchase was 

not agreed to, Discover shall promptly refund all of the Product Fees and finance charges on 

Product Fees incurred by the Cardmember. 

(i) If at any time a Cardmember appl ies for, but is denied, benefits related to a 

Product, or the Cardmember' s benefits are suspended, Discover must clearly and prominently 

explain the relevant material limitations of the Product and restrictions on eligibility for the 

Product, including, in the case of the Payment Protection Product, explaining to Cardmembers 

the restrictions on eligibility for benefits, such as those related to being unemployed, self

employed, or on a leave of absence from their place of employment, or suffering from a pre

existing medical condition. After disclosing such material limitations and restrictions on 

eligibility, Discover must require that the Cardmember acknowledge that the purchase of the 

Product is optional and voluntary and that the Cardmember affirmatively requests or consents to 

remain enrolled in and continue to pay for the Product. 

(j) During any telemarketing solicitation in wh ich a Cardmember requests or 

expresses a desire that Discover make no further calls to the Cardmember with respect to a 

Product, Discover shall immediately place the Cardmember on Discover' s No Call List. 

Discover shall provide an updated copy of the No Call List to all third-party telemarketers on a 

bi-weekly basis. 

(k) With respect to Paragraphs 3(c), 4(a)(i), 4(a)(iv), 4(a)(vi), 4(b)(ii), 4(b)(iv), 4(d), 

4(e), 4(h), and 4(i), Discover shall have 120 days from the effective date of this JOINT 

CONSENT ORDER to comply with the requirements set forth in those Paragraphs. 
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COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

5. (a) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall review, revise, and/or develop as necessary a risk-based compliance management 

system, including a comprehensive written compliance program ("Compliance Program") to 

ensure that the marketing, sale, and operation of the Products comply with Section 5 and with 

Section 1036. This Compliance Program shall be designed to comply with all provisions of this 

JOINT CONSENT ORDER. At a minimum, the Compliance Program shall provide for: 

(i) Board designation of Discover management responsible for review and 

approval prior to first use, and subsequent re-reviews as may be required 

by, among other things, regulatory guidance and changes in laws and/or 

regulations, of (I) all marketing and solicitation materials, including direct 

mail or Internet solicitations, promotional materials, advertising, and 

telemarketing scripts regarding the Products, (2) other materials provided 

to Cardmembers generated in connection with the administration and 

servicing of the Products, and (3) changes or amendments with respect to 

the materials described in (I) and (2); 

(ii) a training program that includes regular, specific, and comprehensive 

training related to Section 5, Section I 036, and all implementing rules and 

regulations, regulatory guidance, and statements of policy for appropriate 

Discover personnel and, specifically, for employees having 

responsibilities that relate to Section 5 and to Section 1036, including 

senior management and the Board, commensurate with their individual job 

functions and duties; 

(iii) a training and compliance program that monitors all third parties, 

including all telemarketing vendors and Product program administrators, 
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involved in the marketing, sales, and/or operation of the Products to 

ensure that these third parties comply with Section 5, Section I 036, and all 

implementing rules and regulations, regulatory guidance and statements of 

policy; 

(iv) an appropriate number of compliance personnel, as reasonably determined 

by Discover, with sufficient experience in and knowledge of the Products 

and applicable laws, including but not limited to Section 5 and Section 

1036, to administer the Compliance Program; 

(v) procedures for promptly addressing and resolving all consumer 

complaints arising from any Product, regardless of the source of the 

complaints or the channel through which the complaint was submitted, 

including through any third parties, and maintaining appropriate records of 

all complaints and the resolution of the complaints; and 

(vi) a policy providing that any bonus or incentive compensation payable to 

any employee, agent, or third party that is calculated based directly on the 

sale of one or more of the Products will not be due or payable if the 

Cardmember to whom the Product is sold did not maintain the Product for 

at least three billing cycles. 

(b) The Compliance Program shall be administered by compliance personnel with 

sufficient experience in, and knowledge of, Section 5 and Section 1036 and shall provide for 

sufficient personnel in order to fully comply with all requirements of this JOINT CONSENT 

OR.DER. 

(c) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall submit the written Compliance Program to the Regional Director of the FDIC's 

New York Regional Office ("FDIC Regional Director"), the CFPB Assistant Director of the 
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Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director, Midwest Regional Office ("CFPB 

Regional Director") for review and non-objection. 

(d) Within 60 days following receipt of comments or non-objection from the FDIC 

Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB 

Regional Director, Discover shall adopt and implement the Compliance Program, as revised, and 

shall record the adoption of the Compliance Program in the minutes of the Board. 

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 

6. Within 90 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall enhance its internal control system to provide for: 

(a) an organizational structure for the day-to-day operation and oversight of the 

Products, and internal controls systems related thereto, that provides for (i) clear lines of 

authority and identification of reporting lines; (ii) clear assignment of responsibility along the 

lines of authority for assessing and monitoring the compliance of Discover with all requirements 

of Section 5 and Section 1036, as well as all applicable policies and procedures of Discover; and 

(iii) clear assignment of responsibility for reporting to the Board the results of the assessment 

and monitoring activity performed under this subparagraph, including specification of 

information and data to be reported to the Board on a periodic, but not less than quarterly, basis; 

(b) initial and periodic, but not less than quarterly, written reports to the Board 

assessing the regulatory and compliance risks associated with the Products and related 

marketing; and 

(c) an adequate number of staff to effect and maintain full and complete compliance 

with subparagraphs (a) and (b) above. 

COMPLIANCE AUDIT PROGRAM 

7. (a) Within 60 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall review and revise its internal compliance audit program as necessary to ensure an 
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effective and independent review of Discover's internal policies and procedures and compliance 

with Section 5 and with Section 1036 with respect to the Products and internal compliance audit 

functions related thereto. The revised internal compliance audit program shall, at a minimum, 

include policies, procedures, and processes that ensure: 

(i) that the internal compliance audits of the Products are independent and 

adequate in scope and that the audit and compliance staff is comprised of a 

sufficient number of qualified persons; 

(ii) completion of an internal compliance audit plan each calendar year that is 

reviewed and approved by the Board; 

(iii) annual risk assessments of the Products to ensure that internal compliance 

audits are performed with reasonable frequency; 

(iv) assignment of ratings or expressions of opinion as to the adequacy, 

effectiveness, and efficiency of the internal contro l environment of the 

Products; and 

(v) provisions for a formal tracking and monitoring system for exceptions 

identified by internal compliance audits and regulatory examinations, the 

tracking of deficiencies and exceptions noted in audit reports with 

periodic, but not less than quarterly, status reports to the Board with each 

deficiency and material exception identified, the source of the deficiency 

or exception and date noted, responsibility for correction assigned, and the 

date corrective action was taken in the report. 

(b) Internal compliance audit findings, deficiencies, and recommendations shall be 

documented in a written report and provided to the Board within thirty (30) days after 

completion of the audit. Discover shall promptly forward a copy of each internal compliance 

audit report and the minutes reflecting the Board' s review of such report to the FDIC Regional 
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Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional 

Director. No later than at its next regularly scheduled board meeting fo llowing receipt of the 

written audit report, the Board shall take action to address the audit's findings, correct any 

deficiencies noted, and implement any recommendations. The Board may, where appropriate, 

direct management to take certain actions related thereto, and where management has been so 

directed, ensuring that findings, deficiencies, and recommendations are appropriately addressed. 

The Board's review of the written report shall be fully documented in its minutes, together with a 

report of the actions in response to the audit, including, where applicable, an explanation as to 

why a recommendation has not been implemented. 

OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

8. (a) Within 30 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, the 

Board shal l establish an oversight committee ("Oversight Committee") or designate an existing 

Board committee as an Oversight Committee. This Committee shall be charged with the 

responsibility of ensuring compliance with the provisions of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. 

(b) The Oversight Committee shall monitor compliance with this JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER and submit a written report quarterly to the entire Board, prior to the regularly 

scheduled meeting of the Board, and a copy of the report and any discussion related to the report 

or this JOTNT CONSENT ORDER shall be part of the minutes of the Board meeting. Copies of 

the quarterly report shall be submitted to the FDJC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant 

Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director, as part of the quarterly 

progress reports and certificates of compliance required by Paragraph 9 of this JOINT 

CONSENT ORDER. Nothing contained herein shall diminish the responsibility of the entire 

Board to ensure compliance with the provisions of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. 
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PROGRESS REPORTS AND CERTIFICATIONS OF COMPLIANCE 

9. Within 30 days from the end of each calendar quarter following the effective date 

of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, Discover shall furnish to the FDIC Regional Director, the 

CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director, written 

progress reports addressing each provision of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER and detailing the 

form, manner, results, and dates of any actions taken to secure compliance with the provisions of 

this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. All progress reports shall be reviewed by the Board and made 

a part of the Board minutes. The progress reports shall be true and accurate and accompanied by 

a certification of compliance by a member of the Board who is a member of the Oversight 

Committee. The certification of compliance shall include the following: 

(a) a statement confirming that Discover is in compliance with all provisions of the 

JOINT CONSENT ORDER, or 

(b) if Discover is not in compliance with all provisions of the JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER, Discover must provide: 

(1) a list of the provisions with which Discover is not yet in compliance, an 

explanation of why Discover is not yet in compliance with each specific provision, and a 

description of the actions Discover has taken to comply with the provision; and 

(2) a statement that Discover will be in full compliance with the JOINT 

CONSENT ORDER, as well as a description of the actions Discover will take to be in full 

compliance, no later than 90 days from submission of the first progress report and certificate of 

compliance submitted to the FDIC and the CFPB following the effective date of the JOINT 

CONSENT ORDER. 

SHAREHOLDERS 

JO. Discover shall provide or otherwise furnish to its shareholders a description of 

this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. The description shal l fully describe the JOINT CONSENT 
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ORDER in all material respects. The description and any accompanying communication, 

statement, or notice shall be sent to the FDIC, Division of Depositor and Consumer Protection, 

Accounting-Registration, Disclosure and Securities Section, 550 17th Street, N .W., Washington, 

D.C. 20429 and to the CFPB, Office of Enforcement, 1700 G Street, N.W. , Washington, D.C. 

20552, for non-objection or comment prior to dissemination to shareholders. Any changes 

requested to be made by the FDIC or CFPB shall be made prior to dissemination of the 

description, communication, notice, or statement. This description shall be disseminated in 

conjunction with Discover's next shareholder communication and in conjunction with its notice 

or proxy statement preceding Discover's next shareholder meeting. The terms "next shareholder 

communication" and "next shareholder meeting" mean the next shareholder communication and 

next shareholder meeting immediately after the FDIC and CFPB provide Discover with either 

non-objections to or comments about the description. 

RECORD KEEPING 

11. (a) For a period of at least two years from the date a Cardmember is no longer 

enrolled in a Product program, Discover must retain the following records concerning that 

Cardmember and his or her enrollment in that Product program: 

(i) A file containing the name, address, phone number, dollar amounts paid, 

quantity of Products purchased, description of the Product(s) purchased, 

date on which the Product(s) was purchased, and records reflecting the 

date on which the required welcome kit was mailed for each Cardmember 

(if a Cardmember left the program, include the date the Cardmember left a 

Product program and the reason the Cardmember left the Product 

program); and 

(ii) Records for each Cardmember reflecting that a Cardmember expressly 

agreed to purchase the Product, including time-stamped copies of voice 
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recordings of telephone calls during which a Cardmember purchased the 

Product. 

(b) For a period of six years from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER, Discover must retain the following records: 

(i) All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER; 

(ii) Records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of Cardmembers who 

canceled a Product, the number of Cardmembers who were enrolled in a 

Product Program who closed their Cardmember accounts, and the number 

of Cardmembers who were enroll ed in a Product Program whose 

Cardmember accounts were charged off by Discover; 

(iii) All Cardmember complaints and refund requests (whether received 

directly or indirectly, such as through a third party) related to the Products, 

and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

(iv) Copies of all versions of sales scripts, training materials, adve1tisements, 

or other marketing materials, including terms and conditions, fulfillment 

packages, and welcome kits related to the Products, including any such 

materials used by a third party on Discover' s behalf; and 

(v) All records pertaining to the restitution described below in Paragraph 12, 

including, but not limited to, documentation of the processes and 

procedures used to determine the Eligible Consumers, as that term is 

defined below, the names, contact, and account information of the Eligible 

Consumers, any mailing records, and documentation that the appropriate 

restitution was made. 
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(c) For a period of two years from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover must retain accounting records that reflect the cost of Product(s) sold and revenues 

generated. 

12. 

RESTITUTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

(a) Within 90 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall commence the restitution and other relief described below and complete such 

restitution within 150 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. 

(b) Restitution shall be provided to all Eligible Consumers, as that term is defined 

below, notwithstanding any waiver or relinquishment contained in any settlement notice 

applicable to any class action or settlement class from which an Eligible Consumer did not opt

out or any other waiver executed by an Eligible Consumer. 

apply: 

(c) For purposes of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, the following definitions will 

(i) "Account" shall mean a Discover individual credit card account associated 

with a Cardmember at any time during the Eligibility Period (as defined 

herein). 

(ii) "90 Days of Fees" shall mean, with respect to a particular Product, (1) the 

total Product Fees (as defined herein) charged to a Cardmember for the 

particular Product during the Restitution Period (as defined herein), (2) 

divided by the total number of calendar days the Cardmember was 

enrolled in the particular Product, even if multiple enrollment periods 

were not contiguous, during the Restitution Period (as defined herein), (3) 

multiplied by 90. 
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(iii) "Eligible Consumer" shall mean any Cardmember who has had an 

Account to which a Product Fee was posted at any time during the 

Eligibility Period due to any Product purchase made during the Eligibi li ty 

Period. The term "Eligible Consumer" shall include all existing and 

former Cardmembers, including all Cardmembers whose Accounts have 

been closed, charged-off, sold, or otherwise transferred, through 

securitization or otherwise, by Discover. The term "Eligible Consumer" 

shall not include, with respect to the Payment Protection Product, any 

Cardmember enrolled in the Payment Protection Product, if the 

Cardmember activated and received Payment Protection Product benefits 

at any time during the Eligibility Period. Nonetheless, any Cardmember 

enrolled in the Payment Protection Product who is not an "Eligible 

Consumer" with respect to the Payment Protection Product may be an 

"Eligible Consumer" with respect to any other Product purchased during 

the Eligibility Period regardless of the receipt of any Payment Protection 

Product benefits. With respect to each Product, the term " Eligible 

Consumer" shall include only those Cardmembers who purchased the 

Product through a telemarketing sales channel. 

(iv) "Eligibility Period" shall mean the period beginning on December I, 2007 

and ending on August 31 , 2011. 

(v) "Product Fees" shall mean all fees, charges, premiums, or other amounts 

posted to, or otherwise charged to, an Eligible Consumer's Account with 

respect to any Product or Products, however characterized. Product Fees 

shall not include finance charges or interest associated with the Products. 
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(vi) "Refunded Product Fees" shal l mean any refunds of Product Fees made by 

Discover and received by an Eligible Consumer prior to the effective date 

of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER (including any payments to Eligible 

Consumers by Discover pursuant to the settlement of any class action 

litigation). 

(vii) "Restitution Amount" shall mean, with respect to each Eligible Consumer, 

an amount, if greater than zero, equal to: 

(A) for all Eligible Consumers who were enrolled in any Product for an 

aggregate total of 364 days or less, the total amount of Product 

Fees charged to the Cardmember related to each such Product 

during the applicable Restitution Period, minus Refunded Product 

Fees, if the resulting amount is greater than zero; and 

(B) for all Eligible Consumers who were enrolled in any Product for an 

aggregate total of 365 days or more, 90 Days of Pees minus 

Refunded Product Fees, if the resulting amount is greater than 

zero. 

(vii i) "Restitution Period" shall mean, for each Eli gible Consumer, all periods 

beginning on the date any Cardmember was enrolled in a Product and 

ending on the last date of the billing cycle in which a Product Fee was 

posted to the Account, but ending no later than August 3 I, 201 I. 

(d) Discover shall provide restitution to each Eligible Consumer pursuant to the 

fol lowing process based on the Account status as of the effective date of the JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER: 
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(i) for any open Account, Discover shall provide a credit posted to the 

Account for the Restitution Amount, regardless of whether such action 

results in a credit balance. 

(ii) for any closed Account, unless the Account has an outstanding balance, 

has been charged off, or is delinquent, Discover shall mail a certified 

restitution check in the Restitution Amount to such Eligible Consumer. 

(iii) for any closed Account that is delinquent but not charged off, Discover 

shall issue a credit decreasing the delinquent balance by the Restitution 

Amount. Where the Restitution Amount is greater than the delinquent 

balance, Discover shall mail a restitution check for the difference between 

the delinquent balance and the Restitution Amount to the affected Eligible 

Consumer. 

(iv) for any charged-off Account, Discover shall issue a credit decreasing the 

charged-off balance by the Restitution Amount. Where the Restitution 

Amount is greater than the existing charged-off balance, Discover shall 

mail a restitution check for the difference between the charged-off balance 

and the Restitution Amount to the affected Eligible Consumer. 

(v) with respect to any bankruptcy, probate, accounts in litigation and sold 

charged-off accounts, for which Discover has notice, Discover shall take 

all appropriate action to reflect the credit of the Restitution Amount and 

any additional Restitution Amount as appropriate, consistent with the 

requirements set forth in Paragraph 12(g). 

(e) In the event that the aggregate Restitution Amounts provided to all Eligible 

Consumers pursuant to Paragraph I 2( d) equal an amount less than $200,000,000, Discover shall 

promptly inform the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of 
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Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director, of the amount of the difference between the 

aggregate Restitution Amounts provided and $200,000,000 (such amount is referred to as the 

"Additional Restitution"). Jn such an event, the Additional Restitution shall be distributed in 

equal amounts to all Eligible Consumers who were enrolled in any Product for an aggregate total 

of 365 days or more in accordance with the process set forth in Paragraph 12( d) above. 

(t) Discover shall not condition the payment of Restitution Amounts or Additional 

Restitution to any Eligible Consumer on that Eligible Consumer waiving any right. 

(g) With respect to any Eligible Consumer's Account that receives a Restitution 

Amount and/or Additional Restitution in the form of a credit that decreases the existing balance 

or charged-off balance, Discover shall: 

(h) 

(i) report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which 

Discover had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

(ii) delete the account trade line at each credit reporting agency to which 

Discover had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

(iii) in the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, also inform the 

third party of the credit to the Account and the resulting adjustment of the 

unpaid balance and request that such third-party owner of the debt report 

the updated balance to, or delete the account trade line at, each credit 

reporting agency to which the third-party owner of the debt had previously 

furnished balance information for the account. 

(i) Within 30 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall submit to the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant 

Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director 

for review and non-objection the proposed text of the letters that will be 

sent to Eligible Consumers regarding Restitution Amounts in the form of 
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account credits or restitution checks. Such letters shall include language 

explaining the reason Discover is crediting an Account or sending a 

restitution check, together with an explanation of the manner in which the 

amount of restitution was calculated, and shall include a statement that the 

restitution payment is because of, and in accordance with, the terms of this 

JOINT CONSENT ORDER. 

(ii) Upon receipt by Discover of the written non-objection of, or comments 

from, the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the 

Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director the letters 

described above shall be promptly mailed, incorporating the comments, if 

any, of the FDIC Regional Director and the Cf PB Assistant Director of 

the Office of Enforcement, by United States Postal Service certified mail, 

address correction service requested. The envelopes shall contain no 

materials other than the approved letters, restitution checks, when 

appropriate, and any other materials reviewed and not objected to by the 

FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director. Discover shall make 

reasonable attempts to locate Eligible Consumers whose notification letter 

and/or restitution check is returned for any reason, including conducting a 

standard address search using the National Change of Address System. 

Discover shall promptly re-mail all returned letters and any restitution 

checks to corrected addresses, if any. 

(i) Within 90 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, and 

every 30 days thereafter until completion of the restitution required by this JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER, Discover's "Audit and Risk Committee," or the equivalent Committee of the Board, 
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shall prepare and send to the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director, a detailed written report that explains the 

processes and procedures by which Discover identified the Eligible Consumers and determined 

the applicable Restitution Amounts described above. The report shall also include the following: 

(i) total number of Eligible Consumers, (ii) names, contact, and account information of the 

Eligible Consumers, (iii) Restitution Amount and/or Additional Restitution to which each 

Eligible Consumer is entitled, (iv) total amount of Restitution Amounts and/or Additional 

Restitution to be paid, (v) Discover's procedures for contacting Eligible Consumers who no 

longer maintain an Account and (vi) number of Eligible Consumers for whom the Restitution 

Amount and/or Additional Restitution has yet to be determined. 

G) Within 30 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 

Discover shall hire an independent auditor that is acceptable to the FDIC Regional Director, the 

CFPB Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director to 

verify that Discover has accurately identified Eligible Consumers and the Restitution Amount 

and/or Additional Restitution with respect to whom restitution checks are to be issued or for 

whom Accounts are to be credited as required by this JOINT CONSENT ORDER. The 

independent auditor shall prepare a detailed written report of the processes and procedures by 

which Discover intends to make the restitution. Before Discover initiates the restitution process 

and within 90 days from the effective date of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER, the report 

described shall be submitted to the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant Director of the 

Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director for review, comment and non-objection. 

A detailed written report from the independent auditor describing the status of Discover' s 

restitution distribution shall be submitted to the FDIC Regional Director, the CFPB Assistant 

Director of the Office of Enforcement, and the CFPB Regional Director for review, comment 

27 



and non-objection every 30 days thereafter until completion of the restitution required by this 

JOINT CONSENT ORDER. 

JOINT ORDER TO PAY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, by reason of the alleged violations of law and/or 

regulations, and after taking into account the CONSENT AGREEMENT, the appropriateness of 

the penalty with respect to the financial resources and good faith of Discover, the gravity of the 

conduct by Discover, the severity of the risks to or losses of consumers, the history of previous 

conduct by Discover, and such other matters as justice requires, pursuant to section 8(i)(2) of the 

FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1818(i)(2) and section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c): a 

civil money penalty of FOURTEEN MILLION UNITED STATES DOLLARS ($14,000,000.00) 

is assessed against Discover. Within fifteen (15) days of the effective date of this JOINT 

CONSENT ORDER, Discover shall pay such civil money penalty to the Treasury of the Un ited 

States and to the Consumer Financial Civil Penalty Fund administered by the CFPB under 

section I 0 I 7(d) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as directed by the FDIC and CFPB. 

Discover shall pay such civil money penalty itself, and is prohibited from seeking or accepting 

indemnification for such payment from any third party. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

The provisions of this JOfNT CONSENT ORDER shall not bar, estop, or otherwise 

prevent the FDIC, the Cf PB or any other federal or state agency or department from taking any 

other action against Discover. 

This JOINT CONSENT ORDER shall be effective on the date of issuance. 

The provisions of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER shall be binding upon Discover Bank, 

all institution-affi liated parties, as defined in section 3(u) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1813(u), 

and in connection with the Products as defined herein, all affiliates of Discover who are service 
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providers as defined in sections 1002(1) and (26) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(1) and (26), 

and any successors and assigns thereof. 

Calculation of time limitations for compliance with the terms of this JOINT CONSENT 

ORDER shall be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

The provisions of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER shall remain effective and enforceable 

except to the extent that, and until such time as, any provision has been modified, terminated, 

suspended, or set aside in writing by the FDIC and the CFPB. 

Any violation of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER may result in the imposition by the 

CFPB of the maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the 

CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

The provisions of this JOINT CONSENT ORDER shall be enforceable by either the 

FDIC or the CFPB. f _J_. l 

Issued Pursuant to Delegated Authority thisJ4"t.y ~, 2012. 

Syl~ H. Plunkett 
Se 1 r Deputy Director 
Di 1sion of Depositor and Consumer Protection 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

Issued this~ay of 51pt~ , 2012. 

By: 

R~~ 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ENDING DECEPTIVE MARKETING PRACTICES 
 
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
announced a joint public enforcement action with an order requiring Discover Bank to refund approximately 
$200 million to more than 3.5 million consumers and pay a $14 million civil money penalty.   
 
By the Numbers 

 $200 million:  The estimated total refund to Discover consumers. 

 3.5 million: The approximate number of consumers receiving a refund.  

 $14 million:  The additional penalty that Discover will pay to the FDIC and the CFPB.   

Overview 
The agencies jointly determined that Discover engaged in deceptive telemarketing practices to sell the 
company’s credit card add-on products.  Payment Protection was marketed as a product that allows consumers 
to put their payments on hold for up to two years in the event of unemployment, hospitalization, or other 
qualifying life events.  Discover also sold its Credit Score Tracker, designed to allow a customer unlimited access 
to his or her credit reports and credit score.  The third product was Identity Theft Protection, which was 
marketed as providing daily credit monitoring.  Lastly, Discover’s Wallet Protection product was sold as a service 
to help a consumer cancel credit cards in the event that his or her wallet is stolen. 
 
Discover’s telemarketing scripts contained misleading language likely to deceive consumers about whether they 
were actually purchasing a product.  Discover’s telemarketers also often downplayed key terms and spoke 
quickly during the part of the call in which the prices and terms of the add-on products were disclosed.  
 
Deceptive Marketing Practices  
Because of the misleading language in the scripts and the actions of Discover’s telemarketers, consumers were: 
 

 Misled about the fact that there was a charge for the products: Discover’s telemarketing scripts often used 
language implying that the products were additional free “benefits,” rather than products for which a fee 
would be applied to their accounts.   
 

 Misled about whether they had purchased the products:  The telemarketing scripts frequently suggested 
that consumers would not be charged for the products until after having a chance to review printed 
materials from Discover.  Discover, however, did not provide consumers with the information until after 
Discover had already initiated the consumer’s purchase of a product. 

 

 Enrolled without their consent: Discover representatives processed the add-on product purchases without 
some consumers’ consent.  These consumers were then charged for the product on their Discover card.  

 

 Withheld material information about eligibility requirements for certain benefits: Discover’s telemarketers 
typically did not disclose critical eligibility requirements for certain payment protection benefits, such as 
exclusions for pre-existing medical conditions and certain limitations concerning employment. 

 
FDIC-CFPB Enforcement Action 
Under the order, Discover has agreed to: 
 

 Stop deceptive marketing: Discover is required to institute certain changes to its telemarketing of these 
products that are designed to ensure that these unlawful acts do not occur again.  Discover has also agreed 
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to submit a compliance plan to the FDIC and the CFPB for approval, and to take specific corrective actions 
related to the products.   

 

 Pay restitution to consumers who purchased the products: Discover will pay approximately $200 million in 
restitution to more than 3.5 million consumers who were charged for one or more of the products between 
December 1, 2007 and August 31, 2011.  Generally, all consumers affected by Discover’s deceptive practices 
regarding these products, except those who affirmatively made use of Payment Protection, will receive 
restitution, with amounts varying depending on when they purchased, and how long they held, the add-on 
products.  All consumers will receive at least 90 days’ worth of fees paid (minus any refunds they have 
already received), with approximately 2 million consumers receiving full restitution of all of the fees they 
paid (minus any refunds they have already received). 

 

 Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers: Consumers are not required to take 
any action to receive their credit or check.  If an affected consumer is still a Discover customer, he or she will 
receive a credit to his or her account.  If an affected consumer is no longer a Discover credit card holder, the 
consumer will receive a check in the mail or have any outstanding balance reduced by the amount of the 
refund.   

 

 Submit to an independent audit: Compliance with the restitution terms of the order will be assured through 
the work of an independent auditor, who will report to the FDIC and the CFPB on Discover’s compliance with 
the joint FDIC-CFPB Consent Order.  

 

 Pay a $14 million penalty: The FDIC and the CFPB imposed civil money penalties of $14 million.  Discover 
will pay $7 million of that penalty to the U.S. Treasury and $7 million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.   
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ENDING ILLEGAL CREDIT CARD PRACTICES 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) announced a public enforcement action with orders 
requiring American Express to refund an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 customers. At every 
stage of the consumer experience, from marketing to enrollment to payment to debt collection, several 
American Express bank programs violated consumer protection laws. 
 
By the Numbers 
• $85 million: The estimated total refund to American Express consumers. 
• 250,000: The approximate number of consumers receiving a refund.  
• $27.5 million:  The civil monetary penalty that American Express will be fined by the CFPB, the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal 
Reserve Board), and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.    

Overview 
The investigation of American Express Centurion Bank, a state-chartered industrial bank and subsidiary to the 
American Express Company, began in February 2011 with a routine exam by the FDIC and the Utah Department 
of Financial Institutions. The FDIC shared the case with the CFPB after the CFPB inherited jurisdiction over 
consumer financial laws in July 2011.  
 
CFPB examiners later confirmed multiple violations across two other American Express subsidiaries: American 
Express Bank, FSB, a federal savings association; and American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., a 
bank holding company and parent company to American Savings Bank, FSB and American Express Centurion 
Bank. The investigations found that the violations occurred at various points in time between 2003 and spring 
2012. 
 
Through a cooperative effort, several federal agencies that have jurisdiction over the American Express entities 
got involved in the investigations and found wrongdoing. Those federal government agencies, in addition to the 
CFPB and FDIC, are the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Reserve Board. The agencies 
have either joined the CFPB in its Consent Orders against American Express or issued their own Consent Order. 
The State of Utah has also taken its own action.  
 
Deceptive Marketing Practices  
American Express Centurion Bank customers were sometimes misled to believe they would receive $300 in 
addition to bonus points if they signed up for the “Blue Sky” credit card. But consumers who met the 
qualifications did not receive $300. This is a violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act which prohibits 
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
 
Age Discrimination 
American Express Centurion Bank used a credit scoring system that treated card applicants differently on the 
basis of age. For eight months, the bank did not fully implement the system for applicants over the age of 35. 
This violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act because it requires credit scoring systems that take age into 
account to be properly designed and implemented. 
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Unlawful Fees on Existing Accounts 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain charge cards based 
on a 2.99 percent portion of the customer’s delinquent balance in violation of the Truth in Lending Act, as 
amended by the Credit CARD Act.  
 
Consumer Disputes 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to report certain consumer disputes to 
consumer reporting agencies. This is a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
 
Deceptive Debt Collection 
All three of the American Express subsidiaries told certain consumers that settling old debt — debt that had 
been in collections or had already been charged off— would be reflected on their credit report and that 
payment could improve their credit score. But, in fact, the entities did not report such debt to the credit 
reporting agencies and the debt was so old that it may not have appeared on a credit report. The American 
Express subsidiaries also sent letters to consumers saying that after they paid off their old debt, the consumer’s 
remaining debt would be waived or forgiven. But for customers who applied for a new American Express card, 
the company was not really forgiving or waiving the debt. American Express failed to prominently disclose that 
the consumer had to have paid the full balance before the bank would process any future credit or charge card 
application. These actions by the subsidiaries violate the Consumer Financial Protection Act which prohibits 
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
 
CFPB Enforcement Action 
The Bureau has issued Consent Orders to the three American Express subsidiaries. To ensure that all affected 
consumers are repaid and that consumers are no longer subject to these misleading and unlawful deceptive acts 
and practices, American Express has agreed to:  

• End illegal practices: American Express must stop deceiving consumers with Blue Sky credit card marketing 
or any other card marketing by falsely promising a rebate or points feature. American Express will not 
charge illegal late fees. It will not unlawfully discriminate based on age when it comes to credit decisions. It 
will properly report disputes to credit reporting agencies and will make sure that cardholders are told about 
their rights regarding credit disputes. And it will report consumer disputes when it is supposed to. 
 

• American Express will exercise effective oversight and control over its service providers: The Board of 
Directors and senior management at American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB 
must review, revise, develop and implement a sound risk-based compliance management system. 

 
• Complete repayment plus interest to approximately 250,000 consumers: American Express will pay an 

estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 consumers who were illegally charged, or who had money 
illegally collected or withheld. Specifically, consumers who responded to deceptive marketing and paid off 
old debt in full will be reimbursed. Consumers whose debt was not forgiven as promised will receive $100 
and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms acceptable to the CFPB and FDIC. Any of these 
consumers who previously paid the waived or forgiven amount in order to get a new card will be refunded 
that amount plus interest. Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their $300. 
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest. American Express will also be 
required to certify that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination have an 
opportunity to reapply for a card. 
 

• Convenient repayment for consumers: American Express customers can expect to receive their payouts no 
later than March 15, 2013. American Express will contact the current and former cardholders directly. If the 
consumers are still American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no longer 
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have a credit or charge card account or outstanding balance with American Express, they will receive a check 
in the mail.  

 
• Independent audit: Compliance with the terms of the Consent Order will be assured through the work of an 

independent auditor. 
 

• $27.5 million civil monetary penalty: The three American Express subsidiaries will be fined $14.1 million in 
total civil monetary penalties by the CFPB, which has jurisdiction over all three subsidiaries. American 
Express Centurion Bank will be fined $3.9 million by the FDIC. American Express will be fined $9 million by 
the Federal Reserve Board, which has jurisdiction over American Express Travel Related Services Company, 
Inc. and American Express Company, the parent company of all three American Express subsidiaries. And 
American Express Bank, FSB will be fined $500,000 by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. 
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Unlawful Fees on Existing Accounts 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain charge cards based 
on a 2.99 percent portion of the customer’s delinquent balance in violation of the Truth in Lending Act, as 
amended by the Credit CARD Act.  
 
Consumer Disputes 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to report certain consumer disputes to 
consumer reporting agencies. This is a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
 
Deceptive Debt Collection 
All three of the American Express subsidiaries told certain consumers that settling old debt — debt that had 
been in collections or had already been charged off— would be reflected on their credit report and that 
payment could improve their credit score. But, in fact, the entities did not report such debt to the credit 
reporting agencies and the debt was so old that it may not have appeared on a credit report. The American 
Express subsidiaries also sent letters to consumers saying that after they paid off their old debt, the consumer’s 
remaining debt would be waived or forgiven. But for customers who applied for a new American Express card, 
the company was not really forgiving or waiving the debt. American Express failed to prominently disclose that 
the consumer had to have paid the full balance before the bank would process any future credit or charge card 
application. These actions by the subsidiaries violate the Consumer Financial Protection Act which prohibits 
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
 
CFPB Enforcement Action 
The Bureau has issued Consent Orders to the three American Express subsidiaries. To ensure that all affected 
consumers are repaid and that consumers are no longer subject to these misleading and unlawful deceptive acts 
and practices, American Express has agreed to:  

• End illegal practices: American Express must stop deceiving consumers with Blue Sky credit card marketing 
or any other card marketing by falsely promising a rebate or points feature. American Express will not 
charge illegal late fees. It will not unlawfully discriminate based on age when it comes to credit decisions. It 
will properly report disputes to credit reporting agencies and will make sure that cardholders are told about 
their rights regarding credit disputes. And it will report consumer disputes when it is supposed to. 
 

• American Express will exercise effective oversight and control over its service providers: The Board of 
Directors and senior management at American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB 
must review, revise, develop and implement a sound risk-based compliance management system. 

 
• Complete repayment plus interest to approximately 250,000 consumers: American Express will pay an 

estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 consumers who were illegally charged, or who had money 
illegally collected or withheld. Specifically, consumers who responded to deceptive marketing and paid off 
old debt in full will be reimbursed. Consumers whose debt was not forgiven as promised will receive $100 
and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms acceptable to the CFPB and FDIC. Any of these 
consumers who previously paid the waived or forgiven amount in order to get a new card will be refunded 
that amount plus interest. Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their $300. 
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest. American Express will also be 
required to certify that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination have an 
opportunity to reapply for a card. 
 

• Convenient repayment for consumers: American Express customers can expect to receive their payouts no 
later than March 15, 2013. American Express will contact the current and former cardholders directly. If the 
consumers are still American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no longer 
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have a credit or charge card account or outstanding balance with American Express, they will receive a check 
in the mail.  

 
• Independent audit: Compliance with the terms of the Consent Order will be assured through the work of an 

independent auditor. 
 

• $27.5 million civil monetary penalty: The three American Express subsidiaries will be fined $14.1 million in 
total civil monetary penalties by the CFPB, which has jurisdiction over all three subsidiaries. American 
Express Centurion Bank will be fined $3.9 million by the FDIC. American Express will be fined $9 million by 
the Federal Reserve Board, which has jurisdiction over American Express Travel Related Services Company, 
Inc. and American Express Company, the parent company of all three American Express subsidiaries. And 
American Express Bank, FSB will be fined $500,000 by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. 
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CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$85 Million Refund to Consumers
Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $27.5 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
announced an enforcement action with orders requiring three American Express
subsidiaries to refund an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 customers
for illegal card practices. This action is the result of a multi-part federal investigation
which found that at every stage of the consumer experience, from marketing to
enrollment to payment to debt collection, American Express violated consumer
protection laws.

“Several American Express companies violated consumer protection laws and those
laws were violated at all stages of the game – from the moment a consumer shopped for
a card to the moment the consumer got a phone call about long overdue debt,” said
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s orders require the American Express
companies to fully refund about $85 million to consumers and it requires them to make
specific changes in their business practices. The American Express companies will
identify the harmed customers, notify them, and make sure they get back their money.”

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) together with the Utah Department
of Financial Institutions discovered the illegal activities during a routine examination of
an American Express subsidiary, the American Express Centurion Bank. The FDIC
transferred portions of the investigation to the CFPB when the Bureau opened its doors
last year and together the agencies pursued the matter. The CFPB later concluded that
many of the same violations that occurred at American Express Centurion Bank also
took place at American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. and American
Express Bank, FSB.

The investigations found that the violations occurred at various points in time between
2003 and spring 2012. They occurred at every stage of the consumer experience, from
shopping for cards, to applying for cards, to paying charges, and to paying off debt.
More specifically, American Express subsidiaries:

Deceived consumers who signed up for the American Express “Blue
Sky” credit card program: Consumers were sometimes led to believe they
would receive $300 in addition to bonus points if they signed up for this
American Express Centurion Bank program. But consumers who met the
qualifications did not receive the $300. This violates federal laws prohibiting
deceptive practices.
Charged unlawful late fees: American Express Centurion Bank and American
Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain cards based on a percentage of the
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debt in violation of the Credit CARD Act.
Unlawfully discriminated against new account applicants on the basis
of age: American Express Centurion Bank used a credit scoring system that
treated charge card applicants differently on the basis of age. For a period of time,
the bank did not fully implement the system for applicants over the age of 35. This
violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act because it requires credit scoring
systems that take age into account to be properly designed and implemented.
Failed to report consumer disputes to consumer reporting agencies:
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to
report the existence of certain customer disputes to credit bureaus, which is a
violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.
Misled consumers about debt collection: All three of the American Express
subsidiaries deceived consumers into believing there were certain benefits to
paying off old debt. Consumers were wrongly told that if they paid off the old
debt, the payment would be reported to credit bureaus and could improve their
credit scores. In fact, American Express was not reporting the payments and the
debts were so old that even if they had tried to report them, many of the payments
would not have appeared on these consumers’ credit reports or affected their
credit scores. American Express also told some consumers that a portion of their
debt would be waived or forgiven if they accepted certain settlement offers. But
for customers who applied for a new American Express card, the company was
not really forgiving or waiving the debt.

Enforcement Action

In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express subsidiaries have
agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were harmed by the illegal
practices. Specifically, they have agreed to the following:

End the illegal practices: American Express Centurion Bank will not deceive
consumers with marketing for the Blue Sky credit card, or any other card, by
falsely promising a rebate or points feature. The banking subsidiaries will not
charge illegal late fees. They will properly report disputes to credit bureaus and
will make sure that cardholders are told about their rights regarding such
disputes. American Express Centurion Bank will not unlawfully discriminate
based on age when it comes to credit decisions, and it will be required to certify
that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination were given
an opportunity to reapply for credit.
Full repayment of an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000
consumers: These American Express entities will be paying their customers full
restitution, specifically:

Consumers who were misled into paying old debt because they thought it
would be reported to the credit bureaus will be reimbursed the money they
paid plus interest.
Consumers who were promised their debt would be forgiven and who were
denied new credit cards because the debt was not really forgiven, will receive
$100 and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms the CFPB and the
FDIC find acceptable. If the consumer already paid the waived or forgiven
amount in order to get a new card, they will be refunded that amount plus
interest.
Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their
$300.
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest.

Convenient repayment for consumers: These American Express companies
are responsible for notifying the affected consumers. Consumers are not required
to take any action to receive their credit or check. If the consumers are still
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American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no
longer have a card account with American Express, they will receive a check in the
mail. American Express expects that consumers who will be receiving payment
will receive the payout by no later than March 15, 2013.
Inform consumers of debt collection rights: These American Express
subsidiaries will inform consumers when the debt they are seeking to collect will
not be reported to a consumer reporting agency because it is too old. And they will
not collect debt unless it has documentation evidencing the debt. Going forward,
this will include, at a minimum, the complete terms and conditions of the account
and a complete transactional history of the debt.
Independent audit: These American Express subsidiaries will implement new
procedures to ensure compliance with consumer financial protection laws. They
will also use independent auditors to ensure compliance with the terms of today’s
orders.
Pay civil monetary penalty of $27.5 million: Several federal government
agencies seeking action against these American Express companies have ordered
monetary penalties. With jurisdiction over the three subsidiaries, the CFPB’s fine
is $14.1 million; with jurisdiction solely over American Express Centurion Bank,
the FDIC’s fine is $3.9 million; with jurisdiction over American Express Travel
Related Services Company, Inc. and American Express Company, the parent
company, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System’s fine is $9
million; and with jurisdiction over American Express Bank, FSB, the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency’s fine is $500,000.

More information for American Express customers who think they may be victims.

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Bank-Stipulation.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Consent
Order is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-
Travel-Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Stipulation
is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-Travel-
Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

A factsheet on the Consent Orders and Stipulations is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_AmEx_Enforcement_Factsheet.pdf
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CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$85 Million Refund to Consumers
Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $27.5 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
announced an enforcement action with orders requiring three American Express
subsidiaries to refund an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 customers
for illegal card practices. This action is the result of a multi-part federal investigation
which found that at every stage of the consumer experience, from marketing to
enrollment to payment to debt collection, American Express violated consumer
protection laws.

“Several American Express companies violated consumer protection laws and those
laws were violated at all stages of the game – from the moment a consumer shopped for
a card to the moment the consumer got a phone call about long overdue debt,” said
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s orders require the American Express
companies to fully refund about $85 million to consumers and it requires them to make
specific changes in their business practices. The American Express companies will
identify the harmed customers, notify them, and make sure they get back their money.”

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) together with the Utah Department
of Financial Institutions discovered the illegal activities during a routine examination of
an American Express subsidiary, the American Express Centurion Bank. The FDIC
transferred portions of the investigation to the CFPB when the Bureau opened its doors
last year and together the agencies pursued the matter. The CFPB later concluded that
many of the same violations that occurred at American Express Centurion Bank also
took place at American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. and American
Express Bank, FSB.

The investigations found that the violations occurred at various points in time between
2003 and spring 2012. They occurred at every stage of the consumer experience, from
shopping for cards, to applying for cards, to paying charges, and to paying off debt.
More specifically, American Express subsidiaries:

Deceived consumers who signed up for the American Express “Blue
Sky” credit card program: Consumers were sometimes led to believe they
would receive $300 in addition to bonus points if they signed up for this
American Express Centurion Bank program. But consumers who met the
qualifications did not receive the $300. This violates federal laws prohibiting
deceptive practices.
Charged unlawful late fees: American Express Centurion Bank and American
Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain cards based on a percentage of the
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debt in violation of the Credit CARD Act.
Unlawfully discriminated against new account applicants on the basis
of age: American Express Centurion Bank used a credit scoring system that
treated charge card applicants differently on the basis of age. For a period of time,
the bank did not fully implement the system for applicants over the age of 35. This
violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act because it requires credit scoring
systems that take age into account to be properly designed and implemented.
Failed to report consumer disputes to consumer reporting agencies:
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to
report the existence of certain customer disputes to credit bureaus, which is a
violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.
Misled consumers about debt collection: All three of the American Express
subsidiaries deceived consumers into believing there were certain benefits to
paying off old debt. Consumers were wrongly told that if they paid off the old
debt, the payment would be reported to credit bureaus and could improve their
credit scores. In fact, American Express was not reporting the payments and the
debts were so old that even if they had tried to report them, many of the payments
would not have appeared on these consumers’ credit reports or affected their
credit scores. American Express also told some consumers that a portion of their
debt would be waived or forgiven if they accepted certain settlement offers. But
for customers who applied for a new American Express card, the company was
not really forgiving or waiving the debt.

Enforcement Action

In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express subsidiaries have
agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were harmed by the illegal
practices. Specifically, they have agreed to the following:

End the illegal practices: American Express Centurion Bank will not deceive
consumers with marketing for the Blue Sky credit card, or any other card, by
falsely promising a rebate or points feature. The banking subsidiaries will not
charge illegal late fees. They will properly report disputes to credit bureaus and
will make sure that cardholders are told about their rights regarding such
disputes. American Express Centurion Bank will not unlawfully discriminate
based on age when it comes to credit decisions, and it will be required to certify
that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination were given
an opportunity to reapply for credit.
Full repayment of an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000
consumers: These American Express entities will be paying their customers full
restitution, specifically:

Consumers who were misled into paying old debt because they thought it
would be reported to the credit bureaus will be reimbursed the money they
paid plus interest.
Consumers who were promised their debt would be forgiven and who were
denied new credit cards because the debt was not really forgiven, will receive
$100 and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms the CFPB and the
FDIC find acceptable. If the consumer already paid the waived or forgiven
amount in order to get a new card, they will be refunded that amount plus
interest.
Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their
$300.
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest.

Convenient repayment for consumers: These American Express companies
are responsible for notifying the affected consumers. Consumers are not required
to take any action to receive their credit or check. If the consumers are still
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American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no
longer have a card account with American Express, they will receive a check in the
mail. American Express expects that consumers who will be receiving payment
will receive the payout by no later than March 15, 2013.
Inform consumers of debt collection rights: These American Express
subsidiaries will inform consumers when the debt they are seeking to collect will
not be reported to a consumer reporting agency because it is too old. And they will
not collect debt unless it has documentation evidencing the debt. Going forward,
this will include, at a minimum, the complete terms and conditions of the account
and a complete transactional history of the debt.
Independent audit: These American Express subsidiaries will implement new
procedures to ensure compliance with consumer financial protection laws. They
will also use independent auditors to ensure compliance with the terms of today’s
orders.
Pay civil monetary penalty of $27.5 million: Several federal government
agencies seeking action against these American Express companies have ordered
monetary penalties. With jurisdiction over the three subsidiaries, the CFPB’s fine
is $14.1 million; with jurisdiction solely over American Express Centurion Bank,
the FDIC’s fine is $3.9 million; with jurisdiction over American Express Travel
Related Services Company, Inc. and American Express Company, the parent
company, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System’s fine is $9
million; and with jurisdiction over American Express Bank, FSB, the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency’s fine is $500,000.

More information for American Express customers who think they may be victims.

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Bank-Stipulation.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Consent
Order is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-
Travel-Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Stipulation
is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-Travel-
Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

A factsheet on the Consent Orders and Stipulations is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_AmEx_Enforcement_Factsheet.pdf
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CFPB Orders American Express to Pay
$85 Million Refund to Consumers
Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices
Federal Regulators Fine American Express an Additional $27.5 Million

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
announced an enforcement action with orders requiring three American Express
subsidiaries to refund an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 customers
for illegal card practices. This action is the result of a multi-part federal investigation
which found that at every stage of the consumer experience, from marketing to
enrollment to payment to debt collection, American Express violated consumer
protection laws.

“Several American Express companies violated consumer protection laws and those
laws were violated at all stages of the game – from the moment a consumer shopped for
a card to the moment the consumer got a phone call about long overdue debt,” said
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s orders require the American Express
companies to fully refund about $85 million to consumers and it requires them to make
specific changes in their business practices. The American Express companies will
identify the harmed customers, notify them, and make sure they get back their money.”

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) together with the Utah Department
of Financial Institutions discovered the illegal activities during a routine examination of
an American Express subsidiary, the American Express Centurion Bank. The FDIC
transferred portions of the investigation to the CFPB when the Bureau opened its doors
last year and together the agencies pursued the matter. The CFPB later concluded that
many of the same violations that occurred at American Express Centurion Bank also
took place at American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. and American
Express Bank, FSB.

The investigations found that the violations occurred at various points in time between
2003 and spring 2012. They occurred at every stage of the consumer experience, from
shopping for cards, to applying for cards, to paying charges, and to paying off debt.
More specifically, American Express subsidiaries:

Deceived consumers who signed up for the American Express “Blue
Sky” credit card program: Consumers were sometimes led to believe they
would receive $300 in addition to bonus points if they signed up for this
American Express Centurion Bank program. But consumers who met the
qualifications did not receive the $300. This violates federal laws prohibiting
deceptive practices.
Charged unlawful late fees: American Express Centurion Bank and American
Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain cards based on a percentage of the
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debt in violation of the Credit CARD Act.
Unlawfully discriminated against new account applicants on the basis
of age: American Express Centurion Bank used a credit scoring system that
treated charge card applicants differently on the basis of age. For a period of time,
the bank did not fully implement the system for applicants over the age of 35. This
violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act because it requires credit scoring
systems that take age into account to be properly designed and implemented.
Failed to report consumer disputes to consumer reporting agencies:
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to
report the existence of certain customer disputes to credit bureaus, which is a
violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.
Misled consumers about debt collection: All three of the American Express
subsidiaries deceived consumers into believing there were certain benefits to
paying off old debt. Consumers were wrongly told that if they paid off the old
debt, the payment would be reported to credit bureaus and could improve their
credit scores. In fact, American Express was not reporting the payments and the
debts were so old that even if they had tried to report them, many of the payments
would not have appeared on these consumers’ credit reports or affected their
credit scores. American Express also told some consumers that a portion of their
debt would be waived or forgiven if they accepted certain settlement offers. But
for customers who applied for a new American Express card, the company was
not really forgiving or waiving the debt.

Enforcement Action

In accordance with the orders issued today, the American Express subsidiaries have
agreed to correct their practices and refund consumers who were harmed by the illegal
practices. Specifically, they have agreed to the following:

End the illegal practices: American Express Centurion Bank will not deceive
consumers with marketing for the Blue Sky credit card, or any other card, by
falsely promising a rebate or points feature. The banking subsidiaries will not
charge illegal late fees. They will properly report disputes to credit bureaus and
will make sure that cardholders are told about their rights regarding such
disputes. American Express Centurion Bank will not unlawfully discriminate
based on age when it comes to credit decisions, and it will be required to certify
that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination were given
an opportunity to reapply for credit.
Full repayment of an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000
consumers: These American Express entities will be paying their customers full
restitution, specifically:

Consumers who were misled into paying old debt because they thought it
would be reported to the credit bureaus will be reimbursed the money they
paid plus interest.
Consumers who were promised their debt would be forgiven and who were
denied new credit cards because the debt was not really forgiven, will receive
$100 and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms the CFPB and the
FDIC find acceptable. If the consumer already paid the waived or forgiven
amount in order to get a new card, they will be refunded that amount plus
interest.
Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their
$300.
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest.

Convenient repayment for consumers: These American Express companies
are responsible for notifying the affected consumers. Consumers are not required
to take any action to receive their credit or check. If the consumers are still
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American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no
longer have a card account with American Express, they will receive a check in the
mail. American Express expects that consumers who will be receiving payment
will receive the payout by no later than March 15, 2013.
Inform consumers of debt collection rights: These American Express
subsidiaries will inform consumers when the debt they are seeking to collect will
not be reported to a consumer reporting agency because it is too old. And they will
not collect debt unless it has documentation evidencing the debt. Going forward,
this will include, at a minimum, the complete terms and conditions of the account
and a complete transactional history of the debt.
Independent audit: These American Express subsidiaries will implement new
procedures to ensure compliance with consumer financial protection laws. They
will also use independent auditors to ensure compliance with the terms of today’s
orders.
Pay civil monetary penalty of $27.5 million: Several federal government
agencies seeking action against these American Express companies have ordered
monetary penalties. With jurisdiction over the three subsidiaries, the CFPB’s fine
is $14.1 million; with jurisdiction solely over American Express Centurion Bank,
the FDIC’s fine is $3.9 million; with jurisdiction over American Express Travel
Related Services Company, Inc. and American Express Company, the parent
company, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System’s fine is $9
million; and with jurisdiction over American Express Bank, FSB, the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency’s fine is $500,000.

More information for American Express customers who think they may be victims.

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Centurion Bank Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0002-American-Express-Centurion-
Bank-Stipulation.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Consent Order is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Bank, FSB Stipulation is at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0003-American-Express-Bank-FSB-
Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Consent
Order is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-
Travel-Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Consent-Order.pdf

The full text of the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. Stipulation
is at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/2012-CFPB-0004-American-Express-Travel-
Related-Services-Company-Inc.-Stipulation-with-e-signatures.pdf

A factsheet on the Consent Orders and Stipulations is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_AmEx_Enforcement_Factsheet.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2012-CFPB-0003 
  
 ) 
 ) 
In the Matter of: ) CONSENT ORDER, 
 ) ORDER FOR 
AMERICAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB ) RESTITUTION, AND 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH ) ORDER TO PAY  
 ) CIVIL MONEY PENALTY      
 )  
 )   
 ) 
 )   
 ) 
 
 
 Subject to the acceptance of this Stipulation And Consent To The Issuance Of A Consent 

Order, Order For Restitution, and Order To Pay Civil Money Penalty (“Stipulation”) by the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), it is hereby stipulated and agreed by and 

between a representative of the Office of Enforcement of the CFPB and American Express Bank, 

FSB, Salt Lake City, Utah (“Bank”) as follows: 

1. The Bank admits that it is a “covered person” as that term is defined in 

section 1002(6)(A) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFP Act”), 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A). 

2. The Bank admits that the CFPB has jurisdiction over the Bank pursuant to section 

1002(6), 1025 and 1053(b) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C §§ 5481(6), 5515 and 5563(b). 

3. The CFPB has reason to believe that the Bank has engaged in violation of various 

federal consumer financial laws and regulations, including Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; the Truth in Lending Act, as amended by the Credit 

CARD Act of 2009, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., and section 1026.52(b)(1) of Regulation Z, 



2 
 

12 C.F.R. § 1026.52(b)(1); the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq.,  12 C.F.R. 

Part 1022.1 

4. The Bank, solely for the purpose of this proceeding and without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact, and any violations of law, hereby consents and agrees to the 

issuance of the Orders by the CFPB. 

5. The Bank further consents and agrees to pay a civil money penalty in the amount 

of $1,200,000 to the CFPB pursuant to section 1017(d) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

6. The Bank further stipulates and agrees that such Orders will be deemed to be 

orders which have become final under the CFP Act, and that said Orders shall become effective 

upon their issuance by the CFPB, and fully enforceable by the CFPB pursuant to the provisions 

of the CFP Act. 

7. The Bank hereby waives its right under the CFP Act to: 

(a) All hearings pursuant to the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding has been instituted; 

(b) The filing of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; 

(c) Proceedings before, and a recommended decision by, a hearing officer; 

(d) All post-hearing procedures;  

(e) Judicial review by any court; and 

(f) Any objection to the jurisdiction of the CFPB under section 1053 of the 

Dodd-Frank Act. 

   

                                                 
1 Effective December 30, 2011, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau republished some of the existing 
regulations implementing federal consumer financial laws, including Regulation Z, in Chapter X of Title 12 of the 
Code of Federal Regulations.  All citations to this regulation will refer to the republished regulations for ease of 
reference. 
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The Bank further waives (i) such provisions of the CFPB’s rules or other requirements of law as 

may be construed to prevent any CFPB employee from participating in the preparation of, or 

advising the CFPB Director as to, any order, opinion, finding of fact, or conclusion of law to be 

entered pursuant to the offer; and (ii) any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the CFPB 

Director based on the consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

 Dated this 27th day of September, 2012. 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION  
BUREAU  
BY: 
 
 
/Erin Mary Kelly/  
Erin Mary Kelly, Enforcement Attorney 
Greg Nodler, Enforcement Attorney 
Christina Coll, Enforcement Attorney 
 
 

AMERICAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

 
 
/Tom Anderson/  /Jay Stevelman/     
Tom Anderson  Jay Stevelman 
 
/Scott Godderidge/  /Roslyn Watson/     
Scott Godderidge     Roslyn Watson 
 
/Roger Goldman/     /Bob Phelan/      
Roger Goldman     Bob Phelan 
 
/Peter Lefferts/     /Peter Sisti/      
Peter Lefferts      Peter Sisti 
 
 Comprising the Board of Directors of 

American Express Bank, FSB 
Salt Lake City, Utah 



 

 

 
FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 

 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 
 
 
  
 ) 
In the Matter of ) STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
 )      TO THE ISSUANCE OF A 
AMERICAN EXPRESS CENTURION BANK )      JOINT CONSENT ORDER, 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH )          JOINT ORDER FOR 
 )          RESTITUTION, AND 
(INSURED STATE NONMEMBER BANK) )       JOINT ORDER TO PAY 
 ) CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 
 ) 
 )  FDIC-12-315b 
 )  FDIC-12-316k 
__________________________________________)  2012-CFPB-0002 
 
 
 Subject to the acceptance of this Stipulation And Consent To The Issuance Of A Joint 

Consent Order, Joint Order For Restitution, and Joint Order To Pay Civil Money Penalty 

(“Stipulation”) by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), it is hereby stipulated and agreed by and between a 

representative of the Legal Division of the FDIC, the Office of Enforcement of the CFPB, and 

American Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah (“Bank”) as follows: 

1. The Bank has been advised by the FDIC of its right to receive a Notice of Charges 

for a Consent Order and for Restitution, Notice of Assessment of Civil Money Penalties, 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Notice of Hearing (collectively, “Notice”) 

detailing the violations of law and/or regulations and unsafe or unsound banking practices 

alleged to have been committed by the Bank for which a Joint Consent Order, a Joint Order for 

Restitution and Joint Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty (collectively, “Joint Orders”) may issue 



 
 

2 
 

against the Bank pursuant to sections 8(b) and 8(i)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDI 

Act”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 1818(b) and 1818(i)(2). 

2. The Bank has been further advised by the FDIC of its right to a hearing on the 

charges under section 8(b) and 8(i)(2) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1818 (b) and 1818 (i)(2), and 

the FDIC’S Rules of Practice and Procedure, 12 C.F.R. Part 308. 

3. The Bank admits that it is an “insured depository institution” and an insured 

“State nonmember bank” as those terms are defined in sections 3(c)(2) and 3(e)(2) of the FDI 

Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1813(c)(2) and 1813(e)(2). 

4. The Bank admits that it is a “covered person” as that term is defined in 

section 1002(6)(A) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFP Act”), 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A). 

5. The Bank admits that the FDIC has jurisdiction over the Bank pursuant to 

section 3(q)(3) of the Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1813(q)(3), and that the CFPB has jurisdiction over the 

Bank pursuant to section 1002(6), 1025 and 1053(b) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C §§ 5481(6), 5515 

and 5563(b). 

6. The FDIC and the CFPB have reason to believe, as to matters within their 

respective jurisdiction, that the Bank has engaged in unsafe or unsound banking practices and in 

violation of various federal consumer financial laws and regulations, including Section 5 of the 

Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1); sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFP Act, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; the Truth in Lending Act, as amended by the Credit CARD Act of 

2009, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., and section 1026.52(b)(1) of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.52(b)(1); the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq.,  12 C.F.R. Part 1022; 
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the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691 et seq., and section 1002.6 of 

Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 1002.6.1 

7. The Bank, solely for the purpose of this proceeding and without admitting or 

denying any of the alleged charges of unsafe or unsound banking practices, any of the findings of 

fact, and any violations of law, hereby consents and agrees to the issuance of the Joint Orders by 

the FDIC and the CFPB. 

8. The Bank further consents and agrees to pay a civil money penalty in the amount 

of $3,900,000 to the Treasury of the United States pursuant to section 8(i)(2) of the Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 1818(i)(2), as directed by the FDIC, and a civil money penalty in the amount of 

$3,900,000 to the CFPB pursuant to section 1017(d) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), as 

directed by the CFPB. 

9. The Bank further stipulates and agrees that such Joint Orders will be deemed to be 

orders which have become final under the FDI Act and the CFP Act, and that said Joint Orders 

shall become effective upon their issuance by the FDIC and the CFPB, and fully enforceable by 

the FDIC pursuant to the provisions of the FDI Act and the CFPB pursuant to the provisions of 

the CFP Act. 

10. In the event the FDIC accepts the Stipulation and issues the Joint Orders jointly 

with the CFPB, it is agreed that no action to enforce said Joint Orders in the United States 

District Court will be taken by the FDIC unless the Bank or any institution-affiliated party, as 

such term is defined in section 3(u) of the Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1813(u), has violated or is about to 

violate any provision of the Joint Orders. 

                                                 
1 Effective December 30, 2011, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau republished some of the existing 
regulations implementing federal consumer financial laws, including Regulation Z and Regulation B, in Chapter X 
of Title 12 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  All citations to these regulations will refer to the republished 
regulations for ease of reference. 



 
 

4 
 

11. The Bank hereby waives its right under the FDI Act to: 

  (a) The receipt of a Notice; 

  (b) All defenses in this proceeding; 

  (c) A public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on such alleged 

charges; 

  (d) The filing of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; 

  (e) A recommended decision of an Administrative Law Judge;  

  (f) Exceptions and briefs with respect to such recommended decision; and 

(g) Judicial review of the Joint Orders as provided by section 8(h) of the Act, 

12 U.S.C. § 1818(h), or any other challenge to the validity of the Joint Orders. 

12. The Bank hereby waives its right under the CFP Act to: 

(a) All hearings pursuant to the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding has been instituted; 

(b) The filing of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; 

(c) Proceedings before, and a recommended decision by, a hearing officer; 

(d) All post-hearing procedures;  

(e) Judicial review by any court; and 

(f) Any objection to the jurisdiction of the CFPB under section 1053 of the 

Dodd-Frank Act. 
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 The Bank further waives (i) such provisions of the CFPB’s rules or other requirements of 

law as may be construed to prevent any CFPB employee from participating in the preparation of, 

or advising the CFPB Director as to, any order, opinion, finding of fact, or conclusion of law to 

be entered pursuant to the offer; and (ii) any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the CFPB 

Director based on the consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

 Dated this 21st day of September, 2012. 

 

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE   CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION  
CORPORATION, LEGAL DIVISION  BUREAU  
BY:  BY: 
 
 
/Joyce M. Raidle/  /Erin Mary Kelly/     
Joyce M. Raidle, Senior Regional Attorney Erin Mary Kelly, Enforcement Attorney 
  Greg Nodler, Enforcement Attorney 
  Christina Coll, Enforcement Attorney 
 
 

AMERICAN EXPRESS CENTURION BANK 
SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

 
 
/Tom Anderson/  /Andrea Moss/      
Tom Anderson  Andrea Moss 
 
 
/Robert Garinger/  /Val Oveson/      
Robert Garinger     Val Oveson 
 
 
/Maria Garciaz/     /William Taylor/     
Maria Garciaz      William Taylor 
 
 
 Comprising the Board of Directors of 

American Express Centurion Bank, 
Salt Lake City, Utah 
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ENDING ILLEGAL CREDIT CARD PRACTICES 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) announced a public enforcement action with orders 
requiring American Express to refund an estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 customers. At every 
stage of the consumer experience, from marketing to enrollment to payment to debt collection, several 
American Express bank programs violated consumer protection laws. 
 
By the Numbers 
• $85 million: The estimated total refund to American Express consumers. 
• 250,000: The approximate number of consumers receiving a refund.  
• $27.5 million:  The civil monetary penalty that American Express will be fined by the CFPB, the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal 
Reserve Board), and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.    

Overview 
The investigation of American Express Centurion Bank, a state-chartered industrial bank and subsidiary to the 
American Express Company, began in February 2011 with a routine exam by the FDIC and the Utah Department 
of Financial Institutions. The FDIC shared the case with the CFPB after the CFPB inherited jurisdiction over 
consumer financial laws in July 2011.  
 
CFPB examiners later confirmed multiple violations across two other American Express subsidiaries: American 
Express Bank, FSB, a federal savings association; and American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., a 
bank holding company and parent company to American Savings Bank, FSB and American Express Centurion 
Bank. The investigations found that the violations occurred at various points in time between 2003 and spring 
2012. 
 
Through a cooperative effort, several federal agencies that have jurisdiction over the American Express entities 
got involved in the investigations and found wrongdoing. Those federal government agencies, in addition to the 
CFPB and FDIC, are the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Reserve Board. The agencies 
have either joined the CFPB in its Consent Orders against American Express or issued their own Consent Order. 
The State of Utah has also taken its own action.  
 
Deceptive Marketing Practices  
American Express Centurion Bank customers were sometimes misled to believe they would receive $300 in 
addition to bonus points if they signed up for the “Blue Sky” credit card. But consumers who met the 
qualifications did not receive $300. This is a violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act which prohibits 
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
 
Age Discrimination 
American Express Centurion Bank used a credit scoring system that treated card applicants differently on the 
basis of age. For eight months, the bank did not fully implement the system for applicants over the age of 35. 
This violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act because it requires credit scoring systems that take age into 
account to be properly designed and implemented. 
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Unlawful Fees on Existing Accounts 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB billed late fees on certain charge cards based 
on a 2.99 percent portion of the customer’s delinquent balance in violation of the Truth in Lending Act, as 
amended by the Credit CARD Act.  
 
Consumer Disputes 
American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB failed to report certain consumer disputes to 
consumer reporting agencies. This is a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
 
Deceptive Debt Collection 
All three of the American Express subsidiaries told certain consumers that settling old debt — debt that had 
been in collections or had already been charged off— would be reflected on their credit report and that 
payment could improve their credit score. But, in fact, the entities did not report such debt to the credit 
reporting agencies and the debt was so old that it may not have appeared on a credit report. The American 
Express subsidiaries also sent letters to consumers saying that after they paid off their old debt, the consumer’s 
remaining debt would be waived or forgiven. But for customers who applied for a new American Express card, 
the company was not really forgiving or waiving the debt. American Express failed to prominently disclose that 
the consumer had to have paid the full balance before the bank would process any future credit or charge card 
application. These actions by the subsidiaries violate the Consumer Financial Protection Act which prohibits 
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
 
CFPB Enforcement Action 
The Bureau has issued Consent Orders to the three American Express subsidiaries. To ensure that all affected 
consumers are repaid and that consumers are no longer subject to these misleading and unlawful deceptive acts 
and practices, American Express has agreed to:  

• End illegal practices: American Express must stop deceiving consumers with Blue Sky credit card marketing 
or any other card marketing by falsely promising a rebate or points feature. American Express will not 
charge illegal late fees. It will not unlawfully discriminate based on age when it comes to credit decisions. It 
will properly report disputes to credit reporting agencies and will make sure that cardholders are told about 
their rights regarding credit disputes. And it will report consumer disputes when it is supposed to. 
 

• American Express will exercise effective oversight and control over its service providers: The Board of 
Directors and senior management at American Express Centurion Bank and American Express Bank, FSB 
must review, revise, develop and implement a sound risk-based compliance management system. 

 
• Complete repayment plus interest to approximately 250,000 consumers: American Express will pay an 

estimated $85 million to approximately 250,000 consumers who were illegally charged, or who had money 
illegally collected or withheld. Specifically, consumers who responded to deceptive marketing and paid off 
old debt in full will be reimbursed. Consumers whose debt was not forgiven as promised will receive $100 
and a pre-approved offer for a new card with terms acceptable to the CFPB and FDIC. Any of these 
consumers who previously paid the waived or forgiven amount in order to get a new card will be refunded 
that amount plus interest. Blue Sky customers who were promised $300 for signing up will get their $300. 
Consumers who paid an illegal late fee will be reimbursed, with interest. American Express will also be 
required to certify that all qualified consumers who suffered unlawful age discrimination have an 
opportunity to reapply for a card. 
 

• Convenient repayment for consumers: American Express customers can expect to receive their payouts no 
later than March 15, 2013. American Express will contact the current and former cardholders directly. If the 
consumers are still American Express customers, they will see a credit in their account. If they no longer 
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have a credit or charge card account or outstanding balance with American Express, they will receive a check 
in the mail.  

 
• Independent audit: Compliance with the terms of the Consent Order will be assured through the work of an 

independent auditor. 
 

• $27.5 million civil monetary penalty: The three American Express subsidiaries will be fined $14.1 million in 
total civil monetary penalties by the CFPB, which has jurisdiction over all three subsidiaries. American 
Express Centurion Bank will be fined $3.9 million by the FDIC. American Express will be fined $9 million by 
the Federal Reserve Board, which has jurisdiction over American Express Travel Related Services Company, 
Inc. and American Express Company, the parent company of all three American Express subsidiaries. And 
American Express Bank, FSB will be fined $500,000 by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. 



 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2012-CFPB-0004 
  
 ) 
 ) 
In the Matter of: ) STIPULATION TO ISSUANCE OF  
 ) A CONSENT ORDER, ORDER 
AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL  ) FOR RESTITUTION, AND  
RELATED SERVICES COMPANY, INC. )  ORDER TO PAY CIVIL 
 ) MONEY PENALTY 
 )   
 ) 
 )   
 ) 
 
 
 Subject to the acceptance of this Stipulation, it is hereby stipulated and agreed by and 

between a representative of the Office of Enforcement of the CFPB and American Express 

Travel Related Services Company, Inc. (“AETRS”) as follows: 

1. AETRS admits that it is a “covered person,” and a “service provider” as those 

terms are defined in sections 1002(6) and 1002(26) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

(“CFP Act”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(1), 5481(6), and 5481(26).   

2. AETRS admits that the CFPB has jurisdiction over AETRS pursuant to sections 

1002(6), 1002(26), 1025, and 1053(b) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), 5481(26), 5515 and 

5563(b). 

3. The CFPB has reason to believe that AETRS has engaged in violation of 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 

4. AETRS, solely for the purpose of this proceeding and without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact, and any violations of law, hereby consents and agrees to the 
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issuance of the Consent Order, Order for Restitution, and Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty by 

the CFPB (“Orders”). 

5. AETRS further consents and agrees to pay a civil money penalty in the amount of 

$9,000,000 to the CFPB pursuant to section 1017(d) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

6. AETRS further stipulates and agrees that such Orders will be deemed to be orders 

which have become final under the CFP Act, and that said Orders shall become effective upon 

their issuance by the CFPB, and fully enforceable by the CFPB pursuant to the provisions of the 

CFP Act. 

7. AETRS hereby waives its right under the CFP Act to: 

(a) All hearings pursuant to the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding has been instituted; 

(b) The filing of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; 

(c) Proceedings before, and a recommended decision by, a hearing officer; 

(d) All post-hearing procedures;  

(e) Judicial review by any court; and 

(f) Any objection to the jurisdiction of the CFPB under section 1053 of the 

Dodd-Frank Act. 

8. AETRS further waives (i) such provisions of the CFPB’s rules or other 

requirements of law as may be construed to prevent any CFPB employee from participating in 

the preparation of, or advising the CFPB Director as to, any order, opinion, finding of fact, or 

conclusion of law to be entered pursuant to the offer; and (ii) any right to claim bias or 

prejudgment by the CFPB 
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Director based on the consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

 Dated this 27th day of September, 2012. 

 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION  
BUREAU  
BY: 
 
 
/Erin Mary Kelly/  
Erin Mary Kelly, Enforcement Attorney 
Greg Nodler, Enforcement Attorney 
Christina Coll, Enforcement Attorney 
 
 

AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL RELATED SERVICES COMPANY, INC. 
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 

 
 
  
/Kenneth Chenault/   
Kenneth Chenault   
 
 
/Louise M. Parent/  
Louise M. Parent 
 
 
/David L. Yowan/     
David L. Yowan      
 
 
Comprising the Board of Directors of  
American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. 
New York, New York 
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KENT MARKUS, OH Bar# 16005 
Enforcement Director 
ELIZABETH BOISON, DC Bar# 488072 
(Email: elizabeth.boison@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone:202-435-7369) 
MELANIE HIRSCH, DC Bar# 989310 
(Email: melanie.hirsch@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone:202-435-7944) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

KENT KAWAKAMI, CA Bar # 149803 - Local Counsel 
(Phone:213-894-4858) 
(Email: Kent.Kawakami@usdoj.gov) 
United States Attorney's Office 
Central District of California - Civil Division 

. 300 North Los Angeles Street, Room 7516 
Los Angeles, CA 90012 
Fax: (213) 894-2380 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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Entertainment and Najia Jalan), an 
individual;  
 
National Legal Help Center, Inc. (f/k/a 
iModify Law, Inc., and d/b/a National 
Legal Help Center, 
NationalLegalHelp.com, National 
Legal Help Center EP, National 
Consumers Bank & Trust, First Class 
Doc Prep / NCHC, and National Legal 
Help Center HB), a corporation;  
 
and 
 
Richard K. Nelsen (a/k/a Richard or 
Rick Nelson, and d/b/a/ National Legal 
Help Center, NationalLegalHelp.com, 
National Legal Assistance, First Class 
Doc Prep, National Consumers Help 
Center, and Williams Litigation Center 
/ Cash Entertainment), an individual; 
 

Defendants. 

 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB” or “Bureau”), 

alleges: 

1. The Bureau brings this action under (1) Sections 1031, 1036(a), 1054, and 

1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a), 5564, and 5565; and (2) Section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009 

(as amended by Section 1097 of the CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and its implementing 

regulation, the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule (“MARS Rule”), recodified as 

Mortgage Assistance Relief Services (collectively, “Regulation O”), 16 C.F.R. § 322 

(2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. §1015 (2011). 



  

 

  

 

 

3 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

2. Defendants have violated the CFPA and Regulation O in connection with 

their marketing and sale of mortgage assistance relief services.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345.  

4. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), and 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

5. Plaintiff Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

Federal consumer financial laws.  12 U.S.C. § 5491(a).  The Bureau’s regulatory 

authority extends to the provision of financial advisory services to consumers, which 

constitute consumer financial products or services.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(5); 

5481(15)(A)(viii).  Financial advisory services include services to assist consumers with 

debt management or debt settlement, modifications to the terms of any extension of 

credit, or foreclosure avoidance.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii); see also id. § 5481(5).  

The Bureau is authorized to take appropriate enforcement action to address violations of 

Federal consumer financial law, including the CFPA and Regulation O.  See 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5511(c)(4); 5512(a); 5531(a); 5564(a).   

6.  Sections 1031 and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a), 

prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, or other violations of Federal 

consumer financial law, by any covered person or service provider.  Regulation O 

requires providers of mortgage assistance relief services to make certain disclosures, 

prohibits them from making certain representations, and generally prohibits them from 

collecting an advance fee for such services.   
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7. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its 

own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the CFPA and Regulation O, and to secure such 

relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or reformation of contracts, 

the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust 

enrichment, and civil money penalties.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5531; 5564(a)-(b); 5565.  

DEFENDANTS 

8. Defendant Najia Jalan (“Jalan”), also known as Sarah or Sara St. John, Sarah 

Johnson, Sarah Kim, Najia Jalah, Sarah Love, Najia Ebrahimi, or Sarah John, is an 

individual who, directly and through Defendant National Legal Help Center, Inc. 

(“NLHC”), offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief 

services, as defined in Regulation O (16 C.F.R. § 322.2 (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.2 (2011)), and financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii), including but not limited to loan modification and foreclosure 

relief services.   

9. Jalan is the President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of NLHC, 

formerly named iModify Law, Inc. (“iModify Law”).  Jalan has managerial responsibility 

for NLHC and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs.  At all times material to 

this complaint, Jalan transacts or has transacted business in the Central District of 

California. 

10. Defendant NLHC is a California corporation formed by Defendant Jalan as 

“iModify Law, Inc.” on or about January 11, 2011, and renamed “National Legal Help 

Center, Inc.” by Defendant Jalan on or about August 29, 2011.  NLHC also operates or 

has operated under the fictitious business names National Legal Help Center, 

NationalLegalHelp.com, National Legal Help Center EP, National Consumers Bank & 

Trust, First Class Doc Prep / NCHC, and National Legal Help Center HB.  Its last known 

physical business address is 1740 East Garry Avenue, Suites 118, 119, 202, and 206, 

Santa Ana, California, and other locations purportedly at 5455 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 
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2122, and 5482 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1513, Los Angeles, California.  NLHC offers, 

provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, as defined 

in Regulation O (16 C.F.R. § 322.2 (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011)), and 

financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(viii), including but not limited to loan modification and foreclosure relief 

services.  At all times material to this complaint, NLHC transacts or has transacted 

business in the Central District of California.   

11. Defendant Richard K. Nelsen (“Nelsen”), also known as Richard Nelson, 

Rick Nelsen, and Rick Nelson, is an individual who, directly and through NLHC, offers, 

provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, as defined 

in Regulation O (16 C.F.R. § 322.2 (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011)), and 

financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(viii), including but not limited to loan modification and foreclosure relief 

services.   

12. Nelsen is the Secretary and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of NLHC.  

Nelson has managerial responsibility for NLHC and materially participates in the conduct 

of its affairs.  At all times material to this complaint, Nelsen transacts or has transacted 

business in the Central District of California. 

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 

13. Since at least early 2010, Jalan, NLHC,  and Nelsen (collectively, 

“Defendants”) have engaged in an ongoing, unlawful mortgage relief scheme that preys 

on financially distressed homeowners nationwide by falsely promising mortgage 

assistance relief services in exchange for an advance fee.  Defendants have used websites, 

mailers, unsolicited emails, and outbound phone calls – more than 90,000 phone calls 

were placed over a three-month period to consumers in all 50 states – to attract struggling 

homeowners by deceptively promising foreclosure relief or mortgage modifications that 

will make consumers’ payments substantially more affordable.  They also promise that 
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they will obtain such results within a certain period of time.  In exchange for these 

promises, Defendants have charged homeowners unlawful advance fees ranging from 

$1,000 to $3,000, and in some cases more than $10,000. 

14. Defendants have collected at least $1.6 million from consumers since early 

2010. 

15. Defendants gain consumers’ confidence by misrepresenting that they are a 

government agency or are approved by or affiliated with the government.  For example, 

one of Defendants’ domain names, makinghomeaffordable.ca, has contained content 

indistinguishable from that of makinghomeaffordable.gov, the official webpage of the 

federal government’s Making Home Affordable program (“MHA”).  The only apparent 

difference is the phone number consumers are given to call for help.  Defendants 

regularly send spam emails to consumers with sender names such as “U.S[.] Dep of 

Housing New Programs,” “United States Department of Mortgage Fraud and Consumer 

Assistance,” and National Homeowners[’] Assistance Program Approved by the FTC 

855-LAW-5559.”  Defendants have sent spam and mailers to consumers that include the 

marks of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), the U.S. 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the Office of the Comptroller of the 

Currency (“OCC”), and the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”).  Defendants 

have recently sent spam to consumers in which Defendants purport to be the California 

Office of the Attorney General. 

16. Additionally, Defendants are innovative in updating their marketing to keep 

pace with the latest government programs.  Some of Defendants’ recent marketing 

materials reference “Independent Foreclosure Review,” which is, in reality, a program 

overseen by the OCC and the Federal Reserve in which borrowers who believe that they 

have suffered injury as a result of deficiencies in foreclosure proceedings may request 

free third-party review of their cases.  Defendants’ recent marketing materials also 
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reference the nationwide mortgage servicing settlement that state and federal authorities 

recently reached with the five largest mortgage servicers. 

17. Defendants also misrepresent that NLHC is a “full-service law firm” and 

that consumers will be represented by attorneys who are experienced in negotiating or 

litigating foreclosure relief or negotiating mortgage loan modifications.  In reality, 

Defendants merely affiliate with attorneys who neither represent consumers nor have an 

attorney-client relationship with them.  

18. Regulation O was promulgated for the explicit purpose of preventing 

consumer harm from mortgage assistance relief scams like Defendants’.  Mortgage 

Assistance Relief Services; Final Rule, 75 Fed. Reg. 75,092, 75,097-98 (Dec. 1, 2010).   

Defendants, however, structure their program in a failed attempt to circumvent 

Regulation O.  For example, Defendants charge some homeowners for a “forensic audit” 

or “securitization report,” which is a purported analysis of mortgage loan documents to 

find law violations.  They claim that they will use this document to gain leverage over, 

and improve the outcome of negotiating foreclosure relief or a mortgage loan 

modification with, consumers’ lenders or servicers.  In some instances, Defendants 

provide contracts to consumers stating that their upfront fee is for only the “forensic 

audit” or “securitization report,” apparently so they can assert that they provide the 

promised foreclosure relief or loan modification for “free” and not in exchange for an 

advance fee. 

19. In reality, Defendants do little or nothing to assist consumers.  Rather, 

Defendants direct consumers to avoid interactions with their lender and to stop making 

their mortgage payments.  In numerous instances, Defendants also do not obtain 

mortgage loan modifications for consumers that will make their payments substantially 

more affordable or will help them avoid foreclosure.   

20. As a result of all of the foregoing conduct, many consumers suffer 

significant economic injury, including foreclosure and the loss of their homes. 
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GOVERNMENT MORTGAGE ASSISTANCE 

21. Numerous mortgage lenders and servicers have offered certain borrowers the 

opportunity to modify loans that have become unaffordable.  Many of these loan 

modification programs have expanded dramatically as lenders have increased 

participation in the federal government’s MHA program, a plan to stabilize the U.S. 

housing market and help millions of Americans reduce their mortgage payments to more 

affordable levels.  The MHA program includes the Home Affordable Modification 

Program (“HAMP”), to which the federal government has committed up to $75 billion to 

keep significant numbers of Americans in their homes by preventing avoidable 

foreclosures.  While Defendants rely on references to MHA and HAMP to market their 

services, Defendants are not connected with the program and are not affiliated or 

otherwise associated with, or endorsed, sponsored, or approved by, the United States 

government in any way. 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

22. Defendants have engaged in a course of conduct to offer, provide, or arrange 

for others to provide to homeowners mortgage assistance relief services, including 

mortgage loan modifications, loss mitigation, foreclosure relief services, and forensic 

audits. 

23. To induce consumers to purchase their services, Defendants market their 

services through Internet websites that promise mortgage modifications and relief from 

foreclosure.  They also employ outbound telephone calls – as well as direct mail 

solicitations and spam emails that solicit inbound calls – to consumers throughout the 

United States who are in financial distress, behind on their mortgage loans, or in danger 

of losing their homes to foreclosure.   

Defendants’ Websites 

24. Defendants own or have owned approximately 165 internet domains whose 

names relate to mortgage assistance relief services or legal services.  Defendants maintain 
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or have maintained numerous mortgage-related websites, including imodifylaw.com, 

hudmortgagehelp.org, nationalbankfraud.com, makinghomeaffordable.ca, 

hampriskdepartment.org, helpwithmylender.com, 995-hope.com, 

obamamortgagehelp.com, fhamortgagehelp.com, nationallegalhelp.com, 

nationalconsumersassistancecenter.com, rocket-lawyer.net, loan-safe.org, green-light.tv, 

lending-tree.tv, law-page.org, fightmortgagefraud.us, nationalmortgagehelp.tv, 

homeloanassistance.org, nationallawcenter.net, and securitizationlitigation.com.  

25. Defendants have operated several websites nearly identical to those of 

government entities or government-endorsed not-for-profit organizations.  The only 

apparent difference, in many instances, has been the phone number that consumers are 

asked to call.  Not only did Defendants’ makinghomeaffordable.ca appear 

indistinguishable from the federal government’s makinghomeaffordable.gov, but 

Defendants’ 995-hope.org and hampriskdepartment.org appeared nearly indistinguishable 

from 995hope.org, the website of the Homeownership Preservation Foundation, a 

network of non-profits that help distressed homeowners. 

26.  In some instances, Defendants’ websites contain the logos of major home 

mortgage lenders and servicers. 

27. In numerous instances, Defendants’ websites focus on loan modifications.  

For example, on obamamortgagehelp.org, Defendants describe how a homeowner can 

restructure a loan – for example, to reduce interest rate or principal, or change an 

adjustable rate to a fixed rate – with the assistance of lawyers.  The page also refers to 

HAMP and suggests that NLHC’s lawyers can help consumers access the program.  

28. Similarly, helpwithmylender.com states that Defendants will negotiate loan 

modifications with consumers’ lenders; it promises, “We will express to your lender your 

unique FINANCIAL HARDSHIP using our proven negotiation techniques.  Using 

current laws and a new start to get back on track with LOWER PAYMENTS based on 

your qualifications.”   
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29. In numerous instances, Defendants’ websites represent that Defendants will 

provide legal services to consumers.  Defendants state on foreclosure-prevention-

law.com, for example, that “We are a Full Services [sic] Law Firm with over 33 Years of 

Experience.”  Similarly, helpwithmylender.com includes a statement that Defendants 

have “teamed up with complex business litigation, real estate and banking attorneys to 

help people victimized by violations of consumer protection laws.” 

30. Defendants’ websites fail to disclose in a clear and prominent manner that:  

(1) Defendants’ company is not associated with the government or approved by the 

government or the consumer’s lender; and (2) even if the consumer uses Defendants’ 

service, the consumer’s lender may not agree to modify the loan. 

Defendants’ Deceptive Direct Mail Solicitations 

31. As part of the scheme, Defendants send direct mail solicitations to 

financially distressed homeowners throughout the United States to convince consumers to 

call Defendants to inquire about Defendants’ purported mortgage assistance relief 

services. 

32. Defendants’ direct mail solicitations misrepresent that the Defendants are 

affiliated with or authorized by consumers’ mortgage lender or servicer.  For instance, 

one of Defendants’ direct mail solicitations states, “Notice of Trustee’s Sale,” in bold at 

the top and goes on to say, “Unless you take action to protect your property, it may be 

sold at a public sale . . . Please call 855-529-5559 to stop the sale”:   
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33. Another of Defendants’ direct mail solicitations contains images and 

language misrepresenting affiliation with various government entities and nonprofit 

housing agencies.  This mailer includes seals and marks owned by Treasury, HUD, and 

the SEC.  It directs recipients to call 855LAW5559, Defendants’ toll-free number, which 

it identifies as the “Homeowner’s HELP Hotline,” an ersatz version of the Homeowner’s 

HOPE Hotline, a nonprofit alliance recognized by Treasury and HUD.  For example: 

 

 

* * * 

 

* * * 

 

* * * 
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34. One page of the direct mail solicitation lists the OCC in its header.  The text 

below the header then falsely reads,  

“The Bureau of Consumer Frauds and Protection, part of the Economic 

Justice Division, prosecutes businesses and individuals engaged in 

fraudulent, misleading, deceptive, or illegal trade practices . . . Your lender 

in [sic] under investigation by the Board of Governors of the Federal 

Reserve System and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency . . .  Our 

records indicate that you have been approved for $10,000 in Grant 

Assistance.” 

The bottom of this page falsely states, “This notice is being sent at the direction of federal 

bank regulators.” 

35. Another page of Defendants’ direct mail solicitation states, beneath an MHA 

header, that consumers “may be able to make [their] payments more affordable,” that 

consumers will be able to “modify [their] mortgage payments,” and that Defendants have 

numerous “modification options.”  The same page states that Defendants will stop a 

foreclosure sale.  

36. Defendants’ direct mail solicitations fail to disclose in a clear and prominent 

manner that:  (1) the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or reject an 
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offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services; (2) Defendants’ 

company is not associated with the government or approved by the government or the 

consumer’s lender; and (3) even if the consumer uses Defendants’ service, the 

consumer’s lender may not agree to modify the loan.  

Defendants’ Deceptive Spam Solicitations 

37. As part of their scheme, Defendants send unsolicited spam emails to 

financially distressed homeowners throughout the United States to convince consumers to 

call or email Defendants to inquire about Defendants’ purported mortgage assistance 

relief services. 

38. In numerous instances, Defendants’ spam emails contain images and 

language, such as the logo of the MHA program, the OCC seal, references to HAMP, and 

references to the SEC and the Attorney General of California, that misrepresent an 

affiliation with government entities.  They also include a toll-free phone number to call 

for help.   

39. Defendants’ spam solicitations come from misleading domain names, such 

as helpwithmybank.ws, makinghomeaffordable.ca, hampriskdepartment.org, and hud-

guidelines.com.  

40. Defendants’ spam solicitations make such statements as: 

  “HAMP REDUCTION PROGRAM TERMS WHEN YOUR [sic] 

APPROVED:  New Rates start at 1.99% with FixTerms . . . Principle [sic] & 

Equity Reduction of Mortgage Loan . . . All Past Due Payments Forgiven 

(Due to the Errors, Violations and Damages on the mortgage contract.)”  

Defendants sent this spam solicitation from the email address 

equalhousing@hud-guidelines.com.  It directs the recipient to visit 

www.hampriskdepartment.org or call (855) 529-5559.   

  “The misrepresentations conducted by [your lender] was [sic] the main 

reason your application was approved for the NEW HAMP REDUCTION 
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PROGRAM.”  Defendants sent this email from the email address 

underwritingreview@helpwithmybank.ws.  It directs the recipient to call 

(855) 270-5421 or (855) LAW-5559. 

 “After all Phases are timely completed and you have submitted all the 

required conditions, your mortgage will be permanently modified and the 

foreclosure process Stopped.”  The email was sent from 

underwritingreview@helpwithmybank.ws.  It directs the recipient to call 

(855) 270-5421 or (855) LAW-5559. 

 “U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission is reviewing your loan approval 

for the new modification reduction program.”  Defendants sent this email 

from the email address approvals@makinghomeaffordable.ca.  It directs the 

recipient to visit makinghomeaffordable.ca or call (855) 270-5421. 

41. Defendants’ spam solicitations fail to disclose in a clear and prominent 

manner that:  (1) the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or reject an 

offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services; (2) Defendants’ 

company is not associated with the government or approved by the government or the 

consumer’s lender; and (3) even if the consumer uses Defendants’ service, the 

consumer’s lender may not agree to modify the loan. 

Defendants’ Deceptive Sales Scheme 

42. Consumers who respond to Defendants’ marketing efforts have home 

mortgage loans and typically are having difficulty making their mortgage payments. 

43. Consumers speak with Defendants’ telephone sales representatives after 

entering their information on Defendants’ websites, receiving outbound telemarketing 

calls, or calling the toll-free numbers listed on websites, spam emails, and direct mail. 

44. In numerous instances, Defendants promise to obtain foreclosure relief or 

loan modifications for consumers that will make their mortgage payments substantially 

more affordable in exchange for an advance fee.  
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45. In numerous instances, Defendants represent that they are affiliated with a 

government entity.   

46. In numerous instances, Defendants tell consumers that Defendants have 

special expertise in negotiating with mortgage lenders and that they have proven prior 

success in obtaining foreclosure relief or loan modifications. 

47. In numerous instances, Defendants represent that consumers will obtain 

mortgage relief as a result of a “forensic audit” or “securitization report” provided by 

Defendants.  In numerous instances, after promising to obtain foreclosure relief or loan 

modifications for consumers in exchange for an upfront fee, Defendants provide 

consumers with contracts in which they claim to charge a fee for the “forensic audit” or 

“securitization report” but not for the promised foreclosure relief or loan modification. 

48. In numerous instances, Defendants claim that they can help consumers 

obtain mortgage relief within a certain period of time, e.g., 90-120 days. 

49. In numerous instances, Defendants claim that they can prevent foreclosures 

or that the modification process will stay lenders’ ability to foreclose.   

50. In numerous instances, Defendants discourage consumers from 

communicating directly with their lenders.  Defendants tell consumers not to contact their 

lenders and claim Defendants will handle all communications with consumers’ lenders.   

51. In numerous instances, Defendants tell consumers that they need not make 

periodic mortgage payments once they start making payments to Defendants.  In those 

instances, Defendants do not disclose that if consumers stop making mortgage payments 

they could lose their homes and damage their credit ratings. 

52. In numerous instances, Defendants tell consumers that Defendants are a law 

firm that specializes in obtaining loan modifications and preventing foreclosure and that 

Defendants’ lawyers will represent them.  In numerous instances, Defendants represent to 

consumers that Defendant Jalan is a lawyer. 
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53. Defendants generally charge an upfront fee ranging from one thousand to 

several thousand dollars.  Defendants typically tell consumers that they must make 

payments before Defendants will begin to provide any services.  

54. After depositing consumers’ checks, Defendants sometimes cause debits to 

be made from consumers’ bank accounts without consumers’ authorization or 

knowledge.  Defendants generally cause these debits to be made by entering the account 

and routing numbers listed on consumers’ paper checks into electronic check-writing 

software and issuing themselves an unauthorized check. 

 
Defendants Do Not Obtain the Promised Mortgage Relief,  

Causing Consumer Injury 

55. In numerous instances, after consumers pay Defendants’ advance fees, 

Defendants fail to obtain foreclosure relief or mortgage loan modifications for consumers 

that make their payments substantially more affordable. 

56. In numerous instances, after consumers pay Defendants’ advance fees, 

Defendants fail to provide consumers with any meaningful mortgage assistance relief 

services. 

57. In numerous instances, after consumers have paid Defendants’ advance fees, 

Defendants fail to answer or return consumers’ telephone calls and emails and fail to 

provide updates about the status of Defendants’ purported communications with lenders.  

When consumers are able to reach Defendants, Defendants generally assure consumers 

that Defendants are working with the consumers’ lenders.  

58. In numerous instances, Defendants instruct consumers to stop paying their 

mortgage either in full or in part. 

59. In numerous instances, consumers have paid more to Defendants than they 

anticipated because Defendants have caused unauthorized payments to be made from 

consumers’ bank accounts.  
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60. In numerous instances, because they believe that Defendants are working on 

their cases, consumers postpone or forego seeking other relief that may be available to 

them, such as working directly with their lender, using a HUD-certified non-profit 

housing counselor, or entering foreclosure mediation. 

61. In numerous instances, consumers who paid Defendants’ fees suffer 

significant economic injury, including foreclosure and the loss of their homes.   

Role of Individual Defendant Jalan 

62. Defendant Jalan, acting individually or in concert with others, offers, 

provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services.   

63. Jalan is the President and CEO of NLHC.  She has managerial responsibility 

for NLHC and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, including the activities 

that form the basis for this Complaint. 

64. Jalan regularly communicates directly with consumers, including making the 

misrepresentations alleged in this Complaint.  

65. Jalan has personally registered or is listed as an owner of numerous fictitious 

business names used by Defendants to solicit consumers, including, inter alia, National 

Legal Help Center, NationalLegalHelp.com, National Legal Assistance, Legal 

Modification Firm CP, First Class Doc Prep, National Legal Help Center, National Legal 

Help Center EP, National Consumers Bank & Trust, First Class Doc Prep / NCHC, 

National Legal Help Center HB, Williams Law Center JW, and Williams Litigation 

Center / Cash Entertainment.  

66. Jalan, most recently under the alias “Sarah Kim,” registered website 

domains used by Defendants to market their services, many of which use her fictitious 

business names.  Jalan also pays for telephone numbers and outbound telemarketing 

software used to perpetrate the scheme, pays Defendants’ employees, pays rent, and pays 

other entities for information about potential customers.  Jalan is also an authorized 

signatory for nearly all of Defendants’ bank accounts.  



  

 

  

 

 

18 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

67. Jalan is not an attorney.  Nevertheless, Defendants, including Jalan, have 

represented to consumers that Defendant Jalan is an attorney.  

Role of Individual Defendant Nelsen 

68. Defendant Nelsen, acting individually or in concert with others, offers, 

provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services. 

69. Nelsen is the Secretary and CFO of NLHC.  He has managerial 

responsibility for NLHC and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, including 

the activities that form the basis for this Complaint.   

70. Nelsen regularly communicates directly with consumers, including making 

the misrepresentations alleged in this Complaint. 

71. Nelsen has personally registered or is listed as an owner of numerous 

fictitious business names used by Defendants to solicit consumers, including First Class 

Doc Prep, National Consumers Help Center, NationalLegalHelp.com, National Legal 

Assistance, and Williams Litigation Center / Cash Entertainment.  

72. Nelsen has paid for website domains used by Defendants to market their 

services, many of which use their fictitious business names.  Nelsen also is an authorized 

signatory for most of Defendants’ bank accounts. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

73. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit covered persons or service providers from engaging “in any 

unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.”  Section 1036(a)(1)(A) also prohibits 

covered persons or service providers from “offer[ing] or provid[ing] to a consumer any 

financial product or service not in conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or 

otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer financial law.”  

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  Section 1036(a)(3) further prohibits any person from 

“knowingly or recklessly provid[ing] substantial assistance to a covered person or service 

provider in violation of the provisions of section 1031 . . . and notwithstanding any 
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provision of [the CFPA], the provider of such substantial assistance shall be deemed to be 

in violation of that section to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is 

provided.”  12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

74. Defendants are “covered person[s],” “related persons,” or “service 

provider[s]” within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (25), and (26). 

COUNT I 

75. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that they generally will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers 

that will make their payments substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid 

foreclosure. 

76. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable, 

and generally do not help them avoid foreclosure. 

77. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 75 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT II 

78. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that Defendants are an agency of the United States government or are 

affiliated with, endorsed or approved by, or otherwise associated with the United States 

government.  

79. In truth and in fact, Defendants are not an agency of the United States 

government or affiliated with, endorsed or approved by, or otherwise associated with the 

United States government. 
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80. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 78 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT III 

81. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that they generally will obtain loan modifications for consumers that will 

make their payments substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid foreclosure, 

within a certain period of time, e.g., 90-120 days. 

82. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain loan modifications 

for consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable, and generally 

do not help them avoid foreclosure, within a certain period of time, e.g., 90-120 days. 

83. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 81 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT IV 

84. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that as a result of a forensic audit provided by Defendants, they generally 

will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers that will make their payments 

substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid foreclosure. 

85. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable, 

and generally do not help them avoid foreclosure, as a result of a forensic audit provided 

by Defendants. 
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86. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 84 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT V 

87. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that Defendants are affiliated with, endorsed or approved by, or otherwise 

associated with a consumer’s mortgage lender or servicer.  

88. In truth and in fact, Defendants are not affiliated with, endorsed or approved 

by, or otherwise associated with a consumer’s mortgage lender or servicer. 

89. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 87 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT VI 

90. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that Defendants will provide or arrange for legal representation for 

consumers. 

91. In truth and fact, Defendants do not provide or arrange for legal 

representation for consumers.  

92. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 90 is false 

and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT VII 

93. In numerous instances, Defendants have caused consumers’ bank accounts 

to be debited without previously having obtained consumers’ express informed consent. 
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94. Defendants’ actions cause or are likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid and that is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

95. Therefore, Defendants’ practices as described in Paragraph 93 constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536. 

REGULATION O 

96. In 2009, Congress directed the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) to 

prescribe rules prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage 

loans.  2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Pub. L. No. 111-8, § 626, 123 Stat. 524, 678 

(Mar. 11, 2009), as clarified by the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and 

Disclosure Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-24, § 511, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 

2009).  Pursuant to that direction, the FTC promulgated the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 

322, all but one provision of which became effective on December 29, 2010.  The 

remaining provision, Section 322.5, became effective on January 31, 2011.  Section 1097 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, transferred rulemaking authority over the MARS Rule to 

the Bureau, which recodified the Rule as 12 C.F.R. Part 1015, and designated it 

“Regulation O.”  The Bureau has authority to enforce Regulation O pursuant to CFPA 

§ 1097 and § 1054, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538, 5564.   

97. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service” as “any service, 

plan, or program, offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for consideration, that 

is represented, expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt to assist the consumer 

with . . . [n]egotiating, obtaining, or arranging a modification of any term of a dwelling 

loan, including a reduction in the amount of interest, principal balance, monthly 

payments, or fees . . . .”  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(i)(2) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 

(2011).  This provision also encompasses “‘forensic audits’ and other services in which 

the provider purports to review, and identify potential errors in, loan documents or 



  

 

  

 

 

23 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

documents sent by a consumer’s lender or servicer in order to avert foreclosure or obtain 

concessions from the lender or servicer.”  75 Fed. Reg. at 75,100 n.110 (Dec. 1, 2010) 

(discussion of Section 322.2 Definitions). 

98. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service provider” as “any 

person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any mortgage 

assistance relief service,” other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a dwelling 

loan, or any agent or contractor of such individual or entity.  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(j) (2010), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011). 

99. Defendants are “mortgage assistance relief service provider[s]” engaged in 

the provision of “mortgage assistance relief services” as those terms are defined in 

Regulation O.  16 C.F.R. § 322.2(j) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011).   

100. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the consumer has 

executed a written agreement between the consumer and the consumer’s loan holder or 

servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained from the loan holder or 

servicer.  16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a) (2011), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 

101. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

representing, expressly or by implication, that a consumer cannot or should not contact or 

communicate with his or her lender or servicer.  16 C.F.R. § 322.3(a) (2010), recodified 

as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(a) (2011). 

102. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

misrepresenting, expressly or by implication:  (1) the likelihood of negotiating, obtaining, 

or arranging any represented service or result; (2) the amount of time it will take the 

mortgage assistance relief service provider to accomplish any represented service or 

result; (3) that a mortgage assistance relief service provider is affiliated with, endorsed or 

approved by, or otherwise associated with the United States government, any 

governmental homeowner assistance plan, any federal, state, or local government agency, 
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unit or department, any nonprofit housing counselor agency or program, or the maker, 

holder, or servicer of the consumer’s dwelling loan; or (4) the consumer’s obligation to 

make scheduled periodic payments pursuant to the terms of the consumer’s dwelling 

loan.  Regulation O also prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, that the consumer will receive legal 

representation.  16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(1)-(4), (8) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.3(b)(1)-(4), (8) (2011). 

103. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

failing to place a statement in every general commercial communication disclosing that:  

(1) the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not approved by 

the government or the consumer’s lender; and (2) in cases where the provider has 

represented, expressly or by implication, that consumers will receive certain services or 

results, a statement disclosing that the consumer’s lender may not agree to modify a loan, 

even if the consumer uses the provider’s service.  16 C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(1)-(2) (2010), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(1)-(2) (2011). 

104. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

failing to place a statement in every consumer-specific commercial communication:  (1) 

confirming that the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or reject an offer 

of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services; (2) disclosing that the 

provider is not associated with the government and its service is not approved by the 

government or the consumer’s lender; and (3) in cases where the provider has 

represented, expressly or by implication, that consumers will receive certain services or 

results, disclosing that the consumer’s lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the 

consumer uses the provider’s service.  16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(1)-(3) (2010), recodified as 

12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1)-(3) (2011). 

105. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider, in 

cases where the provider has represented that the consumer should temporarily or 
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permanently discontinue payments on a dwelling loan, from failing to clearly and 

prominently state in close proximity to any such representation that the consumer could 

lose his or her home and damage his or her credit rating if the consumer stops paying the 

mortgage.  16 C.F.R. § 322.4(c) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(c) (2011). 

106. Pursuant to § 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, a violation of Regulation 

O constitutes an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the CFPA, in violation 

of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION O 

COUNT VIII 

107. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in the 

course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants have asked for or received payment before 

consumers have executed a written agreement between the consumer and the loan holder 

or servicer that incorporates the offer obtained by Defendants, in violation of Regulation 

O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a) (2011), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 

COUNT IX 

108. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in the 

course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants have misrepresented, expressly or by implication, 

that a consumer should not contact or communicate with his or her lender or servicer, in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(a) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.3(a) (2011). 

COUNT X 

109. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in the 

course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants have misrepresented, expressly or by implication, 

material aspects of their services, including, but not limited to: 
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a. Defendants’ likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications for 

consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable, 

in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(1) (2010), recodified 

as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(1) (2011); 

b. the amount of time it will take for Defendants to obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for consumers that will make their payments substantially 

more affordable, in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(2) 

(2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(2) (2011); 

c. Defendants’ affiliation with, endorsement or approval by, or other 

association with the United States government, a governmental 

homeowner assistance plan, any Federal, State, or local governmental 

agency, unit, or department, or a nonprofit housing counselor agency or 

program, in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(3)(i), (ii), 

(iii), and (iv) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(3)(i), (ii), (iii), 

and (iv) (2011);  

d. Defendants’ affiliation with, endorsement or approval by, or other 

association with the maker, holder, or servicer of the consumer’s 

dwelling loan, in violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(3)(v) 

(2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(3)(v) (2011); and 

e. that consumers will receive legal representation, in violation of 

Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(8) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.3(b)(8) (2011).  

COUNT XI 

110. In numerous instances, since the effective dates of the MARS Rule, in the 

course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide  mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants: 
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a. have failed to make the following disclosures in all general commercial 

communications – 

i. “(Name of Company) is not associated with the government, and 

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(1) (2010), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(1) (2011); and 

ii. “Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan,” in violation of Regulation O, 

16 C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(2) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(a)(2) (2011); 

b. have failed to make the following disclosures in all consumer-specific 

commercial communications – 

i. “You may stop doing business with us at any time.  You may 

accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from 

your lender [or servicer].  If you reject the offer, you do not have 

to pay us.  If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert 

amount or method for calculating the amount) for our services,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(1) (2010), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1) (2011); 

ii. “(Name of company) is not associated with the government, and 

our service is not approved by the government or your lender,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(2) (2010), 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(2) (2011); and 

iii. “Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan,” in violation of Regulation O, 

16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(3) (2010), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(b)(3) (2011); and 
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c. have failed to make the following disclosure in all communications in 

cases where Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for 

sale, sale, or performance of any mortgage assistance relief service, that 

the consumer should temporarily or permanently discontinue payments, 

in whole or in part, on a dwelling loan, clearly and prominently, and in 

close proximity to any such representation:  “If you stop paying your 

mortgage, you could lose your home and damage your credit rating,” in 

violation of Regulation O, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(c) (2010), recodified as 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.4(c) (2011). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

111. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA and Regulation O.  In addition, Defendants 

have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.  Absent 

injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap 

unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

112. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable 

relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, and monetary relief, including but not limited to 

civil money penalties, to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law 

enforced by the Bureau.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a); 5565(a), (c).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

113. Wherefore, Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, pursuant to 

Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s own 

powers to grant legal or equitable relief, requests that the Court: 
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a. award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may 

be necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the 

pendency of this action, and to preserve the possibility of effective final 

relief, including but not limited to a temporary restraining order, a 

preliminary injunction, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and 

appointment of a receiver; 

b. enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the CFPA 

and Regulation 0 by Defendants; 

c. award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the CFPA and 

Regulation 0, including but not limited to rescission or reformation of 

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment; 

d. award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

e. award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: December3'._, 2012 Respectfully submitted, 

Kent Markus 
Enforcement Director 

E~~ 
(Email: elizabeth.boison@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7369) 
Melanie Hirsch 
(Email: melanie.hirsch@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7944) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
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Fax: (202) 435-7722 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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DEC 11 2012

CFPB Halts Alleged Nationwide
Mortgage Loan Modification Scams
Operations Targeted Financially Distressed Consumers in Danger of
Losing Their Homes

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today
announced actions to halt two alleged mortgage loan modification scams it believes
ripped-off thousands of struggling homeowners across the country. In total, these
operations took in more than $10 million by charging consumers for services that
falsely promised to prevent foreclosures or renegotiate troubled mortgages.

“We are taking on schemes that prey on consumers who are struggling to pay their
mortgages or facing foreclosure,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are
especially concerned with those who misrepresent government programs or websites to
divert distressed homeowners from needed assistance.”

At the request of the CFPB, U.S. District Court Judges in the State of California have
ordered a halt to both operations, the Gordon Law Firm and the National Legal Help
Center, and frozen their assets while the CFPB moves forward with the cases. The case
involving the National Legal Help Center was initially referred to the CFPB by the Office
of the Special Inspector General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program (SIGTARP) and
Treasury’s Office of Financial Stability, which have coordinated closely with the Bureau
throughout the investigation.

“It is absolutely unacceptable for unscrupulous con artists to take advantage of our
nation’s housing crisis by targeting homeowners looking for help from TARP’s Home
Affordable Modification Program,” said Christy Romero, Special Inspector General for
TARP (SIGTARP). “We thank the CFPB for protecting homeowners. SIGTARP will
continue to stop these scams and educate homeowners that mortgage modifications
through HAMP are free.”

The CFPB is targeting loan modification operations that attempt to disguise their false
promises of relief for struggling homeowners with claims that they are performing legal
work or are a law firm. The Bureau is also particularly concerned with schemes that
attract victims with false claims that they are endorsed by or represent the government.
These tactics are used by mortgage relief scams to attract victims, add credibility to
their schemes, or exploit certain legal exemptions for the practice of law.

The CFPB complaints allege that the defendants in both cases violated the Dodd-Frank
Act and Regulation O, formerly known as the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule.
These laws prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices and protect distressed
homeowners from mortgage relief scams.

Violations of the law alleged in the CFPB’s complaints in both cases include:

Illegally charged large upfront fees: It is against the law for mortgage relief
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providers to charge fees before services are provided. However, the defendants in
both cases collected fees early on, typically ranging between $1,000 and $4,500
from each distressed homeowner, for services that rarely if ever materialized.
Deceptively claimed to be affiliated with government agencies and/or
programs: Defendants in both cases used deceptive language and mailings with
government logos, letterhead, and/or marks to mislead consumers into believing
that their mortgage relief services were sponsored by or associated with
government agencies or programs.
Misrepresented that they would secure loan modifications for
consumers: Defendants misled consumers that the defendants were
experienced negotiators who would substantially reduce mortgage payments, and
that defendants would identify legal violations by consumers’ banks or mortgage
companies to use as leverage in loan modification negotiations. However, it
appears that defendants failed to provide meaningful relief for consumers.
Instructed consumers to stop paying their mortgages and stop
contacting their lenders: Financially distressed consumers were told to avoid
interactions with their lenders and to stop mortgage payments because the
defendants would provide relief, potentially putting the consumers unknowingly
at risk of losing their homes and/or ruining their credit scores.

The CFPB also alleges that, after pocketing thousands of dollars in illegal fees from one
distressed homeowner after another, the defendants in both cases typically stopped
returning consumers’ phone calls and emails. In the end, many consumers learned that
the defendants had not contacted their lenders or obtained any meaningful relief for
them. Ultimately, homeowners across the country lost thousands of dollars each and
suffered significant economic injury, including losing their homes.

National Legal Help Center

The more recent of the two actions involves California residents Najia Jalan and
Richard K. Nelson and their operation, National Legal Help Center, which appears to
target consumers in all 50 states with false promises of mortgage relief. According to
the CFPB, National Legal Help Center falsely claimed that they would provide legal
representation for consumers even though the individual defendants are not attorneys
and consumers received no actual legal representation.

Defendants falsely claimed that, for a fee, they could assist consumers in getting
benefits from government-affiliated programs, including the recent nationwide
mortgage servicing settlement between state attorneys general and the federal
government, and the five largest mortgage servicers. Defendants also falsely claimed
that they were associated with the Independent Foreclosure Review program overseen
by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) and the Federal Reserve. In
reality, the defendants were not affiliated with either of the programs or in a position to
provide the promised benefits to consumers. In fact, on March 16, 2012, the OCC issued
an alert on its website about this scam.

The CFPB lodged its complaint against National Legal Help Center and requested a
temporary restraining order in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of
California on December 3, 2012. The court granted the request the next day.

The full text of the National Legal Help Center complaint is available here:
http: //files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-complaint.pdf
The full text of the Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) entered by the
court against National Legal Help Center is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-tro.pdf
The Bureau’s Memorandum in support of its application for the TRO
against National Legal Help Center is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-tro-memo.pdf
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Gordon Law Firm

In July 2012, the CFPB also took similar action against California residents Chance
Edward Gordon and Abraham Michael Pessar and their companies. The CFPB alleges
they are responsible for operating a network of mortgage loan modification businesses
that targeted consumers in over 25 states. The defendants allegedly gained
homeowners’ trust by using Gordon’s “law firm” status and led consumers to believe
that a law firm was working with their banks and mortgage companies to modify
mortgage loans or provide foreclosure relief, while the defendants typically failed to
deliver relief.

The CFPB lodged its complaint against the Gordon Law Firm and requested a
temporary restraining order in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of
California on July 17, 2012. The court granted the request on the next day. On
November 16, 2012, the Court entered a preliminary injunction order halting the
defendants’ alleged unlawful conduct and freezing their assets while the case proceeds.

The full text of the Gordon Law Firm complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201207_cfpb_enforcement-complaint-
filed_gordon-law.pdf
The full text of the Preliminary Injunction Order entered by the court
against the Gordon Law Firm is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_preliminary-injunction-order.pdf

In connection with these actions, the CFPB has also received assistance from the State
Bar of California and the U.S. Attorney’s Office in Los Angeles.

Today, the CFPB is also releasing mortgage tips on how to spot a scam and where
consumers can find help. The consumer tips can be found here:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/why-you-should-be-suspicious-of-government-
logos

Consumers can alert the CFPB about potential scams by filing a complaint at
www.consumerfinance.gov or by calling toll free: 1-855-411-2372. Consumers can also
submit a Tell Your Story account of their experiences on the CFPB’s web site.

In December 2011, SIGTARP, the CFPB, and the U.S. Department of the Treasury
established a task force to combat mortgage modification scams exploiting HAMP and
to raise public awareness of the scams. The task force issued a Consumer Fraud Alert,
which offers tips on how to identify and avoid mortgage modification scams. To view
the Consumer Fraud Alert tip sheet, visit:
www.SIGTARP.gov/documents/Consumer_Fraud_Alert.pdf .

NOTE: The Bureau files a complaint when it has reason to believe that the law has
been or is being violated, and it appears to the Bureau that an enforcement action is in
the public interest. The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has
actually violated the law.
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DEC 11 2012

CFPB Halts Alleged Nationwide
Mortgage Loan Modification Scams
Operations Targeted Financially Distressed Consumers in Danger of
Losing Their Homes

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today
announced actions to halt two alleged mortgage loan modification scams it believes
ripped-off thousands of struggling homeowners across the country. In total, these
operations took in more than $10 million by charging consumers for services that
falsely promised to prevent foreclosures or renegotiate troubled mortgages.

“We are taking on schemes that prey on consumers who are struggling to pay their
mortgages or facing foreclosure,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are
especially concerned with those who misrepresent government programs or websites to
divert distressed homeowners from needed assistance.”

At the request of the CFPB, U.S. District Court Judges in the State of California have
ordered a halt to both operations, the Gordon Law Firm and the National Legal Help
Center, and frozen their assets while the CFPB moves forward with the cases. The case
involving the National Legal Help Center was initially referred to the CFPB by the Office
of the Special Inspector General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program (SIGTARP) and
Treasury’s Office of Financial Stability, which have coordinated closely with the Bureau
throughout the investigation.

“It is absolutely unacceptable for unscrupulous con artists to take advantage of our
nation’s housing crisis by targeting homeowners looking for help from TARP’s Home
Affordable Modification Program,” said Christy Romero, Special Inspector General for
TARP (SIGTARP). “We thank the CFPB for protecting homeowners. SIGTARP will
continue to stop these scams and educate homeowners that mortgage modifications
through HAMP are free.”

The CFPB is targeting loan modification operations that attempt to disguise their false
promises of relief for struggling homeowners with claims that they are performing legal
work or are a law firm. The Bureau is also particularly concerned with schemes that
attract victims with false claims that they are endorsed by or represent the government.
These tactics are used by mortgage relief scams to attract victims, add credibility to
their schemes, or exploit certain legal exemptions for the practice of law.

The CFPB complaints allege that the defendants in both cases violated the Dodd-Frank
Act and Regulation O, formerly known as the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule.
These laws prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices and protect distressed
homeowners from mortgage relief scams.

Violations of the law alleged in the CFPB’s complaints in both cases include:

Illegally charged large upfront fees: It is against the law for mortgage relief
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providers to charge fees before services are provided. However, the defendants in
both cases collected fees early on, typically ranging between $1,000 and $4,500
from each distressed homeowner, for services that rarely if ever materialized.
Deceptively claimed to be affiliated with government agencies and/or
programs: Defendants in both cases used deceptive language and mailings with
government logos, letterhead, and/or marks to mislead consumers into believing
that their mortgage relief services were sponsored by or associated with
government agencies or programs.
Misrepresented that they would secure loan modifications for
consumers: Defendants misled consumers that the defendants were
experienced negotiators who would substantially reduce mortgage payments, and
that defendants would identify legal violations by consumers’ banks or mortgage
companies to use as leverage in loan modification negotiations. However, it
appears that defendants failed to provide meaningful relief for consumers.
Instructed consumers to stop paying their mortgages and stop
contacting their lenders: Financially distressed consumers were told to avoid
interactions with their lenders and to stop mortgage payments because the
defendants would provide relief, potentially putting the consumers unknowingly
at risk of losing their homes and/or ruining their credit scores.

The CFPB also alleges that, after pocketing thousands of dollars in illegal fees from one
distressed homeowner after another, the defendants in both cases typically stopped
returning consumers’ phone calls and emails. In the end, many consumers learned that
the defendants had not contacted their lenders or obtained any meaningful relief for
them. Ultimately, homeowners across the country lost thousands of dollars each and
suffered significant economic injury, including losing their homes.

National Legal Help Center

The more recent of the two actions involves California residents Najia Jalan and
Richard K. Nelson and their operation, National Legal Help Center, which appears to
target consumers in all 50 states with false promises of mortgage relief. According to
the CFPB, National Legal Help Center falsely claimed that they would provide legal
representation for consumers even though the individual defendants are not attorneys
and consumers received no actual legal representation.

Defendants falsely claimed that, for a fee, they could assist consumers in getting
benefits from government-affiliated programs, including the recent nationwide
mortgage servicing settlement between state attorneys general and the federal
government, and the five largest mortgage servicers. Defendants also falsely claimed
that they were associated with the Independent Foreclosure Review program overseen
by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) and the Federal Reserve. In
reality, the defendants were not affiliated with either of the programs or in a position to
provide the promised benefits to consumers. In fact, on March 16, 2012, the OCC issued
an alert on its website about this scam.

The CFPB lodged its complaint against National Legal Help Center and requested a
temporary restraining order in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of
California on December 3, 2012. The court granted the request the next day.

The full text of the National Legal Help Center complaint is available here:
http: //files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-complaint.pdf
The full text of the Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) entered by the
court against National Legal Help Center is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-tro.pdf
The Bureau’s Memorandum in support of its application for the TRO
against National Legal Help Center is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_nlhc-tro-memo.pdf
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Gordon Law Firm

In July 2012, the CFPB also took similar action against California residents Chance
Edward Gordon and Abraham Michael Pessar and their companies. The CFPB alleges
they are responsible for operating a network of mortgage loan modification businesses
that targeted consumers in over 25 states. The defendants allegedly gained
homeowners’ trust by using Gordon’s “law firm” status and led consumers to believe
that a law firm was working with their banks and mortgage companies to modify
mortgage loans or provide foreclosure relief, while the defendants typically failed to
deliver relief.

The CFPB lodged its complaint against the Gordon Law Firm and requested a
temporary restraining order in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of
California on July 17, 2012. The court granted the request on the next day. On
November 16, 2012, the Court entered a preliminary injunction order halting the
defendants’ alleged unlawful conduct and freezing their assets while the case proceeds.

The full text of the Gordon Law Firm complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201207_cfpb_enforcement-complaint-
filed_gordon-law.pdf
The full text of the Preliminary Injunction Order entered by the court
against the Gordon Law Firm is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_preliminary-injunction-order.pdf

In connection with these actions, the CFPB has also received assistance from the State
Bar of California and the U.S. Attorney’s Office in Los Angeles.

Today, the CFPB is also releasing mortgage tips on how to spot a scam and where
consumers can find help. The consumer tips can be found here:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/why-you-should-be-suspicious-of-government-
logos

Consumers can alert the CFPB about potential scams by filing a complaint at
www.consumerfinance.gov or by calling toll free: 1-855-411-2372. Consumers can also
submit a Tell Your Story account of their experiences on the CFPB’s web site.

In December 2011, SIGTARP, the CFPB, and the U.S. Department of the Treasury
established a task force to combat mortgage modification scams exploiting HAMP and
to raise public awareness of the scams. The task force issued a Consumer Fraud Alert,
which offers tips on how to identify and avoid mortgage modification scams. To view
the Consumer Fraud Alert tip sheet, visit:
www.SIGTARP.gov/documents/Consumer_Fraud_Alert.pdf .

NOTE: The Bureau files a complaint when it has reason to believe that the law has
been or is being violated, and it appears to the Bureau that an enforcement action is in
the public interest. The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has
actually violated the law.

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201207_cfpb_enforcement-complaint-filed_gordon-law.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_preliminary-injunction-order.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/why-you-should-be-suspicious-of-government-logos
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.sigtarp.gov/documents/Consumer_Fraud_Alert.pdf


 

Privacy policy and legal notices

Accessibility

Plain writing

No FEAR Act

FOIA

 

USA.gov

Office of Inspector General

Ombudsman

 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

Visite nuestro sitio web en
español

ESPAÑOL

Contact us  Newsroom  Jobs  Open government

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy-policy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/no-fear-act/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia/
http://usa.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/oig/default.htm
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/ombudsman/
http://facebook.com/cfpb
http://twitter.com/cfpb
http://youtube.com/CFPB
http://flickr.com/cfpbphotos
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/feed/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/contact-us/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/jobs/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/open/


An official website of the United States Government Español  中文  Tiếng Việt  한국의  Tagalog  Pусский العربیة   Kreyòl Ayisyen

  

HOME INSIDE THE CFPB GET ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATE LAW & REGULATION SUBMIT A COMPLAINT

HOME > BLOG > A JOINT ENFORCEMENT ACTION WITH STATES TO STOP ILLEGAL ADVANCE
FEES 

DEC 21 2012

A joint enforcement action with states to stop illegal
advance fees
BY KENT MARKUS

Today, a federal district court entered an order  that returns money to the pockets of American consumers and stops a company from
violating laws. The case also represents a landmark for us: it’s the first time we’ve joined with state attorneys general in filing suit to
enforce consumer-financial-protection laws. The order is a win for the company’s customers.

Payday Loan Debt Solution, Inc. (PLDS) is a debt-relief service provider that purports to help consumers settle their payday-loan debts. A
Bureau investigation found evidence that PLDS routinely charged consumers a fee in advance of actually settling their debts. This practice
violates the Federal Trade Commission’s Telemarketing Sales Rule, the Dodd-Frank Act, and the laws of various states.

We brought this lawsuit to stop PLDS’s unlawful practice and to obtain compensation for consumers who were unlawfully charged
advance fees. Upon learning of the Bureau’s investigation, PLDS immediately ceased its unlawful conduct and has cooperated with the
Bureau’s investigation. Today, the court enters an order that resolves this matter. The order:

1. Finds that PLDS and its president, Sanjeet Parvani, engaged in practices that violated the federal consumer financial protection
laws and the laws of several states;

2. Enjoins PLDS and Parvani from engaging in the unlawful conduct in the future;
3. Requires PLDS to pay $100,000, amounting to full restitution for consumers who were charged advance fees, but who received

no debt-settlement services from PLDS by the time their accounts were closed;
4. Requires PLDS to pay to the Bureau $5,000 in a civil money penalty; and
5. Requires PLDS and Parvani to cooperate with the Bureau in any future investigations of other entities related to the transactions

that are the subject of the complaint.

This was our first joint enforcement action with state attorneys general. As we sought to enforce federal consumer protection laws, the
states of Hawaii, New Mexico, North Carolina, North Dakota, and Wisconsin all joined our investigation and lawsuit to enforce their own
laws. Today’s order grants complete injunctive relief to consumers under the laws of these states, as well as restitution to harmed
consumers there and elsewhere.

The court order includes instructions to pay a civil monetary penalty. PLDS and Parvani immediately ceased the unlawful conduct and
cooperated with our investigation, which helped limit the size of the civil penalty.

This matter affects only a single debt-relief service provider, but it is part of our comprehensive effort to police the debt-relief industry.
Our work focuses not only on debt-relief service providers, but also on their partners, including those who facilitate their unlawful conduct
and who may also run afoul of the federal consumer financial protection laws.

 

 0 COMMENTS |  CATEGORIES: ENFORCEMENT |  PAYDAY LOANS

Contact us  (855) 411-2372

 Search

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#zh
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#vi
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ko
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#tl
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ru
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ar
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ht
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/
http://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&t=A%20joint%20enforcement%20action%20with%20states%20to%20stop%20illegal%20advance%20fees
http://twitter.com/intent/tweet/?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&via=CFPB
http://api.addthis.com/oexchange/0.8/forward/email/offer?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&title=A%20joint%20enforcement%20action%20with%20states%20to%20stop%20illegal%20advance%20fees&pubid=ra-4da354ee346886d2
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/
http://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&t=A%20joint%20enforcement%20action%20with%20states%20to%20stop%20illegal%20advance%20fees
http://twitter.com/intent/tweet/?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&via=CFPB
http://api.addthis.com/oexchange/0.8/forward/email/offer?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/a-joint-enforcement-action-with-states-to-stop-illegal-advance-fees/&title=A%20joint%20enforcement%20action%20with%20states%20to%20stop%20illegal%20advance%20fees&pubid=ra-4da354ee346886d2
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/author/kmarkus/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201212_cfpb_plds-final-judgment.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/category/enforcement/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/category/payday-loans/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
tel:+18554112372


Comments for this thread are now closed. ×

0 Comments Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  Login

Sort by Oldest Share ⤤

Be the first to comment.

Subscribe✉ Add Disqus to your sited Privacy

Favorite ★

The CFPB blog aims to facilitate conversations about our work. We want your comments to drive this conversation. Please be courteous, constructive, and on-
topic. To help make the conversation productive, we encourage you to read our comment policy before posting. Comments on any post remain open for seven
days from the date it was posted.

 

Privacy policy and legal notices

Accessibility

Plain writing

No FEAR Act

FOIA

 

USA.gov

Office of Inspector General

Ombudsman

 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

Visite nuestro sitio web en
español

ESPAÑOL

Contact us  Newsroom  Jobs  Open government

http://disqus.com/
https://disqus.com/websites/?utm_source=cfpbblog&utm_medium=Disqus-Footer
https://help.disqus.com/customer/portal/articles/1657951?utm_source=disqus&utm_medium=embed-footer&utm_content=privacy-btn
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy-policy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/no-fear-act/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia/
http://usa.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/oig/default.htm
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/ombudsman/
http://facebook.com/cfpb
http://twitter.com/cfpb
http://youtube.com/CFPB
http://flickr.com/cfpbphotos
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/feed/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/comment-policy
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/contact-us/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/jobs/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/open/


Case 1:12-cv-24410-JEM   Document 10   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/21/2012   Page 1 of 18

UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Miami Division 

Case No. 1:12-cv-24410-MARTINEZ-MCALILEY 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; 
State of Hawaii, ex rel. Bruce B. Kim; 
State of New Mexico, ex rel. Gary K. King; State of 
North Carolina, ex rel. Roy 
Cooper; State of North Dakota, ex rel. Wayne 
Stenehjem; and State of Wisconsin, ex rel. J.B. Van 
Hollen, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Payday Loan Debt Solution, Inc., a 
Florida corporation, and Sanjeet Parvani, 
president of Payday Loan Debt Solution, Inc., 

Defendants. 

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "Bureau"), and the State of Hawaii, ex 

rel. Bruce B. Kim, Executive Director, State of Hawaii Office of Consumer Protection 

("Hawaii"); the State of New Mexico, ex rel. Gary K. King, Attorney General ("New Mexico"); 

the State of North Carolina, ex rel. Roy Cooper, Attorney General ("North Carolina"); the State 

of North Dakota, ex rel. Wayne Stenehjem, Attorney General ("North Dakota"); and the State of 

Wisconsin, ex rel. J.B. Van Hollen, Attorney General ("Wisconsin") (together, "the States") 

commenced this civil action on December 14, 2012, to obtain injunctive relief; restitution; the 

disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; civil money penalties; attorneys' fees and costs; and other 
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equitable relief from Payday Loan Debt Solution, Inc. (''PLDS") and Sanjeet Parvani (''Parvani") 

(together, "Defendants") alleging conduct in violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule (''TSR"), 

16 C.F.R. § 310; the Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481 

et seq.; Hawaii Revised Statutes Chapters 480 and 446; the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, 

NMSA 1978, §§57-12-1 to -26 (1967, as amended through 2009); the North Carolina Unfair and 

Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1; the North Carolina Debt Adjusting Act, N.C. 

Gen. Stat.§ 14-423, et seq.; the North Dakota Century Code, N.D.C.C. §§ 13-11-02, 13-11-21; 

the Wisconsin Statutes, Wisc. Stat. 218.02; and the Wisconsin Administrative Code, Wisc. 

Admin. Code Ch. DFI-Bkg. 73. 

The parties, by and through respective counsel, agree to the entry of this Stipulated Final 

Judgment and Order ("Order"). Defendants have waived service of the Summons and Complaint. 

The parties having requested the entry of this Order, it is therefore ORDERED, 

ADJUDGED, and DECREED as follows: 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

PLDS's Business Practices 

1. PLDS is a for-profit corporation that is located, resides, and does business in this 

district at 2555 N.W. 102 Avenue,# 206, Doral, Florida 33172. 

2. PLDS began doing business in approximately November 2009. PLDS marketed 

and provided debt-relief services relating to settlement of short-term or small-cash Joans known 

as "payday loans." 

3. In exchange for a fee, PLDS promised to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise 

alter the terms of at least one debt between consumers and one or more unsecured creditors or 
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debt collectors pursuant to a settlement agreement or other contractual agreement executed by a 

consumer. 

4. PLDS offered to settle exclusively payday-loan debts. 

5. Since its inception through approximately May 15, 2012, PLDS's practice had 

been to request or receive enrollment fees, processing fees, debt-relief service fees, or other types 

of fees in advance of settling at least one of a consumer's payday-loan debts. 

6. PLDS received inbound telephone calls from consumers, who responded to 

PLDS's Internet marketing efforts at http://www.pdlds.com and efforts through "pay-per-click" 

web search-results services. 

7. Consumers enrolled in PLDS's program ("customers") stopped paying their 

creditors and, instead, made monthly payments by ACH transfer into a savings account 

("dedicated account") managed by a third-party payment processor. 

8. According to a contract that PLDS entered into with the payment processor, the 

payment processor was responsible for the management, processing, and administration of the 

payments to and from the customers' dedicated accounts. The payment processor managed the 

dedicated account, subject to instructions from the customer. 

9. PLDS informed customers that, if and when a customer's account reached a 

sufficient balance, PLDS would arrange for the payment of funds from the dedicated account to 

the payday lenders to whom the customer owed debt. 

10. Since PLDS's inception, customers deposited more than $1.-6 million into their 

dedicated accounts and directed the payment processor to make payments totaling $288,393.62 

to creditors in settlement of their debts. Several customers were charged fees, but closed their 

dedicated accounts before their payday-loan creditors received any payments in settlement of the 
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customers' debts. With respect to dedicated accounts that were established on or after October 

27, 2010, the effective date of the TSR, and that were closed before creditors received payments 

for settlements achieved through PLDS's debt-relief program, PLDS collected fees totaling 

$87,243.96. 

11. During customers' participation in PLDS's program, for each customer, the 

payment processor regularly: (1) withdrew funds from the customer's bank account through 

ACH transfer and deposited them into the dedicated account, and (2) transmitted funds from the 

dedicated account to itself and to PLDS to cover processing and servicing fees, including the fee 

PLDS charged for its debt-relief services. 

12. Since its inception, PLDS never provided debt-relief services to customers 

without relying on assistance from the payment processor. Moreover, in order to provide the 

debt-relief services, PLDS required the services of a third-party payment processor. 

13. During this time, the payment processor administered all of PLDS's data relating 

to its customers' payments for all fees associated with PLDS 's debt-relief service, including 

advance fees charged prior to settling the customers' debts. These transactions reflect when 

funds were routinely transferred out of customers' accounts to pay PLDS 's fees before payments 

went to any creditors. PLDS and the payment processor also directly communicated about 

PLDS's fee structure. 

Parvani's Role as President of PLDS 

14. Parvani is PLDS 's president and, at all times, has fully cooperated with the 

Plaintiffs' investigation into PLDS. As president, Parvani not only managed PLDS's day-to-day 

operations-including PLDS 's Internet marketing of debt-relief services, PLDS' s interactions 

with consumers who signed up for those services, and PLDS's requesting and receipt of fees for 
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the services- but also engaged directly in sale of debt-relief services and customer-support 

functions for PLDS. Parvani designed and implemented the PLDS fee structure unaware and not 

believing that it violated any laws. 

15. Parvani also chose and agreed to the terms of business with PLDS's payment 

processor. 

16. Since PLDS's inception, Parvani knew that PLDS routinely charged fees before 

settling consumers' debts but believed that the fees charged did not violate the TSR, as amended 

in 2010. 

PLDS's Business within the States 

17. Although Defendants reside or do business in Florida, PLDS 's services extend to 

customers in several states nationwide. 

18. On numerous occasions, PLDS has engaged in the business or practice of debt 

adjusting in Hawaii. 

19. On numerous occasions, PLDS has requested or received debt-settlement fees 

from customers in New Mexico before settling their debts. 

20. On numerous occasions, PLDS engaged in, or offered or attempted to engage in, 

the business or practice of debt adjusting in North Carolina. 

21. On numerous occasions, PLDS has acted as a debt-settlement provider in North 

Dakota without first having obtained a license and has charged advance fees prohibited by North 

Dakota law. 

22. On numerous occasions, PLDS has acted as an adjustment-service company in 

Wisconsin without obtaining a license and assessed fees before services were rendered. In 
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addition, PLDS charged customers in Wisconsin fees for adjustment services in excess often 

percent of the moneys paid to PLDS to be distributed to payday-loan creditors. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Bureau has commenced this action under sections 103l(a), 1036(a)(l), 

1054(a), and 1061 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l), 5564(a), 5581, and under the 

Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 

6105(d). 

2. The Bureau is authorized to seek the relief that it has requested under 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(a) and (b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it applies to persons covered by 

the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d); 12 U.S.C. § 553l(a). 

3. The States have the authority to enforce their state consumer-protection laws 

through this Court. 

4. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and subject-matter jurisdiction over 

the Bureau's claims because they are brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a)(l), present a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and are brought by an agency of the 

United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the States' claims because they are 

"so related to" the Bureau's federal claims "that they form part of the same case or controversy." 

28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

6. PLDS provides and offers a consumer financial product or service that is covered 

by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii)(II). PLDS is therefore a "covered person" under the 
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CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), and is subject to sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

7. Parvani is PLDS's president and is charged with managerial responsibility for 

PLDS. He approves, ratifies, endorses, directs, controls, and otherwise materially participates in 

the conduct of PLDS's affairs. Parvani is a "related person" under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481 (25), is therefore deemed a "covered person" under the CFP A, id., and is subject to sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). 

8. Venue is proper in this district because PLDS is located, resides, and does 

business here, and Parvani resides and does business here. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f). 

9. Payday-loan debt constitutes unsecured debt under the TSR. Since its inception, 

PLDS has provided a debt-relief service to consumers and is subject to the TSR. 

10. PLDS 's acts or practices are unfair telemarketing acts or practices in violation of 

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i), because from October 27, 2010 to May 15, 2012, PLDS 

routinely charged advance fees in consideration of debt-relief services in advance of settling 

consumers' debts. These unfair acts and practices violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). Parvani is liable for the violations of sections 103l(a) 

and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

11. Defendants ' acts or practices also violate Hawaii Revised Statutes Chapter 446, 

which prohibits debt adjusting. 

12. Defendants ' acts or practices also violate the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, 

NMSA 1978, §§ 57-12-1 to -26, which prohibits unfair or deceptive trade practices, including 

receiving payment for debt-settlement services before making settlement payments. 

7 



Case 1:12-cv-24410-JEM   Document 10   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/21/2012   Page 8 of 18

13. Defendants' acts or practices also violate section 14-424 of the North Carolina 

Debt Adjusting Act, which prohibits advance fees for debt-settlement services. A violation of 

section 14-424 constitutes a violation of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act. 

N.C. Gen. Stat.§§ 14-425, 75-1.1. 

14. Defendants' acts or practices also violate section 13-11-02 of the North Dakota 

Century Code, which makes it "unlawful for any person to act as a debt-settlement provider ... 

without having first obtained a license." PLDS 's acts or practices also violate section 13-11-21 

of the North Dakota Century Code, effective July 1, 2011, which makes it unlawful for a debt

settlement provider to "charge or receive from a consumer any enrollment fee, setup fee, upfront 

fee of any kind, or any maintenance fee," N.D.C.C. § 13-11-21.2, to charge or receive a 

settlement fee that exceeds "an amount greater than thirty percent of the savings," N.D.C.C. § 

13-11-21.3, or to collect an advance fee. N.D.C.C. § 13-11-21.4. 

15. Defendants' acts or practices also violate section 218.02 of the Wisconsin 

Statutes, which prohibits the provision of adjustment services without obtaining a license. 

Defendants' acts or practices also violate Wisconsin Administrative Code Ch. DFl-Bkg. 73, 

which prohibits the assessment of a budget set-up fee of more than $25, and the assessment of 

monthly fees in excess of the lesser of (i) ten percent of the amount of money paid to be 

distributed to a creditor or creditors or (ii) $120 in any one calendar month. 

16. Defendants waive all rights to seek judicial or appellate review or otherwise 

challenge or contest the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any claim that they may 

have held under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution 

of this action. 
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ORDER 

I. Prohibited Activities Related to Advance Fees for Debt-Relief Services 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 

corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

a. requesting or receiving payment of any fee or consideration for any debt-relief 

services until and unless: 

1. they have "renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at 

least one debt pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt management plan, or 

other such valid contractual agreement executed by the customer," 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.4(a)(5)(i)(A); 

11. the consumer "has made at least one payment pursuant to that settlement 

agreement, debt management plan, or other valid contractual agreement 

between the customer and the creditor," 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i)(B); and 

111. they are otherwise in compl iance with the TSR. 16 C.F.R. part 310, and 

b. engaging in any telemarketing act or practice that otherwise violates the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. part 310. 

II. Prohibited Debt-Relief Practices in Hawaii 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 
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corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

engaging in, or offering or attempting to engage in, the business or practice of debt adjusting in 

Hawaii. See Haw. Rev. Stat. Chpt. 446. 

III. Prohibited Debt-Relief Activities in New Mexico 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 

corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

engaging in, or offering or attempting to engage in, the business or practice of charging advance 

fees in violation of the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act. See NMSA 1978, §§57-12-1 to -26. 

IV. Prohibited Debt-Relief Activities in North Carolina 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 

corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

engaging in, or offering or attempting to engage in, the business or practice of debt adjusting in 

North Carolina. See N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 14-423, 14-424. 

V. Prohibited Debt-Relief Activities in North Dakota 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 
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corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

acting as a debt-settlement provider in the state of North Dakota without having first obtained a 

license and without complying with all the requirements set forth in N.D.C.C. ch. 13-11, 

including charging or receiving from any North Dakota consumer a debt-settlement fee (i) before 

PLDS enters into a settlement agreement with the consumer, or (ii) that exceeds thirty-percent of 

the savings; and charging or receiving from any North Dakota consumer any enrollment fee, 

setup fee, upfront fee of any kind, or any maintenance fee. See N.D.C.C. ch. 13-11. 

VI. Prohibited Debt-Relief Activities in Wisconsin 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, 

representatives, and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, directly or through any 

corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

acting as a provider of adjustment services in the state of Wisconsin without having first 

obtained a license, see Wis. Stat.§ 218.02, and assessing fees of more than $25 before services 

are rendered or monthly fee amounts that exceed the lesser of (i) ten percent of the money paid to 

PLDS to be distributed to payday-loan creditors or (ii) $120 in any one calendar month. See Wis. 

Admin. Code Ch. DFI-Bkg. 73. 

VU. Restitution Plan for Two Classes of Impacted Consumers 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that judgment for restitution is entered against PLDS and in 

favor of the Bureau in the amount of one-hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00), which PLDS 

shall place in its counsel's trust account by no later than January 1, 2013. These funds shall be 

held by its counsel in trust for no purpose other than payment to the Bureau, and-upon the 
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Bureau's receipt of the funds- shall be deposited into an account administered by the Bureau, or 

its agent, to be used to pay restitution for the Class A Consumers (defined below) and for any 

attendant expenses for administration of such restitution. Such payment must be made by wire 

transfer to the Bureau within ten (10) days of the Court's entry of this Order, pursuant to 

instructions to be provided by a representative of the Bureau. PLDS's counsel shall not be 

obligated to make such payment from its trust account until the Bureau provides complete 

account instructions on where to pay such funds. 

For purposes of this Section and Section VIII , "Class A Consumers" shall mean 

customers who enrolled in PLDS's debt-relief program on or after October 27, 2010, and-as of 

April 20, 2012- had received no debt-relief services from PLDS resulting in creditor payments 

by the time their accounts were closed. For purposes of this Section and Section VIII, "Class B 

Consumers" shall mean customers who enrolled in PLDS's debt-relief program on or after 

October 27, 2010, and- as of April 20, 2012- had received (i) some debt-relief services from 

PLDS resulting in creditor payments, or (ii) no debt-relief services from PLDS resulting in 

creditor payments, but whose accounts remained active as of April 20, 2012. 

The Bureau or its agent shall administer full restitution for fees charged to the Class A 

Consumers, as reflected in investigative information obtained by the Bureau, and shall not use 

the restitution described in this Section to administer payments to the Class B Consumers. 

If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that restitution to consumers is wholly or 

partia11y impracticable or if funds remain after restitution is completed and the costs of 

administering the restitution are paid, the remaining funds shall be treated as a civil penalty 

under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), and deposited into the Civil Penalty 

Fund, administered by the Bureau under section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 
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PLDS shall have no right to challenge the Bureau's choice of remedies under this 

Section, and shall have no right to contest the manner of distribution chosen by the Bureau. 

PLDS shall cooperate fully to assist the Bureau in identifying consumers comprising 

Class A Consumers and Class B Consumers, as defined above. PLDS will relinquish control and 

title to funds paid and will not make claim to, or demand return of, the funds, directly or 

indirectly, through counsel or otherwise. 

In the event of default by PLDS, the Bureau shall be entitled to interest on the judgment, 

computed from the date of entry of this Order, at the rate prescribed by 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, on any outstanding amounts not paid. 

Notwithstanding this Section, each party shall bear its own costs and fees of litigation. 

VIII. Civil Money Penalty 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of Defendants' conduct from October 27, 

2010 to May 15, 2012, the appropriateness of the penalty with respect to PLDS's financial 

resources, PLDS's good-faith cooperation with the Bureau's investigation, the gravity of PLDS 's 

conduct, the severity of the risks to and losses experienced by consumers, the history of previous 

conduct by PLDS, and such other matters as justice may require, judgment for a civil penalty is 

entered under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), against PLDS and in favor of 

the Bureau in the amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), which PLDS shall place in its 

counsel's trust account by no later than January 1, 2013. These funds shall be held in trust for no 

purpose other than payment to the Bureau, and shall be deposited into the Civi l Penalty Fund 

administered by the Bureau under section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d), for a civil 

penalty based on the violations that were committed with respect to the Class A Consumers and 
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the Class B Consumers. Such payment must be made by wire transfer to the Bureau within ten 

(10) days of the Court's entry of this Order, pursuant to instructions to be provided by a 

representative of the Bureau. PLDS's counsel shall not be obligated to make such payment from 

its trust account until the Bureau provides complete account instructions on where to pay such 

funds. 

Payments from the Civil Penalty Fund may be made to victims of activities for which 

civil penalties have been imposed under the Federal consumer financial laws. Regardless of 

whether any such payment is made to victims in this or any other matter, the civil penalty shall 

be treated as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes, including all tax purposes. 

To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil penalty, even ifthere is an offset or reduction 

to the award of compensatory damages in any Related Consumer Action (defined below) in an 

amount based on PLDS's payment of redress in this action, PLDS shall not be entitled to, nor 

shall it further benefit by, any additional offset or reduction of such compensatory damages 

award in the Related Consumer Action by the amount of any part or all of PLDS's payment of a 

civil penalty in this action ("Penalty Offset"). 

If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, PLDS shall, 

within thirty (30) days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau's 

counsel in this action and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United States Treasury or 

to the Civil Penalty Fund, as the Bureau directs. Such a payment shall not be deemed an 

additional civil penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty 

imposed in this action. 
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For purposes of this Section, a ''Related Consumer Action" means a private-damages 

action brought against PLDS by or on behalf of one or more consumers based on substantially 

the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action. 

PLDS shall not seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil penalty amounts that PLDS pays pursuant to this Order, regardless of 

whether such penalty amounts or any part thereof are added to the Civil Penalty Fund or 

otherwise used for the benefit of consumers. PLDS shall not claim, assert, or apply for a tax 

deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal, state, or local tax for any penalty amounts that 

PLDS pays pursuant to this Order, regardless of whether such penalty amounts or any part 

thereof are added to the Civil Penalty Fund or otherwise used for the benefit of consumers 

IX. Cooperation with Bureau Counsel 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants shall, in connection with this action or any 

subsequent investigations related to or associated with the transactions or the occurrences that 

are the subject of the Complaint, cooperate in good faith with the Bureau and appear at such 

places and times as the Bureau shall reasonably request, after written notice, for interviews, 

conferences, pretrial discovery, review of documents, and for such other matters as may be 

reasonably requested by the Bureau. 

If reasonably requested in writing by the Bureau, Defendants shall appear and provide 

truthful testimony in any trial, deposition, hearing, or other proceeding related to or associated 

with the transactions or occurrences that are the subject of the Complaint, without the service of 

a civil investigative demand or subpoena. 
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X. Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, PLDS agrees to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 

5514. 

XI. Compliance Reporting 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, Defendants must submit a compliance notice, sworn under penalty of perjury, within 

fourteen (14) days of: 

a. for PLDS, any change in: (i) any designated point of contact; (ii) the structure of 

PLDS that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including 

creation, incorporation or other organization, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, 

or other action; or (iii) the business name or address. 

b. for Parvani , any change in: (i) name, including aliases or fictitious name, or residence 

address; or (ii) title or role in any business activity, including any business for which 

Parvani performs services whether as an employee, officer, or otherwise, and any 

entity in which Parvani has any ownership interest, and identify its name, physical 

address, and Internet address, if any. 

Each Defendant must also submit to the Bureau notice of the filing of any bankruptcy 

petition, insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against such Defendant within 

fourteen (14) days of its filing. 
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For purposes of this Order, Defendants shall, unless otherwise directed by the Bureau's 

authorized representatives, send by overnight delivery all reports and notifications required by 

this Order to the Bureau to the following address: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
RE: Bureau v. PLDS, Matter No. 12-0001-02 

In lieu of overnight courier, Defendants may send such reports or notifications by first-

class mail, but only if Defendants contemporaneously send an electronic version of such report 

or notification to the Bureau at Enforcement@cfpb.gov. 

XII. Direct Communications 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for purposes of Section X of this Order, the Bureau is 

authorized to communicate directly with PLDS. 

XIII. Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, PLDS must maintain the following Records: 

a. accounting records showing the revenues from all goods or services sold, all costs 

incurred in generating those revenues, and the resulting net profit or loss; 

b. personnel records showing, for each person providing services, whether as an 

employee or otherwise, that person's: name, addresses, telephone numbers, job title 

or position, dates of service, and, if applicable, the reason for termination; 
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c. customer files containing the names, addresses, phone numbers, and dollar amounts 

paid, to the extent such information is obtained in the ordinary course of business; 

d. complaints and refund requests (whether received directly, indirectly, or through any 

third party) and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

e. copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, direct mail solicitations, 

contracts sent to consumers, or other marketing materials; and 

f. all records and documents necessary to demonstrate compliance with each provision 

of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

XIV. Acknowledgement of Receipt of Order 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, within ten (10) business days ofreceipt of 

this Order as entered by the Court, must submit to the Bureau a truthful sworn statement 

acknowledging receipt of this Order. 

XV. Retention of Jurisdiction 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for 

purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers a ·ami, Florida, this ..;i:L_ day of December, 
2012. 

Copies furnished to: 
Magistrate Judge McAliley 
All Counsel of Record 

artinez 
ates District Judge 
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United States District Court 
Southern District of Florida 

 
Case No. _________-Civ-_________-_________ 

 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 
 Plaintiff,     
   
v.       
  
American Debt Settlement Solutions, Inc., a  
Florida corporation, and Michael DiPanni, 
owner of American Debt Settlement 
Solutions, Inc., 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 

 
Complaint 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) alleges the 

following against American Debt Settlement Solutions, Inc. (“ADSS”) and Michael 

DiPanni (“DiPanni”) (together, “Defendants”): 

 

Introduction 

1. The Bureau brings this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054(a), 

1055, and 1061 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), 5581, and under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud 

and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), based on Defendants’ 

violations of the Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in connection 
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with the marketing and sale of debt-relief services, and Defendants’ violations of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibit unfair, deceptive, and 

abusive acts or practices. Specifically, the Bureau brings this action against Defendants 

based on their violations of 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1), 310.3(a)(2), and 310.4(a)(5) and 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1). 

 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 

28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

3. Venue is proper in this district because ADSS is located, resides, and 

does business here, and because DiPanni resides and does business here. 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

 

Plaintiff 

 4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has independent litigating 

authority, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it 

applies to persons subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d); 12 U.S.C.  
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§ 5531(a).   

 
Defendants 

5. ADSS is a Florida for-profit corporation that is located, resides, and 

does business in this district at 7601 N. Federal Hwy., #2108, Boca Raton, Florida 

33487. At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS has provided and offered a 

consumer financial product or service that is covered by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(viii)(II). Accordingly, ADSS is a “covered person” under the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

6. DiPanni is ADSS’s owner and at all times material to this Complaint is, 

or has been, charged with managerial responsibility for ADSS. He has approved, 

ratified, endorsed, directed, controlled, and otherwise materially participated in the 

conduct of ADSS’s affairs. Given his status as an officer or managerial employee, 

DiPanni is a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). Because of his 

status as a related person, DiPanni is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the 

CFPA. Id. At all times material to this Complaint, DiPanni has transacted business in 

the Southern District of Florida. 
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ADSS’s Debt-Relief Services 

7. ADSS began doing business in late 2008. Since then, it has sold or 

offered to sell debt-relief services to consumers.  

8. In exchange for a fee, ADSS has promised to renegotiate, settle, reduce, 

or otherwise alter the terms of at least one debt between consumers and one or more 

unsecured creditors or debt collectors pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt-

management plan, or other contractual agreement executed by a consumer.  

9. ADSS has marketed its debt-relief services via the Internet at 

http://www.americandebtss.com and received telephone calls from consumers in 

response to its Internet marketing efforts.  

10. As part of the consumer-enrollment process, ADSS has required that 

consumers complete detailed worksheets describing their monthly income (including 

income sources), expenditures, and debts. ADSS has then reviewed these worksheets 

with consumers before they enter into any debt-relief program.  

11. ADSS has enrolled consumers in debt-relief programs varying in length 

from 24 to 48 months by entering into contracts with them. 

12. Under the terms of ADSS’s contracts with consumers, consumers have 

paid ADSS an “enrollment” fee in an amount calculated as a percentage – typically 15 

percent – of the amount of the consumers’ enrolled debts. Since its inception, ADSS 

has collected the balance of this “enrollment” fee in the first three to six months of a 

consumer’s enrollment. 
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13. Under the terms of ADSS’s contracts with consumers, consumers also 

pay ADSS a “service” fee that is assessed on a monthly basis for the duration of the 

debt-relief program. This monthly service fee is typically $99, of which a portion is 

applied to pay a payment processor.  

14. At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS’s practice has been to 

request or receive enrollment fees, processing fees, debt-relief service fees, or other 

types of fees in advance of settling at least one of a consumer’s debts. 

15. ADSS entered into a contract with a payment processor to receive 

services for the management, processing, and administration of payments. Under this 

contract, the payment processor has managed the savings account (“Dedicated 

Account”) of each consumer who is enrolled in an ADSS debt-relief program. Since 

its inception, ADSS has required and relied on assistance from the payment processor 

to collect and disburse monies through the consumer’s Dedicated Accounts.  

16. Upon enrollment in an ADSS debt-relief program, ADSS has directed 

consumers to stop paying their creditors. ADSS has directed consumers instead to 

sign up for a Dedicated Account with the payment processor and to make monthly 

payments by ACH transfer into that account.  

17. ADSS has represented to consumers that, when a consumer’s Dedicated 

Account reaches a sufficient balance, ADSS would instruct the payment processor to 

transmit funds to the consumer’s creditors to help satisfy the consumer’s debts.  
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18. At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS has directed the payment 

processor to disburse payments to and from consumers’ Dedicated Accounts.  

19. At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS has provided to the 

payment processor a copy of each contract that it entered into with consumers for its 

debt-relief program.  

20. At ADSS’s direction, the payment processor has: (1) withdrawn funds 

from the consumer’s bank account through ACH transfer and deposited them into 

the Dedicated Account, and (2) transmitted funds from the Dedicated Account to 

itself and to ADSS for the payment of processing and servicing fees, including the fee 

ADSS has charged consumers for its debt-relief services. The payment processor has 

managed the routine transfer of consumers’ funds out of consumers’ accounts to pay 

ADSS’s debt-relief fees before making any payments to creditors. ADSS and the 

payment processor have also communicated directly about ADSS’s fee structure. 

21. When consumers have closed their Dedicated Accounts, the payment 

processor has typically refunded to consumers any money remaining in their 

Dedicated Accounts. Consumers typically have not received any refunds of fees paid 

to ADSS or the payment processor.  

22. At all times material to this Complaint, ADSS has represented to all 

consumers that it will renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts 

that consumers enroll in its program. For example, ADSS’s form contract with 

consumers makes the following representations: 
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a.  “Eliminate your unsecured debt sooner than you ever thought 

possible.”  

b. “Reduce your current monthly expense on debt service.” 

c.  “[B]e off the debt treadmill and on the road to recovery.” 

23. Since its inception, ADSS has failed to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or 

otherwise alter the terms of a single debt for approximately 89 percent of the 

consumers who enrolled in its debt-relief programs.  

24. In the welcome package provided to all consumers, ADSS has provided 

a list of “frequently asked questions,” including, “How long does it take for my first 

settlement?” In response, ADSS has stated: “the first settlement could be in 90 days, 

or as much as six months.”  

25. Since its inception, ADSS has only rarely renegotiated, settled, reduced, 

or otherwise altered the terms of debts for consumers within three to six months of 

their enrollment.  

26. Since its inception, ADSS has known that it was nearly impossible for 

ADSS to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts under $700. 

Nonetheless, it has been ADSS’s practice to enroll consumers in its program with 

debts under $700 without disclosing this limitation. 

27. Since its inception, it has also been ADSS’s practice to enroll consumers 

in its program even when ADSS knows that the consumers’ incomes are inadequate 

to complete the debt-relief programs in which they are enrolled.  
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28. Since ADSS’s inception, consumers have deposited more than $9.9 

million into their Dedicated Accounts, and ADSS has directed the payment processor 

to make payments totaling less than $2 million to creditors in settlement of their 

debts. Most consumers have paid fees to ADSS but closed their Dedicated Accounts 

before their creditors received any payments in settlement of the consumers’ debts.  

29. With respect to Dedicated Accounts that were established on or after 

October 27, 2010, the effective date of the TSR, and from which no creditors 

received payments for settlements achieved through ADSS’s debt-relief program, 

ADSS collected fees totaling approximately $43,665.95. 

30. ADSS has collected fees on or after July 21, 2011, the effective date of 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1), from consumers who, according to the information they 

provided to ADSS, had inadequate income to complete the debt-relief program in 

which they were enrolled. 

 

DiPanni’s Role as Owner of ADSS 

31. DiPanni is ADSS’s owner. As owner, DiPanni has managed ADSS’s day-

to-day operations, including ADSS’s Internet marketing of debt-relief services, 

ADSS’s interactions with consumers who signed up for those services, and ADSS’s 

request and receipt of fees for the services. He also has engaged directly in debt-relief 

sales and customer-support functions on ADSS’s behalf.  
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32. DiPanni designed and implemented the front-loaded debt-relief service 

fee structure through which ADSS charged advance fees.  

33. DiPanni selected and hired the payment processor on ADSS’s behalf.  

34. Since ADSS’s inception, DiPanni has known or should have known that 

ADSS represented that it could likely renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the 

terms of the debts of consumers enrolled in its debt-relief program. DiPanni also has 

known or should have known that ADSS represented to consumers that it could 

renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of at least one debt within 

three to six months of enrollment. DiPanni also has known or should have known 

that ADSS enrolled consumers in its program who had debts under $700. Finally, 

DiPanni has known or should have known that ADSS enrolled consumers with 

inadequate income to complete a debt-relief program. In addition, DiPanni had 

authority to control these actions by ADSS. 

 

Count One 
(ADSS’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA – Advance Fees) 

 
35. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

36. In the course of telemarketing debt-relief services from approximately 

October 27, 2010 to present, ADSS requested or received fees from consumers for 

debt-relief services before renegotiating, settling, reducing, or otherwise altering the 

terms of at least one of such consumers’ debts. ADSS requested or received payment 
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of these fees prior to consumers’ making at least one payment pursuant to any 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other valid contractual agreement 

between consumers and their creditors. 

37. Therefore, ADSS’s acts or practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.4(a)(5)(i), and are unlawful acts or practices in telemarketing. Because ADSS is a 

“covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

 

Count Two 
(ADSS’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA - Deception) 

 
38. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

39. Section 310.3(a)(1)(ii) of the TSR prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

failing to truthfully disclose all material restrictions, limitations, or conditions to 

purchase, receive, or use the goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer 

before a customer consents to pay for goods or services offered.  

40. In connection with the advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for 

sale, or sale of debt-relief services, in numerous instances, ADSS has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it likely will renegotiate, settle, 

reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of consumers’ debts.  
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41. In truth, ADSS failed to disclose the material restriction, limitation, or 

condition that it is nearly impossible for ADSS to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or 

otherwise alter the terms of debts under $700.  

42. Therefore, ADSS’s practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(ii), 

and are deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing. Because ADSS is a “covered 

person,” its conduct is unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

 
 

Count Three 
(ADSS’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA - Deception) 

 
43. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

44. Section 310.3(a)(2)(ii) of the TSR prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

misrepresenting any material restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, 

or use goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer.  

45. Section 310.3(a)(2)(x) of the TSR prohibits a seller or telemarketer of a 

debt-relief service from misrepresenting any material aspect of any debt-relief service, 

including, but not limited to, the amount of time necessary to achieve the represented 

results.  

46. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt-relief services, ADSS has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it will likely renegotiate, settle, 
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reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of consumers’ debts within the first three to six 

months after consumers enroll in a debt-relief program with ADSS. 

47. In truth, ADSS is not likely to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise 

alter the terms of debts within the first three to six months after consumers enroll in a 

debt-relief program with ADSS.  

48. Therefore, ADSS’s representations as described in paragraph 46 violate 

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ii), (x), and are deceptive acts or practices in 

telemarketing. Because ADSS is a “covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

 

Count Four 
(ADSS’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA – Deception) 

 
49. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

50. Section 310.3(a)(2)(iii) of the TSR prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

misrepresenting any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central 

characteristics of goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer. 

51. Section 310.3(a)(2)(x) of the TSR prohibits a seller or telemarketer of a 

debt-relief service from misrepresenting any material aspect of any debt-relief service. 

52. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt-relief services, ADSS has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it likely will renegotiate, settle, 
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reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts for consumers who enroll in its debt-

relief programs.  

53. In truth, ADSS is not likely to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise 

alter the terms of debts for consumers who enroll in its debt-relief programs. 

54. Therefore, ADSS’s representations as described in paragraph 52 violate 

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii), (x), and are deceptive acts or practices in 

telemarketing. Because ADSS is a “covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

 

Count Five 
(ADSS’s Violations of the CFPA – Abusiveness) 

 
55. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

56. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive acts or practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it 

“takes unreasonable advantage of . . . (A) a lack of understanding on the part of the 

consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service; (B) the 

inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or using 

a consumer financial product or service; or (C) the reasonable reliance by the 

consumer on a covered person to act in the interests of the consumer.” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(d)(2).  
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57. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt-relief services, ADSS has enrolled in its 

debt-relief programs consumers whose financial conditions make it highly unlikely 

that they can complete the programs.  

58. ADSS knows that the financial conditions of these consumers make it 

highly unlikely that they will complete the debt-relief program in which ADSS enrolls 

them, especially given ADSS’s knowledge that ADSS is unlikely to settle their debts 

within the first three to six months of enrollment. Before enrolling consumers in its 

debt-relief programs, ADSS has secured from consumers a detailed worksheet 

describing their monthly income (including income sources), expenses, and debts. 

Using this information, ADSS can determine whether a consumer is able to afford the 

monthly payments required by the debt-relief program.  

59. Despite receiving financial information showing that some consumers 

could not afford the monthly payments under the debt-relief program in which they 

were enrolled, ADSS nonetheless collects “enrollment” fees from these consumers in 

the first three to six months of their enrollment. This practice causes certain 

consumers to spend their last savings paying ADSS fees for a service from which they 

will not benefit.  

60. Instead of negotiating any debts with creditors during the first three to 

six months of a consumer’s enrollment – as it represents to consumers that it will – 

ADSS collects its “enrollment” fees during this period. As a result, consumers with 
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inadequate income to complete the program drop out after paying significant fees and 

without receiving any benefit.  

61. This practice takes unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of 

understanding of how long it will take ADSS to settle their debts and therefore how 

much money they will spend before realizing any benefits from enrolling in ADSS’s 

debt-relief program.  

62. Consumers also reasonably rely on ADSS to act in their interest by 

enrolling them in a debt-relief program that they can be reasonably expected to 

complete, and which will therefore result in the negotiation, settlement, reduction, or 

alteration of the terms of their debts. Consumers also reasonably rely on ADSS to act 

in their interest by settling their debts as soon as possible and, in particular, within 

three to six months of enrollment as represented by ADSS. 

63. Therefore, ADSS’s acts or practices violate sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B), and are abusive. 

 

Count Six 
(DiPanni’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA) 

 
64. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 are incorporated here by reference. 

65. DiPanni is a “related person” and a “covered person,” 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(25), who is liable for violations of sections 310.3 and 310.4 of the TSR, 16 
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C.F.R. § 310.3, 310.4, and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1).   

 

Demand for Relief 
 

 Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

1. permanently enjoin Defendants from advertising, marketing, promoting, 

offering for sale, or selling any debt-relief product or service;  

2. permanently enjoin Defendants from assisting others engaged in 

advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling any debt-relief product 

or service;  

3. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310; 

4. award restitution against Defendants in the amount of all  

unlawfully collected fees; 

5. order disgorgement of ill-gotten profits against Defendants; 

6. award civil money penalties against Defendants; 

7. award attorneys’ fees and costs against Defendants; and 

8. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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              Respectfully submitted, 

 
  Kent Markus 

Enforcement Director 
 
Anthony Alexis 
Deputy Enforcement Director for Field Litigation 
 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Assistant Litigation Deputy for Field Litigation 
 
s/ Meredith B. Osborn                       
Meredith B. Osborn 
J.H. Jennifer Lee 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: 202-435-7159 
Facsimile: 202-435-7722 
e-mail: meredith.osborn@cfpb.gov  
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MAY 30 2013

CFPB Takes Action to Stop Florida
Company From Engaging in Illegal Debt-
Relief Practices
The Bureau Alleges Company’s Conduct is Abusive and Deceptive

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
filed a complaint in a federal district court against a Florida debt-relief company that
misled consumers across the country and charged illegal fees for their services. The
Bureau plans to submit a proposed consent order that, if approved by the court, would
halt the company’s operation, prevent the company and owner from providing debt-
relief services in the future, and impose a $15,000 civil penalty fine.

“Today we are taking action to halt a debt-relief company we believe has been preying
on financially vulnerable consumers,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“Consumers struggling to pay off a debt are among the most at risk and deserve better.
We will continue to crack down on this type of harmful behavior.”

A Bureau investigation found that American Debt Settlement Solutions, Inc. (ADSS)
and its owner Michael DiPanni routinely charged consumers illegal upfront fees for
debt-relief services that rarely, if ever, materialized. In total, the CFPB believes that in
the course of their illegal conduct, the defendants charged approximately $500,000 in
fees to hundreds of consumers in multiple states. The proposed consent order would
award a judgment against the company of approximately $500,000, which would be
suspended based on the company’s inability to pay.

The Bureau alleges that ADSS and DiPanni violated the Federal Trade Commission’s
Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR) and the Dodd-Frank Act by charging the illegal up-
front fees and making misrepresentations to consumers about their debt-relief services.
ADSS deceived consumers by making numerous misrepresentations to lure in
consumers who were deeply in debt and in dire circumstances. The upfront fees and the
company’s failure to provide the promised services often caused consumers to fall
further into debt.

In addition, the Bureau believes that the defendants engaged in abusive acts or
practices by signing up and charging fees to vulnerable consumers who the defendants
knew had inadequate incomes to complete the debt-relief programs in which they were
enrolled. More specifically, ADSS:

Misled consumers by falsely promising them it would begin to settle their debts
within three to six months when, in reality, services rarely materialized;
Enrolled consumers despite knowing that their income level made it highly
unlikely that they could complete the debt-relief programs;
Collected upfront “enrollment” fees from consumers who ADSS knew could not
afford the monthly payments required by these debt-relief programs, causing the
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consumers to spend their last savings on fees for services from which they
ultimately would not benefit; and
Failed to settle these consumers’ debts within the promised time, forcing many
consumers to drop out of the program and forfeit their “enrollment” fees without
having received any debt-relief services.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 prohibits
abusive acts or practices in the consumer-financial marketplace. If someone – a person
or a company – takes unreasonable advantage of a consumer in certain ways or
interferes with a consumer’s ability to understand a term or condition of a financial
product or service, the Bureau may take enforcement action. Today’s action is the first
time the CFPB is enforcing this prohibition on abusive acts or practices.

This action is part of the CFPB’s comprehensive effort to prevent consumer harm in the
debt-relief industry. The Bureau is working to ensure federal consumer financial laws
are being followed at every stage of the process and is focusing not only on debt-relief
companies, but also on those who facilitate their unlawful conduct and who may also
violate federal consumer financial laws.

A copy of the CFPB complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201305_cfpb_complaint_adss.pdf

Update: On June 7, 2013, the Court entered a Stipulated Judgment and Final Order
resolving this matter:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_finalorder_adss_signed-
judgment.pdf .

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

ESPAÑOL

Contact us  Newsroom  Jobs  Open government

http://twitter.com/cfpb
https://www.facebook.com/CFPB
http://www.flickr.com/photos/cfpbphotos
http://www.youtube.com/cfpbvideo
mailto:Mallory.Mclean@cfpb.gov
mailto:Moira.Vahey@cfpb.gov
mailto:Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/10/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/09/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/08/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/07/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/06/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/05/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/04/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/03/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/02/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/01/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy-policy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/no-fear-act/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia/
http://usa.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/oig/default.htm
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/ombudsman/
http://facebook.com/cfpb
http://twitter.com/cfpb
http://youtube.com/CFPB
http://flickr.com/cfpbphotos
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/feed/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201305_cfpb_complaint_adss.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_finalorder_adss_signed-judgment.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/contact-us/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/jobs/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/open/


Case 9:13-cv-80548-DMM   Document 5   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/07/2013   Page 1 of 17

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Case No. 9:13-cv-80548-DMM 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

AMERICAN DEBT SETTLEMENT SOLUTIONS, 
INC. and MICHAEL DIP ANNI, 

Defendants. 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court upon the Parties' Agreed Motion Requesting Entry 

of the Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (DE 3), filed May 30, 2013. I have reviewed the 

Motion and the Record in this case, and I am otherwise fully advised in the premises. The 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "Bureau") commenced this civil action on May 30, 

2013, to obtain injunctive relief; civil money penalties; restitution; the disgorgement of ill-gotten 

monies; attorneys' fees and costs; and other relief from American Debt Settlement Solutions, 

Inc. ("ADSS") and Michael DiPanni ("DiPanni") (collectively, "Defendants") for alleged 

conduct in violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, and the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. § 5481 et seq. 

The parties, by and through respective counsel, agree to the entry of this Stipulated Final 

Judgment and Order ("Order"). Defendants have waived service of the Summons and Complaint. 

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED as follows: 

1 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

ADSS's Debt-Relief Services 

1. ADSS is a Florida for-profit corporation that is located, resides, and does business 

in this district at 7601 N. Federal Hwy.,# 2108, Boca Raton, Florida 33487. 

2. ADSS began doing business in late 2008. Since then, it has sold or offered to sell 

debt-relief services to consumers. 

3. In exchange for a fee, ADSS has promised to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or 

otherwise alter the terms of at least one debt between consumers and one or more of their 

unsecured creditors or debt collectors pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt-management 

plan, or other contractual agreement executed by a consumer. 

4. ADSS has marketed its debt-relief services via the Internet at 

http://www.americandebtss.com and received telephone calls from consumers in response to its 

Internet marketing efforts. 

5. As part of the consumer-enrollment process, ADSS has required that consumers 

complete detailed worksheets describing their monthly income (including income sources), 

expenditures, and debts. ADSS has then reviewed these worksheets with consumers before they 

enter into any debt-relief program. 

6. ADSS has enrolled consumers in debt-relief programs varying in length from 24 

to 48 months by entering into contracts with them. 

7. Under the terms of ADSS's contracts with consumers, consumers have paid 

ADSS an "enrollment" fee in an amount calculated as a percentage-typically 15 percent-of 

the amount of the consumers' enrolled debts. Since its inception, ADSS has collected the 

majority of this "enrollment" fee in the first three to six months of a consumer's enrollment. 

2 
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8. Under the terms of ADSS's contracts with consumers, consumers also pay ADSS 

a "service" fee that is assessed on a monthly basis for the duration of the debt-relief program. 

This monthly service fee is typically between $49 and $99. 

9. ADSS's practice has been to request or receive fees in advance of settling at least 

one of a consumer's debts. 

I 0. ADSS entered into a contract with a dedicated-account provider ("Provider") for 

the management, processing, and administration of payments. Under this contract, the Provider 

has managed the dedicated account of each consumer who enrolled in an ADSS debt-relief 

program. Since its inception, ADSS has required and relied on assistance from the Provider to 

collect and disburse monies through the consumer's dedicated accounts. 

I I. Upon enrollment in an ADSS debt-relief program, ADSS has directed consumers 

to sign up for a dedicated account with the Provider and to make monthly payments by ACH 

transfer into that account. 

I2. With the consent of each enrolled consumer and when the consumer's account 

had a sufficient balance, ADSS would instruct the Provider to transmit funds to a consumer's 

creditors to help satisfy the consumer's debts. 

13. Since its inception and pursuant to its contracts with consumers, ADSS has 

directed the Provider to disburse payment amounts to and from consumers' dedicated accounts. 

I4. Since its inception, ADSS has furnished the Provider with a copy of each contract 

that it entered into with consumers for its debt-relief program. 

IS. The Provider has: (1) withdrawn funds from the consumer's bank account through 

ACH transfer and has deposited them into the dedicated account, and (2) transmitted funds from 

the dedicated account to itself and to ADSS to cover processing and servicing fees, including the 
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fee ADSS has charged the consumer for its debt-relief services. The Provider has managed the 

routine transfer of consumers' funds out of consumers' accounts to pay ADSS's debt-relief fees 

before any payments go to any creditors. ADSS and the Provider have also communicated 

directly about ADSS's fee structure. 

16. When consumers have closed their dedicated accounts, the Provider has typically 

refunded to consumers any money remaining in their dedicated accounts. Consumers typically 

have not received any refund of money paid in fees. 

17. Since its inception, ADSS has represented to all consumers that it will renegotiate, 

settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts that consumers enroll in its program. For 

example, ADSS's form contract with consumers makes the following representations: 

a. "Eliminate your unsecured debt sooner than you ever thought possible." 

b. "Reduce your current monthly expense on debt service." 

c. "[B]e off the debt treadmill and on the road to recovery." 

18. Since its inception, ADSS has failed to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise 

alter the terms of a single debt for approximately 89 percent of the consumers who enrolled in its 

debt-relief programs. 

19. In the welcome package provided to all consumers, ADSS has provided a list of 

"frequently asked questions," including, "How long does it take for my first settlement?" In 

response, ADSS has stated: "the first settlement could be in 90 days, or as much as six months." 

20. Since its inception, ADSS has rarely renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise 

altered the terms of debts for consumers within six months of their enrollment. 

21. Since its inception, ADSS has had reason to know that it was nearly impossible 

for ADSS to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts under $700. 
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Nonetheless, it has been ADSS's practice to enroll consumers with debts under $700 in its 

program without disclosing this limitation. 

22. Since its inception, it has also been ADSS's practice to enroll consumers in its 

program even when ADSS has known that the consumers' incomes are inadequate to complete 

the debt-relief programs in which they are enrolled. 

23. Since ADSS's inception, consumers have deposited more than $9.9 million into 

their dedicated accounts, and ADS S has directed the Provider to make payments totaling less 

than $2 million to creditors in settlement of the consumers' debts. Most consumers have paid 

fees to ADSS but closed their dedicated accounts before their creditors received any payments in 

settlement of the consumers' debts. 

24. With respect to dedicated accounts that were established on or after October 27, 

2010, the effective date of the TSR, and from which no creditors received payments through 

ADSS's debt-relief program, ADSS collected fees totaling $43,665.95. 

25. ADSS has collected fees on or after July 21, 2011, the effective date of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(l), from consumers who, according to the information they provided to ADSS, had 

inadequate income to complete the debt-relief program in which they were enrolled. 

DiPanni's Role as Owner of ADSS 

26. DiPanni is ADSS's owner. As owner, DiPanni has managed ADSS's day-to-day 

operations, including ADSS's Internet marketing of debt-relief services, ADSS's interactions 

with consumers who signed up for those services, and ADSS 's request and receipt of fees for the 

services. He also has engaged directly in debt-relief sales and customer-support functions on 

ADSS's behalf. 
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27. DiPanni designed and implemented the debt-relief service fee structure through 

which ADSS charged fees in advance of settlement of at least one of a consumer's debts. 

28. DiPanni selected and hired the Provider on ADSS's behalf. 

29. Since ADSS's inception, DiPanni has known or should have known that ADSS 

represented that it could likely renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of the debts 

of consumers enrolled in its debt-relief program; that ADSS represented to consumers that it 

could renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of at least one debt within three to 

six months of enrollment; that ADSS enrolled consumers in its program who had debts under 

$700; and that ADSS enrolled consumers with inadequate income to complete a debt-relief 

program. In addition, DiPanni had authority to control these actions by ADSS. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Bureau has commenced this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a)(l), 

1054(a), and 1061 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l), 5564(a), 5581, and under the 

Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 

6105(d). 

2. The Bureau is authorized to seek the reliefthat it has requested under 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(a) and (b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it applies to persons covered by 

the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d); 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a). 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and subject-matter jurisdiction over 

the Bureau's claims because they are brought under Federal consumer-financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a)(l ), present a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and are brought by an agency of the 

United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 
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4. ADSS provides and offers a consumer-financial product or service that is covered 

by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A), (15)(A)(viii)(II). ADSS is therefore a "covered person" 

under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), and is subject to sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). 

5. DiPanni is ADSS's owner and is charged with managerial responsibility for 

ADSS. He approves, ratifies, endorses, directs, controls, and otherwise materially participates in 

the conduct of ADSS's affairs. DiPanni is a "related person" and a "covered person," 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(25), who is liable for violations of sections 310.3 and 310.4 of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. §§ 

310.3, 310.4, and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(l). 

6. Venue is proper in this district because ADSS is located, resides, and does 

business here, and DiPanni resides and does business here. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f). 

7. Since its inception, ADSS has provided a debt-relief service to consumers and 

acted as a seller subject to the TSR. 

8. ADSS's acts or practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i), because, 

from October 27, 2010 to February 28, 2013, ADSS charged fees in consideration for debt-relief 

services in advance of settling consumers' debts. These acts or practices violate sections 103 l(a) 

and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l). DiPanni is liable for violating 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

9. ADSS 's acts or practices are deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing that 

violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(l)(ii), because, from late 2008 to February 28, 2013, 

ADSS routinely failed to disclose the material restriction, limitation, or condition that it is nearly 
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impossible for ADSS to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts under 

$700. These deceptive acts or practices violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

10. ADSS's acts or practices are also deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing that 
.. 

violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ii), (x), because, from late 2008 to February 28, 2013, 

ADSS routinely represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it will likely 

renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of consumers' debts within the first three 

to six months after consumers enroll in a debt-relief program with ADSS although, in truth, 

ADSS is not likely to do so. These deceptive acts or practices violate sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). DiPanni is liable for violating 

sections 103 l(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

11. ADSS's acts or practices are deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing that 

violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii), (x), because, from late 2008 to February 28, 2013, 

ADSS has represented directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it will likely 

renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of debts for consumers who enroll in its 

debt-relief programs when, in truth, ADSS is not likely to do so. These deceptive acts or 

practices violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l). 

12. ADSS's acts or practices are abusive acts or practices that violate the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B), because, from late 2008 to February 28, 2013, ADSS has knowingly 

enrolled in its debt-relief programs consumers whose financial conditions make it highly unlikely 

that they can complete the programs, and ADSS has nonetheless collected fees from consumers 

who had inadequate income to complete their debt-settlement programs. These abusive acts or 

practices violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 
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5536(a)(l)(B). DiPanni is liable for violating sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). 

13. Defendants waive all rights to seek judicial or appellate review or otherwise 

challenge or contest the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any claim that they may 

have held under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution 

of this action to the date of this Order. 

ORDER 

I. Ban on Debt-Relief Products and Services 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants, whether acting directly or through any 

other person, are permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

a. Advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling any debt-relief 

product or service; and 

b. Assisting others engaged in advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or 

selling any debt-relief product or service. 

II. Equitable Relief and Damages 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a judgment for equitable monetary relief and damages 

is hereby entered in favor of the Bureau and against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the 

amount of four hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and forty-seven dollars and 

ninety-six cents ($499,247.96); provided, however, that full payment of this judgment shall be 

suspended upon satisfaction of the obligations set forth in Section III of this Order, and subject to 

Section IV of this Order. 
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Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment shall be deposited into 

a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or its agent in accordance with applicable statutes 

and regulations to be used for redress for injured consumers, including, but not limited to, refund 

of moneys, restitution, damages, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant expenses for the 

administration of any such redress. 

If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that providing redress to consumers is 

wholly or partially impracticable or if funds remain after the administration of redress is 

completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief (including 

consumer information remedies) as determined to be reasonably related to the violations 

described in this Order. Any funds not used for such equitable relief shall be deposited in the 

U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Defendants shall have no right to challenge the Bureau's choice 

of remedies under this Section, and shall have no right to contest the manner of distribution 

chosen by the Bureau. 

Redress provided by Defendants shall not limit consumers' rights in any way. 

III. Civil Money Penalty 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that by reason of Defendants' practices alleged in the 

Complaint from late 2008 to February 28, 2013, the appropriateness of the penalty with respect 

to Defendants' financial resources, Defendants' good-faith cooperation with the Bureau's 

investigation, the gravity of Defendants' conduct, the severity of the risks to and losses 

experienced by consumers, the history of previous violations by Defendants, and such other 

matters as justice may require, judgment for a civil penalty is entered under section 1055(c) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), against Defendants and in favor of the Bureau in the amount of 

fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000.00), which Defendants shall pay to the Bureau by wire transfer 
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within ten (10) days of the Court's entry of this Order, pursuant to instructions to be provided by 

a representative of the Bureau. Defendants shall not be obligated to make such payment until the 

Bureau provides complete account instructions on where to pay such funds. The Bureau will 

deposit those funds into the Civil Penalty Fund administered by the Bureau under section 

1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

The civil penalty shall be treated as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes, 

including all tax purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, 

Defendants shall not: 

• Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil penalty amounts that Defendants pay pursuant to 

this Order, 

• Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal, 

state, or local tax for any penalty amounts that Defendants pay pursuant to this 

Order. 

For purposes of this Section, a "Related Consumer Action" means a private action, or 

enforcement action by another governmental entity, brought against Defendants based on 

substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action. 

To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil penalty, in any Related Consumer Action 

Defendants shall not argue that they are entitled to, nor shall they benefit by, any offset or 

reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action by the amount of 

any part or all of Defendants' payment of a civil penalty in this action ("Penalty Offset"). 
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If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Defendants 

shall, within thirty (30) days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau's counsel in this action and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United States 

Treasury or to the Civil Penalty Fund, as the Bureau directs. Such a payment shall not be deemed 

an additional civil penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty 

imposed in this action. 

In the event of any default on Defendants' obligations to make payment under this Order, 

interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on any outstanding 

amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall immediately become 

due and payable. 

Defendants shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to Defendants. 

In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants, unless they already have done so, shall 

furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which shall be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amounts arising out of this Order. 

Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants shall notify the Bureau of the final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in writing. That notification shall indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Defendant paid or is required to pay to consumers and should describe the consumers or classes 

of consumers to whom that redress will be paid. 

Pursuant to Section 604(a)(l) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 
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§ 168lb(a)(l), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning any 

Defendant to the Bureau, which shall be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

IV. Right to Reopen 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Bureau's agreement to, and the Court's approval 

of, this this Order is expressly premised on the truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of 

Defendants' financial statements and any supporting documents submitted to the Bureau on or 

about November 26, 2012, which Defendants assert are truthful, accurate, and complete. If, upon 

motion by the Bureau, the Court finds that either of the Defendants has failed to disclose any 

material asset or that the financial statement of either Defendant contains any material 

misrepresentation or omission, including materially misstating the value of any asset, then this 

Order shall be reopened and the Court shall terminate the suspension of the monetary judgment 

entered in Section II. The Court, without further adjudication, shall reinstate the judgment 

entered in Section II of this Order and the full amount of four hundred and ninety-nine thousand 

two hundred and forty-seven dollars and ninety-six cents ($499,247.96) will become 

immediately due and payable. 

Provided, however, that in all other respects this Order shall remain in full force and 

effect unless otherwise ordered by the Court; and, provided further, that proceedings instituted 

under this provision would be in addition to, and not in lieu of any other civil or criminal 

remedies as may be provided by law, including any other proceedings that the Bureau may 

initiate to enforce this Order. For purposes of this Section, Defendants waive any right to contest 

any of the allegations in the Complaint. 
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Upon any reinstatement of the monetary judgment pursuant to this Section, the Court 

shall make an express determination that the monetary judgment shall be immediately due and 

payable. The Bureau shall be entitled to interest on the judgment, computed from the date of 

entry of this Order, at the rate prescribed by 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, on any outstanding 

amounts not paid. The Bureau shall be permitted to execute on the judgment immediately after 

the suspension is lifted and engage in discovery in aid of execution. 

V. Cooperation with Bureau Counsel 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants shall, in connection with this action or any 

subsequent investigations related to or associated with the transactions or the occurrences that 

are the subject of the Complaint, cooperate in good faith with the Bureau and appear at such 

places and times as the Bureau shall reasonably request, after written notice, for interviews, 

conferences, pretrial discovery, review of documents, and for such other matters as may be 

reasonably requested by the Bureau. 

VI. Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, ADSS agrees to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 

5514. 

VII. Compliance Reporting 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, the Defendants must submit a compliance notice, sworn under penalty of perjury, 

within fourteen (14) days of: 

a. for ADSS, any change in: (i) any designated point of contact; (ii) the structure of 

ADSS that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including: 
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creation, incorporation, or other organization; a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, 

or other action; or a change in the business name or address. 

b. for DiPanni, any change in: (i) name, including aliases or fictitious names, or 

residence address; or (ii) title or role in any business activity, including any business 

for which DiPanni performs services whether as an employee, officer, or otherwise, 

and any entity in which DiPanni has any ownership interest, and identify its name, 

physical address, and Internet address, if any. 

Each Defendant must also submit to the Bureau notice of the filing of any bankruptcy 

petition, insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against such Defendant within 

fourteen (14) days of its filing. 

For purposes of this Order, Defendants shall, unless otherwise directed by the Bureau's 

authorized representatives, send by overnight delivery all reports and notifications required by 

this Order to the Bureau to the following address: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
RE: Bureau v. ADSS, Matter No. 12-0001-02 

In lieu of overnight courier, Defendants may send such reports or notifications by first-

class mail, but only if Defendants contemporaneously send an electronic version of such report 

or notification to the Bureau at Enforcement@cfpb.gov. 

VIII. Direct Communications 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for purposes of Section V of this Order, the Bureau is 

authorized to communicate directly with ADSS. 
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IX. Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for a period of two (2) years from the date of entry of 

this Order, ADSS must maintain the following Records: 

a. accounting records showing the revenues from all goods or services sold, all costs 

incurred in generating those revenues, and the resulting net profit or loss; 

b. personnel records showing, for each person providing services, whether as an 

employee or otherwise, that person's: name, addresses, telephone numbers, job title 

or position, dates of service, and, if applicable, the reason for termination; 

c. customer files containing the names, addresses, phone numbers, dollar amounts paid, 

to the extent such information is obtained in the ordinary course of business; 

d. complaints and refund requests (whether received directly, indirectly, or through any 

third party) and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

e. copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, direct mail solicitations, 

contracts sent to consumers, or other marketing materials; and 

f. all records and documents necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

X. Acknowledgement of Receipt of Order 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, within ten (10) business days of receipt of 

this Order as entered by the Court, must submit to the Bureau a truthful sworn statement 

acknowledging receipt of this Order. 

XI. Retention of Jurisdiction 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for 

purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 
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DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at West Palm Beach, Florida, this L day of 

June, 2013. 

Copies to: Counsel of Record 

D M. MIDDLEBROOKS 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
 
 

 
In the Matter of ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2013-CFPB-0004 
Dealers’ Financial Services, LLC, 
Lexington, Kentucky CONSENT ORDER 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), through its examiners and other 

staff, has conducted a target review of the Military Installment Loans and Educational Services 

(“MILES”) program, an automobile loan program that Dealers’ Financial Services, LLC 

(“DFS” or “Respondent”) helped develop. DFS marketed the MILES Program and was its 

primary service provider. In this targeted review, the Bureau has identified violations of 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 

and 5536 (the prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices) for: (a) deceptively 

marketing the prices of an add-on vehicle service contract and an add-on GAP insurance product, 

and (b) deceptively marketing the scope of the coverage of a vehicle service contract. 

DFS, by and through its President and a duly authorized Director of its parent company, 

Dealers’ Financial Holdings, Inc., has executed a “Stipulation And Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order,” dated June 25, 2013 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this 

Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 

and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 

that Respondent admits the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this 
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Consent Order. 
 

Accordingly, the Bureau hereby issues, under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent 
 
Order. 
 

I. Findings of Fact 
 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 
 

1. DFS is a company headquartered in Lexington, Kentucky, which exists solely to operate 

the MILES Program. 

2. DFS and U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S. Bank”) jointly developed the MILES 

Program as a loan program for U.S. military servicemembers (“servicemembers”) to finance the 

acquisition of new or used cars in dealer-assisted transactions. Since 2001, the MILES Program 

has provided financing for more than 110,000 automobile purchases by servicemembers. DFS 

and U.S. Bank entered into a MILES Preferred Lender Agreement on June 25, 2001. This 

agreement, along with subsequent amendments, governs the respective roles of DFS and U.S. 

Bank in the MILES Program. 

3. DFS recruits and maintains the 700-plus members of the MILES auto dealer network 

(“MILES dealers”), maintains the MILES Program website, makes customer calls that include 

marketing of add-on products, creates and disseminates the MILES Program marketing and 

promotional materials, and gathers and reviews credit applications before sending them to U.S. 

Bank for final approval. Dealers in the MILES auto dealer network enter into separate 

contractual arrangements with DFS and with U.S. Bank, and a DFS Dealer Operating Agreement 

is incorporated into the MILES Preferred Lender Agreement between DFS and U.S. Bank. DFS 

does not provide financing and is not a creditor for MILES loans. 

4. U.S. Bank serves as the primary lender for the MILES Program, providing loans to 
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servicemembers who meet U.S. Bank’s criteria, resulting in U.S. Bank’s making a substantial 

majority of the MILES loans. 

5. U.S. Bank provides DFS with blank U.S. Bank MILES installment note forms and retail 

installment sales contract (“RISC”) forms, and DFS then provides the MILES dealers with the 

blank U.S. Bank MILES installment notes and RISCs. 

6. MILES dealers fill in the U.S. Bank installment notes and RISCs, including the TILA 
 
disclosures, and present them to servicemember customers in the dealership. 
 

7. DFS’s Dealer Operating Agreement, which is incorporated into the MILES Preferred 

Lender Agreement between U.S. Bank and DFS and which DFS and each MILES dealer sign, 

obligates MILES dealers, when offering the MILES Program, to require servicemembers to use 

allotments for repayment of their loans. In accordance with that agreement, the installment notes 

and RISCs require servicemembers participating in the MILES Program to repay their loans via a 

military pay allotment and warn servicemembers that if they discontinue their allotments, they 

will be in default on their loans. 

8. The MILES Program effectively requires servicemembers to use Military Assistance 

Company, LLC (“MAC”) for processing allotments. MAC collects, and shares with DFS, a $3 

monthly fee for allotment processing. 

9. The Bureau has also identified violations of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 
 
15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z (Truth in Lending), 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, associated 

with the mandatory use of military pay allotments – violations committed by another entity 

involved in the MILES Program and for which redress is provided in a separate Bureau order. 

10. The MILES Program offers optional products to servicemembers (“add-on products”). 

The MILES Program requires dealers, when offering the MILES Program to a servicemember, to 
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offer the servicemember two add-on products:  GAP insurance, which covers the difference, if 

any, between the insurance payout for the vehicle and the outstanding principal in the event that 

the vehicle is stolen or declared a total loss, and a Vehicle Service Contract (“VSC”), which 

covers certain repairs and costs. 

11. The cost of the add-on products is typically financed by the servicemember. 
 

12. The MILES Program add-ons were marketed by DFS through telephone calls to 

servicemembers, a DFS-managed website, brochures, and by the MILES dealers. 

13. The MILES Program VSC brochure contained a statement that purchasing the Vehicle 
 
Service Contract would add “just a few dollars to your monthly payment.” 
 

14. The cash price of the VSC ranges from about $1,100 to $4,000, and it varies based on 

the contract term and the car’s make, model, age, and mileage. Thus, the total cost of the VSC, 

calculated based upon the typical interest rate of 17.95%, ranges from about $1,600 to $6,000, 

depending on the contract term. The average cost paid by servicemembers for the VSC is about 

$2,600, including interest. On a five-year loan, this translates to a monthly average cost of over 
 
$40 for a financed VSC. 
 

15. The DFS call script included statements that the “service contract covers mechanical 

breakdowns” and that “[i]f you visit any MILES dealership for a repair of a covered mechanical 

breakdown, you will pay $0,” but did not prominently disclose the parts excluded from coverage. 

The MILES Program brochure listed covered parts, but did not prominently disclose the parts 

excluded from coverage, beyond:  including the statements “Comprehensive coverage – includes 

most major components of the vehicle” and “[t]he MILES Program Vehicle Service Contract 

provides you with comprehensive coverage for almost every part of your vehicle;” including a 

list of “the major vehicle components” covered; and, in a six-point-font footnote at the bottom of 
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the page, stating that “For detailed coverage information, please refer to the Vehicle Service 

Contract for full coverages and exclusions.” Only the VSC contract executed by the 

servicemembers described the exclusions from coverage. 

16. In the calls that the MILES Program required all borrowers to participate in before 

their loan approval, DFS employees sometimes made off-script comments that the GAP 

insurance would “add just a few cents to your car payment” or that it would cost “only a few 

pennies a day.” 

17. The cash price of the GAP insurance is the lesser of the maximum permitted under 

state law and $495, paid as a single premium. Including interest at the typical interest rate of 

17.95%, the typical cost for the GAP insurance is $753, including interest. On a five-year loan, 

this typical cost translates to a monthly cost of $12.55, or over 40 cents a day, including interest. 

 
 
 

II. Conclusions of Law 
 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 
 

18. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of the 
 
CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 
 

19. U.S. Bank is a “covered person” as that term is defined by section 1002(6) of the 
 
CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 
 

20. DFS is a “service provider” to U.S. Bank under section 1002 of the CFPA because 

DFS “participates in designing, operating, or maintaining” the MILES Program, which offers 

and provides MILES automobile loans, which are “consumer financial products or services” as 

that term is defined by section 1002(5) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A)(i). In particular, DFS recruits and trains the MILES dealers, operates the MILES 
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website, and is responsible for the marketing aimed at selling MILES Program loans and add-on 

products. 

21. As described in Paragraph 9, the Bureau has concluded that the mandatory use of 

military pay allotments resulted in violations of TILA. 

22. In offering the MILES Program VSC and the GAP insurance, DFS made deceptive 

statements regarding the cost of the add-on products and the scope of coverage of the Vehicle 

Service Contract, which violated the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive acts and practices, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
 

 
 
 
 

III. Definitions 
 

 

For purposes of this Consent Order, the following definitions shall apply: 
 

23. “Affected Consumer” shall mean any current or former servicemember who was 

granted credit through the MILES Program during the period between January 1, 2010 and 

December 31, 2012 and who purchased GAP insurance or a Vehicle Service Contract, with the 

exception of those servicemembers who received a refund of all of their GAP insurance and VSC 

premiums, if DFS is able to determine that they received the refund. 

24. “Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers” shall mean auto loan programs 

under which loans are offered or provided primarily to active-duty servicemembers. 

25. “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of Dealers’ Financial Holdings, Inc. 
 

26. “Clearly and prominently” shall mean: 
 

a.   In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on the 

screen of an electronic device), the disclosure shall be of a type, size, and location 

sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend the 
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disclosure, in print that contrasts with the background on which it appears; 
 

b.   In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio or 

streaming audio), the disclosure shall be delivered in a volume and cadence 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend the disclosure; 

c.   In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), disclosure that is provided in writing shall be in a form 

consistent with Subsection (a) and shall appear on the screen for a duration 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend the disclosure. 

Disclosures provided orally or through audible means shall be in a form consistent 

with Subsection (b); 

d.   In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, online 

services, and software, the disclosure shall be unavoidable and presented in a 

form consistent with Subsection (a); and 

e.   In all instances, the disclosure shall be presented prior to the consumer incurring 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used in 

any communication with the consumer. 

27. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 
 

28. “GAP insurance” shall mean any insurance or other agreement with a consumer which 

provides payment to cover the difference, if any, between the insurance payout for the vehicle 

and the outstanding principal in the event that the vehicle is stolen or declared a total loss. 

29. “Regional Director” shall mean the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for the 
 
Bureau’s Office of Supervision Examinations. 
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30. “Respondent” or “DFS” shall mean Dealers’ Financial Services, LLC and its 

successors and assigns and, with respect to Paragraphs 33 through 35, shall mean Dealers’ 

Financial Services, LLC, DFS Holdings, Inc., and their affiliates, officers, employees, and 

agents – whether acting directly or indirectly. 

31. “Service Provider” shall have the same meaning as set forth in section 1002(26) of the 
 
CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 
 

32. “Vehicle Service Contract” or “VSC” shall mean a vehicle service contract or other 

agreement with a consumer to repair certain covered parts. 

 
 
 

IV. Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 
 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 
 
12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, that DFS, whether acting directly or through any corporation, 

subsidiary, division or other device, shall cease and desist from the conduct described in 

Paragraphs 33 through 35 and take the affirmative actions set forth in Paragraphs 35 and 36: 

Conduct 
 

33. DFS shall cease and desist from any further violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 with respect to Auto Loan Programs Directed to 

Servicemembers. 

34. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, DFS shall not require the establishment of 

military pay allotments in connection with Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers and 

shall not process lender applications where military pay allotments are a required condition of 

credit to servicemembers. Nothing in this provision shall limit the offering of optional incentives 

to consumers related to the use of military allotments in connection with Auto Loan Programs 
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Directed to Servicemembers. 
 

35. DFS, when offering or providing any add-on product in connection with Auto Loan 

Programs Directed to Servicemembers, shall not, and within 60 days of the Effective Date shall 

require and take reasonable steps to ensure that MILES dealers do not, misrepresent: (a) the 

monthly cost and total price of such add-on products; (b) the scope of coverage of such add-on 

products and the exclusions from coverage; or (c) any other material terms of such add-on 

products. 

36. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DFS shall submit to the Regional Director for 

non-objection a Disclosure Form or forms that clearly and prominently (a) discloses the total 

cash price of such add-on products; (b) states that all add-on products are optional; (c) states that 

the consumer is not required to finance add-on products; (d) states that a difference in cost exists 

for paying cash for add-on products versus financing add-on products; (e) states that the product 

is cancellable, and (f) clearly and conspicuously informs servicemembers of the existence and 

nature of exclusions from the coverage provided by VSCs. Within 30 days of the Regional 

Director’s non-objection, DFS shall require MILES dealers to provide the Disclosure Form(s) to 

servicemembers who are purchasing add-on products under the MILES Program. 

Role of Board 
 

37. The Board shall review submissions of plans, reports, programs, policies, and 

procedures required by this Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

38. Although this Consent Order requires DFS to submit certain documents for review and 

determination of non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent, and for ensuring that DFS 

complies with federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 
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39. In each instance in this Consent Order in which the Board is required to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of DFS, the Board shall: (a) authorize 

and adopt such actions on behalf of DFS as may be necessary for DFS to perform its obligations 

and undertakings under the terms of this Consent Order; (b) require the timely reporting by DFS 

management of such actions directed by DFS to be taken under the terms of this Consent Order; 

and (c) take corrective action relating to any material non-compliance with such actions in a 

timely and appropriate manner. 

Compliance Plan 
 

40. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, DFS shall submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of non-objection the name of a proposed qualified independent 

consultant (“Compliance Plan Consultant”) to assist in the development, revision, review, and 

implementation of DFS’s compliance plan, as set forth below. 

41. Within 90 days of the Regional Director’s non-objection to the Compliance Plan 

Consultant, DFS shall review, revise, and/or develop a risk-based compliance management 

system and submit to the Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive written compliance plan designed to ensure that DFS, including when offering or 

providing Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers or offering or providing add-on 

products in connection with such programs, complies with all applicable federal consumer 

financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (“Compliance Plan”). The Compliance Plan 

shall include, at a minimum: 

a.   Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Section of the Consent 
 

Order; 
 

b.   Training materials for DFS’s employees to ensure compliance with this Consent 
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Order and with all applicable federal consumer financial laws; 
 

c.   Training materials for MILES dealers to ensure compliance with this Consent 
 

Order; 
 

d.   Detailed steps for creating and implementing compliance policies and procedures 

and a compliance monitoring and review program for the MILES Program to be 

implemented and overseen by compliance personnel; 

e.   Detailed steps for updating DFS’s internal audit scoping; and 
 

f. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

42. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non- 

objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct DFS to revise it. In the event that the Regional 

Director directs DFS to revise the Compliance Plan, DFS shall make the revisions and resubmit 

the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days. 

43. Upon notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non- 

objection to the Compliance Plan, DFS shall implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Compliance Plan. 

 
 
 

V. Redress 
 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that: 
 

44. DFS shall provide redress for the violation identified in Paragraph 22 by providing 

restitution to Affected Consumers, totaling $3,300,000 in accordance with the provisions set 

forth below. 

45. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DFS shall develop and submit to the Regional 
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Director a comprehensive plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order to 
 
Affected Consumers (“Redress Plan”). 
 

46. The Redress Plan shall, at a minimum, specify how DFS will: (a) calculate restitution 

for each Affected Consumer on a pro-rata basis based on the total amount (including principal 

and related finance charges) of the GAP insurance and/or VSC premiums the Affected 

Consumers are obligated to pay in relation to the total redress of $3,300,000; (b) reimburse each 

Affected Consumer either through a credit posted to the credit account associated with their 

MILES Program loan, or through a check in the event (i) an Affected Consumer is without an 

outstanding credit account associated with their MILES Program loans, or (ii) DFS demonstrates 

that it is otherwise impracticable to credit an Affected Consumer’s account; and (c) provide 

validation that Affected Consumers received redress consistent with the Redress Plan. The 

Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or to direct DFS to revise it. In the event that the Regional Director directs DFS to 

revise the Redress Plan, DFS shall make the requested revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to 

the Regional Director within 20 days. 

47. Within 7 days after the Regional Director notifies DFS that he or she has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, DFS shall implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and the timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 

48. Upon completion of the Redress Plan, if the amount of restitution credited and paid to 

Affected Consumers is less than $3,300,000, within 30 days of the completion of the Redress 

Plan DFS is ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such 

agent as the Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau, the difference between the amount of restitution provided to Affected 
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Consumers and $3,300,000. 
 

49. Any funds paid to the Bureau under Paragraph 48 shall be deposited in the U.S. 

Treasury as disgorgement. 

50. DFS shall not attach any conditions to the restitution provided to Affected Consumers, 

including requiring consumers to waive any rights. 

51. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to Respondent. 

52. With regard to any redress that DFS pays pursuant to this Section, DFS may neither 

seek nor receive, directly or indirectly, any reimbursement or indemnification from any 

insurance policy, and shall treat such payments in the ordinary course for tax purposes and may 

claim lawful deductions but shall not seek any extraordinary tax credit or other treatment. 

 
 
 

VI. Compliance Provisions 
 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that: 
 

Reporting Requirements 
 

53. DFS shall notify the Bureau of any change in DFS that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 

company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts 

or practices subject to this Consent Order; the proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against DFS; or a change in the name or address of DFS. 

54. DFS shall report any change in the information required to be submitted under this 
 
Section at least 30 days prior to such change. Provided, however, that with respect to any 
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proposed change about which DFS learns less than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take 

place, DFS shall notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 

55. DFS shall provide the Bureau notice of the filing of any bankruptcy petition, 

insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against DFS within 14 days of its filing. 

56. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again prior to one year after the Effective 

Date, DFS shall submit to the Regional Director a true and accurate written compliance progress 

report (“Compliance Report”), which has been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: (a) 

describes in detail the manner and form in which DFS has complied with this Consent Order and 

ensured compliance by the Board members and DFS’s executive officers, as well as its managers 

or employees who will have responsibilities to carry out the subject matter of this Consent Order; 

and (b) attaches a copy of each Consent Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to 

Paragraph 60 of this Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
 

57. After submitting the one-year Compliance Report, DFS shall submit to the Regional 

Director additional true and accurate Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written 

request from a Bureau representative. 

Consent Order Distribution and Acknowledgement 
 

58. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DFS shall deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, or 

other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities to carry out the requirements of 

the Consent Order. 

59. For a period of three years from the Effective Date, DFS shall deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the 

Reporting Requirements in Paragraphs 54 through 55, any future board members and executive 
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officers and managers who will have responsibilities to carry out the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities under the Consent Order. 

60. DFS shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of this 

Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the E-Sign 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of 

this Consent Order pursuant to this Section. 

Recordkeeping 
 

61. Respondent shall create, for at least three years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain, for at least five years, and make available to Bureau representatives upon request, the 

following business records: (a) all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau; 

(b) all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, as set forth in Section V above; 

(c) copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, and other marketing 

materials relating to Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers, including any such 

materials used by Service Providers; and (d) for MILES Program loans, all consumer complaints 

and all refund requests that DFS has received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party, 

and any responses to those complaints or requests. In addition, Respondent shall retain, for at 

least five years, and make available to Bureau representatives upon request, business records 

otherwise created sufficient to show the Affected Consumer’s name, address, and phone number, 

and, if known, email address, a description of the products or services that the Affected 

Consumer purchased in connection with the loan, date credit extended, the price of the vehicle 

and the price of any other products or services stated separately, amount financed, the annual 

percentage rate, and the term of the loan. 
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Notices 
 

62. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a Bureau representative, DFS shall provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order in writing and by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) with the subject line of 

the documents beginning: In re Dealers’ Financial Services, LLC, File No. 2013-CFPB-0004, as 

set out below. 

Steve Kaplan 
Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
330 Madison Ave 
New York, NY 
10017 

 
Compliance and Extensions of Time 

 
63. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his discretion, 

modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time). 

Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing. 

 
 
 

VII. Administrative Provisions 
 

 

64. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other federal or state agency or department from taking any other action against 

Respondent. 

65. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b), and expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, 

a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

66. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain effective and 

enforceable for five years except that any provision herein that applies for a longer period shall 



be effective and enforceable for such period or to the extent that, and until such time as, any 

provision has been modified, terminated, suspended, or set aside by the Bureau. 

67. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

68. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon Respondent. 

69. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 

violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties allowed under section I 055(c) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

70. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. No promises, representations or warranties other than those set forth in this 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, 

discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

71. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this lf.th day of June, 2013. 

Rj~y~ 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
  CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
 
 
In the Matter of                       ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING     
                                      File No. 2013-CFPB-0003 
U.S. Bank National Association,                 
Cincinnati, Ohio                             CONSENT ORDER 
 

 
 
 
 

   The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), through its examiners and other 

staff, has conducted a target review of the Military Installment Loans and Educational Services 

(“MILES”) program, an automobile loan program that U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S. 

Bank” or “Respondent”) helped develop and for which it is the primary lender. In this target 

review, the Bureau has identified the following violations of law: (1) Regulation Z (Truth in 

Lending), 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, for failing to accurately disclose the finance charge, annual 

percentage rate, payment schedule, and total of payments for MILES loans where U.S. Bank 

served as the creditor; and (2) sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

(“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 (the prohibition on deceptive acts or practices): (a) for 

failing to accurately disclose the finance charge, annual percentage rate, payment schedule, and 

total of payments for MILES loans; (b) for deceptive marketing with respect to the prices for a 

service contract; and (c) for deceptive marketing with respect to the coverage of a service 

contract. 

   U.S. Bank, by and through its President and Chairman of the Board of Directors (“Board”), 

has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” dated June 26, 

2013 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this 

Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order (this “Consent 
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Order”) by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, 

without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this 

action. 

   Accordingly, the Bureau hereby issues, under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent 

Order. 

 

I. Findings of Fact 

 The Bureau finds the following: 

1. U.S. Bank, Cincinnati, Ohio, is a national bank. As of December 31, 2012, U.S. Bank 

had $354 billion in total assets.  

2. U.S. Bank and Dealers’ Financial Services, LLC (“DFS”) jointly developed MILES as a 

loan program for U.S. military servicemembers (“servicemembers”) to finance the acquisition of 

new or used automobiles in dealer-assisted transactions, and since 2001 the MILES program has 

provided more than 110,000 automobile loans to servicemembers. DFS and U.S. Bank entered 

into the MILES Preferred Lender Agreement June 25, 2001, which, along with subsequent 

amendments, governs their respective roles in the MILES program. 

3. U.S. Bank serves as the primary lender for MILES, providing loans to servicemembers 

who meet U.S. Bank’s criteria. U.S. Bank finances the substantial majority of the MILES loans. 

4. DFS recruits and manages the 700-plus members of the MILES auto dealer network, 

maintains the MILES website, provides telemarketing, creates the MILES marketing and 

promotional materials, and gathers and reviews loan applications before sending them to U.S. 

Bank for final approval. Dealers in the MILES auto dealer network enter into contractual 
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arrangements separately with DFS and with U.S. Bank, and the model DFS Dealer Operating 

Agreement is incorporated into the MILES Preferred Lender Agreement between DFS and U.S. 

Bank. 

5. U.S. Bank, through DFS, provides the MILES dealers with blank U.S. Bank MILES 

installment note forms and retail installment sales contract (“RISC”) forms. U.S. Bank serves as 

the creditor for the majority of MILES loans for which it provides funding. For other MILES 

loans for which U.S. Bank provides funding, the dealer is the initial creditor within the meaning 

of Regulation Z. In that situation, the dealer and the servicemember enter into a RISC that is then 

assigned to U.S. Bank. 

6. MILES dealers fill in the U.S. Bank notes and RISCs, including the Truth in Lending 

Act disclosures, and present them to servicemember customers in the dealership. 

7. U.S. Bank, as stated in its installment notes, requires servicemembers participating in 

the MILES program to repay their loans via a military pay allotment and warns servicemembers 

that if they discontinue their allotments while in active service, they will be in default on their 

loans. 

8. U.S. Bank and the MILES program effectively require servicemembers to use Military 

Assistance Company, LLC (“MAC”) – the MILES “allotment partner” – for processing 

allotments for MILES loans. 

9. MAC collected and shared with DFS a $3 monthly fee for allotment processing.  

10. The $3 monthly MAC allotment fee was not included in the Truth in Lending Act 

disclosures contained in U.S. Bank’s MILES installment notes and RISCs, a fact that results in 

understated entries for the: (a) annual percentage rate; (b) finance charge; and (c) total of 

payments, with the finance charge and total of payments understated by up to $180 per borrower 
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for a 60-month loan. 

11. When a servicemember requests a pay allotment, the Department of Defense draws 

funds for the allotment from each paycheck. The vast majority of servicemembers are paid twice 

per month (“semi-monthly”). The Department of Defense only transmits allotment funds once 

monthly at the end of the month to MAC for further transmission to U.S. Bank. As a result, funds 

are taken for an allotment at both the middle and end of the month. The MILES website discloses 

that funds are taken for allotments twice a month; however, it does not state that the funds are 

credited to the servicemember’s account only at the end of the month. 

12. The Truth in Lending Act disclosures on the U.S. Bank notes and RISCs purchased by 

U.S. Bank inaccurately report the payment schedule – the number, amount, and timing of 

payments scheduled to repay the obligation – by failing to take into account the semi-monthly 

payments resulting from the mandatory use of allotments. 

13. Because U.S. Bank credits servicemembers’ loan accounts only once monthly, 

servicemembers pay a greater amount of interest on their loans than they would pay on a loan of 

the same amount and same nominal interest rate for which payments were credited twice 

monthly, when allotments are actually taken out of servicemembers’ pay. That additional interest 

amounts to approximately $75 on a typical MILES loan, assuming the servicemember remains in 

the military for the full life of the loan. 

14. Dealers, DFS telemarketers, and the DFS-operated MILES website offer optional 

products to servicemembers as part of the MILES program (“add-on products”). Only add-on 

products that are approved under the MILES program may be offered and financed, and the cost 

of the service contract and other add-on products is typically financed by the servicemember. 

MILES dealers are effectively required to offer servicemembers two add-on products: GAP 



5 
 

insurance, which covers the difference, if any, between the insurance payout for the vehicle and 

the loan principal in the event that the vehicle is stolen or declared a total loss, and a service 

contract, which covers certain repairs. 

15. The cost of the service contract and other add-on products is typically financed by the 

servicemember. 

16. The MILES add-on products are marketed primarily through telemarketing by DFS, 

the DFS website, and by dealers who use DFS-provided brochures. U.S. Bank has a contractual 

right to review all of the marketing and advertising materials for the MILES program; however, 

it did not regularly validate statements made in the DFS-provided materials. 

17. MILES brochures contained a claim that purchasing the service contract would add 

“just a few dollars to your monthly payment.” 

18. The cash price of the service contract ranges from about $1,100 to $4,000, and it 

varies based on the service contract’s term and the automobile’s make, model, age, and mileage. 

Thus, the total cost of the service contract, calculated based upon the typical interest rate of 

17.95%, ranges from about $1,600 to $6,000, depending on the loan term. The average cost paid 

by servicemembers for the service contract is about $2,600, including interest. On a five-year 

loan, this average translates to a monthly cost of over $40. 

19. The MILES telemarketing script includes a sales pitch for the MILES service contract. 

In the relevant part, the script advises servicemembers that, “At MILES we don’t want you to 

have to decide between fixing your car or paying your bills,” and “You would never think about 

not insuring your home or your health. However, the likelihood of an auto claim is much 

higher.” 
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20. The marketing brochure and service contract document contain subheadings listing 

categories of covered parts, without stating that important parts that would fall within those 

subheadings are, in fact, not covered. For example, the brochure lists “Brakes” as covered, but it 

does not disclose that brake pads and rotors are excluded. In addition, the brochure lists 

“transmission,” “suspension,” “electrical,” and “cooling” as covered, even though the service 

contract does not, in fact, cover manual clutches, shock absorbers, ignition coils, or radiator 

hoses. 

21. The brochure lists only covered parts and does not prominently disclose the existence 

of parts excluded from coverage, beyond a vague, six-point-font footnote at the bottom of the 

page. 

 

II. Conclusions of Law 

 The Bureau finds the following:  

22. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

23. U.S. Bank offers and provides automobile loans and takes assignment of RISCs for 

automobile purchases by servicemembers under the MILES program, each of which is a 

“consumer financial product or service” as that term is defined in section 1002(5) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

24. U.S. Bank is a “covered person” as that term is defined in section 1002(6) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

25. U.S. Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10,000,000,000 within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 
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26. The $3 MAC allotment fee constitutes a “finance charge” under Regulation Z because 

U.S. Bank and the MILES program effectively require servicemembers to use MAC pay 

allotments “as a condition of or an incident to the extension of credit.” 12 C.F.R.  

§ 1026.4(a)(1)(i). 

27. As described in Paragraphs 5 through 13, with respect to MILES loans for which the 

servicemember executed an installment note payable to U.S. Bank, U.S. Bank is a creditor. U.S. 

Bank failed to disclose, or adequately disclose, in MILES installment notes, the finance charge, 

annual percentage rate, payment schedule, and total of payments, in violation of Regulation Z, 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.18(d), (e), (g), and (h), and of the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive acts or 

practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

28. As described in Paragraphs 5 through 13, with respect to MILES loans evidenced by a 

RISC between the servicemember and the dealer that was assigned to U.S. Bank, the disclosures 

provided to servicemembers failed to disclose, or adequately disclose, the finance charge, annual 

percentage rate, payment schedule, and total of payments, and did not comply with the 

requirements of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d), (e), (g), and (h). U.S. Bank, therefore, 

engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

29. The MILES service contract marketing materials used by DFS and dealers in the 

MILES program included deceptive statements regarding the cost and coverage of the warranty, 

which violated the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive acts or practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B). By virtue of the overall structure and operation of the MILES program as set forth 

in Paragraphs 2 through 21, U.S. Bank engaged in these deceptive acts or practices. 
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III. Definitions 

 For purposes of this Consent Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

30. “Affected Consumer” shall mean any current or former servicemember who was 

obligated to pay U.S. Bank for credit extended under the MILES program and who made a 

payment on or after January 1, 2010. 

31. “Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers” shall mean auto loan programs, 

the primary purpose of which is to offer or provide loans to active-duty servicemembers, but the 

term does not include U.S. Bank’s other direct and indirect automobile loan programs not 

marketed primarily to active-duty servicemembers. 

32. “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of U.S. Bank. 

33. “Clearly and prominently” shall mean: 

a. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on the 

screen of an electronic device), the disclosure shall be of a type, size, and location 

sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend the 

disclosure, in print that contrasts with the background on which it appears. In 

multipage documents, the disclosure shall appear on the cover or first page; 

b. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio or 

streaming audio), the disclosure shall be delivered in a volume and cadence 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend the disclosure; 

c. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), disclosure that is provided in writing shall be in a form 

consistent with Subparagraph (a) and shall appear on the screen for a duration 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend the disclosure. 
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Disclosures provided orally or through audible means shall be in a form consistent 

with Subparagraph (b); 

d. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, online 

services, and software, the disclosure shall be unavoidable and presented in a 

form consistent with Subparagraph (a); and 

e. In all instances, the disclosure shall be presented prior to the consumer incurring 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used in 

any communication with the consumer. 

34. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

35.  “Regional Director” shall mean the Regional Director for the Midwest Region for the 

Bureau’s Office of Supervision Examinations. 

36. “Respondent” or “U.S. Bank” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association and its 

successors and assigns and, with respect to Paragraphs 40 through 42, its affiliates, officers, 

servants, attorneys, employees, and agents, whether acting directly or indirectly. 

37. The terms “amount financed,” “annual percentage rate,” “consumer,” “credit,” 

“creditor,” “finance charge,” “payment schedule,” and “total of payments” are defined as set 

forth in sections 103 and 128 of the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1602 and 1638, and 

sections 1026.2, 1026.4, 1026.18, and 1026.22 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.2, 1026.4, 

1026.18, and 1026.22. 

38. “Service contract” shall mean a vehicle service contract or other agreement with a 

consumer to repair certain covered parts. 
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39. “Service Provider” shall have the same meaning as set forth in section 1002(26) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

  

IV. Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563 and 5565, that U.S. Bank, whether acting directly or through any corporation, 

subsidiary, division or other device, shall cease and desist from the conduct described in 

Paragraphs 40 through 42 and take the affirmative actions set forth in Paragraph 42: 

Conduct 

40. U.S. Bank shall cease and desist from any further violations of Regulation Z, 12 

C.F.R. Part 1026, the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 with respect to Auto Loan Programs Directed to 

Servicemembers. 

41. U.S. Bank shall not condition an extension of credit to a consumer on the consumer’s 

repayment by military pay allotments in connection with Auto Loan Programs Directed to 

Servicemembers. Nothing in this provision shall limit U.S. Bank’s ability to offer optional 

incentives to consumers related to the use of military pay allotments. 

42. U.S. Bank, when offering or providing any add-on product in connection with Auto 

Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers, shall not, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure 

that its authorized program dealers do not, misrepresent material terms of such add-on products, 

including, but not limited to, the monthly price and total price of such add-on products, the scope 

of coverage of such add-on products, and, where necessary for clarification, exclusions from 

coverage.  For purposes of this Consent Order, “offering or providing any add-on product in 
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connection with Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers” shall mean an add-on 

product: (a) the cost of which is included in the amount financed with respect to an automobile 

loan; (b) that is optional; and (c) that U.S. Bank selects, recommends, markets, or effectively 

requires to be marketed as part of an Auto Loan Program Directed to Servicemembers. 

Role of Board 

43.  The Board, or a duly constituted Board committee, shall review submissions of plans, 

reports, programs, policies, and procedures required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

44.  Although this Consent Order requires U.S. Bank to submit certain documents for 

review and determination of non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent, and for ensuring that 

U.S. Bank complies with federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

45.  In each instance in this Consent Order in which the Board is required to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of U.S. Bank, the Board shall: (a) 

authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of U.S. Bank as may be necessary for U.S. Bank to 

perform its obligations and undertakings under the terms of this Consent Order; (b) require the 

timely reporting by U.S. Bank management of such actions directed by U.S. Bank to be taken 

under the terms of this Consent Order; and (c) take corrective action relating to any material non-

compliance with such actions in a timely and appropriate manner. 

Compliance Plan 

46.  Within 60 days of the Effective Date, U.S. Bank shall submit to the Regional Director 

for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan designed to 

ensure that U.S. Bank, when offering or providing Auto Loan Programs Directed to 
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Servicemembers or offering or providing add-on products in connection with such financing 

directly or through a Service Provider, complies with all applicable federal consumer financial 

laws and the terms of this Consent Order (“Compliance Plan”), provided, however, if, within 60 

days after the Effective Date, U.S. Bank is not offering Auto Loan Programs Directed to 

Servicemembers, submission of the Compliance Plan shall not be required until such time as 

U.S. Bank determines to offer or provide Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers. The 

Compliance Plan shall include, at a minimum: (a) detailed steps for addressing each action 

required by this Section IV of the Consent Order; (b) training materials for U.S. Bank’s relevant 

employees, Service Providers, and, as appropriate, MILES dealers to ensure compliance with this 

Consent Order; and (c) specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

47. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct U.S. Bank to revise it. In the event that the 

Regional Director directs U.S. Bank to revise the Compliance Plan, U.S. Bank shall make the 

revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days. 

48. Upon notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, U.S. Bank shall implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Compliance Plan. 

 

V. Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that: 

49. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, U.S. Bank shall develop and submit to the 

Regional Director a comprehensive plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order 
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to Affected Consumers for the violations identified in Paragraphs 27 and 28 (“Redress Plan”). 

50. The Redress Plan shall, at a minimum, specify how U.S. Bank will: (a) reimburse 

through credits to the Affected Consumer’s account, or through a certified or bank check, all 

allotment fees paid after January 1, 2010 or obligated to be paid by Affected Consumers in those 

cases where the fee was not included in the calculation of the finance charge or annual 

percentage rate disclosed to the Affected Consumer; (b) reimburse through credits to the 

Affected Consumer’s account, or through a certified or bank check, the difference between the 

total amount the consumer would pay on the loan if payments were credited at the time 

allotments were taken and the total payment due on the loan as actually credited by U.S. Bank 

for all payments made after January 1, 2010; and (c) provide validation that Affected Consumers 

received redress consistent with the Redress Plan. The Regional Director shall have the 

discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or to direct U.S. Bank to 

revise it. In the event that the Regional Director directs U.S. Bank to revise the Redress Plan, 

U.S. Bank shall make the requested revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional 

Director within 20 days. 

51. Within 7 days after the Regional Director notifies U.S. Bank that he or she has made 

a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, U.S. Bank shall implement and adhere to 

the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and the timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 

52. Upon completion of the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than the greater of (a) $3,200,000 or (b) the amount of total proposed redress 

specified in the Redress Plan, within 30 days of the completion of the Redress Plan, U.S. Bank is 

ordered to pay to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 
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Bureau, the difference between (a) the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

(b) the greater of (i) $3,200,000 or (ii) the amount of total proposed redress specified in the 

Redress Plan. 

53. Any funds paid to the Bureau under Paragraph 52 shall be deposited in the U.S. 

Treasury as disgorgement. 

54. U.S. Bank shall not attach any conditions to the redress provided to consumers, 

including requiring consumers to waive any rights. 

55. With regard to any redress that U.S. Bank pays pursuant to this Section V, U.S. Bank 

may neither seek nor receive, directly or indirectly, any reimbursement or indemnification from 

any insurance policy, and shall treat such payments in the ordinary course for tax purposes and 

may claim lawful deductions but shall not seek any extraordinary tax credit or other treatment.  

56. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall 

immediately become due and payable. 

57. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds shall be returned to Respondent. 

 

VI. Compliance Provisions 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that: 

Reporting Requirements 

58. U.S. Bank shall notify the Bureau of any change in U.S. Bank that may affect 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 
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assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 

company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts 

or practices subject to this Consent Order; the proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against U.S. Bank; or a change in the name or address of U.S. Bank. 

59. U.S. Bank shall report any such change at least 30 days prior to such change. 

Provided, however, that with respect to any proposed change about which U.S. Bank learns less 

than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take place, U.S. Bank shall notify the Bureau as 

soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 

60. U.S. Bank shall provide the Bureau notice of the filing of any bankruptcy petition, 

insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against U.S. Bank within 14 days of its 

filing. 

61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter by one year after the Effective 

Date, U.S. Bank shall submit to the Regional Director a true and accurate written compliance 

progress report (“Compliance Report”), which has been approved by the Board, which, at a 

minimum: (a) describes in detail the manner and form in which U.S. Bank has complied with this 

Consent Order and ensured compliance by its agents; and (b) attaches a copy of each Consent 

Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to Paragraph 65 of this Consent Order, unless 

previously submitted to the Bureau. 

62. After submitting the one-year Compliance Report, U.S. Bank shall submit to the 

Regional Director additional true and accurate Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a 

written request from a Bureau representative. 
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Consent Order Distribution and Acknowledgement 

63. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, U.S. Bank shall deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject 

matter of the Consent Order. 

64. For a period of three years from the Effective Date, U.S. Bank shall deliver a copy of 

this Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in 

the Reporting Requirements in Paragraphs 58 and 59, any future board members and executive 

officers, as well as to any managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

65. U.S. Bank shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy 

of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the E-

Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy 

of this Consent Order pursuant to this Section. 

Recordkeeping 

66. Respondent shall create, for at least three years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain, for at least five years, and make available to Bureau representatives upon request, the 

following business records: (a) all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau; 

(b) all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, as set forth in Section V above;   

(c) copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, and other marketing 

materials relating to Auto Loan Programs Directed to Servicemembers, including any such 
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materials used by Service Providers; (d) for each individual Affected Consumer, to the extent 

each of the following are known or reasonably available, the Affected Consumer’s name, 

address, phone number, and email address; a description of the products or services that the 

Affected Consumer purchased in connection with the loan; date credit extended; the price of the 

vehicle and the price of any other products or services stated separately; amount financed; the 

annual percentage rate; the term of the loan; whether the servicemember paid by allotment for 

the life of the loan and, if not, the date the servicemember stopped paying by allotment; a copy of 

any promotional or welcome materials provided, if available; and, if applicable, the date and 

reason(s), if known, that the Affected Consumer paid off the loan, defaulted, or otherwise closed 

the MILES loan account; and (e) for MILES loans, all consumer complaints and refund requests 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to 

those complaints or requests. 

Notices 

67. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a Bureau representative, U.S. Bank shall 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, consents or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing and by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) with the subject 

line of the documents beginning: In re U.S. Bank, File No. 2013-CFPB-0003, as set out below.   

         Anthony Gibbs 
         Regional Director, CFPB Midwest Region  

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
200 East Randolph Street 
Suite 5170  
Chicago, IL 60601  
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Compliance and Extensions of Time 

68. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his discretion, 

modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time). 

Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing. 

  

VII. Administrative Provisions 

69. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other federal or state agency or department from taking any other action against 

Respondent. 

70. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b), and expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, 

a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

71. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain effective and 

enforceable, except to the extent that, and until such time as, any provisions of this Order shall 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the CFPB or its designated 

agent. 

72. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

73. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon Respondent. 

74. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 

violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C.  

§ 5565(c). 



75. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties other than those set forth in this 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any.of the parties. This 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, 

discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

76. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 1!._ th day of June, 2013. 

Rf!::k£.y~ 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Auto Lenders to Refund
Approximately $6.5 Million to
Servicemembers
MILES Program Engaged in Deceptive Marketing and Lending Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
ordered U.S. Bank and one of its nonbank partner companies, Dealers’ Financial
Services (DFS), to end deceptive marketing and lending practices targeting active-duty
military. The two companies must return about $6.5 million to servicemembers for
failing to properly disclose all the fees charged to participants in the companies’
Military Installment Loans and Educational Services (MILES) auto loans program, and
for misrepresenting the true cost and coverage of add-on products financed along with
the auto loans.

“The CFPB has a special mission to protect servicemembers,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “The MILES program failed to properly disclose costs associated with
repaying auto loans through the military allotments system and the expensive auto add-
on products sold to active-duty military. We will continue our work to ensure that
servicemembers are treated fairly.”

U.S. Bank, headquartered in Minneapolis, Minn., and DFS, headquartered in
Lexington, Ky., created the MILES program to finance subprime auto loans to active-
duty military. While the program has expanded beyond U.S. Bank being its only lender,
today U.S. Bank is still responsible for financing the substantial majority of the MILES
program loans. DFS is responsible for managing the consumer-facing aspects of the
MILES program. This includes: marketing the program; recruiting and maintaining the
700 participants in the MILES auto dealer network; managing the MILES website; and
processing the loan applications before they are passed on to U.S. Bank.

The MILES program required servicemembers to repay their auto loans using the
military allotment system, which deducts payments directly from a military member’s
paycheck before that salary is deposited in his or her bank account. The allotment
system was created decades ago to help deployed servicemembers send money home to
their families and pay their creditors at a time when automatic bank payments and
electronic transfers were not yet common bank services.

Today, the military allotment system may be vulnerable to misuse. When
servicemembers pay by allotment, the lenders often require servicemembers to use
third-party processors that charge one or more fees. If lenders require payments by
allotment, military consumers could be left with no choice but to pay this additional
processing fee in order to qualify and pay for the loan. This can cost servicemembers
more in fees than alternatives like online banking, which are often free.
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CFPB examinations found that U.S. Bank, which is responsible for financing the MILES
loans, violated the Truth in Lending Act and the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on deceptive acts or practices by:

Failing to properly inform servicemembers about fees associated with
the loan: Servicemembers were charged a monthly processing fee for their
automatic payroll allotments. However, this fee was not properly disclosed as part
of the finance charge, annual percentage rate, and total payments for the loans.
Over the life of a typical 60-month MILES loan, a borrower would pay
approximately $180 in these fees.

Failing to properly disclose schedule of payments: Since U.S. Bank
required servicemembers to pay by military allotments, which they knew would be
deducted from servicemembers’ paychecks twice a month, U.S. Bank should have
informed servicemembers that they had to make payments twice per month.
However, the bank told servicemembers that payments were due only once a
month and only credited their accounts once a month. The lag between when the
payment was deducted and when it was credited cost servicemembers additional
interest—an extra $75 over the life of a typical MILES loan.

U.S. Bank, which helped create the MILES program with DFS, is also responsible for
the illegal marketing of a vehicle service contract discussed below.

Dealers’ Financial Services violations
CFPB examinations found that DFS misrepresented the costs and coverage of add-on
products sold in conjunction with MILES loans. Specifically, DFS deceptively marketed
two optional add-on products that were sold to, and typically financed by,
servicemembers – a vehicle service contract and an additional GAP insurance policy,
which is a special kind of insurance that only applies to a car that has been stolen or
declared a total loss and where the payment from the primary insurer does not cover
the balance due on the car loan. DFS’s deceptive practices included:

Understating the costs of the vehicle service contract: DFS claimed in marketing
materials that the vehicle service contract would add just “a few dollars” to the
customer’s monthly payment when it actually added an average of $43 per month.

Understating the costs of the insurance: Similarly, DFS told some customers that
the insurance policy would cost only a few cents a day, when the true cost
averaged 42 cents a day, or more than $100 a year.

Misleading consumers about product benefits: The MILES marketing materials
also deceptively suggested that the vehicle service contract would protect
servicemembers from all expensive car repairs, when many basic parts were not
covered.

Remedies
Under the CFPB orders issued today, the companies have agreed to:

Stop deceptive practices: U.S. Bank and DFS are required to end deceptive
marketing and lending practices and will be prohibited from making misleading
claims or omissions when marketing add-on products through MILES or similar
programs in the future.

Pay restitution to servicemembers: U.S. Bank has agreed to pay at least $3.2
million and DFS has agreed to pay $3.3 million to over 50,000 servicemember
victims for violating the Truth in Lending Act and federal laws that prohibit
deceptive marketing and lending practices. Servicemembers who had outstanding
MILES loans between January 1, 2010 and today may receive restitution under
today’s orders.
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Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers:
Servicemembers are not required to take any action to receive their
reimbursement. U.S. Bank and DFS will provide the reimbursements to the
victims as an account credit or as a check in the mail.

Stop requiring the use of allotments: U.S. Bank and DFS have also agreed to
modify the MILES program so that servicemembers are not required to use
allotments in order to participate.

Improve disclosures: The companies will take steps to improve their disclosures
to servicemembers regarding the cost and other material terms of add-on
products.

Required reporting: Under the orders, both companies will be required to submit
a redress plan that the CFPB must approve. They must also provide reports to the
Bureau to demonstrate their compliance with the orders.

Earlier this week, the Bureau released a bulletin  discussing its expectations regarding
“responsible conduct” by those subject to Bureau enforcement actions. By proactively
altering problematic aspects of the MILES program and readily working with the
Bureau to provide refunds to servicemembers harmed by this conduct, both companies
in this action engaged in the sort of conduct the CFPB expects from companies found to
have violated consumer financial laws. This was one of several factors the Bureau
considered when choosing not to impose a civil money penalty in this matter.

The Department of Defense and the Judge Advocate General (JAG) Corps of each of the
service branches assisted the CFPB in this matter. The CFPB and the Department of
Defense have been also working closely on issues related to the military discretionary
allotment system. The Department of Defense has convened an interagency work group
to improve the allotment system in which the CFPB will participate.

To see a blog by Assistant Director for Servicemember Affairs Holly Petraeus on what
servicemembers should know about military allotments, go to:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/what-you-should-know-about-military-
allotments/.

The U.S. Bank Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_enforcement-order_2012-0340-
02.pdf
The DFS Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_enforcement-order_2013-0589-
02.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov
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JUN 27 2013

CFPB Orders Auto Lenders to Refund
Approximately $6.5 Million to
Servicemembers
MILES Program Engaged in Deceptive Marketing and Lending Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
ordered U.S. Bank and one of its nonbank partner companies, Dealers’ Financial
Services (DFS), to end deceptive marketing and lending practices targeting active-duty
military. The two companies must return about $6.5 million to servicemembers for
failing to properly disclose all the fees charged to participants in the companies’
Military Installment Loans and Educational Services (MILES) auto loans program, and
for misrepresenting the true cost and coverage of add-on products financed along with
the auto loans.

“The CFPB has a special mission to protect servicemembers,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “The MILES program failed to properly disclose costs associated with
repaying auto loans through the military allotments system and the expensive auto add-
on products sold to active-duty military. We will continue our work to ensure that
servicemembers are treated fairly.”

U.S. Bank, headquartered in Minneapolis, Minn., and DFS, headquartered in
Lexington, Ky., created the MILES program to finance subprime auto loans to active-
duty military. While the program has expanded beyond U.S. Bank being its only lender,
today U.S. Bank is still responsible for financing the substantial majority of the MILES
program loans. DFS is responsible for managing the consumer-facing aspects of the
MILES program. This includes: marketing the program; recruiting and maintaining the
700 participants in the MILES auto dealer network; managing the MILES website; and
processing the loan applications before they are passed on to U.S. Bank.

The MILES program required servicemembers to repay their auto loans using the
military allotment system, which deducts payments directly from a military member’s
paycheck before that salary is deposited in his or her bank account. The allotment
system was created decades ago to help deployed servicemembers send money home to
their families and pay their creditors at a time when automatic bank payments and
electronic transfers were not yet common bank services.

Today, the military allotment system may be vulnerable to misuse. When
servicemembers pay by allotment, the lenders often require servicemembers to use
third-party processors that charge one or more fees. If lenders require payments by
allotment, military consumers could be left with no choice but to pay this additional
processing fee in order to qualify and pay for the loan. This can cost servicemembers
more in fees than alternatives like online banking, which are often free.
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CFPB examinations found that U.S. Bank, which is responsible for financing the MILES
loans, violated the Truth in Lending Act and the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on deceptive acts or practices by:

Failing to properly inform servicemembers about fees associated with
the loan: Servicemembers were charged a monthly processing fee for their
automatic payroll allotments. However, this fee was not properly disclosed as part
of the finance charge, annual percentage rate, and total payments for the loans.
Over the life of a typical 60-month MILES loan, a borrower would pay
approximately $180 in these fees.

Failing to properly disclose schedule of payments: Since U.S. Bank
required servicemembers to pay by military allotments, which they knew would be
deducted from servicemembers’ paychecks twice a month, U.S. Bank should have
informed servicemembers that they had to make payments twice per month.
However, the bank told servicemembers that payments were due only once a
month and only credited their accounts once a month. The lag between when the
payment was deducted and when it was credited cost servicemembers additional
interest—an extra $75 over the life of a typical MILES loan.

U.S. Bank, which helped create the MILES program with DFS, is also responsible for
the illegal marketing of a vehicle service contract discussed below.

Dealers’ Financial Services violations
CFPB examinations found that DFS misrepresented the costs and coverage of add-on
products sold in conjunction with MILES loans. Specifically, DFS deceptively marketed
two optional add-on products that were sold to, and typically financed by,
servicemembers – a vehicle service contract and an additional GAP insurance policy,
which is a special kind of insurance that only applies to a car that has been stolen or
declared a total loss and where the payment from the primary insurer does not cover
the balance due on the car loan. DFS’s deceptive practices included:

Understating the costs of the vehicle service contract: DFS claimed in marketing
materials that the vehicle service contract would add just “a few dollars” to the
customer’s monthly payment when it actually added an average of $43 per month.

Understating the costs of the insurance: Similarly, DFS told some customers that
the insurance policy would cost only a few cents a day, when the true cost
averaged 42 cents a day, or more than $100 a year.

Misleading consumers about product benefits: The MILES marketing materials
also deceptively suggested that the vehicle service contract would protect
servicemembers from all expensive car repairs, when many basic parts were not
covered.

Remedies
Under the CFPB orders issued today, the companies have agreed to:

Stop deceptive practices: U.S. Bank and DFS are required to end deceptive
marketing and lending practices and will be prohibited from making misleading
claims or omissions when marketing add-on products through MILES or similar
programs in the future.

Pay restitution to servicemembers: U.S. Bank has agreed to pay at least $3.2
million and DFS has agreed to pay $3.3 million to over 50,000 servicemember
victims for violating the Truth in Lending Act and federal laws that prohibit
deceptive marketing and lending practices. Servicemembers who had outstanding
MILES loans between January 1, 2010 and today may receive restitution under
today’s orders.
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Provide refunds or credits without any further action by consumers:
Servicemembers are not required to take any action to receive their
reimbursement. U.S. Bank and DFS will provide the reimbursements to the
victims as an account credit or as a check in the mail.

Stop requiring the use of allotments: U.S. Bank and DFS have also agreed to
modify the MILES program so that servicemembers are not required to use
allotments in order to participate.

Improve disclosures: The companies will take steps to improve their disclosures
to servicemembers regarding the cost and other material terms of add-on
products.

Required reporting: Under the orders, both companies will be required to submit
a redress plan that the CFPB must approve. They must also provide reports to the
Bureau to demonstrate their compliance with the orders.

Earlier this week, the Bureau released a bulletin  discussing its expectations regarding
“responsible conduct” by those subject to Bureau enforcement actions. By proactively
altering problematic aspects of the MILES program and readily working with the
Bureau to provide refunds to servicemembers harmed by this conduct, both companies
in this action engaged in the sort of conduct the CFPB expects from companies found to
have violated consumer financial laws. This was one of several factors the Bureau
considered when choosing not to impose a civil money penalty in this matter.

The Department of Defense and the Judge Advocate General (JAG) Corps of each of the
service branches assisted the CFPB in this matter. The CFPB and the Department of
Defense have been also working closely on issues related to the military discretionary
allotment system. The Department of Defense has convened an interagency work group
to improve the allotment system in which the CFPB will participate.

To see a blog by Assistant Director for Servicemember Affairs Holly Petraeus on what
servicemembers should know about military allotments, go to:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/what-you-should-know-about-military-
allotments/.

The U.S. Bank Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_enforcement-order_2012-0340-
02.pdf
The DFS Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_enforcement-order_2013-0589-
02.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov
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AUG 20 2013

CFPB Files Suit Against Morgan Drexen
for Charging Illegal Fees and Deceiving
Consumers
Company Made Misleading Claims about its Debt-Relief Services to
Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
filed a lawsuit in federal district court against a Nevada corporation, Morgan Drexen,
Inc., and its president and chief executive officer, Walter Ledda, for charging illegal
upfront fees and deceiving consumers. The company falsely claims that it does not
charge consumers upfront fees for debt-relief services and falsely represents to
consumers that they will become debt free in months if they work with Morgan Drexen.

“This company took advantage of people who were struggling,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “The company charged consumers illegal fees and deceived them
about the services provided. We will hold them accountable for these actions.”

Morgan Drexen is a nationwide debt-settlement company that was founded by Mr.
Ledda in 2007. Mr. Ledda maintains a 93 percent stake in the company and plays an
active role in the company’s business strategies and practices.

The CFPB alleges that the defendants have violated the Telemarketing Sales Rule and
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Telemarketing
Sales Rule prohibits deception in telemarketing. It also generally prohibits debt-relief
providers from charging a fee for any debt-relief service until it has actually settled,
reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one of the consumer’s debts. The
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act prohibits deceptive acts
or practices in the consumer financial marketplace.

When consumers sign up for Morgan Drexen’s services, the company presents them
with two contracts, one for debt-settlement services, and the other for bankruptcy-
related services. Based on its investigation, however, the Bureau’s believes that little to
no bankruptcy work is actually performed for consumers. Consumers are nevertheless
charged fees.

The CFPB believes the bankruptcy-related contract is a ruse designed to disguise the
illegal upfront fees the company is charging consumers for debt-relief services as
bankruptcy-related fees. The Bureau’s investigation has revealed that, since October
2010, more than 22,000 Morgan Drexen consumers have enrolled in this program.
These consumers have been charged millions of dollars in upfront fees for debt-relief
services.

The CFPB also alleges that Morgan Drexen has violated both the Dodd-Frank Act and
the Telemarketing Sales Rule by making the following false and misleading claims in its
advertisements:
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No upfront fees: The company claims that consumers will not pay upfront fees
for debt-relief services, when, in reality, they typically pay hundreds, if not
thousands, of dollars in upfront fees.

Debt free in months: Morgan Drexen claims that consumers will be “debt free
in months” when, in fact, only a tiny fraction of consumers who work with the
company ever become debt free.

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the unlawful practices of Morgan Drexen
and Mr. Ledda. The Bureau has also requested that the court impose penalties on the
company and Mr. Ledda for their conduct and require that restitution be paid to
consumers who have been harmed.

A copy of the complaint filed today can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201308_cfpb_complaint_morgan-drexen.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
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v. 

23 Morgan Drexen, Inc., 
and 

24 Walter Ledda, individually, and as 
25 owner, officer, or manager of Morgan 

Drexen, Inc., 
26 Defendants. 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "Bureau") alleges the following 

against Morgan Drexen, Inc. ("Morgan Drexen") and Walter J. Ledda ("Mr. Ledda") 

(together, "Defendants"): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under Sections 103 l(a), 1036(a), 1054, and 

1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 

7 5536(a), 5564(a), and 5581, and under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and 

8 Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), based on Defendants' 

9 violations of the CFPA and the Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in 

10 connection with the marketing and sale of debt relief services. 

1 1 

12 

13 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because the action 

is "brought under Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(l), presents a 

14 federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

15 U.S.C. § 1345. 

16 3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 lJ.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), and 12 

17 u.s.c. § 5564(t). 

PLAINTIFF 18 

19 4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

20 regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

21 Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 549l(a). It has independent litigating 

22 authority, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it 

23 applies to persons subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d); 12 U.S.C. § 

24 5531 (a). 

25 DEFENDANTS 

26 5. Defendant Morgan Drexen, Inc. ("Morgan Drexen") is a Nevada 

27 corporation. Its physical business address is 675 Anton Blvd., Costa Mesa, CA 92626. 

28 
2 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Morgan Drexen offers and provides debt relief services, as defined in the TSR, 16 C.F .R. 

§ 310.2(m) (2010), and financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481 (15)(A)(viii), including, but not limited to, debt relief services. At all times 

material to this Complaint, Morgan Drexen transacts or has transacted business in the 

Central District of California. 

6. Defendant Walter J. Ledda is the President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Morgan Drexen. At all times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with 

others, Mr. Ledda has formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and 

practices of Morgan Drexen, including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

Given his status as an officer or managerial employee, Mr. Ledda is a "related person" 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). Because of his status as a "related person" 

under the CFP A, Mr. Ledda is a "covered person" under the CFP A. Id. Mr. Ledda is 

also a "covered person" under the CFP A because he engages in the offering or providing 

of consumer financial services through his provision of financial advisory services, 

including services to assist consumers settle debts. At all times material to this 

Complaint, Mr. Ledda has transacted business in the Central District of California. 

BACKGROUND 

7. Mr. Ledda founded Morgan Drexen in or around March 2007. At the time, a 

number of states that regulated the for-profit debt relief industry provided an exemption, 

in some form, for attorneys practicing law in connection with debt relief. 

8. In or around August 2007, Morgan Drexen began employing what is known 

colloquially as the "Attorney Model" of debt relief services. Under the Attorney Model, 

consumers contracted directly with attorneys affiliated with Morgan Drexen for the 

provision of debt relief services and paid the attorneys up-front fees in advance of any 

debt being settled. Morgan Drexen, not the attorneys, actually performed the debt relief 

work on behalf of consumers. The attorneys, in tum, paid Morgan Drexen the majority 

of the up-front fees they received from consumers. 

3 



1 9. At the outset of its use of the Attorney Model, Morgan Drexen entered into a 

2 business arrangement with a number of lawyers ("Engagement Attorneys"). Morgan 

3 Drexen and the Engagement Attorneys agreed that they would work together to offer debt 

4 relief services to the entire nation. Each of the Engagement Attorneys was assigned a 

5 region of the country. The Engagement Attorneys then contracted with attorneys in 

6 jurisdictions where the Engagement Attorneys were not licensed to practice law ("Local 

7 Attorneys") (Collectively, Local Attorneys and Engagement Attorneys are referred to 

8 herein as "Network Attorneys"). 

9 10. Though consumers paid Network Attorneys directly, the attorneys would 

10 only keep a small percentage of the funds received. Morgan Drexen retained the majority 

11 of the up-front fees paid by consumers. 

12 11. In October 2010, the FTC responded to the proliferation of abusive and 

13 deceptive practices in the debt relief sector by amending the TSR to, among other things, 

14 prohibit debt relief companies engaged in telemarketing from requesting or receiving 

15 advance fees before renegotiating, settling, reducing, or otherwise altering the terms of at 

l 6 least one of a consumer's debts. The TSR amendments do not provide an exemption for 

17 attorneys practicing law in connection with debt relief. 

18 12. On or around the effective date of the TSR amendment, Morgan Drexen 

19 changed its business practice. 

20 13. Under its new practice, Morgan Drexen presents the consumer with two 

21 contracts to enter into with a Network Attorney, one purportedly for debt relief services 

22 and one purportedly for bankruptcy-related services ("Dual Contract Model"). 

23 14. The Dual Contract Model is designed to disguise consumers' up-front 

24 payments for debt relief services provided by Morgan Drexen as payments for 

25 bankruptcy-related work purportedly performed by Network Attorneys. 

26 

27 

28 
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DEFENDANTS' DUAL CONTRACT MODEL 

Morgan Drexen Advertises Debt Relief Services 

15. Morgan Drexen markets debt relief services through television commercials, 

radio advertisements, and the internet, including through websites that it creates and 

manages for Network Attorneys. 

16. Morgan Drexen's television commercials appear on network and cable 

television on local and national stations across the country. The commercials contain 

messages that encourage consumers to call Morgan Drexen immediately to take 

advantage of a limited opportunity. 

17. In its commercials, Morgan Drexen claims that it can help consumers 

eliminate their debt through debt relief programs supported by attorneys. In the 

television commercials, these claims are generally plastered across the screen in large 

neon print. Such claims include: 

a. "No more debt" 

b. "Eliminate your debt" 

c. "Call now! And erase your debt" 

d. "Call for ... a free legal services catalogue to explain how the attorneys 

can eliminate your debt" 

e. "Attorneys supported by Morgan Drexen will work to reduce any type of 

unsecured debt" 

21 18. In one commercial, a woman smiles and states, "Now I'm debt free, yes I 

22 am, yes." In some commercials, a background voice instructs, "Call now, this is your 

23 opportunity to be debt free in months," while the message "Be debt free in months" 

24 flashes on the screen in large, bold neon print. 

25 19. Morgan Drexen states in its commercials that the advertised services do not 

26 require any up-front fees. In television commercials, the words "$0 up-front fees" are 

27 

28 
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displayed on the screen in large bold neon print, while a voice in the background 

announces, "Best part- no up-front fees. You have nothing to lose except your debt." 

20. Morgan Drexen also advertises its services as a way for consumers to avoid 

bankruptcy, with statements such as: "Start your life over without filing bankruptcy." 

21. In its commercials, Morgan Drexen claims that attorneys will work on 

behalf of consumers to reduce their debt. For example, one commercial includes the 

following statement: "attorneys supported by Morgan Drexen will work to reduce your 

debt." Another includes the following statement: "Put a lawyer on your side." In most 

commercials, Morgan Drexen does not name a specific attorney. Instead, it refers 

generally to "attorneys supported by Morgan Drexen." 

22. Each television and radio commercial contains a toll-free telephone number 

for consumers to call in order to speak with a Morgan Drexen representative. 

The Intake Call 

14 The Pitch 

15 23. Consumers respond to Morgan Drexen's advertising and call the toll-free 

16 telephone number listed by Morgan Drexen to inquire about the advertised debt relief 

1 7 services. 

18 24. During telephone calls, employees of Morgan Drexen advise consumers that 

19 Morgan Drexen can assist in negotiating unsecured debts so that a consumer will be able 

20 to repay the debt for less than what is owed. 

21 25. Morgan Drexen employees advise consumers that, under the terms of the 

22 advertised debt relief program, the consumers will make fixed monthly payments for a 

23 defined period of time. 

24 26. Morgan Drexen employees further advise that, once Morgan Drexen has 

25 negotiated a settlement of unsecured debt, the funds the consumer has paid on a monthly 

26 basis will be used to pay the negotiated, reduced debt amount, thereby settling the debt. 

27 

28 
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27. Consumers are often placed on hold during their initial call to Morgan 

Drexen. While on hold, consumers hear testimonials from people who state they are 

happy with the program advertised by Morgan Drexen. These testimonials often 

emphasize the benefits of avoiding bankruptcy. For example, one such testimonial reads: 

And I thought I was going to have to claim bankruptcy, but I 
really didn't want to do that, so I decided to take a chance on 
the program I saw advertised. Now of course I was very 
nervous at first because it was something new I hadn't heard of 
before. But, I'm debt free now. I could hardly believe it. It's 
awesome to get a second chance. 

10 28. Morgan Drexen employees obtain detailed information from consumers 

11 about the amount and source(s) of their income and the amount and number of their 

12 debts. 

13 29. Once Morgan Drexen has obtained information about the consumer's 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

income and debt, the consumer is transferred to a "Legal Intake Specialist," another 

Morgan Drexen employee at its call center. Morgan Drexen has prepared a script for 

Legal Intake Specialists to follow when talking to consumers. The script includes the 

following language: 

Basically, I'm a Morgan Drexen Legal Intake Specialist who 
works with (name the firm). This is a law firm that settles with 
creditors. (Name the firm), with our support, negotiates with 
your creditors to get you out of the debt. Although this depends 
on the circumstances of each individual client, their average 
settlements are about 40 to 50% of the balance due (excluding 
fees and accretion). Ultimately, they work with you to pay 
back the debt at a reduced amount, without the scar of filing for 
bankruptcy. 

25 30. If a consumer is still interested in signing up for the advertised debt relief 

26 program, a Morgan Drexen employee determines the amount of the monthly payment the 

27 consumer will have to make under the program and informs the consumer of this. 

28 
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The Fees 

31. During the intake call, Morgan Drexen makes a series of contradictory 

statements about the fees consumers must pay under the advertised debt relief program. 

32. For example, per Morgan Drexen's call scripts, Morgan Drexen employees 

state that the "only fee" a consumer will be charged for debt relief services is a flat 

percentage of the consumer's original balance of a debt, and that the flat percentage will 

only accrue once the debt is settled. 

33. But then the employee explains that the consumer will also be charged three 

fees for bankruptcy services: (1) a $1,000 to $1,500 engagement fee; (2) a $450 

bankruptcy filing fee; and (3) a $50 monthly administrative fee. The employee states that 

Morgan Drexen provides the consumer with bankruptcy services as a "safety net, just in 

case you need a new beginning." The employee describes how an attorney will prepare a 

bankruptcy petition for the consumer, but will not file it until the consumer consents and 

has paid the fees. The employee then explains that these fees are "built into" the 

consumer's payment and thus are not an "out of pocket expense." 

34. As the final step of the intake call, the Morgan Drexen employee asks 

consumers with internet access to access a web portal and electronically sign two 

contracts for services with the Network Attorney to which Morgan Drexen has assigned 

them. The first contract is titled, "Attorney/Client Agreement - Debt Resolution 

Representation" ("Debt Relief Contract"). The second contract is titled, "Attorney/Client 

Bankruptcy Fee Agreement" ("Bankruptcy Contract"). 

35. The Debt Relief Contracts are at least five-pages long, contain many legal 

terms, and are written in small font, in single-spaced form. The Bankruptcy Contracts are 

at least four-pages long, contain many legal terms, and are also written in small font, in 

singled spaced form. 

36. Consumers do not have any contact with an attorney prior to signing these 

contracts. 

8 
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services sign both contracts. 

38. When consumers enroll in the program, Morgan Drexen employees tell them 

to stop paying debts they want to settle. 

39. Consumers who stop paying debts as a result of Morgan Drexen's advice 

may be harmed because the failure to pay may result in, among other things, a lowered 

credit score, collection calls, and the imposition of late fees. 

40. Morgan Drexen also obtains authorization from consumers to automatically 

deduct a monthly payment from their bank account. Once Morgan Drexen has this 

authorization, it immediately withdraws $100. 

The Architecture of Morgan Drexen 's Dual Contract Model 

The Debt Relief Contract 

41. Under the Dual Contract Model, the Debt Relief Contract the consumer 

signs does not require the payment of up-front fees . Instead, it requires that the consumer 

pay his or her attorney a contingent fee that is a percentage ( 18%) of the verified original 

balance of the resolved account at the time of engagement. It also requires the consumer 

to pay a "pass-through charge" of either 4 % of each debt that is settled or $10 per each 

payment the consumer makes to pay off a debt that is settled, whichever is less. 

42. The contract commits a Network Attorney to represent a consumer with 

respect to the attempted negotiation and settlement of the consumer's debts. In numerous 

instances, however, Morgan Drexen, not Network Attorneys, performs virtually all of the 

debt resolution work. Among other things, Morgan Drexen: 

a. Creates and publishes advertisements for debt relief services; 

b. Fields phone calls from consumers responding to its advertisements; 

c. Performs consumer intake; 

d. Analyzes consumers' budgets to determine the potential savings that 

consumers may realize as a result of enrolling in the debt relief program; 

9 
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e. Determines consumers' monthly payments; 

f. Appoints Network Attorneys for consumers to enter into a contract with; 

g. Sends letters to consumers instructing them to call Morgan Drexen rather 

than their attorneys if they have a question; 

h. Obtains paperwork from consumers to process enrolled debts; 

i. Sets up automatic withdrawals from consumers' bank accounts; 

J. Develops relationships with creditors to facilitate debt relief; 

k . Sends letters to creditors in the names of Network Attorneys (Morgan 

Drexen has signature stamps from the attorneys that it uses for this 

purpose); 

1. Directs creditors to communicate only with Morgan Drexen, not 

attorneys; 

m. Determines when to make a settlement offer to creditors; 

n. Directly negotiates with creditors to settle consumers' debts; 

o. Transfers funds from the accounts of Network Attorneys to itself, 

creditors, and other third parties; and 

p . Handles inquiries or complaints from consumers, the Better Business 

Bureau, and government agencies. 

43. In numerous instances, Network Attorneys perform little, if any, work with 

respect to debt relief. 

44. Local Attorneys receive a monthly retainer of $500 for a client base of three 

hundred consumers ($1.66 per consumer). Morgan Drexen provides incentives to Local 

Attorneys to approve settlement offers. Local Attorneys receive an additional $250 per 

month to review and approve or reject up to fifty settlement offers ($5 per offer). After 

receipt of the initial $250, Local Attorneys are eligible to receive another $5 per 

settlement offer, but only for settlement offers that they approve. 
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45. When Morgan Drexen has negotiated a settlement offer from a creditor, it 

emails Local Attorneys through a web portal. Upon receipt of the email, an attorney 

must choose one of four options: "cancel," "accept," "accept with comments," or "deny." 

If Local Attorneys do not respond to the settlement proposal within 24 hours, the 

proposal is automatically deemed approved. Settlement offers are routinely approved. 

46. If debt settlement negotiations fail, and a creditor seeks to collect a debt 

through litigation, consumers are not provided representation under the Debt Relief 

Contract. 

9 4 7. If a consumer wants litigation representation, he or she may enter into a 

10 separate, limited scope agreement with a per-service fee structure, and even then receives 

11 only a consultation regarding the filing of pro-se pleadings. 

12 The Bankruptcv Contract 

13 48. Under the Bankruptcy Contract presented to the consumer, the consumer is 

14 required to pay up-front fees. At the outset of the engagement, a consumer pays: 

15 a. an engagement fee of between $1 ,000 and $1,500, as determined by 

16 Morgan Drexen; 

17 b. a $450 bankruptcy filing fee; and 

18 c. a flat monthly servicing fee of $50. 

19 49. By the bankruptcy contract's own limited scope, little to no bankruptcy work 

20 is performed for consumers. 

21 50. Though the Bankruptcy Contract refers to bankruptcy in its title and 

22 throughout the document, the contract does not commit Network Attorneys to provide 

23 legal representation to consumers in a bankruptcy proceeding. It limits a Network 

24 Attorney's engagement to counseling the consumer "with respect to preparation for 

25 possibly filing a bankruptcy petition" and "with respect to pre- and post-filing claims by 

26 creditors." If a consumer seeks representation in a bankruptcy proceeding, he or she must 

27 

28 
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pay the Network Attorney additional fees under a new contract, or find another attorney 

to represent him or her. 

Morgan Drexen 's Receipt of Up-Front Fees 

51 . Once the consumer enrolls in Morgan Drexen' s Dual Contract Model 

program by signing both contracts, Morgan Drexen commences making automatic 

monthly withdrawals from the consumer's account and depositing this money in his or 

her Network Attorney's account. 

52. With limited exception, it is not until the consumers' payments have covered 

the up-front fees due under the Bankruptcy Contract - which may take a number of 

months - that the consumer's monthly payments (minus the $50 monthly administrative 

fee or other outstanding fees) are placed into a trust account to be used towards 

settlements with the consumer's creditors as negotiated by Morgan Drexen. 

5 3. Morgan Drexen transfers the vast majority of all of these fees from the 

Network Attorneys' accounts into its own account. 

54. If consumers seek to terminate their relationship with Morgan Drexen and 

the Network Attorneys and obtain a refund of the money they have paid, they typically 

are unable to do so, or they obtain only a partial refund. Morgan Drexen routinely argues 

that the fee payments are nonrefundable, regardless of whether Morgan Drexen has 

obtained any settlements for the consumer. 

The Consumer Experience Under The Dual Contract Model 

55. Consumers who respond to Morgan Drexen's marketing efforts have 

unsecured debt(s) and typically are having difficulty making their monthly payments. 

They typically contact Morgan Drexen to inquire about debt relief services, not 

bankruptcy-related services. 

56. At least 22,000 consumers have enrolled in Morgan Drexen's Dual Contract 

program since October 27, 2010 and have been charged millions of dollars in up-front 

fees. 
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57. On average, Morgan Drexen customers who enter into the Dual Model 

Contract program enroll fourteen debts, totaling tens of thousands of dollars. 

58. Few, if any, consumers become debt free in months by using Morgan 

Drexen' s Dual Contract Model program. 

59. Only a tiny fraction of consumers who enter into Morgan Drexen's Dual 

Contract Model have all of their enrolled debts renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered. The vast majority of consumers do not have any enrolled debt 

renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered. 

60. Morgan Drexen and the Network Attorneys rarely perform any bankruptcy-

related work for consumers. Typically, where bankruptcy work is performed, it is limited 

to Morgan Drexen's preparation of a draft bankruptcy petition for the consumer. 

ROLE OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT WALTER J. LEDDA 

13 61. Mr. Ledda has engaged in the offering or providing of debt relief services 

14 through Morgan Drexen. He is the President of Morgan Drcxcn's two-person Board of 

15 Directors, and the President and Chief Executive Officer of the company. He also holds 

16 a 93.09% stake in the company. 

17 62. Among other acts relating to Morgan Drexen, Mr. Ledda manages the 

18 company's day-to-day operations, is the sole signatory on Morgan Drexen's bank 

19 accounts, and was instrumental in the creation of the Morgan Drexen' s Dual Contract 

20 Model. 

21 THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE 

22 63. The TSR was promulgated for the explicit purpose of preventing consumer 

23 harm from debt relief operations like Morgan Drexen's. 75 Fed. Reg. 48, 458 (Aug. 10, 

24 2010). 

25 64. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(m), defines "debt relief service" as "any 

26 program or service represented, directly or by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in any 

27 way alter the terms of payments or other terms of the debt between a person and one or 

28 
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more unsecured creditors or debt collectors, including, but not limited to, a reduction in 

the balance, interest rate, or fees owed by a person to an unsecured creditor or debt 

collector." 

65 . The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd), defines "telemarketing" as "a plan, 

program, or campaign which is conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services or 

a charitable contribution, by use of one or more telephones and which involves more than 

one interstate telephone call." 

66. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa), defines "seller" as "any person who, in 

connection with a telemarketing transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for 

others to provide goods or services to the customer in exchange for consideration." 

67. The TSR, 16 C.F .R. § 310.2( cc), defines "telemarketer" as "any person who, 

in connection with telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or from a 

customer or donor." 

68. Defendants are "sellers" or "telemarketers" of "debt relief service," who 

engage in "telemarketing," as defined in the TSR. 

69. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i), provides that a seller or a telemarketer 

may not request or receive payment of any fee or consideration for any debt relief service 

until and unless, among other things, "the seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled, 

reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a settlement 

agreement, debt management plan, or other such valid contractual agreement executed by 

the customer" and "the customer has made at least one payment" pursuant to such an 

agreement or plan. 

70. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(ii), provides that a seller or a telemarketer 

may request or require customers to place funds in an account to be used for the debt 

relief provider's fees and for payments to creditors or debt collectors in connection with 

the renegotiation or settlement of a debt, provided that, among other things: "the 

customer owns the funds held in the account and is paid interest on the account" and "the 
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customer may withdraw from the debt relief service at any time without penalty and must 

receive all funds in the account, other than funds earned by the debt relief service in 

compliance with §310.4(a)(5)(i)(A) through (C), within seven (7) business days of the 

consumer's request." 

71. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ii), prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material 

restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, or use goods or services that are 

the subject of the sales offer. 

72. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii), prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material 

aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of goods or services 

that are the subject of a sales offer. 

73. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(x), prohibits a seller or telemarketer from 

misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material 

aspect of any debt relief service. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE TSR 

COUNT I 

74. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

reference. 

20 7 5. In the course of telemarketing debt relief services from October 2 7, 20 l 0 to 

21 the present, Defendants have requested or received fees from consumers for debt relief 

22 services before renegotiating, settling, reducing, or otherwise altering the terms of at least 

23 one of such consumers' debts. Defendants have requested or received payment of these 

24 fees prior to consumers making at least one payment pursuant to any settlement 

25 agreement, debt-management plan, or other valid contractual agreement between 

26 consumers and their creditors. 

27 

28 
15 



1 76. Therefore, Defendants ' acts or practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

2 310.4(a)(5)(i), and are abusive acts or practices in telemarketing. Because Defendants 

3 are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 1031 (a) and 103 6( a)( 1) of 

4 the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l). 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c)(2). 

5 

6 

7 

8 

77. 

reference. 

78. 

COUNT II 

Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

In the course of telemarketing debt relief services from October 27, 2010 to 

9 the present, Defendants have required consumers to place up-front fee payments in an 

10 account and failed to hold these payments such that consumers own the funds, or to allow 

1 1 

12 

13 

consumers to withdraw from the debt relief program without penalty and receive all 

funds held in the account. 

79. Therefore, Defendants acts or practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F .R. § 

14 310.4(a)(5)(ii), and are abusive acts or practices in telemarketing. Because Defendants 

15 are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 103 l(a) and 1036(a)(l) of 

16 the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l). 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c)(2). 

17 COUNT III 

18 80. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

19 reference. 

20 81. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

21 promoting , offering for sale, or sale of debt relief services, Defendants have represented, 

22 directly or indirectly , expressly or by implication, that consumers are not charged an 

23 advance fee for Defendants' debt relief services. 

24 82. In fact, consumers are charged advance fees for Defendants' debt relief 

25 services. 

26 83 . Therefore, Defendants' representations as described herein violate the TSR, 

27 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ii) and (x), and are deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing. 

28 
16 
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Because Defendants are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 

103l(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l). 15 U.S.C. § 

6102( c )(2). 

COUNT IV 

84. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

reference. 

85 . In numerous instances, in connection with the adve1iising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt relief services, Defendants have represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers who enroll in the debt 

relief program advertised by Defendants will be debt free in months, i.e., less than a year, 

of enrolling in the program. 

86. In fact, in numerous instances, consumers do not become debt free in 

months, i.e. , less than a year, of enrolling in Defendants' debt relief program. 

87. Therefore, Defendants' representations as described herein violate the TSR, 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii) and (x), and are deceptive acts or practices in telemarketing. 

16 Because Defendants are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 

17 103 l(a) and 1036(a)(l) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l ). 15 U.S.C. § 

18 6102( c )(2). 

19 THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

20 88. Sections 1031and1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

21 5536(a)(l )(B), prohibit covered persons from engaging "in any unfair, deceptive, or 

22 abusive act or practice." 

23 89. Section 1036(a)(l)(A) of the CFPA provides that it is "unlawful for any 

24 covered person to offer or provide to a consumer any financial product or service not in 

25 conformity with Federal consumer law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in 

26 violation of a Federal consumer financial law." Section 1054(a) of the CFPA grants the 

27 Bureau authority to commence a civil action against any person who violates a Federal 

28 
17 
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consumer financial law. The CFPA is a Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(14). 

90. Defendants are "covered person[s]" within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 5481(25). 

91. 

reference. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

COUNTY 

Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

92. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt relief services, Defendants have represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers are not charged an 

advance fee for Defendants' debt relief services. 

93. In fact, consumers are charged advance fees for Defendants' debt relief 

services. 

94. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 91 are false 

and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT VI 

19 95. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by 

20 reference. 

21 96. ln numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

22 promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt relief services, Defendants have represented, 

23 directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers who enroll in the debt 

24 relief program advertised by Defendants will be debt free in months, i.e., less than a year, 

25 of enrolling in the program. 

26 97. In fact, in numerous instances, consumers do not become debt free in 

27 months, i.e., less than a year, of enrolling in Defendants' debt relief program. Therefore, 

28 
18 
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Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 95 are false and misleading, and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 

12 u.s.c §§ 5531, 5536. 

CONSUMER INJURY 

98. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants' violations of the TSR and the CFPA. In addition, Defendants have 

been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive 

relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust 

enrichment, and harm the public. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

11 99. The CFP A empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable 

12 relief with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, including, without 

13 limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, the 

14 refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, 

15 and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a) and 5565(a). 

16 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

17 100. Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

18 a. Award Plaintiff such injunctive and ancillary relief as may be necessary to 

19 enjoin Defendants from harming consumers through the advertisement, 

20 marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or selling of any consumer 

21 financial product or service; 

22 b. Permanently enjoin Defendants from advertising, marketing, promoting, 

23 offering for sale, or selling any debt relief product or service. 

24 c. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

25 CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310; 

26 d. A ward such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

27 consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the CFPA and the 

28 
19 
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TSR, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, 

the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and disgorgement or compensation 

for unjust enrichment; 

e. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

f. A ward Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

9 Dated: August 20, 2013 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Respectfully submitted, 

LUCY E. MORRIS 
Deputy Enforcement Director For T ,iti gation 

4{~,~~ 
(E-mail: gabriel.o'malley@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone:202-435-9747) 
Shirley Chiu 
(E-mail: Shirley.chiu@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7592) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 
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CFPB Takes Action to End Student “Debt
Relief” Scams
CFPB Warns Borrowers About Companies Charging High Fees for Free
Federal Loan Repayment Benefits

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action to put an end to two student “debt relief” scams that illegally tricked
borrowers into paying upfront fees for federal loan benefits. The CFPB, in a joint filing
with Florida’s Attorney General, shut down student debt relief company College
Education Services and separately filed a lawsuit against Student Loan Processing.US
for illegally marketing student debt relief services. The Bureau is issuing a consumer
advisory today warning student loan borrowers to be wary of paying high fees for free
federal loan benefits.

“Student loans are already a significant debt for many Americans. College Education
Services and Student Loan Processing.US added to that hardship by taking advantage
of troubled borrowers and failing to describe their services honestly,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “When scam artists prey on student loan borrowers, we will
take action to halt their illegal activity.”

The U.S. Department of Education offers numerous plans to borrowers with federal
student loans to make payments more affordable. These include options that let
borrowers set their monthly payment based on their income. Monthly payments under
these plans can be as low as zero dollars per month for unemployed or very lowwage
borrowers. The Department of Education does not charge any fees to apply for or enroll
in these plans, for which many student loan borrowers qualify.

College Education Services Banned from
Industry
College Education Services, its owner, Marcia Elena Vargas, and advisor and employee,
Frank Liz, marketed and advertised debt relief services to student loan borrowers with
loans in default. Based in Tampa, Florida, the company advertised through Internet ads
and operated websites including CollegeDefaultedStudentLoan.com and
HelpStudentLoanDefault.com. The company reaped millions of dollars in advance fees
from thousands of consumers before it ceased operations around February 2013.
Specifically, College Education Services:

Charged illegal advance fees: Federal law requires at least one debt to be
renegotiated, settled, or reduced before a fee can be collected for debt relief
services. But College Education Services charged consumers between $195 and
$2,500 and required all, or a substantial portion, of its fees to be paid upfront; the
average fee was about $500. The company even took money from financially
distressed consumers who could not qualify for loan consolidation, incomedriven
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payment plans, or loan forgiveness programs.

Falsely promised lower payments: Presenting themselves as “counselors,”
College Education Services’ telemarketers promised consumers that they could
solve all the student loan issues that plagued consumers. Internet ads and
telemarketers guaranteed lower monthly payments for consumers. One College
Education Services’ ad said, “Cut Your Student Loan Monthly Payment Up to 50%
– Save Today!” The company often failed to deliver the promised results. For
some consumers who qualified for loan consolidation, College Education Services
selected monthly repayment plans that increased their monthly payments.

Falsely claimed quick relief from default or garnishment: The company
promised quick relief from default or garnishment. Garnishment is when a court
order allows money to be taken from a consumer’s salary, bank account, or other
asset when she owes money. But the principal debt relief approach the company
used – loan consolidation − did not and could not ensure those benefits in all
cases, and not in the quick timeframe the company promised.

Under the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Bureau
has the authority to take action against companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or
abusive practices. Today, the Bureau asked a federal district court to enter a consent
order that would permanently ban College Education Services, Liz, and Vargas from
engaging in any debt relief businesses. In addition to the permanent ban, the proposed
order requires College Education Services, Vargas, and Liz, to pay a $25,000 civil
penalty, which was based on the defendants’ inability to pay a more substantial amount.

The College Education Services proposed consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_consentorder_thecollege
educationservices.pdf

The College Education Services complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_thecollegeeducation
services.pdf

The State of Florida joined the Bureau in today’s lawsuit against College Education
Services. More information will be available at:
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/newsrel.nsf/newsreleases

Student Loan Processing.US Sued
Student Loan Processing.US, a fictitious business name of Irvine Web Works, Inc., is
headquartered in Laguna Nigel, California, with an office in Dallas, Texas. The CFPB
alleges that since at least July 2011, the company and its owner, James Krause, has been
marketing and advertising services to advise and assist borrowers applying for
Department of Education federal student loan repayment programs. The company
operates websites under the names StudentLoanProcessing.us,
StudentLoanProcessing.org, and slpus.org. In the complaint filed today, the Bureau is
accusing the company and Krause of:

Falsely representing an affiliation with the U.S. Department of
Education: Claiming to be a “consultation service,” Student Loan Processing.US
implies to consumers that it is affiliated with the Department of Education. The
company uses a logo that resembles a government seal, stamps “Official Business”
on its mail to consumers, and cites federal law prohibiting mail tampering to
create the impression that the marketing material is sent or endorsed by the
federal government.

Charging illegal advance fees: Student Loan Processing.US charges
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consumers considerable upfront enrollment fees of either 1 percent of the
consumer’s federal student loan balance or $250, whichever is higher. The
company requires payment of the entire fee before it even mails application
materials to consumers.

Deceiving borrowers about the costs and terms of its services: Student
Loan Processing.US fails to clearly explain and disclose that it charges a monthly
service fee that continues until the consumer’s federal student loans are paid in
full or discharged, a timeframe that could last decades. In certain cases, the
company advises consumers who may qualify for zero payments to pay $39 a
month – without adequately explaining that the $39 is going to Student Loan
Processing.US as a fee.

Under the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. In today’s lawsuit, the Bureau is seeking to stop the illegal conduct. In
addition, the Bureau is seeking restitution to consumers harmed and a civil money
penalty against Student Loan Processing.US and Krause.

The Student Loan Processing.US complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_studentloan
processing.pdf

Consumers Warned About Student Debt
Relief Scams
As student loan borrowers run into roadblocks while trying to get help from their loan
servicers, such as lost paperwork or payment processing problems, they may grow
discouraged with their prospects of an alternative payment plan. In a consumer
advisory issued today, the CFPB warns students to avoid paying for plans that they can
easily get for free. The services offered by thirdparty debt relief providers are not a
substitute for highquality student loan servicing and may cost borrowers thousands of
dollars and drive them further into debt.

The CFPB’s consumer advisory points out that enrollment in alternative repayment
programs, like the IncomeBased Repayment program or the Pay As You Earn program,
is available at no cost to federal student loan borrowers. Companies offering special
services do not have the ability to negotiate with creditors in order to obtain a “special
deal” under the federal student loan programs. The advisory also provides warning
signs that a company offering student loan debt relief may be a scam. These signs
include:

Pressure to pay high upfront fees: Consumers should avoid companies that
require payment before they actually do anything, especially if they try to get a
credit card number, bank account information, or require that consumers sign a
contract.

Requests for a Federal Student Aid PIN: Consumers should be cautious of
companies that ask for their Federal Student Aid PIN. This unique ID is the
equivalent of a consumer’s signature and giving it away is giving a company the
power to perform actions on the consumer’s student loan. Honest companies will
work with consumers to come up with a plan without the PIN.

The consumer advisory is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumeradvisorystudentloandebtrelief
companiesmaycostyouthousandsofdollarsanddriveyoufurtherintodebt/

In recent years, many consumers have borrowed significantly to pay for postsecondary

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumer-advisory-student-loan-debt-relief-companies-may-cost-you-thousands-of-dollars-and-drive-you-further-into-debt/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_student-loan-processing.pdf
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education. Earlier this year, the Bureau announced that outstanding student debt totals
nearly $1.2 trillion. Most of this debt is from federal government student loans. The
Bureau also estimates that 7 million student loan borrowers are now in default on their
debt. Borrowers who run into trouble with companies offering debt relief services when
repaying student loans can file a complaint.

More information is at: www.consumerfinance.gov/students

The Bureau’s complaints and consent orders are not findings or rulings that the
defendant has actually violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Sues Sprint for Cramming
Consumers with Unauthorized Third-Party
Charges
Sprint Ignored Complaints from Consumers and Cost Them Tens of
Millions of Dollars

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed a
lawsuit against Sprint Corporation for illegally billing wireless consumers tens of
millions of dollars in unauthorized thirdparty charges. The Bureau’s complaint alleges
that Sprint operated a billing system that allowed third parties to “cram” unauthorized
charges on customers’ mobilephone accounts and ignored complaints about the
charges. The CFPB seeks refunds for affected consumers and penalties to deter
unauthorized thirdparty charges in the future.

“Today we are suing Sprint for allowing illegal charges to be crammed onto consumers’
wireless bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Consumers ended up paying tens
of millions of dollars in unauthorized charges, even though many of them had no idea
that third parties could even place charges on their bills. As the use of mobile payments
grows, we will continue to hold wireless carriers accountable for illegal thirdparty
billing.”

Consumers use mobile phones to purchase an array of digital products, such as apps,
games, books, movies, and music. Wireless carriers collect and process payments for
these purchases and control the networks connecting merchants and customers. From
about 2004 through 2013, nearly all wireless thirdparty billing involved products
called “premium text messages” or “premium short messaging services” (PSMS)
because they were frequently delivered by text messages. Sprint outsourced payment
processing for these digital purchases to vendors called “billing aggregators” without
properly monitoring them.

The lack of oversight gave aggregators near unfettered access to consumers’ wireless
accounts. Sprint’s system attracted and enabled unscrupulous merchants who, in some
cases, only needed consumers’ phone numbers to cram illegitimate charges onto
wireless bills. The charges ranged from onetime fees of about $0.99 – $4.99 to
monthly subscriptions that cost about $9.99 a month. Sprint received a 3040 percent
cut of the gross revenue from these charges.

Most consumers were targeted online. Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to
websites asking them to enter their cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked
consumers into providing their cellphone numbers to receive “free” digital content and
then charged for it. Many others simply placed fabricated charges on bills without
delivering any goods or communicating with consumers.

The Bureau is alleging that Sprint, as a payment processor for third parties, violated the
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DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair
practices by:

Allowing thirdparties to illegally charge consumers: Sprint’s billing
system made it easy for thirdparty scammers to attach charges to consumers’
bills. Sprint profited from these illegitimate charges, while millions of consumers
were victimized by them.

Automatically billing consumers for illegitimate charges without their
consent: Sprint did not let customers opt in to thirdparty billing. Instead, the
company automatically enrolled customers without their consent. This policy
helped perpetuate the wrongdoing because many customers did not spot
unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties could place charges
on their bills.

Disregarding red flags about third parties: Sprint disregarded red flags
showing that its system was a breeding ground for unauthorized charges. Sprint
continued to outsource to billing aggregators despite lawsuits about cramming
against the very same aggregators that Sprint used. In addition, Sprint should
have known that cramming was a major problem as the company had already
been subject to a law enforcement action related to the issue.

Ignoring consumer complaints about unauthorized charges: Sprint
failed to track customer complaints about unauthorized charges, and as a result,
lacked the most basic alert mechanism that could have revealed flaws in its
monitoring systems. Sprint also failed to provide full and prompt remediation to
consumers subjected to these charges. In some instances, Sprint refused to
provide refunds and only offered instructions on how to block future thirdparty
charges. Other times, Sprint refused to provide refunds and referred customers to
the merchants.

As a result, Sprint’s wireless customers – many of whom did not know that third parties
could place charges on their bills – incurred millions of dollars in illegitimate charges.
Sprint, in contrast, profited handsomely from its system, collecting hundreds of
millions of dollars in revenue, according to the Bureau’s complaint. Sprint terminated
premium short messaging services billing in December 2013.

The CFPB worked in close coordination with the Federal Communications Commission
and received valuable assistance from its Enforcement Bureau in this matter.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has violated the
law.

A copy of the Bureau’s complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_cfpbvsprintcomplaint.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Sues Sprint for Cramming
Consumers with Unauthorized Third-Party
Charges
Sprint Ignored Complaints from Consumers and Cost Them Tens of
Millions of Dollars

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed a
lawsuit against Sprint Corporation for illegally billing wireless consumers tens of
millions of dollars in unauthorized thirdparty charges. The Bureau’s complaint alleges
that Sprint operated a billing system that allowed third parties to “cram” unauthorized
charges on customers’ mobilephone accounts and ignored complaints about the
charges. The CFPB seeks refunds for affected consumers and penalties to deter
unauthorized thirdparty charges in the future.

“Today we are suing Sprint for allowing illegal charges to be crammed onto consumers’
wireless bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Consumers ended up paying tens
of millions of dollars in unauthorized charges, even though many of them had no idea
that third parties could even place charges on their bills. As the use of mobile payments
grows, we will continue to hold wireless carriers accountable for illegal thirdparty
billing.”

Consumers use mobile phones to purchase an array of digital products, such as apps,
games, books, movies, and music. Wireless carriers collect and process payments for
these purchases and control the networks connecting merchants and customers. From
about 2004 through 2013, nearly all wireless thirdparty billing involved products
called “premium text messages” or “premium short messaging services” (PSMS)
because they were frequently delivered by text messages. Sprint outsourced payment
processing for these digital purchases to vendors called “billing aggregators” without
properly monitoring them.

The lack of oversight gave aggregators near unfettered access to consumers’ wireless
accounts. Sprint’s system attracted and enabled unscrupulous merchants who, in some
cases, only needed consumers’ phone numbers to cram illegitimate charges onto
wireless bills. The charges ranged from onetime fees of about $0.99 – $4.99 to
monthly subscriptions that cost about $9.99 a month. Sprint received a 3040 percent
cut of the gross revenue from these charges.

Most consumers were targeted online. Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to
websites asking them to enter their cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked
consumers into providing their cellphone numbers to receive “free” digital content and
then charged for it. Many others simply placed fabricated charges on bills without
delivering any goods or communicating with consumers.

The Bureau is alleging that Sprint, as a payment processor for third parties, violated the
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DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair
practices by:

Allowing thirdparties to illegally charge consumers: Sprint’s billing
system made it easy for thirdparty scammers to attach charges to consumers’
bills. Sprint profited from these illegitimate charges, while millions of consumers
were victimized by them.

Automatically billing consumers for illegitimate charges without their
consent: Sprint did not let customers opt in to thirdparty billing. Instead, the
company automatically enrolled customers without their consent. This policy
helped perpetuate the wrongdoing because many customers did not spot
unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties could place charges
on their bills.

Disregarding red flags about third parties: Sprint disregarded red flags
showing that its system was a breeding ground for unauthorized charges. Sprint
continued to outsource to billing aggregators despite lawsuits about cramming
against the very same aggregators that Sprint used. In addition, Sprint should
have known that cramming was a major problem as the company had already
been subject to a law enforcement action related to the issue.

Ignoring consumer complaints about unauthorized charges: Sprint
failed to track customer complaints about unauthorized charges, and as a result,
lacked the most basic alert mechanism that could have revealed flaws in its
monitoring systems. Sprint also failed to provide full and prompt remediation to
consumers subjected to these charges. In some instances, Sprint refused to
provide refunds and only offered instructions on how to block future thirdparty
charges. Other times, Sprint refused to provide refunds and referred customers to
the merchants.

As a result, Sprint’s wireless customers – many of whom did not know that third parties
could place charges on their bills – incurred millions of dollars in illegitimate charges.
Sprint, in contrast, profited handsomely from its system, collecting hundreds of
millions of dollars in revenue, according to the Bureau’s complaint. Sprint terminated
premium short messaging services billing in December 2013.

The CFPB worked in close coordination with the Federal Communications Commission
and received valuable assistance from its Enforcement Bureau in this matter.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has violated the
law.

A copy of the Bureau’s complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_cfpbvsprintcomplaint.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

 
UNION WORKERS CREDIT 
SERVICES, INC.,  
 

Defendant. 
 

  
 
 
Case No. ______________ 
 
COMPLAINT 
 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the Bureau) alleges the following 

against Union Workers Credit Services, Inc. (UWCS): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054(a), 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), 5565, and under the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

(FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1)(H). This action is based on UWCS’s violations of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibit unfair, deceptive, and 

abusive acts or practices, in connection with UWCS’s offering of a general-use credit 

card. This action is also based on UWCS’s violations of the FCRA and its implementing 

regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1022, in connection with UWCS’s offers of credit. 

15 U.S.C. § 1681m(d); 12 C.F.R. § 1022.54(c). 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction because it is brought under 

“Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 

28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

3. Venue is proper in this district and the Dallas division because UWCS is 

located, resides, and does business in Dallas. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer-financial products and services under 

“Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has independent litigating 

authority, including the authority to enforce the FCRA and Regulation V. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681s(b)(1)(H); 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5564(a)-(b). The Bureau may act “through its 

own attorneys . . . in any action” to which it is a party. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(b). 

DEFENDANT 

5. UWCS is a Texas-based for-profit corporation that is located and does 

business in this district. UWCS has engaged in offering or providing to consumers 

extensions of credit that constitute consumer-financial products or services that are 

covered by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(i). Accordingly, UWCS is a “covered 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  

FACTS 

6. UWCS has been in operation since about 2004.  

7. Until at least early November 2014, UWCS solicited customers by sending 

written direct-mail offers via the U.S. Postal Service and by maintaining a website. 
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8. As described in more detail below, in both its direct-mail offers and its 

website, UWCS, explicitly or impliedly, offered consumers a general-use credit card, 

which was similar to a Visa- or MasterCard-branded credit card and allowed a consumer 

to access open-end credit that could be used to make purchases from many retailers 

unaffiliated with UWCS. UWCS calls the card it offered a “platinum card.”  

9. Beginning at least by January 2011, UWCS’s direct-mail offers described 

this “platinum card” as having a $10,000 credit limit and a 5% annual-percentage 

rate (APR).  

10. UWCS told consumers that they would receive the platinum card if they 

paid a “membership fee.” The membership fee was $37 for consumers who responded to 

direct-mail offers and $95 for consumers who enrolled through the UWCS website, 

which included an online-application form.  

11. By UWCS’s own admission, it has targeted certain types of consumers: 

“the average, Middle America-type hardworking individual who may have blue-collar-

type jobs.” 

12. In the last three years alone, hundreds of thousands of consumers in the 

United States responded to UWCS’s direct-mail offers or website application form and 

paid $37 or $95 membership fees to UWCS.  

13. The consumers who paid membership fees to UWCS did not receive 

general-use credit cards. In fact, the platinum card that UWCS advertised and provided 

to these consumers is not a general-use credit card, but merely a paper membership 

card that has allowed consumers to receive closed-end, purchase-specific credit from 

UWCS. Consumers could use the credit offered by UWCS to purchase only items 

advertised and sold by UWCS through a catalog or other means.  
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14. Few consumers who paid the membership fee and received the UWCS 

platinum card ever purchased items from UWCS’s catalog or otherwise availed 

themselves of the closed-end credit that UWCS has actually provided. Rather, during the 

relevant period, $37 membership fees have accounted for the vast majority of UWCS’s 

revenue. 

15. Since at least 2009, thousands of consumers have filed complaints against 

UWCS with law-enforcement agencies and the Better Business Bureau. Many of those 

complaints were forwarded to the company. In many instances, consumers complained 

that they believed UWCS would provide them a general-use credit card.  

UWCS’s Direct-Mail Offer 

16. Between January 2011 and early November 2014, UWCS used at least two 

versions of its direct-mail offer and sent tens of millions of these offers to consumers.  

17. Both versions of the UWCS direct-mail offer used bold and capital letters 

to advertise, among other things, that the consumer is “pre-approved” for a “platinum 

card” with a 5% APR and a $10,000 credit limit, and that the offer is a “limited time 

offer.” 

18. Both versions of the UWCS direct-mail offer stated that consumers need to 

pay a membership fee of $37 to receive the advertised “platinum card.”   

19. The two versions of the UWCS direct-mail offer further stated, “You don’t 

have to worry if you have been denied access to a VISA® or MasterCard.®” or “You don’t 

have to worry if you have previously been denied credit by MasterCard® or VISA.®” The 

terms “VISA” and “MasterCard” appeared in bold text.  

20. For its direct-mail offers, UWCS targeted consumers who had recently 

made purchases from or otherwise responded to direct-mail offers sent by other 
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companies. UWCS also targeted consumers with union affiliations and consumers who 

met certain criteria based on their consumer reports (also known as “credit reports”).  

UWCS’s Website 

21. Starting in approximately 2005 and lasting through at least early 

November, 2014, UWCS has maintained a website at 

www.unionworkerscreditservices.com.  

22. During the relevant period, UWCS’s website repeatedly referenced the 

credit offered by the company and drew a direct link between UWCS’s products and 

general-use credit cards. A page titled “Union Workers Credit Services Resources: Credit 

Cards” provided an extensive description of how credit cards work. Following the 

description, the website stated: “Union Workers Credit Services provides its members 

special ‘Members Only’ catalogs and shopping services with the benefit of a low interest 

rate of 5% APR. JOIN NOW!” 

23. UWCS’s general advertisements of the UWCS services in the publicly 

available parts of its website did not expressly state that UWCS does not offer a general-

use credit card; nor did they state that consumers could use the UWCS credit to finance 

only the purchase of products from UWCS. 

24. The UWCS website’s public content also explicitly or impliedly stated that 

UWCS was union-affiliated. The website made numerous references to unions and 

union workers. For example, when printed, the header on the UWCS homepage read: 

“Union Workers Credit Services – providing credit services to the Union Workers of 

America.” At the top of the page, a banner included the company name, a seal, and 

images of a police officer, a firefighter, and medical professionals. Additional photos of 

workers were a central element later on the page.  
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25. Other UWCS website pages included design elements similar to those on 

the home page. Many of the pages were framed by the banner including the company 

name, logo, and photos of workers.  

26. The UWCS online-application form also referenced unions. The form 

sought information on new enrollees’ union affiliation and allowed new enrollees to 

select their union affiliation from a drop-down list. 

27. In fact, UWCS has no affiliation with any union.  

28. At various times during the relevant period, the UWCS website did not 

disclose that UWCS lacks a union affiliation.  

Prescreen Opt-Out Notices 

29. UWCS used consumer reports to select the recipients of both of its direct-

mail offers. The recipients of UWCS’s direct-mail offers did not consent to this use of 

consumer reports. 

30. The two versions of the UWCS direct-mail offer differed with regard to 

disclosures about UWCS’s use of consumer reports. 

31. One version of the UWCS direct-mail offer included the following 

statement at the top of the page: “To opt-out of prescreened credit opportunities in the 

future you may call 1-888-567-8688. Details below in the PRESCREEN & OPT-OUT-

NOTICE.” On the bottom of that direct-mail offer, the following language appeared: 

You have been approved for this Platinum Card offer based on among 
other things, information in your Credit Report. You were approved 
because you satisfied certain criteria, although this offer may be 
withdrawn subject to your continuing qualification. To be excluded from 
such credit opportunities in the future, call TransUnion at 1-888-567-
8688 or write TransUnion Opt-Out Request, PO Box 505, Woodlyn, PA 
19094-0505 or visit www.optoutprescreen.com. The credit amount 
referenced above has already been established as your pre-approved credit 
limit and your new Platinum activation.  
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32. The other version of the UWCS direct-mail offer did not include 

statements similar to those described in the prior paragraph.  

Prior Government Actions 

33. UWCS has been the subject of multiple government investigations over the 

years, yet has failed to stop its deceptive practices.  

34. In 2005, the U.S. Postal Service (USPS) sued UWCS for 

misrepresentations contained in its direct-mail offers. The USPS alleged that UWCS 

falsely represented that it offered a general-use credit card and that UWCS was union-

affiliated. The company and USPS entered into a settlement agreement.   

35. In 2013, the New York Attorney General’s office sued UWCS for 

misrepresentations, including falsely representing that it offered a general-use credit 

card and that UWCS was union-affiliated. UWCS entered into a settlement agreement 

with the New York Attorney General’s office in which the company agreed to stop 

advertising and offering credit or financing services to New York customers. The 

company also agreed to provide refunds to certain consumers and pay $50,000 in 

penalties, fees and costs.  

36. In 2011, the Nevada Attorney General’s office issued a consumer alert 

regarding UWCS.  

37. Despite these government actions, at least until early November 2014, 

UWCS has failed to significantly alter or amend its deceptive practices.   
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COUNT ONE 

(UWCS’s Violations of the CFPA – Deception) 

38. The allegations in paragraphs 1-37 are incorporated here by reference.  

39. In connection with the advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for 

sale, sale, or providing of credit, UWCS has represented, expressly or impliedly, that 

consumers would receive general-use credit cards if they enrolled and paid UWCS’s 

membership fee.  

40. In fact, UWCS has not provided a general-use credit card to any consumer. 

UWCS has provided only paper membership cards allowing consumers to purchase 

items advertised by UWCS in its catalog or through other means and to receive closed-

end, purchase-specific credit from UWCS that can be used to fund purchases only 

through UWCS.  

41. Therefore, UWCS’s practices are deceptive under the CFPA. Because 

UWCS is a “covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

COUNT TWO 

(UWCS’s Violations of the CFPA – Deception) 

42. The allegations in paragraphs 1-37 are incorporated here by reference.  

43. In connection with the advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for 

sale, sale, or providing of credit, UWCS has represented, expressly or impliedly, that it is 

affiliated or associated with labor unions. 

44. In fact, UWCS has no union affiliation or association.  
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45. Therefore, UWCS’s practices are deceptive under the CFPA. Because 

UWCS is a “covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

COUNT THREE 

(UWCS’s Violations of the FCRA and Regulation V – Pre-Screen Opt-Out Notice) 

46. The allegations in paragraphs 1-37 are incorporated here by reference. 

47. In numerous instances, UWCS has used consumer reports on consumers 

without those consumers’ consent and in connection with credit transactions that were 

not initiated by the consumer.  

48. UWCS’s direct-mail offers were written solicitations for the credit 

transactions described in the above paragraph.  

49. In numerous instances, UWCS has failed to provide any disclosure 

regarding its use of consumer reports, including the short and long notices that 

Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.54(c), requires.  

50. Therefore, UWCS’s conduct is unlawful under the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681m(d), and Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.54(c). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin UWCS from committing future violations of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(d), and Regulation V, 12 U.S.C. § 

1022.54;  

b. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper; 

c. order UWCS to pay restitution to consumers harmed by its unlawful 

conduct;  
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d. order UWCS to disgorge all ill-gotten gains;  

e. impose on UWCS a civil penalty;  

f. award costs against UWCS; and  

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.  

 

December 17, 2014    Respectfully submitted, 

    ANTHONY ALEXIS  
Acting Enforcement Director 

 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH  
Deputy Enforcement Director 

 
JOHN WELLS  
Assistant Litigation Deputy   
 
_s/Christina S. Coll_________    

CHRISTINA S. COLL (CA Bar No. 250712) 
Enforcement Attorney 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-7843 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329 
E-mail: christina.coll@cfpb.gov 
              
Attorney for Plaintiff Consumer  
Financial Protection Bureau 
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DEC 17 2014

CFPB Sues Texas Company for Sham
Credit Card
WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
suing a Texasbased company, Union Workers Credit Services, for deceiving consumers
into paying fees to sign up for a sham credit card. The Bureau alleges that the company
falsely advertises a generaluse credit card that, in actuality, can only be used to buy
products from the company. Union Workers Credit Services also deceptively implies an
affiliation with unions by, among other things, using pictures of nurses, firefighters, and
other public servants in its advertising. The Bureau’s lawsuit seeks compensation for
victims, a civil penalty, and an injunction against the company.

“The business model for Union Workers Credit Services is built on duping consumers
into signing up for a sham credit card,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“Hundreds of thousands of people, including a great many union members who were
specially targeted, have been tricked into spending millions of dollars for a socalled
credit card that can really only be used to buy the company’s own products. From the
misleading photos of nurses and firemen on its website to its bogus credit card, Union
Workers Credit Services is illegally deceiving consumers.”

The CFPB’s complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_unionworkerscredit
services.pdf

Union Workers Credit Services, a company based in Dallas, has been in operation since
roughly 2004. The Bureau alleges that the vast majority of the company’s revenue is
generated from selling a buyingclub membership card that it falsely advertises as a
generalpurpose credit card. Most consumers never use the membership card but
cannot recoup their membership fees − $37 if they apply through the mail or $95 if they
apply online. Union Workers Credit Services has collected membership fees from
hundreds of thousands of consumers throughout the United States, totaling millions of
dollars.

Under the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against companies violating federal consumer financial
laws, including engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. The Bureau
alleges that Union Workers Credit Services is:

Falsely advertising a generaluse credit card: The Bureau’s complaint
alleges that through directmail advertisements and on its website, the company
advertises a credit card that it falsely implies is for general use. The company’s
advertisements suggest to consumers they can receive a preapproved “platinum
card” with a credit limit of up to $10,000 and a 5 percent annual percentage rate.
The offer says consumers do not have to worry if they “have been denied access to
a Visa or MasterCard.” Later, many consumers realize what they really bought
was a buyingclub membership card to purchase only goods from the company
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itself, rather than from other retailers.

Falsely advertising an association with unions: The Bureau also claims
that the company deceives consumers by falsely suggesting that it is affiliated with
labor unions. The banner of its website has photos of police, firefighters, and
medical workers. The online application form asks consumers to select their
union membership from a dropdown list.

Misusing consumer credit reports: Federal law requires that when
companies use consumer credit reports to target certain advertisements to
consumers without their advance consent, they must advise those consumers of
their right to opt out of receiving such advertising. The Bureau alleges that Union
Workers Credit Services failed to do this.

Thousands of consumers have filed complaints with law enforcement agencies and the
Better Business Bureau about Union Workers Credit Services. The company has also
been sued by multiple government authorities, including the New York State Attorney
General and the U.S. Postal Service.

Through today’s lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the alleged unlawful practices of
Union Workers Credit Services. The Bureau has also requested that the court impose
penalties on the company for its conduct and require compensation be paid to
consumers who have been harmed.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually
violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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FILED 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRJCT COURT FOR THE 
EASTERN DISTRJCT OF VIRGINIA 

Norfolk Division lUiq OEC i 8 A ;Q: 2 ~~ 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; 
State of~orth Carolina, ex rel. Roy Cooper, Attorney 
General; and Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. 
Mark R. Herring, Attorney General, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Freedom Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance 
Corporation, Military Credit Services LLC, John F. 
Melley, and Leonard B. Melley, Jr., 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

~ CIVIL ACTION No.CY.' JJ-/.Cvfd./,3 
j A)JA-JTE-rA 
) 
) 
) ________________________________ ) 

Complaint for Injunctive Relief and Damages 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau"), the State of North Carolina, ex 

ref. Roy Cooper, Attorney General (''North Carolina"), and the Commonwealth ofVirginia, ex 

rel. Mark R. Herring, Attorney General ("Virginia") (together, "States"), allege the following 

against Freedom Stores, Inc. ("Freedom"), Freedom Acceptance Corporation ("F AC"), Military 

Credit Services LLC ("MCS"), John F. Melley, and Leonard B. Melley, Jr.: 

Introduction 

1. The Bureau brings this action under section 1054 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. § 5564, section 918 ofthe Electronic Fund Transfer 

Act ("EFTA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1693o, and section 108 of the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"), 15 

U.S.C. § 1607, based on Defendants' unfair and abusive practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531,5536, and their violations of EFTA's implementing regulation, Regulation E, 12 



C.P.R. § 1005.10(b), and TILA's implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.6(b), 

in connection with providing credit to and collecting debts from members of the United States 

military and other consumers. 

2. The States bring this action against F AC, MCS, John Melley, and Leonard Melley 

based on their violations of the state and federal laws enumerated below. 

(a) North Carolina brings this action against FAC, MCS, Jolm Melley, and Leonard 

Melley under the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1, 

and the North Carolina Debt Collection Act, which prohibits debt collectors from bringing debt

collection lawsuits against the debtor in any county other than (i) where the debt was incurred or 

(ii) where the debtor resides ifthe distances and amounts involved would make it impractical for 

the debtor to defend the claim, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-55, and from publicizing or communicating 

the debtor's indebtedness to third parties, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-53. 

(b) North Carolina and Virginia bring this action against FAC, MCS, John Melley, 

and Leonard Melley under section 1042 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5552, which authorizes state 

attorneys general to bring civil actions to enforce provisions of the CFP A, based on Defendants' 

unfair and abusive practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 ' 5536. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

3. This Court has subject-matterjurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under Federal consumer-financial law, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5552(a)(l), 5565(a)(l), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 
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4. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over North Carolina's state law claims 

because they are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or 

controversy. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

5. Venue is proper in this district because Freedom, FAC, and MCS are located, 

reside, and do business here, John Melley resides and does business here, and Leonard Melley 

does business here. 28 U.S.C. §1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

6. The Bureau is an agency of the United States created by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5491(a). It has independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce the 

regulations promulgated under EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693o, and TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1607. 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b); see also 12 U.S.C. 5481(12), (14) (defining "Federal consumer financial 

law" to include EFTA and TILA). 

7. The States have independent authority to enforce provisions of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5552. The State ofNorth Carolina has authority to bring suit to enforce its state 

consumer-protection laws and acts through its Attorney General, Roy Cooper, pursuant to 

authority granted by Chapters 75 and 114 of the North Carolina General Statutes. 

8. Freedom is a Delaware corporation that is located, resides, and does business in 

this district. Freedom sells consumer goods and electronics and provides financing for those 

purchases. 

9. FAC is a Virginia corporation that is located, resides, and does business in this 

district. F AC acquires, purchases, or services extensions of credit to consumers made by 

Freedom. FAC also collects debts owed under consumers' contracts with Freedom or MCS. 

Therefore, F AC offers or provides a consumer-financial product or service that is covered by the 
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CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (15)(A)(x). FAC is a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A). 

10. MCS is a Virginia limited-liability company that is located, resides, and does 

business in tills district. MCS extends credit to consumers and collects debts owed under 

consumers' contracts with MCS. Therefore, MCS offers or provides a consumer-financial 

product or service that is covered by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i) . .MCS is a "covered 

person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A). 

11. John Melley is the president and chlef executive officer ofF AC, the president and 

chief executive officer ofMCS, and the vice president and chief operating officer of Freedom. 

Given his status as an officer, John Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i). Because he is a related person, John Melley is deemed a 

"covered person" for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

12. Leonard Melley is the president and chlef executive officer of Freedom and the 

chief operating officer of both F AC and MCS. Given his status as an officer, Leonard Melley is a 

"related person" to FAC and MCS under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i). Because he is a 

related person, Leonard Melley is deemed a "covered person" for purposes of the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

Goods and Services Provided to Consumers by Freedom, FAC, and MCS 

13. Freedom is a nationwide retailer of consumer goods, including household 

appliances, jewelry, furniture, electronics, airline tickets, and stereo equipment. The company 

sells merchandise online at http://www.shopfreedom.com and at its fourteen retail stores, which 

are all located near military bases, including in North Carolina and Virginia. 
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14. From January 1, 2010, to November 1, 2013, Freedom financed its customers' 

retail purchases through retail-installment contracts, which established monthly payments that 

were typically due on the second of each month. Many of the consumers who obtained credit 

from Freedom were current or former members ofthe United States military or their family 

members. 

15. Freedom immediately assigned the retail-installment contracts it issued to PAC, 

which was responsible for servicing and collecting consumers' Freedom-related debts. 

16. From January 1, 2010, to November 1, 2013, MCS extended credit to consumers 

who purchased retail goods at over 300 independent retailers ("MCS Dealers") within MCS's 

dealer network, some of which were located in North Carolina and Virginia. 

17. MCS's credit contracts were revolving-credit agreements. The MCS agreements 

disclosed a "maximum" aruma} percentage rate ("APR") but not each periodic rate actually used 

to compute the fmance charge and the corresponding nominal annual percentage rate. The MCS 

account-opening disclosures were not provided in the form of a table. 

18. Like the Freedom contracts, MCS's revolving-credit agreements typically 

required payment by the second of each month. Also like Freedom, MCS Dealers catered to 

consumers on or near military bases. Most of MCS 's customers were current or former members 

of the United States military or their family members. MCS and PAC both collected consumers' 

MCS-related debts. 

Companies' "Double Payment" Practices 

19. Many military members elected to repay their Freedom- and MCS-related debts 

by allotment, or automatic deductions from their pay. 
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20. When military consumers obtained credit from Freedom or MCS, employees of 

Freedom, MCS, or the MCS Dealers directed these consumers to an in-store computer terminal 

where they could log into a Department of Defense ("DoD") website to set up a recurring direct 

transfer of funds from their pay to Freedom, FAC, or MCS. 

21. In addition, when consumers elected to repay their Freedom- or MCS-related 

debts by allotment, Freedom, MCS, or the MCS Dealers gave consumers the forms required to 

establish a bank account with a third-party military-allotment-processing bank ("Allotment

Processing Bank"). 

22. Once the forms were completed, Freedom, MCS, or the MCS Dealers forwarded 

them to the Allotment-Processing Bank. 

23. The Allotment-Processing Bank arranged for the DoD to transfer funds directly 

from servicemembers' pay to the Allotment-Processing Bank twice each month. The bank, in 

turn, paid the consumers' monthly allotment to FAC or MCS on the contract due date. 

24. The amount of the monthly allotment equaled the consumers' monthly payment 

obligation under the credit agreements. 

25. The companies allowed servicemembers at the time of contracting to provide 

F AC and MCS an alternative payment method in the event their allotments ceased. 

26. Specifically, FAC's and MCS's credit applications contained the following 

provisions regarding ACH authorizations ("ACH Pre-Authorization"): 

a. "I (we) hereby authorize [FAC/MCS] to use my Credit Card ... or my 

Visa/MasterCard Check Card, or my (our) checking or savings account 

(identified below) to pull my (our) monthly payment if my allotment does not 

start on time or is stopped for any reason. The depository named below is also 
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authorized to charge the same to my (our) account. . . . Payments must be 

drafted on or before the contractual due date and may be subject to a $25.00 

service charge for all non-sufficient funds pursuant to state law[;]" and 

b. "[T]his authority is to remain in full force and effect until [F AC/MCS] has 

received written notice from the authorized party(s) to terminate in such a 

manner as to afford FAC reasonable opportunity to act on it." 

27. Through the ACH Pre-Authorization form, FAC and MCS obtained routing and 

account numbers for consumers' checking or savings accounts ("Back-Up Accounts"). 

28. On or about the 26th of each month, the Allotment-Processing Bank gave F AC 

and MCS reports ("Look-Ahead Reports") that identified consumer accounts the Allotment

Processing Bank predicted had stopped allotments or had insufficient allotments to cover the 

amount due to FAC or MCS. 

29. Collectors reviewed the Look-Ahead Reports in an attempt to identify the 

consumers whose next allotment payment may fail to come through or fall short because of 

stopped or partial allotments. 

30. To protect against the risk of a missed payment, collectors initiated electronic-

funds transfers out of the Back-Up Accounts ofthe consumers identified on the Look-Ahead 

Reports before the payment was due. 

31. The companies did not require that the collectors contact consumers before taking 

money from Back.:. Up Accounts. 

32. Sometimes the Look-Ahead Reports incorrectly predicted that the allotments 

would not go through or would be insufficient to make a full payment. In those cases, the 

allotments would be paid in full on the due date, but because the companies required the 
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collectors to preemptively withdraw funds from the Back-Up Accounts without waiting to see if 

the allotments actually failed, F AC and MCS would end up collecting more than - and 

sometimes double - what the consumers actually owed in a single billing cycle ("Double 

Payment"). 

33. In other cases, the Look-Ahead Reports correctly predicted that the allotments 

would cease, but the consumers took steps to make timely payments by other means. The 

conduct ofFAC and MCS resulted in Double Payments in these cases because the collectors 

preemptively withdrew from Back-Up Accounts without waiting for the consumers' payment to 

come in when due. 

34. Many consumers, including those deployed overseas, did not know that F AC and .. 
MCS: (i) had access to Look-Ahead Reports that revealed the Allotment-Processing Bank's 

predictions related to their allotments or (ii) in reliance on the Look-Ahead Reports, had 

electronically withdrawn funds from their Back-Up Accounts before the allotment came due. 

35. Sometimes consumers became aware of the Double Payment after it occurred and 

contacted F AC and MCS to complain. In some instances, F AC and MCS issued refunds to 

consumers. However, the companies did not issue any refunds until after the allotment posted, 

which typically occurred two to five days after they pulled the Double Payment. 

36. FAC's and MCS's practice of debiting Back-Up Accounts before the payment 

due date was likely to cause affected consumers to overdraw their bank accounts, incur 

insufficient-funds fees, or otherwise experience disruptions to their household finances and cash 

flow. 
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Companies' Practice of Taking Unauthorized Payments from Third Parties 

37. Collectors handling FAC- and MCS-related debts withdrew funds from checking 

or credit card accounts of consumers' parents, significant others, or other payors ("Related 

Payors") without prior authorization. 

38. From time to time, a Related Payor would authorize a one-time payment on behalf 

of a consumer. Despite the fact that the authorization was for onehtime use, the payment 

processor used by F AC and MCS retained this payment information in .its system. 

39. The companies permitted and encouraged their collectors to withdraw funds from 

any account for which a card number was "on file" in the companies' records. As a result, 

collectors withdrew payments using the stored information without additional authorization 

beyond the initial authorization for one-time use. 

40. This practice caused a risk of substantial financial harm to Related Payors, 

including a risk of: overdrawing bank accounts, incurring insufficient-funds and bounced-check 

fees, and higher credit-card interest payments. 

41. Collectors were awarded monthly bonuses based on the number of delinquent 

accounts that became current. 

42. This bonus structure, coupled with strict deadlines and heavy workloads, created 

little incentive for collectors to ensure that the monies they pulled from Related Payors' accounts 

or consumers' Back-Up Accounts were authorized and appropriate at the time· of the 

withdrawals. 

43. Moreover, collectors were not required to inform the Related Payor- either 

before or after the funds were debited- of the electronic funds transfers . Related Payors did not 

know that any charges - beyond the one that was authorized - would occur and often never 
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learned that the charges had occurred. As a result, Related Payors were unknowingly subjected to 

unauthorized withdrawals from their checking or credit-card accounts and could not reasonably 

avoid the harm caused by the practice. 

Companies' Practice of Contacting Third Parties, Including Chain-of-Command 

44. Collectors for F AC and MCS debts called or sent written communications to third 

party references, including the chain-of-command of consumers who were servicemembers. By 

phone or in writing, FAC and MCS revealed the existence of servicemembers' debts and 

delinquencies and requested that the chain-of-command intervene so that F AC and MCS could 

receive payments from their subordinates. 

45. Disclosing consumers' debts to their military employers was likely to cause 

substantial injury to those consumers. For members of the military, consumer-credit problems 

can result in disciplinary proceedings, lead to loss of supervisory authority or promotion 

potential, tarnish a soldier's reputation or honor, erode the trust of leadership, and trigger 

revocation of a security clearance. 

46. Buried in FAC's and MCS's credit contracts was a provision that purported to 

secure servicemembers' permission for the companies to contact their chain-of-command if they 

fell behind on payments. 

4 7. When consumers signed the contracts, they were given a very brief opportunity to 

scroll through multiple pages of dense contract language set out in small font on a computer 

screen and were instructed to sign and initial the relevant blanks using an electronic signing pad. 

48. The companies did not require store employees to explain to consumers that by 

agreeing to accept financing, F AC or MCS would be allowed to call the consumer's chain-of

command to discuss delinquencies. 
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49. Many consumers did not know that the contracts contained a provision regarding 

chain-of-command contact, and consumers had no ability to bargain or negotiate to remove the 

provision. 

Companies' Practice of Filing Collection Suits in a Distant Forum 

50. FAC and MCS filed debt-collection lawsuits against consumers when their 

accounts fell behind by 60 days. Staff members in the " legal department" ofFAC's and MCS's 

collections unit prepared warrant-in-debt actions to be filed in Virginia courts. 

51. The F AC and MCS credit contracts contained a non-negotiable, venue-selection 

clause that designated the state or federal courts of Virginia. 

52. Although no one in the legal department was a lawyer, the companies tasked 

employees in that department with determining whether the debt was time-barred under 

applicable state statutes of limitation, calculating the amounts due, and preparing lost-note 

affidavits with those amounts for John Melley's signature. 

53. John Melley signed the lost-note affidavits but did not verify, or require others to 

verify, that the amounts reported were actually owed or that the debts were not eligible for debt

cancellation under policies purchased by many consumers at the time of sale. 

54. From January 1, 2010, through November 1, 2013, FAC and MCS filed all of 

their debt-collection lawsuits in Norfolk General District Court, even against consumers who 

lived far away from Norfolk, Virginia, at the time of the suit, rather than in a judicial district 

where the consumers lived or where the consumers were physically present when they executed 

the financing contracts. F AC, MCS, Freedom, and the MCS Dealers did not require their staff to 

inform consumers, at the time of contract, that they would be su.ed in Virginia if they became 

delinquent. 
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55. Many consumers were sued in Virginia without actual knowledge of the lawsuit. 

56. Whether or not they had actual notice of the lawsuit, consumers who lived far 

away from Norfolk, Virginia, found it difficult or impossible to travel to defend FAC's and 

MCS's actions. 

57. From July 21,2011 to December 31 ,2013, FAC and MCS filed over 3,500 

lawsuits in Norfolk, Virginia, against consumers who lived in distant venues and who were not 

physically present in Norfolk, Virginia, when they executed the underlying financing contract; 

ahnost all of the lawsuits resulted in a default judgment. 

58. Upon obtaining those default judgments, F AC and MCS attempted to garnish 

consumers' wages or impose liens on their bank accounts. 

59. Certain consumers did not learn they had been sued until they unsuccessfully 

attempted to withdraw cash from their bank accounts, which had been garnished. 

Activities of John Melley and Leonard Melley 

60. John and Leonard Melley delegated all responsibilities concerning the collection 

ofFAC- and MCS-related debts to their vice president of collections ("VP-Collections"). John 

and Leonard Melley were aware that: (i) consumers were systematically sued in Virginia courts 

no matter where they resided or were physically present when the lawsuit was filed or when the 

contract was signed; (ii) the collectors routinely contacted military chain-of-command to get 

assistance with delinquent accounts; and (iii) F AC and MCS charged Double Payments by 

relying on Look-Ahead Reports and surreptitiously pulling funds from Back-Up Accounts. As 

owners and executive officers of the companies, they had the authority to control these practices 

and the collections staff charged with implementing them. 

12 



61. John and Leonard Melley also delegated to the VP-Collections all responsibilities 

concerning compliance, including the review of consumer contracts, applications, and 

authorizations to conform to applicable consumer-protection laws. They knew or should have 

known that: (i) the boilerplate contracts used by F AC and MCS included non-negotiable venue-

selection clauses and non-negotiable provisions purportedly permitting collection agents to 

contact commanders about servicemembers' debts; (ii) the MCS form contracts omitted the 

actual APR charged; and (iii) F AC and MCS obtained routing and checking account numbers for 

Back-UpAccounts using the ACH Pre-Authorization. As owners and executive officers of the 

companies, they had the authority to ensure that their contracts complied with federal and state 

laws governing the consumer-finance industry. 

Count One 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Distant Forum Unfairness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and Virginia 
Against FAC and MCS 

62. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

63. Section 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it "causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers" that "is not reasonably avoidable by consumers[) and ... 

is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition." 12 U.S.C. 

§ 553l(c)(l). 

64. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from July 21, 

2011, to November 1, 2013, FAC and MCS filed debt-collection lawsuits in Norfolk, Virginia, 

against consumers who (i) had signed contracts far away from Norfolk, Virginia, and (ii) resided 

far away from Norfolk, Virginia, when the lawsuits were commenced. 

13 



65. Many consumers were unaware that the credit contracts contained a venue-

selection clause; they had little opportunity to review the credit contracts at the time of signing. 

66. Even if the consumers read and understood the venue-selection clause, there was 

no opportunity to bargain for its removal because the clause was non-negotiable. 

67. The practice of filing debt-collection lawsuits in a distant forum when the 

consumer does not live in that forum and was not physically present in that forum when the 

contract was executed is likely to cause substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit. 

68. FAC's and MCS's practice of filing debt-collection lawsuits in a distant forum 

when the consumers did not live in that forum and were not physically present in that forum 

when they executed the financing contract is unfair. Because F AC and MCS are "covered 

persons," their conduct is uruawful under sections 1031 and 1 036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536(a)(1 )(B). 

Count Two 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Distant Forum Unfairness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and Virginia 
Against John Melley and Leonard Melley 

69. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 and 63-68 are incorporated here by reference. 

70. John Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of filing debt-collection 

lawsuits in a distant forum, in violation of sections 1031 and 1 036( a)(l )(B) of the CFP A, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536(a)(1)(B). 

71. Leonard Melley is a "related person" to F AC and MCS and a "covered person." 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of filing debt-collection 
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lawsuits in a distant forum, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count Three 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Distant Forum Abusiveness Claim -Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and Virginia 
Against FAC and MCS 

72. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

73. Section 1 036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA prohibits ''unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it "takes unreasonable 

advantage of .. . the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in 

selecting or using a consumer fmancial product or service." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

74. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from July 21, 

20i 1, to November 1, 2013, FAC and MCS filed debt-collection lawsuits in Virginia courts 

against consumers who (i) had signed contracts far away from Norfolk, Virginia, and (ii) resided 

far away from Norfolk, Virginia, when the lawsuits were commenced. 

75. Many consumers were unaware that the credit contracts contained a venue-

selection clause; they had little opportunity to review the credit contracts at the time of signing. 

76. Even if consumers read and understood the venue-selection _clause, there was no 

opportunity to bargain for its removal because the clause was non-negotiable. 

77. The practice of filing debt-collection lawsuits based on the venue-selection clause 

at issue was almost certain to produce default judgments and lead to garnishments against 

consumers who were unable to appear and assert a defense. This practice took unreasonable 

advantage of the inability of consumers to protect their interests while using or choosing credit 

agreements. 
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78. FAC's and MCS's practice of filing debt·collection suits in a distant forum is 

abusive. Because F AC and MCS are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 

1031 and 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count Four 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Distant Forum Abusiveness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and Virginia 
Against John Melley and Leonard Melley 

79. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 and 73-78 are incorporated here by reference. 

80. John Melley is a "related person" to F AC and MCS and a "covered person." 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's abusive practice of filing debt-collection 

lawsuits in a distant forum, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

81. Leonard Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 

12 U .S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's abusive practice of filing debt-

collection lawsuits in a distant forum, in violation of sections 1031 and 1 036(a)(l )(B) ofthe 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count Five 
(Violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Improper Third-Party Contacts Unfairness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North 
Carolina, and Virginia Against FAC and MCS 

82. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

83. Section 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA prohibits ''unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it "causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers" that "is not reasonably avoidable by consumers[] and . . . 
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is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition." 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(c)(1). 

84. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from July 21, 

2011, to November 1, 2013, PAC and MCS contacted third parties, including consumers' 

military chain-of-command, to discuss the delinquency of consumers. 

85. Many consumers were unaware that the credit contracts contained a waiver 

regarding third-party contacts, and they had little opportunity to review the credit contracts at the 

time of signing. 

86. Among consumers who had read and understood the third-party contacts clause, 

there was no opportunity to bargain for its removal because the clause was non-negotiable. 

87. Under these circumstances, contacting third parties, including military chain-of-

command, to discuss the debts owed by consumers is likely to cause substantial injury that is not 

reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit. 

88. Accordingly, FAC and MCS committed unfair acts or practices. Because PAC 

and MCS are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 1031 and 

1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count Six 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Improper Third-Party Contacts Unfairness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North 
Carolina, and Virginia Against John Melley and Leonard Melley 

89. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 and 83-88 are incorporated here by reference. 

90. John Melley is a "related person" to PAC and MCS and a "covered person." 12 

U.S.C. § 54S1(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of contacting third parties, 

including military chain-of-command, to discuss the debts owed by consumers, in violation of 

sections 1031 and 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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91. Leonard Melley is a "related person" to F AC and MCS and a "covered person." 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of contacting third 

parties, including military chain-of-command, to discuss the debts owed by consumers, in 

violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count Seven 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Withdrawing Payments from a Related Payor without Authorization Unfairness Claim
Asserted by the ~ureau, North Carolina, and Virginia Against FAC and MCS 

92. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

93. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits ''unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l )(B). An act or practice is unfair if it "causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers" that "is not reasonably avoidable by consumers[] and . .. 

is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition." 12 U.S.C. 

§ 553l(c)(l). 

94. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from Ju1y 21 , 

2011, to November 1, 2013, FAC and MCS withdrew payments from Related Payors' credit 

cards and checking accounts without authorization. 

95. Although the Related Payors previously had provided their account information 

for a one-time payment, the companies accessed their accounts for subsequent payments without 

getting the Related Payors' authorization to do so. 

96. The Related Payors were given no notice that payments would be taken and thus 

could not take steps to avoid the charges. 

97. The practice of withdrawing payments from Related Payors ' accounts without 

authorization is likely to cause substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers 

and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit. 
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98. The practice by FAC and MCS of withdrawing payments from Related Payors' 

accounts without authorization is unfair. Because F AC and MCS are "covered persons," their 

conduct is unlawful under sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 

5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count Eight 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Withdrawing Payments from a Related Payor without Authorization Unfairness Claim
Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and Virginia Against John Melley and Leonard 

Melley 

99. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 and 93-98 are incorporated here by reference. 

100. John Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of withdrawing payments 

from Related Payors' accounts without authmization, in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

101. Leonard Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of withdrawing 

payments from Related Payors' accounts without authorization, in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count Nine 
(Violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Double Payments Unfairness Claim - Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and 
Virginia Against FAC and MCS 

102. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

103. Section 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it "causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers" that "is not reasonably avoidable by consumers[] and . . . 
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is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition." 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(c)(l). 

104. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from July 21, 

2011, to November 1, 2013, F AC and MCS collected more than- sometimes double- what was 

owed in a single billing cycle. 

105. Many consumers were unaware that F AC and MCS were pulling funds from their 

Back-Up Accounts at the time the electronic funds transfers were made. 

106. There was no meaningful opportunity for consumers to avoid a double payment 

before it occurred. 

107. The practice of electronically withdrawing more than the payment owed in a 

single billing cycle without notice to consumers is likely to cause substantial injury that is not 

reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit. 

108. The practice by F AC and MCS of electronically withdrawing more than the 

payment owed in a single billing cycle without notice to consumers is unfair. Because F AC and 

MCS are "covered persons," their conduct is unlawful under sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(I)(B). 

Count Ten 
(Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act) 

Double Payments Unfairness Claim- Asserted by the Bureau, North Carolina, and 
Virginia Against John Melley and Leonard Melley 

109. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 and 103-108 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

110. John Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS's unfair practice of electronically 
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withdrawing more than the payment owed in a single billing cycle without notice to consumers, 

in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(l)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

111. Leonard Melley is a "related person" to FAC and MCS and a "covered person." 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). He is liable for FAC's and MCS' s unfair practice of electronically 

withdrawing more than the payment owed in a single billing cycle without notice to consumers, 

inviolationofsections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B)oftheCFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count Eleven 
(Violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act) 

Asserted by the Bureau Against Freedom 

112. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

113. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from January 

1, 2010, to November 1, 2013, Freedom used ACH Authorization forms that did not comply with 

the requirements of EFT A and Regulation E. 

114. For consumers whose allotments failed, FAC withdrew funds from the 

consumers' Back-Up Accounts. 

115. The transfers of funds made by FAC out of consumers' Back-Up Accounts are 

electronic-funds transfers authorized in advance to recur at substantially regular intervals; the 

transfers are preauthorized electronic-fund transfers ("Preauthorized EFTs"). 12 C.F.R. · 

§ 1 005.2(k). 

116. Because transfers from the Back-Up Accounts are Preauthorized EFTs, EFTA and 

Regulation E require that the ACH Authorization be valid; to be valid, the terms ofthe ACH 

Authorization must be clear and readily understandable. 15 U.S.C. § 1693c; 12 C.P.R. pt. 1005, 

Supp. I, Official Stafflnterpretation, § 1005.10(b)-6. 
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117. FAC routinely used Look-Ahead Reports, which were received at month-end, 

before the next due date, to determine which allotments will fail in whole or in part. 

118. The ACH Authorization, however, does not state when the debits from the Back-

Up Accounts will be made. Instead, it merely states that the debit will be made "on or before" the 

contractual due date. 

119. Many consumers were unaware that FAC was electronically withdrawing funds 

from their Back-Up Accounts at the time the electronic-funds transfers were made. 

120. Accordingly, the ACH Authorization did not explain the preauthorized transfer in 

clear and readily understandable terms. Freedom, which obtained the ACH Authorization, failed 

to disclose requisite information to consumers, in violation of EFTA and Regulation E. 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1693c, 1693e; 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b). 

Count Twelve . 
(Violations of the Truth in Lending Act) 

Asserted by the Bureau Against MCS 

121. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

122. In the course of extending open-end credit from January 1, 2010, to November 1, 

2013, MCS used revolving-credit agreements that omitted the account-opening disclosures 

required by TILA in the form required by Regulation Z. 

123. TILA specifies that material terms must be disclosed to the consumer before an 

open-end credit account is opened. 15 U.S.C. § 1637(a). "Where one or more periodic rates may 

be used to compute the finance charge, each such rate, the range ofbalances to which it is 

applicable, and the corresponding nominal annual percentage rate" must be disclosed. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1637(a)(4). 
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124. Regulation Z requires certain account-opening disclosures, including each APR, 

to be provided "in the form of a table with the headings, content, and format substantially similar 

to any of the applicable tables in[] appendix G." 12 C.F.R. § 1026.6(b)(l). The APR must be in 

at least 16-point type. 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.6(b)(2)(i). 

125. The MCS credit agreements disclose only a "maximum" APR, and it is not in the 

required 16-point type. The actual APR is not disclosed at all. The finance charge, range of 

balances to which the periodic rate is applicable, and corresponding nominal APR are not 

disclosed in a manner that comports with Regulation Z. 

126. The MCS credit agreements violate TILA and Regulation Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1637(a); 

12 C.F.R. § 1026.6(b)(l)-(2). 

Count Thirteen 
(Violations of the North Carolina Debt Collection Act) 

Distant Forum Claim - Asserted by North Carolina Against FAC and MCS 

127. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

128. Section 75-55 of the North Carolina General Statutes prohibits a debt collector 

from collecting or attempting to collect any debt from a North Carolina consumer "by use of any 

unconscionable means." Such unconscionable means include, but are not limited to "[b ]ringing 

suit against the debtor in a county other than that in which the debt was incurred or in which the 

debtor resides if the distances and amounts involved would make it impractical for the debtor to 

defend the claim." N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-55(4). 

129. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from January 

1, 2010, to November 1, 2013, FAC and MCS filed debt-collection lawsuits in Virginia courts 

against North Carolina consumers who (i) had signed contracts outside of Virginia and (ii) did 

not reside in Virginia when the lawsuits were commenced. 
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130. FAC's and MCS's practice of filing debt-collection lawsuits in Virginia courts, 

rather than in the county ofNorth Carolina consumers' residence or where the debts were 

incurred is unlawful under the North Carolina Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-55(4). 

131. As the president and chief executive officer ofF AC, president and chief executive 

officer ofMCS, and chief operating officer of Freedom, John Melley directed, managed, and is 

responsible for, the illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC's and MCS's violations of the 

North Carolina Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-55(4), and is liable thereunder. 

132. As the chief operating officer of both F AC and MCS, and the president and chief 

executive officer of Freedom, Leonard Melley directed, managed, and is responsible for, the 

illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC's and MCS's violations of the North Carolina Debt 

Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-55(4), and is liable thereunder. 

Count Fourteen 
(Violations of the North Carolina Debt Collection Act) 

Unreasonable Publication Claim- Asserted by North Carolina 
Against FAC and MCS 

133. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

134. Section 75-53 of the North Carolina General Statutes prohibits a debt collector 

from unreasonably publicizing information regarding a North Carolina consumer's debt. Such 

unreasonable publication includes, but is not limited to "any communication with any person 

other than the debtor or his [or her] attorney," except in very limited circumstances, such as a 

communication with a debtor's spouse, or a communication "for the sole purpose oflocating the 

debtor, if no indication of indebtedness is made." N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-53(1). Unreasonable 

publication also includes "using any form of communication which ordinru.ily would be seen or 

heard by any person other than the consumer that displays or conveys any information about the 
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alleged debt other than the name, address and phone number of the debt collector." N.C. Gen. 

Stat. § 75-53(2). 

135. In the course of extending credit and collecting on credit contracts from January 

I, 2010, to November I, 2013, FAC and MCS contacted third parties, including North Carolina 

consumers' military chain-of-command, to discuss the delinquency ofNorth Carolina 

consumers. 

136. FAC's and MCS's practice of contacting third parties, including military chain-

of-command, to discuss debts owed by North Carolina consumers is unlawful under the North 

Carolina DebtCollection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-53. 

137. As the president and chief executive officer ofFAC, president and chief executive 

officer ofMCS, and chief operating officer of Freedom, John Melley directed, managed, and is 

responsible for, the illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC' s and MCS's violations of the 

North Carolina Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-53, and is liable thereunder. 

138. As the chief operating officer ofboth FAC and MCS, and the president and chief 

executive officer of Freedom, Leonard Melley directed, managed, and is responsible for, the 

illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC' s and MCS's violations of the North Carolina Debt 

Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-53, and is liable thereunder. 

Count Fifteen 
(Violations of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act) 

Asserted by North Carolina Against FAC, MCS, 
John Melley and Leonard Melley 

139. The allegations in paragraphs 1-61 are incorporated here by reference. 

140. North Carolina's Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-l.l(a), 

prohibits "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce" in the State ofNorth 
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Carolina. "Commerce," for purposes of the Act, "includes all business activities, however 

denominated." N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-l.l(b). 

141. F AC and MCS have engaged in unfair or deceptive acts and practices in or 

affecting commerce in connection with their debt collection activities in North Carolina, 

including, but not limited to, the following: 

a. Engaging in violations of North Carolina's Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. 

Stat. § 75-55, by filing debt collection lawsuits in Virginia against North 

Carolina consumers, which, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-56(a), 

constitute violations ofN.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-1.1. 

b. Engaging in violations ofNorth Carolina's Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. 

Stat. § 75-53, by unreasonably publicizing information regarding North 

Carolina consumers' debts through FAC's and MCS's practice of 

contacting third parties, including military chain-of-command, to discuss 

the debts owed by consumers, which, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-

56(a), constitute violations ofN.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-1.1. 

c. Withdrawing payments from Related Payors' accounts in North Carolina 

without obtaining the Related Payors' authorization to do so, and failing to 

provide Related Payors in North Carolina with notice that payments would 

be taken from their accounts. 

d. Withdrawing Double Payments from the accounts of North Carolina 

consumers, and failing to provide North Carolina consumers with notice 

of such practice. 
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142. As the president and chief executive officer ofF AC, president and chief executive 

officer ofMCS, and chief operating officer ofFreedom, John Melley directed, managed, and is 

responsible for, the illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC's and MCS's violations ofthe 

North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 , and is liable 

thereunder. 

143. As the chief operating officer ofboth FAC and MCS, and the president and chief 

executive officer of Freedom, Leonard Melley directed, managed, and is responsible for, the 

illegal acts ofFAC and MCS, including FAC's and MCS' s violations of the North Carolina 

Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1, and is liable thereunder. 

Demand for Relief 

Wherefore, the Bureau and the States request that the Court: 

l . permanently enjoin F AC and MCS from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-50, et seq., including N.C. Gen. Stat.§§ 

75-53 and 75-55; and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 ; 

2. permanently enjoin Freedom from committing future violations of EFTA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1693, et seq., 

3. permanently enjoin MCS from committing future violations ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1631, et seq.; 

4. permanently enjoin John Melley and Leonard Melley from engaging in future 

violations ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 , 5536, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-50, et seq., and N.C. Gen. 

Stat. § 75-1.1; 

5. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper; 

27 



6. award restitution against all Defendants in the amount of all unlawfully obtained 

or collected judgments, interest, and fees and all unlawfully collected debts; 

7. award damages or other monetary relief against all Defendants; 

8. order disgorgement of ill-gotten gains against all Defendants; 

9. award civil-money penalties against all D efendants; 

10. award costs against all Defendants; and 

11. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ANTHONY M. ALEXIS 
Acting Enforcement Director 

JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

NATALIE R. WILLIAMS 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

/: __ ~ 
~.MILLER (Vtrg1ma Bar No. 47821) 
MEGHAN SHERMAN CATER 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
E-mail: kara.miller@cfpb.gov 
Tel.: (202) 435-7825 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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MARK R. HERRING 
Attorney General of Virginia 

CYNTHIA E. HUDSON 
Chief Deputy Attorney General 

RHODES B. RITENOUR 
Deputy Attorney General 

(Virginia Bar No. 23 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
STEPHEN JOHN SOVINSKY 
(Virginia Bar No. 85637) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Section 
Office of the Attorney General of Virginia 
900 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
E-mail: ssovinsky@oag.state.va.us 
Tel.: (804) 823-6341 
Fax: (804) 786-0122 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Commonwealth ofVirginia 
and State ofNorth Carolina (local counsel) 

ROY COOPER 
Attorney General of North Carolina 

M. LYNNE WEAVER 
Special Deputy Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
North Carolina Department of Justice 
114 W. Edenton Street 
Raleigh, NC 27603 
E-mail: lweaver@ncdoj .gov 
Tel.: (919) 716-6039 
Fax: (919) 716-6050 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
State ofNorth Carolina 

29 



12/22/2014 CFPB and States Take Action Against Freedom Stores for Illegal Debt Collection Practices Against Servicemembers > Newsroom > Consumer Finan…

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpbandstatestakeactionagainstfreedomstoresforillegaldebtcollectionpracticesagainstservicemembers/ 1/3

An official website of the United States Government Español  中文  Tiếng Việt  한국의  Tagalog  Pусский العربية   Kreyòl Ayisyen

   

Press Release Debt collection

Enforcement Servicemembers

More Information On

Receive press releases by email

Email address 

Need our logo? You can find it here.

Photos and bios

Director Rich
Cordray

Deputy Director
Steven

Antonakes

Press contacts

Jen Howard
Assistant Director of Communications
(202) 4357170
Jennifer.Howard@cfpb.gov

Walter Suskind
Press Assistant
(202) 4359469
Walter.Suskind@cfpb.gov

Moira Vahey

HOME INSIDE THE CFPB GET ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATE LAW & REGULATION SUBMIT A COMPLAINT

HOME > NEWSROOM
> CFPB AND STATES TAKE ACTION AGAINST FREEDOM STORES FOR ILLEGAL DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES AGAINST
SERVICEMEMBERS

Contact us  (855) 411-2372

 

DEC 18 2014

CFPB and States Take Action Against
Freedom Stores for Illegal Debt
Collection Practices Against
Servicemembers
Retailer and Debt Collectors to Provide Over $2.5 Million in Consumer
Relief for Illegal Lawsuits and Unauthorized Debits

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) and the
Attorneys General of North Carolina and Virginia took action today to protect military
servicemembers from illegal debt collection practices. The CFPB alleges that Freedom
Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance Corporation, and Military Credit Services LLC used
illegal tactics to collect debts, including filing illegal lawsuits, debiting consumers’
accounts without authorization, and contacting servicemembers’ commanding officers.
The CFPB and the states filed a consent order in federal court to require the three
companies and their owners and chief officers, John Melley and Leonard Melley, Jr. to
provide over $2.5 million in consumer redress and to pay a $100,000 civil penalty.

“Our nation’s servicemembers deserve better than to be targeted with illegal collections
tactics when they are struggling to pay their bills,” said CFPB Director Cordray.
“Freedom Stores and its affiliated companies were filing thousands of lawsuits in
Virginia against consumers not from there, taking money from some consumers’ bank
accounts without permission, and using the military chain of command to pressure and
humiliate servicemembers. Today’s action sends a clear message that the Consumer
Bureau will continue to aggressively defend the rights of servicemembers and all
consumers.”

“Military servicemembers work hard to protect our country, but unfortunately their
steady paychecks can make them targets for shady practices,” said North Carolina
Attorney General Roy Cooper. “We won’t tolerate unscrupulous businesses that take
advantage of military consumers.”

“This settlement resolves serious charges that Freedom Furniture engaged in abusive,
harassing collection practices against Virginia veterans and servicemembers while also
misusing Virginia courts to go after consumers who neither live nor do business in
Virginia,” said Virginia Attorney General Mark Herring. “Our joint action will restrict
such practices in the future, provide significant relief to those who have been wronged,
and send a clear signal that we will aggressively pursue businesses that abuse Virginia
consumers, especially any that prey on veterans and servicemembers. The
Commonwealth of Virginia and our courts will not be a safe harbor for unfair and
abusive practices. I appreciate the hard work on behalf of veteran consumers by my
Consumer Protection Section and our partners at the Consumer Financial Protection
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Bureau.”

Freedom Stores (also known as Freedom Furniture and Electronics) is a Virginiabased
furniture and electronics retailer that caters to U.S. military members with stores
located near military bases nationwide. Freedom Stores offers credit to consumers
purchasing its merchandise and transfers the contracts to an affiliated company,
Freedom Acceptance Corporation. John Melley and Leonard Melley, Jr. also own
Military Credit Services, which provides financing for purchases made at over 300
independent consumergoods retailers, primarily catering to servicemembers.

The CFPB’s investigation found that Freedom Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance, and
Military Credit Services and the owners, John Melley and Leonard Melley, Jr., engaged
in illegal debt collection practices in violation of the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act. These illegal practices include:

Illegally filing thousands of lawsuits in Virginia for outofstate
contracts: From July 2011 to December 2013, Freedom Acceptance Corporation
and Military Credit Services filed over 3,500 lawsuits in Norfolk, Virginia against
consumers who had not signed their financing contracts in Virginia and did not
live there when the suits were filed. Almost all of those lawsuits resulted in a
default judgment, after which the companies garnished the consumers’ wages or
put liens on their bank accounts. Some consumers did not even know they had
been sued until they discovered their bank accounts had been drained.

Doubledipping into servicemembers’ funds: Most of Freedom
Acceptance’s and Military Credit Services’ customers sent their payments via
military allotment, but the companies also required consumers to authorize
withdrawals from a bank account as a backup payment method. Because the
companies relied on reports from a payment processor that were sometimes
incorrect, many consumers had their payments taken from both their paychecks
and their bank accounts in the same month, often without their knowledge and
before the payment due date. This caused many servicemembers to pay
unexpected overdraft fees and nonsufficient funds charges.

Contacting commanding officers to pressure servicemembers into
repayment: A clause buried in the fine print of the purchase contracts required
servicemembers to allow Freedom Acceptance and Military Credit Services to
contact their commanding officers about their debt. The companies would contact
the officers in writing and by phone to disclose the debts, humiliating the
servicemembers and putting their careers at risk. For members of the military,
consumercredit problems can result in disciplinary proceedings or lead to
revocation of a security clearance.

Illegally debiting bank or credit card accounts of consumers’ family
and friends: Collectors for these companies withdrew funds from checking
accounts and credit cards of consumers’ parents, significant others or other
individuals without prior authorization. The problem would start when a parent
or other third party would authorize a onetime payment on a consumer’s behalf.
The companies would keep the payment information in their systems, and then
debt collectors would later take funds from those accounts without authorization
or notification.

The Bureau’s investigation also found that Freedom Stores, Inc. violated the Electronic
Fund Transfer Act by failing to properly disclose the terms of preauthorized transfers,
and that Military Credit Services violated the Truth in Lending Act by failing to properly
disclose the terms and interest rates on the loans it offered.

Under the terms of the consent order filed today, the defendants would be required to
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provide over $2.5 million in relief to consumers harmed by the companies’ illegal
actions, and to pay $100,000 to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. The defendants would
also be barred from further violations of the law and subject to monitoring by the CFPB.

The Bureau and the states’ complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have
actually violated the law. The proposed court order has been filed with the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of Virginia and will have the full force of law only when
signed by the presiding judge.

A copy of today’s complaint is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_freedomstores_va
nc.pdf

A copy of the proposed order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_proposedorder_freedomstores_va
nc.pdf

A blog post by Assistant Director for Servicemember Affairs Holly Petraeus regarding
this action is available at: http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/freedomstoresto
provideover25millioninrefundsandpenalties/

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 20 14-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

Bank of America, N.A.; and 
FIA Card Services, N .A. 

CONSENT ORD~R 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") has reviewed the practices of 

Respondents Bank of America, N.A. and FIA Card Services, N.A. ("the Bank," as defined 

below) relating to add-on products and has identified violations of law. The CFPB hereby issues, 

pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of201 0 

("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, this Consent Order ("Order"). 

ARTICLE I 
OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that the Bank and its Service Providers (as defined below) have 

engaged in violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 ofthe CFPA (collectively, "Section 1036"), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531,5536 in connection with the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and/or 

fulfillment of the Bank's Credit Protection Covered Products (as defined below) and the billing 

ofldentity Protection Covered Products (as defined below). 

ARTICLE II 
JURISDICTION 

2. The CFPB has jurisdiction over thi s matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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ARTICLE III 
STIPULATION 

3. The Bank has executed a Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of Consent 

Order ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, the Bank has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to 

Sections 1053 and I 055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying 

any findings of fact or violations of law or wrongdoing, except that the Bank admits to the 

CFPB's jurisdiction over the Bank and the subject matter of this action. 

ARTICLE IV 
DEFINITIONS 

4. For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) "Add-On Product" shall mean any Bank-branded or co-branded consumer 

financial product or service, as defined by Section 1 002(5) of the CFPA, 

12 U .S.C. § 5481 (5), which is sold by the Bank or its Service Providers as 

an optional add-on product to Bank credit cards and/or as an optional add-

on product to consumer financial products of the Bank. 

(b) "Bank of America" or the "Bank" shall mean Bank of America, N.A., 

Charlotte, North Carolina, and FIA Card Services, N.A., and their 

successors and assigns, and excludes Service Providers, as defined in 

Paragraph 4(t), below. 

(c) "Board" shall mean the Boards of Directors of Bank of America, N .A. and 

FIA Card Services, N.A. 

(d) "Class Action Settlement" shall mean the settlement agreement FIA Card 

Services, N.A. and Bank of America Corporation entered into to resolve 

seven putative class actions related to its credit protection products that 

2 
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had been consolidated into a multidistrict litigation in the Northern District 

of California, In re Bank of America Credit Protection Marketing and 

Sales Practices Litigation, No. 3: 11-md-02269. 

(e) "Covered Products" shall mean, collectively, "Credit Protection Covered 

Products" and "Identity Protection Covered Products." 

(f) "Customer" means any person who was enrolled in a Covered Product. 

(g) "Credit Protection Covered Products" shall mean the Bank's Credit 

Protection Plus and Credit Protection Deluxe products. 

(h) "Credit Protection Product" shall mean any Add-On Product that purports 

to allow a Customer enrolled in the Credit Protection Product to request (i) 

cancellation of some or all of the credit card balance in certain 

circumstances, such as death, or (ii) cancellation of minimum credit card 

payments in certain circumstances such as unemployment, disability, or 

other enumerated events. "Credit Protection Product" includes the Credit 

Protection Covered Products. 

(i) "Credit Protection Product Fees" shall mean the fees charged by the Bank 

or a Credit Protection Service Provider to a Credit Protection Eligible 

Customer's Account for any Credit Protection Product or Products. Credit 

Protection Product Fees shall not include finance charges, over-limit fees, 

or interest associated with Credit Protection Products. 

(j) "Credit Protection Relevant Time Period" shall mean October 1, 201 0 

through March 31 , 2013. 

3 
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(k) "Credit Protection Service Provider" refers to any direct customer-facing 

Service Provider that provided marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and/or 

fulfillment of Credit Protection Products to Bank Customers. 

(I) "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Order is issued. 

(m) "Identity Protection Covered Products" refers to the identity theft 

protection products, "Privacy Guard," "PrivacySource" and "Privacy 

Assist," which included but were not limited to credit monitoring and 

credit report retrieval services and were marketed and sold to Bank 

Customers or other consumers by the Bank or its Identity Protection 

Service Providers pursuant to a contract between the Bank and an Identity 

Protection Service Provider. 

(n) "Identity Protection Products" shall mean any Add-On Product that 

purported to provide credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services. 

"Identity Protection Product" includes the Identity Protection Covered 

Products. 

(o) " Identity Protection Service Provider" refers to the Bank's Service 

Providers, including, but not limited to, Trilegiant Corporation and 

Intersections, Inc., that provided marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, 

and/or fulfillment of Identity Protection Covered Products to Bank 

Customers and/or other consumers. 

(p) " Identity Protection Product Fees" are the fees charged by the Bank or 

Identity Protection Service Provider for an Identity Protection Covered 

Product. 

4 
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(q) "Products" shall mean, collectively, "Credit Protection Products" and 

"Identity Protection Products." 

(r) "Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the Office of 

Supervision for the Southeast Region for the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau. 

(s) "Related Consumer Action" shall mean a private damages action by or on 

behalf of one or more consumers brought against the Bank based on 

substantially the same facts as set forth in Article V of this Order, 

including, but not limited to, In re Bank of America Credit Protection 

Marketing and Sales Practices Litigation, No. 3: 11-md-02269. 

(t) "Service Provider" shall mean any service provider, as defined in Section 

1002(26) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481, that provides services for Add-

On Products pursuant to a contractual obligation to the Bank. 

ARTICLE V 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

5. Bank of America, N.A. is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481 (6) and is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion within the 

meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. FIA Card Services, N.A. is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 

U .S.C. § 5481 ( 6) and is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

5 
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Credit Protection Products 

7. Credit Protection Plus was an optional debt cancellation product offered to Bank 

of America credit card customers. The last version of Credit Protection Plus that the Bank 

marketed to customers was marketed as being able to cancel up to twice the customer' s 

minimum monthly payment for up to 18 months for Involuntary Unemployment, Disability, 

Hospitalization, and Leave of Absence (each as defined in the product's terms and conditions); 

up to three minimum monthly payments for certain defined Life Events, including Marriage, 

Divorce, Birth/Adoption, New Residence, Graduation, Entering College, and Retirement; and up 

to $25,000 of the customer' s balance upon the customer's death. When last marketed to 

customers, the monthly fee for this product was 0.85 percent of the customer' s monthly balance. 

8. Credit Protection Deluxe was an optional, flat-fee debt cancellation product 

offered to Bank of America cred it card customers. The last version of Credit Protection Deluxe 

that the Bank marketed to customers was marketed as being able to cancel up to $500 per month 

(up to $2000) for Involuntary Unemployment, Disability, Hospitalization, and Leave of Absence 

(each as defined in the product' s terms and conditions), and up to $200 for the same Life Events 

covered by Credit Protection Plus. When last marketed to customers, the fee for this product was 

$ 15 .99 per month. 

9. To obtain Credit Protection Plus or Credit Protection Deluxe benefits for either 

hardship or life events, the Bank required customers to request benefits through the Bank's 

benefit approval process. To continue receiving Credit Protection Plus or Credit Protection 

Deluxe benefits for certain hardship events, customers had to resubmit forms and documentation 

throughout their benefit period. 

6 
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10. During the Credit Protection Relevant Time Period, Bank of America Call Center 

Representatives (CSRs) solicited cardholders who called the Bank to activate their cards, or to 

obtain other customer service, to enroll in the Credit Protection Covered Products. 

11. During the Credit Protection Relevant Time Period, the Bank also engaged Credit 

Protection Service Providers to conduct inbound and outbound telemarketing of the Credit 

Protection Covered Products to customers. 

12. During the Credit Protection Relevant Time Period, the Bank and its Service 

Providers failed to adequately inform some customers that they were purchasing the Credit 

Protection Covered Products, or misrepresented to some customers the costs, terms, benefits, 

and benefits process of the Credit Protection Covered Products. During the relevant time 

period improper telemarketing practices included: 

(a) representing that the first 30 days of coverage were free of charge when, in 

fact, by enrolling, Customers were agreeing to purchase the Credit 

Protection Covered Products and to begin incurring charges unless they 

. 
cancelled within the 30-day review period, in which case any fees 

previously paid would be reimbursed; 

(b) representing that additional steps were required to enroll in or purchase the 

Credit Protection Covered Products after the telemarketing call; 

(c) representing that customers were consenting to receive additional 

information about the Credit Protection Covered Products, when, in fact, 

the Bank was enrolling Customers in the Credit Protection Covered 

Products; 

7 
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(d) representing that Customers could receive benefits for a duration longer 

than permitted under the terms and conditions of the Credit Protection 

Covered Products; and 

(e) representing that Customers would be entitled to an "up to $25,000 death 

benefit" by enrolling in Credit Protection Plus when, in fact, enrollment in 

Credit Protection Plus did not entitle Customers or their survivors to 

$25,000 upon the Customer' s death; Credit Protection Plus could only 

cancel the amount owed on the decedent Customer's credit card account 

up to $25,000. 

(f) representing that the benefits covered by the Credit Protection Covered 

Products were automatic upon notice of the qualifying event when, in fact, 

the programs required a benefit request submission and approval process. 

13. The Bank's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality 

assurance yielded ineffective oversight and did not, in certain instances, prevent, identify, or 

correct the improper sales practices in marketing the Credit Protection Covered Products. 

14. The Bank voluntarily ceased marketing and selling Credit Protection Products. 

The Bank stopped marketing and se lling Credit Protection Products in August 2012 and canceled 

all existing accounts as of September 1, 2013. 

15 . Section 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). 

16. Statements and omissions by the Bank or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a consumer's choice or 
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conduct regarding the Credit Protection Covered Products and are likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

17. The representations of the Bank, through its CSRs and Credit Protection Service 

Providers with respect to Credit Protection Covered Products during the Credit Protection 

Relevant Time Period, constitute deceptive practices in violation of Sections 1031 (a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l)(B). These violations affected 

approximately 1.4 million Customers. 

Identity Protection Products 

18. From at least October 2000 to approximately December 2011, the Bank and its 

Service Providers marketed and sold the Identity Protection Covered Products, which included 

credit monitoring and credit report retrieval, to Bank Customers and other consumers. 

19. To provide the credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services, the Bank, 

through its Service Providers, was required by the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S .C. 

§ 1681 b to have a "permissible purpose" to obtain Customers' credit information from the credit 

reporting agencies. Among other reasons, a credit reporting agency may release a credit report in 

accordance with a consumer's "written instructions." 15 U.S.C. § 1681 b(a)(2) . 

20. Accordingly, Customers and other consumers who enrolled in the Identity 

Protection Covered Products were required to provide sufficient authorization before their credit 

bureau reports could be accessed. Customers ofthe Identity Protection Covered Products were 

provided the materials necessary to submit this authorization, but until the authorization was 

submitted, the Bank and its Service Providers could not provide Customers the full credit 

monitoring and/or credit report retrieval services of the Identity Protection Covered Product in 

which they were enrolled. 
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21. In many cases, however, some period of time passed before the Bank or its 

Service Providers obtained the Customers' authorizations, or the Bank or its Service Providers 

never obtained the Customers' authorizations. From at least October 2000 to approximately 

September 2011, the Bank, through its Service Providers, billed the full fee of the Identity 

Protection Covered Product to customers who were not receiving all of the credit monitoring 

and/or credit report retrieval benefits of the product. 

22. Section 1036(a)(I)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). 

23. The Bank's and Service Providers' acceptance of monthly payments while 

failing to provide credit monitoring and/or credit report retrieval services has resulted in 

substantial injury to approximately 1.5 million consumers in the amount of at least $459 million 

for Identity Protection Covered Products. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing benefit to the consumers or to 

competition. 

24. By reason of the foregoing billing practices for its Identity Protection Covered 

Products, the Bank and its Service Providers engaged in unfair practices in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l)(B). 

ARTICLE VI 
ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST AND TO TAKE AFFIRMATIVE ACTIONS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1 055 of the CFPA, that: 

25. The Bank and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, shall cease and desist and shall take reasonable measures to ensure 

that its Service Providers and other agents cease and desist from engaging in violations of law or 
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regulation in connection with the marketing and administration of Credit Protection Products and 

in the billing and administration of Identity Protection Products. 

26. The Bank shall correct all violations of law, as described herein, and shall 

implement procedures to prevent their recurrence. The Bank's actions as required by this Article 

shall be satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at subsequent examinations and/or 

visitations. 

27. The Bank shall not make, or allow to be made, any material deceptive 

representation, statement, or omission, expressly or by implication, in the marketing materials, 

telemarketing scripts, and/or sales presentation used to solicit any customer or prospective 

customer in connection with any Credit Protection Product, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations or omissions as to the following: 

(a) any and all fees, costs, expenses and charges associated with the Credit 

Protection Product; 

(b) that a product is optional and not required for the customer to activate or 

use his or her credit card; 

(c) that accessing the Credit Protection Product's benefits requires minimal 

action by the consumer; 

(d) the benefits of any Credit Protection Product; 

(e) any material conditions and restrictions related to the Credit Protection 

Product; 

(f) the purpose of sales calls and/or sales portions of servicing or other calls; 

or 
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(g) payment terms for a Credit Protection Product, including the actual date a 

Customer will be charged for a Credit Protection Product or incur charges 

for a Credit Protection Product. 

28. The Bank represents that it stopped substantially all marketing, soliciting, offering 

for sale, and selling the Identity Protection Products to new enrollees by December 2011 and 

stopped marketing, soliciting, offering for sale, and selling Credit Protection Products on or 

before August 2012. 

29. The Bank and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, shall be prohibited from marketing, soliciting, offering for sale and 

selling Credit Protection Products and Identity Protection Products, unless it submits to the 

CFPB a compliance plan (the "Compliance Plan") specifically designed to prevent all violations 

of applicable Federal consumer financial laws in the sale and administration of Identity 

Protection Products and/or Credit Protection Products, as applicable. 

(a) Any Compliance Plan concerning Credit Protection Products shall: 

(i) Address the manner in which marketing and soliciting of Credit 

Protection Products may occur, including, but not limited to, 

prohibiting the Bank or its representatives or Service Providers 

from marketing or soliciting the Products until after activation is 

completed and the consumer is informed that listening to the 

solicitation is optional; 

(ii) Address the manner in which the Bank informs Customers and 

prospective customers of any and all fees, costs, expenses and 

charges associated with the Credit Protection Product; the payment 
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terms for a Credit Protection Product, including the actual date a 

Customer will be charged for a Product or incur charges for the 

Product; the benefits of any Credit Protection Product; the process 

of accessing the benefits of any Credit Protection Product; and any 

material conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the Credit 

Protection Products; 

(iii) Describe how the Bank will disclose that a product is optional and 

not required for the Customer to activate or use his or her credit 

card. 

(b) Any Compliance Plan concerning Identity Protection Products shall: 

(i) Address the manner in which the Bank informs Customers and 

prospective customers that any credit monitoring services will not 

be activated until receipt of customer authorization for the Bank to 

access their credit information at credit reporting agencies; 

(ii) Describe how the Bank will avoid billing Customers during a 

period before the Bank or Service Provider receives authorization 

to access credit information from each credit reporting agency and 

during a period when the credit reporting agency has not yet 

processed authorizations submitted by Customers. 

30. The Bank shall submit any Compliance Plan to the Regional Director at least 

ninety (90) days prior to marketing, soliciting, offering for sale, or selling Credit Protection 

Products and/or Identity Protection Products to new enrollees, as applicable, for prior 

determination of supervisory non-objection. The Bank shall adhere to the Compliance Plan. 
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31. Within one-hundred twenty (I 20) days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall 

submit to the Regional Director, for review and written determination of supervisory non

objection, an acceptable plan containing a description of the actions that are necessary and 

appropriate to achieve compliance with this Order (the "Action Plan"). The Board or a 

Committee thereof shall ensure the Action Plan is submitted to the Regional Director for prior 

determination of supervisory non-objection. 

32. The Action Plan shall specify timelines for completion of each of the 

requirements of this Order. The timelines in the Action Plan shall be consistent with any 

deadlines set forth in this Order, unless modified in writing by the Regional Director. 

33. The Action Plan shall include a review, and if necessary, the revision of the Add-

On Products related portions of its written Service Provider Management Program to ensure that 

all Add-On Products which are marketed and sold by the Bank comply with applicable Federal 

consumer financial law. At a minimum, the Service Provider Management Program shall require: 

(a) An analysis to be conducted by the Bank, prior to the Bank entering into a 

contract with the Service Provider, of the ability of the Service Provider to 

perform the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of 

services for the Add-On Product(s) in compliance with all applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's related policies and 

procedures; 

(b) For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between the Bank and 

the Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities of each party, 

especially: 
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(i) the Service Provider's specific performance responsibi lities and 

duty to maintain adequate internal controls over the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Add

On Products; 

(ii) the Service Provider's responsibilities and duty to provide 

adequate training on compliance with all applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the Bank's related policies and 

procedures to all Service Provider employees or agents engaged in 

the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services 

for the Add-On Product(s); 

(iii) granting the Bank the authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews 

of the Service Provider' s controls, performance, and information 

systems as they relate to the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, 

and fulfillment of services for the Add-On Product(s); and 

(iv) the Bank' s right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider 

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the contract, 

including the terms required by this Paragraph. 

(c) Periodic review by the Bank ofthe Service Provider's controls, 

performance, and information systems related to Add-On Products. 

34. In addition, within one-hundred twenty (120) days ofthis Order, an appropriate 

independent qualified group within the Bank shall review and, if necessary, revise the written 

Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive Acts or Practices Policy statement ("UDAAP Policy") to ensure 

the UDAAP Policy requires, at minimum: 
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(a) A written comprehensive assessment, to be conducted on an annual basis, 

of the unfair, deceptive, and abusive practices ("UDAAP") risk for 

existing or new Add-On Products and for any changes to existing Add-On 

Products, including, but not limited to the UDAAP risk of the governance, 

control, marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services 

for new Add-On Products and existing Add-On Products, including the 

UDAAP risk of marketing and sales practices; 

(b) The development and implementation of written policies and procedures 

to effectively manage, prevent, detect, and mitigate, on an on-going basis, 

the risks identified in the written assessment required by the preceding 

Paragraph; 

(c) The recording of all telephone calls in which Add-On Products are 

marketed or sold following the Effective Date by the Bank or through a 

Service Provider to Bank customers, which recordings shall be retained 

for a period of at least 25 months from the date of the call; 

(d) The recording of all telephone calls in which a customer enrolled in an 

Add-On Product marketed or sold following the Effective Date by the 

Bank or through a Service Provider indicates that he or she did not 

authorize, does not want, does not need, or wishes to cancel the Add-On 

Product, which recordings shall be retained for a period of at least 25 

months from the date of the call ; 

(e) Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's related policies 
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and procedures, including, but not limited to, unfair, deceptive, and 

abusive acts and practices, to appropriate Bank employees and Service 

Provider call agents who market or sell Add-On Products during in-bound 

or out-bound telephone calls or who engage in retention efforts during 

telephone calls in which a Bank customer indicates that he or she did not 

authorize, does not want, does not need, or wishes to cancel the Add-On 

Product; 

(f) Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's related policies 

and procedures as related to Add-On Products to appropriate Bank 

employees and Service Provider's employees or agents who monitor 

telephone calls as required by Paragraph 34(i); 

(g) Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and 

reporting any violation of applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

the Bank's related policies and procedures as related to Add-On Products 

by the Bank's employees and Service Provider's employees or agents, in a 

timely manner, to a specified executive risk or compliance manager at the 

Bank. The manager to whom such reports are made shall be independent 

of the unit overseeing the sale and marketing of Add-On Products; 

(h) Development of training materials relating to identifying and responding 

to violations of applicable Federal consumer financial laws as related to 

Add-On Products that will be incorporated into the existing annual 

compliance training for appropriate employees; 
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(i) Independent telephone call monitoring of Bank employees and Service 

Provider's employees or agents who are engaged in the marketing or sale 

of Add-On Products by qualified personnel who have training in 

identifying and reporting violations of applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the Bank' s related policies and procedures; 

(j) Reporting, on at least a monthly basis by the independent unit responsible 

for conducting the monitoring required by Paragraph 34(i), of its findings 

from the telephone call monitoring described in Paragraph 34(i) to a 

specified executive risk or compliance manager at the Bank who is 

independent of the unit overseeing the sales and marketing of these Add

On Products; and 

(k) Written policies and procedures to ensure that the risk management, 

internal audit, Service Provider administration, and corporate compliance 

programs have the requisite authority and status within the Bank so that 

appropriate reviews of Add-On Products marketed or sold by the Bank or 

through Service Providers may occur and deficiencies are identified and 

properly remedied. 

35. Within one-hundred twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall 

submit its Action Plan, the Add-On Products related portions ofthe Service Provider 

Management Program, and the Add-On Products related portions of the UDAAP Policy to the 

Regional Director for prior determination of superv isory non-objection. 

36. Upon receipt by the Bank of a determination of supervisory non-objection from 

the CFPB to the Action Plan, the Add-On Products related portions ofthe Service Provider 
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Management Program, and the Add-On Products related portions of the UDAAP Policy, the 

Board, or a Committee thereof, shall ensure the Bank's adoption, implementation, and adherence 

to the Action Plan, the Add-On Products related elements of the Service Provider Management 

Program, and the Add-On Products related portions ofthe UDAAP Policy. 

37. Any material proposed changes to or deviations from the approved Service 

Provider Management Program and UDAAP Policy, where such proposed changes or deviations 

relate to Add-On Products, shall be submitted in writing to the CFPB for determination of 

supervisory non-objection. 

38. The Bank' s Internal Audit department shall periodically conduct an assessment of 

the Bank's compliance with the Service Provider Management Program and its UDAAP Policy 

in connection with the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for Add-

On Products. Such assessments shall occur within one-hundred twenty (120) days after the 

Bank's receipt of a determination of supervisory non-objection to the Service Provider 

Management Policy and the UDAAP Policy, and periodically thereafter, and the findings shall 

be memorialized in writing. Within thirty (30) days of completing each assessment, Internal 

Audit shall provide its written findings to the Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 

ARTICLE VII 
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

39. The Bank's existing Audit Committee, which is composed of a majority of 

independent directors of the Bank or its holding company, shall be responsible for monitoring 

and coordinating the Bank's compliance with the provisions of this Order, and approving 

measures necessary to ensure compliance with the remaining Articles of this Order (unless other 

specific approvals are required). 
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40. Within one-hundred twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 

thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Audit Committee shall submit a 

written progress report to the Board setting forth in detail the actions taken to comply with this 

Order, and the results and status of those actions. 

41. The Board shall forward a copy of the Audit Committee's report, with any 

additional comments by the Board, to the Regional Director within ten (1 0) days of the first 

Board meeting following receipt of such report, unless additional time is granted by the Regional 

Director through a written determination of supervisory non-objection. 

ARTICLE VIII 
ROLE OF THE BOARD 

42. The Board shall ensure that all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Order are submitted to the Regional Director. 

43. Although this Order requires the Bank to submit certain documents for the 

determination of non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of the Bank and for ensuring that the Bank 

complies with Federal consumer financial laws and this Order. With the prior non-objection of 

the Regional Director, the Board may delegate certain of the approval or reporting obligations 

included herein to the Audit Committee. 

44. In each instance in this Order in which the Board is required to ensure adherence 

to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of the Bank, the Board, directly or through the 

Audit Committee, shall: 

(a) Authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of the Bank as may be 

necessary for the Bank to perform its obligations and undertakings under 

the terms of this Order; 
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(b) Require the timely reporting by the Bank management of such actions 

directed by the Board to be taken under this Order; 

(c) Follow up on any material non-compliance with such actions in a timely 

and appropriate manner; and 

(d) Require corrective action be taken in a timely manner of any material non-

compliance with such actions. 

ARTICLE IX 
ORDER FOR REDRESS 

45. The Bank shall make redress, as set forth in Paragraphs 47 through 52 of this 

Article, in accordance with the Redress Plan required by Paragraph 53 of this Article, to all 

Credit Protection Eligible Customers and Identity Protection Eligible Customers as defined in 

Paragraphs 47(a) and 50(a) of this Article. 

46. If the Bank claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of this 

Order that complies with the requirements of this Order, the Bank shall provide appropriate 

proof of such restitution to the Regional Director concurrent with the Redress Plan required by 

Paragraph 53 of this Article. Any redress paid to an Identity Protection Eligible Customer 

pursuant to the order issued by the Comptroller of the Currency, shall not be construed as 

requiring the Bank to provide a duplicative restitution payment to that Customer under this 

Order. 

Credit Protection Redress 

4 7. For purposes of Credit Protection Redress, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) "Credit Protection Eligible Customer" is a Customer who, with respect to 

each Credit Protection Covered Product, was enrolled in a Credit 

Protection Covered Product through inbound or outbound telemarketing, 
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and was billed a Credit Protection Product Fee during the Credit 

Protection Relevant Time Period, and either (1) did not activate and 

receive Credit Protection Covered Product benefits at any time wh ile 

enrolled in the product, or (2) activated and received Credit Protection 

Covered Product benefits while enrolled, but made a separate request for 

benefits that was denied or closed. 

48. Credit Protection Redress shall include the following: 

(a) The redress amount paid to each Credit Protection Eligible Customer shall 

include, as applicable to each Credit Protection Eligible Customer: 

(i) If the Credit Protection Eligible Customer was enrolled in the 

product for 364 days or less and did not make a benefit request that 

was denied or closed, all Credit Protection Product Fees charged 

during the Credit Protection Relevant Time Period; 

(ii) If the Credit Protection Eligible Customer was enrolled in the 

product for 365 days or more and did not make a benefit request 

that was denied or closed, or lodge a complaint, of which the Bank 

has a record, stating that he or she did not authorize enrollment, 

300 days of Credit Protection Product Fees charged during the 

Credit Protection Relevant Time Period (based on the average 

daily fee paid by the consumer during the Credit Protection 

Relevant Time Period); 

(iii) If the Credit Protection Eligible Customer made any request for 

benefits that was either denied or closed (including Credit 
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Protection Eligible Customers who may have received a benefit in 

response to another request), all Credit Protection Product Fees 

charged during the Credit Protection Relevant Time Period; or 

(iv) If, prior to the Effective Date, the Credit Protection Eligible 

Customer lodged with the Bank or the CFPB a complaint, of which 

the Bank has a record, stating that he or she did not authorize 

enrollment in the Credit Protection Covered Products, all Credit 

Protection Product Fees charged during the Credit Protection 

Relevant Time Period. 

(b) Credit Protection Redress shall also include: (I) a reduction in charged-off 

balances for Credit Protection Eligible Customers that is attributable to 

Credit Protection Product Fees charged during the Credit Protection 

Relevant Time Period not included in the redress amounts described 

above; and (2) the benefits provided to customers as a result of a six

month no-costprotection period (March 1, 2013 through September l , 

20 13) provided to all Customers who were enrolled in the Credit 

Protection Covered Products as of March 1, 2013. 

(c) Credit Protection Redress shall allow for a reduction in the amount of 

redress provided to a Credit Protection Eligible Customer by: (1) the 

amount of any refunded Credit Protection Product Fees a Credit Protection 

Eligible Customer received prior to the Effective Date and (2) the amount 

of any award a Credit Protection Eligible Customer received through the 

Class Action Settlement. 
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49. The estimated value of the restitution and additional redress to Credit Protection 

Eligible Customers as set forth in Paragraphs 48(a) and 48(b), after applicable reductions as set 

forth in Paragraph 48(c), is $268 million. The estimated value of the restitution and additional 

redress to Credit Protection Eligible Customers will be validated as part of the Redress Review. 

apply: 

Identity Protection Redress 

50. For the purposes ofldentity Protection Redress, the following definitions shall 

(a) " Identity Protection Eligible Customer" is any customer who, between 

October 2000 and September 2011, enrolled in an Identity Protection 

Covered Product and who was Unprocessable during any portion of his or 

her enrollment. 

(b) "Identity Protection Reimbursement End Date" is the date on which the 

Identity Protection Eligible Customer' s Unprocessable status ended. 

(c) "Identity Protection Reimbursement Start Date" is the date on which the 

Identity Protection Eligible Customer entered Unprocessable status. 

(d) "Unprocessable" refers to the status of a Customer who, at a given time, 

was being billed for an Identity Protection Covered Product but who, for 

any reason (i) was not receiving full credit monitoring; (ii) was receiving 

partial credit monitoring and/or credit report retrieval and had not received 

notice of the partial monitoring or credit report retrieval ; and/or (iii) was 

not receiving credit report retrieval benefits. 

51. The redress amount paid to each Identity Protection Eligible Customer shall 

include, as applicable to each Identity Protection Eligible Customer: 
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(a) The sum of: 

(i) The full amount of Identity Protection Covered Product Fees paid 

by an Identity Protection Eligible Customer from his or her 

Identity Protection Reimbursement Start Date through his or her 

Identity Protection Reimbursement End Date; 

(ii) The full amount of any overlimit fees, as calculated pursuant to the 

methodology in the Redress Plan, paid by an Identity Protection 

Eligible Customer from his or her Identity Protection 

Reimbursement Start Date through his or her Identity Protection 

Reimbursement End Date; and 

(iii) The amount of the estimated finance charges, as calculated 

pursuant to the methodology in the Redress Plan concerning 

Identity Protection Redress, paid by an Identity Protection Eligible 

Customer on Identity Protection Covered Product Fees from his or 

her Identity Protection Reimbursement Start Date through his or 

her Identity Protection Reimbursement End Date. 

(b) Less any amount that was a previous refund of the fees and charges 

described above in Subection (a) ofthis Paragraph. 

52. Notwithstanding Paragraphs 48 and 51, no Customer shall be precluded from 

receiving redress with respect to more than one Covered Product. For any Customer who is 

eligible with respect to more one than Covered Product, the Customer' s redress wi ll be 

determined for each Covered Product separately pursuant to Paragraphs 48 and 51 above. 
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Redress Plan 

53. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall prepare and submit a 

Redress Plan ("Redress Plan") to the Regional Director for review and non-objection. The 

Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or to direct the Bank to revise the Plan, consistent with the terms of this Order. The 

Regional Director shall notify the Bank in writing of his or her objection or non-objection to the 

Plan. In the event the Regional Director directs the Bank to revise the Redress Plan, the Bank 

shall make revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within twenty (20) 

days. 

54. The Redress Plan shall provide processes covering all Credit Protection 

Eligible and Identity Protection Eligible Customers regardless of their current account status with 

the Bank, including open accounts, closed accounts with and without a balance, and charged off 

accounts. 

55. The Bank represents that it has completed a plan to reimburse Identity Protection 

Eligible Customers for certain Identity Protection Covered Product Fees and associated fees and 

charges that they paid. This plan shall be documented as part of the Redress Plan, and shall be 

subject to the requirements of this Order. The Redress Plan shall include an accounting of 

amounts the Bank has already reimbursed to Identity Protection Eligible Customers. If any 

additional redress is required, it shall be provided consistent with the process previously used to 

provide redress to Identity Protection Eligible Customers. 

56. The process for providing Credit Protection Redress shall include the following 

requirements: 
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(a) For any open credit card account, the Bank shall provide a credit posted to 

the account, regardless of whether the crediting of a Customer results in a 

credit balance. 

(b) For any closed credit card account with no balance outstanding, the Bank 

shall mail a certified or Bank check to any Eligible Customer. 

(c) For any closed credit card account with a balance outstanding, the Bank 

shall provide a credit posted to the account. Where a credit is issued that 

is greater than the existing balance, the Bank shall mail to the Customer a 

certified or Bank check in the amount of the excess. 

(d) For any charged-off account, either a credit shall be issued decreasing the 

charged-off balance by the amount of redress, or the Bank shall issue 

redress consistent with the requirements for closed credit card accounts set 

forth in Paragraph 56(b ). Where a credit is issued that is greater than the 

existing charged-off balance, the Bank shall mail to the Customer a 

certified or Bank check in the amount of the excess. Any Redress 

Notification Letter, as described in Paragraph 57 below, sent with regard 

to a charged-off account will notify the Customer of the credit decreasing 

the charged-off balance as well as any additional money the Customer is 

rece1vmg. 

(e) With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation, or account 

where the account holder is deceased, if the account remains open and the 

balance is greater than the refund, the Bank shall provide a statement 
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credit to the account, and otherwise a refund check for the remaining 

refund shall be sent in accordance with applicable law. 

57. With respect to redress paid to Credit Protection Eligible Customers, the Redress 

Plan shal l include: (1) the form ofthe letter ("Redress Notification Letter") to be sent notifying 

Credit Protection Eligible Customers of the redress; and (2) the form of the envelope that will 

contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter shall include language explaining the manner 

in which the amount of redress was calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit and/or check 

as applicable; and a statement that the provision of refund payment is in accordance with the 

terms of this Order. The Bank shall not include in any envelope containing a "Redress 

Notification Letter" any materials other than the approved letters, and when appropriate, redress 

checks, unless the Bank has obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director that the 

CFPB does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

58. The Redress Plan shall include a description of the following: 

(a) methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential Credit 

Protection Eligible and Identity Protection Eligible Customers; 

(b) methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each Credit 

Protection Eligible and Identity Protection Eligible Customers as required 

herein; 

(c) procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Credit Protection 

E ligible and Identity Protection Eligible Customers; and 

(d) procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 
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59. The Bank shall not attach any conditions to the provision of any credit or check 

for redress to a Credit Protection and Identity Protection Eligible Customer, including requiring 

the Credit Protection and Identity Protection Eligible Customer to waive any right. 

60. The Bank has made or shall make reasonable attempts to locate Credit Protection 

and Identity Protection Eligible Customers, including standard address search using the National 

Change of Address System, whose Redress Notification Letter and/or check is returned for any 

reason. The Bank has re-mailed, or shall re-mail to corrected addresses, any returned letters and 

any redress checks, within ninety (90) days of receiving such return. Any unclaimed funds will 

be disposed of in accordance with the Redress Plan. 

61. With respect to any Credit Protection and Identity Protection Eligible Customer's 

account that receives redress as a credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-off 

balance, the Bank shall, as permitted by law and in accordance with existing procedures: 

(a) report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which the 

Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; 

(b) delete the account trade line at each credit reporting agency to which the 

Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

(c) in the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, request that 

such third party owner of the debt report the updated balance to, or delete 

the account trade line at, each credit reporting agency to which the Bank 

or the third party owner of the debt had previously furnished balance 

information for the account. 

62. Upon notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan, the Bank shall implement and adhere to the steps, 
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recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. Any proposed 

changes, to or deviation from , the approved Redress Plan shall be submitted in writing to the 

Regional Director for review and non-objection. 

Assessment of Redress 

63. Within ninety (90) days from completion ofthe Redress Plan, the Bank's Internal 

Audit department shall review and assess compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan (the 

"Redress Review"). 

64. The Redress Review shall include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Eligible Customers, the amount of redress for 

each Eligible Customer, the procedures used to issue and track redress payments, the procedures 

used for reporting and requesting the reporting of updated balances, deleting or requesting the 

deletion of account trade Jines, as applicable, to the credit reporting agencies, and the work of 

any independent consultants that the Bank has used to assist and review its execution of the 

Redress Plan. 

65. The Redress Review shall be completed and summarized in a written report (the 

"Redress Review Report"), which shall be completed within sixty (60) days of completion of the 

Redress Review. Within ten (1 0) days of its completion, the Redress Review Report shall be 

submitted to the Regional Director and the Board. 

Payment Floor For Credit Protection Eligible Customers 

66. For the purpose of providing restitution as required by this Order, the Bank shall 

provide restitution as set forth in Paragraph 48(a), in an amount not less than two-hundred fifteen 

million dollars ($215,000,000), less any restitution made by the Bank prior to the Effective Date 

of this Order that complies with the requirements of this Order ("Payment Floor"). If the Bank 
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claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of this Order that compl ies with 

the requirements of this Order, the Bank shall provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the 

Regional Director within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date. 

67. The Bank shall make all restitution to Credit Protection Eligible Customers 

required by this Order, regardless of whether the total of such restitution exceeds the Payment 

Floor. 

68. Upon completion of all restitution pursuant to Paragraph 56, if the amount of 

restitution provided to Credit Protection Eligible Customers is less than two-hundred fifteen 

million dollars ($215,000,000), the Bank shall pay the difference in accordance with the 

processes set forth in Paragraph 56, through a pro rata distribution, as appropriate, to the 

restitution group set forth in Paragraph 48(a)(ii). 

ARTICLE X 
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Pursuant to Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 

violations of law and/or regulations set forth in the Findings and Conclusions, and taking into 

account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Bank shall pay to the CFPB a civil 

money penalty of fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000) with respect to Credit Protection, and five 

million dollars ($5,000,000) with respect to Identity Protection, as directed by the CFPB and as 

set forth herein. 

70. Within ten (1 0) days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and 

in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 
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71. The civil money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund ofthe CFPB in accordance with Section 1017(d) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d), and 12 C.F.R. part 1075. 

72. In the event of any default on the Bank's obligations under this Section, interest, 

computed pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on any outstanding amounts 

not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and shall immediately become due and 

payable. 

73. The Bank shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government 

for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, the Bank shall not: 

(a) Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that the Bank pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

(b) Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including, but not limited to, payment made pursuant to 

any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that the Bank 

pays pursuant to this Order. 

74. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, the Bank shall not argue that the Bank is entitled to, nor shall the Bank benefit 

by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory damages imposed in any Related Consumer 

Action, by any amount of the civil money penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). If the 

court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the Bank shall, within thirty 

(30) days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Regional Director, 

and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be 
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deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the 

civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

75. The Bank shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law. The Bank shall make no claim to or demand for return of the 

funds, directly or indirectly, through counsel or otherwise. 

ARTICLE XI 
RECORD KEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Beginning on the Effective Date, for a period of at least two years from the date a 

Customer is no longer enrolled in an Identity Protection Product or Credit Protection Product 

program, the Bank must ensure that the following records, to the extent they exist, are retained: 

(a) For each individual Customer and his or her enrollment in that program: 

(i) Records containing, with respect to each Customer, his or her 

name, addresses, email addresses, phone numbers, dollar amounts 

paid, benefits applied for and/or received, quantity of products 
i 

purchased, description of the product purchased, the date on which 

the product was purchased, and a copy of the welcome kit mailed 

to each Customer (if a Customer left the program, include the date 

the Customer left a program and the reason the Customer left the 

program); 

(ii) Records for each Customer reflecting that the Customer expressly 

agreed to purchase the product, including audio recordings of 

telephone calls during which a Customer purchased the Add-On 

Product; 
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(iii) For Identity Protection Products, a copy of the Customer's 

authorization to access his or her credit information from the credit 

reporting agencies for purposes of activating credit monitoring or 

retrieval, and the date the Customer was first charged for Identity 

Protection Products. 

(b) For each Identity Protection Product or Credit Protection Product in 

general: 

(i) Records reflecting the expenses and revenues related to the 

Identity Protection Product or Credit Protection Product; 

(ii) Records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of Customers 

who canceled the Identity Protection Product or Credit Protection 

Product, and the number of Customers whose Customer accounts 

were charged off by the Bank; 

(iii) Records of all Customer complaints that are recorded and tracked 

by the Bank in accordance with Bank policies and refund requests 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a Service 

Provider), and any responses to those complaints or requests; and 

(iv) Copies of all sales scripts; sales/marketing training materials; 

advertisements; or other marketing materials, including terms and 

conditions, fulfillment packages, and welcome kits; and including 

any such materials used by Service Providers on the Bank's behalf. 

77. For a period of six years from the Effective Date, the Bank must retain the 

following records: 
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(a) All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision ofthis Order; and 

(b) All records pertaining to the redress, described above in Article IX, 

including, but not limited to, documentation of the processes and 

procedures used to determine the Eligible Customers, as that term is 

defined in Article IX above, the names, contact and account information of 

the Eligible Customers, any mailing records, and documentation that the 

appropriate restitution was made. 

ARTICLE XII 
DISTRIBUTION OF ORDER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy of this 

Order to each member of the Board and the executive officers, as well as to any Service 

Providers or other agents providing services related to the marketing or administration of Add-

On Products as ofthe Effective Date. 

79. For a period of three years from the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy 

of this Order to any future board members and executive officers, as well as any Service 

Providers or other agents providing services related to the marketing or administration of Add-

On Products, before they assume their responsibilities. 

80. The Bank shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of theE-Sign 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within thirty (30) days of delivery, from all persons receiving a 

copy of this Order pursuant to this Section. 
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ARTICLE XIII 
NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

81. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a CFPB representative, all submissions, 

requests, communications, consents or other documents relating to this Order shall be in writing 

and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

To the CFPB: 

Regional Director, CFPB Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, N. W. Washington D.C. 20552 

The subject line shall begin: In re Bank of America, N.A., et al. Provided, however, that the Bank 

may send such reports or notifications by first-class mail , but only if the Bank 

contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or notification to 

Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

ARTICLE XIV 
EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his/her 

discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of 

time). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing. 

ARTICLE XV 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

83. Except as set forth in Paragraph 88, the provisions of this Order shall not bar, 

estop, or otherwise prevent the CFPB, or any other federal or state agency or department, from 

taking any other action against the Bank. 
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84. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b), and expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, 

a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

85. This Order shall be effective on the date of issuance, and shall remain effective 

and enforceable, except to the extent that, and until such time as, any provisions of this Order 

shall have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the CFPB or its 

designated agent. 

86. Calculation oftime limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

87. The provisions ofthis Order shall be binding upon the Bank, its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and/or attorneys, and any successors and assigns thereof. 

88. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described in the Findings and 

Conclusions set forth in this Order. The CFPB releases and discharges the Bank from all 

potential liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for a cease and desist or other order or 

civil money penalty that has or might have been asserted by the CFPB based on the conduct 

described in the Findings and Conclusions, to the extent such practices occurred prior to the 

Effective Date and are known to the CFPB as of the Effective Date of the Order. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices alleged in this Order may be utilized by the CFPB 

in future enforcement actions against the Bank and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to 

establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of 

violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect any 
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right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

89. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. Any violation of 

this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

90. The provisions of this Order shall be severable and, should any provisions be 

declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, the other provisions shall 

remain in full force. 

91. No promises, representations or warranties other than those set forth in this Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions, or understandings, if 

any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

92. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing the Bank, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this .1!_ day of April, 2014. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action to Obtain $120 
Million in Redress from Sprint and 
Verizon for Illegal Mobile Cramming
Companies Will Also Pay $38 Million in Fines for Unauthorized Charges 
on Customers’ Mobile Bills

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed 
proposed orders in federal courts against Sprint and Verizon which, if approved, would 
provide $120 million in redress to wireless customers who were illegally billed 
hundreds of millions of dollars in unauthorized third-party charges. The CFPB alleges 
that the companies operated billing systems that allowed third parties to “cram” 
unauthorized charges on customers’ mobile-phone accounts and ignored complaints 
about the charges. Today’s actions are being taken in coordination with the state 
attorneys general and the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Under the 
proposed terms, the CFPB will oversee $120 million in consumer refunds. The 
companies will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. 

“Sprint and Verizon had flawed billing systems that allowed merchants to add 
unauthorized charges to wireless customer bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Consumers bore the brunt of those charges and ended up paying millions of dollars 
while the companies reaped profits. Today’s actions will put $120 million back into the 
pockets of harmed consumers and require these companies to improve their billing 
practices going forward.”

Consumers use mobile phones to purchase an array of digital products, such as apps, 
games, books, movies, and music. These purchases appeared as charges on consumers’ 
phone bills. Wireless carriers collect and process payments for these purchases and 
control the networks connecting merchants and customers. From about 2004 through 
2013, nearly all wireless carriers’ third-party billing involved products called “premium 
text messages” or “premium short messaging services” because they were frequently 
delivered by text messages. Sprint and Verizon outsourced payment processing for 
these digital purchases to vendors, but failed to properly monitor them. 

The lack of oversight by Sprint and Verizon allowed the vendors to have nearly 
unfettered access to consumers’ wireless accounts. The billing systems for premium 
messages attracted and enabled unscrupulous merchants who, in some cases, only 
needed consumers’ phone numbers to cram illegitimate charges onto wireless bills. The 
charges ranged from one-time fees of about $0.99 – $4.99 to monthly subscriptions 
that cost $9.99 a month. The companies received a 30-40 percent cut of the gross 
revenue from these charges.

Most consumers were targeted online. Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to 
websites asking them to enter their cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked 
consumers into providing their cellphone numbers to receive “free” digital content and 
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then charged for it. Many others simply placed fabricated charges on bills without 
delivering any goods or communicating with consumers.

In December 2014, the CFPB filed suit in the Southern District of New York against 
Sprint and today is filing a proposed consent order. Today, the CFPB also filed a 
complaint and a proposed consent order in the District of New Jersey to address 
Verizon’s unlawful conduct. The Bureau charges Sprint and Verizon, as payment 
processors for third parties, with violating the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair practices by:

• Allowing third parties to illegally charge consumers: The companies’ 
billing systems made it easy for third-party scammers to attach charges to 
consumers’ bills. The companies profited from these illegitimate charges which 
victimized millions of consumers.

• Automatically billing consumers for illegitimate charges without their 
consent: Neither Sprint nor Verizon required customers to opt in to third-party 
billing. Instead, they automatically enrolled customers without their consent. This 
policy helped perpetuate the wrongdoing because many customers did not spot 
unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties could place charges 
on their bills. Although Verizon and Sprint allowed consumers to block third-
party charges, consumers had to specifically request that they do so. Since many 
consumers were unaware that third parties could even place charges on their bills, 
they did not know to ask for such protection, making the blocking option of little 
use.

• Ignoring consumer complaints about unauthorized charges: Both 
companies failed to track customer complaints about unauthorized charges, and 
as a result, lacked the most basic alert mechanism that could have revealed flaws 
in their monitoring systems. The companies also failed to provide full and prompt 
remediation to consumers subjected to these charges.

• Disregarding red flags about third party vendors: Both companies 
disregarded red flags showing that the billing systems for premium messages were
a breeding ground for unauthorized charges. Sprint and Verizon continued to 
outsource merchant oversight and billing to certain vendors despite lawsuits 
citing evidence that those same vendors enabled the cramming of unauthorized 
charges onto consumers’ bills.

As a result, Sprint’s and Verizon’s wireless customers – many of whom did not know 
that third parties could place charges on their bills – incurred millions of dollars in 
illegitimate charges while the companies profited handsomely.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The parties’ proposed consent 
orders, if approved by the courts, would require Sprint and Verizon to: 

• Pay $120 million in redress: The proposed consent orders would require 
Verizon to pay $70 million and Sprint to pay $50 million in consumer refunds. 
The CFPB will oversee the redress programs. Verizon customers can submit 
claims for refunds at www.CFPBSettlementVerizon.com or can learn more 
information about the Verizon settlement by calling 888-726-7063. Sprint 
customers can submit claims for refunds at www.SprintRefundPSMS.com or can 
learn more information about the Sprint settlement by calling 877-389-8787.

• Clearly and conspicuously disclose third-party charges on wireless 
bills: The proposed orders would also require Verizon and Sprint to present 
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third-party charges in a separate and clearly labeled section of the consumer’s bill 
so that consumers can clearly identify which charges are from the carrier and 
which charges are from third parties. 

• Obtain informed consent from consumers prior to third-party billing:
Verizon and Sprint would be required under the orders to obtain informed 
consent before a consumer is charged by a third party and provide purchase 
confirmation for third-party charges such as an email or text message to the 
consumer. Verizon and Sprint would also be required to block third-party charges 
for consumers and tell consumers about the option to block said charges.

• Improve dispute resolution procedures: In addition, the proposed orders 
would require Verizon and Sprint to ensure that consumers disputing third-party 
charges are directed to a customer service representative who has access to at 
least 12 months of the consumers’ billing statements. The representative must 
offer consumers the option to block future third-party charges, and provide 
consumers with a refund of unauthorized charges unless the companies can 
demonstrate the consumers expressly consented to the charges, already received 
refunds for the charges, or are otherwise ineligible for a refund.

• Enhance customer-service training programs: The companies would be 
obligated under the orders to train customer service representatives about third-
party billing procedures for at least six years unless the companies discontinue 
third-party billing.

Sprint and Verizon will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. The CFPB 
worked in close coordination with the state attorneys general and the FCC in 
investigating the companies’ third-party billing practices. The FCC and state attorneys 
general from all fifty states and the District of Columbia have worked to combat 
wireless cramming. Their collaboration was invaluable in achieving the substantial 
consumer relief and improved billing practices from Verizon and Sprint.

A copy of the Verizon complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-complaint.pdf

A copy of the Verizon proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-proposed-order.pdf

A copy of the Sprint proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-sprint-corporation-proposed-
order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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JUN 17 2014

CFPB, Federal Partners, and State
Attorneys General File Order Requiring
SunTrust to Provide $540 Million in Relief
to Homeowners for Servicing Wrongs
Company Also Ordered to Pay $10 Million for Servicing Misconduct and
Fined $418 Million by the DOJ

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB),
Department of Justice (DOJ), Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD),
and attorneys general in 49 states and the District of Columbia filed a proposed federal
court order requiring SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. to provide $500 million in loss-
mitigation relief to underwater borrowers. The order also requires SunTrust to pay $40
million to approximately 48,000 consumers who lost their homes to foreclosure and
$10 million to the federal government. The order addresses systemic mortgage
servicing misconduct, including robo-signing and illegal foreclosure practices. SunTrust
must also pay a $418 million penalty, in a parallel mortgage lending filing announced
by DOJ today.

“Deceptive and illegal mortgage servicing practices have pushed families into
foreclosure and devastated communities across the nation,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “Today’s action will help homeowners and consumers harmed by
SunTrust’s unlawful foreclosure practices. The Consumer Bureau will continue to
investigate mortgage servicers that mistreat consumers, and we will not hesitate to take
action against any company that violates our new servicing rules.”

SunTrust is a mortgage lender and servicer headquartered in Richmond, Va., and is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlanta-based SunTrust Banks, Inc. As a mortgage servicer,
it is responsible for collecting payments from the mortgage borrower on behalf of the
owner of the loan. It handles customer service, collections, loan modifications, and
foreclosures.

The CFPB, DOJ, HUD, and state attorneys general uncovered substantial evidence that
SunTrust was engaged in systemic mortgage servicing misconduct. According to the
complaint filed in the federal district court in the District of Columbia, SunTrust’s
illegal practices put thousands of people at risk of losing their homes. Specifically, the
complaint alleges that SunTrust:

Took advantage of homeowners with servicing shortcuts and
unauthorized fees: SunTrust failed to promptly and accurately apply payments
made by borrowers, and charged unauthorized fees for default-related services.

Deceived homeowners about foreclosure alternatives and improperly
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denied loan modifications: SunTrust failed to provide accurate information
about loan modification and other loss-mitigation services, failed to properly
process borrowers’ applications and calculate their eligibility for loan
modifications, and provided false or misleading reasons for denying loan
modifications.

Engaged in illegal foreclosure practices: SunTrust provided false or
misleading information to consumers about the status of foreclosure proceedings
where the borrower was in good faith actively pursuing a loss mitigation
alternative also offered by SunTrust. The company also robo-signed foreclosure
documents, including preparing and filing affidavits whose signers had not
actually reviewed any information to verify the claims.

Enforcement action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. Today’s proposed court order, filed in federal district court in the
District of Columbia, would require SunTrust to correct their practices and provide
relief to harmed consumers. Under the terms of the order, SunTrust must:

Provide at least $500 million in relief to underwater borrowers: Over a
three-year period, SunTrust must provide more than $500 million in loss
mitigation relief to consumers, including reducing the principal on mortgages for
borrowers who are at risk of default and reducing mortgage interest rates for
homeowners who are current but underwater on their mortgages. If SunTrust fails
to meet this requirement, it must pay a cash penalty equal to at least 125 percent
of the shortfall.

Provide $40 million in refunds to foreclosure victims: SunTrust must
refund $40 million to consumers whose loans it serviced who lost their homes to
foreclosure between Jan. 1, 2008 to Dec. 31, 2013. All consumers who submit
valid claims will receive an equal share of the $40 million. Borrowers who receive
payments will not have to release any claims and will be free to seek additional
relief in the courts. Eligible consumers can expect to hear from the settlement
administrator about potential payments later this year.

Pay $10 million to the federal government: SunTrust must pay $10 million
to cover losses it caused to the Federal Housing Administration, Department of
Veterans Affairs, and the Rural Housing Service.

Homeowner protections: Today’s order will require SunTrust to establish
additional homeowner protections, including protections for consumers in
bankruptcy. Like other servicers, SunTrust is subject to the CFPB’s new mortgage
servicing rules that took effect on January 10, 2014. The agreement only covers
SunTrust’s violations before the new rules took effect, and does not prevent the
CFPB from pursuing civil enforcement actions against SunTrust for violations of
these rules.

The proposed SunTrust consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201406_cfpb_consent-judgement_sun-trust.pdf

A copy of the SunTrust complaint filed today is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201406_cfpb_complaint_sun-trust.pdf

The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually violated the
law. The proposed federal court order will have the full force of law only when signed by
the presiding judge.
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The settlement administrator will be in touch with eligible consumers who lost their
homes to foreclosure between Jan. 1, 2008 and Dec. 31, 2013. Consumers who are
interested in loss mitigation should contact SunTrust at 1-800-634-7928 or by email
through the SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. support page at SunTrustMortgage.com.
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 

       ) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,    ) 

555 4th Street, NW     ) 

Washington, DC  20530    ) 

       ) 

THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ) 

BUREAU      ) 

1700 G Street, NW     ) 

Washington, DC 20552    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF ALABAMA,    ) 

501 Washington Avenue    ) 

Montgomery, AL  36130    ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF ALASKA,     ) 

1031 W. 4th Avenue, Ste. 200   ) 

Anchorage, AK  99501    ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA,    ) 

1275 W. Washington    ) 

Phoenix, AZ  85007     ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF ARKANSAS,    ) 

323 Center Street, Suite 200    ) 

Little Rock, Arkansas  72201    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,    ) 

455 Golden Gate Avenue, Ste. 14500  ) 

San Francisco, CA 94102-7007   ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF COLORADO,    ) 

1525 Sherman Street – 7th Floor   ) 

Denver, Colorado 80203    ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT,   ) 

55 Elm Street, P.O. Box 120   ) 

Hartford, CT  06141-0120    ) 
       ) 

THE STATE OF DELAWARE,    ) 

820 N. French Street    ) 

Wilmington, DE  19801    ) 
       ) 
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THE STATE OF FLORIDA,     ) 

3507 E. Frontage Road    ) 

Suite 325      ) 

Tamp, FL 33607     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF GEORGIA,    ) 

40 Capitol Square, S.W.     ) 

Atlanta, Georgia 30334     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF HAWAII,     ) 

425 Queen Street     ) 

Honolulu, Hawaii  96813    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF IDAHO,     ) 

700 W. Jefferson St.     ) 

P.O. Box 83720     ) 

Boise, ID 83720-0010     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,     ) 

500 South Second Street    ) 

Springfield, IL 62706     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF INDIANA,     ) 

302 West Washington St., IGCS 5th Fl.  ) 

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF IOWA,     ) 

1305 E. Walnut St.     ) 

Des Moines, IA 50319    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF KANSAS,     ) 

120 SW 10th Avenue, 2nd Floor   ) 

Topeka, KS 66612     ) 

       ) 

THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY,  ) 

State Capitol, Suite 118    ) 

700 Capital Avenue     ) 

Frankfort, Kentucky 40601-3449   ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF LOUISIANA,    ) 

1185 N. Third Street     ) 

Baton Rouge, Louisiana  70802   ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MAINE,     ) 

Burton Cross Office Building, 6th Floor  ) 

111 Sewall Street     ) 
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Augusta, Maine 04330    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MARYLAND,    ) 

200 Saint Paul Place     ) 

Baltimore, MD  21202    ) 

       ) 

THE COMMONWEALTH     ) 

OF MASSACHUSETTS,    ) 

One Ashburton Place 

Boston, MA 02108     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,    ) 

525 W. Ottawa Street     ) 

PO Box 30755      ) 

Lansing, MI 48909     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MINNESOTA,    ) 

445 Minnesota Street, Suite 1200   ) 

St. Paul, MN 55101-2130    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,    ) 

Post Office Box 22947    ) 

Jackson, MS  39225-2947    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MISSOURI,    ) 

PO Box 899      ) 

Jefferson City, MO  65102    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF MONTANA,    ) 

215 N. Sanders     ) 

Helena MT 59624     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEBRASKA,    ) 

2115 State Capitol     ) 

Lincoln, NE 68509-8920    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,     ) 

100 North Carson Street    ) 

Carson City, Nevada  89701    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE,   ) 

33 Capitol Street     ) 

Concord, New Hampshire 03301   ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY,    ) 

124 Halsey Street – 5th Floor    ) 
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P.O. Box 45029     ) 

Newark, New Jersey 07101    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO,    ) 

PO Drawer 1508     ) 

Santa Fe, NM 87504-1508    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NEW YORK,    ) 

120 Broadway      ) 

New York, NY 10271     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA,   ) 

P. O. Box 629      ) 

Raleigh, NC 27602     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA,   ) 

Gateway Professional Center     ) 

1050 E Interstate Ave, Ste. 200   ) 

Bismarck, ND  58503-5574    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF OHIO,     ) 

30 E. Broad St., 14th Floor     ) 

Columbus, OH 43215     )    

       ) 

THE STATE OF OREGON,     ) 

1515 SW 5th Avenue, Ste. 410   ) 

Portland, OR 97201     ) 

       ) 

THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, ) 

16th Floor, Strawberry Square   ) 

Harrisburg, PA  17120    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND,    ) 

150 South Main Street    ) 

Providence, RI 02903     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,   ) 

1000 Assembly Street, Room 519   ) 

Columbia, SC 29201     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA,   ) 

1302 E. Highway 14, Suite 1    ) 

Pierre, SD 57501     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF TENNESSEE,    ) 

425 Fifth Avenue North    ) 
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Nashville, TN 37243-3400    ) 

       )  

THE STATE OF TEXAS,     ) 

401 E. Franklin Avenue, Suite 530   ) 

El Paso, Texas 79901     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF UTAH,     ) 

350 North State Street, #230    ) 

Salt Lake City, UT 84114-2320   ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF VERMONT,    ) 

109 State Street     ) 

Montpelier, Vermont  05609    ) 

       ) 

THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,   ) 

900 East Main Street     ) 

Richmond, Virginia 23219    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,    ) 

1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105    ) 

PO Box 2317      ) 

Tacoma, WA 98402-4411     ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,   ) 

State Capitol, Room 26E    ) 

Charleston, WV  25305-0220    ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF WISCONSIN,   ) 

Post Office Box 7857     ) 

Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857   ) 

       ) 

THE STATE OF WYOMING, and   ) 

123 State Capitol Bldg    ) 

200 W. 24th       ) 

Cheyenne, WY 82002     ) 

       ) 

and       ) 

       ) 

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,   ) 

441 Fourth Street, N.W., Suite 600-S   ) 

Washington, DC  20001    ) 

       ) 

  Plaintiffs,     ) 

       ) 

 v.      ) 

       ) 
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SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC.   ) 

901 Semmes Ave.     ) 

Richmond, Virginia 23224    ) 

       ) 

  Defendant.    ) 

__________________________________________) 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 The United States, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the CFPB or Bureau) and 

the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, 

Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, 

Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New 

Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, 

South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, 

Wisconsin, and Wyoming; the Commonwealths of Kentucky, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and 

Virginia; and the District of Columbia allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a civil action filed jointly by the United States and the Bureau; the States 

of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, 

Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, 

Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, 

New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South 

Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, 

Wisconsin, and Wyoming; the Commonwealths of Kentucky, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and 

Virginia; and the District of Columbia against SunTrust Mortgage, Inc., for misconduct related to 

origination and servicing of single family residential mortgages. 
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2. As described below, Defendant’s misconduct resulted in unfair and deceptive acts 

and practices in connection with loan servicing, premature and unauthorized foreclosures, 

violation of homeowners’ rights and protections, the use of false and deceptive affidavits and 

other documents, and the waste and abuse of taxpayer funds.  Each of the allegations regarding 

Defendant contained herein applies to instances in which defendant, either itself or through its 

affiliates or subsidiaries, engaged in the conduct alleged. 

THE PARTIES 

3. This action is brought by the United States of America, on behalf of its agencies 

and departments, acting through the United States Department of Justice and the CFPB. 

4. This action is also brought by the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, 

California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, 

Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, 

Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North 

Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, 

Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming; the 

Commonwealths of Kentucky, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and Virginia; and the District of 

Columbia.  Collectively the plaintiffs identified in this paragraph are referred to here as the 

“Plaintiff States.”  This action is brought by the Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States 

pursuant to consumer protection enforcement authority conferred on them by state law (or, in the 

case of the District of Columbia, by District of Columbia Law) and pursuant to parens patriae 

and common law authority.  The Attorneys General are authorized to seek injunctive relief, 

restitution for consumers, disgorgement of unjust enrichment or unlawful gains, and civil 

penalties for violation of the consumer protection laws of their States. 
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5. SunTrust Banks, Inc., one of the nation’s largest commercial banking 

organizations, is a diversified financial services holding company, and is the holding company 

for its principal subsidiary, SunTrust Bank, which offers a full line of financial and banking 

services for consumers and businesses.  SunTrust Banks, Inc. is a Georgia corporation, with its 

principal executive offices in Atlanta, Georgia. 

6. Defendant SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. is a mortgage origination and servicing 

company and wholly-owned subsidiary of SunTrust Bank.  SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. is a Virginia 

corporation with its principal place of business in Richmond, Virginia. 

7. The business of Defendant and its subsidiaries and affiliates includes the 

origination and servicing of mortgage loans. 

8. For this Complaint, Defendant and all of its affiliated entities, during or prior to 

such time as they were affiliated, are referred to collectively as the “Defendant.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant has 

transacted business in this District, and because Defendant has committed acts proscribed by the 

False Claims Act in this District. 

10. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because 

the action arises under the laws of the United States, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345 because this is 

a civil action commenced by the United States, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(a) because this is 

an action for the recovery or enforcement of a fine or penalty incurred under an Act of Congress, 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1) to the extent the claims are “brought under Federal consumer 

financial law,” and pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) to the extent the claims arise under the False 

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 to 3733. 
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11. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(b), this Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over the subject matter of the claims asserted by the Plaintiff States in 

this action because those claims are so related to the claims asserted by the United States and the 

CFPB that they form part of the same case or controversy, and because those claims arise out of 

the same transactions or occurrences as the action brought by the United States under the False 

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 to 3733 and the CFPB under the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5301 et seq.     

12. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (2) and 31 

U.S.C. § 3732(a). 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Overview of Relevant Federal Programs 

1. The Federal Housing Administration (FHA) 

13. The FHA provides mortgage insurance on loans made by FHA-approved lenders 

throughout the United States.  Among other things, FHA insures mortgages on “single family” 

housing, which refers to one- to four- family dwellings.  See, e.g., 12 U.S.C. § 1709; see 

generally 24 C.F.R. Part 203. 

14. FHA mortgage insurance provides lenders with protection against losses when 

home buyers default on mortgage loans insured by FHA.  See generally 12 U.S.C. § 1710, 24 

C.F.R. Part 203. 

15. FHA-approved lenders, known as Direct Endorsement Lenders, ensure that loans 

meet strict underwriting criteria, including income-verification, credit analysis, and property 

appraisal, established by the FHA to be eligible for insurance.  See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c)-(e) 
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(Direct Endorsement requirements for underwriter due diligence, mortgagor income evaluation 

and appraisal). 

16. The FHA insurance operations are funded by a statutorily established Mutual 

Mortgage Insurance Fund (MMIF).  12 U.S.C. § 1708(a).  The MMIF is sustained by insurance 

premiums, and the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development is 

required to provide for an annual actuarial study to assess the financial position of the MMIF.  12 

U.S.C. § 1708(a)(4), (7). 

17. The FHA insurance program, by reducing the risk borne by approved lenders, is 

designed to stimulate lending to creditworthy borrowers, thereby increasing homeownership and 

aiding local communities in the form of community development, increased tax bases, and 

related benefits. 

2. The Department of Agriculture’s Rural Housing Service Rural Housing 

Guarantee Program (RHS) 

 

18. The RHS program provides mortgage insurance guarantees for loans made to 

qualified borrowers for housing in rural communities.  See 7 C.F.R. § 1980.345 (applicant 

eligibility).  The RHS partners with a broad range of eligible lenders.  When an eligible lender 

certifies that all program requirements have been met, delivers a completed Loan Closing 

Report, and pays the guarantee fee, the RHS concurrently executes a loan note guarantee.  

7 C.F.R. §§ 1980.309(a) (qualification of lenders), 1980.361 (issuance of loan note guarantee). 

19. The RHS loan program is intended “to assist eligible households in obtaining 

adequate but modest, decent, safe, and sanitary dwellings and related facilities for their own use 

in rural areas.”  7 C.F.R. § 1980.301(a).   

20. Like the FHA insurance program, the RHS program promotes lending to 

creditworthy borrowers that meet the Department of Agriculture’s underwriting requirements.   
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3. The United States Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Loan Guaranty 

Service Home Loan Program 

 

21. The VA Home Loan Program’s guaranties are issued to help eligible service 

members, veterans, reservists and certain unmarried surviving spouses obtain homes, 

condominiums, residential cooperative housing units, and manufactured homes.  38 U.S.C. §§ 

3701(b)(3), 3710(a), 3712.  The primary purpose of the VA Home Loan Program is to help such 

individuals finance the purchase of homes on more advantageous terms than typically would be 

available to them. 

22. The VA provides a repayment guarantee to qualified lenders equal to a specified 

percentage of the loan upon default of the primary debtor.  38 U.S.C §§ 3702(d), 3712(c)(2)-(3); 

38 C.F.R. §§ 36.4202, 36.4225.  Only loans meeting the VA’s underwriting requirements are 

entitled to the VA’s insurance guarantee.   

23. By providing protection in the event of a default, the VA’s insurance program 

encourages lenders to provide financing to veterans.    

4. The United States Trustee Program 

24. The United States Trustee Program is a component of the Department of Justice 

that seeks to promote the efficiency and protect the integrity of the Federal bankruptcy system.  

To further the public interest in the just, speedy and economical resolution of cases filed under 

the Bankruptcy Code, the Program monitors the conduct of bankruptcy parties and private estate 

trustees, oversees related administrative functions, and acts to ensure compliance with applicable 

laws and procedures.  It also identifies and helps investigate bankruptcy fraud and abuse in 

coordination with United States Attorneys, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and other law 

enforcement agencies. 
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25. The primary role of the U.S. Trustee Program is to serve as the “watchdog” over 

the bankruptcy process. 

26. United States Trustees supervise the administration of liquidation proceedings 

under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, reorganization proceedings under Chapter 11, family 

farm and fisherman reorganization proceedings under Chapter 12, and “Wage-earner” 

reorganization proceedings under Chapter 13.  

27. Specific responsibilities of the United States Trustees include appointing and 

supervising private trustees who administer Chapter 7, 12, and 13 bankruptcy estates (and 

serving as trustees in such cases where private trustees are unable or unwilling to serve); taking 

legal action to enforce the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code and to prevent fraud and abuse; 

referring matters for investigation and criminal prosecution when appropriate; ensuring that 

bankruptcy estates are administered promptly and efficiently, and that professional fees are 

reasonable; appointing and convening creditors’ committees in Chapter 11 business 

reorganization cases; reviewing disclosure statements and applications for the retention of 

professionals; and advocating matters relating to the Bankruptcy Code and rules of procedure in 

court. 

B. The Single Family Mortgage Industry 

28. The single family mortgage industry consists of financial services and other firms 

that originate, underwrite, securitize, and service mortgages for residential properties designed to 

house one- to four-family dwellings. 

29. Mortgage origination is the process whereby a lender loans money to a borrower 

and receives a security interest in property, through a mortgage or comparable device that 
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secures the loan.  Origination generally includes all the steps from receiving a loan application 

through disbursal of the loan proceeds.   

30. For more than thirty years, mortgages typically have been “pooled” to create an 

investment vehicle, often denominated as a trust, and interests in the trusts have been sold to 

investors that own interests in payment streams generated by principal and interest payments by 

the borrowers. 

31. After mortgages are originated, a “servicer” is responsible for mortgage 

administration activities, known as servicing activities, which generally include collecting 

payments from mortgagors; applying payments made in an agreed-upon order to the mortgagor’s 

indebtedness; distributing payments after allowable deductions to the investment trust entities for 

distribution to investors; making advances to cover delinquent mortgage payments and other 

costs, such as the costs of protecting and maintaining properties that collateralize mortgage loans 

when mortgagors fail to do so; pursuing collections from delinquent mortgagors; and pursuing 

either loss mitigation or foreclosure, as appropriate, to minimize the loss to investors and others 

when mortgagors become delinquent on mortgage payments. 

C. The United States’ Stimulus / Rescue Efforts 

32. Beginning in the fall of 2008, the federal government instituted several measures 

to try to stabilize the housing and credit markets and assist troubled homeowners. 

33. In October 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (EESA) was 

passed to promote stability and liquidity in the financial system.  Among other things, EESA 

authorized the Secretary of the Treasury to establish the Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP).  

TARP funds were used, in part, to promote various mortgage loan modification programs. 
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34. The Making Home Affordable (MHA) Program.  In March 2009, the United 

States launched the MHA Program.  The MHA Program included the Home Affordable 

Modification Program (HAMP), a Treasury program that uses TARP funds to provide incentives 

for mortgage servicers to modify eligible first-lien mortgages.   

35. HAMP uses incentive payments to encourage loan servicers and owners of 

mortgage loans or bonds backed by mortgage loans to modify eligible first lien mortgages so that 

monthly payments of homeowners who are in default or at imminent risk of default will be 

reduced to affordable and sustainable levels.   

36. The Home Price Decline Protection Incentives (HPDP) initiative. The HPDP 

initiative is designed to encourage modifications of loans in markets hardest hit by falling home 

prices.   The HPDP initiative provides investors with additional incentives for loan modifications 

on properties located in areas where home prices have recently declined and where investors are 

concerned that price declines may persist.  

37. The Principal Reduction Alternative (PRA).  PRA is designed to encourage the 

use of principal reduction in modifications for eligible borrowers whose homes are worth 

significantly less than the remaining outstanding principal balances of their first-lien mortgage 

loans.  It provides investor incentives to offset a portion of the principal reduction. 

38. The Home Affordable Unemployment Program (UP).  UP is designed to offer 

assistance to unemployed homeowners through temporary forbearance of a portion of their 

mortgage payments. 

39. The Home Affordable Foreclosure Alternatives Program (HAFA).  HAFA is 

designed to provide incentives to servicers, investors and borrowers to utilize short sales and 

deeds-in-lieu of foreclosure for HAMP-eligible loans in cases in which the borrower can no 
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longer afford to stay in their home but want to avoid foreclosure.  Under this program, the 

servicer releases the lien against the property and the investor waives all rights to seek a 

deficiency judgment against a borrower who uses a short sale or deed-in-lieu when the property 

is worth less than the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage. 

40. The Second Lien Modification Program (2MP).  2MP is designed to modify 

second lien mortgages when a corresponding first lien is modified under HAMP.   

41. The FHA-HAMP Program.  The FHA-HAMP Program is designed to provide 

compensation to the holders and servicers of FHA-insured mortgages that are modified under 

FHA-HAMP, to reduce payments to more affordable levels. 

42. The Treasury/FHA Second-Lien Program (FHA2LP).  FHA2LP is designed to 

facilitate refinancing under the FHA Short Refinance Program by reducing second liens.  

Treasury provides incentives to participating servicers and investors who agree to partial or full 

extinguishment of second liens associated with an FHA refinance. 

43. The FHA Refinance for Borrowers with Negative Equity (FHA Short Refinance) 

Program.  This program is partially supported by TARP funds and allows servicers and investors 

who write down a borrower’s principal balance on a non-FHA-insured, existing, underwater, 

first-lien mortgage loan in connection with a refinancing to obtain FHA insurance on the newly 

refinanced mortgage.  Treasury has provided a TARP-funded letter of credit for up to $8 billion 

in loss coverage on these newly refinanced FHA loans. 

44. Housing Finance Agency Hardest Hit Fund (HHF).  HHF is a TARP-funded 

program designed to fund foreclosure prevention programs run by state housing finance agencies 

in states hit hardest by the decrease in home prices and in states with high unemployment rates.  

Eighteen states and Washington, D.C. have received approval for aid through this program. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Defendant’s Servicing Misconduct 

45. Defendant services home mortgage loans secured by residential properties owned 

by individual citizens of the Plaintiff States, and of the United States.   

46. Defendant engaged in trade or commerce in each of the Plaintiff States and is 

subject to the consumer protection laws of the Plaintiff States.   

47. Under the Plaintiff States’ consumer protection laws, Defendant is prohibited 

from engaging in unfair or deceptive practices with respect to consumers. 

48. As mortgage servicers, Defendant regularly conducted or managed loss mitigation 

and foreclosure of single family residences on behalf of entities that hold the mortgage loans and 

that hired Defendant as a servicer.   

49. Pursuant to HUD regulations and FHA guidance, FHA-approved mortgage 

lenders and their servicers are required to engage in loss-mitigation efforts to avoid the 

foreclosure of HUD-insured single family residential mortgages.  E.g., 24 C.F.R. § 203.500 et 

seq.; Mortgagee Letter 2008-07 (“Treble Damages for Failure to Engage in Loss Mitigation”) 

(Sept. 26, 2008); Mortgagee Letter 1996-25 (“Existing Alternatives to Foreclosure -- Loss 

Mitigation”) (May 8, 1996).  Thus, when acting as a servicer, Defendant was required to refrain 

from foreclosing on any FHA insured mortgage where a default could be addressed by 

modifying the terms of the mortgage or other less-costly alternatives to foreclosure were 

available. 

50. Under the Treasury’s various rescue and stimulus programs, Defendant received 

monetary incentives from the Federal government in exchange for the commitment to make 

efforts to modify defaulting borrowers’ single family residential mortgages.  See, e.g., Making 
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Home Affordable Handbook v.1.0, ch. 13 (“Incentive Compensation”) (Aug. 19, 2010).  Under 

the programs, Defendant agreed to fulfill requirements set forth in program guidelines and 

servicer participation agreements. 

51. Under FHA regulations and guidance and HAMP and other MHA servicer 

participation agreements, Defendant was obligated to follow specific requirements in the 

foreclosure of single family residential mortgages that are FHA insured, or where the servicer 

conducting the foreclosure is an MHA participant.   

52. As described below, in the course of their servicing of mortgage loans, Defendant 

engaged in a pattern of unfair and deceptive acts and practices in violation of the CFPA and the 

Plaintiff States’ consumer protection laws, and violated federal laws, program requirements, and 

contractual requirements governing loan servicing.   

1. Defendant’s Servicing Processes 

53. In the course of their conduct, management, and oversight of loan servicing in the 

United States, and in the Plaintiff States, Defendant engaged in a pattern of unfair and deceptive 

acts and practices, including: 

a. failing to timely and accurately apply payments made by borrowers and 

failing to maintain accurate account statements;  

b. charging unauthorized fees for default-related services;  

c. imposing force-placed insurance when Defendant knew or should have 

known that borrowers already had adequate coverage; and  

d. providing false or misleading information in response to borrower 

complaints.   

2. Defendant’s Loan Modification and Loss Mitigation Processes   
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54. In the course of their conduct, management, and oversight of loss mitigation and 

loan modifications in the United States and in the Plaintiff States, Defendant engaged in the 

following acts and practices: 

a. failing to perform proper loan modification underwriting; 

b. failing to gather or losing loan modification application documentation and 

other paper work; 

c. failing to provide adequate staffing to implement programs;  

d. failing to adequately train staff responsible for loan modifications;  

e. failing to establish adequate processes for loan modifications;  

f. allowing borrowers to stay in trial modifications for excessive time periods;  

g. wrongfully denying modification applications;  

h. failing to respond to borrower inquiries;  

i. providing false or misleading information to consumers about the status of 

loss mitigation review, including while referring loans to foreclosure;  

j. providing false or misleading information to consumers about the status of 

foreclosure proceedings where the borrower was in good faith actively 

pursuing a loss mitigation alternative offered by Defendant;  

k. misrepresenting to borrowers that loss mitigation programs would provide 

relief from the initiation of foreclosure or further foreclosure efforts; 

l. failing to provide accurate and timely information to borrowers who sought 

information about loss mitigation services, including loan modifications;  

m. falsely advising borrowers that they must be at least 60 days delinquent in 

loan payments to qualify for a loan modification;  
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n. failing to properly calculate borrowers’ eligibility for loan modification 

programs and improperly denying loan modification relief to eligible 

borrowers;  

o. misrepresenting to borrowers that loan modification applications will be 

handled promptly when Defendant regularly failed to act on loan 

modifications in a timely manner;  

p. failing to properly process borrowers’ applications for loan modifications, 

including failing to account for documents submitted by borrowers and 

failing to respond to borrowers’ reasonable requests for information and 

assistance, and as a result, denying loan modifications to consumers who 

were eligible;  

q. failing to assign adequate staff resources with sufficient training to handle 

the demand from distressed borrowers; and  

r. providing false or misleading reasons for denial of loan modifications.   

3. Defendant’s Conduct Related to Foreclosures 

55. In the course of its  conduct, management, and oversight of foreclosure activities 

in the United States and the Plaintiff States, Defendant has engaged in the following acts and 

practices: 

a. failing to properly identify the foreclosing party; 

b. charging unauthorized fees related to foreclosures; 

c. preparing, executing, notarizing or presenting false and misleading 

documents, filing false and misleading documents with courts and government agencies, 

or otherwise using false or misleading documents as part of the foreclosure process 
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(including, but not limited to, affidavits, declarations, certifications, substitutions of 

trustees, and assignments); 

d. preparing, executing, notarizing, and filing affidavits in foreclosure 

proceedings, whose affiants lacked personal knowledge of the assertions in the affidavits 

and did not review any information or documentation to verify the assertions in such 

affidavits.  This practice of repeated false attestation of information in affidavits is 

popularly known as “robosigning.”  Where third parties engaged in robosigning on behalf 

of Defendant, they did so with the knowledge and approval of Defendant;  

e. executing and filing affidavits in foreclosure proceedings that were not 

properly notarized in accordance with applicable state law; 

f. misrepresenting the identity, office, or legal status of the affiant executing 

foreclosure-related documents; 

g. inappropriately charging servicing, document creation, recordation and 

other costs and expenses related to foreclosures; and 

h. inappropriately dual-tracking foreclosure and loan modification activities, 

and failing to communicate with borrowers with respect to foreclosure activities. 

B. Defendant’s Origination Misconduct 

 1. Unfair and Deceptive Origination Practices 

56. Under the Plaintiff States’ consumer protection laws, Defendant is prohibited 

from engaging in unfair or deceptive practices with respect to consumers.   

57. Defendant regularly originates or originated mortgage loans. 

58. In the course of their origination of mortgage loans in the Plaintiff States, 

Defendant has engaged in a pattern of unfair and deceptive practices.  Among other 



21 

 

consequences, these practices caused borrowers in the Plaintiff States to enter into unaffordable 

mortgage loans that led to increased foreclosures in the Plaintiff States.   

2.  The Direct Endorsement Program 

59. The FHA’s Direct Endorsement Program is a vital part of its single-family insured 

mortgage program.  Under the Direct Endorsement Program, the FHA does not review or 

approve borrower loan applications.  Rather, the FHA approves lenders, called Direct 

Endorsement Lenders (DE Lenders), which have the responsibility and obligation for 

underwriting the loan and determining whether a proposed mortgage is eligible for FHA 

insurance according to FHA rules and requirements.  Unconditional DE Lenders employ Direct 

Endorsement Underwriters, who are authorized to perform  the underwriting of mortgage loans 

to be insured by the FHA.  The DE Lenders give the FHA full information and documentation 

about an underwritten loan only after the mortgage has closed, and both the underwriter and DE 

Lender certify compliance with FHA requirements in submitting the loan for mortgage 

insurance.  Although the FHA conducts regular desk reviews and brings enforcement actions, the 

FHA does not, and given its resources cannot, review the details of every loan.  The FHA 

therefore relies on the underwriter’s and DE Lender’s certifications and due diligence as 

evidence of the insurability of a mortgage. 

60. DE Lenders are responsible for all aspects of the mortgage application, the 

property analysis, and loan underwriting.  The FHA relies on DE Lenders to determine (1) a 

borrower’s ability and willingness to repay a mortgage loan, 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(d), and (2) 

appraisal of the property offered as security.  24 C.F.R. § 203.5(e)(3). 
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61. Careful compliance by DE Lenders with all FHA requirements is important in 

part because if a borrower defaults on an FHA-insured mortgage, the holder of the mortgage can 

submit a claim to the FHA for any loss associated with the defaulted mortgage. 

62. FHA regulations provide that each DE Lender owes the FHA the duty to 

“exercise the same level of care which it would exercise in obtaining and verifying information 

for a loan in which the mortgagee would be entirely dependent on the property as security to 

protect its investment.”  24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c). DE Lenders also owe the FHA a common law 

duty of due diligence.  See 48 Fed. Reg. 11928, 11932 (Mar. 22, 1983).  In addition, a fiduciary 

relationship exists between DE Lenders and the FHA. DE Lenders have a duty to the FHA to act 

with the utmost good faith, candor, honesty, integrity, fairness, undivided loyalty, and fidelity, 

and to refrain from taking advantage of the FHA by misrepresentation or lack of disclosure. DE 

Lenders are required to exercise sound judgment, prudence, and due diligence on behalf of the 

FHA in endorsing mortgages for FHA insurance. 

63. DE Lenders are required to be familiar with, and to comply with, the current 

versions of governing FHA Handbooks and Mortgagee Letters, including HUD Handbook 

4155.1, Mortgage Credit Analysis for Mortgage Insurance on One- to Four-Unit Mortgage 

Loans, HUD Handbook 4155.2, Lender’s Guide to the Single Family Mortgage Insurance 

Process, and HUD Handbook 4150.2, Valuation Analysis for Single Family One- to Four-Unit 

Dwellings. 

3.  Failure to Comply with Underwriting Requirements 

64. At all relevant times, Defendant was a mortgage lender that participated in HUD’s 

Direct Endorsement Program. Subject to the requirements of the program, Defendant was 

authorized to “originate” - i.e., make – and  to underwrite mortgage loans to first-time and low-
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income home buyers and to low income home owners refinancing mortgages, that were insured 

by the FHA, an agency within HUD. In exchange for having the authority to originate and 

underwrite FHA-insured loans,  Defendant was obligated to determine whether prospective 

borrowers met minimal credit-worthiness criteria and to certify to HUD that borrowers who 

received loans met the criteria.  In the event that an FHA-insured loan originated by Defendant 

goes into default, the FHA has guaranteed payment of the outstanding portion of the mortgage 

principal, accrued interest, and costs owed by the borrower. 

65. During the period January 2006 through March 2012, Defendant knowingly failed 

to comply with HUD regulations and requirements of the Direct Endorsement Program 

governing the origination and underwriting of FHA insured loans.  As a result, the FHA has thus 

far incurred hundreds of millions of dollars in damages with respect to claims paid for loans that 

Defendant knowingly made to unqualified borrowers.  Additionally, thousands of the 

Defendant's loans are currently in default and have not yet been submitted as claims to the FHA. 

66. Defendant has submitted claims for payment to the FHA with respect to FHA-

insured mortgage loans originated and underwritten by Defendant in contravention of HUD 

regulations and the requirements of the Direct Endorsement Program during the period January 

2006 through September 2013. 

4.  Failure to Comply With Quality Control Requirements 

67. To qualify as a DE Lender, a lender has to have a fully functioning Quality 

Control (QC) Program that complies with FHA requirements from the date of its initial FHA 

approval until final surrender or termination of its approval. 

68. QC plans ensure that DE Lenders follow all the FHA requirements, ensure that 

procedures and personnel used by DE Lenders meet FHA requirements, and provide for the 
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correction, where necessary, and reporting of problems once a DE Lender becomes aware of 

their existence. 

69. Under its QC requirements, the FHA requires DE Lenders to review all early 

payment defaults. Early payment defaults are mortgages that go into default (i.e., are more than 

60 days past due) within the first six payments of the mortgage. 

70. Early payment defaults may indicate problems in the underwriting process. DE 

Lenders are required to review early payment defaults so they can identify, correct, and report 

them to the FHA. 

71.  A DE Lender whose QC program fails to provide for appropriate review of each 

early payment default is in violation of the FHA’s QC requirements. 

72. Defendant submitted loans for insurance endorsement or claims for insurance 

benefits for FHA loans that Defendant endorsed or underwrote as a participant in the FHA’s 

Direct Endorsement Program while failing to implement applicable QC measures. 

73. Defendant failed to adequately review early payment defaults. 

74. Defendant failed to dedicate sufficient staff to QC. 

75. Defendant failed to address dysfunctions in their QC system. 

76. The FHA has paid insurance claims relating to mortgages insured by FHA based 

on Defendant’s false certifications that it had a properly established and functioning QC 

program.  The FHA would not have made a financial commitment to pay such mortgage 

insurance if it had known about Defendant’s QC failures. 

77. To get and maintain DE Lender status, a DE Lender has to submit an annual 

certification to the FHA, stating that it conforms to all HUD/FHA regulations, handbooks, and 

policies. 
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78. Absent such a certification, a DE Lender cannot submit a mortgage for FHA 

insurance endorsement. 

79. Contrary to the annual certifications made by Defendant, it failed to have a QC 

program as mandated by FHA requirements. 

80. The FHA has paid insurance claims relating to mortgages insured by FHA based 

on the Banks’ false certifications.  The FHA would not have made a financial commitment to 

pay such mortgage insurance if it had known about Defendant’s false certifications. 

 C. Defendant’s Bankruptcy-Related Misconduct 

81. In the ordinary course of their businesses, Defendant regularly appear as creditors, 

or on behalf of creditors, in bankruptcy cases, including bankruptcy cases commenced in this 

district and over which this Court has original jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1334, seeking the 

payment of money from bankruptcy estates and/or prosecuting motions seeking relief from the 

automatic stay to foreclose on consumer mortgages. 

82. Defendant has bankruptcy procedures that are utilized or relied upon by 

Defendant and its attorneys, contractors, and other agents when Defendant files documents, 

including proofs of claim and motions seeking relief from the automatic stay in bankruptcy 

cases.  Use of these bankruptcy procedures has resulted in an insufficient level of oversight and 

safeguards regarding pleadings and documents filed by Defendant or its agents in bankruptcy 

cases and their conduct during the bankruptcy cases. 

83. Use of these bankruptcy procedures has resulted in the filing of signed pleadings 

and documents in bankruptcy cases as to which the signatory has not conducted a reasonable 

inquiry into the factual contentions or allegations, as required by applicable law, including Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 11 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9011. 
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84. Use of these bankruptcy procedures has also resulted in a failure to exercise 

adequate supervision over Defendant’s attorneys, contractors, and other agents in bankruptcy 

proceedings. 

85. As a result of the use of inadequate bankruptcy procedures, the conduct of 

Defendant or its agents has resulted in, among other things, some or all of the following:  

a. making representations that were inaccurate, misleading, false, or for 

which Defendant, at the time, did not have a reasonable basis to make, including without 

limitation representations contained in proofs of claim under 11 U.S.C. § 501, motions 

for relief from the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362, or other documents; 

b.  filing proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other documents 

that failed to include documentation required under the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy 

Procedure, local court rules, local court standing orders, or other applicable rules or law, 

such as the original or a duplicate of the writing on which the secured claim is based, 

evidence that the security interest has been perfected, a statement setting forth the terms 

of and any documentation of a transfer of the claim, or other documentation;  

c. filing lost note affidavits in connection with proofs of claim, motions for 

relief from stay, or other documents that were inaccurate, misleading, or false, or for 

which Defendant, at the time, did not have a reasonable basis to make; 

d. filing proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other documents 

where Defendant sought payment from debtors or bankruptcy estates for amounts that 

Defendant was not legally entitled to collect, such as seeking principal, interest, fees, 

escrow amounts, and/or advances that were not incurred, were in excess of what is 

collectable under the loan documents, were not reasonable or appropriate to protect the 
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note holder’s interest in the property and rights under the security instrument, or were 

inconsistent with an approved loan modification; 

e. filing proofs of claim or motions for relief from stay without required 

itemizations for principal, interest, fees, escrow amounts, and/or advances; 

f. filing proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other documents 

that inaccurately represented or failed to document ownership of the claim or right to 

seek relief; 

g. commencing collection activities against the debtor or the debtor’s 

property without court authorization, or in violation of the terms of a confirmed chapter 

13 plan, the discharge injunction under 11 U.S.C. § 524, or the automatic stay under 11 

U.S.C. § 362; 

h. filing proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other documents or 

otherwise commencing collection activities seeking to recover amounts on debts that 

have been paid or satisfied, including through a refinance of the debt, or a sale or short 

sale of the collateral;  

i. collecting, or attempting to collect, attorney’s fees and other charges for 

the preparation and filing of proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other 

documents, that Defendant ultimately withdrew or that a court denied; 

j. failing to promptly and accurately apply payments resulting in inaccurate 

loan accounting and wrongful or inaccurate allegations of loan defaults; 

k. filing proofs of claim, motions for relief from stay, or other documents 

that inaccurately or falsely represented they were signed by a person with direct 

knowledge of the matters alleged in the filing;  
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l. filing affidavits or other documents requiring notarization where 

Defendant inaccurately or falsely represented that the documents were validly notarized; 

m. failing to provide required notices to the debtor, trustee, or the court 

regarding payment changes resulting from a change in interest rate and/or escrow 

charges; 

n. failing to provide notice to the debtor, trustee, or court regarding fees, 

charges, and expenses assessed or incurred after the petition date; or  

o. failing to promptly provide a reconciliation of payments received with 

respect to the debtor’s obligations in the case or failing to appropriately update 

Defendant’s systems of record, including upon dismissal or closure of a bankruptcy case. 

86. Defendant implemented and relied upon inadequate bankruptcy procedures 

despite having actual or constructive notice that such procedures could, and did, lead to the 

errors described above. 

87. Use of these bankruptcy procedures has also resulted in Defendant seeking 

inappropriate relief from debtors under the Bankruptcy Code, including under 11 U.S.C. §§ 362 

and 501, and in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 524. 

COUNT I 

 

VIOLATIONS OF STATE LAW PROHIBITING UNFAIR AND  

DECEPTIVE CONSUMER PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO LOAN SERVICING 

 

88. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

89. The loan servicing conduct of Defendant, as described above, constitutes unfair or 

deceptive practices in violation of the consumer protection laws of each State. 
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90. Defendant’s unlawful conduct has resulted in injury to the Plaintiff States and 

citizens of the Plaintiff States who have had home loans serviced by Defendant.  The harm 

sustained by such citizens includes payment of improper fees and charges, unreasonable delays 

and expenses to obtain loss mitigation relief, improper denial of loss mitigation relief, and loss of 

homes due to improper, unlawful, or undocumented foreclosures.  The harm to the Plaintiff 

States includes the subversion of their legal process and the sustained violations of their laws.  

The Plaintiff States have had to incur substantial expenses in the investigations and attempts to 

obtain remedies for Defendant’s unlawful conduct. 

COUNT II 

 

VIOLATIONS OF STATE LAW PROHIBITING 

 UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE CONSUMER PRACTICES 

WITH RESPECT TO FORECLOSURE PROCESSING 

 

91. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

92. The foreclosure processing conduct of Defendant, as described above, constitutes 

unfair or deceptive practices in violation of the consumer protection laws of each State. 

93. Defendant’s unlawful conduct has resulted in injury to the Plaintiff States and 

citizens of the Plaintiff States who have had home loans serviced by Defendant.  The harm 

sustained by such citizens includes payment of improper fees and charges, unreasonable delays 

and expenses to obtain loss mitigation relief, improper denial of loss mitigation relief, and loss of 

homes due to improper, unlawful, or undocumented foreclosures.  The harm to the Plaintiff 

States includes the subversion of their legal process and the sustained violations of their laws.  

The Plaintiff States have had to incur substantial expenses in the investigations and attempts to 

obtain remedies for Defendant’s unlawful conduct. 
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COUNT III 

 

VIOLATIONS OF STATE LAW PROHIBITING UNFAIR AND  

DECEPTIVE CONSUMER PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO LOAN ORIGINATION 

 

94. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference.   

95. The loan origination conduct of the Defendant, as described above, constitutes 

unfair or deceptive practices in violation of the consumer protection laws of each State.   

96. Defendant’s unlawful conduct has resulted in injury to the Plaintiff States and 

citizens of the Plaintiff States who have had home loans originated by Defendant.  The harm 

sustained by such citizens includes payment of improper fees and charges, unreasonably high 

mortgage payments, unaffordable mortgages, and loss of homes.  The harm to the Plaintiff States 

includes the subversion of their legal processes and the sustained violations of their laws.  The 

Plaintiff States have had to incur substantial expenses in the investigations and attempts to obtain 

remedies for Defendant’s unlawful conduct.   

COUNT IV 

 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010,  

12 U.S.C. §§ 5301 ET SEQ. (CFPA) WITH RESPECT TO LOAN SERVICING 

 

97. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference.   

98. In numerous instances, the loan servicing conduct of Defendant, as described 

above, constitutes unfair and deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536.   
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COUNT V 

 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL  

PROTECTION ACT OF 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5301 ET SEQ. (CFPA)  

WITH RESPECT TO FORECLOSURE PROCESSING 

 

99. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference.   

100. In numerous instances, the foreclosure processing conduct of Defendant, as 

described above, constitutes unfair and deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536.   

COUNT VI 

 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT,  

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A), (a)(1)(B), (a)(1)(C) and (a)(1)(G) (2009),  

and 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1), (a)(2), (a)(3) and (a)(7) (1986) 

 

 

101. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference.    

102. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant knowingly presented or caused 

to be presented to the United States false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval, including 

but not limited to improper claims for payment of FHA residential mortgage insurance or 

guarantees.  

103. In so doing, the Defendant acted knowingly; that is, Defendant possessed actual 

knowledge that the claims for payment were false or fraudulent; acted in deliberate ignorance of 

the truth or falsity of the claims for payment; or acted in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity 

of the claims for payment. 

104. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant made, used, or caused to be 

made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim.  
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105. In so doing, the Defendant acted knowingly; that is, Defendant possessed actual 

knowledge that the information, statements and representations were false or fraudulent; acted in 

deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information, statements and representations; or 

acted in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information, statements and 

representations. 

106. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant made, used, or caused to be 

made or used, a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or 

property to the government, and concealed or improperly avoided or decreased an obligation to 

pay or transmit money or property to the United States. 

107. In so doing, the Defendant acted knowingly; that is, Defendant possessed actual 

knowledge that the information, statements and representations were false or fraudulent; acted in 

deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information, statements and representations; or 

acted in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information, statements and 

representations. 

108. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant conspired with one or more 

persons: to present or cause to be presented to the United States false or fraudulent claims for 

payment or approval; to make, use, or cause to be made or used, a false record or statement 

material to a false or fraudulent claim; and, to make, use, or cause to be made or used, a false 

record or statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the 

government; or to conceal or improperly avoid or decrease an obligation to pay or transmit 

money or property to the United States. 
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COUNT VII 

 

VIOLATION OF THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS  

REFORM, RECOVERY AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989,  

12 U.S.C. § 1833A (FIRREA)  

 

109. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

110. Defendant knowingly made or presented false and fictitious claims to 

Departments of the United States.   

111. The claims were material to decisions of the United States. 

112. In connection with matters within the jurisdiction of the United States, Defendant 

knowingly and willfully engaged in conduct that:  (a) falsified, concealed or covered up by 

artifices, schemes or devices, material facts, (b) made statements and representations that violate 

18 U.S.C. § 1001(a), and (c) made and used false writings or documents knowing the same to 

contain materially false and fictitious statements and entries.   

113. Defendant’s schemes affected federally insured financial institutions. 

COUNT VIII 

 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT UNDER 

28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202  

REGARDING DEFENDANT’S BANKRUPTCY MISCONDUCT  

 

114. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

115. Defendant implemented and relied on inadequate bankruptcy procedures and 

thereby have prejudiced debtors, creditors, including the United States, and the courts in 

bankruptcy cases, have caused increased errors, delays, and costs of administration in bankruptcy 

cases, and constitute a continuing abuse of the bankruptcy process. 
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116. Defendant implemented and relied on inadequate bankruptcy procedures and 

thereby have violated the standards of conduct required of creditors by applicable law, including 

the Bankruptcy Code and the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, or have caused violations 

of such law. 

117. Defendant implemented and relied upon inadequate bankruptcy procedures that 

abused the bankruptcy process.   

118. Defendant’s unlawful conduct has resulted in injury to the United States and to 

debtors in bankruptcy who have had their home loans serviced by Defendant.  The harm 

sustained by such debtors includes payment of improper fees and charges, unreasonable delays 

and expenses in their bankruptcy cases, and loss of homes due to improper, unlawful, or 

undocumented foreclosures.  The harm sustained by the United States includes reduced and 

delayed recoveries to the United States in its capacity as a creditor in bankruptcy cases.  Such 

conduct has also caused the United States to assume increased administrative duties in 

monitoring bankruptcy cases, and to incur expenses in the investigations and litigation of 

Defendant’s unlawful conduct. 

COUNT IX 

 

DAMAGES UNDER COMMON LAW  

RELATED TO DEFENDANT’S BANKRUPTCY MISCONDUCT 

 

119. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 87 above are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

120. Defendant implemented and relied on inadequate bankruptcy procedures and 

thereby has prejudiced debtors, creditors, including the United States, and the courts in 

bankruptcy cases, has led to increased errors, delays, and costs of administration in bankruptcy 

cases, and constitutes a continuing abuse of the bankruptcy process. 
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121. Defendant’s abuse of the bankruptcy process violated a duty or duties owed by 

Defendant to the debtors, the courts, and other parties in such bankruptcy cases, including the 

United States. 

122. Defendant’s abuse of the bankruptcy process violates a federal policy, reflected in 

the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, in favor of the efficient and equitable 

administration of bankruptcy cases, as well as the policy of ensuring accuracy in claims 

submitted to the bankruptcy courts.  

123. Defendant’s unlawful conduct has resulted in injury to the United States and to 

debtors in bankruptcy who have had their home loans serviced by Defendant.  The harm 

sustained by such debtors includes payment of improper fees and charges, unreasonable delays 

and expenses in their bankruptcy cases, and loss of homes due to improper, unlawful, or 

undocumented foreclosures.  The harm sustained by the United States includes reduced and 

delayed recoveries to the United States in its capacity as a creditor in bankruptcy cases.  Such 

conduct has also caused the United States to assume increased administrative duties in 

monitoring bankruptcy cases, and to incur expenses in the investigations and litigation of 

Defendant’s unlawful conduct. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the United States, the Bureau, and the Plaintiff States respectfully request 

that judgment be entered in their favor and against Defendant as follows: 

1. On Count I, judgment against the Defendant, injunctive relief to restrain 

Defendant from further unlawful conduct; an order requiring disgorgement of unlawful gains 

obtained by Defendant as a result of their unlawful conduct; restitution or other remedial relief to 
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compensate individual victims of Defendant’s unlawful conduct; civil penalties; and attorney 

fees and costs of investigation. 

2. On Count II, judgment against the Defendant, injunctive relief to restrain 

Defendant from further unlawful conduct; an order requiring disgorgement of unlawful gains 

obtained by Defendant as a result of their unlawful conduct; restitution or other remedial relief to 

compensate individual victims of Defendant’s unlawful conduct; civil penalties; and attorney 

fees and costs of investigation. 

3. On Count III, judgment against the Defendant, injunctive relief to restrain 

Defendant from further unlawful conduct; an order requiring disgorgement of unlawful gains 

obtained by Defendant as a result of their unlawful conduct; restitution or other remedial relief to 

compensate individual victims of Defendant’s unlawful conduct; civil penalties; and attorney 

fees and costs of investigation. 

4. On Count IV, judgment against the Defendant, injunctive relief to restrain 

Defendant from further unlawful conduct; an order requiring such relief as the Court finds 

necessary to redress consumers; an order requiring disgorgement by Defendant of any unlawful 

gains; civil penalties; an order awarding the CFPB costs of bringing this action, and any 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper;   

5. On Count V, judgment against the Defendant, injunctive relief to restrain 

Defendant from further unlawful conduct; an order requiring such relief as the Court finds 

necessary to redress consumers; an order requiring disgorgement by Defendant of any unlawful 

gains; civil penalties; an order awarding the CFPB costs of bringing this action, and any 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper;   
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6. On Count VI, for treble damages and civil penalties in an amount as the Court 

may determine between $5,500 and $11,000 for each violation; 

7. On Count VII, for a civil penalty of up to $1 million dollars for each violation, 

plus such other relief as is in connection with each false entry or assignment, or such greater 

amount as provided by law;   

8. On Counts VIII and IX, for appropriate declaratory relief and for compensatory 

damages, in an amount to be determined at trial, and for necessary post-judgment relief to 

prohibit the Defendant from violating 11 U.S.C. §§ 362 and 501, and from acting in violation of 

11 U.S.C. § 524; and  

9. For all other and further relief as the Court may deem just proper and equitable.    
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

   

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  

et al., 

555 4th Street, NW 

    Washington, D.C. 20530 

 

  Plaintiffs,  

 

 v. 

 

SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC. 

901 Semmes Ave  

 Richmond, Virginia 23224 

   

Defendant. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Civil Action No. ________ 

 

   

CONSENT JUDGMENT 

 

 WHEREAS, Plaintiffs, the United States of America, the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau (the CFPB or Bureau) and the States of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, 

Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, 

Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, 

Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, 

North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, 

Utah, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, the Commonwealths of 

Kentucky, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and Virginia, and the District of Columbia filed their 

complaint on June 17, 2014, alleging that SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. (“Defendant”) either itself or 

through its affiliates or subsidiaries violated, among other laws, the Unfair and Deceptive Acts 
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and Practices laws of the Plaintiff States, the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, the 

False Claims Act, the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989, 

and the Bankruptcy Code and Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure;  

 WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to resolve their claims without the need for 

litigation; 

 WHEREAS, Defendant, by its attorneys, has consented to entry of this Consent Judgment 

without trial or adjudication of any issue of fact or law and to waive any appeal if the Consent 

Judgment is entered as submitted by the parties;  

 WHEREAS, Defendant, by entering into this Consent Judgment, does not admit any 

allegations other than those facts of the Complaint deemed necessary to the jurisdiction of this 

Court and the facts set forth in Attachment A to Exhibit J; 

 WHEREAS, the intention of the United States, the Bureau, and the States in effecting this 

settlement is to remediate harms allegedly resulting from the alleged unlawful conduct of the 

Defendant, either itself or through its affiliates or subsidiaries; 

 AND WHEREAS, Defendant has agreed to waive service of the complaint and summons 

and hereby acknowledges the same; 

 NOW THEREFORE, without trial or adjudication of issues of fact or law, without this 

Consent Judgment constituting evidence against Defendant except as otherwise noted, and upon 

consent of Defendant, the Court finds that there is good and sufficient cause to enter this Consent 

Judgment, and that it is therefore ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED: 
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I. JURISDICTION 

 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1355(a), and 1367, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), and under 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) 

and (b), and over Defendant.  The Complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted 

against Defendant.  Venue is appropriate in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) and 

31 U.S.C. § 3732(a). 

 

II. SERVICING STANDARDS 

 

2. Defendant shall comply with the Servicing Standards, attached hereto as Exhibit 

A, in accordance with their terms and Section A of Exhibit E, attached hereto.   

III. FINANCIAL TERMS 

 

3. Payment Settlement Amounts.  Defendant shall pay or cause to be paid into an 

interest bearing escrow account to be established for this purpose the sum of fifty million dollars 

($50,000,000), which shall be known as the “Direct Payment Settlement Amount” as specified in 

Exhibit F, and which shall be distributed in the manner and for the purposes specified in 

Exhibit B.  Defendant shall further pay to the United States Department of Justice the sum of 

four hundred and eighteen million dollars ($418,000,000), which shall be known as the “Exhibit 

J Settlement Amount” as specified in Exhibit J, plus simple interest on the Settlement Amount at 

a rate of 2.375% per annum accruing from March 5, 2014 through March 15, 2014, for a total of 

$418,271,986, as described in Exhibit J.  Defendant’s payment of the Direct Payment Settlement 

Amount shall be made by electronic funds transfer within ten days of receiving notice that the 

escrow account referenced in this Paragraph 3 is established or within ten days of the Effective 

Date of this Consent Judgment, whichever is later. Defendant's payment of the Exhibit J 
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Settlement Amount shall be made by electronic funds transfer, pursuant to written instructions to 

be provided by the United States Department of Justice, within ten days of receiving the written 

instructions from the United States Department of Justice.  After Defendant has made the 

required payments, Defendant shall no longer have any property right, title, interest or other legal 

claim in any funds held in escrow.  The interest bearing escrow account established by this 

Paragraph 3 is intended to be a Qualified Settlement Fund within the meaning of Treasury 

Regulation Section 1.468B-1 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  The 

Monitoring Committee established in Paragraph 8 shall, in its sole discretion, appoint an escrow 

agent (“Escrow Agent”) who shall hold and distribute funds as provided herein.  All costs and 

expenses of the Escrow Agent, including taxes, if any, shall be paid from the funds under its 

control, including any interest earned on the funds.  

4. Payments to Foreclosed Borrowers.  In accordance with written instructions from 

the State members of the Monitoring Committee, for the purposes set forth in Exhibit C, the 

Escrow Agent shall transfer from the escrow account to the Administrator appointed under 

Exhibit C  forty million dollars ($40,000,000) (the “Borrower Payment Amount”) to enable the 

Administrator to provide cash payments to borrowers whose homes were finally sold or taken in 

foreclosure by Defendant between and including January 1, 2008 and December 31, 2013; who 

submit claims allegedly arising from the Covered Conduct (as that term is defined in Exhibit G 

hereto); and who otherwise meet criteria set forth by the State members of the Monitoring 

Committee; and to pay the reasonable costs and expenses of a Settlement Administrator, 

including taxes and fees for tax counsel, if any.  Defendant shall also pay or cause to be paid any 

additional amounts necessary to pay claims, if any, of borrowers whose data is provided to the 

Settlement Administrator by Defendant after Defendant warrants that the data is complete and 
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accurate pursuant to Paragraph 3 of Exhibit C.  The Borrower Payment Amount and any other 

funds provided to the Administrator for these purposes shall be administered in accordance with 

the terms set forth in Exhibit C. 

5. Consumer Relief.  Defendant itself and through its affiliates and subsidiaries, shall 

provide five hundred million dollars ($500,000,000) of relief to consumers who meet the 

eligibility criteria in the forms and amounts described in Paragraphs 1-9 of Exhibit D, as 

amended by Exhibit I, to remediate harms allegedly caused by the alleged unlawful conduct of 

Defendant.  Defendant shall receive credit towards such obligation as described in Exhibit D as 

amended by Exhibit I. 

IV. ENFORCEMENT 
 

6. The Servicing Standards and Consumer Relief Requirements, attached as Exhibits 

A and D, are incorporated herein as the judgment of this Court and shall be enforced in 

accordance with the authorities provided in the Enforcement Terms, attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

7. The Parties agree that Joseph A. Smith, Jr. shall be the Monitor and shall have the 

authorities and perform the duties described in the Enforcement Terms, attached hereto as 

Exhibit E. 

8. The Parties agree that the Monitoring Committee established pursuant to certain 

Consent Judgments entered in United States, et al. v. Bank of America Corp., et al., No. 12-civ-

00361-RMC (April 4, 2012) (Docket Nos. 10-14) and referenced specifically in paragraph 8 of 

those Consent Judgments, shall be designated as the committee responsible for performing the 

role of the Administration and Monitoring Committee, as described in the Enforcement Terms.  

References to the “Monitoring Committee” in this Consent Judgment and related documents 

shall be understood to refer to the same Monitoring Committee as that established in the Bank of 
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America Corp. case referenced in the preceding sentence, with the addition of a CFPB Member, 

and the Monitoring Committee shall serve as the representative of the participating state and 

federal agencies in the administration of all aspects of this Consent Judgment and the monitoring 

of compliance with it by the Defendant. 

V. RELEASES 

  

9. The United States, the Bureau, and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for 

the terms provided herein, for the release of certain claims, and remedies, as provided in the 

Federal Release, attached hereto as Exhibit F and in the Origination Release, attached hereto as 

Exhibit J.  The United States, the Bureau, and Defendant have also agreed that certain claims and 

remedies are not released, as provided in Paragraph 11 of Exhibit F and as provided in paragraph 

3 of Exhibit J.  The releases contained in Exhibit F and Exhibit J shall become effective on the 

dates and pursuant to the terms provided in those documents.   

10. The Department of Housing and Urban Development and Defendant have agreed, 

in consideration for the terms provided herein, for the release of certain claims, and remedies, as 

provided in the Administrative Release, attached hereto as Exhibit K.  The release contained in 

Exhibit K shall become effective on the date and pursuant to the terms provided in that 

document. 

11. The State Parties and Defendant have agreed, in consideration for the terms 

provided herein, for the release of certain claims and remedies, as provided in the State Release, 

attached hereto as Exhibit G.  The State Parties and Defendant have also agreed that certain 

claims and remedies are not released, as provided in Part IV of Exhibit G.  The releases 

contained in Exhibit G shall become effective upon payment of the Direct Payment Settlement 

Amount by Defendant.   
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VII. OTHER TERMS 

12. In the event that the Defendant (a) does not complete certain consumer relief 

activities as set forth in Exhibit D, as amended by Exhibit I (“Consumer Relief Requirements”), 

and (b) does not make the Consumer Relief Payments (as that term is defined in Exhibit F 

(Federal Release)) and fails to cure such non-payment within thirty days of written notice by the 

party, the United States, the Bureau, and any State Party may withdraw from the Consent 

Judgment and declare it null and void with respect to the withdrawing party. Nothing in this 

paragraph shall be interpreted to affect the releases in Exhibit J, or the release of civil and 

administrative claims, remedies, and penalties based on Covered Origination Conduct in Exhibit 

K.  

13. This Court retains jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Judgment to 

enforce its terms.  The parties may jointly seek to modify the terms of this Consent Judgment, 

subject to the approval of this Court.  This Consent Judgment may be modified only by order of 

this Court. 

14. The Effective Date of this Consent Judgment shall be the date on which the 

Consent Judgment has been entered by the Court and has become final and non-appealable.  An 

order entering the Consent Judgment shall be deemed final and non-appealable for this purpose if 

there is no party with a right to appeal the order on the day it is entered. 

15. This Consent Judgment shall remain in full force and effect for three and one-half 

years from the date it is entered (“the Term”), at which time the Defendant’s obligations under 

the Consent Judgment shall expire, except that, pursuant to Exhibit E, Defendant shall submit a 

final Quarterly Report for the last quarter or portion thereof falling within the Term and 

cooperate with the Monitor's review of said report, which shall be concluded no later than six 
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months after the end of the Term. The duration of the Servicer’s obligations under the Servicing 

Standards set forth in Exhibit A shall be reduced to a period of three years from the date of the 

entry of the Consent Judgment, if at the end of the third year, the Monitor’s two servicing 

standard compliance reports immediately prior to that date reflect that the Servicer had no 

Potential Violations during those reporting periods, or any Corrective Action Plans that the 

Monitor had not yet certified as completed. Defendant shall have no further obligations under 

this Consent Judgment six months after the expiration of the Term, but the Court shall retain 

jurisdiction for purposes of enforcing or remedying any outstanding violations that are identified 

in the final Monitor Report and that have occurred but not been cured during the Term. 

16. Except as otherwise agreed in Exhibit B, each party to this litigation will bear its 

own costs and attorneys’ fees associated with this litigation. 

17. Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall relieve Defendant of their obligation to 

comply with applicable state and federal law. 

18. The sum and substance of the parties’ agreement and of this Consent Judgment 

are reflected herein and in the Exhibits attached hereto.  In the event of a conflict between the 

terms of the Exhibits and paragraphs 1-18 of this summary document, the terms of the Exhibits 

shall govern. 

 

SO ORDERED this ____ day of __________________, 2014 

 

 

    ______________________________________ 
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Settlement Term Sheet 

The provisions outlined below are intended to apply to loans secured by owner-occupied 

properties that serve as the primary residence of the borrower unless otherwise noted herein. 

I. FORECLOSURE AND BANKRUPTCY INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION. 

Unless otherwise specified, these provisions shall apply to bankruptcy and foreclosures in 

all jurisdictions regardless of whether the jurisdiction has a judicial, non-judicial or quasi-

judicial process for foreclosures and regardless of whether a statement is submitted during 

the foreclosure or bankruptcy process in the form of an affidavit, sworn statement or 

declarations under penalty of perjury (to the extent stated to be based on personal 

knowledge) (“Declaration”). 

A.       Standards for Documents Used in Foreclosure and Bankruptcy Proceedings. 

1. Servicer shall ensure that factual assertions made in pleadings (complaint, 

counterclaim, cross-claim, answer or similar pleadings), bankruptcy proofs 

of claim (including any facts provided by Servicer or based on information 

provided by the Servicer that are included in any attachment and 

submitted to establish the truth of such facts) (“POC”), Declarations, 

affidavits, and sworn statements filed by or on behalf of Servicer in 

judicial foreclosures or bankruptcy proceedings and notices of default, 

notices of sale and similar notices submitted by or on behalf of Servicer in 

non-judicial foreclosures are accurate and complete and are supported by 

competent and reliable evidence. Before a loan is referred to non-judicial 

foreclosure, Servicer shall ensure that it has reviewed competent and 

reliable evidence to substantiate the borrower’s default and the right to 

foreclose, including the borrower’s loan status and loan information. 

2. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements, and Declarations 

are based on personal knowledge, which may be based on the affiant’s 

review of Servicer’s books and records, in accordance with the evidentiary 

requirements of applicable state or federal law. 

3. Servicer shall ensure that affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations 

executed by Servicer’s affiants are based on the affiant’s review and 

personal knowledge of the accuracy and completeness of the assertions in 

the affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration, set out facts that Servicer 

reasonably believes would be admissible in evidence, and show that the 

affiant is competent to testify on the matters stated. Affiants shall confirm 

that they have reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 

borrower’s default and the right to foreclose, including the borrower’s 

loan status and required loan ownership information. If an affiant relies on 

a review of business records for the basis of its affidavit, the referenced 

business record shall be attached if required by applicable state or federal 

law or court rule. This provision does not apply to affidavits, sworn 

statements and Declarations signed by counsel based solely on counsel’s 

personal knowledge (such as affidavits of counsel relating to service of 

process, extensions of time, or fee petitions) that are not based on a review 

of Servicer’s books and records. Separate affidavits, sworn statements or 



 

A-2 

 

Declarations shall be used when one affiant does not have requisite 

personal knowledge of all required information. 

4. Servicer shall have standards for qualifications, training and supervision of 

employees. Servicer shall train and supervise employees who regularly 

prepare or execute affidavits, sworn statements or Declarations. Each such 

employee shall sign a certification that he or she has received the training. 

Servicer shall oversee the training completion to ensure each required 

employee properly and timely completes such training. Servicer shall 

maintain written records confirming that each such employee has 

completed the training and the subjects covered by the training. 

5. Servicer shall review and approve standardized forms of affidavits, 

standardized forms of sworn statements, and standardized forms of 

Declarations prepared by or signed by an employee or officer of Servicer, 

or executed by a third party using a power of attorney on behalf of 

Servicer, to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules, court procedure, 

and the terms of this Agreement (“the Agreement”). 

6. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall accurately identify the 

name of the affiant, the entity of which the affiant is an employee, and the 

affiant’s title. 

7. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations, including their notarization, 

shall fully comply with all applicable state law requirements.   

8. Affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations shall not contain 

information that is false or unsubstantiated. This requirement shall not 

preclude Declarations based on information and belief where so stated.   

9. Servicer shall assess and ensure that it has an adequate number of 

employees and that employees have reasonable time to prepare, verify, and 

execute pleadings, POCs, motions for relief from stay (“MRS”), affidavits, 

sworn statements and Declarations.  

10. Servicer shall not pay volume-based or other incentives to employees or 

third-party providers or trustees that encourage undue haste or lack of due 

diligence over quality. 

11. Affiants shall be individuals, not entities, and affidavits, sworn statements 

and Declarations shall be signed by hand signature of the affiant (except 

for permitted electronic filings). For such documents, except for permitted 

electronic filings, signature stamps and any other means of electronic or 

mechanical signature are prohibited. 

12. At the time of execution, all information required by a form affidavit, 

sworn statement or Declaration shall be complete. 

13. Affiants shall date their signatures on affidavits, sworn statements or 

Declarations. 

14. Servicer shall maintain records that identify all notarizations of Servicer 

documents executed by each notary employed by Servicer. 

15. Servicer shall not file a POC in a bankruptcy proceeding which, when 
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filed, contained materially inaccurate information. In cases in which such a 

POC may have been filed, Servicer shall not rely on such POC and shall 

(a) in active cases, at Servicer’s expense, take appropriate action, 

consistent with state and federal law and court procedure, to substitute such 

POC with an amended POC as promptly as reasonably practicable (and, in 

any event, not more than 30 days) after acquiring actual knowledge of 

such material inaccuracy and provide appropriate written notice to the 

borrower or borrower’s counsel; and (b) in other cases, at Servicer’s 

expense, take appropriate action after acquiring actual knowledge of such 

material inaccuracy. 

16. Servicer shall not rely on an affidavit of indebtedness or similar affidavit, 

sworn statement or Declaration filed in a pending pre-judgment judicial 

foreclosure or bankruptcy proceeding which (a) was required to be based 

on the affiant’s review and personal knowledge of its accuracy but was 

not, (b) was not, when so required, properly notarized, or (c) contained 

materially inaccurate information in order to obtain a judgment of 

foreclosure, order of sale, relief from the automatic stay or other relief in 

bankruptcy. In pending cases in which such affidavits, sworn statements or 

Declarations may have been filed, Servicer shall, at Servicer’s expense, 

take appropriate action, consistent with state and federal law and court 

procedure, to substitute such affidavits with new affidavits and provide 

appropriate written notice to the borrower or borrower’s counsel. 

17. In pending post-judgment, pre-sale cases in judicial foreclosure 

proceedings in which an affidavit or sworn statement was filed which was 

required to be based on the affiant’s review and personal knowledge of its 

accuracy but may not have been, or that may not have, when so required, 

been properly notarized, and such affidavit or sworn statement has not been 

re-filed, Servicer, unless prohibited by state or local law or court rule, will 

provide written notice to borrower at borrower’s address of record or 

borrower’s counsel prior to proceeding with a foreclosure sale or eviction 

proceeding. 

18. In all states, Servicer shall send borrowers a statement setting forth facts 

supporting Servicer’s or holder’s right to foreclose and containing the 

information required in paragraphs I.B.6 (items available upon borrower 

request), I.B.10 (account statement), I.C.2 and I.C.3 (ownership 

statement), and IV.B.13 (loss mitigation statement) herein. Servicer shall 

send this statement to the borrower in one or more communications no 

later than 14 days prior to referral to foreclosure attorney or foreclosure 

trustee. Servicer shall provide the Monitoring Committee with copies of 

proposed form statements for review before implementation. 

B.        Requirements for Accuracy and Verification of Borrower’s Account Information. 

1. Servicer shall maintain procedures to ensure accuracy and timely updating 

of borrower’s account information, including posting of payments and 

imposition of fees. Servicer shall also maintain adequate documentation of 

borrower account information, which may be in either electronic or paper 
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format. 

2. For any loan on which interest is calculated based on a daily accrual or 

daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not a debtor in a 

bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, Servicer shall promptly 

accept and apply all borrower payments, including cure payments (where 

authorized by law or contract), trial modification payments, as well as non-

conforming payments, unless such application conflicts with contract 

provisions or prevailing law. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 

payments shall be posted no more than two business days after receipt at 

the address specified by Servicer and credited as of the date received to 

borrower’s account. Each monthly payment shall be applied in the order 

specified in the loan documents. 

3. For any loan on which interest is not calculated based on a daily accrual or 

daily interest method and as to which any obligor is not a debtor in a 

bankruptcy proceeding without reaffirmation, Servicer shall promptly 

accept and apply all borrower conforming payments, including cure 

payments (where authorized by law or contract), unless such application 

conflicts with contract provisions or prevailing law. Servicer shall continue 

to accept trial modification payments consistent with existing payment 

application practices. Servicer shall ensure that properly identified 

payments shall be posted no more than two business days after receipt at 

the address specified by Servicer. Each monthly payment shall be applied 

in the order specified in the loan documents. 

a. Servicer shall accept and apply at least two non-conforming 

payments from the borrower, in accordance with this 

subparagraph, when the payment, whether on its own or when 

combined with a payment made by another source, comes within 

$50.00 of the scheduled payment, including principal and interest 

and, where applicable, taxes and insurance. 

b. Except for payments described in paragraph I.B.3.a, Servicer may 

post partial payments to a suspense or unapplied funds account, 

provided that Servicer (1) discloses to the borrower the existence of 

and any activity in the suspense or unapplied funds account; (2) 

credits the borrower’s account with a full payment as of the date 

that the funds in the suspense or unapplied funds account are 

sufficient to cover such full payment; and (3) applies payments as 

required by the terms of the loan documents.  Servicer shall not 

take funds from suspense or unapplied funds accounts to pay fees 

until all unpaid contractual interest, principal, and escrow amounts 

are paid and brought current or other final disposition of the loan. 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions above, Servicer shall not be required to 

accept payments which are insufficient to pay the full balance due after the 

borrower has been provided written notice that the contract has been 

declared in default and the remaining payments due under the contract 

have been accelerated. 
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5. Servicer shall provide to borrowers (other than borrowers in bankruptcy or 

borrowers who have been referred to or are going through foreclosure) 

adequate information on monthly billing or other account statements to 

show in clear and conspicuous language: 
a. total amount due; 

b. allocation of payments, including a notation if any payment has 

been posted to a “suspense or unapplied funds account”;  

c. unpaid principal; 

d. fees and charges for the relevant time period; 

e. current escrow balance; and 

f. reasons for any payment changes, including an interest rate or 

escrow account adjustment, no later than 21 days before the new 

amount is due (except in the case of loans as to which interest 

accrues daily or the rate changes more frequently than once every 

30 days); 

Statements as described above are not required to be delivered with respect 

to any fixed rate residential mortgage loan as to which the borrower is 

provided a coupon book. 

6.  In the statements described in paragraphs I.A.18 and III.B.1.a, Servicer 

shall notify borrowers that they may receive, upon written request: 

a. A copy of the borrower’s payment history since the borrower was 

last less than 60 days past due; 

b. A copy of the borrower’s note; 

c. If Servicer has commenced foreclosure or filed a POC, copies of 

any assignments of mortgage or deed of trust required to 

demonstrate the right to foreclose on the borrower’s note under 

applicable state law; and 

d. The name of the investor that holds the borrower’s loan. 

7. Servicer shall adopt enhanced billing dispute procedures, including for 

disputes regarding fees. These procedures will include: 

a. Establishing readily available methods for customers to lodge 

complaints and pose questions, such as by providing toll-free 

numbers and accepting disputes by email; 

b. Assessing and ensuring adequate and competent staff to answer and 

respond to consumer disputes promptly; 

c. Establishing a process for dispute escalation; 

d. Tracking the resolution of complaints; and 

e. Providing a toll-free number on monthly billing statements. 

8. Servicer shall take appropriate action to promptly remediate any 

inaccuracies in borrowers’ account information, including: 
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a. Correcting the account information; 

b. Providing cash refunds or account credits; and 

c. Correcting inaccurate reports to consumer credit reporting 

agencies.  

9. Servicer’s systems to record account information shall be periodically 

independently reviewed for accuracy and completeness by an independent 

reviewer. 

10. As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send the borrower an 

itemized plain language account summary setting forth each of the 

following items, to the extent applicable: 

a. The total amount needed to reinstate or bring the account current, 

and the amount of the principal obligation under the mortgage; 

b. The date through which the borrower’s obligation is paid; 

c. The date of the last full payment; 

d. The current interest rate in effect for the loan (if the rate is effective 

for at least 30 days); 

e. The date on which the interest rate may next reset or adjust (unless 

the rate changes more frequently than once every 30 days); 

f. The amount of any prepayment fee to be charged, if any; 

g. A description of any late payment fees; 

h.         A telephone number or electronic mail address that may be used by 

the obligor to obtain information regarding the mortgage; and 

i. The names, addresses, telephone numbers, and Internet addresses 

of one or more counseling agencies or programs approved by HUD 

(http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hcs.cfm). 

11. In active chapter 13 cases, Servicer shall ensure that: 

a. prompt and proper application of payments is made on account of 

(a) pre-petition arrearage amounts and (b) post-petition payment 

amounts and posting thereof as of the successful consummation of 

the effective confirmed plan; 

b. the debtor is treated as being current so long as the debtor is making 

payments in accordance with the terms of the then-effective 

confirmed plan and any later effective payment change notices; 

and 

c. as of the date of dismissal of a debtor’s bankruptcy case, entry of 

an order granting Servicer relief from the stay, or entry of an order 

granting the debtor a discharge, there is a reconciliation of 

payments received with respect to the debtor’s obligations during 

the case and appropriately update the Servicer’s systems of record. 

In connection with such reconciliation, Servicer shall reflect the 

waiver of any fee, expense or charge pursuant to paragraphs 

III.B.1.c.i or III.B.1.d. 

http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/sfh/hcc/hcs.cfm
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C.        Documentation of Note, Holder Status and Chain of Assignment. 

1. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that Servicer or the 

foreclosing entity has a documented enforceable interest in the promissory 

note and mortgage (or deed of trust) under applicable state law, or is 

otherwise a proper party to the foreclosure action. 

2. Servicer shall include a statement in a pleading, affidavit of indebtedness 

or similar affidavits in court foreclosure proceedings setting forth the basis 

for asserting that the foreclosing party has the right to foreclose. 

3. Servicer shall set forth the information establishing the party’s right to 

foreclose as set forth in I.C.2 in a communication to be sent to the 

borrower as indicated in I.A.18. 

4. If the original note is lost or otherwise unavailable, Servicer shall comply 

with applicable law in an attempt to establish ownership of the note and the 

right to enforcement. Servicer shall ensure good faith efforts to obtain or 

locate a note lost while in the possession of Servicer or Servicer’s agent 

and shall ensure that Servicer and Servicer’s agents who are expected to 

have possession of notes or assignments of mortgage on behalf of Servicer 

adopt procedures that are designed to provide assurance that the Servicer 

or Servicer’s agent would locate a note or assignment of mortgage if it is 

in the possession or control of the Servicer or Servicer’s agent, as the case 

may be. In the event that Servicer prepares or causes to be prepared a lost 

note or lost assignment affidavit with respect to an original note or 

assignment lost while in Servicer’s control, Servicer shall use good faith 

efforts to obtain or locate the note or assignment in accordance with its 

procedures. In the affidavit, sworn statement or other filing documenting 

the lost note or assignment, Servicer shall recite that Servicer has made a 

good faith effort in accordance with its procedures for locating the lost 

note or assignment. 

5. Servicer shall not intentionally destroy or dispose of original notes that are 

still in force. 

6. Servicer shall ensure that mortgage assignments executed by or on behalf 

of Servicer are executed with appropriate legal authority, accurately 

reflective of the completed transaction and properly acknowledged. 

D.        Bankruptcy Documents. 

1.       Proofs of Claim (“POC”). Servicer shall ensure that POCs filed on behalf 

of Servicer are documented in accordance with the United States 

Bankruptcy Code, the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, and any 

applicable local rule or order (“bankruptcy law”). Unless not permitted by 

statute or rule, Servicer shall ensure that each POC is documented by 

attaching: 

a. The original or a duplicate of the note, including all indorsements; 

a copy of any mortgage or deed of trust securing the notes 

(including, if applicable, evidence of recordation in the applicable 

land records); and copies of any assignments of mortgage or deed 
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of trust required to demonstrate the right to foreclose on the 

borrower’s note under applicable state law (collectively, “Loan 

Documents”). If the note has been lost or destroyed, a lost note 

affidavit shall be submitted. 

b. If, in addition to its principal amount, a claim includes interest, 

fees, expenses, or other charges incurred before the petition was 

filed, an itemized statement of the interest, fees, expenses, or 

charges shall be filed with the POC (including any expenses or 

charges based on an escrow analysis as of the date of filing) at least 

in the detail specified in the current draft of Official Form B 10 

(effective December 2011) (“Official Form B 10”) 

Attachment A. 

c. A statement of the amount necessary to cure any default as of the 

date of the petition shall be filed with the POC. 

d. If a security interest is claimed in property that is the debtor’s 

principal residence, the attachment prescribed by the appropriate 

Official Form shall be filed with the POC. 

e. Servicer shall include a statement in a POC setting forth the basis 

for asserting that the applicable party has the right to foreclose. 

f. The POC shall be signed (either by hand or by appropriate 

electronic signature) by the responsible person under penalty of 

perjury after reasonable investigation, stating that the information 

set forth in the POC is true and correct to the best of such 

responsible person’s knowledge, information, and reasonable 

belief, and clearly identify the responsible person’s employer and 

position or title with the employer. 

2.         Motions for Relief from Stay (“MRS”). Unless not permitted by 

bankruptcy law, Servicer shall ensure that each MRS in a chapter 13 

proceeding is documented by attaching: 

a. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, a copy of the 

Loan Documents; if such documents were previously submitted 

with a POC, a statement to that effect. If the promissory note has 

been lost or destroyed, a lost note affidavit shall be submitted; 

b. To the extent not previously submitted with a POC, Servicer shall 

include a statement in an MRS setting forth the basis for asserting 

that the applicable party has the right to foreclose. 

c. An affidavit, sworn statement or Declaration made by Servicer or 

based on information provided by Servicer (“MRS affidavit” 

(which term includes, without limitation, any facts provided by 

Servicer that are included in any attachment and submitted to 

establish the truth of such facts) setting forth: 

i. whether there has been a default in paying pre-petition 

arrearage or post-petition amounts (an “MRS 

delinquency”); 
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ii.       if there has been such a default, (a) the unpaid principal 

balance, (b) a description of any default with respect to the 

pre-petition arrearage, (c) a description of any default with 

respect to the post-petition amount (including, if applicable, 

any escrow shortage), (d) the amount of the pre-petition 

arrearage (if applicable), (e) the post-petition payment 

amount, (f) for the period since the date of the first post-

petition or pre-petition default that is continuing and has 

not been cured, the date and amount of each payment made 

(including escrow payments) and the application of each 

such payment, and (g) the amount, date and description of 

each fee or charge applied to such pre-petition amount or 

post-petition amount since the later of the date of the 

petition or the preceding statement pursuant to paragraph 

III.B.1.a; and  

iii.  all amounts claimed, including a statement of the amount 

necessary to cure any default on or about the date of the 

MRS. 

d. All other attachments prescribed by statute, rule, or law. 

e. Servicer shall ensure that any MRS discloses the terms of any trial 

period or permanent loan modification plan pending at the time of 

filing of a MRS or whether the debtor is being evaluated for a loss 

mitigation option. 

E.        Quality Assurance Systems Review. 

1. Servicer shall conduct regular reviews, not less than quarterly, of a 

statistically valid sample of affidavits, sworn statements, Declarations 

filed by or on behalf of Servicer in judicial foreclosures or bankruptcy 

proceedings and notices of default, notices of sale and similar notices 

submitted in non-judicial foreclosures to ensure that the documents are 

accurate and comply with prevailing law and this Agreement. 

a. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements in 

affidavits, sworn statements, Declarations and documents used to 

foreclose in non-judicial foreclosures, the account summary 

described in paragraph I.B.10, the ownership statement described 

in paragraph I.C.2, and the loss mitigation statement described in 

paragraph IV.B.13 by reviewing the underlying information. 

Servicer shall take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are 

identified, including appropriate remediation in individual cases. 

b. The reviews shall also verify the accuracy of the statements in 

affidavits, sworn statements and Declarations submitted in 

bankruptcy proceedings. Servicer shall take appropriate remedial 

steps if deficiencies are identified, including appropriate 

remediation in individual cases. 

2. The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by Servicer 
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employees who are separate and independent of employees who prepare 

foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, sworn statements, or other foreclosure 

or bankruptcy documents. 

3. Servicer shall conduct regular pre-filing reviews of a statistically valid 

sample of POCs to ensure that the POCs are accurate and comply with 

prevailing law and this Agreement. The reviews shall also verify the 

accuracy of the statements in POCs. Servicer shall take appropriate 

remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, including appropriate 

remediation in individual cases. The pre-filing review shall be conducted 

by Servicer employees who are separate and independent of the persons 

who prepared the applicable POCs. 

4. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its internal 

controls and procedures with respect to its obligations under this 

Agreement, and implement appropriate procedures to address deficiencies. 

II.        THIRD-PARTY PROVIDER OVERSIGHT. 

A.        Oversight Duties Applicable to All Third-Party Providers. 

Servicer shall adopt policies and processes to oversee and manage foreclosure 

firms, law firms, foreclosure trustees, subservicers and other agents, independent 

contractors, entities and third parties (including subsidiaries and affiliates) 

retained by or on behalf of Servicer that provide foreclosure, bankruptcy or 

mortgage servicing activities (including loss mitigation) (collectively, such 

activities are “Servicing Activities” and such providers are “Third-Party 

Providers”), including: 

1. Servicer shall perform appropriate due diligence of Third-Party Providers’ 

qualifications, expertise, capacity, reputation, complaints, information 

security, document custody practices, business continuity, and financial 

viability. 

2. Servicer shall amend agreements, engagement letters, or oversight policies, 

or enter into new agreements or engagement letters, with Third-Party 

Providers to require them to comply with Servicer’s applicable policies 

and procedures (which will incorporate any applicable aspects of this 

Agreement) and applicable state and federal laws and rules. 

3. Servicer shall ensure that agreements, contracts or oversight policies 

provide for adequate oversight, including measures to enforce Third-Party 

Provider contractual obligations, and to ensure timely action with respect 

to Third-Party Provider performance failures. 

4. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 

foreclosure trustees have appropriate access to information from 

Servicer’s books and records necessary to perform their duties in preparing 

pleadings and other documents submitted in foreclosure and bankruptcy 

proceedings. 

5. Servicer shall ensure that all information provided by or on behalf of 

Servicer to Third-Party Providers in connection with providing Servicing 

Activities is accurate and complete. 
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6. Servicer shall conduct periodic reviews of Third-Party Providers. These 

reviews shall include: 

a.         A review of a sample of the foreclosure and bankruptcy documents 

prepared by the Third-Party Provider, to provide for compliance 

with applicable state and federal law and this Agreement in 

connection with the preparation of the documents, and the accuracy 

of the facts contained therein; 

b. A review of the fees and costs assessed by the Third-Party Provider 

to provide that only fees and costs that are lawful, reasonable and 

actually incurred are charged to borrowers and that no portion of 

any fees or charges incurred by any Third-Party Provider for 

technology usage, connectivity, or electronic invoice submission is 

charged as a cost to the borrower; 

c. A review of the Third-Party Provider’s processes to provide for 

compliance with the Servicer’s policies and procedures concerning 

Servicing Activities; 

d. A review of the security of original loan documents maintained by 

the Third-Party Provider; 

e. A requirement that the Third-Party Provider disclose to the Servicer 

any imposition of sanctions or professional disciplinary action 

taken against them for misconduct related to performance of 

Servicing Activities; and 

f. An assessment of whether bankruptcy attorneys comply with the 

best practice of determining whether a borrower has made a 

payment curing any MRS delinquency within two business days of 

the scheduled hearing date of the related MRS. 

The quality assurance steps set forth above shall be conducted by Servicer 

employees who are separate and independent of employees who prepare 

foreclosure or bankruptcy affidavits, sworn documents, Declarations or other 

foreclosure or bankruptcy documents. 

7. Servicer shall take appropriate remedial steps if problems are identified 

through this review or otherwise, including, when appropriate, terminating 

its relationship with the Third-Party Provider. 

8. Servicer shall adopt processes for reviewing and appropriately addressing 

customer complaints it receives about Third-Party Provider services. 

9. Servicer shall regularly review and assess the adequacy of its internal 

controls and procedures with respect to its obligations under this Section, 

and take appropriate remedial steps if deficiencies are identified, including 

appropriate remediation in individual cases 

B.        Additional Oversight of Activities by Third-Party Providers. 

1. Servicer shall require a certification process for law firms (and 

recertification of existing law firm providers) that provide residential 

mortgage foreclosure and bankruptcy services for Servicer, on a periodic 
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basis, as qualified to serve as a Third-Party Provider to Servicer, including 

that attorneys have the experience and competence necessary to perform 

the services requested. 

2. Servicer shall ensure that attorneys are licensed to practice in the relevant 

jurisdiction, have the experience and competence necessary to perform the 

services requested, and that their services comply with applicable rules, 

regulations and applicable law (including state law prohibitions on fee 

splitting). 

3. Servicer shall ensure that foreclosure and bankruptcy counsel and 

foreclosure trustees have an appropriate Servicer contact to assist in legal 

proceedings and to facilitate loss mitigation questions on behalf of the 

borrower. 

4. Servicer shall adopt policies requiring Third-Party Providers to maintain 

records that identify all notarizations of Servicer documents executed by 

each notary employed by the Third-Party Provider. 

III.      BANKRUPTCY. 

A. General. 

1. The provisions, conditions and obligations imposed herein are intended to 

be interpreted in accordance with applicable federal, state and local laws, 

rules and regulations. Nothing herein shall require a Servicer to do 

anything inconsistent with applicable state or federal law, including the 

applicable bankruptcy law or a court order in a bankruptcy case. 

2. Servicer shall ensure that employees who are regularly engaged in 

servicing mortgage loans as to which the borrower or mortgagor is in 

bankruptcy receive training specifically addressing bankruptcy issues. 

B. Chapter 13 Cases. 

1.         In any chapter 13 case, Servicer shall ensure that: 

a.         So long as the debtor is in a chapter 13 case, within 180 days after 

the date on which the fees, expenses, or charges are incurred, file 

and serve on the debtor, debtor’s counsel, and the trustee a notice in 

a form consistent with Official Form B10 (Supplement 2) 

itemizing fees, expenses, or charges (1) that were incurred in 

connection with the claim after the bankruptcy case was filed, (2) 

that the holder asserts are recoverable against the debtor or against 

the debtor’s principal residence, and (3) that the holder intends to 

collect from the debtor. 

b.  Servicer replies within time periods established under bankruptcy 

law to any notice that the debtor has completed all payments under 

the plan or otherwise paid in full the amount required to cure any 

pre-petition default. 

c.  If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 

paragraph III.B.1.a with respect to a fee, expense or charge within 

180 days of the incurrence of such fee, expense, or charge, then, 
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i.  Except for independent charges (“Independent charge”) 

paid by the Servicer that is either (A) specifically 

authorized by the borrower or (B) consists of amounts 

advanced by Servicer in respect of taxes, homeowners 

association fees, liens or insurance, such fee, expense or 

charge shall be deemed waived and may not be collected 

from the borrower. 

ii.        In the case of an Independent charge, the court may, after 

notice and hearing, take either or both of the following 

actions: 

(a) preclude the holder from presenting the omitted 

information, in any form, as evidence in any 

contested matter or adversary proceeding in the 

case, unless the court determines that the failure was 

substantially justified or is harmless; or 

(b) award other appropriate relief, including reasonable 

expenses and attorney’s fees caused by the failure. 

d. If the Servicer fails to provide information as required by 

paragraphs III.B.1.a or III.B.1.b and bankruptcy law with respect 

to a fee, expense or charge (other than an Independent Charge) 

incurred more than 45 days before the date of the reply referred to 

in paragraph III.B.1.b, then such fee, expense or charge shall be 

deemed waived and may not be collected from the borrower. 

e. Servicer shall file and serve on the debtor, debtor’s counsel, and the 

trustee a notice in a form consistent with the current draft of 

Official Form B10 (Supplement 1) (effective December 2011) of 

any change in the payment amount, including any change that 

results from an interest rate or escrow account adjustment, no later 

than 21 days before a payment in the new amount is due. Servicer 

shall waive and not collect any late charge or other fees imposed 

solely as a result of the failure of the borrower timely to make a 

payment attributable to the failure of Servicer to give such notice 

timely. 

IV.   LOSS MITIGATION. 

These requirements are intended to apply to both government-sponsored and proprietary 

loss mitigation programs and shall apply to subservicers performing loss mitigation 

services on Servicer’s behalf. 

A.       Loss Mitigation Requirements. 

1. Servicer shall be required to notify potentially eligible borrowers of 

currently available loss mitigation options prior to foreclosure referral. 

Upon the timely receipt of a complete loan modification application, 

Servicer shall evaluate borrowers for all available loan modification 

options for which they are eligible prior to referring a borrower to 

foreclosure and shall facilitate the submission and review of loss 
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mitigation applications. The foregoing notwithstanding, Servicer shall 

have no obligation to solicit borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 

2. Servicer shall offer and facilitate loan modifications for borrowers rather 

than initiate foreclosure when such loan modifications for which they are 

eligible are net present value (NPV) positive and meet other investor, 

guarantor, insurer and program requirements. 

3. Servicer shall allow borrowers enrolled in a trial period plan under prior 

HAMP guidelines (where borrowers were not pre-qualified) and who made 

all required trial period payments, but were later denied a permanent 

modification, the opportunity to reapply for a HAMP or proprietary loan 

modification using current financial information. 

4. Servicer shall promptly send a final modification agreement to borrowers 

who have enrolled in a trial period plan under current HAMP guidelines 

(or fully underwritten proprietary modification programs with a trial 

payment period) and who have made the required number of timely trial 

period payments, where the modification is underwritten prior to the trial 

period and has received any necessary investor, guarantor or insurer 

approvals. The borrower shall then be converted by Servicer to a 

permanent modification upon execution of the final modification 

documents, consistent with applicable program guidelines, absent evidence 

of fraud. 

B.        Dual Track Restricted. 

1. If a borrower has not already been referred to foreclosure, Servicer shall 

not refer an eligible borrower’s account to foreclosure while the 

borrower’s complete application for any loan modification program is 

pending if Servicer received (a) a complete loan modification application 

no later than day 120 of delinquency, or (b) a substantially complete loan 

modification application (missing only any required documentation of 

hardship) no later than day 120 of delinquency and Servicer receives any 

required hardship documentation no later than day 130 of delinquency. 

Servicer shall not make a referral to foreclosure of an eligible borrower 

who so provided an application until: 

a. Servicer determines (after the automatic review in paragraph 

IV.G.1) that the borrower is not eligible for a loan modification, or 

b. If borrower does not accept an offered foreclosure prevention 

alternative within 14 days of the evaluation notice, the earlier of (i) 

such 14 days, and (ii) borrower’s decline of the foreclosure 

prevention offer. 

2.  If borrower accepts the loan modification resulting from Servicer’s 

evaluation of the complete loan modification application referred to in 

paragraph IV.B.1 (verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses) or by 

submitting the first trial modification payment) within 14 days of 

Servicer’s offer of a loan modification, then the Servicer shall delay 

referral to foreclosure until (a) if the Servicer fails timely to receive the 
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first trial period payment, the last day for timely receiving the first trial 

period payment, and (b) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period 

payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 

3.  If the loan modification requested by a borrower as described in paragraph 

IV.B.1 is denied, except when otherwise required by federal or state law or 

investor directives, if borrower is entitled to an appeal under paragraph 

IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a foreclosure sale until the later of (if 

applicable): 

a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if applicable) 

(i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days after the letter 

denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends borrower a letter 

granting his or her appeal and offering a loan modification, 14 days 

after the date of such offer, (iii) if the borrower timely accepts the 

loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 

responses), or by making the first trial period payment), after the 

Servicer fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 

(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, 

after the borrower breaches the trial plan.  

4.   If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the Servicer 

receives a complete application from the borrower within 30 days after the 

Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter, then while such loan 

modification application is pending, Servicer shall not move for 

foreclosure judgment or order of sale (or, if a motion has already been 

filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid a ruling on such motion), or seek 

a foreclosure sale. If Servicer offers the borrower a loan modification, 

Servicer shall not move for judgment or order of sale, (or, if a motion has 

already been filed, shall take reasonable steps to avoid a ruling on such 

motion), or seek a foreclosure sale until the earlier of (a) 14 days after the 

date of the related offer of a loan modification, and (b) the date the 

borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower accepts the 

loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses) 

or by submitting the first trial modification payment) within 14 days after 

the date of the related offer of loan modification, Servicer shall continue 

this delay until the later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer 

timely to receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer 

timely receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches 

the trial plan. 

5.  If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in paragraph 

IV.B.4 is denied, then, except when otherwise required by federal or state 

law or investor directives, if borrower is entitled to an appeal under 

paragraph IV.G.3, Servicer will not proceed to a foreclosure sale until the 

later of (if applicable): 

a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 
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b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if applicable) 

(i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days after the letter 

denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends borrower a letter 

granting his or her appeal and offering a loan modification, 14 days 

after the date of such offer, (iii) if the borrower timely accepts the 

loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 

responses), or by making the first trial period payment), after the 

failure of the Servicer timely to receive the first trial period 

payment, and (iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial 

period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 

6.  If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, Servicer 

receives a complete loan modification application more than 30 days after 

the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter, but more than 37 days 

before a foreclosure sale is scheduled, then while such loan modification 

application is pending, Servicer shall not proceed with the foreclosure 

sale. If Servicer offers a loan modification, then Servicer shall delay the 

foreclosure sale until the earlier of (i) 14 days after the date of the related 

offer of loan modification, and (ii) the date the borrower declines the loan 

modification offer. If the borrower accepts the loan modification offer 

(verbally, in writing (including e-mail responses) or by submitting the first 

trial modification payment) within 14 days, Servicer shall delay the 

foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the 

Servicer timely to receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the 

Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower 

breaches the trial plan. 

7. If the loan modification requested by a borrower described in paragraph 

IV.B.6 is denied and it is reasonable to believe that more than 90 days 

remains until a scheduled foreclosure date or the first date on which a sale 

could reasonably be expected to be scheduled and occur, then, except when 

otherwise required by federal or state law or investor directives, if borrower 

is entitled to an appeal under paragraph IV.G.3.a, Servicer will not proceed 

to a foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable): 

a. expiration of the 30-day appeal period; and 

b. if the borrower appeals the denial, until the later of (if applicable) 

(i) if Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, 15 days after the letter 

denying the appeal, (ii) if the Servicer sends borrower a letter 

granting his or her appeal and offering a loan modification, 14 days 

after the date of such offer, (iii) if the borrower timely accepts the 

loan modification offer (verbally, in writing (including e-mail 

responses), or by making the first trial period payment), after the 

Servicer fails timely to receive the first trial period payment, and 

(iv) if the Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, 

after the borrower breaches the trial plan. 

8. If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, Servicer 

receives a complete loan modification application more than 30 days after 
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the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter, but within 37 to 15 

days before a foreclosure sale is scheduled, then Servicer shall conduct an 

expedited review of the borrower and, if the borrower is extended a loan 

modification offer, Servicer shall postpone any foreclosure sale until the 

earlier of (a) 14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) 

the date the borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower 

timely accepts the loan modification offer (either in writing or by 

submitting the first trial modification payment), Servicer shall delay the 

foreclosure sale until the later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the 

Servicer timely to receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the 

Servicer timely receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower 

breaches the trial plan. 

9.  If, after an eligible borrower has been referred to foreclosure, the Servicer 

receives a complete loan modification application more than 30 days after 

the Post Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter and less than 15 days 

before a scheduled foreclosure sale, Servicer must notify the borrower 

before the foreclosure sale date as to Servicer’s determination (if its 

review was completed) or inability to complete its review of the loan 

modification application. If Servicer makes a loan modification offer to 

the borrower, then Servicer shall postpone any sale until the earlier of (a) 

14 days after the date of the related evaluation notice, and (b) the date the 

borrower declines the loan modification offer. If the borrower timely 

accepts a loan modification offer (either in writing or by submitting the 

first trial modification payment), Servicer shall delay the foreclosure sale 

until the later of (if applicable) (A) the failure by the Servicer timely to 

receive the first trial period payment, and (B) if the Servicer timely 

receives the first trial period payment, after the borrower breaches the trial 

plan. 

10.  For purposes of this section IV.B, Servicer shall not be responsible for 

failing to obtain a delay in a ruling on a judgment or failing to delay a 

foreclosure sale if Servicer made a request for such delay, pursuant to any 

state or local law, court rule or customary practice, and such request was 

not approved. 

11.  Servicer shall not move to judgment or order of sale or proceed with a 

foreclosure sale under any of the following circumstances: 

a. The borrower is in compliance with the terms of a trial loan 

modification, forbearance, or repayment plan; or 

b. A short sale or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure has been approved by all 

parties (including, for example, first lien investor, junior lien holder 

and mortgage insurer, as applicable), and proof of funds or 

financing has been provided to Servicer. 

12.  If a foreclosure or trustee’s sale is continued (rather than cancelled) to 

provide time to evaluate loss mitigation options, Servicer shall promptly 

notify borrower in writing of the new date of sale (without delaying any 

related foreclosure sale). 
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13.  As indicated in paragraph I.A.18, Servicer shall send a statement to the 

borrower outlining loss mitigation efforts undertaken with respect to the 

borrower prior to foreclosure referral. If no loss mitigation efforts were 

offered or undertaken, Servicer shall state whether it contacted or 

attempted to contact the borrower and, if applicable, why the borrower was 

ineligible for a loan modification or other loss mitigation options. 

14.  Servicer shall ensure timely and accurate communication of or access to 

relevant loss mitigation status and changes in status to its foreclosure 

attorneys, bankruptcy attorneys and foreclosure trustees and, where 

applicable, to court-mandated mediators. 

C.         Single Point of Contact. 

1. Servicer shall establish an easily accessible and reliable single point of 

contact (“SPOC”) for each potentially-eligible first lien mortgage 

borrower so that the borrower has access to an employee of Servicer to 

obtain information throughout the loss mitigation, loan modification and 

foreclosure processes. 

2. Servicer shall initially identify the SPOC to the borrower promptly after a 

potentially-eligible borrower requests loss mitigation assistance. Servicer 

shall provide one or more direct means of communication with the SPOC 

on loss mitigation-related correspondence with the borrower. Servicer 

shall promptly provide updated contact information to the borrower if the 

designated SPOC is reassigned, no longer employed by Servicer, or 

otherwise not able to act as the primary point of contact. 

a.        Servicer shall ensure that debtors in bankruptcy are assigned to a 

SPOC specially trained in bankruptcy issues. 

3. The SPOC shall have primary responsibility for: 

a. Communicating the options available to the borrower, the actions 

the borrower must take to be considered for these options and the 

status of Servicer’s evaluation of the borrower for these options; 

b. Coordinating receipt of all documents associated with loan 

modification or loss mitigation activities; 

c. Being knowledgeable about the borrower’s situation and current 

status in the delinquency/imminent default resolution process; and         

d. Ensuring that a borrower who is not eligible for MHA programs is 

considered for proprietary or other investor loss mitigation options. 

4. The SPOC shall, at a minimum, provide the following services to 

borrowers: 

a. Contact borrower and introduce himself/herself as the borrower’s 

SPOC; 

b. Explain programs for which the borrower is eligible; 

c. Explain the requirements of the programs for which the borrower is 

eligible; 
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d. Explain program documentation requirements; 

e. Provide basic information about the status of borrower’s account, 

including pending loan modification applications, other loss 

mitigation alternatives, and foreclosure activity; 

f. Notify borrower of missing documents and provide an address or 

electronic means for submission of documents by borrower in order 

to complete the loan modification application; 

g. Communicate Servicer’s decision regarding loan modification 

applications and other loss mitigation alternatives to borrower in 

writing; 

h.        Assist the borrower in pursuing alternative non-foreclosure options 

upon denial of a loan modification; 

i. If a loan modification is approved, call borrower to explain the 

program; 

j. Provide information regarding credit counseling where necessary; 

k.         Help to clear for borrower any internal processing requirements; 

and 

l. Have access to individuals with the ability to stop foreclosure 

proceedings when necessary to comply with the MHA Program or 

this Agreement. 

 

5. The SPOC shall remain assigned to borrower’s account and available to 

borrower until such time as Servicer determines in good faith that all loss 

mitigation options have been exhausted, borrower’s account becomes 

current or, in the case of a borrower in bankruptcy, the borrower has 

exhausted all loss mitigation options for which the borrower is potentially 

eligible and has applied 

6. Servicer shall ensure that a SPOC can refer and transfer a borrower to an 

appropriate supervisor upon request of the borrower. 

7. Servicer shall ensure that relevant records relating to borrower’s account 

are promptly available to the borrower’s SPOC, so that the SPOC can 

timely, adequately and accurately inform the borrower of the current status 

of loss mitigation, loan modification, and foreclosure activities. 

8. Servicer shall designate one or more management level employees to be 

the primary contact for the Attorneys General, state financial regulators, 

the Executive Office of U.S. Trustee, each regional office of the U.S. 

Trustee, and federal regulators for communication regarding complaints 

and inquiries from individual borrowers who are in default and/or have 

applied for loan modifications. Servicer shall provide a written 

acknowledgment to all such inquiries within 10 business days. Servicer 

shall provide a substantive written response to all such inquiries within 30 

days. Servicer shall provide relevant loan information to borrower and to 

Attorneys General, state financial regulators, federal regulators, the 

Executive Office of the U.S. Trustee, and each U.S. Trustee upon written 
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request and if properly authorized. A written complaint filed by a 

borrower and forwarded by a state Attorney General or financial 

regulatory agency to Servicer shall be deemed to have proper 

authorization. 

9. Servicer shall establish and make available to Chapter 13 trustees a toll-

free number staffed by persons trained in bankruptcy to respond to 

inquiries from Chapter 13 trustees. 

D.     Loss Mitigation Communications with Borrowers. 

1.        Servicer shall commence outreach efforts to communicate loss mitigation 

options for first lien mortgage loans to all potentially eligible delinquent 

borrowers (other than those in bankruptcy) beginning on timelines that are 

in accordance with HAMP borrower solicitation guidelines set forth in the 

MHA Handbook version 3.2, Chapter II, Section 2.2, regardless of 

whether the borrower is eligible for a HAMP modification. Servicer shall 

provide borrowers with notices that include contact information for 

national or state foreclosure assistance hotlines and state housing 

counseling resources, as appropriate. The use by Servicer of nothing more 

than prerecorded automatic messages in loss mitigation communications 

with borrowers shall not be sufficient in those instances in which it fails to 

result in contact between the borrower and one of Servicer’s loss 

mitigation specialists. Servicer shall conduct affirmative outreach efforts 

to inform delinquent second lien borrowers (other than those in 

bankruptcy about the availability of payment reduction options. The 

foregoing notwithstanding, Servicer shall have no obligation to solicit 

borrowers who are in bankruptcy. 

2. Servicer shall disclose and provide accurate information to borrowers 

relating to the qualification process and eligibility factors for loss 

mitigation programs. 

3. Servicer shall communicate, at the written request of the borrower, with the 

borrower’s authorized representatives, including housing counselors. 

Servicer shall communicate with representatives from state Attorneys 

General and financial regulatory agencies acting upon a written complaint 

filed by the borrower and forwarded by the state Attorney General or 

financial regulatory agency to Servicer. When responding to the borrower 

regarding such complaint, Servicer shall include the applicable state 

Attorney General on all correspondence with the borrower regarding such 

complaint. 

4. Servicer shall cease all collection efforts while the borrower (i) is making 

timely payments under a trial loan modification or (ii) has submitted a 

complete loan modification application, and a modification decision is 

pending. Notwithstanding the above, Servicer reserves the right to contact 

a borrower to gather required loss mitigation documentation or to assist a 

borrower with performance under a trial loan modification plan. 

5. Servicer shall consider partnering with third parties, including national 

chain retailers, and shall consider the use of select bank branches affiliated 
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with Servicer, to set up programs to allow borrowers to copy, fax, scan, 

transmit by overnight delivery, or mail or email documents to Servicer free 

of charge. 

6. Within five business days after referral to foreclosure, the Servicer 

(including any attorney (or trustee) conducting foreclosure proceedings at 

the direction of the Servicer) shall send a written communication (“Post 

Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter”) to the borrower that includes 

clear language that: 

a. The Servicer may have sent to the borrower one or more borrower 

solicitation communications; 

b. The borrower can still be evaluated for alternatives to foreclosure 

even if he or she had previously shown no interest; 

c. The borrower should contact the Servicer to obtain a loss mitigation 

application package; 

d. The borrower must submit a loan modification application to the 

Servicer to request consideration for available foreclosure 

prevention alternatives; 

e. Provides the Servicer’s contact information for submitting a 

complete loan modification application, including the Servicer’s 

toll-free number; and 

f. Unless the form of letter is otherwise specified by investor directive 

or state law or the borrower is not eligible for an appeal under 

paragraph IV.G.3.a, states that if the borrower is contemplating or 

has pending an appeal of an earlier denial of a loan modification 

application, that he or she may submit a loan modification 

application in lieu of his or her appeal within 30 days after the Post 

Referral to Foreclosure Solicitation Letter. 

E. Development of Loan Portals. 

1. Servicer shall develop or contract with a third-party vendor to develop an 

online portal linked to Servicer’s primary servicing system where 

borrowers can check, at no cost, the status of their first lien loan 

modifications. 

2. Servicer shall design portals that may, among other things: 

a. Enable borrowers to submit documents electronically; 

b. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; 

c. Provide information and eligibility factors for proprietary loan 

modification and other loss mitigation programs; and 

d. Permit Servicer to communicate with borrowers to satisfy any 

written communications required to be provided by Servicer, if 

borrowers submit documents electronically. 

3. Servicer shall participate in the development and implementation of a 

neutral, nationwide loan portal system linked to Servicer’s primary 



 

A-22 

 

servicing system, such as Hope LoanPort to enhance communications with 

housing counselors, including using the technology used for the Borrower 

Portal, and containing similar features to the Borrower Portal. 

4. Servicer shall update the status of each pending loan modification on these 

portals at least every 10 business days and ensure that each portal is 

updated on such a schedule as to maintain consistency. 

F. Loan Modification Timelines. 

1.         Servicer shall provide written acknowledgement of the receipt of 

documentation submitted by the borrower in connection with a first lien 

loan modification application within 3 business days. In its initial 

acknowledgment, Servicer shall briefly describe the loan modification 

process and identify deadlines and expiration dates for submitted 

documents. 

2. Servicer shall notify borrower of any known deficiency in borrower’s 

initial submission of information, no later than 5 business days after 

receipt, including any missing information or documentation required for 

the loan modification to be considered complete. 

3. Subject to section IV.B, Servicer shall afford borrower 30 days from the 

date of Servicer’s notification of any missing information or 

documentation to supplement borrower’s submission of information prior 

to making a determination on whether or not to grant an initial loan 

modification. 

4. Servicer shall review the complete first lien loan modification application 

submitted by borrower and shall determine the disposition of borrower’s 

trial or preliminary loan modification request no later than 30 days after 

receipt of the complete loan modification application, absent compelling 

circumstances beyond Servicer’s control. 

5. Servicer shall implement processes to ensure that second lien loan 

modification requests are evaluated on a timely basis. When a borrower 

qualifies for a second lien loan modification after a first lien loan 

modification in accordance with Section 2.c.i of the General Framework 

for Consumer Relief Provisions, the Servicer of the second lien loan shall 

(absent compelling circumstances beyond Servicer’s control) send loan 

modification documents to borrower no later than 45 days after the 

Servicer receives official notification of the successful completion of the 

related first lien loan modification and the essential terms. 

6. For all proprietary first lien loan modification programs, Servicer shall 

allow properly submitted borrower financials to be used for 90 days from 

the date the documents are received, unless Servicer learns that there has 

been a material change in circumstances or unless investor requirements 

mandate a shorter time frame. 

7. Servicer shall notify borrowers of the final denial of any first lien loan 

modification request within 10 business days of the denial decision. The 

notification shall be in the form of the non-approval notice required in 
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paragraph IV.G.1 below. 

G.       Independent Evaluation of First Lien Loan Modification Denials. 

1.        Except when evaluated as provided in paragraphs IV.B.8 or  

IV.B.9, Servicer’s initial denial of an eligible borrower’s request for first lien loan 

modification following the submission of complete loan modification 

application shall be subject to an independent evaluation. Such evaluation 

shall be performed by an independent entity or a different employee who 

has not been involved with the particular loan modification. 

2.  Denial Notice. 

a. When a first lien loan modification is denied after independent 

review, Servicer shall send a written non-approval notice to the 

borrower identifying the reasons for denial and the factual 

information considered. The notice shall inform the borrower that 

he or she has 30 days from the date of the denial letter declination 

to provide evidence that the eligibility determination was in error. 

b. If the first lien modification is denied because disallowed by 

investor, Servicer shall disclose in the written non-approval notice 

the name of the investor and summarize the reasons for investor 

denial. 

c. For those cases where a first lien loan modification denial is the 

result of an NPV calculation, Servicer shall provide in the written 

non-approval notice the monthly gross income and property value 

used in the calculation. 

3. Appeal Process. 

a. After the automatic review in paragraph IV.G.1 has been 

completed and Servicer has issued the written non-approval notice, 

in the circumstances described in the first sentences 

of paragraphs IV.B.3, IV.B.5 or IV.B.7, except when otherwise 

required by federal or state law or investor directives, borrowers 

shall have 30 days to request an appeal and obtain an independent 

review of the first lien loan modification denial in accordance with 

the terms of this Agreement. Servicer shall ensure that the 

borrower has 30 days from the date of the written non-approval 

notice to provide information as to why Servicer’s determination of 

eligibility for a loan modification was in error, unless the reason 

for non-approval is (1) ineligible mortgage, (2) ineligible property, 

(3) offer not accepted by borrower or request withdrawn, or (4) the 

loan was previously modified. 

b. For those cases in which the first lien loan modification denial is 

the result of an NPV calculation, if a borrower disagrees with the 

property value used by Servicer in the NPV test, the borrower can 

request that a full appraisal be conducted of the property by an 

independent licensed appraiser (at borrower expense) consistent 

with HAMP directive 10-15. Servicer shall comply with the 
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process set forth in HAMP directive 10-15, including using such 

value in the NPV calculation. 

c. Servicer shall review the information submitted by borrower and 

use its best efforts to communicate the disposition of borrower’s 

appeal to borrower no later than 30 days after receipt of the 

information. 

d. If Servicer denies borrower’s appeal, Servicer’s appeal 

denial letter shall include a description of other available 

loss mitigation, including short sales and deeds in lieu of 

foreclosure. 

H.       General Loss Mitigation Requirements. 

1. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and systems for tracking 

borrower documents and information that are relevant to foreclosure, loss 

mitigation, and other Servicer operations. Servicer shall make periodic 

assessments to ensure that its staffing and systems are adequate. 

2. Servicer shall maintain adequate staffing and caseload limits for SPOCs 

and employees responsible for handling foreclosure, loss mitigation and 

related communications with borrowers and housing counselors. Servicer 

shall make periodic assessments to ensure that its staffing and systems are 

adequate. 

3. Servicer shall establish reasonable minimum experience, educational and 

training requirements for loss mitigation staff. 

4. Servicer shall document electronically key actions taken on a foreclosure, 

loan modification, bankruptcy, or other servicing file, including 

communications with the borrower. 

5. Servicer shall not adopt compensation arrangements for its employees that 

encourage foreclosure over loss mitigation alternatives. 

6. Servicer shall not make inaccurate payment delinquency reports to credit 

reporting agencies when the borrower is making timely reduced payments 

pursuant to a trial or other loan modification agreement. Servicer shall 

provide the borrower, prior to entering into a trial loan modification, with 

clear and conspicuous written information that adverse credit reporting 

consequences may result from the borrower making reduced payments 

during the trial period. 

7. Where Servicer grants a loan modification, Servicer shall provide borrower 

with a copy of the fully executed loan modification agreement within 45 

days of receipt of the executed copy from the borrower. If the modification 

is not in writing, Servicer shall provide the borrower with a written 

summary of its terms, as promptly as possible, within 45 days of the 

approval of the modification. 

8. Servicer shall not instruct, advise or recommend that borrowers go into 

default in order to qualify for loss mitigation relief. 

9. Servicer shall not discourage borrowers from working or communicating 
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with legitimate non-profit housing counseling services. 

10. Servicer shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to waive or 

release claims and defenses as a condition of approval for a loan 

modification program or other loss mitigation relief. However, nothing 

herein shall preclude Servicer from requiring a waiver or release of claims 

and defenses with respect to a loan modification offered in connection 

with the resolution of a contested claim, when the borrower would not 

otherwise be qualified for the loan modification under existing Servicer 

programs. 

11. Servicer shall not charge borrower an application fee in connection with a 

request for a loan modification. Servicer shall provide borrower with a 

pre-paid overnight envelope or pre-paid address label for return of a loan 

modification application. 

12. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to minimize 

the risk of borrowers submitting multiple loss mitigation requests for the 

purpose of delay, Servicer shall not be obligated to evaluate requests for 

loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers who have already been 

evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to be evaluated consistent with the 

requirements of HAMP or proprietary modification programs, or (b) 

borrowers who were evaluated after the date of implementation of this 

Agreement, consistent with this Agreement, unless there has been a 

material change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is 

documented by borrower and submitted to Servicer. 

I. Proprietary First Lien Loan Modifications. 

1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its qualification 

processes, all required documentation and information necessary for a 

complete first lien loan modification application, and key eligibility factors 

for all proprietary loan modifications. 

2. Servicer shall design proprietary first lien loan modification programs that 

are intended to produce sustainable modifications according to investor 

guidelines and previous results. Servicer shall design these programs with 

the intent of providing affordable payments for borrowers needing longer 

term or permanent assistance. 

3. Servicer shall track outcomes and maintain records regarding 

characteristics and performance of proprietary first lien loan 

modifications. Servicer shall provide a description of modification 

waterfalls, eligibility criteria, and modification terms, on a publicly-

available website. 

4. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for proprietary 

first lien loan modifications. 

J. Proprietary Second Lien Loan Modifications. 

1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on its qualification 

processes, all required documentation and information necessary for a 

complete second lien modification application. 
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2. Servicer shall design second lien modification programs with the intent of 

providing affordable payments for borrowers needing longer term or 

permanent assistance. 

3. Servicer shall not charge any application or processing fees for second lien 

modifications. 

4. When an eligible borrower with a second lien submits all required 

information for a second lien loan modification and the modification 

request is denied, Servicer shall promptly send a written non-approval 

notice to the borrower. 

K.       Short Sales. 

1. Servicer shall make publicly available information on general requirements 

for the short sale process. 

2. Servicer shall consider appropriate monetary incentives to underwater 

borrowers to facilitate short sale options. 

3. Servicer shall develop a cooperative short sale process which allows the 

borrower the opportunity to engage with Servicer to pursue a short sale 

evaluation prior to putting home on the market. 

4. Servicer shall send written confirmation of the borrower’s first request for 

a short sale to the borrower or his or her agent within 10 business days of 

receipt of the request and proper written authorization from the borrower 

allowing Servicer to communicate with the borrower’s agent. The 

confirmation shall include basic information about the short sale process 

and Servicer’s requirements, and will state clearly and conspicuously that 

the Servicer may demand a deficiency payment if such deficiency claim is 

permitted by applicable law.  

5. Servicer shall send borrower at borrower’s address of record or to 

borrower’s agent timely written notice of any missing required documents 

for consideration of short sale within 30 days of receiving borrower’s 

request for a short sale. 

6. Servicer shall review the short sale request submitted by borrower and 

communicate the disposition of borrower’s request no later than 30 days 

after receipt of all required information and third-party consents. 

7. If the short sale request is accepted, Servicer shall contemporaneously 

notify the borrower whether Servicer or investor will demand a deficiency 

payment or related cash contribution and the approximate amount of that 

deficiency, if such deficiency obligation is permitted by applicable law. If 

the short sale request is denied, Servicer shall provide reasons for the  

denial in the written notice. If Servicer waives a deficiency claim, it shall 

not sell or transfer such claim to a third-party debt collector or debt buyer 

for collection. 

L.        Loss Mitigation During Bankruptcy. 

1. Servicer may not deny any loss mitigation option to eligible borrowers on 

the basis that the borrower is a debtor in bankruptcy so long as borrower 
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and any trustee cooperates in obtaining any appropriate approvals or 

consents. 

2. Servicer shall, to the extent reasonable, extend trial period loan 

modification plans as necessary to accommodate delays in obtaining 

bankruptcy court approvals or receiving full remittance of debtor’s trial 

period payments that have been made to a chapter 13 trustee. In the event 

of a trial period extension, the debtor must make a trial period payment for 

each month of the trial period, including any extension month. 

3. When the debtor is in compliance with a trial period or permanent loan 

modification plan, Servicer will not object to confirmation of the debtor’s 

chapter 13 plan, move to dismiss the pending bankruptcy case, or file a 

MRS solely on the basis that the debtor paid only the amounts due under 

the trial period or permanent loan modification plan, as opposed to the 

non-modified mortgage payments. 

M.       Transfer of Servicing of Loans Pending for Permanent Loan Modification. 

1. Ordinary Transfer of Servicing from Servicer to Successor Servicer or 

Subservicer. 

a. At time of transfer or sale, Servicer shall inform successor 

servicer (including a subservicer) whether a loan 

modification is pending. 

b. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to accept and continue 

processing pending loan modification requests. 

c. Any contract for the transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

obligate the successor servicer to honor trial and permanent 

loan modification agreements entered into by prior servicer. 

d. Any contract for transfer or sale of servicing rights shall 

designate that borrowers are third party beneficiaries under 

paragraphs IV.M.1.b and IV.M.1.c, above. 

2.         Transfer of Servicing to Servicer. When Servicer acquires servicing rights 

from another servicer, Servicer shall ensure that it will accept and continue 

to process pending loan modification requests from the prior servicer, and 

that it will honor trial and permanent loan modification agreements entered 

into by the prior servicer. 

V. PROTECTIONS FOR MILITARY PERSONNEL. 

A. Servicer shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Servicemembers Civil 

Relief Act (SCRA), 50 U.S.C. Appx. § 501 et seq., and any applicable state law 

offering protections to servicemembers. 

B. When a borrower states that he or she is or was within the preceding 9 months (or 

the then applicable statutory period under the SCRA) in active military service or 

has received and is subject to military orders requiring him or her to commence 

active military service, Lender shall determine whether the borrower may be 

eligible for the protections of the SCRA or for the protections of the provisions of 

paragraph V.F. If Servicer determines the borrower is so eligible, Servicer shall, 
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until Servicer determines that such customer is no longer protected by the SCRA, 

1. if such borrower is not entitled to a SPOC, route such customers to 

employees who have been specially trained about the protections of the 

SCRA to respond to such borrower’s questions, or 
2. if such borrower is entitled to a SPOC, designate as a SPOC for such 

borrower a person who has been specially trained about the protections of 

the SCRA (Servicemember SPOC). 

C. Servicer shall, in addition to any other reviews it may perform to assess eligibility 

under the SCRA, (i) before referring a loan for foreclosure, (ii) within seven days 

before a foreclosure sale, and (iii) the later of (A) promptly after a foreclosure sale 

and (B) within three days before the regularly scheduled end of any redemption 

period, determine whether the secured property is owned by a servicemember 

covered under SCRA by searching the Defense Manpower Data Center (DMDC) 

for evidence of SCRA eligibility by either (a) last name and social security 

number, or (b) last name and date of birth. 

D. When a servicemember provides written notice requesting protection under the 

SCRA relating to interest rate relief, but does not provide the documentation 

required by Section 207(b)(1) of the SCRA (50 USC Appx. § 527(b)(1)), Servicer 

shall accept, in lieu of the documentation required by Section 207(b)(1) of the 

SCRA, a letter on official letterhead from the servicemember’s commanding 

officer including a contact telephone number for confirmation: 

1. Addressed in such a way as to signify that the commanding officer 

recognizes that the letter will be relied on by creditors of the 

servicemember (a statement that the letter is intended to be relied upon by 

the Servicemember’s creditors would satisfy this requirement); 

2. Setting forth the full name (including middle initial, if any), Social Security 

number and date of birth of the servicemember; 

3. Setting forth the home address of the servicemember; and 

4. Setting forth the date of the military orders marking the beginning of the 

period of military service of the servicemember and, as may be applicable, 

that the military service of the servicemember is continuing or the date on 

which the military service of the servicemember ended. 

E. Servicer shall notify customers who are 45 days delinquent that, if they are a 

servicemember, (a) they may be entitled to certain protections under the SCRA 

regarding the servicemember’s interest rate and the risk of foreclosure, and (b) 

counseling for covered servicemembers is available at agencies such as Military 

OneSource, Armed Forces Legal Assistance, and a HUD-certified housing 

counselor. Such notice shall include a toll-free number that servicemembers may 

call to be connected to a person who has been specially trained about the 

protections of the SCRA to respond to such borrower’s questions. Such telephone 

number shall either connect directly to such a person or afford a caller the ability 

to identify him- or herself as an eligible servicemember and be routed to such 

persons. Servicers hereby confirm that they intend to take reasonable steps to 

ensure the dissemination of such toll-free number to customers who may be 
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eligible servicemembers. 

F. Irrespective of whether a mortgage obligation was originated before or during the 

period of a servicemember’s military service, if, based on the determination 

described in the last sentence and subject to Applicable Requirements, a 

servicemember’s military orders (or any letter complying with paragraph V.D), 

together with any other documentation satisfactory to the Servicer, reflects that 

the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent Danger Pay and (b) 

serving at a location (i) more than 750 miles from the location of the secured 

property or (ii) outside of the United States, then to the extent consistent with 

Applicable Requirements, the Servicer shall not sell, foreclose, or seize a property 

for a breach of an obligation on real property owned by a servicemember that is 

secured by mortgage, deed of trust, or other security in the nature of a mortgage, 

during, or within 9 months after, the period in which the servicemember is eligible 

for Hostile Fire/Imminent Danger Pay, unless either (i) Servicer has obtained a 

court order granted before such sale, foreclosure, or seizure with a return made and 

approved by the court, or (ii) if made pursuant to an agreement as provided in 

section 107 of the SCRA (50 U.S.C. Appx. § 517). Unless a servicemember's 

eligibility for the protection under this paragraph can be fully determined by a 

proper search of the DMDC website, Servicer shall only be obligated under this 

provision if it is able to determine, based on a servicemember’s military orders (or 

any letter complying with paragraph V.D), together with any other documentation 

provided by or on behalf of the servicemember that is satisfactory to the Servicer, 

that the servicemember is (a) eligible for Hostile Fire/Imminent Danger Pay and 

(b) serving at a location (i) more than 750 miles from the location of the secured 

property or (ii) outside of the United States. 

G. Servicer shall not require a servicemember to be delinquent to qualify for a short 

sale, loan modification, or other loss mitigation relief if the servicemember is 

suffering financial hardship and is otherwise eligible for such loss mitigation. 

Subject to Applicable Requirements, for purposes of assessing financial hardship 

in relation to (i) a short sale or deed in lieu transaction, Servicer will take into 

account whether the servicemember is, as a result of a permanent change of station 

order, required to relocate even if such servicemember’s income has not been 

decreased, so long as the servicemember does not have sufficient liquid assets to 

make his or her monthly mortgage payments, or (ii) a loan modification, Servicer 

will take into account whether the servicemember is, as a result of his or her under 

military orders required to relocate to a new duty station at least seventy five mile 

from his or her residence/secured property or to reside at a location other than the 

residence/secured property, and accordingly is unable personally to occupy the 

residence and (a) the residence will continue to be occupied by his or her 

dependents, or (b) the residence is the only residential property owned by the 

servicemember. 

H.       Servicer shall not make inaccurate reports to credit reporting agencies when a 

servicemember, who has not defaulted before relocating under military orders to a 

new duty station, obtains a short sale, loan modification, or other loss mitigation 

relief. 
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VI.       RESTRICTIONS ON SERVICING FEES. 
A. General Requirements. 

1.         All default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related service fees, including 

third-party fees, collected from the borrower by Servicer shall be bona fide, 

reasonable in amount, and disclosed in detail to the borrower as provided 

in paragraphs I.B.10 and VI.B.1. 

B.  Specific Fee Provisions. 

1. Schedule of Fees. Servicer shall maintain and keep current a schedule of 

common non-state specific fees or ranges of fees that may be charged to 

borrowers by or on behalf of Servicer. Servicer shall make this schedule 

available on its website and to the borrower or borrower’s authorized 

representative upon request. The schedule shall identify each fee, provide 

a plain language explanation of the fee, and state the maximum amount of 

the fee or how the fee is calculated or determined. 

2. Servicer may collect a default-related fee only if the fee is for reasonable 

and appropriate services actually rendered and one of the following 

conditions is met: 

a. the fee is expressly or generally authorized by the loan instruments 

and not prohibited by law or this Agreement; 

b. the fee is permitted by law and not prohibited by the loan 

instruments or this Agreement; or 

c. the fee is not prohibited by law, this Agreement or the loan 

instruments and is a reasonable fee for a specific service requested 

by the borrower that is collected only after clear and conspicuous 

disclosure of the fee is made available to the borrower. 

3. Attorneys’ Fees. In addition to the limitations in paragraph VI.B.2 above, 

attorneys’ fees charged in connection with a foreclosure action or 

bankruptcy proceeding shall only be for work actually performed and shall 

not exceed reasonable and customary fees for such work. In the event a 

foreclosure action is terminated prior to the final judgment and/or sale for 

a loss mitigation option, a reinstatement, or payment in full, the borrower 

shall be liable only for reasonable and customary fees for work actually 

performed. 

4.         Late Fees. 

a. Servicer shall not collect any late fee or delinquency charge when 

the only delinquency is attributable to late fees or delinquency 

charges assessed on an earlier payment, and the payment is 

otherwise a full payment for the applicable period and is paid on or 

before its due date or within any applicable grace period. 

b. Servicer shall not collect late fees (i) based on an amount greater 

than the past due amount; (ii) collected from the escrow account or 

from escrow surplus without the approval of the borrower; or (iii) 

deducted from any regular payment. 
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c. Servicer shall not collect any late fees for periods during which (i) 

a complete loan modification application is under consideration; 

(ii) the borrower is making timely trial modification payments; or 

(iii) a short sale offer is being evaluated by Servicer. 

C.        Third-Party Fees. 

1.        Servicer shall not impose unnecessary or duplicative property inspection, 

property preservation or valuation fees on the borrower, including, but not 

limited to, the following: 

a. No property preservation fees shall be imposed on eligible 

borrowers who have a pending application with Servicer for loss 

mitigation relief or are performing under a loss mitigation program, 

unless Servicer has a reasonable basis to believe that property 

preservation is necessary for the maintenance of the property, such 

as when the property is vacant or listed on a violation notice from a 

local jurisdiction; 

b. No property inspection fee shall be imposed on a borrower any 

more frequently than the timeframes allowed under GSE or HUD 

guidelines unless Servicer has identified specific circumstances 

supporting the need for further property inspections; and 

c. Servicer shall be limited to imposing property valuation fees (e.g., 

BPO) to once every 12 months, unless other valuations are 

requested by the borrower to facilitate a short sale or to support a 

loan modification as outlined in paragraph IV.G.3.a, or required as 

part of the default or foreclosure valuation process. 

2. Default, foreclosure and bankruptcy-related services performed by third 

parties shall be at reasonable market value. 

3. Servicer shall not collect any fee for default, foreclosure or bankruptcy-

related services by an affiliate unless the amount of the fee does not exceed 

the lesser of (a) any fee limitation or allowable amount for the service 

under applicable state law, and (b) the market rate for the service. To 

determine the market rate, Servicer shall obtain annual market reviews of 

its affiliates’ pricing for such default and foreclosure-related services; such 

market reviews shall be performed by a qualified, objective, independent 

third-party professional using procedures and standards generally accepted 

in the industry to yield accurate and reliable results. The independent 

third-party professional shall determine in its market survey the price 

actually charged by third-party affiliates and by independent third party 

vendors. 

4. Servicer shall be prohibited from collecting any unearned fee, or giving or 

accepting referral fees in relation to third-party default or foreclosure-

related services. 

5. Servicer shall not impose its own mark-ups on Servicer initiated third-party 

default or foreclosure-related services. 

6.  
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D.        Certain Bankruptcy Related Fees. 

1. Servicer must not collect any attorney’s fees or other charges with respect 

to the preparation or submission of a POC or MRS document that is 

withdrawn or denied, or any amendment thereto that is required, as a result 

of a substantial misstatement by Servicer of the amount due. 

2. Servicer shall not collect late fees due to delays in receiving full 

remittance of debtor’s payments, including trial period or permanent 

modification payments as well as post-petition conduit payments in 

accordance with 11 U.S.C. § 1322(b)(5), that debtor has timely (as defined 

by the underlying Chapter 13 plan) made to a chapter 13 trustee. 

VII.     FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE. 

A. General Requirements for Force-Placed Insurance. 

1.         Servicer shall not obtain force-placed insurance unless there is a 

reasonable basis to believe the borrower has failed to comply with the loan 

contract’s requirements to maintain property insurance. For escrowed 

accounts, Servicer shall continue to advance payments for the 

homeowner’s existing policy, unless the borrower or insurance company 

cancels the existing policy. For purposes of this section VII, the term 

“force-placed insurance” means hazard insurance coverage obtained by 

Servicer when the borrower has failed to maintain or renew hazard or wind 

insurance on such property as required of the borrower under the terms of 

the mortgage. 

2. Servicer shall not be construed as having a reasonable basis for obtaining 

force-placed insurance unless the requirements of this section VII have 

been met. 

3. Servicer shall not impose any charge on any borrower for force-placed 

insurance with respect to any property securing a federally related 

mortgage unless: 

a.        Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a written notice to the 

borrower containing: 

i. A reminder of the borrower’s obligation to maintain hazard 

insurance on the property securing the federally related 

mortgage; 

ii.         A statement that Servicer does not have evidence of 

insurance coverage of such property; 

iii.        A clear and conspicuous statement of the procedures by 

which the borrower may demonstrate that the borrower 

already has insurance coverage; 

iv.        A statement that Servicer may obtain such coverage at the 

borrower’s expense if the borrower does not provide such 

demonstration of the borrower’s existing coverage in a 

timely manner; 

v.         A statement that the cost of such coverage may be 



 

A-33 

 

significantly higher than the cost of the homeowner’s 

current coverage; 

vi.        For first lien loans on Servicer’s primary servicing system, 

a statement that, if the borrower desires to maintain his or 

her voluntary policy, Servicer will offer an escrow account 

and advance the premium due on the voluntary policy if the 

borrower: (a) accepts the offer of the escrow account; (b) 

provides a copy of the invoice from the voluntary carrier; 

(c) agrees in writing to reimburse the escrow advances 

through regular escrow payments; (d) agrees to escrow to 

both repay the advanced premium and to pay for the future 

premiums necessary to maintain any required insurance 

policy; and (e) agrees Servicer shall manage the escrow 

account in accordance with the loan documents and with 

state and federal law; and 

vii.       A statement, in the case of single interest coverage, that the 

coverage may only protect the mortgage holder’s interest 

and not the homeowner’s interest. 

b.  Servicer has sent, by first-class mail, a second written notice, at 

least 30 days after the mailing of the notice under paragraph 

VII.A.3.a that contains all the information described in each clause 

of such paragraph. 

c.  Servicer has not received from the borrower written 

confirmation of hazard insurance coverage for the property 

securing the mortgage by the end of the 15-day period 

beginning on the date the notice under paragraph VII.A.3.b 

was sent by Servicer. 

4. Servicer shall accept any reasonable form of written confirmation from a 

borrower or the borrower’s insurance agent of existing insurance 

coverage, which shall include the existing insurance policy number along 

with the identity of, and contact information for, the insurance company or 

agent. 

5. Servicer shall not place hazard or wind insurance on a mortgaged 

property, or require a borrower to obtain or maintain such insurance, in 

excess of the greater of replacement value, last-known amount of coverage 

or the outstanding loan balance, unless required by Applicable 

Requirements, or requested by borrower in writing. 

6. Within 15 days of the receipt by Servicer of evidence of a borrower’s 

existing insurance coverage, Servicer shall: 

a. Terminate the force-placed insurance; and 

b. Refund to the consumer all force-placed insurance 

premiums paid by the borrower during any period during 

which the borrower’s insurance coverage and the force 

placed insurance coverage were each in effect, and any 
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related fees charged to the consumer’s account with respect 

to the force-placed insurance during such period. 
7. Servicer shall make reasonable efforts to work with the borrower to 

continue or reestablish the existing homeowner’s policy if there is a lapse 

in payment and the borrower’s payments are escrowed. 

8. Any force-placed insurance policy must be purchased for a commercially 

reasonable price. 

9. No provision of this section VII shall be construed as prohibiting Servicer 

from providing simultaneous or concurrent notice of a lack of flood 

insurance pursuant to section 102(e) of the Flood Disaster Protection Act 

of 1973. 

VIII.   GENERAL SERVICER DUTIES AND PROHIBITIONS. 

A. Measures to Deter Community Blight. 

1. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to ensure 

that REO properties do not become blighted. 

2. Servicer shall develop and implement policies and procedures to enhance 

participation and coordination with state and local land bank programs, 

neighborhood stabilization programs, nonprofit redevelopment programs, 

and other anti-blight programs, including those that facilitate discount sale 

or donation of low-value REO properties so that they can be demolished 

or salvaged for productive use. 

3. As indicated in I.A.18, Servicer shall (a) inform borrower that if the 

borrower continues to occupy the property, he or she has responsibility to 

maintain the property, and an obligation to continue to pay taxes owed, 

until a sale or other title transfer action occurs; and (b) request that if the 

borrower wishes to abandon the property, he or she contact Servicer to 

discuss alternatives to foreclosure under which borrower can surrender the 

property to Servicer in exchange for compensation. 

4. When the Servicer makes a determination not to pursue foreclosure action 

on a property with respect to a first lien mortgage loan, Servicer shall: 
a. Notify the borrower of Servicer’s decision to release the lien and 

not pursue foreclosure, and inform borrower about his or her right 

to occupy the property until a sale or other title transfer action 

occurs; and 

b. Notify local authorities, such as tax authorities, courts, or code 

enforcement departments, when Servicer decides to release the lien 

and not pursue foreclosure. 
B. Tenants’ Rights.  

1. Servicer shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws governing 

the rights of tenants living in foreclosed residential properties.  

2. Servicer shall develop and implement written policies and procedures to 

ensure compliance with such laws.  
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IX.      GENERAL PROVISIONS, DEFINITIONS, AND IMPLEMENTATION. 

A. Applicable Requirements. 

1. The servicing standards and any modifications or other actions taken in 

accordance with the servicing standards are expressly subject to, and shall 

be interpreted in accordance with, (a) applicable federal, state and local 

laws, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, any requirements 

of the federal banking regulators, (b) the terms of the applicable mortgage 

loan documents, (c) Section 201 of the Helping Families Save Their 

Homes Act of 2009, and (d) the terms and provisions of the Servicer 

Participation Agreement with the Department of Treasury, any servicing 

agreement, subservicing agreement under which Servicer services for 

others, special servicing agreement, mortgage or bond insurance policy or 

related agreement or requirements to which Servicer is a party and by 

which it or its servicing is bound pertaining to the servicing or ownership 

of the mortgage loans, including without limitation the requirements, 

binding directions, or investor guidelines of the applicable investor (such 

as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, or credit 

enhancer (collectively, the “Applicable Requirements”). 

2. In the event of a conflict between the requirements of the Agreement and 

the Applicable Requirements with respect to any provision of this 

Agreement such that the Servicer cannot comply without violating 

Applicable Requirements or being subject to adverse action, including 

fines and penalties, Servicer shall document such conflicts and notify the 

Monitor and the Monitoring Committee that it intends to comply with the 

Applicable Requirements to the extent necessary to eliminate the conflict. 

Any associated Metric provided for in the Enforcement Terms will be 

adjusted accordingly. 

B. Definitions. 

1. In each instance in this Agreement in which Servicer is required to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations, it is intended to 

mean that Servicer shall: (a) authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of 

Servicer as may be necessary for Servicer to perform such obligations and 

undertakings; (b) follow up on any material non-compliance with such 

actions in a timely and appropriate manner; and (c) require corrective 

action be taken in a timely manner of any material non-compliance with 

such obligations. 

2. References to Servicer shall mean SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. and shall 

include Servicer’s successors and assignees in the event of a sale of all or 

substantially all of the assets of Servicer or of Servicer’s division(s) or 

major business unit(s) that are engaged as a primary business in customer-

facing servicing of residential mortgages on owner-occupied properties. 

The provisions of this Agreement shall not apply to those divisions or 

major business units of Servicer that are not engaged as a primary business 

in customer-facing servicing of residential mortgages on owner-occupied 

one-to-four family properties on its own behalf or on behalf of investors. 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT B



DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS 

 

 

1. The Exhibit J Federal Settlement Amount.  Consistent with the agreement 

and instructions in Exhibit J, SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. will pay, or cause to be paid, 

$418,000,000.00, plus simple interest on the Settlement Amount at a rate of 2.375% per 

annum accruing from March 5, 2014 through March 15, 2014, for a total of 

$418,271,986, to the United States for the release of FHA origination claims.  

2. Federal Payment Settlement Amount.  The Escrow Agent shall distribute ten 

million dollars ($10,000,000.00) (the “Federal Payment Settlement Amount”) of the Direct 

Payment Settlement Amount to the United States in accordance with instructions to be 

provided by the United States.  That amount will be deposited for losses incurred into Federal 

Housing Administration’s Capital Reserve Account, the Veterans Housing Benefit Program Fund 

Financing Account (pursuant to 38 U.S.C. § 3722(c)(3), as being incident to housing loan 

operations) or as otherwise directed by the Department of Veterans Affairs, and as directed by 

Rural Housing Service, Department of Agriculture, in accordance with instructions from the 

United States.  The United States intends that such deposits conform with the Miscellaneous 

Receipts Act and other law. 

3. State Payment Settlement Amount: In accordance with written instructions 

from the State members of the Monitoring Committee, the Escrow Agent shall make 

forty million dollars ($40,000,000.00) of the Direct Payment Settlement available to the 

Administrator to provide cash payments to borrowers whose homes were finally sold or 

taken in foreclosure by Defendant between and including January 1, 2008 and December 

31, 2013; who submit claims arising from the Covered Conduct; and who otherwise meet 

criteria set forth by the State members of the Monitoring Committee.  Any amounts made 
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available hereunder remain a part of the Qualified Settlement Fund until distributed to 

borrowers and shall be administered in accordance with the terms set forth in Exhibit C. 

4. Any interest earned on funds held by the Escrow Agent may be used, at 

the discretion of the State members of the Monitoring Committee, to pay the costs and 

expenses of the escrow or the costs and expenses of administration, including taxes, or 

for any other housing related purpose.  
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BORROWER PAYMENT AMOUNT 

 

1. The Borrower Payment Amount shall be administered under the direction and 

control of the State members of the Monitoring Committee in the following manner. 

2. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date of this Consent Judgment, the State 

members of the Monitoring Committee shall choose and retain a Settlement Administrator (“the 

Administrator”) to administer the distribution of cash payments to individual borrowers under 

this Consent Judgment.  All costs and expenses of the Administrator, including taxes, shall be 

paid from the Borrower Payment Amount. 

3. Defendant shall provide to the Administrator all information already in its 

possession and readily available that is reasonably necessary for the administration of this 

Consent Judgment, within a reasonable time after receipt of the request for information.  

Defendant is ordered herein to provide such information under 15 U.S.C. § 6802(e)(1)(A), (5) 

and (8) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.  Such information pertaining to individual eligible 

Borrowers, including names and other identifying information, may be provided to individual 

states, but only if the information is used solely for the purpose of contacting eligible Borrowers, 

responding to inquiries from Borrowers regarding their eligibility or concerning the award of 

borrower payments under this Consent Judgment, and/or complying with tax reporting and 

withholding obligations, if any.  The Administrator shall utilize appropriate information security 

protocols to ensure the privacy of Borrower information and otherwise comply with all 

applicable privacy laws.  After the completion of the Borrower Payment process, the 

Administrator shall provide a report to Defendant identifying which borrowers have received 

payment.  In addition, Defendant may request from the Administrator such interim reports as 

may be deemed reasonable by the State Members of the Monitoring Committee and such 



 

 

 

 

agreement, consent, or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Interim reports necessary to 

insure that Borrowers will not receive duplicate payments by virtue of litigation, the foreclosure 

payments required by federal banking agencies or otherwise hereby are deemed reasonable.  

Defendant shall warrant to the State Members of the Monitoring Committee at the time of 

supplying information to the Administrator that the information is complete and accurate to the 

best of its knowledge and capability.  Defendant’s duty to supply complete and accurate 

information, to the best of its knowledge and capability, regarding eligible borrowers shall 

continue throughout the administration process. 

4. The Administrator shall permit reasonable onsite inspection by the State members 

of the Monitoring Committee on the premises of the Administrator to monitor administration of 

this Consent Judgment. 

5. As a condition to receipt of any payments pursuant to this process, borrowers 

must agree that such payment shall offset and operate to reduce any other obligation Defendant 

or Defendant's affiliates or subsidiaries has to the borrowers to provide compensation or other 

payments.  However, borrowers shall not be required to release or waive any other right or legal 

claim as a condition of receiving such payments.  

6. Any cash payment to individual borrowers awarded under the terms of this 

Consent Judgment is not and shall not be considered as forgiven debt.   

7. The purposes of the payments described in this Exhibit C are remedial and relate 

to the reduction in the proceeds deemed realized by borrowers for tax purposes from the 

foreclosure sale of residential properties owned by the borrowers allegedly resulting from the 

allegedly unlawful conduct of the Defendant. 
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Consumer Relief Requirements 
Any Servicer as defined in the Servicing Standards set forth in Exhibit A to this 

Consent Judgment (hereinafter “Servicer” or “Participating Servicer”) agrees that it will 
not implement any of the Consumer Relief Requirements described herein through 
policies that are intended to (i) disfavor a specific geography within or among states that 
are a party to the Consent Judgment or (ii) discriminate against any protected class of 
borrowers.  This provision shall not preclude the implementation of pilot programs in 
particular geographic areas. 

Any discussion of property in these Consumer Relief Requirements, including 
any discussion in Table 1 or other documents attached hereto, refers to a 1-4 unit single-
family property (hereinafter, “Property” or collectively, “Properties”). 

Any consumer relief guidelines or requirements that are found in Table 1 or other 
documents attached hereto, are hereby incorporated into these Consumer Relief 
Requirements and shall be afforded the same deference as if they were written in the text 
below. 

 For the avoidance of doubt, subject to the Consumer Relief Requirements 
described below, Servicer shall receive credit for consumer relief activities with respect 
to loans insured or guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, or the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture in accordance with the terms and conditions herein, provided that nothing 
herein shall be deemed to in any way relieve Servicer of the obligation to comply with 
the requirements of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, U.S. 
Department of Veterans Affairs, and the U.S. Department of Agriculture with respect to 
the servicing of such loans.   

Servicer shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to waive or release 
legal claims and defenses as a condition of approval for loss mitigation activities under 
these Consumer Relief Requirements.  However, nothing herein shall preclude Servicer 
from requiring a waiver or release of legal claims and defenses with respect to a 
Consumer Relief activity offered in connection with the resolution of a contested claim, 
when the borrower would not otherwise have received as favorable terms or when the 
borrower receives additional consideration. 

Programmatic exceptions to the crediting available for the Consumer Relief 
Requirements listed below may be granted by the Monitoring Committee on a case-by-
case basis. 

 To the extent a Servicer is responsible for the servicing of a mortgage loan to 
which these Consumer Relief Requirements may apply, the Servicer shall receive credit 
for all consumer relief and refinancing activities undertaken in connection with such 
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mortgage loan by any of its subservicers to the same extent as if Servicer had undertaken 
such activities itself.    

1. First Lien Mortgage Modifications 
a. Servicer will receive credit under Table 1, Section 1, for first-lien 

mortgage loan modifications made in accordance with the guidelines set 
forth in this Section 1.    

b. First liens on occupied1 Properties with an unpaid principal balance 
(“UPB”) prior to capitalization at or below the highest GSE conforming 
loan limit cap as of January 1, 2010 shall constitute at least 85% of the 
eligible credits for first liens (the “Applicable Limits”). 

c. Eligible borrowers must be at least 30 days delinquent or otherwise 
qualify as being at imminent risk of default due to borrower’s financial 
situation. 

d. Eligible borrowers’ pre-modification loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”) is 
greater than 100%.  

e. Post-modification payment should target a debt-to-income ratio (“DTI”)2 
of 31% (or an affordability measurement consistent with HAMP 
guidelines) and a modified LTV3 of no greater than 120%, provided that 
eligible borrowers receive a modification that meets the following terms: 

i. Payment of principal and interest must be reduced by at least 10%. 

ii. Where LTV exceeds 120% at a DTI of 31%, principal shall be 
reduced to a LTV of 120%, subject to a minimum DTI of 25% 
(which minimum may be waived by Servicer at Servicer’s sole 

                                                 
  If a Servicer holds a mortgage loan but does not service or control the servicing 

rights for such loan (either through its own servicing operations or a subservicer), 
then no credit shall be granted to that Servicer for consumer relief and refinancing 
activities related to that loan. 

1  Servicer may rely on a borrower’s statement, at the time of the modification 
evaluation, that a Property is occupied or that the borrower intends to rent or re-
occupy the property.   

2  Consistent with HAMP, DTI is based on first-lien mortgage debt only.  For non-
owner-occupied properties, Servicer shall consider other appropriate measures of 
affordability. 

3  For the purposes of these guidelines, LTV may be determined in accordance with 
HAMP PRA. 
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discretion), provided that for investor-owned loans, the LTV and 
DTI need not be reduced to a level that would convert the 
modification to net present value (“NPV”) negative. 

f. DTI requirements may be waived for first lien mortgages that are 180 days 
or more delinquent as long as payment of principal and interest is reduced 
by at least 20% and LTV is reduced to at least 120%.   

g. Servicer shall also be entitled to credit for any amounts of principal 
reduction which lower LTV below 120%.   

h. When Servicer reduces principal on a first lien mortgage via its 
proprietary modification process, and a Participating Servicer owns the 
second lien mortgage, the second lien shall be modified by the second lien 
owning Participating Servicer in accordance with Section 2.c.i below, 
provided that any Participating Servicer other than the five largest 
servicers shall be given a reasonable amount of time, as determined by the 
Monitor, after that Participating Servicer’s Start Date to make system 
changes necessary to participate in and implement this requirement.  
Credit for such second lien mortgage write-downs shall be credited in 
accordance with the second lien percentages and cap described in Table 1, 
Section 2. 

i. In the event that, in the first 6 months after Servicer’s Start Date (as 
defined below), Servicer temporarily provides forbearance or conditional 
forgiveness to an eligible borrower as the Servicer ramps up use of 
principal reduction, Servicer shall receive credit for principal reduction on 
such modifications provided that (i) Servicer may not receive credit for 
both the forbearance and the subsequent principal reduction and (ii) 
Servicer will only receive the credit for the principal reduction  once the 
principal is actually forgiven in accordance with these Consumer Relief 
Requirements and Table 1. 

j. Eligible modifications include any modification that is made on or after 
Servicer’s Start Date, including: 

i. Write-offs made to allow for refinancing under the FHA Short 
Refinance Program; 

ii. Modifications under the Making Home Affordable Program 
(including the Home Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) 
Tier 1 or Tier 2) or the Housing Finance Agency Hardest Hit Fund 
(“HFA Hardest Hit Fund”) (or any other federal program) where 
principal is forgiven, except to the extent that state or federal funds 
paid to Servicer in its capacity as an investor are the source of a 
Servicer’s credit claim. 
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iii. Modifications under other proprietary or other government 
modification programs, provided that such modifications meet the 
guidelines set forth herein.4 

2. Second Lien Portfolio Modifications  

a. Servicer is required to adhere to these guidelines in order to receive credit 
under Table 1, Section 2. 

b. A write-down of a second lien mortgage will be creditable where such 
write-down facilitates either (a) a first lien modification that involves an 
occupied Property for which the borrower is 30 days delinquent or 
otherwise at imminent risk of default due to the borrower’s financial 
situation; or (b) a second lien modification that involves an occupied 
Property with a second lien which is at least 30 days delinquent or 
otherwise at imminent risk of default due to the borrower’s financial 
situation. 

                                                 
4  Two examples are hereby provided.  Example 1:  on a mortgage loan at 175% LTV, when a Servicer 

(in its capacity as an investor) extinguishes $75 of principal through the HAMP Principal Reduction 
Alternative (“PRA”) modification in order to bring the LTV down to 100%, if the Servicer receives 
$28.10 in PRA principal reduction incentive payments from the U.S. Department of the Treasury for 
that extinguishment, then the Servicer may claim $46.90 of principal reduction for credit under these 
Consumer Relief Requirements:   

 

LTV Reduction Band: 

HAMP-PRA Incentive Amount 

Received: Allowable Settlement Credit: 

175% LTV to 140% LTV $10.50 (35% LTV * $0.30) $24.50 ((35% LTV-$10.50) * $1.00) 
140% LTV to 115% LTV $11.30 (25% LTV * $0.45) $13.70 ((25% LTV-$11.30) * $1.00) 
115% LTV to 105% LTV $6.30 (10% LTV * $0.63) $3.70 ((10% LTV-$6.30) * $1.00) 
105% LTV to 100% LTV None (no credit below 105% LTV) $5.00 (5% LTV * $1.00) 
Total: $28.10 $46.90 

 
Example 2: on a mortgage loan at 200% LTV, when a Servicer (in its capacity as an investor) 
extinguishes $100 of principal through a HAMP-PRA modification in order to bring the LTV down to 
100%, if  the Servicer receives $35.60 in PRA principal reduction incentive payments from Treasury 
for that extinguishment, then although the Servicer would have funded $64.40 in principal reduction 
on that loan, the Servicer may  claim $55.70 of principal reduction for credit under these Consumer 
Relief Requirements:   
 

LTV Reduction Band: 

HAMP-PRA Incentive Amount 

Received: Allowable Settlement Credit: 

200% LTV to 175% LTV $7.50 (25% LTV * $0.30) $8.80 ((25% LTV-$7.50) * $0.50) 
175% LTV to 140% LTV $10.50 (35% LTV * $0.30) $24.50 ((35% LTV-$10.50) * $1.00) 
140% LTV to 115% LTV $11.30 (25% LTV * $0.45) $13.70 ((25% LTV-$11.30) * $1.00) 
115% LTV to 105% LTV $6.30 (10% LTV * $0.63) $3.70 ((10% LTV-$6.30) * $1.00) 
105% LTV to 100% LTV None (no credit below 105% LTV) $5.00 (5% LTV * $1.00) 
Total: $35.60 $55.70 
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c. Required Second Lien Modifications: 

i. Servicer agrees that it must write down second liens consistent 
with the following program until its Consumer Relief Requirement 
credits are fulfilled: 

1. A write-down of a second lien mortgage will be creditable 
where a successful first lien modification is completed by a 
Participating Servicer via a servicer’s proprietary, non-
HAMP modification process, in accordance with Section 1, 
with the first lien modification meeting the following 
criteria: 

a. Minimum 10% payment reduction (principal and 
interest);   

b. Income verified; 

c. A UPB at or below the Applicable Limits; and 

d. Post-modification DTI5 between 25% and 31%. 

2. If a Participating Servicer has completed a successful 
proprietary first lien modification and the second lien loan 
amount is greater than $5,000 UPB and the current monthly 
payment is greater than $100, then: 

a. Servicer shall extinguish and receive credit in 
accordance with Table 1, Section 2.iii on any 
second lien that is greater than 180 days delinquent. 

b. Otherwise, Servicer shall solve for a second lien 
payment utilizing the HAMP Second Lien 
Modification Program (“2MP”) logic used as of 
January 26, 2012. 

c. Servicer shall use the following payment waterfall:  

i. Forgiveness equal to the lesser of (a) 
achieving 115% combined loan-to-value 
ratio (“CLTV”) or (b) 30% UPB (subject to 
minimum forgiveness  level); then 

ii. Reduce rate until the 2MP payment required 
by 2MP logic as of January 26, 2012; then 

                                                 
5  Consistent with HAMP, DTI is based on first-lien mortgage debt only.  For non-

owner-occupied properties, Servicer shall consider other appropriate measures of 
affordability. 
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iii. Extend term to “2MP Term” (greater of 
modified first or remaining second). 

d. Servicer shall maintain an I/O product option 
consistent with 2MP protocols. 

d. Eligible second lien modifications include any modification that is made 
on or after Servicer’s Start Date, including:   

i. Principal reduction or extinguishments through the Making Home 
Affordable Program (including 2MP), the FHA Short Refinance 
Second Lien (“FHA2LP”) Program or the HFA Hardest Hit Fund 
(or any other federal program), except (to the extent) that state or 
federal funds are the source of a Servicer’s credit claim.   

ii. Second lien write-downs or extinguishments completed under 
proprietary modification programs, are eligible, provided that such 
write-downs or extinguishments meet the guidelines as set forth 
herein. 

e. Extinguishing balances of second liens to support the future ability of 
individuals to become homeowners will be credited based on applicable 
credits in Table 1. 

3. Enhanced Borrower Transitional Funds 

Servicer may receive credit, as described in Table 1, Section 3, for 
providing additional transitional funds to homeowners in connection with 
a short sale or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure to homeowners for the amount 
above $1,500. 

4. Short Sales 

a. As described in the preceding paragraph, Servicer may receive credit for 
providing incentive payments for borrowers on or after Servicer’s Start 
Date who are eligible and amenable to accepting such payments in return 
for a dignified exit from a Property via short sale or similar program.  
Credit shall be provided in accordance with Table 1, Section 3.i. 

b. To facilitate such short sales, Servicer may receive credit for extinguishing 
second liens on or after Servicer’s Start Date under Table 1, Section 4. 

c. Short sales through the Home Affordable Foreclosure Alternatives 
(HAFA) Program or any HFA Hardest Hit Fund program or proprietary 
programs closed on or after Servicer’s Start Date are eligible. 

d. Servicer shall be required to extinguish a second lien owned by Servicer 
behind a successful short sale/deed-in-lieu conducted by a Participating 
Servicer (provided that any Participating Servicer other than the five 
largest servicers shall be given a reasonable amount of time, as determined 
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by the Monitor, after their Start Date to make system changes necessary to 
participate in and implement this requirement) where the first lien is 
greater than 100% LTV and has a UPB at or below the Applicable Limits, 
until Servicer’s Consumer Relief Requirement credits are fulfilled.  The 
first lien holder would pay to the second lien holder 8% of UPB, subject to 
a $2,000 floor and an $8,500 ceiling.  The second lien holder would then 
release the note or lien and waive the balance. 

5. Deficiency Waivers 

a. Servicer may receive credit for waiving deficiency balances if not eligible 
for credit under some other provision, subject to the cap provided in the 
Table 1, Section 5.i. 

b. Credit for such waivers of any deficiency is only available where Servicer 
has a valid deficiency claim, meaning where Servicer can evidence to the 
Monitor that it had the ability to pursue a deficiency against the borrower 
but waived its right to do so after completion of the foreclosure sale. 

6. Forbearance for Unemployed Borrowers 

a. Servicer may receive credit for forgiveness of payment of arrearages on 
behalf of an unemployed borrower in accordance with Table 1, Section 6.i.  

b. Servicer may receive credit under Table 1, Section 6.ii., for funds 
expended to finance principal forbearance solutions for unemployed 
borrowers as a means of keeping them in their homes until such time as 
the borrower can resume payments.  Credit will only be provided 
beginning in the 7th month of the forbearance under Table 1, Section 6.ii. 

7. Anti-Blight Provisions 

a. Servicer may receive credit for certain anti-blight activities in accordance 
with and subject to caps contained in Table 1, Section 7.   

b. Any Property value used to calculate credits for this provision shall have a 
property evaluation meeting the standards acceptable under the Making 
Home Affordable programs received within 3 months of the transaction. 

8. Benefits for Servicemembers 

a. Short Sales 

i. Servicer shall, with respect to owned portfolio first liens, provide 
servicemembers who qualify for SCRA benefits (“Eligible 
Servicemembers”) a short sale agreement containing a 
predetermined minimum net proceeds amount (“Minimum Net 
Proceeds”) that Servicer will accept for short sale transaction upon 
receipt of the listing agreement and all required third-party 
approvals.  The Minimum Net Proceeds may be expressed as a 
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fixed dollar amount, as a percentage of the current market value of 
the property, or as a percentage of the list price as approved by 
Servicer.  After providing the Minimum Net Proceeds, Servicer 
may not increase the minimum net requirements above the 
Minimum Net Proceeds amount until the initial short sale 
agreement termination date is reached (not less than 120 calendar 
days from the date of the initial short sale agreement).  Servicer 
must document subsequent changes to the Minimum Net Proceeds 
when the short sale agreement is extended. 

ii. Eligible Servicemembers shall be eligible for this short sale 
program if: (a) they are an active duty full-time status Eligible 
Servicemember; (b) the property securing the mortgage is not 
vacant or condemned; (c) the property securing the mortgage is the 
Eligible Servicemember’s primary residence (or, the property was 
his or her principal residence immediately before he or she moved 
pursuant to a Permanent Change of Station (“PCS”) order dated on 
or after October 1, 2010; (d) the Eligible Servicemember 
purchased the subject primary residence on or after July 1, 2006 
and before December 31, 2008; and (e) the Eligible 
Servicemember relocates or has relocated from the subject 
property not more than 12 months prior to the date of the short sale 
agreement to a new duty station or home port outside a 50-mile 
radius of the Eligible Servicemember’s former duty station or 
home port under a PCS.  Eligible Servicemembers who have 
relocated may be eligible if the Eligible Servicemember provides 
documentation that the property was their principal residence prior 
to relocation or during the 12-month period prior to the date of the 
short sale agreement. 

b. Short Sale Waivers 

i. If an Eligible Servicemember qualifies for a short sale hereunder 
and sells his or her principal residence in a short sale conducted in 
accordance with Servicer’s then customary short sale process, 
Servicer shall, in the case of an owned portfolio first lien, waive 
the additional amount owed by the Eligible Servicemember so long 
as it is less than $250,000. 

ii. Servicer shall receive credit under Table 1, Section 4, for 
mandatory waivers of amounts under this Section 8.b.  

c. With respect to the refinancing program described in Section 9 below, 
Servicer shall use reasonable efforts to identify active servicemembers in 
its owned portfolio who would qualify and to solicit those individuals for 
the refinancing program. 
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9. Refinancing Program 

a. Servicer shall create a refinancing program for current borrowers.  
Servicer shall provide notification to eligible borrowers indicating that 
they may refinance under the program described herein.  The minimum 
occupied Property eligibility criteria for such a program shall be: 

i. The program shall apply only to Servicer-owned first lien 
mortgage loans. 

ii. Loan must be current with no delinquencies in past 12 months.  

iii. Fixed rate loans, ARMS, or I/Os are eligible if they have an initial 
period of 5 years or more. 

iv. Current LTV is greater than 100%. 

v. Loans must have been originated prior to January 1, 2009. 

vi. Loan must not have received any modification in the past 24 
months. 

vii. Loan must have a current interest rate of at least 5.25 % or PMMS 
+ 100 basis points, whichever is greater. 

viii. The minimum difference between the current interest rate and the 
offered interest rate under this program must be at least 25 basis 
points or there must be at least a $100 reduction in monthly 
payment. 

ix. Maximum UPB will be an amount at or below the Applicable 
Limits. 

x. The following types of loans are excluded from the program 
eligibility: 

1. FHA/VA 

2. Property outside the 50 States, DC, and Puerto Rico  

3. Loans on Manufactured Homes 

4. Loans for borrowers who have been in bankruptcy anytime 
within the prior 24 months 

5. Loans that have been in foreclosure within the prior 24 
months 

b. The refinancing program shall be made available to all borrowers fitting 
the minimum eligibility criteria described above in 9.a.  Servicer will be 
free to extend the program to other customers beyond the minimum 
eligibility criteria provided above and will receive credit under this 
Agreement for such refinancings, provided that such customers have an 
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LTV of over 80%, and would not have qualified for a refinance under 
Servicer’s generally-available refinance programs as of September 30, 
2011.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Servicer shall not be required to 
solicit or refinance borrowers who do not satisfy the eligibility criteria 
under 9.a above.  In addition, Servicer shall not be required to refinance a 
loan under circumstances that, in the reasonable judgment of the Servicer, 
would result in Troubled Debt Restructuring (“TDR”) treatment.  A letter 
to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission regarding TDR 
treatment, dated November 22, 2011, shall be provided to the Monitor for 
review. 

c. The structure of the refinanced loans shall be as follows: 

i. Servicer may offer refinanced loans with reduced rates either:   

1. For the life of the loan;   

2. For loans with current interest rates above 5.25% or PMMS 
+ 100 basis points, whichever is greater, the interest rate 
may be reduced for 5 years.  After the 5 year fixed interest 
rate period, the rate will return to the preexisting rate 
subject to a maximum rate increase of 0.5% annually; or 

3. For loans with an interest rate below 5.25% or PMMS + 
100 basis points, whichever is greater, the interest rate may 
be reduced to obtain at least a 25 basis point interest rate 
reduction or $100 payment reduction in monthly payment, 
for a period of 5 years, followed by 0.5% annual interest 
rate increases with a maximum ending interest rate of 
5.25% or PMMS + 100 basis points. 

ii. The original term of the loan may be changed. 

iii. Rate reduction could be done through a modification of the 
existing loan terms or refinance into a new loan. 

iv. New term of the loan has to be a fully amortizing product. 

v. The new interest rate will be capped at 100 basis points over the 
PMMS rate or 5.25%, whichever is greater, during the initial rate 
reduction period. 

d. Banks fees and expenses shall not exceed the amount of fees charged by 
Banks under the current Home Affordable Refinance Program (“HARP”) 
guidelines. 

e. The program shall be credited under these Consumer Relief Requirements 
as follows: 
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i. Credit will be calculated as the difference between the preexisting 
interest rate and the offered interest rate times UPB times a 
multiplier. 

ii. The multiplier shall be as follows: 

1. If the new rate applies for the life of the loan, the multiplier 
shall be 8 for loans with a remaining term greater than 15 
years, 6 for loans with a remaining term between 10 and 15 
years and 5 for loans with a remaining term less than 10 
years.   

2. If the new rate applies for 5 years, the multiplier shall be 5. 

f. Additional dollars spent by each Servicer on the refinancing program 
beyond that Servicer’s required commitment shall be credited 25% against 
that Servicer’s first lien principal reduction obligation and 75% against 
that Servicer’s second lien principal reduction obligation, up to the limits 
set forth in Table 1. 

10. Timing, Incentives, and Payments 

a. For the consumer relief and refinancing activities imposed by this 
Agreement, Servicer shall be entitled to receive credit against Servicer’s 
outstanding settlement commitments for activities taken on or after 
Servicer’s start date, March 1, 2012 (such date, the “Start Date”). 

b. Servicer shall receive an additional 25% credit against Servicer’s 
outstanding settlement commitments for any first or second lien principal 
reduction and any amounts credited pursuant to the refinancing program 
within 12 months of Servicer’s Start Date (e.g., a $1.00 credit for Servicer 
activity would count as $1.25). 

c. Servicer shall complete 75% of its Consumer Relief Requirement credits 
within two years of the Servicer’s Start Date. 

d. If Servicer fails to meet the commitment set forth in these Consumer 
Relief Requirements within three years of Servicer’s Start Date, Servicer 
shall pay an amount equal to 125% of the unmet commitment amount; 
except that if Servicer fails to meet the two year commitment noted above, 
and then fails to meet the three year commitment, the Servicer shall pay an 
amount equal to 140% of the unmet three-year commitment amount; 
provided, however, that if Servicer must pay any Participating State for 
failure to meet the obligations of a state-specific commitment to provide 
Consumer Relief pursuant to the terms of that commitment, then 
Servicer’s obligation to pay under this provision shall be reduced by the 
amount that such a Participating State would have received under this 
provision and the Federal portion of the payment attributable to that 
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Participating State.  The purpose of the 125% and 140% amounts is to 
encourage Servicer to meet its commitments set forth in these Consumer 
Relief Requirements. 

11. Applicable Requirements 

The provision of consumer relief by the Servicer in accordance with this Agreement 
in connection with any residential mortgage loan is expressly subject to, and shall be 
interpreted in accordance with, as applicable, the terms and provisions of the Servicer 
Participation Agreement with the U.S. Department of Treasury, any servicing 
agreement, subservicing agreement under which Servicer services for others, special 
servicing agreement, mortgage or bond insurance policy or related agreement or 
requirements to which Servicer is a party and by which it or its servicing affiliates are 
bound pertaining to the servicing or ownership of the mortgage loans, including 
without limitation the requirements, binding directions, or investor guidelines of the 
applicable investor (such as Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac), mortgage or bond insurer, 
or credit enhancer, provided, however, that the inability of a Servicer to offer a type, 
form or feature of the consumer relief payments by virtue of an Applicable 
Requirement shall not relieve the Servicer of its aggregate consumer relief obligations 
imposed by this Agreement, i.e., the Servicer must satisfy such obligations through 
the offer of other types, forms or features of consumer relief payments that are not 
limited by such Applicable Requirement. 
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Table 1
1
 

Menu Item Credit Towards Settlement  Credit Cap 

Consumer Relief Funds   

 

 

1. First Lien Mortgage 

Modification
2
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PORTFOLIO LOANS 

 Minimum 30% 

for First Lien 

Mods
3
 (which 

can be reduced 

by 2.5% of 

overall consumer 

relief funds for 

excess 

refinancing 

program credits 

above the 

minimum amount 

required)
  

i.   First lien principal 
forgiveness modification  

LTV </= 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$1.00 Credit 
 
LTV > 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$0.50 Credit (for only 
the portion of principal 
forgiven over 175%) 

 

ii.  Forgiveness of forbearance 
amounts on existing 
modifications 

 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.40 
Credit 
 
 

Max 12.5% 

                                                 
1 Where applicable, the number of days of delinquency will be determined by the number of days a loan is 
delinquent at the start of the earlier of the first or second lien modification process.  For example, if a borrower 
applies for a first lien principal reduction on February 1, 2012, then any delinquency determination for a later second 
lien modification made pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will be based on the number of days the second lien 
was delinquent as of February 1, 2012.  
2 Credit for all modifications is determined from the date the modification is approved or communicated to the 
borrower.  However, no credits shall be credited unless the payments on the modification are current as of 90 days 
following the implementation of the modification, including any trial period, except if the failure to make payments 
on the modification within the 90 day period is due to unemployment or reduced hours, in which case Servicer shall 
receive credit provided that Servicer has reduced the principal balance on the loan.  Eligible Modifications will 
include any modification that is completed on or after the Start Date, as long as the loan is current 90 days after the 
modification is implemented. 
3 All minimum and maximum percentages refer to a percentage of total consumer relief funds. 
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Menu Item Credit Towards Settlement  Credit Cap 

 
 
 
 

iii.  Earned forgiveness over a 
period of no greater than 3 
years – provided 
consistent with PRA  

 
 

 
 
 
 
LTV </= 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$.85 Credit 
 
LTV > 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$0.45 Credit (for only 
the portion of principal 
forgiven over 175%) 

 

SERVICE FOR OTHERS 
 

 
 

iv.   First lien principal 
forgiveness modification 
on investor loans  
(forgiveness by investor)  

$1.00 Write-down=$0.45 
Credit  
 

 

v.  Earned forgiveness over a 
period of no greater than 3 
years – provided 
consistent with PRA 

 
 

LTV </= 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$.40 Credit 
 
LTV > 175%: $1.00 Write-
down=$0.20 Credit (for only 
the portion of principal 
forgiven over 175%) 

 

2. Second Lien Portfolio 

Modifications 

 Minimum of 60% 

for 1
st
 and 2

nd
 

Lien Mods (which 

can be reduced by 

10% of overall 

consumer relief 

funds for excess 

refinancing 

program credits 

above the 

minimum 

amounts 

required) 

 

i.   Performing Second Liens  
(0-90 days delinquent) 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.90 
Credit 
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Menu Item Credit Towards Settlement  Credit Cap 

  

ii.  Seriously Delinquent 
Second Liens 
(>90-179 days delinquent) 

$1.00 Write-
down=$0.50 Credit 

 

 
iii.  Non-Performing Second 

Liens (180 or more days 
delinquent) 
 
 
 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.10 
Credit 

 

3. Enhanced Borrower 

Transitional Funds 

i.  

 Max 5%   

i. Servicer Makes 
Payment  

$1.00 Payment=$1.00 Credit 
(for the amount over $1,500) 

 

ii. Investor Makes 
Payment  (non-GSE) 

$1.00 Payment=0.45 Credit 
(for the amount over the 
$1,500 average payment 
established by Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac)  

 

4. Short Sales/Deeds in Lieu 

 
  

 
i. Servicer makes 

payment to unrelated 
2nd lien holder for 
release of 2nd lien  

 
$1.00 Payment=$1.00 Credit  

 

ii. Servicer forgives 
deficiency and releases 
lien on 1st lien 
Portfolio Loans 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.45 
Credit 

 

iii. Investor forgives 
deficiency and releases 
lien on 1st Lien 
investor loans 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.20 
Credit 

 

iv. Forgiveness of 
deficiency balance and 
release of lien on 
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Menu Item Credit Towards Settlement  Credit Cap 

Portfolio Second Liens 
Performing Second 
Liens  
(0-90 days 
delinquent) 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.90 
Credit 

 

 
Seriously 
Delinquent Second 
Liens  
(>90-179 days 
delinquent) 
 

 
 
$1.00 Write-down=$0.50 
Credit 

 

Non-Performing 
Second Liens (180 
or more days 
delinquent) 
 

$1.00 Write-down=$0.10 
Credit 

 

5. Deficiency Waivers 

 
 Max 10%   

i. Deficiency waived on 
1st and 2nd liens loans  

$1.00 Write-down=$0.10 
Credit 

 

 
6. Forbearance for unemployed 

homeowners 

 
i. Servicer forgives 

payment arrearages on 
behalf of borrower 

 
ii. Servicer facilitates 

traditional forbearance 
program  

 

 
 
 
 

$1.00 new forgiveness=$1.00 
Credit 

 
 
 
$1.00 new forbearance = 
$0.05 Credit 

 

 

 
7. Anti-Blight  Provisions 

 
 

 
Max 12%   

i. Forgiveness of 
principal associated 
with a property where 
Servicer does not 
pursue foreclosure 

$1.00 property 
value=$0.50 Credit 
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Menu Item Credit Towards Settlement  Credit Cap 

ii. Cash costs paid by 
Servicer for 
demolition of property 

$1.00 Payment=$1.00 Credit 
 
 

iii.     REO properties 
donated to accepting 
municipalities or non-
profits or to disabled 
servicemembers or 
relatives of deceased 
servicemembers 

$1.00 property value=$1.00 
Credit 
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Enforcement Terms 

A. Implementation Timeline.  Servicer anticipates that it will phase in the 

implementation of the Servicing Standards using a grid approach that prioritizes 

implementation based upon:  (i) the importance of the Servicing Standard to the 

borrower; and (ii) the difficulty of implementing the Servicing Standard.  In 

addition to the Servicing Standards that have been implemented upon entry of this 

Consent Judgment, the periods for implementation will be:  (a) within 60 days of 

entry of this Consent Judgment; (b) within 90 days of entry of this Consent 

Judgment; and (c) within 180 days of entry of this Consent Judgment.  Servicer 

will agree with the Monitor chosen pursuant to Section C, below, on the timetable 

in which the Servicing Standards will be implemented.  In the event that Servicer, 

using reasonable efforts, is unable to implement certain of the standards on the 

specified timetable, Servicer may apply to the Monitor for a reasonable extension 

of time to implement those standards or requirements.   

B. Monitoring Committee.  The Monitoring Committee established pursuant to 

certain Consent Judgments entered in United States, et al. v. Bank of America 

Corp., et al., No. 12-civ-00361-RMC (April 4, 2012) (Docket Nos. 10-14) and 

referenced specifically in paragraph 8 of those Consent Judgments, shall monitor 

Servicer’s compliance with this Consent Judgment (the “Monitoring 

Committee”).  References to the “Monitoring Committee” in this Exhibit and 

related documents shall be understood to refer to the same Monitoring Committee 

as that established in the Bank of America Corp. case referenced in the preceding 

sentence with the addition of a CFPB member, and the Monitoring Committee 

shall serve as the representative of the participating state and federal agencies in 

the administration of all aspects of this and all similar Consent Judgments and the 

monitoring of compliance with it by the Defendant.  The Monitoring Committee 

may substitute representation, as necessary.  Subject to Section F, the Monitoring 

Committee may share all Monitor Reports, as that term is defined in Section D.3 

below, with any releasing party. 

C.  Monitor 

Retention and Qualifications and Standard of Conduct 

1. Pursuant to an agreement of the parties, Joseph A. Smith Jr. is appointed 

to the position of Monitor under this Consent Judgment.  If the Monitor is 

at any time unable to complete his or her duties under this Consent 

Judgment, Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall mutually agree 

upon a replacement in accordance with the processes and standards set 

forth in Section C of Exhibit E. 

 
2. Such Monitor shall be highly competent and highly respected, with a 

reputation that will garner public confidence in his or her ability to 
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perform the tasks required under this Consent Judgment.  The Monitor 

shall have the right to employ an accounting firm or firms or other firm(s) 

with similar capabilities to support the Monitor in carrying out his or her 

duties under this Consent Judgment.  Monitor and Servicer shall agree on 

the selection of a “Primary Professional Firm” or “Firm,” which must have 

adequate capacity and resources to perform the work required under this 

agreement.  The Monitor shall also have the right to engage one or more 

attorneys or other professional persons to represent or assist the Monitor in 

carrying out the Monitor’s duties under this Consent Judgment (each such 

individual, along with each individual deployed to the engagement by the 

Primary Professional Firm, shall be defined as a “Professional”).  The 

Monitor and Professionals will collectively possess expertise in the areas 

of mortgage servicing, loss mitigation, business operations, compliance, 

internal controls, accounting, and foreclosure and bankruptcy law and 

practice.  The Monitor and Professionals shall at all times act in good faith 

and with integrity and fairness towards all the Parties. 

 

3. The Monitor and Professionals shall not have any prior relationships with 

the Parties that would undermine public confidence in the objectivity of 

their work and, subject to Section C.3(e), below, shall not have any 

conflicts of interest with any Party. 

(a) The Monitor and Professionals will disclose, and will make a 

reasonable inquiry to discover, any known current or prior 

relationships to, or conflicts with, any Party, any Party’s holding 

company, any subsidiaries of the Party or its holding company, 

directors, officers, and law firms. 

(b) The Monitor and Professionals shall make a reasonable inquiry to 

determine whether there are any facts that a reasonable individual 

would consider likely to create a conflict of interest for the 

Monitor or Professionals.  The Monitor and Professionals shall 

disclose any conflict of interest with respect to any Party. 

(c) The duty to disclose a conflict of interest or relationship pursuant 

to this Section C.3 shall remain ongoing throughout the course of 

the Monitor’s and Professionals’ work in connection with this 

Consent Judgment.   

(d) All Professionals shall comply with all applicable standards of 

professional conduct, including ethics rules and rules pertaining to 

conflicts of interest.  
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(e) To the extent permitted under prevailing professional standards, a 

Professional’s conflict of interest may be waived by written 

agreement of the Monitor and Servicer. 

(f) Servicer or the Monitoring Committee may move the Court for an 

order disqualifying any Professional on the grounds that such 

Professional has a conflict of interest that has inhibited or could 

inhibit the Professional’s ability to act in good faith and with 

integrity and fairness toward all Parties.   

4. The Monitor must agree not to be retained by any Party, or its successors 

or assigns, for a period of two years after the conclusion of the terms of 

the engagement.  Any Professionals who work on the engagement must 

agree not to work on behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, for a 

period of 1 year after the conclusion of the term of the engagement (the 

“Professional Exclusion Period”).  Any Firm that performs work with 

respect to Servicer on the engagement must agree not to perform work on 

behalf of Servicer, or its successor or assigns, that consists of advising 

Servicer on a response to the Monitor’s review during the engagement and 

for a period of six months after the conclusion of the term of the 

engagement (the “Firm Exclusion Period”).  The Professional Exclusion 

Period, Firm Exclusion Period, and terms of exclusion may be altered on a 

case-by-case basis upon written agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  

The Monitor shall organize the work of any Firms so as to minimize the 

potential for any appearance of, or actual, conflicts. 

Monitor’s Responsibilities 

5. It shall be the responsibility of the Monitor to determine whether Servicer 

is in compliance with the Servicing Standards and whether Servicer has 

satisfied the Consumer Relief Requirements in accordance with the 

authorities provided herein and to report his or her findings as provided in 

Section D.3, below.  

6. The manner in which the Monitor will carry out his or her compliance 

responsibilities under this Consent Judgment and, where applicable, the 

methodologies to be utilized shall be set forth in a work plan agreed upon 

by Servicer and the Monitor, and not objected to by the Monitoring 

Committee (the “Work Plan”). 

Internal Review Group 

7. Servicer will designate an internal quality control group that is 

independent from the line of business whose performance is being 

measured (the “Internal Review Group”) to perform compliance reviews 

each calendar quarter (“Quarter”) in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of the Work Plan (the “Compliance Reviews”) and satisfaction 
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of the Consumer Relief Requirements after the (A) end of each calendar 

year (and, in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and (B) earlier of 

the Servicer assertion that it has satisfied its obligations thereunder and the 

third anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Satisfaction Review”).  For 

the purposes of this provision, a group that is independent from the line of 

business shall be one that does not perform operational work on mortgage 

servicing, and ultimately reports to a Chief Risk Officer, Chief Audit 

Executive, Chief Compliance Officer, or another employee or manager 

who has no direct operational responsibility for mortgage servicing. 

8. The Internal Review Group shall have the appropriate authority, 

privileges, and knowledge to effectively implement and conduct the 

reviews and metric assessments contemplated herein and under the terms 

and conditions of the Work Plan. 

9. The Internal Review Group shall have personnel skilled at evaluating and 

validating processes, decisions, and documentation utilized through the 

implementation of the Servicing Standards.  The Internal Review Group 

may include non-employee consultants or contractors working at 

Servicer’s direction. 

10. The qualifications and performance of the Internal Review Group will be 

subject to ongoing review by the Monitor.  Servicer will appropriately 

remediate the reasonable concerns of the Monitor as to the qualifications 

or performance of the Internal Review Group. 

Work Plan 

11. Servicer’s compliance with the Servicing Standards shall be assessed via 

metrics identified and defined in Schedule E-1 hereto (as supplemented 

from time to time in accordance with Section C.22, below, the “Metrics”).  

The threshold error rates for the Metrics are set forth in Schedule E-1 (as 

supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section C.22, below, 

the “Threshold Error Rates”). The Internal Review Group shall perform 

test work to compute the Metrics each Quarter, and report the results of 

that analysis via the Compliance Reviews.  The Internal Review Group 

shall perform test work to assess the satisfaction of the Consumer Relief 

Requirements within 45 days after the (A) end of each calendar year (and, 

in the discretion of the Servicer, any Quarter) and (B) earlier of (i) the end 

of the Quarter in which Servicer asserts that it has satisfied its obligations 

under the Consumer Relief Provisions and (ii) the Quarter during which 

the third anniversary of the Effective Date occurs, and report that analysis 

via the Satisfaction Review. 
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12. Servicer and the Monitor shall reach agreement on the terms of the Work 

Plan within 90 days of the Monitor’s appointment, which time can be 

extended for good cause by agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  If 

such Work Plan is not objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 

days, the Monitor shall proceed to implement the Work Plan.  In the event 

that Servicer and the Monitor cannot agree on the terms of the Work Plan 

within 90 days or the agreed upon terms are not acceptable to the 

Monitoring Committee, Servicer and Monitoring Committee or the 

Monitor shall jointly petition the Court to resolve any disputes.  If the 

Court does not resolve such disputes, then the Parties shall submit all 

remaining disputes to binding arbitration before a panel of three 

arbitrators.  Each of Servicer and the Monitoring Committee shall appoint 

one arbitrator, and those two arbitrators shall appoint a third. 

13. The Work Plan may be modified from time to time by agreement of the 

Monitor and Servicer.  If such amendment to the Work Plan is not 

objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 days, the Monitor 

shall proceed to implement the amendment to the Work Plan.  To the 

extent possible, the Monitor shall endeavor to apply the Servicing 

Standards uniformly across all Servicers. 

14. The following general principles shall provide a framework for the 

formulation of the Work Plan: 
 

(a) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 

procedures that will be used by the Internal Review Group to 

perform the test work and compute the Metrics for each Quarter. 

(b) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed 

procedures that will be used by Servicer to report on its 

compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 

Consent Judgment, including, incidental to any other testing, 

confirmation of state-identifying information used by Servicer to 

compile state-level Consumer Relief information as required by 

Section D.2. 

(c) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and procedures 

that the Monitor will use to assess Servicer’s reporting on its 

compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this 

Consent Judgment.   

(d) The Work Plan will set forth the methodology and procedures the 

Monitor will utilize to review the testing work performed by the 

Internal Review Group. 



 

 

E-6 

 

(e) The Compliance Reviews and the Satisfaction Review may include 

a variety of audit techniques that are based on an appropriate 

sampling process and random and risk-based selection criteria, as 

appropriate and as set forth in the Work Plan. 

(f) In formulating, implementing, and amending the Work Plan, 

Servicer and the Monitor may consider any relevant information 

relating to patterns in complaints by borrowers, issues or 

deficiencies reported to the Monitor with respect to the Servicing 

Standards, and the results of prior Compliance Reviews. 

(g) The Work Plan should ensure that Compliance Reviews are 

commensurate with the size, complexity, and risk associated with 

the Servicing Standard being evaluated by the Metric. 

(h) Following implementation of the Work Plan, Servicer shall be 

required to compile each Metric beginning in the first full Quarter 

after the period for implementing the Servicing Standards 

associated with the Metric, or any extension approved by the 

Monitor in accordance with Section A, has run. 

Monitor’s Access to Information 

15. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 

the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall provide the Monitor with its 

regularly prepared business reports analyzing Executive Office servicing 

complaints (or the equivalent); access to all Executive Office servicing 

complaints (or the equivalent) (with appropriate redactions of borrower 

information other than borrower name and contact information to comply 

with privacy requirements); and, if Servicer tracks additional servicing 

complaints, quarterly information identifying the three most common 

servicing complaints received outside of the Executive Office complaint 

process (or the equivalent).  In the event that Servicer substantially 

changes its escalation standards or process for receiving Executive Office 

servicing complaints (or the equivalent), Servicer shall ensure that the 

Monitor has access to comparable information.   

16. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with 

the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall notify the Monitor promptly if 

Servicer becomes aware of reliable information indicating Servicer is 

engaged in a significant pattern or practice of noncompliance with a 

material aspect of the Servicing Standards.   

17. Servicer shall provide the Monitor with access to all work papers prepared 

by the Internal Review Group in connection with determining compliance 

with the Metrics or satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements in 

accordance with the Work Plan. 
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18. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 

to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 

noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 

reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers, the Monitor shall engage 

Servicer in a review to determine if the facts are accurate or the 

information is correct.   

19. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 

under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 

satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 

request information from Servicer in addition to that provided under 

Sections C.15-18.  Servicer shall provide the requested information in a 

format agreed upon between Servicer and the Monitor.   

20. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities 

under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the 

satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may 

interview Servicer’s employees and agents, provided that the interviews 

shall be limited to matters related to Servicer’s compliance with the 

Metrics or the Consumer Relief Requirements, and that Servicer shall be 

given reasonable notice of such interviews. 

Monitor’s Powers 

21. Where the Monitor reasonably determines that the Internal Review 

Group’s work cannot be relied upon or that the Internal Review Group did 

not correctly implement the Work Plan in some material respect, the 

Monitor may direct that the work on the Metrics (or parts thereof) be 

reviewed by Professionals or a third party other than the Internal Review 

Group, and that supplemental work be performed as necessary. 

22. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor 

to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of 

noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is 

reasonably likely to cause harm to borrowers or tenants residing in 

foreclosed properties, the Monitor shall engage Servicer in a review to 

determine if the facts are accurate or the information is correct.  If after 

that review, the Monitor reasonably concludes that such a pattern exists 

and is reasonably likely to cause material harm to borrowers or tenants 

residing in foreclosed properties, the Monitor may propose an additional 

Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate relating to Servicer’s 

compliance with the associated term or requirement.  Any additional 

Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates (a) must be similar to the 

Metrics and associated Threshold Error Rates contained in Schedule E-1, 

(b) must relate to material terms of the Servicing Standards, (c) must 
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either (i) be outcome based or (ii) require the existence of policies and 

procedures required by the Servicing Standards, in a manner similar to 

Metrics 5.B-E, and (d) must be distinct from, and not overlap with, any 

other Metric or Metrics.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Monitor may 

add a Metric that satisfies (a)-(c) but does not satisfy (d) of the preceding 

sentence if the Monitor first asks the Servicer to propose, and then 

implement, a Corrective Action Plan, as defined below, for the material 

term of the Servicing Standards with which there is a pattern of 

noncompliance and that is reasonably likely to cause material harm to 

borrowers or tenants residing in foreclosed properties, and the Servicer 

fails to implement the Corrective Action Plan according to the timeline 

agreed to with the Monitor.    

23. If Monitor proposes an additional Metric and associated Threshold Error 

Rate pursuant to Section C.22, above, Monitor, the Monitoring 

Committee, and Servicer shall agree on amendments to Schedule E-1 to 

include the additional Metrics and Threshold Error Rates provided for in 

Section C.22, above, and an appropriate timeline for implementation of 

the Metric.  If Servicer does not timely agree to such additions, any 

associated amendments to the Work Plan, or the implementation schedule, 

the Monitor may petition the court for such additions. 

24. Any additional Metric proposed by the Monitor pursuant to the processes 

in Sections C.22 or C.23 and relating to provision VIII.B.1 of the 

Servicing Standards shall be limited to Servicer’s performance of its 

obligations to comply with (1) the federal Protecting Tenants at 

Foreclosure Act and state laws that provide comparable protections to 

tenants of foreclosed properties; (2) state laws that govern relocation 

assistance payments to tenants (“cash for keys”); and (3) state laws that 

govern the return of security deposits to tenants. 

D. Reporting   

Quarterly Reports 

1. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will report the results of its 

Compliance Reviews for that Quarter (the “Quarterly Report”).  The 

Quarterly Report shall include:  (i) the Metrics for that Quarter; (ii) 

Servicer’s progress toward meeting its payment obligations under this 

Consent Judgment; and (iii) general statistical data on Servicer’s overall 

servicing performance described in Schedule Y.  Except where an 

extension is granted by the Monitor, Quarterly Reports shall be due no 

later than 45 days following the end of the Quarter and shall be provided 

to:  (1) the Monitor and (2) the Board of Servicer or a committee of the 

Board designated by Servicer.  The first Quarterly Report shall cover the 

first full Quarter after this Consent Judgment is entered. 
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2. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will transmit to each state a 

report (the “State Report”) including general statistical data on Servicer’s 

servicing performance, such as aggregate and state-specific information 

regarding the number of borrowers assisted and credited activities 

conducted pursuant to the Consumer Relief Requirements, as described in 

Schedule Y.  The State Report will be delivered simultaneously with the 

submission of the Quarterly Report to the Monitor.  Servicer shall provide 

copies of such State Reports to the Monitor and Monitoring Committee.   

Monitor Reports 

3. The Monitor shall report on Servicer’s compliance with this Consent 

Judgment in periodic reports setting forth his or her findings (the “Monitor 

Reports”).  The first three Monitor Reports will each cover at least two 

Quarterly Reports. The first Monitor's Report may, at the Monitor's 

discretion, include more than two Quarterly Reports but shall not exceed 

three Quarterly Reports. If the first three Monitor Reports do not find 

Potential Violations (as defined in Section E.1, below), each successive 

Monitor Report will cover four Quarterly Reports, unless and until a 

Quarterly Report reveals a Potential Violation (as defined in Section E.1, 

below).  In the case of a Potential Violation, the Monitor may (but retains 

the discretion not to) submit a Monitor Report after the filing of each of 

the next two Quarterly Reports, provided, however, that such additional 

Monitor Report(s) shall be limited in scope to the Metric or Metrics as to 

which a Potential Violation has occurred. 

4. Prior to issuing any Monitor Report, the Monitor shall confer with 

Servicer and the Monitoring Committee regarding its preliminary findings 

and the reasons for those findings.  Servicer shall have the right to submit 

written comments to the Monitor, which shall be appended to the final 

version of the Monitor Report.  Final versions of each Monitor Report 

shall be provided simultaneously to the Monitoring Committee and 

Servicer within a reasonable time after conferring regarding the Monitor’s 

findings.  The Monitor Reports shall be filed with the Court overseeing 

this Consent Judgment and shall also be provided to the Board of Servicer 

or a committee of the Board designated by Servicer. 

5. The Monitor Report shall: (i) describe the work performed by the Monitor 

and any findings made by the Monitor during the relevant period, (ii) list 

the Metrics and Threshold Error Rates, (iii) list the Metrics, if any, where 

the Threshold Error Rates have been exceeded, (iv) state whether a 

Potential Violation has occurred and explain the nature of the Potential 

Violation, and (v) state whether any Potential Violation has been cured.  In 

addition, following each Satisfaction Review, the Monitor Report shall 

report on the Servicer’s satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, 
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including regarding the number of borrowers assisted and credited 

activities conducted pursuant to the Consumer Relief Requirements, and 

identify any material inaccuracies identified in prior State Reports.  Except 

as otherwise provided herein, the Monitor Report may be used in any 

court hearing, trial, or other proceeding brought pursuant to this Consent 

Judgment pursuant to Section J, below, and shall be admissible in 

evidence in a proceeding brought under this Consent Judgment pursuant to 

Section J, below.  Such admissibility shall not prejudice Servicer’s right 

and ability to challenge the findings and/or the statements in the Monitor 

Report as flawed, lacking in probative value or otherwise.  The Monitor 

Report with respect to a particular Potential Violation shall not be 

admissible or used for any purpose if Servicer cures the Potential 

Violation pursuant to Section E, below. 

Satisfaction of Payment Obligations 

6. Upon the satisfaction of any category of payment obligation under this 

Consent Judgment, Servicer, at its discretion, may request that the Monitor 

certify that Servicer has discharged such obligation.  Provided that the 

Monitor is satisfied that Servicer has met the obligation, the Monitor may 

not withhold and must provide the requested certification. Any subsequent 

Monitor Report shall not include a review of Servicer’s compliance with 

that category of payment obligation. 

Compensation 

7. Within 120 days of entry of this Consent Judgment, the Monitor shall, in 

consultation with the Monitoring Committee and Servicer, prepare and 

present to Monitoring Committee and Servicer an annual budget providing 

its reasonable best estimate of all fees and expenses of the Monitor to be 

incurred during the first year of the term of this Consent Judgment, 

including the fees and expenses of Professionals and support staff (the 

“Monitoring Budget”).  On a yearly basis thereafter, the Monitor shall 

prepare an updated Monitoring Budget providing its reasonable best 

estimate of all fees and expenses to be incurred during that year. The 

Monitor, at his discretion, may alter the timing of the budgeting process so 

that Servicer may be incorporated into the same billing cycle as 

signatories to the Consent Judgments filed in the Bank of America Corp 

case referenced above. Absent an objection within 20 days, a Monitoring 

Budget or updated Monitoring Budget shall be implemented.  Consistent 

with the Monitoring Budget, Servicer shall pay all fees and expenses of 

the Monitor, including the fees and expenses of Professionals and support 

staff.  The fees, expenses, and costs of the Monitor, Professionals, and 

support staff shall be reasonable.  Servicer may apply to the Court to 

reduce or disallow fees, expenses, or costs that are unreasonable. 
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E. Potential Violations and Right to Cure 

1. A “Potential Violation” of this Consent Judgment occurs if the Servicer 

has exceeded the Threshold Error Rate set for a Metric in a given Quarter.  

In the event of a Potential Violation, Servicer shall meet and confer with 

the Monitoring Committee within 15 days of the Quarterly Report or 

Monitor Report indicating such Potential Violation. 

2. Servicer shall have a right to cure any Potential Violation. 

3. Subject to Section E.4, a Potential Violation is cured if (a) a corrective 

action plan approved by the Monitor (the “Corrective Action Plan”) is 

determined by the Monitor to have been satisfactorily completed in 

accordance with the terms thereof; and (b) a Quarterly Report covering the 

Cure Period (as defined herein) reflects that the Threshold Error Rate has 

not been exceeded with respect to the same Metric and the Monitor 

confirms the accuracy of said report using his or her ordinary testing 

procedures.  The Cure Period shall be the first full quarter after completion 

of the Corrective Action Plan or, if the completion of the Corrective 

Action Plan occurs within the first month of a Quarter and if the Monitor 

determines that there is sufficient time remaining, the period between 

completion of the Corrective Action Plan and the end of that Quarter (the 

“Cure Period”). 

4. If after Servicer cures a Potential Violation pursuant to the previous 

section, another violation occurs with respect to the same Metric, then the 

second Potential Violation shall immediately constitute an uncured 

violation for purposes of Section J.3, provided, however, that such second 

Potential Violation occurs in either the Cure Period or the quarter 

immediately following the Cure Period. 

5. In addition to the Servicer’s obligation to cure a Potential Violation 

through the Corrective Action Plan, Servicer must remediate any material 

harm to particular borrowers identified through work conducted under the 

Work Plan.  In the event that a Servicer has a Potential Violation that so 

far exceeds the Threshold Error Rate for a metric that the Monitor 

concludes that the error is widespread, Servicer shall, under the 

supervision of the Monitor, identify other borrowers who may have been 

harmed by such noncompliance and remediate all such harms to the extent 

that the harm has not been otherwise remediated. 

6. In the event a Potential Violation is cured as provided in Sections E.3, 

above, then no Party shall have any remedy under this Consent Judgment 

(other than the remedies in Section E.5) with respect to such Potential 

Violation. 
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F. Confidentiality 

1. These provisions shall govern the use and disclosure of any and all 

information designated as “CONFIDENTIAL,” as set forth below, in 

documents (including email), magnetic media, or other tangible things 

provided by the Servicer to the Monitor in this case, including the 

subsequent disclosure by the Monitor to the Monitoring Committee of 

such information.  In addition, it shall also govern the use and disclosure 

of such information when and if provided to the participating state parties 

or the participating agency or department of the United States whose 

claims are released through this settlement (“participating state or federal 

agency whose claims are released through this settlement”). 

2. The Monitor may, at his discretion, provide to the Monitoring Committee 

or to a participating state or federal agency whose claims are released 

through this settlement any documents or information received from the 

Servicer related to a Potential Violation or related to the review described 

in Section C.18; provided, however, that any such documents or 

information so provided shall be subject to the terms and conditions of 

these provisions.  Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the Monitor 

from providing documents received from the Servicer and not designated 

as “CONFIDENTIAL” to a participating state or federal agency whose 

claims are released through this settlement. 

3. The Servicer shall designate as “CONFIDENTIAL” that information, 

document or portion of a document or other tangible thing provided by the 

Servicer to the Monitor, the Monitoring Committee or to any other 

participating state or federal agency whose claims are released through 

this settlement that Servicer believes contains a trade secret or confidential 

research, development, or commercial information subject to protection 

under applicable state or federal laws (collectively, “Confidential 

Information”).  These provisions shall apply to the treatment of 

Confidential Information so designated.   

4. Except as provided by these provisions, all information designated as 

“CONFIDENTIAL” shall not be shown, disclosed or distributed to any 

person or entity other than those authorized by these provisions.  

Participating states and federal agencies whose claims are released 

through this settlement agree to protect Confidential Information to the 

extent permitted by law. 

5. This agreement shall not prevent or in any way limit the ability of a 

participating state or federal agency whose claims are released through 

this settlement to comply with any subpoena, Congressional demand for 

documents or information, court order, request under the Right of 

Financial Privacy Act, or a state or federal public records or state or 
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federal freedom of information act request; provided, however, that in the 

event that a participating state or federal agency whose claims are released 

through this settlement receives such a subpoena, Congressional demand, 

court order or other request for the production of any Confidential 

Information covered by this Order, the state or federal agency shall, unless 

prohibited under applicable law or unless the state or federal agency 

would violate or be in contempt of the subpoena, Congressional demand, 

or court order, (1) notify the Servicer of such request as soon as 

practicable and in no event more than ten (10) calendar days of its receipt 

or three calendar days before the return date of the request, whichever is 

sooner, and (2) allow the Servicer ten (10) calendar days from the receipt 

of the notice to obtain a protective order or stay of production for the 

documents or information sought, or to otherwise resolve the issue, before 

the state or federal agency discloses such documents or information. In all 

cases covered by this Section, the state or federal agency shall inform the 

requesting party that the documents or information sought were produced 

subject to the terms of these provisions.   

G. Dispute Resolution Procedures.  Servicer, the Monitor, and the Monitoring 

Committee will engage in good faith efforts to reach agreement on the proper 

resolution of any dispute concerning any issue arising under this Consent 

Judgment, including any dispute or disagreement related to the withholding of 

consent, the exercise of discretion, or the denial of any application.  Subject to 

Section J, below, in the event that a dispute cannot be resolved, Servicer, the 

Monitor, or the Monitoring Committee may petition the Court for resolution of 

the dispute.  Where a provision of this agreement requires agreement, consent of, 

or approval of any application or action by a Party or the Monitor, such 

agreement, consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

H. Consumer Complaints.  Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall be deemed to 

interfere with existing consumer complaint resolution processes, and the Parties 

are free to bring consumer complaints to the attention of Servicer for resolution 

outside the monitoring process.  In addition, Servicer will continue to respond in 

good faith to individual consumer complaints provided to it by State Attorneys 

General or State Financial Regulators in accordance with the routine and practice 

existing prior to the entry of this Consent Judgment, whether or not such 

complaints relate to Covered Conduct released herein. 

I. Relationship to Other Enforcement Actions.  Nothing in this Consent Judgment 

shall affect requirements imposed on the Servicer pursuant to Consent Orders 

issued by the appropriate Federal Banking Agency (FBA), as defined in 12 U.S.C. 

§ 1813(q), against the Servicer.  In conducting their activities under this Consent 

Judgment, the Monitor and Monitoring Committee shall not impede or otherwise 

interfere with the Servicer’s compliance with the requirements imposed pursuant 
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to such Orders or with oversight and enforcement of such compliance by the 

FBA. 

J. Enforcement 

1. Consent Judgment.  This Consent Judgment shall be filed in the U.S. 

District Court for the District of Columbia (the “Court”) and shall be 

enforceable therein.  Servicer and the Releasing Parties shall waive their 

rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest in any 

court the validity or effectiveness of this Consent Judgment.  Servicer and 

the Releasing Parties agree not to contest any jurisdictional facts, 

including the Court’s authority to enter this Consent Judgment. 

2. Enforcing Authorities.  Servicer’s obligations under this Consent 

Judgment shall be enforceable solely in the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Columbia.  An enforcement action under this Consent 

Judgment may be brought by any Party to this Consent Judgment or the 

Monitoring Committee.  Monitor Report(s) and Quarterly Report(s) shall 

not be admissible into evidence by a Party to this Consent Judgment 

except in an action in the Court to enforce this Consent Judgment.  In 

addition, unless immediate action is necessary in order to prevent 

irreparable and immediate harm, prior to commencing any enforcement 

action, a Party must provide notice to the Monitoring Committee of its 

intent to bring an action to enforce this Consent Judgment.  The members 

of the Monitoring Committee shall have no more than 21 days to 

determine whether to bring an enforcement action.  If the members of the 

Monitoring Committee decline to bring an enforcement action, the Party 

must wait 21 additional days after such a determination by the members of 

the Monitoring Committee before commencing an enforcement action. 

3. Enforcement Action.  In the event of an action to enforce the obligations 

of Servicer and to seek remedies for an uncured Potential Violation for 

which Servicer’s time to cure has expired, the sole relief available in such 

an action will be: 

(a) Equitable Relief.  An order directing non-monetary equitable 

relief, including injunctive relief, directing specific performance 

under the terms of this Consent Judgment, or other non-monetary 

corrective action. 

(b) Civil Penalties.  The Court may award as civil penalties an amount 

not more than $1 million per uncured Potential Violation; or, in the 

event of a second uncured Potential Violation of Metrics 1.a, 1.b, 

or 2.a (i.e., a Servicer fails the specific Metric in a Quarter, then 

fails to cure that Potential Violation, and then in subsequent 

Quarters, fails the same Metric again in a Quarter and fails to cure 
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that Potential Violation again in a subsequent Quarter), where the 

final uncured Potential Violation involves widespread 

noncompliance with that Metric, the Court may award as civil 

penalties an amount not more than $5 million for the second 

uncured Potential Violation. 

Nothing in this Section shall limit the availability of remedial 

compensation to harmed borrowers as provided in Section E.5. 

(c) Any penalty or payment owed by Servicer pursuant to the Consent 

Judgment shall be paid to the clerk of the Court or as otherwise 

agreed by the Monitor and the Servicer and distributed by the 

Monitor as follows: 

1. In the event of a penalty based on a violation of a term of 

the Servicing Standards that is not specifically related to 

conduct in bankruptcy, the penalty shall be allocated, first, 

to cover the costs incurred by any state or states in 

prosecuting the violation, and second, among the 

participating states according to the same allocation as the 

State Payment Settlement Amount. 

 

2. In the event of a penalty based on a violation of a term of 

the Servicing Standards that is specifically related to 

conduct in bankruptcy, the penalty shall be allocated to the 

United States or as otherwise directed by the Director of the 

United States Trustee Program. 

 

3. In the event of a payment due under Paragraph 10.d of the 

Consumer Relief requirements, 50% of the payment shall 

be allocated to the United States, and 50% shall be 

allocated to the State Parties to the Consent Judgment, 

divided among them in a manner consistent with the 

allocation in Exhibit B of the Consent Judgment.  

K. Sunset.  This Consent Judgment and all Exhibits shall retain full force and effect 

for three and one-half years from the date it is entered (the “Term”), unless 

otherwise specified in the Exhibit. The duration of the Servicer’s obligations 

under the Servicing Standards set forth in Exhibit A shall be reduced to a period 

of three years from the date of the entry of the Consent Judgment, if at the end of 

the third year, the Monitor’s two servicing standard compliance reports 

immediately prior to that date reflect that the Servicer had no Potential Violations 

during those reporting periods, or any Corrective Action Plans that the Monitor 

had not yet certified as completed. Servicer shall submit a final Quarterly Report 
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for the last quarter or portion thereof falling within the Term, and shall cooperate 

with the Monitor’s review of said report, which shall be concluded no later than 

six months following the end of the Term, after which time Servicer shall have no 

further obligations under this Consent Judgment.  
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 Servicing Standards Quarterly Compliance Metrics 
Executive Summary 
 

Sampling: (a) A random selection of the greater of 100 loans and a statistically significant sample.  (b) Sample will be selected from the population as defined in column E. 
 
Review and Reporting Period: Results will be reported Quarterly and 45 days after the end of the quarter.  
 
Errors Definition: An error is a measurement in response to a test question related to the Servicing Standards that results in the failure of the specified outcome.  Errors in 

response to multiple questions with respect to a single outcome would be treated as only a single error.  

 

Metrics Tested 

A B C D E F 

Metric Measurements 

Loan Level 
Tolerance 
for Error

1
 

Threshold 
Error Rate

2
  

Test Loan Population and 
Error Definition Test Questions 

1. Outcome Creates Significant Negative Customer Impact 

  A. Foreclosure 
sale in error 

Customer is in default, 
legal standing to 
foreclose, and the loan 
is not subject to active 
trial, or BK.  

n/a 1% Population Definition: 
Foreclosure Sales that 
occurred in the review 
period. 
 
Sample (A): # of Foreclosure 
Sales in the review period 
that were tested 
 
Error Definition (B): # of 
loans that went to 
foreclosure sale in error due 
to failure of any one of the 
test questions for this metric  
Error Rate = B/A 

1. Did the foreclosing party have legal standing to foreclose? 
2. Was the borrower in an active trial period plan (unless the 

servicer took appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 
3. Was the borrower offered a loan modification fewer than 14 

days before the foreclosure sale date (unless the borrower 
declined the offer or the servicer took appropriate steps to 
postpone the sale)? 

4. Was the borrower not in default (unless the default is cured to 
the satisfaction of the Servicer or investor within 10 days 
before the foreclosure sale date and the Servicer took 
appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 

5. Was the borrower protected from foreclosure by Bankruptcy 
(unless Servicer had notice of such protection fewer than 10 
days before the foreclosure sale date and Servicer took 
appropriate steps to postpone sale)? 
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  B. Incorrect Mod 
denial 

Program eligibility, all 
documentation 
received, DTI test, NPV 
test 

 5% On income 
errors  

5% Population Definition: 
Modification Denied In the 
Review Period. 
 
Error Definition:  # of loans 
that were denied a 
modification as a result of 
failure of anyone of the test 
questions for this metric. 

1. Was the evaluation of eligibility Inaccurate (as per HAMP, 
Fannie, Freddie or proprietary modification criteria)? 

2. Was the income calculation Inaccurate? 
3. Were the inputs used in the decision tool (NPV and Waterfall 

test) entered in error or inconsistent with company policy? 
4. Was the loan NPV positive? 
5. Was there an inaccurate determination that the documents 

received were incomplete? 
6. Was the trial inappropriately failed?  

2. Integrity of Critical Sworn Documents 

 A. Was AOI 
properly prepared? 

Based upon personal 
knowledge, properly 
notarized, amounts 
agree to system of 
record within 
tolerance if 
overstated. 

Question # 1: 
Y/N;  
 
Question # 2: 
Amounts 
overstated (or, 
for question on 
Escrow 
Amounts, 
understated) by 
the greater of 
$99 or 1% of 
the Total 
Indebtedness 
Amount  

5% Population Definition: 
Affidavits of indebtedness 
filed in the review period. 
 
Error Definition:  For 
question 1, yes; for question 
2, the # of Loans where the 
sum of errors exceeds the 
allowable threshold. 

1. Taken as a whole and accounting for contrary evidence 
provided by the Servicer, does the sample indicate systemic 
issues with either affiants lacking personal knowledge or 
improper notarization?  

2. Verify all the amounts outlined below against the system of 
record.  
a. Was the correct principal balance used ?  
b. Was the correct interest amount (and per diem) used? 
c. Was the escrow balance correct? 
d. Were correct other fees used? 
e. Was the correct corporate advance balance used? 
f. Was the correct late charge balance used? 
g. Was the suspense balance correct? 
h. Was the total indebtedness amount on the Affidavit 

correct? 

 B. POC  Accurate statement of 
pre-petition arrearage 
to system of record 

Amounts over 
stated by the 
greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
correct Pre-
Petition 
Arrearage 

5% Population Definition: POCs 
filed in the review period. 
 
Error Definition: # of Loans 
where sum of errors exceeds 
the allowable threshold.  

1.     Are the correct amounts set forth in the form,                                                                                
with respect to pre-petition missed payments, fees, expenses 
charges, and escrow shortages or deficiencies? 
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C. MRS Affidavits Customer is in default 
and amount of 
arrearage is within 
tolerance. 

Amounts 
overstated (or 
for escrows 
amounts, 
understated) by 
the greater of 
$50 or 3% of 
the correct Post 
Petition Total 
Balance. 

5% Population Definition: 
Affidavits supporting MRS’s 
filed in the review period. 
 
Error Definition: # of Loans 
where the sum of errors 
exceeds the allowable 
threshold. 
 

1. Verify against the system of record, within tolerance if 
overstated:  

a. The post-petition default amount; 
b. The amount of fees or charges applied to such  

pre- petition default amount or post-petition amount 
since the later of the date of the petition or the 
preceding statement; and  

c. Escrow shortages or deficiencies. 

D. Disclosure of 
Personally   
Identifiable 
Information in POC 

POC complies with 
privacy protection and 
public access 
provisions of the 
United States 
Bankruptcy Code, 
Federal Rules of 
Bankruptcy Procedure, 
and any applicable 
local rule or order.  

n/a 3.5% Population Definition: POCs 
filed in the review period.    
 
Error Definition:  # of POCs 
with an error in any subpart 
of the test question. 

1. Does the POC and all attachments fully and permanently 
redact: 

a. All but the last 4 digits of any individual’s social security 
number or taxpayer identification number? 

b. All but the year of any individual’s birth? 
c. The full name of any individual known to be and identified 

as a minor (such minor’s initials may be displayed)? 
d. All but the last 4 digits of any individual’s financial 

account number? 
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3. Pre-foreclosure Initiation 

 A.  Pre Foreclosure 
Initiation 

Accuracy of Account 
information  
 

Amounts over 
stated by the 
greater of $99 
or 1% of the 
Total balance. 

5% Population Definition: 
Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral 
date in the review 
period. 
 
Error Definition: # of 
Loans that were 
referred to foreclosure 
with an error in any 
one of the foreclosure 
initiation test 
questions. 

** Verify all the amounts outlined below against the system of 
record.  
1. Was the loan delinquent as of the date the first legal action 

was filed? 
2. Was information contained in the Account Statement 

completed accurately? 
a. The total amount needed to reinstate or bring the 

account current, and the amount of the principal; 
b. The date through which the borrower’s obligation is 

paid; 
c. The date of the last full payment; 
d. The current interest rate in effect for the loan; 
e. The date on which the interest rate may next reset or 

adjust; 
f. The amount of any prepayment fee to be charged, if 

any; 
g. A description of any late payment fees; and 
h. A telephone number or electronic mail address that may 

be used by the obligor to obtain information regarding 
the mortgage. 

 B. Pre Foreclosure 
Initiation 
Notifications 

Notification sent to the 
customer supporting 
right to foreclose along 
with: Applicable 
information upon 
customers request, 
Account statement 
information, 
Ownership statement, 
and Loss Mitigation 
statement. 
Notifications required 
before 14 days prior to 
referral to foreclosure. 

N/A  5% Population Definition: 
Loans with a 
Foreclosure referral 
date in the review 
period. 
 
Error Definition: # of 
Loans that were 
referred to foreclosure 
with an error in any 
one of the foreclosure 
initiation test 
questions. 

1. Were all the required notifications statements mailed no 
later than 14 days prior to first Legal Date (i) Account 
Statement; (ii) Ownership Statement; and (iii) Loss 
Mitigation Statement? 

2. Did the Ownership Statement accurately reflect that the 
servicer or investor has the right to foreclose? 

3. Was the Loss Mitigation Statement complete and did it 
accurately state that 

a.    The borrower was ineligible (if applicable); or  

b.    The borrower was solicited, was the subject of right 
party contact routines, and that any timely application 
submitted by the borrower was evaluated? 
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4. Accuracy and Timeliness of Payment Application and Appropriateness of Fees 

 A. Fees adhere to 
guidance  
(Preservation fees, 
Valuation fees and 
Attorney's fees) 

Services rendered, 
consistent with loan 
instrument, within 
applicable 
requirements. 

Amounts over 
stated by the 
greater of $50 
or 3% of the 
Total Default 
Related Fees 
Collected. 

5% Population Definition:  
Defaulted loans (60 +) 
with borrower payable 
default related fees* 
collected.  
 
Error Definition: # of 
loans where the sum of 
default related fee 
errors exceeds the 
threshold.  
* Default related fees 
are defined as any fee 
collected for a default-
related service after 
the agreement date. 

For fees collected in the test period:  
1. Was the frequency of the fees collected (in excess of 

what is consistent with state guidelines or fee 
provisions in servicing standards? 

2. Was amount of the fee collected higher than the 
amount allowable under the Servicer’s Fee schedule 
and for which there was not a valid exception? 

B. Adherence to 
customer payment 
processing 
 

Payments posted 
timely (within 2 
business days of 
receipt) and 
accurately.  

Amounts 
understated by 
the greater 
$50.00 or 3% of 
the scheduled 
payment. 
 

5% Population Definition: 
All subject payments 
posted within review 
period. 
 
Error Definition:  # of 
loans with an error in 
any one of the 
payment application 
test questions. 

1.     Were payments posted to the right account number? 
2.     Were payments posted in the right amount? 
3.     Were properly identified conforming payments posted 

within 2 business days of receipt and credited as of the date 
of receipt? 

4.     Did servicer accept payments within $50.00 of the scheduled 
payment, including principal and interest and where 
applicable taxes and insurance as required by the servicing 
standards? 

5.     Were partial payments credited to the borrower’s account 
as of the date that the funds cover a full payment? 

6.     Were payments posted to principal interest and                                  
escrow before fees and expenses?  
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C. Reconciliation of 
certain waived fees. 
(I.b.11.C) 

Appropriately 
updating the Servicer’s 
systems of record in 
connection with the 
reconciliation of 
payments as of the 
date of dismissal of a 
debtor’s Chapter 13 
bankruptcy case, entry 
of an order granting 
Servicer relief from the 
stay under Chapter 13, 
or entry of an order 
granting the debtor a 
discharge under 
Chapter 13, to reflect 
the waiver of any fee, 
expense or charge 
pursuant to 
paragraphs III.B.1.c.i or 
III.B.1.d of the 
Servicing Standards 
(within applicable 
tolerances). 

Amounts over 
stated by the 
greater of $50 
or 3 % of the 
correct 
reconciliation 
amount. 

5% Population Definition:  
All accounts where in-
line reconciliation 
routine is completed 
within review period. 
 
Error Definition:  # of 
loans with an error in 
the reconciliation 
routine resulting in 
overstated amounts 
remaining on the 
borrower account. 
 

1.    Were all required waivers of Fees, expense or charges 
applied and/or corrected accurately as part of the 
reconciliation?  

 

D. Late fees adhere 
to guidance 

Late fees are collected 
only as permitted 
under the Servicing 
Standards (within 
applicable tolerances). 

 Y/N 5% Population Definition:  
All late fees collected 
within the review 
period. 
 
Error Definition:  # of 
loans with an error on 
any one of the test 
questions. 

1.   Was a late fee collected with respect to a delinquency                                                                                
attributable solely to late fees or delinquency charges 
assessed on an earlier payment? 
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5. Policy/Process Implementation 

 A. Third Party 
Vendor 
Management 

Is periodic third party 
review process in 
place?  
 
Is there evidence of 
remediation of 
identified issues? 

Y/N N Quarterly review of  
vendors providing 
Foreclosure 
Bankruptcy, Loss 
Mitigation and other 
Mortgage services. 
 
Error Definition:  
Failure on any one of 
the test questions for 
this metric. 
 

1.     Is there evidence of documented oversight policies and 
procedures demonstrating compliance with vendor oversight 
provisions: (i) adequate due diligence procedures, (ii) 
adequate enforcement procedures (iii) adequate vendor 
performance evaluation procedures (iv) adequate 

remediation procedures?
3
 

2.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling and testing of 
foreclosure documents (including notices of default and 
letters of reinstatement) and bankruptcy documents 
prepared by vendors on behalf of the servicer? 

3.     Is there evidence of periodic sampling of fees and costs 
assessed by vendors to; (i) substantiate services were 
rendered (ii) fees are in compliance with servicer fee 
schedule (iii) Fees are compliant with state law and 
provisions of the servicing standards? 

4.     Is there evidence of vendor scorecards used to evaluate 
vendor performance that include quality metrics (error rate 
etc)? 

5.     Evidence of remediation for vendors who fail metrics set 
forth in vendor scorecards and/or QC sample tests 
consistent with the servicer policy and procedures? 

B. Customer Portal Implementation of a 
customer portal. 

Y/N N  Quarterly testing 
review of Customer 
Portal.  

1.    Does the portal provide loss mitigation status updates? 
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C. SPOC Implement single point 
of contact (“SPOC”) 

Y/N 
 Question #4:  
5% 

N 
Question #4:  
5% 

Quarterly review of 
SPOC program per 
provisions in the 
servicing standard. 
 
Population Definition 
(for Question 4):  
Potentially eligible 
borrowers who were 
identified as requesting 
loss mitigation 
assistance. 
 
Error Definition:  
Failure on any one of 
the test questions for 
this metric. 

1.      Is there evidence of documented policies and procedures 
demonstrating compliance with SPOC program provisions? 

 2.     Is there evidence that a single point of contact is available 
for applicable borrowers? 

 3.     Is there evidence that relevant records relating to 
borrower’s account are available to the borrower’s SPOC? 

4.     Is there evidence that the SPOC has been identified to the 
borrower and the method the borrower may use to contact 
the SPOC has been communicated to the borrower? 

 

D. Workforce 
Management 

Training and staffing 
adequacy 
requirements 

Y/N N Loss mitigation, SPOC 
and Foreclosure Staff. 
 
Error Definition:  
Failure on any one of 
the test questions for 
this metric. 

1.     Is there evidence of documented oversight policies and 
procedures demonstrating effective forecasting, capacity 
planning, training and monitoring of staffing requirements 
for foreclosure operations? 

2.     Is there evidence of periodic training and certification of 
employees who prepare Affidavits sworn statements or 
declarations. 

E.  Affidavit of  
Indebtedness 
Integrity 

Affidavits of 
Indebtedness are 
signed by affiants who 
have personal 
knowledge of relevant 
facts and properly 
review the affidavit 
before signing it. 

Y/N N Annual Review of 
Policy 

1.     Is there evidence of documented policies and procedures 
sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that affiants have 
personal knowledge of the matters covered by affidavits of 
indebtedness and have reviewed affidavit before signing it? 

F.  Account Status 
Activity 

System of record 
electronically 
documents key activity 
of a foreclosure, loan 
modification, or 
bankruptcy. 

Y/N N Annual Review of 
Policy 

1.      Is there evidence of documented policies and procedures 
designed to ensure that the system of record contains 
documentation of key activities? 
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6. Customer Experiences 

A. Complaint 
response timeliness 

Meet the 
requirements of 
Regulator complaint 
handling. 

N/A 5% Population Definition:  
Government submitted 
complaints and 
inquiries from 
individual borrowers 
who are in default 
and/or have applied for 
loan modifications 
received during the 
three months prior to 
40 days prior to the 
review period. (To 
allow for response 
period to expire). 
 
Error Definition:  # of 
loans that exceeded 
the required response 
timeline.  

1.     Was written acknowledgment regarding complaint/inquires 
sent within 10 business days of complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

2.     Was a written response (“Forward Progress”) sent within 30 
calendar days of complaint/inquiry receipt?** 

**receipt= from the Attorney General, state financial 
regulators, the Executive Office for United States 
Trustees/regional offices of the United States Trustees, 
and the federal regulators and documented within the 
System of Record. 

B. Loss Mitigation          

    i. Loan 
Modification 
Document Collection 
timeline compliance 

  N/A  5% Population Definition:  
Loan modifications and 
loan modification 
requests (packages) 
that were missing 
documentation at 
receipt and received 
more than 40 days 
prior to the end of the 
review period. 
 
Error Definition: The 
total # of loans 
processed outside the 
allowable timelines as 
defined under each 
timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.      Did the Servicer notify borrower of any known deficiency in 
borrower’s initial submission of information, no later than 5 
business days after receipt, including any missing 
information or documentation? 

2.     Was the Borrower afforded 30 days from the date of 
Servicer’s notification of any missing information or 
documentation to supplement borrower’s submission of 
information prior to making a determination on whether or 
not to grant an initial loan modification? 
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    ii. Loan 
Modification 
Decision/Notification 
timeline compliance 

  10% Population Definition:  
Loan modification 
requests (packages) 
that are denied or 
approved in the review 
period. 
 
Error Definition: The 
total # of loans 
processed outside the 
allowable timelines as 
defined under each 
timeline requirement 
tested. 

1.     Did the servicer respond to request for a modification within 
30 days of receipt of all necessary documentation? 

2.     Denial Communication: Did the servicer notify customers 
within 10 days of denial decision? 

 

    iii. Loan 
Modification Appeal 
timeline compliance 

  10% Population Definition:  
Loan modification 
requests (packages) 
that are borrower 
appeals in the review 
period.  
 
Error Definition: The 
total # of loans 
processed outside the 
allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Did Servicer respond to a borrowers request for an appeal 
within 30 days of receipt? 
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    iv. Short Sale 
Decision timeline 
compliance 

  10% Population Definition:  
Short sale requests 
(packages) that are 
complete in the three 
months prior to 30 
days prior to the end of 
the review period. (to 
allow for short sale 
review to occur). 
 
Error Definition: The 
total # of loans 
processed outside the 
allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.    Was short sale reviewed and a decision communicated 
within 30 days of borrower submitting completed package?  

    v. Short Sale 
Document Collection 
timeline compliance 

  5% Population Definition:  
Short sale requests 
(packages) missing 
documentation that 
are received in the 
three months prior to 
30 days prior to the 
end of the review 
period (to allow for 
short sale review to 
occur). 
 
Error Definition: The 
total # of loans 
processed outside the 
allowable timeline 
tested. 

1.     Did the Servicer provide notice of missing documents within 
30 days of the request for the short sale?  
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    vi.  Charge of 
application fees for 
Loss mitigation 

     1% Population Definition:  
loss mitigation requests 
(packages) that are 
Incomplete, denied , 
approved and 
borrower appeals in 
the review period.  
(Same as 6.B.i) 
 
Error Definition: The # 
of loss mitigation 
applications where 
servicer collected a 
processing fee. 

1.     Did the servicer assess a fee for processing a loss mitigation 
request? 
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    vii. Short Sales      

      a. Inclusion of 
notice of whether 
or not a deficiency 
will be required 

Provide information 
related to any required 
deficiency claim 

n/a 5% Population Definition:  
Short sales approved in 
the review period. 
 
Error Definition: The # 
of short sales that 
failed any one of the 
deficiency test 
questions. 

1.     If the short sale was accepted, did borrower receive 
notification that deficiency or cash contribution will be 
needed? 

2.     Did borrower receive, in this notification, approximate 
amounts related to deficiency or cash contribution? 

    viii. Dual Track      

      a. Referred to 
foreclosure in 
violation of Dual 
Track Provisions. 

Loan was referred to 
foreclosure in error. 

n/a 5% Population Definition: 
Loans with a first legal 
action date in the 
review period. 
 
Error Definition: The # 
of loans with a first 
legal filed in the review 
period that failed any 
one of the dual tracking 
test questions. 

1.     Was the first legal action taken while the servicer was in 
possession of an active, complete loan modification 
package (as defined by the Servicing Standards) that was 
not decisioned as required by the standards? 

2.     Was the first legal commenced while the borrower was 
approved for a loan modification but prior to the 
expiration of the borrower acceptance period, borrower 
decline of offer or while in an active trial period plan? 

      b. Failure to 
postpone 
foreclosure 
proceedings in 
violation of Dual 
Track Provisions. 

Foreclosure proceedings 
allowed to proceed in 
error. 

n/a 5%  Population Definition: 
Active foreclosures 
during review period.  
 
Error Definition: # of 
active foreclosures that 
went to judgment as a 
result of failure of any 
one on of the active 
foreclosure dual track 
test question. 

1.     Did the servicer proceed to judgment or order of sale 
upon receipt of a complete loan modification package 
within 30 days of the Post-Referral to Foreclosure 
Solicitation Letter?** 

        **Compliance of Dual tracking provisions for foreclosure 
sales are referenced in 1.A 

 

C. Forced Placed 
Insurance 
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    i. Timeliness of 
notices 

Notices sent timely with 
necessary information. 

n/a 5%  Population Definition: 
Loans with forced 
placed coverage 
initiated in review 
period. 
 
Error Definition: # of 
loans with active forced 
place insurance 
resulting from an error 
in any one of the forced 
place insurance test 
questions. 

1. Did Servicer send all required notification letters (ref. V 3a 
i-vii) notifying the customer of lapse in insurance 
coverage?  

2. Did the notification offer the customer the option to have 
the account escrowed to facilitate payment of all 
insurance premiums and any arrearage by the servicer 
prior to obtaining forced place insurance? 

3. Did the servicer assess forced place insurance when there 
was evidence of a valid policy? 

    ii Termination of 
Forced place 
Insurance 

Timely termination of 
forced placed insurance 

 5% Population Definition: 
Loans with forced 
placed coverage 
terminated in review 
period. 
 
Error Definition: # of 
loans terminated 
forced place insurance 
with an error in any 
one of the forced place 
insurance test 
questions. 

1. Did Servicer terminate FPI within 15 days of receipt of 
evidence of a borrower’s existing insurance coverage and 
refund the pro-rated portion to the borrower’s escrow 
account? 



E1-15 
 

 

#30 
 
 

Loan Modification 
Process 

Questions # 1 – 
3:  Y/N  

5% 
 

Population Definition: 
1

st
 lien borrowers 

declined in the review 
period for incomplete 
or missing documents 
in their loan 
modification 
application.

4i
 

 
Error Definition: Loans 
where the answer to 
any one of the test 
questions is a No. 

1.     Is there evidence Servicer or the assigned SPOC  notified 
the borrower in writing of the documents required for an 
initial application package for available loan modification 
programs? 

 2.    Provided the borrower timely submitted all documents 
requested in initial notice of incomplete information (“5 
day letter”) or earlier ADRL letters, did the Servicer afford 
the borrower at least 30 days to submit the documents 
requested in the Additional Document Request Letter 
(“ADRL”) before declining the borrower for incomplete or 
missing documents? 

3.     Provided the borrower timely submitted all documents 
requested in the initial notice of incomplete information 
(“5-day letter”) and earlier ADRL letters, did the Servicer 
afford the borrower at least 30 days to submit any 
additional required documents from the last ADRL before 
referring the loan to foreclosure or proceeding to 
foreclosure sale? 

5
 

#31 
Standards: 
IV.C.4.g 
IV.G.2.a 

Loan Modification Denial 
Notice Disclosure 

Questions  #1 – 
2: Y/N  

5% Population Definition: 
1

st
 lien borrowers 

declined in the review 
period for a loan 
modification 
application. 
 
Error Definition: 
Loans where the 
answer to any one of 
the test questions is a 
No. 

1.     Did first lien loan modification denial  notices sent to the 
borrower provide: 
a. The reason for denial; 
b. The factual information considered by the Servicer ; 

and                                                                                          
c. A timeframe for the borrower to provide evidence 

that the eligibility determination was in error? 
2.     Following the Servicer’s denial of a loan modification 
application, is there evidence the Servicer or the assigned 
SPOC communicated the availability of other loss mitigation 
alternatives to the borrower in writing? 
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#32  
Standards: 
IV.C.2 
 

SPOC Implementation 
and Effectiveness 

Questions # 1 – 
3:  Y/N 

5% for 
Question # 1 
 
Y/N for 
Questions  #2 - 
3 
 
 

Population Definition: 
For Question 1: 1

st
 lien 

borrowers who were 
reassigned a SPOC for 
loss mitigation 
assistance in the review 
period. 
 
For Question 2 and 3: 
Quarterly review of 
policies or procedures 
Error Definition: 
Failure on any one of 
the test questions for 
this Metric. 

 1.     Is there evidence that Servicer identified and provided 
updated contact information to the borrower upon 
assignment of a new SPOC if a previously designated 
SPOC is unable to act as the primary point of contact? 

2.     Is there evidence of implementation of management 
routines or other processes to review the results of 
departmental level SPOC scorecards or other 
performance evaluation tools?

 6
    

3.     Is there evidence of the use of tools or management 
routines to monitor remediation, when appropriate, for 
the SPOC program if it is not achieving targeted program 
metrics?

6
 

#33 
Standards: 
I.B.5 
 

Billing Statement 
Accuracy  

Question # 1:  
Amounts 
overstated by 
the greater of 
$99 or 1% of 
the correct 
unpaid principal 
balance. 
 
Questions # 2 
and 3: Amounts 
overstated 
by the greater 
of $50 or 3% of 
the total 
balance for the 
test question. 

5% 
 
 

Population Definition: 
Monthly billing 
statements sent to 
borrowers in the 
review period.

 7
 

 
Error Definition:  
The # of Loans where 
the net sum of errors 
on any one of the test 
questions exceeds the 
applicable allowable 
tolerance. 

1.     Does the monthly billing statement accurately show, as 
compared to the system of record at the time of the 
billing statement, the unpaid principal balance? 

2.     Does the monthly billing statement accurately show as 
compared to the system of record at the time of the 
billing statement each of the following: 
a. Total payment amount due; and 
b. Fees and charges assessed for the relevant time                                       

period? 
3.     Does the monthly billing statement accurately show as         

compared to the system of record at the time of the 
billing statement the allocation of payments, including a 
notation if any payment has been posted to a “suspense 
or unapplied funds account”? 

 

                                                           

1 Loan Level Tolerance for Error: This represents a threshold beyond which the variance between the actual outcome and the expected outcome on a single test case is deemed 

reportable. 
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2 
Threshold Error Rate: For each metric or outcome tested if the total number of reportable errors as a percentage of the total number of cases tested exceeds this limit then the 

Servicer will be determined to have failed that metric for the reported period. 
 
3
 For purposes of determining whether a proposed Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate is similar to those contained in this Schedule, this Metric 5.A shall be excluded 

from consideration and shall not be treated as representative. 
 
4 The population includes only borrowers who submitted the first document on or before the day 75 days before the scheduled or expected foreclosure sale date.  

 This Metric is subject to applicable investor rule requirements.   

 Nothing in this Metric shall be deemed to prejudice the right of a Servicer to decline to evaluate a borrower for a modification in accordance with IV.H.12.  Specifically, 
Servicer shall not be obligated to evaluate requests for loss mitigation options from (a) borrowers who have already been evaluated or afforded a fair opportunity to be 
evaluated consistent with the requirements of HAMP or proprietary modification programs, or (b) borrowers who were evaluated after the date of implementation of 
this Agreement, consistent with this Agreement, unless there has been a material change in the borrower’s financial circumstances that is documented by borrower and 
submitted to Servicer. 

 
5
 If the Servicer identifies an incomplete document submitted by the borrower before, or in response to the 5-day letter, the Servicer may request a complete document via the 5-day 

letter or an ADRL. An incomplete document is one that is received and not complete or that is not fully completed per the requirements (e.g. missing signature, missing pages etc.). A 
missing document is one that is not received by Servicer.  
 
6 

The following evidence is considered appropriate using a qualitative assessment: 

 Documents that provide an overview of the program, policy or procedures related to periodic performance evaluations, including the frequency thereof; or 

 Sample departmental level SPOC scorecard or other performance evaluation tools that reflect performance and quality metrics, evidence of the use of thresholds to measure non-
performance, identifiers when remediation is required and evidence that such remediation was identified by management, when appropriate. 

 
7
 This Metric is N/A for borrowers in bankruptcy or borrowers who have been referred to or are going through foreclosure. 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 
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FEDERAL RELEASE 

This Federal Release (“Release”) is entered into among the United States of America, its 

agencies, and departments (collectively, “the United States”), acting through the United States 

Department of Justice, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau” or “CFPB”) and 

SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. on behalf of itself and its affiliated entities . (“collectively SunTrust”) 

(the United States, the CFPB, and SunTrust are collectively referred to as (“the Parties”)). 

RECITALS 

A. SunTrust Banks, Inc. is a registered bank holding company headquartered in 

Atlanta, Georgia.  SunTrust Banks, Inc. wholly owns and controls SunTrust Bank, a Georgia 

State chartered bank headquartered in Atlanta Georgia, which in turn wholly owns SunTrust 

Mortgage, Inc., a mortgage lender and servicer with its principal place of business in Richmond, 

Virginia.   

B. SunTrust originates and services residential mortgage loans.  SunTrust, either 

through its own operations or through the operations of its subsidiaries and affiliates, serves, and 

during the relevant period served: (1) as a participant in the Direct Endorsement Lender program 

of the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) within the United States Department of Housing 

and Urban Development (HUD); (2) as a mortgagee or servicer for mortgages insured or 

guaranteed by federal mortgage programs administered by agencies that include FHA, the United 

States Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), and the United States Department of Agriculture 

Rural Development; (3) as a servicer for loans owned by other institutions participating in the 

Making Home Affordable Program (MHA) (including MHA's component program, the Home 
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Affordable Modification Program (HAMP)) of the United States Department of the Treasury 

(Treasury) and HUD, and as a participant in various state programs of the Housing Finance 

Agency Innovation Fund for the Hardest Hit Housing Markets (HHF); and (4) as an entity that 

litigates single-family residential mortgage issues in U.S. Bankruptcy Courts and in related U.S. 

District Court proceedings in capacities that include commencing and pursuing or supporting 

litigation commenced against mortgagors and other debtors. 

C. The United States and the Bureau contend that they have certain civil claims 

against SunTrust based on SunTrust’s conduct in servicing of mortgage loans (the “Covered 

Servicing Conduct”).  Such Covered Servicing Conduct encompasses all activities of SunTrust, 

of any affiliated entity during or prior to such time as it was an affiliated entity, and all of the 

current or former officers, directors, employees and agents of any of the foregoing, directed 

toward servicing (including subservicing and master servicing), whether for their own account or 

for the account of others, of mortgage loans for single-family residential homeowners (which 

includes loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties, whether used for investor or 

consumer purposes), whether in the form of a mortgage, deed of trust or other security 

instrument creating a lien upon such property or any other property described therein that secures 

the related mortgage loan (“single-family residential mortgage loans”) from and after the closing 

of a borrower’s mortgage loan and includes, but is not limited to, the following conduct:   

(1) Deficiencies in performing loan modification and other loss mitigation 

activities, including extensions, forbearances, short sales and deeds in lieu of foreclosure, setting 

the qualifying criteria for any of the foregoing and/or setting the terms and conditions for any of 

the foregoing;    
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(2) Deficiencies in foreclosing on single-family residential mortgage loans or 

acquiring title in lieu of foreclosure, including the designation and identity of the foreclosing 

party, the timing of foreclosures, transfer of legal or beneficial ownership to the mortgage loan 

and/or the related servicing rights or obligations, the charging of any fees, the preparation, 

contents, execution, notarization or presentation of any documents filed with or submitted to a 

court or any government agency, or otherwise used as part of the foreclosure process (including, 

but not limited to, affidavits, declarations, certifications, substitutions of trustees, and 

assignments) and dual-tracking foreclosure and loan modification activities, and communications 

with borrowers in respect of foreclosure; 

(3) Other deficiencies in servicing single-family residential mortgage loans 

relating to: 

(a) Collections activity, including all contact with borrowers (e.g., 

telephone calls, letters, and in-person visits) in respect of such activities; 

(b) Practices relating to paying or failing to pay taxes (including 

property taxes), hazard insurance, force-placed insurance, and homeowner association 

dues or other items provided for in a mortgage loan escrow arrangement (including 

making or failing to make such payments), including obtaining or maintaining 

insurance and advancing funds to pay therefor and the creation and maintenance of 

such escrow accounts; 

(c) Use or supervision of vendors, agents and contract employees, 

and their activities in connection with creation and recording of assignments, 

servicing, foreclosure, and loss mitigation activities, including subservicers, 
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foreclosure and bankruptcy attorneys, and other default service providers, and pursuit 

of claims against vendors and other third parties for failure of such third parties to 

comply with contractual or other obligations; 

(d) Activities related to the executing, notarizing, transferring or 

recording of mortgages; the obtaining, executing, notarizing, transferring or recording 

of assignments; or activities related to the use of any mortgage registry system, 

including MERS, and including the transferring of mortgages or assignments using 

MERS; 

(e) Account statements, disclosures, and/or other communications 

to borrowers; unintentional reporting errors, and unintentional remittance errors that 

are cured; 

(f) Maintenance and placement of loan-level and pool-level 

mortgage insurance and guarantees, hazard insurance, flood insurance, title insurance, 

and other insurance related to mortgage loans and related properties, including claims 

activity; 

(g) Handling and resolution of inquiries, disputes and complaints by 

or on behalf of borrowers and frequency and adequacy of communications with 

borrowers; 

(h) Securing, inspecting, repairing, maintaining, or preserving 

properties both before and after foreclosure or other acquisition of title; 
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(i) Adequacy of staffing, training, systems and processes, including 

maintenance and security of access to records relating to servicing, foreclosure, 

bankruptcy, property sale and management and activities related or ancillary thereto; 

(j) Determinations in respect of the appropriate actions of obtaining 

value for mortgage loans, including whether to pursue foreclosure on properties, 

whether to assert or abandon liens and other claims and actions taken in respect 

thereof, and whether to pursue a loan modification or any particular loan modification 

or other form of loss mitigation; 

(k) Acceptance, rejection, application, or reporting of payments 

made by or on behalf of borrowers, including the assessment of any fees and 

placement of the payment(s) in a suspense account; 

(l) Obtaining, securing, updating, transferring, or providing 

promissory notes or endorsements of promissory notes through allonges or otherwise; 

(m) Licensing or registration of employees, agents, or contractors, or 

designation of employees as agents for another entity, through corporate resolutions or 

Powers of Attorney or otherwise; 

(n) Pursuing claims post foreclosure, including seeking deficiency 

judgments; 

(o) Eviction notices, registrations of vacant properties, and any 

activity relating to the sale or disposition of foreclosed or acquired properties 

(including Real Estate Owned properties), including management of such properties 

and proceedings related to such properties; 
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(p) Executing, notarizing, or recording any documents related to the 

sale of acquired properties, including the warranty deeds and closing documents; 

(q) Custodial and trustee functions related to the Covered Servicing 

Conduct; 

(r) Quality control, quality assurance or compliance or audit testing 

or oversight related to the Covered Servicing Conduct; for avoidance of doubt, quality 

control or compliance reviews associated with the origination, sale, or securitization of 

mortgage loans does not constitute Covered Servicing Conduct; 

(s) Reporting, certification or registration requirements related to 

any of the Covered Servicing Conduct; and 

(t) Communications with borrowers with respect to the Covered 

Servicing Conduct. 

(4) Deficiencies in SunTrust’s or any of its affiliates’ participation in various 

state programs of  the Hardest Hit Fund Program and servicing of loans owned by another 

institution participating in the Making Home Affordable Program, including all of its component 

programs (e.g., HAMP, 2MP, HAFA, UP, PRA-HAMP, FHA-HAMP, FHA2LP, and RD-

HAMP). 

D. The United States and the Bureau further contend that they have certain civil 

claims against SunTrust based on SunTrust’s conduct in originating mortgage loans (the 

“Covered Origination Conduct”).  Such Covered Origination Conduct consists of all activities of 

SunTrust, of any affiliated entity during or prior to such time as it was an affiliated entity, and all 

of the current or former officers, directors, employees, and agents of any of the foregoing, 
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directed toward directly or indirectly originating, assisting in the origination of, or purchasing 

single-family residential mortgage loans and excludes conduct occurring following the closing of 

the borrower’s mortgage loan that is otherwise covered as the Covered Servicing Conduct.  Such 

Covered Origination Conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following conduct: 

(1) Submitting loans for insurance endorsement and claims for insurance 

benefits for FHA loans that SunTrust or any affiliated entity during or prior to such time as it was 

an affiliated entity endorsed or underwrote as a participant in the FHA’s Direct Endorsement 

Program that failed to meet any applicable underwriting requirements, including those set forth in 

the applicable version of the HUD Handbook 4155.1, as supplemented by relevant mortgagee 

letters, all as of the time of origination; 

(2) Submitting loans for insurance endorsement or claims for insurance 

benefits for FHA loans that SunTrust or any affiliated entity during or prior to such time as it was 

an affiliated entity endorsed or underwrote as a participant in the FHA’s Direct Endorsement 

Program while failing to implement applicable quality control measures; 

(3) Other deficiencies in originating single-family residential mortgage loans 

relating to: 

(a) Processing, underwriting, closing, or funding of loans and the 

terms and conditions of such loans; 

(b) Taking, approving or denying loan applications; 

(c) Terms and conditions of loans, and pricing of loans, including 

the charging and splitting of any fee or discount points; 
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(d) Recommendations of particular types of loan products, loan 

features or terms and conditions of any loan; 

(e) Valuing the properties used as collateral for such loans, 

including use of employee, independent and vendor management appraisers and 

alternative valuation methods such as AVMs and BPOs; 

(f) Use of vendors, including vendor management companies and 

other providers of real estate settlement services, whether affiliated or unaffiliated; 

(g) Payment of fees or other things of value in connection with the 

making or receiving of referrals of settlement and other services; 

(h) Conduct of any vendors used in connection with the origination 

of loans, including, but not limited to, closing agents, appraisers, real estate agents, 

title review, flood inspection, and mortgage brokers; 

(i) Drafting of loan documents and loan disclosures and the 

provision of such disclosures; 

(j) Obtaining and recording of collateral documents relating to 

loans, including, but not limited to, use of trustees or designees on mortgages or deeds 

of trust;  

(k) Advertising of loans and solicitation of borrowers; 

(l) Licensing, registration, qualifications or approvals of employees 

in connection with the Covered Origination Conduct; and 

(m) Quality control, quality assurance or compliance or audit testing 

or oversight related to the Covered Origination Conduct. 
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E. The United States further contends that it has certain civil claims against SunTrust 

based on SunTrust’s servicing, including servicing by any affiliated entity during or prior to such 

time as it was an affiliated entity, and by any of SunTrust’s or such affiliated entities’ current or 

former officers, directors, employees, and agents, of loans of borrowers in bankruptcy (the 

“Covered Bankruptcy Conduct”).  Such Covered Bankruptcy Conduct includes, but is not limited 

to, the following conduct:   

(1) Deficiencies in servicing residential mortgage loans for borrowers in 

bankruptcy relating to: 

(a) The preparation, prosecution, documentation, substantiation, or 

filing of proofs of claim (and related attachments, exhibits and supplements), motions 

seeking relief from the automatic stay, objections to plan confirmation, motions to 

dismiss bankruptcy cases, and affidavits, declarations, and other mortgage-related 

documents in bankruptcy courts and related district court proceedings; 

(b) Charging and timing of fees and expenses, including any fees or 

expenses assessed to the borrower due to delay while the bankruptcy court reviews a 

pending request for loan modification or delay by the Chapter 13 trustee to timely 

remit the borrower’s payments; 

(c) Use, analysis, accounting, or disclosure of escrow accounts, 

including any advances on borrower’s behalf, as evidenced in proofs of claim (and 

related attachments, exhibits and supplements), motions seeking relief from the 

automatic stay, objections to plan confirmation, motions to dismiss bankruptcy cases, 
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and affidavits, declarations, and other mortgage-related documents in bankruptcy 

courts and district courts; 

(d) Account statements, disclosures, and/or other communications 

to borrowers, including: (i) assessing, imposing, posting, or collecting fees and 

charges; (ii) disclosure of fees and charges assessed, imposed or posted during the 

bankruptcy case; and (iii) collection of undisclosed post-petition fees and charges after 

the borrower receives a discharge, SunTrust obtains relief from the automatic stay, or 

the bankruptcy case is dismissed; 

(e) Adequacy of staffing, training, systems, and processes relating 

to administering and servicing loans for borrowers in bankruptcy; 

(f) Use or supervision of vendors and contract employees, 

including Lender Processing Services, Inc., bankruptcy attorneys and other default 

service providers; 

(g) Pursuit of or failure to pursue claims against vendors and other 

third parties for failure of such third parties to comply with contractual or other 

obligations;  

(h) Compliance with the privacy protection and public access 

provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code, Federal Rules of Bankruptcy 

Procedure, and any applicable local rule or order in proofs of claim, motions seeking 

relief from the automatic stay, objections to plan confirmation, motions to dismiss 

bankruptcy cases, and affidavits, declarations, and other mortgage-related documents 
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in bankruptcy courts, including, but not limited to 11 U.S.C. § 107 and Fed. R. Bankr. 

P. 9037; and 

(i) Handling and resolution of inquiries, disputes or complaints by 

or on behalf of borrowers, and frequency and adequacy of communications with 

borrowers in bankruptcy. 

(2) Deficiencies in accounting for, processing, approving and administering 

loan modifications for borrowers in bankruptcy relating to: 

(a) Charging late fees or seeking arrearages while a trial period 

modification plan or permanent loan modification plan is in place and borrower is 

timely making payments under the terms of the loan modification plan; 

(b) Seeking relief from the automatic stay when SunTrust has 

approved a trial period or permanent loan modification plan and borrower is timely 

making payments under the terms of the loan modification plan; and 

(c) Delays in approving or finalizing the documentation necessary 

to the approval of loan modifications for borrowers in bankruptcy. 

F. This Release is neither an admission of liability by SunTrust of the allegations of 

the Complaint or in cases settled pursuant to this Consent Judgment, nor a concession by the 

United States or the Bureau that its claims are not well-founded. 

To avoid the delay, uncertainty, inconvenience, and expense of protracted litigation of the 

above claims, and in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations of the Consent 

Judgment, the Parties agree and covenant as follows: 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

(1) SunTrust shall pay or cause to be paid, for the purposes specified in the 

Consent Judgment, the amount specified in Paragraph 3 of the Consent Judgment (“Direct 

Payment Settlement Amount”) by electronic funds transfer within ten days of receiving notice 

that the escrow account referenced in Paragraph 3 of the Consent Judgment is established or 

within ten days after the United States District Court for the District of Columbia enters the final 

non-appealable Consent Judgment (the “Effective Date of the Consent Judgment”), whichever is 

later, pursuant to written instructions to be provided by the United States Department of Justice.  

SunTrust, itself and through its affiliates, shall also undertake, for the purposes specified in the 

Consent Judgment, certain consumer relief activities as set forth in Exhibit D, as amended in 

Exhibit I, to such Consent Judgment (“Consumer Relief Requirements”) and will be obligated to 

make certain payments (the “Consumer Relief Payments”) in the event that it does not complete 

the Consumer Relief Requirements set forth in Exhibit D to the Consent Judgment.  The releases 

contained in this Release shall become effective upon payment of the Direct Payment Settlement 

Amount.  In the event that SunTrust does not complete the Consumer Relief Requirements, and 

does not make the Consumer Relief Payments required under the Consent Judgment and fails to 

cure such non-payment within thirty days of written notice by the United States, the United 

States may declare this Release null and void with respect to the United States.   

(2)  

(a) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded 

claims) below, the United States fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated 

entity  and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or 
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former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of 

the foregoing, individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims the 

United States has or may have, and from any civil or administrative remedies or 

penalties (expressly including punitive or exemplary damages) it may seek or impose, 

based on the Covered Servicing Conduct that has taken place as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern 

Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014 (and, for the avoidance of doubt, with respect to 

FHA-insured loans, whether or not a claim for mortgage insurance benefits has been 

or is in the future submitted), under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and 

Enforcement Act (“FIRREA”), the False Claims Act, the Racketeer Influenced and 

Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Truth in Lending 

Act, the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d) (“Reason for 

Adverse Action”) or § 1691(e) (“Copies Furnished to Applicants”) of the Equal Credit 

Opportunity Act, sections 502 through 509 (15 U.S.C. § 6802-6809) of the Gramm-

Leach Bliley Act except for section 505 (15 U.S.C. § 6805) as it applies to section 

501(b) (15 U.S.C. § 6801(b), or that the Civil Division of the United States 

Department of Justice has actual and present authority to assert and compromise 

pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 0.45.   

(b) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded 

claims) below, the United States fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated 

entity, and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or 

former director, current or former officer, or current or former employee of any of the 
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foregoing, individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims the 

United States has or may have, and from any civil or administrative remedies or 

penalties (expressly including punitive or exemplary damages) it may seek or impose, 

based on the Covered Origination Conduct that has taken place as of 11:59 p.m., 

Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures 

Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d) 

(“Reason for Adverse Action”) or § 1691(e) (“Copies Furnished to Applicants”) of the 

Equal Credit Opportunity Act, or the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act. 

(c) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded 

claims) below, the United States fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated 

entity, and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or 

former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of 

the foregoing, individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims the 

United States has or may have, and from any civil or administrative remedies or 

penalties (expressly including punitive or exemplary damages) it may seek to impose 

under FIRREA based on the Covered Origination Conduct only to the extent that: 

(i) such claim is (A) based upon false, misleading or 

fraudulent representations  (or a scheme to defraud consisting solely of such a 

false, misleading or fraudulent representation) made by SunTrust or affiliated 

entity as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, to a borrower in 

connection with SunTrust’s or affiliated entity’s making of a residential mortgage 

loan to such borrower; or (B) an action pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 1833a(c)(2) in 
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which the action is consisting solely of the allegation that SunTrust or one of its 

affiliated entities made a false, misleading or fraudulent statement or 

misrepresentation (or engaged in a scheme to defraud based solely upon such a 

false, misleading or fraudulent statement or misrepresentation) to SunTrust or 

another affiliated entity, as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 

2014, in connection with SunTrust’s or an affiliated entity’s making of a 

residential mortgage loan to a borrower; and 

(ii) (A) the only federally insured financial institution that was 

affected by the statement or misrepresentation (or scheme), or by actions based 

on, incorporating, or omitting the statement or misrepresentation (or scheme) was 

SunTrust or an affiliated entity; (B) the false statement or misrepresentation (or 

scheme) was not part of a scheme to defraud any person or entity other than or in 

addition to the borrower and/or SunTrust or an affiliated entity, including, but not 

limited to, any other financial institution (as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 20), investors, 

and governmental entities; (C) the false statement or misrepresentation (or 

scheme), or actions based on, incorporating, or omitting the statement or 

misrepresentation (or scheme) did not harm any other financial institution (as 

defined in 18 U.S.C. § 20), investors, governmental entities, or any other entities 

other than SunTrust or an affiliated entity; and (D) there was no material 

monetary effect on an agency of the United States.   
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(3)  

(a) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded 

claims) below, and in addition to the releases provided in Exhibits J and K, the United 

States fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated entity, and any of their 

respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or 

former officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually 

and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims it has or may have and from 

any civil or administrative remedies or penalties (expressly including punitive or 

exemplary damages) it may seek or impose under FIRREA, the False Claims Act, 

RICO and the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act where the sole basis for such claim 

or claims is that SunTrust or any affiliated entity  or any of their respective successors 

or assigns, submitted to HUD-FHA prior to11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on 

June 17, 2014, a false or fraudulent annual certification that the mortgagee had 

“conform[ed] to all HUD-FHA regulations necessary to maintain its HUD-FHA 

approval” (including, but not limited to, the requirement that the mortgagee implement 

and maintain a quality control program that conforms to HUD-FHA requirements), or 

“complied with and agree[d] to continue to comply with HUD-FHA regulations, 

handbooks, Mortgagee Letters, Title I Letters, policies, and terms of any agreements 

entered into with the Department under HUD’s Direct Endorsement Program.”  For 

avoidance of doubt, this Paragraph means that the United States is barred from 

asserting that a false annual certification renders SunTrust liable under the False 

Claims Act and the other laws cited above for loans endorsed by SunTrust for FHA 
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insurance during the period of time applicable to the annual certification without 

regard to whether any such loans contain material violations of HUD-FHA 

requirements, or that a false individual loan certification that “this mortgage is eligible 

for HUD mortgage insurance under the Direct Endorsement program” renders 

SunTrust liable under the False Claims Act for any individual loan that does not 

contain a material violation of HUD-FHA requirements.  However, this Paragraph 

does not (i) release, bar or otherwise preclude the right of the United States to pursue 

any civil or administrative claims or remedies it has or may have, or release or 

preclude under res judicata or collateral estoppel theories any civil or administrative 

remedies or penalties it may seek or impose, against SunTrust, any affiliated entity, 

and any of their respective successors or assigns, for conduct with respect to the 

insurance of residential mortgage loans that violates any laws, regulations or other 

HUD-FHA requirements applicable to the insurance of residential mortgage loans by 

HUD, including, but not limited to, material violations of any applicable HUD-FHA 

requirements with respect to an individual loan or loans, except if and to the extent 

such claim, remedy or penalty is based solely on such entity’s failure to provide HUD 

with an accurate annual certification as described above; (ii) release or otherwise bar 

the United States from introducing evidence of any alleged failure to comply with 

applicable HUD-FHA requirements, including, but not limited to, sufficient quality 

control, underwriting or due diligence programs, in any way (including, but not limited 

to, for the purpose of proving intent) in connection with any claim that there was a 

material violation(s) of applicable HUD-FHA requirements with respect to an 
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individual loan or loans that would subject SunTrust to liability under the False Claims 

Act or any other federal statutory or common law administrative or judicial claim or 

(iii) permit SunTrust or its affiliates to offset or otherwise reduce any potential liability 

for such claims or remedies by any amount paid under the Consent Judgment.  The 

parties agree that the issue of whether and to what extent the United States may use 

statistical sampling of individual loans or similar techniques for calculating damages 

or proving material violations of HUD-FHA underwriting requirements with respect to 

a pool of loans is not addressed by the Consent Judgment and shall be governed by the 

law of the relevant administrative or judicial forum of any future dispute.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no instance shall this Release relieve SunTrust from 

the obligation to remedy, upon identification, defects of title or such other problems 

caused by SunTrust acts or omissions that may preclude FHA from accepting 

assignment or paying a claim for which FHA lacks statutory authority pursuant to 12 

U.S.C. § 1707(a) and § 1710(a)(1)(B), in which case FHA shall reconvey the property 

back to SunTrust to remedy the defect in title or such other problem and SunTrust 

shall convey the property back to FHA once the defect or problem is cured.  

(4) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded claims) 

below, for loans that closed before 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, and are 

guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), the United States fully and finally 

releases SunTrust and any current or former affiliated entity (to the extent SunTrust retains 

liabilities associated with such former affiliated entity), and any of their respective successors or 

assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or former officer, and current or former 
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employee of any of the foregoing, individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative 

claims it has or may have against SunTrust or any affiliated entity based on Covered Origination 

Conduct that arises under FIRREA, the False Claims Act, RICO or the Program Fraud Civil 

Remedies Act to the extent that they are based on any failure by SunTrust or any affiliated entity 

and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, 

current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually 

and collectively, to conform to all VA regulations necessary to maintain the authority of 

SunTrust or any affiliated entity to close VA-guaranteed loans on an automatic basis.  Nothing in 

the foregoing shall be interpreted to release the right of the United States to pursue any civil or 

administrative claims it has or may have, or to release any civil or administrative remedies or 

penalties it may seek or impose, against SunTrust, any affiliated entity , and any of their 

respective successors or assigns, based on Covered Origination Conduct that violates the laws or 

regulations applicable to the guaranty of residential mortgage loans by VA with respect to any 

residential mortgage loan or loans, except if and to the extent such claim, remedy or penalty is 

based solely on such entity’s failure to provide VA with an accurate general program compliance 

certification, to implement an effective quality control plan, or to conform to all VA regulations 

necessary to maintain the authority of SunTrust or any affiliated entity to close VA-guaranteed 

loans on an automatic basis. 

(5) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded claims) 

below, for loans that closed before 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, and are 

guaranteed by the Department of Agriculture (USDA), the United States fully and finally 

releases SunTrust and any affiliated entity , and any of their respective successors or assigns, as 
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well as any current or former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee 

of any of the foregoing, individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims it 

has or may have against SunTrust and any of its respective successors or assigns, as well as any 

current or former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of 

the foregoing, individually and collectively, based on Covered Origination Conduct that arises 

under FIRREA, the False Claims Act, RICO or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act to the 

extent that they are based on statements made in SunTrust’s or affiliated entity’s application for 

approved lender status in the Single Family Housing Guaranteed Loan Program.  Nothing in the 

foregoing shall be interpreted to release the right of the United States to pursue any civil or 

administrative claims it has or may have, or to release any civil or administrative remedies or 

penalties it may seek or impose, against SunTrust, any affiliated entity , and any of their 

respective successors or assigns, based on Covered Origination Conduct that violates the laws or 

regulations applicable to the guaranty of residential mortgage loans by USDA with respect to any 

residential mortgage loan or loans, except if and to the extent such claim, remedy or penalty is 

based solely on such entity’s failure to provide USDA with an accurate general program 

compliance certification, to implement an effective quality control plan, or on statements made 

in SunTrust’s or affiliated entity’s application for approved lender status in the Single Family 

Housing Guaranteed Loan Program. 

(6) Subject to the exceptions described in this Paragraph 6 and in Paragraph 

11 (concerning excluded claims) below, the United States Department of the Treasury 

(“Treasury”) fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated entity, and any of their 

respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or former 
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officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and collectively, 

and will refrain from instituting, directing, or maintaining any civil or administrative claims the 

Treasury has or may have, and from any civil remedies or penalties (expressly including punitive 

or exemplary damages) it may seek or impose against SunTrust and any affiliated entity, and any 

of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or 

former officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, based on the Covered Servicing Conduct that has taken place as of 11:59 p.m., 

Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Treasury, in 

connection with the Making Home Affordable Program, reserves the right to continue to perform 

compliance reviews on SunTrust’s Making Home Affordable Program activities occurring prior 

to June 17, 2014, to require non-financial remedies with respect to such activities, and to publicly 

release servicer assessments with respect thereto.  In addition, with respect to instances of 

noncompliance that occur after June 17, 2014, Treasury reserves the right to exercise all 

available remedies, both financial and non-financial, under the Assignment and Assumption 

Agreement, dated February 28, 2011, between SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. as assignee and Wells 

Fargo Bank, N.A as assignor of all of its rights and obligations under the Making Home 

Affordable Program Commitment to Purchase Financial Instrument and Servicer Participation 

Agreement, as amended, between Treasury and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 

(7) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded claims) 

below, the CFPB fully and finally releases SunTrust and any current or former affiliated entity 

(to the extent SunTrust retains liabilities associated with such former affiliated entity), and any of 

their respective successors or assigns as well as any current or former director, current or former 
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officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and collectively, 

and will refrain from instituting, directing, or maintaining any civil or administrative claims the 

CFPB has or may have, and from imposing any civil or administrative remedies or penalties 

(expressly including, punitive or exemplary damages) against SunTrust and any affiliated entity , 

and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, 

current or former officer, or current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, based on Covered Servicing Conduct or Covered Origination Conduct that has 

taken place as of 11:59 p.m. Eastern Daylight Time, on December 31, 2013.  For avoidance of 

doubt, the CFPB agrees that Covered Servicing Conduct includes the servicing of loans of 

borrowers in bankruptcy.   

(8) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded claims) 

below, and conditioned upon SunTrust full payment of the Direct Payment Settlement Amount, 

the Federal Trade Commission fully and finally releases SunTrust and any affiliated entity , and 

any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or 

former officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, from any civil or administrative claim the Federal Trade Commission has or may 

have, and from any civil or administrative remedies or penalties (expressly including punitive or 

exemplary damages) it may seek or impose, based on the Covered Origination Conduct that has 

taken place as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, or based on the Covered 

Servicing Conduct that has taken place as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 

2014, provided, however, that nothing in this Paragraph or Release shall be interpreted to release 

any liability to the Federal Trade Commission relating to the Covered Servicing Conduct or 
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Covered Origination Conduct of any affiliated entity that SunTrust has acquired on or after June 

17, 2014, or, notwithstanding Section C.3.i of this Release, any conduct or claims involving the 

privacy, security, or confidentiality of consumer information. 

(9) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 11 (concerning excluded claims) 

below: 

(a) Upon the Effective Date of the Consent Judgment, the 

Executive Office for United States Trustees (“EOUST”) and the United States 

Trustees and Acting United States Trustees for Regions 1 through 21 (collectively, 

with the EOUST, “the United States Trustees”) will consent to and agree to take such 

steps as may be reasonably necessary to fully and finally withdraw or facilitate the 

dismissal with prejudice of pending objections and other actions by the United States 

Trustees, including all related discovery requests, whether formal or informal, and 

requests for examination under Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004 (collectively, “the Discovery 

Requests”) and subpoenas or subpoenas duces tecum (collectively, “the Subpoenas”), 

directed to or filed against SunTrust, its affiliated entities, and directors, employees 

and officers of SunTrust and its affiliated entities, pertaining to SunTrust’s or its 

affiliated entities’ mortgage-related claims filed in a bankruptcy case prior to 11:59 

p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, and based on the Covered Bankruptcy 

Conduct.  The United States Trustees further agree not to take any action to obtain 

discovery from SunTrust pursuant to any court order granting such Discovery 

Requests or with respect to enforcing related Subpoenas pending as of 11:59 p.m., 

Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014.  Upon the Effective Date of the Consent 
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Judgment, the United States Trustees further agree to take such steps as may be 

reasonably necessary to fully and finally withdraw or facilitate the dismissal with 

prejudice of Discovery Requests and Subpoenas directed to or filed against any other 

party where the discovery was sought for the purpose of obtaining relief against 

SunTrust, its affiliated entities, or directors, employees and officers of SunTrust or its 

affiliates, and pertains to SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ mortgage-related claims 

filed in a bankruptcy case prior to 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 

2014, and based on the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct, except that nothing in this 

Paragraph requires the United States Trustee to withdraw or facilitate the dismissal of 

Discovery Requests and Subpoenas to the extent that relief against another party, other 

than SunTrust, its affiliated entities, or directors, employees and officers of SunTrust’s 

or its affiliated entities, is the purpose of such discovery.  The parties agree that any 

such action taken inadvertently by either party will not be considered a violation of 

this agreement.   

(b) Upon the Effective Date of the Consent Judgment, SunTrust 

will consent to and agrees to take such steps as may be reasonably necessary to fully 

and finally withdraw or facilitate the dismissal with prejudice of pending adversary 

proceedings, contested matters, appeals, and other actions filed by SunTrust or its 

affiliated entities, including all Discovery Requests and Subpoenas directed to or filed 

against any United States Trustee, relating to objections and other actions by the 

United States Trustees, including Discovery Requests and Subpoenas, directed to or 

filed against SunTrust, its affiliated entities, or directors, employees and officers of 
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SunTrust or its affiliated entities pertaining to SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ 

mortgage-related claims filed in a bankruptcy case prior to 11:59 p.m., Eastern 

Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, and based on the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct.  

SunTrust further agrees not to take any action to obtain discovery from the United 

States Trustees pursuant to any court order granting such Discovery Requests or with 

respect to enforcing related Subpoenas pending as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight 

Time, on June 17, 2014.  The parties agree that any such action taken inadvertently by 

either party will not be considered a violation of this agreement.   

(c) The United States Trustees fully and finally release any claims, 

and will refrain from instituting, directing or maintaining any action or participating in 

any action by a third party (except that the United States Trustees may participate in an 

action to the extent ordered by a court provided that the United States Trustees may 

not seek such a court order formally or informally), against SunTrust and any affiliated 

entity , and any of their respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or 

former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of 

the foregoing, individually and collectively, pertaining to SunTrust’s or its affiliated 

entities’ mortgage-related claims filed in a bankruptcy case prior to 11:59 p.m., 

Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, and based on the Covered Bankruptcy 

Conduct.  The United States Trustees shall refrain from sharing information obtained 

via the Discovery Requests and Subpoenas outside the federal government (unless 

required to do so under applicable law or pursuant to a court order) in support of any 

action, against SunTrust, or any affiliated entity , and any of their respective 
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successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or former 

officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, pertaining to SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ mortgage-related claims 

filed in a bankruptcy case prior to 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on and based on 

the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct.  Except as otherwise provided in the Enforcement 

Terms in Exhibit E of the Consent Judgment, the United States Trustees further agree 

to refrain from seeking to invalidate SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ lien on 

residential real property, including in an adversary proceeding pursuant to Fed. R. 

Bank. P. 7001(2) and 11 U.S.C. § 506, or to impose monetary sanctions or other 

punitive relief against SunTrust, and any affiliated entity , and any of their respective 

successors or assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or former 

officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, pertaining to SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ mortgage-related claims 

filed in a bankruptcy case after 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014, 

and based on the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct where the Covered Bankruptcy 

Conduct occurred before 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on June 17, 2014. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Paragraph shall 

be construed to be (1) a waiver of any defenses or claims of SunTrust, its affiliated 

entities, or directors, employees and officers of SunTrust or its affiliated entities, 

against any other party, or a dismissal of any pending adversary proceedings, 

contested matters, appeals, and other actions filed by SunTrust, its affiliated entities, or 

directors, employees and officers of SunTrust or its affiliated entities, against any 
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other party, wherein the United States Trustee is a party or otherwise involved; (2) a 

waiver of any defenses or claims of the United States Trustee against any other party, 

or a dismissal of any pending adversary proceedings, contested matters, appeals, and 

other actions filed by the United States Trustee against any other party wherein 

SunTrust, its affiliated entities, or directors, employees and officers of SunTrust or its 

affiliated entities, is a party or otherwise involved; or (3) a waiver of, or restriction or 

prohibition on, the United States Trustees’ ability, to the extent permitted by law, 

informally or formally, in individual bankruptcy cases, to seek a cure of material 

inaccuracies in SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ mortgage-related claims filed in a 

bankruptcy case and based on the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct, but not to impose 

monetary sanctions or other punitive relief against SunTrust or its affiliated entities in 

addition to such cure; provided, however, that this provision shall not constitute a 

waiver of, or restriction or prohibition on, SunTrust’s or its affiliated entities’ ability to 

dispute whether the United States Trustees have authority or ability to seek such a 

cure. 

(10) For the purposes of this Release, the terms “affiliated entity,” “affiliated 

entities,” or “affiliate” shall mean entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by, or control, 

or are under common control with, SunTrust as of or prior to 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, 

on June 17, 2014, and entities that were formerly directly or indirectly controlled by, or 

controlled, or are under common control with, SunTrust to the extent SunTrust currently retains 

liabilities associated with such former entity for activities prior to 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight 

Time, on June 17, 2014.  The term “control” with respect to an entity means the beneficial 
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ownership (as defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended) of 50 percent or more of the voting interest in such entity.  

(11) Notwithstanding any other term of this Release, the following claims of 

the United States and the CFPB to the extent applicable are specifically reserved and are not 

released, and nothing in this Paragraph operates as a waiver of any defense SunTrust may assert 

to any such claims, including but not limited to any statute of limitations or other time-related 

defense.: 

(a) Any liability arising under Title 26, United States Code 

(Internal Revenue Code); 

(b) Any liability of individuals (including current or former 

directors, officers, and employees of SunTrust) who, based on the Covered Servicing 

Conduct, the Covered Origination Conduct, or the Covered Bankruptcy Conduct 

(collectively, the “Covered Conduct”),  have received or receive in the future 

notification that they are the target of a criminal investigation (as defined in the United 

States Attorneys’ Manual); have been or are indicted or charged; or have entered or in 

the future enter into a plea agreement; 

(c) Any criminal liability; 

(d) Any liability to the United States for any conduct other than the 

Covered Conduct, or any liability for any Covered Conduct that is not expressly 

released herein or in Exhibits H or J to the Consent Judgment; 

(e) Any and all claims whether legal or equitable, in connection 

with investors or purchasers in or of securities or based on the sale, transfer or 
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assignment of any interest in a loan, mortgage, or security to, into, or for the benefit of 

a mortgage-backed security, trust, special purpose entity, financial institution, investor, 

or other entity, including but not limited to in the context of a mortgage securitization 

or whole loan sale to such entities (“Securitization/Investment Claims”).  

Securitization/Investment Claims include, but are not limited to, claims based on the 

following, all in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities or in 

connection with a sale, transfer, or assignment of any interest in loan, mortgage or 

security to, into, or for the benefit of a mortgage-backed security, trust, special purpose 

entity, financial institution, investor, or other entity: 

(i) The United States’ capacity as an owner, purchaser, or 

holder of whole loans, securities, derivatives, or other similar investments, 

including without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt 

obligations, or structured investment vehicles. 

(ii) The creation, formation, solicitation, marketing, 

assignment, transfer, valuation, appraisal, underwriting, offer, sale, substitution, 

of or issuance of any interest in such whole loans, mortgages, securities, 

derivatives, or other similar investments. 

(iii) Claims that SunTrust or an affiliated entity made false or 

misleading statements or omissions, or engaged in other misconduct in connection 

with the sale, transfer or assignment of any interest in a loan, mortgage, or 

security or in connection with investors or purchasers in or of such loans, 

mortgages, or securities, including but not limited to any such conduct that 
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(a) affected a federally insured financial institution or violated a legal duty to a 

mortgage-backed security, trust, special purpose entity, financial institution, or 

investor (including the United States), or governmental agency and/or (b) that 

subjects SunTrust or an affiliated entity to a civil penalty or other remedy under 

12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

(iv) Representations, warranties, certifications, statements, or 

claims made regarding such whole loans, securities, derivatives or other similar 

investments, including representations, warranties, certifications or claims 

regarding the eligibility, characteristics, or quality of mortgages or mortgagors; 

(v) Activities related to the executing, notarizing, transferring 

or recording of mortgages; the endorsement or transfer of a loan; and the 

obtaining, executing, notarizing, transferring or recording of assignments; 

(vi) Obtaining, securing, updating, transferring, or providing 

promissory notes or endorsements of promissory notes through allonges or 

otherwise; 

(vii) Custodial and trustee functions; 

(viii) Intentional or fraudulent failure to pay investors sums owed 

with respect to any security, derivatives, or similar investment; 

(ix) Contractual covenants, agreements, obligations and legal 

duties to a mortgage-backed security, trust, special purpose entity, financial 

institution, investor, or other entity (including the United States); 
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(x) Covered Origination Conduct (except to the extent such 

conduct is released in Paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 7 or 8); and 

(xi) Covered Servicing Conduct to the extent SunTrust or any 

affiliated entity engaged in the Covered Servicing Conduct in question not its 

capacity as servicer, subservicer or master servicer, but in its capacity as the 

originator of a mortgage loan or as seller, depositor, guarantor, sponsor, 

securitization trustee, securities underwriter, document custodian or any other 

capacity. 

The exclusions set forth above in this subparagraph 11(e) shall not apply to 

Securitization/Investment Claims based on the following conduct, and such claims are included 

in what is being released: 

Securitization/Investment Claims based on Covered Servicing Conduct by 

SunTrust or any affiliated entity where: (1) such conduct was performed by 

SunTrust or any affiliated entity in its capacity as the loan servicer, master 

servicer or subservicer, whether conducted for its own account or pursuant to a 

third party servicing agreement or similar agreement, and not in its capacity as 

loan originator, seller, depositor, guarantor, sponsor, securitization trustee, 

securities underwriter, or any other capacity; and (2) such conduct was not in 

connection with (x) the creation, formation, solicitation, marketing, sale, 

assignment, transfer, offer, sale, substitution, underwriting, or issuance of any 

interest in securities, derivatives or other similar investments or (y) the sale or 

transfer of mortgage loans.  The claims addressed in this sub-paragraph include, 
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without limitation, Securitization and Investment Claims that the party seeking to 

enforce a mortgage loan against a borrower and homeowner in respect of that 

borrower’s default did not have a documented enforceable interest in the 

promissory note and mortgage or deed of trust under applicable state law or is 

otherwise not a proper party to the foreclosure or bankruptcy action or claims 

based on such party’s attempts to obtain such a documented enforceable interest 

or become such a proper party. 

(f)  Any liability arising under Section 8 of the Real Estate 

Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2607, relating to private mortgage insurance, 

with respect to claims brought by the CFPB; 

(g) Except with respect to claims related to the delivery of initial or 

annual privacy notices, requirements with respect to the communication of non-public 

personal information to non-affiliated third parties, or other conduct required by 

Sections 502 through 509 of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 6802-6809), 

any claims or conduct involving the obligation of a financial institution under Section 

501(b) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. s. 6801(b)) and its implementing 

regulations to maintain administrative, technical, and physical information security 

safeguards; 

(h) Any liability arising under the Fair Housing Act; any provision 

of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act that is not expressly released in Paragraph 2 of 

this Release, including any provision prohibiting discriminatory conduct; the Home 

Mortgage Disclosure Act; or any other statute or law that prohibits discrimination of 
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persons based on race, color, national origin, gender, disability, or any other protected 

status; 

(i) Administrative claims, proceedings, or actions brought by HUD 

against any current or former director, officer, or employee for suspension, debarment 

or exclusion from any HUD program; 

(j) Any liability arising under the federal environmental laws; 

(k) Any liability to or claims brought by (i) the Federal Housing 

Finance Agency; (ii) any Government Sponsored Enterprise, including the Federal 

National Mortgage Association and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 

(except where the Government Sponsored Enterprise seeks to impose such liability or 

pursue such claims in its capacity as an administrator of the Making Home Affordable 

Program of Treasury); (iii) the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (whether in its 

capacity as a Corporation, Receiver, or Conservator); (iv) the Government National 

Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”) arising out of SunTrust’s contractual 

obligations related to serving as Master Subservicer on defaulted Ginnie Mae 

portfolios, including claims for breach of such obligations; (v) the CFPB with respect 

to claims within its authority that are not expressly released in Paragraph 7; (vi) the 

National Credit Union Administration, whether in its capacity as a Federal agency, 

Liquidating Agent, or Conservator; (vii) the Securities and Exchange Commission; 

(viii) the Federal Reserve Board and its member institutions; (ix) Maiden Lane LLC, 

Maiden Lane II LLC, Maiden Lane III LLC, entities that are consolidated for 

accounting purposes on the financial statements of the Federal Reserve Bank of New 
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York, and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; (x) the Office of the Comptroller of 

the Currency; (xi) the USDA (except to the extent claims are released in Paragraph 5; 

(xii) the VA (except to the extent claims are released in Paragraph 4; (xiii) the 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission; and (xvi) the Inspectors General of such 

entities;   

(l) Any liability to the United States based on the claims and 

conduct alleged in the First Amended Complaint in U.S. ex rel. [Sealed] v. [Sealed], 

12-civ-7199 (S.D.N.Y.) [UNDER SEAL], including but not limited to, any false or 

fraudulent statements, claims, and/or certifications to HUD and/or the GSEs in 

connection with the reimbursement of costs or expenses incurred in connection with 

foreclosure-related proceedings anywhere in the United States (including foreclosure 

proceedings or other proceedings, such as bankruptcy or eviction proceedings, 

involving claims or issues relating to foreclosure), any failure to comply with, or any 

false or fraudulent statements, claims, and/or certifications to HUD and/or the GSEs 

concerning compliance with, quality control and/or monitoring requirements 

applicable to such costs or expenses; and no setoff related to amounts paid under this 

agreement shall be applied to any recovery in connection with that action.. 

(m) Any action that may be taken by the appropriate Federal 

Banking Agency (FBA), as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 1813(q), against SunTrust, any of 

its affiliated entities, and/or any institution-affiliated party of SunTrust, as defined in 

12 U.S.C. § 1813(u), pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1818, and any action by the FBA to 

enforce the Consent Order issued against SunTrust by the FBA on April 13, 2011; 
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(n) Any liability based upon obligations created by this Consent 

Judgment; 

(o) Any liability under FIRREA for any conduct, statements or 

omissions that are: 

(i) Made or undertaken in connection with either (a) the 

creation, formation, transfer, sale, conveyance, or securitization of mortgage-

backed securities, derivatives, collateralized debt obligations and credit default 

swaps, or other similar securities or (b) the sale or transfer of mortgage loans  

(ii) Made or undertaken by SunTrust or an affiliated entity in 

its capacity as loan originator, seller, depositor, guarantor, sponsor, securitization 

trustee, securities underwriter, or any capacity other than as loan servicer, master 

servicer or subservicer, in connection with the origination (including Covered 

Origination Conduct), underwriting, due diligence, quality control, valuation, 

appraisal, pledging, substitution, recording, assignment, or securitization of 

mortgages, whole loans, mortgage-backed securities, derivatives, collateralized 

debt obligations and credit default swaps, or other similar securities (except to the 

extent such conduct is released in Paragraphs 2.c, 3, 4 or 5 and not excluded from 

this Release in Subsections (a)-(n) of this Paragraph 11); 

(iii) Made to or directed at federal governmental entities (except 

to the extent such conduct is released in Paragraphs 2.a, 3, 4 or 5 and not excluded 

from this Release in Subsections (a)-(n) of this Paragraph 11); or 
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(iv) Based on (A) the failure by SunTrust or affiliated entity to 

pay investors or trustees any sums received by SunTrust or affiliated entity and 

owed to the investors and trustees with respect to any security, derivatives, or 

similar investment; (B) the failure by SunTrust or affiliated entity to disclose that 

it failed to pay investors or trustees any sums received by SunTrust or affiliated 

entity and owed to investors or trustees with respect to any security, derivatives, 

or similar investment; (C) the collection by SunTrust or affiliated entity of money 

or other consideration from loan sellers with respect to loans that SunTrust or an 

affiliated entity had sold to others or packaged into a security for sale to others; or 

(D) the failure by SunTrust or affiliated entity to repurchase loans to the extent 

that it had a contractual obligation to repurchase. 

To the extent that the reservation of FIRREA claims in this subparagraph 11(o) is inconsistent 

with any other provision of this Release (not including Exhibit J), the reservation of FIRREA 

claims in this subparagraph 11(o) shall control.  This reservation of FIRREA Claims shall not be 

construed to otherwise limit any other claim that the United States has against SunTrust, to alter 

the requirements of FIRREA, or to waive any defense available to SunTrust under existing law. 

(12) For avoidance of doubt, this Release shall not preclude a claim by any 

private individual or entity for harm to that private individual or entity, except for a claim 

asserted by a private individual or entity under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b) or 12 U.S.C. § 4207 that is 

subject to this Release and not excluded by Paragraph 11. 

(13) SunTrust waives and shall not assert any defenses SunTrust may have to 

any criminal prosecution or administrative action based on the Covered Conduct that may be 
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based in whole or in part on a contention that, under the Double Jeopardy Clause in the Fifth 

Amendment of the Constitution or under the Excessive Fines Clause in the Eighth Amendment 

of the Constitution, this Release bars a remedy sought in such criminal prosecution or 

administrative action.  Nothing in this Paragraph or any other provision of this Consent 

Judgment constitutes an agreement by the United States concerning the characterization of the 

Federal Settlement Amount for purposes of Title 26, United States Code (Internal Revenue 

Code). 

(14) SunTrust and any current or former affiliated entity, as well as any current 

or former director, current or former officer, or current or former employee of any of the 

foregoing, but only to the extent that SunTrust and any current or former affiliated entity 

possesses the ability to release claims on behalf of such individuals or entities, fully and finally 

releases the United States, the CFPB, and their employees from any claims based on the Covered 

Conduct to the extent, and only to the extent, that such individual or entity is released from 

claims based on that Covered Conduct under Paragraphs 2 through 9 of this Release and such 

claim is not excluded under Paragraph 11 of this Release (including, for the avoidance of doubt, 

claims by the entities listed in Paragraph 11(k)), as well as claims under the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412 based on the United States’ and CFPB’s investigation and 

prosecution of the foregoing released claims.  Nothing herein is intended to release claims for 

mortgage insurance or mortgage guaranty payments or claims for payment for goods and 

services, such as incentive payments under HAMP. 
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(15)  

(a) Unallowable Costs Defined: All costs (as defined in the Federal 

Acquisition Regulations, 48 C.F.R. § 31.205-47) incurred by or on behalf of SunTrust 

and any current or former affiliated entity (to the extent SunTrust retains liabilities 

associated with such former affiliated entity), any successor or assign, as well as any 

current or former director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of 

any of the foregoing, individually and collectively, in connection with: 

(1) the matters covered by the Consent Judgment; 

(2) the United States’ audits and civil investigations of the 

matters covered by the Consent Judgment; 

(3) SunTrust’s investigation, defense, and corrective actions 

undertaken in response to the United States’ audit(s) and 

civil investigation(s) in connection with the matters 

covered by the Consent Judgment (including attorney’s 

fees); 

(4) the negotiation and performance of the Consent Judgment; 

and 

(5) the payments SunTrust makes to the United States or others 

pursuant to the Consent Judgment, 

(6) are unallowable costs for government contracting purposes 

(“Unallowable Costs”). 
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(b) Future Treatment of Unallowable Costs:  Unallowable Costs 

will be separately determined and accounted for by SunTrust, and SunTrust shall not 

charge such Unallowable Costs directly or indirectly to any contract with the United 

States. 

(c) Treatment of Unallowable Costs Previously Submitted for 

Payment: Within 90 days of the Effective Date of the Consent Judgment, SunTrust 

shall identify and repay by adjustment to future claims for payment or otherwise any 

Unallowable Costs included in payments previously sought by SunTrust or any of its 

affiliated entities from the United States.  SunTrust agrees that the United States, at a 

minimum, shall be entitled to recoup from any overpayment plus applicable interest 

and penalties as a result of the inclusion of such Unallowable Costs on previously-

submitted requests for payment.  The United States reserves its rights to audit, 

examine, or re-examine SunTrust’s books and records and to disagree with any 

calculations submitted by SunTrust or any of its affiliated entities regarding any 

Unallowable Costs included in payments previously sought by SunTrust, or the effect 

of any such Unallowable Costs on the amount of such payments.     

(16) SunTrust agrees to cooperate fully and truthfully with the United States’ 

and the CFPB’s investigation of individuals and entities not released in this Release.  Upon 

reasonable notice, SunTrust shall encourage, and agrees not to impair, the reasonable 

cooperation of its directors, officers and employees, and shall use its reasonable efforts to make 

available and encourage the cooperation of former directors, officers, and employees for 

interviews and testimony, consistent with the rights and privileges of such individuals.   
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(17) This Release is intended to be and shall be for the benefit only of the 

Parties and entities and individuals identified in this Release, and no other party or entity shall 

have any rights or benefits hereunder. 

(18) Each party shall bear its own legal and other costs incurred in connection 

with this matter, including the preparation and performance of this Consent Judgment. 

(19) Each party and signatory to this Consent Judgment represents that it freely 

and voluntarily enters into the Consent Judgment without any degree of duress or compulsion. 

(20) This Release is governed by the laws of the United States.  The exclusive 

jurisdiction and venue for any dispute arising out of matters covered by this Release is the United 

States District Court for the District of Columbia.  For purposes of construing this Release, this 

Release shall be deemed to have been drafted by all the Parties and shall not, therefore, be 

construed against any party for that reason in any subsequent dispute. 

(21) The Consent Judgment constitutes the complete agreement between the 

Parties as to the matters addressed herein.  The Consent Judgment may not be amended except 

by written consent of the Parties. 

(22) The undersigned represent and warrant that they are fully authorized to 

execute the Consent Judgment on behalf of the Parties indicated below. 

(23) The Consent Judgment may be executed in counterparts, each of which 

constitutes an original and all of which constitute one and the same Consent Judgment. 

(24) This Release is binding on, and inures to the benefit of, SunTrust’s 

successors, heirs, and assigns. 
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(25) The Parties may disclose this Release, and information about this Release, 

to the public at their discretion. 

(26) Facsimiles of signatures shall constitute acceptable, binding signatures for 

purposes of this Release. 

(27) Whenever the words “include,” “includes,” or “including” are used in this 

Release, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” 
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STATE RELEASE 

I. Covered Conduct 

For purposes of this Release, the term “Covered Conduct” means residential mortgage 

loan servicing, residential mortgage loan origination services, and residential mortgage 

foreclosure services, as defined below.  For the purposes of this Release, Released Parties shall 

include SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. (“SunTrust”), including SunTrust’s current and former parent 

corporations or other forms of legal entities, direct and indirect subsidiaries, brother or sister 

corporations or other forms of legal entities, divisions or affiliates, and the predecessors, 

successors, and assigns of any of them, as well as the current and former directors, officers, and 

employees of any of the foregoing.  

 For purposes of this Section I only, the term Released Parties includes agents (including, 

without limitation, third party vendors) of the Released Parties and the Released Parties are 

released from liability for the covered conduct acts of their agents (including, without limitation, 

third-party vendors).  This Release does not release the agents (including, without limitation, 

third-party vendors) themselves for any of their conduct.  For purposes of this Release, the term 

“residential mortgage loans” means loans secured by one- to four- family residential properties, 

irrespective of usage, whether in the form of a mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest 

creating a lien upon such property or any other property described therein that secures the related 

mortgage note.  

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage loan servicing” means all 

actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties, arising out of or relating to servicing 

(including subservicing and master servicing) of residential mortgage loans from and after the 

closing of such loans, whether for the Released Parties’ account or for the account of others, 
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including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Loan modification and other loss mitigation 

activities, including, without limitation, extensions, forbearances, payment plans, short sales and 

deeds in lieu of foreclosure, and evaluation, approval, denial, and implementation of the terms 

and conditions of any of the foregoing; (2) Communications with borrowers relating to borrower 

accounts, including, without limitation, account statements and disclosures provided to 

borrowers; (3) Handling and resolution of inquiries, disputes or complaints by or on behalf of 

borrowers; (4) Collection activity related to delinquent borrower accounts; (5) Acceptance, 

rejection, application or posting of payments made by or on behalf of borrowers, including, 

without limitation, assessment and collection of fees or charges, placement of payments in 

suspense accounts and credit reporting; (6) Maintenance, placement or payment (or failure to 

make payment) of any type of insurance or insurance premiums, or claims activity with respect 

to any such insurance; (7) Payment of taxes, homeowner association dues, or other borrower 

obligations, and creation and maintenance of any escrow accounts; (8) Use, conduct or 

supervision of vendors, agents and contract employees, whether affiliated or unaffiliated, 

including, without limitation, subservicers and foreclosure and bankruptcy attorneys, in 

connection with servicing, loss mitigation, and foreclosure activities; (9) Adequacy of staffing, 

training, systems, data integrity or security of data that is related to the servicing of residential 

mortgage loans, foreclosure, bankruptcy, and property sale and management services; (10) 

Securing, inspecting, repairing, maintaining, or preserving properties before and after foreclosure 

or acquisition or transfer of title; (11) Servicing of residential mortgage loans involved in 

bankruptcy proceedings; (12) Obtaining, executing, notarizing, endorsing, recording, providing, 

maintaining, registering (including in a registry system), and transferring promissory notes, 

mortgages, or mortgage assignments or other similar documents, or transferring interests in such 
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documents among and between servicers and owners, and custodial functions or appointment of 

officers relating to such documents; (13) Decisions on disposition of residential mortgage loans, 

including, without limitation, whether to pursue foreclosure on properties, whether to assert or 

abandon liens and other claims and actions taken in respect thereof, and whether to pursue any 

particular loan modification or other form of loss mitigation; (14) Servicing of residential 

mortgage loans of borrowers who are covered by federal or state protections due to military 

status; (15) Licensing or registration of employees, agents, vendors or contractors, or designation 

of employees as agents of another entity; (16) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, 

audit testing, oversight, reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the 

foregoing; and (17) Trustee functions related to the servicing of residential mortgage loans. 

 For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage foreclosure services” means 

all actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties arising out of or relating to foreclosures 

on residential mortgage loans, whether for the Released Parties’ own account or for the account 

of others, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) Evaluation of accounts for modification 

or foreclosure referral; (2) Maintenance, assignment, recovery and preparation of documents that 

have been filed or otherwise used to initiate or pursue foreclosures, and custodial actions related 

thereto; (3) Drafting, review, execution and notarization of documents (including, but not limited 

to, affidavits, notices, certificates, substitutions of trustees, and assignments) prepared or filed in 

connection with foreclosures or sales of acquired properties, or in connection with remediation of 

improperly filed documents; (4) Commencement, advancement and finality of foreclosures, 

including, without limitation, any issues relating to standing, fees, or notices; (5) Acquisition of 

title post-foreclosure or in lieu of foreclosure; (6) Pursuit of pre- and post-foreclosure claims by 

the Released Parties, including, without limitation, the seeking of deficiency judgments when 
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permitted by law, acts or omissions regarding lien releases, and evictions and eviction 

proceedings; (7) Management, maintenance, and disposition of properties in default or properties 

owned or controlled by the Released Parties, whether prior to or during the foreclosure process 

or after foreclosure, and executing, notarizing, or recording any documents related to the sale of 

acquired properties; (8) Quality control, quality assurance, compliance, audit testing, oversight, 

reporting, or certification or registration requirements related to the foregoing; and (9) Trustee 

functions related to the foreclosure of residential mortgage loans. 

For purposes of this Release, the term “residential mortgage loan origination services” 

means all actions, errors or omissions of the Released Parties arising out of or relating to the 

origination of, or the assistance in the origination of, residential mortgage loans, or the 

purchasing of residential mortgage whole loans, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) 

Advertising, solicitation, disclosure, processing, review, underwriting, closing and funding of 

borrower residential mortgage loans or lending services, including, without limitation, the 

charges, terms, pricing, and conditions of such loans or lending services; (2) Approving or 

denying loan applications; (3) Recommendation, offering or provision of loan products, 

including, without limitation, whether such products’ features or terms and conditions were 

appropriate for a particular borrower; (4) Valuation of the properties used as collateral for such 

loans, including, without limitation, use of employees, independent and vendor management 

appraisers, and alternative valuation methods such as AVMs and BPOs; (5) Use, referral, 

conduct or supervision of, or payment of fees or other forms of consideration to, vendors, agents 

or contract employees, whether affiliated or unaffiliated, and whether retained by the Bank, 

borrower or otherwise, including, without limitation, closing agents, appraisers, real estate 

agents, mortgage brokers, and providers of real estate settlement services; (6) Drafting and 
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execution of residential mortgage loan documents and disclosures and the provision of such 

disclosures; (7) Obtaining or recording of collateral documents relating to the origination of 

residential mortgage loans, including, without limitation, use of trustees or designees on 

mortgages or deeds of trust; (8) Licensing and registration of employees in connection with 

origination of residential mortgage loans; (9) Quality control, quality assurance, or compliance 

audit testing, or oversight related to the foregoing; and (10) Communications with borrowers 

related to the origination of residential mortgage loans. 

II. Release of Covered Conduct 

By their execution of this Consent Judgment, the Attorneys General  that are parties to 

this Consent Judgment release and forever discharge the Released Parties from the following: 

any civil or administrative claim, of any kind whatsoever, direct or indirect, that an Attorney 

Generalhas or may have or assert, including, without limitation, claims for damages, fines, 

injunctive relief, remedies, sanctions, or penalties of any kind whatsoever based on, arising out 

of, or resulting from the Covered Conduct on or before the Effective Date,  except for claims and 

the other actions set forth in Section IV below (collectively, the “Released Claims”). 

This Release does not release any claims against any entity other than the Released 

Parties as defined in Section I above. 

III. Covenants by SunTrust 

1. SunTrust waives and shall not assert any defenses SunTrust may have to any 

criminal prosecution based on the Covered Conduct that may be based in whole or in part on a 

contention that, under the Double Jeopardy Clause in the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution or 

under the Excessive Fines Clause in the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution, this Release bars 

a remedy sought in such criminal prosecution. 
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2. SunTrust agrees to cooperate with an Attorney General’s criminal investigation of 

individuals and entities not released in this Release. For purposes of this covenant, cooperation 

shall not include any requirement that SunTrust waive the attorney-client privilege or any other 

applicable privileges or protection, included but not limited to the attorney work product 

doctrine. Upon reasonable notice, SunTrust agrees not to impair the reasonable cooperation of its 

directors, officers and employees, and shall use its reasonable efforts to make available and 

encourage the cooperation of former directors, officers, and employees for interviews and 

testimony, consistent with the rights and privileges of such individuals. 

 IV. Claims and Other Actions Exempted from Release 

Notwithstanding the foregoing and any other term of this Consent Judgment, the 

following claims are hereby not released and are specifically reserved: 

1. Securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase of 

securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, 

regardless of the factual basis of the claim, including such claims of the state or state entities as 

an owner, purchaser, or holder of whole loans, securities, derivatives or similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, or 

structured investment vehicles, and including, but not limited to, such claims based on the 

following: 

a. the creation, formation, solicitation, marketing, assignment, transfer, offer, 

sale or substitution of securities, derivatives, or other similar investments, 

including, without limitation, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt 

obligations, collateralized loan obligations, or structured investment vehicles; 
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b. representations, warranties, certifications, or claims made regarding such 

securities or investments, such as representations, warranties, certifications or 

claims regarding origination, funding, and underwriting activities, and including 

the eligibility, characteristics, or quality of the mortgages or the mortgagors; 

c. the transfer, sale, conveyance, or assignment of mortgage loans to, and the 

purchase and acquisition of such mortgage loans by, the entity creating, forming 

and issuing the securities, derivatives or other similar investments relating to such 

mortgage loans; 

d. all servicing-, foreclosure-, and origination-related conduct, but solely to 

the extent that such claims are based on the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, 

or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities; and 

e. all Covered Conduct, but solely to the extent that such claims are based on 

the offer, sale, or purchase of securities, or other conduct in connection with 

investors or purchasers in or of securities. 

For avoidance of doubt, securities and securitization claims based on the offer, sale, or purchase 

of securities, or other conduct in connection with investors or purchasers in or of securities, that 

are based on any source of law, including, but not limited to, false claims acts or equivalent laws, 

securities laws, and common law breach of fiduciary duty, are not released. 

2. Claims against a trustee or custodian or an agent thereof based on or arising out of 

the conduct of the trustee, custodian or such agent related to the pooling of residential mortgage 

loans in trusts, mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, collateralized loan 

obligations, or structured investment vehicles, including, but not limited to, the performance of 

trustee or custodial functions in such conduct. 
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3. Liability based on SunTrust’s obligations created by this Consent Judgment. 

4. Claims against Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. or MERSCORP, 

INC. 

5. Claims arising out of alleged violations of fair lending laws that relate to 

discriminatory conduct in lending. 

6. Claims of state, county and local pension or other governmental funds as 

investors (whether those claims would be brought directly by those pension or other 

governmental funds or by the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing the 

pension or other governmental funds). 

7. Tax claims, including, but not limited to, claims relating to real estate transfer 

taxes. 

8. Claims of county and local governments and claims or disciplinary proceedings of 

state regulatory agencies having specific regulatory jurisdiction that is separate and independent 

from the regulatory and enforcement jurisdiction of the Attorney General. 

9. Criminal enforcement of state criminal laws. 

10. Claims of county recorders, city recorders, town recorders or other local 

government officers or agencies (or, for Hawaii only, where a statewide recording system is 

applicable and operated by the state, claims by Hawaii; and for Maryland, where the recording 

system is the joint responsibility of the counties or Baltimore City and the state, claims of the 

counties or Baltimore City and the state), for fees relating to the recordation or registration 

process of mortgages or deeds of trust, including assignments, transfers, and conveyances, 

regardless of whether those claims would be brought directly by such local government officers 
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or agencies or through the Office of the Attorney General as attorneys representing such local 

government officers or agencies. 

11. Claims and defenses asserted by third parties, including individual mortgage loan 

borrowers on an individual or class basis. 

12. Claims seeking injunctive or declaratory relief to clear a cloud on title where the 

Covered Conduct has resulted in a cloud on title to real property under state law; provided, 

however, that the Attorneys General shall not otherwise take actions seeking to invalidate past 

mortgage assignments or foreclosures in connection with loans serviced and/or owned by the 

Released Parties.  For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph 12 releases, waives or 

bars any legal or factual argument related to the validity of past mortgage assignments or 

foreclosures that could be made in support of claims not released herein, including, without 

limitation, all claims preserved under paragraphs 1 through  13  of Section IV of this Release. 

13. Authority to resolve consumer complaints brought to the attention of SunTrust for 

resolution outside of the monitoring process, as described in Section H of the Enforcement 

Terms (Exhibit E). 
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This Exhibit I is an Addendum to Exhibits D and D-1 

The Federal Parties, the State Parties, and Defendant, have agreed to enter into the Consent 

Judgment.  Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein have the meanings assigned to 

them in the relevant portion of or exhibit to the Consent Judgment. 

In addition to the terms agreed elsewhere in the Consent Judgment, the Parties agree to the 

following: 

1. This Exhibit I amends and modifies the terms and provisions of Exhibits D and D-1.   For 

clarity, the terms agreed to in this Exhibit are in addition to, and not in lieu of terms 

agreed elsewhere in the Consent Judgment and its exhibits.  To the extent that this 

Exhibit I and Exhibits D or D-1 or other provisions of the Consent Judgment have 

inconsistent or conflicting terms and provisions, this Exhibit I shall be controlling and 

shall govern the agreement among the Parties. Whenever Exhibits D or D-1 are 

referenced in this Exhibit I or elsewhere in the Consent Judgment and exhibits, it shall 

mean Exhibits D or D-1 as amended and modified by this Exhibit I. References to 

Servicer in Exhibits D, D-1, and I shall mean SunTrust Banks, Inc. including its affiliates 

and subsidiaries (“Servicer” or “SunTrust”). 

2. Pursuant to Paragraph 3 of the Consent Judgment, Defendant shall pay a Direct Payment 

Settlement Amount of $50,000,000, by electronic funds transfer within ten days of 

receiving notice that the escrow account referenced in Paragraph 3 of the Consent 

Judgment is established or within ten days after the entry of the Consent Judgment 

(“Effective Date”), whichever is later. 

3. Defendant shall be responsible for $500,000,000 in consumer relief as set forth in Exhibit 

D and credited pursuant to the terms of Exhibits D and D-1. 

a. The Servicer’s $500,000,000 consumer relief obligation will be allocated as 

follows:  

i. The Servicer will provide a minimum of $187,500,000 in creditable 

relief to consumers who meet the eligibility criteria in the forms and 

amounts described in Paragraphs 1 or 2 of Exhibit D and/or Paragraph 6 

of Exhibit I (“1
st
/2

nd
 Lien Principal Reduction Obligation”). No less than 

$93,750,000 of the 1
st
/2

nd
 Lien Principal Reduction Obligation will come 

from consumers who meet the eligibility criteria described in Paragraph 

1 of Exhibit D (“1
st
 Lien Principal Reduction Obligation”).   

ii. The Servicer will provide a minimum of $25,000,000 in creditable relief 

to consumers who meet the eligibility criteria in the forms and amounts 

described in Paragraph 9 of Exhibit D and/or in Paragraph 5 of Exhibit I 

(“Refinancing Obligation”).  
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iii. The Servicer may not receive credit of more than $100,000,000 for relief 

provided to consumers who meet the eligibility criteria in the forms and 

amounts described in Paragraph 4 of Exhibit I (“Lending Cap”). 

b. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Consent Judgment or the Exhibits 

thereto, Defendant will be obligated to make the payments specified in Paragraph 10.d 

of Exhibit D in the event and to the extent that Servicer or its successors in interest do 

not complete the Consumer Relief Requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 

c. The releases contained in Exhibits F and G of the Consent Judgment shall become 

effective upon payment of the Direct Payment Settlement Amount by Defendant.  The 

United States and any State Party may withdraw from the Consent Judgment and 

declare it null and void with respect to that party and all released entities if the 

Consumer Relief Requirements (as that term is defined in Exhibit F (Federal Release)) 

required under this Consent Judgment are not completed within the time specified and 

any payment required under Paragraph 10.d of Exhibit D is not made within thirty 

days of written notice by the party. However, the United States may not void the terms 

and releases set forth in Exhibits J and K. 

4. Low to Moderate Income and Hardest Hit Area Lending Program (“Lending Program”). 

The Servicer may establish mortgage origination programs satisfying the conditions set 

forth below, and will receive credit against its Lending Cap in the manner and form set 

forth below. 

a. Eligibility Criteria.  The Eligibility Criteria for the Lending Program are the following: 

i. Purchase-money mortgages originated after January 1, 2014 to credit-

worthy borrowers whose income is no greater than 80% of the area 

median income (“AMI”) as calculated in accordance with the parameters 

used by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and 

who (1) are first time homebuyers or (2) who are buying homes in 

hardest hit areas as set forth in Appendix A (“Hardest Hit Areas”) or (3) 

who have previously lost a home to foreclosure or short sale; and 

ii. The borrower intends to occupy the home.  The Servicer may rely on the 

borrower’s stated intent to occupy the home when evidencing the 

borrower’s intent to occupy. 

b. Crediting. Credits for relief provided under this program will be calculated according 

to the following terms: 

i. The Servicer will receive a $10,000 credit against Defendant's consumer 

relief obligation for each eligible mortgage loan originated by the 

Servicer.  
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ii. The Servicer will receive an additional 25% credit for any eligible 

mortgage loan made by the Servicer to a borrower who is purchasing a 

home in the Hardest Hit Areas. 

iii. The Servicer will receive an additional 25% credit for any eligible 

mortgage loan made by the Servicer to a borrower between January 1, 

2014 and January 1, 2015 

c. Borrower Outreach Program in Hardest Hit Areas.   

i. The Servicer will in good faith take steps substantially similar to some 

of the examples described below to increase borrower awareness of the 

Lending Program and principal reduction loss mitigation options 

available pursuant to this Agreement in Hardest Hit Areas.  The 

following are illustrative examples of the steps the Servicer may take to 

satisfy this requirement: partner and/or co-brand with reputable housing 

assistance or non-profit consumer or housing counseling agencies of its 

choosing to increase borrower awareness of the Lending Program; 

sponsor borrower outreach events targeted at Hardest Hit Areas; provide 

information and/or training regarding the Lending Program to the 

Servicer’s origination agents who are active in Hardest Hit Areas; 

provide information and/or training regarding the Lending Program and 

principal reduction loss mitigation options to reputable housing 

assistance or non-profit consumer or housing counseling agencies that 

are active in Hardest Hit Areas; and/or increase the Servicer’s 

advertising efforts targeted to reach potential borrowers living in or 

considering home purchase financing in Hardest Hit Areas. 

ii. The Servicer must employ one or more activities in satisfaction of the 

requirement in Paragraph 4.c.i., above, on a scheduled and sustained 

basis unless and until it (1) reports to the Monitor that it has fulfilled its 

total consumer relief obligation, or (2) informs the Monitor in writing 

that it no longer intends to seek credit for activities under the Lending 

Program or for bonus credit associated with 1
st
 and 2

nd
 lien principal 

reduction modifications in Hardest Hit Areas. The Servicer may not 

receive credit under the Lending Program or receive the bonus 

associated with 1
st
 and 2

nd
 lien principal reduction modifications in 

Hardest Hit Areas for any activity initiated after the date on which it 

informs the Monitor of its intention to no longer seek credit for activities 

under the Lending Program. 

iii. The Monitor will evaluate and certify the Servicer’s compliance with 

paragraph 4.c.i. above using a methodology similar to the methodology 

employed to determine the Servicers’ compliance with the Mandatory 

Relief Requirements set forth in Exhibit E to the Consent Judgment 

entered in United States, et al. v. Bank of America Corp., et al., No. 12-

civ-00361-RMC (April 4, 2012) (Docket Nos. 10-14). 
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5. Additional Rate Reduction Programs.  The Servicer may establish programs satisfying 

the conditions set forth below, and rate relief provided through these programs will 

receive credit against its Refinancing Obligation in the manner as described below.  

Except where specified below, the calculation of credit for these programs will be 

consistent with Paragraph 9 of Exhibit D.  In accordance with Paragraph 9.b of Exhibit D, 

Servicer will not be required to solicit or offer Rate Reduction Program relief on loans 

under circumstances that, in the reasonable judgment of the Servicer, would result in 

TDR treatment.   

 a. Rate Relief Program.  

i. Eligibility Criteria.  The Eligibility Criteria for the Rate Relief Program are 

the following: 

A. The borrower’s LTV is greater than 100%, or is greater than 80% if 

the borrower would not have qualified for a refinance under the 

Servicer’s generally-available refinance programs as of June 30, 

2013; 

B. The loan to be modified is a first lien and was originated prior to 

January 1, 2009; 

C. The borrower is current on the loan, and has not had more than one 

delinquency of at most 30 days within the prior 12 months; and 

D. The current interest rate on the loan is at least 5.25%, including but 

not limited to interest-only loans. 

E. Borrowers need not have underwriting based on income. 

ii. Relief.  Borrowers meeting the Eligibility Criteria will be offered the 

following: 

A. A new fixed rate mortgage at or below current conforming rates (as 

indicated by the Primary Mortgage Market Survey Rate (“PMMS”) 

at the time the modification or refinance is evaluated); 

B. Minimum payment relief of $100/month; and 

C. No future interest rate increases, changes in term, or additional costs 

to the borrower. 

D. Relief may be provided through a modification or refinance. 
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b.    Payment Shock Relief Program.   

i. Eligibility Criteria.  The same eligibility criteria in Paragraph 9.a of Exhibit 

D, shall be the Eligibility Criteria for the Payment Shock Relief Program, 

except as follows: 

A. The subject loan is a first lien that is at imminent risk of default, 

consistent with Paragraph 1.c. of Exhibit D, due to being an interest-

only loan or other high-risk mortgage product that may reset, 

resulting in a payment shock to the borrower. 

B. The current interest rate may be at or below the greater of 5.25% or 

PMMS plus 100 basis points. 

C. Borrowers need not have underwriting based on income. 

ii. Relief.  Borrowers meeting the Eligibility Criteria for this program will be 

offered the following: 

A. A fully amortizing 30-year loan with a fixed interest rate no greater 

than PMMS plus 75 basis points; or a fully amortizing 30-year, 1-

year LIBOR ARM at a 175 basis point margin.   

B. Relief may be provided through a modification or refinance. 

iii. For purposes of calculating credit under Paragraph 9 of Exhibit D:  

A. Permanent margin reductions for post-modification 30-year ARMs 

will be treated consistent with Paragraph 9.e of Exhibit D. 

c.     Second Lien Rate Reduction Program  

i.  Eligibility Criteria.  The same eligibility criteria in Paragraph 9.a of Exhibit 

D, applied to second liens, shall be the Eligibility Criteria for the Second 

Lien Reduction Program, except as follows:  

A. The program shall apply to Servicer owned second lien mortgage 

loans; 

B. The combined LTV must be greater than 100%; 

C. The current interest rate is at least 5.25%. 

ii.  Relief.  Borrowers meeting the Eligibility Criteria for this program will be 

offered a modification or refinance that meets the requirements set forth in 

Paragraphs 9.c and 9.d of Exhibit D, as applied to second liens, except that 

the Servicer will reduce the borrower’s rate by at least 200 basis points.  
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However, the Servicer will not be obligated to reduce the borrower’s rate to 

below 4%.  

iii.  Credit.  Credits for relief provided under this program will be calculated at 

90% of the calculation set forth in Paragraph 9.e of Exhibit D.  The amount 

of credit available under this program will be capped at $5 million of the 

total Refinancing Obligation. 

d.   Notwithstanding the success or failure of a Refinancing Program in putting 

borrowers in sustainable mortgages, the Servicer shall be obligated to satisfy the 

commitment set forth in Paragraph 3 above; failure to satisfy the commitment set 

forth in Paragraph 3 shall result in an additional payment as set forth in Paragraph 10 

of the Consumer Relief Requirements contained in Exhibit D.  

6. Second Lien Principal Modification Program  

a. Eligibility Criteria.  For purposes of crediting second lien principal reduction 

modifications under Paragraph 2 of Exhibit D, the eligibility criteria may also 

include:   

i. A current second lien that is at imminent risk of default due to being, among 

other things, an interest-only loan, delinquent senior lien, or other high-risk 

mortgage product that may reset, resulting in a payment shock to the borrower.  

Servicer need not require income verification for these borrowers. 

b. Provided a second lien modification is otherwise creditable under this Paragraph 

6, the Servicer will receive credit for modifications to loans where personal 

liability has been discharged in Chapter 7 bankruptcy, the borrower continues to 

occupy the property, the borrower remains current on payments post-discharge, 

and the underlying lien has not been extinguished. 

c. Relief.  Borrowers may receive 100% principal forgiveness on their second liens 

except for situations where the Servicer owns or services the first lien loan on the 

same property and knows the first lien is to be foreclosed on or is subject to a 

foreclosure sale in the next 30 days.   

d. Credit.  Credits for relief provided under this program will be calculated in 

accordance with the provisions set forth in Paragraph 2 of Exhibit D, and in 

accordance with the crediting formula set forth in Paragraph 2.i of Exhibit D-1. 

7. Borrower Solicitation. The Servicer will solicit all borrowers in its loan portfolio who are 

eligible for the Rate Relief Program as of the Effective Date (“Eligible Borrowers”). The 

Servicer will solicit as follows: 

a. Such solicitation shall commence as soon as reasonably practicable following the 

Effective Date and solicitations shall be sent to Eligible Borrowers in accordance with 

the timeline set forth in the Servicer’s work plan until the Servicer reports to the 

Monitor that it has satisfied its Refinancing Obligation. Any borrower who accepts an 
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offer made under a Rate Relief Program within 3 months from the date the Servicer 

sends the borrower a refinance or modification agreement (which shall be the first 

calendar day of the month following the date the refinance or modification agreement 

is first sent pursuant to Paragraph 7.c.i below) will receive the relief. Further, any 

borrower who accepts a modification offer made under the Rate Relief Program 

within 180 days of the offer being made shall, unless the SunTrust has, as of the date 

of the offer, exceeded their obligations under Paragraph 3 by $60,000,000, receive the 

modification. The minimum solicitation period for an offer made under a Rate Relief 

Program shall be 3 months from the date the solicitation commences (which shall be 

the first calendar day of the month following the date written communication is first 

sent pursuant to Paragraph 7.c.i below). Upon commencement of this solicitation of 

any individual Eligible Borrower, the Servicer shall complete all of the solicitation 

requirements described below until the earlier of the following occurs: (a) exhaustion 

of relevant solicitation steps described in Paragraph 7.c below, without success, or (b) 

proper acceptance or denial of an Eligible Borrower for a Rate Relief Program (the 

“Borrower Solicitation Period”).  

b.  The Borrower Solicitation Requirements shall not apply to solicitations for 

modification programs other than Rate Relief Program (which may be conducted 

contemporaneously), to solicitations to a particular Eligible Borrower that occur after 

that particular Eligible Borrower has been previously solicited, in compliance with 

this agreement, to Eligible Borrowers under the Rate Relief Program who (1) 

accepted another home retention option after the Effective Date of this Consent 

Judgment, or (2) who accepted a non-home retention option prior to the date the 

Servicer made a final determination that the borrower was an Eligible Borrower 

provided that the borrower was informed about and offered a modification under the 

Rate Reduction Program.  Additionally, the Servicer is not required to solicit Eligible 

Borrowers whose loans are no longer serviced by the Servicer at the time the Servicer 

identifies the Eligible Borrower for solicitation.  

c. Requirements for solicitations under this paragraph shall include: 

i. The Servicer will issue an initial proactive correspondence letter to borrowers 

advising them they are eligible for the Rate Relief Program (“Proactive 

Correspondence”). If the borrower expresses an interest in the Rate Relief 

Program, Servicer shall send the pre-approved refinance or modification 

agreement (as appropriate) to the borrower for execution.  These packages will 

be sent via overnight delivery services (e.g., Federal Express) with return 

receipt/delivery confirmation. 

ii. If the borrower does not return the agreement after being sent the package, the 

Servicer will call the Eligible Borrower. 

iii. If the Servicer is not successful in communicating with the borrower following 

the initial Proactive Correspondence, the Servicer will send a second Proactive 

Correspondence on or about 30 days after the mailing of the initial Proactive 

Correspondence.  
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iv. The Servicer, as part of any contact with borrowers, whether by telephone, 

mail or otherwise, shall (1) advise borrowers that they may be eligible for a 

Rate Relief Program; and (2) clearly describe the Rate Relief Program being 

offered as well as the documents required to be submitted by the borrower and 

state what other information, if any, the Servicer needs to complete the 

analysis.   

8. Other Matters. 

a. Menu Items.  With respect to Exhibit D and D-1 Table 1 “Credit Towards 

Settlement,” the following modification and amendments shall apply: 

i. Exhibit D, Paragraph 1.b is amended by replacing “85%” with “65%”. 

ii. Exhibit D, Paragraph 1.d is amended by replacing “100%” with “90%”. 

iii. Exhibit D, Paragraphs 1.e, 1.f, and 1.g are amended as follows: 

 

A. By replacing all references to LTV of 120% with LTV of 110%; and 

iv. Exhibit D, Paragraph 1.e is amended as follows: By adding a subparagraph 

1.e.iii, which shall read: “When the borrower’s pre-modification LTV ratio is 

below 100%, then the borrower’s post-modification LTV shall not be lower 

than 80%.” 

 

v. Exhibit D, Paragraph 1.f applies to the following categories of loans:  

A. Regardless of delinquency, modifications made to borrowers in an active 

bankruptcy; or for borrowers who have received Chapter 7 bankruptcy 

discharges of personal liability for the loans, who continue to occupy the 

properties, who remain current on payments, and where the underlying 

lien has not been extinguished; 

B. Regardless of delinquency, modifications made to borrowers involved in 

active litigation;  

C. Modifications made to borrowers who are current (less than 30 days 

delinquent) on a mortgage modification made prior to the terms of this 

Agreement or that does not meet the terms set forth in this Agreement.  

vi. Exhibit D, Paragraph 1.h is amended to read as follows: “Following 

Servicer’s Effective Date, Servicer will modify a second lien mortgage loan 

consistent with the treatment waterfall described below, and as modified by 

Exhibit I, within a reasonable time to facilitate a Participating Servicer’s 

modification of a first lien mortgage owned by the Participating Servicer, 

provided that the Participating Servicer who owns the first lien mortgage 

contacts Servicer regarding the second lien mortgage loan that Servicer 

owns and provides reasonably satisfactory documentation of the first lien 
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mortgage actively being considered for modification. Credit for such second 

lien mortgage loan write downs shall be credited in accordance with the 

second lien percentages and cap described in Table 1, Section 2, as amended 

by Exhibit I. Additionally, Servicer will receive credit for modified first lien 

mortgages that qualify for its proprietary modification processes regardless 

of whether the owner of the second lien mortgage loan modifies the second 

lien.” 

vii. Exhibit D Paragraph 9.c is amended as follows by adding subparagraph 

9.c.i.4:  For loans with current interest rates above 5.25% or PMMS +100 

basis points, whichever is greater, the interest rate may be reduced for 7 

years. After the 7 year fixed interest rate period, the rate will be set at the 

then-current 1-year LIBOR plus 175 basis points, subject to a maximum rate 

increase of 2% in the first year (the maximum rate is based off of the fixed 

rate that applied during the 7-year term), 2% in any year following the first 

year, and a maximum 5% total increase for the life of the loan (the maximum 

rate is based off of the fixed rate that applied during the 7-year term).  The 

relief described herein may also be offered in Exhibit I Paragraphs 5.a.ii.A, 

5.b.ii.A, and 5.c.ii.   

viii. Exhibit D Paragraph 9.c is amended as follows by adding subparagraph 

9.c.i.5:  For loans with current interest rates below 5.25% or PMMS +100 

basis points, the interest rate may be reduced to obtain at least a 25 basis 

point interest rate reduction or $100 payment reduction in monthly payment, 

for a period of 7 years. After the 7 year fixed interest rate period, the rate will 

be set at the then-current 1-year LIBOR plus 175 basis point, subject to a 

maximum rate increase of 2% in the first year (the maximum rate is based off 

of the fixed rate that applied during the 7-year term), 2% in any year 

following the first year, and a 5% total increase for the life of the loan (the 

maximum rate is based off of the fixed rate that applied during the 7-year 

term).    The relief described herein may also be offered in Exhibit I 

Paragraph 5.b.ii.A.      

ix. Exhibit D Paragraph 9.e is amended as follows by adding Paragraph 9.e.3:  If 

the new rate applies for 7 years, the multiplier shall be 6.  

x. Exhibit D, Paragraph 9.f is amended to read as follows: “Additional dollars 

spent by Servicer on the refinancing program beyond Servicer's required 

commitment shall be credited against Servicer's overall consumer relief 

obligation, provided that any such credit shall not reduce or count against 

Servicer's minimum 1st Lien Principal Reduction Obligation or “1
st
/2

nd
 Lien 

Principal Reduction Obligation.”.     

xi. The Servicer will receive credit for activities set forth in Paragraph 9 of 

Exhibit D and Paragraph 5 of Exhibit I for loans discharged in Chapter 7 

bankruptcy provided the Servicer maintains a valid lien on the property, the 

borrower remains in the home, the borrower remains current on payments 
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post-discharge, and the loss mitigation activity is otherwise creditable under 

Paragraph 9 of Exhibit D or Paragraph 5 of Exhibit I.    

xii. Exhibit D, Paragraph 10.a is amended to read as follows: “For the consumer 

relief and refinancing activities imposed by this Agreement, Servicer shall be 

entitled to receive credit against Servicer’s outstanding settlement 

commitments for activities taken on or after Servicer's start date, July 1, 2013 

(such date, the “Start Date”), including without limitation any creditable 

activity that occurred before the completion and approval of any Work Plan.” 

xiii. Exhibit D, Paragraph 10.b is amended to read as follows: “Servicer shall 

receive an additional 25% credit against Servicer’s outstanding settlement 

commitments for any first or second lien principal reduction, any amounts 

credited pursuant to the refinancing program, and any amounts credited 

pursuant to the Lending Program between January 1, 2014 and January 1, 

2015. This early incentive credit is cumulative with other credits (including 

Hardest Hit).” 

xiv. Exhibit D, Paragraph 10.c is amended to read as follows: “Servicer shall 

complete 75% of its Consumer Relief Requirement credits within two years 

of the Effective Date.” 

xv. Exhibit D, Paragraph 10.d is amended to read as follows: “If Servicer fails to 

meet the commitment set forth in these Consumer Relief Requiremenst 

within three years of the Effective Date, Servicer shall pay an amount equal 

to 125% of the unmet commitment amount; except that if Servicer fails to 

meet the two year commitment noted above, and then fails to meet the three 

year commitment, the Servicer shall pay an amount equal to 140% of the 

unmet three-year commitment amount; provided, however, that if Servicer 

must pay any Participating State for failure to meet the obligations of a state-

specific commitment to provide Consumer Relief pursuant to the terms of 

that commitment, then Servicer's obligation to pay under this provision shall 

be reduced by the amount that such a Participating State would have received 

under this provision and the Federal portion of the payment attributable to 

that Participating State. The purpose of the 125% and 140% amount is to 

encourage Servicer to meet its commitments set forth in these Consumer 

Relief Requirements. ” 

xvi. Exhibit D-1, Paragraphs 1 and 2 Credit Caps are deleted, except that the cap 

on “forgiveness of forbearance amounts on existing modification” will 

remain 12.5%.  

xvii. Exhibit D-1, Paragraph 3 Credit Cap is amended by replacing “5%” with 

“10”. 

xviii. Exhibit D-1, Footnote 2 is amended to read as follows: “Credit for all 

modifications is determined from the date the modification is approved (the 
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date on which the Servicer decides to offer the modification to the borrower) 

or communicated to the borrower. No credits will be credited unless the 

payments on the modification are current as of 90 days following the 

implementation of the modification, including any trial period, or unless the 

borrower is not current at day 90 but subsequently becomes current prior to 

day 180.  However, if the failure to make payments on the modification 

within the 90 day period is due to unemployment or reduced hours, the 

Servicer will receive credit provided that Servicer has reduced the principal 

balance on the loan.  Eligible Modifications will include any modification 

that is completed on or after the Start Date, as long as the loan meets the 

criteria set forth in the preceding sentences of footnote 2.”  

xix. The Servicer will receive an additional 25% credit for any first or second lien 

principal reduction modifications made, pursuant to Paragraphs 1 and 2 of 

Exhibit D and Paragraph 6 of Exhibit I, to borrowers in Hardest Hit Areas.  

This credit is conditioned on Servicer’s satisfaction of the outreach 

requirements as set forth in Paragraph 4.C.iii. 
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EXHIBIT J – RELEASE WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN CLAIMS ARISING FROM 

SUNTRUST’S FHA ORIGINATION, UNDERWRITING AND QUALITY CONTROL 

OF FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION (FHA)-INSURED MORTGAGES 

 

 In addition to the terms set forth in Exhibit F, the United States of America, acting 

through the United States Department of Justice and on behalf of the Department of 

Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) (collectively the "United States") and 

SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. on behalf of itself and its affiliated entities
1
 (“SunTrust”) 

(hereafter collectively referred to as "the Parties"), through their authorized 

representatives, agree upon the following additional terms (Exhibit J Agreement).   

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 1. SunTrust shall pay to the United States $418,000,000 (the “Exhibit J 

Settlement Amount”), plus simple interest on the Settlement Amount at a rate of 2.375% 

per annum accruing from March 5, 2014 through March 15, 2014, for a total of 

$418,271,986, by electronic funds transfer pursuant to written instructions to be provided 

by the Civil Division of the Department of Justice.  Payment of the Exhibit J Settlement 

Amount shall be no later than 10 days after the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

 2. Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 3 (concerning excluded claims) 

below, and conditioned upon SunTrust’s full payment of the Exhibit J Settlement 

Amount plus the accrued interest, the United States, on behalf of its officers, agencies, 

and departments (including HUD),  releases SunTrust, together with its current and 

former parent corporations, direct and indirect subsidiaries, divisions, and affiliates 

agents, attorneys and assigns, as well as any current or former director, current or former 

officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, individually and 

collectively, from any civil or administrative monetary claim the United States has under 

                                                 
1
 The term “affiliated entities” as used here is defined in paragraph 10 of Exhibit F. 
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the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733; the Financial Institutions Recovery, 

Reform, and Enforcement Act of 1989, 12 U.S.C. § 1833a; the Program Fraud Civil 

Remedies Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812; or the common law theories of breach of 

contract, payment by mistake, unjust enrichment, and fraud, or any other statute or 

common law cause of action for civil damages or civil penalties that the Civil Division of 

the United States Department of Justice has actual and present authority to assert and 

compromise pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 0.45(d), for the conduct set forth in Attachment A in 

connection with its origination, underwriting, quality control, and endorsement of single-

family residential mortgage loans insured by the FHA between January 1, 2006 and 

March 30, 2012 that resulted in claims submitted to HUD on or before September 30, 

2013.  SunTrust agrees that it engaged in the conduct set forth in Attachment A.   

 3. Notwithstanding the release given in paragraph 2 of this Release, or any 

other term of this Exhibit J Agreement, the following claims of the United States are not 

released by this Exhibit J Agreement.   

a. Any liability arising under Title 26, U.S. Code (Internal Revenue 

Code); 

  b. Any criminal liability; 

c. Except as explicitly stated in this Release, any administrative 

liability, including the suspension and debarment rights of any 

federal agency;  

d. Any liability to the United States (or its agencies) for any conduct 

other than the conduct set forth in Attachment A; 

  e. Any liability based upon obligations created by this Release;  
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 f.  Any liability for personal injury or property damage or for other 

consequential damages arising from the conduct set forth in 

Attachment A; 

  g.  Any liability of individuals (including current or former directors, 

officers, employees, agents, or attorneys of SunTrust) who receive written notification 

that they are the target of a criminal investigation (as defined in the United States 

Attorneys’ Manual), are indicted or charged, or who enter into a plea agreement, related 

to the conduct set forth in Attachment A. 

h. Any liability arising from SunTrust’s origination or underwriting  

of Home Equity Conversion Mortgages under 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-20 or Streamlined 

Refinances under 12 U.S.C. § 1715n(a)(7);  

i. Any liability arising from any claims submitted to HUD on or after  

October 1, 2013, or from any mortgages endorsed for FHA insurance on or after April 1, 

2012;  

 j. Any liability to the United States arising from, and no setoff 

related to amounts paid under this Release shall be applied to any recovery for, false  

statements, claims, and/or certifications related to unlawful or excessive costs or  

expenses charged or claimed in connection with foreclosure-related litigation (including  

foreclosure, bankruptcy, and eviction proceedings), including but not limited to liability  

arising from inadequate quality control and/or monitoring of such costs or expenses; or  

 k. Any liability to the United States for the claims and conduct  

alleged in the following qui tam action and no setoff related to amounts paid under this  

Release shall be applied to any recovery in connection with that action:   
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   (i) U.S. ex rel. [Sealed] v. [Sealed]; 12-civ-7199 

(S.D.N.Y.) [UNDER SEAL]. 

 4. SunTrust fully and finally releases the United States, its agencies, officers, 

agents, employees, and servants, from any claims (including attorney’s fees, costs, and 

expenses of every kind and however denominated) that SunTrust has asserted, could have 

asserted, or may assert in the future against the United States, its agencies, officers, 

agents, employees, and servants, related to the conduct set forth in Attachment A and the 

United States’ investigation and prosecution thereof. 

 5. Paragraphs 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, and 26 of Exhibit 

F are incorporated herein by reference into this Exhibit J Agreement and govern the 

Parties’ rights and obligations with respect to this Release.   
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ATTACHMENT A 

 

1. Between January 2006 and March 2012, SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.  

(SunTrust) was a Direct Endorsement Lender approved by the Federal Housing 

Administration (FHA) and U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  

As a Direct Endorsement Lender, SunTrust was authorized by HUD to originate and 

underwrite mortgage loans on HUD’s behalf, including determining a borrower’s 

creditworthiness and whether the proposed loan met all applicable HUD requirements.  

As a Direct Endorsement Lender, SunTrust was authorized to endorse mortgage loans for 

HUD insurance without any review of the mortgage application by HUD.  

2. In originating, underwriting, and endorsing mortgage loans for FHA 

insurance, Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to follow 

applicable HUD requirements, including those set out in HUD’s Handbooks and 

Mortgagee Letters.
1
  With respect to creditworthiness of the proposed borrower, Direct 

Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to follow HUD Handbook 4155.1.    

At a general level, HUD Handbook 4155.1 required Direct Endorsement Lenders such as 

SunTrust to: (1) evaluate the borrower’s credit history; (2) analyze the borrower’s 

liabilities; (3) not accept or use certain documentation transmitted by interested parties; 

(4) determine the authenticity of faxed documents and portions of certain printouts 

downloaded from the internet; (5) in some situations, document reasons for approving a 

mortgage when the borrower has collections accounts or judgments, determine the 

purpose of recent debts, and/or require sufficient written explanation from the borrower 

for major indications of derogatory credit; (6) verify certain employment history of the 

                                                 
1
 The requirements referenced in paragraphs two through eleven of this document reflect standard HUD-

FHA program requirements for Direct Endorsement Lenders as provided in HUD’s Handbooks and 

Mortgagee Letters. 
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borrower(s); (7) determine the income stability of the borrower(s) and whether the 

borrowers’ income level can be reasonably expected to continue for a certain period of 

time; (8) verify that the borrower has funds to cover the required minimum down 

payment; (9) document the source of funds used for the required minimum down 

payment, as well as any closing costs and fees; and (10) if applicable, calculate certain 

debt and income ratios and compare those ratios to the fixed ratios set by HUD including, 

as necessary, any compensating factors that might permit deviation from the fixed ratios.       

3. Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to submit 

certain proposed FHA originations through a HUD-approved Automated Underwriting 

System (AUS) in conjunction with a tool known as Technology Open to Approved 

Lenders (TOTAL).  According to the FHA’s TOTAL Mortgage Scorecard User Guide, 

TOTAL evaluated the overall creditworthiness of the applicants based on a number of 

credit variables.  TOTAL also either: (1) approved the mortgage subject to certain 

conditions, including conditions that the lender validate the information that formed the 

basis for TOTAL’s determination; or (2) referred the mortgage back to the lender for 

manual underwriting in accordance with HUD requirements.  SunTrust understood that 

TOTAL’s determination was based on the integrity of the data supplied by the lender.  

HUD has promulgated requirements regarding how to calculate each data point used by 

TOTAL.   

4. To maintain Direct Endorsement Lender status, Direct Endorsement 

Lenders such as SunTrust were required to implement and maintain a quality control 

program in accordance with HUD Handbook requirements for FHA loans.  As a  Direct 

Endorsement Lender, SunTrust’s FHA quality control function was required to be 
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independent of its FHA mortgage origination and underwriting functions.  In carrying out 

quality control programs, Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to 

perform a review of a sample of FHA mortgage loan files and also to review each FHA 

mortgage loan that went into default within the first six payments, which HUD defines as 

“early payment defaults” or EPDs.  In performing these quality control reviews, Direct 

Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to review the mortgage loan file, 

re-verify certain information, review the soundness of underwriting judgments, document 

its review and any findings in a quality control review report, and retain the quality 

control review report for two years.  

5. Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to self-report 

to HUD all findings that FHA mortgage loans constituted “material violations of FHA or 

mortgagee requirements and represent an unacceptable level of risk” and all findings of 

“fraud or other serious violations.”  Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were 

also required to take “prompt action to deal appropriately with any material findings.”   

6. In the forms HUD-92001-A, Application for FHA Lender Approval, 

Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required to certify as follows: 

I certify that, upon the submission of this application, and with its 

submission of each loan for insurance or request for insurance 

benefits, [SunTrust] has and will comply with the requirements of 

the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, which include, 

but are not limited to, the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1702 

et seq.) and HUD’s regulations, FHA handbooks, mortgagee 

letters, and Title I letters and policies with regard to using and 

maintaining its FHA lender approval.     

 

7. Additionally, Direct Endorsement Lenders such as SunTrust were required 

to submit an Annual Certification stating: 
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I know, or am in a position to know, whether the operations of 

[SunTrust] conform to HUD-FHA regulations, handbooks, and 

policies.  I certify that to the best of my knowledge, [SunTrust] 

conforms to all HUD-FHA regulations necessary to maintain its 

HUD-FHA approval, and that [SunTrust] is fully responsible for 

all actions of its employees including those of its HUD-FHA 

approved branch offices.   

 

or submit a statement to HUD that it was unable to so certify.     

 

8. With respect to each mortgage loan endorsed by SunTrust for FHA 

insurance, either a SunTrust mortgagee representative or a SunTrust direct endorsement 

underwriter was required to certify that the mortgage “is eligible for HUD mortgage 

insurance under the Direct Endorsement program.”  For each loan that was approved 

using an AUS, a SunTrust mortgagee representative was required to certify to “the 

integrity of the data supplied by [SunTrust] used to determine the quality of the loan 

[and] that a Direct Endorsement Underwriter reviewed the appraisal.”  For each FHA 

loan that SunTrust approved using manual underwriting, a SunTrust direct endorsement 

underwriter was required to certify that he or she “personally reviewed the appraisal 

report (if applicable), credit application, and all associated documents and ha[s] used due 

diligence in underwriting th[e] mortgage.”   

9. For every mortgage loan SunTrust endorsed for FHA insurance, whether 

through manual underwriting or the use of an AUS, a SunTrust direct endorsement 

underwriter was required to certify that:  

“I, the undersigned, as authorized representative of [SunTrust] at 

this time of closing of this mortgage loan, certify that I have 

personally reviewed the mortgage loan documents, closing 

statements, application for insurance endorsement, and all 

accompanying documents.  I hereby make all certifications 

required for this mortgage as set forth in HUD Handbook 4000.4.”   
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10. Additionally, for each mortgage loan endorsed, a SunTrust direct 

endorsement underwriter was required to certify, to the best of his or her knowledge, that 

the information in the loan application was true and correct, that the conditions listed in 

HUD Form 92900-A or appearing in any outstanding commitment issued under the 

loan’s case number have been satisfied, that the information used to validate the 

borrower’s employment, income, and assets was transmitted directly to the lender and did 

not pass through any third party, and that the proposed loan met the applicable HUD 

requirements.   

11. When a borrower defaults on an FHA-insured loan underwritten and 

endorsed by a Direct Endorsement Lender such as SunTrust, SunTrust (or, if SunTrust 

transferred the mortgage or servicing rights after closing, the mortgage holder or servicer) 

has the option of submitting a claim to HUD to compensate the lender for any loss the 

lender sustained as a result of the default.  As such, once a mortgage loan is endorsed for 

FHA insurance, HUD bears the risk of the borrower defaulting on that mortgage, which is 

realized if an insurance claim is submitted. 

12. The Department of Justice has investigated SunTrust with regard to its 

origination, underwriting, quality control and endorsement practices, as well as its 

submission of certifications, related to certain FHA-insured mortgage loans secured by 

single-family residential mortgage loans originated between January 1, 2006 and March 

31, 2012, and for which claims for FHA insurance benefits had been submitted by 

September 30, 2013 (the “Released Loans”).  The following statements apply to the 

Released Loans only. 
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13. Between January 1, 2006 and March 31, 2012, SunTrust endorsed for 

FHA mortgage insurance pursuant to the Direct Endorsement Lender Program certain 

Released Loans that did not meet underwriting requirements contained in HUD’s 

handbooks and mortgagee letters, and therefore were not eligible for FHA mortgage 

insurance under the Direct Endorsement Lender Program.  As a result of SunTrust’s 

conduct, HUD-FHA insured certain Released Loans endorsed by SunTrust that were not 

eligible for FHA mortgage insurance and that HUD-FHA would not otherwise have 

insured; and HUD consequently incurred losses when it paid insurance claims on those 

SunTrust-endorsed Released Loans. 

14. SunTrust self-reported fewer Released Loans than were required to be 

reported.  Between January 2009 and March 2012, SunTrust’s internal quality control 

report documented 256 FHA mortgage loans originated by SunTrust with a Level 1 risk 

grade, which captured material underwriting issues broader than the self-reporting 

standard set forth in the HUD-FHA guidelines.  During this same time period, SunTrust 

self-reported as materially deficient 11 mortgages to HUD.     

15. In October 2009, an internal presentation regarding “broken loans” stated 

in part that SunTrust underwriters received “less training than those at other mortgage 

companies.”    The presentation also stated that with respect to FHA loans, these “loans 

are more complicated to underwrite and will likely continue to be scrutinized given the 

overall reserve situation.”   

16. In December 2009, a SunTrust internal presentation listed top causes for 

broken loans, some of which applied to FHA loans.  These included: (1) “Income 

Calculation,” described as “[i]ncorrect treatment of different income types (commission, 
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bonus, overtime, alimony) per guidelines”; (2) “AUS Data Integrity,” regarding “key data 

elements”; (3) failure to condition or properly clear conditions; (4) “Appraisal Issues,” 

described to include “[f]ield reviews after close showing declining values”; (5) “Asset 

Documentation” for “gift funds” and “earnest money deposit”; (6) “Credit Policy 

Clarifications,” related to “Verbal [verification of employment]” and the “FHA 

[requirement for] 12 consecutive on-time [mortgage] payments; and  

(7) Misrepresentations” described as relating to “[f]alsified bank statements,” “W2s/tax 

returns,” employment status, and the borrower’s intent to occupy the property.  The 

presentation noted, among other things, that it “does not represent a formal data driven 

root cause analysis, but rather a [subject matter expert] interview methodology to quickly 

draw directionally correct solutions around root causes and solution accordingly.”  The 

presentation also noted that SunTrust management had designed solutions to correct these 

problems but failed to complete them “due to multiple demands and shifting priorities.”   

17. An internal SunTrust audit report from 2009 that reflects that it was 

distributed to certain SunTrust management stated, to the extent applicable to SunTrust’s 

FHA origination and underwriting, that “the system of internal control is ineffective.”  

The report also stated in part: 

Three significant control weaknesses impair the overall system of 

internal control.  The first significant issue is the lack of consistent 

performance reviews on each underwriter to assess their 

performance and the quality of underwriting decisions.  The 

second significant issue is the lack of standards over the timing of 

when loan approval conditions must be cleared (e.g., prior to close 

vs. at close) and which conditions or tasks must be performed by 

the underwriter.  The third significant issue is insufficient loan 

origination/underwriting training due to the lack of instructor-led 

curriculum, case studies, and annual refresher training.  SunTrust 

Audit Services believes these three control weaknesses are key 
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catalysts to the high level of errors and loan defects identified in 

2009 by the SunTrust Mortgage Quality Control Team. 

 

 Regarding the lack of consistent performance reviews on underwriters, the 

“Management Action Plan” portion of the report stated in part that “[m]anagement agrees 

with this finding and recognized this weakness mid-2009 when volume prevented Group 

Underwriting Managers from consistently performing this function.  It should be noted 

that the Group Managers have been performing this type of performance review, but 

there has been no consistency, no documented policy, and no control to escalate to senior 

management when resources prevented the activity from occurring.”  It further stated that 

SunTrust would implement “a process control function to ensure appropriate testing is 

performed.”  Management also agreed with the audit finding regarding closing conditions 

and noted that it had “recently implemented revised documentation and standards for 

conditioning, and implemented an automated tool to assist with improved consistency 

and standardization.”  With regard to the training issue, the “Management Action Plan” 

stated that SunTrust was working “to define and build a formal new hire training program 

for Underwriters, Processors, and Closers” and anticipated completing the program by 

August 2010, but that “very good, customized training programs take a long time to 

develop,” and that, therefore, “additional customization of the program is anticipated in 

2011.”   

18. A July 19, 2010 internal SunTrust presentation stated, to the extent 

applicable to SunTrust-originated FHA mortgages, that the quality control “error rate is at 

an unacceptable level,” with the rate of material errors within target range and significant 

errors above target range.  The presentation further stated that “following a large 

improvement in 2009, there has been minimal improvement in [the quality control] error 
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rate in 2010,” that “[s]pecific actions are in development to aggressively address this 

issue,” and that “stronger focus needs to be placed on [FHA] loans.”  To the extent 

applicable to FHA mortgages, the presentation also stated, in part, that prior to July 2010, 

the “sampling size and methodology” in SunTrust’s quality control process had been 

“severely flawed.”   The presentation also stated in part that, to the extent applicable to 

FHA mortgages, the “error rate has been misleading” because the “[c]uring of QC errors 

was allowed, deflating error rates,” that “[t]his curing is not realistic in a normal 

population when error detection would occur years later,” that the “classification of 

Material and Significant is thought to be overly generous with some of the Material errors 

classified as Significant,” and that SunTrust lacked “a definitive list and pre-established 

categorization of Material and Significant errors.”  The presentation further stated that, to 

the extent applicable to FHA mortgages, “the effectiveness and work product of the QC 

team needs to be significantly improved,” and that SunTrust had “corrected” some of the 

QC issues. 

19. A 2010 SunTrust internal audit report of SunTrust’s quality control 

process, which reflects that it was distributed to certain SunTrust management, stated, to 

the extent applicable to FHA mortgages, that SunTrust’s “controls need improvement.”  

The report further stated, to the extent applicable to FHA mortgages, that “[a]lthough 

Material and Significant defects have been reported at elevated levels for the past several 

years, the actual volume of defects has been underreported, unclearly defined, and 

inconsistently applied.”  The report further found, to the extent applicable to FHA 

mortgages, that SunTrust’s quality control reviews failed to adequately control for “non-

sampling error . . . introduced by inconsistent interpretation among QC Analysts, faulty 



 

 

11 

 

definitions, misunderstanding, and processing errors.”  The report further identified “the 

lack of sufficient documentation to evidence compliance with . . . HUD quality control 

requirements.”  The management response portion of the report stated, among other 

things, that SunTrust had been “working to improve the QC process in 2010” and had 

“implemented several enhancements in recent months.”   

20. Another 2010 SunTrust internal audit report that reflects that it was 

distributed to certain SunTrust management, stated, to the extent applicable to SunTrust’s 

FHA mortgage origination and underwriting, that “[t]he overall system of internal control 

. . . is ineffective,” and further “identified pervasive weaknesses in many controls that . . . 

impair continuity and consistency of operations and management’s ability to generate 

high-quality loans.”   

21. A 2011 SunTrust internal audit report of SunTrust’s origination and 

underwriting, which reflects that it was distributed to certain SunTrust management, to 

the extent applicable to SunTrust’s FHA mortgages, stated, in part, that:  

Based on the results of this review, the overall system of internal 

controls is ineffective.  Controls over mortgage origination 

continue to be weak.  Over the past year, there has been an 

increase in the volume of origination errors and the current level of 

errors is unacceptable.  Since July 2011, the Quality Control (QC) 

function has reported total error rates on monthly loan production 

of 36% to 59%.  Excessive errors have been identified in 

appraisals, assets, AUS (automated underwriting system), and 

VVOE (verbal verification of employment).   

 

The report further found, to the extent applicable to FHA mortgages, that “[e]rror rates in 

loan originations remain at elevated levels due to significant process changes, insufficient 

controls, unclear roles and responsibilities, new staff, [and] poor incentive payment 

administration[,]” and that “QC reviews for February 2012 continue to show no material 
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improvement[.]”   The report included a “Management Action Plan” section in which 

SunTrust management described the actions that it planned to take in response to the 

issues raised by the audit report.   

22. A SunTrust internal audit report from June 2011, related to the 

Government Insuring (GI) department, which reflects that it was distributed to certain 

SunTrust management, stated that the GI department “manages the insuring process on 

[FHA] loans originated by the Retail and Broker channels.”   In the “Overall Evaluation 

of Controls” section of the report, the report stated that the system of internal control 

around the insuring of FHA-insured mortgages “needs improvement.”  The report further 

stated, in part, that:   

The volume of technical defects, procedural errors, and 

noncompliance with underwriting rules is excessive.  Half of the 

[FHA] loans submitted by the origination channels contained 

documentation irregularities (called “pends”) that must be 

addressed or corrected by [Government Insuring].  However 

[Government Insuring] has been unable to correct all deficiencies.  

From June 2010 to March 2011, Production Quality Control 

randomly sampled 519 [FHA]-insured mortgages and found errors 

or exceptions in 41% . . . [T]hese high error rates result from weak 

loan origination processes that cause half of the loan files 

submitted to [Government Insuring] to contain document 

irregularities that must be addressed before the loan can be insured.  

While [Government Insuring] processes and controls catch and 

correct many of these errors and irregularities, they do not catch 

enough to keep rescission and indemnification exposure to a 

tolerable level . . . [FHA] require[s] SunTrust to certify that the 

loan is eligible for government insurance in conformance with 

[FHA] requirements.  Lenders who submit false certifications and 

claims may be subject to penalties or lawsuits under the False 

Claims Act (31 U.S.C. § 3729).    

 

The report stated that the errors included “missing documents, missing paystubs, 

appraisal issues, incorrect debt-to-income ratio, document errors, et cetera.”   
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23. A 2011 internal audit report of SunTrust’s quality control process that 

reflects that it was distributed to certain SunTrust management, stated, to the extent 

applicable to FHA mortgages, that “[w]hile [SunTrust worked to improve the [quality 

control] process throughout 2010, additional improvements and corrections are needed . . 

. [g]iven [among other things] the ongoing high volume of loan production errors[.]”  The 

audit report stated, in part, that “employment and deposit reverifications on FHA” 

mortgages “do not consistently comply with standards,” and “that the QC process for 

documenting employment and asset” re-verifications was “restricted by the limitations of 

a manual (Excel) environment.  In April [2011], QC took steps to improve this process by 

defining business requirements for the automated capture, tracking, and reporting of 

required reverification information.”   

24. A 2012 SunTrust audit report regarding SunTrust’s government insuring 

department, which reflects that it was distributed to certain SunTrust management, stated, 

in part, that: 

The volume of technical defects, procedural errors, and 

noncompliance with standards remains excessive.  Missing 

documents, errors, and other pend items continue to plague many 

of the [FHA] loan files submitted by the origination channels and 

the [Government Insuring] department has insufficient ability or 

resources to identify and correct all problems.  There has been no 

improvement in processes and controls since the last audit (audit 

report dated June 14, 2011) as this report reflects repeat issues.  

Production Quality Control continues to identify an excessive level 

of loan file exceptions ([up to] 56% [or greater] defect rate on 

[FHA] loans originated from January to March 2012)[.] . . . 

Management should take immediate action to install gatekeepers in 

the loan origination process to ensure [FHA] loan files contain all 

required documentation and that each document is accurate and 

complete[.] . . . Management should also expand managerial 

oversight of the pre-insurance review process.  
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The report noted two “significant” issues, “Broken Loan Origination Process” and 

“Deficient Government Insuring Process.”  The “Broken Loan Origination 

Process” issue noted that: 

Loan production processes are broken as origination 

channels submit an excessive number of [FHA] loan files 

that contain documentation irregularities that must be 

corrected or addressed by the Government Insuring team.  

The excessive number of documentation irregularities 

increases the risk of impaired loans that do not meet FHA 

standards.  Half ([up to] 51% [or more]) of all [FHA] loan 

files submitted to Government Insuring were missing 

documents or contained documentation irregularities.  

Missing documents and other documentation irregularities 

(collectively called ‘pends’) preclude the loan from being 

insured until pended items can be corrected.  [SunTrust 

Audit Services] notes that the excessive level of pended 

loans (51% as of March 2012) is essentially the same level 

of error observed in the last audit dated June 14, 2011. . . . 

For loans originated from January to March 2012, 

approximately 90% of pends were on simple matters such 

as missing entire documents, missing pages on documents, 

or blanks on data fields, signature lines, and date fields.”   

 

The “Deficient Government Insuring Process” issue noted that: 

 

The [government insuring] department is not meeting its 

quality standards as an excessive number of loans 

processed and insured by the department contain errors or 

defects (e.g., missing or incomplete documentation . . . 

Moreover, the [SunTrust Mortgage] Quality Control team 

has identified a[n up to] 56% [or greater] defect rate on 

[FHA] loans originated from January to March 2012. 

 

 The report also included management action plans to address the 

issues noted in the audit. 

25. In March 2012, two SunTrust managers made a presentation 

regarding SunTrust’s portfolio.  Their presentation noted that, over the three 
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months analyzed, (November 2011-January 2012), SunTrust’s retail FHA 

mortgages evidenced a 55.8% error rate.    

26. The statements herein apply only to certain mortgages which are 

the subject of the release in this Agreement.  This document is not an admission 

as to any conduct related to any mortgage not released in this Agreement, nor is it 

an admission of any legal liability.  SunTrust reserves the right to contest the use 

and/or application of this document in any future litigation.   
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HUD ADMINISTRATIVE RELEASE 

This Administrative Release (“Administrative Release”) is entered into among the United 

States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), acting through the United States 

Department of Justice, and SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. on behalf of itself and its affiliated entities
1
 

(collectively “SunTrust”) (HUD and SunTrust are collectively referred to as “the Parties”). 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

  (1) Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 2 below, HUD fully and finally 

releases SunTrust and any of its respective successors or assigns, as well as any current or former 

director, current or former officer, and current or former employee of any of the foregoing, 

individually and collectively, from any civil or administrative claims it has or may have, and 

from any civil or administrative remedies or penalties (expressly including punitive or exemplary 

damages) it may seek or impose, based on the Covered Servicing Conduct,
2
 the Covered 

Origination Conduct
3
 and/or the conduct described in Attachment A to Exhibit J with respect to 

FHA loans that has taken place as of 11:59 p.m., Eastern Daylight Time, on  June 17, 2014.  

Provided, however, that, for all FHA mortgage loans originated by SunTrust and/or approved by 

a SunTrust FHA direct endorsement underwriter from January 1, 2006, through March 31, 2012, 

and for which a claim for FHA insurance benefits has not been submitted for payment on or 

before  June 17, 2014 ("Future Claims"), HUD does not release its rights to demand 

                                                 
1
 The term “affiliated entities” as used here is defined in paragraph 10 of Exhibit F. 

2
 The term “Covered Servicing Conduct” as used here is defined in paragraph C of Exhibit F. 

3
 The term “Covered Origination Conduct” as used here is defined in paragraph D of Exhibit F. 
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indemnification administratively (i.e., for single damages, but not for double damages, treble 

damages, or penalties) pursuant to the procedures set forth below: 

(a) HUD may demand that SunTrust provide electronic copies of FHA case 

binders to facilitate its review of the Future Claims.  SunTrust will produce such FHA case 

binders within thirty (30) days of HUD's request or such other time period agreed to by SunTrust 

and HUD.    

(b) HUD may demand indemnification from SunTrust on Future Claims, 

where HUD has identified one or more material deficiencies in the origination and/or 

underwriting of these loans.   

(c) HUD will notify SunTrust in writing of the material deficiency or 

deficiencies, and will provide a description of the material deficiency or deficiencies, in any 

Future Claims within six (6) years of the submission of the claim for insurance benefits.  

(d) SunTrust will indemnify HUD for HUD's losses in connection with the 

Future Claims within 60 days of HUD's transmission of its request for indemnification, unless a 

greater time is agreed to by SunTrust and HUD within that 60-day period, or SunTrust will 

satisfy HUD, through the dispute resolution process described herein, that indemnification is not 

warranted.   

(e) The referenced dispute resolution process shall be restricted to the 

following, and will not afford, and SunTrust agrees that it will not seek, judicial, quasi-judicial, 

or any other review or appeal, legal or administrative or otherwise, or any other challenge of any 

kind:  

(i) SunTrust will have the right to respond in writing to HUD's 

request for indemnification, provided that such response by SunTrust is made 
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within 60 days of HUD's request for indemnification, or within such further time 

as HUD's Associate General Counsel for Program Enforcement or his designee 

(provided such designee is not a person making a determination at any other level 

of this escalation review process) ("Associate General Counsel") permits in 

response to a reasonable request by SunTrust for an extension of time that is 

received by HUD's Associate General Counsel within that 60-day period; 

(ii) SunTrust's timely response will be reviewed by the 

Associate General Counsel, who will decide whether indemnification is 

warranted, and will notify SunTrust in writing of his conclusion; 

(iii) SunTrust will pay the amount of indemnification specified 

pursuant to paragraph 1(e)(ii) (above), within 30 days of the Associate General 

Counsel's transmission of his conclusion, or request further review by HUD's 

General Counsel or his designee (provided such designee is not a person making a 

determination at any other level of this escalation review process) ("HUD's 

General Counsel") by submitting a written request for such review to the 

Associate General Counsel within 30 days of the Associate General Counsel's 

notice that indemnification is warranted;  

(iv) SunTrust's timely request pursuant to paragraph 1(e)(iii) 

(above) will be reviewed by HUD's General Counsel, who will decide whether 

indemnification is warranted and will notify SunTrust in writing of his 

conclusion; 

(v) SunTrust will pay the amount of indemnification specified 

pursuant to paragraph 1(e)(iv) (above) within 30 days of the HUD General 
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Counsel's transmission of his conclusion, or request further review by the 

Secretary of the Department of HUD or his designee (provided such designee is 

not a person making a determination at any other level of this escalation review 

process) (the "Secretary") by submitting a written request for such review to the 

Associate General Counsel within 30 days of the HUD General Counsel's notice 

that indemnification is warranted;   

(vi) SunTrust's timely request pursuant to paragraph 1(e)(v) 

(above) will be reviewed by the Secretary, who will decide whether 

indemnification is warranted and will notify SunTrust in writing of his 

conclusion; and 

(vii) To the extent the Secretary concludes that indemnification 

is warranted, SunTrust shall have 14 days from HUD's transmission of the 

Secretary's notice to pay HUD the amount of indemnification specified pursuant 

to paragraph 1(e)(vi) (above).   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no instance shall this Administrative Release relieve 

SunTrust of any obligation to remedy, upon identification, defects of title or such other problems 

caused by SunTrust’s acts or omissions that may preclude FHA from accepting assignment or 

paying a claim for which FHA lacks statutory authority pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1707(a) and § 

1710(a)(1)(B), in which case FHA shall notify SunTrust and SunTrust shall have 60 days from 

the notification (or such further time as the Secretary may approve in writing) to correct the 

defect in title.    Further, nothing in this Administrative Release shall relieve SunTrust of any 

obligation to provide FHA with any and all mortgage insurance premium payments that have 

been or should have been collected, plus interest, if any.  Notwithstanding any other provision of 
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this Administrative Release, FHA shall calculate the payment of insurance benefits for any 

insured mortgage in accordance with its regulations.  

(2) Notwithstanding any other term of this Administrative Release, the 

following claims of HUD are specifically reserved and are not released: 

(a) Any liability to HUD for any conduct other than the Covered 

Origination Conduct and/or Covered Servicing Conduct, or any liability for any 

conduct that is not expressly released herein or in Exhibit J to the Consent Judgment;  

(b) Any liability to or claims brought by the Government National 

Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”);   

(c) Any liability arising under the Fair Housing Act; any provision 

of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act that is not expressly released in Exhibit F or 

Paragraph 1 of this Administrative Release, including any provision prohibiting 

discriminatory conduct; the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act; or any other statute or 

law that prohibits discrimination of persons based on race, color, national origin, 

gender, disability, or any other protected status. 

(d) Administrative claims, proceedings, or actions brought by HUD 

against any current or former director, officer, or employee for suspension, debarment 

or exclusion from any HUD programs. 
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CFPB Orders GE Capital to Pay $225
Million in Consumer Relief for Deceptive
and Discriminatory Credit Card Practices
Nearly 750,000 Consumers Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
ordering GE Capital Retail Bank (GE Capital), now known as Synchrony Bank, to
provide an estimated $225 million in relief to consumers harmed by illegal and
discriminatory credit card practices. GE Capital must refund $56 million to
approximately 638,000 consumers who were subjected to deceptive marketing
practices. As part of the joint enforcement action by the CFPB and Department of
Justice, GE Capital must also provide an additional $169 million to about 108,000
borrowers excluded from debt relief offers because of their national origin. This order
represents the federal government’s largest credit card discrimination settlement in
history.

“Today’s action will provide $225 million in relief to GE Capital credit card customers
who were harmed by deceptive marketing or discrimination,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “We will continue to take action against marketing tactics that trick
consumers into buying credit card products they do not want or cannot use. Consumers
also deserve to be treated fairly no matter where they live or what language they speak.”

“The blatant discrimination that occurred here is unlawful and will not be tolerated.
Borrowers have the right to credit card terms that do not differ based on their national
origin, and the settlement today sends the message that the Justice Department can
and will vigorously enforce the law against lenders who violate that right,” said Acting
Assistant Attorney General Jocelyn Samuels for the Civil Rights Division of the
Department of Justice.

GE Capital changed its name to Synchrony Bank on June 2, 2014. GE Capital is a
federal savings bank headquartered in Draper, Utah with assets totaling more than $39
billion. GE provides store-branded credit cards that are sold to consumers by
merchants and retailers across the country. Today’s enforcement action related to credit
card add-on products stems from a CFPB examination which was conducted between
December 2012 and February 2013. The action related to the discriminatory credit card
practices resulted from GE Capital’s self-reporting of the issue to the CFPB, which led to
a joint investigation between the CFPB and the Department of Justice.

Deceptive Marketing
Bureau examiners identified several deceptive marketing practices used by GE Capital
to promote its credit card add-on products. GE Capital offered five different debt
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cancellation add-on products: “Card Security,” “Account Security,” “Account Security
Plus,” “Debt Security,” and “Debt Security Plus.” GE promoted these products as
providing debt cancellation of a certain percent of the consumer’s balance in the event
of certain hardships like involuntary unemployment or disability. The Bureau found
that GE Capital’s telemarketers misrepresented these products to consumers in four
main ways:

Marketed the product as free of charge: Telemarketers led consumers to
believe they would not have to pay for these products as long as they paid off the
balance on their billing statement. In fact, consumers could only avoid the fee in
very specific circumstances, such as if the account was not in use or if the
customer had paid off the balance prior to GE Capital issuing its monthly billing
statement.

Failed to disclose consumers’ ineligibility: In calls with telemarketers,
many consumers mentioned that they were retired or disabled, which would mean
that they were not eligible for key benefits of the products. Even after hearing this,
the telemarketers neglected to tell the consumers that they would not be eligible
for key debt cancellation benefits, and the consumers bought the products without
this important information.

Failed to disclose that consumers were making a purchase: In many
cases, the telemarketers did not make it clear that consumers were purchasing a
product. Rather, they made it seem like the consumers were receiving a benefit,
updating their accounts, or that the telemarketers were handling other
administrative tasks. In these conversations, it was not obvious to consumers that
they were buying something and would be charged a fee.

Marketed products as a limited time offer: Many customer service
representatives falsely told consumers that these debt cancellation products were
a “limited time offer.” In reality, nothing about the availability of these products
was limited. However, leading consumers to believe they had a short timeframe to
sign up may have created a false sense of pressure and pushed them to enroll in
the products.

Discriminatory Credit Practices
GE Capital had two different promotions that allowed credit card customers with
delinquent accounts to settle their balances by paying off a specific portion of their debt.

Statement Credit Offer: Customers with balances greater than $700, a credit
score below 670, and whose minimum payment due was more than $150 were
offered a credit of between $25 to $100 if they paid off their minimum amount
due. This promotion ran from March 2010 to March 2012.

Settlement Offer: Customers with balances greater than $200, a credit score
within certain thresholds, four or more payments overdue, and no payments in
the past 90 days received offers to waive their remaining account balance if they
paid between 25 percent and 55 percent of what was owed. This promotion ran
from January 2009 to March 2012.

GE Capital did not extend these offers to any customer who indicated that they
preferred to communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, even if
the customer met the promotion’s qualifications. This meant that Hispanic populations
were unfairly denied the opportunity to benefit from these promotions. Such
discrimination is in direct violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA). The
ECOA prohibits creditors from discriminating in any aspect of a credit transaction on
the basis of characteristics such as race and national origin. In this case, the customers
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did not receive either offer in any language, including English, and did not know they
were being discriminated against.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. The ECOA authorizes the CFPB and the DOJ to take action against
creditors engaging in illegal discrimination. The CFPB is issuing a consent order as an
administrative action covering both the deceptive marketing practices and the illegal
discrimination. The DOJ’s settlement on discrimination was filed in the U.S. District
Court for District of Utah. The CFPB’s order requires GE Capital:

End deceptive marketing practices:GE Capital must cease its deceptive
marketing practices. GE Capital ended all telephone-based enrollments for all of
the add-on products involved in today’s action in October 2012. GE Capital is
prohibited from marketing or offering these products by telephone until it
submits a compliance plan to the Bureau.

End illegal discrimination: GE Capital must end all discriminatory credit
practices. GE Capital has included qualified customers who prefer to
communicate in Spanish and customers with a mailing address in Puerto Rico in
the settlement offer since March 2012. GE Capital completely discontinued the
statement credit offer in March 2012.

Provide $225 million to harmed consumers: GE Capital must refund $56
million to the approximately 638,000 consumers who were affected by its
deceptive marketing of the credit card add-on products. GE Capital must also
provide $169 million in relief to about 108,000 borrowers excluded from debt
relief offers because of their national origin. The $169 million represents the value
of the offer that the consumer did not receive plus interest and indirect damages.

Conveniently provide consumer relief: Consumers do not need to take
action to obtain their relief. If the consumers still have credit cards with GE
Capital, they have received or will receive a credit to their accounts or a check. If
they no longer have credit cards with GE Capital, they will receive or have
received a check in the mail or have charged-off balances reduced by the amount
of the relief. If the relief is greater than the consumer’s existing balance, the
consumer will receive a check for the excess.

Notify credit reporting agencies of new information: For those
consumers who did not receive the debt relief offers, GE Capital will work with
credit reporting agencies to ensure that any negative information associated with
the consumer’s GE Capital accounts as a result of these violations will be deleted
from their credit history.

Forgive debt of accounts that did not receive debt relief offers: For the
customers that did not receive debt relief offers because they preferred to
communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, if GE Capital
had written off or sold their debt, that debt will be forgiven.

Pay a $3.5 million penalty: For its deceptive credit card marketing, GE Capital
will make a $3.5 million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. With
respect to the illegal discrimination, the Bureau is not assessing penalties based
on a number of factors, including that the company self-reported the violation,
self-initiated remediation for the harm done to affected consumers, and fully
cooperated with the Bureau’s investigation.
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The Bureau has ongoing supervisory authority over GE Capital and will continue to
conduct examinations of GE Capital to ensure its compliance with federal consumer
financial law.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201406_cfpb_consent-order_synchrony-
bank.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Orders GE Capital to Pay $225
Million in Consumer Relief for Deceptive
and Discriminatory Credit Card Practices
Nearly 750,000 Consumers Harmed by Illegal Credit Card Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
ordering GE Capital Retail Bank (GE Capital), now known as Synchrony Bank, to
provide an estimated $225 million in relief to consumers harmed by illegal and
discriminatory credit card practices. GE Capital must refund $56 million to
approximately 638,000 consumers who were subjected to deceptive marketing
practices. As part of the joint enforcement action by the CFPB and Department of
Justice, GE Capital must also provide an additional $169 million to about 108,000
borrowers excluded from debt relief offers because of their national origin. This order
represents the federal government’s largest credit card discrimination settlement in
history.

“Today’s action will provide $225 million in relief to GE Capital credit card customers
who were harmed by deceptive marketing or discrimination,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “We will continue to take action against marketing tactics that trick
consumers into buying credit card products they do not want or cannot use. Consumers
also deserve to be treated fairly no matter where they live or what language they speak.”

“The blatant discrimination that occurred here is unlawful and will not be tolerated.
Borrowers have the right to credit card terms that do not differ based on their national
origin, and the settlement today sends the message that the Justice Department can
and will vigorously enforce the law against lenders who violate that right,” said Acting
Assistant Attorney General Jocelyn Samuels for the Civil Rights Division of the
Department of Justice.

GE Capital changed its name to Synchrony Bank on June 2, 2014. GE Capital is a
federal savings bank headquartered in Draper, Utah with assets totaling more than $39
billion. GE provides store-branded credit cards that are sold to consumers by
merchants and retailers across the country. Today’s enforcement action related to credit
card add-on products stems from a CFPB examination which was conducted between
December 2012 and February 2013. The action related to the discriminatory credit card
practices resulted from GE Capital’s self-reporting of the issue to the CFPB, which led to
a joint investigation between the CFPB and the Department of Justice.

Deceptive Marketing
Bureau examiners identified several deceptive marketing practices used by GE Capital
to promote its credit card add-on products. GE Capital offered five different debt
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cancellation add-on products: “Card Security,” “Account Security,” “Account Security
Plus,” “Debt Security,” and “Debt Security Plus.” GE promoted these products as
providing debt cancellation of a certain percent of the consumer’s balance in the event
of certain hardships like involuntary unemployment or disability. The Bureau found
that GE Capital’s telemarketers misrepresented these products to consumers in four
main ways:

Marketed the product as free of charge: Telemarketers led consumers to
believe they would not have to pay for these products as long as they paid off the
balance on their billing statement. In fact, consumers could only avoid the fee in
very specific circumstances, such as if the account was not in use or if the
customer had paid off the balance prior to GE Capital issuing its monthly billing
statement.

Failed to disclose consumers’ ineligibility: In calls with telemarketers,
many consumers mentioned that they were retired or disabled, which would mean
that they were not eligible for key benefits of the products. Even after hearing this,
the telemarketers neglected to tell the consumers that they would not be eligible
for key debt cancellation benefits, and the consumers bought the products without
this important information.

Failed to disclose that consumers were making a purchase: In many
cases, the telemarketers did not make it clear that consumers were purchasing a
product. Rather, they made it seem like the consumers were receiving a benefit,
updating their accounts, or that the telemarketers were handling other
administrative tasks. In these conversations, it was not obvious to consumers that
they were buying something and would be charged a fee.

Marketed products as a limited time offer: Many customer service
representatives falsely told consumers that these debt cancellation products were
a “limited time offer.” In reality, nothing about the availability of these products
was limited. However, leading consumers to believe they had a short timeframe to
sign up may have created a false sense of pressure and pushed them to enroll in
the products.

Discriminatory Credit Practices
GE Capital had two different promotions that allowed credit card customers with
delinquent accounts to settle their balances by paying off a specific portion of their debt.

Statement Credit Offer: Customers with balances greater than $700, a credit
score below 670, and whose minimum payment due was more than $150 were
offered a credit of between $25 to $100 if they paid off their minimum amount
due. This promotion ran from March 2010 to March 2012.

Settlement Offer: Customers with balances greater than $200, a credit score
within certain thresholds, four or more payments overdue, and no payments in
the past 90 days received offers to waive their remaining account balance if they
paid between 25 percent and 55 percent of what was owed. This promotion ran
from January 2009 to March 2012.

GE Capital did not extend these offers to any customer who indicated that they
preferred to communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, even if
the customer met the promotion’s qualifications. This meant that Hispanic populations
were unfairly denied the opportunity to benefit from these promotions. Such
discrimination is in direct violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA). The
ECOA prohibits creditors from discriminating in any aspect of a credit transaction on
the basis of characteristics such as race and national origin. In this case, the customers
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did not receive either offer in any language, including English, and did not know they
were being discriminated against.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. The ECOA authorizes the CFPB and the DOJ to take action against
creditors engaging in illegal discrimination. The CFPB is issuing a consent order as an
administrative action covering both the deceptive marketing practices and the illegal
discrimination. The DOJ’s settlement on discrimination was filed in the U.S. District
Court for District of Utah. The CFPB’s order requires GE Capital:

End deceptive marketing practices:GE Capital must cease its deceptive
marketing practices. GE Capital ended all telephone-based enrollments for all of
the add-on products involved in today’s action in October 2012. GE Capital is
prohibited from marketing or offering these products by telephone until it
submits a compliance plan to the Bureau.

End illegal discrimination: GE Capital must end all discriminatory credit
practices. GE Capital has included qualified customers who prefer to
communicate in Spanish and customers with a mailing address in Puerto Rico in
the settlement offer since March 2012. GE Capital completely discontinued the
statement credit offer in March 2012.

Provide $225 million to harmed consumers: GE Capital must refund $56
million to the approximately 638,000 consumers who were affected by its
deceptive marketing of the credit card add-on products. GE Capital must also
provide $169 million in relief to about 108,000 borrowers excluded from debt
relief offers because of their national origin. The $169 million represents the value
of the offer that the consumer did not receive plus interest and indirect damages.

Conveniently provide consumer relief: Consumers do not need to take
action to obtain their relief. If the consumers still have credit cards with GE
Capital, they have received or will receive a credit to their accounts or a check. If
they no longer have credit cards with GE Capital, they will receive or have
received a check in the mail or have charged-off balances reduced by the amount
of the relief. If the relief is greater than the consumer’s existing balance, the
consumer will receive a check for the excess.

Notify credit reporting agencies of new information: For those
consumers who did not receive the debt relief offers, GE Capital will work with
credit reporting agencies to ensure that any negative information associated with
the consumer’s GE Capital accounts as a result of these violations will be deleted
from their credit history.

Forgive debt of accounts that did not receive debt relief offers: For the
customers that did not receive debt relief offers because they preferred to
communicate in Spanish or had a mailing address in Puerto Rico, if GE Capital
had written off or sold their debt, that debt will be forgiven.

Pay a $3.5 million penalty: For its deceptive credit card marketing, GE Capital
will make a $3.5 million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. With
respect to the illegal discrimination, the Bureau is not assessing penalties based
on a number of factors, including that the company self-reported the violation,
self-initiated remediation for the harm done to affected consumers, and fully
cooperated with the Bureau’s investigation.
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The Bureau has ongoing supervisory authority over GE Capital and will continue to
conduct examinations of GE Capital to ensure its compliance with federal consumer
financial law.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201406_cfpb_consent-order_synchrony-
bank.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2014-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

Synchrony Bank, f/k/a 
GE Capital Retail Bank 

CONSENT ORDER 

Through the course of its supervisory activity, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

(CFPB) has reviewed the practices of Respondent Synchrony Bank, formerly known as GE 

Capital Retail Bank (the Bank), and has identified the following law violations: (1) deceptive 

practices relating to the marketing and sale of certain of the Bank' s credit card add-on products 

(the Add-On Matter), in violation of Sections 103l(a) and 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B); and (2) 

discrimination on the basis of national origin in connection with two direct-mail collection offers 

to certain credit card consumers by excluding consumers who had "Spanish-preferred" indicators 

on their accounts or consumers with mailing addresses in Puerto Rico from the offers (the Offer 

Exclusion Matter) in violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-

169lf, and its implementing regulation, Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1002. The Bank self-

identified and reported the offer exclusions to the CFPB. Following the CFPB's review, on 

March 3, 2014, the CFPB referred the Offer Exclusion Matter to the Attorney General through 

the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice pursuant to Section 706(g) of the ECOA 

and the December 6, 2012 Memorandum ofUnderstanding between the CFPB and the 
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Department of Justice (DOJ). The CFPB and the DOJ engaged in a joint investigation into the 

Bank's compliance with the ECOA. 

The CFPB issues this Consent Order (Order) under Sections 1053 and 1055 ofthe CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and in coordination with the DOJ on the Offer Exclusion Matter. 

The DOJ will concurrently file a complaint and proposed consent decree related to the Offer 

Exclusion Matter in the United States District Court for the District of Utah. 

I 

OVERVIEW 

1. The CFPB finds that the Bank has engaged in violations of Sections 1031 and 

1036 ofthe CFPA (collectively, Section 1036), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531,5536, in connection with the 

marketing and sales of the Bank's Add-On Products (as defined below). 

2. The CFPB finds that the Bank has engaged in violations of the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691(a)(l), and its implementing regulation, Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 1002.4(a), in connection 

with the Offer Exclusion Matter. 

II 

JURISDICTION 

3. The CFPB has jurisdiction over the Add-On Matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 

1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

4. The CFPB has jurisdiction to enforce the ECOA in the Offer Exclusion Matter 

pursuant to Sections 1002, 1025, 1053, and 1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12)(D), (14), 

5515(c)(1), 5563, and 5565; and the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1691c(a)(9). 
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III 

STIPULATION 

5. The Bank has executed a Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of Consent 

Order (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the CFPB. By this 

Stipulation, the Bank has consented to the issuance of this Order by the CFPB pursuant to 

Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying 

any findings of fact, any violations of law, or any wrongdoing, except that the Bank admits the 

Bureau has jurisdiction over it and the subject matter of this action. 

IV 

DEFINITIONS 

6. For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

a. "Add-On Consumer" shall mean any Cardholder who enrolled in an Add

On Product. 

b. "Add-On Product" shall mean any consumer financial products or 

services, as defined by Section 1002(5) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 

that the Bank markets or offers to Cardholders as an optional add-on 

product to Bank credit cards and that are supplementary to the credit 

provided by the credit cards, and includes the Covered Add-On Products. 

c. "Add-On Relevant Time Period" shall mean January 1, 2010, through 

October 19,2013. 

d. "Bank" shall mean Synchrony Bank, formerly known as GE Capital Retail 

Bank, and its successors and assigns. 

e. "Board" shall mean the Bank's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

3 
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f. "Cardholder" shall mean any person who opened a credit card account 

issued by the Bank. 

g. "Charged-off' shall mean a determination by the Bank that an unpaid 

balance on an account is not collectible. Charged-off accounts may have 

been sold to third-party debt collectors. 

h. "Collection Offers" shall mean the Statement Credit Offer and the 

Settlement Offer, as described in Paragraph 23 below. 

1. "Covered Add-On Product" shall mean any of the five Add-On Products 

described in Paragraph 10 below. 

J. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Order is issued. 

k. "Eligible Add-On Consumers" shall mean Add-On Consumers who 

enrolled in a Covered Add-On Product through the Bank's Service to 

Sales channel (as defined in Paragraph 11), at any time from January 1, 

2010 to October 19, 2012, excluding Add-On Consumers who (i) received 

a benefit from the Covered Add-On Product in which the consumer was 

enrolled, (ii) received a full refund of all fees paid by the Consumer under 

the Covered Add-On Product's terms, or (iii) would be eligible to receive 

a refund or credit under the Add-On Redress Plan of less than $1. 

l. "Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers" shall mean Cardholders who had 

"Spanish-preferred" indicators on their accounts or who had mailing 

addresses in Puerto Rico and, as a result, were excluded from the 

Collection Offers at any time during the Offer Exclusion Relevant Time 

Period. 
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m. "Offer Exclusion Relevant Time Period" shall mean January 1, 2009 

through March 31, 2012. 

n. "Regional Director" shall mean the Regional Director for the West Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the CFPB, or his or her dele gee. 

o. "Related Consumer Action" shall mean a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against the Bank based on substantially the same facts as 

set forth in Section V of this Order. 

p. "Service Provider" shall mean any service provider, as defined in Section 

1002(26) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481 , that provides services with 

respect to an Add-On Product pursuant to a contractual arrangement with 

the Bank. 

q. "Spanish-preferred" shall mean a notation in a Cardholder's account 

indicating a preference for communications relating to the account in 

Spanish, rather than English. 

v 

CFPB FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The CFPB finds the following: 

7. The Bank is a federal savings association headquartered in Draper, Utah. As of 

March 2014, the Bank reported total assets of$39.8 billion. 

8. The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

9. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 
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Add-On Products 

10. During at least the Add-On Relevant Time Period, the Bank had five Covered 

Add-On Products: 

a. The Bank marketed Card Security, the Bank's primary Add-On Product, 

as providing balance and/or payment cancellation for a cost of 1.66% of 

the balance and as covering up to $10,000 per event. Under the terms and 

conditions, Add-On Consumers enrolled in this product could seek 

benefits upon involuntary unemployment or approved leave of absence, 

and, if approved, the Add-On Consumers' minimum monthly payments 

could be canceled for every month, up to 90 days' duration, and the Add

On Consumers' full balance could be canceled, up to $10,000 after 90 

days. These Add-On Consumers could seek benefits upon disability, 

which, if approved, resulted in canceling minimum monthly payments for 

30 days, up to 90 days' duration, and canceling the full balance, up to 

$10,000, after 90 days. These Add-On Consumers could seek benefits 

upon hospitalization or nursing home care, which, if approved, resulted in 

canceling one minimum monthly payment for any event requiring a two

night stay and canceling the full balance, up to $10,000, for any event 

requiring a seven-night stay. Finally, these Add-On Consumers could seek 

benefits upon loss of life or terminal medical condition, which, if 

approved, resulted in canceling the full balance, up to $10,000. 

b. The Bank marketed Account Security as providing balance cancellation at 

a cost of 1.50% of the balance and covering up to $10,000 per event. 
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Under the terms and conditions, Add-On Consumers enrolled in this 

product could seek cancellation of the full balance, up to $10,000, for 

involuntary unemployment or approved leave of absence lasting 90 days, 

disability lasting 90 days, hospitalization or nursing home care for 14 

nights, or loss of life. 

c. The Bank marketed Account Security Plus as providing balance 

cancellation at a cost of 1.50% of the balance and covered up to $10,000 

per event. Under the terms and conditions, Add-On Consumers enrolled in 

this product could seek cancellation of the full balance, up to $10,000, for 

involuntary unemployment lasting 90 days, disability lasting 90 days, 

hospitalization or nursing home care for 14 nights, or loss of life. 

Additionally, if merchandise was destroyed, Add-On Consumers enrolled 

in this product could seek cancellation of the lower of the remaining 

account balance or the original purchase price of the merchandise. 

d. The Bank marketed Debt Security as providing payment and/or balance 

cancellation for a cost of0.99% ofthe balance and covered up to $10,000 

per event. Under the terms and conditions, Add-On Consumers enrolled in 

this product could seek cancellation of 5% of the balance for involuntary 

unemployment or approved leave of absence, disability, or hospitalization 

or nursing home care. These Add-On Consumers could also seek 

cancellation of the full balance, up to $10,000, in the event ofloss oflife. 

e. The Bank marketed Debt Security Plus as providing payment and/or 

balance cancellation at a cost of0.99% ofthe balance and covered up to 
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$10,000 per event. Under the terms and conditions, Add-On Consumers 

enrolled in this product could seek cancellation of 5% of the balance for 

involuntary unemployment, disability, or hospitalization or nursing home 

care. These Add-On Consumers could also seek cancellation of 100% of 

the balance, up to $10,000, in the event ofloss of life. Additionally, if 

merchandise was destroyed, Add-On Consumers enrolled in this product 

could seek cancellation of the lower of the remaining account balance or 

the original purchase price of the merchandise. 

11. During the Add-On Relevant Time Period, the Bank marketed and offered the Add-

On Products through five channels: Cardholders' inbound calls to activate their credit cards, 

Cardholders' inbound customer service assistance calls (Service to Sales or S2S), online, point of 

sale, and direct mail. 

12. The Bank, its affiliates, and Service Providers operated the S2S channel. 

13. Until May 2012, the Bank did not require scripts for customer service 

representatives (CSRs) conducting marketing ofthe Covered Add-On Products in the S2S channel, 

except for a scripted statement to be given at the end of the call. In May 2012, the Bank began 

requiring full scripting for use in S2S calls. 

14. During the Add-On Relevant Time Period, the Bank and its Service Providers 

enrolled some Cardholders in Covered Add-On Products in the S2S channel without adequately 

informing them that they were purchasing the Add-On Products, or misrepresented to some 

Cardholders the costs, terms, benefits, and benefits process of the Add-On Products. During the 

Add-On Relevant Time Period, the Bank's improper telemarketing practices included: 
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a. misrepresenting the cost of the Add-On Products by suggesting that 

Cardholders could avoid a fee by paying their balance in full before the 

monthly due date; in fact, to avoid paying the fee, the Cardholder must 

pay the balance in full substantially earlier - prior to the statement's 

issuance - so that the statement has a zero balance; 

b. failing to inform Cardholders who had disclosed information suggesting 

that they would be ineligible for one or more of the Add-On Products' 

benefits that such Cardholders would be ineligible for one or more of the 

Add-On Products' benefits; 

c. representing in some instances as part of the call introduction that CSRs 

were attempting to handle ministerial tasks related to the Cardholders' 

accounts, rather than enrolling the Cardholders in an optional fee-based 

product; and 

d. misrepresenting the availability of the Add-On Products, such as by 

representing them as "limited time" offers. 

15. The Bank's compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality 

assurance yielded ineffective oversight and did not, in certain instances, prevent, identify, or 

correct the improper sales practices in marketing the Add-On Products. 

16. Section 1 036(a)(l )(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

17. Statements and omissions by the Bank or its Service Providers, as set forth in the 

preceding Paragraphs, are material because they are likely to affect a Cardholder's choice or 
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conduct regarding the Covered Add-On Products. These statements and omissions are also likely 

to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

18. The representations ofthe Bank, through its Service Providers and CSRs, as set 

forth in in the preceding Paragraphs, constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(l)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). During 

the Add-On Relevant Time Period, these violations potentially affected approximately 638,000 

Add-On Consumers in the amount of at least $56 million in fees and finance charges. 

Offer Exclusion 

19. During the course ofthe CFPB's supervisory quarterly monitoring, the Bank self-

identified and reported to the CFPB that it had excluded Cardholders with "Spanish-preferred" 

indicators on their accounts or with mailing addresses in Puerto Rico from its Statement Credit 

Offer (as defined in Paragraph 23(a) below) and Settlement Offer (as defined in Paragraph 23(b) 

below). 

20. From May 2013 through November 2013, the CFPB conducted a review of these 

exclusions for compliance with the ECOA and its implementing regulation, Regulation B. 

21. On March 3, 2014, based on the CFPB's finding that it had reason to believe the 

Bank engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination in violation of Section 701 (a) of the 

ECOA, the CFPB referred the Offer Exclusion Matter to the DOJ pursuant to Section 706(g) of 

the ECOA and the December 6, 2012, Memorandum ofUnderstanding between the CFPB and 

the DOJ. 

22. On March 12, 2014, the DOJ initiated an investigation under the ECOA of the 

Bank's exclusion of Cardholders with a "Spanish-preferred" indicator on their accounts or a 
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mailing address in Puerto Rico from certain credit card offers. The DOJ and the CFPB 

coordinated their investigations of the Bank with respect to the Offer Exclusion Matter. 

23. During the Offer Exclusion Relevant Time Period, the Bank provided the 

following two direct mail offers (the Collection Offers) to Cardholders who met certain criteria, 

including: 

a. Cardholders with (i) balances greater than $700, (ii) three payments due, 

(iii) a credit bureau score below 670, and (iv) an amount due greater than 

$150 received letters offering a credit on their statement in an amount 

ranging from $25 to $100 (Statement Credit Offer). To accept the 

Statement Credit Offer, the consumer was asked to contact the Bank and 

pay an amount equal to three payments to bring the account current. These 

letters were sent to Cardholders between March 2010 and March 2012. 

b. Cardholders (i) with balances greater than $200, (ii) within certain 

internally developed risk score thresholds, (iii) with four or more 

payments due, and (iv) with no payment made in the previous 90 days 

received letters offering to settle their account balance by paying a 

percentage, ranging from 25% to 55%, of their account balance 

(Settlement Offer). To accept the Settlement Offer, the consumer had to 

contact the Bank and pay the reduced balance in the offer. Thereafter, the 

account would be deemed settled and the Bank would no longer seek to 

collect on the account. These letters were sent to Cardholders between 

January 2009 and March 2012. 
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24. During the Offer Exclusion Relevant Time Period, the Bank did not provide the 

Statement Credit Offer or Settlement Offer to otherwise eligible Cardholders with a "Spanish-

preferred" indicator on their accounts or with a mailing address in Puerto Rico, in writing in any 

language, including English. The Bank provided the Collection Offers in writing to other 

Cardholders who met the respective eligibility criteria. 

25. These Collection Offers relate to an aspect of a credit transaction, including the 

Bank's collections procedures for settling and resolving the outstanding debts of its existing 

Cardholders. These procedures include the Bank's regular participation in the decision to grant 

its credit card customers the right to incur and defer debt. 

26. The Bank is a creditor within the meaning of the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(e), 

and Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(1). 

27. According to the 2010 U.S. Census data, 75% ofHispanics five years of age and 

older speak Spanish at home. 1 In addition, 99% of the residents of Puerto Rico are Hispanic.2 

According to 2011 American Community Survey data, nationwide the percentage of Hispanics 

five years of age and older that speak Spanish at home and speak English "less than very well" is 

34%; that number for non-Hispanic whites is less than one quarter of a single percentage point 

(0.22%).3 

1 See http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml? 
pid= ACS _1 0 _ 1 YR _ B 16006&prodType=table. 
2 See http://www.pewhispanic.org/20 11106/13/a-demographic-portrait-of-puerto-ricans/#fn-143-

3. 
3 See http://www.census.gov/prod/2013pubs/acs-22.pdf. 
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28. The Bank's exclusion of Cardholders with a "Spanish-preferred" indicator on 

their accounts and Cardholders with a mailing address in Puerto Rico from the Collection Offers 

is not justified by a legitimate business need. 

29. The Bank's exclusion of Cardholders with a "Spanish-preferred" indicator on 

their accounts and Cardholders with a mailing address in Puerto Rico from the Collection Offers 

constituted discrimination on the basis of national origin in violation ofthe ECOA. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691(a)(1); 12 C.F.R. § 1002.4(a). 

30. When the Bank's remediation is completed, it will apply to, in total, 

approximately 108,000 eligible Cardholders with a "Spanish-preferred" indicator on their 

accounts or with a mailing address in Puerto Rico. The Bank will provide remediation in the 

amount of at least $169 million to affected consumers in the form of monetary payments, credits, 

and waivers on accounts, representing the value of the excluded offer, lost interest, and indirect 

damages. Ofthat total, $8 million represents payments to affected consumers; $3 million 

represents credits and waivers on accounts the Bank has not charged-off; $86 million represents 

credits on accounts that the Bank has charged-off; and $72 million represents waivers on 

accounts that the Bank has charged-off.4 

VI 

ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST AND TO TAKE OTHER AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 ofthe CFPA, that: 

31. The Bank and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall: 

4 "Waivers" refers to the deletion of a consumer's account balance, whereas "credits" refers to 
the reduction of a consumer' s account balance. 
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a. cease and desist from engaging in violations of law or regulation in 

connection with the marketing and sale of Covered Add-On Products and 

shall take reasonable measures to ensure that its Service Providers and 

other agents cease and desist from engaging in violations of law or 

regulation in connection with the marketing and sale of Covered Add-On 

Products; and 

b. cease and desist from engaging in any act or practice that discriminates on 

the basis of national origin in any aspect of Cardholders' credit 

transactions with the Bank, including, but not limited to, provision of the 

Collection Offers to Cardholders. 

32. The Bank shall correct all violations of law, to the extent not already corrected, as 

described herein, and shall implement procedures to prevent their recurrence. The Bank's actions 

as required by this Paragraph shall be satisfactory to the Regional Director as determined at 

subsequent examinations and/or visitations. 

Action Plan 

33. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit to the Regional 

Director and the DOJ a plan to address the actions that are necessary and appropriate to achieve 

compliance with this Order (Action Plan). The Action Plan shall specify timelines for completion 

of each of the requirements of this Order that have not already been completed and shall 

designate and certify those items that have been completed. The timelines in the Action Plan 

shall be consistent with all deadlines in this Order, unless modified in writing by the Regional 

Director and the DOJ. 
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34. The Bank's existing Audit Committee, which is composed of independent 

directors, shall be responsible for monitoring and ensuring the Bank's compliance with this 

Order. 

35. The Action Plan shall include provisions requiring the Bank, within 30 days after 

the end of each quarter starting after the Bank's receipt of a determination of non-objection and 

until all items in the Action Plan have been completed, to submit a written progress report 

(Quarterly Progress Report) to the Board setting forth in detail the actions taken to comply with 

this Order, and the results and status ofthose actions. 

36. The Action Plan shall also include provisions requiring that, upon receiving the 

Quarterly Progress Report, the Board shall forward a copy of the Quarterly Progress Report, with 

any additional comments by the Board, to the Regional Director and the DOJ within 10 days of 

the first Board meeting following receipt of such report. 

37. The Board or a Committee thereof shall ensure the Action Plan is submitted to the 

Regional Director and the DOJ for review and determination of non-objection. In the event that 

the Regional Director and, where appropriate, the DOJ direct the Bank to revise the Action Plan, 

the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit the Action Plan to the Regional Director and, 

where appropriate, the DOJ within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for revisions. 

38. Upon receipt of a determination of non-objection from the Regional Director and 

the DOJ to the Action Plan, the Audit Committee shall ensure the Bank's adoption, 

implementation, and adherence to the Action Plan. 

39. Any material proposed changes or deviations from the approved Action Plan shall 

be submitted in writing to the Regional Director and the DOJ for review and determination of 

non-objection. In the event that the Regional Director and, where appropriate, the DOJ direct the 
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Bank to revise the changes to the Action Plan, the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit 

the Action Plan to the Regional Director and, where appropriate, the DOJ within 30 days of the 

date of notification of the need for revisions. 

Compliance Plan for Add-On Products 

40. With respect to the violations identified relating to the Add-On Matter, the Bank 

represents that it ceased all telephone-based enrollment for the Covered Add-On Products in 

October 2012, ceased marketing and selling all Covered Add-On Products except Card Security 

on July 1, 2012, and completed a remediation plan that refunded or credited approximately $11 

million in fees and charges to certain Cardholders. 

41. The Bank is prohibited from marketing, soliciting, offering for sale, and selling 

Add-On Products by telephone unless it submits to the Regional Director a compliance plan (the 

Add-On Compliance Plan) specifically designed to prevent all violations of Section 1036 in the 

marketing, sale, and administration of Add-On Products. 

42. The Bank shall submit any Add-On Compliance Plan to the Regional Director at 

least 90 days prior to marketing, soliciting, offering for sale, or selling Add-On Products by 

telephone for prior determination of supervisory non-objection. In the event that the Regional 

Director directs the Bank to revise the Add-On Compliance Plan, the Bank shall make the 

revisions and resubmit the Add-On Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days of 

the date of notification of the need for revisions. 

43. Any Add-On Compliance Plan concerning Add-On Products shall: 

a. Include appropriate safeguards designed to ensure that the Bank's officers, 

servants, employees, attorneys, Service Providers, affiliates, or other 
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agents refrain from engaging in violations of law or regulations in the 

marketing, sale, and administration of Add-On Products. 

b. Address the manner in which the Bank informs Cardholders of all fees, 

costs, expenses, and charges associated with the Add-On Product. 

c. Describe how the Bank will inform Cardholders of any material 

conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the Add-On Product, 

including how the Bank will inform Cardholders who disclose conditions 

that may make them ineligible for certain benefits (e.g., current disability 

or unemployment) of the restrictions and conditions relating to those 

conditions. 

d. Describe how the Bank will disclose that by enrolling, the Cardholder is 

purchasing an optional product with a cost, and that enrolling is not a 

mandatory or ministerial process (e.g., ensuring that Cardholders 

understand enrolling in an Add-On Product is not an "update" to the 

Cardholder's account or to their "card security"). 

e. Describe how the Bank will ensure that the Add-On Product's availability 

is accurately represented. 

44. Any Add-On Compliance Plan shall also include the development or revision of a 

written Vendor Management Policy designed to ensure that Add-On Products which are 

marketed and sold by the Bank or through the Bank's Service Providers comply with applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to Section 1036. At a minimum, the 

Vendor Management Policy shall require: 
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a. An analysis to be conducted by the Bank, prior to the Bank entering into a 

contract with any Service Provider, of the ability of the Service Provider 

to perform the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of 

services for the Add-On Product(s) in compliance with all applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's policies and procedures; 

b. For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between the Bank and 

the Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities of each party, 

especially: 

1. the Service Provider's specific performance responsibilities and 

duty to maintain adequate internal controls over the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Add

On Products; 

u. the Service Provider's responsibilities and duty to provide 

adequate training on applicable Federal consumer financial law 

and the Bank's policies and procedures to all Service Provider 

employees or agents engaged in the marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Add-On Product(s); 

m. granting the Bank the authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews 

of the Service Provider's controls, performance, and information 

systems as they relate to the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, 

and fulfillment of services for the Add-On Product(s); and 
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1v. the Bank's right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider 

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the contract, 

including the terms required by this Paragraph; and 

c. Periodic onsite review by the Bank of the Service Provider's controls, 

performance, and information systems. 

45. Any Add-On Compliance Plan shall also include a written Unfair, Deceptive, or 

Abusive Acts or Practices Policy (UDAAP Policy) for any Add-On Products that shall require a 

written analysis, to be conducted on an annual basis, of: 

a. Any changes to the governance, control, marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and/or fulfillment of Add-On Products marketed and sold by the 

Bank or through Service Providers; and 

b. Any new Add-On Products. 

46. The analysis required by the preceding Paragraph shall at a minimum include the 

following: 

a. An assessment of the UDAAP risks of the Add-On Product and ofthe 

governance, control, marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and/or 

fulfillment of services for the Add-On Product; and 

b. An evaluation of the adequacy ofthe Bank's internal controls and written 

policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor, and control the 

UDAAP risks associated with the Add-On Product. 

47. The UDAAP Policy shall also require: 

a. When consistent with applicable law, the recording of all telephone calls 

in which Add-On Products are marketed or sold by the Bank or through a 
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Service Provider to Cardholders, which recordings shall be retained for a 

period of at least 25 months from the date of the call; 

b. When consistent with applicable law, the recording of all telephone calls 

in which a customer enrolled in an Add-On Product marketed or sold by 

the Bank or through a Service Provider indicates that he or she did not 

authorize, does not want, does not need, or wishes to cancel the Add-On 

Product, which recordings shall be retained for a period of at least 25 

months from the date of the call; 

c. Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank' s policies and 

procedures, including but not limited to unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts 

and practices, to appropriate Bank employees and Service Provider CSRs 

who market or sell Add-On Products during telephone calls or who engage 

in retention efforts during telephone calls in which a Bank customer 

indicates that he or she did not authorize, does not want, does not need, or 

wishes to cancel the Add-On Product; 

d. Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the Bank's policies and 

procedures, including but not limited to training on Section 1036, to 

appropriate Bank employees and Service Provider employees or agents 

monitoring telephone calls; 

e. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and 

reporting any violation of applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 
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the Bank's policies and procedures by the Bank' s employees and Service 

Provider's employees or agents, in a timely manner, to a specified 

executive risk manager at the Bank who is independent of the unit 

overseeing the sale and marketing of the Add-On Products; 

f. Development of training materials relating to identifying and responding 

to violations of applicable Federal consumer financial laws that will be 

incorporated into the existing annual compliance training for appropriate 

employees; 

g. Independent telephone call monitoring by qualified personnel who have 

training in identifying and reporting violations of applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the Bank's policies and procedures, including 

but not limited to violations of Section 1 036; 

h. Reporting, on at least a monthly basis by the independent unit responsible 

for conducting the required monitoring, of its findings from the telephone 

call monitoring to a specified executive risk manager at the Bank who is 

independent of the unit overseeing the sales and marketing of these Add

On Products; and 

1. Written policies and procedures to ensure the risk management, internal 

audit, and corporate compliance programs have the requisite authority and 

status within the Bank so that appropriate reviews of Add-On Products 

marketed or sold by the Bank or through Service Providers may occur and 

deficiencies are identified and properly remedied. 
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48. Any Add-On Compliance Plan shall also require that the Bank's Internal Audit 

department periodically assess the Bank's compliance with the Vendor Management Policy and 

UDAAP Policy. Such assessments shall occur within 120 days after the Bank's receipt of a 

determination of supervisory non-objection to the Add-On Compliance Plan, and periodically but 

at least annually thereafter, and the findings shall be memorialized in writing. Within 10 days of 

completing each assessment, the Internal Audit department shall provide its written findings to 

the Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 

49. Any Add-On Compliance Plan shall also include a written Consumer Compliance 

Internal Audit Program for all Add-On Products (the Internal Audit Program). At minimum, the 

Internal Audit Program shall include: 

a. Written policies and procedures for conducting audits of the Bank's 

compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including 

but not limited to Section 1036. These policies and procedures shall 

specify the frequency, scope, and depth of these audits; and 

b. Written policies and procedures for expanding its sampling when 

exceptions based on potential violations of applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws are detected as part of an audit described in the preceding 

Paragraph. 

50. Upon receipt of a determination of supervisory non-objection from the Regional 

Director to the Add-On Compliance Plan, including the Vendor Management Policy, the 

UDAAP Policy, and the Internal Audit Program, the Board or a Committee thereof shall ensure 

the Bank's adoption, implementation and adherence to the Add-On Compliance Plan. 
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51. Any material proposed changes or deviations from the approved Add-On 

Compliance Plan shall be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of 

supervisory non-objection. In the event that the Regional Director directs the Bank to revise the 

changes to the Add-On Compliance Plan, the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit the 

Add-On Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days of the date of notification of 

the need for revisions. 

Compliance Plan for Offer Exclusions 

52. With respect to the violations identified relating to the Offer Exclusion Matter, the 

Bank represents that as of March 2012, (a) Cardholders with "Spanish-preferred" indicators on 

their accounts or with addresses in Puerto Rico are being included in the Settlement Offer, and 

(b) the Statement Credit Offer was completely discontinued. The Bank has also represented that 

it has taken the following actions: 

a. it has taken steps to improve its compliance management system with 

respect to fair lending; and 

b. it has reacquired accounts of certain Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers 

that were sold to third-party debt collectors, and provided the benefits of 

the Offers or their equivalent value as well as other relief to approximately 

84,000 Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers; as a result, to date the Bank 

has provided $131.8 million of remediation to affected consumers in the 

form of monetary payments, credits, and waivers on accounts, 

representing the value of the excluded offer, lost interest, and indirect 

damages. Of that total, $6.1 million represents payments to affected 

consumers; $2.9 million represents credits and waivers on accounts the 
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Bank has not charged-off; $68.4 million represents credits on accounts 

that the Bank has charged-off; and $54.4 million represents waivers on 

accounts that the Bank has charged-off. 

53. The Bank is prohibited from excluding Cardholders from any aspect of its credit 

offers because they have "Spanish-preferred" indicators on their accounts, and prohibited from 

impermissibly excluding Cardholders from any aspect of its credit offers because those 

Cardholders have a mailing address in Puerto Rico. 

54. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall provide an Offer Exclusion 

Compliance Plan to the Regional Director and the DOJ for prior determination of non-objection, 

which may be satisfied in whole or in part by the Bank' s existing fair lending program. In the 

event that the Regional Director and the DOJ direct the Bank to revise the Offer Exclusion 

Compliance Plan, the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit the Offer Exclusion 

Compliance Plan to the Regional Director and the DOJ within 30 days of the date of notification 

of the need for revisions. The Offer Exclusion Compliance Plan shall include the following: 

a. a review of all aspects of the Bank's current credit offer strategies, 

including collections strategies, for its "Spanish-preferred" indicator 

Cardholders and Cardholders with mailing addresses in Puerto Rico for 

compliance with the ECOA and Regulation B, including, but not limited 

to, a review designed to ensure that these Cardholders have not been 

adversely affected in any aspect of the terms or conditions of credit offers 

with the Bank as compared with the Bank's other Cardholders. If in 

connection with this review, the Bank identifies any violation or potential 

violation of the ECOA and Regulation B, within 60 days of completing 
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the review, the Bank shall notify the Regional Director and the DOJ and 

include details regarding the haim, proposed corrective action, and 

timeline for implementation; 

b. fair lending training to its employees, including its collections unit, to 

include an explanation of the national origin discrimination resulting from 

the exclusion of Cardholders with "Spanish-preferred" indicators on their 

accounts or mailing addresses in Puerto Rico; 

c. a formal process for reviewing for compliance with the ECOA and 

Regulation B all new or modified collections strategies and credit card 

terms and conditions; 

d. participation of its Fair Lending Officer in the Bank's Credit Strategies 

Sub-Committee; and 

e. implementation of a regular and periodic schedule for the Bank's Internal 

Audit department to assess compliance with the ECOA and Regulation B. 

Such assessments shall occur at least annually. Within ten (10) days of 

completing each assessment, the Internal Audit department shall provide 

its written findings to the Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 

55. Upon receipt of a determination ofnon-objection from the Regional Director and 

the DOJ to the Offer Exclusion Compliance Plan, the Board or a Committee thereof shall ensure 

the Bank's adoption, implementation, and adherence to the Offer Exclusion Compliance Plan. 

Any material proposed changes or deviations from the approved Offer Exclusion Compliance 

Plan shall be submitted in writing to the Regional Director and the DOJ for review and 

determination of non-objection. In the event that the Regional Director and the DOJ direct the 
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Bank to revise the changes to the Offer Exclusion Compliance Plan, the Bank shall make the 

revisions and resubmit the Offer Exclusion Compliance Plan to the Regional Director and the 

DOJ within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for revisions. 

VII 

ROLE OF THE BOARD 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Unless otherwise specified in this Order, the Board shall ensure that all 

submissions required by this Order (including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) 

regarding the Add-On Matter are submitted to the Regional Director and, with respect to the 

Offer Exclusion Matter, to the Regional Director and to the DOJ. 

57. Although this Order requires the Bank to submit certain documents for the 

determination of non-objection by the Regional Director and the DOJ, the Board shall have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of the Bank and for ensuring that the 

Bank complies with Federal consumer financial laws and this Order. 

58. With the prior non-objection of the Regional Director and the DOJ, the Board 

may delegate the approval or reporting obligations included in this Order to the Audit 

Committee. 

59. In each instance in this Order in which the Board or a Board committee is 

required to ensure adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations under this Order, the 

Board, directly or through the Audit Committee, shall: 

a. authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of the Bank as may be 

necessary for the Bank to perform its obligations and undertakings under 

the terms of this Order; 
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b. require the timely reporting by Bank management of such actions directed 

by the Board to be taken under this Order; 

c. cure any material non-compliance with such actions in a timely and 

appropriate manner; and 

d. require corrective action be taken in a timely manner of any material non

compliance with such actions. 

VIII 

ORDER TO PAY REDRESS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

60. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, the Bank shall set aside sufficient funds in a 

segregated account to effect the following prospective consumer redress: 

a. $32 million, for the purpose of providing redress required by this Section 

to Eligible Add-On Consumers, which represents $56 million in refunds and 

credits, less (i) $11 million previously remediated to Eligible Add-On Consumers 

and (ii) $13 million in refunds and credits that will be applied to balances on 

charged-off accounts, for injury caused by the practices described in Paragraphs 

10- 18 ofSection V. 

b. $2 million, for the purpose of providing redress required by this Section to 

Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers, which represents $37 million in payments, 

credits and waivers, less $35 million of credits and waivers that will be applied to 

balances on charged-off accounts, for injury caused by the practices described in 

Paragraphs 19-30 of Section V. 
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61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress to 

Eligible Add-On Consumers consistent with this Order (Add-On Redress Plan). Additionally, 

within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall submit to the Regional Director and the DOJ 

for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress to Eligible 

Offer Exclusion Consumers consistent with this Order (Offer Exclusion Redress Plan) 

(collectively, Redress Plans). The Regional Director and the DOJ shall have the discretion to 

make a determination of non-objection to the applicable Redress Plan(s) or direct the Bank to 

revise the Plan(s). In the event that the Regional Director and the DOJ direct the Bank to revise 

the Redress Plans, the Bank shall make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plans to the 

Regional Director and the DOJ within 30 days of the date of notification ofthe need for 

revisions. Upon notification that the Regional Director and the DOJ have made a determination 

of non-objection to the Redress Plans, the Bank shall implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the Redress Plans (to the extent not 

already implemented). 

62. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plans, the Bank shall submit an 

Add-On Redress Plan Report and an Offer Exclusion Redress Plan Report to the Regional 

Director and, where applicable, the DOJ. 

a. The Add-On Redress Plan Report shall include the Bank's Internal Audit 

department's review and assessment of the Bank's compliance with the terms ofthe Add

On Redress Plan, including: 

(i) the methodology used to determine the population of Eligible Add-

On Consumers; 

28 

2014-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 06/19/2014     Page 28 of 46



(ii) the amount of redress for each Eligible Add-On Consumer; 

(iii) the total number of Eligible Add-On Consumers; 

(iv) the procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

(v) the procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of 

updated balances to the credit reporting agencies; 

(vi) an accounting of amounts the Bank represents that it has already 

provided to Eligible Add-On Consumers prior to the Effective 

Date; and 

(vii) the work of independent consultants that the Bank has used, if any, 

to assist and review its execution of the Add-on Redress Plan. 

b. The Offer Exclusion Redress Plan Report shall include the Bank' s Internal Audit 

department's review and assessment of its compliance with the terms of the Offer 

Exclusion Redress Plan, including: 

(i) the methodology used to determine the population of Eligible 

Offer Exclusion Consumers; 

(ii) the amount of redress for each Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer; 

(iii) the total number of Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers; 

(iv) the procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

(v) the procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of 

updated balances to all three major credit reporting agencies

Experian, Equifax, and Trans Union- including, as appropriate, 

deleting trade lines or adjusting payment histories; 
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(vi) an accounting of amounts the Bank represents that it has already 

provided to Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers prior to the 

Effective Date; and 

(vii) the work of independent consultants that the Bank has used, if any, 

to assist and review its execution of the Offer Exclusion Redress 

Plan. 

63. The Bank shall provide all relief to consumers required by this Order, regardless 

of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount reserved or deposited into a segregated 

account under this Section. 

64. Upon completion of the Add-On Redress Plan Report, ifthe amount of redress 

provided to Eligible Add-On Consumers is less than $32 million, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan Report, the Bank shall pay the difference in accordance with the 

processes set forth in Paragraph 67(b), through a pro rata distribution to the Eligible Add-On 

Consumers described in Paragraph 68(a)(i)(b). If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, 

that part or all of this pro rata distribution is impracticable, any remaining funds shall be 

deposited in the U.S. Treasury General Fund, pursuant to wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau. 

65. Upon the Bank's completion of the Offer Exclusion Redress Plan Report, and in 

the event that funds remain after the Bank provides redress to Eligible Offer Exclusion 

Consumers as set forth in Paragraph 60(b ), distribution of any and all remaining money shall be 

subject to Court approval in accordance with Paragraphs 21- 23 of the DOJ' s Consent Order filed 

in the United States District Court for the District of Utah. 
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66. The Bank shall not require any Eligible Add-On Consumer or Eligible Offer 

Exclusion Consumer to waive any right as a condition of receiving payment of any redress under 

this Order. 

Add-On Product Redress 

67. With respect to the Add-On Matter, the Redress Plan shall: 

a. Apply to all Eligible Add-On Consumers; 

b. Provide for processes covering all Eligible Add-On Consumers regardless 

of their current account status with the Bank, including open accounts, 

closed accounts with and without a balance, and charged-off accounts. The 

processes shall include the following requirements: 

(i) for any open credit card account, the Bank shall deliver a statement 

credit to the account or otherwise send a refund check; 

(ii) for any closed or inactive credit card account with a zero balance, 

the Bank shall send a check to any Eligible Add-On Consumer; 

(iii) for any charged-off account, the Bank shall issue a credit 

decreasing the charged-off balance by the amount of redress; 

where the refund is greater than the existing charged-off balance, 

the Bank shall send to the consumer a check in the amount of the 

excess; 

(iv) if the Eligible Add-On Consumer is deceased, and the balance is 

greater than the refund, the Bank will apply a statement credit to 

the account; otherwise, a refund check shall be issued to the 

Eligible Add-On Consumer or the estate, if any; and 
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(v) with respect to any bankruptcy, accounts in litigation, and sold 

charged-off accounts, the Bank shall make the refund in 

accordance with applicable law; and 

c. Include a description of the following: 

(i) methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential 

Eligible Add-On Consumers; 

(ii) methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Eligible Add-On Consumer as required herein; 

(iii) procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Eligible Add-On 

Consumers; and 

(iv) procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

68. With respect to the Add-On Matter, the Redress Plan shall, at a minimum, require 

the Bank to refund to each Eligible Add-On Consumer: 

a. The sum of: 

(i) Either 

(a) for an Eligible Add-On Consumer who was enrolled in the 

Product for 364 days or fewer, all fees paid by the Consumer under 

the Add-On Product's terms; or 

(b) for an Eligible Add-On Consumer who was enrolled in the 

Product for 365 days or more, 180 days of fees paid by the 

Consumer under the Add-On Product's terms, based on the 

average daily fee paid by the consumer from January 1, 2010, to 

October 19, 2013; 
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(ii) all over-limit fees paid by an Eligible Add-On Consumer because 

the charging of the Add-On Product's fees described in Sub

Paragraph (a)(i) resulted in the consumer exceeding his or her 

credit limit; and 

(iii) all finance charges assessed by the Bank that accrued to the 

Eligible Add-On Consumer's account as a result of the charging of 

the Add-On Product's fees described in Sub-Paragraph (a)(i); 

b. Less any amount of redress or refunds provided to an Eligible Add-On 

Consumer prior to the Effective Date. 

69. No Eligible Add-On Consumer shall be precluded from receiving redress with 

respect to more than one Add-On Product. For any Eligible Add-On Consumer who is eligible 

with respect to more than one Add-On Product, the Eligible Add-On Consumer's redress will be 

determined for each Add-On Product separately pursuant to Paragraph 68. 

70. The Bank represents that it has reimbursed some Add-On Consumers, including 

some Eligible Add-On Consumers, for certain fees and charges that they paid. This 

reimbursement shall be documented as part of the Add-On Redress Plan and Add-On Redress 

Plan Report and be subject to the requirements of this Order, and it shall include confirmation of 

those amounts the Bank has already reimbursed to Eligible Add-On Consumers. 

71. With respect to any Eligible Add-On Consumer' s account that receives redress 

under the Add-On Redress Plan as a credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-off 

balance, the Bank shall as permitted by law and in accordance with existing procedures: 

a. Report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which the 

Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; 
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b. Delete the account tradeline at each credit reporting agency to which the 

Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

c. In the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, request that 

such third party owner of the debt report the updated balance to, or delete 

the account tradeline at, each credit reporting agency to which the Bank or 

the third party owner of the debt had previously furnished balance 

information for the account. 

72. With respect to redress to be paid to Eligible Add-On Consumers, the Redress 

Plan shall include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification Letter) to be sent notifying 

Eligible Add-On Consumers ofthe redress; and (2) the form of the envelope that will contain the 

Redress Notification Letter. The Redress Notification Letter shall include language explaining 

the manner in which the amount of redress was calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit 

and/or check as applicable; and a statement that the provision of refund payment is in accordance 

with the terms of this Order. The Bank shall not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters, and when appropriate, redress 

checks, unless the Bank has obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director that the 

CFPB does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

Offer Exclusion Redress 

73. With respect to Offer Exclusion Matter, the Redress Plan shall: 

a. Apply to all Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers; 

b. Provide for processes covering all Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers 

regardless of their current account status with the Bank, including open 

and closed accounts, both with and without a balance, and regardless of 
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whether or not the Bank charged off or reacquired the accounts. The 

processes shall include the following requirements: 

(i) for any open credit card account, the Bank shall apply a statement 

credit to the account or otherwise send a check to the Eligible 

Offer Exclusion Consumer; 

(ii) for any closed or inactive credit card account with a zero balance at 

the time of redress, the Bank shall send a check to any Eligible 

Offer Exclusion Consumer; 

(iii) for any charged-off or reacquired accounts, the Bank shall issue a 

credit decreasing the charged-off balance by the amount of redress ; 

where the redress is greater than the existing charged-off balance, 

the Bank shall send the Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer a check 

in the amount of the excess; 

(iv) for any credit card account for which the Bank suspends collection 

efforts or reduces the remaining balance to zero, notice of that 

suspension or balance reduction shall be sent to the Eligible Offer 

Exclusion Consumer; such notice shall be sent to the consumer in 

Spanish if the Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer has a "Spanish

preferred" indicator on his or her account; 

(v) if the Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer is deceased, and the 

balance is greater than the redress, the Bank will apply a statement 

credit to the account; otherwise, a refund check shall be issued to 

the Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer or the estate, if any; and 
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(vi) with respect to any bankruptcy and accounts in litigation, the Bank 

shall make the redress in accordance with applicable law. 

c. Include a description of the following: 

(i) methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential 

Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers; 

(ii) methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer as required herein; 

(iii) procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to each Eligible 

Offer Exclusion Consumer; and 

(iv) procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

74. With respect to the Offer Exclusion Matter, at a minimum, the Bank shall provide 

to each Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumer: 

a. The original value of the excluded offer plus interest, calculated from the 

date they should have initially received the offer until the earlier of (i) the 

approximate date they received the benefit of the offer, or (ii) the date 

their account was charged-off; 

b. For closed accounts, the Bank shall request that the credit reporting 

agencies to which it furnishes information delete any trade lines for 

accounts that did not receive a Collection Offer under the Offer Exclusion 

Matter; and 

c. For accounts that were closed with balances, including accounts that were 

charged-off or reacquired during or after the Offer Exclusion Relevant 

Time Period, given the difficulty in calculating specific indirect damages 
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resulting from the exclusion from the Offers, the Bank shall suspend 

collection ef(orts and reduce the remaining balances to zero. 

75. With respect to redress to be paid to Eligible Offer Exclusion Consumers, the 

Redress Plan shall include: (1) the form of the letter to be sent notifying Eligible Offer Exclusion 

Consumers of the redress (Redress Notification Letter); and (2) the form of the envelope that will 

contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter shall include language explaining the manner 

in which the amount of redress was calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit and/or check 

as applicable; and a statement that the provision of the refund payment is in accordance with the 

terms of this Order. The letter shall be sent to the consumer in Spanish if the Eligible Offer 

Exclusion Consumer has a "Spanish-preferred" indicator on his or her account. The Bank shall 

provide the Regional Direction and the DOJ with samples of each letter it will send as required 

by Paragraph 73(b)(iv) and this Paragraph, and receive the Regional Director and the DOJ's non

objection to the sample letters, before mailing any letters required under Paragraph 73(b)(iv) and 

this Paragraph. The Bank shall not include in any envelope containing a Redress Notification 

Letter any materials other than the approved letters, and when appropriate, redress checks, unless 

the Bank has obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director and the DOJ that they do 

not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

76. Throughout the course of the CFPB's and the DOJ's review of the Offer 

Exclusion Matter, the Bank proposed, modified, and implemented a number of redress steps 

outlined above, which provided relief to approximately 84,000 consumers with "Spanish

preferred" indicators on their accounts or with mailing addresses in Puerto Rico. This resulted in 

$131.8 million of remediation to affected consumers, which reflects the value of the excluded 

offer, lost interest, and indirect damages. Of that total, $6.1 million represents payments to 
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affected consumers; $2.9 million represents credits and waivers on accounts the Bank has not 

charged-off; $68.4 million represents credits on accounts that the Bank has charged-off; and 

$54.4 million represents waivers on accounts that the Bank has charged-off. Accordingly, this 

redress and relief shall be certified and documented as part of the Offer Exclusion Redress Plan 

and Offer Exclusion Redress Plan Report and be subject to the requirements of this Order, and 

shall include confirmation of those amounts the Bank has provided to Eligible Offer Exclusion 

Consumers. 

77. The review and determination of non-objection by the CFPB and the DOJ to the 

Offer Exclusion Redress Plan shall satisfy fully the claims ofthe United States for damages and 

other monetary relief related to the Offer Exclusion Matter. 

IX 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Pursuant to Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 

violations oflaw and/or regulations set forth in Section V of this Order and taking into account 

the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Bank shall pay to the CFPB a civil money 

penalty of $3.5 million, as directed by the CFPB and as set forth herein. Civil money penalties 

are not assessed for the Offer Exclusion Matter violations based on the totality of the 

circumstances, including the Bank's responsible business conduct related to the Offer Exclusion 

Matter including self-identification of the matter through self-policing, prompt reporting of the 

matter to the Bureau, self-initiation of consumer remediation, and full and timely cooperation 

with the Bureau' s investigation and resolution. 
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79. Within 10 days ofthe Effective Date, the Bank shall pay the civil money penalty 

in the form of a wire transfer to the CFPB or to such agent as the CFPB may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the CFPB. 

80. The civil money penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund ofthe CFPB in accordance with Section 1017(d) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d) 

and 12 C.F.R. part 1075. 

81. The Bank shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the government 

for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, the Bank shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that the Bank pays 

pursuant to this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to 

any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that the Bank 

pays pursuant to this Order. 

82. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, the Bank shall not argue that the Bank is entitled to, nor shall the Bank benefit 

by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory damages imposed in the Related Consumer 

Action, by any amount ofthe civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court 

in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the Bank shall, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Regional Director, and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be deemed an 

39 

2014-CFPB-0007     Document 1     Filed 06/19/2014     Page 39 of 46



additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil money 

penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

83. In the event of any default on the Bank's obligations to make payment under this 

Order, interest (computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961) shall accrue on any outstanding amounts not 

paid from the date of default to the date of payment and shall immediately become due and 

payable. 

84. The Bank shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the payments detailed 

in this Consent Order to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds shall be 

returned to the Bank. 

XI 

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. The Bank shall notify the Regional Director and the DOJ of any change in the 

Bank that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited 

to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company, or the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages 

in any acts or practices subject to this Order. 
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XII 

ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

86. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy of this Order to 

each member of the Board and each executive officer, as well as any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have managerial-level responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Order or otherwise have responsibilities for implementing this 

Order. 

87. For five years from the Effective Date, the Bank shall deliver a copy of this Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure, to any future members of the Board 

and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents 

and representatives who will have managerial-level responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Order, before they assume their responsibilities. 

88. The Bank shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of theE-Sign 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons required to receive a 

copy of this Order under this Section. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

XIII 

RECORD KEEPING 

89. The Bank shall create, for a period offive years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain for at least five years, and make available to the CFPB and the DOJ upon request, the 

following business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the CFPB and 

the DOJ and all documents and records pertaining to the redress 

provisions, as set forth in Section VIII above. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, 

and other marketing materials relating to Add-On Products, including any 

such materials used by a Service Provider on behalf of the Bank. 

c. For every Add-On Product, accounting records showing the gross and net 

revenues generated by the Product. 

XIV 

NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

90. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the CFPB and the DOJ, all submissions, 

requests, communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Order shall be in writing 

and shall be sent by overnight courier to the CFPB and the DOJ as follows: 

To the CFPB: 

Regional Director, CFPB West Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
301 Howard Street, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 

To the DOJ: 

Chief 
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 
Civil Rights Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
1800 G Street NW, Suite 7002 
Washington, DC 20006 
DJ# 188-77-13 
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The subject line shall begin: In re Synchrony Bank. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank 

may send such reports or notifications by first-class mail, but only if the Bank 

contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report or notification to: 

Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov and the email addresses provided by the DOJ. 

XV 

COMPLIANCE AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

91. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his or her 

discretion, and after consultation with the DOJ with respect to the Offer Exclusion Matter, 

modify any non-material provisions ofthis Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements). Any such modification by the Regional Director shall be in 

writing. 

XVI 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

92. All references to DOJ in this Order are limited to the Offer Exclusion Matter. This 

Order does not require the Bank to provide any document, plan, report, or information to the 

DOJ regarding the Add-On Matter. The provisions relating to the Add-On Matter in this Consent 

Order are solely under the jurisdiction of the CFPB. 

93. Except as set forth in Paragraph 97 below, the provisions of this Order shall not 

bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the CFPB, the DOJ, or any other governmental agency from 

taking any other action against the Bank. 
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94. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final Order issued 

under Section 1053 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not be 

construed to form, a contract binding the CFPB or the United States. 

95. This Order shall remain effective and enforceable except to the extent that, and 

until such time as, any provisions of this Order shall have been amended, suspended, waived, or 

terminated in writing by the CFPB or its designated agent. 

96. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

97. This Order constitutes a settlement of the administrative proceeding against the 

Bank contemplated by the CFPB, based on the conduct described Section V of this Order. The 

CFPB releases and discharges the Bank from all potential liability (other than as set forth in this 

Order) for a cease and desist or other order or civil money penalty that has been or might have 

been asserted by the CFPB based on the Bank's conduct, as described in Section V of this Order, 

to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and are known to the CFPB as of 

the Effective Date of this Order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices described in 

Section V of this Order may be used by the CFPB in future enforcement actions against the Bank 

and its affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not preclude or 

affect any right of the CFPB to determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions 

of this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations thereof. 

98. The provisions of this Order shall be binding upon the Bank, and if the Bank is 

disposed of, spun-off, or sold, such sale, spin-off, or disposition will be contingent upon the new 
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entity or purchaser's agreement to abide by the terms of this Order and all obligations imposed 

on or undertaken by the Bank herein. 

99. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the CFPB. Any violation of 

this Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

100. The provisions of this Order shall be severable and, should any provisions be 

declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, the other provisions shall 

remain in full force. 

101. No promises, representations or warranties other than those set forth in this Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions, or understandings, if 

any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

102. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing the Bank, its Board, its officers, or its employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

103. To the extent that a specific action by the Bank is required with respect to the 

Offer Exclusion Matter both by this Consent Order and the Consent Order entered by the United 

States District Court for the District of Utah in the civil action styled United States of America v. 

Synchrony Bank, filed on or about June 17, 2014, action by the Bank that satisfies a requirement 

under any such District Court Consent Order will satisfy that same requirement under this 

Consent Order. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this /'l~ay of J:~ , 2014. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2014-CFPB- 

 

  

In the Matter of:          CONSENT ORDER 

 

  

ACE Cash Express, Inc.  

 

  

 

I 
Overview 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) has reviewed the debt 

collection practices of ACE Cash Express, Inc. (“ACE” or “Respondent” as defined 

below), and has determined that ACE has engaged in unfair, deceptive, and abusive 

practices in connection with its collection of payday loans in violation of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). Under 

Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this 

Consent Order (“Consent Order”). 

II 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 
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  III 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order,” dated July 3, 2014 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by 

reference and accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau pursuant to 

Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 

that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

IV 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “ACE” means ACE Cash Express, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries. 

b. “Back-End Collections Department” means ACE in-house debt collectors 

typically responsible for collecting on accounts that are more than 90 days 

past due. 

c. “Board” means ACE’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

d. “Bureau” means Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

e. “Consumer” means any person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay a debt 

to Respondent. 

f. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Consent Order issues. 

g. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for 

the Bureau’s Office of Supervision, or his or her delegee. 
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h. “Relevant Period” means the period from March 7, 2011 through September 

12, 2012. 

i. “Respondent” means ACE Cash Express, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries, 

successors, and assigns. 

j. “Restitution Eligible Consumers” mean all individuals who were subject to 

collections by ACE’s Back-End Collections Department or third-party debt 

collectors and who made a payment to ACE or one of its third-party debt 

collectors during the Relevant Period. 

k. “Related Consumer Action” means any private action for damages brought by 

or on behalf of one or more consumers, or an enforcement action by another 

government entity, against Respondent based on similar facts as set forth in 

Section V of this Consent Order. 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

V 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. ACE is a financial services company headquartered in Irving, Texas. It offers 

and provides a variety of consumer loan products, each of which is a “consumer 

financial product or service” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). ACE offers these 

products over the internet and at brick-and-mortar stores in 36 states and the 

District of Columbia.  

5. ACE is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).   

6. ACE structures its payday loans to be repaid in roughly two weeks, but its 

borrowers frequently roll over, renew, refinance, or otherwise extend their loans 
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beyond the original repayment term. These borrowers typically incur additional 

interest and fees when they roll over, renew, or refinance their loans.  

7. When ACE borrowers default on their loans, they become subject to collections 

by ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors. ACE uses in-house debt 

collectors to collect on accounts that are 120 days or less past due. Until 

September 2013, ACE outsourced collections to third-party debt collectors for 

most accounts that were more than 120 days past due. 

8. ACE controlled its third-party debt collectors according to the terms of its third-

party vendor contracts. These contracts include specific terms that govern third-

party debt collectors’ collection activities. ACE’s compliance monitoring, vendor 

management, and quality assurance did not prevent, identify, or correct 

instances of misconduct by some third-party debt collectors. 

9. ACE directed its in-house and third-party debt collectors to call all telephone 

numbers provided in consumers’ loan applications, including numbers of third-

party references.   

10. Some of ACE’s in-house debt collectors continued to contact persons with no 

relation to the debt after being told multiple times that ACE had the wrong 

telephone number.  

11. ACE’s collections training manuals instructed its collectors to “create a sense of 

urgency” for consumers in default. 

12. Some of ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors engaged in several acts 

or practices that created a sense of urgency,  including: 
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a. Excessive calls: In-house and third-party debt collectors made an 

excessive number of calls to consumers’ home, work, and cellular 

telephone numbers; 

b. Disclosure to third parties: In-house and third-party debt collectors 

disclosed the existence of consumers’ debts to non-liable third parties; and 

c. Failure to cease collection activity as requested and required: In-house and 

third-party debt collectors continued to call consumers at their workplaces 

after being told that such calls were prohibited. In-house debt collectors 

also continued to call consumers directly after being told that they were 

represented by counsel. 

13. Some collectors in ACE’s Back-End Collections Department also misrepresented 

the acts that third-party debt collectors would take after ACE transferred the 

account. These misrepresentations included: 

a. Tacking on fees: In-house debt collectors told consumers that third-party 

debt collectors would add collection fees. In fact, ACE’s third-party vendor 

contracts expressly prohibited adding collection fees; 

b. Reporting to national credit bureaus: In-house debt collectors told 

consumers that third-party debt collectors would report their failure to pay 

to national credit bureaus, which would prevent the consumer from 

obtaining credit in the future. In fact, ACE’s third-party vendor contracts 

expressly prohibited reporting to national credit bureaus; 

c. Threats of harm: In-house debt collectors made threats regarding what 

consumers would encounter once their accounts were transferred to third-

party debt collectors.  For example, one in-house collector told a consumer 
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that they were “not at liberty to discuss” what would happen after ACE 

transfers the account, but assured consumers that “these people [third-

party debt collectors] are gonna to hassle you.” Another in-house debt 

collector told a consumer that third-party debt collectors’ “actions are 

unlimited.” In fact, both ACE’s third-party vendor contracts and a large 

body of federal and state consumer protection law limit the actions of 

third-party debt collectors; and 

d. Authority to prevent transfer: In-house debt collectors told borrowers that 

they could not prevent the transfer of a debt to third-party collectors.  For 

example, one in-house debt collector told borrowers who asked him to 

postpone an account transfer that the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act or 

the “FDCPA Department” prohibits ACE from postponing transfer to 

third-party debt collectors. In fact, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act is 

a consumer protection statute that does not require creditors to transfer 

debts to third parties. In fact, ACE has no “FDCPA Department.” 

14. Some of ACE’s in-house and third-party debt collectors also falsely threatened 

delinquent borrowers with litigation or criminal prosecution, including by 

referencing or alluding to attorneys, clerks, legal departments, filings, formal 

complaints, and “immediate proceedings based on the law.” The name of one 

company hired by ACE to collect debt on its behalf was “National Attorney 

Collection Services, Inc.”  Its collectors regularly referred to themselves as 

“National Attorney” in communications with consumers. These consumers may 

have reasonably believed that they were likely to be sued or that an attorney had 

reviewed their account, when that was not the case. Another of ACE’s third-

2014-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 07/10/2014     Page 6 of 28



 

7 
 

party debt collectors misrepresented that ACE had hired it to conduct 

“mediations” with consumers before recommending whether ACE should refer 

the consumers’ account or “case” to law enforcement. In fact, ACE does not sue 

consumers for failing to pay or refer non-payment for criminal prosecution; nor 

does it permit its third-party debt collectors to do so.    

15. ACE also trained and instructed its in-house debt collectors to create a “sense of 

urgency.” Some ACE collectors leveraged the sense of urgency to encourage 

delinquent borrowers with a demonstrated inability to repay their existing loans 

to take out new loans. Specifically, ACE’s “Foundations of Collections New Hire 

Training Manual,” which the company used from September 2010 to September 

2011, describes what it calls “The Loan Process”:  
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16. ACE’s “Loan Process” begins with the consumer’s loan application; moves to 

ACE’s loan approval; moves next to a consumer who has “exhaust[ed] the cash 

and does not have the ability to pay”; then, ACE “contacts the customer for 

payment or offers the option to refinance or extend the loan”; after which, the 

consumer “does not make a payment and the account enters collection.” At this 

point, the “Loan Process” starts over again. 

17. While engaged in the unfair and deceptive practices described above, some of 

ACE’s in-house debt collectors suggested to consumers in default that they take 

out a new loan to pay off their existing obligation. When consumers explained 

that they could not afford to repay another ACE loan and also meet their other 

expenses, in-house debt collectors cited the company’s initial loan approval as 

evidence that consumers could afford to repay the new loan.  

18. ACE has begun corrective action and has committed to taking all necessary and 

appropriate steps to remedy the violations of law identified by the Bureau. 

Unfair Acts or Practices 

19. The CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).  

20. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if (1) it causes or is likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers; and (3) such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 
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21. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, in connection with the collection of 

debt, some of ACE’s in-house or third-party collectors engaged in the following 

unfair acts or practices during the Relevant Period: 

a. Making an excessive number of calls to consumers’ home, work, and cell 

phone numbers; 

b. Disclosing the existence of consumers’ debts to non-liable third parties; 

c. Continuing to call consumers at work after being told that such calls were 

prohibited; 

d. Continuing to call consumers directly after being told that they were 

represented by counsel; and 

e. Continuing to call consumers with no relation to the debt after being told 

that ACE had the wrong person. 

22. These acts or practices caused or were likely to cause substantial consumer 

injury that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers or outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

23. Therefore ACE engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Deceptive Acts or Practices 

24. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 

representation or omission that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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25. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, in connection with the collection of 

debt, some of ACE’s in-house or third-party collectors  engaged in the following 

deceptive acts or practices during the Relevant Period: 

a. Misrepresenting the acts that would be taken by third-party debt collectors 

if the debt were transferred; 

b. Misrepresenting its ability to prevent a debt from being transferred to a 

third-party collector; 

c. Falsely threatening litigation; 

d. Falsely threatening to report non-payment to credit bureaus; 

e. Falsely threatening to refer non-payment for criminal prosecution; and 

f. Falsely threatening to add collection fees. 

26. These acts or practices are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under 

the circumstances and are material to consumers subject to debt collection. 

27. Therefore ACE engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Abusive Acts or Practices 

28. An act or practice is abusive under Section 1031(d)(2)(B) of the CFPA if it takes 

“unreasonable advantage of … the inability of the consumer to protect the 

interests of the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product or 

service.”  12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

29. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 17, some Ace collectors created and 

leveraged an artificial sense of urgency to induce delinquent borrowers with a 
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demonstrated inability to repay their existing loan to take out a new ACE loan 

with accompanying fees. 

30. These acts or practices took unreasonable advantage of the inability of 

consumers to protect their own interests in selecting or using a consumer 

financial product or service.  

31. Therefore ACE engaged in abusive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

VI 
Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

32. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

shall cease and desist and that Respondent shall take reasonable measures to 

ensure that its service providers,  affiliates, and other agents cease and desist 

from any violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 

and 5536, and take the following affirmative action: 

a. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not engage in 

conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse a 

person, including, but not limited to: (1) the use of obscene or profane 

language or language the natural consequence of which is to abuse the 

hearer or reader; (2) causing a telephone to ring, or engaging a person in 

telephone conversation, repeatedly or continuously with the intent to 
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annoy, abuse, or harass the person at the called number; or (3)  placing 

more than one call to any person about a debt after that person has 

notified Respondent either orally or in writing that the person wishes 

Respondent to cease further communication with the person; 

b. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not disclose the 

existence of a consumer’s debt to any unauthorized third party, unless the 

consumer has given his or her express permission to do so; 

c. In connection with its collection of a debt, Respondent and its officers, 

agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 

this Consent Order, shall not contact any consumer indebted to 

Respondent at his or her place of business, if Respondent knows or has 

reason to know that the consumer’s employer prohibits the consumer from 

receiving such communication. 

d. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not directly 

communicate with any consumer indebted to Respondent that it knows, or 

should know, is represented by an attorney, unless the consumer has given 

his or her express permission to do so; 

e. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall suspend collection 

efforts against any person disputing the validity of a debt alleged to be 

owed to Respondent until after Respondent has conducted a reasonable 
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investigation into the consumer’s dispute and notified the consumer of the 

results in writing; 

f. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, shall not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or by implication: 

i. the acts that will be taken by third-party debt collectors if 

Respondent transfers the debt; 

ii. that Respondent is unable to prevent a debt from being transferred 

to a third-party collector; 

iii. that Respondent intends or plans to sue or otherwise engage in 

litigation with a consumer; 

iv. that Respondent intends or plans to report a consumer’s failure to 

make a payment to credit bureaus; 

v. that Respondent intends or plans to refer a consumer for criminal 

prosecution for failure to make a payment; 

vi. that Respondent intends or plans to add collection fees to a 

consumer’s account balance; or 

vii. any other material fact in connection with the collection of debt. 

g. In connection with the collection of debt, Respondent and its officers, 

agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 

this Consent Order, shall not encourage or suggest that a delinquent 

borrower pay off their loan and then take out a new loan from Respondent. 

Provided, however, that ACE may truthfully inform consumers, in 

response to a bona fide consumer inquiry about the availability of a new 
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loan, that ACE does not permit consumers to take out a new loan while 

there is an outstanding balance on their existing loan. 

33. Respondent shall not condition any extension of credit upon a consumer 

granting express permission to engage in any of the acts or practices prohibited 

by Paragraph 32.  

VII 
Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan (“Compliance Plan”) designed to ensure that Respondent’s debt 

collection practices comply with Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 and 5536, and the terms of this Consent Order. The Compliance Plan 

shall, at a minimum:   

a. Include detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order;  

b. Explain Respondent’s consumer compliance organizational and reporting 

structure; 

c. Provide written descriptions of the job duties for key consumer-compliance 

staff positions, which clearly define employee authority and accountability; 

d. Require that Respondent allocate resources to compliance that are 

commensurate with the company’s size, complexity, product lines, and 

business operations to ensure that it implements an adequate compliance 
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program, including appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced 

personnel;  

e. Require that Respondent record and regularly monitor its debt collection 

calls; 

f. Require ongoing education and training in federal unfair, deceptive, and 

abusive acts or practices for all appropriate employees, Board members, and 

other appropriate individuals, with training tailored to each individual’s job 

duties or other role within the organization. Respondent shall document its 

training activities and it shall review and update its training activities at least 

annually to ensure that it provides appropriate individuals with the most 

relevant information; and 

g. Require that the Compliance Plan be updated at least semi-annually—or as 

required by changes in laws or regulations, or changes in Respondent’s 

business strategies—to ensure that the Plan remains current and effective. 

35. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event 

that the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days. 

36. Upon notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent shall implement and adhere to 

the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the 

Compliance Plan. 
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VIII 
Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

37. The Board shall review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

38. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board shall have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and 

for ensuring that Respondent complies with Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 and this Consent Order. 

39. For each instance in this Consent Order in which the Board is required to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the 

Board shall: 

a. Authorize and adopt such actions on behalf of Respondent as may be 

necessary for Respondent to perform its obligations and undertakings 

under the terms of this Consent Order; 

b. Require the timely reporting by Respondent management of such actions 

directed by Respondent management to be taken under the terms of this 

Consent Order; and 

c. Require corrective action be taken in a timely and appropriate manner in 

the case of any material non-compliance with such actions. 
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MONETARY PROVISIONS 

IX 
Order to Pay Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Respondent shall pay $5,000,000 in redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers 

as set forth in this Section. If the total amount of money claimed by Restitution 

Eligible Consumers pursuant to this Section is less than $5,000,000, 

Respondent may use the remainder to pay the third-party costs of administering 

redress as required by this Section. If funds remain after payment of redress and 

the third-party administration costs, such remaining funds shall be paid to the 

Bureau and disgorged to the U.S. Treasury as set forth in this Section. 

41. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (“Redress Plan”). The 

Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event that 

the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, 

Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Regional Director within 15 days. Upon notification that the Regional Director 

has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent 

shall promptly implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, 

and timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 

42. The Redress Plan shall: 
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a. Identify a Third-Party Settlement Administrator (“Administrator”) to 

conduct the activities set forth in the Redress Plan; 

b. Require the Administrator, in both English and Spanish languages, to 

provide information to, and accept claim forms from, consumers through, 

at a minimum, a dedicated website, e-mail address, and first-class mail, 

for a claims period of 180 days (“Claims Period”); 

c. Require Respondent, through the Administrator, to provide restitution to 

all Restitution Eligible Consumers who submit a timely Claim Form; 

d. Provide that all Restitution Eligible Consumers who submit a timely claim 

form shall receive a refund of all payments to ACE during the Relevant 

Period plus 1.3%, unless the total of such payments would exceed 

$5,000,000, in which case the amount paid to each Restitution Eligible 

Consumer shall be reduced pro rata by the Administrator; 

e. Provide that Respondent shall pay all costs of administering redress as 

required by this Section; provided, however, that if the total amount of 

money claimed by Restitution Eligible Consumers is less than $5,000,000, 

Respondent may use the remainder to pay the third-party costs of 

administering redress; 

f. Provide for payment to consumers within 90 days of the end of the Claims 

Period, in the form of a certified or bank check that may be cashed by the 

consumer for a period of at least 90 days after issuance; 

g. Provide that the restitution paid to Restitution Eligible Consumers is not 

subject to any condition and does not limit their rights in any way; and 
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h. Provide that nothing in the Redress Plan creates any new collection, credit 

reporting, or litigation rights on behalf of Respondent. 

43. In the event that the total amount of redress provided to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers as set forth in this Section, and the total amount money paid to the 

Administrator for the purpose of administering redress as set forth in this 

Section, is less than $5,000,000, Respondent is ordered to transfer the 

remainder to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such 

agent as the Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be 

provided by counsel for the Bureau, so that such funds may be distributed to the 

U.S. Treasury as disgorgement.  Respondent shall make this payment within 180 

days of the end of the Claims Period. 

44. The Redress Plan also shall include the proposed text of the website, e-mail, and 

letter (Restitution Notification), claim form (Claim Form), and envelope the 

Administrator will send to notify Restitution Eligible Consumers. The 

Restitution Notification shall include: 

a. Satisfactory language explaining the reasons for the refunds, including a 

brief description of the Bureau’s findings and conclusions in this Consent 

Order; 

b. A statement that the refund is required by this Consent Order with the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; 

c. A statement that if the consumer wishes to receive a refund, the consumer 

should sign, date, and return a Claim Form by [X] date. The Claim Form 

shall not require the consumer to otherwise swear or attest to any facts;  
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d. The amount of money the consumer paid to ACE during the Relevant 

Period and a statement that the consumer is eligible to receive a refund of 

some or all of that money if he or she submits a timely Claim Form; and 

e. A statement that claiming a refund will not subject the consumer to any 

new debt collection activity. 

45. Respondent shall bear all costs and expenses of the Administrator for 

conducting the Redress Plan.  Respondent’s contract with the Administrator 

shall require the Administrator to comply with the provisions of this Consent 

Order as applicable to the Administrator.  The Administrator’s contract shall 

require the Administrator to work cooperatively with the Bureau in the conduct 

of the Redress Plan, including reporting regularly and providing all reasonably 

requested information to the Bureau.  Respondent shall provide to the 

Administrator all information and data needed to conduct the Redress Plan.  

Such information and data shall be used by the Administrator only for the 

purpose of administering the Redress Plan. 

46. Redress provided by Respondent shall not limit consumers’ rights except for 

double recovery. Respondent shall not be entitled to a set-off, or any other 

reduction, of the amount of payments to Restitution Eligible Consumers because 

of any debts owed by the Restitution Eligible Consumers. 

47. Respondent, through the Administrator, shall make reasonable efforts to locate 

and send Restitution Notifications and Claim Forms to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers, including by running a standard address search using the national 

change of address system before mailing Restitution Notifications and, within 
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30 days, re-mailing all returned letters and any restitution checks to corrected 

addresses, if any. 

48. Within 180 days after the end of the Claims Period, Respondent shall provide a 

final report (“Restitution Report”) to the Regional Director that describes all of 

its efforts to calculate and provide redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers. 

The Restitution Report shall include a signed report from the Administrator 

certifying that Respondent has completed the Redress Plan. The Restitution 

Report also shall include the total number of Restitution Eligible Consumers, 

the total amount of restitution Respondent actually paid, and the amount and 

status of all unclaimed restitution payments. 

X 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law set forth in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent shall pay a 

civil money penalty of $5,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and 

as set forth herein. 

50. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau. 
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51. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

52. Respondent shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses 

those funds, Respondent shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that Respondent pays 

under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that Respondent pays under 

this Consent Order. 

53. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent shall not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor shall Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer 

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent shall, within 30 days after entry 

of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be 

deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed to change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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XI 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

shall accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and shall immediately become due and payable. 

55. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to 

Respondent. 

56. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, 

shall furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  

57. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent shall notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification shall 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent  paid or is required to 

pay to consumers and should describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 
XII 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
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58. Respondent shall notify the Bureau of any change in Respondent that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or 

address. 

59. Respondent shall report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 58 at least 30 days prior to such change. Provided, however, 

that with respect to any proposed change about which Respondent learns less 

than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take place, Respondent shall 

notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 

60. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent shall submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (each a Compliance Report), which has been 

approved by the Board, which describes in detail the manner and form in which 

Respondent has complied with this Consent Order.   

61. After the one-year period, Respondent shall submit to the Regional Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

XIII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
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62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, or third-party debt collectors who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

63. For 5  years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as 

set forth in Section XII, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, or third-party debt collectors who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities.  

64. Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section.  

 XIV 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. Respondent shall create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau and all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, as 
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set forth in Section IX; and 

b. All consumer complaints related to debt collection (whether received 

directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to 

those complaints. 

XV 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 

communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 

shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 

Service), as follows: 

James Carley  
 Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 1700 G Street, N.W. 
 Washington, D.C. 20552 

The subject line shall begin:  In re ACE Cash Express, Inc., File No. 2014-
CFPB-[docket number listed above]. 
 
Provided however that Respondent may send such reports or notifications 

by first-class mail, but only if Respondent contemporaneously sends an electronic 

version of such report or notification to Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XVI 
Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Regional Director may, in his or her 

discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., 

reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements). Any such 

modification by the Regional Director shall be in writing.  
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

 XVII 

68. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency from taking any other action 

against Respondent. 

69. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 

Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and 

expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding 

the Bureau or the United States. 

70. This Consent Order shall terminate 10 years from the Effective Date. The 

Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to 

the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

71. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

72. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 

violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the CFPB of the 

maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the 

CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

73. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties 

other than those set forth in this Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation have been made by any of the parties. This Consent Order and the 
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accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions, or 

understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

74. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

75. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

violations of law that have been or might have been asserted by the Bureau 

based on the practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the 

extent such practices occurred prior to Effective Date and are known to the 

Bureau as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices 

described in this Consent Order may be utilized by the Bureau in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern of practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release shall not preclude or affect any of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the terms and provisions of the Consent Order, or to seek 

penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this Ith day of 2014. 

644441/DRichard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against ACE Cash
Express for Pushing Payday Borrowers
Into Cycle of Debt
ACE to Pay $10 Million for Using Illegal Debt Collection Tactics to
Pressure Consumers Into Debt Traps

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took enforcement action against ACE Cash Express, one of the largest payday lenders in
the United States, for pushing payday borrowers into a cycle of debt. The CFPB found
that ACE used illegal debt collection tactics – including harassment and false threats of
lawsuits or criminal prosecution – to pressure overdue borrowers into taking out
additional loans they could not afford. ACE will provide $5 million in refunds and pay a
$5 million penalty for these violations.

“ACE used false threats, intimidation, and harassing calls to bully payday borrowers
into a cycle of debt,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “This culture of coercion
drained millions of dollars from cash-strapped consumers who had few options to fight
back. The CFPB was created to stand up for consumers and today we are taking action
to put an end to this illegal, predatory behavior.”

ACE is a financial services company headquartered in Irving, Texas. The company
offers payday loans, check-cashing services, title loans, installment loans, and other
consumer financial products and services. ACE offers the loans online and at many of
its 1,500 retail storefronts. The storefronts are located in 36 states and the District of
Columbia.

Payday loans are often described as a way for consumers to bridge a cash-flow shortage
between paychecks or other income. They are usually expensive, small-dollar loans that
must be repaid in full in a short period of time. A March 2014 CFPB study  found that
four out of five payday loans are rolled over or renewed within 14 days. It also found
that the majority of all payday loans are made to borrowers who renew their loans so
many times that they end up paying more in fees than the amount of money they
originally borrowed.

The CFPB has authority to oversee the payday loan market and began supervising
payday lenders in January 2012. Today’s action resulted from a CFPB examination,
which the Bureau conducted in coordination with the Texas Office of Consumer Credit
Commissioner, and subsequent enforcement investigation.

Illegal Debt Collection Threats and
Harassment
The CFPB found that ACE used unfair, deceptive, and abusive practices to collect
consumer debts, both when collecting its own debt and when using third-party debt
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collectors to collect its debts. The Bureau found that ACE collectors engaged in a
number of aggressive and unlawful collections practices, including:

Threatening to sue or criminally prosecute: ACE debt collectors led
consumers to believe that they would be sued or subject to criminal prosecution if
they did not make payments. Collectors would use legal jargon in calls to
consumers, such as telling a consumer he could be subject to “immediate
proceedings based on the law” even though ACE did not actually sue consumers
or attempt to bring criminal charges against them for non-payment of debts.

Threatening to charge extra fees and report consumers to credit
reporting agencies: As a matter of corporate policy, ACE’s debt collectors,
whether in-house or third-party, cannot charge collection fees and cannot report
non-payment to credit reporting agencies. The collectors, however, told
consumers all of these would occur or were possible.

Harassing consumers with collection calls: Some ACE in-house and third-
party collectors abused and harassed consumers by making an excessive number
of collection calls. In some of these cases, ACE repeatedly called the consumers’
employers and relatives and shared the details of the debt.

Pressured into Payday Cycle of Debt
The Bureau found that ACE used these illegal debt collection tactics to create a false
sense of urgency to lure overdue borrowers into payday debt traps. ACE would
encourage overdue borrowers to temporarily pay off their loans and then quickly re-
borrow from ACE. Even after consumers explained to ACE that they could not afford to
repay the loan, ACE would continue to pressure them into taking on more debt.
Borrowers would pay new fees each time they took out another payday loan from ACE.
The Bureau found that ACE’s creation of the false sense of urgency to get delinquent
borrowers to take out more payday loans is abusive.

ACE’s 2011 training manual has a graphic illustrating this cycle of debt. According to
the graphic, consumers begin by applying to ACE for a loan, which ACE approves. Next,
if the consumer “exhausts the cash and does not have the ability to pay,” ACE “contacts
the customer for payment or offers the option to refinance or extend the loan.” Then,
when the consumer “does not make a payment and the account enters collections,” the
cycle starts all over again—with the formerly overdue borrower applying for another
payday loan.

The ACE cycle-of-debt training manual graphic is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_graphic_ace-cash-express-loan-
process.pdf

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. The CFPB’s order requires ACE to take the following actions:

Pay $5 million in consumer refunds: ACE must provide $5 million in
refunds to the overdue borrowers harmed by the illegal debt collection tactics
during the period covered by the order. These borrowers will receive a refund of
their payments to ACE, including fees and finance charges. ACE consumers will
be contacted by a third-party settlement administrator about how to make a claim
for a refund.

End illegal debt collection threats and harassment: The order requires
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ACE to ensure that it will not engage in unfair and deceptive collections practices.
Those practices include, but are not limited to, disclosing debts to unauthorized
third parties; directly contacting consumers who are represented by an attorney;
and falsely threatening to sue consumers, report to credit bureaus, or add
collection fees.

Stop pressuring consumers into cycles of debt: ACE’s collectors will no
longer pressure delinquent borrowers to pay off a loan and then quickly take out a
new loan from ACE. The Consent Order explicitly states that ACE may not use any
abusive tactics.

Pay a $5 million fine:ACE will make a $5 million penalty payment to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the Bureau’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_consent-order_ace-cash-
express.pdf

CFPB takes complaints about payday loans. To submit a complaint, consumers can:

Go online at consumerfinance.gov/complaint
Call the toll-free phone number at 1-855-411-CFPB (2372) or TTY/TDD phone
number at 1-855-729-CFPB (2372)
Fax the CFPB at 1-855-237-2392
Mail a letter to: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, P.O. Box 4503, Iowa City,
Iowa 52244

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICI' OF FLORIDA 

WEST PALM BEACH DIVISION 

cAsE No. It:.;{!. ~B.d/31· ColiN jsaTz,tX...-

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU and THE STATE OF FLORIDA, 
Office of the Attorney General, Department of · I 
Legal Affairs, I 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

MICHAEL HARPER, an individual; BENN 
WILLCOX, an individual; MARC HOFFMAN, 
an individual; THE HOFFMAN LAW GROUP, 
P.A. f/k/a THE RESIDENTIAL LITIGATION 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

GROUP, P.A., a Florida corporation; I 
NATIONWIDE MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS, I 
LLC, a Florida limited liability company; - I 
LEGAL INTAKE SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Florida I 
limited liability company; FILE INTAKE I 
SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Florida limited liability- I 
company; and BM MARKETING GROUP, I 
LLC, a Florida limited liability company, I 

Defendants. 
I 
I 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION 
AND OTHER RELIEF 

(FILED UNDER TEMPORARY SEAL)t 

JUL 1 4 20t4 
STEVEN M. lARIMORE 
CLERK U.S. OIST. CT. 
S.D. OF FlA . • W.P.B. 

Plaintiffs, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the State of Florida, 

allege: 

1 Motion to Seal filed concurrently. 
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SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 

1. In the midst of America's foreclosure crisis, an illicit industry of mortgage 

modification scams began making money by charging distressed homeowners upfront 

fees on the promise that they could obtain mortgage modifications for those 

homeowners, often doing little to nothing to actually assist the homeowners, To combat 

this practice, many states, including Florida, enacted laws to prohibit these schemes, 

and federal regulators further enhanced these laws by making it illegal in every state for 

mortgage assistance relief providers to charge homeowners a fee for mortgage 

modification services before actually obtaining mortgage modifications for those 

homeowners. 12 C.F.R. Part 1015 (2012). 

2. Since at least early 2012, an enterprise operating in the name of the 

Hoffman Law Group (the "HLG Enterprise") has generated millions of dollars in illegal 

upfront fees by convincing consumers to pay for the opportunity to be included as a 

plaintiff in so-called "mass-joinder" lawsuits against their mortgage lenders. This 

enterprise induces consumers to enroll by falsely promising that the lawsuits will induce 

banks to give the consumers mortgage modifications or foreclosure relief. 

3. Run by veterans of mortgage modification schemes, the HLG Enterprise 

uses these promises to convince consumers to pay fees before the HLG Enterprise 

obtains, or even tries to obtain, mortgage modifications for the consumers it signs up. 

4· The HLG Enterprise charges consumers varying amounts, typically a 

$6,ooo initial payment, followed by a $495 monthly fee. 

5. In reality, defendants do little or nothing to actually assist consumers. 

Rather, in numerous instances, they have directed consumers to avoid interactions with 

their lenders or servicers and, in some instances, instructed consumers to stop making 
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their mortgage payments. When consumers discover that the HLG Enterprise has never 

even contacted their lenders on their behalf, many find themselves in default and some 

have lost their properties through foreclosure. 

6. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, an agency created by 

Congress in 2010 and charged with protecting consumers from financial industry 

misconduct, and the Attorney General of the State of Florida, bring this action to halt 

the HLG Enterprise's scam, to hold the individuals who run the Enterprise accountable, 

and to provide redress for the injuries to consumers thatthe Enterprise has caused. 

7· More specifically, the plaintiffs bring this action under (1) Sections 1054 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564, and 

5565; and (2) Section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009 (as amended by 

Section 1097 of the CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and its implementing regulation, the 

Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule, 12 C.F.R. Part 1015 (2012) ("Regulation 0"). 

Florida asserts further claims under the Florida Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act ("FDUTPA"), Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes and other state laws. 

8. Regulation 0 requires providers of mortgage assistance relief services to 

make certain disclosures, such as that the business is not affiliated with the government 

and thatthe consumer may reject any proposed modification. It also prohibits these 

providers from making certain representations, such as that a consumer is not obligated 

to continue making his mortgage payments. And Regulation 0 generally prohibits 

mortgage assistance relief service providers from collecting an advance fee for such 

services. See 12 C.F.R. Part 1015. 

9· The plaintiffs support consumers' right to challenge alleged fraud by 

mortgage lenders or servicers. But regardless of the underlying merits of the consumers' 
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claims in the mass-joinder lawsuits that the HLG Enterprise files, it should not be 

allowed to violate the law in the process of recruiting consumers to join those lawsuits. 

10. The HLG Enterprise has misled thousands of homeowners nationwide and 

as a result, has pocketed well over $5 million. In this action, the plaintiffs seek an order 

permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in their illicit business practices, 

granting restitution for affected consumers, imposing civil penalties, and granting all 

other relief available under the CFPA, Regulation 0, and FDUTP A. This will make 

Defendants' victims whole again and will prevent the HLG enterprise from causing the 

same harm to other homeowners. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

"brought under Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U .S.C. § 1345. 

12. Tn addition, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, this Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over the separate state law claims asserted by Florida in this action because 

those claims are so related to the claims asserted by the Bureau and Florida under -

Regulation 0 that they form part of the same case or controversy. Those claims also 

arise out of the same transactions or occurrences as the claims brought by the Bureau 

under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564, 5565, and by Florida under 12 U.S.C. § 5538(b) and 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.10 (2012). 

13. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(£) because a substantial part of the events or omissions and course of conduct 
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giving rise to the claims set forth in this Complaint occurred in this district (specifically 

Palm Beach County). 

PARTIES 

14. The Bureau is an independent agency ofthe United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

federal consumer financial laws, including Regulation 0. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12)(Q), (14), 

5491(a), 5538. 

15. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by 

its own attorneys, to enjoin violations of Regulation 0, and to secure su.ch relief as may 

be appropriate in each case. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5565. This includes the rescission 

or reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, and civil money penalties. !d. § ss6s(a)(2). 

16. The State of Florida's Office of the Attorney General is an enforcing 

authority of FDUTPA, and Section 812.14, Florida Statutes. The State of Florida has 

conducted an inve.stigation of the matters alleged herein, and the head of the enforcing 

authority, Attorney General Pamela Jo Bondi, has determined that this enforcement 

action serves the public interest. 

17. The State of Florida is authorized to bring this action and to seek 

injunctive and other statutory relief to enforce Regulation 0 under 12 U.S.C. § 5538(b) 

and 12 C.F.R. § 1015.10 (2012). 

18. As an enforcing authority under FDUTPA, the Office of the Attorney 

General is authorized to pursue this action to enjoin FDUTPA violations and to obtain 

legal, equitable, or other appropriate relief, including restitution, the refund of monies 
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paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, civil penalties, and other relief as may be 

appropriate pursuant to Sections 501.207, 501.2075, and 501.2077, Florida Statutes. 

19. Defendant Michael Harper is an individual who, directly and through the 

HLG Enterprise, offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance 

relief services, as defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

20. Harper, a non-attorney resident of North Palm Beach, Florida, within this 

District, is the HLG Enterprise's most senior manager. He materially participates in the 

conduct of the enterprise's affairs. 

21. At all times material to this complaint, Harper transacts or has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

22. Defendant Benn Willcox is an individual who, directly and through the 

HLG Enterprise, offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance 

relief services, as defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

23. Willcox, a non-attorney resident of Jupiter, Florida, within this District, 

manages and controls the HLG Enterprise's bank accounts. He has managerial 

responsibility for the enterprise and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs. 

24. At all times material to this complaint, Willcox transacts or has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

25. Defendant Marc Hoffman is an individual who, directly and through the 

HLG Enterprise, offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance 

relief services, as defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

26. Hoffman, a resident of Boca Raton, Florida, within this District, is an 

attorney licensed to practice in Florida and the District of Columbia and is the President 
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of the Hoffman Law Group. He is the enterprise's front man, has managerial 

responsibility for HLG, and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs. 

. 27. At all times material to this complaint, Hoffman transacts c;>r has 

transacted business in the Southern District of Florida. 

28. Defendant The Hoffman Law Group, P.A. ("HLG"), is a Florida 

corporation formed by Hoffman as "The Residential Litigation Group, P.A." on or about 

April16, 2012 and renamed "The Hoffman Law Group, P.A." on or about November 26, 

2012. Its current address is 860 US Highway 1, Suite 206, North Palm Beach, Florida, 

but it has also purported to do business at 2200 Pennsylvania Ave NW, 4th Floor, 

Washington, DC. The centerpiece ofth~ enterprise, HLG is part of a common enterprise 

that offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief 

services, as defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

29. At all times material to this complaint, HLG transacts or has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

30. Defendant Nationwide Management Solutions, LLC is a Florida limited 

liability company formed by Harper and Willcox on April26, 2012. Its current address is 

86o US Highway 1, Suite 209, North Palm Beach, Florida. Operating the human 

resources side of the enterprise, it is part of a common enterprise that offers, provides, 

or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, as defined in 

Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

31. At all times material to this complaint, it transacts or has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

32. Defendant Legal Intake Solutions, LLC is a Florida limited liability 

company formed by Harper and Willcox on November 3, 2011. It.s current address is 
·,~ 
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86o US Highway 1, Suite 205, North Palm Beach, Florida. As one of the companies that 

solicits consumers for the enterprise, it is part of a common enterprise that offers, 

provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, as 

defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

33· At all times material to this complaint, Defendant Legal Intake Solutions 

transacts or has transacted business in the Southern District of Florida. 

34. Defendant File Intake Solutions, LLC is a Florida limited liability company 

formed by Harper and Willcox on July 16, 2013. Its current address is 860 US Highway 

1, Suite 205, North Palm Beach, Florida. It also solicits consumers for the enterprise, 

and is part of a common enterprise that offers, provides, or arranges for others to 

provide mortgage assistance relief services, as defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 

1015.2. 

35· At all times material to this complaint, Defendant File Intake Solutions 

transacts or has transacted business in the Southern District of Florida. 

36. Defendant BM Marketing Group is a Florida limited liability company 

formed by Harper on October 18, 2012. Its current address is 860 US Highway 1, Suite 

205, North Palm Beach, Florida. BM Marketing Group funnels the enterprise's profits to 

non-attorneys Harper and Willcox. In so doing, it is part of a common enterprise that 

offers, provides, or arranges for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, as 

defined in Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

37. At all times material to this complaint, it transacts or has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Florida. 

38. Together, Defendants have engaged in an ongoing, illicit mortgage relief 

scheme that preys on homeowners nationwide. As pleaded more specifically below, 
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Harper, Willcox, and Hoffman operate the corporate Defendants as a common 

enterprise in order to carry out this scheme. At all times material to this Complaint, 

Harper, Willcox, and Hoffman have materially participated in the conduct of the 

enterprise's affairs, including the development and approval of the purported mortgage 

assistance relief services complained of herein. Harper, Willcox and Hoffman are 

intimately familiar with and direct the enterprise's operations, including its purported 

mortgage assistance relief services, and knew of and approved all of the practices 

described in this Complaint. 

DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PRACTICES 

DEFENDANTS RELY ON A DECEPTIVE SALES SCHEME 

39· To induce consumers to purchase its services, the HLG Enterprise uses 

various marketing methods, including but not limited to websites, mailers, television 

advertisements, and outbound telemarketing calls. 

40. Through these advertisements, Defendants claim that they will include 

consumers in mass-joinder lawsuits and represent to consumers that this will help them 

get mortgage modifications and relief from foreclosure. The HLG Enterprise targets 

consumers throughout the United States who are in financial distress, behind on their 

mortgage loans, or in danger of losing their homes to foreclosure. 

41. Defendants' advertisements suggest that they can help consumers get a 

reduction or forgiveness of their mortgage loan, reduce interest rates, and stop 

foreclosure. 

42. Defendants have falsely claimed or implied that they have multiple 

attorneys on staff with significant experience litigating complex civil cases and that the 
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mass-joinder cases have a high likelihood of resulting in the consumer receiving a loan 

modification with favorable terms. 

43. Consumers who respond to the HLG Enterprise's marketing efforts have 

home mortgage loans, and typically are having difficulty making their monthly 

payments. 

44. Consumers who call the toll-free numbers listed on the advertisements 

speak with Defendants' telephone sales representatives. Defendants also employ an 

outbound telemarketing operation in order to get consumers on the phone with one of 

their sales representatives. 

45· Defendants tell consumers that the HLG Enterprise can help consumers 

obtain loan modifications that substantially lower consumers' monthly m01tgage 

payments or interest rates by including the consumers in mass-joinder lawsuits in 

exchange for an advance fee. 

46. The HLG Enterprise charges consumers a varying upfront fee, but their 

typical fee is a $6,ooo initial fee, which may be broken into 4-6 monthly payments. The 

enterprise typically charges consumers $495 per month after they pay the $6,ooo initial 

fee. 

47. The HLG Enterprise also tells consumers that HLG works on a 

contingency basis. They claim th~t they will charge 30% of any recove1y from a lawsuit 

and that any upfront fees that a consumer has paid will be·credited to that 30%. 

48. In numerous instances, Defendants have discouraged consumers from 

. communicating directly with their lenders or servicers and claimed that they will handle 

all communications with consumers' lenders and servicers. 
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49. In numerous instances, the HLG Enterprise has encouraged consumers to 

stop making mortgage payments, and in some instances told consumers that 

delinquency will demonstrate the consumers' hardship to the consumers' lenders. In 

those instances, Defendants do not disclose that if consumers stop making mortgage 

payments, they could lose their homes and damage their credit ratings. 

so. Many of Defendants' solicitations fail to make disclosures required by law, 

including that: 

• The consumer may stop doing business with Defendants or reject an 

offer of mortgage assistance, if one is made, without having to pay for 

the services; 

• Defendants' companies are not associated with the government or 

approved by the government or the consumer's lender; and 

• Even if the consumer uses the HLG Enterprise's service, the 

consumer's lender may not agree to modify the loan. 

51. Where Defendants' solicitations make any of these disclosures, Defendants 

fail to make the disclosures in a clear and prominent manner: They are not preceded by 

the heading "IMPORTANT NOTICE" and they are made in a font size that is smaller 

than 12 point type. 

THE HLG ENTERPRISE DOES NOT OBTAIN THE 
PROMISED MODIFICATION AND CAUSES CONSUMER INJURY 

52. After consumers pay Defendant's upfront fees, Defendants in most, if not 

all, instances fail to obtain a loan modification, substantially reduce consumers' 

mortgage payments, or stop foreclosure. 
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53. One of Defendants' major selling points to consumers has been to tout that 

lenders will be more willing to negotiate with HLG because they are filing litigation with 

a voluminous number of plaintiffs. In some instances, Defendants do file the promised 

mass-joinder litigation on behalf of some clients. But, beginning in March 2013, courts 

began-dismissing claims and severing all but the first-named plaintiffs from these 

actions. Nevertheless, even after March 2013, Defendants continued to rely on the mass

joinder theory to solicit new clients, knowing that this tactic has been continually 

rejected by the courts. 

54· After consumers pay their upfront fees and become clients, the HLG 

Enterprise often fails to answer or return their telephone calls and emails and fails to 

provide updates to the clients. 

55. When the clients are able to reach the HLG Enterprise, they are told that 

Defendants are making progress and that the clients should continue paying upfront 

fees. 

56. In many instances, the litigation is dismissed or the client is dropped from 

the action. In those instances, Defendants have failed to provide accurate information 

to their clients and spin the dismissals as a positive development, in order to induce the 

consumer to continue pay the monthly maintenance fees for participation in the 

litigation. 

57· Because they believe that the HLG Enterprise is working on their cases, 

many consumers postpone or forego seeking other relief that may be available to them, 

such as working directly with their lender, using a HUD-certi:fied non-profit housing 

counselor, or entering foreclosure mediation. 

12 



58. Consumers who pay the HLG Enterprise's upfront fees suffer significant 

... 
economic InJUry. 

THE HLG ENTERPRISE CONTINUES TO VIOLATE 
THE LAW EVEN AFfERACTION BYLAW ENFORCEMENT 

59.. Defendant Harper set up the HLG Enterprise despite having entered an 

Assurance ofVoluntary Compliance ("AVC") with the State of Florida (attached as 

Exhibit 1), individually and as manager of Nation's Choice Financial Solutions, LLC, in 

2009 for violation of FDUTPA and Section 501.1377, Florida Statutes, which relates to 

foreclosure-related rescue services. In the AVC, Harper assures that, among other 

things, he will not "engage, involve, or compensate Florida attorneys or out of state 

attorneys, to provide legal services to Florida homeowners for mortgage foreclosure 

defense and/ or foreclosure related services in violation of The Florida Bar rules" or 

Section 877.02, Florida Statutes. 

60. The HLG Enterprise has continued to operate even after receiving Cease 

and Desist Orders from state regulators in Idaho and New Mexico (attached as Exhibits 

2 and3). 

61. The Idaho Order directs the Hoffman Law Group (then going by the name 

"the Residential Litigation Group") to immediately cease and desist from "engaging in 

advertising that is misleading, confusing, and deceptive." 

62. The New Mexico Order directs Hoffman and the Residential Litigation 

Group to immediately cease and desist from, among other things, violating Regulation 0 

or offering mortgage relief services as defined therein. 
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ROLE OF CORPORATE DEFENDANTS 
AS A COMMON ENTERPRISE 

63. Individual defendants Harper, Willcox, and Hoffman, operate their 

scheme by using the corporate defendants as a common enterprise. 

64. Indeed, each of the corporations exists to participate in the same mortgage 

assistance relief operation: 

• The Hoffman Law Group files the mass joinder lawsuits and gives consumers 

the impression of a legitimate law firm; 

• N ation~de Management Solutions runs the human resources side of the 

enterprise and helps to funnel revenue to non-attorneys, including Harper 

and Willcox; 

• Legal Intake Solutions and File Intake Solutions are the telemarketing boiler 

rooms that convince consumers to pay HLG's fees, with substantial amounts 

of the money raised by those fees used to fund the telemarketing operation; 

and 

• BM Marketing Group funnels the final profits to Harper and Willcox by first 

passing consumer fees through HLG's various accounts, then through 

Nationwide Management Solutions' various accounts, and then to BM 

Marketing Group. 

65. The companies in the enterprise co mingle finances. For instance, 

Nationwide Management Solutions has paid the rent for other companies in the 

enterprise. 
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66. The companies in the enterprise share a common address, operating out of 

a series of suites within the same building, and employees come and go between the 

suites multiple times per day. 

67. The companies also have shared employees. For instance, at least nine 

employees have received paychecks from multiple businesses in the enterprise. 

68. The corporate Defendants operate under the common control of Harper, 

Willcox, and Hoffman. These three individual defendants control the activities of each of 

the companies in the enterprise. 

69. The companies in the enterprise all exist for the single purpose of selling 

consumers mortgage assistance relief services and splitting the profits among the 

individual defendants; none of the companies has any other apparent business purpose. 

REGUlATION 0 

70. ·In 2010, the Federal Trade Commission promulgated the MARS Rule to 

prohibit unfair and deceptive acts and practices 'With respect to mortgage loan or 

foreclosure relief services. 16 C.P.R. Part 322. In the CFPA, Congress transferred 

rulemaking authority over the MARS Rule to the Bureau, which recodified the Rule as 

12 C.F.R. Part 1015, and designated it "Regulation 0." The Bureau has authority to 

enforce Regulation 0, as well as the prior MARS Rule, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a), 

5564. (References below to "Regulation 0" encompass both Regulation 0 and the MARS 

Rule.) The State of Florida has authority to enforce Regulation 0 under 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5538(b) and 12 C.F.R. § 1015.10 (2012). 

71. Regulation 0 defines "mortgage assistance relief service" as "any service, 

plan, or program, offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for consideration, 

that is represented, expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt to assist the 
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consumer with ... [n]egotiating, obtaining, or arranging a modification of any term of a 

dwelling loan, including a reduction in the amount of interest, principal balance, 

monthly payments, or fees." 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2012). 

72. Regulation 0 defines "mortgage assistance relief service provider" as "any 

person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any mortgage 

assistance relief service," other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a dwelling 

loan, or any agent or contractor of the lender or servicer. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2012). 

73· Defendants are "mortgage assistance relief service provider[s]" engaged in 

· the provision of "mortgage assistance relief services" as those terms are defined in 

Regulation 0. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2012). 

74· Regulation 0 prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider 

from requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the 

consumer has executed a written agreement between the consumer and the consumer's 

loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained from the 

loan holder or servicer. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2012). 

75. Regulation 0 further prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service 

provider from representing, expressly or by implication, in connection with the offering 

or performance of such a service, that a consumer cannot or should not contact or 

communicate with his or her lender or servicer. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(a) (2012). 

76. Regulation 0 further prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service 

provider from misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, the consumer's obligation 

to make scheduled periodic payments or any other payments pursuant to the terms of 

the consumer's dwelling loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(4) (2012). 
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77· Regulation 0 requires any mortgage assistance relief service provider, in 

every general commercial communication, as defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2, to disclose 

that: (1) the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not 

approved by the government or the consumer's lender; and (2) in cases where the 

provider has represented, expressly or by implication, that consumers will receive 

certain services or results, a statement disclosing that the consumer's lender may not 

agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer uses the provider's service. 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(a)(1)-(2) (2012). Regulation 0 requires these disclosures to be placed in a "clear 

and prominent manner,'' and when made in textual communications, they must "be 

preceded by the heading 'IMPORTANT NOTICE,' which must be in bold face font that is 

two point-type larger than the font size of the required disclosures." When made orally 

or through other audible means, "the required disclosures must be preceded by the 

statement 'Before using this service, consider the following information." 12 C.F.R. § 

1015.4(a)(3) (2012). 

78. Regulation 0 further requires any mortgage assistance relief service 
( 

provider, in every consumer-specific commercial communication, as defined by 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.2, to disclose: (1) that the consumer may stop doing business with the 

provider or reject an offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services; 

(2) that the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not 

approved by the government or the consumer's lender; and (3) in cases where the 

provider has represented, expressly or by implication, that consumers will receive 

certain services or results, that the consumer's lender may not agree to modify a loan, 

even if the cpnsumer uses the provider's service. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1)-(3) (2012). 

Regulation 0 requires these disclosures to be placed in a "clear and prominent manner," 
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and when· made in textual communications, must "be preceded by the heading 

"IMPORTANT NOTICE," which must be in bold face font that is two point-type larger 

than the font size of the required disclosures." When made orally or through other 

audible means, "the required disclosures must be preceded by the statement "Before 

using this service, consider the following information" and, in telephone 

communications, must be made at the beginning of the call." 12 C.P.R.§ 1015.4(b)(4) 

(2012). 

79· Regulation 0 defines "clear and prominent manner," as used in the 

disclosure requirements listed above, as requiring the textual disclosures to be made in, 

"at a minimum, the larger of 12-point type or one-half the size of the largest letter or 

numeral used in the name of the advertised Web site or telephone number to which 

consumers are referred." 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2012). 

So. Regulation 0 requires any mortgage assistance relief service provider, in 

cases where the provider has represented, in connection with the offering or 

performance of such a service, that the consumer should temporarily or permanently 

discontinue payments on a dwelling loan, to clearly and prominently state in close 

proximity to any such representation that the consumer could lose his or her home and 

damage his or her credit rating if the consumer stops paying the mortgage. 12 C.F .R. § 

1015-4(c) (2012). 

81. Regulation 0 further provides that it is a violation "for a person to provide 

substantial assistance or support to any mortgage assistance relief service provider 

when that person knows or consciously avoids knowing that the provider is engaged in 

any act or practice that violates" the rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.6 (2012). 
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82. Under section 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, a violation of 

Regulation 0 constitutes an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the CFPA, 

in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION 0 

COUNT I 
(Advance Fees in Violation of Regulation 0) 

(Asserted by all plaintiffs against all defendants) 

83. The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

84. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to 

provide mortgage assistance relief services, the defendants have asked for or received 

payment from consumers before those consumers have executed a written agreement 

with the loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer obtained by the defendants, 

in violation of Regulation 0, 12 C.F~R. § 1015.5(a) (2012). 

COUNT II 
(Representations in Violation of Regulation 0) 

(Asserted by all plaintiffs against all defendants) 

85. The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 82 of this complaint are incorporated 

here by reference. 

86. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to 

provide mortgage assistance relief services, the defendants have engaged in 

representing, expressly or by implication, that a consumer should not contact or 

communicate with his or her lender or servicer, in violation of Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. 

, § 1015.3(a) (2012). 
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COUNT III 
(Misrepresentations in Violation of Regulation 0) 
(Asserted by all plaintiffs against all defendants) 

87. The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

88. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to 

provide mortgage assistance relief services, the defendants have engaged in 

misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, material aspeCts of their services, 

including, but not limited to, misrepresenting consumers' obligation to make scheduled 

periodic payments or any other payments pursuant to the terms of their dwelling loans, 

in violation of Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(4) (2012). 

COUNT IV 
(Failure to Mal'e Certain Disclosures in Violation of Regulation 0) 

(Asserted by all plaintiffs against all defendants) 

89. The allegations in paragraphs 1- 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

90. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to 

provide mortgage assistance relief services, the defendants: 

a) violated Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(1),(2), by failing to make 

the following disclosures in all general commercial communications in 

a clear and prominent manner -

o "[The Hoffman Law Group] is not associated with the 

government, and our service is not approved by the government 

or your lender;" and 

o "Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan;" 
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b) violated Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4Cb )(1),(2),(3), by failing to 

make the following disclosures in all consumer-specific commercial 

communications in a clear and prominent manner -

o "You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may 

accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from 

your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the offer, you do not have 

to pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert 

amount or method for calculating the amount) for our services;" 

o "[The Hoffman Law Group] is not associated with the 

government, and our service is not approved by the government 

or your lender;" and 

o "Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan;" and 

c) violated Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015-4(c), by failing to make the 

following disclosure in all communications in cases where Defendants 

have represented, expressly or by implication, in connection with the 

advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or 

performance of any mortgage assistance relief service, that the 

consumer should temporarily or permanently discontinue payments, in 

whole or in part, on a dwelling loan, clearly and prominently, and in 

close proximity to any such representation: "If you stop paying your 

mortgage, you could lose your home and damage your credit rating." 
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VIOlATIONS OF FLORIDA STATE LAW 

COUNTV 
(Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices) 

(Asserted by Florida against all Defendants) 

91. The allegations in paragraphs 1- 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

92. Section 501.204(1) of the Florida Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act, Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes, states that "unfair methods of competition, 

unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct 

of any trade of commerce are hereby declared unlawful." 

93. A person that willfully engages in a deceptive or unfair act or practice is 

liable for a civil penalty of $10,000 for each such violation; willful violations occur when 

the person knew or should have known that the conduct in question was deceptive or 

unfair or prohibited by rule, Section 501.2075, Florida Statutes. 

94. Section 501.203(8), Florida Statutes, defines "trade or commerce" as: 

... the advertising, soliciting, providing, offering, or distributing, 
whether by sale, rental, or otherwise, of any good or service, or any 
prope~y, whether tangible or intangible, or any other article, 
commodity, or thing of value, wherever situated. "Trade or 
commerce" shall include the conduct of any trade or commerce, 
however denominated, including any nonprofit or not-for-profit 
person or activity. 

95· At all times material hereto, Defendants have engaged in "trade or 

commerce" as defined by Section 501.203(8), Florida Statutes. 

96. At all times material hereto, Defendants have engaged in deceptive, unfair, · 

and unconscionable acts that included but are not limited to designing, creating, and 

sending out to consumers direct mail pieces, and maintaining websites that contained 

misleading information that have given consumers the impression that Defendants' 
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proposed mass-joinder litigation would be able to help homeowners who are having 

difficulty making their monthly payment to negotiate their mortgage terms and/ or to 

stop and resolve residential foreclosure proceedings. 

97· Defendants Harper, Willcox, and Hoffman have directed or controlled, or 

have had the authority to direct and control, the practices engaged in by the HLG 

Enterprise. The false and misleading p~ddling of inclusion in mass-joinder lawsuits by 

Defendants concerns the "providing . .. of any ... service," which is specifically defined 

as trade or commerce by Section 501.203, Florida Statutes. 

98. Defendants have willfully engaged in the acts and practices when they 

have known or should have known that such acts and practices are unfair or deceptive 

or otherwise prohibited by law. 

99. These above-described acts and practices of Defendants have substantially 

injured and will likely continue to injure and prejudice the-public. Further, these 

substantial injuries are not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or 

competition, and are not injuries that the consumers themselves could have reasonably 

avoid~d. 

100. Unless Defendants are permanently enjoined from engaging further in the 

acts and practices complained of herein, Defendants' actions will result in irreparable 

injury to the public for which there is no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT VI 
(Civil Theft) 

(Asserted by Florida against all defendants) 

101. The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 82 are incorporated here by reference. 
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102. Section 812.014(1), Florida Statutes, states that a person commits theft if 

he or she knowingly obtains or uses the property of another with the intent to deprive 

another person of a right to property and appropriate the property to his or her own use 

or to the use of any person not entitled to the use of the property. 

103. Defendants have collected millions of dollars from consumers around the 

country to obtain legal and mortgage assistance relief services under the guise that the 

litigation has a high likelihood of resulting in a modification of mortgage terms 

favorable to the consumer, which Defendants knew or should have known to be untrue. 

104. Defendants have failed to inform and/or misinformed clients who have 

been listed as plaintiffs in mass-joinder actions about the status of their cases, the 

consequences of the respective court rulings (such as dismissal or being severed), and 

the likelihood of obtaining the desired relief (a loan modification) through the litigation 

in order to induce the clients to keep paying monthly fees to contiime to participate in 

the litigation. 

105. Upon information and belief, Defendants have not removed clients as 

plaintiffs in filed mass-joinder litigation for failure to pay monthly fees. Yet they 

indicate to currently paying clients that they will be removed from the litigation if they 

stop paying the monthly fee, and numerous clients have continued to pay the monthly 

fees based upon those representations. 

106. Defendants Harper, Willcox, and Hoffman, have directed and controlled, 

or had the authority to direct and control, the practices engaged in by the HLG 

Enterprise. 

107. Defendants have known or should have known that they cannot legally 

provide these services to clients of the Hoffman Law Group. 
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108. The litigation services purportedly offered by Defendants through the HLG 

Enterprise will not provide the promised results to Hoffman Law Group clients. In fact, 

the litigation is being filed with the knowledge that the vast majority of the claims will be 

severed or dismissed. When claims are dismissed and plaintiffs are severed, the HLG 

Enterprise then continually re-files the same or simi~ar litigation (or at least leads the 

consumer to believe they are re-filing the litigation) to induce the clients to continue 

paying their monthly fees so that they can remain in the mass-joinder litigation. 

109. The monies collected by Defendants are obtained with the intent to 

deprive the victims of the money and are appropriated for the use of Defendants and 

others not entitled to the funds. 

110. Section 812.035(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes Plaintiff to seek relief for 

violations of Section 812.041, Florida Statutes, including ordering a defendant to divest 

himself of any interest in any enterprise and imposing reasonable restrictions on the 

future activities or investments of any defendant. 

111. . Defendants' actions have deprived numerous consumers of the monies 

paid for services that were never rendered, and all such consumers are entitled to full 

restitution from Defendants. 

COUNT VII 
(Violation of Assurance ofVoluntary Compliance) 
(Asserted by Florida against Defendant Harper) 

112. The allegations in paragraphs 1 - 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

113. In Paragraph 2 ~ 8 of the AVC (attached as Exhibit 1) with the Florida 

Attorney General, relating to the investigation ofNatibns Choice Financial Solutions, 

LLC, Defendant Harper agreed that he would not "engage, involve, or compensate 

Florida attorneys or out of state attorneys, to provide legal services to Florida 
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homeowners for mortgage foreclosure defense and/or foreclosure related services in 

violation of The Florida Bar rules or Florida Statute 877.02." 

114. The HLG Enterprise has sold legal services to consumers around the 

country, including Florida, and promised mortgage assistance relief services. The HLG 

Enterprise has engaged in numerous violations of the Florida Bar Rules, and has 

compensated Hoffman, as well as other out of state attorneys to provide legal services 

for mortgage foreclosure defense and/ or foreclosure related services. 

115. Defendant Harper failed to comply with the terms of the AVC, which is 

prima facie evidence of a FDUTPA violation,' pursuant to Section 501.207(6) Florida 

Statutes and Section IV of the AVC. 

116. By violating the terms of the AV~, Defendant Harper engaged in unfair 

and deceptive acts and practices in the conduct of trade or commerce in violation of 

Section 501.204(1), Florida Statutes. 

117. Defendant's actions have resulted in damage to consumers. 

118. Plaintiff Florida is entitled to permanent injunctive relief without the 

necessity of showing that there is an irreparable injury to the public for which there is no 

adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT VIII 
(Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Through 

Violation of the Florida Telemarketing Act) 
{Asserted by Florida against Defendants Harper, 

Willcox, and File Intake Solutions, LLC) 

119. The ailegations in paragraphs 1- 82 are incorporated here by reference. 

120. On or about March 14, 2013, Defendants Harper and Willcox filed an 

application with the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services for 



licensure as a commercial telephone seller on behalf of Defendant File Intake Solutions, 

LLC. 

121. Defendants Harper and Willcox failed to truthfully answer all questions on 

the commercial telephone seller license filed on behalf of Defendant File Intake 

Solutions, LLC, including: 

• Under the section titled Occupation History, Defendants Harper and 

Willcox omitted their previous history working on behalf of the HLG 

Enterprise prior to the incorporation of File Intake Solutions, LLC. 

• Under the section of the application titled Previous Experience, 

Defendants Harper and Willcox claim to have "o months experience," 

when, in fact, both had significant experience in the foreclosure rescue 

industry. 

• Under the section Parents and Affiliates, Defendants Harper and 

Willcox omitted the other entities affiliated with the HLG Enterprise. 

• Under the section titled Officer 2, and in apparent reference to Harper, 

Defendants Harper and Willcox answered "no" to question 3, which 

asks, "Have you ever been subject to any litigation ... an assurance of 

voluntary compliance ... as the result of any action brought by a 

government agency?" In fact, Harper was party to an Assurance of 

Voluntary Compliance agreed to with the Attorney General as alleged 

in paragraphs 59 and 113 of this Complaint. 

• Under the section titled Salespersons, Defendants Harper and Willcox 

answered, "No salespersons listed." In fact, the HLG Enterprise has 
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employed numerous telemarketers who have sold consumer goods or 

services. 

• Under the section titled Question 12, Defendants Harper and Willcox 

answered, "We do not send any written material to any prospective or 

actual purchaser." In fact, the HLG Enterprise sends out numerous 

advertisements and documents pertaining to the prospective client's 

participation in the mass-joinder lawsuits peddled by the HLG 

Enterprise. 

122. Furthermore, Defendants conducted telemarketing activities on behalf of 

the HLG Enterprise for approximately two years prior to applying for the commercial 

telephone seller license. 

123. Section 501.203(3)( c), Florida Statutes, states that a violation of Chapter 

501, Part II, may be based on a violation of "[a]ny law, statute, rule, regulation, or 

ordinance which proscribes unfair methods of competition, or unfair, deceptive, or 

unconscionable acts or practices." 

124. Falsifying information on a commercial telephone seller application, in 

violation of Sections 501.616(4) and 501.623(4), Florida Statutes, offends established 

public policy and is substantially injurious to consumers, as well as competitors, and is 

therefore an unfair practice in violation of Section 501.204, Florida Statutes. 

125. Engaging in unlicensed commercial telephone sales, in violation of 

Sections 501.616(4) and 501.623(3), Florida Statutes, offends established public policy 

and is substantially injurious to consumers, as well as competitors, and is therefore an 

unfair practice in violation of Section 501.204, Florida Statutes. 
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126. These above-described acts and practices of Defendants Harper, Willcox, 

and File Intake Solutions, LLC, have substantially injured and will likely continue to 

substantially injure and prejudice the public. Further, these substantial injuries are not 

outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition, and are not 

injuries that the consumers themselves could have reasonably avoided. 

127. Unless the Defendants are permanently enjoined from engaging further in 

the acts and practices complained of herein, the Defendants' actions will result in 

irreparable injury to the public for which there is no adequate remedy at law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

128. Wherefore, Plaintiffs request that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of 

Regulation 0, the FDUTP A, the Florida Telemarketing Act, and acts of 

Civil Theft, and enter such other injunctive relief as appropriate; 

b. award restitution, jointly and severally, against Defendants in the 

amount of all unlawfully collected fees; 

c. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

d. award civil money penalties against Defendants; 

e. order the rescission or reformation of contracts where necessary to 

redress injury to consumers; 

f. award costs against Defendants; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

29 



Dated: July 14,. 2014 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau: 

Anthony Alexis, DC Bar #384545 
Acting Enforcement Director 

Ori Lev, DC Bar #452565 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Laurel Loomis Rimon, CA Bar #166148 lX:cy M:nt Director · 

· Zach Mason, WA Bar #4 7202 
S.D. Fla. Special Bar #A5501978 
(Email: zach.mason@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7508) 
Nelle Rohlich, WI Bar #1047522 
S.D. Fla. Special Bar #i\5501979 
(Email: nelle.rohlich@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7280) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: 202-435-7722 

And 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
The .State of Florida, 
Office of the Attorney General 
Department of Legal Affairs: 

Pamela Jo Bondi 
Attorney General 

Victoria A. Butler 
Attorney Supervisor /Bureau Chief 

Richard Sch' er, Ba · #74418 
richard.schiffer@myfloridalegal.com 
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Amanda Arnold Sansone, FL Bar # 587311 
amanda.sansone@myfloridalegal.com 
3507East Frontage Road #325 
Tampa, Florida 33607 
Phone: 813-287-7950 
Fax: 813-281-5515 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 

IN THE MATTER OF:' 

AG Case # L09-3-l081 

NATIONtS CHOICE FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, 
a Florida Corporation and JAMES P. ADORNA 
and MICHAEL HARPER, individuals 

Respondents. 

------------------------------------~' 
ASSURAN:CE OF VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE 

PURSUANT to the provisions of Chapter SOl, Part II, Florida Statutes, the Florida 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, the STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF 

LEGAL AFFAIRS, OFFICE OF THE ATIORNEY GENERAL, hereinafter referred to as the 

"Department'' caused an investigation to be made into the business practices of NA TION~s 

CHOICE FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Florida Limited Liability Corporation which 

presently conducts business in the state of Florida with a principal place of business at 500 

Gulf Stream Boulevard, Delray Beach, Florida 33483, and James P. Adorna, Principal owner of 

the business and Michael Harper) P1·incipal owner of the business, Nation's Choice Financial 

Solutions and are hereinafter referred to as "Respondents." 

IT · APPEARS THAT Respondents are prepared to enter into this Assurance of 

Voluntary Compliance, hereinafter '~AVC", without a.n admission that Respondents have vio1ated 

the law and for the purpose of resolution of this matter with the Department, and the Department, 

by and through the undersigned Assistant Attorney General, and the undersigned Director, 

Economic Crimes Division, being in agreement, does in this matter accept this AVC in 
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termination of this investigation, pursuant to Section 501.207(6), Florida Statutes, and by virtue 

of the authority vested in the Department by said statute. 

I. STIPULATED FACTS 

1.1 The Department has investigated allegations that Respondents are not fully 

compliant with provisions of Florida Statute 50 I.l377. 

1.2 Respondent offered services to Florida homeowners to assist with arranging an 

alternative payment plan, a temporary modification, forbearance, short sale, and /or a 

modification of loan with the homeowner's lender for the purposes of avoiding foreclosure 

and/or obtaining rates and payments affordable to the homeowner. 

1.3 Respondents and the Department desire to resolve all issues arising during the 

course of this investigation while pennitting the Respondent at least and additional ninety (90) 

days to work with lenders and continuing processing current clients' files. 

1.4 This A V C is based upon the stipulated facts set forth in Paragraphs 1.1 through 

1.3 above. This agreement is an agreement between Nation's Choice Financial Solutions, LLC 

and the Department. Unless any material misrepresentations ar~ contained herein the 

Department's further action is limited to actions for violations of the A VC. The Department shall 

not be estopped from taking further action in this matter should the facts described herein be 

shown to be incorrect in any material way, or the AVC not be complied witb in full. 

II. TERMS 

2.1 Respondents voluntarily ceased new business sales and have not solicited new 

business since AprillO, 2009. Respondents continue to process files for clients who contracted 

with and paid Respondents between October 1, 2008 and April 1 Ou'. 2009. 

2.2 Respondents and their representatives, agents, employees, successors. assigns or 
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any other person who acts under, by, through, or on behalf of Respondents, directly or indirectly, 

or through any corporate or other device, shall comply with the Florida Deceptive and Unfair 

Trade Practices Act, Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes. 

2.3 Respondents shall make the tenns and conditions of this A VC known to the 

Respondents) managers, members, officers, directors, and successors. 

2.4 Respondents shall not affect any change in any fonn of doing business or 

organizational identity as a method of avoiding the terms of this A VC. 

2.5 Nothing in this AVC shall be construed as a waiver of any private rights of any 

person or release of any private rights. causes of action, or remedies of any person against the 

Respondents. 

2.6 Florida Statute 501.1377, effective October 1, 2008, prohibits foreclosure-related 

rescue businesses from collecting payment from clients prior to the completion of contracted for 

foreclosure~related rescue services. The Department has received complaints from clients 

identified in Exhibit "A" and Respondents agree to refund clients identified in Exhibit A and in 

accordance with the spreadsheet Exhibit ~'A''. Further, the Respondents agree to the following: 
-

a. No Refund is required for any contracts signed or clients who engaged 

Respondent prior to October 1, 2008. 

b. No refund is required, if Respondents have completed the contracted 

foreclosure-related rescue services as of the date of signing of this AVC. 

c. No refund is required if within ninety (90) calendar days of the date of 

Respondents• signature to this AVC; Respondents complete the contracted foreclosure~related 

rescue services of those Florida consumers listed in Exhibit Band commencing thirty (30) 

calendar days after the execution of this AVC, Respondents provide the Department an update 
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each thirty (30) calendar days to identify the status of each client account included in Exhibit B. 

Exhibit B consists of those Florida consumers who have already contracted with and paid 

Respondents whose services are still pending at the time this A VC is executed. Completion may 

include, but is not limited to, whether the Respondents have received an offer from a consumer's 

lender to Temporary Modify a loan, forbearance upon a loan; develop a new repayment plan, 

create and/ engage in a short sale; modify a loan. Completion of services to a consumer is not 

necessarily contingent upon whether or not the consumer chooses to accept the offer from the 

lender. 

d. Respondents and the Department shall review client files listed in Exhibit B, 

ninety (90) days after the execution of this AVC to determine the status for each non completed 

file. At such time, it is at the Department's discretion whether Respondents will receive an 

extension to complete the loan modification services for consumers listed in Exhibit B. 

Regardless of whether the extension is given or not, each consumer listed in Exhibit B shall 

either be presented with a possible loan modification, a temporary modification~ forbearance 

agreement, repayment plan, short sale, modification or the consumer shall be fully refunded by 

Respondents. 

e. No refund is required if the Respondents have previously refunded the 

consumer in accordance with Respondents contract, communication and/or executed general 

release. 

2.7 Respondents further agree that th~y are strictly prohibited pursuant to this AVC 

from tmnsferring any monies or upfront fees from any former Nations Choice Financial 

Solutions clients or persuading any actual or prospective customer of Respondent to transition to 

or contract with any future business of Respondent. 
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2.8 Respondents shall not engage, involve or compensate Florida attomeys or out of 

state attorneys, to provide legal services to Florida homeowners for mortgage foreclosure 

defense and/or foreclosure related services in violation of The Florida Bar rules or Florida 

Statute 877.02 regarding the unlicensed practice of 1aw and referra\ fees. Nothing in this 

provision prohibits Respondent from engaging legal counsel for its own benefit and needs. 

2.9 Respondents shall not violate Florida Statute 501.1377 and any future violation of 

Florida Statute 501.1377, will be a violation of this AVC, which is by statute prima facie 

evidence of a violation of Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes, and will subject Respondents to 

any and a\l civil penalties and sancHons authorized by law, including attomey1s fees and costs 

2.10 Respondents have placed an acceptable disclaimer on the www.nationschoice.org 

website, which will run for a period 60 days after the effective date of this AVC, that alerts 

those visiting the site that Nation's Choice is no longer soliciting new applications and should 

existing clients need to inquire, consumers should contact the phone number posted on the above 

site. 

Ill. STIPULATED PAYMENT 

3.1 Upon partial execution of this A VC, Respondents agree to pay, a total of 

· $5000.00 (FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS) in the aggregate for attorneys' fees and costs. The 

below check. along with the AVC signed by Respondents and Respondents' attorney are to be 

delivered to Assistant Attomey General Samantha Schosberg Feuer, Office of the Attomey 

General, 1515 North Flagler Drive. Suite 900, West Palm Beach, Florida 33401. 

a)$ $12,623.00 ( T?/ELVE THOUSAND, SIX HUNDRED AND TWENTY~THREE 

DOLLARS) itt consumer restitution to be paid by Respondents to consumers identifi.ed in 
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Exhibit A, attached and incorporated herein, prior to the signing of this AVC and shall provide 

documentation, via a notarized affidavit and spreadsheet of these paymetlts, to Assistant 

Attorney General, Samantha Schosberg Feuer. Consumers who request refunds based upon 

conditions identified in paragraph 1.2 above will be refunded v,1thin thirty (30) calendar days of 

their request. After the 30 days, are finished, Respondents will provide the Department with a 

notarized affidavit attesting to the fact that aU of the identified consumers in Exhibit A have been 

refunded. The schedule referenced in Exhibit B will be maintained cun·ent to accurately reflect 

the status of consumer's file and Joan modification application, refunds and foreclosure-related 

service actions and those who require a refund under the terms of 2.6 of this Agreement shall 

receive one. 

b) Upon signing this AVC, Respondent will tender and additional deposit TWENTY 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($20,000.00) ("the Escrow Funds") in Respondents' attorney's escrow 

account for the purpose of making refunds to other eligible consumers who have not yet made 

contact with the Respondents or the Department, but come forward subsequent to the execution 

of the A VC seeking a refund for services with Respondents contracted prior to the execution of 

the A VC. Those who receive refunds out of the Escrow Funds will be at the sole discretion of 

the Department. Respondents' obligation to maintain the Escrow Funds for the purposes stated 

herein tenninates sixty (60) .days from the date this AVC is executed. following written 

confinnation from the Department regarding any pending new complaints. In the event actual 

restitution for future complainants exceeds the amount of the Escrow Funds, then the Escrow 

Funds will be distributed pro~rata to the complainants who come forward within the sixty (60) 

day period. and Respondents will have no further monetary obligation sald complainants and/or 

consumers pw·suant to this AVC, unless there is a violation of the tenus of this AVC. However, 
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no individual constuner will receive more than the amount they are actually owed. If there are 

any excess ftmds remaining after the distribution, those funds will be returned to the 

Respondents. 

3.2 Respondents interest in funds paid in conjunction with this AVC shall fully and 

completely divest when the AVC is fully executed by all parties, including the Deputy General. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this A VC, no portion of any funds, excepting Escrow 

Funds if all are not distributed, shall in any event be returned to Respondents provided that the 

AVC has been fully executed. 

3.3 Upon receipt of the partially executed AVC and accompanying Settlement Funds 

check, Samantha Schosberg Feuer will sign the AVC and then forward the A VC to the Deputy 

Attorney General, together with the aforementioned funds. The Deputy General has the final 

authority to approve or disapprove the entry of the AVC. Should the Deputy General or his 

authorhr,ed designee decline to authorize and execute this A VC, then all Settlement Funds, 

including escrowed funds, would be promptly returned to Respondents. 

3.4 In the event that a court of competentjudsdiction makes a determination that a 

violation of any condition ofthis AVC has occurred, then, Respondents shall be liable for 

damages, penalties, attorney's fees and costs as determined by the Court. 

IV EFFECTIVE DATE 

The Effective Date of this AVC is the date on which the A VC is fully executed by the 

parties. This will he the date that the A VC -is signed by the Deputy Attorney General or Division 

Director. The receipt of or deposit by the Department of any monies pursuant to this A VC does 

not constitute acceptance by said Department, and monies received will be returned if this A VC 

is not accepted. Upon entry of the A VC and upon full payment of restitution and attorneys fees, 
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the Attorney General agrees to close its investigation into the activities of Respondents. 

V. A VAILABL!TY OF RECORDS 

All of Respondents records must be retained for a minimum of two (2) years. 

Respondents shall maintain· and make available to the Department, upon its written request, all 

books, records and other documents which reflect the implementation of the te1ms of this A VC 

and compliance with its tetms. Any such records requested by the State shall be made available 

for inspection within twenty (20) business days. The Respondent shall honor any request from 

the State to make such records available without further legal process. 

VI. FUTURE VIOLATION§ 

IT IS HEREBY AGREED "by the parties that any failure to comply with the tenns and 

conditions of this AVC is by statute prima facie evidence of a violation of Chapter 501, Part II, 

Florida Statutes, and will subject Respondents to any and all civil penalties and sanctions 

authorized by Jaw~ including attorney's fees and costs. 

YII· A{:CEPT ANCE 

7.1 IT IS HEREBY AGREED by the parties that this AVC shall become effective 

upon its acceptance by the Director. Economic Crimes Division, who may refuse to accept it at 

her discretion. The receipt of or deposit by the Department of any monies pursuant to this AVC 

does not constitute acceptance by said Department, and monies received will be retumed if this 

A VC is not accepted. 

VIII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

8.1 The Attorney General has not approved any of Respondents past, current or 

proposed business pl'actices, other than those specifically mentioned in this A VC, and therefore 

no portion of this AVC shall be construed as such an approval. 
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8.2 In consideration for the fulfillment of the various obligations set forth herein, no 

penalties are imposed tmder this AVC. However, the Attorney General reserves the right to 

seek Chapter 501 penalties for any future violation(s) of Chapter 501 Part II Florida Statutes. 

The Attorney General also reserves the right to seek attorneys' fees and costs upon any future 

noncompliance. 

8.3 Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any private rights~ causes of 

action, or remedies of any private person, business, corporation, government or legal entity 

8.4 The parties jointly participated in the negotiation of the terms articulated in this 

A V C. No provision of this A V C shall be construed for or against either party on the ground that 

one party or another was more heavily involved in the preparation. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Respondents have caused this AVC to be executed 

by an authorized representative, as a true act and deed. in the county and state listed below, as of 

the date affixed thereon. 

BY MY SIGNATURE I hereby affirm that I am acting in my capacity and within 

my authority as a Principal Owner, a11d in my individual capacity, and that by my signature I am 

binding myself and the business to the terms and conditions of this A V C. 

OICE FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 

do rna, 
ation's Choice Financial Soultions. LLC 

State of Florida 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF Va&\~ b~Cl~~ 
BEFORE ME, a notary public of the State of Florida appeared James P. Adorna who 

swore w1der oath that he is a _eincipal Owner ofNation~s Choice Financial Solutions and who is 
either (Check One). ~known to me or who produced the following 
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identification: 

my authority as a Principal Owner, and in my individual capacity, and that by my signature I am 

binding myself and the business to the terms and conditions of this A VC. 

NATION'S CHOICE FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 

ce Financial Solutions, LLC 

State of Florida 
STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ~jM ~OC~:\ 

BEFORE ME, a notary public of the State of Florida appeared Michael Harper 
who swore under oath that he is a Principal Owner of Nation's Choice Financial Solutions and 
who is either (Check One) ~_known to me or who produced the fo1lowing 
identification· ~\\\''"'1u,,,J, • '!\,,, "" s. v~ ''"q, 

~~~r;.!M~IS'u- ~ 
----------~~~:~·-~.·~~ ~~~-.~~~-~~t------

~h~.· .. , ~ 
S""~· I • ~ 
::: • M~ C<lmtn. t:xp m • t: 

~ '\ ~ 5 lj -:..o;u.u. 11009 ! ~ 
- '-........)m\J,~o.Ol)~(j$113 :~::: 
NO A Y UBLIC ~ ~· •• PtJe\.\0 •• ··~~f 
AFFIX NOTARY SEAI %_"?>';..•····~0<>3_~-.~ 

- ~ ";It/~ OF t":!ti~''" '''ttumU\\\\\~ 

Elissa S. Vessal Esq. 
Fla Bar No. 694002 
Attorney for Respondents 
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ACCEPTANCE BY ATTORNEY GENERALS OFFICE 
--~~ 

Sign¢11lfs J' day of 
~-~~ 

Office of the .. ~~··- ... 
Samantha: e 
Assistant tome 
Florida B 542 
1515 North Flagler Drive 
Suite900 
West Palm Beach, Florida, 33401 
561-837·5000 
561-837-5109 (FAX) 

Ae<epted this tf' II day of~ 2009. 

tn MARY LEONTAKIANAKOS 
Director~ Economic Crimes Division 
Department of Legal Affairs 
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 
The Capitol 
Tallahassee, FL 32399·1 050 
(850) 245~0 140 
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LAWRENCE G. WASDEN 
Attorney General 

JOSEPH B. JONES- I.S.:S. #2768 
Deputy Attorney General 
State of Idaho 
Department of Finance 
P.O. Box 83720 
Boise, Idaho 83720-0031 
Telephone: (208) 332-8091 
Facsimile: (208) 332-8016 
joseph.j ones@finance.idaho. gov 

BEFORE THE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

OF THE STATE OF IDAHO 

STATE OF IDAHO~ DEPARTMENT OF 
FINANCE, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
BUREAU, 

Complainant, 

YS. 

THE RESIDENTIAL LITIGATION 
GROUP, P.A., 

Respondent. 

Docket No. 2012-41"02 

ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST 

Gavin M. Gee, Director of the Idaho Department of Finance (Director), being authorized 

and directed to administer and enforce the Idaho Financial Fraud Prevention Act, Idaho Code 

§ 67-2750 et seq. (IFFPA), and the Idaho Bank Act, Idaho Code§ 26~101 et seq., hereby makes 

the following factual findings which constitute a basis for the issuance of an ORDER TO 

CEASE AND DESIST (Order) pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-2755(1) requiring THE 

RESIDENTIAL LITIGATION GROUP, P.A., to cease and desist from violating the IFFPA by 

disseminating information to the public that is confusing, misleading, and deceptive; and to cease 

and desist from any other activities which violate the IFFP A and the Idaho Bank Act. 
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RESPONDENT 

1. THE RESIDENTIAL LITIGATION GROUP, P.A. (Respondent) was formed as a 

Florida corporation on April13, 2012. The company lists its business address with the Florida 

Secretary of State (Florida SOS) as 777 South Flagler Drive, Suite 800-West Tower, West Palm 

Beach, Florida. However, on its website; Respondent lists its address as 2200 Pennsylvania 

Avenue NW, 41h Floor, Washington, D.C. Respondent's Officer/Director and Registered Agent 

is Marc Hoffman. 

2. Mr. Hoffinan is licensed to practice law in the state of Florida and in the District 

of Columbia. He does not hold a license to practice law in the state of Idaho. The Florida Bar 

lists Mr. Hoffman's firm as The Residential Litigation Group and also lists the website, 

www.theresidentiallitigationgroup.com. In addition, the Florida Bal' indicates that Mr. Hoffman 

is admitted to practice before the Florida State and District of Columbia. Courts, in addition to the 

U.S. Supreme Court, the Fifth and Eleventh U.S. CD:cuit Court of Appeals, and the U.S. District 

Court, Southern District of Florida. Mr. Hoffinan lists the West Palm Beach address with the 

Florida Bar, and the Washington D.C. address with the DC Bar. 

3. Respondent uses the website, www.theresidentiallitigationgroup.com, wherein it 

represents the following: 

The Residential Litigation Group is a leading litigation law :firm based out of 
Washington D.C. Our firm focuses its practice on litigation against all of the 
major banks and lenders in the United States. 

The Residential Litigation Group is suing the nation's biggest banks and lenders 
for deceptive loan practices, deceptive and illegal foreclosure actions, and 
deceptive mortgage modification practices, among other causes of action. We are 
seeking to hold the banks and lenders accountable for their hannful and illegal 
behavior, and we are working to find real relief for homeowners. The lawsuits are 
also targeting banks' use of ti:audulent paperwork in the foreclosure process, 
foreclosing without actually holding a mortgage, corrupting the local title and 
land recording systems, and failing to uphold promises of loan modifications. 
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One of our most significant causes of action that we are taking is to go after the 
banks' use of phony documents and forged signatures ("robo-signing") for the 
purpose of illegally foreclosing ·on tens-of-thousands of homeowners. 

FINDINGS OF FACf 

I ' 

4. On or about September 19, 2012, the State of Idaho, Department of Finance, 

Financial Institutions Bureau (Department) received a complaint from an Idaho bank concerning 

Respondent's recent dissemination to Idaho residents of advertisements relating to Respondent>s 

services. The bank provided the Department with a copy of the advertisement received by one of 

its customers. On or about September 27, 2012, the Department received a second complaint 

from another Idaho bank concerning Respondent's dissemination to Idaho residents of 

advertisements relating to Respondent's services. That bank provided the Department with a 

copy of the advertisement received by one of its customers. 

5. Among other things, the advertisements stated that Respondent "is intending to 

file a potential claim against [the individual's lender] aimed at improper lender actions." 

Further, the advertisements state that the recipient "may be a potential plaintiff in a national 

lawsuit'' The advertisements specifically name the recipients' mortgage lenders, which are both 

banks. 

6. In the fine print appearing at the bottom of the advertisements, Respondent 

confirms t~t the document which purports to be a "Litigation Notification" is actually an 

advertisement. 

7. Respondent's advertisements were received by at least two (2) Idaho residents 

during the month of September 2012. To date, the Department has been unable to determine the 

total number of Idaho residents who received Respondent's advertisements. 
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8. The advertisements Respondent sent to Idaho residents suggest to the recipient 

that the recipient's mortgage lender may have engaged in fraudulent lending practices. 

9. Posing as a prospective customer, on September 21, 2012, a Department 

representative called the telephone number listed on Respondent's advertisements. The 

representative's phone call was answered by an individual who identified the business as "The 

Residential Litigation Group.~' The individual taking the representative's call identified himself 

as Nick McNesky. 

10. Mr. McNesky pressed to obtain information from the representative regarding her 

mortgage balance, current lender, current interest rate, the market value of her residence, and 

whether her current lender had filed a foreclosure action. Mr. McNesky further stated that the 

law firm is assisting homeowners in a lawsuit against 22 lenders, and that the finn is currently 

working on 17 different fraudulent practices suits. 

11. Mr. MeN esky told the representative that to begin working with the law firm, she 

needed to send Respondent a retainer fee of $6,000, which would be refunded after the lawsuit is 

settled, and additionally~ that the representative needed to pay a monthly fee of $450 during the 

pendency of the lawsuit. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

VIOLATIONS OF§ 67-2752(7) OF THE IFFPA 

12. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 11 above are fully incorporated 

herein by this reference. 

13. The IfPPA~ at Idaho Code § .67-2752(7), prohibits persons from using "in a 

manner likely to cause confusion or mistake or to deceive, the name, trademark, service mark, or 
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logo of a financial institution in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, or 

advertising of any product or service without the consent of the financial institution." 

14. In the advertisements Respondent sent to two (2) Idaho residents, Respondent 

specifically named the recipient's financial institution and suggested or implied that the 

institution had engaged in lender misconduct or fraudulent lending practices. Respondent did not 

have· the consent of the financial institution to use the name of the financial institution in 

Respondent's advertisements. 

15. Respondent's use of the name of the recipient's financial institution in 

Respondent's advertisements was likely to cause confusion or to deceive the recipient. 

16. Respondent's sending of two (2) advertisements naming the recipient's financial 

institution, without the institution's consent, to at least two (2) Idaho residents constitutes two (2) 

violations of the IFFP A. 

FINDING OF IMMEDIATE DANGER 

17. Idaho Code § § 26-1203 and 26-1204 of the Idaho Bank Act make it unlawful for 

a person to circttlate or transmit to another any false statement, rumor, or suggestion, written, 

printed or by word of mouth which is directly or by inference derogatory to the financial 

condition or affects the financial standing of a financial institution. 

18. The public's belief that a financial institution has engaged in lender misconduct or 

predatory lending practices endangers the financial condition or financial standing of the 

financial institution, its depositors and customers, and the public. These facts require the 

Director to issue this Order immediately to protect the public and the financial institutions named 

in Respondent's advertisements/solicitations. 
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REMEDIES 

19. Idaho Code § 67~2755(1) authorizes the Director to order a person to cease and 

desist from violations or attempted violations of the IFFPA if, in the determination Director, it is 

necessary to protect any financial institution or the public, or a person is violating or is about to 

violate the IFFP A. 

20. Idaho Code§ 26·1116(a) authorizes the Director to order a person to cease and 

desist from violations of the Idaho Bank Act if the Director believes that a person not authorized 

to engage in banking or trust business has engaged or is about to engage in any act or practice 

constitution a violation of the Idaho Bank Act or any rule or order thereunder. 

ORDER 

The Director, having reviewed the foregoing, and good cause being shown therefor, 

THE DIRECTOR HEREBY FINDS that Respondent has violated the Idaho Financial 

Fraud Prevention Act, Idaho Code § 67-2750, et seq.; and the Idaho Bank Act, Idaho Code § 26-

101 et seq., and that issuance of1his Order is necessary to protect the financial institutions named 

in Respondent' s advertisements and the public. 

THE DIRECTOR FURTHER FINDS, pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-5247, that 

Respondenfs violations of the IFFPA, as set forth above, involve an immediate danger to the 

public safety and welfare, requiring immediate agency action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: 

Pursuant to § 67-2755(1) of the IFFPA, and§ 26~1116(a) of the Idaho Bank Act, THE 

RESIDENTIAL LITIGATION GROUP, P.A. shall CEASE AND DESIST from violations of the 

Idaho Financial Fraud Prevention Act, to include engaging in advertising that is misleading, 

confusing, and deceptive and which use the name of a financial institution without the financial 
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institution's consent; and from violations of the Idaho Bank Act. Because of the danger to the 

public presented by Respondent's violations of the IFFP A and the Idaho Bank Act, this action 

constitutes an emergency contested cas~, and this Order is effective upon its issuance. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this l"fl* dayof fJO'iint~~ '2012. 

NOTICE 

Respondent is hereby notified that the foregoing ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST is a 

.final order of the Director. Pursuant to Idaho Code§ 67-5246, Respondent may file a motion for 

reconsideration of this Order within fourteen (14) days of the issuance of tllls Order. The motion 

for reconsideration or request for a hearing shall be served on: 

Mary E. Hughes 
Financial Institutions Bureau Chief 
Idaho Department of Finance 
P.O. Box 83720 
Boise, Idaho 83720*0031 

A copy of such motion for reconsideration shall also be served on the Department's counsel, 

Joseph B. Jones, Deputy Attorney General at the same address. 

Any hearing and subsequent proceedings in this matter will be conducted in accordance 

with the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act, Idaho Code § 67-5201 et seq. 
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If Respondent timely files a motion for reconsideration, the Department will dispose of 

such motion within twenty·one (21) days of its receipt, or the motion will be considered denied 

by.operation oflaw, pursuant to Idaho Code§ 67-5246(4). 

If Respondent timely requests a hearing, Respondent will be notified of the date, time, 

and place of the hearing, as well as the name of the presiding officer. At the hearing, 

Respondent will be entitled to enter an appearance, introduce evidence, examine and cross-

examin~ witnesses, make arguments, and generally participate in the conduct of the proceedings. 

Respondent may also be represented by legal counsel at its own expense. 

Pursuant to Idaho Cqde §§ 67-5270 and 67-5272, any party aggrieved by this final order 

may appeal from such order to the district court by filing a petition in the district court of the 

county in which: 

a. a hearing was held; 
b. the final agency action was taken; 
c. the party seeking review of the order resides, or 
d. the real property or personal property that was the subject of the agency 

action is located. 

An appeal must be filed within twenty-eight (28) days: (a) of the issuance ofthis Order, 

(b) of the issuance of an order denyjng a motion fm reconsideration, or (c) the failure within 

twenty-one (21) days to grant or deny a petition for reconsideration, whichever is later. Idaho 

Code § 67"5273(2). The filing of an appeal to the district court does not itself stay the 

effectiveness of enforcement of the order being appealed. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
',t:::j1 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this /ZJ.,.) day of !1.0vr.::J11b·e/ , 2012, I caused a 
true and correct copy of the foregoing ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST to be served on the 
following by the designated means: 

The Residential Litigation GrouJ;', P .A. 
2200 Pennsylvania Ave. NW, 4 1 Floor 
Washington, D.C. 20037 

The Residential Litigation Group, P.A. 
777 S. Flagler Dr., Ste. 800-West Tower 
West Pahn Beach, FL 33401 
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[ X] certified mail 
[ ] overnight mail 
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GARYK.KING 
Attorney General 

July 5, 2013 

Mr. Marc H. Hoffinan 

Attorney General of New Mexico 

The Residential Litigation Group 
860 U.S. Hwy 1 
Suite 206 
North Palm Beach, FL 334()8 

Via cert(fied U.S. Mail and e-mail to mhQ.f!manlaw@gmail.com 

RE: Cease and Desist Order 

Dear Mr. Hofftnan, 

ALBERT J. LAMA 
Chief Deputy Attorney General 

For the reasons that follow, it is the opinion of this Office that your finn engaged in unlawful 
conduct in New Mexico and has continued to offer unlawful serVices in violation of both New 
~e~c~ .an~ f~der.f!l . law. ~~r. be~use your conduct constitutes tM.. pract~ce of law in New 
Mexico when you or any attorney at your firm is not properly admitted to practice in this state, 
this matter is being referred to the New Mexico Disciplinary Board pursuant to Ru1es 16-505(0), 
16-803 and 16-805 NMRA. This Office does· not discipline attorneys but does enforce various 
consumer protection laws including the Unfair Practices Act ("UPA" hereinafter), NMSA 1978, 
§ 57wl2wl, et seq., the federal MARS Rule, 12 C.F.R § 1015.2., and the Mortgage Foreclosure 
Consultant Fraud Prevention Act, NMSA 1978, § 47-15-1, et seq. · 

The following facts do not appear to genuinely be in dispute, or if they are in dispute, there is 
sufficient evidence to show that: · 

1. Your firm offered to include a New Mexico consumer, Kristine Romero, in a mass
plaintiff lawsuit against Bank of America but also pffered to defend any legal action 
relating to her home and obtain a loan modification for her. 

2. Your firm's website includes the words "Foreclosure Defense" in the title which would 
reasonably support the belief of a conswner that your legal services would include 
foreclosrue defense for that consumer's home. 

3. Ms. Romero sought aid from your finn because she was in default on her home loan and 
she was afraid of a foreclosure. 

Ill Lomas Blvd, Suite 300. Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102 (505) 222,9000 PliX (505) 222·9006 www.nma~r~ 
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4. Ms. Romero sought aid from your fum to defend a foreclosure action after she 
discovered the action was filed. 

5. Your firm sought an up-front payment of $6,000.00 in three payments to represent Ms. 
Romero and save her home from foreclosure, and she paid the first installment of · 
$2,000.00. 

6. Your fmn acted by and through a Sean Farley who represented himself as an attorney. It 
is unclear whether Mr. Farley is a licensed attorney in any state, but he may be the 
attorney in Florida. known as ~sean Francis Fadey." If that is the same person, Mr. 
FarlvY is not eligible to practice law according to the Florida State Bar as his licensed 
lapsed, but the date of the lapse is not reported. If Mr. Farley was not licensed· at the time 
he told Ms. Romero he was "an attorney" that would be an unfair and deceptive trade 
pmctice under the UP A. 

7. Y Qur. fll'lil, through its agents or employees, represented that Ms. Romero was not in 
jeopardy because a sale date had not been scheduled and she was in a loan modification, 
Yet, there is no evidence tending to show that your fum obtained ~Y loan modification 
for Ms. Romero or that she had received any loan modification. To the contrary, Bank of 
America denied her application for a loan modification in early 2013 and instead 
proposed a formal forbearance plan. 

. 6. Your firm has made affirmative statements on its own website and others that it seeks to 
aid homeowners by stopping or delaying a foreclosure. 

9. There. is no evidence tending to show that the forbearance Ms. Romero received was a 
result of any effort by your finn. The agreement was obtained by Ms. Romero applying 
directly with her lender. 

10. There is no evidence tending to show that your firm perfonned any substantive legal 
work for Ms. Romero. 

11. Your firm did not send or provide any billing statements or invoices to Ms. Romero that 
reflected any legal work performed for her. 

12. You assert that your finn perfonned six ( 6) hours of Jegal work on behalf of Ms. Romero 
for a total of $1.493.75 in legal fees. You have failed to produce evidence of any such 
work actually being performed such as evidence of work product, correspondence, or 
pleadings filed on behalf of Ms. Romero. Ms .. Romero was unaware of any aotual work 
perfonned for her. Instead, you simply claim that your fmn was ('going to" include Ms. 
Romero in a lawsuit against her lender .. You state that her name was "removed'' as a 
plaintiff from the suit, but there is no evidence that Ms. Romero was ever a named 
plaintiff in any lawsuit flied in any court Rather, it appears that you accepted and 
retained the $2,000.00 for no actual legal work. 

13. Your firm failed to identify 'any New Mexico licensed attorney who was assigned to this 
case, who communicated with Ms. Romero, or who placed her payment of legal fees into 
an attorney trust account (sometimes called an IOLTA account). 

14. Your firm, through its agents or employees, told Ms. Romero that once a foreclosure 
action was commenced agains~ her, a local attorney would be assigned to her. 
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15. Once Ms. Romero found out that a foreclosure lawsuit had been filed against her and she 
notified your firm of this fact, your finn did not provide a New Mexico attorney to Ms. 
Romero. 

16. Instead, your fll'tl1, through its agents or employees, represented that Ms. Romero would 
be provided with a local attorney once she was served with a summons. By this time, 
Ms. Romero was realizing that your firm was not providing any substantive legal 
services, was not defending her in her suit, and was not helping in her dispute with her 
lender, Bank of America. Thus, Ms. Romero sought the aid of this Office with Bank of 
America and her dispute with your finn. 

17. Your finn has offered its services to other New Mexico residents in 2013, solicits New 
Mexico consumers via phone calls, and publishes or maintains web sites that are 
accessible to New Mexico consumers. 

For the reasons that follow, we believe the above facts reflect clear violations.of the following 
laws. 

Mortgage Foreclosure Consultant Fraud Prevention Act ("MFCirPA") 

New Mexico law bars the collection of up-front fees for foreclosure prevention work unless 
certain narrow exceptions are met. NMSA L978, § 47-15-1, et seq. Your firm was both 
expressly ancl by . implication acti1.1g as a ~'foreclosure consultant" under New Mexico law 
because it was offering to. usave" Ms. Romero's home from foreclosure. Under the MFCFPA, 
1he attorney exemption only applies to "a person licensed to practice law in this state when 
the person renders service in the course of the person's practice as an attorney.'1 NMSA 
1978~ § 47-15-2(8)(2). There is no factual support for the view that you or any attorney. at your 
firm nmdered service in the course of his or her practice as an attorney and that you or any other 
attorney at yotir finn are licensed to practice law in New Mexico. You have failed to identify 
any attorney licensed in New Mexico who represented Ms. Romero. 

As a foreclosure consultant, therefore, you violated the MFCFPA by accepting an up~front fee 
prior to the completion of all work and also· by failing to use a fonn of oontra~t required by law. 
NMSA 1978,. § § 47-15-5, 47-15-3. A violation of the MFCFPAis a per se violation of the UPA 
and imposes a civil penalty ofup to $5,000.0 plus restitution. NMSA 1978, § 47-15-7. 

Unfair Practices A.et (''UP N') 

New Mexico law bars the uso of ·tmfair, deceptive or unconscionable t:r:ade practices. NMSA 
1978, § 57-12-3. You also likely violated the UP A by misrepresenting to Ms. Romero the scope 
of the legal services to be provided to her, stating or implying that you or your attorneys could or 
would practice law in New Mexico, stating or implying that she would receive services from a . 
local attorney, and by stating or implying that your services could stop her foreclosure, Charging 
$6,000.00 to perfonn no legal work is also likely unconsciouable as it is results in a gross 
disparity between the value ofthe services and the price paid. NMSA 19_78, § 57-12-2(E). 

I • 

·. ·, 

; 

• J l 
! 

. . 

. ; 



; . 

Page 4 of5 

Professional services~ including those provided by attorneys, are also governed by the UPA in · ·, 
New Mexico. 

MARS Rule (1,£ C.F.R. Part 1015, nreviouslv i6 C.F.R. Part 322) 

The federal Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule C'MARS Rule") also bars the collection 
of up-front fees for mortgage relief work and requires specific disclosures to consmners. The 
MARS Rule broadly defines mortgage relief work to mean any service offered either expressly 
or by implication to stop or prevent any foreclosure of a dwelling and/or obtain any forbearance 
of modification of a home loan. 12 C.F.R § 1015.2. 

The exemption for an attorney to engage in mortgage relief work under the MARS Rule is 
narrow and requires that the attorney be licensed in the home state of the consumer and also 
place the retainer funds into an IOLTA account. 12 C.P.R.§ 1015.7. The official commentary 
to the attorney exemption clarifies that for the protection of consumers, the exemption was for an 
attorney licensed in the home state of the consumer. Fed. Reg., Vol. 75, No. 230, 1211/2010, p. 
75131. 

You have not provided any facts to date showing that you or any attorney at your firm are 
licensed in New Mexico and that you placed Ms. Romero's funds into a trust account that you 
drew from as fees were earned. Therefore, neither you nor any attorney at your firm are within 
the ambit of the attorney exemption for the MARS Rule. By accepting an upfront fee. by 
implying that you would provide legal services, and. by failing to include certain disclosures 
required by federal law, you violated 12 C.F.R. §§ 1015.3, 1015.4, and 1015.5. The Attorney 
General of New Mexico may enforce the MARS Rule pursuant 1o 12 C.F.R. § 1015.10. 

Unauthorized Practice of Law 

New Mexico law bars any person who is not licensed to practice law in New Mexico from 
commencing or maintaining any action or defense of an action. NMSA 1978, § 36-2-27, A 
person also may not hold Wmself or herself out as an attorney in New Mexico unless he or she 
has been issued a certificate to practice law by the New Mexico Supreme Court. Id. You and 
your firm clearly offered to commence an action (and defend an action) for Ms. Romero and 
o1hers, and have held yourselves out as attorneys to New Mexico residents while not licensed in 
this state. The Attorney General is authorized by statute to enjoin such practices including 
seeking an order of contempt. NMSA 1978, § 36~2~28.2. 
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Cease and De.sist 

Because Q( th<2 foregoing violations of law. and because it ap_pears that your firm continues to 
m>licit New MeXico consumers. you, xour firm and any affiliate<j or associated attorneys are 
hereby ordered to gease and desist fromi 

1. Offering legal services to New Mexico conswners unless and until you are licensed to do 
so or affiliate with an attorney licensed in New Mexico so that such representation would 
be lawful. 

2~ Offering Mortgage Foreclosure Consultant services as defined under the MFCFP A. 
3. Offering Mortgage Relief Services as defined under the MARS Rule. 
4. Engaging in other unfair or deceptive acts or practices, including representations that you 

can or wiJl represent New Mexico consumers in mass--plaintiff actions, that such actions 
will stop a foreclosure action, or any other unlawful representation .. 

Additional violations of law from conduct after the date that this letter was issued would be 
deemed to be willful violations because you are notice of the nature of the violations. 

Because this matter also likely entails the violation of the Rules of Professional Responsibility, 
including the unauthorized practice of law in New Mexico, this matter is being referred to the 
appropriate disciplinary entities for New Mexico, Florida and Washington, D.C1

• 

If you wish to discuss this matter, please feel free to call David Kramer at 505~222~9134. 

Sincerely, 

vidKramer 
aien J. Meyers 

Assistant Attorneys General 

CC: Kristine Romero via U.S. Mail 
Mr. William D. Slease, New Mexico Disciplinary Co1.msel via e-mail only 
Ms. Shanell M. SchuylerJ Florida Bar ACAP~ via e~mail only · 
Ms. Elizabeth A. Herman, Office of Bar Counsel, 515 sth Street NW, Suite 117, 
Washington, D.C. 20001 yia U.S. Mail 

1 You firm's website indicates that its offices are located at "2220 Pennsylvania Ave. NW, 4111 

Floor~ Washington, D.C. 20037.'~ However, mail sent to you at that address was recently 
returned as undeliverable. It appears your finn opel'ates in Florida. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

 ATLANTA DIVISION 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 
Frederick J. Hanna & Associates, P.C., 
Frederick J. Hanna, individually, Joseph 
C. Cooling, individually, and Robert A. 
Winter, individually, 
 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No.  
 

COMPLAINT 

 

  
 
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau brings this action against 

Frederick J. Hanna & Associates, P.C. (the “Firm”), Frederick J. Hanna, Joseph C. 

Cooling, and Robert A. Winter (collectively, “Defendants”) and alleges as 

follows: 

 
Introduction 

1. Defendants, a law firm and its principal partners, have sued 

hundreds of thousands of Georgia consumers to collect debts that the consumers 

allegedly owe to others.  

2. To produce so many lawsuits, the Firm operates less like a law firm 

than a factory. It relies on an automated system and non-attorney support staff to 
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determine which consumers to sue. The non-attorney support staff produce the 

lawsuits and place them into mail buckets, which are then delivered to attorneys 

essentially waiting at the end of an assembly line. The Firm’s attorneys are 

expected to spend less than a minute reviewing and approving each suit. 

3. Using high-volume litigation tactics, Defendants collect millions of 

dollars each year, often from consumers who may not actually owe debts or may 

not owe debts in the amounts claimed.  

 
Jurisdiction and Venue 

 
4. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the 

United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

5. Venue is proper because the Firm is located, resides, and transacts 

business in the Atlanta Division of this district, and Defendants are Georgia 

residents. 28 U.S.C. §§ 90(a)(2), 1391(b)(1); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f); N.D. Ga. R. 

3.1(B)(1).  

 
Parties 

 
6. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and providing of consumer-financial products and 
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services under “Federal consumer financial laws,” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a), including 

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) and the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”). 12 U.S.C. § 5481(12)(H), (14). The Bureau’s 

regulatory authority extends to persons engaged in the collection of debt related 

to any consumer-financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(x). The 

Bureau has independent litigating authority to commence civil actions by its own 

attorneys to address violations of “Federal consumer financial laws,” including 

the FDCPA and the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b); 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(b)(6).  

7. The Firm is headquartered and maintains its principal place of 

business in this district. The Firm regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly 

or indirectly, consumer credit-card debts on behalf of both credit-card issuers 

and debt buyers that purchase portfolios of defaulted credit-card debts. The Firm 

is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA and a “debt collector” under the 

FDCPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(x); 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

8. Frederick J. Hanna (“Hanna”) is the Firm’s president and principal 

owner. Hanna, a licensed attorney, regularly collects or attempts to collect, 

directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another 

through consumer-debt-collection litigation. Hanna is therefore a “debt 

collector” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Hanna has managerial 
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responsibility for the Firm and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, 

including the development and approval of the collection practices described in 

this Complaint. Hanna is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Hanna is a “related person,” he is deemed a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). 

9. Joseph C. Cooling (“Cooling”) is the Firm’s managing partner and a 

minority owner. Cooling, a licensed attorney, regularly collects or attempts to 

collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due 

another through consumer-debt-collection litigation. Cooling is therefore a “debt 

collector” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Cooling has managerial 

responsibility for the Firm and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, 

including the development and approval of the collection practices described in 

this Complaint. Cooling is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Cooling is a “related person,” he is deemed a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). 

10. Robert A. Winter (“Winter”) is the Firm’s managing partner and a 

minority owner. Winter, a licensed attorney, regularly collects or attempts to 

collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due 

another through consumer-debt-collection litigation. Winter is therefore a “debt 
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collector” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Winter has managerial 

responsibility for the Firm and materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, 

including the development and approval of the collection practices described in 

this Complaint. Winter is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Winter is a “related person,” he is deemed a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). 

11. Hanna, Cooling, and Winter are intimately familiar with and direct 

the Firm’s operations, including its debt-collection litigation processes. Each 

knew of and approved all of the practices described in this Complaint. 

 
Facts 

 
12. Since January 1, 2009, Defendants have collected or attempted to 

collect debts for credit-card issuers such as JP Morgan Chase, Bank of America, 

Capital One, and Discover, and debt buyers such as Portfolio Recovery 

Associates and Midland Funding, LLC. The alleged debts were incurred by 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

13.  To collect these debts, the Firm frequently turns to litigation. In 

Georgia alone, the Firm sued about 78,000 consumers in 2009; about 84,000 in 

2010; about 71,000 in 2011; about 57,000 in 2012; and about 60,000 in 2013. In sum, 
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the Firm filed more than 350,000 collection suits from 2009 through 2013 (the 

“Georgia Collection Suits”). 

14. The Firm’s non-attorney support staff has far outnumbered its 

attorneys. From 2009 through 2013, Defendants employed, at any given time, 

hundreds of non-attorney staff but only between 8 and 16 attorneys.  

15. In 2009 and 2010, the Firm directed one attorney to sign about 85% 

of the Georgia Collection Suits—about 138,000 lawsuits. Over two years, this 

single attorney signed an average of about 1,300 collection suits a week.   

16. For the Georgia Collection Suits, the Firm: 

a. delegated to non-attorney support staff the responsibility for 

determining whether consumers’ accounts were “suit worthy”; 

b.  directed its attorneys to rely on an automated system and 

support-staff research to determine whether consumers had sought relief 

in bankruptcy or whether their debts were barred by limitations; 

c.  directed its attorneys to rely on an automated system and 

support-staff research to determine legally significant facts such as each 

consumer’s date of initial contract and the date the consumer last made a 

payment; 
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d.  delegated to non-attorney support staff the responsibility for 

determining the alleged principal owed, alleged interest owed, and alleged 

attorneys’ fees owed; and 

e.  delegated to non-attorney support staff the responsibility for 

drafting complaints on a mass scale for placement into mail buckets 

forwarded to attorneys. 

17. The Firm’s Georgia Collection Suits bore the names and signatures 

(or, in some cases, purported signatures) of attorneys, despite those attorneys not 

being meaningfully involved in the decision to initiate the lawsuits or in the 

preparation of the pleadings.  

18. The Firm’s attorneys did not exercise independent professional 

judgment in determining whether to file the Georgia Collection Suits or what 

remedies to seek. The Firm’s attorneys gave only cursory review to those suits, 

checking the pleadings prepared by non-attorney support staff for grammar and 

spelling errors. The Firm’s attorneys were expected to spend no more than one 

minute reviewing and signing the pleadings prepared by support staff. 

19. The Firm filed the Georgia Collection Suits on a mass scale against 

consumers, some of whom may not have owed the alleged debts.  
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20. The Firm filed most of the Georgia Collection Suits against 

consumers on behalf of debt buyers. Those debt buyers often could not support 

their collection activities with basic documents, such as the original contracts 

underlying the alleged debts or the chain of title evidencing that the debt buyer 

had standing to sue the consumer. Defendants filed the Georgia Collection Suits 

without investigating or verifying support for the suits, including whether the 

facts alleged were true.  

21. In most of the Georgia Collection Suits, consumers either failed to 

appear, which resulted in a default judgment, or agreed to settle.  

22. When consumers responded to the Georgia Collection Suits, the 

Firm’s attorneys routinely dismissed the cases. Indeed, since 2009, the Firm’s 

attorneys have voluntarily dismissed more than 40,000 of the Georgia Collection 

Suits after they had already been served—a rate of more than 155 a week. 

Consumers who retained attorneys were almost four times more likely to have 

their cases dismissed.  

23. The Firm routinely obtained and used affidavits in the Georgia 

Collection Suits in which the affiants represented that they had personal 

knowledge of the validity and ownership of debts. Defendants knew or should 
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have known that many of these affidavits were executed by persons who lacked 

personal knowledge of the facts. 

24. For affidavits received from its debt-buyer clients, the Firm’s 

attorneys did not determine whether any underlying documentation for the debt 

was available, nor did they review the contracts governing the sale of accounts to 

determine whether those contracts disclaimed any warranties regarding the 

accuracy or validity of the debts.  

25. Defendants acted recklessly or knowingly.  

 
Violations of Law 

 
26. This Complaint challenges two categories of Defendants’ conduct in 

the Georgia Collection Suits: (1) their lack of meaningful attorney involvement in 

preparing and filing complaints; and (2) their use of affidavits.  

 
Count I  

Lack of Meaningful Attorney Involvement, in Violation of the FDCPA 
 

27. The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-25 of this 

Complaint.  

28. As described above, the Georgia Collection Suits may have featured 

the signatures of attorneys, but they were prepared and filed without meaningful 

attorney involvement.  
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29. Defendants thus falsely represented to consumers that the Georgia 

Collection Suits were from attorneys when, in fact, attorneys were not 

meaningfully involved in preparing or filing the suits. 

30. Defendants’ acts and practices constitute violations of sections 807(3) 

and 807(10) of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(3), (10). 

 
Count II 

Lack of Meaningful Attorney Involvement, in Violation of the CFPA 
 

31. The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-25 of this 

Complaint. 

32. Defendants’ FDCPA violations, described in Count I, constitute 

violations of section 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

33. As described above, the complaints filed in the Georgia Collection 

Suits represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

attorneys were meaningfully involved in preparing and filing the complaints.  

34. In fact, the complaints filed in the Georgia Collection Suits were 

prepared and filed without meaningful attorney involvement.  

35. Defendants’ representations as set forth in paragraph 33 were 

therefore false or misleading and constituted deceptive acts and practices, in 
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violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

 
Count III 

Use of Affidavits in Violation of the FDCPA 
 

36. The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-25 of this 

Complaint. 

37. As described above, in numerous instances in the Georgia Collection 

Suits, Defendants used affidavits in which the affiants represented that they had 

personal knowledge of the validity and ownership of debts. Defendants knew or 

should have known that many of these affidavits were executed by persons who 

lacked personal knowledge of the facts contained in them.   

38. Defendants’ use of such affidavits falsely represented to consumers 

the character, amount, or legal status of debts. 

39. Defendants’ use of such affidavits constituted false representations 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect debts. 

40. Defendants’ use of such affidavits was an unfair or unconscionable 

means used to collect or attempt to collect debts. 

41. Defendants’ acts and practices constitute violations of sections 

807(2)(A), 807(10), and 808 of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(2)(A), (10), 1692f.  
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Count IV 
 Use of Affidavits in Violation of the CFPA 

 
42. The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-25 of this 

Complaint. 

43. Defendants’ FDCPA violations, described in Count III, constitute 

violations of section 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

44. In numerous instances in the Georgia Collection Suits, Defendants 

used affidavits in which the affiants represented that they had personal 

knowledge of the validity and ownership of debts. By using these affidavits, 

Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

those affiants had personal knowledge of the validity and ownership of the 

debts. In numerous instances in which they submitted such affidavits, 

Defendants knew or should have known that the affiants in fact did not have 

such personal knowledge. 

45. Defendants’ representations as set forth in paragraph 44 of this 

Complaint were false or misleading and constituted deceptive acts and practices, 

in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Demand for Relief 
 

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations 

of the FDCPA and CFPA; 

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants; 

c. order Defendants to pay restitution to consumers harmed by their 

unlawful conduct; 

d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

e. impose civil money penalties against Defendants;  

f. order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection 

with prosecuting this action; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Acting Enforcement Director 
 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
JOHN C. WELLS 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
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s/Lawrence D. Brown                    
LAWRENCE D. BROWN (TX Bar #24040586) 
THOMAS G. WARD (IL Bar #6291011) 
Enforcement Attorneys  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone (Brown): 202-435-7116 
Telephone (Ward): 312-610-8966  
Facsimile: 202-435-7722 
e-mail: lawrence.brown@cfpb.gov 
e-mail: thomas.ward@cfpb.gov 
 
 
SALLY QUILLIAN YATES 
United States Attorney 
  
LENA AMANTI 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Georgia Bar No. 666825                           
600 Richard B. Russell Federal Bldg.  
75 Spring Street, SW 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
Telephone: 404-581-6225 
Facsimile: 404-581-6163 
e-mail: lena.amanti@usdoj.gov 
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CFPB Files Suit Against Debt Collection
Lawsuit Mill
Georgia Firm Relies on Deceptive Court Filings and Faulty Evidence to
Churn Out Lawsuits

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
filed a lawsuit in a federal district court against a Georgia-based firm, Frederick J.
Hanna & Associates, and its three principal partners for operating a debt collection
lawsuit mill that uses illegal tactics to intimidate consumers into paying debts they may
not owe. The Bureau alleges that the Hanna firm churns out hundreds of thousands of
lawsuits that frequently rely on deceptive court filings and faulty or unsubstantiated
evidence. The CFPB is seeking compensation for victims, a civil fine, and an injunction
against the company and its partners.

“The Hanna firm relies on deception and faulty evidence to drag consumers to court
and collect millions,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We believe they are taking
advantage of consumers’ lack of legal expertise to intimidate them into paying debts
they may not even owe. Today we are taking action to put a stop to these illegal debt
collection practices.”

The Hanna firm focuses exclusively on debt collection litigation, and its three principal
partners, Frederick J. Hanna, Joseph Cooling, and Robert Winter, play an active role in
the company’s business strategies and practices. The firm performs debt collection
activities and typically files lawsuits if those efforts do not lead to collections.

The CFPB alleges that the firm operates like a factory, producing hundreds of
thousands of debt collection lawsuits against consumers on behalf of its clients, which
mainly include banks, debt buyers, and major credit card issuers. Between 2009 and
2013 the firm filed more than 350,000 debt collection lawsuits in Georgia alone. The
CFPB further alleges the defendants collected millions of dollars each year through
these lawsuits, often from consumers who may not actually have owed the debts.

The CFPB alleges that the defendants violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA). Among other things, the FDCPA prohibits making misrepresentations to
consumers, and specifically prohibits misrepresenting to a consumer that a
communication is from an attorney. The CFPB also alleges that the defendants violated
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which prohibits
deceptive acts or practices in the consumer financial marketplace.

Violations alleged in the CFPB’s complaint include:

Intimidating consumers with deceptive court filings: The firm files
collection suits signed by attorneys when, in fact, the lawsuits are the result of
automated processes and the work of non-attorney staff, without any meaningful
involvement of attorneys. The resulting lawsuits misrepresent to consumers that
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they are “from attorneys.” This process allows the firm to generate and file
hundreds of thousands of lawsuits. One attorney at the firm, for example, signed
over 130,000 debt collection lawsuits over a two-year period.

Introducing faulty or unsubstantiated evidence: The firm uses sworn
statements from its clients attesting to details about consumer debts to support its
lawsuits. The firm files these statements with the court even though in some cases
the signers could not possibly know the details they are attesting to. In a
substantial number of cases, when challenged, the firm dismissed lawsuits. Since
2009, the firm has dismissed over 40,000 suits in Georgia alone, and the CFPB
believes it does so frequently because it cannot substantiate its allegations.

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the alleged unlawful practices of the
Hanna firm and its three principal partners. The Bureau has also requested that the
court impose penalties on the company and its partners for their conduct and require
that compensation be paid to consumers who have been harmed.

The full text of the complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_hanna.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, WESTERN DIVISION 
 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Stephen Lyster Siringoringo, an 
individual, also d/b/a Siringoringo Law 
Firm; Clausen & Cobb Management 
Company, Inc., a corporation; Alfred 
Clausen, an individual; and Joshua 
Cobb, an individual, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:14-CV-5681 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER 
RELIEF 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

2. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f) 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions and course of conduct giving 

rise to the claims set forth in this Complaint occurred in this district. 

INTRODUCTION 

3. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau brings this action under 

sections 1031, 1036(a), 1054, and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565, and under section 626 

of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009 (as amended by section 1097 of the 

CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and its implementing regulation, the Mortgage 

Assistance Relief Services Rule (MARS Rule, or Regulation O), 12 C.F.R. Part 

1015 (2011), in connection with Defendants’ marketing and sale of purported 

mortgage assistance relief services. 

PARTIES 

4. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is an independent agency 

of the United States charged with regulating the offering and provision of 

consumer-financial products and services under federal consumer-financial laws, 

including the CFPA and Regulation O. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12)(Q), (14), 5491(a), 

5531, 5538. 

5. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, 

by its own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the CFPA and Regulation O, and to 

secure such relief as may be appropriate in each case. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 

5565. This includes the rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of 
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moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and 

civil money penalties. Id. § 5565(a)(2). 

6. Defendant Stephen Lyster Siringoringo (Siringoringo) is the principal 

of Siringoringo Law Firm, a purported law firm with offices in San Bernardino 

County, Riverside County, Orange County, and Los Angeles County, all in 

California. Siringoringo has transacted business in this district. 

7. Defendant Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc. (CCMC) is a 

California corporation with an office in San Bernardino County, California. CCMC 

has transacted business in this district. 

8. Defendant Alfred Clausen (Clausen) is an owner and manager of 

CCMC. Clausen has transacted business in this district. 

9. Defendant Joshua Cobb (Cobb) is an owner and manager of CCMC. 

Cobb has transacted business in this district. 

10. Defendants Siringoringo, CCMC, Clausen, and Cobb, each acting 

alone or in concert with others, offer or provide, or arrange for others to provide, 

“mortgage assistance relief services,” as defined in Regulation O (12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.2 (2011)), and “financial advisory services” within the meaning of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii), including but not limited to loan-

modification and foreclosure-relief services.  

11. Clausen and Cobb have had managerial responsibility for CCMC and 

have materially participated in the conduct of its affairs, including the development 

and approval of the purported mortgage assistance relief services described here. 

Clausen and Cobb are intimately familiar with and direct CCMC’s operations, 

including its purported mortgage assistance relief services. Both Clausen and Cobb 

knew of and approved all of the practices described in this Complaint. 
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SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 

12. Since at least December 2010, Defendants have marketed and sold 

purported mortgage assistance relief services to consumers. Defendants attracted 

financially distressed homeowners through advertisements, mailings, and in-person 

consultations, deceptively promising loan modifications and foreclosure relief in 

exchange for advance fees. Defendants also misled consumers into believing that 

an attorney would represent them in negotiations with their lenders or servicers. In 

the end, consumers paid thousands of dollars each in advance fees, but in 

numerous instances received none of the promised services or relief. 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES 

13. In or about December 2010, Defendants entered into an agreement 

under which CCMC – a company owned and managed by Clausen and Cobb – 

provided staffing, marketing, office space, equipment, and general operational and 

administrative support to the Siringoringo Law Firm (SLF) – a purported law firm 

of which Siringoringo was the principal – in its offering of loan-modification 

services. Clausen and Cobb individually and in concert actively directed and 

managed SLF’s operations, including managing staff and overseeing 

administrative functions; setting and enforcing policies and procedures; developing 

marketing; and setting fees and controlling office finances. Siringoringo did not 

typically have contact or involvement with clients or their lenders; those functions 

were left to non-attorney CCMC personnel. Client files typically lacked any 

documents written, authored, or signed by Siringoringo. 

14. Defendants heavily marketed SLF’s purported loan-modification 

services through television, radio, and internet advertisements, as well as direct 

mail and email solicitations, in both English and Spanish. A number of 

advertisements featured Siringoringo describing his skills, experience, and success 

in obtaining loan modifications. The advertisements deceptively suggested that 
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SLF enjoyed high rates of success in obtaining loan modifications and other 

foreclosure relief and misled consumers into believing that they would receive the 

services of an attorney, Siringoringo. 

15. Consumers who went to SLF to inquire about the services it could 

provide would meet with individuals employed by CCMC. Those individuals 

would mislead consumers into believing that they were eligible for a loan 

modification, that they would obtain a modification within 45 days, and that 

Siringoringo would directly negotiate with their lender or servicer to obtain the 

desired relief. CCMC personnel would present consumers with an SLF retainer 

agreement that also misleadingly suggested that they would be receiving the 

services of an attorney.  

16. Defendants enrolled thousands of consumers through these practices.  

17. Under the terms of the retainer agreement, Defendants charged 

consumers an initial fee of between $1,995 and $3,500 for the purported 

preparation of a loan-modification application and then charged a monthly fee of 

$495 for purported continued processing, communication, and negotiation with the 

lender or servicer. Consumers paid all such fees before any written agreement was 

reached with the consumers’ lender or servicer or any other mortgage assistance 

relief was obtained. Defendants never disclosed to consumers that they may stop 

doing business with Defendants or reject an offer of mortgage assistance without 

having to pay for Defendants’ services. Defendants also failed to disclose that they 

were not associated with the government and their services were not approved by 

the government or the consumer’s lender.  

18. In numerous instances, after consumers paid Defendants’ advance 

fees, Defendants failed to answer or return consumers’ telephone calls and emails 

and failed to provide updates about the status of consumers’ loan-modification 

applications. In numerous instances, after consumers paid Defendants’ advance 
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fees, Defendants failed to obtain loan modifications or foreclosure relief for 

consumers. 

19. In numerous instances, consumers received no representation by an 

attorney. 

REGULATION O 

20. In 2010, the Federal Trade Commission promulgated the MARS Rule 

to prohibit unfair and deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage-loan or 

foreclosure-relief services. 16 C.F.R. Part 322. In the CFPA, Congress transferred 

rulemaking authority over the MARS Rule to the Bureau, which recodified the 

Rule as 12 C.F.R. Part 1015 and designated it “Regulation O.” The Bureau has 

authority to enforce Regulation O, as well as the prior MARS Rule, under 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5538(a), 5564. (References below to “Regulation O” encompass both 

Regulation O and the MARS Rule.) 

21. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service” as “any 

service, plan, or program, offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for 

consideration, that is represented, expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt 

to assist the consumer with . . . [n]egotiating, obtaining, or arranging a 

modification of any term of a dwelling loan, including a reduction in the amount of 

interest, principal balance, monthly payments, or fees.” 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011).  

22. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service provider” as 

“any person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any 

mortgage assistance relief service,” other than the dwelling loan holder, the 

servicer of a dwelling loan, or any agent or contractor of such individual or entity. 

12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011). 

23. Defendants are “mortgage assistance relief provider[s]” engaged in 

the provision of “mortgage assistance relief services” as those terms are defined in 

Regulation O. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011).   
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24. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider 

from requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the 

consumer has executed a written agreement between the consumer and the 

consumer’s loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider 

obtained from the loan holder or servicer. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 

25. Regulation O further prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service 

provider from misrepresenting, expressly or by implication: (1) the likelihood of 

negotiating, obtaining, or arranging any represented service or result; (2) the 

amount of time it will take the mortgage assistance relief service provider to 

accomplish any represented service or result; or (3) that the consumer will receive 

legal representation. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b) (1), (2), (8) (2011). 

26. Regulation O requires any mortgage assistance relief service provider, 

in every general commercial communication, as defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2, to 

disclose that the provider is not associated with the government and its service is 

not approved by the government or the consumer’s lender. 12 C.F.R.  

§ 1015.4(a)(1) (2011). 

27. Regulation O further requires any mortgage assistance relief service 

provider, in every consumer-specific commercial communication, as defined by 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.2, to disclose: (1) that the consumer may stop doing business with 

the provider or reject an offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the 

services; and (2) that the provider is not associated with the government and its 

service is not approved by the government or the consumer’s lender. 12 C.F.R.  

§ 1015.4(b)(1), (2) (2011). 

28. Regulation O further provides that it is a violation “for a person to 

provide substantial assistance or support to any mortgage assistance relief service 

provider when that person knows or consciously avoids knowing that the provider 

is engaged in any act or practice that violates” the rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1015.6 (2011). 
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29. Under section 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, a violation of 

Regulation O constitutes an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the 

CFPA, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536. 

THE CFPA 

30. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit “covered person[s]” or “service provider[s]” from engaging 

“in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.” Section 1036(a)(1)(A) also 

prohibits “covered person[s]” or “service provider[s]” from “offer[ing] or 

provid[ing] to a consumer any financial product or service not in conformity with 

Federal consumer financial law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in 

violation of a Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

31. Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA further prohibits any person from 

“knowingly or recklessly provid[ing] substantial assistance to a covered person or 

service provider in violation of the provisions of section 1031 . . . and 

notwithstanding any provision of [the CFPA], the provider of such substantial 

assistance shall be deemed to be in violation of that section to the same extent as 

the person to whom such assistance is provided.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

32. Section 1002(25) defines the term “related person” to mean “any 

director, officer, or employee charged with managerial responsibility for, or 

controlling shareholder of,” or “any  shareholder . . . or other person . . . who 

materially participates in the conduct of the affairs of” of a non-bank provider of a 

consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C). Section 1002(25) 

further provides that a “related person” shall be “deemed to mean a covered person 

for all purposes of any provision of Federal consumer financial law.”  12 U.S.C.  

§ 5481(25)(B). 
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33. Defendants are “covered person[s],” “service provider[s]” or “related 

person[s],” and they provided “substantial assistance” within the meaning of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25), (26), 5536(a)(3). 

COUNT I 

(Advance Fees in Violation of Regulation O) 

34. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 33 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

35. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, 

or arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants 

have asked for or received payment from consumers before those consumers have 

executed a written agreement with the loan holder or servicer that incorporates the 

offer obtained by Defendants, in violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) 

(2011). 

COUNT II 

(Misrepresentations in Violation of Regulation O) 

36. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 33 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

37. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, 

or arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants 

have engaged in misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, material aspects of 

their services, including but not limited to: 

a. the likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications or 

accomplishing any other represented service or result, in violation of 

Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(1) (2011); 

b. the amount of time it would take to obtain mortgage loan 

modifications or accomplish any other represented service or result, in 

violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(2) (2011); and 
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c. that consumers will receive legal representation, in violation of 

Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(8) (2011). 

COUNT III 

(Failure to Make Certain Disclosures in Violation of Regulation O) 

38. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 33 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

39. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, 

or arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants: 

a. violated Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(1) (2011), by 

failing to make the following disclosure in all general commercial 

communications: “Siringoringo Law Firm is not associated with the 

government, and our service is not approved by the government or your 

lender”; and 

b. violated Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1), (2) (2011), by 

failing to make the following disclosures in all consumer-specific 

commercial communications:  

i. “You may stop doing business with us at any time. You 

may accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from 

your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the offer, you do not have to 

pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert amount 

or method for calculating the amount) for our services.”; and  

ii. “Siringoringo Law Firm is not associated with the 

government, and our service is not approved by the government or 

your lender.” 
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COUNT IV 

(Deceptive Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA) 

40. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 33 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

41. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have represented, expressly or by 

implication, that: 

a. they generally will obtain mortgage loan modifications for 

consumers or will help them avoid foreclosure;  

b. they generally will obtain such mortgage assistance relief 

within a certain time, such as 45 days; and 

c. they will provide legal representation for consumers. 

42. In truth and in fact, Defendants generally do not obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for consumers, generally do not help them avoid foreclosure, 

generally provide no actual mortgage assistance relief within the represented time, 

and generally do not provide legal representation for consumers. These 

representations are material and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer at the 

time they were made. 

43. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in paragraph 41 

constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future 

violations of Regulation O and the CFPA and enter such other injunctive 

relief as appropriate; 
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b. award restitution, jointly and severally, against Defendants in 

the amount of all unlawfully collected fees; 

c. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

d. award civil money penalties against Defendants; 

e. order the rescission or reformation of contracts where necessary 

to redress injury to consumers;  

f. award costs against Defendants; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just 

and proper. 

 
Dated: July 22, 2014    Respectfully submitted, 
 
       Anthony Alexis 

Acting Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
John C. Wells 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
 /s/ Maxwell S. Peltz                                                                                                     

       Maxwell S. Peltz 
Navid Vazire 
Enforcement Attorneys 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (415) 633-1328 
Fax: (415) 677-9954 

     Email: maxwell.peltz@cfpb.gov   
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau 

Case 2:14-cv-05681   Document 1   Filed 07/22/14   Page 12 of 12   Page ID #:12



ANTHONY ALEXIS, DC Bar #384545 
ORI LEV, DC Bar #452565 
LAUREL LOOMIS RIMON, CA Bar #166148 
NELLE ROHLICH, WI Bar #1047522
(Email: Nelle.Rohlich@cfpb.gov) 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 267-8901 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 
Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

INTRODUCTION

1. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action under 

sections 1031, 1036(a), 1054, and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565, and under section 626 of the Omnibus 

Appropriations Act, 2009 (as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and its 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU, 

                              Plaintiff, 

v.

THE MORTGAGE LAW GROUP, LLP, (D/B/A THE 
LAW FIRM OF MACEY, ALEMAN & SEARNS),  
CONSUMER FIRST LEGAL GROUP, LLC,  
THOMAS G. MACEY,  
JEFFREY J.  ALEMAN,  
JASON E. SEARNS, and
HAROLD E. STAFFORD, 

                      Defendants. 

Case No. 3:14-cv-00513

COMPLAINT  
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implementing regulation, the Mortgage Assistance Relief Services Rule (MARS Rule, or 

Regulation O), 12 C.F.R. pt. 1015 (2011), in connection with Defendants’ marketing and sale of 

purported mortgage assistance relief services. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.

3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f) because a substantial part of the events or omissions and course of conduct giving rise to 

the claims set forth in this Complaint occurred in this judicial district. 

PARTIES

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with regulating 

the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under federal consumer 

financial laws, including the CFPA and Regulation O. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12)(Q), (14), 5491(a), 

5531, 5538. 

5. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own 

attorneys, to enjoin violations of the CFPA and Regulation O, and to secure such relief as may be 

appropriate in each case. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5565.  This includes the rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation 

for unjust enrichment, and civil money penalties.  Id. § 5565(a)(2).

6. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant The Mortgage Law Group 

(d/b/a The Law Firm of Macey, Aleman & Searns) (TMLG) was a Nevada limited liability 
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partnership with a principal place of business at 233 S. Wacker Dr., Suite 5150, Chicago, 

Illinois.  TMLG contracted with consumers nationwide, including within the State of Wisconsin.  

7. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Consumer First Legal Group 

(CFLG) was a Wisconsin limited liability company with a principal place of business located at 

2810 Crossroads Drive, Suite 4000, Madison, Wisconsin.

8. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Thomas G. Macey (Macey) was 

a partner with 76.6 percent interest in TMLG and, since July 2012, a partner with approximately 

78 percent interest in CFLG.  

9. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Jeffrey J. Aleman (Aleman) was 

a partner with 14.3 percent interest in TMLG and, since July 2012, a partner with approximately 

17 percent interest in CFLG.  

10. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Jason E. Searns (Searns) was a 

partner with 9.1 percent interest in TMLG.  

11. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Harold E. Stafford (Stafford) 

was a partner of CFLG.  Stafford was the sole owner of CFLG from at least 2011 until July 2012 

when he sold 95% of his interest to Macey and Aleman, retaining 5% interest. 

12. Defendants TMLG, CFLG, Macey, Aleman, Searns, and Stafford, each acting 

alone or in concert with others, offered, provided, or arranged for others to provide, “mortgage 

assistance relief services,” as defined in Regulation O (12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011)), and provided 

“financial advisory services” within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii), 

including, but not limited to, providing or offering to provide loan modification and foreclosure 

relief services.  At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have transacted business in 

this District. 
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SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT 

13. Since at least 2011, Defendants have marketed and sold purported mortgage 

assistance relief services to consumers.  Defendants attracted financially distressed homeowners 

through various marketing methods, deceptively promising that they would assist homeowners in 

obtaining loan modifications and foreclosure relief in exchange for the payment of advance fees.  

Defendants also promised that they would obtain such results within a certain period of time and 

misled consumers into believing an attorney would represent them in negotiations with their 

mortgage lenders or servicers. In the end, consumers routinely paid thousands of dollars each in 

advance fees, while receiving none of the promised services or relief.  Since 2011, Defendants 

TMLG and CFLG have collectively enrolled at least 12,290 consumers in their programs and 

collected at least $19.2 million from consumers nationwide. 

TMLG’S BUSINESS PRACTICES 

14. At all times relevant to this complaint, Macey was an attorney licensed in Illinois. 

15. At all times relevant to this complaint, Aleman was an attorney licensed in Illinois 

and Wisconsin. 

16. At all times relevant to this complaint, Searns was an attorney licensed in 

Colorado.

17. Macey, Aleman, and Searns have had managerial responsibility for TMLG and 

have materially participated in the conduct of its affairs, including the development and approval 

of the purported mortgage assistance relief services complained of herein by, among other 

things: coordinating “partnerships” with local attorneys in states in which TMLG operated; 

contracting with entities or individuals who performed certain services for TMLG including, but 

not limited to, marketing, enrolling consumers in their programs, and providing client support 
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services; responding to regulatory inquiries; and setting fees, controlling collection of consumer 

payments, and controlling TMLG’s finances.   

18. Macey, Aleman, and Searns are intimately familiar with and direct TMLG’s 

operations. Macey, Aleman, and Searns knew of and approved all of TMLG’s practices 

described in this Complaint. 

19. TMLG’s loan modification services were marketed using a variety of methods 

including, but not limited to, television and internet advertisements, and telephone and direct 

mail solicitations.  The advertisements were directed to consumers who were in financial 

distress, behind on their mortgage loans, or in danger of losing their homes to foreclosure. 

20. Consumers who contacted TMLG were connected with a company representative 

to discuss their mortgage and financial situation.  The representative made statements aimed at 

convincing consumers that they were eligible for a loan modification, and that they would obtain 

a mortgage modification if they hired TMLG.  TMLG staff also indicated to consumers during 

the intake call that they would be receiving the services of an attorney. 

21. In some instances, TMLG instructed consumers to stop paying their mortgage 

altogether. 

22. TMLG enrolled over 10,200 consumers through these practices. 

23. After the initial call, TMLG would send consumers a welcome packet with a 

cover letter and Retainer Agreement.  These documents misleadingly suggested to consumers 

that they would be receiving the services of an attorney.  For example, the cover letter begins by 

thanking the consumers for “entrusting their home to TMLG. . . a full service law firm that 

focuses on resolving all mortgage related issues.”
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24. TMLG’s cover letter included a warning to consumers: “[w]hile we will not tell 

you not to speak to your servicer, we must advise you that to do so is risky.  We have seen 

several clients hurt by deceptive practices when their servicer calls.”    

25. The cover letter also states “[c]urrently we are seeing many workouts take 

anywhere from 90-120 days; however, every case is unique. . .[f]ortunately by using an attorney 

you have a significant advantage because we are familiar with the process and expedite it 

through our contacts.” 

26. Under the terms of its Retainer Agreement, TMLG charged consumers an “Initial 

Flat Fee Retainer,” the amount of which varied but which typically was around $1,195.  This fee 

was purportedly for an initial review and analysis of the consumer’s financial situation such as a 

“preliminary underwriting” analysis.  Thereafter, TMLG collected a “Monthly Flat Fee Retainer” 

of around $795, purportedly for continued underwriting analysis, transmission of the loan 

modification package to the lender, and continued monitoring of the loan modification package 

review with the lender. 

27. Consumers routinely paid all such fees before any written agreement was reached 

with the consumer’s lender or servicer or before any other mortgage assistance relief was 

obtained.

28. After consumers paid TMLG’s advance fees, TMLG routinely failed to answer or 

return consumers’ telephone calls and emails and failed to provide updates about the status of 

consumers’ loan modification applications.   

29. After consumers paid TLMG’s advance fees, TMLG routinely failed to obtain 

loan modifications or foreclosure relief for consumers. 
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30. Many consumers report that they did not receive representation by an attorney.

Although they may have been assigned an attorney in a nominal sense, they never met or 

consulted with any attorney, including any attorney licensed in the state where they reside. In 

some instances, TMLG closed consumers’ accounts after advance fees had been paid by 

informing consumers that they were not eligible for particular programs or other assistance after 

all, or by telling consumers that their accounts were being closed because they had not provided 

sufficient paperwork. 

31. In some instances, TMLG refused to refund money to consumers, taking the 

position that it had done sufficient work to be entitled to the payments received or that the terms 

of agreements signed by consumers allowed it to keep the money paid.   

CFLG’S BUSINESS PRACTICES 

32. From at least 2011 until July 2012, Defendant Stafford, an attorney licensed in 

Wisconsin, was the sole owner and operator of CFLG.

33. In July 2012, Macey and Aleman together purchased a 95% interest in CFLG. 

34. Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have had managerial responsibility for CFLG and 

have materially participated in the conduct of its affairs, including the development and approval 

of the purported mortgage assistance relief services complained of herein by, among other 

things: coordinating “partnerships” with local attorneys in states in which CFLG operated; 

contracting with entities or individuals who performed certain services for CFLG including, but 

not limited to, marketing, enrolling consumers in their programs, and providing client support 

services; responding to regulatory inquiries and consumer complaints; and setting fees, 

controlling collection of consumer payments, and controlling CFLG’s finances.  
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35. Macey, Aleman, and Stafford are intimately familiar with and direct CFLG’s 

operations. Macey, Aleman, and Stafford knew of and approved all of CFLG’s practices 

described in this Complaint.   

36. CFLG’s loan modification services were marketed in a variety of ways including, 

but not limited to, television and internet advertisements.  The advertisements were directed to 

consumers who were in financial distress, behind on their mortgage loans, or in danger of losing 

their homes to foreclosure.  

37. CFLG’s advertisements deceptively suggested that CFLG enjoyed high rates of 

success in obtaining loan modifications and other foreclosure relief, and misled consumers into 

believing that they would receive the services of an attorney. For example, CFLG’s website 

described CFLG as “one of the most sophisticated consumer protection law firms in the country” 

with over 100 associate attorneys “insuring the best possible outcome during uncertain times.” 

38. The website also made representations about the quality of services CFLG would 

provide, such as: “[w]hile foreclosure scams are rampant, our mortgage relief specialists are 

some of the highest rated professionals in the field;” and “[CFLG attorneys] have years of 

experience keeping people in their homes and have a long list of testimonials from people who 

were on the brink of disaster.” 

39. CFLG’s website also warned consumers about working with the government or 

non-profit certified housing counselors - which offer free services to distressed homeowners.   

The website stated: “[t]here may be non-profit organizations that can assist you in your quest to 

stop foreclosure proceedings, but that kind of mortgage relief might involve a long wait.  In 

addition, by not paying you may not have any leverage when something goes wrong or the 

process drags on for a dangerously long time.” 
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40. Consumers who contacted CFLG were connected with a company representative 

to discuss their mortgage and financial situation.  The representative made statements aimed at 

convincing consumers that they were eligible for a loan modification, and that they would obtain 

a mortgage modification if they hired CFLG.  CFLG staff also indicated to consumers during the 

intake call that they would be receiving the services of an attorney and that the firm had a high 

success rate and a special relationship with various lenders. 

41. CFLG enrolled at least 2,090 consumers through these practices. 

42. Following the initial intake call, CFLG would send consumers a welcome packet 

with a cover letter and a Retainer Agreement.   

43. CFLG’s cover letter included a warning to consumers: “[w]hile we will not tell 

you not to speak to your servicer, we must advise you that to do so is risky.  We have seen 

several clients hurt by deceptive practices when their servicer calls.”   

44. The cover letter also states “[c]urrently we are seeing many workouts take 

anywhere from 90-120 days; however, every case is unique. . .[f]ortunately by using an attorney 

you have a significant advantage because we are familiar with the process and expedite it 

through our contacts.”

45. Under the terms of its Retainer Agreement, CFLG charged consumers an “Initial 

Flat Fee Retainer,” the amount of which varied but which typically was around $1,195.  This fee 

was purportedly for an initial review and analysis of the consumer’s financial situation, such as a 

“preliminary underwriting” analysis.  Thereafter, CFLG collected a “Monthly Flat Fee Retainer” 

of around $895, purportedly for continued underwriting analysis, transmission of the loan 

modification package to the lender, and continued monitoring of the loan modification package 

review with the lender.
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46. Consumers routinely paid all such fees before any written agreement was reached 

with the consumer’s lender or servicer or before any other mortgage assistance relief was 

obtained.  After consumers paid CFLG’s advance fees, CFLG failed to answer or return 

consumers’ telephone calls and emails and failed to provide updates about the status of 

consumers’ loan modification applications.   

47. After consumers paid CFLG’s advance fees, CFLG failed to obtain loan 

modifications or foreclosure relief for consumers. 

48. Consumers report that they did not receive representation by an attorney.

Although they may have been assigned an attorney in a nominal sense, they never met with or 

consulted with any attorney, including any attorney licensed in the state where they reside. 

49. In some instances, CFLG closed consumers’ accounts after advance fees had been 

paid by informing consumers that they were not eligible for particular programs or other 

assistance after all, or by telling consumers their accounts were being closed because they had 

not provided sufficient paperwork. 

50. In some instances, CFLG refused to refund money to consumers, taking the 

position that it had done sufficient work to be entitled to the payments received or that the terms 

of agreements signed by consumers allowed it to keep the money. 

51. Since 2012, in the course of conducting business CFLG transferred funds related 

to loan modification services to TMLG accounts. 

REGULATION O 

52. In 2010, the Federal Trade Commission promulgated the MARS Rule to prohibit 

unfair and deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage loan modification or foreclosure 

relief services. 16 C.F.R. Part 322. In the CFPA, Congress transferred rulemaking authority over 
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the MARS Rule to the Bureau, which recodified the Rule as 12 C.F.R. Part 1015 and designated 

it “Regulation O.” The Bureau has authority to enforce Regulation O pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5538(a), 5564. (References below to “Regulation O” encompass both Regulation O and the 

MARS Rule.)   

53. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service” as “any service, plan, or 

program, offered or provided to the consumer in exchange for consideration, that is represented, 

expressly or by implication, to assist or attempt to assist the consumer with . . . [n]egotiating, 

obtaining, or arranging a modification of any term of a dwelling loan, including a reduction in 

the amount of interest, principal balance, monthly payments, or fees.”  12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 

(2011).

54. Regulation O defines “mortgage assistance relief service provider” as “any person 

that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, any mortgage assistance relief 

service,” other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a dwelling loan, or any agent or 

contractor of such individual or entity.  12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 (2011). 

55. Defendants are “mortgage assistance relief provider[s]” engaged in the provision 

of “mortgage assistance relief services” as those terms are defined in Regulation O.  12 C.F.R. § 

1015.2 (2011).

56. Regulation O prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider from 

requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration until the consumer has 

executed a written agreement between the consumer and the consumer’s dwelling loan holder or 

servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained from the consumer’s dwelling loan 

holder or servicer.  12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 
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57. Regulation O further prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider 

from representing, expressly or by implication, in connection with the offering or performance of 

such a service, that a consumer should not contact or communicate with his or her lender or 

servicer.

58. Regulation O further prohibits any mortgage assistance relief service provider 

from misrepresenting, expressly or by implication: (1) the likelihood of negotiating, obtaining, or 

arranging any represented service or result; (2) the amount of time it will take the mortgage 

assistance relief service provider to accomplish any represented service or result; (3) a 

consumer’s obligation to make scheduled periodic payments or any other payments pursuant to 

the terms of the consumer’s dwelling loan; (4) that the consumer will receive legal 

representation; or (5) the availability, performance, cost, or characteristics of any alternative to 

for-profit mortgage assistance relief services through which the consumer can obtain mortgage 

assistance relief, including negotiating directly with the dwelling loan holder or servicer, or using 

any nonprofit housing counselor agency or program.  12 C.F.R. §§ 1015.3(a), (b) (1), (2), (4), 

(8), (9) (2011). 

59. Regulation O further requires any mortgage assistance relief service provider in 

every consumer-specific commercial communication as defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2 to 

disclose that the consumer may stop doing business with the provider or reject an offer of 

mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services.  12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(b)(1) (2011). 

60. Regulation O further provides that it is a violation “for a person to provide 

substantial assistance or support to any mortgage assistance relief service provider when that 

person knows or consciously avoids knowing that the provider is engaged in any act or practice 

that violates” the rule.  12 C.F.R. § 1015.6 (2011). 
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61. Under section 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, a violation of Regulation O 

constitutes an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the CFPA, in violation of 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

THE CFPA 

62. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B), 

prohibit “covered person[s]” or “service provider[s]” from engaging in any “unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice.” Section 1036(a)(1)(A) also prohibits “covered person[s]” or “service 

provider[s]” from “offer[ing] or provid[ing] to a consumer any financial product or service not in 

conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or otherwise commit[ting] any act or omission 

in violation of a Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).

63. Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA further prohibits any person from “knowingly or 

recklessly provid[ing] substantial assistance to a covered person or service provider in violation 

of the provisions of section 1031 . . . and notwithstanding any provision of [the CFPA], the 

provider of such substantial assistance shall be deemed to be in violation of that section to the 

same extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

64. Section 1002(25) defines the term “related person” to mean “any director, officer, 

or employee charged with managerial responsibility for, or controlling shareholder of,” or “any

shareholder . . . or other person . . . who materially participates in the conduct of the affairs of” a 

non-bank provider of a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C). Section 

1002(25) further provides that a “related person” shall be “deemed to mean a covered person for 

all purposes of any provision of Federal consumer financial law.”  12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 
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65. Defendants are “covered person[s],” “service provider[s]” and/or “related 

person[s]” within the meaning of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25), (26). 

COUNT I 

(Advance Fees in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns) 

66. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

67. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns have 

requested or received payment from consumers before those consumers have executed a written 

agreement with their loan holder or servicer that incorporates any offer obtained by TMLG from 

the loan holder or servicer, in violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 

COUNT II 

(Advance Fees in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford) 

68. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

69. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have 

requested or received payment from consumers before those consumers have executed a written 

agreement with their loan holder or servicer that incorporates any offer obtained by CFLG, in 

violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a) (2011). 

COUNT III 

(Representations in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns) 

70. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 
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71. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns have 

engaged in making, expressly or by implication, representations that a consumer should not 

contact or communicate with his or her lender or servicer, in violation of Regulation O, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(a) (2011). 

COUNT IV 

(Representations in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford) 

72. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

73. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have 

engaged in making, expressly or by implication, representations that a consumer should not 

contact or communicate with his or her lender or servicer, in violation of Regulation O, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(a) (2011).

COUNT V 

(Misrepresentations in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns) 

74. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

75. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns have 

engaged in misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, material aspects of their services, 

including but not limited to:  
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a. the likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications or accomplishing 

any other represented service or result, in violation of Regulation O,  12 C.F.R. § 

1015.3(b)(1);

b. the amount of time it would take to obtain mortgage loan modifications or 

accomplish any other represented service or result, in violation of Regulation O, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(2);

c. a consumer’s obligation to make scheduled periodic payments or any other 

payments pursuant to the terms of the consumer’s dwelling loan, in violation of 

Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(4); and 

d. that consumers will receive legal representation, in violation of Regulation 

O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(8). 

COUNT VI 

(Misrepresentations in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford) 

76. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

77. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have 

engaged in misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, material aspects of their services, 

including but not limited to: 

a. the likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications or accomplishing 

any other represented service or result, in violation of Regulation O,  12 C.F.R. § 

1015.3(b)(1);
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b. the amount of time it would take to obtain mortgage loan modifications or 

accomplish any other represented service or result, in violation of Regulation O, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(2);

c. that consumers will receive legal representation, in violation of Regulation 

O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(8); and 

d. the availability, performance, cost, or characteristics of any alternative to 

for-profit mortgage assistance relief services through which the consumer can obtain 

mortgage assistance relief, in violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(9).

COUNT VII 

(Failure to Make Certain Disclosures in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns) 

78. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

79. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns have failed 

to make the following disclosure in all consumer-specific commercial communications in a clear 

and prominent manner: “You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may accept or 

reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the 

offer, you do not have to pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert amount 

or method for calculating the amount) for our services,” in violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(b)(1).

COUNT VIII 

(Failure to Make Certain Disclosures in Violation of Regulation O) 
(Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford) 

80. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 
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81. In the course of providing, offering to provide, or arranging for others to provide 

mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have failed 

to make the following disclosure in all consumer-specific commercial communications in a clear 

and prominent manner: “You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may accept or 

reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the 

offer, you do not have to pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us (insert amount 

or method for calculating the amount) for our services,” in violation of Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(b)(1). 

COUNT IX 

(Deceptive Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA) 
(Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns) 

82. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

83. In numerous instances in connection with the offering or provision of mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns have engaged in 

representing, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. they generally will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers or will 

help them avoid foreclosure;  

b. they generally will obtain such mortgage assistance relief within a certain 

time, such as 90-120 days; and 

c. they will provide consumers legal representation. 

84. In truth and in fact, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns generally do 

not obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers, generally do not help them avoid 

foreclosure, generally provide no actual mortgage assistance relief within the represented time, 

and generally do not provide lawyers to provide legal representation for consumers.  These 
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representations are material and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer at the time they were 

made. 

85. Therefore, Defendants TMLG, Macey, Aleman, and Searns’ representations as set 

forth in Paragraph 83 constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT X 

(Deceptive Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA) 
(Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford) 

86. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 65 are incorporated here by reference. 

87. In numerous instances in connection with the offering or provision of mortgage 

assistance relief services, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford have engaged in 

representing, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. they generally will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers or will 

help them avoid foreclosure;  

b. they generally will obtain such mortgage assistance relief within a certain 

time, such as 90-120 days; and 

c. they will provide consumers legal representation. 

88. In truth and in fact, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford generally do 

not obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers, generally do not help them avoid 

foreclosure, generally provide no actual mortgage assistance relief within the represented time, 

and generally do not provide lawyers to provide legal representation for consumers.  These 

representations are material and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer at the time they were 

made. 
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89. Therefore, Defendants CFLG, Macey, Aleman, and Stafford’s representations as 

set forth in Paragraph 87 constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of 

Regulation O and the CFPA and enter such other injunctive relief as appropriate; 

b. award restitution, jointly and severally, against Defendants in the amount 

of all unlawfully collected fees; 

c. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

d. award civil money penalties against Defendants; 

e. order the rescission or reformation of contracts where necessary to redress 

injury to consumers;  

f. award costs against Defendants; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Dated: July 22, 2014   Respectfully submitted, 

      Anthony Alexis, DC Bar #384545 
Acting Enforcement Director 

      Ori Lev, DC Bar #452565 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

      Laurel Loomis Rimon, CA Bar #166148 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

      s/ Nelle Rohlich      
      Nelle Rohlich, WI Bar #1047522 

Enforcement Attorney 
      1700 G Street NW 
      Washington, DC 20552 

Phone: 202-435-7508 
Nelle.Rohlich@cfpb.gov

      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
      Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB, FTC and States Announce Sweep
Against Foreclosure Relief Scammers
CFPB Files Suits for Operations that Used Deception and False Promises to Collect
More than $25 Million in Illegal Fees from Distressed Homeowners

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), the
Federal Trade Commission (FTC), and 15 states announced a sweep against foreclosure
relief scammers that used deceptive marketing tactics to rip off distressed homeowners
across the country. The Bureau is filing three lawsuits against companies and
individuals that collected more than $25 million in illegal advance fees for services that
falsely promised to prevent foreclosures or renegotiate troubled mortgages. The CFPB
is seeking compensation for victims, civil fines, and injunctions against the scammers.
Separately, the FTC is filing 6 lawsuits, and the states are taking 32 actions.

“We are taking on schemes that prey on consumers who are struggling to pay their
mortgages or facing foreclosure,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “These
companies pocketed illegal fees—taking millions of hard-earned dollars from distressed
consumers, and then left those consumers worse off than they began. These practices
are not only illegal, they are reprehensible.”

The first lawsuit names Clausen & Cobb Management Company and owners Alfred
Clausen and Joshua Cobb, as well as Stephen Siringoringo and his Siringoringo Law
Firm. The second lawsuit is against The Mortgage Law Group, LLP, the Consumer First
Legal Group, LLC, and attorneys Thomas Macey, Jeffrey Aleman, Jason Searns, and
Harold Stafford. The third lawsuit is against the Hoffman Law Group, its operators,
Michael Harper, Benn Wilcox, and attorney Marc Hoffman, and its affiliated
companies, Nationwide Management Solutions, Legal Intake Solutions, File Intake
Solutions, and BM Marketing Group.

The CFPB alleges that the scammers used deceptive marketing to persuade thousands
of consumers to pay millions in illegal, upfront fees for promised mortgage
modifications. Each of the scammers was a law firm or was associated with one. The
defendants disguised their false promises of foreclosure relief for struggling
homeowners with claims that they were performing legal work. These tactics are used
by foreclosure relief scams to attract victims, add credibility to their schemes, or exploit
certain legal exemptions for the practice of law.

The CFPB alleges that the defendants violated Regulation O, formerly known as the
Mortgage Assistance Relief Services (MARS) Rule, which generally bans mortgage
assistance relief service providers from requesting or receiving payment from
consumers for mortgage modifications before a consumer has signed a mortgage
modification agreement from their lender. It also prohibits deceptive statements and
requires certain disclosures when companies market mortgage assistance relief
services. In addition, the CFPB alleges that some of the defendants violated the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which generally prohibits
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deceptive practices in the consumer financial market.

The illegal practices alleged in the complaints include:

Collecting fees before obtaining a loan modification: Companies cannot
legally accept payment for helping to obtain a mortgage modification for a
consumer before the consumer has a modification agreement in place with their
lender. All of these companies charged consumers advance fees without having
first obtained modifications for them, which was not only illegal but also caused
significant harm to consumers who often paid thousands of dollars without ever
receiving a modification. The CFPB alleges that, after pocketing illegal fees from
one distressed homeowner after another, defendants typically stopped returning
consumers’ phone calls and emails.

Inflating success rates and likelihood of obtaining a modification: The
firms’ marketing materials misrepresented the likelihood that they would help
consumers save substantial sums in mortgage payments. Ultimately, many
consumers who paid these companies advance fees did not receive a mortgage
modification and ended up worse off than they began.

Duping consumers into thinking they would receive legal
representation: All of these companies engaged in a particularly egregious
scam where the perpetrators used their status as attorneys to dupe consumers
into thinking they would receive legal representation when many consumers
never spoke with an attorney or had their case reviewed by one.

Making false promises about loan modifications to consumers: During
meetings, some consumers were misled into believing that they were eligible for a
loan modification. Other consumers were promised that they would receive relief
within a few months. In the end, many consumers learned that the defendants
had not contacted their lenders or obtained any meaningful relief for them.
Ultimately, homeowners across the country lost thousands of dollars and suffered
significant economic injury, including losing their homes.

Today, the Bureau is also releasing a Consumer Advisory to help consumers recognize
the red flags of foreclosure relief scams, especially when someone is claiming to provide
legal help. Many scammers require consumers to send a third-party authorization form
to their lender so that the scammer can communicate with the lender on the consumer’s
behalf. Often, the scammer tells the consumer to no longer have any contact with the
lender. The Consumer Advisory being released by the Bureau also helps consumers
better understand what it means to authorize a third party to act on their behalf.

Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
and Siringoringo Law Firm
The Bureau filed its complaint against three individuals, Stephen Siringoringo, Alfred
Clausen, Joshua Cobb, and a corporation, Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
(CCMC), for allegedly charging homeowners illegal advance fees for mortgage loan
modifications. Their operation charged initial fees ranging from $1,995 to $3,500, in
addition to monthly fees of $495, to thousands of California homeowners in distress.
The complaint alleges that Clausen, Cobb, and CCMC managed, staffed, and supported
the deceptive loan modification operations of Stephen Siringoringo’s southern
California law firm. The State Bar of California initially referred the misconduct to the
CFPB.

The complaint against Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc. et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_clausen-cobb.pdf
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The Mortgage Law Group and the Consumer
First Legal Group
The CFPB alleges that the Mortgage Law Group (TMLG) and Consumer First Legal
Group (CFLG) took in over $19.2 million in fees from over 10,000 distressed
homeowners nationwide, with most, if not all, of that money coming from illegal
advance fees for so-called loan modification services. Both TMLG and CFLG have
ceased operations, but the CFPB is seeking redress for consumers harmed by their
practices and permanent injunctive relief against the principals, Thomas Macey, Jeffrey
Aleman, Jason Searns, and Harold Stafford.

The complaint against The Mortgage Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_cfpb-v-tmlg-et-al.pdf

Hoffman Law Group
The CFPB alleges that since April 2012, the Hoffman Law Group (HLG) enterprise has
accepted over $5 million in illegal upfront fees. The Hoffman Law Group sold
consumers the chance to join mass lawsuits as a plaintiff and falsely promised them
that the lawsuits will help them get mortgage loan modifications or foreclosure relief.
HLG typically charged consumers an upfront fee of $6,000 plus a $495 monthly
maintenance fee every following month. The Bureau alleges that the Hoffman Law
Group frequently failed to help consumers obtain relief, and often did not answer or
return phone calls and emails from consumers who had already paid their fees.

The Bureau’s complaint against the Hoffman Law Group was filed jointly with the
Attorney General for the State of Florida, who has been a strong partner in the case.
Upon filing their complaint against the Hoffman Law Group, the Bureau and the State
of Florida sought a temporary restraining order that was issued by the court, freezing
the company’s assets and installing a receiver to oversee the business and ensure that
the company’s illegal conduct ceases.

The complaint against Hoffman Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_hoffman-law-group-et-
al.pdf

The Bureau’s complaints are not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit ConsumerFinance.gov.

ESPAÑOL

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy-policy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/no-fear-act/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia/
http://usa.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/oig/default.htm
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/ombudsman/
http://facebook.com/cfpb
http://twitter.com/cfpb
http://youtube.com/CFPB
http://flickr.com/cfpbphotos
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/feed/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_cfpb-v-tmlg-et-al.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_hoffman-law-group-et-al.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/


Contact us  Newsroom  Jobs  Open government

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/contact-us/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/jobs/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/open/


An official website of the United States Government Español  中文  Tiếng Việt  한국의  Tagalog  Pусский العربیة   Kreyòl Ayisyen

  

Press Release Enforcement

Mortgages

More Information On

Receive press releases by email

Email address 

Need our logo? You can find it here.

Photos and bios

Director Rich
Cordray

Deputy Director
Steven

Antonakes

Press contacts

Jen Howard
Assistant Director of Communications
(202) 435-7170
Jennifer.Howard@cfpb.gov

Walter Suskind
Press Assistant
(202) 435-9469
Walter.Suskind@cfpb.gov

Mallory McLean
Regional Spokesperson
(202) 435-7955

HOME INSIDE THE CFPB GET ASSISTANCE PARTICIPATE LAW & REGULATION SUBMIT A COMPLAINT

HOME > NEWSROOM > CFPB, FTC AND STATES ANNOUNCE SWEEP AGAINST FORECLOSURE RELIEF SCAMMERS

Contact us  (855) 411-2372

 

JUL 23 2014

CFPB, FTC and States Announce Sweep
Against Foreclosure Relief Scammers
CFPB Files Suits for Operations that Used Deception and False Promises to Collect
More than $25 Million in Illegal Fees from Distressed Homeowners

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), the
Federal Trade Commission (FTC), and 15 states announced a sweep against foreclosure
relief scammers that used deceptive marketing tactics to rip off distressed homeowners
across the country. The Bureau is filing three lawsuits against companies and
individuals that collected more than $25 million in illegal advance fees for services that
falsely promised to prevent foreclosures or renegotiate troubled mortgages. The CFPB
is seeking compensation for victims, civil fines, and injunctions against the scammers.
Separately, the FTC is filing 6 lawsuits, and the states are taking 32 actions.

“We are taking on schemes that prey on consumers who are struggling to pay their
mortgages or facing foreclosure,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “These
companies pocketed illegal fees—taking millions of hard-earned dollars from distressed
consumers, and then left those consumers worse off than they began. These practices
are not only illegal, they are reprehensible.”

The first lawsuit names Clausen & Cobb Management Company and owners Alfred
Clausen and Joshua Cobb, as well as Stephen Siringoringo and his Siringoringo Law
Firm. The second lawsuit is against The Mortgage Law Group, LLP, the Consumer First
Legal Group, LLC, and attorneys Thomas Macey, Jeffrey Aleman, Jason Searns, and
Harold Stafford. The third lawsuit is against the Hoffman Law Group, its operators,
Michael Harper, Benn Wilcox, and attorney Marc Hoffman, and its affiliated
companies, Nationwide Management Solutions, Legal Intake Solutions, File Intake
Solutions, and BM Marketing Group.

The CFPB alleges that the scammers used deceptive marketing to persuade thousands
of consumers to pay millions in illegal, upfront fees for promised mortgage
modifications. Each of the scammers was a law firm or was associated with one. The
defendants disguised their false promises of foreclosure relief for struggling
homeowners with claims that they were performing legal work. These tactics are used
by foreclosure relief scams to attract victims, add credibility to their schemes, or exploit
certain legal exemptions for the practice of law.

The CFPB alleges that the defendants violated Regulation O, formerly known as the
Mortgage Assistance Relief Services (MARS) Rule, which generally bans mortgage
assistance relief service providers from requesting or receiving payment from
consumers for mortgage modifications before a consumer has signed a mortgage
modification agreement from their lender. It also prohibits deceptive statements and
requires certain disclosures when companies market mortgage assistance relief
services. In addition, the CFPB alleges that some of the defendants violated the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which generally prohibits
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deceptive practices in the consumer financial market.

The illegal practices alleged in the complaints include:

Collecting fees before obtaining a loan modification: Companies cannot
legally accept payment for helping to obtain a mortgage modification for a
consumer before the consumer has a modification agreement in place with their
lender. All of these companies charged consumers advance fees without having
first obtained modifications for them, which was not only illegal but also caused
significant harm to consumers who often paid thousands of dollars without ever
receiving a modification. The CFPB alleges that, after pocketing illegal fees from
one distressed homeowner after another, defendants typically stopped returning
consumers’ phone calls and emails.

Inflating success rates and likelihood of obtaining a modification: The
firms’ marketing materials misrepresented the likelihood that they would help
consumers save substantial sums in mortgage payments. Ultimately, many
consumers who paid these companies advance fees did not receive a mortgage
modification and ended up worse off than they began.

Duping consumers into thinking they would receive legal
representation: All of these companies engaged in a particularly egregious
scam where the perpetrators used their status as attorneys to dupe consumers
into thinking they would receive legal representation when many consumers
never spoke with an attorney or had their case reviewed by one.

Making false promises about loan modifications to consumers: During
meetings, some consumers were misled into believing that they were eligible for a
loan modification. Other consumers were promised that they would receive relief
within a few months. In the end, many consumers learned that the defendants
had not contacted their lenders or obtained any meaningful relief for them.
Ultimately, homeowners across the country lost thousands of dollars and suffered
significant economic injury, including losing their homes.

Today, the Bureau is also releasing a Consumer Advisory to help consumers recognize
the red flags of foreclosure relief scams, especially when someone is claiming to provide
legal help. Many scammers require consumers to send a third-party authorization form
to their lender so that the scammer can communicate with the lender on the consumer’s
behalf. Often, the scammer tells the consumer to no longer have any contact with the
lender. The Consumer Advisory being released by the Bureau also helps consumers
better understand what it means to authorize a third party to act on their behalf.

Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
and Siringoringo Law Firm
The Bureau filed its complaint against three individuals, Stephen Siringoringo, Alfred
Clausen, Joshua Cobb, and a corporation, Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
(CCMC), for allegedly charging homeowners illegal advance fees for mortgage loan
modifications. Their operation charged initial fees ranging from $1,995 to $3,500, in
addition to monthly fees of $495, to thousands of California homeowners in distress.
The complaint alleges that Clausen, Cobb, and CCMC managed, staffed, and supported
the deceptive loan modification operations of Stephen Siringoringo’s southern
California law firm. The State Bar of California initially referred the misconduct to the
CFPB.

The complaint against Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc. et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_clausen-cobb.pdf
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The Mortgage Law Group and the Consumer
First Legal Group
The CFPB alleges that the Mortgage Law Group (TMLG) and Consumer First Legal
Group (CFLG) took in over $19.2 million in fees from over 10,000 distressed
homeowners nationwide, with most, if not all, of that money coming from illegal
advance fees for so-called loan modification services. Both TMLG and CFLG have
ceased operations, but the CFPB is seeking redress for consumers harmed by their
practices and permanent injunctive relief against the principals, Thomas Macey, Jeffrey
Aleman, Jason Searns, and Harold Stafford.

The complaint against The Mortgage Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_cfpb-v-tmlg-et-al.pdf

Hoffman Law Group
The CFPB alleges that since April 2012, the Hoffman Law Group (HLG) enterprise has
accepted over $5 million in illegal upfront fees. The Hoffman Law Group sold
consumers the chance to join mass lawsuits as a plaintiff and falsely promised them
that the lawsuits will help them get mortgage loan modifications or foreclosure relief.
HLG typically charged consumers an upfront fee of $6,000 plus a $495 monthly
maintenance fee every following month. The Bureau alleges that the Hoffman Law
Group frequently failed to help consumers obtain relief, and often did not answer or
return phone calls and emails from consumers who had already paid their fees.

The Bureau’s complaint against the Hoffman Law Group was filed jointly with the
Attorney General for the State of Florida, who has been a strong partner in the case.
Upon filing their complaint against the Hoffman Law Group, the Bureau and the State
of Florida sought a temporary restraining order that was issued by the court, freezing
the company’s assets and installing a receiver to oversee the business and ensure that
the company’s illegal conduct ceases.

The complaint against Hoffman Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_hoffman-law-group-et-
al.pdf

The Bureau’s complaints are not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit ConsumerFinance.gov.
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CFPB, FTC and States Announce Sweep
Against Foreclosure Relief Scammers
CFPB Files Suits for Operations that Used Deception and False Promises to Collect
More than $25 Million in Illegal Fees from Distressed Homeowners

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), the
Federal Trade Commission (FTC), and 15 states announced a sweep against foreclosure
relief scammers that used deceptive marketing tactics to rip off distressed homeowners
across the country. The Bureau is filing three lawsuits against companies and
individuals that collected more than $25 million in illegal advance fees for services that
falsely promised to prevent foreclosures or renegotiate troubled mortgages. The CFPB
is seeking compensation for victims, civil fines, and injunctions against the scammers.
Separately, the FTC is filing 6 lawsuits, and the states are taking 32 actions.

“We are taking on schemes that prey on consumers who are struggling to pay their
mortgages or facing foreclosure,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “These
companies pocketed illegal fees—taking millions of hard-earned dollars from distressed
consumers, and then left those consumers worse off than they began. These practices
are not only illegal, they are reprehensible.”

The first lawsuit names Clausen & Cobb Management Company and owners Alfred
Clausen and Joshua Cobb, as well as Stephen Siringoringo and his Siringoringo Law
Firm. The second lawsuit is against The Mortgage Law Group, LLP, the Consumer First
Legal Group, LLC, and attorneys Thomas Macey, Jeffrey Aleman, Jason Searns, and
Harold Stafford. The third lawsuit is against the Hoffman Law Group, its operators,
Michael Harper, Benn Wilcox, and attorney Marc Hoffman, and its affiliated
companies, Nationwide Management Solutions, Legal Intake Solutions, File Intake
Solutions, and BM Marketing Group.

The CFPB alleges that the scammers used deceptive marketing to persuade thousands
of consumers to pay millions in illegal, upfront fees for promised mortgage
modifications. Each of the scammers was a law firm or was associated with one. The
defendants disguised their false promises of foreclosure relief for struggling
homeowners with claims that they were performing legal work. These tactics are used
by foreclosure relief scams to attract victims, add credibility to their schemes, or exploit
certain legal exemptions for the practice of law.

The CFPB alleges that the defendants violated Regulation O, formerly known as the
Mortgage Assistance Relief Services (MARS) Rule, which generally bans mortgage
assistance relief service providers from requesting or receiving payment from
consumers for mortgage modifications before a consumer has signed a mortgage
modification agreement from their lender. It also prohibits deceptive statements and
requires certain disclosures when companies market mortgage assistance relief
services. In addition, the CFPB alleges that some of the defendants violated the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which generally prohibits
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deceptive practices in the consumer financial market.

The illegal practices alleged in the complaints include:

Collecting fees before obtaining a loan modification: Companies cannot
legally accept payment for helping to obtain a mortgage modification for a
consumer before the consumer has a modification agreement in place with their
lender. All of these companies charged consumers advance fees without having
first obtained modifications for them, which was not only illegal but also caused
significant harm to consumers who often paid thousands of dollars without ever
receiving a modification. The CFPB alleges that, after pocketing illegal fees from
one distressed homeowner after another, defendants typically stopped returning
consumers’ phone calls and emails.

Inflating success rates and likelihood of obtaining a modification: The
firms’ marketing materials misrepresented the likelihood that they would help
consumers save substantial sums in mortgage payments. Ultimately, many
consumers who paid these companies advance fees did not receive a mortgage
modification and ended up worse off than they began.

Duping consumers into thinking they would receive legal
representation: All of these companies engaged in a particularly egregious
scam where the perpetrators used their status as attorneys to dupe consumers
into thinking they would receive legal representation when many consumers
never spoke with an attorney or had their case reviewed by one.

Making false promises about loan modifications to consumers: During
meetings, some consumers were misled into believing that they were eligible for a
loan modification. Other consumers were promised that they would receive relief
within a few months. In the end, many consumers learned that the defendants
had not contacted their lenders or obtained any meaningful relief for them.
Ultimately, homeowners across the country lost thousands of dollars and suffered
significant economic injury, including losing their homes.

Today, the Bureau is also releasing a Consumer Advisory to help consumers recognize
the red flags of foreclosure relief scams, especially when someone is claiming to provide
legal help. Many scammers require consumers to send a third-party authorization form
to their lender so that the scammer can communicate with the lender on the consumer’s
behalf. Often, the scammer tells the consumer to no longer have any contact with the
lender. The Consumer Advisory being released by the Bureau also helps consumers
better understand what it means to authorize a third party to act on their behalf.

Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
and Siringoringo Law Firm
The Bureau filed its complaint against three individuals, Stephen Siringoringo, Alfred
Clausen, Joshua Cobb, and a corporation, Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc.
(CCMC), for allegedly charging homeowners illegal advance fees for mortgage loan
modifications. Their operation charged initial fees ranging from $1,995 to $3,500, in
addition to monthly fees of $495, to thousands of California homeowners in distress.
The complaint alleges that Clausen, Cobb, and CCMC managed, staffed, and supported
the deceptive loan modification operations of Stephen Siringoringo’s southern
California law firm. The State Bar of California initially referred the misconduct to the
CFPB.

The complaint against Clausen & Cobb Management Company, Inc. et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_clausen-cobb.pdf

http://twitter.com/cfpb
https://www.facebook.com/CFPB
http://www.flickr.com/photos/cfpbphotos
http://www.youtube.com/cfpbvideo
mailto:Mallory.Mclean@cfpb.gov
mailto:Moira.Vahey@cfpb.gov
mailto:Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/09/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/08/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/07/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/06/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/05/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/04/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/03/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/02/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/2014/01/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumer-advisory-dont-fall-for-a-foreclosure-relief-scam-or-bogus-legal-help/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_clausen-cobb.pdf


 

Privacy policy and legal notices

Accessibility

Plain writing

No FEAR Act

FOIA

 

USA.gov

Office of Inspector General

Ombudsman

 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

Visite nuestro sitio web en
español

The Mortgage Law Group and the Consumer
First Legal Group
The CFPB alleges that the Mortgage Law Group (TMLG) and Consumer First Legal
Group (CFLG) took in over $19.2 million in fees from over 10,000 distressed
homeowners nationwide, with most, if not all, of that money coming from illegal
advance fees for so-called loan modification services. Both TMLG and CFLG have
ceased operations, but the CFPB is seeking redress for consumers harmed by their
practices and permanent injunctive relief against the principals, Thomas Macey, Jeffrey
Aleman, Jason Searns, and Harold Stafford.

The complaint against The Mortgage Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_cfpb-v-tmlg-et-al.pdf

Hoffman Law Group
The CFPB alleges that since April 2012, the Hoffman Law Group (HLG) enterprise has
accepted over $5 million in illegal upfront fees. The Hoffman Law Group sold
consumers the chance to join mass lawsuits as a plaintiff and falsely promised them
that the lawsuits will help them get mortgage loan modifications or foreclosure relief.
HLG typically charged consumers an upfront fee of $6,000 plus a $495 monthly
maintenance fee every following month. The Bureau alleges that the Hoffman Law
Group frequently failed to help consumers obtain relief, and often did not answer or
return phone calls and emails from consumers who had already paid their fees.

The Bureau’s complaint against the Hoffman Law Group was filed jointly with the
Attorney General for the State of Florida, who has been a strong partner in the case.
Upon filing their complaint against the Hoffman Law Group, the Bureau and the State
of Florida sought a temporary restraining order that was issued by the court, freezing
the company’s assets and installing a receiver to oversee the business and ensure that
the company’s illegal conduct ceases.

The complaint against Hoffman Law Group et al. is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_complaint_hoffman-law-group-et-
al.pdf

The Bureau’s complaints are not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit ConsumerFinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File N o. 

In the Matter of: 

Colfax Capital Corporation, 
Culver Capital, LLC, 
Ronald Wilson, and 
William Collins 

CONSENT ORDER 

T he Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the business practices of 

Colfax Capital Corp., f/k/a Rome Finance Co., Inc., and Culver Capital, LLC, f/k/a Rome Finance 

Company (GA), LLC (Corporate Respondents, as defined below) related to their financing, 

purchasing, and servicing o f open-end financing agreements primarily entered into by United States 

military servicemembers to finance purchases of computers, cameras, cell phones, and other 

consumer goods from third parties. The Bureau has identified the following violations of law: 

(1) Regulation Z (Truth in Lending), 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, for (a) failing to accurately disclose the 

finance charge and annual percentage rate for financing agreements where Corporate Respondents 

served as the creditor, and (b) failing to disclose or accurately disclose in periodic billing statements 

for open-end financing agreements the annual percentage rate, the balance subject to interest rate, 

how that balance was determined, itemized interest charges, the closing date of the billing cycle, and 

the account balance on that date; and (2) the Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 (CFPA), 
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12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, for (a) unfairly facilitating creditors' deceptive disclosures in connection 

with financing agreetDents by promising to purchase, and purchasing, those financing agreements, 

and (b) servicing and collecting on consumer financing agreements that state laws rendered void or 

limited the consumer's obligation to repay. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order. 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1607. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent Colfax, by and through its governing officers pursuant to action of its Board, 

and with the non-opposition of the Colfax Tmstee pursuant to duly-approved compromise 

of controversy in the Bankruptcy Case, and the other Respondents have executed a 

"Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order," dated July ..1!!}_, 2014 

(Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this 

Stipulation, Respondents have consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the 

Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over 

Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 
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III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumer" shall mean a consumer who executed a financing agreement 

or dealer retail installment contract that constitutes a Rome Finance Contract. 

b. "Affected Consumer under the Rome Liquidating Trust" shall mean a consumer 

who executed a financing agreement or dealer retail installment contract that 

constitutes a Rome Liquidating Trust Contract. 

c. "Bankruptcy Case" shall mean In rc Co!fax Capita/ Corporation fdba Rome Finance Co., 

Inc., No. 08-45902 IvfEH 7 pending in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

Northern District of California. 

d. "Board" shall mean Respondent Colfax's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

e. "Colfax Trustee" shall mean Paul J. Mansdorf, who was appointed the Chapter 7 

Trustee for Respondent Colfax's bankruptcy estate upon conversion of the 

Bankruptcy Case to Chapter 7 by order entered in the Bankruptcy Case on 

September 27, 2013, Docket# 865. 

f. "Consumer Lending" shall mean: (1) granting a consumer the right, for prin1arily 

personal, family, or household purposes, to defer payment of a debt, incur debt and 

defer its payment, or purchase property or services and defer payment for such 

purchases; and/ or (2) purchasing accounts or debts generated as described in 

subsection (1), above. "Consumer Lending" shall not include any act or omission 

related to the granting or collection of any receivable owed to a business, person, or 

other entity whose primary business or personal purpose is not to engage in 

Consumer Lending. 
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g. "Corporate Respondents" shall mean Respondent Colfax Capital Corporation and 

Respondent Culver Capital, LLC. 

h. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

1. "Enforcement Director" shall mean the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or the Enforcement 

Director's designee. 

J· "Individual Respondents" shall mean Respondent Ronald Wilson and Respondent 

William Collins. 

k. "Respondents" shall mean all of the Individual Respondents and the Corporate 

Respondents, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

1. "Respondent Colfax" shall mean Colfax Capital Corporation, f/ k/ a Rome Finance 

Co., Inc., and its successors and assigns. 

m. "Respondent Culver" shall mean Culver Capital, LCC, f/k/ a Rome Finance Co. 

(GA), LLC, and its successors and assigns. 

n. "Rome Finance" shall mean Corporate Respondents collectively, but not the Colfax 

Trustee or the Colfax bankruptcy estate. 

o. "Rome Finance Contracts" shall mean all outstanding financing agreements or dealer 

retail installment contracts, whether performing or not, originated, generated, 

purchased, or otherwise owned, assigned to, or senriced by Rome Finance that are 

part of the Colfax bankruptcy estate and yielded to the Trustee for administration of 

a Settlement Agreement and Release entered by Respondents, the Attorneys General 

of various states, the Bureau, and the Trustee. For the avoidance of doubt, these 

assets shall include any Rome Finance Contracts assigned to the Colfax estate or 
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otherwise disposed of in accordance or in connection with the te1ms of the 

Settlement Agreement and Release. 

p. "Rome Liquidating Trust" shall mean the trust that was established pursuant to the 

Rome Liquidating Trust Agreement made as of December 20, 2011, in accordance 

with the Compromise Plan of Reorganization in the Chapter 11 case, In re Rome 

Finance Co., Inc., No. 08-45902 EDJ, pending in the United States Bankruptcy Court 

for the Northern District of California. 

g. "Rome Liquidating Trust Contracts" shall mean all outstanding financing agreements 

or dealer retail installment contracts, whether performing or not, originated, 

generated, purchased, or otherwise owned, assigned to, or serviced by Rome Finance 

that are held under the Rome Liquidating Trust. 

r. "Settlement Agreement" shall mean the agreement entered into by Respondents, the 

Attorneys General of various states, the Bureau, and the Trustee dated June 4, 2014, 

and related to the subject matter of this Consent Order, approved by order of the 

United States Bankruptcy Court in the Bankruptcy Case by order entered on June 26, 

2014, Case No. 08-45902. 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

IV 

General 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent Colfax is a California corporation incorporated in 1977 by Individual 

Respondent Ronald Wilson. 

5. Respondent Colfax moved its business activities from California to Georgia in 1992 after it 

filed a chapter 11 bankruptcy petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court of tl1e 
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Northern District of California (Case No. 91-41415-J), and the bankruptcy court confirmed 

a plan o f reorganization. 

6. In 2005, the Tennessee Attorney General filed a lawsuit against Colfax alleging predatory 

sales and lending practices. After incurring a contempt finding and a judgment for over $10 

million in favor of the State o f Tennessee, Respondent Colfax filed again for Chapter 11 

bankruptcy protection in 2008 with the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Northern 

District of California, and a reorganization plan was approved on December 5, 201 1 

("Reorganization Plan"). The court converted the case to Chapter 7 bankruptcy on 

September 27, 2013, and the United States Trustee appointed Paul]. Mansdorf as Chapter 

7 Trustee for Respondent Colfax's bankruptcy estate [Docket #867, September 27, 2013). 

7. While in business and prior to the Bankruptcy Case's being converted to Chapter 7 (at 

which point its business ceased), Respondent Colfax engaged in offering, providing, 

collecting upon, and taking assignment of open-end financing agreements, which are 

"consumer financial products or services." A "consumer financial product or service" is 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

8. Respondent Colfax is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

9. Respondent Culver is a Georgia limited liability company created by Individual 

Respondents Ronald Wilson and \Xfilliam Collins in May 2006. 

10. After the bankruptcy court entered the Reorganiza cion Plan, in J anuary 2012, ownership of 

Respondent Culver was transferred to Respondent Colfax and Culver became a wholly 

owned subsidiaty of Colfax. 

11. Respondent Culver engaged in offering, providing, collecting upon, and taking assignment 

of open-end financing agreements, which are "consumer financial product or services." 12 

u.s.c. § 5481(5). 
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12. Respondent Culver is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (6). 

13. Corporate Respondents hold over 12,000 financing agreements that total about $60 million 

and are primarily with United States military servicemembers. And the Rome Liquidating 

Trust holds over 5,000 financing agreements that total about $32 million and are primarily 

with United States military servicemembers. 

14. Respondent Ronald Wilson co-founded Respondent Colfax in 1977 and took over 

operations in 1982 when his co-founder died. Wilson was the President, CEO, and sole 

shareholder o f Respondent Colfax until December 2011, when he relinquished his control 

pursuant to the Reorganization Plan. Wilson continues to be a stockholder in Colfax. 

Wilson was also an owner and managing member of Culver until divesting his interest and 

transferring ownership to Colfax in January 2012 as part of the Reorganization Plan. 

Respondent Wilson actively participated in and/ or had knowledge of the business activities 

of Culver and Colfax. 

15. Respondent \Xlilliam Collins was an owner/ managing member of Culver since May 2006 

and had loaned substantial amounts of money to Culver and Colfax since the early 1990s 

for the purchase of the Rome Finance contracts. Respondent Collins either directly 

participated in the violations or bad authority to control the business activities of Culver 

during the relevant time period. 

16. Individual Respondents \Xlilson and Collins are each a "covered person" and a "related 

person" as those terms are defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (6) and (25). 

Hiding Finance Charges in the Price of Purchased Goods 

17. Corporate Respondents, through merchants, offered and provided open-ended financing 

agreements to servicemembers and other consumers for the purchase of consumer goods. 

18. Corporate Respondents were creditors as defined in Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. 
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§ 1026.2(17). 

19. The financing agreements that Corporate Respondents o ffered and provided were open

end credit as defined in Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(20). 

20. T he prices of the consumer goods disclosed in the financing agreements were inflated to 

hide the true cost of the credit provided. The inflated goods prices resulted in inaccurate 

finance charges and annual percentage rates in disclosures provided in Corporate 

Respondents' financing agreements, in violation of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.6(b)(2) 

and 1026.14. 

Failing to Provide Periodic Disclosures for Open-End Credit 

21. Respondent Colfax gave some consumers statements that failed to include the annual 

percentage rate, the balance subject to interest rate, how that balance was determined, 

itemized interest charges, the closing date of the billing cycle, and the account balance on 

that date, in violation of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.7(b)(4), 1026.7(b)(5), 

1026.7(b)(6)(ii), and 1026.7(b)(10). 

Unfairly Facilitating Deception 

22. Corporate Respondents agreed in advance to buy, and actually bought, financing 

agreements from merchant-creditors who sold goods to consumers on credit. T his 

arrangement enabled the merchant-creditors to extend the credit to consumers. 

23. For over thirty years, Corporate Respondents have been involved in the business of 

providing financing for servicemembers' and other consumers' purchases of consumer 

goods and fully understand the merchant-creditors' business and practices, including the 

practices for disclosing to consumers the prices of the consumer goods and the terms of 

the financing. 
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24. In extending credit to consumers, merchant-creditors from whom the Corporate 

Respondents took assignment provided consumers disclosures that misrepresented the 

amounts for finance charges and annual percentage rates. In particular, the merchant

creditors artificially inflated the disclosed prices of the goods sold such that the disclosed 

finance charges and annual percentage rates were understated. 

25. Such inaccurate finance charge and annual percentage rate disclosures misled or were likely 

to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. The inaccurate 

information deprived consumers of the ability to make an informed choice about whether 

to take out credit. As a result, consumers unknowingly took out credit with high finance 

charges. 

26. An act or practice is unfair under the CFP A if it (1) causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (3) such 

injut)' is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 

U.S.C. § 5531 (c). 

27. Consumers suffered substantial injury through paying higher finance charges than what was 

disclosed. 

28. Corporate Respondents' actions enabled the merchant-creditors to extend credit, and the 

injury to consumers was a predictable consequence of those actions. Corporate 

Respondents accordingly helped cause that injury. 

29. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the injury due to the deceptive disclosure, and the 

injury that consumers suffered is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 
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30. Thus, Corporate Respondents have engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(c)(1) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1) and 

5536(a) (1)(B). 

Collecting Void Consumer Debt 

31. Some states, including for example New York and North Carolina, provide that consumer 

financing agreements are void, or limit consumers' obligation to repay, where the consumer 

financing company is not licensed under state law or charges an annual percentage rate in 

excess of state usury law. See, e.g., N.Y. Gen. Oblig. L. §§ 5-501, 5-511; NY Banking Law § 

14-a[1]; N.C. Gen. Stat § 53-166. 

32. Corporate Respondents serviced and collected on consumer financing agreements 

originated in New York, North Carolina, and other states described above. 

33. Corporate Respondents were not licensed to offer or provide consumer credit in New 

York, North Carolina, or any other state. 

34. The financing agreements that Corporate Respondents serviced and collected had finance 

charges in excess of state usury caps. 

35. An act or practice is unfair under the CFP A if it (1) causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injuty to consumers; (2) such injmy is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (3) such 

injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 

U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

36. Corporate Respondents' acts or practices in servicing and collecting upon financing 

agreements that New York, North Carolina, and other state laws rendered void or limited 

the consumer's obligation to repay, caused or were likely to cause substantial injury. This 

injury was not reasonably avoidable by New York's, North Carolina's, and other states' 

conswners or outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 
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37. Therefore, Corporate Respondents engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031 (c)(1) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1) and 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

38. An act or practice may be considered "deceptive" under the CFPA if the act or practice (1) 

misleads or is likely to mislead the consumer; (2) the consumer's interpretation of the act or 

practice is reasonable under the circumstances; and (3) the misleading act or practice is 

material. 

39. By sending billing notices for and demanding payments on financing agreements that state 

law made void or limited consumers' obligation to repay, Corporate Respondents 

represented, expressly or impliedly, that the entire loan balances were owed to them, that 

they were legally authorized to collect the associated payments, and that consumers were 

legally obligated to pay the full amount collected or demanded. Corporate Respondents 

failed to disclose that the financing agreements, in full or in part, were void or not subject 

to a repayment obligation under applicable state law. T lus omission was likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably in the circumstances. In addition, these facts would have been 

material to consumers in deciding whether to pay those amounts that Corporate 

Respondents had no legal right to collect or that the consumers had no obligation to repay. 

40. Therefore, Corporate Respondents engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) o f the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

41. An act or practice may be "abusive" under the CFP A if the act or practice " takes 

unreasonable advantage of .. . a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer o f the 

material risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

42. Consumers in New York, North Carolina, and other such states generally do not know or 

understand the impact that the above-cited and other licensing and usury laws have on their 
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financing agreements. Consumers who obtained financing agreements through, or whose 

financing agreements were assigned to, Corporate Respondents in New York or o ther 

states where licensing or usury laws rendered those financing agreements void, or otherwise 

limited the consumers' obligation to repay them, typically lacked an understanding that 

those state laws vitiated Corporate Respondents' rights on all or part of the consumers' 

repayment obligations. 

43. By nevertheless taking, or attempting to take, the full balance from New York's, North 

Carolina's, and other states' consumers, Corporate Respondents took unreasonable 

advantage of these consumers' lack of understanding about the impact of applicable state 

laws on the parties' rights and obligations regarding the financing agreements. 

44. Therefore, Corporate Respondents have engaged in "abusive" acts or practices in violation 

of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

v 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Mfirmative Action 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

45 . Respondents and, when acting on Respondents' behalf, their o fficers, agents, servants, and 

employees who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, shall permanently cease and desist from by any means whatsoever conducting 

any business, new or otherwise, in any aspect of the field of Consumer Lending, including 

but not limited to consulting, purchasing, servicing, collecting upon, or receiving 

compensation or monies directly or indirectly from the activities involved in Consumer 

Lending. 
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46. Respondents and, when acting on Respondents' behalf, their officers, agents, servants, and 

employees who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, shall cease and desist from collecting on any Rome Finance Contracts. 

47. The Colfax Trustee, as sole representative of the Colfax banktuptcy estate holding Colfax's 

and Culver's property, shall cease and desist collection on all Rome Finance Contracts with 

payments previously made being deemed in full satisfaction thereof as respects the 

bankruptcy estate. Deeming the Rome Finance Contracts as fully paid does not limit the 

rights, if any, of Affected Consumers to file timely proofs of claim in the Bankruptcy Case. 

Pursuant to approval thereof by the Bankruptcy Court in the Bankruptcy Case, said 

disposition shall constitute administration of said property rather than abandonment from 

the bankruptcy estate. 

48. Upon the Effective Date, without delay, the Colfax Trustee will send a notice approved by 

the Bureau to all Affected Consumers whose financing agreements are subject to collection 

cessation pursuant to this Consent Order, to the extent that such Affected Consumers' 

addresses have been provided to the Colfax Trustee prior to the closing of the Bankruptcy 

Case. That notice shall be sent to the consumers' last known addresses and shall explain 

that the financing agreements arc no longer being collected in the bankruptcy estate of 

defunct businesses, that their validity is in bona fide dispute as asserted by the Bureau, and 

that no further payments will be accepted or are due. 

49. The Trustee shall update the credit reporting agencies (to whom Corporate Respondents 

routinely furnished information about consumers) to record each Affected Consumer as 

paid as agreed. 
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50. Until the Bankruptcy Case is closed, the Colfax Trustee shall cooperate in executing 

documents presented to him to vacate or satisfy any judgments relating to the Rome 

Finance Contracts. 

51. Respondents shall cause or permit the Corporate Respondents' business status to be 

suspended permanently and forfeited by the appropriate governmental agencies and shall 

not restore nor operate the Corporate Respondents, or either of them, or their business 

activities. 

52. The Colfax Trustee, Respondents, and when acting on Respondents' behalf, their o fficers, 

agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, shall not use, sell, transfer, or otherwise provide to any other 

person any intellectual property of the Corporate Respondents, including but not limited to 

corporate and brand names, copyrights, trademarks, telephone numbers, customer lists, 

methods o f doing business, promotional, and operational systems and coding, text and 

design. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Redress 

53. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is hereby entered in favor of the Bureau and 

against Corporate Respondents. Corporate Respondents are ordered to compensate 

Affected Consumers and Affected Consumers under the Rome Liquidating Trust for the 

amount of excess finance charges they paid above the amount of finance charge disclosed; 

provided, however, that in consideration of Respondent Colfax's status as a debtor in 

Chapter 7 bankruptcy, full payment of this judgment shall be suspended upon satisfaction 

of the Colfax Trustee's obligations set forth in Paragraphs 47, 48, and 49. 
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VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. Under Section 1 055( c) of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. § 5565( c), by reason of the violations of law 

set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the fa ctors set forth 

in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Colfax Trustee, on behalf of Respondent Colfax, shall pay a 

civil money penalty of $1.00 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth 

herein. 

55. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, the Colfax Trustee shall pay the civil money penalty 

in the form of a check to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct and in 

accordance with instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau. 

56. T he civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

VIII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. In the event of any default on the Colfax T rustee's obligation to make the $1.00 payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U .S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment and shall immediately become due and payable. 

58. The Colfax Trustee, on behalf of Respondent Colfax, shall relinquish all dominion, control, 

and title to the funds paid pursuant to Paragraph 54 (tl1e $1.00 civil money penalty) to the 
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fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to the Colfax 

Trustee or Respondent Colfax. 

59. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Corporate Respondents, unless they already have 

done so, shall furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

60. Within seven days of the Effective D ate: 

a. Each Respondent shall designate at least one telephone number and an email, 

physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with the Respondent; 

b. Each Respondent shall identify all businesses that Respondent owns in whole or in 

part or direcdy or indirecdy controls by all of their names, telephone numbers, and 

physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Each Respondent shall describe the activities of each such business, including the 

products and services offered, the means of advertising, marketing, and sales; 

d. Each Individual Respondent shall identify all telephone numbers and all email, 

Internet, physical, and postal addresses, including all residences; 

e. Each Individual Respondent shall identify all tides and roles in all business activities, 

including any business for which such Individual Respondent perfom1s services 
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whether as an employee or otherwise and any entity in which such Individual 

Respondent has any ownership interest; and 

f. Each Individual Respondent shall describe in detail such Individual Respondent's 

involvement in each such business, including title, role, responsibilities, participation, 

authority, control, and any ownership. 

61. For 10 years from the Effective Date, each Respondent shall notify the Bureau of any 

change that may affect the Respondent's compliance obligations arising under this Consent 

Order, including but not limited to: (a) any designated point of contact; (b) the structure of 

the Corporate Respondents or any entity that any Individual Respondent has any 

ownership interest in or directly or indirectly controls that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including creation, merger, sale, or 

dissolution, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets, of Respondent or any such 

entity or any subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Order; or (c) the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against the 

Respondent. 

62. For 10 years from the Effective Date, each Individual Respondent shall also notify the 

Bureau of any change in: (a) name, including aliases or fictitious names, or residence 

address; or (b) title or role in any business activity, including any business for which such 

Individual Respondent performs services whether as an employee or otherwise and any 

entity in which such Individual Respondent has any ownership interest, and identify its 

name, physical address, and Internet address, if any. 

63. For 10 years from the Effective Date, each Respondent shall report any change in the 

information required to be submitted under Paragraphs 60 through 62 at least 30 days prior 

to such change. ProtJided, h01vcvcr, that with respect to any proposed change about which a 
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Respondent learns less than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take place, 

Respondent shall notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such 

knowledge. 

64. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one yeaf'after the Effective Date, each 

Respondent shall submit to the E nforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X of this 

Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

65. After the one-year period, each Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Within seven days of the Effective Date, each Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement 

Director an acknowledgment, sworn under penalty of perjury, of receipt o f this Consent 

Order. 

67. \Xlithin 30 days of the Effective Date, each Corporate Respondent and each Individual 

Respo ndent, for any business for which the Individual Respondent is the majority owner or 

controls directly or indirectly, shall deliver a copy of this Consent O rder to each of its 

board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, service 
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providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order. 

68. For five years from the Effective Date, each Corporate Respondent and each Individual 

Respondent, for any business for which the Individual Respondent is the majority owner or 

controls directly or indirectly, shall deliver a copy o f this Consent Order to any business 

entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in Section IX, any future board 

members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, 

or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject 

matter of the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

69. Each Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 

requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all 

persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Each Corporate Respondent and each Individual Respondent, for any business for which 

an Individual Respondent, individually or collectively with any other Respondent, is a 

majority owner or controls directly or indirectly, shall create, for at least 10 years from the 

Effective Date, and then retain, for at least five years, and make available to the Bureau 

upon request, all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order. 
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XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

71. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 

communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order shall be in 

writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

The subject line shall begin: In re Co!fax Capital Corp., eta/., File No. 2014-CFPB-OO[docket 
number noted above]. 

Provided bou;ever that Respondents may send such reports or notifications by first-class 

mail, but only if Respondents contemporaneously send an electronic version of such report 

or notification to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Each Respondent shall cooperate fully to assist the Bureau in determining the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer and Affected 

Consumer under the Rome Liquidating Trust. Each Respondent shall provide such 

information in its or its agents' possession, custody, or control to the Bureau within 14 days 

of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 
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XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring each Respondent's 

compliance with this Consent Order, including the representations upon which the judgment was 

suspended: 

73. Within 14 days of receipt of a written reguest from the Bureau, each Respondent shall: 

submit additional compliance reports or other reguested information, which shall be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

74. For purposes of tlus Section, the Bureau may communicate direcdy with any Respondent, 

unless the Respondent retains counsel in connection with such communications. 

75. Each Respondent shall permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with the Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

76. Nothing in tlus Consent Order shall limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory process 

under 12 C.P.R. § 1080.6. 

XV 

Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may, solely within the 

Enforcement Director's discretion, modify any non-material provisions (e.g., reasonable 

extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) of this Consent Order. Any 

such modification by the Enforcement Director shall be in writing. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XVI 

78. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau 

or any other governmental agency from taking any other action against Respondents, 

except as provided in Paragraph 80. 

79. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final Consent Order 

issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

80. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for violations of 

law that have been or might have been asserted by the Bureau based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred prior 

to the Effective Date and are known to the Bureau as of the Effective Date. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices described in this Consent Order may be 

utilized by the Bureau in future enforcement actions against Respondents and their 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish either a pattern or practice of violations 

or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations, or to calculate the amount of any 

penalty. This release shall not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and 

ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the Consent Order or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

81. This Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent that, and 

until such time as, any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or tenninated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

82. Calculation of time limitations shall tun from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 
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83. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any violation of 

this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

84. This Consent Order, the accompanying Stipulation, and the Settlement Agreement, contain 

the complete agreement between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties 

other than those set forth in this Consent Order, the accompanying Stipulation, and the 

Settlement Agreement, have been made by any of the parties. This Consent Order, the 

accompanying Stipulation, and the Settlement Agreement supersede all prior 

communications, discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in 

writing. 

85. Nothing in this Consent Order, the accompanying Stipulation, or the Settlement 

Agreement shall be construed as allowing Respondents, their Board, officers, or employees 

to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this '2-fJI. day of July, 2014. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB and 13 State Attorneys General
Obtain About $92 Million in Debt Relief
for Servicemembers Harmed by
Predatory Lending Scheme
Rome Finance and Owners Permanently Banned from Consumer Lending After
Deceiving About 17,000 Servicemembers and Other Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) and 13
state attorneys general obtained approximately $92 million in debt relief from Colfax
Capital Corporation and Culver Capital, LLC, also collectively known as “Rome
Finance,” for about 17,000 U.S. servicemembers and other consumers harmed by the
company’s predatory lending scheme. Rome Finance lured consumers with the promise
of no money down and instant financing. Rome Finance then masked expensive finance
charges by artificially inflating the disclosed price of the consumer goods being sold.
Rome Finance also withheld information on billing statements and illegally collected on
loans that were void. Rome Finance and two of its owners are permanently banned
from consumer lending.

“Rome Finance’s business model was built on fleecing servicemembers,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “Rome Finance lured servicemembers in with the promise of
instant financing on expensive electronics, then masked the finance charges with
inflated prices in marketing materials and later withheld key information on monthly
bills. Today, their long run of picking the pockets of our military has come to an
ignominious end.”

Colfax, formerly known as Rome Finance Co., Inc., is a California consumer lending
company and Culver is its wholly owned subsidiary, formerly known as Rome Finance
LLC. The companies offered credit to consumers purchasing computers, videogame
consoles, televisions, or other products. These products were typically sold at mall
kiosks near military bases with the promise of instant financing with no money down.
In some cases, Rome Finance was the initial creditor, and in other cases, Rome Finance
provided indirect financing by agreeing to buy the financing contracts from merchants
who sold the goods.

Servicemembers and other consumers would fill out a credit application at the kiosk
and, if approved, sign financing agreements that did not accurately disclose the
amounts they would have to pay for that financing. These contracts generated millions
for Rome Finance while weighing down consumers with expensive debt. Rome Finance
has been the subject of previous state and federal enforcement actions and Colfax is
currently in Chapter 7 bankruptcy. The CFPB and state attorneys general uncovered
substantial evidence that Rome Finance’s lending scheme violated several laws and that
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these illegal practices harmed approximately 17,000 consumers. The CFPB in its
consent order found that Rome Finance:

Hid finance charges when marketing products: Rome Finance and
merchants it worked with masked expensive finance charges by artificially
inflating the disclosed price of the consumer goods being sold. As a result, they
provided consumers with disclosures that had inaccurately low finance charges
and annual percentage rates (APR). Consumers received disclosures, for example,
indicating the APR was 16 percent when in fact the APR was 100 percent or more.
That inaccurate information prevented consumers from making an informed
decision about whether to take out credit.

Withheld required financial information from billing statements:
Billing statements that Rome Finance sent to consumers failed to include certain
disclosures required by law such as: the annual percentage rate, the balance that
was subject to that interest rate, how that balance was determined, the closing
date of the billing cycle, and the account balance on the closing date.

Deceptively, unfairly, and abusively collected debt that was not owed:
Rome Finance was not licensed to provide consumer lending in any state and
charged annual percentage rates higher than some states allowed, which voided or
limited the collectable debt in some states under state lending law. Rome Finance
deceived consumers in these states by failing to inform them that some or all of
their debt was void or otherwise did not have to be repaid. As a result, many
consumers were misled into thinking that they had to repay the entire loan
balance and making those payments, when they did not have to.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions or individuals engaging in
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. The Truth in Lending Act also authorizes
the CFPB to take action against creditors who do not accurately disclose the cost of
credit and other credit terms to consumers. To address these violations, the CFPB’s
consent order requires Rome Finance to:

Provide approximately $92 million in debt relief: All efforts to collect on
any of the outstanding Rome Finance financing agreements must cease. Rome
Finance still has approximately $60 million in contracts owed by about 12,000
consumers that it will no longer seek to collect. Separately, a liquidating trust
created as part of Colfax’s bankruptcy plan will stop collections on approximately
$32 million owed by more than 5,000 consumers for Rome Finance’s financing
agreements. Servicemembers may keep the merchandise they purchased.

Update credit reporting agencies and notify servicemembers and
other consumers of debt status: The Colfax Trustee must update the credit
reporting agencies so that affected consumers are listed as having paid their debt.
The Colfax Trustee must also notify all affected consumers that their debt will no
longer be collected.

Rome Finance and their owners must cease consumer lending: Rome
Finance and two of their owners, Ronald Wilson and William Collins, are
permanently banned from conducting any business in the field of consumer
lending.

Pay redress for hidden finance charges: Rome Finance was ordered to pay
redress to compensate affected consumers for the amount of excess finance
charges they paid. When Colfax’s Trustee has complied with certain provisions of
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the Consent Order, the requirement to pay redress will be suspended because
Rome Finance has no ability to pay such redress.

Pay civil money penalty: For its inaccurate disclosures, and unfair, deceptive,
and abusive practices, Colfax, through its bankruptcy trustee, will make a $1
penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. The Bureau is not assessing a
larger penalty because Colfax is bankrupt. With Colfax making a payment to the
Civil Penalty Fund,  Rome Finance’s victims may be eligible for relief from the
Civil Penalty Fund in the future, although that determination has not yet been
made.

Cooperate with servicemembers and other consumers who seek to
vacate judgments: The Colfax Trustee is required until the Colfax bankruptcy
case is closed to cooperate in executing any documents presented to him to vacate
or satisfy any judgments against consumers relating to the financing agreements.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_consent-order_rome-finance.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2014-CFPB-__ _ 

In the Matter of: 

Amerisave Mortgage Corporation; 
Novo Appraisal Management Corp.; 
and Patrick Markert. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain practices 

of Amerisave Mortgage Corporation, Novo Appraisal Management Corporation, and 

Patrick Markert (Respondents, as defined below) and has identified violations of: (1) 

Section 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 and 5536; (2) Section 8 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 

2607, and its implementing regulation, Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. part 1024 (collectively, 

RESPA); (3) the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and its implementing 

regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. part 1026 (collectively, TILA), and (4) the Mortgage 

Acts and Practices Rule (MAP Rule), Section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 

2009 (P.L. 111-8) and its implementing regulation, 12 C.F.R. part 1014. The Bureau issues 

this Consent Order under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 u.s.c. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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I. Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 

1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565, Section 8(d) ofRESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

2607(d), Section 108 ofTILA, 12 U.S.C. § 1607, and the Omnibus Appropriations Act 

of 2009, 12 U.S. C. § 5538. 

II. Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order," dated August 5, 2014 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit that the 

Bureau has jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 

III. Definitions 

3· The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumer" means a consumer within one of the described 

classes of consumers eligible for restitution, set out in Section VIII. 

b. "Amerisave" shall mean Amerisave Mortgage Corporation. 

c. "Corporate Respondents" shall mean Amerisave Mortgage 

Corporation, Novo Appraisal Management Corporation, and their 

successors and assigns. 

d. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is 

entered. 

e. "Enforcement Director" shall mean the Assistant Director of the 
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Office of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

or his delegee. 

f. "Executive Management" shall mean Corporate Respondents' chief 

executive officer, president, and senior management. 

g. "Individual Respondent" shall mean Patrick Markert, and his 

successors and assigns. 

h. "Markert" shall mean Patrick Markert. 

i. "Novo" shall mean Novo Appraisal Management Corporation. 

j. "Related Consumer Action" shall mean a private action by or on 

behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by 

another governmental entity, brought against Respondent based on 

substantially the same facts as set forth in Section IV of this Order. 

k. "Respondents" shall mean all Corporate Respondents and the 

Individual Respondent, individually, collectively, or in any 

combination. 

IV. The Bureau's Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Amerisave is a mortgage lender that operates primarily online through 

its website at www.Amerisave.com. Amerisave's website is designed to quote mortgage 

rates to consumers, allow consumers to input their personal information, and facilitate 

the loan application and mortgage origination process. Amerisave's loan officers are 

available to consumers by phone or through email to help guide them through the 

various steps on Amerisave's website. 

s. Amerisave also advertises its mortgage products online by listing specific 
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mortgage rates in rate tables publicized through the website of an unrelated third

party company ("Rate Publisher") that compiles rate quotes and other information of 

mortgage lenders who use its service, which is aimed at allowing consumers to 

compare available rates from various lenders in the consumer's specific location. The 

Rate Publisher's website also allows a consumer to enter personal information in order 

to generate an individualized rate quote, which the Rate Publisher displays for several 

different lenders. The consumer may click on one of those lenders, which then takes 

the person to that lender's website. 

6. Amerisave also runs display ads, which generically advertise available 

rates, on a number of independent websites. 

7· Amerisave's CEO, Markert, has an indirect beneficial ownership interest 

in both Amerisave and Novo through trusts for himself and members of his family. 

Since January 2011, Amerisave has generally required its customers to use Novo for 

their home appraisal services, referring more than 99% of its appraisal business to 

Novo. 

8. Amerisave is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). The residential mortgage loans made by Amerisave are "consumer financial 

products or services" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5)(A), (15)(A)(i). 

9. Respondent Novo is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6). Novo is Amerisave's affiliate and provides appraisal management 

services throughout the United States. Appraisal management services are "consumer 

financial products or services" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5)(A), (15)(a)(ii). 

Novo is also a "covered person," as a "related person" to Amerisave. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(25)(C)(iii)(I). 
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10. Respondent Markert is a "related person" to both Amerisave and Novo, 

as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). He has managerial responsibility for 

Amerisave, and has materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of both 

Amerisave and Novo. Because Markert is a "related person," he is deemed a "covered 

person" for purposes ofthe CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions Related to 
Amerisave's and Markert's Deceptive Mortgage Ads. 

11. The Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA) provides, in relevant 

part, that covered persons and service providers may not "engage in any unfair, 

deceptive, or abusive act or practice." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

12. Markert is Amerisave's chief executive officer and beneficial owner. He 

directly participated in setting the rates and terms Amerisave advertised in the Rate 

Publisher's tables and in Amerisave's banner ads. He also had overall managerial 

responsibility for Amerisave's pricing, business relationships, and marketing practices. 

Markert is therefore a related person under 12 U.S. C. § 5481(25)(C)(i) & (ii). 

13. Because Markert is a related person, he is also a covered person under 

the CFP A. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

14. The Mortgage Acts and Practices Rule (MAP Rule), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3, 

provides, in relevant part: 

It is a violation of this part for any person to make any material 
misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 
communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit 
product, including but not limited to misrepresentations about: 
(a) The interest charged for the mortgage credit product .... (b) 
The annual percentage rate, simple annual rate, periodic rate, or 
any other rate; (c) The existence, nature, or amount of fees or 
costs to the consumer associated with the mortgage credit product 

The MAP Rule became effective on August 19, 2011. 

5 

2014-CFPB-0010     Document 1     Filed 08/12/2014     Page 5 of 39



Inaccurate Rates on the Rate Publisher's Tables 

15. In using the Rate Publisher's service, Amerisave periodically sends 

mortgage interest rate information to the Rate Publisher, which the Rate Publisher 

includes on its published rate tables. 

16. From mid-2011 until May 2013, a systemic problem caused Amerisave to 

list lower mortgage rates than it was willing to honor on the Rate Publisher's rate 

tables for "jumbo conforming" loans. Amerisave knew that its advertised rates for its 

jumbo conforming products were inaccurate. 

17. In addition, Amerisave supplied mortgage rates for other mortgage 

products to the Rate Publisher that were not likely to be locked by the majority of its 

customers. Amerisave allowed such rates to be listed on the Rate Publisher's mortgage 

tables. 

18. Amerisave also failed to perform any systematic due diligence or quality 

control to check the accuracy of its listed rates, including its rates for both jumbo 

conforming loans and other loan products. 

19. The Rate Publisher received periodic complaints from consumers about 

the inaccuracy of Amerisave rates published on its website. The Rate Publisher 

forwarded these complaints to Amerisave, as well as directly to Markert. 

20. The Rate Publisher conducts occasional mystery shops to audit the 

accuracy of the rates advertised by lenders on its rate tables. Amerisave failed at least 

five such mystery shops from 2011 through February 2013. 

Inaccurate Rates in Amerisave Display Ads 

21. The rates Amerisave advertised in its display ads published on third-

party websites were based on a sample consumer profile that included an Boo credit 
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score, although the majority of Amerisave consumers have credit scores below Boo. 

Amerisave's reliance on an Boo credit score was not adequately disclosed in the 

display ads, despite the fact that Amerisave charged consumers more if they had credit 

scores below Boo. 

22. Amerisave's advertised rates in its display ads were also frequently 

dependent on the prospective borrower paying discount points, sometimes as high as 

$1o,ooo. But, except as a component of APR, Amerisave did not disclose the fact that 

discount points had been used to reduce the rates in its ads. 

23. Very few consumers locked a rate or APR that was equal to or lower than 

those Amerisave claimed to offer in its contemporaneous display ads. 

24. From at least January 1, 2011 through at least May 2013, Amerisave 

advertised mortgage rates, both in display ads and on the Rate Publisher's mortgage 

tables, which misled or were likely to mislead certain consumers. 

25. Amerisave made substantial profits from loans made to these 

consumers. 

26. Consumers viewing these Amerisave ads reasonably interpreted them as 

reflecting mortgage rates customarily made available to consumers by Amerisave. 

27. The actual rates made available by Amerisave to most consumers 

resulted in substantially higher consumer costs for interest and fees than what 

Amerisave represented in its advertisements. 

2B. Amerisave's advertised rates therefore were materially inaccurate for 

most of its customers. 

29. Amerisave and Markert therefore violated the CFPA's prohibition of 

deceptive practices and the MAP Rule. 
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Findings and Conclusions Related to 
Amerisave's and Markert's Deceptive Mortgage Quotes. 

30. From at least January 1, 2010 until on or about October 2S, 2013, 

consumers who clicked through to Amerisave's own website from a display ad or 

mortgage table on a third-party website landed on Amerisave's homepage. Amerisave's 

homepage then directed consumers to a set of quotes based on their individualized 

circumstances (county, state, loan amount, property value), except that the quotes 

were based on an Sao credit score, which was not disclosed or changeable on 

Amerisave's homepage. 

31. Consumers with credit scores below Sao (the majority of Amerisave 

consumers) typically received less favorable loan terms, other factors being constant, 

than those received by consumers with credit scores above Sao. 

32. From at least January 1, 2010 to on or about October 2S, 2013, 

Amerisave allowed consumers to receive personalized "Mortgage Rate Quotes" by 

entering their loan amount, property value, state, county, and loan type on the 

Amerisave homepage. Amerisave disclosed the other factors the quote was based on, 

including an Sao FICO score, in a side bar next to the generated quotes, but only on 

the following page. On the following page, after the initial quote was generated, the 

consumer was provided the option of changing the FICO score or other loan factors in 

the side bar in order to generate a new quote. 

33. Due to the design of Amerisave's website and mortgage loan application 

process, many consumers with credit scores below Sao did not receive any additional 

quotes from Amerisave before beginning an Amerisave mortgage application. 

34· Amerisave's homepage generated inaccurate personalized quotes for 

consumers with credit scores below Sao. 
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35. The actual rates typically made available by Amerisave to consumers 

with a credit score under Boo resulted in higher consumer costs for interest and fees 

than what Amerisave represented in the personalized mortgage quotes presented to 

such consumers on Amerisave's homepage. This problem affected thousands of 

consumers and allowed Amerisave to realize substantial profits from loans made to 

those consumers. 

36. Amerisave's undisclosed Boo credit score mortgage quote therefore 

violated the CFPA's prohibition of deceptive practices and the MAP Rule. 

Findings and Conclusions Related to Amerisave Imposing 
Fees from Novo Before Giving Consumers a Good Faith Estimate. 

37. Mortgage lenders must provide mortgage loan applicants with a Good 

Faith Estimate (GFE), which is a disclosure document designed to help consumers 

compare different lenders' rates and terms, and shop around before committing to a 

specific company. 

3B. From on or about January 2009 to on or about July 2009, Amerisave 

charged consumers an application fee of $35 before giving them a GFE. 

39. From on or about July 2009 to on or about May 2011, Amerisave 

charged consumers $35 as a credit report deposit fee before giving them a GFE. 

40. During this same period, individual credit reports cost Amerisave 

approximately $7.50 and joint credit reports cost Amerisave approximately $12. After 

on or about May 2011, Amerisave only charged consumers its actual cost for credit 

reports. 

41. After Amerisave pulled the consumer's credit report, Amerisave 

displayed another set of interest rates to consumers, prompting them to choose a rate 

and closing costs option to lock. Prior to April 2012, after consumers chose a rate, but 
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before Amerisave gave the consumer a GFE, Amerisave required each loan applicant 

to schedule an appraisal and provide credit or debit card information to authorize a 

charge between $375 and $500 for the appraisals. 

42. For at least some credit card accounts, Amerisave's authorization hold 

reduced the consumer's amount of available credit. For at least some debit card 

accounts, Amerisave's authorization hold froze those funds in the consumer's checking 

or savings account. Although such authorization holds eventually dropped off of a 

consumer's account, they could have lasted up to 30 days. 

43· Amerisave did not permit consumers to defer scheduling and providing 

credit/debit card information for an appraisal until after seeing a GFE. A consumer 

could not obtain a GFE from Amerisave without first scheduling an appraisal and 

providing credit card authorization information. 

44. After scheduling and authorizing payment for the appraisal, if the 

consumer canceled within 24 hours of the scheduled appraisal time, the consumer 

could have been subject to a cancellation fee of 50% of the total appraisal cost. 

Amerisave encouraged consumers to schedule the appraisal as soon as possible, many 

times within 24 hours of providing payment information. Amerisave did not disclose 

the potential cancellation fee to consumers on the page that required them to schedule 

and provide payment information for the appraisal. 

45· By requiring the consumer to schedule and provide payment information 

for an appraisal generally costing from $375 to $500 before providing the consumer 

with a GFE, Amerisave made it less likely that consumers would compare Amerisave's 

rates and terms with those of other potential lenders. 

46. The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act's (RESPA) Regulation X (12 
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C.P.R. 1024.7(a)(4)) provides, in relevant part: 

The lender is not permitted to charge, as a condition for providing 
a GPE, any fee for an appraisal, inspection, or other similar 
settlement service. The lender may, at its option, charge a fee 
limited to the cost of a credit report. The lender may not charge 
additional fees until after the applicant has received the GFE and 
indicated an intention to proceed with the loan covered by that 
GPE. 

47. The Truth in Lending Act's (TILA) Regulation Z (12 C.P.R.§ 

1026.19(a)(1)(ii)) provides, in relevant part: 

Imposition of fees. Except as provided in paragraph (a)(l)(iii) of 
this section, neither a creditor nor any other person may impose a 
fee on a consumer in connection with the consumer's application 
for a mortgage transaction subject to paragraph (a)(l)(i) of this 
section before the consumer has received the disclosures required 
by paragraph (a)(l)(i) of this section. 

48. From at least January 2009 to May 2011, Amerisave charged and 

imposed upon consumers a $35 fee at the outset of a mortgage application, before 

Amerisave provided them with a GPE. This $35 fee was a not bona fide and reasonable 

fee for obtaining a credit report. 

49. Amerisave required consumers to schedule an appraisal and authorize 

$375 or more in credit or debit card charges before giving them a GPE and before 

receiving indication that a consumer intended to proceed with an Amerisave loan 

covered by the GPE. Amerisave charged millions of dollars in appraisal fees to 

thousands of consumers who ultimately did not close a loan with Amerisave. 

so. Amerisave thus charged and imposed fees of more than the actual cost of 

a credit report before giving consumers a GFE and before receiving indication that a 

consumer intended to proceed with an Amerisave loan. 

51. By marking up the cost of credit reports and requiring appraisal fee 

credit or debit card authorizations before giving consumers their first GPE and 
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receiving an indication of the consumer's intention to proceed with a loan covered by 

the GFE, Amerisave violated RESPA, Regulation X and TILA, Regulation Z. 

52. Novo occasionally charged Amerisave a cancellation fee of so% of the 

appraisal's cost when the appraiser charged Novo for the cost ofthe appraiser's work. 

Because Amerisave often had consumers schedule appraisals on the following day, in 

at least some circumstances consumers were liable for an appraisal cancellation fee 

before they received a GFE, in violation of TILA, Regulation Z. 

Findings and Conclusions Related to Markert and Amerisave 
Requiring Consumers to Use Novo 

Without Properly Disclosing Their Relationship. 

53. Amerisave does not allow consumers to choose their own appraiser or 

appraisal management company. Since on or about January 2011, Amerisave has 

referred over 99% of its appraisals to its affiliate, Novo Appraisal Management 

Corporation. 

54· Until on or about November 2013, Amerisave did not disclose its affiliate 

relationship with Novo until Amerisave had already obtained credit card authorization 

information regarding the scheduling of the appraisal from the consumer. 

55. Amerisave also required consumers to pay $100 for "appraisal reviews." 

Amerisave did not disclose that this fee was ultimately paid to Novo in an Affiliated 

Business Arrangements form, or anywhere else, from on or about January 2011 until 

on or about October 2012. 

56. Amerisave's webpage requiring consumers to enter appraisal payment 

information also included misleading statements that undermined its subsequent 

disclosure of its affiliate relationship with Novo. Amerisave told consumers that 

"Appraisers do not work for Amerisave," that "they are an independent third party," 
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and "Amerisave allows payment for the appraisal to be made to Amerisave as a 

convenience to our customers." But Amerisave failed to mention anywhere on this 

page that Novo was its affiliate or that a portion of these fees ultimately flowed back, at 

least indirectly, to Amerisave's CEO and owner, Markert. 

57. Novo receives appraisal referrals from Amerisave, and then retains a real 

estate appraiser to conduct the appraisal and prepare the appraisal report. Once the 

appraisal is complete, Novo forwards the appraisal report to Amerisave. Amerisave 

then runs the final charges on the consumer's credit or debit card and transfers the 

proceeds back to Novo. 

58. Markert established trusts for himself and members of his family that 

indirectly are the beneficial owners of both Novo and Amerisave. Amerisave referred 

nearly all ofits appraisal business to Novo. At times, Markert set the price Novo 

charged Amerisave for appraisals and the base amount that Novo paid appraisers. The 

Markert and Markert Family trusts received shareholder distributions from Novo 

during 2011, 2012, and 2013, most of which came from profits Novo generated from 

referrals from Amerisave. 

59. RESPA § 8(a), 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a), provides: 

No person shall give and no person shall accept any fee, kickback, 
or thing of value pursuant to any agreement or understanding, 
oral or otherwise, that business incident to or a part of a real 
estate settlement service involving a federally related mortgage 
loan shall be referred to any person. 

60. RESPA § 8(c), 12 U.S.C. § 2607(c), contains a narrow exception to§ 

8(a)'s prohibition. It provides, in relevant part: 

Nothing in this section shall be construed as prohibiting ... (4) 
affiliated business arrangements so long as (A) a disclosure is 
made of the existence of such an arrangement to the person being 
referred and, in connection with such referral, such person is 
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provided a written estimate of the charge or range of charges 
generally made by the provider to which the person is referred ... 
(iii) in the case of referral by a lender ... at the time the estimates 
required under section s(c) [GFE] are provided ... (B) such 
person is not required to use any particular provider of settlement 
services, and (C) the only thing of value that is received from the 
arrangement, other than the payments permitted under this 
subsection, is a return on the ownership interest or franchise 
relationship . . . . For purposes of the preceding sentence, the 
following shall not be considered a violation of (4)(B): (i) any 
arrangement that requires a buyer, borrower, or seller to pay for 
the services of an attorney, credit reporting agency, or real estate 
appraiser chosen by the lender to represent the lender's interest in 
a real estate transaction .... 

61. Markert, Amerisave, and Novo have an Affiliated Business Arrangement 

for purposes of RESP A. 12 U.S.C. § 2602(7), (8). 

62. Novo, Amerisave, and Markert are not subject to the exception set forth 

in RESPA § 8(c)(4). 

63. Novo has given, and Markert has accepted, a thing of value, in the form 

of profit distributions from Novo, pursuant to the agreement or understanding that 

appraisal management services and appraisal validation reports involving federally 

related mortgage loans of Amerisave consumers shall be referred to Novo, in violation 

ofRESPA §8(a). 

Findings and Conclusions Related to Novo's Appraisal Fees and Appraisal 
Review Fees, and Amerisave's related representations. 

64. Since on or about January 2011 until on or about January 2014, 

Amerisave charged all consumers who closed a loan with Amerisave a $100 "appraisal 

review fee," which is passed directly to Novo. For this fee, Novo ordered "appraisal 

validation reports" from a third party. These reports indicated whether the property's 

appraised value was supported. In addition, Novo generated a "validation certificate," 

a document that stated that Novo ordered the reports. 
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65. Amerisave did not disclose to consumers that the appraisal validation 

fees were being paid to its affiliate, Novo, until on or about October 2012. 

66. Novo's appraisal validation process had three steps involving varying 

levels of reports produced by the third party. All Novo appraisals received a first step 

validation; the subsequent steps were required only if an appraisal did not pass the 

immediately previous step. Over time the first two steps became entirely automated 

(the second step became automated in mid-2013). 

67. The step 1 reports generally cost Novo $10, and the step 2 reports 

generally cost Novo $12. For the 85% of consumers who only received a step 1 report, 

Novo's $100 charge resulted in a goo% markup over acquisition cost. For validations 

ending with a step 2 report, this still resulted in a 354% markup. 

68. A significant majority of the time, Novo's out-of-pocket cost for the 

validation process was only $10, and its average cost per consumer for the whole 

validation process was approximately $20. 

69. Novo's automated process for ordering, transmitting and invoicing step 1 

and 2 reports involved a relatively small investment in the underlying information 

technology. Novo also had little in the way of contemporaneous expenses for services 

corresponding to ordering, transmitting, and invoicing step 1 or step 2 reports, for the 

vast majority of time these automated systems were in place. 

70. Novo forwarded the appraisal validation reports directly to Amerisave 

for use by Amerisave's underwriters. 

71. The validation certificates were automatically generated and cost Novo 

virtually nothing. 

72. Amerisave made the following representations to consumers about third 
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party fees, including the appraisal review fee, before consumers received a GFE: 

a. "These fees are not paid to Amerisave." 

b. "By law, mortgage companies are not allowed to markup or make 

money on any ofthese fees." 

c. "If a fee is guaranteed, this means that Amerisave has negotiated a 

special deal on your behalf for this fee." 

73· While the appraisal validation fees were "not paid to Amerisave," they 

were paid to Amerisave's affiliate Novo and generated substantial income for Novo, 

some of which resulted in indirect distributions to the Markert and Markert Family 

trusts. And while Amerisave did not "markup or make any money" on the appraisal 

validation fees, Amerisave's affiliate Novo did. Finally, rather than having "negotiated 

a special deal on your behalffor this fee," Amerisave negotiated with Novo a $100 

charge for this service, while Novo charged other lenders as little as $25 for a nearly 

identical service. 

74· Before Novo was created in December 2010, Amerisave directly ordered 

the appraisal validation reports from the third party. It only charged consumers for 

Amerisave's actual acquisition price for these reports, with no additional markup. 

Amerisave's underwriters used the validation reports to facilitate the underwriting 

process. 

75. After December 2010, Novo purchased the validation reports and simply 

transferred them to Amerisave. Having Novo, rather than Amerisave, order the reports 

provided no benefits to Amerisave's consumers. No one at Novo reviewed the reports 

or otherwise used them before they were automatically sent over to Amerisave. 

76. Novo's annual profit and loss statements show that Novo made more 
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than $4 million gross profit from appraisal validation markups from 2011 to 2013. 

77. Amerisave's representations about Novo's appraisal fees and appraisal 

validation fees misled or were likely to mislead consumers. 

78. Consumers reasonably understood Amerisave's representations to mean 

that Novo's appraisal fees and appraisal review fees were an independent third party's 

fees being passed along to the consumer. 

79. Amerisave's representations and omissions were materially inaccurate. 

So. As CEO of Amerisave, Markert materially participated in the conduct of 

Amerisave's affairs and had ultimate responsibility for Amerisave's representations 

about Novo's appraisal validation fees. Markert also materially participated in the 

conduct of Novo's affairs. 

81. Markert realized substantial financial gain from Amerisave's 

representations about Novo's appraisal validation fees. 

82. Amerisave and Markert therefore violated the CFPA's prohibition of 

deceptive practices. 

83. The MAP Rule, in addition to the prohibitions listed above, also 

proscribes any misrepresentations about "the existence, nature, or amount of fees or 

costs to the consumer associated with the mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(c). 

84. Amerisave, as described above, misrepresented the nature of Novo's 

appraisal fees and appraisal validation fees. 

85. Amerisave therefore violated the MAP Rule. 

86. The CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1) provides that an act or practice is 

"unfair" if it "is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably 
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avoidable by consumers," and that injury "is not outweighed by countervailing benefits 

to consumers or to competition." 

87. Amerisave hid these markups on the cost of the appraisal validation 

reports by only disclosing Amerisave's affiliate relationship with Novo after: 1) 

Amerisave misrepresented that the validation fees were not marked up and were the 

product of a "special deal" for consumers; 2) the consumer had already scheduled an 

appraisal, 3) Amerisave imposed an authorization hold on consumers' credit or debit 

cards; and 4) subjected consumers to a potential appraisal cancellation fee ifthey 

walked away from the appraisal within 24 hours of the scheduled appraisal. 

88. Amerisave, Novo, and Markert's validation fee outsourcing therefore 

caused substantial harm to consumers, in the form of the hidden markup, which was 

not reasonably avoidable. To the extent the validation services markup had any 

countervailing benefits, such benefits were substantially outweighed by the costs to 

consumers or competition. 

89. Amerisave, Markert, and Novo therefore violated the CFPA's prohibition 

of unfair practices. 

Conduct provisions 

V. Order to Cease and Desist 
and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

go. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

cease and desist from any further violations of the CFPA's prohibition of unfair or 

deceptive conduct, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B), with respect to mortgage 

advertising and mortgage origination acts or practices. 
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91. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

cease and desist from any further violations of the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3, with 

respect to mortgage advertising acts or practices. 

92. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

cease and desist from any further violations ofRESPA, Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.7(a)(4), with respect to their mortgage origination acts or practices. 

93. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

cease and desist from any further violations ofTILA, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.19(a)(1)(ii), with respect to their mortgage origination acts or practices. 

94. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

cease and desist from any further violations ofRESPA § 8(a), 12 U.S. C.§ 2607(a) with 

respect to their acts or practices related to the referral of real estate settlement services 

to affiliates. 

95. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall 

take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Amerisave will advertise only rates and terms that are in fact 

available to consumers. 

b. Amerisave will prominently display or disclose in its 

advertisements all disclosures required by applicable law, 
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including but not limited to disclosures required by TILA and the 

MAP Rule. If the majority of consumers who applied for loans 

with Amerisave during the previous calendar quarter would not 

qualify for the rate and discount point combination advertised in 

display ads and banner ads Amerisave places on its website or any 

third-party websites, then Amerisave will prominently display or 

disclose, in the advertisement itself and not solely in disclosures 

accessible only by clicking on a hyper link, the following 

parameters related to the advertised rates: rate, APR, discount 

points and any similar fee that Amerisave charges for buying 

down the interest rate that would be disclosed in Section 2 of the 

GFE, FICO score, LTV, and loan amount. If Amerisave introduces 

a new loan product, it should look to the majority of Amerisave 

consumers who applied for a 30 year fixed loan product (refinance 

or purchase, as applicable to the new loan product) during the 

previous calendar quarter to determine whether the disclosures 

required by the prior sentence are required. 

c. Amerisave will prominently display or disclose in its display ads 

and banner ads it places on its website or any third-party 

websites, in the advertisement itself and not solely in disclosures 

accessible only by clicking on a hyper link, the APR, and any 

discount points or any similar fee that Amerisave charges for 

buying down the interest rate that would be disclosed in Section 2 

of the GFE when such points and fees exceed a half percentage 
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point of the loan principal. 

d. Amerisave's homepage web tool will not generate quotes without 

prominently displaying the credit score upon which that quote is 

based or without asking the consumer to supply his or her estimated 

credit score and relying on that score in order to generate a rate. Any 

such default credit score used should not exceed the median credit 

score for consumers closing loans with Amerisave. 

e. Amerisave will provide third party websites with only rates and 

terms that are actually available to consumers based on the 

parameters selected by the consumer on the third party website or 

the default values used and disclosed by the third party website. 

f. Amerisave will develop a quality control program with responsibility 

for reviewing Amerisave's advertisements to determine whether the 

rates advertised are actually available to consumers with the same 

loan terms and conditions disclosed, either in the advertisement 

itself, or through the default values used and disclosed through the 

third party website. Amerisave will correct any advertising defects 

discovered during the quality control process as soon as practicable. 

If Amerisave is unable to correct any identified advertising defect 

and cease advertising the rates with defects within 5 business days of 

identification, it will immediately provide the Bureau's Enforcement 

Director with: 1) notice that it has experienced an advertising defect; 

2) a detailed description of the defect, including the scope, affected 

website, and estimated duration; and 3) the specific steps Amerisave 
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has taken to prevent consumers from being misled while Amerisave 

works to resolve the defect. 

g. Amerisave will give consumers an affiliated business arrangements 

disclosure form (AfBA) before making any referrals to an affiliate or, 

if Amerisave requires use of a particular provider, at the time ofloan 

application. Amerisave will give an AfBA before having a consumer 

schedule or authorize payment for a Novo appraisal. Amerisave's 

AfBA will show the amount, within permitted range, expected to be 

charged to the consumer by the affiliate to which Amerisave intends 

to make the referral or which it will require the consumer to use. 

h. Amerisave will not make any representations that services are 

performed by a third party if the charge to consumers for such 

services includes a markup by Amerisave or an Amerisave affiliate, 

unless Amerisave, in the same passage, also explains the amount 

includes such a markup paid to Amerisave's affiliate. 

i. Amerisave will not charge a consumer for anything other than its 

actual cost for a credit report before providing the consumer a GFE 

and an AfBA disclosure, if applicable, and before the consumer has 

indicated an intention to proceed with an Amerisave loan covered by 

that GFE. 

J. Amerisave will not authorize appraisal charges or otherwise obtain 

any payment authorization from consumers until it has provided a 

GFE and an AfBA disclosure, and the consumer has indicated an 

intention to proceed with an Amerisave loan covered by that GFE, 
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other than to obtain payment for Amerisave's actual cost for a credit 

report. 

k. Amerisave will not schedule an appraisal or otherwise make any 

referrals of third party services, other than for a credit report, until 

it has provided a GFE and, in the case of referrals to, or required 

use of, affiliates, an AfBA disclosure. 

I. Amerisave will not charge any appraisal cancellation fees except for 

appraisals scheduled after a consumer has received a first GFE and 

AfBA disclosure. 

m. Amerisave will not require the use of any settlement service from any 

company with which it has an affiliated business relationship under 

RESPA, other than those services excepted under RESPA Sec. 8(c), 

12 U.S.C. § 2607(c), and its implementing Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.15Cb )(2). 

n. Amerisave will not charge consumers for appraisal review services or 

appraisal validation certifications ordered from an affiliate whose 

standard pricing is higher for Amerisave retail customers than other 

similarly situated consumers for the same services or certifications. 

It is understood that pricing may vary for some individual 

consumers based on the complexity of an individual assignment. 

o. Amerisave will provide, on an annual basis for the three years 

following the Effective Date, a Compliance Plan in response to the 

report of an Independent Consultant, as outlined in Section VII. If, 

during each of the three years following the Effective Date, the 
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Independent Consultant finds that Amerisave has substantially 

complied with the relevant provisions of this order and federal 

consumer financial law, Amerisave will have no further obligation to 

retain the Independent Consultant. 

VI. Prohibited Misrepresentations Relating to 
Amerisave's Referral of Third Party Services. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

g6. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or 

performance of any consumer financial product or service, are hereby permanently 

restrained and enjoined from misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, 

expressly or by implication: 

a. That fees are not paid to Amerisave when describing any fee paid to 

an Amerisave affiliate that includes a markup; 

b. That, by law, mortgage companies are not allowed to markup or 

make any money on any of these fees when describing any fee paid 

to an Amerisave affiliate that includes a markup; 

c. That, if a fee is guaranteed, this means that Amerisave has 

negotiated a special deal on your behalf for this fee, unless 

Amerisave has a legitimate basis for claiming that Amerisave 

consumers pay less than the ordinary retail price for such services; 

d. That a fee is paid to an independent third party, when describing 

any fee paid to an Amerisave affiliate that includes a markup; 

e. Any other statement that is substantially similar to those listed from 
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(a)-( d). 

VII. Independent Consultant's Report and Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

97. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Amerisave shall secure and retain 

one or more independent consultants, with specialized experience in false advertising 

analysis, statistics, real estate settlement services, and mortgage origination, and 

acceptable to the Enforcement Director, to conduct an independent review of 

Amerisave's advertising and website disclosure practices. The review shall include an 

analysis of Amerisave's advertising practices including both Amerisave's listing of 

rates on third party Rate Publisher websites and Amerisave's prepaid ads; Amerisave's 

website disclosure process, including its representations to consumers, descriptions of 

services performed by affiliates, referrals to affiliates; and the timing and content of 

Amerisave's disclosures. The purposes of the review shall be to determine: 

a. whether Amerisave is advertising rates below those actually available 

to similarly situated, contemporaneous consumers; 

b. whether Amerisave's homepage is generating accurate and 

transparent mortgage quotes for consumers; 

c. whether Amerisave is properly disclosing its relationship to its 

affiliates before making any referrals or imposing any fees or 

charges upon consumers; 

d. whether Amerisave is properly describing the nature of the 

services performed by its affiliates; and 

e. whether Amerisave is imposing any impermissible fees or charges 

before providing consumers with required disclosures. 
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98. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, the independent consultant(s) 

shall prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review (the "Independent 

Consultant Report"), and provide the Independent Consultant Report to the 

Amerisave Executive Management. 

99. Within 30 days of receiving the Independent Consultant Report, the 

Amerisave Executive Management shall: 

a. Develop a plan (the "Compliance Plan") to: (i) correct any 

deficiencies identified, and (ii) implement any recommendations or 

explain in writing why a particular recommendation is not being 

implemented; and 

b. Submit the Independent Consultant Report and the Compliance Plan 

to the Enforcement Director. 

100. The Enforcement Director shall have the discretion, within 30 days of 

receiving the Compliance Plan, to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Compliance Plan or to direct Amerisave to revise it. In the event that the Enforcement 

Director directs Amerisave to revise the Compliance Plan, the Amerisave Executive 

Management shall make the requested revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to 

the Enforcement Director within 20 days. 

101. Within a reasonable time after notification that the Enforcement 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, 

Amerisave shall implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes set forth in the Compliance Plan. 
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VIII. Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

102. A judgment for equitable monetary relief and damages is hereby entered 

in favor of the Bureau and against Amerisave in the amount of $14,892,234. 

103. Immediately upon signing this Stipulation, Amerisave is ordered to 

transfer a total of $14,892,234 to an escrow account maintained by counsel. 

104. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents' counsel will pay to 

the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau 

may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for 

the Bureau, $14,892,234 in full satisfaction of the judgment as set forth in Paragraphs 

102-103 of this Section. 

105. Individual Respondent, in his personal capacity, will be jointly and 

severally liable for the judgment set forth in paragraph 102. 

106. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment shall 

be deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or its agent in 

accordance with applicable statutes and regulations. Such funds are to be used for 

redress for injured consumers, including, but not limited to, refund of moneys, 

restitution, damages, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant expenses for the 

administration of any such redress. In particular, funds will be distributed to provide 

redress to: 

a. Consumers who viewed Amerisave's misleading rates on the Rate 

Publisher between July 21, 2011 and the Effective Date and then took 

out a mortgage through Amerisave with higher than advertised rates; 

b. Consumers who received misleading Boo FICO score mortgage 
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quotes on Amerisave's website between July 21, 2011 and the 

Effective Date, and then took out a mortgage through Amerisave with 

a rate higher than what was quoted; 

c. Consumers who, between November 1, 2009 and the Effective Date 

paid charges in excess of Amerisave's actual cost of providing a credit 

report before Amerisave provided a GFE; 

d. Consumers who, between January 1, 2011 and the Effective Date, 

paid appraisal fees after being referred to Novo by Amerisave without 

receiving proper disclosure of their affiliate relationship; and 

e. Consumers who closed loans during the period of December 2010 

through the Effective Date and paid for appraisal review fees. 

107. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to such 

consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is 

completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief 

(including consumer information remedies) as determined to be reasonably related to 

the violations described in Section IV of this Consent Order. Any funds not used for 

such equitable relief shall be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent shall have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this paragraph. 

108. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not 

be conditioned on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX. Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

109. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 
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violations of law set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors set forth in 12 U.S. C.§ 5565(c)(3), Respondents shall pay a civil money 

penalty of $6 million to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

This amount is allocated as follows: 

a. Amerisave and Novo will pay a combined civil money penalty of $4.5 

million; and 

b. Markert will pay a civil money penalty of $1.5 million. 

110. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents shall pay the civil 

money penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau. 

111. Markert, in his personal capacity will be jointly and severally liable for all 

civil money penalties required to be paid by either Amerisave or Novo. 

112. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be 

deposited in the Civil Penalty Fund ofthe Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) 

ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

113. Respondents shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, each Respondent shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard 

to any federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that 

Respondent pays under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 
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payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty that Respondent pays under this Consent Order. 

114. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent shall not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor shall 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in 

the Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

(Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Respondent shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. Such a payment shall noi be deemed an additional civil money penalty and 

shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 

X. Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

115. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

shall accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and shall immediately become due and payable. 

116. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to 

Respondents. 

117. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already 

have done so, shall furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which 

may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount 
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arising out of this Consent Order. 

118. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondents shall notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification shall indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is 

required to pay to consumers and should describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

119. Under Section 6o4(a)(I) ofthe Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 168l 

b(a)( 1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning 

any Respondent to the Bureau, which shall be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

120. Respondents, any current or former affiliated entity, to the extent 

Respondents retain liabilities associated with such former affiliated entity, as well as 

any current or former director, current or former officer, and current or former 

employee of any of the foregoing, may not receive funds, or any other monetary 

benefit, from any federal, state, or local government agency in connection with costs 

directly or indirectly incurred (1) investigating, defending, engaging in corrective 

actions and/ or making payments related to or required by matters covered by the 

Consent Order; or (2) due to the Bureau's examination and/or investigation of 

Respondents. This prohibition includes insurance, incentive payments, or any other 

type of compensation. To the extent that any such funds or monetary benefits are 

received, Respondents shall provide an accounting of such funds or monetary benefits, 

and return the amount of the funds or the monetary benefit to the appropriate 

governmental agency. 
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XI. Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

121. Each Respondent shall notify the Bureau of any change in any 

Respondent that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, 

including but not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action 

that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution 

of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the proposed filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against any Respondent; or a change in any Respondent's name or address. 

122. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, each Respondent shall designate at 

least one telephone number and an email, physical, and postal address as points of 

contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

123. Each Respondent shall report any change in the information required to 

be submitted under Paragraph 121 at least 30 days before such change. Provided, 

however, that with respect to any proposed change about which Respondent learns 

less than 30 days before the date such action is to take place, Respondent shall notify 

the Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 

124. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again each year for the 

following three years after the Effective Date, Amerisave shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance 

Report), which has been approved by the Amerisave Executive Management which, at 

a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Amerisave has 

complied with this Order; and 
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b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XII of this Consent Order, unless previously submitted to 

the Bureau. 

XII. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

125. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, each Respondent shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn 

under penalty of perjury. 

126. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Corporate Respondents and 

Individual Respondent, for any business for which he is the majority owner or which 

he directly or indirectly controls, shall deliver a copy of this Consent Order to each of 

its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

service providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

127. For 5 years from the Effective Date, each Respondent and Individual 

Respondent, for any business for which he is the majority owner or which he directly 

or indirectly controls, shall deliver a copy of this Consent Order to any business entity 

resulting from any change in structure as set forth in Section XI (Reporting 

Requirements), any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

128. Each Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement 

acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures 
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complying with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII. Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

129. Amerisave, any successor thereto, and any retail mortgage origination 

business for which an Individual Respondent individually or collectively with any 

other Respondent is a majority owner or which he directly or indirectly controls, shall 

create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, and then retain, for at least 5 years, 

and make available to the Bureau upon request, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance 

with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions 

to the Bureau. 

b. Copies of all advertisements, websites, and other marketing 

materials, and including any such materials used by a third party on 

behalf of a person subject to this paragraph. 

c. Documents sufficient to demonstrate the general experience of 

consumers on each materially different version of each website on 

which each Respondent, whether acting directly or through any sole 

proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, 

subsidiary, branch, division, affiliate, or other entity, advertises, 

promotes, markets, offers for sale, sells, or provides products or 

services, including, as necessary: 

(i) Screenshots or screen capture recordings of such websites on 
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at least a quarterly basis; 

(ii) Source code and database records for such websites; and 

(iii) Other documents related to the design and functioning of 

such websites, including source code repository comments, 

version histories, and system change requests, including 

supporting documentation, submitted through Amerisave's 

project management web application. 

d. Advertising and customer data sufficient for the Bureau to assess 

whether advertised rates and terms reflect those actually made 

available to consumers. 

e. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether received 

directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and any 

responses to those complaints or requests. 

XIV. Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

130. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, 

requests, communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 

Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street NW, Washington, DC 20552. 

The subject line shall begin: In re Amerisave, et al., File# [insert docket 

number from first page] 
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Provided however that Respondent may send such reports or notifications by first

class mail, but only if Respondent contemporaneously sends an electronic version of 

such report or notification to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XV. Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

131. Respondents shall cooperate fully to assist the Bureau in determining 

the identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Consumer. Respondents shall provide such information in its or its agents' possession, 

custody, or control to the Bureau within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

XVI. Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring Respondent's 

compliance with this Consent Order: 

132. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel in connection with such 

communications. 

133. Respondent shall permit the Bureau's representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

134. Nothing in this Consent Order shall limit the Bureau's lawful use of 

compulsory process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XVII. Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

135. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may 
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exercise discretion to modify any non-material provisions ofthis Consent Order (e.g., 

reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements). Any such 

modification by the Enforcement Director shall be in writing. 

XVIII. Administrative Provisions 

136. The Bureau releases and discharges the Respondents from all potential 

liability (other than as set forth in this Order) for law violations that the Bureau has or 

might have asserted based on the practices described in Section IV of this Consent 

Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau 

knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 

described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and 

its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the 

amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau 

to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Consent Order. 

137. Except as provided in paragraph 136, the provisions of this Consent 

Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental 

agency, from taking any other action against Respondents. 

138. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a 

final Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and 

expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

139. This Consent Order shall terminate 5 years from the Effective Date, or 

5 years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 
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violation of the Consent Order by any Respondent. Provided, further, that if such 

action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that no Respondent violated 

any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed 

or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had 

never been filed. The Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

140. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and 

shall be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

141. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the 

Bureau. Any violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the 

Bureau of the maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 

1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

142. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the 

complete agreement between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties 

other than those set forth in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

have been made by any of the parties. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede all prior communications, discussions, or understandings, if 

any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

143. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, their Boards, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this ~y of August, 2014. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Amerisave To Pay $19.3
Million For Bait-And-Switch Mortgage
Scheme
Owner Patrick Markert to Pay Additional $1.5 Million for Deceiving
Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against Amerisave Mortgage Corporation, its affiliate, Novo Appraisal
Management Company, and the owner of both companies, Patrick Markert, for
engaging in a deceptive bait-and-switch mortgage-lending scheme that harmed tens of
thousands of consumers. The Bureau found that Amerisave lured consumers by
advertising misleading interest rates, locked them in with costly up-front fees, failed to
honor its advertised rates, and then illegally overcharged them for affiliated “third-
party” services. Amerisave and Novo will provide $14.8 million in refunds to harmed
consumers and pay a $4.5 million penalty. Patrick Markert, as an individual, will pay an
additional $1.5 million penalty.

“Amerisave lured consumers in with deceptive advertising, trapped them with costly
upfront fees, and then illegally overcharged them for services from an undisclosed
affiliate,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “By the time consumers could have
discovered the advertised low rates were too good to be true, they had already
committed to pay hundreds of dollars to Amerisave. Today’s action puts an end to
Amerisave’s unacceptable bait-and-switch scheme and holds Patrick Markert
personally responsible for his illegal actions.”

Amerisave Mortgage Corporation, an Atlanta-based online mortgage lender, advertises
and lends in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. Between mid-2011 and 2014,
Amerisave advertised its interest rates and terms using online banner ads and
searchable rate tables on third-party websites. The Bureau found that Amerisave posted
inaccurate rates on these banner ads and rate tables, inducing consumers to pursue a
mortgage with Amerisave. When consumers were directed to Amerisave’s own website,
Amerisave gave consumers quotes based on an 800 FICO score, even where consumers
had previously entered a FICO score below 800 on the third-party website that led
them to Amerisave. This resulted in Amerisave offering many consumers misleadingly
low quotes.

Amerisave required consumers to order and give payment authorization information
for an appraisal before it would provide a Good Faith Estimate (GFE) for the mortgage,
and did not tell consumers until later that the appraisal orders were being referred to its
own affiliated company. At closing, Amerisave also charged consumers for “appraisal
validation” reports, without disclosing that the service was provided by its affiliate Novo
Appraisal Management Company, and that Novo had marked up the reports by as much
as 900 percent. Consumers trusted that Amerisave had bargained in good faith for this
third-party service, which Amerisave described as being a “special deal” for Amerisave
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customers.

he Bureau found that Amerisave:

Deceptively advertised low interest rates that were not available: On its
own website, its banner ads, and its listings on the website of a third-party rate
publisher, Amerisave advertised misleading rates and terms for its mortgage
products. For certain types of loans, the advertised rates were simply not
available; for others, the rates advertised were appreciably lower than the rates
the typical Amerisave customer was actually likely to lock. Through use of these
inaccurate rates and terms, Amerisave lured consumers into pursuing a mortgage
with the company. In its Consent Order, the CFPB found that this practice was
deceptive under the Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA) and the Mortgage
Acts and Practices (MAP) Rule.

Locked consumers in with costly up-front fees: Amerisave required
consumers to schedule and give payment authorization information for costly
appraisals before providing consumers with a GFE, in violation of the Truth in
Lending Act (TILA) and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA). By
leading customers to believe they were already obligated to pay such costly fees,
often $400 or more, Amerisave restricted consumers’ ability to shop for
alternative products and better prices. Amerisave also marked up the cost of
credit reports by as much as 350 percent, prior to giving consumers a GFE.

Failed to properly disclose its affiliate relationship: Amerisave referred
virtually all of its customers’ appraisal orders to its affiliate, Novo, but, in violation
of RESPA, failed to disclose that Novo was an Amerisave affiliate until after
consumers had already provided payment authorization information for their
appraisals. Amerisave also made numerous deceptive statements that led
consumers to believe that Amerisave had no relationship with Novo and that its
fees were reasonable third-party fees.

Charged unfairly inflated prices for services through its affiliate:
Amerisave’s owner and CEO, Patrick Markert, received more than three million
dollars in indirect profit distributions as a result of requiring consumers to use
Novo for marked up “appraisal validations.” Amerisave required consumers to
purchase “appraisal validation” reports from Novo, which Novo purchased for an
average of $20. Novo then charged Amerisave customers $100 for the service,
ultimately passing much of the $80 windfall back to Patrick Markert. Until
October 2012, Amerisave failed to make any disclosure that this service was being
referred out to Novo, as opposed to being provided by Amerisave itself. The
Bureau alleges this conduct was an unfair practice.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. The CFPB’s order requires Amerisave, Novo, and Markert to take the
following actions:

Pay $14.8 million in consumer refunds: Amerisave and Novo must provide
$14.8 million in refunds to the consumers harmed by the false advertising,
impermissible fees, and illegal referrals during the period covered by the order.
The Bureau will administer the refunds and the amount each eligible consumer
will receive will vary based on how much that consumer paid Amerisave. A third-
party settlement administrator will be contacting eligible consumers once a
restitution process is established.
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Stop advertising unavailable mortgage rates: The order requires
Amerisave to ensure that it will not engage in deceptive mortgage advertising
practices. Those practices include, but are not limited to, advertising unavailable
rates on third-party searchable rate tables, advertising deceptive rates in its
banner ads, and giving consumers mortgage quotes based on an undisclosed 800
credit score. Amerisave will implement a quality control program and retain an
independent consultant to review its advertising practices.

No longer charge illegal fees: Amerisave will not charge fees or make
referrals to its affiliates before giving consumers the proper disclosure forms.

Pay $6 million in fines: Amerisave will make a $4.5 million penalty payment,
and Patrick Markert will make an additional $1.5 million penalty payment, to the
Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the Bureau’s consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_consent-order_amerisave.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2014-CFPB- 

 
 
 
In the Matter of: 

 

USA Discounters, Ltd. CONSENT ORDER 
 
 
 
 
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) has reviewed the practices 

of Respondent USA Discounters, Ltd. relating to its extension of credit and has 

identified violations of law. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau hereby issues 

this Consent Order (“Order”). 

I. 
 

Overview 
 

The Bureau finds that USA Discounters has engaged in violations of Sections 
 

1031 and 1036 of the CFPA (collectively, “Section 1036”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, in 

connection with a fee that it charged members of the United States Armed Forces as a 

condition of credit. 

II. 
 

Jurisdiction 
 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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III. 
 

Stipulation 
 
2. USA Discounters has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of 

Consent Order,” dated August 11, 2014 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, USA Discounters has 

consented to the issuance of this Order by the Bureau pursuant to Sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying 

any findings of fact or violations of law, except that USA Discounters admits the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over USA Discounters and 

the subject matter of this action. 

IV. 
 

Definitions 
 
3. For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

 
a. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Order is issued. 

 
b. “Eligible Consumers” shall mean any current or former member of the 

United States Armed Forces who paid or has been obligated to pay one or 

more $5 “SCRA Specialists fee” in connection with credit that USA 

Discounters offered and sold during the Relevant Time Period. 

c. “Enforcement Director” shall mean the Assistant Director of the Office of 
 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 
 

d. “Related Consumer Action” shall mean a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental entity, brought against USA Discounters based on 

substantially the same facts as set forth in Section V of this Order. 
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e. “Relevant Time Period” shall include the period from January 1, 2009 

through the Effective Date of this Order. 

f. “USA Discounters” means “USA Discounters, Ltd.” and its affiliates, 

successors, and assigns, by whatever names they might be known. 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

V. 
 

General 
 

The Bureau finds the following: 
 

4. USA Discounters, Ltd. is a privately held company that operates a chain of retail 

stores selling furniture, electronics, bedding, and appliances from storefronts 

nationwide, mostly located within a few miles of military installations. 

5. From each of its locations, USA Discounters offers credit to finance the purchase 

of merchandise through a retail installment contract, often titled Consumer 

Retail Installment Contract and Security Agreement (“Installment Contract”). 

6. For members of the U.S. Armed Forces, USA Discounters has provided a version 
 

of the Installment Contract that includes a provision titled “Military Service, 

Home State,” which acknowledges the servicemember is on “active duty status in 

the U.S. Military.” The provision also states that the servicemember agrees that 

“an independent company, SCRA SPECIALISTS, LLC of Norfolk, Virginia . . . 

may perform an investigation to verify the facts and representations” relating to 

the servicemember’s duty status in the military. 

7. As a prerequisite for entry into the Installment Contract, servicemembers must 
 

sign an attached agreement titled “Military Services Addendum” (“the 
 

Addendum”). The Addendum acknowledges that the servicemember is an active 
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duty member of the U.S. Armed Forces and reserves the servicemember’s rights 

and protections under section 524 of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act 

(“SCRA”), 50 U.S.C. app. § 524. Among other rights granted to servicemembers, 

section 524 states that a court may stay the execution of any judgment or order 

entered against the servicemember and vacate or stay an attachment or 

garnishment of property, money, or debts in the possession of the servicemember 

when, in the opinion of the court, the servicemember is materially affected by 

reason of military service in complying with the court judgment or order. 

8. The Addendum also states that the servicemember, referenced as the “Buyer,” 
 

agrees to “engage the services of SCRA Specialists, LLC, an independent 

company, . . . to represent and assist Buyer in specified matters related to 

compliance with the SCRA.” That statement is located within a provision that is 

titled “SELLER TO RECOGNIZE SCRA SPECIALISTS, LLC AS BUYER’S 

REPRESENTATIVE” (all caps in original). 

9. The Addendum also references three services that SCRA Specialists may perform 
 

as a representative for servicemembers: 
 

a. USA Discounters “may, but is not required to send to SCRA Specialists any 

notice pursuant to the provisions of the SCRA arising out of Buyer’s 

default under this Contract”; 
 

b. USA Discounters “may seek verification of Buyer’s active military status 

for purposes of the SCRA by contacting SCRA Specialists who will either 

provide the status last provided to it by Buyer or obtain a certificate or 

Military Status report from the Department of Defense pursuant to 50 

USC App. § 582”; and 
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c. USA Discounters agrees to “accept and implement address changes for 
 

Buyer from SCRA Specialists.” 
 

10. In addition to the Installment Contract and the Addendum, USA Discounters 

provides servicemembers an agreement on behalf of SCRA Specialists, titled the 

“Representative Agreement.” The Representative Agreement acknowledges that 

the servicemember, as an active duty member of the military, is afforded certain 

rights and protections by the SCRA. The Representative Agreement also states 

that the servicemember “may have to deploy, transfer or otherwise vacate the 

[customer’s current address] . . . such that he or she may not be available to 

complete or comply with the provisions of the SCRA or receive its benefits. 

Accordingly, the Servicemember desires to engage SCRA Specialists to serve as a 

representative for specified purposes as stated in this Agreement.” 

11. The SCRA Specialists’ Representative Agreement, like the Addendum to the 
 

Installment contract, describes the services that SCRA Specialists may perform as 

a “representative” for the servicemember: 

a. “Servicemember hereby appoints SCRA Specialists as his or her 

representative that may receive any notices required by the SCRA with 

respect to the USA Discounters Contract”; 

b. “Servicemember agrees to provide SCRA Specialists, LLC written 

notification of any changes to the above address of Servicemember and 

SCRA Specialists, in turn, agrees to provide any such address changes to 

USA Discounters”; and 
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c. “SCRA Specialists also agrees to obtain verification of Servicemember’s 

active military status for purposes of the SCRA should it be requested to 

do so by USA Discounters.” 

12. Ostensibly in exchange for the offered services, USA Discounters charges the 

servicemember a $5 “SCRA Specialists fee.” The SCRA Specialists fee is assessed 

by USA Discounters on its installment contracts and, in turn, USA Discounters 

remits $4.50 of each $5 fee monthly to SCRA Specialists. USA Discounters has 

charged the $5 fee in connection with more than 70,000 contracts, generating 

more than $350,000 since 2009. 

13. Taken together, the Installment Contract, the Addendum, and the Representative 
 

Agreement communicate to servicemembers that SCRA Specialists is an 

independent agent working on the servicemembers’ behalf. In actuality, however, 

SCRA Specialists was financially dependent on USA Discounters because its sole 

source of revenue was through customers of USA Discounters. Moreover, while 

USA Discounters portrays that its $5 fee is for “representative” services 

performed by SCRA Specialists on behalf of servicemembers, SCRA Specialists 

did not provide any representational services to servicemembers. 

14. Although USA Discounters represented to consumers that it “may seek 
 

verification of Buyer’s active military status for the purposes of the SCRA by 

contacting SCRA Specialists,” it routinely performed its own duty status 

verifications, without assistance from SCRA Specialists, in order to satisfy the 

SCRA’s obligation to “file with the court an affidavit . . . stating whether or not the 

defendant is in military service” before it could obtain default judgments against 

customers. 50 U.S.C. app. § 521(b)(1)(A). Accordingly, USA Discounters 
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misrepresented performance of duty status verification as a benefit to 

servicemembers performed by SCRA Specialists when in fact USA Discounters 

performed the duty status verification on its own to advance its own interests. In 

addition, USA Discounters never actually asked SCRA Specialists to verify any 

servicemember’s active duty status, thereby rendering the purported service 

illusory. 

15. USA Discounters also represented to consumers that it “may, but is not required 
 

to send to SCRA Specialists any notice pursuant to the provisions of the SCRA 

arising out of Buyer’s default under [the USA Discounters] Contract.” This claim 

could create a false impression that SCRA Specialists is authorized to receive 

actual service of process on servicemembers’ behalf. In fact, SCRA Specialists is 

not authorized to receive service of process on a servicemember’s behalf. 

Moreover, USA Discounters never sent any notices to SCRA Specialists in regard 

to default and SCRA Specialists never performed any action on a 

servicemember’s behalf with regard to default, thereby rendering the $5 fee 

illusory. 

16. USA Discounters required its customers to send address changes to SCRA 
 

Specialists, and represented that it would accept customer address changes 

forwarded by SCRA Specialists. This purported service was of little ascertainable 

benefit to servicemembers because servicemembers could just as easily provide 

an updated address directly to USA Discounters; SCRA Specialists’ involvement 

provides no representational service to servicemembers. 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Unfairness 
 
17. USA Discounters is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

 
5481(6). 

 
18. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits covered persons from engaging in 

 
“unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices (“UDAAP”). 12 U.S.C. § 

 
5536(a)(1)(B). 

 
19. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it (a) causes or is likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers; and (3) such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

20. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 16, USA Discounters’ acts and practices 
 

during the Relevant Time Period caused or were likely to cause substantial injury, 

including consumers’ financing and/or payment of the $5 SCRA Specialists fee in 

exchange for services that were never provided or had no representational value. 

The injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers nor outweighed by any 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

21. Accordingly, USA Discounters engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of 
 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 
 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deception 
 
22. An act or practice may be considered “deceptive” under the CFPA if it (1) 

misleads or is likely to mislead the consumer; (2) the consumer’s interpretation 

of the act or practice is reasonable under the circumstance; and (3) the 

misleading act or practice is material. 
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23. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 16, USA Discounters made material 

misrepresentations during the Relevant Time Period, expressly or by implication, 

that were likely to mislead consumer acting reasonably under the circumstances 

into believing that SCRA Specialists is independent from USA Discounters and 

that SCRA Specialists performed services on behalf of consumers relating to 

compliance with and obtaining benefits of the SCRA. 

24. Accordingly, USA Discounters engaged in deceptive acts and practices in 
 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 
 

CONDUCT PROVISIONS 
 

VI. 
 

Order to Cease and Desist 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 
 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, that: 
 

25. Subject to the terms and limitations in Paragraph 58, USA Discounters and its 

affiliates, officers, agents, representatives, and employees shall cease and desist 

from: 

a. Engaging in the unfair and deceptive acts or practices described in Section 
 

V of this Order; 
 

b. Offering the performance, in exchange for a fee, of any service relating to 

the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act involving a contract for credit for 

which USA Discounters is a creditor or assignee; and 

c. Accepting any payment in exchange for the performance of any service 

relating to the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act involving a contract for 

credit for which USA Discounters is a creditor or assignee. 
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MONETARY PROVISIONS 
 

VII. 
 

Order to Pay Redress 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

26. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall make full restitution 

to all Eligible Consumers for the total amount of the $5 SCRA Specialists fees that 

each Eligible Consumer paid or has been obligated to pay, plus interest, in 

connection with credit that USA Discounters extended during the Relevant Time 

Period. 

27. USA Discounters shall make restitution to Eligible Consumers in accordance with 

the preceding paragraph, as follows: 

a. For Eligible Consumers with any installment accounts in repayment, USA 

Discounters shall credit the consumer’s account in the amount of all $5 

SCRA Specialists fees paid or obligated to be paid, plus interest accrued on 

such fees; 

b. For Eligible Consumers who repaid their installment account(s) (with no 

other installment account currently in repayment), USA Discounters shall 

mail a check (valid for 180 days) for the full amount of the $5 SCRA 

Specialists fees paid by each Eligible Consumer, plus interest paid on such 

fees; 

c. With respect to any installment account charged off to collection or which 
 

resulted in a repossession or return, USA Discounters shall discharge from 

the overdue amount(s) all $5 SCRA Specialists fees plus interest paid or 

accrued through the date of the charge off, repossession or return; and 
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d. USA Discounters shall send to all Eligible Consumers by letter or email to 

the most recent address on record a notice approved in advance by the 

Bureau explaining the restitution provided to them. 

28. USA Discounters shall make reasonable attempts to locate Eligible Consumers. 
 
29. For any Eligible Consumer who is eligible with respect to more than one $5 

 
Specialist fee, the Eligible Consumer’s restitution will be determined for each 

installment account separately. No Eligible Consumer shall be precluded from 

receiving restitution with respect to more than one $5 SCRA Specialists fee. 

30. USA Discounters shall not attach any conditions to the restitution provided to 
 

Eligible Consumers, including requiring consumers to waive any rights. 
 
31. USA Discounters shall not be obligated to make restitution for any amount that 

was discharged or refunded prior to the Effective Date. 

32. With respect to any Eligible Consumer’s account that receives restitution as a 
 

credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-off balance, USA 

Discounters shall as permitted by law and in accordance with existing 

procedures: 

a. Report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which USA 
 

Discounters had previously furnished balance information for the account; 
 

or 
 

b. Delete the account tradeline at each credit reporting agency to which USA 

Discounters had previously furnished balance information for the account; 

or 

c. In the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, request that 

such third party owner of the debt report the updated balance to, or delete 
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the account tradeline at, each credit reporting agency to which USA 

Discounters or the third party owner of the debt had previously furnished 

balance information for the account. 

33. Ninety days from the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director a report with an assessment of its compliance with the 

terms of Paragraphs 26 through 32 (“Restitution Report”). The Restitution 

Report shall include: 

a. A description of the methodology used to determine the population of 
 

Eligible Consumers; 
 

b. The total number of Eligible Consumers to whom it reimbursed a $5 SCRA 

Specialists fee, broken down by method of reimbursement; 

c. The total amounts reimbursed to Eligible Consumers, broken down by the 

principal amounts and interest; 

d. The total number of installment contracts for which the Eligible 
 

Consumers were reimbursed; 
 

e. The total number of Eligible Consumers who were not provided 

restitution; 

f. The total amount that was not reimbursed; 
 

g. A description of the efforts made to locate and reimburse the Eligible 
 

Consumers in subpart (e); 
 

h. A description of the procedures used to issue and track reimbursement of 

payments; and 

i. The procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of updated 

balances to credit reporting agencies. 
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VIII. 
 

Undeliverable Restitution Payments 
 

34. For any restitution payment to an Eligible Consumer that USA Discounters is 

unable to deliver despite reasonable attempts or that goes unclaimed if a check 

was issued, USA Discounters shall remit the payment to the Eligible Consumer’s 

state of domicile pursuant to the Uniform Unclaimed Property Act or related 

state laws within 300 days of the Effective Date. 

35. All amounts that are not accepted by the Eligible Consumer’s state of domicile 
 

under the preceding paragraph shall be paid by USA Discounters as 

disgorgement in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau, within 330 days from the Effective Date. Any funds paid 

to the Bureau under this paragraph shall be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. 

36. Within 330 days from the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall submit to the 
 

Enforcement Director a report with an assessment of its compliance with the 

terms of the preceding paragraph (“Final Restitution Report”). The Final 

Restitution Report shall include: 

a. The total number of Eligible Consumers to whom it reimbursed a $5 SCRA 

Specialists fee, broken down by method of reimbursement; 

b. The total amount reimbursed to Eligible Consumers; 
 

c. The total number of installment contracts for which the Eligible 
 

Consumers were reimbursed; 
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d. The total number of Eligible Consumers whose restitution payment was 

submitted to the Eligible Consumer’s state of domicile pursuant to the 

Uniform Unclaimed Property Act or related state laws pursuant to 

Paragraph 34 of this Order; 

e. The total amount of restitution that was submitted to the Eligible 
 

Consumer’s state of domicile pursuant to the Uniform Unclaimed Property 
 

Act or related state laws pursuant to Paragraph 34 of this Order; 
 

f. A description of the efforts made to locate and reimburse the Eligible 
 

Consumers in subpart (d); 
 

g. A description of the procedures used to issue and track reimbursement of 

payments; 

h. The procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of updated 

balances to credit reporting agencies; and 

i. The total amount disgorged by USA Discounters in accordance with 
 

Paragraph 35 of this Order. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

IX. 
 

Order To Pay Civil Money Penalties 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

37. Pursuant to Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law set forth in Section V of this Order, and taking into account the 

factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), USA Discounters shall pay a civil 
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money penalty of $50,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set 

forth herein (“Civil Money Penalty”). 

38. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall pay the Civil Money 

Penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by 

counsel for the Bureau. 

39. The Civil Money Penalty paid pursuant to this Order shall be deposited in the 
 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 
 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 
 

40. To preserve the deterrent effect of the Civil Money Penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, USA Discounters shall not argue that USA Discounters is 

entitled to, nor shall USA Discounters benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action, by any amount of 

the Civil Money Penalty paid in this action (“Penalty Offset”). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, USA Discounters shall, 

within 10 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Enforcement Director in writing, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the 

U.S. Treasury. Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional Civil Money 

Penalty and shall not be deemed to change the amount of the Civil Money Penalty 

imposed in this action. 

41. USA Discounters shall treat the Civil Money Penalty as a penalty paid to the 
 

government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, USA Discounters shall not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any 

federal, state, or local tax for any Civil Money Penalty paid under this 

Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to 

any insurance policy, with regard to any Civil Money Penalty paid under 

this Order. 

X. 
 

Additional Monetary Provisions 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

42. In the event of any default on USA Discounters’ obligation to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

shall accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and shall immediately become due and payable. 

43. USA Discounters shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 
 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be 

returned to USA Discounters. 

44. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, USA Discounters, unless it already has done 

so, shall furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be 

used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising 

out of this Order. 

45. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, USA Discounters shall notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 
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notification shall indicate the amount of redress, if any, that USA Discounters 

paid or is required to pay to consumers and should describe the consumers or 

class of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 
 

XI. 
 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 
 

46. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

47. For a period of five years from the Effective Date, USA Discounters shall deliver a 
 

copy of this Order to any future board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

48. USA Discounters shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 
 

receipt of a copy of this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order pursuant to this Section. 

XII. 
 

Recordkeeping 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that USA Discounters shall create, for at least five 

years from the Effective Date, and then retain, for at least five years, and make available 
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to Bureau representatives upon request, the following business records: 
 

49. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

50. All documents and records pertaining to the redress set forth in Sections VII and 
 

VIII above. 
 

51.       For each individual Eligible Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone 

number, email address, a copy of the loan agreement(s), and the amount(s) of 

SCRA Specialists fees paid and/or owed by the consumer. 

52. All consumer complaints and refund requests relating to the $5 SCRA Specialists 
 

fee (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and 

any responses to those complaints or requests. 

XIII. 
 

Notices 
 

53. Unless otherwise directed in writing by a Bureau representative, all submissions, 

requests, communications, consents or other documents relating to this Order 

shall be in writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 

Service), as follows: 

Anthony Alexis, Assistant Director for Enforcement 
 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
 

1700 G Street, N.W. 

Washington D.C. 20552 

The subject line shall begin: In re USA Discounters, Ltd., File No. 2014- 

CFPB-[Docket #]. 
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Provided however that USA Discounters may send such reports or notifications 

by first-class mail, but only if USA Discounters contemporaneously sends an 

electronic version of such report or notification to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XIV. 
 

Compliance and Extensions of Time 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

54. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may, in his/her 

discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Order (e.g., reasonable 

extensions of time). Any such modification by the Enforcement Director shall be 

in writing. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 
 

XV. 
 

Administrative Provisions 
 

55. The provisions of this Order shall not bar, estop or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 

or any other federal or state agency or department from taking any other action 

against USA Discounters. 

56. The Bureau releases and discharges USA Discounters from all potential liability 

for violations of law that have been or might have been asserted by the Bureau 

based on the practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent 

such practices occurred prior to Effective Date and are known to the Bureau as of 

the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bureau may use the 

practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against 

USA Discounters and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 
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pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of 

violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release shall not 

preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance 

with the terms and provisions of the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any 

violations of the Consent Order. 

57. This Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final order issued 
 

pursuant Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

58. This Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 
 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Order by USA Discounters. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that USA Discounters did not violate any provision of the 

Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, 

then the Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent 

that any provisions of this Order shall have been amended, suspended, waived, or 
 

terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 
 
59. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

60. The provisions of this Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any violation of 
 

this Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). 
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61. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. No promises, representations or warranties other than those 

set forth in this Order and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any 

of the parties. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior 

communications, discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether 

oral or in writing. 

62. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing USA Discounters, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  IA  day of August 2014. 

Richard Cordray, Directo 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

21 
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AUG 14 2014

CFPB Shuts Down USA Discounters’
Servicemember Fee Scam
Company Ordered to Refund $350,000 to Servicemembers Tricked into Paying Fees
for Benefits Available for Free

WASHINGTON, D.C.— The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
put an end to a servicemember fee scam run by USA Discounters, Ltd., a company that
operates a chain of retail stores near military bases and offers financing for purchases.
USA Discounters tricked thousands of servicemembers into paying fees for legal
protections servicemembers already had and for certain services that the company
failed to provide. The CFPB has obtained more than $350,000 in refunds for
servicemembers harmed by this scam, and USA Discounters will pay an additional
$50,000 civil penalty.

“Today we shut down USA Discounters’ fee scam that was designed to exploit
unsuspecting servicemembers,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “USA Discounters
charged servicemembers for legal protections they were already entitled to, and for
services that were never actually provided. Targeting servicemembers with scams
disguised as legal benefits is unconscionable, and we will not allow this injustice to
continue.”

USA Discounters, Ltd. is a privately held company based in Norfolk, Virginia that
operates a chain of retail stores across the country and sells furniture, electronics,
bedding, and appliances. Most of the company’s stores are located within a few miles of
military bases, and USA Discounters uses standardized contracts tailored to members
of the U.S. Armed Forces when dealing with active duty servicemembers.

The Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA) provides certain legal protections to active
duty servicemembers. Among other rights granted by the SCRA, a court may delay debt
collection lawsuits filed against a servicemember if the court finds that the
servicemember’s military duty requirements hinder his or her ability to defend himself
or herself. Similarly, a court may delay a creditor’s attempts to collect on a judgment
after it has been entered against a servicemember if the servicemember’s military
service hampers his or her ability to comply with the judgment.

Active duty servicemembers had to agree in a contract with USA Discounters to pay a
$5 fee for a company called SCRA Specialists LLC to be their representative with
respect to their rights under the SCRA. USA Discounters portrayed SCRA Specialists as
an independent representative that would be available to receive notices of lawsuits
filed by USA Discounters, inform USA Discounters of a change in the servicemembers’
address, and verify servicemembers’ military status to determine whether the
servicemember was eligible for protection under the SCRA. These services were
characterized as a benefit to servicemembers, but they only helped USA Discounters sue
servicemembers. In addition, many of the services were never actually performed. USA
Discounters also misrepresented SCRA Specialists as an independent company working
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on servicemembers’ behalf, when in fact SCRA Specialists’ sole source of revenue was
USA Discounters’ customers.

USA Discounters gave $4.50 of each $5 fee to SCRA Specialists. The fee was charged in
more than 70,000 contracts and generated more than $350,000 since 2009.

The CFPB found that USA Discounters harmed servicemembers with unfair and
deceptive acts and practices, including:

Deceptively marketing its own legal obligation as a service to
servicemembers: USA Discounters told servicemembers that they would use
SCRA Specialists to verify the servicemember’s active military status for them so
that the servicemember could receive certain protections. This verification was
marketed as a benefit, when in fact, USA Discounters had to report on the
servicemember’s military status in order to obtain a default judgment against the
servicemember.

Misleading servicemembers into believing they would have an
independent representative: USA Discounters required servicemembers to
pay the $5 fee in exchange for SCRA Specialists’ allegedly independent
representation of them. However, SCRA Specialists’ sole source of revenue was
USA Discounters’ customers, and the disclosed services would have helped USA
Discounters to advance its own interests against the servicemembers.

Failing to provide actual services to struggling borrowers: In its
contracts, USA Discounters pledged that servicemembers would receive benefits
in exchange for the $5 fee, but many of the services promised were never actually
performed.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions or individuals engaging in
unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. The CFPB’s consent order requires USA
Discounters to:

End unfair and deceptive practices: USA Discounters can no longer market
these contracts as a benefit to servicemembers and cannot pretend that SCRA
Specialists is an independent company.

Stop charging SCRA-related fees: USA Discounters may not charge a fee for
any SCRA-related service involving credit it extends.

Provide over $350,000 in restitution to servicemembers: USA
Discounters is required to make full restitution to all eligible consumers for the $5
SCRA Specialists fee, plus interest. For consumers who repaid their installment
accounts, USA Discounters will mail a check for the full $5 plus interest. For those
consumers whose account is in collection, their debt will be discharged the $5 fee
plus interest.

Pay a $50,000 penalty: USA Discounters will pay a $50,000 penalty to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_consent-order_usa-
discounters.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2014-CFPB-0012 

 
  

In the Matter of:          CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc.  

 
  

 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the processes by which 

First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc. (Respondent, as defined below) furnishes consumer 

information to consumer reporting agencies and has identified the following law violations: (1) 

Respondent failed to establish and/or implement reasonable written policies and procedures 

regarding the “accuracy” and “integrity” of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to 

consumer reporting agencies in violation of Subpart E of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a), the 

implementing regulation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq. (FCRA); (2) 

Respondent’s representation regarding the accuracy of the information it furnishes is deceptive in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

(Consent Order). 
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I 
 

Jurisdiction 

 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) Section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1).  

  II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 

dated [ ] (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By 

this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the 

Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the below findings of fact or conclusions of law, except the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 
 

3. The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Board” shall mean Respondent’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

b. “Consumer Reporting Agencies” or “CRAs” shall mean any consumer reporting agency 

that compiles and maintains files on consumers on a nationwide basis, as defined in 

Section 603(p) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §  1681a(p). 

c. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

d. “Enforcement Director” shall mean the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 

e.  “Furnishers Rule” refers to Regulation V, Subpart E, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.40-43. 
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f. “Furnishing Process” refers to the process Respondent uses to furnish information 

relating to consumers to the CRAs, including but not limited to any computer software 

application Respondent employs for that purpose. 

g. “Respondent” shall mean First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc., and its 

subsidiaries, successors and assigns. 

h. “Systemic Inaccuracy” refers to any aspect of Respondent’s Furnishing Process that 

results in inaccuracies in information furnished to CRAs, including but not limited to 

any failure by Respondent to correctly translate its customers’ account information into 

the standard industry-accepted format  (i.e. “Metro 2”) before furnishing such 

information to CRAs. 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

IV 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a Texas-based company that extends credit to consumers to finance the 

purchase of motor vehicles. Such credit extensions take the form of indirect credit, where 

Respondent takes assignment of retail installment sales contracts from motor vehicle 

dealers, and direct loans to consumers. Respondent holds the resulting accounts for 

investment. Many of the consumers who obtain credit through Respondent have impaired 

credit profiles. 

5. Respondent provides consumer report information, including information relating to the 

account payment history of its customers, to certain CRAs. That information is used or 

expected to be used in connection with decisions regarding the offering or provision of a 

consumer financial product or service.  

6. Respondent is a “covered person” pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) and (15)(A)(i), (ix). 
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7. Furthermore, Respondent furnishes information relating to consumers to one or more 

consumer reporting agencies for inclusion in a consumer report. As such Respondent is a 

“furnisher” as that term is defined by Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(c). 

8. Since no later than January 2011, Respondent has been furnishing information to CRAs on 

the status of each of the accounts it services. For the period covered by the investigation 

leading to this Consent Order, Respondent furnished information to the CRAs on as many 

as 118,855 unique accounts. 

9. Respondent furnishes information about its accounts in Metro 2 format. Metro 2 was 

developed by the Consumer Data Industry Association to serve as a standard industry-

accepted format for the electronic reporting of credit information. 

10. From at least March 2011 to the present, Respondent published an address through which 

its customers could send Respondent disputes related to credit reporting inaccuracies. 

Indeed, both directly and through the CRAs, Respondent received from its customers 

numerous disputes claiming that Respondent was reporting to the CRAs inaccurate 

consumer account information. In general, Respondent timely responded to disputes and 

corrected information when necessary. 

11. No later than March 2011, Respondent learned it was inaccurately reporting to one CRA its 

customers’ payment history profile. The payment history profile contains up to 24 months 

of consecutive payment activity for the 24 months prior to the date of account information 

being reported. In one example, the information Respondent furnished to the CRA 

indicated eleven historical delinquencies when in fact the consumer had only been 

delinquent twice.  

12. In approximately November 2011, Respondent negotiated with the one CRA to implement 

a workaround that stopped the misreporting of payment history profile information. 
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However, during the nine month period between the discovery of the problem and the 

implementation of the workaround, Respondent continued to furnish payment history 

profile information it knew to be inaccurate for between 11,804 and 14,622 customer 

accounts on a monthly basis. 

13. No later than April 2011, Respondent learned it was inaccurately reporting to the CRAs 

many of its customers’ date of first delinquency. In most cases, Respondent was reporting 

the date of first delinquency to be more recent than it in fact was. That error exposed 

Respondent’s customers to the risk that the delinquency in question would remain on their 

credit reports beyond the statutorily-allowed 7-year period.  

14. Respondent learned no later than April 2011 that it was inaccurately reporting dates of first 

delinquency and, in April 2011, notified its furnishing service provider of the inaccuracy. 

Respondent took no further action to address the problem until December 2012, after 

Respondent received from the Bureau a Civil Investigative Demand relating, in part, to 

Respondent’s Furnishing Process. 

15. Respondent continued to inaccurately report its customers’ dates of first delinquency until 

at least December 2013.  

16. During the approximately thirty month period between April 2011, when Respondent 

discovered the date of first delinquency inaccuracies and December 2013, Respondent 

reported date of first delinquency information it knew to be inaccurate for between 1,620 

and 7,950 customer accounts on a monthly basis.  

17. No later than April 2011, Respondent learned it was systematically overstating to CRAs the 

dollar amount by which its customers were past due on their accounts. 

18. Respondent learned no later than April 2011 that it was inaccurately reporting the amount 

by which its customers were past due and, in April 2011, notified its furnishing service 
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provider of the inaccuracy. Respondent took no further action to address the problem until 

December 2012, after Respondent received from the Bureau a Civil Investigative Demand 

relating, in part, to Respondent’s Furnishing Process. 

19. Respondent continued to inaccurately report the amount its customers were past due until 

at least June 2013. 

20. During the approximately 26 month period between April 2011, when Respondent 

discovered it was inaccurately reporting the amount by which its customers were past due 

and June 2013 , Respondent reported information about the amount its customers were 

past due that Respondent knew to be inaccurate for between 1,326 and 2,747 customer 

accounts on a monthly basis.  

21.  No later than December 2012, Respondent learned it was systematically understating to 

the CRAs the dollar amount many of its customers were paying every month while also 

reporting the correct account status and correct outstanding balance for those customers. 

22. Respondent continued to inaccurately report its customers’ payment amounts until at least 

June 2013.  

23. During the approximately 7 month period between December 2012, when Respondent 

discovered it was inaccurately reporting payment amounts and June 2013, Respondent 

reported payment amount information it knew to be inaccurate on monthly basis for 

between 4,151 and 9,920 customer accounts. 

24. When a consumer defaults or is otherwise unable to make payments on a loan, lienholders 

often have the option to take possession of any collateral given for the loan. In the auto 

loan market, the autos themselves are often used as collateral. 
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25. Metro 2 standards distinguish between involuntary repossession of an auto and voluntary 

surrender of an auto and thus provide different account status codes for furnishers to use 

when reporting such information to CRAs.    

26. The customer account information system Respondent uses to furnish information to the 

CRAs was configured such that it did not distinguish between voluntary surrenders and 

involuntary repossessions. As a result, Respondent reported repossessions of its customers’ 

autos as “involuntary” in cases where the auto was in fact surrendered voluntarily. 

27. Respondent became aware of its failure to accurately report voluntary surrenders to the 

CRAs no later than August, 2012 but allowed the error to persist. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Violations of the Furnishers Rule 

28.  The Furnishers Rule requires furnishers of information to the CRAs to “establish and 

implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity 

of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a consumer reporting agency.” 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

29. As set forth in paragraphs 9-27, Respondent was systematically furnishing inaccurate 

information to the CRAs regarding how its customers were performing on their accounts.  

30. Upon learning of the inaccuracies, Respondent did not suspend its furnishing for the 

customer accounts affected by the inaccuracies; instead, it continued to furnish information 

about those accounts Respondent knew to be inaccurate. 

31. Instead of moving to address inaccuracies it learned about, Respondent in several cases 

allowed them to persist.  

32. The Systemic Inaccuracies that plagued Respondent’s furnishing operations; Respondent’s 

decision to continue to furnish information it knew to be inaccurate; and Respondent’s 

failure to require its service provider to correct the issues causing inaccuracies within a 
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reasonable time once Respondent learned of them all demonstrate Respondent’s failure to 

implement reasonable policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the 

information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a consumer reporting agency, in 

violation of the Furnishers Rule. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation  
Regarding the Accuracy of Furnished Information 

 
33. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

34. On its website, Respondent provides answers to a series of “frequently asked questions.” 

One such question was: “What if I have a dispute about information appearing on my 

credit report?” The answer the Company offers was as follows: 

Please be advised that it is the policy of First Investors to comply 
with the requirements of the Fair Credit Reporting Act when we 
furnish information about a consumer to a consumer reporting 
agency. Therefore, we only furnish accurate information relating to a 
consumer to the consumer reporting agencies and will promptly 
correct any inaccurate information. If you believe that we have 
reported inaccurate information concerning your account to any 
consumer reporting agency, then please send us a dispute notification 
indicating the specific information you believe is inaccurate and 
containing all of the relevant information as to why you believe that 
information is inaccurate. Please send the dispute notification to: 
First Investors Servicing Corporation Attn: Compliance Department 
U.S. Mail/Delivery: 380 Interstate North Parkway, Suite 300, Atlanta, 
GA 30339 Facsimile: 866-390-2947 Email: compliance@fifsg.com. 
You may also use our Courtesy Dispute Form. 

 

35. In fact, as set forth in Paragraphs 9-27, some  of the information Respondent furnished 

during the Relevant Period was inaccurate for many customer accounts, and Respondent 

did not promptly correct information it knew to be inaccurate.  

36. Respondent’s representation was material to its customers. 
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37. Therefore, Respondent’s representation, as set forth in Paragraph 34 constitutes a deceptive 

act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

 
V 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

38. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys are deemed to have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, and whether acting directly or indirectly, shall cease 

and desist from any violations of the Furnishers Rule and Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and in particular: 

a. No later than fifteen days from the Effective Date, Respondent shall cease furnishing 

information to the CRAs about consumer accounts potentially affected by any Systemic 

Inaccuracy that Respondent (a) is currently aware of; and (b) has not yet resolved. 

b. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall identify all inaccurate 

information it has furnished to the CRAs as a result of known Systemic Inaccuracies. 

Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall notify the CRAs of the 

inaccuracies and either i) provide to the CRAs the correct information or ii) delete the 

associated tradeline if accurate information is not available. Respondent will not 

thereafter re-furnish the inaccurate information. 

c. No later than fifteen days from the Effective Date and until such time as Respondent 

resolves all Systemic Inaccuracies, Respondent shall cease and desist from making any 

representation regarding the accuracy or integrity of information it furnishes to CRAs. 
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d. To the extent any affected customers are ineligible for a free credit report, Respondent 

shall arrange means by which such customers may obtain a credit report free of charge 

from one or more of the credit reporting agencies to which Respondent furnishes 

information. Respondent shall ensure the option to obtain the free credit report is 

available to such customers for 180 days after they receive the notice specified in 

paragraph 38(e).  

e. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall post prominently on its website 

for a period of 90 days, and send to each of its customers affected by the known 

Systemic Inaccuracies identified using the process set forth in subparagraph 38(b) at all 

addresses associated with their accounts (including email addresses) a notice (Notice) 

that has been approved by the Enforcement Director advising of at least the following: 

i. Since 2011, Respondent has been providing inaccurate information about some 

of its customers to the CRAs; 

ii. As a result of those inaccuracies, Respondent is the subject of an Enforcement 

Action by the Bureau; 

iii. The inaccuracies may have had an adverse effect on the affected customers’ 

credit; 

iv. Consumers have a statutory right to receive a free credit report annually from 

each of the nationwide consumer reporting agencies.  

v. The process for obtaining a free credit report; 

vi. To the extent the affected customers have already obtained a free credit report 

this year, Respondent will inform such customers of the means by which a credit 

report can be obtained free of charge so long as they apply for such report within 

180 days of receiving a Notice; and 
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vii. The process consumers may use to dispute inaccuracies in their credit report. 

f. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall update its policies and 

procedures to include a specific process for identifying Systemic Inaccuracies (“Audit 

Program”). At a minimum, the policies and procedures for the Audit Program shall 

require that Respondent: (i) examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for 

furnishing inaccuracies on a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for 

selection and testing; (ii) monitor and evaluate disputes it receives from the CRAs and its 

customers for indications of a Systemic Inaccuracy; and (iii) cease furnishing information 

for all consumer accounts potentially affected by a Systemic Inaccuracy until such time 

as the Systemic Inaccuracy is resolved. 

g. Respondent shall fully implement the Audit Program within 60 days of the Effective 

Date. 

h. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall retain an independent consultant 

(Consultant) to assess Respondent’s compliance with this Order. The Consultant shall 

prepare an Audit Report summarizing its findings, and provide a copy of the Audit 

Report to Respondent’s Board and to the Enforcement Director no later than 180 days 

from the Effective Date.   

i. Respondent shall sufficiently provide the staffing, facilities, systems, and information 

necessary to timely and completely respond to consumer disputes in compliance with the 

FCRA.   

39. For purposes of Paragraph 38 (as it relates to the furnishing of information about 

Respondent’s use of an automobile as collateral), the following definitions apply: 

a. “Repossession Conditions” refers all steps required by applicable state law to effectuate 

the seizure of an automobile as collateral; 

2014-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 08/20/2014     Page 11 of 17



12 
 

b. “Voluntary Surrender” refers to Respondent’s taking possession of a customer’s 

automobile as collateral with the customer’s consent and prior to satisfying all 

Repossession Conditions. 

c. “Repossession” refers to the Respondent’s taking possession of a customer’s automobile 

as collateral after satisfying all Repossession Conditions. 

d. In the event the Consumer Data Industry Association provides Metro 2 guidance 

inconsistent with the definitions in this paragraph, such guidance shall control.  

VI 
 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 

set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors set forth 

in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent shall pay a civil money penalty of $2.75 million to the 

Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

41. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay the civil money penalty in the 

form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in 

accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau. 

42. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

43. Respondent shall treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses 

those funds, Respondent shall not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any 

civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any source, 

including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

44. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

shall immediately become due and payable. 

45. Respondent shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to Respondent. 

46. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, shall 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

VII 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

47. Within one year after the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement 

Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which has 

been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with this 

Order; and   
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b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VIII of this 

Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

48. After the one-year period, Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement Director additional 

Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

49. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Consent Order.   

50. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure, any future board members 

and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other 

agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

51. Respondent shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements of the 

E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a 

copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

 IX 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall create, for at least 5 years from the 

Effective Date, and then retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, 
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all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this 

Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 

communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order shall be in 

writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
 

The subject line shall begin:  In re First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc., File 
No. 2012-CFPB-0005-02. 
Provided however that Respondent may send such reports or notifications by first-class 

mail, but only if Respondent contemporaneously sends an electronic version of such report 

or notification to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XI 
 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

53. Respondent shall fully cooperate with the Bureau in this matter and in any investigation 

related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. Respondent shall provide 

truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. For 60 months following the 

Effective Date, Respondent shall cause its officers, employees, representatives, or agents to 
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appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau 

may reasonably request upon reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may 

designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XII 

Compliance and Extensions of Time 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may, in his/her 

discretion, modify any non-material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable 

extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements). Any such modification by the 

Enforcement Director shall be in writing.  

 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

 XIII 

Administrative Provisions 

55. The provisions of this Consent Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 

or any other governmental agency from taking any other action against Respondent. 

56. This Consent Order is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final Consent Order 

issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

57. This Consent Order shall remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent that, and 

until such time as, any provisions of this Consent Order shall have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 
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58. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the Effective Date and shall be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

59. The provisions of this Consent Order shall be enforceable by the Bureau. Any violation of 

this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

60. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. No promises, representations, or warranties other than those set forth 

in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation have been made by any of the 

parties. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede all prior 

communications, discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in 

writing. 

61. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation shall be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 19th day of August, 2014. 

74,,a cs"Acii 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Auto Finance
Company for Distorting Borrower Credit
Reports
First Investors Fined $2.75 Million for Knowingly Providing Inaccurate
Information to Credit Reporting Agencies for Years

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
taking action against an auto finance company that distorted consumer credit records
for years. Texas-based First Investors Financial Services Group Inc., which lends
primarily to subprime borrowers, failed to fix known flaws in a computer system that
was providing inaccurate information to credit reporting agencies. This potentially
harmed tens of thousands of its customers. Today the CFPB is ordering First Investors
to pay a $2.75 million fine, fix its errors, and change its business practices.

“First Investors showed careless disregard for its customers’ financial lives by
knowingly distorting their credit profiles for years,” said CFPB Director Richard
Cordray. “Companies cannot pass the buck by blaming a computer system or vendor for
their mistakes. Today’s action sends a signal that the CFPB will hold companies
accountable for sending inaccurate information to credit reporting agencies.”

A copy of the Consent Order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_consent-order_first-investors.pdf

First Investors is a lending company that offers loans directly to consumers to finance
the purchase of motor vehicles. First Investors also offers loans indirectly to consumers
by working through auto dealers. The company specializes in lending to consumers
with impaired credit profiles; including consumers who have gone through bankruptcy.
Because the company services its own loans, it supplies information on its accounts to
the credit reporting agencies and is considered a furnisher under the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA).

First Investors is one of many thousands of voluntary data furnishers that provide
information to the credit reporting agencies. Furnishers are required by law to have
reasonable policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the
information they provide. Credit reporting agencies track a consumer’s credit history
and other consumer transactions based on information supplied by the furnishers. The
reports that they sell are used in determining everything from consumer eligibility for
credit to employment decisions.

The CFPB investigation found that First Investors furnished inaccurate information
about its customers to credit reporting agencies for at least three years. When First
Investors discovered the problem in April 2011, it notified the vendor but did nothing
more. The company did not replace the system or take any steps to correct the
inaccurate information it had supplied. It continued for years to use a system that it
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knew was flawed. Tens of thousands of consumers were likely subject to these systemic
reporting problems.

Specifically, the CFPB found that First Investors was providing distorted information to
the credit reporting agencies regarding how its customers were performing on their
accounts. The incorrect information First Investors reported included:

Wrong payments and overdue amounts: First Investors provided
inaccurate information about how much consumers were paying toward their
debts. In many cases, First Investors understated the amounts its customers were
paying. When consumers made multiple payments within a single month, for
example, First Investors only reported one of the payments. This does not give
consumers full credit for keeping up with their loan obligations. First Investors
also overstated the dollar amount by which many of its customers were past due
on their accounts.

Distorted dates: First Investors inaccurately reported many of its customers’
“date of first delinquency,” which is the date on which a consumer first became
late in paying back the loan. In most cases, First Investors was reporting the date
to be more recent than it actually was. The date an account first becomes
delinquent matters because it determines how long a delinquency can appear on a
consumer’s credit report. Inaccurate reporting of the age of a consumer’s
delinquency can cause it to appear on the consumer’s credit report longer than is
allowed by the FCRA.

Inflated delinquencies: First Investors substantially inflated the number of
delinquencies for some customers when it reported customers’ last 24 months of
consecutive payment activity. In one case, First Investors reported that a
consumer was delinquent eleven times, when in fact the consumer had only been
delinquent twice.

Mischaracterization of vehicle surrender: When loans reach a certain stage
of delinquency, First Investors has the option to repossess the car. Before that
happens, though, consumers have the option to voluntarily surrender their vehicle
and avoid a “repossession” showing up on their credit report. First Investors told
credit reporting agencies that some of its customers had their vehicles
repossessed, when in fact those individuals had voluntarily surrendered their
vehicles back to the lienholder.

Enforcement Action
First Investors violated the FCRA by inaccurately furnishing information and it violated
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act by misrepresenting
to consumers that the company would only furnish accurate information. The CFPB’s
order requires First Investors to take the following actions:

Correct errors on credit reports: First Investors must identify all consumer
accounts affected by its reporting errors and fix any inaccuracies. The company
must either provide the correct information, or, in cases where accurate
information is not available, First Investors must delete references to the loan
altogether.

Help consumers obtain free copies of their credit reports: First
Investors will identify and inform all affected consumers about this action. It will
also help all affected consumers receive free copies of their credit reports so
consumers can check the reports’ accuracy for themselves.

Establish consumer safeguards: First Investors must change how it does
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business and establish safeguards to ensure that it reports only accurate
information about its customers to credit reporting agencies. In addition, it must
ensure it has the staffing, facilities, systems, and information necessary to timely
and completely respond to consumer disputes. And, it must establish an audit
program to identify any systemic inaccuracies.

Pay a civil monetary penalty of $2.75 million: First Investors will pay a
$2.75 million fine for the illegal actions.

The CFPB will continue to enforce federal laws to ensure accuracy in credit reporting
and protect consumers from deceptive acts and practices. Consumers should check
their credit report for inaccuracies at least once a year. Consumers can order a free
credit report once every 12 months from AnnualCreditReport.com.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction because this action is brought 

under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1345.  

2. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial amount of the 

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct constituting violations of Federal 

consumer financial law occurred within this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2); 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(f). 

INTRODUCTION 

3. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) brings this action 

against Global Client Solutions, LLC (“GCS”), Global Holdings LLC (the “Parent 

Company”), Robert Merrick, and Michael Hendrix (collectively, “Defendants”), under 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 

5564(a), and the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), based on violations of the Telemarketing Sales Rule 

(“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA. In particular, 

this action is based on Defendants’ facilitation of TSR violations by debt-relief service 

providers (“DRSPs”) with which they do business. 

PARTIES 

4. The Bureau is an agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has 

independent litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to 

enforce the TSR as it applies to persons subject to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a); 15 

U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d).    

5. Defendant Global Client Solutions, LLC is a limited liability company 

organized under the laws of Oklahoma and is wholly-owned by Global Holdings LLC. 

GCS does business in every state of the United States. GCS offers and provides account 

Case 2:14-cv-06643   Document 1   Filed 08/25/14   Page 2 of 7   Page ID #:2



 

  

3 

    

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

maintenance and payment-processing services to DRSPs and consumers. These services 

are consumer financial services under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii)(II). GCS 

is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. Defendant Global Holdings LLC, is a limited liability company organized 

under the laws of Oklahoma and—through its subsidiary, agent, or alter-ego, GCS—does 

business in every state of the United States. The Parent Company is a controlling 

shareholder of GCS and is, therefore, a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481 (25)(C)(i)-(ii). 

7. GCS and its Parent Company (collectively, “Global”) share a common board 

of directors, common officers, common office space, and common ownership, such that 

they constitute a single business enterprise. 

8. Defendant Robert Merrick co-founded GCS and is the chairman of the board 

of directors of the Parent Company. Merrick has managerial responsibility for GCS and 

materially participates in the conduct of its affairs, including its payment-processing 

services for DRSPs. Merrick is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481 (25)(C)(i)-(ii).  

9. Defendant Michael Hendrix is the Chief Executive Officer of GCS. Hendrix 

has managerial responsibility for GCS and materially participates in the conduct of its 

affairs, including its payment-processing services for DRSPs. Hendrix is therefore a 

“related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (25)(C)(i)-(ii).  

FACTS 

10. In exchange for a fee, DRSPs promise to help consumers reduce or eliminate 

their unsecured debts by enrolling consumers in a debt-relief program. 

11. Generally, when consumers enroll in a debt-relief program, they also enter 

into a separate agreement with Global, which establishes and maintains a “Custodial 

Account” for the consumer. 
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12. After a consumer enrolls in a debt-relief program, the DRSP instructs the 

consumer to stop making payments towards their unsecured debts and instead to make 

monthly payments to Global for deposit into the consumer’s Custodial Account.  

13. These monthly payments cover three things: (i) the DRSP’s fee for debt-

relief services; (ii) Global’s fee for account-maintenance services; and (iii) the 

consumer’s savings, which are set aside for future settlements of the consumer’s debts, as 

negotiated by the DRSP. 

14. Since October 27, 2010, Global has processed payments for more than 

236,000 consumers enrolled in debt-relief programs offered by more than 800 DRSPs. 

Global processed payments for more consumers in California than in any other state.  

15. Since October 27, 2010, the TSR has prohibited DRSPs from requesting or 

receiving fees from a consumer for debt-relief services before (i) the DRSP has 

renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one of the 

consumer’s debts and (ii) the consumer has made at least one payment pursuant to a debt-

settlement agreement or other contractual arrangement between the consumer and one of 

his or her creditors. See 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i).  

16. Many of the DRSPs for which Global processed payments improperly 

claimed to be exempt from the TSR based on unsubstantiated exemptions (e.g., an 

“intrastate” exemption) and unrecognized exemptions (e.g., a “legal” exemption) and 

routinely charged advance fees for debt-relief services, in violation of the TSR.  

17. Since October 27, 2010, Global processed payments for tens of thousands of 

consumers who were charged tens of millions of dollars in unlawful advance fees for 

debt-relief services. More consumers were charged an unlawful advance fee in California 

than in any other state. 

18. For each consumer who was charged an unlawful advance fee, Global was 

responsible for actually transmitting, and did transmit, the fees from a consumer’s 

Custodial Account to his or her DRSP. 
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19. At the time Global transmitted these fees, it knew, based on its own account 

records, that it had not yet transmitted any funds from the consumer’s Custodial Account 

to a creditor. Global thus knew that it was transmitting fees to DRSPs that had not yet 

settled consumers’ debts, and that the DRSPs were not entitled to an advance fee. 

20. Since October 27, 2010, Global has received hundreds of complaints from or 

on behalf of consumers concerning fees paid in connection with debt-relief services. 

Despite these complaints, Global continued to transmit unlawful advance fees to DRSPs. 

21. As persons with managerial responsibility for, and who materially 

participate in, the conduct of the affairs of Global, Merrick and Hendrix are intimately 

familiar with Global’s corporate affairs. They actively participate in Global’s payment-

processing business for DRSPs. Merrick and Hendrix also have personally profited from 

Global’s activities. 

22. Merrick and Hendrix knew or should have known that Global provided 

substantial assistance to DRSPs by processing payments on their behalf and that DRSPs 

were charging and collecting unlawful advance fees. 

COUNT I 

(Global’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA) 

23. The allegations in paragraphs 1-22 are incorporated here by reference. 

24. Global provided substantial assistance to its DRSP partners by processing 

payments on their behalf.  

25. Global knew or consciously avoided knowing that its DRSP partners were 

charging and collecting advance fees in violation of the TSR. 

26. Global’s conduct violated the TSR’s ban on assisting and facilitating others’ 

violations of that rule. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

27. Because GCS is a “covered person,” its conduct is unlawful under sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 
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28. Because Global Holdings, LLC is a “related person,” Global Holdings, LLC 

is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25) and its 

conduct is unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

COUNT II 

(Merrick’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA) 

29. The allegations in paragraphs 1-22 are incorporated here by reference. 

30. Because he is a “related person,” Merrick is deemed a “covered person” for 

purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). 

31. Merrick is liable for violations of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b) and sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

COUNT III 

(Hendrix’s Violations of the TSR and the CFPA) 

32. The allegations in paragraphs 1-22 are incorporated here by reference. 

33. Because he is a “related person,” Hendrix is deemed a “covered person” for 

purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). 

34. Hendrix is liable for violations of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b) and 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565: 

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, or any other 

provision of federal consumer-financial law, as defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

c. Award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants; 
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d. Award restitution against Defendants in the amount of all fees collected 

from consumers in violation of the TSR’s advance fee ban; 

e. Order disgorgement of all ill-gotten profits against Defendants; 

f. Award civil money penalties against Defendants; 

g. Award Plaintiff’s costs against Defendants; and  

h. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 

Dated: August 25, 2014 

       Respectfully Submitted, 

      
       Anthony Alexis 

Acting Enforcement Director 
Lucy Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
Cara Petersen 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
/s/ Crystal R. Sumner 
Crystal R. Sumner 

 Erin Mary Kelly 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Email: crystal.sumner@cfpb.gov 
Phone: (415) 633-1329 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 

   
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced this civil 

action to obtain injunctive and monetary relief and civil penalties, from Global Client 

Solutions, LLC, Global Holdings LLC, Robert Merrick, and Michael Hendrix 

(collectively, “Defendants”). The Complaint alleges violations of the Telemarketing 

Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a). 

The Parties, by and through respective counsel, agree to the entry of this Stipulated 

Final Judgment and Consent Order (“Consent Order”). Defendants waive: service of the 

Complaint and Summonses; any right to seek judicial review or to otherwise challenge or 

contest the validity of this Consent Order; and any right that may arise in this case under 

the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412. 

The Parties having requested the entry of this Consent Order, it is therefore 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED as follows: 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

1. The Bureau is an agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has 

independent litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to 

enforce the TSR as it applies to persons subject to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a); 15 

U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d).  

2. Defendant Global Client Solutions, LLC (“GCS”) is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of Oklahoma and is wholly-owned by defendant 

Global Holdings LLC (“Global Holdings”) (collectively, “Global”).  

3. Global offers and provides Payment Processing and Account Maintenance 

Services for consumers who have contracted with Debt Relief Service Providers. These 

services are consumer financial services under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 

(15)(A)(iv), (15)(A)(vii), (15)(A)(viii)(II). Global is therefore a “covered person” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 
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4. Defendant Robert Merrick co-founded GCS and is the chairman of the board 

of directors of Global Holdings. Merrick has managerial responsibility for Global and 

materially participates in the conduct of its affairs. Merrick is therefore a “related person” 

under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481 (25)(C)(i)-(ii), and deemed a “covered person.”  12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B).  

5. Defendant Michael Hendrix co-founded and is the Chief Executive Officer 

of GCS. Hendrix has managerial responsibility for Global and materially participates in 

the conduct of its affairs. Hendrix is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481 (25)(C)(i)-(ii), and deemed a “covered person.”  12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

6. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction because this action is brought 

under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1345. 

7. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial amount of the 

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct allegedly constituting violations of 

Federal consumer financial law occurred within this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2); 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

8. The Complaint states claims upon which relief can be granted for 

Defendants’ alleged violations of the TSR’s assisting-and-facilitating provision, 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b), and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

9. Since October 27, 2010, Debt Settlement Relief Providers charged 

consumers tens of millions in alleged unlawful advance fees in transactions in which 

GCS acted as a third-party account administrator and payment processor. 

10. The Bureau and Defendants agree to entry of this Order, without 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising 

from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date this Order is entered (the “Effective 
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Date”).  Defendants do not admit or deny any of the allegations in the Complaint or this 

Consent Order.  However, for the purposes of this Consent Order, Defendants admit the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Defendants and the subject 

matter of this action. 

11. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon, and 

inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors in interest. 

12. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions shall apply to this Consent Order: 

13. “Account Maintenance Services” means holding or maintaining an account 

on behalf of any Person, or providing a Person, directly or indirectly, with the means to 

manage, track, or create reports on an account, whether accomplished through the use of 

software or otherwise.  

14. “ACH Debit” means any completed or attempted debit to a Person’s 

account at a financial institution that is processed electronically through the Automated 

Clearing House Network. 

15. “Advance Fee” means any fee or consideration requested or received by a 

Debt Relief Service Provider from a Consumer for any Debt Relief Service, whether 

directly or indirectly, that occurs before: 

a. the Debt Relief Service Provider has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered the terms of a debt pursuant to a settlement agreement, 

debt management plan, or other valid contractual agreement executed by 

the Consumer; and 

b. the Consumer has made at least one payment pursuant to that settlement 

agreement, debt management plan, or other valid contractual agreement 

between the Consumer and the creditor or debt collector.  
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16. “Affected Consumer” means any Consumer who has paid an Advance Fee 

to a Debt Relief Service Provider claiming an unlawful exemption from the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule that was processed by Defendants on or after October 27, 

2010. 

17. “Consumer” means an individual or an agent, trustee, or representative 

acting on behalf of an individual. 

18. “Debt Relief Service” means any program or service represented, directly or 

by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in any way alter the terms of payment or other 

terms of the debt between a Consumer and one or more creditors or debt collectors, 

including but not limited to, a reduction in the balance, interest rate, or fees owed by a 

person to a creditor or debt collector. 

19. “Debt Relief Service Provider” or “DRSP” means any Person that offers or 

provides any Debt Relief Service. 

20. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 

21. “Face-to-Face Transaction” means telephone calls in which the sale of 

goods or services is not completed, and payment or authorization of payment is not 

required, until after a face-to-face sales presentation by the seller. 

22.  “Payment Processing” means providing a Person, directly or indirectly, 

with the means used to charge or debit accounts through the use of any payment 

mechanism, including, but not limited to, ACH Debits.  Whether accomplished through 

the use of software or otherwise, Payment Processing includes, among other things: (a) 

reviewing and approving applications of DRSPs to be customers of Global or other 

Persons’ applications for Payment Processing or Account Maintenance Services; (b) 

providing the means to transmit Consumer payment transaction data to acquiring banks 

and/or other financial institutions; (c) clearing, settling, or distributing Consumer 
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payments from acquiring banks or financial institutions to DRSPs or other Persons; or (d) 

processing returned payments via any mechanism. 

23. “Person” means an individual, partnership, company, corporation, 

association (incorporated or unincorporated), trust, estate, cooperative organization, or 

other entity.  

24. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against any of the Defendants based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the 

Complaint. 

25. “Telemarketing” means a plan, program, or campaign which is conducted 

to induce the purchase of goods or services or a charitable contribution, by use of one or 

more telephones and which involves more than one interstate telephone call. The term 

does not include the solicitation of sales through the mailing of a catalog which: contains 

a written description or illustration of the goods or services offered for sale; includes the 

business address of the seller; includes multiple pages of written material or illustrations; 

and has been issued not less frequently than once a year, when the person making the 

solicitation does not solicit customers by telephone but only receives calls initiated by 

customers in response to the catalog and during those calls takes orders only without 

further solicitation. For purposes of the previous sentence, the term “further solicitation” 

does not include providing the customer with information about, or attempting to sell any 

other item included in the same catalog which prompted the customer’s call or in a 

substantially similar catalog. 

26. “Total Return Rate” means the proportion (expressed as a percentage) of 

all attempted ACH debit transactions that are returned for any reason, whether before or 

after payment, out of the total number of such attempted transactions. 
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27.  “Unauthorized Return Rate” means the proportion (expressed as a 

percentage) of all attempted ACH debit transactions that are returned as unauthorized, 

whether before or after payment, out of the total number of such attempted transactions. 

CONSENT ORDER 

 
A. Injunction Against Processing Advance Fees or Otherwise Providing 

Substantial Assistance in Violation of the TSR 

28. IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and all persons who are in active concert or participation with any 

of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

providing substantial assistance or support to any Person, including by providing Account 

Maintenance Services or Payment Processing, when Defendants know or consciously 

avoid knowing that the Person is requesting or receiving unlawful Advance Fees or is 

engaged in any other act or practice that violates the TSR, including but not limited to, 

when such Person is claiming to be exempt from the TSR based on an exemption not 

recognized in the TSR (e.g. “legal” exemption). 

B. Reasonable Screening of Current and Prospective DRSP Clients 

29. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and all persons who are in active concert or participation with any 

of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

providing Payment Processing or Account Maintenance Services to any DRSP unless and 

until Defendants have conducted a reasonable screening of the DRSP to determine that 

the DRSP: (1) is complying with  the TSR, 16 CFR pt. 310; and (2) is complying with  

sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531 and 5536. Such reasonable screening shall include but not be limited to:    
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a. Obtaining from each current and prospective DRSP, including all 

principal(s) and controlling person(s) of the entity who own 10% or more 

of the ownership interests in the DRSP, either directly or indirectly: 

i. A description of the nature of the business, including describing all 

services for which the DRSP seeks Payment Processing or 

Account Maintenance Services for its customers;  

ii. A form which requests the DRSP to list all business and trade 

names, fictitious names, DBAs, and Internet websites under or 

through which the DRSP has marketed or intends to market the 

services for which the DRSP seeks Payment Processing or 

Account Maintenance Services for its customers;  

iii. The name and address of every bank and Payment Processor used 

by the DRSP during the preceding one year;  

iv. The names of business or trade references and bank references; 

v. The DRSP’s past Total Return Rates, if applicable; 

vi. Representative examples of all DRSP marketing materials 

currently in use;  

vii. All current consumer contract templates being used for Debt Relief 

Service;  

viii. A summary description of the DRSP’s complaint intake and 

management system;  

ix. All complaints, up to a maximum of 200 of the most current 

complaints, by or on behalf of any consumer about a DRSP and 

received by the DRSP in the preceding year and information 

relating to the resolution, if any, of such complaints. For DRSPs 

exceeding 200 complaints in the preceding year, after review of the 

200 most current complaints, the volume of corresponding 
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complaints that were resolved, the volume of complaints 

outstanding (or resolution pending) and the number of complaints 

that were resolved with refunds to consumers; 

x. Information regarding whether the DRSP, including the 

principal(s) and controlling person(s) of the entity with 10% or 

more ownership interest in the entity, has ever been the subject of 

an investigation or the subject of any legal action by any state or 

federal law enforcement agency. 

b. For a DRSP claiming it is not subject to the TSR because its business 

practices do not involve Telemarketing or for any other reason, such 

reasonable screening shall also include, but not be limited to, obtaining: 

i. A detailed description of why the DRSP contends its acts or 

practices do not constitute Telemarketing; 

ii. A detailed description of any aspects of the DRSP’s business 

practices that involve the telephone;  

iii. A list of each physical address at which the DRSP and all Persons  

employed or engaged by the DRSP to make calls to or receive calls 

from consumers are conducting or will conduct business, including 

all physical addresses for making calls to or receiving calls from 

consumers, to determine whether the DRSP is processing Advance 

Fees for consumers in multiple states;  

iv. A list of all inbound and outbound telephone numbers used by the 

DRSP;  

v. Representative samples of catalogs and related communications 

provided to Consumers; and 

vi. Names of any attorneys claiming to provide any Debt Relief 

Service or any other service related to or through the DRSP; the 
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states in which they are licensed to practice law; and any non-

confidential information about state bar complaints or disciplinary 

proceedings against those attorneys. 

c. For a DRSP claiming it is exempt from the TSR because its business 

practices involve only Face-to-Face Transactions, such reasonable 

screening shall also include obtaining: 

i. A detailed description of why the DRSP contends its acts or 

practices qualify as Face-to-Face Transactions;  

ii. A detailed description of how the DRSP conducts meetings with 

consumers which includes information as to whether the DRSP 

uses employees or independent contractors to conduct face-to-face 

sales presentations; 

iii. For DRSPs which use independent contractors, a list of all 

independent contractors and current contract templates with the 

independent contractors hired to conduct face-to-face meetings 

with consumers; 

iv. All information and materials relating to the content, length, 

location, and other circumstances surrounding the face-to-face 

presentations; 

v. Representative examples of the  materials relating to the training of 

DRSP representatives, whether employees or independent 

contractors, meeting face-to-face with consumers to provide the 

sales presentations, including training materials, scripts, guidance 

documents, or other similar materials; and  

vi. All materials provided to Consumers prior to signing a Debt Relief 

Service contract. 
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d. Taking reasonable steps to assess the accuracy of the information 

provided pursuant to requirements of Paragraph 29.a through 29.c, 

including: 

i. Contacting consumers and financial institutions, if applicable, to 

gather detailed information, including complaints and other 

relevant information, about the DRSP; 

ii. Reviewing and investigating Consumer complaints, if applicable, 

about a DRSP; 

iii. Searching publically available sources for legal actions taken by 

the Bureau or other federal or state law enforcement agencies 

against the DRSP or its principals;  

iv. Reviewing the DRSP’s websites from an IP address that is not 

associated with the Defendants;  

v. Investigating the accuracy of any DRSP’s claim that its business 

practices involve only Face-to-Face Transactions by reviewing and 

evaluating the information provided under Paragraphs 29.a through 

29.c, considering any law enforcement actions against the 

company, interviewing consumers, or taking other such 

investigatory steps; 

vi. Investigating the accuracy of any DRSP’s claim that it is not 

subject to the TSR because its business practices do not involve 

Telemarketing, e.g., because they do not involve more than one 

interstate telephone call or involve catalog solicitations, by 

reviewing and evaluating the information provided pursuant to 

Paragraphs 29.a through 29.c above, requesting historical 

consumer data to determine whether consumers in multiple states 

have signed up for the service, considering any law enforcement 
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actions against the company, auditing relevant DRSP employees or 

contractors, interviewing consumers, or taking other such 

investigatory steps.  

30. Defendant Global shall not provide Payment Processing or Account 

Maintenance Services for any DRSP unless Defendant Global has compiled written 

documentation establishing that Global has complied with all requirements under 

Paragraph 29 of this Order subject to the written plan submitted pursuant to Paragraph 31 

as applicable. 

31. Within ten (10) days of the Effective Date, Global shall submit a written 

plan to the Enforcement Director, subject to a determination of non-objection, setting 

forth a specific timeline for completing the requirements of paragraphs 29 and 30 for 

DRSPs for which Global currently provides Payment Processing or Account Maintenance 

Services. Global shall complete the reasonable screening requirements in paragraphs 29 

and 30 for these DRSPs as expeditiously as possible, and in no event shall Global take 

more than 120 days from the Effective Date to satisfy these requirements. 

32. Defendant Global shall not process any Advance Fee for any DRSP claiming 

that its business practices involve Face-to-Face Transactions, unless the DRSP provides 

evidence to Global that sale of services by the DRSP to the Consumer was not completed 

until after a face-to-face sales presentation by the DRSP. Such evidence shall include, at a 

minimum, the date, time, location, and attendees (including employer for the 

representative of the DRSP) at the face-to-face meeting giving rise to the claimed Face-

to-Face Transaction.   

33. Defendants shall not process any Advance Fee for any DRSP claiming that it 

is not subject to the TSR on the basis that its business practices do not involve interstate 

telemarketing calls unless the DRSP demonstrates that the DRSP, directly or indirectly, 

makes all calls to and receives all calls from consumers located in the same state as the 

DRSP.  A DRSP that hires telemarketers in other states to conduct calls to induce the 

Case 2:14-cv-06643   Document 3-1   Filed 08/25/14   Page 12 of 27   Page ID #:24



 

 

  

13 

    

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

purchase of Debt Relief Services within those states is still involved in a telemarketing 

plan, program, or campaign covered by the TSR. 

C. Monitoring of Debt Relief Service Providers 

34. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, their officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys, and all persons who are in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal 

service or otherwise, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall continue to monitor each 

DRSP client pursuant to the reasonable screening requirements of paragraph 29 and the 

enhanced monitoring and due diligence procedures determined by the Third-Party 

Monitor to consider whether the DRSP is complying with the TSR. 16 CFR pt. 310, and 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531 and 5536.   

35. Monitoring shall include, but not be limited to: 

a. Semi-annual audits of each DRSP’s (1) compliance with the TSR, 16 

CFR pt. 310, and sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and (2) if 

applicable, the accuracy of the DRSP’s claim it is not subject to, or is 

exempt from, the TSR because its business practices do not involve 

Telemarketing, involve Face-to-Face Transactions, or fall under any 

other claimed exemption, by updating and taking steps to verify the truth 

and accuracy of information gathered pursuant to Paragraph 29 of this 

Consent Order;  

b. Reviewing and investigating complaints about DRSPs reported to 

Defendants; 

c. Calculating on a monthly basis for each DRSP the Unauthorized Return 

Rate. Such calculations must include all ACH transactions processed by 

Defendants since the commencement of the processing relationship with 
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such DRSP. For any DRSP with multiple processing accounts, the 

calculation of the Unauthorized Return Rate shall be made for each of the 

DRSP’s individual processing accounts and in the aggregate; 

d. Conducting a reasonable investigation for any DRSP whose 

Unauthorized Return Rate exceeds 0.5% as calculated under Paragraph 

35.c of this Order or that has received the greater of (1) three complaints 

or (2) a number of complaints exceeding 0.2% of the total active clients 

for the DRSP during the six month evaluation period, in either case to the 

extent that such complaints are not resolved to the satisfaction of the 

consumer. Such reasonable investigation shall include: 

i. During the investigation, suspending all Advance Fees or other 

payments to the DRSP under investigation until a determination is 

made that remedial efforts are required in order to continue 

operations with the DRSP, and continuing until such time as the 

DRSP has implemented the remedial efforts required; and 

ii. Updating and taking steps to verify the truth and accuracy of 

information gathered pursuant to Paragraph 30 of this Consent 

Order. 

At the completion of the investigation, Defendants shall not recommence 

payments to the DRSP under investigation (if payments to the DRSP 

were previously suspended under Paragraph 35.d.i) unless Defendants 

document facts that demonstrate that the DRSP has remediated.   

D. Redress 

36. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is hereby entered in favor of the 

Bureau and against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $6,099,000. 

37. Defendants shall pay to the Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the 

Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring 
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instructions to be provided by counsel for the Bureau, $6,099,000 in full satisfaction of 

the judgment as set forth in Paragraph 36 of this section. Defendants shall pay $4,000,000 

within 10 days of the Effective Date and the remaining $2,099,000 on December 4, 2014. 

38. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment shall be 

deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or its agent in accordance with 

applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for the Redress Class, including 

but not limited to refund of moneys, restitution, or other monetary relief, and for any 

attendant expenses for the administration of any such redress. 

39. For the purposes of Redress, Section D, the Redress Class shall include any 

Affected Consumer who has paid an Advance Fee to a DRSP that claimed to be exempt 

from the TSR pursuant to a “legal” exemption where such Advance Fee was processed by 

Defendants on or after October 27, 2010 through May 20, 2014. 

40. The Bureau or its agent will administer restitution of the fees paid to Global 

by the Redress Class, as reflected in information provided by Global to the Bureau. 

41. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to any Affected 

Consumer in the Redress Class is wholly or partially impracticable, or if funds remain 

after redress is completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other 

equitable relief (including consumer information remedies) as the Bureau determines to 

be reasonably related to the violations alleged in the Complaint. Any funds not used for 

such equitable relief shall be deposited in the United States Treasury as disgorgement. 

Defendants shall have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this paragraph. 

42. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order shall not be 

conditioned on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

E. Civil Money Penalty 

43. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law set forth in this in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors set 
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forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Defendants, jointly and severally, shall pay a civil money 

penalty of $1,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

44. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants shall pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may 

direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 

Bureau. 

45. The civil money penalty paid under this Order shall be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

46. Defendants shall treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately 

uses those funds, Defendants shall not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax or tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit with regard to any federal, state, or local tax for any civil 

money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order. 

47. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants shall not argue that Defendants are entitled to, nor shall 

Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the 

Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

(“Penalty Offset”). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Defendants shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty 

Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. 
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Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be 

deemed to change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

F. Other Monetary Provisions 

48. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

shall immediately become due and payable. 

49. Defendants shall relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds shall be returned to 

Defendant. 

50. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants, unless they already have 

done so, shall furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be 

used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Order.  

51. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement 

in a Related Consumer Action, Defendants shall notify the Enforcement Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification shall indicate the 

amount of redress, if any, that Defendants paid or are required to pay to consumers and 

should describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or 

will be paid. 

52. Under Section 604(a)(I) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 168l 

b(a)(1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning any 

Defendant to the Bureau, which shall be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on 

any delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

G. Compliance Management System and Third-Party Monitor 

53. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Global shall develop and implement 

an enhanced Compliance Management System to include, but not be limited to: 
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a. Comprehensive written policies and procedures designed to prevent 

violations of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), or other Federal consumer 

protection laws, and associated risks to consumers; 

b. Effective due diligence processes, consistent with the injunctions 

provided in this Consent Order; 

c. Effective training programs that include regular and specific training 

regarding the TSR, consumer protection laws, and associated risks to 

consumers; 

d. Enhanced and documented compliance monitoring processes; 

e. Effective consumer complaint monitoring processes;  

f. Effective audit programs; and 

g. Effective processes to monitor the monthly Total Return Rate for each 

DRSP, including but not limited to, specific processes to review and 

monitor DRSPs whose Total Return Rate exceeds 2.5%. 

54. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Global shall secure and retain one or 

more third-party monitors, not subject to any conflict of interest, and subject to a 

determination of non-objection by the Enforcement Director, to conduct an independent 

review of Global’s business (the “Third-Party Monitor”). The Third-Party Monitor shall 

review Global’s existing policies and procedures concerning the TSR and other consumer 

protection laws, potential risks to consumers, consumer complaint resolution processes, 

and employee training programs. The purposes of the review shall be to determine: 

a. Whether Global has in place comprehensive written policies and 

procedures designed to detect violations of the TSR, related violations of 

consumer protection laws, and associated risks to consumers; 

b. Whether Global has in place effective due diligence processes; 
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c. Whether Global has in place effective training programs that includes 

regular and specific training regarding the TSR, consumer protection 

laws, and associated risks to Consumers; 

d. Whether Global has in place effective and documented compliance 

monitoring processes; 

e. Whether Global has in place effective consumer complaint monitoring 

processes; and 

f. Whether Global has in place effective audits of its compliance with the 

TSR, including the Advance Fee ban, or other Federal consumer financial 

laws applicable to Global. 

55. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, the Third-Party Monitor shall prepare 

a written report detailing the findings of the review (the “Third-Party Monitor Report”), 

and provide the Third-Party Monitor Report to Global.   

56. Within 20 days of receiving the Third-Party Monitor Report, Global shall:  

a. Develop a plan (the “Compliance Management System”) to: (i) address 

any deficiencies identified, and (ii) implement any recommendations or 

explain in writing why a particular recommendation is not being 

implemented; and 

Submit the Third-Party Monitor Report and the Compliance Management 

System to the Enforcement Director.  

H. Additional Compliance Monitoring 

57. Global agrees to be subject to the Bureau’s supervisory authority under 12 

U.S.C. § 5514 for 3 years from the Effective Date. Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, 

Global shall not petition for termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

I. Reporting Requirements  

58. Defendants shall notify the Bureau of any change that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 
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dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the proposed filing of 

any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in 

Defendants’ names or addresses. 

59. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendants shall: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and an email, physical, and 

postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with Defendants; 

b. Identify all of Defendants’ businesses related to the subject matter of this 

Consent Order or to the offering or provision of consumer financial 

products or services by all of their names, telephone numbers, and 

physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses;  

c. Describe the activities of each business identified in (b), including the 

products and services offered, the means of advertising, marketing, and 

sales;  

d. For all individual Defendants identify all titles and roles in each business 

identified in (b), including any business for which such Defendant 

performs services whether as an employee or otherwise and any entity in 

which such Defendant has any ownership interest; and  

e. For all individual Defendants describe in detail such Defendant’s 

involvement in each business identified in (b), including title, role, 

responsibilities, participation, authority, control, and any ownership. 

60. Defendants shall report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraphs 58 and 59 at least 30 days prior to such change. Provided, 

however, that with respect to any proposed change about which Defendants learn less 
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than 30 days prior to the date such action is to take place, Defendants shall notify the 

Bureau as soon as is practicable after obtaining such knowledge. 

61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, each Defendant shall submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (“Compliance Report”), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have 

complied with this Order; and   

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

J of this Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

62. After the one-year period, Defendants shall submit to the Enforcement 

Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau.  

J. Order Distribution and Acknowledgement  

63. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendants shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn under 

penalty of perjury.  

64. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, for any business for 

which he or it is the majority owner or which he or it directly or indirectly controls shall 

deliver a copy of this Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, 

as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent 

Order.    

65. For 5 years from the Effective Date, each Defendant, for any business for 

which he or it is the majority owner or which he directly or indirectly controls shall 

deliver a copy of this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

as set forth in Section I, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 
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have responsibilities related to the subject matter of this Order before they assume their 

responsibilities.  

66. Defendants shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the requirements 

of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons 

receiving a copy of this Order under this Section.  

K. Recordkeeping 

67. Defendants shall create, for at least 3 years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, the following 

business records: 

a. Documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. For each individual Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, 

phone number, email address; the date the Affected Consumer enrolled in 

Debt Relief Service; all payments and transactions related to the Affected 

consumer; and the date the Affected Consumer left the Debt Relief 

Service, if known;  

c. For Payment Processing or Account Maintenance Services, accounting 

records showing the gross and net revenues generated by those services; 

and 

d. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether received directly 

or indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to those 

complaints or requests. 
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L. Notices 

68. Unless otherwise directed by the Bureau, all submissions, requests, 

communications, consents, or other documents relating to this Consent Order shall be in 

writing and shall be sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
In re Global Client Solutions, LLC, et al., File No. 2011-0113-02 
 

Provided however, Defendants may send such reports or notifications by 

first-class mail, but only if Defendants contemporaneously send an electronic version 

of such report or notification to the Bureau at Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov.  

M. Cooperation with Bureau Counsel 

69. In connection with this action, or any subsequent matter related to the 

conduct described in the Complaint, Defendants shall cooperate in good faith with the 

Bureau and appear at such places and times as the Bureau shall reasonably request, after 

written notice, for interviews, conferences, pretrial discovery, review of documents, and 

for such other matters as may be reasonably requested by the Bureau. Specifically, 

Defendants shall assist the Bureau in determining the identity of and amount of injury 

suffered by each Affected Consumer. 

N. Retention of Jurisdiction 

70. The Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Consent Order. 
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1 SO STIPULATED: 

2 

3 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

; ~ctt4 ~ ~7-~ZOf'/ 
6 Erin Mary Kelly, Enforcement Attorney Date 

7 

8 
Defendant, Global Client Solutions, LLC BY: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Defendant, Global Holdings, LLC BY: 

17 Defendant, Robert Merrick: 

18 

19 

20 Robert Merrick 

21 

22 Defendant Michael Hendrix: 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

Date 

Date 

Date 

25 
28 ~-----------------------------------------------------
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1 SO STIPULATED: 

2 

3 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

4 

5 

6 Erin Mary Kelly, Enforcement Attorney Date 

7 

8 
Defendant, Global Client Solutions, LLC BY: 

9 

10 
Michael Hendrix, CEO 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Defendant, Global Holdings, LLC BY: 

15 Michael Hendrix, CEO 
16 

1 7 Defendant, Robert Merrick: 

18 .1-1----

1 

20 Robert Merrick 

21 

22 Defendant Michael Hendrix: 

23 

24 

25 Michael Hendrix 

26 

27 

Date 

Date 

Date 

Date 

25 
28 ~-------------------------------------------------------
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IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

DATED this ___ day of ______________, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

     _________________________________ 

     United States District Court Judge 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Global Client
Solutions for Processing Illegal Debt-
Settlement Fees
Payment Processor to Pay Over $6 Million in Relief to Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced an enforcement action against Global Client Solutions, a leading debt-
settlement payment processor, for allegedly helping other companies to collect tens of
millions of dollars in illegal upfront fees from consumers. The Bureau has asked a
federal district court to approve a consent order that would require the company and its
two owners to halt all illegal activities and to pay over $6 million in relief to consumers
as well as a $1 million civil penalty.

“Global Client Solutions made it possible for debt-settlement companies across the
country to charge consumers illegal fees,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“Consumers struggling to pay off a debt are among the most at risk and deserve better.
We will continue to crack down on illegal debt-settlement firms and the companies that
help these operations collect illegal fees from consumers.”

Global Client Solutions, which is based in the state of Oklahoma, is one of the largest
payment processors for the debt-settlement industry. Debt-settlement companies
generally offer to help consumers reduce or eliminate their credit card or other debt by
negotiating settlements with creditors. In many cases, when consumers enroll in a debt-
settlement program, the company instructs them to stop paying their debts and to
instead make monthly payments to a payment processor account while the debts are
negotiated. The CFPB has found that many consumers who use these services end up
paying hundreds or even thousands in unlawful advance fees. Consumers may also end
up without their debts settled and fall even deeper in debt.

The CFPB alleges that Global Client Solutions and its two principals, Robert Merrick
and Michael Hendrix, violated the Telemarketing Sales Rule by making it possible for
debt-settlement companies to charge consumers illegal upfront fees. The rule prohibits
debt-settlement companies from charging consumers advance fees before settling any
of their debts. The rule protects consumers from the risk of spending money on services
that may not materialize and may ultimately leave them even worse off.

According to the CFPB’s complaint, since October 2010, Global Client Solutions
processed tens of millions of dollars in illegal advance fees from tens of thousands of
consumers. Global Client Solutions processed these unlawful fees on behalf of hundreds
of debt relief companies across the country.

Today’s proposed order bans Global Client Solutions from enabling other companies to
collect illegal fees from consumers. The defendants will be subject to monitoring by the
CFPB and will be required to make reports to the CFPB to ensure their compliance. The
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defendants will also pay over $6 million in consumer relief in addition to paying a civil
money penalty of $1 million.

Today’s action is part of the CFPB’s comprehensive effort to address consumer harm
and to root out unlawful practices across the debt settlement industry. The Bureau has
taken action against five debt-relief companies for charging illegal advanced fees, as
well as five mortgage-relief operations for charging illegal advance fees from distressed
homeowners. Last year, the Bureau also obtained a judgment against Meracord,
another leading payment processor for debt-settlement companies, for enabling debt-
settlement companies to process unlawful fees.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law. The proposed court order has been filed with the Court for the Central
District of California and will have the full force of law only when signed by the
presiding judge.

A copy of today’s complaint is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_complaint_global-client-
solutions.pdf

A copy of the proposed court order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_proposed-order_global-client-
solutions.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
EASTERN DIVISION 

 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU,      

Plaintiff, 

                               v. 

CORINTHIAN COLLEGES, INC. d/b/a Everest 
College, Everest Institute, Everest University, 
Everest University Online, Everest College Phoenix, 
Everest College Online, WyoTech, and Heald 
College, 
 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
)       Case No. 14-7194 
)  
)  
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

  
 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), brings this 

action against Defendant Corinthian Colleges, Inc. referred to herein as “Corinthian” 

and alleges the following:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. Corinthian is a publicly-traded, for-profit school that marketed itself as a 

provider of career training. Corinthian’s business model is predicated on convincing 

consumers to obtain student financial aid to pay the high cost of tuition to enroll in its 

programs. Because most of its prospective students could not afford to pay tuition out-

of-pocket, from July 2011 through March 2014, students took out nearly 130,000 

private student loans to pay Corinthian’s tuition and fees. The total outstanding balance 

of these loans is in excess of $568.7 million.  
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2. Since at least July 2011, it has been Corinthian’s practice to induce 

prospective students to incur the loan obligations necessary to enroll by promising 

career training and graduate employment opportunities of the type that would enable a 

consumer to repay his or her debt upon completing Corinthian’s program. As detailed 

below, Corinthian induced students to enroll in its programs through false and 

misleading representations about its graduates’ career opportunities, including 

representations suggesting Corinthian would provide assistance in helping students find 

a job, and that students were likely to obtain a permanent job upon graduation.  

3. Corinthian falsely inflated its job placement statistics to induce students to 

enroll and to maintain its accreditation. Among other deceptive tactics, Corinthian 

defined a “placement” as any job that lasted one day, with the promise of a second day; 

paid employers to temporarily hire graduates from Corinthian schools; falsified 

placement information; and provided meager career services, and virtually no career 

services to graduates that Corinthian could already record as being placed. 

4. Prospective students received counseling from Corinthian admissions and 

financial aid staff concerning the value of a Corinthian education and the options 

available to them to pay the cost of tuition. Corinthian’s staff was instructed to, and did, 

seek to cultivate relationships of trust with these prospective students, and assuage any 

concerns they may have had about the affordability of a Corinthian education and their 

ability to repay the student loans needed to finance it. 

5. In internal communications, Corinthian described its prospective student 

population as individuals who have “low self-esteem” and “[f]ew people in their lives 

who care about them”; who are “isolated,” “stuck, unable to see and plan well for 
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future”; and “impatient, [and] want quick solutions.” Corinthian aggressively recruited 

these consumers, including through persistent telemarketing and subjecting consumers 

who visited its campuses to high-pressure sales efforts. 

6. Corinthian referred internally to its students as having “[m]inimal to non-

existent understanding of basic financial concepts,” as well as poor or no credit history. 

Corinthian assisted these students in applying for federal financial aid, but even with the 

maximum amount of available federal aid, many prospective Corinthian students were 

not able to afford Corinthian’s tuition. Corinthian referred to this shortfall as a “funding 

gap.” 

7. Rather than reduce tuition to eliminate this gap, Corinthian marketed and 

promoted private student loans, known as Genesis loans, to its students. During the 

time period material to this complaint, Corinthian represented to its students that the 

Genesis loans were made by an independent third-party entity and that Corinthian did 

not have a financial interest in the loans. 

8. Contrary to Corinthian’s representations, Corinthian did have an interest 

in the Genesis loans. At different times during the period July 21, 2011 to the present, 

Corinthian has been obligated to purchase all such loans immediately after origination, 

or all such loans on which a payment is more than 90 days past due. 

9. Corinthian took aggressive action to collect in-school payments on the 

Genesis loans as soon as they become past due, and Corinthian’s campus staff members 

received bonuses based in part on their success in collecting such past-due payments 

from students. Corinthian’s efforts to collect such payments included pulling students 
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out of class, preventing students from attending and registering for class, and 

terminating students’ computer access.  

10. Despite its aggressive collection efforts, to date, more than 60% of 

students with a Genesis loan have defaulted on that loan within three years. 

11. When Corinthian marketed, promoted, and facilitated these student loans, 

Corinthian expected that most student-borrowers would default.  

12. Despite the high default rate, Corinthian marketed, promoted, and 

facilitated the Genesis loan program because it could not rely solely on federal funding 

for 100% of its revenue. Federal law requires that no more than 90% of its revenue may 

come from federal financial aid provided under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 

1965, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1070 et seq. (Title IV aid). Every Genesis loan dollar that Corinthian 

induced its students to borrow, in effect, allowed Corinthian to receive up to an 

additional nine dollars in Title IV aid. As a result, Corinthian had strong financial 

incentives to induce its students into taking out Genesis loans, even given students 

borrowers’ high default rates. 

13. Because Corinthian deceptively and unfairly induced students to incur 

significant debt, and because Corinthian took illegal aggressive action to collect on that 

debt, the Bureau brings this action to stop these practices and make Corinthian’s 

consumers whole. 

14. On July 3, 2014, Corinthian and its wholly- and partially-owned 

subsidiaries entered into an Operating Agreement with the U.S. Department of 

Education (“Department”). 
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15. Corinthian entered into the Operating Agreement after the Department’s 

Federal Student Aid office placed Corinthian on Heightened Cash Monitoring on June 

12, 2014. This required Corinthian to wait 21 days after submitting student enrollment 

data to receive Title IV funds. The Department placed Corinthian on heightened 

oversight after Corinthian failed to provide the Department with satisfactory 

information regarding Corinthian’s job placement data.  

16. Per the terms of the Operating Agreement, Corinthian has put a majority 

of its campuses up for sale and will close the remaining campuses. Corinthian further 

disclosed that for any school designated for sale, Corinthian “will seek to reach definitive 

sale agreements … within six months.”  

17. The Operating Agreement requires Corinthian to enter into an agreement 

with an independent monitor who will report to the Department and have full access to 

Corinthian’s personnel, financial forecasts, and cash receipts.  

18. On or about July 18, 2014, the independent monitor was appointed. 

19. The Operating Agreement also states that Corinthian and the Department 

“will work together to establish a reserve fund” of not less than $30 million to be used 

exclusively for student refunds. To date, no reserve fund has been established.  

20. On August 20, 2014, Corinthian sold virtually all of the Genesis loan notes 

that it owned, totaling approximately 170,000 loans with a face value of $505 million, to 

a third-party company for $19 million.  
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NATURE OF ACTION 

21. The Bureau brings this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054, 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a), 5564, and 5565, for Corinthian’s violations, from July 21, 2011 through 

the present, of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibit unfair, 

deceptive, and abusive acts and practices, as well as for Corinthian’s violations of the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”),  15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

22. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345. 

23. Venue is proper in this district because Corinthian maintains campuses 

and does business in the Northern District of Illinois. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f).  

PLAINTIFF 

24. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services 

under federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent 

litigating authority to commence civil actions to enforce federal consumer financial 

laws, including the CFPA and the FDCPA.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b); 5481(12), (14). 
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DEFENDANT 

25.  Corinthian is one of the largest for-profit, post-secondary education  

companies in the United States. With more than 100 school campuses, Corinthian 

operates schools under the following names:  Everest College, Everest Institute, Everest 

University Online, Everest University, Everest College Phoenix, Heald College, and 

WyoTech.    

26. Corinthian Colleges, Inc. is headquartered in Santa Ana, California and, 

during times material to this complaint, has transacted and continues to transact 

business in the Northern District of Illinois. Corinthian operates five Everest College 

campuses in this district: Bedford Park, Burr Ridge, Melrose Park, Merrionette Park, 

and Skokie.   

27. Corinthian engaged in promoting, marketing, offering, and providing 

“consumer financial products or services,” within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(5). Specifically, Corinthian participated in designing, funding, promoting, and 

marketing the Genesis private loan program and facilitating students’ application for 

Genesis loans that were made available to its prospective and current students to pay a 

portion of the tuition and fees that Corinthian charged students to enroll. 

28.  Corinthian brokered loans to its students by, among other things, serving 

as the single point of contact that introduced the students to the Genesis loan program, 

assisted them in completing the application for a Genesis loan, and submitted the 

application to the loan originator. Corinthian received a benefit in arranging such loans, 

which were exclusively provided to Corinthian students.  
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29. Corinthian provided financial advisory services to students and 

prospective students regarding the payment of tuition and fees required to enroll in and 

attend Corinthian’s schools. Corinthian, through its financial aid staff, provided 

substantial advice and assistance regarding private student loans and federal financial 

aid to students enrolling in its schools. This included advising students on what 

financial aid and loan programs were available to them to pay for school, assisting 

students in completing the necessary applications and paperwork, and ensuring that 

such applications and paperwork were completed to ensure receipt of funds. 

30. Because Corinthian engages in offering or providing consumer financial 

products and services as described above, Corinthian is a “covered person” under the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 
31. Corinthian depends upon tuition and fees to generate revenue.   

32. The amount of tuition and fees Corinthian charged varied among 

Corinthian’s schools and educational programs. In 2013, tuition and fees to earn a 

diploma from a Corinthian school, typically an 8 to 12 month program, were between 

$13,100 and $21,338. In the same year, the tuition and fees for an associate’s degree, 

which is a 24 month program, were between $33,120 and $42,820. The tuition and fees 

for a bachelor’s degree for the same time period were between $60,096 and $75,384. 

33. Most students attending Corinthian’s schools are low-income, or the first 

in their families to seek an education beyond a high school diploma. Many Corinthian 

students struggle economically. In 2012, Corinthian reported that approximately 85% 

percent of its students had family incomes of less than $45,000 a year. A 2011 survey of 
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its campus operations indicated that over 57% of Corinthian’s student population had a 

household income of $19,000 or less, and 35% of Corinthian’s student population had a 

household income of less than $10,000.  

34. Students attending Corinthian’s schools could very rarely pay for the 

school’s tuition out-of-pocket. Students relied on private loans and aid provided by the 

federal government under Title IV to pay Corinthian’s tuition and fees. 

35. In its Annual Report Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013, filed with the United 

States Securities and Exchange Commission, Corinthian reported that its operations in 

the United States derived 84.8% of net revenue from Title IV aid programs.   

36.   Under Title IV, a for-profit company that owns a school receiving federal 

student aid funds is subject to the “90/10 rule,” 34 C.F.R. § 668.14(b)(16). Under this 

rule, a for-profit college must not receive more than 90% of its net revenue from Title IV 

aid. A minimum of 10% of such an entity’s revenue must come from non-Title IV aid, 

such non-Title IV federal aid, state aid, ordinary tuition payments from students, or as 

private student loans. Non-Title IV federal aid, which is not counted toward the 90% 

limit, includes educational benefits available to service members and veterans from the 

U.S. Department of Defense or the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. Schools that do 

not comply with the “90/10” rule risk losing their eligibility to participate in federal 

student aid programs.  

37. To be eligible for Title IV aid, a for-profit company that owns a school 

must be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Department of 

Education. 34 C.F.R. § 600.5.  
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38. In order to maintain its accreditation, Corinthian must meet any 

accrediting agency’s minimum standards in several areas including job placement and 

graduation rates. Corinthian must report these rates to both its accreditors and its 

prospective students.   

Corinthian Created an Artificial “Funding Gap” to Increase Students’ 
Need for Private Student Loans. 

 
39.   In order to comply with the 90/10 rule, Corinthian made sure that the cost 

of attending its schools was high enough that students would not be able to pay solely 

through using Title IV aid. 

40.   In September 2011, Corinthian’s CEO distributed a presentation to his 

executive team, describing efforts by Corinthian to meet the requirements of the 90/10 

rule by instituting “above market price increases to create ‘funding gaps.’” By increasing 

tuition, Corinthian caused students, who otherwise would have been able to pay for the 

entire cost of tuition through Title IV aid, to take out private student loans in order to 

maintain 90/10 compliance. Regardless of whether students were able to repay the 

private student loans, Corinthian would profit from the increased availability of Title IV 

monies. 

41. In or about Spring 2011, for example, Corinthian increased tuition at 

Heald College by 14% to ensure that the school received additional non-Title IV funds in 

order to meet 90/10 requirements.   
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Corinthian Used Misrepresentations About Likely Student Outcomes 
to Induce Students to Incur Debt and Enroll. 
 
42. Corinthian induced students to take out private student loans to enable 

them  to enroll at its schools through a series of misrepresentations about the likely 

employment outcomes for Corinthian students.  

43. Internally, Corinthian emphasized that its admissions representatives 

were salespeople. A training manual for Corinthian’s Directors of Admissions instructed 

them to look for “sales” experience when hiring admissions representatives. A March 

2012 training for admissions representatives trained them on “closing the sale” and 

instructed them that “all interactions with a customer are sales interactions.”  

44. Rather than instructing Corinthian’s admissions representatives to help 

prospective students find appropriate educational options, this training advised 

admissions representatives: “As our customer seeks to learn more about our college, 

your role will be more to bring about agreement that Everest is the right choice for him 

or her.” 

45. Corinthian trained its admissions representatives to pressure prospective 

students who were parents by telling them that enrolling in a program was their best or 

only chance to help their children. 

46. Corinthian also recruited students by falsely implying urgency in the 

enrollment process by, for example, training admissions representatives to falsely tell 

prospective students that seats might not be available in the future. 

47. Corinthian admissions representatives put prospective students under 

constant pressure. At the Everest College in Melrose Park, Illinois, Corinthian trained 
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admissions representatives not to let prospective students leave their offices until they 

had enrolled in a Corinthian program. 

48. At the Everest College Burr Ridge, Illinois campus, managers instructed 

admissions representatives to keep calling the same prospective student until that 

prospective student explicitly told them not to call back again. 

Corinthian Promised a Career, But at Best, Only Helped  
Graduates Find Temporary Employment. 

49. While Corinthian promoted its schools to consumers as providing a 

“career-focused” education, Corinthian and its schools deliberately overstated the 

likelihood that students would be able to find a job that would enable them to pay off 

their loans. Corinthian and its schools promised “career training” and promoted 

Corinthian’s “lifetime career services” and successful “career placement” rate. 

50. For example, in promoting Heald College, Corinthian advertised, “[y]our 

education might mean the difference between a rewarding career or just another job.” 

Similarly, Everest Colleges, Universities, and Institutes advertised on its websites that it 

provided students “[a] better career, a better life, a better way to get there.” 

51. But while Corinthian promoted “career” opportunities, its placement 

policies reflected a definition of “career” that does not correspond with that of a 

reasonable consumer. The “career” Corinthian schools promised is in fact just any job 

that a Corinthian graduate worked at for at least one day. 

52. Corinthian’s Policy on Graduate Employment, effective since at least 

January 2010, states, “a graduate shall be counted as employed only if… The 

employment is for a reasonable period of time, is based on program objectives, and can 

be considered sustainable (e.g., not a single day of employment).” 
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53. Corinthian maintained a distinct policy for graduates who became 

employed by an “employment agency that finds employees to fill short-term temporary 

jobs.” As Corinthian’s policy explained, these agencies may offer “positions where the 

position starts out as a temporary job, but, could become permanent if the employer 

decides to hire the candidate.” For an agency employment to be counted for reporting 

purposes, Corinthian required that “a graduate must have actually worked on an 

assignment (e.g., a paid orientation does not count as an employment unless the 

graduate works for an additional day in an actual assignment).” 

54. Corinthian’s written policy contained a broad exception to the two-day 

employment requirement. In bold-faced type, Corinthian’s employment policy states, 

“In the event a graduate is hired for an ongoing (sustainable) position and does not 

return after one (1) day, this employment can remain in the system.” 

55. So when Corinthian advertises on its website, 

www.mycareercounts.org/outcomes, “In 2012, over 69 percent of our 38,721 graduates 

found careers in their field of study,” this really meant that 69 percent of Corinthian 

graduates found a job that lasted as little as one day. 

56. In contrast to Corinthian’s definition, a reasonable consumer would 

understand the promise of a career—consistent with its dictionary definition—to mean 

“a job or profession that someone does for a long time.” 

57. Corinthian’s promise of a “career” was material to consumers’ decision to 

enroll in Corinthian and to take out a private student loan. 
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Corinthian Falsified its Job Placement Rate. 

58. In order to maintain accreditation and eligibility for Title IV aid, 

Corinthian must meet any accrediting agency’s job placement minimum standards and 

report these rates to its accreditors and to prospective students. 

59. In addition to its misleading promotion of career opportunity, Corinthian 

has a history of falsely representing its job placement rate in its marketing materials and 

disclosures provided to consumers, and in documents submitted to accreditors.  

60. Corinthian promoted its career-focused education and job placement rate 

to induce students to enroll at its schools and take out Genesis loans. Corinthian 

attempted to bolster the credibility of its job placement claims by trumpeting, “In 2006, 

we formed a corporate verification team that confirms the accuracy of our job placement 

statistics …” Yet Corinthian continued to misrepresent its job placement rates. 

61. At Everest College’s Decatur, Georgia campus, school employees created 

fictitious employers and reported students as having been placed with those fake 

employers. The school employees then had friends falsely verify the employment. This 

resulted in increasing placement rates by as much as 37% per program on reports that 

Corinthian gave to accreditors in 2009 and 2010. 

62. In another example, at Everest Institute’s Mid-Cities, Texas campus in 

2010, two career services employees coordinated with employers to improperly verify 

251 placements, only 7 of which were confirmed upon later review. 

63. At the Everest Institute’s Hialeah, Florida campus in 2010, Corinthian had 

to lower the campus-wide placement rate that it had reported to its accreditor by 6.6 
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percentage points because it had falsely reported that graduates had been placed when, 

in fact, they remained unemployed. 

64. In April 2011, Corinthian management instructed an employee at the 

Everest Institute’s Jonesboro, Georgia campus to list 70 unemployed graduates as 

employed for a report that Corinthian sent to its accreditor. Days later, after the report 

was sent, that employee was directed to change those 70 graduates’ status back to 

unemployed. 

65. In the spring of 2012, a manager at WyoTech’s Long Beach, California 

campus reported 366 self-employment placements after graduation, while most other 

WyoTech campuses had only three or four such placements during the same time 

period. 

66. Corinthian’s employees reported inaccurate job placements so often that 

when, in May 2012, a senior employee told the West Division President that the Everest 

College’s Renton, Washington campus would fail an audit for inaccurate placement 

records, the West Division President argued that the campus was being unfairly singled 

out. She wrote, “[I]f this is going to be how stringent we are, there’s going to be a ton of 

failures. These people [Corinthian’s employees responsible for verifying placements] 

don’t know what they are doing.” 

67. Corinthian’s senior management knew that Corinthian’s job placement 

representations were inaccurate. 

68. In September 2011, for example, Corinthian’s chief executive officer 

acknowledged, “we have placement a compliance problem [sic] now and need to get 

back into compliance.” 
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69. Yet, despite the recognition of non-compliance, a March 2012 internal 

audit at Everest College’s San Francisco, California campus found that Corinthian could 

not verify 53% of its reported placements. 

70. Also in March 2012, the former director of career services at Everest 

College’s Milwaukee, Wisconsin campus, in an email titled “The Integrity of Career 

Services Management,” informed Everest College’s corporate office that the Milwaukee 

campus was “fudging the numbers, with the approval of [the] Director of Career 

Services.” When the former employee raised questions after the placement rate 

increased from 6% to 33% in a short period of time, Corinthian terminated her 

employment. 

71.   In August 2012, when an accreditor conducted a sample review of job  

placement rates for Everest College’s Reseda, California campus, it found Corinthian 

was unable to verify 30% of its reported placements. 

 

To Inflate its Placement Statistics, Corinthian Falsely Classified 
 Graduates as Unemployable. 

72. Not only did Corinthian falsely inflate the number of graduates it placed, it 

also deflated the number of graduates who were “available for employment.” 

73. A graduate was considered unavailable for employment, and therefore 

removed from the employment rate calculation, for reason of death, incarceration, 

active military service deployment, the onset of a medical condition that prevents 

employment, continuing education, or because the student was an international student 

who returned to his or her country of origin. 
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74. According to Corinthian’s Policy on Graduate Employment, a graduate’s 

incarceration could be documented with publicly-available documents such as “a copy of 

the arrest record, police report or booking/intake documentation… [or] a warrant that 

could lead to possible incarceration would be considered acceptable documentation.” 

75. This verification policy enabled Corinthian employees to search the 

Internet for graduates’ names for any purported evidence of incarceration. When 

Corinthian employees were able to match a graduate’s name to some evidence of 

possible incarceration – irrespective of whether the name match was, in fact, an identity 

match – in some cases, Corinthian removed that graduate from the employment rate 

calculation. 

Corinthian Inflated its Job Placement Statistics by Paying 
Employers to Temporarily Hire its Graduates. 

76. Corinthian further inflated the job placement rate that it promoted to 

consumers and on which its accreditation was based by paying employers to temporarily 

hire its graduates. 

77. In 2011, at Everest Institute’s Brighton, Massachusetts campus, the 

Campus President and Director of Career Services organized a scheme to pay a company 

to employ graduates for two days at a health fair. The school then counted those 

students as “placed,” which inflated placement rates by 8 and 15 percentage points for 

the relevant programs. 

78. To further inflate the placement numbers it reported to consumers and 

accreditors, Corinthian engaged in a “pay to place” scheme exemplified by its “Calvary 

Initiative” (“Initiative”). In or about June 2011, Everest Institute’s Decatur, Georgia 

campus, which risked losing its accreditation due to low placement rates, started the 
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Initiative to improve its placement rates. Under the Initiative, Corinthian paid 

employers $2,000 for each graduate that the employer hired if the employer promised 

to keep the graduate employed for 30 days.  

79. Corinthian did not inform graduates that their employment was 

subsidized or that it was temporary. 

80. According to the terms of the Initiative, and consistent with Corinthian’s 

written policy, a graduate was counted as placed if the graduate worked one day and 

returned to work for a second day of work. Corinthian counted these jobs as placements, 

provided that information to accreditors, and included the placements in rates 

subsequently provided to prospective students. 

81. Corinthian management credited the Initiative and its implementers with 

placing 307 Decatur graduates, which raised the campus’s placement rate sufficiently to 

allow it to meet accreditation standards. 

82. Due to the success of the Initiative in improving placement rates, 

Corinthian implemented similar programs at other campuses, including Everest 

Institute’s Jonesboro, Georgia campus. 

83. Corinthian management also considered implementing this Initiative at 

schools in Florida, including its Jacksonville, Miami, Kendall, Hialeah, South Orlando, 

and North Orlando campuses. Corinthian’s Executive Vice President opposed 

implementing the Initiative at these Florida campuses, stating that “the potential for 

negative press in Florida is much higher than it is in Atlanta and while [Corinthian has] 

put as much positive spin on the approach as we can the detractors will still use the 

program to detract.” 
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Corinthian Deceptively Promoted the Utility of its Career 
Services. 

84. While marketing and promoting its programs to prospective students, 

Corinthian falsely promised prospective students that they would receive career 

assistance while enrolled, and lifetime career assistance after graduation. Corinthian 

promoted “career-focused education” and career services that were available “whenever 

you need help finding a job, or want some advice on improving your resume or 

interviewing skills.” Corinthian further promotes that it “not only help[s] you find a job 

after you graduate, we help you find a job any time you need one, throughout your 

career… From graduation to retirement, we’ll help you advance your career whenever 

you need it.” 

85. Contrary to Corinthian’s representations that it would provide “career 

assistance for life,” Corinthian schools did not provide meaningful career assistance 

while students were in school or after graduation. 

86. Corinthian’s limited career services included distributing job postings 

from Craigslist. Students often had trouble contacting anyone in the career services 

office or getting any meaningful support. 

87. Once a student was initially placed, and Corinthian could report the 

placement to its accreditors, Corinthian refused to provide further career assistance to 

graduates. This was particularly problematic in light of Corinthian’s policy of finding 

students temporary employment to pad its placement statistics. 

88. The career services Corinthian promised to provide were an important 

selling point for the school, which emphasized its nationwide network of employers and 

lifetime support for graduates. For prospective students incurring significant debt, 
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including Genesis loans, for the promise of a career, Corinthian’s representations about 

its career services were material. 

Corinthian Implemented the Genesis Loan Program to Fill the  
“Funding Gap” That Corinthian Created. 

89. Before 2008, third-party providers of private education loans offered 

Corinthian students the opportunity to apply for loans to fund their educational 

expenses. 

90. In or about January 2008, these third-party lenders ceased making private 

student loans available to students who presented high credits risks (i.e. subprime 

borrowers), such as those enrolled at institutions owned by Corinthian. 

91. Rather than reduce tuition in response to the decision of these third-party 

lenders not to make funds available to subprime student borrowers, Corinthian 

launched its own institutional loan program – the Genesis Loan Program – which it 

developed together with a third-party entity (“Company A”) already engaged in 

financing and servicing “funding gap” loans for other educational institutions. 

92. Under the Genesis loan program, pursuant to written agreements, 

Corinthian marketed the loan and a partner bank acted as the originator for each 

Genesis loan, disbursing the loan funds to Corinthian after each student’s loan 

application was approved. Shortly after a student’s loan funds were disbursed to 

Corinthian on the student’s behalf, Company A purchased the loans from the bank. 

Corinthian then paid a “discount fee” to Company A equal to 50% of the face value of the 

loans that Company A purchased from the bank. 

93. Under the agreement with Company A, typically within two weeks after 

Company A purchased the loans from the bank, Corinthian purchased all of the loans 
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from Company A. Corinthian paid Company A the face value of the loans minus any 

discount fee that it had already paid and Company A operated as the servicer of the 

loans.  

94. Accordingly, from in or about 2008 through approximately July 2011, 

Corinthian knew that it would own all Genesis loans that its students took out within a 

period of approximately two weeks after the loan funds were disbursed. 

95. The lending criteria applicable to Corinthian students’ applications for 

Genesis loans were developed jointly by Corinthian, Company A, and the originating 

bank. 

96. In 2011, the third-party lenders who had previously made loans to 

Corinthian’s students that were considered prime borrowers ceased lending to 

Corinthian students altogether. 

97. In June 2011, Corinthian entered into an agreement with a private lending 

group (Company B) and changed the Genesis Loan program.  Corinthian launched this 

version of the loan program in or about August 2011. Company B assumed the role of 

intermediary between Corinthian and the bank.  As in the original version of the 

program, Corinthian marketed the loan and a partner bank originated loans to 

Corinthian students and disbursed the loan funds to Corinthian on behalf of the student 

borrower. Company B then purchased the loans from the bank, and Corinthian was then 

required to pay Company B a “discount fee” equal to 50% of the face value of each loan 

that Company B bought from the bank. Company A continued to service the loans. 

98. Unlike the prior version of the Genesis loan program, where Corinthian 

was then obligated to purchase all loans from Company A, the 2011 agreement required 
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Corinthian to purchase from Company B only the Genesis loans that were more than 90 

days delinquent. 

99. From in or about 2011 through the present, Corinthian knew that it would 

own all Genesis loans that were more than 90 days delinquent in repayment, including 

those 90 days delinquent on required in-school payments. 

100. In or about 2013, Corinthian replaced the Genesis loan program with the 

EducationPlus loan program. The EducationPlus loan program is similar to the Genesis 

loan program in that, under the EducationPlus program, Corinthian markets the loan, a 

partner bank originates the loan, Company A services the loans, and Corinthian buys 

from Company B all of the loans that are more than 90 days delinquent. Corinthian 

management and staff often referred to the EducationPlus loan program as the Genesis 

loan program. 

101. In February 2014, after Company B withdrew from the program, 

Corinthian reinstated the first iteration of the Genesis loan program, under which 

Corinthian is obligated to purchase all loans originated. 

102. In or about July 2014, Corinthian ceased offering the Genesis loan 

program to it- students. In September 2014, Corinthian intends to resume offering 

Genesis loans to its students. 

103. From July 2011 through March 2014, Corinthian induced nearly 130,000 

students to take private student loans through these programs, which are collectively 

referred to as “Genesis loans.” The total outstanding balance of these loans is in excess 

of $568.7 million. 
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Corinthian’s Financial Aid Staff Promoted Genesis Loans. 

104. During the times relevant to this complaint, Corinthian gave its financial 

aid planners a training instructing them to make “students believe you are operating 

with their best interest at heard [sic].” In truth, however, Corinthian’s overriding goal 

was to enroll students. The same manual instructed staff to “build trust” with students 

so that they can “influence [students’] decisions and help them make the right choice for 

a better life by enrolling in our college.” 

105. At the Everest College’s Burr Ridge, Illinois campus, through the spring of 

2012, it was “all about numbers.” Corinthian pressured staff to “close” the deal and 

enroll as many students as possible. 

106. Corinthian’s current and prospective students were encouraged to, and 

did, rely on Corinthian’s financial aid staff to act in their interests in connection with the 

financial aid they applied for and received. 

107. Beginning in approximately March 2008, Corinthian actively marketed, 

promoted, and offered Genesis loans to its prospective and current students to pay 

tuition and fees that were not covered by federal aid or other sources. Corinthian’s 

financial aid staff promoted the loan by introducing the loan to prospective and current 

students, and by encouraging them to apply for the loan to pay for tuition and fees that 

were not covered by federal financial aid. 

108. Corinthian staff was actively involved in the Genesis application process 

with its students. Once the student entered personal information in the electronic 

application, Corinthian’s financial aid staff filled out the remaining information 
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including the requested loan amount, verified the information entered by the student, 

and submitted an application for a credit check on behalf of the borrower. 

109. During the time period material to this complaint, Corinthian also 

promoted the Genesis loan program through its “Preferred Lender List,” which it 

published on each of its schools’ websites. In the case of Heald College, for example, this 

“Preferred Lender List ”advised Corinthian’s prospective and current students that “[a]s 

a result of current conditions in the credit market, many lenders have ceased making 

private education loans, or have tightened their credit criteria such that fewer borrowers 

are qualifying for such loans. The lender listed below [Genesis loan program’s 

originating bank] has expressed a willingness to make private education loans available 

to Heald students who meet its eligibility and credit criteria.” 

110. The “Preferred Lender List” for each Corinthian school also stated that 

“[w]hile we do not promote or endorse this lender, we expect this lender to provide 

satisfactory customer service and representatives who can assist borrowers to make 

informed decisions. The lender listed below will work within our processing system and 

disburse funds to the student’s account quickly using Electronic Funds Transfer.” 

111. During the time period material to this complaint, Corinthian’s “Preferred 

Lender List” did not inform consumers that Corinthian had an agreement to buy all of 

the Genesis loans and, consequently, that the student borrowers would shortly owe their 

debt to Corinthian.  

112. Moreover, Corinthian management misled even its own student finance 

planners to believe that Corinthian was not involved in funding the Genesis loan 

program. Management told planners that the Genesis loan was a private loan funded by 
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a third-party bank. Student finance planners in turn passed this information on to 

students. 

113. During the time material to this complaint, the Application/Enrollment 

Agreements provided to students at WyoTech, Heald College, Everest University Online, 

and Everest College Online did not include any mention of Corinthian’s involvement in 

the Genesis loan. 

114. Students attending Everest University, Everest College Phoenix, and 

Everest Institute schools, however, typically received a six-page Application/Enrollment 

Agreement, which stated: 

Third parties who may make private loans to me to 
finance my education may subsequently sell such 
loans and related receivables to The School or to an 
affiliate of The School....[I]f I fail to comply with the 
terms of any financial assistance made available to me 
through The School or any other source or any cash 
payment plan offered to me, in addition to any other 
remedies available to The School by contract, or under 
law, the School may take action with respect to my 
continued enrollment, up to and including 
suspensions or termination of my enrollment. 
 

115. Corinthian staff did not review the terms of the Application/Enrollment 

Agreement with prospective students. Corinthian’s practice of failing to review the terms 

with the prospective students left the students unaware that their relationship with 

Corinthian would be not just student-educator, but also borrower-debt collector. 

116. Under the Genesis loan program, nearly all student borrowers were 

required to make monthly loan payments while attending school. The most common 

payment plan was called “Plan A,” which required a monthly loan payment while the 

student was attending school. The interest began accruing after the student left school. 
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A second plan, known as “Plan B,” did not allow in-school payments, and interest began 

accruing while the student was enrolled in school.  The school’s campus president had to 

approve any Plan B payment plans. 

117. The interest rates for Genesis loans were typically substantially higher 

than the interest rate for federal loans. In or about July 2011, the Genesis loan interest 

rate was 14.9% with an origination fee of 6%. Meanwhile, the interest rate for federal 

student loans during this time period was 3.4% to 6.8% with an origination fee of 1%. 

118. When the Genesis loan program began using Company B in June 2011, 

Corinthian continued the practice of concealing from students and most of its financial 

aid planners that Corinthian had an obligation to buy Genesis loans, in this case, that 

were more than 90 days delinquent. 

Corinthian Used Unfair Harassing Tactics to Collect Past 
Due Loan Payments. 

119. Pursuant to the terms of the Genesis loans, a loan was delinquent 

immediately after a borrower was late on a payment for the first time. 

120. Because of its ownership interest in certain Genesis loans, and because of 

its obligation to purchase other Genesis loans in the event they became more than 90 

days delinquent, Corinthian had a financial incentive to collect past-due Genesis loans. 

Corinthian harassed students to collect past-due loan payments. 

121. Corinthian made it a practice of identifying and tracking those students 

who were behind in their Genesis loan payments. 

122. At least since 2010 through part of 2013, Company A routinely provided 

Corinthian with monthly status reports concerning the status of the Genesis loan 

accounts, including the accounts that were past-due. 
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123. Corinthian’s collection policy required school campuses to start the 

collection process as soon as a Genesis loan account became past-due. 

124. It was Corinthian’s practice to take action to collect loans that were less 

than 90 days delinquent. Corinthian took aggressive steps to collect these loans on 

Company B’s behalf so that it would not be required to buy the loans from Company B. 

125. Corinthian prevented student borrowers from attending classes they were 

currently enrolled in by informing instructors and other staff that these students were 

past-due on their Genesis loan accounts. 

126. For example, in June 2013, a financial aid assistant instructed staff at 

Heald College’s San Francisco campus not to allow a student who was over 38 days past-

due on a Genesis loan to “sit in class until she provides a written authorization 

(Admission Slip) from the Business Office indicating that her [Genesis] account is up to 

date …” 

127. Similarly, in June 2013, a Director of Student Accounts at Everest 

College’s Ontario, California campus informed instructors that those students with past-

due Genesis loan accounts were not allowed to attend class: “[B]elow are students with 

their Genesis accounts being in delinquent [sic]. Student in RED or 40+ days are 

BLOCKED from attending class until payment is made …” 

128. This collection practice also was also carried out at WyoTech. In an email 

dated January 10, 2013, the Director of Student Accounts at WyoTech’s Long Beach 

campus stated that the campus’s Genesis collection practice included a “Director 

[meeting] with students who are not compliant and have not made their payments as 
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promised. Give them a deadline and do not allow them back to class until they get 

current and we have confirmation by Genesis.” 

129. Corinthian also carried out its collection activities at inconvenient times or 

places for its students. Corinthian routinely pulled students out of class to address past-

due Genesis loan payments. 

130. For example, in an email dated March 11, 2013, the President of Heald 

College’s Stockton campus was informed of the number of students who were 

delinquent on their Genesis loan and notified that “All of the unpaid students will be 

pulled from class this week …” 

131. Similarly, in an email dated October 1, 2011, the President of Everest 

College’s San Bernardino, California campus instructed the Director of Student 

Accounts to “ensure that EVERY time a student is pulled…add value as to why this is 

occurring during class time.” 

132. Pulling students out of class for past-due Genesis loans was such a 

constant and routine practice at Everest College’s Decatur, Georgia campus during the 

Spring of 2011 that students and employees referred to one financial aid staff member as 

the “Grim Reaper.” 

133. Corinthian encouraged staff to continue these collection practices despite 

students’ concerns. For example, in an email dated November 27, 2012, the President of 

Heald College’s Modesto, California stated “I understand that instructors and other 

students do not like the interruptions. But until both departments come up with a better 

plan that works, we will support the plan we have known.” 
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134. A federal work-study student at the Everest College’s City of Industry, 

California campus reported that she pulled one to five students per classroom per day 

out of class because they were behind on their Genesis loan payments. 

135. In January 2013, Corinthian employees at Everest College’s Gardena and 

Alhambra campuses in California both noted in an e-mail that that their best practices 

for Genesis collections included “pulling student from class.” 

136. Corinthian also prevented students who were past due on their Genesis 

loan payments from registering for any new classes at Corinthian. For example, Heald 

College’s Best Practice Manual-Genesis Private Loans, attached to an email dated March 

23, 2013 from Heald College’s VP Controller, stated that, in the event of a past-due 

Genesis account, the staff must take the following action: 

1. 31 Days Delinquent—Request to IT to turn off Student’s Computer 
Access 

 
2. 61 Days Delinquent—The student must meet with Campus President to 

discuss seriousness of past due status and next steps. 
 

3. 91 Days Delinquent—A letter stating student will not be allowed to 
register for classes for the next quarter until the account is made 
current. The student must reaffirm their commitment to pay in writing 
with a letter to the President. 

 
137. In addition, Corinthian students who fell behind on their Genesis in-

school loan payments often were locked out of the school’s computer system and unable 

to log onto it. 

138. Corinthian also would prevent students who were overdue on their in-

school payments for a certain period of time from receiving their books for the next class 

or module until they became current on their Genesis loans. 
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139. Corinthian also informed students that they could not participate in the 

graduation ceremony or would have their certificate withheld if they were not current on 

their Genesis loan in-school payments. 

140. Corinthian pulled students out of class 20 days before graduation and 

financial aid staff threatened that if students did not become current on their Genesis 

loans, they could not graduate or start their externships. Some former students stated 

that Corinthian continues to withhold their certificates because they are unable to make 

payments on their Genesis loans. 

141. The collection of past-due Genesis in-school loan payments was so 

important to Corinthian management that Corinthian imposed Genesis collection goals 

for each school campus. 

142. In or about July 2010, Corinthian also launched an employee bonus plan 

tied to Genesis loan program collection efforts. 

143. Corinthian’s Senior Director for Credit Risk Management, in an e-mail 

dated April 5, 2011 to a Student Accounts Collector, explained Corinthian’s focus on 

collecting the in-school payments from students: “In FY11, the company has changed the 

focus of Genesis activities. In FY11, each campus is measured on Genesis Collection 

Metric of in-school activities. The collecting from the students should be a priority over 

offering forbearances.” 

144. Corinthian management pressured campus level staff to meet the Genesis 

Collection Metric. For example, the president of Everest College’s Reseda, California 

campus told the financial aid staff in an e-mail dated May 21, 2012, 

We all know that we are well off our normal Genesis 
cash collection for the month of May. This is the worst 

Case: 1:14-cv-07194 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/16/14 Page 30 of 39 PageID #:30



  

 

 

31 
   

month we have ever had. With that I need everyone to 
pull out the stops. This means that if you do not have 
a student in front of you I expect you to be getting 
ahold of students who have not made their 
payments… This will require you to use social media 
efforts...; running to classrooms to see if the student is 
in class; following up with the teacher directly; pulling 
emergency numbers from the FA files. 

 
145. Corinthian caused substantial consumer injury with its aggressive 

collection efforts, including disclosing students’ debt to peers and persons of authority, 

jeopardizing students’ academic experience, and coercing students into making 

payments they could not afford. 

Corinthian Knew its Students Were Likely to Default on Genesis 
Loans. 

146. Despite Corinthian’s aggressive collection efforts, the default rate on 

Genesis loans was consistently extremely high. Corinthian charged off a Genesis loan 

when the student borrower was more than 270 days delinquent in making required loan 

payments. Using the period in which Corinthian would charge off a Genesis loan and 

calculating the default rate based upon the number of student loans, the default rate on 

Genesis loans was typically greater than 50% for all loans more than two years old, and 

above 60% for all loans more than three years old. 

147. Corinthian knew of the high default rates for its Genesis loans, and at all 

times during operation of the Genesis loan program, Corinthian anticipated that the 

default rates would remain at these high levels. 

148. Moreover, Corinthian knew the characteristics of students who were most 

likely to default. Corinthian required that “Schools should gather information to discern 

who is defaulting and why … Internal data includes key information such as high school 
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attended, program of study, demographics, grades, etc.” Corinthian used this 

information to identify its highest risk borrowers to target its debt collection efforts. 

149. Student borrowers who defaulted on Genesis loans suffered negative 

consequences including negative credit reporting, ineligibility for other forms of 

financing, or eligibility only on less favorable terms than would otherwise have been 

available. 

 

COUNT I 

CORINTHIAN’S REPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS REGARDING 
PROSPECTIVE STUDENTS’ CAREER OPPORTUNITIES VIOLATED THE 

CFPA’S PROHIBITION OF DECEPTIVE PRACTICES 
 

150. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 149 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

151. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), makes it 

unlawful for a covered person to engage “in any unfair deceptive, or abusive act or 

practice.” An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if (1) there is a 

misrepresentation or omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances, and (2) that information is material to consumers. 

152. The Genesis loans issued to Corinthian students were consumer financial 

products. 

153. Corinthian is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

154. From at least July 21, 2011 to the present, Corinthian made material 

misrepresentations or omissions to consumers directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, regarding its graduates’ career opportunities, including the assistance 
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Corinthian would provide students to help them find a job, the likelihood a student 

would receive a job, and the likelihood that job would last for more than one day. 

155. Corinthian made these misrepresentations to induce consumers to incur 

the private debt necessary to pay Corinthian’s tuition and fees. 

156. Corinthian’s misrepresentations or omissions misled, or were likely to 

mislead, consumers. 

157. Therefore, Corinthian violated the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive 

practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

 

COUNT II 
 

CORINTHIAN’S DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES VIOLATED THE CFPA’S 
PROHIBITION OF UNFAIR PRACTICES 

 
158. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 149 are incorporated 

here by reference. 

159. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA where “(A) the act or practice 

causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

160. From at least July 21, 2011 through the present, Corinthian made 

misrepresentations or omissions to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that the Genesis loan program was an independent third-party loan 

program in which Corinthian did not have a financial interest and upon which 

Corinthian could not collect. 

Case: 1:14-cv-07194 Document #: 1 Filed: 09/16/14 Page 33 of 39 PageID #:33



  

 

 

34 
   

161. From at least July 21, 2011 to the present, Corinthian prevented enrolled 

students from attending class, pulled students out of class, denied students access to 

computers, and otherwise prevented enrolled students from completing their course of 

study, in an effort to collect past-due in-school Genesis loan payments from students. 

162. These practices caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to 

students because, as a result of Corinthian’s unfair practices, students were denied 

access to aspects of educational programs for which they already had paid, through 

loans and other aid, incurring substantial debt in the process. 

163. These practices caused, or were likely to cause, substantial injury to 

students because Corinthian’s unfair practices, including publicly disclosing debts to 

fellow students and instructors, caused students to suffer reputational harm and 

emotional distress.  

164. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the injury caused by Corinthian’s 

unfair practices. 

165. Consumers’ injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition. 

166. Therefore, Corinthian violated the CFPA by engaging in unfair practices, 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT III 

CORINTHIAN’S DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES 
VIOLATED SECTION 806 OF THE FDCPA 

 
167. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 149 are incorporated 

here by reference. 
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168. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692a et 

seq., prohibits debt collectors from “engag[ing] in any conduct the natural consequence 

of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in connection with the collection of a 

debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

169. The FDCPA’s definition of “debt collector” includes any person “who 

regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or 

asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a. 

170. Under the second iteration of the Genesis loan program, from in or about 

August 2011 through at least 2013, Company B purchased the loans from the originator 

and sold those loans that became more than 90 days past-due to Corinthian. 

171. Corinthian attempted to collect Company B’s debts even before Corinthian 

was obligated to, or did, purchase those loans from Company B. 

172. Because it collected debt of another creditor, Company B, or debt that it 

purchased in default, Corinthian is a “debt collector” within the meaning of the FDCPA. 

173. Corinthian’s collection practices included pulling students out of class, 

preventing students from attending class, preventing students from registering for class, 

blocking students’ computer access through school computers, and preventing students 

from obtaining course materials. 

174. The natural and intended consequence of these practices was to harass, 

oppress, and abuse students in connection with the collection of debts owed to Company 

B or to Corinthian. 

175. Therefore, Corinthian’s collection practices violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692d. 
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COUNT IV 

CORINTHIAN’S DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES 
VIOLATED SECTION 805 OF THE FDCPA 

176. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 149 are incorporated 

here by reference. 

177. Section 805 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c, governs communications in 

connection with debt collection. Section 805(a) prohibits, without the prior consent of 

the consumer or the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction, debt 

collectors from communicating with a consumer in connection with the collection of any 

debt at any unusual time or place or a time or place known or which should be known to 

be inconvenient to the consumer. 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1). 

178. In connection with the collection of debts, Corinthian communicated with 

student consumers during class time. Corinthian knew interrupting class could 

jeopardize the student’s academic performance and disrupt the learning environment, 

thus inconveniencing the student, and did so without the student consumer’s prior 

consent, in violation of Section 805(a)(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1). 

 

COUNT V 
 

CORINTHIAN’S DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES 
VIOLATED SECTION 805 OF THE FDCPA 

179. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 149 are incorporated 

here by reference.  

180. Section 805(b) of the FDCPA prohibits, without the prior consent of the 

consumer or the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction, debt collectors 

from communicating with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, 
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with any person other than a consumer, his attorney, a consumer reporting agency if 

otherwise permitted by law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor, or the attorney of 

the debt collector. 

181. Students and employees observed Corinthian’s aggressive collection 

efforts of preventing students from attending class, pulling students from class, and 

blocking their computer access, and were aware these efforts were used to collect other 

students’ past-due loan payments. Corinthian’s collections efforts disclosed the 

existence of debts to instructors, classmates and other third parties in violation of 

Section 805(b) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b). 

182. Therefore, Corinthian’s collection practices violated section 805 of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c.                                                                                                                            

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, the Bureau, pursuant to Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA,  

12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s power to grant legal or equitable relief, 

requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Corinthian from committing future violations of the 

CFPA and the FDCPA; 

b. declare that Corinthian engaged in deceptive conduct that induced its 

students to take out private student loans; 

c. order Corinthian to pay restitution to consumers harmed by their unlawful 

conduct; 

d. order Corinthian to pay damages to consumers harmed by their unlawful 

conduct; 
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e. order Corinthian to disgorge all ill-gotten profits; 

f. order the rescission of all Genesis and EducationPlus loans originated since 

July 21, 2011;  

g. impose civil money penalties against Corinthian; 

h. order Corinthian to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with 

bringing this action; and  

i. award such other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just 

and proper.            

      Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  September 16, 2014                  Anthony Alexis (DC Bar #384545) 
Acting Enforcement Director 
 
Ori Lev (DC Bar #452565) 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Laurel Loomis Rimon (CA Bar #166148) 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement   
Director 
 

        /s/ Rina Tucker Harris _________     
       Rina Tucker Harris (DC Bar #444550) 

Jonathan B. Engel (MA Bar #664518) 
       Chandana Kolavala (CA Bar #268355) 
       Enforcement Attorneys 
       Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
       1700 G Street, NW 
       Washington, DC 20552 
       Telephone: (202) 435-9196 
       Facsimile: (202) 435-7329 
       E-mail: RinaTucker.harris@cfpb.gov 
 
       Thomas Ward (IL Bar # 6291011) 
       Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
       230 South Dearborn Street 
       Chicago, IL 60604  
       Telephone: (312) 610-8966 
       Facsimile: (312) 610-8971 
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       E-mail: Thomas.Ward@cfpb.gov 
            

Attorneys for the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau    
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CFPB Orders U.S. Bank to Pay $48 Million
Refund to Consumers Illegally Billed for
Services Not Received
Approximately 420,000 Consumers Unfairly Charged for Identity
Protection “Add-On” Products to Receive Full Refunds

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
ordering U.S. Bank to provide an estimated $48 million in relief to consumers harmed
by illegal billing practices. U.S. Bank consumers were unfairly charged for certain
identity protection and credit monitoring services that they did not receive. These
services were sold as “add-on products” for credit cards and other bank products such
as mortgage loans and checking accounts. U.S. Bank will pay a $5 million civil money
penalty to the CFPB and a $4 million penalty to the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency (OCC).

“Today’s action will provide $48 million in relief to U.S. Bank customers who were
illegally charged for identity protection services they did not receive,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “We have consistently warned companies about practices
related to add-on products and we will do what is necessary to prevent further harm to
consumers. “

According to the CFPB order, U.S. Bank’s service provider enrolled bank customers in
identity protection add-on products that promised to monitor consumers’ credit and
alert them to potentially fraudulent activity. These credit monitoring programs, known
as “Privacy Guard” and “Identity Secure” were marketed by U.S. Bank and administered
by its third-party vendor.

In order for a company to provide credit monitoring services, it generally must obtain
the customer’s written authorization. U.S. Bank customers, however, were charged for
these products as soon as they enrolled without the necessary authorization to perform
the services. As a result, consumers:

Were billed for services they did not receive: Consumers were charged fees
even though U.S. Bank or its vendors had not obtained the authorization
necessary to begin monitoring the consumers’ credit information. In some cases,
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving the promised
benefits.

Unfairly incurred charges for interest and fees: The unfair fees that
customers were charged sometimes resulted in customers exceeding their credit
card account limits, which led to additional fees for the customers. Some
consumers also paid interest charges on the fees for services that were never
received.
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Failed to receive product benefits: Consumers may have been under the
impression that their credit was being monitored for fraud and identity theft,
when, in fact, these services were either not being performed at all, or were only
partially being performed.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive,
or abusive practices. The bank will issue refunds to over 420,000 customers in the
amount of approximately $48 million. This is the seventh action the Bureau has taken
to address illegal practices with respect to credit card and other add-on products.

To ensure that U.S. Bank honors its obligation to repay affected consumers and that
consumers are no longer subject to these unfair billing practices, the CFPB’s order
requires that U.S. Bank:

End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain
credit monitoring services if they are not receiving the promised benefits. In
August 2012, U.S. Bank’s service provider stopped the illegal billing practices.
U.S. Bank must take steps, subject to the Bureau’s approval, to ensure these
unlawful acts do not occur in the future.

Complete repayment of $48 million to more than 420,000 customers:
U.S. Bank must pay a full refund, approximately $48 million, to more than
420,000 bank customers who enrolled in the credit monitoring products and
were charged for services that were not received. In addition to the amount paid
for the product, U.S. Bank must refund interest and any over-limit fees resulting
from the charge for the product.

Conveniently repay consumers: If the consumers are still U.S. Bank
customers, they will receive a credit to their accounts. If they are no longer U.S.
Bank customers, they will receive checks in the mail. Consumers are not required
to take any action to receive their credit or check.

Improve oversight of third-party vendors: The CFPB is also requiring that
U.S. Bank strengthen its management and oversight of add-on service providers
and add-on products.

Pay a $5 million penalty: U.S. Bank will make a $5 million penalty payment to
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

Today’s action is being taken in coordination with the OCC which is separately ordering
restitution from U.S. Bank for the same illegal practices. These illegal practices were
uncovered through supervisory examinations conducted by the CFPB and the OCC. The
amount in the OCC’s order includes the same $48 million amount to be paid to the
approximately 420,000 consumers harmed by these illegal practices. The OCC is also
ordering U.S. Bank to pay $4 million in civil money penalties for the unfair billing
practices, in addition to the $5 million penalty ordered by the CFPB.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_consent-order_us-bank.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING  
File No. 2014-CFPB- 

 
 
In the Matter of: 

 
U.S. Bank National Association 

 
CONSENT ORDER 

 
 
 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

practices of Respondent Bank, U.S. Bank National Association (Respondent or 

Bank, as defined below), relating to add-on products and has identified violations 

of law. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

(Consent Order). 

I  
Overview 

 
The Bureau finds that the Bank has engaged in violations of Sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, in connection with its third-party service 

provider’s billing and administration of Identity Protection Products to Customers (as 

defined below), which occurred during the period between 2003 and August 2012. 

II  
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.
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III 
Stipulation 

 

2. The Bank has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of Consent 

Order,” (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by 

the Bureau. By this Stipulation, the Bank has consented to the issuance of this 

Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that the Bank admits the facts necessary to 

establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over the Bank and the subject matter of this 

action. 

IV   
Definitions 

 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:  

a. “Add-On Product” means any consumer financial product or service, as 

defined by Section 1002(5) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), which is  

offered as an optional add-on product to Bank credit cards or other 

consumer financial products of the Bank. 

b. “Affected Customer” is any customer who, between January 2004 and 

August 2012, was enrolled in an Identity Protection Product and who 

was Mismatched during any portion of his or her enrollment. 

c. “Affinion” means “Affinion Group,” including its subsidiary, Trilegiant 

Corporation. 

d. “Bank” means U.S. Bank National Association, and its predecessors, 

successors and assigns. 
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e. “Board” means the Bank’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

f. “Customer” means any person who was enrolled in an Identity 

Protection Product. 

g. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

h. “Identity Protection Products” refers to the identity theft protection 

products, “Privacy Guard” and “Identity Secure,” which included credit 

monitoring and credit report retrieval services, among other benefits, 

and were marketed or sold to Bank Customers. 

i. “Mismatched” refers to the status of a Customer who, at a given time, 

was being billed for an Identity Protection Product but who, for any 

reason: 

i. never received credit monitoring services because no written 

authorization was obtained, as required to access credit 

information from the credit reporting agencies pursuant to the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act, (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.; 

ii. received only partial credit monitoring services for one or more 

of the following reasons: 

1.  for some period of time following the Customer’s 

enrollment in the Identity Protection Product, no 

written authorization was obtained; 

2.  there was insufficient information to process the 

Customer’s authorization; or 

 3.  one or more credit reporting agencies was unable to 
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match the Customer’s authorization, requiring 

additional information to verify the Customer’s 

identity; or 

iii.  failed to receive credit monitoring services for any other reason. 
 

j. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Midwest 

Region for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 

k. “Reimbursement End Date” is the date on which the Affected 

Customer stopped being billed for the Identity Protection Product. 

l. “Reimbursement Start Date” is the date on which the Affected 

Customer entered Mismatched status. 

m. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against the Bank based on substantially 

the same facts as described in Section V of this Consent Order. 

n. “Service Provider” means any service provider, as defined in Section 

1002(26) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481, that provides services for Add-

On Products under a contractual obligation to the Bank. 

V 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 
The Bureau finds the following: 

4. The Bank is a national bank chartered in Cincinnati, Ohio and 

headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota. As of March 31, 2014, the 

Bank had approximately $367 billion in assets. 
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5. The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10 billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. The Bank is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). 

7. From at least 2003 to approximately January 2012, the Bank marketed 

Identity Protection Products to Bank Customers and referred interested 

Bank Customers to Affinion, which offered for sale, sold, and 

administered Identity Protection Products, which included credit 

monitoring and credit report retrieval services. 

8. From at least 2003 to approximately August 2012, Affinion performed 

the sales, servicing, and billing for the Identity Protection Products 

pursuant to agreements with the Bank, including U.S. Bank National 

Association ND, and with U.S. Bancorp Insurance Services, LLC.   

9. On May 13, 2013, U.S. Bank National Association ND merged with and 

into the Bank. 

10. To provide the credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services, the 

FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b, required a “permissible purpose” to obtain 

Customers’ credit information from the credit reporting agencies. 

Among other reasons, a credit reporting agency may release a credit 

report in accordance with a consumer’s “written instructions.” 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681b(a)(2). 

11. Customers who enrolled in the Identity Protection Products were 

required to provide sufficient written authorization and personal 
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verification information before the Customers’ credit bureau reports 

could be accessed and they could receive credit monitoring services. 

12. In many cases, however, some time passed before a Customer’s 

authorization was obtained, or a Customer’s authorization was never 

obtained. In other instances, Customers provided their authorization, but 

one or more credit reporting agencies could not process the 

authorization if they were unable to match the Customer’s identification 

information with the agency’s own records. In these circumstances, from 

at least 2003 to approximately August 2012, the Customers were billed 

the full fee for the Identity Protection Products even when they were not 

receiving all of the credit monitoring or credit report retrieval benefits of 

the product. 

13. The Bank’s compliance monitoring, Service Provider management and 

quality assurance failed to prevent, identify, or correct the billing for 

services that were not provided. 

14. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

15. The billing of Identity Protection Product fees and acceptance of 

payments of such fees while failing to provide credit monitoring and 

credit report retrieval services has resulted in substantial injury to 

approximately 420,115 consumers in the amount estimated to be $47.9 

million for Identity Protection Products. This injury was not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers and is not outweighed by any countervailing 

benefit to the consumers or to competition. 
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16. By reason of these billing practices, as described in Paragraphs 7 through 

15, the Bank engaged in unfair practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER   

VI 
Conduct Provisions 

 
IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

 

17. The Bank and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, and must take reasonable measures to ensure that its Service 

Providers, affiliates, and other agents do not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, regarding the billing and administration 

of Identity Protection Products. 

18. The Bank must correct all violations of law, as described in this Consent 

Order, and must implement procedures to prevent their recurrence. 

19. The Bank, whether acting directly or indirectly, is prohibited from marketing, 

soliciting, offering for sale and selling Identity Protection Products or other 

similar Add-On Products providing credit monitoring or credit report 

retrieval services or referring Bank customers to third parties who offer such 

products and services, without first securing a determination of non-objection 

from the Regional Director, as follows: 

a. The Bank must submit to the Regional Director a comprehensive 

compliance plan (Compliance Plan) designed to ensure that the 

Bank’s marketing, servicing, and billing of Identity Protection 
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Products or other similar Add-On Products providing credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services comply with all 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this 

Consent Order. Any Compliance Plan concerning Identity Protection 

Products or similar Add-On Products providing credit monitoring or 

credit reporting retrieval services must: 

 i.  address the manner in which the Bank or Service Provider 

informs customers and prospective customers that any credit 

monitoring services will not be activated until receipt of 

customer authorization for the Bank or Service Provider to 

access their credit information at credit reporting agencies; and 

 ii. describe how the Bank will avoid having customers billed 

through accounts at the Bank before the Bank or Service 

Provider receives authorization to access credit information 

from each credit reporting agency and during a period when 

the credit reporting agency has not yet processed 

authorizations submitted by customers. 

b.  The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the 

Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs the Bank to 

revise the Compliance Plan, the Bank must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director. 

c. The Bank may market or sell the Identity Protection Products or other 

similar Add-On Products providing credit monitoring or credit report 
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retrieval services only after receiving notification that the Regional 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Compliance Plan and only after adhering to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

20. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank must submit a plan to address 

the actions that are necessary and appropriate to achieve compliance with 

this Consent Order (Action Plan). The Board or a Committee thereof must 

ensure the Action Plan is submitted to the Regional Director for prior 

determination of supervisory non-objection. 

21. The Action Plan must include the review, and if necessary, revision of the 

Bank’s Third-Party Risk Management Program and Responsible Banking 

Program (collectively, Programs) to ensure that the Programs require, at a 

minimum: 

a. An analysis to be conducted by the Bank, prior to the Bank entering 

into a contract with an Add-On Product Service Provider, of the 

ability of the Service Provider to perform the marketing, sales, 

delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Add-On 

Product(s) in compliance with all applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the Bank’s policies and procedures. 

b. For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between the 

Bank and the Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities 

of each party, especially: 
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i. the Service Provider’s specific performance responsibilities 

and duty to maintain adequate internal controls over the 

marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of 

services for the Add-On Product(s); 

ii. the Service Provider’s responsibilities and duty to provide 

adequate training on applicable Federal consumer financial 

law and the Bank’s policies and procedures to all Service 

Provider employees or agents engaged in the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the 

Add-On Products; 

iii. granting the Bank the authority to conduct periodic onsite 

reviews of the Service Provider’s controls, performance, and 

information systems as they relate to the marketing, sales, 

delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the Add-On 

Product(s); and 

iv. the Bank’s right to terminate the contract if the Service 

Provider materially fails to comply with the terms specified in 

the contract, including the terms required by this Paragraph. 

c. Periodic onsite reviews by the Bank of the Service Provider’s controls, 
 

 performance, and information systems. 
 

d. A written comprehensive assessment, to be conducted on an annual 

basis, of the unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or practices 

(“UDAAP”) risk for existing or new Add-On Products and for any 

changes to existing Add-On Products, including, but not limited to 
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the UDAAP risk of the governance control, marketing, sales, 

delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for new Add-On 

Products and existing Add-On Products, including the UDAAP risk 

of marketing and sales practices. 

e. The development and implementation of written policies and 

procedures to effectively manage, detect, and mitigate, on an on-

going basis, the risks identified in the written assessment required 

by the preceding Paragraph. 

f. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and 

reporting  any violation of Federal consumer financial laws or the 

Bank’s policies and procedures relating to Add-On Products by the 

Bank’s employees or Service Providers’ employees or agents, in a 

timely manner, to a specified executive risk or compliance manager 

at the Bank. The manager to whom such reports are made must be 

independent of the unit overseeing the sale and marketing of Add-

On Products. 

g. Development of training materials relating to identifying and 

addressing violations of Federal consumer financial laws relating to 

Add-On Products that will be incorporated into the existing annual 

compliance training for appropriate employees. 

h. Written policies and procedures to ensure that the appropriate 

employees and Bank departments have the requisite authority and 

status within the Bank so that appropriate reviews of Add-On 
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Products marketed or sold by the Bank or through Service Providers 

may occur and deficiencies are identified and properly remedied. 

22. After receipt by the Bank of a determination of supervisory non-objection 

from the Regional Director to the Action Plan, the Board, or a Committee of 

the Board, must ensure the Bank’s adoption and implementation of, and 

compliance with, the Action Plan. 

23. Any material proposed changes to or deviations from the approved Action 

Plan, or proposed changes or deviations relating to Add-On Products, must be 

submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of supervisory 

non-objection. 

24. The Bank’s Internal Audit department must periodically conduct an 

assessment of the Bank’s compliance with the Programs in connection with 

the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for Add-On 

Products. Such assessments must occur within 120 days after the Bank’s 

receipt of a determination of supervisory non-objection to the Action Plan, 

and periodically but at least annually thereafter, and the findings shall be 

memorialized in writing. Within 30 days of completing each assessment, 

Internal Audit must provide its written findings to the Compliance Committee 

and the Regional Director. 

VII 
The Compliance Committee 

 

25. A duly constituted Board committee (the “Compliance Committee”)  will 

be responsible for monitoring and coordinating the Bank’s compliance 

with the provisions of this Consent Order, and approving measures 
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necessary to ensure compliance with this Consent Order (unless other 

specific approvals are required). 

26. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 30 days after 

the end of each calendar quarter, the Compliance Committee will submit a 

written progress report to the Board setting forth in detail the actions 

taken to comply with this Consent Order, and the results and status of 

those actions. 

27. The Board will forward a copy of the Compliance Committee’s report, with 

any additional comments by the Board, to the Regional Director within 10 

days of the first Board meeting following receipt of such report, unless 

additional time is granted by the Regional Director through a written 

determination of supervisory non-objection. 

VIII 
Role of the Board 

 
28. The Board will ensure that all submissions (including plans, reports, and 

programs) required by this Consent Order are submitted to the Regional 

Director. 

29. Although this Consent Order requires the Bank to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of the Bank 

and for ensuring that the Bank complies with Federal consumer financial 

laws and this Consent Order. 

30. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to this Consent Order, or perform certain obligations of the Bank, 
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the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for the Bank to fully 

comply with the Consent Order; 

b. Require the timely reporting by the Bank management to the Board 

on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non- compliance with any failures to comply with Board 

directives related to this Section. 

IX 
Order to Pay Redress 

 
31. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, the Bank must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $47,900,000 (Estimated Redress), which 

represents the approximate amount of Customer injury caused by the 

practices described in Section V, for the purpose of providing redress to 

Affected Customers as required by this Section. Any redress paid to an 

Affected Customer pursuant to the order issued by the Comptroller of the 

Currency shall not be construed to require the Bank to provide a duplicative 

restitution payment to that Customer under this Consent Order. 

32. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Bank must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or to direct the Bank to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Bank to revise the Redress Plan, the Bank must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director 
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within 20 days.  

33. The redress amount paid to each Affected Customer must include, as 

applicable to each Affected Customer: 

 a. The sum of: 

i. the full amount of Identity Protection Product fees paid 

by an Affected Customer from his or her Reimbursement 

Start Date through his or her Reimbursement End Date; 

ii. the full amount of any overlimit fees, as calculated 

pursuant to the methodology in the Redress Plan, paid by 

an Affected Customer from his or her Reimbursement 

Start Date through his or her Reimbursement End Date; 

and 

iii. the amount of the estimated finance charges, as 

calculated pursuant to the methodology in the Redress 

Plan, paid by an Affected Customer on Identity 

Protection Product Fees from his or her Reimbursement 

Start Date through his or her Reimbursement End Date. 

b. Less any amount that was a previous refund of the fees and 

charges described above in Subsection (a) of this Paragraph. 

34. The Redress Plan must provide processes covering all Affected 

Customers regardless of their current account status with the Bank, 

including: 

a. For any open account, the Bank must provide a credit posted to the 

account, regardless of whether the crediting of an Affected Customer’s 
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account results in a credit balance. 

b. For any closed account with no balance outstanding, the Bank must 

mail a certified or Bank check to any Affected Customer. 

c. For any closed account with a balance outstanding, the Bank must 

provide a credit posted to the account. Where a credit is issued that 

is greater than the existing balance, the Bank must mail to the 

Affected Customer a certified or Bank check in the amount of the 

excess. 

d. For any charged-off account, either a credit will be issued decreasing 

the charged-off balance by the amount of redress, or the Bank must 

issue redress consistent with the requirements for closed accounts in 

Paragraph 34(b). Where a credit is issued that is greater than the 

existing charged-off balance, the Bank must mail to the Affected 

Customer a certified or Bank check in the amount of the excess. Any 

Redress Notification Letter, as described in Paragraph 35 below, sent 

with regard to a charged-off account must notify the Affected 

Customer of the credit decreasing the charged-off balance as well as 

any additional money the Affected Customer is receiving. 

e. With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and 

sold charged-off accounts, the Bank must make a refund in 

accordance with applicable law. 

35. The Redress Plan must include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification 
 

Letter) to be sent notifying Affected Customers of the redress; and (2) the 

form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The 
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letter must include language explaining how the amount of redress was 

calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit or check as applicable; and a 

statement that the provision of refund payment is in compliance with the 

terms of this Consent Order. The Bank may not include in any envelope 

containing a Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the 

approved letters, and when appropriate, redress checks, unless the Bank has 

obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau 

does not object to the inclusion of the additional materials. 

36. The Redress Plan must include a description of the following: 

a. Methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of Affected 
 

Customers; 

 b.  Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Customer as required in this Consent Order; 

 c. Procedures for issuing and tracking redress to Affected Customers; and 

 d.  Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

37. The Bank must make reasonable attempts to locate Affected Customers 

whose Redress Notification Letter or check is returned for any reason, 

including performing a standard address search using the National Change of 

Address System. The Bank must re-mail any returned letters and redress 

checks to corrected addresses within 90 days of receiving a return. Any 

unclaimed funds must be disposed of in compliance with the Redress Plan. 

38. With respect to any Affected Customer’s account that receives redress as a 

credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-off balance, the Bank 
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must, as permitted by law and in accordance with existing procedures: 

a. Report the updated balance to each credit reporting agency to which 

the Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; 

 b. Delete the account tradeline at each credit reporting agency to which 

the Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; 

or 

 c. In the case of an account sold to an unaffiliated third party, request 

that such third-party owner of the debt report the updated balance to, 

or delete the account trade line at, each credit reporting agency to 

which the Bank or the third-party owner of the debt had previously 

furnished balance information for the account. 

39. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the Bank must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. Any proposed changes to or 

deviation from the approved Redress Plan must be submitted in writing to 

the Regional Director for review and non-objection. 

40. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, the Bank’s Internal 

Audit department must review and assess compliance with the terms of the 

Redress Plan (Redress Review). 

41. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Affected Customers; the 

amount of redress for each Affected Customer; the procedures used to issue 

and track redress payments; the procedures used for reporting and 
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requesting the reporting of updated balances, deleting or requesting the 

deletion of account trade lines, as applicable, to the credit reporting agencies; 

and the work of any independent consultants that the Bank has used to assist 

and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

42. The Redress Review must be completed and summarized in a written report 

(Redress Review Report), which must be completed within 60 days of 

completion of the Redress Review. Within 10 days of its completion, the 

Redress Review Report must be submitted to the Regional Director and the 

Board. 

43. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Customers is less than $25.5 million (the Payment Floor), within 30 

days of the completion of the Redress Plan, the Bank must pay to the Bureau, 

by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Customers and the Payment Floor. 

44. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to 

Affected Customers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, 

the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief, 

including consumer information remedies, as determined to be reasonably 

related to the violations described in Section V of this Consent Order. Any 

funds not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury 

as disgorgement. The Bank will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 
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45. The Bank may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Customer under this Consent Order on the Affected Customer waiving any 

right. 

X 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Bank must pay a civil money 

penalty of $5,000,000 to the Bureau. 

47. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, the Bank must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 

48. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

49. The Bank must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, the Bank may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including, but not limited to, 

payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 
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50. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, the Bank may not argue that the Bank is entitled to, nor 

may the Bank benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

damages imposed in any Related Consumer Action, by any amount of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (“Penalty Offset”). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants a Penalty Offset, the Bank must, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Regional Director, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. The payment will not be considered an additional civil money 

penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in 

this action. 

XI 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

 
51. In the event of any default on the Bank’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and 

payable. 

52. The Bank must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be 

returned to the Bank, provided, however, that funds reserved or placed into 

a segregated account pursuant Paragraph 31 may be returned to the Bank 

after the Bank has complied with the requirements set forth in Paragraph 

43. 
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53. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, the Bank, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

54. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement 

in a Related Consumer Action, the Bank must notify the Regional Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that the Bank has paid or is 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XII  
Reporting Requirements 

 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

55. The Bank must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of 

a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject 

to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding 

by or against the Bank; or a change in the Bank’s name or address. The Bank 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

56. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, the Bank must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 
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compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved 

by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a.  Describes in detail the manner and form in which the Bank has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Consent Order Acknowledgment obtained 

under Section XIII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

57. After the one-year period, the Bank must submit to the Regional Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

XIII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 
58. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Bank must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the marketing, sales, 

servicing, or billing of Add-On Products. 

59. For five years from the Effective Date, the Bank must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XII, any future Board members and executive officers, 

as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers or other agents 

and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the marketing, 

sales, servicing, or billing of Add-On Products before they assume their 

responsibilities. 
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60. The Bank must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order with any electronic signatures complying 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order 

under this Section. 

XIV 
Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 
61. Beginning on the Effective Date, for a period of at least two years from the 

date a customer is no longer enrolled in an Identity Protection Product or 

similar Add-On Product providing credit monitoring or credit report 

retrieval services, the Bank must ensure that the following records, to the 

extent they exist, are retained: 

a. For each individual customer and his or her enrollment in the 

Identity Protection Product or similar Add-On Product:  

i.   records containing, with respect to each customer, his or her 

name, addresses, email addresses, phone numbers, dollar 

amounts paid, benefits applied for and benefits received, 

quantity of products purchased, description of the Add-On 

Product purchased, the date on which the Add-On Product 

was purchased, and a copy of the welcome kit mailed to each 

customer (if a customer left the program, include the date the 

customer left a program and the reason the customer left the 

program); and 
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ii.  a copy of the customer’s authorization to access his or her credit 
 
information from the credit reporting agencies for purposes 

of activating credit monitoring or retrieval, and the date the 

customer was first charged for the Add-On Product. 

b. For each Identity Protection Product or similar Add-On Product: 

i. records reflecting the expenses and revenues related to the Add-

On Product; 

ii. records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of customers 

who canceled the Add-On Product, and the number of customers 

whose customer accounts were charged off by the Bank; 

iii. records of all customer complaints and refund requests that are 

recorded and tracked by the Bank in accordance with Bank 

policies (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through 

a Service Provider), and any responses to those complaints or 

requests; and 

iv. copies of all sales scripts; sales and marketing training materials; 

advertisements; or other marketing materials, including terms 

and conditions, fulfillment packages, and welcome kits; and 

including any materials used by Service Providers on the Bank’s 

behalf. 

62. The Bank must create, for at least five years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all 
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submissions to the Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, 

described in Section IX above. 

63. The Bank must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 62 for at 

least five years. 

64. The Bank must make the documents identified in Paragraph 62 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XV  
Notices 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 
65. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents 

relating to this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re U.S. 

Bank National Association, File No. 2014-CFPB-[docket number listed 

above],” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 
 

Regional Director, CFPB Midwest Region 
230 South Dearborn Street 
Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

 
b. By first-class mail to the addresses below and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, CFPB Midwest Region 
230 South Dearborn Street 
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Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 

   Washington D.C. 20552 

 
XVI  

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor the Bank’s compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

66. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, the Bank must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

67. The Bank must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with the Bank who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

68. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of 

compulsory process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XVII 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

69. The Bank may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional 

Director. 
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70. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time 

and changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause 

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director 

must be in writing. 

XVIII  
              Administrative Provisions 

 
71. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against the Bank, except as described in Paragraph 72. 

72. The Bureau releases and discharges the Bank from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in 

this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against the Bank and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the 

Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

73. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and 

expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract 

binding the Bureau or the United States. 
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74. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable, except to the 

extent that, and until such time as, any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the 

Bureau or its designated agent. 

75. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

76. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For 

any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFP 

Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to 

enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 

the Bank wherever the Bank may be found and the Bank may not contest 

that court’s personal jurisdiction over the Bank. 

77. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

78. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Bank, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this 1q4day of September, 2014. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

30 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Flagstar Bank
for Violating New Mortgage Servicing
Rules
Flagstar to Pay $37.5 Million for Blocking Mortgage Borrowers’ Attempts
to Save Their Homes

Washington, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took
action against Michigan-based Flagstar Bank for violating the CFPB’s new mortgage
servicing rules by illegally blocking borrowers’ attempts to save their homes. At every
step in the foreclosure relief process, Flagstar failed borrowers. The bank took excessive
time to process borrowers’ applications for foreclosure relief, failed to tell borrowers
when their applications were incomplete, denied loan modifications to qualified
borrowers, and illegally delayed finalizing permanent loan modifications. The CFPB is
ordering Flagstar to halt its illegal activities, pay $27.5 million to victims, and pay a $10
million fine.

“Because of Flagstar’s illegal actions and unacceptable delays, struggling homeowners
lost the opportunity to save their homes,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The
Bureau has been clear that mortgage servicers must follow our new servicing rules and
treat homeowners fairly. Today’s action signals a new era of enforcement to protect
consumers against the cost of servicer runarounds.”

Flagstar is a federal savings bank and mortgage servicer based out of Troy, Michigan.
Flagstar administers foreclosure relief programs provided by the owner of the loan.
Foreclosure relief programs mitigate losses for both the borrower and the owners of the
loans by providing alternatives to foreclosure. These alternatives are known as “loss
mitigation” programs. Flagstar is responsible for soliciting borrowers for these
programs, collecting their applications, determining eligibility, and implementing the
loss mitigation program for qualified borrowers.

The Bureau’s examinations and investigation found that from 2011 to the present,
Flagstar failed to devote sufficient resources to administering loss mitigation programs
for distressed homeowners. For example, in 2011, Flagstar had 13,000 active loss
mitigation applications but only assigned 25 full-time employees and a third-party
vendor in India to review them. For a time, it took the staff up to nine months to review
a single application. In Flagstar’s loss mitigation call center, the average call wait time
was 25 minutes and the average call abandonment rate was almost 50 percent. And
Flagstar’s loss mitigation application backlog numbered well over a thousand. When
the CFPB’s new mortgage servicing rules went into effect in January 2014, Flagstar
committed violations of the new rules with respect to loss mitigation.

At every step in the foreclosure relief process, Flagstar failed consumers. Specifically,
the Bureau found that Flagstar:

S IGN  UP

Search

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/es/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#zh
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#vi
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ko
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#tl
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ru
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ar
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/lang/#ht
http://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-flagstar-bank-for-violating-new-mortgage-servicing-rules/&t=CFPB%20Takes%20Action%20Against%20Flagstar%20Bank%20for%20Violating%20New%20Mortgage%20Servicing%20Rules
http://twitter.com/intent/tweet/?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-flagstar-bank-for-violating-new-mortgage-servicing-rules/&via=CFPB
http://api.addthis.com/oexchange/0.8/forward/email/offer?url=http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-flagstar-bank-for-violating-new-mortgage-servicing-rules/&title=CFPB%20Takes%20Action%20Against%20Flagstar%20Bank%20for%20Violating%20New%20Mortgage%20Servicing%20Rules&pubid=ra-4da354ee346886d2
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/CFPB_2tone_Horiz_RGB.png
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201402_cfpb_photo_richard-cordray.jpg
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201405_cfpb_photo_steve-antonakes.jpg
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/the-bureau/about-rich-cordray/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/the-bureau/about-steve-antonakes/
mailto:Jennifer.Howard@cfpb.gov
mailto:Walter.Suskind@cfpb.gov
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
tel:+18554112372
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom-feed/


Twitter Facebook Flickr Youtube

Mallory.Mclean@cfpb.gov

Moira Vahey
Spokesperson
(202) 435-9151
Moira.Vahey@cfpb.gov

Sam Gilford
Spokesperson
(202) 435-7673
Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov

Stay connected

Archive

▼ 2014

SEPTEMBER 2014 (21)

AUGUST 2014 (12)

JULY 2014 (17)

JUNE 2014 (13)

MAY 2014 (11)

APRIL 2014 (14)

MARCH 2014 (12)

FEBRUARY 2014 (11)

JANUARY 2014 (13)

► 2013

► 2012

► 2011

► 2010

Closed borrower applications due to its own excessive delays: Flagstar
took excessive time to review loss mitigation applications, often causing
application documents to expire. To move its backlog, Flagstar would close
applications due to expired documents, even though the documents had expired
because of Flagstar’s delay.

Delayed approving or denying borrower applications: Under the new
CFPB mortgage servicing rules, Flagstar must evaluate a complete loss mitigation
application within 30 days, if it receives the complete application more than 37
days before a foreclosure sale. Flagstar also failed to adhere to these timelines.

Failed to alert borrowers about incomplete applications: Flagstar is
responsible for reviewing borrowers’ initial loss mitigation applications to
determine what documents are missing. It must then tell borrowers what
documents are missing, usually by sending a “missing document” letter. Flagstar
failed to send, or delayed sending, missing document letters to borrowers.

Miscalculated incomes: Eligibility for some loss mitigation programs, such as
a loan modification, is highly dependent on borrower income. If borrowers have
too much or too little income, they do not qualify. Flagstar routinely miscalculated
borrower income and wrongfully denied loan modifications.

Denied applications for unspecified reasons: Under the CFPB’s new rules,
mortgage servicers must provide the specific reason a complete loan modification
application is rejected. Flagstar’s policy was to say only “not approved for loss
mitigation options by the investor/owner of the loan,” even though Flagstar’s
internal systems contained the true reason for the denial.

Misinformed borrowers about their appeal rights: Under the CFPB’s new
rules, Flagstar must provide certain borrowers the right to appeal the denial of a
loan modification. But Flagstar failed to provide this notice, and it wrongly stated
that borrowers have an appeal right only if they reside in certain states.

Put borrowers in trial period purgatory: Flagstar needlessly prolonged trial
periods for loan modifications. This caused some borrowers’ loan amount under
the modified note to increase and, in some cases, jeopardized borrowers’
permanent loan modification.

Flagstar’s failures as a mortgage servicer hurt homeowners. In many cases, Flagstar
deprived borrowers of the ability to make an informed choice about how to save or sell
their home, caused borrowers to drop out from the loss mitigation process entirely, and
drove borrowers into foreclosure.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions violating the January 2014 mortgage
servicing rules, and it has authority to take action against institutions engaging in
unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. The CFPB’s order requires Flagstar to:

Pay $27.5 million in redress to victims: Flagstar must pay $27.5 million to
the approximately 6,500 consumers whose loans were being serviced by Flagstar
and who were subject to its unlawful practices. At least $20 million of this will go
to the approximately 2,000 victims of foreclosure. Borrowers who receive
payments will not be prevented from taking individual action on their claims as a
result of this settlement.

End all loss mitigation mortgage servicing violations: Flagstar is
prohibited from engaging in violations of the loss mitigation provisions of the
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CFPB’s mortgage servicing rules and unfair, deceptive and abusive acts or
practices in connection with loss mitigation. Among other things, this means
Flagstar must properly review, acknowledge, and evaluate loss mitigation
applications and cannot improperly deny loss mitigation applications or
improperly prolong the trial period for a loan modification.

Stop acquiring default servicing rights from third parties: Flagstar is
prohibited from acquiring servicing rights for default loan portfolios until it
demonstrates it has the ability to comply with laws that protect consumers during
the loss mitigation process.

Engage in efforts to help affected borrowers preserve their home: For
borrowers affected by Flagstar’s unlawful practices who were not foreclosed on,
Flagstar must engage in outreach, including a door knocking campaign and
translations services, to contact borrowers and offer them loss mitigation options.
And Flagstar must halt the foreclosure process, if one is happening, during this
outreach and qualification process for these borrowers. For affected borrowers
who were previously denied a loss mitigation option, Flagstar must do an
independent review to determine whether they were offered all loss mitigation
options for which they qualified. If they were not, Flagstar must offer the
borrower those loss mitigation options.

Pay $10 million civil penalty: Flagstar will make a $10 million penalty
payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201409_cfpb_consent-order_flagstar.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2014-CFPB-0016 

 
  

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
Manufacturers and Traders Trust 
Company  

 

 
 

  

 

Through the course of its supervisory activity, the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the practices of Manufacturers and Traders Trust 

Company (Respondent, as defined below) and has identified the following law 

violations: Respondent engaged in deceptive practices related to the advertising, 

marketing, and promoting of its Free Checking Product (as defined below) in violation 

of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B), and the Truth in Savings Act, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 4301-4313, and Sections 1030.8(a)(1) and (a)(2) of its implementing Regulation DD, 

12 .C.F.R. §§ 1030.8(a)(1)and 1030.8(a)(2). Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565 as well as under the Truth in Savings Act, 12 

U.S.C. § 4309(a)(3).   

II 

Stipulation 

 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order,” (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the 

issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III  

Definitions 

 
3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a.  “Affected Consumer” means any consumer who : 

i. Applied for and enrolled in a Free Checking account with Respondent 

during the Relevant Period;  

ii. Had his or her Free Checking account  converted by Respondent to an 

M&T First account due to account inactivity between January 1, 2009 and 
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September 25, 2012, when Respondent ceased converting consumers to an 

M&T First account due to account inactivity; and 

iii. Was assessed at least one monthly maintenance fee that was not waived. 

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

d. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate.  

e. “Free Checking” means a checking account product with no monthly 

maintenance fee or minimum balance requirement that Respondent 

advertised as “free” or “totally free,” and which had an inactivity conversion 

feature, including Respondent’s “Free Checking” and “Totally Free Checking” 

checking account products. 

f. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

g. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

h. “Relevant Period” includes the period from January 1, 2009 to January 1, 

2013. 

i. “Respondent” means Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company and its 

successors and assigns. 
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j. “Service Provider” shall have the same meaning as set forth in Section 

1002(26) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a state member bank headquartered in Buffalo, New York. As of 

December 31, 2013, Respondent had approximately $85 billion in total 

consolidated assets. 

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 

billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a).  

6. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  

7. During the Relevant Period, Respondent marketed Free Checking as “free” and 

as imposing no monthly service charges. 

8. However, Respondent required customers to maintain a minimum level of 

account activity (e.g., deposits and withdrawals) to maintain Free Checking. If 

there was no account activity for 90 consecutive days, Respondent automatically 

converted Free Checking accounts to M&T First checking accounts (“M&T 

First”).  

9. During the Relevant Period, the monthly maintenance fee for M&T First ranged 

from $5 to $14. M&T First imposed no monthly maintenance fee if the average 

account balance was more than $1,500 or the consumer’s combined balances 

with checking, savings, and time deposits were more than $1,500.  
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10. At various points between 2009 and 2012, Respondent marketed Free Checking 

in various geographic regions through television, print, radio, outdoor and in-

branch advertising, as well as through online and direct mail marketing. 

Respondent also marketed Free Checking on account statements sent to 

customers and on ATM screens and receipts.   

11. Respondent marketed Free Checking as not imposing monthly service charges 

or fees. Representations made by Respondent in advertisements for Free 

Checking included: 

a. “Have you raised the green flag for free checking from M&T Bank? There’s no 

minimum balance requirement and no monthly service charge;”  

b. “Untangle yourself from monthly service fees. Get a free checking account at 

M&T. No strings attached;” 

c. “Free yourself from monthly service fees. Get free checking from M&T Bank;” 

and  

d. “M&T Totally Free Checking No minimum Balance. No monthly service 

charge.” 

12. None of the advertisements for Free Checking disclosed either the minimum 

activity requirement or the automatic conversion of a Free Checking account to 

an M&T First account after 90 days of inactivity. 

13. Customers opening a Free Checking account received a one page document 

titled “Specific Features and Terms for Free Checking Accounts,” which 

disclosed the minimum activity requirement to maintain Free Checking and the 

automatic conversion feature. Consumers opening a Free Checking account also 
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received “Specific Features and Terms for M&T First Accounts,” which disclosed 

the monthly maintenance fee associated with the M&T First account. 

14. The only notifications Respondent provided to consumers after a Free Checking 

account had been converted to an M&T First account due to inactivity were that 

“M&T First” would appear on customers’ web banking or online account pages, 

ATM screens and receipts, and other account documents such as paper 

statements. Respondent automatically waived any monthly maintenance fee for 

the first month after a Free Checking account was converted to an M&T First 

account. 

15. During the Relevant Period, Respondent converted 80,903 Free Checking 

accounts to M&T First Accounts, and there were approximately 59,041 Affected 

Consumers from whom Respondent collected monthly maintenance fees that 

were not waived. Respondent assessed approximately $2.94 million in fees 

through the imposition of monthly maintenance fees on these converted 

accounts and collected from consumers approximately $2.045 million of those 

fees.  

16. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

17. As described in Paragraphs 7-14, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

and promoting of Free Checking, in numerous instances, Respondent 

represented, expressly or impliedly, that consumers with Free Checking would 

not pay a monthly maintenance fee. Respondent’s advertising and marketing 

failed to disclose the minimum activity requirement necessary to maintain Free 

Checking and the automatic conversion to an M&T First Account after 90 days 
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of inactivity. Respondent’s failure to disclose these facts in its advertising and 

marketing, in light of the representations made, was a deceptive act or practice.  

18. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

19. Regulation DD, 12 C.F.R. § 1030.8(a)(1) prohibits an advertisement from being 

“misleading or inaccurate,” or from “misrepresent[ing] a depository institution’s 

deposit contract.”  

20. As described in Paragraphs 7-14, Respondent’s advertisements for Free 

Checking were misleading and inaccurate because they advertised the product 

as “free,” but failed to disclose the minimum activity requirement necessary to 

maintain Free Checking and the automatic conversion to an M&T Account if 

there was no account activity for 90 days.  

21. Therefore, Respondent’s advertisements violated Regulation DD, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1030.8(a)(1). 

22. Regulation DD prohibits advertising an account as “‘free’ or ‘no cost’ . . . if any 

maintenance or activity fee may be imposed on the account.” 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1030.8(a)(2). 

23. As described in Paragraphs 7-14, Respondent advertised Free Checking as 

“free,” but automatically converted consumers with Free Checking accounts, 

which did not impose monthly maintenance fees, to M&T First accounts, which 

did impose monthly maintenance fees, if there was no account activity for 90 

consecutive days. Respondent’s advertisements referred to Free Checking as 

“free,” but the terms and conditions of Free Checking imposed minimum 
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activity requirements that, if not met, meant that M&T would automatically 

convert the Free Checking account to an M&T First account with a monthly 

maintenance fee.  

24. Therefore, Respondent’s advertisements violated Regulation DD, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1030.8(a)(2). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

25. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its 

Service Providers and other agents do not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and Sections 1030.8(a)(1) and (a)(2) of 

Regulation DD, 12 .C.F.R. §§ 1030(a)(1)and (a)(2), in connection with the 

advertising, marketing, and promoting of free checking accounts. 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, and promotion of free checking 

accounts may not misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly 

or impliedly: 
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i. That a checking account is free or without cost when the terms and 

conditions of the account impose account activity requirement to avoid 

monthly maintenance or activity fees; and 

ii. That a checking account is free or without cost where the account will 

convert to an account with monthly maintenance or activity fees if the 

accountholder does not meet account activity requirements.    

Nothing in this Consent Order shall be read as an exception to this Paragraph. 

26. Respondent shall correct all violations of law, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein, and shall implement procedures to prevent 

reoccurrence of the acts or practices that gave rise to this Consent Order. 

Respondent’s actions as required by this Paragraph shall be satisfactory to the 

Regional Director as determined at subsequent examinations and/or visitations. 

VI 

Role of the Board 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

27. The Board or Risk Committee of the Board must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

28. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order.  
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29. In each instance in this Consent Order in which the Board is required to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations under this Consent 

Order, the Board or Risk Committee of the Board shall: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board or Risk Committee  

of the Board on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VII 

Order to Pay Redress  

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $2.045 million, which represents the approximate 

amount of consumer injury caused by the practices described in Section IV, for 

the purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this 

Section. 

31. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-
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objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. In the event 

that the Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days. After receiving notification that the Regional 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, 

Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

32. The Redress Plan shall apply to all Affected Consumers and:  

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes covering all Affected Consumers regardless of their current 

checking account status with Respondent, including open checking accounts 

and closed checking accounts with and without a balance: 

i. For any open checking, savings, or money market account, Respondent 

shall provide a credit for the Restitution Amount (as defined in 

Paragraph 33) to the Affected Consumer’s account;  

ii. For any closed or inactive checking account, unless the account has 

been charged off, Respondent shall send a check for the Restitution 

Amount to any Affected Consumer;  

iii. For any closed or inactive checking account that has been charged off, 

Respondent shall issue a credit decreasing the charged-off balance by 

the Restitution Amount. Where the Restitution Amount is greater than 

the existing charged-off balance, Respondent shall mail a check for the 

difference between the charged-off balance and the Restitution 

Amount to the Affected Consumer; and  
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iv. If the Affected Consumer is deceased, Respondent shall send a check 

for the Restitution Amount to the Affected Consumer or the estate of 

the Affected Consumer.  

c. Include a description of the following: 

i. Methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential 

Affected Consumers; 

ii. Methods used to calculate the Restitution Amount to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer as required herein; 

iii. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected Consumers; 

and 

iv. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan.  

33. The Redress Plan shall, at a minimum, require Respondent to refund each 

Affected Consumer the sum of all monthly maintenance fees paid under the 

terms and conditions of the M&T First account, less any amount of refunds of 

monthly maintenance fees provided to the Affected Consumer prior to the 

Effective Date (Restitution Amount).  

34. The Redress Plan shall, in all cases where Respondent closed a Free Checking 

account due to a negative balance, specify how Respondent will: 

a. Identify Affected Consumers whose accounts were closed due to a negative 

balance and for whom Respondent previously furnished information to a 

credit reporting agency; and 

b. Update the information for Affected Consumers with the appropriate credit 

reporting agency.  
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35. The Redress Plan shall, for each Affected Consumer, require Respondent to 

provide updated information to each credit reporting agency to which 

Respondent had previously furnished information. 

36. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent shall submit 

a Redress Plan Report to the Regional Director, which shall include 

Respondent’s Internal Audit department’s review and assessment of 

Respondent’s compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, including: 

a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected Consumers; 

b. The Restitution Amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. The procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of updated 

information to credit reporting agencies; and 

f. The work of independent consultants that Respondent has used, if any, to 

assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

37. With respect to redress to be paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan shall 

include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification Letter) to be sent 

notifying Affected Consumers of the redress; and (2) the form of the envelope 

that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The Redress Notification Letter 

shall include language explaining the manner in which the amount of redress 

was calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit and/or check as applicable; 

and a statement that the provision of refund payment is in accordance with the 

terms of this Consent Order. Respondent shall not include in any envelope 

containing a Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the approved 

2014-CFPB-0016     Document 01     Filed 10/09/2014     Page 13 of 23



    

14 
 

letters, and when appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained 

written confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object 

to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

38. Respondent shall provide all relief to consumers required by this Consent Order, 

regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount reserved or 

deposited into a segregated account under this Section. 

39. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $2.045 million, within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the 

Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers and $2.045 million. 

40. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to 

Affected Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief, including 

consumer information remedies, as determined to be reasonably related to the 

violations described in Section IV of this Consent Order. Any funds not used for 

such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Paragraph. 

41. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 
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VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $200,000 to the Bureau. 

43. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

44. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

45. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent must not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

46. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent must not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 
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nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer 

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after 

entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

IX 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

48. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

49. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order.  
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50. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

X 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

51. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

52. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each member of the Board and each executive officer, as well 
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as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

53. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

54. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days 

of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section.  

XII 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

55. Respondent shall create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, and then 

retain, for at least 5 years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, the 

following business records:  

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau 

and all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, as set forth in 

Section VII;  
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b. Copies of all advertisements, websites, and other marketing materials, 

including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent, 

relating to the marketing or promotion of Free Checking or consumer 

checking accounts advertised as “free” or “no cost”; and  

c. All consumer complaints and refund requests related to Free Checking 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and 

any responses to those complaints or requests. 

XIII 

Notices 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Manufacturers and 

Traders Trust Company , File No. 2014-CFPB-[Docket #],” and send them 

either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the address in Paragraph 56(a) and contemporaneously 

by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 
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XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

57. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.  

58. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these 

communications.  

59. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

60. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

61. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 
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62. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing.  

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

 

63. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 64. 

64. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 

the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 

of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order.  

65. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 
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does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

66. The Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision 

of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 

upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action 

had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 

or its designated agent. 

67. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

68. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

69. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 
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Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

70. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this rday of October, 2014. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

23-
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CFPB Takes Action Against M&T Bank for
Deceptively Advertising Free Checking
M&T to Refund $2.9 Million to Approximately 59,000 Account Holders
Who Paid Fees for Free Checking

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against M&T Bank for deceptively advertising free checking accounts. The
CFPB found that M&T lured in consumers with promises of “no strings attached” free
checking, without disclosing key eligibility requirements. When consumers failed to
meet the requirements, M&T automatically switched them to checking accounts with
fees. M&T will provide $2.9 million in refunds to the approximately 59,000 consumers
deceived into paying fees and it will pay a $200,000 penalty for the violations.

“Although M&T promised people free checking, tens of thousands of consumers ended
up paying for a product they had thought was free,” said CFPB Director Richard
Cordray. “This is an important reminder to all banks and credit unions that they cannot
misstate to consumers whether a financial product or service is free. Today we are
putting $2.9 million back in the pockets of consumers as a result.”

The M&T consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201410_cfpb_consent-order_m-t.pdf

M&T Bank, headquartered in Buffalo, N.Y., is a retail bank that offers various deposit
account products and has hundreds of branches in the northeastern U.S. During a
routine CFPB supervision exam, the CFPB found that M&T was advertising a “Free
Checking” account, then converting many consumers into a fee-based “M&T First”
account. Banks and credit unions are prohibited from deceptively advertising deposit
accounts. If an account is described as free or no cost, it cannot, for example, have any
maintenance or activity fees, or any fees to deposit, withdraw, or transfer money.

The CFPB found that M&T:

Deceptively advertised checking accounts with no strings attached:
M&T’s free checking account advertisements included such ads as, “Untangle
yourself from monthly service fees. Get a free checking account at M&T. No
strings attached.” But M&T did not disclose in such ads that the free checking
account customers had to maintain a minimum level of account activity with
deposits and withdrawals to maintain the free account. These kinds of ads for free
checking ran in various geographic regions through mediums including television,
print, and radio. M&T also marketed the free checking accounts to its customers
on their account statements and on ATM screens and receipts.

Automatically converted many free checking accounts into accounts
with fees: If there was no account activity for 90 days, M&T automatically
converted the “Free Checking” accounts to “M&T First” checking accounts.
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Consumers with “M&T First” accounts who failed to maintain an average or
combined monthly balance of $1,500 were charged fees of $5 to $14 per month.

Did not adequately alert consumers to the account conversions: The
only indication customers received that their “Free Checking” account had been
converted to an “M&T First” account due to account inactivity was that “M&T
First” would appear on account documents, such as paper statements.

During the period covered in today’s order, M&T converted approximately 80,000
“Free Checking” accounts to “M&T First” accounts. Of those, about 59,000 were
charged account fees because they did not meet the $1,500 threshold required in the
“M&T First” accounts. M&T assessed approximately $2.9 million in monthly
maintenance fees from these consumers.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against institutions violating consumer financial laws,
including engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Today’s order
covers from Jan. 1, 2009 to Sept. 25, 2012, when M&T stopped the conversions. Among
the things the CFPB’s order requires of M&T:

Refund $2.9 million to consumers: M&T must refund each of the
approximately 59,000 affected consumers the sum of all monthly maintenance
fees they paid under the “M&T First” accounts. If the consumers have a current
checking, savings, or money market account with the bank, they will receive a
credit to their account. For closed or inactive accounts, M&T will send a check to
the affected consumers or reduce charged-off balances by the amount they were
charged in fees.

Update credit reports: In the cases where M&T closed an account due to a
negative balance, M&T will provide updated information to each credit reporting
agency to which M&T had previously furnished information.

End all deceptive advertising: M&T cannot misrepresent, or assist in
misrepresenting, that a checking account is free when the terms and conditions of
the account impose account activity requirements or when the account will
convert to an account with monthly maintenance fees if the account activity
requirements are not met.

Pay a $200,000 fine: M&T will make a $200,000 penalty payment to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2014-CFPB-0017 
 

  
In the Matter of: 
 
 

CONSENT ORDER  
 

DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. 
and DT Acceptance Corp. 
 

    

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed debt collection 

and credit information furnishing processes and practices of DriveTime Automotive 

Group, Inc. and its finance company DT Acceptance Corporation (DriveTime, as defined 

below). The Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) DriveTime committed 

unfair acts and practices in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, by failing: (A) to prevent account servicing and 

collection calls to consumers’ workplaces after consumers asked DriveTime to stop such 

calls; (B) to prevent calls to consumers’ third-party references after the references or 

consumers asked DriveTime to stop calling them; and (C) to prevent calls to people at 

wrong numbers after they have asked DriveTime to stop calling; and (2) DriveTime 

furnished information to consumer reporting agencies that DriveTime had reasonable 

cause to believe was inaccurate, failed to correct or delete inaccurate information within 

a reasonable time after learning of the inaccuracies, and failed to establish and/or 

implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the “accuracy” and 

2014-CFPB-0017     Document 1     Filed 11/19/2014     Page 1 of 31



 

2 
 

“integrity” of the information it furnished to consumer reporting agencies, in violation 

of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., and its implementing 

regulation, the Furnisher Rule, Subpart E of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.42(a) and 

(c). Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau 

issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) Section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681s.  

  II 

Stipulation 

2. DriveTime has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated November 17, 2014 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, DriveTime has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that DriveTime 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over DriveTime 

and the subject matter of this action.   
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III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumer” means any customer for whom DriveTime furnished 

Systemically Inaccurate Information. 

b. “Board” means DriveTime’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. “DriveTime” means DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc., and its subsidiaries, 

successors and assigns, and its affiliate DT Acceptance Corporation.  

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegee. 

f. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against DriveTime based on substantially the same facts as set forth 

in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

g. “Relevant Period” means the period from 2010 through the Effective Date. 

h. “Systemically Inaccurate Information” means information furnished to one or 

more consumer reporting agencies by DriveTime that arises out of, or is 

related to, systems or processes resulting in similar inaccuracies for multiple 

accounts due to a similar cause. 
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BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

IV 

General 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. DriveTime is a “buy-here, pay-here” used car dealer headquartered in Phoenix, 

Arizona. It sells cars and, through its finance affiliate, DTAC, provides subprime 

vehicle financing at 117 dealership locations in 20 states. 

5. DriveTime is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. DriveTime’s average customer is 26 to 42 years of age, has an annual income of 

$37,000 to $50,000, and has a FICO score between 461 and 554. As of 

December 31, 2013, DriveTime had 150,830 retail installment contracts 

outstanding. In 2013, DriveTime originated 68,177 retail installment contracts; 

the average amount financed for those transactions was $16,299; the average 

APR was 19%; and the average customer FICO score was 520. 

7. The used cars that DriveTime sells are usually between two and seven years old 

and usually have mileage of between 40,000 to 120,000 miles.  

8. As of December 31, 2013, 46% of DriveTime’s outstanding retail installment 

contracts – approximately 69,000 – were past due. As of December, 31, 2013, 

16% of DriveTime’s outstanding retail installment contracts – approximately 

24,000 – were more than 30 days past due. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Unfair Collection 
Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

 
9. When DriveTime consumers fell behind on their installment payments, 

DriveTime’s extensive collections operation began calling them. DriveTime had 
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at least 290 collection employees in two domestic call centers and 80 

contractors in Barbados. Collectively, these employees and contractors 

(hereinafter, “collectors”) placed tens of thousands of outbound collection calls 

each weekday to DriveTime’s consumers who fell behind on their installment 

payments.  

Calls to Workplaces 

10. DriveTime called consumers at their workplaces as part of the company’s 

collections efforts. DriveTime’s collections managers encouraged collectors to 

make these calls, in accordance with DriveTime’s collection procedures.  

11. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls to their workplaces, numerous consumers 

requested that DriveTime no longer call their workplaces. Nonetheless, 

DriveTime collectors had a practice of continuing to call consumers who 

requested not to receive calls (a “do not call” or “DNC” request) from DriveTime 

at work. 

12. For example, one consumer was called 30 times at work after her DNC request. 

Another consumer, who had been called by DriveTime at her workplace eight 

times after her DNC request, was fired because of her receipt of those calls. 

Other consumers were reprimanded by their bosses or threatened with 

termination as a result of their receipt of DriveTime collection calls to their cell 

phones while at work.  

13. Some DriveTime managers have encouraged collectors to call numbers that had 

previously been marked in its system as DNC. 
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Calls to Third-Party References 

14. DriveTime required consumers to provide four to eight names and phone 

numbers as references when they applied for financing to purchase a vehicle. 

15. When consumers fell behind in payments, DriveTime called references in an 

attempt to get the consumers to call DriveTime to discuss their accounts.    

16. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls, numerous references orally requested that 

DriveTime no longer call them. Numerous customers of DriveTime also 

requested that DriveTime no longer call some or all of their references. Despite 

such requests from references and customers, DriveTime failed to prevent 

repeated calls to third-party references under these circumstances. For example, 

some references complained that DriveTime collectors called them for months 

after the references requested that the calls stop.  

17. References experienced stress as a result of calls they could not stop, and at least 

one customer’s references stopped speaking to her as a result of receiving daily 

calls from DriveTime. DriveTime’s repeated, unwanted calls to references 

harmed those references and the company’s customers’ personal relationships 

with them. 

Calls to Wrong Numbers 

18. In its efforts to reach consumers who fell behind, DriveTime frequently used 

third-party databases to “skip trace” for new phone numbers for its customers. 

These searches frequently led to wrong numbers that were never, or were no 

longer, associated with a DriveTime customer (third parties). 

19. Upon receiving DriveTime’s calls, numerous third parties orally requested that 

DriveTime no longer call them. Despite such requests, DriveTime failed to 
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prevent calls to these third parties or did not remove their numbers from its 

systems in time to prevent such calls. 

20. According to third parties and DriveTime’s internal records, DriveTime 

collectors repeatedly dialed third-party phone numbers even after the company 

was told they were not associated with DriveTime consumers. In some cases, 

DriveTime called third parties for over a year before stopping the calls. 

21. Until at least April 1, 2014, DriveTime did not have an effective system in place 

to prevent repeated calls to third parties as a result of skip tracing.  

22. In December 2011, a DriveTime internal audit recommended systems changes – 

including increased use of physically blocking the system from calling certain 

numbers – to reduce calls to DNC numbers. But DriveTime took no action to 

implement those recommended changes. 

23. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B).  

24. As set forth in Paragraphs 10-13, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 

prevent calls to consumers at their workplaces after consumers requested that 

DriveTime not call them at work or when DriveTime otherwise had reason to 

know that consumers were not permitted to receive calls at work.  

25. As set forth in Paragraphs 14-17, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 

prevent repeated calls to third-party references after the references or 

consumers asked DriveTime to stop calling.  

26. As set forth in Paragraphs 18-22, in numerous instances, DriveTime failed to 

prevent calls to third parties at wrong numbers after they asked DriveTime to 

stop calling.  
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27. The acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 24-26 constituted activity that 

had the effect of annoying, abusing, or harassing consumers and third parties. 

28. The acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 24-26 caused or were likely to 

cause substantial consumer injury that was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition. 

29. DriveTime’s acts and practices therefore constituted unfair acts and practices in 

violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to  
Violations of the Furnisher Rule 

 
30. DriveTime furnishes consumer account information for approximately 350,000 

retail installment accounts to all three major consumer reporting agencies 

(CRAs): Experian, TransUnion, and Equifax.  

31. DriveTime implemented written policies and procedures related to credit 

information furnishing in 2010 as mandated by the Furnisher Rule, Subpart E of 

Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a).  

32. Until 2014, DriveTime’s written furnishing policies and procedures were only a 

page-and-a-half long and had not been updated since they were implemented. 

33. DriveTime’s written policies and procedures did not include a discussion of 

credit furnishing dispute investigation procedures nor did they describe what 

constitutes a reasonable dispute investigation.  

2014-CFPB-0017     Document 1     Filed 11/19/2014     Page 8 of 31



 

9 
 

34. In November 2011, DriveTime started using a third-party loan servicing 

platform to compile information to be furnished. By April 2013, DriveTime 

outsourced its furnishing completely.  

35. The conversion to a third-party servicing platform was a massive transition that 

led to inaccuracies in DriveTime’s furnished information. 

36. Following the November 2011 conversion, DriveTime furnished duplicate 

account information for at least 20,000 accounts. DriveTime did not detect 

these furnishing inaccuracies until April 2012, and it corrected the inaccuracies 

in June 2012.  

37. In 2012, DriveTime furnished inaccurate current balances for consumers on 

90,000 charged-off accounts, largely due to problems with the conversion. 

DriveTime did not detect these furnishing inaccuracies until July 2012, and it 

suspended furnishing until the cause of the inaccuracy was corrected in October 

2012. 

38. Although DriveTime detected these inaccuracies during the transition to a third-

party servicing platform, DriveTime did not update its written furnishing 

policies and procedures during the transition to ensure their effectiveness.     

39. At the point of sale, DriveTime described its credit information furnishing to 

consumers in a letter that read, “We want you to know that among the many 

benefits you receive as a DriveTime customer, we report your payment history 

with us to credit reporting agencies, such as Equifax, Experian and TransUnion. 

This is important to you because if you pay on time your credit report will 

improve and you will be eligible for better credit terms from us, finance 

companies and/or banks. We report all information, positive or negative. 
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Negative information means information concerning delinquencies, late 

payments, missed payments or any form of default. If you believe any 

information we have reported is inaccurate, please notify us immediately in 

writing at the address below.” 

40. DriveTime received approximately 22,000 disputes per year related to its credit 

information furnishing practices. DriveTime had two employees who processed 

the credit information disputes that were received. 

41. Some disputes involved the furnishing of information reflecting that a 

repossession occurred more recently than the actual date of repossession. 

42. In several instances, consumers disputed the same account information several 

times without the inaccurate information being corrected. 

43. In some instances, DriveTime informed the consumers in writing that the 

furnishing had been corrected, when it had not been.  

44. In other instances, DriveTime responded in writing – often on the same day a 

consumer complained – and informed the consumer that the consumer’s 

dispute had come back as “non-conclusive” and “the reporting appears 

accurate” when in fact it was not. 

45. The Furnisher Rule requires a furnisher of credit information to “establish and 

implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy 

and integrity of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a 

consumer reporting agency.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

46. The policies and procedures “must be appropriate to the nature, size, 

complexity, and scope of each furnisher’s activities.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a); 

Appendix E, § I(a). 
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47. The policies and procedures should be reasonably designed to promote 

“reasonable investigations of consumer disputes” and the taking of “appropriate 

actions based on the outcome of such investigations.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a); 

Appendix E. § I(b)(3). 

48. The Furnisher Rule further requires a furnisher to perform a periodic review 

and update its policies and procedures as necessary to ensure their effectiveness. 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(c). 

49. Since 2010, DriveTime failed to establish and implement reasonable written 

policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the information 

it furnished to CRAs, and its policies and procedures were not appropriate to the 

nature, size, complexity, and scope of its furnishing activities. In addition, 

DriveTime’s written furnishing policies and procedures were not reasonably 

designed to promote reasonable investigations of consumer disputes or the 

taking of appropriate actions based on the outcome of such investigations.  

50. From at least November 2011 until 2014, DriveTime failed to update its written 

furnishing policies and procedures as necessary to ensure their continued 

effectiveness since they were implemented in 2010, despite the fact that 

DriveTime concluded during a 2012 internal review of accounts that it had a 

problem with the furnishing of repossession information and that the 

conversion to a third-party platform for furnishing had led to widespread 

inaccuracies in the furnished information. 

51. DriveTime therefore violated the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.42(a); (c). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Violations of the FCRA 

52. The FCRA prohibits a furnisher who does not clearly and conspicuously specify 

to the consumer an address for notices that specific information furnished is 

inaccurate from furnishing information it “knows or has reasonable cause to 

believe is inaccurate.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(A).  

53. The FCRA provides that: “A person who furnishes information to a consumer 

reporting agency regarding a delinquent account being placed for collection, 

charged to profit or loss, or subjected to any similar action shall, not later than 

90 days after furnishing the information, notify the agency of the date of 

delinquency on the account, which shall be the month and year of the 

commencement of the delinquency on the account that immediately preceded 

the action.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(5). 

54. The FCRA further imposes a duty on furnishers to conduct an investigation into 

disputes and, if an item is found to be inaccurate or incomplete, to modify, 

delete, or permanently block the furnishing of that information. 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s-2(b)(1).  

55. As set forth in Paragraphs 40-41 above, DriveTime received over 22,000 credit 

information furnishing disputes each year, including disputes related to the 

furnishing of information that inaccurately reflected the timing of repossessions 

and dates of first delinquency for charged-off accounts.   

56. In connection with certain consumer complaints, including disputes related to 

the furnishing of information that inaccurately reflected the timing of 

repossessions and dates of first delinquency, DriveTime furnished information 

to the consumer reporting agencies that was different from that maintained in 
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DriveTime’s account servicing database and was inaccurate. In other instances, 

consumers provided DriveTime – directly or through a CRA – with information 

indicating that the DriveTime information appearing in their credit reports was 

inaccurate.   

57. DriveTime therefore had “reasonable cause” to believe information it was 

furnishing was inaccurate, yet it continued to furnish inaccurate information to 

the CRAs. 

58. Some consumers complained about, or disputed, the same DriveTime-furnished 

information on more than one occasion without the inaccurate furnished 

information being corrected.  

59. For some disputes, DriveTime failed to conduct reasonable investigations of 

credit information furnishing disputes, including disputes related to inaccurate 

dates of first delinquency and timing of repossessions.   

60. DriveTime’s acts and practices therefore constituted violations of the FCRA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1681s-2. 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

61. DriveTime and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly:  

a. Must not violate Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1022.40-43, or the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s-2; 
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b. Must not communicate with consumers at their workplaces if consumers have 

requested that DriveTime not communicate with them at their workplaces or 

if DriveTime otherwise knows or has reason to know that the consumers’ 

employers prohibit communications to their workplaces. DriveTime shall 

otherwise have reason to know of such prohibition if any representative of the 

consumer’s employer has requested orally or in writing that DriveTime not 

call and the request identifies or refers to particular employees or particular 

numbers; 

c. Must, within 150 days of the Effective Date, provide a clear and conspicuous 

written notice to existing customers of their ability, on the DriveTime website 

used by customers to access information about their accounts, to limit the 

times during which account servicing calls will be made by DriveTime to the 

customer’s cell phone. For all new customers, DriveTime must provide a clear 

and conspicuous written notice as part of a welcome kit, or other initial 

written communication to the customers, that includes a description of the 

customer’s ability, using the DriveTime website that customers use to access 

information about their accounts, to limit the times during which account 

servicing calls will be made by DriveTime. At the beginning of every outbound 

welcome call, at the time of the first collection call on an account (in which 

DriveTime makes a right-party contact), and each time a customer inquires or 

complains about receiving a call to a cell phone, DriveTime must notify the 

consumer of the ability to limit the times of day when DriveTime will make 

calls to that phone number, and DriveTime must accept the customer’s oral 

request to limit such calls, without requiring any additional steps by the 
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consumer. DriveTime must also accept customers’ requests to limit the times 

of account servicing calls by email, fax, and letter. If DriveTime reasonably 

believes it will be necessary to order the repossession of the vehicle in the next 

72 hours, DriveTime may attempt to call the non-work numbers associated 

with the customer during those times permitted by applicable law; 

d. Must, within 120 days of the Effective Date, not call a particular phone 

number related to an account if any person has requested, orally or in writing, 

that DriveTime stop calling such number or has stated, orally or in writing, 

that the consumer that DriveTime is trying to contact cannot be reached at 

that number; 

e. Must not communicate with any person, including references, other than the 

consumer in connection with the collection of a debt, except for the purpose of 

obtaining accurate location information for that consumer and then no more 

than once unless:  

i. Requested to do so by the person after the account has become 

delinquent or DriveTime reasonably believes that the earlier response 

of such person is erroneous or incomplete and such person now has 

correct or complete location information; and  

ii. DriveTime has not had contact (meaning outbound call with right-

party contact or inbound call, email, or letter) with the consumer in 30 

days or more. 

f. Must not communicate with third parties, including references, after the third 

parties have requested, orally or in writing, that DriveTime not communicate 

with them; 
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g. Must take the following affirmative actions within the time periods provided: 

i. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, adopt and implement reasonable 

policies and procedures to prevent communications that would violate 

the prohibitions described in Paragraphs (b) through (c) and (e) 

through (f) above, including, but not limited to: 

(1) Create a Master do not call (DNC) list, integrated with a dialer 

exclusion system; 

(2) Make changes to the account management system to:  

a. Display customer accounts where a DNC has been 

requested in a different color to alert the loan advisor; 

b. Display an account message on screen notifying the loan 

advisor of a DNC on a particular account; 

c. Redact DNC numbers as appropriate in the call notes; 

d. Provide a single method for loan advisors to mark a 

phone number DNC during a call; and 

e. Provide managers with the capability to flag accounts as 

DNC. 

ii. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, develop and implement written 

consumer information furnishing policies and procedures that comply 

with the Furnisher Rule in consultation with a third-party compliance 

consultant; 

iii. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, cease furnishing information 

related to a voluntary or involuntary repossession, unless DriveTime 

has verified that the information is correct after the Effective Date; 

2014-CFPB-0017     Document 1     Filed 11/19/2014     Page 16 of 31



 

17 
 

iv. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, identify all Systemically 

Inaccurate Information it has furnished to the CRAs that has not 

already been corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as required by 

the FCRA. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must 

notify the CRAs of the inaccuracies and either: (1) provide to the CRAs 

the correct information or (2) delete the inaccurate information from 

the associated trade line if accurate information is not available.  

Thereafter, DriveTime must permanently block the refurnishing of the 

inaccurate information; 

v. Within 30 days of the Effective Date and until such time as DriveTime 

resolves all causes of Systemically Inaccurate Information, cease and 

desist from making any representation to consumers regarding the 

accuracy or integrity of information it furnishes to CRAs; 

vi. Arrange for any Affected Consumers, who have already obtained their 

free annual credit report from the applicable CRA, to obtain a credit 

report free of charge from one or more of the CRAs to which DriveTime 

furnished inaccurate information about that consumer. DriveTime 

must ensure the option to obtain the free credit report is available to 

such consumers for 180 days after they receive the notice specified in 

Subparagraph (vii); 

vii. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, post prominently on the 

DriveTime website used by customers to access information about their 

accounts, for a period of 90 days, and send to each Affected Consumer 

identified using the process set forth in Subparagraph (iv) at all home 
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addresses associated with their accounts (including home email 

addresses) a notice (Notice) that has been approved by the 

Enforcement Director advising of at least the following: 

(1) DriveTime has provided inaccurate information about some of 

its customers to the CRAs; 

(2) As a result of those inaccuracies, DriveTime is the subject of a 

Consent Order by the Bureau; 

(3) The inaccuracies may have had an adverse effect on the affected 

customers’ credit; 

(4) Consumers have a statutory right to receive a free credit report 

annually from each of the nationwide consumer reporting 

agencies; 

(5) The process for obtaining a free credit report; 

(6) To the extent that the Affected Consumers have already 

obtained a free report during the preceding 12 months, 

DriveTime will inform such consumers of the means by which a 

credit report can be obtained free of charge so long as they apply 

for such report within 180 days of receiving a Notice; and 

(7) The process consumers may use to dispute inaccuracies in their 

credit report. 

viii. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, in consultation with a third-party 

compliance consultant, update its written policies and procedures to 

include a specific process for identifying Systemically Inaccurate 

Information (“Audit Program”). At a minimum, the policies and 
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procedures for the Audit Program must require that DriveTime: (1) 

examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for furnishing 

inaccuracies on a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for 

selection and testing; (2) monitor and evaluate disputes it receives 

from the CRAs and its customers for indications of Systemically 

Inaccurate Information; and (3) cease furnishing information for all 

consumer accounts potentially affected by Systemically Inaccurate 

Information until such time as the Systemically Inaccurate Information 

is corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as required by the FCRA; 

ix. Implement the Audit Program within 90 days of the Effective Date; 

x. For those accounts that were modified in the seven years prior to the 

Effective Date where DriveTime knows or has reasonable cause to 

believe that Systemically Inaccurate Information caused by a system 

conversion affected the information furnished by DriveTime to the 

consumer reporting agencies, confirm, within 90 days of the Effective 

Date, that all conversion issues and related inaccuracies have been 

resolved; 

xi. For inaccurate account information that DriveTime has reason to 

believe it may have furnished to a CRA, provide, within 120 days of the 

Effective Date, the corrected information to the CRA or request that the 

CRA delete the inaccurate information from the Affected Consumer’s 

file and permanently block the refurnishing of such information; and 

xii. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, create new training materials and 

train staff to comply with the terms of the Consent Order. 
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VI 

Independent Consultant’s Report and Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must secure and retain one or 

more independent consultants, with specialized experience in debt collection 

and credit information furnishing, and acceptable to the Enforcement Director, 

to conduct an independent review of DriveTime’s collection and furnishing 

policies, procedures, and practices. The review must include specific 

recommendations on improving DriveTime’s compliance management systems, 

internal control systems, and compliance audit procedures. The purposes of the 

review must be to advise DriveTime of the consultant’s opinion as to: 

a. whether DriveTime’s policies and procedures provide adequate safeguards to 

prevent calls to consumers, references, and third parties that violate this 

Consent Order; and 

b. whether DriveTime has the furnishing policies and procedures, staffing, 

facilities, and systems necessary to furnish accurate information regarding 

consumer accounts and to correct Systemically Inaccurate Information, 

including but not limited to furnishing of information that inaccurately 

reflected the timing of repossessions and dates of first delinquency. 

63. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, the independent consultant(s) must 

prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review (the “Independent 

Consultant Report”), and provide the Independent Consultant Report to the 

Board.  
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64. Within 20 days of receiving the Independent Consultant Report, the Board 

must: 

a. Develop a plan (the “Compliance Plan”) to: (i) correct any deficiencies 

identified, and (ii) implement any recommendations or explain in writing why 

a particular recommendation is not being implemented; and 

b. Submit the Independent Consultant Report and the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director. 

65. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct the DriveTime to revise it. If 

the Enforcement Director directs DriveTime to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Board must make appropriate revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to 

the Enforcement Director within 20 days. 

66. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, DriveTime must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

68. Although this Consent Order requires DriveTime to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will 
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have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

DriveTime and for ensuring that DriveTime complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

69. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or undertake to perform, certain obligations of DriveTime, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for DriveTime to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any Board directives related to this Section. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law set forth in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the mitigating factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), DriveTime 

must pay a civil money penalty of $8,000,000 to the Bureau. 

71. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 
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72. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

73. DriveTime must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, DriveTime must not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

74. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, DriveTime must not argue that DriveTime is entitled to, nor 

may DriveTime benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, DriveTime must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and 

pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will 

not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and will not be deemed to 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

75. In the event of any default on DriveTime’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 
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accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

76. DriveTime must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

DriveTime. 

77. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, DriveTime, unless it already has done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  

78. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, DriveTime must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that DriveTime paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

79. DriveTime must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 
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this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against DriveTime; or a change in DriveTime’s name or address. DriveTime 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

possible after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

80. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

DriveTime must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which DriveTime has complied 

with this Order; and   

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

81. After the one-year period, DriveTime must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

82. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, DriveTime must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order.   
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83. For five years from the Effective Date, DriveTime must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as 

set forth in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

84. DriveTime must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures complying 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section.  

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

85. DriveTime must create, for at least five years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all collection scripts; training materials; data on credit information 

furnishing; and including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of 

DriveTime. 

c. All consumer complaints related to debt collection or disputes related to 

credit information furnishing (whether received directly or indirectly, such as 
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through a third party), and any responses to those complaints or disputes. 

86. DriveTime must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 85 for at least five 

years. 

87. DriveTime must make the documents identified in Paragraph 85 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, DriveTime must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re DriveTime Automotive 

Group, Inc., File No. 2014-CFPB-0017,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1625 Eye Street, N.W.  

Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:   

 Assistant Director for Enforcement 

 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

 ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  

 1700 G Street, N.W. 
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 Washington D.C. 20552. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor DriveTime’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

89. Within 30 days of receipt of a reasonable written request from the Bureau, 

DriveTime must submit additional compliance reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 

testimony; or produce documents.  

90. DriveTime must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with DriveTime who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

91. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

92. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, DriveTime agrees to be subject 

to the Bureau’s supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent with 12 

C.F.R. § 1091.111, DriveTime must not petition for termination of supervision 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

93. DriveTime may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 
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94. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing.  

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

95. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

DriveTime, except as set forth in Paragraph 96. 

96. The Bureau releases and discharges DriveTime from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against DriveTime and its affiliates, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 

the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 

of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order.  

97. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 
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does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

98. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or five 

years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by DriveTime. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that DriveTime did not violate any provision of 

the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld 

on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

99. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

100. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. Any 

violation of this Consent Order may result in the imposition by the Bureau of the 

maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to 

enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 

DriveTime wherever DriveTime may be found and DriveTime may not contest 

that court’s personal jurisdiction over DriveTime. 

101. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than those set forth in this Consent Order 
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and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

102. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing DriveTime, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, thisUth day of November, 2014. 

g..AAviO GioiA-A1 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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NOV 19 2014

CFPB Takes First Action Against ‘Buy-
Here, Pay-Here’ Auto Dealer
WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
took its first action against a “buy-here, pay-here” car dealer. The dealer, DriveTime,
harmed consumers by making harassing debt collection calls and providing inaccurate
credit information to credit reporting agencies. DriveTime must pay $8,000,000 as a
civil money penalty, end its unfair debt collection tactics, fix its credit reporting
practices, and arrange for harmed consumers to obtain free credit reports.

“Consumers who purchase a car at a buy-here, pay-here dealer deserve to be treated
fairly,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “DriveTime harassed and harmed
countless consumers, many of whom were economically vulnerable. Our action today
forces DriveTime to pay the price for its illegal debt collection tactics and for neglecting
the accuracy of consumers’ credit information.”

Arizona-based DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc. and its finance company, DT
Acceptance Corporation, make up the largest buy-here, pay-here car dealer in the
nation. Buy-here, pay-here means that the dealer sells the car as well as originates and
services the auto loan. Buy-here, pay-here dealers typically target subprime borrowers.
DriveTime’s average customer has an annual income of $37,000 to $50,000 and has a
FICO score between 461 and 554. It operates 117 dealerships in 20 states and, as of
December 31, 2013, held more than 150,000 outstanding auto installment contracts.

Generally, at least 45 percent of DriveTime’s auto installment contracts were delinquent
at a given time. When DriveTime consumers fell behind on their installment payments,
DriveTime’s extensive collections operation began calling them. DriveTime had at least
290 collection employees in two domestic call centers and 80 contractors in Barbados.
These employees and contractors placed tens of thousands of collection calls each
weekday. At the end of 2013, DriveTime had approximately 69,000 installment
contracts past due that these employees would have been calling about.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act)
establishes that companies’ practices can be unfair if consumers cannot reasonably
avoid being harmed. The Bureau determined that several of DriveTime’s debt collection
practices were unfair to consumers. The CFPB found that DriveTime violated federal
consumer financial laws and harmed consumers through illegal actions such as:

Harassing borrowers at work: DriveTime collectors often called borrowers at
work, and DriveTime management encouraged these calls. Several consumers
requested that DriveTime not call them at work but DriveTime kept calling
anyway. For example, one consumer was unfairly called 30 times at work after her
do-not-call request.

Harassing borrowers’ references: DriveTime required consumers to provide
the names and phone numbers of at least four references when they applied for
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financing. When consumers fell behind on their payments, DriveTime called these
references. Many borrowers and references requested that DriveTime no longer
make these calls, but DriveTime did not stop. Some references complained that
DriveTime collectors called them for months after they had requested that the
company stop. The CFPB determined that this practice was unfair to consumers.

Making excessive, repeated calls to wrong numbers: To reach consumers
who fell behind, DriveTime frequently used third-party databases to find new
phone numbers. These databases were often wrong. Upon receiving DriveTime’s
calls, numerous third parties told DriveTime they had the wrong number and
requested that DriveTime stop calling them. Despite such requests, DriveTime
continued to make these calls. In some cases, DriveTime called these wrong
numbers for over a year before stopping.

Providing inaccurate repossession information to credit reporting
agencies: DriveTime furnishes consumer account information for approximately
350,000 accounts to all three major consumer reporting agencies. In a number of
cases, DriveTime gave the agencies information that inaccurately reflected the
timing of repossessions and dates of first delinquency. This made it appear on
consumers’ credit reports that consumers’ vehicles had been repossessed more
recently than the actual date of repossession. This information can have a
negative effect on consumers’ credit reports, which in turn can impact their ability
to get credit, employment, or housing. The Fair Credit Reporting Act prohibits
companies from furnishing inaccurate information when they know or have
reasonable cause to believe the information is inaccurate.

Failing to properly handle credit information furnishing disputes:
DriveTime also mishandled consumers’ complaints about the inaccurate
information it had provided to the credit reporting agencies. In several instances,
consumers disputed the same account information several times without the
inaccurate information being corrected. In other cases, DriveTime informed the
consumers in writing that the information had been corrected, when it had not
been. This was a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which requires that
companies properly investigate disputes.

Failing to implement reasonable procedures to ensure the accuracy of
consumers’ credit information: DriveTime failed to establish and implement
reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of
the information it furnished to credit reporting agencies. The policies and
procedures it had in place were not appropriate to the nature, size, complexity,
and scope of its furnishing activities. The Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that
companies have policies and procedures in place to ensure the accuracy and
integrity of consumers’ credit information.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The CFPB’s consent order
requires DriveTime to:

End unfair calling practices: DriveTime must not communicate with
consumers at their workplaces if consumers have requested that DriveTime not
call them there or if DriveTime otherwise knows that the consumers’ employers
prohibit communications to their workplaces. DriveTime must not call a
particular phone number related to an account if any person has requested, orally
or in writing, that DriveTime stop calling such number.
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Disclose collection options to consumers: DriveTime must provide a clear
and conspicuous written notice to existing customers explaining how they can
limit the times of day that DriveTime will call them. For all new customers,
DriveTime must provide this notice as part of a written welcome kit. DriveTime
must also provide this notice on the welcome call and, if applicable, at the time of
the first collection call on the account. DriveTime must accept customers’ oral or
written requests to limit calls.

Cease furnishing inaccurate repossession information: DriveTime must
stop furnishing information related to the repossession of a consumer’s vehicle,
unless the company has confirmed that the information is correct.

Correct credit reporting information: If DriveTime furnished information
to a credit reporting agency that was inaccurate for multiple accounts for similar
reasons, the company must provide corrected information to the agency or
request that the agency delete the wrong information from the consumer’s file.

Provide credit reports to harmed consumers: For those consumers about
whom DriveTime furnished inaccurate credit information, DriveTime must
provide a notice that explains how to obtain a free credit report from each of the
nationwide consumer reporting agencies. If the customer has already received a
free report during the preceding 12 months, DriveTime must arrange for the
customer to obtain a credit report free of charge.

Implement an audit program: DriveTime must implement a process for
auditing information it furnishes to the credit reporting agencies on a monthly
basis and monitoring the disputes it receives. The audit is designed to ensure the
integrity and accuracy of the information.

Pay an $8 million penalty: DriveTime will pay an $8 million penalty to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201411_cfpb_consent-order_drivetime.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Sprint Corporation, 

Defendant. 

14 CV 9931 

Civil Action No. 

COMPLAINT 
JUDGE PUY 

t;r4 W14 

U.S.D.C. S.D. N.Y. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "Bureau") brings this action 

against Sprint Corporation ("Sprint") and alleges as follows: 

Introduction 

1. From 2004 to December 2013, Sprint charged its wireless customers for 

unauthorized third-party charges. These charges cost Sprint's customers millions of 

dollars each year. 

2. Sprint unfairly charged its customers by creating a billing and payment-

processing system that gave third parties virtually unfettered access to its customers' 

accounts. This access allowed third parties to "cram" unauthorized charges onto wireless 

bills. 

3. Sprint automatically enrolled customers in its third-party billing system 

without their knowledge, much less their consent. Many customers were therefore 

unaware of the unauthorized charges. 



4. Sprint continued to operate its flawed system despite numerous red flags, 

such as high refund rates and complaints from customers, law-enforcement agencies, 

and consumer groups. 

5. Sprint profited from this system because it shifted the risk to its 

customers, who had to pay third-party charges under the company's Terms and 

Conditions of Service ("Terms & Conditions"). While its customers suffered losses, 

Sprint retained 4o% of the gross revenue it collected for third-party charges, totaling 

hundreds of millions of dollars. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

6. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345 and 12 U.S.C. § 5565. 

7. Venue is proper because Sprint transacts business and has locations in this 

District. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

8. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products and services under 

"Federal consumer financial laws." 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is authorized to 

commence civil actions by its own attorneys to address violations of Federal consumer 

financial laws, including the prohibition on covered persons from engaging in any 

unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 ("CFPA"). 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5531, 5536. 
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9. Sprint extends credit to, and processes payments for, consumers in 

connection with goods and services that Sprint does not directly sell or that consumers 

do not directly purchase from Sprint. Sprint is therefore a "covered person" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(i) & (vii). 

Factual Background 

I. Landline Third-Party Billing Transferred to Mobile Phones 

10. In the 199os, telephone companies opened their billing platforms to third 

parties. Although third-party billing transformed telephone carriers into large-scale 

credit issuers and payment processors, they instituted few, if any, compliance measures 

to ensure that charges on customer bills were authorized and accurate. 

ii. By the late 199os, federal and state authorities realized that nearly all 

third-party landline charges were unauthorized. In 1998, however, larger telephone 

companies convinced government authorities to allow the industry to self-regulate 

through voluntary guidelines. 

12. Unauthorized billing not only persisted, but grew after self-regulation. In 

2011, the Federal Communications Commission estimated that each year 15-20 million 

households were harmed by landline cramming. A 2011 report by the Senate Commerce 

Committee's staff concluded that about 30o million third-party charges appeared on 

landline bills each year, totaling more than $2 billion annually. 

13. Despite common knowledge that this system invited unauthorized 

charges, Sprint replicated the landline, third-party model — outsourcing compliance and 

3 



billing functions to billing aggregators without adequate oversight — in its wireless 

business. 

IL Unauthorized Charges for Premium Short Messaging Services 

14. From about 2004 through 2013, nearly all wireless third-party billing 

involved goods called "premium text messages" or "premium short messaging services" 

("PSMS") because they were frequently delivered by text messages. The goods included 

ringtones, wallpaper, and text messages providing flirting tips, horoscopes, and other 

digital content. Some third-party goods were one-time charges, costing about $0.99 - 

$4.99. Often, they were monthly subscriptions that cost about $9.99 a month. 

15. Merchants typically marketed PSMS products through online 

advertisements. Customers clicked on ads that brought them to websites asking them to 

enter their cellphone numbers. Under industry guidelines, the websites were supposed 

to disclose prices and other terms and conditions, including whether the charges were 

recurring. After customers entered their cellphone numbers, merchants were supposed 

to send text messages requesting replies to confirm the purchases. Merchants then 

delivered the products to the cellphones through Sprint's network. After customers 

purportedly received the products, Sprint, relying on information provided by 

merchants and routed by billing aggregators, placed the charges on customer bills. 

16. Some merchants, however, advertised coupons or free giveaways unrelated 

to the digital content they purportedly provided. The false or misleading advertisements 

tricked customers into entering their cellphone numbers. When a customer received a 

text message from the merchant, she responded believing she was going to receive the 
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advertised coupon or free item, when in fact she unwittingly "purchased" a monthly 

subscription that continued until she canceled the service. 

17. Many times, merchants simply crammed fabricated charges onto Sprint's 

bills without sending any communications or delivering any products to customers. The 

unauthorized charges often continued undetected for many months. 

i8. Numerous complaints from Sprint customers, spanning several years, 

describe how they were victimized by these or similar schemes. The complaints also 

show that Sprint failed to respond to complaints or provide full refunds. 

III. Sprint Unfairly Charged Its Customers 

19. Sprint unfairly billed its customers for unauthorized PSMS charges by (i) 

enrolling customers in third-party billing without their authorization; (ii) giving third 

parties access to its customers and its billing system without implementing adequate 

compliance controls; (iii) failing to adequately resolve customer disputes; and (iv) 

ignoring warnings from customers, government agencies, and public-interest groups. 

A. Automatic Enrollment 

20. Sprint automatically enrolled customers in third-party billing without 

their consent. This policy helped perpetuate wrongful third-party-billing because many 

customers did not spot unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties 

could place charges on their bills. 

B. Inadequate Compliance and Controls 

21. Sprint selected the merchants permitted to use its system and conducted 

some due diligence before onboarding them. It did not, however, directly interact with 
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the merchants. Sprint, for example, did not directly require merchants to (i) obtain 

customer authorization for purchases; or (ii) comply with industry guidelines. Sprint 

also did not compile the third-party-billing activity that appeared on the invoices it sent 

to customers. 

22. Sprint outsourced these compliance and payment-processing functions to 

vendors called billing aggregators without properly overseeing the aggregators. Sprint 

relied on "compliance with laws" provisions in its agreements with the aggregators, 

which provided Sprint with breach-of-contract remedies, but did little to protect 

customers. 

23. The lack of oversight created blind spots for Sprint that resulted in 

numerous unauthorized charges. For example, one of Sprint's two primary billing 

aggregators knowingly helped certain merchants cram unauthorized charges onto bills 

from at least January 2011 to November 2013. 

C. Failure to Respond to Customer Complaints 

24. When customers contacted Sprint about unauthorized charges, the 

company often did not adequately resolve the disputes. In some instances, Sprint 

refused to provide refunds and only offered instructions on how to block future third-

party charges. 

25. Other times, Sprint refused to provide refunds and referred customers to 

the merchants. Sprint, at times, gave partial refunds or refunds for a few months, but 

rarely for all months that the customer incurred the unauthorized charges. 
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D. Failure to Heed Red Flags 

26. Sprint ignored, or consciously avoided, numerous red flags highlighting 

the significant flaws in its third-party-billing system. 

27. First, it did not track customer complaints about unauthoriied charges. 

Sprint therefore declined to employ a basic mechanism that could have helped reveal 

the flaws and risks in its system. 

28. Second, in 2010, Sprint settled a law-enforcement action related to 

wireless cramming with the Florida Attorney General. 

29. Third, Sprint continued to outsource payment processing and compliance 

to billing aggregators after those aggregators agreed to pay claims pursuant to wireless-

cramming settlements in 2008 to 2010. 

30. Fourth, refund rates for certain merchants ranged from 20-50%. Though 

extremely high, those rates likely understate the problem because many customers 

never learned about the unauthorized charges, and when they did, Sprint often refused 

to give full refunds. 

31. Despite the high refunds rates for certain merchants, Sprint rarely 

terminated their access to its customers and billing system. Rather, after several years 

with limited compliance measures, Sprint devised a system of financial incentives and 

penalties to encourage billing aggregators to keep refund rates below certain thresholds. 

Because billing aggregators received more money if merchants generated more charges, 

they had an incentive to increase transaction volume, while hiding unauthorized charges 

to keep refund rates below the thresholds. 
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N. Sprint Transferred the Risk and the Harm to Consumers 

32. While Sprint outsourced compliance and fraud-prevention, it maintained 

tight control over the collection, processing, and distribution of payments. 

33. Sprint's Terms and Conditions did not differentiate between its own 

charges and those of third parties. Non-payment subjected customers to potential late 

fees, service termination, collections, and reporting to credit bureaus. Customers had to 

pay unauthorized third-party charges unless Sprint elected to provide refunds, which it 

often did not. 

34. Sprint reaped lucrative profits from third-party billing. It kept about 40% 

of the PSMS gross revenue and passed along the remainder to the billing aggregators 

who shared their portions with the merchants. Sprint's share of the revenue totaled 

hundreds of millions of dollars. 

Violation of the CFPA 

35. The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-34 of this 

Complaint. 

36. As described above, Sprint's actions and omissions, including its failure to 

take reasonable steps to prevent unauthorized charges, caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers that they could not reasonably avoid and were not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

37. Sprint's actions and omissions were therefore unfair acts and practices in 

violation of §§ 1031 and io36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

8 



Demand for Relief 

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of the 

CFPA; 

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendant; 

c. order Defendant to pay restitution to consumers harmed by its unlawful 

conduct; 

d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenue against Defendant; 

e. impose civil money penalties against Defendant; 

f. order Defendant to pay the Bureau's costs incurred in connection with 

prosecuting this action; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: New York, New York 
December 17, 2014 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Anthony Alexis 
Acting Enforcement Director 

Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Natalie R. Williams 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 

es 
Genegsa Stout 
Enforcement Attorneys 
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CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone (Kim): 212-328-7013 

Telephone (Stout): 202-435-7920 
Facsimile: 202-435-7329 

e-mail: james.kim@cfpb.gov 
e-mail: genessa.stout@cfpb.gov 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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CFPB Takes Action to End Student “Debt
Relief” Scams
CFPB Warns Borrowers About Companies Charging High Fees for Free
Federal Loan Repayment Benefits

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action to put an end to two student “debt relief” scams that illegally tricked
borrowers into paying upfront fees for federal loan benefits. The CFPB, in a joint filing
with Florida’s Attorney General, shut down student debt relief company College
Education Services and separately filed a lawsuit against Student Loan Processing.US
for illegally marketing student debt relief services. The Bureau is issuing a consumer
advisory today warning student loan borrowers to be wary of paying high fees for free
federal loan benefits.

“Student loans are already a significant debt for many Americans. College Education
Services and Student Loan Processing.US added to that hardship by taking advantage
of troubled borrowers and failing to describe their services honestly,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “When scam artists prey on student loan borrowers, we will
take action to halt their illegal activity.”

The U.S. Department of Education offers numerous plans to borrowers with federal
student loans to make payments more affordable. These include options that let
borrowers set their monthly payment based on their income. Monthly payments under
these plans can be as low as zero dollars per month for unemployed or very lowwage
borrowers. The Department of Education does not charge any fees to apply for or enroll
in these plans, for which many student loan borrowers qualify.

College Education Services Banned from
Industry
College Education Services, its owner, Marcia Elena Vargas, and advisor and employee,
Frank Liz, marketed and advertised debt relief services to student loan borrowers with
loans in default. Based in Tampa, Florida, the company advertised through Internet ads
and operated websites including CollegeDefaultedStudentLoan.com and
HelpStudentLoanDefault.com. The company reaped millions of dollars in advance fees
from thousands of consumers before it ceased operations around February 2013.
Specifically, College Education Services:

Charged illegal advance fees: Federal law requires at least one debt to be
renegotiated, settled, or reduced before a fee can be collected for debt relief
services. But College Education Services charged consumers between $195 and
$2,500 and required all, or a substantial portion, of its fees to be paid upfront; the
average fee was about $500. The company even took money from financially
distressed consumers who could not qualify for loan consolidation, incomedriven
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payment plans, or loan forgiveness programs.

Falsely promised lower payments: Presenting themselves as “counselors,”
College Education Services’ telemarketers promised consumers that they could
solve all the student loan issues that plagued consumers. Internet ads and
telemarketers guaranteed lower monthly payments for consumers. One College
Education Services’ ad said, “Cut Your Student Loan Monthly Payment Up to 50%
– Save Today!” The company often failed to deliver the promised results. For
some consumers who qualified for loan consolidation, College Education Services
selected monthly repayment plans that increased their monthly payments.

Falsely claimed quick relief from default or garnishment: The company
promised quick relief from default or garnishment. Garnishment is when a court
order allows money to be taken from a consumer’s salary, bank account, or other
asset when she owes money. But the principal debt relief approach the company
used – loan consolidation − did not and could not ensure those benefits in all
cases, and not in the quick timeframe the company promised.

Under the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Bureau
has the authority to take action against companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or
abusive practices. Today, the Bureau asked a federal district court to enter a consent
order that would permanently ban College Education Services, Liz, and Vargas from
engaging in any debt relief businesses. In addition to the permanent ban, the proposed
order requires College Education Services, Vargas, and Liz, to pay a $25,000 civil
penalty, which was based on the defendants’ inability to pay a more substantial amount.

The College Education Services proposed consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_consentorder_thecollege
educationservices.pdf

The College Education Services complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_thecollegeeducation
services.pdf

The State of Florida joined the Bureau in today’s lawsuit against College Education
Services. More information will be available at:
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/newsrel.nsf/newsreleases

Student Loan Processing.US Sued
Student Loan Processing.US, a fictitious business name of Irvine Web Works, Inc., is
headquartered in Laguna Nigel, California, with an office in Dallas, Texas. The CFPB
alleges that since at least July 2011, the company and its owner, James Krause, has been
marketing and advertising services to advise and assist borrowers applying for
Department of Education federal student loan repayment programs. The company
operates websites under the names StudentLoanProcessing.us,
StudentLoanProcessing.org, and slpus.org. In the complaint filed today, the Bureau is
accusing the company and Krause of:

Falsely representing an affiliation with the U.S. Department of
Education: Claiming to be a “consultation service,” Student Loan Processing.US
implies to consumers that it is affiliated with the Department of Education. The
company uses a logo that resembles a government seal, stamps “Official Business”
on its mail to consumers, and cites federal law prohibiting mail tampering to
create the impression that the marketing material is sent or endorsed by the
federal government.

Charging illegal advance fees: Student Loan Processing.US charges
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consumers considerable upfront enrollment fees of either 1 percent of the
consumer’s federal student loan balance or $250, whichever is higher. The
company requires payment of the entire fee before it even mails application
materials to consumers.

Deceiving borrowers about the costs and terms of its services: Student
Loan Processing.US fails to clearly explain and disclose that it charges a monthly
service fee that continues until the consumer’s federal student loans are paid in
full or discharged, a timeframe that could last decades. In certain cases, the
company advises consumers who may qualify for zero payments to pay $39 a
month – without adequately explaining that the $39 is going to Student Loan
Processing.US as a fee.

Under the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has
the authority to take action against companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive
practices. In today’s lawsuit, the Bureau is seeking to stop the illegal conduct. In
addition, the Bureau is seeking restitution to consumers harmed and a civil money
penalty against Student Loan Processing.US and Krause.

The Student Loan Processing.US complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201412_cfpb_complaint_studentloan
processing.pdf

Consumers Warned About Student Debt
Relief Scams
As student loan borrowers run into roadblocks while trying to get help from their loan
servicers, such as lost paperwork or payment processing problems, they may grow
discouraged with their prospects of an alternative payment plan. In a consumer
advisory issued today, the CFPB warns students to avoid paying for plans that they can
easily get for free. The services offered by thirdparty debt relief providers are not a
substitute for highquality student loan servicing and may cost borrowers thousands of
dollars and drive them further into debt.

The CFPB’s consumer advisory points out that enrollment in alternative repayment
programs, like the IncomeBased Repayment program or the Pay As You Earn program,
is available at no cost to federal student loan borrowers. Companies offering special
services do not have the ability to negotiate with creditors in order to obtain a “special
deal” under the federal student loan programs. The advisory also provides warning
signs that a company offering student loan debt relief may be a scam. These signs
include:

Pressure to pay high upfront fees: Consumers should avoid companies that
require payment before they actually do anything, especially if they try to get a
credit card number, bank account information, or require that consumers sign a
contract.

Requests for a Federal Student Aid PIN: Consumers should be cautious of
companies that ask for their Federal Student Aid PIN. This unique ID is the
equivalent of a consumer’s signature and giving it away is giving a company the
power to perform actions on the consumer’s student loan. Honest companies will
work with consumers to come up with a plan without the PIN.

The consumer advisory is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumeradvisorystudentloandebtrelief
companiesmaycostyouthousandsofdollarsanddriveyoufurtherintodebt/

In recent years, many consumers have borrowed significantly to pay for postsecondary
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education. Earlier this year, the Bureau announced that outstanding student debt totals
nearly $1.2 trillion. Most of this debt is from federal government student loans. The
Bureau also estimates that 7 million student loan borrowers are now in default on their
debt. Borrowers who run into trouble with companies offering debt relief services when
repaying student loans can file a complaint.

More information is at: www.consumerfinance.gov/students

The Bureau’s complaints and consent orders are not findings or rulings that the
defendant has actually violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, TAMPA DMSION 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and 
Office of the Attorney General, State of 
Florida, Department of Legal Mfairs, 

Plaintiff, 
Injunctive Relief Sought 

v. 

College Education Services LLC, Marcia 
Elena Vargas, individually, and Frank Liz, 
individually, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION, 
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES, AND OTHER RELIEF 
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1. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) .and the Office of 

the Attorney General, State of Florida, Department of Legal Affairs (Attorney 

General of Florida) bring this action against College Education Services LLC (CES), 

Marcia Elena Vargas, and Frank Liz. The Bureau brings this action under the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 

5565, and the Bureau and the Attorney General of Florida together bring this action 

under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (the 

Telemarketing Act), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), based on violations of the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.P.R. pt. 310, and sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), in connection with 
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Defendants’ marketing and sale of student-loan debt-relief services. In addition, the 

Attorney General of Florida brings this action to enforce the Florida Deceptive and 

Unfair Trade Practices Act, Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes (2013).  

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 

28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

3. The Attorney General of Florida is authorized to initiate federal district 

court proceedings to enjoin telemarketing and debt relief activities that violate the 

TSR pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 6103(a). This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over 

the Attorney General of Florida’s state claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367 because 

those claims are so related to the claims asserted by the Bureau and the Attorney 

General of Florida under the TSR that they form part of the same case or 

controversy.  

4. Venue is proper because Defendants reside and transact business in 

the Tampa Division of this District. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f); M.D. 

Fla. Local Rule 1.02.   

Parties 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by 12 

U.S.C. § 5491(a) and charged with regulating the offering and provision of consumer-

financial products and services under federal consumer-financial laws, including the 
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Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, and 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). The Bureau is authorized to initiate civil 

actions in federal district court, by its own attorneys, to address violations of 

“Federal consumer financial law” and to secure such relief as may be appropriate. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5565.  

6. The Attorney General of Florida is an enforcing authority of the Florida 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (FDUTPA), Chapter 501, Part II, Florida 

Statutes (2013), pursuant to Section 501. 203, Florida Statutes. The Attorney 

General of Florida has conducted an investigation of the matters alleged herein, and 

the head of the enforcing authority, Attorney General of Florida Pamela Jo Bondi, 

has determined that this enforcement action serves the public interest. Pursuant to 

FDUTPA, the Attorney General of Florida is authorized to pursue this action to 

enjoin FDUTPA violations and to obtain legal, equitable, or other appropriate relief, 

including restitution, civil penalties, and relief pursuant to Sections 501. 207 and 

501. 2075, Florida Statutes. The Attorney General of Florida is authorized to bring 

this action and to seek injunctive and other statutory relief to enforce the TSR under 

15 U.S.C. § 6103(a). 

7. CES, including its predecessor College Defaulted Student Loan LLC, 

was a Florida corporation headquartered in Tampa, Florida. At all times material to 

this Complaint, CES transacted business in this District, providing financial-advisory 

services to consumers and purporting to assist consumers with managing, including 

altering the terms of, their student-loan debt. CES initiated and received telephone 
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calls to and from consumers and provided services by use of one or more telephones. 

CES is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA and a “telemarketer” engaged in 

“telemarketing” under the TSR. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(viii); 16 C.F.R. § 

310.2(cc)-(dd). 

8. Marcia Elena Vargas was an owner, the chief financial officer, and a 

manager of CES. At all times material to this Complaint, Vargas managed, 

formulated, directed, controlled, or had the authority to control CES and materially 

participated in the conduct of its affairs. Vargas is therefore a “related person” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Vargas is a “related person,” she is 

deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

Vargas resides in Tampa, Florida, and in connection with the matters alleged herein, 

transacted business in this District. 

9. Frank Liz was an advisor to and employee of CES. At all times material 

to this Complaint, Liz managed, formulated, directed, controlled, or had the 

authority to control CES and materially participated in the conduct of its affairs. Liz 

is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). 

Because Liz is a “related person,” he is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). Liz resides in Tampa, Florida, and in connection 

with the matters alleged herein, transacted business in this District. 
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Factual Background 

10. From on or about September 2010 through February 2013, Defendants 

marketed and advertised debt-relief services to financially distressed student-loan 

borrowers whose loans were in default or garnishment. 

11. CES targeted these consumers through expensive Google AdWords 

online marketing campaigns. When consumers conducted Google searches using 

phrases such as “defaulted student loan,” “student loan garnishment,” “student loan 

forgiveness,” and “paying student loan tough,” CES ads making the following types of 

claims would be displayed on their screens: 

Default of Student Loan         Student Loan Forgiveness 
Call 877-730-5368 Money Back        Apply Now To Get Your Student Loan 
Guaranteed Get Out 4-8 weeks!        Forgiveness, Friendly Staff Waiting  
 
Stop Wage Garnishment   Student Loan Relief 
Guaranteed-Stop Wage Garnishment  Cut Your Student Loan Monthly 
With a Minimum Monthly Payment Payment Up to 50% - Save Today! 
 
12. The ads directed consumers to one of CES’s websites, including 

CollegeDefaultedStudentLoan.com or HelpStudentLoanDefault.com. On those 

websites, CES asserted that “[w]e can help you fix your student loans” and 

encouraged consumers to “[l]et us find the best Solution to all of Your Federal 

Student Loan Troubles!” 

13. CES’s websites further claimed that the company’s services would 

enable distressed student loan debtors to: 

Join thousands of college graduates who’ve already: 
 
Cut their monthly payments by as [sic] 50 percent! 
Removed wage garnishment and monetary judgments against them! 
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Consolidated countless loans into just one streamlined monthly 
payment! 
Dramatically improved their credit rating and score! 
 

14. CES portrayed its mission as “help[ing] individual [sic] and families, 

regardless of circumstance, end financial crisis and solve money management 

problems caused by outstanding student loans.” CES promised to “establish custom-

tailored programs and plans for your specific individual needs.” 

15. CES’s websites listed a toll-free number and instructed consumers 

either to call or input their contact information into a form on the website. 

16. For consumers who submitted contact information through a website, 

a CES telemarketer called them back within five minutes. If the telemarketers could 

not reach a consumer, they would call twice a day for up to 10 days to get the 

consumer on the phone.  

17. When speaking with consumers, CES’s telemarketers introduced 

themselves as student loan “counselors” or “advisors.” CES telemarketers claimed 

they had the knowledge and expertise necessary to “custom-tailor[] programs and 

plans” to meet each consumer’s “individual needs” and free consumers from 

“financial misfortune.”  

18. CES’s loan “counselors” pledged to assist consumers in “securing a new 

Federally-backed consolidated loan,” which they claimed would result in, among 

other things, lower monthly payments, freedom from default or garnishment in eight 

weeks or less, and improved credit scores. 
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19. CES instructed its loan “counselors” to emphasize the following in its 

initial calls with borrowers in default: 

This program will have you out of default in 4-6 weeks. The benefits of getting 
out of default are significant to people in default (GIVE 4-5 EXAMPLES 
THAT ARE RELEVENT [sic] TO THE CALLER'S SITUATION). 
 
1. Prevent or Stop Wage Garnishment 
2. Prevent or Stop IRS Tax Seizures 
3. Improve your Credit Score- will show that defaulted loans are now paid in 
full and you will have a new loan with a new lender showing in good standing. 
(FYI-Info is not erased) 
4. Avoid suspension, Revocation or Non-Renewal of Professional Licenses 
5. Prevent Litigation and Judgment Costs 
6. Become Eligible for Unlimited Forbearances & Deferments 
7. Stop the Harassing phone calls from Bill Collectors 
8. Obtain your Diploma & Transcripts 
9. Become Eligible for Financial Aid (Federal Student Loans & Pell Grants). 
 
20. Regardless of the borrower’s student-loan issues or particular 

circumstances, CES telemarketers assured the borrower that “from looking at your 

loans and situation, you do qualify for our program and services.” 

21. CES’s telemarketers exploited consumers’ financial distress, pressuring 

consumers into paying significant advance fees by repeatedly promising that CES 

could resolve all their student-loan woes.  

22. CES charged consumers between $195 and $2,500 based on the 

amount of student-loan debt at issue, with the average fee being about $500. CES 

required all or a substantial portion of its fee to be paid before it would perform any 

debt-relief services on the consumer’s behalf.  

23. CES collected millions in advance fees from consumers seeking 

student-loan debt-relief services.  
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24. After receiving payment details, the telemarketers would thank the 

consumers for “trusting CES with providing a solution to your Student Loan 

situation” and again promised that “the result [was] . . . 100% guaranteed.” 

CES Failed to Provide the Guaranteed Services 

25. Despite its promise of “guaranteed” results, CES could not and did not 

resolve all of the student-loan issues faced by the consumers who paid for its 

services.   

26. CES often failed to (1) provide any services to borrowers, (2) deliver the 

“guaranteed” lower monthly payments, relief from default or garnishment, loan 

forgiveness, or improved credit scores, or (3) obtain relief in less than six or eight 

weeks as promised. Indeed, CES exacerbated the student-loan difficulties of some of 

the financially distressed consumers it promised to help. 

27. CES did not perform the promised individualized assessments of 

consumers’ student-loan situations to determine the best debt-relief options. To the 

extent CES provided any debt-relief services, they consisted nearly exclusively of 

applying for student-loan consolidation and subsequent repayment plans. 

28. As purported experts, CES knew or should have known that loan 

consolidation was not an option for every student-loan borrower, and even when 

available, could not resolve all the student-loan issues CES’s customers faced or 

provide the relief CES “guaranteed” in every instance.   

29. CES did not explain to consumers the requirements for loan 

consolidation or the relative benefits and risks of different consolidation options. 
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Specifically, CES did not advise consumers that: (1) certain federal and private loans 

could not be consolidated; (2) certain consolidation-repayment plans could result in 

higher monthly payments or other negative consequences; (3) consolidation might 

lead to other unfavorable results, such as the loss of grace periods; (4) loans in 

default often could not be consolidated until after the successful completion of 

months-long trial-repayment plans; and (5) other debt-relief strategies or options 

might better meet the customer’s needs. 

30. In fact, in a number of cases, CES did not even assess whether the 

consumer had loans that were eligible for consolidation before taking advance fees. 

31. Further, for some consumers who qualified for loan consolidation, CES 

selected monthly repayment plans that increased their monthly payments – the 

exact opposite of what those borrowers expected and desired when they engaged 

CES’s debt-relief services.  

32. CES also misled consumers about its ability to obtain loan forgiveness. 

CES could not “guarantee” loan forgiveness; all it could do was, at most, assist 

certain consumers in establishing eligibility for such relief.  

33. Further, CES had no basis to assert that its services would lead to 

improved credit scores. CES did not check consumers’ credit scores before or after 

the company performed debt-relief services on their behalf, and had no way of 

knowing how, or to what extent, even a successful loan consolidation would impact a 

consumer’s credit score.  
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34. Thus, through false promises and “guarantees,” CES raked in millions 

in advance fees from consumers while leaving many of them in the same or a worse 

student-loan predicament than before. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE 
(Asserted by the Bureau and the Attorney General of Florida) 

35. In 1994, Congress passed the Telemarketing Act and directed the FTC 

to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and deceptive telemarketing acts or practices. 

15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-08. In 1995, the FTC adopted the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, which 

became effective on December 31, 1995. On August 10, 2010, the FTC promulgated 

amendments to the TSR to include provisions specifically directed at debt-relief 

services.  

36. Through the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 

Act, Congress amended the Telemarketing Act to give the CFPB the authority to 

enforce the TSR. 15 U.S.C. 6102(c)(2). The Attorney General of Florida is authorized 

to enjoin telemarketing and enforce compliance of the TSR pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§6103(a). 

37. As defined by the TSR, Defendants are “seller[s]” or “telemarketer[s]” 

engaged in “telemarketing” and the provision of “debt relief service[s].” 16 C.F.R. §§ 

310.2 (m), (aa), (cc), and (dd). 

Count I 
Abusive Telemarketing Acts or Practices Related to Advance Fees  

in Connection with Debt-Relief Services 
 

38. The Bureau and the Attorney General of Florida reallege and 

incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-34. 
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39. It is an abusive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the TSR 

for any seller or telemarketer to request or receive payment of any fee or 

consideration for any debt-relief service until and unless: 

a. The seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other such valid 

contractual agreement executed by the customer; 

b. The customer has made at least one payment pursuant to that 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other valid 

contractual agreement between the customer and the creditor or debt 

collector; and  

c. To the extent that debts enrolled in a service are renegotiated, settled, 

reduced, or otherwise altered individually, the fee or consideration 

either (1) bears the same proportional relationship to the total fee for 

renegotiating, settling, reducing, or altering the terms of the entire debt 

balance as the individual debt amount bears to the entire debt amount; 

or (2) is a percentage of the amount saved as a result of the 

renegotiation, settlement, reduction, or alteration.  16 C.F.R. § 

310.4(a)(5)(i). 

40. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing student-loan 

debt-relief services, Defendants requested and received payment of a fee or 

consideration for a debt-relief service before (a) they renegotiated, settled, reduced, 



 

12 

 

or otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a settlement 

agreement, debt-management plan, or other such valid contractual agreement 

executed by the customer; and (b) the customer made at least one payment pursuant 

to that agreement.  

41. Therefore, Defendants’ acts and practices as alleged in paragraph 40 

constitute abusive telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.4(a)(5)(i). 

Count II 
Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices 

42. The Bureau and the Attorney General of Florida reallege and 

incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-34. 

43. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice for any seller or 

telemarketer of debt-relief services to misrepresent, directly or by implication, in the 

sale of the services, any material aspect of any debt-relief service, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.3(a)(2)(x), or to fail to discloses truthfully the amount of time necessary to 

achieve the represented results, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(A). 

  



 

13 

 

44. In numerous instances, in the course of telemarketing debt-relief 

services, Defendants misrepresented, directly or indirectly, material aspects of the 

debt-relief services they sold, including:  

a. that their services would result in lower monthly student-loan 

payments; 

b. that consumers who used Defendants’ services would improve their 

credit scores; and  

c. that Defendants would achieve results in less than eight weeks. 

45. In numerous instances, in the course of telemarketing debt-relief 

services, before consumers consented to pay for services, Defendants failed to 

disclose truthfully the amount of time necessary to achieve the represented results.   

46. In truth and in fact, Defendants did not always reduce consumers’ 

monthly student-loan payments; had no basis to claim consumers’ credit scores 

would improve; and did not achieve results in the time promised.  

47. Therefore, Defendants’ acts and practices as alleged in paragraphs 44 

to 46 constitute deceptive telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(A) and (a)(2)(x). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 
(Asserted by the Bureau) 

48. The CFPA prohibits any covered person from engaging in any deceptive 

or abusive act or practice. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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49. As stated above, Defendants are covered persons under the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. 5481(6), 15(A)(viii), and therefore are liable for acts and practices that violate 

the Act. 12 U.S.C. 5536(a). 

Count III 
Deception 

50. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-34. 

51. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or providing of 

student-loan debt-relief services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that: 

a. their services would result in lower monthly student-loan payments; 

b. that consumers who used their services would improve their credit 

scores; and  

c. that Defendants would achieve results in less than eight weeks. 

52. The material representations set forth in paragraph 51 were false and 

misleading and unsubstantiated. 

53. Therefore, the making of the representations set forth in paragraph 51 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

Count IV 
Abusiveness 

54. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-34. 
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55. An act or practice is abusive under the CFPA if it “takes unreasonable 

advantage of . . . the reasonable reliance by the consumer on a covered person to act 

in the interests of the consumer.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(C). 

56. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or providing of 

student-loan debt-relief services, CES targeted financially distressed consumers by 

using sophisticated and expensive Internet-marketing campaigns aimed at attracting 

consumers whose student loans were in default or garnishment or whose monthly 

payments were otherwise unaffordable. 

57. CES’s telemarketers held themselves out as loan counselors and 

advisors with the expertise to establish custom-tailored programs to address each 

student-loan debtor’s specific needs. CES created the illusion of expertise and 

individualized advice to induce consumers to reasonably rely on the company to act 

in their interests in seeking and selecting student loan debt-relief plans. 

58. CES did not undertake the promised individualized assessment of each 

consumer’s student-loan situation. Instead, to the extent CES provided services, it 

primarily sought to consolidate its customers’ student loans. 

59. CES took unreasonable advantage of the reasonable reliance of 

consumers by enrolling and taking fees from consumers whose loans were ineligible 

for consolidation or who did not otherwise qualify for the relief the company 

promised.  

60. For example, CES took advance fees to consolidate private loans that 

were not eligible for consolidation with federal loans. CES also took upfront fees to 
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enroll some consumers in income-based repayment plans or loan forgiveness 

programs for which they were not eligible. In addition, CES placed some consumers 

in repayment plans that increased their monthly student-loan payments, leaving 

those consumers in a more financially precarious position than before. 

61. Therefore, the acts and practices set forth in paragraphs 56 to 60 

constitute abusive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND  
UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT 

(Asserted by the Attorney General of Florida) 

62. Section 501.204(1) of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices 

Act, Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes, states that “unfair or deceptive acts or 

practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful.” 

Count V 
Deceptive and Unfair Acts and Practices 

63. The Attorney General of Florida realleges and incorporates by 

reference paragraphs 1-34. 

64. CES, at all times material hereto, engaged in a “trade or commerce” 

pursuant to Section 501.208, Florida Statutes, by engaging in the advertising, 

soliciting, and telemarketing of student loan debt relief services. 

65. At all times material hereto, Defendants have engaged in deceptive and 

unfair acts and practices in offering or providing student loan-debt relief services 

including but not limited to that Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication that Defendants’ student loan debt relief services would 
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result in lower monthly student loan payments for consumers; that Defendants 

would achieve the represented results in less than eight weeks; ad that such results 

were guaranteed. 

66. Defendants representations identified in paragraph 65 were false and 

misleading and unsubstantiated, and constitute deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of Section 501.204, Florida Statutes. 

67. Defendants Vargas and Liz have directly participated in the acts and 

practices alleged as unlawful herein, have directed or controlled, or have had the 

authority to direct or control, the practices engaged in by CES and and had actual or 

constructive knowledge of the acts and practices alleged herein or exercised a 

reckless indifference to the conduct of CES as alleged herein. 

68. Defendants willfully engaged in the acts and practices alleged herein 

when they knew or should have known that such acts and practices are deceptive or 

unfair or otherwise prohibited by law. 

69. Defendants have committed and are committing acts or practices in 

trade or commerce which shock the conscience, have engaged in or are engaging in 

representations, acts, practices, or omissions in trade or commerce which are 

material and which are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances; and have engaged in or are engaging in acts or practices that are 

likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which are not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers themselves or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

competition. 
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70. Unless Defendants are permanently enjoined from engaging further in 

the acts and practices alleged herein, the continued activities of Defendants will 

result in irreparable injury to the public for which there is no adequate remedy at 

law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Bureau and the Attorney General of Florida request that the 

Court: 

1. permanently enjoin Defendants to prevent future violations of the CFPA, TSR, 

FDUTPA, or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as defined by 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(14);   

2. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper; 

3. award restitution against Defendants in the amount of all unlawfully collected 

fees;  

4. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants;  

5. award civil money penalties against Defendants; and 

6. award costs and fees against Defendants and additional relief as the Court 

may determine to be just and proper. 
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Consumer Advisory: Student loan debt relief companies
may cost you thousands of dollars and drive you further into debt
BY ROHIT CHOPRA

Today we took action to put an end to two student loan debt relief scams that illegally tricked borrowers into paying upfront fees for
federal loan benefits. In a joint filing with Florida’s Attorney General, we shut down student loan debt relief company College Education
Services and, separately, we filed a lawsuit against Student Loan Processing.US for running illegal debt relief services. We allege that both
companies exploited vulnerable student loan borrowers, made false promises about their debt relief services, and charged illegal upfront
fees.

We are warning all student loan borrowers who have trouble managing their student debt to watch out for scams run by companies
promising “student debt relief.” These companies prey on distressed borrowers who run into trouble and struggle to figure out what comes
next. In some cases, borrowers do not think their student loan servicers can help them and seek help from a third party. Others are lured
in by aggressive marketing practices that target the most vulnerable student loan borrowers.

In many cases, these companies promise thousands of dollars in savings on your student debt by falsely claiming special expertise or a
relationship with the Department of Education, only to enroll you in a payment plan that’s available for free for all borrowers with federal
student loans — all at a cost of hundreds of dollars or more. In other cases, these companies fail to deliver on their promises, leaving you
with more debt and less time to avoid financial distress or default.

Last year, we warned you that you don’t have to pay someone to help with your student loan. You should also be aware of these warning
signs to help you avoid student loan debt relief scams and information on getting help if you are a victim of this scam.

Warning signs that a student loan debt relief company may be trying to rip you off:

Pressure to pay high upfront fees. It can be a sign of a scam when a debt relief company requires you to pay a fee upfront or tries to
make you sign a contract on the spot. These companies may even make you give your credit card number online or over the phone before
they explain how they’ll help you. Avoid companies that require payment before they actually do anything, especially if they try to get your
credit card number or bank account information. Not only is free assistance available through your student loan servicer, many times
taking payment for debt relief services before providing help is illegal.

Promises of immediate loan forgiveness or debt cancellation. Debt relief companies do not have the ability to negotiate with
your creditors for a “special deal” under these federal student loan programs. Payment levels under income driven payment plans are set
by federal law and, for most borrowers, loan forgiveness is only available through programs that require many years of qualifying
payments.

Demands that you sign a “third party authorization.” You should be wary if a company asks you to sign a “third party
authorization” or a “power of attorney.” These are written agreements giving them legal permission to talk directly to your student loan
servicer and make decisions on your behalf. In some cases, they may even step in and ask you to pay them directly, promising to pay your
servicer each month when your bill comes due.

Requests for your Federal Student Aid PIN. Be cautious about companies that ask for your Federal Student Aid PIN. Your PIN —
the unique ID issued by the U.S. Department of Education to allow access to information about your federal student loans — is the
equivalent of your signature on any documents related to your student loan. If you give that number away, you are giving a company the
power to perform actions on your student loan on your behalf. Honest companies will work with you to come up with a plan and will never
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use your PIN to access your student loan information.

How to get help

Submit a complaint online or call us at (855) 4112372 if you have been the victim of a student loan debt relief scam or if you are getting
runaround from your student loan servicer. You should also instruct your student loan servicer that they should only provide information
about your student loan directly to you.

If you have questions about repaying student loans, check out Repay Student Debt to find out how you can tackle your debt – even if
you’re in default. You can learn about your options, and what you might want to specifically ask for when speaking with the company
attempting to collect from you. Another great resource to visit is Ask CFPB for answers on many more of your student loan questions.

Even if you’ve fallen behind, you may have options

There are federal student loan repayment programs that can help remove the default status from your credit report. Be sure to learn about
what’s available through our tools before paying hefty fees for something that likely won’t live up to your expectations or that you can get
for free.

Rohit Chopra is the CFPB’s Student Loan Ombudsman. To learn more about our work for students and young Americans, visit
consumerfinance.gov/students.
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Consumer Advisory: 7 ways to keep medical debt in check
3 comments • 6 days ago

cachick777 — Most of the medical debt on my credit score is for bills
that I didn't know I had. I did not receive a single bill regarding some
medical procedure and then all of the sudden there's over $3000 …

Sunshine for college credit card agreements
1 comment • 2 days ago

Maxwell Love — The CFPB's report reveals that colleges are blatantly
disregarding the law by not publicly disclosing their marketing
agreements with credit card issuers. If colleges are …

Struggling private student loan borrowers are still searching
for help
11 comments • 2 months ago

Otmane El Rhazi — Most likely I recommend to be tough with them. I
would cut the payment for a month or two until I receive a late
payment letter. Then I will chase them for the payment but only if …

Here’s how medical debt hurts your credit report
1 comment • 6 days ago

Marie — I currently have 3 medical collections from Central Financial
Control on my credit reports. I have never received any type of
communication from this collection agency other than …
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Higher Ed, Not Debt  •  5 days ago

Great news! Our campaign manager, Maggie Thompson, released the following statement in response:

"We applaud the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s efforts to shut down these illegal debt relief companies, which are scams that
take advantage of struggling student loan borrowers.

"The existence of these companies underscores the need for reform of the student loan servicing system. Servicers should make it easier for
student loan borrowers to lower their monthly payments and enroll in programs like incomebased repayment or public service loan
forgiveness. The failure of student loan servicers to effectively communicate with borrowers has allowed these companies to flourish. In
addition to CFPB’s action, the Department of Education must do more to improve student loan servicing."

 △ ▽  

• Reply •

randall  •  a day ago

Shutting down these scammers is a good thing, for sure. Hopefully, the CFPB focus on student debt scammers does not invoke the law of
unintended consequences by preventing ethical entities from providing a valuable service. Student debt may be one of the biggest
hindrances to our economy. And the problem is not going to improve any time soon. Academia is an enormous economic machine.
Student loan service companies that scam consumers certainly make things worse. But there need to be responsible parties that can help
people that want help. Rohit Chopra reported that the CFPB has received thousands of complaints from borrowers describing the
difficulties they face with their student loan servicers. The Federal Reserve Bank of NY reported that student debt had become so large a
problem that a large percentage of student debt holders were no longer participating in our economy in the form of purchasing homes,
autos or major appliances. So, one arm of our government passes legislation to create Income Driven Repayment programs as a stimulus
to help student debt holders become more active in our economy while the responsibility of servicing the programs goes to an arm of our
government, the DOE, which made over $40 billion in student debt interest in 2013. $40 billion, by the way, is $10 billion more than
ExxonMobil, the most profitable company in the world in 2013, made in profits. Kind of like putting the fox in charge of the hen house.
Someone from the White House could write a letter to the Department of Education that goes something like this, "We have just enacted
legislation to create programs that will stimulate our economy but will cost your department billions of dollars. Please see to it that the
programs are serviced responsibly." Good luck with that. Warren Buffett has said, "If you want to know how someone is going to behave,
figure out how they are compensated."
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1 The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") alleges the following 

2 against Irvine Web Works, Inc. d/b/a Student Loan Processing. US and James 

3 Krause (collectively, "Defendants"): 

4 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5 1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

6 "brought under Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(l), presents 

7 a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency ofthe United 

8 States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

9 2. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants are located, reside, 

10 and do business in this district, and because a substantial part of the events or 

11 omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district. 28 U .S.C. § 1391 (b); 

12 12 u.s.c. § 5564(f). 

13 INTRODUCTION 

14 3. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial 

15 Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565, and the 

16 Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 

17 61 02( c )(2) , 61 05( d), and its implementing regulation, the Telemarketing Sales 

18 Rule ("TSR"), 16 C.F.R. part 310, based on misrepresentations connected to the 

19 Defendants' marketing and sale of student loan debt relief services and the 

20 charging of advance fees. The Bureau seeks to obtain permanent injunctive relief, 

21 civil money penalties, and other relief as set forth below. 

22 PLAINTIFF 

23 4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

24 with regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products and 

25 services under Federal consumer financial laws, including the CFPA and the TSR. 

26 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(14), 5491(a), 5531(a); 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d). The Bureau has 

27 

28 2 
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1 independent litigating authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws. 12 

2 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a), (b); I5 U.S.C. § 6I05(d). 

3 

4 5. 

DEFENDANTS 

Defendant Irvine Web Works, Inc. d/b/a Student Loan Processing. US 

5 ("Student Loan Processing. US") is a California corporation headquartered at 42 

6 South Peak Drive in Laguna Nigel, California. Student Loan Processing. US 

7 maintains an office in Lake Forest, California and Dallas, Texas. Founded in May 

8 20 II, Student Loan Processing. US provides, or purports to provide, advice and 

9 assistance to student loan borrowers applying for U.S. Department of Education 

1 0 federal student loan repayment programs, including Direct Consolidation Loans 

1I and the Income-Based Repayment Plan. These services are "financial advisory 

12 services" to assist borrowers with student loan debt management, which are 

13 consumer financial services under the CFPA. I2 U.S.C. § 548I(15)(A)(viii); 

I4 5481(5). Student Loan Processing. US is therefore a "covered person" under the 

I5 CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

I6 6. Defendant James Krause is the founder, president, and sole owner of 

17 Student Loan Processing. US. Krause has substantial managerial responsibility for 

I8 and daily control over the operations of Student Loan Processing. US, including 

19 sales, onboarding, training, communications, compliance, as well as Student Loan 

20 Processing. US's policies and procedures. Krause is therefore a "related person" 

21 under the CFPA, and is a "covered person" under the CFPA. I2 U.S.C. § 

22 5481 (25)(C)(i). 

23 

24 

25 7. 

FACTS 

U.S. Department of Education Repayment Programs 

The U.S. Department of Education offers numerous repayment plans 

26 to eligible borrowers with federal student loans, which are designed to help 

27 borrowers manage their student loan debt and make repayment of student loans 

28 3 
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1 more affordable. These plans include its Graduated Repayment Plan, Income-

2 Based Repayment Plan, and Pay As You Earn Repayment Plan. The amount the 

3 borrower will pay and the repayment term can vary depending on the repayment 

4 plan in which the borrower enrolls. 

5 8. To access certain repayment plans, some borrowers will first combine 

6 their multiple eligible federal student loans into a single Direct Consolidation 

7 Loan. Eligible borrowers can apply electronically for a Direct Consolidation Loan 

8 through the U.S. Department of Education's website at www.StudentLoans.gov or 

9 by mailing a completed paper application to the U.S. Department of Education. 

10 9. The U.S. Department of Education does not charge borrowers any fee 

11 to apply for a Direct Consolidation Loan or any U.S. Department of Education 

12 repayment plan or program. 

13 Defendants' Student Loan Debt Relief Services 

14 10. Since at least July 2011 through the present (the "relevant time 

15 period"), Defendants have marketed and advertised for-cost services to advise and 

16 assist student loan borrowers applying for U.S. Department of Education federal 

1 7 student loan repayment programs, including the Income-Based Repayment 

18 Program, and Direct Consolidation Loans. 

19 11. Claiming to be a "consultation service" that works with the U.S. 

20 Department of Education, Defendants claimed to offer borrowers an "affordable 

21 way to make [their] Federal Student Loan debt more flexible and easy to manage." 

22 Defendants also claimed to ''work directly with your lenders, consolidate your 

23 Federal Student Loan with the Department of Education, and help you obtain one 

24 LOW monthly payment to save you thousands of dollars." 

25 12. In exchange for an upfront enrollment fee and recurring monthly fee, 

26 Student Loan Processing. US, under the direction and control of Krause, purported 

27 to perform a variety of student loan debt relief services for its customers. Those 

28 4 
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1 services included helping borrowers identify the various U.S. Department of 

2 Education repayment plans for which the borrowers qualify, helping borrowers 

3 prepare and complete their application for a Direct Consolidation Loan, assisting 

4 borrowers to "correct" any errors made by the U.S. Department of Education in 

5 processing the borrower's enrollment in a repayment plan, and complying with 

6 annual recertification programs and/or helping borrowers identify more favorable 

7 repayment programs in the event that the borrower's circumstances have changed, 

8 thereby making the borrower eligible for other repayment programs. 

9 13. The enrollment fee charged by Defendants for their services amounted 

10 to the greater of I% of the borrower's federal student loan balance or $250. 

11 14. Defendants also charged consumers a recurring monthly fee. The 

12 "Monthly Maintenance Fee" was generally $39 per month and was charged for the 

13 entire repayment term of the borrower's federal student loan. The $39 fee, 

14 however, was predicated on the borrower paying said fee via automatic debit. If the 

15 consumer refused to provide their financial institution account information for 

16 automatic debits, Defendants charged the customer an additional $15 per month, 

17 making the recurring monthly fee $54 per month. 

18 The Marketing and Advertising of Defendants' Debt Relief Services 

19 15. Defendants operated at least three active URLs to advertise their 

20 student loan debt relief services, all of which contain either an ".us" or ".org" 

21 suffix: www.studentloanprocessing.us, www.slpus.org, and 

22 www.studentloanprocessing.org. Defendants also operated several social media 

23 websites including pages and accounts on Facebook, Linkedln, Tumblr, and 

24 Twitter. 

25 16. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendants primarily relied on a 

26 direct mailer and outbound telemarketing to attract consumers. Some consumers 

27 learned about Student Loan Processing. US through website submissions or 

28 5 
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1 customer referrals, although it is estimated that less than 10% of customers learned 

2 about Defendants through those two channels. 

3 17. Aside from a few non-material changes, the outside of the bi-fold 

4 direct mailer used by the Defendants during the relevant period generally appeared 

5 as displayed below, and included the words "Official Business" in bold font, a 

6 citation to 18 U.S.C. §§ 1702 et seq., a bald-eagle stamp, and the logo of Student 

7 Loan Processing. US (which changed during the relevant time period, as discussed 

8 infra). 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

OFFICIAL BUSINESS 
SniDENT LOAN PROCESSING. US 
25381 Conunercco.trc, Suite 250 
Lalce Forest, CA 92630 

I I 
25381 Commercentre Dr Ste 250 
Lake Forest, CA 92630-8882 

'llhullll•hnlllllllll•l•!l•m•!llll!lllallllll"''l'l•llllol 

00 flue or 5 Yn.llllpriMIUIICDt . 
>OCh c..- ocy pctS<G w11o im<rfi!rH wid> « "'*"- deli..ay of t!Us lellt! ocO!IJctwise vi<Jia!co: •. 
unio:d s-. Code 1m ct""' 

21 18. Inside the Defendants' mailer, displayed in Paragraph 17 above, 

22 language stated that Student Loan Processing.US ''work[ s] with the Department of 

23 Education to consolidate all your existing Federally Insured Student Loans." The 

24 mailer also purported to highlight "new" federal student loan benefits, which 

25 include lower monthly payments, lower interest rates, forgiveness programs, and 

26 increased monthly cash flow. Touting the "easy qualification process," the direct 

27 mailer used by Defendants during the relevant time period directed the borrower to 

28 6 
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1 call Defendants' toll-free number before their next payment due date to "receive 

2 [their] federal benefits." 

3 Defendants' Enrollment Process and Advance Fee Collection 

4 19. Consumers who contacted Defendants in response to an outbound 

5 call, the Defendants' mailer, or any other recruitment channel spoke with a self-

6 proclaimed "Student Loan Specialist" for enrollment with Student Loan 

7 Processing.US. 

8 20. The enrollment calls typically began with staff at Student Loan 

9 Processing. US telling the consumer that they were "prequalified" for certain 

10 federal student loan repayment and forgiveness programs. During the call, the 

11 "specialists" directed the consumer to divulge their confidential 4-digit PIN 

12 information for the U.S. Department of Education's National Student Loan Data 

13 System, collected information about the borrower's federal student loan balances 

14 and annual income, and then quoted the new expected federal student loan monthly 

15 payment amount for borrowers who enroll. 

16 21. Defendants then gathered banking information from the borrower for 

17 payment of the enrollment fee, which was generally collected from the consumer's 

18 debit/credit card or bank account during the initial enrollment call. If a consumer 

19 needed to schedule payment of the enrollment fee or to break the enrollment fee 

20 into more than one payment, Defendants' employees were directed to ask the 

21 consumer about the frequency with which they were paid, as well as their next 

22 expected payday, in order to schedule the enrollment fee payment around that date. 

23 22. During the relevant time period, Defendants requested and received 

24 millions of dollars in enrollment fees from consumers seeking student loan debt 

25 relief services. 

26 23. Full payment of the enrollment fee was required before Defendants 

27 mailed the application for the Direct Consolidation Loan to the consumer, and as a 

28 7 
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1 result, well before the U.S. Department of Education modified or altered any of the 

2 repayment terms of the consumer's federal student loans. 

3 24. All the terms of the contractual relationship between Defendants and 

4 the consumers, including payment terms, were set forth in a written agreement 

5 between the two parties, which was generally transmitted to the consumer via 

6 email towards the end of the enrollment call. Consumers were required to execute 

7 the agreement with the Defendants to complete enrollment with Student Loan 

8 Processing.US. The agreement remains in effect until the consumer's federal 

9 student loans are "paid in full" or "discharged due to [the consumer] qualifying for 

10 a federal discharge." 

11 25. Enrollment for any and all of the services offered by Student Loan 

12 Processing. US was done over the phone, and there was no option for face-to-face 

13 enrollment. 

14 Defendants' Misrepresentations about an Affiliation with the U.S. 

15 Department of Education 

16 26. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendants misrepresented to 

17 consumers, directly or by implication, that they were agents of the U.S. 

18 Department of Education or were affiliated with that agency in some capacity. 

19 27. In truth and in fact, Defendants are not currently, nor have they ever 

20 been, affiliated with, endorsed by, or sponsored by the U.S. Department of 

21 Education. 

22 28. As described above in Paragraphs 17 and 18, throughout the relevant 

23 time period, Defendants used a hi-fold direct mailer to solicit customers, which 

24 included the words "Official Business" in bold font, a citation to 18 U.S.C. §§ 

25 1702 et seq., a bald-eagle stamp, and the logo of Student Loan Processing. US on 

26 the mailer's exterior. Inside the mailer, language stated that Student Loan 

27 Processing.US "work[s] with the Department of Education to consolidate all your 

28 8 
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1 existing Federally Insured Student Loans" without any disclaimer that Defendants 

2 had no affiliation with the U.S. Department of Education. 

3 29. Until at least late August 2012, Defendants' website, accessible at 

4 www.studentloanprocessing.us, stated that Student Loan Processing.US "work[ed] 

5 together with the Department of Education!" with no disclaimer that Defendants 

6 were not, nor ever were, affiliated with the U.S. Department of Education. 

7 30. On August 27, 2012, the U.S. Department of Education sent 

8 Defendants a letter concerning Defendants' use of a misleading seal and certain 

9 misrepresentations on Defendants' website. In that letter, the U.S. Department of 

1 0 Education requested that Defendants make changes to their website and insisted 

11 that a disclaimer be placed on the homepage. 

12 31. From approximately September 2012 until sometime in 2014, 

13 Defendants included disclaimer language in small font at the bottom of their 

14 website homepage stating that Student Loan Processing. US was not affiliated with 

15 the U.S. Department of Education. The language, however, was not conspicuous. 

16 In 2014, the disclaimer language was moved to the "Frequently Asked Questions" 

17 section of the website. 

18 32. Until approximately September 2012, the logo for Student Loan 

19 Processing.US (image on the left below) shared several similarities with the U.S. 

20 Department of Education seal (image on the right below), including the outer 

21 spherical gold border, inner spherical gold border, tree "growing" from a base, and 

22 medium blue shading between the borders with white text. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 9 
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1 33. The logo for Student Loan Processing.US was used on all printed 

2 materials distributed to consumers by the Defendants, including the direct mailer 

3 described in Paragraph 17 above, as well as on the website and all social media 

4 sites for Student Loan Procesing.US. 

5 34. In or around September 2012, Defendants modified the logo to appear 

6 as displayed below. While the tree has been removed and replaced by a gold shield 

7 and two American flags, the new seal still shares similarities with the U.S. 

8 Department of Education seal, including the medium blue shading between the 

9 borders with the white text, as well as the inner and outer spherical gold border, 

10 and continues to resemble a government seal. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 35. As noted above in Paragraph 20, during the enrollment call, 

18 Defendants required consumers to provide their confidential 4-digit PIN for the 

19 U.S. Department of Education's National Student Loan Data System ("NSLDS"). 

20 In requesting this information, employees stated that they "already [had] access to 

21 the DOE's National Student Loan Database" but noted that they needed to "verify 

22 [the consumer's] information and answer to the challenge question." Employees 

23 then used the borrower's 4-digit PIN to log into NSLDS as if they were the 

24 borrower. If consumers could not recall their 4-digit PIN, the employees requested 

25 a duplicate PIN on the borrower's behalf. 

26 36. In truth and in fact, the NSLDS "access" that Defendants represented 

27 to "already have" was no more than public access to the NSLDS Student Access 

28 10 
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1 website, which anyone, including the borrower, could have accessed at 

2 www.nslds.ed.gov. 

3 Defendants' Misrepresentations Related to the Cost of 

4 Their Student Debt Relief Services 

5 37. Throughout the relevant time period, Defendants also misled 

6 consumers about the price of their services, including the fact that the quoted price 

7 included a recurring monthly maintenance fee charged by Defendants. 

8 38. During the enrollment call, Defendants directed their student loan 

9 "specialists" to include the recurring monthly fee in the new monthly payment 

10 amount that the consumer would be expected to pay if she enrolled with Student 

11 Loan Processing. US and were put in a U.S. Department of Education repayment 

12 program. In discussing the consumer's eligibility for a U.S. Department of 

13 Education repayment program, Defendants would advise borrowers that the 

14 repayment program that could save them the most money over the life of a loan 

15 was a program where "the monthly payment" was only "$_ per month for _ 

16 months." The quoted figure included the $39 monthly payment amount. 

17 39. Later in the enrollment call, Defendants separately disclosed the 

18 enrollment fee and the recurring monthly fee, but downplayed those fees by stating 

19 that "all ofthe saving and the payments we discussed already have all of the fees 

20 for our services included and there are no additional costs whatsoever." Defendants 

21 also explained that the recurring monthly fee was required because Defendants 

22 have to "re-certify [the consumer'sj eligibility for the [repayment] program every 

23 twelve months," even though such recertification is not required for every 

24 repayment program. 

25 40. Defendants failed, during the enrollment call, to clearly and expressly 

26 explain that the recurring monthly maintenance fee would be charged for the 

27 
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1 repayment term of the borrower's federal student loans, and made no statements 

2 about the duration of the recurring fee. 

3 41. For at least some consumers whose financial circumstances could 

4 potentially qualify them for a $0 monthly payment, Defendants regularly advised 

5 those consumers that Student Loan Processing. US could get that consumer's 

6 monthly payment amount "down to $39," without separately explaining that the 

7 entire $39 payment would be paid to Defendants as a monthly fee, rather than 

8 payment toward the consumer's federal student loans. These types of statements, 

9 as well as those described in the preceding paragraphs, were made before a 

10 consumer consented to payment, as well as during the actual enrollment (when 

11 payment was made). 

12 COUNT I 

13 (Abusive Telemarketing Act or Practice Related to Advance Fees) 

14 42. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 41 are incorporated here by 

15 reference. 

16 43. It is an abusive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the 

17 TSR for any seller or telemarketer to request or receive payment of any fee or 

18 consideration for any debt relief service until and unless: 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

a. The seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a 

settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other such valid 

contractual agreement executed by the customer; 

b. The customer has made at least one payment pursuant to that 

settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other valid 

contractual agreement between the customer and the creditor or debt 

collector; and 

12 
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1 c. To the extent that debts enrolled in a service are renegotiated, settled, 

2 reduced, or otherwise altered individually, the fee or consideration 

3 either (1) bears the same proportional relationship to the total fee for 

4 renegotiating, settling, reducing, or altering the terms of the entire 

5 debt balance as the individual debt amount bears to the entire debt 

6 amount; or (2) is a percentage of the amount saved as a result of the 

7 renegotiation, settlement, reduction, or alteration. 16 C.F .R. § 

8 310.4(a)(5)(i). 

9 44. Defendants are a "sellers" or "telemarketers" engaged in the 

10 "telemarketing" of"debt relief services" as defined by the TSR. 16 C.F.R. §§ 

11 310.2(m), (aa), (cc), and (dd). 

12 45. In numerous instances during the relevant time period, in connection 

13 with telemarketing student loan debt relief services, Defendants have requested and 

14 received payment of a fee or consideration for a debt relief service before ( 1) it has 

15 renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt 

16 pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt management plan, or otherwise such valid 

17 contractual agreement executed by the customer; and (2) the customer made at 

18 least one payment pursuant to that agreement. 

19 46. Therefore, Defendants have engaged in abusive telemarketing acts or 

20 practices in violation ofthe TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i). 

21 COUNT II 

22 (Deceptive Telemarketing Act or Practice Related to Government Affiliation) 

23 4 7. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 41 are incorporated here by 

24 reference. 

25 48. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the 

26 TSR for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, directly or by implication, in 

27 the sale of good or services, a seller's or telemarketer's affiliation with, or 

28 13 
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1 endorsement or sponsorship by, any person or government entity. 16 C.F.R. § 

2 310.3(a)(2)(vii). 

3 49. As described above, in numerous instances during the relevant time 

4 period, in the course of telemarketing student loan debt relief services, Defendants 

5 made misrepresentations, directly or by implication, that created the net impression 

6 that Defendants were affiliated with, endorsed by, or sponsored by the U.S. 

7 Department of Education, a federal government entity. 

8 50. Therefore, Defendants have engaged in deceptive telemarketing acts 

9 or practices in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii). 

10 COUNTUI 

11 (Deceptive Telemarketing Act or Practice Related to Cost) 

12 51. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 41 are incorporated here by 

13 reference. 

14 52. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the 

15 TSR for any seller or telemarketer, before a customer consents to pay for goods or 

16 services offered, to fail to disclose truthfully, in a clear and conspicuous manner, 

17 the total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of, any good or services 

18 that are the subject of the sales offer. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(l)(i). 

19 53. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the 

20 TSR for any seller or telemarketer, to misrepresent, directly or by implication, in 

21 the sale of good or services the total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the 

22 quantity of, any goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer. 16 C.F.R. §§ 

23 31 0.3(a)(2)(i). 

24 54. As described above, in numerous instances during the relevant time 

25 period, in the course of telemarketing student loan debt relief services and before 

26 the consumer consented to pay, Defendants failed to disclose truthfully, in a clear 

27 
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1 and conspicuous manner, the total costs to purchase, receive, or use the 

2 Defendants' goods or services. 

3 55. As described above, in numerous instances during the relevant time 

4 period, in the course of telemarketing student loan debt relief services, Defendants 

5 misrepresented, directly or by implication, the total costs to purchase, receive, or 

6 use Defendants' good or services. 

7 56. Therefore, Defendants have engaged in deceptive telemarketing acts 

8 or practices in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.3(a)(l)(i) and 310.3(a)(2)(i). 

9 COUNTIV 

10 (Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to Government Affiliation) 

11 57. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 41 are incorporated here by 

12 reference. 

13 58. The CFPA prohibits any covered person from engaging in deceptive 

14 acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

15 59. As described above, in numerous instances during the relevant time 

16 period, in connection with the offering or provision of student loan debt relief 

17 services, Defendants made representations, expressly or by implication, that 

18 created the net impression that Defendants were affiliated with the U.S. 

19 Department of Education. 

20 60. In truth and in fact, Defendants are not, and never have been, 

21 affiliated with U.S. Department of Education or any other state or federal 

22 government agency. This misrepresentation of government affiliation is material 

23 and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. 

24 61 . Therefore, Defendants' misrepresentations as set forth herein 

25 constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1 036(a)(1) 

26 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(l). 

27 
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1 

2 

COUNTY 

(Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to Cost) 

3 62. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 41 are incorporated here by 

4 reference. 

5 63 . The CFP A prohibits any covered person from engaging in deceptive 

6 acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(l)(B). 

7 64. As described above, in numerous instances during the relevant time 

8 period, in connection with the offering or provision of student loan debt relief 

9 services, Defendants failed to clearly disclose and misrepresented the total cost of 

1 0 Defendants' student loan debt relief services. This misrepresentation related to the 

11 cost of Defendants' services is material and likely to mislead a reasonable 

12 consumer. 

13 65. Therefore, Defendants' misrepresentations as set forth herein 

14 constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1 036(a)(l) 

15 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

16 THE COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

17 66. The CFP A empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

18 equitable relief with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, 

19 including, without limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or 

20 reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

21 compensation for unjust enrichment, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

22 5565. 

23 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

24 WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

25 a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future 

26 violations of the TSR and the CFP A; 

27 

28 16 
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1 b. Order Defendants to pay restitution to consumers harmed by 

2 their unlawful conduct; 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

c. 

d. 

Order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

Impose civil money penalties against Defendants; 

e. Order the rescission or reformation of contracts where 

necessary to redress injury to consumers; 

f. Order Defendants to pay the Bureau' s costs incurred in 

8 connection with proceeding with this action; and 

9 g. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just 

1 0 and proper. 

11 

12 Dated: December 11, 2014 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Respectfully submitted, 

Anthony Alexis 
Acting Enforcement Director 
Ori Lev 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
Frank Kulbaski 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 
Rina Tucker Harris 
Enforcement Attorney 

Is/ Brandis Anderson 
Brandis C. Anderson, CA Bar # 261325 
(Email: Brandis.Anderson@cfpb.gov) 
Enforcement Attorney 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone:(202)435-7548 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

17 
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Consumer Advisory: Student loan debt relief companies
may cost you thousands of dollars and drive you further into debt
BY ROHIT CHOPRA

Today we took action to put an end to two student loan debt relief scams that illegally tricked borrowers into paying upfront fees for
federal loan benefits. In a joint filing with Florida’s Attorney General, we shut down student loan debt relief company College Education
Services and, separately, we filed a lawsuit against Student Loan Processing.US for running illegal debt relief services. We allege that both
companies exploited vulnerable student loan borrowers, made false promises about their debt relief services, and charged illegal upfront
fees.

We are warning all student loan borrowers who have trouble managing their student debt to watch out for scams run by companies
promising “student debt relief.” These companies prey on distressed borrowers who run into trouble and struggle to figure out what comes
next. In some cases, borrowers do not think their student loan servicers can help them and seek help from a third party. Others are lured
in by aggressive marketing practices that target the most vulnerable student loan borrowers.

In many cases, these companies promise thousands of dollars in savings on your student debt by falsely claiming special expertise or a
relationship with the Department of Education, only to enroll you in a payment plan that’s available for free for all borrowers with federal
student loans — all at a cost of hundreds of dollars or more. In other cases, these companies fail to deliver on their promises, leaving you
with more debt and less time to avoid financial distress or default.

Last year, we warned you that you don’t have to pay someone to help with your student loan. You should also be aware of these warning
signs to help you avoid student loan debt relief scams and information on getting help if you are a victim of this scam.

Warning signs that a student loan debt relief company may be trying to rip you off:

Pressure to pay high upfront fees. It can be a sign of a scam when a debt relief company requires you to pay a fee upfront or tries to
make you sign a contract on the spot. These companies may even make you give your credit card number online or over the phone before
they explain how they’ll help you. Avoid companies that require payment before they actually do anything, especially if they try to get your
credit card number or bank account information. Not only is free assistance available through your student loan servicer, many times
taking payment for debt relief services before providing help is illegal.

Promises of immediate loan forgiveness or debt cancellation. Debt relief companies do not have the ability to negotiate with
your creditors for a “special deal” under these federal student loan programs. Payment levels under income driven payment plans are set
by federal law and, for most borrowers, loan forgiveness is only available through programs that require many years of qualifying
payments.

Demands that you sign a “third party authorization.” You should be wary if a company asks you to sign a “third party
authorization” or a “power of attorney.” These are written agreements giving them legal permission to talk directly to your student loan
servicer and make decisions on your behalf. In some cases, they may even step in and ask you to pay them directly, promising to pay your
servicer each month when your bill comes due.

Requests for your Federal Student Aid PIN. Be cautious about companies that ask for your Federal Student Aid PIN. Your PIN —
the unique ID issued by the U.S. Department of Education to allow access to information about your federal student loans — is the
equivalent of your signature on any documents related to your student loan. If you give that number away, you are giving a company the
power to perform actions on your student loan on your behalf. Honest companies will work with you to come up with a plan and will never
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use your PIN to access your student loan information.

How to get help

Submit a complaint online or call us at (855) 4112372 if you have been the victim of a student loan debt relief scam or if you are getting
runaround from your student loan servicer. You should also instruct your student loan servicer that they should only provide information
about your student loan directly to you.

If you have questions about repaying student loans, check out Repay Student Debt to find out how you can tackle your debt – even if
you’re in default. You can learn about your options, and what you might want to specifically ask for when speaking with the company
attempting to collect from you. Another great resource to visit is Ask CFPB for answers on many more of your student loan questions.

Even if you’ve fallen behind, you may have options

There are federal student loan repayment programs that can help remove the default status from your credit report. Be sure to learn about
what’s available through our tools before paying hefty fees for something that likely won’t live up to your expectations or that you can get
for free.

Rohit Chopra is the CFPB’s Student Loan Ombudsman. To learn more about our work for students and young Americans, visit
consumerfinance.gov/students.
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Consumer Advisory: 7 ways to keep medical debt in check
3 comments • 6 days ago

cachick777 — Most of the medical debt on my credit score is for bills
that I didn't know I had. I did not receive a single bill regarding some
medical procedure and then all of the sudden there's over $3000 …

Sunshine for college credit card agreements
1 comment • 2 days ago

Maxwell Love — The CFPB's report reveals that colleges are blatantly
disregarding the law by not publicly disclosing their marketing
agreements with credit card issuers. If colleges are …

Struggling private student loan borrowers are still searching
for help
11 comments • 2 months ago

Otmane El Rhazi — Most likely I recommend to be tough with them. I
would cut the payment for a month or two until I receive a late
payment letter. Then I will chase them for the payment but only if …

Here’s how medical debt hurts your credit report
1 comment • 6 days ago

Marie — I currently have 3 medical collections from Central Financial
Control on my credit reports. I have never received any type of
communication from this collection agency other than …
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2 Comments Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  Login

Sort by Oldest Share ⤤

Join the discussion…

• Reply •

Higher Ed, Not Debt  •  5 days ago

Great news! Our campaign manager, Maggie Thompson, released the following statement in response:

"We applaud the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s efforts to shut down these illegal debt relief companies, which are scams that
take advantage of struggling student loan borrowers.

"The existence of these companies underscores the need for reform of the student loan servicing system. Servicers should make it easier for
student loan borrowers to lower their monthly payments and enroll in programs like incomebased repayment or public service loan
forgiveness. The failure of student loan servicers to effectively communicate with borrowers has allowed these companies to flourish. In
addition to CFPB’s action, the Department of Education must do more to improve student loan servicing."

 △ ▽  

• Reply •

randall  •  a day ago

Shutting down these scammers is a good thing, for sure. Hopefully, the CFPB focus on student debt scammers does not invoke the law of
unintended consequences by preventing ethical entities from providing a valuable service. Student debt may be one of the biggest
hindrances to our economy. And the problem is not going to improve any time soon. Academia is an enormous economic machine.
Student loan service companies that scam consumers certainly make things worse. But there need to be responsible parties that can help
people that want help. Rohit Chopra reported that the CFPB has received thousands of complaints from borrowers describing the
difficulties they face with their student loan servicers. The Federal Reserve Bank of NY reported that student debt had become so large a
problem that a large percentage of student debt holders were no longer participating in our economy in the form of purchasing homes,
autos or major appliances. So, one arm of our government passes legislation to create Income Driven Repayment programs as a stimulus
to help student debt holders become more active in our economy while the responsibility of servicing the programs goes to an arm of our
government, the DOE, which made over $40 billion in student debt interest in 2013. $40 billion, by the way, is $10 billion more than
ExxonMobil, the most profitable company in the world in 2013, made in profits. Kind of like putting the fox in charge of the hen house.
Someone from the White House could write a letter to the Department of Education that goes something like this, "We have just enacted
legislation to create programs that will stimulate our economy but will cost your department billions of dollars. Please see to it that the
programs are serviced responsibly." Good luck with that. Warren Buffett has said, "If you want to know how someone is going to behave,
figure out how they are compensated."

  1△ ▽  
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The CFPB blog aims to facilitate conversations about our work. We want your comments to drive this conversation. Please be courteous, constructive, and on
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CFPB Takes Action Against 
Servicemember Auto Lender for 
Aggressive Debt Collection Tactics
Auto Loan Company Misled Servicemembers About Consequences of 
Nonpayment

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
sued an auto loan company, Security National Automotive Acceptance Company, for 
aggressive debt collection tactics against servicemembers. In a complaint filed in 
federal court, the CFPB alleges that the company used a combination of illegal threats 
and deceptive claims in order to collect debts. The CFPB is seeking compensation for 
harmed consumers, a civil penalty, and an order prohibiting the company from 
committing future violations.

“Security National Automotive Acceptance Company took advantage of military rules to 
put enormous pressures on servicemembers to pay their debts,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “For all the security they provide us, servicemembers should not have 
their financial and career security threatened by false information from an auto loan 
company.”

Security National Automotive Acceptance Company, LLC (SNAAC) is an Ohio-based 
auto finance company that operates in more than two dozen states and specializes in 
lending to servicemembers. It lends money primarily to active-duty and former military 
to buy used motor vehicles. 

The CFPB alleges that the company violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibitions against unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and 
practices by using aggressive collection tactics that took advantage of servicemembers’ 
special obligations to remain current on debts. Both active-duty and former 
servicemembers could encounter trouble with the company if they missed or were late 
on payments. Once consumers defaulted, they became subject to repeated threats to 
contact their chain of command. In many other instances, the company exaggerated the 
consequences of not paying. Thousands of people were victims of the company’s 
aggressive tactics. Specifically, the CFPB alleges that the company has:

• Exaggerated potential disciplinary action that servicemembers would 
face: The CFPB believes that the company routinely exaggerated the potential 
impacts on servicemembers’ careers of remaining delinquent. The company told 
customers that their failure to pay could result in action under the Uniform Code 
of Military Justice, as well as a number of other adverse career consequences, 
including demotion, loss of promotion, discharge, denial of re-enlistment, loss of 
security clearance, or reassignment. In fact, these consequences were extremely 
unlikely.

• Contacted and threatened to contact commanding officers to pressure 
servicemembers into repayment: The company buried a provision within the 
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fine print of contracts saying that it could contact commanding officers about 
servicemembers’ debts. The company would repeatedly contact commanding 
officers to disclose the debts in an effort to force payment, and suggest that the 
servicemembers were in violation of military law and other regulations. The CFPB 
alleges that many consumers were unaware of the provision, and those who were 
aware of it did not understand the pressure that would be brought to bear on 
them because of it. The company’s tactics, the CFPB alleges, therefore took 
advantage of the servicemembers’ inability to protect their interests in their 
transactions with the company and was unfair.

• Falsely threatened to garnish servicemembers’ wages: The company 
implied to consumers that it could immediately commence an involuntary 
allotment or wage garnishment. But such consequences could not or would not 
occur because, through the military pay system, involuntary allotments are only 
processed once a judgment by a court is obtained. The company would threaten to 
pursue an involuntary allotment before they had even determined whether the 
servicemember would be sued.

• Misled servicemembers about imminent legal action: In many instances, 
the company threatened to take legal action against customers when, in fact, it 
had not determined whether to take such action. In fact, in numerous instances, 
the company did not intend to take such action at the time.

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the alleged unlawful practices of the 
company. The Bureau has also requested that the court impose penalties on the 
company for its conduct and require that compensation be paid to consumers who have 
been harmed.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the company has actually violated 
the law.

A copy of the complaint file today can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201506_cfpb_complaint-security-national-
automotive-acceptance-company.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, 

 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., 
Affinion Group Inc., Affinion Group, 
LLC, Affinion Benefits Group, LLC, 
Trilegiant Corporation, Watchguard 
Registration Services, Inc., and 
Global Protection Solutions, LLC,  
 

Defendants. 
 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT  
AND ORDER

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) 

commenced this civil action against Defendants Affinion Group Holdings, 

Inc.,  Affinion Group, Inc., Affinion Group, LLC, Affinion Benefits Group, 

LLC, Trilegiant Corporation, Watchguard Registration Services, Inc., and 

Global Protection Solutions, LLC (collectively, “Defendants”) on July 1, 

2015, to obtain injunctive relief, redress, and civil money penalties.  

The Complaint alleges violations of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1). 
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Plaintiff and Defendants request that the Court enter this Stipulated 

Final Judgment and Order (“Order”).  

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject 

matter of this action. 

2. Plaintiff and Defendants agree to entry of this Order, without 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in 

this dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date 

this Order is entered. 

3. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegation in the 

Complaint, except as stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, 

Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction 

over Defendants and the subject matter of this action.  

4. Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise 

challenge or contest the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any 

claim they may have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, 

concerning the prosecution of this action to the date of this Order. Each 

party will bear its own costs and expenses, including without limitation 

attorneys’ fees. 

5. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.
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DEFINITIONS

6. The following definitions apply to this Order: 

a. “Affected Consumer” means a consumer that enrolled 

in a Specified Protection Product between July 2, 2010 and 

August 20, 2012. 

b. “Board” means each of the Defendants’ duly-elected and 

acting Boards of Directors. 

c. “Defendants” means Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., 

Affinion Group, Inc., Affinion Group, LLC, Affinion Benefits 

Group, LLC, Trilegiant Corporation, Watchguard Registration 

Services, Inc., and Global Protection Solutions, LLC and any 

successors or assigns. 

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is 

entered on the docket. 

e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director 

of the Office of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau, or his delegate. 

f. “Financial Institution” means an insured bank (as 

defined in section 3(h) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 

U.S.C. § 1813(h)); a commercial bank or trust company; a 

private banker; an agency or branch of a foreign bank in the 

United States; any credit union; a thrift institution; an issuer, 
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redeemer, or cashier of travelers’ checks, checks, money orders, 

or similar instruments; an operator of a credit card system; a 

loan or finance company; or any business or agency which 

engages in activity which is similar to, related or a substitution 

for activity in which any business described in this is authorized 

to engage.  

g. “Protection Product” means a consumer financial 

product or service, as defined by § 1002(5) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5), that includes at least one feature relating to 

credit reports, credit monitoring, credit scores, or identity fraud 

assistance, and was sold to the customers of a Financial 

Institution, and serviced directly or indirectly by the 

Defendants. 

h. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by 

or on behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement 

action by another governmental agency brought against 

Defendant based on substantially the same facts as described in 

this Order or the Complaint. 

i. “Relevant Period” means July 2, 2010 until August 20, 

2012. 

j. “Specified Protection Product” means a Protection 

Product identified in ¶ 17 of the Complaint.  
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ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that: 

I. Conduct Prohibition

7. Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, Defendants and its 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual notice 

of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate §§ 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 

8. Defendants must take reasonable measures to ensure that 

Defendants and service providers, affiliates, and other agents of Defendants 

do not violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, 

regarding the billing and administration of Protection Products.  

9. Defendants may not make, or allow to be made, any material 

deceptive representation, statement, or omission, expressly or by 

implication, in connection with the marketing, solicitation, or 

administration of any Protection Product or during membership retention 

for such products. 

10. Defendants must correct all alleged violations of law, as 

described in the Complaint and addressed in this Order and implement 

procedures to prevent their recurrence. 

11. If a customer enrolled in a Protection Product as of the Effective 

Date contacts Defendants and requests to cancel the customer’s 
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membership in a Protection Product, Defendants will immediately cancel 

the Protection Product and will not make any rebuttal or other attempt to 

persuade the customer to retain the Protection Product. 

12. Defendants will immediately begin efforts to comply with this 

Section, but detailed steps for fully addressing the restrictions and 

requirements of this Section, and specific timeframes and deadlines for 

implementing the restrictions and requirements of this Section will be set 

forth in the Compliance Plan described in § II. 

II. Compliance Plan 

13. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must submit 

to the Enforcement Director for review and determination of nonobjection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Defendants’ 

practices that relate to Protection Products complies with all applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Order (“Compliance 

Plan”). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this 

Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of 

the steps described above. 

14. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of nonobjection to the Compliance Plan or direct the 
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Defendants to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the Defendants 

to revise the Compliance Plan, the Defendants must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 45 days. 

15. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has 

made a determination of nonobjection to the Compliance Plan, the 

Defendants must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

III. Role of the Board

16. The Board must review all submissions required by this Order 

before the materials are submitted to the Bureau.  

17. Although this Order requires the Defendants to submit certain 

documents for the review or nonobjection by the Enforcement Director, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound 

management of Defendants and for ensuring that Defendants comply with 

Federal consumer financial law and this Order. 

18. In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of the Defendants, the Board 

must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Defendants 

to fully comply with the Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on 

the status of compliance obligations; and 
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c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to 

remedy any material noncompliance with any failures to 

comply with Board directives related to this Section. 

19. The Board may delegate all obligations in § III to a Compliance 

Committee comprised of at least three or more Board members, of which a 

majority may not be employees or officers of the Defendants or any of their 

subsidiaries. 

IV. Monetary Provisions

20. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must reserve 

$6,756,025 for the purpose of providing restitution to Affected Consumers. 

21. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must submit 

to the Enforcement Director for review and nonobjection a comprehensive 

written plan for providing redress consistent with this Order (“Redress 

Plan”). The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of nonobjection to the Redress Plan or direct the Defendants 

to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the Defendants to revise the 

Redress Plan, the Defendants must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. After receiving 

notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of 

nonobjection to the Redress Plan, the Defendants must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined 

in the Redress Plan. 
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22. Redress will be paid to Affected Consumers who were billed for 

the Specified Protection Products and did not receive credit monitoring or 

credit report retrieval services because of a lack of authorization or service 

delivery issues. Defendants will refund the full amount of fees paid by the 

Affected Consumer while the Affected Consumer did not receive full credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services. Redress will not be provided 

to Affected Consumers if it is not possible to determine the specific cause of 

any temporary nonreceipt of credit monitoring or credit report retrieval 

services. In addition, an Affected Consumer will be deemed to have received 

benefits if such benefits could be accessed online or web-enabled, or if 

partial monitoring was received and the Affected Consumer was notified of 

the partial receipt. 

23. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers is less than $6,756,025, within 90 days of 

the completion of the Redress Plan, Defendants must pay to the Bureau, by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers and $6,756,025. 

24. Within 90 days of completing the Redress Plan, Defendants will 

submit to the Enforcement Director a report with an assessment of its 

compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan (“Redress Report”). The 

Redress Report will: 
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a. Describe the methodology used to determine the 

population of Affected Consumers who received redress under 

this Order and as described in the Redress Plan; 

b. State the total number of Affected Consumers to whom 

Defendants provided redress; 

c. State the total amounts reimbursed to Affected 

Consumers; 

d. Describe the procedures used to issue and track redress 

payments to Affected Consumers; and 

e. Describe the work of independent consultants that 

Defendants used, if any, to assist and review its execution of the 

Redress Plan. 

25. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that further 

redress to consumers is wholly or partially impracticable, or if funds remain 

after additional redress is completed, those remaining funds will be 

deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. The Defendants will have 

no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or their representatives 

may take under this Paragraph. 

26. Defendants may not condition the payment of redress to any 

Affected Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 
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27. For any Affected Consumer that receives redress as a credit that 

decreases the existing balance or charged-off balance, Defendants must, as 

permitted by law, report the updated balance to each credit bureau to which 

Defendants had previously furnished balance information for the account or 

delete the account tradeline if the updated balance is zero dollars or less. 

V. Civil Money Penalties

28. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of 

the alleged violations of law described in the Complaint, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), a judgment for a civil money 

penalty is entered in favor of the Bureau and against Defendants, jointly and 

severally, in the amount of $1,900,000. 

29. Within 20 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the 

civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent 

in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

30. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited 

in the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

31. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of 

how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Defendants may not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or 

any other tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any 

civil money penalty paid under this Order. 

32. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in 

any Related Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that Defendants 

are entitled to, nor may Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action 

because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (“Penalty Offset”). If 

the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Defendants must, within 90 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset 

to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional 

civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money 

penalty imposed in this action. 

VI. Additional Monetary Provisions

33. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligation to make 

payment under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 
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default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and 

payable. 

34. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to 

the funds paid or to be paid under this Order to the fullest extent permitted 

by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Defendants. 

35. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants must furnish to the Bureau 

their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.  

36. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, 

or settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the 

Enforcement Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Defendants paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be 

paid.

VII. Reporting Requirements

37. Defendants must notify the Bureau of any development that 

may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but 

not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that 

would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or 

dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or 

practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 
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proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in Defendants’ name or 

address. Defendants must provide this notice at least 30 days before the 

development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 

38. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, 

physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the 

Bureau may use to communicate with Defendants; 

b. Identify all businesses for which any Defendant is the 

majority owner, or that a Defendant directly or indirectly 

controls, by all of their names, telephone numbers, and 

physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including 

the products and services offered, and the means of advertising, 

marketing, and sales. 

39. Defendants must report any change in the information required 

to be submitted under ¶ 37 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

40. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after 

the Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an 
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accurate written compliance progress report that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which 

Defendants have complied with this Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained 

under § VIII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VIII. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment

41. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a 

copy of this Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, or service providers who have responsibilities 

related to Protection Products. Defendants must deliver a copy of this Order 

or a summary of this Order, as to which the Enforcement Director has made 

a determination of nonobjection, to employees or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to Protection Products.

42. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a 

copy of this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in 

structure referred to in § VII, any future Board members and executive 

officers, as well as to any managers and service providers, who will have 

responsibilities related to Protection Products before they assume their 

responsibilities. Defendants must deliver a copy of this Order or a summary 

of this Order (as described in ¶ 41), to employees of any business entity 
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resulting from any change in structure referred to in § VII, or other agents 

and representatives of such an entity, who will have responsibilities related 

to Protection Products. 

43. Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement 

acknowledging receipt of a copy or the summary of this Order described in ¶ 

41, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of 

the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 90 days of delivery, from all 

persons receiving a copy or summary of this Order under this Section.  

IX. Recordkeeping

44. Defendants must maintain for at least 5 years from the Effective 

Date all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance 

with each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

45. Defendants must retain the documents related to the 

compliance report described in ¶ 44 for at least 5 years. 

46. Defendants must make the documents identified in ¶ 44 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

X. Notices

47. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants 

must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other 

documents relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re 

Affinion Group Holdings, Inc.  Matter No. 2012-0110-02” and send them to: 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20552 
 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov 

 
XI. Cooperation with the Bureau

48. Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine 

the identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each 

Affected Consumer. Defendants must provide such information in its or its 

agents’ possession or control within 30 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

49. Defendants must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter 

and in any investigation related to or associated with the conduct described 

in the Complaint. Defendants must provide to the Bureau truthful and 

complete information, evidence, and testimony. Defendants must appear for 

interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the 

Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 days written notice, or other 

reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process.  

XII. Compliance Monitoring

50. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Defendants must submit compliance reports or other requested 
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information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 

testimony; or produce documents.  

51. Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview 

any employee or other person affiliated with Defendants who have agreed to 

such an interview regarding the subject matter or compliance of this Order. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

52. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory 

process. 

XIII. Retention of Jurisdiction

53. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

54. Notwithstanding the provisions of ¶ 53, any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written 

agreement of the parties and without further Court approval. Additionally, 

details related to administration of §§ VII through XII of this Order may be 

modified by written agreement of the parties and without further Court 

approval. Any other modifications to this Order may be made only upon 

approval of the Court, upon motion by any party. 

XIV. Release

55. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all 

potential liability for law violations that the Bureau has or might have 
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asserted based on the practices alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices alleged in 

the Complaint in future enforcement actions against Defendant or its 

affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of 

a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. 

This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine 

and ensure compliance with this Order, or to seek penalties for any 

violations of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 
 
DATED this ___ day of ______________, 2015. 
 

 
 
______________________________ 
United States District Court Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau,

Plaintiff,

v.

Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., 
Affinion Group Inc., Affinion Group, 
LLC, Affinion Benefits Group, LLC, 
Trilegiant Corporation, Watchguard 
Registration Services, Inc., and 
Global Protection Solutions, LLC, 

Defendants.

Civil Action No. 

COMPLAINT

Complaint

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) brings this 

action against Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., Affinion Group, Inc., Affinion 

Group, LLC, Affinion Benefits Group, LLC, Trilegiant Corporation, 

Watchguard Registration Services, Inc., and Global Protection Solutions, 

LLC (collectively, “Defendants”) under §§ 1031, 1036, 1054, and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536, 5564, and 5565, to obtain permanent injunctive relief, restitution, 

disgorgement for unjust enrichment, civil money penalties, and other 

appropriate relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of the CFPA 

in connection with their marketing, sales, enrollment, billing, and 

administration of identity theft protection products sold to customers of 

partnering financial institutions.
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Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action 

because it is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a)(1); presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331; and is brought by 

an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.

2. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants do business 

in this district, and because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the claims occurred in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f).

Parties

3. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products and 

services under Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has 

independent litigating authority to enforce the CFPA and Federal consumer 

financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5564.

4. Trilegiant Corporation (“Trilegiant”) is a Delaware corporation 

and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Affinion Group, LLC. Trilegiant transacts 

business in this district and throughout the United States, and is based in 

Stamford, CT.

5. Watchguard Registration Services, Inc. (“Watchguard”) is a 

Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trilegiant. 

Watchguard transacts business in this district and throughout the United 

States, and is based in Stamford, CT.

6. Global Protection Solutions, LLC (“GPS”) is a Delaware 

corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trilegiant. GPS transacts 

business in this district and throughout the United States, and is based in 

Franklin, TN.
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7. Affinion Group Holdings, Inc. (“AGH”) is a Delaware 

corporation that transacts business in this district and throughout the 

United States, and is based in Stamford, CT. It is the parent company of 

Affinion Group Inc. and is under common control with all Defendants.

8. Affinion Group Inc. (“AGI”) is a Delaware corporation and a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of AGH. AGI transacts business in this district and 

throughout the United States, and is based in Stamford, CT.

9. Affinion Group, LLC (“AGL”) is a Delaware corporation and a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of AGI. AGL transacts business in this district and 

throughout the United States, and is based in Stamford, CT.

10. Affinion Benefits Group, LLC (“ABG”) is a Delaware 

corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL. ABG transacts business 

in this district and throughout the United States, and is based in Franklin, 

TN.

11. The identity theft protection products offered or provided to 

customers of partnering financial institutions by Defendants included the 

following benefits: credit information (credit reports and monitoring), and 

financial advisory services (Credit Information Hotline service). These 

benefits are “consumer financial products or services” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5); 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (viii), (ix). Defendants’ identity 

theft protection products were offered in connection with these benefits, as 

well as in connection with credit cards or other consumer financial products 

or services offered by partnering financial institutions.

12. Defendants are “covered persons” under the CFPA because they 

offered or provided consumer financial products or services. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6).

13. Defendants are “service providers” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 
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§ 5481(26)(A).

14. Defendants are “affiliates” of each other under the CFPA 

because they control, are controlled by, or are under common control with 

each other. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1). 

Facts

15. At all times material to this complaint, Defendants have offered 

or provided financial advisory services through their Credit Information 

Hotline service, and analyzed, maintained and provided consumer report 

information through credit report, credit score, and credit monitoring 

benefits. These benefits were offered with other identity theft protection 

benefits as product bundles (Protection Products). 

16. Defendants use codes called PDEF’s to identify specific 

Protection Product bundles.

17. The following PDEF’s are defined as “Specified Protection 

Products”: ITY54, ITY56, PGP120AF, ITY100, PGP151, PGPA60, ITY102, 

PGP144, ITYSC11, PGPA50, ITY73, PGPA85AF, PGPA86, ITY33, ITY72AF, 

ITY91AF, ITY70, PGP146AF, PGPA81AF, PGP113, PGP114, PGP124, 

PGP125, PGP137AF, PGP138, PGP139AF, PGP140, PGP168, PGP170, 

PGPA53AF, PGPA54AF, and PGPA94AF.

18. Trilegiant, ABG, GPS, and Watchguard (collectively, the 

“Affinion Subsidiaries”) advertised, sold and delivered Protection Products 

to consumers by establishing marketing and service agreements with 

financial institutions (“Marketing Partners”). 

19. The Affinion Subsidiaries sold Protection Products to the 

Marketing Partners’ customers in connection with the Marketing Partners’ 

offer or servicing of a credit card, checking account, or home mortgage loan, 

or as stand-alone products to the customers of those Marketing Partners. 
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20. Consumers enrolling in Protection Products were billed a 

monthly or annual fee for the cost of their membership until they contacted 

Defendants to cancel. 

21. Consumers generally paid between $6.95 and $15.99 per month 

(or an equivalent annualized amount) for Affinion’s Protection Products, 

which typically were billed directly to the consumer’s credit card account or 

deposit account.

22. The Affinion Subsidiaries provided material services to 

Marketing Partners in connection with the offering or provision of 

Protection Products by those financial institutions, including by 

participating in the design, operation, administration, or maintenance of the 

Protection Products.

23. AGH, AGI, and AGL provided material services to the Affinion 

Subsidiaries in connection with the offering or provision of Protection 

Products, including by participating in the design, operation, 

administration, or maintenance of the Protection Products.

24. AGH and AGI shared the same board of directors, which 

provided oversight for the Affinion Subsidiaries’ Protection Product 

operations.

25. AGL provided corporate client marketing services on behalf of 

the Affinion Subsidiaries. 

26. Defendants conducted the business practices described in this 

complaint through an interrelated network of companies. 

27. Defendants share common control, ownership, officers, 

managers, office locations, marketing and advertising. 

Incoming Telephone Calls Requesting Cancellation

28. Since at least 2010, Defendants handled telephone calls from 
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consumers wishing to cancel their Protection Product membership.

29. Defendants evaluated their employees who handled incoming 

cancellation calls primarily on their ability to prevent consumers from 

cancelling the product membership. 

30. Defendants referred to calls in which their employees prevented

a consumer from cancelling as “saves.”

31. Defendants rewarded employees with positive evaluations and 

bonuses for maintaining a save percentage above a certain threshold.

32. Defendants’ employees who failed to maintain the minimum 

threshold were subject to discipline leading up to termination.

33. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of their Protection Product membership, Defendants claimed 

that product credit scores came “from” one or three of the major credit 

reporting agencies, when those scores were not developed by any of the 

major credit reporting agencies.

34. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of their Protection Product membership, Defendants claimed 

that its identity theft insurance benefit covered “any” or “all” expenses 

caused by identity theft. In reality, the Protection Products had material 

coverage limitations and exclusions and did not cover “any” or “all” identity 

theft-related expenses. 

35. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of Protection Products, Defendants claimed that the identity 

theft insurance benefit covered specific related expenses, such as legal fees, 

court costs and lost wages. Defendants failed to disclose during the calls that 

the Protection Products had material coverage limitations and exclusions in 

connection with those expenses. 
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36. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of Protection Products, Defendants expressly claimed or 

implied that the identity theft insurance benefit provided a broader range of 

coverage than available. Defendants failed to disclose significant coverage 

exclusions and limitations. 

37. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of Protection Products, Defendants claimed its Credit 

Information Hotline service could improve the consumer’s credit score by 

directly removing inaccurate information from the consumer’s credit 

reports. In fact, Defendants lacked the ability to directly remove inaccurate 

information from a consumer’s credit report or ensure improvement to the 

consumer’s credit score by removal of such inaccurate information.

38. During telephone calls in which consumers requested 

cancellation of Protection Products, Defendants emphasized that the fraud 

liability protection benefit provided $5,000 coverage for unauthorized use 

of a member’s credit or debit cards. But Defendants failed to disclose that 

federal law significantly limited the amount of liability a consumer could 

actually incur for unauthorized use of their credit or debit cards.

39. Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions relating to 

Protection Product benefits during retention calls resulted in a significant 

overstatement of product value. 

Credit Information Billing Practices

40. From at least July 2, 2010 through August 20, 2012, 

Defendants and their Marketing Partners enrolled consumers in Protection 

Products with benefits that purported to provide the consumers with credit 

monitoring, credit report retrieval, or both.

41. To access the consumers’ credit files at the major credit 

Case 5:15-cv-01005   Document 1   Filed 07/01/15   Page 7 of 12



8

reporting agencies so as to provide these benefits, Defendants needed the 

consumer’s written authorization, which in turn authorized the credit 

reporting agencies to release the credit information to Defendants under the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(2). 

42. For consumers who enrolled over the telephone, Defendants 

and their Marketing Partners attempted to obtain the consumer’s written 

authorization after the enrollment call by mail.

43. In many cases, however, significant time elapsed before 

Defendants or their Marketing Partners obtained the consumer’s 

authorization, or Defendants or their Marketing Partners never obtained the 

consumer’s authorization at all.

44. Defendants and their Marketing Partners billed numerous 

Specified Protection Product consumers the full product fee despite not 

receiving the consumer’s written authorization and not providing full credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services.

45. Even when they had obtained the consumer’s written 

authorization, Defendants and their Marketing Partners often failed to 

deliver full credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services in certain 

circumstances, including when the consumer’s personal information did not 

match the information on file at one or more of the credit reporting 

agencies, when the consumer did not have a credit file at one or more of the 

credit reporting agencies, or when Defendants unilaterally withheld services 

when they determined the consumer lacked sufficient credit history to 

warrant activation of credit monitoring or credit report retrieval services.

46. Defendants and their Marketing Partners billed the full product 

fee to Specified Protection Product members who were not receiving full 

credit monitoring or credit report retrieval services in those circumstances.

Case 5:15-cv-01005   Document 1   Filed 07/01/15   Page 8 of 12



9

47. For consumers enrolled in Specified Protection Products 

between July 2, 2010 and August 20, 2012, Defendants and their Marketing 

Partners billed full product fees to at least 73,000 accounts when 

Defendants and their Marketing Partners failed to provide the full credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services offered, and failed to provide 

corresponding refunds. 

Count I

(Violations of CFPA’s Prohibition of Deceptive Acts or Practices)

48. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of ¶¶ 1-47.

49. In numerous instances, in connection with transactions with 

consumers for a consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a 

consumer financial product or service, Defendants misrepresented, directly 

or by implication, during telephone calls with consumers attempting to 

cancel their Protection Product memberships:

a. that the credit score benefit provided came “from” one or all 

three major credit reporting agencies;

b. that the identity theft insurance benefit provided covered “any” 

or “all” expenses caused by identity theft;

c. that the identity theft insurance benefit provided covered 

specific related expenses, such as legal fees, court costs and lost 

wages, without disclosing material coverage limitations and 

exclusions; 

d. that the identity theft insurance benefit provided a broader 

range of coverage than actually available; 

e. that the Credit Information Hotline benefit would improve the 

consumer’s credit score by directly removing inaccurate 

information from the consumer’s credit reports; and
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f. that the fraud liability protection benefit included $5,000 

coverage for unauthorized use of credit or debit cards without 

disclosing material information that would convey to 

consumers that their potential individual liability for 

unauthorized use of credit or debit cards was much less than 

what Defendants suggested.

50. The representations set forth in ¶ 49 were false or misleading 

and were material to consumer decisions to eschew cancelation of their 

product membership. Defendants’ acts and practices are deceptive under the 

CFPA. Because each Defendant is a “covered person” or “service provider,” 

their conduct is unlawful under §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).

Count II

(Violations of CFPA Prohibition of Unfair Acts or Practices)

51. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of ¶¶ 1-50.

52. In numerous instances, in connection with transactions with 

consumers for a consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a 

consumer financial product or service, Defendants billed consumers for full 

Specified Protection Product fees while failing to provide full credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services.

53. These acts and practices caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

to competition. 

54. Defendants’ acts and practices are unfair under the CFPA. 

Because each Defendant is a “covered person” or “service provider,” their 
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conduct is unlawful under §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).

Request for Relief

55. The Bureau requests that the Court:

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future 

violations of the CFPA;

b. award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury

to consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the 

CFPA, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of 

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement 

or compensation for unjust enrichment, and payment of 

damages; 

c. award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

d. award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such 

other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be 

just and proper.

Dated: July 1, 2015

Respectfully submitted,

Anthony Alexis
Enforcement Director

Deborah Morris
Deputy Enforcement Director

Michael G. Salemi
Assistant Litigation Deputy
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Genessa Stout, Fed. Bar No. phv07530
Irfan M. Murtuza, Fed. Bar No. phv07531
Charles R. Gayle, Fed. Bar No. phv07532
Enforcement Attorneys
Genessa.Stout@cfpb.gov
Irfan.Murtuza@cfpb.gov
Charlie.Gayle@cfpb.gov
202-435-7920 (Stout)
202-435-7965 (Murtuza)
202-435-9555 (Gayle)
202-435-7722 (Facsimile)

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street, NW
Washington, DC 20552
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CFPB Takes Action Against Companies 
For Unfair Billing Of Credit Card Add-On 
Products And Services
Consumers Billed for Credit Reporting and Identity Theft Protection 
Benefits They Did Not Receive

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
took action against two credit card add-on product vendors – Affinion Group Holdings, 
Inc., Affinion’s affiliated companies, and Intersections Inc. – for unfairly charging 
consumers for credit card add-on benefits they did not receive. Under the proposed 
consent orders, Affinion would pay approximately $6.8 million in monetary relief for 
eligible consumers who have not yet received refunds and $1.9 million in civil money 
penalties, while Intersections would pay approximately $55,000 in monetary relief to 
eligible consumers who have not yet received refunds and $1.2 million in civil money 
penalties.

“Consumers have every right to get what they pay for,” said CFPB Director Richard 
Cordray. “But we are still finding that thousands of consumers paid for add-on benefits 
they were promised but never received. We continue to address unlawful conduct in 
this space and are signaling to other financial institutions and their service providers 
that their marketing and billing practices must be fair to consumers.”

Credit card companies often offer their customers “add-on” services such as “credit 
monitoring” or “identity theft protection” for a monthly or annual membership fee. The 
add-on products are usually sold either by the bank itself or through a third-party 
vendor authorized by the bank to sell the product. Affinion and Intersections, both 
vendors of these types of products, partnered with banks to provide these products to 
credit card holders and other bank customers. The CFPB’s investigations revealed that 
Affinion and Intersections engaged in unfair practices related to the billing or 
administration of these products in violation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 
and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act). 

Today’s two actions build on several of the Bureau’s past actions against banks to 
address illegal practices in the marketing or administration of add-on products. This is 
the first time the Bureau has brought actions directly against the companies that 
provided these products and services. 

Affinion
Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., and its affiliated companies, which include Affinion 
Group, Inc., Affinion Group, LLC., Affinion Benefits Group, LLC., Trilegiant 
Corporation, Watchguard Registration Services Inc., and Global Protection Solutions, 
LLC., are all Delaware corporations based in Connecticut or Tennessee. Collectively, 
these companies advertised, sold, and delivered identity theft and credit monitoring 
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products to consumers by establishing marketing and service agreements with banks. 
The CFPB’s complaint alleges that from about July 2010 through August 2012, Affinion 
enrolled consumers in add-on products that claimed to provide consumers with 
benefits including credit monitoring, credit report retrieval, or both. Consumers 
generally paid between $6.95 and $15.99 per month for these products, which were 
typically billed directly to their credit cards or deposit accounts. The Bureau alleges, 
however, that Affinion or its partner banks billed full product fees to at least 73,000 
accounts while failing to provide the full credit monitoring or credit report retrieval 
services promised, and failed to refund fees to those consumers.

During customer retention calls, the CFPB also alleges that Affinion frequently misled 
consumers about product benefits through inaccurate or incomplete retention phone 
call scripts, and statements, and omissions by individual retention specialists.

As a result, the CFPB alleges consumers were:

• Billed for product benefits they did not receive: Under Affinion’s 
telephone enrollment process, consumers purchased the product over the phone, 
but Affinion or its partner banks could not provide full product benefits until they 
had obtained a written authorization from the consumer by mail. In many cases, 
significant time elapsed before Affinion obtained the consumer’s authorization or 
never obtained it at all. Despite not having a consumer’s written authorization and
not providing full product benefits, Affinion and its partner banks still billed them 
the full product fee once the consumer enrolled over the phone. In other 
instances, consumers were billed full product fees but did not receive the 
promised benefits because of service delivery errors, such as not being able to 
authenticate the consumers with one or more credit bureaus or the consumer 
lacking sufficient credit history.

• Misled about product benefits and value to avoid cancellations: To 
prevent consumers from cancelling their membership, Affinion retention 
specialists gave consumers inaccurate or incomplete information about the value 
and benefit of add-on products. For example, during some calls, Affinion 
retention specialists claimed they could directly remove inaccurate information 
from consumers’ credit reports and raise their credit score as a result. In fact, 
Affinion had no control over the information contained in a consumer’s credit 
report, and they could only help dispute it.

Intersections
Intersections, a Delaware corporation based in Virginia, provided credit monitoring and
identity theft products to consumers primarily through arrangements with 
approximately 35 bank clients. The Bureau’s complaint alleges that from 2009 through 
early 2013, Intersections marketed and sold add-on products to consumers, promising 
them access to their credit reports and a credit score, email, or phone alerts when new 
credit accounts were opened, and access to a phone representative to respond to their 
credit report questions. Consumers generally paid between $8 and $13 per month for 
these products, which were typically billed directly to their credit cards.

The CFPB alleges Intersections billed or instructed the banks to bill approximately 
300,000 consumers who signed up for their products knowing they were not receiving 
all the benefits for which they paid. 

As a result, the CFPB alleges consumers were charged fees even though Intersections 
could not provide the credit monitoring or other benefits for various reasons, including: 
failure to obtain a valid authorization from the consumer, fraud alerts on a consumer’s 
credit file, and incomplete social security information, among others. In some cases, 
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving the promised 
benefits.
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The vast majority of the approximately 300,000 affected consumers have already 
received refunds, in part as a result of prior Bureau enforcement actions. The CFPB 
estimates approximately $55,000 in consumer harm is still owed.

Enforcement Actions
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. 

Under the terms of the proposed consent order filed today, Affinion would: 

• Reimburse consumers who have not already received refunds for 
unfair billing practices: Affinion would pay a full refund, approximately $6.8 
million, to approximately 73,000 eligible consumers who enrolled in the credit 
monitoring products between July 2010 and August 2012 and were charged for 
services that were not received, but who have not already received refunds.

• End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for credit 
monitoring services if they are not receiving the promised benefits.

• End unlawful retention practices: If an Affinion customer currently enrolled 
in certain products contacts Affinion to cancel their membership, Affinion would 
have to immediately cancel the product and not attempt to persuade the customer 
to retain the product.

• Pay $1.9 million civil money penalty: Affinion would pay $1.9 million to the 
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

Under the terms of the proposed consent order filed today, Intersections would: 

• Reimburse consumers who have not already received refunds for 
unfair billing practices: Intersections would pay a full refund, approximately 
$55,000, to customers who, for at least one month, were billed for identity theft 
or credit monitoring products, but were not receiving full product benefits, and 
who have not previously received refunds.

• End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain 
credit monitoring services if they are not receiving the promised benefits.

• Pay $1.2 million civil money penalty: Intersections would pay $1.2 million to 
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The proposed consent orders are not findings or rulings that Affinion or Intersections 
have actually violated the law. The Affinion consent order was filed in the U.S. District 
Court for the District of Connecticut, while the Intersections consent order was filed 
with the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. The orders would have 
the force of law only if approved by the courts.

A copy of CFPB’s complaint filed against Affinion can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_complaint_affinion.pdf

A copy of the proposed consent order filed today in the Affinion action can 
be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_stipulated-final-judgment-and-
order_affinion.pdf

A copy of the CFPB’s complaint filed against Intersections can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_complaint-INTX.pdf

A copy of the proposed consent order filed today in the Intersections action 
can be found at:
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION 

FILED 

· ZOIS JUL -I A 10: 38 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Intersections Inc., 

Defendant. 

COMPlAINT 

Civil Action No. ) :;/.S r t/ Z3S 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) alleges the following against 

Intersections Inc. (Intersections): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536, 5564, and 5565, based on unfair acts or 

practices related to the billing and administration of certain identity theft and credit 

monitoring products, typically sold as add-ons to other consumer financial products and 

services. The Bureau seeks to obtain permanent injunctive relief, restitution, civil money 

penalties, and other relief as set forth below. 

2. The Bureau previously issued consent orders against some of 

Intersections' clients for engaging in unfair acts or practices relating to the billing and 

administration of Intersections' products. See, e.g., In re Bank of America, N.A., et al., 

-,r-,r 1, 4(0), 4(t) (2014-CFPB-0004) (finding that Intersections was a service provider to 

Bank of America). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

"brought under Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

u.s.c. § 1345· 
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4. Venue is proper in this district because Intersections is located, resides, 

and does business in this district, and because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 

u.s.c. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

5. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is an independent agency of 

the United States charged with regulating the offering and provision of consumer 

financial products and services under Federal consumer financial law, including the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(14); 5491(a); 5531(a). The Bureau has independent litigating 

· authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a), (b). 
6. Defendant Intersections, Inc. is a Delaware corporation headquartered in 

Chantilly, Virginia. 

7. Originally founded in 1996 as CreditComm, LLC, Intersections offers 

identity theft and credit information management solutions, including credit monitoring 

services, to consumers primarily through its depository institution clients. 

8. Intersections "engages in the offering or providing of a consumer financial 

product or service," and it is therefore a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

9· Intersections is also a "service provider" under the CFPA since it provided 

a material service to its depository institution clients in connection with the offering or 

provision of consumer financial products or services. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

FACfU AL ALLEGATIONS 

Intersections' Products 

10. Intersections has provided credit monitoring and identity theft services to 

millions of consumers primarily through direct, indirect, or shared marketing 

arrangements with approximately 35 depository institution clients. These products were 

usually ancillary, "add-on" products to other consumer financial products or services, 

typically credit cards. 

11. Although the precise features of its credit monitoring and identity theft 

products varied by depository institution client, Intersections' products generally 

purported to provide consumers with credit monitoring services from all three major 
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credit reporting agencies, access to their credit reports, access to a credit score, email or 

phone alerts when new credit accounts were opened, and access to phone 

representatives who could respond to questions about credit reports. 

12. Consumers generally paid between $8 and $13 per month for 

Intersections' credit monitoring and identity theft products, which typically were billed 

directly to the consumer's credit card. The exact price of Intersections' products varied 

by depository institution client. 

Intersections' Enrollment Process 

13. Intersections' depository institution clients generally enrolled consumers 

in Intersections' products. 

14. When enrolling consumers, Intersections or its depository institution 

clients generally would orally disclose certain terms of enrollment and solicit a 

consumer's oral authorization to enroll in the product. 

15. After enrollment, the depository institution client would send 

Intersections a data file that contained the enrolled consumer's personal information, as 

well as a recording of each consumer's purported oral authorization to purchase the 

Intersections product. 

16. Intersections typically had responsibility for maintaining the list of 

customers to be charged for its identity theft and credit monitoring products, and 

providing that list to its depository institution clients. 

17. Each month, Intersections would send a data file to many of its depository 

institution clients telling them which consumers to charge for the company's services. 

The depository institution, or an entity working on its behalf, would then bill the 

consumer for Intersections' product. 

18. The depository institutions depended on Intersections to identify which 

consumers to bill for Intersections' services. 

Service Gaps Related to Intersections' Enrollment Process 

19. Many consumers signed up for an Intersections product but could not 

receive the benefits of the product. This was typically caused by, among other things, the 

failure to obtain valid authorization from the consumer, fraud alerts on a consumer's 

credit file preventing Intersections from obtaining information necessary to provide full 

product services, or incomplete social security information. 
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20. Consumers experiencing these problems often did not receive the full 

identity theft and credit monitoring services they purchased during the period in which 

the problem persisted. 

21. When Intersections identified an error in a consumer's enrollment, it 

could take Intersections anywhere from a few hours to a few years to resolve the issue. 

22. Despite these enrollment issues, Intersections billed or instructed its 

depository institution clients to bill affected consumers for its identity theft and credit 

monitoring products knowing those consumers were not receiving full product benefits. 

23. A13 a result, many consumers paid for Intersections' products for months 

or years even though these consumers were not receiving all the service benefits for 

which they paid. 

24. From January 1, 2009 through February 28, 2013, Intersections 

authorized approximately $32 million in billings for approximately 300,000 consumers 

who were experiencing a service gap. 

COUNT I 

(Unfair Acts or Practices) 

25. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 24 are incorporated by reference. 

26. Intersections caused substantial injury to consumers by causing the 

consumers to be billed for services that the consumers were not receiving. 

27. Consumers could not reasonably avoid these injuries. 

28. The substantial injury to consumers was not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 

29. Therefore, Intersections engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 

5531(c)(1). 

COUNT II 

(Substantial Assistance to Depository Institution Clients) 

30. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 24 are incorporated by reference. 

31. The CFP A prohibits any person from knowingly or recklessly providing 

substantial assistance to any covered person in violation of the CFPA's prohibition on 

unfair, deceptive, or abusive conduct. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). The CFPA provides that 
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any such person "shall be deemed to be in violation of [12 U.S.C. § 5531] to the same 

extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

32. Intersections' depository institution clients were engaged in "offering or 

providing a consumer financial product or service," and were therefore "covered 

persons" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(iv). 

33. Intersections' depository institution clients billed, either directly or 

through Intersections, consumers for identity theft and credit monitoring products 

when those consumers were not receiving full product benefits. This constituted an 

unfair practice in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c). 

34. Intersections instructed its depository institution clients to bill affected 

consumers during the period of time when the enrollment problem persisted knowing 

those consumers were not receiving full product benefits. 

35. Intersections knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

these depository institution clients in violation of the provisions of section 1031 of the 

CFPA in violation of section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

THE COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

36. The CFP A empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable 

relief with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, including, without 

limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, 

the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust 

enrichment, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. § 5565. 

CFPA; 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

A. Permanently enjoin Intersections from committing future violations of the 

B. Order Intersections to pay restitution to consumers harmed by its 

unlawful conduct; 

C. Impose civil money penalties against Intersections; 

D. Order Intersections to pay the Bureau's costs incurred in connection with 

proceeding with this action; and 

E. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Companies 
For Unfair Billing Of Credit Card Add-On 
Products And Services
Consumers Billed for Credit Reporting and Identity Theft Protection 
Benefits They Did Not Receive

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
took action against two credit card add-on product vendors – Affinion Group Holdings, 
Inc., Affinion’s affiliated companies, and Intersections Inc. – for unfairly charging 
consumers for credit card add-on benefits they did not receive. Under the proposed 
consent orders, Affinion would pay approximately $6.8 million in monetary relief for 
eligible consumers who have not yet received refunds and $1.9 million in civil money 
penalties, while Intersections would pay approximately $55,000 in monetary relief to 
eligible consumers who have not yet received refunds and $1.2 million in civil money 
penalties.

“Consumers have every right to get what they pay for,” said CFPB Director Richard 
Cordray. “But we are still finding that thousands of consumers paid for add-on benefits 
they were promised but never received. We continue to address unlawful conduct in 
this space and are signaling to other financial institutions and their service providers 
that their marketing and billing practices must be fair to consumers.”

Credit card companies often offer their customers “add-on” services such as “credit 
monitoring” or “identity theft protection” for a monthly or annual membership fee. The 
add-on products are usually sold either by the bank itself or through a third-party 
vendor authorized by the bank to sell the product. Affinion and Intersections, both 
vendors of these types of products, partnered with banks to provide these products to 
credit card holders and other bank customers. The CFPB’s investigations revealed that 
Affinion and Intersections engaged in unfair practices related to the billing or 
administration of these products in violation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 
and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act). 

Today’s two actions build on several of the Bureau’s past actions against banks to 
address illegal practices in the marketing or administration of add-on products. This is 
the first time the Bureau has brought actions directly against the companies that 
provided these products and services. 

Affinion
Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., and its affiliated companies, which include Affinion 
Group, Inc., Affinion Group, LLC., Affinion Benefits Group, LLC., Trilegiant 
Corporation, Watchguard Registration Services Inc., and Global Protection Solutions, 
LLC., are all Delaware corporations based in Connecticut or Tennessee. Collectively, 
these companies advertised, sold, and delivered identity theft and credit monitoring 
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products to consumers by establishing marketing and service agreements with banks. 
The CFPB’s complaint alleges that from about July 2010 through August 2012, Affinion 
enrolled consumers in add-on products that claimed to provide consumers with 
benefits including credit monitoring, credit report retrieval, or both. Consumers 
generally paid between $6.95 and $15.99 per month for these products, which were 
typically billed directly to their credit cards or deposit accounts. The Bureau alleges, 
however, that Affinion or its partner banks billed full product fees to at least 73,000 
accounts while failing to provide the full credit monitoring or credit report retrieval 
services promised, and failed to refund fees to those consumers.

During customer retention calls, the CFPB also alleges that Affinion frequently misled 
consumers about product benefits through inaccurate or incomplete retention phone 
call scripts, and statements, and omissions by individual retention specialists.

As a result, the CFPB alleges consumers were:

• Billed for product benefits they did not receive: Under Affinion’s 
telephone enrollment process, consumers purchased the product over the phone, 
but Affinion or its partner banks could not provide full product benefits until they 
had obtained a written authorization from the consumer by mail. In many cases, 
significant time elapsed before Affinion obtained the consumer’s authorization or 
never obtained it at all. Despite not having a consumer’s written authorization and
not providing full product benefits, Affinion and its partner banks still billed them 
the full product fee once the consumer enrolled over the phone. In other 
instances, consumers were billed full product fees but did not receive the 
promised benefits because of service delivery errors, such as not being able to 
authenticate the consumers with one or more credit bureaus or the consumer 
lacking sufficient credit history.

• Misled about product benefits and value to avoid cancellations: To 
prevent consumers from cancelling their membership, Affinion retention 
specialists gave consumers inaccurate or incomplete information about the value 
and benefit of add-on products. For example, during some calls, Affinion 
retention specialists claimed they could directly remove inaccurate information 
from consumers’ credit reports and raise their credit score as a result. In fact, 
Affinion had no control over the information contained in a consumer’s credit 
report, and they could only help dispute it.

Intersections
Intersections, a Delaware corporation based in Virginia, provided credit monitoring and
identity theft products to consumers primarily through arrangements with 
approximately 35 bank clients. The Bureau’s complaint alleges that from 2009 through 
early 2013, Intersections marketed and sold add-on products to consumers, promising 
them access to their credit reports and a credit score, email, or phone alerts when new 
credit accounts were opened, and access to a phone representative to respond to their 
credit report questions. Consumers generally paid between $8 and $13 per month for 
these products, which were typically billed directly to their credit cards.

The CFPB alleges Intersections billed or instructed the banks to bill approximately 
300,000 consumers who signed up for their products knowing they were not receiving 
all the benefits for which they paid. 

As a result, the CFPB alleges consumers were charged fees even though Intersections 
could not provide the credit monitoring or other benefits for various reasons, including: 
failure to obtain a valid authorization from the consumer, fraud alerts on a consumer’s 
credit file, and incomplete social security information, among others. In some cases, 
consumers paid for these services for several years without receiving the promised 
benefits.
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The vast majority of the approximately 300,000 affected consumers have already 
received refunds, in part as a result of prior Bureau enforcement actions. The CFPB 
estimates approximately $55,000 in consumer harm is still owed.

Enforcement Actions
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. 

Under the terms of the proposed consent order filed today, Affinion would: 

• Reimburse consumers who have not already received refunds for 
unfair billing practices: Affinion would pay a full refund, approximately $6.8 
million, to approximately 73,000 eligible consumers who enrolled in the credit 
monitoring products between July 2010 and August 2012 and were charged for 
services that were not received, but who have not already received refunds.

• End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for credit 
monitoring services if they are not receiving the promised benefits.

• End unlawful retention practices: If an Affinion customer currently enrolled 
in certain products contacts Affinion to cancel their membership, Affinion would 
have to immediately cancel the product and not attempt to persuade the customer 
to retain the product.

• Pay $1.9 million civil money penalty: Affinion would pay $1.9 million to the 
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

Under the terms of the proposed consent order filed today, Intersections would: 

• Reimburse consumers who have not already received refunds for 
unfair billing practices: Intersections would pay a full refund, approximately 
$55,000, to customers who, for at least one month, were billed for identity theft 
or credit monitoring products, but were not receiving full product benefits, and 
who have not previously received refunds.

• End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for certain 
credit monitoring services if they are not receiving the promised benefits.

• Pay $1.2 million civil money penalty: Intersections would pay $1.2 million to 
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The proposed consent orders are not findings or rulings that Affinion or Intersections 
have actually violated the law. The Affinion consent order was filed in the U.S. District 
Court for the District of Connecticut, while the Intersections consent order was filed 
with the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia. The orders would have 
the force of law only if approved by the courts.

A copy of CFPB’s complaint filed against Affinion can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_complaint_affinion.pdf

A copy of the proposed consent order filed today in the Affinion action can 
be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_stipulated-final-judgment-and-
order_affinion.pdf

A copy of the CFPB’s complaint filed against Intersections can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_complaint-INTX.pdf

A copy of the proposed consent order filed today in the Intersections action 
can be found at:
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

ALEXANDRIA DMSION Z0!5 JUL - I 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Intersections Inc., 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

______________________________ ) 

/./'", ;v-?< 
Civil Action No. · 1.) C L tJ .) .. _ _  ) 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action 

to obtain injunctive relief, civil penalties, and other relief from Intersections Inc. 

(Intersections). The Complaint alleges violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), for 

unfair acts or practices related to the billing and administration of Identity Protection 

Products. The Parties request that the Court enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and 

Order (Order). 

FINDINGS 

1. The Court has jurisdiction over the Parties and the subject matter of this action. 

2. The Parties agree to the entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of 

fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct alleged 

in the Complaint to the date this Order is entered. 
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3· Intersections neither admits nor denies any allegations in the Complaint, except 

as stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, Intersections admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Court's jurisdiction over it and the subject matter of this 

action. 

4· Intersections waives service under Rule 4( d) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and waives all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest 

the validity of this Order. Intersections also waives any claim that it may have under the 

Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action 

to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including, 

without limitation, attorneys' fees. 

5· Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

· 6. "Affected Consumers" includes any consumer who, during the Relevant Period, 

enrolled in and paid for Intersections' Identity Protection Product and who experienced 

a Service Gap during any portion of his or her enrollment. 

7· "Board" means Intersections' duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

8. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Order is entered on the docket. 

9. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegate. 

10. "Identity Protection Products" means any Intersections product that was sold to 

customers of its depository institution customers, ancillary to credit or deposit accounts, 

during the Relevant Period. All "Identity Protection Products" include at least one 

feature relating to credit reports, identity theft or fraud assistance, or credit monitoring. 
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11. "Intersections" means Intersections Inc. and any successors and assigns. 

12. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought against 

Intersections based on substantially the same facts as described in the Complaint. 

13. "Relevant Period" means the period from January 1, 2009 to February 28, 2013. 

14. "Service Gap" refers to a period of time when a consumer, for at least one month, 

was billed for an Identity Protection Product, but was not delivered full product benefits. 

15. "Service Gap End Date" is the date on which the Affected Consumer ceased 

experiencing the Service Gap. 

16. "Service Gap Start Date" is the date on which the Affected Consumer started 

being billed for the Identity Protection Product despite experiencing a Service Gap. 

ORDER 

I 

Injunctive Relief 

IT IS ORDERED under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA that: 

17. Intersections and its officers, agents and employees, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not violate Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, with respect to the billing of, and must not bill, or assist in billing, Identity 

Protection Product customers for product fees if those customers are experiencing a 

Service Gap. 

18. Intersections must take the following affirmative actions within 30 days of the 

Effective Date of this Order: 
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a. Implement procedures to ensure that only consumers who do not 

experience a Service Gap are billed for Intersections' Identity Protection 

Products; and 

b. Implement procedures to ensure that consumers receive all the benefits of 

Intersections' Identity Protection Products for which they have paid. 

II 

Monetary Relief 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

19. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $ss,ooo (the "Redress Fund"), which represents the 

approximate amount of injury caused by the practices described in the Complaint that 

has not already been refunded to Affected Consumers. To the extent that an Affected 

Consumer has already received a refund of the amount paid between the Service Gap 

Start Date and Service Gap End Date due to Identity Protection Product Service Gaps, 

this Order does not require Intersections to provide duplicative redress to those Affected 

Consumers. 

20. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing for payment of the Redress Fund to Affected Consumers who have not already 

received refunds, consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The Redress Plan must 

identify the total number of Affected Consumers who will receive payment of some 

portion of the Redress Funds, the manner and form in which the Redress Fund will be 

distributed among Affected Consumers, and the procedures to locate Affected 
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Consumers whose redress payment is returned as undeliverable. The Enforcement 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct Intersections to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs 

Intersections to revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 days. After receiving 

notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection 

to the Redress Plan, Intersections must implement and adhere to the steps, deadlines, 

and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

21. Within 30 days of completing the Redress Plan, Intersections must submit to the 

Enforcement Director a report with an assessment of its compliance with the terms of 

the Redress Plan (Redress Plan Report). The Redress Plan Report must: 

a. Describe the methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers who received redress under this Order; 

b. State the total number of Affected Consumers to whom Intersections 

provided redress; 

c. State the total amounts reimbursed to Affected Consumers; 

d. Describe the procedures used to issue and track redress payments; and 

e. Describe the work of independent consultants that Intersections has used, 

if any, to assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

22. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $55,000, within 30 days of the completion of the Redress Plan, 

Intersections must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's 

agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring instructions, the difference between the 

amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and $55,000. 
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23. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress is 

wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after the 

additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. 

Treasury as disgorgement. Intersections will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

24. Intersections may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

III 

Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

25. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors in 12 

U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Intersections must pay a civil money penalty of $1,2oo,ooo to the 

Bureau, as set forth herein. 

26. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must pay $400,000 of the civil 

money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

27. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must pay an additional 

$400,000 of the civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's 

agent in compliance with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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28. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Intersections must pay an additional 

$400,000 of the civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's 

agent in compliance with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

29. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

30. Intersections must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Intersections may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance · 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Order. 

31. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, Intersections may not 

argue in any Related Consumer Action that Intersections is entitled to, nor may 

Intersections benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty 

paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants 

such a Penalty Offset, Intersections must, within 30 days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset 

to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money 

penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 
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IV 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. In the event of any default on Intersections' obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 

immediately become due and payable. 

33. Intersections must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Intersections. 

34. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Intersections must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer 

identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

35. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Intersections must notify the Enforcement Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate 

the amount of redress, if any, that Intersections paid or is required to pay to consumers 

and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or 

will be paid. 
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v 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

36. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Intersections' practices relating to Identity 

Protection Products comply with Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 

and 5536, with respect to the billing of, or assistance in billing of, Identity Protection 

Product customers for products fees, and all of the terms of this Order (Compliance 

Plan). 

37· The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

38. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Intersections to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Intersections to revise the Compliance Plan, Intersections 

must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director 

within 15 days. 

39. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Intersections must implement 

and adhere to the steps, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VI 
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Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

41. Although this Order requires Intersections to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Intersections and for ensuring that 

Intersections complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Order. 

42. In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or 

perform certain obligations of Intersections, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Intersections to fully comply 

with the Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to 

this Section. 

VII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Intersections must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 
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of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy 

or insolvency proceeding by or against Intersections; or a change in Intersections' name 

or address. Intersections must provide this notice at least 30 days before the 

development or as soon as practicable after learning about the development, whichever 

1s sooner. 

44. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal addresses as points of contact, which 

the Bureau may use to communicate with Intersections. 

45. Intersections must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 43 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after the 

learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

46. Within 90 days of Intersections' receipt of the Bureau's non-objection to the 

Compliance Plan, and again one year after the submission of the initial Compliance 

Report, Intersections must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board, 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Intersections has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order acknowledgment obtained under Section 

VIII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

47· After the one-year period, Intersections must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 
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VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

48. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Intersections must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

49. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Intersections must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section VII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

so. Intersections must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq. , within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

IX 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

51. Intersections must create and maintain, for at least 5 years from the Effective 

Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 
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b. For each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment in 

Intersections' Identity Protection Product: the consumer's name; address; phone 

number; email address; enrollment date; amount paid for the Identity Protection 

Product; any refunds provided for the Identity Protection Product; Service Gap 

Start Date; Service Gap End Date; and the reason why the consumer experienced 

a Service Gap. 

52. Intersections must make the documents identified in Paragraph 51 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Intersections must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in 

writing, with the subject line, "In re Intersections Inc., No. 2012-0111-02," and send 

them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 
Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
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XI 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. Intersections must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Intersections must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or control 

within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

55· Intersections must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. 

Intersections must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. 

Intersections must cause Intersections' officers, employees, representatives, or agents to 

appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the 

Bureau may reasonably request upon 15 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, 

at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process. 

XII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Intersections 

must: submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must 

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 
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57. Intersections must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Intersections who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

58. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory process, 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or otherwise. 

XIV 

Administrative Provisions 

59. The Bureau releases and discharges Intersections from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based upon the practices 

described in the Complaint and this Order, to the extent that such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. 

The Bureau may use the practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions 

against Intersections and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek 

penalties for any violations of the Order. 

60. This Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent 

Order by Intersections. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body 

rules that Intersections did not violate any provision of the Order, and the dismissal or 

ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Order will terminate as 

though the action had never been filed. The Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Order have been 
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amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

XV 

Retention of Jurisdiction 

61. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this ___ day of ______ , 2015. 

United States District Court 
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Consented and agreed to: 

BENJAMIN C. MIZER 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 

By: __ �r-�������----
ANTONIA KONKOLY 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
2100 Jamieson Avenue 
Alexandria, Virginia 22314 
Telephone: (703) 299-3799 
Facsimile: (703) 299-3983 
E-Mail: Antonia.Konkoly@usdoj.gov 

FOR THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU: 

Anthony Alexis 
Enforcement Director 

Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Michael G. Salemi 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 

Alusheyi J. Wheeler, (pro hac vice) 
Brandis Anderson, (pro hac vice) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Email: Alusheyi.Wheeler@cfpb.gov 
Email: Brandis.Anderson@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: 202-435-7786 
Facsimile: 202-435-7722 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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FOR INTERSECTIONS, INC.: 

1/k: �- � ""' � II#Y}J·..- �; 
Mercedes K. Tun� l 1 
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP 
1200 Seventeenth Street NW 
Washington, DC 20036 
Email: Mercedes. Tunstall@pillsburylaw.com 
Telephone: 202-663-8118 
Facsimile: 202-663-8007 

Christopher J. Willis 
Ballard Spahr LLP 
999 Peachtree Street, Suite 1000 
Atlanta, GA30309 
Email: WillisC@ballardSpahr.com 
Telephone: 678-420-9436 
Facsimile: 678-420-9301 

Attorneys for Defendant 
Intersections, Inc. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATNE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0015 

In the Matter of: 

Citibank, N.A.; Department Stores 
National Bank; and Citicorp Credit 
Services, Inc. (USA) 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the practices 

of Citibank, N.A. (Bank), Department Stores National Bank (DSNB), and Citicorp Credit 

Services, Inc. (USA) (CCSI USA) (collectively, Respondent) and has identified the 

following law violations: (1) deceptive acts or practices relating to the marketing and 

sale of, and membership retention for, certain Respondent credit card add-on products 

in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B); (2) acts or practices relating to 

CCSI USA's telemarketing of certain Respondent credit card add-on products in 

violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.3(a), 310-4(a)(7), and Section 

1031 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531; (3) unfair acts or practices relating to the billing and 

administration of certain Respondent credit card add-on products in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B); and 

(4) deceptive acts or practices relating to debt collection on delinquent DSNB Credit 

Card Accounts in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. 
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§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Overview 

1.  The Bureau finds that Respondent has engaged in violations of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, in connection with the 

marketing and sales of, and membership retention for, Respondent's Covered 

Add-On Products (as defined below in Paragraphs 7 and 15). 

2. The Bureau finds that CCSI USA has engaged in violations of the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.3(a) and 310-4(a)(7), and Section 

1031 of the CFPA, in connection with the telemarketing and sales of 

Respondent's Covered Add-On Products on behalf ofthe Bank and DSNB. 

3. The Bureau finds that Respondent has engaged in violations of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFP A in connection with its billing and administration of 

certain Credit Monitoring Products (as defined below in Paragraph 7), as well 

as in connection with its third-party service providers' billing and 

administration of other Credit Monitoring Products. 

4· The Bureau finds that Respondent has engaged in violations of Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFP A in connection with the assessment of an expedited 

telephone payment fee when collecting on delinquent DSNB Credit Card 

Accounts. 
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II 

Jurisdiction 

5· The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 

1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, and uooC ofthe CFPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 6102(c)(2). 

III 

Stipulations 

6. Respondent has executed a separate "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order" for the Bank, DSNB, and CCSI USA dated July 14, 2015 

through July 16, 2015 (Stipulations), which are incorporated by reference and 

are accepted by the Bureau. By these Stipulations, Respondent has consented 

to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 

1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits 

the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and 

the subject matter of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

7. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Add-On Product" means any consumer financial product or service, as 

defined by Section 1002(5) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), which is or was 

offered to Cardholders as an optional addition to credit card accounts issued 

by Respondent. 
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b. "Affected Customer" is any person who is an Affected Debt Protection 

Customer, an Affected DSNB Cardholder, an Affected Fulfillment Customer, 

an Affected Identity Monitor Enrollment Customer, an Affected Identity Monitor 

Retained Customer, an Affected Pre-2009 Debt Protection Customer, an 

Affected TCIM Customer, or an Affected Watch-Guard Preferred Customer. 

c. "Affected Debt Protection Customer" is any person who, on or after January 1, 

2009, enrolled in: 

1. a Debt Protection Product by telephone, except for such customers who 

submitted a claim for benefits pursuant to the respective product's terms 

and conditions and were paid a benefit, or who signed and returned to 

Respondent an Acknowledgment of Membership form after enrollment; 

or 

n. Credit Protection at point-of-sale terminals or Balance Protector at point

of-sale terminals at specialty services desks, except for such customers 

who submitted a claim for benefits pursuant to the respective product's 

terms and conditions and were paid a benefit, or who signed and 

returned to Respondent an Acknowledgment of Membership form after 

enrollment. 

d. "Affected DSNB Cardholder" is any DSNB Cardholder who, on or after 

January 1, 2009, paid an Expedited Payment Fee when their DSNB Credit 

Card Account was delinquent. 

e. "Affected Fulfillment Customer" is any person who was enrolled in a Credit 

Monitoring Product while Unfulfilled. 
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f. "Affected IdentityMonitor Enrollment Customer" is any person who, on or after 

January 1, 2009, enrolled in: 

1. Identity Monitor by telephone, except for such Identity Monitor 

customers who upgraded to triple bureau credit monitoring benefits and 

Affected TCIM Customers who receive redress under Paragraph 87; or 

n. Identity Monitor using the Identity Monitor website before April 1,  2012. 

g. "Affected Identity Monitor Retained Customer" is any person who enrolled in 

Identity Monitor on or after January 1, 2009 and called to cancel his or her 

product membership but whom Respondent retained, except for such 

IdentityMonitor customers who upgraded to IdentityMonitor's triple bureau 

credit monitoring feature after the first such retention. 

h. "Affected Pre-2009 Debt Protection Customer" is any person who, between 

January 1, 2003 and December 31, 2008, enrolled in: 

1. a Debt Protection Product by telephone; or 

n. Credit Protection at point-of-sale terminals. 

1. "Affected TCIM Customer" is any person who enrolled in: 

1. Identity Monitor by TCIM, Inc. through outbound telemarketing since 

November 1, 2005; or 

n. Watch-Guard Preferred by TCIM, Inc. through outbound 

telemarketing since June 1, 2008. 

J. "Affected Watch-Guard Preferred Customer" is any person who, on or after 

January 1, 2009, enrolled in Watch-Guard Preferred by telephone, except 

Affected TCIM Customers who receive redress under Paragraph 87. 
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k. "Affinion" means "Affinion Group, Inc." including its subsidiary, Trilegiant 

Corporation, as well as Affinion Group, Inc. and Trilegiant Corporation's 

predecessors, successors, and assigns. 

l. "Bank" means Citibank, N.A., and its predecessors, successors, and assigns. 

m. "Board" means the Bank's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

n. "Bureau" means the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

o. "Cardholder" means any person who opened a consumer credit card account 

issued by Respondent, excluding accounts issued by any non-U.S. division, 

subsidiary, or branch of Respondent. 

p. "CCSI USA" means Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA), and its predecessors, 

successors, and assigns. 

q. "Covered Add-On Product" means any of the seven Add-On Products 

described in Paragraph 15 below. 

r. "CPP" means CPP Holdings Limited and CPP North America, LLC, along with 

their predecessors, successors, and assigns, including Metris Companies, Inc., 

Metris Direct, Inc., Metris Warranty Services of Florida, Inc., and Metris 

Warranty Services, Inc. 

s. "Credit Monitoring Products" means Add-On Products "Privacy Guard," 

"DirectAlert," "IdentityMonitor," and "Citi Credit Monitoring Service," or any 

version thereof, which included credit monitoring or credit report retrieval 

services, among other benefits, and were marketed or sold to Cardholders. 

t. "Debt Protection Products" means Add-On Products "AccountCare," "Balance 

Protector," "Credit Protection," "Credit Protector," and "Payment Safeguard," 

or any version thereof, which provided balance or payment cancellation 
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benefits, or deferral of the payment due date, among other benefits, and were 

marketed or sold to Cardholders. 

u. "DSNB" means Department Stores National Bank and its predecessors, 

successors, and assigns. 

v. "DSNB Cardholder" means any Cardholder who opened a DSNB Credit Card 

Account. 

w. "DSNB Credit Card Account" means a retailer-affiliated consumer credit card 

account issued by DSNB. 

x. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

y. "Expedited Payment Fee" means the fee charged to a DSNB Cardholder by 

Respondent to expedite a telephone payment, using funds drawn from the 

cardholder's checking account, on their DSNB Credit Card Account so that 

the payment would post to the DSNB Credit Card Account on the same day it 

was made. 

z. "OCC Consent Order" means the consent order issued in July 2015 by the 

Comptroller of the Currency against the Bank and DSNB. 

aa. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau, or that person's delegate. 

bb. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section V of this Consent Order. 

cc. "Respondent" means the Bank, DSNB, and CCSI USA. 
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dd. "Service Provider" means any service provider, as defined in Section 1002(26) 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481, that provides or provided services with respect 

to an Add-On Product, or services relating to the assessment of a fee to a 

Cardholder to expedite telephone payments during debt collection on a credit 

card account, pursuant to a contractual arrangement with Respondent. 

ee. "Unfulfilled" means the status of a person who, at a given time, was billed for a 

Credit Monitoring Product but who, for any reason did not receive full credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval services. 

v 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

8.  The Bank is a national bank ·with approximately $1 .336 trillion in assets 

as of March 31, 2015. 

g. The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10 billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

10. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

11.  DSNB is a subsidiary of the Bank and an "affiliate" of the Bank within 

the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

12. DSNB is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

13. CCSI USA is a wholly-owned non-bank subsidiary of the Bank and an 

"affiliate" of the Bank within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 
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14. CCSI USA is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

Add-On Products Telemarketing 

15. Respondent marketed and sold seven Covered Add-On Products to 

Cardholders: 

a. Debt Protection Products: AccountCare, Balance Protector, Credit 

Protection, Credit Protector, and Payment Safeguard (collectively, Debt 

Protection Products) each included balance or payment cancellation 

benefits, or deferral of the payment due date, on a covered credit card 

account if the Cardholder (or certain others) experienced a certain 

qualifying event. The event type determined the benefit type, duration of 

benefit, and benefit dollar amount. Qualifying events, which varied by 

product, included job loss, disability, hospitalization, and certain life 

events (e.g., marriage or divorce). Each product had a monthly fee 

determined by a percentage of the covered credit card account's balance 

as of the billing cycle end-date, i.e., the balance displayed on the 

Cardholder's monthly statement. 

b. IdentityMonitor: IdentityMonitor purportedly provided credit 

monitoring and credit report retrieval services with fraud protection 

features. The primary benefits offered consisted of daily credit 

monitoring and alerts, along with credit reports and educational credit 

scores based on a member's credit file maintained by one or three major 

consumer reporting agencies (or credit reporting companies). Credit 
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monitoring and credit report retrieval services were available from a 

single major credit reporting company by default, but members could 

upgrade for free to coverage from all three major credit reporting 

companies after enrollment. Identity Monitor features also included, 

among others, identity theft expense reimbursement coverage up to 

$25,000 (or $10,000 in certain states) for a limited set of expenses 

incurred because of identity theft. Identity Monitor generally cost $1  for 

the first month and $12.95/month thereafter. A different version of the 

product, which limited benefits to a single major credit reporting 

company's credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services, was 

available for $6.95/month. 

c. Watch-Guard Preferred: Watch-Guard Preferred provided wallet 

protection services. It offered notification to credit and debit card 

issuers on behalf of the member if the member's cards were lost or 

stolen. It also offered, among other things, identity theft reimbursement 

coverage up to $25,000 (or $10,000 in certain states) and emergency 

cash advances (billed to a member's credit card) in the event of a lost or 

stolen card. Watch-Guard Preferred generally cost $1 for the first month 

and $8.95/month thereafter. 

16. Respondent marketed the Covered Add-On Products through, among other 

channels, inbound and outbound telemarketing. CCSI USA and its Service 

Providers operated all telemarketing channels for the Covered Add-On 

Products on behalf of the Bank and DSNB. 
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17. From at least 2003 to August 2012, Respondent enrolled Cardholders in Debt 

Protection Products during telemarketing calls and in many cases 

misrepresented or omitted the costs, terms, benefits (or material limitations 

thereof) of the products, including by: 

a. misrepresenting or omitting the cost of the Debt Protection Products; 

Cardholders needed to have a zero dollar account balance at the end of their 

billing cycle to avoid the monthly fee, but Respondent told some Cardholders 

they could avoid a fee by paying their balance in full before the later-in-time 

monthly statement due date; Respondent also failed to inform some 

Cardholders of the actual cost when they expressed an incorrect belief that the 

product would have no cost if they fully paid off their monthly statement 

account balance before the payment due date; 

b. misrepresenting the cost of Balance Protector in certain telemarketing scripts 

by claiming a blanket "free" 30-day trial period when Balance Protector 

members who did not cancel within the trial period were still charged for 

coverage during the initial 30 days of membership; and 

c. failing to inform some Cardholders who had disclosed information indicating 

they would be ineligible for certain benefits of a Debt Protection Product of 

their ineligibility for those benefits. 

18. From at least January 2009 to October 2012, Respondent enrolled 

Cardholders in Identity Monitor during telemarketing calls and in many cases 

misrepresented or omitted the costs, terms, benefits (or material limitations 

thereof) of the product, including by: 
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a. misrepresenting that Identity Monitor provided fraud alert service on 

credit card accounts at the transaction level when it did not; instead it 

provided alerts to changes in a member's credit file maintained by the 

major credit reporting companies; 

b. misrepresenting that IdentityMonitor's credit score benefit was "from all 

three credit reporting bureaus" when the credit scores were neither 

generated nor provided by Equifax, Experian, or Trans Union; instead 

another third-party vendor generated the score using as an input the 

consumer's credit files separately maintained at those credit reporting 

companies; and 

c. omitting that Identity Monitor cost $12.95 per month after a 30-day trial 

period and that billing would continue until the Cardholder affirmatively 

cancelled when some Cardholders expressed an incorrect belief they 

could enroll for just 30 days for $1 without further obligation. 

19. From at least January 2009 to October 2012, CCSI USA enrolled many 

Cardholders in Covered Add-On Products during telemarketing calls: 

a. using leading questions to obtain billing authorization from Cardholders 

when soliciting them for Covered Add-On Products (except Credit 

Protection); and 

b. without any billing authorization or by construing ambiguous responses to 

requests for billing authorization as permission for enrollment. 

20. From at least January 2009 to October 2012, a number of employees of 

TCIM, Inc. (TCIM), a CCSI USA Service Provider, intentionally and 

systematically misrepresented product terms and conditions to 
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Cardholders located in certain states during outbound telemarketing on 

Respondent's behalf by: 

a. knowing, in advance of call placement, which calls Respondent's third-

party quality assurance Service Provider would later review in their 

entirety; 

b. for calls that TCIM knew would not later be reviewed in their entirety, 

encouraging telemarketing agents to create their own solicitation scripts 

and use them on live calls when they were known to contain material 

misrepresentations about product benefits; and 

c. failing to take appropriate corrective action when employees made 

material misrepresentations that were known to TCIM management. 

21. Respondent's compliance monitoring, vendor management, and quality 

assurance functions failed to prevent, identify, or correct this conduct. 

CFP A Deceptive Acts or Practices 
in the Telemarketing of Covered Add-On Products 

22. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit "unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive" acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

23. As described in Paragraphs 17, 18, and 20, in connection with the 

telemarketing, offering for sale, or sale of Covered Add-On Products, in 

numerous instances, Respondent misrepresented or omitted the costs, 

terms, or benefits (or material limitations thereof) of the Covered Add -On 

Products. 

24. The statements and omissions described in Paragraphs 17, 18 and 20 were 

misleading and related to material terms. Thus, Respondent's representations 
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and omissions, as described in Paragraphs 17, 18, and 20 constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

TSR Violations 
in the Telemarketing of Covered Add-On Products 

25. Title 16 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 310 prohibits telemarketers 

from: 

a. failing to disclose, truthfully and in a clear and conspicuous manner, before a 

consumer consents to pay for goods or services offered, or by 

misrepresenting, directly or by implication, (1) the total costs to purchase, 

receive, or use, and the quantity of, any goods or services that are the subject 

of the sales offer, or (2) material restrictions, limitations, or conditions to 

purchase, receive, or use the goods or services that are the subject of the sales 

offer, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1) to (2); 

b. misrepresenting "any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or 

central characteristics of goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer," 

16 C.F.R. § 310-4(a)(2)(iii); and 

c. causing billing information to be submitted for payment during telemarketing 

·without the express informed consent ofthe customer, 16 C.F.R. § 310-4(a)(7). 

26. In connection with the telephone-based offer of Covered Add-On Products to 

Cardholders described in Paragraph 17, CCSI USA acted as a telemarketer, as 

defined by 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(cc), and conducted telemarketing, as defined by 

16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 
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27. The representations and omissions of CCSI USA described in Paragraphs 17, 

18, and 20 violate 16 C.P.R. §§ 310.3(a)(1)(i) to (ii), 310.3(a)(2)(i) to (iii), and 

Section 1031 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531. 

28. The conduct of CCSI USA described in Paragraph 19 violates 16 C.P.R. 

§ 310-4(a)(7) and Section 1031 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531. 

Deceptive Acts or Practices 
in the Online Marketing of IdentityMonitor 

29. From at least January 2009 to March 2012, Respondent marketed 

IdentityMonitor online through a product website that claimed 

IdentityMonitor provided daily credit monitoring with "Access to 3-in-1 

credit reports, credit scores and monitoring from the 3 leading credit 

bureaus at no additional cost." 

30. As described in Paragraph 29, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Identity Monitor, in numerous 

instances through Apri11, 2012, Respondent represented, expressly or 

impliedly, that IdentityMonitor provided credit scores from the three leading 

credit reporting companies at no additional cost. 

31. In fact, the credit scores provided to Identity Monitor customers were not 

generated or provided by any of the three major credit reporting companies 

Equifax, Experian, or Trans Union. Instead, Respondent's third-party vendor 

generated the credit scores by using as an input the consumer's credit files 

separately maintained at the three major credit reporting companies. Thus, 

Respondent's representations described in Paragraph 29 constitute deceptive 
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acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Unfair Acts or Practices 
in the Billing of Credit Monitoring Products 

32. From at least 2000 to 2005, Respondent marketed and sold Affinion's 

Privacy Guard and CPP's DirectAlert to Cardholders. 

33. Affinion also marketed and sold Privacy Guard to Cardholders and 

performed the servicing and billing for the product pursuant to 

agreements ·with Respondent; CPP similarly marketed and sold 

DirectAlert to Cardholders and performed the servicing and billing for 

that product pursuant to product agreements with Respondent. 

34· The Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b, required a "permissible 

purpose" for third-parties to obtain Cardholders' credit information 

from the credit reporting companies so as to provide the credit 

monitoring and credit report retrieval services. Among other reasons, a 

credit reporting company may release a credit report in accordance with 

a consumer's "written instructions." 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(2). 

35· Before Respondent or its Service Providers could access the Cardholders' 

credit reports and provide credit monitoring services to Cardholders 

enrolled in Privacy Guard or DirectAlert, Respondent or its Service 

Providers were required to obtain sufficient written authorization and 

personal verification information from the Cardholders. 

36. In many cases, however, time passed before a Cardholder's 

authorization was obtained, or a Cardholder's authorization was never 
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obtained. In other instances, Cardholders provided their authorization, 

but one or more credit reporting companies could not process the 

authorization if they were unable to match the Cardholder's 

identification information v.rith the agency's own records. In these 

circumstances, from at least 2000 to approximately September 2012 for 

Privacy Guard, and from at least 2002 to approximately February 2013 for 

DirectAlert, the Cardholders were billed the full fee for these products 

even when they were not receiving all of the purchased credit monitoring 

or credit report retrieval benefits. 

37. From at least 2005 to 2013, Respondent marketed and sold 

IdentityMonitor to Cardholders. It also marketed and sold Citi Credit 

Monitoring Service from at least 2005 to January 2008, before it sold 

the product portfolio to a third-party vendor. 

38. A third-party vendor performed the servicing for Identity Monitor and 

Citi Credit Monitoring Service pursuant to agreements v.rith Respondent. 

39· In many cases, due to various service delivery errors preventing benefits 

activation and fulfillment, Cardholders were billed the full fee for 

Identity Monitor or Citi Credit Monitoring Service even when they were 

not receiving some or all of the credit monitoring or credit report 

retrieval benefits. 

40. Respondent's compliance monitoring, vendor management and quality 

assurance failed to prevent, identify, or correct in a timely manner the 

billing for Credit Monitoring Product services that were not fully 

provided. 
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41. The billing of Credit Monitoring Products fees and acceptance of 

payments of such fees while failing to provide full credit monitoring and 

credit report retrieval services offered has resulted in substantial injury 

to approximately 2,159,000 Cardholder accounts from the time of each 

product's inception through the Effective Date in the amount estimated to 

be $196,8n,ooo. These injuries were not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and are not outweighed by any countervailing benefit to the 

consumers or to competition. 

42. By reason of these billing practices, as described in Paragraphs 32 to 41, 

Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Deceptive Acts or Practices 
in the Point-of-Sale Marketing of 

Credit Protection and Balance Protector 

43. Some consumers successfully applying for retailer-affiliated credit cards 

issued by Respondent were enrolled in Credit Protection at point-of-sale 

terminals or Balance Protector at point-of-sale terminals at specialty 

services desks, without adequate disclosure they had also purchased 

debt protection coverage for the newly obtained credit card accounts. 

44· From at least 2008 to August 2012 for Credit Protection and January 

2009 to August 2012 for Balance Protector, Respondent's improper sales 

marketing practices at point of sale included: 

a. omitting material information regarding the benefits (or material 

limitations thereof), conditions, or restrictions of the debt protection 
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coverage during the pin-pad session before the customer could enroll in 

Credit Protection or Balance Protector; 

b. using a pin-pad screen sequence, with the debt protection offer 

occurring before the completion of the credit application, that conflated 

the two processes and increased the likelihood that consumers would 

not realize that they were both applying for credit and purchasing debt 

protection coverage; 

c. using ambiguous text on the pin-pad offer screens that consumers could 

reasonably interpret to mean that they were acknowledging receipt of 

product literature instead of enrolling in debt protection coverage; 

d. failing to format some confirmation screens to clearly and prominently 

notify the consumer of the debt protection purchase; and 

e. failing to ensure in-store retail associates consistently provided the 

products' terms and conditions to the consumer before the pin-pad 

enrollment process concluded. 

45· As described in Paragraph 44 in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Credit Protection at point of sale and 

Balance Protector at point of sale at specialty services desks, Respondent in 

numerous instances misrepresented or omitted the costs, terms, or benefits 

(or material limitations thereof) of the products or did not adequately 

disclose that consumers had also purchased debt protection coverage for the 

newly obtained credit card account. 
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46. The representations, omissions, and practices of Respondent described in 

Paragraph 44 constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Deceptive Acts or Practices 
in the Membership Retention of IdentityMonitor 

47· From at least January 2009 to October 2012, consumers contacted 

Respondent over the telephone and sought to cancel their Identity Monitor 

membership; many members did not cancel after Respondent misrepresented 

or omitted the costs, terms, or benefits (or material limitations thereof) of 

Identity Monitor. 

48. Respondent's improper retention practices included: 

a. offering a streamlined version of Identity Monitor at a reduced price, i.e., a 

"downsell," and falsely stating that the member's benefits would not change or 

omitting that the downsell product had reduced benefits ·with the 

accompanying price decrease; and 

b. misrepresenting the identity theft expense reimbursement benefit or omitting 

material limitations to the benefit provided. 

49. As described in Paragraph 48, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, and telephone-based retention of 

IdentityMonitor, Respondent in numerous instances misrepresented or 

omitted the terms or benefits (or material limitations thereof) of 

Identity Monitor. 
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50. Respondent's representations and omissions described in Paragraph 48 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Deceptive Acts or Practices 
in the Assessment of the DSNB Credit Card Account 

Expedited Telephone Payment Fee 

51. DSNB issued retailer-affiliated general purpose and private label in-store 

credit card accounts (DSNB Credit Card Accounts). 

52. DSNB's Service Provider performed collections on DSNB Credit Card 

Accounts delinquent for 90 days or less; DSNB directly performed collections 

on DSNB Credit Card Accounts delinquent for more than 90 days. 

53· DSNB and its Service Provider generally charged DSNB Cardholders a $14.95 

fee to expedite a telephone payment made through a checking account so that 

payment would post to the DSNB Credit Card Account on the same day it was 

made (Expedited Payment Fee). 

54. Since January 1, 2009, approximately 1,776,000 delinquent DSNB 

Cardholders collectively paid approximately $23,86o,ooo to DSNB through 

the Expedited Payment Fee. 

55· From at least January 2009 to March 2013, DSNB or its Service Provider in 

many instances: 

a. failed to disclose the purpose of the Expedited Payment Fee to DSNB 

Cardholders or, in the case of DSNB's Service Provider, also misrepresented 

the fee as a "processing" fee during collections calls; 
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b.  misrepresented in the written DSNB Credit Card Account agreement that the 

purpose of the fee was to allow payment by telephone, when the actual 

purpose was to post payment to the account on the same day it was made; 

c.  suggested to DSNB Cardholders that they pay by telephone (if the DSNB 

Cardholder had available funds in their checking account) and if the 

Cardholder agreed, set the payment to post to the account on the same day, 

thereby triggering the Expedited Payment Fee; 

d. failed to disclose the existence of no-cost payment alternatives, including free 

options for next-day payment; and 

e. charged the fee even though it was almost never in the DSNB Cardholder's 

financial interest to ensure same-day payment on their account. 

56. As described in Paragraph 55, in connection with the imposition of Expedited 

Payment Fees during telephone calls with delinquent DSNB Cardholders and 

in the course of attempting to collect debt, DSNB and its Service Provider in 

numerous instances misrepresented or omitted material information 

regarding the Expedited Payment Fee. 

57· DSNB's and its Service Provider's representations and omissions described in 

Paragraph 55 constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§  5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

58. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, and must take reasonable measures to ensure that its Service 

Providers, affiliates, and other agents do not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, or the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 

C.F.R. §§ 310.3(a), 310-4(a)(7), in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, selling, billing, or administration of any Add-On 

Product, the retention of members enrolled in any Add-On Product, or with 

charging Cardholders a fee to expedite telephone payment on a credit card 

account issued by Respondent. 

59. Respondent must correct all violations of law, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein, and must implement procedures to prevent 

their recurrence. 

60. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must discontinue the marketing and sale of all Add-On Products by telephone 

or at point of sale, or engaging in telephone-based membership retention for 

consumers enrolled in Add-On Products, and may not market or sell Add-On 

Products by telephone or at point of sale, or engage in telephone-based 
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membership retention for Add-On Products, without first securing a 

determination of non-objection from the Regional Director, as follows: 

a. Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan, as described in Section VII of this Consent Order. 

b. The Regional Director has discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Add-On Product Compliance Plan or to direct Respondent to 

revise it. If the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Add-On 

Product Compliance Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit 

the Add-On Product Compliance Plan to the Regional Director. 

c. Respondent may market or sell Add-On Products by telephone or at point of 

sale, and engage in telephone-based membership retention for Add-On 

Products, only after receiving notification that the Regional Director has made 

a determination of non-objection to the Add-On Product Compliance Plan 

and only after adhering to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Add-On Product Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Add-On Product Compliance Plan 

61. Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan must be a comprehensive compliance 

plan designed to ensure that Respondent's marketing, sale, servicing 

(including member retention), billing, fulfillment, and administration of Add

On Products complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

the terms of this Consent Order. 

62. Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan also must include, at a minimum: 
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a. appropriate safeguards designed to ensure that Respondent and its officers, 

servants, employees, attorneys, Service Providers, affiliates, or other agents 

refrain from engaging in violations of Federal consumer financial laws in the 

marketing, sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, fulfillment, 

and administration of Add-On Products; 

b. a plan for informing prospective and current Add-On Product customers of all 

fees, costs, expenses, charges, and billing arrangements associated with Add

On Products; 

c. a plan for informing prospective and current Add-On Product customers of 

any material conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the Add-On 

Products, including how Respondent will inform prospective Add-On Product 

customers who disclose conditions that may make them ineligible for certain 

benefits (e.g., current disability or unemployment) of the restrictions and 

conditions relating to those conditions; 

d. a plan for ensuring that Respondent does not enroll prospective customers in 

Add-On Products over the telephone who have not given express informed 

consent to purchase the Add-On Product; 

e.  a plan for ensuring that the content, formatting, and sequence of pin-pad 

screens used to enroll prospective customers in any Add-On Product at a 

retailer's point of sale are not deceptive; 

f. a plan for ensuring that current and prospective customers are billed for 

Credit Monitoring Products only when they receive all of the purchased credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval benefits of the product; and 
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g. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

63. Vendor Management Policy- Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan also 

must include the development or revision of a written vendor management 

policy for Add-On Products (Vendor Management Policy). The Vendor 

Management Policy must be designed to ensure that Add-On Products that 

are marketed and sold by Respondent or through Respondent's Service 

Providers comply with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including 

but not limited to Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310. 

The Vendor Management Policy must require, at a minimum: 

a .  an analysis to be conducted by Respondent, before Respondent enters into a 

contract with any Service Provider, of the ability, including operational and 

technical capacity, of the Service Provider to perform the marketing, sale, 

servicing (including member retention), billing, fulfillment, and 

administration of services for the Add-On Products to be in compliance with 

all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent's policies and 

procedures; 

b. for new and renewed contracts, a written contract between Respondent and 

the Service Provider that sets forth the responsibilities of each party, and at a 

minimum must include: 

1. the Service Provider's specific duty to maintain adequate internal 

controls over the marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, and administration of Add-On Products, 
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including the Service Provider's duty to have the operational and 

technical capacity to perform these functions effectively; 

n. the Service Provider's duty to provide adequate training on applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent's policies and 

procedures to all Service Provider employees or agents engaged in 

marketing, sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, 

fulfillment, or administration of the Add-On Products; 

m. Respondent's authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews of the 

Service Provider's controls, performance, and information systems as 

they relate to the marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of the Add-On 

Products; this authority must permit Respondent to conduct such 

reviews without notice for Service Providers performing telemarketing 

of Add-ons; and 

IV. Respondent's right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider 

materially fails to comply "'rith the terms specified in the contract, 

including the terms required by this Paragraph or any other applicable 

provision of this Order. 

c. periodic onsite review ( \<\rith and \<\rithout prior notice) by Respondent of the 

Service Provider's controls, performance, and information systems; 

d. comprehensive written procedures for prmriding appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and Respondent's 

policies and procedures to appropriate employees of Respondent's Service 
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Providers who market or sell Add-On Products during telephone calls or who 

engage in membership retention efforts by telephone; 

e. comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.P.R. Part 310, and Respondent's 

policies and procedures, to Respondent's Service Providers monitoring Add

On Product marketing, sales, or membership retention calls; and 

f. comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and reporting 

any violation of applicable Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent's 

policies and procedures, by Respondent's Service Providers in a timely 

manner, to a specified executive risk manager at Respondent who is 

independent of the unit overseeing the sale and marketing of the Add-On 

Products. 

64. UDAAP Policy- Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan also must include a 

written UDAAP policy for Add-On Products (UDAAP Policy). The UDAAP 

Policy must require, at a minimum: 

a. a written analysis, to be conducted on an annual basis, of (1) any changes to 

the governance, control, marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of Add-On Products, and 

(2) any new Add-On Products, including at a minimum, 

1. an assessment of the UDAAP risks of the Add -On Products and of their 

governance, control, marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, and administration; and 
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n. an evaluation of the adequacy of Respondent's internal controls and 

written policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor, and 

control the UDAAP risks associated with the Add-On Products. 

b. when not otherwise prohibited by applicable law, the complete recording of all 

telephone calls in their entirety in which Add-On Products are marketed or 

sold by Respondent by telephone, which recordings must be retained for a 

period of at least 25 months from the date of the call; 

c. when not otherwise prohibited by applicable law, the complete recording of all 

telephone calls in their entirety in which an Add-on Product customer was 

subjected to membership retention efforts and remained enrolled in the Add

On Product, which recordings must be retained for a period of at least 25 

months from the date of the call; 

d. comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and Respondent's 

policies and procedures to appropriate Respondent employees who market or 

sell Add-On Products during telephone calls or who engage in retention 

efforts during telephone calls; 

e. comprehensive written procedures for monitoring and evaluating compliance 

with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and Respondent's 

policies and procedures, telephone calls in which Add-on Products are 

marketed or sold by Respondent or calls in which an Add-on Product 
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customer is subjected to membership retention efforts and remains enrolled 

in the Add-On Product; 

f. comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but not limited to 

training on Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and 

Respondent's policies and procedures to Respondent employees monitoring 

Add-On Product marketing, sales, or membership retention calls; 

g. independent telephone call monitoring by qualified personnel who have 

training in identifying and reporting violations of applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws, including but not limited to violations of Sections 

1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and Respondent's policies 

and procedures on the governance, control, marketing, sale, servicing 

(including member retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of Add

On Products; 

h. comprehensive ·written policies and procedures for identifying and reporting 

any violation of applicable Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent's 

policies and procedures by Respondent's employees, in a timely manner, to a 

specified executive risk manager at Respondent who is independent of the 

unit overseeing the marketing and sale of the Add-On Products; 

1. development of training materials relating to identifying and responding to 

violations of applicable Federal consumer financial lav,rs, including but not 

limited to violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 

310, for the governance, control, marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of Add-On Products that will 
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be incorporated into the existing annual compliance training for appropriate 

employees; 

j. reporting, on at least a monthly basis by the independent unit responsible for 

conducting the required monitoring, of its findings from the telephone call 

monitoring to a specified executive risk manager at Respondent who is 

independent of the unit overseeing the marketing, sale, servicing (including 

member retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of Add-On 

Products; and 

k. written policies and procedures to ensure the risk management, internal 

audit, and corporate compliance programs have the requisite authority and 

status within Respondent so that appropriate reviews of Add-On Products 

marketed or sold by Respondent or through Service Providers may occur and 

deficiencies are identified and properly remedied. 

65. Internal Audit Program - Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan also must 

include a written internal audit program for Add-On Products (Internal Audit 

Program). The Internal Audit Program must, at a minimum: 

a. require that Respondent's Internal Audit department periodically assess 

Respondent's compliance with the Vendor Management Policy and UDAAP 

Policy; such assessments must occur within 120 days after Respondent's 

receipt of a determination of non-objection to the Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan, and periodically but at least annually thereafter, and the 

findings must be memorialized in writing; within 10 days of completing each 

assessment, the Internal Audit department must provide its written findings 
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to the Compliance Committee (described in Section VIII of this Consent 

Order) and the Regional Director; 

b. include written policies and procedures for conducting audits of Respondent's 

compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but 

not limited to Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, for 

marketing, sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, fulfillment, 

and administration of Add-On Products; these policies and procedures must 

specify the frequency, scope, and depth of these audits; and 

c. include written policies and procedures for expanding its sampling when 

exceptions based on potential violations of applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws are detected as part of an audit described in Paragraph 6s(b). 

VIII 

Compliance Committee and Action Plan 

66. The Board must appoint and maintain a compliance committee of at least 

three directors, of which a majority may not be employees or officers of the 

Bank or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (Compliance Committee). At 

formation and thereafter in the event of a change in membership, the names 

of the members of the Compliance Committee must be submitted to the 

Regional Director. The Compliance Committee must be responsible for 

monitoring and ensuring Respondent's compliance with this Consent Order 

(unless other specific approvals are required). The Compliance Committee 

must meet at least monthly and maintain minutes of its meetings. 

67. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Regional Director a plan to address the actions that are necessary and 
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appropriate to achieve compliance with this Consent Order (Action Plan). The 

Action Plan must specify timelines for completion of each of the requirements 

of this Consent Order that have not already been completed and must 

designate and certify those items that have been completed. The timelines in 

the Action Plan must be consistent with all deadlines in this Consent Order, 

unless modified in writing by the Regional Director. 

68. The Action Plan must include provisions requiring the Compliance 

Committee, ·within 120 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 30 

days after the end of each quarter until all items in the Action Plan have been 

completed, to submit a written progress report (Quarterly Progress Report) to 

the Board setting forth in detail the actions taken to comply with this Consent 

Order, and the results and status of those actions. 

69. The Action Plan must also include provisions requiring that, upon receiving 

the Quarterly Progress Report, the Board must forward a copy of the 

Quarterly Progress Report, with any additional comments by the Board, to the 

Regional Director within 10 days of the first Board meeting following receipt 

of such report. 

70. The Action Plan must also include the following if Respondent does not 

submit an Add-On Products Compliance Plan: 

a. a plan for informing current Add-On Product customers of all fees, costs, 

expenses, charges, and billing arrangements associated with Add-On 

Products; 

b. a plan for informing current Add-On Product customers of any material 

conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the Add-On Products; 
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c. a plan for ensuring that current customers are billed the full fee for Credit 

Monitoring Products only when they receive all of the purchased credit 

monitoring or credit report retrieval benefits of the product; and 

d. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

71. The Action Plan and all Quarterly Progress Reports must also report on the 

status of the Add-On Products Compliance Plan, if applicable. 

72. The Compliance Committee must ensure the Action Plan is submitted to the 

Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection. In the event 

that the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Action Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Action Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for 

revisions. 

73. Upon receipt of a determination of non-objection from the Regional Director 

to the Action Plan, the Compliance Committee must ensure Respondent's 

adoption, implementation, and adherence to the Action Plan. 

74. Any material proposed changes or deviations from the approved Action Plan 

must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for review and 

determination of non-objection. In the event that the Regional Director 

directs Respondent to revise the changes to the Action Plan, Respondent must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Action Plan to the Regional Director 

within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for revisions. 
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IX 

Role of the Board 

75. The Board will ensure that all submissions (including plans, reports, and 

programs) required by this Consent Order are submitted to the Regional 

Director. 

76. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain 

documents for prior determination of non-objection by the Regional Director, 

the Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound 

management of Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with 

Federal consumer financial laws and this Consent Order. 

77. In each instance that this Consent Order requires Respondent to ensure 

adherence to this Consent Order, or perform certain obligations of 

Respondent, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply v.rith 

the Consent Order; 

b. require the timely reporting by Respondent management to the Board on the 

status of compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non

compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

78. The Board may delegate the authority to perform the obligations required by 

Paragraphs 75 to 77 to an appropriate committee of at least three Board 

directors; ultimate responsibility for these obligations will remain vested with 

the Board. At formation and thereafter in the event of a change in 
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membership, the names of the members of this committee must be submitted 

to the Regional Director. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

X 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. For the purpose of providing redress to Affected Customers as required by 

this Section, within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or 

deposit into a segregated deposit account an amount not less than 

$700,ooo,ooo (Payment Floor), which represents the estimated amount of 

restitution to be paid to approximately 8,8oo,ooo Cardholder accounts due to 

the practices described in Section V. Respondent may reduce this reserve or 

the deposit by the amount of any restitution Respondent made prior to the 

Effective Date that complies v.rith the requirements of this Consent Order, for 

the purpose of providing redress to Affected Customers as required by this 

Section, and the amount of any estimated restitution Respondent will make to 

Affected Debt Protection Customers and Affected Pre-2009 Debt Protection 

Customers pursuant to the OCC Consent Order. 

80. If Respondent has made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of this 

Consent Order that complies v.rith the requirements of this Consent Order, 

Respondent must provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the 

Regional Director concurrent with the Redress Plan required by Paragraph 81. 

If Respondent is making any restitution to an Affected Customer after the 
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Effective Date pursuant to the OCC Consent Order, this Consent Order must 

not be construed to require that Respondent provide duplicative restitution to 

that Affected Customer. 

81.  Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for prior determination of non-objection a comprehensive written 

plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). 

The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent 

must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional 

Director ·within 15 days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director 

has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent 

must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

82. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Customers and, at a minimum, 

specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Customers and reimburse all 

Affected Customers for the applicable redress amount. 

83. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

Fulfillment Customer includes: 

a. all Credit Monitoring Product fees paid by an Affected Fulfillment Customer 

during any period in which the customer was Unfulfilled; and 

b. all over-limit fees, all late fees, and estimated finance charges, as calculated 

pursuant to the methodology in the Redress Plan, paid by an Affected 
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Fulfillment Customer during any period in which the customer was 

Unfulfilled. 

84. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

Debt Protection Customer includes: 

a. the following product fees: 

1.  if the Affected Debt Protection Customer enrolled in the product for 12 

months or less, all product fees charged to the customer; or 

11. if the Affected Debt Protection Customer enrolled in the product for 

greater than 12 months, 12 months of product fees (based on the 

average monthly fee paid by the customer over the entire course of 

their membership); 

b. and an estimated finance charge, to be set forth in the Redress Plan, on the 

product fees described in Paragraph 84(a); 

c. but if an Affected Debt Protection Customer is eligible for a greater amount of 

redress pursuant to the OCC Consent Order than the amount otherwise 

available under Paragraph 84(a) and (b), then the Redress Plan must provide 

that the customer will receive the amount paid pursuant to the OCC Consent 

Order and not the amount available under Paragraph 84(a) and (b). 

85. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

Pre-2009 Debt Protection Customer will be the amount of redress paid to that 

customer after the Effective Date pursuant to the OCC Consent Order. 

86. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

IdentityMonitor Enrollment Customer and to each Affected Watch-Guard 

Preferred Customer includes: 
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a. the following product fees: 

1. if enrolled in the product for 12 months or less, all product fees charged 

to the customer; or 

n .  if enrolled in the product for greater than 12 months, 12 months of 

product fees (based on the average monthly fee paid by the customer 

over the entire course of their membership); 

b. and an estimated finance charge, to be set forth in the Redress Plan, on the 

product fees described in Paragraph 86(a). 

87. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

TCIM Customer includes: 

a. all product fees charged to that customer (Respondent may propose a 

methodology for identifying those not subject to the practices identified in 

Paragraph 20 and therefore not eligible for redress under this Paragraph); 

and 

b. an estimated finance charge, to be set forth in the Redress Plan, on the 

product fees described in Paragraph 87(a). 

88. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

IdentityMonitor Retained Customer includes: 

a. the following product fees: 

1. if enrolled in Identity Monitor for 12 months or less after their first 

retention in the product, all product fees charged to the customer after 

that retention; or 

n. if enrolled in Identity Monitor for longer than 12 months after their first 

retention in the product, 12 months of product fees (based on the 
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average monthly fee paid by the customer over the entire course of 

their membership); 

b. and an estimated finance charge, to be set forth in the Redress Plan, on the 

product fees described in Paragraph 88(a). 

89. The Redress Plan must provide that the redress amount paid to each Affected 

DSNB Cardholder includes all Expedited Payment Fees paid by the Affected 

DSNB Cardholder since January 1, 2009 when their DSNB Credit Card 

Account was delinquent. 

go. The Redress Plan must provide that: 

a. any Affected Customer who is eligible for more than one category of redress 

under Paragraphs 83 to 89 will receive remediation under all of those 

Paragraphs, except that no Affected Customer may be reimbursed more than 

once for the same product fees; and 

b. a consumer who does not meet one of the definitions of an Affected Customer 

under Paragraph 7 remains eligible to meet one of the other definitions of an 

Affected Customer under that Paragraph. 

91. The Redress Plan may permit Respondent to reduce the redress amounts 

described in Paragraphs 83 to 89 by: 

a. any amount that was a previous refund of the fees and charges described in 

Paragraphs 83 to 89; and 

b. any restitution previously provided by Respondent, as described in Paragraph 

So of this Consent Order. 

92. The Redress Plan must provide processes covering all Affected Customers 

regardless of their current account status with Respondent, including: 
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a. for any open account, Respondent must provide a credit posted to the 

account, regardless of whether the crediting of an Affected Customer's 

account results in a credit balance, except that for DSNB Cardholders, 

Respondent may propose in the Redress Plan an alternative methodology for 

delivering redress; 

b. for any closed account v.rith no balance outstanding, Respondent must mail a 

certified or Bank or DSNB check, as applicable, to any Affected Customer; 

c. for any closed account v.rith a balance outstanding, Respondent must provide 

a credit posted to the account, except that for DSNB Cardholders, Respondent 

may propose in the Redress Plan an alternative methodology for delivering 

redress; where the redress amount is greater than the existing balance, 

Respondent must mail to the Affected Customer a certified or Bank or DSNB 

check, as applicable, in the amount of the excess; 

d. for any charged-off account that Respondent has not sold to an unaffiliated 

third party, either a credit will be issued decreasing the charged-off balance by 

the amount of redress, or Respondent must issue redress consistent v.rith the 

requirements for closed accounts in Paragraph 92(b); where the redress 

amount is greater than the existing charged-off balance, Respondent must 

mail to the Affected Customer a certified or Bank or DSNB check, as 

applicable, in the amount of the excess; any Redress Notification Letter, as 

described in Paragraph 93 below, sent v.rith regard to a charged-off account 

must notify the Affected Customer of the credit decreasing the charged-off 

balance as well as any additional money the Affected Customer is receiving; 

and 
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e. for any bankruptcy, estate, and accounts in litigation, Respondent must make 

a refund in accordance with applicable law. 

93. The Redress Plan must include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification 

Letter) to be sent notifying Affected Customers of the redress; and (2) the 

form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The 

letter must include language explaining how the amount of redress was 

calculated; an explanation of the use of a credit or check as applicable; and a 

statement that the provision of refund payment is in compliance with the 

terms of this Consent Order. Respondent may not include in any envelope 

containing a Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the 

approved letters, and when appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondent 

has obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau 

does not object to the inclusion of the additional materials. 

94. The Redress Plan must describe the: 

a .  methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of Affected Customers; 

b. methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each Affected 

Customer as required in this Consent Order; 

c. procedures for issuing and tracking redress to Affected Customers; and 

d. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

95. Respondent must make reasonable attempts to locate Affected Customers 

whose Redress Notification Letter or check is returned, including performing 

a standard address search using the National Change of Address System. 

Respondent must re-mail any returned letters and redress checks to corrected 
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addresses within 90 days of receiving a return. Any unclaimed funds must be 

disposed of in compliance with the Redress Plan. 

96. With respect to any Affected Customer's account that receives redress as a 

credit that decreases the existing balance or charged-offbalance, Respondent 

must, as permitted by law, report the updated balance to each credit reporting 

company to which Respondent had previously furnished balance information 

for the account or delete the account tradeline if the updated balance is zero 

dollars or less. In the case of an Affected Customer account sold to an 

unaffiliated third party, Respondent must request that such third-party owner 

of the debt report the updated balance to, or delete the account tradeline at, 

each credit reporting company to which Respondent or the third-party owner 

of the debt had previously furnished balance information for the account. 

97. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. Any proposed changes to or 

deviation from the approved Redress Plan must be submitted in writing to the 

Regional Director for prior determination of non-objection. 

98. Within 90 days from the completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent's 

Internal Audit department must review and assess compliance with the terms 

of the Redress Plan (Redress Review). 

99. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Affected Customers; the 

amount of redress for each Affected Customer; the procedures used to issue 
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and track redress payment; the procedures used for reporting and requesting 

the reporting of updated balances, deleting or requesting the deletion of 

account tradelines, as applicable, to the credit reporting companies; and the 

work of any independent consultants that Respondent has used to assist and 

review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

100. The Redress Review must be completed and summarized in a written report 

(Redress Review Report), which must be completed within 6o days of 

completion of the Redress Review. Within 10 days of its completion, the 

Redress Review Report must be submitted to the Regional Director and the 

Board. 

101. After completing the Redress Plan, and any redress pursuant to a redress plan 

as required by the OCC Consent Order, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Customers is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days ofthe 

completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's 

wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Customers and the Payment Floor. 

102. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Customers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the 

Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 
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103. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Customer under this Consent Order on that Affected Customer waiving any 

right. 

XI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

104. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $3s,ooo,ooo to the Bureau. 

105. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

'.vith the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

106. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund ofthe Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

107. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 
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b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

108. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the comt in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, 

and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

XII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

109. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

110. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 
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purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

111. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement 

in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid 

or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

XIII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

112. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any material development that may 

affect compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but 

not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that 

would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or 

dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or 

practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's 

name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before 

the development or as soon as practicable after learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 
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113. As described in Section VIII of this Consent Order, Respondent must submit 

an Action Plan to the Regional Director within 120 days of the Effective Date, 

and Quarterly Progress Reports thereafter, that have been approved by the 

Board and which, at a minimum: 

a. includes the information required by Section VIII of this Consent Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Consent Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XIV, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XIV 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

114. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers or Service Providers who have responsibilities related to the 

marketing, sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, fulfillment, 

or administration of Add-On Products or the assessment of fees to expedite 

debtor payments by telephone for credit card accounts issued by Respondent. 

Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Order or a summary of this Order, as to which the Regional Director has made 

a determination of non-objection, to the Respondent's employees or other 

agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the marketing, 

sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, fulfillment, or 

administration of Add-On Products or to the assessment of fees to expedite 

debtor payments by telephone for credit card accounts issued by Respondent. 
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115. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XIII. Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to such business entity's future board members and executive officers, 

as well as to any managers or Service Providers who will have responsibilities 

related to the marketing, sale, servicing (including member retention), billing, 

fulfillment, or administration of Add-On Products or related to the 

assessment of fees to expedite debtor payments by telephone for credit card 

accounts issued by Respondent. Respondent must deliver a copy of this Order 

or a summary of this Order (as described in Paragraph 114), to employees of 

any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section XIII, or other agents and representatives of such an entity, before they 

begin any responsibilities related to the marketing, sale, servicing (including 

member retention), billing, fulfillment, or administration of Add-On Products 

or to the assessment of fees to expedite debtor payments by telephone for 

Cardholder accounts. 

116. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures 

comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., 

within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent 

Order under this Section. 

XV 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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117. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records relating to post-Effective Date consumer 

enrollment in Add-On Products that include debt cancellation or debt 

suspension benefits, credit monitoring or credit report retrieval services, or 

lost/stolen card benefits: 

a. for each individual consumer and his or her enrollment in that Add-On 

Product: 

1. records containing, with respect to each consumer, the consumer's 

name, addresses, email addresses (if available), telephone numbers, 

dollar amounts paid, benefits applied for and benefits received, 

description of the product purchased, the date on which the product 

was purchased, copies of any promotional materials or welcome 

materials provided, and, if applicable, the date and reason that the 

consumer cancelled the product; 

u. records for each customer reflecting that the customer expressly agreed 

to purchase the product, including, if applicable, audio recordings of 

telephone calls during which a customer purchased the Add-On 

Product; and 

m. for Add-On Products with credit monitoring or credit report retrieval 

services, a copy of each enrolled member's authorization to access his 

or her credit information from the credit reporting companies for 

purposes of activating credit monitoring or credit report retrieval, and 

the date the member was first charged for the Add-On Product. 

b. for each Add-On Product in general: 
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1. accounting records showing the gross and net revenues generated by 

the product; 

n. records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of enrolled members 

who cancelled each product, and the number of enrolled members 

whose credit card accounts were charged off by Respondent; 

m. records of all customer complaints and refund requests received by 

Respondent (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a 

Service Provider), and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

and 

IV. copies of all telemarketing sales scripts, retention scripts, point-of-sale 

training materials, point-of-sale pin-pad screens, advertisements, 

websites, and other marketing materials, including terms and 

conditions, fulfillment packages, and welcome kits, and including any 

such materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent, relating 

to Add-On Products. 

n8. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records relating to the post-Effective Date assessment of 

any fee to expedite a consumer's checking account-based payment over the 

telephone for a credit card account issued by the Respondent: 

a. for each instance a Cardholder paid an expedited telephone payment fee: 

1. the recording of the call in which the expedited telephone payment was 

paid; and 

u. records containing, with respect to each consumer, his or her name, 

addresses, email addresses (if available), telephone numbers, credit 
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card account number, date of payment, date of subsequent payment 

due date, amount of account balance before payment was made, 

amount of payment made, and amount of the expedited telephone 

payment fee paid. 

b. for the expedited telephone payment fee in general: 

1. copies of telephone scripts and training materials, including any such 

scripts or materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent, 

relating to the assessment of a fee to expedite telephone payment for a 

credit card account issued by Respondent; and 

u .  records reflecting, on an annual basis, the number of Cardholders who 

paid the fee and the collective amount they paid in such fees, and the 

collective amount in potential account late fees and finance charges 

Cardholders avoided by expediting payment before the next payment 

due date on their account. 

119. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; and 

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section X, including, but not limited to, documentation of the processes and 

procedures used to determine the Affected Customers, the names, contact 

and account information of the Affected Customers, any mailing records, and 

documentation that the appropriate restitution was made. 
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120. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraphs 117 to 119 for 

at least 5 years. 

121. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraphs 117 to 119 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XVI 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

122. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to 

this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Citibank, N.A., et 

al., File No. 2015-CFPB-0015," and send them either 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017; or 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20006 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017; or 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, NW 

53 



2015-CFPB-0015     Document 1     Filed 07/21/2015     Page 54 of 57

Washington, D.C. 20552 

XVII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

123. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity 

and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Customer. Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' 

possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance \'\rith this 

Consent Order: 

124. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

125. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

126. Nothing in this Consent Order \\rill limit the Bureau's lawful use of 

compulsory process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 
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XIX 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

127. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

128. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to repmting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing. 

XX 

Administrative Provisions 

129. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 130. 

130. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in 

this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 
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violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

131. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

132. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as 

though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain 

effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any 

provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or 

terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

133. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

134. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For 

any violation ofthis Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce 
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this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

135. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulations contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulations. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulations supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

136. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulations may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this lj!_f
day of July, 2015. 
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Freedom Stores to provide over $2.5 million in refunds
and penalties
BY HOLLY PETRAEUS

Today we, along with the Attorneys General of Virginia and North Carolina, announced an enforcement action against a chain of stores
doing business outside military bases across the United States. Under the terms of a proposed consent order, Freedom Stores, Inc.,
Freedom Acceptance Corporation, and Military Credit Services LLC, as well as their owners and chief executives will be required to
provide over $2.5 million in consumer redress and penalties for unfair and abusive debtcollection practices, including illegal lawsuits,
unauthorized withdrawals from thirdparty accounts, and calls to servicemembers’ commanding officers.

Our investigation found that the companies illegally filed thousands of lawsuits in Virginia against consumers who didn’t live or purchase
goods there: over 3,500 lawsuits in Norfolk, Virginia in twoplus years, almost all resulting in default judgments against consumers, some
of whom didn’t even know they’d been sued until they discovered their bank accounts had been garnished.

The companies also buried a clause in the fine print of their contracts that supposedly gave the companies permission to contact the
servicemember’s commanding officer. Freedom Acceptance and Military Credit Services then went on to tell servicemember’s chainof
command about the debts, effectively pressuring the servicemember into paying the companies. These are unfair practices against military
personnel, who are afraid of losing rank, pay, or even a security clearance if their commanding officer feels they are not living up to their
financial obligations. We’ve heard from a number of servicemembers that they even paid a debt they knew they didn’t owe, just to avoid
getting in trouble with their commander.

Like many companies dealing with servicemembers, Freedom Acceptance and Military Credit Services used the military allotment system
as a quick and convenient way to get paid. But the companies also required customers to provide them with a backup payment source in
case the allotment didn’t go through for some reason. And if the companies’ allotment processor predicted that a servicemember’s
allotment might fail, they went ahead and charged the backup account without waiting to see if the allotment went through or not. So
those servicemembers, when their allotment payment did go through after all, ended up making double payments, without their advance
knowledge or consent, leading to overdraft fees, insufficient funds charges and problems paying their other bills.

Additionally, the companies’ debt collectors would sometimes simply take money from checking or credit accounts they had on file of
family members or friends who had previously made a payment on the servicemembers’ behalf. These debits were made without notifying
the family member or friend or getting consent for the charges – simply taking the cash because the companies had the account access
numbers on file from a previous transaction.

We get more complaints about debt collection from servicemembers, veterans and their families than any other issue. This case is a
perfect illustration of bad practices that are perpetrated against military personnel who owe a debt.

Our military families deserve better than the treatment they received from Freedom, and I applaud the action taken today by both the
CFPB and state authorities to call Freedom Stores and its affiliates and owners to account.

If you are a commanding officer who is receiving calls from someone trying to collect a debt, or a servicemember who is getting threatened
or victimized about a debt, we’d like to hear from you. Your complaints can help us spotlight and stop illegal actions like the ones in this
case.
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Otmane El Rhazi  •  3 days ago

Otmane El Rhazi congratulates the Attorneys General of Virginia and North Carolina for their enforcement action against the chain stores
announced hereby. The business structure being illegal the $2.5 million fine is a must. The penalties for unfair and abusive debt couldn’t
have come at a better time as the consumers rotting in the debt this Christmas. Good work CFPB and keep protecting the vulnerable
consumers from fraud.
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RECEfVFO 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINI4&1 ~ 0£C 1 8 A !(); 2 b 
Norfolk Division 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; State of 
North Carolina, ex rei. Roy Cooper, Attorney 
General; and Commonwealth ofVirginia, ex rel. 
Mark R. Herring, Attorney General, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Freedom Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance 
Corporation, Military Credit Services LLC, John F. 
Melley, and Leonard B. Melley, Jr., 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

~ CIVIL ACTION NO. ;:).') H OJ (ot[j 
) )(f\/A/TEK 
) 
) 
) 
) ________________________________ ) 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau"), the State of North Carolina, ex 

rei. Roy Cooper, Attorney General ("North Carolina"), and the Commonwealth of Virginia, ex 

rel. Mark R. Herring, Attorney General ("Virginia") (together, "States") filed this civil action on 

December 18, 2014, to obtain injunctive relief, restitution, civil money penalties, and other 

equitable relief against Freedom Stores, Inc. ("Freedom"), Freedom Acceptance Corporation 

("FAC"), Military Credit Services LLC ("MCS"), John F. Melley, and Leonard B. Melley, Jr. 

The Complaint alleges violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531,5536, section 918 ofthe Electronic Fund 

Transfer Act ("EFTA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1693o, section 108 of the Truth in Lending Act (''TILA"), 

15 U.S.C. § 1607, the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 75-

1.1, and the North Carolina Debt Collection Act, N.C. Gen. Stat.§§ 75-53, 75-55, in connection 



with extending credit to and collecting debts from members of the United States military and 

other consumers. 

The parties, by and through their respective coWlsel, agree to the entry of this Stipulated 

Final Judgment and Order ("Order"). 

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED: 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action. 

2. The parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of fact 

or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the 

Complaint to the date of this Order. 

3. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the complaint, except as 

specifically stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, Defendants admit only those facts in 

the complaint necessary to establish the Court's jurisdiction over Defendants and the subject 

matter of this action. 

4. Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the validity of this 

Order. 

5. Defendants waive any claim they may have under the Equal Access to Justice 

Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action to the date of this Order. 

6. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including, without limitation, 

attorneys' fees. 

7. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 
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DEFINITIONS 

8. "Affected Consumers" means consumers who were subjected to Distant Forum 

Actions between July 1, 2011, and December 31, 2013. 

a. "Virginia Affected Consumers" means Affected Consumers who resided 

in Virginia at the time a Distant Forum Action was filed against them. 

9. "Affected Debt" means all debt, including any interest and fees, resulting from a 

Distant Forum Action between July 1, 2011 , and December 31 , 2013. 

10. "Back-up Account" means a checking account, savings account, or other method 

of payment authorized by a consumer to be used to pay the consumer's debt to Freedom, FAC, 

or MCS if their primary method of payment fails. 

11. "Corporate Defendants" means Freedom Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance 

Corporation, and Military Credit Services LLC, and their successors and assigns. 

12. "Defendants" means all of the Individual Defendants and the Corporate 

Defendants, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

13. "Distant Forum Action" means a debt-collection action or proceeding _filed 

against a consumer in a forum other than one in: (i) the city, county, or parish where the 

consumer resides at the time the action is filed; (ii) the city, county, or parish where the 

consumer was physically present when the contract on which the action is based was signed; or 

(iii) a city, county, or parish contiguous to, adjacent to, or within 50 miles of (i) or (ii). 

14. "Effective Date" means the date this Order is entered. 

15. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

16. "Individual Defendants" means John F. Melley and Leonard B. Melley, Jr. 
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17. "Proper Forum" means a forum in: (i) the city, county, or parish where the 

consumer resides at the time the action is filed; (ii) the city, county, or parish where the 

consumer was physically present when the contract on which the action is based was signed; or 

(iii) a city, county, or parish contiguous to, adjacent to, or within 50 miles of (i) or (ii). 

18. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought against 

Defendants based on substantially the same facts as described in the Complaint. 

ORDER 

A. Conduct Relief 

19. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other 

persons who are in active concert or participation with them and who have actual notice of this 

Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the extension of credit and 

collection of debts, are enjoined from: 

a. filing Distant Forum Actions; 

b. filing debt-collection actions against consumers unless the actions are 

filed in a Proper Forum and in accordance with all applicable statutes oflimitations and 

other laws; 

c. garnishing the wages of North Carolina consumers following a judgment; 

d. in attempting to collect a debt, contacting any person or entity other than 

the consumer for any purpose other than ascertaining the consumer's contact information 

or requesting that the consumer contact Defendants; for purposes of this subparagraph: 

1. "consumer" includes the consumer's spouse, parent (if the consumer is 

a minor), guardian, executor, administrator, the consumer's attorney, 
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and any person the consumer expressly requests be contacted, unless 

that contact is prohibited by state law; 

n. "contact information" means the address of the consumer's residence, 

the consumer's phone number at that residence, the consumer's mobile 

phone number, or the consumer's place of employment; 

nt. the contact must not: 

(1) disclose that the consumer owes any debt; 

(2) disclose that the conununication relates to the collection of a 

debt; or 

(3) occur more than once to the same third party unless requested 

by that party or unless Defendants reasonably believe that the 

earlier response of that person is erroneous or incomplete and 

that the person now has correct or complete contact 

information; 

1v. for consumers serving in the United States military, Defendants may 

not contact the consumer's chain-of-command under this subparagraph 

without first obtaining the consumer's written consent; the written 

consent must: 

(1) be on a page separate from all other contract terms; 

(2) be separately signed by the consumer; and 

(3) clearly and conspicuously state that "providing this consent is 

voluntary, and this transaction is not conditioned on your 

providing consent"; 
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v. for consumers residing in North Carolina, contact may be made only 

for the sole purpose of locating the debtor, provided that Defendants 

do not reveal or disclose the debt or any information about it; 

v1. the limitations of this subparagraph do not apply to contacts made by 

order of a court of competent jurisdiction or as reasonably necessary to 

effectuate a postjudgment judicial remedy; 

e. for 5 years from the Effective Date, charging any third-party account 

(credit card, debit card, bank account, prepaid card, or other form of payment) without 

the third-party's written authorization for such a charge, including the number of times 

the third-party is authorizing payment from the account; and 

f. collecting, selling, or transferring for collection any portion of the debt 

that is refunded or credited under this Order. 

20. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other 

persons who are in active concert or participation with them and who have actual notice of this 

Order, must: 

a. within 60 days of the Effective Date, adjust all balances owed by each 

Affected Consumer in accordance with the redress calculations specified in paragraph 26 

of this Order; 

b. within 60 days of the Effective Date, send Bureau-approved notices to all 

Affected Consumers for whom balance adjustments are made under subparagraph 20.a. 

to inform them of the credit resulting from this Order; the notices must be submitted to 

the Bureau for approval within 30 days of the Effective Date; 
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c. within 60 days of the Effective Date, furnish to all credit reporting 

agencies the adjustment to the balances owed by the Affected Consumers as a result of 

this Order; 

d. within 60 days of the Effective Date, take any steps necessary to amend or 

stop payment arrangements previously entered into with any Affected Consumer for 

payments no longer necessary after the adjustment to the balances owed by Affected 

Consumers as a result of this Order; 

e. within 60 days of the Effective Date, implement procedures to prevent 

Double Payments, including: 

1. prohibiting collection of payment from a consumer's Back-up Account 

until the seventh (7th) day after the payment due date, unless the 

consumer's express consent is obtained after the due date passes with 

no payment or with an incomplete payment; and 

u. requiring a one-time notice to the consumer at least three (3) days 

before collecting the first payment from a consumer's Back-up 

Account, stating the date payment will be taken if the account is not 

current; each time a primary payment method is resumed or a new 

primary payment method is created to pay the debt at issue, the notice 

specified in this subparagraph must be provided before the Back-up 

Account can be accessed; 

f. within 60 days of the Effective Date, implement procedures to prevent 

charging any third-party account without authorization, including: 
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1. requiring the third-party's written consent for a charge, that describes 

the procedure for withdrawing the third-party's authorization and 

includes the number of times the third-party is authorizing payment~ 

from their account (credit card, debit card, bank account, prepaid card, 

or other form of payment); 

11. providing written confirmation by mail or electronic means (e-mail) to 

those third-parties stating the amount and recipient of the payment and 

the procedure for withdrawing the third-party's authorization for future 

payments: 

(1) at the time the written consent referred to in subsection (i) is 

received; and 

(2) each time a payment is made; 

g. ensure that all contract provisions include the account-opening disclosures 

required by TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1631, et seq. , in the form required by Regulation Z, 12 

C.P.R. pt. 1026; and 

h . ensure that all contract provisions related to electronic fund transfers 

include the disclosure of information required by EFTA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693c, 1693e, and 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b). 

21. If Defendants sell all or part of the "Affected Debt," Defendants must: 

a. obtain the purchaser's express written agreement to comply with the 

provisions of this Order with respect to the Affected Debt; and 

b. provide a copy of this Order to the purchaser. 
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B. Order to Pay Redress 

22. Judgment for monetary relief is hereby entered in favor of the Bureau and the 

States and against the Defendants in the amount of$2,596,124.14 plus the amount of redress due 

to Virginia Affected Consumers under paragraph 26, the total to be calculated within 7 days of 

the Effective Date. 

23. Within 21 days of entry of this Order, Defendants must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring 

instructions, $373,279.06 plus the amount to be refunded to Virginia Affected Consumers under 

paragraph 26, in satisfaction of the non-credit portion of the judgment as ordered in paragraph 22 

and for the purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers, as required by this section B. 

This amount shall be the total of the amounts required to be refunded to Affected Consumers 

pursuant to subparagraphs 26.a. and 26.b. of this Order. Defendants must relinquish all 

dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of 

the funds may be returned to Defendants. 

24. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be 

deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau, or to the Bureau's agent according to 

applicable statutes and regulations, to be used for redress for Affected Consumers, including but 

not limited to refund of moneys, restitution, damages, or other monetary relief, and for any 

attendant expenses for the administration of any such redress. 

25. Defendants must provide all information that the Bureau or its agent may require 

to locate all Affected Consumers and to administer redress. 
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26. Redress to Affected Consumers against whom a default judgment was entered in a 

Distant Forum Action between July 1, 2011, and December 31, 2013, will be calculated as 

follows: 

a. for Affected Consumers with judgments that have been fully satisfied: a 

refund to the Affected Consumer equal to 3 0% of the total collected from the Affected 

Consumer from the date of the judgment to the time of satisfaction; 

b. for Affected Consumers with judgments that have been partially 

satisfied: a reduction of the Affected Consumer's Total Outstanding Balance (default 

judgment amount plus accrued interest) in an amount equal to (i) 30% of the total 

collected from the Affected Consumer between the date of the judgment and November 

1, 2014, plus (ii) 30% of the Total Outstanding Balance as of November 1, 2014; if the 

sum· of those amounts exceeds the Total Outstanding Balance, the difference will be 

refunded to the Affected Consumer; and 

c. for Affected Consumers with no payments on their judgments: a 30% 

reduction of the Affected Consumer's Total Outstanding Balance as of November 1, 

2014. 

27. IfDefendants fail to identify all Affected Consumers to the Bureau or if 

Defendants rriake any error in the calculations under paragraph 26, within 14 days of learning of 

the omission or error, Defendants must notify the Bureau of it and must adjust any Affected 

Consumer's outstanding balance and provide any additional funds to the Bureau required to 

satisfy the redress ordered herein. 

28. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable, or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain 
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after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau mayuse any remaining funds for equitable 

relief, including consumer-information remedies, as determined to be reasonably related to the 

violations described in the Complaint. Any funds not used for equitable relief will be deposited 

in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Defendants will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 

29. Defendants may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

C. Civil Money Penalties 

30. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), judgment for a civil penalty is entered against Defendants, 

jointly and severally, in the amount of $100,000. 

31. This civil money penalty is imposed based on the violations oflaw described in 

the Complaint. 

32. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the Bureau's 

wiring instructions. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to Defendants. 

33. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

34. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless ofhow the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Defendants may not: 
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a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Order. 

35. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that Defendants are entitled to, nor may 

Defendants benefit from, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants a Penalty Offset, 

Defendants must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify 

the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will 

not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

D. Default or Delinquency 

36. In the event of any default on Defendants' obligations to make payment under this 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any outstanding 

amount not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will immediately become 

due and payable. 

37. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants must furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer 

identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out ofthis Order. 
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E. Reporting Requirements 

38. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must notify the Bureau of any 

development that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in Corporate Defendants' names or 

addresses. Defendants must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as 

soon as practicable after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

39. Within 21 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must: 

a. designate and provide to the Bureau at least one telephone number and an e

mail, physical, and postal address as'·points of contact that the Bureau may use 

to communicate with Defendants; 

b. identify in writing to the Bureau all businesses for which any Defendant is the 

majority owner, or that Defendants directly or indirectly control, by all of their 

names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, e-mail, and Internet 

addresses; and 

c. describe in writing to the Bureau the activities of each business identified in 

response to paragraph 39.b., including the products and services offered and 

the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

40. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance

progress report ("Compliance Report"), that, at a minimum: 
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a. describes in detail the Defendants' compliance with this Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section F of 

this Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

41. After the one-year period, and for a period of 5 years, Defendants must submit to 

the Enforcement Director additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written 

request from the Bureau. 

F. Order Distribution and Acknowledgement 

42. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement 

Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order, sworn under penalty of perjury. 

43. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as any persons with 

responsibilities related to the injunctive relief described in Section A of this Order, whether they 

are managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives. 

44. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a copy of this Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section E, any future 

board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, 

and other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the injunctive relief 

described in Section A of this Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

45. Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the 

E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq. , within 30 days of delivery of the Order, from all persons 

receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 
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G. Recordkeeping 

46. Defendants must retain, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, all documents 

and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this Order, 

including: 

a. all documents and records pertaining to the Affected Consumers. 

b. all contracts and credit applications entered into with consumers. 

4 7. Defendants must make the documents identified in Paragraph 46 available to the 

Bureau within 30 days upon the Bureau's request. 

H. Notices 

48. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in writing, 

with the subject line, "Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, et al. v. Freedom Stores, Inc. et 

al. File No. 2013-0624-02" and send them either: 

a. by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. by first class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb. gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
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I. Cooperation with the Bureau 

49. Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity, 

location, and the amount due each Affected Consumer under Section B of this Order and respond 

to any other requests from the Bureau for information about relief, monitoring, compliance, or 

any other purpose. Defendants must provide all requested information in its or its agents' 

possession or control, submitted as a sworn statement under penalty of perjury, within 21 days of 

receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

50. For a period of 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must cooperate fully 

with the Bureau in this matter and in any investigation related to or associated with the conduct 

described in the Complaint. Defendants must provide truthful and complete information, 

evidence, and testimony. Defendants must require its officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the 

Bureau may reasonably request upon 14 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such 

places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

J. Compliance Monitoring 

51. For a period of 5 years from the Effective Date, for purposes of compliance 

monitoring, the Bureau may communicate directly with Defendants and Defendants may, at their 

election, have counsel present during such communications and may consult with counsel prior 

to responding to such communications. 

52. For a period of 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must pennit Bureau 

representatives to interview any employee or other person affiliated with Defendants who has 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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53. Nothing in this Order limits the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory process under 

12 U.S.C. § 5526 and 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

54. For a period of 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants agree to be subject to 

the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent with 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1091.111, Defendants may not petition for termination of supervision under 12 C.F .R. 

§ 1091.113. 

55. The Bureau and the States release and discharge Defendants from all potential 

liability for law violations that the Bureau or the States have or might have asserted based on the 

practices alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date and the Bureau or the States know about them as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding 

this release, the Bureau or the States may use the practices alleged in the Complaint in future 

enforcement actions against the Defendants or their affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bpreau or the States to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Order. 

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

56. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

It is SO ORDERED. 

DATED this _ day of _____ _. 2014. 

United States District Judge 
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Consented and agreed to: 

FOR THE CONSUMER FINAl~CIAL PROTECTION BUREAU: 

ANTHONY M. ALEXIS 
Acting Enforcement Director 

JEFFREY PAL'L EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

NATALIE R. WILLIAMS 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

~ ~K.MII:LER(Viillo. 47821) 
MEGHAN SHERMAN CATER 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
E-mail: kara.rniller@cfub.gov 
E-mail: meghan.sherrnan@cfub.gov 
Tel.: (202) 435-7825 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA AND THE STATE OF NORTH 
CAROLINA: 

MARKR. HERRING 
Attorney General of Virginia 

CYNTHIA E. HUDSON 
Chief Deputy Attorney General 

RHODES B. RITENOUR 
Deputy Attorney General 

~~3927) 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
STEPHEN JOHN SOVINSKY 
(Virginia Bar No. 85637) 
Assistant Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Section 
Office of the Attorney General ofVirginia 
900 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
E-mail: ssovinsky@oag.state. va. us 
Tel.: (804) 823-6341 
Fax: (804) 786-0122 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Commonwealth of Virginia 
and State ofNorth Carolina (local counsel) 

ROY COOPER 
Attorney General ofNorth Carolina 

M. LYNNE WEAVER 
Special Deputy Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
North Carolina Department of Justice 
114 W. Edenton Street 
Raleigh, NC 27603 
E-mail: lweaver@ncdoj:gov 
Tel.: (919) 716-6039 
Fax: (919) 716-6050 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
State ofNorth Carolina 
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FOR DEFENDANTS: 

ByLd~~~ 
L. JEAN NOONAN 
JAMES CHAREQ 
Hudson Cook, LLP 
1020 19th Street, ;...-w, 7th Floor 
Washington, DC 20036 
E-mail: jnoonan@hudco.corn 
E-mail: jchareg@hudco.com 
Tel: (202) 327-9711 
Fax: (202) 223-6935 
Attorneys for Defendants 
Freedom Stores, Inc., Freedom Acceptance Corporation, Military Credit Services LLC, 
John F. Melley, and Leonard B. Melley, Jr. 
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FEB 3 2015

CFPB Takes Action to Shut Down Sham
Credit Card
WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
asked a federal district court to enter a consent order that would permanently ban a
Texas-based company, Union Workers Credit Services, from offering any consumer
credit products or services after it duped thousands of consumers into signing up for a
sham credit card. The order would also require the company to pay a penalty of
$70,000.

“Union Workers Credit Services deceived consumers into paying fees to sign up for a
sham credit card,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The Bureau is taking action to
shut down this company’s bogus credit card operation that targeted union members
and permanently ban it from offering future credit products.”

The  CFPB’s  proposed  consent order  can  be  found  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_proposed-stipulated-
judgement-and-order_union-workers-credit-services.pdf

In December 2014, the CFPB filed a lawsuit against Union Workers Credit Services
alleging that the vast majority of the company’s revenue was generated from selling a
buying-club membership card that it falsely advertised as a general-purpose credit card.
In reality, the card could only be used to buy products from the company. Most
consumers never used the membership card but could not recoup their membership
fees. Union Workers Credit Services also deceptively implied an affiliation with unions
by, among other things, using pictures of nurses, firefighters, and other public servants
in its advertising.

Thousands of consumers had filed complaints with law enforcement agencies and the
Better Business Bureau about Union Workers Credit Services. The company has also
been sued by multiple government authorities, including the New York State Attorney
General and the U.S. Postal Service.

Under the terms of the settlement announced today, Union Workers Credit Services
would pay a civil penalty of $70,000. The company will also be prohibited from offering
any credit products or services, and from committing any future violations of federal
consumer financial protection laws. Consumers who were harmed by these violations
may be eligible for relief from the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund in the future.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 

 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU, 

 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

 

UNION WORKERS CREDIT 
SERVICES, INC.,  

 

Defendant. 

 

  
 
 
Case No. 3:14-cv-04410-L 

 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT 
AND ORDER  

 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action 

on December 17, 2014, to obtain injunctive relief, civil penalties, and other relief, from 

Union Workers Credit Services, Inc. (UWCS). The Complaint alleges violations of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), which prohibit unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or 

practices, in connection with UWCS’s offering of credit. The Complaint also alleges 

violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(d); and its 

implementing regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.54(c), in connection with 

UWCS’s offers of credit. 

The Parties, by and through respective counsel, have requested that the Court 

enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (Order).   

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action. 
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2. The Parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of fact 

or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct 

alleged in the Complaint. 

3. Defendant neither admits nor denies any allegations in the Complaint, except as 

specifically stated in this Order. For the purposes of this Order, Defendant admits 

the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over it and the subject 

matter of this action. 

4. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendant from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

effective date of this Order and the Bureau knows about them as of the effective 

date of this Order. Notwithstanding this release, the Bureau may use the practices 

alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement actions against the Defendant or 

its affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and 

ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Order. 

5. Defendant waives service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

and waives all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the 

validity of this Order. Defendant also waives any claim it may have under the 

Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this 

action to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, 

including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees. 

Case 3:14-cv-04410-L   Document 8-1   Filed 02/03/15    Page 2 of 14   PageID 26



3 
 

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

7. “Affected Consumers” includes any consumer who paid a Membership Fee to 

UWCS on or after December 15, 2011. 

8. “Consumer Financial Product or Service” has the same meaning as set forth in 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

9. “Consumer Report” means that term as it is used in the FCRA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d). 

10. “Credit” has the same meaning as set forth in the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(7). 

11. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered by the court. 

12. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegee. 

13. “Membership Fee” means any fee paid to UWCS, to apply for or maintain a 

membership with UWCS that entitles the consumer to credit or that is referred to 

as a “Platinum Card” membership.   

14. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Defendant based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the 

Complaint. 

15. “Service Provider” has the same meaning as set forth in the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

Case 3:14-cv-04410-L   Document 8-1   Filed 02/03/15    Page 3 of 14   PageID 27



4 
 

16. “UWCS” or “Defendant” means Union Workers Credit Services, Inc. and its 

successors and assigns. 

ORDER 

I. 

BAN ON OFFERING OR PROVIDING CREDIT 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that, 

17.  Defendant, whether acting directly or indirectly, is permanently restrained and 

enjoined from: 

a. advertising, marketing, offering for sale, selling, assisting in the sale of, or 

providing credit; or  

b. receiving any monies or consideration from, holding any ownership 

interest in, providing services to, or working in any capacity for any person 

engaged in or assisting in the advertising, marketing, offering for sale, 

selling, or providing of credit.  

Nothing in this Order shall be read as an exception to this Paragraph. 

II. 

ADDITIONAL CONDUCT PROHIBITIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

18. In connection with advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, assisting 

in the sale of, selling, or providing any Consumer Financial Product or Service, 

UWCS, its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other 

persons in active concert or participation with any of the above persons who have 

actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly or by assisting 

others, are permanently enjoined and restrained from: 
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a. misrepresenting any material aspect of the product or service, including 

but not limited to: 

i. misrepresenting that a consumer will receive a general-use credit 

card; or 

ii. misrepresenting that UWCS, or the product or service, is affiliated 

or associated with labor unions, including but not limited to by 

using union-related words or images; 

b. violating the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(d), and Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.54, including but not limited to by: 

i. using a Consumer Report relating to a consumer without that 

consumer’s consent and in connection with a credit transaction that 

is not initiated by that consumer; and 

ii. failing to provide the notices that Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.54(c)(1) and (c)(2), requires.  

19. Defendant is permanently enjoined and restrained from charging any consumer, 

including Affected Consumers, new or renewal Membership Fees. 

III. 

CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

20. Defendant must pay a civil money penalty of $70,000 to the Bureau. 

21. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must pay the civil money penalty 

by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions.  
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22. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

23. Defendant must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately 

uses those funds, Defendant may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order. 

24. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendant may not argue that it is entitled to, nor may 

Defendant benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed 

in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this 

action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a 

Penalty Offset, Defendant must, within 30 days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty 

Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional 

civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty 

imposed in this action. 

25. In the event of any default on Defendant’s obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 
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any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

26. Defendant must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Defendant. 

27. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendant, unless it already has done so, must furnish to 

the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.  

28. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Defendant must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Defendant paid or is required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

IV. 

CUSTOMER INFORMATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

29.  Defendant and its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all 

persons who are in active concert or participation with any of the above persons 

who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not disclose, use, or benefit from consumer information, including the name, 

address, telephone number, email address, social security number, other 

identifying information, or any data that enables access to a consumer’s account 

(including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account), that 
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Defendant obtained before the Effective Date in connection with UWCS’s 

services. However, information about a particular consumer may be disclosed to 

the Bureau or if requested by a government agency or required by law, regulation, 

or court order. 

V. 

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

30. Defendant must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the 

filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendant; or a 

change in Defendant’s name or address. Defendant must provide this notice at 

least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning 

about the development, whichever is sooner. 

31. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with the Defendant. Defendant must 

also designate someone, providing a name, email, and physical address, who will 

accept service of process for Defendant. 

32. Defendant must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 30 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 
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33. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Defendant must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendant has complied 

with this Order; and  

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VI, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

34. After the one-year period, Defendant must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from 

the Bureau. 

VI. 

ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

35. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must submit to the Enforcement 

Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order, sworn under penalty of 

perjury. 

36. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must deliver a copy of this Order 

to its owner and any other board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of this Order or have had 

any such responsibilities since January 1, 2014, including but not limited to 

entities that provide or provided the following to UWCS: 

a. market research; 

b. marketing services; 
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c. drafting of marketing materials, including Defendant’s website; 

d. processing of data or payments related to Membership Fees; 

e. mailing lists or list management services; 

f. processing or storage of data regarding Affected Consumers; 

g. intake of or response to consumer inquiries or complaints regarding 

Membership Fees; or 

h. Consumer Report information.  

37. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendant must deliver a copy of this Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section V, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who 

will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

38. Defendant must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

VII. 

RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

39. Defendant must preserve and create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, 

the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, as well as all submissions to the Bureau.     
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b. copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, and 

other marketing materials, including any such materials used or created by 

a third party on behalf of Defendant;   

c. for each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment as a 

UWCS member, copies of any record of the consumer’s name; address; 

phone number; email address; Membership Fees paid; the date on which 

any Membership Fee was paid; any refund of the Membership Fee 

provided; the date and method of any such refund; and the reason that any 

refund was provided. 

40. Defendant must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 38 for at least 5 

years. 

41. Defendant must make the documents identified in Paragraph 38 available to the 

Bureau within 14 days of receiving a request from the Bureau.  

VIII. 

NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

42. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendant must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing, with the subject line, “Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. 

Union Workers Credit Services, Inc., Case No. 2013-0628-02,” and send them 

either: 
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a. by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1625 Eye Street NW 
ATTN: Office of Enforcement 
Washington, DC 20006; or  

 
b. by first class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to: 
 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW  
ATTN: Office of Enforcement 
Washington, DC 20552 
 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

IX. 

COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

43. Defendant must preserve consumer records and cooperate fully – including by 

making requests to Defendant’s bank or other vendors or Service Providers for 

records related to Defendant, as necessary – to help the Bureau determine the 

identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Consumer. Defendant must provide such information in its or its agents’ 

possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

44. Defendant must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the 

Complaint. Defendant must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony. Defendant must appear and must cause its officers, employees, 
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representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days 

written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau 

may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

X. 

COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Defendant’s compliance with 

this Order, 

45. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendant must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

46. Defendant must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Defendant who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

47. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process, 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or otherwise. 

XI. 

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction,  
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modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 
 
DATED this ___ day of ______________, 2015. 

 

 
_________________________________ 
 
United States District Court Judge 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 201s-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

CONTINENTAL FINANCE 
COMPANY, LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviev.:ed practices of 

Continental Finance Company, LLC (Respondent, as defined below) relating to its 

marketing, origination, and sen icing of credit cards and has identified the following law 

violations: Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices by (1) making false 

statements regarding certain fees charged consumers in connection "'ith credit cards 

and (2) representing, expressly or impliedly, that certain security deposits consumers 

pro"Vided for certain credit cards would be "FDIC insured." 12 U.S.C. §§ SS3I(a), 

SS36(a)(t)(B). Respondent violated the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) and its 

implementing Regulation Z by requiring certain consumers to pay fees exceeding the 

2S% limit during the first year after account opening. 1S U.S.C. § 1637(n)(1); 12 C.F.R. 

1026.S2(a)(1). Under sections IDS3 and lOSS of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ ss63, ss6s, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, and under TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1607(a)(6). 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated February 2, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" includes consumers who, on or about April 1, 2012 

through July 31, 2013, opened a credit card account governed by a cardholder 

agreement identifying Respondent as the servicer. 

b. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

c. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 
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d. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

e. "Relevant Period" includes the period from April 2012 to the Effective Date. 

f. "Respondent" means Continental Finance Company, LLC, and its successors 

and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the folloV\ring: 

4· Continental is a subprime credit card originator, marketer, and servicer. The 

company is a Delaware limited liability company, with headquarters in Newark, 

Delaware, utilizing third-party credit card processing services located in 

Atlanta, Georgia, and Tampa, Florida. 

5· Continental is a "covered person" under the CFPA because, among other 

reasons, it serviced loans. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 5481(15)(A)(i). 

6. Continental is also a "service provider" under the CFPA because it provided 

material service to a state-chartered credit union in connection V\rith the 

offering or provision by that credit union of consumer financial products or 

services. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

7. The Bureau has jurisdiction over the credit union to which Continental 

provided material service because that credit union is not an insured member 

of the National Credit Union Administration and is not an "insured credit 

union" as defined under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(17); 12 U.S.C. § 1752(7). 
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8. The credit union to which Continental provided material service is a "covered 

person" under the CFPA because, among other reasons, it extended credit. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 5481(15)(A)(i). 

9. From at least April 2012 through December 2013, Continental contracted with 

the credit union described in Paragraph 8 above for the credit union's issuance 

of the following credit cards on the Discover netvvork: the Cerulean Card, the 

Matrix Card, and the Verve Card (collectively the Continental Cards). 

10. Between approximately April 2012 and July 2013, over 290,000 Continental 

Cards were issued. 

11. Under the agreements, the credit union issued the Continental Cards and 

immediately assigned the receivables to Continental for funding and servicing. 

12. Once the credit union assigned its rights, Continental serviced the accounts 

from billing to collections, advanced all funds to consumers, and received all 

fees assessed pursuant to the Continental Card cardholder agreements. 

13. As the servicer, Continental was a party to all Continental Card cardholder 

agreements with consumers issued under the agreements between Continental 

and the credit union. 

14. The Continental Card cardholder agreements stated that, after the account had 

been open for at least 12 months, consumers could receive credit limit increases 

for a $30 fee of every $100 increased. According to the cardholder agreements, 

"to receive a Credit Limit Increase, you must qualify for and elect to receive 

such increase" for "a Credit Limit Increase of $30 for each $100 increase." 

Respondent represents that it has not charged credit limit increase fees on 

consumers with Continental Cards. 
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15. In approximately December 2013, the credit union terminated its sponsorship 

agreement with Continental, which, in turn, had the accounts transferred to 

another financial institution. The credit union has not issued any additional 

Continental Cards since approximately July 2013. Continental continues to 

service Continental Cards previously issued. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation 
Regarding Paper Statement Fees for the Continental Cards 

16. The Terms and Conditions Respondent distributed or made available to 

Continental Card cardholders stated that "if you elect to receive your Monthly 

Billing Statement via paper, you will be charged a Paper Statement Fee of $4.95 

per paper statement each month." 

17. Despite referencing consumers' ability to "elect" paper statements, consumers 

did not "elect" to receive paper billing statements. Continental automatically 

sent certain Continental Card cardholders paper billing statements and 

required those consumers to pay the monthly paper statement fee. 

18. As of December 2014, Continental charged approximately 98,000 Continental 

Card cardholders more than $2,670,000 in paper statement fees. 

19. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

20. As described in Paragraphs 16- 17, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Continental Cards, in 

numerous instances, Respondent represented, expressly or impliedly, that 

Continental Card cardholders would have the opportunity to "elect" to receive a 
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paper billing statement and be charged a paper statement fee of $4.95 per 

paper statement each month. 

21. In fact, the representations set forth in Paragraph 16 were false. Certain 

consumers did not have the opportunity to "elect" to receive paper billing 

statements and be charged a monthly paper statement fee. Respondent 

automatically sent those consumers paper billing statements and required 

those consumers to pay paper statement fees. 

22. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 16 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
TILA and Regulation Z Violations for the Continental Cards 

23. For Continental Cards, consumers generally received an initial $300 credit line 

with a required $75 "Annual Fee" for "maintenance and set-up" billed to the 

consumer's account at account opening and annually thereafter, on or about 

the anniversary date. 

24. As described above in Paragraphs 16- 17, Respondent also required certain 

Continental Card cardholders to pay monthly paper statement fees during the 

first year after account opening for Continental Cards. Respondent represents 

that it has not charged paper statement fees on consumers with Continental 

Cards since December 2013. 

25. When combined, the paper statement fee and the required $75 "Annual Fee" 

constituted more than 25% of the consumer's $300 credit limit, and 
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Respondent required certain consumers to pay both fees during the first year 

after account opening. 

26. The Continental Cards are credit card accounts under an open-end (not home-

secured) consumer credit plan under TILA and Regulation Z. 

27. Respondent violated TILA and Regulation Z by, during the first year after 

account opening, requiring certain Continental Card cardholders to pay fees 

exceeding 25% of the credit limit in effect when the account was opened. 15 

U.S.C. § 1637(n)(1); 12 C.F.R. 1026.52(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation Regarding 
"FDIC Insurance" for the Continental Cards 

28. Continental Cards are secured, partially secured, or unsecured credit cards. 

29. The Continental Card cardholder agreements required Continental Card 

cardholders with secured or partially secured cards to make a cash security 

deposit to open the account. The amounts of the deposit varied and could be 

paid by using various payment methods, other than the use of the Continental 

Card issued to the consumer. 

30. In addition, after the account had been open for 90 days, Continental Card 

cardholders could make additional cash security deposits up to a maximum 

amount of $2,000. 

31. The Continental Card cardholder agreements prohibited cardholders from 

withdrawing their funds from this security deposit account while there was a 

balance on the card or while the cardholder retained possession of the card. 
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32. Continental Card cardholder agreements Respondent distributed or made 

available to Continental Card cardholders after approximately January 1, 2013, 

stated: 

FDIC Insured. This deposit account will be held at an FDIC 
insured financial institution. 

33. As described in Paragraphs 32, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Continental Cards, in numerous 

instances, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that funds 

Continental Card cardholders deposited would be "FDIC Insured." 

34. The representations set forth in Paragraph 32 were false. In fact, from 

approximately January 1, 2013 through approximately October 27, 2013, up to 

$1.8 million in consumer funds deposited were not FDIC insured. This affected 

between approximately 9,000 and 16,6oo customers, though no customer lost 

any part of his or her cash security deposit as a result of this limited FDIC 

insurance coverage. 

35· Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 32 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

36. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures 

to ensure that its Service Providers, Affiliates, and other agents do not violate 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 and TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1637(n)(1) and 12 C.F.R. 1026.52(a)(1) in connection with the 

marketing, origination, or servicing of credit cards. 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or servicing of credit cards, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

1. That consumers will have an opportunity to elect or choose to receive 

paper statements and be charged an associated fee; or 

n. That funds consumers deposit in connection v.rith a secured or partially 

secured credit card will be FDIC insured or covered by other depository 

msurance. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or servicing of credit cards, may not, during 

the first year after credit card account opening, require cardholders to pay 

fees exceeding 25% of the credit limit in effect when the credit card account 
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was opened, other than fees identified in Section 1026.52(a)(2) of Regulation 

z. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or servicing of credit cards, may not, charge 

a fee for a credit limit increase unless the consumer has elected to receive a 

credit limit increase. 

37. Respondent shall correct all violations of law, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein, and shall implement procedures to prevent 

reoccurrence of the acts or practices that gave rise to this Consent Order. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

38. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $2,670,000, less any amount of refunds or credits 

of paper statement fees Respondent provided to Affected Consumers prior to 

the Effective Date, which represents the approximate amount of consumer 

injury caused by the practices described in Section IV, for the purpose of 

providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

39. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written 

plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). 

The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 
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non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Enforcement Director v.rithin 15 days. After receiving notification that the 

Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

40. The Redress Plan v.rill apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Respondent v.rill identify all Affected Consumers who v.rill 

receive redress under this Consent Order. 

b. Require Respondent to refund, by credit or check, each Affected Consumer 

the sum of all paper statement fees paid, less any amount of refunds of 

paper statement fees Respondent provided to the Affected Consumer prior 

to the Effective Date (Restitution Amount), v.rithin 90 days of the 

Enforcement Director making a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan. 

c. Provide processes covering all Affected Consumers who v.rill receive 

redress under this Consent Order, regardless of their current account 

status v.rith Respondent, including open accounts, closed accounts v.rith 

and v.rithout a balance, and charged-off accounts: 

1. for Affected Consumers v.rith an open or closed credit card account 

v.rith a balance, or v.rith a charged-off account that Respondent has 

not sold to an unaffiliated third party, Respondent v.rill deliver a 

statement credit to the account decreasing the balance by the 
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Restitution Amount; where the Restitution Amount is greater than 

the balance and the Respondent delivered a statement credit 

reducing the balance down to zero, Respondent will send to the 

Affected Consumer a check in the amount of the excess; 

u. for Affected Consumers with an open or closed credit card account 

with a zero balance, Respondent will send a check to the Affected 

Consumer; 

111. for Affected Consumers with a charged-off account that Respondent 

has sold to an unaffiliated third party, Respondent will require the 

unaffiliated third parties to deliver a statement credit to the charged 

off account decreasing the balance by the Restitution Amount; 

where the Restitution Amount is greater than the balance and a 

statement credit was delivered to the account reducing the balance 

dovm to zero, Respondent will send to the Affected Consumer a 

check in the amount of the excess; 

IV. if the Affected Consumer is deceased, in bankruptcy, or for any 

Affected Consumer with an account in litigation, the Plan will 

describe how Respondent will provide the Restitution Amount to 

these Affected Consumers consistent with the principles in 

Paragraphs 40(c)(i)- 40(c)(iii) above. 

d. Include the form of the letter (Redress Notification Letter) to be sent 

notifying Affected Customers of the redress and the form of the envelope 

that v.rill contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter must explain 

how the redress amount was calculated, explain why the Affected 
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Consumer is receiving a statement credit or a check, as applicable, and 

state that the refund is made in compliance with the terms of this Consent 

Order. Respondent may not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letter, and when 

appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained ·written 

confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not 

object to the inclusion of the additional materials. 

e. Require Respondent to, to the extent practicable as determined by the 

Bureau, provide updated information for all Affected Consumers who will 

receive redress under this Consent Order to each credit reporting agency 

to which Respondent had previously furnished information. 

f. Provide that the Enforcement Director may modify the form of redress in 

whole or in part, upon a showing of good cause, under Section XV. 

41. Respondent shall provide all relief to Affected Consumers required by this 

Consent Order, regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the 

amount reserved or deposited into a segregated account under Paragraph 38. 

42. Within 30 days of completing the Redress Plan, Respondent shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director a report with an assessment of its compliance with the 

terms of the Redress Plan (the Redress Plan Report). The Redress Plan Report 

must: 

a. describe the methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers who received redress under this Consent Order; 

b. state the total number of Affected Consumers to whom Respondent 

provided redress; 

13 
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c. state the total amounts reimbursed to Affected Consumers; 

d. describe the procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. describe the procedures used for reporting and requesting the reporting of 

updated information to credit reporting agencies; and 

f. describe the work of independent consultants that Respondent has used, if 

any, to assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

43. Mter completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress statement credits 

and refund checks provided to Affected Consumers is less than $2,670,000 

(less any amount of refunds or credits of paper statement fees Respondent 

provided to Affected Consumers prior to the Effective Date), within 30 days of 

the completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the 

Bureau's wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers and $2,670,000. 

44. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to 

Affected Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief, 

including consumer information remedies, as determined to be reasonably 

related to the violations described in Section IV of this Consent Order. Any 

funds not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the 

Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 
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45. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section N of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $250,ooo to the Bureau. 

47. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

48. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order v.rill be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

49. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 
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50. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in any Related Consumer Action because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, 

and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

VIII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

52. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

53· Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 
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54· Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

55. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

56. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 
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57· Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 56 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

58. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

59. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, Senrice Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

6o. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

\'\rith the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section. 

18 



2015-CFPB-0003     Document 1     Filed 02/04/2015     Page 19 of 23

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

61. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VI above. 

c. Copies of all cardholder agreements; sales scripts; training materials; 

advertisements; websites; and other marketing materials; and including 

any such materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent. 

62. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 61 for at least 5 

years. 

63. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 61 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

XII 

Notices 

64. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Continental Finance 

Company, LLC, File No. 2015-CFPB-0003,'' and send them either: 
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a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

66. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 
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67. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

68. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

69. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees to be 

subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent 

with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for termination of 

supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

71. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modifY any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

72. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent. 

73. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

74. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

75. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

76. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 
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of civil money penalties allowed under section lOSS( c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. 

§ ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

77. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

78. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its members, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this r day of February, 2015. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Subprime Credit Card
Company to Refund $2.7 Million for
Charging Illegal Credit Card Fees
‘Fee-Ha rvester ’ Credit Ca rds  Misrepresented  Cha rges, Hit Consumers
With  Excessive Fees

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
ordered Continental Finance Company LLC, a subprime credit card company based in
Delaware, to refund an estimated $2.7 million to approximately 98,000 consumers who
were charged illegal credit card fees. The agency found that the company’s “fee-
harvester” subprime credit cards misrepresented certain fees and hit consumers with
illegal charges. The order also requires the company to pay a civil penalty of $250,000.

“Continental Finance misled consumers and charged them illegal fees,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “These excessive fees are especially harmful because the
cards were targeted to consumers with subprime credit who are often economically
vulnerable. We will act to protect people who are wronged in this market.”

The  CFPB’s  consent order  can  be  found  at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_continental-
finance.pdf

Continental Finance Company, LLC is a subprime credit card originator and servicer
based in Newark, Delaware. The company designs and markets credit cards targeted at
consumers with subprime credit. Continental credit cards often have very low credit
limits and impose high upfront fees. Credit cards with these features are often referred
to as fee-harvester credit cards. They are frequently targeted at subprime consumers
who are economically vulnerable and lack other options to access credit because of their
poor credit history. The company partners with banks or credit unions to issue its credit
cards.

In 2009, Congress passed the Credit Card Accountability, Responsibility, and
Disclosure (CARD) Act, to increase protections for consumers against unfair credit card
billing practices. This law included a fee-harvester provision to increase consumer
protections for predatory cards with high upfront fees. The rules under the CARD Act
ban credit card companies from charging consumers fees that exceed 25 percent of the
credit limit during the first year after opening an account. That means for a card with a
$300 credit limit, consumers generally can’t be required to pay more than $75 in fees
the first year the account is open.

Continental offered the following credit cards: the Cerulean Card, the Matrix Card, and
the Verve Card. Consumers that signed up for these Continental credit cards typically
received a $300 credit limit and were charged an upfront fee of $75 which immediately
met the 25 percent fee limit under the CARD Act. During the next twelve months,
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Continental then charged certain consumers fees that exceeded the fee cap.

The CFPB investigation found violations occurred in connection with Continental Cards
issued between April 2012 and July 2013. Specifically, Continental Finance:

Misled  consumers  about credit card  costs: Continental’s materials
indicated that consumers would only be charged a monthly paper statement fee if
they “elected” paper billing. In reality, Continental automatically required certain
consumers to pay a monthly $4.95 fee unless they opted out through an online
process.

Charged  consumers  illegal credit card  fees: These paper statement fees
also violated the ban on credit card companies from requiring fees over 25 percent
of the consumer’s credit limit during the first year after opening an account.
Specifically, Continental charged some consumers up to an additional $49.50 in
“paper statement fees” for providing paper billing statements during that time.
When added to the $75 maintenance and setup fee, the paper statement fees
constituted as much as 42 percent of the consumer’s $300 credit limit during the
first year after account opening.

Misrepresented  account insurance: Continental stated in some consumer
cardholder agreements that security deposits consumers provided for certain
credit cards would be “FDIC insured” when, in reality, for a time period many
funds were not FDIC insured.

Enforcement Action
The CFPB found that Continental Finance engaged in deceptive acts or practices by
misrepresenting the paper statement fee and whether security deposits would be “FDIC
insured.” The company also violated the Truth in Lending Act by requiring consumers
to pay fees over 25 percent of the credit limit during the first year after account
opening. To address these violations, the CFPB’s consent order requires Continental
Finance to:

Provide  full refunds  to  98,000  consumers: Continental must repay
approximately $2.7 million to the approximately 98,000 consumers who were
charged illegal credit card fees for paper statements.

Conveniently repay consumers: Consumers will receive a credit to their
account, a check in the mail, or both, depending on their circumstances.
Consumers are not required to take any action to receive their refund.

Prohibited  from  engaging in  illegal practices: Continental is prohibited
from charging illegal fees that exceed 25 percent of a consumers’ credit limit in
the first year of the account. Continental is also prohibited from making
misrepresentations about the fees associated with their credit cards, as well as
whether consumers’ funds are covered by FDIC or other deposit insurance.

Subjected  to  federal supervision  for  the  first time: Continental will be
subject to the CFPB’s supervisory authority for the first time, allowing the CFPB
ongoing oversight of the company to ensure harmful practices do not reoccur.
This supervision can include examinations of the company and monitoring by the
CFPB for compliance with consumer financial protection laws.

Pay a  $250,000  civil penalty fine: Continental will make a $250,000 penalty
payment to CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The Bureau will continue to closely monitor credit cards and other consumer financial
products for compliance with federal consumer financial law. This work includes
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scrutinizing arrangements between nonbanks and financial institutions for risk to
consumers.

The  full text of the  CFPB’s  Consent Order  is  available  at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_continental-
finance.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2015-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

CONTINENTAL FINANCE 
COMPANY, LLC 

STIPUlATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Continental Finance Company, LLC (Respondent), 

under 12 u.s.c. §§ 5563 and 5565, for the charging of certain fees and deceptively 

describing those fees and other terms in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 201o's (CFPA) prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536 and the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1637(n)(1); 12 C.F.R. 1026.52(a)(1). 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, consents 

to the issuance of a Consent Order substantially in the form of the one to which this 

Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), 

and which is incorporated by reference. 

In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 
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Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

-- --- that the Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully 

enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

- 4· Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

5· The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, 

about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from 

the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 

6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order 

will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 
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in any proceeding before the Bureau based on the entry of the Consent Order, or 

in any subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or 

its rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such 

as a non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

7· The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

g. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the CFP A; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under 12 U.S.C. § 5563 or 12 C.F.R. Part 1081; 

d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 
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e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 
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CONTINENTAL FINANCE COMPANY, LLC BY: 

Tamer El-Rayess 

Chairman, Continental Finance Company, LLC 

President, Continental Finance Company, LLC 

William Knotts Date 

Chief Financial Officer, Continental Finance Company, LLC 

Date 

Chief Risk Officer, Continental Finance Company, LLC 

Ma l { Salam ne Date 

Chief Operating Officer, Continental Finance Company, LLC 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0004

 
  

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
NEWDAY FINANCIAL, LLC  

 
  

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage advertising, 

marketing, and sales activities of NewDay Financial, LLC (Respondent, as defined below) and has 

identified the following violations of law: First, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices by 

failing to disclose payments to a veteran’s organization that endorsed Respondent while providing 

other substantive reasons for that endorsement. Second, Respondent made payments to third parties 

in connection with the marketing of home loans that constituted illegal payments for referrals of 

mortgage origination business. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 

dated February 6, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by 

the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 
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Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, 

without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over 

Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Broker Company” means the third party entity with whom Respondent 

contracted whose business included licensing the use of the Veterans’ 

Organization mailing list, logo, and other proprietary marks and managing the 

relationship between Respondent and Veterans’ Organization. 

b. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

c. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 

d. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section 

IV of this Consent Order. 

e. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 to July 1, 2014. 

f. “Referred Member” means Veterans’ Organization members who learned of 

Respondent as a result of Respondent’s relationship with Broker Company and 

Veterans’ Organization, including members who were on the Veterans’ 

Organization mailing list that was licensed by Respondent and who, as a result, 

received advertising communications from Respondent and contacted 

Respondent.  
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g. “Respondent” means NewDay Financial, LLC, including NewDay USA, and its 

successors and assigns. For the purpose of this Order, Respondent also includes 

NewDay Reverse Mortgage, LLC, which is owned by the same parent company as 

NewDay Financial, LLC, and its successors and assigns.  

h. “Veterans’ Organization” means the non-profit membership organization serving 

veterans through advocacy and assistance with whom Respondent had a 

marketing relationship. This relationship was established via a contract between 

Respondent and Broker Company.  

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent, which primarily does business under the name NewDay USA, is a Delaware 

corporation, headquartered in Fulton, Maryland and wholly-owned by Chrysalis Holdings, 

LLC. In 2013, Respondent had revenues of over $100 million.  

5. Before, and continuing through, the Relevant Period to the present, Respondent’s primary 

business has been originating refinance home loans through a program wherein the VA 

guarantees a portion of home loans taken out by servicemembers, veterans, and eligible 

surviving spouses. Until in or around September 2013, Respondent also originated 

government-insured reverse mortgages to seniors. 

6. By extending credit and servicing loans, Respondent has engaged in offering or providing 

“consumer financial products or services” pursuant to the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5) and 

(15)(A)(i), and is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  

Respondent is also a “person” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(5) and provides a “settlement 

service” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(3). 

7. Before, and continuing through, the Relevant Period to the present, Respondent has 

advertised its mortgage products to consumers primarily through direct mail campaigns. 
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During the Relevant Period, Respondent sent over 50 million solicitations by postal and 

electronic mail to consumers offering reverse and forward mortgages. These advertising 

communications were typically sent to a pre-screened list of consumers, generally veterans 

and older Americans, selected due to various characteristics that Respondent believed made 

them more likely to be potential customers for Respondent’s offerings. Consumers who were 

interested in learning more were invited by these mailings to call Respondent’s call center, 

during which calls Respondent’s Account Executives would answer questions, provide 

information, and take applications.  

8. During the Relevant Period, Respondent made residential real estate loans aggregating more 

than $1,000,000 per year. Accordingly, Respondent is a “creditor” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

2602(1)(b)(iv), and all of Respondent’s mortgage loans are “federally related mortgage 

loan[s]” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 2602(1). 

9. From 2010 and continuing through the Relevant Period, Respondent had a marketing 

relationship with Veterans’ Organization. This relationship was arranged and coordinated by 

Broker Company, which contracted directly with Respondent on behalf of Veterans’ 

Organization and which paid Veterans’ Organization a portion of the fees it received from 

Respondent. Pursuant to agreements and understandings between and among Respondent, 

Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent was designated as the exclusive 

lender of Veterans’ Organization, and Respondent drafted and sent advertising 

communications by postal and electronic mail to Veterans’ Organization members, with 

Veterans’ Organization’s approval, that were identified as being from Veterans’ Organization. 

These advertising communications promoted the relationship between Respondent and 

Veterans’ Organization, and encouraged and recommended the use of Respondent’s 

mortgage products to Veterans’ Organization members. 
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10. From 2010 and continuing through the Relevant Period, the following fees were paid 

pursuant to agreements and understandings between and among Respondent, Veterans’ 

Organization, and Broker Company: 

a. Respondent paid Broker Company a monthly “licensing fee” of $15,000.  

b. For each Referred Member who contacted Respondent to inquire about a reverse 

mortgage and who completed mandatory counseling, Respondent paid Veterans’ 

Organization $75 as a “lead generation fee” and Respondent paid Broker 

Company $100 as a “lead generation fee.”  

c. For each Referred Member who contacted Respondent to inquire about a 100% 

loan-to-value (LTV) mortgage refinancing and had his/her credit report pulled, 

Respondent paid Veterans’ Organization $15 as a “lead generation fee” and 

Respondent paid Broker Company $20 as a “lead generation fee.” 

11. At no point since the relationship began were Veterans’ Organization members made aware 

of the payments by Respondent to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company nor has this 

information been available publically.  

Findings and Conclusions Related to Respondent's Marketing 

12. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). A practice is “deceptive” when there is a representation or 

omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances, and that information is material to consumers.   

13. During the Relevant Period, Respondent mailed advertising communications to Veterans’ 

Organization members, with Veterans’ Organization’s approval and that were identified as 

being from Veterans’ Organization, endorsing Respondent’s products. These advertising 

communications articulated reasons why Veterans’ Organization selected Respondent as its 

lender-of-choice. Respondent also made similar statements to Veterans’ Organization 

members during phone conversations. The affirmative reasons offered to members created 

2015-CFPB-0004     Document 1    Filed 02/10/2015     Page 5 of 18



the impression that there were no other connections between Respondent and Veteran’s 

Organization, when, in fact, Respondent was making regular undisclosed payments, both 

directly and indirectly, for these endorsements.  

a. For example, the text of one mailed advertisement read: “[Veterans’ 

Organization] chose NewDay to be our exclusive Reverse Mortgage provider after 

spending significant time with the company's management team and watching its 

loan professionals in action.”  

b. Another e-mailed advertisement read: “NewDay USA is [Veterans’ 

Organization’s] exclusive provider of home loan programs based on their high 

standards for service and the excellent value of their programs. If you need 

money, we recommend you give them a call at 1-800-995-4193. Even easier, click 

here and find out more!”  

c. One phone script read: “NewDay is the EXCLUSIVE lender for [Veterans’ 

Organization]. We earned this because of our focus on helping veteran’s [sic] pay-

off their debt, lower their interest rates and payments, or get additional cash out 

as well.”  

14. The failure to disclose material connections between Respondent and Veterans’ Organization 

while making affirmative statements concerning a substantive basis for the endorsements 

likely would have been material to consumers evaluating the weight or credibility of 

Veterans’ Organization’s endorsement and whether to obtain a mortgage loan from 

Respondent, and likely would have been misleading to reasonable consumers. Thus, these 

communications constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).   

Findings and Conclusions Related to Respondent's RESPA Violation 

15. Section 8(a) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a), 

provides that “[n]o person shall give and no person shall accept any fee, kickback, or thing of 
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value pursuant to any agreement or understanding, oral or otherwise, that business incident 

to or a part of a real estate settlement service involving a federally related mortgage loan shall 

be referred to any person.” 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). 

16. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 

among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent mailed 

advertising communications to individual members of Veterans’ Organization, with Veterans’ 

Organization’s approval, that were identified as being from Veterans’ Organization. These 

communications typically were sent to pre-screened members of Veterans’ Organization and 

referred recipients to Respondent by encouraging and recommending that members use 

Respondent for mortgage lending services. 

17. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 

among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, members who called 

Veterans’ Organization’s call center for information on mortgage products were referred to 

Respondent. 

18. During the Relevant Period and pursuant to agreements and understandings between and 

among Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Broker Company 

maintained a website for Veterans’ Organization members (Broker Website) that was linked 

to from the Veterans’ Organization website and that was identified as being part of the 

Veterans’ Organization website. Members who visited Broker Website were referred to 

Respondent by text “recommend[ing]” Respondent as a source for home loans, along with 

hyperlinks to Respondent’s website and the phone number for the Veterans’ Organization’s 

call center.  

19. During the Relevant Period, pursuant to agreements and understandings among and 

between Respondent, Veterans’ Organization, and Broker Company, Respondent made more 

than 3,900 payments to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company (in the form of both 
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monthly payments and “lead generation fees”) for these referral activities. These referrals 

resulted in nearly 400 closed forward and reverse mortgages.   

20. The payments from Respondent to Veterans’ Organization and Broker Company in 

connection with the marketing of home loans constitute payments made pursuant to 

agreements and understandings to refer real estate settlement service business in violation of 

RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

21. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate Sections 

1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as follows: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling 

any mortgage credit product, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 

misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, any material fact, including but not 

limited to the fact that an endorsement from a third party was made free of any 

material inducement or connection. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not enter into any business relationship that would involve third-party 

endorsements inconsistent with the Federal Trade Commission’s (FTC) guidance 

on endorsements, found at 16 C.F.R. part 255, and any subsequent guidance 

issued by the FTC or the Bureau concerning endorsements. 
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22. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate Section 8 

of RESPA, including by providing a thing of value to a third party pursuant to an agreement 

or understanding to refer real estate settlement service business, including, but not limited 

to, providing a thing of value in exchange for an endorsement of Respondent that is directed 

to a person. 

VI 
Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

23. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 

for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan designed to 

ensure that Respondent’s relevant conduct, e.g., marketing of mortgage products, complies 

with all applicable federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

24. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection 

to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to make reasonable revisions to the Compliance 

Plan consistent with Paragraph 23. If the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to make 

such reasonable revisions to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days of Respondent’s 

receipt of such directions to revise the Compliance Plan. 

25. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 
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VII 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

26. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of two million dollars ($2,000,000) 

to the Bureau. 

27. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions.  

28. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

29. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

30. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer Action, 

Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent benefit by, 

any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related 

Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If 

the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and 

pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 
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considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

31. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this Consent 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 

immediately become due and payable. 

32. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent. 

33. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

34. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of 

redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

VIII 
Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

35. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 

company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any 

acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. 
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Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

36. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one telephone 

number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may 

use to communicate with Respondent. 

37. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 

Paragraph 36 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after learning about 

the change, whichever is sooner. 

38. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report) which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

this Order, including steps outlined in the Compliance Plan; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section IX, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

39. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director additional 

Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

IX 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to 

the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

41. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to 

any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section VIII, any 
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future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service 

Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities, but not 

including third-party Service Providers who exercise no control over the content of consumer 

communications. 

42. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of 

the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving 

a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

X 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Except as provided in subsection 43(f) below, within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent 

must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 

marketing or endorsement agreements with third parties; agreements for the 

purchase of lists of consumers or for the access to such lists from third parties; 

and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent. 

c. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether received directly or 

indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to those complaints 

or requests. 

d. Records showing, for each employee providing services related to mortgage 

advertising, marketing, or sales, that person’s: name; telephone number; email, 
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physical, and postal address; job title or position; dates of service; and, if 

applicable, the reason for termination. 

e. Records showing, for each service provider providing services related to mortgage 

advertising, marketing, or sales, the name of a point of contact, and that person’s 

telephone number; email, physical, and postal address; job title or position; dates 

of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination. 

f. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must create recordings of all 

consumer phone calls, both incoming and outgoing. Respondent may request a 

90-day extension of this period from the Enforcement Director for good cause 

shown, including Respondent’s diligent efforts to implement the call recording 

system within the time provided.   

44. With the exception of subsection (f), Respondent must retain the documents identified in 

Paragraph 43 for at least 5 years. Respondent must retain the documents identified in 

Paragraph 43 subsection (f) for at least 1 year, or as required by law, whichever period is 

longer. 

45. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 43 available to the Bureau 

pursuant to a request consistent with this Consent Order and within a reasonable period of 

time. 

XI 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 

in writing, with the subject line, “In re NewDay Financial, File No. 2015-CFPB-0004,” 

and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XII 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Respondent will promptly respond in full to any future reasonable information request from 

the Bureau relating to matters described in this Order. 

XIII 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this Consent 

Order: 

48. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under 

penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

49. Upon request and concerning the subject matter of this Consent Order, Respondent must 

permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other person affiliated with 

Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel 

present. 

50. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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XIV 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by submitting a 

written request to the Enforcement Director. 

52. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material requirements 

of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing.  

XV 
Administrative Provisions 

53. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or 

any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, except as 

described in Paragraph 54. 

54. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law violations 

that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in Section IV of 

this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 

Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 

described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. 

This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent 

Order.  
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55. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order issued 

under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not 

be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

56. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the most 

recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent Order by 

Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that 

Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is 

either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the 

action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until 

such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

57. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted.  

58. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation of 

this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money penalties 

allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any 

attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may 

serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

59. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

60. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing Respondent, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this Lth day of February, 2015. 

"A15Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against NewDay
Financial for Deceptive Mortgage
Advertising and Kickbacks
Lender  to  Pay  $2 Million  Civil Pena lty  for  Illega l Conduct

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against NewDay Financial, LLC for deceptive mortgage advertising and
kickbacks. NewDay deceived consumers about a veterans’ organization’s endorsement
of NewDay products and participated in a scheme to pay kickbacks for customer
referrals. NewDay will pay a $2 million civil money penalty for its actions.

“NewDay profited from the trust that veterans place in their veteran service
organization,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Veterans, and any consumers
getting a mortgage, deserve honest information about lender endorsements.”

NewDay is a Maryland-based, nonbank mortgage lender owned by Chrysalis Holdings,
a private company. Its primary business is originating refinance mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Veterans Benefits Administration. These loans are available
exclusively to servicemembers, veterans, and their surviving spouses. NewDay mainly
advertises its mortgage products to consumers through direct mail campaigns. Between
July 2011 and July 2014, NewDay sent consumers over 50 million mortgage
solicitations by postal and electronic mail.

Beginning in 2010, NewDay entered into a marketing arrangement with a veterans’
organization. The arrangement was facilitated by a broker company. As part of that
agreement, NewDay paid “lead generation fees” to the veterans’ organization and the
broker company. NewDay also paid a $15,000 monthly licensing fee to the broker
company. As part of this arrangement, NewDay was named the “exclusive lender” of the
veterans’ organization.

In targeted marketing to members of this veterans’ organization, NewDay stated that
this title was based on its high standards for service and excellent value. At no point did
NewDay disclose to consumers that the veterans’ organization had a financial
relationship with NewDay. Under the circumstances, this failure to disclose the
relationship constituted a deceptive act or practice, which violates the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act).

The direct mail that NewDay sent contained a recommendation from the veterans’
organization to its members. The recommendation urged members to use NewDay’s
products, which, together with other telephone and web-based referral activities,
constituted a referral of settlement service business. NewDay’s payments to the
veterans’ organization and the coordinating company for these referral activities
constituted illegal kickbacks in violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
(RESPA).
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Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions violating federal consumer financial laws, including by engaging in unfair,
deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. NewDay is ending its relationship with the
veterans’ organization and the broker company. The CFPB’s order requires that
NewDay:

End  deceptive  marketing: NewDay may not engage in deceptive marketing
related to mortgage credit products and may not assist others in making
misrepresentations.

Cease  deceptive  endorsement relationships: NewDay may not enter into
any business relationship that would involve third-party endorsements
inconsistent with the Federal Trade Commission’s (FTC) guidance on
endorsements and any subsequent guidance issued by the FTC or the Bureau
concerning endorsements.

End  kickbacks: The consent order requires that NewDay fully comply with the
law and make no payments for referrals.

Pay $2 million  in  civil penalties: For its conduct, NewDay will make a $2
million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The  full text of the  CFPB’s  Consent Order  is  available  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_newday-
financial.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

BALTIMORE DIVISION 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 

Plaintiff, 

v.

ALL FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive, Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Baltimore County 

Defendant.

Case No. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION

1. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau brings this action against All Financial 

Services, LLC (“All Financial Services,” or “Company”) alleging that All Financial Services 

disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements for mortgage credit products in violation of the 

Mortgage Acts and Practices Rule (“Regulation N” or “MAP Rule”), 12 C.F.R. pt. 1014, and sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). Additionally, on information and belief, the Company has failed to maintain 

copies of disseminated advertisements as required by Regulation N. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5.

Case 1:15-cv-00420-JFM   Document 1   Filed 02/12/15   Page 1 of 30



2

The CFPA 

2. Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits covered persons from 

engaging in “deceptive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

3. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if (1) there is a misrepresentation or 

omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances, 

and (2) that information is material to consumers. 

Regulation N 

4. Regulation N prohibits any person from making “any material misrepresentations, 

expressly or by implication, in any commercial communication, regarding any term of any mortgage 

credit product.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3.

5. Regulation N defines a “commercial communication” as “any written or oral statement, 

illustration, or depiction ... that is designed to effect a sale or create interest in purchasing goods or 

services” including mailers. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

6.  Regulation N defines “term” as “any of the fees, costs, obligations, or characteristics of 

or associated with the product. It also includes any of the conditions on or related to the availability of 

the product.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

7.  Regulation N defines “mortgage credit products” as “any form of credit that is secured 

by real property or a dwelling and that is offered or extended to a consumer primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

8. Regulation N specifies a non-exclusive list of prohibited misrepresentations, including 

misrepresentations about whether:   
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a. the provider of the mortgage credit product is, or is affiliated with, any  governmental 

entity, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(1);

b. the product “is or relates to a government benefit, or is endorsed, sponsored by, or 

affiliated with any government or other program,” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2); or 

c. the product includes minimum or required payments, “including but not limited to 

misrepresentations about any payments or that no payments are required in a reverse 

mortgage,” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(k). 

9. Regulation N also requires persons subject to the MAP Rule to retain records related to 

commercial communications regarding any term of any mortgage credit product for twenty-four months 

after the last date that the communication was disseminated. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5. 

10. The records required to be retained under the MAP Rule include “[c]opies of all 

materially different commercial communications … regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, 

that the person made or disseminated during the relevant time period.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5(a)(1). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because the action is “brought 

under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 

1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

12. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the Bureau’s claims occurred within this district and All Financial Services maintains 

offices and does business in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 
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PARTIES 

13. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the offering and 

providing of consumer financial products and services under “Federal consumer financial laws,” 12 

U.S.C. § 5491(a), including section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(12)(Q), (14), as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and its implementing 

regulation, Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1014 and sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536.   

14. The Bureau has independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce the 

CFPA and Regulation N. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b). 

15. Defendant All Financial Services, LLC is a limited liability company formed in Maryland 

in 2010. 

16. The Company is licensed as a mortgage broker in the District of Columbia and 

Pennsylvania, as a residential mortgage broker in New Jersey, and as a mortgage lender in Maryland. 

17. The Company is, and has been during all times relevant to this Complaint, a provider of 

“mortgage credit product[s],” as that term is defined in Regulation N. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

18. All Financial Services is a “person” within the meaning of Regulation N because it is a 

corporation. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

19. All Financial Services is a “covered person” under the CFPA because it is a corporation 

that engages in offering and providing residential mortgage loans, which are “consumer financial 

products or services” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(i), (19). 
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FACTS 

20. Since at least November 2011, All Financial Services disseminated advertisements for 

Home Equity Conversion Mortgages (“HECM”). A HECM is a reverse mortgage product offered by 

private lenders and insured by the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”), which is a part of the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”). 

21. All Financial Services paid a marketing company (“Marketing Company”) to produce 

advertisements for its mortgage credit products. On information and belief, All Financial Services 

approved the advertisements and paid the Marketing Company to disseminate them. 

22. These advertisements constituted “commercial communication[s]” regarding the terms of 

mortgage credit products, as that term is defined in Regulation N. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2.

23. All Financial Services’ advertisements appeared as if they were United States 

government notices and, as alleged below, contained deceptive information about the HECM loan 

product.

24. The Company disseminated at least four versions of HECM direct mail advertisements 

during the applicable time period. Each HECM direct mail version contained variations in content but 

used substantially the same format.  

25. Documents representing four versions of All Financial Services’ advertisement are 

attached as Exhibits 1 through 4. (Consumers’ names and addresses have been redacted from the 

attached documents.) 

26. On information and belief, All Financial Services used the advertisement version marked 

Exhibit 1 from a date prior to November 5, 2011 through February 17, 2012. A total of 87,656 copies of 

this version were disseminated from November 5, 2011 through February 17, 2012. 
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27.  All Financial Services has not produced a final, accurate copy of the advertisement 

disseminated from February 24, 2012 through August 17, 2012 despite the Bureau’s demands for such a 

copy.

28. The Marketing Company produced a draft version of the advertisement disseminated 

from February 24, 2012 through August 17, 2012, along with an email that describes the changes made 

to that draft before the final version was disseminated. A copy of this draft and the email are attached as 

Exhibit 2. (The email address of an All Financial Services employee has been redacted in part from the 

attached document.) A total of 180,644 copies of the final version of the advertisement were 

disseminated.   

29. All Financial Services used the advertisement version marked Exhibit 3-A from August 

24, 2012 through October 12, 2012. On information and belief, Exhibit 3-A represents the final version 

of the advertisement, including changes marked in a draft version, Exhibit 3-B. A total of 70,186 copies 

of the final version were disseminated. 

30. All Financial Services used the advertisement version marked Exhibit 4 from October 19, 

2012 through December 28, 2012. A total of 82,431 copies of this version were disseminated.  

31. In total, 420,917 copies of advertisements in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, 3 or 4 were 

disseminated between November 5, 2011 and December 28, 2012. 

Deceptive Misrepresentations Regarding Government Affiliation 

32. The MAP Rule specifically prohibits misrepresentations regarding whether a mortgage 

credit product is being offered by a United States government entity or by a company with an affiliation 

with a government agency and whether the product offered is endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with 

any government agency or government program. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n). 
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33. The envelopes that All Financial Services used to disseminate its advertisements 

obscured the source of the advertisement and made the advertisement look like a government notice. 

34. The envelopes used beginning before November 5, 2011 and until August 18, 2012, 

included in Exhibits 1 and 2, display an image of an eagle clutching what appear to be arrows in the 

upper left hand corner. The image closely resembles the eagle incorporated into the Great Seal of the 

United States.

35. On each envelope used to mail an advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1 and 2 next to 

the eagle, where a return address would normally be, the envelope reads “IMPORTANT DOCUMENT 

ENCLOSED,” followed by a citation to the U.S. Code regarding tampering with the mail, and then 

reading “OPEN IMMEDIATELY.” 

36. On each envelope used to mail an advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1 and 2, the 

envelope includes the text “Home Saver – HECM Program Eligibility Notice” (emphasis in original). 

37. Taken together, the contents and design of the envelopes included in Exhibits 1 and 2 

create a misleading impression that the document inside is from a government agency. 

38. The envelope version used beginning August 24, 2012, and included in Exhibits 3 and 4, 

has a different design but also does not include the Company’s name and includes a reference to the U.S. 

Code in the area usually used for a return address.

39. The envelope version used beginning August 24, 2012 and included in Exhibits 3 and 4 

includes the text “HECM Program Eligibility Notice” (emphasis in original). 

40. The envelope version included in Exhibits 3 and 4 also creates an impression that the 

document inside is from a government agency. 
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41. The versions of the advertisement disseminated from before November 5, 2011 through 

August 24, 2012, attached as Exhibits 1 and 2, include a heading that reads “GOVERNMENT 

LENDING DIVISION,” with “Housing & Recovery Act of 2008 Eligibility Notice” immediately 

underneath.

42. On the versions of the advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1 and 2, the name of the 

lender only appears with the preface: “Eligible Lender:” (emphasis in original) implying that the sender 

is the government and it is referring to a third party lender.

43. On the versions of the advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1 and 2, the letter begins 

“The U.S. Government has approved a new mortgage stimulus package for senior homeowners 62 years 

of age or older as a result of the Housing & Recovery Act of 2008 [HERA].” 

44. The letter also tells recipients that “[y]our assigned program officer can show you how to 

take advantage of this program….” 

45. FHA-insured HECM loans have been available since the early 1990s. 

46. The versions attached as Exhibits 1 and 2 do not include any disclaimer language 

clarifying that the source of the advertisement is not a government agency.   

47. The versions disseminated from before November 5, 2011 until February 17, 2012, 

Exhibit 1, include, as the first sentence of the second paragraph of text in the advertisement, “As a HUD 

approved lender, we are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all the information on the new program 

and to help seniors apply prior to the expiration date.” On information and belief, the version of Exhibit 

2 disseminated beginning February 17, 2012 did not include the phrase “As a HUD approved lender.”   
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48. Taken together, the contents and design of each advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1, 

2, 3, and 4 create a misleading impression that the advertisement is from a government agency or from a 

lender with a special affiliation or relationship with a government agency.  

49. Whether an advertisement is from a government agency, and whether a lender has a 

special affiliation or relationship with a government agency, is material to a consumer. 

Deceptive Misrepresentations Regarding Whether Payments are Required 

50. The MAP Rule specifically prohibits misrepresentations regarding whether the product 

includes minimum or required payments, “including but not limited to misrepresentations about any 

payments or that no payments are required in a reverse mortgage.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(k).  

51. Each advertisement in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 contains the following 

statement, in bold letters: “There is no monthly payment or repayment required whatsoever for as 

long you or your spouse live in the home.”   

52. While monthly principal and interest payments are not required pursuant to HECM loans, 

borrowers are required to continue to pay for hazard insurance and property taxes.

53. A HECM loan could become due and payable if the mortgagor fails to meet the 

obligation to pay hazard insurance and taxes or to meet other obligations, including maintaining the 

property.

54. At the time of the advertisements  in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4, HECM loans 

became due and payable upon the death of the last mortgagor; if the spouse of the deceased borrower 

was not also a mortgagor, that spouse did not have a right to stay in the home without paying or 

refinancing the loan. 
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55. In sum, the statement that “[t]here is no monthly payment or repayment required 

whatsoever for as long you or your spouse live in the home” is false and creates the misleading 

impression that no monthly payments or repayments are required whatsoever and that having a borrower 

or a spouse living in the home is the only condition required to avoid repayment. 

56. Whether, and under what conditions, payments or repayment are required are material 

terms. 

Deceptive Misrepresentations Regarding the Product’s Time Limits 

57. Each of the advertisements in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 includes, in bold letters, 

the words “Notice Expiration” followed by a date. 

58. Each of the advertisements in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 also states that the 

Company could “help seniors safely apply prior to the expiration date.”

59. Each of the advertisements in the form of Exhibits 1, 2, and 3 also includes the text: “The 

U.S. Government has approved a new mortgage stimulus package for senior homeowners 62 years of 

age or older as a result of the Housing and Recovery Act of 2008. This program has already helped 

thousands of seniors save their home. To take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire before the 

deadline.” 

60. In fact, there is not now, and has never been, a scheduled expiration date or deadline for 

the FHA HECM insurance program. 

61. Whether a product is time-limited relates to the availability of the product and is a 

material term of the product. 

62. The advertisements’ representation that the government is offering a new and time-

limited program is deceptive.   
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Failure to Maintain Records

63. The MAP Rule also contains recordkeeping requirements. Among other things, a person 

subject to the rule is required to maintain, for a period of twenty-four months after mortgage 

advertisements are disseminated, copies of all materially different advertisements it disseminates. 12 

C.F.R. § 1014.5(a)(1). Failure to keep such records is a violation of the rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5(b). 

64. In response to a Bureau request regarding a specific advertisement, instead of producing a 

copy of the advertisement, All Financial Services stated through counsel in August 2013 that it did “not 

believe All Financial has a copy of each mailing that went out.”  

65. In response to the Bureau request regarding a specific advertisement, the Company stated 

through counsel that it had supplied “copies of the documents that were similar to the referenced 

mailings.”  

66. On information and belief, the Company failed to maintain copies of mortgage 

advertising it disseminated.  

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I: Violations of Regulation N, 
Prohibited Representations Regarding Government Affiliation 

67. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

68. In numerous instances, All Financial Services made material misrepresentations 

regarding the term of a mortgage credit product in commercial communications by misrepresenting that 

All Financial Services was, or was affiliated with, the United States government, in violation of 12 

C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(1). 

69. In numerous instances, All Financial Services made material misrepresentations in 

commercial communications regarding the term of a mortgage credit product by misrepresenting that the 
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advertised product was or was related to a government benefit or that it was endorsed or sponsored by a 

government program, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2). 

Count II: Violations of the CFPA, 
Deception Regarding Government Affiliation 

70. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

71. In numerous instances, All Financial Services misrepresented in advertisements 

disseminated to consumers that the Company was, or was affiliated with, the United States government, 

or that its mortgage products were endorsed or sponsored by a government program. 

72. The advertisements were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

73. Whether a particular advertisement was sent by the United States government or by a 

company with a special relationship with, or endorsement from, a government agency or whether a 

mortgage product was endorsed or sponsored by a government program would be material to consumers 

deciding whether to respond to a particular advertisement or obtain a loan with that company.

74. The Company’s misrepresentations constitute deceptive acts or practices that violate 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count III: Violations of Regulation N, 
Prohibited Representation Regarding Required Payments and Repayment 

75. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

76. In numerous instances, All Financial Services made material misrepresentations 

regarding whether the advertised reverse mortgage loan, a mortgage credit product, includes minimum 

or required payments, a term of the product, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(k).
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Count IV: Violations of the CFPA, 
Deception Regarding Required Payments and Repayment 

77. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

78. In numerous instances, All Financial Services misrepresented in advertisements 

disseminated to consumers that no monthly payment or repayment was required “whatsoever.” 

79. The advertisements were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

80. Whether and under what circumstance payments or repayment is required would be 

material to a reasonable consumer deciding whether to respond to a particular advertisement or obtain a 

loan with that company.  

81. The Company’s misrepresentations constitute deceptive acts or practices that violate 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count V: Violations of Regulation N, 
Prohibited Representation Regarding an Expiration Date or Time Limit 

82. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

83. In numerous instances, All Financial Services made material misrepresentations 

regarding a term of a mortgage credit product in commercial communications by stating directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that the FHA HECM program had an impending expiration date 

or deadline for application and that consumers needed to respond before the government program 

expired in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3. 

Count VI:  Violations of the CFPA, 
Deception Regarding an Expiration Date or Time Limit 

84. The allegations in paragraph 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 
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85. In numerous instances, All Financial Services misrepresented in advertisements 

disseminated to consumers that the FHA HECM program had an impending expiration date or deadline 

for application and that consumers needed to respond before the government program expired. 

86. The advertisements were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

87. Whether a loan program is time-limited would be material to consumers deciding 

whether and when to respond to a particular advertisement and when to obtain a loan. 

88. The Company’s misrepresentations constitute deceptive acts or practices that violate 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count VII: Violations of Regulation N, 
Recordkeeping 

89. The allegations in paragraphs 1 – 66 are incorporated by reference. 

90. All Financial Services failed to maintain copies of all materially different advertisements 

it disseminated for a period of twenty-four months in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5(b).

DEMAND FOR RELIEF

Plaintiff requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of Regulation N or 

the prohibition against unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices under the CFPA; 

b. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues by Defendant; 

c. impose civil money penalties on Defendant under the CFPA; 

d. order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s costs in connection with prosecuting this action; 

and

e. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Anthony Alexis 
Enforcement Director 

Ori Lev 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Frank Kulbaski 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

   /s/ 
Abigail Pound, Bar. No. 802948 
Zach Mason, Bar. No. 802946 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
(202) 435-7547 – Telephone 
(202) 435-7329 – Fax 
abigail.pound@cfpb.gov

For the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION 
Housing & Recovery Act of 2005 Eligibility Notice 

Eligible Lender: All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: September 12, 2011 

414217,1 1131 la P.2 

'P NAVA ;IA PA i51-3525 

110110111111.411111,11'1111.11111/11111E111111111111111111 

Date: August 12, 2011 
Telephone: 1-888-44.4-1860 

Eligibility D 0812HC2773 

III 111111 
The U_S_ Government has approved a new mortgage stimulus package for senior 
homeowners 62 years of age or older as a result of the Housing & Recovery Act of 
2008. This program has already helped thousands of seniors save their home. To 
take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire before the deadline. 

As a HUI) approved lender, we are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all 
the information on the new program and to help seniors safely apply prior to the 
expiration dale. A 24 hour helpline has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you are eligibile fora reverse mortgage where the funds 
can be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump sum or 
used as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment required 
whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this program 
lo use thia money any way you wish including 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
= Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
• Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

4g1 

24 Hour Senior Helpline 
1-888-444-1850 

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington 40 

am. 
LEI&I 

GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION 
Housing & Recovery Act of 2005 Eligibility Notice 

Eligible Lender. All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive - Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: September 12, 2011 

,'• I cf70 1133. to P2 

Date: August 12, 2011 
Telephone: 1-888-444-1850 

r:Isi -n21 Eligibility ID 0812HC2013 

wi iii 1111111 
The U.S. Government has approved a new mortgage stimulus package for senior 
homeow 52 years of a a or older as a result of the Housing & Recove Act of 
201:181 is  program as already h„..e2 ousan s o o eir home. To 
lake advantage 01519—prffgram, seniors must inquiree ore the 

As a HUD approved lender, we are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all 
the information on the new program and to help seniors safely apply prior to the 
expiration date. A 24 hour helpline has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you are eligibile for a reverse mortgage where the funds 
can be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump sum or 
used as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment required 
whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this program 
to use the money any way you wish including: 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
• Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
- Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

Ct 

24 Hour Senior Helpline 
1-888-444-1850 

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington 
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IMPORTANT DOCUMENT ENCLOSED 
CONFIDENTIAL: Document for addressee only. Five years imprisonment or a fine or both for any person 
tampering with or obstructing the delivery of this document. U.S. CODE TITLE 18, SEC 1702 

OPEN IMMEDIATELY 

1-

\._  —1

Presorted First Class 
U.S. Postage 

PAID 
Permit No. 3601 
San Diego, CA 

dame Saver - HECM Program Eligibility Notice 

FLU00017 
CONFIDENTIAL 
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Case 1:15-cv-00420-JFM   Document 1   Filed 02/12/15   Page 19 of 30



72434 2302 te P2 

GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION 
Housing & Recovery Act of 2008 Eligibility Notice 

Eligible Lender: All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive - Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: October 25, 2010 

.1111 
WASHINGTON DC 20019-2165 Eiligibility ID 1015W1512 

Date: October 15, 2010 
Telephone: 1-888-444-1850 

Ipl 
Resolve Your Mortgage Deliquency Now!!! 

The U.S. Government has approved a new mortgage stimulus package for senior 
homeowners 62 years of age or older as a result of the Housing & Recovery Act of 
2008. This program has already helped thousands of seniors save their home. To 
take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire before the deadline. 

As a HUD approved lender, we are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all the 
information on the new program and to help seniors safely apply prior to the 
expiration date. A 24 hour helpline has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you are eligibile for a reverse mortgage where the funds can 
be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump sum or used 
as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment required 
whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this program 
to use the money any way you wish including: 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
• Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
• Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

24 Hour Senior Helpline 
1-888-444-1850 

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington 

FLU00022 
CONFIDENTIAL 
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From: Yelin Htwar <MPallfinsys.com> 
Sent: Thursday, February 16, 2012 10:35 AM 
To: Jeremy Crosslin 
Cc: Andy Riddle 
Subject: 2 Minor Revisions For Letter Feb 17th 2012 

Andy / Jeremy: 

I. 2nd Paragraph: 

Change From: "As a HUD approved lender, we are..." 

To: We are authorized to.... 

II. 3 rd paragraph, can you slightly revise the following: 

From: " Based on our records, you are eligible for a reverse mortgage ..... 

To: "Based on our records, you may be eligible for a reverse mortgage.... 

Thanks, 
Yelin 

1 

FLU00034 
CONFIDENTIAL 
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IMPORTANT DOCUMENT ENCLOSED 
CONFIDENTIAL: Document for addressee only. Five years imprisonment or a fine or both for any person 
tampering with or obstructing the delivery of this document. U.S. CODE TITLE 18, SEC 1702 

OPEN IMMEDIATELY 

Presorted First Class 
U,S. Postage 

PAID 
Permit No. 3601 
San Diego, CA 

Home Saver HECM Program Eligibility Notice 
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SENIORS LENDING DIVISION 
2012 Notification of Eligibility 

Eligible Lender: All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive - Suite 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: --g<exp date>> 

«FIRST)) gLAST» 
ADDRESS 

aCITY» aST» ZIP 

WO' .SECILENCE. TaTRAYNOm PoPKGNOD gTRAYMRK. 

A-h(Li r, 

1,%...)2..k 76" 0 vefitt. 

NCYf 
(4-

116(2' f

Date: <<mail date>> 
Telephone: 1-888-444-1850 

Eligibility ID «ID» 

1111 

The U.S, Government through the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) has 
made Reverse Mortgages available exclusively for homeowners 62 years of age 
or older. This program has already helped thousands of seniors like yourself enjoy 
a more comfortable retirement, This program has already helped thousands of 
seniors save-their--tome. To take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire 
before the deadline. acke, iz, etnct, r_ 4=1, eao 

We are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all the information on the-Rew 
program and to help seniors safely apply prior to the expiration date. A 24 hour i t4ic,ir ri.10 _ 
balpliir has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you may be eligibile for a reverse mortgage where the 
funds can be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump 
sum or used as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment 
required whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
• Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
• Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

eaum.tromaqtr 
CIPPOPTISMITY 

24 Hour Senior .:CfNic-ert114 A L." NE 

1-888-444-1850 1.10

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington 

• Not an agency of the federal Government. This Is not a commitment to make a loon. 
Licensed by the .130TTOMSTATEo Dept, of Banking: license # cLICENSE. 

BBI3. 

FLU00397 
CONFIDENTIAL 
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SENIORS LENDING DIVISION 
2012 Notification of Eligibility 

Eligible Lender: All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive - Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: 12/22/2012 

[111111.111111111111111r111111111111111111111,11Hrildird1li 

21122 11.11asa l ,,er 

Date: 11/16/2012 
Telephone: 1-888-444-1850 

Eligibility ID 1116HCO1 

II iu in 
The U.S. Government through the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) has 
made Reverse Mortgages available exclusively for homeowners 62 years of age 
or older. This program has already helped "approximately 750,000 American 
Senior Homeowners" achieve their financial freedom since the program started 
in 1989. To take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire before the 
deadline. 

We are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all the information on this program 
and to help seniors safely apply prior to the expiration date. A 24 hour information 
line has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you may be eligibile for a reverse mortgage where the 
funds can be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump 
sum or used as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment 
required whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this 
program to use the money any way you wish including: 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
• Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
• Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

E4.4 HOUSING 
W.:ATOP/I, 

24 Hour Senior Information Line 
1-888-444-1850 

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington BBB. 

Not an agency of the fecterat Government. This is not a commitment to make a loan. 
Licensed by the Maryland Dept. of Banking: License # 19685 NMI-5# 528105 FLU00023 
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IMPORTANT DOCUMENT ENCLOSED 
CONFIDENTIAL: Document for addressee only. Five years imprisonment or a fine or both for any person 
tampering with or obstructing the delivery of this document. U.S. CODE TITLE 18, SEC 1702 

OPEN IMMEDIATELY 

Presorted First Class 
U.S. Postage 

PAID 
Permit No. 3133 

Dallas, TX 

HECM Program Eligibility Notice 
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CONFIDENTIAL 
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SENIORS LENDING DIVISION 
2012 Notification of Eligibility 

Eligible Lender: All Financial Services 
20 Pleasant Ridge Drive - Suite F 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 
Notice Expiration: 12/22/2012 

.111111.111.411.1111.1.111.11111111illilrhIblinvilibrihir 

21122 

Date: 11/16/2012 
Telephone: 1-888-444-1850 

El gibility ID 1116HCO1 

iri it 
The U.S. Government through the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) has 
made Reverse Mortgages available exclusively for homeowners 62 years of age 
or older. This program has already helped "approximately 750,000 American 
Senior Homeowners" achieve their financial freedom since the program started 
in 1989. To take advantage of this program, seniors must inquire before the 
deadline. 

We are authorized to assist seniors in gaining all the information on this program 
and to help seniors safely apply prior to the expiration date. A 24 hour information 
line has been established to take your calls. 

Based on our records, you may be eligibile for a reverse mortgage where the 
funds can be used to get rid of your current mortgage payment, taken as a lump 
sum or used as a line of credit. There is no monthly payment or repayment 
required whatsoever for as long as you or your spouse live in the home. 

Your assigned program officer can show you how to take advantage of this 
program to use the money any way you wish including: 

• Get all of your cash in one lump sum 
• Have your money distributed to you on a monthly basis 
• Keep your money in a line of credit that you can 

access at any time (unused portion grows over time) 
• Any combination of these payment methods 

MAL HOWANG 
OrPfleTtartfr 

24 Hour Senior Information Line 
1-888-444-1850 

Call And Ask For: 
Mr. Jerry Washington 

"Not an agency of the federal Government. This is not a commitment to make a loan. 
Licensed by the Maryland Dept. of Banking: License # 19663. NAILS # 528105 

BBB. 
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Due to living on a "FIXED INCOME" and facing rising living expenses, medical expenses, and 
overall household expenses, approximately 2 out of 3 American senior homeowners are 
living on a tight monthly, financial budget once in a while or on a regular basis. 

According to a recent article from AARP, below mentioned are the top reasons why 
American Senior Homeowners have taken advantage of the Reverse Mortgage: 

1. Paying off your current mortgage and eliminating your monthly mortgage 
payments for the rest of your life and your spouse's life (if he/she is also 62 or older). 

2. Home repairs, minor and major. This includes roof, kitchen, bathrooms, bedrooms, 
floors, walls, patios, porches. Get that dream kitchen or bathroom done today. 

3. Help improve your overall quality of life. 

4. Help pay for unexpected emergencies, whatever they may be. 

5. Help pay for every day expenses. Food, utilities, etc.. 

6. Paying off credit card bills, medical expenses, and other financial bills that 
are eating away your monthly income. Keep more $$ in your pockets. 

7. Helping to pay for your property taxes, home owner's insurance, and condo fees. 

8. Help replace or supplement a loss of spousal income due to him or her 
passing away or separation / divorce, loss of employment, etc.. 

9. Vacations. Dining out. Life can be short. Enjoy yourself. 

10. Helping out family members. Help pay for your child's, grandchild's high 
school, or college education. 

Please give us a call to find out how much you may qualify for with the Reverse Mortgage 
Program. We will also be happy to answer any questions you and your family members have. 

Once you are more educated about the Reverse Mortgage, then you can make an 
educated decision, whether the Reverse Mortgage is the right decision for you. 

Call our 24 Hours Senior Information Line 

1-888-444-1850 and ask for Jerry Washington 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage
Companies For Misrepresenting U.S.
Government Affiliation
CFPB  Sues  Mortga ge Lender  for  Fa lse Reverse Mortga ge Ads; Orders
Others  to  End  Deceptive Adver tising

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
taking action against three mortgage companies for misleading consumers with
advertisements implying U.S. government approval of their products. The CFPB is
suing reverse mortgage lender All Financial Services, seeking to halt its illegal activities.
The CFPB is also ordering Flagship Financial Group and American Preferred Lending
to end their false advertising.

“Each of these companies has misled consumers with false advertising,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “The U.S. government is very serious about stopping
companies from falsely claiming federal authority, and we are particularly concerned
about false or deceptive statements made in advertisements about reverse mortgages
that target older Americans.”

The 2011 Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in
mortgage advertising, including implying a government affiliation. The CFPB alleges
that mailings by All Financial Services, American Preferred Lending, and Flagship
Financial Group imitated U.S. government notices. While government programs insure
or guarantee certain mortgages, the private lenders that make these loans are not
government entities and are not affiliated with the U.S. government. Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) loans are loans from private lenders that are regulated and
insured by the FHA, a government agency. Veterans Affairs (VA) loans are similarly
made by private lenders to eligible veterans, current servicemembers, and surviving
spouses; they are guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs.

All Financial Services
All Financial Services, based in Maryland, is a mortgage broker and lender in Maryland,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Washington, D.C. It has offered several kinds of
mortgages, including reverse mortgages.

The CFPB alleges that from November 2011 to December 2012, All Financial Services
used advertisements that were deceptive. The Bureau alleges that the company
misrepresented that the source of the advertisements was, or was affiliated with, a
governmental entity. They also misrepresented that the FHA-insured reverse mortgage
program was time-limited or had a deadline. For example, one mailer sent to nearly
200,000 consumers advertising All Financial Services’ reverse mortgages had an eagle
resembling the Great Seal of the United States. Furthermore, the header read,
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“GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION” and “Housing and Recovery Act of 2008
Eligibility Notice.”

The Bureau also alleges that the company falsely said that no monthly payments are
required “whatsoever” under a reverse mortgage “as long as you and your spouse live in
the home.” The CFPB alleges this ad is misleading for two reasons. First, homeowners
who take out a reverse mortgage are still required to pay taxes and insurance. Second,
at the time the ads were disseminated, the reverse mortgages they advertised could be
due upon the death of the last borrower, regardless of whether a non-borrowing spouse
still lived in the home.

The CFPB is filing a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of
Maryland seeking a civil fine and a permanent injunction to prevent future violations.
The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually violated the law.

A  copy of the  complaint against All Financial Services  can  be  found  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_complaint_all-financial-
services.pdf

Flagship Financial Group
Flagship Financial Group, headquartered in Utah, is licensed as a mortgage broker or
lender in 35 states. The company originates conventional loans and VA loans. It also
brokers FHA loans on behalf of other originators.

The CFPB investigation discovered that from August 2011 to December 2012 the
company sent mailings implying that its VA loans were endorsed or sponsored by the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The company claimed, in
more than one million mailers, that it was “HUD-Approved.” For example, the ads
included text about federal legislation, and said, “HUD-Approved Flagship Financial
Group has been directed to get VA homeowners instant relief by lowering their monthly
payments.” Flagship Financial Group has no unique affiliation beyond that of other
lenders to originate VA-guaranteed loans and was not “HUD-Approved” at the time it
claimed in its advertisements to have that status.

The company also sent tens of thousands of mailers advertising mortgage credit
products that looked like a government notice. For example, the mailings had a
heading, “PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION (FHA) HUD
No. 12-045,” instructed consumers to call their “assigned FHA loan specialist,” and
obscured the company’s name as the source of the advertisements.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $225,000.

A  copy of the  Flagship  Financial Group  administrative  consent order  can  be
found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_flagship-
financial-group.pdf

American Preferred Lending
American Preferred Lending, headquartered in California, originates mortgage credit
products, including FHA and VA residential loans. The company is a mortgage lender
and mortgage broker in California; and it is a mortgage loan originator in Florida.

CFPB’s investigation revealed that American Preferred Lending, from August 2011 to
February 2013, sent mailings to potential consumers that appeared as if they were U.S.
government notices, obscuring that they were actually from American Preferred
Lending. More than 100,000 mailings were sent that had an FHA-approved lending
institution logo, and referenced the web address, www.FHAdept.us. These factors
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combined gave the impression that the ads were from the U.S. government, or an entity
affiliated with the government. Although the company is authorized to originate VA and
FHA loans, it is not an agent of, or affiliated with, the U.S. government.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $85,000. The civil
penalty amount reflects, in part, the company’s financial condition, and will be paid
with funds contributed to the company by its owners.

A  copy of the  American  Preferred  Lending administrative  consent order
can  be  found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-
order_american-preferred-lending.pdf

Today’s three actions stem from a joint “sweep,” a review conducted by the CFPB and
the Federal Trade Commission of about 800 randomly selected mortgage-related ads
across the country, including ads for mortgage loans, refinancing, and reverse
mortgages. The agencies looked at public-facing ads in newspapers, on the Internet,
and on mail solicitations; some came to the attention of the CFPB and the FTC from
consumer complaints.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0005 

 
  

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
American Preferred Lending, Inc.  

 
  

 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage 

origination advertising activities of American Preferred Lending, Inc. (Respondent, as 

defined below) and has identified the following law violations: making material 

misrepresentations in commercial communications that improperly suggested that the 

Respondent was, or was affiliated with, a United States government entity, and making 

material misrepresentations that the Respondent’s advertised mortgage credit products 

were endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with a government program, all in violation of 

Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n), and the deceptive acts and practices provisions of 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues 

this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

 
1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565 and section 626 of the Omnibus 

Appropriations Act of 2009 (as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA), 12 

U.S.C. § 5538.   

II 

Stipulation 

 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order,” dated February 6, 2015 (Stipulation), which is 

incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, 

Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau 

under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 

that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s 

jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

 
3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

b. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 
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c. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegee. 

d. “Person” means any individual, group, unincorporated association, limited or 

general partnership, corporation, or other business entity. 

e. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

f. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 to February 22, 

2013. 

g. “Respondent” means American Preferred Lending, Inc., and its successors 

and assigns. 

h. “Term” means any of the fees, costs, obligations, or characteristics of or 

associated with the product. It also includes any of the conditions on or 

related to the availability of the product. 

  IV  

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a privately-held corporation formed and operated under 

California law. 

5. Respondent is licensed as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker in California, 

and as a mortgage loan originator in Florida. 
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6. During the Relevant Period, Respondent offered, provided, and brokered 

residential mortgage loans. 

7. Residential mortgage loans are “consumer financial products or services” 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i). 

8. Respondent is therefore a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

9. During the Relevant Period, Respondent has advertised mortgage credit 

products to consumers through direct mail. These advertisements constitute 

“commercial communications” regarding “mortgage credit products” as those 

terms are defined by Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

10. During the Relevant Period, Respondent disseminated direct-mail mortgage 

loan advertisements that improperly suggested that Respondent was affiliated 

with a governmental agency, and misrepresented that the advertised mortgage 

credit products were endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with a government 

program. 

11. The direct mail pieces appeared as if they were United States government 

notices. 

12. The overall format of the advertisements, including the use of plain text in 

labeled boxes and the title “Payment Reduction Notice,” evoked a government 

form. 

13. The advertisements obscured that they were from Respondent. 

14. The envelopes included a reference to federal law but did not include a return 

address, and on the primary page of the advertisement Respondent’s name 

appeared only in the small print disclosures. 
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15. Many of the advertisements Respondent disseminated during the Relevant 

Period contained the web address www.FHAdept.us. 

16. Many of the advertisements Respondent disseminated during the Relevant 

Period also contained the FHA Approved Lending Institution logo, which is a 

version of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD) circular logo with the words “FEDERAL HOUSING COMMISSIONER 

APPROVED LENDING INSTIUTION” around the exterior. 

17. In contravention of the requirements issued to FHA lenders by the United 

States Department of Housing and Urban Development in HUD Mortgagee 

Letter 2011-17 (April 15, 2011), the advertisements did not emphasize the 

business name of the Respondent, and the FHA Approved Lending Institution 

logo was displayed in a manner that created the false impression that the 

advertisements were an official government form, notice, or document, or 

otherwise conveyed the false impression that the advertisements were 

authored, approved, or endorsed by the government. 

18. In the context of an advertisement that appeared as if it was a United States 

government notice, the web address www.FHAdept.us and the FHA Approved 

Lending Institution logo also connote government affiliations. 

19. Respondent disseminated over 100,000 advertisements that referenced 

www.FHAdept.us and included the FHA Approved Lending Institution logo 

during the Relevant Period. 

20. Regulation N prohibits any person from making “any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including 
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but not limited to misrepresentations” that “the provider is, or is affiliated with, 

any governmental entity,” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(1), or that the product “is or 

relates to a government benefit, or is endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with 

any government or other program, including but not limited to through the use 

of formats, symbols, or logos that resemble those of such entity, organization, 

or program.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2). 

21. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

22. As described in Paragraphs 10 to 19, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of mortgage credit products, in 

numerous instances, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that 

Respondent was affiliated with the United States government, and that its 

mortgage credit products were endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with a 

government program. 

23. The Respondent is not, and is not affiliated with, the United States government, 

and its mortgage credit products, even if insured by the FHA, are not otherwise 

endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with a government program. 

24. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraphs 10 to 19 

constitute material misrepresentations regarding the term of a mortgage credit 

product in violation of 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(n)(1), (2). 

25. Further, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraphs 10 to 19 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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26. Respondent lacks the financial resources to pay a civil money penalty in excess 

of the one imposed herein, and it is expected that Respondent’s individual 

owners will contribute the sums necessary to pay the penalty imposed. 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

27. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its service 

providers and other agents do not violate, Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. part 1014, 

and sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B), including as follows: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or 

sale of mortgage credit products, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 

misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. their own identity or the identity of the source of their advertisements, 

including  that the advertisements are from the United States 

government;  

ii. the nature of the Respondent’s relationship with the United States 

government or any government program; or 

iii. the relationship between the mortgage credit product and the United 

States government or any government program. 
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VI 

Compliance Plan 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

28. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s 

mortgage credit product advertisements comply with all applicable federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance 

Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

29. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If 

the Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance 

Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days of the receipt of that direction. 

30. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

31. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

32. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management 

of Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal 

consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

33. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 
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VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $85,000 to the Bureau. 

35. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay $35,000 of the civil 

money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

36. Within 40 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay an additional 

$35,000 of the civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the 

Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

37. Within 70 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the remaining 

$15,000 of the civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the 

Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

38. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

39. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 
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b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order.  This subparagraph does not prohibit individual owners of 

Respondent from providing additional funds to Respondent that may be 

used to satisfy Respondent’s civil money penalty obligation. 

40. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

41. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

42. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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43. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  

44. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

45. Under section 604(a)(I) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 168l 

b(a)(1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report 

concerning the Respondent to the Bureau, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

46. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that is likely to affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 
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this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

47. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

48. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 47 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

49. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

50. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement 

Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written 

request from the Bureau. 
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X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

51.  Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, 

sworn under penalty of perjury.  

52. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

53. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

54. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section.  
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 XI 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

55. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all advertisements, including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent. 

c. Records showing, for each service provider providing services related to 

direct mail marketing, the name of a point of contact, and that person’s 

telephone number; email, physical, and postal address; job title or position; 

dates of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination. 

56. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 55 for at least 5 

years. 

57. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 55 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XII 

Notices 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

58. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 
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Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re American Preferred 

Lending, Inc., File No. 2015-CFPB-0005,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20006; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
 

 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

59. Respondent will promptly respond in full to any future information request 

from the Bureau related to matters described in this Order.  

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

60. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information 
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regarding Respondent’s mortgage credit product advertisements, which must 

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

61. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent and involved in Respondent’s 

mortgage credit product advertisements who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

62. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6.  

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

64. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing.  
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XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

 

65. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 63. 

66. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

67. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

68. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 
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provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

69. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

70. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

71. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

72. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this I C day of February, 2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

20 

cevaLijo
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage
Companies For Misrepresenting U.S.
Government Affiliation
CFPB  Sues  Mortga ge Lender  for  Fa lse Reverse Mortga ge Ads; Orders
Others  to  End  Deceptive Adver tising

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
taking action against three mortgage companies for misleading consumers with
advertisements implying U.S. government approval of their products. The CFPB is
suing reverse mortgage lender All Financial Services, seeking to halt its illegal activities.
The CFPB is also ordering Flagship Financial Group and American Preferred Lending
to end their false advertising.

“Each of these companies has misled consumers with false advertising,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “The U.S. government is very serious about stopping
companies from falsely claiming federal authority, and we are particularly concerned
about false or deceptive statements made in advertisements about reverse mortgages
that target older Americans.”

The 2011 Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in
mortgage advertising, including implying a government affiliation. The CFPB alleges
that mailings by All Financial Services, American Preferred Lending, and Flagship
Financial Group imitated U.S. government notices. While government programs insure
or guarantee certain mortgages, the private lenders that make these loans are not
government entities and are not affiliated with the U.S. government. Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) loans are loans from private lenders that are regulated and
insured by the FHA, a government agency. Veterans Affairs (VA) loans are similarly
made by private lenders to eligible veterans, current servicemembers, and surviving
spouses; they are guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs.

All Financial Services
All Financial Services, based in Maryland, is a mortgage broker and lender in Maryland,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Washington, D.C. It has offered several kinds of
mortgages, including reverse mortgages.

The CFPB alleges that from November 2011 to December 2012, All Financial Services
used advertisements that were deceptive. The Bureau alleges that the company
misrepresented that the source of the advertisements was, or was affiliated with, a
governmental entity. They also misrepresented that the FHA-insured reverse mortgage
program was time-limited or had a deadline. For example, one mailer sent to nearly
200,000 consumers advertising All Financial Services’ reverse mortgages had an eagle
resembling the Great Seal of the United States. Furthermore, the header read,
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“GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION” and “Housing and Recovery Act of 2008
Eligibility Notice.”

The Bureau also alleges that the company falsely said that no monthly payments are
required “whatsoever” under a reverse mortgage “as long as you and your spouse live in
the home.” The CFPB alleges this ad is misleading for two reasons. First, homeowners
who take out a reverse mortgage are still required to pay taxes and insurance. Second,
at the time the ads were disseminated, the reverse mortgages they advertised could be
due upon the death of the last borrower, regardless of whether a non-borrowing spouse
still lived in the home.

The CFPB is filing a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of
Maryland seeking a civil fine and a permanent injunction to prevent future violations.
The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually violated the law.

A  copy of the  complaint against All Financial Services  can  be  found  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_complaint_all-financial-
services.pdf

Flagship Financial Group
Flagship Financial Group, headquartered in Utah, is licensed as a mortgage broker or
lender in 35 states. The company originates conventional loans and VA loans. It also
brokers FHA loans on behalf of other originators.

The CFPB investigation discovered that from August 2011 to December 2012 the
company sent mailings implying that its VA loans were endorsed or sponsored by the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The company claimed, in
more than one million mailers, that it was “HUD-Approved.” For example, the ads
included text about federal legislation, and said, “HUD-Approved Flagship Financial
Group has been directed to get VA homeowners instant relief by lowering their monthly
payments.” Flagship Financial Group has no unique affiliation beyond that of other
lenders to originate VA-guaranteed loans and was not “HUD-Approved” at the time it
claimed in its advertisements to have that status.

The company also sent tens of thousands of mailers advertising mortgage credit
products that looked like a government notice. For example, the mailings had a
heading, “PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION (FHA) HUD
No. 12-045,” instructed consumers to call their “assigned FHA loan specialist,” and
obscured the company’s name as the source of the advertisements.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $225,000.

A  copy of the  Flagship  Financial Group  administrative  consent order  can  be
found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_flagship-
financial-group.pdf

American Preferred Lending
American Preferred Lending, headquartered in California, originates mortgage credit
products, including FHA and VA residential loans. The company is a mortgage lender
and mortgage broker in California; and it is a mortgage loan originator in Florida.

CFPB’s investigation revealed that American Preferred Lending, from August 2011 to
February 2013, sent mailings to potential consumers that appeared as if they were U.S.
government notices, obscuring that they were actually from American Preferred
Lending. More than 100,000 mailings were sent that had an FHA-approved lending
institution logo, and referenced the web address, www.FHAdept.us. These factors
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combined gave the impression that the ads were from the U.S. government, or an entity
affiliated with the government. Although the company is authorized to originate VA and
FHA loans, it is not an agent of, or affiliated with, the U.S. government.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $85,000. The civil
penalty amount reflects, in part, the company’s financial condition, and will be paid
with funds contributed to the company by its owners.

A  copy of the  American  Preferred  Lending administrative  consent order
can  be  found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-
order_american-preferred-lending.pdf

Today’s three actions stem from a joint “sweep,” a review conducted by the CFPB and
the Federal Trade Commission of about 800 randomly selected mortgage-related ads
across the country, including ads for mortgage loans, refinancing, and reverse
mortgages. The agencies looked at public-facing ads in newspapers, on the Internet,
and on mail solicitations; some came to the attention of the CFPB and the FTC from
consumer complaints.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0005 

 

    STIPULATION AND CONSENT  
   TO THE ISSUANCE OF  
   A CONSENT ORDER 

 

In the matter of:     

  

American Preferred Lending, Inc.  

  

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against American Preferred Lending, Inc. (Respondent), 

under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its mortgage advertising activities in violation of 

Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014 and the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010’s 

prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536.  

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 

In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 
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Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an “order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned” under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully 

enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent’s potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, 

about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from 

the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability.  

6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order 

will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 
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in any proceeding before the Bureau based on the entry of the Consent Order, or 

in any subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or 

its rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such 

as a non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice.  

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the Dodd-Frank Act; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under 12 U.S.C. § 5563 or 12 C.F.R. Part 1081; 

d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 
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e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

AMERICAN PREFERRED LENDING, INC. BY: 

Michael Cook Date 

President, American Preferred Lending, Inc. 

4 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0006 

 
  
In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
Flagship Financial Group, LLC  

 
  

 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage 

origination advertising activities of Flagship Financial Group, LLC (Respondent, as 

defined below) and has identified the following law violations: making material 

misrepresentations in commercial communications that improperly suggested that the 

Respondent was, or was affiliated with, a United States government entity and making 

material misrepresentations that the Respondent’s advertised mortgage credit products 

were endorsed or sponsored by a government program, all in violation of Regulation N, 

12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n), and the deceptive acts and practices prohibition in the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). Under 

sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this 

Consent Order (Consent Order). 

2014-CFPB-0006     Document 1     Filed 02/12/2015     Page 1 of 18



2 
 

I 

Jurisdiction 

 
1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565 and section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations 

Act of 2009 (as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5538.  

II 

Stipulation 

 
2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated February 10, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented 

to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying 

any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits 

the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and 

the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 
 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

b. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegee. 

c. “Person” means any individual, group, unincorporated association, limited or 

general partnership, corporation, or other business entity. 
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d. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

e. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective Date. 

f. “Respondent” means Flagship Financial Group, LLC, and its successors and 

assigns. 

g. “Term” means any of the fees, costs, obligations, or characteristics of or 

associated with the mortgage product being advertised. It also includes any of 

the conditions on or related to the availability of the mortgage product being 

advertised. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a privately-held corporation formed and operated under Utah law. 

5. Respondent is licensed as either a mortgage lender or mortgage broker in 35 

states. 

6. During the Relevant Period, Respondent offered, provided, and brokered 

residential mortgage loans. 

7. Residential mortgage loans are “consumer financial products or services” 

pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i). 

8. Respondent is therefore a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). 
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9. During the Relevant Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements for its 

mortgage credit products through the mail.  

10. These advertisements constitute “commercial communications” under 

Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

11. During the Relevant Period, Respondent disseminated direct-mail mortgage loan 

advertisements that improperly suggested that Respondent was, or was 

affiliated with, a governmental agency, and improperly suggested that the 

advertised mortgage credit products were endorsed or sponsored by a 

government program. 

FHA Streamline Refinance Advertisements 

12. Respondent disseminated advertisements promoting FHA streamline refinance 

loans, a type of FHA insured mortgage product.  

13. The FHA streamline refinance advertisements’ format and design looked like a 

government notice and implied that a government agency was the source of the 

advertisement. 

14. The FHA streamline refinance mailers contained the heading “PURSUANT TO 

THE FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION (FHA) HUD No. 12-045,” and 

“United States Housing and Urban Development 12-045 Program,” and 

instructed consumers to call their “assigned FHA loan specialist.” 

15. The name of the Respondent appeared only on the back of the FHA streamline 

advertisement mailers in the disclaimer that the Company was not an agency of 

the federal government and was not affiliated with the borrower’s current 

lender. 
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VA Loan Advertisements 

16. Respondent also disseminated advertisements promoting VA guaranteed loans.  

17. The advertisements promoting VA guaranteed loans included the text “HUD-

Approved Flagship Financial Group has been directed to…,” “Benefits 

Department,” and “VETERAN BENEFITS IMPROVEMENT ACT Passed by 

Congress and signed into law by the President.” 

18. The statements that the company “has been directed to” provide loans with 

certain features, in combination with the references to federal legislation and 

the references to the “Benefits Department,” imply that the Company has a 

specific and unique relationship with a government agency. 

19. Additionally, during the time Respondent distributed this advertisement, the 

claim that the Company was “HUD-Approved” was inaccurate. The Company 

had previously been approved by HUD to originate FHA loans, but surrendered 

that approval in March 2011. 

20. Since July 2011, the Company disseminated over 1 million advertisements 

misstating that the Respondent was “HUD-Approved.” 

21. Regulation N prohibits any person from making “any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including 

but not limited to misrepresentations” that the “provider is, or is affiliated with, 

any governmental entity,” 12 C.F. R. § 1014.3(n)(1), or that the “product is or 

relates to a government benefit, or is endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with 

any government or other program, including but not limited to through the use 
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of formats, symbols, or logos that resemble those of such entity, organization, 

or program.” 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2). 

22. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

23. As described in Paragraphs 12 to 20, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of mortgage credit products, in 

numerous instances, Respondent has misrepresented, expressly or impliedly: 

(1) that Respondent was, or was affiliated with, the United States government, 

and (2) the nature of the advertised mortgage credit products’ affiliation with a 

government program.  

24. The Respondent is not, and is not affiliated with, the United States government, 

and its mortgage credit products, even if insured by the FHA or VA, are not 

otherwise endorsed or sponsored by a government program. 

25. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 12 to 20 

constitute material misrepresentations regarding the term of a mortgage credit 

product in violation of 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(n)(1), (2) and constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

26. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 
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violate, and must take reasonable measures to ensure that its service providers, 

and other agents do not violate, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(n)(1), (2), and sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B), 

including as follows: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale 

of mortgage credit products, will comply with applicable federal laws, 

including Regulation N.  In particular, Respondent may not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. their own identity or the identity of the source of their advertisements, 

including that the advertisements are from the United States 

government; 

ii. the nature of the Respondent’s relationship with the United States 

government or any government program; or 

iii. the relationship between the mortgage credit product and the United 

States government or any government program. 

 

VI 

Compliance Plan  

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

27. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s 

mortgage credit product advertisements comply with all applicable Federal 
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consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance 

Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

28. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If 

the Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance 

Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

29. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $225,000 to the Bureau. 

31. Within 20 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  
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32. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

33. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

34. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, 

and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

35. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 
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will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

36. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

37. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  

38. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing.  

39. Under section 604(a)(I) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 168l b(a)( 1), 

any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning any 

Respondent to the Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

VIII 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

40. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that is likely to affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 
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subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

41. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

42. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 41 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

43. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section IX 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

44. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 
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IX 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

45.  Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement 

Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn under 

penalty of perjury.  

46. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

47. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VIII, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

48. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section.  
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X 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

49. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following 

business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all advertisements including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent. 

c. Records showing, for each service provider providing services related to direct 

mail marketing, the name of a point of contact, and that person’s telephone 

number; email, physical, and postal address; job title or position; dates of 

service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination. 

50. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 49 for at least 5 

years. 

51. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 49 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XI 

Notices 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 
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Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Flagship Financial 

Group, LLC, File No. 2015-CFPB-0006,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
 

XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

53. Respondent will promptly respond in full to any future information request from 

the Bureau related to matters described in this Order. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

54. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information regarding 
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Respondent’s mortgage credit product advertisements, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

55. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent and involved in Respondent’s 

mortgage credit product advertisements who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

56. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

58. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing.  
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XV 

Administrative Provisions 

 
59. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 60. 

60. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

61. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

62. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 
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Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

63. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

64. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

65. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 
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66. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 11th day of February, 2015. 

Vo.A4tAg G1,QA7 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

18 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage
Companies For Misrepresenting U.S.
Government Affiliation
CFPB  Sues  Mortga ge Lender  for  Fa lse Reverse Mortga ge Ads; Orders
Others  to  End  Deceptive Adver tising

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is
taking action against three mortgage companies for misleading consumers with
advertisements implying U.S. government approval of their products. The CFPB is
suing reverse mortgage lender All Financial Services, seeking to halt its illegal activities.
The CFPB is also ordering Flagship Financial Group and American Preferred Lending
to end their false advertising.

“Each of these companies has misled consumers with false advertising,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “The U.S. government is very serious about stopping
companies from falsely claiming federal authority, and we are particularly concerned
about false or deceptive statements made in advertisements about reverse mortgages
that target older Americans.”

The 2011 Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in
mortgage advertising, including implying a government affiliation. The CFPB alleges
that mailings by All Financial Services, American Preferred Lending, and Flagship
Financial Group imitated U.S. government notices. While government programs insure
or guarantee certain mortgages, the private lenders that make these loans are not
government entities and are not affiliated with the U.S. government. Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) loans are loans from private lenders that are regulated and
insured by the FHA, a government agency. Veterans Affairs (VA) loans are similarly
made by private lenders to eligible veterans, current servicemembers, and surviving
spouses; they are guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs.

All Financial Services
All Financial Services, based in Maryland, is a mortgage broker and lender in Maryland,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Washington, D.C. It has offered several kinds of
mortgages, including reverse mortgages.

The CFPB alleges that from November 2011 to December 2012, All Financial Services
used advertisements that were deceptive. The Bureau alleges that the company
misrepresented that the source of the advertisements was, or was affiliated with, a
governmental entity. They also misrepresented that the FHA-insured reverse mortgage
program was time-limited or had a deadline. For example, one mailer sent to nearly
200,000 consumers advertising All Financial Services’ reverse mortgages had an eagle
resembling the Great Seal of the United States. Furthermore, the header read,
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“GOVERNMENT LENDING DIVISION” and “Housing and Recovery Act of 2008
Eligibility Notice.”

The Bureau also alleges that the company falsely said that no monthly payments are
required “whatsoever” under a reverse mortgage “as long as you and your spouse live in
the home.” The CFPB alleges this ad is misleading for two reasons. First, homeowners
who take out a reverse mortgage are still required to pay taxes and insurance. Second,
at the time the ads were disseminated, the reverse mortgages they advertised could be
due upon the death of the last borrower, regardless of whether a non-borrowing spouse
still lived in the home.

The CFPB is filing a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of
Maryland seeking a civil fine and a permanent injunction to prevent future violations.
The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually violated the law.

A  copy of the  complaint against All Financial Services  can  be  found  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_complaint_all-financial-
services.pdf

Flagship Financial Group
Flagship Financial Group, headquartered in Utah, is licensed as a mortgage broker or
lender in 35 states. The company originates conventional loans and VA loans. It also
brokers FHA loans on behalf of other originators.

The CFPB investigation discovered that from August 2011 to December 2012 the
company sent mailings implying that its VA loans were endorsed or sponsored by the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The company claimed, in
more than one million mailers, that it was “HUD-Approved.” For example, the ads
included text about federal legislation, and said, “HUD-Approved Flagship Financial
Group has been directed to get VA homeowners instant relief by lowering their monthly
payments.” Flagship Financial Group has no unique affiliation beyond that of other
lenders to originate VA-guaranteed loans and was not “HUD-Approved” at the time it
claimed in its advertisements to have that status.

The company also sent tens of thousands of mailers advertising mortgage credit
products that looked like a government notice. For example, the mailings had a
heading, “PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION (FHA) HUD
No. 12-045,” instructed consumers to call their “assigned FHA loan specialist,” and
obscured the company’s name as the source of the advertisements.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $225,000.

A  copy of the  Flagship  Financial Group  administrative  consent order  can  be
found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-order_flagship-
financial-group.pdf

American Preferred Lending
American Preferred Lending, headquartered in California, originates mortgage credit
products, including FHA and VA residential loans. The company is a mortgage lender
and mortgage broker in California; and it is a mortgage loan originator in Florida.

CFPB’s investigation revealed that American Preferred Lending, from August 2011 to
February 2013, sent mailings to potential consumers that appeared as if they were U.S.
government notices, obscuring that they were actually from American Preferred
Lending. More than 100,000 mailings were sent that had an FHA-approved lending
institution logo, and referenced the web address, www.FHAdept.us. These factors
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combined gave the impression that the ads were from the U.S. government, or an entity
affiliated with the government. Although the company is authorized to originate VA and
FHA loans, it is not an agent of, or affiliated with, the U.S. government.

With today’s action, the company will be prohibited from falsely implying a government
affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of $85,000. The civil
penalty amount reflects, in part, the company’s financial condition, and will be paid
with funds contributed to the company by its owners.

A  copy of the  American  Preferred  Lending administrative  consent order
can  be  found  at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201502_cfpb_consent-
order_american-preferred-lending.pdf

Today’s three actions stem from a joint “sweep,” a review conducted by the CFPB and
the Federal Trade Commission of about 800 randomly selected mortgage-related ads
across the country, including ads for mortgage loans, refinancing, and reverse
mortgages. The agencies looked at public-facing ads in newspapers, on the Internet,
and on mail solicitations; some came to the attention of the CFPB and the FTC from
consumer complaints.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2015-CFPB-___ _ 

In the matter of: 

Flagship Financial Group, LLC 

STIPUlATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Flagship Financial Group, LLC (Respondent), under 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its mortgage advertising activities in violation of 

Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014, and the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010's 

prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 

In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 
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Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully 

enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

s. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the 

Bureau, about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may 

arise from the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 

2 
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6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order 

will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 

in any proceeding before the Bureau based on the entry of the Consent Order, or 

in any subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or 

its rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such 

as a non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

7· The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9· Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the Dodd-Frank Act; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under 12 U.S.C. § 5563 or 12 CFR Part 1081; 

3 
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d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

FLAGSHIP FINANCIAL GROUP, LLC, BY: 

Date 

CEO, Flagship Financial Group, LLC 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
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SYSTEMS; and GLOBAL CONNECT, 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) brings this 

action against Universal Debt & Payment Solutions, LLC; Universal Debt 

Solutions, LLC; WNY Account Solutions, LLC; WNY Solutions Group, LLC; 

Check & Credit Recovery, LLC; Credit Power, LLC; S Payment Processing & 

Solutions, LLC; Marcus Brown; Mohan Bagga; Sarita Brown; Tasha 

Pratcher; Varinderjit Bagga; and Sumant Khan (collectively, “Debt 

Collectors”); Global Payments, Inc.; Pathfinder Payment Solutions, Inc.; 

Frontline Processing Corp.; and Francis David Corp. d/b/a Electronic 

Merchant Services (collectively, “Payment Processors”); and Global Connect, 

LLC and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), and the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, to obtain 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, restitution, disgorgement for 

unjust enrichment, civil money penalties, and other appropriate relief for 

defendants’ acts or practices in violation of the CFPA and FDCPA in 

connection with unlawful collection of purported debt.  

2. The Debt Collectors are engaged in a scheme to defraud 

consumers by using threats, intimidation, and harassment to collect 
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“phantom” debts. The Debt Collectors used collectors and automated 

telephone broadcasting services to contact consumers and their family 

members to threaten consumers with false allegations of check fraud and 

false claims of debt owed, which would result, according to the Debt 

Collectors, in service of a “financial restraining order,” notification to the 

consumer’s employer of the alleged fraud or debt, garnishment of wages, and 

arrest, unless the consumers paid the alleged debt. The Debt Collectors 

refused to identify the issuer of the supposed debt to consumers, but 

convinced consumers of their legitimacy by providing the consumer’s personal 

information, including date of birth, place of employment, and Social Security 

number. In most, if not all, cases, consumers did not owe any debt the Debt 

Collectors had a right to collect. 

3. Because of the Debt Collectors’ threats and false statements, 

consumers collectively paid millions of dollars to the Debt Collectors.  

4. The Payment Processors facilitated the Debt Collectors’ large-

scale fraud by enabling the Debt Collectors to accept payment by consumers’ 

bank cards when the Payment Processors knew, or should have known, that 

the Debt Collectors were engaged in unlawful conduct.  
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5. The Payment Processors, and the service they provided, gave the 

Debt Collectors an air of legitimacy and allowed the Debt Collectors to 

efficiently process a high volume of collections. 

6. The Debt Collectors’ conduct was facilitated by Global Connect, 

LLC, which provided the Debt Collectors with the ability to effortlessly 

broadcast millions of threatening and false statements to consumers in 

telephone messages.  

7. Global Connect, LLC provided this service when it knew, or 

should have known, that the messages it broadcast for the Debt Collectors 

were unfair or deceptive, and materially contributed to the Debt Collectors’ 

scheme.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action 

because it is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by 

an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

9. Venue is proper in this District because defendants do business 

in this District and the events or omissions giving rise to this complaint 

substantially took place in this District. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(f).  
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PARTIES 

10. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States 

charged with regulating the offering and providing of consumer financial 

products or services under federal consumer financial laws, including the 

CFPA and FDCPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12), 5481(14), 5491(a), and 5531; and 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p. The Bureau has enforcement authority over, inter 

alia, persons who offer or provide consumer financial products or services 

(“covered persons”); related persons who have managerial responsibility for, 

or materially participate in, the covered person’s business; persons that 

provide a material service to a covered person; and persons that knowingly or 

recklessly provide substantial assistance to a covered person’s or service 

provider’s violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25), (26), and 

5536(a)(3). The Bureau has independent litigating authority to enforce 

federal consumer financial laws, including the CFPA and the FDCPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564(a), (b); 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(b)(6).  

Debt Collectors 

11. Universal Debt & Payment Solutions, LLC is a Georgia limited 

liability company registered at 3939 Lavista Road, Ste. 312, Tucker, Georgia.  

12. This address belongs to a post office box at a UPS Store, which is 

registered to Marcus Brown.  
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13. Universal Debt & Payment Solutions, LLC was organized by 

Mohan Bagga.  

14. Marcus Brown is the entity’s registered agent.  

15. Sarita Brown is its treasurer.  

16. Universal Debt & Payment Solutions, LLC is also registered as a 

limited liability company in New York.  

17. The New York articles of incorporation were filed by Sarita 

Brown, who provided a mailing address of 142 Stratford Rd., Buffalo, New 

York, which is Marcus Brown’s residential address.  

18. The New York and Georgia entities are indistinct and are 

collectively referred to in this complaint as “UDPS.”  

19. UDPS engaged in offering or providing the collection of debt 

related to a consumer financial product or service and is, therefore, a “covered 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

20. UDPS provided material services to the other Debt Collectors in 

connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or provision of consumer 

financial products or services; UDPS is therefore a “service provider” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).  

21. UDPS transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein in 

this District and throughout the United States.  
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22. Universal Debt Solutions, LLC (“UDS”) is a New York limited 

liability company also registered at 142 Stratford Rd., Buffalo, New York.  

23. UDS engaged in collecting debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

24. UDS provided material services to the other Debt Collectors in 

connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or provision of consumer 

financial products or services; UDS is therefore a “service provider” under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).  

25. UDS transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein in 

this District and throughout the United States.  

26. WNY Account Solutions, LLC is a New York limited liability 

company registered at a UPS Store in Williamsville, New York.  

27. WNY Solutions Group, LLC is a limited liability company 

registered a 140 Chatham Ave., Buffalo, New York, which address is 

associated with Marcus Brown and Tasha Pratcher, Brown’s wife.  

28. WNY Account Solutions, LLC and WNY Solutions Group, LLC 

are indistinct; for example, Sarita Brown opened and maintained a bank 

account in the combined name of “WNY Account Solutions Group.”  
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29. WNY Account Solutions, LLC and WNY Solutions Group, LLC 

are collectively referred to in this complaint as “WNY.”  

30. WNY engaged in collecting debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

31. WNY provided material services to the other Debt Collectors in 

connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or provision of consumer 

financial products or services; WNY is therefore a “service provider” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).  

32. WNY transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein in 

this District and throughout the United States. 

33. Check & Credit Recovery, LLC (“Check & Credit Recovery”) is a 

Georgia limited liability company organized by Marcus Brown at 50 

Executive Park Drive South, Suite 5010, Atlanta, Georgia.  

34. Check & Credit Recovery engaged in collecting debt related to a 

consumer financial product or service and is, therefore, a “covered person” 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

35. Check & Credit Recovery provided material services to the other 

Debt Collectors in connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or 

provision of consumer financial products or services; Check & Credit 
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Recovery is therefore a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26).  

36. Check & Credit Recovery transacts, or has transacted, the 

conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the United States. 

37. Credit Power, LLC (“Credit Power”) is a Georgia limited liability 

company organized by Mohan Bagga at 6375 White Stone Pl., Jones Creek, 

Georgia.  

38. Credit Power engaged in collecting debt related to a consumer 

financial product or service and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

39. Credit Power provided material services to the other Debt 

Collectors in connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or provision 

of consumer financial products or services; Credit Power is therefore a 

“service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).  

40. Credit Power transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged 

herein in this District and throughout the United States. 

41. S Payment Processing & Solutions, LLC (“SPPS”) is a Georgia 

limited liability company organized by Sumant Khan at 3008 Oak Park 

Circle, Atlanta, Georgia.  
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42. SPPS engaged in collecting debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

43. SPPS provided material services to the other Debt Collectors in 

connection with the other Debt Collectors’ offering or provision of consumer 

financial products or services; SPPS is therefore a “service provider” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).  

44. SPPS transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein in 

this District and throughout the United States. 

45. UDPS, UDS, WNY, Check & Credit Recovery, Credit Power, and 

SPPS are collectively referred to in this complaint as the “Debt Collector 

LLCs.” 

46. Marcus Brown is an individual residing at 142 Stratford Avenue, 

Buffalo, New York.  

47. Marcus Brown is a person engaged in collecting debt related to 

consumer financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x).  

48. Marcus Brown is a related person and officer of the Debt 

Collector LLCs who materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of the 
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Debt Collector LLCs and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25).  

49. Marcus Brown and the entities he controls transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States. 

50. Mohan Bagga is an individual residing at 6375 Whitestone Place, 

Duluth, Georgia.  

51. Mohan Bagga is a person engaged in collecting debt related to 

consumer financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

52. Mohan Bagga is a related person and officer of the Debt Collector 

LLCs who materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of the Debt 

Collector LLCs and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25).  

53. Mohan Bagga and the entities he controls transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States. 

54. Sarita Brown is an individual residing at 39 Ritt Avenue, Buffalo, 

New York.  
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55. Sarita Brown is a person engaged in collecting debt related to 

consumer financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

56. Sarita Brown is a related person and officer of the Debt Collector 

LLCs who materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of the Debt 

Collector LLCs and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25).  

57. Sarita Brown and the entities she controls transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States. 

58. Tasha Pratcher (“Pratcher”) is an individual residing at 142 

Stratford Avenue, Buffalo, New York.  

59. Pratcher is a person engaged in collecting debt related to 

consumer financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

60. Pratcher is a related person who materially participated in the 

conduct of the affairs of the Debt Collector LLCs and is, therefore, a “covered 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25).  
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61. Pratcher and the entities she controls transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States.  

62. Varinderjit Bagga is an individual residing at 6375 Whitestone 

Place, Duluth, Georgia.  

63. Varinderjit Bagga is a person engaged in collecting debt related 

to consumer financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

64. Varinderjit Bagga is a related person who materially participated 

in the conduct of the affairs of the Debt Collector LLCs and is, therefore, a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (25).  

65. Varinderjit Bagga and the entities she controls transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States.  

66. Sumant Khan (“Khan”) is an individual residing at 3008 Oak 

Park Circle, Atlanta, Georgia.  

67. Khan is a person engaged in collecting debt related to consumer 

financial products or services and is, therefore, a covered person under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 
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68. Khan is a related person and officer of the Debt Collector LLCs 

who materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of the Debt Collector 

LLCs and is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(6), (25).  

69. Khan and the entities he controls transact, or have transacted, 

the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the United States. 

70. The individual defendants and Debt Collector LLCs are 

collectively referred to in this complaint as the “Debt Collectors.” 

71. Defendants UDPS, UDS, WNY, Check & Credit Recovery, Credit 

Power, SPPS, Marcus Brown, Mohan Bagga, Sarita Brown, Pratcher, 

Varinderjit Bagga, and Khan have operated as a common enterprise while 

engaging in debt collection activities that are unfair and harassing and in 

other conduct alleged below.  

72. The Debt Collectors all operated out of an office at 1401 

Peachtree St., Atlanta, Georgia.  

73. The Debt Collector LLCs shared common control of the collection 

scheme, office space, and officers; transacted business through a maze of 

interrelated companies; and failed to maintain separate companies.  

74. The Debt Collectors commingled funds among accounts opened 

and maintained by Sarita Brown in the names of WNY and UDS; by Mohan 
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Bagga in the names of UDPS and Credit Power; and by Sumant Khan in the 

name of SPPS.  

75. Individuals Marcus Brown, Mohan Bagga, Sarita Brown, 

Pratcher, Varinderjit Bagga, and Khan participated directly in the conduct 

described below, had authority to control the corporate defendants, and knew 

of each other’s conduct that constitutes the common enterprise.  

Payment Processors 

76. Global Payments, Inc. (“Global Payments”) is a Georgia 

corporation with a principal place of business at 10 Glenlake Parkway, 

Atlanta, Georgia.  

77. Global Payments provided payment processing services, 

including material payment processing services to persons who collect debt, 

including the Debt Collectors, in connection with their collection of debt; 

Global Payments, therefore, is a “covered person” and a “service provider” 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(15)(A)(vii), (26).  

78. Global Payments and its subsidiaries transact, or have 

transacted, the conduct alleged herein in this District and throughout the 

United States. 
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79. Pathfinder Payment Solutions, Inc. (“Pathfinder”) is a Maryland 

corporation with a principal place of business at 6452 River Run, Columbia, 

Maryland.  

80. Under its merchant services agreement with Global Payments 

Direct, Inc., a Global Payments subsidiary, Pathfinder agreed to market 

Global Payments’ processing service to merchants, prescreen and underwrite 

for credit purposes all potential merchants, monitor processing activity to 

detect fraud and risk, and advise Global Payments accordingly. 

81. Pathfinder provided payment processing services, including 

material services to persons who collect debt, including the Debt Collectors, 

in connection with their collection of debt; Pathfinder, therefore, is a “covered 

person” and a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(15)(A)(vii), (26).  

82. Pathfinder transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged 

herein in this District and throughout the United States. 

83. Frontline Processing Corp. (“Frontline”) is a Nevada corporation 

with a principal place of business at 3701 Trakker Trail, Bozeman, Montana.  

84. Under its merchant services agreement with Global Payments 

Direct, Inc., Frontline agreed to market Global Payments’ services to 
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merchants and prescreen merchants for compliance with Global Payments’ 

credit criteria.  

85. Frontline provided payment processing services, including 

material services to persons who collect debt, including the Debt Collectors, 

in connection with their collection of debt; Frontline, therefore, is a “covered 

person” and a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(15)(A)(vii), (26).  

86. Frontline transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein 

in this District and throughout the United States. 

87. Global Payments identifies Frontline and Pathfinder, among 

others, as independent sales organizations (“ISO”). 

88. Francis David Corp. d/b/a Electronic Merchant Services (“EMS”) 

is an Ohio corporation with a principal place of business at 5005 Rockside 

Rd., Cleveland, Ohio.  

89. EMS provided payment processing services, including material 

payment processing services to persons who collect debt, including the Debt 

Collectors, in connection with their collection of debt; EMS, therefore, is a 

“covered person” and a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(15)(A)(vii), (26).  
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90. EMS transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged herein in 

this District and throughout the United States.  

Telephone Broadcast Service Provider 

91. Global Connect, LLC (“Global Connect”) is a New Jersey limited 

liability company registered at 5218 Atlantic Avenue, Mays Landing, New 

Jersey.  

92. Global Connect provided material services to persons who collect 

debt, including the Debt Collectors, in connection with their collection of debt; 

Global Connect, therefore, is a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26).  

93. Global Connect transacts, or has transacted, the conduct alleged 

herein in this District and throughout the United States. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Debt Collection Scheme 

94. The Debt Collectors contacted millions of consumers by telephone 

to collect debts they asserted to be owed.  

95. Typically, the Debt Collectors, using such names as “LRS 

Litigation Group,” “Worldwide Requisitions,” and “Arbitration Resolution,” 

accused the consumer of having committed check fraud.  
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96. The Debt Collectors threatened that litigation would be filed 

against the consumer if the consumer, or his or her attorney, did not call the 

Debt Collectors back within 24-48 hours.  

97. When the consumer returned the call, the Debt Collectors told 

the consumer that the consumer needed to settle the debt to avoid court 

action, such as a restraining order or criminal prosecution.  

98. The Debt Collectors refused to identify the supposed lender of the 

claimed debt, but convinced the consumer that the debt existed and was owed 

to them by reciting the consumer’s personal information, such as date of 

birth, place of employment, and Social Security number.  

99. With threats of arrest or contact of the consumer’s employer, the 

Debt Collectors convinced the consumer to provide his or her bank card 

information to the Debt Collectors.  

100. The Debt Collectors provided the consumer’s payment 

information to the Payment Processors, who facilitated the withdrawal of 

funds from the consumer’s account and deposit of funds into the Debt 

Collectors’ accounts. 

Obtaining consumers’ information 

101. The Debt Collectors purchased consumer information from debt 

and data brokers.  
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102. From debt brokers, the Debt Collectors purchased spreadsheets 

of consumer information including consumers’ Social Security numbers, 

addresses, home phone numbers, work phone numbers, cell phone numbers, 

employers, email addresses, and, in many cases, bank account and routing 

numbers.  

103. In numerous instances, the Debt Collectors were not owed the 

purported debt and had no authority to collect it.  

104. From data brokers, the Debt Collectors purchased consumer 

information from payday loan lead generators.  

105. The Debt Collectors used this information to collect, and attempt 

to collect, debts that the Debt Collectors had no authority to collect and may 

not have ever been owed. 

106. To ratify and update, or “scrub,” consumer information obtained 

from debt and data brokers, the Debt Collectors used the services of at least 

one consumer reporting agency.  

Contacting consumers 

107. Global Connect provided telephone broadcast services to the Debt 

Collectors and other persons who collect debt that enabled them to make 

millions of collection calls to individuals victimized by the Debt Collectors’ 

scheme.  
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108. To use Global Connect’s telephone broadcast service, the Debt 

Collectors uploaded to Global Connect a list of names and phone numbers 

and a recorded message.  

109. To the consumers the Debt Collectors identified, Global Connect 

broadcasted the following message, among others, on behalf of the Debt 

Collectors: 

We are contacting [consumer’s name] in reference to an allegation of 
check or bank fraud. It is imperative that we speak to you regarding 
this allegation. Our office has been mandated to contact your employer 
to verify your employment to issue paperwork for you to appear in 
court. If you wish to stop said action, press 9 or call 202-803-[####]. 
Once again, contact us at 202-803-[####]. You have until the close of 
business today. 
 
110. The pre-recorded voice message did not identify the caller.  

111. The Debt Collectors concealed their identity by causing “000-000-

0000” to appear on the consumer’s caller identification when he or she 

received a call from Global Connect.  

112. If a consumer did not answer Global Connect’s phone call, the 

service left the pre-recorded voice message with the consumer’s voice mail or 

answering machine. 

113. Over one million consumers either answered Global Connect’s 

call and received this message or had it left on their voicemail or answering 

machine. 
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114. If the consumer called the phone number in the message, or 

pressed “9” during the message, the call was directed to phone numbers 

registered to the Debt Collectors. 

115. When a consumer responded to this automated message, the 

Debt Collectors threatened the consumers with legal process, including 

arrest, that the Debt Collectors were not authorized, and did not intend, to 

pursue. 

116. In numerous instances, in response to the Debt Collectors’ 

threats, consumers paid debts that they did not owe or that the Debt 

Collectors were not authorized to collect.  

117. In May 2014, in response to the Bureau’s civil investigative 

demand, Global Connect provided the Bureau with copies of the messages it 

was broadcasting on behalf of the Debt Collectors. 

118. Global Connect also provided the Bureau will call logs, which 

showed these messages were being broadcast to millions of consumers. 

119. Since the time it provided the Bureau with copies of the 

recordings, if not before, Global Connect knew it was broadcasting unfair or 

deceptive messages that materially contributed to the Debt Collectors’ 

scheme. 
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The individual defendants were personally engaged in the 
unlawful scheme 
 
120. Each individual defendant played an essential role in the debt 

collection scheme.  

121. Marcus Brown is an officer of UDPS and Check & Credit 

Recovery, LLC.  

122. All the Debt Collector LLCs are registered to addresses 

associated with Marcus Brown, including a post office box that is registered 

to him.  

123. Brown controlled, or was able to control, all aspects of the Debt 

Collectors’ business: he purchased consumer debt and leads, he controlled the 

data scrubbing accounts used to obtain consumers’ current personal 

information, he controlled the accounts for telephones and telephone 

broadcasting service, and he leased office space for the collectors. He 

managed the Debt Collector LLCs’ day-to-day operations and controlled the 

entities’ finances.  

124. Marcus Brown received payments for the collection scheme from 

WNY, UDS, Credit Power, UDPS, and SPPS. 

125. Mohan Bagga is an officer of Credit Power and UDPS and 

controlled bank accounts in the names of Credit Power and UDPS.  
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126. Mohan Bagga used these accounts to receive deposits from the 

payment processors of funds taken from consumers; to pay for consumer debt 

and leads, data scrubbing services, telephone services, payment processing 

services, and the UPS mailbox registered to Marcus Brown; and to distribute 

funds generated by the collection scheme to Marcus Brown, Sumant Khan, 

Varinderjit Bagga, UDS, WNY, and Credit Power.  

127. Mohan Bagga opened and controlled the payment processing 

accounts for Credit Power and UDPS.  

128. Mohan Bagga created and managed the accounts for data 

scrubbing services and for message broadcasting by Global Connect.  

129. Mohan Bagga also provided a financial guarantee of the lease for 

the Debt Collectors’ office space.  

130. Mohan Bagga received payments for the collection scheme from 

UDPS and Credit Power.  

131.  Sarita Brown is an officer of UDPS.  

132. Sarita Brown controlled bank accounts for WNY and UDS from 

which she and Marcus Brown paid expenses for the collection scheme, 

including purchasing consumer information, paying collectors and managers 

who carried out the collection activities, and paying rent for office space.  
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133. Sarita Brown received payments for the collection scheme from 

WNY and UDS. 

134. Tasha Pratcher managed a payment processing account in the 

name of WNY, which was used to process funds from the collection scheme.  

135. Pratcher provided financing for the scheme, including paying the 

rent for office space, and received significant payments generated by the 

collection scheme from WNY and UDS.   

136. Sumant Khan created and controlled SPPS, the sole purpose of 

which was to further the collection scheme.  

137. Khan controlled processing accounts used to process payments 

from consumers, and associated bank accounts, in which he received 

consumer funds from the collection scheme and from which he made 

payments to payment processors, Marcus Brown, WNY, and for other 

expenses related to the collection scheme.  

138. Khan received payments for the collection scheme from SPPS, 

WNY, UDS, and UDPS.  

139. Varinderjit Bagga was the owner of WNY and opened and 

controlled a payment processing account for the entity.  

140. She used this account to collect and distribute consumer funds 

generated by the collection scheme.  
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141. Varinderjit Bagga provided financing for the collection scheme, 

and is the owner of the residence that the Debt Collector LLCs, at various 

times, used as their principal place of business, 6375 Whitestone Place.  

142. Varinderjit Bagga also created a limited liability company with 

Sumant Khan, VS Payment Solutions, LLC, for the sole purpose of furthering 

the collection scheme.  

143. Varinderjit Bagga received payments for the collection scheme 

from WNY, Credit Power, and UDPS. 

The Payment Processors Facilitated the Debt Collection Scheme  

144. Payment processors, like Global Payments and EMS, provide 

services that enable merchants to accept check, card, and electronic 

payments at a point of sale.  

145. Payment processors promote their service as providing increased 

sales and “enhanced business image.”  

146. By enabling the Debt Collectors and other persons who collect 

debt to accept credit and debit card payments, the Payment Processors 

enabled them to efficiently accept payments and convince consumers that 

they were credible merchants. 

147. During the typical card transaction, when a cardholder presents 

a card for payment at a merchant location, the card information is captured 
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by a point of sale terminal card reader and transmitted to a payment 

network.  

148. Payment processors must be sponsored by an acquiring bank that 

is registered with one or more of the card associations, such as Visa or 

MasterCard.  

149. Payment processors are subject to the rules and credit risk 

policies of the card associations. 

150. The illustration below shows the flow of a typical $100 card 

transaction: 
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151. By granting access by the Debt Collectors and other persons who 

collect debt to this payment processing infrastructure, the Payment 

Processors enabled them to quickly, conveniently, and efficiently collect 

consumer payments.  

The Payment Processors and ISOs failed to follow policies and 
procedures to prevent consumer harm 

 
152. In general, because merchants are paid quickly for card 

transactions, the merchant processing relationship creates credit exposure for 

payment processors.  

153. Consumers’ payments are provisional and may be reversed when 

a consumer disputes a charge, which may result in a “chargeback.”  

154. If a merchant is unable or unwilling to fund the reversed 

transaction, the chargeback would become the responsibility of the payment 

processor.  

155. To minimize credit exposure, the Payment Processors were 

required to follow policies and procedures to evaluate merchant 

creditworthiness and identify fraud.  

156. One such card association policy stated, “A Merchant must not 

accept a Card to collect or refinance an existing debt….” 
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157. Similarly, consistent with the card networks’ policy, Global 

Payments’ own credit policy specifically identified collection agencies among 

“prohibited merchants” that ISOs were not to solicit, and which required 

Global Payments’ approval.  

158. Pathfinder (but not Frontline) also deemed collection agencies to 

be prohibited merchants.  

159. The Payment Processors deemed collection agencies to be high 

risk merchants.  

160. In addition to collection agencies, Global Payments’ list of 

prohibited merchants included “Aggregators,” or merchants that use their 

processing account to process payments for other merchants, a practice 

known as “factoring.”  

161. According to Global Payments’ policy, an indicator for factoring 

was “any Merchants using ‘Pay’ or ‘Payment’ in either DBA or Legal names.” 

162. The Payment Processors and card associations also considered 

the Debt Collectors high risk merchants because they processed only “card-

not-present” transactions.  

163. Global Payments’ policies required enhanced scrutiny of card-not-

present merchants. 
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164. Although the Payment Processors classified the Debt Collectors 

and other persons who collect debt as high risk – indeed, prohibited – 

merchants, as described below, the Payment Processors approved the Debt 

Collectors’ numerous applications for payment processing accounts and failed 

to reasonably monitor those accounts for signs of unlawful conduct. 

Pathfinder’s underwriting and risk monitoring were deficient 

165. In February 2011, Mohan Bagga, on behalf of Credit Power, 

submitted an application to Pathfinder for a Global Payments merchant 

processing account. 

166. Pathfinder’s underwriting purported to include a review for 

criminal activity, associates, verification of addresses, business filings or 

corporate affiliations.  

167. Although Credit Power’s “chief executive officer” had recently 

finished a sentence for drug trafficking and shared an address with Mohan 

Bagga, Pathfinder and Global Payments approved Credit Power’s application. 

168. In November 2011, Mohan Bagga applied for a second account 

with Pathfinder, in the name of UDPS.  

169. In the application, Mohan Bagga identified UDPS as a collection 

agency that had been in business for one month.  
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170. The application provided the same address for Mohan Bagga’s 

residence and UDPS’s business.  

171. Although Pathfinder’s vice president for compliance recognized 

that a merchant’s operating out of his home indicated the business may not 

be legitimate, Pathfinder and Global Payments approved the application. 

172. Pathfinder’s site survey for the UDPS application stated that the 

business premises, Mohan Bagga’s home, was leased and “the amount of 

inventory and merchandise on the shelves and floor appear to be consistent 

with the type of business.” 

173. UDPS’s application shows that Mohan Bagga’s minimal income 

was derived from self-employment and he had a subprime credit score. 

174. Although the Global Payment’s risk policy stated that a 

principal’s creditworthiness was critical to the underwriting decision, 

Pathfinder and Global Payments approved UDPS’s application 

notwithstanding Bagga’s credit history and status. 

175. Global Payments deposited monies processed through the UDPS 

and Credit Power accounts into bank accounts opened and maintained by 

Mohan Bagga in the names of UDPS and Credit Power. 
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176. Once Credit Power and UDPS began processing with Global 

Payments, Global Payments and Pathfinder continued to ignore indicators 

that the collectors were committing fraud.  

177. For example, in January 2012, Pathfinder recognized that UDPS 

was processing payments for RSB Equity Group, LLC (“RSB”). Although 

Global Payments’ policy prohibited processing payments for another 

merchant, or “factoring,” the Payment Processors allowed UDPS and Credit 

Power to continue processing payments.  

178. In November 2012, Pathfinder received a MATCH alert for UDPS 

and RSB.  

179. MATCH refers to the “Member Alert to Control High-risk 

merchants” system that MasterCard maintains to identify and prevent fraud, 

which Global Payments, EMS, and their ISOs are required to consult, 

according to MasterCard’s and Global Payments’ rules.  

180. The MATCH alert stated that another processor terminated 

affiliates of UDPS and RSB because the processor, after investigation, found 

factoring and excessive chargeback volume.  

181. Although Pathfinder, in January 2012, had identified this same 

factoring conduct by RSB and UDPS, it did not conduct any further 
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investigation into its merchants’ conduct and allowed the Debt Collectors to 

continue processing payments.  

182. In March 2013, Global Payments notified Pathfinder that Visa 

had prohibited Credit Power from processing payments using the Visa 

network.  

183. However, Pathfinder and Global Payments continued to allow 

Credit Power and UDPS to process payments with other card brands. 

184. On July 8, 2013, Global Payments notified Pathfinder that the 

Discover card association was requiring closure of UDPS’s account due to 

“prohibited business practices.”  

185. However, Pathfinder and Global Payments allowed UDPS and 

Credit Power to continue processing MasterCard transactions for almost 

another year. 

186. Pathfinder routinely experienced difficulties making contact with 

representatives of UDPS and Credit Power.  

187. For example, mail was often returned and voicemail boxes were 

full.  

188. Additionally, on at least one occasion, in July 2013, Pathfinder 

placed a call to UDPS customer service and the owner of RSB answered the 

phone.  
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189. Communication problems like these should have caused the ISO 

to more closely monitor or terminate the Debt Collectors. 

190. By Pathfinder’s own admission, any chargeback rate greater than 

zero was a sign of suspicious activity.  

191. Yet Pathfinder allowed the Debt Collectors to continue processing 

when, based on data provided by Global Payments, it noted that Credit 

Power’s chargeback rate for July 2013 was 28.5% and UDPS’s chargeback 

rate in August 2013, was 31%.  

192. These high rates should have caused Pathfinder and Global 

Payments to investigate the Debt Collectors’ business practices, if not 

terminate their accounts. 

193. In August 2013, UDPS changed its address to 3939 Lavista Rd., 

the address for a UPS store, and changed the contact person to Marcus 

Brown. 

194. In December 2013, Brown requested an increase in UDPS’s 

processing volume limit.  

195. Also in December 2013, Pathfinder acknowledged that Marcus 

Brown was one of its most profitable clients by sending him a gift basket. 

Frontline’s underwriting and risk monitoring were deficient 
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196. In March 2013, Mohan Bagga submitted merchant applications 

to Frontline on behalf of UDPS and Credit Power. 

197. Although Frontline is an ISO of Global Payments, whose policy 

purports to prohibit collection agencies, Frontline’s own list of prohibited 

merchants does not include collection agencies. 

198. Frontline’s Underwriting Manual begins by declaring Frontline’s 

“Underwriting Philosophy”: “At Frontline Processing we look for ways to say 

YES.” 

199. The Debt Collectors’ merchant processing applications were again 

replete with indicators of fraudulent activity.  

200. UDPS’s March 2013 application identified a physical and legal 

address as 2256 Northlake Parkway, Suite 301.  

201. UDPS never occupied this space.  

202. The fax imprint on the application shows that it was faxed from a 

FedEx Office location, and the address on the voided check UDPS provided 

with its application belongs to another collection agency. 

203. Frontline’s underwriting manual stated that Merchant Category 

Codes are used by the card associations for activity tracking, reporting, and 

risk management purposes. “Therefore,” the policy states, “it is important to 

ensure that the correct MCC code is assigned to a merchant.”  
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204. Although the UDPS application clearly stated that UDPS was in 

the business of “debt collections,” the underwriting summary included 

Merchant Category Code 5651, which was the card issuers’ code for “Family 

Clothing Stores.” 

205. Frontline’s underwriting summary of the UDPS application 

stated, “Prohibited business model per Global Credit Guidelines.”  

206. Directly underneath this summary, Frontline wrote, “Approved.” 

207. Global Payments also approved the UDPS application. 

208. On March 23, 2013, just weeks after Frontline and Global 

Payments approved the UDPS application, Mohan Bagga submitted a 

merchant processing application to Frontline in the name of Credit Power.  

209. The application provided a legal address, 3939 Lavista Rd., that 

belonged to a UPS Store.  

210. The application was faxed from the same FedEx Office as the 

UDPS application.  

211. The Better Business Bureau (“BBB”) review of Credit Power, 

which was included in the underwriting package, showed that Credit Power 

was rated “F.”   

212. The BBB review also identified Credit Power’s principal as an ex-

felon.  
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213. Frontline’s underwriting policy states, “The underwriting 

department is responsible for verifying information contained on the 

application, including the [customer service] number and website provided. 

The purpose of verifying this information is to ensure the business is 

legitimate.”  

214. The manual explains, “In addition to verifying that the number 

belongs to our merchant, this is a great opportunity to make sure that the 

guarantor is an active part of the business.”   

215. Neither the UDPS application nor the Credit Power applications 

that Bagga submitted included a customer service phone number. 

216. Global Payments deposited monies processed through these 

accounts into bank accounts opened and maintained by Mohan Bagga in the 

names of UDPS and Credit Power. 

217. In a letter Frontline posted among customer testimonials on its 

website, Bagga acknowledged Frontline’s assistance in the debt collection 

scheme.  

218. The letter from Mohan Bagga, “President of Universal Debt & 

Payment Solutions,” recommends Frontline because it “has been extremely 

helpful in jump starting my business for many reasons.”  
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Global Payments, Pathfinder, and Frontline failed to 
appropriately monitor the UDPS and Credit Power accounts 
 
219. Chargebacks occur when a consumer disputes a charge with his 

or her bank because, for example, a charge was unauthorized, merchandise 

was not received, or the consumer was victimized by fraud. 

220. Under its agreement with its sponsor bank, Global Payments was 

responsible for handling all chargebacks and related costs.  

221. The agreement required Global Payments to “[p]erform standard 

investigations of chargeback transactions” and “provide documentation to the 

merchant as ‘case documentation’ supporting an adjustment.” 

222. When a consumer disputed a charge that Global Payment 

processed, Global Payments received the chargeback complaint from the 

issuing bank and generated a chargeback advice, which it mailed to the 

merchant to attempt to resolve the dispute.  

223. The advice contained card information, transaction information, 

and the narrative of a consumer’s dispute.  

224. If the merchant contested the chargeback, it could respond with 

supporting documentation to Global Payments. 
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225. Global Payments processed the chargeback of one Texas 

consumer, for example, who disputed a Credit Power transaction from 

September 16, 2013.  

226. The consumer complained that she received a call from LRS 

Litigations.  

227. The caller from LRS Litigations said the consumer owed LRS 

money and stated the consumer’s social security number.  

228. The consumer did not provide debit card information or authorize 

a charge, but Credit Power withdrew $500 from her account without 

authorization. 

229. Global Payments processed the chargeback of another consumer 

who complained that he received a threatening call while he was asleep.  

230. The caller stated that he had a “restraining order against [the 

consumer] to appear in court if I didn’t settle with them.”  

231. The caller said the consumer had 24 hours to pay $500 on a 

$1,600 debt to Bank of America, or the collector would “contact [the 

consumer’s] employer to levy [his] wage, and they were also contacting the 

local police to serve papers against [the consumer].”  

232. According to the complaint, because he was scared, the consumer 

provided his bank card information.  
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233. After making the payment, the consumer’s wife informed him 

that they had never done business with Bank of America.  

234. Global Payments processed a Pennsylvania consumer’s dispute of 

a $250 debit by Credit Power.  

235. The consumer complained that he received a call on January 30, 

2014 from a collection agency that the consumer had to pay two payments of 

$250 to settle a $3,000 MasterCard debt, or he would be “forced to go to court 

and pay further fees such as court costs, settlement fees, etc.”  

236. Although the consumer was already paying a collection agency 

for his credit card debt, “with the scare of court and more fees … I simply 

gave my debit card number for settlement.”  

237. The caller promised to send a receipt by email, but the consumer 

never received any paperwork.  

238. Upon hanging up, the caller remembered that he only had one 

credit card, a Visa.  

239. Global Payments processed the chargeback of a consumer from 

Oregon who disputed a $600 payment to UDPS.  

240. The consumer complained that a caller claimed to have lost the 

consumer’s payment information because of a computer server outage.  
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241. However, the consumer had never provided his payment 

information to the agency the caller claimed to represent.  

242. The caller promised to send a settlement agreement before 

charging the consumer’s card, but did not.  

243. As the consumer summarized in this dispute, “They lied about 

who they were, they lied about what they were doing, and they lied about 

providing documentation.”  

244. Other consumers disputed charges by Credit Power and UDPS 

when they were unable to reach the merchant, payments they made were not 

applied to an actual debt, the consumer did not receive a verification of debt, 

or simply that the charge was not authorized.  

245. Many of the complaints about Credit Power and UDPS refer to 

LRS Litigations or IRS Equity, which, at least, should have alerted Global 

Payments, Frontline, and Pathfinder to factoring.  

246. Global Payments, Frontline, and Pathfinder ignored these red 

flags and allowed UDPS and Credit Power to continue processing unlawfully 

obtained payments. 
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EMS’s underwriting and risk monitoring were deficient 

247. Like Global Payments, EMS provided frontline customer service, 

chargeback processing and risk monitoring functions for merchant 

transactions.  

248. EMS’s agreement with its sponsor bank required EMS to 

maintain underwriting standards, perform due diligence on merchant 

applications, and monitor risk.  

249. EMS’s agreements with its ISOs required the ISO to market 

EMS to only “bona fide lawful businesses and merchants that meet EMS’ 

criteria” and conform with EMS’s, the sponsor bank’s, and the card 

associations’ underwriting requirements. 

250. In August 2013, UDPS and Credit Power submitted applications 

to EMS to process an average monthly sales volume of $50,000 and $75,000, 

respectively.  

251. The applications provided 3939 Lavista Rd. as a legal and 

physical address.  

252. This address, 3939 Lavista Rd., is the address of a UPS Store.  

253. UDPS and Credit Power also provided 3939 Lavista Rd. as 

Mohan Bagga’s residential address, while the phone number provided as 
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Mohan Bagga’s residential phone is Marcus Brown’s cell phone, including a 

Buffalo area code.  

254. The site inspection section of the applications stated that the 

merchant owns the premises, which is consistent with the type of business, 

but that the inspector did not physically inspect the business.  

255. The address information in the applications was contradicted by 

other documents in the underwriting packages, including Mohan Bagga’s 

driver’s license, Mohan Bagga’s credit report, and a voided check for the 

UDPS bank account.  

256. EMS utilized a fraud detection tool as part of the underwriting 

process.  

257. On a scale of zero to 50, fraud detection reports included in 

EMS’s underwriting file rated UDPS and Credit Power zero, or high risk, 

because there was “[n]othing found to confirm the existence of the business.”  

258. Although the application identified UDPS as a “collections” 

business, EMS assigned merchant code 7321, “Consumer Credit Reporting 

Agencies.”  

259. Although the Credit Power and UDPS applications provided the 

same business address, the Credit Power underwriting file included a 

merchant site inspection report.  
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260. The inspection was never completed; instead, the report stated, 

“Inspection was placed on hold because the site contact would not return 

inspectors [sic] phone calls. Received email from [client] 10/04/13 asking that 

this order be cancelled out.”  

261. EMS approved both the Credit Power and UDPS applications. 

262. EMS, like Global Payments, processed consumer chargebacks.  

263. Consumer chargebacks processed by EMS involved, for example, 

a consumer’s complaint that he received a call from “Arbitration Resolution” 

claiming that he owed a debt to a bank.  

264. The caller told the consumer that the debt was “in the lawyers’ 

hands now so if I did not settle it today I would be subject to a judgment on 

my bank accounts.”  

265. After the consumer paid “Arbitration Resolution,” his account 

showed a corresponding withdrawal by UDPS.  

266. After paying, the consumer learned from his bank that no such 

debt had existed. 

267. EMS processed the chargeback of a Nebraska consumer who 

provided an affidavit to her bank disputing a UDPS charge. The affidavit 

states,  



45

I was called on Fri Jan 31, 2013 [sic] and was told they were calling 
from arbitration and that if I didn’t give them $1000.00 the sheriff 
would be out to take me to jail at 6 pm. I told them what was this about 
and he said it was in regards to capital one credit card. I told him I only 
receive SSI, so he asked me how much I could pay and I just got scared 
and I really thought I was going to jail so I just said $200.00 and he 
said that was good and they would set up payments for March and 
April. 
 
268. Despite numerous consumer disputes telling the same story of 

fraud, EMS took no action to terminate the UDPS or Credit Power accounts. 

269. In response to the Bureau’s civil investigative demand, in March 

2014, EMS terminated UDPS and submitted a MATCH alert to notify 

payment processors of UDPS’s and Credit Power’s possible fraud. 

270. In April 2014, after the payment processors terminated accounts 

for Credit Power and UDPS, Khan and Varinderjit Bagga formed SPPS and 

VS Payment Solutions, LLC for the sole purpose of furthering the collection 

scheme. 

271. Khan, Varinderjit Bagga, and Brown entered indemnity 

agreements that stated, “Any investigation by the FTC commission or the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) for any violations will be the 

responsibility for [sic] Marcus Brown and he will indemnify the company and 

Mr. Sumant Khan and Ms. Veena Bagga incase [sic] of any violations, 
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including violations for processing payments and any fines assessed based 

on a Civil Investigative Demand by CFPB.” 

272. On April 10, 2014, Varinderjit Bagga submitted an application 

for a processing account with EMS in the name of WNY.  

273. On the application, the business address is listed as 1401 

Peachtree St., the same address UDPS used.  

274. The application also identified as the contact person “Marcus – 

Office Manager” and included Marcus Brown’s cell phone number.  

275. The application identifies Varinderjit Bagga as the owner of 

WNY.  

276. Varinderjit’s residential address is listed as 6375 Whitestone 

Place, the same address the entities had used in prior applications to EMS. 

277. EMS’s business verification report rated WNY as zero, or high 

risk, because nothing could be found to confirm the existence of the business. 

278. EMS approved the application and capped the account at $30,000 

per month.  

279. WNY processed just shy of that limit in the months of April, May, 

and June 2014. 

280. EMS deposited payments consumers made to WNY in an account 

opened and maintained by Sarita Brown in WNY’s name. 



47

281. In May 2014, Khan submitted an application to EMS for SPPS.  

282. The application provides SPPS’s corporate address as 1401 

Peachtree St.  

283. It lists “Marcus” as the office manager and includes Brown’s cell 

phone number.  

284. EMS performed a business verification report that gave SPPS a 

zero rating because nothing could be found to confirm the existence of the 

business. 

285. EMS approved SPPS’s application, and permitted the Debt 

Collectors to process about $80,000 through the account between May and 

August 2014, when EMS terminated the account in response to the Bureau’s 

inquiry. 

To continue their collection scheme, Brown, Varinderjit Bagga, 
and Khan opened additional processing accounts with another 
payment processor  
 
286. In April 2014, Marcus Brown contacted another payment 

processor to open processing accounts for WNY and SPPS.  

287. Brown identified himself to the processor as a consultant for the 

entities.  

288. WNY’s application for a processing account identified Varinderjit 

Bagga as WNY’s president and 100% owner.  
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289. SPPS’s application for a processing account identified Sumant 

Khan as SPPS’s 100% owner.  

290. Both applications referenced the 1401 Peachtree St. address.  

291. In August and September 2014, Khan made significant payments 

to Brown and WNY from the checking account of SPPS. 

DEBT COLLECTORS’ VIOLATIONS OF THE FDCPA 

292. The Debt Collector defendants are “debt collectors” as defined by 

Section 803(6) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6), because they used 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce in a business, the principal purpose 

of which was the collection of any debts, and/or regularly collected or 

attempted to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be 

owed or due another. 

293. A “consumer,” as defined in Section 803(3) of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(3), “means any natural person obligated or allegedly 

obligated to pay any debt.” 

294. A “debt,” as defined in Section 803(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a(5), “means any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay 

money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance 

or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for 
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personal, family, or household purposes, whether or not such obligation has 

been reduced to judgment.” 

Count I: Harassment and Abuse in Connection with  
Collection of a Debt 

 
295. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-294 of the complaint. 

296. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of 

purported debts, the Debt Collectors engaged in conduct the natural 

consequence of which was to harass, oppress, or abuse the consumer, 

including, but not limited to, placing telephone calls without meaningful 

disclosure of the caller’s identity, concealing their identity by causing “000-

000-0000” to appear on the consumer’s caller identification, threatening 

arrest and garnishment of wages, and making false allegations that the 

consumer committed a crime. 

297. The Debt Collectors’ harassment and oppressive and abusive 

conduct violated Section 806 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d.  

Count II: Using False, Deceptive, and Misleading Representations to 
Collect a Debt 

 
298. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-297 of the complaint. 
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299. The Debt Collectors used false, deceptive, or misleading 

representations or means in connection with the collection of alleged debt, 

including, but not limited to: 

a. falsely representing the character, amount, or legal status of 

the debt, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A); 

b. implying that nonpayment of an alleged debt would result in 

arrest or garnishment, where the Debt Collectors had no intent 

or ability to take such action, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e(4); 

c. threatening to take action that they could not legally take, or 

did not intend to take, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5);  

d. falsely representing that the consumer committed the crime of 

check fraud to disgrace and threaten the consumer, in violation 

of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(7);  

e. using false representations and deceptive means, by making 

allegations of fraud, to collect or attempt to collect any debt, in 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10);  

f. using business names other than the true name of the Debt 

Collectors’ business, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10); and 
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g. failing to disclose in the initial oral communication with the 

consumer that the Debt Collectors were attempting to collect a 

debt and that any information obtained would be used for that 

purpose, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 

300. The Debt Collectors’ false, deceptive, and misleading 

representations violated Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. 

Count III: Failing to Validate Debts 

301. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-300 of the complaint. 

302. The Debt Collectors failed to validate alleged consumer debt by 

failing to provide consumers a written notice, within five days of their initial 

communication with a consumer, containing: 

a. the amount of the debt; 

b. the name of the creditor to whom the debt was owed; 

c. a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after 

receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any 

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the 

debt collector;  

d. a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in 

writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any 
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portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain 

verification of the debt or a copy of the judgment against the 

consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be 

mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and 

e. a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within 

the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the 

consumer with the name and address of the original creditor, if 

different from the current creditor.  

303. The Debt Collectors’ failure to validate debt violated Section 809 

of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. 

THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

304. The CFPA prohibits covered persons or service providers from 

engaging “in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.” 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). Section 1054(a) of the CFPA grants the Bureau 

authority to commence a civil action against any person who violates a 

federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 5554(a). The CFPA and FDCPA 

are federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

305. Under the CFPA, a “related person” is deemed to mean a covered 

person. A related person is:  
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(i) any director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 
responsibility for, or controlling shareholder of, or agent for, such 
covered person; (ii) any shareholder, consultant, joint venture partner, 
or other person, as determined by the Bureau (by rule or on a case-by-
case basis) who materially participates in the conduct of the affairs of 
such covered person; and (iii) any independent contractor (including 
any attorney, appraiser, or accountant) who knowingly or recklessly 
participates in any . . . violation of any provision of law or 
regulation . . . .  
 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25).   

306. The CFPA defines a “service provider” as “any person that 

provides a material service to a covered person in connection with the 

offering or provision by such covered person of a consumer financial product 

or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

307. The CFPA further makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly 

or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a covered person or service 

provider engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices; the 

provider of substantial assistance is deemed in violation of the law to the 

same extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(3). 

DEBT COLLECTORS’ VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

Count IV: Violations of the FDCPA 

308. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-307 of the complaint. 



54

309. Section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA provides that it is “unlawful 

for any covered person to offer or provide to a consumer any financial 

product or service not in conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or 

otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer 

financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

310. The Debt Collectors committed acts in violation of a Federal 

consumer financial law, the FDCPA. 

311. The Debt Collectors’ harassment and oppressive and abusive 

conduct, in violation of Section 806 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d; false, 

deceptive, and misleading representations, in violation of Section 807 of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e; and failure to validate debt, in violation of 

Section 809 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g also violated Section 

1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Count V: Deceptive Acts or Practices  

312. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-311 of the complaint. 

313. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of 

alleged debt, the Debt Collectors, for example, represented, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 
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a. the consumer committed a crime that the Debt Collectors were 

authorized to prosecute; 

b. consumers owed a debt that the Debt Collectors had authority 

to collect; 

c. the consumer had a legal obligation to pay the Debt Collectors; 

and 

d. the Debt Collectors had authority to take, and would take, 

legal action against consumers, including arrest, because of 

crimes the consumers were alleged to have committed.  

314. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Debt 

Collectors made the representations set forth in the preceding Paragraph: 

e. the consumer did not commit a crime that the Debt Collectors 

had authority to prosecute;  

f.  consumers did not owe a debt that the Debt Collectors had 

authority to collect; 

g. the consumer did not have a legal obligation to pay the Debt 

Collectors; and 

h. the Debt Collectors did not have authority to take, and did not 

intend to take, legal action against consumers, including 
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arrest, because of crimes the consumers were alleged to have 

committed.  

315. The Debt Collectors’ misrepresentations led consumers to 

reasonably believe that they owed the Debt Collectors payment for a debt.  

316. The Debt Collectors’ misrepresentations were material to 

numerous consumers’ decisions to pay the Debt Collectors. 

317. Therefore, the Debt Collectors’ representations as set forth in 

Paragraph 313 are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count VI: Unfair Acts or Practices 

318. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-317 of the complaint. 

319. In numerous instances, the Debt Collectors caused consumers’ 

bank accounts to be debited without consumers’ consent, or by using threats 

and harassment to obtain consumers’ purported consent.  

320. The Debt Collectors’ acts or practices caused, or were likely to 

cause, substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition.  
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321. Therefore, the Debt Collectors’ practices as described in 

Paragraph 319 constitute unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count VII: Providing Substantial Assistance to the Debt Collector 
LLCs’ Unfair or Deceptive Conduct 

 
322. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-321 of the complaint. 

323. The individual defendants provided substantial assistance to the 

Debt Collector LLCs’ unlawful conduct by purchasing debt and leads, 

providing skip tracing services, providing telephone lines and broadcasting 

services, leasing office space, providing access to payment processing 

services, and hiring and paying collectors. 

324. The individual defendants knowingly or recklessly provided this 

substantial assistance to the collection scheme and accepted significant 

monetary returns for their contributions.  

325. Therefore, the individual defendants provided substantial 

assistance to the unlawful conduct of the Debt Collector LLCs, in violation of 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 
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PAYMENT PROCESSORS’ VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

Count VIII: Providing Substantial Assistance to the Debt Collectors’ 
Unfair or Deceptive Conduct 

 
326. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-325 of the complaint. 

327. Under the CFPA, it is unlawful for any person to “knowingly or 

recklessly provide substantial assistant to a covered person or service 

provider in violation of the provisions of section 1031, or any rule or order 

issued thereunder.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

328. The Payment Processors provided substantial assistance to the 

unlawful conduct of the Debt Collectors and other persons who collect debt 

by enabling them to accept payment by credit and debit card, legitimizing 

the Debt Collectors’ business, making transactions easy for consumers and 

the Debt Collectors, enabling the Debt Collectors to accept payment from 

consumers with insufficient cash, and facilitating the Debt Collectors’ 

efficient collection of consumers’ funds. 

329. The Payment Processors knowingly or recklessly provided this 

substantial assistance by approving merchant applications from the Debt 

Collectors and other persons who collect debt that were replete with indicia 

of fraud and ignoring warnings from industry and consumers that the 
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Payment Processors’ clients were engaged in a scheme to defraud 

consumers. 

330. Therefore, the Payment Processors provided substantial 

assistance to the unlawful conduct of the Debt Collectors and other persons 

who collect debt, in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count IX: Unfair Acts or Practices 

331. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-330 of the complaint. 

332. The Payment Processors provided material services, including 

payment processing services, to the Debt Collectors and other persons who 

collect debt in connection with their collection of debt by enabling them to 

take funds from consumers.  

333. The Payment Processors failed to conduct reasonable due 

diligence to detect the unlawful conduct of the Debt Collectors and other 

persons who collect debt, approved merchant applications that were replete 

with indicia of fraud, and ignored warnings from industry and consumers 

that the Payment Processors’ clients were engaged in a scheme to defraud 

consumers.  

334. The Payment Processors’ acts or practices caused, or were likely 

to cause, substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable 
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by consumers and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition.  

335. Therefore, the Payment Processors’ practices described in 

Paragraph 333 constitute unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and (c)(1), and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

GLOBAL CONNECT’S VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

Count X: Providing Substantial Assistance to the Debt Collectors’ 
Unfair or Deceptive Conduct 

 
336. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-335 of the complaint. 

337. Global Connect provided substantial assistance to the unlawful 

conduct of the Debt Collectors and other persons who collect debt by 

broadcasting threatening messages to consumers and enabling them to 

communicate with millions of consumers using Global Connect’s automated 

system. 

338. Global Connect knowingly or recklessly provided this substantial 

assistance by broadcasting a message that it knew, or should have known, 

was unfair or deceptive, and materially contributed to unlawful debt 

collection, including the Debt Collectors’ scheme. 
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339. Therefore, Global Connect provided substantial assistance to the 

unlawful conduct of Debt Collectors and other persons who collect debt, in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count XI: Unfair Acts or Practices 

340. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations in 

paragraphs 1-339 of the complaint. 

341. Global Connect provided material services to the Debt Collectors 

and other persons who collect debt in connection with their collection of debt 

by broadcasting millions of threatening collection messages to consumers on 

their behalf. 

342. Global Connect’s acts or practices caused, or were likely to cause, 

substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 

343. Therefore, Global Connect’s practices as described in Paragraph 

341 constitute unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a) and (c)(1), and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

344. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

equitable relief with respect to violations of federal consumer financial law, 
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including the CFPA and FDCPA. This relief includes, without limitation, 

permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, 

the refund of monies paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for 

unjust enrichment, payment of damages, limits on the activities and 

functions of defendants, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a). In 

addition, the CFPB may recover its cost in connection with the action, if it is 

the prevailing party. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(b). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

1. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin defendants from committing 

future violations of the CFPA and FDCPA; 

2. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from defendants’ violations of the CFPA and 

FDCPA, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of 

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and payment of 

damages;  

3. Award disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment; 

4. Award the Bureau civil money penalties;  

5. Award the Bureau the costs of bringing this action; and  
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6. Such other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be 

just and proper.   

Dated: March 26, 2015 Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau: 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
 
FRANK KULBASKI 
Acting Deputy Enforcement Director for 
Litigation 
 
/s/ Jonathan B. Engel 
____________________________________  
JONATHAN B. ENGEL (MA bar #664518) 
DAVID DUDLEY (WI Bar #1062812) 
ENFORCEMENT ATTORNEYS 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone (Engel): 202-435-9037 
Phone (Dudley): 202-435-9284 
Email: Jonathan.Engel@cfpb.gov 
Email: David.Dudley@cfpb.gov 
Fax: 202-435-7722 
 
And  
 
Local Counsel 
JOHN A. HORN 
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
  
LENA AMANTI 
ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY 
Georgia Bar No. 666825 
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600 Richard B. Russell Federal Bldg. 
75 Spring Street, S.W. 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
Telephone: (404) 581-6225 
Facsimile: (404) 581-6163 
Email: lena.amanti@usdoj.gov 
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CFPB Takes Action Against “Bad Check”
Debt Collector
Na tionw ide Opera tion  Deceptively  Threa tened  Consumers  w ith  Cr imina l
Prosecution  and  Ja il Time for  Writing  Bounced  Checks

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced an enforcement action against a nationwide debt collection operation and
its chief executive officer for using deceptive threats of criminal prosecution and jail
time in order to intimidate consumers into paying debts for bounced checks. The
company also misled consumers into believing that they must enroll in a costly financial
education program to avoid criminal charges. The proposed order, if approved by a
federal district court, would put an end to the illegal activities, impose a civil money
penalty of $50,000, and require new consumer disclosures and stronger oversight of
the bounced check program.

“National Corrective Group masqueraded as prosecutors and used deceptive tactics to
intimidate consumers into paying hundreds of dollars in extra fees to avoid potential
criminal prosecution,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today we are taking
action to put a stop to these illegal debt collection practices.”

The CFPB’s proposed order names National Corrective Group, a privately-held,
California-based corporation that operates nationwide and specializes in the collection
of consumer debt for bounced checks. The order also includes several related entities
that purchased all of the contracts and assets of National Corrective Group and took
over its operation during the course of the CFPB investigation. These companies are
Victim Services Inc. and American Justice Solutions, Inc. Together, these companies
operate one of the largest bad check diversion programs in the United States. Mats
Jonsson, National Corrective Group’s Chief Executive Officer, is the senior company
executive in charge of the daily operations of its bad check diversion programs and
continues to operate Victim Services Inc. and American Justice Solutions, Inc.

State and district attorneys’ offices often offer diversion programs to people accused of
writing bad checks as a way for the individuals to avoid criminal prosecution. Many bad
check diversion programs are run by companies that enter into contracts with state and
local prosecutors’ offices to collect bounced check debt. Under the law, a company
operating a bad check diversion program cannot contact a consumer about the program
until a prosecutor’s office has reviewed the case and determined the consumer is
eligible. The law also requires these companies to inform consumers of certain rights,
including their right to dispute allegations of bad check violations.

The CFPB alleges that National Corrective Group deceived consumers by sending them
notices on prosecutors’ letterheads and creating the false impression that consumers
may be prosecuted for writing bounced checks. However, the letters went to consumers
before any district attorney had determined prosecution was likely. Consumers were
told by the company that to qualify for the diversion program and avoid prosecution
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they must pay the bounced check debts as well as enroll in the company’s financial
education class for an additional fee. The cost of the financial education classes were
typically around $200, which was often several times the amount of the alleged bad
check debt.

Specific violations alleged in the CFPB’s complaint include:

Masquerading as  state  or  distr ict attorneys: The CFPB complaint alleges
that the National Corrective Group created a false impression for consumers that
its communications were from a state or district attorney’s office. The company
sent letters on prosecutors’ letterheads that appeared to be signed by the state or
district attorney. The telephone numbers and mailing addresses that the company
provided to consumers linked directly to its corporate offices, even though the
letters indicated that the consumer would be contacting the district attorney’s
office.

Intimidating consumers  with  false  threats  of cr iminal charges: Under
the law, government prosecutors must make the determination to pursue a
potential bad check violation. The Bureau alleges that National Corrective Group
sent collection letters to consumers on prosecutors’ letterheads threatening
criminal prosecution before district or state attorneys had even examined whether
a criminal violation may have occurred, and whether participation in the
diversion program was appropriate. In fact, the CFPB alleges that less than one
percent of consumers who received final warning letters stating that their case
was being forwarded for possible criminal prosecution were ever even referred to
the prosecutor’s office for possible prosecution. The Bureau alleges that the
company also threatened possible criminal prosecution where the amount of the
debt was so low that criminal action would rarely or never occur.

Deceiving consumers  into  paying extra  fees  for  costly financial
education  class: According to the Bureau’s complaint, the National Corrective
Group deceived consumers into believing that they must pay to enroll in a
financial education class in order to avoid possible criminal prosecution for
writing a bad check. In reality, consumers are not typically at risk of prosecution,
which rarely, if ever, occurs.

Enforcement Action
The CFPB alleged that the defendants violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA). Among other things, the FDCPA prohibits making misrepresentations to or
deceiving consumers. The CFPB also alleged that the defendants violated the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which prohibits deceptive acts
or practices in the consumer financial marketplace. If entered by the court, today’s
order would:

End  deceptive  communications  to  consumers: The order would prohibit
the companies from stating or implying that they are a state or district attorney.
The order would also require that the companies clearly disclose the company
name in communications with consumers.

Prohibit threats  of imprisonment and  other  intimidation  tactics: The
order would require that the companies stop falsely representing to consumers
that failure to pay a debt or enter the bad check diversion program will result in
arrest or imprisonment. It would also require the companies to disclose to
consumers that the prosecutor’s office has not made a decision about whether to
charge the consumer with a crime and that many cases are never prosecuted.

Prohibit use  of distr ict attorney letterhead: The order would ban the
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companies from using district attorneys’ letterheads or duplicating their
signatures for their communications to consumers. The operation would also be
required to clearly state that the diversion program is voluntary.

Require  increased  program  oversight: The order would prohibit companies
from contacting consumers about a diversion program unless the operation is
under the supervision of a state or district attorney’s office and the office has
reviewed and provided written confirmation to the company that there is reason
to believe the individual being contacted violated the law.

Pay a  $50,000  civil money penalty: The proposed order requires the
companies and Jonsson to pay a $50,000 civil penalty. The poor financial
condition of the companies and Jonsson make them unable to pay a greater sum.

The  CFPB  complaint is  available  here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_complaint-national-corrective-
group.pdf

The  proposed  order  is  available  here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_proposed-order-national-corrective-
group.pdf

The Bureau’s complaints and consent orders are not findings or rulings that the
defendant has actually violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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You’ve got options when it 
comes to overdraft

An overdraft occurs when you 
don’t have enough money in your 
account to cover a transaction, but 
the bank pays for it anyway. 

Transactions include ATM withdrawals and debit 
card purchases. Many banks and credit unions 
offer overdraft protection programs in which your 
institution will pay for the transaction and charge 
you a fee (in addition to requiring you to repay the 
overdraft amount). For most banks, the overdraft 
fee is a fixed amount regardless of the amount of 
the transaction. And, you could incur several fees in 
a single day.

Overdraft programs are optional 
You can choose not to have debit overdraft. 
Knowing your status allows you to decide what 
is best for you. Your bank or credit union can’t 
charge you for overdraft fees on ATM or debit card 
transactions unless you’re enrolled in an overdraft 
protection program. 

If you decide not to enroll, your bank will likely 
decline ATM or debit card purchases when your 
account doesn’t have enough funds to cover them, 
but you won’t be charged a fee. 

You should also keep in mind that banks and credit 
unions are allowed to charge you overdraft fees 
when the bank or credit union pays a check or 

certain recurring electronic payments that would 
have overdrawn your account, even if you did not 
opt in to overdraft protection.

How you can reduce or eliminate 
overdraft fees
 § You can opt out of overdraft protection 

programs anytime. This means that your debit 
or ATM card may be declined if you don’t 
have enough money in your account to cover 
a purchase or ATM withdrawal. However, it 
also means you won’t be charged for these 
transactions.

 § Link your checking account to a savings account. 
If you overdraw your checking account, your 
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bank will take money from your linked savings 
account to cover the difference. You may be 
charged a transfer fee when this happens, but it’s 
usually much lower than the fee for an overdraft.

 § Ask your financial institution if you’re eligible 
for a line of credit or linked credit card to cover 
overdrafts. You may have to pay a fee when the 
credit line is tapped, and you will owe interest on 
the amount you borrowed, but this is still a much 
cheaper way to cover a brief cash shortfall.

 § Track your balance as carefully as you can and 
sign up for low balance alerts to let you know 
when you’re at risk of overdrawing your account. 
If you have regular electronic transfers, such as 
rent, mortgage payments or utility bills, make 
sure you know how much they will be and on 
what day they occur. You also need to know 
when the funds you have deposited become 
available for your use.

 § Shop around for a different account. Get a copy 
of your bank or credit union’s list of account 
fees, or ask about them, then compare them 
with account fees at other banks or credit 
unions. Assess your habits honestly and consider 
penalty fees, such as overdraft and non-sufficient 
funds charges, as well as monthly maintenance, 
ATM surcharge, and other service fees. When 
comparing banks or credit unions, also consider 
factors such as the hours of operation, locations, 
access to public transportation, available 
products and services, and reputation for 
customer service.

Questions about overdraft fees  
or bank accounts?
Check out AskCFPB at consumerfinance.gov/
askcfpb and search for your question or click the 
button that says “bank accounts and services.” 

Submit a complaint 
If you have a problem with overdraft fees or 
any other financial products, you can submit 
a complaint:

 Online 
 consumerfinance.gov/complaint

 By phone 
 Toll free: (855) 411-CFPB (2372)  
 TTY/TDD : (855) 729-CFPB (2372)

  By fax 
 (855) 237-2392

 By mail 
 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 P.O. Box 4503 
 Iowa City, Iowa 52244

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/search/?selected_facets=category_exact:bank-accounts-and-services
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/search/?selected_facets=category_exact:bank-accounts-and-services
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/complaint/


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 201s-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

R M K Financial Corporation, also 
doing business as Majestic Home 
Loans 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage 

origination advertising activities of R M K Financial Corporation (Respondent or RMK 

Financial, as defined below) and has identified deceptive and misleading acts and 

practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ SS31 and SS36, and section 626 of the Omnibus 

Appropriations Act of 2009 and its implementing regulation, the Mortgage Acts and 

Practices Rule (MAP Rule or Regulation N), 12 C.F.R. pt. 1014. In addition, Respondent 

failed to include certain required disclosures and meet other requirements in its 

advertisements for mortgage loans in violation of the Truth in Lending Act, 1S U.S.C. 

§§ 1601 et seq., and its implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1026 

(collectively, TILA). Under sections 10S3 and lOSS of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ SS63, SS6S, 

the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Overview 

1. Respondent committed deceptive acts or practices by using the names, logos, and 

seals of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and Fair Housing Administration 

(FHA) in its mortgage advertisements in such a way that the net impression of the 

advertisements falsely implied that they were sent by the VA or FHA, or that the 

company or the advertised mortgage products were endorsed or sponsored by the VA or 

FHA. The advertisements also contained misrepresentations about the price of the 

advertised mortgages, including whether the advertised interest rates were fixed or 

variable. Respondent also violated Regulation N, also known as the Mortgage Acts and 

Practices Rule (MAP Rule), by misrepresenting that the advertising entity "is, or is 

affiliated with, any governmental entity;" misrepresenting that its products and services 

were "endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with" a government program "through the 

use of formats, symbols, or logos that resemble those" of the U.S. government; 

misrepresenting the "source of any commercial communication;" and misrepresenting, 

in its mortgage advertisements, the fixed or variable nature of the interest to be charged 

and the amounts of the payments. Finally, Respondent violated TILA by failing to 

include required disclosures regarding interest rates and monthly payments in its 

mortgage advertisements. Respondent sent these advertisements to more than 100,000 

consumers during the Relevant Period. 

II 

Jurisdiction 

2. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; section 108 of the Truth in Lending Act, 12 U.S.C. 

2 
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§ 1607; and section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act of 2009, as amended by 

section 1097 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5538. 

III 

Stipulation 

3. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated April1, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance 

of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFP A, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

4· The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

b. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegee. 

c. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section 

Vofthis Consent Order. 

d. "Relevant Period" means the period from June 1, 2013 to the date of this Consent 

Order. 

3 
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e. "Respondent" or "RMK Financial" means R M K Financial Corporation, which 

has also done business as Majestic Home Loan and All Day Loan, and its 

successors and assigns. 

v 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

5· Respondent RMK Financial is a mortgage lender headquartered in Rancho 

Cucamonga, California. 

6. Respondent markets and sells mortgage credit products to consumers, including 

mortgages guaranteed by the VA and mortgages insured by the FHA. 

7. During the Relevant Period, Respondent used print mailers to market mortgages. 

8. Respondent sent the mailers on a weekly basis. Over the course of the Relevant 

Period, the mailers were sent to more than 100,000 individual consumers. 

9. Respondent's print mailers featured phone numbers that consumers could call to 

speak to Respondent's employees or other agents about the advertised mortgages. 

10. Respondent's loan officers and sales personnel sold mortgages to consumers over 

the phone. 

11. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), 

because it is a corporation that engages in offering and providing residential mortgage 

loans, which are "consumer financial product[ s] or service[ s]" under the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(i), (19). 

12. RMK Financial is a "person" within the meaning of Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1014.2, because it is a corporation. 

4 
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13. RMK Financial is subject to the relevant provisions ofTILA because it is a 

business that regularly offers or extends credit to consumers, subject to a finance 

charge, that is primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.1(c). 

Findings and Conclusions 
as to Misrepresentation of Government Relationship 

14. Respondent's mortgage advertisements used the names, logos, and seals of the 

VA and FHA, as well as other design elements, in such a manner that the net impression 

of the advertisements was misleading, giving the false impression that the 

advertisements were sent, endorsed, or sponsored by a U.S. government agency. 

15. The advertisements for VA-guaranteed refinance loans featured a large VA seal 

on the top of the advertisement, along with the VA logo and the words "Department of 

Veteran Affairs" in the top middle. 

16. Respondent sent its advertisements to tens of thousands of U.S. military 

servicemembers and veterans and other holders ofVA-guaranteed mortgages. 

17. Respondent's typical VA-guaranteed mortgage advertisement included this 

header (with various dates): 

Department of Veteran Affairs 
VA Interest Rate Reduction 

November 8. 2013 

18. Below the advertised phone number, the advertisements referred to the "VA 

Interest Rate Reduction Department." 

19. Respondent never had a "VA Interest Rate Reduction Department." 

5 
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20. The advertisements were sent in a pressure-sealed mailer format with various 

warnings on the outside citing the United States Code and threatening fines and 

imprisonment for tampering with the letter. 

21. The advertisements for FHA-insured refinance loans used the words "Federal 

Housing Administration" at the top of the page, along with a large, prominent FHA 

Approved Lending Institution logo. The first paragraph of the letter repeated the words 

"Federal Housing Administration" in bold letters and referred to the product being 

offered as a "distinctive program offered by the U.S. Government." 

22. Below the advertised phone number, the FHA advertisements referred to the 

"FHA Streamline Department." 

23. Respondent never had an "FHA Streamline Department." 

24. The advertisements were sent in a pressure-sealed mailer format that announced 

"FHA Benefits" and contained the image of the Statue of Liberty on the outside. 

25. Because of these various design elements, the net impressions created by the 

advertisements were likely to mislead reasonable consumers about the source of the 

advertisements, and, in particular, whether they were sent by a government agency. 

26. The net impressions created by the advertisements were also likely to mislead 

reasonable consumers about whether Respondent was or was affiliated with the FHA or 

VA. 

27. Finally, the net impressions created by the advertisements were likely to mislead 

reasonable consumers about whether the mortgages being offered were related to a 

government benefit or were endorsed or sponsored by a government program. 

28. A goal of the mailing campaign was to persuade consumers to call Respondent 

about the advertised mortgage products. 

6 
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29. The company had call center agents and loan officers waiting to receive the 

consumers' calls. 

30. Some consumers who called in response to one of Respondent's mailers asked 

whether the mailers were sent by the FHA or VA. Additionally, some consumers asked 

whether they were on the phone with an FHA or VA agent. 

31. On some calls with consumers, Respondent's employees or other agents falsely 

stated or implied that the company was part of or endorsed by the FHA or VA. 

32. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

33. Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3, prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, in any commercial communication, 

regarding any term of any mortgage credit product." 

34. As described in Paragraphs 14 to 31, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of mortgages, in numerous instances, 

Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that Respondent was, or was 

affiliated with, the VA or FHA; that Respondent's mortgage products were endorsed or 

sponsored by the VA or FHA; and that Respondent's advertisements disseminated to 

consumers were sent by the VA or FHA. 

35. In fact, Respondent was not the VA or FHA, nor was it affiliated with those 

agencies; Respondent's mortgage products - even if insured or guaranteed by the VA or 

FHA- were not endorsed or sponsored by the VA or FHA; and Respondent's 

advertisements disseminated to consumers were not sent by the VA or FHA. 

36. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 34, constitute: (a) 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

7 
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CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B); and (b) material misrepresentations, in a 

commercial communication, regarding the terms of a mortgage credit product, in 

violation of Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation of the Variability of the 
Advertised Interest Rates and Monthly Payment Amounts 

37. The bulk of Respondent's mailers advertised variable-rate mortgage loans, but 

they failed to state that the advertised rates were variable, except in small print on the 

outside of the mailer-the back of the advertisement. 

38. The text on the outside of the mailer was not clear and conspicuous. 

39. A reasonable consumer reviewing the advertisements was likely to believe that 

the mailers were advertising fixed, not variable, rates. 

40. The advertisements induced many consumers to call Respondent to inquire about 

low interest-rate mortgages. 

41. Recorded phone calls with consumers confirm that many consumers did not 

notice the disclosure on the back of the advertisement and they believed the advertised 

rate was for a fixed-rate loan. 

42. In fact, the fixed-rate loans offered by Respondent typically had higher interest 

rates than the variable rates advertised on Respondent's mailers. 

43. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

44. Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3, prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, in any commercial communication, 

regarding any term of any mortgage credit product." 

8 
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45· As described in Paragraphs 37 to 42, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of mortgages, in numerous instances, 

Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, in mortgage advertisements 

disseminated to consumers, that the advertised interest rate and monthly payment 

amount was fixed. 

46. In fact, the interest rates and monthly payment amounts featured in the bulk of 

Respondent's advertisements were variable. 

47. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 45 constitute: (a) 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B); and (b) material misrepresentations, in a 

commercial communication, regarding the terms of a mortgage credit product, in 

violation of Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3. 

Findings and Conclusions 
as to Violations ofTILA 

48. Respondent's mortgage advertisements violated TILA by failing to properly 

disclose four elements: the fact that the advertised products were adjustable rate 

mortgages; the applicable variable interest rates over the life of the loan and the periods 

of time when those interest rates would apply; the amount of each payment that would 

apply over the term and the period of time during which each payment amount would 

apply; and the fact that the estimated payment amount did not include any taxes or 

insurance that would apply. 

9 
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Variability of the Advertised Rates 

49. Under Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(b) and 1026.24(c), ifthe annual 

percentage rate applicable to an advertised closed-end credit product may be increased 

after consummation, the advertisement must state that fact "clearly and conspicuously." 

so. As described in Paragraphs 37 to 42, Respondent advertised mortgages for which 

the annual percentage rate could be increased after consummation, but did not disclose 

that fact clearly or conspicuously. 

51. Thus, Respondent's variable-rate mortgage advertisements violated 12 C.F.R. §§ 

1026.24(b) and 1026.24(c). 

Advertised Interest Rates 

52. Under Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(f)(2)(i)(A), 1026.24(f)(2)(i)(B), and 

1026.24(f)(2)(ii), advertisements for variable-rate mortgages that state an advertised 

interest rate must disclose each simple annual rate of interest that would apply over the 

life of the loan, and the period of time during which each simple annual rate of interest 

would apply, with "equal prominence" and "in close proximity" to the advertised interest 

rate. 

53. All of Respondent's mailers advertised one simple annual interest rate and 

annual percentage rate (APR) on the front of the mailer. 

54. Some of Respondent's mailers did not disclose, anywhere on the mailer, the other 

simple annual rates of interest that would apply over the life of the loan or the period of 

time during which each rate would apply. 

55· Some of Respondent's mailers disclosed the variable interest rates and applicable 

time periods, but did so only in a small disclosure on the outside of the pressure-sealed 

mailer (the back of the advertisement). 

10 
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56. On those mailers, the disclosure of how the adjustable interest rates would vary 

over time was located far from the advertised interest rate. It could not be viewed at the 

same time as the advertised interest rate, since it was printed on the back side of the 

page. 

57. The disclosure of the adjustable interest rates and applicable time periods on the 

back of the page was printed in smaller font than the advertised interest rate on the 

front of the mailer. 

58. As described in Paragraphs 54 to 57, Respondent's advertisements for variable-

rate mortgages did not disclose each simple annual rate of interest that would apply, or 

the period of time during which they would apply, with "equal prominence" and "in 

close proximity" to the advertised interest rate. 

59· Thus, Respondent's variable-rate mortgage advertisements violated 12 C.F.R. §§ 

1026.24(f)(2)(i)(A), 1026.24(f)(2)(i)(B), and 1026.24(f)(2)(ii). 

Advertised Payment Amounts 

6o. Under Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(A), 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(B), and 

1026.24(f)(3)(ii), advertisements for variable-rate mortgages that state an estimated 

payment amount must disclose the amount of each payment that would apply over the 

term of the loan, and the period of time during which each payment would apply, with 

"equal prominence" and "in close proximity" to the advertised payment amount. 

61. All of Respondent's mailers advertised one "Estimated New Monthly Payment" 

on the front of the mailer. 

62. Some of Respondent's mailers did not disclose, anywhere on the mailer, the other 

monthly payment amounts that would apply over the term of the loan or the periods of 

time when those payment amounts would apply. 

11 
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63. Some of Respondent's mailers disclosed the variable payment amounts and 

applicable time periods, but did so only in a small disclosure on the outside of the 

pressure-sealed mailer (the back of the advertisement). 

64. On those mailers, the disclosure of how the payment amounts would vary over 

time was located far from the advertised interest rate. It could not be viewed at the same 

time as the advertised interest rate, since it was printed on the back side of the page. 

65. The disclosure of the variable payment amounts and applicable time periods on 

the back of the page was printed in smaller font than the advertised monthly payment 

amount on the front of the mailer. 

66. As described in Paragraphs 61 to 65, Respondent's variable-rate advertisements 

did not disclose the amount of each payment that would apply over the term of the loan, 

or the period of time during which each payment would apply, with "equal prominence" 

and "in close proximity" to the advertised interest rate. 

67. Thus, Respondent's mortgage advertisements violated 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(A), 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(B), and 1026.24(f)(3)(ii). 

Taxes and Insurance Premiums 

68. Under Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(C) and 1026.24(f)(3)(ii), 

advertisements for variable-rate mortgages that state an estimated payment amount not 

including any taxes and insurance premiums must expressly state that fact. The 

advertisements must also state that the actual payment obligation would be greater than 

the estimated amount. Those statements must be "clear and conspicuous," "with 

prominence and in close proximity to the advertised payments." 

69. Respondent's mailers advertised an "Estimated New Monthly Payment," but that 

estimate included only principal and interest, omitting any taxes or insurance that 

12 
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would apply. There was no disclosure of that fact, nor any other mention of taxes or 

insurance, in the advertisements. 

70. As described in Paragraph 69, Respondent's advertisements for mortgages stated 

an estimated payment amount that did not include any taxes and insurance premiums 

that would apply, but did not state that fact or state that the actual payment obligation 

would be greater than the estimated amount. 

71. Thus, Respondent's mortgage advertisements violated 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 1026.24(f)(3)(i)(C) and 1026.24(f)(3)(ii). 

ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

72. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate, 

including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its service providers and other 

agents do not violate, sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, 

or Regulation N (the MAP Rule), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3. 

73. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with 

the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of any mortgage credit 

product, may not misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or 

impliedly: 

a. That Respondent is, or is affiliated with, the VA or FHA; 

13 
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b. That Respondent's mortgage products are endorsed or sponsored by the VA or 

FHA; 

c. That Respondent's advertisements disseminated to consumers are sent by the VA 

or FHA; 

d. The fixed or variable nature of the advertised interest rates as well as the monthly 

payments associated with Respondent's mortgage credit products; or 

e. Any other fact material to consumers concerning mortgage credit products, such 

as the total costs; any material restrictions, limitations, or conditions; or any 

material aspect of its performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics. 

74. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate, 

including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its service providers and other 

agents do not violate, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24. 

VII 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's mortgage advertisements comply 

with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

14 
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76. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 30 days of the receipt of that direction. 

77· After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section Vofthis Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), including the size of financial resources and good 

faith of the person charged, Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $250,000 to 

the Bureau. 

79. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

Bo. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

15 
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81. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

82. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the 

Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty 

Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, 

notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change 

the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

83. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue 

on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, 

and will immediately become due and payable. 

84. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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85. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

86. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate 

the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers 

and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or 

will be paid. 

87. Under section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(1), 

any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning the 

Respondent to the Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting 

on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including, but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent's name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days 
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before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 

89. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address 

as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with 

Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and services 

offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

90. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 89 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after 

learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

91. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, unless 

previously submitted to the Bureau. 

92. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 
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X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

93. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement 

Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn under penalty of 

perJury. 

94. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its executive officers, as well as to any board members, 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

95. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order, before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

96. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

97. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following 
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business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. Copies of all materially different versions of Respondent's sales scripts; training 

materials; advertisements; websites; and other marketing materials; and 

including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent. 

c. Accounting records showing the gross and net revenues generated by the sale of 

Respondent's VA-guaranteed and FHA-insured mortgage credit products; 

d. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether received directly or 

indirectly, such as through a third party), and any responses to those complaints 

or requests. 

e. Records showing, for each service provider providing mortgage advertising, 

marketing, or lead generation services, the name of a point of contact, and that 

person's telephone number; email, physical, and postal address; job title or 

position; dates of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination. 

98. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 97 for at least 5 

years. 

99. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 97 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

XII 

Notices 

100. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent 
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Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re R M K Financial Corporation,  File No. 
 

2015-CFPB-0007" and send them either: 

a.  By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street,  N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

 
b.  By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 
 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington  D.C. 20552 

 
XIII 

 
Compliance Monitoring 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor  Respondent's compliance with this 

 
Consent Order: 

 
101. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must 

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

102.  For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 
 

Respondent, unless Respondent  retains counsel related to these communications. 
 

103.  Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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104. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

105. For the duration of the Consent Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees to 

be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent with 

12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for termination of supervision under 

12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

106. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g ., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

107. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any 

such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

108. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

R~spondent, except as described in Paragraph 109. 

109. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section Vofthis Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 
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before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

110. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United 

States. 

111. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative 

body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the 

dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order 

will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain 

effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the 

Bureau or its designated agent. 

112. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

113. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil 
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money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

114. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior 

oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

115. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, or its officers, or employees, to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this fjth day of~' 2015. 

r?et..JJ~ 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage
Lender for Deceptive Advertising
Bureau  Orders  RMK  Financia l to  Pay  $250,000  for  Deceiv ing  Borrow ers
w ith  Cla ims  of Government Affilia tion

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against RMK Financial Corporation for deceptive mortgage advertising
practices, including ads that led consumers to believe that the company was affiliated
with the U.S. government. The CFPB is ordering RMK to end its illegal and deceptive
practices and pay a civil penalty of $250,000.

“Deceptive advertising has no place in the mortgage marketplace, and the Consumer
Bureau will continue to take action against companies that mislead consumers with
false claims of government affiliation,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s
action sends a clear message that misleading consumers is illegal, unacceptable, and
will not be tolerated.”

RMK Financial Corporation is a California-based mortgage lender which also does
business under the name Majestic Home Loans. RMK mailed print advertisements to
more than 100,000 consumers in several states, using the names and logos of the
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) in
a way that falsely implied that the advertisements were sent by the VA or FHA, or that
the company or the advertised mortgage products were endorsed or sponsored by the
VA or FHA. RMK sent its advertisements to tens of thousands of U.S. military
servicemembers and veterans, and other holders of VA-guaranteed mortgages.

The company’s typical advertisement for VA mortgages featured the Department of
Veterans Affairs seal and logo at the top of the page and described its loan products as
part of a “distinctive program offered by the U.S. government.” The ad instructed
consumers to call the “VA Interest Rate Reduction Department” at a phone number that
in fact belonged to RMK. Some mailers were labeled “FHA Benefits” and included an
image of the Statue of Liberty on the outside, along with warnings citing the U.S. Code
and threatening fines and imprisonment for tampering with the letter.

RMK’s ads also contained misrepresentations about the loans’ interest rates and
estimated monthly payments, including whether the interest rate was fixed or variable.
Consumers who called the company were sometimes given misleading information over
the phone; in some cases RMK employees told callers or implied that RMK was
endorsed by the VA or FHA.

The CFPB’s investigation found that RMK’s practices violated the Truth in Lending Act,
the Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule, and other federal consumer laws.
The 2011 Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in
mortgage advertising, including implying a government affiliation.
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Under the terms of today’s consent order, RMK will be prohibited from falsely implying
a government affiliation in future advertisements. It will also pay a civil penalty of
$250,000.

A  copy of the  RMK  Financial Corporation  administrative  consent order  is
available  here: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201504_cfpb_consent-
order_rmk-financial-corporation.pdf
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2015-CFPB-

In the matter of: 

R M K Financial Corporation, also 
doing business as Majestic Home 
Loan 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against R M K Financial Corporation (Respondent), under 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its mortgage advertising activities in violation of (1) the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act's prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; (2) Regulation N, also known as the Mortgage 

Acts and Practices Rule (MAP Rule), 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3; and (3) the Truth in Lending 

Act's implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24. 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, consents 

to the issuance of a Consent Order substantially in the form of the one to which this 

Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), 

and which is incorporated by reference. 

fordle
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In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order and admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with the 

consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees that the 

Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully enforceable 

by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law violations 

that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices described in 

Section V of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. 

Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has been made by the 

Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, about any liability 

outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from the facts underlying 

this action or immunity from any such liability. 

6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section V of the Consent Order will be 

taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, in any 

2 
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proceeding before the Bureau based on the entry of the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its rights to 

any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be binding 

upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the Consent 

Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without limitation, 

under section 1053 of the CFPA; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings of fact 

and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended decision by, a 

hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other procedural right 

available under 12 U.S.C. § 5563 or 12 C.F.R. pt. 1081; 

d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its agents or 

employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any way to this 

enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising under common law or 

under the terms of any statute, including, but not limited to the Equal Access to 

Justice Act and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; 
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for these purposes, Respondent agrees that it is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may be 

construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the preparation 

of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding of fact, or conclusion 

of law to be entered in connection with this Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of the 

proceeding. 

R M K Financial Corporation by: 

SangJeung Date 

Chief Executive Officer, R M K Financial Corporation 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
and Navajo Nation, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 

S/W Tax Loans, Inc. formerly d/b/a 
Fast Refund Loans, Inc.; J Thomas 
Development of NM, Inc. formerly 
d/b/a H&R Block; Dennis R. Gonzales; 
and Jeffrey Scott Thomas,   
 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 15-cv-00299 
 

 

  
 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER 
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) and the Navajo 

Nation (“Nation”) commenced this civil action on April 14, 2015 to obtain 

injunctive relief, monetary relief, civil monetary penalties, and other relief from 

S/W Tax Loans, Inc. formerly d/b/a Fast Refund Loans, Inc.; J Thomas 

Development of NM, Inc. formerly d/b/a H&R Block; Dennis R. Gonzales; and 

Jeffrey Scott Thomas (collectively, “Defendants”). The Complaint alleges 

violations of the Truth In Lending Act (“TILA”) and its implementing 

regulations, 12 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., 12 C.F.R. pt. 1026, and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1), in 
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connection with Defendants’ offering, provision, and facilitation of loans issued 

to consumers based on the consumers’ anticipated tax refunds.  

The Parties, by and through their respective counsel, request that the Court 

enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (“Order”). Defendants have 

waived service of the Summons and Complaint. 

The parties having requested the Court to enter this Order, it is therefore 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of 

this action. 

2. Venue in this District is proper. 

3. The Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted 

under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 and the Truth in Lending Act, as implemented 

by 12 C.F.R. §1026.17.  The relief provided in this order is appropriate and 

available under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565. 

4. The Parties agree to the entry of this Order, without adjudication of 

any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in this dispute arising 

from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date of entry of this Order. 
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5. The Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the 

Complaint, except as specifically stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, 

the Defendants admit to the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction 

over the Defendants and the subject matter of this action. 

6. The Defendants waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise 

challenge or contest the validity of this Order. The Defendants also waive any 

claim they may have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, 

concerning the prosecution of this action. Each party will bear its own costs and 

expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees.  

7. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

8. “Affected Consumer” means any consumer who received a Refund 

Anticipation Loan from Southwest from January 1, 2011 through the Effective 

Date. 

9. “Corporate Defendants” means, individually or collectively, 

Southwest, J Thomas Development of NM, Inc. formerly d/b/a H&R Block, and 

their successors or assigns. 
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10. “Defendants” means the Corporate Defendants and the Individual 

Defendants, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

11. “Effective Date” means the date that this Order is entered by this 

Court. 

12. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his delegate. 

13.  “Individual Defendants” means, individually or collectively, 

Jeffrey Scott Thomas and Dennis R. Gonzales. 

14. “Refund Anticipation Loan” means any loan product or extension 

of credit that is secured by or based upon a consumer’s anticipated tax refund. 

15. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf 

of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another government 

agency brought against Defendants based on substantially the same facts as 

described in the Complaint.  

16.  “Relevant Period” means the period from January 1, 2011 through 

the Effective Date. 

17. “Southwest” means S/W Tax Loans, Inc. formerly d/b/a Fast 

Refund Loans, Inc., and its successors and assigns. 
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ORDER 

A. Conduct Provision 

18. For 5  years from the Effective Date, the Individual Defendants are 

restrained and enjoined from (1) offering, marketing, selling, or providing any 

Refund Anticipation Loan, (2) assisting any person in offering, marketing, 

selling, or providing any Refund Anticipation Loan, and (3) receiving any 

monies or consideration from, financing, holding any ownership interest in, 

providing services to, or working in any capacity for any person engaged in the 

offering, marketing, selling, or provision of Refund Anticipation Loans.  

19. The Corporate Defendants are permanently restrained and enjoined 

from (1) offering, marketing, selling, or providing any Refund Anticipation Loan, 

(2) assisting any person in offering, marketing, selling, or providing any Refund 

Anticipation Loan, and (3) receiving any monies or consideration from, 

financing, holding any ownership interest in, providing services to, or working 

in any capacity for any person engaged in the offering, marketing, selling, or 

provision of Refund Anticipation Loans. 

20. Defendants will provide all birth certificates, social-security cards, 

and other identification documents of Affected Consumers that are in 

Defendants’ possession, custody, or control to the Bureau or its delegate within 
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15 days of the Effective Date so that the documents may be returned to the 

Affected Consumers. Defendants must certify to the Bureau that they have 

complied with this paragraph within 20 days of the Effective Date. 

B. Consumer Information 
 
21. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not disclose, use, or benefit from customer information, including 

the name, address, telephone number, email address, social-security number, 

other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a customer’s 

account (including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account), that 

the Defendants obtained before the Effective Date relating to a consumer who 

applied for or took out a Refund Anticipation Loan from Southwest. But 

consumer information may be disclosed if requested by the Bureau, the Nation, 

or the Court. 

C. Redress 
 

22. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the 

Bureau and against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $254,267. 

This amount is in recognition of the fact that Defendants have already paid 

$183,733 in remediation to Affected Consumers. 
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23. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay $254,267, 

by wire transfer, to the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent according to the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions, in full satisfaction of the judgment as set forth in ¶ 22. 

24. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment 

will be deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the 

Bureau’s agent according to applicable statutes and regulations to be used for 

redress for Affected Consumers, including but not limited to refund of moneys, 

restitution, damages, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant expenses for 

the administration of any such redress.  

25. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to 

consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is 

completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable 

relief (including consumer-information remedies) as it determines to be 

reasonably related to the violations described in the Complaint. Any funds not 

used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. The Defendants will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. Redress 

provided under this section does not limit consumers’ rights in any way. 
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D. Civil Money Penalties 
 

26. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law alleged in the Complaint, Defendants, jointly and severally, 

must pay a civil money penalty of $438,000 to the Bureau. 

27. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, the Defendants must pay the 

civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

28. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau, as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

29. The Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how 

the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, the Defendants may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty paid under this Order. 
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30. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any 

Related Consumer Action, the Defendants may not argue that they are entitled 

to, nor may the Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action 

because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (“Penalty Offset”). If the 

court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the 

Defendants must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty 

Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money 

penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in 

this action. 

E. Additional Monetary Provisions 

31. In the event of any default on the Defendants’ obligations to make 

payment under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

32. The Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to 

the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds 

may be returned to the Defendants. 
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33. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, the Defendants, unless they already have 

done so, must furnish to the Bureau their respective taxpayer-identifying 

numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out of this Order.  

34. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, the Defendants must notify the 

Enforcement Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that the 

Defendants paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers 

or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

35. Under § 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681b(a)(1), the Bureau may obtain from any consumer reporting agency a 

consumer report concerning any Defendant. The Bureau may use any such 

report to collect on and report any amount not paid as required by this Consent 

Order. 

F. Reporting Requirements 

36. For 5 years from the Effective Date, the Defendants must notify the 

Bureau of any development that may affect compliance obligations arising under 

this Order, including but not limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, 
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or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the 

creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts 

or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against any of the Defendants; or a change in the Defendants’ 

names or addresses. The Defendants must provide this notice at least 30 days 

before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 

37. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, the Defendants must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and 

postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with all of the Defendants; 

b. Identify all businesses for which any of the Defendants are the 

majority owner, or that any of the Defendants directly or indirectly 

controls, by all of their names, telephone numbers, and physical, 

postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products 

and services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and 

sales. 
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d. Identify the telephone numbers and all email, Internet, physical, and 

postal addresses, including all residences, of the Individual 

Defendants;  

e. Describe in detail the Individual Defendants’ involvement in any 

business for which either Defendant performs services in any 

capacity or which he wholly or partially owns, including each 

Defendant’s title, role, responsibilities, participation, authority, 

control, and ownership. 

G. Recordkeeping 

38. The Defendants must create and maintain for at least 5 years from 

the Effective Date all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau or to the Nation. 

H. Notices 

39. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, the Defendants 

must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents 

relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line, “CFPB, Navajo Nation v. 

S/W Tax Loans, Inc., J Thomas Development of NM, Inc., Jeffrey Scott Thomas, 
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and Dennis Gonzales, Case No. [the number assigned to this matter by the U.S. 

District Court for the District of New Mexico]” and send them either: 

By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington DC 20006; or 
 
By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington DC 20552 
 

I. Cooperation with the Bureau and the Nation 

40. The Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau or the 

Nation determine the identity and location of, and the amount of injury 

sustained by, each Affected Consumer. The Defendants must provide such 

information in its or its agents’ possession or control within 14 days of receiving 

a written request from the Bureau or the Nation. 

41. For 5 years from the Effective Date, the Defendants must cooperate 

fully with the Bureau and the Nation in this matter and in any investigation 
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related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. The 

Defendants must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Defendants must appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau or the Nation may reasonably request 

upon reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau or the Nation 

may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

J. Compliance Monitoring 

42. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau or the 

Nation, the Defendants must submit compliance reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 

testimony; or produce documents.  

43. For purposes of this section, the Bureau or the Nation may 

communicate directly with the Defendants, unless the Defendants retain counsel 

related to these communications.  

44. The Defendants must permit Bureau or Nation representatives to 

interview any employee or other person affiliated with the Defendants who have 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

45. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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K. Release 

46. The Bureau and the Nation release and discharge the Defendants 

from all potential liability for law violations that the Bureau or the Nation has or 

might have asserted based on the practices described in the Complaint, to the 

extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau or the 

Nation knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the 

practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions against the 

Defendants and their affiliates, including without limitation to establish a pattern 

or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau or the Nation to determine and ensure compliance with 

the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Order.  

L. Retention of Jurisdiction 

47. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

Dated this ____ day of ________________, 2015 

_______________________________ 
United States District Court Judge 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2015-CFPB-0008 

 
  
In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

 
  
FORT KNOX NATIONAL 
COMPANY, a Kentucky 
corporation, and MILITARY 
ASSISTANCE COMPANY, LLC, a 
Kentucky limited liability company. 

 
 

  

 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the business 

practices of Military Assistance Company, LLC, a subsidiary of Fort Knox National Company 

(Respondents, as defined below) and has identified the following law violations. Until March 

2014, Respondents processed payroll deductions – called allotments – for Servicemembers, as 

that term is defined below. Respondents routinely charged various monthly fees against excess 

allotment funds that had accumulated in Servicemembers’ accounts. Respondents charged 

such fees – totaling millions of dollars – without adequately disclosing the existence of the fees 

before charging them, or notifying Servicemembers when they incurred the fees. This conduct 

was unfair, deceptive, and abusive in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated April 15, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have consented to the 

issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumers” includes any Servicemember who paid Respondents a 

Residual-Balance Fee on or after September 27, 2010. 

b. “Board” means the duly-elected and acting Board of Directors of Respondent Fort 

Knox National Company. 

c. “Clearly and prominently” means:  

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on the 

screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be of a type size and 

location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on which it appears; 
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ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio 

or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered at a volume and cadence 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form consistent with 

subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a duration sufficient for an 

ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, online 

services, and software, the disclosure must be unavoidable and presented in a 

form consistent with subsection (i);  

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the disclosure 

must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and visual portions of the 

communication; and 

vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer incurs 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used 

in any communication with the consumer. 

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement 

for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

f. “In proximity,” in the context of communications made through interactive media 

such as the internet, online services, and software, means on the same webpage, 

online service page, or other electronic page, and proximate to the triggering 

representation, and shall not be accessed or displayed through hyperlinks. 

g. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 
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against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as described in Section IV 

of this Consent Order. 

h. “Relevant Period” includes the period from September 27, 2010 to the Effective Date. 

i. “Residual Balance” means excess allotment funds in a Servicemember’s account. 

j. “Residual-Balance Fee” means and includes any of the following: 

i. a Creditor-Letter Fee in the amount of $5 per letter that Respondents charged 

until September 2012 against a Servicemember’s Residual Balance when 

Respondents sent a written communication to a Servicemember’s current or 

past creditor, typically once per month, indicating that the Respondents 

continued to receive that Servicemember’s allotment designated for payment 

to that Creditor despite it appearing that the Creditor had been paid in full; 

ii. a Dormant Fee in the amount of $12-$20 per month that Respondents charged 

against a Servicemember’s Residual Balance when there had been no bill-

payment activity for six or more months; 

iii. a Servicemember-Letter Fee in the amount of $5 per letter that Respondents 

charged until September 2012 against a Servicemember’s Residual Balance 

when Respondents sent a letter to an address on file for a Servicemember, 

typically once per month, in order to inform that Servicemember of the 

Residual Balance and advising the Servicemember to take action on the 

Residual Balance; and 

iv. a Write-Off Fee that Respondents charged against a Servicemember’s Residual 

Balance that equaled the remaining balance in the Servicemember’s account. 

k. “Respondents” means Fort Knox National Company and Military Assistance 

Company, LLC, and their successors and assigns. 

l. “Servicemembers” means and includes active and retired members of the United 

States military and federal civil service employees. 
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IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. During the Relevant Period, Respondents processed payroll deductions – called 

allotments – for Servicemembers: Respondents paid creditors on behalf of 

Servicemembers from their allotments. Accordingly, Respondents offered or provided a 

consumer-financial product or service and are “covered persons” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), (15)(A)(iv) & (vii). 

5. A Servicemember contracted for Respondents’ allotment-processing service either by 

filling out Respondents’ pre-printed allotment-enrollment form – typically supplied by 

the Servicemember’s creditor and filled out at the creditor’s place of business – or by 

completing the enrollment form online through Respondents’ website. In either case, 

the Servicemember supplied information such as the creditor to receive the allotment 

payments, the amount of each monthly payment, and the number of months for which 

payments should be made. The enrollment instructions directed the Servicemember to 

add a payment processing charge – imposed and collected by Respondents – to the 

monthly creditor payment to arrive at the allotment amount. 

6. Servicemember allotments were deposited into a bank account controlled by 

Respondents, from which Respondents paid the Servicemembers’ creditors. But on 

many occasions, excess allotment funds accumulated in Servicemember accounts – for 

example, when a Servicemember did not discontinue an allotment after the obligation to 

a creditor had been paid off – resulting in Residual Balances.  

7. Respondents routinely charged various monthly fees against these Residual Balances, 

affecting about thirty percent of Servicemembers using their services. During the 

Relevant Period, Respondents charged tens of thousands of Servicemembers Residual-

Balance Fees totaling millions of dollars without adequately disclosing such fees before 
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charging them, or notifying Servicemembers when they incurred such fees. Many 

Servicemembers paid hundreds of dollars in such Residual-Balance Fees. 

8. Until April 2014, printed information about Respondents’ allotment-processing services 

did not adequately disclose the Residual-Balance Fees. The allotment-enrollment form 

included “Terms & Conditions,” which were viewable on Respondents’ website as well. 

Respondents also posted a number of “Frequently Asked Questions” on the website. 

Although both the Terms and Conditions and the Frequently Asked Questions 

referenced certain charges that a Servicemember could incur if he or she had a Residual 

Balance, neither disclosed the Residual-Balance Fees. 

9. When Respondents charged Residual-Balance Fees against Servicemember accounts, 

they did not notify the Servicemembers of those charges. Respondents sent monthly 

letters to Servicemembers who had accumulated Residual Balances, informing them of 

the amounts of the Residual Balances and providing instructions on how to retrieve the 

funds. But, until April 2014, the letters did not state the amounts or types of Residual-

Balance Fees to which Servicemembers would be subject. Although Servicemembers 

could access their allotment accounts online through Respondents’ website and view 

account balances, there was no way for Servicemembers to view online the Residual-

Balance Fees charged against those balances. Servicemembers received no electronic or 

paper account statements from Respondents. Servicemembers could obtain an account 

history (which reflected fee charges) by contacting Respondents’ customer service and 

in some instances paying a $25 fee. Accordingly, Servicemembers who incurred 

Residual-Balance Fees – and did not request an account history – received no 

notification of those fee charges and may not have been aware that such fees were being 

deducted from their Residual Balances. 
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10. Respondents ceased offering the service that is the subject of this Consent Order in 

March 2014 and since that date have expended substantial resources to return Residual 

Balances to Servicemembers. 

11. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

12. An act or practice is unfair if it “causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers” that “is not reasonably avoidable by consumers[] and . . . is not outweighed 

by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

Respondents’ failure adequately to disclose Residual-Balance Fees before charging them 

and failure to notify Servicemembers when they incurred Residual-Balance Fees caused 

substantial injuries to Servicemembers that were not reasonably avoidable or 

outweighed by any countervailing benefits to Servicemembers or to competition. Thus, 

Respondents engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 1031(c)(1) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

13. An act or practice is deceptive if there is a misrepresentation or omission of information 

that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances and that 

information is material to consumers. Respondents’ failure adequately to disclose 

Residual-Balance Fees before charging them and failure to notify Servicemembers when 

they incurred Residual-Balance Fees resulted in materially incomplete and therefore 

misleading statements. These materially misleading statements were likely to mislead 

Servicemembers acting reasonably under the circumstances. Thus, Respondents 

engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

14. An act or practice is abusive if it “takes unreasonable advantage of[] (A) a lack of 

understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions of 

the product or service; [or] (B) the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of 
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the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(d)(2).  

15. Respondents took unreasonable advantage of Servicemembers’ lack of understanding of 

the material risks, costs, or conditions of Respondents’ allotment product or service. 

Some Servicemembers may not have understood that they would be charged Residual-

Balance Fees if they accrued a Residual Balance because Respondents did not 

adequately disclose specific fees and did not notify Servicemembers when they had 

incurred specific fees. Respondents took unreasonable advantage of this lack of 

understanding, charging Servicemembers millions of dollars in Residual-Balance Fees. 

16. Respondents’ also took unreasonable advantage of Servicemembers’ inability to protect 

their interests in selecting or using Respondents’ allotment product or service. Many 

Servicemembers were unable to take steps to avoid Residual-Balance Fees because 

Respondents did not adequately disclose the circumstances under which such fees were 

charged and did not notify Servicemembers when they incurred such fees. 

Servicemembers may have been unaware that Respondents were deducting such fees 

from Residual Balances. Respondents took unreasonable advantage of this inability on 

the part of Servicemembers’ to protect their interests, charging them millions of dollars 

in Residual-Balance Fees.  

17. Thus, Respondents engaged in abusive acts and practices in violation of sections 1031(a) 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 
 V  

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

18. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, including as follows: 
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a. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering, or performance of 

allotment-processing, payment-processing, or bill-payment services to consumers 

are restrained and enjoined from: 

i. Misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or 

impliedly, the types or amounts of any fees or costs associated with any such 

services; or 

ii. Representing, in any manner, expressly or impliedly, the benefits or costs of 

any such services without disclosing clearly and prominently, and in 

proximity to the representation, all material terms, conditions, obligations, 

fees, and costs relating to the use of such services, including all fees and costs 

to which a consumer may be subject; or 

iii. Failing to notify consumers of fees or charges against their accounts. 

b. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering, or performance of 

allotment-processing, payment-processing, or bill-payment services to consumers 

are restrained and enjoined from enrolling any consumer in, or imposing a cost on 

any consumer for, any product or service without first:  

i. Disclosing clearly and prominently, and in proximity to the representation, all 

material terms, conditions, and obligations relating to the cost, use, and 

receipt of such product or service; and 

ii. Securing that consumer’s express informed consent to enroll in, or purchase, 

the product or service. 
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VI 

Order to Pay Redress  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

19. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the Bureau and against 

the Respondents in the amount of $3,065,149.55. 

20. Within ten (10) days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions, $3,065,149.55 in full satisfaction of the judgment as ordered in Paragraph 

19 of this Section.  

21. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be deposited into 

a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent according to 

applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for injured consumers, 

including, but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, damages, or other monetary 

relief, and for any attendant expenses for the administration of any such redress.  

22. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers is wholly or 

partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is completed, the Bureau may 

apply any remaining funds for such other equitable relief (including consumer 

information remedies) as determined to be reasonably related to the violations 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. Any funds not used for such equitable 

relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondents will have no 

right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this 

paragraph. 

23. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not be conditioned 

on that Affected Consumer’s waiving any right.  

24. In the event of any default on Respondents’ obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 
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any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

25. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 

26. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already have done so, must furnish to 

the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

27. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate 

the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. 

VII 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

28. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondents; or a change in 

Respondents’ names or address. Respondents must provide this notice at least 30 days 

before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 
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29. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must designate at least one telephone 

number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau 

may use to communicate with Respondents. 

30. Respondents must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 

Paragraph 28 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after the 

learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

VIII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

31.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order. 

32. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section VII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities.  

33. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy 

of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.   

 

 

 

 

2015-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 04/20/2015     Page 12 of 17



 
13 

 

IX 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

34. Respondents must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, all documents and 

records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this Consent 

Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

35. Respondents must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 34 for at least 5 years. 

36. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraph 34 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

 
X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

37. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Fort Knox National Company and 

Military Assistance Company, LLC, File No. 2015-CFPB-0008,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 
 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

 

XI 
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XI 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

38. Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of refund payable to, each Affected Consumer. Within 14 

days of receiving a written request from the Bureau, Respondents must identify and 

provide in Excel or .csv other easily converted format for each Affected Consumer:  

a. full name and all other available identifying information;  

b. last-known contact information, including address(es), telephone number(s), and 

email address(es); and  

c. the amount of refund – that is, the total Residual-Balance Fees paid by the 

Servicemember during the Relevant Period.  

Respondents must identify and provide the above information that is in their or their 

agents’ possession or control and must cooperate in the transfer and, if necessary, the 

clarification of said information so that it is usable by the Bureau.  

XII 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents’ compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

39. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents must 

submit the requested information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; 

provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

40. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

41. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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XIII 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

43. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies the modification. 

Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing.  

XIV 
Administrative Provisions 

44. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 

or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondents, 

except as described in Paragraph 45. 

45. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described 

in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. This release 

does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance 

with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

46. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order 

issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

47. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent 

Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body 
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rules that Respondents did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the 

dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order 

will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain 

effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the 

Bureau or its designated agent. 

48. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted.  

49. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil 

money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents may be found 

and Respondents may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

50. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. 

This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or 

written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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51. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing Respondents, the Board, or Respondents’ officers or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 20th day of April, 2015. 
 

 
_____________________________ 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0009 

  
  

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

  
  
REGIONS BANK  

 
  

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the overdraft 

practices of Regions Bank (Respondent, as defined below) and has identified the 

following law violations: (1) Respondent failed to obtain an affirmative “opt-in” from 

certain of its customers before charging them Overdraft Fees (as defined below) in 

connection with ATM and one-time debit card transactions, in violation of Regulation E, 

12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, the implementing regulation of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1693, et seq. (EFTA); (2) Respondent deceptively represented in 

advertisements and in information provided to consumers that it would not charge 

Overdraft Fees in connection with ATM and one-time debit card transactions absent an 

opt-in, in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531, 5536; and (3) Respondent deceptively represented in information provided to 

consumers that it would not charge Overdraft Fees in connection with loan repayments 

under Respondent’s deposit advance product, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the 

Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under: (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) Section 1693o(a)(5) of the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693o(a)(5). 

II 

Stipulation 

 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 

dated April 27, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the 

Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order 

by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, 

without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law or wrongdoing, 

except that Respondent admits the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

 
3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Account” means a consumer’s deposit account that is accessed by a debit card. 

b. “Affected Consumers” means all consumers  to whom Respondent assessed an Unlawful 

Fee, as that term is defined below. 

c. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors, including any 

committee of the Board. 

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

e.  “Linked Coverage” means the service Respondent offers that links an Account to another 

account, such as a savings account or line of credit. Once the link is established, 
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Respondent transfers funds from the linked account into the Account to pay an ATM or 

one-time debit card transaction that would otherwise have overdrawn the Account. 

f. “Linked Overdraft Fee” means the Overdraft Fee Respondent assessed a consumer with 

Linked Coverage for paying an ATM or one-time debit card transaction that exceeded the 

balances of both the Account and linked account. 

g. “Non-Sufficient Funds Fee” or “NSF Fee” means the fee Respondent assessed when a 

consumer lacked funds in the Account and linked account to cover a transaction and 

Respondent did not pay the transaction. 

h. “Opt-In” means the consumer’s affirmative consent to be charged a fee for Overdraft 

Service for ATM and/or one-time debit card transactions, as described in Regulation E, 

§ 1005.17(b)(1)(iii). 

i. “Opt-In Rule” means the language in 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(b) that prohibits “a financial 

institution holding a consumer’s account [from] assess[ing] a fee or charge on a consumer’s 

account for paying an ATM or one-time debit card transaction pursuant to the institution’s 

overdraft service [without] [o]btain[ing] the consumer’s affirmative consent, or opt-in, to 

the institution’s payment of ATM or one-time debit card transactions . . . .” 

j. “Overdraft Fee” means the fee Respondent assessed pursuant to its Overdraft Service, 

which includes Linked Overdraft Fees. 

k. “Overdraft Service,” with respect to an Account, shall have the same definition provided by 

12 C.F.R. § 1005.17: “a service under which a financial institution assesses a fee or charge 

on a consumer’s account held by the institution for paying a transaction (including a check 

or other item) when the consumer has insufficient or unavailable funds in the account.” 

l. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for the Office of 

Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegee. 

m. “Relevant Period” means the period from July 1, 2010 to the Effective Date. 
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n. “Respondent” means Regions Bank, and its successors and assigns. 

o. “Regions Ready Advance” or “RRA” refers to a small-dollar line of credit Respondent made 

available to Respondent’s deposit account customers. 

p. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action or arbitration initiated by or on behalf 

of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section 

IV of this Consent Order.  

q.  “Unlawful Fee” refers to: 

i. for Accounts opened on or after July 1, 2010,  any Overdraft Fee Respondent 

assessed on or after July 1, 2010, in connection with an ATM or one-time debit card 

transaction where either (a) Respondent had not previously obtained the consumer’s 

Opt-In to Overdraft Service for such transaction; or (b) the consumer had revoked 

such Opt-In;  

ii. for Accounts opened prior to July 1, 2010, any Overdraft Fee Respondent assessed 

on or after August 15, 2010, in connection with an ATM or one-time debit card 

transaction where either (a) Respondent had not previously obtained the consumer’s 

Opt-In to Overdraft Service for such transaction; or (b) the consumer had revoked 

such Opt-In; 

iii. any Overdraft Fee or NSF Fee Respondent assessed on or after November 1, 2011, in 

connection with any RRA repayment; and/or 

iv. any additional overdraft or NSF fees that were caused by Unlawful Fees.  

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a regional bank headquartered in Birmingham, Alabama. Respondent 

operates a network of approximately 1,700 retail branch offices and 2,000 ATMs across 
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sixteen states, including Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, 

Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, 

Texas, and Virginia. As of September 30, 2014, Respondent had $119.2 billion in total assets.  

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion within 

the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. At all times material to this complaint, Respondent offered or provided a “consumer financial 

product or service” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

7. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Findings and Conclusions as  
to Violations of the Opt-In Rule 

 
8. For many years, depository institutions—including Respondent—provided Overdraft Service 

for ATM and one-time debit card transactions as a standard feature of their consumer 

deposit accounts. Providing Overdraft Service for those transactions allowed consumers to 

complete debit card purchases and ATM withdrawals that would otherwise have been denied 

because of insufficient funds. However, that service came with a price: Banks, including 

Respondent, charged consumers a fee when the service was used.  

9. In 2009, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System sought to change this 

pervasive industry practice by adopting the Opt-In Rule, which amended Regulation E to 

require depository institutions to obtain consumers’ affirmative consent, or “Opt-In,” to 

Overdraft Service for ATM and one-time debit card transactions before the institution could 

assess a fee for such service.  

10. The Opt-In Rule had a mandatory compliance date of July 1, 2010 for new accounts and 

August 15, 2010 for existing accounts. 

11. Shortly after the Federal Reserve Board published the Opt-In Rule in November 2009, 

Respondent formed a working group (Working Group) that was tasked with implementing 

the Opt-In Rule. 
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12. The Working Group erroneously determined the Opt-In Rule did not apply to customers 

whose Accounts had Linked Coverage.   

13. There were two consequences to this determination. First, Respondent did not obtain Opt-

Ins from its existing or new Linked-Coverage customers. Second, Respondent did not re-

program its systems to prevent Linked-Coverage customers from being assessed Linked 

Overdraft Fees, i.e., fees for paying an overdraft due to an ATM or one-time debit card 

transaction that exhausted the balances of both the customer’s checking and linked 

secondary account.    

14. By August 2011, 13 months after the Opt-In Rule’s mandatory compliance date, a mid-level 

manager concluded that the Linked Overdraft Fees likely violated the Opt-In Rule. 

15. At that time, the issue was not escalated to senior bank executives. Nor was Respondent’s 

Legal department informed of the potential violation.  

16. Beginning in November 2011, mid-level management attempted to arrange for systems 

changes to stop the Linked Overdraft Fees.  

17. In February 2012, it was determined that the systems changes that had been developed were 

inadequate. As a result, changes were not implemented at that time, and Respondent 

continued to charge Linked Overdraft Fees. 

18. It was not until April 2012 that the compliance department and others brought the potential 

for an Opt-In Rule violation to the attention of the Legal Department. The issue was raised at 

an April 2012 governance working group called the Compliance/Fair & Responsible Lending 

Touchpoint. The Legal Department then addressed the issue with senior executives. 

19. In May 2012, as the nature and scope of the error became apparent, Respondent reported to 

the Bureau that it had a regulatory issue relating to the Opt-In Rule and that it intended to 

reimburse any Unlawful Fees. 
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20. In June 2012, Respondent reached an internal consensus that the Opt-In Rule in fact applied 

to Linked-Coverage customers and that the Linked Overdraft Fees it had assessed these 

customers starting in July 2010 violated the Opt-In Rule. That same month—ten months 

after the mid-level manager had first concluded Respondent was likely violating the Opt-In 

Rule—Respondent developed and adopted system changes that stopped the unlawful fees. 

21. In December 2012, Respondent voluntarily reimbursed 198,387 consumers a total of 

$34,946,530 in an initial remediaton.  After the Bureau determined that Respondent’s intial 

reimbursement efforts had not fully captured the total amount of consumer harm, 

Respondent refunded an additional $12,891,088 to consumers who had been charged 

Unlwful Fees. This second reimbursement occurred in December 2013. 

22. In January 2015, Respondent identified an additional limited group of consumers who were 

incurring fees that violated the Opt-In Rule.  

23. Respondent had been charging these consumers overdraft fees in connection with ATM and 

one-time debit card transactions without first having obtained the consumers’ Opt-In.  

24. Respondent failed to detect these unlawful fees in 2012 and 2013 when it identified and 

remediated unlawful Linked Overdraft Fees. As a result of that failure, the unlawful fees 

persisted until 2015.    

25. The Opt-In Rule prohibits depository institutions from assessing a “fee or charge on a 

consumer’s account for paying an ATM or one-time debit card transaction pursuant to the 

institution’s overdraft service” without “obtain[ing] the consumer’s affirmative consent, or 

opt-in, to the institution’s payment of ATM or onetime debit card transactions[.]” 12 C.F.R. § 

1005.17(b)(1). 

26. Between July 1, 2010, which was the Opt-In Rule’s mandatory compliance date for new 

accounts, and June 2012, when Respondent implemented the system changes, Linked-
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Coverage consumers paid at least $47 million in Linked Overdraft Fees, for which an Opt-In 

was required under the Opt-In Rule. Accordingly, Respondent violated the Opt-In Rule. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Misrepresentations Regarding 
Overdraft Fees Assessed On Linked-Coverage Accounts 

 
27. A number of Respondent’s account materials wrongly stated that Respondent would not 

charge Overdraft Fees for ATM and one-time debit card transactions unless consumers 

affirmatively Opted In.   

28. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

29. As described in Paragraph 27, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promoting, or 

offering of its deposit products, in numerous instances, Respondent has represented, 

expressly or impliedly, that it would not assess Overdraft Fees in connection with ATM or 

one-time debit card transactions unless the consumer opted in.   

30. In fact, as described in Paragraph 26, Respondent assessed at least $47 million of such fees 

to consumers with Linked Coverage.  

31. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 27, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Misrepresentations Regarding 
Overdraft Fees and NSF Fees Assessed On RRA Repayments 

 
32. In May 2011, Respondent began offering the Regions Ready Advance (RRA) product to its 

deposit account customers. The RRA product is a small-dollar line of credit intended for 

short-term use.  

33. When a customer obtained an RRA advance, the customer had three repayment options: (a) 

manual payments at a branch or by mail; (b) installment payments; or (c) payments 

triggered by the customer’s next automatic deposit. Under option (c), a repayment would be 
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triggered if any balance on the advance remained outstanding thirty-five days after the RRA 

advance was taken.   

34. In or around August 2011, Respondent determined that it no longer wanted to charge 

Overdraft Fees or NSF Fees on RRA repayments that were made pursuant to methods (b) 

and (c) above.  

35. Between August 2011 and November 2011, Respondent attempted to make programming 

changes to effectuate that decision. However, the programming changes were flawed: they 

stopped Respondent’s systems from assessing NSF fees on RRA repayments, but allowed 

Overdraft Fees to continue. 

36. In November 2011, Respondent updated its materials to reflect what it believed to be its new 

practice. Respondent issued “Frequently Asked Questions” (FAQs), which included a 

question regarding whether Respondent would charge an Overdraft Fee if the payment taken 

from the deposit account caused the checking account balance to become negative. The FAQ 

answered: 

No. An overdraft fee will not be assessed on the Ready Advance payment; 
however, additional overdraft fees may apply if other debit items post at that time 
or thereafter while the checking account remains in a negative balance. 
       

37. Due to the failure to implement programming necessary to implement the decision to refrain 

from charging overdraft fees, Respondent charged Overdraft Fees on RRA repayments. 

38. In April 2013, Respondent made a number of changes to its RRA product that required 

programming changes to Respondent’s systems. During the course of these programming 

changes, another error occurred, which caused the systems to begin assessing NSF fees in 

connection with RRA repayments on some RRA accounts. Thus, beginning in April 2013, 

Respondent charged its RRA customers both NSF fees and Overdraft Fees. 
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39. In or around June 2013, Respondent discovered it had been charging Overdraft Fees and 

NSF Fees on RRA repayments. It corrected the programming error that caused these fees on 

August 28, 2013. Respondent reported the issue to the Bureau in November 2013. 

40. Between November 2011, when Respondent first issued the FAQs, and August 2013, when it 

corrected the programming error, Respondent charged at least $1.9 million in Overdraft Fees 

and NSF Fees. In December 2013, the Bank refunded approximately $1,925,000 in fees to 

approximately 36,214 consumers.   

41. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

42. As described in Paragraph 36, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promoting, or 

offering the RRA product, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that 

consumers would not be charged Overdraft Fees in connection with RRA repayments.   

43. In fact, Respondent did assess Overdraft Fees in connection with RRA repayments.  

44. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 36, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions  

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

45. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate the Opt-In 

Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(b), and Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536, and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must implement a plan, 
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subject to the non-objection of the Regional Director, to assure that policies, procedures 

and processing systems comply with the requirements of Regulation E.      

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the 

advertising, marketing, promotion, or offering of any consumer financial product or 

services, may not represent, or assist others in representing, expressly or impliedly that 

Respondent will not or does not charge Overdraft Fees and/or NSF Fees in connection 

with any transaction where Respondent does, in fact, charge Overdraft Fees and/or NSF 

Fees. 

c. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall identify all instances where (i) 

Respondent furnished information to a consumer reporting agency that could have 

negatively affected a consumer’s credit; and (ii) Respondent would not have furnished the 

information but for the Unlawful Fees that are the subject of this Order. In all such 

instances, Respondent shall ensure that the information furnished is expunged from the 

Affected Consumer’s credit history. 

d. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall identify all instances where (i) 

Respondent closed a consumer account due to a negative balance; and (ii) the negative 

balance would not have occurred but for the Unlawful Fees that are the subject of this 

Order. In all such instances, Respondent shall correct any negative reporting to 

ChexSystem in connection with the closed account. 

VI 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, policies, and 

procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  
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47. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for ensuring that 

Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial laws and this Consent Order. 

48. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or 

perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with the 

Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of compliance 

obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VII 

Order to Pay Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional Director a 

proposal for retaining a consultant to verify that Respondent has made full and complete 

redress to Affected Consumers (Consultant Proposal). For purposes of this section, Affected 

Consumers are entitled to redress for any Unlawful Fees they were charged.  

50. The Consultant Proposal shall identify the consultant Respondent proposes to retain and 

shall describe: 

a. The proposed consultant’s qualifications, including its experience in analyzing 

consumer deposit management systems; 

2015-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/28/2015     Page 12 of 23 



b. All work the proposed consultant has performed for Respondent in the five years 

preceding the Effective Date (if any), including the amount Respondent paid the 

proposed consultant for each engagement; 

c. Any ownership interest Respondent has in the proposed consultant; and 

d. Any shared financial interest between Respondent and the proposed consultant. 

51. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to 

the Consultant Proposal or direct Respondent to submit an alternative Consultant Proposal. 

If the Regional Director requires an alternative Consultant Proposal, Respondent must 

provide such proposal within 15 days of the Regional Director’s request. 

52. Within 15 days of receiving written notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Consultant Proposal, Respondent shall retain the 

proposed consultant (the Consultant), subject to an engagement letter setting forth the scope 

of the Consultant’s work (Engagement Letter).  

53. Respondent shall require the Consultant to conduct a comprehensive review of (a) the 

identity of Affected Consumers; and (b) the amount of Unlawful Fees the Affected 

Consumers were charged (Redress Analysis).  

54. At a minimum, the Redress Analysis must include the following steps: 

a. Identify all data sources relevant to determining consumers’ Opt-In status at a given 

point in time (Opt-In Data Sources), including but not limited to: (i) any system 

Respondent’s deposit system consults to determine a consumer’s Opt-In status when the 

consumer engages in an ATM or one-time debit card transaction; (ii) any system that 

logs or keeps track of notifications (either electronic or paper) Respondent has provided 

to consumers concerning their Opt-In status; and (iii) any system that maintains a daily 

journal of consumers’ Opt-In status; 
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b. Identify all transaction codes Respondent has used or currently uses that correspond to 

one-time debit card and ATM transactions; 

c. Employ a model (Model) that uses the Opt-In Data Sources, the transaction codes, and 

any other sources of relevant information the Consultant has identified to accurately (i) 

identify all Affected Consumers; and (ii) determine the amount of redress to which they 

are entitled; 

d. Validate the Model using sampling or other acceptable validation methods to ensure 

sufficiency of the Opt-In Data Sources, transaction codes, and any other sources of 

relevant information in identifying all Affected Consumers and the amount of redress to 

which they are entitled; 

e. Refine the Model until the validation indicates the Model is accurate; and 

f. Complete the Redress Analysis within 120 days of having been retained by Respondent. 

55. To gather information required for the Redress Analysis described above (e.g., identification 

and evaluation of Opt-In Data Sources and transaction codes), the Consultant shall, among 

other things, conduct in-depth interviews of those employees of Respondent who have 

operational knowledge of Respondent’s deposit system, including technicians. The 

Consultant shall keep detailed notes of all such interviews. 

56. Within 90 days of retaining the Consultant, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 

Director a detailed narrative that explicitly describes the methodology and findings of the 

Redress Analysis (Redress Report). Among other things, the Redress Report shall describe in 

detail: 

a. The Data Sources, transaction codes, and any other sources of relevant information the 

Consultant identified; 

b. How the Consultant used the Data Sources, transaction codes, and any other sources of 

relevant information in the Model; 

2015-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/28/2015     Page 14 of 23 



c. An outline of the logic used in the Model, including parameters, assumptions, and 

justifications for the inclusion or exclusion of any Data Source, transaction codes, or any 

other source of relevant information the Consultant identified;  

d. The steps the Consultant took to validate the Model, including a description of steps 

taken to ensure the Model’s robustness; and 

e. The Redress Analysis’ findings as to the total number of Affected Consumers and the 

total amount of Unlawful Fees. 

57. Respondent shall append to the Redress Report all notes of interviews required under 

Paragraph 55 and all statistical codes and algorithms used in the Model. 

58. The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to 

the Redress Analysis or direct Respondent to modify or supplement it. In the event that the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to modify or supplement the Redress Analysis, 

Respondent shall do so and submit a revised Redress Report to the Regional Director within 

30 days or within any longer timeframe the Regional Director specifies.  

59. Within 30 days of receiving written notice of the Regional Director’s non-objection to the 

Redress Analysis, Respondent shall reimburse Affected Consumers for any Unlawful Fees 

Respondent has not already reimbursed (Additional Redress). Respondent shall provide 

Additional Redress regardless of whether the Affected Consumer is currently an 

accountholder with Respondent.  For Affected Consumers who are current accountholders 

with Respondent, the Additional Redress shall be credited to the Affected Consumer’s 

account. For Affected Consumers who are no longer accountholders with Respondent, 

Respondent shall mail to the Affected Consumer a check in the required amount. 

60. Within 120 days of completing payment of Additional Redress, Respondent shall conduct an 

internal audit to assess Respondent’s compliance with its obligation to pay all Additional 

Redress. 
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61. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that any Additional Redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain 

after the Additional Redress is completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for 

such other equitable relief, including consumer information remedies, as determined to be 

reasonably related to the violations described in Section IV of this Consent Order. Any funds 

not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives 

may take under this paragraph. 

62. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected Consumer under 

this Order on that Affected Consumer’s waiving any right. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $7.5 million to the Bureau. 

64. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions.  

65. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

66. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Respondent may not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any civil 

money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any source, 

including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any 

civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

IX 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this Consent 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 

immediately become due and payable. 

68. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent. 

69. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

70. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of 

redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

X 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
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71. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 

company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any 

acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. 

Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

72. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, Respondent 

must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance progress report 

(Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with this 

Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, unless 

previously submitted to the Bureau. 

73. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director additional 

Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

74. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to 

the subject matter of the Consent Order. 
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75. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to 

any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section X, any 

future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service 

Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

76. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of 

the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving 

a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

XII 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

77. Respondent must create or maintain, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of 

this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Analysis and Respondent’s payment 

of Additional Redress, described in Section VII above; 

c. Copies of all final versions of account disclosures and marketing materials in use as of the 

Effective Date relating to Respondent’s (i) Overdraft Service; (ii) Linked Coverage; and (iii) 

the RRA product;   

d. For each individual Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone number, 

email address; the amount owed to the Affected Consumer as Additional Redress; and the 

amount Respondent refunded to the consumer as redress; and   

e. All consumer complaints and refund requests (whether the complaints or requests are 
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received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party) regarding Overdraft Fees or 

NSF Fees, and any responses to those complaints or requests. 

78. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 77 for at least 5 years. 

79. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 77 available to the Bureau 

upon the Bureau’s request. 

XIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

80. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must submit all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 

to Regional Director James Carley via email at Compliance@cfpb.gov, with the subject line 

“In re Regions Bank, File No. 2015-CFPB-0009.” Alternatively, 

Respondent may send such reports or notifications by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal 

Service) to Regional Director James Carley at the address listed below: 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this Consent 

Order: 

81. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under 

penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

2015-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/28/2015     Page 20 of 23 

mailto:Compliance@cfpb.gov


82. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other person 

affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may 

have counsel present. 

83. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process, 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by submitting a 

written request to the Regional Director. 

85. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material requirements of 

this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

 

86. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or 

any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, except as 

described in Paragraph 87. 

87. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law violations 

that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in Section IV of 

this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 

Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 
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described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. 

This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent 

Order.  

88. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order issued 

under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not 

be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

89. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the most 

recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent Order by 

Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that 

Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is 

either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the 

action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until 

such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

90. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted.  

91. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation of 

this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money penalties 

allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any 

attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may 

serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 
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92. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This 

Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

93. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 28th day of April, 2015. 

 

   
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Fines Regions Bank $7.5 Million for
Unlawful Overdraft Practices
Bank  Refunds  $49  Million  in  Illega l Fees  to  Consumers  Who  Did  Not Opt-
In  to  Overdra ft

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
took action against Regions Bank for charging overdraft fees to consumers who had not
opted-in for overdraft coverage. The bank also charged overdraft and non-sufficient
funds fees on its deposit advance product despite claims that it would not. Regions has
already refunded hundreds of thousands of consumers approximately $49 million in
fees, and the consent order requires the bank to fully refund all remaining consumers.
The Bureau also fined the company $7.5 million for its illegal actions.

“Today the CFPB is taking its first enforcement action under the rules that protect
consumers against illegal overdraft fees by their banks,” said CFPB Director Richard
Cordray. “Regions Bank failed to ask consumers if they wanted overdraft service before
charging them fees. In the end, hundreds of thousands of consumers paid at least $49
million in illegal charges. We take the issue of overdraft fees very seriously and will be
vigilant about making sure that consumers receive the protections they deserve.”

Regions Bank, headquartered in Birmingham, Alabama, operates approximately 1,700
retail branches and 2,000 ATMs across 16 states. It is one of the country’s biggest banks
with more than $119 billion in assets. Among its various products and services, it has
checking accounts and offers loans known as deposit advance products. With deposit
advance products, the borrower authorizes the bank to claim repayment as soon as the
next qualifying electronic deposit is received.

Regions offers overdraft services with its checking accounts. An overdraft can occur
when consumers spend or withdraw more money from their checking accounts than is
available. The financial institution can choose to cover the payment by advancing funds
on the consumer’s behalf, and generally charges a fixed overdraft fee for doing so. The
institution can also choose to return the payment if it is a check, online bill payment, or
direct debit, and then charge a non-sufficient funds fee. In recent years, most banks
have adopted automated systems for making these decisions. These systems have
contributed to the evolution of overdraft from an occasional courtesy to a significant
source of industry revenues.

In 2010, federal rules took effect that prohibited banks and credit unions from charging
overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit card transactions unless consumers
affirmatively opted in. If consumers don’t opt-in, banks may decline the transaction,
but won’t charge a fee. The “opt-in” rule took effect in July 2010 for new accounts and
August 2010 for existing accounts.

The Bureau found that Regions Bank:
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Failed  to  obtain  required  opt-ins  for  certain  consumers: Regions allowed
consumers to link their checking accounts to savings accounts or lines of credit.
Once that link was established, funds from the linked account would
automatically be transferred to cover a shortage in a consumer’s checking
account. Regions never provided customers with linked accounts an opportunity
to opt in for overdraft. Because those consumers had not opted in, Regions could
have simply declined ATM or one-time debit card transactions that exceeded the
available balance in both the checking and linked accounts. Instead, the bank paid
those transactions then charged its customers a fee of up to $36. Those fees
violated the opt-in rule.

Delayed  fixing the  violation  until almost a  year  after  discovering it:
Thirteen months after the opt-in rule’s mandatory compliance date, an internal
review by the bank found that linked-account overdraft fees violated the rule. But
Regions failed to stop the charges for almost another year. It was not until April
2012 that the compliance department brought the violation to the attention of
senior executives, who then reported the error to the Bureau. Regions
reprogramed its systems to stop charging the unauthorized fees in June 2012. In
early 2015, the bank discovered additional accounts that had been charged
unauthorized fees.

Misrepresented  overdraft and  non-sufficient funds  fees  related  to  its
deposit advance  product: Regions charged overdraft and non-sufficient funds
fees with its deposit advance product, called Regions Ready Advance, despite
claiming it would not. Specifically, if the bank collected payment from the
consumer’s checking account and the payment was higher than the amount
available in the account, it would cause the consumer’s balance to drop below
zero. When that happened, the bank would either cover the transaction and
charge an overdraft fee or reject its own transaction and charge a non-sufficient
funds fee. At various times from November 2011 until August 2013, the bank
charged non-sufficient funds fees and overdraft charges of about $1.9 million to
more than 36,000 customers.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions violating federal consumer financial laws, including by engaging in unfair,
deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Regions Bank violated the Electronic Fund
Transfer Act and the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010. The CFPB’s order
requires that Regions Bank:

Provide  refunds  to  all remaining affected  consumers: Regions Bank
voluntarily reimbursed approximately 200,000 consumers a total of nearly $35
million in December 2012 for the illegal overdraft fees. After the Bureau alerted
the bank to more affected consumers, Regions returned an additional $12.8
million in December 2013. In January 2015, the bank identified even more
affected consumers and is now required to provide them with a full refund. Under
the terms of the consent order filed today, Regions must hire an independent
consultant to identify all remaining consumers who were charged the illegal fees.
Regions will return these fees to consumers, if not already refunded. If the
consumers have a current account with the bank, they will receive a credit to their
account. For closed or inactive accounts, Regions will send a check to the affected
consumers.

Correct errors  on  credit reports: Regions must identify and fix all instances
of negative credit reporting resulting from the unlawful fees.
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Pay a  $7.5 million  fine: Regions will make a $7.5 million penalty payment to
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. Regions’ violations and its delay in escalating them
to senior executives and correcting the errors could have justified a larger penalty,
but the Bureau credited Regions for making reimbursements to consumers and
promptly self-reporting these issues to the Bureau once they were brought to the
attention of senior management.

A  copy of the  consent order  is  available  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201504_cfpb_consent-order_regions-bank.pdf

Today the  CFPB  also  issued  a  consumer  advisory on  overdraft issues. The
advisory can be found at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201504_cfpb_consumer-
advisory_overdraft.pdf

The  CFPB’s  July 2014  Overdraft Data  Point is  available  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_report_data-point_overdrafts.pdf

The  CFPB’s  Responsible  Conduct Bulletin  is  available  at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201306_cfpb_bulletin_responsible-conduct.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Prepared Remarks of CFPB Deputy 
Enforcement Director Cara Petersen on 
the Regions Bank Enforcement Action 
Press Call
BY CARA PETERSEN

Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is taking its first enforcement action 
under the federal rules that protect consumers against illegal overdraft fees by their 
banks. We are taking action against Alabama-based Regions Bank for failing to ask 
consumers if they wanted overdraft service before charging them fees for this service. 
Regions amplified this harm by letting it drag on for almost an additional year after the 
bank first discovered the violation. The bank also charged overdraft and non-sufficient 
funds fees on its deposit advance product despite claims that it would not do so. In the 
end, hundreds of thousands of consumers paid at least $49 million in illegal charges.

The 2010 Federal Reserve overdraft “opt-in” rule is critically important. It prohibits 
depository institutions from charging an overdraft fee for ATM withdrawals and one-
time debit card transactions unless the consumer has affirmatively “opted in.” The opt-
in permission means that if consumers overspend their balance while using their debit 
card to make a purchase or withdraw cash from an ATM, the bank will cover the 
shortage with a temporary advance, in exchange for a fee. If consumers do not opt in, 
transactions are generally declined, with no fee.

When the rule was first implemented, Regions Bank did not apply it to situations when 
consumers had one Regions account linked to a second Regions account, such as a 
savings account or a line of credit. If a consumer exhausted their funds in their checking 
account, the bank would automatically dip into the second account or line of credit. But 
in circumstances where the combined balance in both the checking account and linked 
account was not enough to cover the transaction, Regions would sometimes pay the 
transaction through its overdraft service and charge an overdraft fee of up to $36. Yet 
Regions failed to obtain consumer consent from many of these customers for this 
overdraft service. This failure to get the required consumer permissions resulted in 
customers paying tens of millions of dollars in illegal overdraft fees.

To compound the problem, Regions Bank identified the violation but failed to channel 
that information to senior decision makers. The result was that the bank continued to 
charge consumers incorrectly for almost a year after it discovered the problem.

Regions also had a deposit advance product, called Regions Ready Advance, which led 
to a second violation. Deposit advance products are like payday loans; they typically are 
sold as a way to bridge a cash-flow shortage between paychecks or other income. 
Generally these loans are for small-dollar amounts and borrowers must repay them 
quickly by giving lenders access to their deposit accounts.
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Regions said it would not charge overdraft or non-sufficient funds fees when its 
customers made repayments on its Ready Advance loans. But the bank did, in fact, 
assess such fees in instances where it collected payment from the consumer’s checking 
account and caused the balance to drop below zero. Charging such fees in addition to 
collecting its payments was contrary to its description of how these loans worked. At 
various times from November 2011 until August 2013, the company charged non-
sufficient funds fees and overdraft charges of nearly $2 million to tens of thousands of 
its deposit advance customers.

Regions has already refunded $49 million to consumers. Today’s order requires 
Regions Bank to ensure that all remaining customers get their money back if they were 
wrongfully charged fees. The bank also must pay a fine of $7.5 million for the violations. 
And, it is worth noting, Regions’ conduct would have warranted an even stiffer penalty 
if it had not voluntarily refunded consumers and promptly self-reported this problem to 
the Bureau once it was brought to the attention of senior management. Any consumers 
who had their credit harmed as a result of the violations will also get their credit records 
straightened out.

At the Consumer Bureau, we take the issue of overdraft fees very seriously. In its 
original form, overdraft began as an occasional courtesy service for checks that would 
otherwise have been returned, but it has evolved over the years. By the time the opt-in 
rule was adopted in 2010, if a consumer overdrew his account, banks and credit unions 
often would cover the difference and generally charge a fee for that service. With the 
advent of debit cards, consumers started to use them instead of cash for more of their 
small or impulse purchases. And as banks and credit unions came to cover more of 
these transactions, they started assessing higher fees for doing so. Accordingly, 
overdraft started to become a significant source of the revenue generated from checking 
accounts. Today, even with the opt-in rule in place, more than half of consumer 
checking account income comes from overdraft and similar fees.

Opting consumers into overdraft without their permission can be very expensive. In 
July 2014, the CFPB released its second report on overdraft that raised concerns about 
how consumers are being affected by overdraft practices. It confirmed that overdraft 
fees can pile up quickly on smaller debit card purchases, often for less than $24, such as 
buying a quick meal or perhaps an impulse purchase at the mall. The study also found 
that, on average, opted-in accounts pay almost $260 per year in overdraft and non-
sufficient funds fees, compared to just over $35 for non-opted-in accounts.

The 2010 opt-in rule made clear that consumer protection in this area is critical. That 
Regions Bank violated the law raises definite concerns worthy of note by all depository 
institutions. And their customers should rest assured that the Consumer Bureau is here 
to protect them when it comes to the hard-earned money they keep in their checking 
accounts. Thank you.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Attorneys for Plaintiff
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU,

Plaintiff,
v.

NATIONWIDE BIWEEKLY 
ADMINISTRATION, INC., LOAN 
PAYMENT ADMINISTRATION 
LLC, AND DANIEL S. LIPSKY, 

Defendants.

Case No. ______________

COMPLAINT

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) alleges the following against 

Nationwide Biweekly Administration, Inc., Loan Payment Administration LLC, and their

founder and president, Daniel S. Lipsky (collectively, “Defendants”). 

INTRODUCTION

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), 5565, and the Telemarketing and 

Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d), and its implementing 

regulation, the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.1-9 (2010). The Bureau 

Case3:15-cv-02106   Document1   Filed05/11/15   Page1 of 14
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seeks to obtain permanent injunctive relief, restitution, civil money penalties, and other relief 

as set forth below. 

JURISDICTION

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this matter because it is brought 

under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 

28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.

VENUE

3. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants do business here and a 

substantial part of events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here. 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

4. Assignment to the San Francisco Division or the Oakland Division is proper 

because Defendants have advertised and sold their products and services to consumers who 

reside in the counties in these divisions, as well as consumers nationwide.

PARTIES

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products and services under federal 

consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has independent litigating authority to enforce 

the CFPA and federal consumer financial laws, 12 U.S.C. § 5564, as well as the authority to 

enforce the TSR with respect to the offering or provision of a consumer financial product or 

service subject to the CFPA. 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d). 

6. Defendant Nationwide Biweekly Administration, Inc. (“Nationwide”) is an Ohio 

corporation based in Xenia, Ohio. Nationwide acts as a custodian of consumer funds and 

transmits funds from consumers to their mortgage lenders or servicers, which is a consumer

financial product or service covered by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(iv). Nationwide 

is a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). Nationwide is a “seller” and 

“telemarketer” under the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa), (cc).

Case3:15-cv-02106   Document1   Filed05/11/15   Page2 of 14
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7. Defendant Loan Payment Administration LLC (“LPA”) is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Nationwide. It engages in offering Nationwide’s services and also provides 

material services to Nationwide in connection with the offering or provision of a consumer 

financial product or service covered by the CFPA. LPA is a “covered person” under the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (26)(A).

8. Defendant Daniel S. Lipsky (“Lipsky”) is the founder, president, sole officer, and 

sole owner of Nationwide. He has managerial responsibility for Nationwide and LPA, and he 

has formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of Nationwide 

and LPA, including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. Lipsky is a “related 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). As a “related person,” he is deemed a 

“covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). Lipsky is a “seller” under 

the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa).

FACTS

Nationwide and the “Interest Minimizer” Program

9. Nationwide’s primary product or service is the “Interest Minimizer” (“IM”) 

program for mortgages. Most consumers who enroll in the IM program divide their monthly 

mortgage payment in half and remit that payment to Nationwide every two weeks. Nationwide 

holds the funds and promises to send the consumer’s monthly payments to the mortgage 

lender or servicer in advance of the monthly due date. 

10. Because there are 52 weeks in a year, consumers who make biweekly payments 

through the IM program remit 26 payments to Nationwide each year. A typical consumer’s 

mortgage, however, requires only 12 monthly payments. Accordingly, making 26 biweekly 

payments results in the equivalent of an extra monthly payment each year.

11. Most months, participants in the IM program will make two biweekly payments.

Every six months, there will be a month in which three biweekly payments will be made.

12. The first time these consumers make a third biweekly payment in a month, 

Nationwide keeps that payment, up to $995, as a setup fee. 

Case3:15-cv-02106   Document1   Filed05/11/15   Page3 of 14
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13. After Nationwide collects the setup fee, Nationwide directs subsequent extra 

biweekly payments to the consumer’s mortgage lender or servicer to be applied against the 

loan principal.

14. Nationwide collects a processing fee of $3.50 with each biweekly payment. These 

fees amount to $91.00 per consumer each year. 

15. Some consumers in the IM program make weekly payments. These consumers 

divide their monthly mortgage payment into quarters and remit one quarter to Nationwide 

every week. Most months, these consumers will make four weekly payments. Every three

months, there will be a month in which five weekly payments are made. 

16. The first two times these consumers make a fifth weekly payment in a month, 

Nationwide keeps those payments, up to $995, as a setup fee.

17. The processing fee for each weekly payment is $1.95. These fees amount to 

$101.40 per consumer each year. 

18. Some consumers in the IM program make semi-monthly payments. The amount 

of an extra monthly payment is divided among the 24 semi-monthly debits, and Nationwide 

keeps as a setup fee the extra funds collected in the first six months.

19. The processing fee for each semi-monthly payment is $3.50. These fees amount 

to $84.00 per consumer each year.

20. From August 2011 until September 2014, Nationwide collected approximately 

$49 million in setup fees from consumers who enrolled in the IM program for their primary 

mortgage. During the same period, more than 100,000 consumers enrolled in the IM program 

for their primary mortgage.

21. According to Nationwide, approximately 10,000 California residents are enrolled 

in the IM program. 

Advertising and Telemarketing for the Interest Minimizer Program

22. Nationwide primarily advertises the IM program by sending direct mail 

solicitations to consumers who have recently purchased homes or refinanced their mortgage 

loans. For each mortgage, Nationwide obtains the consumer’s name, the address of the 
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property, the amount of the mortgage, and the name of the mortgage originator from data 

sources that compile publicly available real estate information. In many of Nationwide’s direct 

mail solicitations, Nationwide includes the amount of the consumer’s mortgage and the name 

of the consumer’s mortgage originator. 

23. Between January 2012 and July 2014, Nationwide sent more than 33.5 million 

mailers to consumers across the United States, including 5.2 million to consumers in 

California. It sends mailers both under its own name and under the name of LPA.

24. Nationwide also advertises via several websites, including interestminimizer.com, 

which feature numerous videos of Lipsky explaining Nationwide’s IM program. 

25. In September 2014, a paid infomercial advertising Nationwide’s IM program,

featuring Lipsky, was aired on Lifetime television across the United States. This infomercial 

also appears on Nationwide’s website.

26. Nationwide’s marketing, including mailers sent under LPA’s name, directs 

consumers to call Nationwide’s call center to learn more about the program. Consumers who 

call Nationwide’s call center speak to a Nationwide sales representative who uses a 

telemarketing sales script. Nationwide directs its sales representatives to follow the script word 

for word.

27. In mailers, sales scripts, and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to 

consumers, and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA represent to 

consumers that Nationwide is a consumer advocate that is acting in their interest. 

Defendants’ Representations About Consumer Savings

28. In mailers, sales scripts, and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to 

consumers, and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA misrepresent

the savings consumers will purportedly achieve under the IM program.

29. In mailers, sales scripts, and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to 

consumers, and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA guarantee that 

consumers will save money. For example, many mailers state: “Am I guaranteed to save 

money? Yes! We provide a 100% SAVINGS GUARANTEE.” 
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30. Some Nationwide and LPA mailers, using the consumer’s actual loan amount and 

a sample interest rate, claim consumers will achieve “Monthly Interest Savings” and total 

“Interest Savings” of specific amounts.

31. In reality, consumers will not begin to save the “Monthly Interest Savings” 

amount upon enrollment. Rather, the “Monthly Interest Savings” Nationwide and LPA promise 

are an average over the life of the loan, assuming the consumer stays in the program until the 

mortgage is paid off.

32. Other Nationwide communications to consumers expressly or impliedly 

represent that consumers will achieve immediate interest savings by enrolling in the IM 

program. For example, the company sends contract documents to consumers with cover emails 

containing statements like “soon you will be . . . saving thousands of dollars in unnecessary 

payments.”

33. In reality, consumers who enroll will not “soon” be saving thousands of dollars. 

For the first several years of consumers’ enrollment in the IM program, typical consumers pay 

more in fees to Nationwide than they save through the program, and they will not save the 

“monthly” amounts promised by Nationwide until they are nearly halfway through their loan 

term. Most of the promised savings will not be realized until the last years of the loan.

34. According to Nationwide, in 2013, the median consumer using the IM program 

for a thirty-year fixed-rate mortgage had a mortgage loan of $160,204 and an interest rate of 

4.125%. A biweekly consumer in the IM program with those loan terms will not save enough to 

recoup the fees she has paid Nationwide until she is nine years into the program. By that point, 

she will have paid more than $1,200 in fees to Nationwide. A biweekly consumer in the IM 

program with those loan terms will not realize “Monthly Interest Savings” of the type 

advertised by Nationwide until she has been enrolled in the program for approximately 14

years. She will not realize half of the total savings Defendants promise until she has been 

enrolled for more than 20 years.

Case3:15-cv-02106   Document1   Filed05/11/15   Page6 of 14



7

Complaint

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

35. A substantial number of consumers will not stay in the program long enough to 

achieve any savings. Only 25% of the consumers enrolled in the IM program on December 31, 

2014, had been enrolled for longer than four years.

36. In mailers, sales scripts, and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to 

consumers, and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA misrepresent

the aggregate amount Nationwide’s customers have saved. For example, in Nationwide’s

Lifetime infomercial aired in 2014, Lipsky claimed, “last year alone we helped our customers 

eliminate over $161 million in interest charges.”

37. Nationwide’s customers did not save $161 million in interest charges in 2013.

Defendants’ Representations That Consumers Will Achieve Savings Without 

Paying More 

38. In mailers and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to consumers, 

and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA falsely claim that 

consumers enrolled in the IM program will achieve savings without paying more.

39. For example, one Nationwide mailer claims that “you do not increase your 

monthly payment” and that savings are realized “without increasing the amount of your 

monthly payment.” In one video on Nationwide’s website, Lipsky states, “you’re not increasing 

your payment. You’re just switching to a smaller biweekly or weekly amount.” 

40. In fact, consumers enrolled in the IM program increase their monthly payment

by paying processing fees for each debit to Nationwide and by making additional biweekly 

payments that Nationwide either collects as a setup fee or remits to the consumer’s mortgage 

lender or servicer. 

Defendants’ Representations That Consumers Cannot Achieve Similar Savings

Without the IM Program

41. Nationwide falsely represents that consumers cannot achieve the same savings 

without the IM program, by telling consumers that their mortgage lenders or servicers will not 

accept biweekly payments directly from consumers and that they will fail if they attempt to 

make additional principal payments on their own.
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42. In telemarketing calls, when consumers ask Nationwide’s sales representatives if 

they can pay biweekly to their servicers on their own, Nationwide’s sales scripts require the

representative to respond, “No, lenders require mortgages to be remitted monthly and will not 

accept a biweekly payment.”

43. For some consumers, this representation is false; some mortgage lenders and

servicers accept biweekly payments directly from consumers. 

44. All consumers can also achieve the same interest savings promised by the IM 

program on their own, simply by making an extra principal payment, in the amount of their 

monthly mortgage payment, annually to their mortgage lender or servicer. 

45. In mailers, sales scripts, and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to 

consumers, and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA tell consumers 

that they will fail to make extra principal payments on their own, based on a survey 

purportedly finding that former Nationwide consumers who tried to make extra payments on 

their own had “a 99% failure rate.”

46. The actual results of this survey, which was conducted by Nationwide’s customer 

service department, do not support the assertion that former Nationwide consumers who tried 

to make extra payments on their own had a 99% failure rate. 

Defendants’ Representations and Omissions About the Cost of the IM Program

47. In mailers and other marketing materials Nationwide distributes to consumers, 

and in mailers LPA distributes to consumers, Nationwide and LPA falsely claim that 

consumers’ extra payments every year “are directed 100% to the principal of the loan.”

48. This statement is false, because Nationwide keeps consumers’ first extra payment

(up to $995) as the setup fee. Nationwide does not direct this payment to the principal of the 

loan. 

49. Nationwide’s and LPA’s mailers generally do not mention a setup fee. Nationwide

does not disclose the existence of the setup fee on the portions of Nationwide’s website that 

explain how the program works or in the Lifetime infomercial aired in September 2014 and 

posted on Nationwide’s website. 
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50. When consumers ask Nationwide’s sales representatives how much the IM 

program costs, some of Nationwide’s scripts direct the sales representative to redirect the 

consumer. Other scripts instruct sales representatives to mention the setup fee only if 

consumers “persist to ask about fees.”

51. Nationwide’s telemarketing sales scripts do not directly state the dollar amount 

of the setup fee. 

Defendants’ Representation of Affiliation with Mortgage Servicers or Lenders

52. In mailers Nationwide and LPA distribute to consumers, and during phone calls 

consumers make to Nationwide’s call center, Nationwide and LPA expressly or impliedly 

misrepresent that Nationwide is affiliated with consumers’ mortgage lenders or servicers.

53. Nationwide is not affiliated with any mortgage lender or servicer.

54. When consumers who call Nationwide’s call center ask if Nationwide is affiliated 

with their mortgage lenders or servicers, Nationwide’s sales scripts misrepresent Nationwide’s 

affiliation with consumers’ mortgage lenders or servicers. For example, in one script, when 

consumers ask, “Do you work with/affiliated with my lender?” sales representatives were 

instructed, “Do NOT say ‘No’” – when the accurate answer is “No.” 

55. When consumers who call Nationwide’s call center ask if Nationwide is affiliated 

with their mortgage lenders or servicers, Nationwide’s sales scripts direct its sales 

representatives to tell consumers that Nationwide has a “working relationship” with their

mortgage lenders or servicers.

56. In fact, this “working relationship” consists solely of Nationwide’s submitting 

consumers’ payments to their mortgage lenders and servicers, without any agreement with or 

involvement by the mortgage lenders or servicers.

COUNT I

(Against Nationwide and Lipsky)

Abusive Acts or Practices in Violation the CFPA

57. The allegations in paragraphs 1-56 are incorporated here by reference.
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58. Nationwide and Lipsky guarantee to consumers that they will save money if they 

enroll in the IM program.

59. During the first several years in which consumers are enrolled in the IM program, 

consumers will pay more in fees to Nationwide than they will save through the program.

60. Nationwide and Lipsky know that a substantial number of consumers will leave 

the IM program prior to saving any money.   

61. Consumers are unlikely to understand that during the first several years of 

enrollment in the IM program, they will pay more in fees to Nationwide than they will save.

62. In numerous instances, in connection with offering or providing consumer 

financial products or services, Nationwide and Lipsky have taken unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the IM program.

63. Nationwide and Lipsky’s acts and practices are abusive under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(d)(2)(A). Because Nationwide and Lipsky are both “covered persons,” their conduct is 

unlawful under Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).

COUNT II

(Against All Defendants)

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA

64. The allegations in paragraphs 1-63 are incorporated here by reference.

65. In numerous instances, in connection with offering or providing consumer 

financial products or services, Defendants have misrepresented, directly or by implication:

a. the amount that consumers will save and when they will achieve such 

savings through the IM program; 

b. that consumers will realize savings without increasing the amount they 

pay each month; 

c. that consumers cannot achieve the same savings without the IM program; 

d. the amount and existence of the IM program’s setup fee; and

e. that Nationwide is affiliated with consumers’ mortgage servicers or 

lenders. 
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66. Each of the representations set forth in paragraph 65 were, and are, false or 

misleading. Defendants’ acts and practices are deceptive under the CFPA. Because each 

Defendant is a “covered person,” their conduct is unlawful under Sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

COUNT III

(Against Nationwide and Lipsky)

Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices in Violation of the TSR

67. The allegations in paragraphs 1-66 are incorporated here by reference.

68. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to:

a. before a consumer consents to pay for goods and services offered, fail to 

disclose truthfully and in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost to 

purchase the goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer, 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(i); 

b. misrepresent, directly or by implication, the total cost to purchase the 

goods and services that are the subject of the sales offer, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(i);

c. misrepresent, directly or by implication, any material aspect of the 

performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of goods or 

services that are the subject of a sales offer, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii);

d. misrepresent, directly or by implication, a seller or telemarketer’s 

affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, any person, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(vii); or 

e. make a false or misleading statement to induce any person to pay for 

goods or services. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(4).

69. Nationwide is a “seller” or “telemarketer” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.2(aa), (cc), because, in connection with telemarketing, it initiates or receives telephone 

calls to or from customers, and in connection with a telemarketing transaction, it provides, 

Case3:15-cv-02106   Document1   Filed05/11/15   Page11 of 14



12

Complaint

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide goods or services to customers in exchange 

for consideration.

70. Lipsky is a “seller” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa), because, in 

connection with a telemarketing transaction, he arranges for Nationwide to provide goods or 

services to customers in exchange for consideration.

71. In numerous instances, Nationwide has:

a. before a consumer consents to pay for the IM program, failed to disclose 

truthfully and in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost of enrolling 

in the IM program;

b. misrepresented, directly or by implication, the total cost of enrolling in the 

IM program; 

c. misrepresented, directly or by implication, material aspects of the 

performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of the IM program, 

including the amount that consumers will save, when they will achieve 

such savings, and that consumers will achieve savings without paying 

more each month;

d. misrepresented, directly or by implication, that Nationwide is affiliated 

with consumers’ mortgage servicers or lenders; and

e. made false or misleading statements to induce consumers to pay for the 

IM program. 

72. Therefore, Nationwide and Lipsky have engaged in deceptive telemarketing acts 

and practices in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(i); (a)(2)(i); (a)(2)(iii); (a)(2)(vii); 

(a)(4).

COUNT IV

(Against Nationwide and Lipsky)

Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA

73. The allegations in paragraphs 1-72 are incorporated here by reference.
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74. 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c)(2) provides that a violation of the TSR that is committed by a 

person subject to the CFPA shall be treated as a violation of a rule under Section 1031 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531, regarding unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices.

75. Because Nationwide and Lipsky violated the TSR and are “covered persons” 

under the CFPA, they also violated Section 1031 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court:

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3; 

b. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA and TSR, including, but not limited to, 

refund of fees paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and 

payment of damages; 

c. Impose civil money penalties against Defendants; 

d. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action; and 

e. Award other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

Dated:  May 11, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

ANTHONY ALEXIS
Enforcement Director

DEBORAH MORRIS
Deputy Enforcement Director

MICHAEL G. SALEMI
Assistant Litigation Deputy  

____________________
Melanie Hirsch
melanie.hirsch@cfpb.gov
202-435-7944
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Edward Keefe
edward.keefe@cfpb.gov
202-435-9198
Enforcement Attorneys

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street NW
Washington, DC 20552
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MAY 11 2015

CFPB Files Suit Against Nationwide 
Biweekly for Luring Consumers with False 
Promises of Mortgage Savings
Consumers Paid $49 Million in Fees for Deceptive Mortgage Payment 
Program

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
filed a lawsuit in federal district court against Nationwide Biweekly Administration, 
Inc., Loan Payment Administration LLC, and the companies’ owner, Daniel Lipsky, 
alleging that Nationwide misrepresents the interest savings consumers will achieve 
through a biweekly mortgage payment program and misleads consumers about the cost 
of the program. The CFPB is seeking compensation for harmed consumers, a civil 
penalty, and an injunction against the companies and their owner.

“These companies and their owner, Daniel Lipsky, took advantage of consumers with 
false promises of savings on their mortgage,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Homeowners deserve accurate information in the financial marketplace. Today we are 
taking action to end these illegal and deceptive practices, and to hold these companies 
accountable for their actions.”

Nationwide Biweekly Administration is an Ohio-based company that transmits funds 
from consumers to their mortgage servicers. Loan Payment Administration LLC is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Nationwide. Daniel Lipsky is the founder, president, and 
sole owner of Nationwide, and has managerial responsibility for both companies.

Nationwide offers a product for mortgage borrowers that it calls the “Interest 
Minimizer.” Most consumers who enroll in the Interest Minimizer program send 
Nationwide half their monthly mortgage payment every two weeks, effectively making 
one additional monthly payment per year. Nationwide charges consumers a setup fee of 
up to $995 to enroll in the program and charges consumers between $84 and $101 in 
payment processing fees each year they remain enrolled. 

Nationwide advertises the “Interest Minimizer” program online and via direct mail, and 
in 2014 aired an infomercial on Lifetime television. Many of the company’s marketing 
materials promise that consumers who enroll will save money, with language such as 
“Am I guaranteed to save money? Yes!” Other documents contained statements like 
“soon you will be . . . saving thousands of dollars in unnecessary payments.” 

The CFPB’s complaint alleges that the defendants made misrepresentations about 
Nationwide’s mortgage payment program to consumers, and collected approximately 
$49 million in setup fees between 2011 and 2014. Consumers enrolled after being 
promised substantial and immediate savings on their mortgages. However, the Bureau 
alleges the defendants know that consumers will pay more in fees than they save in 
interest for the first several years in the program, and that many consumers will leave 
the program without saving any money at all. The CFPB alleges these practices violate 
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the Telemarketing Sales Rule and the Consumer Financial Protection Act’s prohibition 
against unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices. 

Violations alleged in the CFPB’s complaint include:

• Falsely promising consumers they could achieve savings without 
paying more: In direct mail, online, and other marketing materials, Nationwide 
claims that consumers enrolled in the Interest Minimizer program will save 
money without increasing their mortgage payments. In a video on Nationwide’s 
website, Lipsky states, “you’re not increasing your payment. You’re just switching 
to a smaller biweekly or weekly amount.” In fact, consumers in the program pay 
processing fees for each biweekly payment and the initial setup fee to Nationwide, 
plus the equivalent of one additional monthly payment each year.

• Falsely promising immediate savings that take years to achieve: Despite 
promises of immediate savings, a consumer would have to stay enrolled for many 
years to recoup the fees that Nationwide charges. Nationwide claims that the 
median consumer in its Interest Minimizer program in 2013 had a 30-year 
mortgage for approximately $160,000 with an interest rate of 4.125 percent. A 
consumer with those loan terms would have to stay in the program for nine years 
to recoup her fees – at which point she would have paid more than $1,200 in fees 
to Nationwide. Only 25 percent of the consumers enrolled at the end of 2014 had 
been enrolled for longer than four years.

• Misleading consumers about the cost of the program: Nationwide’s direct 
mail and marketing materials falsely claim that consumers’ extra payments “are 
directed 100% to the principal of the loan.” However, Nationwide keeps the first 
extra biweekly payment (up to $995) as the setup fee. When consumers ask 
Nationwide sales representatives how much the program costs, some of the 
company’s sales scripts instruct the representative to redirect the consumer, and 
other scripts say representatives should only mention the fee if consumers 
“persist to ask about fees.” None of the scripts states the dollar amount of the 
setup fee.

• Falsely claiming to be affiliated with mortgage lenders or servicers:
Nationwide’s marketing materials misrepresent that it is affiliated with 
consumers’ mortgage lenders or servicers. For example, in one telemarketing 
sales script, when consumers ask, “Do you work with/affiliated with my lender?” 
sales representatives were instructed, “Do NOT say ‘No’” – when the accurate 
answer is “No.”

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the alleged unlawful practices of the two 
companies and Daniel Lipsky. The Bureau has also requested that the court impose 
penalties on defendants for their conduct and require that compensation be paid to 
consumers who have been harmed.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually 
violated the law.

A copy of the complaint file today can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb_complaint-nationwide-biweekly-
administration-inc-loan-payment-administration-llc-and-daniel-s-lipsky.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action to Obtain $120 
Million in Redress from Sprint and 
Verizon for Illegal Mobile Cramming
Companies Will Also Pay $38 Million in Fines for Unauthorized Charges 
on Customers’ Mobile Bills

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed 
proposed orders in federal courts against Sprint and Verizon which, if approved, would 
provide $120 million in redress to wireless customers who were illegally billed 
hundreds of millions of dollars in unauthorized third-party charges. The CFPB alleges 
that the companies operated billing systems that allowed third parties to “cram” 
unauthorized charges on customers’ mobile-phone accounts and ignored complaints 
about the charges. Today’s actions are being taken in coordination with the state 
attorneys general and the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Under the 
proposed terms, the CFPB will oversee $120 million in consumer refunds. The 
companies will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. 

“Sprint and Verizon had flawed billing systems that allowed merchants to add 
unauthorized charges to wireless customer bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Consumers bore the brunt of those charges and ended up paying millions of dollars 
while the companies reaped profits. Today’s actions will put $120 million back into the 
pockets of harmed consumers and require these companies to improve their billing 
practices going forward.”

Consumers use mobile phones to purchase an array of digital products, such as apps, 
games, books, movies, and music. These purchases appeared as charges on consumers’ 
phone bills. Wireless carriers collect and process payments for these purchases and 
control the networks connecting merchants and customers. From about 2004 through 
2013, nearly all wireless carriers’ third-party billing involved products called “premium 
text messages” or “premium short messaging services” because they were frequently 
delivered by text messages. Sprint and Verizon outsourced payment processing for 
these digital purchases to vendors, but failed to properly monitor them. 

The lack of oversight by Sprint and Verizon allowed the vendors to have nearly 
unfettered access to consumers’ wireless accounts. The billing systems for premium 
messages attracted and enabled unscrupulous merchants who, in some cases, only 
needed consumers’ phone numbers to cram illegitimate charges onto wireless bills. The 
charges ranged from one-time fees of about $0.99 – $4.99 to monthly subscriptions 
that cost $9.99 a month. The companies received a 30-40 percent cut of the gross 
revenue from these charges.

Most consumers were targeted online. Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to 
websites asking them to enter their cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked 
consumers into providing their cellphone numbers to receive “free” digital content and 
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then charged for it. Many others simply placed fabricated charges on bills without 
delivering any goods or communicating with consumers.

In December 2014, the CFPB filed suit in the Southern District of New York against 
Sprint and today is filing a proposed consent order. Today, the CFPB also filed a 
complaint and a proposed consent order in the District of New Jersey to address 
Verizon’s unlawful conduct. The Bureau charges Sprint and Verizon, as payment 
processors for third parties, with violating the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair practices by:

• Allowing third parties to illegally charge consumers: The companies’ 
billing systems made it easy for third-party scammers to attach charges to 
consumers’ bills. The companies profited from these illegitimate charges which 
victimized millions of consumers.

• Automatically billing consumers for illegitimate charges without their 
consent: Neither Sprint nor Verizon required customers to opt in to third-party 
billing. Instead, they automatically enrolled customers without their consent. This 
policy helped perpetuate the wrongdoing because many customers did not spot 
unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties could place charges 
on their bills. Although Verizon and Sprint allowed consumers to block third-
party charges, consumers had to specifically request that they do so. Since many 
consumers were unaware that third parties could even place charges on their bills, 
they did not know to ask for such protection, making the blocking option of little 
use.

• Ignoring consumer complaints about unauthorized charges: Both 
companies failed to track customer complaints about unauthorized charges, and 
as a result, lacked the most basic alert mechanism that could have revealed flaws 
in their monitoring systems. The companies also failed to provide full and prompt 
remediation to consumers subjected to these charges.

• Disregarding red flags about third party vendors: Both companies 
disregarded red flags showing that the billing systems for premium messages were
a breeding ground for unauthorized charges. Sprint and Verizon continued to 
outsource merchant oversight and billing to certain vendors despite lawsuits 
citing evidence that those same vendors enabled the cramming of unauthorized 
charges onto consumers’ bills.

As a result, Sprint’s and Verizon’s wireless customers – many of whom did not know 
that third parties could place charges on their bills – incurred millions of dollars in 
illegitimate charges while the companies profited handsomely.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The parties’ proposed consent 
orders, if approved by the courts, would require Sprint and Verizon to: 

• Pay $120 million in redress: The proposed consent orders would require 
Verizon to pay $70 million and Sprint to pay $50 million in consumer refunds. 
The CFPB will oversee the redress programs. Verizon customers can submit 
claims for refunds at www.CFPBSettlementVerizon.com or can learn more 
information about the Verizon settlement by calling 888-726-7063. Sprint 
customers can submit claims for refunds at www.SprintRefundPSMS.com or can 
learn more information about the Sprint settlement by calling 877-389-8787.

• Clearly and conspicuously disclose third-party charges on wireless 
bills: The proposed orders would also require Verizon and Sprint to present 
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third-party charges in a separate and clearly labeled section of the consumer’s bill 
so that consumers can clearly identify which charges are from the carrier and 
which charges are from third parties. 

• Obtain informed consent from consumers prior to third-party billing:
Verizon and Sprint would be required under the orders to obtain informed 
consent before a consumer is charged by a third party and provide purchase 
confirmation for third-party charges such as an email or text message to the 
consumer. Verizon and Sprint would also be required to block third-party charges 
for consumers and tell consumers about the option to block said charges.

• Improve dispute resolution procedures: In addition, the proposed orders 
would require Verizon and Sprint to ensure that consumers disputing third-party 
charges are directed to a customer service representative who has access to at 
least 12 months of the consumers’ billing statements. The representative must 
offer consumers the option to block future third-party charges, and provide 
consumers with a refund of unauthorized charges unless the companies can 
demonstrate the consumers expressly consented to the charges, already received 
refunds for the charges, or are otherwise ineligible for a refund.

• Enhance customer-service training programs: The companies would be 
obligated under the orders to train customer service representatives about third-
party billing procedures for at least six years unless the companies discontinue 
third-party billing.

Sprint and Verizon will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. The CFPB 
worked in close coordination with the state attorneys general and the FCC in 
investigating the companies’ third-party billing practices. The FCC and state attorneys 
general from all fifty states and the District of Columbia have worked to combat 
wireless cramming. Their collaboration was invaluable in achieving the substantial 
consumer relief and improved billing practices from Verizon and Sprint.

A copy of the Verizon complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-complaint.pdf

A copy of the Verizon proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-proposed-order.pdf

A copy of the Sprint proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-sprint-corporation-proposed-
order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

Plaintiff,

v.

PayPal, Inc., and Bill Me Later, Inc. 

Defendants.

Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-01426 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER  

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action on 

May 19, 2015, to obtain injunctive relief, civil money penalties, and other relief from PayPal, 

Inc., and Bill Me Later, Inc. The Complaint alleges violations of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), for unfair, deceptive, and 

abusive acts and practices in connection with Defendants’ offering, marketing, providing, and 

servicing of its online consumer-credit product known as PayPal Credit, formerly Bill Me Later. 

The Parties, by and through counsel, request that the Court enter this Stipulated Final 

Judgment and Order (Order).  

FINDINGS

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action. 

2. Venue is proper as to all parties in this District. 

3. The Parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of fact or law, 

to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to 

the date this Order is entered. 
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4. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the Complaint, except as 

specifically stated in this Order. For the purposes of this Order, Defendants admit the facts 

necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over them and the subject matter of this action. 

5. Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and 

waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the validity of this 

Order. Defendants also waive any claim they may have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 

28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action. Each Party will bear its own costs 

and expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees. 

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

7. “Affected Consumers” includes any consumer identified by the Bureau and Defendants 

who paid late fees or interest charges between January 1, 2011, and May 1, 2015, except that for 

item (3) in this Definition, between January 1, 2011, and March 31, 2013, as a result of (1) 

having opened a PayPal Credit account or been enrolled in PayPal Credit without 

understanding the account opening or enrollment process, or being confused by that process, 

(2) having a payment processed through a PayPal Credit account without understanding that 

he or she was using a PayPal Credit account, or being confused about the use of their PayPal 

Credit Account, or (3) having incurred deferred interest on an account with multiple 

contemporaneous deferred-interest promotions because of confusion over the amount he or 

she needed to pay to avoid deferred-interest charges. 

8. “Board” means PayPal’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors.  
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9. “Clearly and prominently” means:

A. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on the 

screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be of a type size and location 

sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it, in print that 

contrasts with the background on which it appears;

B. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means, the disclosure 

must be delivered in a volume and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear 

and comprehend it; 

C. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet and 

online services, the disclosure must be readily apparent and presented in a form 

consistent with the requirements for textual communications; and 

D. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer incurs any 

financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with nothing 

contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used in any 

communication with the consumer.

10. “Consumer financial product or service” has the same meaning set forth in the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

11. “Defendants” means PayPal, Inc., and Bill Me Later, Inc.  

12. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is entered on the docket by the 

Court.

13. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of Enforcement for 

the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee.  
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14. “PayPal” means PayPal, Inc., and its successors and assigns.  

15. “PayPal Credit” means the online open-end consumer-credit product offered by 

Defendants, now known as PayPal Credit, formerly Bill Me Later.

16. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought against 

Defendants based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint.  

ORDER

I.
ACCOUNT ENROLLMENT 

IT IS ORDERED that:

17. In connection with offering, marketing, or providing PayPal Credit, Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, contractors, and employees, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, must take the following actions before enrolling consumers in PayPal Credit or 

opening a new PayPal Credit account for a consumer:  

A. Clearly and prominently disclose through a method, such as a pop-up box, that 

PayPal Credit is a line of credit and may be subject to interest and that consumers will 

receive their billing statements electronically at the email address designated by the 

consumer. The application process must require consumers to indicate consent by 

affirmatively electing to enroll in PayPal Credit through a means that is specifically 

labeled to convey such consent, such as selecting a labeled button. The disclosures must 

be clear and prominent in relation to any other information provided on the page.
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B. Defendants must not set PayPal Credit as the default payment method for any 

consumer’s PayPal account unless that consumer affirmatively consents. To obtain 

affirmative consent, Defendants must clearly and prominently disclose, through a 

method, such as a check box, that must be affirmatively selected by the consumer, that 

the consumer is selecting PayPal Credit as the default payment source for future 

transactions and provide the consumer with an option to change the default payment 

source for the consumer’s account. The disclosures must be clear and prominent in 

relation to any other information provided on the page.

II.
ACCOUNT USE 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

18. In connection with offering, marketing, or providing PayPal Credit, Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, contractors, and employees, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, must, during the checkout process, clearly and prominently provide each consumer 

with the payment option that will be used for the transaction, and provide the consumer with a 

way to select a payment option other than PayPal Credit, if available. So long as the consumer 

is directed to clear and prominent disclosures at selection, this provision shall not prevent a 

consumer from voluntarily choosing a more streamlined checkout process for future 

purchases, such as one-click payment.  If a consumer chooses another payment option, 

Defendants must not process the consumer’s payment through PayPal Credit. 

Case 1:15-cv-01426-RDB   Document 2-1   Filed 05/19/15   Page 6 of 20



6

III.
MARKETING AND PROMOTIONAL OFFERS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

19. In connection with offering, marketing, or providing PayPal Credit, Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, contractors, and employees, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, are enjoined and restrained from misrepresenting any material aspect of PayPal 

Credit, including: 

A. Any benefits that a consumer will receive from using PayPal Credit and 

B. The terms and conditions of any promotional offer associated with PayPal Credit, 

such as deferred interest or money-back offers. 

20. With respect to merchants that make promotional offers to consumers who use PayPal 

Credit, Defendants must ensure that consumers receive the benefit of the promotional offer by 

honoring the offer made through the merchant or providing other appropriate remediation 

such that the consumer receives at least the benefit of the promotional offer as represented by 

the merchant. 

IV.
PAYMENT PROCESSING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

21. Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, contractors, and employees, and all other 

persons in active concert or participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with processing payments made by 

consumers toward their PayPal Credit accounts must: 

Case 1:15-cv-01426-RDB   Document 2-1   Filed 05/19/15   Page 7 of 20



7

A. Post payments to accounts with the effective date that the payment was received 

as follows:

i. Electronic payments, and payments received over the phone, by 11:59 p.m. 

Pacific time; 

ii. Conforming checks, as defined in the PayPal Credit monthly billing statement, 

will be credited with the date they are received if they are received by 5:00 

p.m. Eastern time, otherwise they will be credited with the next day’s date; 

and

iii. Non-conforming checks will be credited within the time frame specified in the 

PayPal Credit monthly billing statement; 

B. Provide a functioning electronic platform for consumers to make payments; and 

C. If Defendants’ system for accepting electronic payments is not functional and 

unavailable to consumers for a period of one hour or more, ensure that consumers with 

payments due on the day or days when the system is not functional and unavailable, or 

on any of the following five (5) days, are not required to pay late fees or interest for 

failure to make timely payments, and provide those consumers with an additional 3 days 

to make payments, which must be processed and treated by Defendants as timely.

V.
BILLING DISPUTES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

22. Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, contractors, and employees, and all other 

persons in active concert or participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, 
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whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with consumer billing disputes related to 

PayPal Credit accounts must: 

A. Accept billing disputes from consumers in writing and through telephonic or 

electronic means; 

B. Resolve billing disputes within 2 billing cycles, but no longer than 90 days from 

receiving a dispute from the consumer; 

C. Issue refunds, credits, and chargebacks, where appropriate, within 2  billing 

cycles, but no longer than 90 days of receiving a dispute; 

D. Not impose fees or interest on a disputed balance, or send an account to 

collection as a result of a consumer’s failure to pay a disputed balance, while a dispute is 

pending;

E. Provide written notification to consumers when billing disputes are resolved;

F. Maintain and implement standardized procedures for tracking all billing 

disputes; and

G. Maintain adequate staff and sufficient systems to effect and sustain full and 

complete compliance with the provisions of this section. 

VI.
REDRESS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

23. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $15 million, for the purpose of providing redress to Affected 

Consumers.
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24.       Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress 

consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The Redress Plan must identify Affected Consumers 

by category, the number of consumers in each category, the total redress to be paid to 

consumers in the category, and the procedures for paying redress to Affected Consumers. The 

Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct Defendants to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the 

Defendants to revise the Redress Plan, the Defendants must make the revisions and resubmit 

the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 days. After receiving notification that 

the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the 

Defendants must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

25. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Defendants must submit a 

Redress Plan Report to the Enforcement Director. The Redress Plan Report must include an 

audit and assessment of Defendants’ compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan.

26. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $15 million, within 30 days of the completion of the Redress Plan, 

Defendants must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, 

and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of 

redress provided to Affected Consumers and $15 million. 

27. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain 
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after additional redress is completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining funds for such 

other equitable relief, including consumer information remedies, as determined to be 

reasonably related to the violations described in the Complaint. Any funds not used for such 

equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury. Defendants will have no right to 

challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph.  

28. Defendants may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected Consumer 

under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.

VII.
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

29. Defendants, jointly and severally, must pay a civil money penalty of $10 million to the 

Bureau. 

30. Within 14 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the civil money penalty by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions.

31. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

32. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a penalty paid to 

the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, 

Defendants may not: 

A. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 
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B. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with 

regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Order. 

33. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Defendants may not argue that they are entitled to, nor may Defendants benefit by, any 

offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer 

Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Defendants must, within 30 days after 

entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the 

Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil 

money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 

34. The civil penalty imposed by the Order represents a civil penalty owed to the United 

States Government, is not compensation for actual pecuniary loss, and, thus, it is not subject to 

discharge under the Bankruptcy Code under 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7). 

VIII. 
ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

35. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligations to make payment under this 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any outstanding 

amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will immediately become 

due and payable.
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36. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to the Defendants.  

37. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants, unless they have already done so, must furnish to 

the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting 

and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.

38. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the Enforcement Director of the final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount 

of redress, if any, that Defendants paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

IX.
ROLE OF THE BOARD 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

39. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, policies, 

and procedures required by this Order) prior to submission to the Bureau. 

40. Although this Order requires the Defendants to submit certain documents for the review 

or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will have the ultimate responsibility 

for proper and sound management of Defendants and for ensuring that Defendants comply 

with Federal consumer financial law and this Order.

41. In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or perform 

certain obligation of Defendants, the Board must:

A. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Defendants to fully comply with the 

Order;  
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B. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and  

C. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this Section.

X.
COMPLIANCE PLAN 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan 

(Compliance Plan) designed to ensure that Defendants’ offering, marketing, and providing of 

PayPal Credit complies with the terms of this Order.  

43. The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

A. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order, including 

specifically:

i. For account enrollment, the timeframes by which Defendants will clearly 

and prominently disclose through a method, such as a pop-up box, that PayPal 

Credit is a line of credit and may be subject to interest and that consumers will 

receive their billing statement electronically at the email address designated by 

the consumer; 

ii. For promotional offers, a written description of procedures to ensure that 

consumers receive promotions advertised, including promotions advertised 

through merchants; 
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iii. For payment processing, a written description of Defendants’ internal 

controls and business resiliency plans to mitigate system failures;  

iv. For billing disputes, a written description of procedures to track billing 

disputes, provide written notification of resolved billing disputes to consumers, 

and ensure adequate personnel and systems to handle billing disputes; and 

v. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps. 

B. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Defendants to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Defendants to revise the Compliance Plan, Defendants 

must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director 

within 15 days.

44. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Defendants must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

45. Any material proposed changes to or deviations from the Compliance Plan must be 

submitted in writing to the Enforcement Director to make a determination of non-objection. 

XI.
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

46. Defendants must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to a dissolution, assignment, 

sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the 

creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices 
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subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against any 

Defendant; or a change in any Defendant’s name or address. Each Defendant must provide this 

notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after learning about 

the development, whichever is sooner. 

47. Defendants must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 

this Section at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after learning about the 

change, whichever is sooner. 

48. Within 90 days of the Bureau’s non-objection to Defendants’ Compliance Plan, 

Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress 

report (Compliance Report), and again one year after the date of the initial Compliance Report, 

which, at a minimum: 

A. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have complied with 

this Order and

B. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

49. After the one-year period, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XII.
ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, each Defendant, for any business for which the 

Defendant is the majority owner or directly or indirectly controls, must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 
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employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of this Order.

51. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants, for any business for which the 

Defendant is a  majority owner or directly or indirectly controls, must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section XI, 

and any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

service providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to 

the subject matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

52. Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy 

of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-

Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 60 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy 

of this Order under this Section. 

XIII.
RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Defendants must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, all documents and 

records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of this Order, as well as 

all submissions to the Bureau.

54. Defendants must retain the documents identified in this Section for at least 5 years. 

55. Defendants must make the documents identified in this Section available to the Bureau 

upon the Bureau’s request.
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XIV.
NOTICES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in writing, 

with the subject line, “In re PayPal, Inc., No. 2013-0551-02,” and send them either: 

by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) and contemporaneously by 
email, as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 I Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov; or

by first class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, NW
Washington, DC 20552 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov.

XV.
COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and location 

of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. Defendants must provide 

such information in its or its agents’ possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written 

request from the Bureau.
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58. Defendants must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any investigation 

related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. Defendants must provide 

truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. Defendants must cause its 

officers, employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, 

trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written 

notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process. 

XVI.
COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

59. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendants must submit 

additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under 

penalty of perjury, provide sworn testimony, or produce documents.

60. Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Defendants who has agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed 

may have counsel present. 

61. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative demands 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 and other compulsory process. 

XVII.
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

62. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 
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XVIII.
RELEASE 

63. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices alleged in the 

Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau 

knows about them as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding this release, the Bureau may use 

the practices alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement actions against Defendants or 

their affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of violations, or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of violations, or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude 

or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with this Order or to seek 

penalties for any violations of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED this ____ day of ______________, 2015. 

_________________________________
United States District Court 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau,

Plaintiff,

v.

Sprint Corporation,

Defendant.

Civil Action No. 14-cv-09931

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced this civil 

action against Defendant Sprint Corporation (“Sprint”) on December 17, 2014 to obtain 

injunctive relief, damages or other monetary relief, civil penalties, and other relief. The 

Complaint alleges that from 2004 through 2013, Sprint violated Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act by charging its wireless customers for 

unauthorized third-party charges.

The Bureau and Sprint, by and through their respective counsel, have requested 

that the Court enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (“Order”).

FINDINGS

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action.

Case 1:14-cv-09931-WHP   Document 14-2   Filed 05/12/15   Page 2 of 19



2

2. The Bureau and Sprint agree to the entry of this Order, without 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in this dispute 

arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date this Order is entered.

3. Sprint neither admits nor denies any allegations in the Complaint, except 

as specifically stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, Sprint admits to the facts 

necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over Sprint and the subject matter of this 

action. 

4. Sprint and the Bureau waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise 

challenge or contest the validity of this Order. Sprint also waives any claim it may have 

under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of 

this action to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, 

including without limitation attorneys’ fees.

5. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply to this Order:

6. “Account Holder” means any individual or entity who is or was 

responsible for paying all charges associated with all lines on that individual’s or entity’s 

mobile phone account with Sprint.

7. “Block” means a restriction placed on a Consumer’s account that 

prevents one or more lines from being used to purchase Third-Party Products and from 

being charged for Third-Party Charges on a Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill or 

Prepaid Account.
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8. A statement is “Clear and Conspicuous” if it is disclosed in such size, 

color, contrast, location, duration, or audibility that it is readily noticeable, readable, 

understandable, or capable of being heard. A statement may not contradict or be 

inconsistent with any other information with which it is presented. If a statement 

materially modifies, explains, or clarifies other information with which it is presented, 

then the statement must be presented in proximity to the information it modifies, 

explains, or clarifies in a manner that is readily noticeable, readable, and 

understandable, and not obscured in any manner. In addition:

i. An audio disclosure must be delivered in a volume and cadence 

sufficient for a Consumer to hear and comprehend it;

ii. A television or internet disclosure must be of a type size, location, 

and shade and remain on the screen for a duration sufficient for a Consumer to 

read and comprehend it; 

iii. Disclosures in a print advertisement or promotional material, 

including but without limitation, a point-of-sale display or brochure materials 

directed to Consumers, must appear in a type size, contrast, and location 

sufficient for a Consumer to read and comprehend it; and

iv. A text-message disclosure must be of a type size and format so that 

Consumers can notice, read and comprehend the message on their mobile device.

9. “Commercial PSMS” means the use of PSMS to charge for Third-Party 

Products.
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10. “Consumer” means a current or former Sprint Account Holder or other 

authorized subscriber for which Third-Party Charges are or were placed on the 

Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill or Prepaid Account, whether that person is the 

individual responsible for paying the Mobile Telephone Bill or Prepaid Account, or has a 

device that is billed to a shared account, or is otherwise authorized to incur charges on 

the account. “Consumer” does not include any business entity or any state, federal, local, 

or other governmental entity, if (1) the business entity or government, and not the 

employees or individuals working for or with that business entity or government, is 

solely liable to Sprint for payment of all charges placed on that account, and (2) the 

ability to process Third-Party Charges through that account is not available unless the 

business entity or government affirmatively requests that certain or all mobile devices 

be provided the ability to authorize placement of such Third-Party Charges.  

11. “Effective Date” means the date that this Order is entered by this Court.

12. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his delegate.

13. “Express Informed Consent” means an affirmative act or statement 

giving unambiguous assent to be charged for the purchase of a Third-Party Product that 

is made by a Consumer after receiving a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure of material 

facts. 

14. “Mobile Telephone Bill” means a Consumer’s paper or electronic 

monthly statement of charges for Sprint postpaid wireless service.
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15. “Newly Acquired Entities” means any entity or entities Sprint acquires 

in the future.

16. “Participating States” means: Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, 

California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, 

Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, 

Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New 

Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, 

Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, 

Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, 

Wyoming, and the District of Columbia.

17. “Premium Short Messaging Service” or “PSMS” means a service that 

distributes paid content to a Consumer using the Short Message Service and Multimedia 

Messaging Service communication protocols via messages that are routed using a Short 

Code, resulting in a Third-Party Charge.

18. “Prepaid Account” means a Consumer’s account for wireless service 

where funds first must be applied to the account and usage deducts from those funds. 

19. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another government agency 

brought against Sprint based on substantially the same facts as described in the

Complaint. Actions asserted in small claims court or individual arbitrations are not 

considered Related Consumer Actions. For purposes of this Order, the Assurances of 

Discontinuance entered into with the Participating States and the Consent Decree 
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entered into with the Federal Communications Commission are not considered a 

Related Consumer Action.

20. “Redress Period” means the period during which redress is 

administered beginning on the date this settlement is publicly announced and ending on 

May 1, 2016.

21. “Short Code” means a common code leased from the CTIA Common 

Short Code Administration that is comprised of a set of numbers, usually 4 to 6 digits, 

which text messages can be sent to and received from using a mobile telephone.

22. “Sprint” means Sprint Corporation, including all of Sprint’s affiliates, 

subsidiaries, successors, and assigns.

23. “Third Party” means an entity or entities, other than Sprint, that provide 

a Third-Party Product to Consumers for which charges are made through Sprint’s 

Mobile Telephone Bills or deducted from Prepaid Accounts.  

24. “Third-Party Charge” means a charge for the purchase of a Third-Party 

Product placed on a Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill or deducted from a Prepaid 

Account.

25. “Third-Party Product” means content or services provided by a Third 

Party that can be used on a Consumer’s mobile device for which charges are placed on 

the Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill or deducted from a Prepaid Account by Sprint. 

“Third-Party Product” excludes contributions to charities, candidates for public office, 

political action committees, campaign committees, campaigns involving a ballot 

measure, or other similar contributions. “Third-Party Product” also excludes co-
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branded and white label products where content and services are sold jointly and 

cooperatively by Sprint and another entity, where the content or services are placed on 

the Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill as a Sprint charge or deducted from a Prepaid 

Account, and Sprint is responsible for accepting complaints, processing refunds, and 

other communications with the Consumer regarding the charge. “Third-Party Product” 

also excludes handset insurance, extended warranty offerings, and collect calling 

services.

26. “Unauthorized Third-Party Charge” means a Third-Party Charge 

placed on a Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill or deducted from a Prepaid Account 

without the Consumer’s Express Informed Consent.

ORDER

I. Conduct Provision

27. Commercial PSMS: Sprint will not make available to Consumers the 

option to purchase Third-Party Products through Commercial PSMS or bill charges for 

Commercial PSMS.

II. Compliance

28. Authorization of Third-Party Charges: Sprint will begin developing and 

implementing a system, which will be fully implemented by Sprint no later than 

September 15, 2015, to obtain Express Informed Consent before a Consumer is charged

for any Third-Party Charge or before funds are deducted from a Prepaid Account. The 

Consumer’s Express Informed Consent may be provided to Sprint or to another person 

or entity obligated to Sprint to obtain such consent. Sprint or the other person or entity 
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obligated to obtain such consent will retain sufficient information to allow such consent 

to be verified. If Express Informed Consent is not directly collected by Sprint, Sprint will 

implement reasonable policies and practices to confirm that Express Informed Consent 

will  be appropriately collected and documented by the person or entity obligated to do 

so, and will monitor and enforce those policies and practices to confirm that Express 

Informed Consent is appropriately collected and documented, and where Express 

Informed Consent has not been appropriately collected and documented, will require 

remedial action (which may include, for example, suspension, proactive credits, or 

retraining), or cease billing for such charges on Mobile Telephone Bills or Prepaid 

Accounts. While the system described by this Paragraph is being developed and 

implemented, Sprint will take reasonable steps to obtain Express Informed Consent 

before a Consumer is charged for any Third-Party Charge. For purposes of this 

Paragraph, for charges incurred through operating system storefronts, such reasonable 

policies and practices may, for example, consist of Sprint or its agents making a 

statistically valid random sample of purchases to demonstrate whether the storefront is 

collecting Express Informed Consent consistent with this Order. Such Express Informed 

Consent will be kept for 5 years, consistent with ¶ 45.

29. Purchase Confirmation for Third-Party Charges: Beginning no later than 

September 15, 2015, Sprint will implement a system whereby the Consumer (and, for 

multiline accounts, the Account Holder, if designated) will be sent a purchase 

confirmation, separate from the Mobile Telephone Bill or Prepaid Account, of every 

Third-Party Charge, including recurring charges, that will appear on his or her Mobile 
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Telephone Bill or be deducted from his or her Prepaid Account. Any such purchase 

confirmation will be sent within a reasonable time following the purchase of a Third-

Party Product or the recurrence of a Third-Party Charge, and will identify Blocking 

options that Sprint makes available to Consumers or provide access to such information

in a form or format that makes such information Clear and Conspicuous. For multiline 

accounts, Sprint may provide the Account Holder the option to elect not to receive such 

purchase confirmations.

30. Information on Blocking: Beginning no later than June 1, 2015, Sprint

will:

i. At no charge to the Consumer, offer Blocking of Third-Party 

Charges; and

ii. Provide a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure about Third-Party 

Charges and Blocking options in informational material provided at or near the 

time of subscribing to service, and in the case of postpaid service which is 

provided in a context separate from the actual subscriber agreement document, 

and in the case of prepaid service, is included in the disclosures provided at the 

time of purchase. Such disclosure will include a description of Third-Party 

Charges, how Third-Party Charges appear on Mobile Telephone Bills and Prepaid 

Accounts, and options available to Consumers to Block Third-Party Charges. 

Consumers will not incur any data or text charges when Sprint provides the 

disclosure discussed in this Paragraph.

31. Billing Information and Format: No later than the Effective Date:
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i. All Third-Party Charges will be presented in a dedicated section of 

the Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill (or in a dedicated section for each mobile 

line on the account, if the Mobile Telephone Bill sets forth charges by each line) 

and will all be set forth in such a manner as to distinguish the Third-Party 

Charges contained therein from Sprint’s service, usage, and other charges. This 

section of the Consumer’s Mobile Telephone Bill will contain a heading that 

Clearly and Conspicuously identifies that the charges are for Third-Party 

Products; and

ii. The Third-Party Charge billing section required by this Paragraph 

will include a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure of a Consumer’s ability to Block 

Third-Party Charges, including contact or access information that Consumers 

may use to initiate such Blocking. If Sprint includes a Third-Party Charge billing

section for each mobile line on the account, Sprint will have the option to include 

the disclosure of a Consumer’s ability to Block Third-Party Charges in only the 

first Third-Party Charge billing section that appears on the Mobile Telephone 

Bill, rather than in all Third-Party Charge billing sections.

32. Consumer Contacts: When a Consumer contacts Sprint with regard to a 

Third-Party Charge or a Block, Sprint will:

i. Provide the Consumer with access to a customer-service 

representative who will have access to the Consumer’s account information for at 

least the prior 12 months. 
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ii. Offer the Consumer the opportunity to Block future Third-Party 

Charges at no charge to the Consumer if the Consumer is a current customer of 

Sprint;

iii. Provide the Consumer a full refund or credit of all Third-Party 

Charges the Consumer claims that he or she did not authorize. Sprint may deny a 

refund under this Paragraph if:

1. Sprint has information demonstrating that the Consumer 

provided Express Informed Consent to the Third-Party Charge, offers to 

provide such information to the Consumer, and, upon request, provides 

such information to the Consumer;

2. The last disputed Third-Party Charge for the particular 

Third-Party Product at issue (either a single charge or a recurring charge) 

was incurred more than 3 months prior to when the Consumer contacted

Sprint and Sprint is in compliance with ¶ 29 with respect to the charge; or

3. The Consumer has already received a credit or refund for the 

disputed Third-Party Charge, and, upon request, Sprint provides such 

information to the Consumer.

iv. If the Consumer is not satisfied with the relief obtained under the 

process contained in ¶ 32.iii Sprint will:

1. Offer the Consumer the opportunity to receive a full refund if 

the Consumer submits his or her request in writing via U.S. Mail, email, or 

web-based form affirming that he or she did not authorize such charge, 
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and provide such refund unless Sprint can demonstrate fraud,

misrepresentation in connection with the claim, or that the Consumer 

provided Express Informed Consent. Sprint will accept requests for 

refunds as described in ¶ 32.iv via U.S. Mail, email, and web-based form.

2. Paragraph 32.iv. will expire 4 years from the Effective Date.

v. Beginning no later than the Effective Date, not require the 

Consumer to first contact the Third Party in order to receive a refund or credit of 

any claimed Unauthorized Third-Party Charge, although this Paragraph does not 

prohibit asking the Consumer if he or she has contacted the Third Party and if the 

Consumer has already received a credit or refund from the Third Party for some 

or all of the claimed Unauthorized Third-Party Charge; and

vi. In the event a Consumer disputes a Third-Party Charge as 

unauthorized not:

1. Require the Consumer to pay the disputed Third-Party 

Charge, including any related late charge or penalty; 

2. Send the disputed Third-Party Charge to collection;

3. Make any adverse credit report based on nonpayment of the 

disputed Third-Party Charge; or

4. Suspend, cancel, or take any action that may adversely affect 

the Consumer’s mobile telephone service or functionality for any reason 

related to non-payment of the disputed Third-Party Charges.  

Case 1:14-cv-09931-WHP   Document 14-2   Filed 05/12/15   Page 13 of 19



13

vii. The remedies in ¶ 32 are inapplicable to Consumer complaints

involving dissatisfaction with purchases where the Consumer does not dispute 

that Consumer authorized the purchase.

33. Newly Acquired Entities:  In the event that Sprint acquires any new entity, 

Sprint will take immediate steps to cease charging for all Commercial PSMS. With 

respect to Newly Acquired Entities, Sprint will provide the Consumer with access to a 

customer service representative who will have access to the Consumer’s account 

information related to Third-Party Charges for at least the prior 12 months. If such 

information is not available, Sprint will have 12 months to come into compliance with 

¶ 32 with respect to such entities and, while coming into compliance, respond to the 

Consumer’s inquiry within 10 days using available information. As to all other 

requirements contained in this Order, Sprint will have a reasonable period of time, 

which in no event will exceed 6 months, in which to bring the Newly Acquired Entity

into compliance with this Order. During that period, Sprint will take reasonable steps to 

obtain Express Informed Consent before a Consumer is charged for any Third-Party 

Charge.

34. Training: Sprint will, for at least 6 years from the Effective Date, conduct a 

training program with its customer-service representatives, at least annually, to 

administer the requirements of this Order. To the extent that Sprint no longer permits 

Third-Party Charges on Consumers’ Mobile Telephone Bill or the deduction of Third-

Party Charges on Consumers’ Prepaid Accounts, Sprint will conduct one training 
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program within 3 months of such cessation and will have no further obligation to 

conduct training programs under this Paragraph.

III. Redress

35. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Sprint will reserve $50,000,000 

(“Redress Amount”) for the purpose of providing redress to Consumers. The Redress 

Amount must be identified as a liability in Sprint’s budget.

36. Sprint submitted a comprehensive written plan for providing redress 

consistent with this Order (“Redress Plan”) to the Enforcement Director. The 

Enforcement Director has not objected to this plan. Under the terms of the Redress 

Plan, Sprint will provide up to $50,000,000 for the purpose of providing redress to 

Consumers. Sprint will provide notice of Consumers’ right to file claims and receive 

redress, under the supervision of the Bureau, according to the terms set forth in the 

Redress Plan. 

37. Sprint must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan as if they were incorporated into 

this Order. Sprint and the Bureau, in consultation with the Participating States and 

Federal Communications Commission, may revise the terms of the Redress Plan.

38. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Sprint, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.

39. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Sprint must notify the Enforcement Director 
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of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Sprint paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. Sprint’s obligation to report Related Consumer Actions will

expire 5 years from the Effective Date of this Order.

IV. Reporting Requirements

40. Sprint must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect its 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy 

or insolvency proceeding by or against Sprint; or a change in Sprint’s name or address. 

Sprint must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner.

41. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Sprint must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which 

the Bureau may use to communicate with Sprint.

V. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment

42. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Sprint must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of Sprint’s board members and executive officers.

43. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Sprint must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure described in § IV
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and any future board member or executive officer with responsibilities related to Third-

Party Charges before the board member or executive officer assume his or her

responsibilities. 

44. Sprint must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section.

VI. Recordkeeping

45. Sprint must create and maintain for at least 5 years from the Effective Date

all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision 

of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

VII. Notices

46. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Sprint must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in 

writing, with the subject line, “Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Sprint 

Corporation, Case No. 14-cv-09931” and send them to:

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
ATTN:  Office of Enforcement
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov
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VIII. Cooperation with the Bureau

47. Sprint must provide information related to the subject matter of this 

action in its possession or control within 30 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. If Sprint determines such information is in the possession or control of a third-

party, Sprint will promptly request such information from the third-party, and Sprint 

will work in good faith to collect and provide such information to the Bureau on a 

mutually-agreed-upon date.

IX. Compliance Monitoring

48. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Sprint 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information related to 

this Order, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.

49. Related to this Order, Sprint must permit Bureau representatives to 

interview any employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to 

such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present.

50. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

X. Release

51. The Bureau releases and discharges Sprint from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices alleged 

in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 

Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 
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alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement actions against Sprint or its affiliates to 

establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of 

violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or 

affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with this Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of this Order.

XI. Retention of Jurisdiction

52. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this ___ day of _____________, 2015

____________________________________
William H. Pauley III
United States District Court Judge

Case 1:14-cv-09931-WHP   Document 14-2   Filed 05/12/15   Page 19 of 19



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

CELLCO PARTNERSHIP d/b/a VERIZON 
WIRELESS, 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 

Complaint 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") brings this action against 

Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless ("Verizon") and alleges as follows: 

Identification of Parties (Local Rule io .1) 

1. The Bureau's address is 1700 G Street NW, Washington. D.C. 20552. 

Verizon's address is 1 Verizon Way, Basking Ridge, New Jersey 07920. 

Introduction 

2. Until at least January 2014, Verizon included third-party charges on its 

customers' wireless-telephone bills. Many of these third-party charges were never 

authorized by consumers and, as a result, wrongfully cost Verizon's customers millions 

of dollars each year. 

3. Verizon unfairly charged its customers by creating a billing and payment-

processing system that gave third parties virtually unfettered access to its customers' 

accounts. This access allowed third parties to "cram" unauthorized charges onto wireless 

bills. 

1 
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4. Verizon automatically enrolled customers in its third-party billing system 

without their knowledge or consent. Many customers were therefore unaware of the 

unauthorized charges. 

5. Verizon continued to operate its flawed system despite numerous red flags 

such as high refund rates and complaints from customers, law-enforcement agencies, 

and consumer groups. 

6. Verizon profited from this system because it shifted the risk to its 

customers, who had to pay all charges under the company's terms and conditions of 

service ("Terms & Conditions"). While its customers suffered losses, Verizon retained 

3o% or more of the gross revenue it collected for third-party charges, totaling hundreds 

of millions of dollars. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

8. Venue is proper because Verizon transacts business and has corporate 

headquarters in this District. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(0 -

Parties 

9. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and providing of consumer-financial products and services under "Federal 

consumer financial laws," 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a), including the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"). 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). The Bureau's regulatory authority 

extends to persons who offer or provide a consumer-financial product or service. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5).The Bureau has independent litigating authority to commence civil 

2 
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actions by its own attorneys to address violations of "Federal consumer financial laws, 

including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b). 

10. Verizon extends credit to, and processes payments for, consumers in 

connection with third-party goods. Verizon is therefore a "covered person" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(i) & (vii). 

Facts 

I. Landline Third-Party Billing System Transferred to Mobile 
Phones 

11. In the 199os, telephone companies opened their billing platforms to third 

parties. Although third-party billing transformed telephone carriers into large-scale 

credit issuers and payment processors, they instituted few, if any, compliance measures 

to ensure that charges on customer bills were authorized and accurate. 

12. By the late 199os, federal and state authorities realized that nearly all 

third-party landline charges were fraudulent. In 1998, however, the larger telephone 

companies convinced government authorities to allow the industry to self-regulate 

through a set of voluntary guidelines. 

13. Unauthorized billing not only persisted, but grew after self-regulation. In 

2011, the Federal Communications Commission estimated that each year 15-20 million 

households were harmed by landline cramming. A 2011 report by the Senate Commerce 

Committee's staff concluded that about 30o million third-party charges appeared on 

landline bills each year, totaling more than $2 billion annually. 

14. Despite common knowledge that the system invited unauthorized charges, 

Verizon replicated the landline third-party model — outsourcing compliance and billing 

functions to billing aggregators without adequate oversight — in its wireless business. 
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II. Unauthorized Charges for Premium Short Messaging Services 

15. From about 2004 through 2013, nearly all wireless third-party billing 

involved goods called "premium text messages" or "premium short messaging services" 

("PSMS") because they were frequently delivered by text messages. These digital 

products included one-time purchases or monthly subscriptions for ringtones, 

wallpaper, and text messages providing flirting tips, horoscopes, and other digital 

content. The typical PSMS charge for a Verizon customer was a $9.99 subscription, but 

some items cost as much as $14.99. Verizon retained at least 3o% of the charge. 

16. Some merchants advertised coupons or free giveaways unrelated to the 

digital content they purportedly provided. These advertisements were designed to trick 

customers into entering their cellphone numbers. When customers responded to the 

merchant's text for a coupon or free item, they unwittingly "purchased" a monthly 

subscription that continued until they canceled the service. 

17. Many times, merchants simply crammed fabricated charges onto Verizon's 

bills without sending any communications or delivering any products to customers. It 

was relatively easy to cram charges onto bills because cellphone numbers, unlike credit-

card numbers, are widely available. The unauthorized charges often continued 

undetected for many months. 

18. Complaints from Verizon customers, spanning several years, describe how 

they were victimized by these or similar schemes. The complaints also show that Verizon 

often failed to respond adequately to complaints and provide full refunds. 

19. By at least 2008, Verizon was on notice about significant wireless-

cramming concerns and problems with third-party marketing tactics, yet Verizon's 

policies were lax and left wide gaps in consumer protection. 
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III. Verizon Unfairly Charged Its Customers 

20. Verizon unfairly billed its customers for unauthorized PSMS charges by (a) 

enrolling customers in third-party billing without their authorization; (b) giving third 

parties access to its customers and its billing system without implementing adequate 

compliance controls; (c) failing to adequately resolve customer disputes; and (d) 

ignoring warnings from customers, government agencies, and public-interest groups. 

a. Automatic Enrollment 

21. Verizon automatically enrolled customers in third-party billing without 

their consent. This policy helped perpetuate wrongful third-party billing because many 

customers did not spot unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties 

could place charges on their bills. 

b. Inadequate Compliance and Controls 

22. Verizon selected the merchants permitted to use its system and conducted 

some due diligence before onboarding them. It did not, however, directly interact with 

the merchants. Verizon, for example, did not directly require merchants to (i) obtain 

customer authorization for purchases; or (ii) comply with industry guidelines. 

23. Verizon outsourced these compliance and payment-processing functions 

to vendors called billing aggregators without properly overseeing the aggregators. 

Verizon relied on "compliance with laws" provisions in its agreements with the 

aggregators, which provided Verizon with breach-of-contract remedies but did little to 

protect customers. 

24. Verizon touted its aggregators' system, known as the "double opt-in," but 

this purported safeguard was porous and ineffective, as scammers repeatedly skirted it. 
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25. The lack of oversight created blind spots for Verizon that resulted in 

unauthorized charges being placed on its customers wireless bills. For example, one of 

Verizon's two primary billing aggregators knowingly helped merchants cram 

unauthorized charges onto bills from at least January 2011 to November 2013. 

c. Failure to Respond to Customer Complaints 

26. When customers contacted Verizon about unauthorized charges, Verizon 

often did not adequately resolve the disputes. In some instances, Verizon refused to 

provide refunds and only offered instructions on how to block future third-party 

charges. 

27. Other times, Verizon refused to provide refunds and referred customers to 

the merchants. Verizon, at times, gave partial refunds or refunds for a few months, but 

rarely for all months that the customer incurred the unauthorized charges. 

d. Failure to Heed Red Flags 

28. Verizon ignored, or consciously avoided, numerous red flags highlighting 

the flaws in its third-party-billing system. 

2g. Among other things, Verizon failed to employ a basic mechanism that 

could have helped reveal the flaws and risks in its system. Verizon did not track 

customer complaints about unauthorized charges in a manner that would have enabled 

it to identify the third parties placing unauthorized charges on its customers' bills. 

30. Verizon continued to outsource payment processing and compliance to 

billing aggregators even after those aggregators agreed to pay claims under wireless-

cramming settlements. 
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IV. Verizon Transferred the Risk and Harm to Customers 

31. While Verizon outsourced compliance and fraud-prevention to billing 

aggregators, it reaped lucrative profits from third-party billing because it maintained 

control over the collection, processing, and distribution of payments. 

32. Verizon's Terms and Conditions did not differentiate between first-party 

and third-party charges. Non-payment subjected customers to potential late fees, 

service termination, collections, and reporting to credit bureaus. Customers had to pay 

unauthorized third-party charges unless Verizon elected to provide refunds, which it 

often did not. 

Violation of the CFPA 

33. 

Complaint. 

34. 

The Bureau incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1-32 of this 

As described above, Verizon's actions and omissions caused or were likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers that they could not reasonably avoid and were 

not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

35. Verizon's actions and omissions were therefore unfair acts and practices 

that violated § 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Demand for Relief 

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of the 

CFPA; 

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendant; 

c. order Defendant to pay restitution to consumers harmed by its unlawful 

conduct; 
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d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenue against Defendant; 

e. impose civil money penalties against Defendant; 

f. order Defendant to pay the Bureau's costs incurred in connection with 

prosecuting this action; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: May 12, 2015 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Anthony Alexis 
Enforcement Director 

Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Natalie R. Williams 
Assist 'on D 

Genessa tout 
Enforce ent Attorney 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: 202-435-7920 
Facsimile: 202-435-7329 
e-mail: genessa.stoutftcfpb.gov 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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LOCAL CIVIL RULE 11.2 CERTIFICATION 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 11.2, I certify that the matter in controversy alleged 

in the foregoing Complaint is not the subject of any other action pending in any court, or 

of any pending arbitration or administrative proceeding. 

Geness out 
Enforcement Attorney 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: 202-435-7920 
Facsimile: 202-435- 7329 

e-mail: genessa.stoutpcfpb.gov 
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LOCAL CIVIL RULE 101.1 DESIGNATION OF AGENT FOR SERVICE 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 101.1(f), because the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau (the "Bureau") does not have an office in this district, the United States Attorney 

for the District of New Jersey is hereby designated as eligible as an alternative to the 

Bureau to receive service of all notices or papers in the above-captioned action. 

Therefore, service upon the United States Attorney's Office for the District of New 

Jersey, 402 East State Street, Room 430, Trenton, New Jersey o86o8, will constitute 

service upon the Bureau for purposes of this action. 

Gene' tout 
Enfo ment Attorney 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: 202-435-7920 

Facsimile: 202-435-7329 
e-mail: genessa.stout(thcfpb.gov 
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Prepared Remarks of CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray on the Sprint and 
Verizon Enforcement Action
BY RICHARD CORDRAY

Thank you for joining us today. It is notable that we are amongst the nation’s attorneys 
general to announce an action that has required quite a bit of federal and state 
coordination. Together, and alongside the FCC, we are taking action against Sprint and 
Verizon for illegally cramming consumers’ bills with unauthorized third-party charges. 
In doing so, we have secured $120 million in redress for harmed consumers and $38 
million in fines. The companies’ flawed billing systems allowed unscrupulous 
merchants to add unauthorized charges to wireless bills, and consumers ended up 
paying over a hundred million dollars in such charges. Many of these consumers had no 
idea that third parties could even place charges on their bills.

We use our phones to do so much that they have become integral to our daily lives. We 
communicate with loved ones, carry out our work, find information, listen to music, 
and make a growing number of purchases. According to the Pew Research Center, more 
than 90 percent of Americans now own a mobile phone. When we use our wireless 
accounts to make purchases, carriers such as Verizon and Sprint act as payment 
processors. They place the charges for those purchases on our wireless bills instead of 
on a credit card or other form of payment.

In today’s case, both companies were enrolling customers in third-party billing systems 
without their consent. That allowed scammers to cram illegitimate charges onto 
people’s wireless bills. For almost a decade, until the end of 2013, nearly all wireless 
third-party billing involved premium text messages. These premium messages 
delivered things like ringtones, wallpaper, and horoscope text messages.

Sprint and Verizon outsourced the billing for these messages to vendors known as 
billing aggregators. But Sprint and Verizon did not keep a watchful eye on these 
vendors or the charges they were placing on wireless accounts. As a result, consumers 
were subjected to millions of unauthorized charges, including one-time fees ranging 
from $0.99 to $14.99 as well as monthly subscriptions that cost about $9.99 per month.

Most consumers who faced these unauthorized charges were targeted online. 
Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to websites asking them to enter their 
cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked consumers into providing their cellphone 
numbers to receive “free” digital content and then charged for it. Other merchants 
simply placed fabricated charges on people’s bills without delivering any goods or even 
communicating with them.

Despite complaints from consumers and other red flags, the companies continued to 
outsource third-party billing to the aggregators and allowed the unauthorized charges 
to pile up on people’s monthly cellphone bills. When consumers paid these illegal 
charges, Sprint and Verizon were able to take a 30 to 40 percent cut of the gross 

SIGN UP

Search

Page 1 of 3Prepared Remarks of CFPB Director Richard Cordray on the Sprint and Verizon Enforce...

5/14/2015http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/prepared-remarks-of-cfpb-director-richard-co...



Twitter Facebook Flickr Youtube

Sam Gilford
Spokesperson
(202) 435-7673
Samuel.Gilford@cfpb.gov

Stay connected

Archive

▼ 2015

MAY 2015 (11)

APRIL 2015 (19)

MARCH 2015 (13)

FEBRUARY 2015 (14)

JANUARY 2015 (12)

► 2014

► 2013

► 2012

► 2011

► 2010

revenue. This was wrong. Part of our mission here at the Consumer Bureau is to make 
sure that consumers are treated fairly in the financial marketplace. Sprint and Verizon 
mistreated consumers egregiously by creating billing systems that invited illegal third-
party charges, did little or nothing to root them out, and processed them in a highly 
irresponsible manner.

The companies took advantage of their customers and treated them unfairly in a 
number of ways. First, the companies allowed third parties to access their billing 
systems and failed to monitor those third parties. Such billing practices made it easy for 
scammers to attach the charges. On top of that, since the companies made a profit on 
every such charge, there was little incentive for the companies to put a stop to them.

Second, Sprint and Verizon automatically enrolled customers in their third-party billing 
systems without the customers’ consent and did not require customers to opt-in to the 
service. Although Verizon and Sprint allowed consumers to block third-party charges, 
consumers had to make a specific request that they do so. Since many consumers were 
unaware that third parties could even place charges on their bills, they did not know to 
ask for such protection, making the blocking option of little use to consumers.

Third, both companies disregarded red flags showing that their third-party billing 
systems were breeding grounds for unauthorized charges. They continued to outsource 
this process to aggregators even after those very same companies were sued for 
cramming.

Fourth, Sprint and Verizon ignored or mishandled complaints about the unauthorized 
charges. They did not track customer complaints about the charges and thus lacked 
even the most basic fraud-alert mechanism.

Because consumers are increasingly using their phones for all sorts of financial 
activities, they need to be able to trust that their wireless carriers and other payment 
processors are keeping their accounts safe. Although wireless carriers generally ended 
premium message transactions at the end of 2013, third-party billing on mobile 
accounts continues through different platforms, like mobile wallets and direct carrier 
billing. Companies must have strong safeguards in place and they must take vigorous 
and proactive steps to protect consumers against fraud and abuse.

Customers should not be subjected to unauthorized charges and companies need to be 
held accountable. For these reasons, we have reached proposed consent orders 
requiring Verizon to pay $70 million in redress and Sprint to pay $50 million in 
redress. The companies would also have to make changes to their business practices to 
prevent these kinds of consumer harm in the future. The companies will also have to 
pay $38 million in federal and state fines. 

The proposed orders would require Verizon and Sprint to present third-party charges in 
a separate section of the consumer’s bill that is clearly labeled. Consumers should be 
able to identify clearly which charges are from the carrier and which charges are from 
third parties. Verizon and Sprint would also have to ensure that consumers disputing 
third-party charges are directed to a customer service representative with access to at 
least twelve months of consumer billing statements. The representative must also offer 
consumers the option to block future third-party charges, and must provide consumers 
with a refund of any unauthorized charges unless the company can demonstrate the 
consumer is not eligible for a refund.

Finally, the companies would have to improve their customer-service training programs 
and get consent from consumers prior to third-party billing. These changes are 
important to protect consumers in the future and to hold the companies accountable. 
Other companies should take careful note and should review their payment processing 
practices accordingly.
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Our team and I would like to give a special thanks to our colleagues from the state 
attorney general offices as well as the Federal Communications Commission – a new 
and excellent partner for us at the Consumer Bureau – for their great help and for the 
deep commitment they have shown to protect consumers against cramming practices 
on their wireless phone bills. We have appreciated how well our teams have worked 
together to achieve these important results.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action to Obtain $120 
Million in Redress from Sprint and 
Verizon for Illegal Mobile Cramming
Companies Will Also Pay $38 Million in Fines for Unauthorized Charges 
on Customers’ Mobile Bills

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed 
proposed orders in federal courts against Sprint and Verizon which, if approved, would 
provide $120 million in redress to wireless customers who were illegally billed 
hundreds of millions of dollars in unauthorized third-party charges. The CFPB alleges 
that the companies operated billing systems that allowed third parties to “cram” 
unauthorized charges on customers’ mobile-phone accounts and ignored complaints 
about the charges. Today’s actions are being taken in coordination with the state 
attorneys general and the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Under the 
proposed terms, the CFPB will oversee $120 million in consumer refunds. The 
companies will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. 

“Sprint and Verizon had flawed billing systems that allowed merchants to add 
unauthorized charges to wireless customer bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Consumers bore the brunt of those charges and ended up paying millions of dollars 
while the companies reaped profits. Today’s actions will put $120 million back into the 
pockets of harmed consumers and require these companies to improve their billing 
practices going forward.”

Consumers use mobile phones to purchase an array of digital products, such as apps, 
games, books, movies, and music. These purchases appeared as charges on consumers’ 
phone bills. Wireless carriers collect and process payments for these purchases and 
control the networks connecting merchants and customers. From about 2004 through 
2013, nearly all wireless carriers’ third-party billing involved products called “premium 
text messages” or “premium short messaging services” because they were frequently 
delivered by text messages. Sprint and Verizon outsourced payment processing for 
these digital purchases to vendors, but failed to properly monitor them. 

The lack of oversight by Sprint and Verizon allowed the vendors to have nearly 
unfettered access to consumers’ wireless accounts. The billing systems for premium 
messages attracted and enabled unscrupulous merchants who, in some cases, only 
needed consumers’ phone numbers to cram illegitimate charges onto wireless bills. The 
charges ranged from one-time fees of about $0.99 – $4.99 to monthly subscriptions 
that cost $9.99 a month. The companies received a 30-40 percent cut of the gross 
revenue from these charges.

Most consumers were targeted online. Consumers clicked on ads that brought them to 
websites asking them to enter their cellphone numbers. Some merchants tricked 
consumers into providing their cellphone numbers to receive “free” digital content and 
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then charged for it. Many others simply placed fabricated charges on bills without 
delivering any goods or communicating with consumers.

In December 2014, the CFPB filed suit in the Southern District of New York against 
Sprint and today is filing a proposed consent order. Today, the CFPB also filed a 
complaint and a proposed consent order in the District of New Jersey to address 
Verizon’s unlawful conduct. The Bureau charges Sprint and Verizon, as payment 
processors for third parties, with violating the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair practices by:

• Allowing third parties to illegally charge consumers: The companies’ 
billing systems made it easy for third-party scammers to attach charges to 
consumers’ bills. The companies profited from these illegitimate charges which 
victimized millions of consumers.

• Automatically billing consumers for illegitimate charges without their 
consent: Neither Sprint nor Verizon required customers to opt in to third-party 
billing. Instead, they automatically enrolled customers without their consent. This 
policy helped perpetuate the wrongdoing because many customers did not spot 
unauthorized charges, as they were unaware that third parties could place charges 
on their bills. Although Verizon and Sprint allowed consumers to block third-
party charges, consumers had to specifically request that they do so. Since many 
consumers were unaware that third parties could even place charges on their bills, 
they did not know to ask for such protection, making the blocking option of little 
use.

• Ignoring consumer complaints about unauthorized charges: Both 
companies failed to track customer complaints about unauthorized charges, and 
as a result, lacked the most basic alert mechanism that could have revealed flaws 
in their monitoring systems. The companies also failed to provide full and prompt 
remediation to consumers subjected to these charges.

• Disregarding red flags about third party vendors: Both companies 
disregarded red flags showing that the billing systems for premium messages were
a breeding ground for unauthorized charges. Sprint and Verizon continued to 
outsource merchant oversight and billing to certain vendors despite lawsuits 
citing evidence that those same vendors enabled the cramming of unauthorized 
charges onto consumers’ bills.

As a result, Sprint’s and Verizon’s wireless customers – many of whom did not know 
that third parties could place charges on their bills – incurred millions of dollars in 
illegitimate charges while the companies profited handsomely.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The parties’ proposed consent 
orders, if approved by the courts, would require Sprint and Verizon to: 

• Pay $120 million in redress: The proposed consent orders would require 
Verizon to pay $70 million and Sprint to pay $50 million in consumer refunds. 
The CFPB will oversee the redress programs. Verizon customers can submit 
claims for refunds at www.CFPBSettlementVerizon.com or can learn more 
information about the Verizon settlement by calling 888-726-7063. Sprint 
customers can submit claims for refunds at www.SprintRefundPSMS.com or can 
learn more information about the Sprint settlement by calling 877-389-8787.

• Clearly and conspicuously disclose third-party charges on wireless 
bills: The proposed orders would also require Verizon and Sprint to present 
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third-party charges in a separate and clearly labeled section of the consumer’s bill 
so that consumers can clearly identify which charges are from the carrier and 
which charges are from third parties. 

• Obtain informed consent from consumers prior to third-party billing:
Verizon and Sprint would be required under the orders to obtain informed 
consent before a consumer is charged by a third party and provide purchase 
confirmation for third-party charges such as an email or text message to the 
consumer. Verizon and Sprint would also be required to block third-party charges 
for consumers and tell consumers about the option to block said charges.

• Improve dispute resolution procedures: In addition, the proposed orders 
would require Verizon and Sprint to ensure that consumers disputing third-party 
charges are directed to a customer service representative who has access to at 
least 12 months of the consumers’ billing statements. The representative must 
offer consumers the option to block future third-party charges, and provide 
consumers with a refund of unauthorized charges unless the companies can 
demonstrate the consumers expressly consented to the charges, already received 
refunds for the charges, or are otherwise ineligible for a refund.

• Enhance customer-service training programs: The companies would be 
obligated under the orders to train customer service representatives about third-
party billing procedures for at least six years unless the companies discontinue 
third-party billing.

Sprint and Verizon will also pay $38 million in federal and state fines. The CFPB 
worked in close coordination with the state attorneys general and the FCC in 
investigating the companies’ third-party billing practices. The FCC and state attorneys 
general from all fifty states and the District of Columbia have worked to combat 
wireless cramming. Their collaboration was invaluable in achieving the substantial 
consumer relief and improved billing practices from Verizon and Sprint.

A copy of the Verizon complaint is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-complaint.pdf

A copy of the Verizon proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-verizon-proposed-order.pdf

A copy of the Sprint proposed consent order is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb-cfpb-v-sprint-corporation-proposed-
order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU,

Plaintiff,

v.

CELLCO PARTNERSHIP d/b/a VERIZON 
WIRELESS,

Defendants.

Civil Action No.

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced this civil 

action against Defendant Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless (“Verizon”) on May 

12, 2015 to obtain injunctive relief, damages or other monetary relief, civil penalties, and 

other relief. The Complaint alleges that from 2004 through 2013, Verizon violated 

Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act by charging its wireless 

customers for unauthorized third-party charges.

The Bureau and Verizon, by and through their respective counsel, have requested 

that the Court enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (“Order”).

FINDINGS

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action.
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2. The Bureau and Verizon agree to the entry of this Order, without 

adjudication of any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in this dispute 

arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date this Order is entered.

3. Verizon neither admits nor denies any allegations in the Complaint, except 

as specifically stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, Verizon admits to the 

facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over Verizon and the subject matter 

of this action.

4. Verizon waives all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or 

contest the validity of this Order. Verizon also waives any claim it may have under the 

Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action 

to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including 

without limitation, attorneys’ fees.

5. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply to this Order:

6. “Account Holder” means any individual or entity who is or was 

responsible for paying all charges associated with all lines on that individual’s or entity’s 

mobile phone account with Verizon.

7. “Bill” means a Consumer’s mobile telephone bill or prepaid mobile 

account, as applicable.

8. “Block” means a restriction placed on a Consumer’s account that prevents 

one or more lines from being used to purchase Third-Party Products and from being 

billed for Third-Party Charges on a Consumer’s Bill or Prepaid Account.
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9. A statement is “Clear and Conspicuous” if it is disclosed in such size, 

color, contrast, location, duration, and audibility that it is readily noticeable, readable, 

understandable, and capable of being heard. A statement may not contradict or be 

inconsistent with any other information with which it is presented. If a statement 

materially modifies, explains, or clarifies other information with which it is presented, 

then the statement must be presented in proximity to the information it modifies, 

explains, or clarifies in a manner that is readily noticeable, readable, and 

understandable, and not obscured in any manner. In addition:

i. An audio disclosure must be delivered in a volume and cadence 

sufficient for a Consumer to hear and comprehend it;

ii. A television or internet disclosure must be of a type size, location, 

and shade and remain on the screen for a duration sufficient for a Consumer to 

read and comprehend it based on the medium being used; 

iii. Disclosures in a print advertisement or promotional material, 

including but without limitation a point-of-sale display or brochure materials 

directed to Consumers, must appear in a type size, contrast, and location 

sufficient for a Consumer to read and comprehend it; and

iv. A text-message disclosure must be of a format, to the extent 

controlled by the sender, so that Consumers can notice and read it on their 

mobile devices, and hyperlinks included as part of the text message should be 

clearly labeled or described.

10. “Commercial PSMS” means the use of PSMS to bill for Third-Party 

Products.

Case 3:15-cv-03268-PGS-LHG   Document 1-2   Filed 05/12/15   Page 4 of 18 PageID: 16



4

11. “Consumer” means a current or former Verizon customer, subscriber, or 

purchaser of Third-Party Products for which Third-Party Charges are or were placed on 

the Consumer’s Bill or Prepaid Account, whether that person is the individual 

responsible for paying the Bill or Prepaid Account, or has a device that is billed to a 

shared account. “Consumer” does not include any business entity or any state, federal, 

local, or other governmental entity, if (1) the business entity or government, and not the 

employees or individuals working for or with that business entity or government, is 

solely liable to Verizon for payment of all charges placed on that account, and (2) the 

ability to process Third-Party Charges through that account is not available unless the 

business entity or government affirmatively requests that certain or all mobile devices 

be provided the ability to authorize placement of such Third-Party Charges. 

12. “Consumer Redress Period” or “Redress Period” means the period 

beginning on May 12, 2015and ending March 31, 2016.

13. “Effective Date” means the date that this Order is entered by this Court.

14. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his delegate.

15. “Express Informed Consent” means an affirmative act or statement

giving unambiguous assent to be charged for the purchase of a Third-Party Product that 

is made by a Consumer after being provided a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure of 

material facts. 

16. “Newly Acquired Entities” means any entities Verizon acquires in the 

future.

17. “Participating States” means Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, 

California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, 
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Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, 

Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New 

Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, 

Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, 

Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, 

Wyoming, and the District of Columbia.

18. “Premium Short Messaging Service” or “PSMS” means a service that 

distributes paid content to a Consumer using the Short Message Service and Multimedia 

Messaging Service communication protocols via messages that are routed using a Short 

Code, resulting in a Third-Party Charge.

19. “Prepaid Account” means a Consumer’s account for wireless service 

where funds first must be applied to the account, and usage charges deducted from 

those funds.

20. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action filed in court or 

before an arbitral body by or on behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement 

action by another government agency brought against Verizon based on substantially 

the same facts as described in the Complaint. For purposes of this Order, the Assurances 

of Discontinuance entered into by Verizon and the Participating States and the Federal 

Communications Commission (“FCC”) Order are not Related Consumer Actions.

21. “Short Code” means a common code leased from the CTIA Common 

Short Code Administration that is comprised of a set of numbers, usually 4 to 6 digits, 

which text messages can be sent to and received from using a mobile telephone.

22. “Third Party” means an entity or entities, other than Verizon, that 

provide a Third-Party Product to Consumers for which charges are placed on Bills. 
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23. “Third-Party Charge” means a charge for the purchase of a Third-Party 

Product placed on a Consumer’s Bill.

24. “Third-Party Product” means content or services offered or sold by a 

Third Party that can be used on a mobile device, for which charges are placed on the 

Consumer’s Bill or deducted from a Prepaid Account by Verizon. “Third-Party Product” 

excludes contributions to charities, candidates for public office, political action 

committees, campaign committees, campaigns involving a ballot measure, or other 

similar contributions. “Third-Party Product” also excludes white label products and co-

branded or co-marketed products where goods and services are offered or sold jointly 

and cooperatively by Verizon and a Third Party, where the charge for such goods or 

services is placed on the Consumer’s Bill; and where Verizon is responsible for accepting 

complaints, processing refunds, and other communications with the Consumer 

regarding the charge. “Third-Party Product” also excludes equipment protection 

services, including mobile device insurance and extended warranty offerings.

25. “Unauthorized Third-Party Charge” means a Third-Party Charge 

placed on a Consumer’s Bill or deducted from a Prepaid Account without the 

Consumer’s Express Informed Consent.

26. “Verizon” means Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless, including all 

successors and assigns.
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ORDER

I. Conduct Provision

27. Commercial PSMS: Verizon will not make available to Consumers the 

option to purchase Third-Party Products through Commercial PSMS or bill charges for 

Commercial PSMS.

II. Compliance

28. Authorization of Third-Party Charges: Verizon will obtain Express 

Informed Consent before a Consumer is charged for any Third-Party Charge or before 

funds are deducted from a Prepaid Account. The Consumer’s Express Informed Consent 

may be provided to Verizon or to another person or entity obligated to Verizon to obtain 

such consent. Verizon or the other person or entity obligated to obtain such consent will 

retain sufficient information to allow such consent to be verified. If Express Informed 

Consent is not directly collected by Verizon, Verizon will implement reasonable policies 

and practices to confirm that Express Informed Consent will be appropriately collected 

and documented by the person or entity obligated to do so, and will monitor and enforce 

those policies and practices to confirm that Express Informed Consent is appropriately 

collected and documented, and where Express Informed Consent has not been 

appropriately collected and documented, will require remedial action (which may 

include, for example, suspension, proactive credits, or retraining), or cease billing for 

such charges. For purposes of §II, for charges incurred through operating system 

storefronts, such reasonable policies and practices may, for example, consist of Verizon 

or its agents making a statistically valid random sample of purchases to demonstrate 

whether the storefront is collecting Express Informed Consent consistent with this 

Order. Such policies and practices will be fully implemented by Verizon no later than 
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July 1, 2015. While the system described by this Paragraph is being developed and 

implemented, Verizon will take reasonable steps to obtain Express Informed Consent 

before a Consumer is billed for any Third-Party Charge. 

29. Purchase Confirmation for Third-Party Charges: Beginning no later than 

July 1, 2015, Verizon will implement a system whereby the Consumer (and, for multiline 

accounts, the Account Holder, if designated) will be sent a purchase confirmation, 

separate from the Bill of every Third-Party Charge, including recurring charges, that will 

appear on his or her Bill. Such purchase confirmation will be sent within a reasonable 

time following the purchase of a Third-Party Product or the recurrence of a Third-Party 

Charge, and will identify Blocking options that Verizon makes available to Consumers or 

provides access to such information or both. For multiline accounts, Verizon may 

provide the Account Holder the option to elect not to receive such purchase 

confirmations for purchases made on other lines. 

30. Information on Blocking: Beginning no later than July 1, 2015, Verizon

will:

i. At no charge to the Consumer, offer Blocking of Third-Party 

Charges; and

ii. Provide a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure about Third-Party 

Charges and Blocking options in informational material provided to Consumers 

at or near the time of subscribing to or activating service, and in the case of 

postpaid service which is provided in a context separate from the actual 

subscriber agreement document and in the case of prepaid service, is included in 

the disclosures provided at the time of purchase. Such disclosure will include or 

provide access to a description of Third-Party Charges, how Third-Party Charges 
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appear on Bills and Prepaid Accounts, and options available to Consumers to 

Block Third-Party Charges. Consumers will not incur any data or text charges for 

receiving or accessing the information discussed in this Paragraph.

31. Billing Information and Format: No later than September 1, 2015:

i. Except for Prepaid Accounts, all Third-Party Charges will be 

presented in a dedicated section of the Consumer’s Bill (or in a dedicated section 

for each mobile line on the account, if the Bill sets forth charges by each line) and 

will all be set forth in such a manner as to distinguish the Third-Party Charges 

contained therein from Verizon’s service, usage, and other charges. This section 

of the Consumer’s Bill will contain a heading that Clearly and Conspicuously 

identifies that the charges are for Third-Party Products; and

ii. The Third-Party Charge billing section required by this ¶ 31 will 

include a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure of a Consumer’s ability to Block 

Third-Party Charges, including contact or access information that Consumers 

may use to initiate such Blocking. If Verizon includes a Third-Party Charge billing 

section for each mobile line on the account, Verizon will have the option to 

include the disclosure of a Consumer’s ability to Block Third-Party Charges in 

only the first Third-Party Charge billing section that appears on the Bill, rather 

than in all Third-Party Charge billing sections.

32. Consumer Contacts: When a Consumer contacts Verizon with regard to a 

Third-Party Charge incurred after the Effective Date, or a Block, Verizon will:

i. Provide the Consumer with access to a customer service 

representative who has access to the Consumer’s account information for at least 

the prior 12 months;
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ii. beginning no later than September 15, 2015, for any Consumer who 

claims he or she did not authorize a Third-Party Charge incurred after the 

Effective Date: 

1. For disputed Third-Party Charges (either a single charge or a 

recurring charge) initially incurred within the prior 12 months, either (1) provide 

the Consumer a full refund or credit of any and all disputed Third-Party Charges 

not previously credited or refunded to the Consumer, or (2) deny a refund if 

Verizon has information demonstrating that the Consumer provided Express 

Informed Consent to the Third-Party Charge, offers to provide such information 

to the Consumer, and, upon request, provides such information to the Consumer. 

2. For disputed Third-Party Charges (either a single charge or a 

recurring charge) initially incurred more than 12 months prior to when the 

Consumer contacted Verizon, within 10 business days from receipt of the claim, 

either  (1) provide the Consumer a full refund or credit of any and all disputed 

Third-Party Charges not previously credited or refunded to the Consumer, or (2) 

deny a refund if Verizon has information demonstrating that the Consumer 

provided Express Informed Consent to the Third-Party Charge, offers to provide 

such information to the Consumer, and, upon request, provides such information 

to the Consumer. This subparagraph 32(ii)(2) will expire 4 years from the 

Effective Date.

iii. if the Consumer claims that he or she did not authorize a Third-

Party Charge, and the Consumer is a current customer of Verizon, offer the 

Consumer the opportunity to Block future Third-Party Charges;
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iv. not require the Consumer to first contact the Third Party in order to 

receive a refund or a credit of any claimed Unauthorized Third-Party Charge, 

although this subparagraph does not prohibit asking the Consumer if he or she 

has contacted the Third Party or if the Consumer has already received a credit or 

refund from the Third Party for some or all of the claimed Unauthorized Third-

Party Charge.

33. Training: Verizon will, for at least 6 years from the Effective Date, conduct 

a training program with its customer service representatives, at least annually, to 

administer the requirements of this Order. To the extent that Verizon no longer permits 

Third-Party Charges on Consumers’ Bill or the deduction of Third-Party Charges on 

Consumers’ Prepaid Accounts, Verizon will conduct one training program within 3 

months of such cessation and will have no further obligation to conduct training 

programs under this Paragraph.

III. Redress

34. Verizon or Verizon’s agent will administer redress to Consumers subject to 

Bureau oversight.

35. Verizon submitted to the Enforcement Director for review and 

nonobjection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress consistent with this 

Order (“Consumer Redress Plan”). The Enforcement Director has made a determination 

of nonobjection to the Consumer Redress Plan. Verizon must implement and adhere to 

the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Consumer 

Redress Plan.

36. Verizon will provide refunds under the Consumer Redress Plan of at least

$35,000,000, not to exceed $70,000,000 (the “Redress Amount”), to all Consumers 
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entitled to a refund. Once Verizon pays at least $35,000,000 in refunds to Consumers, 

Verizon may claim a $16,000,000 credit for refunds previously paid to Consumers by 

Verizon. If the Redress Amount still has not been exhausted after the $16,000,000 

credit for refunds is applied, Verizon may claim an additional $5,000,000 credit for 

costs associated with administering redress to Consumers.

37. At the end of the Consumer Redress Period, after completing the 

Consumer Redress Plan, and after claiming the credits described in ¶ 36, if the Redress 

Amount has not been exhausted, Verizon will pay to the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent, 

by wire transfer, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the remaining 

Redress Amount.

38. If the Bureau determines, in consultation with the Participating States and 

the FCC, that additional redress to Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or 

otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau, in its sole discretion may apply any remaining funds for such other equitable 

relief, including consumer information remedies, as determined by the Bureau to be 

reasonably related to the violations  described in the Complaint. Any funds not used for 

such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Verizon will 

have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this Paragraph.

39. Verizon may not condition the payment of redress to any Consumer under 

this Order on that Consumer waiving any right.

IV. Additional Monetary Provisions

40. In the event of any default on Verizon’s obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 
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any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

will immediately become due and payable.

41. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Verizon, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.

42. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Verizon must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Verizon paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid.

V. Reporting Requirements

43. Verizon must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect its 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary or parent that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order, the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Verizon; or a change in Verizon’s name or address. 

Verizon must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner.

44. Verizon designates the following points of contact, which the Bureau may 

use to communicate with Verizon regarding this Order: 
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Michelle L. Rogers
BuckleySandler LLP
1250 24th Street NW
Suite 700
Washington, DC 20037
mrogers@buckleysandler.com

Robert L. Ernst
Verizon Wireless
One Verizon Way
VC54N068 
Basking Ridge, NJ 07920
Robert.l.ernst@verizon.com

45. The Bureau, in consultation with the FCC and the Participating States,

may engage a third-party independent auditor (“Auditor”), which will not be a 

governmental entity, to review and report on administration of the Consumer Redress 

Plan. Verizon will provide all records and information requested by the Auditor, and will 

require any third-parties it engages to administer the program to also do so. Upon the 

Auditor’s request, Verizon may share any Consumer information relating to a Third-

Party Charge with the Auditor. The cost of the Auditor’s review will be paid from the 

Redress Amount.

VI. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment

46. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Verizon must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of Verizon’s board members and executive officers.

47. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Verizon must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure described in § V, any 

future board members and executive officers before they assume their responsibilities.

48. Verizon must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 
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requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section.

VII. Recordkeeping

49. Verizon must create and maintain for 5 years from the Effective Date all 

documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of

this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

VIII. Notices

50. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Verizon must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in 

writing, with the subject line, Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless, Case no. 15-

cv-3268 and send them to:

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
ATTN:  Office of Enforcement
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov

I. Cooperation with the Bureau

51. Verizon must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity 

and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Consumer. Verizon must 

provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or control within 14 business 

days of receiving a written request from the Bureau.

II. Compliance Monitoring

52. Within 14 business days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Verizon must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 
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which must be made under penalty of perjury; provided sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.

53. Verizon must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview regarding 

the subject matter of this action. The person interviewed may have counsel present.

54. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

III. Release

55. The Bureau releases and discharges Verizon from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices alleged 

in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 

Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 

alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement actions against Verizon or its affiliates to 

establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of 

violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or 

affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with this Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of this Order.

IV. Modifications to Non-Material Requirements

56. Verizon may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director.

V. Retention of Jurisdiction

57. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order.
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IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this ___ day of _____________, 2015

____________________________________
United States District Court Judge
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CFPB Takes Action Against PayPal for 
Illegally Signing Up Consumers for 
Unwanted Online Credit
PayPal to Refund $15 Million to Consumers and Pay $10 Million Fine 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
filed a complaint and proposed consent order in federal court against PayPal, Inc. for 
illegally signing up consumers for its online credit product, PayPal Credit, formerly 
known as Bill Me Later. The CFPB alleges that PayPal deceptively advertised 
promotional benefits that it failed to honor, signed consumers up for credit without 
their permission, made them use PayPal Credit instead of their preferred payment 
method, and then mishandled billing disputes. Under the proposed order, PayPal would
pay $15 million in consumer redress and a $10 million penalty, and it would be 
required to improve its disclosures and procedures. 

“PayPal illegally signed up consumers for its online credit product without their 
permission and failed to address disputes when they complained,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Online shopping has become a way of life for many Americans and 
it’s important that they are treated fairly. The CFPB’s action should send a signal that 
consumers are protected whether they are opening their wallets or clicking online to 
make a purchase.”

PayPal Inc., a California-based company, offers a line of credit known as PayPal Credit 
that consumers can use to pay for online and other purchases. PayPal Credit operates 
like other forms of credit; consumers make purchases using it as a form of payment and 
then repay the debt over time. As with credit cards and other forms of credit, 
consumers using PayPal Credit may incur interest, late fees, and other charges. 
Consumers often enroll in PayPal Credit while purchasing a good or service online or 
while creating a PayPal account.

Since 2008, PayPal has offered PayPal Credit to consumers across the country making 
purchases from thousands of online merchants, including eBay. The CFPB alleges that 
many consumers who were attempting to enroll in a regular PayPal account, or make an 
online purchase, were signed up for a credit product without realizing it. The company 
also failed to post payments properly, lost payment checks, and mishandled billing 
disputes that consumers had with merchants or the company. Tens of thousands of 
consumers experienced these issues. Specifically, the CFPB alleges that the company:

• Deceptively advertised promotional benefits: The CFPB alleges that 
PayPal failed to honor advertised promotions, such as a $5 or $10 promised credit 
toward consumer purchases. 

• Abusively charged consumers deferred interest: The CFPB alleges that 
PayPal offered consumers limited-time, deferred-interest promotions, and that 
PayPal purported to let consumers pick how payments would be applied to these 
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promotional balances. But consumers who attempted to contact the company to 
get more information or request to apply their payments to promotional balances 
often could not get through to the company’s customer service line or were given 
inaccurate information. Many such consumers were hit with deferred-interest fees 
that, due to the company’s conduct, they could not avoid.

• Enrolled consumers in PayPal Credit without their knowledge or 
consent: The CFPB alleges that the company often automatically enrolled 
consumers in PayPal Credit when those consumers were signing up for a regular 
PayPal account or making purchases. The company enrolled other consumers 
while they tried canceling or closing out of the application process. Many 
consumers ended up enrolled in PayPal Credit without knowing how or why they 
were enrolled. They discovered their accounts only after finding a credit-report 
inquiry or receiving welcome emails, billing statements, or debt-collection calls 
for amounts past due, including late fees and interest.

• Made consumers use PayPal Credit for purchases instead of their 
preferred payment method: The CFPB alleges that the company 
automatically set or preselected the default payment method for all purchases 
made through PayPal to PayPal Credit. This meant consumers used PayPal Credit 
even when they intended to use another method of payment such as a linked 
credit card or checking account. Other consumers were not able to select another 
payment method, finding that their purchases were charged to a PayPal Credit 
account even when they affirmatively selected another payment. Many of these 
consumers incurred late fees and interest because they did not know they had 
made purchases through PayPal Credit.

• Engaged in illegal billing practices: The CFPB alleges that the company 
failed to post payments or failed to remove late fees and interest charges from 
consumers’ bills even when the consumers were unable to make payments 
because of website failures. Numerous consumers reported that the company lost 
payment checks or took more than a week to process checks. 

• Mishandled consumer disputes about payments: The CFPB also alleges 
that PayPal mishandled consumers’ billing disputes and made billing errors.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has 
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
practices. Under the terms of the proposed consent order filed today, PayPal would:

• Pay $15 million in redress to victims: PayPal would reimburse consumers 
who were mistakenly enrolled in PayPal Credit, who mistakenly paid for a 
purchase with PayPal Credit, or who incurred fees or deferred interest as a result 
of the company’s inadequate disclosures and flawed customer-service practices. 

• Improve disclosures: PayPal would be required to take steps to improve its 
consumer disclosures related to enrollment in PayPal Credit to ensure that 
consumers know they are enrolling or using the product for a purchase. These 
improved disclosures would also apply to fees and deferred interest to ensure that 
consumers understand how their payments will be allocated. 

• Pay $10 million civil penalty: PayPal would pay $10 million to the CFPB’s 
Civil Penalty Fund.

The credit product at issue in this enforcement action was formerly known as Bill Me 
Later, and offered by Bill Me Later, Inc., which was acquired by PayPal, Inc.
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The proposed consent order is not a finding or ruling that the company has actually 
violated the law. It has been filed with the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Maryland, and would have the force of law only if it is approved by the presiding judge. 

A copy of the consent order filed today can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb_consent-order-
paypal.pdf

A copy of the complaint filed today can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201505_cfpb_complaint-paypal.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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Prepared Remarks of CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray on the PayPal Credit 
Enforcement Action Press Call
BY RICHARD CORDRAY

Thank you for joining us on this call. Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
is filing a complaint and a proposed consent order against PayPal for illegally signing 
up and billing tens of thousands of consumers for its online credit product, PayPal 
Credit. 

The Bureau alleges that PayPal lured in consumers to this product with deceptive 
advertising, signed up people without them knowing it, and then mishandled billing 
disputes when they arose. This kind of conduct has no place in the consumer financial 
marketplace. Under our proposed order, PayPal would return the $15 million that it 
illegally took from consumers and it would pay a $10 million penalty for its wrongful 
actions.

Online shopping has become a way of life for many Americans. It offers convenience, 
24-hour shopping, and vast choices. PayPal’s online payment services are offered on 
merchant websites throughout the Internet. Since 2008, the company has offered 
PayPal Credit, formerly called Bill Me Later, which is a financial product that operates 
like other forms of credit. Consumers make purchases using it as a form of payment and 
then repay the debt over time. As with credit cards and similar products, consumers 
using PayPal Credit may incur interest, late fees, and other charges. 

From the first encounter a consumer may have had with PayPal Credit, there were 
problems. Tens of thousands of consumers who were attempting to enroll in a regular 
PayPal account, or make an online purchase, were signed up for the credit product 
without realizing it. The company enrolled other consumers while they tried to cancel 
or close out of the application process. Many people ended up enrolled without knowing 
how or why, only to discover unexpectedly that they actually had an account when they 
learned of a credit-report inquiry, or when they received emails welcoming them to 
PayPal Credit, billing statements, or debt-collection calls.

One reason so many consumers ended up having this product, unbeknownst to them, 
was that PayPal set the default payment method for all purchases to PayPal Credit. 
Other consumers were simply not able to select another payment method when they 
tried to pay.

Then, for those who did willingly sign up for the product, PayPal in many instances 
failed to honor advertised promotions, such as the promise of a $5 or $10 credit toward 
consumer purchases. This was deceptive advertising.

Finally, once enrolled, consumers encountered headache after headache. PayPal failed 
to post payments properly, lost payment checks, and mishandled billing disputes that 
consumers had with merchants or the company itself. Numerous consumers reported 
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that the company took more than a week to process payment checks. And even when 
customers were unable to pay because of website failures, they still got charged late 
fees.

So today the Consumer Bureau has filed a complaint and proposed consent order in 
federal court. Under the proposed order, PayPal would refund $15 million to 
consumers. PayPal would reimburse those who were mistakenly enrolled in PayPal 
Credit, those who mistakenly paid for a purchase with PayPal Credit, and those who 
incurred fees or deferred interest as a result of the company’s inadequate disclosures 
and flawed customer-service practices. We are also imposing a $10 million penalty on 
the company.

In addition, we are requiring PayPal to change the way it does business with its PayPal 
Credit product. The company must now give clear disclosures during the enrollment 
and checkout process so that consumers know what is happening and that they can use 
a different payment method if they so choose. The company must ensure that 
customers receive the promotions advertised and that payments are credited in a timely 
manner. These changes are designed to ensure that in the future consumers will not be 
treated in the same manner that PayPal treated them in the past.

Online shopping and the financial products that make it possible are positive features of 
modern life. They create great options and accessibility. But financial services providers 
that enable these transactions need to be careful to make sure that people are treated 
fairly and according to the law. And we will continue to be vigilant in protecting all 
consumers. Thank you.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 

Plaintiff, 

-against-

SPRINT CORPORATION, 
Defendant. 

X 

X 

.... 
USW: SDNV 

DOCUMENT 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED 

DOC #: 

DATE FILED: 

14cv9931 

MEMORANDUM & ORDER 

WILLIAM H. PAULEY III, District Judge: 

By letter dated May 12, 2015, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the 

"Bureau") purports to request a pre-motion conference to address the Bureau's and Sprint 

Corporation's proposal to file a joint motion for approval of a final order and judgment resolving 

this case. The Bureau encloses with that letter a joint motion and stipulated final order and 

judgment, with the added caveat that neither party seeks to submit additional papers in support of 

their motion. 

This Court's duty extends beyond that of a "rubber stamp." See S.E.C. v. 

Levine, 881 F.2d 1165, 1181 (2d Cir. 1989). Indeed, as the Second Circuit recently clarified, 

"the proper standard for reviewing a proposed consent judgment involving an enforcement 

agency requires that the district court deteiniine whether the proposed consent decree is fair and 

reasonable, with the additional requirement that the 'public interest would not be disserved,' in 

the event that the consent decree includes injunctive relief." S.E.C. v. Citigroup Global Markets, 

Inc., 752 F.3d 285, 294 (2d Cir. 2014) (internal citations omitted). Anything less "would be a 

-1-
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dereliction of the court's duty to ensure the orders it enters are proper." Citigroup Global 

Markets, Inc., 752 F.3d at 298. If the Bureau wishes to invoke federal subject matter 

jurisdiction, it must be willing to explain why the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, and 

consistent with the public interest. 

How the Bureau believes a judge can evaluate the proposed settlement with a one 

sentence joint motion, no memorandum of law, and no declarations, eludes this Court. It is 

especially ironic, given the Bureau's core mission as described on its website to "give consumers 

the information they need to understand the terms of their agreements . . . ." See "About Us," 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, http://www.consumerfinance.govithe-bureau/ (last 

visited May 19, 2015). 

In view of the public importance of this case, there is a need for consumers, Sprint 

shareholders, and this Court, to get "the information they need to understand the terms of [this] 

agreement[]." Accordingly, while a pre-motion conference is not necessary, the parties are 

directed to submit a motion explaining why this proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, and does 

not disserve the public interest. The motion should conform to the Southern District of New 

York Local Rules (see S.D.N.Y. Local Rule 7.1) and this Court's Individual Practices. The 

motion may be filed as soon as practicable. This Court may take the motion on submission, or 

schedule oral argument if, after reviewing the motion papers, it deems it appropriate. 

Dated: May 19, 2015 
New York, New York 

SO ORDERED: 

All Counsel of Record 

-2-

WILLIAM H. PAULEY III 
U.S.D.J. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 
WESTERN DIVISION 

 
 
 

 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU,  
 
 Plaintiff 
 
 v. 

 
SECURITY NATIONAL 
AUTOMOTIVE ACCEPTANCE 
COMPANY, LLC, an Ohio limited liability 
company, 
 
 Defendant. 
 

 
Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-401 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Electronically Filed 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

 The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) brings this action 

against Security National Automotive Acceptance Company, LLC (“SNAAC”) and 

alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendant SNAAC is an auto-finance company specializing in lending 

to members of the United States military. SNAAC has engaged in unlawful acts and 

practices in its collection of consumer debt. SNAAC has threatened to contact 

delinquent borrowers’ commanding officers and has in fact contacted commanding 

officers, disclosing details about borrowers’ debts and delinquencies; SNAAC has 

made misleading statements regarding the potential impacts on borrowers’ military 

careers and tax liability if they remained delinquent; and SNAAC has made 

misleading statements regarding its intention to take legal action and its ability to 

obtain involuntary allotments and garnishments. This conduct is unfair, deceptive, 
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and abusive in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the 

United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345; 12 U.S.C. § 5565. 

3. Venue is proper because Defendant is located, resides, and does 

business in this District. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer-financial products and services 

under “Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is 

authorized to commence civil actions by its own attorneys to address violations of 

Federal consumer financial laws, including the prohibition on covered persons from 

engaging in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice under the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5531, 5536.  

5. SNAAC is an Ohio limited-liability company headquartered in Mason, 

Ohio. SNAAC purchases and services retail-installment-sales contracts originated by 

motor vehicle dealers – primarily in the sale of used vehicles. It conducts business in 

approximately 30 states. SNAAC lends principally to current and retired members of 

the United States military, although it also lends to some civilians. (SNAAC’s 

borrowers will be referred to collectively as “servicemembers.”) 

6. At all times between July 21, 2011 and the present, SNAAC has 

collected millions of dollars in consumer debt from thousands of servicemembers 

arising from retail-installment-sales contracts. Accordingly, SNAAC has offered or 
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provided a consumer-financial product or service and is a “covered person” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), (15)(A)(i) & (x).  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
TThreatened and Actual Contacts with  

Commanding Officers and Representations Regarding 
Impacts of Delinquency on Servicemembers’ Military Careers 

7. On many occasions in telephone and written collection 

communications with servicemembers, SNAAC collectors have said that they would 

contact servicemembers’ commanding officers or chains of command (collectively 

“command”)* about the servicemembers’ debts and delinquencies. In numerous such 

communications, SNAAC collectors have said that they would inform command that 

the servicemembers were in violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice 

(“UCMJ”), a Department of Defense instruction, standard, or regulation (collectively 

“DoDI”), or military regulations, and that the servicemembers consequently could be 

subject to proceedings or discipline under the UCMJ (collectively “UCMJ action”) for 

indebtedness. 

8. On many occasions, SNAAC collectors have contacted 

servicemembers’ commands by telephone and in writing, disclosing details of the 

servicemembers’ debts and delinquencies and requesting assistance in bringing the 

accounts current. In numerous such communications, SNAAC collectors have 

characterized delinquencies as violations of a DoDI or military regulations and have 

said that the servicemembers were subject to UCMJ action.  

9. In many instances, SNAAC collectors have contacted commanding 

officers on multiple occasions regarding a single account and have escalated contacts 

up the chain of command. On numerous occasions, after servicemembers had 

                                                           
* “Command” as used herein will also include civilian employers of SNAAC 
borrowers. 

Case: 1:15-cv-00401-WOB Doc #: 1 Filed: 06/17/15 Page: 3 of 11  PAGEID #: 3



4 
 

requested that SNAAC cease contacts with command, SNAAC has continued such 

contacts. 

10. In telephone and written communications, SNAAC collectors have on 

many occasions told servicemembers and their commands not only that 

servicemembers’ delinquencies could result in UCMJ action, but also that those 

delinquencies could have a number of adverse impacts on the servicemembers’ 

military careers, including demotion, loss of promotion, discharge, denial of re-

enlistment, loss of security clearance, or re-assignment. In many instances, 

consequences described by SNAAC collectors were exaggerated: they were extremely 

unlikely to occur or could not occur as a result of servicemembers’ consumer-debt 

delinquencies. 

11. The above-described communications with servicemembers and their 

commands caused or were likely to cause servicemembers to suffer substantial injury. 

CContract Addendum Purporting to Authorize Contacts with Command 

12. Since at least July 21, 2011, servicemembers who obtained financing 

through SNAAC have been required to sign a contract addendum entitled, 

“Addendum to Retail Installment Contract and Security Agreement (Includes an 

Arbitration Clause).” Buried in the addendum is a provision purporting to give 

SNAAC permission to contact the borrower’s “employer/commanding officer” to 

assist in collecting in the event of default and for other purposes.  

13. Many servicemembers were unaware that among the documents they 

signed when purchasing their vehicle was a contract addendum containing such a 

provision. Even if they had read the language, servicemembers had no ability to 

bargain or negotiate the provision out of the contract addendum. And even if 

servicemembers signed the addendum knowing that it contained such a provision, 

they could not reasonably have anticipated the nature and frequency of the 
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threatened and actual contacts with command to which they would be subject upon 

default.  

RRepresentations Regarding Intent to File Collection Action 

14. On many occasions, SNAAC has stated to servicemembers that it 

intended to file collection actions when, at the time SNAAC made the statement, it 

had not determined whether to take such action. Under company policy, SNAAC 

does not file a collection action unless an account meets multiple internal criteria. 

Only after a SNAAC representative has researched the account and found that it 

meets all of the criteria and after one or more other SNAAC personnel has 

independently reviewed the account for compliance with the internal criteria does 

SNAAC make a determination regarding whether to take legal action.  

15. In many instances, SNAAC has nevertheless represented to 

servicemembers – both directly and through communications with their commands – 

that it intended to file suit before completing the required internal research and 

review. 

Misrepresentations Regarding Other Consequences of Delinquency 

16. In numerous collection communications, SNAAC has made the 

following misrepresentations: 

a. SNAAC has misleadingly suggested that it could immediately 

commence an involuntary allotment or wage garnishment – without 

first obtaining a judgment;  

b. SNAAC has misleadingly suggested that failure to pay a deficiency 

judgment could result in the servicemember being held in contempt of 

court or subject to court-ordered penalties, when such consequences 

were extremely remote or impossible; and 

c. SNAAC has misleadingly suggested that servicemembers could be 

taxed on all or a portion of an unpaid balance when SNAAC had not 
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satisfied the Internal Revenue Service’s criteria for reporting the 

servicemembers’ debts as being discharged and thereby taxable. 

COUNT I 
(Violation of the CFPA – Unfair Acts or Practices – Threatened and Actual 

Contact with Command) 

17. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 are incorporated here by reference. 

18. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable and is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(c)(1). 

19. Since July 21, 2011, in communications with consumers for the 

purpose of collecting debt, SNAAC has threatened to contact command regarding 

the debt and delinquency; has threatened to notify command that the consumer is in 

violation of the UCMJ, DoDI, and military regulations and is subject to potential 

UCMJ action; and has represented that the consumer could suffer damage to his or 

her military career for failing to pay the debt. In communications with command for 

the purpose of collecting on credit contracts, SNAAC has disclosed details of 

consumers’ debts and delinquencies, has characterized the delinquencies as violations 

of the DoDI and military regulations subjecting the consumer to potential UCMJ 

action, and has described negative consequences to the consumers’ military careers 

that allegedly could result from their indebtedness. 

20. SNAAC’s conduct caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that was not outweighed by any countervailing benefits.  

21. Many consumers were unaware of the contractual language purporting 

to authorize SNAAC to contact their command. Even if they had been aware of the 

provision, they had no opportunity to bargain for its removal, and they could not 

reasonably have anticipated the nature and frequency of threatened and actual 

contacts with command to which they could be subject upon default. In numerous 
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instances, SNAAC continued to contact command after consumers requested a 

cessation of such contacts.  

22. Accordingly, SNAAC committed unfair acts or practices in violation of 

1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT II 
(Violation of the CFPA – Abusive Acts or Practices – Threatened and Actual 

Contact with Command) 

23. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 are incorporated here by reference. 

24. An act or practice is abusive under the CFPA if it takes unreasonable 

advantage of consumer’s inability to protect his or her interests in selecting or using a 

consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

25. Since July 21, 2011, SNAAC has taken unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ inability to protect their interests in connection with their selection of 

SNAAC to finance vehicle purchases and SNAAC’s collection of debt arising from 

such financing.  

26. At the time they selected SNAAC to finance their purchases, many 

consumers did not know that upon default, they would be subject to the threatened 

and actual contacts with command described above. Many consumers were not aware 

of the contractual language purporting to authorize such contacts. Even if they had 

been aware of the provision, they had no opportunity to bargain for its removal, and 

they could not have anticipated the nature and frequency of threatened and actual 

contacts with command to which they could be subject upon default.  

27. Once consumers defaulted, they became subject to the repeated threats 

to contact and actual contacts with command described above. In numerous 

instances, SNAAC continued to contact command after consumers had requested a 

cessation of such contacts.  

28. SNAAC took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability to 

protect their interests, leveraging consumers’ military status in its collection of debt. 
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Through exaggerated claims regarding the potential impacts of a delinquency on  

consumers’ military careers, threats to inform command about delinquencies and 

notify command of alleged military violations, as well as actual contacts with 

command in which SNAAC asserted that consumers had committed such violations 

and were therefore subject to discipline, SNAAC brought enormous pressures to bear 

on servicemember borrowers that would not be available in the collection of debt 

from civilian borrowers. Consumers who became delinquent on vehicle loans found 

themselves subject to coercive debt-collection tactics against which they could not 

have protected themselves, either at the time of contracting or after becoming 

delinquent.  

29. Accordingly, SNAAC committed abusive acts or practices in violation 

of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT III 
(Violation of the CFPA – Deceptive Acts or Practices – Intent to Sue) 

30. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 are incorporated here by reference. 

31. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if there is a 

misrepresentation or omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances and that information is material to 

consumers. 

32. Since July 21, 2011, in numerous instances in connection with the 

collection or attempt to collect debt from consumers, SNAAC has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it intended to take legal action 

against the consumers. 

33. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, SNAAC did not intend to 

take such action against consumers at the time SNAAC made the statement.  

34. Such representations were material and likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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35. Accordingly, SNAAC committed deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
COUNT IV 

(Violation of the CFPA – Deceptive Acts or Practices – Impacts on Military 
Careers) 

36. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 are incorporated here by reference. 

37. Since July 21, 2011, in numerous instances in connection with the 

collection or attempt to collect debt from consumers, SNAAC has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that a consumer’s failure to pay a 

debt could result in UCMJ action and have a number of adverse career consequences.  

38. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, it was extremely unlikely 

that the described consequences would occur. 

39. Such representations were material and likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

40. Accordingly, SNAAC committed deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
COUNT V 

(Violation of the CFPA – Deceptive Acts or Practices – Other Consequences of 
Delinquency) 

41. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 are incorporated here by reference. 

42. Since July 21, 2011, in numerous instances in connection with the 

collection or attempt to collect debt from consumers, SNAAC has represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. SNAAC could immediately commence an involuntary allotment or 

wage garnishment – without first obtaining a judgment; 

b. a consumer’s failure to pay a deficiency judgment could result in the 

consumer’s being held in contempt of court or subject to court-

ordered penalties; and 
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c. a consumer’s failure to pay a delinquent debt could result in all or a 

portion of the unpaid balance to be taxed. 

43. In in truth and in fact, in numerous instances, such consequences 

would not or could not occur. 

44. Such representations were material and likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

45. Accordingly, SNAAC committed deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of the 

CFPA; 

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendant; 

c. order Defendant to pay redress to consumers harmed by its unlawful 

conduct; 

d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenue against Defendant; 

e. impose civil money penalties against Defendant; 

f. order Defendant to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with 

prosecuting this action; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Dated: June 17, 2015    Respectfully submitted, 
 
      Anthony Alexis 

Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
John C. Wells 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 /s/ Maxwell S. Peltz                                                                   

      Maxwell S. Peltz, Trial Attorney 
Senior Litigation Counsel 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (415) 633-1328 
Fax: (415) 677-9954 

    Email: maxwell.peltz@cfpb.gov   
 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Takes Action Against Herbies Auto Sales for Unlawful
Lending Practices
JAN 21, 2016

Subprime “Buy Here Pay Here” Dealer Hid Finance Charges, Deceived Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against Herbies Auto Sales, a buy-here pay-here used car dealer, for abusive financing schemes,
hiding auto finance charges and misleading consumers. Herbies will pay $700,000 in restitution
to harmed consumers, with a suspended civil penalty of $100,000.

“Buying a car is often one of the most important purchases a consumer makes, so the experience
needs to be fair and above-board,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “But concealing finance
charges and the real cost of credit, as Herbies did here, is unlawful and unacceptable.”

Y King S Corp., which does business as Herbies Auto Sales, is located in Greeley, Colo. Herbies
operates as a subprime, buy-here, pay-here dealer, which is a dealer that both sells the car and
originates the auto loan without selling that loan to a third party. From at least 2012 through May
2014, the company offered financing to about one thousand people each year.

Herbies unlawfully advertised a misleadingly low 9.99 percent annual percentage rate (APR),
without disclosing a required warranty, a payment reminder device and other credit costs as
finance charges. This ruse helped Herbies convince consumers that they would get the 9.99
percent APR instead of the much higher rate actually charged. Also, Herbies engaged in abusive
practices.

Herbies violated the Truth in Lending Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Financial Protection Act. Specifically, the company:

Hid finance charges and advertised a far lower APR than consumers received: Herbies lied
to consumers about finance charges and APRs in marketing materials, including on
showroom window displays, and in Truth-in-Lending Act disclosures. Hidden finance charges
included $1,650 for a required repair warranty and $100 for a required GPS payment
reminder device.

Hid finance charges that stemmed from a refusal to negotiate car prices: Herbies refused to
negotiate prices with credit customers, but did negotiate with cash customers. The resulting

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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finance charge should have been included in the disclosed cost of credit.

Used abusive practices: Herbies’ financing scheme lured consumers with misleading
advertising and then kept them in the dark about the true cost of financing the cars they were
buying. This took advantage of consumers’ inability to protect their interests in selecting or
using Herbies’ financing, among other things.

Enforcement Action

Under the Consumer Financial Protection Act, the CFPB is authorized to take action against
institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, or that otherwise violate
federal consumer financial laws. Under the consent order, Herbies is required to:

Provide $700,000 in redress to harmed consumers: Herbies must provide $700,000 in
restitution for consumers who financed cars with Herbies after January 1, 2012, except those
whose accounts were charged off due to default. Herbies must submit a timeline to the
Bureau for making restitution to consumers. Herbies is also subject to a civil penalty of
$100,000, which is suspended as long as redress is paid.

Stop deceiving consumers during financing process: Herbies must not misrepresent interest
rates, finance charges, or amounts financed, or any other fact material to consumers
concerning the financing of any motor vehicle.

Post automobile prices: Herbies must clearly and prominently post the purchase price on all
automobiles for sale when offering auto financing.

Provide certain financing information in advance: Herbies must give consumers certain
information about the financing offer, including the actual APR, price of the car, and all
finance charges, and get a signed acknowledgment from consumers that they received the
required information before or at the time financing is offered.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance
markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and
by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information,
visit consumerfinance.gov.
Topics:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201601_cfpb_consent-order_y-kings-corp-also-doing-
business-as-herbies-auto-sales.pdf 

ENFORCEMENT•

AUTO LOANS•

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201601_cfpb_consent-order_y-kings-corp-also-doing-business-as-herbies-auto-sales.pdf
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PRESS INFORMATION

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the press
office.

STAY INFORMED

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates.

Email Address

example@mail.com

The information you provide will permit the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to process
your request or inquiry. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

FALONI &ASSOCIATES, LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collection practices of Faloni & Associates, LLC (Respondent, as defined below) and has 

identified the following law violations: Respondent violated the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, by using false, deceptive, and misleading 

representations or means to collect consumer financial debt by altering Declarations to 

change the date of execution or the balance owed on the debt, or both, and then filing 

those Declarations in Collections Litigation in the New Jersey courts. Respondent's 

conduct also violated the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 and 5536. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565, 

the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692. 
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated February 9, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

IOS3 and lOSS ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ ss63 and ss6s, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law; except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Account" means an extension of credit to a Consumer in the United States, 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, and established or 

maintained for a Consumer pursuant to a credit card program. 

b. "Affected Consumers" are Consumers who were defendants in Collections 

Litigation filed by Respondent on behalf of Citi identified in an order dated 

June 10, 2014, entered by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division

Mercer County) in In reApplication by Citibank, N A., Department Stores 

National Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take Curative Action in 

Certain Pending Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection Actions, Docket No.: 

L-3SS-14. 
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c. "Affiant" means any signatory to a Declaration, other than one signing solely 

as a notary or witness to the act of signing, signing in his or her capacity as an 

employee or agent of Citi. 

d. "Citi" means Citibank, N.A., Department Stores National Bank, and 

CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC and their predecessors, successors, and assigns, 

individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

e. "Collections Litigation" means attempts by Respondent, through judicial 

processes in the State of New Jersey, to collect or establish a Consumer's 

liability for a Debt allegedly owed to Citi. Collections Litigation does not 

include processes or proceedings initiated by Respondent in bankruptcy or 

probate matters involving a Consumer. 

f. "Competent and Reliable Evidence" means documents and/or records created 

by Citi in the ordinary course of business, which are capable of supporting a 

finding for the proposition for which the evidence is offered, is true and 

accurate, and which comport with applicable laws and court rules. 

g. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 

any Debt. 

h. "Debt" means, coterminous with the meaning of "debt" as defined in the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), any obligation or alleged 

obligation of a Consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which 

the money, property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the 

transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 

whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 
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1. "Declaration" means any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or 

declaration, whether made under penalty of perjury or otherwise signed by an 

Affiant for purposes of affirming its accuracy and veracity, submitted to a 

court by Respondent in a Collections Litigation matter for the purpose of 

collecting a Debt, but does not include affidavits, sworn statements, 

certifications of proof, or declarations signed by counsel based solely on 

counsel's personal knowledge and not based on a review of Citi's books and 

records (such as affidavits of counsel relating to service of process, extensions 

of time, or fee petitions). 

J· "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

k. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

1. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

m. "Respondent" means Faloni & Associates, LLC, and its successors and 

assigns. 
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IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a law firm in Fairfield, New Jersey, that is engaged in the 

collection of consumer debt through litigation. Respondent is organized as a 

limited liability corporation. 

5· Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defmed by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) 

because, among other reasons, it collects debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service. 

6. Respondent is a "debt collector" as defined in Section 803(6) of the FDCPA. 

15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

7· Citi is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 

(15)(A)(i) because, among other reasons, it extends credit and collects debt 

related to a consumer financial product or service. 

8. Respondent is a "service provider" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26) because it provided material service to Citi in connection with the 

offering or provision by Citi of consumer financial products or services by, 

among other things, collecting Debt allegedly owed to Citi in connection with 

Citi's extension of credit to Consumers. 

9. Respondent filed Collections Litigation in the New Jersey courts to collect 

credit card Debt allegedly owed to Citi by Consumers. 

10. Affiants executed Declarations for Respondent to file with the New Jersey 

courts in Collections Litigation. 
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11. In cases filed by Respondent to collect Debt allegedly owed to Citi, the Affiant 

to a Declaration attested to the accuracy of the amount of the Debt owed by a 

Consumer as of the date of the Declaration's execution. The Affiant also 

attested to having personal knowledge of the facts of the Debt that formed the 

basis of the statements made in the Declaration. 

12. Respondent altered and filed several hundred Declarations in cases pending as 

of September 12, 2011. 

13. By altering the dates of the Declarations or the amount of the Debts owed or 

both after the Affiants executed the Declaration, Respondent misrepresented 

the facts to which the Affiant had attested and that had formed the basis of the 

statements made in the Declarations. Further, these misrepresentations meant 

that the Declarations, as filed with the New Jersey courts, were not Competent 

and Reliable Evidence to prove the Debts Respondent collected or attempted to 

collect on Citi's behalf. 

14. Section 807 of the FDCPA prohibits the "false representation of ... the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt," 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A), and the 

use of"any false or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt," 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). 

15. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

16. As described in Paragraphs 12-13, in connection v.rith the collection or attempt 

to collect Debt, in numerous instances, Respondent represented, expressly or 

impliedly, that the Debt allegedly owed to Citi in each Collections Litigation in 

6 

2016-CFPB-0006     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 6 of 19



which an altered Declaration was filed was supported by Competent and 

Reliable Evidence. 

17. In fact, the altered Declarations were not valid legal documentation and did not 

constitute Competent and Reliable Evidence of the Debts allegedly owed to Citi. 

18. Thus, Respondent's representations as described above constitute false 

representations of the legal status of debts in violation of section 807(2) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2), false or deceptive means to collect or attempt to 

collect debts in violation of section 807(10) ofthe FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(10), and deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

19. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, and sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, in connection with the 

collection or attempt to collect any Debt. 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 
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1. The date of execution of any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of 

proof, or declaration; 

n . The amount of the Debt owed that is listed in any affidavit, sworn 

statement, certification of proof, or declaration; 

m. That the Debt that Respondent is attempting to collect is supported by 

Competent and Reliable Evidence; or 

IV. Any other fact material to consumers. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection v.rith the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, may not alter 

or file with a court any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or 

declaration altered after execution, or assist others in altering or filing with a 

court any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or declaration 

altered after execution. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection v.rith the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, must comply 

with any remaining obligations under the order dated June 10, 2014, entered 

by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division- Mercer County) in In re 

Application by Citibank, N A., Department Stores National Bank, and 

CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take Curative Action in Certain Pending 

Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection Actions, Docket No.: L-355-14, 

including: 
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1. Vacating all final judgments in actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; 

u. Dismissing with prejudice all actions filed by Respondent as identified 

in the June 10 order; 

m. Ceasing acceptance of payments in all actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; and 

1v. Returning to Affected Consumers all amounts collected in actions filed 

by Respondent as identified in the June 10 order. 

20. Respondent must correct all violations oflaw, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

21. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 

violations oflaw described in Section N of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 556s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $15,000 to the Bureau. 

22. To the extent that Respondent lacks the financial resources to pay the full civil 

money penalty, Respondent must obtain contributions from Respondent's 

individual owners sufficient to pay the full penalty. 

23. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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24. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund ofthe Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

25. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

26. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

27. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 
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will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

28. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

29. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

30. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

31. Under section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681b(a)(1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report 

concerning Respondent or any of Respondent's individual owners to the 

Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 
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COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

VII 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

33. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

34. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 32 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 
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35. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a 

mm1mum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VIII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

36. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, 

sworn under penalty of perjury. 

37. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its officers, as well as to any partners, attorneys, 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

38. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VII, any future officers, as well as to any partners, 

attorneys, managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 
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39. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section. 

IX 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

40. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a . All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records necessary to establish a factual basis for any 

Declaration. 

41. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 40 for the 

duration of the consent order. 

42. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 40 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 
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X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Unless othenvise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Faloni & Associates, LLC, 

File No. 2016-CFPB- ," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XI 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated V\rith the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's partners, attorneys, officers, 
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employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, 

hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably 

request upon 5 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places 

and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process. 

XII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

45. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

whic4 must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

46. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these 

communications. 

47. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any partner, 

attorney, employee, or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed 

to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

48. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

49. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees to be 

subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent 
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with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for termination of 

supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XIII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

so. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

51. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements ofthis Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XIV 

Administrative Provisions 

52. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent. 

53· This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

17 

2016-CFPB-0006     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 17 of 19



54· This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

55. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

56. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

57. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 
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58. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

59. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this .1:24._ day of (e,b,.-c,\ ~ '2016. 

~.fA7 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECI'ION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

SOLOMON & SOLOMON, P.C. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collection practices of Solomon & Solomon, P.C. (Respondent, as defined below) and 

has identified the following law violations: Respondent violated the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, by using false, deceptive, and misleading 

representations or means to collect consumer financial debt by altering Declarations to 

change the date of execution, the balance owed on the debt, or both and then filing those 

Declarations in Collections Litigation in the New Jersey courts. Respondent's conduct 

also violated the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 

and 5536. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565, the 

Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692. 
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated February 5, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law; except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Account" means an extension of credit to a Consumer in the United States, 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, and established or 

maintained for a Consumer pursuant to a credit card program. 

b. "Affected Consumers" are Consumers who were defendants in Collections 

Litigation filed by Respondent on behalf of Citi identified in an order dated 

June 10, 2014, entered by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division

Mercer County) in In reApplication by Citibank, N.A., Department Stores 

National Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take Curative Action in 

Certain Pending Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection Actions, Docket No.: 

L-355-14. 
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c. "Affiant" means any signatory to a Declaration, other than one signing solely 

as a notary or witness to the act of signing, signing in his or her capacity as an 

employee or agent of Citi. 

d. "Citi" means Citibank, N.A., Department Stores National Bank, and 

CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC and their predecessors, successors, and assigns, 

individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

e. "Collections Litigation" means attempts by Respondent, through judicial 

processes in the State of New Jersey, to collect or establish a Consumer's 

liability for a Debt allegedly owed to Citi. Collections Litigation does not 

include processes or proceedings initiated by Respondent in bankruptcy or 

probate matters involving a Consumer. 

f. "Competent and Reliable Evidence" means documents and/ or records created 

by Citi in the ordinary course of business, which are capable of supporting a 

finding for the proposition for which the evidence is offered, is true and 

accurate, and which comport with applicable laws and court rules. 

g. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 

any Debt. 

h. "Debt" means, coterminous with the meaning of "debt" as defined in the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), any obligation or alleged 

obligation of a Consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which 

the money, property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the 

transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 

whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 
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1. "Declaration" means any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or 

declaration, whether made under penalty of perjury or otherwise signed by an 

Affiant for purposes of affirming its accuracy and veracity, submitted to a 

court by Respondent in a Collections Litigation matter for the purpose of 

collecting a Debt, but does not include affidavits, sworn statements, 

certifications of proof, or declarations signed by counsel based solely on 

counsel's personal knowledge and not based on a review of Citi's books and 

records (such as affidavits of counsel relating to service of process, extensions 

of time, or fee petitions). 

J· "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

k. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

l. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

m. "Respondent" means Solomon & Solomon, P.C., and its successors and 

assigns. 
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IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a law firm in Albany, New York, that is engaged primarily in the 

collection of consumer debt through litigation. Respondent is organized as a 

professional corporation. 

5. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) 

because, among other reasons, it collects debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service. 

6. Respondent is a "debt collector" as defined in Section 803(6) ofthe FDCPA. 

15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

7· Citi is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 

(15)(A)(i) because, among other reasons, it extends credit and collects debt 

related to a consumer financial product or service. 

8. Respondent is a "service provider" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26) because it provided material service to Citi in connection with the 

offering or provision by Citi of consumer financial products or services by, 

among other things, collecting Debt allegedly owed to Citi in connection with 

Citi's extension of credit to Consumers. 

9. Respondent filed Collections Litigation in the New Jersey courts to collect 

credit card Debt allegedly owed to Citi by Consumers. 

10. Affiants executed Declarations for Respondent to file with the New Jersey 

courts in Collections Litigation. 
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11. In cases filed by Respondent to collect Debt allegedly owed to Citi, the Affiant 

to a Declaration attested to the accuracy of the amount of the Debt owed by a 

Consumer as of the date of the Declaration's execution. The Affiant also 

attested to having personal knowledge of the facts of the Debt that formed the 

basis of the statements made in the Declaration. 

12. Respondent altered and filed several hundred Declarations in cases filed prior 

to September 12, 2011. 

13. By altering the dates of the Declarations and/ or the amount of the Debts owed 

after the Affiants executed the Declaration, Respondent misrepresented the 

facts to which the Affiant had attested and that had formed the basis of the 

statements made in the Declarations. In certain instances, Respondent 

misrepresented the amount of the Debt owed. Further, these 

misrepresentations meant that the Declarations, as filed with the New Jersey 

courts, were not Competent and Reliable Evidence to prove the Debts 

Respondent collected or attempted to collect on Citi's behalf. 

14. Section 807 of the FDCPA prohibits the "false representation of . . . the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt," 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A), and the 

use of"any false or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt," 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). 

15. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

16. As described in Paragraphs 12-13, in connection with the collection or attempt 

to collect Debt, in numerous instances, Respondent represented, expressly or 

impliedly, that the Debt allegedly owed to Citi in each Collections Litigation in 
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which an altered Declaration was filed was supported by Competent and 

Reliable Evidence. Further, in certain instances, Respondent represented, 

expressly or impliedly, that the stated amount of Debt allegedly owed was 

accurate. 

17. In fact, the altered Declarations were not valid legal documentation and did not 

constitute Competent and Reliable Evidence of the Debts allegedly owed to Citi. 

Further, in certain instances, the amount of Debt owed as stated in the altered 

Declaration was not accurate. 

18. Thus, Respondent's representations as described above constitute false 

representations of the amount and/ or legal status of debts in violation of 

section 807(2) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2), false or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect debts in violation of section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), and deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

19. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, and sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, in connection with the 

collection or attempt to collect any Debt. 
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a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection ""ith the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

1. The date of execution of any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of 

proof, or declaration; 

n. The amount of the Debt owed that is listed in any affidavit, sworn 

statement, certification of proof, or declaration; 

m. That the Debt that Respondent is attempting to collect is supported by 

Competent and Reliable Evidence; or 

IV. Any other fact material to consumers. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, may not alter 

or file with a court any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or 

declaration altered after execution, or assist others in altering or filing with a 

court any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or declaration 

altered after execution. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the collection or attempt to collect any Debt, must comply 

with any remaining obligations under the order dated June 10, 2014, entered 

by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division- Mercer County) in In re 

Application by Citibank, N A., Department Stores National Bank, and 
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CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take Curative Action in Certain Pending 

Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection Actions, Docket No.: L-355-14, 

including: 

1. Vacating all final judgments in actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; 

n. Dismissing with prejudice all actions filed by Respondent as identified 

in the June 10 order; 

m. Ceasing acceptance of payments in all actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; and 

1v. Returning to Affected Consumers all amounts collected in actions filed 

by Respondent as identified in the June 10 order. 

20. Respondent must correct all violations oflaw, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

21. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $65,000 to the Bureau. 

22. To the extent that Respondent lacks the financial resources to pay the full civil 

money penalty, Respondent must obtain contributions from Respondent's 

individual owners sufficient to pay the full penalty. 
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23. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

24. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund ofthe Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

25. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

26. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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27. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

28. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

29. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

30. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

31. Under section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U .S.C. 

§ 1681b(a)(1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report 

concerning Respondent or any of Respondent's individual owners to the 

Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any 

delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 
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COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

VII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

33. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

34. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 32 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

35· Within 6o days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a 

mm1mum: 
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a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VIII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

36. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, 

sworn under penalty of perjury. 

37· Within 30 days ofthe Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its officers, as well as to any partners, attorneys, 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

38. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VII, any future officers, as well as to any partners, 

attorneys, managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

39. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 
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days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section. 

IX 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

40. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least s years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records necessary to establish a factual basis for any 

Declaration. 

41. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 40 for the 

duration of the consent order. 

42. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 40 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43· Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Solomon & Solomon, 

P.C., File No. 2016-CFPB- ," and send them either: 
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a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XI 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44· Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's partners, attorneys, officers, 

employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, 

hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably 

request upon 5 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places 

and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process. 
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XII 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

45. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

46. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these 

communications. 

47· Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any partner, 

attorney, employee, or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed 

to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

48. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

49. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees to be 

subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent 

with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for termination of 

supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 
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XIII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

so. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

51. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g. , reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XIV 

Administrative Provisions 

52. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent. 

53. This Consent Order is intended to be, and ·will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

54· This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or s years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 
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the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

55. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

56. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

57. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

58. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

18 

2016-CFPB-0005     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 18 of 19



accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

59. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this _1Jl_ day of FLbl"lll4!J 

Richard Cordray 
Director 

'2016. 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER F1NANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

FALONI & ASSOCIATES, LLC 

STIPULATIO~ AND CONSENT 
TO TilE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Faloni & Associates, LLC (Respondent), under 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its alterations of Declarations filed with courts in 

connection with collecting or attempting to collect Debts in violation of section 807 of 

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 201o's (CFPA) prohibition on violations of federal consumer 

financial laws, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A), and unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 

1 

2016-CFPB-0006     Document 2     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 1 of 5

chandlerj
Typewritten Text

chandlerj
Typewritten Text
0006



In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings offact or conclusions oflaw, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully 

enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

s. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the 

Bureau, about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may 

arise from the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 
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6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order 

will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 

in any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its 

rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order. 

7· The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

g. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 
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c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5563, or 12 CFR Part 1081; 

d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements oflaw as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 
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h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

FALONI &ASSOCIATES, LLC BY: 

DavidA. Faloni, Sr. 

Partner, Faloni & Associates, LLC 

DavidA. Faloni, Jr. """ 

Partner, Faloni & Associates, LLC 

!;2/0./J(p 
Date 
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CFPB Orders Citibank to Pay $700 
Million in Consumer Relief for Illegal 
Credit Card Practices
Millions of Consumers Harmed by Bank’s Deceptive Marketing and 
Unfair Billing of Credit Card Add-On Products and Services, and Other 
Unlawful Practices

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) has 
ordered Citibank, N.A. and its subsidiaries to provide an estimated $700 million in 
relief to eligible consumers harmed by illegal practices related to credit card add-on 
products and services. Roughly 7 million consumer accounts were affected by Citibank’s 
deceptive marketing, billing, and administration of debt protection and credit 
monitoring add-on products. A Citibank subsidiary also deceptively charged expedited 
payment fees to nearly 1.8 million consumer accounts during collection calls. Citibank 
and its subsidiaries will pay $35 million in civil money penalties to the CFPB. 

“We continue to uncover illegal credit card add-on practices that are costing unknowing 
consumers millions of dollars,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “In our four years, 
this is the tenth action we’ve taken against companies in this space for deceiving 
consumers. We will remain on the lookout for similar conduct and will address it as we 
find it.”

Citibank, N.A. is a national bank and insured depository institution. Citibank, as well as 
its subsidiaries Department Stores National Bank, and Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. 
(USA), marketed or offered credit card add-on products to consumers nationwide. 
From at least 2003 through 2012, Citibank actively marketed and enrolled consumers 
in five debt protection add-on products: “AccountCare,” “Balance Protector,” “Credit 
Protection,” “Credit Protector,” and “Payment Safeguard.” These products promised to 
cancel a consumer’s payment or balance, or defer the payment due date, if the 
consumer experienced certain hardships, such as job loss, disability, hospitalization, 
and certain life events, such as marriage or divorce. Citibank also marketed and sold 
other add-on products – “IdentityMonitor,” “DirectAlert,” “PrivacyGuard,” and “Citi 
Credit Monitoring Services” – that offered credit-monitoring or credit-report-retrieval 
services. Citibank also offered “Watch-Guard Preferred,” a wallet-protection service 
that notified credit and debit card issuers if the consumers reported a card lost or 
stolen. 

Deceptive Marketing
The Bureau found that Citibank or its service providers marketed these products 
deceptively during telemarketing calls, online enrollment, “point-of-sale” application 
and enrollment at retailers, or when enrolled consumers later called to cancel certain 
products. For example, confusing text on pin-pad offer screens at the point of sale 
increased the likelihood that consumers applying for credit cards at a retailer would not 
realize they were both applying for credit and purchasing debt-protection coverage. 
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These illegal practices affected an estimated 4.8 million consumer accounts. Among 
other things, Citibank’s misleading or illegal marketing or retention practices included:

• Misrepresenting cost and fees for coverage: In some cases, telemarketers 
misrepresented or did not inform the consumer about the cost of the products. In 
certain telemarketing scripts, Citibank instructed telemarketers to claim a blanket 
“free” 30-day trial period, when Citibank still charged consumers during the 
initial 30 days of membership. In other instances, Citibank failed to inform 
consumers that they would be billed after the 30-day trial period if they did not 
cancel the product. Citibank also told some consumers they could avoid the fee by 
paying their balance in full by the due date. But to avoid the fee, consumers had to 
pay off the balance before the end of their billing cycle so that there would be no 
balance on the account when billing statements went out.

• Misrepresenting benefits of some products: For consumers who signed up 
for a credit-monitoring product, Citibank claimed the fraud alert service on credit 
card accounts would alert them of fraudulent purchases. In fact, the credit-
monitoring product only provided alerts to changes in a consumer’s credit file 
maintained by major reporting companies, not at the transaction level. Citibank 
also misled consumers in telemarketing calls and in online marketing about the 
credit score benefit. It told consumers the credit score was generated from all the 
three major credit reporting companies, when in reality the score was generated 
by a third-party vendor.

• Illegal practices in the enrollment process: During telemarketing calls, 
Citibank’s nonbank subsidiary, Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA), used illegal 
practices to enroll consumers in these products. That company used leading 
questions to obtain billing authorizations from consumers for certain add-on 
products. It also enrolled some consumers without any billing authorization or by 
construing ambiguous responses during calls for a billing authorization as 
permission for enrollment, and then charged consumers for the products.

• Misrepresenting or omitting information about eligibility for 
coverage: In some instances, consumers disclosed information to Citibank 
indicating that they would be ineligible for certain benefits. However, Citibank 
failed to inform them that they would be ineligible to receive the product benefits 
and still enrolled them in the product.

Unfair Billing Practices
Under federal law, in order for Citibank or its vendors to obtain consumers’ credit 
information to provide the credit-monitoring or credit-report-retrieval services for 
certain add-on products, consumers generally must authorize access to that 
information. In many instances, however, Citibank billed consumers for these products 
without having the authorization necessary to perform the credit-monitoring and 
credit-report-retrieval services. In other cases, Citibank or its vendors could not provide 
the promised services for other reasons, such as when the consumer’s information 
could not be found in the consumer reporting companies’ files. As a result, Citibank:

• Charged consumers for benefits they did not receive: Citibank charged 
consumers whose authorizations were not in order or who could not receive the 
credit monitoring or other benefits. The company continued to charge consumers 
for services they were not receiving, in some cases for the entire time the 
consumer had the product.

• Failed to provide product benefits: Consumers may have been under the 
impression that their credit was being monitored for fraud and identity theft, 
when, in fact, these services were either not being performed at all, or were only 
partially performed.
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Citibank engaged in these unfair billing practices from at least 2000 through 2013. 
About 2.2 million consumer accounts were improperly billed product fees while not 
receiving the full product services.

Deceptive Collection Practices
When collecting payment on delinquent retailer-affiliated credit card accounts, 
Citibank offered consumers the option to pay by phone using a checking account, so the 
payment would post to the account on the same day. There was a $14.95 fee associated 
with using this option. Citibank misled consumers by not disclosing the purpose of the 
expedited payment fee. It misrepresented the payment fee as a “processing” fee and did 
not explain that the fee was to post payment to the account on the same day it was 
made rather than a fee to allow payment. Citibank also failed to disclose other no-cost 
payment alternatives. The company charged the fee even though it was rarely in the 
consumer’s interest to pay the fee so that the payment would post on the same day.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the 
CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, 
or abusive practices, or other violations of federal consumer financial law. This is the 
tenth action the Bureau has taken against companies for illegal practices in the 
marketing or administration of add-on products and services. The CFPB’s order 
requires that Citibank:

• Provide $700 million in relief to roughly 8.8 million consumer 
accounts: Citibank must provide approximately $479 million in consumer relief 
to about 4.8 million consumer accounts as a result of the deceptive marketing or 
retention practices. It also must pay approximately $196 million to roughly 2.2 
million consumer accounts that enrolled in the credit monitoring products and 
were charged while Citibank did not perform all of the promised services. 
Department Stores National Bank must provide about $23.8 million in consumer 
relief to almost 1.8 million consumer accounts for charging expedited payment 
fees on these delinquent accounts.

• Conveniently repay consumers: Citibank will reimburse consumers affected 
by these practices. Consumers who are eligible for a refund do not have to take 
any action to get their refund. For the unfair billing practices related to the credit-
monitoring products, Citibank has completed reimbursement to eligible 
consumers. For eligible consumers who have not received refunds yet, Citibank 
will initiate and complete a remediation process to reimburse those consumers.

• End unfair billing practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for the credit 
monitoring products if they are not receiving the promised benefits.

• Cease engaging in illegal practices: Citibank is prohibited from marketing all 
add-on products by telephone or at the point of sale, or engaging in attempts to 
retain consumers in these products by telephone, until it submits a compliance 
plan to the CFPB.

• Pay a $35 million penalty: Citibank will make a $35 million penalty payment 
to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The CFPB is taking this action in coordination with the Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency, which is separately ordering a $35 million civil penalty and restitution from 
Citibank and Department Stores National Bank for some of the same illegal practices.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na-
department-stores-national-bank-and-citicorp-credit-services-inc-usa.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
2015-CFPB-0016 

In the Matter of: 

DISCOVER BANK, THE STUDENT LOAN 
CORPORATION, AND DISCOVER 
PRODUCTS, INC. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain 

student-loan-servicing activities of Discover Bank, The Student Loan Corporation, and 

Discover Products, Inc. The Bureau has identified the following violations of law: (1) 

unfair and deceptive acts and practices relating to Respondent's failure to furnish clear 

information regarding the student-loan interest consumers paid, in violation of §§ 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a); (2) unfair acts and practices relating to Respondent initiating 

collection calls to consumers at inconvenient times, in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a); (3) deceptive acts and practices 

relating to Respondent overstating the minimum amount due in student-loan billing 

statements, in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a); and (4) violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et 

seq., in Respondent's collection activities regarding defaulted student loans it acquired. 

Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this 

Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated July 16, 2015, which is incorporated by reference and is accepted 

by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this 

Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, v.rithout admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, 

except that Respondent admits the Bureau has jurisdiction over it and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means the Call-Time Consumers, the Minimum-

Payment Consumers, and the Tax-Information Consumers. 

b. "Attempted Call or Contact" means an instance in which Respondent 

placed a telephone call to a consumer's phone number that resulted in a 

connection to consumer's telephone, whether or not the consumer 

answered the call. 

c. "Board" means the duly-elected and acting Board of Directors of Discover 

Bank. 

d. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

2 
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1. in textual communications (e.g., printed publications or 

words displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must 

be of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary 

consumer to read and comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the 

background on which it appears; 

n. in communications made through interactive media such as 

the internet, online services, and softw·are, the disclosure must be 

conspicuously presented in a form consistent with subsection (i). 

e. "Call-Time Consumers" means consumers who received 6 or more 

Attempted Calls or Contacts before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. in the time zone 

of their address. 

f. "Defaulted Student Loans" means those Acquired Loans (as defined in 

Section IV.7 below) that were in charged-off status at the time Respondent 

acquired them. 

g. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

h. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegee. 

1. "Minimum-Payment Consumers" means consumers who received an 

account statement from Respondent with an overstated minimum

payment-due amount and did not make their monthly student-loan 

payments using an auto-pay method. 
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J. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Midwest Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

k. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in section IV of this Consent Order. 

I. "Relevant Period" means the period from January 1, 2011 to January 28, 

2014. 

m. "Respondent" means Discover Bank, The Student Loan Corporation, and 

Discover Products, Inc., and their successors and assigns. 

n. "Student-Loan Portfolio" means student loans owned by Respondent. 

o. "Tax-Information Consumers" means all consumers who paid Respondent 

more than $6oo in interest on private student loans but who did not (1) 

receive a Form 1098-E; (2) request and receive an interest-paid letter from 

Respondent for tax years 2011 or 2012; (3) accept Respondent's offer to 

pay for their filing amended returns; (4) contact Ernst & Young under 

Respondent's program to provide tax advice and preparation services; or 

(5) accept Respondent's offer to pay for basic tax preparations services for 

a prior tax year. 

p. "Termination Date" is 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation 

of the Consent Order by Respondent. 

IV 
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Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4· Discover Bank, which is headquartered in Greenwood, Delaware, is an 

insured depository institution with assets greater than $10,ooo,ooo within the meaning 

of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a) . 

s. The Student Loan Corporation and Discover Products, Inc. are affiliates of 

Discover Bank. 

6. Respondent is a "covered person" under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Acquired Loan Portfolio 

7· In a series of transactions beginning in late 2010, Respondent expanded 

its private Student-Loan Portfolio by acquiring substantially all of Citibank's private 

student-loan business, including more than 8oo,ooo private student-loan accounts (the 

Acquired Loans). 

8. Since 2011, Respondent and its service providers have serviced the 

Acquired Loans as well as Respondent's preexisting student loans. 

g. Among other things, Respondent has provided borrowers with periodic 

account statements reflecting the payment due, supplied year-end tax information 

regarding the student-loan interest the borrowers paid, and contacted borrowers to 

collect past-due payments. 

Tax-Information Policies 

10. Respondent maintained many of Citibank's procedures and policies for 

servicing the Acquired Loans, including Citibank's policies regarding notice to 

borrowers and the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) of student-loan interest paid during 

the tax year. 
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11. The tax code allows student-loan interest to be deducted as an adjustment 

to income for some taxpayers. 

12. Under the Internal Revenue Code, private student loans may be deemed 

"qualified education loans" for purposes of Form 1098-E reporting if the borrower 

certifies that the loan proceeds will be used solely to pay for "qualified higher education 

expenses." 26 C.F.R. § 1.6osoS-3(e)(2). 

13. That certification may be made on a Form W-9S Request for Student's or 

Borrower's Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification (W-9S form) or 

incorporated into other documents, such as a loan application or promissory note. 

14. Institutions are required to provide certain notices to student-loan 

borrowers and the IRS regarding the amount of qualified student-loan interest the 

borrowers paid. They must file a Form 1098-E information return with the IRS 

specifying the amount of qualified student-loan interest paid if a borrower paid more 

than $6oo in such interest and has provided the applicable certification. They must also 

furnish borrowers with a statement specifying this amount if the borrower paid more 

than $6oo in qualified student-loan interest. 26 C.F.R. § 1.6osoS-3(a), (c)-( d). 

15. With respect to the Acquired Loans, Respondent did not provide those 

borrowers with a Form 1098-E unless the borrowers had also submitted a W-9S form 

certifying that the loan was used solely to pay for qualified higher-education expenses. 

16. Unless requested by borrowers, Respondent did not send Acquired Loan 

borrowers W-9S forms to complete. Nor did Respondent adequately alert borrowers 

who did not have W -9S forms on file that this document was lacking and would prevent 

them from receiving a Form 1098-E. 
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17. Instead, Respondent placed a message at the bottom of the first page, or 

on a separate second page, of the October or November billing statements in 2011 and 

2012. The message indicated that borrowers would not receive a Form 1098-E unless 

they had submitted a W-9S. 

18. In addition, Respondent directed Acquired Loan borrowers to its website 

for online "Qualified Interest" information. 

19. During the Relevant Period, Acquired Loan borrowers who did not have a 

W -9S on file would see the following information when they accessed their online 

Qualified Interest statement: 

Qualified Interest 

This is the private student loan interest you paid to The 
Student Loan Corporation in [tax year]: $o.oo 

20. The Qualified Interest statement reflected "$o.oo" because the Acquired 

Loan borrower did not have a W -9S form on file with Respondent. 

21. During the Relevant Period, the online Qualified Interest information of 

over 156,000 Acquired Loan borrowers reflected $o.oo in interest paid if the borrower 

viewed the Qualified Interest portion of Discover's website, even though those 

borrowers in fact had paid Respondent student-loan interest on their private student 

loans. In many instances, this occurred for both the 2011 and 2012 tax years. 

22. Respondent did not adequately explain to Acquired Loan borrowers that 

their online Qualified Interest statements would reveal $o.oo in interest paid if no W -9S 

form were on file. 
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23. Respondent's statement that $o.oo in interest had been paid was likely to 

mislead borrowers into believing that they had not paid interest qualifying for the tax 

deduction, potentially causing them to forego seeking this tax benefit. 

24. As described in paragraphs 19-23, in connection with servicing the 

Acquired Loans, Respondent represented, expressly or impliedly, in numerous instances 

that Acquired Loan borrowers had paid "$o.oo" in student-loan interest. 

25. In fact, these Acquired Loan borrowers had paid Respondent student-loan 

interest and often a substantial amount of interest. 

26. Thus, Respondent's representations as described in paragraphs 19-23 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
. 

27. Respondent's tax-information practices were also unfair under the CFPA. 

An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause consumers substantial injury 

that is not reasonably avoidable and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

28. Respondent's misleading Qualified Interest statements were likely to cause 

affected Acquired Loan borrowers to believe they did not pay interest qualifying for the 

tax deduction and, consequently, to not seek this tax benefit, when in fact they may have 

qualified for it. This caused or was likely to cause consumers substantial injury that was 

not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or 

to competition. 

29. Therefore, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of 

§§ 1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 5531(c)(l). 
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Minimum-Payment-Due Statements 

30. For numerous Acquired Loans exiting their grace status and entering 

repayment, Respondent overstated the minimum amount due on the borrowers' online 

and paper account statements. 

31. The minimum payment amount Respondent presented on those 

statements included (1) the actual minimum amount due on loans in or approaching 

repayment and (2) interest accrued on loans that were still in deferment and thus not 

required to be paid. Respondent's inclusion of interest accrued on loans still in 

deferment led to substantial overstatements of the minimum payment due in many 

cases. 

32. During the Relevant Period, Respondent overstated the minimum 

payment due in nearly 30,000 account statements sent to roughly 7,000 borrowers. 

33· Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

34. As described in paragraphs 30-32 above, in connection with servicing the 

Acquired Loans, in numerous instances, Respondent represented, expressly or 

impliedly, on borrower account statements an inaccurate minimum monthly payment 

due. 

35. In fact, the actual amounts owed by Acquired Loan borrowers under the 

terms of their loans were often far less than Respondent's account statements reflected. 

Thus, Respondent's representations as described in paragraphs 30-32 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Inappropriate Collection Call Times 

36. Prior to February 2013, Respondent initiated over 150,000 collection calls 

to the cellular phone numbers of student-loan borrowers before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. in 

the time zone of the consumer's address. 

37· For borrowers whose cell phone number area code corresponded with a 

time zone different from the time zone of the customer's mailing address, Respondent's 

collection calls frequently occurred before 7 a.m. and after 10 p.m. in the time zone of 

the consumer's address. 

38. Many of these consumers may have received multiple collection calls at 

these inconvenient times. Over 1,000 consumers received dozens of calls at 

inconvenient hours. 

39· Under the CFPA, an act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

40. Respondent's practice of placing collection calls at inconvenient times was 

likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or 

ouhveighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

41. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of §§ 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 5531(c)(l). 

Defaulted Acquired Loans 

42. Some of the Acquired Loans -- at least 6,074 -- were in charged-off status 

at the time Respondent purchased them (Defaulted Acquired Loans). 

43. Although most Defaulted Acquired Loans were referred to third-party 

debt-collection firms, others remained with Respondent for collection. 

10 



2015-CFPB-0016     Document 1     Filed 07/22/2015     Page 11 of 28

44. Respondent proceeded to collect on approximately 252 of those Defaulted 

Acquired Loans, making an initial communication with the borrowers by phone. 

45· With respect to the Defaulted Student Loans, Respondent was a "debt 

collector" under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA). 

46. Section 809 of the FDCPA requires debt collectors, such as Respondent 

with respect to the Defaulted Acquired Loans, to provide consumers with specific 

information about the amount and source of the debt and the consumers' right to 

contest the debt's validity. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1)-(5). That information must be 

provided during the debt collector's initial communication with the consumer or in a 

written debt-validation notice sent within five days of that initial communication. 15 

U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

47. Respondent failed to comply with those FDCPA requirements in its initial 

collection contact to approximately 252 consumers. 

48. Therefore, Respondent violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g in its initial 

collection activity regarding the Defaulted Acquired Loans. 

ORDER 

v 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

49. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

acting in the course of representing Respondent on student-loan-servicing matters who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its service providers, 
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affiliates, and other agents do not violate, §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536, by taking the following affirmative actions : 

a. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, is permanently 

restrained from: 

1. Placing any calls to consumers before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. 

as determined by the time zone of the consumer's knm-vn address and the 

time zone of the consumer's phone number, unless the consumer has 

expressly authorized Respondent to make calls within those time frames. 

To the extent Respondent has multiple addresses or phone numbers for 

the consumer, Respondent must ensure that any calls made to the 

consumer fall within the 8 a.m. to 9 p.m. window in each location in which 

the consumer might reside based on the address and phone information 

known to Respondent; and 

n. Failing to comply with the requirements of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C § 1692 et seq., including the notice provisions in 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a), 

with respect to any defaulted debt Respondent acquires. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with servicing loans, may not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, to consumers: 

1. the minimum periodic payment owed by consumers; 

u. the amount of interest paid by consumers; or 

m. any other fact material to consumers concerning the 

servicing of their loans. 
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c. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with 

servicing the Acquired Loans, must take the following affirmative actions: 

1. send Acquired Loan borrowers without IRS W-9S forms on 

file with Respondent a blank W-9S form to complete; Respondent must 

also provide a system for borrowers to submit W-9S forms electronically; 

n. explain in a letter accompanying the blank W -9S form that 

the Respondent requires the borrower to submit the W-9S form before 

Respondent will issue them a Form 1098-E specifying the amount of 

student-loan interest they paid; 

111. continue to provide clear and prominent disclosures on its 

website, account statements, and other notices to Acquired Loan 

borrowers that borrowers must complete and provide Respondent with a 

W-9S form before Respondent will issue the borrower a Form 1098-E; and 

1v. submit, v.�thin ten (10) days of the Effective Date, 

Respondent's proposed website, account statement, or other notice to 

Acquired Loan borrowers about Respondent's W-9S form requirement to 

the Enforcement Director for approval; and 

v. notify the Bureau within 7 days of the IRS's response to 

Respondent's request for a private-letter ruling as to whether the borrower 

certifications in the Acquired Loan notes suffice to render the loans 

Qualified Education Loans for purposes of the Internal Revenue Code 

provisions relating to the student-loan tax deduction. Respondent will 

provide the Enforcement Director with a copy of the IRS's response, 

including any private-letter ruling issued by the agency. 
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VI 
Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

so. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's student-loan-servicing activities 

comply with the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan 

must include, at a minimum: 

a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 

b. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of those steps. 

51. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional 

Director within 30 days. 

52. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 
Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53· The Board or a committee thereof must review the Redress Plan and 

Compliance Plan required by this Consent Order before submission to the Bureau. 
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54. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Bureau, the Board ·will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

55· In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board or a committee 

thereof must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance v.rith Board directives related to this section. 

VIII 
Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit 

into a segregated deposit account not less than $16 million for the purpose of providing 

redress to Affected Consumers as required by this section. 

57· Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Regional Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent v.rith this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The Regional 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 
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Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs the 

Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director v.rithin 20 days. After receiving 

notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

sB. The Redress Plan must contain the follov.ring elements for the Affected 

Consumer classes set forth below: 

a. Tax-Information Consumers: 

1. Describe the 2015 Tax Program, which provided, 

a. free tax consultation and advice from Ernst & Young or a 

tax advisor of similar quality to assist consumers in 

determining whether to file an amended tax return for 

the tax years 2011 and 2012; 

b. free tax amendment services from specified tax preparers 

to enable affected borrowers to file amended tax returns 

for 2011 and 2012 and up to $300 in reimbursement if 

the borrowers chose to use their own tax preparer for 

those senrices, which reimbursement is available until 

March 31, 2016; and 

c. up to $200.00 of basic state and federal tax-preparation 

services for the 2014 tax year from H&R Block or similar 

tax preparation firms. 
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n. Identify, by March 31, 2016, all Tax-Information Consumers 

who did not participate in the 2015 Tax Program or its 2014 predecessor 

(the Remaining Tax-Information Consumers) and issue an account credit 

of $75 for each Relevant Tax Year. For purposes of this subparagraph, the 

term Relevant Tax Year means tax year 2011 or 2012. If Respondent is no 

longer servicing the Remaining Tax-Information Consumer's student 

loans, Respondent will send that consumer $75 for each Relevant Tax Year 

and will use best efforts to identify the consumer's current address. 

n1. Require Respondent to send a letter, which the Enforcement 

Director has approved, to all Tax-Information Consumers receiving the 

credits or payments required in subparagraph (a)(ii) that explains the 

reasons for the credit or payment and the amount being provided. 

1v. Respondent represents that it has already provided the 

contemplated redress to certain Tax Information Consumers. This redress 

shall be documented as part of the Redress Plan and shall include an 

accounting of amounts Respondent has already provided to those 

consumers. 

b. Minimum-Payment Consumers: 

1. Identify the Minimum-Payment Consumers who paid 

Respondent more than the actual minimum monthly payment due and the 

amount of the overpayment; and 

n. Require Respondent to issue an account credit equal to the 

greater of $100 or 10% of the overpayment, up to $500 (the Minimum

Payment-Account Credit). If the Respondent is no longer servicing the 
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Minimum-Payment Consumer's student loans, Respondent will send that 

consumer a check in an amount equal to the Minimum-Payment-Account 

Credit and vvill use best efforts to identify the consumer's current address; 

and 

111. Require Respondent to send a letter, which the Enforcement 

Director has approved, to all Minimum-Payment Consumers receiving 

credits or payments required under subparagraph (b)(ii) that explains the 

reasons for the credit or payment and the amount being provided. 

c. Call-Time Consumers: 

1. Identify all Call-Time Consumers who received (a) 6-25 

Contacts or Attempted Calls and (b) in excess of 25 Contacts or Attempted 

Calls; 

11. Require Respondent to issue an account credit of (a) $92 to 

each Call-Time Consumer who received 6-25 Contacts or Attempted Calls 

and (b) $142 to each Call-Time Consumer who received in excess of 25 

calls (Call-Time-Account Credit). If Respondent is no longer servicing the 

Call-Time Consumer's student loans, Respondent will send the consumer a 

check in an amount equal to the Call-Time-Account Credit and use best 

efforts to identify the consumer's current address; and 

111. Require Respondent to send a letter, which the Enforcement 

Director has approved, to all Call-Time Consumers receiving credits or 

payments required under subparagraph (c)(ii) that explains the reasons 

for the credits or payments and the amount being provided. 
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59. If redress amounts remain after the Redress Plan is completed, within 30 

days of the completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring 

instructions, all remaining redress amounts. The Bureau may use these remaining funds 

to pay additional redress to Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole 

discretion, that additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau 

will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will 

have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this section. 

60. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

61. Under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $2.5 

million to the Bureau. 

62. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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63. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order "'rill be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by§ 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

64. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

65. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the chril money penalty paid in this 

action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a 

Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. Such a payment '"rill not be considered an additional civil money penalty and 

,.yjll not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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X 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

67. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

68. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer-identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

69. Until the Termination Date, and within 30 days of the entry of a final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must 

notify the Regional Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

v.rriting. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent 

paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Respondent must notify the Regional Director of any development that 

may affect compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in 
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the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; 

the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a 

change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 

30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the 

development, whichever is sooner. 

71. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate vvritten compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board or a 

committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under section 

XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

72. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

XII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of 

this Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 
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oversight or managerial responsibilities related to the student-loan-servicing activities 

that are the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

74. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have oversight or managerial responsibilities related to the student-loan-servicing 

activities that are the subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

75 · Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this section. 

XIII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Respondent must create, or maintain, for at least 5 years from the Effective 

Date, the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; and 

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

section VIII above. 
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77. Respondent must retain the documents identified in paragraph 76 for at 

least 5 years. 

78. Respondent must make the documents identified in paragraph 76 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, \\rith the subject line, "In re Discover Bank, File No. 2015-

CFPB-0016," and send them: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) or by first-class mail, as 

follows: 

Regional Director, Bureau Midwest Region 
230 South Dearborn Street 
Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 
and 

b. Contemporaneously by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov 

XV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

8o. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the 

identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or control 

\\rithin 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 
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81. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described above. Respondent 

must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. Respondent 

must cause Respondent's officers, employees, representatives, or agents to appear for 

interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may 

reasonably request upon reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may 

designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XVI 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau related to 

Respondent's compliance with this Consent Order, Respondent must submit additional 

compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under penalty 

of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

83. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview on the subject matter. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

84. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 
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86. The Bureau may modify any non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) if the 

Enforcement Director determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Bureau must be in writing. 

XVIII 
Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

87. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise 

prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in paragraph 88. 

88. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance '\-vith the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

89. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under§ 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 
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go. This Consent Order v.rill terminate on the Termination Date. If such action 

is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of this Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 

upheld on appeal, then this Consent Order v.rill terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. This Consent Order v.rill remain effective and enforceable until the 

Termination Date, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have 

been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

91. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be 

based on calendar days, unless otherv.rise noted. 

92. The prmrisions of this Consent Order v.rill be enforceable by the Bureau. 

For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c). In 

connection v.rith any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

93. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the 

complete agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and 

the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

94. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allov.ring the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this �J.1ay of July 2015. 
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CFPB Orders Discover Bank to Pay $18.5 
Million for Illegal Student Loan Servicing 
Practices
Discover’s Illegal Servicing Practices Affected Private Student Loan 
Borrowers Transferred from Citibank

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
took action against Discover Bank and its affiliates for illegal private student loan 
servicing practices. The CFPB found that Discover overstated the minimum amounts 
due on billing statements and denied consumers information they needed to obtain 
federal income tax benefits. The company also engaged in illegal debt collection tactics, 
including calling consumers early in the morning and late at night. The CFPB’s order 
requires Discover to refund $16 million to consumers, pay a $2.5 million penalty, and 
improve its billing, student loan interest reporting, and collection practices.

“Discover created student debt stress for borrowers by inflating their bills and 
misleading them about important benefits,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Illegal servicing and debt collection practices add insult to injury for borrowers 
struggling to pay back their loans. Today’s action is an important step in the Bureau’s 
work to clean up the student loan servicing market.”

Discover Bank is an Illinois-based depository institution. Its student loan affiliates – 
The Student Loan Corporation and Discover Products, Inc. – are also charged in today’s 
action. Beginning in 2010, Discover expanded its private student loan portfolio by 
acquiring more than 800,000 accounts from Citibank. As a loan servicer, Discover is 
responsible for providing basic services to borrowers, including accurate periodic 
account statements, supplying year-end tax information, and contacting borrowers 
regarding overdue amounts.

Student loans make up the nation’s second largest consumer debt market. The market 
has grown rapidly in the last decade. Today there are more than 40 million federal and 
private student loan borrowers and collectively these consumers owe more than $1.2 
trillion. The market is now facing an increasing number of borrowers who are 
struggling to stay current on their loans. Earlier this year, the Bureau revealed that 
more than 8 million borrowers were in default on more than $110 billion in student 
loans, a problem that may be driven by breakdowns in student loan servicing. While 
private student loans are a small portion of the overall market, they are generally used 
by borrowers with high levels of debt who also have federal loans. 

Today’s action demonstrates how Discover failed at providing the most basic functions 
of adequate student loan servicing for a portion of the loans that were transferred from 
Citibank. Thousands of consumers encountered problems as soon as their loans became 
due and Discover gave them account statements that overstated their minimum 
payment. Discover denied consumers information that they would have needed to 
obtain tax benefits and called consumers’ mobile phones at inappropriate times to 
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contact them about their debts. The CFPB concluded that the company and its affiliates 
violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s 
prohibitions against unfair and deceptive acts and practices, and also the Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act. Specifically, the CFPB found that the company:

• Overstated the minimum amount due in billing statements: Discover 
overstated the minimum amount due for certain borrowers who were just starting 
to pay off their student loan debts. The minimum payment due incorrectly 
included interest on loans that were still in deferment and were not required to be 
paid. For some borrowers this overpayment meant diverting payments from other 
expenses; for others it meant not paying at all because they thought they could not 
come close to making the full payment and instead accrued associated penalties. 

• Misrepresented on its website the amount of student loan interest 
paid: The tax code permits taxpayers to deduct student loan interest paid during 
the year under certain conditions. Servicers are required to provide borrowers 
with a statement specifying how much the borrower paid in interest, if it was 
more than $600. Discover did not provide the Citibank private student loan 
borrowers with the customary tax information form it provided to its other 
borrowers, unless those borrowers submitted certain paperwork. For those 
borrowers who did not submit that additional form, their online interest 
statements on Discover’s website in 2011 and 2012 reflected $0.00 in interest 
paid. Discover did not explain that the borrowers were required to fill out a form 
to get the correct amount of interest they paid. This zero interest statement was 
likely to mislead consumers into believing that they did not qualify for the student 
loan tax deduction, potentially causing consumers to not seek important tax 
benefits. 

• Illegally called consumers early in the morning and late at night, often 
excessively: Discover placed more than 150,000 calls to student loan borrowers 
at inappropriate times – before 8 a.m. and after 9 p.m. in the borrower’s time 
zone. Discover learned about these violations in October 2012 but failed to 
address the problem until February 2013. 

• Engaged in illegal debt collection tactics: Discover acquired a portfolio of 
defaulted debt from Citibank but failed to comply with the consumer notices 
required by federal law. For example, the company failed to provide consumers 
with specific information about the amount and source of the debt and the 
consumer’s right to contest the debt’s validity. That information must be provided 
during the debt collector’s initial communication or in a written notice 
immediately following that initial communication. 

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. Among the terms of the 
consent order filed today, Discover must:

• Return $16 million to more than 100,000 borrowers: Specifically, 
Discover will: 

◦ Provide an account credit (or a check if the loans are no longer serviced by 
Discover) to the consumers who were misled about their minimum 
payments in an amount equal to the greater of $100 or 10 percent of the 
overpayment, up to $500. About 5,200 victims will get this credit;

◦ Reimburse up to $300 in tax preparation costs for consumers who amend 
their 2011 or 2012 tax returns to claim student loan interest deductions. For 
consumers who do not participate in this tax program or did not take 
advantage of earlier ones offered by the company, Discover will issue an 
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account credit of $75 (or a check if their loans are no longer serviced by 
Discover) for each relevant tax year. About 130,000 victims will receive this 
relief; and 

◦ Provide account credits of $92 to consumers subjected to more than five but 
fewer than 25 out-of-time collection calls and account credits of $142 to 
consumers subjected to more than 25 calls. About 5,000 victims will receive 
these credits.

• Accurately represent the minimum periodic payment: Discover cannot 
misrepresent to consumers the minimum periodic payment owed, the amount of 
interest paid, or any other factual material concerning the servicing of their loans. 

• Send clear and accurate student loan interest and tax information to 
borrowers: Discover must send borrowers the IRS W-9S form that it requires 
them to complete to receive a form 1098 from the company, and it must clearly 
explain its W-9S requirement to borrowers. Discover must also accurately state 
the amount of student loan interest borrowers paid during the year.

• Cease making calls to consumers before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m.: Discover 
must contact overdue borrowers at reasonable times. This will be determined by 
the time zone of the consumer’s known residence or phone number, unless the 
consumer has expressly authorized Discover to call outside these hours. 

• Pay $2.5 million civil penalty: Discover will pay $2.5 million to the CFPB’s 
Civil Penalty Fund.

A copy of the consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order-in-the-matter-of-
discover-bank-student-loan-corporation.pdf 

This order comes as the Bureau considers steps to ensure that all student loan 
borrowers have access to adequate student loan servicing. Last year, the Bureau 
expanded its examination program to supervise the largest nonbank participants in the 
student loan servicing market. In October, the Bureau released an edition of 
Supervisory Highlights identifying a range of illegal student loan servicing practices at 
one or more companies. Earlier this year, the Bureau was joined by leaders from the 
Department of Education and the Department of the Treasury in launching a public 
inquiry into student loan servicing practices. 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SACRAMENTO DIVISION 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

BUREAU,

 Plaintiff, 

v.

STUDENT FINANCIAL AID SERVICES, 

INC.,

 Defendant. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.:  

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
AND DAMAGES

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) alleges the following against 

Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. (“SFAS” or “Company”): 

JURISDICTION AND ENFORCEMENT AUTHORITY 

1. The Bureau brings this action against SFAS for engaging in unfair and deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; engaging in deceptive telemarketing acts or 

practices under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 6101 et seq., and its implementing rule, the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 
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C.F.R. part 310; and initiating recurring, preauthorized electronic fund transfers from 

consumers’ accounts without the required written authorization, in violation of the 

Electronic Fund Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 

1005.10(b). 

2. The Bureau has authority to file suit to enforce the relevant provisions of the CFPA, 

EFTA, and TSR pursuant to sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 

5565; section 918 of the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693o; and section 6 of the Telemarketing and 

Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102 and 6105.  

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it concerns federal 

consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 

and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

4. Venue is proper in this district because the Defendant, SFAS, maintains its principal 

place of business in the Eastern District of California. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f). 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, is an independent agency of the 

United States charged with regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial 

products and services under federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The 

Bureau has independent litigating authority. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a) and (b). 

6. Defendant Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its 

principal place of business at 9738 Lincoln Village Drive, Suite 130, Sacramento, California. 

7. SFAS is a covered person under the CFPA because it offers and provides “financial 

advisory services,” as that term is used in section 1002(15)(A)(viii) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(15)(A)(viii). 

8. SFAS offers fee-based financial aid assistance and preparation services, including 

consultation, advice, and assistance preparing the federal government’s Free Application for 

Federal Student Aid (“FAFSA”). Defendant has characterized its services as involving 

financial aid assistance and preparation services that include application consultation and 
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guidance on student loans.  

9. From at least July 21, 2011 to the present (the “Relevant Period”), Defendant has 

operated websites, including FAFSA.com and SFAS.com, and related call centers, where it 

has offered FAFSA preparation services online or over the telephone, for a fee.1

10. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS’s offer or provision of consultative and 

preparation services to consumers on their individual student financial aid applications 

constituted offering or providing financial advisory services.  

11. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS’s offer or provision of financial aid counseling 

to consumers about educational financing, including the source and availability of 

educational grants and loans, constituted providing financial advisory services.  

12. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS has engaged in offering and providing 

consultative and preparation services to consumers on their individual student financial aid 

applications.

13. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS has engaged in offering or providing financial 

aid counseling to consumers about educational financing. 

14. SFAS is a “person” as that term is used in Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(j), and the 

TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(w), because it is a corporation.  

15. SFAS is a “seller,” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa), because it is a person 

who, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, offers or provides goods or services in 

exchange for a fee. 

16. SFAS is a “telemarketer,” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(cc), because it is a 

person who, in connection with telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or 

from consumers. 

17. Throughout the Relevant Period, Defendant has engaged in telemarketing as a seller 

and as a telemarketer in connection with offering FAFSA consultation and preparation 

services to consumers. 

                                                           
1 Effective July 13, 2015, SFAS no longer offers financial aid assistance or preparation 
services at the web domain FAFSA.com. 
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18. Throughout the Relevant Period, Defendant has marketed its services, including the 

Gold and Combo Services described in paragraph 29 below, through inbound and outbound 

calls with consumers. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Overview of Free and Paid FAFSA Preparation Services 

19. The Free Application for Federal Student Aid, or FAFSA, is a free form available 

through the U.S. Department of Education. Students and prospective students must fill out 

the FAFSA to apply for federal student aid, including federal grants and loans. The FAFSA is 

also used by many states and colleges to determine students’ eligibility for financial aid from 

the state or the school. 

20. The FAFSA can be completed for free online at the official FAFSA website, 

FAFSA.ED.gov. That website is maintained by Federal Student Aid, the office of the U.S. 

Department of Education that administers the FAFSA. Federal Student Aid offers a 

telephone help line and an online chat function to assist consumers with filling out the 

FAFSA, for free. 

21. From at least July 21, 2011 until July 13, 2015, SFAS operated the website 

FAFSA.com, and related call centers, where it offered FAFSA preparation services online or 

over the telephone, for a fee.  

22. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS has operated the website SFAS.com, and 

related call centers, where it offers FAFSA preparation services online or over the telephone, 

for a fee. 

23. On its website, SFAS has offered that its paid FAFSA-preparation services included 

access to “an experienced Student Aid Advisor who can . . . [a]nswer any questions you may 

have regarding FAFSA or the financial aid process in general [and] [w]alk you through the 

difficult financial sections of the FAFSA, including tax forms and estimates.”  

24. SFAS has also offered, as stated on its website, that: “Our team of professional 

Student Aid Advisors have expertise in the very specific area of applying for federal student 

aid. Similar to hiring a tax accountant to advise you and prepare your tax returns, our 
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Advisors will guide you through the steps needed to get you prepared to file the all-

important FAFSA — from beginning to end we will be your source for information and 

advice.”  

25. On its website, SFAS has offered: “[O]ur unique service provides expertise, advice, 

and guidance throughout the student aid process. Our team of Student Aid Advisors is 

available to you year-round, and we will keep you informed every step of the way.” 

26. SFAS has also offered, as stated on its website, that: “If the aid package is not enough 

to cover educational costs parents and students could consider applying for a private loan as 

a last resort. Our Loan Help™ service, included with the paid FAFSA service, can offer 

education and guidance regarding private student loans.” 

27. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS has charged consumers up to $79.99 for its 

online FAFSA preparation services. 

28. Throughout the Relevant Period, SFAS has charged consumers up to $99.99 for its 

telephonic FAFSA preparation services. 

Automatic, Recurring Charges

29. During the Relevant Period, the Company offered at least three FAFSA preparation 

plans subject to automatic, recurring charges: FAFSA Gold, FAFSA Gold Combo, and FAFSA 

+ College Cost & Planning Report (“FAFSA CCPR Combo”), referred to herein as the “Gold 

and Combo services.”  

30. The Company offered the Gold and Combo services through at least the beginning of 

2015.

31. The Gold and Combo services operated like subscription plans, without a fixed end 

date. 

32. Under the Gold and Combo services, customers were placed on a “negative option” 

renewal plan, meaning that their accounts were charged again, for subsequent years’ FAFSA 

preparations, whether or not the customers made use of the Company’s services in future 

years, unless the customers took an affirmative action to avoid the charges or the charges 

were otherwise terminated by the Company.  
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33. SFAS processed future charges against consumers’ accounts annually, for up to four 

years, unless: (1) the consumer affirmatively asked the Company to cancel the service; (2) 

the Company identified the consumer as having been charged for two consecutive years 

without filing the FAFSA through the Company; (3) the Company became aware that the 

consumer would not be attending school the following year; (4) the Company was unable to 

process the recurring charge; or (5) the consumer elected to opt-out of receiving future 

marketing communications from the Company. 

34. The Company characterized the Gold and Combo services as an upgrade from its 

“standard” service level at “no additional cost.” But in fact, there were additional costs: 

future annual fees of $67 to $85 attached to the Gold and Combo Services, which were 

charged automatically to the consumer’s card or bank account on file for up to four years. 

35. Recurring charges to the consumer’s account were not clearly explained or disclosed 

truthfully to the consumer at the time of the purchase. 

36. When consumers signed up for the FAFSA online through FAFSA.com or SFAS.com, 

the Gold service was the default selection on the payment page.  

37. On the payment webpage, the only reference to the fact that there were recurring, 

automatic fees associated with the Gold and Combo services was the statement that Gold 

clients received “worry-free annual billing.*”  

38. The asterisk on the payment page after the words “worry-free annual billing” referred 

to the document titled “Terms of Use.” 

39. The Terms of Use was approximately 6500 words long.  

40. The Terms of Use discussed automatic billing, briefly, in the middle of the text.  

41. The discussion of automatic billing in the Terms of Use did not mention the Gold or 

Combo services or indicate that there was a negative option feature — an obligation to 

cancel, or else be charged again — attached to the Gold and Combo services. 

42. The Terms of Use did not indicate that choosing the Gold or Combo services 

constituted an agreement to be charged a fee of $67 to $85 annually for an unspecified 

number of years.  
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43. The Company accepted and received payments from consumers for its Gold and 

Combo services by credit card, debit card, and through ACH electronic check transactions. 

44. The Company accepted and received payments from consumers for its Gold and 

Combo services by means of the telephone and the Internet. 

45. The Company did not distinguish between credit card and debit card transactions on 

its payment webpage when receiving payment from consumers. 

46. The Company did not ask consumers to specify whether the card provided for 

payment was a debit card. 

47. The Company did not maintain procedures reasonably adapted to avoid errors in 

obtaining written authorization from consumers who paid by electronic funds transfer. 

48. In certain instances, consumers affirmatively indicated to SFAS that they were 

making payments with a debit card or means other than by credit card, including by 

electronic check.  

49. Consumers did not provide signed or electronically verified authorization to the 

Company authorizing recurring, annual electronic fund transfers from their accounts.  

50. The Company did not provide consumers a copy of the consumers’ authorization for 

electronic fund transfers in which the terms of the preauthorized transfers — including the 

automatic, recurring charges going forward — were clear and readily understandable. 

51. Immediately after purchasing a Gold or Combo service, the written payment 

notification consumers received from SFAS was a confirmation email, which contained a 

link to a receipt for the original payment transaction.  

52. The confirmation email SFAS sent to Gold and Combo purchasers did not indicate 

that the consumer was enrolled to pay SFAS on a recurring schedule in the future, nor did it 

include information about when the future charges would be processed, in what amounts, or 

for how long. 

53. The confirmation email SFAS sent to Gold and Combo purchasers did not indicate 

that SFAS would charge the consumer for subsequent years’ FAFSA preparation services 

regardless of whether the consumer elected to use the Company’s services again. 
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54. The transaction receipt that consumers could access through the confirmation email 

contained the amount the consumer was being charged up front, the order number, and the 

consumer’s billing information, but contained no information about the consumer’s 

purported authorization for automatic, recurring charges. 

55. The transaction receipt that consumers could access through the confirmation email 

did not state the dollar amount of the future charges, the dates when the charges would be 

processed, or for how long. 

56. The transaction receipt that consumers could access through the confirmation email 

did not state that the consumer would be charged again in subsequent years regardless of 

whether the consumer elected to use the Company’s services again. 

Telemarketing and Upselling the Gold and Combo Services over the Telephone 

57. SFAS telemarketed the Gold and Combo services through inbound and outbound 

phone calls with consumers. 

58. While on the phone with consumers, SFAS instructed its telephone agents to try to 

sell or upsell consumers the Gold service. The Company incentivized its telephone agents to 

sell or upsell consumers to the Gold and Combo services by rewarding them for sales of 

those plans and penalizing them when they missed an opportunity for the sale. 

59. SFAS’s training materials, call scripts, and quality control checklists required its 

telephone agents to offer the Gold service to “standard” clients, as an upgrade.  

60. When offering the Gold service, however, the Company’s scripts only instructed the 

telephone agent to mention “worry-free annual billing,” using those words.  

61. When offering or closing a sale of the Gold or Combo services, the Company’s 

telephone agents did not clearly disclose that the consumer’s credit card or debit card would 

be charged each year regardless of whether the consumer was still attending school or 

making use of the Company’s FAFSA preparation service in the following application year.  

62. The Company’s scripts instructed its telephone agents to tell consumers that they 

would receive an “upgrade … at no additional cost to our Gold status.” 

63. The Company’s representations over the telephone did not include clear and 
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understandable information about the negative option feature of its Gold and Combo 

services — that is, the fact that customers’ accounts would be charged again in future years, 

whether or not the consumer made use of the service in future years, unless customers took 

an affirmative action to avoid the charges or unless the charges were otherwise terminated 

by the Company.   

64. The Company did not provide customers with clear and understandable information 

about the dates of subsequent charges, the amount of the charges, or the specific steps 

customers must take to avoid those charges in future years.  

65. Consumer complaints and recorded phone calls confirm that consumers were misled 

by the Company’s failure to adequately disclose the recurring charges and negative option 

feature attached to its Gold and Combo services.  

66. At the time they signed up for the service, many consumers believed the fee to be a 

one-time charge, and did not authorize the Company to initiate subsequent charges, 

including electronic funds transfers, on an annual basis.  

67. During the Relevant Period, SFAS processed approximately 206,000 automatic 

charges against the accounts of consumers who did not file a FAFSA during that application 

year through the Company. 

68. The recurring annual charges ranged from approximately $67 to $85 per charge.   

COUNT 1: SFAS DECEIVED CONSUMERS ABOUT AUTOMATIC FEES IT 
CHARGED FOR CERTAIN SERVICE PLANS IN VIOLATION OF THE 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

69. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated here by reference. 

70. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits covered persons from committing 

“deceptive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

71. Through the websites FAFSA.com and SFAS.com, and through telephone 

communications, SFAS’s representations and omissions created a misleading net 

impression regarding the total amount and recurring nature of the fees charged under its 

Gold and Combo services. 

Case 2:15-at-00821   Document 1   Filed 07/23/15   Page 9 of 15



- 10 - 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND DAMAGES

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

72. Over the telephone and on the Company’s website, SFAS misleadingly characterized 

the Gold and Combo services as a free upgrade from its standard service, without accurately 

disclosing, in readily understandable terms, that Gold and Combo service participants are 

subject to automatic, recurring charges each year for an unspecified number of years, even if 

they do not elect to use the Company’s services in subsequent years. 

73. The Company’s representations, acts, and omissions affected or were likely to affect 

consumers’ decisions to purchase the Company’s services. 

74. The Company’s representations, acts, and omissions resulted in monetary harm to 

consumers, including unauthorized charges to consumer accounts and fees associated 

therewith.  

75. The Company’s representations, acts, and omissions were material. 

76. Therefore, the Company’s representations, acts, and omissions constituted 

“deceptive” acts or practices that violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT 2: SFAS UNFAIRLY SUBJECTED CONSUMERS TO AUTOMATIC, 
RECURRING CHARGES IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 

PROTECTION ACT 

77. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated here by reference. 

78. Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibit covered persons from 

committing “unfair” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

79. Under Section 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA, an act or practice is unfair if “(A) the act or 

practice causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition.” 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1)(A) and (B). 

80. Through the websites FAFSA.com and SFAS.com, and over the telephone, SFAS 

unfairly charged consumers under its Gold and Combo services on an automatic, recurring 

basis without their authorization for future charges.   

81. The Company’s acts and practices caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to 
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consumers. 

82. The injuries to consumers include charges that were not authorized by the consumers 

and third-party fees associated with those charges. 

83. The injuries to consumers also include being subject to billing practices for which 

they did not bargain. 

84. The injuries to consumers were not reasonably avoidable because the facts of the 

recurring charges and negative option feature were not clearly explained or disclosed to 

consumers at the time of the purchase.  Many consumers did not understand that there were 

recurring charges attached to the Gold and Combo services and, as such, did not anticipate 

the recurring charge and affirmatively cancel the service prior to those charges.  

85. The injuries to consumers are not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

86. Therefore, the Company’s acts and practices constituted “unfair” acts or practices 

that violate sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT 3: SFAS DECEIVED CONSUMERS ABOUT MATERIAL ASPECTS OF ITS 
SERVICES, IN VIOLATION OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(1)(vii) 

87. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated here by reference. 

88. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.3(a)(1)(vii), for any seller or telemarketer to fail to disclose truthfully, in a clear and 

conspicuous manner, before a customer consents to pay for goods or services, if the offer 

includes a negative option feature, all material terms and conditions of the negative option 

feature, including that a customer’s account will be charged unless the customer takes an 

affirmative action to avoid the charges, the dates the charges will be submitted for payment, 

and the specific steps the customer must take to avoid the charges.   

89. SFAS’s solicitation of Gold and Combo services to consumers through outbound 

telephone calls constituted “telemarketing,” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 
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90. SFAS’s solicitation of Gold and Combo services to consumers over the telephone, 

including on inbound phone calls, constituted “upselling,” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.2(ee). 

91. The automatic, recurring charges attached to the Gold and Combo services 

constituted a “negative option feature,” as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(u). 

92. In numerous instances during the relevant time period, in connection with soliciting 

the Gold and Combo services to consumers over the telephone, SFAS requested and received 

payments over the phone for its Gold and Combo services and, before the consumer 

consented to pay, failed to disclose truthfully, in a clear and conspicuous manner, all 

material terms and conditions of the negative option feature of its Gold and Combo services, 

including that a customer’s account will be charged unless the customer takes an affirmative 

action to avoid the charges (or unless the charges are otherwise cancelled), the dates the 

charges will be submitted for payment, and the specific steps the customer must take to 

avoid the charges. Therefore, SFAS engaged in deceptive telemarketing acts or practices in 

violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(vii). 

93. Because SFAS is a “covered person,” its conduct in violation of the TSR is also 

unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1). 

COUNT 4: SFAS DECEIVED CONSUMERS ABOUT MATERIAL ASPECTS OF ITS 
SERVICES, IN VIOLATION OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(ix) 

94. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 70 and 91 through 93 are incorporated here 

by reference. 

95. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 

310.3(a)(2)(ix), for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, directly or by implication, in 

the sale of goods or services, any material aspect of a negative option feature including, but 

not limited to, the fact that the customer’s account will be charged unless the customer takes 

an affirmative action to avoid the charges, the dates the charges will be submitted for 
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payment, and the specific steps the consumer must take to avoid the charges.  

96. In numerous instances during the relevant time period, in connection with soliciting 

the Gold and Combo services to consumers over the telephone, SFAS misrepresented the 

material terms and conditions of the negative option feature of its Gold and Combo services, 

including that a customer’s account will be charged unless the customer takes an affirmative 

action to avoid the charges (or otherwise triggered a cancellation), the dates the charges will 

be submitted for payment, and the specific steps the customer must take to avoid the 

charges.   

97. Therefore, SFAS engaged in deceptive telemarketing acts or practices in violation of 

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ix). 

98. Because SFAS is a “covered person,” its conduct in violation of the TSR is also 

unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1). 

COUNT 5: SFAS VIOLATED THE ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER ACT AND 
REGULATION E 

99. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated here by reference. 

100. The Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA), 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), states that a 

“preauthorized electronic fund transfer from a consumer’s account may be authorized by the 

consumer only in writing, and a copy of such authorization shall be provided to the 

consumer when made.” 

101. Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b), which implements EFTA, states that 

“Preauthorized electronic fund transfers from a consumer’s account may be authorized only 

by a writing signed or similarly authenticated by the consumer. The person that obtains the 

authorization shall provide a copy to the consumer.”  

102. SFAS accepted and received payments from consumers by, among other means, debit 

card and ACH electronic check transactions from consumer accounts. 

103. Debit card and ACH electronic check transactions are electronic fund transfers 
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subject to EFTA and Regulation E. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.3(b)(1). 

104. The Company did not distinguish between credit card and debit card transactions on 

its payment webpage when receiving payment from consumers, did not ask consumers to 

specify whether the card to be used was a debit card, and did not maintain procedures 

reasonably adapted to avoid errors in obtaining written authorization from consumers who 

paid by electronic funds transfer. 

105. In certain instances, consumers affirmatively indicated to SFAS that they were 

making payments with a debit card or means other than by credit card, including by 

electronic check. 

106. For online and telephone transactions involving electronic fund transfers, SFAS failed 

to obtain the required written authorization from consumers authorizing the Company to 

make recurring, periodic electronic fund transfers from consumers’ accounts. 

107. SFAS initiated recurring electronic fund transfers from consumers’ accounts without 

the required authorization. 

108. The recurring electronic fund transfers initiated by SFAS were “preauthorized 

electronic fund transfers” under 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(k). 

109. SFAS failed to provide copies of any written authorization to consumers involved in 

these recurring, preauthorized electronic fund transfers. 

110. SFAS, by these actions, violated the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

1693e(a) and Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b).

111. Because SFAS is a “covered person,” its conduct in violation of Regulation E is also 

unlawful under sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

112. The Bureau requests that the Court award the following relief against Student 

Financial Aid Services: 

a. Redress to affected consumers; 

b. Injunctive relief; 
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c. Disgorgement; 

d. Rescission; 

e. Civil Money Penalties;  

f. Costs; and 

g. Additional relief the Court determines to be just and proper. 

Dated: July 23, 2015    Respectfully submitted, 

Anthony Alexis (DC Bar #384545) 
Enforcement Director 

David Rubenstein (DC Bar #458770) 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Frank Kulbaski (DC Bar #438917) 
Assistant Deputy Director 

/s/ Maureen Elin McOwen 
Maureen Elin McOwen (DC Bar #976749) 
Alan Kahn (Admitted in NY) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-9553 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329 
E-mail: molly.mcowen@cfpb.gov 
 
Attorneys for the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau
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CFPB Takes Action Against Student 
Financial Aid Services, Inc. for Illegal 
Recurring Billing Scheme
Company to Pay $5.2 Million For Illegally Billing Over 100,000 
Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau filed a 
complaint and proposed consent order in federal court against Student Financial Aid 
Services, Inc. for illegal sales and billing practices. The Bureau alleges that the 
company, which until recently operated FAFSA.com, lured in consumers with 
misleading information about the total cost of its subscription financial services and hit 
them with undisclosed and unauthorized automatic recurring charges. Under the 
proposed order, the company would halt illegal practices and pay $5.2 million, which 
would be distributed by the Bureau to harmed consumers.

“Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. made millions of dollars at the expense of 
consumers through its illegal recurring payment scheme,” said CFPB Director Richard 
Cordray. “Our enforcement action will put money back in the pockets of consumers who 
were misled while seeking to access federal student aid.” 

Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. (SFAS) is based in Sacramento, California. The 
company has operated websites, including FAFSA.com and SFAS.com, and related call 
centers, where it offers fee-based assistance to consumers filling out the federal 
government’s Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). These websites were 
not at that time affiliated with the federal government’s FAFSA program. 

According to the Bureau’s complaint, when consumers entered their payment 
information for certain financial advisory services, the company began to bill them for 
an annual subscription without the consumers’ knowledge or consent. These recurring 
charges typically ranged from $67 to $85 each year and were renewed annually. The 
company enrolled consumers in these annual subscriptions without adequate 
disclosures and imposed recurring fees without consumers’ authorization.

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. violated the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibitions against 
unfair and deceptive acts and practices by misleading consumers about the recurring 
charges. The company violated the Electronic Fund Transfer Act by failing to get 
appropriate authorization for future electronic withdrawals from consumer accounts. 
Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. also allegedly engaged in deceptive telemarketing 
practices in violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule. Specifically, the CFPB alleges 
that Student Financial Aid Services, Inc.:

• Misled consumers using deceptive sales tactics: According to the CFPB 
complaint, the company engaged in illegal sales tactics through its websites, 
FAFSA.com and SFAS.com, and through its call center representatives. The 
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company advertised certain service plans as an “upgrade” at “no additional cost.” 
In reality, consumers who signed up for those services were charged automatically 
each year, typically $67 to $85 per year. 

• Enrolled consumers in an unlawful recurring payments scheme: The 
CFPB alleges that Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. illegally enrolled customers 
in automatic recurring charges without their knowledge or consent. Thousands of 
consumers were victimized by these unlawful practices. The company also failed 
to explain the amounts and dates of those future charges, or how consumers could 
avoid those charges.

• Charged consumers without their authorization: The CFPB alleges that 
the company made recurring charges to consumer accounts without obtaining the 
legally required consumer authorization and without providing a copy of that 
authorization to consumers, as required by law.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. It 
also has the authority to take action against institutions or individuals that otherwise 
violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the proposed consent order 
filed today, Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. would be required to: 

• Pay $5.2 million in consumer relief: Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. 
would pay $5.2 million to the Bureau. The funds would be used to repay 
consumers who were allegedly illegally charged for unauthorized, recurring 
service fees.

• End illegal sales and billing practices: Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. 
would be required to cancel all recurring, automatic charges. The company would 
also be prohibited from misrepresenting the cost or price of its products or 
services.

• Pay civil money penalty: The company would also be required to pay a civil 
penalty of $1 to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. The Bureau is not seeking a larger 
penalty because of the company’s limited financial resources after repaying 
harmed consumers. By requiring the company to pay a $1 penalty, victims of the 
company’s illegal practices may be eligible for additional relief from the CFPB 
Civil Penalty Fund in the future, although that determination has not yet been 
made.

A copy of the complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_complaint-student-financial-aid-
services-inc.pdf

A copy of the proposed consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_proposed-consent-judgment-
student-financial-aid-services-inc.pdf

The proposed stipulated judgment is not a finding or ruling that the company has 
actually violated the law. It has been filed with the U.S. District Court for the Eastern 
District of California, and is only effective if it is approved by the presiding judge.

Website Transfer
On July 13, 2015 the company announced its intention to transfer the website 
FAFSA.com to the U.S. Department of Education. 
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“Students and families applying for federal student aid shouldn’t have any confusion 
about whether they’re on the official FAFSA website or a commercial website,” said 
United States Secretary of Education Arne Duncan. “This transfer will help provide 
clarity for parents and students.” 

“I applaud the Department of Education’s recent announcement to take over this 
website domain name,” said CFPB Director Cordray. “Both agencies’ actions will benefit 
consumers seeking information to advance and finance their educations.”

The U.S. Department of Education manages the federal government’s Free 
Application for Federal Student Aid program. Consumers can learn about 
their options for filing the FAFSA form at the U.S. Department of 
Education’s website https://fafsa.ed.gov/. 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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Contact us Newsroom Jobs Open government

Page 3 of 3CFPB Takes Action Against Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. for Illegal Recurring Bil...

7/30/2015http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-student-financial-ai...



- 1 - 
STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SACRAMENTO DIVISION 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

BUREAU,

 Plaintiff, 

v.

STUDENT FINANCIAL AID SERVICES, 

INC.,

 Defendant. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.: 2:15-at-00821 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND 
ORDER

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action on 

July 23, 2015, to obtain injunctive relief, damages, civil money penalties, and other relief 

from Student Financial Aid Services, Inc. (SFAS). In connection with SFAS’s marketing, 

sales, and billing practices, the Complaint alleges violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; the 

Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101 et seq., 

and its implementing rule, the Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. Part 310; and the 

Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA), 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 

1005.10(b). The Bureau and SFAS, by and through counsel, request that the Court enter this 

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (Order). 

FINDINGS

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action.  
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2. All parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of fact or 

law, to settle and resolve all matters in this dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the 

Complaint to the date this Order is entered.  

3. Defendant SFAS neither admits nor denies any allegation in the Complaint, except as 

stated in this Order. For purposes of this Order, SFAS admits the facts necessary to establish 

the Court’s jurisdiction over SFAS and the subject matter of this action.  

4. SFAS waives service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and 

waives all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the validity of this 

Order. SFAS also waives any claim it may have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 

U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action to the date of this Order. Each party 

will bear its own costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees.  

5. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.  

DEFINITIONS 

6. The following definitions apply to this Order: 

a. “Affected Consumer” means any consumer who purchased Defendant’s 

Gold and Combo services and, during the Relevant Period, was charged for 

Defendant’s FAFSA preparation services in a year in which the consumer 

did not use Defendant’s service to submit a FAFSA to the U.S. Department 

of Education. 

b. “Affiliate” means any subsidiary, parent, or sibling corporation of 

Defendant. 

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Stipulated Final Judgment 

and Order is entered. 

d. “Electronic Fund Transfer” has the same meaning as defined by 12 

C.F.R. § 1005.3(b). 

e. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegee. 
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f. “Free Application for Federal Student Aid” or “FAFSA” means the 

free application used by the U.S. Department of Education to determine a 

student’s eligibility for federal, state, and institutional assistance programs. 

g. “Gold and Combo Services” means the FAFSA preparation services 

Defendant marketed and sold under the names “FAFSA Gold,” “FAFSA 

Gold Combo,” and the “FAFSA + College Cost & Planning Report” or 

“FAFSA CCPR Combo” package.  

h. “Negative Option Feature” has the same meaning as defined by 16 

C.F.R. § 310.2(u). 

i. “Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer” has the same meaning as 

defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(k). 

j. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Defendant based on substantially the same facts as 

described in the Complaint. 

k. “Relevant Period” means the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective 

Date.

l. “Defendant” means Student Financial Aid Services, Inc., and its 

successors and assigns. 

m. “Standard Service” means FAFSA preparation services offered by 

Defendant, online or by telephone, without a Negative Option Feature. This 

includes services marketed and sold under the names “FAFSA Live,” 

“Express FAFSA,” “College Cost & Planning Report,” and the “College 

Plan.”

n. “Telemarketing” has the same meaning as defined by 16 C.F.R. § 

310.2(dd).  

o. “Upselling” has the same meaning as defined by 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(ee). 
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ORDER

I 

Conduct Provisions

IT IS ORDERED that: 

7. Defendant and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice of 

this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate, including by failing to take 

reasonable measures to ensure that its service providers, Affiliates, or other agents do not 

violate: (a) sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; (b) the TSR, 16 

C.F.R. Part 310, as authorized by the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse 

Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101 et seq.; or (c) the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and its 

implementing regulation, Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b).  

8. Defendant and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice of 

this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of any consumer financial 

product or service, are permanently restrained and enjoined from misrepresenting, or 

assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

a. The cost or price of such product or service; 

b. Any recurring charges or Negative Option Features associated with such 

product or service; 

c. That any consumer has provided authorization for future, automatic 

charges; or 

d. Any other fact material to consumers concerning any good or service, 

including, without limitation, its total cost; any material restrictions, 

limitations, or conditions; or any material aspect of its performance, 

efficacy, nature, or central characteristics. 

9. Defendant and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice of 

this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, 
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marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of any consumer financial 

product or service, are permanently restrained and enjoined from engaging in any of the 

following activities, directly or indirectly: 

a. Attaching a Negative Option Feature to any product or service that 

results in automatic charges to the consumer for future services; or 

b. Initiating a Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer from a consumer 

account without a writing signed or similarly authenticated by the 

consumer, and without providing a copy to the consumer. An 

authorization is valid only if it is readily identifiable as such and the 

terms of the preauthorized transfer are clear and readily 

understandable. 

10. As of the Effective Date, Defendant has canceled and must not reinitiate recurring, 

automatic charges, except those for which the Company has a separate, express, written 

authorization from the consumer agreeing to the specific amounts and schedule of charges. 

11. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendant will adopt reasonable procedures for 

distinguishing between payments made by Electronic Fund Transfer or by some other 

means. 

II 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

12. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan 

designed to ensure that Defendant’s sales and billing practices, in connection with FAFSA 

preparation services, comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the 

terms of this Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order; and 
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b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

13. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Defendant to revise it. If the Enforcement 

Director directs the Defendant to revise the Compliance Plan, the Defendant must make the 

revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

14. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Defendant must implement and adhere to the 

steps, requirements, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan.  

III 

Order to Pay Redress  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

15. A judgment for equitable monetary relief and damages is entered in favor of the 

Bureau and against Defendant, in the amount of $14,500,000, for the purpose of providing 

redress to Affected Consumers for the alleged violations of law described in the Complaint; 

however, full payment of this judgment will be suspended upon satisfaction of the 

obligations in paragraphs 16 and 25 of this Order, and subject to Section IV of this Order. 

16. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions, $5,200,000, towards the judgment referenced in paragraph 15 of this Order. 

17. With regard to any redress that Defendant pays under this Section, if Defendant 

receives, directly or indirectly, any reimbursement or indemnification from any source, 

including, but not limited to, payment made under any insurance policy, or if Defendant 

secures a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal, state, or local tax, Defendant 

must: (a) immediately notify the Enforcement Director in writing, and (b) within 10 days of 

receiving the funds or monetary benefit, transfer to the Bureau the full amount of such 

funds or monetary benefit (Additional Payment) to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent 
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according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions. After the Bureau receives the Additional 

Payment, that payment will be applied toward the judgment entered in paragraph 15 and the 

amount of the suspended judgment referenced in paragraph 15 will be reduced by the 

amount of the Additional Payment. 

18. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be deposited 

into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent according to 

applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for injured consumers, including, 

but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, damages, or other monetary relief, and for 

any attendant expenses for the administration of any such redress.  

19. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers is wholly or 

partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit 

any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Defendant will have no right to 

challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

20. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not be 

conditioned on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IV 

Effect of Misrepresentation or Omission Regarding Financial Condition  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

21. The Bureau’s agreement to entry of this Order was expressly premised on the 

truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of Defendant’s financial statements and 

supporting documents submitted to the Bureau in June 2015, which Defendant asserts are 

truthful, accurate, and complete.  

22. If the Court determines that Defendant has failed to disclose any material asset or 

that any of its financial statements contain any material misrepresentation or omission, 

including materially misstating the value of any asset, then the suspension of the monetary 

judgment entered in Section III will be terminated, and the Bureau can seek to enforce in 
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any Federal district court as immediately due and payable the full judgment entered in 

Section III of this Order, $14,500,000, less any amounts paid under Section III of the Order. 

23. After the reinstatement of the monetary judgment under this Section, the Bureau will 

be entitled to interest on the judgment, computed from the date of entry of this Order, at the 

rate prescribed by 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, on any outstanding amounts not paid.  

V 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

24. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law alleged in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), 

Defendant must pay a civil money penalty of $1.00 to the Bureau. 

25. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must pay the civil money penalty by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions.  

26. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

27. Defendant must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a penalty paid 

to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Defendant may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order. 

28. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Defendant may not argue that Defendant is entitled to, nor may Defendant benefit 
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by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in any Related 

Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If 

the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Defendant must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and 

pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

VI 

Additional Monetary Provisions

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

29. In the event of any default on Defendant’s obligations to make payment under this 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 

immediately become due and payable. 

30. Defendant must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Defendant. 

31. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendant, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.  

32. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Defendant must notify the Enforcement Director of the final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the 

amount of redress, if any, that Defendant paid or is required to pay to consumers and 

describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be 

paid. 

33. Under section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 1681b(a)(1), any 

consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning Defendant to the 
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Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent 

amount arising out of this Order. 

VII 

Reporting Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

34. Defendant must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, 

sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the 

creation or dissolution of an Affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendant; or a 

change in Defendant’s name or address. Defendant must provide this notice at least 30 days 

before the development or as soon as practicable after learning about the development, 

whichever is sooner. 

35. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal 

address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate 

with Defendant; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Defendant is the majority owner, or 

that Defendant directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, 

telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

and 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and 

services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

36. Defendant must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 

paragraph 35 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after the learning 

about the change, whichever is sooner. 
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37. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Defendant must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report) which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendant has 

complied with this Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

VIII unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

38. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendant must deliver a copy of this Order to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

39. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendant must deliver a copy of this Order to 

any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section VII, any 

future board members and executive officers, and any managers, employees, service 

providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

40. Defendant must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy 

of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-

Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a 

copy of this Order under this Section.  

IX

Recordkeeping

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

41. Defendant must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following 

business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance 

with each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 

and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used 

by a third party on behalf of Defendant. 

c. Copies of all written authorizations provided by consumers and proof of 

production to consumers of such written authorizations for payments 

made by Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers. 

d. For all fee for service student aid preparation services that are paid for 

by consumers, accounting records showing the gross and net revenues 

generated by the services. 

e. All consumer complaints regarding billing and refund requests 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), 

and any responses to those complaints or requests. 

42. Defendant must retain the documents identified in paragraph 41 for at least 5 years. 

43. Defendant must make the documents identified in paragraph 41 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

X 

Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendant must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in 

writing, with the subject line, “In re Student Financial Aid Services, Inc., No. 2013-0839-

02,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XI 

Cooperation with the Bureau

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

45. Defendant must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of each Affected Consumer, as well as the amount charged for which redress is 

ordered. Defendant must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or control 

within 21 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XII 

Compliance Monitoring

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Within 21 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendant must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

47. Defendant must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Defendant who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 
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48. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative demands 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XIII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 51, any time limits for performance 

fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written agreement of the parties and without 

further Court approval. Additionally, details related to administration of Sections VII 

through XII of this Order may be modified by written agreement of the parties and without 

further Court approval. Any other modifications to this Order may be made only upon 

approval of the Court, upon motion by any party.  

XIV 

Release

50. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendant from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in the 

Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau 

knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in 

this Order in future enforcement actions against Defendant and its Affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does 

not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Order.  

XV  

Retention of Jurisdiction 

51. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this _________ day of ____________, 2015. 

____________________________ 

United States District Judge 

Case 2:15-at-00821   Document 2-1   Filed 07/23/15   Page 15 of 15



2015-CFPB-0018     Document 1     Filed 07/28/2015     Page 1 of 19

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0018 

In the Matter of: 

LOANCARE, LLC. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain acts 

and practices of Loan Care, LLC (Respondent, as defined below), regarding its 

advertisements for the Equity Accelerator mortgage savings program (the Equity 

Accelerator Program) and has identified that Respondent misrepresented consumers' 

loan payment schedules under the Equity Accelerator Program, in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a). 

Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated July 21, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. Respondent neither 

admits nor denies the findings of fact or conclusions of law in this Consent 

Order, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

b. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his/her delegee. 

c. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

d. "Relevant Period" includes the period from June 15, 2012, to the Effective 

Date. 

e. "Respondent" means LoanCare, LLC, and its successors and assigns. 

2 
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BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

IV 

General 

4. Respondent is a residential mortgage servicer based in Virginia Beach, VA, that 

partnered with Paymap Inc. (Paymap), a payment processing company, to 

market and provide the Equity Accelerator Program to consumers. 

5· Respondent is a "covered person" and "service provider" under the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(6) and 5481(26). 

6. During the Relevant Period, Respondent partnered with Paymap to offer and 

provide the Equity Accelerator Program to Respondent's customers. 

7· The Equity Accelerator Program is an electronic payment system that enables 

consumers to make automatic mortgage payments to their mortgage servicers 

through debits from their bank accounts. Respondent does not currently market 

the Equity Accelerator Program. 

8. Consumers who enroll in the Equity Accelerator Program agree to allow Paymap 

to deduct a portion of their monthly mortgage payment plus a transaction fee 

from their bank account on a weekly, biweekly, semi-monthly, or monthly basis. 

9. Paymap typically charges the consumer an enrollment fee of $295, and a 

transaction fee for each debit, typically $2.50, to participate in the Equity 

Accelerator Program. By agreement, Respondent receives $110 of the 

enrollment fee and $0.75 of each transaction fee. 

10. Although Paymap charges consumers a transaction fee with each withdrawal, 

Paymap does not transfer a consumer's payments to Respondent at the time the 

funds are debited from a consumer's account. Instead, Paymap holds a 

3 



2015-CFPB-0018     Document 1     Filed 07/28/2015     Page 4 of 19

consumer's payment in a custodial account until the beginning of the month in 

which the consumer's next mortgage payment is due. Paymap then transfers the 

consumer's payment to Respondent, and Respondent applies the funds to the 

consumer's loan on the regular monthly due date. 

11. For consumers who select a biweekly payment schedule, Paymap debits 

approximately one-half of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus a transaction fee of $2.50, every two weeks. During the two 

months each year with three biweekly payments, Paymap applies the extra 

biweekly payment to any remaining balance on the consumer's enrollment fee. 

After Paymap collects the full enrollment fee, Paymap transfers the consumer's 

extra biweekly payments to Respondent as an additional payment to the 

consumer's loan principal·with the next scheduled monthly mortgage payment. 

12. For consumers who select a weekly payment schedule, Paymap debits 

approximately one-quarter of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus a transaction fee. During the four months each year with five 

weekly payments, Paymap applies the extra weekly payment to any remaining 

balance on the consumer's enrollment fee, and Paymap transfers any additional 

amounts to Respondent as an additional principal payment with the next 

scheduled monthly mortgage payment. 

13. For consumers who select a semi-monthly payment schedule, Paymap debits 

approximately one-half of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus 1/24 of that payment and a transaction fee, two times per month. 

After Paymap collects the enrollment fee, Paymap transfers the consumer's 

4 
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extra payments to Respondent as an additional payment to the consumer's loan 

principal with the next scheduled monthly mortgage payment. 

14. In all cases, Paymap collects a transaction fee with each withdrawal from 

consumers' accounts, regardless of whether Paymap transfers those funds to 

Respondent as a payment on consumers' mortgages or holds them in a custodial 

account. 

15. Respondent identified potential customers for the Equity Accelerator Program 

from the borrowers it services. Respondent provided Paymap with the 

borrowers' loan information so that Paymap could customize its marketing 

materials using the borrowers' actual mortgage terms. 

16. Paymap and Respondent marketed the Equity Accelerator Program directly to 

consumers identified by Respondent by mailing them solicitation letters on 

Respondent's letterhead. 

17. Respondent also marketed the Equity Accelerator Program on its website. 

18. Consumers who received a solicitation letter could enroll in the Equity 

Accelerator Program by calling a toll-free number answered by Paymap, or by 

completing the enrollment card and mailing a voided check in the postage-paid 

envelope enclosed ·with the solicitation. 

5 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent's Misrepresentations 
Regarding a Consumer's New Loan Payoff Schedule 

in the Equity Accelerator Program. 

19. Respondent's solicitations for the Equity Accelerator Program falsely claimed 

that consumers ·will pay their loan on a new biweekly payment schedule in the 

Program. 

20. Paymap personalized solicitations for the Equity Accelerator Program by using 

information from Respondent about each borrower's account data. This data 

includes the consumers' mortgage balance, interest rate, and payment schedule. 

Paymap used a consumer's loan information, obtained from Respondent, to 

create a loan payment comparison box that projected a consumer's interest 

savings by signing up for a biweekly payment schedule in the Equity Accelerator 

Program. 

21. The center column of that loan payment comparison box claimed that the 

consumer's "New Payoff Schedule" will be "every 2 weeks" in the Equity 

Accelerator Program. 

22. However, a consumer who participates in the Equity Accelerator Program does 

not pay his or her mortgage on a new payment schedule. For a fee, Paymap 

makes weekly, biweekly, or semi-monthly withdrawals, but these funds are held 

in a custodial account controlled by Paymap. Once each month Paymap 

transfers these funds to Respondent, which then applies those funds to the 

consumer's mortgage on his or her original monthly payment schedule. 

23. If consumers' mortgage payments were actually applied to their mortgages on a 

biweekly schedule, consumers would have experienced additional interest 

savmgs. 

6 
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24. In June 2012 and October 2012, Respondent participated in mailing 

solicitations for the Equity Accelerator Program to its customers. 

25. Respondent's website solicitation for the Equity Accelerator Program was 

misleading by stating, "By breaking your regular mortgage payment into weekly, 

biweekly or semi-monthly transfers instead of a single monthly payment, you 

are paying down the balance more quickly . . . .  " 

26. In fact, consumers still make "a single monthly payment" on their mortgages in 

the Equity Accelerator Program. Paymap merely debits consumers' accounts 

more frequently and then holds the debited funds in custodial accounts until the 

consumer's regular monthly payment is due. 

27. During the Relevant Period, Respondent received at least $400,000 in 

consumer fees from its participation in the Equity Accelerator Program. 

28. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

29. Respondent's representations, as set forth above, constitute deceptive acts and 

practices, in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

7 
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ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 

and 5565, that: 

30. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its 

service providers and other agents do not violate, sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B), by 

misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, 

the following: 

a. that consumers experience savings of any amount, a reduction in payments, 

or any other financial benefit from using the Equity Accelerator Program, 

unless the representation is corroborated by substantial, competent, and 

reliable evidence; 

b. the nature and function of the Equity Accelerator Program, including by 

creating the impression that Respondent applies consumer payments to a 

consumer's mortgage more frequently, or creating the impression that 

consumers achieve savings through an accelerated mortgage payment 

schedule, rather than through making increased payments resulting in a 

higher annual mortgage payment; or 

c. any other fact material to consumers concerning the Equity Accelerator 

Program, such as: the total costs; any material restrictions, limitations, or 

8 
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conditions; or any material aspect of its performance, efficacy, nature, or 

central characteristics. 

31. Respondent will not market or advertise any accelerated residential real estate 

mortgage payment services without disclosing truthful and accurate details to 

consumers, prior to enrollment, about the manner, purpose, and timing of 

account withdrawals and payments. Such disclosures must be prominent and in 

close proximity to material statements regarding account ""ithdrawals and 

payments. In particular, Respondent will not advertise any payment schedule 

v.rithout prominently disclosing when those payments will be applied to the loan, 

and disclosing that the source of projected interest savings is the higher annual 

mortgage payment a consumer will make in such a program. 

32. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's marketing for the Equity 

Accelerator Program, or any other accelerated residential real estate mortgage 

payment service, complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws 

and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan 

must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Section; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

in Paragraphs 30 and 31. 

33. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to re,rise the Compliance Plan, the 

9 
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Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days. 

34. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in 

the Compliance Plan. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

35. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $100,000 to the Bureau. 

36. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

37· The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

38. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

10 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, \-Vith regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

39· To presenre the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty 

paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action 

grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a 

final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of 

the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered 

an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

VII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

I l 
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41. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

42. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

43. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in v.rriting. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

Compliance Provisions 

VIII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

12 
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against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whicheYer is sooner. 

45. Within 90 days of the Bureau's non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again 

one year after the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which the Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section IX, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

IX 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

47· For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VIII, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, senrice providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

13 
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48. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order (Order Acknowledgment), ensuring that any 

electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of 

this Consent Order under this Section. 

X 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Respondent must create or preserve, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, 

the follo·wing business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; and 

other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent; 

c. All consumer complaints and refund requests related to the subject matter or 

this Consent Order (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a 

third party), and any responses to those complaints or requests; and 

d. For the Equity Accelerator Program, accounting records showing the gross 

and net revenues received by Respondent. 

so. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 49 for at least 5 

years. 

51. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 49 available to 

14 
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the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XI 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re LoanCare, LLC, File No. 

2015-CFPB-o018," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 I Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

15 
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XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 

days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, V\ri.thout the service of compulsory process. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

54. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

55. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to intenriew any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent v,rho has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

16 
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56. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

58. The Regional Director may, in his discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing. 

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

59. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 6o. 

60. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 

17 
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including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 

the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 

of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

61. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

62. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision 

of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 

upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order ·will terminate as though the action 

had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 

or its designated agent. 

63. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

64. The provisions of this Consent Order "'rill be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

18 
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ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

65. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

66. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage 
Payment Company And Servicer For 
Deceptive Ads
Consumers Deceived by “Equity Accelerator” Claims to Receive $33.4 
Million

Washington, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
today against Paymap Inc. and LoanCare, LLC for deceiving consumers with 
advertisements for a mortgage payment program that promised tens of thousands of 
dollars in interest savings from more frequent mortgage payments. Under the terms of 
the orders announced today, Paymap will return $33.4 million in fees to consumers and 
pay a $5 million civil penalty to the CFPB, and LoanCare will pay a $100,000 civil 
penalty.

“Deceptive advertising has no place in the financial marketplace,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Today’s action is delivering relief for consumers deceived by Paymap 
and LoanCare, and sending a clear message that these practices will not be tolerated.”

Paymap Inc. is a Colorado-based payment processing company, and LoanCare 
Servicing is a Virginia-based residential mortgage servicer. Together, they marketed 
and provided the “Equity Accelerator Program” – an electronic payment system that 
enables consumers to make automatic mortgage payments via electronic debits from 
their bank accounts. Consumers are typically charged an enrollment fee of $295 when 
signing up for the Equity Accelerator Program, and a transaction fee for each automatic 
debit that Paymap makes, typically $2.50. Since July 21, 2011, approximately 125,000 
consumers enrolled in the Equity Accelerator Program and paid Paymap $33.4 million 
in fees. 

Paymap partnered with many mortgage servicers, including LoanCare, to market the 
Equity Accelerator to the mortgage servicers’ customers. LoanCare and Paymap 
marketed the Equity Accelerator to LoanCare’s customers in 2012 by sending them 
solicitations on LoanCare’s letterhead. Like the other servicers it partnered with, 
Paymap shared a portion of consumers’ fees with LoanCare.

Paymap and LoanCare advertised that consumers who enrolled in the Equity 
Accelerator Program would have a new, biweekly payoff schedule that would lead to 
significant interest savings because of the more frequent payments. In fact, the Equity 
Accelerator Program did not make more frequent payments on consumers’ mortgages, 
and, Paymap’s prominent claims of tens of thousands of dollars in interest savings were 
made without any supporting evidence.

The CFPB found that Paymap and LoanCare violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition against deceptive acts and practices. 
Specifically, the Bureau found that consumers were:
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• Lured with deceptive promises of savings: Paymap made claims on its 
website such as, “The average customer will achieve over $33,000 in interest 
savings” using the Equity Accelerator Program. However, Paymap had no factual 
basis to support this claim. Moreover, only a tiny percentage, if any, of its 
customers achieved that amount of interest savings.

• Misled about when their payments would be applied: Paymap and 
LoanCare told consumers in their direct mail solicitations that enrolling in the 
Equity Accelerator Program would change the consumers’ payoff schedule to 
“every 2 weeks.” Although Paymap makes more frequent withdrawals from 
consumers’ accounts in the Equity Accelerator Program, it does not actually make 
more frequent payments on consumers’ mortgages. Instead, Paymap holds the 
collected payments in custodial accounts, and then pays consumers’ mortgages on 
their original monthly schedule. Consumers are charged a transaction fee with 
every withdrawal. Any interest savings that consumers may achieve through the 
Equity Accelerator Program is because they make a higher annual mortgage 
payment in the Program, using the same payment schedule as before enrollment.

Enforcement Actions
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices in the consumer financial 
marketplace.

Under the terms of the consent order filed today, Paymap is required to:

• Pay $33.4 million to consumers: Paymap will return $33.4 million to 
consumers, which represents all fees paid by every consumer who enrolled in the 
Equity Accelerator Program since July 21, 2011. Approximately 125,000 
consumers will receive refunds.

• Cease its unlawful advertising and marketing practices: Paymap must 
ensure that its marketing practices comply with federal law. Paymap is prohibited 
from advertising any benefits of the Equity Accelerator Program without credible 
evidence to support its claims, and from implying that the program will change a 
consumer’s regular mortgage payment schedule. Paymap must disclose that the 
source of any projected interest savings through the program is the higher annual 
mortgage payment a consumer will make in such a program.

• Pay a $5 million civil penalty: Paymap will pay $5 million to the CFPB’s Civil 
Penalty Fund.

Under the terms of the consent order filed today, LoanCare is required to:

• Cease its unlawful advertising and marketing practices: LoanCare must 
ensure that its marketing practices comply with federal law. LoanCare is 
prohibited from advertising any benefits of the Equity Accelerator Program 
without credible evidence to support its claims, and from implying that the 
program will change a consumer’s regular mortgage payment schedule. LoanCare 
must disclose that the source of any projected interest savings is the higher annual 
mortgage payment a consumer will make in such a program.

• Pay a $100,000 civil penalty: LoanCare will pay $100,000 to the CFPB’s Civil 
Penalty Fund.

A copy of the consent order for Paymap filed today is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order_paymap.pdf

A copy of the consent order for LoanCare filed today is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order_loan-care.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0017 

In the Matter of: 

PAYMAPinc. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain acts 

and practices of Paymap Inc. (Respondent, as defined below) regarding its 

advertisements for the Equity Accelerator mortgage savings program (the Equity 

Accelerator Program) and has identified the following law violations: 

1. Respondent misrepresented the average interest savings consumers achieve 

using the Equity Accelerator Program, in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a); and 

2. Respondent misrepresented consumers' loan payment schedules under the 

Equity Accelerator Program, in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a). 

Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

3. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 u.s.c. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

4· Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated July 22, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. Respondent neither 

admits nor denies the findings of fact or conclusions of law in this Consent 

Order, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

5. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means all persons who enrolled in the Equity 

Accelerator Program from July 21, 2011 to the Effective Date, and \vho did not 

receive a refund of the full amount of fees paid. 

b. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

c. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegee. 

2 
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d. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

e. "Relevant Period" includes the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective Date. 

f. "Respondent" means Paymap Inc. and its successors and assigns. 

BUREAU FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

IV 

General 
The Bureau finds the following: 

6. Respondent, based in Englewood, CO, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 

Western Union Company. Respondent partners with mortgage servicers to 

market and provide its Equity Accelerator Program to consumers. Respondent 

electronically withdraws, transmits, and acts as a custodian of consumers' 

funds, and provides payment processing services to consumers. Respondent is 

both a "covered person" and "service provider" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(6) and 5481(26). 

7. During the Relevant Period, Respondent has partnered with over 30 residential 

real estate mortgage servicers, referred to here as "Servicers," to offer the Equity 

Accelerator Program to the Servicers' customers. 

8. The Equity Accelerator Program is an electronic payment system that enables 

consumers to make automatic mortgage payments to their Servicers through 

debits from their bank accounts. 

9. Consumers who enroll in the Equity Accelerator Program agree to allow 

Respondent to deduct a portion of their monthly mortgage payment plus 

3 
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Respondent's fees from their bank account on a weekly, biweekly, semi

monthly, or monthly basis. 

10. After a consumer enrolls in the Equity Accelerator Program, Respondent 

typically charges the consumer an enrollment fee of $295, and a transaction fee 

for each debit, typically $2.50. All fees paid by consumers for the Equity 

Accelerator Program are collected by Respondent. Respondent shares these fees 

with Servicers. Respondent determines the portion of the fees owed to the 

Servicers and remits payment to the Servicers based on agreements between 

them. 

11. Although Respondent charges consumers a transaction fee with each 

withdrawal, Respondent does not transfer a consumer's payments to the 

consumer's Servicer at the time the funds are debited from a consumer's 

account. Instead, Respondent holds a consumer's payment in a custodial 

account until the beginning of the month that the consumer's next mortgage 

payment is due. Respondent then transfers the consumer's payment to the 

Servicer, and the Servicer applies the funds to the consumer's loan on the 

monthly due date. 

12. For consumers who select a biweekly payment schedule, Respondent debits 

approximately one-half of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus a transaction fee of $2.50, every two weeks. During the two 

months each year with three biweekly payments, Respondent applies the extra 

biweekly payment to any remaining balance on the consumer's enrollment fee. 

After Respondent collects the enrollment fee, Respondent transfers the 

consumer's extra biweekly payments to the Servicer as an additional payment to 

4 
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the consumer's loan principal with the next scheduled monthly mortgage 

payment. 

13. For consumers who select a weekly payment schedule, Respondent debits 

approximately one-quarter of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus a transaction fee. During the four months each year with five 

weekly payments, Respondent applies the extra weekly payment to any 

remaining balance on the consumer's enrollment fee, and Respondent transfers 

any additional amounts to the Servicer as an additional principal payment with 

the next monthly mortgage payment. 

14. For consumers who select a semi-monthly payment schedule, Respondent 

debits approximately one-half of the consumer's regularly-scheduled mortgage 

payment, plus 1/24 of that payment and a transaction fee, two times per month. 

After Respondent collects the enrollment fee, Respondent transfers any 

additional amounts to the Servicer as an additional principal payment with the 

next monthly mortgage payment. 

15. In all cases, Respondent collects a transaction fee with each withdrawal from 

consumers' accounts, regardless of whether Respondent transfers those funds to 

the Servicer as a payment on consumers' mortgages or holds them in a custodial 

account. 

16. Servicers identify potential customers for the Equity Accelerator Program from 

the pool of borrowers they service. Servicers provide Respondent with 

consumers' account information so that Respondent can customize its 

marketing materials using consumers' actual mortgage terms. 

5 
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17. Respondent marketed the Equity Accelerator Program on its website and 

directly to consumers through mailed solicitation letters, as well as through 

inserts and coupons that it included with the monthly mortgage statements sent 

by Servicers. 

18. The solicitations that Respondent sends to consumers use the Servicer's 

branding and letterhead. 

19. Some Servicers also market the Equity Accelerator Program on their websites. 

20. Consumers who receive a solicitation letter or insert with their mortgage 

statement can enroll in the Equity Accelerator Program by calling a toll-free 

number, or by completing an enrollment card and mailing a voided check in the 

postage-paid envelope enclosed with the solicitation. 

21. At least 125,000 consumers enrolled in the Equity Accelerator Program during 

the Relevant Period. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent's Misrepresentations 
Regarding the Interest Savings a Typical Consumer Will Achieve Using 

the Equity Accelerator Program 

22. During the Relevant Period, Respondent has maintained the website 

www.equityaccelerator.com, which advertised the purported benefits of the 

Equity Accelerator Program. Respondent rendered that website publicly-

inaccessible in late-September 2013, after the Bureau began its investigation. 

23. The home page for www.equityaccelerator.com prominently featured this 

statement about the Equity Accelerator Program: "The average customer will 

achieve over $33,000 in interest savings." 

24. Another page on 'WVIrw.equityaccelerator.com stated that the Equity Accelerator 

Program helps "[m]ost homeowners save over $33,000 in interest payments." 

6 
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25. Respondent also instructed its employees who speak with and enroll customers 

that one of the benefits of the Program is that "most homeowners save over 

$33,000 in interest payments." 

26. Through these statements, Respondent represented that the typical homeowner 

saves $33,000 or more in interest payments by using the Equity Accelerator 

Program. 

27. Respondent does not have, collect, or maintain data to support these 

statements, and has been unable to locate any information relating to those 

statements. 

28. Respondent's claims are unsubstantiated by facts and therefore are deceptive. 

29. Respondent's claims are also inaccurate. Only a tiny percentage, if any, of 

consumers who enrolled in the Equity Accelerator Program achieved interest 

savings of over $33,000 from participating in the Program. 

30. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

31. Respondent's representations, as set forth above, constitute deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent's Misrepresentations 
Regarding a Consumer's New Loan Payoff Schedule in the 

Equity Accelerator Program 

32. Respondent's solicitations for the Equity Accelerator Program, which are sent 

on a Servicer's letterhead, falsely claimed that consumers will pay their loan on a 

new biweekly payment schedule in the Program. 

7 
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33. Respondent personalizes its solicitations for the Equity Accelerator Program by 

obtaining data on active borrowers from Servicers. This data includes the 

consumers' mortgage balance, interest rate, and payment schedule. Respondent 

uses a consumer's loan information to create a loan payment comparison box, in 

which Respondent projects a consumer's interest savings by signing up for a 

biweekly payment schedule in the Equity Accelerator Program. 

34. The center column of that loan payment comparison box claims that the 

consumer's "New Payoff Schedule" or "New Payment Payoff Schedule" will be 

"every 2 weeks" in the Equity Accelerator Program. 

35. However, a consumer who participates in the Equity Accelerator Program is not 

making his or her mortgage payments on a new payment schedule. For a fee, 

Paymap makes weekly, biweekly, or semi-monthly withdrawals, but these funds 

are held in a custodial account and then applied to the consumer's mortgage on 

his or her original monthly payment schedule. 

36. The Equity Accelerator Program does not break dovm a consumer's regular 

mortgage payment into weekly, biweekly, or semi-monthly mortgage payments 

leading to thousands of dollars in interest savings. Any interest savings a 

consumer achieves is because he or she makes a higher annual payment in the 

Program, using the same payment schedule as before enrollment. 

37. If Respondent actually transferred the mortgage payments to the Senricers when 

it claims to, on a biweekly schedule, and the Servicers applied those payments at 

the time they received them from Respondent, consumers would experience 

greater interest savings. 

8 
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38. During the Relevant Period, Respondent mailed tens of millions of solicitations 

for its Equity Accelerator Program to consumers. 

39. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

40. Thus, Respondent's representations, as set forth above, constitute deceptive acts 

and practices, in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 

and 5565, that: 

41. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its 

service providers and other agents do not violate, sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B), by 

misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, 

the follov.ring: 

a. that consumers experience savings of any amount, a reduction in payments, 

or any other financial benefit from using the Equity Accelerator Program, 

unless the representation is corroborated by substantial, competent, and 

reliable evidence; 

9 
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b. the nature and function of the Equity Accelerator Program, including by 

creating the impression that Respondent applies consumer payments to a 

consumer's mortgage more frequently, or creating the impression that 

consumers achieve savings through an accelerated mortgage payment 

schedule, rather than through making increased payments resulting in a 

higher annual mortgage payment; or 

c. any other fact material to consumers concerning the Equity Accelerator 

Program, such as: the total costs; any material restrictions, limitations, or 

conditions; or any material aspect of its performance, efficacy, nature, or 

central characteristics. 

42. Respondent will not market or advertise any residential real estate mortgage 

payment services without disclosing truthful and accurate details to consumers, 

prior to enrollment, about the manner, purpose, and timing of account 

withdrawals and payments. Such disclosures must be prominent and in close 

proximity to material statements regarding account withdrawals and payments. 

In particular, Respondent will not advertise any payment schedule without 

prominently disclosing when those payments will be applied to the loan, and 

disclosing that the source of projected interest savings is the higher annual 

mortgage payment a consumer will make in the Program. 

43. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's Equity 

Accelerator marketing complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial 

10 
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laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance 

Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Section; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

in Paragraphs 41 and 42. 

44· The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If 

the Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance 

Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

45· After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VI 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $33.400,000, for the purpose of providing redress 

to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. Redress will consist of all 

fees paid to Respondent by Affected Consumers for the Equity Accelerator 

Program through the Effective Date. 

11 
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47· Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director a proposal for retaining a consultant to verify that 

Respondent has made full and complete Redress to Affected Consumers 

(Consultant Proposal). 

48. The Consultant Proposal shall identify the consultant Respondent proposes to 

retain and shall describe: 

a. The proposed consultant's qualifications; 

b. All work the proposed consultant has performed for Respondent in the five 

years preceding the Effective Date (if any), including the amount Respondent 

paid the proposed consultant for each engagement; 

c. Any ownership interest Respondent has in the proposed consultant; and 

d. Any shared financial interest between Respondent and the proposed 

consultant. 

49. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Consultant Proposal or direct Respondent to submit an 

alternative Consultant Proposal. If the Enforcement Director requires an 

alternative Consultant Proposal, Respondent must provide such proposal 'Arithin 

20 days of the Enforcement Director's request. 

so. Within 20 days of receiving written notification that the Enforcement Director 

has made a determination of non-objection to the Consultant Proposal, 

Respondent shall retain the proposed consultant (the Consultant), subject to an 

engagement letter setting forth the scope of the Consultant's work. 

51. Respondent shall require the Consultant to conduct a comprehensive review of 

(a) the identity of Affected Consumers; and (b) the amount of fees the Affected 

12 
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Consumers paid in connection with the Equity Accelerator Program (Redress 

Analysis). 

52. Within 90 days of retaining the Consultant, Respondent shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director a detailed narrative that explicitly describes the 

methodology and findings of the Redress Analysis (Model) and the Consultant's 

proposed plan to distribute Redress to Affected Consumers (Redress Plan). 

Among other things, the Redress Plan shall describe in detail: 

a. The data sources, transaction codes, and any other sources of relevant 

information the Consultant identified; 

b. How the Consultant used the data sources, transaction codes, and any other 

sources of relevant information in the Model; 

c. An outline of the logic used in the Model, including parameters, assumptions, 

and justifications for the inclusion or exclusion of any data source, transaction 

codes, or any other source of relevant information the Consultant identified; 

d. The steps the Consultant took to validate the Model, including a description of 

steps taken to ensure the Model's completeness; 

e. The Consultant's findings as to the total number of Affected Consumers, and 

the total amount of fees the Affected Consumers paid in connection with the 

Equity Accelerator Program during the Relevant Period; 

f. The method and timing for providing Redress to the Affected Consumers; and 

g. The method and timing for certifying to the Enforcement Director that 

Redress to the Affected Consumers has been completed (Redress 

Certification). 

13 
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53. The Enforcement Director \\rill have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to submit an alternative 

Redress Plan. If the Enforcement Director requires an alternative Redress Plan, 

Respondent must provide such proposal V\rithin 20 days of the Enforcement 

Director's request. 

54. The Enforcement Director \\rill have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Redress Certification or direct Respondent to submit an 

alternative Redress Certification. If the Enforcement Director requires an 

alternative Redress Certification, Respondent must prmride such proposal 

V\ri.thin 20 days of the Enforcement Director's request. 

55· Respondent shall pay all costs incurred by Consultant and costs associated V\rith 

administering redress as required by this Section. 

56. Respondent shall provide all Redress to Affected Consumers required by this 

Consent Order, regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount 

reserved or deposited into a segregated account under Section VI. 

57· After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $33,400,000, V\ri.thin 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by V\ri.re transfer to the 

Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's V\ri.ring 

instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers and $33,400,000. 

58. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or other\\ri.se inappropriate, or if 

14 
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funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit 

any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will 

have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may 

take under this Section. 

59· Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

6o. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $s,ooo,ooo to the Bureau. 

61. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's V\riring instructions. 

62. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

63. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

15 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, \Vith regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

64. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty 

paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action 

grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a 

final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of 

the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered 

an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

VIII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

16 
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66. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

67. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

68. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

17 



2015-CFPB-0017     Document 1     Filed 07/28/2015     Page 18 of 24

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

70. Within 90 days of the Bureau's non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again 

one year after the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement 

Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which the Respondent has 

complied with Section V; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

71. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

72. For five years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 
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73. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order (Order Acknowledgment), ensuring that any 

electronic signatures comply vvith the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of 

this Consent Order under this Section. 

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

74. Respondent must create or preserve, for at least five years from the Effective 

Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VI above; 

c. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; and 

other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent; 

d. All consumer complaints and refund requests related to the subject matter of 

this Consent Order (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a 

third party), and any responses to those complaints or requests; 

e. For each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment in the 

Equity Accelerator Program: the consumer's name, address, phone number, 

email address, amount paid, the date on which the service was purchased, a 
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copy of any promotional or welcome materials provided, and, if applicable, 

the date and reason consumer left the program; and 

f. For the Equity Accelerator Program, accounting records shov.ring the gross 

and net revenues it generated. 

75· Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 74 for at least 

five years. 

76. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 74 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Unless otherv.rise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, v.rith the subject line, "In re Paymap Inc., File No. 

2015-CFPB-0017," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
AITENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 I Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
A ITENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
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XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon ten 

days v.rritten notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

79. Within 30 days of receipt of a \vritten request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

8o. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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81. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

83. The Enforcement Director may, in his discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing. 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

84. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 85. 

85. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 
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including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 

the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 

of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

86. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

87. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision 

of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 

upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action 

had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 

or its designated agent. 

88. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

89. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 
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ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

go. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

91. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this � day of July, 2015. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage 
Payment Company And Servicer For 
Deceptive Ads
Consumers Deceived by “Equity Accelerator” Claims to Receive $33.4 
Million

Washington, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
today against Paymap Inc. and LoanCare, LLC for deceiving consumers with 
advertisements for a mortgage payment program that promised tens of thousands of 
dollars in interest savings from more frequent mortgage payments. Under the terms of 
the orders announced today, Paymap will return $33.4 million in fees to consumers and 
pay a $5 million civil penalty to the CFPB, and LoanCare will pay a $100,000 civil 
penalty.

“Deceptive advertising has no place in the financial marketplace,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Today’s action is delivering relief for consumers deceived by Paymap 
and LoanCare, and sending a clear message that these practices will not be tolerated.”

Paymap Inc. is a Colorado-based payment processing company, and LoanCare 
Servicing is a Virginia-based residential mortgage servicer. Together, they marketed 
and provided the “Equity Accelerator Program” – an electronic payment system that 
enables consumers to make automatic mortgage payments via electronic debits from 
their bank accounts. Consumers are typically charged an enrollment fee of $295 when 
signing up for the Equity Accelerator Program, and a transaction fee for each automatic 
debit that Paymap makes, typically $2.50. Since July 21, 2011, approximately 125,000 
consumers enrolled in the Equity Accelerator Program and paid Paymap $33.4 million 
in fees. 

Paymap partnered with many mortgage servicers, including LoanCare, to market the 
Equity Accelerator to the mortgage servicers’ customers. LoanCare and Paymap 
marketed the Equity Accelerator to LoanCare’s customers in 2012 by sending them 
solicitations on LoanCare’s letterhead. Like the other servicers it partnered with, 
Paymap shared a portion of consumers’ fees with LoanCare.

Paymap and LoanCare advertised that consumers who enrolled in the Equity 
Accelerator Program would have a new, biweekly payoff schedule that would lead to 
significant interest savings because of the more frequent payments. In fact, the Equity 
Accelerator Program did not make more frequent payments on consumers’ mortgages, 
and, Paymap’s prominent claims of tens of thousands of dollars in interest savings were 
made without any supporting evidence.

The CFPB found that Paymap and LoanCare violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition against deceptive acts and practices. 
Specifically, the Bureau found that consumers were:
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• Lured with deceptive promises of savings: Paymap made claims on its 
website such as, “The average customer will achieve over $33,000 in interest 
savings” using the Equity Accelerator Program. However, Paymap had no factual 
basis to support this claim. Moreover, only a tiny percentage, if any, of its 
customers achieved that amount of interest savings.

• Misled about when their payments would be applied: Paymap and 
LoanCare told consumers in their direct mail solicitations that enrolling in the 
Equity Accelerator Program would change the consumers’ payoff schedule to 
“every 2 weeks.” Although Paymap makes more frequent withdrawals from 
consumers’ accounts in the Equity Accelerator Program, it does not actually make 
more frequent payments on consumers’ mortgages. Instead, Paymap holds the 
collected payments in custodial accounts, and then pays consumers’ mortgages on 
their original monthly schedule. Consumers are charged a transaction fee with 
every withdrawal. Any interest savings that consumers may achieve through the 
Equity Accelerator Program is because they make a higher annual mortgage 
payment in the Program, using the same payment schedule as before enrollment.

Enforcement Actions
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
companies engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices in the consumer financial 
marketplace.

Under the terms of the consent order filed today, Paymap is required to:

• Pay $33.4 million to consumers: Paymap will return $33.4 million to 
consumers, which represents all fees paid by every consumer who enrolled in the 
Equity Accelerator Program since July 21, 2011. Approximately 125,000 
consumers will receive refunds.

• Cease its unlawful advertising and marketing practices: Paymap must 
ensure that its marketing practices comply with federal law. Paymap is prohibited 
from advertising any benefits of the Equity Accelerator Program without credible 
evidence to support its claims, and from implying that the program will change a 
consumer’s regular mortgage payment schedule. Paymap must disclose that the 
source of any projected interest savings through the program is the higher annual 
mortgage payment a consumer will make in such a program.

• Pay a $5 million civil penalty: Paymap will pay $5 million to the CFPB’s Civil 
Penalty Fund.

Under the terms of the consent order filed today, LoanCare is required to:

• Cease its unlawful advertising and marketing practices: LoanCare must 
ensure that its marketing practices comply with federal law. LoanCare is 
prohibited from advertising any benefits of the Equity Accelerator Program 
without credible evidence to support its claims, and from implying that the 
program will change a consumer’s regular mortgage payment schedule. LoanCare 
must disclose that the source of any projected interest savings is the higher annual 
mortgage payment a consumer will make in such a program.

• Pay a $100,000 civil penalty: LoanCare will pay $100,000 to the CFPB’s Civil 
Penalty Fund.

A copy of the consent order for Paymap filed today is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order_paymap.pdf

A copy of the consent order for LoanCare filed today is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order_loan-care.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 2015-CFPB-0019

In the Matter of:

RESIDENTIAL CREDIT SOLUTIONS, 
INC.

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain mortgage 

servicing practices of Residential Credit Solutions, Inc. (Respondent) and has identified the 

following law violations. First, Respondent has committed unfair acts or practices by not 

honoring In-Process Modifications (as defined below) that consumers had obtained from their 

prior servicers. Second, Respondent has committed deceptive acts or practices by making 

misrepresentations to consumers regarding their payment obligation and the status of their 

loans. Third, Respondent has committed deceptive acts or practices by misrepresenting that 

delinquent consumers would receive a refund for an escrow surplus within 30 days. Fourth, 

Respondent has committed unfair acts or practices by requiring consumers to waive all defenses 

in any foreclosure proceeding as a condition of entering into a repayment plan. Fifth, 

Respondent violated the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA), 15 U.S.C. § 6803 and its 

implementing regulation, Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. § 1016, by failing to provide the required 

privacy notice to its customers. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

(Consent Order).
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I 

Jurisdiction

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 and the GLBA, 15 U.S.C. § 6801, et seq., and Regulation P, 12 

C.F.R. § 1016, the GLBA’s implementing regulation.

II

Stipulation

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order,” 

dated July, 29, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by 

the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 

Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 

5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of facts or conclusions of law, 

except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action.

III

Definitions

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Affected Consumers” includes consumers with first- or second-lien 

residential loans that were transferred to Respondent between January 1, 

2009 and July 30, 2015 and were subject to the conduct described in 

Section IV relating to In-Process Modifications.

b. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

c. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 
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delegee.

d. “In-Process Modification” refers to a trial modification that is already 

underway but has not yet been made permanent when the servicing rights 

to the loan in question are transferred to another servicer. The term is 

limited to circumstances where the consumer is performing under the trial 

modification as of the date of transfer.  

e. “Involuntary transfer” means a transfer when the transferor servicer is in 

breach of, or default under, its servicing agreement for loss mitigation 

related-servicing performance deficiencies, or is in receivership and is 

required to transfer servicing to another servicer in thirty (30) days or less 

by an unaffiliated investor, or a court or regulator with jurisdiction.

f. “Loss mitigation” means modified payment arrangements, trial, permanent 

and In-Process Modifications, forbearance plans, short sales, deed-in-lieu 

agreements and any other non-foreclosure home retention or non-retention 

option offered by the owner or assignee of a mortgage loan that is made 

available to the consumer through a prior servicer or Respondent.

g. “Portfolio” means a group of loans for which the mortgage servicing rights 

are transferred to or from Respondent pursuant to a single contract for the 

sale or transfer of mortgage servicing rights.

h. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

or his/her delegee.

i. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 
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brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order.

j. “Respondent” means Residential Credit Solutions, Inc., and its successors 

and assigns.

k. “Servicing” means collecting, receiving and applying payments made on a 

consumer’s account pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement, such as 

payments of principal, interest, taxes, and fees and the performance of all 

tasks related to administering loan accounts.

IV

Bureau Findings and Conclusions

The Bureau finds the following:

4. Respondent is a mortgage servicer headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas. As of April 2014, 

Respondent had approximately $94.5 million in total assets.

5. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).

6. Since at least 2009, Respondent has operated as a mortgage servicer.  As such, 

Respondent has been responsible for, among other things, creating and sending monthly 

statements to consumers, collecting proper payment amounts, processing payments, 

ensuring that the mortgaged property is insured, and processing property tax payments.

7. Respondent is a special servicer of “credit-sensitive” residential mortgage loans, i.e. loans 

with late payments or loans that are at high risk for default.  Since 2010, RCS has been a 

special servicer for roughly 75,000 loans.  The loans Respondent services typically were 

serviced previously by other servicers and transferred for special servicing to Respondent 

by investors, including Fannie Mae, that owned or had guaranteed these mortgage loans 

or bore the risk of the mortgage loans defaulting.
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8. Many of the borrowers whose loans have been serviced by Respondent have experienced 

economic hardship and are therefore candidates for some form of loss mitigation.  RCS 

offers loan modifications under the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Home Affordable

Modification Program (HAMP). RCS also offers other loan modification programs offered 

by various investors, referred to as proprietary modifications. Respondent’s duties in 

these regards have included soliciting borrowers for these loss mitigation programs; 

collecting loss mitigation applications; decisioning loss mitigation applications to 

determine if borrowers were qualified for a loss mitigation program; and executing loss 

mitigation programs for qualified borrowers.

9. The HAMP  loan modification program offers incentive payments to servicers, investors 

and homeowners to encourage sustainable loan modifications. To obtain a permanent 

HAMP modification, consumers must first enter into a trial period plan (TPP) with the 

servicer. Over the course of the TPP, the consumer is asked to make reduced payments 

that approximate his or her obligations under a permanently modified mortgage.  

10. HAMP TPPs generally entitle the consumer to a permanent modification so long as the 

consumer satisfies certain conditions, one of which is timely making all trial payments.

11. Proprietary modifications are established according to investor guidelines. As a result,  

their terms and structure can vary from investor to investor. Proprietary modifications 

may also entitle the consumer to a permanent modification as long as the consumer 

satisfies certain conditions, one of which is timely making all trial payments.  

12. Most if not all of RCS’s portfolio consists of loans that were transferred to RCS from 

another servicer.  For some of these transferred loans, the previous servicer had offered 

consumers TPPs prior to the transfer of their loans to Respondent.  Their trial 
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modifications were underway as of the date of transfer, but had not yet been made 

permanent (In-Process Modifications).

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Failure 
to Honor In-Process Loan Modifications

13. From at least 2009 to 2013, it was Respondent’s general practice not to honor previously 

agreed upon In-Process Modifications unless it determined, through its own analysis,

that the prior servicer should have agreed to the TPP.  This practice affected 

approximately 350 consumers.

14. RCS required a complete copy of some consumers’ previous application packets to 

conduct its validation of an In-Process Modification. If the consumer was unable to 

provide a complete packet, Respondent treated the In-Process Modification as if it never 

existed.

15. If Respondent obtained the application packet, it ran its own analysis of the consumer’s 

financial documents to assess his or her eligibility. Respondent honored the In-Process 

Modification only where it decided that the prior servicer’s decision was appropriate 

under Respondent’s interpretation of the HAMP guidelines, in the case of a HAMP TPP,

or under Respondent’s interpretation of the investor’s criteria for a loan modification, in 

the case of proprietary modifications. 

16. Thus, where a prior servicer failed to provide Respondent with a copy of a consumer’s 

application packet and the consumer did not keep or was never given a copy of all their 

paperwork, Respondent sometimes refused to honor the agreement. 

17. Consumers would have to attempt to gather the documents required for a loan 
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modification evaluation a second time, despite the fact that the previous servicer had 

already approved one. 

18. Consumers affected by this practice already had a TPP at the time their loan was 

transferred to Respondent; and their previous servicer had already promised they would 

receive a permanent modification so long as they timely made their trial payments and 

otherwise satisfied the terms of the TPP. Respondent refused to honor that promise.

19. For In-Process Modifications that Respondent failed to recognize, Respondent treated 

consumers as if they were still in default, subjecting them to collection calls and 

assessment of late fees, and sending to them default and delinquency notices or loan 

modification solicitations. 

20. Respondent required many consumers with In-Process Modifications to pay the original 

loan payment amount using the original interest rate and other terms, instead of the trial 

payment and new terms during the validation process. Consumers also faced additional 

fees as a result.

21. Respondent rejected some consumers’ payments, stating the payments were insufficient 

to bring the account current even though the account was current under the terms of the 

In-Process Modification. 

22. For some consumers, Respondent’s insistence on validation of their TPPs  extended the 

period when consumers were reported as delinquent, thereby adversely affecting their 

credit rating.

23. Many consumers’ loans were referred to foreclosure during Respondent’s validation

process. Some of these consumers ultimately lost their homes to foreclosure. 

24. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 
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practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to 

cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if the substantial 

injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

25. Respondent’s practices as described in Paragraphs 13-23 caused substantial injury to 

consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

26. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s
Misrepresentations in Connection with Account Status

27. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

28. As described in Paragraphs 19-21, Respondent has made representations to certain  

consumers, expressly or impliedly, about their unpaid balances, payment due dates, 

interest rates, monthly payment amounts, and delinquency statuses that failed to take 

into account the consumers’ In-Process Modifications.

29. In fact, those consumers’ obligations were subject to the terms of their In-Process 

Modifications. 

30. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 28, constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s
Misrepresentations in Connection with Escrow Account

31. Pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024.17(f)(2), servicers are required, with certain exceptions, to 
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provide annual escrow account statements to current consumers which include the 

amount of any surplus funds which must be refunded to a consumer.

32. In many of the escrow statements Respondent sent to delinquent consumers, Respondent 

informed the consumer that he or she had an escrow surplus; and that the surplus would 

be refunded within 30 days.  The statements identified escrow surpluses of anywhere 

from $80 to $10,000.

33. In fact, RCS’s representation that these consumers would be receiving a refund was 

untrue. 

34. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

35. As described in Paragraphs 32 and 33, Respondent has represented to certain delinquent

consumers, expressly or impliedly, that they would receive a refund of their escrow 

surplus within 30 days.

36. In fact, many of those consumers had no escrow surplus and were not due to receive a 

refund.  

37. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 35, constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Compelled Waiver

38. In certain situations, RCS offered a “Payment Plan” to consumers who have fallen behind 

in their payments. They allow the consumer to address the deficiency by making 

additional payments over a defined period of time. Such “Payment Plans” often represent 

a consumer’s last opportunity to avoid default or foreclosure.

39. In some cases, RCS required consumers to surrender their legal rights as a condition of 
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receiving a Payment Plan. The consumer had to agree that “[i]n the event of the 

cancellation of this Payment Plan and the continuation of foreclosure proceedings, you 

agree to waive any and all defenses, jurisdictional and otherwise, associated with the 

continuation of the foreclosure proceedings and possible subsequent public auction of 

your property.”  The consumer also had to agree “not to file any opposition to a motion

for relief from the automatic stay filed on behalf of RCS” in any bankruptcy.

40. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to 

cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if the substantial 

injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

41. Respondent’s practice of requiring consumers to waive their legal rights as described in 

Paragraphs 38 and 39, caused, or was likely to cause, substantial injury to consumers that 

was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

to competition. 

42. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c)(1).

Findings and Conclusions as to Privacy Disclosures

43. The GLBA, 15 U.S.C. § 6803, and its implementing regulation, Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. § 

1016, require financial institutions to provide an annual privacy notice at least once in 

every 12 consecutive month period during which the institution maintains a relationship 

with a consumer.

44. Respondent is a financial institution as defined by the GLBA.

45. In 2011 Respondent failed to provide consumers annual privacy policy disclosures. 

Respondent had 38,000 loans in its portfolio at the time and nearly all should have 
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received an annual privacy policy disclosure. 

46. Thus, Respondent violated the GLBA, 15 U.S.C. § 6803, and its implementing regulation, 

Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. § 1016.

ORDER

V 

Conduct Provisions

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that:

47. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, including through the 

following conduct:

a. Failing to honor In-Process Modifications;

b. Misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly:

i. The payment obligations of a consumer who has received an In-Process 

Modification;

ii. That delinquent consumers are entitled to a refund for an escrow surplus 

when there is no refund available;

iii. Any other fact material to consumers concerning loss mitigation or 

servicing.

c. Requiring consumers to waive legal defenses as a condition of receiving any form 

of loss mitigation, except in the context of the resolution of a pending or 

threatened legal action, where RCS provides clear and conspicuous disclosure of 

the legal defenses the consumer is waiving and an opportunity for the consumer to 

review such disclosures; 
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d. Violating the mortgage servicing rules, 12 C.F.R. Part 1024 Subpart C; and

e. Violating the GLBA, 15 U.S.C. § 6803, and its implementing regulation, Regulation 

P, 12 C.F.R. § 1016.

Data Integrity Requirement

48. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must establish and maintain a 

comprehensive data integrity program (Program) reasonably designed to ensure the 

accuracy, integrity, and completeness of the data and other information about accounts 

that Respondent services, collects, or sells, including any accounts acquired by or 

transferred to Respondent.  The Program, the content and implementation of which must 

be fully documented in writing, will be considered to be reasonably designed if it contains 

administrative, technical, and physical safeguards appropriate to the nature, size, 

complexity, and scope of Respondent’s loan servicing activities, and shall include:

a. The designation of an employee or employees to oversee the Program;

b. The maintenance of sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to perform the 

Program requirements in a timely and legal manner;

c. The identification of material internal and external risks to the accuracy, integrity, 

and completeness of loan servicing data that could result in material errors to 

consumers’ accounts and assessment of the sufficiency of any safeguards in place 

to control these risks.  At a minimum, this risk assessment shall consider risks in 

each relevant area of operation, including, but not limited to (1) employee training 

and management, (2) information systems, including network and software 

design, servicing transfer protocols, information processing, storage, transmission, 

and disposal, and (3) prevention, detection, and response to any systems failure;
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d. The completion of due diligence prior to receiving transferred mortgage servicing 

rights.  Specifically, prior to receiving the transfer of mortgage servicing rights, 

Respondent shall conduct due diligence to understand and implement steps 

necessary to resolve issues with the type of loan level information and 

documentation in the transferor’s possession and control, the transferor’s ability to 

transfer the information electronically, in images, or only in paper records, 

material gaps in the transferor’s records, and Respondent’s ability to promptly 

process the information to be provided by the transferor, and otherwise ensure 

that Respondent will be able to comply with its servicing obligations with respect 

to every loan transferred.  Respondent shall seek assurance that the transferor will 

transfer all material loan level information in its possession or control at or before 

the time of transfer.

e. The testing, identification, and correction of material errors in the following data 

fields in Respondent’s servicing systems of record: monthly payment amount, 

principal balance, interest rate, loan term, escrow account balance, suspense 

account balance, delinquency status, loss mitigation status, and foreclosure status 

(collectively, the “Tested Data Fields”).  

i. Portfolios Tested and Timing for Testing Portfolios.

1. Testing of Portfolios Transferred After the Effective Date of this 

Order.  In addition to the requirements in Paragraph 49 relating to 

loans in loss mitigation, within twenty (20) days after the transfer of 

any portfolio transferred after the Effective Date, or within twenty 

(20) days after the establishment of the Program, whichever is later, 

Respondent shall conduct a “Data File Review.”  A Data File Review 
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shall mean testing to examine the completeness and accuracy of loan 

information and to identify material errors.  This shall include 

comparing the Tested Data Fields in Respondent’s servicing systems 

of record as of the loan transfer cutoff date for material errors against 

the electronic data and the loan-level documents provided by the 

transferor servicer from which Respondent acquired the servicing 

rights to the portfolio.  

ii. Percentage of Each Portfolio to be Tested.  

1. All Data File Review, as prescribed in Paragraph 48.e.i., and On-

Going Testing, as prescribed in Paragraph 48.e.iv., shall be 

statistically valid and based on an appropriate sampling 

methodology, such that the results from the sample can be reliably 

extrapolated to the loan portfolio as a whole, and shall include both 

random and risk-based selection criteria.

2. If a Data File Review performed pursuant to Paragraph 48.e.i. of this 

Order reveals a material error rate of more than 5% with respect to 

any Tested Data Field(s) in a portfolio, Respondent shall, within 30 

days, complete a Data File Review of such field(s) for all loans in the 

portfolio.  In the event that the full-portfolio Data File Review 

described in this paragraph reveals a material error rate exceeding 

5% of all loans in the portfolio with respect to any of the field(s) 

tested under this subsection, Respondent shall perform a Data File 

Review of such field(s) for the entire portfolio every six months until 

the material error rate falls below 5%.  
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iii. Correction of Errors.  Upon completion of any Data File Review, Respondent 

shall correct and remediate any individual account errors identified by the 

Respondent, including promptly refunding or reversing any overcharges and

stopping foreclosure where appropriate.

iv. Ongoing Testing.  Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and every six months 

thereafter, Respondent shall identify any portfolios serviced by Respondent 

for which, in the immediately preceding six months, consumers representing 

more than 2% of the relevant portfolio have disputed in writing the accuracy 

of the information in the Tested Data Fields.  In the event any such portfolios 

exist, Respondent shall determine whether there exist any systemic issues 

giving rise to the disputes about errors in the accuracy of the Tested Data 

Fields in the portfolio and, if any errors are found, Respondent shall develop 

and implement a plan to correct the errors.  

Provided that the requirements of this Paragraph 48.e. shall not apply to 

transfers when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform servicing 

who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer.

f. The design and implementation of reasonable safeguards to control the risks 

identified through risk assessment, and regular auditing or testing or monitoring 

of the effectiveness of the safeguards’ key controls, system, and procedures;

g. The regular auditing, testing, or monitoring of the effectiveness of the Program 

using statistically valid samples, such that the samples include both random and 

risk-based selection criteria and the results from the samples can be reliably 

extrapolated to the Program as a whole; and
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h. The evaluation and adjustment of the Program in light of the results of the 

required auditing, testing, or monitoring, and any material changes to 

Respondent’s operations or business arrangements that may significantly impact 

the Program, or any other circumstances that Respondent knows or has reason to 

know may have a material impact on the integrity, accuracy, and completeness of 

Respondent’s loan servicing process, or data and other information about accounts 

that Respondent services, collects, or sells.

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Paragraph 48 and the 

requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on 

servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, 

the Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the 

Rural Housing Administration, and any other similar organization that may come 

into existence after the entry of this Order such that Respondent cannot comply 

with this Paragraph 49 without violating these requirements, Respondent shall 

document such conflicts and notify the Bureau that it intends to comply with the 

requirements to the extent possible.

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to Respondent 

which results in a delay in the transferor’s transfer of relevant information or a 

volume of errors in the transferor’s data that prevents Respondent from being able 

to comply with the time limits in this Paragraph 48, Respondent shall submit a 

written plan to the Bureau within ten (10) days after the date of the transfer 

identifying the cause of the delay and setting forth the specific steps it is taking, the 

resources it is devoting, and Respondent’s expected timeline for complying with 

the requirements of this Paragraph 48. If such plan is not objected to by the 
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Bureau within ten (10) days of the submission of the plan, Respondent must 

proceed to implement the plan. If the Bureau objects to the plan within ten (10) 

days of submission, Respondent will make reasonable efforts to amend the plan to 

address any objection. Respondent shall not take more than 120 days from the 

date of any transfer after implementation of the Program to satisfy the requirements of 

this Paragraph 48. 

Limitations On The Transfer Of Servicing For Loans In Loss Mitigation

49. Respondent shall not transfer or acquire servicing rights for loans in loss mitigation or 

with a loss mitigation application pending, regardless of whether Respondent is the 

transferor or transferee, unless:

a. The transferor or transferee identifies by loan number the following categories of 

loans at least 30 days prior to transfer, and updates such information at least 5 

days prior to transfer: 

i. Loans in any stage of pending loss mitigation, including but not limited to 

In-process Modifications;

ii. Loans approved or converted to a permanent loss mitigation outcome 

within 60 days prior to transfer; and

iii. Loans denied loss mitigation within the last 60 days prior to transfer;

b. The transferor agrees to make all reasonable efforts to provide the transferee all 

the following information in its possession or control, prior to transfer or at a 

minimum, agrees to provide this information by the date of the transfer: all 

account-level documents and data relating to loss mitigation, including a copy of 

the mortgage note, periodic billing statements for the two years prior to the service 

transfer, payment history for the two years prior to the service transfer, escrow and 
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suspense account information, loss mitigation applications, loss mitigation notices, 

documentation and information received from the consumer for purposes of 

evaluating the consumer for loss mitigation, any net present value or other analysis 

by a servicer in connection with a consumer’s application for loss mitigation, loss 

mitigation agreements, any written communications or notes of oral 

communications with the consumer about the loss mitigation, and any other 

information needed to administer any pending loss mitigation applications or in-

process modifications; and

c. The contract for the transfer includes the following requirements:

i. The transferee will engage in quality control work to validate that the loss 

mitigation data matches the images and paper documents received, make 

reasonable efforts to identify missing loss mitigation data, documentation, 

or information and request missing information from the transferor within 

15 days of transfer; and

ii. Within 10 days of a request from the transferee, the transferor will provide 

missing or incomplete loss mitigation data, documentation, or information 

in its possession or control;

d. The contract for the transfer also includes the following requirements:

i. The transferee will honor loss mitigation agreements entered into by the 

prior servicer, including but not limited to In-process Modifications;

ii. The transferee will continue processing pending loss mitigation requests 

received in the transfer; and

iii. Within 30 days of transfer, the transferee will finish reviewing and resolve 

any loss mitigation request that was pending within 60 days of transfer for 
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which the transferee or buyer lacks clear written evidence that such request 

was denied, and provide the consumer an opportunity to provide any 

necessary missing information.

  Provided, however, that the requirements of  Paragraphs 49.a., b. and 

c. shall not apply to transfers when the transfer is between owners of the right to 

perform servicing who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the 

subservicer. 

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to 

Respondent which results in a delay in the transferor’s transfer of relevant 

information or a volume of errors in the transferor’s data that prevents 

Respondent from being able to comply with the time limits in Paragraph 49, 

Respondent shall submit a written plan to the Bureau within ten (10) days after the 

date of the transfer identifying the cause of the delay and setting forth the specific 

steps it is taking, the resources it is devoting, and Respondent’s expected timeline 

for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 49. If such plan is not objected 

to by the Bureau within ten (10) days of the submission of the plan, Respondent 

must proceed to implement the plan. If the Bureau objects to the plan within ten 

(10) days of submission, Respondent will make reasonable efforts to amend the 

plan to address any objection. In no event shall Respondent fail to honor loss 

mitigation agreements entered into by the prior servicer, fail to continue 

processing pending loss mitigation requests received in the transfer, or take more 

than 60 days from the date of the transfer to satisfy the requirements of Paragraph 

49. 

Other Loss Mitigation Requirements
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50. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must:

a. Make its loss mitigation application available to consumers at no cost by, at a 

minimum, making it publicly available and readily accessible on Respondent’s 

website and providing it upon request to consumers.  The application shall identify 

all required documentation and information necessary to complete a loss 

mitigation application;

b. Secure and maintain sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to handle loss 

mitigation requests in a timely and legal manner;

c. Implement a comprehensive servicing training program to ensure adequate 

training for personnel;

d. Implement and maintain a centralized document management system for  

tracking and storing incoming loss mitigation documents, including those 

submitted by consumers, staffed with sufficient personnel that are adequately 

trained to prevent significant backlogs and lost documents;

e. Implement and maintain an online portal linked to Respondent’s primary

servicing system where consumers can check, at no cost, the status of their loss 

mitigation requests.  The portal must, among other things:

i. Enable consumers to submit documents electronically;

ii. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; and

iii. Update the status of pending loss mitigation requests at least every 10 

business days;

f. Take reasonable steps to ensure that personnel assigned to consumers pursuant to 

the Bureau’s rules relating to continuity of contact (12 C.F.R. § 1024.40) do the 

following:
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i. Refer and transfer consumers to a loss mitigation or other appropriate 

supervisor upon request;

ii. Have access to individuals able to stop foreclosure proceedings when 

necessary to comply with this Order and other applicable requirements; and

iii. Are not subject to compensation arrangements that encourage collection 

over loss mitigation activity. 

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between Paragraphs 49 and 50 and 

the requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed 

on servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie 

Mae, the Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the 

Rural Housing Administration, and any other similar organization that may come 

into existence after the entry of this Order such that Respondent cannot comply 

with Paragraphs 49 and 50 without violating these requirements, Respondent shall 

document such conflicts and notify the Bureau that it intends to comply with the 

requirements to the extent possible.

Home Preservation Plan

51. Respondent shall establish and implement a home preservation plan (Plan) to identify 

and review Affected Consumers for loss mitigation options, provide for the solicitation 

and fast-track evaluation of loss mitigation applications, and stop pending foreclosure 

sales for such consumers to the extent necessary to permit the consumers to be solicited 

and considered for loss mitigation.  

a. Convert In-Process Modifications to Permanent Modifications. Respondent shall 

promptly send a permanent modification agreement to Affected Consumers with 

In-Process Modifications that were fully underwritten prior to the trial period and 
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received all necessary investor approvals but for which the consumer did not 

previously enter a permanent modification agreement.  Such consumers shall be 

converted to a permanent modification upon execution of the permanent 

modification documents, consistent with applicable program guidelines.

b. Solicitation and Fast-Track Evaluation of Loss Mitigation Applications. For any 

Affected Consumer who (a) is delinquent or in foreclosure as of July 30, 2015 and 

(b) is more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale as of the Effective Date or no 

foreclosure sale is scheduled (Delinquent Consumer), and is not accounted for in 

Paragraph a above, Respondent must:

i. Engage in consumer outreach to obtain complete loss mitigation 

applications by: (1) Telephone and mail outreach to contact Delinquent 

Consumers and collect documents; (2) For incomplete loss mitigation 

applications, a telephone and mail campaign to notify consumers of the 

additional documents and information needed to make the loss mitigation 

application complete; and (3) Translation services when requested by a 

Delinquent Consumer or if Respondent has reason to believe that the 

Delinquent Consumer is not proficient in English.

ii. Promptly evaluate Delinquent Consumers for all loss mitigation options 

available under applicable investor guidelines, including by: (1) Providing a 

dedicated team of underwriters; (2) Reviewing complete loss mitigation 

applications within 20 days of receipt; and (3) Clearly identifying the terms 

of the loss mitigation offer (such as interest rate, amortization term, balloon 

payments) and identifying the modified principal balance.
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c. Stop Pending Foreclosures. If necessary to permit Respondent to complete the 

actions described in Paragraphs a and b above before a foreclosure sale, 

Respondent shall take all available measures to postpone any foreclosure sale 

scheduled to occur and to prevent the entry of a foreclosure judgment or the entry 

of an order for foreclosure sale in connection with a foreclosure initiated with 

respect to the loan under consideration for loss mitigation during the pendency of 

the actions required in Paragraphs a and b above.  

d. Respondent may resume foreclosure activities for Delinquent Consumers if despite 

Respondent’s reasonable efforts, including taking all steps described in Paragraph 

51.b,the Delinquent Consumer (1) has not responded to Respondent’s outreach 

effort within 30 days of Respondent’s most recent attempt to contact the consumer 

under Paragraph 51.b; (2) the consumer has responded to Respondent’s outreach 

efforts but has not provided Respondent with all materials necessary to permit 

Respondent to evaluate the consumer for loss mitigation options, notwithstanding 

Respondent’s attempts to obtain such material pursuant to Paragraph 51.b.i.2; (3) 

does not execute a loss mitigation offer prior to or at the expiration of the offer; (4) 

the Delinquent Consumer states in writing that he or she does not want to be 

considered for a loss mitigation option; or (5) Respondent has evaluated the 

Delinquent Consumer’s complete loss mitigation application for all available loss 

mitigation options, and (i) Respondent has determined the Delinquent Consumer 

does not qualify for any loss mitigation option and the time for appeal has expired 

or the appeal has been denied, or (ii) the Delinquent Consumer has accepted or 

rejected an offer of loss mitigation.

2015-CFPB-0019     Document 1     Filed 07/30/2015     Page 23 of 34



Page 24 of 34

e. The requirements of this Paragraph 51 shall not apply to any loan for which 

Respondent does not own the right to service or sub-service as of the Effective 

Date or that is not subject to foreclosure or collection activity because it has been 

charged off.

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Paragraph 51 and the 

requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on 

servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, 

the Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the 

Rural Housing Administration, and any other similar organization that may come 

into existence after the entry of this Order, the National Mortgage Settlement, or 

applicable investor guidelines such that Respondent cannot comply 

with this Paragraph 51 without violating these requirements, Respondent shall 

document such conflicts and notify the Bureau that it intends to comply with the 

requirements to the extent possible.

Provided further that, nothing in this Paragraph 51 shall be interpreted to (1) 

limit or restrict in any way the protections provided to borrowers under the Bureau’s 

rules relating to loss mitigation (12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41, et seq.) or to (2) require 

Respondent to communicate with a borrower in a manner otherwise prohibited by 

applicable law, including bankruptcy law or the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

or any similar debt-collection-related state law. To the extent any provision of this 

subsection is in conflict with any provision of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 

shall apply.

VI
Order to Pay Redress
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. A judgment for equitable monetary relief and damages is entered in favor of the Bureau 

and against the Respondent in the amount of $1.5 million.

53. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer 

to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, 

$1.5 million in full satisfaction of the judgment as ordered in Paragraph 52 of this

Section. 

54. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be deposited into a 

fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent according to 

applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for injured consumers, 

including, but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, damages, or other monetary 

relief, and for any attendant expenses for the administration of any such redress. 

55. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers is wholly or 

partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is completed, the Bureau will 

deposit any remaining funds  in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have 

no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under 

this paragraph.

56. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not be conditioned 

on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.

VII
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 
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described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 

U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $100,000 dollars to 

the Bureau. 

58. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions. 

59. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

60. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately 

uses those funds, Respondent may not:

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order.

61. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent 

benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in 

the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

(Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty 

Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. 
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Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action.

VIII
Additional Monetary Provisions

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

will immediately become due and payable.

63. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent.

64. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting 

and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

65. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of 

redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid.

IX
Consumer Information

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Respondent must provide sufficient consumer information to enable the Bureau to 
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efficiently administer consumer redress.  If a representative of the Bureau requests in 

writing any information related to redress, Respondent must provide it, in the form 

prescribed by the Bureau, within 10 business days.

X 
Reporting Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

67. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days 

before the development or as soon as practicable after learning about the development, 

whichever is sooner.

68. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must:

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address 

as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent;

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses;

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and services 

offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales.

69. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted under 
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Paragraph 68 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable after the 

learning about the change, whichever is sooner.

70. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board, which, at a 

minimum:

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, unless 

previously submitted to the Bureau.

71.     In addition to the requirements in Paragraph 70, Respondent must submit a Compliance 

Report on the Data Integrity Program required by Paragraph 48, biennially for 5 years 

after entry of this Order, which:

a. Sets forth the specific data integrity program that Respondent has implemented 

and maintained during the reporting period;

b. Explains how the data integrity program is appropriate to Respondent’s size and 

complexity, and the nature and scope of Respondent’s activities;

c. Explains how the data integrity program meets or exceeds the protections required 

by Paragraph 48; and

d. Certifies that to the best of the certifier’s knowledge and belief the data integrity 

program is operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance 

of the material accuracy, integrity, and completeness of Respondent’s records.

XI
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an 

acknowledgement of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn under penalty of perjury.

73. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order.

74. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section 

X, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume 

their responsibilities. 

75. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements 

of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons 

receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XII
Recordkeeping

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

76. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following 

business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

2015-CFPB-0019     Document 1     Filed 07/30/2015     Page 30 of 34



Page 31 of 34

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, described in 

Section VI above.

77. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 76 for at least 5 years.

78. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 76 available to the Bureau 

upon the Bureau’s request.

XIII
Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Residential Credit Solutions, File No. 2015-

CFPB-0019,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Supervision 
1625 Eye Street, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20006; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Supervision 
1700 G Street, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20552

XIV
Compliance Monitoring
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this Consent 

Order: 

80. Within 14days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

81. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present.

82. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

XV
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

83. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Regional Director.

84. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material requirements 

of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVI
Administrative Provisions

85. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 
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or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, 

except as described in Paragraph 86.

86. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in 

Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 

may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions 

against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern 

or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of 

the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek 

penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

87. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order 

issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States.

88. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent 

Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules 

that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or 

ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate 

as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent.
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89. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted. 

90. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation 

of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection 

with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the 

Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may 

not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

91. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. 

This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

92. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 3oth day of July, 2015. 

fe41**Qca"-1-11 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage 
Company for Blocking Consumers’ 
Attempts to Save Their Homes
Residential Credit Solutions to Pay $1.5 Million for Servicing Wrongs

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
took action against Residential Credit Solutions, Inc. for blocking consumers’ attempts 
to save their homes from foreclosure. The mortgage servicer failed to honor 
modifications for loans transferred from other servicers, treated consumers as if they 
were in default when they weren’t, sent consumers escrow statements falsely claiming 
they were due a refund, and forced consumers to waive their rights in order to get a 
repayment plan. Residential Credit Solutions has agreed to pay $1.5 million in 
restitution to victims and a $100,000 civil money penalty for its illegal actions.

“By failing to honor loan modifications already in place, Residential Credit Solutions 
put consumers through more headaches but in some cases cost consumers their 
homes,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Residential Credit Solutions must now 
compensate its victims $1.5 million as a result of our action.” 

Residential Credit Solutions, headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas, is a national 
mortgage servicing company with about $95 million in total assets. Since 2009, 
approximately 75,000 borrowers have had their loans transferred to Residential Credit 
Solutions. The company specializes in servicing delinquent loans and “credit-sensitive” 
residential mortgage loans, where the borrower is at high risk for default. As a servicer, 
it is responsible for, among other things, creating and sending monthly statements to 
borrowers, and collecting and processing payments. For troubled borrowers, it 
administers short sale and foreclosure relief programs provided by the owner of the 
loan. These “loss mitigation” programs provide alternatives to foreclosure. 

According to today’s order, Residential Credit Solutions engaged in illegal practices 
when servicing loans that it acquired from other servicers. On a number of occasions, 
the company failed to honor trial loan modifications that consumers had entered into 
with their prior servicers. Instead, it insisted that the consumer re-prove that they 
qualified. This effectively set consumers back as though they had not received a trial 
modification. It also prolonged many people’s loss mitigation plans. The company put 
consumers in loan modification trial period purgatory and confused consumers about 
the status of their modifications, making it difficult for them to take appropriate action. 
In many cases, the company delayed or deprived borrowers of the opportunity to save 
or sell their homes. 

Residential Credit Solutions’ failures as a mortgage servicer hurt homeowners. In many 
cases, the company deprived borrowers of the ability to make an informed choice about 
how to save or sell their home, caused borrowers to drop out from the loss mitigation 
process entirely, and drove borrowers into foreclosure. The company violated the 
Consumer Financial Protection Act. Specifically, since January 2009, the company has:
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• Failed to honor in-process modifications: Some of the borrowers who had 
their mortgage loans transferred to Residential Credit Solutions were already in 
trial modifications where they were making reduced payments. Residential Credit 
Solutions’ practice from at least 2009 to 2013 was to not honor those agreements. 
Instead, the company insisted that consumers re-qualify for the modifications. 
The company treated these consumers as if they were still in default, subjecting 
them to collection calls, late fees, and default and delinquency notices. Many 
consumers had their loans referred to foreclosure, and some eventually lost their 
homes.

• Provided incorrect information: For the in-process modifications that 
Residential Credit Solutions failed to recognize, the company gave incorrect 
information to certain consumers about their unpaid balances, payment due 
dates, interest rates, monthly payment amounts, and delinquency statuses.

• Misrepresented to consumers that they had extra money in escrow 
and were due a refund: Servicers are required, with certain exceptions, to 
provide annual escrow account statements to consumers. These statements 
include the amount of any surplus funds, which must be refunded to a consumer 
whose loan payments are current. Many of the escrow statements that Residential 
Credit Solutions sent to delinquent consumers incorrectly stated that they had an 
escrow surplus of between $80 and $10,000.

• Forced consumers to waive certain rights to get a payment plan:
Sometimes, the company offered a payment plan to consumers who fell behind in 
their payments. It allowed the consumer to make additional payments over a 
defined period of time; these were often a consumer’s last opportunity to avoid 
default or foreclosure. But the company illegally required consumers to surrender 
certain legal rights in future foreclosures and bankruptcy protections as a 
condition of receiving the payment plan.

This enforcement action covers Residential Credit Solutions’ illegal practices prior to 
the January 2014 effective date of the CFPB’s new mortgage servicing rules. 

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has 
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
practices. Today’s order requires Residential Credit Solutions to, among other things: 

• Pay $1.5 million in redress to victims: The company must pay $1.5 million 
to the hundreds of consumers whose in-process loan modifications were not 
honored. Borrowers who receive payments will not be prevented from taking 
individual action on their claims as a result of this settlement.

• Engage in efforts to help affected borrowers preserve their home: For 
certain borrowers affected by its unlawful practices who were not foreclosed on, 
Residential Credit Solutions must convert in-process loan modifications into 
permanent modifications. And it must engage in outreach, including telephone 
and mail campaigns and translation services to contact borrowers and offer them 
loss mitigation options. It must stop foreclosure processes for certain borrowers, 
if those are happening.

• Honor prior loss mitigation agreements: Residential Credit Solutions must 
honor loss mitigation agreements entered by prior servicers, including in-process 
modifications, continue processing pending loss mitigation requests received in 
transfers, and review and evaluate pending loss mitigation applications.

• End all mortgage servicing violations: In addition to being subject to the 
loss mitigation provisions of the CFPB’s new mortgage servicing rules, Residential 

Page 2 of 3CFPB Takes Action Against Mortgage Company for Blocking Consumers\' Attempts to S...

7/30/2015http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-mortgage-company...



Privacy policy and legal notices

Accessibility

Plain writing

No FEAR Act

FOIA

Whistleblower Act

USA.gov

Office of Inspector General

Ombudsman

Visite nuestro sitio web en 
español

Credit Solutions is prohibited from making misrepresentations to consumers 
regarding loss mitigation, such as false statements about how much is owed.

• Adhere to rigorous servicing transfer requirements: The company must 
create a detailed data integrity program that tests, identifies, and corrects errors 
in loans transferred to it to ensure that it has accurate information about 
consumers’ loans. Residential Credit Solutions may not transfer loans in loss 
mitigation, in or out, unless all account-level documents and data relating to loss 
mitigation are provided to the new servicer by the date of transfer.

• Make loss mitigation applications readily available: Residential Credit 
Solutions must make its loss mitigation application available to consumers at no 
cost by making it readily accessible on its website and providing it upon request to 
consumers. The application must identify all required documentation and 
information necessary to complete a loss mitigation application. It must also 
adequately train its personnel in loss mitigation procedures.

• Pay $100,000 civil penalty: The company will make a $100,000 penalty 
payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

A copy of the consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201507_cfpb_consent-order_residential-credit-
solutions.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICf COURT 
SOUfHERN DISTRICf OF NEW YORK 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

NDG Financial Corp., Northway Financial 
Corp., Ltd., Northway Broker, Ltd., E
Care Contact Centers, Ltd., Blizzard 
Interactive Corp., Sagewood Holdings, 
Ltd., New World Consolidated Lending 
Corp., New World Lenders Corp., Payroll 
Loans First Lenders Corp., and New 
World RRSP Lenders Corp., 

Defendants. 

Case No. ________ _ 

COMPLAINT 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action against 

Defendants NDG Financial Corp., Northway Financial Corp., Ltd., Northway Broker, 

Ltd., E-Care Contact Centers, Ltd., Blizzard Interactive Corp., Sagewood Holdings, Ltd., 

New World Consolidated Lending Corp., New World Lenders Corp., Payroll Loans First 

Lenders Corp., and New World RRSP Lenders Corp. (Defendants or the NDG 

Enterprise). 

INTRODUCI'ION 

1. Defendants, operating through a maze of interrelated companies, 

originate, service, and collect payday loans that are void in whole or in part under state 

law in seventeen states including New York. Defendants deceive consumers into 

believing that federal and state laws do not apply to the Defendants or the loans. 

Defendants also use various unfair and deceptive tactics in securing repayment of the 

payday loans. 



Case 1:15-cv-05211-CM   Document 6   Filed 07/31/15   Page 2 of 32

2. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a); and the Credit Practices 

Rule, 16 C.F.R. §444.1(a), §444.2(a)(3)(i)-(iii). This action seeks permanent injunctive 

relief; restitution; the refund of monies paid; disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and 

other equitable relief for Defendants' violations of the CFPA and the Credit Practices 

Rule. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under "Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

u.s.c § 1345· 

4. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here and Defendants do business here. 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States Government 

created by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(A). The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal 

consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5564. 

6. The CFPB is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings in its 

own name and through its own attorneys to address violations of Federal consumer 

financial law, including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b). Sections 1031 and 1036(a) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a), prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices, or other violations of Federal consumer financial law, by any covered person 

or service provider. 

2 
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DEFENDANTS 

7· NDG Financial Corp. (NDG Financial) is a Canadian corporation with its 

principal place of business at Suite 200, 15225104th Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia. 

8. NDG Financial lists its registered office mailing address at Suite 3334, 

Four Bentall Centre, P.O. Box 49116, 1055 Dunsmuir Street, Vancouver, British 

Columbia. 

9. NDG Financial is a privately held global e-commerce company focused on 

providing payday loans in the United States over the Internet through its wholly owned 

subsidiary companies. 

10. NDG Financial and its subsidiaries are under common ownership. 

11. At all times material to this complaint, NDG Financial, acting through its 

wholly owned subsidiary companies, advertised, marketed, originated, serviced, and 

collected on the extension of credit in the form of payday loans to consumers residing in 

this district and throughout the United States. 

12. Those activities are "consumer financial services" under the CFPA 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A), (A)(i), (A)(x). 

13. NDG Financial provided "material services" to its subsidiaries in order to 

facilitate the NDG Enterprise's payday lending activities. NDG Financial personnel 

established and managed banking and payment processing relationships with US-based 

service providers on behalf ofNDG Financial's wholly owned subsidiaries. NDG 

Financial is therefore an "affiliate," "service provider," and "covered person" unde_r the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1), (6)(B), (26)(A)(i). 

14. Northway Financial Corp., Ltd. (Northway), registered as a private limited 

liability company under the Malta Companies Act of 1995 and licensed by the Malta 

3 
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Financial Services Authority (MFSA), is a wholly owned subsidiary of NDG Financial 

with its principal place of business located at LevelS, Plaza Commercial Centre, Bisazza 

Street, Sliema, Malta. 

15. Northway, as the lending arm of the NDG Enterprise payday loan 

operation, extends credit to US consumers in the form of payday loans using a series of 

Internet "doing business as" websites, including CashTransferCenters.com; 

PRLDirect.com; 24 7Greenstreet.com; GreenPicket.com; PaydayAvenue.com; 

CashTaxi.com; PixyCash.com; SonicPayday.com; and Zip1g.com (the DBA websites). 

16. Northway provides a "consumer financial product or service," and is 

therefore a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), (15)(A)(i). It is 

also a "lender" under the Credit Practices Rule. 12 C.F.R. § 444.1(a). 

17. Northway Broker, Ltd. (Northway Broker), registered as a private limited 

liability company under the Malta Companies Act of 1995 and licensed by the MFSA, is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of NDG Financial that shares its principal place of business 

with Northway in Sliema, Malta. 

18. Northway Broker provides money brokering servkes to US consumers 

applying for payday loans from Northway via the DBA websites. 

19. Northway Broker generates revenue by charging broker fees for 

Northway's loan transactions as well as Non-Sufficient Funds (NSF) fees to consumers 

that default on payment. 

20. Northway Broker provides a "consumer financial product or service" and 

is therefore a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), (15)(A)(i). It is 

also a "lender" under the Credit Practices Rule. 12 C.F.R. § 444.1(a). 

4 
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21. Northway Broker also provides "material services" to Northway by 

contracting with credit reporting agencies that provide background information on 

potential Northway loan applicants. It is therefore also an "affiliate" and "service 

provider" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1), (26)(A). 

22. E-Care Contact Centers, Ltd. (E-Care), incorporated in Canada, is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of NDG Financial. 

23. E-Care shares both its principal place of business and registered office 

address with NDG Financial. 

24. E-Care has an additional location at Suite ~oo, 4~~ Main Street, 

Winnipeg, Manitoba. 

25. E-Care collects payday loans extended by Northway, which constitutes a 

"consumer financial service" under the CFPA and makes E-Care a "covered person" 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A), (15)(A)(x), (6). 

26. Blizzard Interactive Corp. (Blizzard) is a Canadian incorporated, wholly 

owned subsidiary of NDG Financial with its principal place of business at Suite 500, 433 

Main Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba. 

27. Blizzard also shares an address with NDG Financial and E-Care. 

28. Blizzard identifies potential payday .Joan customers for Northway by 

generating a demographic profile of its target customers, including their state of 

residence. 

29. Blizzard then sends this profile to third-party lead generators and pays a 

fee for any leads referred. 

30. Blizzard is therefore an "affiliate," "service provider," and "covered person" 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1), (6), (26). 

5 
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31. Defendant Sagewood Holdings, Ltd. (Sagewood) is a Canadian corporation 

that shares its registered office mailing address with NDG Financial and E-Care. 

32. Sagewood also lists an address at Suite 400, 15225 104th Avenue, Surrey, 

British Columbia. 

33. Sagewood controls a 50.1% share of NDG Financial, which in turn owns 

Northway in its entirety. 

34. Sagewood is therefore a "related person" and "covered person" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (25). 

35· New World Consolidated Lending Corp. (NWCL), New World Lenders 

Corp.(NWL), Payroll Loans First Lenders Corp. (PLFL), and New World RRSP Lenders 

Corp. (NWRL) (collectively, the Funding Entities) are NDG Financial wholly owned 

subsidiaries located in Canada that issue private bonds to individual and corporate 

investors. 

36. The NDG Enterprise then uses these investment funds to extend loan 

principal to US consumers via Northway. 

37. By raising money that is then extended to US consumers in the form of 

loan principal, the Funding Entities participate in the operation and maintaining of the 

NDG Enterprise's payday lending service and are therefore NDG Financial and 

Northway "affiliates," "service providers," and "covered persons~' under the CFP A. 12 

u.s.c. § 5481(1), (6), (26). 

COMMON ENTERPRISE 

38. Defendants NDG Financial, Northway, Northway Broker, E-Care, Blizzard, 

Sagewood, 1'-.'"WCL, NWL, PLFL, and NWRL have operated as a common enterprise 
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while engaging in the unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and practices and other 

violations of law described below. 

39. The NDG Enterprise has conducted its business practices through an 

interrelated network of companies that have common ownership, management, 

business functions, addresses, office space, and employees. 

40. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Strategy Officer for NDG Financial 

also hold leadership positions in NDG Financial's subsidiaries: Northway, Northway 

Broker, E-Care, and Blizzard. 

41. Ownership of NDG Financial and its subsidiaries is shared by three 

Canadian citizens. 

42. In addition, the NDG Enterprise has distributed funds collected from US 

consumers amongst its various entities using shared bank accounts located in the US 

and Canada. 

43· Because these entities have operated as a common enterprise, each of 

them is jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. 

DEFENDANfS' BUSINESS PRACTICES 

44· Since at least July 21, 2011, NDG Financial, through its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, has extended high-cost, short-term installment loans, also known as 

payday loans, exclusively over the Internet to consumers in all fifty of the United States. 

45. Blizzard identifies customers for Northway's loans by purchasing leads 

from lead generation companies. 

46. Consumers apply for loans via DBA websites managed by Northway 

Broker. 
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47· The Funding Entities generate the capital to fund the loans that Northway 

makes to US consumers. 

48. Northway originates the loans. 

49· E-Care collects the debts. 

so. NDG Financial and E-Care establish and manage the service provider 

relationships required for continued funding and operation of the lending enterprise. 

Blizzard identifies potential consumers for Northway's Loans 

51. Blizzard establishes required demographic criteria for the consumers to 

whom it seeks to market the NDG Enterprise's loans. 

52. Blizzard then sends its required criteria to the lead generators. 

53· One of the criteria that Blizzard uses to identify customers is the 

consumer's state of residency. For example, in June 2013, Blizzard targeted consumers 

residing in the United States, with the exception of Georgia, Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, 

West Virginia, American Samoa, Guam, Mariana Islands, and North Dakota. 

54. In June 2013, Blizzard worked with a lead generator to target consumers 

residing in New York and New Jersey. 

55. Blizzard maintains software that redirects its purchased leads to the DBA 

websites. 

Consumers Access Northway's Loans Through the DBA Websites 

56. Each DBA website server has been physically housed (aka "hosted") with 

Canadian and US-based telecommunications companies using the following domain 

name servers associated withE-Care: dnsl.ecarecenters.net, dns2.ecarecenters.net, and 

dns3.ecarecenters.net. 
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57. A publicly available domain name search indicates that the DBA websites 

use servers physically located in the United States or Canada. 

58. In order to apply for a loan via the websites, the consumer must first 

establish a personal website account by creating a user name and password. 

59. Once the account is created, the website prompts the consumer to enter 

the amount for which he or she is applying. 

6o. Consumers are required to enter their checking account number, social 

security number, date of birth, and home address. 

61. The websites further indicate that the loan funds will be disbursed directly 

into the consumer's checking account through an ACH credit. 

The NDG Enterprise disburses and receives funds via ACH transfer 

62. The NDG Enterprise us~s US-based banks, payment processors, and 

money transmitters to transfer funds to and from US consumers, typically through 

Automated Clearing House (ACH) credit and debit entries. 

63. In order to disburse funds to and collect funds from US consumers 

through the ACH network, NDG Financial and E-Care employees established and 

maintained accounts with several US-based Originating Depository Financial 

Institutions, Third Party Payment Processors, and money services transmitters in 

Northway's name. 

64. Originating Depository Financial Institutions ("ODFis") are financial 

institutions that initiate credit and debit entries via the ACH system. 

65. Third Party Payment Processors ("TPPPs") are nonbank companies that 

process ACH and other types of payments on behalf of their merchant clients using 

accounts they establish with ODFis. 
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66. NDG Financial employees communicate with its ODFis and TPPPs using 

e-mail accounts belonging to NDG Financial, Northway, and E-Care. 

67. For example, Northway's Treasury Manager $ent e-mails using 

@ndgfinancial.com and @ecarecenters.com addresses. 

68. NDG Enterprise personnel have also established twelve affiliated accounts 

at a Canadian financial institution on behalf of NDG Enterprise entities, including NDG 

Financial, Northway, E-Care, Blizzard, NWCL, NWL, PLFL, and NWRL. 

6g. Northway loan repayments are deposited into Northway's accounts with a 

US-based ODFI. 

70. NDG Enterprise personnel then wire funds from Northway's US-based 

ODFI accounts to its Canadian-based accounts which are then funneled to the affiliated 

subsidiary accounts identified above. 

NDG Enterprise Loan Characteristics 

71. The NDG Enterprise originates, services, and collects payday loans in all 

fifty states, including states such as New York in which those loans have no legal effect 

because they violate state usury caps and licensing requirements. 

72. The loans are generally short term (14 days), ranging from $100-$1500 

with finance charges between $19.98 and $26.98 per $too borrowed. 

73. In addition, some loan agreements include a wage assignment clause that, 

by its terms and conditions, is not revocable and does not contain an opt-out provision. 

74. According to the wage assignment clause, if the consumer defaults on the 

loan for more than seven days from the date that payment is due, the consumer 

authorizes the NDG Enterprise to instruct the consumer's employer to pay the 

outstanding loan amount directly to the NDG Enterprise from the consumer's wages. 
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75. In numerous instances, Defendants, pursuant to wage assignment clauses 

signed by consumers, received money directly from the consumers' employers' payroll 

accounts via ACH debit entries. 

76. Records from one of Defendants' ODFI's shows ACH debit entries from 

various business entity accounts that Defendants admit, in correspondence with that 

ODFI, represent loan repayments pursuant to consumer wage assignment clause 

authorizations. 

77· Below is a sample chart on the CashTaxi.com website from May 2013 

disclosing the cost of the loan in terms of both a flat fee and annual percentage rate: 

Loan Term Loan Amount Total Fees Days ina APR 
(days) Year 
14 $100.00 $22.98 365 599.12% 
14 $100.00 $25.98 365 677.34% 
14 $100.00 $26.98 365 703-41% 
14 $5oo.oo $114.90 365 599.12% 
14 $500.00 $129.90 365 677·34% 
14 $5oo.oo $134·90 365 703.41% 
1_4 $1000.00 $229.80 365 599.12% 
14 $1000.00 $259.80 365 677-34% I 

14 $1000.00 $26g.So 365 _1_0_3-41% 
14 $1500.00 $344.70 365 599-12% 
14 $1500.00 $374-70 365 677-34% 
14 $1500.00 $404._70 365 703-41% 

Defendants' Collection Practices 

78. Once the loan is disbursed to the consumer, E-Care collects delinquent 

payments on behalf of the NDG Enterprise. 

79· E-Care, using the name of the DBA website through which the consumer 

selected the loan, contacts delinquent consumers by phone, e-mail, and letter, restating 

the consumer's obligation to repay the principal and interest in full, along with a $3g.oo 

NSF fee, and a $2o.oo late payment fee. 
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So. In numerous instances, the NDG Enterprise, through E-Care, falsely 

represented to consumers that non-payment of debt would result in lawsuit, arrest, 

imprisonment, or wage garnishment, despite lacking the intention or legal authority to 

take such actions. 

81. In fact, the NDG Enterprise had no intention of suing individuals in the 

United States. 

82. In correspondence with an ODFI, Defendants admitted that they do not 

sue individuals in the United States. 

83. The NDG Enterprise also has no intention of employing wage garnishment 

as a collections technique. 

84. In correspondence with an ODFI, Defendants admitted that they do not 

employ wage garnishment in the United States. 

85. Between July 21, 2011, and 2014, the NDG Enterprise furnished 

information to credit reporting agencies on trade lines belonging to consumers residing 

in all fifty states, including approximately at least 15,000 trade lines belonging to New 

York residents. 

Defendants' Assertions of Federal and State Law Immunity 

86. Some of the loan agreements, issued by Northway and Northway Broker 

on behalf of the NDG Enterprise, expressly claimed that Northway and Northway 

Broker were not subject to any laws of the US federal government or any state. 

87. The loan agreements also asserted that US federal and state laws did not 

apply to Northway and Northway Broker, the consumer's account, or to the terms of the 

loan agreement. 
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88. In response to consumers that contacted Defendants to report a 

complaint, dispute a charge, or request reimbursement, Defendants asserted that the 

consumers' state laws did not apply. 

89. For example, Defendants frequently sent a form letter to complaining 

consumers, which stated: 

If you take a moment to review the attached loan agreement, 
you will see that Northway Financial Corporation Ltd. is a 
Financial Institution licensed and regulated in accordance with 
the European Union (EU) Directives. As such, the laws of the 
Republic of Malta (member State of the European Union), not 
the state of [consumer's state of residence] applies to its terms. 
We provided you with this notice so that you would understand 
the terms of your loan. 

go. In response to hundreds of complaints against Northway for alleged 

violations of consumer protection laws, several states have issued Cease and Desist 

orders to Northway, directing it to stop extending unlicensed loans that do not comply 

with various state consumer lending law protections. 

91. Those states include: Michigan (2014), California (2012, 2013, and 2014), 

Virginia (2013), New Hampshire (2011), Maine (2011), Oregon (2011), and Pennsylvania 

(2010). 

92. In some instances, after receiving the Cease and Desist orders, the NDG 

Enterprise continued to originate, service, or collect loans in those states. 

93. In some instances, the NDG Enterprise responded to state ~:egulators 

through a Malta-based law firm, which claimed that because Northway is physically 

located in Malta it does not transact business in any US state, and is therefore not 

subject to state law. 
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94· In further contrast to what it tells consumers, the NDG Enterprise, in an 

application filed with a US bank in order to process ACH transactions, acknowledged 

that it was subject to US federal law: 

US Operations are governed under federal law. As detailed by 
NDG [Financial]'s management, US companies can operate 
either under the Federal law or State law, and are subject to the 
regulations and taxes according to the choice of law. As NDG 
[Financial] is an Internet company with no physical location in 
any state, NDG [Financial] opted to be regulated under Federal 
law, which provides it the freedom to operate across differing 
states. Challenge with opting for Federal law is the company is 
occasionally subject to cease and desist orders from States who 
are unaware they are operating under Federal law. 

95· The NDG Enterprise underwent annual external audits of its financial 

statements by an independent accounting firm. 

96. These external audits placed the NDG Enterprise on notice that its payday 

lending operations were subject to US federal and state law. 

97. The 2010 audit report stated that (1) the NDG Enterprise was subject to 

extensive regulation in the jurisdictions in which it operated; (2) there was a risk that 

regulatory authorities in those jurisdictions would apply specific lending legislation on 

loans issued to borrowers residing in those jurisdictions; (3) there was a risk that the 

NDG Enterprise was violating specific loan legislation in the borrowers' jurisdictions; 

and (4) that the interest rates on NDG Enterprise loans would exceed the maximum 

permissible rate of interest in some borrowers' jurisdictions, thus making the borrowers' 

obligations legally unenforceable. 

98. According to the audit, the NDG Enterprise informed the auditor that it 

conducted business in accordance with the applicable laws of the respective 

jurisdictions. 
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99. The NDG Enterprise told a service provider that its practices were 

consistent with the requirements of US consumer protection statutes and that all laws 

related to the collection of debt in the jurisdiction in which the customer resides were 

adhered to at all times. 

100. Further, records show that an ODFI service provider met with NDG 

Enterprise personnel to express concerns about the Enterprise's compliance with federal 

and state laws. 

101. The NDG Enterprise responded by claiming it did not need to comply with 

state licensing requirements because its US operations were governed by federal law and 

that it was "federally registered." 

STATE LAWS PROTECTING CONSUMERS 
WHO TAKE OUT SMALL DOLLAR LOANS 

102. In addition to extending payday loans in states that have affirmatively 

tried to stop Defendants from selling unlicensed and illegal payday loans to their 

citizens, Defendants have originated, serviced, and collected on loans that consumers 

are not obligated to pay, in whole or in part, based on state licensing regulations or 

usury caps that render non-compliant loans, such as those offered by Defendants, void. 

103. Many states protect consumers from harmful practices associated with the 

origination, servicing, and collection of payday loans. 

104. Such legal protections include restrictions upon the types of entities which 

may engage in these types of transactions, licensing requirements, and civil and criminal 

usury limits. 
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105. Loans that violate these laws are declared void, meaning that the lender 

has no legal right to collect, and the borrower is not obligated to pay, some or all of the 

principal or interest on the loan. 

Interest-Rate Caps 

106. The following states have enacted laws that render payday loans void if 

they exceed the usury limit: 

a. Arkansas, whose state constitution provides that all contracts with 

interest in excess of 17% "shall be void as to principal and interest . .. . " 

Ark. Const. amend. 89, §§ 3, 6(b); 

b. Minnesota, which caps interest rates for (a) written loan contracts at 

8% absent applicability of another statute, Minn. Stat. § 334.01, subdiv. 

1; and (b) consumer short-term loans at 21.75% APR, or the total of 

33% a year on the part of the unpaid balance up to $1,125 and 19% a 

year on the part of the unpaid balance above $1,125. 

Minn. Stat. §47.59, subdiv. 3(a). Loans that exceed these rates are void 

and the borrower has no obligation to pay any amounts owing on them. 

Minn. Stat. §§ 334.03, 47.601, subdiv. 6(b); 

c. New Hampshire, which prohibits annual interest rates above 36% for 

loans of $1o,ooo or less. N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-A:12(I). Loans that do 

not comply with those restrictions are void, and the lender has no right 

to collect any principal, charges, or recompense. N.H. Rev. Stat.§ 399-

A:u(V); 

d. New York, which prohibits any person or corporation not licensed by 

the state of New York from "directly or indirectly charg[ing], tak[ing] 
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or receiv[ing] any interest ... at a rate exceeding" annual interest of 

16% on covered loans. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law§ 5-501; N.Y. Banking Law 

§ 14-a(1). Loans that exceed the rate are void. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law§ 5-

511; see also Szerdahelyi v. Harris, 490 N.E.2d 517, 522-23 (N.Y. 1986) 

C'[A] usurious transaction is void ab initio ... . ");and 

e. North Carolina, which imposes a tiered set of interest-rates limits with 

a maximum of 30% on loans below $15,000 and repayable between 12 

and 96 months. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-176(a). Loans that violate this 

provision are void, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or 

retain any principal or charges. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-166(d). 

107. Colorado prohibits annual interest above 12% on unpaid balances for loans 

other than supervised loans. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-2-201(1). For supervised loans, 

Colorado prohibits a supervised lender from receiving a finance charge exceeding the 

equivalent of the greater of either of the following: (a) the total of 36% on unpaid 

balances of $1,000 or less, 21% on unpaid balances between $tooo.o1 and $3,000, and 

15% on unpaid balances greater than $3,000, or (b) 21% per year on unpaid balances. 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-2-201(2). Consumers are relieved of the obligation to pay any charge 

that exceeds these limits and are entitled to a refund from the lender or assignee for any 

excess amount that they paid. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-5-201(2). 

108. Defendants made loans to consumers in Arkansas, Minnesota, New 

Hampshire, New York, and North Carolina that charged interest at rates exceeding 

those allowed by the laws of the respective states, and therefore, those loans are void. 
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109. Defendants made loans to consumers in Colorado that charged interest at 

rates exceeding those allowed by Colorado law, and .therefore, consumers were relieved 

of the obligation to pay charges in excess of the legal limits. 

Licensing Requirements 

no. The following states have implemented licensing regimes that include 

measures aimed at preventing and penalizing harmful consumer lending practices: 

Alabama, Arizona, Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, 

Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, 

and Utah. The licensing regimes in these states reflect substantive consumer-protection 

concerns by, for instance: 

a. ensuring that licensees possess the requisite character, integrity, and 

experience (Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 6-603(F)(2); Colo. Rev. Stat.§ 5-2-

302(2); Ind. Code § 24-4.5-3-503(2); 209 Mass. Code Regs. 20.03; 

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-168(a)(2); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-A:4(I); 

N.Y. Banking Law§ 342); and 

b. ensuring compliance with loan-term and disclosure regulations by 

requiring compliance examinations and investigations by state 

regulators as well as recordkeeping and annual reports (Ariz. Rev. Stat. 

§§ 6-607, 6-6o8(A), 6-609(A)-(D); Colo. Rev. Stat.§§ 5-2-304, 5-2-

305; Ind. Code§ 24-4.5-3-505; Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 140 §§ 97-99; N.H. 

Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:6, 399-A:1o; N.Y. Banking Law§§ 348, 349; N.C. 

Gen. Stat. §§ 53-184). 
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111. These state licensing statutes reflect the strong public policy interest in 

ensuring that entities seeking to engage in the consumer-lending business are vetted 

and supervised by regulators for compliance with consumer protections and other laws. 

112. The following state laws render payday loans void if they are made without 

a license. If a covered loan is made without a license in the following states, the entity 

has no right to collect from consumers, or the consumers have no obligation to repay 

certain loan amounts: 

a. Alabama, which voids covered loans of $1,000 or less that are made 

without a license, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or 

retain any principal, interest, or charges whatsoever on such loans, 

Ala. Code § 5-18-4(a), (d); 

b. Arizona, which voids covered loans of $1o,ooo or less that are made or 

procured without a license, and the lender has no right to collect any 

principal, finance charges, or other fees in repayment of such loans, 

Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 6-601(5)-(7), 6-6o2(B), 6-603(A), 6-613(b); 

c. Illinois, which voids consumer-installment loans for principal amounts 

not exceeding $40,000 made after January 1, 2013, without a license, 

and the person who made the loan shall have no right to collect, 

receive, or retain any principal, interest, or charges related to the loan, 

205 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 670/1 (2012), 670j2o(d) (2013); 

d. Indiana, which voids covered loans made without a license in which the 

finance charge exceeds 25% a year, and the debtor has no obligation to 

pay either the principal or finance charges on such loans, Ind. Code 

§§ 24-4.5-5-202(2), 24-4.5-3-502(3); 
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e. Kentucky, which voids covered loans of $15,000 or less if the interest 

rate exceeds 8% and the loan is made without a license, and the lender 

has no right to collect any principal, charges, or recompense 

whatsoever on such loans, Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 286.4-991(1), 286.4-

420, 360.010(1); 

f. Massachusetts, which voids covered loans of $6,ooo or less if interest 

and expenses on the loan exceed 12% a year and the loan is made or 

purchased without a license, and the lender or purchaser has no right 

to collect money in repayment of such loans, Mass. Gen. Law. Ch. 140, 

§§ 96, no; 

g. Minnesota, which voids covered loans of $1,000 or less that are made 

without a license, and the borrower is not obligated to pay any amounts 

owing on such loans, Minn. Stat.§ 47.601, subdiv. 1(d), subdiv. 6(b)(1); 

h. Montana, which voids covered loans in any amount that are made, or 

for which any compensation is contracted for, charged, or received 

directly or indirectly, by a person without a license, and the person 

does not have the right to collect, receive, or retain any principal, 

interest, fees, or other charges on such loans, Mont. Code Ann. § 32-5-

103(1), (4); 

1. New Hampshire, which voids covered loans of $1o,ooo or less that are 

made without a license, and the lender has no right to collect such 

loans, N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:1(XIV), 399-A:2(I), (IV); 

j. New Jersey, which voids consumer loans of $so,ooo or less that are 

made without a license, and the lender has no right to collect or receive 
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any principal, interest, or charges on such loans, unless the act was the 

result of good faith error, N.J. Rev. Stat. §§ 17:11C-2, 17-uC-3, 17-11C-

33(b); 

k. New Mexico, which voids loans of $2,500 or less made by a person 

with no license, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain 

any principal, interest, or charges whatsoever on such loans, N .M. Stat. 

§ 58-15-3; 

1. New York, which voids personal loans of $25,000 or less that are made 

without a license and where the interest or other charge exceeds that 

permitted to a licensee, and the lender has no right to collect such 

loans, N.Y. Banking Law§§ 340, 355; 

m. North Carolina, which voids covered loans of $15,000 or less that are 

made or secured for repayment without a license, and any party in 

violation shall not collect, receive, or retain any principal or charges 

with respect to such loans, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-166(a), (d); 

n. Ohio, which voids loans of $5,000 or less that are made without a 

license, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any 

principal, interest, or charges on such loans, Ohio Rev. Code Ann. 

§ 1321.02; and 

o. Utah, which voids deferred deposit loans made by persons who have 

not registered with the Department of Financial Institutions, and the 

lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any principal or other 

interest or fees in connection with the loan, Utah Code Ann. § ?-23-

201(1)(a), (7). 
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113. Colorado relieves the consumer's obligation to pay finance charges to the 

lender or assignee where the lender or assignee has failed to obtain the requisite license. 

Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-5-201(1), 5-2-301(1)(a), (b), 5-1-301(17). 

114. Defendants were not licensed to make loans in any US state. 

115. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Alabama, Arizona, 

Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New 

Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Utah, and Colorado, and those 

loans are void because of Defendants' failure to acquire the required licenses. 

116. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Colorado, and those 

consumers were relieved of the obligation to repay finance charges because of 

Defendants' failure to acquire the required licenses. 

Summary of States in Which 
Defendants' Loans Are Void in Whole or in Part 

117. Defendants' loans were void in the following states based on state licensing 

law, state usury law, or both: Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, 

Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New 

York, North Carolina, Ohio, and Utah. 

118. Colorado relieves consumers of the obligation to repay excess fees and 

finance charges for loans that exceed interest rates limits or are issued without a license. 

119. These states are hereinafter referred to as the "Subject States." 
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VIOlATIONS OF THE CONSUMER 
FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive Acts o r Pr actices 

120. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1), 

prohibit a "covered person" or "service provider" from engaging in "any unfair, 

deceptive or abusive act or practice." 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

121. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid themselves and that is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

122. An act or practice is abusive if it materially interferes with the ability of a 

consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product or service. 

12 u.s.c. § 5531(d)(1). 

Count I 

Deception Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments which Consumers Did Not Owe 

123. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-122 of 

this Complaint. 

124. Through the actions set forth above, Defendants represented expressly or 

by implication that consumers residing in the Subject States were obligated to repay 

loan amounts, an obligation that in fact did not exist because the loans violated state 

licensing and/or usury laws that declared such amounts void ab initio. 

125. Through the following actions, Defendants reinforced the 

misrepresentations that consumers were obligated to pay debts that were void in the 

Subject States: 

a. Sending executed loan agreements; 
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b. Sending demand letters for payment; 

c. Originating ACH debit entries from consumer bank accounts; 

d. Offering and accepting repayment through money service transmitters; 

and 

e. Contacting consumers by telephone to demand repayment. 

126. Defendants falsely represented that they had the legal right to collect 

certain loan payments for loans that were void under state law. 

127. Defendants falsely represented that consumers had the legal obligation to 

pay the loan amounts for loans which were void under state law. 

128. In numerous instances, consumers residing in Subject States were not 

under a legal obligation to repay the void amounts. 

129. Defendants' misrepresentations were likely to mislead reasonable 

consumers. 

130. Defendants' misrepresentations were material. 

131. Defendants' misrepresentations, actions, and materially incomplete 

statements constitute deceptive acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II 

Unfairness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments that Consumers Did Not Owe 

132. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-131 of 

this Complaint. 

133. Defendants caused substantial injury by forcing consumers residing in the 

Subject States to pay illegal amounts that they did not owe. 
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134. Consumers were unlikely to know that Subject States' usury laws and 

licensing requirements rendered Defendants' loans void, and thus consumers were 

unable to avoid paying illegal amounts to which Defendants were not entitled. 

135. Consumers could not reasonably avoid paying illegal amounts because 

Defendants repeatedly asserted that state law did not apply to the loan agreements. 

136. The injuries sustained by consumers residing in the Subject States were 

not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

137. Defendants' actions constitute unfair acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count III 

Abusiveness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments that Consumers Did Not Owe 

138. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-137 of 

this Complaint. 

139. The consumer's legal obligation to repay is a material term, cost, and 

condition of the loan. 

140. As set forth above, Defendants materially interfered with consumers' 

ability to understand that they were not under legal obligation to repay the loan 

amounts that were void under state law. 

141. Consumers residing in the Subject States likely were unaware that 

Defendants lacked the legal authority to collect the loans because the loans violated 

usury and licensing laws in those states. 

142. Defendants took unreasonable advantage of consumers.' lack of 

understanding regarding the enforceability of the loans by collecting debts to which 
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Defendants were not legally entitled by repeatedly asserting that state law did not apply 

to the loan agreements. 

143. Defendants' actions constitute abusive acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count IV 

Deception Relating to Applicability of US Federal and State Law 

144. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-143 of 

this Complaint. 

145. In loan agreements and communications with consumers, Defendants 

represented that they and the loan agreements were not subject to US federal or state 

law. 

146. By contrast, Defendants told their service providers that they are, in fact, 

subject to US federal law. 

147. In fact, Defendants are subject to US federal and applicable state law. 

148. Defendants' external auditor placed Defendants on notice that they are 

subject to the laws of the borrowers' jurisdictions. 

149. Defendants told service providers that their practices complied with US 

consumer protection statutes and laws related to the collection of debt in the 

jurisdiction in which the customer resides. 

150. Defendants' representations that they were not subject to US federal or 

applicable state law were likely to mislead reasonable consumers. 

151. The governing law applicable to the parties and their respective rights and 

responsibilities relating to the loans was a material condition of the product. 
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152. Defendants' representations that they were not subject to US federal or 

applicable state law were material. 

153. Defendants' representations constitute deceptive acts in violation of 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CountV 

Abusiveness Relating to Applicability of US Federal and State Law 

154. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-153 of 

this Complaint. 

155. Defendants' loan agreements and its communications with consumers 

materially interfered with consumers' abilities to understand that US federal and 

applicable state laws applied to Defendants and governed disputes arising from the use 

of Defendants' loans. 

156. The governing law applicable to the parties and their respective rights and 

responsibilities relating to the loans was a material condition of the product. 

157. Defendants' actions constitute abusive acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count VI 

Deception Relating to Consequences of Non-Payment 

158. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-157 of 

this Complaint. 

159. Defendants, in numerous instances, represented to consumers that non

payment of debt would result in lawsuits, arrest, imprisonment, or wage ·garnishment. 

160. When Defendants made these representations, they did not intend to take 

the threatened actions. 

27 



Case 1:15-cv-05211-CM   Document 6   Filed 07/31/15   Page 28 of 32

161. Defendants did not have the legal authority to take some of the actions 

they threatened. 

162; Defendants' representations were designed to increase the likelihood that 

consumers would repay the debt. 

163. Defendants admitted to their ODFI service provider that, "in order to 

garnish wages Northway would have to get a judgement [sic] first. Since Northway does 

not sue individuals in the United States, wage garnishment is not available to Northway 

as a method to collect form US customers. In addition, Northway has no intention in 

employing garnishment as a collection technique." 

164. Defendants' representations to US consumers regarding the actions 

Defendants would take were false and misleading and constitute deceptive acts in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

VIOLATION OF THE CREDIT PRACfiCES RULE 

165. The Credit Practices Rule (CPR) is a rule promulgated by the Federal 

Trade Commission (FfC) under Section 18 of the FfCAct, 15 U.S.C. § 57a. 

166. The Bureau is authorized to enforce a rule prescribed under the FTC Act 

by the FTC with respect to an unfair or deceptive act or practice to the extent that such 

rule applies to a covered person or service provider with respect to the offering or 

provision of a consumer financial product or service as if it were a rule prescribed under 

section 1031, 12 U.S.C. § 5531, of the CFPA. The Bureau therefore may enforce the CPR. 

12 u.s.c. § 5581(b)(s)(B)(ii). 

167. The CPR defines a "lender" as "a person who engages in the business of 

lending money to consumers within the jurisdiction of the Federal Trade Commission." 

16 C.F.R. § 444.1(a). 
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168. Northway and Northway Broker are "lenders" as defined under the CPR 

and are "covered persons" under the CFPA. 

169. The Credit Practices Rule prohibits lenders, in connection with the 

extension of credit to consumers, from taking or receiving from a consumer an 

obligation that constitutes or contains an assignment of wages or other earnings unless: 

(i) the assignment by its terms is revocable at the will of the debtor, (ii) the assignment 

is a payroll deduction plan or preauthorized payment plan, commencing at the time of 

the transaction, in which the consumer authorizes a series of wage deductions as a 

method of making each payment, or (iii) the assignment applies only to wages or other 

earnings already earned at the time of the assignment. 16 C.F.R. § 444.2(a)(3). 

170. The Bureau is authorized to bring a civil action against any person that 

violates the CPR. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a), SS8t(b)(S)(B)(ii). 

Count VII 

Conditioning the Extension of Credit on an Irrevocable Wage Assignment Clause 

171. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-170 of 

this Complaint. 

172. In numerous instances, in connection with the extension of credit to 

consumers, Defendants have taken or received from consumers an obligation that 

constitutes or contains an assignment of wages or other earnings where the assignment: 

(i) by its terms is not revocable at the will of the consumer, (ii) is not a payroll deduction 

plan or preauthorized payment plan, commencing at the time of the transaction, in 

which the consumer authorizes a series of wage deductions as a method of making each 

payment, and (iii) does not apply only to wages or other earnings already earned at the 
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time of the assignment, in violation of Section 444.2(a)(3) of the Credit Practices Rule, 

16 C.F.R. § 444.2(a)(3). 

Count VIII 

Unfairness Relating to Conditioning the Extension of Credit on an Irrevocable Wage 
Assignment Clause 

173. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-172 of 

this Complaint. 

174. Defendants' practice of conditioning some loan agreements upon 

irrevocable wage assignment clauses caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers. 

175. Wage assignments occur without the procedural safeguards of a hearing 

and opportunity to assert defenses or counter claims. 

176. The use of irrevocable wage assignments causes serious and detrimental 

interference with employment relationships, negatively affects promotions, pay raises, 

and job assignments, and can result in job loss. 

177. Further, the use of irrevocable wage assignments disrupts consumers' 

finances and can make it difficult for a consumer to purchase necessities or discharge 

other obligations in a timely fashion. 

178. Consumers cannot reasonably avoid these injuries because some loans are 

conditioned upon the wage assignment clause and are irrevocable. 

179. Finally, these injuries are not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

180. Defendants' actions constitute unfair acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

181. Under Section 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565, this Court has 

"jurisdiction to grant any appropriate legal or equitable relief with respect to a violation 

of Federal consumer financial law .. . "including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1). This 

relief includes rescission, refund of monies, restitution, disgorgement or compensation 

for unjust enrichment, payment of damages or other monetary relief, public notification 

regarding the violation, limits on the activities or functions of the person, and civil 

money penalties. 12 U.S. C. § 5565(a)(2). In addition, the CFPB may recover its costs in 

connection with the action, if it is the prevailing party. 12 u.s.c. § 5565(b). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

182. Wherefore, the CFPB, pursuant to Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFP A, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court's own equitable powers, request that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin the Defendants from committing future violations 

of the CFP A, the CPR, or any other provision of "Federal consumer 

financial law," as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Award damages and other monetary relief as the Court finds necessary 

to redress injury to consumers resulting from the Defendants' 

violations of the CFP A and CPR including but not limited to restitution 

and the refund of monies paid; 

c. Order disgorgement against Defendants of ill-gotten gains; 

d. Award the costs of bringing this action; 

e. Award other injunctive relief as appropriate, including but not limited 

to the cessation of collection activities and the correction of 

information furnished to any credit reporting agencies; and 

31 



Case 1:15-cv-05211-CM   Document 6   Filed 07/31/15   Page 32 of 32

f. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

Dated: July 2, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

Anthony Alexis 
Enforcement Director 

Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

ta ie R. Williams 
Charles R. Gayle 
Edward J. Reilly 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone (Gayle): 202-435-9555 
Telephone (Reilly): 202-435-9426 
Fax: 202-435-7722 
E-mail: charlie.gayle@cfpb.gov 
E-mail: edward.reilly@cfpb.gov 
Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues Offshore Payday Lender
Bureau Alleges the NDG Enterprise Collected Money Illegally, Seeks
Refunds for Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
announced the filing of a lawsuit in federal district court against the NDG Enterprise, a
complex web of commonly controlled companies, for collecting money consumers did
not owe. The CFPB alleges that the defendants illegally collected loan amounts and fees
that were void or that consumers had no obligations to repay, and falsely threatened
consumers with lawsuits and imprisonment. The CFPB is seeking to end the companies’
alleged illegal practices and obtain monetary relief for consumers.

“We are taking action against the NDG Enterprise for collecting money it had no right
to take from consumers,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Companies making
loans within the U.S. have to comply with federal law, and the Consumer Bureau will
work to ensure that American consumers receive the protections and fair treatment
they deserve.”

The NDG Enterprise originates and collects payday loans over the Internet to
consumers in all 50 states, including states such as New York where those loans are
void because they violate state usury caps and licensing requirements. The CFPB’s
complaint names NDG Financial Corp., Northway Financial Corp., Ltd., Northway
Broker, Ltd., ECare Contact Centers, Ltd., Blizzard Interactive Corp., Sagewood
Holdings, Ltd., New World Consolidated Lending Corp., New World Lenders Corp.,
Payroll Loans First Lenders Corp., and New World RRSP Lenders Corp. All of the
defendants except Northway Financial Corp. Ltd. and Northway Broker, Ltd. are
Canadian corporations. Northway Financial Corp. Ltd. and Northway Broker, Ltd. are
incorporated in Malta. Sagewood Holdings, Ltd. owns a majority interest in NDG
Financial Corp., which owns all of the other defendants.

The CFPB’s complaint alleges that the defendants have violated the DoddFrank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair, deceptive, and
abusive acts and practices. The CFPB’s complaint alleges, among other things, that the
NDG Enterprise:

Made false threats to consumers: In numerous instances, the defendants
falsely represented to consumers that nonpayment of debt would result in
lawsuit, arrest, imprisonment, or wage garnishment, despite lacking the intention
or legal authority to take such actions.

Deceived consumers about their debts: Under state law, consumers had no
obligation to repay the loans in question that were made by the NDG Enterprise.
However, the NDG Enterprise told consumers expressly or by implication that
they were obligated to repay loan amounts and fees that they did not actually owe.

Used illegal wageassignment clauses: In numerous instances, the
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defendants included unlawful, irrevocable wageassignment clauses in loan
agreements. These clauses allowed the defendants to take payments directly from
consumers’ employers’ payroll accounts.

Under the DoddFrank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. The Bureau’s lawsuit
seeks:

Monetary relief and damages: The CFPB wants the defendants to refund the
money they took from consumers where the loan amounts were void or the
consumer otherwise was not obligated to repay the loan. The Bureau’s complaint
also seeks additional damages and costs.

No further violations of federal consumer laws: The Bureau wants the
defendants to adhere to all federal consumer financial protection laws, including
prohibitions on unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and practices.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201508_cfpb_complaintnorthway.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2o1s-CFPB-oo2o 

In the Matter of: 

RBS CITIZENS FINANCIAL GROUP, 
INC. (N/K/A CITIZENS FINANCIAL 
GROUP, INC.), RBS CITIZENS, N.A. 
(N/K/A CITIZENS BANK, N.A.), and 
CITIZENS BANK OF 
PENNSYLVANIA 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") has reviewed the deposit 

processing practices of RES Citizens Financial Group, Inc. (now known as Citizens 

Financial Group, Inc.), RES Citizens, N.A. (now known as Citizens Bank, N.A.), and 

Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania (collectively, the "Respondents" as defined below) and has 

determined: (1) the Respondents processed deposits such that certain customers did not 

receive credit for the full amount of deposited funds, which is an unfair act or practice in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ SS31, SS36; and (2) the Respondents' disclosures relating to the 

deposit process were deceptive in violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ SS31, ss63. Under Sections 

lOS3 and lOSS of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA" as defined 

below), 12 U.S.C. §§ ss63, ss6s, the Bureau issues this Order. 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 
Stipulation 

2. Each Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," ("Stipulations"), each of which is incorporated by reference and 

accepted by the Bureau. By these Stipulations, Respondents consented to the 

issuance of this Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of 

fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts necessary to 

establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject matter of 

this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The follovving definitions apply to this Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means all consumers who have maintained a 

non-commercial deposit account with either of the Banks, where (i) the 

consumer's deposit account experienced a Deposit Discrepancy under ETS (as 

defined below), and (ii) that Deposit Discrepancy resulted in the consumer 

being under-credited for the deposit. 

b. "Banks" means RBS Citizens, N.A. (now known as Citizens Bank, N.A.) and 

Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania. 

2 
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c. "Board" means Respondents' (as defined below) duly elected and acting 

Boards of Directors unless otherwise specified. 

d. "CBP" means Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania. 

e. "CFPA" means the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010. 

f. "Citizens" means RBS Citizens, N.A. (now known as Citizens Bank, N.A.). 

g. "Citizens Holding Company" means RBS Citizens Financial Group, Inc. (now 

known as Citizens Financial Group, Inc.). 

h. "Deposit Discrepancy" means a deposit transaction where the total deposit 

amount the Banks read on the deposit slip differed from the total of the 

amounts read from the checks, cash deposited, and/or other deposit items. 

1. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Order (as defined below) is 

issued. 

J. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

k. "Order" means this Consent Order. 

1. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his/her delegate. 

m. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Order. 

3 
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n. "Relevant Period" includes the period from January 1, 2008 through 

November 30, 2013. 

o. "Respondents" means Citizens Holding Company, Citizens, CBP, and their 

successors and assigns. 

p. "Service Provider" has the same meaning as set forth in Section 1002(26) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Citizens Holding Company is a commercial bank holding company with $136 

billion in total assets. Citizens and CBP are separately chartered banks that are 

subsidiaries of Citizens Holding Company. 

5. Citizens is an insured depository institution with $106 billion in assets as of 

March 31, 2015. CBP is an insured depository institution with $34 billion in assets 

as of March 31, 2015. Therefore, both Citizens and CBP are insured depository 

institutions with assets greater than $10 billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5515(a). They are also covered persons as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

6. Citizens Holding Company performed centralized compliance management for 

both Banks, including in relation to the consumer communications and deposit 

processing practices that are the subject of this Order. Citizens Holding Company, 

therefore, acted as a Service Provider to its banking subsidiaries Citizens and CBP. 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
Unfair Practices in Connection with Deposit Processing 

4 
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7. During the Relevant Period, the Banks used an Enterprise Transaction System 

("ETS") for processing deposits. 

8. The Banks generally required consumers making a deposit to present (i) the 

deposit items (e.g., checks, cash); and (ii) a deposit slip on which the customer 

indicated the total amount of funds being deposited. Having received those 

documents, Citizens or CBP then provided the consumer with a receipt for the 

transaction reflecting the amount stated on the deposit slip. 

9. Each branch then assembled the deposit items and deposit slips into batches, and 

sent those batches to one of several centralized processing facilities shared by the 

Banks. 

10. ETS flagged for the Banks' attention deposit transactions where the total deposit 

amount the Banks read on the deposit slip appeared to differ from the total of the 

amounts read from the checks, cash deposited, and/or other deposit items (a 

Deposit Discrepancy as defined above). 

11. Deposit Discrepancies indicated to the Banks that a question existed as to the 

amount the customer deposited. 

12. For transactions where the Deposit Discrepancy was above a defined threshold 

($50.00 prior to September 2012 and $25.00 thereafter), it was the Banks' 

practice to review the underlying documents (e.g., checks) to determine the actual 

deposit amount, and then make any adjustments necessary to correct the amount 

the consumer was credited. 

13. Where, however, a Deposit Discrepancy fell below those levels, the Banks followed 

a different practice: rather than attempting to ascertain the actual deposit 
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amount, they credited the consumer's account with the amount read on the 

deposit slip, even where the Banks knew the items the consumer deposited 

indicated a different amount. 

14. In most cases of Deposit Discrepancies, the amount read on the deposit slip was 

incorrect. As a result, the Banks' customers received credit for a deposit amount 

that was likely inaccurate. 

15. Because ETS would not accept a transaction in which the amount credited to a 

customer's account did not match the funds deposited with the Bank, the Banks 

created "substitution tickets" which credited or debited the Banks' general ledger 

account with the difference between the amounts credited to the customer's 

account and funds deposited with the Banks. 

16. The Banks' practice harmed consumers when the amount scanned on the deposit 

slip was less than the amount of the deposit items associated with the deposit. In 

such cases, the Banks did not give consumers full credit for their deposits. 

17. When the amount scanned on the deposit slip was more than the amount of the 

deposit items associated with the deposit, consumers were credited for more than 

their actual deposit amount. 

18. During the Relevant Period, the Banks under-credited consumers by 

approximately $12.3 million. 

19. The Banks' practices with respect to Deposit Discrepancies (as described above) 

did not comply with their own policy. The Banks' policy was to perform a limited 

review of the underlying documents when the Deposit Discrepancy fell within an 

intermediate range (most recently, between $s.oo and $25.00; prior to February 

2011, between $23.00 and $so.oo); and to provide no review when the Deposit 
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Discrepancy fell beneath the intermediate range. Contrary to the Banks' policy, in 

most cases they did not perform the limited review for Deposit Discrepancies in 

the intermediate range; and, as described above, credited consumers \'\lith the 

amount on the deposit slip. 

20. Respondents failed to detect this compliance failure due to weaknesses in the 

Banks' compliance management system and oversight failures. 

21. In November 2013, the Banks fully implemented technological and practice 

changes to their deposit processing system, and transitioned away from ETS. 

22. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if 

the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 

23. The Banks' practice for resolving Deposit Discrepancies resulted in consumers 

receiving less than full credit for their deposits and caused substantial injury to 

consumers. This injury was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any 

countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

24. Thus, the Banks engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of Sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 

5531(c)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
Deceptive Practices in Connection with Deposit Processing 

25. Citizens Holding Company approved for use by the Banks the Personal Deposit 

Account Agreement, which the Banks then distributed to consumers. 

7 
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26. Respondents did not disclose the practice relating to Deposit Discrepancies. 

Instead, the Banks' Personal Deposit Account Agreement stated, in relevant part, 

All deposits to your accounts, regardless of how made, are 
subject to verification, final payment and our Funds 
Availability disclosures which can be found in this Agreement 
. . . .  You agree that our count of the currency and coins in 
your deposit is correct as to the amount of the deposit. We 
reserve the right to make adjustments to your account, in our 
sole discretion, for computation or other errors to your 
account. 

27. As described in Paragraph 26, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of deposit accounts, in numerous instances, 

Respondents represented, expressly or impliedly, that consumer deposits were 

subject to verification; and that the Banks would take steps to ensure consumers 

were credited with the correct deposit amount. 

28. In fact, in numerous instances, the Banks did not verify and correct the deposit 

inaccuracies ETS identified. 

29. As described in Paragraph 26, in connection vvith the advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of deposit accounts, in numerous instances, 

Respondents represented, expressly or impliedly, that that consumer's deposits 

were subject to verification. Respondents failed to disclose or disclose adequately 

that the Banks' practice for resolving Deposit Discrepancies resulted in consumers 

receiving less than full credit for their deposits. Respondents' failure to disclose 

this fact, in light of the representation made, constitutes a deceptive act or 

practice. 

8 
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30. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

31. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that their Service 

Providers, Affiliates, and other agents do not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, in connection with deposit transactions 

and resolving Deposit Discrepancies and must take the following affirmative 

actions: 

a. Respondents must correct all violations of law described herein and must 

implement procedures to prevent their reoccurrence as set forth in this Order; 

and 

b. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, 

or performance of deposit accounts, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 

misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly their deposit processing practices. 

VI 

Compliance Committee and Compliance Plan 

9 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. The Board must establish a committee of at least three directors of the Banks or 

Citizens Holding Company, of which at least two must not be officers or 

employees of the division or business line that has direct responsibility for or 

oversight of the processing of deposits and Deposit Discrepancies ("Compliance 

Committee"). 

33. Within 14 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must provide in writing to the 

Regional Director the name of each member of the Compliance Committee. If 

there is a change of membership of the Compliance Committee, Respondents 

must submit the name and title of any new member in writing to the Regional 

Director. 

34. The Compliance Committee will be responsible for monitoring and coordinating 

Respondents' adherence to the provisions of this Order. The Compliance 

Committee must meet at least bi-monthly, and must maintain minutes of its 

meetings. 

35. The Compliance Committee must review all submissions (including plans, 

reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Order prior to 

submission to the Bureau. 

36. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, the Compliance Committee must submit a 

Compliance Plan to the Regional Director for review and determination of 

non-objection. 

37· At a minimum, the Compliance Plan must: 

10 
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a. Enhance or incorporate compliance functions or measures to ensure the 

processing of deposits and Deposit Discrepancies complies with Federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of the Order; 

b. Enhance or incorporate policies, procedures and practices to ensure the 

processing of deposits and Deposit Discrepancies complies with Federal 

consumer financial laws; 

c. Incorporate sufficient monitoring and oversight of the processing of deposits 

and Deposit Discrepancies to ensure the practice at the Banks adheres to the 

Banks' policies and procedures; 

d. Incorporate corrective actions sufficient to address any issues identified in the 

monitoring and auditing of the processing of deposits and Deposit 

Discrepancies; 

e. Incorporate sufficient training of personnel involved in the processing of 

deposits and Deposit Discrepancies to ensure such personnel understands the 

Banks' policies and procedures related to the processing of deposits and the 

resolution of Deposit Discrepancies; 

f. Enhance or incorporate complaint procedures and processing to ensure 

complaints related to the processing of deposits and Deposit Discrepancies are 

identified, tracked, and resolved in accordance with the Banks' policies and 

procedures; and 

g. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

38. The Regional Director v.rill have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondents to revise it. If the 
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Regional Director directs Respondents to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondents must make revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days or within any longer timeframe the Regional 

Director specifies. 

39. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondents must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. The Compliance Committee must ensure that Respondents 

implement and adhere to the Compliance Plan. Any material proposed changes to 

or deviations from the Compliance Plan must be submitted in writing to the 

Regional Director for determination of supervisory non-objection. 

40. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, the Respondents must develop a written 

Consumer Compliance Internal Audit Program for the processing of deposits and 

Deposit Discrepancies (the " Internal Audit Program"). The Compliance 

Committee must ensure that Respondents submit this Internal Audit Program to 

the Regional Director for determination of supervisory non-objection. 

41. At minimum, the Internal Audit Program must include: 

a. Written policies and procedures for conducting audits of Respondents' 

compliance with Federal consumer financial laws with respect to the 

processing of deposits and Deposit Discrepancies. These policies and 

procedures must specify the frequency, scope, and depth of these audits; 

b. Written policies and procedures for expanding sampling when exceptions 

based on potential violations of applicable Federal consumer financial laws are 
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detected with respect to the processing of deposits or Deposit Discrepancies; 

and 

c. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

42. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Internal Audit Program, Respondents must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in 

the Internal Audit Program. The Compliance Committee must ensure that 

Respondents implement and adhere to the Internal Audit Program. Any material 

proposed changes to or deviations from the Internal Audit Program must be 

submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of supervisory 

non-objection. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43· Although this Order requires Respondents to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondents and for 

ensuring that Respondents comply with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Order. 

44· In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or 

perform certain obligations of Respondents, the Board must: 
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a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply with 

the Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

MONETARY PROVISIONS 

VIII 
Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45· Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $11 million for the purpose of 

providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

46. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing 

redress consistent 'Arith this Order ("Redress Plan"). The Regional Director will 

have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan 

or direct Respondents to revise it. If the Regional Director directs Respondents to 

revise the Redress Plan, Respondents must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 15 days. After receiving notification 

that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan, Respondents must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 
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47· The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and, at a minimum: 

a. Specify how Respondents will identify all Affected Consumers and reimburse 

all Affected Consumers for the redress amount specified in the Redress Plan 

("Redress Amount"). 

b. Detail a methodology for calculating the Redress Amount for Affected 

Consumers. At a minimum, the proposed methodology must: 

1. consider only those Deposit Discrepancies that resulted in a credit to one of 

the general ledger accounts the Banks used for Deposit Discrepancy 

adjustments; 

n. include any fees the Affected Consumer incurred reasonably related to the 

under-crediting, including but not limited to overdraft fees, insufficient 

fund fees, and monthly maintenance fees; and 

m. include an amount reflecting a reasonable estimate of interest on the 

amount under-credited and any fees reimbursed, as calculated pursuant to 

the methodology set forth in the Redress Plan. 

c. Require Respondents to retain an independent third party consultant or 

auditor ("Redress Plan Consultant"), acceptable to the Regional Director, to 

assist in the review and assessment of Respondents' compliance with the 

terms of the Redress Plan; 

d. Include the form of the letter or other communication ("Redress Notification 

Letter") to be sent notifying Affected Customers of the redress and the form of 

any envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The Redress 

Notification Letter must explain how the Redress Amount was calculated, 

explain why the Affected Consumer is receiving redress, state that 
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Respondents are providing redress because of this Consent Order, and direct 

the Affected Consumer to the Bureau's website address that contains the 

Consent Order. Respondents may not include in any envelope containing a 

Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letter, and 

when appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondents have obtained written 

confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of the additional materials; 

e. Provide processes for reimbursing all Affected Consumers regardless of 

whether the Affected Consumer is currently an accountholder with either of 

the Banks. The processes must include the following requirements: 

1. For any open account, Respondents must provide a credit of the Redress 

Amount posted to the Affected Consumer's account, regardless of whether 

the crediting of an Affected Consumer's account results in a credit balance. 

n. For any closed account with no balance outstanding, Respondents must 

mail a certified or Bank check for the Redress Amount to the Affected 

Consumer. 

m. For any charged-off account, either a credit will be issued decreasing the 

charged-off balance by the Redress Amount, or Respondents must issue 

redress consistent with the requirements for closed accounts in Paragraph 

47(e)(ii). Where a credit is issued that is greater than the existing 

charged-off balance, Respondents must mail to the Affected Consumer a 

certified or Bank check in the amount of the excess. 
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1v. With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation, and sold 

charged-off accounts, Respondents must make a refund in accordance with 

applicable law. 

f. When Respondents make restitution to Affected Consumers by check, require 

Respondents to send the check by United States Postal Service first-class mail, 

address correction service requested, to the Affected Consumer's last address 

as maintained in Respondents' records; 

g. For any Affected Consumer whose restitution check is returned, require 

Respondents to make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address using 

standard address search methodologies, including a standard address search 

using the National Change of Address system and to promptly re-mail all 

returned restitution checks to current addresses, if any; and 

h. If the check for any eligible consumer is returned to Respondents after a 

second mailing, or if a current mailing address cannot be identified using 

standard address search methodologies, require Respondents to retain the 

Redress Amount of that Affected Consumer for a period of three-hundred sixty 

(360) days from the date the restitution check was originally mailed, or a 

shorter period of time if required by law, during which period such amount 

may be claimed by such Affected Consumer upon appropriate proof of identity 

and, after such time, dispose of these monies in accordance ·with this Section. 

48. Within 120 days from completion of the Redress Plan, an internal audit 

department of one of the Respondents must review and assess compliance with 

the terms of the Redress Plan (the "Redress Review"). 
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49. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to identify Affected Customers, the Redress Amount for each 

Affected Consumer, the procedures used to issue and track payments of the 

Redress Amounts to Affected Consumers, and whether the Redress Plan has been 

properly executed. The Redress Review must also include an audit of the Redress 

Amount to provide reasonable assurance that Affected Consumers received the 

correct Redress Amount. 

so. The Redress Plan Consultant must review and assess Respondents' compliance 

with the terms of the Redress Plan, by, at a minimum, reviewing an appropriate 

sample of accounts of Affected Consumers to assess the adequacy and 

completeness of the redress provided. The work to be conducted by the internal 

audit department in the Redress Review and by the Redress Plan Consultant must 

be submitted for non-objection by the Regional Director. 

51. The Redress Review will be summarized in a written report (the "Redress Review 

Report"), which must be completed within 60 days of completion of the Redress 

Review. Within 14 days of its completion, Respondents must submit the Redress 

Review Report to the Regional Director and to the Board. 

52. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $11 million, less the amount of any Deposit Discrepancy 

that resulted in a credit to one of the general ledger accounts the Banks used for 

Deposit Discrepancy adjustments but did not cause consumer harm, within 30 

days of the completion of the Redress Review, Respondents must pay the 

difference to the Bureau, by Vlrire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, 

and according to the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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53· If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if 

funds remain after the additional redress is completed, any remaining funds will 

be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondents will have no right 

to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this 

paragraph. 

54. Respondents may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

55· Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Order, and taking into account the 

factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil money 

penalty of $7.5 million to the Bureau. 

56. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money 

penalty by "vire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance v.rith 

the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

57· The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

58. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately 

uses those funds, Respondents may not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty that Respondents pay under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Order. 

59. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled to, 

nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondents must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

60. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, 

and will immediately become due and payable. 
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61. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 

62. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they have already done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identification numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Order. 

63. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

64. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the 

filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondents; or a 

change in Respondents' names or addresses. Respondents must provide this 
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notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the 

learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

65. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondents must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report ("Compliance Report") that has been approved by the 

Compliance Committee, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied 

with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgement obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

66. Respondents must submit to the Regional Director additional Compliance 

Reports or other requested information within 30 days of receiving a written 

request from the Bureau. 

XII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

67. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

68. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section 

XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any Service 

Providers, agents, or other representatives who will have oversight or managerial 
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responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

69. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

XIII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

70. Respondents must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau and all 

documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan and Redress Review 

described in Section VIII; 

b. Copies of all forms of account agreements and training materials relating to 

deposit processing; and 

c. All consumer complaints relating to redress made under this Order, and any 

responses to those complaints or requests. 

71. Respondents must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 70 for at least 5 

years. 

72. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraph 70 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 
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Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing, with the subject line, In re RBS Citizens Financial Group, Inc. 

(N/K/A Citizens Financial Group, Inc.), RBS Citizens, N.A. (N/K/A Citizens 

Bank, N.A.), and Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, File No. 2015-CFPB-0020, and 

send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th St., 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to: 

Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th St., 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552. 

XV 
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Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

74· Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

75. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

76. The provisions of this Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or 

any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph So. 

77· This Order is intended to be, and vdll be construed to be, a final consent order 

issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

78. This Order will remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent that, and 

until such time as, any provisions of this Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 
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79. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless othenvise noted. 

8o. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Order in future 

enforcement actions against Respondents and their affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and 

ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Order. 

81. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior 

oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

82. Nothing in this Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondents, their respective Board of Directors, officers, or 

employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

83. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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84. The provisions of this Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation 

of this Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Order in federal district 

court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents may be found 

and Respondents may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over 

Respondents. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this Jl.!i_ day of_----�.�
"

"'���- -1.¥1------' 2015. 
� 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Citizens Bank to Pay $18.5 
Million for Failing to Credit Full Deposit 
Amounts
CFPB, OCC, and FDIC Take Action Against Bank For Ignoring Deposit 
Discrepancies 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and the Office of the Comptroller of 
the Currency (OCC) took action against Citizens Bank for failing to credit consumers 
the full amounts of their deposited funds. The bank kept money from deposit 
discrepancies when receipts did not match actual money transferred. Today’s CFPB 
consent order requires the bank to provide approximately $11 million in refunds to 
consumers and pay a $7.5 million penalty for the violations.

“Citizens Bank regularly denied customers the full credits of their deposits when there 
were discrepancies between deposit slips and the actual money transferred into the 
bank,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The bank chose to ignore these 
discrepancies and harmed many consumers by pocketing the difference.” 

Today’s CFPB action is against Citizens Bank, N.A., formerly known as RBS Citizens 
Bank, N.A.; Citizens Financial Group, Inc., formerly known as RBS Citizens Financial 
Group, Inc.; and Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania. The bank operates retail branches in 
about a dozen states and among its various products and services are deposit accounts. 
For the period at issue, the bank generally required its customers making a deposit to 
fill out a slip listing the checks or cash being deposited, and their total. The customer 
then turned the deposit slip over to the bank and got a receipt reflecting the amount on 
the deposit slip for the transaction. The bank scanned the deposit slip and deposit items 
at a central location. 

The CFPB investigation found that from January 1, 2008 to November 30, 2013, 
Citizens Bank violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act’s prohibition on unfair and deceptive practices by failing to properly credit 
consumers’ checking and savings accounts. In cases where the bank’s scanner misread 
either the deposit slip or the checks, or if the total on the deposit slip did not equal the 
total of the actual checks, Citizens Bank did not take action to fix the mistake if it fell 
below a certain dollar amount. Over the years, by ignoring the discrepancies the bank 
shorted consumers millions of dollars. Specifically, Citizens Bank:

• Failed to credit consumers the full amount of their deposits: Citizens 
Bank frequently did not give consumers full credit for their deposits when the 
amount scanned on the deposit slip was less than the amount of the checks and 
cash deposited. The bank credited the consumer’s account with what was read on 
the deposit slip, not the actual sum of money the consumer transferred into the 
bank. Citizens only investigated and fixed errors when they were above a certain 
threshold. From January 2008 to September 2012, the bank only looked into 
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discrepancies greater than $50. From September 2012 to November 2013, the 
bank only looked into discrepancies greater than $25. 

• Falsely claimed that it would verify deposits: Citizens Bank told consumers 
that deposits were subject to verification, implying that the bank would take steps 
to ensure consumers were credited with the correct deposit amount. But the 
bank’s practice was not to verify and correct deposit inaccuracies unless they were 
above the $25 or $50 threshold. Although some consumers benefited by this 
policy, others lost money that rightfully belonged to them. The CFPB concluded 
that many of those consumers were harmed by this unfair and deceptive practice.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive practices. Today’s order requires 
Citizens Bank to: 

• Pay approximately $11 million in redress to victims: Citizens Bank must 
pay $11 million to consumers who did not receive all the money that should have 
been deposited into their accounts. Citizens Bank must include any fees the 
consumer incurred related to the under-crediting, including but not limited to any 
overdraft fees, insufficient funds fees, and monthly maintenance fees. The bank 
must also include a reasonable estimate of interest on these amounts. Consumers 
are not required to take any action to receive their credit or check. If the 
consumers have an open account with the bank, they will receive a credit to their 
account. For closed accounts, Citizens Bank will send a check to the affected 
consumers. 

• End all violations of federal consumer financial law in connection with 
deposit discrepancies: Citizens Bank is prohibited from engaging in violations 
of unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or practices in connection with deposit 
transactions. Among other things, this means the bank must properly review its 
compliance management system to ensure no further violations relating to its 
processing of deposits, it must not misrepresent its processing practices, and it 
must incorporate corrective actions if the bank fails to process deposits consistent 
with federal consumer financial law. The bank has made a significant technology 
investment over the past year to address the issue.

• Pay $7.5 million civil penalty: Citizens Bank will make a $7.5 million penalty 
payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The CFPB is taking this action in coordination with the FDIC and the OCC. The FDIC 
separately ordered Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania to pay restitution and a $3 million 
civil penalty. The OCC separately ordered Citizens Bank, N.A., to pay restitution and a 
$10 million civil penalty. In total, Citizens Bank must pay about $11 million in 
consumer refunds and $20.5 million in federal penalties for these coordinated actions. 
As part of these actions, the FDIC and OCC are ordering additional relief relating to 
business accounts.

A copy of the CFPB consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201408_cfpb_consent-order-rbs-citizens.pdf

Information about the FDIC action can be found at:
https://www.fdic.gov/news/news/press/2015/pr15066.html

Information about the OCC action can be found at: http://www.occ.gov/news-
issuances/news-releases/2015/nr-occ-2015-113.html
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UN ITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN  DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau,
Plaintiff,

R eCase 
. - -  p
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FILED by 
-  D,C.

Atro 1 y 2215
s-rEvEs M. LARIMORE
CLERK .U .s DlsT. cT.s 

D of FLA - MIAMI

Orion Processing, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company,

d/b/a World Iaaw Processing, Wld
Credit Repair, and W orld Law

Debt;

Family Capital Investment &
Managem ent LLC, a Delaware limited

liability company,

a/k/a FCIAM Propeo
M anagem ent;

W orld Law Debt Selarices: LLC, a
Delaware limited liabillty company;

W orld Iaaw Processing, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company;

Derin Scott, an individual;

David Klein, an individual; and

Bradley James Haskins, individually and

d/b/a World twaw Group, LLP, World
Law Group Am erica, LLP, W LD Price
Global, Inc., W orld Law Forms and
M ediation, and W orld Law South;

Defendants,

Shannon Scott, and individual,
Relief Defendant.

i> :

COM PLM NT FOR PERM AN ENT INJUN CTION A ND OTH ER R ELIEF

(FILED UNDER TEMPORARY SEALI
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this complaint

against Defendants Orion Processing, LLC d/b/a W orld Law Processing, World Credit

Repair and W orld Law Debt; Family Capital Investment & Management LLC a/k/a

FCIAM Property Management; W orld Law Debt Serdces, LLC; W orld Iaaw Processing,

LLC; Derin Scott; David Klein; and Bradley James Haskins, individually and d/b/a as

W orld Law Group, LLP, W orld laaw Group America, LLP, W LD Price Global, lnc., W orld

Ixaw Forms and M ediation, and W orld Law South. Together, these entities and

individuals are referred to as RDefendants'' or GW orld Iaaw'' herein. The Bureau also

brings this eomplaint against Shannon Scott as Relief Defendant. The Bureau alleges the

following:

INTRODU CTION

Defendants operate a debt relief business that takes exorbitant, illegal

upfront fees from vulnerable consumers suffering financial dio culties. Defendants

solicit consumers with large debts, promising that Defendants' lawyers will negotiate

affordable repapnents with consumers' creditors and provide legal representation,

including by local counsel, if consumers stop paying their creditors and instead pay

Defendants.

2. Defendants have collected at least $67 million in unlawful fees from

consumers before settling their debts-which Defendants often fail to settle at all.

Defendants also fail to provide consumers with the legal representation they promise.

3. The Bureau brings this action under Sections 1o31(a), 1o36(a), 1054, and

1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2o1o (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. jj 5531(a),

5536(a), 5564(a), and 5581, and under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and

Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 61o2(c)(2), 61o5(d), based on Defendants' dolations

of the CFPA and the Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in connection

with the marketing and sale of debt relief serdces.

JU RISD ICTIO N AN D W N U E
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4. This Court has subject-matterjurisdiction over this action because the

action is Gbrought under Federal consumer Snancial lam '' 12 U.S.C. j 5565(a)(1),

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. j 1331, and is brought by an ageney of the United

States, 28 U.S.C. j 1345.

5. This Court has personaljurisdiction over Defendants because the causes of

action arise from Defendants' transacting business in this District or have caused injury

in this District through acts or omissions occurdng outside of this District.

6. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. jj 1391(b) and (c), and 12

U.S.C. j 5564(f).

PI,AIN TIFF

7. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or serdces under

Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. j 5491(a). The Bureau has independent

litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. j 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR

as it applies to persons subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. jj 61o2(c)(2), 61o5(d); 12 U.S.C. j

5531(a).

D EFEN DANTS

Buslness Fntitles

8. Defendant Orion Processing, LLC d/b/a World Law Processing, Wld

Credit Repair, and W orld laaw Debt (referred to collectively as Orion), is a Texas limited

liability company. Its principal place of business is at 9011 M ountain Ridge Drive,

Austin, Texas 78759. Orion offers and provides debt relief services, as defned in the

TSR, 16 C.F.R. j a1o.2(m) (20169, and ûnancial advisozy services within the meaning of

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. j 5481(15)(A)(viii). Orion is a 'dcovered person'' under the CFPA

because:

a. Orion engages in the offering or providing of consumer snancial

serdces through the provision of financial advisory serdces, including services to

assist consumers settle debts; and/or

b. Orion is a serdce provider that (1) participates in designing, operating,

or maintaining the provision of financial advisory senrices, including services to

assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to the

3
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provision of financial advisory setvices, including services to assist consumers

settle debts, and is an ao liate providing services to a covered person.

9. At al1 times material to this Complaint, Orion transacts or has transacted

business with consumers residing in the Southern District of Florida.

1o. Defendant Family Capital Investment & Management LLC a/k/a FCIAM

Propeo  Management (FCIAM) is a Delaware limited liability company. Its principal

place of business is also 9011 Mountain Ridge Drive, Austin, Texas 78759. FCIAM offers

and provides debt relief services, as defined in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(m) (2010), and

financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C.

j 5481(15)(A)(viii). FCIAM is a dïcovered person'' under the CFpAbecause:

a. FCIAM  engages in the offering or providing of consum er Gnancial

selvices through the provision of snancial advisory services, including services to

assist consumers settle debts; and/or

b. FCIAM is a serdce provider that (1) participates in designing,

operating, or m aintaining the provision of lnancial advisory services, including

services to assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to

the provision of financial advisoty services, including senrices to assist consumers

settle debts, and is an affiliate providing services to a covered person.

11. At a1l times material to this Complaint, FCIAM transacts or has transacted

business with consumers residing in the Southern District of Florida.

12. Defendant W orld Law Debt Services, LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company that is owned by or under common ownership with GW orld laaw Group,'' a

purported consonium  of international law firm s. W orld Law Debt Serdces, LLC offers

and provides debt relief serdces, as defined in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31o.2(m) (2010), and

financial advisory services within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C.

j 5481(15)(A)(viii). W orld Law Debt Setvices, LLC is a Gcovered person'' under the

CFpA because:

a. W orld I-aw Debt Selwices, LLC engages in the offering or providing of

consumer Enancial services through the provision of inancial advisory services,

including serdces to assist consumers settle debts; and/or

b. W orld Law Debt Senrices, LLC is a service provider that (1) participates

in designing, operating, or maintaining the provision of Enancial advisory
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services, including services to assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes

transactions relating to the provision of financial advisory services, including

serdces to assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to

the provision of hnancial advisory selvices, including services to assist consumers

settle debts, and is an affiliate providing services to a covered person.

13. At all times all times material to this Complaint, W orld Law Debt Senrices,

LLC transacts or has transacted business with consum ers residing in the Southern

District of Florida.

14. Defendant W orld laaw Processing, LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company that is owned by or under common ownership with tdW orld Law Group,'' a

purported consortium of international 1aw firms. W orld laaw Processing, LLC offers and

provides debt relief serdces, as desned in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(m) (2010), and

financial advisory senrices within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C.j 5481(15)(A)(viii).

W orld Law Processing, LLC is a ffcovered person'' under the CFPA because:

a. W orld Iaaw Processing, LLC engages in the offering or providing of

consum er financial senrices through the provision of Gnancial advisoly services,

including serdces to assist consumers settle debts; and/or

b. W orld Law Processing, LLC is a service provider that (1) participates in

designing, operating, or maintaining the provision of financial advisory services,

including services to assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions

relating to the provision of financial advisory services, including services to assist

consumers settle debts, and is an ac liate providing services to a covered person.

15. At al1 tim es m aterial to this Com plaint, W orld txaw Processing, LLC

transacts or has transacted business with consumers residing in the Southern District of

Florida.

Individuals

Bradley James Haskins:

16. Defendant Bradley Haskins holds himself out as the ddchairman'' of W orld

taaw Group and is a licensed attorney in Texas. He is a principal and manager of W orld

Law Debt Services, LLC and W orld Law Processing, LLC. At al1 times m aterial to this

complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Defendant Haskins has formulated,

directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and praetices of W orld Law Group, LLP;
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W orld Law Debt Senrices, LLC, W orld Iaaw Processing, LLC, W orld Law Group Am edca,

LLP; W LD Price Global, lnc.; W orld l-aw Form s and M ediation; and W orld Law South

(collectively referred to as 'EW LG'')

17. W LG purports to be a consortium of international law firms with its

principal places of business located at 11o W all Street, New York, New York looos, and

5214 SW  91st street Terrace, Suite A, Gainesville, Florida 32608.

18. At a1l times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concet't with

others, Defendant Haskins has materially participated in, committed, and/or engaged in

the acts and practices set forth in this Com plaint.

19. Given his status as an oo cer or employee charged with managedal

responsibility for W orld Law Debt Services, LLC and W orld I-aw Processing, LLC,

Defendant Haskins is a tdrelated person under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. j 5481(25). Because

of his status as a dfrelated person'' under the CFPA, Haskins is a Wcovered person'' under

the CFPA. Id. Defendant Haskins is also a Gcovered person'' under the CFpAbecause:

a. He engages in the offering or providing of consumer financial serdces

through his provision of financial advisory serdces, including services to assist

consumers settle debts; and/or

b. He is a service provider that (1) participates in designing, operating, or

maintaining the provision of financial advisory serdces, including serdces to

assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to the

provision of snancial advisory serdces, including services to assist consumers

settle debts, and is an affiliate providing services to a covered person.

2o. At a11 times m aterial to this Com plaint, Defendant Haskins has transacted

business in the Southern District of Florida. In addition, Defendant Haskins resides in

the Southern District of Florida.

Derin Scott:

21. Defendant Derin Scott is the sole owner, President, and Chief Executive

Officer of Orion and FCIAM . He was also the owner of the now-dissolved marketing

arm for Orion-swift Rock Financial, Inc.-which also did business under the assumed

name ëdW orld laaw Debt.''

22. Defendant Scott is the signatory on accounts for Orion, FCIAM , and other

non-debt settlement entities that have received proceeds from the operation.

6
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23. At a1l tim es m aterial to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with

others, Defendant Scott has materially participated in, committed, and/or engaged in

the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint.

2o. Given his status as an officer or employee charged with managerial

responsibility, Defendant Scott is a tdrelated person'' under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. j

5481(25). Because of his status as a d'related person'' under the CFPA, Defendant Scott

is a îdcovered person'' under the CFPA. Id. Defendant Scott is also a dtcovered person''

under the CFpAbecause:

a. He engages in the offering or providing of consum er inancial services

through his provision of financial advisory services, including services to assist

consumers settle debts; and/or

b. He is a service provider that (1) participates in designing, operating, or

maintaining the provision of financial advisory services, including setvices to

assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to the

provision of financial advisory serdces, including serdces to assist consum ers

settle debts, and is an affiliate providing services to a covered person.

24. At al1 times material to this Complaint, Defendant Scott has transacted

business in the Southern Distdct of Florida. In addition, Scott resides in the Southern

District of Florida.

David Klein:

25. Defendant David Klein is the Chief Operating Oo cer of Orion and FCIAM .

26. Defendant Klein is the signatory on accounts for Orion, FCIAM , and m any

of Defendant Scott's non-debt settlem ent entities that have received proceeds from the

operation.

27. At all times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with

others, Defendant Klein has materially participated in, committed, and/or engaged in

the acts and practices set forth in this Com plaint.

28. Given his status as an oK cer or employee charged with managerial

responsibility, Defendant Klein is a Wrelated person'' under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. j

5481(25). Because of his status as a Grelated person'' under the CFPA, Defendant Klein

is a ddcovered person'' under the CFPA. Id. Defendant Klein is also a 'scovered person''

under the CFPA because:
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a. He engages in the offering or providing of consum er financial setvices

through his provision of financial advisory serdces, including services to assist

consumers settle debts; and/or

b. He is a service provider that (1) participates in designing, operating, or

maintaining the provision of financial advisory services, including services to

assist consumers settle debts, or (2) processes transactions relating to the

provision of financial advisory services, including services to assist consumers

settle debts, and is an ao liate providing services to a covered person.

29. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendant Klein has transacted

business in the Southern District of Florida.

ReliefDefendant
3o. Relief Defendant Shannon Scott is the wife of Defendant Derin Scott and is

a signatory on accounts for num erous Orion entities and on accounts in the nam es of

Derin Scott's minor children who also receive regular payments from Orion.

31. Relief Defendant Shannon Scott has received funds or assets that can be

traced directly to Defendants' unlawftll acts and practices alleged below.

32. Relief Defendant Shannon Scott has no legitimate claim to those funds.

Com m on Fnêerprîse

33. At all times material to this complaint, Defendants have operated as a

common enterprise while engaging in the violation of Federal consumer financial law

set forth below. Defendants have conducted the business practices described below

through an interrelated network of com panies that have com m on business functions,

em ployees, and office locations. M oreover, Defendants have also comm ingled funds

and shared operations and proceeds of the unlawful activity. Because Defendants have

operated as a common enterprise, each of them isjointly and severally liable for the acts

and practices alleged below.

FACTS

Ovenûew

34. Defendants Derin Scott and David Klein have run a debt-relief operation

purporting to settle consumers' debts since at least 2008. They have operated through
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Scott's companies, Orion (previously Swifl Rock) and FCIAM, and charged consumers

up-front fees.

35. In Oetober zolo, the Federal Trade Commission responded to the

proliferation of abusive and deceptive practices in the debt relief sector by am ending the

TSR to, among other things, prohibit debt relief companies engaged in telemarketing

from requesting or receiving advance fees before renegotiating, settling, reducing, or

otherwise altering the terms of at least one of a consumer's debts.

36. In or around July zolo, right before the TSR'S advance-fee ban went into

effect Defendants developed a plan to avoid the advance-fee ban by continuing

operations under the guise of providing legal services. To that end, Defendants Scott,

Klein, Orion, and FCIAM partnered with Defendant Haskins and W LG. Their agreement

provided that W LG would provide tdlegal representation'' and Orion would perform

ddprocessing senrices'' for clients seeking debt relief services.

37. Defendants then began promising consum ers both debt relief serdces and

legal representation, including by a local attorney, claiming to employ lawyers in every

state. They also touted that consum ers would receive the skill and expertise of a licensed

lawyer to negotiate with creditors regarding their unsecured debts.

38. ln reality, Defendants do not provide the promised legal representation.

Consumers rarely, if ever, communicate with a lawyer and the vast majority of serdces

provided-if selvices are provided at al1 - are debt relief serdces provided by non-

lawyers.

39. Defendants withdraw hundreds of dollars in advance fees from  consum ers'

accounts each m onth.

4o. Defendants have charged advance fees to pp% of the consumers enrolled

in the W orld I-aw program before settling their debts.

M arketlng fhe Program

41. Defendants m arket the W orld Law program  through third party m arketing

companies, using television commercials, radio advertisements, targeted mailers,

billboards, search engine optimization programs (SEO's), and websites.

9
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42. Defendants' marketing includes claims that consumers will be assigned a

Gteam of attorneys'' and be represented by a 'ddebt relief law firm'' and have a local

attorney or f<personally assigned state attorney.''

43. Defendants' advertisements contain toll-free telephone numbers for

consumers to ca11 to speak with sales representatives trained to prom ote Defendants'

debt relief senrices.

44. The sales representatives, referred to as ddEnrollment Specialists,'' work for

third-party marketing companies and use pitch materials vetted and approved by

Defendants.

45. During these pitch calls, the Enrollment Specialists tell consumers that

Defendants' network of attorneys will negotiate settlements of their unsecured debts

with creditors so consumers will be able to repay the debt for less than what is owed.

Enrollment Specialists also promise consumers local attorney representation and

consultation.

46. The Enrollment Specialists instruct consumers to enter all of their

outstanding unsecured debts into the W orld Law Program . They also instruct

consumers to immediately stop making payments to creditors on any debt entered in

the W orld Law Program, and instead to begin making a single monthly payment into a

special purpose account (SPA), ostensibly so that W orld lxaw can use it to settle

consumers' debts.

The Conêruct

47. The Enrollment Specialists obtain detailed inform ation from  consum ers

about the amount and source of their income and the amount and number of their

debts. W orld Law consumers generally enroll multiple debts in the program, totaling

tens of thousands of dollars.

48. The Enrollment Specialist then enters the consumer's information into

W orld Law's software program, which automatically generates a contract u4th a

proposed monthly payment and program length (typically 24-48 months).

49. As the snal step of the intake call, the Enrollment Specialist aslcs

consumers with internet access to access a web portal and electronically sign a dense,

single-spaced contract called the Client Service Agreement (CSA). At least through

lo
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August 2014, the Enrollm ent Specialist also asked consum ers to sign a contract to open

an SPA, into which consum ers will m ake their papnents.

5o. The CSA states that ddWorld I-aw Groupy'' ddWorld Law Debt'' and/or RWorld

Ixaw Processing'' will provide debt negotiation and settlement services on behalf of the

consumer. The contract fullher states that consumers will be assigned a local attorney to

represent them with respect to the attempted negotiation and settlement of their debts

and in any creditor suits on a debt enrolled in the W orld Law program.

Hrorld Law ChargesAdvance Fees

51. Defendants take multiple up-front fees from consumers, listed in the

d'Legal Program Fee Schedule'' attached to the CSA. These fees include:

a. Jilnitial Fees'' in the amount $199 that are usually collected from a

consumer's account over the first three months of the program;

b. tdBundled Legal Service Fees'' that range from ten to sfteen percent of

the consumer's combined outstanding debts and are usually collected

over the first 13 months of the program; and

c. GAttorney Monthly Senrice Fees'' in the amount of $84.95 that are

collected every month a consumer participates in the program .

52. If consumers attempt to terminate their relationship with W orld Law and

ask for a refund of the m oney they have paid, W orld Law typically m akes cancelling very

difficult or refuses to provide the requested refund.

W ovldLaw  D oes N otn 'orlle LegalRepresentatlon

53. Attorneys rarely, if ever, are involved in W orld Law's promised debt relief

services, including negotiating consumers' debts with creditors. And consumers are not

assigned or represented by a local attorney, as prom ised.

54. In fact, Defendants' m arketing agents and em ployees, not attorneys,

perform virtually all of the debt relief work that occurs on behalf of W orld laaw

enrollees, if any. Among other things, non-lawyers:

a. Field phone calls from consumers responding to its advertisements;

b. Pedorm consumer intake;

11
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c. Analyze consum ers' budgets to determ ine the potential savings that

consumers may realize as a result of enrolling in the debt relief

program ;

d. Determine consumers' monthly payments;

e. Obtain paperwork from consumers to process enrolled debts;

f. Set up automatic withdrawals from consumers' bank accounts;

g. Negotiate with creditors to facilitate debt relief;

h. Determine when to make a settlement offer to creditors;

i. Direct and negotiate the allocation and distribution of consumer funds

in SPA accounts to Defendants, creditors, and/or other third parties;

and

j. Handle inquiries or complaints from consumers, the Better Business

Bureau, and government agencies.

55. If debt settlement negotiations fail, and a creditor seeks to collect a debt

through litigation, consumers are still not assigned a local attorney. In fact, consumers

rarely, if ever, com m unicate with a local lawyer.

56. Instead, non-attorneys at W orld law provide consumers with boilerplate

pleadings that are not customized for the consumer's particular case. Consumers are

instructed to sign and Gle such pleadings and to represent themselves pro se at any

hearings.

Consum ev N arm

57. Consum ers who stop paying debts as a result of W orld Law's advice

experience signifcant harm . Their failure to pay their creditors may result in, am ong

other things, a lowered credit score, collection calls, collection suits, and late fees. Few,

if any, consumers become debt free as a result of W orld Law's program .

58. At least 21,ooo consum ers have enrolled in W orld Law's program since

October 27, 2o10 and have been charged at least $67 million in up-front fees.

ROLE OF INDIW DUAT, DEFENDANT DERIN SCOW

59. Defendant Scott has engaged in the offering or providing of debt relief

services through W orld Law. He has controlling interests in Orion, FCIAM , and various

12
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non-debt settlem ent entities that received proceeds from the operation, and is a

principal of each.

6o. Among other acts relating to W orld taw, Defendant Scott oversaw the

individuals he appointed to manage the day-to-day operations of Orion and FCIAM . He

is a signatory on bank accounts associated with Orion, FCIAM , and various non-debt

settlem ent entities that received proceeds from the operation. Scott was instrumental in

the creation of Defendants' debt relief operation and has final authority over the

m anagers of the operation.

ROLE OF IN DW IDU AI, DEFEN DM T DAW D KI,EIN

61. Defendant Klein has engaged in the offering or providing of debt relief

services by Defendants. He is a principal of Orion, FCIAM , and various non-debt

settlement entities that received proceeds from the operation.

62. Defendant Klein m anages Orion and FCIAM 'S day-to-day operations. He is

the signatory on accounts for Orion, FCIAM, and numerous non-debt settlement entities

that received proceeds from the operation.

ROLE OF IND nqD UA L D EFEN DA NT BRADLEY JAM ES H ASM N S

63. Defendant Haskins has engaged in the offering or providing of debt relief

services through W orld Law. He is the Wchairman'' of W LG.

64. Defendant Haskins is a principal and manages the day-to-day operations

of W LG. Defendant Hasldns also negotiates with third-party companies that market the

W orld Law program to consumers. He is the signatory on accounts for W LG.

TH E TELEM ARKETING SAT,ES RU LE

65. The TSR was prom ulgated for the explicit purpose of preventing consum er

harm from debt relief operations like W orld Law's. 75 Fed. Reg. 48, 458 (Aug. 1O,

2010). The TSR amendments do not provide an exemption for attorneys practicing law

in connection with debt relief.

66. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(m), defines ddebt relief senrice'' as ftany

program or service represented, directly or by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in

any way alter the terms of payments or other terms of the debt between a person and

one or more unsecured creditors or debt collectors, including, but not limited to, a

reduction in the balance, interest rate, or fees owed by a person to an unsecured creditor

or debt collector.''

13
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67. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(dd), defines Xelemarketing'' as d(a plan,

program , or cam paign which is conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services or

a charitable contribution, by use of one or more telephones and which involves more

than one interstate telephone cal1.''

68. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(aa), defines ddseller'' as ddany person who, in

connection with a telem arketing transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for

others to provide goods or services to the customer in exchange for consideration.''

69. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.2(cc), defines Rtelemarketer'' as tîany person who,

in connection with telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or from a

customer or donor.''

7o. Defendants are dtsellers'' or Wtelemarketers'' of ïfdebt relief senrice,'' who

engage in dttelemarketing,'' as defined in the TSR. 16 C.F.R. j 310.2

71. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31o.4(a)(5)(i), provides that a seller or a telemarketer

may not request or receive papnent of any fee or consideration for any debt relief

senrice until and unless, among other things, ddthe seller or telemarketer has

renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt

pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other such valid

contractual agreement executed by the customer'' and Gthe customer has made at least

one payment'' pursuant to such an agreement or plan.

72. The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.3(a)(2)(iii), prohibits a seller or telemarketer

from misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or senrices, any

material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of goods

or services that are the subject of a sales offer.

The TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.3(a)(2)(x), prohibits a seller or telemarketer from

misrepresenting, directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or serdces, any material

aspect of any debt relief senrice.

W OI,ATIONS OF TH E TSR

COUNT I

74. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 -73 and incorporates them herein by

reference.

75. In the course of telemarketing debt relief services from October 27, 2o1o

to the present, Defendants requested or received payment of fees or consideration from
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consumers for debt relief services before: (1) they had renegotiated, settled, reduced, or

otherwise altered the term s of at least one debt pursuant to a settlem ent agreem ent,

debt management plan, or other such valid contractual agreement executed by the

consumer; and (2) the consumer had made at least one payment pursuant to that

agreem ent.

76. Therefore, Defendants' acts or practices violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. j

31O.4(a)(5)(i), and are abusive acts or practices in telemarketing. Because Defendants

are dicovered persons'' their conduct is unlawful under sections 1o31(a) and 1o36(a)(1) of

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. jj 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 15 U.S.C. j 61024C)42).

COU NT 11

77. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 73 and incorporates them herein by

reference.

78. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, m arketing,

promoting, offering for sale, or sale of debt relief senrices, Defendants have represented,

directly or indirectly, expressly or by ilnplication, that consumers who enroll in

Defendants' debt relief program :

a. will receive legal representation;

b. will be represented by a local attorney; and/or

will have settlements of their debts negotiated with their creditors by an

attorney.

79. ln fad, in num erous instances, consum ers do not receive legal

representation, are not represented by a local attorney, and do not have settlements of

their debts negotiated with their creditors by an attorney.

8o. Therefore, Defendants' representations as described herein violate the

TSR, 16 C.F.R. j 31O.3(a)(2)(iii) and (x), and are deceptive acts or practices in

telemarketing. Because Defendants are Gcovered persons'' their conduct is unlawf'ul

under sections 1o31(a) and 1o36(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. jj 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 15

U.S.C. j 61o2(c)(2).
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TH E CON SUM ER FINA NCIM , PROTECTION ACT

81. Sections 1031 and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. jj 5531,

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit covered persons from engaging Tdin any unfair, deceptive, or

abusive act or practice.''

82. Section 1o36(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA provides that it is 'dunlawful for any

covered person or service provider to offer or provide to a consumer any financial

product or service not in conformity w'ith Federal consumer law, or otherwise commit

any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer Gnancial lam '' Section 1o54(a) of

the CFPA grants the Bureau authority to com m ence a civil action against any person

who violates a Federal consumer financial law. The CFPA is a Federal consumer

financial law. 12 U.S.C. j 5481414).

W OIA TION S OF TH E CFPA

COUNT III

83. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 - 64 and incorporates them herein by

reference.

84. In num erous instances, in connection urith the advertising, m arketing,

prom oting, offering for sale, or sale of debt relief services, Defendants have represented,

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers who enroll in

Defendants' debt relief program:

a. will receive legal representation;

b. will be represented by a local attorney; and/or
will have settlements of their debts negotiated with their creditors by an

attorney.

85. In fact, in numerous instances, consumers do not receive legal

representation, are not represented by a local attorney, and do not have settlements of

their debts negotiated with their creditors by an attorney.

86. Therefore, Defendants' representations are false and misleading, and

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA,

12 U.S.C jj 5531, 5536.

87. Defendants are Gcovered persongsly'' fdrelated persons,'' and/or %sservice

providers'' within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. jj 548146), (25), and (26).
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CO UNT IV - AMainst Relief D efendant Onlv

88. Relief Defendant Shannon Scott has received, directly or indirectly, funds

or other assets from Defendants that are traceable to funds obtained from Defendants'

customers through the deceptive and unlawful acts or practices described herein.

89. Relief Defendant Shannon Scott is not a bona fide purchaser with legal

and equitable title to Defendants' customers' ftznds or other assets, and Relief Defendant

will be unjustly enriched if she is not required to disgorge ftmds or the value of the

beneit she received as a result of Defendants' deceptive and unlawful acts or practices.

9o. By reason of the foregoing, Relief Defendant holds funds and assets in

constructive trust for the benelt of Defendants' customers.

CON SUM ER INJURY

91. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a

result of Defendants' violations of the TSR and the CFPA. ln addition, Defendants have

been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or praetices. Absent injunctive

relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust

enrichment, and harm the public.

THIS COURT'S POW ER TO GRANT RELIEF

92. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable

relief with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, including, without

limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts,

the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust

enrichment, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. jj 5538(a) and 5565(a).
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PM YER FOR RELIEF

93. W herefore, the Bureau requests that the Court:

a. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may

be necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the

pendency of this action, and to preserve the possibility of effedive final

relief, including but not limited to a temporaly and preliminaly

injunctions, an order freezing assets, immediate access to business

premises, and appointment of a Receiver;

b. Permanently enjoin Defendants from harming consumers through the

advertisement, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or selling of

any consumer t'inancial product or setvice, including but not limited to

any debt relief product or service.

c. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. jj 5531, 5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 3109

d. Award such relief as the Court snds necessary to redress injury to
consumers resulting from  Defendants' violations of the CFPA and the

TSR, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, and disgorgement or

compensation for unjust enrichment;

e. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and

f. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other

and additional relief as the Court may determine to bejust and proper.

18
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Dated: August 17, 2015

Respectfully submitted,

CAllA PETERSEN
Deputy Enforcem ent Director

For Litigation

JAM ES SUG
Assistant Litigation Deputy

For Litigation

/s/ Laura Schneider
IA URA SCHNEIDER, NY Bar #2715449
S.D. Fla. Bar #77828

(E-mai1: laura.schneider@cfpb.gov)
(Phone: 202-435-7311)
W HITNEY CASE, DC Bar #501296

S.D. Fla. Special Bar #A55o21o3

(E-mai1: whitney.case@cfpb.gov)
(Phone: 202-435-7371)
Em N M ARY KELLY, VA Bar #43070

S.D. Fla. Special Bar #A55o21o2
(Emai1: erln.kelly@cfpb.gov)
(Phone: 202-435-7367)

1.625 I Street, N W
W ashington, DC 2ooo6

Fax: (202) 435-7722

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Consum er Financial Protection Bureau
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-0021 

In the Matter of CONSENT ORDER 

Springstone Financial, LLC 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau has reviewed the business practices 

of Springstone Financial, LLC (Respondent) for actions predominantly during the 

period before its acquisition by LendingClub Corporation, relating to its health-care-

services financing program, and has identified violations of §§ 1031 and 1036 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§  5531, 5536. Until 

December 2014, Springstone permitted dental-service providers to offer consumers, and 

to enroll them in, its deferred-interest loan product. Some consumers received deceptive 

or misleading information concerning the nature of these products when enrolling 

through this channel. Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the 

Bureau issues this consent order (Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 u.s.c. §§ 5563, 5565. 
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated August, 15, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the 

issuance of this Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. 

§§  5563, 5565, ·without admitting or denying any of the below findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits that the Bureau has jurisdiction over 

it and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions apply: 

1. "Affected Consumers" means any consumer that financed dental services 

through the Springstone Patient Financing Program with a deferred-interest loan 

product opened in the Provider-Assisted Channel during the Relevant Period and who 

subsequently paid deferred interest. 

2.  "Board" means Respondent's duly-appointed and acting Managers. 

3. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Order is entered. 

4· "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

5· "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section IV of 

this Order. 

2 
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2014. 

6. "Relevant Period" means from January 1, 2009 through December 10, 

7. "Respondent" means Springstone Financial, LLC and its successors and 

assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

8. Respondent is located in Westborough, Massachusetts. 

g. LendingClub Corporation (LendingClub), which is located in San 

Francisco, California, acquired Springstone on Apri117, 2014. LendingClub facilitates 

loans to consumers and businesses. 

10. During the Relevant Period, Respondent administered the Springstone 

Patient Financing Program (the Financing Program), which offered consumers loan 

products for financing health-care services through partner banks who issued and 

serviced the loan products (Issuing Bank). 

11. The Financing Program's loan products are "consumer financial products 

or services" under § 1002(5) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

12. Respondent is a "covered person" under § 1002(6) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

13. During the Relevant Period, the Financing Program included two loan 

products: an installment loan with APRs ranging from 3.99% to 17.99% (Fixed-Payment 

Product) and a no-interest loan if the loan balance was paid in full \\ri.thin promotional 

periods of 6, 12, 18, or 24 months (Deferred-Interest Loan Product). 

14. The Financing Program's loan products financed services provided by 

3 
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health-care providers that registered with Respondent and that Respondent permitted 

to offer the Financing Program in their practices (Participating Providers). 

15. As of December 2014, there were about 9,000 Participating Providers in 

Springstone's Financing Program network. 

16. Consumers could apply for and open a loan product facilitated through the 

Financing Program either directly through Respondent (Company Channel) or through 

a Participating Provider (Provider-Assisted Channel). 

17. When consumers applied for and opened a loan product through the 

Company Channel, they accessed an application directly through Respondent's website 

or by contacting its call center. These consumers often did so at their own homes, and 

were typically not billed for dental or other health-care services at the same time as 

enrollment. These consumers received their initial disclosures directly from 

Respondent. 

18. When consumers opened a loan product through the Provider-Assisted 

Channel, they applied for and opened a loan product in a Participating Provider's office. 

Participating Providers gave consumers application materials, conveyed information 

about the Financing Program, and submitted applications to Respondent on behalf of 

consumers at the consumers' direction. 

19. Aside from the printed application and other written disclosures, which 

were prepared by Respondent, any additional information consumers received 

regarding the Financing Program's terms typically came from a Participating Provider's 

staff member. Consumers relied on Participating Providers, who had been initially 

trained by Respondent to offer the product, to provide them accurate information about 

the product. The health-care services that consumers used the Financing Program to 

4 
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pay for were typically performed at the time of enrollment or shortly thereafter. 

20. As of December 2014, about 139,000 consumers had active loan-product 

accounts. About 67% of those consumers had selected the Deferred-Interest Loan 

Product over the Fixed-Payment Product. 

21. With the Deferred-Interest Loan Product, if the consumer did not pay the 

original balance in full within the promotional period, a 22.98% APR was applied to the 

consumer's declining balance from the date of the consumer's original purchase. The 

22.98% APR then applied to the account balance going forward. 

22. About 77% of Deferred-Interest Loan Products opened in the Provider-

Assisted Channel were used for dental services. 

23. In some instances, Participating Providers in the dental-services market 

improperly conveyed the terms of the Deferred-Interest Loan Product to consumers. 

Participating Providers, in offering the Deferred-Interest Loan Product, (i) told 

consumers that the product was a "no-interest" loan rather than a deferred-interest 

loan, or (ii) failed to inform consumers selecting the Deferred-Interest Loan Product 

that interest would accrue at a rate of 22.98% from the date of purchase if the balance 

was not paid before the promotional period ended. 

24. Thus, even if a consumer enrolling in the Deferred-Interest Loan Product 

through the Provider-Assisted Channel received appropriate written disclosures, some 

Participating Providers orally provided contradictory or misleading information about 

the Deferred-Interest Loan Product, causing consumers to misunderstand the product. 

25. The representations described in paragraph 23 were material 

misrepresentations and omissions of fact, likely to mislead consumers, and constituted 

deceptive and misleading statements and practices in violation of § 1031(a)(1) of the 

5 
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CFPA's prohibition on deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § §  5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Respondent's operation of the Provider-Assisted Channel and its failure to adequately 

train and monitor the Participating Providers resulted in these deceptive and misleading 

acts and practices. 

26. During the Relevant Period, about 3,200 dental-services consumers paid 

deferred interest on a Deferred-Interest Loan Product opened in the Provider-Assisted 

Channel. 

27. Some consumers who enrolled in the Deferred-Interest Product through 

the Provider-Assisted Channel may have paid deferred interest because they received 

inaccurate information about the terms of the loan. 

2014. 

28. Respondent eliminated the Deferred-Interest Loan Product in December 

ORDER 

v 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

29. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the Bureau 

and against Respondent in the amount of $700,000. 

30. On or before November 2,  2015, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The Enforcement Director 

will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or 

direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to 

revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the 
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Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director v.rithin 30 days. After receiving notification 

the Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes as outlined in the Redress Plan. 

31. The Redress Plan must provide a calculation of the amount of 

reimbursement to be paid to each Affected Consumer on a pro rata basis 

(Reimbursement Award). 

32. Under the Redress Plan, Respondent must issue Reimbursement Awards 

as follows: 

a. for any Affected Consumer with an open account v.rith an Issuing 

Bank, Respondent must work v.rith the Issuing Bank to issue a statement credit or 

send a reimbursement check made payable to the consumer and mailed to the 

consumer's address as currently in the Issuing Bank's books and records; and 

b. for any Affected Consumer v.rith a closed or inactive ($o balance) 

account v.rith an Issuing Bank, Respondent must send a reimbursement check 

made payable to the consumer and mailed to the consumer's last-known address 

as set forth in the Issuing Bank's books and records. 

33. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $7oo,ooo, v.rithin 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by v.rire transfer to the Bureau or to 

the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's v.riring instructions, the difference 

between the total amount in Reimbursement Awards provided to Affected Consumers 

and $700,000. 

34. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

7 



2015-CFPB-0021     Document 1     Filed 08/19/2015     Page 8 of 16

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds 

remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining 

funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge 

any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

35. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

36. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, \\rill accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

\¥ill immediately become due and payable. 

37· Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

38. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless they already have done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying number, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

39. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or are required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. 

8 
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VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Respondent terminated the Deferred-Interest Loan Product that is the 

subject of this Order in December 2014. Should Respondent market or sell any product 

substantially similar to the terms and conditions of the Deferred-Interest Loan Product 

(including retroactive interest) in the future, they must first secure a determination of 

non-objection from the Bureau. 

41. Should Respondent seek such a determination, it must submit to the 

Enforcement Director a Compliance Plan designed to ensure that the sales and 

marketing of the deferred-interest product comply vvith applicable Federal consumer

financial laws and the terms of this Order. The Bureau will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to 

revise it. If the Bureau directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondents must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 15 days. After receiving notification the Bureau has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes as outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

9 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. The Board must review all submissions required by this Order before 

submission to the Bureau. 

43. Although this Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents for 

the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Order. 

44· In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, 

or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully 

comply with the Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status 

of compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with any failures to comply "'rith Board directives 

related to this Section. 

VIII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to a 

10 
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dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy 

or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name 

or address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before the 

development or as soon as practicable after the learning about the development, 

whichever is sooner. 

46. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least 

one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

47. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 46 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

IX 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of 

this Order to each of its Managers and executive officers. 

49. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section VIII and any future Managers and executive officers. 

so. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply vvith the 

11 
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requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

X 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Respondent must create and retain, for at least 5 years from the Effective 

Date, all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance \>\rith each 

provision of this Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

52. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 51 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XI 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Springstone Financial, LLC, File 

No. 2015-CFPB-0021," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

12 
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b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the 

identity and location of, and the amount of refund payable to, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agent's possession or control 

within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Order: 

55. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit the requested information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; 

provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

56. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee 

or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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57. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

58. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

59. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-

material requirements of this Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies the modification. 

Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

6o. The provisions of this Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 61. 

61. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 
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may use the practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions against 

Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or 

practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of 

the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Order. 

62. This Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Order issued 

under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not 

be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

63. This Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules 

that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Order, and the dismissal or ruling 

is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Order will terminate as though the 

action had never been filed. The Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

64. Calculation of time limitations ·will run from the Effective Date and be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

65. The provisions of this Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with 

any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Order in federal district court, the Bureau may 
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serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest 

that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

66. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or 

"vritten communications, discussions, or understandings. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this a_ th day of August, 2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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> CFPB TAKES ACTION AGAINST SPRINGSTONE FINANCIAL FOR DECEPTIVE HEALTH-CARE CREDIT ENROLLMENT TACTICS
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CFPB Takes Action Against Springstone 
Financial for Deceptive Health-Care 
Credit Enrollment Tactics
Company to Pay $700,000 to Consumers Deceived About Terms of 
Deferred-Interest Financing for Dental Work

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) has 
ordered Springstone Financial, LLC to provide $700,000 in relief to victims of 
deceptive credit enrollment tactics. Many consumers who signed up for Springstone’s 
deferred-interest loan product at dental offices to pay for dental work were led to 
believe that the product was interest free. In fact, interest accrued from the date of the 
consumer’s purchase and was charged if the balance was not paid in full before the 
promotional period ended. Approximately 3,200 consumers who signed up for the 
product ultimately were charged and paid deferred interest.

“Deceiving patients in need of medical care into paying for services with risky credit 
adds insult to injury,” said CFPB Director Richard Corday. “The Bureau will not tolerate 
financial companies or their providers taking advantage of distressed patients and their 
loved ones with misleading sales pitches.” 

Springstone, headquartered in Westborough, Mass., is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
San Francisco-based Lending Club Corporation. From January 2009 through 
December 2014, Springstone administered its health-care financing program, which 
offered consumers two credit products: an installment loan and a deferred-interest loan 
product. The deferred-interest product incurred no interest if the balance was paid in 
full within a certain promotional period. During this timeframe, a network of about 
9,000 health-care providers was authorized by Springstone to offer its loan products 
and assist consumers in enrollment. Receptionists and office staff of these health-care 
providers could provide consumers with application materials and assist them in filling 
out the application before submitting it to Springstone on the consumers’ behalf. 
Springstone terminated the deferred-interest product in December 2014. 

The Bureau’s investigation found that providers who were trained and monitored by 
Springstone to market the deferred-interest loan product misled consumers about the 
terms and conditions of the product during the application process. In some cases, 
dental office staff told consumers that the deferred-interest product was a “no-interest” 
loan and failed to mention they would have to pay 22.98 percent interest on the loan if 
they didn’t pay it off in full by the end of the promotional period. More than 3,200 
consumers may have been affected by these deceptive practices.

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Bureau 
has authority to take action against companies that engage in unfair, deceptive, or 
abusive practices, or other violations of federal consumer financial law. To ensure that 
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harmed consumers are appropriately compensated, and that consumers will no longer 
be subject to these illegal practices, the CFPB’s order requires Springstone to:

• Refund $700,000 to more than 3,200 consumers: Springstone must pay 
$700,000 in consumer relief to about 3,200 consumers as a result of the 
deceptive marketing and enrollment practices in its dental-services provider 
network. 

• Conveniently repay consumers: Springstone will reimburse consumers 
affected by these practices. Eligible consumers do not have to take any action to 
get their refund. Springstone will notify affected consumers and issue a credit or 
send a reimbursement check to those consumers with an open Springstone 
account. For those consumers with a closed or inactive account, Springstone will 
mail a reimbursement check.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201508_cfpb_consent-order-springstone-
financial-llc.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
and Anthony J. Albanese, Acting 
Superintendent of Financial Services of 
the State of New York, 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

Pension Funding, LLC; Pension Income, 
LLC; Steven Covey; Edwin Lichtig; and 
Rex Hofelter, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. 8:15-cv-1329 
 
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF 
THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT AND NEW YORK 
BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES 
LAWS 

 

 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) and Anthony J. 

Albanese, Acting Superintendent of Financial Services of the State of New York 

(Superintendent), bring this action against Pension Funding, LLC (Pension 

Funding), Pension Income, LLC (Pension Income), Steven Covey, Edwin Lichtig, 

and Rex Hofelter under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5552(a)(1), 5531, 5536(a), 5564, and 5565, and the laws of New 

York State, and allege as follows. 

Introduction 

1. Defendants Steven Covey, Edwin Lichtig, and Rex Hofelter, through 

their companies, Pension Funding and Pension Income, offered consumers 

“pension advances”—lump-sum payments that consumers could receive in return 

for agreeing to redirect all or part of their pension payments, over eight years, to 

repay the funds. 
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2. Defendants represented to consumers, among other things, that these 

advances were not “loans,” that there was no applicable interest rate or that any 

effective interest rate was substantially below the cost of other sources of cash, 

such as credit cards or home equity lines of credit, and that there were no 

applicable fees. 

3. In fact, Defendants’ product was a loan, and the effective interest rate 

was greater than those typically available for other products to which Defendants 

drew comparisons. Defendants thus misrepresented aspects of the product they 

offered and took advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of Defendants’ 

product and potential alternatives. 

4. Plaintiffs bring this suit to secure injunctive relief, other monetary and 

equitable relief, and civil money penalties. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

5. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345, and by a state regulator, 28 U.S.C. § 5552(a)(1). 

6. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, this Court has supplemental jurisdiction over 

the Superintendent’s claims because they are so related to the Bureau’s claims that 

they form part of the same case or controversy and because those claims arise out 

of the same transactions or occurrences as the Bureau’s action under the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5301 et seq. 

7. Venue is proper because Defendants transact business in this district 

and three of the Defendants reside in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 
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Parties 

8. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and providing of consumer financial products and 

services under “Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The 

Bureau is authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court, by its own 

attorneys, to address violations of “Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(a)-(b). 

9. The Superintendent is the chief executive of the New York State 

Department of Financial Services, an agency of the State of New York charged 

with the enforcement of banking, insurance, and financial services laws, and the 

protection of consumers and markets from fraud. N.Y. Fin. Servs. Law §§ 102, 

202, 301(c)(1). The Superintendent, as a state regulator, is authorized to initiate 

civil actions in federal district court against any entity that is under his supervision 

and subject to licensing and regulation requirements pursuant to the banking and 

financial services laws or that is authorized to do business under state law to 

address violations of the CFPA. N.Y. Fin. Servs. Law § 104(2), 104(4), 309; 12 

U.S.C. § 5552(a)(1). 

10. Pension Funding is a California limited liability company with its 

principal place of business at 7777 Center Ave., Huntington Beach, CA 92647. At 

all material times, Pension Funding transacted business in this district and 

nationwide, including in the State of New York, extending consumer credit, 

servicing consumer loans, and transmitting money in connection with its loan 

business or in connection with those loans. Pension Funding is therefore a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(i). Pension 

Funding is also a “regulated person”—a person or entity that should be licensed—

under the New York Financial Services Law. N.Y Fin. Servs. Law § 104(4). 
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11. Pension Income is a California limited liability company. Its principal 

place of business was at 7777 Center Ave., Huntington Beach, CA 92647, until it 

recently relocated to 3527 Mt Diablo Boulevard, Lafayette, CA 94549. At all 

material times, Pension Income transacted business in this district and nationwide, 

including the State of New York, extending consumer credit, servicing consumer 

loans, and transmitting money in connection with its loan business or in connection 

with those loans. Pension Income is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(i). Pension Income is also a “regulated person”—a 

person or entity that should be regulated—under the New York Financial Services 

Law. N.Y Fin. Servs. Law § 104(4).  

12. Steven Covey is or was a manager of Pension Funding and Pension 

Income. Covey participated in designing, marketing, selling, and servicing the 

extensions of credit and loans at issue, as well as authorizing, facilitating, and 

conducting the transmittal of money. At all material times, Covey managed, 

directed, controlled, or had the authority to control and materially participated in 

the conduct of the affairs of Pension Funding and Pension Income. Covey is 

therefore a “related person” to both Pension Funding and Pension Income under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Covey is a “related person,” 

he is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(25)(B). Covey is also a “regulated person” under the New York Financial 

Services Law. N.Y. Fin. Servs. Law § 104(4). Covey resides in this district and, in 

connection with the matters alleged, transacted business here. 

13. Edwin Lichtig is the managing member of Pension Income and is or 

was a manager of Pension Funding. Lichtig participated in designing, marketing, 

selling, and servicing the extensions of credit and loans at issue, as well as 

authorizing, facilitating, and conducting the transmittal of money. At all material 

times, Lichtig managed, directed, controlled, or had the authority to control and 
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materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of Pension Funding and 

Pension Income. Lichtig is therefore a “related person” to Pension Funding and 

Pension Income under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Lichtig 

is a “related person,” he is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). Lichtig is also a “regulated person” under the New York 

Financial Services Law. N.Y. Fin. Servs. Law § 104(4). In connection with the 

matters alleged, Lichtig transacted business in this district.  

14. Rex Hofelter is the managing member of Pension Funding and is or 

was a manager of Pension Income. Hofelter participated in designing, marketing, 

selling, and servicing the extensions of credit and loans at issue, as well as 

authorizing, facilitating, and conducting the transmittal of money. At all material 

times, Hofelter managed, directed, controlled, or had the authority to control and 

materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of Pension Funding and 

Pension Income. Hofelter is therefore a “related person” to Pension Funding and 

Pension Income under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because 

Hofelter is a “related person,” he is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). Hofelter is also a “regulated person” under the 

New York Financial Services Law. N.Y. Fin. Servs. Law § 104(4). Hofelter resides 

in this district and, in connection with the matters alleged, transacted business in 

this district. 

15. Defendants Pension Funding and Pension Income (collectively, PF-

PI) operate or operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the unlawful acts 

and practices alleged in the Complaint. PF-PI conducted the business practices 

described below as interrelated companies that have or had common ownership, 

officers, managers, employees, office locations, and mailing addresses. Because 

these Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is jointly 

and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Individual Defendants 
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Covey, Lichtig, and Hofelter directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or 

materially participated in the acts and practices of the corporate Defendants that 

comprise the common enterprise. 

Factual Background 

16. Describing its products as “tailored financing programs,” PF-PI 

purported to purchase, through lump-sum payments, eight years of “future cash 

flow” from consumers’ pension payments.  

17. From 2011 until about December 2014, PF-PI marketed and offered 

its product to consumers with pensions from sources such as military and civil 

service. PF-PI continues to service the transactions. 

A. PF-PI marketed its product to military veterans and other pensioners. 

18. PF-PI paid to steer internet-search traffic to its website using Google 

AdWords. It targeted consumers who conducted Google searches for phrases such 

as “pension loan,” “retirement loans,” “military pension loans,” and “sell my 

pension.” Such consumers would often see online advertisements for “pension 

loans.”  

19. These ads directed consumers to PF-PI’s website, 

uspensionfunding.com, which represented that “[t]hrough a type of money 

purchase pension plan, Pension Funding LLC transacts a pension buyout and 

advances you the cash when needed. This pension buyout is not a pension loan; it 

is a pension lump sum.”  

20. PF-PI stated that a “pension buyout is a more convenient and less 

expensive option for financing unexpected purchases than a credit card or regular 

loan.”  

21. PF-PI further stated that “[n]owhere else can you leverage your 

military, civil service or corporate pension to secure near-immediate cash. Not at a 

bank. Banks don’t recognize pensions as collateral. Not on a credit card. High 
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interest rates make cash advances too expensive. You can sell 8 years of your 

future pension stream. At the end of the term, your full pension payments resume 

back to you. And we don’t require any life insurance or report this as a debt to the 

credit reporting agency. That is our very big advantage.” 

22. On its website, PF-PI denied that its product was a loan and did not 

disclose any associated fees or interest rates.  

23. PF-PI claimed on its website that the cost to consumers “can be as 

little as 13 percent” and contrasted its product with “credit card[s]” that charge “18 

to 24 percent or more per year in compound interest.”  

24. Consumers contacted PF-PI either by inputting contact information on 

the website to receive a call from a PF-PI representative or calling a toll-free 

number.  

25. Consumers spoke to a representative of PF-PI to obtain quotes and 

begin the application process. 

26. In calls with consumers, PF-PI represented that the product was not a 

loan and that there was no interest rate. PF-PI also represented that it did not 

require consumers to purchase life insurance and that “we actually purchase the 

life insurance on your behalf at no cost to you.”  

27. PF-PI’s representatives encouraged consumers to discuss their 

financial conditions and needs and promised to work with them to customize a 

pension advance tailored to their financial circumstances. In some instances, the 

representatives advised consumers that they would benefit from using PF-PI’s 

product because it would not appear on their credit reports, was not taxable, and 

was better than a home-equity loan. 

28. Consumers next received a form letter explaining the transaction and 

underwriting process.  
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29. In the letter, PF-PI again repeated its claims that its product was “a 

Purchase and Not a Loan.” It also asserted that “[o]urs is NOT INTEREST, SINCE 

OUR PROGRAM IS NOT A LOAN. Our Range is a Cost of Money Rate or a 

Discount Rate.” 

30. In the letter, PF-PI compared the “discount rate” to a “typical 

mortgage” and claimed that “our participants pay approximately the same or less 

than your credit card rates (and not the highest rates).”  

31. With the letter, PF-PI sent three quotes for potential lump-sum 

payments based on different monthly payment amounts. None of the quotes 

referenced any fees or interest rates. The quotes stated the “Life Insurance 

Premium Deduction” as $0. 

32. Attached to the letter was a “Financial Information Form” that 

required consumers to provide employer information, asset and debt information, 

and credit references. As part of the application process, PF-PI also obtained credit 

reports.  

33. PF-PI’s underwriting department reviewed applications and, if 

approved, PF-PI sent consumers a second set of forms to be completed, including a 

“Monthly Home Budget,” “Personal Banking Information Form,” and a 

Preliminary Underwriting Questionnaire” requiring life-insurance information, 

physician-contact information, and a HIPAA authorization to obtain medical 

records. 

34. PF-PI justified its extensive underwriting efforts by explaining that it 

“must rely on your promise to continually forward the payments for the next eight 

years” and that the sale “does not prevent you from redirecting those payments 

away once we have concluded the arranged transaction with you and you received 

the lump sum amount.” 
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35. PF-PI further stated that “pensions are not assignable; we cannot 

perfect a lien against yours, or any person’s pension. Our program is only for those 

people with a proven record and a continuing willingness to honor their 

obligations. We believe that, with our underwriting policies, we can both provide a 

service at a fair price and make a profit, which enables us to continue in business. . 

. . The fact that we are not arranging a loan to you, only arranging for the purchase 

of a cash stream of payments from you, does not remove the necessity of our 

underwriting the transaction.” 

36. Only after reviewing the underwriting materials did PF-PI make a 

bona fide offer to consumers. 

37. For consumers who qualified, PF-PI made a lump-sum offer based on 

a minimum monthly payment amount of $500 for a standard term of 96 months.  

38. PF-PI told consumers that the offer represented the present value of 

the payments based on a “discount rate.”  

39. PF-PI calculated the offer with a computer “estimator” program that 

multiplied the total amount pledged by the consumer over the 96-month repayment 

period by 41% and 49% to arrive at upper and lower bounds of a “discounted” 

range. 

40. The lump sums that consumers received were less than the full 

amounts promised because the first month’s repayment was automatically 

deducted. 

B. PF-PI structured transactions that imposed high fees on consumers. 

41. While soliciting consumers to “sell” their pension income, PF-PI 

simultaneously solicited investors, often retirees, recruited through a network of 

financial advisors to invest in the transactions. 
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42. For the promise of a 6% annual return, investors paid PF-PI an 

amount sufficient to fund the lump sum paid to a consumer, as well as additional 

fees and PF-PI’s expenses and profits. 

43. Each transaction consisted of seven documents. Only three of the 

documents were shown to consumers: (1) a purchase-agreement contract between 

the consumer and the investor; (2) a power of attorney provided by the consumer 

to PF-PI; and (3) a contract between the consumer and PI. Investors signed several 

separate contracts and received an offer sheet and a risk document.  

44. The contracts obligated consumers to “remit a specified number of 

periodic payments” from their future pension payments. 

45. PF-PI did not disclose any fees to consumers in these contracts or 

elsewhere.  

46. Over the life of the transaction, consumers were obligated to pay back 

enough money to cover the lump sum, fees, and interest promised to investors, 

including the following fees:  

a. 9% commission for the agent who recruited the investor; 

b. 3% commission for the broker who recruited the consumer; 

c. 5-9% fee to Pension Funding;  

d. 8% fee for a “re-direct” reserve fund to protect against 

consumers who failed to make payments by directing their 

pension payment away from PF-PI; and 

e. 2.84% fee for a “death reserve fund,” also called the “life 

insurance impound,” for PF-PI to self-insure the life of the 

consumer and from which payments could be made to investors 

should a consumer die and no other recourse be available.  

47. On average, the transactions had an effective annual interest rate of 

28.56%. Moreover, the transactions entered with New York consumers 
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consistently had nominal annual interest rates in excess of both the New York civil 

usury cap of 16% and the New York criminal usury cap of 25%. 

48. PF-PI did not disclose an annual interest rate to consumers. 

49. PF-PI kept as profit any additional funds that remained after deducting 

fees and paying the lump sums to consumers, as well as any funds in the reserve 

funds that were not needed to pay investors.  

50. PF-PI made its entire profit and deducted all fees at the inception of 

each deal. PF-PI provided ongoing servicing during the life of the transaction. 

51. PF-PI required consumers to grant PF-PI a power of attorney as their 

agent to open bank accounts in the consumers’ names and perform day-to-day 

transactions in the account.  

52. PF-PI opened or assisted consumers in opening checking accounts in 

consumers’ names into which the consumers would cause their monthly pension 

payments to be deposited by the pension source. PF-PI then paid investors their 

promised monthly payments by either (1) moving pension payments from those 

accounts to investors’ accounts or (2) moving pension payments from those 

accounts into accounts held by Pension Income and then to investors’ accounts. 

PF-PI sent consumers any funds in excess of the monthly payments that remained 

in the accounts.  

53. PF-PI never applied for or was granted a money transmitter license or 

exemption from the licensing requirement from the New York State Department of 

Financial Services or its predecessor agency, the New York State Banking 

Department, as required by New York Banking Law. There was no agency 

agreement between PF-PI and investors authorizing PF-PI to receive and transfer 

monthly pension payments from consumers to investors. On the contrary, in the 

buyer master agreement with investors PF-PI disclaimed any involvement in the 

transaction post-closing. PF-PI provided no receipt to consumers confirming that 
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the monthly pension payment was transmitted to investors or any other indication 

that it was unconditionally obliged to transmit consumers’ payments to investors. 

C. PF-PI aggressively pursued consumers who defaulted. 

54. The contracts between investors and consumers provided that if a 

consumer were to re-direct pension payments to a different account or otherwise 

cause any interruption in the monthly payments, all remaining payments under the 

contract would immediately become due. 

55. If a consumer disrupted the payments, the investor would have the 

right to take legal action, including, according to the contracts, “the right to secure 

payment via punitive or accommodating relief” and “criminal” action.  

56. The contracts contain a “liquidated damages” clause providing that 

the investor “may bring an action for liquidated damages in an amount equal to the 

aggregate amount of the unpaid purchased payments.”  

57. PF-PI’s contracts with investors authorized it to pursue those claims 

against consumers. The investors relied on PF-PI to collect funds from consumers 

and handle any breaches. 

58. Immediately after a payment is missed, PF-PI contacts the consumer 

by phone and email, often threatening litigation within a week of a missed 

payment.  

59. Shortly thereafter, consumers receive a letter from PF-PI’s counsel 

stating that “all appropriate legal action is taken when delinquent accounts refuse 

to pay” and warning that PF-PI will sue “to collect this debt.”  

60. If consumers still do not make payments, PF-PI either (1) files a state-

court complaint for breach of contract and seeks a default judgment, often in a 

forum far from the consumer’s residence, or (2) in the event the consumer is in 

bankruptcy, files a proof of claim or adversary pleading as a “creditor” in the 

bankruptcy case. 
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61. In these legal actions, PF-PI contends that consumers owe a debt and 

seeks to enforce liquidated-damages clauses. Specifically, in state court actions PF-

PI typically claims that consumers are “indebted” on an “account for money due” 

and that PF-PI seeks “the amount of all remaining and outstanding periodic 

payments” for the “default.” Likewise, in the bankruptcy context, PF-PI claims that 

consumers owe a “debt” in the amount of all outstanding payments. 

62. When PF-PI obtains a judgment, often a default judgment, it may seek 

garnishments from non-pension sources and place liens on assets and property for 

the full amount of outstanding payments and additional costs and interest 

associated with the court actions.  

D. The Individual Defendants operated and controlled PF-PI 

63. Defendant Covey devised the structure of PF-PI’s transaction while he 

was operating Structured Investments Co., LLC (“SICO”), PF-PI’s de facto 

predecessor. Along with Defendant Lichtig, Covey created PF-PI. Through Covey, 

SICO transferred its website, “estimator” program, and telephone number to PF-PI. 

PF-PI opened its office at SICO’s former address and hired several of SICO’s key 

employees. Covey served as the “Site Manager” of Pension Funding, helped 

structure the transactions by supplying template contracts from SICO to PF-PI, 

performed transactions in the consumer bank accounts established by PF-PI, 

communicated with consumers about originating deals, conducted underwriting, 

made transaction-approval decisions, and participated in collecting on defaulted 

transactions, including deciding how and when to take legal action against 

consumers. 

64. Defendant Lichtig along with Defendant Covey created PF-PI. Lichtig 

is the managing member of Pension Income. He was involved in the key decisions 

and day-to-day operations of PF-PI, including advertising, contract drafting, and 

devising strategies to avoid regulatory oversight. Lichtig also brought in “capital” 
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for PF-PI by soliciting and securing investors, in part through a network of 

financial advisors, and purchasing contact lists to generate leads. 

65. Defendant Hofelter is the organizer and managing member of Pension 

Funding as well as the Contracts Manager and custodian of books and records for 

Pension Income. He opened and performed transactions in the consumer bank 

accounts established by PF-PI, made monthly payments to investors, and typically 

served as the point-of-contact for consumers. For every deal, Hofelter handled the 

transactional documents and signed on behalf of PF-PI. Hofelter also participated 

in lawsuits brought against consumers in default, including by filing affidavits 

attesting to the existence of the alleged debt.  
 

Count I 
Unfair Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 
(Asserted by the Bureau and the Superintendent) 

66. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-65 of 

this Complaint. 

67. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not                                

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(c)(1). 

68. In numerous instances, in connection with marketing the loans in 

question, Defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented the interest rate 

associated with the loans and failed to disclose or denied the existence of fees. 

69. These acts and practices were likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers because they prevented consumers from understanding the costs of the 

loans in question and from comparing them to potential alternatives. Accordingly, 

many consumers likely paid more as a result of using Defendants’ product than 

they would have by using alternative sources of credit. Moreover, many consumers 
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lost the opportunity to receive pension payments in their retirement years although 

their pensions were designed to provide an important source of income when the 

consumers either no longer worked or worked limited hours. 

70. This injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition. Rather, consumers and competition are harmed when 

consumers are denied information necessary to evaluate the cost of a credit product 

and potential alternatives. 

71. The injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers. 

72. Therefore, Defendants engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II 
Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

(Asserted by the Bureau and the Superintendent) 

73. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-65 of 

this Complaint. 

74. In numerous instances, in marketing the loans in question, Defendants 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that the product: 

a. did not have an interest rate associated with it; 

b. had costs associated with it that were comparable to interest 

rates as low as 13%, or less than 18-24%; and 

c. did not require life insurance or have other fees associated with 

it.  

75. These material representations were false and misleading. For 

example, an effective interest rate of more than 28% was typically associated with 

the product.  
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76. Therefore, Defendants engaged in deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count III 
Abusive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 
(Asserted by the Bureau and the Superintendent) 

77. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-65 of 

this Complaint. 

78. An act or practice is abusive if it (1) “materially interferes with the 

ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial 

product or service,” (2) “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . a lack of 

understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions 

of the product or service,” or (3) “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . the inability 

of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or using a 

consumer financial product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(1), (2).  

79. In numerous instances, Defendants obscured the true nature of the 

credit transaction by denying that their product was a loan and instead referring to 

it as a pension advance, pension buyout, pension lump sum, money purchase 

pension plan, purchase of a cash stream of payments, or purchase. 

80. In numerous instances, Defendants failed to disclose or denied the 

existence of an interest rate and fees associated with the loans. 

81. In numerous instances, Defendants advised consumers on whether or 

not a particular transaction was in their best financial interest. Notably, Defendants 

told consumers that their product was preferable to a home-equity loan or a credit 

card. Yet Defendants’ loans typically had an effective interest rate of more than 

28%, while the effective interest rates associated with either home-equity loans or 

credit cards during the same period were typically much lower. 
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82. In numerous instances, Defendants implicitly threatened criminal 

prosecution should consumers cease to make payments. 

83. Because Defendants obscured the true nature of the transactions, 

failed to disclose and misrepresented the costs of the loans, and gave consumers 

misleading advice, consumers could not clearly understand the risks or costs of the 

loans or effectively compare the loans to potential less costly alternatives. 

84. By failing to disclose and misrepresenting these aspects of the loans, 

Defendants materially interfered with the ability of consumers to understand the 

risks or costs of the loans. 

85. By failing to disclose and misrepresenting these aspects of the loans, 

Defendants took unreasonable advantage of a lack of understanding on the part of 

consumers of material risks, costs, or conditions of the loans. 

86. By failing to disclose and misrepresenting these aspects of the loans, 

Defendants took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability to protect their 

interests in selecting or using the loans. 

87. Therefore, Defendants engaged in abusive acts or practices in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count IV 
Usury 

(Asserted by the Superintendent) 

88. Plaintiff Superintendent realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-65 of this Complaint. 

89. Pursuant to New York General Obligations Law (“GOL”) § 5-501, it 

is unlawful to charge interest upon the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or 

things in action, except as otherwise provided by law, at a rate exceeding that 

prescribed in Section 14-a of the New York Banking Law. 
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90. New York Banking Law § 14-a(1), states that the maximum rate of 

interest to be charged, taken, or received upon a loan or forbearance of any money, 

goods, or things in action is sixteen per centum (16%) per annum. 

91. In the course of making loans to consumers in New York, Defendants 

repeatedly charged and received interest in excess of 16%, in violation of GOL § 

5-501 and New York Banking Law § 14-a(1). 

Count V 
False and Misleading Advertising of Loans 

(Asserted by the Superintendent) 

92. Plaintiff Superintendent realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-65 of this Complaint. 

93. Pursuant to New York Banking Law § 350, no entity shall advertise, 

print, display, publish, distribute, or broadcast or cause or permit to be advertised, 

printed, displayed, published, distributed, or broadcasted, in any manner 

whatsoever any statement or representation with regard to the rates, terms, or 

conditions for the loaning of money, credit, goods, or things in action which is 

false, misleading, or deceptive. 

94. Through their websites, and in their direct-to-consumer marketing 

calls with consumers, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, that their 

financial products constituted sales, not loans; that there were no fees; that there 

was no interest rate associated with their products; and that their products did not 

require life insurance. 

95. In their contracts with consumers, Defendants persisted in the false, 

misleading, and deceptive representations of their online and direct-to-consumer 

marketing by characterizing the transactions as “a valid sale of a stream of income 

received in the pensioner’s checking account in the form of payments sold as they 

are received by Pensioner in the future.” Defendants thereby falsely presented 

Case 8:15-cv-01329   Document 1   Filed 08/20/15   Page 19 of 24   Page ID #:19



  
 

20 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

these transactions as legal sales, rather than loans charging illegal rates of interest 

under New York’s usury laws. 

96. By representing to consumers that they were selling their pensions, 

rather than obtaining a loan, and by omitting in their advertisements to consumers 

the applicable interest rates, fees, and life insurance requirement, Defendants 

advertised and distributed statements that were false, misleading, and deceptive 

regarding the rates, terms, and conditions for the loaning of money or credit, 

including the legality of Defendants’ loans, in violation of New York Banking Law 

§ 350. 
Count VI 

Intentional Misrepresentation of a Material Fact  
Regarding a Financial Product 

(Asserted by the Superintendent) 

97. Plaintiff Superintendent realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-65 of this Complaint. 

98. Pursuant to Section 309 of the New York Financial Services Law, this 

Court has the power to grant an injunction to restrain a threatened or likely 

violation of the Financial Services Law or the Banking Law. 

99. Section 408 of the Financial Services Law makes it unlawful for any 

person to commit an intentional fraud or make an intentional misrepresentation of 

material fact with respect to a financial product or service. 

100. Defendants intentionally misrepresented that they purchased pension 

income when, in fact, they were engaged in illegal lending activity and lending 

money at usurious rates.  

101. Defendants also intentionally misrepresented or failed to disclose the 

interest rate and fees associated with the loans.  
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102. Defendants also intentionally misrepresented to consumers that they 

could be subject to “punitive . . . relief” and “criminal” action if they caused any 

disruption in the monthly payments to investors. 

103. Those facts would have been material to consumers in deciding 

whether to obtain these loans and whether to repay the obligation. 

104. Defendants’ false and misleading misrepresentations constitute 

intentional misrepresentations of material facts to consumers in violation of 

Section 408 of the Financial Services Law. 

Count VII 
Unlicensed Money Transmitting 
(Asserted by the Superintendent) 

105. Plaintiff Superintendent realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-65 of this Complaint. 

106. Pursuant to Section 641 of the New York Banking Law, no person 

shall engage in the business of selling or issuing checks, or engage in the business 

of receiving money for transmission or transmitting the same, without a money 

transmitter license obtained from the Superintendent pursuant to New York 

Banking Law Article XIII-B, nor shall any person engage in such business except 

as an agent of a licensee or as an agent of a payee. 

107. Defendants have not obtained a money transmitter license from the 

Superintendent, and are not appointed agents of a licensee or investors. 

108. Defendants received or transmitted money from consumers’ accounts 

to investors’ accounts, often through PF-PI’s accounts. 

109. By receiving or transmitting money from consumers’ accounts to 

investors’ accounts, often through PF-PI’s accounts, Defendants engaged in the 

business of money transmitting.   
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110. By receiving or transmitting money without first obtaining a license 

from the Superintendent or entering into an agency agreement with investors 

authorizing such receipt or transmission on behalf of investors, Defendants 

engaged in the business of transmitting money without a license. 

111. Therefore, Defendants engaged in unlicensed money transmitting in 

violation of Section 641 of the New York Banking Law. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Plaintiffs request that the Court: 

1. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer 

injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the 

possibility of effective final relief; 

2. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of 

the CFPA or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

3. permanently enjoin Defendants from violating the New York State 

Banking and Financial Services laws;   

4. grant additional injunctive relief as may be just and proper; 

5. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants;  

6. order Defendants to pay redress to harmed consumers;   

7. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues from Defendants;  

8. impose civil money penalties against Defendants;  

9. order Defendants to pay Plaintiffs’ costs and fees incurred in 

connection with prosecuting this action; and 

10. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 
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Dated: August 20, 2015  Respectfully submitted, 
 
Anthony Alexis (DC Bar #384545) 
Enforcement Director 
 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich (FL Bar #51561)   
Deputy Enforcement Director  
 
John C. Wells (DC Bar # 491292) 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
 
/s/ Carmen L. Christopher____________  ___    
Carmen L. Christopher (CA Bar #231508)  

Email: carmen.christopher@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: (312) 610-8961 

Thomas G. Ward (IL Bar #6291011) 
Email: thomas.ward@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: (312) 610-8966 

Maxwell S. Peltz (CA Bar #183662) 
Email: maxwell.peltz@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: (415) 633-1328 

 Local Counsel for Thomas G. Ward 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Facsimile: (312) 610-8971 
 
Attorneys for the Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau 
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Eric T. Schneiderman 
Attorney General of the State of New York 

 
 
/s/ Amy McFarlane*______________________    
Amy McFarlane (CA Bar #229214) 

Email:  Amy.McFarlane@ag.ny.gov 
Telephone: (212) 416- 6195  

Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the New York State Attorney General 
120 Broadway 
New York, NY 10271-0332 
Facsimile: (212) 416- 6015 
 
Attorney for the Acting Superintendent of 
Financial Services of the State of New York  
 
*Ms. McFarlane concurs in this filing’s content 
and authorized the filing  
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CFPB and New York Department of
Financial Services Sue Pension Advance
Companies for Deceiving Consumers
About Loan Costs
Companies Hid Loan Interest Rates and Fees and Deceived Consumers
About Other Terms of the Deal

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
and the New York Department of Financial Services (NYDFS) filed a lawsuit in federal
court against two companies, Pension Funding, LLC and Pension Income, LLC, and
three of the companies’ individual managers for deceiving consumers about the costs
and risks of their pension advance loans. The CFPB and NYDFS allege that the
companies duped consumers into borrowing against their pensions by deceptively
marketing the product as a sale instead of a loan and failing to disclose high interest
rates and fees. The CFPB and NYDFS are seeking to end the illegal practices, to prevent
further consumer injury, and to obtain redress for consumers and other monetary
relief.

“These companies duped consumers into taking out pension advance loans by deceiving
them about the terms of the deal,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are
working to put a stop to the illegal practices these companies are using to sell their
bogus product to military veterans and other pensioners.”

“As outlined in our complaint, the defendants used blatantly deceptive practices to
harvest the hardearned pensions of seniors and military personnel,” said Anthony J.
Albanese, Acting New York Superintendent of Financial Services. “This scheme
involved false advertising, illegal loans at high interest rates, and other abusive tactics
that our Department simply will not tolerate. Together with the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau, we are seeking to deliver relief to the pensioners on whom the
defendants preyed. We thank our partners at the CFPB for their outstanding work and
cooperation in investigating and pursuing this matter, and the attorneys at the New
York Attorney General’s Office for their representation of the Department in this
matter.”

From 2011 until about December 2014, Pension Funding and Pension Income, two
Californiabased companies, offered consumers lumpsum cash advances for agreeing
to redirect all or part of their pension payments over a period of eight years. The
individual defendants, Steven Covey, Edwin Lichtig, and Rex Hofelter, designed and
marketed these loans and were responsible for the companies’ daily operations.

The complaint filed by the CFPB and NYDFS alleges that the companies and individuals
violated the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act by:
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Misrepresenting the product as a sale and not a loan: The CFPB and
NYDFS allege that the companies represented to consumers that their product
was not a loan, but rather a “sale” of their future pension income. In fact, the
CFPB and NYDFS allege, the product was a loan.

Failing to disclose or misrepresenting the interest rate and fees for the
loans: The CFPB and NYDFS allege that the defendants, in many cases,
misrepresented or failed to inform consumers of the applicable interest rate or
fees for the loans. In some cases, the defendants advised consumers that the
product was better than a home equity line of credit or a credit card because of
lower rates and fees. In fact, the effective interest rate typically was greater than
28 percent, higher than many comparable products available to consumers, such
as credit cards and home equity lines. Charges for life insurance and other fees
also applied.

The CFPB and NYDFS allege that the companies’ misrepresentations deceived
consumers, interfered with consumers’ ability to understand the risks, costs, and
conditions of the transactions, and took advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding
of the product and inability to protect their interests.

NYDFS also alleges claims against the defendants under New York state law, including
that the defendants charged interest rates that violated New York usury laws, that they
illegally transmitted money without a license, and that they violated state laws
prohibiting deception.

The complaint filed by the CFPB and NYDFS is not a finding or ruling that the
defendants have actually violated the law. It has been filed with the U.S. District Court
for the Central District of California.

A copy of the complaint filed today can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201508_cfpb_complaintpensionfundingllc
pensionincome.pdf

A consumer advisory for older consumers and their advocates on pension
advances can be found at: http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumer
advisory3pensionadvancetrapstoavoid/

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
Case No. 15-23070-Civ-COOKE/TORRES 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 

ORION PROCESSING, LLC, a Texas limited 
liability company, d/b/a World Law Processing, 
Wld Credit Repair, and World Law Debt; FAMILY 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT & MANAGEMENT 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, a/k/a 
FCIAM Property Management; WORLD LAW 
DEBT SERVICES, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company; WORLD LAW PROCESSING, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; DERIN 
SCOTT, an individual; DAVID KLEIN, an 
individual; and BRADLEY JAMES HASKINS, 
individually and d/b/a World Law Group, LLP, 
World Law Group America, LLP, WLD Price 
Global, Inc., World Law Forms and Mediation, and 
World Law South; 
 

Defendants,  

Shannon Scott, an individual, 
 

Relief Defendant. 

 
 

  
 

 PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITH ASSET FREEZE, APPOINTMENT OF 
RECEIVER, EXPEDITED DISCOVERY, AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AS 
TO DEFENDANTS ORION PROCESSING, LLC, BRADLEY JAMES HASKINS, 

WORLD LAW DEBT SERVICES, LLC, AND WORLD LAW PROCESSING, LLC 
 
 THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon Magistrate Judge Edwin G. Torres’ Report 

and Recommendation on Preliminary Injunction. (ECF No. 26). Judge Torres’ Report and 

Recommendation recommended that the Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction and 

Receiver (ECF No. 4; see also ECF No. 23) be granted. Judge Torres found good cause for 

expediting any objections to his Report and Recommendation. The objections were due no 

later than September 1, 2015. No objections were filed.   
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 I have considered Judge Torres’ Report and Recommendation, Plaintiff’s Motion, 

relevant legal authorities, and have conducted a de novo review of the record. I find Judge 

Torres’ Report and Recommendation clear, cogent, and compelling. Accordingly, it is 

ORDERED and ADJUDGED that Judge Torres’ Report and Recommendation (ECF No. 

26) is AFFIRMED and ADOPTED, and the following ORDER is ENTERED:  

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, commenced this civil action on 

August 17, 2015, under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), and 5581, and under the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud 

and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c)(2), 6105(d), alleging Defendants violated 

the CFPA and the Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310 in connection with 

the marketing and sale of debt relief services. The Complaint seeks preliminary and 

permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of monies 

paid, restitution, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, the appointment of a Receiver, and 

other equitable relief, as well as civil money penalties. The Bureau also moved ex parte for a 

temporary restraining order under Rule 65(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 On August 18, 2015, this Court granted the Bureau’s motion and entered the 

Temporary Restraining Order (TRO), which included an asset freeze, injunctive relief, and 

other equitable relief.   

FINDINGS 

Having considered the Complaint, Plaintiff’s Ex Parte Motion for a Temporary 

Restraining Order with Asset Freeze, Appointment of a Receiver, and Other Equitable 

Relief, and Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should Not Issue and 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support (Motion) (Docket No. 4), and the 

declarations, exhibits, and all other evidence, the Court finds that: 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this case, there is good 

cause to believe that it will have jurisdiction over all the parties hereto, and venue in this 

district is proper; 

2. There is good cause to believe that (a) Orion Processing, LLC d/b/a World 

Law Processing, Wld Credit Repair and World Law Debt (collectively, Orion); (b) Bradley 

James Haskins, individually and d/b/a as World Law Group, LLP, World Law Group 

America, LLP, WLD Price Global, Inc., World Law Forms and Mediation, and World 
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Law South; (c) World Law Debt Services, LLC; and (d) World Law Processing, LLC 

(collectively, PI Defendants), have engaged and are likely to continue to engage in acts or 

practices that violate the CFPA and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310. Plaintiff is therefore likely 

to prevail on the merits of this action;  

3. There is good cause to believe that immediate and irreparable harm will result 

from the PI Defendants’ ongoing violations of these laws unless the PI Defendants continue 

to be restrained and enjoined by Order of this Court; 

4. There is good cause to believe that immediate and irreparable damage to the 

Court’s ability to grant effective final relief for consumers in the form of monetary 

restitution and disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment will occur from the 

transfer, dissipation, or concealment by the PI Defendants of their assets or business records 

unless the PI Defendants continue to be restrained and enjoined by Order of this Court. 

Thus, good cause exists for continuing the asset freeze imposed under the TRO, permitting 

the Bureau to take expedited discovery, and ordering the other equitable relief set forth 

herein; 

5. Good cause exists for appointing a Receiver over World Law Debt Services, 

LLC, and World Law Processing, LLC (collectively Receivership Defendants), and 

permitting Plaintiff continued access to Defendants’ business premises at the discretion of 

the Receiver and the Bankruptcy Trustee; 

6. Weighing the equities and considering Plaintiff’s likelihood of ultimate 

success on the merits, a preliminary injunction with an asset freeze, expedited discovery as 

to the existence and location of assets and documents, and other equitable relief is in the 

public interest; and 

7. As the Bureau is an agency of the United States, no security is required for 

this Order. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c). 

DEFINITIONS 

For the purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

1. “Advance Fee” means any fee or consideration requested or received by a 

Debt Relief Service Provider from a consumer for any Debt Relief Service, whether directly 

or indirectly, that occurs before; 
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a. the Debt Relief Service Provider has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise 

altered the terms of a debt pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt 

management plan, or other valid contractual agreement executed by the 

Consumer; and 

b. the Consumer has made at least one payment pursuant to that settlement 

agreement, debt management plan, or other valid contractual agreement 

between the Consumer and the creditor or debt collector.  

2. “Assets” means any legal or equitable interest in, right to, or claim to any 

real, personal, or intellectual property owned or controlled by, or held, in whole or in part 

for the benefit of, or subject to access by any Defendant or Relief Defendant, wherever 

located, whether in the United States or abroad. This includes, but is not limited to, chattel, 

goods, instruments, equipment, fixtures, general intangibles, effects, leaseholds, contracts, 

mail or other deliveries, shares of stock, commodities, futures, inventory, checks, notes, 

accounts, credits, receivables (as those terms are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code), 

funds, cash, and trusts, including, but not limited to any trust held for the benefit of any 

Defendant, Relief Defendant, any of the Individual Defendants’ minor children, or any of 

the Individual Defendants’ spouses. It shall include both existing assets and assets acquired 

after the date of entry of this Order; 

3. “Assisting Others” includes, but is not limited to 

a. Providing paralegal or administrative support services; 

b. performing customer service functions including, but not limited to, receiving 

or responding to consumer complaints; 

c. formulating or providing, or arranging for the formulation or provision of, 

any advertising or marketing material, including, but not limited to, any 

telephone sales script, direct mail solicitation, or the text of any Internet 

website, email, or other electronic communication; 

d. formulating or providing, or arranging for the formulation or provision of, 

any marketing support material or service, including but not limited to, web 

or Internet Protocol addresses or domain name registration for any Internet 

websites, affiliate marketing services, or media placement services;  

e. providing names of, or assisting in the generation of, potential customers; 
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f. performing marketing, billing, or payment services of any kind; and acting or 

serving as an owner, officer, director, manager, or principal of any entity. 

4. “Bankruptcy Proceeding” means In re Orion Processing LLC, Case No. 15-

10279 currently pending in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Western District of Texas, 

Austin Division. 

5. “Bankruptcy Trustee” means the Chapter 7 Trustee appointed over 

Defendant Orion Processing, LLC by the United States Bankruptcy Court, Western District 

of Texas, Austin Division in the Bankruptcy Proceeding.  

6. “Consumer” means an individual or an agent, trustee, or representative 

acting on behalf of an individual. 

7. “Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation to pay money, whether or 

not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 

8. “Debt Relief Product or Service” means any program or service represented, 

directly or by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in any way alter the terms of payment or 

other terms of the debt between a consumer and one or more creditors or debt collectors, 

including but not limited to, a reduction in the balance, interest rate, or fees owed by a 

person to a creditor or debt collector. 

9. “Debt Relief Service Provider” means any Person that offers or provides any 

Debt Relief Product or Service. 

10. “Defendants” means (a) Orion Processing, LLC d/b/a World Law 

Processing, Wld Credit Repair and World Law Debt (collectively, Orion); (b) Family 

Capital Investment & Management LLC a/k/a FCIAM Property Management (FCAIM); 

(c) World Law Debt Services, LLC; (d) World Law Processing, LLC; (e) Derin Scott; (f) 

David Klein; and (g) Bradley James Haskins, individually and d/b/a as World Law Group, 

LLP, World Law Group America, LLP, WLD Price Global, Inc., World Law Forms and 

Mediation, and World Law South, individually, collectively, or in any combination, and 

each of them by whatever names each might be known; 

a. “Corporate Defendants” means: Orion; World Law Debt Services, 

LLC; and World Law Processing, LLC. 

Case 1:15-cv-23070-MGC   Document 28   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/02/2015   Page 5 of 67



6 
 

b. “PI Defendants” means  Orion; Bradley James Haskins, individually 

and d/b/a as World Law Group, LLP, World Law Group America, LLP, 

WLD Price Global, Inc., World Law Forms and Mediation, and World Law 

South; World Law Debt Services, LLC; and World Law Processing, LLC. 

c.  “Receivership Defendants” means World Law Debt Services, LLC; 

and World Law Processing, LLC, and their successors, assigns, affiliates, or 

subsidiaries, and each of them, by whatever names each might be known, 

provided that the Receiver has reason to believe they are owned or controlled 

in whole or in part by any of the Defendants; 

d. “Relief Defendant” means Shannon Scott individually and by any 

other name by which she might be known; 

11.  “Document” and “Electronically Stored Information” are synonymous in 

meaning and equal in scope to the usage of the terms in Rule 34(a) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure and include but are not limited to: 

a. The original or a true copy of any written, typed, printed, 

electronically stored, transcribed, taped, recorded, filmed, punched, or 

graphic matter or other data compilations of any kind, including, but not 

limited to, letters, email or other correspondence, messages, memoranda, 

paper, interoffice communications, notes, reports, summaries, manuals, 

magnetic tapes or discs, tabulations, books, records, checks, invoices, work 

papers, journals, ledgers, statements, returns, reports, schedules, files, charts, 

logs, electronic files, stored in any medium; and 

b. Any electronically created or stored information, including but not 

limited to electronic mail, instant messaging, videoconferencing, SMS, 

MMS, or other text messaging, and other electronic correspondence 

(whether active, archived, unsent, or in an deleted items folder), word 

processing files, spreadsheets, databases, document metadata, presentation 

files, and sound recordings, whether stored on any cell phones, smartphones, 

flash drives, personal digital assistants (“PDAs”), cards, desktop personal 

computer and workstations, laptops, notebooks and other portable 

computers, or other electronic storage media, backup disks and tapes, 
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archive disks and tapes, and other forms of offline storage, whether assigned 

to individuals or in pools of computers available for shared use, or personally 

owned but used for work-related purposes, whether stored on-site with the 

computer used to generate them, stored offsite in another company facility, 

or stored, hosted, or otherwise maintained off-site by a third party; and 

computers and related offsite storage used by Defendants or Defendants’ 

participating associates, which may include persons who are not employees 

of the company or who do not work on company premises; 

12. “Electronic Data Host” means any person or entity that stores, hosts, or 

otherwise maintains electronically stored information; 

13. “Financial Institution” means any bank, savings and loan institution, credit 

union, or any financial depository of any kind, including, but not limited to, any brokerage 

house, trustee, broker-dealer, escrow agent, title company, commodity trading company, or 

precious metal dealer; 

14. “Person” means an individual, partnership, company, corporation, 

association (incorporated or unincorporated), trust, estate, cooperative organization, or 

other entity; 

15. “Plaintiff” or “Bureau” means the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau; 

16. The words “and” and “or” shall be understood to have both conjunctive and 

disjunctive meanings as necessary to make the applicable phrase or sentence inclusive rather 

than exclusive. 

 

ORDER 

I. PROHIBITIONS ON THE PROVISION  

OF DEBT RELIEF PRODUCTS OR SERVICES 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the PI Defendants and their successors, 

assigns, officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active 

concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, are hereby preliminarily  restrained and enjoined from, or 

assisting others from, any of the following: 

A. Participating in telemarketing any debt relief product or service; 
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B. Advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, selling, or providing any 

debt relief product or service; 

C. Receiving any remuneration or other consideration from, holding any 

ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in any capacity for 

any person engaged in advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, 

selling, or providing any debt relief product or service; and 

D. Attempting to collect, collecting, or selling or assigning any right to collect 

payments from Consumers who purchased or agreed to purchase any Debt 

Relief Product or Service from Defendants. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that within three (3) days of the date of this Order, the PI 

Defendants shall provide to Plaintiff, Receiver, and the Bankruptcy Trustee a list of all 

consumers who had a settlement with a creditor where, as of August 20, 2015, the 

Defendants were continuing to pay the creditor, and the details of any such settlement, 

including the amount and dates of any payments to creditors and contact information for 

the consumers. Nothing in this order prohibits the PI Defendants, the Receiver, or the 

Bankruptcy Trustee from assisting these consumers in the orderly transition of responsibility 

for making payments under any debt settlement payment plans Defendants previously 

negotiated with consumers’ creditors, including pursuant to any order in the Bankruptcy 

Proceeding. However, in no event may PI Defendants collect any fees from these 

consumers.   

 

II. PROHIBITED MISREPRESENTATIONS 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the PI Defendants and their successors, 

assigns, officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active 

concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by 

personal service, facsimile transmission, email, or otherwise, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, 

performance of any Debt Relief Product or Service are hereby preliminarily  restrained and 

enjoined from falsely representing, or from assisting others who are falsely representing, 

expressly or by implication, any of the following: 
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A. That any Defendant or any other person will or likely will provide to Consumers 

legal representation; 

B. That any Defendant or any other person will or likely will provide to Consumers 

a local attorney or an attorney located in the Consumers’ state;  

C. That any Defendant or any other person will or likely will provide to Consumers 

an attorney to negotiate with creditors a modification or settlement of the 

Consumers’ debts; or 

D. Any other material fact. 

 

III. PRESERVATION OF RECORDS AND TANGIBLE THINGS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the PI Defendants and their successors, assigns, 

officers, agents, servants, employees, independent contractors, and attorneys, and those 

persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Order by personal service, facsimile transmission, email, or otherwise, whether acting 

directly or indirectly are hereby preliminarily enjoined from destroying, erasing, mutilating, 

concealing, altering, transferring, or otherwise disposing of, in any manner, directly or 

indirectly, any Documents or records that relate to the business practices, or business or 

personal finances of any Defendant, or other entity directly or indirectly under the control of 

any Defendant. 

 

IV. DISABLEMENT OF WEBSITES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, immediately upon service of the Order upon 

them: 

A. any person hosting any Internet website for, or on behalf of, any Defendant, and 

B. the PI Defendants and their successors, assigns, officers, agents, servants, 

employees, independent contractors, and attorneys, and those persons in active 

concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this order 

by personal service, facsimile transmission, email, or otherwise, whether acting 

directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, shall: 
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1. Immediately do whatever is necessary, including cooperating with the 

Receiver, to ensure that any Internet website used by Defendants for the 

advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance 

of any Debt Relief Product or Service, including but not limited to 

worldlawdebtsettlement.com; orionprocessing.com; and 

worldlawprocessing.com, containing statements, representations, or 

omissions prohibited by Sections I and II of this Order cannot be accessed 

by the public; 

2. Prevent the destruction or erasure of any Internet website used by 

Defendants for the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 

sale, or performance of any Debt Relief Service, by preserving such 

website in the format in which it is maintained currently; and 

3. Immediately notify Plaintiff’s counsel, in writing, of any other Internet 

website operated or controlled by any Defendant. 

 

V.  SUSPENSION OF INTERNET DOMAIN NAME REGISTRATIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any domain name registrar must suspend the 

registration of any Internet website used by the PI Defendants for the advertising, 

marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of any Debt Relief Product or 

Service, and containing statements, representations, or omissions prohibited by Sections I 

and II of this Order, and provide immediate notice to Plaintiff’s counsel of any other 

Internet domain names registered or controlled by any Defendants. 

 

VI. ASSET FREEZE 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that except as specified below, the PI Defendants, 

and their successors, assigns, officers, agents, servants, employees, independent contractors, 

and attorneys, and all persons directly or indirectly under the control of any of them, 

including any financial institution, and all other persons in active concert or participation 

with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile, 
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email, or otherwise, are hereby preliminarily restrained and enjoined from directly or 

indirectly: 

A. Selling, liquidating, assigning, transferring, converting, loaning, hypothecating, 

disbursing, gifting, conveying, encumbering, pledging, concealing, dissipating, 

spending, withdrawing, or otherwise disposing of any Asset that is: 

1. in the actual or constructive possession of any PI Defendant; or 

2. in the actual or constructive possession of, or owned or controlled by, or 

subject to access by, or belonging to, any corporation, partnership, trust or 

other entity directly or indirectly owned, managed or controlled by any PI 

Defendant; 

B. Opening, or causing to be opened, any safe deposit box, commercial mail box, or 

storage facility belonging to, for the use or benefit of, controlled by, or titled in 

the name of any PI Defendant, or subject to access by any PI Defendant; 

C. Incurring charges or cash advances on any credit card, stored value card, debit 

card or charge card issued in the name, singly or jointly, of any PI Defendant, or 

any other entity directly or indirectly owned, managed, or controlled by any PI 

Defendant;  

D. Incurring liens or encumbrances on real property, personal property, or other 

Assets in the name, singly or jointly, of any PI Defendant; or 

E. Cashing any checks or depositing or processing any payment from any consumer, 

client, or customer of any PI Defendant. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Assets affected by this Section shall include:  

A. all Assets of each PI Defendant as of the time this Order is entered; and 

B. those Assets obtained or received after entry of this Order that are derived, 

directly or indirectly, from the actions alleged in Plaintiff’s Complaint. This 

Section does not prohibit transfers to the Receiver, as specifically required in 

Section XVI (Delivery of Receivership Property), nor does it prohibit the 

Repatriation of Foreign Assets, as specifically required in Section X of this Order. 
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VII. RETENTION OF ASSETS AND RECORDS BY                                      FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER THIRD PARTIES 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, except as otherwise ordered by this Court, any 

financial or brokerage institution, business entity, electronic data host, Internet or “e-

currency” payment processor, or person served with a copy of this Order, or who otherwise 

has actual or constructive knowledge of this Order, that holds, controls, or maintains 

custody of any account, Document, or Asset of, on behalf of, in the name of, for the benefit 

of, subject to withdrawal by, subject to access or use by, or under the signatory power of any 

PI Defendant, or other party subject to Section VII above, or has held, controlled, or 

maintained any such account, Document, or Asset shall: 

A. Hold, preserve, and retain within such person’s control, and prohibit the 

withdrawal, removal, alteration, assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecation, 

encumbrance, disbursement, dissipation, conversion, sale, liquidation, or other 

disposal of such account, Document, or Asset held by or under such person’s 

control, except as directed by further order of the Court or as directed in writing 

by the Receiver regarding accounts, Documents, or Assets held in the name of or 

benefit of any Receivership Defendant; 

B. Provide Plaintiff, and Plaintiff’s agents, the Receiver, and the Receiver’s agents, 

immediate access to Documents, including those electronically stored, hosted, or 

otherwise maintained on behalf of the PI Defendants for forensic imaging or 

copying; 

C. Deny access to any safe deposit box, commercial mail box, or storage facility 

belonging to, for the use or benefit of, controlled by, or titled in the name of any 

PI Defendant, or subject to access by any PI Defendant, or other party subject to 

Section VII (Asset Freeze) above, except that this subsection shall not limit the 

Receiver’s access to such places; 

D. Provide to Plaintiff’s counsel and the Receiver, within one business day, a sworn 

statement setting forth: 

1. the identification of each account or Asset titled in the name, individually 

or jointly, or held on behalf of or for the benefit of, subject to withdrawal 

by, subject to access or use by, or under the signatory power of any PI 
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Defendant, or other party subject to Section VII above, whether in whole 

or in part; 

2. the balance of each such account, or a description of the nature and value 

of such Asset, as of the close of business on the day on which this Order is 

served; 

3. the identification of any safe deposit box, commercial mail box, or storage 

facility belonging to, for the use or benefit of, controlled by, or titled in the 

name of any PI Defendant, or subject to access by any PI Defendant, or 

other party subject to Section VII above, whether in whole or in part; and 

4. if the account, safe deposit box, or other Asset has been closed or 

removed, the date closed or removed, the balance on said date, and the 

name or the person or entity to whom such account or other Asset was 

remitted; 

E. Provide to Plaintiff’s counsel and the Receiver, within three business days after 

being served with a request, copies of all Documents pertaining to such account 

or Asset, including but not limited to originals or copies of account applications, 

account statements, signature cards, checks, drafts, deposit tickets, transfers to 

and from the accounts, all other debit and credit instruments or slips, currency 

transaction reports, 1099 forms, and safe deposit box logs; provided that such 

institution or custodian may charge a reasonable fee; and 

F. Cooperate with all reasonable requests of the Receiver relating to this Order’s 

implementation. 

G. The accounts subject to this provision include: (a) all Assets of each PI Defendant 

deposited as of the time this Order is entered, and (b) those Assets deposited after 

entry of this Order that are derived from the actions alleged in Plaintiff’s 

Complaint. This Section does not prohibit transfers to the Receiver, as 

specifically required in Section XVI (Delivery of Receivership Property), nor does 

it prohibit the Repatriation of Foreign Assets, as specifically required in Section 

X of this Order. 

H. Plaintiff is granted leave, pursuant to Rule 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, to subpoena Documents immediately from any financial or brokerage 
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institution, business entity, electronic data host, or person served with a copy of 

this Order that holds, controls, or maintains custody of any account, Document, 

or Asset of, on behalf of, in the name of, for the benefit of, subject to access or use 

by, or under the signatory power of any PI Defendant or other party subject to 

Section VI above, or has held, controlled, or maintained any such account, 

Document, or Asset and such financial or brokerage institution, business entity, 

electronic data host or person shall respond to such subpoena within three 

business days after service. 

VIII. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each PI Defendant within three (3) business days 

of service of this Order, shall prepare and deliver to Plaintiff’s counsel and to the Receiver: 

A. For Defendant Bradley James Haskins, a completed financial statement accurate 

as of the date of service of this Order upon such Defendant on the form of 

Attachment A to this Order captioned “Financial Statement of Individual 

Defendant.” 

B. For the Corporate Defendants, a completed financial statement accurate as of the 

date of service of this Order upon each of the Corporate Defendants (unless 

otherwise agreed upon with Plaintiff’s counsel) in the form of Attachment B to 

this Order captioned “Financial Statement of Corporate Defendant.” 

C. A list of all officers and directors of the Corporate Defendants and all other 

individuals or entities with authority to direct the operations of each Corporate 

Defendant or withdraw money from the account of the Corporate Defendant. 

D. For each PI Defendant, a statement, verified under oath, of all payments, 

transfers, or assignments of any Assets worth $5,000 or more since October 27, 

2010.  Such statements shall include: (a) the amount transferred or assigned; (b) 

the name of each transferee or assignee; (c) the date of the assignment or transfer; 

and (d) the type and amount of consideration paid by or to the PI Defendant.  

Each statement shall specify the name and address of each Financial Institution 

at which PI Defendant has accounts or safe deposit boxes; and 
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E. For each PI Defendant, a detailed accounting, verified under oath, of all gross 

and net profits obtained from, derived from, or related in any way to the offer for 

sale or sale of any Debt Relief Product or Service since October 27, 2010. 

IX. CONSUMER CREDIT REPORTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that pursuant to Section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(1), Plaintiff may obtain credit reports concerning any 

PI Defendant and that, upon written request, any credit reporting agency from which such 

reports are request shall provide them to Plaintiff. 

X.  REPATRIATION OF FOREIGN ASSETS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, within three business days following the service 

of this Order, each PI Defendant shall: 

A. Provide Plaintiff’s counsel and the Receiver with a full accounting of all Assets, 

accounts, and Documents outside of the territory of the United States that are 

held (1) by Defendants or Relief Defendant; (2) for their benefit; (3) in trust by or 

for them, individually or jointly; or (4) under their direct or indirect control, 

individually or jointly; 

B. Transfer to the territory of the United States all Assets, accounts, and Documents 

in foreign countries held (1) by PI Defendants; (2) for their benefit; (3) in trust by 

or for them, individually or jointly; or (4) under their direct or indirect control, 

individually or jointly; 

C. Hold and retain all repatriated Assets, accounts, funds, and Documents, and 

prevent any transfer, disposition, or dissipation whatsoever of any such Assets, 

accounts, or Documents;  and 

D. Provide Plaintiff access to all records of accounts or Assets of the PI Defendants 

held by financial institutions located outside the territorial United States by 

signing the Consent to Release of Financial Records attached to this Order as 

Attachment C. All repatriated Assets, accounts, and Documents are subject to 

Section VI of this Order. 
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XI. NONINTERFERENCE WITH REPATRIATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the PI Defendants, and their successors, assigns, 

officers, agents, servants, employees, independent contractors, and attorneys, and those 

persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Order by personal service or otherwise, whether acting directly or indirectly, are hereby 

preliminarily restrained and enjoined from taking any action, directly or indirectly, which 

may result in the encumbrance or dissipation of foreign Assets, or in the hindrance of the 

repatriation required by the preceding Section X of this Order, including, but not limited to: 

A. Sending any statement, letter, fax, email or wire transmission, or telephoning or 

engaging in any other act, directly or indirectly, that results in a determination by 

a foreign trustee or other entity that a “duress” event has occurred under the 

terms of a foreign trust agreement until such time that all Assets have been fully 

repatriated pursuant to Section X of this Order; or 

B. Notifying any trustee, protector, or other agent of any foreign trust or other 

related entities of either the existence of this Order, or of the fact that repatriation 

is required pursuant to a court order, until such time that all Assets have been 

fully repatriated pursuant to Section X of this Order. 

XII. APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIVER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Robb Evans and Associates, LLC is appointed 

Receiver for the business activities of Receivership Defendants with the full power of an 

equity receiver. The Receiver shall be the agent of this Court and solely the agent of this 

Court in acting as Receiver under this Order. The Receiver shall be accountable directly to 

this Court. The Receiver shall comply with all laws and Local Rules of this Court governing 

federal equity receivers. 

XIII. DUTIES AND AUTHORITIES OF RECEIVER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver is directed and authorized to 

accomplish the following: 

A. Assume full control of the Receivership Defendants by removing, as the Receiver 

deems necessary or advisable, any director, officer, independent contractor, 

employee, or agent of any of the Receivership Defendants including any named 
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Defendant, from control of, management of, or participation in, the affairs of the 

Receivership Defendants; 

B. Take exclusive custody, control, and possession of all Assets and Documents of, 

or in the possession, custody, or under the control of, the Receivership 

Defendants, wherever situated. The Receiver shall have full power to divert mail 

and to sue for, collect, receive, take into possession, hold, and manage all Assets 

and Documents of the Receivership Defendants and other persons whose 

interests are now held by or under the direction, possession, custody, or control 

of the Receivership Defendants. The Receiver shall not, however, attempt to 

collect or receive any amount from a consumer if the Receiver believes the 

consumer was a victim of the unlawful conduct alleged in the complaint in this 

matter. 

C. Take all steps necessary to secure the business premises of the Receivership 

Defendants. Such steps may include, but are not limited to, the following as the 

Receiver deems necessary or advisable: 

1. serving and filing this Order; 

2. completing a written inventory of all Receivership Assets; 

3. obtaining pertinent information from all employees and other agents of 

the Receivership Defendants, including but not limited to, the name, 

home address, social security number, job description, method of 

compensation, and all accrued and unpaid commissions and 

compensation of each such employee or agent, and all computer hardware 

and software passwords; 

4. videotaping or photographing all portions of such business premises; 

5. securing the location by changing the locks and disconnecting any 

computer modems or other means of access to the computer or other 

records maintained at that location; 

6. requiring any persons present on the premises at the time this Order is 

served to leave the premises, to provide the Receiver with proof of 

identification, or to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Receiver that 
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such persons are not removing from the premises Documents or Assets of 

the Receivership Defendants; and 

7. requiring all employees, independent contractors, and consultants of the 

Receivership Defendants to complete a questionnaire submitted by the 

Receiver; 

D. Conserve, hold, and manage all Receivership Assets, and perform all acts 

necessary or advisable to preserve the value of those Assets, in order to prevent 

any irreparable loss, damage, or injury to consumers or to creditors of the 

Receivership Defendants, including, but not limited to, obtaining an accounting 

of the Assets and preventing transfer, withdrawal, or misapplication of Assets; 

E. Liquidate any and all securities or commodities owned by or for the benefit of the 

Receivership Defendants as the Receiver deems to be advisable or necessary; 

F. Enter into contracts and purchase insurance as the Receiver deems to be 

advisable or necessary; 

G. Prevent the inequitable distribution of Assets and determine, adjust, and protect 

the interests of consumers and creditors who have transacted business with the 

Receivership Defendants; 

H. Manage and administer the business of the Receivership Defendants until further 

order of this Court by performing all incidental acts that the Receiver deems to be 

advisable or necessary, which includes retaining, hiring, or dismissing any 

employees, independent contractors, or agents; 

I. Choose, engage, and employ attorneys, accountants, appraisers, and other 

independent contractors and technical specialists, as the Receiver deems 

advisable or necessary in the performance of duties and responsibilities under the 

authority granted by this Order; 

J. Make payments and disbursements from the Receivership estate that are 

necessary or advisable for carrying out the directions of, or exercising the 

authority granted by, this Order. The Receiver shall apply to the Court for prior 

approval of any payment of any debt or obligation incurred by the Receivership 

Defendants prior to the date of entry of this Order, except payments that the 
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Receiver deems necessary or advisable to secure assets of the Receivership 

Defendants, such as rental payments; 

K. Determine and implement measures to ensure that the Receivership Defendants 

comply with and prevent violations of this Order and all other applicable laws, 

including, but not limited to, if appropriate, revising sales materials and 

implementing monitoring procedures; 

L. Institute, compromise, adjust, appear in, intervene in, or become party to such 

actions or proceedings in state, federal, or foreign courts that the Receiver deems 

necessary and advisable to preserve or recover the Assets of the Receivership 

Defendants, or that the Receiver deems necessary and advisable to carry out the 

Receiver’s mandate under this Order; 

M. Defend, compromise, adjust, or otherwise dispose of any or all actions or 

proceedings instituted in the past or in the future against the Receiver in his or 

her role as Receiver, or against the Receivership Defendants, that the Receiver 

deems necessary and advisable to preserve the Assets of the Receivership 

Defendants or that the Receiver deems necessary and advisable to carry out the 

Receiver’s mandate under this Order; 

N. Continue and conduct the business of the Receivership Defendants in such 

manner, to such extent, and for such duration as the Receiver may in good faith 

deem to be necessary or appropriate to operate the business profitably and 

lawfully, if at all; provided, however, that the continuation and conduct of the 

business shall be conditioned upon the Receiver’s good faith determination that 

the businesses can be lawfully operated at a profit using the Assets of the 

receivership estate; 

O. Take depositions and issue subpoenas to obtain Documents and records 

pertaining to the receivership estate and compliance with this Order. Subpoenas 

may be served by agents or attorneys of the Receiver and by agents of any process 

server retained by the Receiver; 

P. Open one or more bank accounts as designated depositories for funds of the 

Receivership Defendants. The Receiver shall deposit all funds of the Receivership 
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Defendants in such a designated account and shall make all payments and 

disbursements from the receivership estate from such account(s); 

Q. Maintain accurate records of all receipts and expenditures that it makes as 

Receiver; 

R. Cooperate with reasonable requests for information or assistance from any state 

or federal law enforcement agency; 

S. Maintain the chain of custody of all of Defendants’ records in their possession; 

and 

T. Notify all courts in which Receivership Defendants have litigation pending, that 

this case is pending, and request temporary stays, where appropriate, of those 

cases or any other necessary relief to preserve the rights of consumers. 

XIV. CONTINUING ACCESS TO BUSINESS PREMISES AND RECORDS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff, the Receiver, and their respective 

representatives, agents, contractors, or assistants, are permitted continued access to the PI 

Defendants’ business premises; and 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the PI Defendants and their successors, assigns, 

officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other persons directly or 

indirectly, in whole or in part, under their control, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service, 

facsimile, email, or otherwise, whether acting directly or, shall: 

A. Allow Plaintiff and the Receiver, and their respective representatives, agents, 

attorneys, investigators, paralegals, contractors, or assistants, continuing access 

to: 

1. all of the PI Defendants’ business premises, including but not limited to: 

a. 9011 Mountain Ridge Dr., Suites. 130-E, 130-F, 130- G, 200, and 

220, Austin, TX 78759                                            

b. any storage facilities; and 

c. such other business locations that are wholly or partially owned, 

rented, leased, or under the temporary or permanent control of any 

PI Defendant; 
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2. any other premises where the PI Defendants conduct business, sales 

operations, or customer service operations; 

3. any premises where Documents related to the PI Defendants’ businesses 

are stored or maintained, including but not limited to a storage unit; 

4. any premises where Assets belonging to any PI Defendant are stored or 

maintained; and 

5. any Documents located at any of the locations described in this Section; 

B. To the extent not already done, immediately identify to Plaintiff’s counsel and 

the Receiver: 

1. all of the PI Defendants’ business premises and storage facilities; 

2. any non-residence premises where any PI Defendant conducts business, 

sales operations, or customer service operations; 

3. any non-residence premises where Documents related to the business, 

sales operations, or customer service operations of any PI Defendant are 

hosted, stored, or otherwise maintained, including but not limited to the 

name and location of any Electronic Data Hosts; and 

4. any non-residence premises where Assets belonging to any PI Defendant 

are stored or maintained; and 

C. Provide Plaintiff and the Receiver, and their respective representatives, agents, 

attorneys, investigators, paralegals, contractors, or assistants with any necessary 

means of access to, copying of, and forensic imaging of Documents, including, 

without limitation, identifying the locations of Receivership Defendants’ business 

premises, keys and combinations to business premises locks, passwords to devices 

that hold Electronically Stored Information, computer access codes of all 

computers used to conduct Receivership Defendants’ business, access to 

(including but not limited to execution of any Documents necessary for access to 

and forensic imaging of) any data stored, hosted or otherwise maintained by an 

electronic data host, and storage area access information; 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Plaintiff and the Receiver are authorized to employ the assistance of federal, 

state, and local law enforcement officers, including, but not limited to, the United 

States Marshals service, the United States Marshal or Deputy United States 

Marshal, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Internal Revenue Service, and 

the Sheriff or deputy of any county, and the Police Department and police officer 

of any community, to effect service, to implement peacefully the provisions of 

this Order, and to keep the peace. 

B. The Bankruptcy Trustee and the Receiver will continue to allow Plaintiff and its 

representatives, agents, contractors, or assistants into the premises and facilities 

described in this Section to inspect, inventory, image, and copy Documents 

relevant to any matter contained in this Order, wherever they may be situated. 

The Receiver may exclude the PI Defendants and their agents and employees 

from the business premises and facilities during the immediate access. No one 

shall interfere with Plaintiff’s or the Receiver’s inspection of the PI Defendants’ 

premises or documents. 

C. The Receiver and Plaintiff shall have the right to remove any Documents, 

including any devices containing Electronically Stored Information related to the 

PI Defendants’ business practices from the premises in order that they may be 

inspected, inventoried, and copied. The materials so removed shall be returned 

within five business days of completing said inventory and copying. If any 

property, records, Documents, or computer files relating to the Receivership 

Defendants’ finances or business practices are located in the residence of any PI 

Defendant or are otherwise in the custody or control of any PI Defendant, then 

such PI Defendant shall produce them to the Receiver within twenty-four hours 

of service of this Order. In order to prevent the destruction of computer data, 

upon service of this Order upon Defendants, any such computers may be 

powered down (turned off) in the normal course for the operating systems used 

on such computers and shall not be powered up or used again until produced for 

copying and inspection, along with any codes needed for access. Plaintiff’s and 

the Receiver’s representatives may also photograph and videotape the inside and 
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outside of all premises to which they are permitted access by this Order, and all 

Documents and other items found on such premises; 

D. Plaintiff’s access to the PI Defendants’ Documents pursuant to this Order shall 

not provide grounds for any PI Defendant to object to any subsequent request for 

Documents served by Plaintiff; and 

E. The Receiver shall allow the PI Defendants and their representatives reasonable 

access to the premises of the Receivership Defendants. The purpose of this access 

shall be to inspect, inventory, and copy any and all Documents and other 

property owned by or in the possession of the Receivership Defendants, provided 

that those Documents and property are not removed from the premises. The 

Receiver shall have the discretion to determine the time, manner, and reasonable 

conditions of such access. 

F. To the extent not already done, PI Defendants and their employees, agents, and 

bookkeepers shall also immediately provide usernames and passwords to all 

computers that store information concerning Defendants’ business operations; 

G. To the extent not already done, PI Defendants and their employees shall 

surrender Blackberry, iPhone, Android, or other mobile access devices that 

contain information concerning Defendants’ business operations to the Receiver 

or Plaintiff’s representatives. 

XV. COOPERATION WITH RECEIVER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. To the extent not already done under the TRO issued in this case, the PI 

Defendants, and their successors, assigns, officers, agents, directors, servants, 

employees, salespersons, independent contractors, attorneys, and corporations, 

and all other persons or entities in active concert or participation with them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, or any of them, shall fully cooperate with and assist 

the Receiver. Defendants’ cooperation and assistance shall include, but not be 

limited to: 
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1. Providing any information to the Receiver that the Receiver deems 

necessary to exercising the authority and discharging the responsibilities of 

the Receiver under this Order, including but not limited to allowing the 

Receiver to inspect Documents and Assets and to partition office space; 

2. Providing any username or password and executing any documents 

required to access any computer or electronic files in any medium, 

including but not limited to Electronically Stored Information stored, 

hosted, or otherwise maintained by an electronic data host; and 

3. Advising all persons who owe money to the Receivership Defendants that 

all debts should be paid directly to the Receiver; and 

B. The PI Defendants and their successors, assigns, officers, directors, agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, and all other persons or entities directly or 

indirectly, in whole or in part, under their control, and all other persons in active 

concert or participation with them, who receive actual notice of this Order by 

personal service or otherwise, shall not interfere in any manner, directly or 

indirectly with the custody possession, management, or control by the Receiver 

of Assets and Documents, and are hereby preliminarily restrained and enjoined 

from directly or indirectly: 

1. Transacting any of the business of the Receivership Defendants; 

2. Destroying, secreting, erasing, mutilating, defacing, concealing, altering, 

transferring or otherwise disposing of, in any manner, directly or 

indirectly, any Documents or equipment of the Receivership Defendants, 

including but not limited to contracts, agreements, consumer files, 

consumer addresses and telephone numbers, correspondence, 

advertisements, brochures, sales material, sales presentations, Documents 

evidencing or referring to Defendants’ services, training materials, scripts, 

data, computer tapes, disks, or other computerized records, books, written 

or printed records, handwritten notes, telephone logs, “verification” or 

“compliance” tapes or other audio or video tape recordings, receipt books, 

invoices, postal receipts, ledgers, personal and business canceled checks 

and check registers, bank statements, appointment books, copies of 
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federal, state or local business or personal income or property tax returns, 

photographs, mobile devices, electronic storage media, accessories, and 

any other Documents, records or equipment of any kind that relate to the 

business practices or business or personal finances of the Receivership 

Defendants or any other entity directly or indirectly under the control of 

the Receivership Defendants; 

3. Transferring, receiving, altering, selling, encumbering, pledging, assigning, 

liquidating, or otherwise disposing of any Assets owned, controlled, or in 

the possession or custody of, or in which an interest is held or claimed by, 

the Receivership Defendants, or the Receiver; 

4. Excusing debts owed to the Receivership Defendants; 

5. Failing to notify the Receiver of any Asset, including accounts, of a 

Receivership Defendant held in any name other than the name of the 

Receivership Defendant, or by any person or entity other than the 

Receivership Defendant, or failing to provide any assistance or 

information requested by the Receiver in connection with obtaining 

possession, custody, or control of such Assets; 

6. Failing to create and maintain books, records, and accounts which, in 

reasonable detail, accurately, fairly, and completely reflect the incomes, 

assets, disbursements, transactions and use of monies by the PI 

Defendants or any other entity directly or indirectly under the control of 

the PI Defendants; 

7. Doing any act or refraining from any act whatsoever to interfere with the 

Receiver’s taking custody, control, possession, or managing of the Assets 

or Documents subject to this Receivership; or to harass or to interfere with 

the Receiver in any way; or to interfere in any manner with the exclusive 

jurisdiction of this Court over the Assets or Documents of the 

Receivership Defendants; or to refuse to cooperate with the Receiver or 

the Receiver’s duly authorized agents in the exercise of their duties or 

authority under any Order of this Court; and 
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8. Filing, or causing to be filed, any petition on behalf of the Receivership 

Defendants for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 

§ 101 et seq., without prior permission from this Court. 

XVI. DELIVERY OF RECEIVERSHIP PROPERTY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that immediately upon service of this Order upon 

them or upon their otherwise obtaining actual knowledge of this Order, or within a period 

permitted by the Receiver, the PI Defendants and any other person or entity, including but 

not limited to financial institutions and electronic data hosts, shall transfer or deliver access 

to possession, custody, and control of the following to the Receiver: 

A. All Assets of the Receivership Defendants; 

B. All Documents of the Receivership Defendants, including but not limited to 

books and records of accounts, all financial and accounting records, balance 

sheets, income statements, bank records (including monthly statements, canceled 

checks, records of wire transfers, records of ACH transactions, and check 

registers), client or customer lists, title documents and other papers; 

C. All Assets belonging to members of the public now held by the Receivership 

Defendants; 

D. All keys, computer and other passwords, user names, entry codes, combinations 

to locks required to open or gain or secure access to any Assets or Documents of 

the Receivership Defendants, wherever located, including, but not limited to, 

access to their business premises, means of communication, accounts, computer 

systems, or other property; and 

E. Information identifying the accounts, employees, properties, or other assets or 

obligations of the Receivership Defendants. 

In the event any person or entity fails to deliver or transfer immediately any asset or 

otherwise fails to comply with any provision of this Section, the Receiver may file ex parte 

with the court an Affidavit of Non-Compliance regarding the failure. Upon filing of the 

affidavit, the Court may authorize, without additional process or demand, Writs of 

Possession or Sequestration or other equitable writs requested by the Receiver. The writs 

shall authorize and direct the United States Marshal, any Deputy United States Marshal, 
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the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Internal Revenue Service, or any sheriff or deputy 

sheriff of any county to seize the Asset, Document, or other thing and to deliver it to the 

Receiver. 

XVII. COMPENSATION FOR RECEIVER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver and all personnel hired by the 

Receiver as herein authorized, including counsel to the Receiver and accountants, are 

entitled to reasonable compensation for the performance of duties pursuant to this Order, 

and for the cost of actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them, from the assets now held 

by or in the possession or control of, or which may be received by, the Receivership 

Defendants. The Receiver shall file with the Court and serve on the parties periodic requests 

for the payment of such reasonable compensation, with the first such request filed no more 

than sixty (60) days after the date of this Order. The Receiver shall not increase the hourly 

rates used as the bases for such fee applications without prior approval of the Court. 

XVIII. RECEIVER’S REPORTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver shall report to this Court on or 

before the date set for the hearing to Show Cause regarding the Preliminary Injunction, 

regarding: (1) the steps taken by the Receiver to implement the terms of this Order; (2) the 

value of all liquidated and unliquidated assets of the Receivership Defendants; (3) the sum 

of all liabilities of the Receivership Defendants; (4) the steps the Receiver intends to take in 

the future to (a) prevent any diminution in the value of assets of the Receivership 

Defendants, (b) pursue receivership assets from third parties, and (c) adjust the liabilities of 

the Receivership Defendants, if appropriate; (5) the Receiver’s assessment of whether the 

business can be operated in compliance with this Order; and (6) any other matters that the 

Receiver believes should be brought to the Court’s attention. Provided, however, that if any of 

the required information would hinder the Receiver’s ability to pursue receivership assets, 

the portions of the Receiver’s report containing such information may be filed under seal 

and not served on the parties. 
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XIX. WITHDRAWAL OF RECEIVER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver and any professional retained by the 

Receiver, including but not limited to his or her attorneys and accountants, be and are 

hereby authorized to reasonably withdraw from his or her respective appointments or 

representations and apply for payment of their professional fees and costs at any time after 

the date of this Order by sending written notice seven days prior to the date of the intended 

withdrawal to the Court and to the parties along with a written report reflecting the 

Receiver’s work, findings, and recommendations, as well as an accounting for all funds and 

assets in possession or control of the Receiver. The Receiver shall be exonerated and the 

receivership deemed closed seven days from the date of the mailing of such notice of 

withdrawal. The Court will retain jurisdiction to consider the fee applications, report, and 

accounting submitted by the Receiver and the professionals. The written notice shall include 

an interim report indicating the Receiver’s actions and reflect the knowledge gained along 

with the fee applications of the Receiver and his or her professionals. The report shall also 

contain the Receiver’s recommendations, if any. 

XX. RECEIVER’S BOND/LIABILITY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that no bond shall be required in connection with the 

appointment of the Receiver. Except for an act of gross negligence, the Receiver and the 

professionals shall not be liable for any loss or damage suffered by any of the PI Defendants, 

their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys or any other person, by reason of 

any act performed or omitted to be performed by the Receiver and the professionals in 

connection with the discharge of his or her duties and responsibilities, including but not 

limited to their withdrawal from the case under Section XIX. 

 

XXI. PROHIBITION ON RELEASE OF CONSUMER INFORMATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, except as required by a law enforcement agency, 

law, regulation, or court order, the PI Defendants, and their successors, assigns, officers, 

agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service 

or otherwise, are preliminarily restrained and enjoined from disclosing, using, or benefitting 
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from consumer information, including the name, address, telephone number, email address, 

social security number, other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a 

consumer’s account (including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account), of 

any person, which any Defendant obtained prior to entry of this Order in connection with 

any Debt Relief Product or Service. 

 

XXII. STAY OF ACTIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Except by leave of this Court, during pendency of the Receivership ordered 

herein, the PI Defendants are hereby stayed from taking any action for, against, 

on behalf of, or in the name of any of the following: the Receivership Defendants, 

any of their subsidiaries, affiliates, partnerships, Assets, Documents or the 

Receiver or the Receiver’s duly authorized agents acting in their capacities as 

such. Such hereby-stayed actions include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1. Commencing, prosecuting, continuing, entering, or enforcing any suit or 

proceeding, except that such actions may be filed to toll any applicable 

statute of limitations; 

2. Accelerating the due date of any obligation or claimed obligation; filing or 

enforcing any lien; taking or attempting to take possession, custody, or 

control of any asset; attempting to foreclose, forfeit, alter, or terminate any 

interest in any asset, whether such acts are part of a judicial proceeding, 

are acts of self-help, or otherwise; or 

3. Executing, issuing, serving, or causing the execution, issuance, or service 

of, any legal process, including, but not limited to, attachments, 

garnishments, subpoenas, writs of replevin, writs of execution, or any 

other form of process whether specified in this Order or not; or 

4. Doing any act or thing whatsoever to interfere with the Receiver taking 

custody, control, possession, or management of the Assets or Documents 

subject to the Receivership, or to harass or interfere with the Receiver in 
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any way, or to interfere in any manner with the exclusive jurisdiction of 

this Court over the Assets or Documents of the Receivership Defendants; 

B. This Section XXII does not stay: 

1. The commencement or continuation of a criminal action or proceeding; 

2. The continuation of the Bankruptcy Proceeding; 

3. The commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a state 

bar association to enforce its police or regulatory power; 

4. The commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a 

governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit’s police or 

regulatory power; 

5. The enforcement of a judgment, other than a money judgment, obtained 

in an action or proceeding by a governmental unit to enforce such 

governmental unit’s police or regulatory power; or 

6. The issuance to a Receivership Defendant of a notice of tax deficiency; 

and 

C. Except as otherwise provided in this Order, all persons and entities in need of 

documentation from the Receiver shall in all instances first attempt to secure such 

information by submitting a formal written request to the Receiver, and, if such 

request has not been responded to within thirty days of receipt by the Receiver, 

any such person or entity may thereafter seek an Order of this Court with regard 

to the relief requested. 

XXIII. LIMITED EXPEDITED DISCOVERY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff and the Receiver are granted leave to 

conduct certain expedited discovery, and that, commencing with the time and date of this 

Order, in lieu of the time periods, notice provisions, and other requirements of Rules 19, 26, 

30, 34, and 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and applicable Local Rules, the 

Bureau and the Receiver are granted leave to: 

A. Take the deposition, on three days’ notice, of any person or entity, whether or 

not a party, for the purpose of: (1) discovering the nature, location, status, and 

extent of Assets of the PI Defendants or their affiliates or subsidiaries; (2) 
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discovering the nature and location of Documents and business records of the PI 

Defendants or their affiliates or subsidiaries; and (3) enforcing compliance with 

this Order. The limitations and conditions set forth in Rules 30(a)(2) and 31(a)(2) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure regarding subsequent depositions shall 

not apply to depositions taken pursuant to this Section. In addition, any such 

depositions taken pursuant to this Section shall not be counted toward the ten 

deposition limit set forth in Rules 30(a)(2)(A)(i) and 31(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure and shall not preclude Plaintiff from subsequently 

deposing the same person or entity in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. Service of discovery upon a party, taken pursuant to this Section, shall 

be sufficient if made by facsimile, email or by overnight delivery. Any deposition 

taken pursuant to this subsection that has not been reviewed and signed by the 

deponent may be used by any party for purposes of the preliminary injunction 

hearing; 

B. Serve upon parties requests for production of documents or inspection that 

require production or inspection within three calendar days of service, and may 

serve subpoenas upon non-parties that direct production or inspection within five 

calendar days of service, for the purpose of discovering: (1) the nature, location, 

status, and extent of assets of the PI Defendants or their affiliates or subsidiaries; 

(2) the nature and location of Documents and business records of PI Defendants 

or their affiliates or subsidiaries; and (3) compliance with this Order, provided that 

twenty-four hours’ notice shall be deemed sufficient for the production of any 

such Documents that are maintained or stored only as electronic data; 

C. Serve deposition notices and other discovery requests upon the parties to this 

action by facsimile or overnight courier, and take depositions by telephone or 

other remote electronic means; and 

D. If a PI Defendant fails to appear for a properly noticed deposition or fails to 

comply with a request for production or inspection, seek to prohibit that 

Defendant from introducing evidence at any subsequent hearing. 
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XXIV. MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff’s agents or representatives may contact 

the PI Defendants directly or anonymously for the purpose of monitoring compliance with 

Sections I and II of this Order, and may tape record any oral communications that occur in 

the course of such contacts. 

 

XXV. NOTIFICATION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

A. The PI Defendants are hereby preliminarily enjoined from directly or indirectly 

creating, operating, or exercising any control over any business entity, including 

any partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship or 

corporation, without first serving on counsel for the Bureau a written statement 

disclosing the following:  (1) the name of the business entity; (2) the address and 

telephone number of the business entity; (3) the names of the business entity’s 

officers, directors, principals, managers and employees; and (4) a detailed 

description of the business entity’s intended or actual activities. 

B. Defendant Bradley James Haskins must notify the Bureau at least seven (7) days 

prior to affiliating with, becoming employed by, or performing any work for any 

business that is not a named Defendant in this action. Each notice must include 

his new business address and a statement of the nature of the business or 

employment and the nature of his duties and responsibilities in connection with 

that business or employment. 

 

XXVI. DEFENDANTS’ DUTY TO DISTRIBUTE ORDER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the PI Defendants shall immediately provide a 

copy of this Order to each affiliate, subsidiary, division, sales entity, successor, assign, 

officer, director, employee, independent contractor, client company, electronic data host, 

agent, authorized signatory to bank accounts, attorney, spouse, and representative of the PI 

Defendants and shall, within three calendar days from the date of entry of this Order, 

provide Plaintiff’s counsel with a sworn statement that: (a) confirms that the PI Defendants 
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have provided copies of the Order as required by this Section and (b) lists the names and 

addresses of each entity or person to whom the PI Defendants provided a copy of the Order. 

Furthermore, the PI Defendants shall not take any action that would encourage officers, 

agents, directors, employees, salespersons, independent contractors, attorneys, subsidiaries, 

affiliates, successors, assigns, or other persons or entities in active concert or participation 

with the PI Defendants to disregard this Order or believe that they are not bound by its 

provisions. 

XXVII. CORRESPONDENCE WITH PLAINTIFF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purposes of this Order, because mail 

addressed to the Bureau is subject to delay due to heightened security screening, all 

correspondence and service of pleadings on Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

shall be sent either via electronic submission or via overnight express delivery to: 

 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
ATTN: Laura Schneider 
Email: Laura.Schneider@cfpb.gov 
 
 

XXVIII. SERVICE OF THIS ORDER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order may be served by facsimile 

transmission, email, personal or overnight delivery, or US Mail, by Plaintiff’s agents and 

employees or any local, state, or federal law enforcement agency or by private process 

server, upon any financial institution or other entity or person that may have possession, 

custody, or control of any Documents or Assets of any Defendant, or that may otherwise be 

subject to any provision of this Order. Service upon any branch or office of any financial 

institution shall effect service upon the entire financial institution. 
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XXIX. EXPIRATION OF ORDER 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order will expire upon entry of a final 

judgment in this case. 

 

XXX. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter 

for all purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 DONE and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this 2nd day of September 

2015. 

                                                                
 
 
Copies furnished to: 
Edwin G. Torres, U.S. Magistrate Judge 
Counsel of Record 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT  

 
Instructions:  

1 Complete all items.  Enter “None” or “N/A” (“Not Applicable”) where appropriate.  If you cannot fully answer a 
question, explain why.   

2 “Dependents” include your live-in companion, dependent children, or any other person, whom you or your spouse (or 
your children’s other parent) claimed or could have claimed as a dependent for tax purposes at any time during the past five 
years.  

3 “Assets” and “Liabilities” include ALL assets and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, whether held 
individually or jointly.  

4 Attach continuation pages as needed. On the financial statement, state next to the Item number that the Item is being 
continued. On the continuation page(s), identify the Item number(s) being continued.   

5 Type or print legibly.  

6 Initial each page in the space provided in the lower right corner.  

7 Sign and date the completed financial statement on the last page.  
 
 
  
Penalty for False Information:  

Federal law provides that any person may be imprisoned for not more than five years, fined, or both, if such person in any:  

(a) “matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, 
knowingly and willfully (1) falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; (2) makes any false, 
fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation; or (3) makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to 
contain any false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry” (18 U.S.C. § 1001);  

(2) “statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code, willfully subscribes as 
true any material matter which he does not believe to be true” (18 U.S.C. § 1621); or  

(3) “(...statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code) in any proceeding 
before or ancillary to any court or grand jury of the United States knowingly makes any false material declaration or makes or 
uses any other information...knowing the same to contain any false material declaration.” (18 U.S.C. § 1623)  
 
For a felony conviction under the provisions cited above, federal law provides that the fine may be not more than the greater of 
(i) $250,000 for an individual or $500,000 for a corporation, or (ii) if the felony results in pecuniary gain to any person or 
pecuniary loss to any person other than the defendant, the greater of twice the gross gain or loss. 18 U.S.C. § 3571.  
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

Item 1.  Information About You  
 
Your Full Name ______________________________________________ Social Security No. ___________________ 
 
Place of Birth _________________________ Date of Birth _______________ Drivers License No. _______________  
 
Current Address ______________________________________________________ From (Date) _________________  
 
Rent or Own? _________ Telephone No. _________________________ Facsimile No. _________________________  
 
E-Mail Address _____________________________________ Internet Home Page ____________________________  
 
Previous Addresses for past five years:  
 
Address___________________________________________ Rent or Own?________ From/Until_________________  
 
Address___________________________________________ Rent or Own?________ From/Until_________________  
 
Identify any other name(s) and/or social security number(s) you have used, and the time period(s) during which they were  
 
used________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Marital Status:  ______________________ (i.e., Married, Single, Divorced, Widowed, Separated)  
 
Item 2.  Information About Your Spouse or Live-In Companion  
 
Spouse/Companion's Name _____________________________________ Social Security No. ___________________  
 
Place of Birth _________________________________________  Date of Birth _______________________________  
 
Identify any other name(s) and/or social security number(s) your spouse/companion has used, and the time period(s) during  
 
which they were used ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Address (if different from yours) _____________________________________________________________________  
 
From (Date) _________________________ Rent or Own?___________ Telephone No._________________________  
 
Employer’s Name and Address ______________________________________________________________________  
 
Job Title _______________________ Years in Present Job _________ Annual Gross Salary/Wages $______________  
 
 
Item 3.  Information About Your Previous Spouse  
 
Previous Spouse’s Name & Address __________________________________________________________________  
 
___________________________________ Social Security No. _________________ Date of Birth _______________  
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Item 4.  Contact Information  
 
Name & Address of Nearest Living Relative or Friend ___________________________________________________  
 
____________________________________________________________ Telephone No. ______________________  
 
Item 5.  Information About Dependents Who Live With You  
 
Name ______________________________________________ Date of Birth ________________________________  
 
Relationship _________________________________________ Social Security No. ____________________________  
 
Name ______________________________________________ Date of Birth ________________________________  
 
Relationship _________________________________________ Social Security No. ____________________________  
 
Name ______________________________________________ Date of Birth ________________________________  
 
Relationship _________________________________________ Social Security No. ____________________________  
 
Item 6.  Information About Dependents Who Do Not Live With You  
 
Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Date of Birth __________________ Relationship ____________________ Social Security No.___________________  
 
Name Address __________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Date of Birth __________________ Relationship ____________________  Social Security No.__________________  
 
Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Date of Birth __________________ Relationship ____________________  Social Security No.__________________  
 
Item 7.  Employment Information  
 
Provide the following information for this year-to-date and for each of the previous five full years, for each company of which 
you were a director, officer, employee, agent, contractor, participant or consultant at any time during that period. “Income” 
includes, but is not limited to, any salary, commissions, draws, consulting fees, loans, loan payments, dividends, royalties or 
other benefits for which you did not pay (e.g., health insurance premiums, automobile lease or loan payments) received by you 
or anyone else on your behalf.   
 
Company Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Dates Employed:  From (Month/Year) ________________________ To (Month/Year) _________________________  
 
Positions Held with Beginning and Ending Dates ________________________________________________________ 
 
Income Received:  This year-to-date:   $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 

20_____:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 
_______:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  
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Company Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Dates Employed:  From (Month/Year) ________________________ To (Month/Year) _________________________  
 
Positions Held with Beginning and Ending Dates ________________________________________________________  
 
Income Received:  This year-to-date:   $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 

20_____:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 
_______:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  

 
Company Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Dates Employed:  From (Month/Year) ________________________ To (Month/Year) _________________________  
 
Positions Held with Beginning and Ending Dates ________________________________________________________  
 
Income Received:  This year-to-date:   $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 

20_____:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  
 
_______:  $______________________ _______: $______________________  

 
Item 8.  Pending Lawsuits Filed by You or Your Spouse  
 
List all pending lawsuits that have been filed by you or your spouse in court or before an administrative agency.   
(List lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in Items 16 and 25).   
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address ___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address ___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No. _________________ Relief Requested ____________________ Nature of Lawsuit ___________________  
 
____________________________________ Status ______________________________________________________  
 
Item 9.  Pending Lawsuits Filed Against You or Your Spouse  
 
List all pending lawsuits that have been filed against you or your spouse in court or before an administrative agency.   
(List lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in Items 16 and 25).  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address ___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address ___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No. _________________ Relief Requested ____________________ Nature of Lawsuit ___________________ 
 
 ____________________________________ Status ______________________________________________________  
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Item 10.  Safe Deposit Boxes  
 
List all safe deposit boxes, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by you, your spouse, or any of your dependents, 
or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or any of your dependents.  On a separate page, describe the contents of 
each box. 
 
Owner’s Name   Name & Address of Depository Institution     Box No.  
________________ _______________________________________________ ________________________ 
 
_______________ ____________________________________________ ______________________ 
 
Item 11.  Business Interests  
 
List all businesses for which you, your spouse, or your dependents are an officer or director.  
 
Business’ Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Business Format (e.g., corporation) __________________________ Description of Business _____________________  
 
______________________________ Position(s) Held, and By Whom _______________________________________  
 
Business’ Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Business Format (e.g., corporation) __________________________ Description of Business _____________________  
 
______________________________ Position(s) Held, and By Whom _______________________________________  
 
Business’ Name & Address ________________________________________________________________________  
 
Business Format (e.g., corporation) __________________________ Description of Business _____________________  
 
______________________________ Position(s) Held, and By Whom _______________________________________ 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
REMINDER: “Assets” and “Liabilities” include ALL assets and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, 
whether held individually or jointly.  
 
Item 12.  Cash, Bank, and Money Market Accounts  
 
List cash and all bank and money market accounts, including but not limited to, checking accounts, savings accounts, and 
certificates of deposit, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or 
your dependents.  The term “cash” includes currency and uncashed checks.   
 
Cash on Hand $____________________________ Cash Held For Your Benefit  $____________________________  
 
Name on Account  Name & Address of Financial Institution   Account No.   Current Balance  
 
_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
 
_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
 
_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
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_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
 
_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
 
_________________ __________________________________________________ _______________ $__________  
 
 
Item 13.  U.S. Government Securities  
 
List all U.S. Government securities, including but not limited to, savings bonds, treasury bills, and treasury notes, held by you, 
your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Name on Account  Type of Obligation    Security Amount   Maturity Date 
____________________ ________________________   $________________   _____________  
 
___________________  ________________________    $________________   _____________  
 
___________________ _________________________  $________________   _____________    
 
Item 14.  Publicly Traded Securities and Loans Secured by Them  
 
List all publicly traded securities, including but not limited to, stocks, stock options, registered and bearer bonds, state 
and municipal bonds, and mutual funds, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the 
benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.   
 
Issuer _______________________________ Type of Security __________________ No. of Units Owned ________  
 
Name on Security _________________ Current Fair Market Value $______ Loan(s) Against Security $__________  
 
Broker House,  Address _____________________________________________ Broker Account No. ____________  
 
Item 15.  Other Business Interests  
 
List all other business interests, including but not limited to, non-public corporations, subchapter-S corporations, 
limited liability corporations (“LLCs”), general or limited partnership interests, joint ventures, sole proprietorships, 
and oil and mineral leases, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, 
your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Business Format _____________________________ Business’ Name & Address____________________________  
 
_________________________________________________________________________ Ownership % ________ 
 
Owner (e.g., self, spouse) ________________________________ Current Fair Market Value $_________________  
 
Item 16.  Monetary Judgments or Settlements Owed to You, Your Spouse, or Your Dependents  
 
List all monetary judgments or settlements owed to you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address__________________________________________________________________  
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Court’s Name & Address __________________________________________________  
 
Docket No. _______________ Nature of Lawsuit ______________________________  
 
Date of Judgment _______________ Amount $____________ 
 
Item 17.  Other Amounts Owed to You, Your Spouse, or Your Dependents  
 
List all other amounts owed to you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Debtor’s Name, Address, & Telephone No. _________________________________________________________  
 
Original Amount Owed $_____________ Current Amount Owed $____________ Monthly Payment $____________  
 
Item 18.  Life Insurance Policies  
 
List all life insurance policies held by you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Insurance Company’s Name, Address, & Telephone No._________________________________________________  
 
Insured ________________________ Beneficiary _______________________ Face Value $___________________  
 
Policy No. _________________ Loans Against Policy $________________ Surrender Value $_________________  
 
Insurance Company’s Name, Address, & Telephone No.________________________________________________  
 
Insured ________________________ Beneficiary _______________________ Face Value $___________________  
 
Policy No. _________________ Loans Against Policy $________________ Surrender Value $__________________  
 
Item 19.  Deferred Income Arrangements  
 
List all deferred income arrangements, including but not limited to, deferred annuities, pensions plans, profit-sharing 
plans, 401(k) plans, IRAs, Keoghs, and other retirement accounts, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or 
held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Name on Account _________________________ Type of Plan ___________________ Date Established _________  
 
Trustee or Administrator’s Name, Address & Telephone No.______________________________________________  
 
Account No. ______________________ Surrender Value $___________________  
 
Name on Account _________________________ Type of Plan ___________________ Date Established__________  
 
Trustee or Administrator’s Name, Address & Telephone No.______________________________________________  
 
Account No. ______________________ Surrender Value $___________________  
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Item 20.  Personal Property  
 
List all personal property, by category, whether held for personal use or for investment, including but not limited to, 
furniture and household goods of value, computer equipment, electronics, coins, stamps, artwork, gemstones, jewelry, 
bullion, other collectibles, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual property, held by you, your spouse, or your 
dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Property Category   Name of Owner  Property Location Acquisition Current 
(e.g., artwork, jewelry)         Cost   Value  
___________________ __________________ _______________ $_________ $________ 
 
___________________ __________________ _______________ $_________ $________ 
 
___________________ __________________ _______________ $_________ $________ 
 
___________________ __________________ _______________ $_________ $________ 
 
___________________ __________________ _______________ $_________ $________ 
 
 
 
Item 21.  Cars, Trucks, Motorcycles, Boats, Airplanes, and Other Vehicles  
 
List all cars, trucks, motorcycles, boats, airplanes, and other vehicles owned or operated by you, your spouse, or your 
dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Vehicle Type __________________ Make ____________________ Model ______________________ Year_______  
 
Registered Owner’s Name __________________________ Registration State & No.__________________________  
 
Address of Vehicle’s Location _____________________________________________________________________  
 
Purchase Price $_______________Current Value $_______________ Account/Loan No._______________________  
 
Lender’s Name and Address_______________________________________________________________________  
 
Original Loan Amount $______________ Current Loan Balance $______________   Monthly Payment $_________  
 
Mileage ________________  Current condition of car ________________________  Purchase date ______________ 
 
 
Vehicle Type __________________ Make ____________________ Model ______________________ Year ______  
 
Registered Owner’s Name __________________________  Registration State & No. _________________________  
 
Address of Vehicle’s Location _____________________________________________________________________  
 
Purchase Price $_______________Current Value $_______________ Account/Loan No._______________________  
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Lender’s Name and Address_______________________________________________________________________  
 
Original Loan Amount $______________ Current Loan Balance $______________   Monthly Payment $_________  
 
Mileage ________________  Current condition of car ________________________  Purchase date ______________ 
 
Item 22.  Real Property  
 
List all real estate held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, 
or your dependents.   
 
Type of Property________________________________ Property’s Location_______________________________  
 
Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages__________________________________________________________  
 
Acquisition Date________________ Purchase Price $____________________ Current Value $_________________  
 
Basis of Valuation_______________________________________ Loan or Account No._______________________  
 
Lender’s Name and Address_______________________________________________________________________  
 
Current Balance On First Mortgage $__________________ Monthly Payment $__________  
 
Other Loan(s) (describe)_________________________________________ Current Balance $_________________  
 
Monthly Payment $__________________ Rental Unit?_________________ Monthly Rent Received $___________  
 
Type of Property________________________________ Property’s Location_______________________________  
 
Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages__________________________________________________________  
 
Acquisition Date________________ Purchase Price $____________________ Current Value $_________________  
 
Basis of Valuation_______________________________________ Loan or Account No._______________________  
 
Lender’s Name and Address_______________________________________________________________________  
 
Current Balance On First Mortgage $__________________ Monthly Payment $__________  
 
Other Loan(s) (describe)_________________________________________ Current Balance $_________________  
 
Monthly Payment $__________________ Rental Unit?_________________ Monthly Rent Received $___________  
 
Item 23.  Credit Cards  
 
List each credit card held by you, your spouse, or your dependents.  Also list any other credit cards that you, your 
spouse, or your dependents use.   
 
Name of Credit Card (e.g., Visa,  Account No.   Name(s) on  Current  Minimum  
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MasterCard, Department Store)     Account  Balance  Monthly Payment  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
_______________________ __________________ _________________ $____________ $________________  
 
Item 24.  Taxes Payable  
 
List all taxes, such as income taxes or real estate taxes, owed by you, your spouse, or your dependants.  
 
Type of Tax     Amount Owed    Year Incurred 
_______________________________ $__________________________ ___________________  
 
_______________________________ $__________________________ ___________________  
 
_______________________________ $__________________________ ___________________  
 
_______________________________ $__________________________ ___________________  
 
Item 25.  Judgments or Settlements Owed  
 
List all judgments or settlements owed by you, your spouse, or your dependents.  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address__________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________   
 
Docket No._____________ Nature of Lawsuit_______________________________________   
 
Date______________ Amount $______________  
 
Item 26.  Other Loans and Liabilities  
 
List all other loans or liabilities in your, your spouse’s, or your dependents’ names.   
 
Name & Address of Lender/Creditor ________________________________________________________________  
 
Nature of Liability___________________________________ Name(s) on Liability__________________________  
 
Date of Liability___________________ Amount Borrowed $________________ Current Balance $______________  
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Payment Amount $_____________________ Frequency of Payment_____________________  
 
Name & Address of Lender/Creditor ________________________________________________________________  
 
Nature of Liability_____________________________________ Name(s) on Liability_________________________  
 
Date of Liability___________________ Amount Borrowed $________________ Current Balance $______________  
 
Payment Amount $_____________________ Frequency of Payment_____________________  
 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 27.  Tax Returns  
 
List all federal tax returns that were filed during the last three years by or on behalf of you, your spouse, or your 
dependents. Provide a copy of each signed tax return that was filed during the last three years.  
 
Tax Year   Name(s) on Return        Refund Expected 
___________ ____________________________________________________________ $_______________  
 
___________ ____________________________________________________________ $_______________  
 
___________ ____________________________________________________________ $_______________  
 
Item 28.  Applications for Credit  
 
List all applications for bank loans or other extensions of credit that you, your spouse, or your dependents have 
submitted within the last two years.  Provide a copy of each application, including all attachments.  
 
Name(s) on Application   Name & Address of Lender  
________________________  ____________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________  ____________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Item 29.  Trusts and Escrows  
 
List all funds or other assets that are being held in trust or escrow by any person or entity for you, your spouse, or 
your dependents. Also list all funds or other assets that are being held in trust or escrow by you, your spouse, or your 
dependents, for any person or entity.  Provide copies of all executed trust documents.  
 
Trustee or Escrow Agent’s   Date   Grantor   Beneficiaries   Present Market  
Name & Address    Established        Value of Assets  
 
______________________________ ______________ _________________ ______________ $______________  
 
______________________________ ______________ _________________ ______________ $______________  
 
______________________________ ______________ _________________ ______________ $______________  
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______________________________ ______________ _________________ ______________ $______________  
 
______________________________ ______________ _________________ ______________ $______________  
 
 
Item 30.  Transfers of Assets  
 
List each person to whom you have transferred, in the aggregate, more than $2,500 in funds or other assets during the 
previous three years by loan, gift, sale, or other transfer.  For each such person, state the total amount transferred 
during that period.  
 
Transferee’s Name, Address, & Relationship  Property  Aggregate  Transfer  Type of Transfer 

Transferred  Value Date    (e.g., Loan, Gift)  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _______________ 
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL SCHEDULES 
 
Item 31.  Combined Balance Sheet for You, Your Spouse, and Your Dependents  
  
ASSETS   LIABILITIES   
Cash on Hand (Item 12) 
 

 Credit Cards (Item 23)   

Cash in Financial 
Institutions (Item 12) 

 Motor Vehicles - Liens 
(Item 21)  

 

U.S. Government 
Securities (Item 13) 

 Real Property - 
Encumbrances (Item 22)  

 

Publicly Traded Securities 
(Item 14) 

 Loans Against Publicly 
Traded Securities (Item 14)  

 

Other Business Interests 
(Item 15) 

 Taxes Payable (Item 24)   

Judgments or Settlements 
Owed to You (Item 16) 

 Judgments or Settlements 
Owed (Item 25)  

 

Other Amounts Owed to 
You (Item 17) 

   

Surrender Value of Life 
Insurance (Item 18) 

 Other Loans and Liabilities 
(Item 26)  

 

Deferred Income 
Arrangements (Item 19) 

   

Personal Property (Item 20) 
 

 Other Liabilities (Itemize):  

Motor Vehicles (Item 21) 
 

   

Real Property (Item 22) 
 

   

 
 

   

Other Assets (Itemize): 
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Item 32.  Combined Average Monthly Income and Expenses for You, Your Spouse, and Your Dependents for 
the Last 6 Months  
 
Provide the average monthly income and expenses for you, your spouse, and your dependents for the last 6 months.  
Do not include credit card payments separately; rather, include credit card expenditures in the appropriate categories.

 
            

  

INCOME   EXPENSES   
Salary - After Taxes  $___________  Mortgage Payments for Residence(s)  $___________  
Fees, Commissions, and 
Royalties  

$___________  Property Taxes for Residence(s)  $___________  

  Rental Property Expenses, Including   
Interest  $___________  Mortgage Payments, Taxes, and Insurance  $___________  
  Car or Other Vehicle Lease or Loan   
Dividends and Capital Gains  $___________  Payments  $___________  
Gross Rental Income  $___________  Food Expenses  $___________  
Profits from Sole Proprietorships  $___________  Clothing Expenses  $___________  
Distributions from Partnerships,     
S-Corporations, and LLCs  $___________  Utilities  $___________  
Distributions from Trusts and     
Estates  $___________  Medical Expenses, Including Insurance  $___________  
Distributions from Deferred     
Income Arrangements  $___________  Other Insurance Premiums  $___________  
Social Security Payments  $___________  Other Transportation Expenses  $___________  
Alimony/Child Support 
Received  

$___________  Other Household Expenses  $___________  

Gambling Income  $___________  Other Expenses (Itemize)   
Other Income (Itemize)   _________________________________  $___________  
__________________________  $___________  _________________________________  $___________  
__________________________  $___________  _________________________________  $___________  
__________________________  $___________  _________________________________  $___________  
Total Income  $ ___________  Total Expenses  $___________   
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ATTACHMENTS 
 
Item 33.  Documents Attached to this Financial Statement  
 
List all documents that are being submitted with this financial statement.  
 
Item No. Document   Description of Document  
Relates To  
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

I am submitting this financial statement with the understanding that it may affect action by the Federal Trade 
Commission or a federal court.  I have used my best efforts to obtain the information requested in this statement.  The responses 
I have provided to the items above are true and contain all the requested facts and information of which I have notice or 
knowledge. I have provided all requested documents in my custody, possession, or control.  I know of the penalties for false 
statements under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, 18 U.S.C. § 1621, and 18 U.S.C. § 1623 (five years imprisonment and/or fines). I certify 
under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is true and correct.  
 
Executed on:  
 
 
______________  _______________________________________________________________________ 
 (Date)     Signature  
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 CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF CORPORATE DEFENDANT  
 
 
Instructions:  
1 Complete all items.  Enter “None” or "N/A" (“Not Applicable”) where appropriate.  If you cannot fully answer a 
question, explain why.  

2 In completing this financial statement, “the corporation” refers not only to this corporation but also to each of its 
predecessors that are not named defendants in this action.  

3 When an Item asks for information about assets or liabilities “held by the corporation,” include ALL such assets and 
liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the corporation or held by others for the benefit of the 
corporation.  

4 Attach continuation pages as needed. On the financial statement, state next to the Item number that the Item is being 
continued. On the continuation page(s), identify the Item number being continued.   

5 Type or print legibly.  

6 An officer of the corporation must sign and date the completed financial statement on the last page and initial each page in 
the space provided in the lower right corner.  
 
 
  
Penalty for False Information:  

Federal law provides that any person may be imprisoned for not more than five years, fined, or both, if such person in any:  

(a) “matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, 
knowingly and willfully – (1) falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; (2) makes any false, 
fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation; or (3) makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to 
contain any false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry” (18 U.S.C. § 1001);  

(2) “statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code, willfully subscribes as true 
any material matter which he does not believe to be true” (18 U.S.C. § 1621); or  

(3) “(...statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code) in any proceeding 
before or ancillary to any court or grand jury of the United States knowingly makes any false material declaration or makes or 
uses any other information...knowing the same to contain any false material declaration.” (18 U.S.C. § 1623)  
 
For a felony conviction under the provisions cited above, federal law provides that the fine may be not more than the greater of (i) 
$250,000 for an individual or $500,000 for a corporation, or (ii) if the felony results in pecuniary gain to any person or pecuniary 
loss to any person other than the defendant, the greater of twice the gross gain or loss. 18 U.S.C. § 3571.  
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

Item 1.  General Information  

Corporation’s Full Name ___________________________________________________________________________  

Primary Business Address ______________________________________________________ From (Date) _________  

Telephone No. _____________________________ Fax No. _____________________________ 
 
E-Mail Address________________________ Internet Home Page________________________  

 
All other current addresses & previous addresses for past five years, including post office boxes and mail drops: 
 
Address____________________________________________________________ From/Until____________________  
 
Address____________________________________________________________ From/Until____________________  
 
Address____________________________________________________________ From/Until____________________  
 
All predecessor companies for past five years:  
 
Name & Address _________________________________________________________ From/Until ______________  
 
Name & Address _________________________________________________________ From/Until ______________  
 
Name & Address _________________________________________________________ From/Until ______________  

Item 2.  Legal Information  
 
Federal Taxpayer ID No. _________________________ State & Date of Incorporation _________________________  
 
State Tax ID No. ____________________ State ________________ Profit or Not For Profit _____________________  
 
Corporation’s Present Status:  Active ________________ Inactive _______________ Dissolved __________________  
 
If dissolved: Date dissolved _________________________ By Whom ______________________________________  
 
Reasons _________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Fiscal Year-End (Mo./Day) ________________ Corporation’s Business Activities _____________________________  

Item 3.  Registered Agent  

Name of Registered Agent __________________________________________________________________________  
 
Address __________________________________________________________ Telephone No. __________________  
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Item 4.  Principal Stockholders 
 
List all persons and entities that own at least 5% of the corporation’s stock.  
 
Name     Address      % Owned  
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
 
Item 5.  Board Members  
 
List all members of the corporation’s Board of Directors.   
 
Name     Address      % Owned  Term (From/Until)  
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ __________ 
 
 
Item 6.  Officers  
 
List all of the corporation’s officers, including de facto officers (individuals with significant management responsibility whose 
titles do not reflect the nature of their positions).  
 
Name     Address      % Owned 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
Item 7.  Businesses Related to Corporation  
 
List all corporations, partnerships, and other business entities in which this corporation has an ownership interest.  
 
Name     Address     Business Activities   % Owned  
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ _________  __________ 

 
______________________ ___________________________ ______________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________ ______________________ __________ 
 
State which of these businesses, if any, has ever transacted business with the corporation _______________________  
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Item 8.  Businesses Related to Individuals  
 
List all corporations, partnerships, and other business entities in which the corporation’s principal stockholders, board members, 
or officers (i.e., the individuals listed in Items 4 - 6 above) have an ownership interest.  
 
Individual’s Name   Business Name   Address   Business Activities  % Owned  
___________________  ___________________  _________________ ________________ ________ 

 
___________________  ____________________ _________________ ________________ ________ 
 
___________________  ____________________ _________________ ________________ ________ 
 
State which of these businesses, if any, have ever transacted business with the corporation _______________________  
 
Item 9.  Related Individuals  
 
List all related individuals with whom the corporation has had any business transactions during the three previous fiscal years and 
current fiscal year-to-date.  A “related individual” is a spouse, sibling, parent, or child of the principal stockholders, board 
members, and officers (i.e., the individuals listed in Items 4 - 6 above).  
 
Name     Address     Relationship   Business Activities  
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ ____  _________________ 

 
______________________ ___________________________ _________________ _________________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________ __________________ _________________ 
 
 
Item 10.  Outside Accountants  
 
List all outside accountants retained by the corporation during the last three years.  
 
Name     Firm Name     Address    CPA/PA? 
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ _________  __________ 

 
______________________ ___________________________ ______________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________ ______________________ __________ 
 
Item 11.  Corporation’s Recordkeeping  
 
List all individuals within the corporation with responsibility for keeping the corporation’s financial books and records for the last 
three years.   
Name    Address    Telephone Number  Position(s) Held  
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ ____  ________________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ ____  ________________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________ _____________ ____  ________________ 
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Item 12.  Attorneys  
 
List all attorneys retained by the corporation during the last three years.  
Name     Firm Name      Address  
______________________ ___________________________________ _________________________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ _________________________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ _________________________ 
 
Item 13.  Pending Lawsuits Filed By Corporation  
 
List all pending lawsuits that have been filed by the corporation in court or before an administrative agency.   
(List lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in favor of the corporation in Item 25).    
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
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Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________   
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________   
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________ 
 
Item 14.  Current Lawsuits Filed Against Corporation  
 
List all pending lawsuits that have been filed against the corporation in court or before an administrative agency.   
(List lawsuits that resulted in final judgments, settlements, or orders in Items 26 - 27).  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
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Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________________  
 
Docket No._________________ Relief Requested____________________ Nature of Lawsuit____________________  
 
____________________________________ Status______________________________________________________  
 
 
Item 15.  Bankruptcy Information  
 
List all state insolvency and federal bankruptcy proceedings involving the corporation.  
 
Commencement Date _________________ Termination Date _________________ Docket No. __________________  
 
If State Court: Court & County _______________________ If Federal Court: District __________________________  
 
Disposition ______________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Item 16.  Safe Deposit Boxes  
 
List all safe deposit boxes, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the corporation, or held by others for the  
 
benefit of the corporation. On a separate page, describe the contents of each box.  
 
Owner’s Name    Name and Address of Depository Institution Box No. 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
______________________ ___________________________________ __________ 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

REMINDER: When an Item asks for information about assets or liabilities “held by the corporation,” include ALL such 
assets and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the corporation or held by others for the 
benefit of the corporation.  
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Item 17.  Tax Returns  
 
List all federal and state corporate tax returns filed for the last three complete fiscal years.  Attach copies of all returns.  
 
Federal/State/Both Tax Year Tax Due 

Federal 
Tax Paid 
Federal 

Tax Due State Tax Paid State Preparer’s 
Name 

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
 

      

 
Item 18.  Financial Statements  
 
List all financial statements that were prepared for the corporation’s last three complete fiscal years and for the current 
fiscal year-to-date.  Attach copies of all statements, providing audited statements if available.  
 
Year Balance Sheet Profit and Loss 

Statement 
Cash Flow 
Statement 

Changes in 
Owner’s Equity 

Audited? 

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
Item 19.  Financial Summary  
 
For each of the last three complete fiscal years and for the current fiscal year-to-date for which the corporation has not 
provided a profit and loss statement in accordance with Item 18 above, provide the following summary financial 
information.  
 
 Current Year-to-Date 1 Year Ago 2 Years Ago 3 Years Ago 
Gross Revenue 
 

$ $ $ $ 

Expenses 
 

$ $ $ $ 

Net Profit After 
Taxes 

$ $ $ $ 

Payables 
 

$    

Receivables 
 

$    
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Item 20.  Cash, Bank, and Money Market Accounts  
 
List cash and all bank and money market accounts, including but not limited to, checking accounts, savings accounts, and 
certificates of deposit, held by the corporation.  The term “cash” includes currency and uncashed checks.   
 
Cash on Hand $_________________________ Cash Held for the Corporation’s Benefit $_______________________  
 
Name & Address of 
Financial Institution 

Signator(s) on Account Account No. Current Balance 

 
 

  $ 

 
 

  $ 

 
 

  $ 

 
Item 21.  Government Obligations and Publicly Traded Securities  
 
List all U.S. Government obligations, including but not limited to, savings bonds, treasury bills, or treasury notes, held by the 
corporation. Also list all publicly traded securities, including but not limited to, stocks, stock options, registered and bearer bonds, 
state and municipal bonds, and mutual funds, held by the corporation.   
 
Issuer _________________________________ Type of Security/Obligation __________________________________  
 
No. of Units Owned __________ Current Fair Market Value $__________________ Maturity Date _______________  
 
Issuer _________________________________ Type of Security/Obligation __________________________________  
 
No. of Units Owned __________ Current Fair Market Value $__________________ Maturity Date _______________  
 
Item 22.  Real Estate  
 
List all real estate, including leaseholds in excess of five years, held by the corporation.   
 
Type of Property________________________________ Property’s Location__________________________________  
 
Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages___________________________________________________________  
 
Current Value $____________________  Loan or Account No. __________________________  
 
Lender’s Name and Address_________________________________________________________________________  
 
Current Balance On First Mortgage $_______________ Monthly Payment $______________  
 
Other Loan(s) (describe)____________________________________________ Current Balance $_________________  
 
Monthly Payment $__________________ Rental Unit?_________________ Monthly Rent Received $_____________  
 
Type of Property________________________________ Property’s Location__________________________________  
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Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages___________________________________________________________  
 
Current Value $____________________  Loan or Account No. __________________________  
 
Lender’s Name and Address_________________________________________________________________________  
 
Current Balance On First Mortgage $_______________ Monthly Payment $______________  
 
Other Loan(s) (describe)____________________________________________ Current Balance $_________________  
 
Monthly Payment $__________________ Rental Unit?_________________ Monthly Rent Received $_____________ 
 
Item 23.  Other Assets  
 
List all other property, by category, with an estimated value of $2,500 or more, held by the corporation, including but not limited 
to, inventory, machinery, equipment, furniture, vehicles, customer lists, computer software, patents, and other  
intellectual property.  
 
Property Category   Property Location      Acquisition  Current  

Cost   Value  
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
____________________________ _____________________________________________ $__________ $_________  
 
Item 24.  Trusts and Escrows  
 
List all persons and other entities holding funds or other assets that are in escrow or in trust for the corporation.   
 
Trustee or Escrow Agent’s     Description and Location of Assets   Present Market  
Name & Address           Value of Assets  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
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______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________  
 
______________________________________ _______________________________________ $_________________ 
 
Item 25.  Monetary Judgments and Settlements Owed To the Corporation   
 
List all monetary judgments and settlements, recorded and unrecorded, owed to the corporation.   
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________  
 
Item 26.  Monetary Judgments and Settlements Owed By the Corporation  
 
List all monetary judgments and settlements, recorded and unrecorded, owed by the corporation.   
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit_______________________________________  Date______________ Amount $______________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________  
 
Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
 
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________  
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Opposing Party’s Name & Address___________________________________________________________________  
Court’s Name & Address____________________________________________________  Docket No._____________  
 
Nature of Lawsuit______________________________ Date of Judgment________________ Amount $____________ 
 
Item 27.  Government Orders and Settlements  
 
List all existing orders and settlements between the corporation and any federal or state government entities.  
 
Name of Agency ___________________________________________ Contact Person __________________________  
 
Address _____________________________________________________________ Telephone No. _______________  
 
Agreement Date ______________ Nature of Agreement __________________________________________________  
 
Item 28.  Credit Cards  
 
List all of the corporation’s credit cards and store charge accounts and the individuals authorized to use them.   
 
Name of Credit Card or Store     Names of Authorized Users and Positions Held  
 
______________________________________  __________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________  __________________________________________ 
 
_____________________________________  __________________________________________ 
 
Item 29.  Compensation of Employees  
 
List all compensation and other benefits received from the corporation by the five most highly compensated employees, 
independent contractors, and consultants (other than those individuals listed in Items 5 and 6 above), for the two previous fiscal 
years and current fiscal year-to-date.  “Compensation”  includes, but is not limited to, salaries, commissions, consulting fees, 
bonuses, dividends, distributions, royalties, pensions, and profit sharing plans.  “Other benefits” include, but are not limited to, 
loans, loan payments, rent, car payments, and insurance premiums, whether paid directly to the individuals, or paid to others on 
their behalf.  
 
Name/Position    Current Fiscal   1 Year Ago 2 Years Ago  Compensation or  

Year-to-Date       Type of Benefits  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
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Item 30.  Compensation of Board Members and Officers  
 
List all compensation and other benefits received from the corporation by each person listed in Items 5 and 6, for the current fiscal 
year-to-date and the two previous fiscal years.  “Compensation”  includes, but is not limited to, salaries, commissions, consulting 
fees, dividends, distributions, royalties, pensions, and profit sharing plans.  “Other benefits” include, but are not limited to, loans, 
loan payments, rent, car payments, and insurance premiums, whether paid directly to the individuals, or paid to others on their 
behalf.  
 
Name/Position    Current Fiscal   1 Year Ago 2 Years Ago  Compensation or  

Year-to-Date       Type of Benefits  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
_____________________________ $____________ $___________ $____________ ___________________________  
 
Item 31.  Transfers of Assets Including Cash and Property  
 
List all transfers of assets over $2,500 made by the corporation, other than in the ordinary course of business, during the previous 
three years, by loan, gift, sale, or other transfer.   
Transferee’s Name, Address, & Relationship  Property  Aggregate   Transfer  Type of Transfer 

Transferred  Value    Date   (e.g., Loan, Gift)  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _________________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _________________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _________________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _________________  
 
______________________________________ ________________ $____________ __________ _________________  
 
Item 32.  Documents Attached to Financial Statement  
 
List all documents that are being submitted with the financial statement. 
 
Item No. Document  Description of Document  
Relates To  
_____________  ________________________________________________________ 
 
_____________  ________________________________________________________ 
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I am submitting this financial statement with the understanding that it may affect action by the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau or a federal court.  I have used my best efforts to obtain the information requested in this statement.  The 
responses I have provided to the items above are true and contain all the requested facts and information of which I have notice or 
knowledge. I have provided all requested documents in my custody, possession, or control.  I know of the penalties for false 
statements under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, 18 U.S.C. § 1621, and 18 U.S.C. § 1623 (five years imprisonment and/or fines). I certify 
under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is true and correct.  
 
Executed on:  
______________________     _________________________________   
(Date)         Signature  
 

_________________________________ 
Corporate Position 

               
 
 
 

Case 1:15-cv-23070-MGC   Document 28   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/02/2015   Page 65 of 67



 
 

Attachment C 

Case 1:15-cv-23070-MGC   Document 28   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/02/2015   Page 66 of 67



CONSENT TO RELEASE FINANCIAL RECORDS 
 
I, ____________________________________, of ________________________ 

___________________________________________ (City, State), do hereby direct any bank, 

saving and loan association, credit union, depository institution, finance company, commercial 

lending company, credit card processor, credit card processing entity, automated clearing house, 

network transaction processor, bank debit processing entity, brokerage house, escrow agent, 

money market or mutual fund, title company, commodity trading company, trustee, or person that 

holds, controls, or maintains custody of assets, wherever located, that are owned or controlled by 

me or at which there is an account of any kind upon which I am authorized to draw, and its officers, 

employees, and agents, to disclose all information and deliver copies of all documents of very 

nature in its possession or control which relate to the said accounts to any attorney of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, and to give evidence relevant thereto, in the matter of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Moseley, et al., now pending in the United States 

District Court for the Western District of Missouri, and this shall be irrevocable authority for so 

doing. 

This direction is intended to apply to the laws of countries other than the Unites States of 

America which restrict or prohibit disclosure of bank or other financial information without the 

consent of the holder of the account, and shall be construed as consent with respect hereto, and the 

same shall apply to any of the accounts for which I may be a relevant principal. 

 

Dated:____________________________ Signature:_________________________________ 

Printed Name:______________________________ 
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Act ("FCRA"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 16815-2(a)(8)(E) and 1681s-2(b). Under sections 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 

II 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, Section 814(b) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

16921(b), and Section 621(b)(1)(H) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1)(H). 

III 

Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the 

Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have consented to the issuance of this Consent 

Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 

5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, 

except that Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction 

over Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

The following definitions must apply to this Consent Order: 

3. "Board" means the duly elected and acting Boards of Directors of Encore 

Capital Group, Inc., Midland Funding, LLC, Midland Credit Management, Inc., and Asset 
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Acceptance Capital Corp. 

4. "Charge-off' means the treatment of a receivable balance by a Creditor as a 

loss or expense because payment is unlikely. 

5. "Charge-off Balance" means the amount alleged due on an account 

receivable at the time of Charge-off. 

6. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

a. as to written information, written in a type size and location sufficient 

for an ordinary Consumer to read and comprehend it, and disclosed in a 

manner that would be easily recognizable and understandable in 

language and syntax to an ordinary Consumer. If the information is 

contained in a multi-page print document, the disclosure appears on the 

first page; and 

b. as to information presented orally, spoken and disclosed in a volume, 

cadence and syntax sufficient for an ordinary Consumer to hear and 

comprehend. 

7. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to 

pay any Debt. 

8. "Creditor" means any person who offers or extends credit creating a Debt or 

to whom a Debt is owed, but such term does not include any person to the extent that that 

person receives an assignment or transfer of a debt in default solely for the purpose of 

facilitating collection of such Debt for another. 

9. "Debt" means any obligation or alleged obligation of a Consumer to pay 
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money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance or services 

which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 

10. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

11. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

12. "Original Account-Level Documentation" means 

a. any documentation that a Creditor or that Creditor's agent (such as a 

servicer) provided to a Consumer about a Debt; 

b. a complete transactional history of a Debt, created by a Creditor or that 

Creditor's agent (such as a servicer); or 

c. a copy of a judgment, awarded to a Creditor or entered on or before the 

Effective Date. 

13. "Legal Collection" means any collection efforts made by any internal legal 

department or a third-party law firm to collect a Debt owed or allegedly owed to Encore, 

including but not limited to sending letters on law firm letterhead and filing Debt 

collection lawsuits, but does not include any post-judgment collection efforts. 

14. "Encore" means Encore Capital Group, Inc., as well as its current (as of the 

Effective Date) or former, direct or indirect, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, divisions, or 

branches, and all of their successors and assigns, that are directly or indirectly engaged in 

the purchase, transfer, or collection of U.S. Consumer receivables, including, but not 

limited to, Midland Funding, LLC, Midland Credit Management, Inc., and Asset 
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Acceptance Capital Corp. 

15. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more Consumers or an enforcement action by another government agency brought 

against Encore based on substantially the same facts as set forth in Section V of this 

Consent Order. 

16. "Relevant Time Period" means the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective 

Date. 

17. "Restitution Eligible Consumer" means any identified Consumer in the 

population of Consumers identified in Paragraphs 144 and 145 who made a payment, 

directly or indirectly, to Encore during the Relevant Time Period. 

18. "Time-Barred" when used to describe a Debt means any Debt that is beyond 

an applicable statute of limitations for a Debt collection lawsuit. 

V 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

19. Midland, MCM, and Asset are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Encore Capital 

and share common officers and directors with Encore Capital. Midland and MCM operate 

in concert with one another, and under the direct supervision and control of Encore 

Capital, to purchase and collect Consumer Debt on a massive scale. Asset was purchased 

by Encore in June 2013 and is currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of Encore. Encore is 

one of the largest Debt buyers and collectors in the United States. From 2009 to 2015, 

Encore's estimated gross collections totaled over $5 billion, with net income of more than 
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$384 million. 

20. At all times relevant to this Consent Order, Encore Capital, Midland, MCM, 

and Asset have collected Debt related to Consumer financial products or services. 

Accordingly, each Respondent is a "covered person" as defined by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). See also 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5) and (15)(A)(x). Each Respondent is also a "debt 

collector" as defined in Section 8o3(6) of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Midland, 

MCM, and Encore Capital are also each a person who "regularly and in the ordinary 

course of business furnishes information to one or more consumer reporting agencies" 

about Respondents' "transactions or experiences" with Consumers, as described in 

Section 623(a)(2)(A) of the FCRA, 15 § 16815-2(a)(2)(A), and are each a 

"furnisher" as defined in Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 1022.44(c). 

21. Encore sends collection letters by United States mail, calls Consumers from 

call centers in the United States, India, and Costa Rica, furnishes Consumer information 

to credit bureaus, and sues Consumers in state courts across the country. The vast 

majority of the Debt collection lawsuits Encore files go unanswered by Consumers and 

result in default judgments. 

ENCORE'S DEBT BUYING PRACTICES 

22. Encore purchases portfolios of old Consumer Debt from some of the 

nation's largest Consumer finance and telecommunications companies, and from other 

Debt buyers, for pennies on the dollar. These Debts primarily consist of charged-off 

Consumer credit card and telecommunications Debts, purchased at various points in time 

from the date of default. From 2009 to 2015, Encore paid about $4 billion for 
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approximately 6o million Consumer accounts with a total face value of $128 billion. 

23. When Encore purchases Debt portfolios, it has typically received an 

electronic spreadsheet, sometimes referred to as a "data file," from the seller that includes 

information about the Consumer, such as name, address, social security number, and 

information about the Debt, including the purported amount of the Debt, contract 

interest rate, and dates of origination and default. 

Sellers Disclaim the Accuracy and Enforceability of Debt They Sold to Encore 

24. Encore's purchase agreements with Debt sellers have typically limited, in 

varying degrees, the seller's responsibility for the accuracy and validity of the accounts in 

question. For example, a purchase agreement between Midland Funding and one large 

credit card issuer informed Encore that the account balance for over 35,000 individual 

accounts being sold in that transaction was an approximation: 

Current balance means the approximate unpaid balance. [Midland Funding] 
acknowledges that the figure provided as the current balance for any loan may 
include interest, accrued or unaccrued, costs, fees, and expenses, and it is possible 
that the figure provided as the current balance for any loan may not reflect credits 
for payments made by or on behalf of any obligor prior to the cutoff date. 

25. Other purchase agreements, such as one between Midland Funding and a 

large retailer, put Encore on notice that some of the accounts are likely past the applicable 

statutes of limitations for litigation or were previously disputed by Consumers: 

[Midland Funding] understands that Sellers believe but have not verified, that the 
statutes of limitations may have run on some but not all of the accounts. 

[Midland Funding] acknowledges that some accounts or certain transactions 
posted to some accounts may be subject to actual or potential claims or disputes by 
obligors against one or both of the Sellers or their affiliates. 
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26. In another example, a purchase agreement between Asset and a large 

finance company informed Encore that: 

[S]ome Accounts, or certain transactions posted to some Accounts, may be subject 
to actual or potential claims or disputes by Obligors against one or both of the 
Sellers or their affiliates... [Asset] understands that Sellers believe, but have not 
verified, that statutes of limitation may have run on some, if not all, of the 
Accounts. 

27. Debt sellers making these types of disclosures typically did not inform 

Encore which individual accounts in a given portfolio contain an approximate balance, 

are past the applicable statute of limitations for litigation, past the date of obsolescence 

for credit reporting, or were previously disputed by a Consumer. 

28. Debt purchase agreements have typically contained recitals that Encore is 

purchasing Consumer accounts after having conducted an independent evaluation as to 

the enforceability and collectability of the sold accounts. 

29. However, the only investigation typically taken by Encore prior to a Debt 

portfolio purchase has been to review the data file for facial anomalies such as a default 

date preceding an account open date or a Social Security number that is obviously a 

placeholder (e.g., made up of all the same numbers). 

30. In numerous instances, Debt sellers have provided data files to Encore 

containing inaccurate information as to the identity of the Consumer obligated to pay the 

Debt, the age of the Debt, the amount of the Debt, the interest rate, and other material 

information about the Debt. Nevertheless, Encore has continued purchasing Consumer 

Debt from these sellers. 

31. For example, from at least February 2010 to June 2013, one large credit 
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card bank sold Encore over 10,000 individual Consumer accounts with data files 

containing overstated interest rates. To date, Encore has continued to purchase Debt 

from this bank, knowing that records from this bank have been inaccurate to the 

detriment of the borrowers, without reviewing any account level documentation to verify 

that the information being provided by this seller is accurate. 

Sellers Disclaim the Availability of Documentation 

to Evidence the Debt they Sold to Encore 

32. Sellers typically have not provided Encore with any Consumer-level 

documentation about most individual Debts, such as account statements, records of 

payments, and the underlying contracts signed by the Consumers. Instead, if desired, 

Encore has had to order these documents from sellers, often at an additional cost to 

Encore. 

33. Further, purchase agreements typically state that sellers will provide 

documentation to evidence the Debt only "to the extent it is available." Some purchase 

agreements state that the seller will not provide any account level documents for certain 

portfolios or that documentation is available for only a percentage of the accounts and 

that sellers will not be in breach of their agreement with Encore because they cannot 

provide documentation. 

34. When Debt sellers have informed Encore in purchase agreements that 

documentation is only available for some accounts, they did not inform Encore which 

individual accounts in a given portfolio cannot be supported by account-level 

documentation 

35. In numerous instances, sellers have been unable to provide documentation 
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to Encore evidencing Consumers' responsibility for Debt Encore was collecting. 

Nevertheless, Encore has continued purchasing Consumer Debt from these sellers and 

collecting on that Debt without first conducting any investigation to determine whether 

the information in the data files is accurate. 

ENCORE'S PRACTICES RELATING TO CONSUMER DISPUTES 

36. Encore has received an average of 30,000 written disputes and complaints 

and 10,000 oral disputes and complaints directly from Consumers in a typical month 

relating to Encore's Debt collection and credit reporting. Another approximately 100,000 

Consumer disputes have come to Encore in a typical month through e-OSCAR, the web-

based communications system used by the nationwide Consumer reporting agencies to 

communicate with data furnishers regarding Consumer disputes. 

37. Encore has generally relied on Consumers to inform Encore when it was 

attempting to collect Debt based on inaccurate or erroneous information. It has required 

Consumers to report such disputes in writing within 45 days after Encore sends them a 

notice of Debt under Section 809 of the FDCPA ("Notice of Debt"). According to Encore's 

written policies and procedures, Encore requests account-level documentation from the 

seller of the Debt if Encore receives a written dispute from a Consumer within 45 days of 

sending a Notice of Debt. 

38. Encore has considered disputes received outside of 45 days "untimely" and 

has directed personnel responsible for handling these disputes not to investigate the 

disputes by requesting documentation from sellers but rather to "[i]nform the consumer 

that proof is required to support their claim." 
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39. Before Encore has investigated "untimely" claims that the Consumer 

previously paid the Debt, Encore has required the Consumer to produce a copy of a letter 

from a previous Debt owner stating that the Debt had been paid or settled, or a copy of 

the front and back of a canceled check along with a copy of a settlement offer in the same 

amount. 

40. Before Encore has investigated "untimely" claims that Encore was collecting 

an inaccurate amount, Encore has required the Consumer to produce a letter of 

investigation from the original Creditor, a copy of correspondence between the 

Consumer's attorney and the original Creditor, or a copy of account-level documentation, 

such as a monthly credit card statement dated after the account was charged-off, showing 

the balance alleged by the Consumer. 

41. Before Encore has investigated "untimely" claims that Encore is collecting 

from the wrong person, Encore has required the Consumer to produce a notarized 

affidavit swearing that the Consumer is a victim of identity theft, a police report, or a 

letter from the credit issuer determining that there was a fraud on the account. 

42. In numerous instances, Encore has told Consumers submitting "untimely" 

disputes that under the FDCPA, the Consumer has the burden of proving that he or she 

does not owe a Debt. Encore has often made this representation while threatening legal 

action and in response to disputes made under the FCRA. 

43. Encore collects disputed Debt itself and also assigns disputed Debt to law 

firms and third-party Debt collectors. In numerous instances, Encore has assigned 

disputed Debt to law firms and third-party Debt collectors without informing them that 

Page 11 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 11 of 63



the Debt is disputed and without forwarding correspondence it has received from 

Consumers in support of their disputes. As a result, law firms evaluating Encore accounts 

for litigation did not know which accounts are disputed, and disputing Consumers have 

been forced to re-start the dispute process each time Encore transfers a Debt. 

44. In numerous instances, Encore has instructed its law firms to abide by its 

dispute policies and only to close accounts with "untimely" disputes if the Consumer 

provides proof that he or she does not owe the Debt. This is even the case where 

documentation produced to Encore by a seller indicates that the Consumer does not owe 

a Debt. For example, Encore instructed one law firm to continue collecting on more than 

fifty accounts unless the Consumers could provide independent proof that the accounts 

had been paid, even though the monthly statements provided by the Debt sellers showed 

a zero balance. 

ENCORE COLLECTS DEBT WITHOUT A REASONABLE BASIS 

45. Despite the indicators described above regarding the inaccuracy of 

information produced by Debt sellers, Encore has generally relied upon the summary 

data files as the sole basis for its collection efforts and has only attempted to obtain 

account-level documentation evidencing the Debt in certain limited circumstances. Even 

when Encore has already been in possession of account-level documentation regarding 

the Debts it has collected, Encore generally did not review the documentation to ensure it 

was consistent with information in the data file. 

46. Encore has made the same claims to Consumers regarding Debt purchased 

from portfolios Encore has had reason to believe may contain inaccurate information as it 
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did regarding Debt purchased from more reliable sources. Encore has made the same 

claims to Consumers regarding Debt that Encore knew or had reason to believe cannot be 

supported by account-level documentation available to Encore as it did regarding Debt 

that can be supported by such documentation. 

47. Consumers being contacted by Encore regarding these Debts did not know 

that Encore knew or had reason to believe the information forming the basis for the claim 

may be inaccurate or unsupportable by underlying documentation. Consumers contacted 

by Encore regarding these Debts did not know when Encore knew or had reason to 

believe it lacked access to account-level documentation to support the claim. 

ENCORE'S LITIGATION PRACTICES 

Scattershot Litigation 

48. Encore has filed hundreds of thousands of lawsuits to collect Consumer 

Debt. Most of the Consumers sued by Encore are not represented by counsel. Encore has 

placed tens of thousands of accounts with law firms staffed by fewer than ten attorneys. 

For example, Encore placed over 100,000 accounts with Frederick J. Hanna and 

Associates, while that firm employed 1.6 attorneys. Encore has encouraged these law firms 

to file lawsuits on a large percentage of accounts, prohibited them from contacting 

previous owners of the Debt for account-level documentation, and discouraged them 

from requesting account-level documentation Encore did not deem necessary to settle a 

case or obtain a judgment. 

49. Prior to Encore Capital's purchase of Asset, much of Asset's legal collections 

were handled by a 24 attorney Debt collection law firm that operates in 12 states. This 

firm collected over $50,000,000 for Asset from October 2011 to October 2012, while 
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suing or threatening to sue approximately half a million Consumers allegedly indebted to 

Asset. 

50. When deciding whether to threaten or file suit, Encore's law firms have not 

known if a Debt seller has specifically disclaimed the accuracy of information in the data 

file, has notified Encore that documentation is unavailable or has notified Encore that a 

number of accounts in a portfolio are disputed or barred by the applicable statute of 

limitations. Law firms also have not known if the Consumer had disputed the Debt with 

Encore or provided detailed letters or documentary evidence questioning the validity of 

Encore's claim. 

51. In most states, Encore has threatened and filed suit before verifying that 

account-level documentation exists to substantiate its claim in court. In numerous 

instances, Encore has filed suit after requests for account-level documentation have been 

denied. 

52. Even when Encore has been able to obtain account-level documentation, 

that evidence is sometimes unreliable or inconsistent with information in the data file, or 

with the facts alleged in Encore's lawsuits. 

53. When Consumers have contested Encore's claims and Encore has lacked the 

account-level documentation necessary to obtain a judgment, Encore has instructed its 

attorneys to make one final attempt to convince the Consumer to settle before dismissing 

the claim. 

Misleading Affidavits 

54. In many jurisdictions, Encore has been able to obtain a settlement or a 
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default judgment against a Consumer using an affidavit as its only evidence. Many of 

these affidavits contain false or misleading testimony. 

55. For example, from at least 2011 to 2014, Encore has obtained tens of 

thousands of judgments against Consumers by submitting sworn affidavits representing 

that the Consumer defendants did not file a timely written dispute pursuant to Section 

809 of the FDCPA and stating that pursuant to the FDCPA, the Debt is therefore 

"assumed valid." 

56. In fact, Section 809(a)(3) of the FDCPA states that a Debt collector's Notice 

of Debt must inform a Consumer that Debts will be "assumed to be valid by the debt 

collector" (emphasis added) if they are not disputed pursuant to that section. Section 

809(c) of the FDCPA expressly states that "[t]he failure of a consumer to dispute the 

validity of a debt [after receiving a notice under Section 809 from the collector] may not 

be construed by any court as an admission of liability by the consumer." 15 U.S.C. § 

1692g(c). 

57. In thousands of cases, for which Encore possessed no account-level 

documentation evidencing the Consumer's responsibility for the Debt, Encore obtained a 

settlement or judgement based solely on an affidavit referencing the Consumer's failure 

to dispute the Debt. 

58. Encore has routinely submitted affidavits without attaching supporting 

documentation, in which the affiant swears that he or she has reviewed account-level 

business records concerning the Consumer's account when that is not the case. 

59. However, in most instances, these representations have been made when 
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affiants have merely reviewed a computer screen containing the scant information 

produced by sellers in data files and not after a review of any account level documents 

such as account applications, terms and conditions of contracts, payment histories, 

monthly credit card statements, charge slips, or bills of sale reflecting Encore's ownership 

of the account. 

6o. Encore has routinely requested and used affidavits from sellers that contain 

false or misleading statements regarding the seller's review of unattached records. For 

example, numerous Encore purchase agreements with credit issuers and other Debt 

buyers provide that "[i]n the event Seller does not provide any of the account documents 

on a particular account, [Encore] may request an affidavit" containing the following 

language: "The statements in this affidavit are based on the computerized and hard copy 

records of the Seller..." (emphasis added). 

6i. According to an Encore senior manager responsible for negotiating Debt 

purchase agreements, the ability to request affidavits from sellers that purport to be 

based on a review of documentation is negotiated by Encore "[a]s a safeguard, should 

documentation not exist, [so] we have some form of evidence from the seller." A director 

of Encore's Debt purchasing department has instructed Encore management to "reinforce 

that these affidavits are intended to provide documentation when other media is not 

available." 

62. Encore has routinely submitted business records affidavits in which affiants 

swear that attached documentation relates to individual Consumers' accounts. 

63. However, in many instances, the attached documentation, which sometimes 
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included generic credit card agreements created years after the Consumer purportedly 

defaulted on the agreement, does not in fact relate to the Consumer being sued. 

64. Finally, in numerous instances from at least 2009 to 2011, Encore 

submitted affidavits in which affiants misrepresented that they had personal knowledge 

of facts contained in affidavits, including that the Consumer owed a Debt. 

ENCORE'S COLLECTION OF TIME-BARRED DEBT 

65. Encore and its law firms typically have failed to review account-level 

documents to determine the age of the accounts they collect, relying solely on information 

in the data file, even if Encore or one of its law firms has been on notice that some of the 

information in a data file is inaccurate or if Encore has known that some of the Debts in a 

specific portfolio are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 

66. In numerous instances, Encore has threatened and filed suit on Debt that 

was past the applicable statute of limitations. 

67. Encore has not tracked when Consumers assert limitations defenses or how 

often any of its third-party law firms file lawsuits outside the applicable statute of 

limitations. 

68. Encore has trained its collectors to "create urgency" when collecting Time-

Barred Debt through telephone calls. For example, for one portfolio Encore knew 

contained a high percentage of Time-Barred Debt, collectors were instructed to "[e]ducate 

[the] consumer, as to how nonpayment of bill will impact him," by telling him "[i]t is 

important for me to establish your intentions towards the bill or else it will be taken as 

your refusal to resolve" after which the account will be "forwarded for further 
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management review" so that "further collection activities will be decided." 

69. In numerous instances from at least July 21, 2011 to March 31, 2013, Encore 

sent thousands of letters containing time-limited "settlement" offers that failed to 

disclose that the Debt it was collecting was too old for litigation and that implied a legally 

enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 

ASSET'S HARASSING TELEPHONE CALLS TO CONSUMERS 

70. In numerous instances, from 2009 to 2014, Asset has called Consumers 

repeatedly or continuously. Such calls had the effect of abusing or harassing consumers 

or other persons at the called numbers. For example, Asset called numerous Consumers 

more than 20 times over just one two day period. 

71. In numerous instances, from 2009 to 2014, Asset called Consumers at a 

time it knew or should have known to be inconvenient to the Consumer, such as early in 

the morning or late at night. For example, Asset made thousands of calls to Consumers 

before 8:0o a.m. or after 9:00 p.m., in the time zones associated with the addresses on 

file in Asset's own records. 

72. Asset's continuous and inconvenient calls caused, or were likely to cause, 

Consumers to suffer emotional distress. Some Consumers, including those who disputed 

the Debt, made, or were likely to have made, payments to Asset solely to temporarily stop 

the excessive and inconvenient calls. As a result of Asset's excessive and inconvenient 

calls, Consumers who lacked the ability to repay Asset while meeting their other financial 

obligations, placed, or were likely to have placed, a higher priority on unsecured old credit 

card Debt than on expenses for monthly living expenses. 
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Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

73. Covered persons are prohibited from engaging "in any unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice" in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

74. Encore Capital, Midland, MCM, and Asset are each a "covered person" 

within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

75. Respondents made numerous representations to Consumers in connection 

with attempting to collect Debts, a Consumer financial product or service, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(5)1 (15)(x). 

76. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 

representation or omission that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a Consumer acting 

reasonably under the circumstances. 

77. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if (1) it causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to Consumers; (2) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by 

Consumers; and (3) such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

Consumers or to competition. 

False or Unsubstantiated Representations About Owing a Debt 

78. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers, Encore represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that Consumers owed Debts to Encore with certain unpaid balances, interest 

rates, and payment due dates. Encore further represented to Consumers directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Encore had a reasonable basis for 

representing that Consumers owed the claimed Debts to Encore. 
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79. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances the representations set forth in 

Paragraph 78 were false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were 

made, including but not limited to where: 

a. Consumers disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or accuracy of 

the Debt and Encore failed to review information that would have been 

necessary to have a reasonable basis to continue collecting on that account; 

or 

b. Encore had knowledge or reason to believe, based on Encore's past course 

of dealing with the seller or the seller's accounts (including factors such as 

Consumer disputes, inaccurate or incomplete information in the portfolio, 

and contractual disclaimers related to the accounts) that a specific portfolio 

of the seller's accounts might contain unreliable data, but continued to 

represent that Consumers owed the claimed amount on the accounts in 

question without obtaining and reviewing additional information that 

would provide a reasonable basis for such claims. 

80. The representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

81. The representations set forth in Paragraph 78 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresenting that Encore Intends 
to Prove the Debt, If Contested 

82. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers through litigation or threats of litigation, Encore 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Encore intends to 
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prove its claims, if contested. 

83. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, Encore does not intend to prove 

its claims, if contested. 

84. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding whether to pay the Debt or contest the lawsuit 

and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

85. The representations set forth in Paragraph 82 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Filing Misleading Collection Affidavits 

86. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers, in affidavits filed in courts across the country, Encore 

represented directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. Debts not disputed pursuant to Section 809(a)(3) of the FDCPA are 

presumed valid by a court; 

b. Encore affiants had reviewed account-level documentation from the original 

Creditor corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 

c. Debt seller affiants had reviewed hard copy records corroborating the 

Consumer's Debt; 

d. Documents attached to affidavits were specific to the Consumer; or 

e. Encore affiants had personal knowledge of the individual Consumer's 

indebtedness. 

87. In truth and in fact: 

a. Debts not disputed pursuant to Section 809(a)(3) of the FDCPA are not 

presumed valid by a court, because pursuant to Section 8o9(c) of the 
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FDCPA, "[t]he failure of a consumer to dispute the validity of a debt [after 

receiving a notice under Section 809] may not be construed by any court as 

an admission of liability by the consumer"; 

b. In numerous instances, Encore affiants had not reviewed account-level 

documentation from the original Creditor corroborating the Consumer's 

Debt; 

c. In numerous instances, Debt seller affiants had not reviewed hard copy 

records corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 

d. In numerous instances, documentation attached to affidavits was not 

specific to the Consumer; and 

e. In numerous instances, Encore affiants did not have personal knowledge of 

the individual Consumer defendant's indebtedness. 

88. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to a lawsuit and are likely to 

mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

89. The representations set forth in Paragraph 86 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresentations Regarding Time-Barred Debt 

90. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations from Consumers, Encore 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Consumers had a 

legally enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 

91. In truth and in fact, Consumers do not have a legally enforceable obligation 

to pay Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations. 

Page 22 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 22 of 63



92. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

claim and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

93. The representations set forth in Paragraph 90 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresenting to Consumers That They Have 
the Burden of Proof in Litigation 

94. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt through litigation or threats of litigation, Encore represented to Consumers, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that under the FDCPA, the failure to 

dispute a Debt in writing within a certain period of time shifts the legal burden to 

Consumers to prove in court that they do not owe a Debt to Encore. 

95. In truth and in fact, under the FDCPA, the failure to dispute a Debt in 

writing within a certain period of time does not shift the legal burden to Consumers to 

prove in court that they do not owe a Debt. 

96. The representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding whether to pay the Debt or contest the lawsuit 

and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

97. The representations set forth in Paragraph 94 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Excessive and Inconvenient Calls 
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98. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt, Asset made an excessive number of telephone calls to Consumers and made 

calls at times Asset knew or should have known were inconvenient to Consumers. 

99. The acts or practices set forth in Paragraph 98 caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury that was not reasonably avoidable by Consumers or outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to Consumers or to competition and constitute unfair acts or 

practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) 

and 5536(a). 

Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

100. Section 805(a)(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1), prohibits Debt 

collectors from communicating with Consumers in connection with the collection of any 

Debt at any unusual time or place or a time or place known or which should be known to 

be inconvenient to the Consumer. Section 806 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d, 

prohibits Debt collectors from engaging in any conduct the natural consequence of which 

is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in connection with the collection of a Debt. 

Section 806(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(5), specifically prohibits Debt collectors 

from causing a telephone to ring or engaging any person in telephone conversation 

repeatedly or continuously with intent to annoy, abuse, or harass any person at the called 

number. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits Debt collectors from 

using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the 

collection of any Debt. Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) 

specifically prohibits the false representations of the character, amount, or legal status of 
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any Debt. Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) specifically prohibits the 

threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken. 

Section 807(8) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(8), prohibits communicating or 

threatening to communicate to any person credit information that is known or which 

should be known to be false, including the failure to communicate that a disputed Debt is 

disputed. Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), prohibits using false 

representations or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any Debt or to obtain 

information concerning a Consumer. 

101. Midland, MCM, Asset, and Encore Capital are each a "debt collector" within 

the meaning of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

102. Encore made numerous telephone calls and representations to Consumers 

in connection with attempting to collect Debts arising out of transactions primarily for 

personal, family, or household purposes. 

False or Unsubstantiated Representations About Owing a Debt 

103. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers, Encore represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that Consumers owed Debts to Encore with certain unpaid balances, interest 

rates, and payment due dates. Encore further represented to Consumers directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Encore had a reasonable basis for 

representing that Consumers owed the claimed Debts to Encore. 

104. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances the representations set forth in 

Paragraph 103 were false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were 

Page 25 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 25 of 63



made, including but not limited to where: 

a. Consumers disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or accuracy of 

the Debt and Encore failed to review information that would have been 

necessary to have a reasonable basis to continue collecting on that account; 

or 

b. Encore had knowledge or reason to believe, based on Encore's past course 

of dealing with the seller or the seller's accounts (including factors such as 

Consumer disputes, inaccurate or incomplete information in the portfolio, 

and contractual disclaimers related to the accounts) that a specific portfolio 

of the seller's accounts might contain unreliable data, but continued to 

represent that Consumers owed the claimed amount on the accounts in 

question without obtaining and reviewing additional information that 

would provide a reasonable basis for such claims. 

105. The representations set forth in Paragraph 103 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 807 and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(10). 

Misrepresenting that Encore Intends 
to Prove the Debt, If Contested 

1o6. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers through litigation or threats of litigation, Encore 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Encore intends to 

prove its claims, if contested. 

107. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, Encore does not intend to prove 

its claims, if contested. 

IDS. The representations set forth in Paragraph 106 are false or misleading and 
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constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 807, 807(5), and 807(10) of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(5), 1692e(10). 

Filing Misleading Collection Affidavits 

109. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers, in affidavits filed in courts across the country, Encore 

represented directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. Debts not disputed pursuant to Section 809(a)(3) of the FDCPA are 

presumed valid by a court; 

b. Encore affiants had reviewed account-level documentation from the original 

Creditor corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 

c. Debt seller affiants had reviewed hard copy records corroborating the 

Consumer's Debt; 

d. Documents attached to affidavits were specific to the Consumer; or 

e. Encore affiants had personal knowledge of the individual Consumer's 

indebtedness. 

110. In truth and in fact: 

a. Debts not disputed pursuant to Section 809(a)(3) of the FDCPA are not 

presumed valid by a court, because pursuant to Section 8o9(c) of the 

FDCPA, "[t]he failure of a consumer to dispute the validity of a debt [after 

receiving a notice under Section 809] may not be construed by any court as 

an admission of liability by the consumer"; 

b. In numerous instances, Encore affiants had not reviewed account-level 

documentation from the original Creditor corroborating the Consumer's 

Debt; 

c. In numerous instances, Debt seller affiants had not reviewed hard copy 

records corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 
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d. In numerous instances, Documentation attached to affidavits was not 

specific to the Consumer; and 

e. In numerous instances, Encore affiants did not have personal knowledge of 

the individual Consumer defendant's indebtedness. 

111. The representations set forth in Paragraph 109 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807, and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(10). 

Misrepresentations Regarding Time-Barred Debt 

112. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations from Consumers, Encore 

represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Consumers had a 

legally enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 

113. In truth and in fact, Consumers do not have a legally enforceable obligation 

to pay Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations. 

114. The representations set forth in Paragraph 112 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807, 807(2)(A), 807(5), and 

807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A), 1692e(5), 1692e(10). 

Misrepresenting to Consumers That They Have 
the Burden of Proof in Litigation 

115. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt through litigation or threats of litigation, Encore represented to Consumers, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that under the FDCPA, the failure to 

dispute a Debt in writing within a certain period of time shifts the legal burden to 

Consumers to prove in court that they do not owe a Debt to Encore. 
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n6. In truth and in fact, under the FDCPA, the failure to dispute a Debt in 

writing within a certain period of time does not shift the legal burden to Consumers to 

prove in court that they do not owe a Debt. 

117. The representations set forth in Paragraph 115 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation in violation of Sections 807 and 807(10) 

of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(lo). 

Assigning Disputed Debt to Third Parties 
Without Communicating that the Debt is Disputed 

118. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt, Encore communicated disputed credit information to third-party collection 

agencies, including law firms, without communicating that the Debt is disputed. 

119. The representations set forth in Paragraph 118 are false or misleading and 

constitute violations of Sections 807 and 807(8) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 

1692e(8). 

Excessive Calls 

120. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt, Asset made an excessive number of telephone calls and engaged in conduct 

the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in connection 

with the collection of a Debt. 

121. The acts or practices set forth in Paragraph 120 are harassing or abusive 

and constitute violations of Sections 806 and 806(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692d, 

1692d(5). 

Calls at Inconvenient Times 
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122. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt, Asset called certain Consumers at unusual times or at a time which Asset 

should have known would be inconvenient. 

123. The representations set forth in Paragraph 122 constitute violations of 

Sections 805(a)(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1). 

Violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

124. Section 623 (b)(1)(A) of the FCRA makes it unlawful for a furnisher of 

information to a Consumer reporting agency, upon receiving notice of a Consumer 

dispute from the Consumer reporting agency, not to conduct a reasonable investigation of 

the disputed information. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b). Section 623(a)(8)(E) of the FCRA 

makes it unlawful for such a furnisher not to conduct a reasonable investigation of a 

Consumer dispute received directly from the Consumer, in the circumstances specified by 

Regulation V. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(8)(E); 12 C.F.R. 1022.43. 

125. Midland, MCM, and Encore Capital each "regularly and in the ordinary 

course of business furnishes information to one or more consumer reporting agencies" 

about the Encore's "transactions or experiences" with Consumers, as described in Section 

623(a)(2)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 16815-2(a)(2)(A), and are each a "furnisher" as 

defined in Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 1022.44(c). 

Failing to Adequately Investigate Disputes 

126. In numerous instances, Encore failed to conduct reasonable investigations 

of Consumer disputes under the FCRA for accounts that had not been disputed within 45 

days of Encore sending the Consumer a Notice of Debt under Section 809 of the FDCPA. 
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127. The acts or practices alleged in Paragraph 126 constitute violations of 

Sections 623(a)(8)(E) and (b)(1)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681s-2(a)(8)(E) and (b). 

ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

128. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1); 

Sections 805(a)(1), 806, 806(5), 807, 807(2)(A), 807(5), 807(8), and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692c(a)(1), 1692d, 1692d(5), 1692e, 1692e(2)(A), 1692(5), 1692(8), 

and 1692(10); Sections 623(a)(8)(E) and 623(b) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681s-

2(a)(8)(E) and 1681s-2(b). 

PROHIBITION AGAINST COLLECTING DEBTS 
WITHOUT A REASONABLE BASIS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

129. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from making any representation, expressly or by implication, 

that a Consumer owes a Debt to Encore or as to the amount of a Debt owed or allegedly 

owed to Encore unless, at the time of making the representation, Encore can substantiate 

the representation. Without limiting the foregoing, such substantiation must include 
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reviewing Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Consumer's name and 

the claimed amount, excluding any post Charge-off or post-judgment payments (unless 

the claimed amount is higher than the Charge-off Balance or judgment balance, in which 

case Encore must review (i) Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Charge-

off Balance or judgment balance and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed amount was 

calculated and why such increase is authorized by the agreement creating the Debt or 

permitted by law), under any of the following circumstances: 

a. The Consumer disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or validity of 

the Debt; 

b. The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a purchase 

agreement without meaningful and effective representations and 

warranties as to the accuracy or validity of the Debt; 

c. The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a purchase 

agreement without meaningful and effective commitments to provide 

Original Account-Level Documentation during the time period in which 

Encore is collecting the Debt; or 

d. The Debt was purchased in a portfolio, after the Effective Date, which 

Encore knows contains unsupportable or materially inaccurate 

information about any Debt, based on either of the following factors: 

i. At any time during the preceding twelve months, a Consumer 

disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or validity of a Debt in the 

portfolio and Encore sought but was unable to obtain Original 
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Account-Level Documentation reflecting the amount of the Debt or 

the identity of the person responsible for the Debt, unless Encore can 

establish, based on a documented and thorough review of Original 

Account-Level Documentation concerning other accounts in the 

portfolio, that the inability to obtain Original Account-Level 

Documentation to support the account in the portfolio was an 

anomaly; or 

ii. Original Account-Level Documentation produced to Encore, by a 

Debt seller or a Consumer, reflected information about the amount of 

the Debt or the identity of the person responsible for the Debt that 

was inconsistent and irreconcilable with information previously 

provided to Encore by the Debt seller, unless Encore can establish, 

based on a documented and thorough review of Original Account-

Level Documentation concerning other accounts in the portfolio, that 

the production of inaccurate or inconsistent information concerning 

the account in the portfolio was an anomaly. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Encore is not required pursuant to this Paragraph to (i) 

refuse to accept any payments voluntarily submitted by Consumers; (ii) suspend 

collections for Consumers who have acknowledged the Debt and agreed to make 

payments; or (iii) refuse to communicate with a Consumer who affirmatively contacts 

Encore (or Encore's agents) or requests contact from Encore (or Encore's agents) to 

discuss the Consumer's account. 
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PROHIBITION AGAINST SELLING DEBT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

130. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from reselling Debt to anyone other than (i) the entity that 

initially sold the Debt to Encore or to the Creditor; (ii) to a subsidiary or affiliate of 

Encore that is subject to the terms of this Consent Order (either by operation of law or by 

agreement); (iii) to any entity that is subject to the terms of this Consent Order as part of 

an acquisition or merger with Encore, or purchase of all or substantially all of Encore's 

assets; or (iv) Encore's (or its affiliates) creditors or any agent of such creditors (in each 

case, solely in their capacity as such) in settlement or satisfaction of any claims under, or 

in connection with the default or remedial provisions of, any relevant loan or lending 

agreement. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST THREATENING OR FILING COLLECTION 
LAWSUITS WITHOUT AN INTENT TO PROVE THE DEBT, IF CONTESTED 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

131. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from: 

a. Initiating a Legal Collection lawsuit unless in possession of the 
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following: 

i. Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting, at a minimum, the 

Consumer's name, the last four digits of the account number 

associated with the Debt at the time of Charge-off, the claimed 

amount, excluding any post Charge-off payments (unless the claimed 

amount is higher that the Charge-off Balance, in which case Encore 

must possess (i) Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting 

the Charge-off Balance and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed 

amount was calculated and why such increase is authorized by the 

agreement creating the Debt or permitted by law), and if Encore is 

suing under a breach of contract theory, the contractual terms and 

conditions applicable to the Debt; 

ii. A chronological listing of the names of all prior owners of the Debt 

and the date of each transfer of ownership of the Debt, beginning 

with the name of the Creditor at the time of Charge-off; 

iii. A certified or otherwise properly authenticated copy of each bill of 

sale or other document evidencing the transfer of ownership of the 

Debt at the time of Charge-off to each successive owner, including 

Encore. Each of the documents evidencing the transfer of ownership 

of the Debt must include a specific reference to the particular Debt 

being collected upon; and 

iv. Any one of the following: 
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1. A document signed by the Consumer evidencing the opening 

of the account forming the basis for the Debt; or 

2. Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting a purchase, 

payment, or other actual use of the account by the Consumer. 

b. Engaging in any Legal Collection without providing the Consumer with 

certain information about the Debt, unless previously provided, 

including but not limited to, the following information: 

i. the name of the Creditor at the time of Charge-off, including the 

name under which the Creditor did business with the Consumer; 

ii. the last four digits of the account number associated with the Debt at 

the time of the Consumer's last monthly account statement, or, if not 

available, at the time of Charge-off; 

iii. the Charge-off Balance; 

iv. Encore's method of calculating any amount claimed in excess of the 

Charge-off Balance; and 

v. A statement that Encore, or Encore's agent, will, within 3o days of a 

written request, provide the Consumer with copies of the 

documentation referenced in Subsection (a) of this Paragraph, at no 

cost. Provided that, Encore has to provide such documentation upon 

request only once per year and that Encore is not required to provide 

such documentation in response to a request made more than one 

year after Encore has ceased collecting the Debt. 
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PROHIBITION AGAINST FILING FALSE OR MISLEADING AFFIDAVITS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

132. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from, in connection with collection of a Debt: 

a. Submitting any affidavit in which the affiant represents, expressly or by 

implication, that the affidavit has been notarized if the affidavit was not 

executed in the presence of a notary; 

b. Submitting any affidavit containing an inaccurate statement, including 

but not limited to a statement that attached documentation relates to the 

specific Consumer being sued when that is not the case; 

c. Submitting any affidavit in which the affiant represents, expressly or by 

implication, that any attached or unattached documents or records 

concerning the Debt forming the basis for the lawsuit have been 

reviewed by the affiant, when that is not the case; 

d. Submitting any affidavit in which the affiant represents, expressly or by 

implication, that the affiant has personally reviewed the affidavit, when 

that is not the case; 

e. Submitting any affidavit which references a Consumer's failure to 

dispute a Debt unless the affidavit also contains the following statement: 

Page 37 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 37 of 63



Under Federal law, "[t]he failure to dispute a debt under [Section 
809(c) of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692g(c)] 
may not be considered by any court as an admission of liability." 

PROHIBITION AGAINST DECEPTIVELY COLLECTING 
TIME-BARRED DEBT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

133. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from: 

a. Collecting or attempting to collect any Time-Barred Debt through 

litigation or arbitration; 

b. Collecting or attempting to collect any Time-Barred Debt through any 

means, including but not limited to telephone calls and written 

communications, without clearly and prominently disclosing to the 

Consumer: 

i. for those Consumer accounts where the Debt is Time-Barred and 

generally cannot be included in a Consumer report under the 

provisions of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), but can be collected 

through other means pursuant to applicable state law, Encore will 

include the following statement: "The law limits how long you can be 

sued on a debt and how long a debt can appear on your credit report. 

Due to the age of this debt, we will not sue you for it or report 
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payment or non-payment of it to a credit bureau;" and 

ii. for those Consumer accounts where the Debt is Time-Barred but can 

be collected through other means pursuant to applicable state law, 

and may be included in a Consumer report under the provisions of 

the FCRA, 5 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), Encore will include the following 

statement: "The law limits how long you can be sued on a debt. 

Because of the age of your debt, we will not sue you for it." 

Provided, however, that with regard to telephonic communications, 

Encore is not required to make either disclosure to any individual 

person more than once per 3o day period. 

c. Making any representation or statement, or taking any other action that 

interferes with, detracts from, contradicts, or otherwise undermines the 

disclosures required in Paragraph (b) of this Section. 

Encore will be deemed to have complied with the disclosure requirements of this 

Paragraph if it makes a disclosure to Consumers in a specific jurisdiction that (i) is 

required by the laws or regulations of that jurisdiction, (ii) complies with those laws or 

regulations, and (iii) is substantially similar to the disclosure required by this Paragraph. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST FAILING TO COMMUNICATE DISPUTES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

134. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 
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restrained and prohibited from communicating any information about a Debt that Encore 

knows or should know is disputed, to any person without informing such person that the 

Debt is disputed, including but not limited to communications with third-party collection 

agencies, law firms employed by Encore, or Consumer reporting agencies provided, 

however, that Encore is not required by this Consent Order to provide oral notification 

under this Sub-Paragraph to any individual person more than once per 30 day period. 

PROHI LiTION AGAINST EXCESSIVE 
AND INCONVENIENT TELEPHONE CALLS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

135. Encore, Encore's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from: 

a. Engaging in any conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, 

oppress, or abuse a person, including, but not limited to: (1) the use of 

obscene or profane language or language the natural consequence of 

which is to abuse the hearer; (2) causing a telephone to ring, or engaging 

a person in telephone conversation, repeatedly or continuously with the 

intent to annoy, abuse, or harass the person at the called number; (3) 

placing more than one call to any person about a Debt after that person 

has notified Encore either orally or in writing that the person wishes 

Respondent to cease further communication with the person; and 
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b. Communicating with any Consumer at a time or place known by Encore 

or which should be known by Encore to be inconvenient to the 

Consumer. In the absence of knowledge of circumstances to the 

contrary, Encore must assume that the convenient time for 

communicating with a Consumer is after 8:00 a.m. and before 9:oo 

p.m., local time at the Consumer's location. In the absence of knowledge 

of circumstances to the contrary, Encore must assume that the 

Consumer is located in the local time-zone associated with the United 

States Postal Service postal code associated with the Consumer's address 

or in the local time-zone associated with the area code associated with 

the Consumer's telephone number being dialed. In the event that 

Encore is in possession of conflicting location information, Encore must 

assume that it would be inconvenient to contact the Consumer before 

S:00 a.m. or after 9:00 p.m., local time in either location. 

VII 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

136. Within 6o days from the Effective Date, Encore must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Encore's Debt collection practices comply with 

all applicable Federal Consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 
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a. comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to prevent 

violations of Federal Consumer protection laws and prevent associated 

risks of harm to Consumers; 

b. comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to ensure that 

Encore conducts due diligence regarding the accuracy of the information 

it acquires from Creditors or other Debt buyers; 

c. comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to insure that 

law firms engaged by Encore to collect Debt do not violate any 

Consumer financial protection laws that must include at a minimum: 

i. an analysis to be conducted by Encore, prior to Encore entering into 

a contract with the law firm, of the ability of the law firm to perform 

its obligations in compliance with all applicable Federal Consumer 

financial laws and Encore's related policies and procedures; 

ii. for new and renewed contracts, a written contract between Encore 

and the law firm, which sets forth the responsibilities of each party, 

including: 

1. the law firm's specific performance responsibilities and 

duty to maintain adequate internal controls; 

2. the law firm's duty to provide adequate training on 

compliance with all applicable Federal Consumer financial 

laws and Encore's related policies and procedures; 

3 the law firm's duty to alert Encore whenever a 

Page 42 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 42 of 63



Consumer submits an oral or written dispute or asserts a 

defense to a lawsuit, including but not limited to a dispute 

concerning the accuracy or validity of the Debt or any 

assertion that the suit was filed outside of the applicable 

statute of limitations; 

4. Encore's authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews of 

the law firm's controls, performance, and information 

systems related to Debt collection; 

5. Encore's right to terminate the contract if the law firm 

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the 

contract, including the terms required by this Paragraph; 

and 

6. periodic review by Encore of the law firm's controls, 

performance, and information systems related to Debt 

collections. 

d. an effective training program that includes regular, specific, 

comprehensive training in Consumer protection laws commensurate 

with individual job functions and duties for appropriate employees, 

including all employees having responsibilities that relate to Consumer 

protection laws, senior management and members of the Board; 

e. an enhanced and well-documented internal CMS monitoring process 

incorporated into the daily work of Encore's employees that is designed 
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to detect and promptly correct compliance weaknesses of Encore and its 

service providers, particularly weaknesses that impact Consumers; 

f. an effective Consumer complaint monitoring process, including the 

maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic 

complaints or inquiries, formal or informal, received by Encore and its 

service providers and the resolution of the complaints and inquiries; and 

g. effective independent audit coverage of the Compliance Program and 

Encore's compliance with all Consumer protection laws and internal 

policies and procedures 

137. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Encore to revise it. In the event that the 

Enforcement Director directs Encore to revise the Compliance Plan, Encore must make 

the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 3o 

days. 

138. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Encore must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

139. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Encore must take whatever steps necessary 

to fully implement all of the requirements and restrictions described in Paragraphs 129 

and 131 within 180 days of the Effective Date and all of the requirements and restrictions 

described in Paragraphs 132, 133, and 134 within 90 days of the Effective Date. 
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VIII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

140. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to the 

Bureau. 

141. Although this Consent Order requires Encore to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board must have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Encore and for ensuring 

that Encore complies with Federal Consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

142. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of Encore, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Encore to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives 

related to this Section. 

IX 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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143. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Encore must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $34,000,000 or greater than 

$42,000,000, for the purpose of providing redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers as 

required by this Consent Order. If the total of payments to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers is less than $34,000,000, the excess must be deposited into the U.S. Treasury 

as disgorgement. Except for as provided by Paragraph 147, if the total of payments to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers would be greater than $42,000,000, the amount that 

would be paid to each Restitution Eligible Consumer may be reduced pro rata. 

144. For the approximately 12,000 identified Consumers who during the 

Relevant Time Period paid on a Debt within sixty days of being sent a letter that sought 

payment of a Time-Barred Debt, and that included the word "settlement," and it was not 

affirmatively disclosed in that letter that the Consumer would not be sued for non-

payment, Encore must provide full restitution ("Time-Barred Debt Restitution"), 

expected to total approximately $5,300,000, of all payments made, directly or indirectly, 

during the Relevant Time Period within sixty days of the Consumer being sent a letter 

that sought payment of a Time-Barred Debt that included the word "settlement" and did 

not include an affirmative disclosure in that letter that the Consumer would not be sued 

for non-payment. 

145. For the approximately 35,60o identified Consumers who paid on a Debt 

after an affidavit with a representation that the Debt could be assumed valid because the 

Consumer failed to dispute under the FDCPA was submitted in court, Encore must 

provide restitution ("Dispute Affidavit Restitution"), expected to total approximately 
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$36,000,000, as follows: 

a. For the approximately 6,300 identified Consumers who may have been 

sued by Encore in a lawsuit in which Encore filed an affidavit with a 

representation that the Debt could be assumed valid because the Consumer 

failed to dispute under the FDCPA ("Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit") and for 

which it does not possess documentation evidencing the Consumer's 

responsibility for the Debt, Encore must provide full restitution, expected to 

total approximately $12,600,000, of all payments made, directly or 

indirectly, to Encore during the Relevant Time Period, after Encore filed the 

Dispute Affidavit. 

b. For the approximately 29,300 identified Consumers who may have been 

sued by Encore in a Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit and for which Encore 

possesses documentation evidencing the Consumer's responsibility for the 

Debt, Encore must provide full restitution up to $1,000 each, expected to 

total approximately $23,300,000, of all payments made, directly or 

indirectly, to Encore during the Relevant Time Period, after Encore filed the 

Dispute Affidavit. 

146. For the Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit Debt that has yet to be collected, expected 

to total more than $125,000,000, Encore must within 90 days of the Effective Date: 

a. Withdraw, dismiss, or terminate all pending Dispute Affidavit Lawsuits; 

b. Release or move to vacate all judgments obtained during the Relevant 

Period regarding Dispute Affidavit Lawsuits; 
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c. Cease post-judgment enforcement activities and cease accepting 

settlement payments related to any Dispute Affidavit Lawsuits; and 

d. Request that the Consumer reporting agencies amend, delete, or 

suppress information regarding any Dispute Affidavit Lawsuits, and 

associated judgments, as applicable. 

147. In addition to the Dispute Affidavit Restitution required by this Section, 

Encore must, within 18o days of the Effective Date, refund any payments made within the 

3o days prior to the Effective Date, and any time after the Effective Date, on Debts 

associated with any Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit, regardless of whether such refunds would 

cause Encore to pay more than $42,000,000 in total restitution. 

Redress Plan 

148. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Encore must prepare and submit to 

the Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The Enforcement 

Director must have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct Encore to revise it. In the event that the Enforcement Director 

directs Encore to revise the Redress Plan, Encore must make the revisions and resubmit 

the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 days. Upon notification that the 

Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, 

Encore must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 

149. With respect to Time-Barred Debt Restitution, the Redress Plan must 
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include: (1) the form of the letter ("Time-Barred Debt Redress Notification Letter") to be 

sent notifying Restitution Eligible Consumers of the redress; and (2) the form of the 

envelope that will contain the Time-Barred Debt Redress Notification Letter. The letter 

must include language explaining the manner in which the amount of redress was 

calculated; a statement that the provision of refund payment is in accordance with the 

terms of this Consent Order; and a statement that accepting payment of redress will not 

subject the Consumer to any new Debt collection or credit reporting activities for that 

Debt. Encore must not include in any envelope containing a Time-Barred Debt Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters and redress checks, 

unless Encore has obtained written confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the 

Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

150. With respect to Dispute Affidavit Restitution, the Redress Plan must 

include: (1) the process by which Encore will conduct the file review of the approximately 

35,600 identified Consumers who may have been sued by Encore in a Dispute Affidavit 

Lawsuit; (2) the form of the letter ("Dispute Affidavit Restitution Notification Letter") to 

be sent notifying Restitution Eligible Consumers of the redress; and (3) the form of the 

envelope that will contain the Dispute Affidavit Restitution Notification Letter. The letter 

must include language explaining the manner in which the amount of redress was 

calculated; a statement that the related Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit has been withdrawn, 

dismissed, vacated, terminated, released, or that the enforcement activities on the 

Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit have ceased, as applicable; a statement that the redress being 

provided is in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order; and a statement that 
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accepting payment of redress will not subject the Consumer to any new Debt collection or 

credit reporting activities for that Debt. Encore must not include in any envelope 

containing a Dispute Affidavit Restitution Notification Letter any materials other than the 

approved letters and redress checks, unless Encore has obtained written confirmation 

from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such 

additional materials. 

151. With respect to Dispute Affidavit Lawsuits and associated judgments that 

did not result in a Consumer making a payment directly or indirectly to Encore, the 

Redress Plan must include: (1) the form of the letter ("Lawsuit Dismissal/Judgment Non-

enforcement Notification Letter") to be sent notifying eligible Consumers of the 

withdrawal, dismissal, vacation, termination, release of the Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit or 

the cessation of enforcement activities on the Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit and associated 

judgment, as applicable; and (2) the form of the envelope that will contain the Lawsuit 

Dismissal/Judgment Non-enforcement Notification Letter. The letter must include a 

statement that the Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit has been withdrawn, dismissed, vacated, 

terminated, released, or that the enforcement activities on the Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit 

have ceased, as applicable; a statement that the redress is in accordance with the terms of 

this Consent Order; and a statement that the redress will not subject the Consumer to any 

new Debt collection or credit reporting activities for that Debt. Encore must not include 

in any envelope containing a Lawsuit Dismissal/Judgment Non-enforcement Notification 

Letter any materials other than the approved letter; unless Encore has obtained written 

confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to the 
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inclusion of such additional materials. 

152. The Redress Plan must include a description of the following: 

a. methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of Restitution 

Eligible Consumers and the approximately 50,000 identified Consumers 

who will receive a Lawsuit Dismissal/Judgment Non-enforcement 

Notification Letter; 

b. methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Restitution Eligible Consumer as required herein; 

c. procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers; 

d. methods and procedures used and the time necessary to withdraw, 

dismiss, move to vacate, terminate, or release the Dispute Affidavit 

Lawsuits and associated judgments, or to cease enforcement activities 

on Dispute Affidavit Lawsuit judgments; 

e. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan; 

f. the process for providing restitution for Restitution Eligible Consumers, 

which must include the following requirements: 

i. Encore must mail a check to any Restitution Eligible Consumer along 

with a Redress Notification Letter; 

ii. Encore must send the check by United States Postal Service first-

class mail, address correction service requested, to the Restitution 

Eligible Consumer's last address as maintained by Encore's records; 
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iii. Encore must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address 

for any Restitution Eligible Consumer whose Redress Notification 

Letter and restitution check is returned for any reason, using the 

National Change of Address System, and must promptly re-mail all 

returned letters and restitution checks to current addresses. If the 

check for any Restitution Eligible Consumer is returned to Encore 

after such second mailing by Encore, or if a current mailing address 

cannot be identified using National Change of Address System, 

Encore must retain the restitution amount of such Eligible Consumer 

for a period of three-hundred sixty (360) days from the date the 

restitution check was originally mailed, during which period such 

amount may be claimed by such Restitution Eligible Consumer upon 

appropriate proof of identity. After such time these monies will be 

deposited into the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

153. The Redress Plan will allow for a reduction in the amount of any payments 

previously refunded to a Restitution Eligible Customer by Encore prior to the Effective 

Date. 

154. If Encore claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of 

this Consent Order that complies with the requirements of this Consent Order, Encore 

must provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Enforcement Director. 

155. Encore must not condition the payment of any redress to any Restitution 

Eligible Consumer under this Consent Order on that person's agreement to any condition, 
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such as the waiver of any right. 

Assessment of Redress 

156. Encore must retain at its own expense the services of an independent 

certified accounting firm ("Firm"), within 15 days after the Enforcement Director's non-

objection pursuant to Paragraph 150, to determine compliance with the Redress Plan. 

The Firm must determine compliance in accordance with the attestation standards 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

157. Prior to engagement, and no later than 6o days from the Effective Date, 

Encore must submit the name and qualifications of the Firm, together with the proposed 

engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to the 

Enforcement Director for non-objection. Within 15 days after submission of the Firm's 

name, the Enforcement Director must notify Encore in writing of the CFPB's objection or 

non-objection thereto. 

158. The Firm must prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of 

Encore's compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan ("Restitution Report"). The 

Restitution Report must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the methodology 

used to determine the population of Restitution Eligible Consumers, the amount of 

redress for each Restitution Eligible Consumer, the procedures used to issue and track 

redress payments, and the work of any independent consultants that Encore has used to 

assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

159. The Firm must submit the Restitution Report to the Enforcement Director 
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and the Board within 90 days after Encore completes implementation of the Redress 

Plan. 

X 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

160. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Encore must pay a civil money penalty of 

$10,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

161. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Encore must pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may 

direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 

Bureau. 

162. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

163. Encore must treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, 

Encore must not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard to 

any federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that Encore 

pays under this Consent Order; or 
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b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made pursuant to 

any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty that Encore 

pays under this Consent Order. 

164. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any Related 

Consumer Action, Encore must not argue that Encore is entitled to, nor must Encore 

benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related 

Consumer Action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action ("Penalty 

Offset"). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Encore 

must, within 3o days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

must not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and must not be deemed to change 

the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

XI 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

165. In the event of any default on Encore's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, must 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and must immediately become due and payable. 

166. Encore must relinquish all dominion, control, and all legal and equitable 

right, title, and interest to the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no 
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part of the funds must be returned to Encore. 

167. In accordance with 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Encore, unless it already has done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

168. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Encore must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Encore paid or is required to pay to 

Consumers and should describe the Consumers or classes of Consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

169. Encore must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; any claims made 

under, or in connection with a default or remedial provision of a loan or lending 

agreement under Paragraph 13o(iv); the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Encore; or a change in Encore's name or address. 

Page 56 of 63 

2015-CFPB-0022     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 56 of 63



170. Encore must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 169 at least 3o days prior to such change. Provided, however, that with 

respect to any proposed change about which Encore learns less than 30 days prior to the 

date such action is to take place, Encore must notify the Bureau as soon as is practicable 

after obtaining such knowledge. 

171. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Encore must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report), which has been approved by the Board, which, at a 

minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Encore has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Consent Order acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XIII of this Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the 

Bureau. 

XIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgement 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

172. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Encore must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

173. For five years from the Effective Date, Encore must deliver a copy of this 
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Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth 

in Section XII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

174. Encore must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XIV 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

175. Encore must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance 

with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to 

the Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, as set 

forth in Section IX; and 

c. Copies of all templates used to collect Debt, including but not limited to 

dunning letters and affidavits. 

176. Encore must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 175 for at least 5 
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years. 

177. Encore must make the documents identified in Paragraph 175 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XV 

Notices 

178. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Encore must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, consents, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order, in writing with the subject line, "In Re Encore, File No. 2015-CFPB- .," 

and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1625 I Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20006; or 

b. By first class mail to the below address and contemporaneously sent by 
email to Enforcement_Compliance@CFPB.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Encore's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

179. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Encore must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be 
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made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

180. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Encore, unless Encore asks the Bureau in writing to communicate through retained 

counsel. 

181. Encore must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Encore who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

182. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications and Extensions of Time 

183. Encore may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

184. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-

material provisions of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements), if he or she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

185. Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may 

modify any provision of this Consent Order to the extent that compliance with that 

provision could cause Encore, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation, including but not limited to any subsequent amendments of the CFPA, FCRA, 
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or FDCPA. 

186. In the event that Encore acquires an entity, a line of business from an entity, 

or an ownership stake in an entity (an "Acquired Entity") in the business of the purchase, 

transfer, or collection of Debts in the United States, the Acquired Entity will have a 

transition period of 90 days to comply with the requirements of this Consent Order. Any 

asset purchase in which Encore acquires and continues to use the operational or servicing 

systems of a legacy entity not previously owned by Encore will be treated as an Acquired 

Entity for the purpose of this provision. Any Debt that Encore acquires as a result of its 

acquisition of an Acquired Entity or an ownership stake in an Acquired Entity will be 

considered purchased on the date the Acquired Entity purchased the Debt. 

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

187. The provisions of this Consent Order will not bar, estop, or otherwise 

prevent the Bureau or any other governmental agency from taking any other action 

against Encore. 

188. The Bureau releases and discharges Encore from all potential liability for 

violations of law that the Bureau has or might have been asserted based on the practices 

described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before 

the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 

may use the practices alleged in the Consent Order in future enforcement actions against 

Encore and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 
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violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the 

amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the terms and provisions of the Consent Order, or 

to seek penalties for any violation thereof. 

189. This Consent Order does not form, and may not be construed to form, a 

contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

190. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Consent Order by Encore. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body 

rules that Encore did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or 

ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate 

as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

191. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

192. Should Encore seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations or 

assets that are subject to this Consent Order, Encore must, as a condition of sale, obtain 

the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

193. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For 
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any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents may be found 

and Respondents may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

194. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior 

oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

195. Nothing in this Consent Order may be construed as allowing Encore, its 

Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

SO ORDERED this  3 14  day of  ..G1101.14414/'  , 2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against the Two 
Largest Debt Buyers for Using Deceptive 
Tactics to Collect Bad Debts
Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates Must Refund Millions of Dollars 
and Overhaul Debt Collection and Litigation Practices 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
took action against the nation’s two largest debt buyers and collectors for using 
deceptive tactics to collect bad debts. The Bureau found that Encore Capital Group and 
Portfolio Recovery Associates bought debts that were potentially inaccurate, lacking 
documentation, or unenforceable. Without verifying the debt, the companies collected 
payments by pressuring consumers with false statements and churning out lawsuits 
using robo-signed court documents. The CFPB has ordered the companies to overhaul 
their debt collection and litigation practices and to stop reselling debts to third parties. 
Encore must pay up to $42 million in consumer refunds and a $10 million penalty, and 
stop collection on over $125 million worth of debts. Portfolio Recovery Associates must 
pay $19 million in consumer refunds and an $8 million penalty, and stop collecting on 
over $3 million worth of debts. 

“Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates threatened and deceived consumers to 
collect on debts they should have known were inaccurate or had other problems,” said 
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Now, the two biggest debt buyers in the market must 
refund millions and overhaul their practices. We will continue to take action to protect 
consumers from illegal and obnoxious debt collection practices.” 

Encore Capital Group, Inc. is headquartered in San Diego, Calif. Its subsidiaries also 
named in today’s action are Midland Funding LLC, Midland Credit Management, and 
Asset Acceptance Capital Corp. Together, they form the nation’s largest debt buyer and 
collector. Portfolio Recovery Associates is the nation’s second largest debt buyer and 
collector. Portfolio Recovery Associates is a Delaware for-profit corporation 
headquartered in Norfolk, Va. and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of PRA Group, Inc. 

As debt buyers, Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates purchase delinquent or 
charged-off accounts for a fraction of the value of the debt. Although they pay only 
pennies on the dollar for the debt, they may attempt to collect the full amount claimed 
by the original lender. Together, these two companies have purchased the rights to 
collect over $200 billion in defaulted consumer debts on credit cards, phone bills, and 
other accounts.

The CFPB found that Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates attempted to collect 
debts that they knew, or should have known, were inaccurate or could not legally be 
enforced based on contractual disclaimers, past practices of debt sellers, or consumer 
disputes. The companies also filed lawsuits against consumers without having the 
intent to prove many of the debts, winning the vast majority of the lawsuits by default 
when consumers failed to defend themselves. These practices violated the Fair Debt 
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Collection Practices Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act. 

Collecting Bad Debts
Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates illegally attempted to collect debt that they 
knew, or should have known, may have been inaccurate or unenforceable. Specifically, 
the CFPB found that the companies:

• Attempted to collect on unsubstantiated or inaccurate debt: Encore and 
Portfolio Recovery Associates stated incorrect balances, interest rates, and 
payment due dates in attempting to collect debts from consumers. The companies 
purchased large portfolios of consumer debt with balances that sellers claimed 
were “approximate” or that otherwise did not reflect the correct amount owed by 
the consumer. Sellers also warned the companies that some of the debts they were 
buying may not have the most recent consumer payments deducted from the 
balance. Some sellers also represented that documents were not available for 
some of the accounts. The companies continued purchasing from these sellers and 
then collecting on that debt without first conducting any investigation to 
determine whether the debts were accurate and enforceable.

Illegal Litigation Practices
Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates collected debts through lawsuits and threats 
of legal action in unlawful ways. Specifically, the companies:

• Misrepresented their intention to prove debts they sued consumers 
over: Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates regularly attempted to collect on 
debts by suing consumers in state courts across the country. In numerous cases, 
the companies had no intention of proving these debts. They placed tens of 
thousands of debts with law firms staffed by only a handful of attorneys and in 
many cases made no effort to obtain the documents to back up their claims. 
Instead, the companies relied on consumers not filing a defense and winning the 
lawsuits by default.

• Relied on misleading, robo-signed court filings to churn out lawsuits:
Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates filed affidavits that contained 
misleading statements in debt collection lawsuits across the country. For example, 
they both used affidavits that misrepresented that the affiants had reviewed 
original account-level documentation confirming the consumers’ debts when they 
had not. The companies also submitted affidavits with documents attached that 
they claimed were the consumers’ specific account contracts or records when they 
weren’t. These shortcuts allowed the companies to churn through lawsuits 
without doing the research and due diligence required to obtain a legitimate 
judgment. 

• Sued or threatened to sue consumers past the statute of limitations:
From at least July 21, 2011 to March 31, 2013, Encore sent thousands of letters 
offering a time-limited opportunity to “settle” without revealing that the debt was 
too old for litigation. From January 2009 to March 2012, Portfolio Recovery 
Associates sent similar letters to consumers. Both of the companies also filed 
cases past the applicable statute of limitations. 

• Pressured consumers to make payments using misrepresentations:
Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates made other inaccurate statements to 
consumers to press them to make additional payments. Specifically:

◦ Encore falsely told consumers the burden of proof was on them 
to disprove the debt: In sworn affidavits, Encore falsely told consumers 
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and courts that the debt should be assumed to be valid because the 
consumer had not disputed it within a certain time period. In fact, Encore 
had the burden to first prove the debt was owed and accurate before the 
consumer had to challenge it.

◦ Portfolio Recovery Associates falsely claimed an attorney had 
reviewed the file and a lawsuit was imminent: The company’s 
collectors, who identified themselves as from the “Litigation Department,” 
misrepresented to consumers that litigation against them was planned, 
imminent, or even underway. In reality, in many cases, an attorney had not 
reviewed the account and the company had not decided whether to file suit.

Other Illegal Collection Practices
• Encore disregarded or failed to adequately investigate consumers’ 

disputes: If a consumer disputed their debt more than 45 days after Encore 
started collecting, Encore would require the consumer to produce specific 
documents or other “proof” to support their dispute or it would not conduct the 
legally-required investigation of the issues raised by the consumer. 

• Encore farmed out disputed debts to law firms without forwarding 
required information: In numerous instances, Encore assigned disputed debt 
to law firms and third-party debt collectors without informing them that the debt 
was disputed. As a result, law firms evaluating Encore accounts for litigation did 
not know which accounts were disputed. 

• Encore made harassing collection calls to consumers: Encore called 
consumers repeatedly or continuously with the intent to annoy, abuse, or harass 
them into paying. Encore’s subsidiary, Asset Acceptance, made thousands of calls 
to consumers before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. and called hundreds of consumers 
more than 20 times in a two-day period. 

• Portfolio Recovery Associates misled consumers into consenting to 
receive auto-dialed cell phone calls: For approximately a year, and ending in 
August 2013, Portfolio Recovery Associates told consumers that they could only 
prevent collection calls to their cell phones before 9 a.m. if they consented to 
receive calls on their cell phones from a dialer. The company penalized 
representatives who failed to adhere to this policy. 

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the CFPB 
orders released today, Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates are required to: 

• Stop reselling debts: The companies are prohibited from reselling the debts 
they buy to other debt collectors. This will protect consumers from the potential 
harm that results when debt collectors continue to sell and resell debts that may 
be inaccurate or lack the business records and information needed to collect them.

• Refund millions of dollars to consumers:

◦ Encore must pay up to $42 million in refunds: The company must 
provide refunds where it collected payments by misrepresenting that it 
could sue on a time-barred debt or by misrepresenting in court that a debt 
was assumed valid because the consumer did not previously dispute it. 

◦ Portfolio Recovery Associates must pay $19 million in refunds:
The company must provide refunds where it collected payments by 
misrepresenting that an attorney had reviewed a debt or that collectors were 
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calling on behalf of attorneys, and where it collected payments on judgments
that it should not have obtained because they were barred by the statute of 
limitations from suing to collect the debt. 

• Cease collections on millions of dollars of debt:

◦ Encore must stop collecting on $125 million of debt: The company 
must release or move to vacate all judgments and dismiss all lawsuits where 
it misrepresented that a debt was assumed valid, and stop any attempts to 
enforce or collect on these judgments. The face value of this debt is 
estimated at over $125 million.

◦ Portfolio Recovery Associates must stop collecting on $3 million 
of debt: The company must release or move to vacate all judgments and 
dismiss all pending lawsuits it filed past the statute of limitations and stop 
any attempts to enforce or collect on those judgments, estimated to have a 
face value of $3.4 million.

• Stop collecting debts they can’t verify: Encore and Portfolio Recovery 
Associates can’t collect unsubstantiated debt. Under the order, they must review 
original account-level documents verifying a debt before collecting on it when, for 
example, a consumer has disputed it, the seller didn’t promise it was accurate or 
valid, or the debt was part of a portfolio they knew included unsupportable or 
inaccurate information. 

• Ensure accuracy when filing lawsuits: The companies cannot file lawsuits to 
enforce debts unless they have specific documents and information showing the 
debt is accurate and enforceable. 

• Provide consumers information before filing suit: Encore and Portfolio 
Recovery Associates must provide consumers with information about a debt, such 
as the name of the creditor and charge-off balance, and offer to provide 
consumers with original documents relating to the account before they are 
allowed to file a lawsuit or threaten to file suit to collect the debt. 

• Use accurate affidavits: The companies cannot use affidavits to collect debts 
unless the statements contained in the affidavits specifically and accurately 
describe the signer’s knowledge of the facts and the documents attached. 

• Reform collection of older debts: Encore and Portfolio Recovery Associates 
are prohibited from suing or threatening to sue to collect on time-barred debt. 
They also cannot collect on such debt unless they disclose to consumers that they 
can’t sue to collect it.

• Pay civil money penalties: 

◦ Encore must pay a penalty of $10 million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

◦ Portfolio Recovery Associates must pay a penalty of $8 million to the CFPB’s 
Civil Penalty Fund. 

The Encore consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consent-order-encore-capital-
group.pdf

The Portfolio Recovery Associates consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consent-order-portfolio-recovery-
associates-llc.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
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I. 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 as well as under section 814(b) of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 16921(b). 

II. 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the 

Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 

Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 

5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of 

law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's 

jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III. 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions must apply to this Consent Order: 

3. "Affidavit" means those affidavits, declarations, verifications, or any sworn 

statements that are used in Legal Collection. 
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4. "Board" means the duly elected and acting Board of Directors of 

Respondent's parent company, PRA Group, Inc. 

5. "Charge-off' means the treatment of a receivable balance by a Creditor as a 

loss or expense because payment is unlikely. 

6. "Charge-off Balance" means the amount alleged due on an account 

receivable at the time of Charge-off. 

7. "Clearly and Prominently" means: 

a. as to written information, written in a type size and location sufficient 

for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it, and disclosed in a 

manner that would be easily recognizable and understandable in language 

and syntax to an ordinary consumer. If the information is contained in a 

multi-page print document, the disclosure appears on the first page; 

b. as to information presented orally, spoken and disclosed in a volume, 

cadence and syntax sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and 

comprehend. 

8. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to 

pay any Debt. 

9. "Creditor" means any person who was owed a Debt which was not in default 

at the time it was obtained by such person. 
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10. "Debt" means any obligation or alleged obligation of a Consumer to pay 

money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance or services 

which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 

11. "Debt Collection Lawsuit" means any lawsuit filed by Respondent, or on 

behalf of Respondent by a Law Firm, against any Consumer for the purpose of collecting 

any Debt. 

12. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

13. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

14. "Law Firm" shall refer to those third-party law firms retained by 

Respondent for the purpose of conducting debt collection activities on Respondent's 

behalf, including litigation. 

15. "Legal Collection" means any collection efforts made by Respondent's 

internal legal department or a Law Firm to collect Respondent's Debt, including but not 

limited to sending letters on Law Firm letterhead and filing Debt Collection Lawsuits. 

16. "Original Account-Level Documentation" means: 

a. any documentation that a Creditor, or that 

Creditor's agent (such as a servicer) provided to a 

Consumer about a Debt; or 
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b. a complete transactional history of a Debt created 

by a Creditor, or that Creditor's agent (such as a 

servicer);or 

c. a copy of a judgment, awarded to a Creditor. 

17. "Portfolio" means a collection of Debt sold to Respondent in a single 

transaction. 

18. "Related Consumer Action" shall mean a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another government agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as set forth in Section IV. 

19. "Relevant Time Period" means the period from July 21, 2011 to the 

Effective Date. 

20. "Respondent" means Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC and its successors 

and assigns. 

21. "Restitution Eligible Consumer" means any Consumer who made a 

payment, directly or indirectly, to Respondent: 

a. during the Relevant Time Period on judgments 

obtained from Time-Barred Debt Collection Lawsuits ("Time-

Barred Debt Restitution"), or 
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b. between July 21, 2011 and July 17, 2014, within 6o days 

of receiving a call from PRA's Litigation Department and after 

agreeing to make a payment where (1) the Debt had not yet 

been placed with an attorney; and (2) the Consumer was not 

informed during the call that the Debt had not been reviewed 

by an attorney ("Litigation Department Calls Restitution"). 

22. "Seller" means any person that sells any Portfolio to Respondent. 

23. "Time-Barred" when used to describe a Debt means any Debt that is beyond 

an applicable statute of limitations for a Debt Collection Lawsuit. 

IV. 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

24. PRA is a debt purchaser and collector headquartered in Norfolk, VA. PRA is 

one of the nation's largest buyers of defaulted loans, credit card accounts, car loans and 

other debts, which it purchases from creditors at a substantial discount to the face value 

of the debts. PRA has also purchased in the past from other debt buyers. It then attempts 

to collect these debts. 

25. PRA collected Debt related to consumer financial products or services. 

Accordingly, PRA is a "covered person" as defined by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). See 

also 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5) and (15)(A)(x). PRA is also a "debt collector" as defined in 

Section 803(6) of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 
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26. In 2013, PRA purchased more than $4.7 billion of charged-off Debts from 

banks, consumer and auto finance companies, and retail merchant finance companies. 

PRA'S DEBT BUYING PRACTICES 

27. Prior to PRA purchasing a Debt Portfolio, PRA typically receives an 

electronic file ("Sale File"), from the Seller that includes information about the 

Consumers and the Debts, including, but not limited to, name, address, social security 

number, as well as the current balance, contract interest rate, and dates of origination, 

last payment, and charge-off. 

28. PRA is aware that significant inaccuracies may exist in the Sale Files it 

purchases, including that some Debts' balances were not reduced by a consumer's 

subsequent payments. For instance, when a PRA senior manager raised a concern about 

the poor quality of sellers' balance information and asked how PRA can know actual 

balances owed if it does not receive information on post charge-off payments, PRA's Vice 

President for Collections responded, "We don't. 9o% of our cases are default judgments. 

We show the judge the math and if no one disputes we get our judgment. Debtor has the 

right to defend and prove us wrong. If they show payments we've missed we amend the 

complaint." 

29. Language in PRA's purchase agreements puts PRA on notice that 

information in the Sale File might be inaccurate, incomplete, or otherwise unreliable. For 

example, a debt seller may have specifically disclaimed the accuracy of information in the 

Sale File, notified PRA that documentation is unavailable, or notified PRA that a 
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percentage of accounts in a portfolio are disputed or barred by the applicable statute of 

limitations. For example, a 2009 purchase agreement with one large bank explicitly 

stated that account balances are "approximate" and "may not reflect credits for payments 

made by or on behalf of the [consumer] prior to the cut-off date." 

30. The purchase agreements stated that PRA was purchasing the loans based 

on PRA's independent examination, study, inspection and knowledge of the loans. 

However, PRA did not routinely check the account information in the Sale Files it 

purchased against the original creditor's records before contacting consumers, even when 

it knew or should have known the Sale File contained unreliable information. 

31. Some of PRA's purchase agreements put limitations on the availability of 

account-level documents, thus putting PRA on notice that it may not be able to access 

account-level documentation on all accounts purchased that would enable it to perform 

proper due diligence on Sale Files whose accuracy PRA has reason to doubt, investigate 

consumer disputes, or prove its case in contested litigation. Limitations on the availability 

of account-level documents in PRA's contracts included: 

a. notifying PRA that supporting documents may only be available for a 

percentage of the accounts, but not identifying which accounts lacked 

documentation; 

b. charging PRA a fee for each supporting document it requested; 

c. increasing the per-document fee after PRA requests a certain percentage of 

documents from that Debt Portfolio or requests documents after a certain 
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date (e.g., $1 per document after year one, $5 per document after year two); 

or 

d. prohibiting PRA from contacting the original creditor for information or 

supporting documents. 

32. A Seller's failure to provide media has never led PRA to terminate a contract 

or renegotiate its terms. 

PRA'S PRACTICES RELATED TO CONSUMER DISPUTES 

33. PRA did not monitor its portfolios of debts for accuracy. PRA relied 

primarily on consumer disputes to determine whether a portfolio was unreliable and 

would assume its accuracy unless consumers came forward with evidence of problems in 

material numbers. However, until March 2012, PRA did not even track consumer 

disputes by Seller to determine whether a particular portfolio of loans it purchased was 

unreliable. 

34. Prior to February 2013, PRA did not routinely request account-level 

documentation if a Consumer disputed the Debt in writing more than 3o days after PRA 

sent a notice of debt pursuant to section 809 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. Rather, 

PRA's policy stated that "ordering documents will be at the discretion of the dispute 

department since it is not mandated that we order them" and that PRA was "under no 

obligation to investigate" the disputed debt's validity before continuing collection. 

35. PRA does not investigate oral disputes. If consumers do not put their oral 

disputes in writing within 14 days, PRA will continue to demand payment without 
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determining the Debt's legitimacy. 

36. PRA did not alter its collection practices when collecting on Portfolios that 

it knew or should have known contained unreliable information. Consumers receiving 

collection attempts from PRA had no way of knowing that PRA had reason to suspect the 

accuracy of the information. 

PRA'S PRACTICES RELATED TO OBTAINING CONSENT TO COMPUTER DIAL 
CONSUMERS' CELL PHONES 

37. PRA representatives sometimes use a computer dialing system to place calls 

to phone numbers associated with PRA accounts. Federal law prohibits using an auto-

dialer to dial a Consumer's cell phone without that Consumer's express consent. 

38. For approximately a year, and ending in August 2013, PRA gained or 

attempted to gain consumers' consent by representing to Consumers that they can only 

prevent collection calls to their cell phones before 9 a.m. if they consent to receive 

computer dialing system calls on their cell phones. If a representative manually dials a 

Consumer's cell phone and reaches the Consumer, PRA's policy until August 2013 was to 

require the representative to ask for the Consumer's consent to add the cell phone 

number to the computer dialing system in return for preventing calls to the Consumer's 

cell phone before 9 a.m. PRA penalized representatives who failed to adhere to this 

policy. 

39. The FDCPA currently contains a provision prohibiting debt collectors from 

calling Consumers at an "unusual" or "inconvenient" time, presumed to be before 8 a.m. 

or after 9 p.m. local time. 15 U.S.C.§ 1692c. 
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PRA'S PRACTICES RELATED TO LEGAL COLLECTIONS 

40. PRA represented to Consumers expressly or by implication that their Debts 

have been selected for legal action based on a review by an attorney. In fact, PRA used a 

computerized scoring model to select Debts for Legal Collections. This scoring model 

selected approximately 4.5% of PRA's Debts for referral to Legal Collections. The 4.5% of 

Debts that entered this channel were the source of 28% of PRA's total collections revenue. 

PRA collected approximately $319 million through its legal collections channel in 2013 

alone. 

41. Once PRA refers a Debt for Legal Collection, specialized collectors contact 

the Consumer and attempt to arrange a settlement of the Debt. In most instances, no 

attorney has reviewed these Debts prior to these settlement efforts. 

42. On numerous occasions, these collectors, who identify themselves as the 

Litigation Department, made statements to Consumers such as "[PRA] will move forward 

with [its] litigation process" unless the consumer makes a payment to "stop the lawsuit." 

When Consumers hesitated to accept the payment plan, the Litigation Department 

collectors on numerous occasions countered with statements such as "You know that this 

is the Litigation Department, right?" or stated that the purpose of the call is "to see if we 

can get this resolved without the matter going to court." Prior to July 17, 2014, Collectors 

from the Litigation Department did not disclose whether or not an attorney had reviewed 

the Consumer's Debt. 
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43. Despite repeated references to "litigation" during the legal collections 

process, PRA in numerous instances had not reviewed or decided whether to file suit at 

the time collectors make those statements. 

PRA'S LITIGATION PRACTICES 

44- PRA uses dozens of law firms across the country to file approximately 3,000 

suits every week. Consumers respond to less than six percent of those actions. In 2012 

alone, PRA's internal and external counsel filed over 160,000 Debt Collection Lawsuits in 

state and local courts. 

45. PRA's recovery rate for post-suit collections is three times larger than PRA's 

recovery rates from other collection channels. 

46. Over a three year period, PRA placed tens of thousands of Debts with Law 

Firms staffed by fewer than five attorneys. For example, PRA placed approximately 

27,000 Debts with a New York law firm employing just three attorneys and 21,000 Debts 

with a North Carolina law firm employing only five attorneys. PRA does not set a limit on 

the number of Debts it will place with a Law Firm based on the number of attorneys 

employed by the firm. 

47. PRA did not require its Law Firms to review account-level documents prior 

to filing suit. PRA prohibited them from contacting the original creditor or debt sellers 

directly to request such documents. PRA does not review pleadings before outside 

counsel files them. 
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48. PRA did not inform its Law Firms when an original creditor or debtor has 

specifically disclaimed the accuracy or validity of the Debt, has notified PRA that 

documentation is unavailable for some Debts, or notified PRA that a percentage of Debts 

in a portfolio are disputed or barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 

PRA'S MISLEADING COLLECTION AFFIDAVITS 

49. In many jurisdictions, PRA has been able to obtain a settlement or a default 

judgment against a Consumer using an Affidavit as its only evidence. PRA also uses 

Affidavits as proof in contested matters. 

5o. In Affidavits used to support PRA Debt Collection Lawsuits, PRA's affiants 

on many occasions represented that they have personal knowledge of original creditors' 

account-level documentation corroborating consumers' debts when in fact they did not. 

For example, PRA affiants testified: 

a. "This affidavit is based upon my personal 

knowledge . . . and my review of . . . the business 

records transferred to Account Assignee from 

[Account Seller]" ; 

b. "I am authorized to make the statements ... herein, 

and do so based upon a review of . . . account 

records transferred to Account Assignee from 

[Account Seller]" ; 
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c. "According to the records transferred to the 

Account Assignee from Account Seller, and 

maintained in the ordinary course of business by 

the Account Assignee, there was due and payable 

from [Consumer] to the Account Seller the sum of 

$[Debt] with respect to [account number], as of 

[date of sale] with there being no known un-

credited payments, counterclaims or offsets against 

the said debt as of the date of the sale." 

51. In numerous instances, affiants made the representations discussed in the 

preceding paragraph after merely reviewing a computer screen containing the scant 

information produced by Sellers in data files and not after a review of any account level 

documents such as account applications, terms and conditions of contracts, payment 

histories, monthly credit card statements, or charge slips. 

52. PRA's affiants on numerous occasions represented that the terms and 

conditions document attached to the Affidavit specifically applied to the Consumer's 

Debt. 

53. In fact, in numerous instances, the attached terms and conditions were 

often generic and did not necessarily apply to the Consumer's Debt. 
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54. In numerous instances, PRA through its affiants represented directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication that they have knowledge of the content of an 

account agreement. 

55. In fact, in certain instances the affiants could not have such knowledge 

because in the same filings, PRA represented it was unable to locate the agreement the 

affiant would have to review to gain that knowledge. 

PRA'S COLLECTION OF TIME-BARRED DEBT 

56. PRA occasionally threatened or filed suit on Debt that was past the 

applicable statute of limitations. 

57. After learning that it had obtained judgments on Debts that were beyond 

the statute of limitations, PRA did not move to vacate these judgments or otherwise 

remediate those Debts that had already been reduced to judgment. 

58. In numerous instances from at least January 1, 2009 to March 1, 2012, PRA 

collected Time-Barred Debt by falsely representing that Consumers had a legally 

enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 

59. In numerous instances prior to March 1, 2012, PRA sent letters containing 

time-limited settlement offers that failed to disclose that the debt it was collecting was too 

old for litigation. PRA's letters seeking to settle Time-Barred debt contained statements 

such as, "These savings won't last long . . . ," "CALL NOW to take advantage of these 

limited time offers," "Your first payment must be received NO LATER than . . . ," and 

"Your account will be considered 'Settled in Full' after your final payment is posted." 
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Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

60. Covered persons are prohibited from engaging "in any unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice" in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(i)(13). 

61. Respondent is a "covered person" within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

62. Respondent made numerous misrepresentations to Consumers in 

connection with attempting to collect Debts, a Consumer financial product or service. 

False or Unsubstantiated Representations About Owing a Debt, 
in Violation of the CFPA 

63. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Consumers owed Debts to 

Respondent with certain unpaid balances, interest rates, and payment due dates. 

Respondent further represented to Consumers directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that Respondent had a reasonable basis for representing that Consumers 

owed the claimed Debts to Respondent. 

64. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances the representations set forth in 

Paragraph 63 were false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were 

made, including but not limited to where: 
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a. Consumers disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or 

accuracy of the Debt and Respondent failed to review information that 

would have been necessary to have a reasonable basis to continue collecting 

on that Debt; or 

b. Respondent had knowledge or reason to believe, based on 

contractual terms or past performance of accounts sold by a seller, that a 

specific portfolio of accounts contained unreliable data, but Respondent 

failed to obtain and review information that would have been necessary to 

have a reasonable basis to collect on the Debt. 

65. The representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

66. The representations set forth in Paragraph 63 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresenting that PRA Intends to Prove the Debt, 
If Contested, in Violation of the CFPA 

67. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers through litigation or threats of 

litigation, Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

PRA intends to prove its claims, if contested. 
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68. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, Respondent did not intend to 

prove its claims, if contested. 

69. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding whether to pay the Debt or contest the lawsuit 

and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

7o. The representations set forth in Paragraph 67 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Filing Misleading Collection Affidavits in Violation of the CFPA 

71. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, in Affidavits filed in courts 

across the country, Respondent represented directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that: 

a. PRA affiants had reviewed account-level documentation from the 

original creditor corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 

b. Documents attached to affidavits were specific to the Consumer; or 

c. PRA affiants were familiar with the content of account agreements. 

72. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances: 

a. PRA's affiants had not reviewed account-level documentation from 

the original creditor corroborating the Consumer's Debt; 

b. Documentation attached to affidavits was not specific to the 
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Consumer; or 

c. PRA affiants were not familiar with the content of account 

agreements because, for example, the account agreements at issue 

were no longer available for affiants to review. 

73. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to a lawsuit and are likely to 

mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

74. The representations set forth in Paragraph 71 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresentations Regarding Time-Barred Debt, in Violation of the CFPA 

75. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations 

from Consumers, Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that Consumers had a legally enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 

76. In truth and in fact, Consumers do not have a legally enforceable obligation 

to pay Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations. 

77. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

claim and are likely to mislead Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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78. The representations set forth in Paragraph 75 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresentations Regarding Attorney Review 

79. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt, Respondent represented to Consumers, directly 

or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that an attorney has reviewed the Consumer's 

Debt or that the collector is calling on the attorney's behalf. 

80. In truth and in fact, an attorney had not reviewed the Consumer's Debt and 

the collector was not calling on behalf of an attorney. 

81. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

82. The representations set forth in Paragraph 79 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresentations of Imminent Litigation 

83. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt, Respondent represented to Consumers, directly 

or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that litigation was planned, imminent, or even 

underway. 
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84. In truth and in fact, litigation was not planned, imminent, or underway 

because PRA had not decided whether to file suit. 

85. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to an allegedly outstanding Debt 

and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

86. The representations set forth in Paragraph 83 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Misrepresentations about Computer Dialing System Calls 

87. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt, Respondent represented to Consumers, directly 

or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers cannot prevent collection calls 

on their cell phones before 9 a.m. local time unless they consent to receiving computer 

dialing system calls on their cell phones. 

88. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, consumers can prevent 

collections calls on their cell phones before 9 a.m. local time even if they do not consent to 

receiving computer dialing system calls on their cell phones. Under Section 805(a)(1) of 

the FDCPA, PRA is prohibited from calling consumers at any time PRA knows or should 

know is inconvenient to consumers. Consumers can simply tell PRA that it is 

inconvenient to call before 9 a.m. local time and PRA is prohibited from doing so. 

Further, absent information to the contrary, Section 805(a)(1) requires debt collectors to 
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assume that the convenient time for communicating with consumers is after 8 a.m. local 

time. 

89. These representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

consumer's choice or conduct regarding whether to provide consent to receive computer 

dialing system calls on a cell phone and are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

9o. The representations set forth in Paragraph 87 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

91. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors from 

using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the 

collection of any debt. Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) 

specifically prohibits the false representations of the character, amount, or legal status of 

any debt. Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) specifically prohibits the 

threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken. 

Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), prohibits using false 

representations or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain 

information concerning a consumer. 

92. Respondent is a "debt collector" within the meaning of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 
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93. Respondent made numerous representations to consumers in connection 

with attempting to collect debts arising out of transactions primarily for personal, family, 

or household purposes. 

False or Unsubstantiated Representations About Owing a Debt, 
in Violation of the FDCPA 

94. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Consumers owed Debts to 

Respondent with certain unpaid balances, interest rates, and payment due dates. 

Respondent further represented to Consumers directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that Respondent had a reasonable basis for representing that Consumers 

owed the claimed Debts to Respondent. 

95. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances the representations set forth in 

Paragraph 94 were false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were 

made, including but not limited to where: 

a. Consumers disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or 

accuracy of the Debt and Respondent failed to review information that 

would have been necessary to have a reasonable basis to continue collecting 

on that Debt; or 

b. Respondent had knowledge or reason to believe, based on 

contractual terms or past performance of accounts sold by a seller, that a 

specific portfolio of accounts contained unreliable data, but Respondent 
Page 23 of 60 

2015-CFPB-0023     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 23 of 60



failed to obtain and review information that would have been necessary to 

have a reasonable basis to collect on the account. 

96. The representations set forth in Paragraph 94 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 807 and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692010). 

Misrepresenting that PRA Intends to Prove the Debt, 
If Contested, in Violation of the FDCPA 

97. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers through litigation or threats of 

litigation, Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

PRA intends to prove its claims, if contested. 

98. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, Respondent did not intend to 

prove its claims, if contested. 

99. The representations set forth in Paragraph 97 are false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 807, 807(5), and 807(10) of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(5), 1692010). 

Filing Misleading Collection Affidavits, in Violation of the FDCPA 

100. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, in affidavits filed in courts 

across the country, Respondent represented directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that: 
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a. PRA affiants had reviewed account-level documentation from the 

original creditor corroborating the consumer's debt; 

b. Documents attached to affidavits were specific to the consumer; or 

c. PRA affiants were familiar with the content of account agreements. 

101. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances: 

a. PRA's affiants had not reviewed account-level documentation from 

the original creditor corroborating the consumer's debt; 

b. Documentation attached to affidavits was not specific to the 

consumer; or 

c. PRA affiants were not familiar with the content of account 

agreements because, for example, the account agreements at issue 

were no longer available for affiants to review. 

102. The representations set forth in Paragraph 100 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807, and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(10). 

Misrepresentations Regarding Time-Barred Debt, in Violation of the FDCPA 

103. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations 

from Consumers, PRA represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

Consumers had a legally enforceable obligation to pay the Debt. 
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104. In truth and in fact, Consumers do not have a legally enforceable obligation 

to pay Debt that is beyond the applicable statute of limitations. 

105. The representations set forth in Paragraph 103 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807, 807(2)(A), 807(5), and 

807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A), 1692e(5), 1692e(10). 

Misrepresentations of Attorney Review 

106. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that an attorney has reviewed the 

Consumer's Debt or that the collector is calling on the attorney's behalf. 

107. In truth and in fact, an attorney had not reviewed the Consumer's Debt and 

the collector was not calling on behalf of an attorney. 

io8. The representations set forth in Paragraph 106 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807 and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(lo). 

Misrepresentations of Imminent Litigation 

109. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that litigation is planned, imminent, or 

even underway. 
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110. In truth and fact, litigation was not planned, imminent, or underway 

because PRA had not decided whether to file suit. 

iii. The representations set forth in Paragraph 109 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807, 807(2)(A), and 807(10) 

of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A), 1692e(10). 

Misrepresentations about Computer Dialing System Calls 

112. In numerous instances during the Relevant Period, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent represented, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers cannot prevent 

collection calls on their cell phones before 9 a.m. local time unless they consent to receive 

computer dialing system calls on their cell phones. 

113. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, consumers can prevent 

collections calls on their cell phones before 9 a.m. local time even if they do not consent to 

receiving computer dialing system calls on their cell phones. Under Section 805(a)(1) of 

the FDCPA, PRA is prohibited from calling consumers at any time PRA knows or should 

know is inconvenient to consumers. Consumers can simply tell PRA that it is 

inconvenient to call before 9 a.m. local time and PRA is prohibited from doing so. 

Further, absent information to the contrary, Section 805(a)(1) requires debt collectors to 

assume that the convenient time for communicating with consumers is after 8 a.m. local 

time. 
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114. The representations set forth in Paragraph 112 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Sections 807 and 807(10) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 1692e( 10). 

V. 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

115. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1); 

and Sections 807, 807(2)(A), 807(5), and 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 

1692e(2)(A), 1692(5), 1692(8), and 1692(10). 

VI. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST COLLECTING DEBTS WITHOUT A REASONABLE 
BASIS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or participation with 

any of them, who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited from: 

116. Making any representation, expressly or by implication, that a Consumer 

owes a Debt to Respondent or as to the amount of a Debt unless, at the time of making 

the representation, Respondent can substantiate the representation. Without limiting the 
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foregoing, such substantiation must include reviewing Original Account-Level 

Documentation reflecting the Consumer's name and the claimed amount excluding any 

post Charge-off or post-judgment payments (unless the claimed amount is higher than 

the Charge-off Balance or judgment balance, in which case Respondent must review (i) 

Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Charge-Off Balance or judgment 

balance and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed amount was calculated and why such 

increase in authorized by the agreement creating the Debt or permitted by law) under any 

of the following circumstances: 

a. The Consumer disputed orally or in writing, the accuracy or validity 

of the Debt: 

b. The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a purchase 

agreement without meaningful and effective representations and 

warranties as to the accuracy or validity of the Debt; 

c. The Debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a purchase 

agreement without meaningful and effective commitments to provide 

Original Account-Level Documentation during the time period in 

which Respondent is collecting the Debt; 

d. The Debt was purchased in a Portfolio, after the Effective Date, 

which Respondent knows includes unsupported or materially 

inaccurate information about any Debt, based on either of the 

following factors: 
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i. At any time during the preceding twelve months, a Consumer 

disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or validity of a Debt 

in the Portfolio and Respondent sought but was unable to 

obtain Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the 

amount of the Debt or the identity of the person responsible 

for the Debt, unless (i) Respondent can establish, based on a 

documented and thorough review of Original Account-Level 

Documentation concerning a sample of other Debts in the 

Portfolio, that the inability to obtain Original Account-Level 

Documentation to support the Debt in the Portfolio was an 

anomaly; or (ii) the inability to obtain Account-Level 

Documentation reflecting the amount of the Debt was caused 

by a documented balance adjustment made by a Creditor after 

Respondent acquired the Portfolio containing the Debt (for 

example, balance adjustments caused by a Creditor's audit or 

restitution); 

ii. Original Account-Level Documentation produced to 

Respondent, by a Seller or a Consumer, reflected information 

about the amount of the Debt or the identity of the person 

responsible for the Debt that was inconsistent and 

irreconcilable with information previously provided to 
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Respondent by the seller, unless (i) Respondent can establish, 

based on a documented and thorough review of Original 

Account-Level Documentation concerning a sample of other 

Debts in the Portfolio, that the production of inaccurate or 

inconsistent information concerning the Debt in the Portfolio 

was an anomaly; or (ii) the inconsistency was caused by a 

documented balance adjustment made by a Creditor after 

Respondent acquired the Portfolio containing the Debt (for 

example, balance adjustments caused by a Creditor's audit or 

restitution). 

117. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Respondent is not required pursuant to this 

Paragraph to (i) refuse to accept any payments voluntarily submitted by Consumers; 

(ii) suspend collections for Consumers who have acknowledged the Debt and agreed 

to make payments; or (iii) refuse to communicate with a Consumer who 

affirmatively contacts Respondent (or Respondent's agents) or requests contact 

from Respondent (or Respondent's agents) to discuss the Consumer's Debt. 
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VII. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST SELLING DEBT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited from: 

118. Reselling Debt to anyone other than (i) the entity that initially sold the Debt 

to Respondent or to the Creditor; (ii) to a subsidiary or affiliate of Respondent that is 

subject to the terms of this Consent Order (either by operation of law or by agreement); 

(iii) to any entity that is subject to the terms of this Consent Order as part of an 

acquisition or merger with Respondent, or purchase of all or substantially all of 

Respondent's assets; or (iv) Respondent's (or its affiliates') creditors or any agent of such 

creditors (in each case, solely in their capacity as such) in settlement or satisfaction of any 

claims under, or in connection with the default or remedial provisions of, any relevant 

loan or lending agreement. 

VIII. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST THREATENING OR FILING COLLECTION 
LAWSUITS WITHOUT AN INTENT TO PROVE THE DEBT, IF CONTESTED 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or participation with 

any of them, who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited from: 
Page 32 of 60 

2015-CFPB-0023     Document 1     Filed 09/09/2015     Page 32 of 60



119. Initiating any Debt Collection Lawsuit unless in possession of the following: 

a. Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting, at a minimum, the 

Consumer's name, the last four digits of the account number associated 

with the Debt at the time of Charge-off, the claimed amount excluding any 

post Charge-off payments (unless the claimed amount is higher than the 

Charge-off Balance or judgement balance, in which case Respondent must 

possess (i) Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Charge-off 

Balance and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed amount was calculated 

and why such increase is authorized by the agreement creating the Debt or 

permitted by law), and, if Respondent is suing under a breach of contract 

theory, the contractual terms and conditions applicable to the Debt; 

b. A chronological listing of the names of all prior owners of the Debt and the 

date of each transfer of ownership of the Debt, beginning with the name of 

the Creditor at the time of Charge-off; 

c. A certified or other properly authenticated copy of each bill of 

sale or other document evidencing the transfer of ownership 

of the Debt at the time of Charge-off to each successive owner, 

including Respondent. Each of the bills of sale or other 

documents evidencing the transfer of ownership of the Debt 

must include a specific reference to the particular Debt being 

collected upon, which can be done by referencing an exhibit 
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attached to each bill of sale or other document transferring 

ownership of the Debt that is represented or warranted by a 

Seller to be a list all Debts acquired in that Portfolio; and 

d. Any one of the following: 

i. A document signed by the Consumer evidencing the opening 

of the account forming the basis for the Debt; or 

ii. Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting a purchase, 

payment, or other actual use of account by the Consumer. 

120. Engaging in any Legal Collection without providing the Consumer with 

certain information about the Debt, unless previously provided, including but not limited 

to, the following information: 

a. the name of the Creditor at the time of Charge-off, including the name under 

which that Creditor did business with the Consumer; 

b. the last four digits of the account number associated with the Debt at the time 

of Consumer's last monthly account statement, or if not available, at the time of 

Charge-off; 

c. the Charge-off Balance; 

d. Respondent's method of calculating any amount claimed in excess of the 

Charge-off Balance; and 
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e. a statement that the Consumer may request, in writing, copies of the 

documentation referenced in Paragraph 119 and Respondent or Respondent's 

agent will, within 3o days of such request, provide the documentation at no 

cost. 

IX. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST FILING FALSE OR MISLEADING AFFIDAVITS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in connection with any lawsuit to collect a Debt, 

Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all 

other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from: 

121. Submitting any Affidavit: 

a. In which the affiant represents, expressly or by implication, that the 

Affidavit has been notarized if the Affidavit was not executed in the 

presence of a notary; 

b. Containing an inaccurate statement, including but not limited to a 

statement that attached documentation relates to the specific Consumer 

being sued when that is not the case; 
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c. In which the affiant represents, expressly or by implication, that any 

attached or unattached documents or records concerning the Debt forming 

the basis for the lawsuit have been reviewed by the affiant, when that is not 

the case; or 

d. In which the affiant represents, expressly or by implication, that the affiant 

has personally reviewed the Affidavit, when that is not the case. 

X. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST FALSE OR MISLEADING 
REPRESENTATIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in connection with the collection of debt, 

Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all 

other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from: 

122. Making any material misrepresentation or omission or assisting others in 

making any material misrepresentation or omission, expressly or by implication, 

including but not limited to misrepresentations: 
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a. To obtain a Consumer's consent to receive calls from a computer dialing 

system, including but not limited to, representations that the only means by 

which a Consumer can avoid collection calls during certain time periods is 

through consent to receiving calls to his or her cell phone. 

b. That an attorney has reviewed a Consumer's Debt, where an attorney has 

not done so; 

c. That a Debt Collection Lawsuit has been filed against the Consumer, where 

a Debt Collection Lawsuit has not been filed previously; 

d. That a Debt Collection Lawsuit may be filed against the Consumer unless a 

payment is received, where an attorney has not previously reviewed and 

approved the Debt for suit. 

123. Using its "Litigation Department" or any similarly named office or group to 

collect or attempt to collect a Debt through solicitation, including but not limited phone 

calls or through writing, unless: 

a. An attorney has personally reviewed the Debt; or 

b. The solicitation or writing Clearly and Prominently discloses that no 

attorney has reviewed the Debt when in fact an attorney has not done so. 

124. Using outside Law Firms to collect or attempt to collect a Debt, through 

solicitation including but not limited to phone calls or through writing, unless 

a. An attorney has personally reviewed the Debt; or 
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b. The solicitation or writing Clearly and Prominently discloses that no 

attorney has reviewed the Debt when in fact an attorney has not done so. 

XI. 

PROHIBITION AGAINST DECEPTIVELY COLLECTING TIME-BARRED 
DEBT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent, Respondent's officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited from: 

125. Collecting or attempting to collect any Time-Barred Debt through litigation 

or arbitration. 

126. Collecting or attempting to collect any Time-Barred Debt through any 

means, including but not limited to telephone calls and written communications without 

Clearly and Prominently disclosing to the Consumer: 

a. For those Time-Barred Debts that generally cannot be included in a consumer 

report under the provisions of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), but can be 

collected through other means pursuant to applicable state law, Respondent 

will include the following statement: "The law limits how long you can be sued 

on a debt and how long a debt can appear on your credit report. Due to the age 

of this debt, we will not sue you for it or report payment or non-payment of it to 

a credit bureau;" and 
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b. For those Time-Barred Debts that can be collected through other means 

pursuant to applicable state law, and may be included in a consumer report 

under the provisions of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), Respondent will include 

the following statement: "The law limits how long you can be sued on a debt. 

Because of the age of your debt, we will not sue you for it. " 

127. Making any representation or statement, or taking any other action that 

interferes with, detracts from, contradicts, or otherwise undermines the disclosures 

required in Paragraph 126 of this section. 

128. Respondent will be deemed to have complied with the disclosure 

requirements of Paragraph 126 if it makes a disclosure to Consumers in a specific 

jurisdiction that (1) is required by the laws or regulations of that jurisdiction, (2) complies 

with those laws or regulations, and (3) is substantially similar to the disclosure required 

by Paragraph 126. 

XII. 

COMPLIANCE PLAN 

129. Within 6o days from the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's Debt collection practices comply 

with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum 
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a. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to prevent 

violations of applicable Federal consumer financial protection laws and 

prevent associated risks of harm to consumers; 

b. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to ensure 

that Respondent conducts due diligence regarding the accuracy of the 

information it acquires from Creditors; 

c. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to insure 

that Law Firms engaged by Respondent to collect Debt do not violate any 

applicable Federal consumer financial protection laws that must include at 

a minimum: 

i. An analysis to be conducted by Respondent, prior to Respondent 

entering into a contract with the Law Firm, of the ability of the Law 

Firm to perform its obligations in compliance with all applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent's related policies 

and procedures; 

ii. For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between the 

Respondent and the Law Firm, which sets forth the responsibilities 

of each party, including: 

1. the Law Firm's specific performance 

responsibilities and duty to maintain adequate 

internal controls; 
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2. the Law Firm's duty to provide adequate training 

on compliance with all applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and Respondent's related policies and 

procedures; 

3. the Law Firm's duty to alert Respondent 

whenever a Consumer submits an oral or written 

dispute or asserts a defense to a Debt Collection 

Lawsuit, including but not limited to a dispute 

concerning the accuracy or validity of the Debt or any 

assertion that the Debt was Time-Bared; 

4. Respondent's authority to conduct periodic 

onsite reviews of the Law Firm's controls, performance, 

and information systems related to Debt collection on 

behalf of Respondent; and 

5. Respondent's right to terminate the contract if 

the Law Firm materially fails to comply with the terms 

specified in the contract, including the terms required 

by this Paragraph; and 

iii. Periodic review by Respondent of Law Firm's controls, 

performance, and information systems related to Debt Collections. 
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d. An effective training program that includes regular, specific, 

comprehensive training in consumer protection laws commensurate with 

individual job functions and duties for appropriate employees, including all 

employees having responsibilities that relate to consumer protection laws, 

senior management and the Board; 

e. An enhanced and well-documented internal risk-focused monitoring 

process incorporated into the daily work of Respondent's employees that is 

designed to detect and promptly correct compliance weaknesses of the 

Respondent and its service providers, particularly weaknesses that impact 

Consumers; 

f. An effective consumer complaint monitoring process, including the 

maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic 

complaints from Consumers or inquiries, formal or informal, received by 

Respondent and its service providers and the resolution of the complaints 

and inquiries; and 

g. Effective independent audit coverage of the Compliance Program and 

Respondent's compliance with all Federal consumer protection laws and 

internal policies and procedures. 
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130. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the event 

that the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 3o days. 

131. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

132. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Respondent must take whatever steps 

necessary to fully implement all of the requirements and restrictions described in 

Paragraphs 116 and 119-120 within 180 days of the Effective Date and all of the 

requirements and restrictions described in Paragraphs 121 and 125-128 within 90 days of 

the Effective Date. 

XIII. 

ROLE OF THE BOARD 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

133. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to the 

Bureau. 
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134. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will 

have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and 

for ensuring that Respondent complies with applicable Federal consumer financial law 

and this Consent Order. 

135. In each instance that this Consent Order required the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board 

must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations to be taken under the terms of this Consent Order; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with and any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

XIV. 

ORDER TO PAY REDRESS 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

136. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit 

into a segregated deposit account an amount not less than $19,045,443 for the purpose of 

providing redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers as required by this Consent Order. 
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137. For the 837 Restitution Eligible Consumers eligible for Time-Barred Debt 

Restitution, Respondent must provide full restitution, expected to total approximately 

$860,607, of all payments made, directly or indirectly, during the Relevant Time Period. 

138. For the 38,246 Restitution Eligible Consumers eligible for Litigation 

Department Calls Restitution, Respondent must refund all such payments, expected to 

total approximately $18,184,836, made between July 21, 2011 and July 17, 2014. 

139. For the judgments obtained during the Relevant Time Period from Time-

Barred Debt Collection Lawsuits that have yet to be paid, expected to total approximately 

$3,411,094, Respondent must within 90 days of the Effective Date: 

a. Withdraw, dismiss, or terminate all pending Time-Barred Debt Collection 

Lawsuits; 

b. Release or move to vacate all judgments obtained during the Relevant 

Period in Time-Barred Debt Collection Lawsuits; 

c. Cease post-judgment enforcement activities and cease accepting settlement 

payments related to any Time-Barred Debt Collection Lawsuit; 

d. Request that the consumer reporting agencies amend, delete, or suppress 

information regarding any Time-Barred Debt Collection Lawsuits, and associated 

judgments, as applicable. 

Redress Plan 

140. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 
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providing redress consistent with this Consent Order ("Redress Plan"). The Enforcement 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to 

revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 3o days. After receiving notification that the 

Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, 

Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes set forth in the Redress Plan. 

141. With respect to redress paid to Restitution Eligible Consumers, the Redress 

Plan must include: (1) the form of the letters ("Redress Notification Letters") to be sent 

notifying Restitution Eligible Consumers of the redress; and (2) the form of the envelope 

that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The Redress Notification Letter sent to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers receiving Time-Barred Debt Restitution must include 

language explaining the manner in which the amount of redress was calculated; a 

statement that the provision of the refund payment is in accordance with the terms of this 

Consent Order; and a statement that accepting payment of redress will not subject the 

Consumer to any new Debt collection or credit reporting activities for that Debt. The 

Redress Notification Letters sent to Restitution Eligible Consumers receiving Litigation 

Department Calls Restitution must include language explaining the manner in which the 

amount of redress was calculated; a statement that the provision of the refund payment is 

in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order; and may include a statement that 
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Respondent is not waiving its right to collect the remaining amount of the Debt, if any, in 

excess of any refund payment made under this Consent Order. Respondent must not 

include in any envelope containing a "Redress Notification Letter" any materials other 

than the approved letters and redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained written 

confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of such additional materials. 

142. The Redress Plan must include a description of the following: 

a. methods used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential 

Restitution Eligible Consumers; 

b. methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Restitution Eligible Consumers as required herein; 

c. procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers; 

d. methods and procedures used and the time necessary to withdraw, dismiss, 

move to vacate, terminate, or release the Time-Barred Debt Collection Lawsuits and 

associated judgments, or to cease enforcement activities on Time-Barred Debt Collection 

Lawsuit judgments; 

e. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan 

f. the process for providing restitution for Restitution Eligible Consumers, 

which shall include the following requirements: 

i.Respondent must mail a check to any Restitution Eligible Consumer along 
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with a Redress Notification Letter; 

ii.Respondent must send the check by United States Postal Service first-class 

mail, address correction service requested, to the Restitution Eligible Consumer's last 

known address as maintained by Respondent's records. 

iii.Respondent must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address for 

any Restitution Eligible Consumer whose Redress Notification Letter and/or restitution 

check is returned for any reason, using the National Change of Address System, and must 

promptly re-mail all returned letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if 

any. If the check for any Restitution Eligible Consumer is returned to Respondent after 

such second mailing by Respondent, or if a current mailing address cannot be identified 

using National Change of Address System, Respondent must retain the restitution 

amount of such Restitution Eligible Consumer for a period of three-hundred sixty (36o) 

days from the date the restitution check was originally mailed, during which period such 

amount may be claimed by such Restitution Eligible Consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. After such time these monies will be deposited into the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. 

143. The Redress Plan shall allow for a reduction in the amount of any payments 

previously refunded to a Restitution Eligible Customer by Respondent prior to the 

Effective Date. 
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144. If Respondent claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective 

Date of this Consent Order that complies with the requirements of this Consent Order, 

Respondent must provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Enforcement 

Director. 

145. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers is less than $19,045,443, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to 

the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring instructions, 

the difference between the amount of redress provided to Restitution Eligible Consumers 

and $19,045,443. 

146. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if 

funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any 

remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to 

challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

147. Respondent must not condition the payment of any redress to any 

Restitution Eligible Consumer under this Consent Order on that person's agreement to 

any condition, such as the waiver of any right. 

Assessment of Redress 

148. Respondent must retain at its own expense the services of an independent 
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certified accounting firm ("Firm"), within 15 days after the Enforcement Director's non-

objection pursuant to Paragraph 14o, to determine compliance with the Redress Plan. 

The Firm shall determine compliance in accordance with the attestation standards 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for agreed-upon 

procedures for engagements. 

149. Prior to engagement, and no later than 6o days from the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit the name and qualifications of the Firm, together with the 

proposed engagement letter with the Firm and the proposed agreed-upon procedures, to 

the Enforcement Director for non-objection. Within 15 days after submission of the 

Firm's name, the Enforcement Director must notify Respondent in writing of the 

Bureau's objection or non-objection thereto. 

15o. The Firm must prepare a detailed written report of its assessment of 

Respondent's compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan ("Restitution Report"). The 

Restitution Report must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the methodology 

used to determine the population of Eligible Consumers, the amount of redress for each 

Restitution Eligible Consumer, the procedures used to issue and track redress payments, 

and the work of any independent consultants that Respondent has used to assist and 

review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

151. The Firm must submit the Restitution Report to the Enforcement Director 

and the Board within 90 days after Respondent completes implementation of the Redress 

Plan. 
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XV. 

ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

152. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law alleged in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$8,000,000 to the Bureau. 

153. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

154. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d)-

155. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent must not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty that Respondent pays under 

this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 
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indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

156. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this 

action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a 

Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and 

will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

XVI. 

ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 

157. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

158. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 
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Respondent. 

159. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent , unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

16o. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to 

Consumers and describe the Consumers or classes of Consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. 

XVII. 

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

161. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; any default under a 

lending agreement under Section VII, Paragraph 118(iv); the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or 

address. Respondent must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or 

as soon as practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 
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162. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which has been approved by the Board, 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Consent Order acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XVIII of this Order, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XVIII. 

ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

163. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and each executive officer, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

164. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth 

in Section XVII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 
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165. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XX. 

RECORD KEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

166. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the 

following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau; and 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, as set forth 

in Section XIV above. 

167. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 166 for at 

least 5 years. 

168. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 166 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

NOTICES 
169. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 
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Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Portfolio Recovery Associates, File 

No. 2015-CFPB —[Docket #] and send them: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 I Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By U.S. first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement CompliancePcfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XXI. 

COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

170. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must 

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

171. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee 

or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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172. Nothing in this Consent Order shall limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XXII. 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 
173. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

174. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-

material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

Upon a written showing of good cause, the Enforcement Director may modify any 

provision of this Consent Order to the extent that compliance with that provision could 

cause Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation, 

including but not limited to any subsequent amendments of the CFPA, FCRA, or FDCPA. 

XXIII. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

175. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 176. 
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176. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

177. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

178. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative 

body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the 

dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order 

will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain 

effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 
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Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the 

Bureau or its designated agent. 

179. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

180. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations or 

assets that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

181. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For 

any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and 

Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

182. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior 

oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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183. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

SO ORDERED this  $14  day of 

Page 60 of 60 

, 2015. 

RdiA4144 CeLa"
Richard Cordray 
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CFPB Sues World Law Group for
Charging Illegal Fees and Making False
Promises in Debt-Relief Scheme
Lawsuit Names Individuals Responsible for Bilking $67 million from
21,000 Consumers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
announced that it has obtained a preliminary injunction against World Law Group and
its senior leaders for running a debtrelief scheme that charged consumers exorbitant,
illegal upfront fees. The Bureau alleges the debtrelief scheme falsely promised
consumers a team of attorneys to help negotiate debt settlements with creditors, failed
to provide legal representation, and rarely settled consumers’ debts. World Law is
alleged to have taken $67 million from at least 21,000 consumers before providing any
debtrelief services. The Bureau has obtained an order in U.S. District Court that halts
World Law’s operations and freezes defendants’ assets while the case is pending.

“We took action today against World Law Group for an alleged debt relief scheme that
lured consumers with false promises of help from lawyers and collected millions in
illegal upfront fees,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are seeking to put an
end to this scheme and prevent more consumers from being harmed.”

The Bureau’s lawsuit names Derin Scott, David Klein, and Bradley James Haskins, who
control World Law Group. The lawsuit alleges that the defendants operate through an
interrelated maze of companies, including Orion Processing, LLC, d/b/a World Law
Processing, WLD Credit Repair, and World Law Debt; Family Capital Investment &
Management LLC a/k/a FCIAM Property Management; World Law Debt Services, LLC;
and World Law Processing, LLC. The companies comingle funds and share functions,
employees, and office locations to operate the debtrelief scheme.

According to the complaint, World Law promised to help consumers reduce their debts
using a “team of attorneys,” including “local attorneys,” that would provide legal
representation and negotiate debt settlements directly with consumers’ creditors.
World Law allegedly told consumers to stop paying their debts and instead make a
single monthly payment to the company, which its lawyers would use to negotiate debt
settlements with creditors. According to the complaint, World Law unlawfully kept
many of these payments as fees before providing debtrelief services. As a result,
consumers paid millions of dollars in illegal fees and suffered additional harms,
including being subjected to collection calls, lawsuits, late fees, and lower credit scores.

The CFPB alleges that the World Law Group violated the DoddFrank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibitions against unfair, deceptive, or
abusive acts and practices and the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse
Prevention Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that World Law:
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Charged illegal upfront fees: According to the Bureau’s complaint, World
Law charged consumers thousands of dollars in fees before providing debtrelief
services. This is barred by the Telemarketing Sales Rule. In fact, the Bureau
alleges that 99 percent of consumers who enrolled in World Law’s program paid
illegal upfront fees. These unlawful fees include a $199 “initial fee” collected
during the first three months of the program, an “attorney monthly service fee” of
$84.95 per month, and “bundled legal service fees” ranging from 10 percent to 15
percent of the consumers’ outstanding debt balance, which are collected during
the first 13 months of the program.

Made false promises of legal representation: World Law promised that
consumers would receive local legal representation and have their debts
negotiated by an attorney. In reality, according to the Bureau, the defendants did
not provide the promised legal representation. The Bureau alleges that consumers
rarely, if ever, communicated with a lawyer and the vast majority of services
provided  ̶if services were provided at all  ̶were debtrelief services provided by
nonlawyers.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law. The Court issued the preliminary injunction because it found that the
Bureau is likely to prevail and that the public interest is served by granting the Order.
The case will proceed until the court makes a final determination or the parties settle
the matter.

A copy of the CFPB’s complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpbcomplaintorionprocessingllc
worldlaw.pdf

The full text of the preliminary injunction orders entered by the court
against the defendants is available here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_preliminaryinjunctionorion
processingllcworldlaw.pdf  and
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_preliminaryinjunctionorderorion
processingllcworldlaw.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECfiON BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB-

In the Matter of: CONSENT ORDER 

FIFTH THIRD BANK 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has revie,ved the marketing 

and administration of the debt protection credit card "add -on" product of Fifth Third 

Bank (Respondent, as defined below) and has identified violations of sections 1031 and 

1036 ofthe Consumer Financial Protection Act or 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ SS31, SS36. 

Under sections lOS3 and lOSS of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ SS63, ss6s, the Bureau issues 

this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 10S3 and 10SS of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ SS63, ss6s. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated September 24, 201S (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 

1 

2015-CFPB-0025     Document 1     Filed 09/28/2015     Page 1 of 32 

0025



1053 and 1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means Card Members who purchased and were 

enrolled in Debt Protection from January 1, 2007, through November 11, 

2013. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Cardholder" means any person who opened a credit card account issued 

by Respondent. 

d. "Debt Protection" means the Debt Protection credit card add-on product 

that Respondent marketed and sold to Cardholders beginning in 2007. 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

f. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

g. "Redress Period" means the period from January 1, 2007 through 

November 11, 2013. 

h. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Midwest Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau, or his/her delegate. 
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i. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

J. "Respondent" means Fifth Third Bank and its successors and assigns. 

k. "Sections 1031 and 1036" means sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 

I. "Service Provider" shall have the same meaning as set forth in section 

1002(26) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4· Respondent is a regional bank headquartered in Cincinnati, Ohio. As of June 30, 

2015, Respondent had approximately $139 billion in total assets. 

s. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10,ooo,ooo within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7· Beginning in the first quarter of 2007, Respondent began to market and sell Debt 

Protection to Cardholders in connection with a credit card balance transfer offer. 

8. Respondent marketed Debt Protection as allowing Cardholders to request the 

cancellation of credit card payments if the Cardholder encountered certain events 

and was approved for the benefit. Cardholders enrolled in this product as 

originally offered paid a monthly fee of 0.81% of the balance (i.e., $o.81j$100) as 

ofthe Cardholder's statement closing date. 
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9. Under the terms and conditions of Debt Protection as originally offered, 

Cardholders enrolled in the product could seek benefits after experiencing certain 

qualifying events, including involuntary unemployment, loss oflife (not available 

for customers that reach the age of 70 or are over the age of 70 at the time of 

enrollment), disability, and hospitalization. 

10. Beginning in December 2011, Respondent discontinued the original Debt 

Protection product and began offering an "enhanced" Debt Protection product. 

Respondent marketed the new version of Debt Protection as allowing 

Cardholders to request the cancellation of credit card payments if the Cardholder 

encountered certain events and was approved for the benefit. Cardholders 

enrolled in the new version of this product paid a monthly fee of 0.89% of the 

balance (i.e., $0.89/$100) as of the Cardholder's statement closing date. 

11. Under the terms and conditions of the new version of Debt Protection, 

Cardholders enrolled in the product could seek benefits after experiencing the 

same qualifying events of the original Debt Protection product, including 

involuntary unemployment, loss of life (expanded to include customers over the 

age of 70 ), disability, and hospitalization, as well as for additional events, such as 

military leave and natural disasters. 

12. From approximately January 1, 2007 through February 2013, Respondent 

marketed Debt Protection through outbound telemarketing and the Internet. 

13. Respondent employed third-party Service Providers to perform outbound 

telemarketing and Internet vendors to market Debt Protection to Cardholders. 

14. Respondent also employed a third-party Service Provider for product 

administration, customer service, and benefit request processing to Cardholders. 
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15. Respondent did not send Debt Protection's terms and conditions to Cardholders 

for customer review prior to enrollment, even when Cardholders asked to be 

mailed the product's terms and conditions before deciding to enroll. 

16. Respondent ceased all outbound telemarketing of Debt Protection to credit card 

customers in September 2012 and ceased all other enrollments effective February 

11, 2013. 

17. In mid-2013, Respondent initiated a mailing campaign in which it provided 

enhanced product descriptions to enrolled Debt Protection customers and 

requested that they indicate whether they desired to continue in the product. 

18. In August 2013, Respondent sent a follow up opt-in letter to all non-responsive 

customers. The ability for consumers to affirmatively opt in to the product ended 

in November 2013, with all customers that did not respond to either of the two 

letters being terminated from enrollment effective November 11, 2013. 

19. With respect to the marketing of Debt Protection, Respondent's compliance 

monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality assurance resulted in 

ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or correct certain improper 

sales practices. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentation Regarding Enrollment in 
Debt Protection 

20.From January 1, 2007 through September 2012, Respondent and its Service 

Providers enrolled some Cardholders in Debt Protection during telemarketing 

calls without adequately informing the Cardholders that they were purchasing 

the product, including by representing, expressly or impliedly: 

5 
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a. that Cardholders were agreeing to receive information about Debt 

Protection for review rather than purchasing Debt Protection; 

b. that Respondent was offering a risk-free trial of Debt Protection because 

the Cardholders were "valued customers," rather than offering 

Cardholders an optional product for which Cardholders would be charged 

a monthly fee after enrollment; and 

c. purporting to obtain Cardholders' permission to process their enrollments 

by asking Cardholders to verify their "participation" in Debt Protection by 

verifying their date of birth. 

21. In reality, Respondent enrolled Cardholders who agreed to receive information 

about Debt Protection or who agreed to the risk-free trial of Debt Protection, and 

Respondent charged those Cardholders the applicable monthly fees thereafter. 

Further, Cardholders who verified their date of birth were doing more than 

verifying personal information. Respondent treated the Cardholder's verification 

of his or her date of birth as consent to purchase the product. 

22.After Cardholders were enrolled, Respondent sent Cardholders product 

information ·with an acknowledgement form that further suggested that 

Cardholders had not yet purchased Debt Protection. The acknowledgment form 

represented, expressly or impliedly, that, by signing and returning the form, the 

Cardholder was electing to purchase Debt Protection. 

23. In reality, Respondent had already enrolled those Cardholders over the telephone 

and those Cardholders had already purchased Debt Protection. It did not matter 

whether the Cardholders signed and returned the acknowledgment form. 

6 
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24. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

25.As described in Paragraphs 20- 23, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Debt Protection, in numerous 

instances, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that: 

a. Cardholders were agreeing to receive information about Debt Protection 

or agreeing to a trial-period for Debt Protection; and 

b. Cardholders were agreeing to purchase Debt Protection upon signing an 

acknowledgment form sent to Cardholders. 

26. In fact, Respondent enrolled Cardholders over the telephone, and Cardholders 

were agreeing to purchase Debt Protection during that telephone call and not 

upon signing the acknowledgement form. Thus, Respondent's representations, as 

described in Paragraphs 20 and 22 constitute deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations 
Regarding Debt Protection Terms and Conditions 

27. From January 1, 2007 through September 2012, Respondent and its Service 

Providers misrepresented to some Cardholders the terms, exclusions, and 

benefits of Debt Protection during telemarketing calls, including by: 

a. failing to inform Cardholders who had disclosed information suggesting 

they would be ineligible for one or more of Debt Protection's benefits that 

those Cardholders would be ineligibJe for one or more of Debt Protection's 

benefits; 
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b. failing to inform older Cardholders that the death benefit associated with 

Debt Protection product as originally offered did not apply to Cardholders 

over the age of 70; 

c. misrepresenting Debt Protection's benefits by telling Cardholders that 

Debt Protection covered events that were excluded under the product 

terms and conditions (e.g., falsely telling a consumer who indicated that 

she was retired that the product covers retirements); and 

d. misrepresenting Debt Protection's benefits by telling Cardholders that 

Debt Protection protections began "immediately," when, for the 

"enhanced" Debt Protection product, Cardholders had to be enrolled in the 

product for go days before "activating" the hospitalization benefit. 

28. From December 2011 through September 2012, the entire period during which 

Respondent actively marketed the "enhanced" Debt Protection product, 

Respondent through its Service Provider sent to enrolled Cardholders 

"fulfillment kits" that contained the terms and conditions for the original version 

of the Debt Protection product. These fulfillment kits contained incorrect 

descriptions of the "enhanced" Debt Protection product's benefits, exclusions, 

terms, and conditions. 

2g.Section 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

30.As described in Paragraphs 27 - 28, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Debt Protection, in numerous 

instances, Respondent has misrepresented, expressly or impliedly, the terms, 

exclusions, and benefits of Debt Protection. 
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31. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraphs 27- 28 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations 
Regarding the Cost of Debt Protection 

32. From January 1, 2007 through September 2012, Respondent and its Service 

Providers misrepresented to some Cardholders the cost of Debt Protection during 

telemarketing calls, including by representing, expressly or impliedly, that if the 

Cardholder did not "carry a balance," then there would be no fee associated with 

the product or that Cardholders could avoid a fee by paying their balance in full 

before the monthly due date. 

33. In fact, to avoid paying the fee, the Cardholder had to pay the balance in full 

substantially earlier - prior to the statement cutoff date, which is the last day of 

the billing cycle for the Cardholder's account - so that the statement had a zero 

balance. 

34. From December 2011 through September 2012, the entire period during which 

Respondent actively marketed the "enhanced" Debt Protection product, 

Respondent through its Service Provider sent to enrolled Cardholders 

"fulfillment kits" that contained the terms and conditions for the original version 

of the Debt Protection product. These fulfillment kits contained incorrect 

information regarding the cost of the "enhanced" Debt Protection, claiming the 

product cost was 0.81% of the balance (i.e., $0.81/$100) when Respondent was 

actually charging Cardholders 0.89% of the balance (i.e., $o.8gj$wo). 
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35. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

36.As described in Paragraphs 32- 34, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Debt Protection, in numerous 

instances, Respondent has misrepresented, expressly or impliedly, the cost of 

Debt Protection. 

37. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraphs 32 and 34 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

38. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its Service 

Providers do not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 

and 5536, in connection with the advertising, marketing, and promotion of credit 

card add-on products. 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, 

offering for sale, sale, or performance of add-on products, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 
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1. That the customer was agreeing to a trial, and not enrollment, of 

the product; 

11. That the customer was agreeing to be mailed information about, 

and not enrolling in, the product; 

111. That all of the product benefits were available when there were 

limitations and exceptions applicable to some consumers; 

tv. That the product had no monthly fee if the customer's balance was 

paid in full or ifthe customer does not "carry a balance" when the 

terms and conditions of the product required that there be no 

balance at the time of the statement cutoff date; or 

v. That the monthly fees were less than the actual monthly fee for the 

product. 

39. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not reinstitute the marketing and sale of the Debt Protection product, and 

may not market or sell any credit card add-on products similar to the subject 

Debt Protection ·without first securing a determination of non-objection from the 

Regional Director, as follows: 

a. Respondent must submit to the Regional Director a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's sale of credit card 

add-on products complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Credit Card Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan). 
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b. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Credit Card Add-On Product Compliance Plan or 

direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs the 

Respondent to revise the Credit Card Add-On Product Compliance Plan, 

the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Credit Card 

Add-On Product Compliance Plan to the Regional Director. 

c. Respondent may market or sell the products similar to the subject Debt 

Protection only after receiving notification that the Regional Director has 

made a determination of non-objection to Credit Card Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan and only after adhering to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Credit Card Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan. 

40. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit a plan to address 

the actions that are necessary and appropriate to achieve compliance with this 

Consent Order (Action Plan). The Board must ensure the Action Plan is 

submitted to the Regional Director for prior determination of supervisory non

objection. 

41. The Action Plan must include the review, and if necessary, revision of the 

Respondent's Vendor Management Program to ensure that the Program requires, 

at a minimum: 

a. An analysis to be conducted by Respondent, prior to Respondent entering 

into a contract with a Service Provider relating to the offering or providing 

of a credit card add-on product, of the ability of the Service Provider to 

perform the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of 
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services for the product or service in compliance with all applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws relating to credit card add-on products 

and Respondent's policies and procedures. 

b. For new and renewed contracts, a written contract between Respondent 

and the Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities of each 

party, especially: 

1. the Service Provider's specific performance responsibilities and 

duty to maintain adequate internal controls over the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the credit 

card add-on product; 

11. the Service Provider's responsibilities and duty to provide adequate 

training on applicable Federal consumer financial law relating to 

credit card add-on products and Respondent's policies and 

procedures to all Service Provider employees or agents engaged in 

the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services 

for credit card add-on products; 

111. granting Respondent the authority to conduct periodic reviews of 

the Service Provider's controls, performance, and information 

systems as they relate to the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, 

and fulfillment of services for the credit card add-on product; and 

1v. Respondent's right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider 

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the contract, 

including the terms required by this Paragraph. 
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c. Periodic onsite reviews by Respondent of the Service Provider's controls, 

performance, and information systems. 

d. In the event that Respondent markets and/or sells a credit card add-on 

product in the future, and annually thereafter, a written comprehensive 

assessment, to be conducted on an annual basis, of the unfair, deceptive, 

and abusive acts or practices ("UDAAP") risk for existing or new credit 

card add-on products and for any changes to existing credit card add-on 

products, including, but not limited to the UDAAP risk of the governance 

control, marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for 

existing or new credit card add-on products, including the UDAAP risk of 

marketing and sales practices. 

e. In the event that Respondent markets and/or sells a credit card add-on 

product in the future, the development and implementation of written 

policies and procedures to effectively manage, detect, and mitigate, on an 

ongoing basis, the risks identified in the written assessment required by 

the preceding subparagraph (d). 

f. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and 

reporting any violation of Federal consumer financial laws relating to 

credit card add-on products or Respondent's policies and procedures 

relating to credit card add-on products by Respondent's employees or 

Service Providers' employees or agents, in a timely manner, to a specified 

executive risk or compliance manager at Respondent. The manager to 

whom such reports are made must be independent of the unit overseeing 

the sale and marketing of credit card add-on product at issue. 
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g. Development of training materials relating to identifying and addressing 

violations of Federal consumer financial laws relating to credit card add

on products that will be incorporated into the existing annual compliance 

training for appropriate employees. 

h. In the event that Respondent market and/or, sells a credit card add-on 

product in the future, written policies and procedures to ensure that the 

appropriate employees and departments within Respondent have the 

requisite authority and status within Respondent so that appropriate 

reviews of credit card add-on products marketed or sold by Respondent or 

through Service Providers may occur and deficiencies are identified and 

properly remedied. 

42.After receipt by Respondent of a determination of supervisory non-objection 

from the Regional Director to the Action Plan, the Board must ensure 

Respondent's adoption and implementation of, and compliance with, the Action 

Plan. 

43.Any proposed changes to or deviations from the approved Action Plan must be 

submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of supervisory 

non-objection. 

44· Respondent's Internal Audit department must periodically conduct an 

assessment of Respondent's compliance with Respondent's Vendor Management 

Program in connection with the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and 

fulfillment of services for credit card add-on products. Such assessments must 

occur within 120 days after Respondent's receipt of a determination of 

supervisory non-objection to the Action Plan, and periodically but at least 
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annually thereafter, and the findings shall be memorialized in writing. Within 30 

days of completing each assessment, Internal Audit must provide its written 

findings to the Risk and Compliance Committee and the Regional Director. 

VI 

Role of the Special Regulatory Oversight Committee 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. The Special Regulatory Oversight Committee ("SROC"), a duly constituted Board 

committee, must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

46. The SROC will be responsible for monitoring and coordinating Respondent's 

compliance with the provisions of this Consent Order, and approving measures 

necessary to ensure compliance with this Consent Order (in addition to any other 

specific approvals required). 

47· Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 60 days after the end 

of each calendar quarter, SROC will submit a written progress report to the Board 

setting forth in detail the actions taken to comply with this Consent Order, and 

the results and status of those actions. 

48. The Board will forward a copy of SROC's report, with any additional comments 

by the Board, to the Regional Director within 10 days of the first Board meeting 

following receipt of such report, unless additional time is granted by the Regional 

Director through a written determination of supervisory non-objection. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49.Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

so. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

'\Nith the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account amount not less than $3 million (Payment Floor), 

which represents the estimated amount of consumer injury caused to 
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approximately 24,500 consumers by the practices described in Section IV, for the 

purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

52. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 

15 days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. Any proposed changes to or deviations from the 

approved Redress Plan must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for 

review and non-objection. 

53. The redress amount paid to each Affected Consumer ("Redress Amount") must 

include, at a minimum and as applicable to each Affected Consumer: 
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a. For Affected Consumers enrolled in the product for 12 months or less 

during the Redress Period, all Debt Protection fees paid during the 

Redress Period; or 

b. For Affected Consumers enrolled in the product for greater than 12 

months during the Redress Period, 12 months of Debt Protection fees paid 

during the Redress Period (based on the average monthly fee paid by the 

customer over the entire course of their membership); and 

c. All overlimit fees and late fees, as calculated pursuant to the methodology 

in the Redress Plan, paid by the Affected Consumers as a result of any 

Debt Protection fees described above in Subsections (a) and (b) of this 

Paragraph; and 

d. The amount of the estimated finance charges, including any penalty APR, 

as calculated pursuant to the methodology in the Redress Plan, paid by an 

Affected Consumers on Debt Protection fees described above in 

Subsections (a) and (b) of this Paragraph. 

e. The Redress Amount will not include any amount that was a previous 

refund of the fees and charges described above in Subsections (a) or (b) of 

this Paragraph. 

54· The Redress Plan shall apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes covering all Affected Consumers regardless of their 

current credit card account status with Respondent, including active or 

closed credit card accounts: 
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1. For open credit card accounts with a balance or a charged-off 

account that Respondent has not sold to an unaffiliated third party, 

Respondent shall provide a credit for the Redress Amount to the 

Affected Consumer's account; where the Redress Amount is greater 

than the balance and the Respondent delivered a statement credit 

reducing the balance down to zero, Respondent will send to the 

Affected Consumer a certified or bank check in the amount of the 

excess; 

n. For any closed credit card account or open credit card accounts 

with a zero balance, Respondent shall send a certified or bank check 

for the Redress Amount to any Affected Consumer; 

n1. For any Affected Consumer with a charged off account that 

Respondent sold to an unaffiliated third party, Respondent shall 

reacquire the charged off account and then provide the Redress 

Amount consistent with the requirements of this Paragraph; and 

IV. With respect to any bankruptcy, estate, accounts in litigation and 

sold charged-off accounts, Respondent must make a refund in 

accordance with applicable law. 

c. Include a description of the following: 

1. Method used and the time necessary to compile a list of potential 

Affected Consumers; 

n. Method used to calculate the Redress Amount to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer as required herein; 
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111. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

IV. Procedures for monitoring compliance "'rith the Redress Plan. 

55· The Redress Plan must include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification 

Letter) to be sent notifying Affected Customers of the redress; and (2) the form of 

the envelope that mll contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter must 

include language explaining how the amount of redress was calculated; an 

explanation of the use of a credit or check as applicable; and a statement that the 

provision of refund payment is in compliance mth the terms of this Consent 

Order. Respondent may not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters, and when 

appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained written 

confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of the additional materials. 

56. Respondent must make reasonable attempts to locate Affected Customers whose 

Redress Notification Letter or check is returned for any reason, including 

performing a standard address search using the National Change of Address 

System. Respondent must re-mail any returned letters and redress checks to 

corrected addresses within 90 days of receiving a return. Any unclaimed funds 

must be disposed of in compliance with the Redress Plan. 

57· With respect to any Affected Customer's account that receives redress as a credit 

that decreases the existing balance or charged-off balance, Respondent must, as 

permitted by law and in accordance "'rith existing procedures: 
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a. Report the updated balance to each credit reporting company to which the 

Bank had previously furnished balance information for the account; or 

b. Delete the account tradeline at each credit reporting company to which 

Respondent had previously furnished balance information for the account. 

s8.After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than the Payment Floor within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 

or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

the Payment Floor. 

59. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds 

remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau v.rill deposit any 

remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no 

right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this Section. 

60. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

61. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent's Internal 

Audit department must review and assess compliance with the terms of the 

Redress Plan (Redress Review). 

62. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Affected Customers; the 
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amount of redress for each Affected Customer; the procedures used to issue and 

track redress payments; the procedures used for reporting and requesting the 

reporting of updated balances, deleting or requesting the deletion of account 

trade lines, as applicable, to the credit reporting companies; and the work of any 

independent consultants that Respondent has used to assist and review its 

execution of the Redress Plan. 

63. The Redress Review must be completed and summarized in a written report 

(Redress Review Report), which must be completed within 60 days of completion 

of the Redress Review. Within 10 days of its completion, the Redress Review 

Report must be submitted to the Regional Director and the Board. 

IX· 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

64. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason ofthe 

violations oflaw described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $soo,ooo to the Bureau. 

65. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

66. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund ofthe Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 
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67. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

68. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and ·will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69.In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 
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accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

70. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

71. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

72. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 
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against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

74. Within 7 days ofthe Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

75. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 73 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

76. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

77. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from 

the Bureau. 
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XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

79. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy ofthis 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

8o.Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

81. Respondent must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, the following 

business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance v.rith 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, described 

in Section VIII above. 

c. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 

and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a 

third party on behalf of Respondent. 

d. For each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment in the 

Debt Protection product: the consumer's name, address, phone number, 

email address; amount paid, quantity of product purchased, description of 

the product purchased, the date on which the product was purchased, a 

copy of any promotional or welcome materials provided, and, if applicable, 

the date and reason consumer left the program. 

e. For the Debt Protection product, accounting records showing the gross 

and net revenues generated by the product; 

f. All consumer complaints and refund requests regarding Debt Protection 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party), and 

any responses to those complaints or requests. 

82. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 81 for at least 5 

years. 

83.Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 81 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 
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XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. Unless othenvise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Fifth Third Bank, File No. 

2015-CFPB-__ ," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows : 

Regional Director, Bureau Midwest Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
230 South Dearborn Street 
Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

b. By first-class mail to the address in Paragraph 84(a) and 

contemporaneously by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or 

control ·within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 
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XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

86. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

87. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these communications. 

88.Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

8g.Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

go. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

91. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements ofthis Consent Order (e.g. , reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in ·writing. 
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XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

92. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent. 

93. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

94. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation ·of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. 

95. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

96. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 
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Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

97. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

98.Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this~ day of 51ft.,_~, 2015. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 201s-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

Westlake Services, LLC, also doing 
business as Westlake Financial Senrices, 
LLC, 

and 

Wilshire Consumer Credit, LLC, also doing 
business as Wilshire Commercial Capital, 
LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the loan 

servicing practices of Westlake Services, LLC (Westlake), and Wilshire Consumer 

Credit, LLC (Wilshire), (collectively, Respondents, as defined below) and the advertising 

and originating practices of Wilshire and has identified the follo'\o\ring law violations: 

(i) Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ SS31(a), SS36(a)(l); (ii) Sections 8os and 807 ofthe Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 1S U.S.C. §§ 1692c(b), 1692e(s), (1o), and (14); and 

(iii) Sections 144 and 146 of the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 1S U.S.C. §§ 1664 and 

166sa, and the TILA's implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(c) 

and 1026.26(b). Under Sections 10S3 and lOSS of the Consumer Financial Protection 
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Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

(Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (i) Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565; (ii) Section 814 of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692l; and (iii) Section 108 ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1607. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated September 28, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated 

by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents 

have consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under 

Sections 1053 and 1055 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except 

that Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's 

jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3· The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Modified Account Consumer" means a Borrower whose account was 

unilaterally modified by Respondents in such a manner that the loan was 

extended or the monthly due date was changed during the Relevant Period. 
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b. "Affected Consumers" means Modified Account Consumers, Deceptive Phone 

Call Consumers, and Storage Phone Call Consumers, as described in this 

Paragraph 3. 

c. "Board" means Respondents' duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

d. "Borrower" means a consumer who was indebted to either Respondent at any 

time during the Relevant Period. 

e. "Debt Collection" means any practice or effort designed to collect a loan owed 

to either Respondent or to repossess collateral associated with such loan. 

f. "Deceptive Phone Call Consumer" means a Borrower (a) whose account can 

be tied to at least one incoming or outgoing phone call using Skip Tracy 

during the Relevant Period, or at least one Debt Collection call placed by a 

third-party repossession company engaged by Respondents to make such calls 

during the Relevant Period, and (b) who made a payment to either 

Respondent after such call. This definition excludes Storage Phone Call 

Consumers, as defined below. 

1. "Group A Consumer" means a Deceptive Phone Call Consumer whose 

account is in Deficiency Status, as defined below, as of the Effective 

Date, not including those Borrowers whose accounts were in Deficiency 

Status but are now owned by another company and not including those 

Borrowers whose debt has resulted in a judgment. 

n. "Group B Consumer" means any Deceptive Phone Call Consumer who 

is not a Group A Consumer. 

g. "Deficiency Status" means, with respect to loans serviced by either 

Respondent, that as of the Effective Date of this Consent Order the vehicle 
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identified as collateral for a particular loan has been repossessed at the 

direction of either Respondent, the vehicle has been auctioned, the proceeds 

of the auction have been applied to the loan account, and money is still due on 

the loan account. 

h. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

1. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau or his/her 

delegate. 

J. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

k. "Relevant Period" includes the period from January 1, 2010 until July 31, 

2015. 

l. "Respondents" means Westlake Services, LLC, also doing business as 

Westlake Financial Services, LLC, and Wilshire Consumer Credit, LLC, also 

doing business as Wilshire Commercial Capital, LLC, and any successors or 

assigns. 

m. "Skip Tracy" means a web-based, multimedia, third-party paid service that 

allows users to place outgoing calls and choose (a) the phone number from 

which the calls will appear to have originated; and (b) particular text that may 

appear on call recipients' phones as Caller ID. If a call recipient returns a call 

to one of these phone numbers, Skip Tracy shows the user the Caller ID text 

associated with the original outgoing call. 
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n. "Storage Phone Call Consumer" means a Borrower whose account can be 

linked to a Triggering Storage Phone Call, as defined below. 

o. "Triggering Storage Phone Call" means a phone call with a Borrower or a 

Borrower's reference, employer, friend, or family member routed through 

Skip Tracy during the Relevant Period when the call was (a) associated with 

the term "Storage" in Skip Tracy and (b) placed while the Borrower's vehicle 

identified as collateral for the loan was in a repossessed status. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Westlake is a privately held company headquartered in Los Angeles, California, 

that specializes in purchasing and servicing subprime and near-subprime auto 

loans. 

5. Wilshire, a wholly owned subsidiary of Westlake, extends auto title loans 

directly to consumers, largely via the internet, and services those loans. 

6. Respondents are "covered persons" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). Additionally, Westlake is Wilshire's "service provider" as that term is 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26) because Westlake provides "material services" 

to Wilshire and participates in the operation and maintenance of Wilshire's 

loans. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations 
About Third-Party Debt Collectors Contacting Borrowers 

7. From the start of the Relevant Period and continuing at least until April 2014, 

Respondents' debt collectors used Skip Tracy to alter the Caller ID information 
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for outgoing calls to make it appear that the calls were coming from a third 

party or from a department at Westlake or Wilshire other than the Collection 

Department. 

8. When call recipients returned a call to one of the phone numbers associated 

with Caller ID information that had been changed using Skip Tracy, that system 

showed Respondents' employees the Caller ID text associated with the original 

outgoing call. 

9· Respondents' debt collectors used this information to answer the phone in a 

manner that would continue the ruse. 

10. During the relevant time period, collectors used Skip Tracy to place or to 

receive calls associated with over 137,000 loan accounts. 

11. Using Skip Tracy, Respondents' debt collectors called Borrowers and caused 

phrases such as "Repo," "Repossession Services," or "Asset Recovery" (among 

others) to appear in Caller ID that would suggest that the call was coming from 

a repossession company or a similar third-party business. 

12. When Respondents put these phrases into the Caller ID information, 

Respondents' collectors usually pretended during the call that they were calling 

from repossession companies or similar third-party businesses. In fact, these 

calls were placed by Respondents, not by repossession companies or similar 

third-party businesses. 

13. During these and other phone calls ,-\Tith Borrowers, Respondents' collectors 

said they were calling from repossession companies or similar third-party 

businesses. In fact, these calls were placed by Respondents, not by repossession 

companies or similar third-party businesses. 
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14. During phone calls described in Paragraphs 11, 12, and 13, Respondents made 

other comments explicitly or implicitly threatening that the Borrowers' vehicles 

would be repossessed. 

15. Because Respondents were "creditors" under the FDCPA '-vith respect to loans 

they originated, acquired, or purchased, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(4), Respondents 

became "debt collectors" '-vithin the meaning of the FDCPA when Respondents 

contacted Borrowers and, through use of Skip Tracy or through oral 

representations over the phone, used any name that would indicate that a third 

person was collecting or attempting to collect such debts. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

16. When Respondents made debt collection calls and changed the Caller ID text to 

display "Repo," "Repossession Services," "Asset Recovery," or other names 

suggesting repossession, or when Respondents told Borrowers they were calling 

from repossession companies or similar third-party businesses, they gave 

Borrowers the false impression that they were in the process of repossessing the 

Borrowers' vehicles. Thus, Respondents became debt collectors \-vithin the 

meaning of the FDCP A. 

17. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors from 

using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

\-vith the collection of any debt. Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(5), specifically prohibits threatening to take any action that cannot 

legally be taken or is not intended to be taken. Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), prohibits using false representations or deceptive means 

to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a 

consumer. Section 807(14) ofthe FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(14), prohibits the 
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use of any business, company, or organization name other than the true name 

of the debt collector's business, company, or organization. 

18. By indicating- whether through oral representations or phrases in the Caller 

ID- that they were calling from a repossession company or a similar third-

party business, Respondents gave the false impression that they were calling 

from another company and that repossession was imminent. 

19. By explicitly or implicitly threatening that the Borrowers' vehicles would be 

repossessed, Respondents gave the false impression that repossession was 

imminent. 

20. Respondents suggested that the calls were coming from a repossession 

company or a similar third-party business and otherwise explicitly or implicitly 

threatened repossession even when (a) Respondents had not yet decided to 

repossess Borrowers' vehicles; or (b) Respondents had decided to repossess 

Borrowers' vehicles but Respondents had no reason to believe that repossession 

was imminent. 

21. By representing that calls were originating from repossession companies or 

similar third-party businesses- and thus implying that repossession was 

imminent- and by otherwise explicitly or implicitly threatening repossession, 

Respondents made false or misleading representations, and these practices 

violated Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, specifically subsections 

(s), (10), and (14). 

22. The false representations that these calls were originating from repossession 

companies or that repossession was imminent were material 

misrepresentations. These misrepresentations were likely to mislead consumers 
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acting reasonably. As such, the practice was deceptive under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations 
About Who Was Calling Borrowers 

23. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until Apri12014, 

Respondents used Skip Tracy to call Borrowers and cause phrases such as 

"Pizza Delivery," and "Flower Shop" appear in the Caller ID information along 

with the phone number. 

24. In fact, these calls were made or received by Respondents, not by other 

businesses. 

25. When Respondents put these phrases into the Caller ID information, 

Respondents' collectors usually pretended during the call that they worked for 

businesses or departments matching those descriptions. 

26. Respondents posed as employees of pizza delivery services or flower shops in 

order to trick Borrowers into disclosing their locations or the locations of their 

vehicles. 

27. Respondents also used Skip Tracy to manipulate the information on Caller ID 

and make it look like the call originated from a family member or friend of the 

Borrower instead of from Respondents. In fact, the Borrowers' family members 

or friends played no role in originating these calls. 

28. By representing, in connection with the collection of debts, that calls from 

Respondents actually were placed by other businesses, including those business 

names discussed in Paragraph 23, and that calls from Respondents actually 

were placed by Borrowers' family members or friends, Respondents made false 
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or misleading representations that were material misrepresentations because 

they likely caused Borrowers to answer the phone or divulge location 

information that could lead to repossession. In addition, the identity of a caller 

is a material issue for consumers, particularly for those who are fielding calls 

from debt collectors. These misrepresentations were likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably. As such, this practice was deceptive under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
Disclosures of Loan Information to Third Parties 

29. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until April2014, 

Respondents called third parties associated with Borrowers, such as Borrowers' 

references, employers, friends, and family members, without obtaining prior 

consent from Borrowers. 

30. Respondents suggested they were calling from a repossession company or a 

similar third-party business and communicated with third parties for a purpose 

other than acquiring location information about Borrowers and without the 

prior consent of Borrowers. Therefore, Respondents violated 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692c(b). 

31. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until April2014, 

without Borrowers' prior consent, Respondents called third parties associated 

with Borrowers, such as Borrowers' references, employers, friends, and family 

members, identified Borrov,rers by name, and used Skip Tracy to cause words 

such as "Repo," "Repossession Services," "Recovery," "General Investigations," 

or "Concealment" to appear on the call recipients' Caller IDs. 
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32. In addition to changing Caller ID information, Respondents verbally identified 

themselves as employees of businesses or departments associated with words 

like "Repossession" or "General Investigations." 

33. When Respondents caused the word "Concealment" to appear on a call 

recipient's Caller ID or verbally identified themselves as employees of 

businesses or departments associated with the word "Concealment," it was 

implied that Respondents were considering recommending or filing criminal 

charges for concealment of the vehicle. 

34· When Respondents did not change the Caller ID information or verbally 

identify themselves as employees of businesses or departments associated with 

words like "Repossession," "General Investigations," or "Concealment," 

Respondents used other tactics to imply a debt collector was pursuing 

Borrowers or to disclose that Borrowers had received loans, were delinquent on 

loans, or were facing repossession, investigation, or criminal charges. For 

example, Respondents called third parties and made statements like, "I 

[wanted] to give her a courtesy call before picking up the Volkswagen." 

35. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 

is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 

and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

36. Respondents' practice of contacting Borrowers' family members, friends, 

employers, or references without Borrowers' prior consent and disclosing 

information about Borrowers' loans caused consumers substantial injury. 
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37. Borrowers could not reasonably avoid Respondents calling their friends, family 

members, and other third parties about Borrowers' delinquent debts. 

38. The benefits, if any, to consumers and competition from Respondents calling 

Borrowers' friends, Borrowers' families, and third parties without prior consent 

and disclosing information about Borrowers' loans do not outweigh the injury 

to Borrowers from these practices. 

39. When Respondents contacted Borrowers' family members, friends, employers, 

or references in connection with the collection of debts and disclosed 

information about Borrowers' loans without Borrowers' prior consent, the 

practice was unfair under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
Threats to Disclose Loan Information to Third Parties 

40. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until April2014, 

during communications with Borrowers, Respondents threatened to disclose 

information about loans to third parties. 

41. The FDCPA prohibits communicating with third parties without the prior 

consent of debtors for a purpose other than acquiring location information 

about debtors. 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b). 

42. The FDCPA also prohibits threatening to take an action that cannot legally be 

taken. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5). 

43. When Respondents suggested they were calling from a repossession company 

or a similar third-party business and threatened to contact Borrowers' family 

members, friends, employers, or references V\rithout Borrowers' permission and 
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for a purpose other than acquiring location information about Borrowers, 

Respondents were threatening to take an action that could not legally be taken. 

As such, these threats violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5). 

44· Respondents' practice of threatening to contact Borrowers' family members, 

friends, employers, or references without Borrowers' permission and for a 

purpose other than acquiring location information about Borrowers caused 

consumers substantial injury. 

45· Borrowers could not reasonably avoid Respondents' threats to contact 

Borrowers' family members, friends, employers, or references. 

46. The benefits, if any, to consumers and competition from Respondents 

threatening to call Borrowers' friends, families, employers, or references do not 

outweigh the injury to Borrowers from these practices. 

47. When Respondents threatened to contact Borrowers' family members, friends, 

employers, or references without Borrowers' prior consent and for a purpose 

other than acquiring location information about Borrowers, the practice was 

unfair under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(l) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to 
Threats to Investigate or File Criminal Charges 

48. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until April2014, 

Respondents explicitly or implicitly threatened that Borrowers would be 

investigated or that criminal charges would be filed against Borrowers. 

49. Respondents' collectors represented themselves- through oral representations 

or use of Skip Tracy -to Borrowers as employees of investigation departments. 

These representations constituted an implicit threat to investigate Borrowers. 
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so. Respondents explicitly and implicitly threatened to investigate Borrowers even 

when Respondents had not yet decided to investigate Borrowers or to refer the 

accounts to a third party for investigation. 

51. Respondents' collectors represented themselves - through oral representations 

or use of Skip Tracy- to Borrowers as employees of concealment enforcement 

divisions. These representations constituted an implicit threat to refer 

Borrowers to the criminal authorities. 

52. Respondents explicitly and implicitly threatened to recommend or file criminal 

charges against Borrowers even when Respondents had not yet decided to refer 

those Borrowers to the criminal authorities. 

53· As described in Paragraphs 48-52, in connection ·with the collection of debts, 

Respondents have misrepresented, expressly or by implication, that: 

a. Borrowers were communicating with employees of investigation departments 

or concealment enforcement departments other than employees of the 

Collections Departments at Westlake or Wilshire; and 

b. Borrowers faced investigation or criminal charges when such measures were 

not imminent because Respondents had not yet decided to refer the accounts 

for investigation or refer Borrowers to the criminal authorities. 

54· By making the representations set forth in Paragraph 53 in connection "'r:ith the 

collection of debts, Respondents made false or misleading representations that 

were material misrepresentations because they likely caused Borrowers to 

believe that they needed to make a payment urgently to avoid an investigation. 

These misrepresentations were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably. 

As such, the practice was deceptive under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 
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5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Debt Collection Calls 
From a Repossession Company 

55· Respondents paid a third-party repossession company to make Debt Collection 

calls to Borrowers. 

56. Respondents directed the repossession company to call Borrowers even when 

Respondents had not yet decided to repossess those vehicles or when 

Respondents had no reason to believe that repossession was imminent. 

57. Upon receiving a call from a third-party repossession company, a reasonable 

consumer would conclude that repossession was imminent. 

58. As described in Paragraphs 55-57, in connection with the collection of debts, 

Respondents caused the third-party repossession company to call Borrowers 

and create the impression that repossession was imminent when either 

repossession was not imminent or Respondents did not verify whether 

repossession was imminent. 

59. Because the repossession company referred to in Paragraph 58 was a service 

provider to Respondents under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A), 

Respondents can be held liable for deceptive practices that the repossession 

company made on Respondents' behalf and at their direction. 

6o. The representations set forth in Paragraph 58 were, and are, false or misleading 

and were material misrepresentations because Borrowers likely believed that 

they needed to make a payment urgently to avoid repossession. These 

representations were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably. As such, 

the practice was deceptive under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Financial Agreements 
Regarding the Return of Vehicles After Repossession 

61. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until April 2014, 

Respondents called Borrowers whose vehicles had already been repossessed 

and used Skip Tracy to make it appear that their calls were coming from a party 

associated ·with the word "Storage" (i.e., a "Triggering Storage Phone Call"). 

62. During some of these calls Westlake collectors gave Borrowers the impression 

that Borrowers' vehicles would be released if Borrowers paid a certain amount 

of money. 

63. The amount of money agreed to during these conversations was usually less 

than the full amount due on the account. 

64. In fact, it was Respondents' practice not to release a vehicle to a Borrower after 

repossession unless the Borrower paid the full amount due on the account. 

65. AB a consequence, in numerous instances Borrowers paid the amounts agreed 

upon during these conversations, but their vehicles were not released. 

66. Using data received from Respondents, the Bureau identified 115 consumers 

who made payments after receiving a Triggering Storage Phone Call during the 

Relevant Period. 

67. The representations described in Paragraph 62 were, and are, false or 

misleading and were material misrepresentations because they likely affected 

Borrowers' decisions to make payments. These misrepresentations were likely 

to mislead consumers acting reasonably. AB such, the practice was deceptive 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Additional Interest Accruing 
Without Borrowers' Consent or Understanding 

68. Beginning at least in January 2010 and continuing at least until September 

2011, some Westlake collectors changed the due dates on accounts or extended 

loan terms without consulting with, or even speaking v.rith, the affected 

Borrowers. 

69. During subsequent communications with these Borrowers, Westlake collectors 

suggested, orally or in writing, that Borrowers adopt these revised payment 

schedules without explaining that these schedules would cause additional 

interest to accrue. 

70. Instead they told Borrowers, explicitly or implicitly, that the modified payment 

schedules would have a positive effect for Borrowers. 

71. In fact, if Borrowers adopted the modified payment schedules and did not make 

an additional payment, Borrowers would accrue additional interest over the 

loan term. 

72. Urging Borrowers to adopt the unilaterally changed schedules by telling 

Borrowers, explicitly or implicitly, that the modified schedules would have a 

positive effect for Borrowers without explaining that additional interest would 

accrue was a material misrepresentation. These misrepresentations were likely 

to mislead consumers acting reasonably. As such, the practice was deceptive 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Advertising Rates 
Without Stating the Annual Percentage Rate 

73. Section 144(c) ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(c), requires that if any advertisement 

for credit other than open-end credit "states the rate of a finance charge, the 
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advertisement shall state the rate of that charge expressed as an annual 

percentage rate." 

74· Section 1026.24 of Regulation Z explains that "[i]f an advertisement is for credit 

not secured by a dwelling, the advertisement shall not state any ... rate [other 

than the annual percentage rate], except that a simple annual rate or periodic 

rate that is applied to an unpaid balance may be stated in conjunction with, but 

not more conspicuously than, the annual percentage rate." 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1026.24(c). 

75. The loans originated by Wilshire are non open-end credit plans. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1602(j). 

76. The loans originated by Wilshire are not secured by a dwelling. 

77. In some advertisements for auto title loans disseminated in 2013, Wilshire 

referenced a rate of 4.9%. In these advertisements, 4.9% was not the annual 

percentage rate, and Wilshire did not state the annual percentage rate. 

78. In 2012, Wilshire posted at least nine comments to its Facebook page and 

disseminated at least 16 tweets claiming that "loans start at just 2.1% per 

month." 

79. The 2.1% rate referenced in these comments and tweets was not the annual 

percentage rate, and Wilshire did not state the annual percentage rate. 

So. Most of these Facebook comments and tweets have been visible for at least 

three years. 

81. By advertising a rate but not disclosing an annual percentage rate, Wilshire 

violated Section 144 ofTILA and Section 1026.24 of Regulation Z. 

82. At some point during the period beginning January 2010 and ending March 
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2014, Wilshire stated on one of its websites in bold, green font at the top of the 

page: "Car Title Loans starting at 2.1% a month." Farther down the page, in a 

smaller, non-bold, black font, the website stated, "Our Loans start at 2.075% a 

month which is 24.9% APR (depending on credit)". 

83. The annual percentage rate was displayed in a less conspicuous manner than 

the monthly rate. 

84. By advertising an annual percentage rate but displaying it less conspicuously 

than another rate, Wilshire violated Section 144 of TILA and Section 1026.24 of 

Regulation Z. 

85. Advertising a rate but not disclosing an annual percentage rate and, separately, 

advertising an annual percentage rate but displaying it less conspicuously than 

another rate, were material misrepresentations that likely caused consumers to 

believe that the loans would carry a lower interest rate than the true annual 

percentage rate. These misrepresentations were likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably. As such, the practice was deceptive under the CFP A. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Failure to Provide 
the Annual Percentage Rate In Response to Oral Inquiries 

86. Section 146 ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1665a, and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.26(b) require 

creditors to provide only the annual percentage rate in response to a 

consumer's oral inquiry about the cost of non open-end credit plans, although 

the creditor may also quote a simple annual rate or periodic rate if it is applied 

to an unpaid balance. If the annual percentage rate cannot be determined in 

advance, the annual percentage rate for a sample transaction shall be stated. 
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87. Beginning at least in January 2014 and continuing at least until April 2014, 

during phone calls with prospective borrowers who asked about the cost of 

credit, Wilshire representatives did not state the annual percentage rates but 

provided other rates . 

88. Beginning at least in January 2014 and continuing at least until April 2014, 

during phone calls with prospective borrowers who asked about the cost of 

credit, Wilshire representatives did not provide an annual percentage rate for a 

sample transaction when the annual percentage rate could not be determined in 

advance. 

89. By failing to provide annual percentage rates, or by failing to provide annual 

percentage rates for sample transactions, during these calls, Wilshire violated 

Section 146 ofTILA, 15 U.S.C. § 166sa, and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.26(b) 

90. Providing cost information other than the annual percentage rate (or an annual 

percentage rate for sample transactions), in response to a consumer's inquiry 

about the cost of a loan was a material misrepresentation that likely caused 

consumers to believe that the cost of the credit was lower than it was. These 

misrepresentations were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably. As 

such, the practice was deceptive under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1). 
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ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

91. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that their 

service providers, affiliates, and other agents do not violate: (a) Sections 1031 

and 1036 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; (b) Sections 8os and 807 of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692c and 1692e; and (c) Sections 144 and 146 ofTILA, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1664 and 166sa, and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.24(c) and 

1026.26(b), as follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the collection of debts, may not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

1. That Respondents' debt collectors work for or are associated vvith any 

company, office, or department other than their actual company, office, 

and department; 

11. That debt collectors working on behalf of Respondent are calling from 

a phone number associated vvith a company, office, or department 

other than their actual company, office, and department; 

111. That Respondents, or entities acting on Respondents' behalf, are or 

imminently v.rill be repossessing consumers' vehicles; 
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IV. That Respondents will return repossessed vehicles if the consumer 

pays less than the full amount due on the account; 

v. That Respondents may refer, or are referring, consumers for criminal 

prosecution or investigation; or 

VI. The effects on interest accrual of changing the due date of a loan; 

b. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the collection of 

debts, are restrained from: 

1. Using any means to alter the information displayed on Caller ID, 

unless otherwise required to do so by law; 

n. Failing to identify themselves as employees of Respondents during 

calls with consumers; 

111. Unlawfully disclosing loan information to third parties; 

1v. Threatening to disclose loan information to third parties when doing so 

would be unlaV\rful; and 

v. Changing the due dates on consumers' loans, or extending consumers' 

loans, without explaining to consumers the effects of those 

modifications and obtaining consumers' informed consent to the 

changes; 

c. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the collection of 

debts, must not engage any repossession company to make Debt Collection 

calls unless the accounts in question have been categorized as out for 
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repossession and are assigned to those repossession companies for 

repossession; and 

d. Respondents will not pursue any additional judgments or garnishments 

against Group A Consumers. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

92. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondents' practices 

relating to Debt Collection comply with the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. A comprehensive compliance management system for: 

1. Evaluating advertisements for compliance with TILA and Regulation Z 

before publication; and 

n. Regular recording and review of Debt Collection calls between (a) 

Respondents or any agent of Respondents engaging in Debt Collection, 

and (b) any consumer; 

c. A requirement that Respondents allocate resources to compliance that are 

commensurate ·with the companies' size, complexity, and business operations 

to ensure that they implement adequate compliance programs including 

appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced personnel; 
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d. A requirement that Respondents provide mandatory ongoing education and 

training in Federal consumer financial laws and the prohibitions and 

requirements in this Consent Order for all affected officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, V\ri.th training tailored to each individual's 

responsibilities and duties; training activities must be documented and the 

training programs reviewed and updated at least annually to ensure that 

appropriate personnel are provided with the most relevant and pertinent 

information; all new employees of either Respondent or any other agent of 

either Respondent engaging in Debt Collection must complete this training 

before engaging in Debt Collection calls; 

e. A requirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years, 

or as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan 

remains current and effective; and 

f. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

93. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondents to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Respondents to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondents must make the re\ri.sions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director V\ri.thin 15 days. 

94. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondents must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

95. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

96. Although this Consent Order requires Respondents to submit certain 

documents for review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondents and for ensuring that Respondents comply with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

97. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondents, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non

compliance with any failures to comply ·with Board directives related to this 

Section. 
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VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

98. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must reserve or deposit into 

a segregated deposit account $25,777,274 for the purpose of providing redress 

to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

99· Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written 

plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). 

The Redress Plan will include a list of specific account numbers eligible to 

receive each type of redress, each account holder's name, address, phone 

number, and email address, and an explanation of the total amount of redress 

to be provided to each account holder. The Enforcement Director will have the 

discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or 

direct Respondents to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs 

Respondents to revise the Redress Plan, Respondents must make the revisions 

and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 days. 

After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondents must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

100. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers (approximately 176,115 

consumers) and, at a minimum: 
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a. Specify how Respondents identified each consumer in the follovving groups 

and specify the names and account numbers of consumers in each group: 

1. Deceptive Phone Call Consumers (approximately 139,000 consumers); 

11. Group A Consumers; 

111. Group B Consumers; 

1v. Storage Phone Call Consumers (approximately 115 consumers); and 

v. Modified Account Consumers (approximately 37,000 consumers); 

b. Allocate $24,185,054.04 to be paid to Deceptive Phone Call Consumers 

(excluding Storage Phone Call Consumers, but including Modified Account 

Consumers to the extent they are also Deceptive Phone Call Consumers), 

allocating each Group A Consumer 75% of the redress amount given to each 

Group B Consumer; 

c. Provide a one-time reduction in charged-off or existing account balance in the 

amount of $250 to each Group A Consumer ("Balance Reductions") 

(approximately $17.4 million); 

d. Allocate $597,872.98 among Storage Phone Call Consumers in a manner that 

repays each such consumer pro rata for all payments made to Respondents 

after the first Triggering Storage Phone Call associated with each account; 

e. Detail a methodology for calculating the redress amount for each Modified 

Account Consumer (including Deceptive Phone Call Consumers and Storage 

Phone Call Consumers to the extent they are also Modified Account 

Consumers) necessary to refund all additional interest and fees paid by each 

Modified Account Consumer as a result of the due date change or extension 
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entered by Respondents v.rithout the Modified Account Consumer's 

permission (approximately $1.93 million in total); 

f. Detail the manner in which redress v.rill be provided to all Affected 

Consumers, including detailing how payments \\rill be made to probate or 

bankruptcy estates in accordance with applicable law; 

g. Detail the reasonable efforts that Respondents \\rill undertake to locate 

consumers to whom redress should be provided and verify their addresses 

before providing redress; and 

h. For any Affected Consumer that receives a reduction in charged off or existing 

account balance pursuant to the Redress Plan, require Respondents to update 

or correct any information furnished to any consumer reporting agency about 

any Affected Consumer to the extent that information is or becomes 

inaccurate as Respondents comply v.rith the Order to Pay Redress and other 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

101. The Redress Plan must include: (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification 

Letter) to be sent notifying Affected Consumers of the redress; and (2) the form 

of the envelope that \\rill contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter must 

include language explaining how the amount of redress was calculated; an 

explanation of the use of a credit or check as applicable; and a statement that 

the provision of refund payment or credit is in compliance v.rith the terms of 

this Consent Order. Respondents may not include in any envelope containing a 

Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters, and 

when appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondents have obtained written 
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confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to 

the inclusion of the additional materials. 

102. The Enforcement Director may modify the form of redress in whole or in part, 

upon a showing of good cause, under Section XVII. 

103. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress -excluding all 

account reductions provided pursuant to ~~ 100.c and 100.e - provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $25,777,274, within 30 days of the completion 

of the Redress Plan, Respondents must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to 

the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring 

instructions, the difference between the amount of redress, excluding the 

account reductions, provided to Affected Consumers and $25,777,274. 

104. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondents will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Section. 

105. Respondents may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

106. Within 30 days of completing the Redress Plan, Respondents v.rill submit to the 

Enforcement Director a report ,'\lith an assessment of their compliance with the 

terms of the Redress Plan ("Redress Report") . The Redress Report v.rill, at a 

m1mmum: 
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a. State, for each category of Affected Consumers listed in~ 100.a: 

1. The number of consumers who received redress; and 

u . The total amount of redress provided; and 

b. Describe the procedures used to issue and track redress payments to Affected 

Consumers; and 

c. Describe the work of independent consultants that Respondents used, if any, 

to assist with and review execution of the Redress Plan. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

107. Under Section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § SS6s(c), by reason ofthe 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil 

money penalty of $4,250,000 to the Bureau. 

108. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money 

penalty by ·wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

109. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

uo. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondents may not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

~my source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

111. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled to, 

nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondents must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

112. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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113. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned 

to Respondents. 

114. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already have done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out 

of this Consent Order. 

115. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

116. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondents; or a change in Respondents' name or address. 
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Respondents must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

117. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondents must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied 

with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

118. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of their Board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

119. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI, any future Board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 
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120. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days 

of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

121. Respondents must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan and the Redress 

Report, described in Section VIII above; 

c. Copies of all telephone scripts used during calls with consumers, forms used 

to correspond v.rith consumers, training materials, advertisements, websites, 

and other materials, including any such materials used by a third party on 

behalf of either Respondent; and 

d. Recordings of all telephone calls between consumers and either Respondent 

that relate to Debt Collection. 

122. Respondents must require all third parties engaged in Debt Collection on behalf 

of either Respondent to record and retain all Debt Collection calls betw·een such 

third parties and any consumer. 

123. Respondents must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 121 for the 
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duration of the consent order, and Respondents must require all third parties 

engaged in Debt Collection on behalf of either Respondent to retain the 

documents identified in Paragraph 122 for the duration of the consent order. 

124. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraphs 121 and 122 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

125. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Westlake Services, LLC 

Matter No. 2015-CFPB-[Docket #]"and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552. 
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XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

126. Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity 

and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Consumer. Respondents must provide such information in their or their agents' 

possession or control V\r:ithin 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

127. Respondents must cooperate fully V\r:ith the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated V\r:ith the conduct described in this Consent 

Order. Respondents must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony. Respondents must cause Respondents' officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days 

written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, V\r:ithout the senrice of compulsory process. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents' compliance V\r:ith 

this Consent Order: 

128. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 
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129. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

130. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

131. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

132. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements ofthis Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing. 

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

133. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 134. 

134. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 
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practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondents and their 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

135. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

136. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondents did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order \\rill remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

137. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 
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138. Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations 

that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondents must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply v.rith all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

139. The provisions of this Consent Order v.rill be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under Section lOSS( c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ ss6s(c). In connection v.rith any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents 

wherever Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

140. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

141. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allov.ring Respondents, the Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this 30thth day of September,2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders Indirect Auto Finance
Company to Provide Consumers $44.1
Million in Relief for Illegal Debt Collection
Tactics
Westlake Services and Wilshire Consumer Credit Pressured Borrowers
with Illegal Threats and Phony Caller IDs

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced an enforcement action against an indirect auto finance company and its
auto title lending subsidiary for pressuring borrowers using illegal debt collection
tactics. The CFPB found that Westlake Services, LLC and Wilshire Consumer Credit,
LLC deceived consumers by calling under false pretenses and using phony caller ID
information, falsely threatened to refer borrowers for investigation or criminal
prosecution, and illegally disclosed information about debts to borrowers’ employers,
friends, and family. The Bureau ordered the companies to overhaul their debt collection
practices and to provide consumers $44.1 million in cash relief and balance reductions.
The companies will also pay a civil penalty of $4.25 million.

“There’s no excuse for lying to your customers, and today’s action will provide millions
of dollars in relief for borrowers caught up in Westlake and Wilshire’s deception,” said
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Consumers struggling to pay their bills deserve to be
treated with respect, not subjected to illegal threats and deceptive phone calls. We will
continue to clean up the debt collection market and root out these illegal and
inexcusable practices.”

Westlake Services, LLC is an indirect auto finance company based in Los Angeles that
specializes in purchasing and servicing auto loans, including many subprime and near
subprime loans. Subprime loans are made to borrowers with generally lower credit
scores. Westlake purchases loans from auto dealers nationwide. Wilshire Consumer
Credit, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Westlake, offers auto title loans directly to
consumers, largely via the Internet, and services those loans. Wilshire also purchases
and services auto title loans made by others.

The CFPB found that Westlake and Wilshire deceived borrowers into thinking they
were being called by repossession companies, other third parties, or even the
borrowers’ own family and friends. The CFPB’s investigation found that the companies’
debt collectors used a webbased service, Skip Tracy, to place outgoing calls and choose
the phone number and caller ID text that the call recipient would see. Since January
2010, Westlake and Wilshire debt collectors have used Skip Tracy to place or receive
calls associated with over 137,000 loan accounts.

The Bureau also found that the companies unlawfully disclosed information about
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borrowers’ debts to employers, family, and friends. The companies also failed to
disclose the annual percentage rate on certain loans as required by law. In some cases,
the companies changed the due dates or extended the terms of loans without borrowers’
permission, causing more interest to accrue, while telling consumers that the
extensions would have a positive effect. These practices violated the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act, the Truth in Lending Act, and the DoddFrank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Financial Protection Act.

Illegal Debt Collection Tactics
Westlake and Wilshire used a variety of deceptive or unfair tactics in contacting
borrowers about their loans. Specifically, the CFPB found that the companies:

Pretended to call from repo companies: Westlake and Wilshire altered
caller ID information for outgoing calls to make it appear the calls were coming
from other companies, including repossession companies. The companies’ debt
collectors would then pretend during the call that they were calling from
repossession companies and make explicit or implicit threats that the borrowers’
vehicles were in imminent danger of being repossessed. When Westlake and
Wilshire indicated to borrowers that a thirdparty repossession company was
calling to collect on the debt, the companies became “debt collectors” within the
meaning of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

Faked calls from pizza delivery services, flower shops, or family and
friends: Westlake and Wilshire also altered caller ID information so that it
looked like they were calling from unrelated businesses. On these calls the
companies’ debt collectors would usually keep up the ruse – for instance, if the
caller ID was altered to say “Flower Shop,” the debt collector would pose as an
employee of a flower shop in order to trick the consumer into disclosing his
location or the location of his vehicle. Westlake and Wilshire also altered caller ID
information so that it looked like borrowers were receiving calls from family
members and friends when the calls were actually placed by the companies’ debt
collectors.

Falsely threatened to refer borrowers for investigation or criminal
prosecution: From at least January 2010 until at least April 2014, Westlake and
Wilshire used Skip Tracy to make it appear as though they were calling from
investigation or enforcement divisions. The companies explicitly and implicitly
threatened to file criminal charges against consumers even when they had not
decided to refer the borrowers to criminal authorities. These tactics likely misled
consumers into believing they needed to make a payment urgently to avoid an
investigation.

Tricked borrowers whose vehicles had been repossessed: From at least
January 2010 until at least April 2014, Westlake and Wilshire called consumers
whose vehicles had already been repossessed and used Skip Tracy to make it
appear the calls were coming from a party associated with the word “Storage.”
During some of these calls, the companies’ debt collectors implied that the
vehicles would be released if the borrowers made a partial payment on the
account; however, the companies would actually only release a repossessed
vehicle after a borrower paid the full amount due. As a consequence, some
borrowers paid the amount agreed upon during the phone call, but their vehicles
were not released.

Called consumers’ employers, friends, and family members without
permission: From at least January 2010 until at least April 2014, Westlake and
Wilshire called consumers’ references, employers, friends, and family members
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and disclosed information about their loans without the consumers’ permission.
The companies’ tactics included inserting words like “Repo” or “General
Investigations” into the caller ID, calling third parties, and mentioning the
consumers’ names. During other calls, the companies also made statements
implying that consumers were delinquent on loans or facing repossession,
investigation, or criminal charges.

Paid a repo company to make collections calls to consumers: Westlake
and Wilshire paid a thirdparty repossession company to make debt collection
calls to borrowers, even when the companies had not decided to repossess the
consumers’ vehicles or the companies had no reason to believe repossession was
imminent. This tactic likely misled consumers into believing that they needed to
make a payment urgently to avoid repossession.

Other Illegal Practices
Westlake and Wilshire also violated federal consumer financial laws in their
advertising, customer relations, and account servicing practices. Specifically, the CFPB
found that the companies:

Deceived borrowers about the effects of due date changes or
extensions to loan terms: From at least January 2010 until at least September
2011, some Westlake collectors changed the due dates on accounts or extended
loan terms without consulting consumers, or even speaking with them. The
collectors would later tell the borrowers that the modified schedules would have a
positive effect for them, though in fact the changes would cause the borrowers to
owe additional interest over the course of the loans.

Hid the true cost of credit: Wilshire gave consumers incomplete information
about the true cost of the loans it offered. Specifically, the CFPB found that
Wilshire used monthly interest rates or other interest rates in advertisements for
auto title loans in 2012 and 2013, without disclosing the loans’ annual percentage
rate as required by law. Wilshire also prominently advertised monthly rates on
one of its websites and only disclosed the annual percentage rate in small text
lower on the page. And in 2014, Wilshire representatives speaking with
prospective borrowers on the phone would answer questions about the cost of
loans by providing monthly rates or other rates instead of the annual percentage
rate.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the DoddFrank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the CFPB
order released today, Westlake and Wilshire are required to:

Provide approximately $44.1 million in redress to victims: The
companies are ordered to pay approximately $25.8 million in cash and to provide
the remainder in balance reductions. Consumers are not required to take any
action to receive their check or balance reduction. The companies will contact
consumers directly in the coming months.

End deceptive debt collection practices: The companies must comply with
the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Truth in Lending Act, and the relevant
sections of the DoddFrank Act. Specifically, among other things, the order
prohibits Westlake and Wilshire from misleading consumers into believing that
their debt collectors are associated with any other company or department, or that
they are about to repossess consumers’ vehicles. They are also prohibited from
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falsely threatening to refer consumers for investigation or criminal prosecution,
and from implying that they will return a repossessed vehicle if the consumer
makes a partial payment.

Protect consumers’ private information: The companies are ordered to
stop illegally disclosing borrowers’ loan information to third parties. They must
also stop threatening to disclose such information when doing so would be
unlawful.

End unlawful advertisements: The companies must evaluate all of their
advertisements for compliance with the Truth in Lending Act before publication.

Give consumers truthful information about their loans: Westlake and
Wilshire must not change the due dates on consumers’ loans or extend
consumers’ loans without explaining to consumers the effects of those
modifications and obtaining consumers’ informed consent to the changes.

Pay a $4.25 million civil penalty: Westlake and Wilshire will make a $4.25
million penalty payment to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consentorderwestlakeservices
llc.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 

Corinthian Colleges, Inc. d/b/a Everest 
College, Everest Institute, Everest 
University, Everest University Online, 
Everest College Phoenix, Everest College 
Online, WyoTech, and Heald College, 
 

Defendant. 

Case No. 1:14-cv-07194 
 
 
Hon. Gary Feinerman 

 

 DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) commenced 

this civil action on September 16, 2014 under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054, and 1055 

of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a), 5564, and 5565, for violations by Defendant Corinthian Colleges, Inc. 

(“Corinthian”) of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibit unfair, 

deceptive, and abusive acts and practices, as well as for Corinthian’s violations of the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

On May 4, 2015, Corinthian filed a petition under chapter 11 of the United States 

Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., with the United States Bankruptcy Court for 

the District of Delaware. On August 28, 2015, the bankruptcy court entered an order 

confirming a liquidation plan for Corinthian, which would result, upon its Effective 

Date, in Corinthian’s dissolution. 

On September 11, 2015, Corinthian filed an Answer to the Complaint, and that 

same day, Corinthian’s counsel filed a motion to withdraw.  In their motion to withdraw, 

Corinthian’s counsel quoted its September 9, 2015 Status Report on Bankruptcy: “As a 
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result of the [liquidation plan] and anticipated dissolution of each of the Debtors, 

Corinthian will not be able to continue its defense of this action beyond filing an 

Answer” to the Bureau’s Complaint. On September 17, 2015, this Court granted 

Corinthian’s counsel’s motion to withdraw. 

Due to Corinthian’s counsel’s withdrawal and its statement that it would not be 

able to continue its defense of the action, the Bureau filed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

55(a) for an entry of default against Corinthian on October 6, 2015. On October 14, 2015, 

due to Corinthian’s failure to appear or otherwise defend the action, the clerk entered 

Corinthian’s default. 

Granting a default judgment is within the court’s discretion.  Domanus v. 

Lewicki, 742 F.3d 290, 301 (7th Cir.2014).  In granting such a default, the “well-pled 

allegations of the complaint relating to liability are taken as true,” Wehrs v. Wells, 688 

F.3d 886, 892 (7th Cir. 2012). “As a general rule, a ‘default judgment establishe[s], as a 

matter of law, that defendants [are] liable to plaintiff as to each cause of action alleged 

in the complaint.’” Dundee Cement Co. v. Howard Pipe & Concrete Products, Inc., 722 

F.2d 1319, 1323 (7th Cir. 1983) (quoting Breuer Electric Mfg. Co. v. Toronado Systems 

of America, Inc., 687 F.2d 182, 186 (7th Cir.1982)). 

The causes of action are well-pled in the complaint, and Defendant Corinthian 

has made clear that it does not intend to further appear or defend the action. Pursuant 

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2), upon application by the Plaintiff, the Court now enters a 

default judgment against Corinthian for violations of the CFPA and the FDCPA. 

It is therefore ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED as follows: 

I. Findings 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this case and over the 

Defendant Corinthian pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345. 
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2. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f).  

3. Defendant Corinthian was properly served and submitted an Answer in this 

action on September 11, 2015; simultaneously with the filing of that answer, however, 

Defendant’s counsel submitted a motion to withdraw and represented to this court that 

the Defendant did not intend to further appear in or defend this action, due to the 

bankruptcy case it initiated and its impending dissolution, which took effect on 

September 21, 2015 under the terms of the liquidation plan for Corinthian, which was 

approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware on August 

28, 2015. 

4. On September 17, 2015, this Court granted Corinthian’s counsel’s motion to 

withdraw, and acknowledged Corinthian’s intention to no longer appear in or defend 

this action. 

5. In response to a motion by the Bureau on October 6, 2015, the clerk entered a 

default against Corinthian pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(a) on October 14, 2015. 

6. The Complaint states a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

7. Because of Corinthian’s default, Corinthian is deemed to have admitted the well-

pled facts of the complaint; thus, the allegations are taken as true. Wehrs v. Wells, 688 

F.3d 886, 892 (7th Cir. 2012). 

8. Section 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565, empowers which Court to order a 

broad spectrum of relief, including injunctive relief, declaratory relief, restitution to the 

affected parties, and disgorgement of ill-gotten gains. 

9. Plaintiff is entitled to an Order imposing permanent injunctive relief and 

declaratory relief, and requiring Corinthian to make restitution of $531,224,267 to the 

borrowers of the private loans that are the subject of this action. 
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10. This action and the relief awarded are in addition to, and not in lieu of, other 

remedies that may be provided by law, including both civil and criminal remedies. 

11. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

Corinthian Engaged in Deceptive Practices in Violation of the CFPA (Count 
I) 

12. The Complaint contains well-pled allegations that Corinthian violated the CFPA’s 

prohibition on deceptive acts and practices by its misrepresentations and omissions 

regarding prospective students’ career opportunities. 

13. Section 1036(a)(1(B) of the CFPA, makes it unlawful for a covered person to 

engage in any deceptive act or practice. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). To interpret the 

standard for deception under the CFPA, courts have looked to the well-understood 

prohibition on deception under the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTCA”).  See 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B); 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1); Illinois v. Alta Colleges, Inc., No. 14 C 3786, 

2014 WL 4377579, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 4, 2014) (holding that the prohibitions against 

deceptive practices in the CFPA and FTCA are “virtually identical”). An act or practice is 

deceptive under the CFPA, as under the FTCA, if: (1) there is a representation or 

omission is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances; and 

(2) the representation or omission is material. 

14. Corinthian is a covered person and therefore falls under the aegis of the CFPA 

because: 

a. It engaged in promoting, marketing, offering and providing “consumer 

financial products or services” within the meaning of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

5481(5) in connection with private loans offered to Corinthian students to 

pay for a portion of their tuition known as “Genesis” loans. Compl. ¶ 27. 
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b. It brokered the Genesis loans to its students by arranging for such loans 

and serving as the single point of contact in doing so. Compl ¶ 28. 

c. It provided financial advisory services to students and prospective 

students regarding the use of credit in the payment of tuition for its 

schools, and in particular, with respect to the Genesis loans. Compl ¶ 29. 

15. From approximately March 2008 through July 2014, Corinthian created and 

marketed the Genesis loan program to students so that Corinthian could charge its 

students more in tuition than would be covered by Title IV funding from the United 

States Department of Education (“ED”). Corinthian did this because ED required 

schools like Corinthian to obtain at least 10% of their revenues from sources other than 

Title IV funds. Thus in order to continue receiving those funds, which was the main 

source of Corinthian’s revenue, Corinthian burdened its students with this additional 

cost. Compl. ¶¶ 39-41, 106-110. 

16. Corinthian’s investment in the Genesis loan program changed over time. Until 

about August 2011, and from February 2014 through July 2014, Corinthian purchased 

all Genesis loans from the originating lender approximately two weeks after they were 

disbursed. Compl. ¶¶ 92-94.  From August 2011 until January 2014, another entity 

purchased the loans from the originating bank soon after disbursal, with Corinthian 

agreeing to 1) pay that entity a so-called “discount fee” of 50% of the face value of each 

of the loans, and 2) buy back any loans that became more than 90 days delinquent. 

Compl. ¶¶ 97-99. 

17. More than 60% of Genesis borrowers have defaulted within three years on these 

unaffordable loans. Compl. ¶ 10. 
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18. From at least July 2011 to July 2014, Corinthian induced students to take out 

these Genesis loans through a series of misrepresentations about the likely employment 

outcomes for Corinthian students. Compl. ¶ 42. 

19. Corinthian’s job placement rates were misleading to consumers: 

a. Corinthian represented to prospective and current students that its 

education would offer a “career,” not “just another job,” but in calculating 

and presenting job placement rates for graduates, it included temporary 

jobs that lasted for just one day. Compl. ¶¶ 49-57. 

b. Corinthian presented falsified and overstated job placement rates. It did so 

by, among other things:  

i. “Fudging the numbers,” or simply misreporting the correct 

numbers; Compl. ¶¶ 58-71. 

ii. Undercounting the pool of “employable” graduates, thereby 

increasing the percentage of employed graduates out of all the 

“employable” graduates; Compl. ¶¶ 72-75. 

iii. Engaging in a practice of paying employers to hire its graduates 

temporarily in order to inflate its favorable job placement statistics. 

Compl. ¶¶76-83. 

20. Corinthian misrepresented the availability and the utility of its career services, 

which it told prospective and current students would provide career assistance for life, 

helping them find a job, or improving their resume and interviewing skills. The actual 

services provided were limited, such as providing postings already publicly available 

from services like Craigslist, and after graduates obtained initial placements, Corinthian 

refused to provide any further assistance to them. Compl. ¶¶ 84-89. 
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21. Corinthian made these misrepresentations to borrowers and prospective 

borrowers of Genesis loans in order to induce them to take out the loans, and those 

misrepresentations misled, or were likely to mislead, consumers.  Compl. ¶¶ 57, 155-156. 

22. Corinthian’s representations about the likelihood of a career for its graduates 

were material to borrowers and prospective borrowers of Genesis loans.  Compl. ¶ 57. 

Corinthian Engaged in Unfair Practices in Violation of the CFPA (Count II) 

23. The Complaint contains well-pled allegations that Corinthian violated the CFPA’s 

prohibition on unfair acts and practices. 

24. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA makes it unlawful for a covered person to 

engage in any unfair practice. An act or practice is unfair where “(A) the act or practice 

causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

25. Corinthian did not only help to extend the Genesis loans to students, but it also 

served as a debt collector for those loans. Compl. ¶ 123. 

26. Corinthian was particularly incentivized to collect payment in order to prevent 

loans from becoming delinquent because it was obligated to purchase such loans after 

they were 90 days past due; Corinthian tracked the Genesis loan payments of its 

students for this purpose. Compl. ¶ 120-122. 

27. Nearly all Genesis loans were made under a payment plan that required monthly 

payments from the borrower while in school; Compl. ¶ 116.  

28. Borrowers were not aware that Corinthian maintained an interest in the Genesis 

loans nor that Corinthian would serve as a debt collector for the Genesis loans. Compl. 

¶¶115, 118. 

 

7 

 

Case: 1:14-cv-07194 Document #: 58 Filed: 10/27/15 Page 7 of 17 PageID #:1907



29. In order to extract payment from its students on the Genesis loans, Corinthian 

engaged in acts or practices that were likely to cause or did cause substantial injury to 

Genesis borrowers, from at least July 2011 to September 2014, by denying them access 

to educational resources for which they had paid, including the following: 

a. Corinthian prevented enrolled students from attending class; 

b. Corinthian  pulled students out of class in front of their classmates; 

c. Corinthian denied students access to computers and other educational 

materials; and  

d. Corinthian otherwise prevented enrolled students from completing their 

course of study.   Compl. ¶¶ 119-145. 

30. By such acts and practices, Corinthian further caused or was likely to cause 

substantial injury to Genesis borrowers by publicly disclosing their debts to their fellow 

students or to their instructors, thereby causing the Genesis borrowers to suffer 

emotional distress and reputational harm. Compl. ¶ 163. 

31. Genesis borrowers could not reasonably avoid this injury because they could not 

anticipate it; they were unaware that Corinthian maintained an interest in the Genesis 

loans or that Corinthian would serve as a debt collector for these loans, and therefore 

could not use this information to avoid the loans. Compl. ¶¶ 115, 118,164. 

32. The injury suffered by the Genesis borrowers was not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. Compl. ¶ 165. 

Corinthian Violated the FDCPA (Counts III-V) 

33. The Complaint contains well-pled allegations that Corinthian violated the 

FDCPA. 
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34. The FDCPA regulates the conduct of debt collectors. A “debt collector,” under the 

FDCPA, can be any person “who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or 

indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

35. From approximately August 2011 through at least September 2014, Corinthian 

took actions to collect the amounts due on the Genesis loans from its students who were 

borrowers in that program. Compl. ¶¶ 119-145.  

36. The borrowers whose loans were not yet 90 past due had loans owned by an 

entity other than Corinthian; it was only after such loans became delinquent more than 

90 days that Corinthian was obligated to purchase them. Compl. ¶¶ 98-100.  

37. Therefore, Corinthian was a debt collector within the meaning of the FDCPA for 

those borrowers who had loans originated from August 2011 until January 2014 and 

whose accounts were less than 90 days delinquent. 

38.  Section 806 of the FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from “engag[ing] in any 

conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 

connection with the collection of a debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692d. 

39. As described above, Corinthian engaged in harassing, oppressive, or abusive 

conduct in connection with the collection of debts flowing from the Genesis loans, from 

at least August 2011 through September 2014, in several ways, including the following: 

a. Corinthian prevented enrolled students from attending class; 

b. Corinthian  pulled students out of class in front of their classmates; 

c. Corinthian denied students access to computers; and  

d. Corinthian otherwise prevented enrolled students from completing their 

course of study.   Compl. ¶¶ 119-145. 

40. Section 805(a) of the FDCPA governs the context of collection by a debt collector. 

The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector, without prior consent of the consumer or express 
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permission from a court of competent jurisdiction, from communicating with a 

consumer in connection with the collection of any debt at a place or time known to be 

inconvenient to the consumer. 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1). 

41. Without prior consent or the express permission of court of competent 

jurisdiction, from at least August 2011 through September 2014, Corinthian 

communicated with Genesis borrowers about collection of their Genesis loans during 

class time, which Corinthian knew would be inconvenient to those borrowers because it 

jeopardized their academic performance and disrupted the learning environment. 

Compl. ¶¶ 119-145, 178. 

42. Section 805(b) of the FDCPA restricts communication by a debt collector about a 

consumer’s debt with most third parties in most circumstances. The FDCPA prohibits, 

without the prior consent of the consumer or the express permission of a court of 

competent jurisdiction, debt collectors from communicating, in connection with the 

collection of any debt, with any person other than the consumer, his attorney, a 

consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the creditor, the attorney of 

the creditor, or the attorney of the debt collector.  15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b). 

43. Without prior consent of the Genesis borrowers or the express permission of a 

court of competent jurisdiction, from at least August 2011 to approximately the date of 

the closing of its schools, Corinthian’s collection efforts were public and disclosed the 

existence of those debts to instructors, classmates and other third parties. Compl. ¶¶ 

119-145, 181. 

44. Therefore, Corinthian violated Sections 805(a), 805(b), and 806 of the FDCPA. 

Damages 

45. The Bureau seeks both legal and equitable relief against Corinthian from the 

Court for the above-referenced violations of law. 
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46. In particular, the Bureau seeks restitution for affected consumers harmed by 

Corinthian’s illegal conduct. 

47. Restitution should provide “the full amount lost by consumers.” F.T.C. v. Febre, 

128 F.3d 530, 536 (7th Cir. 1997) (holding that restitution should be comprised of 

“consumer redress in the amount of the purchase price of the relevant product or 

business”). Any such calculation of restitution, however, should take into account “any 

amounts previously returned to the victims.” FTC v. Think Achievement Corp., 144 F. 

Supp. 2d 1013, 1019 (N.D. Ind. 2000) aff'd, 312 F.3d 259 (7th Cir. 2002).  

48. Moreover, the Bureau seeks disgorgement of all of Corinthian’s ill-gotten gains. 

“As an equitable remedy, disgorgement is meant to place the deceived consumer in the 

same position he would have occupied had the seller not induced him to enter into the 

transaction. Disgorgement also prevents the defendant from being unjustly enriched by 

his fraud.” Febre, 128 F.3d at 537.  

49.  “To ensure that defendants are not unjustly enriched by retaining some of their 

unlawful proceeds by virtue of the fact that they cannot identify all the consumers 

entitled to restitution and cannot distribute all the equitable relief ordered to be paid,” 

courts in such situations grant “orders directing equitable disgorgement of the excess 

money to the United States Treasury.”  Id. at 537. 

50. In this case, Corinthian is liable for the entire amount of debt incurred and/or by 

consumers in connection with the Genesis loans, including origination fees and interest, 

excluding any amounts previously forgiven. 

51. The Bureau bears the burden of proving damages and may do so through 

affidavits and other documentary evidence showing the amount and calculation of 

damages. See, e.g., United States v. Di Mucci, 879 F.2d 1488, 1497 (7th Cir. 1989) 

(“[a]lthough upon default, the well-pleaded allegations of a complaint relating to 
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liability are taken as true, allegations in a complaint relating to the amount of damages 

suffered ordinarily are not”). 

52. The Bureau has established, though competent evidence, that 115,111 affected 

consumers were harmed by being deceived into taking out the Genesis loans. 

53. The Bureau has established, through competent evidence, that the entire 

principal balance of such wrongfully originated loans, minus amounts forgiven, is 

$425,408,640. 

54. The Bureau has established, through competent evidence, that the entire amount 

of fees charged for such wrongfully originated loans, is $40,438,346. 

55. The Bureau has established, through competent evidence, that affected 

consumers paid or owed $65,377,281 in interest toward those loans, as of June 2015. 

56. Therefore, in total, the amount owed by Corinthian to pay redress to affected 

consumers is $531,224,267.  

57. As explained in the Declaration of Ryan Thomas, attached to the Bureau’s 

Motion, this figure is derived from information provided by the servicer of the Genesis 

loan program, as well as the current holders of those loans. 

II. Definitions 

58. The following definitions apply to this Order. 

a. “Affected Consumer” means any consumer who took out a Genesis loan to 

pay tuition and/or fees to Corinthian from July 2011 through July 2014.  

b. “Bankruptcy Trustee” means any person named or appointed by the judge 

in connection with the action filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court 

for the District of Delaware (Case No. 15-10952-KJC) to represent the 

interests of Corinthian, or its estate. 
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c. “Genesis Loan” means any private loan, including any loan referred to as 

an “EducationPlus loan” made to a borrower who was a Corinthian 

student pursuant to a loan program arranged by Corinthian with third 

parties from July 21, 2011 through July 2014, where Corinthian agreed to 

pay a “discount fee” to some of those third parties for purchasing such 

loans from the originating bank and where Corinthian agreed, at times, to 

purchase all or some of the outstanding loans.  

ORDER 

III. Declaratory and Injunctive Relief 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that: 

59. Based on the well-pled allegations of the Complaint, which are taken as true, 

Defendant Corinthian has violated the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive practices, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), by misrepresenting career prospects and career services 

available to Corinthian students and prospective students in order to induce them to 

enter into Genesis Loans. 

60. Based on the well-pled allegations of the Complaint, which are taken as true, 

Defendant Corinthian has violated the CFPA’s prohibition on unfair practices, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1), by causing substantial injury to Genesis Loan 

borrowers by barring or pulling them from class, withholding educational resources, 

and otherwise preventing them from gaining access to educational courses or materials 

for which they had already paid, in order to pressure them to pay their Genesis Loans. 

61. Based on the well-pled allegations of the Complaint, which are taken as true, 

Defendant Corinthian has violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692d, by engaging in 

harassing, oppressive, or abusive conduct against Genesis Loan borrowers in connection 

with the collection of debts from the Genesis Loans. 
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62. Based on the well-pled allegations of the Complaint, which are taken as true, 

Defendant Corinthian has violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1), because without 

prior consent of the consumer or express permission from a court of competent 

jurisdiction, Corinthian communicated with Genesis Loan borrowers in connection with 

the collection of Genesis Loans at a place or time known to be inconvenient to the 

consumer, to wit, while those borrowers were attending classes at Corinthian. 

63. Based on the well-pled allegations of the Complaint, which are taken as true, 

Defendant Corinthian has violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b), because without 

the prior consent of the consumer or the express permission of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, Corinthian communicated with prohibited third parties regarding the 

collection of Genesis Loans by making collection efforts while the borrowers were 

attending classes at Corinthian, which disclosed the existence of those debts to 

instructors, classmates, and other third parties. 

64. Fencing-in provisions are appropriate to prevent future illegal acts. FTC v. 

Colgate–Palmolive Co., 380 U.S. 374, 395 (1965). This is case even where the corporate 

defendant may be defunct. Think Achievement Corp., 144 F. Supp. 2d at 1018. 

65. Defendant Corinthian is hereby permanently enjoined from committing any 

future violations of the CFPA’s prohibition on unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and 

practices. 

66. Defendant Corinthian is hereby permanently enjoined from committing any 

future violations of the FDCPA’s prohibition against debt collectors engaging in 

harassing, oppressive, or abusive conduct in connection with the collection of debts. 

67. Defendant Corinthian is hereby permanently enjoined from committing any 

future violations of the FDCPA’s prohibition against communications with certain third 
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parties in connection with the collection of debts, without the prior consent of the 

consumer or the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

68. Defendant Corinthian is hereby permanently enjoined from committing any 

future violations of the FDCPA’s prohibition against communicating with a consumer in 

connection with the collection of any debt at a place or time known to be inconvenient to 

the consumer, without prior consent of the consumer or express permission from a 

court of competent jurisdiction. 

IV. Order for Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

69. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the Plaintiff 

Bureau and against Defendant Corinthian in the amount of $531,224,267, which 

represents the amount of damages owed to Affected Consumers proven through 

competent evidence.  

70. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be 

deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent 

according to the applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for injured 

consumers, including but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, damages or 

other monetary relief for Affected Consumers and for any attendant expenses for the 

administration of such redress. 

71. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that providing redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable, or if funds remain after the 

administration of redress is completed, such funds will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury 

as disgorgement.  Defendant Corinthian will have no right to challenge the choice of 

remedies under this section and will have no right to contest the manner of distribution 

chosen. 
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72. Payment of redress to any Affected Consumer under this Order may not be 

conditioned on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

V. Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. In the event of any default on Corinthian’s obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and will 

immediately become due and payable. 

74. Corinthian must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Corinthian. 

VI. Retention of Jurisdiction 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. This Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

VII. Service 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. This Order may be served upon Corinthian through the Bankruptcy Trustee by 

certified mail or United Parcel Service, either by the United States Marshal, the Clerk of 

the Court, or by any representative or agent of the Bureau. 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED, on  10/27/2015 

      
      ________________________________ 
      The Honorable Gary Feinerman 
      United States District Judge 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Nationwide
Student Financial Aid Scam
Operation Ripped Off Students and Families Applying for College
Financial Aid

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced it is taking action to halt a nationwide student financial aid scam that
allegedly ripped off tens of thousands of students and families across the country by
illegally charging millions of dollars in fees for sham financial services. The Bureau filed
a complaint in federal court against the company, which operates under the names of
Student Financial Resource Center and College Financial Advisory, and the individual
who owns and operates the scheme. The CFPB is seeking to halt illegal practices and
obtain relief for harmed consumers.

“Student Financial Resource Center and College Financial Advisory scammed
thousands of students by masquerading as government agencies and other trusted
organizations,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Students and families were
looking for information on how to pay for college, instead they were illegally charged
millions of dollars for sham financial services. We will continue to take strong action
against those who deceive consumers.”

Global Financial Support, Inc. is a California corporation owned by Armond Aria that
operates under the names of College Financial Advisory and Student Financial
Resource Center. According to the Bureau complaint, the deceptive scheme run by Aria
and his businesses operates under the guise of a government or universityaffiliated
operation. The defendants allegedly send millions of deceptive letters to students and
their families claiming to match them with targeted financial aid assistance programs
for a fee. In reality, many consumers receive nothing in exchange for their fee and the
scheme reaps millions of dollars in illegal fees.

The CFPB alleges in its complaint that the defendants are exploiting consumer
uncertainty regarding how to use free federal financial aid resources. The Department
of Education operates the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA), a national
program enabling students to apply for college loans and grants. The Department of
Education does not charge any fees to apply for these programs, for which many
student loan borrowers qualify.

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that Aria and his businesses violated the DoddFrank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition against deceptive acts
and practices by misleading consumers about their services. The complaint also alleges
the defendants violated federal privacy law for failing to provide a required privacy
notice. Specifically, the CFPB alleges that they:

Trick consumers into thinking they are applying for financial aid
services: According to the CFPB’s complaint, since at least January 2011, the
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company has issued millions of marketing letters under the names Student
Financial Resource Center and College Financial Advisory to students and their
families. The letters allegedly instruct students to fill out and return an
application and a fee—ranging from $59 to $78—to apply for the maximum merit
and needbased financial aid programs. In exchange for the fee, the company
allegedly promises it will conduct extensive searches to target or match
consumers with individualized financial aid opportunities. In reality, consumers
either receive nothing in exchange for sending in their application and fee, or they
get a generic booklet that fails to provide individualized advice.

Falsely represent an affiliation with the government or academic
institutions: The company’s materials allegedly indicate affiliation with the
government and university financial aid offices. According to the CFPB, the
scheme uses logos and seals that to make consumers think that its materials are
sent or endorsed by the government. The company includes the name of the
student’s university to give the impression that the letter is endorsed by the
student’s university.

Pressure consumers with threats of losing financial aid opportunities:
The Bureau alleges that the company pressures consumers to enroll and pay for
services by creating a false sense of urgency and using fake deadlines and
deceptive statements. The company allegedly tells consumers that unless they
send their application and pay a fee by a specified deadline, consumers will lose
their opportunity to receive student financial aid, when in reality their deadlines
are meaningless.

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau is seeking to stop the unlawful practices of Global
Financial Support, Inc., Student Financial Resource Center, College Financial Advisory,
and Armond Aria that are alleged in the complaint. The Bureau has also requested that
the court order the defendants to provide restitution to harmed consumers and to pay
penalties for their illegal conduct.

The Bureau filed the lawsuit in the U.S. Federal Court for the Southern District of
California. The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually
violated the law.

The CFPB’s complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201510_cfpb_complaintforpermanent
injunctionandotherreliefcollegefinancialadvisory.pdf

More information regarding the Bureau’s work on behalf of students is
available at: www.consumerfinance.gov/students

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action Against Fifth Third
Bank for Auto-Lending Discrimination
and Illegal Credit Card Practices
Company to Pay $18 Million to Minority Auto Borrowers, $3 Million to
Credit Card Customers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
announced two separate actions against Fifth Third Bank, for discriminatory auto loan
pricing and for illegal credit card practices. The joint CFPB and Department of Justice
(DOJ) autolending enforcement action requires Fifth Third to change its pricing and
compensation system to minimize the risks of discrimination, and to pay $18 million to
harmed AfricanAmerican and Hispanic borrowers. The CFPB’s action against Fifth
Third’s deceptive marketing of credit card addon products requires the bank to provide
an estimated $3 million in relief to eligible harmed consumers and pay a $500,000
penalty.

“We are committed to promoting fair and equal access to credit in the auto finance
marketplace,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Fifth Third’s move to a new
pricing and compensation system represents a significant step toward protecting
consumers from discrimination. We are also obtaining millions of dollars in relief today
for consumers affected by deceptive marketing of credit addon products.”

“We commend Fifth Third for its commitment to treating all of its customers fairly
without regard to race or national origin and its leadership in agreeing to impose lower
caps on discretionary markups,” said Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General
Vanita Gupta, head of the Civil Rights Division. “This agreement shows that the indirect
auto lending industry is moving toward a model of dealer compensation that fairly
compensates dealers for their work related to loans, while limiting the dealer markup
that leads to discriminatory pricing.”

“Consumers deserve a level playing field when they enter the marketplace, especially
when financing an automobile,” said U.S. Attorney Carter M. Stewart of the Southern
District of Ohio. “This settlement prevents discrimination in setting the price for auto
loans.”

Fifth Third Bank is a regional bank and insured depository institution. It is
headquartered in Cincinnati, Ohio, primarily serving states in the Midwest and
Southeast. The bank operates approximately 1,300 branches in 12 states, offering
financial services including credit cards, mortgages, home equity lines of credit, and
auto loans.

Auto-Lending Enforcement Action
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Auto loans are the thirdlargest source of outstanding household debt in the United
States, after mortgages and student loans. When consumers finance automobile
purchases from an auto dealership, the dealer often facilitates indirect financing
through a thirdparty lender like Fifth Third, which is the ninth largest depository
indirect auto lender in the United States.

As an indirect auto lender, Fifth Third sets a riskbased interest rate, or “buy rate,” that
it conveys to auto dealers. The bank then allows auto dealers to charge a higher interest
rate when they finalize the deal with the consumer. This is typically called “dealer
markup.” Markups can generate compensation for dealers while giving them the
discretion to charge consumers different rates regardless of consumer creditworthiness.
Over the time period under review, Fifth Third permitted dealers to mark up
consumers’ interest rates as much as 2.5 percent.

Today’s enforcement action is the result of a CFPB examination that began in January
2013. The examination evaluated Fifth Third’s indirect autolending program for
compliance with the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, which prohibits creditors from
discriminating against loan applicants in credit transactions on the basis of
characteristics such as race and national origin. The CFPB and DOJ’s joint investigation
concluded that Fifth Third’s policies:

Resulted in minority borrowers paying higher dealer markups: Fifth
Third violated the Equal Credit Opportunity Act by charging AfricanAmerican
and Hispanic borrowers higher dealer markups for their auto loans than non
Hispanic white borrowers. These markups were without regard to the
creditworthiness of the borrowers.

Injured thousands of minority borrowers: Fifth Third’s illegal
discriminatory pricing and compensation structure meant thousands of minority
borrowers from January 2010 through September 2015 were charged, on average,
over $200 more for their auto loans.

Auto Lending Enforcement Action
The DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and federal fair
lending laws authorize the CFPB and DOJ to take action against creditors engaging in
illegal discrimination. The CFPB’s order was filed today as an administrative action,
and DOJ’s proposed order was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Ohio. The measures provided in the orders will help ensure that illegal
discrimination does not increase the cost of auto loans for consumers on the basis of
race and national origin. Under the CFPB order, Fifth Third must:

Substantially reduce or eliminate entirely dealer discretion: Fifth Third
will reduce dealer discretion to mark up the interest rate to only 1.25 percent
above the buy rate for auto loans with terms of 5 years or less, and 1 percent for
auto loans with longer terms. Fifth Third also has the option under the order to
move to nondiscretionary dealer compensation. The Bureau did not assess
penalties against Fifth Third because of the proactive steps the company is taking
that directly address the fair lending risk of discretionary pricing and
compensation systems by substantially reducing or eliminating that discretion
altogether.

Pay $18 million in damages for consumer harm: Fifth Third will pay $12
million into a settlement fund that will go to harmed AfricanAmerican and
Hispanic borrowers whose auto loans were financed by Fifth Third between
January 2010 and September 2015. Based on a determination by the DOJ and the
CFPB, Fifth Third will receive credit of between $5 million and $6 million for
remediation it has already provided to harmed consumers whose auto loans were
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financed by Fifth Third from January 2010 through June 2015. Fifth Third will
then pay any additional funds necessary into the settlement fund to bring its total
payment to harmed consumers to $18 million.

Pay to hire a settlement administrator to distribute funds to victims: A
settlement administrator will contact consumers, distribute the funds, and ensure
that borrowers who were harmed receive compensation. The Bureau will provide
contact information for the settlement administrator once that person is chosen to
address questions that consumers may have about potential payments.

In March 2013, the CFPB issued a bulletin explaining that it would hold indirect auto
lenders accountable for unlawful discriminatory pricing. The bulletin also made
recommendations for how indirect auto lenders could ensure that they were operating
in compliance with fair lending laws. In September 2014, the Bureau issued an edition
of Supervisory Highlights that explained that the Bureau’s supervisory experience
suggests that significantly limiting discretionary pricing adjustments may reduce or
effectively eliminate pricing disparities. Substantial limits on discretionary pricing like
those imposed by today’s order can address the type of fair lending risk identified in the
CFPB’s bulletin and Supervisory Highlights.

Today’s auto lending action is part of a larger joint effort between the CFPB and DOJ to
address discrimination in the indirect auto lending market. Most recently, in July 2015,
the CFPB and DOJ took an action against American Honda Finance Corporation
requiring Honda to pay $24 million in consumer restitution and take the same steps to
substantially reduce or eliminate entirely dealer discretion.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order in the auto lending matter is
available at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consentorderfifth
thirdbank.pdf

The DOJ simultaneously filed a complaint and proposed consent order to
settle the auto lending matter. The DOJ’s announcement is available at:
http://www.justice.gov/justicenews

Credit Card Enforcement Action
The CFPB is also taking action today against Fifth Third for violations of the Dodd
Frank Act for deceptive acts or practices in the marketing and sales of its “Debt
Protection” credit card addon product. This is the 11th credit card addon enforcement
action the Bureau has taken against companies for illegal practices in the marketing or
administration of addon products and services.

From 2007 through February 2013, Fifth Third marketed and sold the product to its
customers during telemarketing calls and online. The product promised to allow
enrolled cardholders to request the cancellation of credit card payments if they
experienced certain hardships such as job loss, disability, and hospitalization.
Depending on the version of the product, consumers who enrolled were charged a
monthly fee of either 0.81 percent or 0.89 percent of their card balance. In September
2012, Fifth Third ceased telemarketing the product and ceased all other enrollments in
February 2013.

The Bureau found that Fifth Third’s telemarketers deceptively marketed the addon
product during calls. For example, telemarketers did not tell some cardholders that by
agreeing to receive information about the product, they were being enrolled and would
be charged a fee. In addition, from December 2011 through September 2012, Fifth
Third sent cardholders product “fulfillment kits” that contained incorrect descriptions
of the product’s cost, benefits, exclusions, terms, and conditions. Among other things,
Fifth Third’s illegal practices included: misrepresenting costs and fees for coverage;

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consent-order-fifth-third-bank.pdf
http://www.justice.gov/justice-news
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misrepresenting or omitting information about eligibility for coverage; and illegal
practices in the enrollment process.

The CFPB’s order was filed today as an administrative action. The CFPB’s order
requires that Fifth Third provide $3 million in relief to roughly 24,500 customers, cease
engaging in illegal practices, and pay a $500,000 penalty to the CFPB civil penalty
fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order in the credit card addon matter is
available at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201509_cfpb_consentorderfifth
thirdbankaddon.pdf

For auto loan or credit card questions or to submit a complaint, consumers can contact
the CFPB at (855) 4112372 or visit consumerfinance.gov.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2015-CFPB-0029 
__________________________ 

) 
) 

In the Matter of:     ) 
      ) 
      ) 
      ) 
      )           
INTEGRITY ADVANCE, LLC and )   
JAMES R. CARNES,   ) 
      ) 

) 
Respondents.    ) 

       ) 
 _________________________ ) 
 
 
 The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau” or “CFPB”) hereby submits 

the following Notice of Charges against Respondents, Integrity Advance, LLC (“Integrity 

Advance”), and its former chief executive James R. Carnes (“Carnes”) related to a small 

dollar lending operation which systematically misled consumers regarding the terms of 

its loans, wrongfully required electronic access to consumer bank accounts, and unfairly 

undermined consumers’ ability to contest withdrawals from their accounts. In support 

of its Notice of Charges, the Bureau alleges and submits as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND LEGAL AUTHORITY 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

2. Under Section 1053 of the CFPA, the Bureau may bring an adjudication 

proceeding to enforce federal consumer financial law. 

NOTICE OF CHARGES  
SEEKING RESTITUTION, 
DISGORGEMENT, OTHER 
EQUITABLE RELIEF, AND 
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES
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PARTIES 

3. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States that is authorized to 

take enforcement action to address violations of federal consumer-financial law, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5511(c)(4), 5512(a), 5563, 5564, which includes the Truth in Lending Act 

(“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., and the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1693 et seq., except with respect to Section 920 of EFTA.  12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(12)(C), (O), (14). 

4. Respondent Integrity Advance, LLC (“Integrity Advance”) is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of Delaware that had its principal place of business 

at 300 Creek View Road, Newark, Delaware. Integrity Advance originated online payday 

loans throughout the United States through its website, www.iadvancecash.com.  

5. Integrity Advance was a wholly owned subsidiary of Hayfield Investment Partners, 

a privately held company that was also organized under Delaware law. 

6. Respondent James R. Carnes is a natural person residing in Kansas. At all times 

relevant to this Notice of Charges, Carnes functioned as the chief executive officer 

(“CEO”) and president of Integrity Advance. 

7. Carnes owned 52% of Hayfield Investment Partners, Integrity Advance’s parent 

company. 

8. At all relevant times, the senior executives of Integrity Advance reported directly 

or indirectly to Carnes. 

9. Carnes was an active and involved CEO who was personally responsible for all of 

Integrity Advance’s policies and procedures.  Carnes had authority to control Integrity 

Advance’s practices and knew about its deceptive and unfair practices.  Therefore, 
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Carnes engaged in the deceptive and unfair practices alleged herein along with Integrity 

Advance. 

INTEGRITY ADVANCE AND CARNES ARE COVERED PERSONS 

10. Integrity Advance is a covered person because it extended credit and serviced 

loans. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(i). 

11. As a director with managerial responsibility, Carnes is a “related person” under 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). Therefore, Carnes is a “covered person” for purposes of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Integrity Advance Operations 

12. From May 15, 2008 through December 2012, Integrity Advance offered short 

term loans to consumers residing in numerous states around the country. 

13. The company offered loans in amounts ranging from $100 to $1000. 

14. During 2007 and 2008, Integrity Advance developed its policies and procedures 

governing its application process and forms, disclosures, and underwriting. 

15. As the CEO of Integrity Advance at that time, Carnes was directly responsible for 

all of the policies and procedures developed and implemented by the company.  

16. These policies and procedures were used throughout the time that Integrity 

Advance originated loans. 

The Application Process 

17. Consumers typically applied for loans with Integrity Advance by entering their 

personal information into a lead generator website. 

18. Consumers applied for loans from Integrity Advance without knowing the terms 

of the loans.  

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 1     Filed 11/18/2015     Page 3 of 16



4 
 

19. Integrity Advance did not allow consumers to see the loan agreement, which 

contained all of the loan terms, until after they had completed the online application. 

20. Integrity Advance instructed call center representatives working on its behalf not 

to disclose the cost of a loan to a consumer until the consumer had completed an 

application. 

21. In order to complete the online loan application process, Integrity Advance 

required consumers to agree to an Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) authorization, 

which enabled the company to deposit and withdraw funds from the consumer’s bank 

account electronically. 

22. Once the application was completed, if it was approved, Integrity Advance would 

deposit the loan funds within 24 hours after receiving electronic consumer signatures, 

unless the consumer affirmatively contacted Integrity Advance to decline the loan. 

The Contract 

23. Integrity Advance’s contract prominently stated the cost of the loan “as 

scheduled” by assuming that the borrower would repay the loan in full in only one 

payment and thereby pay only a single finance charge.  

24. The fine print of the contract, however, provided that unless the borrower took 

additional action, Integrity Advance would not debit the borrower once to pay the loan 

in full. Instead, Integrity Advance would debit the borrower’s account multiple times, 

charging multiple finance charges, and automatically would renew the loan each pay 

period. As a result, many borrowers paid significantly more than the amount disclosed 

on the first page of the contract.  
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25. The first page of the six page contract contained the Truth in Lending Act 

disclosures in bold print in the middle of the page, outlining the loan APR, finance 

charge, amount financed, and total of payments. 

26. Integrity Advance would calculate each part of those disclosures by assuming 

that the loan would be fully repaid in one payment on the consumer’s first payday after 

loan origination.  

27. However, the true repayment schedule and costs were hidden in fine print that 

appeared on the second page of the agreement, as illustrated below:  
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28. The single repayment assumed in the TILA disclosures did not comport with the 

default repayment schedule that Integrity Advance used for all of its consumers. 

29. Absent affirmative action by the consumer, Integrity Advance would ‘rollover’ 

the loan four times. Each time, Integrity Advance would debit the entire finance charge, 

“renew” the loan, and add another finance charge to the consumer’s account. Integrity 

Advance would apply nothing to the borrower’s principal. 

30. After the fourth rollover, absent affirmative action by the consumer, Integrity 

Advance would continue to take finance charges from the consumer’s account every two 

weeks and in addition withdraw $50 which was applied to the loan principal. 

31. Integrity Advance would continue to take the $50 principal payment plus the 

finance charge every two weeks until the loan was paid off. As represented below, this 

automatic repayment schedule would result in at least eleven separate payments by the 

consumer to Integrity Advance for a $300 loan: 

 

 
PAYDAY 

 
PAYMENT 

FINANCE CHARGE 
(30% OF REMAINING 

PRINCIPAL BALANCE) 
AMOUNT 
APPLIED 

TO 
PRINCIPAL

REMAINING 
PRINCIPAL 
BALANCE 

 
TOTAL PAID 

TO DATE

1 $90 $90 $0 $300 $90 
2 $90 $90 $0 $300 $180 
3 $90 $90 $0 $300 $270 
4 $90 $90 $0 $300 $360 
5  $90 $90  $0 $300 $450 
6  $140 $90 $50 $250 $590 
7  $125 $75 $50 $200 $715 
8 $110 $60 $50 $150 $825 
9 $95 $45 $50 $100 $920 
10 $80 $30 $50 $50 $1000 

    11  $65 $15  $50            $0 $1065 
TOTAL $1065 $765 $300 - $1065 
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32. Complaints submitted by consumers indicate that the consumers thought the 

company would debit only the total amount disclosed in the TILA disclosure and did not 

understand that their loans would rollover four times before the company credited any 

of their payments to principal. 

33. Consumers who had their loans rolled over repeatedly paid significantly more in 

finance charges than the finance charge amount stated in the TILA disclosure. 

34. Integrity Advance’s forms never disclosed to consumers the total amount of 

finance charges that they would pay over the course of their loan with the company if 

they made only the default payments. 

35. Consumers who had their loans rolled over repeatedly paid a much higher 

interest rate than the interest rate stated in the TILA disclosure. 

36. Integrity Advance’s forms never disclosed to consumers the interest rate they 

would pay over the course of their loan with the company if they made only the default 

payments. 

37. Consumers who had their loans rolled over repeatedly paid considerably higher 

‘total payments’ than the total of payments stated in the TILA disclosure. 

38. Integrity Advance’s forms never disclosed to consumers the total sum of all the 

loan payments they would have to make over the course of their loan with the company 

if they made only the default payments. 

Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers 

39. Integrity Advance required consumers to sign a form authorizing automatic, 

electronic withdrawals from their accounts in order to pay off the loan (the ACH 

authorization form). 
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40. Consumers could only receive loan proceeds by way of an electronic deposit 

which was authorized by the ACH authorization form. 

41. Approximately 95% of Integrity Advance’s consumers signed the ACH 

authorization.  

42. The online application contained no indication that a consumer might be able to 

secure a loan from Integrity Advance without completing an ACH authorization form. 

43.  The ACH authorization form gave Integrity Advance the ability to execute 

repeated electronic withdrawals from a consumer’s bank account pursuant to the default 

repayment plan that anticipated multiple rollovers:  

You also authorize us to initiate an ACH debit entry to Your Bank 
Account: 
 
 . . . (b) for the Finance Charge plus any accrued fees on the Payment 
Due Date, or on any subsequent Renewal Payment Due Date, if you 
contact us at least three (3) business days prior to such date and 
select Payment Option (b) in the Loan Agreement (RENEWAL), or if 
you fail to contact us to confirm your payment option; 
(c) for the accrued finance charges and fees, plus $50.00 on each Pay 
Date after the fourth (4th) Renewal Payment Due Date, until all 
amounts owed under the Loan Agreement are paid in full. 
 

44. These ACH withdrawals occurred at regular intervals. 

45. The ACH authorization form also contained language dictating that the 

consumer remained obligated to allow electronic access to her account until all 

indebtedness to IA was satisfied: 

The ACH Authorizations set forth in the Loan Agreement 
are to remain in full force and effect for this transaction 
until your indebtedness to us for the Total of Payments, 
plus any other charges or fees incurred and described in 
the Loan agreement is fully satisfied. (Emphasis added) 
 

46. If, nonetheless, a consumer was able to withdraw their consent to Automated 

Clearing House withdrawals by Integrity Advance, the contract provided that the 

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 1     Filed 11/18/2015     Page 8 of 16



9 
 

company could create checks that would enable Integrity Advance to withdraw funds 

from the consumer’s bank account without the signature or permission of the consumer:  

If you revoke your [ACH] authorization, you agree to provide us 
with another form of payment acceptable to us and you 
authorize us to prepare and submit one or more checks 
drawn on Your Bank Account so long as amounts are 
owed to us under the Loan Agreement. (Emphasis added) 
 

47. This unclear and confusing provision was hidden in the fine print of one of the 

numerous forms that consumers were required to complete in order to obtain a loan 

with Integrity Advance.  

48. Integrity Advance utilized this provision to execute remotely created checks 

when consumers were contesting the company’s right to those funds by withdrawing the 

consumer’s consent to ACH withdrawals.  

 

VIOLATIONS 

Count I  
(Against Integrity Advance) 

 
The Truth in Lending Act 

 
49. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

50. TILA and Regulation Z require that creditors disclose “clearly and 

conspicuously” in writing “the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.” 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.17(a), (c).  

51. Respondent Integrity Advance was a creditor under TILA and Regulation Z.   

52. Respondent extended closed-end credit to consumers under TILA and 

Regulation Z.  
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53. Integrity Advance calculated its TILA disclosure by assuming that the borrower 

would pay in full with a single payment. 

54. Integrity Advance did not debit the entire amount owed in a single payment 

unless the borrower took additional action. 

55. If the borrower did not take additional action, Integrity Advance would debit the 

consumer’s account repeatedly and would charge multiples of the finance charge 

disclosed before the consumer had paid in full. 

56. Indeed, for many of its borrowers, Integrity Advance debited more than the total 

cost disclosed in the TILA disclosure. 

57. Integrity Advance’s inaccurate disclosures violated the Truth in Lending Act, 15 

U.S.C. § § 1631, 1638, and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.17 and 1026.18. 

Count II  
(Against Integrity Advance) 

 
CFPA 

 
58.  The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

59. The CFPA defines enumerated statutes to include the Truth in Lending Act. 12  

U.S.C. § 5481(12)(O). 

60. Under the CFPA, covered persons’ and service providers’ violations of an 

enumerated statute are considered violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 1036(a)(1)(A). 

61. By virtue of its violation of the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z, Integrity 

Advance has violated the CFPA. 
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Count III 
(Against Integrity Advance and Carnes) 

CFPA (Deception) 

62. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

63. Integrity Advance calculated its disclosures by assuming that the borrower would 

pay in full with a single payment. 

64. Integrity Advance did not debit the entire amount owed in a single payment 

unless the borrower took additional action. 

65. If the borrower did not take additional action, the company would debit the 

consumer’s account repeatedly and would charge multiples of the finance charge 

disclosed before the consumer had paid in full. 

66. Indeed, for many of its borrowers, Integrity Advance debited more than the total 

cost disclosed in the TILA disclosure. 

67. The net impression of Respondents’ disclosures misled reasonable consumers 

into believing that their total finance charges and APR were much lower than they 

actually were. 

68. Respondents’ documents never accurately disclosed the total finance charge, 

APR, or total of payments that a consumer would pay if the consumer made only the 

default payments under the contract. 

69. These misleading disclosures were material to consumers in assessing the cost of 

a loan from Integrity Advance. 

70. Respondents’ disclosures were false and misleading and constituted a deceptive 

act or practice in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

 

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 1     Filed 11/18/2015     Page 11 of 16



12 
 

Count IV  
(Against Integrity Advance and Carnes) 

 
CFPA (Unfairness) 

 
71. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

72. Respondents caused substantial injury to consumers by supplying deceptive 

disclosures and withholding information about the costs of its loans during the 

application process. 

73. Respondents caused substantial injury to consumers by misleading consumers 

about their repayment obligations and failing to disclose clearly the costs of a loan that 

rolled over repeatedly as envisioned by the contract.  

74. These practices prevented consumers from properly assessing the actual cost of a 

loan from Integrity Advance. 

75. Consumers could not reasonably avoid these injuries. 

76. Respondents’ practice of supplying deceptive disclosures did not produce any 

benefits to consumers or competition that outweighed the substantial injury that the 

practice caused. 

77. Respondents’ disclosure practices constituted an unfair practice under the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count V  
(Against Integrity Advance) 

 
The Electronic Fund Transfer Act 

 
78. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

79. Consumers were required to complete Integrity Advance’s ACH authorization to 

complete the loan application process. 
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80. Taken together, Integrity Advance’s contracts and ACH authorizations stated 

that by signing the documents consumers authorized repeated electronic fund transfers 

every payday until the principal reduced to zero. 

81. Those electronic fund transfers were preauthorized under the definition 

contained in Regulation E. 

82. There was no indication in Integrity Advance’s documents that a consumer could 

obtain a loan without signing the ACH agreement. 

83. Integrity Advance’s practices conditioned extensions of credit on repayment by 

preauthorized electronic fund transfers in violation of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k, and 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(e). 

Count VI  
(Against Integrity Advance) 

 
CFPA 

 
84. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 

85. The CFPA defines enumerated statutes to include the Electronic Fund Transfer 

Act. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(12)(C). 

86. Under the CFPA, covered persons’ and service providers’ violations of an 

enumerated statute violate the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 1036(a)(1)(A).  

87. By virtue of its violation of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E, 

Integrity Advance has violated the CFPA. 

Count VII  
(Against Integrity Advance and Carnes) 

 
CFPA (Unfairness) 

 
88. The allegations in paragraphs 1-48 are incorporated by reference. 
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89. Integrity Advance’s contracts with consumers included a provision allowing the 

company to create remotely created checks (demand drafts) if a consumer successfully 

canceled their authorization for ACH withdrawals.  

90. Respondents used this provision to take consumers’ funds when those 

consumers believed that they did not owe money to Integrity Advance. 

91. The remotely created checks created by Respondents caused substantial injury to 

consumers by causing an unexpected loss of funds and precluding consumers from 

stopping debits from their accounts for amounts they did not believe they owed.  

92. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers. 

93. Respondents’ practices did not produce any benefits to consumers or 

competition that outweighed the substantial injury caused. 

94. Respondents’ practice of obtaining authorization for demand drafts in a 

confusing manner, and then initiating such demand drafts, constituted an unfair 

practice under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c) and 5536(a)(1)(B).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565 et seq., the Bureau requests an 

Order granting: 

A. Disgorgement of money, in an amount to be determined at trial; 

B. Restitution in an amount to be determined at trial to compensate borrowers 

who were the victims of Respondents’ practices; 

C. Civil money penalties; 

D. A permanent injunction preventing future violations of the Truth in Lending 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq., Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226, et seq., the 

Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693, et seq., Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. 
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§ 205, et seq., the CPFA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536, or any provision of “Federal 

consumer financial law” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

E. Other injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper;  

F. Recovery of costs in connection with prosecuting this action; and 

G. Any other legal or equitable relief deemed appropriate. 

TIME AND PLACE OF THE HEARING 

 Pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1081.203(d), the time and place of the hearing shall be 

determined by the hearing officer in the scheduling order. 
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TIME TO FILE AN ANSWER 

 Within fourteen (14) days of service of this notice of charges, the answer must be 

filed and served in accordance with 12 C.F.R. § 1081.201(a).  

      Respectfully submitted, 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
 
DEBORAH MORRIS 
Deputy Enforcement Director  
 
CRAIG COWIE 
Assistant Litigation Deputy  
 
 
/s/ Alusheyi J. Wheeler 
Alusheyi J. Wheeler 
Wendy J. Weinberg 
Vivian W. Chum 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-7786 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
Email: alusheyi.wheeler@cfpb.gov 

 

      Enforcement Counsel 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Online Lender 
for Deceiving Borrowers
Bureau Alleges Integrity Advance Misrepresented the Cost of Loans, Seeks 
Redress for Borrowers

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took 
action today against an online lender, Integrity Advance, LLC, and its CEO, James R. 
Carnes, for deceiving consumers about the cost of short-term loans. The Bureau alleges 
that the company’s contracts did not disclose the costs consumers would pay under the 
default terms of the contracts. The Bureau also alleges that the company unfairly used 
remotely created checks to debit consumers’ bank accounts even after the consumers 
revoked authorization for automatic withdrawals. The CFPB filed an administrative 
lawsuit seeking redress for harmed consumers, as well as a civil money penalty and 
injunctive relief. 

Integrity Advance was a Delaware-based online lender which originated and serviced 
short-term loans to consumers around the country. From May 2008 through December 
2012, Integrity Advance offered loans ranging from $100 to $1,000, and consumers 
typically applied for the loans by entering their personal information into a lead 
generator website. 

Under the default terms of Integrity Advance’s contracts, the loans would roll over four 
times—causing additional charges to accrue with each rollover—before the company 
applied any of the payments to the principal amounts. However, the costs on the 
disclosures were based on the assumption that the loans would not roll over and would 
instead be repaid in full by the first payment. Integrity Advance never informed 
consumers of the total costs of their loans if those loans were rolled over, even though 
the contracts were set up to roll over automatically. Under the default terms of the 
contracts, consumers would end up paying finance charges more than double the 
amount originally borrowed: $765 in finance charges for a typical $300 loan.

The CFPB alleges that Integrity Advance violated the Truth in Lending Act and the 
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, and that Integrity Advance and Carnes violated the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition against 
unfair and deceptive acts and practices. The unlawful practices alleged by the CFPB 
include:

• Hiding the total cost of loans: Consumers were given contracts with 
disclosures based on repaying the loan in a single payment, even though the 
default terms of the contract called for multiple rollovers and additional finance 
charges. For example, under Integrity Advance’s default payment schedule, a 
consumer borrowing $300 would ultimately pay $765 in finance charges—$675 
more than the $90 finance charge disclosed in Integrity Advance’s contract.

• Requiring repayment by pre-authorized electronic funds transfers:
Integrity Advance violated federal law by requiring consumers to agree to repay 
their loans via pre-authorized Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments. The 
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Electronic Fund Transfer Act says repayment of loans cannot be conditioned on 
consumers’ pre-authorization of recurring electronic fund transfers.

• Continuing to debit borrowers’ accounts after consumers canceled the 
authorization: Integrity Advance’s contracts with consumers included a 
provision allowing the company to use remotely created checks if a consumer 
successfully canceled his or her authorization for ACH withdrawals. The provision 
was hidden in the loan agreement, and the company used it to take consumers’ 
funds when consumers believed they did not owe money to Integrity Advance. 

A Notice of Charges initiates proceedings in an administrative forum, and is similar to a 
complaint filed in federal court. This case will be tried by an Administrative Law Judge 
from the Bureau’s Office of Administrative Adjudication, an independent adjudicatory 
office within the Bureau. The Administrative Law Judge will hold hearings and make a 
recommended decision regarding the charges, which may be appealed to the Director of 
the CFPB for a final decision. The Notice of Charges is not a finding or ruling that the 
respondents have actually violated the law.

The Bureau’s Rules of Practice for Adjudication Proceedings provide that the CFPB may 
publish the actual Notice of Charges ten days after the company is served. If allowed by 
the hearing officer, the charges will be available on the CFPB website after that date.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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DEC 7 2015

CFPB Takes Action Against Debt 
Collector for Pursuing Disputed and 
Unverified Cellphone Debts
EOS to Pay More than $2.5 Million in Refunds and Penalties

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) 
filed a federal complaint against EOS CCA (EOS), a Massachusetts debt collection firm, 
for reporting and collecting on old cellphone debt that consumers disputed and EOS did 
not verify. The company also provided inaccurate information to credit reporting 
companies about the debt and failed to correct reported information that it had 
determined was inaccurate. The CFPB filed a proposed consent order that, if entered by 
the court, would require EOS to overhaul its debt collection practices, refund at least 
$743,000 to consumers, and pay a $1.85 million civil money penalty. 

“After buying a portfolio of debt, EOS soon learned of several red flags that raised 
doubts about the debt’s validity. Even so, EOS still proceeded to collect certain disputed 
and unverified debts,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “It is unacceptable that 
consumers were harmed by these practices and that the company supplied inaccurate 
information to the credit reporting companies, so today we are taking action to stop it.” 

EOS is a debt collection company headquartered in Norwell, Mass. that also has a debt-
purchasing arm. Like many other debt collectors, EOS collects delinquent or charged-
off accounts that were purchased for a fraction of the value of the debt. Although EOS 
typically pays only pennies on the dollar for the debt, it may attempt to collect the full 
amount claimed by the original lender. In 2012, EOS paid AT&T $35.4 million for a 
portfolio of more than three million cellphone accounts with a total face value of $2.3 
billion. Many of these debts were old accounts that had been previously sent to multiple 
collection agencies. 

The CFPB’s investigation found that EOS learned of significant problems with the 
portfolio a few months after acquiring it. Among other things, the portfolio contained 
fraudulent, already paid, or already settled debts. Despite this, EOS continued to collect 
and report on the debts, including debts that consumers disputed, without verifying 
that those debts remained outstanding. In addition, EOS initially reported all the debts 
to the credit reporting companies as disputed even though it had no basis to believe that
all the debts had in fact been disputed by consumers. 

These practices violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 
Specifically, the CFPB’s investigation found that EOS:

• Collected debts that it did not substantiate: EOS learned in January 2013 
that, contrary to the sales agreement with AT&T, the portfolio it purchased 
contained fraudulent debts, debts that consumers had paid or settled, and debts 
that were so old that they could no longer be legally collected. When consumers 
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disputed the debts, EOS had difficulty getting AT&T to provide sufficient, and in 
some cases, any documentation to verify the debts. Notwithstanding those issues, 
EOS continued to report and collect on certain disputed debts that EOS did not 
verify. 

• Reported inaccurate dispute information to the credit reporting 
companies: Shortly after it started collecting on the portfolio, EOS reported to 
the credit reporting companies that all three million of the debts were disputed by 
consumers, when EOS knew not all of the accounts had been disputed. EOS flip 
flopped on this twice, removing the dispute flags and then reinserting the dispute 
flags a month later. 

These unlawful collection and reporting practices resulted in consumers paying debts 
they did not owe or had no obligation to pay. In the end, EOS collected about $743,000 
on more than 2,000 accounts that consumers disputed and that EOS did not verify.

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the proposed 
consent order, EOS would be required to: 

• Refund at least $743,000 to consumers: EOS would be required to provide 
full refunds of payments made on debts that were disputed but that EOS did not 
verify. 

• Cease collecting and reporting on disputed AT&T debt: If a consumer has 
disputed the debt and EOS is unable to substantiate it, EOS would be required to 
ask the credit reporting companies to remove any information about the debt 
from the consumer’s file. It would also be barred from collecting on the debt or 
accepting payment for it. 

• Stop collecting unverified debts: EOS would not be able collect 
unsubstantiated debt if it has reason to believe the portfolio contains inaccurate 
information. Under the order, for five years the company would be required to 
review original account-level documents verifying a debt before collecting on it 
when, for example, a consumer has disputed it, the seller didn’t promise it was 
accurate or valid, or the debt was part of a portfolio EOS knew included 
unsupportable or inaccurate information. 

• Ensure accuracy when providing information to credit reporting 
companies: EOS would only be permitted to report a debt with a credit 
reporting company if the debt is accurate. 

• Stop reselling debts: EOS would be prohibited for five years from reselling the 
debts it buys to other debt collectors. This would protect consumers from the 
potential harm that results when debt collectors continue to sell and resell debts 
that may be inaccurate or lack the business records and information needed to 
collect them. 

• Pay civil money penalties: EOS would be required to pay a penalty of $1.85 
million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The EOS complaint can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_complaint-eos.pdf

The proposed EOS consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_proposed-consent-order-eos.pdf
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The proposed consent order is not a finding or ruling that EOS has actually violated the 
law. The EOS consent order was filed in the U.S. District Court in Massachusetts. The 
order would have the force of law only if approved by the court.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSSETTS 

 
 
 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, 

 

  
 Plaintiff,  
 Case No. 1:15-cv-14024 
 v.  
 STIPULATED FINAL 
Collecto, Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA, JUDGMENT AND ORDER 
  
 Defendant.  
  
 
 
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this 

civil action on December 7, 2015 to obtain consumer redress, injunctive relief, civil 

penalties, and other relief, from Collecto, Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA (EOS). The 

Complaint alleges violations of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), violations of the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2, and violations of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, in connection with EOS’s 

reporting and collecting of certain debts.  

The parties, by and through respective counsel, have requested the Court 

to enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (Order) to resolve all matters in 
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dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to the date this Order is 

entered. 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action. 

2. The Parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any 

issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the 

conduct alleged in the Complaint. 

3. EOS neither admits nor denies any allegations in the Complaint, except 

as specifically stated in this Order. For the purposes of this Order, EOS admits the 

facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over it and the subject matter of 

this action. 

4. EOS waives service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and waives all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or 

contest the validity of this Order. EOS also waives any claim it may have under the 

Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this 

action to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, 

including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees. 

5. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.  
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DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

6. “AT&T Portfolio” means the portfolio of defaulted accounts purchased 

by US Asset Management (USAM), EOS’s wholly owned subsidiary, from AT&T in 

August 2012. 

7. “AT&T Portfolio Debt” means an individual account included in the 

AT&T Portfolio. 

8. “Board” means EOS’s duly-elected and acting U.S. Board of Directors. 

9. “Charge-off” means the treatment of a receivable balance by a Creditor 

as a loss or expense because payment is unlikely. 

10. “Charge-off Balance” means the amount alleged due on an account 

receivable at the time of Charge-off. 

11. “Creditor” means any person who offers or extends credit creating a 

debt or to whom a debt is owed, but not a person who receives an assignment or 

transfer of a debt in default solely for the purpose of facilitating collection of such 

debt for another. 

12. “Disputed Portfolio Debt” means any AT&T Portfolio Debt whose 

accuracy or validity was disputed by a consumer, either orally or in writing, to EOS, its 

agents or assigns, USAM or a consumer reporting agency. 
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13. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered on the 

docket. 

14. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

15. “EOS” or “Defendant” means Collecto, Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA and its 

successors and assigns. 

16. “Original Account-Level Documentation” means 

a. any documentation that a creditor or its agent (such as a servicer) 

provided to a consumer about a debt; or 

b. the complete transactional history of a debt, created by a creditor 

or its agent (such as a servicer); or 

c. a copy of a judgment, awarded to a creditor or entered on or 

before the Effective Date. 

17. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against EOS based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the 

Complaint. 
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18. “Restitution Eligible Consumers” means any consumer who paid a 

Disputed Portfolio Debt that EOS did not substantiate with Original Account-Level 

Documentation. 

ORDER 

I. 
CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that, 

19. EOS and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1); the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e; and the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a). 

20. For each Disputed Portfolio Debt that EOS has not substantiated with 

Original Account-Level Documentation as of the Effective Date, within 30 days of 

the Effective Date, EOS must submit a request to any consumer reporting agencies to 

which EOS is reporting the Disputed Portfolio Debt to remove all related tradelines 

and further is permanently enjoined from: 

a. furnishing information about the Disputed Portfolio Debt to 

third parties, including consumer-reporting agencies; 

b. engaging in any collection activity with respect to the Disputed 

Portfolio Debt; 
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c. accepting any payments on the Disputed Portfolio Debt; and 

d. reselling the Disputed Portfolio Debt. 

21. EOS and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all 

other persons in active concert or participation with any of them in collecting a debt 

purchased by USAM, EOS, or any other EOS affiliate or subsidiary, who receive 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are 

restrained and prohibited from making any representation, expressly or by 

implication, that a consumer owes a debt or as to the amount of a debt owed or 

allegedly owed unless, at the time of making the representation, EOS can substantiate 

the representation. Without limiting the foregoing, for 5 years from the Effective 

Date, such substantiation must include reviewing Original Account-Level 

Documentation reflecting the consumer’s name and the claimed amount, excluding 

any post Charge-off or post-judgment payments (unless the claimed amount is higher 

than the Charge-off Balance or judgment balance, in which case EOS must review (i) 

Original Account-Level Documentation reflecting the Charge-off Balance or 

judgment balance and (ii) an explanation of how the claimed amount was calculated 

and why such increase is authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted 

by law), under any of the following circumstances: 

a. the consumer disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or 

validity of the debt; 
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b. the debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a 

purchase agreement without meaningful and effective 

representations and warranties as to the accuracy or validity of the 

debt; 

c. the debt was purchased, after the Effective Date, through a 

purchase agreement without meaningful and effective 

commitments to provide Original Account-Level Documentation 

during the time period in which EOS is collecting the debt; or 

d. the debt was purchased in a portfolio which EOS knows contains 

unsupportable or materially inaccurate information about any 

debt, based on either of the following factors: 

i at any time during the preceding twelve months, a 

Consumer disputed, orally or in writing, the accuracy or 

validity of a debt in the portfolio and EOS sought but was 

unable to obtain Original Account-Level Documentation 

reflecting the amount of the debt or the identity of the 

person responsible for the debt, unless EOS can establish, 

based on a documented and thorough review of Original 

Account-Level Documentation concerning other accounts 

in the portfolio, that the inability to obtain Original 
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Account-Level Documentation to support the account in 

the portfolio was an anomaly; or 

ii Original Account-Level Documentation produced to EOS, 

by a debt seller or a consumer, reflected information about 

the amount of the debt or the identity of the person 

responsible for the debt that was inconsistent and 

irreconcilable with information previously provided to 

EOS by the debt seller, unless EOS can establish, based on 

a documented and thorough review of Original Account-

Level Documentation concerning other accounts in the 

portfolio, that the production of inaccurate or inconsistent 

information concerning the account in the portfolio was an 

anomaly. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as provided in Paragraph 20 of this Order, 

EOS is not required by this paragraph to (i) refuse to accept any payments voluntarily 

submitted by consumers; (ii) suspend collections for consumers who have 

acknowledged the debt and agreed to make payments; or (iii) refuse to communicate 

with a consumer who affirmatively contacts EOS (or its agents) or requests contact 

from EOS (or its agents) to discuss the consumer’s account.  

Case 1:15-cv-14024   Document 2-1   Filed 12/07/15   Page 8 of 24



9 

22. For 5 years from the Effective Date, EOS and its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are  restrained and prohibited from reselling debt 

to anyone other than (i) the entity that initially sold the debt to EOS or to the 

Creditor, (ii) to a subsidiary or affiliate of EOS that is subject to the terms of this 

Consent Order (either by operation of law or by agreement), (iii) to any entity that is 

subject to the terms of this Consent Order as part of an  acquisition or merger with 

EOS, or purchase of all or substantially all of EOS’s assets, or (iv) EOS’s (or its 

affiliates) creditors or any agent of such creditors (in each case, solely in their capacity 

as such) in settlement or satisfaction of any claims under, or in connection with the 

default or remedial provisions of, any relevant loan or lending agreement.  

II. 
COMPLIANCE PLAN 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

23. Within 60 days from the Effective Date, EOS must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that EOS's debt collection, debt-

buying and credit reporting activities comply with the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 
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a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order; and  

b. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of those 

steps. 

24. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct EOS to revise it. In 

the event that the Enforcement Director directs EOS to revise the Compliance Plan, 

EOS must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement 

Director within 30 days. 

25. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, EOS must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

26. Notwithstanding the foregoing, EOS must take whatever steps necessary 

to fully implement all of the requirements and restrictions described in Paragraphs 21-

22 within 60 days of the Effective Date. 
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III. 
ROLE OF THE BOARD 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

27. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, 

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order before they are 

submitted to the Bureau. 

28. Although this Consent Order requires EOS to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board must have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of EOS and for 

ensuring that EOS complies with applicable Federal Consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

29. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of EOS, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for EOS to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by EOS’s management to the Board on 

the status of EOS’s compliance with the Consent Order; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board 

directives related to this Section. 
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IV. 
ORDER TO PAY REDRESS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, EOS must reserve or deposit into 

a segregated deposit account an amount not less than $743,000 for the purpose of 

providing redress to Restitution Eligible Consumers under this Order. This amount 

represents the minimum amount of redress EOS must provide to Restitution Eligible 

Consumers. EOS must refund all payments made to it, directly or indirectly, by 

Restitution Eligible Consumers with respect to any Disputed Portfolio Debt, 

including any interest and fees, regardless of whether the total redress due Restitution 

Eligible Consumers exceeds $743,000. 

31. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, EOS must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The Enforcement 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct EOS to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs EOS to 

revise the Redress Plan, EOS must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan 

to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. After receiving notification that the 

Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

Plan, EOS must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 
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32. The Redress Plan must include (1) the form of the letter (Redress 

Notification Letter) to be sent notifying Restitution Eligible Consumers of the 

redress; and (2) the form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification 

Letter. The letter must explain how the redress amount was calculated; that the 

provision of refund payment is in accordance with the terms of this Order; and that 

the consumer will not be subject to any new debt collection or credit-reporting 

activities for that debt. EOS must not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letter and redress check, 

unless EOS has obtained written confirmation from the Enforcement Director that 

the Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials.  

33. The Redress Plan must also include a description of the: 

a. methods used to identify all Restitution Eligible Consumers; 

b. methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to 

each Restitution Eligible Consumer as required herein; 

c. procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Restitution 

Eligible Consumers; 

d. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan; 

e. process for providing restitution for Restitution Eligible 

Consumers, which must include: 
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i EOS mailing a check to any Restitution Eligible Consumer 

along with a Redress Notification Letter; 

ii EOS sending the check by United States Postal Service 

first-class mail, address correction service requested, to the 

Restitution Eligible Consumer’s last address as maintained 

by EOS’s records; 

iii EOS using best efforts to obtain a current address for any 

Restitution Eligible Consumer whose Redress Notification 

Letter and restitution check is returned for any reason, 

using the National Change of Address System, and 

promptly re-mailing all returned letters and restitution 

checks to current addresses. If the check for any 

Restitution Eligible Consumer is returned to EOS after 

such second mailing by EOS, or if a current mailing 

address cannot be identified using National Change of 

Address System, 

EOS must retain the restitution amount of such Eligible 

Consumer for a period of three-hundred sixty (360) days 

from the date the restitution check was originally mailed, 

during which period such amount may be claimed by such 
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Restitution Eligible Consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. 

34. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers is less than $743,000, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, EOS must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the 

Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Restitution Eligible Consumers 

and $743,000. 

35. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to 

Restitution Eligible Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, any funds not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the 

U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. EOS will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph.  

36. EOS may not condition the payment of any redress to any Restitution 

Eligible Consumer under this Order on that consumer waiving any right. 

37. Within 90 days of completing the Redress Plan, EOS will submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review a report detailing how it identified accounts for 

redress and paid redress on those identified accounts. 
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V. 
ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

38. By reason of the violations of law alleged in the complaint, and based on 

the factors set forth in § 1055(c)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), a judgment 

for a civil money penalty is hereby entered in favor of the Bureau and against EOS in 

the amount of $1,850,000. 

39. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, EOS must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions. 

40. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

41. EOS must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, EOS may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 
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payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty paid under this Order.  

42. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, EOS may not argue that it is entitled to, nor may EOS benefit by, 

any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer 

Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the 

court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, EOS must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change 

the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action.  

VI. 
ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. In the event of any default on EOS’s obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

44. EOS must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to EOS. 

Case 1:15-cv-14024   Document 2-1   Filed 12/07/15   Page 17 of 24



18 

45. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, EOS, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Order. 

46. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, EOS must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that EOS paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

VII. 
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

47. For 5 years from the Effective Date, EOS must notify the Bureau of any 

development that may affect EOS’s compliance obligations arising under this Order, 

including but not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action 

that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or 

dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices 

subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against EOS; or a change in EOS’s name or address. EOS must provide this notice at 
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least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the learning about 

the development, whichever is sooner. 

48. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, EOS must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which 

the Bureau may use to communicate with EOS. EOS must also designate someone, 

providing a name, email, and physical address, who will accept service of process for 

EOS. 

49. EOS must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 48 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

50. Within 60 days of receiving notification that the Enforcement Director 

has made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again one 

year after the Effective Date, EOS must submit to the Enforcement Director an 

accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which EOS has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each order acknowledgment obtained under 

Section VIII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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51. After the one-year period, and for 4 years thereafter, EOS must submit 

to the Enforcement Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of 

receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

VIII. 
ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

52. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, EOS must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Order. 

53. For 5 years from the Effective Date, EOS must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section VII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

54. EOS must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 45 days of delivery, 

from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 
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IX. 
RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

55. EOS must preserve and create, for at least 5 years from the Effective 

Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Order, as well as all 

submissions to the Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, 

described in Section IV. 

56. EOS must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 55 for at least 5 

years. 

57. EOS must make the documents identified in Paragraph 55 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

X. 
NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

58. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, EOS must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order 

in writing, with the subject line, “Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Collecto, 

Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA, Case No. 2013-0829-02,” and send them either: 
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a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1625 Eye Street NW 
ATTN: Office of Enforcement 
Washington, DC 20006; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the address in Paragraph 58(a) and 

contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 

XI. 
COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

59. EOS must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Restitution Eligible 

Consumer. EOS must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

60. EOS must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. 

EOS must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. EOS 

must cause EOS’s officers, employees, representatives, or agents to appear for 

interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may 

reasonably request upon 14 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such 
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places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process. 

XII. 
COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor EOS’s compliance with this Order, 

61. For 5 years from the Effective Date, within 14 days of receipt of a 

written request from the Bureau, EOS must submit additional compliance reports or 

other requested information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide 

sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

62. EOS must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with EOS who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

63. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or otherwise. 

XIII. 
RELEASE 

64. The Bureau releases and discharges EOS from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date of this Order and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date of this 

Order. Notwithstanding this release, the Bureau may use the practices alleged in the 
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Complaint in future enforcement actions against EOS or its affiliates to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of 

violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or 

affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or 

to seek penalties for any violations of the Order. 

XIV. 
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

65. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 
DATED this ___ day of ______________, 2015. 

 
 

     
______________________________________________ 

    United States District Court Judge 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2015-CFPB-0031 

In the Matter of: 

EZCORP, Inc.; Texas EZPAWN, L.P.; Texas 
EZMONEY, L .P.; EZPAWN Alabama, Inc.; 
EZMONEY Alabama, Inc.; EZPAWN 
Colorado, Inc.; EZMONEY Colorado, Inc.; 
EZPAWN Florida, Inc.; EZMONEY Hawaii, 
Inc.; EZMONEY Idaho, Inc.; EZPAWN Iowa, 
Inc.; EZMONEY Kansas, Inc.; EZPAWN 
Louisiana, Inc.; EZMONEY Missouri, Inc.; 
EZMONEY Nebraska, Inc.; EZPAWN 
Nevada, Inc.; EZPAWN Oklahoma, Inc.; 
EZMONEY South Dakota, Inc.; EZMONEY 
Tennessee, Inc.; EZMONEY Utah, Inc.; 
EZPAWN Wisconsin, Inc.; and EZMONEY 
Wisconsin, Inc. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") has reviewed the payday 

and installment lending and collection practices of EZCORP, Inc. and its wholly-ovmed, 

domestic subsidiaries (collectively, " Respondent" as defined below). The Bureau has 

identified violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), and the Electronic Fund Transfer Act ("EFTA"), 15 U.S.C. § 

1693k(1), and its implementing regulation, Regulation E, 12 C.P.R. § 1005.10(e)(1), in 

Respondent's payday and installment lending and debt collection practices. Under 

Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this 

Consent Order ("Consent Order"). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1.  The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under: (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the C FPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and (b) Section 918(a)(5) of the EFTA, 15 

u.s.c. § 1693o(a)(5). 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated December 15, 2015 ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 

and 1055 ofthe C FPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying 

any findings of fact or conclusions oflaw, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

3 .  "Affiliate" means "any person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 

control with another person." 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1). 

4· "Board" means Respondent's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

5· "Clearly and prominently" means: 

a. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on 

the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be of a type size and 
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location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on which it 

appears; 

b. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio 

or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a volume and 

cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend it; 

c. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form consistent with 

subsection (a), and must appear on the screen for a duration sufficient for an 

ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it; 

d. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, 

online services, and software, the disclosure must be unavoidable and 

presented in a form consistent with subsection (a); 

e.  In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the 

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and visual 

portions of the communication; and 

f. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer incurs 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used 

in any communication with the consumer. 

6. "Consumer Reporting Agency" means "any person which, for monetary fees, dues, 

or on a cooperative nonprofit basis, regularly engages in whole or in part in the 

practice of assembling or evaluating consumer credit information or other 

information on consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third 
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parties, and which uses any means or facility of interstate commerce for the 

purpose of preparing or furnishing consumer reports." 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

7. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

8. "Preauthorized electronic fund transfer" means "an electronic fund transfer 

authorized in advanced to recur at substantially regular intervals." 15 U.S.C. § 

1693a(10). 

g. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for the 

Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

10. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section 

IV of this Consent Order. 

11.  " Relevant Time Period" means the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective Date. 

12. "Respondent" means EZCORP, Inc., as well as its current (as of the Effective Date) 

or former, direct or indirect, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, divisions, or branches, 

and all of their successors and assigns, including, but not limited to Texas 

EZPAWN, L.P.;  Texas EZMONEY, L .P.; EZPAWN Alabama, Inc.; EZMONEY 

Alabama, Inc.; EZPAWN Colorado, Inc.; EZMONEY Colorado, Inc.; EZPAWN 

Florida, Inc.; EZMONEY Hawaii, Inc.; EZMONEY Idaho, Inc.; EZPAWN Iowa, 

Inc.; EZMONEY Kansas, Inc.; EZPAWN Louisiana, Inc.; EZMONEY Missouri, Inc.; 

EZMONEY Nebraska, Inc.; EZPAWN Nevada, Inc.; EZPAWN Oklahoma, Inc.; 

EZMONEY South Dakota, Inc.; EZMONEY Tennessee, Inc.; EZMONEY Utah, Inc.; 

EZPA WN Wisconsin, Inc.; and EZMONEY Wisconsin, Inc. 
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13. "Service Provider" means "any person that provides a material service to a covered 

person in connection \Vith the offering or provision by such covered person of a 

consumer financial product or service[ .]" 12  U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A). 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following : 

14. During the Relevant Time Period, EZCORP, Inc., a financial services company 

headquartered in Austin, Texas, through certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

including but not limited to those listed in Paragraph 12, offered, provided, 

arranged for, serviced, and collected for its own account on high-cost, short-term, 

unsecured loans, which it originated or arranged in more than 500 stores. These 

loans included (i) single-payment loans ("payday loans"), and (ii) multiple

payment loans with installment payments of principal, interest, or fees typically 

due semi-monthly or monthly ("installment loans"). These are "consumer financial 

product[s] or service[s]" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 15(A)(i), 15(A)(x). 

Therefore EZCORP, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including but not 

limited to those listed in Paragraph 12, are each a "covered person" under the 

CFPA, including as a "related person," where applicable. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A); 

(25)(B)-(C). 

15. While engaging in the unlawful conduct described herein, EZCORP, Inc. and its 

wholly-owned subsidiaries, including but not limited to those listed in Paragraph 

12, operated as a common enterprise that shared common ovvnership, 

management, control, business divisions, addresses, office space, and employees, 

and commingled funds. As a result, EZCORP, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including 
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but not limited to those listed in Paragraph 12, are jointly and severally liable for 

the acts and practices described herein. 

16. The CFPA prohibits covered persons from engaging in "unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive" acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is 

unfair if it causes or is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not 

reasonably avoidable and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). An act 

or practice is deceptive if there is a material representation, omission, or practice 

that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

17. EFfA provides that no person may "condition the extension of credit to a 

consumer on such consumer's repayment by means of preauthorized electronic 

fund transfers." 15 U.S.C. § 1693k(1) and Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(e)(1). 

18. On July 29, 2015, Respondent announced that it would be closing dovm its U.S. 

Financial Services division which offered payday, installment, and auto-title loans. 

Since that time, Respondent has been in the process of winding-down payday, 

installment, and auto-title lending operations. The wind-down will be complete on 

or before March 31, 2016 (the "Operations Termination Date"). 

Unlawful In-Person Collection Visits to Consumers' 
Homes and Places of Employment 

19. During the Relevant Time Period, until at least October 2013 when Respondent 

changed its policy, Respondent visited consumers' homes and places of 

employment, sometimes on multiple occasions, to collect or attempt to collect 

debts from consumers. 

20. Respondent's employees discussed the debt with, and took payments from, 
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consumers at their homes and places of employment. 

21.  Respondent's employees stated the name ofthe company, wore name tags, handed 

their business cards to third parties, or left their business cards on a consumer's 

door where third parties could find it. 

22. Respondent's employees threatened consumers with in-person collection visits, 

telling them that if the consumer did not return a phone call or make a payment, 

then Respondent would conduct an in-person collection visit. 

23. Respondent's employees visited a consumer's home or place of employment even 

when they were able to contact the consumer through other means, and at times, 

visited a consumer's home or place of employment even when one of Respondent's 

employees had recently spoken ·with the consumer by phone. 

24. If a consumer was not present or not available to speak during an in-person 

collection visit, then Respondent's employee would attempt to leave a letter for the 

consumer with a third party, such as the consumer's supervisor, co-worker, parent, 

child, or roommate. Third parties at consumers' workplaces at times refused to 

accept these letters because the consumer could not engage in personal business 

matters at work. In addition, at times, Respondent's employees were turned away 

from a consumer's workplace by a third party, such as a supervisor, co-worker, 

receptionist, or security officer, because the consumer was not permitted to have 

personal visitors at work. 

25. Respondent's policies provided that employees should avoid disclosing the 

existence of the debt to third parties during in-person collection visits, but 

Respondent's employees did disclose or engaged in conduct that risked the 

disclosure of the existence of consumers' debts to third parties, such as the 
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consumers' supervisors, co-workers, neighbors, roommates, or family members. 

For example, at times, Respondent's employees discussed the consumer's debt with 

third parties or discussed the debt with the consumer in a place where third parties 

could overhear. 

26. Respondent's employees visited consumers' places of employment when 

Respondent's employees knew or should have known that personal visitors were 

not permitted or that going to consumers' places of employment was inconvenient 

to consumers. Respondent went to consumers' places of employment even when 

consumers requested that Respondent not communicate with them at work. For 

example, one consumer stated that she was told by one of Respondent's employees 

that "[ w ]e received your letter saying no communication at work, but if you don't 

call us back I'm showing up at your job." Such visits could disrupt the consumers' 

workplace and cause or risk adverse employment consequences to consumers. 

27. Consumers suffered or were likely to suffer harm as a result of in-person collection 

visits, including humiliation and reputational damage, as well as negative 

consequences at work. 

28. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent conducted thousands of in-person 

collection visits to consumers' homes or places of employment. 

29. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

during visits to consumers' homes and places of employment, Respondent caused 

or was likely to cause substantial injury to consumers by disclosing or risking 

disclosing the existence of the consumers' debt to third parties or by visiting 

consumers' places of employment when Respondent knew or should have known 

that personal visitors were not permitted or that going to the consumers' places of 
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employment was inconvenient to consumers. 

30. Respondent's acts and practices, described in Paragraph 29, caused or were likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers, such as humiliation and reputational 

damage, as well as negative consequences at work, that was not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

to competition. 

31. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 1031, 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Unlawful Calls to Third Parties 

32. As part of its loan application process, Respondent required consumers to list 

addresses and phone numbers for references, supervisors, and, in many instances, 

landlords. Respondent did not disclose to consumers that these third parties would 

later be contacted by Respondent's employees as part of debt collection efforts for 

purposes other than to acquire location information for the consumer. 

33. Respondent's policies stated that employees should contact third parties for 

"location purposes only," but at times, Respondent did not limit debt collection 

calls to references, supervisors, and landlords to circumstances in which it lacked 

adequate contact information for the consumer. Respondent called these third 

parties repeatedly, and, at times, disclosed or risked disclosing the existence of the 

consumer's debt. 

34. In numerous instances, in connection vvith collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

Respondent, for reasons other than to acquire location information and without 

prior consent of consumers, called third parties (in some cases repeatedly), 

including consumers' credit references, supervisors, and landlords, and disclosed 
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or risked disclosing the existence of the debt to third parties. 

35. Respondent's acts and practices, described in Paragraph 34, caused or were likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers, such as humiliation and reputational 

damage, as well as negative consequences at work, that was not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers or outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

to competition. 

36. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031, 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Unlawful Calls to Consumers at Work 

37. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

Respondent called consumers at work, sometimes multiple times, after being told 

that consumers were not allowed to receive calls at work. 

38. Respondent's acts and practices, described in Paragraph 37, of calling consumers 

at work in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, when 

Respondent knew or should have known that such calls were prohibited by the 

consumers' employer, caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers, such as humiliation and reputational damage, as well as negative 

consequences at work, that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers or 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

39· Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031, 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Unlawful "ACH Splits" 

40. Respondent collected loan payments from consumers by electronic fund transfers 

through the Automated Clearing House ("ACH"), an electronic network used to 
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obtain and transmit payments and deposits. 

41. If consumers did not have sufficient funds in their accounts when Respondent 

attempted an electronic fund transfer, consumers' banks often assessed non

sufficient funds ("NSF") fees or overdraft fees against the consumer. 

42. During the Relevant Time Period, until early 2013, if an initial electronic fund 

transfer from a consumer's bank account failed due to insufficient funds, 

Respondent would initiate an "ACH split" on the consumer's next payday. An "ACH 

split" was three simultaneous attempts to withdraw money electronically from a 

consumer's bank account: one for so% of the total amount due, one for 30% of the 

total amount due, and one for 20% of the total amount due. Respondent did not 

adequately disclose to consumers that it would initiate an ACH split if an initial 

electronic fund transfer failed. Since 2011, tens of thousands of consumers have 

likely incurred bank fees if consumers did not have sufficient funds in their 

accounts when the ACH splits were presented to the consumers' banks. 

43. ACH splits resulted in a large number of bank fees being imposed on consumers. 

Since 2011, approximately Bo% of ACH splits resulted in three failed electronic 

fund transfers, often resulting in three NSF fees assessed against consumers by 

their banks. 

44. In numerous instances, during the Relevant Time Period until at least March 2013 

when Respondent changed its policy, including as described in Paragraphs 42 and 

43, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, if an initial 

electronic fund transfer from a consumer's bank account failed, Respondent 

initiated an ACH split. 

45· Respondent's acts and practices, described in Paragraph 44, caused or were likely 
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to cause substantial injury to consumers, such as NSF fees imposed by the 

consumers' banks, that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers or outweighed 

by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

46. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031, 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

False Threats of Legal Action 

47· In numerous collection calls, Respondent falsely threatened consumers with 

litigation if they did not pay a past due amount, including by stating that the 

consumers' accounts could be sent or referred to legal, legal collections, or the legal 

department; that their accounts could be put in a ''legal status" or reviewed for 

legal action; that legal action was possible or could be pursued; or that consumers 

could incur additional fees, such as legal fees, as a result of nonpayment. 

48. In fact, at the time these threats were made, Respondent did not refer these types 

of accounts to any legal division, law firm, or legal department; did not put the 

accounts in a "legal status" or review them for legal action; did not take legal action 

against consumers on the accounts; and did not cause consumers to pay any legal 

fees on the accounts. 

49. As described in Paragraph 47, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect 

debt, in numerous instances, Respondent represented to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that if the consumer did not make a 

payment, Respondent might take legal action against them. 

so. In truth and in fact, Respondent did not intend to take legal action against these 

consumers to collect past due amounts and its policies prohibited such threats. 

51. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 49, constitute 
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deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Misrepresentations about Consumers' Ability 
to Stop Electronic Fund Transfers 

52. Respondent's policy permitted consumers to revoke their authorization for 

Respondent to initiate electronic fund transfers from the consumer's bank account 

by notifying Respondent either in writing or orally, depending on the type of loan. 

53. Consumers could also stop electronic fund transfers by contacting their bank. 

54· In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

Respondent represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that the only way for consumers to stop Respondent from initiating 

electronic fund transfers against the consumer's account was for the consumer to 

make a payment or to set up a payment arrangement. 

55· In truth and in fact, Respondent's policy was that consumers could revoke their 

authorization for Respondent to initiate electronic fund transfers, and consumers 

could also stop electronic fund transfers by contacting their banks. 

56. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 54, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

C FPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Misrepresentations about Consumers' Ability to Stop Collection Calls 

57· Respondent's policy was to honor a consumer's written request to stop collection 

calls to a personal number and to honor a consumer's oral or written request to 

stop collection calls to a work number. 

58. In numerous instances, in connection with the collecting or attempting to collect a 
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debt, Respondent represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that the only way for consumers to stop Respondent from making 

collection calls to the consumer was for the consumer to make a payment or to set 

up a payment arrangement. 

59· In truth and in fact, it was Respondent's policy to honor a consumer's request to 

stop collection calls. 

60. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 58, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Misrepresentations about the Timing of Electronic Fund Transfers 

61. During the Relevant Time Period, certain of Respondent's installment loan 

documents, including loan notes and authorizations for electronic fund transfers, 

provided specific information about v,rhen Respondent would initiate an electronic 

fund transfer to debit a consumer's account. For example, Respondent's 

documents variously represented that: 

a. Respondent would initiate an electronic fund transfer after 12:00 p.m. on the 

due date, if the consumer did not make a payment by that time; 

b. Respondent would initiate an electronic fund transfer after the store's close of 

business on the due date, if the consumer did not make a payment by that 

time; 

c. Respondent would initiate an electronic fund transfer on or after 6:oo p.m. on 

the due date; or 

d. Consumers had until 1:00 p.m. on the due date to make a payment, and if 

they did so, Respondent would cancel the electronic fund transfer. 
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62. In fact, Respondent hatched electronic fund transfer requests for installment loans 

on the evening before the due date and initiated them eafly in the morning on the 

due date, typically between 4:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m., and Respondent did not 

cancel electronic fund transfers after they were transmitted. 

63. As a result, consumers were harmed. For the first failed electronic fund transfer, 

Respondent assessed a one-time fee of up to $40 against the consumer, depending 

on the state. Consumers also incurred fees from their banks. In some instances, as 

a result of Respondent's practices, consumers had insufficient funds in their 

accounts to cover payments to other entities. Since 2011, tens of thousands of 

consumers have likely incurred bank fees when Respondent initiated debits earlier 

than authorized because consumers did not have sufficient funds in their accounts 

at the time of the early debit. 

64. As described in Paragraph 61, in connection \\rith providing installment loans to 

consumers, in numerous instances, Respondent represented to consumers, directly 

or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Respondent would initiate an 

electronic fund transfer after a specific time on the due date. 

65. In truth and in fact, Respondent initiated electronic fund transfers prior to the 

times stated in loan documents. 

66. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 64, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Misrepresentation about Consumers' Ability to Repay Their Loans Early 

67. Respondent's policies stated that consumers could prepay their loans \\rithout 

penalty. In numerous instances, during the Relevant Time Period until at least July 
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2013, in connection with providing installment loans to consumers, Respondent 

represented to consumers in Colorado, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that consumers could not repay their multi-payment installment loans 

in full at any point in the loan term or could not repay such loans early without 

penalty. 

68. In truth and in fact, for the loans in question, there were no restrictions on or 

penalties for early repayment, and consumers could avoid the possibility of paying 

additional interest and fees through early repayment. 

69. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 67 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

False Statements that Respondent Would Not Conduct 
a Credit Check on Applicants 

70. From November 2011 to May 2012, Respondent displayed advertisements in 

numerous stores stating that Respondent would not conduct a credit check on loan 

applicants. 

71. In fact, at the time the advertisements were displayed, Respondent routinely 

conducted credit checks on loan applicants. 

72. As described in Paragraph 70, in numerous instances, Respondent has represented 

to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that they would 

not conduct a credit check on loan applicants. 

73. In truth and in fact, Respondent conducted credit checks on loan applicants. 

Consumers who may have believed that their credit reports would be negatively 

affected by the existence of credit inquiries, and consumers with poor credit 
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history, may not have sought a loan if they were aware that a credit check would be 

conducted. 

74. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 72, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Extension of Credit Conditioned on 
Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers 

75. During the Relevant Time Period, until January 23, 2013, many consumers who 

obtained an installment loan from Respondent signed a loan note that required 

them to authorize Respondent to initiate multiple electronic fund transfers from 

the consumer's bank account. The authorizations allowed Respondent to withdraw 

funds from the consumer's bank account at substantially regular intervals, such as 

biweekly or monthly, for repayment of the loan. 

76. In numerous instances, Respondent conditioned the extension of credit to 

consumers on consumers agreeing to repay their loans by preauthorized electronic 

fund transfers. 

77. Thus, Respondent violated the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k(1) and Regulation E, 12 

C.F.R. § 1005.10(e)(1). 

ORDER 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

78. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 
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violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its Service 

Providers, Affiliates, and other agents do not violate, sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, section 913 of the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k(1), 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(e)(1), or the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

("FDCPA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. 

79. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with offering, providing, arranging for, servicing, or collecting on 

payday or installment loans, are permanently restrained and prohibited from, or 

assisting others in: 

a. visiting a consumer's home or place of employment in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect debt; 

b. contacting any person or entity in relation to the consumer's account, other 

than the consumer, except: 

1. for the purpose of acquiring the address of consumer's residence, the 

consumer's phone number at that residence, or the consumer's mobile 

phone number, and then the contact must not (1) disclose the 

consumer owes any debt, (2) disclose the communication relates to the 

collection of a debt, or (3) occur more than once to the same third party 

unless requested by that party; or 

u. if the consumer, after default, provides his or her voluntary, 

affirmative, and specific written permission, on an opt-in basis. 

c. calling a consumer at a telephone number that Respondent knows or should 

know is a telephone number for the consumer's place of employment, in 
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connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, unless the consumer, 

after default, has given his or her voluntary, affirmative, and specific written 

permission, on an opt-in basis; 

d. disclosing or risking disclosing the existence of the consumer's debt to any 

person other than the consumer, including references, landlords, or 

supervisors, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect a debt; 

e. initiating an electronic fund transfer against a consumer's account after a 

previous electronic fund transfer against the consumer's account has failed 

due to insufficient funds, unless Respondent obtains the consumer's 

voluntary, affirmative, and specific written or recorded authorization, on an 

opt-in basis, after the failed attempt; and 

f. conditioning the extension of credit to consumers on repayment by 

preauthorized electronic fund transfers. 

8o. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

misrepresent, in connection with offering, providing, arranging for, servicing, or 

collecting on payday or installment loans, or assist others in misrepresenting, 

expressly or impliedly: 

a. That Respondent will or might take legal action against a consumer; 

b. That consumers cannot stop electronic fund transfers from their bank 

accounts, including by representing that the only way for a consumer to stop 

Respondent from initiating electronic fund transfers from the consumer's 

bank account is for the consumer to make a payment or to set up a payment 

arrangement; 
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c. That consumers cannot stop collection calls, including by representing that 

the only way for a consumer to stop Respondent from making collection calls 

is for the consumer to make a payment or to set up a payment arrangement; 

d. The time or date Respondent will initiate an electronic fund transfer; 

e. That consumers cannot repay installment loans early, including by 

representing that the consumer cannot repay in full at any point in the loan 

term or cannot repay such loans early without a penalty; 

f. That Respondent will not conduct a credit check on loan applicants; or 

g. Any other fact material to consumers concerning Respondent's offering, 

provision, arrangement for, servicing, or collection of payday or installment 

loans. 

81. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must 

clearly and prominently disclose to a consumer how to stop electronic fund 

transfers by Respondent, including immediately after a consumer states that he or 

she does not want Respondent to initiate an electronic fund transfer. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. If, after the Operations Termination Date, Respondent decides to offer, provide, 

arrange for, service, or collect on payday or installment loans at any point in the 

future, at least 6o days before doing so, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director, for review and determination of non-objection, a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's offering, provision, 
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arranging for, servicing, and collection of payday and installment loans comply 

with applicable Federal consumer protection laws and the terms of this Consent 

Order ("Compliance Plan"). The Compliance Plan shall, at a minimum: 

a. Include detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order; 

b. Explain Respondent's consumer compliance organizational and reporting 

structure; 

c. Provide written descriptions of the job duties for key consumer-compliance 

staff positions, which clearly define employee authority and accountability; 

d. Require that Respondent record and regularly monitor its debt collection 

calls; 

e. Require ongoing education and training in applicable federal and state 

consumer protection laws and the terms of this Consent Order for all 

appropriate employees, with training tailored to each individual's job duties 

or other role within the company. Respondent shall document its training 

program and shall review and update its training program at least annually to 

ensure that it provides appropriate individuals with the most relevant 

information; 

f. Require a consumer complaint monitoring process, including the 

maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic complaints 

or inquiries, formal or informal, received by Respondent and the resolution of 

the complaints and inquiries; 

g. Require independent audit coverage of the compliance program and 

Respondent's compliance with all applicable federal and state consumer 
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protection laws and internal policies and procedures; 

h. Require that the Compliance Plan be updated at least semi-annually-or as 

required by changes in laws or regulations, or changes in Respondent's 

business strategies or activities-to ensure that the Compliance Plan remains 

current and effective; and 

1. Include specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

83. Within 90 days of the Respondent's submission of a comprehensive Compliance 

Plan, the Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director \\ri.thin 30 days. 

84. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

85. Respondent may offer, prmride, arrange for, service, and collect on payday and 

installment loans only after receiving notification that the Regional Director has 

made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan and only after it is 

prepared to and capable of adhering to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

-22-



2015-CFPB-0031     Document 1     Filed 12/16/2015     Page 23 of 38

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that : 

86. The Board must review all submissions required by this Consent Order prior to 

submission to the Bureau. 

87. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board v.rill have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with applicable Federal and state consumer 

protection laws and this Consent Order. 

88. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or petform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations ; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non

compliance with any failure to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Redress and Remediation 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

89. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $7,soo,ooo for the purpose of providing redress and 
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remediation as required by this Section. 

90. Affected Consumers, expected to total approximately 93,000 consumers, are 

defined and v.rill be remediated as follows : 

a. For all consumers for whom, during the Relevant Time Period, Respondent 

visited their home or place of employment in connection with collecting or 

attempting to collect debt from payday or installment loans, Respondent must 

provide redress, as follows: full restitution of all payments made, directly or 

indirectly, to Respondent by a consumer within 90 days of an in-person 

collection visit to that consumer, including payments of principal, interest, 

and fees. 

b. For all consumers against whom, during the Relevant Time Period, 

Respondent initiated an ACH split, and more than one electronic fund 

transfer that was part of the ACH split failed, Respondent must provide 

redress as follows : 

1. Respondent v.rill provide $34 for each electronic fund transfer that was 

the second and, where applicable, third such electronic fund transfer of 

an ACH split that failed due to insufficient funds in the consumer's 

account, and 

n .  Respondent will refund all fees paid directly or indirectly to 

Respondent as a result of each second and, where applicable, third 

electronic fund transfer of an ACH split that failed. 

c. For all consumers against whom, during the Relevant Time Period, 

Respondent initiated an electronic fund transfer at a time earlier than 

described in Respondent's loan documents, as described iJ? Paragraphs 61-66, 
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and that electronic fund transfer failed, Respondent must provide redress as 

follows: 

1. Respondent will provide $34 for each electronic fund transfer that 

failed due to insufficient funds in the consumer's account, and 

u. Respondent 'vill refund all fees paid directly or indirectly to 

Respondent as a result of each electronic fund transfer that failed. 

d. For all consumers who, during the Relevant Time Period, signed an 

installment loan note that included an authorization for Respondent to 

initiate preauthorized electronic fund transfers from the consumer's bank 

account, and against whom Respondent initiated one or more preauthorized 

electronic fund transfer that failed, Respondent must provide redress as 

follows : Respondent will refund all fees paid directly or indirectly to 

Respondent as a result of each such electronic fund transfer that failed. 

91 .  For the approximately 130,000 consumers who, as of the Effective Date, have an 

allegedly outstanding debt with Respondent from a payday or installment loan, 

expected to total tens of millions of dollars in debt, Respondent must (i) cease al1 

collection activities and take no further actions to enforce or collect such debts; (ii) 

cease accepting any payments from consumers related to such debts; (iii) not sell 

or otherwise transfer such debts to any third parties; and (iv) within 30 days of the 

Effective Date, request in writing to any Consumer Reporting Agencies to which 

Respondent has formerly reported information about consumers, that the 

Consumer Reporting Agencies amend, delete, or suppress any negative 

information relating to such debts . 

92. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Regional 
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Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing 

redress and remediation consistent with this Consent Order ("Redress and 

Remediation Plan"). The Regional Director shall have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress and Remediation Plan or direct 

Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the 

Redress and Remediation Plan, Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit 

the Redress and Remediation Plan to the Regional Director within 15 days . Upon 

notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection 

to the Redress and Remediation Plan, Respondent shall promptly implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the 

Redress and Remediation Plan. The Redress and Remediation Plan shall: 

a. Identify a Third-Party Settlement Administrator ("Administrator") to conduct 

the activities set forth in the Redress and Remediation Plan; 

b. Provide that Respondent shall pay all costs of administering redress and 

remediation as required by this Section; 

c. Require Respondent, through the Administrator, to provide redress, as 

required by this Section; 

d. Include a detailed description of the methodology used to determine the 

population of Affected Consumers and the appropriate redress for each 

Affected Consumer, and the procedures to issue and track redress payments; 

e. Include a detailed description of the procedures used to comply V�rith the 

requirements in Paragraph 91 with respect to any allegedly outstanding 

payday and installment debt; 

f. Include the forms of the letters ("Notification Letters") to be sent notifying 
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consumers of the redress and remediation described in Paragraphs 90 and 91, 

the form of the envelope that ·will contain the Notification Letters, and a 

description of the process of sending the Notification Letters to consumers, 

which must include the following: 

1. Respondent, through the Administrator, must send the Notification 

Letters by United States Postal Service first-class mail, address 

correction service requested, to the consumer's last address as 

maintained by Respondent's records. 

u. If Respondent must provide redress to the consumer, Respondent must 

mail a redress check with the Notification Letter and include language 

explaining how the amount of the redress payment to the consumer 

was calculated; a statement that the provision of the redress payment is 

in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order; and a statement 

that accepting the redress payment will not subject the consumer to 

any new debt collection or credit reporting activities for that debt. 

111. If the consumer, as of the Effective Date, has an allegedly outstanding 

debt with Respondent from a payday or installment loan, the 

Notification Letter must state the amount of the consumer's 

outstanding debt and that, pursuant to this Consent Order, 

Respondent must (i) cease all collection activities and take no further 

actions to enforce or collect such debts; (ii) cease accepting any 

payments from consumers related to such debts; (iii) within 30 days of 

the Effective Date, request in '"rriting that any Consumer Reporting 

Agencies that compile and maintain files on consumers amend, delete, 
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or suppress any negative information relating to such debts; and (iv) 

not sell or otherwise transfer such debts to any third parties. 

iv. Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a Notification 

Letter any materials other than the approved letter and, if applicable, 

redress checks. 

g. Require Respondent, through the Administrator, to make reasonable 

attempts to obtain a current address for any consumer whose Notification 

Letter is returned for any reason, using at least the National Change of 

Address System, and to promptly re-mail all returned letters to current 

addresses. If a redress check for any consumer is returned to Respondent 

after such second mailing, or if a current mailing address cannot be identified 

using the National Change of Address System, Respondent must retain the 

redress amount of such consumer for a period of one hundred and eighty 

(180) days from the date the check was originally mailed, during which period 

such amount may be claimed by such consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. 

h. Provide that nothing in the Redress and Remediation Plan creates any new 

collection or credit reporting rights on behalf of Respondent. 

93. After completing the Redress and Remediation Plan, if the total amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers is less than $7,500,ooo, then v.rithin 30 days of 

completion of the Redress and Remediation Plan, Respondent must pay to the 

Bureau by v.rire transfer to the Bureau or the Bureau's agent, and according to the 

Bureau's v.riring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers and $7,500,000. 
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94· The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress 

is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain 

after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining 

funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to 

challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this 

Section. 

95. Respondent must not condition any redress or remediation to any consumer under 

this Consent Order on that person's agreement to any condition, such as the waiver 

of any right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

96. Under section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations 

of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$3,000,000 to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

97· Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty 

by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

98. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order v.rill be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

99. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 
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penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

100. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). Ifthe court in any Related Consumer 

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of 

a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of 

the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an 

additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money 

penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

101. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, v.rill 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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102. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

103. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to 

the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

104. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

105. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent 

Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against 

Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent must 

provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, but in 
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any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

106. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report ("Compliance Report"), which has been approved by the Board, 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

107. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

108. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who 

will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before 

they assume their responsibilities. 

109. To the extent that Respondent is required to provide a copy of this Consent Order 

to any person pursuant to Section XII of this Consent Order, Respondent must 

-32-



2015-CFPB-0031     Document 1     Filed 12/16/2015     Page 33 of 38

secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of this 

Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements ofthe E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, 

from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

110. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from 

the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; and 

b. All documents and records pertaining to Redress and Remediation, described 

in Section VIII above. 

111. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 110 for the 

duration of this Consent Order. 

112. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 110 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

113. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re EZCORP, Inc., et al., File No. 
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2015-CFPB-0031," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to, as follows: 

or; 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1625 Eye Street, N.W., 4th Floor 
Washington D.C. 20006 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

114. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity of and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer, and 

each consumer who, as of the Effective Date, had an allegedly outstanding debt 

with Respondent from a payday or installment loan. Respondent must provide 

such information in its or its agents' possession or control within 30 days of 

receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 
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115. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which must 

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

116. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

117. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

118. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees to continue to 

be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent 

with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for termination of 

supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

119. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and changes to reporting requirements) 

by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

120. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements ofthis Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 
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XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

121. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 122. 

122. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective 

Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Consent Order. 

123. All pending motions are hereby denied as moot. 

124. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

125. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging apy violation of the 

Consent Order by Respondent, whichever is later. If such action is dismissed or the 
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relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of 

the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been 

filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, 

except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

126. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

127. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

128. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

129. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 
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understandings. 

130. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this l.5_th day of December, 2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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DEC 16 2015

CFPB Orders EZCORP to Pay $10 Million 
for Illegal Debt Collection Tactics
Bureau Issues Industry-Wide Warning On Home, Workplace Debt 
Collection Risks

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 
took action against EZCORP, Inc., a small-dollar lender, for illegal debt collection 
practices. These tactics included illegal visits to consumers at their homes and 
workplaces, empty threats of legal action, lying about consumers’ rights, and exposing 
consumers to bank fees through unlawful electronic withdrawals. The Bureau ordered 
EZCORP to refund $7.5 million to 93,000 consumers, pay $3 million in penalties, and 
stop collection of remaining payday and installment loan debts owed by roughly 
130,000 consumers. It also bars EZCORP from future in-person debt collection. In 
addition, the Bureau issued an industry-wide warning about collecting debt at homes or 
workplaces. 

“People struggling to pay their bills should not also fear harassment, humiliation, or 
negative employment consequences because of debt collectors,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Borrowers should be treated with common decency. This action and 
this bulletin are a reminder that we will not tolerate illegal debt collection practices.”

Until recently, EZCORP, headquartered in Austin, Tex., and its related entities provided 
high-cost, short-term, unsecured loans, including payday and installment loans, in 15 
states and from more than 500 storefronts. It did this under names including 
“EZMONEY Payday Loans,” “EZ Loan Services,” “EZ Payday Advance,” and “EZPAWN 
Payday Loans.” On July 29, 2015, after the Bureau launched its investigation, EZCORP 
announced that it would cease offering payday, installment, and auto-title loans in the 
United States. 

The CFPB found that EZCORP collected debts from consumers through unlawful in-
person collection visits at their homes or workplaces, risked exposing consumers’ debts 
to third parties, falsely threatened consumers with litigation for non-payment of debts, 
and unfairly made multiple electronic withdrawal attempts from consumer accounts, 
causing mounting bank fees. The CFPB alleges that EZCORP violated the Electronic 
Fund Transfer Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act’s prohibition against unfair and deceptive acts or practices. Specifically, the CFPB’s 
investigation found that EZCORP:

• Visited consumers’ homes and workplaces to collect debt in an 
unlawful way: Until at least October 2013, EZCORP made in-person collection 
visits that disclosed or risked disclosing consumers’ debt to third parties, and 
caused or risked causing adverse employment consequences to consumers such as 
disciplinary actions or firing.

• Illegally contacted third parties about consumers’ debts and called 
consumers at their workplaces despite being told to stop: Debt collectors 
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called credit references, supervisors and landlords, and disclosed or risked 
disclosing debts to third parties, potentially jeopardizing consumers’ jobs or 
reputations. It also ignored consumers’ requests to stop calls to their workplaces.

• Deceived consumers with threats of legal action: In many instances, 
EZCORP threatened consumers with legal action. But in practice, EZCORP did 
not refer these accounts to any law firm or legal department and did not take legal 
action against consumers on those accounts.

• Lied about not conducting credit checks on loan applicants: From 
November 2011 to May 2012, EZCORP claimed in some advertisements it would 
not conduct a credit check on loan applicants. But EZCORP routinely ran credit 
checks on applicants targeted by those ads.

• Required debt repayment by pre-authorized checking account 
withdrawals: Until January 2013, EZCORP required many consumers to repay 
installment loans through electronic withdrawals from their bank accounts. By 
law, consumers’ loans cannot be conditioned on pre-authorizing repayment 
through electronic fund transfers.

• Exposed consumers to fees through electronic withdrawal attempts:
EZCORP would often make three simultaneous attempts to electronically 
withdraw money from a consumer’s bank account for a loan payment: for 50 
percent, 30 percent, and 20 percent of the total due. The company also often 
made withdrawals earlier than promised. As a result, tens of thousands of 
consumers incurred fees from their banks, making it even harder to climb out of 
debt when behind on payment. 

• Lied to consumers that they could not stop electronic withdrawals or 
collection calls or repay loans early: EZCORP told consumers the only way 
to stop electronic withdrawals or collection calls was to make a payment or set up 
a payment plan. In fact, EZCORP’s consumers could revoke their authorization 
for electronic withdrawals and demand that EZCORP’s debt collectors stop 
calling. Also, EZCORP falsely told consumers in Colorado that they could not pay 
off a loan at any point during the loan term, or could not do so without penalty. 
Consumers could in fact repay the loan early, which would save them money.

Enforcement Action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB is authorized to take action against institutions or 
individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, or that otherwise 
violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the consent order, EZCORP must:

• Pay $7.5 million to 93,000 consumers: EZCORP is ordered to refund $7.5 
million to about 93,000 consumers who made payments after illegal in-person 
collection visits or who paid fees to EZCORP or their banks because of 
unauthorized or excessive electronic withdrawal attempts covered by this order.

• Stop collection of its remaining payday and installment debt: EZCORP 
must stop collection of an estimated tens of millions of dollars in defaulted payday 
and installment loans allegedly owed by about 130,000 consumers, and may not 
sell those debts to any third parties. It must also request that consumer reporting 
agencies amend, delete, or suppress any negative information related to those 
debts.

• Stop illegal debt collection practices: If EZCORP decides again to offer 
payday or installment loans, it cannot, among other practices, make in-person 
collection visits, call consumers at their workplace without specific written 
permission from the consumer, or attempt electronic withdrawals after a previous 
attempt failed because of insufficient funds without consumers’ permission.
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• Pay a civil penalty of $3 million: EZCORP must pay a penalty of $3 million to 
the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_ezcorp-inc-consent-order.pdf

Warning Against Illegal Debt Collection 
Tactics
Today, the CFPB also issued a bulletin warning the financial services industry, and in 
particular lenders and debt collectors, about potentially unlawful conduct during in-
person collections. Lenders and debt collectors risk engaging in unfair or deceptive acts 
and practices that violate the Dodd-Frank Act and the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
when going to consumers’ homes and workplaces to collect debt. 

The bulletin highlights that in-person collection visits may be harassment and may 
result in third parties, such as consumers’ co-workers, supervisors, roommates, 
landlords, or neighbors, learning that the consumer has debts in collection. Revealing 
such information to third parties could harm the consumer’s reputation and result in 
negative employment consequences. The bulletin also highlights that it is illegal for 
those subject to the law to engage in practices such as contacting consumers to collect 
on debt at times or places known to be inconvenient to the consumer, except in very 
limited circumstances. 

The bulletin offering guidance on debt collection practices can be found 
here: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_compliance-bulletin-in-
person-collection-of-consumer-debt.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Orders CarHop to Pay $6.4 Million 
Penalty for Jeopardizing Consumers’ 
Credit
One of Nation’s Biggest “Buy-Here, Pay-Here” Auto Dealers Provided 
Inaccurate Credit Information

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is 
taking action against CarHop, one of the country’s biggest “buy-here, pay-here” auto 
dealers, and its affiliated financing company, Universal Acceptance Corporation, for 
providing damaging, inaccurate consumer information to credit reporting companies. 
CarHop and its affiliate also failed to provide accurate, positive credit information that 
it promised consumers it would supply to the credit reporting companies. The CFPB’s 
investigation found that the companies inaccurately reported information for more 
than 84,000 accounts on a widespread and systemic basis. The CFPB is ordering the 
companies to cease their illegal activities and pay a $6,465,000 civil penalty.

“Many consumers went to CarHop because they needed transportation and wanted to 
build up a good record of paying their bills,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “But 
CarHop and Universal Acceptance Corporation thwarted those expectations by 
inaccurately furnishing negative credit information. The CFPB will not stand for 
companies whose sloppy actions jeopardize consumers’ credit.”

Minnesota-based CarHop, also known as Interstate Auto Group, is one of the largest 
buy-here, pay-here auto dealers in the nation. Buy-here, pay-here dealers sell cars and 
originate and service the auto loan. CarHop has approximately 50 retail locations in 
approximately 15 states. CarHop sells vehicles primarily to customers with nonexistent 
or poor credit histories in need of subprime or deep subprime credit. It markets itself as 
a way for these consumers to rebuild or build-up good credit by saying it will provide 
positive payment histories to the credit reporting companies. Consumers who buy from 
CarHop frequently do so because they suffer from poor credit scores and other financial 
challenges.

Universal Acceptance Corporation, on behalf of CarHop, furnishes consumer account 
information to all three major consumer reporting companies on a monthly basis. The 
CFPB found that the company reported information that it knew or had reasonable 
cause to believe was inaccurate. The company inaccurately furnished information for 
more than 84,000 accounts from about January 2009 until September 2013. With 
CarHop, consumers may not have even known about the damage to their credit profiles 
resulting from the erroneous reporting unless and until they checked their credit 
reports.

Almost all the information the companies inaccurately furnished to the credit reporting 
companies could potentially harm customers. The negative information could lower a 
consumer’s credit score, hamper their ability to obtain other credit, and hurt their job 
prospects. The CFPB found that CarHop and Universal Acceptance Corporation 
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violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act and the Consumer Financial Protection Act. 
Specifically, the companies: 

• Deceived consumers into believing they could build up good credit 
with CarHop: As part of its marketing and sales practices, CarHop represented 
in writing to consumers that it reports “good credit” to the credit reporting 
companies. CarHop also emphasized to consumers its part in helping them build 
and maintain good credit. This appealed to consumers trying to build up their 
credit profiles with a history of on-time payments. But the company, through 
Universal Acceptance Corporation, failed to furnish certain positive information, 
including information that would support “good credit,” for tens of thousands of 
consumers.

• Provided inaccurate repossession information: CarHop customers had 
the right to voluntarily return their vehicles within 72 hours of purchase for a full 
refund without any penalties or additional obligations. But for some customers 
who returned their vehicles under this policy, Universal Acceptance Corporation 
did not accurately report to the credit reporting companies what really happened. 
Instead, the company inaccurately reported on numerous occasions that the cars 
had been repossessed or that the consumer still owed money. 

• Incorrectly reported previous customers as still owing money: For 
consumers 72 hours past purchase, CarHop often resolved disputes by having the 
customer return the vehicle. It then issued documentation to the customer saying 
they no longer had any financial obligations and had settled their account. But for 
hundreds of customers, in the months or even years that followed after they 
returned their vehicles, Universal Acceptance Corporation inaccurately furnished, 
on a monthly basis, information that said that the customer still had an 
outstanding balance. Sometimes, the company inaccurately reported the amount 
past due in continuously increasing amounts. 

• Failed to have reasonable written policies and procedures to ensure 
the accuracy of consumers’ credit information: Universal Acceptance 
Corporation had no written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and 
integrity of the consumer information it furnished until early August 2013. The 
policies it adopted that month were not reasonable or appropriate to the nature, 
size, complexity, and scope of the company’s activities. 

Enforcement Action
Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or 
that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the CFPB 
orders released today, CarHop and Universal Acceptance Corporation must:

• Cease misrepresenting that they will report “good credit”: The 
companies must not misrepresent to customers that they will report “good credit” 
or other positive information to the credit reporting companies. 

• Correct credit reporting information: If Universal Acceptance Corporation 
furnished information to a credit reporting company that it knew or had 
reasonable cause to believe was inaccurate, it must notify the credit reporting 
company of the inaccuracy. When it does so, it must either provide corrected 
information or request that the company delete the wrong information from the 
consumer’s file if accurate information is not available.

• Provide credit reports to harmed consumers: CarHop and Universal 
Acceptance Corporation must, for consumers who had incorrect information 
furnished about their accounts, arrange for consumers to obtain free credit 
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reports from the credit reporting companies that received the inaccurate 
information. 

• Implement an audit program to ensure laws are followed: CarHop and 
Universal Acceptance Corporation must implement a process for auditing 
information that Universal Acceptance Corporation furnishes to the credit 
reporting companies on a monthly basis. This process must include monitoring 
and evaluating the disputes the companies receive. The audit is designed to 
ensure the integrity and accuracy of the information.

• Pay a $6,465,000 civil penalty: CarHop and Universal Acceptance 
Corporation will pay a $6,465,000 penalty to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

The consent order can be found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_carhop-consent-order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action Against Lead
Aggregators for Online Trafficking of
Personal Information
T3Leads and Lead Publisher Exposed Consumers to Harassment and
Deceit

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
took separate actions against a company and an individual that resold sensitive
personal data to lenders and debt collectors, allegedly exposing millions of consumers
to harassment and deceit. In a complaint filed in federal court, the CFPB alleged that
T3Leads bought and sold personal information from payday and installment loan
applications without properly vetting buyers and sellers. It also alleges that T3Leads’
owners unlawfully aided the company’s violations. In addition to monetary relief, the
CFPB seeks to require T3Leads to clean up its business practices. In a separate matter,
the CFPB took action against Eric V. Sancho, who operated a company called Lead
Publisher that sold leads to fraudulent debt collectors without regard for how they
would use the data. The CFPB ordered Sancho to disgorge $21,151 he made illegally and
banned him from the financial products and consumer leads industries.

“These operators steered consumers toward bad deals and provided no protection from
shady characters and unscrupulous lenders,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“This is a reminder to the middlemen who traffic in personal information: if you ignore
warning signs that those buying this data are violating the law, you risk the
consequences for the harm you are doing to people.”

T3Leads, a lead aggregator, is based in Burbank, Calif., and owned by Grigor and
Marina Demirchyan. Lead aggregators buy consumer information – called leads – from
lead generators, websites that market payday and installment loans. Lead Publisher,
owned and operated by Eric V. Sancho and based in Phoenix, Ariz., also bought and
sold leads, which contain personal information such as consumers’ names, telephone
numbers, home and email addresses, references, and employer information.

T3Leads’ Unfair and Abusive Trafficking in
Personal Information
The CFPB alleges that T3Leads bought leads and sold them to payday or installment
lenders and others with no regard for how the consumers’ information would be used or
to the promises lead generators made to consumers. Buyers of leads from T3Leads
include lenders tied to Indian tribes or based in foreign jurisdictions. These lenders
often skirt state laws and deny the jurisdiction of U.S. courts. The CFPB alleges that
T3Leads did not vet or monitor its lead buyers, exploited consumers’ lack of
understanding of the risks, costs, and conditions of the loans applied for, and put
consumer information at risk of being trafficked for illegal purposes. The CFPB alleges
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that T3Leads violated the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that T3Leads:

Ignored false or misleading statements about lenders obtaining
consumer applications: Consumers who applied for loans through T3Leads’
lead generators had no control over who received their application and had to
trust T3Leads’ selection of lenders in its network. But those lead generators
suggested that its lenders met certain standards, and often falsely claimed to
match consumers with lenders that “follow the rules” or offer “reasonable” terms.

Failed to vet or monitor purchasers: T3Leads failed to vet purchasers before
adding them to its network or selling them leads, and did not require lenders to
provide information about whether they complied with state laws.

Steered consumers toward unfavorable loans: T3Leads’ process often
steered consumers to lenders offering less favorable loan terms than otherwise
available. In particular, consumers were likely to be connected to lenders that
ignore state usury limits or claim immunity from state regulation and jurisdiction.
These entities often charge higher interest rates than lenders that do comply with
state laws, and they often paid the highest prices for leads from T3Leads.

Lead Publisher’s Reckless Sales to Illegal
Actors
The CFPB found that from 2011 to 2014, Lead Publisher’s Sancho failed to vet his leads’
sources or buyers. He sold roughly three million leads to two related companies that
used the information to harass and deceive consumers into paying alleged debts they
did not actually owe. The CFPB found that Lead Publisher, through Eric Sancho,
violated the DoddFrank Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that he:

Sold millions of leads to companies that threatened, harassed, and
defrauded consumers out of millions of dollars: Lead Publisher sold
roughly three million consumer leads to related companies WNY Account
Solutions Group, LLC and Universal Debt Solutions, LLC. The CFPB sued those
companies in March, alleging that they harassed consumers to collect “phantom
debts,” defrauding them out of millions of dollars. Leads purchased from Sancho
were used to threaten and lie to consumers to collect debts they did not actually
owe.

Facilitated fraud and fake “legal actions”: Using personal information
purchased from Lead Publisher, WNY threatened consumers with “financial
restraining orders” – falsely claiming consumers had bounced checks so they
could fraudulently collect debts. Lead Publisher never checked if WNY offered a
legitimate product or service to consumers, and did not examine its policies or
practices, its legal compliance, or whether it held appropriate licenses.

Enforcement Actions
Under the DoddFrank Act, the CFPB can take action against institutions or individuals
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate
federal consumer financial laws.

The complaint against T3Leads and the Demirchyans seeks monetary relief,
injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling
that the company has actually violated the law.

Lead Publisher is now out of business. Under the order issued today, owner Eric
Sancho is banned permanently from the financial products and online consumer
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leads industries, and has to disgorge $21,151 he obtained illegally.

The complaint filed against T3Leads can be found here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_complaintvdanddmarketinginc
etal.pdf

The consent order issued against Sancho can be found here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_ericvsanchoconsentorder.pdf

The Bureau’s complaint against T3Leads is not a finding or ruling that the defendant
has actually violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSSETTS 

 
 

   
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
     
   Plaintiff,               

                  COMPLAINT 
v.                 

    
Collecto, Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA,  
    

   Defendant. 
 

 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) files this Complaint 

against Collecto, Inc. d/b/a EOS CCA (EOS) and alleges as follows:   

INTRODUCTION 

1. This case concerns EOS’s collections and credit-reporting practices on a 

$2.3 billion portfolio of old, previously collected telecommunications debt that an 

EOS subsidiary acquired from AT&T in 2012.  

2. EOS reported inaccurate information about the debts to credit-reporting 

agencies, and collected and continued to report debts that consumers disputed, even 

though EOS was unable to verify that the debts were still owed. 
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3. As a result, EOS violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681s-2, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq., 

and the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 

28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

5. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here and EOS’s principal place of 

business is located in this district. 28 U.S.C. §1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).  

PARTIES 

6. The Bureau is an agency of the United States created by the CFPA. It has 

independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce FCRA, the 

FDCPA, and the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b), 5481(12), 5481(14).  

7. EOS is a corporation that maintains its principal place of business at 

700 Longwater Drive, Norwell, MA 02061. At all times relevant to this Complaint, 

EOS regularly collected defaulted consumer debt related to a consumer-financial 

product or service, including telecommunications debt that was owed to companies 

that regularly extend credit by providing cell-phone service without requiring 
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immediate payment; used instrumentalities of interstate commerce or the mails in a 

business the principal purpose of which is debt collection; and furnished information 

relating to consumers to one or more consumer-reporting agencies for inclusion in a 

consumer report. Accordingly, EOS is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6); see also 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(i), (15)(A)(x); a “debt 

collector” under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6); and a furnisher subject to FCRA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2. 

FACTS 

8. EOS’s principal business is third-party debt collection, and it also has a 

wholly owned subsidiary, US Asset Management (USAM), which purchases defaulted 

consumer debt, including telecommunications debt. EOS serves as the exclusive 

collection agency for debt acquired by USAM.  

The AT&T Portfolio 

9. In August 2012, USAM entered into an agreement with AT&T to purchase 

a portfolio of over three million defaulted telecommunications accounts with a face 

value of $2.34 billion (the AT&T Portfolio). USAM acquired the AT&T Portfolio for 

pennies on the dollar, paying $35.4 million for the debts. 

10. In accordance with its customary practice, USAM entered into a collection-

services agreement with EOS for the collection of the AT&T Portfolio. Under the 

Case 1:15-cv-14024   Document 1   Filed 12/07/15   Page 3 of 15



  4 

 

terms of that agreement, EOS agreed to remit money collected from consumers to 

USAM monthly, less fees and expenses. 

11. The AT&T Portfolio was the largest debt portfolio ever purchased by 

USAM and collected by EOS. 

12. The AT&T Portfolio consisted mainly of old accounts that AT&T had sent 

to multiple collection agencies.  

EOS Reports the Entire AT&T Portfolio as Disputed 

13. EOS knew from past experience collecting old, previously collected 

telecommunications debt that the AT&T Portfolio debts were likely to have 

inaccurate and incomplete dispute histories and documentation as well as other 

defects. 

14. Shortly after acquiring the portfolio in August 2012, EOS reported every 

account in the AT&T Portfolio to the consumer-reporting agencies and reported all 

of the over three million accounts as disputed by the account holder, despite knowing 

that consumers had not disputed each of the accounts. 

15. Numerous consumers contacted EOS about the dispute flags and informed 

the company that they had not disputed the debts.  

16. A month after reporting the entire portfolio as disputed, EOS reversed 

course and deleted the dispute flags on AT&T Portfolio accounts unless it had 

specific information that the consumers had in fact disputed the debts.  
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17. This about-face sparked more consumer calls to the company. Numerous 

consumers called to complain about the dispute flag being removed from their 

counts. 

18. EOS flip-flopped again and reported all the AT&T Portfolio debts as 

disputed in early October 2012. 

19. Finally, in late October 2012, EOS decided to delete the dispute histories 

on all of the AT&T Portfolio accounts and report them without dispute flags unless it 

had specific information that the consumer had, in fact, disputed the accounts. 

EOS’s Collection and Reporting of Disputed Accounts 

20. At the same time EOS was going back and forth in reporting the AT&T 

Portfolio as disputed, it was obtaining additional information suggesting significant 

issues with the portfolio. 

21. Among other things, EOS learned that, contrary to the sales agreement 

with AT&T, the portfolio contained time-barred debt, fraudulent debt, and debts 

consumers disputed as having been paid or settled.  

22. In addition, when consumers contacted EOS to dispute or question a debt, 

EOS had difficulty getting AT&T to provide sufficient, and sometimes any, 

documentation to verify the debts.  
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23. In January 2013, a senior EOS manager warned that the AT&T Portfolio 

likely contained significant numbers of time-barred, disputed, fraudulent, and settled 

or paid debts. 

24. Notwithstanding the issues EOS encountered with the AT&T Portfolio, 

EOS continued to report and collect on the portfolio accounts. 

25. It was not until June 2014 that EOS took steps to identify the portfolio 

accounts that potentially had been paid or settled. 

26. To do so, EOS reviewed its internal records and dispute notifications from 

consumer-reporting agencies to find all the accounts in which a consumer complained 

that the account had been paid or settled or was suspected of having done so based 

on EOS’s internal call notes or dispute flags from the consumer-reporting agencies.  

27. Because it lacked sufficient, and in some cases, any documentation to verify 

that those debts remained outstanding, EOS sent the list of potentially resolved 

accounts to AT&T to confirm whether those accounts had been paid. 

28. AT&T reviewed only a subset of the accounts EOS provided and 

concluded that 20% of the accounts it reviewed had been paid or settled. AT&T did 

not, however, give EOS any information or documentation revealing whether the 

remaining accounts on EOS’s list were still outstanding. 

29. To date, EOS has identified over 10,000 AT&T Portfolio accounts that 

may have been previously paid or resolved. 
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30. EOS does not have sufficient, or in some cases, any documentation from 

AT&T to refute consumers’ claims that the vast majority of these accounts have been 

paid or resolved.  

31. EOS initially reported over 9,700 of these accounts to consumer-reporting 

agencies. Although EOS has since processed deletion requests for many of these 

accounts, EOS continues to report over 1,900 of these accounts as past due even 

though consumers have disputed the accounts as resolved and EOS lacks any 

documentation to demonstrate otherwise. 

32. EOS also has identified other accounts that were disputed by consumers 

for various reasons but later paid. EOS sought and took payment on those accounts 

even though it did not—and does not—have sufficient information from AT&T to 

substantiate the debts. 

33. In total, EOS also has collected about $743,000 on over 2,000 accounts 

that consumers have disputed and EOS is unable to verify remain outstanding. 

COUNT I 
(Inaccurate Reporting in Violation of the FCRA) 

34. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 

through 33. 

35. Section 623(a)(1)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(A), prohibits a 

person from furnishing any information relating to a consumer to any consumer-
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reporting agency if the person knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the 

information is inaccurate. 

36. Section 623(a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2), provides that a 

person who (A) regularly and in the ordinary course of business furnishes information 

to one or more consumer-reporting agency about the person’s transactions or 

experiences with any consumer, and (B) has furnished to a consumer-reporting agency 

information that the person determines is not complete and accurate, shall promptly 

notify the consumer-reporting agency of that determination and provide to the agency 

any corrections to that information, or any additional information, that is necessary to 

make the information provided by the person to the agency complete and accurate, 

and shall not thereafter furnish to the agency any of the information that remains 

incomplete or inaccurate.  

37. EOS regularly and in the ordinary course of business furnishes information 

to one or more consumer-reporting agency. 

38. EOS twice reported as disputed every account in the AT&T Portfolio to 

the consumer-reporting agencies, once in August 2012 and again in October 2012. 

39. EOS had no information or reasonable cause to believe that all of the more 

than three million accounts in the AT&T Portfolio had been disputed by consumers, 

and it had already determined the information was not complete and accurate. 
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40. Indeed, after reporting all the debts as disputed in August 2012, EOS 

learned from numerous consumers that they had not disputed the debts. EOS 

nonetheless failed to correct the information it had previously reported and in fact 

reported all AT&T portfolio debts as disputed a second time in October 2012.  

41. In reporting all the AT&T Portfolio debts as disputed, EOS furnished 

information relating to consumers to consumer-reporting agencies that EOS knew or 

had reasonable cause to believe was inaccurate. 

42. In addition, EOS failed to correct previously furnished information that 

EOS determined was inaccurate, and it thereafter again furnished information that 

remained inaccurate.  

43. EOS thus violated § 623(a)(1)(A) and (a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681s-2(a)(1)(A), (a)(2). 

COUNT II 
(Inaccurate Reporting Violated the FDCPA) 

44. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 

through 33. 

45. EOS is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

46. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors 

from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt.  
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47. Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692(2)(A), specifically 

prohibits false representations of the character, amount, or legal status of any debt. 

48. Section 807(8) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(8), further bars debt 

collectors from communicating to any person, including consumer-reporting agencies, 

information that they know or should know to be false. 

49. EOS twice reported as disputed every account in the AT&T Portfolio to 

the consumer-reporting agencies, even though it knew or should have known that not 

all of the over three million portfolio debts had been disputed by consumers. 

50. EOS’s reporting of all the AT&T Portfolio debts as disputed was a false, 

misleading, and deceptive act in violation of § 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 

(2)(A), (8). 

COUNT III 
(Deception under the CFPA in Reporting and Collecting Disputed Debts) 

 
51.  The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 

through 33. 

52. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 

misrepresentation that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

53. In reporting, collecting, and attempting to collect AT&T Portfolio debts 

from consumers, EOS represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 
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that the consumers owed those debts and that EOS had a reasonable basis for 

claiming such debts were owed by the consumers. 

54. In fact, in numerous instances those representations were false and 

misleading, or not substantiated at the time they were made. 

55. EOS continued to represent that consumers owed the amounts claimed on 

particular accounts even after learning that AT&T Portfolio contained unreliable data 

with respect to some accounts, including previously paid or settled accounts. EOS has 

failed to obtain information that would have been necessary to conclude the accounts 

remained due.  

56. Moreover, in numerous instances, EOS continued to report as delinquent 

certain debts that consumers disputed and challenged, including those that consumers 

said they previously paid or settled, even though EOS lacked the information 

necessary to have a reasonable basis to report those debts remained outstanding. 

57. Further, in numerous instances, EOS collected debts that consumers 

disputed and challenged even though EOS did not have the information necessary to 

have reasonable basis to believe those debts remained outstanding. 

58. These misrepresentations were material because they were likely to affect 

consumers’ responses to allegedly outstanding debts and were likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances to pay debts they do not owe or 

have no obligation to pay. 
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59. Accordingly, EOS’s reporting and collection of debts consumers disputed, 

including the debts consumers stated they paid or settled, were false or misleading and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a). 

COUNT IV 
(Deception under the FDCPA in Reporting and Collecting Disputed Debts) 

 
60. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 

through 33. 

61. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors 

from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt.  

62. Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A), specifically 

prohibits debt collectors from making false representations of the character, amount, 

or legal status of any debt. 

63. Section 807(8) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(8), also bars debt 

collectors from communicating to any person, including consumer-reporting agencies, 

information that they know or should know to be false. 

64. Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), further prohibits 

debt collectors from using false representations or deceptive means to collect or 

attempt to collect any debt. 
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65. In reporting, collecting, and attempting to collect AT&T Portfolio debts 

from consumers, EOS represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 

that the consumers owed those debts and that EOS had a reasonable basis for 

claiming such debts were owed by the consumers. 

66. In fact, in numerous instances these representations were false or were not 

substantiated at the time they were made. 

67. Specifically, EOS reported and collected debts that consumers disputed 

and challenged, including debts that consumers challenged as paid or settled, even 

though EOS failed to obtain or review information necessary to have a reasonable 

basis to conclude those debts remained outstanding. 

68. These representations were false or misleading and constitute deceptive 

acts and practices in violation of § 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, (2)(A), (8), 

(10). 

COUNT V 
(Violations of FCRA and the FDCPA Violate the CFPA) 

 
69. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 

through 33. 

70. EOS’s violations of FCRA and the FDCPA, described in Counts I-II & IV, 

constitute violations of § 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 
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DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

 The Bureau requests that the Court: 

1. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, or any other provision of “Federal consumer 

financial law,” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

2. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

3. award damages and other monetary relief against Defendant; 

4. order Defendant to pay redress to harmed consumers; 

5. order disgorgement of ill-gotten gains against Defendant; 

6. award civil money penalties against Defendant; 

7. award costs against Defendant; and 

8. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.  

Dated: December 7, 2015      Respectfully submitted, 

               ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Acting Enforcement Director 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
NATALIE R. WILLIAMS 
Assistant Litigation Deputy  
 

  /s/ Christina S. Coll   
CHRISTINA S. COLL (CA Bar No. 250712) 
Enforcement Attorney 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
301 Howard Street, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
Phone: (202) 435-7843  
Fax: (415) 844-9788 
Email: christina.coll@cfpb.gov 
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ANTHONY ALEXIS, DC Bar #384545
Email: anthony.alexis@cfpb.gov
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH, FL Bar #51561
Email: jeff.ehrlich@cfpb.gov
JOHN C. WELLS, DC Bar #491292
Email: john.wells@cfpb.gov
KARA K. MILLER, VA Bar #47821
Email: kara.miller@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (202) 435-7825
MEGHAN SHERMAN CATER, NY Bar #4473120
Email: meghan.sherman@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (202) 435-9165
LEANNE E. HARTMANN, CA Bar #264787
Email: leanne.hartmann@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (415) 844-9787
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street, NW
Washington, DC 20552
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329
Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN DIVISION

Case No. 2:15-cv-9692

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS 
OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT OF 2010

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, 

Plaintiff,

v.

D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a 
T3Leads, Grigor Demirchyan, 
and Marina Demirchyan,

Defendants. 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action 

against D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads (T3); Grigor Demirchyan; and 

Marina Demirchyan under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565, and alleges as follows.

Introduction

1. Defendant T3 is a lead aggregator that purchases consumer 

information (called leads) from lead generators that market payday and installment 

loans. T3 then sells the leads to lenders and other lead purchasers. T3 has failed to 

vet or monitor its lead generators and lead purchasers, which exposed consumers to 

the risk of having their information purchased by illegal actors. And T3 has

allowed its lead generators to attract consumers with misleading statements and has 

taken unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of the material 

risks, costs, or conditions of the loan products for which they apply. This conduct 

was unfair and abusive, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a).  

Jurisdiction and Venue

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.
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3. Venue is proper because Defendants transact business in this district 

and reside in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).

Parties

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and providing of consumer-financial products and

services under “Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The

Bureau is authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court, by its own

attorneys, to address violations of “Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(a)-(b).

5. D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads, is a California S-Corporation

with its principal place of business at 4000 West Alameda Avenue, Suite 200, 

Burbank, California, 91436. At all material times, T3 transacted business in this 

district and nationwide, selling consumer-loan applications as leads to payday and 

installment lenders. The lenders to which T3 sells leads are “covered persons”

under the CFPA—they extend credit and service payday or installment loans for 

use by consumers for personal, family, or household purposes. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(i). T3 is therefore a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A).

6. Grigor Demirchyan is President, CEO, CFO, and T3’s sole Director,

provides accounting services for T3, and claims to have been an owner of T3 since 
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its founding. Grigor Demirchyan resides in this district and, in connection with the 

matters alleged, transacted business here.

7. Marina Demirchyan is Vice President of T3 and provides accounting 

services for T3. Marina Demirchyan resides in this district and, in connection with 

the matters alleged, transacted business here.

Factual Background

8. T3 has a network of lead generators from which it buys leads and a 

separate network of purchasers to which it sells leads. Lead generators do not 

know the identities of the lead purchasers in T3’s network or details about the 

terms of the credit products offered to consumers, and the lead purchasers do not 

know the identities of the lead generators or the methods they use to attract 

consumers.

9. Lead generators operate websites that advertise loans and through 

which consumers submit loan applications. Lead generators sell the applications to 

T3, and T3 sells the applications to lead purchasers.

10. The purchasers are online payday and installment lenders, as well as 

data managers, data brokers, and remarketing companies. Data managers are 

intermediaries for lenders that outsource their lead-purchasing activities, and data 

brokers are lead aggregators that have their own networks of lead purchasers to 

which they sell leads after they purchase them from T3. T3 does not know the end 
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purchasers of the leads it sells to data managers or data brokers. Remarketing 

companies buy consumer information to send marketing materials to consumers 

for products other than the loans for which consumers applied.

11. To filter leads to lead purchasers, T3 uses a “ping tree,” which sets the 

order in which lead purchasers have the option to purchase a given lead from T3. 

The position of each purchaser in the ping tree is determined primarily by the price 

the purchaser is willing to pay for a lead; the higher the price, the better the 

purchaser’s position in the ping tree.

12. A consumer who submits a loan application on a lead generator’s 

webpage is immediately redirected from that page to a lender’s webpage. This 

automated process takes just seconds, and the consumer is not informed that the 

loan application has been sold to T3 or sold by T3 to a lead purchaser.

13. Before T3 “on-boards” a prospective lead generator into its network,

the company performs an introductory review of the lead generator’s website to 

check for misleading or inaccurate statements to consumers. But lead generators 

can change their websites without any notice to T3, and T3 does not monitor those 

websites after lead generators are on-boarded. 

14. T3 regularly purchases leads from lead generators whose websites 

include misrepresentations that are likely to mislead consumers into believing that 

lenders in T3’s network have been evaluated and meet certain standards.
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15. Lead generators have incorrectly represented that they were

themselves lenders. Lead generators also falsely suggested that they would help 

consumers find the best rates or lowest fees or that they would review consumers’

applications to match them with appropriate lenders.

16. T3’s lead generators typically do not provide loans directly to 

consumers, do not select the lenders that will see a consumer’s application, and 

have no involvement in or knowledge of the terms of the loan a consumer receives

after T3 sells the lead. Lead generators do nothing more than forward applications 

to T3.

17. T3 does not know the loan terms that consumers will be offered by its 

lead purchasers, and T3 makes no attempt to match consumers with the best loan 

for their needs, as consumers are led to believe by lead generators.

18. T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the 

ultimate purchasers of T3’s leads. T3 therefore does not know the identity of all 

lenders that obtain consumer applications through its lead-purchaser network.

19. T3 does not vet or monitor the lead purchasers in its network for 

compliance with applicable laws.

20. In 2013, T3 requested information regarding whether its purchasers 

complied with the laws of the states where they made loans. Many of its purchasers 

failed to respond to this request, but T3 continued to do business with them.
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21. Lead purchasers provide regular feedback to T3 regarding the quality 

of its leads, including the number of leads that convert to loans and reasons why 

leads did not convert. T3 uses this information to refine its lead processing to 

optimize lead conversion. 

22. Many of T3’s lenders are entities organized by Indian tribes, known as 

tribal lenders, or organized under the laws of foreign jurisdictions, known as

offshore lenders. These lenders typically claim immunity from state regulation, do 

not comply with the laws of the states where the consumers to which they make 

loans are located, and do not concede that they are subject to jurisdiction in a 

forum convenient to the consumer.

23. Tribal lenders and offshore lenders typically charge higher interest 

rates than lenders adhering to state laws. Because they charge higher interest rates, 

these lenders generally are willing to pay more for leads and thus rank at the top of 

the T3 ping tree.

24. Many of the tribal lenders among T3’s purchasers offer contracts 

providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and providing an 

exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process.

25. Certain entities operating or purporting to operate in the payday or 

installment-loan industry have engaged in a variety of fraudulent schemes 

involving leads purchased from lead aggregators. T3 knew or should have known 
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of such fraudulent actors in the payday or installment-loan industry and the risk of 

illegal actors purchasing its leads.

Count I
Unfair Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA

Against All Defendants

26. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-25 of 

this Complaint. 

27. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial

injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(c)(1).

28. T3’s lead generators make statements to consumers regarding the 

lenders that will receive the consumers’ information and the loans those lenders 

will offer.

29. T3 knows or should know of the lead generators’ statements and that 

they are often false and misleading. 

30. T3 does not vet or monitor its lead purchasers for illegal activity.

31. T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the end 

purchasers of leads.
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32. Consumers are not notified that T3 is involved with processing their 

loan applications and cannot reasonably investigate or assess the reliability of the 

lenders to which their applications are ultimately sold.

33. T3’s conduct is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers.

34. The potential benefit of obtaining a loan is not outweighed by the 

likelihood of injury from T3’s failure to vet and monitor its lead purchasers.

35. T3’s conduct constitutes an unfair act or practice under 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B).

36. Grigor Demirchyan knowingly or recklessly provides substantial 

assistance to T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).

37. Marina Demirchyan knowingly or recklessly provides substantial 

assistance to T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).

Count II
Abusive Acts and Practices in Violation of CFPA

Against All Defendants

38. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-25 of 

this Complaint. 
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39. An act or practice is abusive if it “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . 

a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or 

conditions of the product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A).

40. Contrary to representations by lead generators, consumers are likely to 

be steered, through T3’s ping tree, to lenders offering less-favorable terms than 

may otherwise be available to them. In particular, consumers are likely to be 

steered to lenders that charge higher interest rates than lenders that comply with 

state laws, that do not adhere to state usury limits, or that claim immunity from 

state regulation and jurisdiction. Consumers also are likely to be steered to lenders 

that offer contracts providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and 

providing an exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process.

41. The possibility of being matched by T3 with a lender that offers less-

favorable terms than may otherwise be available is not disclosed to consumers by 

lead generators. Only after consumers are filtered through the T3 ping tree and 

redirected from a lead generator’s page to a lender’s e-signature page can 

consumers find the offered terms and links to lengthy disclosures where lenders 

reveal material terms such as their tribal affiliation and claimed immunity.

42. The inaccurate statements by T3’s lead generators decrease the 

likelihood that consumers will read the lengthy disclosures on a lender’s webpage.
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43. The cost of a loan relative to what other lenders might offer, the law 

governing a loan contract, including whether the lender complies with laws of the 

consumer’s state, and the available forum for raising disputes with the lender or in 

which the consumer might be sued by the lender are material risks, costs, or 

conditions.

44. T3 knows or should know of lead generators’ representations to 

consumers. T3 knows or should know that its process results in many, if not most, 

leads being steered to lenders that make loans to consumers that do not comport 

with express or implied representations made on lead-generator websites.

45. T3’s conduct takes advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of 

the material risks, costs, or conditions of the products for which they apply and 

constitutes an abusive act or practice under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A),

5536(a)(1)(B).

46. Grigor Demirchyan knowingly or recklessly provides substantial 

assistance to T3, a service provider that engaged in abusive acts and practices, in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).

47. Marina Demirchyan knowingly or recklessly provides substantial 

assistance to T3, a service provider that engaged in abusive acts and practices, in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).
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Prayer for Relief

Wherefore, the Plaintiff requests that the Court:

1. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer 

injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the

possibility of effective final relief;

2. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of

the CFPA or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14);

3. grant additional injunctive relief as may be just and proper;

4. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants;

5. order Defendants to pay redress to harmed consumers;

6. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues from Defendants;

7. impose civil money penalties against Defendants;

8. order Defendants to pay Plaintiff’s costs and fees incurred in

connection with prosecuting this action; and

9. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and

proper.
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Dated: December 17, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

Anthony Alexis (DC Bar #384545)
Enforcement Director

Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich (FL Bar #51561)
Deputy Enforcement Director

John C. Wells (DC Bar # 491292)
Assistant Litigation Deputy

/s/ Leanne E. Hartmann
Leanne E. Hartmann (CA Bar #264787)

Email: leanne.hartmann@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (415) 844-9787

Kara K. Miller (VA Bar #47821)
Email: kara.miller@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (202) 435-7825

Meghan Sherman Cater (NY Bar #4473120)
Email: meghan.sherman@cfpb.gov
Telephone: (202) 435-9165

Enforcement Attorneys
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street, NW
Washington, DC 20552
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329

Attorneys for the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau
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CFPB Takes Action Against Lead
Aggregators for Online Trafficking of
Personal Information
T3Leads and Lead Publisher Exposed Consumers to Harassment and
Deceit

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today
took separate actions against a company and an individual that resold sensitive
personal data to lenders and debt collectors, allegedly exposing millions of consumers
to harassment and deceit. In a complaint filed in federal court, the CFPB alleged that
T3Leads bought and sold personal information from payday and installment loan
applications without properly vetting buyers and sellers. It also alleges that T3Leads’
owners unlawfully aided the company’s violations. In addition to monetary relief, the
CFPB seeks to require T3Leads to clean up its business practices. In a separate matter,
the CFPB took action against Eric V. Sancho, who operated a company called Lead
Publisher that sold leads to fraudulent debt collectors without regard for how they
would use the data. The CFPB ordered Sancho to disgorge $21,151 he made illegally and
banned him from the financial products and consumer leads industries.

“These operators steered consumers toward bad deals and provided no protection from
shady characters and unscrupulous lenders,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“This is a reminder to the middlemen who traffic in personal information: if you ignore
warning signs that those buying this data are violating the law, you risk the
consequences for the harm you are doing to people.”

T3Leads, a lead aggregator, is based in Burbank, Calif., and owned by Grigor and
Marina Demirchyan. Lead aggregators buy consumer information – called leads – from
lead generators, websites that market payday and installment loans. Lead Publisher,
owned and operated by Eric V. Sancho and based in Phoenix, Ariz., also bought and
sold leads, which contain personal information such as consumers’ names, telephone
numbers, home and email addresses, references, and employer information.

T3Leads’ Unfair and Abusive Trafficking in
Personal Information
The CFPB alleges that T3Leads bought leads and sold them to payday or installment
lenders and others with no regard for how the consumers’ information would be used or
to the promises lead generators made to consumers. Buyers of leads from T3Leads
include lenders tied to Indian tribes or based in foreign jurisdictions. These lenders
often skirt state laws and deny the jurisdiction of U.S. courts. The CFPB alleges that
T3Leads did not vet or monitor its lead buyers, exploited consumers’ lack of
understanding of the risks, costs, and conditions of the loans applied for, and put
consumer information at risk of being trafficked for illegal purposes. The CFPB alleges
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that T3Leads violated the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that T3Leads:

Ignored false or misleading statements about lenders obtaining
consumer applications: Consumers who applied for loans through T3Leads’
lead generators had no control over who received their application and had to
trust T3Leads’ selection of lenders in its network. But those lead generators
suggested that its lenders met certain standards, and often falsely claimed to
match consumers with lenders that “follow the rules” or offer “reasonable” terms.

Failed to vet or monitor purchasers: T3Leads failed to vet purchasers before
adding them to its network or selling them leads, and did not require lenders to
provide information about whether they complied with state laws.

Steered consumers toward unfavorable loans: T3Leads’ process often
steered consumers to lenders offering less favorable loan terms than otherwise
available. In particular, consumers were likely to be connected to lenders that
ignore state usury limits or claim immunity from state regulation and jurisdiction.
These entities often charge higher interest rates than lenders that do comply with
state laws, and they often paid the highest prices for leads from T3Leads.

Lead Publisher’s Reckless Sales to Illegal
Actors
The CFPB found that from 2011 to 2014, Lead Publisher’s Sancho failed to vet his leads’
sources or buyers. He sold roughly three million leads to two related companies that
used the information to harass and deceive consumers into paying alleged debts they
did not actually owe. The CFPB found that Lead Publisher, through Eric Sancho,
violated the DoddFrank Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that he:

Sold millions of leads to companies that threatened, harassed, and
defrauded consumers out of millions of dollars: Lead Publisher sold
roughly three million consumer leads to related companies WNY Account
Solutions Group, LLC and Universal Debt Solutions, LLC. The CFPB sued those
companies in March, alleging that they harassed consumers to collect “phantom
debts,” defrauding them out of millions of dollars. Leads purchased from Sancho
were used to threaten and lie to consumers to collect debts they did not actually
owe.

Facilitated fraud and fake “legal actions”: Using personal information
purchased from Lead Publisher, WNY threatened consumers with “financial
restraining orders” – falsely claiming consumers had bounced checks so they
could fraudulently collect debts. Lead Publisher never checked if WNY offered a
legitimate product or service to consumers, and did not examine its policies or
practices, its legal compliance, or whether it held appropriate licenses.

Enforcement Actions
Under the DoddFrank Act, the CFPB can take action against institutions or individuals
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate
federal consumer financial laws.

The complaint against T3Leads and the Demirchyans seeks monetary relief,
injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling
that the company has actually violated the law.

Lead Publisher is now out of business. Under the order issued today, owner Eric
Sancho is banned permanently from the financial products and online consumer
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leads industries, and has to disgorge $21,151 he obtained illegally.

The complaint filed against T3Leads can be found here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_complaintvdanddmarketinginc
etal.pdf

The consent order issued against Sancho can be found here:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_ericvsanchoconsentorder.pdf

The Bureau’s complaint against T3Leads is not a finding or ruling that the defendant
has actually violated the law.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2015-CFPB32 

In the Matter of 

Eric V. Sancho d/b/a 
Lead Publisher 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau has reviewed the business practices 

of Eric V. Sancho dfbfa Lead Publisher (Respondent, as defined below), the sole 

proprietor of a consumer-lead resale business with the trade name Lead Publisher. 

Respondent sold consumer information, including consumers' names, addresses, 

occupations, telephone numbers, home and email addresses, military statuses, credit 

ratings, dates ofbirth, bank-routing and account numbers, employers' names, and pay 

schedules to entities engaged in a fraudulent debt-collection scheme. Respondent took 

no steps to determine how the consumer information he sold would be used, or to verify 

that the entities to which he sold it were engaged in legitimate businesses. In fact, those 

entities used the information to engage in unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and 

practices. Respondent's conduct violated § 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. § 5536. Under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this consent order (Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated December 11, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented 

to the issuance of this Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563,5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits that the Bureau has jurisdiction over 

him and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions apply: 

1. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Order is entered. 

2. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegee. 

3. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section IV of 

this Order. 

4· "Relevant Period" means from January 1, 2011 through December 31, 

2 
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2014. 

5· "Respondent" means Eric V. Sancho d/b/a Lead Publisher. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the follovving: 

6. From 2011 to 2014, Respondent owned and operated Lead Publisher. 

Respondent was the owner of the Lead Publisher trade name, paid its taxes, helped 

create its website, was listed as the owner and sole proprietor of its bank account, and 

attested to the same on his federal tax returns, where his occupation was listed as "Lead 

Broker." Respondent conducted Lead Publisher's business, dealing directly with its 

clients on a regular basis. 

7· Respondent sold sensitive consumer information known as leads. Leads 

are data spreadsheets that contain potentially sensitive consumer information such as 

consumers' names, telephone numbers, home and email addresses, references, and 

employer information. The information contained in leads comes from consumers, who 

input their personal information on a company's website. For example, a "payday loan 

lead" may be generated when a consumer applies for a payday or other loan online and 

enters relevant application information. Respondent's business bought and sold this 

type of consumer information on a large scale. 

8. Respondent acted as a middleman in the lead-generation business. On one 

side of Respondent's business were the entities that collect consumer information and 

turn that information into leads (lead generators). On the other side were entities that 

used those leads to market their products or services back to those consumers (end 

users). 

3 
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g. Respondent received orders from end users through his website or by 

telephone. He would then buy leads from various lead generators or other parties to fill 

the end users' orders. Within 24 to 48 hours of receiving an order, Respondent would 

forward the leads to the end user. He realized a profit by charging the end users roughly 

double the price he paid for the leads. 

10. Respondent had no company policy or training process to ensure 

compliance with relevant laws. He conducted no review of the entities from which he 

purchased leads or of the entities to which he sold them. 

11. Over the course of eight transactions, Respondent sold roughly three 

million consumer leads toWNY Account Solutions Group, LLC and Universal Debt 

Solutions, LLC, two entities controlled by Marcus BroWJ?.. 

12. WNY Account Solutions Group, LLC, Universal Debt Solutions, LLC, and 

Brown (collectively, "WNY") acted as a common enterprise in a scheme to defraud 

consumers of millions of dollars. 

13. Specifically, WNY used leads purchased from Respondent to lie to, 

threaten, and harass consumers to collect debt that they did not owe. WNY threatened 

consumers with "financial restraining orders" or falsely alleged that consumers had 

perpetrated check fraud in order to collect fraudulent debt. WNY deceived consumers 

into believing these collections were legitimate because WNY could verifY consumers' 

personal information, such as date of birth, social-security number, names of family 

members, and employment information. WNY routinely purchased this type of sensitive 

consumer information, integral to its fraud, from Respondent. 

14. Respondent sold "long form" payday loan leads toWNY. These leads 

contain every aspect of information one might find on a loan application. For example, 

4 
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one spreadsheet Respondent sold to WNY contained 71 columns of information 

including, for each consumer listed, the consumer's name, occupation, gender, 

telephone number, home and email address, military status, credit rating, date of birth, 

loan reference contact information, bank-routing and account number, employer's 

name, pay date schedule, address, and contact information. 

15. Respondent and Brown were in frequent communication during WNY's 

scheme. In one email Respondent personally offered to sell Brown 19 million long-form 

leads and attached an invoice for Brown "in case you wanted to move quickly." 

16. Respondent should have recognized the red flags surrounding WNY and 

Brown. WNY did not offer any legitimate business or service to consumers; rather its 

entire business model was based on fraud. In 2005, Brown pled guilty and served a 

three-year prison term for an identity theft scam. 

17. Respondent sold sensitive consumer information toWNY in suspiciously 

high volumes as well. WNY's orders were uncommonly large for Respondent, yet he 

pushed WNY to order leads from him in even greater quantities, culminating in his offer 

of 19 million leads. 

18. It was extremely unlikely that WNY would offer a legitimate product or 

service to 19 million consumers-almost 10% of America's adult population. 

19. Respondent never sought to verify whether WNY offered a legitimate 

product or service to consumers, let alone inquire about its policies or practices, legal 

compliance, whether it held appropriate licenses, or any other matters. Yet he sold the 

companies millions ofleads. If Respondent had attempted to verify WNY's business, he 

would have found WNY did not offer any lawful product or service, and that the leads he 

sold WNY could only be used for an illegal purpose. 

5 
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20. Because Respondent chose to undertake no reasonable diligence, he did 

not detect warning signs ofWNY's unlawful conduct. WNY could not have perpetrated 

its fraud on consumers without Respondent's assistance. 

21. Under § 1036 of the CFPA it is unlawful for "any person to ... recklessly 

provide substantial assistance to a covered person" engaged in unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive acts or practices under Federal law in connection V\rith any transaction with a 

consumer for a consumer-financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5536. 

22. WNY engaged in unfair and deceptive acts and practices. 

23. Respondent recklessly sold consumer information to WNY that WNY then 

used to perpetrate its fraud on consumers. 

24. Accordingly, Respondent's actions and omissions violated section 

1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

ORDER 

v 

Order to Pay Disgorgement 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

25. Respondent is ordered to disgorge $21,151 within 60 calendar days of the 

Effective Date, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, in accordance with V\riring instructions to be provided by counsel for 

the Bureau. The Bureau must deposit the payment in the United States Treasury. 

26. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, \<\rill accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

\<\rill immediately become due and payable. 

6 

2015-CFPB-0033     Document 1     Filed 12/17/2015     Page 6 of 13



27. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid under this order to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may 

be returned to Respondent. 

28. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless he has already done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau his taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

29. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. Respondent shall be permanently banned from offering or providing any 

"consumer financial product or service," as that term is defined in 12 U.S.C. § 1002(5), 

including engaging in any business involving the purchase or sale of consumer leads, or 

facilitating any such conduct. 

7 
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VII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

31. For 5 years from the Effective date, Respondent must notify the Bureau of 

any development that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, 

including but not limited to the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent must 

provide this notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable 

after learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

32. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall notify the Bureau of 

(a) Respondent's current residence, postal address, email address, and telephone 

number; and (b) Respondent's current role in any business activity, including any 

business for which he provides services, whether as an employee, officer, or otherwise, 

and any entity in which Respondent has any ownership interest, identifying for each its 

name, physical address, and internet address. 

33. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent shall notify the Bureau of 

(a) any change in name, including aliases or fictitious names; (b) any change in 

residence, postal address, email address, or telephone number; or (c) any change in title 

or role in any business activity, including any business for which Respondent provides 

services, whether as an employee, officer, or any otherwise, and any entity in which 

Respondent has any ownership interest, identifying for each its name, physical address, 

and internet address. 

8 
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VIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Eric Sancho, File No. 2015-CFPB-

0032," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

IX 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

35· Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. 

Respondent must provide to the Bureau truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony. Respondent must appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and 

9 
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any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written 

notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may 

designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

X 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Order: 

36. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

37. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee 

or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

38. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

39. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements ofthis 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

40. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non

material requirements ofthis Order (e.g. , reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

10 
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reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies the modification. 

Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XII 

Administrative Provisions 

41. The provisions of this Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 42. 

42. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 

may use the practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions against 

Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or 

practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of 

the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Order. 

43. This Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Order issued 

under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U .S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not 

be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

44. This Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the 

Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body 
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rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Order, and the dismissal or 

ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Order will terminate as 

though the action had never been filed. The Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

45. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

46. The provisions of this Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money 

penalties allowed under§ lOSS( c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c). In connection with 

any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Order in federal district court, the Bureau may 

serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest 

that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

47· This Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or 

written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this J.5_ th day of December, 2015. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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1

INTRODUCTION

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB” or “Bureau”) has filed a Notice of

Charges (“Notice”) alleging that Respondents Integrity Advance, LLC and James R. Carnes

(collectively, “Respondents”) violated Section 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act

(“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C § 5536 (2012).[1] Specifically, section 1036(a) limits the Bureau’s

enforcement authority over “prohibited acts”—that is alleged violations of the consumer finance

laws—to “covered persons or service providers.” Id. § 5536(a). In addition, the Notice also

alleges that Integrity Advance purportedly violated the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15

U.S.C. §§ 1631, 1638 (2012), and its implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§

1026.17, 1026.18 (2015) and the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1693k

(2012), and its implementing regulation, Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(e) (2015).

The Court should dismiss the Notice for four reasons. First, neither Integrity Advance

nor Mr. Carnes was ever, nor is currently, a “covered person” within the meaning of the CFPA

because: (1) Respondents ceased offering or providing any consumer financial product or service

before the Bureau had a lawfully-confirmed Director; and (2) even after a Director was lawfully-

confirmed, Respondents never engaged in any business within the Bureau’s jurisdiction.

Second, each of the Bureau’s claims are barred by either the CFPA’s three-year statute of

limitations, as to Mr. Carnes, or by TILA’s and EFTA’s one-year statute of limitations. Third,

the Bureau’s Notice fails to state a claim under TILA and Regulation Z. Finally, the Bureau is

prohibited by the doctrine of retroactivity from bringing any unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or

practices (“UDAAP”) claims arising out of conduct that predates the Bureau’s transfer date of

July 21, 2011.

[1] The CFPA is found in Title X of the Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, Pub. L. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).
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2

BACKGROUND

Integrity Advance was a nonbank short-term, small-dollar lender. Between May 2008

and December 2012, Integrity Advance offered short-term, small-dollar loans to consumers,

which ranged in value from $100–$1000. James R. Carnes is the CEO and president of Integrity

Advance. The Company stopped offering loans to consumers three years ago.

The CFPA establishes the Bureau as an independent executive agency within the Federal

Reserve System. 12 U.S.C. § 5491 (2012). The Bureau opened its doors on July 21, 2011. This

date is referred to as the “transfer date,” and also the “effective date,” under the CFPA. As

discussed below, July 21, 2011 is called the “transfer date” because it is the date on which

certain pre-existing consumer financial protection laws transferred to the Bureau from other

prudential regulators. See 12 U.S.C. § 5582; Designated Transfer Date, 75 Fed. Reg. 57252

(Sept. 20, 2010). July 21, 2011 is also the “effective date” because it is the earliest date on

which certain enforcement and other statutory provisions under the CFPA could take effect,

provided certain statutory strictures are met.

All of the Bureau’s powers are concentrated within the hands of a single Director, who is

to be appointed by the President, subject to the advice and consent of the Senate, to serve for a

five-year term. On July 16, 2013, the Bureau’s current and first-ever Director, Richard Cordray

was confirmed by the United States Senate to serve a five-year term.

On January 4, 2012, the President had appointed Mr. Cordray to serve as Director of the

Bureau during a Congressional recess. In July 2014, the Supreme Court held that the recess

appointments of three members of the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”), purportedly

appointed on the same day as Mr. Cordray, were unconstitutional because the Senate was not in
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recess. NLRB v. Noel Canning, 134 S. Ct. 2550, 2556–57, 2577–78 (2014). By the identical

facts and reasoning, Mr. Cordray’s recess appointment was also unconstitutional.

Among other things, the Bureau is authorized to enforce the consumer financial laws,

which include 18 enumerated laws, such as TILA and EFTA, as well as prohibitions against

UDAAPs. To this end, the CFPA provides that the “Bureau may take an action authorized under

Subtitle E [the Bureau’s enforcement authority] to prevent a covered person . . . from committing

or engaging in an unfair, deceptive or abusive act or practice under Federal law in connection

with any transaction with a consumer for a consumer financial product or service.” 12 U.S.C.

§ 5531(a) (2012). A “covered person,” in turn, is defined as “any person that engages in offering

or providing a consumer financial product or service.” Id. § 5481(6). In addition, the Bureau

can bring enforcement actions against a “related person,” which is defined as being, among other

things, “any director or officer . . . charged with managerial responsibility for . . . [a] covered

person.” Id. § 5481(25)(C). The CFPA defines a “related person” as being a “covered person,”

within the meaning of the CFPA. Id. § 5481 (25)(B). The statute also defines those products or

services that are “consumer financial products or services,” and includes in that list “extending

credit.” Id. § 5481(15).

Respondents never engaged in the offering or provision of a consumer financial product or

service during any time that the Bureau had enforcement authority as to them. Respondents also

never engaged in any other conduct—at any time—as to which the Bureau could enforce one or

more consumer financial protection laws. For this reason, the Court should dismiss the Notice.
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4

LEGAL STANDARD1

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) should be granted if an agency

cannot show that Congress has delegated authority over the defendant. McCreary v. Potter, 273

F. Supp. 2d 106 (D.D.C. 2003). “The exercise of jurisdiction by any governmental body in the

United States is subject to limitations reflecting principles of international and constitutional law,

as well as the strictures of the particular statute governing that body’s conduct.” FTC v.

Compagnie De Saint-Gobain-Pont-a-Mousson, 636 F.2d 1300, 1315 (D.C. Cir. 1980). The

burden of establishing subject matter jurisdiction is on the party asserting it, here the CFPB. See

Port City Props. v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 518 F.3d 1186, 1189 (10th Cir. 2008). In reviewing

such a motion, “it is well established . . . that a court is not limited to the allegations in the

complaint but may consider material outside of the complaint in an effort to determine whether

the court has jurisdiction in the case.” Gustave-Schmidt v. Chao, 226 F. Supp. 2d 191, 195

(D.D.C. 2002); see also Coal. for Underground Expansion v. Mineta, 333 F.3d 193, 198 (D.C.

Cir. 2003) (holding that in disposing of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) motion, “where necessary, the

court may consider the complaint supplemented by undisputed facts evidenced in the record, or

the complaint supplemented by undisputed facts plus the court's resolution of disputed facts”)

(internal citation omitted); Menifee v. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 931 F. Supp. 2d 149, 161

(D.D.C. 2013) (holding that court could consider evidence outside of pleadings because

1 Rule 212 of the CFPB’s Rules of Practice for Adjudication Proceedings state that “a respondent
may file a motion to dismiss asserting that, even assuming the truth of the facts alleged in the
notice of charges, it is entitled to dismissal as a matter of law.” 12 C.F.R. § 1081.212. The
Bureau’s rules governing motions to dismiss, thus, provide a standard that is virtually identical to
the applicable Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; however, the CFPB’s rules of procedure have
not been interpreted by any court. See id. Accordingly, for purposes of this motion,
Respondents rely upon the well-developed case law interpreting Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.
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5

evaluating whether employee satisfied exhaustion requirement under Federal Tort Claims Act

(“FTCA”) was a jurisdictional question).

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) should be granted if the

complaint does not allege “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”

Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). A plaintiff must be “entitled to relief”

and is obliged to provide more than merely formulaic and conclusory grounds showing his

entitlement to relief. Id. at 555. A complaint does not “suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertions’

devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557). “Threadbare recitals” of nothing more than the elements of a

claim “supported by mere conclusory statements,” are insufficient to state a claim under Rule

12(b)(6). Id. (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555).

The Notice should be dismissed because: (1) the CFPB never had authority to regulate the

Respondents; (2) each of the Bureau’s claims are barred by either the CFPA’s three-year statute of

limitations or by TILA’s and EFTA’s one-year statute of limitations; and (3) the Notice fails to

state a claim under TILA and Regulation Z; and (4) even if the CFPB did have authority over the

Respondents and its claims were adequately and timely pleaded, the doctrine of retroactivity

prohibits the CFPB from bringing any UDAAP claims arising from conduct that occurred before

July 21, 2011.
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6

ARGUMENT

I. THE BUREAU HAS NEVER HAD ENFORCEMENT AUTHORITY AS TO
INTEGRITY ADVANCE OR MR. CARNES

The CFPB Did Not Obtain Legal Authority To Regulate Non-Banks Until
There Was a Lawfully-Appointed Bureau Director, Which Occurred After
Integrity Advance Ceased Offering Consumer Financial Products Or
Services

The Bureau did not have jurisdiction to exercise consumer financial protection laws over

nonbanks, including Respondents, until a Director was lawfully-appointed. Section 1066(a) of

the CFPA provides that the Bureau could only exercise its transferred authority—that is the

authority that transferred to the agency from the federal banking (or prudential) regulators—

before there was a lawfully-appointed Director. 12 U.S.C. § 5586 (a). And, as discussed below,

there was not a lawfully-appointed director of the Bureau until July 16, 2013. Section 1066(a)

states:

The Secretary [of the Treasury]2 is authorized to perform the functions of the
Bureau under this subtitle until the Director of the Bureau is confirmed by the
Senate in accordance with section 1011.

Id. § 5586(a) (emphasis added).3 Section 1011 of the CFPA, in turn, provides that “there is

established the position of the Director, who shall serve as the head of the Bureau,” and that the

2 The CFPA contemplates the Secretary of Treasury or a designee of the Secretary carrying out
the transfer authority functions of the Bureau before there is a lawfully-appointed Director of the
Bureau.

3 The authorities conferred in section 1066(a) can only apply to the specific transfer authorities
described in subtitle F; to read otherwise would render the phrase “under this subtitle”
meaningless. See, e.g., New Process Steel, 130 S. Ct. 2635, 2640 (2010) (stating that,
fundamentally, an interpretation of a statute must “[h]armonize and give meaningful effect to all
of the provisions . . .”); Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001) (declining to adopt a
“construction of the statute, [that] would render [a term] insignificant”) (internal quotation marks
omitted); Market Co. v. Hoffman, 101 U.S. 112, 115–16 (1879) (“[A] statute ought, upon the
whole, to be so construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause, sentence, or word shall be . . .
insignificant” (internal quotation marks omitted)).
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Director shall “be appointed by the Director with the advice and consent of the Senate.” Id.

§ 5491(b)(1)(2). Section 1066 is located within Subtitle F—Transfer of Functions and

Personnel; Transitional Provisions of the CFPA, and indeed references only the transferred

authorities noted in that subtitle. The provisions of Subtitle F provide, among other things, that

on July 21, 2011, the Bureau received transferred authority from the five federal banking

(prudential) regulators to enforce the federal consumer financial protection laws as to large

banks. The transferred authorities referenced in Subtitle F specifically do not include the

authority to enforce consumer financial protection laws as to nonbanks, such as Respondents.

Prior to the lawful appointment of the Director, the CFPB had only limited regulatory and

enforcement authority. The nature of this limited authority is further explained in a January 10,

2011 letter jointly submitted by the Department of Treasury Inspector General and Federal Reserve

Board (“Federal Reserve”) Inspector General in response to a Congressional inquiry about the

operations of the Bureau, as contemplated by the CFPA. This letter is the only instance when any

federal government entity has publicly interpreted the Bureau’s authority under Section 1066(a),

especially in the absence of a lawfully-appointed Director. The letter explains that in the absence

of a lawfully-appointed Director, the Bureau, in pertinent part, only had the authority to:

[P]rescribe rules, issue orders, and produce guidance related to the federal
consumer financial laws that were, prior to the designated transfer date [July 21,
2011] within the authority of the Board, the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency, the Office of Thrift Supervision, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, and the National Credit Union Administration [the federal banking
regulators].4

4 Letter, Joint Response by the Inspectors General of the Department of the Treasury and Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System: Request for Information Regarding the Bureau of
Consumer Financial Protection, 5 (Jan. 10, 2011) [hereinafter OIG Letter], available at
https://www.treasury.gov/about/organizational-structure/ig/Documents/OIG-
CA%2011004%20Committee%20of%20Financial%20Services%20Response%20CFPB.pdf

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 028-A     Filed 12/21/2015     Page 13 of 37



8

Thus, before there was a lawfully-appointed Bureau Director, the agency did not

have the authority to pursue enforcement actions against entities that were not previously

within the jurisdiction of a federal banking regulator. 5 See OIG Letter at 7 & n.4

(“According to the text of the Dodd-Frank Act, the Secretary’s authority under section

1066(a) does not extend to [the Bureau’s] newly-established authorities.”). It is undisputed

that Respondents were never within the jurisdiction of a federal banking regulator.

Moreover, at the Bureau’s inception, by necessity and design, no other official could have

assumed the CFPB’s new consumer financial protection authority. See 12 U.S.C. § 5491(b)(1);

OIG Letter at 7. The Director of the CFPB exercises significant executive authority,6 and is not

directed or supervised by any other appointed executive official; he thus acts as a principal

Officer of the United States. See Edmond v. United States, 520 U.S. 651, 663 (1997) (noting that

principal officers are those whose work is not directed or supervised at some level by other

appointed officers). In the absence of a lawfully-appointed director, the CFPB would otherwise

have had no “Officer[s] of the United States” appointed in accordance with the Constitution and

CFPA Section 1011 to exercise the “significant authorities” provided to a federal regulator for

the first time by the CFPA. Thus, in the absence of any lawfully-appointed Director, there was

5 These new regulatory authorities were not explicitly provided by law to federal regulators prior
to the Dodd-Frank Act’s enactment, in contrast with the “transferred authorities” that moved to
the CFPB existing consumer financial protection powers from other federal regulators. The
Bureau’s transferred authorities include the power to issue rules to implement federal consumer
financial protection laws. The transferred authorities also include supervisory, enforcement, and
rulemaking powers over banks, thrifts, and credit unions holding more than $10 billion in
deposits (larger depositories). 12 U.S.C. §§ 5581–5587 (2012).

6 Further to this point, the Director may only be removed by the President for “inefficiency,
neglect of duty or malfeasance in office.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(c)(3) (2012). Additionally, the
Director has authority to appoint and hire the employees necessary to carry out the duties of the
Bureau, id. § 5493(a), and “to delegate to any duly authorized employee, representative, or agent
any power vested in the Bureau by law,” id. § 5492(a).
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no other Officer who could exercise the agency’s newly-created, non-transferred authorities,

which include the authority to pursue enforcement actions over a nonbank, such as Integrity

Advance and its principal, Mr. Carnes.7

Under The Supreme Court’s Reasoning In Noel Canning, The Director Was
Not Lawfully-Appointed Until July 16, 2013

The President appointed Richard Cordray Director of the CFPB on January 4, 2012,

pursuant to the Chief Executive’s authority under the Recess Appointments Clause, U.S. Const.

art. II, § 2, cl. 3. The Senate, however, was not in recess at the time.8 Consistent with the

Appointments Clause, U.S. Const. art. II, § 2, cl. 2, the President nominated Richard Cordray as

Director on January 24, 2013. The Senate confirmed Director Cordray on July 16, 2013. 159

Cong. Rec. S5704-05 (daily ed. July 16, 2013). As of that day, but not before, the CFPB was

authorized to exercise the new powers to regulate nonbanks delegated by Congress in the Dodd-

Frank Act.

Mr. Cordray’s January 4, 2012 appointment under the Recess Appointments Clause was

undertaken on the same day and in precisely the same manner as the President’s unilateral (and

unconstitutional) appointment of three members to the NLRB. See NLRB v. Noel Canning, 134

S. Ct. at 2556–57, 2573–78. However, in Noel Canning, the Supreme Court unanimously

7 Indeed, it is significant that this matter implicates the appointment and confirmation of the
Bureau’s first-ever director, because the CFPA further distinguishes between those instances
when there is no director and, thus, no officer able to carry out the full authorities of the CFPA
and all other instances involving the appointment and confirmation of a new director. To this
end, the CFPA expressly contemplates a scenario in which an outgoing Director’s term would be
held-over until an incoming Director could be confirmed by the Senate. See 12 U.S.C.
§ 1011(c)(2) (“An individual may serve as Director after the expiration of the term for which
appointed, until a successor has been appointed and qualified.”)

8 After adjourning on December 17, 2011, the Senate agreed to hold a series of “pro forma”
sessions to occur periodically until January 23, 2012. 157 Cong. Rec. S883–S8784 (daily ed.
Dec. 17, 2011).
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invalidated the NLRB recess appointments as unconstitutional. Id. at 2578. The Court held that,

because “a recess of more than 3 days but less than 10 days is presumptively too short,” the

“President lacked the power to make the recess appointments” to the NLRB at issue. Id. at 2557.

Accordingly, by direct application of the holding in Noel Canning to Mr. Cordray’s appointment

on January 4, 2012, the President “lacked the power” to recess appoint a Director of the CFPB,

since the recess appointment occurred within the same recess and under the same authority as the

NLRB appointments at issue in Noel Canning. 134 S. Ct. at 2557 (stating that “[t]hree days is

too short a time to bring a recess within the scope of the Clause”); see also David H. Carpenter &

Todd Garvey, Practical Implications of Noel Canning on the NLRB and CFPB, Cong. Res.

Serv., 7-5700, 1 (Apr. 1, 2013) (noting that the D.C. Circuit’s decision in Noel Canning

[subsequently upheld by the Supreme Court] casts “serious doubt” on the authority of the

CFPB).

Noel Canning, coupled with the limitations of the authority delegated to the CFPB

imposed by Section 1066(a), mean that before July 16, 2013 the Bureau could not have brought

an enforcement action against Integrity Advance and Mr. Carnes because Respondents are

nonbanks and were outside the scope of any transferred authority. Further, by July 16, 2013,

when Mr. Cordray was lawfully- appointed and confirmed, neither Integrity Advance nor Mr.

Carnes was offering or providing a consumer financial product or service or otherwise engaged

in any business activities over which the Bureau has jurisdiction. See Notice ¶ 12.

The CFPB’s Lack Of Authority As To Respondents Cannot Be Cured

After Director Cordray was confirmed by the Senate on July 16, 2013 and before the

Supreme Court’s ruling in Noel Canning, the Bureau published in the Federal Register a Notice

of Ratification from Director Cordray on August 27, 2013. Notice of Ratification, 78 Fed. Reg.

53734 (Aug. 30, 2013). The Notice of Ratification explained that between January 4, 2012 and
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July 17, 2013 (when Mr. Cordray was sworn-in), the Director had been “serving as a recess

appointee,” and that he believes that the “actions [he] took” during that recess appointee period

“were legally authorized and entirely proper.” Id. But in order “[t]o avoid any possible

uncertainty, however,” the Director “affirm[ed] and ratif[ied] any all actions” that he “took

during that period.” Id.9

The Notice of Ratification, however, did not—because it cannot—create authority that

never existed in the first place. The Notice of Ratification is wholly ineffective in giving the

CFPB regulatory and enforcement authority over Integrity Advance and Mr. Carnes because it

cannot ratify actions that rely on jurisdiction that the Bureau never had. See Cook v. Tullis, 85

U.S. 332, 338 (1873) (“[I]t is essential that the party ratifying should be able not merely to do the

act ratified at the time the act was done, but also at the time the ratification was made.”). The

Bureau’s authority over nonbank “covered persons” could not be assumed under the Dodd-Frank

Act until the Bureau had a lawfully-appointed Director. The Director’s ratification of his actions

does not remedy the jurisdictional deficiencies as to this particular case that were created by the

timing of his appointment. Indeed, it is axiomatic that a Notice of Ratification cannot be

effective if when an agency lacks authority to take the action subsequently being ratified and it

also lacks the authority at ratification. For example, when a newly-appointed Office of Thrift

Supervision (“OTS”) Director “had no power to appoint a conservator . . . on February 15, 1990,

he lacked the power on June 1, 1990, to ratify the earlier appointment.” Franklin Sav. Ass’n v.

Dir. of the Office of Thrift Supervision, 740 F. Supp. 1535, 1539 (D. Kan. 1990).

9 Furthermore, the sweeping, one-sentence ratification does not provide the “detached and
considered judgment” required for the ratification of agency action. See Doolin Sec. Sav. Bank,
F.S.B. v. Office of Thrift Supervision, 139 F.3d 203, 213 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (noting that, in
ratifying previous enforcement action, the OTS Director “acted in the normal course of agency
adjudication,” “[r]ather than simply writing a letter or a memorandum adopting the Notice of
Charges as his own . . . .”).
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Ratification occurs when a principal approves prior actions of its purported agent. It is

essential that the ratifying party have the authority both to commit the ratified act at the time the

act was performed, as well as authority to ratify that act at the time ratification was made.

Restatement (Second) of Agency § 82; see also W. Nat’l Bank of N.Y. v. Armstrong, 152 U.S.

346, 352 (1894) (“[A] ratification, to be efficacious, must be made by a party who had power to

do the act in the first place.”).

In particular, the authority of a federal agency to ratify actions that were taken when it

lacked appropriate statutory authority are strictly limited. As stated, a ratifying party must have

the legal authority to perform the act “at the time the ratification was made.” FEC v. NRA

Political Victory Fund, 513 U.S. 88, 98 (1994). In NRA, the FEC filed a petition for writ of

certiorari to the Supreme Court without the approval of the Solicitor General, as was required by

law. Id. at 98. After the statute of limitations to file the petition expired, the Solicitor provided

approval for the FEC’s petition. Id. The Supreme Court was left to “determine whether this

‘after-the-fact’ authorization relates back to the date of the FEC’s unauthorized filing so as to

make it timely.” Id. The Court explained that “[t]he question is at least presumptively governed

by . . . the doctrine of ratification.” Id. Since the Solicitor lacked general authority by operation

of the statute of limitations to file the petition on the day that he gave his approval, the Court

held that he could not retroactively ratify the FEC’s filing. Id. at 98–99.

Here, on August 27, 2013, the day when the Bureau issued the Director’s Notice of

Ratification, the Bureau lacked legal authority over Respondents. Specifically, the Bureau

lacked any authority under the CFPA, including but not only UDAAP authority as to Integrity

Advance and Mr. Carnes, because in August 2013, Respondents were not engaging in the

offering or provision of a consumer financial product or service, and were not covered persons
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—a requirement of any CFPA claim. See 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Thus, the Bureau had no

jurisdiction over Respondents in December 2012 when the Company stopped making loans

because there was not yet a lawfully-appointed Director. Similarly, the Bureau had no authority

over Integrity Advance between January 2012 and July 2013 during the Director’s recess

appointment period, which was rendered unlawful by Noel Canning. Finally, the Bureau had no

authority over Respondents at the time the Notice of Ratification was issued.

To be clear, this case differs from other instances when courts have upheld notices of

ratification that cured Appointments Clause defects. In those cases, the subsequent ratification

cured Appointments Clause defects because at the time of the ratification the agency was

lawfully authorized to take the action at issue. For example, in FEC v. Legi-Tech, Inc., 75 F.3d

704 (D.C. Cir. 1996), the court upheld the FEC’s subsequent review and ratification of a case,

because at the time of ratification, the agency had a lawfully appointed quorum of

commissioners, which served to cure the Appointment Clause defect. Similarly, in Doolin

Security Savings Bank v. Office of Thrift Supervision, the court held that a lawfully appointed

director of OTS “effectively ratified the Notice of Charges signed by [the unlawfully appointed

director] at a time when he could have initiated the charges himself . . .” 139 F.3d at 214

(emphasis added). In Andrade v. Regnery, the D.C. Circuit upheld the ratification of a reduction

in force (“RIF”) order carried out by the Deputy Director of the Office of Juvenile Justice and

Delinquency Prevention (“OJJDP”). 824 F.2d 1253, 1255 (D.C. Cir. 1987). The court

acknowledged that the deputy director had not been validly appointed during the planning stages

of the RIF. See id. at 1255. However, the court affirmed that the original order implementing

the RIF was given by a duly appointed Assistant Attorney General and the OJJDP deputy

director was validly appointed at the time the RIF was executed. Id. at 1256. Thus, the D.C.
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Circuit affirmed the trial court’s holding that “any defect in the implementation of the RIF as to

appellants had been cured by [the deputy director’s] act of ratification.” Id.

In both Legi-Tech and Doolin, the reviewing court held that the lawfully appointed

agency heads could have begun each of those administrative enforcement processes anew,

because the FEC commissioners and OTS director ratifying previous agency actions had current

authority over the respondents. In those cases—neither of which constituted instances in which

the general authority of the agency was in question—ratification provided a valid cure for

Appointments Clause defects. See Legi-Tech, 75 F.3d at 709; Doolin, 139 F.3d. at 213.

Conversely, here, the Constitutionally-defective appointment of the CFPB’s Director is a

threshold issue of authority that may not be cured through after-the-fact ratification by the

agency. This is true because under Section 1066 of the CFPA and Noel-Canning, the Bureau did

not have authority over Respondents before the Director’s lawful appointment, and at any time

after the Director was confirmed by the Senate, as Respondents were not “covered persons.”

The Bureau, of course, does not dispute any of this, as averred in its Notice. See Notice ¶ 12.

The Court Should Dismiss The Notice Because Respondents Never Engaged
In Conduct Within The Bureau’s Jurisdiction

The Bureau has never had regulatory or enforcement authority over Respondents. As

discussed above, when Integrity Advance made loans to consumers, the Bureau did not have

jurisdiction as to nonbanks. The Company stopped making loans in December 2012, which the

Bureau does not dispute. See Notice ¶ 12. By July 16, 2013, when the Bureau had a Director

who was lawfully in place and could pursue its authorities, Respondents were not engaged in

business activities that were within the Bureau’s jurisdiction.

Moreover, the language of the CFPA is clear that the Bureau may only enforce its

UDAAP authority or otherwise bring a claim arising from an alleged violation of the CFPA
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against a “covered person,” as that term is defined in the statute. A “covered person,” in turn, is

defined in the present tense. This present tense language “strongly suggests that it [the

definition] does not extend to past actions.” Sherley v. Sebelius, 644 F.3d 388, 394–95 (D.C. Cir.

2011). The Supreme Court has stated that, under the Dictionary Act, 1 U.S.C. § 1 (2012),10 “the

present tense generally does not include the past.” Carr v. United States, 130 S. Ct. 2229, 2236

(2010). Indeed, “Congress could have phrased its requirement in language that looked to the

past . . . but it did not choose this readily available option.” Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v.

Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 57 (1987) (holding that a statute’s “undeviating use

of the present tense strongly suggests” that “the harm sought to be addressed . . . lies in the

present or the future, not in the past”); see also Reuther v. Trustees of Trucking Emp. of Passaic

& Bergen Cnty. Welfare Fund, 575 F.2d 1074, 1077 (3d Cir. 1978) (noting that if Congress

intended something other than a prospective application of the statutes in question, “it could have

stated ‘[i]n the case of a contribution that is, was, or has been made by an employer.’”). Nothing

in the plain language of the CFPA or its legislative history suggests that the Bureau’s authority

over “any person that engages in offering a consumer financial product or service” should be

read to mean that a “covered person” includes a person or entity that ever provided a consumer

financial product or service.

Following the Bureau’s logic in this enforcement action would mean the CFPB could

bring a lawsuit against a lender that made consumer loans in 2006 and stopped making them in

2009. The only discernable – while immaterial – difference is that Integrity Advance’s lending

activities occurred closer to the date of the Bureau’s inception. But, to be clear, this case is

distinct from an instance when the Bureau might bring suit against a company that offered a

10 1 U.S.C. § 1 provides that “[w]ords used in the present tense include the future as well as the
present . . . .”
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consumer financial product or service when the Bureau had jurisdiction over the company—even

though the company stopped engaging in that conduct before the CFPB filed an enforcement

action. In such an example, the company would have fallen within the CFPB’s jurisdiction by

offering consumer financial products or services during a time in which the Bureau had authority

over such activity. Respondents are not arguing that a company must be currently engaged in the

offering or provision of a consumer financial product or service to be called a “covered person,”

under the CFPA; rather, in order for the Bureau to bring a cause of action under the CFPA, an

entity must have engaged in the offering or provision of a consumer financial product or service

at some point in time when the Bureau had authority as to that conduct. Respondents never did.

For this reason, the Court should dismiss the Notice.11

II. THE BUREAU’S CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED

The CFPA’s Three Year Statute of Limitations Time-Bars The Bureau’s
Claims Against Mr. Carnes

Even if the Bureau had enforcement jurisdiction as to Mr. Carnes in the first instance—

and it is does not—Counts III, IV, and VII, as to Mr. Carnes should be dismissed. The CFPB’s

UDAAP claims against Mr. Carnes are “indisputably time-barred.” See Small v. Chao, 398 F. 3d

894, 898 (7th Cir. 2005) (statutes of limitations claims are appropriate for motions to dismiss).

The Bureau’s claims arise from conduct that happened no later than December 2012. See Notice

¶ 12. But the Bureau did not file its Notice until November 18, 2015, nearly three years later.

11 In sum, the Dodd-Frank Act provides a dual test for effectiveness vis-à-vis the Bureau’s
enhanced consumer protection authorities—the newly-created authorities of the Bureau are only
effective after July 21, 2011 (the express effective date under the statute) and the lawful
appointment of a Director. To allow the Director to overcome the statutorily-required effective
date, including through ratification, and pursue claims against entities and activities that never
fell within the Bureau’s authority would impermissibly extend the agency’s authorities.
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The CFPA provides that any claim arising under the Bureau’s UDAAP authority must be

brought within “3 years after the date of discovery of the violation to which an action relates.”

12 U.S.C. § 5564(g)(1). Indeed, in the Bureau’s first administrative proceeding, the

administrative law judge held that the “CFPA states that the CFPB must follow the statute of

limitations of the statute it is enforcing, ‘as applicable.’” 3D Resorts-Bluegrass, LLC, 2013-

CFPB-0002, 3 (Jul. 12, 2013) (Order on Aff. Def.) (analyzing the statutes of limitation applied in

a CFPB adjudication proceeding). Here, the applicable statute of limitations is a three-year

statute of limitations that starts running from the “date of discovery,” as to claims arising under

the Bureau’s UDAAP authority.

In comparable instances, courts have held that the “date of discovery” rule in the non-

fraud context “refer[s] not only to actual discovery, but also to the hypothetical discovery of facts

a reasonably diligent plaintiff would know.” Merck & Co. v. Reynolds, 559 U.S. 633, 645

(2010)). Case law is clear that the date of discovery means the date when an agency was likely

to have known through reasonable due diligence. Gabelli v. SEC, 133 S. Ct. 1216, 1221 (2013).

Agencies are expressly held to the “know or should have known” standard when ascertaining a

“date of discovery” in the statute of limitations context. It follows that the date on which the

Bureau knew or should have known of the alleged violations set out in the Notice is not the date

when the Bureau completed its investigation. See id. For example, in False Claims Act cases,

which even sound in fraud, courts hold law enforcement and relator plaintiffs to a “knew or

should have known” “discovery-due-diligence” standard. This means that “the running of the

statute of limitations does not begin at the point the plaintiff has sufficient information to prevail

at trial, or even when a plaintiff is aware that the conduct at issue is actionable under the law.”

U.S. ex rel. Miller v. Bill Harbert Int’l Const., 505 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2007) (citations
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omitted). Rather, courts have consistently found that a limitations period begins to run at the

point in time that the government official charged with bringing the civil action ‘discovers, or by

reasonable diligence could have discovered, the basis of the lawsuit.” Id. Applied here, the

limitations period started to run when the Bureau “possesse[d] sufficient critical facts” to put it

on notice that, allegedly, “a wrong ha[d] been committed” and further investigation was needed.

Id.

Further to this point, the Supreme Court has noted that “[a]gencies often have hundreds

of employees, dozens of offices, and several levels of leadership” and thus have resources to

discover alleged violations through investigations earlier than private individuals. Gabelli, 133

S. Ct. at 1223. For example, in Gabelli the Court elaborated on the Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC”), which much like the Bureau, has a “central mission” of investigating

unlawful conduct arising under laws that the agency is charged with enforcing. Id. at 1222. And

the Bureau, like numerous law enforcement agencies, such as the SEC, “has many legal tools at

hand to aid in that pursuit.” Id.

It therefore follows that here, too, the “date of discovery” means the date on which the

Bureau knew or should have known of an alleged violation, given the agency’s extensive

investigative authority and substantial resources. Accordingly, even assuming, arguendo, the

Bureau has enforcement authority as to Mr. Carnes—which it does not—the Bureau’s three-year

statute of limitations started running at one of three possible dates; any of which render Counts

III, IV and VII as to Mr. Carnes, time-barred. First, if the Bureau asserts that it had jurisdiction

as to Respondents on July 21, 2011, the transfer date, then the three-year statute of limitations

started running on that date, as the Bureau had reason to know about Integrity Advance’s lending

activities. Indeed, the Notice pleads that the Company relied on a website for its lending
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operations and that these operations were underway by July 2011. See Notice ¶¶ 4, 12. Thus,

the Bureau knew or should have known of any alleged unlawful conduct as of July 21, 2011 and

would have had to have brought a UDAAP claim as to Mr. Carnes on or before July 21, 2014; it

did not.

Second, if the Bureau asserts that it had jurisdiction as to Respondents on January 4,

2012, when Mr. Cordray was appointed during a Congressional recess, which was subsequently

rendered unlawful then the Bureau’s three-year statute of limitations as to Mr. Carnes would

have started running on that date. The Bureau would have had to file its UDAAP claims as to

Mr. Carnes on or before January 4, 2015; it did not.

Finally, if the Bureau contends that its date of discovery derives only from when it

initiated its investigation, then the Bureau’s date of discovery is at least a few months before it

served Integrity Advance with a Civil Investigation Demand (“CID”) on January 7, 2013.

Indeed, by the time the Bureau knew to serve a CID on Integrity Advance, the agency knew or

should have known of alleged unlawful conduct. This means that the Bureau would have had to

have brought its UDAAP claims sometime in the late summer or early fall of 2015, that is three

years from a liberal applied date of discovery; the Bureau, of course, filed its Notice outside this

three-year window. The UDAAP claims as to Mr. Carnes are time-barred and should be

dismissed for this reason, as well.

The Bureau’s TILA And EFTA Claims As To Integrity Advance Are Also
Time-Barred

Even if the Court finds that the Bureau has jurisdiction to pursue this enforcement action,

it should dismiss Counts I, II, V, and VI of the Notice, as the Bureau’s TILA claim (Count I),

EFTA claim (Count V) and derivative CFPA claims (Counts II and VI) are time-barred. See

Notice ¶¶ 58–61, 84–87. The law is clear that the statute of limitations for bringing any TILA
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claim is one year, as the statute provides that “any action under this section may be brought in

any United States district court, or in any other court of competent jurisdiction, within one year

from the date of the occurrence of the violation.” 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e). The EFTA contains

identical language limiting the statute of limitations for filing such a claim to one year, as well.

See 15 U.S.C. § 1693m(g). And it also is clear that “[i]n a[n] action arising . . . under an

enumerated consumer law [such as TILA or EFTA], the Bureau may commence, defend, or

intervene in the action in accordance with the requirements of that provision of law.” 12 U.S.C.

§ 5564(g)(2)(B); see 3D Resorts-Blugrass, File No. 2013-CFPB-0002, at 3 (“The CFPA states

that the CFPB must follow the statute of limitations of the statute it is enforcing.”).

Indeed, to date, there is only one case that has addressed this precise issue—that is the

application of TILA’s one-year statute of limitations—to a Bureau enforcement case. In CFPB

v. ITT Educ. Servs., Inc., No. 1:14-cv-00292-SEB-TAB, 2015 WL 1013508, *33 (Mar. 6, 2015),

the court held that the language in TILA mandating a one-year statute of limitations applies to

the Bureau’s cases brought in court.12 The court dismissed the Bureau’s TILA claims on

grounds that they were time-barred. Here, too, the Court should dismiss the Bureau’s TILA

claims and also its EFTA claims on the same grounds.

12 The ITT court distinguishes between instances when a TILA claim is brought in federal district
court and when that claim is brought in a federal banking agency’s administrative forum.
Specifically, the ITT court’s distinctions cite guidance from the Federal Reserve and the OCC on
why TILA enables those agencies to bring TILA claims in an agency enforcement action past the
one-year statute of limitations. Those agencies’ administrative enforcement actions, of course,
are markedly different from the Bureau’s action here and from the Bureau’s authorities to litigate
more generally. For example, neither the OCC nor the Federal Reserve can proceed in federal
district court. The Bureau, in contrast, has the discretion to bring a case in either district court or
this forum, and the agency can seek the same remedies in either forum, as well. If the Bureau
can select its forum, obtain the same remedies in either forum, then the causes of action that it
may pursue—including any limits on those causes of action—must be the same as a matter of
fairness.
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The ITT court noted the significance of the one-year statute of limitations, explaining that

“civil penalty” actions have grave implications, and that statutes of limitations serve a critical

purpose of ensuring that parties not “face limitless liability.” See id. (quoting Consol. Bank,

N.A., Hialeah, Fla. v. Office of Comptroller of Currency, 118 F.3d 1461, 1467 (11th Cir. 1997)).

Moreover, nothing in the Dodd-Frank Act or legislative history shows that Congress intended to

override the statutes of limitations in the 18 enumerated statutes, including the TILA and EFTA

that the Bureau may enforce.

The Notice pleads that Integrity Advance ceased offering loans in December 2012. See

Notice ¶ 12. Thus, the CFPB was required to have brought its claims under TILA and EFTA by

December 2013. The statutes of limitations under TILA and EFTA provide one year from the

date of the transaction at issue to bring a claim. The Bureau did not, and its TILA and EFTA

claims are time-barred; the Court should dismiss Counts I, II, V and VI for this reason, as well.

The CFPB’s Claims Are Also Not Preserved Under A Continuing Violation
Theory

Supreme Court jurisprudence precludes an argument that the alleged violations of the

CFPA, TILA, and EFTA constitute “continuing violations.” Ledbetter v. Goodyear Tire &

Rubber Co., 550 U.S. 618 (2007), overturned on other grounds by Pub. L. 111-2, 123 Stat 5 (Jan.

29, 2009) (“[c]ontinuing effects . . . d[o] not make out a present violation.”). The alleged

violations would have necessarily occurred at or before the extension of credit, and therefore the

continued payment of a loan extended by Integrity Advance is simply a continued effect of any

initial violation, which “cannot breathe life into prior . . . [conduct].” Id. at 628.

Courts have expressly rejected the continuing violation theory with regard to EFTA. See

Repay v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 12 CV 10228, 2013 WL 6224641, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 27,

2013) (“[o]nce the series of transfers is initiated by the first transfer, the violation occurs . . . .”).
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Courts have similarly rejected application of any continuing-violations doctrine to the TILA

statute of limitations. King v. State of Cal., 784 F.2d 910, 913–14 (9th Cir. 1986) (rejecting the

continuing-violations theory as “expos[ing] the lender to a prolonged and unforeseeable liability

that Congress did not intend”); Butler v. Fairbanks Capital, No. Civ.A. 04-0367(RMU), 2005

WL 5108537 at *29, (D.D.C. Jan. 3, 2005) (refusing to apply a continuing-violation theory to

TILA claims). Thus, the Court should dismiss Counts I, II, V and VI because they are time-

barred.

III. COUNTS I AND II SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE NOTICE FAILS
TO STATE A CLAIM UNDER TILA AND REGULATION Z

The Notice’s factual allegations must produce an inference of liability strong enough to

move the Bureau’s claims “across the line from conceivable to plausible.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at

683. The Notice, however, does not plead sufficient facts to infer “more than the mere

possibility of misconduct.” Id. at 679. The Court should dismiss Counts I and II, which allege

TILA violations.

The Notice fails to state a claim under TILA because Integrity Advance’s disclosure of a

payment table with a single payment reflects the single-payment legal obligation between

Integrity Advance and consumers; thus, it complies with TILA’s strict disclosure requirements.

See 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17; 1026.18. Rather than allege facts that these requirements were not

met, the Notice attempts to create a new TILA disclosure standard by which a “true repayment

schedule”—one which accounts for a consumer’s likely extension of the contract after

consummation—is required to be disclosed instead. But TILA and its implementing regulation,

Regulation Z, have no such requirement. In fact, the Bureau fundamentally misconstrues TILA’s

disclosure rules and ignores the long-standing TILA principle that post-consummation changes
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to a loan do not render a disclosure at the time that the loan was made inaccurate. Id.

§ 1026.17(e).

TILA requires creditors to disclose specific information, as prescribed by Regulation Z,

including a loan’s annual percentage rate (“APR”), the finance charge, the amount financed, and

a payment schedule. See 15 U.S.C.§§ 1631 and 1638. Regulation Z requires these disclosures to

be “clear and conspicuous,” that is, that they be legible and in a reasonably understandable form,

12 C.F.R. § 1026.17(a)(1); Comment 17(a)(1)-1), and that they reflect the terms of the legal

obligation between the parties.” Id. § 1026.17(c)(1) (emphasis added). Read together, these

provisions mandate that a required disclosure like a payment schedule reflect the terms of the

underlying credit contract and be communicated in a manner that the consumer may read and

understand.

Indeed, the disclosures highlighted by the CFPB, track the model form that Regulation Z

sets forward. The disclosure uses the appropriate format, labels, and terminology as the

regulation prescribes. This Regulation Z model form, in turn, provides a safe harbor, meaning

that when a company presents a TILA disclosure that tracks this model form, it is presumptively

compliant with the TILA “clear and conspicuous” requirement. See 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, app. H

(H.2). There is no question that the contract between Integrity Advance and consumers at the

time of loan consummation was for a single payment loan which could be extended, at the

consumer’s option, beyond the maturity date. The TILA disclosures were provided on the model

form and disclosed a payment schedule reflecting that agreement. This is what TILA and

Regulation Z require.

The Bureau, nevertheless, attempts to allege a TILA (and Regulation Z) violation on the

theory that Respondents should have assumed consumers would renew their loans after

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 028-A     Filed 12/21/2015     Page 29 of 37



24

consummation and should have made a “true payment schedule” based on this assumption.13

This attempts to read into Regulation Z a requirement to predict post-consummation events and

incorporate them into a payment schedule that not only does not exist, but is directly contradicted

by Section 1026.17(e) of Regulation Z. This section of Regulation Z makes clear that post-

disclosure events (such as the election to renew a loan contract after consummation) do not

render the initial disclosure inaccurate.

Here, any change to the loan terms necessarily resulted from a payment decision made

after the loan was consummated. If consumers did not indicate that they would repay the loan

under the initial terms, or if consumers elected to request a renewal, the consumer’s repayment

obligation changed in accordance with the terms of the contract. TILA and Regulation Z do not

require, and the CFPB has not pleaded, that new after-the-fact disclosures should have been

made. See, e.g., Jasper Cnty. Sav. Bank v. Gilbert, 328 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1982)

(concluding that TILA “does not require the lender to disclose that the dollar amount of the costs

of credit will increase if the consumer makes late payments.”). The Bureau fails to state a TILA

claim and the Court should dismiss Counts I and II for this reason.

IV. THE COURT SHOULD NARROW SUBSTANTIALLY THE SCOPE OF
COUNTS III, IV, AND VII WHICH ALLEGE UDAAP VIOLATIONS ARISING
FROM CONDUCT THAT PREDATES JULY 21, 2011

Even if the Court finds that the Bureau had enforcement authority over Respondents, the

agency has no UDAAP authority as to conduct that predates July 21, 2011. The Bureau’s Notice

alleges UDAAP violations that arise from Integrity Advance’s offering or provision of loans

between May 15, 2008 and December 2012. See Notice ¶ 12. In fact, the Bureau’s Notice of

13 To support this claim, the CFPB alleges that consumers believed “[c]omplaints submitted by
consumers indicate that the consumers thought the company would debit only the total amount
disclosed in the TILA disclosure . . . .” Id. ¶ 32. The fact of a consumer complaint, however, is
irrelevant to the legal question before the Court: whether the Bureau can plead that Integrity
Advance’s TILA disclosures failed to meet that statute’s technical disclosure requirements.
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Charges alleges UDAAP violations that arise solely from and specifically because of the

provision or offering of a loan. See Notice ¶¶ 62–70, 71–77, 88–94 (alleging deceptive and

unfair conduct arising from the extension of a loan). The Notice alleges no UDAAP violations

that arise from conduct that post-dates December 2012 when Integrity Advance stopped offering

loans. See id. In other words, 38 of the 56 months when Integrity Advance made loans to

consumers pre-date the time that the Bureau had the authority to bring a UDAAP claim.

Accordingly, the Court should narrow the scope of Counts III, IV and VII and any relief the

Bureau seeks under these claims.

The law is clear “that the legal effect of conduct should ordinarily be assessed under the

law that existed when the conduct took place.” Hughes Aircraft Co. v. U.S. ex rel. Schumer, 520

U.S. 939, 946 (1997) (internal quotations and citations omitted). This “retroactivity principle

finds expression in several provisions of our Constitution,” including the Due Process Clause,

which “also protects the interests in fair notice and repose that may be compromised by

retroactive legislation.” Landgraf v. USI Film Prods., 511 U.S. 244, 266 (1994).

For this reason, there is a “time-honored presumption” against retroactivity “unless

Congress has clearly manifested its intent to the contrary.” Hughes Aircraft, 520 U.S. at 946.

Indeed, here, Congress has manifested its intent that the CFPA’s UDAAP authority reach only

conduct that happened on or after July 21, 2011. As noted above, both subtitle C, which contains

the CFPB’s UDAAP authorities, and subtitle E, which contains the CFPB’s Enforcement

Authorities, including the Bureau’s authority to seek any remedies, each include sections

providing that “[t]his subtitle shall take effect on the designated transfer date” which was July

21, 2011. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5561. The Supreme Court has explained that “[a] statement that a

statute will become effective on a certain date does not even arguably suggest that it has any
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application to conduct that occurred at an earlier date.” Landgraf, at 257. When, as here,

“Congress has delayed the effective date of a substantive statute that could in principle be

applied to conduct completed before its enactment, [courts] presume the statute applies only

prospectively.” Lytes v. DC Water & Sewer Auth., 572 F.3d 936, 941 (D.C. Cir. 2009); see also

Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Bonjorno, 494 U.S. 827, 838–39 (1990) (recognizing that a

six-month delay in the effective date of the federal prejudgment interest statute suggested

prospective-only application); Gay v. Sullivan, 966 F.2d 1124, 1128 (7th Cir. 1992) (holding that

“provision for a future effective date” is “strong evidence of a congressional rejection of

retroactivity”).

But even if the CFPA did not have an effective date that explicitly showed that the CFPA

and its UDAAP authority only reach prospective conduct, it would still be the case that the

statute could not apply to conduct that predates July 21, 2011. This is because the statute

“attaches new legal consequences to events completed before its enactment,” and it would be

unfair to “impos[e] new burdens on persons after the fact.” Landgraf, 511 U.S. at 269–70. This

principle applies both in the civil and criminal contexts. Id. at 272. The Bureau’s UDAAP

authority—codified in sections 1031 (UDAAP authority) and 1036 (pursuing unlawful

conduct)—and the remedies that the Bureau can obtain from any UDAAP violations, as

enumerated in section 1055, as well as the Bureau’s authority to proceed here in the first instance

under section 1053 all comprise a “statute, which . . . creates a new obligation, imposes a new

duty, [and] attaches a new disability, in respect to transactions or considerations already past.”

Id. at 269.

Under Landgraf, there is only a small category of laws that could ever apply to conduct

retrospectively, and the CFPA is clearly not among them. Specifically, this small category of
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laws “regulate secondary rather than primary conduct.” Id. at 275. For example, courts have

held that a statute that applies a new jurisdictional rule, such as changing the venue for

application of an already-existing statute, or rules of procedure that apply to pre-enactment date

conduct are not impermissibly retroactive, as they concern only secondary conduct, unlike the

CFPA, which regulates an actor’s primary conduct. Id. at 274-75; see also Hughes Aircraft, 520

U.S. at 951.

The Supreme Court, in fact, has defined secondary conduct very narrowly, so as to

preclude nearly all laws from applying retrospectively. For example, in Hughes Aircraft, the

Supreme Court held that a 1986 amendment to the False Claims Act, which permitted a private

relator to pursue FCA claims and also eliminated a defense to an FCA claim, could not be

applied to allegations arising from conduct that occurred in 1982 and 1984. The Hughes Court

explained that this amendment to an-already existing statute “creates jurisdiction where none

previously existed; it thus speaks . . . to the substantive rights of parties as well.” Hughes

Aircraft, 520 U.S. at 951. The Court explained that, even though the statute already existed, the

mere addition of a private right of action, resulted in the FCA “amendment essentially creat[ing]

a new cause of action.” Id. at 949. Following the Supreme Court’s logic, the CFPA necessarily

applies only to prospective conduct; the statute’s authorities, including its UDAAP and

enforcement authorities, are entirely new legal provisions that are part of a new statute

conferring authorities on a newly-created agency. The Court cannot apply this authority to

conduct that predates July 21, 2011.

In fact, to date, in nearly every (if not every) instance when the Bureau has alleged a

UDAAP violation in a litigated proceeding, the agency has only pleaded UDAAP violations that
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arise from conduct that occurred on or after July 21, 2011. 14 Moreover, courts have universally

held that other substantive provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act are not retroactive. See McCauley

v. Home Loan Inv. Bank, 710 F.3d 551, 554 n. 2 (4th Cir. 2013); Meyer v. One West Bank, F.S.B,

91 F. Supp. 3d 1177, 1181 (C.D. Cal. 2015); Jones v. Southpeak Interactive Corp., No. 12cv443,

2013 WL 1155566, at *9 (E.D. Va. Mar. 19, 2013); Blackwell v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. 11-

2475-JMC-KFM, 2012 WL 1229673, at *4 (D.S.C. Mar. 22, 2012); Henderson v. Masco

Framing Corp., No. 11-cv-00088-LRH, 2011 WL 3022535, at *4 (D. Nev. July 22, 2011)

(“[T]his court finds that the Dodd-Frank Act’s SOX provisions are not retroactive.”).

For example, in Koch v. SEC, 793 F.3d 147, 157-58 (D.C. Cir. 2015), the court held that

the Securities and Exchange Commission could not impose a class of sanctions that were created

by the Dodd-Frank Act. See Koch, 793 F.3d at 157–58 (addressing application of section 925(a)

in Title VIII of the Dodd-Frank Act, also called the Investor Protection and Securities Reform

Act of 2010). In that case the narrow issue before the court was whether the SEC could impose a

new type of sanction to address conduct arising from a violation of the law that pre-dated the

Dodd-Frank Act. And, even there, the court held that imposing a new sanction as to pre-Dodd-

Frank Act conduct would “create new legal consequences for past conduct” in contravention of

Landgraf. Id. at 158.

14 See, e.g., Complaint at 32, CFPB v. Corinthian Colleges, Inc., No. 1:14-cv-07194 (N.D. Ill.)
(Sept. 16, 2014); Pl’s Resp., at 38, CFPB v. Hanna, No. 1:14-cv-02211-AT (N.D. Ga.) (Oct. 3,
2014) (responding to a motion to dismiss by disclaiming any effort to apply the UDAAP
provision to conduct occurring prior to July 21, 2011); Complaint at 2, CFPB v. Sec. Nat’l Auto.
Acceptance Co., LLC, No. 15-cv-401 (S.D. Ohio, June 17, 2015) (limiting allegations of
UDAAP conduct to July 21, 2011 and later); Complaint at 12, CFPB v. Freedom Stores, Inc.,
No. 2:14cv643 ANA/TEM (E.D. Va., Dec. 18, 2014) (confining dates of UDAAP allegations to
between July 21, 2011 and December 31, 2011, despite the defendant operating as early as
January 1, 2010); Complaint at 3, CFPB v. Student Financial Aid Servs., No. 2:15-at-00821
(E.D. Cal., Jul. 23, 2015) (limiting allegations of UDAAP conduct to “relevant” period “[f]rom
at least July 21, 2011 to the present”).
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The Bureau impermissibly seeks to apply its newly-created UDAAP authority to conduct,

almost all of which occurred before July 21, 2011. The Court should substantially narrow any

remedy that the Bureau would be allowed to pursue as to Counts III, IV, and VII, which allege

violations of the Bureau’s UDAAP authority.

CONCLUSION

The Court should dismiss the Notice. The Bureau has never had enforcement jurisdiction

as to Respondents. The Notice also alleges causes of action that are time-barred. Its TILA

causes of action fail to state a claim on which relief can be offered. And the Bureau’s Notice

alleges UDAAP violations, which arise from alleged conduct that almost entirely predates July

21, 2011.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court should dismiss the Notice in its entirety and

award Respondents all costs.

2015-CFPB-0029     Document 028-A     Filed 12/21/2015     Page 35 of 37



30

Dated: December 21, 2015 By: _____/s/ Allyson B. Baker
Allyson B. Baker, Esq.
Peter S. Frechette, Esq.
Hillary S. Profita, Esq.
Joanna Breslow Boyd, Esq.
VENABLE LLP
575 7th St. N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 344-4000

Attorneys for Respondents
Integrity Advance, LLC and James R. Carnes
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECfiON BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-00000000

In the Matter of: 

Y KINGS CORP., also doing business 
as HERBIES AUTO SALES 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

used automobile financing practices ofY KingS Corp., d/b/a Herbies Auto Sales 

(Herbies), and has identified the following law violations: (1) TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 

1601 et seq., and its implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R. Part 1026, 

for (a) failing to accurately disclose the finance charge and annual percentage 

rate for financing agreements; (b) failing to disclose the cost of the repair 

warranty as a finance charge; (c) failing to disclose the cost of the GPS payment 

reminder device as a finance charge; (d) failing to disclose the discount provided 

to cash customers as a finance charge; and (e) advertising a false annual 

percentage rate (APR); (2) the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, for (a) misrepresenting the finance charges 

imposed on consumers, and (b) taking unreasonable advantage of consumers 

who were unable to protect their interests in selecting and obtaining financing for 

used car purchases. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 
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Protection Act of 201o (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this 

Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Overview 

1. Herbies misrepresented credit information-finance charges and 

APRs-to its used car consumers in marketing materials and Truth-in-Lending

Act disclosures. Herbies required consumers from January 2012 through May 

2014 to purchase an automobile repair policy when financing their car purchase 

but did not include the $1,650 cost in the finance charges in disclosures. Also, 

from October 2013 through May 2014, Herbies required credit consumers to 

purchase a GPS payment reminder device but did not include the $100 cost in the 

finance charges in disclosures. Finally, Herbies inflated used car prices to credit 

consumers but did not include the amounts in finance charges in disclosures. The 

car prices credit consumers paid were at inflated levels because Herbies 

maintained a practice of not negotiating prices vvith consumers who were 

financing their purchases while at the same time Herbies had a practice of 

negotiating with consumers who were paying for their purchases in cash. Thus, 

Herbies provided consumers with cash discounts, i.e., car prices at lower levels in 

cash transactions compared to car prices in credit transactions. The inflated 

prices associated with the cash discounts on average amounted to as much as a 

thousand dollars or more per car. These three costs of credit were not included as 

part of the finance charges in disclosures, making the promoted g.gg percent 

APR inaccurate. 

2 . Further, Herbies took unreasonable advantage of consumers' 

inability to protect their interests in using or selecting Herbies' auto financing. 

2 

2016-CFPB-0001     Document 1     Filed 01/21/2016     Page 2 of 30



The opacity of the information, inaccurate credit terms, and the timing of 

disclosures Herbies provided relating to car pricing-including failing to post 

sticker prices-diminished consumers' ability to protect their interests in 

selecting or using the financing offered by Herbies. Herbies took unreasonable 

advantage of this by exploiting its customers' misunderstanding of the credit and 

sales terms for its own financial benefit. 

II 

Jurisdiction 

3. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and the Truth in Lending Act, 

15 u.s.c. § 1607. 

III 

Stipulation 

4. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order," dated January 14, 2016 (Stipulation), which is 

incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, 

Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau 

under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over 

Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

3 
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IV 

Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

s. "Affected Consumers" includes those consumers for whom 

Respondent originated financing for the purchase of automobiles on or after 

January 1, 2012; provided, however, the term does not include those consumers 

for whom Respondent charged-off their accounts prior to the Effective Date. 

6. "Consumer" is defined as set forth in section 1002 of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

7. "Clearly and prominently" means the disclosure must be of a type 

size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on which it appears, 

and in an understandable language and syntax, and with nothing contrary to, 

inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication 

with the consumer. 

8. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is 

issued. 

g. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his delegate. 

10. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf 

of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section V of this Consent Order. 

11. "Respondent" means Y King S Corp., including Herbies Auto Sales 

and YKS Acceptance, Inc., and its successors and assigns. 

4 
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12. "Service Provider" is defined as set forth in section 1002 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. § 5481. 

13. The terms "annual percentage rate," "credit," and "finance charge," 

are defined as set forth in sections 103, 106, and 107 of the Truth in Lending Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1602, 1605 and 1606 and sections 1026.2, 1026-4, and 1026.22 of 

Regulation Z. 

v 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

Respondent Herbies Auto Sales 

14. Respondent is a used car dealer located in Greeley, Colorado. 

15. Although Herbies now leases used cars to consumers, Herbies offered auto 

financing to consumers for used car purchases from January 2012 through May 2014. 

Herbies assigned the vast majority of these contracts to YKS Acceptance, Inc. , an 

affiliated financing business that has the same corporate officers as Herbies and only 

takes assignment of Herbies' installment contracts. 

16. From January 2012 through May 2014, Herbies provided financing to 

more than a thousand Herbies' used car consumers per year in the form of retail 

installment sales contracts, which are consumer financial products or services covered 

by the CFPA.12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 15 (A)(i). Therefore, Herbies is a "covered person" 

under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

17. Under Regulation Z, a creditor is a person who regularly extends 

"consumer credit," 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(17), which includes credit offered or extended to a 

consumer for personal, family, or household purposes. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(12). 

5 
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Therefore, under TILA, Herbies is the creditor and responsible for accurate disclosures 

in the retail installment contracts executed to finance Herbies car sales. 

Herbies Credit Transactions 

18. From January 2012 through May 2014, Herbies sold used cars to 

consumers-about 98% were sold to consumers in credit transactions and about 2% in 

cash transactions. Herbies' credit consumers typically had low or no credit scores and 

would generally therefore only qualify for what could be characterized as "subprime" 

loans. 

19. The way Herbies approached these transactions and made-or failed to 

make-disclosures to these credit consumers resulted in additional financial benefit to 

Herbies through hidden and inaccurately disclosed finance charges, as described below. 

20. Herbies' credit transactions occurred in the following sequence. First, the 

consumer set up an appointment online or simply stopped by Herbies' lot. Upon arrival, 

a sales member brought them to the sales manager to begin the credit application 

process before they had the opportunity to shop Herbies' inventory of cars. 

21. Through the credit application process, Herbies sales manager would 

question the consumer-using a monthly budget sheet-to assess whether the consumer 

met Herbies' underwriting standards, and if so, how large a monthly payment the 

consumer could afford to pay for a car. 

22. Based on that monthly payment determination (and assuming the 

consumer met Herbies' underwriting standards), Herbies' sales manager located a car 

within Herbies' inventory that matched the monthly payment Herbies determined the 

consumer could make, as well as the consumer's vehicle needs. Herbies' sales manager 

then directed the salesperson to show that specific car to the consumer. Herbies verified 

the consumer's employment by calling the consumer's workplace and checked with the 

6 
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consumer's landlord about the consumer's rental payment history while the consumer 

test drove the selected car. If the employment was confirmed and the rental payment 

history was satisfactory, Herbies and the borrower executed the retail installment sales 

contract. 

23. Herbies did not post sticker prices on the cars on its lot or otherwise 

provide consumers with asking prices. In fact, Herbies did not make purchase prices 

available to consumers until the very end of the transaction after they had come back 

from test drives and \·vere ready to purchase the cars on credit. The car prices were 

disclosed only on paper along with all the other disclosures provided to the consumers 

at the end of the transaction. 

24. Thus for credit consumers, Herbies' process amounted to a bundled car-

and-credit transaction because Herbies did not tell the consumer the price of the vehicle 

until after the deal was struck. 

25. Herbies had a policy or practice of not negotiating the price of the car with 

credit consumers. 

26. Herbies cash sales were different. For consumers who wanted to pay cash 

for cars, Herbies maintained a policy or practice that the sales manager could negotiate 

with the consumer over the purchase price. In fact, cash consumers did typically 

negotiate with Herbies to lower the purchase prices of the cars. 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Failure to Disclose 
the Cost of the Repair Warranty as a Finance Charge 

27. During the time from January 2012 and through May 2014, Herbies 

offered what it called a "new deal" to credit customers: Herbies lowered its APR in its 

retail sales installment contracts from an initial 21 percent (and an effective 16.2 percent 
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over the life of the loan) down to 9.99 percent and included with each sale a repair 

warranty policy. 

28. Herbies funded the repair warranty program by charging a $1,650 fee on 

the cars it sold to credit customers and allocating the fees in a reserve fund. This $1,650 

was an amount that offset the interest savings customers realized by being charged 9.99 

percent instead of the previous 16.2 percent effective APR. 

29. Herbies required each credit customer to purchase the repair warranty 

and pay the $1,650; however, Herbies did not require cash customers to purchase the 

warranty and pay the $1,650. 

30. Herbies did not disclose the cost of the repair warranty as a finance charge 

in the Truth-in-Lending disclosures in the retail installment sales contracts entered into 

by credit consumers. 

31. Regulation Z implements TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and is intended, 

among other things, "to promote the informed use of consumer credit by requiring 

disclosures about its terms and cost." 12 C.F.R. § 1026.1. Regulation Z requires that the 

creditor provide consumers of closed-end credit, such as retail installment sales 

contracts, ·with clear and conspicuous written credit disclosures, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.17, 

including the finance charge and the APR. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d), (e). 

32. "The finance charge is the cost of consumer credit as a dollar amount. It 

includes any charge payable directly or indirectly by the consumer and imposed directly 

or indirectly by the creditor as an incident to or a condition of the extension of credit. It 

does not include any charge of a type payable in a comparable cash transaction." 12 

C.F.R. § 1026-4(a); see also 15 U.S.C. § 1605(a). 
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33· "The [APR] is a measure of the cost of credit, expressed as a yearly rate, 

that relates the amount and timing of value received by the consumer to the amount and 

timing of payments made." 12 C.F.R. § 1026.22; see also 15 U.S.C. 1606. 

34. By requiring that credit consumers purchase the repair warranty and 

imposing the cost of the repair warranty on credit consumers, but not cash consumers, 

Herbies imposed a finance charge. 

35· By not accounting for the cost of the repair warranty as a finance charge in 

the retail installment sales contracts, Herbies inaccurately disclosed to consumers the 

cost of credit, including understating the finance charges and the resulting APRs. 

36. Herbies' inaccurate finance charge and APR disclosures violated TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d), (e). 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Failure to Disclose 
the Cost of the Required GPS Payment Reminder Device 

37· Since October 2013, Herbies has installed a GPS payment reminder device 

in each car it added to its inventory. This device allows Herbies to audibly remind 

borrowers to make their payments, disengage the ignition when a borrower is 

delinquent, and, when needed, locate the vehicle for repossession. 

38. Herbies kept the GPS payment reminder device in each car it sold to credit 

consumers; however, Herbies removed GPS payment reminder devices from the cars it 

sold to consumers who engaged in cash transactions. 

39. Herbies required each credit consumer to purchase the GPS payment 

reminder device and pay $100 to cover the cost of the device; however, Herbies did not 

require cash consumers to purchase the device and pay the $100. 
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40. Herbies did not disclose the $100 cost ofthe GPS payment reminder 

device as a finance charge in the TILA disclosures in the retail installment sales 

contracts entered into by credit consumers. 

41. By requiring that credit consumers purchase the GPS payment reminder 

device and imposing the cost of the device on credit consumers, but not cash consumers, 

Herbies imposed a finance charge. 

42. By not accounting for the cost of the GPS payment reminder device as a 

finance charge in the retail installment sales contracts, Herbies inaccurately disclosed to 

consumers the cost of credit, including understating the finance charges and the 

resulting APRs. 

43. Herbies' inaccurate finance charge and APR disclosures violated TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.P.R.§ 1026.18(d), (e). 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Failure to Disclose the Discount 
Offered to Cash Customers through Negotiation as a Finance Charge 

44· From January 2012 through May 2014, Herbies added a markup-over 

$5,000 after refurbishing costs on average in 2014-to each of the cars it acquired for 

resale from auctions or other sources to determine a sales price. 

45· The policy or practice of negotiating with cash customers-but not with 

credit consumers-led to markups being greater (as a percentage of the value of the 

purchased cars) for credit consumers than cash consumers, resulting in cash consumer 

receiving effective discounts. These discounts to cash consumers-or, in other words, 

the inflated prices to credit consumers-on average amounted to as much as a thousand 

dollars or more per car. 
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46. Herbies did not accurately provide in TILA disclosures any portion of the 

higher markups paid by credit consumers relative to cash consumers as part of the 

finance charge. 

47. Under Regulation Z, a "finance charge" includes any discounts offered as 

an incentive to pay by a means other than credit. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.4(b)(9). 

48. By negotiating the price of cars with cash consumers but not with credit 

consumers and forcing credit consumers to pay a greater markup, Herbies buried the 

cost of credit in the price of goods sold, thus imposing a finance charge on credit 

consumers. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.4(a). 

49. Moreover, by allowing them to negotiate the price, cash customers were 

given an incentive to pay by a means other than credit. The discount that resulted from 

the negotiation is equivalent to the finance charge imposed on the credit customers. 

so. By not accounting for this hidden finance charge in the retail installment 

sales contracts, Herbies inaccurately disclosed to consumers the cost of credit, including 

understating the finance charges and the resulting APRs. 

51. Herbies' inaccurate finance charge and APR disclosures violated TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d), (e). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations and Omissions 
Regarding the Finance Charges Imposed on Consumers 

52. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibit "deceptive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

53. As stated above, Herbies failed to disclose the following charges as finance 

charges: the cost of the required repair warranty, the cost of the required payment 

reminder device, and the hidden finance charge associated with the discount received by 

cash customers through negotiation. 
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54· By failing to account for the finance charges, Herbies misrepresented the 

finance charges and the resulting APRs it was charging consumers in the retail 

installment sales contracts. 

55. Failure to disclose these charges as costs of credit was likely to mislead the 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances about the actual cost of credit 

Herbies was offering. 

56. . The misrepresentation of these finance charges was material because a 

consumer would want to know how much he or she was paying for credit as opposed to 

how much he or she was paying for the car. 

57· This misrepresentation was likely to the consumers' detriment because it 

was likely to mislead them into thinking they were paying less than they really were for 

financing, and it prevented them from being able to comparison-shop effectively. 

58. Herbies' misrepresentations and failure to disclose material information 

constitute "deceptive" acts or practices that violate sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Advertising an Inaccurate APR 

59· Herbies has a highly visible lot and office, upon which for some time from 

January 2012 through May 2014 was painted in yellow and pink the promotional 

phrases, "9.99% Financing" and "24 month 24,000 mile Warranty." 

60. When adding the costs of the repair warranty, the GPS payment reminder 

device, and higher markups, Herbies' credit consumers did not pay 9-99 percent APR. 

Instead, some consumers even paid APRs well beyond that 9-99 percent. And Herbies 

gained as much as thousands of dollars in hidden finance charges from each consumer. 
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61. "If an advertisement for credit states specific credit terms, it shall state 

only those terms that actually are or will be arranged or offered by the creditor." 

12 C.F.R. § 1026.24. 

62. By advertising a rate of 9.99 percent on its showroom windows while the 

actual APRs paid by consumers were more than 9·99 percent and often amounted to 

well beyond that 9.99 percent when the costs of the repair warranty, the GPS payment 

reminder device, and higher markups are added, Herbies' advertisement 

misrepresented the actual terms of its retail installment sales contracts. 

63. Herbies' misrepresentation violated TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and 

Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24. 

64. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "deceptive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

65. By advertising a rate of 9.99 percent on its showroom windows while the 

actual APR was more than 9.99 percent and often amounted to well beyond that 9.99 

percent when the costs of the repair warranty, the GPS payment reminder device, and 

the higher markups are added, Herbies' advertisement misrepresented the actual terms 

of its retail installment sales contracts. 

66. This advertisement was likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances into believing that the APR in the credit contracts they received 

was 9.99 percent; in fact, as described above, it was much higher. 

67. Herbies' misrepresentation associated with the APR was material because 

it was likely to affect consumers' choice of or conduct regarding the financing of a 

vehicle from Herbies. 
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68. This misrepresentation was likely to the consumers' detriment because 

they would conclude they were paying less than they really were for financing, and it 

prevented them from being able to comparison-shop effectively. 

69. Herbies' misrepresentation constitutes "deceptive" acts or practices that 

violate sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531; 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusion as to Herbies' Sales Tactics and 
Misrepresentations about Finance Charges 

70. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it "takes 

unreasonable advantage of ... the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of 

the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service .... " 

12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

71. During the time from January 2012 through May 2014, Herbies' 

consumers were unable to protect their interests in selecting and using the consumer 

financial products or services offered by Herbies. 

72. Herbies' consumers were unable to distinguish the cost of the cars from 

the cost of the credit for the cars that they were purchasing. No sticker prices were 

placed on the cars for sale on Herbies' lot. Herbies did not disclose the prices of the cars 

until after the consumers had been approved for credit and the consumers had indicated 

that they would like to move forward with the purchase and financing. 

73. Additionally, Herbies' consumers were unable to accurately assess the cost 

of credit for cars purchased from Herbies because Herbies misrepresented the APR 

charged to its credit consumers as 9.99 percent and failed to disclose the hidden finance 

charges for each transaction as part of the cost of credit, including the charge for the 
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repair warranty, the charge for the GPS payment reminder device, and the charge due to 

inflated purchase prices for credit transactions. Consumers were thus unable to 

negotiate or shop for better credit terms. Further, Herbies refused to negotiate terms 

with credit customers. 

74. Herbies attracted credit sales by advertising and promoting an 

inaccurately low APR of 9.99 percent, while the actual APR for consumers was more 

than 9.99 percent and often amounted to well beyond that 9.99 percent when the costs 

of the repair warranty, the GPS reminder device, and the higher markups are added. 

And Herbies gained as much as thousands of dollars in hidden finance charges from 

each consumer. 

75. Herbies took unreasonable advantage of the inability of consumers to 

protect their interests for its own financial benefit. Herbies advertised an inaccurately 

low APR, failed to post sticker prices or otherwise reveal the asking prices of cars offered 

to consumers until after consumers indicated that they would purchase a car, failed to 

disclose complete and accurate credit terms when providing them a periodic payment 

figure and before offering them a car, and failed to disclose accurate finance charges and 

APRs (due to not including the charge for the repair warranty, the charge for the GPS 

payment reminder device, and the charge due to inflated purchase prices for credit 

transactions). Those actions left consumers unable to protect their interests in selecting 

or using the credit transactions with Herbies, and Herbies exploited the situation for its 

own gam. 

76. Herbies thus engaged in abusive practices in violation of CFPA sections 

1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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ORDER 
VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

77. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., or its implementing 

regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 1026, and sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or financing of any 

motor vehicle, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 

misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, the interest rate, 

finance charge, amount financed, other credits terms of the 

sales, or any other fact material to consumers concerning the 

financing of any motor vehicle; 

b. In connection with its providing a retail installment sales 

contract to a consumer, Respondent and its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 

this Consent Order, shall provide consumers accurate 

disclosures of credit terms, including finance charges and APRs; 

c. In connection with offering or providing consumers credit for 

the purchase of an automobile, Respondent and its officers, 

agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual 
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notice of this Consent Order, shall clearly and prominently post 

a purchase price on all automobiles available for sale; 

d. In addition to the requirements of Regulation Z, and in 

connection with offering or providing consumers credit for the 

purchase of an automobile, Respondent and its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys who receive actual notice of 

this Consent Order, shall disclose to the consumer in writing 

and obtain the consumer's signed acknowledgment of receiving 

the disclosure the following information that would apply in the 

event that the consumer financed the purchase of the 

automobile at the terms offered by the Respondent-prior or 

simultaneous to Respondent's offering a specific automobile to 

the consumer or in any way soliciting a commitment from the 

consumer to purchase from the Respondent: 

1. The identity of the automobile by make, model, year, and 

vehicle identification numbers; 

n . The duration of the purchase financing contract; 

m. The timing, number, and dollar amount of periodic 

payments; 

1v. The total number of payments that the consumer would 

need to make in order to acquire full ownership of the 

automobile; 

v. The automobile purchase price if Respondent offers to 

finance the purchase for the consumer; 

VI. The finance charge if Respondent offers to finance the 

purchase for the consumer; 

VII. An itemization of any additional products to be included 

in the financing transaction including: warranties; 
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payment reminder products (i.e., GPS devices); insurance 

products; vehicle enhancements; other automobile 

products; or memberships; and 

vm. The APR if Respondent offers to finance the purchase for 

the consumer (including amounts for any additional 

products that are not optional); and 

e. As Respondent complies with the Order to Pay Redress and 

other provisions of this Consent Order, Respondent shall update 

or correct any information furnished to any consumer reporting 

agency about the installment contract that is or becomes 

inaccurate. 

VII 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's offering or providing consumers 

credit for the purchase of, an automobile complies with all applicable Federal consumer 
> 

financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance 

Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this 

Consent Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the 

steps described above. 

77. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent 
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to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the 

Compliance Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

78. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made 

a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the .. 
Bureau and against Respondent, in the amount of $700,000 dollars. 

80. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to 

the Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written 

plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 15 days. After receiving notification that the 

Enforcement Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

81. The Redress Plan must provide a calculation of the amount of 

redress to be paid to each Affected Consumer on a pro rata basis. 
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82. Under the Redress Plan, Respondent must issue redress as follows: 

a. For any Affected Consumer with an outstanding balance on a retail 

installment sales contract held by Respondent, Respondent must issue a 

one-time credit or credits over a period of time not to exceed three years 

from the Effective Date, send a redress check made payable to the 

consumer and mailed to the consumer's address as currently in the 

Respondent's books and records, or employ a combination of issuing a 

credit(s) and sending a check; and 

b. For any Affected Consumer with no outstanding balance on a retail 

installment sales contract held by Respondent, Respondent must send a 

redress check made payable to the consumer and mailed to the consumer's 

last-known address as set forth in the Respondent's books and records. 

83. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers is less than $7oo,ooo, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's 

wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers and $700,000. 

84. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional 

redress to Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, 

that additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Section. 

20 

2016-CFPB-0001     Document 1     Filed 01/21/2016     Page 20 of 30



85. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any 

Affected Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

86. Under section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of 

the violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $1oo,ooo to the Bureau, provided, however, that in consideration of 

Respondent's demonstrated inability to pay the penalty, full payment of this 

penalty shall be suspended upon satisfaction of the Respondent's obligations set 

forth in Section VIII (Order to Pay Redress). 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

87. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make 

payment under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

88. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the 

funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be 

returned to Respondent. 
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89. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

90. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the 

Enforcement Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers 

or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

91. Under section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 

1681 b(a)( 1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report 

concerning any Respondent to the Bureau, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

92. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may 

affect compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 
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must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

93. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, 

and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may 

use to communicate with Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority 

owner, or that Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all 

of their names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, 

and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the 

products and services offered, and the means of advertising, 

marketing, and sales. 

94. Respondent must report any change in the information required to 

be submitted under Paragraph 96 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

95. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the 

Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied vvith this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

96. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a 

copy of this Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, 

as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

97. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy 

of this Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in 

structure referred to in Section XI (Reporting Requirements), any future board 

members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service 

Providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

98. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement 

acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any 

electronic signatures comply with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this 

Consent Order under this Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

99. Respondent must create, or if already created, tnust retain for at 

least 5 years from the Effective Date, the follm·ving business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all 

submissions to the Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Respondent's efforts to 

implement the Redress Plan, described in Section VIII (Order to 

Pay Redress) above. 

c. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; 

websites; and other marketing materials; and including any such 

materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent. 

100. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 99 

for the duration of the consent order. 

101. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 99 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

102. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent 

must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents 

relating to this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Y King S 

Corp d/b/a Herbies Auto Sales, File No. 2016-CFPB- ," and send them 

either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 
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b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.goy: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

103. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the 

identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Consumer. Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' 

possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance 

with this Consent Order: 

104. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Respondent must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 

testimony; or produce documents. 

105. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 
26 
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106. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of 

civil investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory 

process. 

107. For the duration of the Order in whole or in part, Respondent 

agrees to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. 

Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for 

termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

108. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements 

of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement 

Director. 

109. The Enforcement Director may exercise the discretion to modify 

any non-material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g ., reasonable extensions 

of time and changes to reporting requirements) if the Enforcement Director 

determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such modification by the 

Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

110. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise 

prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other 

action against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 111. 
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111. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential 

liability for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on 

the practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as 

of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 

including, ·without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

112. All pending motions are hereby denied as moot. 

113. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a 

final Consent Order issued under section 1053 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S. C.§ 5563, and 

expressly does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding 

the Bureau or the United States. 

114. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date 

or 5 years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging 

any violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed 

or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action 

had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 
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have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 

or its designated agent. 

115. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

116. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its 

operations that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a 

condition of sale, obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to 

comply with all applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

117. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the 

Bureau. For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the 

maximum amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to 

enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 

Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not 

contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

118. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the 

complete agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 
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119. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation 

may be construed as allo\'\ring the Respondent, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 1._( th day of January, 2016. 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues Ocwen for Failing Borrowers Throughout Mortgage Servicing Process

Mortgage Servicer’s Widespread Errors, Shortcuts, and Runarounds Cost
Borrowers Money, Homes

APR 20, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today sued one of
the country’s largest nonbank mortgage loan servicers, Ocwen Financial Corporation, and
its subsidiaries for failing borrowers at every stage of the mortgage servicing process. The
Bureau alleges that Ocwen’s years of widespread errors, shortcuts, and runarounds cost
some borrowers money and others their homes. Ocwen allegedly botched basic functions
like sending accurate monthly statements, properly crediting payments, and handling taxes
and insurance. Allegedly, Ocwen also illegally foreclosed on struggling borrowers, ignored
customer complaints, and sold off the servicing rights to loans without fully disclosing the
mistakes it made in borrowers’ records. The Florida Attorney General took a similar action
against Ocwen today in a separate lawsuit. Many state financial regulators are also
independently issuing cease-and-desist and license revocation orders against Ocwen for
escrow management and licensing issues today.

"Ocwen has repeatedly made mistakes and taken shortcuts at every stage of the mortgage
servicing process, costing some consumers money and others their homes," said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. "Borrowers have no say over who services their mortgage, so the
Bureau will remain vigilant to ensure they get fair treatment."

Ocwen, headquartered in West Palm Beach, Fla., is one of the nation’s largest nonbank
mortgage servicers. As of Dec. 31, 2016, Ocwen serviced almost 1.4 million loans with an
aggregate unpaid principal balance of $209 billion. It services loans for borrowers in all 50
states and the District of Columbia. A mortgage servicer collects payments from the
mortgage borrower and forwards those payments to the owner of the loan. It handles
customer service, collections, loan modifications, and foreclosures. Ocwen specializes in
servicing subprime or delinquent loans.

The CFPB uncovered substantial evidence that Ocwen has engaged in significant and
systemic misconduct at nearly every stage of the mortgage servicing process. The CFPB is
charged with enforcing the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,
which protects consumers from unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, and other
federal consumer financial laws. In addition, the Bureau adopted common-sense rules for
the mortgage servicing market that first took effect in January 2014. The CFPB’s mortgage
servicing rules require that servicers promptly credit payments and correct errors on
request. The rules also include strong protections for struggling homeowners, including
those facing foreclosure. In its lawsuit, the CFPB alleges that Ocwen:

Serviced loans using error-riddled information: Ocwen uses a proprietary system
called REALServicing to process and apply borrower payments, communicate payment
information to borrowers, and maintain loan balance information. Ocwen allegedly
loaded inaccurate and incomplete information into its REALServicing system. And even
when data was accurate, REALServicing generated errors because of system failures
and deficient programming. To manage this risk, Ocwen tried manual workarounds,
but they often failed to correct inaccuracies and produced still more errors. Ocwen
then used this faulty information to service borrowers’ loans. In 2014, Ocwen’s head of
servicing described its system as “ridiculous” and a “train wreck.” 

 Illegally foreclosed on homeowners: Ocwen has long touted its ability to service and
modify loans for troubled borrowers. But allegedly, Ocwen has failed to deliver
required foreclosure protections. As a result, the Bureau alleges that Ocwen has
wrongfully initiated foreclosure proceedings on at least 1,000 people, and has
wrongfully held foreclosure sales. Among other illegal practices, Ocwen has initiated

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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the foreclosure process before completing a review of borrowers’ loss mitigation
applications. In other instances, Ocwen has asked borrowers to submit additional
information within 30 days, but foreclosed on the borrowers before the deadline.
Ocwen has also foreclosed on borrowers who were fulfilling their obligations under a
loss mitigation agreement. 

Failed to credit borrowers’ payments: Ocwen has allegedly failed to appropriately
credit payments made by numerous borrowers. Ocwen has also failed to send
borrowers accurate periodic statements detailing the amount due, how payments were
applied, total payments received, and other information. Ocwen has also failed to
correct billing and payment errors. 

Botched escrow accounts: Ocwen manages escrow accounts for over 75 percent of the
loans it services. Ocwen has allegedly botched basic tasks in managing these borrower
accounts. Because of system breakdowns and an over-reliance on manually entering
information, Ocwen has allegedly failed to conduct escrow analyses and sent some
borrowers’ escrow statements late or not at all. Ocwen also allegedly failed to properly
account for and apply payments by borrowers to address escrow shortages, such as
changes in the account when property taxes go up. One result of this failure has been
that some borrowers have paid inaccurate amounts. 

Mishandled hazard insurance: If a servicer administers an escrow account for a
borrower, a servicer must make timely insurance and/or tax payments on behalf of the
borrower. Ocwen, however, has allegedly failed to make timely insurance payments to
pay for borrowers’ home insurance premiums. Ocwen’s failures led to the lapse of
homeowners’ insurance coverage for more than 10,000 borrowers. Some borrowers
were pushed into force-placed insurance. 

Bungled borrowers’ private mortgage insurance: Ocwen allegedly failed to cancel
borrowers’ private mortgage insurance, or PMI, in a timely way, causing consumers to
overpay. Generally, borrowers must purchase PMI when they obtain a mortgage with a
down payment of less than 20 percent, or when they refinance their mortgage with less
than 20 percent equity in their property. Servicers must end a borrower’s requirement
to pay PMI when the principal balance of the mortgage reaches 78 percent of the
property’s original value. Since 2014, Ocwen has failed to end borrowers’ PMI on time
after learning information in its REALServicing system was unreliable or missing
altogether. Ocwen ultimately overcharged borrowers about $1.2 million for PMI
premiums, and refunded this money only after the fact. 

Deceptively signed up and charged borrowers for add-on products: When servicing
borrowers’ mortgage loans, Ocwen allegedly enrolled some consumers in add-on
products through deceptive solicitations and without their consent. Ocwen then billed
and collected payments from these consumers. 

Failed to assist heirs seeking foreclosure alternatives: Ocwen allegedly mishandled
accounts for successors-in-interest, or heirs, to a deceased borrower. These consumers
included widows, children, and other relatives. As a result, Ocwen failed to properly
recognize individuals as heirs, and thereby denied assistance to help avoid foreclosure.
In some instances, Ocwen foreclosed on individuals who may have been eligible to
save these homes through a loan modification or other loss mitigation option. 

 Failed to adequately investigate and respond to borrower complaints: If an error is
made in the servicing of a mortgage loan, a servicer must generally either correct the
error identified by the borrower, called a notice of error, or investigate the alleged
error. Since 2014, Ocwen has allegedly routinely failed to properly acknowledge and
investigate complaints, or make necessary corrections. Ocwen changed its policy in
April 2015 to address the difficulty its call center had in recognizing and escalating
complaints, but these changes fell short. Under its new policy, borrowers still have to
complain at least five times in nine days before Ocwen automatically escalates their
complaint to be resolved. Since April 2015, Ocwen has received more than 580,000
notices of error and complaints from more than 300,000 different borrowers. 

 Failed to provide complete and accurate loan information to new servicers: Ocwen
has allegedly failed to include complete and accurate borrower information when it
sold its rights to service thousands of loans to new mortgage servicers. This has
hampered the new servicers’ efforts to comply with laws and investor guidelines. 
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The Bureau also alleges that Ocwen has failed to remediate borrowers for the harm it has
caused, including the problems it has created for struggling borrowers who were in default
on their loans or who had filed for bankruptcy. For these groups of borrowers, Ocwen’s
servicing errors have been particularly costly.

Through its complaint, filed in federal district court for the Southern District of Florida, the
CFPB seeks a court order requiring Ocwen to follow mortgage servicing law, provide relief
for consumers, and pay penalties. The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the
defendants have actually violated the law.

The lawsuit is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

Jn the Matter of: 

SOLOMON & SOLOMON, P.C. 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Solomon & Solomon, P.C. (Respondent), under , 

12 U.S. C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its alterations of Declarations filed with courts in 

connection with collecting or attempting to collect Debts in violation of section 807 of 

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010's (CFPA) prohibition on violations of federal consumer 

financial laws, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A), and unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 
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In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections lOS3 and lOSS of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ SS63, SS6s. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § s563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be fully 

enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ ss63(d)(1) and 5565. 

4· Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

S· The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the 

Bureau, about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may 

arise from the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 

2 

2016-CFPB-0005     Document 2     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 2 of 4



6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order 

will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 

in any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its 

rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order 'Will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5563, or 12 CFR Part 1081; 
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d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

offact, or conclusion oflaw to be entered in connection ·with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

1\ tJ~ 
SOLOMON-tit SOLOMON, P.C. BY: 

ValerieN. Solomon 
,At\\Jb 

Shareholder, President, and CEO, Solomon-& Solomon, P.C. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

CITIBANK, N .A. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau") has reviewed the 

practices of Citibank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below) relating to the sale of 

charged-off consumer debts to debt buyers, and has identified the following law 

violations: Respondent provided substantial assistance to covered persons engaged in 

deceptive acts or practices by overstating the annual percentage rate (APR) for accounts 

in Sales Files (as defined below) it provided to debt buyers. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices by (1) overstating the APR for accounts 

in Sales Files; (2) failing to identify and remit to debt buyers post-sale payments made 

by Consumers to Respondent; and (3) delaying sending to debt buyers post-sale 

payments made by consumers to Respondent. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
' 

Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

1 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the 

issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

The follo"'ring definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

3. "Account" means an extension of credit to a Consumer primarily for personal, 

family or household purposes, and established or maintained for a Consumer 

pursuant to a credit card program. 

4 · "Affected Consumer" means: 

a. any Consumer who made a payment or established a payment plan in 

connection with Debt Respondent sold to a Debt Buyer where: (1) a Debt 

Buyer engaged in collection efforts using the incorrect APR provided by 
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Respondent during the Relevant Time Period; and (2) the APR 

discrepancy was greater than 1%; or 

b. Any Consumer who made an overpayment after Respondent failed to 

timely identify and remit payments made on sold accounts. 

s. "Board" means the duly elected and acting Board of Directors of Citibank, N.A. 

6. "Charged-off' refers to Accounts treated by Respondent as a loss or expense 

because Respondent has determined that, under the Federal Financial 

Institutions Examination Council's Final Notice of Uniform Retail Credit 

Classification and Account Management Policy, 65 Fed. Reg. 36903 (June 12, 

2000), or other relevant guidelines, repayment of the Debt is unlikely. 

7· "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 

any Debt. 

8. "Debt" means, coterminous with the meaning of "debt" as defined in the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), any obligation or alleged 

obligation of a Consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the 

money, property, insurance or services which are the subject of the transaction 

are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, whether or not such 

obligation has been reduced to judgment. 

9. "Debt Buyer" means an entity that purchases or purchased from Respondent a 

portfolio consisting primarily of Accounts with Charged-off Debts through a 

Debt Sale. 

10. "Debt Sale" means a sale by Respondent of a portfolio of Accounts with 

Charged-off Debts through an individual bulk sale or contractual forward-flow 

agreement. 
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11. "Effective Credit Agreement" means the written document or documents 

evidencing the terms of the legal obligation between Respondent and the 

Consumer at the time the Account was Charged-off. 

12. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

13. "Portfolio" means a collection of Debt sold by Respondent to a Debt Buyer in a 

single transaction. 

14. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau or his/her delegate. 

15. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another government agency 

brought against the Respondent based on substantially the same facts as set 

forth in Section IV. 

16. "Relevant Time Period" includes the period from February 1, 2010 to November 

14, 2013. 

17. "Respondent" means, Citibank, N.A. and its successors and assigns. 

18. "Sales File" means an electronic file spreadsheet Respondent provided to Debt 

Buyers at the time of a Debt Sale that includes information about individual 

Consumer Accounts, including the purportedly applicable APR. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

19. Citibank, N.A. (Citibank) is a national bank with approximately $1.337 trillion 

in total assets as of September 30, 2015. 
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20. Citibank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion 

within the meaning of12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

21. Citibank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

22. Citibank is a credit card issuer. Citibank sells annually more than one million 

charged-off credit card accounts issued under its own name (Branded Cards) or 

issued in the names of its retail partners (Retail Cards). 

Overstated APR for Accounts Sold to Debt Buyers 

23. When Respondent sold portfolios of Charged-off credit card Accounts, it 

typically provided Debt Buyers an electronic Sales File that included 

information about the Consumer (e.g., name, address, and social security 

number) and about the debt, including the amount of the debt and the 

purportedly applicable APR. 

24. When Respondent sold Branded Card Accounts, it provided Debt Buyers with 

Sales Files containing information regarding the purportedly applicable APR for 

these Accounts. 

25. Between February 2010 and June 2013, Respondent overstated the APR for 

approximately 128,809 Accounts they sold to approximately 16 different Debt 

Buyers. The APR in the Sales Files was higher than the rate listed on the 

Account holder's statement or the Effective Credit Agreement for some or all of 

the Account balance. For a limited number of Accounts, Respondent 

represented that that the applicable APR was 29% when it was actually o%. 

26. Respondent did not check the Account-level APR information contained in 

Sales Files to ensure it was consistent with the APR information contained in 

the Account-level documentation. 
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27. At the time of sale, Respondent did not provide Debt Buyers with Account-level 

documentation, such as account agreements or statements, that would have 

enabled the Debt Buyer to verify the APR information contained in 

Respondent's Sales Files, unless the Debt Buyers requested this documentation. 

28. Respondent's Debt Sales contracts typically included a provision limiting the 

amount of documents a Debt Buyer could request post-sale without incurring a 

$10 per document charge. 

29. Between February 2010 and November 14, 2013, Debt Buyers that applied an 

incorrect APR provided by Respondent where the discrepancy was greater than 

1% in their collection efforts obtained or entered into payment plans pursuant to 

which they subsequently obtained $4.89 million in payments from 

approximately 2,100 Consumers. 

Failure to Identify and Timely Remit Payments to Debt Buyers 

30. Respondent sometimes received payments from Consumers on Accounts that 

Respondent previously sold to Debt Buyers. For Retail Card accounts, 

Respondent used a manual process to forward such payments made by 

Consumers. 

31. From 2010 to 2012, Respondent failed to identify and timely remit to Debt 

Buyers over 9,500 payments totaling $701,000 made by Consumers to 

Respondent relating to accounts Respondent sold. 

32. In numerous instances Respondent did not forward Consumers' 2012 payments 

until July 2013 and Consumers' 2010-11 payments until April 2014, which 

prevented Debt Buyers from updating account balances. 
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33. Prior to August 2013, Respondent did not have a policy requiring notification of 

Consumers when it sold their accounts. Consumers had no control over 

Respondent's processes for identifying and tracking payments on Accounts sold 

to Debt Buyers. 

34· Between 2012 and 2013, Respondent failed to timely remit payments by 

Consumers on Retail Card accounts that had been sold to Debt Buyers. In some 

instances the delay was over 365 days. 

35· In 2012, Respondent delayed for at least 91 days forwarding 4,012 payments 

totaling $224,699 to Debt Buyers, which prevented Debt Buyers from timely 

updating Account balances. 

36. In 2013, Respondent delayed for at least 91 days forwarding 486 payments 

totaling $66,197 to Debt Buyers, which prevented Debt Buyers from timely 

updating Account balances. 

37. As a result of Respondent's failure to identify and timely remit payments, Debt 

Buyers likely made misstatements to Consumers about the amount owed on the 

Consumer's Accounts, Consumers likely were subjected to collection efforts by 

Debt Buyers when they had already paid off their account, and Debt Buyers may 

also have furnished inaccurate information to consumer reporting agencies. 

Violations of the CFPA 

38. Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §5536(a)(3), makes it unlavvful for 

"any person to knowingly or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a 

covered person or service provider" engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 

practices. Under this Section, "the provider of such substantial assistance shall 
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be deemed to be in violation of [Section 1031] to the same extent as the person 

to whom such assistance is provided." 

39. The Debt Buyers described in Paragraphs 23- 29 are "covered persons" engaged 

"in offering or providing a consumer financial product or service" because they 

collected debt related to a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

40. Debt Buyers who, in their collection efforts, cited to Consumers the inaccurate 

APR information Respondent provided in Sales Files made material 

misrepresentations to Consumers about the amount actually owed on the 

Consumers' accounts or the rate at which interest was accruing. Therefore, 

these Debt Buyers engaged in deceptive practices in violation of Sections 1031 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

41. Respondent provided substantial assistance to these Debt Buyers' deceptive acts 

or practices by including inaccurate APR data in Sales Files it provided to the 

Debt Buyers and warranting in many instances that the information in Sales 

Files was materially true and correct. 

42. Respondent's inclusion of inaccurate APR data in its Sales Files was reckless. 

43· Therefore, Respondent violated Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(3). 

44· Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1)(B) prohibit a covered person from engaging in "any unfair, deceptive 

or abusive act or practice." 

45· Respondent's inclusion of inaccurate APR information in its Sales Files caused 

or was likely to cause substantial injury to Consumers. Consumers negotiated 
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settlements with Debt Buyers based on inaccurate information about the 

amount owed on their Accounts and the applicable APR or paid more than 

actually owed as a result of the inaccurate APR. 

46. The injury was not reasonably avoidable by Consumers or outweighed by any 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

47. Therefore, Respondent's conduct constituted an unfair act or practice in 

violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

48. Respondent's failure to identify and timely remit payments made by Consumers 

on Accounts sold to Debt Buyers caused or was likely to cause substantial injury 

to Consumers by precluding Debt Buyers from timely updating Consumers' 

Account balances. Consumers likely made payments based on Debt Buyers' 

misstatements about the amount owed on their Accounts, and were likely 

subjected to inaccurate credit reporting and to collection effmts by Debt Buyers 

when the Consumers had already paid off their Accounts. 

49. These injuries were not reasonably avoidable by Consumers or outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

so. Therefore, Respondent's failure to identify and timely remit payments from 

Consumers on sold accounts constituted an unfair act or practice in violation of 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

v 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

51. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 
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may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its 

Service Providers, Affiliates, and other agents do not violate Sections 1031 and 

1036 ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 in connection with Debt Sales. 

52. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent will enhance its processes, 

systems, and controls to: 

a. Ensure Respondent provides accurate documentation and information to 

Debt Buyers and Consumers in connection with Debt Sales, including by, 

at a minimum, adopting policies requiring Respondent to provide to Debt 

Buyers the information and documentation set forth in Paragraph 53( a) -

53( e); 

b. Prevent Respondent from selling Accounts that, as of the date of sale, 

possess any of the characteristics set forth in Paragraph 54( a)- 54( d) ; 

c. Require Respondent to adopt and use a contract for Debt Sales that 

includes the provisions set forth in Paragraph 56(a)- 56( c); 

d. Require Respondent to make available to a Consumer whose Account has 

been sold in connection with a Debt Sale, upon request and at no cost to 

the Consumer, the information and documentation set forth in Paragraph 

57(a)- 57( d); 

e. Ensure Respondent timely identifies and forwards payments from 

Consumers for sold Accounts; and 

f. Assure that appropriate employees and service providers are trained with 

respect to the referenced processes, systems, and controls. 
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g. Respondent must prepare a written report documenting the referenced 

processes, systems, and controls and provide a copy of the written report 

to the Regional Director. 

53. For Debt Sales entered into after the Effective Date, Respondent must provide 

the Debt Buyer with at least the following information and documentation for 

each Account sold: 

a. The Effective Credit Agreement; 

b. If the Consumer, within twelve (12) months prior to the Debt Sale and 

while Respondent was the creditor on the Account, has disputed the 

amount of a Debt Respondent claimed to be owed in a monthly Account 

statement, a record of any such dispute and the result of Respondent's 

investigation of the dispute. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this 

requirement shall begin to apply to Debt Sales thirty days after the 

Effective Date. 

c. Records of the last twelve (12) monthly Account statements (including 

any charge-off statement); if the Account was open for less than twelve 

(12) months, Respondent must make available records of all Account 

statements; 

d. The name and address of the original creditor, such that the Debt Buyer 

may comply with any obligation of the Debt Buyer to provide "the name 

and address of the original creditor" under the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) and (b); and 
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e. If the Account is subject to a judgment, an itemization of the judgment 

amount as awarded, including the amounts awarded by the court for costs, 

attorney's fees, interest, and any other fee. 

54. After the Effective Date, Respondent must not sell Accounts that, as of the date 

of sale, possess any of the following characteristics: 

a. Respondent is unable to provide the documentation set forth in Paragraph 

53(a)- 53( e) ofthis Consent Order; 

b. Is within 150 days of the expiration of any applicable statute of 

limitations; 

c. The Consumer has notified Respondent in writing of identity theft or 

unauthorized use and Respondent has not determined, after reasonable 

review, that the Consumer owes the Debt; or 

d. The Consumer has alleged in writing that he or she does not owe the 

amount claimed by Respondent, and Respondent has not determined, 

after a reasonable review, that the Consumer owes the entire amount 

Respondent will be selling, and has not provided a written response to, 

either directly to the Consumer or to a consumer reporting agency, as 

appropriate. 

55. If Respondent determines that it has sold an Account in violation of the above 

provisions, Respondent must make a reasonable effort to repurchase the 

Account and take reasonable steps to require the Debt Buyer to which it sold the 

Account to inform Respondent about any amounts paid on the Debt since the 

date of sale, so that Respondent may reconcile the Account balance upon 

repurchase. 
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s6. All Debt Sale contracts and agreements Respondent enters into after the 

Effective Date must: 

a. Prohibit the Debt Buyer from collecting post-sale interest on any Account 

in the Debt Sale, unless authorized by court; 

b. Prohibit the Debt Buyer from reselling any Account included in the Debt 

Sale, except to the extent Respondent is repurchasing an Account; and 

c. Require the Debt Buyer to provide to Consumers the name of the original 

creditor in the written notice required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). 

57· For Debt Sales entered into after the Effective Date, Respondent must make 

available to a Consumer, upon request and at no cost to the Consumer, at a 

mmtmum: 

a. The Effective Credit Agreement; 

b. If the Account is subject to a judgment, an itemization of the judgment 

amount as awarded, including the amounts awarded by the court for costs, 

attorney's fees, interest, and any other fee; 

c. Copies of the last n-velve (12) monthly Account statements prior to the 

Debt Sale; if, at the time of the Debt Sale, the Account was open for less 

than n-velve (12) months, Respondent must make available all Account 

statements; and 

d. The name and address of the original creditor, as that term is used in the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. 

s8. If, after Respondent sells the Consumer's Account, a Consumer disputes 

information that Respondent has furnished to a consumer reporting agency, 

13 

2016-CFPB-0003     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 13 of 29



Respondent must comply with the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2 

and Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. Parts 1022-40-1022-43. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's sale of Charged-off 

Consumer Debts to Debt Buyers complies with all applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The 

Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

60. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

61. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in 

the Compliance Plan. 

14 

2016-CFPB-0003     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 14 of 29



VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. The Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

63. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

64. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a 

relevant Committee thereof, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 
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VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $4.89 million, which represents the approximate 

amount of consumer injury caused by the practices described in Section IV, for 

the purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this 

Section. 

66. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Regional Director ·within 15 days. After receiving notification that the Regional 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the 

Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

67. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes for providing redress covering all Affected Consumers: 

c. Include a description of the following: 

1. Methods used to compile a list of potential Affected Consumers; 
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n. Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer; 

m. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

IV. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

68. The Redress Plan must, at a minimum, require Respondent to; (a) refund each 

Affected Consumer the sum of all payments made during the Relevant Time 

Period to Debt Buyers engaged in collection efforts using an incorrect APR 

provided by Respondent where the discrepancy was greater than 1% and 

(b) refund each Affected Consumer any overpayment resulting from 

Respondent's failure to timely identify and remit payments made on sold 

accounts, less any amount of refunds Respondent provided to the Affected 

Consumers prior to the Effective Date (Restitution Amount). Respondent will 

not increase, or cause to be increased, any Affected Consumer's balance on the 

relevant Account as a result of this refund. 

69. The Redress Plan must describe the process for providing restitution for 

Affected Consumers, and must include the following requirements: 

a. Respondent must mail a certified or Bank check to any Affected Consumer 

along v.rith a Restitution Notification Letter; 

b. Respondent must send the certified or bank check by United States Postal 

Service first-class mail, address correction service requested, to the 

Affected Consumer's last known address as maintained by the 

Respondent's records; 
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c. Respondent must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address 

for any Affected Consumer whose Restitution Notification Letter and/or 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using the National Change of 

Address System, and must promptly re-mail all returned letters and/or 

restitution checks to current addresses, if any; and 

d. Processes for handling any unclaimed funds. 

70. With respect to redress paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan must 

include: 

a. The form of the letter(" Notification Letter") to be sent notifying Affected 

Consumers of the redress; and 

b. The form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. 

The letter must include language explaining the manner in which the 

amount of redress was calculated; and a statement that the provision of 

the refund payment is in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order. 

c. Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters and 

redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained written confirmation 

from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of such additional materials. 

71. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must submit 

a Redress Plan Report to the Regional Director, which must include 

Respondent's Internal Audit department's review and assessment of 

Respondent's compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, including: 
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a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers; 

b. The Restitution Amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. The amount, status, and planned disposition of all unclaimed redress 

payments; and 

f. The work of independent consultants that Respondent has used, if any, to 

assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

72. If Respondent claims to have made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of 

this Consent Order that complies with the requirements of this Consent Order, 

Respondent must provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional 

Director. 

73. Respondent must provide all relief to consumers required by this Consent 

Order, regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount 

reserved or deposited into a segregated account under this Section. 

74· After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $4.89 million, within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan Report, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to 

the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's "'iring 

instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers and $4.89 million. 

75. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to 

Affected Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 
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inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

remaining funds ·will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Paragraph. 

76. Respondent must not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that person's agreement to any 

condition, such as the waiver of any right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Under Section toss( c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c), by reason of the 

violations of law alleged in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors 

set forth in 12 U.S.C. § ss6s(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty 

of $3 million to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

78. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

79. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order Vlrill be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. § 5497(d). 

8o. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent must not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty that Respondent pays under this 

Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

81. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action, because of the civil money 

penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 

days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, 

and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

82. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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83. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

84. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent , unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

85. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

86. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 
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87. Within 90 days of the Effective Date and every 90 days thereafter until redress 

is completed under Section VII of this Consent Order, Respondent must submit 

to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance progress report 

(Compliance Report), which has been approved by the Board or a relevant 

Committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Consent Order acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XII of this Consent Order, unless previously submitted to the 

Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and each executive officer, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Order. 

89. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure as 

set forth in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 
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90. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of 

a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days 

of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII 

Record Keeping 

IT IS FUR1HER ORDERED that: 

91. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance v.rith 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; and 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, as set forth 

in Section VIII above. 

92. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 91 for at least 5 

years. 

93. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 91 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 
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XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

94. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Citibank, N.A. , File No. 

2016-CFPB- , " and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017; or 

b. By first-class mail to the address in Paragraph 94(a) and 

contemporaneously by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov and 

any other email address as directed in writing by the Bureau. 

XV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance ·with 

this Consent Order, including any failure to transfer any assets as required by this 

Consent Order: 

95. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance repmts or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 
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96. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these 

communications. 

97· Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

98. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6, or other compulsory process. 

XVI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

99. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

100. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions oftime and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing. 

XVII 

Administrative Provisions 

101. Except as set forth in the following paragraph, the provisions of this Consent 

Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or any other 

governmental agency from taking any other action against Respondent. 
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102. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or 

the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 

of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau 

to determine and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any 

violations of the Order. 

103. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

104. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision 

of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or 

upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action 

had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable 

until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order 

27 

2016-CFPB-0003     Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 27 of 29



have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau 

or its designated agent. 

105. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

106. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

107. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ ss6s(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's 

personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

108. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

109. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 
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so ORDERED this t.S.l day of February, 2016. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-

In the Matter of: 

CITIBANK, N.A., DEPARTMENT 
STORES NATIONAL BANK, and 
CITIFINANCIAL SERVICING, LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collection practices of Citibank, N.A. (Bank), Department Stores National Bank (DSNB), 

and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC (CitiFinancial Servicing) (collectively, Respondent) and 

has identified the following law violations: Respondent, through its attorneys, filed 

Declarations in Collections Litigation in the New Jersey courts. Respondent's attorneys 

altered certain Declarations after they had been executed by altering either the date of 

execution, the balance allegedly owed on the Debt, or both. The altered Declarations 

constituted false representations concerning, among other things, the amount of the 

Debt allegedly owed and the legal status of the Debt. These false representations 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in connection with collecting Debt related to a 

consumer financial product or service in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 u.s.c. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

II 

Stipulations 

2. Respondent has executed a separate "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order" for the Bank, DSNB, and CitiFinancial Servicing dated 

February 16, 2016 (Stipulations), which are incorporated by reference and are 

accepted by the Bureau. By these Stipulations, Respondent has consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of 

the findings offact or conclusions oflaw; except that Respondent admits the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the 

subject matter of this action. 

Ill 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Account" means an extension of credit to a Consumer in the United States, 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, and established or 

maintained for a Consumer pursuant to a credit card program. 

b. "Affected Consumers" are Consumers who were defendants in Collections 

Litigation filed by Respondent identified in an order dated June 10, 2014, 

entered by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division- Mercer County) 

2 

2016-CFPB-0004    Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 2 of 21



in In reApplication by Citibank, N.A., Department Stores National Bank, 

and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take Curative Action in Certain 

Pending Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection Actions, Docket No.: L-355-

14. 

c. "Affiant" means any signatory to a Declaration, other than one signing solely 

as a notary or witness to the act of signing, signing in his or her capacity as an 

employee or agent of Respondent. 

d. "Bank" means Citibank, N.A., and its predecessors, successors, and assigns. 

e. "Board" means the Bank's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

f. "Collections Litigation" means attempts by Respondent (or a third party 

acting on its behalf for an Account owned by Respondent) through judicial 

processes in the United States of America, to collect or establish a Consumer's 

liability for a Debt. Collections Litigation does not include processes or 

proceedings initiated by Respondent in bankruptcy or probate matters 

involving a Consumer. 

g. "Competent and Reliable Evidence" means documents and/ or records created 

by Respondent in the ordinary course of business, which are capable of 

supporting a finding that the proposition for which the evidence is offered is 

true and accurate, and which comport with applicable laws and court rules. 

h. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 

any Debt. 

1. "Debt" means, coterminous with the meaning of "debt" as defined in the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), any obligation or alleged 

obligation of a Consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which 
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the money, property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the 

transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 

whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment. 

J. "Declaration" means any affidavit, sworn statement, certification of proof, or 

declaration, whether made under penalty of perjury or otherwise signed by an 

Affiant for purposes of affirming its accuracy and veracity, submitted by or on 

behalf of Respondent to a court in a Collections Litigation matter for the 

purpose of collecting a Debt, but does not include affidavits, sworn 

statements, certifications of proof, or declarations signed by counsel based 

solely on counsel's personal knowledge and not based on a review of 

Respondent's books and records (such as affidavits of counsel relating to 

service of process, extensions of time, or fee petitions). 

k. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

I. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau, or that person's delegate. 

m. "Respondent" means the Bank, DSNB, and CitiFinancial Servicing, and their 

successors and assigns, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. The Bank is a national bank with approximately $1.337 trillion in total assets as 

of September 30, 2015. 

5· The Bank is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 

billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 
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6. The Bank is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. DSNB is a subsidiary of the Bank and an "affiliate" of the Bank within the 

meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

8. DSNB is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

9. CitiFinancial Servicing is an "affiliate" of the Bank within the meaning of 12 

U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

10. CitiFinancial Servicing is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6). 

11. Respondent collects Debt allegedly owed to it after its customers allegedly fail 

to pay on their Accounts using, among other means, Collections Litigation. 

Respondent retained certain law firms to file court actions in the New Jersey 

courts to collect credit card Debt allegedly owed to Respondent by Consumers. 

12. These law firms are "service providers" under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26) because they 

provided material service to Respondent in connection with the offering or 

provision by Respondent of consumer financial products or services by, among 

other things, collecting Debt allegedly owed to Respondent in connection with 

Respondent's extension of credit to Consumers. 

13. Affiants executed Declarations for Respondent's attorneys to file with the New 

Jersey courts in actions to collect Debt allegedly owed to Respondent. In 

Collections Litigation brought by Respondent, the Affiant to a Declaration 

attested to the accuracy of the amount of the Debt allegedly owed by a 

Consumer as of the date of the Declaration's execution. The Affiant also 

attested to having personal knowledge of the facts of the Debt that formed the 

basis of the statements made in the Declaration. 
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14. Respondent's law firms altered the dates of the Declarations and/or the amount 

of the Debt allegedly owed after the Affiants executed the Declarations. These 

alterations meant that the Declarations, as filed with the New Jersey courts, 

were not Competent and Reliable Evidence to prove the Debts Respondent 

collected or attempted to collect, in most cases misrepresented the date the 

Affiant executed the Declaration, and in certain circumstances misrepresented 

the amount of the Debt allegedly owed. 

15. In May 2011, Respondent became aware that these law firms had altered the 

dates and/ or amounts of the Debt due on Declarations after execution by 

Affiants and had filed them with the New Jersey courts. 

16. Respondent stopped referring new credit card accounts for collection to the law 

firms, directed those firms not to engage in further litigation of pending 

Collections Litigation, and instructed the law firms not to commence any new 

litigation in connection with credit card accounts that Respondent already 

referred to them. 

17. Respondent reported these findings to the Office of the New Jersey Courts 

Administration (OCA). 

18. As of September 12, 2011, Respondent had filed, through the law firms, altered 

Declarations in approximately 6,700 Debt collection actions that were then 

pending in the New Jersey courts. At that time, Respondent had collected 

approximately $11 million in actions in which those altered Declarations had 

been filed, and was still attempting to collect approximately $34 million in 

additional Debt in such actions. 
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19. On June 10, 2014, the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law Division- Mercer 

County), at Respondent's request, ordered vacatur of any final judgments in 

Debt collection actions filed against Affected Consumers involving altered 

Declarations, dismissal with prejudice of the Debt collection actions filed 

against Affected Consumers involving altered Declarations, and the return of 

approximately $11 million collected after the filing of the complaints in actions 

involving altered Declarations. The Superior Court's dismissal of all pending 

cases against Affected Consumers involving altered Declarations also required 

that Respondent forgo collecting approximately $34 million in additional Debt 

that Affected Consumers allegedly owed to Respondent. 

20. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

21. As described in paragraphs 13-18, in connection \'\lith the collection or attempt 

to collect Debt, in numerous instances, Respondent, through its law firms, 

represented, expressly or impliedly, that the Debt allegedly owed to 

Respondent in Collections Litigation in which an altered Declaration was filed 

was supported by Competent and Reliable Evidence. Further, in certain 

instances, Respondent, through its law firms, represented, expressly or 

impliedly, that the stated amount of Debt allegedly owed was accurate. 

22. In fact, the altered Declarations were not valid legal documentation and did not 

constitute Competent and Reliable Evidence of the Debts allegedly owed to 

Respondent. Further, in certain instances, the amount of Debt allegedly owed 

as stated in the altered Declaration was not accurate and did not reflect the 

amount owed according to Respondent's records. 
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23. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in paragraphs 21-22, 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

v 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

24. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its 

service providers, affiliates, and other agents do not violate, sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as follows and must take the 

following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the collection of any Debt, may not misrepresent, or assist 

others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

1. The date of execution of any Declaration; 

11. The amount of the Debt owed that is listed in a Declaration; 

111. That the Debt that Respondent is attempting to collect is supported by 

Competent and Reliable Evidence; or 

1v. Any other fact material to Consumers concerning Declarations used in 

Collections Litigation. 
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b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the collection of any Debt, may not alter or file with a court 

Declarations altered after execution, or assist others in altering or filing with a 

court Declarations altered after execution. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with any Collections Litigation, must comply with the order 

dated June 10, 2014, entered by the Superior Court of New Jersey (Law 

Division- Mercer County) in In reApplication by Citibank, NA., 

Department Stores National Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, to Take 

Curative Action in Certain Pending Unsecured Consumer Debt Collection 

Actions, Docket No.: L-355-14, including: 

1. Vacating all final judgments in actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; 

n. Dismissing with prejudice all actions filed by Respondent as identified 

in the June 10 order; 

iii. Ceasing acceptance of payments in all actions filed by Respondent as 

identified in the June 10 order; and 

1v. Returning to Affected Consumers all amounts collected in actions filed 

by Respondent as identified in the June 10 order. 

d. Respondent must enhance and update, as necessary, its oversight and 

compliance management systems with respect to Declaration processing for 

the collection of Debt to ensure that its service providers, affiliates, or other 
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agents do not alter or file in court altered Declarations in connection with the 

collection of any Debt related to a consumer financial product or service on 

behalf of Respondent (External Declaration Processing). These measures 

must include: 

1. Regular supervision by Respondent of the service providers, affiliates, 

or other agents it engages in connection with the collection of any Debt, 

including on-site visits (with and without notice), document collection, 

interviews with law firm personnel, and oversight of curative actions 

and/ or remediation; 

n. Regular review of form Declarations prepared by or for the use of 

Respondent's service providers, affiliates, or other agents it engages to 

commence or prosecute litigation attempting to collect Debt; and 

111. Regular review of Declarations filed by Respondent's service providers, 

affiliates, or other agents in litigation attempting to collect Debt. 

25. Respondent must correct all violations of law, to the extent not already 

corrected, as described herein. 
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VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

26. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's External Declaration 

Processing complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must 

include, at a minimum: 

a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. written policies and procedures for conducting audits of Respondent's 

compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws, including but 

not limited to Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, in connection with 

Respondent's External Declaration Processing; these policies and procedures 

must specify the frequency, scope, and depth of these audits; 

c. written policies and procedures for expanding audit sampling when 

exceptions based on potential violations of applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws are detected as part of an audit described above; 

d. a requirement that within 90 days of completion of the actions required under 

the Compliance Plan, Respondent's Internal Audit department assess whether 

Respondent has completely and accurately implemented the Compliance 

Plan; the Internal Audit department's findings must be memorialized in 

writing; within 10 days of completing the assessment, the Internal Audit 

department must provide its written findings to the Regional Director; and 
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e. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

27. To the extent that Respondent believes it has satisfied elements of the 

Compliance Plan at the time the Compliance Plan is submitted to the Regional 

Director, Respondent may: 

a. designate in the Compliance Plan those items that Respondent believes have 

been completed; 

b. attach to the Compliance Plan any materials supporting such designation, 

including, as appropriate, documentation previously provided to the New 

Jersey courts; and 

c. identify in the Compliance Plan the materials Respondent believes support 

each designation. 

28. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for 

reVISIOnS. 

29. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

31. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

32. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of, Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

33. The Board may delegate the authority to perform the obligations required by 

Paragraphs 30 to 32 to an appropriate committee of at least three Board 

directors. At formation and thereafter in the event of a change in membership, 

the names of the members of this committee must be submitted to the Regional 

Director. 
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COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

VIII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34· Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

35· Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate and 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Consent Order acknowledgment obtained under 

Section IX, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

14 

2016-CFPB-0004    Document 1     Filed 02/23/2016     Page 14 of 21



IX 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

36. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

37· For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VIII, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

38. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of theE-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section. 
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X 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

39. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records necessary to establish a factual basis for any 

Declaration. 

40. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 39 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

41. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 39 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XI 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, ·with the subject line, "In re Citibank, NA., et al., File 

No. 2016-CFPB-00. ,"and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017, and 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below addresses and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017, and 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATIENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

44· Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days 
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written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

45. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

46. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

47. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

49· The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 
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changes to reporting requirements) if he/ she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

so. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 51. 

51. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

52. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFP A, 12 U .S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 
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53. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

54. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

55. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

56. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) ofthe CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 
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57. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulations contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulations. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulations supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

sB. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulations may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this ~J} day of ft~bflf1dll'y , 2016. 

Ri~rf?+g 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Orders Citibank to Provide Relief to Consumers for
Illegal Debt Sales and Collection Practices
FEB 23, 2016

Citibank Sold Credit Card Debt with Inflated Interest Rates; Debt Collectors for Citibank Altered
Affidavits

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took two separate
actions against Citibank for illegal debt sales and debt collection practices. In the first action, the
CFPB ordered Citibank to provide nearly $5 million in consumer relief and pay a $3 million
penalty for selling credit card debt with inflated interest rates and for failing to forward consumer
payments promptly to debt buyers. The second action is against both Citibank and two debt
collection law firms it used that falsified court documents filed in debt collection cases in New
Jersey state courts. The CFPB ordered Citibank and the law firms to comply with a court order
that Citibank refund $11 million to consumers and forgo collecting about $34 million from nearly
7,000 consumers.

“Citibank sent inaccurate information to buyers when it sold off credit card debt and it also used
law firms that altered court documents,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s action
provides redress to consumers who were victimized by slipshod practices as part of our ongoing
work to fight abuses in the debt collection market.”

Citibank, N.A., is a national bank with headquarters in New York, N.Y., that issues consumer credit
cards. From 2010 to 2013, Citibank sold portfolios of charged-off credit card accounts. It typically
provided debt buyers with information about the consumer and the debt, including the
supposed annual percentage rate (APR). A “charged-off” account is one the bank deems unlikely
to be repaid, but may sell to a debt buyer, usually for a fraction of face value. The debt buyer then
can try to collect on those accounts.

Illegal Debt Sales Practices

Citibank broke the law when, from February 2010 until June 2013, it provided inaccurate and
inflated APR information for almost 130,000 credit card accounts it sold to debt buyers. These
buyers then used the exaggerated APR in debt collection attempts. Citibank also failed to
promptly forward to debt buyers approximately 14,000 customer payments totaling almost $1

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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million. The CFPB found that Citibank violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Financial Protection Act. Specifically, Citibank:

Overstated the annual percentage rate in accounts sold to debt buyers: Between February
2010 and June 2013, Citibank overstated the APR for 128,809 accounts it sold to 16 different
debt buyers. For some accounts, Citibank claimed the APR was 29 percent when it was
actually 0 percent. Consumers paid about $4.89 million to debt buyers who used an APR
inflated by more than 1 percent in collection efforts.

Delayed sending consumer payments to debt buyers: From 2010 to 2013, Citibank delayed
forwarding to debt buyers nearly 14,000 payments made by consumers, totaling almost $1
million. This delayed the updating of account balances and subjected consumers to
collection efforts from debt buyers after they had already, in reality, paid off their account.

Enforcement action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions or
individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Under the CFPB’s order
addressing illegal debt sales practices, Citibank must:

Refund an estimated $4.89 million to roughly 2,100 consumers: Citibank must refund all
payments consumers made from Feb. 1, 2010 to Nov. 14, 2013 to debt buyers that
referenced an inflated APR provided by Citibank in their collection efforts where the
discrepancy was more than 1 percent.

Accurately document the debt it sells: Citibank must provide certain account documents
when it sells debt, such as the credit agreement and recent account statements.

Stop selling debt it cannot verify: Citibank cannot sell debts if it cannot provide
documentation, if the consumers notified Citibank of identity theft or unauthorized use, if
consumers allege in writing that they do not owe the amount claimed, or if the account is
within 150 days of the end of the statute of limitations.

Include certain protections in debt sales contracts: Citibank must include provisions in its
debt sales contracts prohibiting the debt buyer from reselling the debt.

Provide consumers with basic information about the debt: When it sells a debt, Citibank
must give consumers information about the debt, such as the name of the original creditor,
the credit agreement, and recent account statements.

Pay civil money penalties: Citibank must pay a $3 million penalty to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty
Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order on debt sales is found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf


9/14/2016 CFPB Orders Citibank to Provide Relief to Consumers for Illegal Debt Sales and Collection Practices | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/aboutus/newsroom/cfpborderscitibanktoproviderelieftoconsumersforillegaldebtsalesandcollectionpractices/ 3/5

Altered Affidavits

Separately, the CFPB is taking action today against Citibank, two of its affiliates – Department
Stores National Bank and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC – and two debt collection law firms for
altering affidavits filed in debt collection lawsuits. Citibank retained Faloni & Associates, LLC, of
Fairfield, N.J., and Solomon & Solomon, P.C., of Albany, N.Y. to collect credit card debt on its
behalf in New Jersey state courts.

Citibank filed sworn statements attesting to the accuracy of the debt allegedly owed. Citibank
then provided the affidavits to their attorneys to file with New Jersey courts. The two firms
retained by Citibank altered the dates of the affidavits, the amount of the debt allegedly owed, or
both, after the affidavits were executed. This violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

In May 2011, Citibank learned that one of its law firms had altered affidavits and stopped
referring new credit card accounts to it. At Citibank’s request, a New Jersey court dismissed
actions pending as of Sept. 12, 2011 that Citibank identified as involving altered affidavits or
incorrect information.

The CFPB’s order requires Citibank to comply with the New Jersey state court order, in which
Citibank had to refund $11 million collected from consumers and stop collection of an additional
$34 million in debts, both of which Citibank has done. Solomon & Solomon, P.C., must pay a
$65,000 penalty to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. Faloni & Associates, LLC, must pay $15,000.
Consistent with the Bureau’s , the CFPB did not impose
civil money penalties on Citibank for this violation, especially in light of its efforts to recompense
harmed consumers.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Citibank, N.A., Department Stores National
Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, related to the altered affidavits matters is available at:

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Faloni & Associates relating to the altered
affidavits matters is available at: 

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Solomon & Solomon relating to the altered
affidavits matters is available at: 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance
markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and
by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information,
visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Orders Citibank to Provide Relief to 
Consumers for Illegal Debt Sales and 
Collection Practices
Citibank Sold Credit Card Debt with Inflated Interest Rates; Debt 
Collectors for Citibank Altered Affidavits

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took two 
separate actions against Citibank for illegal debt sales and debt collection practices. In 
the first action, the CFPB ordered Citibank to provide nearly $5 million in consumer 
relief and pay a $3 million penalty for selling credit card debt with inflated interest 
rates and for failing to forward consumer payments promptly to debt buyers. The 
second action is against both Citibank and two debt collection law firms it used that 
falsified court documents filed in debt collection cases in New Jersey state courts. The 
CFPB ordered Citibank and the law firms to comply with a court order that Citibank 
refund $11 million to consumers and forgo collecting about $34 million from nearly 
7,000 consumers.

“Citibank sent inaccurate information to buyers when it sold off credit card debt and it 
also used law firms that altered court documents,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Today’s action provides redress to consumers who were victimized by slipshod 
practices as part of our ongoing work to fight abuses in the debt collection market.”

Citibank, N.A., is a national bank with headquarters in New York, N.Y., that issues 
consumer credit cards. From 2010 to 2013, Citibank sold portfolios of charged-off 
credit card accounts. It typically provided debt buyers with information about the 
consumer and the debt, including the supposed annual percentage rate (APR). A 
“charged-off” account is one the bank deems unlikely to be repaid, but may sell to a 
debt buyer, usually for a fraction of face value. The debt buyer then can try to collect on 
those accounts. 

Illegal Debt Sales Practices
Citibank broke the law when, from February 2010 until June 2013, it provided 
inaccurate and inflated APR information for almost 130,000 credit card accounts it sold 
to debt buyers. These buyers then used the exaggerated APR in debt collection 
attempts. Citibank also failed to promptly forward to debt buyers approximately 14,000 
customer payments totaling almost $1 million. The CFPB found that Citibank violated 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Financial Protection Act. 
Specifically, Citibank:

• Overstated the annual percentage rate in accounts sold to debt buyers:
Between February 2010 and June 2013, Citibank overstated the APR for 128,809 
accounts it sold to 16 different debt buyers. For some accounts, Citibank claimed 
the APR was 29 percent when it was actually 0 percent. Consumers paid about 
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$4.89 million to debt buyers who used an APR inflated by more than 1 percent in 
collection efforts.

• Delayed sending consumer payments to debt buyers: From 2010 to 2013, 
Citibank delayed forwarding to debt buyers nearly 14,000 payments made by 
consumers, totaling almost $1 million. This delayed the updating of account 
balances and subjected consumers to collection efforts from debt buyers after they 
had already, in reality, paid off their account.

Enforcement action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
Under the CFPB’s order addressing illegal debt sales practices, Citibank must: 

• Refund an estimated $4.89 million to roughly 2,100 consumers:
Citibank must refund all payments consumers made from Feb. 1, 2010 to Nov. 14, 
2013 to debt buyers that referenced an inflated APR provided by Citibank in their 
collection efforts where the discrepancy was more than 1 percent.

• Accurately document the debt it sells: Citibank must provide certain 
account documents when it sells debt, such as the credit agreement and recent 
account statements.

• Stop selling debt it cannot verify: Citibank cannot sell debts if it cannot 
provide documentation, if the consumers notified Citibank of identity theft or 
unauthorized use, if consumers allege in writing that they do not owe the amount 
claimed, or if the account is within 150 days of the end of the statute of 
limitations.

• Include certain protections in debt sales contracts: Citibank must include 
provisions in its debt sales contracts prohibiting the debt buyer from reselling the 
debt. 

• Provide consumers with basic information about the debt: When it sells 
a debt, Citibank must give consumers information about the debt, such as the 
name of the original creditor, the credit agreement, and recent account 
statements.

• Pay civil money penalties: Citibank must pay a $3 million penalty to the 
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order on debt sales is found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf

Altered Affidavits
Separately, the CFPB is taking action today against Citibank, two of its affiliates – 
Department Stores National Bank and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC – and two debt 
collection law firms for altering affidavits filed in debt collection lawsuits. Citibank 
retained Faloni & Associates, LLC, of Fairfield, N.J., and Solomon & Solomon, P.C., of 
Albany, N.Y. to collect credit card debt on its behalf in New Jersey state courts.

Citibank filed sworn statements attesting to the accuracy of the debt allegedly owed. 
Citibank then provided the affidavits to their attorneys to file with New Jersey courts. 
The two firms retained by Citibank altered the dates of the affidavits, the amount of the 
debt allegedly owed, or both, after the affidavits were executed. This violated the Fair 
Debt Collection Practices Act.

In May 2011, Citibank learned that one of its law firms had altered affidavits and 
stopped referring new credit card accounts to it. At Citibank’s request, a New Jersey 
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court dismissed actions pending as of Sept. 12, 2011 that Citibank identified as 
involving altered affidavits or incorrect information. 

The CFPB’s order requires Citibank to comply with the New Jersey state court order, in 
which Citibank had to refund $11 million collected from consumers and stop collection 
of an additional $34 million in debts, both of which Citibank has done. Solomon & 
Solomon, P.C., must pay a $65,000 penalty to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. Faloni & 
Associates, LLC, must pay $15,000. Consistent with the Bureau’s Responsible Business 
Conduct bulletin , the CFPB did not impose civil money penalties on Citibank for this 
violation, especially in light of its efforts to recompense harmed consumers.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Citibank, N.A., 
Department Stores National Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, 
related to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na-
department-stores-national-bank-and-citifinancial-servicing-llc.pdf

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Faloni & Associates 
relating to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-faloni-and-associates-
llc.pdf

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Solomon & Solomon 
relating to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-solomon-and-
solomon-pc.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Orders Citibank to Provide Relief to 
Consumers for Illegal Debt Sales and 
Collection Practices
Citibank Sold Credit Card Debt with Inflated Interest Rates; Debt 
Collectors for Citibank Altered Affidavits

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took two 
separate actions against Citibank for illegal debt sales and debt collection practices. In 
the first action, the CFPB ordered Citibank to provide nearly $5 million in consumer 
relief and pay a $3 million penalty for selling credit card debt with inflated interest 
rates and for failing to forward consumer payments promptly to debt buyers. The 
second action is against both Citibank and two debt collection law firms it used that 
falsified court documents filed in debt collection cases in New Jersey state courts. The 
CFPB ordered Citibank and the law firms to comply with a court order that Citibank 
refund $11 million to consumers and forgo collecting about $34 million from nearly 
7,000 consumers.

“Citibank sent inaccurate information to buyers when it sold off credit card debt and it 
also used law firms that altered court documents,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
“Today’s action provides redress to consumers who were victimized by slipshod 
practices as part of our ongoing work to fight abuses in the debt collection market.”

Citibank, N.A., is a national bank with headquarters in New York, N.Y., that issues 
consumer credit cards. From 2010 to 2013, Citibank sold portfolios of charged-off 
credit card accounts. It typically provided debt buyers with information about the 
consumer and the debt, including the supposed annual percentage rate (APR). A 
“charged-off” account is one the bank deems unlikely to be repaid, but may sell to a 
debt buyer, usually for a fraction of face value. The debt buyer then can try to collect on 
those accounts. 

Illegal Debt Sales Practices
Citibank broke the law when, from February 2010 until June 2013, it provided 
inaccurate and inflated APR information for almost 130,000 credit card accounts it sold 
to debt buyers. These buyers then used the exaggerated APR in debt collection 
attempts. Citibank also failed to promptly forward to debt buyers approximately 14,000 
customer payments totaling almost $1 million. The CFPB found that Citibank violated 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Financial Protection Act. 
Specifically, Citibank:

• Overstated the annual percentage rate in accounts sold to debt buyers:
Between February 2010 and June 2013, Citibank overstated the APR for 128,809 
accounts it sold to 16 different debt buyers. For some accounts, Citibank claimed 
the APR was 29 percent when it was actually 0 percent. Consumers paid about 
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$4.89 million to debt buyers who used an APR inflated by more than 1 percent in 
collection efforts.

• Delayed sending consumer payments to debt buyers: From 2010 to 2013, 
Citibank delayed forwarding to debt buyers nearly 14,000 payments made by 
consumers, totaling almost $1 million. This delayed the updating of account 
balances and subjected consumers to collection efforts from debt buyers after they 
had already, in reality, paid off their account.

Enforcement action
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
Under the CFPB’s order addressing illegal debt sales practices, Citibank must: 

• Refund an estimated $4.89 million to roughly 2,100 consumers:
Citibank must refund all payments consumers made from Feb. 1, 2010 to Nov. 14, 
2013 to debt buyers that referenced an inflated APR provided by Citibank in their 
collection efforts where the discrepancy was more than 1 percent.

• Accurately document the debt it sells: Citibank must provide certain 
account documents when it sells debt, such as the credit agreement and recent 
account statements.

• Stop selling debt it cannot verify: Citibank cannot sell debts if it cannot 
provide documentation, if the consumers notified Citibank of identity theft or 
unauthorized use, if consumers allege in writing that they do not owe the amount 
claimed, or if the account is within 150 days of the end of the statute of 
limitations.

• Include certain protections in debt sales contracts: Citibank must include 
provisions in its debt sales contracts prohibiting the debt buyer from reselling the 
debt. 

• Provide consumers with basic information about the debt: When it sells 
a debt, Citibank must give consumers information about the debt, such as the 
name of the original creditor, the credit agreement, and recent account 
statements.

• Pay civil money penalties: Citibank must pay a $3 million penalty to the 
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order on debt sales is found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf

Altered Affidavits
Separately, the CFPB is taking action today against Citibank, two of its affiliates – 
Department Stores National Bank and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC – and two debt 
collection law firms for altering affidavits filed in debt collection lawsuits. Citibank 
retained Faloni & Associates, LLC, of Fairfield, N.J., and Solomon & Solomon, P.C., of 
Albany, N.Y. to collect credit card debt on its behalf in New Jersey state courts.

Citibank filed sworn statements attesting to the accuracy of the debt allegedly owed. 
Citibank then provided the affidavits to their attorneys to file with New Jersey courts. 
The two firms retained by Citibank altered the dates of the affidavits, the amount of the 
debt allegedly owed, or both, after the affidavits were executed. This violated the Fair 
Debt Collection Practices Act.

In May 2011, Citibank learned that one of its law firms had altered affidavits and 
stopped referring new credit card accounts to it. At Citibank’s request, a New Jersey 
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court dismissed actions pending as of Sept. 12, 2011 that Citibank identified as 
involving altered affidavits or incorrect information. 

The CFPB’s order requires Citibank to comply with the New Jersey state court order, in 
which Citibank had to refund $11 million collected from consumers and stop collection 
of an additional $34 million in debts, both of which Citibank has done. Solomon & 
Solomon, P.C., must pay a $65,000 penalty to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. Faloni & 
Associates, LLC, must pay $15,000. Consistent with the Bureau’s Responsible Business 
Conduct bulletin , the CFPB did not impose civil money penalties on Citibank for this 
violation, especially in light of its efforts to recompense harmed consumers.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Citibank, N.A., 
Department Stores National Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, 
related to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na-
department-stores-national-bank-and-citifinancial-servicing-llc.pdf

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Faloni & Associates 
relating to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-faloni-and-associates-
llc.pdf

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Solomon & Solomon 
relating to the altered affidavits matters is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-solomon-and-
solomon-pc.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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  Press Release

CFPB Orders Citibank to Provide Relief to Consumers for
Illegal Debt Sales and Collection Practices
FEB 23, 2016

Citibank Sold Credit Card Debt with Inflated Interest Rates; Debt Collectors for Citibank Altered
Affidavits

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took two separate
actions against Citibank for illegal debt sales and debt collection practices. In the first action, the
CFPB ordered Citibank to provide nearly $5 million in consumer relief and pay a $3 million
penalty for selling credit card debt with inflated interest rates and for failing to forward consumer
payments promptly to debt buyers. The second action is against both Citibank and two debt
collection law firms it used that falsified court documents filed in debt collection cases in New
Jersey state courts. The CFPB ordered Citibank and the law firms to comply with a court order
that Citibank refund $11 million to consumers and forgo collecting about $34 million from nearly
7,000 consumers.

“Citibank sent inaccurate information to buyers when it sold off credit card debt and it also used
law firms that altered court documents,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s action
provides redress to consumers who were victimized by slipshod practices as part of our ongoing
work to fight abuses in the debt collection market.”

Citibank, N.A., is a national bank with headquarters in New York, N.Y., that issues consumer credit
cards. From 2010 to 2013, Citibank sold portfolios of charged-off credit card accounts. It typically
provided debt buyers with information about the consumer and the debt, including the
supposed annual percentage rate (APR). A “charged-off” account is one the bank deems unlikely
to be repaid, but may sell to a debt buyer, usually for a fraction of face value. The debt buyer then
can try to collect on those accounts.

Illegal Debt Sales Practices

Citibank broke the law when, from February 2010 until June 2013, it provided inaccurate and
inflated APR information for almost 130,000 credit card accounts it sold to debt buyers. These
buyers then used the exaggerated APR in debt collection attempts. Citibank also failed to
promptly forward to debt buyers approximately 14,000 customer payments totaling almost $1

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
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million. The CFPB found that Citibank violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Financial Protection Act. Specifically, Citibank:

Overstated the annual percentage rate in accounts sold to debt buyers: Between February
2010 and June 2013, Citibank overstated the APR for 128,809 accounts it sold to 16 different
debt buyers. For some accounts, Citibank claimed the APR was 29 percent when it was
actually 0 percent. Consumers paid about $4.89 million to debt buyers who used an APR
inflated by more than 1 percent in collection efforts.

Delayed sending consumer payments to debt buyers: From 2010 to 2013, Citibank delayed
forwarding to debt buyers nearly 14,000 payments made by consumers, totaling almost $1
million. This delayed the updating of account balances and subjected consumers to
collection efforts from debt buyers after they had already, in reality, paid off their account.

Enforcement action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions or
individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Under the CFPB’s order
addressing illegal debt sales practices, Citibank must:

Refund an estimated $4.89 million to roughly 2,100 consumers: Citibank must refund all
payments consumers made from Feb. 1, 2010 to Nov. 14, 2013 to debt buyers that
referenced an inflated APR provided by Citibank in their collection efforts where the
discrepancy was more than 1 percent.

Accurately document the debt it sells: Citibank must provide certain account documents
when it sells debt, such as the credit agreement and recent account statements.

Stop selling debt it cannot verify: Citibank cannot sell debts if it cannot provide
documentation, if the consumers notified Citibank of identity theft or unauthorized use, if
consumers allege in writing that they do not owe the amount claimed, or if the account is
within 150 days of the end of the statute of limitations.

Include certain protections in debt sales contracts: Citibank must include provisions in its
debt sales contracts prohibiting the debt buyer from reselling the debt.

Provide consumers with basic information about the debt: When it sells a debt, Citibank
must give consumers information about the debt, such as the name of the original creditor,
the credit agreement, and recent account statements.

Pay civil money penalties: Citibank must pay a $3 million penalty to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty
Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order on debt sales is found at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201602_cfpb_consent-order-citibank-na.pdf
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Altered Affidavits

Separately, the CFPB is taking action today against Citibank, two of its affiliates – Department
Stores National Bank and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC – and two debt collection law firms for
altering affidavits filed in debt collection lawsuits. Citibank retained Faloni & Associates, LLC, of
Fairfield, N.J., and Solomon & Solomon, P.C., of Albany, N.Y. to collect credit card debt on its
behalf in New Jersey state courts.

Citibank filed sworn statements attesting to the accuracy of the debt allegedly owed. Citibank
then provided the affidavits to their attorneys to file with New Jersey courts. The two firms
retained by Citibank altered the dates of the affidavits, the amount of the debt allegedly owed, or
both, after the affidavits were executed. This violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

In May 2011, Citibank learned that one of its law firms had altered affidavits and stopped
referring new credit card accounts to it. At Citibank’s request, a New Jersey court dismissed
actions pending as of Sept. 12, 2011 that Citibank identified as involving altered affidavits or
incorrect information.

The CFPB’s order requires Citibank to comply with the New Jersey state court order, in which
Citibank had to refund $11 million collected from consumers and stop collection of an additional
$34 million in debts, both of which Citibank has done. Solomon & Solomon, P.C., must pay a
$65,000 penalty to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. Faloni & Associates, LLC, must pay $15,000.
Consistent with the Bureau’s , the CFPB did not impose
civil money penalties on Citibank for this violation, especially in light of its efforts to recompense
harmed consumers.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Citibank, N.A., Department Stores National
Bank, and CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC, related to the altered affidavits matters is available at:

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Faloni & Associates relating to the altered
affidavits matters is available at: 

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order against Solomon & Solomon relating to the altered
affidavits matters is available at: 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance
markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and
by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information,
visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

CONSENT ORDER

Dwolla, Inc.
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IT IS ORDERED
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Audit Report and Compliance Plan 
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Role of the Board
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Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties
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Additional Monetary Provisions
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 
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Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED

In re Dwolla, Inc.
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Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

95. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, 

or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  3:1411  day of  34krtilvv  , 2016. 

VIA11449 C.lea, 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Takes Action Against Dwolla for Misrepresenting Data
Security Practices
MAR 02, 2016

Payment Processor Deceived Consumers About the Data Security Risks of Using Its Online System

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took action against
online payment platform Dwolla for deceiving consumers about its data security practices and
the safety of its online payment system. The CFPB ordered Dwolla to pay a $100,000 penalty and
fix its security practices.

“Consumers entrust digital payment companies with significant amounts of sensitive personal
information,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “With data breaches becoming commonplace
and more consumers using these online payment systems, the risk to consumers is growing. It is
crucial that companies put systems in place to protect this information and accurately inform
consumers about their data security practices.”

Dwolla, Inc., based in Des Moines, Iowa, operates an online payment system. Since December
2009, Dwolla has collected and stored consumers’ sensitive personal information and provided a
platform for financial transactions. As of May 2015, it had more than 650,000 users and had
transferred as much as $5 million per day. For each account, Dwolla collects personal information
including the consumer’s name, address, date of birth, telephone number, Social Security
number, bank account and routing numbers, a password, and a unique 4-digit PIN.

From December 2010 until 2014, Dwolla claimed to protect consumer data from unauthorized
access with “safe” and “secure” transactions. On its website and in communications with
consumers, Dwolla claimed its data security practices exceeded industry standards and were
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard compliant. They claimed also that they encrypted
all sensitive personal information and that its mobile applications were safe and secure.

But rather than setting “a new precedent for the payments industry” as asserted, Dwolla’s data
security practices in fact fell far short of its claims. Such deception about security and security
practices is illegal. Specifically, the CFPB found, among other issues, that Dwolla misrepresented
its data-security practices by:

Falsely claiming its data security practices “exceed” or “surpass” industry security
standards: Contrary to its claims, Dwolla failed to employ reasonable and appropriate

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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measures to protect data obtained from consumers from unauthorized access.

Falsely claiming its “information is securely encrypted and stored”: Dwolla did not encrypt
some sensitive consumer personal information, and released applications to the public
before testing whether they were secure.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB is authorized
to take action against institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, or that
otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. This is the Bureau’s first data security action,
and builds off advances made by several other agencies. Under the terms of the order, Dwolla is
required to:

Stop misrepresenting its data security practices: Dwolla must stop deceiving consumers
about the security of its online payment system and enact comprehensive data security
measures and policies, including a program of risk assessments and audits.

Train employees properly and fix security flaws: Dwolla must train employees on the
company’s data security policies and procedures, and on how to protect consumers’
sensitive personal information. Dwolla must also fix any security weaknesses found in its web
and mobile applications, and securely store and transmit consumer data.

Pay a $100,000 civil money penalty: Dwolla must pay a $100,000 penalty to the CFPB’s Civil
Penalty Fund.

The CFPB’s order is found at: 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance
markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and
by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information,
visit consumerfinance.gov.
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1

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING

File No. 2016-CFPB-0008

In the Matter of: CONSENT ORDER

STUDENT AID INSTITUTE, INC., 
STEVEN LAMONT

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the marketing,

sale, and administration of student loan Debt Relief Services of the Student Aid 

Institute, Inc. (SAI) and its Chief Executive Officer Steven Lamont (Respondents, as 

defined below) and has identified the following law violations: (1) Respondents engaged 

in deceptive acts in the marketing, sale, and administration of Debt Relief Services in 

violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) 

5536(a)(1)(B); (2) Respondents engaged in deceptive telemarketing practices in 

violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii) and 

(a)(2)(x); (3) Respondents obtained Advance Fees for Debt Relief Services in violation of

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i); and (4) Respondent Student Aid Institute failed to 

provide privacy notices to customers in violation of Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1016.4(a), 

1016.5(a)(1). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order).
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565; (b) Section 6 of the Telemarketing 

and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d); and 

(c) Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6805(a). 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated [] (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and 

is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of 

the findings of fact or conclusion of law, except that Respondents admit the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondents and the 

subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Advance Fee" means any fee or consideration requested or 

received for any Debt Relief Service before: 

i. The seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a 
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settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other such valid 

contractual agreement executed by the customer; 

ii. The customer has made at least one payment pursuant to that 

settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other valid 

contractual agreement between the customer and the creditor or debt 

collector; and 

iii. To the extent that debts enrolled in a service are renegotiated, settled, 

reduced, or otherwise altered individually, the fee or consideration 

either: 

A. Bears the same proportional relationship to the total fee for 

renegotiating, settling, reducing, or altering the terms of the 

entire debt balance as the individual debt amount bears to the 

entire debt amount. The individual debt amount and the entire 

debt amount are those owed at the time the debt was enrolled in 

the service; or 

B. Is a percentage of the amount saved as a result of the 

renegotiation, settlement, reduction, or alteration. The 

percentage charged cannot change from one individual debt to 

another. The amount saved is the different between the amount 

owed at the time the debt was enrolled in the service and the 

amount actually paid to satisfy the debt. 

b. "Affected Consumers" includes any consumer who paid fees to SAI 

from December 1, 2012 through the Effective Date. 
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c. "Corporate Respondent" shall mean Respondent Student Aid 

Institute, Inc. (SAT), and its successors and assigns. 

d. "Debt Relief Service" means any program or service represented, 

directly or by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in any way alter the 

terms of payment or other terms of the debt between a person and one or 

more unsecured creditors or debt collectors, including, but not limited to, 

a reduction in the balance, interest rate, or fees owed by a person to an 

unsecured creditor or debt collector. 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is 

entered. 

f. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

g. "Individual Respondent" means SAT's Chief Executive Officer, 

Steven Lamont. 

h. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf 

of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against Respondents based on substantially 

the same facts as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

i. "Relevant Period" includes the period from December 1, 2012 to the 

Effective Date. 

j. "Respondents" shall mean the Individual Respondent and the 

Corporate Respondent, individually, collectively, or in any combination. 
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IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent SAI is headquartered in San Diego, California and offers Debt 

Relief Services. 

5. Respondent Steven Lamont is the Chief Executive Officer of SAI. 

6. Respondents SAI and Steven Lamont are each a "covered person" as that term 

is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. SAI is a telemarketer and a seller within the meaning of the TSR. 

8. Steven Lamont is a telemarketer and a seller within the meaning of the TSR. 

9. Beginning in December 2012, Respondents began to market, sell, and 

administer student-loan Debt Relief Services to consumers. 

10. During the Relevant Period, Respondents marketed their Debt Relief Services 

through outbound and inbound telemarketing and direct mail. 

11. Respondents employed telemarketers to market Debt Relief Services to 

consumers, and often required them to adhere to telemarketing scripts that 

Respondents developed. 

12. During the Relevant Period, consumers who agreed to enroll in SAI's Debt 

Relief Services were typically charged an upfront fee of $395 or $495 as well as 

a $39 per month maintenance fee. 

13. Respondents' unlawful marketing and selling of Debt Relief Services during the 

Relevant Period caused approximately 4,300 consumers harm in the amount of 

the total fees they paid, less any refunds, estimated to total approximately 

$3,600,000. 
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Findings and Conclusions as to SAT's Misrepresentations about Its 
Debt Relief Services 

14. During the Relevant Period, Respondents represented to consumers that they 

were required to pay SAI a fee in order to enroll in federal student loan 

repayment programs. 

15. In fact, borrowers did not have to pay a fee to enroll in these programs. 

16. During the Relevant Period, Respondents made explicit statements to 

consumers about their possible savings. For example, SAI represented to a 

consumer that "You are eligible to reduce your current payment of $595 to $63 

which may save you $63,900 over the term of your student loan." 

17. In fact, Respondents did not have a basis for making those statements to those 

consumers. 

18. During the Relevant Period, Respondents routinely told consumers that "Moan 

forgiveness and forbearance are available on most federal loans." 

19. In fact, those consumers were only entitled to loan forgiveness under certain 

conditions. Respondents failed to explain those conditions to consumers. 

20. Respondents' marketing during the Relevant Period included representations 

that consumers were preapproved for certain loan repayment programs and 

that their loans had been identified as eligible for the "Student Loan Reform 

Act." 

21. In fact, at the time it marketed its services to consumers, Respondents had not 

determined whether consumers were preapproved or eligible for any particular 

program. 
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22. Respondents' marketing during the Relevant Period implied that SAI was 

endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with the Department of Education. 

23. In fact, SAI was not endorsed, sponsored, or affiliated with the Department of 

Education. 

24. Respondents' statements described in Paragraphs 14-23 were likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably and were material. Thus, Respondents' 

representations constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 

1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

25. Section 310.3(a)(2)(x) of the TSR states that it is a deceptive telemarketing 

practice for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, directly or by 

implication, any material aspect of any Debt Relief Service, including but not 

limited to, the amount of money or the percentage of the debt amount that a 

consumer may save by using such service or the amount of time necessary to 

achieve the represented results. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(x). 

26. Respondents' statements described in Paragraphs 14-21 misrepresented 

material aspects of a Debt Relief Service, namely the savings from the service, 

the length of time required to achieve savings, consumers' eligibility or 

preapproval for various federal student loan repayment programs, and the 

nature of the fees being charged, and therefore violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(x). 

27. Section 310.3(a)(2)(vii) of the TSR prohibits, as a deceptive telemarketing act 

or practice, a seller or telemarketer from misrepresenting, directly or by 

implication, a seller's affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, any 

person or government entity. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii). 
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28. Respondents' statements described in Paragraphs 22-23 misrepresent SAT's 

affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, the Department of 

Education, and therefore violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii). 

Findings and Conclusions as to SAI's Charging of Advance Fees 

29. Consumers who enrolled with SAI received a Consumer Agreement over the 

Internet which they signed electronically. 

30. The contract required the payment of an upfront fee and monthly fees. 

31. Immediately after consumers signed the contracts, SAI withdrew funds for its 

upfront fee from consumers' bank accounts or charged consumers' credit cards. 

32. After charging its upfront fees, SAI asked consumers to submit the information 

and documents necessary for SAI to assist them in enrolling in various federal 

student loan repayment programs. 

33. Section 310.4(a)(5) of the TSR prohibits telemarketers or sellers of Debt Relief 

Services from requesting or receiving payment of Advance Fees. 

34. As described in Paragraphs 29-32, Respondents violated the TSR during the 

Relevant Period by requesting or receiving unlawful Advance Fees, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.4(a)(5). 

Findings and Conclusions as to SAI's Failure to Provide Privacy Disclosures 

35. SAI is a financial institution because it provides financial advisory services. 

36. SAI establishes customer relationships with the consumers it enrolls in its Debt 

Relief Services. 

37. SAI never provided privacy notices to its customers. 

8 

2016-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 03/30/2016     Page 8 of 22



38. Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1016.4(a) and 1016.5(a), requires that financial 

institutions provide their customers, no later than when it establishes a 

customer relationship and annually for the duration of the relationship, with 

privacy notices that state the categories of nonpublic personal information 

collected or disclosed and the categories of nonaffiliated third parties to whom 

nonpublic personal information is disclosed, 12 C.F.R. § 1016.6(a). 

39. As described in Paragraphs 35-37, SAI did not provide privacy notices that 

stated the categories of nonpublic personal information collected or disclosed 

and the categories of nonaffiliated third parties to whom nonpublic personal 

information is disclosed, and therefore violated Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 1016.4(a) and 1016.5(a). 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

40. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, or Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1016. 

41. All agreements related to Student Aid Institute entered into up to and including 

the date of the entry of this Final Order between any consumers and 

Respondents (including any service agreement or power of attorney 

designation) are rescinded, and shall be null and void effective immediately. 
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42. Respondents and their officers, agents, directors, and employees, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, shall immediately cease assessing any fees on any 

consumers pursuant to the agreements described in the preceding Paragraph. 

43. Within 40 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must provide to the Bureau, 

via a secure method of transmission, a report containing the following 

information for each Affected Consumer: the consumer's name, postal address, 

amount of payments to Respondents, amount of Respondents' refunds to each 

Affected Consumer, and all other available contact information. 

44. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondents shall contact all consumer 

reporting agencies to which they have supplied or asked to be supplied negative 

or derogatory information concerning any consumer who enrolled with Student 

Aid Institute, if any, and take all steps necessary to have this negative or 

derogatory information removed for such consumers. 

45. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Defendants shall permanently cease all 

operations of Student Aid Institute, including all operations by which Student 

Aid Institute markets, offers, provides, administers, or sells Debt Relief 

Services. Without limiting the foregoing, during the 45-day time period during 

which Respondents are undertaking actions to permanently cease operations of 

Student Aid Institute, Respondents shall: 

a. Not enroll any new consumers with Student Aid Institute. To the 

extent that any consumer submits paperwork or other documentation 

seeking to enroll with Student Aid Institute, Defendants shall promptly 

return that paperwork and documentation and notify the consumer that 

Student Aid Institute is ceasing operations; 
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b. For any Affected Consumer enrolled in any income-driven 

repayment or forgiveness plan offered by the U.S. Department of 

Education whose annual recertification or renewal deadline occurs within 

the 30-day time period following the Effective Date, prepare, process, and 

mail any paperwork required for the Affected Consumer to maintain 

enrollment in the plan; and 

c. Send or make any routine reminders or notifications to Affected 

Consumers regarding recertification or renewal deadlines for income-

driven repayment or forgiveness plans offered by the U.S. Department of 

Education that Defendants would otherwise send or make during the 30-

day time period following the Effective Date. 

46. Nothing in Paragraph 45 shall limit or affect Respondents' ability to: 

a. Comply with any provision of this Final Order; 

b. Send to each Affected Consumer who requests it, and to the extent 

not already done, via a secured method of electronic transmission or via 

postal mail, copies of all paperwork filed on the consumer's behalf with the 

U.S. Department of Education or the consumer's student loan servicer; or 

c. Forward to any Affected Consumer any mail addressed to any 

Affected Consumer that is received by Respondents. 

47. Respondents, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained 

from: 

a. Advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, selling, assisting 

in the sale of, or administering Debt Relief Services; or 

b. Receiving any remuneration or other consideration from, holding any 

ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in any capacity 
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for any person engaged in or assisting in advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, or selling Debt Relief Services; 

Nothing in this Order shall be read as an exception to this Paragraph. 

VI 
Customer Information 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

disclose, use, or benefit from customer information, including the name, address, 

telephone number, email address, social security number, other identifying 

information, or any data that enables access to a customer's account (including a 

credit card, bank account, or other financial account), that Respondents obtained 

before the Effective Date in connection with the offering of Debt Relief Services. 

However, customer information may be disclosed if requested by a government 

agency or required by law, regulation, or court order. 

VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Under section 1o55(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil 

money penalty of $50,000 to the Bureau. 
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50. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

51. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. § 5497(d)• 

52. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondents may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 
53. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled 

to, nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action 

because of the civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any 

payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If 

the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Respondents must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to 
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the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil 

money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty 

imposed in this action. 

VIII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

55. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned 

to Respondents. 

56. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already have done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out 

of this Consent Order. 

57. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid 

or are required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 
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Ix 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

58. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondents; or a change in Respondents' names or addresses. 

Respondents must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

59. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and 

postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with Respondents; 

b. Identify all businesses for which either Respondent is the majority 

owner, or that either Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of 

their names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet 

addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products 

and services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales; 

d. Identify Individual Respondent's telephone numbers and all email, 

Internet, physical, and postal addresses, including all residences; and 
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e. Describe in detail Individual Respondent's involvement in any 

business for which he performs services in any capacity or which he wholly 

or partially owns, including Respondent's title, role, responsibilities, 

participation, authority, control, and ownership. 

60. Respondents must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 58 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date , Respondents must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress report 

(Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents 

have complied with this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section X, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, 

sworn under penalty of perjury. 

63. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Corporate Respondent and Individual 

Respondent, for any business for which he is the majority owner or which he 

directly or indirectly controls must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to each 

of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 
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employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

64. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Individual Respondent, for any business for 

which he is the majority owner or which he directly or indirectly controls, must 

deliver a copy of this Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any 

change in structure referred to in Section IX, any future board members and 

executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or 

other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

65. Individual Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement 

acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any 

electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 7001 et seq., within 3o days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of 

this Consent Order under this Section. 

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

66. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records for any business for 

which Individual Respondent, individually or collectively with any other 

Respondent, is a majority owner or which s/he directly or indirectly controls: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order. 
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XII 

Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

67. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Student Aid Institute, et 

al., File No. 2016-CFPB-0008,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20006; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by

email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20552

XIII

Cooperation with the Bureau

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity 

and location of, and the amount of uncompensated injury sustained by, each 

Affected Consumer. Each Respondent must provide such information in its or 

its agents’ possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau.
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69. Respondents must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Each Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony. Individual Respondent must appear and Corporate Respondent 

must cause its officers, employees, representatives, or agents to appear for 

interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the 

Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written notice, or other reasonable 

notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the 

service of compulsory process..

XIV 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor each Respondent's compliance 

with this Consent Order: 

70. Within 14 days of receipt of written request from the Bureau, each Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

71. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondents, unless Respondents retain counsel related to these 

communications. 

72. Each Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such 

an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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73. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § io80.6 or other compulsory process. 

XV 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

74. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

75. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing. 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

76. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondents. 

77. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 
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Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondents and their 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

78. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

79. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondents did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

80. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

81. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 
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of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents 

wherever Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

82. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

83. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, their officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this [ 30  ]th day of March, 2016. 

C441,Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

22 

2016-CFPB-0008     Document 1     Filed 03/30/2016     Page 22 of 22



9/14/2016 CFPB Halts Student Loan Debt Relief Scam | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/aboutus/newsroom/cfpbhaltsstudentloandebtreliefscam/ 1/6

  Press Release

CFPB Halts Student Loan Debt Relief Scam
MAR 30, 2016

Student Aid Institute Illegally Tricked Borrowers Into Paying Fees for Federal Loan Benefits

WASHINGTON, D.C. —

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action to halt a student loan debt
relief scam that illegally tricked borrowers into paying fees for federal loan benefits and
misrepresented to consumers that it was affiliated with the Department of Education. The CFPB is
ordering the student debt relief company, Student Aid Institute, Inc., and its chief executive
officer, Steven Lamont, to pay a penalty, halt debt relief services, and stop charging affected
customers. The CFPB is also permanently barring the company and Lamont from the debt relief
industry.
“We see more and more companies and websites demanding large upfront fees to help student
loan borrowers enroll in income-driven plans that are available for free,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “These practices bear a disturbing resemblance to the mortgage crisis where
distressed consumers were preyed upon with false promises of relief. We will continue to shut
down illegal scams and address sloppy servicing practices that victimize consumers.”

“We appreciate CFPB’s continued vigilance and leadership in weeding out those who seek to
prey on struggling student loan borrowers,” said U.S. Secretary of Education John B. King Jr. “We
will continue to work with CFPB to ensure that affected borrowers get the free help they deserve
to manage their payments. To all the Americans out there working hard to keep up with your
student loan payments, please remember: you never have to pay for help.”

Student Aid Institute is a debt relief services company that offers to reduce consumers’ student
loan payments. The company is headquartered in San Diego, Calif. and its chief executive officer
is Steven Lamont.

The Department of Education offers numerous plans to borrowers with federal student loans to
make payments more affordable. These include options that let struggling borrowers set their
monthly payment based on their income. Monthly payments under these plans can be as low as
zero dollars per month for unemployed or very low-wage borrowers. The Department of
Education does not charge any fees to apply for or enroll in these plans, for which many student
loan borrowers qualify.

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Student Aid Institute marketed and advertised debt relief services to struggling student loan
borrowers. The company deceived customers about the benefits of their services and
misrepresented that fees were required to participate in federal student loan programs when
those programs were, in fact, free. The company ultimately reaped millions of dollars in advance
fees from thousands of consumers. Specifically, Student Aid Institute:

Charged illegal advance fees: Federal law requires at least one debt to be renegotiated,
settled, or reduced before a fee can be collected for debt relief services. But Student Aid
Institute often charged consumers hundreds of dollars and required all, or a substantial
portion, of its fees to be paid upfront.

Deceived borrowers about the benefits and terms of its services: The company
misrepresented to consumers how much they would save, whether they were eligible for
loan forgiveness, whether they had been preapproved for specified programs, and whether
the fees were required to participate in the federal programs.

Failed to provide required privacy notices: The Bureau also found the company failed to
provide its customers with privacy notices required by law.

Falsely represented an affiliation with the Department of Education: The company’s
marketing materials falsely implied that it was affiliated or endorsed by the federal
government.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB is authorized
to take action against certain institutions engaged in deceptive acts or practices, or that otherwise
violate federal consumer financial laws. The consent order requires Student Aid Institute and
Lamont to:

Shut down debt-relief operations: Student Aid Institute must shut down debt relief
operations.

Cancel all contracts with consumers and stop charging them: The company must
immediately stop charging customers any fees for its services. All contracts will also be
cancelled.

Stop participating in the debt relief industry: The order bars Student Aid Institute and
Lamont from offering, or receiving any payments from, debt relief services.

Ensure student loan borrowers do not miss important repayment benefits: The Department
of Education requires that student loan borrowers recertify their income-driven repayment
plans every year. For consumers enrolled in any income-driven repayment or forgiveness
plan whose annual recertification or renewal deadlines for these programs are within 30 days
of the entry of the judgment, the company must prepare, process, and mail all paperwork
necessary to maintain enrollment in the plan.
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Pay a civil penalty: The order also imposes a penalty of $50,000 to be paid into the CFPB’s
Civil Penalty Fund.

A copy of the Student Aid Institute order is available at:

Today’s action builds on important work by the CFPB and many state attorneys general to crack
down on illegal student debt relief operations. The Bureau recently took action to halt two other
nationwide student loan debt relief scams. More information is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-to-end-student-debt-relief-scams/

Despite the availability of income-driven repayment options for the vast majority of borrowers,
one in four student loan borrowers are currently in default or struggling to stay current on their
loans. Over the past year, the CFPB has highlighted similarities between student loan borrower
distress and the mortgage crisis, both of which have led to struggling borrowers becoming
victims of debt relief scams.

Earlier this year, the CFPB released a report finding that problems with student loan servicing can
leave distressed borrowers without the tools to help avoid default. Student debt relief scams prey
on these consumers, charging upfront fees while promising to enroll borrowers in free federal
consumer protections, including income-driven repayment plans.

Last year, the Bureau announced that it was making it a priority to take action against companies
that are engaging in illegal student loan servicing practices. As part of this, the CFPB will continue
to work to address student loan servicing breakdowns that may allow student loan debt relief
scams to proliferate.

Consumer Alert

Affected Student Aid Institute customers may need to take action to maintain their enrollment in
certain Department of Education repayment or forgiveness plans. They should contact their
student loan servicer as soon as possible for more information and to ensure they are enrolled in
the repayment plan that is best for them. Individuals who are unsure of their student loan servicer
should contact the Department of Education at 800-4-FEDAID (800-433-3243) for more
information.

The Department of Education will provide enhanced assistance to the borrowers who were
affected by the illegal practices of Student Aid Institute and Lamont. This assistance includes
additional outreach to ensure that these borrowers are able to retain low monthly payments
under an income-driven repayment plan that is free under federal law.

For information about student debt relief scams, a CFPB consumer advisory is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumer-advisory-student-loan-debt-relief-companies-
may-cost-you-thousands-of-dollars-and-drive-you-further-into-debt/

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201603_cfpb_consent-order-student-aid-institute-inc-steven-
lamont.pdf 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-to-end-student-debt-relief-scams/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-concerned-about-widespread-servicing-failures-reported-by-student-loan-borrowers/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/blog/consumer-advisory-student-loan-debt-relief-companies-may-cost-you-thousands-of-dollars-and-drive-you-further-into-debt/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201603_cfpb_consent-order-student-aid-institute-inc-steven-lamont.pdf


9/14/2016 CFPB Halts Student Loan Debt Relief Scam | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/aboutus/newsroom/cfpbhaltsstudentloandebtreliefscam/ 4/6

In recent years, many consumers have borrowed significantly to pay for postsecondary
education. Earlier this year, the Bureau estimated that outstanding student debt totals nearly $1.3
trillion. Most of this debt is from federal student loans made or guaranteed by the Department of
Education. Borrowers who run into trouble with companies offering debt relief services when
repaying student loans can submit a complaint to the CFPB.

Last year, the CFPB sent  to BING, Yahoo, Facebook, and Google to alert companies that
student debt relief scammers may be targeting student loan borrowers through company search
products. The Bureau’s analysis of web data suggests that struggling borrowers are searching for
help using keywords such as “student loan forgiveness,” and “Obama student loan relief.” The
CFPB has urged the companies to work to ensure their search products are not being used by
scammers to prey on vulnerable student loan borrowers by implying an affiliation with the federal
government.

More information is available at: www.consumerfinance.gov/students

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer finance
markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing those rules, and
by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information,
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  Press Release

CFPB Takes Action Against Co-Founders of Online Lead
Aggregator

CFPB Targets Davit Gasparyan and Dmitry Fomichev, Who Operated Company that
Sold Consumers’ Loan Applications Without Safeguards

APR 21, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against two co-founders of a company that resold loan applications containing sensitive
personal data to lenders and data brokers without assessing the sources of those leads or
the purchasers they sold to. In complaints filed today in federal court, the CFPB alleged that
Dmitry Fomichev and Davit Gasparyan (also known as David Gasparyan) co-founded and
operated T3Leads, a lead aggregator that bought and sold payday and installment loan
applications without properly vetting buyers and sellers. The CFPB filed a separate lawsuit
against T3Leads and two other individuals in December 2015.

“T3Leads steered consumers toward bad deals with lenders it didn’t vet and with no regard
for how the consumers’ information would be used,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“This is a reminder to the middlemen who buy and sell consumer loan applications: if you
engage in this type of conduct, you risk the consequences for harming people.”

T3Leads is based in Burbank, Calif., and is owned by Grigor and Marina Demirchyan. Lead
aggregators buy consumer information – called leads – from lead generators, websites that
market payday and installment loans. Leads contain personal information such as
consumers’ names, telephone numbers, home and email addresses, references, and
employer information.

Fomichev and Gasparyan co-founded T3Leads in 2005. The CFPB alleged that Gasparyan
served as chief financial officer and chief marketing officer, while Fomichev served as chief
executive officer and chief technology officer. Each, the CFPB alleged, helped direct the
strategy and business practices of the company from its founding through mid-2014.

T3Leads’ Unfair and Abusive Practices

The CFPB alleges that T3Leads bought leads and sold them to payday or installment
lenders and others with no regard for the promises lead generators made to consumers, or

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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for how the consumers’ information would be used. Buyers of leads from T3Leads include
lenders tied to Indian tribes or based in foreign jurisdictions. These lenders often skirt state
laws and deny the jurisdiction of U.S. courts. The CFPB alleges that T3Leads did not vet or
monitor its lead buyers, exploited consumers’ lack of understanding of the risks, costs, and
conditions of the loans applied for, and put consumer information at risk of being trafficked
for illegal purposes. The CFPB alleges that T3Leads violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that T3Leads:

Ignored false or misleading statements about lenders obtaining consumer
applications: Consumers who applied for loans through T3Leads’ lead generators had
no control over who received their application and had to trust T3Leads’ selection of
lenders in its network. But those lead generators suggested that its lenders met certain
standards, and often falsely claimed to match consumers with lenders that “follow the
rules” or offer “reasonable” terms.

Failed to vet or monitor purchasers: T3Leads failed to vet purchasers before adding
them to its network or selling them leads, and did not require lenders to provide
information about whether they complied with state laws.

Steered consumers toward unfavorable loans: T3Leads’ process often steered
consumers to lenders offering less favorable loan terms than otherwise available. In
particular, consumers were likely to be connected to lenders that ignore state usury
limits or claim immunity from state regulation and jurisdiction. These entities often
charge higher interest rates than lenders that do comply with state laws, and they often
paid the highest prices for leads from T3Leads.

The CFPB alleges that Gasparyan and Fomichev unlawfully provided substantial assistance
to T3Leads. Both respondents had significant responsibility for establishing T3Leads’s
policies and practices and, throughout their employment, had substantial control over the
company’s operations.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB can take action against institutions or individuals
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate federal
consumer financial laws. The complaints against Fomichev and Gasparyan seek monetary
relief, injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaints are not a finding or ruling that
the individuals have actually violated the law.

The lawsuit filed against Fomichev is available here:

The lawsuit filed against Gasparyan is available here:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-
financial-protection-act-of-2010-dmitry-fomichev-defendant.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-
financial-protection-act-of-2010-davit-gasparyan-aka-david-gasparyan.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-financial-protection-act-of-2010-dmitry-fomichev-defendant.pdf
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-financial-protection-act-of-2010-davit-gasparyan-aka-david-gasparyan.pdf
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The December 2015 lawsuit against T3Leads is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-lead-aggregators-
for-online-trafficking-of-personal-information/
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

 
Case No. 2:16-cv-2724 
 
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF 
THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT OF 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Introduction 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action 

against Dmitry Fomichev (Defendant or Fomichev) under the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(3), 5564, 5565. Fomichev 

co-founded D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads (T3), a lead aggregator that 

sells consumer-loan applications as “leads” to small-dollar lenders and other 

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau,  
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Dmitry Fomichev, 
 

Defendant. 

Case 2:16-cv-02724   Document 1   Filed 04/21/16   Page 1 of 14   Page ID #:1
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purchasers. T3 failed to vet or monitor its lead generators and lead purchasers, 

exposing consumers to the risk of having their information purchased by actors 

who would use it for illegal purposes. T3 allowed its lead generators to attract 

consumers with misleading statements and took unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the 

loan products for which they apply. T3’s conduct was unfair and abusive, in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). Fomichev knowingly or 

recklessly provided substantial assistance to T3 in its unfair and abusive acts and 

practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant because the 

causes of action arose from the Defendant’s conduct of business in this District, 

and the Defendant resides here. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

3. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial part of the acts or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here, and the Defendant transacted 

Case 2:16-cv-02724   Document 1   Filed 04/21/16   Page 2 of 14   Page ID #:2



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7  

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28  

 

3 
 

business in this district and resides in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and providing of consumer-financial products and 

services under “Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The 

Bureau is authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court, by its own 

attorneys, to address violations of “Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(a)-(b). 

5. Fomichev is a co-founder and was the Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Technical Officer of T3 from the company’s founding in 2005 through July 

2014. Fomichev had managerial responsibility for T3 and materially participated in 

the conduct of its affairs. Fomichev resides in this District and, in connection with 

the matters alleged, transacted business here.  

Factual Background 

6. D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads, is a California S-Corporation 

with its principal place of business at 4000 West Alameda Avenue, Suite 200, 

Burbank, California, 91436. T3 is in the business of receiving consumer-loan 

applications from lead generators and selling the applications as leads to small-

dollar lenders.  

Case 2:16-cv-02724   Document 1   Filed 04/21/16   Page 3 of 14   Page ID #:3
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7. Fomichev co-founded T3 in 2005 and claims to own 50% of the 

company.  

8. Fomichev served as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technical 

Officer of T3, and he was responsible for designing the proprietary software and 

systems used to transact T3’s business. 

9. Fomichev had substantial control over and involvement in the 

establishment of T3’s business policies and practices. 

10. T3 has a network of lead generators from which it receives 

applications and a network of purchasers to which it sells those applications. T3 

sometimes acted as its own lead generator, accepting applications directly from 

consumers.  

11. T3 does not share the identities of its lead generators with its 

purchasers, and T3 does not share the identities of its purchasers with its lead 

generators.  

12. Lead generators operate websites that advertise loans and through 

which consumers submit loan applications. Lead generators transfer the 

applications to T3, and T3 sells the applications to purchasers in its network. 

13. The purchasers include online small-dollar lenders, as well as data 

managers, data brokers, and remarketing companies.  

Case 2:16-cv-02724   Document 1   Filed 04/21/16   Page 4 of 14   Page ID #:4
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14. Lenders to which T3 sells applications extend credit in the form of 

small-dollar loans for use by consumers for personal, family, or household 

purposes, with an expectation that the principal, interest, and fees will be collected 

from consumers. 

15. Data managers are intermediaries for lenders that outsource their lead-

purchasing activities, and data brokers are lead aggregators that have their own 

networks of purchasers to which they sell applications after they purchase them 

from T3. T3 does not know the end purchasers of the applications it sells to data 

managers or data brokers. Remarketing companies buy consumer information to 

send marketing materials to consumers for products other than the loans for which 

consumers applied.  

16. To filter and sell applications to purchasers, T3 uses a “ping tree,” 

which sets the order in which purchasers have the opportunity to purchase a given 

application from T3. The position of each purchaser in the ping tree is determined 

primarily by the price the purchaser is willing to pay T3 for that application; the 

higher the price, the better the purchaser’s position in the ping tree.  

17. Fomichev shared responsibility for deciding the position of each 

purchaser in the ping tree and designed T3’s systems to filter and sell applications 

in the manner most profitable to T3, without regard for the practices of lead 

generators or purchasers.  
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18. A consumer who submits a loan application on a lead generator’s 

webpage is immediately redirected from that page to a lender’s webpage. This 

automated process takes just seconds, and the consumer is not informed that the 

loan application has been filtered through T3 or sold by T3.   

19. T3 does not continuously monitor lead generator websites to check for 

misleading or inaccurate statements to consumers.  

20. T3 regularly accepts applications from lead generators whose websites 

include misrepresentations that are likely to mislead consumers into believing that 

lenders to which they will be directed have been evaluated and meet certain 

standards, such as following rules and practices set by industry associations and 

government agencies or offering reasonable rates. 

21. T3 also accepts applications from lead generators who have 

incorrectly represented that they are themselves lenders and lead generators who 

have falsely suggested that they would help consumers find the best rates or lowest 

fees or that they would review consumers’ applications to match them with the 

most appropriate lenders. 

22. Despite the representations to consumers by some of them, T3’s lead 

generators typically do not provide loans directly to consumers, do not select the 

lenders that will see a consumer’s application, and have no involvement in 

determining or knowledge of the specific terms of the loan a consumer receives 
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after T3 sells the application. Indeed, lead generators forward applications to T3 

without regard for how the consumers’ information will be used. 

23. T3 does not require its purchasers to provide T3 with the precise loan 

terms that consumers will be offered, and T3 makes no attempt to match 

consumers with the best loan for their needs, as consumers are led to believe by 

some lead generators.  

24. T3 has reason to believe or knows that the applications it sells are 

likely to result in loans with interest rates that exceed state usury limits or 

otherwise fail to comply with laws of the state where the consumer is located. T3 

knows in advance of its sales the application parameters each of its purchasers will 

accept, and T3 knows the identity of each purchaser. T3 sells to these purchasers 

based on its own financial interests, without regard to representations to and 

expectations of consumers.    

25.  T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the 

ultimate purchasers of T3’s applications. T3 therefore does not know the identity 

of all lenders that obtain consumer applications through its lead-purchaser network. 

26. T3 does not vet or monitor the purchasers in its network for 

compliance with applicable laws. 

27. Many of T3’s lenders are entities organized by Indian tribes, known as 

tribal lenders, or organized under the laws of foreign jurisdictions, known as 
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offshore lenders. These lenders typically claim immunity from state regulation, do 

not comply with the laws of the states where the consumers to which they make 

loans are located, and do not concede that they are subject to jurisdiction in a 

forum convenient to the consumer. T3 fails to provide accurate information to 

consumers about the purchasers in T3’s network.  

28. Tribal lenders and offshore lenders typically charge higher interest 

rates than lenders adhering to state laws. Because they charge higher interest rates, 

these lenders generally are willing to pay more for applications and thus rank at the 

top of the T3 ping tree. 

29. Many of the tribal lenders among T3’s purchasers offer contracts 

providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and providing an 

exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process. 

30. Certain entities operating or purporting to operate in the small-dollar-

loan industry have engaged in a variety of fraudulent schemes involving 

applications purchased from lead aggregators. T3 knew or should have known of 

such fraudulent actors in the small-dollar-loan industry and the risk of purchasers 

using its applications for illegal purposes. 

31. In 2013, T3 requested information regarding whether its purchasers 

complied with the laws of the states where they made loans. Many of its purchasers 

failed to respond to this request, but T3 continued to do business with them.  
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32. Purchasers provide regular feedback to T3 regarding the quality of the 

purchased applications, including the number of applications that result in loans 

and reasons why some did not result in loans. T3 uses this information to evaluate 

its lead generators and refine its processing to optimize “conversion,” or the rate at 

which applications result in loans. This optimization is conducted for T3’s 

benefit—to sell more applications.  

33. T3 controls the information shared between its lead generators and its 

purchasers, allowing lead generators to claim ignorance of the terms of the loans 

offered to consumers and allowing purchasers to claim ignorance of the methods 

used to attract consumers. T3’s process allows some purchasers to receive 

applications that they have been prohibited from soliciting directly. 

Count I 
Substantial Assistance in T3’s Unfair Acts and Practices 

 
34. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 of 

this Complaint.  

35. The lenders to which T3 sells applications are “covered persons” 

under the CFPA—they extend credit for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i).  

36. T3 provides a material service to covered persons in connection with 

the offering or provision by the covered persons of a consumer-financial product or 
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service. T3 is a “service provider” to covered persons under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A). 

37. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C.  

§ 5531(c)(1). 

38. T3’s lead generators make statements to consumers regarding the 

lenders that will receive the consumers’ information and the loans those lenders 

will offer.  

39. T3 knows or should know of the lead generators’ statements and that 

they are often false and misleading.  

40. T3 does not vet or monitor its purchasers for illegal activity.  

41. T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the end 

purchasers of applications.  

42. Consumers are not notified that T3 is involved with processing their 

loan applications and cannot reasonably investigate or assess the reliability of the 

lenders to which their applications are ultimately sold.  

43. T3’s conduct is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers. 

44. The potential benefit of obtaining a loan is not outweighed by the 

likelihood of injury from T3’s failure to vet and monitor its purchasers. 
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45. T3’s conduct constitutes an unfair act or practice under 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

46. Fomichev had significant responsibility for establishing T3’s policies 

and practices, and, throughout his employment at T3, he had substantial control 

over T3 operations. 

47.  Fomichev knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in violation of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count II 
Substantial Assistance in T3’s Abusive Acts and Practices 

 
48. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 of 

this Complaint.  

49. The lenders to which T3 sells applications are “covered persons” 

under the CFPA—they extend credit for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i).  

50. T3 provides a material service to covered persons in connection with 

the offering or provision by the covered persons of a consumer financial product or 

service. T3 is a “service provider” to covered persons under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A). 
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51. An act or practice is abusive if it “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . 

a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or 

conditions of the product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

52. Contrary to representations by lead generators, consumers are likely to 

be steered, through T3’s ping tree, to lenders offering less-favorable terms than 

may otherwise be available to them. In particular, consumers are likely to be 

steered to lenders that charge higher interest rates than lenders that comply with 

state laws, that do not adhere to state usury limits, or that claim immunity from 

state regulation and jurisdiction. Consumers also are likely to be steered to lenders 

that offer contracts providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and 

providing an exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process.  

53. The possibility of being matched by T3 with a lender that offers less-

favorable terms than may otherwise be available is not disclosed to consumers by 

lead generators or T3. Only after consumers are filtered through the T3 ping tree 

and redirected from a lead generator’s page to a lender’s e-signature page can 

consumers find the offered terms and links to lengthy disclosures where lenders 

reveal material terms such as their tribal affiliation and claimed immunity.  

54. The inaccurate statements by T3’s lead generators decrease the 

likelihood that consumers will read the lengthy disclosures on a lender’s webpage. 
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55. The cost of a loan relative to what other lenders might offer, the law 

governing a loan contract, including whether the lender complies with laws of the 

consumer’s state, and the available forum for raising disputes with the lender or in 

which the consumer might be sued by the lender are material risks, costs, or 

conditions.  

56. T3 knows or should know of lead generators’ representations to 

consumers. T3 knows or should know that its process results in many, if not most, 

applications being steered to lenders that make loans to consumers that do not 

comport with express or implied representations made on lead-generator websites. 

57. T3’s conduct takes advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of 

the material risks, costs, or conditions of the products for which they apply and 

constitutes an abusive act or practice under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

58. Fomichev had significant responsibility for establishing T3’s policies 

and practices, and, throughout his employment at T3, he had substantial control 

over T3’s operations. 

59. Fomichev knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in violation of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 
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Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, the Plaintiff requests that the Court: 

1. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer 

injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility of effective 

final relief; 

2. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of 

the CFPA or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as defined by 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

3. grant additional injunctive relief as may be just and proper; 

4. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendant; 

5. order Defendant to pay redress to harmed consumers; 

6. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues from Defendant; 

7. impose civil money penalties against Defendant; 

8. order Defendant to pay Plaintiff’s costs and fees incurred in 

connection with prosecuting this action; and 

9. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

Dated: April 21, 2016    Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Leanne E. Hartmann 
Leanne E. Hartmann (CA Bar #264787) 
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  Press Release

CFPB Takes Action Against Co-Founders of Online Lead
Aggregator

CFPB Targets Davit Gasparyan and Dmitry Fomichev, Who Operated Company that
Sold Consumers’ Loan Applications Without Safeguards

APR 21, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against two co-founders of a company that resold loan applications containing sensitive
personal data to lenders and data brokers without assessing the sources of those leads or
the purchasers they sold to. In complaints filed today in federal court, the CFPB alleged that
Dmitry Fomichev and Davit Gasparyan (also known as David Gasparyan) co-founded and
operated T3Leads, a lead aggregator that bought and sold payday and installment loan
applications without properly vetting buyers and sellers. The CFPB filed a separate lawsuit
against T3Leads and two other individuals in December 2015.

“T3Leads steered consumers toward bad deals with lenders it didn’t vet and with no regard
for how the consumers’ information would be used,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“This is a reminder to the middlemen who buy and sell consumer loan applications: if you
engage in this type of conduct, you risk the consequences for harming people.”

T3Leads is based in Burbank, Calif., and is owned by Grigor and Marina Demirchyan. Lead
aggregators buy consumer information – called leads – from lead generators, websites that
market payday and installment loans. Leads contain personal information such as
consumers’ names, telephone numbers, home and email addresses, references, and
employer information.

Fomichev and Gasparyan co-founded T3Leads in 2005. The CFPB alleged that Gasparyan
served as chief financial officer and chief marketing officer, while Fomichev served as chief
executive officer and chief technology officer. Each, the CFPB alleged, helped direct the
strategy and business practices of the company from its founding through mid-2014.

T3Leads’ Unfair and Abusive Practices

The CFPB alleges that T3Leads bought leads and sold them to payday or installment
lenders and others with no regard for the promises lead generators made to consumers, or

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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for how the consumers’ information would be used. Buyers of leads from T3Leads include
lenders tied to Indian tribes or based in foreign jurisdictions. These lenders often skirt state
laws and deny the jurisdiction of U.S. courts. The CFPB alleges that T3Leads did not vet or
monitor its lead buyers, exploited consumers’ lack of understanding of the risks, costs, and
conditions of the loans applied for, and put consumer information at risk of being trafficked
for illegal purposes. The CFPB alleges that T3Leads violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that T3Leads:

Ignored false or misleading statements about lenders obtaining consumer
applications: Consumers who applied for loans through T3Leads’ lead generators had
no control over who received their application and had to trust T3Leads’ selection of
lenders in its network. But those lead generators suggested that its lenders met certain
standards, and often falsely claimed to match consumers with lenders that “follow the
rules” or offer “reasonable” terms.

Failed to vet or monitor purchasers: T3Leads failed to vet purchasers before adding
them to its network or selling them leads, and did not require lenders to provide
information about whether they complied with state laws.

Steered consumers toward unfavorable loans: T3Leads’ process often steered
consumers to lenders offering less favorable loan terms than otherwise available. In
particular, consumers were likely to be connected to lenders that ignore state usury
limits or claim immunity from state regulation and jurisdiction. These entities often
charge higher interest rates than lenders that do comply with state laws, and they often
paid the highest prices for leads from T3Leads.

The CFPB alleges that Gasparyan and Fomichev unlawfully provided substantial assistance
to T3Leads. Both respondents had significant responsibility for establishing T3Leads’s
policies and practices and, throughout their employment, had substantial control over the
company’s operations.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB can take action against institutions or individuals
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate federal
consumer financial laws. The complaints against Fomichev and Gasparyan seek monetary
relief, injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaints are not a finding or ruling that
the individuals have actually violated the law.

The lawsuit filed against Fomichev is available here:

The lawsuit filed against Gasparyan is available here:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-
financial-protection-act-of-2010-dmitry-fomichev-defendant.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-
financial-protection-act-of-2010-davit-gasparyan-aka-david-gasparyan.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-financial-protection-act-of-2010-dmitry-fomichev-defendant.pdf
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201604_cfpb_complaint-for-violations-of-the-consumer-financial-protection-act-of-2010-davit-gasparyan-aka-david-gasparyan.pdf
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The December 2015 lawsuit against T3Leads is available at:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-lead-aggregators-
for-online-trafficking-of-personal-information/

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Topics:

PRESS INFORMATION

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the press
office.

STAY INFORMED

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates.

Email address (required)

example@mail.com

The information you provide will permit the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to process
your request or inquiry. See more.

Sign up

ENFORCEMENT•

Go to press resources page

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-lead-aggregators-for-online-trafficking-of-personal-information/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/generic-email-sign-privacy-act-statement/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_topics=Enforcement
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/press-resources/


9/14/2016 CFPB Takes Action Against CoFounders of Online Lead Aggregator | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/aboutus/newsroom/cfpbtakesactionagainstcofoundersofonlineleadaggregator/ 4/4

FOIA

Plain Writing

Privacy, Policy & Legal Notices

Digital Privacy Policy

Open Government

Accessibility

Office of Civil Rights

No FEAR Act Data

Tribal

An official website of the United States Government

Contact Us

Newsroom

Careers

CFPB Ombudsman

USA.gov 

Office of Inspector General 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia-requests/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/digital-privacy-policy/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/open-government/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/office-civil-rights/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/office-civil-rights/no-fear-act/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/tribal/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/contact-us/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/careers/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/cfpb-ombudsman/
http://usa.gov/
http://www.federalreserve.gov/oig/default.htm


FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: 
April 25, 2016 

CONTACT: 
Office of Communications 
Tel: (202) 435-7170 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU TAKES ACTION TO HALT 
ILLEGAL DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES BY LAWSUIT MILL AND DEBT BUYER 
CFPB Bars Law Firm, Debt Buyer from Churning Out Illegal Collections Lawsuits and 

Imposes $2.5 Million in Penalties 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 
ordered the debt collection law firm Pressler & Pressler, LLP, two principal partners, 
and New Century Financial Services, Inc., a debt buyer, to stop churning out unfair and 
deceptive debt collection lawsuits based on flimsy or nonexistent evidence. The 
consent orders bar the companies and individuals from illegal practices that can 
deceive or intimidate consumers, such as filing lawsuits without determining if debts in 
question are valid. The orders also require the firm and the named partners to pay $1 
million, and New Century to pay $1.5 million to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

“For years, Pressler & Pressler churned out one lawsuit after another to collect debts 
for New Century that were not verified and might not exist,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Debt collectors that file lawsuits with no regard for their validity break 
the law and violate the public trust. We will continue to take action to protect borrowers 
from abuse." 

Pressler & Pressler is a New Jersey-based law firm that collects consumers’ debts for 
creditors through lawsuits and other means. New Century Financial Services, also 
based in New Jersey, buys and collects defaulted consumer debts and hands off those 
accounts to Pressler & Pressler for collection. To collect alleged debts on behalf of 
New Century and others, Pressler & Pressler filed hundreds of thousands of lawsuits 
against consumers.  Sheldon H. Pressler and Gerard J. Felt, partners of the firm, each 
participated in the firm’s debt collection litigation practices. 

The CFPB found that to mass-produce these lawsuits, Pressler & Pressler used an 
automated claim-preparation system and non-attorney support staff to determine which 
consumers to sue. Attorneys generally spent less than a few minutes, sometimes less 
than 30 seconds, reviewing each case before initiating a lawsuit. This process allowed 
the firm to generate and file hundreds of thousands of lawsuits against consumers in 
New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania between 2009 and 2014. The CFPB found 
that the respondents violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which prohibits unfair and 
deceptive acts or practices in the consumer financial marketplace. Specifically, the 
CFPB found that Pressler & Pressler, the firm’s named partners, and New Century 
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Financial Services: 

• Made false or empty allegations about consumer debts: The CFPB found 
that the firm, the named partners, and New Century filed lawsuits against 
consumers without sufficient basis. Neither the firm nor New Century reviewed 
documents supporting the validity of debts. 

• Filed lawsuits based on unreliable or false information: Some consumers 
had previously challenged the validity or accuracy of the debts, but the firm or 
New Century did not obtain or review information to justify their claims. The firm 
and New Century also filed suits and collected debt knowing that some account 
portfolios targeted for lawsuits contained unreliable or false information. 

• Harassed consumers with unsubstantiated court filings: The CFPB found 
that the firm, the named partners, and New Century filed collection suits 
generated mainly by automated processes that relied on summary data. The 
firm won the vast majority of the lawsuits by default when consumers did not 
defend themselves, even though neither Pressler & Pressler nor New Century 
had verified that the debts were actually owed. 

Enforcement Action 
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals that engage in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
The CFPB also has authority over debt collection practices under the Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act. The CFPB orders require that Pressler & Pressler, the firm’s 
named partners, and New Century Financial Services must: 

• Stop filing lawsuits with unsubstantiated claims: Pressler & Pressler, the 
named partners, and New Century cannot file lawsuits or threaten to sue to 
collect debts unless they obtain and review specific account-level documents 
and information showing the debt is accurate and enforceable. 

• Ensure accurate court filings: The firm, the named partners, and New 
Century may not use affidavits as evidence to collect debts unless they 
accurately describe relevant facts including that the individual executing the 
affidavit has personal knowledge of the debt, or, if not, has reviewed 
documentation related to the debt. The firm must also keep an electronic 
record showing it is following proper procedures. 

• Pay civil penalties: The firm and the named partners must pay a penalty of $1 
million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. New Century must pay a penalty of 
$1.5 million. 

The CFPB’s order against Pressler & Pressler and the named partners is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201604_cfpb_consent-order-pressler-
pressler-llp-sheldon-h-pressler-and-gerard-j-felt.pdf 

The CFPB’s order against New Century Financial Services is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201604_cfpb_consent-order_new-
century-financial-services-inc.pdf 
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This action continues the Bureau’s work to address illegal debt collection practices 
across the consumer financial marketplace, including companies that sell, buy, and 
collect debt. In recent separate enforcement actions, the CFPB has ordered large 
banks, credit card issuers, debt buyers, and firms to overhaul their debt collection 
practices and refund millions to harmed consumers. The Bureau will continue working 
to ensure all players in the collections market treat consumers fairly. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

75. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its officers or its employees, to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 25th day of April, 2016. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

26 

2016-CFPB-0010     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 26 of 26



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

     CONSENT ORDER

I 
Jurisdiction

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 1 of 29



II
Stipulation

III
Definitions

Charge-off

Charge-off Balance

Collection Suit

Consumer

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 2 of 29



Creditor

Debt

Debt Buyer

Debt Seller

Effective Date

Enforcement Director

Original Account-Level Documentation

Purchase Contract

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 3 of 29



Related Consumer Action

Respondents”

IV

Bureau Findings and Conclusions

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 4 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 5 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 6 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 7 of 29



Violations of the FDCPA and the CFPA

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 8 of 29



False or Unsubstantiated Representations About Owing a Debt

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 9 of 29



Unfair Litigation Activities

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 10 of 29



ORDER

V 

Conduct Provisions

IT IS ORDERED, 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 11 of 29



Prohibiting Debt-Collection Litigation Activities
Without a Reasonable Basis

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 12 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 13 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 14 of 29



Prohibiting the Use of Deceptive Affidavits

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 15 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 16 of 29



Prohibiting Certain Pre-Judgment Discovery Practices

Additional Conduct Provisions

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 17 of 29



  

Implementation Schedule

VI

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 18 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 19 of 29



VII

Additional Monetary Provisions

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 20 of 29



VIII 

Reporting Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 21 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 22 of 29



IX

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 23 of 29



X

Recordkeeping

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

XI 

Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 24 of 29



XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 25 of 29



XIV

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 26 of 29



XV

Administrative Provisions

2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 27 of 29



2016-CFPB-0009     Document 1     Filed 04/25/2016     Page 28 of 29



representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

81. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, the Firm's officers or its employees, to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 25th day of April, 2016. 

Adt,-4A0.
CrVaA/f/bRichard Cordray 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: 
April 25, 2016 

CONTACT: 
Office of Communications 
Tel: (202) 435-7170 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU TAKES ACTION TO HALT 
ILLEGAL DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES BY LAWSUIT MILL AND DEBT BUYER 
CFPB Bars Law Firm, Debt Buyer from Churning Out Illegal Collections Lawsuits and 

Imposes $2.5 Million in Penalties 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 
ordered the debt collection law firm Pressler & Pressler, LLP, two principal partners, 
and New Century Financial Services, Inc., a debt buyer, to stop churning out unfair and 
deceptive debt collection lawsuits based on flimsy or nonexistent evidence. The 
consent orders bar the companies and individuals from illegal practices that can 
deceive or intimidate consumers, such as filing lawsuits without determining if debts in 
question are valid. The orders also require the firm and the named partners to pay $1 
million, and New Century to pay $1.5 million to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

“For years, Pressler & Pressler churned out one lawsuit after another to collect debts 
for New Century that were not verified and might not exist,” said CFPB Director 
Richard Cordray. “Debt collectors that file lawsuits with no regard for their validity break 
the law and violate the public trust. We will continue to take action to protect borrowers 
from abuse." 

Pressler & Pressler is a New Jersey-based law firm that collects consumers’ debts for 
creditors through lawsuits and other means. New Century Financial Services, also 
based in New Jersey, buys and collects defaulted consumer debts and hands off those 
accounts to Pressler & Pressler for collection. To collect alleged debts on behalf of 
New Century and others, Pressler & Pressler filed hundreds of thousands of lawsuits 
against consumers.  Sheldon H. Pressler and Gerard J. Felt, partners of the firm, each 
participated in the firm’s debt collection litigation practices. 

The CFPB found that to mass-produce these lawsuits, Pressler & Pressler used an 
automated claim-preparation system and non-attorney support staff to determine which 
consumers to sue. Attorneys generally spent less than a few minutes, sometimes less 
than 30 seconds, reviewing each case before initiating a lawsuit. This process allowed 
the firm to generate and file hundreds of thousands of lawsuits against consumers in 
New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania between 2009 and 2014. The CFPB found 
that the respondents violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which prohibits unfair and 
deceptive acts or practices in the consumer financial marketplace. Specifically, the 
CFPB found that Pressler & Pressler, the firm’s named partners, and New Century 
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Financial Services: 

• Made false or empty allegations about consumer debts: The CFPB found 
that the firm, the named partners, and New Century filed lawsuits against 
consumers without sufficient basis. Neither the firm nor New Century reviewed 
documents supporting the validity of debts. 

• Filed lawsuits based on unreliable or false information: Some consumers 
had previously challenged the validity or accuracy of the debts, but the firm or 
New Century did not obtain or review information to justify their claims. The firm 
and New Century also filed suits and collected debt knowing that some account 
portfolios targeted for lawsuits contained unreliable or false information. 

• Harassed consumers with unsubstantiated court filings: The CFPB found 
that the firm, the named partners, and New Century filed collection suits 
generated mainly by automated processes that relied on summary data. The 
firm won the vast majority of the lawsuits by default when consumers did not 
defend themselves, even though neither Pressler & Pressler nor New Century 
had verified that the debts were actually owed. 

Enforcement Action 
Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 
institutions or individuals that engage in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 
The CFPB also has authority over debt collection practices under the Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act. The CFPB orders require that Pressler & Pressler, the firm’s 
named partners, and New Century Financial Services must: 

• Stop filing lawsuits with unsubstantiated claims: Pressler & Pressler, the 
named partners, and New Century cannot file lawsuits or threaten to sue to 
collect debts unless they obtain and review specific account-level documents 
and information showing the debt is accurate and enforceable. 

• Ensure accurate court filings: The firm, the named partners, and New 
Century may not use affidavits as evidence to collect debts unless they 
accurately describe relevant facts including that the individual executing the 
affidavit has personal knowledge of the debt, or, if not, has reviewed 
documentation related to the debt. The firm must also keep an electronic 
record showing it is following proper procedures. 

• Pay civil penalties: The firm and the named partners must pay a penalty of $1 
million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. New Century must pay a penalty of 
$1.5 million. 

The CFPB’s order against Pressler & Pressler and the named partners is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201604_cfpb_consent-order-pressler-
pressler-llp-sheldon-h-pressler-and-gerard-j-felt.pdf 

The CFPB’s order against New Century Financial Services is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201604_cfpb_consent-order_new-
century-financial-services-inc.pdf 
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This action continues the Bureau’s work to address illegal debt collection practices 
across the consumer financial marketplace, including companies that sell, buy, and 
collect debt. In recent separate enforcement actions, the CFPB has ordered large 
banks, credit card issuers, debt buyers, and firms to overhaul their debt collection 
practices and refund millions to harmed consumers. The Bureau will continue working 
to ensure all players in the collections market treat consumers fairly. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 
consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 
fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over 
their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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DEI'UTY 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

All American Check Cashing, Inc.; Mid
State Finance, Inc.; and Michael E. Gray, 
individually; 

Defendants. 

Case No. -3 :f'ew35 ~ hJ/f8- ;TC{;r--

COMPUUNTFORPERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("Bureau"), alleges the 

following against All American Check Cashing, Inc. and Mid-State Finance, Inc. 

(together, "AACC") and Michael E. Gray ("Mr. Gray") (together, "Defendants"): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action based on Defendants' violations of Sections 

1031(a) , 1036(a), and 1054(a) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), and 5564(a), in connection with their offering 

and providing of payday loans and check cashing services. 

2. The Bureau seeks permanent injunctive relief, restitution, refunds, 

disgorgement , damages, civil money penalties, and other relief for Defendants' 

violations of Federal consumer financial law. 
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JURISDICfiON AND VENUE 

3. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

u.s.c. § 1345· 

4· Venue is proper in this District because Defendants are located, reside, and 

do business in this District and because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the claims occurred here. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), and 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

s. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under Federal 

consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent litigating 

authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws, including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(a) and (b), 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a). 

DEFENDANTS 

6. All American Check Cashing, Inc. is a Mississippi corporation with its 

principal place of business at 505 Cobblestone Court, Suite B, Madison, MS, 39110. All 

American Check Cashing, Inc. has approximately so stores located in Mississippi, 

Alabama, and Louisiana, the majority of which are in Mississippi. At all times material 

to this complaint, All American Check Cashing, Inc. has offered and provided short

term, high-cost loans ("payday loans") and check cashing to consumers. These 

products and services are "consumer financial product[s] or service[s]" as defined 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15). All American Check Cashing, Inc. is 
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therefore a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). At all times 

material to this complaint, All American Check Cashing, Inc. has transacted business 

in the Southern District of Mississippi. 

7. Mid-State Finance, Inc., dfb/a Thrifty Check Advance, is a Mississippi 

corporation with its principal place of business at 505 Cobblestone Court, Suite B, 

Madison, MS, 39110. Mid-State Finance, Inc. has at least one store, in Pearl, 

Mississippi. At all times material to this complaint, Mid-State Finance, Inc. has offered 

and provided payday loans and check cashing to consumers. These products and 

services are "consumer financial product[s] or service[s]" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(5), (15). Mid-State Finance, Inc. is therefore a "covered person" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). At all times material to this complaint, Mid-State Finance, 

Inc. has transacted business in the Southern District of Mississippi. 

8. Mr. Gray is the president and sole owner of All American Check Cashing, Inc. 

and Mid-State Finance, Inc. (together, "AACC"). Mr. Gray resides in Madison, 

Mississippi. Mr. Gray founded All American Check Cashing, Inc. in 1999, and 

purchased Mid-State Finance, Inc. approximately ten years later. At all times material 

to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Mr. Gray formulated, 

directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of AACC, including the 

acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. At all times material to this Complaint, 

Mr. Gray has been a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility at AACC. Mr. Gray has also materially participated in the conduct of 

AACC's affairs, including the development and approval of the practices complained of 

herein. Mr. Gray is a "related person" and a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 
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U.S.C. § 5481(6), (25). At all times material to this Complaint, Mr. Gray has transacted 

business in the Southern District of Mississippi. 

AACC'S CHECK CASHING BUSINESS 

9· AACC began offering check cashing services in Mississippi in March 1999, in 

Louisiana in July 2012, and in Alabama in October 2013. 

10. AACC charges consumers a fee to cash their checks. In Mississippi and 

Alabama, AACC's policy is to charge consumers 3% of the amount of the check to cash 

government-issued checks, and 5% of the amount of the check to cash other checks. In 

Louisiana, AACC's policy is to charge consumers 2% of the amount of the check to cash 

government-issued checks, and s% of the amount of the check to cash other checks. In 

addition, in all states, AACC's policy is to charge a minimum fee of $5. There are 

businesses and financial institutions located near AACC stores that charge consumers 

lower fees to cash a check. 

11. AACC's check cashing business has been lucrative. In recent years, AACC 

has cashed about 12,000 to 17,000 checks and collected more than approximately $1 

million in check cashing fees, annually. 

AACC's policy and practice of refusing to disclose 
the check cashing fee to consumers 

12. Because the check cashing fees are fixed, when a consumer presents a check 

to AACC to cash, the AACC employee knows the fee structure (e.g. 3% or 5%). To 

determine the particular fee percentage a consumer will pay, the only information the 

AACC employee needs to know is whether or not the check is a government check, 

which the employee can almost always determine by looking at the face of the check. 

In addition, if the employee calculates the fee or knows that the $5 minimum applies, 
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the employee also knows the dollar amount of the fee. 

13. AACC prohibits employees from orally disclosing to consumers the fee 

structure (e.g. 3% or 5%), the fee percentage that applies to a transaction (e.g. 3%), or 

the dollar amount of the fee, at any point during a check cashing transaction, even 

when a consumer asks the employee what the fee is. 

14. AACC's policy and training documents instruct employees to "[n]evertell 

the customer the fee" and "[n]ever quote the fee or the percentage to the customer[.]" 

15. AACC regularly trains and monitors its employees to ensure that they 

adhere to this prohibition. For example, AACC provides a training presentation to new· 

employees instructing them to "NEVER TELL THE CUSTOMER THE FEE." 

16. In a January 5, 2013 email, Mr. Gray listed the check cashing methods and 

systems he created, including: "NEVER spout off the fee in dollars or in percent." 

17. When a consumer presents AACC with a check, AACC instructs its 

employees to "verify" the check by calling the issuer to confirm the check's authenticity 

and to "process" the check by entering data from the check into a store computer and 

preparing the cash and receipt for the consumer. AACC requires its employees to 

verify and process the check and provide the cash and receipt to the consumer without 

ever disclosing the fee or obtaining the consumer's consent to the transaction, even 

when a consumer asks how much it costs to cash a check. 

18. When a consumer asks how much it costs to cash a check, AACC requires 

employees to deflect the question long enough to verify and process the check. For 

example, AACC instructs employees to say that the employees are not sure what the 

fee is and need to take additional steps to determine the fee, such as putting 

information in the store's computer, processing the check, or verifying the check. 

-5-
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AACC also trains employees to falsely state "I will let you know [the fee] in just a 

moment," or state that the fee depends on the company that issued the check. 

19. In both Mississippi and Louisiana, two of the jurisdictions within which 

AACC operates, the law provides for certain disclosures related to fees for check 

cashing services. At all times relevant to the allegations in this Complaint, AACC and 

Gray formulated and carried out a program aimed at subverting these consumer 

protections. 

20. Mississippi law requires that consumers sign an acknowledgment of the 

fees charged when cashing a check. The receipt that AACC provides to consumers to 

sign at the end of the transaction lists the fee charged, but AACC requires employees to 

"[c]ount money out over receipt" to block the consumer's view of the fee. Employees 

sometimes use other items to cover the fee, such as small giveaways. AACC also 

instructs employees to minimize the amount of time that the consumer can see the 

receipt before signing it. AACC instructs its employees to "keep [the] receipt away 

from customer as much as possible," "keep the [receipt] for [the consumer] to sign on 

the counter for only a second," and "remove [the] receipt and check as quickly as 

possible." One former supervisor stated, "Employees at the stores I supervised asked 

customers to sign the receipt after the money was counted out over the receipt, so 

customers would not have a clear view of the fees listed on the receipt before signing 

it." Even if the consumer sees the fee on the receipt, the receipt lists the "Fee Charged" 

and the "Date Cashed" in the past tense, indicating that the transaction has been 

completed and the fee already charged. 

21. In both Mississippi and Louisiana, AACC is required to display a sign listing 

the fee percentages that AACC charges to cash checks. AACC does not permit 
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employees to direct a consumer's attention to the sign, even if the consumer asks 

about the amount of the fee. In fact, AACC seeks to prevent consumers from seeing the 

sign. In AACC stores, the sign is placed under the counter. Per company policy, AACC 

employees must direct consumers to a seat in the lobby while their check is being 

verified and processed, and ensure that the consumer's time at the counter is as 

minimal as possible. The information on the sign can be difficult to read from the 

lobby. One former employee stated that he was told by a store manager to keep the 

consumer's time at the counter as short as possible "to minimize the chance that the 

customer would see the fees listed on the sign under the counter[.]" 

22. AACC also trains employees to distract consumers from finding out the fee 

by engaging in small talk, providing consumers with information not relevant to the 

transaction, showing them the cash, and providing small, free gifts. During one 

training, AACC instructed employees to ensure "[c]onstant information [is] given to 

customer" so that "they are overwhelmed with info." AACC's goal is to distract 

consumers as much as possible so that transactions can be completed without 

consumers learning the fee. 

23. One consumer describedAACC's failure to disclose its check cashing fee as 

follows: 

I went into All American Check Cashing ... to cash my tax refund check 
which was roughly $4100. Upon asking how much the fee would be I was 
told that it wouldnt be expensive. There were no signs in the... building 
telling customers how much their services were. So, once my check was 
cashed, the guy ... brung me my money. While he was counting the money, 
I kept asking how much did yall charge because he kept my ID over the 
amount charged and everytime I would move the ID he would grab it back 
so I wouldnt see the fee. I was charged $200+!!!!! Im very upset that I was 
overcharged ... On top of that, they provided no paperwork. Something has 
got to be done. 
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AACC's policy and practice of making it difficult for consumers 
to cancel or reverse a check cashing transaction 

24. AACC compounds its obfuscation of check cashing fees by making it 

difficult or impossible for consumers to cancel or reverse a check cashing transaction if 

and when they do learn the fee. AACC does this by, among other things, making 

misrepresentations about the consumer's ability to cancel or reverse a transaction, and 

taking steps during processing that make it difficult or impossible for the consumer to 

cash a check elsewhere. 

25. According to one former supervisor, "the only time you ever have the 

transaction voided ... is if the customer is pretty much kicking and screaming, fussing, 

cussing[.]" 

26. In some cases, AACC makes false or misleading representations to 

discourage consumers from cancelling or reversing a transaction. For example, 

employees sometimes falsely say that because of steps taken by AACC during 

processing, the consumer cannot reverse the transaction and cash the check 

elsewhere, even when the consumer could, in fact, reverse the transaction and cash the 

check elsewhere. Employees also foster the misimpression that if the check is taken to 

a bank, then the bank will hold the check for a long period of time - further delaying 

consumers' access to their funds -when the AACC employees do not know whether or 

not this is true. Employees also tell consumers that it will take a long time to void or 

reverse a transaction, when this is not true. 

27. In some instances, the steps AACC takes while processing a check actually 

do make it difficult or impossible for the consumer to cash the check elsewhere, and 

thus AACC locks the consumer into the transaction. For example, when processing a 
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check, employees sometimes apply a stamp to the back of the check - such as, "FOR 

DEPOSIT ONLY: ALL AMERICAN CHECK CASHING INC" - that prevents or 

interferes with the consumer's ability to cash the check elsewhere. Some employees 

stamp a consumer's check and then, if the consumer becomes upset about fee, tell the 

consumer that the consumer cannot cash that check elsewhere. 

28. AACC also uses physical custody of the check to control consumers and to 

compel consumers to pay the fee even if they object. Training documents instruct 

employees to "[a]lways keep the check" because doing so "[k]eeps [the employee] in 

control of the situation" so the "[c]ustomer can't just walk out and leave without 

talking to you." 

Creation and implementation of AACC's check cashing p~licies 

29. AACC and Mr. Gray promoted the check cashing policies and procedures 

described in Paragraphs 12 to 28. Mr. Gray created, or specifically approved, many of 

these policies and procedures. These policies and procedures are widely implemented 

atAACC. 

go. AACC and Mr. Gray devote substantial resources to ensure that employees 

at every store strictly follow the check cashing policies and procedures in every 

transaction. For example, AACC performs regular audits of its stores to ensure that 

employees follow its check cashing policies. In addition, a supervisor visits stores to 

conduct demonstrations and practice sessions with employees on how to cash a check 

according to the policies and procedures set forth in Paragraphs 12 to 28. 

31. AACC and Mr. Gray provide store managers and supervisors with incentives 

to ensure they follow AACC's check cashing policies and procedures. For example, 

managers and supervisors can increase their monthly bonuses by increasing check 
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cashing fees collected at their stores. 

32. As a result of the check cashing practices and policies, described in 

Paragraphs 12 to 28, consumers who do not know the fee for cashing a check are 

prevented or hindered from discovering it and prevented or hindered from stopping or 

reversing a transaction if they do learn the check cashing fee and seek to cancel the 

transaction. 

AACC'S PAYDAY LENDING BUSINESS 

33. AACC offers payday loans to consumers in its stores in Mississippi, 

Louisiana, and Alabama. AACC began offering payday loans in Mississippi in March 

1999, in Louisiana in July 2012, and in Alabama in October 2013. 

34. AACC provides payday loans to consumers who receive benefits or 

paychecks once a month ("monthly consumers"). Monthly consumers include 

individuals who receive government benefits, such as Supplemental Security Income 

(SSI) and Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI), and individuals paid by their 

employers once per month. 

35· Unlike many of its competitors, AACC does not provide 30-day loans to 

monthly consumers. Instead, AACC has provided these consumers with multiple two

week loans over the course of the month. By borrowing from AACC, these consumers 

pay more in fees for the same or less net cash received during the month. 

Nevertheless, AACC has deceptively represented to consumers that borrowing from 

AACC in this manner is more financially beneficial than, or at least financially 

equivalent to, taking out a 30-day loan from one of AACC's competitors. 

Regulatory background 

36. In Mississippi, AACC offers two payday loan products: a two-week loan of 
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$100 for a $20 fee, and a two-week loan of $200 for a $40 fee. AACC does not offer 

loans above $250 because, although the maximum permissible fee under Mississippi 

state law is slightly higher ($21.95 for every $100 loaned), Mississippi law requires 

that loans in excess of $250 have a loan term of 28 to 30 days. Miss. Code. § 75-67-

519(1), (4). 

37· Mississippi law prohibits lenders from "rolling over" a consumer's loan, i.e. 

providing the consumer with a new loan to pay back an outstanding loan from the 

same lender. Miss. Code.§ 75-67-519(5). 

38. In Louisiana, although a payday loan term can be up to 30 days, AACC 

offers only two-week loans. Lenders may not roll over loans in Louisiana, although a 

lender may accept a partial payment of 25% of the amount advanced plus the fee and 

then enter into a new transaction for the remaining balance. La. Rev. Stat. §§ 

39. In Alabama, although a payday loan term can be up to 31 days, AACC offers 

only two-week loans. Under Alabama law, one rollover is permitted for a maximum of 

two continuous transactions. Ala. Code §§ 5-18A-13(c); 5-18A-12(b). 

40. AACC has regularly rolled over consumers' loans, even when it is illegal to 

do so under state law. 

AACC's practice of lending to consumers who are paid monthly, 
or "1st and srd lending" 

41. Instead of a 30-day loan, AACC has provided monthly consumers with one 

or more two-week loans during the course of a single month, typically in the beginning 

of the month and in the middle of the month. AACC often refers to this lending 

practice as "Lending on the 1st and 3rd" or "Loaning on the 1st and 3rd," in part 
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because many monthly consumers regularly come into an AACC store in the beginning 

of the month - on the 1st or the 3rd day of the month. AACC has also referred to this 

practice as the "Monthly Lending Program." 

42. Since at least 2011, AACC has implemented Lending on the 1st and 3rd ("1st 

and 3rd lending" or "1st and 3rd lending program") in Mississippi, Alabama, and 

Louisiana. 

43· In implementing 1st and 3rd lending, AACC frequently has used consumer's 

loan(s) in the middle of the month to pay back the consumer's loan(s) from the 

beginning of the month, i.e. rolled over the loan(s). AACC has often loaned monthly 

consumers more in the middle of the month than in the beginning of the month. 

44· By borrowing from AACC through 1st and 3rd lending rather than taking 

out a 30-day loan from a competitor, consumers pay more in fees for the same or less 

net cash received during the month. 

45. On multiple occasions, AACC distributed a training document to employees 

describing 1st and 3rd lending, which was also posted on the company's intranet. 

AACC used the document to instruct employees on how to implement 1st and 3rd 

lending, including during breakout sessions at company-wide meetings. The document 

uses the following example of how to implement 1st and 3rd lending for a consumer in 

Mississippi: 

a. At the beginning of the month, when Mary comes to the store to pay off 

her loans, employees "[i]mmediately start selling her on getting part of her 

money back today." 

b. Mary takes out a two-week loan for $2oo. This loan has a $40 fee. 

c. In the middle of the month, Mary brings in $40. She then takes out two 
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two-week loans of $200 each. Mary combines the $40 that she brought in 

with $200 from one of the loans to pay back the loan and fee from the 

beginning of the month. In other words, the loan from the beginning of the 

month is rolled over. Mary leaves with the $200 from the second loan. 

d. At the beginning of the next month, after receiving her monthly income, 

Mary pays the $480 due ( $400 in principal plus an $8o fee from the two 

loans from the middle of the month). 

46. In the example in Paragraph 45, the consumer pays $120 in fees during the 

course of the month in return for leaving the store with a total of $400: $200 in the 

beginning of the month and $200 in the middle of the month. As shown in the chart 

below, AACC charged the consumer significantly more fees through 1st and grd 

lending than the consumer would have paid for a go-day loan of $400 from a 

competitor. 

$400 to.colisumer fro111 $400 to consu~er from 
one 30-d~y loan · · · three two-week loans 

Fee in beginning of $87.80 (for $4oo~loan) $40 (for $200 loan) 
month 

Fees in middle of None $40 (for $200 loan to pay 
month back first loan) 

$40 (for an additional $200 
loan) 

Total fees $87.80 $120 

Total cash received $400 (all in beginning) $400 ( $200 in beginning, 
$200 in middle) 

47. The exact implementation of 1st and grd lending has varied. For example, 

some monthly consumers have borrowed $100 or $goo in the beginning of the month, 

rather than $200. In addition, monthly consumers sometimes have brought in nothing 

at all or the entire amount due mid-month. In all these circumstances, monthly 
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consumers still pay more in fees for the same or less net cash received than if they had 

borrowed a go-day loan from a competitor. An AACC supervisor highlighted how 

costly AACC 1st and 3rd lending is compared to competitor 30-day loans: 

The most common implementation of [1st and 3rd lending] that I saw was 
that the customer would borrow $goo at the beginning of the month and 
then return in the middle of the month without any money. The customer 
would borrow an additional $400 in the middle of the month and use 
$g6o to pay back the loan ( $300) plus the fee ( $6o) from the beginning of 
the month. The customer would then leave the store with the remaining 
cash, which was $40. The customer would owe $480 at the beginning of 
the next month. In this situation, the customer paid $140 in fees during 
the month. If the customer had taken out a 30-day loan for $400 from a 
competitor instead, the customer would have paid only $87.80 in fees. 

AACC made deceptive statements to consumers 
in implementing 1St and 3rd lending 

48. AACC has represented to consumers that borrowing pursuant to 1st and 3rd 

lending was more financially beneficial than, or at least financially equivalent to, 

taking out a 30-day loan from one of AACC's competitors. For example, AACC has 

represented to consumers that "the fees are higher for competitors that offer [loans 

for] 30 days" and that "[c]ompetitors that offer 30 day advances are not able to help 

their customers twice a month like All American[.]" AACC has told consumers that 

AACC was "helping" or "looking out for" them by providing them with money in the 

middle of the month. 

49. In fact, 1st and grd lending is not more financially beneficial for monthly 

consumers compared to a 30-day loan. In all variations of 1st and grd lending, 

monthly consumers pay AACC more in fees for the same or less net cash received over 

the course of the month than they would have paid for a go-day loan from a 

competitor. 

so. Consumers do not understand that they paid higher fees for the same or 
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less net cash received by borro\1\ring t\"rice a month from AACC compared '"rith 

obtaining a 30-day loan from a competitor. 

51. AACC also has misrepresented the amount and number of fees associated 

\1\rith 1st and 3rd lending. For example, AACC sometimes has told monthly consumers 

that, after receiving a loan, consumers could return in the middle of the month and 

receive more cash, but does not explain that consumers would also pay a fee at that 

time. As a result, some consumers have not understood that AACC charges them an 

extra fee when they obtain additional money in the middle of the month. 

52. AACC has made these deceptive statements to encourage consumers to 

participate in 1st and 3rd lending, which AACC has described internally as a "huge 

income booster" due to the extra fees it has enabled AACC to extract from monthly 

consumers. AACC has instructed employees to sell 1st and 3rd lending aggressively to 

consumers. In one email to all the stores, a supervisor included the follo\1\ring cartoon 

depicting an AACC employee pressuring a consumer to patticipate in 1st and 3rd 

lending: 
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53. Mr. Gray has promoted the use of dec~ptive statements at AACC. For 

example, he circulated a 1st and 3rd training document that included the deceptive 

statements described in Paragraph 48, and instructed employees to implement it. Mr. 

Gray also has instructed employees to be aggressive in urging consumers to participate 

in 1st and 3rd lending. 

AACCRETAINEDOVERPAYMENTSMADEBYCONSUMERS 

54· Consumers sometimes make overpayments to AACC when paying back a 

loan. Some of the overpayments are small, but in some instances, consumers overpay 

by hundreds of dollars. Overpayments occur when, for example, a consumer pays back 

a loan in cash at a store, and AACC has already requested an electronic fund transfer 

(EFf) from the consumer's bank. If AACC successfully obtains a payn}ent through the 

EFf, then the consumer pays back the loan twice instead of once: first in cash, and 

then through the EFf. 

55· From at least 2011 until at least 2014, AACC did not take affirmative steps to 

notify consumers when they made an overpayment or to refund overpayments to 

consumers, even though AACC could do so by sending an EFf to the consumer's bank 

account or a paper check to the consumer's home. 

56. In addition, on a regular basis, AACC deleted the credit balances from 

consumers' accounts, making it more difficult for store employees to identify and 

provide refunds to consumers. 

57. Mr. Gray knew of and directed AACC's practice of retaining overpayments 

by consumers and deleting credit balances from their accounts. 

58. As a result of its refund policies and practices, AACC failed to provide 

refunds to hundreds of consumers. 
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ROLE OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT MICHAEL E. GRAY 

59· Mr. Gray was aware of the unlawful policies, procedures, and practices 

described herein, promoted them, directed others to implement them, and personally 

created some of them. 

60. Mr. Gray has ultimate authority over AACC's products, policies, procedures, 

and strategic decisions, including with respect to lending, check cashing, and 

providing refunds to consumers. 

61. Mr. Gray has received personal financial gain from the illegal practices 

discussed herein. Mr. Gray withdraws money from AACC at will with no formal 

process or predetermined regularity. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

62. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit a "covered person" from 

committing or engaging in any "unfair, deceptive or abusive act or practice" in 

connection with any transaction with a consumer for a consumer financial product or 

service, or the offering of a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). Defendants are "covered person[s]" within the meaning of the CFPA. 12 

u.s.c. § 5481(6), (25). 

63. An act or practice is unfair if the act or practice causes or is likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers, which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and 

such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

64. An act or practice is deceptive if there is a material representation, 

omission, or practice that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 
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65. An act or practice is abusive if it (1) materially interferes with the ability of a 

consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product or 

service, or (2) takes unreasonable advantage of (A) a lack of understanding on the part 

of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service; (B) 

the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or 

using a consumer financial product or service; or (C) the reasonable reliance by the 

consumer on a covered person to act in the interests of the consumer. 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(d). 

DEFENDANTS' UNLAWFUL CHECK CASHING PRACfiCES 

Abusive Acts and Practices in Check Cashing 

Count I 

66. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

67. In numerous instances, in connection with offering and providing check 

cashing to consumers, Defendants have materially interfered with the ability of 

consumers to understand a term or condition of their check cashing services by having 

a policy to never tell the consumer the fee - even when the consumer asks, blocking 

the fee amount listed on the receipt, minimizing the amount of time the consumer has 

to see the receipt, interfering with the consumer's ability to see the sign listing fee 

percentages, making false or misleading statements to consumers about the 

availability of information about the fee, and making false or misleading statements to 

consumers about their ability to cancel or reverse the transaction or to cash their check 

elsewhere. 

68. Defendants' acts and practices in connection with check cashing constitute 
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abusive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a) and (d)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II 

69. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

70. In numerous instances, in connection with offering and providing check 

cashing to consumers, Defendants have taken unreasonable advantage of the inability 

of consumers to protect their interests in selecting or using Defendants' check cashing 

services by pressuring or coercing consumers to cash their checks at AACC, including 

by retaining custody of the check to prevent consumers from leaving, processing the 

check without the consumer's consent, applying an AACC stamp to the back of the 

check during processing to impair the consumer's ability to cash the check elsewhere, 

and making misrepresentations about the consumer's ability to cancel or reverse the 

transaction or cash the check elsewhere. 

71. Defendants' acts and practices in connection with check cashing constitute 

abusive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a) and (d)(2)(B), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Deceptive Acts and Practices in Check Cashing 

Count III 

72. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

73. In numerous instances, in connection with offering and providing check 

cashing to consumers, Defendants have represented to consumers that: 

a. Information about the fee for cashing a check is not available; and 
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b. It is difficult or time-consuming to cancel or reverse a check cashing 

transaction, and steps taken by AACC during processing prevent 

consumers from cashing their checks elsewhere. 

74. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances: 

a. Information about the fee for cashing a check is available. This 

information includes: the fee structure (e.g. 3% or s%), the fee percentage 

that applies to a transaction (e.g. 3%), or the dollar amount of the fee; and 

b. It is not difficult or time-consuming to cancel or reverse a check cashing 

transaction and, in some cases, the steps taken by AACC to process the 

check do not prevent consumers from cashing their checks elsewhere. 

75. Defendants' representations described in Paragraph 73 are false and 

misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Unfair Acts and Practices in Check Cashing 

Count IV 

76. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

77· In numerous instances, Defendants' check cashing acts and practices 

described herein have caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to consumers, 

including but not limited to the payment of fees in amounts that were not authorized 

by consumers and for which consumers did not bargain. 

78. Defendants' actions cause or are likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid and that is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 
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79. Defendants' acts and practices as described in Paragraph 77 constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C §§ 

5531(a) and (c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

DEFENDANTS' UNLAWFUL 1ST AND 3RD LENDING PRACTICES 

Deceptive Acts and Practices in 1st and 3rd Lending 

CountV 

So. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

81. In numerous instances, in connection with offering and providing payday 

loans to monthly consumers, Defendants have represented to consumers directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that borrowing pursuant to "1st and 3rd 

lending" was more financially beneficial than or equivalent to obtaining a 30-day loan 

from a competitor. 

82. In truth and in fact, "1st and 3rd lending" is not more financially beneficial 

than or equivalent to obtaining a 30-day loan from a competitor because consumers 

borrowing pursuant to "1st and 3rd lending" pay higher fees for the same amount of or 

less net cash received over the course of the month compared to 30-day loans offered 

by competitors. 

83. Defendants' representations described in Paragraph 81 are false and 

misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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DEFENDANTS' UNLAWFUL PRACTICES RELATING TO OVERPAYMENTS 

Unfair Acts and Practices in Connection with Overpayments by Consumers 

Count VI 

84. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 through 65 by 

reference. 

85. In numerous instances, Defendants have not notified or refunded 

consumers when consumers have made an overpayment. 

86. Defendants' actions cause or are likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid and that is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

87. Defendants' acts and practices as described in Paragraph 85 constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C §§ 

5531(a) and (c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

88. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants' violations of the CFPA. In addition, Defendants have been 

unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief 

by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust 

enrichment, and harm the public. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

89. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable 

relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, rescission 

or reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, payments of damages or other monetary relief, 
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limits on the activities or functions of Defendants, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(a), (c). In addition, the Bureau may recover its costs in connection with the 

action, if it is the prevailing party. 12 u.s.c. § ss6s{b). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

go. Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. Award Plaintiff such injunctive and ancillary relief as may be necessary to 

enjoin Defendants from harming consumers, including but not limited to 

limits on activities or functions of Defendants; 

b. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA; 

c. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the CFP A, including, 

but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of 

moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust 

enrichment, and payment of damages or other monetary relief; 

d. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

e. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: May 11, 2016 
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  Press Release

CFPB Takes Action Against Check Cashing and Payday
Lending Company for Tricking and Trapping Consumers

Bureau Alleges All American Check Cashing Hid Fees and Pressured Borrowers into
Multiple Loans

MAY 11, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against All American Check Cashing, Inc., which offers check cashing and payday loans, and
its owner, for allegedly tricking and trapping consumers. In a complaint filed in federal
court, the CFPB alleged that All American tried to keep consumers from learning how much
they would be charged to cash a check and used deceptive tactics to stop consumers from
backing out of transactions. The CFPB also alleged that All American made deceptive
statements about the benefits of its high-cost payday loans and also failed to provide
refunds after consumers made overpayments on their loans. The CFPB’s lawsuit seeks to
end All American’s unlawful practices, obtain redress for consumers, and impose penalties. 

”Today we are taking action against All American Check Cashing for tricking and trapping
consumers,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Consumers deserve accurate and honest
information from the financial institutions they depend on, but All American instead devised
elaborate schemes to hide costs and take advantage of vulnerable borrowers.” 

All American Check Cashing, Inc. is located in Madison, Miss. and offers check cashing
services and payday loans at approximately 50 stores in Mississippi, Alabama, and
Louisiana. The CFPB’s complaint also names Mid-State Finance, Inc. (doing business as
Thrifty Check Advance), which offers check cashing and payday loans in at least one store in
Pearl, Miss. The CFPB’s complaint also names Michael Gray, president and sole owner of
both companies, and alleges that he directed and profited from their illegal practices. 

Keeping Consumers in the Dark When Attempting to Cash a Check

The Bureau alleged that All American collects approximately $1 million per year in check-
cashing fees. The company charges fixed amounts that vary only by state and by whether a
check is government issued. In Mississippi and Alabama, All American charges a 3 percent

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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fee for government-issued checks and a 5 percent fee for other checks. In Louisiana the fee
is 2 percent for government-issued checks and 5 percent for other checks. 

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that the defendants: 

Refuse to tell consumers how much they will be charged: All American instructs its
employees to hide the check-cashing fees by counting out the money over the fee
disclosure on the receipt and removing the “receipt and check as quickly as possible.”
All American’s policies explicitly forbid employees from disclosing the check-cashing
fee to consumers, even when directly asked. A training presentation for new employees
instructs them to “NEVER TELL THE CUSTOMER THE FEE.” Employees are directed to
say they do not know what the fee will be, and to deflect consumers’ questions with
small talk and irrelevant information so that “they are overwhelmed with info.”

Trap consumers who change their minds: When consumers ask to cancel or reverse a
check-cashing transaction after learning the fee, All American employees sometimes lie
and say that the transaction cannot be canceled, even when that is not the case. All
American employees also falsely tell consumers that it will take a long time to reverse a
transaction. In some cases All American’s procedures actually do make it difficult or
impossible for the consumer to cash the check elsewhere. For example, employees
sometimes apply a stamp to the back of the check—such as “For Deposit Only: All
American Check Cashing Inc”—effectively locking the consumer into the transaction.

Deceptively Promoting its Payday Loan Program for Consumers Paid Monthly

The Bureau alleged that All American offers payday loans to consumers in Mississippi,
Alabama, and Louisiana. Since at least 2011, All American has implemented a multiple loan
program for consumers who receive their benefits or paycheck once a month, such as
people receiving Supplemental Security Income (SSI). The CFPB’s complaint alleges that All
American made deceptive statements to consumers about the fees associated with its
monthly lending model, while internally describing it as a “huge income booster” due to the
extra fees consumers ended up paying. The complaint alleges All American employees
were instructed to aggressively pressure consumers into its monthly lending model, and
one email about the program sent to all stores included a cartoon of an employee pointing
a gun at a borrower saying “Take the $ OR die!!” 

The complaint alleges that, in Mississippi, for example, many of All American’s
competitors offer 30-day loans to borrowers who are paid monthly, but All American
frequently provides borrowers with three or more two-week loans instead. The first loan is
given at the beginning of the month, followed by a second loan to pay off the first, and
finally a third loan to extend the borrowing until the end of the month. Mississippi law
prohibits rollovers of payday loans, but All American has regularly rolled over consumers’
loans as part of its multiple loan program. 

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that the defendants:
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Promise a better deal but charge higher fees: All American employees were instructed
to tell consumers that “the fees are higher for competitors that offer [loans for] 30 days”
and that “[c]ompetitors that offer 30 day advances are not able to help their customers
twice a month like All American[.]” In fact, All American’s model was always more costly
for consumers. In Mississippi, for example, a consumer getting a 30-day $400 loan will
pay a maximum of $87.80 in fees. According to All American’s own training documents,
the company could charge that same consumer $120 in fees by giving them a series of
smaller loans. Nonetheless, All American instructed its employees to misrepresent to
consumers that borrowing according to the company’s multiple loan program was
more financially beneficial than getting a 30-day loan from a competitor.

Retaining Consumers’ Overpayments

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that consumers sometimes make overpayments to All
American when paying back a loan. This can happen when, for example, a consumer pays
back a loan in cash at a store, and All American has already submitted an electronic
payment request to the consumer’s bank. According to the Bureau’s complaint, from at least
2011 until at least 2014, All American did not notify consumers who overpaid on a loan. If
the consumer did not request a refund, All American would delete the credit balance from
their account. The CFPB’s complaint alleges that All American unfairly failed to provide
refunds to hundreds of consumers.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB can take
action against institutions or individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or
practices or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The complaint against
All American Check Cashing, Inc., Mid-State Finance, Inc. and Michael Gray seeks monetary
relief, injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that
the defendants have actually violated the law.

The CFPB’s complaint is available here:

 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit .

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201605_cfpb_complaint-for-permanent-
injunction-and-other-relief-all-american-check-cashing-inc.pdf 

consumerfinance.gov 
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http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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  Press Release

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Sues Payment
Processor For Enabling Unauthorized Withdrawals And
Other Illegal Acts By Clients

Intercept Corp. Ignored Red Flags for Potential Fraud and Illegal Activity by Clients

JUN 06, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. —The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today filed suit against
payment processer Intercept Corporation and two of its executives, Bryan Smith and Craig
Dresser, for allegedly enabling unauthorized and other illegal withdrawals from consumer
accounts by their clients. In the suit filed in federal district court, the CFPB alleges that
Intercept turned a blind eye to blatant warning signs of potential fraud or lawbreaking by its
clients. These include actions by federal and state authorities, and sky-high rates of returned
payments because of unauthorized withdrawals, insufficient funds, or invalid or closed
accounts. In its suit, the CFPB seeks to put an end to unlawful practices by Intercept, Smith,
and Dresser, obtain relief for consumers, and impose penalties.

"Intercept and its executives Bryan Smith and Craig Dresser ignored clear signs of brazen
fraud, including illegal withdrawals from consumer accounts, and need to clean up their
act,” said CFPB director Richard Cordray. “Companies cannot turn a blind eye to
wrongdoing when they process payments from consumer banking accounts on behalf of
clients that are breaking the law.

Intercept Corporation is a third-party payment processor located in Fargo, N.D. Smith is
Intercept’s president and Dresser is its chief executive officer. Each owns 50 percent of the
company. Intercept transmits electronic funds transfers through the Automated Clearing
House on behalf of its clients. This electronic network is used to process financial
transactions, such as payroll deposits, and loan and bill payments. Payment processors link
businesses and individuals to banks to provide access to this network. Intercept’s clients
include payday lenders, auto-title lenders, debt collectors and sales financing companies,
among others.

The CFPB alleges that Intercept, Smith, and Dresser violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibition against unfair acts and practices by
processing payments for clients without adequately investigating, monitoring, or
responding to red flags that indicated some clients were breaking the law or deceiving

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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customers. Intercept, Smith, and Dresser played a key role in this unlawful conduct by
giving these clients access to the banking system and the means to extract money from
consumers’ bank accounts. Allegedly, the defendants:

Ignored blatant warning signs of potential fraud: High rates of returned payments for
insufficient funds or unauthorized debits may indicate that consumers did not consent
to the withdrawal or were misled about the terms. The CFPB estimates that Intercept
helped clients withdraw millions of dollars in unauthorized and other illegal charges
from consumer accounts. Many of Intercept’s clients have run up annual return rates of
20 to 40 percent for network transactions, far above the 1.5 percent industry average.
Intercept made little effort to find the cause of these astronomical rates, and, despite
the red flags, kept processing transactions for these clients. Intercept ignored other
warning signs such as state and federal enforcement actions against clients, including a
Federal Trade Commission action against Scott Tucker and his payday lending
operation.

Ignored complaints from banks and consumers: Intercept ignored complaints and
warnings from banks and consumers about high return rates and initiating
unauthorized debits, including for payday lenders in states where the practice is illegal.
On at least one occasion, Intercept entered into a trial period with a financial institution
to process a limited number of payments, but then ran millions of dollars of network
transactions through the bank, generating high volumes of returns. If banks raised
concerns about consumer complaints against an Intercept client, Intercept would
simply seek out a new bank to help it process payments for the same clients. Intercept
skipped among eight different banks between 2008 and 2014.

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB can take
action against institutions or individuals engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or
practices or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The complaint against
Intercept Corporation, Bryan Smith, and Craig Dresser seeks monetary relief, injunctive
relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants
have actually violated the law.

The CFPB’s complaint is available here:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/3_16_cv_00144_ars_CFPB_v_Intercept.pdf 
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What you need to know: Understanding why offers for “your” credit score are not all
the same

By Stephanie Brenowitz – JAN 03, 2017

Today, TransUnion and Equifax have agreed to change practices that the Bureau found
misled consumers about the value of the credit scores they marketed and sold. In their
advertising, TransUnion and Equifax misrepresented that the credit scores they marketed
and provided to consumers were the same scores that lenders typically use to make credit
decisions when that is not accurate. The companies have also agreed to return more than
$17.6 million to consumers and pay penalties totaling $5.5 million.  

Read more about the settlements in our press release.

Credit scores, and the information in your credit reports, can provide important information.
When considering an offer for a credit score, keep in mind that the credit score being
provided or sold may not be the same score that is used by lenders and insurers in making
credit decisions. Here is some information to help you make sense of credit score offers.

A credit score predicts how likely you are to pay back a loan on
time. Your credit score is a three-digit number that is based on
information from your credit report.

You do not have just “one” credit score – there are many credit scores available to you as a
consumer as well as to lenders and insurers, and the credit score you obtain may be
different than the ones that businesses use to make credit decisions. A credit score may vary
from lender to lender, and depending on which consumer reporting company compiled the
credit history used to generate the score.  

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

We also have answers to many credit reporting questions in Ask CFPB.

Learn more

Even when you obtain a credit score from the same reporting company that a lender used,
the score you get as a consumer may be different. 

We want you to understand what information will be most useful to you when learning
about your credit report and scores. Here are some key tips you should keep in mind. 

Tip 1: Understand the differences in your credit scores

There is no “one” credit score.

There are many credit-scoring formulas available to you as a consumer as well as to lenders.
The score you receive from any source will depend on the data used to calculate it, and the
score may be different depending on the scoring formula, the source of your credit history,
and even the day when it was calculated.

Credit reporting companies, also known as credit bureaus or consumer reporting agencies,
are companies that compile and sell credit reports.

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/blog/?filter1_authors=stephanie-brenowitz
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-orders-transunion-and-equifax-pay-deceiving-consumers-marketing-credit-scores-and-credit-products/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/315/what-is-my-credit-score.html
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/search/?selected_facets=category_exact:credit-reporting
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Credit reporting companies can gather information from many sources including:

Thousands of lenders across the country 

Public records, such as bankruptcies, liens, and other judgments 

Collections agencies, which provide information on delinquent accounts

Because credit reporting companies calculate scores in a number of ways, and because
they may report your financial history at different times, your credit scores may change
slightly each month.

Tip 2: Monitor your credit report for accuracy

Mistakes in your credit reports could hurt your credit history and credit score, so check them
regularly. If you monitor your credit report, you can keep track of the items affecting your
credit scores and make sure your credit report is accurate. You can get one free credit
report from each of the big three credit reporting companies every 12 months. Go to

 or call 877-322-8228.

Learn more about how to get a free copy of your credit report.

The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) is a federal law that provides directions and limits on
how credit reporting companies disclose credit report information.

By requesting the reports at the same time, you can determine whether any of your
files have errors. 

By requesting the reports separately, you can monitor your credit files more frequently
throughout the year. 

Get a , and read about 
.

When you get your report, look for:

Mistakes in your name, phone number, or address. 

Loans, credit cards, or other accounts that are not yours. 

Reports saying you paid late when you paid on time. 

Accounts you closed that are listed as open. 

The same item showing up more than once (like an unpaid debt) 

Tip 3: How to get and keep good credit scores:

Pay all your bills on time. Setting up automatic payments, or electronic reminders, can
help you keep on top of your payments. 

Don’t use too much of the credit that is available to you. Your credit limit is the amount
of total credit you have. Credit scoring models look at how close you are to being
“maxed out,” or owing as much as your credit limit, so try to keep your balances low in
proportion to your overall credit limit. 

Be careful closing accounts. Scoring models look at your available credit. If you close
some credit card accounts and put most or all of your credit card balances onto one
card, it may hurt your credit score if you are using a high percentage of your total credit
limit. Frequently opening accounts and transferring balances can hurt your score too. 

A long credit history will help your score. Credit scores are based on experience over
time. Your score will improve the longer you have credit, open different types of
accounts, and pay back what you owe on time. 

Only apply for credit you need. Credit scores look at your recent credit activity as an
indicator of your need for credit. If you apply for a lot of credit over a short period of
time, it may appear that your economic circumstances have changed for the worse. 

Order your free credit report every year and dispute any errors you find.

annualcreditreport.com 

list of consumer reporting companies  your rights under the FCRA 
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Tip 4: Fix any mistakes you find in your report

If you find something wrong in your credit report, you may contact both the credit reporting
company and the entity that provided the information. Explain what you think is wrong and
why. Include copies of documents that support your dispute. Your credit reports will come
with instructions on how to dispute mistakes.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0001

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

Equifax Inc. and Equifax Consumer 
Services LLC 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the marketing 

practices of Equifax Inc. and Equifax Consumer Services LLC (collectively, Equifax or 

Respondents, as defined below) and has identified the following law violations: (1) 

Equifax deceptively marketed credit scores to consumers by falsely representing, in 

violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536, that the scores it marketed and sold to consumers were the same scores lenders 

typically use to determine creditworthiness; (2) Equifax deceptively marketed credit 

scores and credit-related products to consumers by falsely representing, in violation of 

the CFPA, that the scores and products were “free,” when, in reality, when a consumer 

signed up for a “free” trial, she was automatically enrolled in a subscription program for 

which she was charged a recurring monthly fee unless she cancelled; and (3) Equifax 

placed advertisements for its products on web pages that consumers accessed through 

AnnualCreditReport.com before they obtained their free annual file disclosures, in 

violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x, as 

2017-CFPB-0001     Document 1     Filed 01/03/2017     Page 1 of 33



implemented by Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

 The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 1.

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s.  

II 

Stipulation 

Respondents have executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a2.

Consent Order,” dated December 22, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents

admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents

and the subject matter of this action.

III 

Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:3.

a. “Affected Consumers” includes the following classes of consumers who were

enrolled in a Negative Option free trial offer of an Equifax Credit-Related

Product from July 21, 2011 through March 14, 2014:

2017-CFPB-0001     Document 1     Filed 01/03/2017     Page 2 of 33



 Consumers who enrolled in response to an advertisement run by i.

Equifax and cancelled from the Equifax Credit-Related Product within 

two billing periods (i.e., before the third bill) without receiving a refund 

of fees paid; and 

 Consumers who enrolled in response to an advertisement run by an ii.

Equifax Affiliate Marketer and cancelled from the Equifax Credit-

Related Product within four billing periods (i.e., before the fifth bill) 

without receiving a refund of fees paid. 

b. “Affiliate Marketer” means third-party entities that have marketed or 

advertised Equifax Credit-Related Products directly to consumers on 

Equifax’s behalf, as identified in the Compliance Plan. 

c. “Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting” means the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

d. “Board” means Equifax Inc.’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

e. “Clear and conspicuous” or “clearly and conspicuously” means “clearly and 

prominently” such that the required disclosure is difficult to miss (i.e., easily 

noticeable) and easily understandable by ordinary consumers, regardless of 

the method of communication, including in all the following ways:  

 In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words i.

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary 

consumer to read and comprehend, in print that contrasts with the 

background on which it appears; 
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 In communications disseminated orally or through audible means ii.

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume, speed, and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear 

and comprehend it; 

 In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television iii.

or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form 

consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a 

duration sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend 

it; 

 In communications made through interactive media such as the iv.

Internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); a 

disclosure is not clear and conspicuous if a consumer must take any 

action, such as clicking on a hyperlink or hovering over an icon, to see 

it;  

 In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the v.

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and 

visual portions of the communication; 

 In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer vi.

incurs any financial obligation, and use diction and syntax that is 

understandable to a reasonable consumer, in each language in which 

the representation that requires the disclosure appears; and 
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 The disclosure must not be contradicted or mitigated by, or vii.

inconsistent with, anything else in the communication with the 

consumer.  

f. “Consumer Complaint” means any expression of dissatisfaction by a

consumer.

g. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

h. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her

delegate.

i. “Equifax Credit-Related Product” means any product or service that includes

an Equifax Credit Score that Respondents offer or have offered for sale

directly to consumers, including through Equifax’s Affiliate Marketers.

j. “Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agency” refers to a “consumer reporting

agency that compiles and maintains files on consumers on a nationwide

basis,” as that term is defined in section 603(p) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §

1681a(p).

k. “Negative Option” means a category of commercial transactions in which a

seller interprets a customer’s failure to take an affirmative action, either to

reject an offer or cancel an agreement, as assent or continuing assent to be

charged for goods or services.

l. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as

described in Section IV of this Consent Order.
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m. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 through March 14, 

2014. 

n. “Respondents” means Equifax Inc. and Equifax Consumer Services LLC, and 

their successors and assigns.  

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

 Equifax Inc. is headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, and compiles and maintains 4.

financial, consumer, and commercial data across the nation and worldwide. 

Equifax Inc. is the parent company of Equifax Consumer Services LLC. 

 Equifax Inc. is a “covered person” as that term is defined by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5.

5481(6).  

 Respondents market and sell credit reports to consumers and to commercial 6.

users including, but not limited to, lenders, insurance companies, and potential 

employers. 

 During the Relevant Period, Equifax marketed and sold Equifax Credit-Related 7.

Products to consumers. Consumers could purchase these products from Equifax 

in a one-time transaction or through a subscription where the consumer paid a 

recurring fee, usually monthly, to have continuous access to the product for as 

long as the consumer was enrolled in the subscription.  

 During the Relevant Period, Equifax marketed and sold Equifax Credit-Related 8.

Products to consumers through a variety of online channels, including banner 

and display advertisements that appeared on popular websites, direct emails to 
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consumers, advertisements on Equifax’s own website (Equifax.com), and 

advertisements run by Equifax Affiliate Marketers. 

Findings and Conclusions as to  
Misrepresentations Relating to Credit Scores 

 Credit scores are numerical summaries designed to predict consumer payment 9.

behavior on a wide range of credit products. Many lenders and other commercial 

users rely on consumers’ credit scores when deciding whether to extend credit.  

 No single credit score or credit score model serves as the primary credit score for 10.

the marketplace. Lenders use a variety of credit scores, which vary by score 

provider, scoring model, and target industry.  

 The credit score models used most often by lenders are those developed by Fair 11.

Isaac Corporation (FICO), which has offered more than 60 different credit 

scoring models since 2011.  

 In addition to FICO credit scores, several companies have developed what are 12.

referred to as “educational credit scores” that are rarely used by lenders. As the 

name suggests, an “educational credit score” is intended for a consumer’s 

educational use.   

 Equifax developed its own proprietary credit score model, the “Equifax Credit 13.

Score,” which is also applied to information in consumer credit files in order to 

generate a three-digit credit score sold directly to consumers. Equifax also 

markets the “3-Bureau Equifax Credit Score,” which is generated by applying 

Equifax’s proprietary credit score model to the information in consumer credit 

files at each of the three largest Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agencies. For 

efficiency, this Order will refer to all credit score products marketed and sold by 
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Equifax based on Equifax’s proprietary credit score model as the “Equifax Credit 

Score.” 

 The Equifax Credit Score is an “educational” credit score that is marketed to 14.

consumers and is rarely used by lenders.  

Equifax’s Marketing of Its Credit Score to Consumers 

During the Relevant Period, in numerous instances, Equifax marketed the15.

Equifax Credit Score to consumers by representing, directly or by implication,

that the Equifax Credit Score available for purchase by consumers was the same

score that lenders use to make credit decisions.

For example, one Equifax advertisement stated: “Your loan officer is reviewing16.

your credit score. See your score.” Another advertisement stated: “Banks and

lenders will most likely check your credit – make sure you see what they see and

learn what that means for FREE.”

In fact, during the Relevant Period, the Equifax Credit Scores that consumers17.

purchased from Equifax were educational scores that were rarely used by lenders

to make credit decisions.

Equifax included disclaimers in some of its advertising for the Equifax Credit18.

Score. For example, one disclaimer stated, “[t]his score is intended for your own

educational use. There are numerous credit scores and models in the marketplace

and lenders are likely to use a different score when evaluating your

creditworthiness.” Another disclaimer stated that “[t]he Equifax credit score and

3-bureau credit scores are based on an Equifax credit score model and are not the

same scores used by 3rd parties to assess your creditworthiness.” 
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 These disclaimers, however, were neither clear nor conspicuous. When such 19.

disclaimers were included, they were typically situated at the bottom of the 

advertisement in fine print, far removed from the claims the disclaimer was 

intended to modify. 

 In numerous instances, there were significant and meaningful differences 20.

between the Equifax Credit Scores that Equifax sold to consumers and the variety 

of credit scores used by lenders.   

 As a result, in these instances, the scores Equifax sold to consumers presented an 21.

inaccurate picture of how lenders, who used other scores and data providers, 

assessed consumer creditworthiness. 

 Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 22.

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

 As described in Paragraphs 15 through 21, in connection with  advertising, 23.

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of Equifax Credit-Related 

Products, in numerous instances Equifax represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that the credit scores it marketed and sold to consumers 

were the same scores typically used by lenders or other commercial users for 

credit decisions.   

 In fact, the credit scores Equifax marketed and sold to consumers were rarely the 24.

same scores used by lenders or other commercial users for credit decisions.  

 Thus, Equifax’s representations, as described in Paragraphs 15 and 16, were false 25.

or misleading and constituted deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations Related to 
“Free” Credit-Related Products 

 During the Relevant Period, Equifax’s online advertisements also misrepresented 26.

to consumers that they could have access to “free” credit scores and credit score 

products. 

 Equifax’s advertisements contained offers such as: “Sign up today and get your 27.

FREE credit score”; “Get your 3 credit scores FREE”; and “Sign up today and get 

your FREE credit score.”  

 In fact, Equifax’s promotions included a Negative Option billing structure. 28.

Consumers who signed up to obtain their “free” scores received a free trial, 

usually either seven or 30 days, after which they were automatically enrolled in 

an Equifax monthly subscription that usually cost $16.95 per month unless they 

cancelled prior to the end of the free trial period. Equifax charged a consumer 

this recurring membership fee automatically each month through the consumer’s 

credit card until the consumer cancelled. 

 Equifax’s advertisements offering “free” Equifax Credit-Related Products failed to 29.

adequately disclose the Negative Option billing structure of the product.   

 The disclosure of the free trial terms in the advertisements was neither clear nor 30.

conspicuous. In contrast to the bold, colorful headlines that touted the free scores 

and products, the disclosure was often displayed in fine print, in low contrast, 

and was generally placed in a less prominent location, such as the bottom of the 

webpage, grouped with other disclosures.  

 In numerous instances, consumers did not know they had been automatically 31.

enrolled in a Negative Option subscription plan for Equifax Credit-Related 
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Products until they discovered a charge–usually $16.95 per month–on their bank 

or credit card statement.   

 Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 32.

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

 As described in Paragraphs 26 through 31, in connection with the advertising, 33.

marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of Equifax Credit-Related 

Products, in numerous instances, Equifax represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that consumers could obtain their credit score for free.  

 In fact, Equifax’s offer, which it described in a disclosure that was neither clear 34.

nor conspicuous, was a Negative Option offer whereby Equifax automatically 

enrolled the consumer into a subscription plan that required the consumer to pay 

a recurring fee unless the consumer cancelled during the free trial period. 

 Therefore, Equifax engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 35.

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Placement of Advertisements of Equifax 
Products on AnnualCreditReport.com 

 
 The FCRA imposes upon each Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agency an 36.

obligation to provide a free file disclosure once every 12 months to any consumer 

who requests it. 15 U.S.C. § 1681j. Regulation V, the FCRA’s implementing 

regulation, requires all Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agencies to operate a 

“centralized source” to enable consumers to obtain annual file disclosures. 12 

C.F.R. § 1022.136. The centralized website for free annual file disclosures is 

AnnualCreditReport.com. 
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 Consumers who wish to obtain a file disclosure through AnnualCreditReport.com 37.

must first supply certain identifying information on that website, including their 

name, social security number, and current address. The consumer is then given a 

choice to obtain his or her file disclosure from one or more of the Nationwide 

Consumer Reporting Agencies, including Equifax.   

Until January 17, 2014, a consumer who chose to receive a file disclosure from38.

Equifax was routed to a web page with a link labeled “View and Print your report.

Get started.” This page also included an advertisement for an “Equifax Credit

Score” at a “[o]ne-time price of only $7.95.” In order to actually view the file

disclosure, however, the consumer would have to click a link to another page

(which also contained advertisements) for a high-level summary of the file

disclosure, and then click another link to access the web page that displayed the

entire disclosure.

Regulation V prohibits CRAs, including Equifax, from advertising through the39.

“centralized source” until “after the consumer has obtained his or her annual file

disclosure.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). Where the request is made through the

Internet, a consumer has “obtained” his or her disclosure when it is “delivered to 

the consumer.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1)(ii).

As described in Paragraph 38, Equifax advertised credit-related products through40.

AnnualCreditReport.com before consumers “obtained” their annual file

disclosures. In order to obtain their file disclosures from Equifax, consumers had

to navigate through two webpages. Nowhere on the first webpage, where

Equifax’s advertisements first appeared, could consumers see or print their

disclosures.
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 Thus, Equifax’s placement of advertisements on webpages consumers accessed 41.

through AnnualCreditReport.com before consumers obtained their annual file 

disclosures violated Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

 Equifax and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 42.

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and 

Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g), the implementing regulation of the FCRA, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., as follows, and must take the following affirmative 

actions: 

a. Equifax, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, 

or performance of Equifax Credit-Related Products, may not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

 Any material fact about the cost or price of an Equifax Credit-Related i.

Product, including misrepresenting that the product or service is free, 

discounted, a gift, a sample, a trial, a bonus, without cost or obligation, 

or words of similar import denoting or implying the absence of an 

obligation on the part of the consumer to affirmatively act in order to 

avoid charges;  
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 Any material fact about the timing or manner of any charge or bill, ii.

including the purpose for which a consumer’s credit card or payment 

information will be used, the length of subscription, if applicable, the 

date(s) upon which the consumer will be charged or billed, and the 

deadline (by date or frequency) by which the consumer must act in 

order to stop any charges; or  

 Any material restrictions, limitations, or conditions of the product or iii.

service marketed in the offer, or any material aspect of its performance, 

efficacy, nature, or central characteristics marketed in the offer.  

b. Within a reasonable time period after the Effective Date as set forth in the 

Compliance Plan, Equifax, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of Equifax Credit-Related 

Products: 

 Must obtain the express informed consent of the consumer before i.

enrolling the consumer in an Equifax Credit-Related Product with a 

Negative Option billing structure; 

 For all Internet offers, express informed consent consists of a (a)

check box on the page where payment information is collected 

that consumers must affirmatively check to select the Negative 

Option billing structure (i.e., it cannot be pre-checked), and 

which clearly and conspicuously states that the consumer agrees 
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to be billed for the product unless the consumer cancels before 

the trial period expires; 

a. Immediately adjacent to the affirmative selection

checkbox, Respondents must clearly and conspicuously

disclose: (i) if applicable, the amount the consumer will

be charged on a recurring (e.g., monthly) basis if the

product or service is not cancelled before the expiration

of the trial period; and (ii) the date when the trial period

expires and the amount the consumer will be billed; and

b. The disclosure must not contain any information related

to the benefits of the product;

 Must provide a simple mechanism for a consumer to immediately ii.

cancel the purchase of any Equifax Credit-Related Product, and stop 

billing and collecting payments for any recurring charge for any good 

or service. The mechanism must not be difficult, costly, confusing, or 

time consuming, and must, at a minimum, be substantially similar to 

the mechanism(s) the consumer used to initiate the purchase of any 

Equifax Credit-Related Product; 

For all oral offers for an Equifax Credit-Related Product, in addition to iii.

clearly and conspicuously disclosing the information identified in

Subsections (a)(i)-(iii), and prior to obtaining any billing information

from a consumer, obtain affirmative and unambiguous oral 

confirmation that the consumer:

Consents to authorizing payment for such goods or services; and(a)
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 Understands the specific steps the consumer must take to (b)

prevent further charges. 

c. Within a reasonable time period after the Effective Date as set forth in the 

Compliance Plan, Equifax, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of Equifax Credit-Related 

Products, including through textual, oral or audible communications, or 

communications disseminated through audible means or interactive media 

including, but not limited to, Internet advertisements, must take the following 

actions when offering or providing an Equifax Credit Score or other similar 

educational credit score to consumers: 

 Clearly and conspicuously disclose the nature of the credit score i.

offered in each communication containing the offer and, for Internet 

offers, on each landing page or email where a score is advertised and 

on at least one page of the order process; 

 Ensure that the disclosure clearly and conspicuously discloses or ii.

substantially states the following: 

(a) The credit scores Equifax sells to consumers are not the same 

scores used by lenders or other commercial users for credit 

decisions; and 

(b) There are various types of credit scores, and lenders use a 

different type of credit score to make lending decisions than the 

one being offered;  
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 For all written communications, including, for Internet offers, landing iii.

pages and emails, ensure that, in the first instance in which the 

disclosures appear, the disclosures contain a label in a font size double 

that of the disclosure that says: “What You Need to Know.” 

d. Equifax, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must

take the following actions:

Further develop and implement comprehensive policies andi.

procedures for improving communication with consumers regarding

Equifax Credit-Related Products, including, but not limited to,

communications about the nature of the credit score, the pricing

structure, and any other material terms, including:

(a) At least annually, collecting and reviewing key performance

metrics, such as Consumer Complaints (both those it receives

directly as well as those it receives through other channels, such

as the CFPB and State Attorneys General Offices) and

cancellation data, for evidence of consumer confusion regarding

the products and services it offers to consumers;

(b) At least annually, collecting and reviewing empirical data

regarding consumer perceptions of Equifax’s advertising with

regard to the nature of the credit score, the pricing structure,

and any other material terms, for evidence of consumer

confusion regarding the products and services it offers to

consumers; and
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 At least annually, assessing advertisements to determine what (c)

modifications, if any, need to be made to the advertisements to 

improve consumer understanding of Equifax Credit-Related 

Products.  

e. Equifax, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale,

or performance of Equifax Credit-Related Products, may not place

advertisements on webpages consumers access through

AnnualCreditReport.com such that the consumer sees the advertisement

before he or she has obtained his or her file disclosure in accordance with

Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g).

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must submit to the Assistant43.

Deputy for Consumer Reporting, for review and determination of non-objection,

a comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Equifax’s advertising

practices comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws, such as the

CFPA and the FCRA, and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The

Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by Section V of this

Consent Order;
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b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described

above; and

c. A requirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years,

or as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan

remains current and effective.

 The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting will have the discretion to make a 44.

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct Equifax to 

revise it. If the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting directs Equifax to revise 

the Compliance Plan, Equifax must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Compliance Plan to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting within 30 days. 

After receiving notification that the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting45.

has made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Equifax must

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes

outlined in the Compliance Plan.

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs,46.

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to

the Bureau.

Although this Consent Order requires Equifax to submit certain documents for47.

the review or non-objection by the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting, the

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of
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Equifax and for ensuring that Equifax complies with Federal consumer financial 

law and this Consent Order. 

 In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 48.

to, or perform certain obligations of Equifax, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Equifax to fully comply with the

Consent Order;

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of

compliance obligations; and

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this

Section.

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must reserve or deposit into a49.

segregated deposit account $3,795,643 for the purpose of providing redress to

Affected Consumers.

Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must submit to the Assistant50.

Deputy for Consumer Reporting for review and non-objection a comprehensive

written plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress

Plan). The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting will have the discretion to

make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct Equifax to

revise it. If the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting directs Equifax to revise

the Redress Plan, Equifax must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress
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Plan to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting within 30 days. After 

receiving notification that the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting has 

made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Equifax must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. 

The Redress Plan must:51.

a. Include a detailed description of the methodology used to determine the

population of Affected Consumers and the appropriate redress for each

Affected Consumer, and the procedures to issue and track redress payments;

b. Provide that Equifax shall pay all costs associated with administering redress

and remediation as required by this section;

c. Include the form of the letters (Notification Letters) and envelopes to be sent

notifying consumers of the redress payments and a description of the process

for sending the Notification Letters to consumers. Equifax must not include in 

any envelope containing a Notification Letter any materials other than the

approved letter and redress checks.

d. Require Equifax to make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address for

any consumer whose Notification Letter is returned for any reason, using the

National Change of Address System, and to promptly re-mail all returned

letters to current addresses. If a redress check for any consumer is returned to 

Equifax after such second mailing, or if a current mailing address cannot be

identified using the National Change of Address System or similar system,

Equifax must retain the redress amount of such consumer for a period of one

hundred and twenty (120) days from the date the check was originally mailed,
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during which period such amount may be claimed by such consumer upon 

appropriate proof of identity. 

e. Require Equifax to submit a Redress Plan Report to the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting within 60 days of completion of the Redress Plan.  The

Redress Plan Report must include an audit and assessment of Equifax’s

compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan.

 After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of the redress provided to 52.

Affected Consumers is less than $3,795,643, within 30 days of the completion of 

the Redress Plan, Equifax must pay the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or 

to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

$3,795,643, so that such funds may be distributed to the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement.  

Equifax may not condition the provision of any redress to any Affected Consumer53.

under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the54.

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Equifax must pay a civil money

penalty of $2,500,000 to the Bureau.
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 Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must pay the civil money penalty by 55.

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the56.

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12

U.S.C. § 5497(d).

Equifax must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a57.

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau

ultimately uses those funds, Equifax may not:

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order.

To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related58.

Consumer Action, Equifax may not argue that Equifax is entitled to, nor may

Equifax benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money

penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Equifax must, within 30 days after entry of a

final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of

the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an

additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money

penalty imposed in this action.
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X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 In the event of any default on Equifax’s obligations to make payment under this 59.

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

Equifax must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the60.

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Equifax.

Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Equifax, unless it already has done so, must furnish to61.

the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent

Order.

Within 45 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a62.

Related Consumer Action, Equifax must notify the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that

Equifax paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or

classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid.
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XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Equifax must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 63.

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company to Equifax; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate of Equifax that engages in any acts or practices 

subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Equifax; or a change in Equifax’s name or address. 

Equifax must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must designate at least one telephone64.

number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, which the

Bureau may use to communicate with Equifax.

Equifax must report any change in the information required to be submitted65.

under Paragraph 63 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner.

Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date,66.

Equifax must submit to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting an

accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum:

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Equifax has complied with

this Order; and
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b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII,

unless previously submitted to the Bureau.

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Equifax must deliver a copy of this Consent 67.

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, affiliates, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

For 5 years from the Effective Date, Equifax must deliver a copy of this Consent68.

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any

managers, employees, affiliates, service providers, or other agents and

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.

Equifax must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a69.

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this

Section.
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XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Equifax must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from the 70.

Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the

Bureau.

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in

Section VIII above.

c. Copies of all Internet (website), direct email, and print advertisements,

sufficient to demonstrate the experience of consumers on each materially

different version of each advertisement, including all order flow pages on 

which Equifax, whether acting directly or indirectly, advertises, promotes,

markets, offers for sale, sells, or provides Equifax Credit-Related Products or

services, and any other marketing material, including, but not limited to, sales

scripts and training materials relating to Equifax Credit-Related Products,

including any such materials used by a third party or affiliate on behalf of

Equifax;

d. For each Internet (website), direct email, print advertisement, or other

marketing material relating to Equifax Credit-Related Products:

A record of the date(s) and locations or placements where thei.

advertisement is publicly accessible, to extent that information is

available; the number, type, and cost of all Equifax Credit-Related
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Products purchased through the advertisement; and any and all 

modifications made to the advertisement, including to any 

disclosure(s) on the advertisement; and  

 A record of all consumer perception assessments or testing and all ii.

documents created pursuant to the requirements of Section V. 

e. For each Internet (website) advertisement, impressions of, the number of

visits to, unique visitors (to the extent such data is available), and clicks on the

advertisement and any associated landing and flow page(s); and the number

of conversions, purchases of an Equifax Credit-Related Product, and

consumers acquired through the advertisement.

f. For each individual Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone

number, email address, amount paid, description of the Equifax Credit-

Related Product purchased, the date on which the Equifax Credit-Related

Product was purchased, and, if applicable, the date, and reason (when

available), consumer left the program.

g. For each Equifax Credit-Related Product, accounting records showing the

gross and net revenues generated by the Equifax Credit-Related Product.

h. All non-telephonic Consumer Complaints and refund requests (whether

received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party) relating to any

Equifax Credit-Related Product, and any responses to those complaints or

requests.

i. Equifax must make the documents identified in Paragraph 70 available to the

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.
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 Equifax will retain telephonic communications with consumers in accordance 71.

with its standard document retention policy, as set forth in the Compliance Plan. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Equifax must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Equifax Inc., File No.

2017-CFPB-0001,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
Office of Supervision
1625 Eye Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
Office of Supervision
1625 Eye Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and73.

location of each Affected Consumer. Respondents must provide such information
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in their or their agents’ possession or control within 21 days of receiving a written 

request from the Bureau.  

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Equifax’s compliance with this Consent 

Order: 

 Within 21 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Equifax must 74.

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

Equifax must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other75.

person affiliated with Equifax who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present.

Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil76.

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Equifax may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent77.

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting.

The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting may, in his/her discretion, modify78.

any non-material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions
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of time and changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause 

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting must be in writing.  

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

 The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 79.

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Equifax, except as described in Paragraph 80. 

The Bureau releases and discharges Equifax from all potential liability for law80.

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order

in future enforcement actions against Equifax and its affiliates, including, without

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and

ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations

of the Consent Order.

This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent81.

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau

or the United States.
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 This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 82.

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Equifax. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Equifax did not violate any provision of the Consent 

Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, 

then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. 

The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except 

to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on83.

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.

Should Equifax seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are84.

subject to this Consent Order, Equifax must, as a condition of sale, obtain the

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable

provisions of this Consent Order.

The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any85.

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Equifax’s Registered Agent

or designated point of contact for Consent Order-related communications as

described in Paragraph 64 above and Equifax may not contest that court’s

personal jurisdiction over Equifax.
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86. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

87. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Equifax, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this eday of January, 2017. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Orders TransUnion and Equifax to Pay for Deceiving Consumers in Marketing
Credit Scores and Credit Products

Credit Reporting Companies Misstated the Cost and Usefulness of the Credit
Scores and Products They Sold, Lured Consumers into Costly Recurring Payments

JAN 03, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against Equifax, Inc., TransUnion, and their subsidiaries for deceiving consumers about the
usefulness and actual cost of credit scores they sold to consumers. The companies also
lured consumers into costly recurring payments for credit-related products with false
promises. The CFPB ordered TransUnion and Equifax to truthfully represent the value of the
credit scores they provide and the cost of obtaining those credit scores and other services.
Between them, TransUnion and Equifax must pay a total of more than $17.6 million in
restitution to consumers, and fines totaling $5.5 million to the CFPB.

“TransUnion and Equifax deceived consumers about the usefulness of the credit scores they
marketed, and lured consumers into expensive recurring payments with false promises,”
said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Credit scores are central to a consumer’s financial life
and people deserve honest and accurate information about them.”

Chicago-based TransUnion and Atlanta-based Equifax are two of the nation’s three largest
credit reporting agencies. TransUnion and Equifax collect credit information, including a
borrower's payment history, debt load, maximum credit limits, names and addresses of
current creditors, and other elements of their credit relationships. These generate credit
reports and scores that are provided to businesses. Through their subsidiaries, TransUnion
Interactive and Equifax Consumer Services, the companies also market, sell, or provide
credit-related products directly to consumers, such as credit scores, credit reports, and
credit monitoring. 

Credit scores are numerical summaries designed to predict consumer payment behavior in
using credit. Many lenders and other commercial users rely in part on these scores when
deciding whether to extend credit. No single credit score or credit score model is used by
every lender. Lenders use an array of credit scores, which vary by score provider and
scoring model. The scores that TransUnion sells to consumers are based on a model from
VantageScore Solutions, LLC. Although TransUnion has marketed VantageScores to lenders
and other commercial users, VantageScores are not typically used for credit decisions.
Scores Equifax sold to consumers were based on Equifax’s proprietary model, the Equifax
Credit Score, which is an “educational” credit score that also is typically not used by lenders
to make credit decisions.

TransUnion, since at least July 2011, and Equifax, between July 2011 and March 2014,
violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Financial Protection Act by:

Deceiving consumers about the value of the credit scores they sold: In their
advertising, TransUnion and Equifax falsely represented that the credit scores they
marketed and provided to consumers were the same scores lenders typically use to
make credit decisions. In fact, the scores sold by TransUnion and Equifax were not
typically used by lenders to make those decisions.

Deceiving consumers into enrolling in subscription programs: In their advertising,
TransUnion and Equifax falsely claimed that their credit scores and credit-related
products were free or, in the case of TransUnion, cost only “$1.” In reality, consumers
who signed up received a free trial of seven or 30 days, after which they were
automatically enrolled in a subscription program. Unless they cancelled during the trial
period, consumers were charged a recurring fee – usually $16 or more per month. This

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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billing structure, known as a “negative option,” was not clearly and conspicuously
disclosed to consumers.

Equifax also violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which requires a credit reporting agency
to provide a free credit report once every 12 months and to operate a central source –
AnnualCreditReport.com – where consumers can get their report. Until January 2014,
consumers getting their report through Equifax first had to view Equifax advertisements.
This violates the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which prohibits such advertising until after
consumers receive their report.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB is authorized to take action against institutions
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, or that otherwise violate federal
consumer financial laws. Under the consent orders, TransUnion and Equifax must:

Pay more than $17.6 million in total restitution to harmed consumers: TransUnion must
provide more than $13.9 million in restitution to affected consumers. Equifax must
provide almost $3.8 million in restitution to affected consumers. The companies must
send notification letters about the restitution to affected consumers.

Truthfully represent the usefulness of credit scores it sells: TransUnion and Equifax
must clearly inform consumers about the nature of the scores they are selling to
consumers.

Obtain the express informed consent of consumers: Before enrolling a consumer in
any credit-related product with a negative option feature, TransUnion and Equifax must
obtain the consumer’s consent.

Provide an easy way to cancel products and services: TransUnion and Equifax must
give consumers a simple, easy-to-understand way to cancel the purchase of any credit-
related product, and stop billing and collecting payments for any recurring charge
when a consumer cancels. 

Pay $5.5 million in total penalties: TransUnion must pay $3 million to the Bureau’s civil
penalty fund. Equifax must pay $2.5 million to the Bureau’s civil penalty fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order against Equifax is here:

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order against TransUnion is here:

More information about credit scores can be found here:
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/blog/what-you-need-know-understanding-why-
offers-your-credit-score-are-not-all-same/ 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit .
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What you need to know: Understanding why offers for “your” credit score are not all
the same

By Stephanie Brenowitz – JAN 03, 2017

Today, TransUnion and Equifax have agreed to change practices that the Bureau found
misled consumers about the value of the credit scores they marketed and sold. In their
advertising, TransUnion and Equifax misrepresented that the credit scores they marketed
and provided to consumers were the same scores that lenders typically use to make credit
decisions when that is not accurate. The companies have also agreed to return more than
$17.6 million to consumers and pay penalties totaling $5.5 million.  

Read more about the settlements in our press release.

Credit scores, and the information in your credit reports, can provide important information.
When considering an offer for a credit score, keep in mind that the credit score being
provided or sold may not be the same score that is used by lenders and insurers in making
credit decisions. Here is some information to help you make sense of credit score offers.

A credit score predicts how likely you are to pay back a loan on
time. Your credit score is a three-digit number that is based on
information from your credit report.

You do not have just “one” credit score – there are many credit scores available to you as a
consumer as well as to lenders and insurers, and the credit score you obtain may be
different than the ones that businesses use to make credit decisions. A credit score may vary
from lender to lender, and depending on which consumer reporting company compiled the
credit history used to generate the score.  

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

We also have answers to many credit reporting questions in Ask CFPB.

Learn more

Even when you obtain a credit score from the same reporting company that a lender used,
the score you get as a consumer may be different. 

We want you to understand what information will be most useful to you when learning
about your credit report and scores. Here are some key tips you should keep in mind. 

Tip 1: Understand the differences in your credit scores

There is no “one” credit score.

There are many credit-scoring formulas available to you as a consumer as well as to lenders.
The score you receive from any source will depend on the data used to calculate it, and the
score may be different depending on the scoring formula, the source of your credit history,
and even the day when it was calculated.

Credit reporting companies, also known as credit bureaus or consumer reporting agencies,
are companies that compile and sell credit reports.

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/blog/?filter1_authors=stephanie-brenowitz
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-orders-transunion-and-equifax-pay-deceiving-consumers-marketing-credit-scores-and-credit-products/
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/315/what-is-my-credit-score.html
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/search/?selected_facets=category_exact:credit-reporting
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Credit reporting companies can gather information from many sources including:

Thousands of lenders across the country 

Public records, such as bankruptcies, liens, and other judgments 

Collections agencies, which provide information on delinquent accounts

Because credit reporting companies calculate scores in a number of ways, and because
they may report your financial history at different times, your credit scores may change
slightly each month.

Tip 2: Monitor your credit report for accuracy

Mistakes in your credit reports could hurt your credit history and credit score, so check them
regularly. If you monitor your credit report, you can keep track of the items affecting your
credit scores and make sure your credit report is accurate. You can get one free credit
report from each of the big three credit reporting companies every 12 months. Go to

 or call 877-322-8228.

Learn more about how to get a free copy of your credit report.

The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) is a federal law that provides directions and limits on
how credit reporting companies disclose credit report information.

By requesting the reports at the same time, you can determine whether any of your
files have errors. 

By requesting the reports separately, you can monitor your credit files more frequently
throughout the year. 

Get a , and read about 
.

When you get your report, look for:

Mistakes in your name, phone number, or address. 

Loans, credit cards, or other accounts that are not yours. 

Reports saying you paid late when you paid on time. 

Accounts you closed that are listed as open. 

The same item showing up more than once (like an unpaid debt) 

Tip 3: How to get and keep good credit scores:

Pay all your bills on time. Setting up automatic payments, or electronic reminders, can
help you keep on top of your payments. 

Don’t use too much of the credit that is available to you. Your credit limit is the amount
of total credit you have. Credit scoring models look at how close you are to being
“maxed out,” or owing as much as your credit limit, so try to keep your balances low in
proportion to your overall credit limit. 

Be careful closing accounts. Scoring models look at your available credit. If you close
some credit card accounts and put most or all of your credit card balances onto one
card, it may hurt your credit score if you are using a high percentage of your total credit
limit. Frequently opening accounts and transferring balances can hurt your score too. 

A long credit history will help your score. Credit scores are based on experience over
time. Your score will improve the longer you have credit, open different types of
accounts, and pay back what you owe on time. 

Only apply for credit you need. Credit scores look at your recent credit activity as an
indicator of your need for credit. If you apply for a lot of credit over a short period of
time, it may appear that your economic circumstances have changed for the worse. 

Order your free credit report every year and dispute any errors you find.

annualcreditreport.com 

list of consumer reporting companies  your rights under the FCRA 


http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/311/how-do-i-get-a-copy-of-my-credit-report.html
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/5/can-i-review-my-credit-report.html
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http://www.consumerfinance.gov/external-site/?ext_url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.annualcreditreport.com%2Findex.action&signature=xaXYCu485aYQN6mttVDpShxwsr0
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/documents/2143/201604_cfpb_list-of-consumer-reporting-companies.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/f/201410_cfpb_summary_your-rights-under-fcra.pdf
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Tip 4: Fix any mistakes you find in your report

If you find something wrong in your credit report, you may contact both the credit reporting
company and the entity that provided the information. Explain what you think is wrong and
why. Include copies of documents that support your dispute. Your credit reports will come
with instructions on how to dispute mistakes.
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Due to technical issues, the commenting feature of our blog is temporarily unavailable.
We’re working to bring this functionality back, and look forward to hearing your feedback
and comments about the CFPB’s work soon.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0002

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

TransUnion Interactive, Inc., Trans 
Union, LLC, and TransUnion 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

marketing practices of TransUnion Interactive, Inc. (TUI), Trans Union, LLC 

(TULLC), and TransUnion (TU) (collectively Respondents, as defined below) and has  

identified the following law violations: (1) Respondents deceptively market credit 

scores to consumers by falsely representing, in violation of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, that the scores they market 

and sell to consumers are the same scores lenders typically use to determine 

creditworthiness; and (2) Respondents deceptively market credit scores and credit-

related products to consumers by falsely representing, in violation of the CFPA, that 

the scores and products are “free” or “$1”, when, in reality, when a consumer signs up 

for a “free” or “$1” trial, she is automatically enrolled in a subscription program for 

which she is charged a recurring monthly fee unless she cancels. Under Sections 1053 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565.

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order,” dated December 22, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying

the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts

necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject

matter of this action.

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Affected Consumers” are the approximately 700,000 consumers identified by

the Bureau and Respondents who were enrolled in the TUCM Product through

a Negative Option offer during the Relevant Period, and then cancelled their

subscriptions within two billing cycles of enrollment without receiving a refund

of fees paid.

b. “Board” means TU’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors.
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c. “Clearly and prominently” means “clearly and conspicuously” such that the

required disclosure is difficult to miss (i.e., easily noticeable) and easily

understandable by ordinary consumers, including in all the following ways:

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed

on the screen of an electronic device for which the communication was

designed), the disclosure must be of a type size and location sufficiently

noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend, in print that

contrasts with the background on which it appears;

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g.,

radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a volume,

speed, and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and

comprehend it;

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or

streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form consistent

with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a duration sufficient

for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it;

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet,

online services, and software, the disclosure must be unavoidable and

presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); a disclosure is not Clear

and Conspicuous if a consumer must take any action, such as clicking on a

hyperlink or hovering over an icon, to see it;

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and visual

portions of the communication;
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vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, and use diction and syntax that is 

understandable to a reasonable consumer in each language in which the 

representation that requires the disclosure appears; and 

vii. The disclosure must not be contradicted or mitigated by, or inconsistent 

with, anything else in the communication with the consumer.  

d. “Consumer Reporting Agency” or “CRA” means a “consumer reporting agency,” 

as that term is defined in section 603(f) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

e. “Consumer Reports” means a “consumer report,” as that term is defined in 

section 603(d) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d). 

f. “Credit-Related Products” means any product or service Respondents offer for 

sale directly to consumers, including but not limited to the TUCM Product, 

credit scores, credit reports, credit monitoring, or identity theft insurance or 

protection. 

g. “Consumer Complaint” means any expression of dissatisfaction by a consumer 

regarding Credit-Related Products. 

h. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

i. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate.  

j. “Negative Option” means a category of commercial transactions in which a 

seller markets an offer for a trial period and the seller then interprets a 

customer’s failure to take an affirmative action, either to reject an offer or 
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cancel an agreement, as assent or continuing assent to be charged for goods or 

services.      

k. “Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting” means the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

l. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as described 

in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

m.  “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 until the Effective 

Date. 

n.   “Respondents” means TransUnion Interactive, Inc., TransUnion, LLC, 

TransUnion, and their successors and assigns. 

o. “TransUnion Credit Monitoring Product” or “TUCM Product” means the 

TransUnion Credit Monitoring bundled product that includes, among other 

things, a VantageScore credit score, credit report, and monthly subscription-

based credit monitoring product, which was offered by TUI during the Relevant 

Period on a “free” or “$1” trial basis.  

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 
The Bureau finds the following: 

4. TransUnion Interactive, Inc. (TUI), headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of TransUnion, LLC (TULLC), a limited liability company and 
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Delaware corporation. TransUnion (TU) is a non-operating holding company that 

is the ultimate parent company of TUI and TULLC.  

5. TUI, TULLC, and TU are each a “covered person” as that term is defined by the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. TULLC is a Consumer Reporting Agency and compiles and maintains financial, 

consumer, and commercial data across the nation and worldwide. 

7. TULLC uses credit information it has collected in consumer credit files to generate 

Consumer Reports. TULLC markets, sells, and provides Consumer Reports to 

commercial users, such as lenders, insurance companies, and potential employers. 

8. TUI generates, markets, and sells Credit-Related Products, such as credit scores, 

credit reports, and credit monitoring, directly to consumers using credit 

information from Consumer Reporting Agencies. 

9. During the Relevant Period, TUI has marketed and sold Credit-Related Products –

including the TUCM Product – to consumers in various combinations. Consumers 

can purchase these products from TUI through a one-time transaction or through a 

subscription where the consumer pays a monthly fee to have continuous access to 

the product for as long as the consumer is enrolled in the subscription. 

10. During the Relevant Period, TUI has marketed and sold Credit-Related Products to 

consumers through a variety of online channels. This includes banner and display 

advertisements that appear on TU’s main website (TransUnion.com) and on 

popular websites such as auto.com, bankrate.com, Google, and Amazon; direct 

emails to certain consumers; and advertisements on TUI’s marketing affiliate 

websites. 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations 
Relating to Credit Scores 

11. Credit scores are, among other things, numerical summaries designed to predict

consumer payment behavior on a wide range of credit products. Many lenders and

other commercial users rely, in part, on consumers’ credit scores when deciding

whether to extend credit to a consumer.

12. No single credit score or credit score model serves as the primary credit score for

the marketplace. Lenders use a variety of credit scores, which vary by score

provider, scoring model, and target industry.

13. CRAs like TULLC, and other companies, apply various analytical scoring models to

the information in consumer credit files to produce the credit scores that lenders

and commercial users rely upon.

14. Respondents generate a credit score based on a scoring model that is different from

the credit score models most often used by lenders. It is based on a model from

VantageScore Solutions, LLC, which has offered three versions of its score since

2011. Respondents refer to this score as the TransUnion VantageScore.

15. TULLC has marketed the TransUnion VantageScore to lenders and other

commercial users. The vast majority of credit decisions made by lenders, however,

are not based on VantageScore credit scores.

16. In addition to selling credit scores to lenders and other commercial users, the

TransUnion VantageScore credit scores are marketed and sold to consumers as a

part of its TUCM Product bundle.

17. Some of the online advertisements for the TUCM Product represent to consumers

that the VantageScore consumers are purchasing is the same score used by lenders
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or other commercial users to determine creditworthiness. In reality, the credit 

score model used by any individual lender or other commercial user is highly 

unlikely to be the TransUnion VantageScore.   

18. For example, one such advertisement stated, “Make sure you know your Credit 

Score when looking for a car. Lenders typically will check your credit before buying 

and financing a car.” Another advertisement stated, “Make sure you know your 

Credit Score when looking for an apartment. Landlords may check your credit.”  

19. These advertisements implicitly represent that the VantageScore credit score that 

Respondents offer is the same score that “lenders” or “landlords” typically use to 

determine creditworthiness. 

20. Consumers who click on these advertisements are directed to landing pages, which 

usually contain additional claims, such as “With a good credit score, you may pay 

less with lower interest rates on mortgages, auto loans and credit cards.”   

21. Consumers are then directed through a series of enrollment pages where they enter 

personal information, including their credit card numbers, to obtain the TUCM 

Product, which includes the VantageScore credit score bundled with a subscription 

-based credit monitoring service and a credit report.   

22. There is no way for Respondents or a consumer to know which credit score model 

or particular credit score a lender may rely upon when making a credit decision 

related to that consumer. 

23. In many cases, there are significant and meaningful differences between the 

VantageScore credit scores marketed and sold to consumers and the variety of 

credit scores used by lenders. 
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24. As a result, the scores marketed and sold to consumers often present an inaccurate

picture of how lenders, the vast majority of which use other scores and data

providers, assess consumer creditworthiness.

25. In some instances, the advertisements contain disclosures, but they fail to

adequately disclose that the VantageScore credit scores they are selling to

consumers are not the scores lenders typically use.

26. A significant number of the advertisements fail to include on the first web page

viewed by consumers any disclosures about the nature of the credit scores it offers.

Rather, the first time any disclosure appears is on the landing page, which the

consumer accesses by clicking on a link in the initial advertisement.

27. The disclosure, however, is not clear and conspicuous or easy to understand.

Rather, the disclosure, which states “Lenders use many different credit scoring

models. The score you get from us may not be the one your lender uses[,]” is

typically buried at the bottom of the advertisement in fine print, far removed from

the claims the disclosure was intended to modify; or depending on the advertising

channel through which the consumers accesses the TUCM Product, does not

appear until the first or second step of the order pages.

28. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).

29. As described in Paragraphs 4 through 27, in connection with the advertising,

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of the TUCM Product, Respondents

have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that the credit

scores they market and sell to consumers are the same scores typically used by

lenders or other commercial users for credit decisions.
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30. In fact, the credit scores Respondents market and sell to consumers are not the

same scores typically used by lenders or other commercial users for credit

decisions.

31. Thus, Respondents’ representations, as described in Paragraphs 4 through 27, are

false or misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a),

5536(a)(1)(B).

Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations Related to the  
“Free” or “$1” TUCM Product 

32. During the Relevant Period the vast majority of the online advertisements also

misrepresented to consumers that they could have access to “free” credit scores

and “$1” credit reports.

33. The advertisements routinely stated: “You’re Seconds Away From Your FREE

Credit Score”; “See your FREE credit score”; and “Free Credit Score and $1

Report.”

34. In fact, these promotions included a Negative Option billing structure: Consumers

who signed up for the TUCM Product to obtain their “free” scores and “free” or “$1”

reports received a bundled product that included a seven-day free trial of a credit

monitoring service. After that seven-day period, consumers who did not cancel

their subscription were automatically enrolled in the monthly subscription-based

credit monitoring service that usually cost $16.99 per month. TUI charged each

consumer this recurring membership fee automatically each month until the

consumer cancelled.
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35. TUI’s advertisements offering “free” or “$1” TUCM Products failed to adequately 

disclose the Negative Option feature of the product.   

36. The disclosure in the advertisements was neither clear nor conspicuous. In contrast 

to the bold, colorful headlines that touted the free scores and products, the 

disclosure was often displayed in fine print, in low contrast, and was generally 

placed in a less prominent location, such as the bottom of the webpage, grouped 

with other disclosures. 

37. In some instances, consumers did not know they had been automatically enrolled 

in a Negative Option subscription plan for the TUCM Product until they discovered 

a charge – usually of $16.99 per month – on their bank or credit card statement.  

38. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). As described in Paragraphs 32 through 37, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of 

the TUCM Product, Respondents have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly 

or impliedly, that consumers could obtain their credit score or credit report for free 

or for a $1 fee.  

39. In fact, many consumers do not receive their credit score or credit report for free or 

for a $1 fee. Instead, Respondents’ offer, which is described in a disclosure that is 

neither clear nor conspicuous, is a Negative Option whereby consumers enroll in a 

subscription plan that involves a monthly fee unless they cancel during the trial 

period. Therefore, Respondents engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation 

of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 
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ORDER 
 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

40. Respondents, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536 as follows, 

and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondents, their  officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, 

or performance of Credit-Related Products, may not misrepresent, or assist 

others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. Any material fact about the cost or price of a Credit-Related Product, 

including that the product or service is free, discounted, a gift, a sample, a 

trial, a bonus, without cost or obligation, or words of similar import, 

denoting or implying the absence of an obligation on the part of the 

consumer to affirmatively act in order to avoid charges;  

ii. Any material fact about the timing or manner of any charge or bill, 

including the frequency or recurrence of any charge or bill, the purpose for 

which a consumer’s credit card or payment information will be used, the 

length of subscription, if applicable, the date(s) upon which the consumer 

will be charged or billed, and the deadline (by date or frequency) by which 

the consumer must act in order to stop any charges; or  
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ii. Within a reasonable time period after the Effective Date as set forth in the 

Compliance Plan, must provide a simple mechanism for a consumer to 

immediately cancel the purchase of any Credit-Related Product, and stop 

billing and collecting payments for any recurring charge for any good or 

service. The mechanism must not be difficult, costly, confusing, or time 

consuming, and must, at a minimum, be substantially similar to the 

mechanism(s) the consumer used to initiate the purchase of any Credit-

Related Product; 

iii. For all oral offers for a Credit-Related Product, in addition to disclosing 

the information identified in Subsections (a)(i)-(iii), and prior to obtaining 

any billing information from a consumer, obtain affirmative and 

unambiguous oral confirmation that the consumer: 
 

1. Consents to authorizing payment for such goods or services; and  

2. Understands the specific steps the consumer must take to prevent 

further charges. 

c. Respondents, their officers, agents, servants,  employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, 

or performance of Credit-Related Products, including through textual, oral or 

audible communications, or communications disseminated through audible 

means or interactive media including, but not limited to, internet 

advertisement, must take the following actions when offering or providing a  

VantageScore credit score to consumers: 
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i. Clearly and prominently disclose the nature of the credit score offered in 

each communication containing the offer and, for internet offers, on at 

least one page of the order process.  

ii. Ensure that the disclosure clearly and prominently discloses or 

substantially states the following: 

1. Like other credit scores offered to consumers, the credit score 

Respondent is selling is not likely to be the same score used by 

lenders or other commercial users for credit decisions; and 

2. There are various types of credit scores, and lenders use a variety of 

different types of credit scores to make lending decisions;  

iii. For written communications, including for internet offers, ensure that the 

disclosure contains a label in font size double that of the disclosure that 

says: “What You Need to Know.” 

d. Respondents, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must take the following actions: 

i. Further develop and implement comprehensive policies and procedures 

for improving communication with consumers regarding Credit-Related 

Products, including, but not limited to, communications about the nature 

of the credit score, pricing structure, , and any other material terms, 

including: 

1. Regularly collecting, reviewing, and assessing key performance 

metrics, such as Consumer Complaints (both those it receives directly 

as well as those it receives through other channels such as the CFPB 
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and State Attorneys General Offices, among other complaint avenues) 

and cancellation rates, for evidence of consumer confusion regarding 

the products and services it offers to consumers;  

2. Regularly collecting, reviewing, and assessing empirical data 

regarding consumer perceptions of Respondents’ advertising with 

regard to the nature of the credit score, the pricing structure, the 

effective cost of the product or service, and any other material terms; 

and 

3. Regularly reviewing and assessing advertisements to determine what 

modifications, if any, need to be made to the advertisements to 

improve consumer understanding of Credit-Related Products in light 

of empirical evidence. 

VI 
Compliance Plan 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the Assistant 

Deputy for Consumer Reporting for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondents’ advertising 

practices comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms 

of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a 

minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by Section V of this Consent 

Order; and 
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b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

42. The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondents to 

revise it. If the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting directs Respondents to 

revise the Compliance Plan, the Respondents must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 

within 30 days. 

43. After receiving notification that the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting has 

made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondents must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 
Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
 

44. The Board, or a duly authorized committee thereof, must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

45. Although this Consent Order requires Respondents to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting, 

the Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management 

of Respondents and for ensuring that Respondents comply with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 
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46. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondents, the Board, or a duly authorized 

committee thereof, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board, or a duly authorized 

committee thereof, on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 
Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $13,930,000 for the purpose of providing redress to 

Affected Consumers.    

48. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the Assistant 

Deputy for Consumer Reporting for review and non-objection a comprehensive 

written plan for providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress 

Plan). The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting will have the discretion to 

make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondents 

to revise it. If the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting directs Respondents to 

revise the Redress Plan, Respondents must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Redress Plan to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting within 30 days. After 
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receiving notification that the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting has made 

a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondents must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. 

49. The Redress Plan must: 

a. Include a detailed description of the methodology used to determine the 

population of Affected Consumers and the appropriate redress for each Affected 

Consumer, the manner and form in which redress payments will be distributed 

to Affected Consumers, and procedures to issue and track redress payments; 

Provide that Respondent shall pay all costs associated with administering 

redress and remediation as required by this section;  

b. Include the form of the letters (“Notification Letters”) and envelopes to be sent 

notifying consumers of the redress payments and a description of the process 

for sending the Notification Letters to consumers. Respondent must not include 

in any envelope containing a Notification Letter any materials other than the 

approved letter and redress checks. 

c. Require Respondent to make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address 

for any consumer whose Notification Letter is returned for any reason, using at 

least the National Change of Address System, and to promptly re-mail all 

returned letters to current addresses. If a redress check for any consumer is 

returned to Respondent after such second mailing, or if a current mailing 

address cannot be identified using the National Change of Address System, 

Respondents must retain the redress amount of such consumer for a period of 

one hundred and eighty (180) days from the date the check was originally 
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mailed, during which period such amount may be claimed by such consumer 

upon appropriate proof of identity. 

d. Require Respondents to submit a Redress Plan Report to the Assistant Deputy 

for Consumer Reporting with 90 days of completion of the Redress Plan.  The 

Redress Plan Report must include an audit and assessment of Respondents’ 

compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan. 

50. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of the redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $13,930,000 within 30 days of the completion of 

the Redress Plan, Respondents must pay the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 

or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

$13,930,000, so that such funds may be distributed to the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement.  

51. Respondents may not condition the provision of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations 

of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil money penalty of 

$3,000,000 to the Bureau. 
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53. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with

the Bureau’s wiring instructions.

54. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12

U.S.C. § 5497(d).

55. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau

ultimately uses those funds, Respondents  may not:

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order.

56. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled to,

nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondents must, within 30 days

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the

civil money penalty imposed in this action.
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X 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. In the event of any default on Respondents obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue 

on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

58.  Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 

59. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already have done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order.  

60. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. 

That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents 

paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 
Reporting Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

61. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited 
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to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent 

Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against  

Respondents; or a change in Respondents name or address.  Respondents must 

provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, but in 

any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

62. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must designate at least one

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact,

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondents.

63. Respondents must report any change in the information required to be submitted

under Paragraph 61 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner.

64. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date,

Respondents must submit to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting an

accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been

approved by the Board or duly authorized  committee thereof, which, at a

minimum:

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied

with this Order; and

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII,

unless previously submitted to the Bureau.
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XII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

65. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this

Consent Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well as to

any managers, employees, affiliates, service providers, or other agents and

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the

Consent Order.

66. For five years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure

referred to in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well

as to any managers, employees, affiliates, service providers, or other agents and

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.

67. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery,

from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.

XIII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

68. Respondents must create, or if already created, must retain for at least five years

from the Effective Date, the following business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.
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b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in Section

VIII above.

c. Copies of all internet (website), direct email, and print advertisements,

sufficient to demonstrate the experience of consumers on each materially

different version of each advertisement, including all order flow pages on which

Respondents, whether acting directly or indirectly, advertise, promote, market,

offer for sale, sell, or provide Credit Related Products, and any other marketing

material, including, but not limited to, sales scripts and training materials

relating to the Credit-Related Products, including any such materials used by a

third party or affiliate on behalf of Respondents;

d. For each internet (website), direct email, print advertisement, or other

marketing material relating to Credit-Related Products: A record of the date(s)

and locations or placements where the advertisement is publicly accessible to

the extent that information is available; the number, type, and cost of all Credit-

Related Products purchased through the advertisement; and any and all

modifications made to the advertisement, including to any disclosure(s) on the

advertisement;

e. A record of all consumer perception assessments or testing and all documents

created pursuant to the requirements of Section VI; and

f. For each internet (website) advertisement, the number of visits to, unique

visitors, impressions of, and clicks on the advertisement and any associated

landing and flow page(s), to the extent that information is available; and the

number of conversions, purchases of a  Credit-Related Product, and consumers

acquired through the advertisement.
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g. For each individual Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone

number, email address, amount paid, description of the Credit-Related Product

purchased, the date on which the Credit-Related Product  was purchased, and, if

applicable, the date and reason consumer left the program.

h. For each Credit-Related Product, accounting records showing the gross and net

revenues generated by the Credit-Related Product.

i. All Consumer Complaints and refund requests (whether received directly or

indirectly, such as through a third party) relating to any Credit-Related

Product, and any responses to those complaints or requests.

j. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraph 68 available to

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

Respondents will retain telephonic communications with consumers in

accordance with its standard document retention policy, as set forth in the

Compliance Plan.

XIV 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re TransUnion Interactive, Inc.; 

Trans Union, LLC, and; TransUnion, File No. 2017-CFPB-0002,” and send them 

either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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230 South Dearborn Street 
Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
230 South Dearborn Street 
Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

XV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

70. Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and

location of each Affected Consumer. Respondents must provide such information

in their or their agents’ possession or control within 30 days of receiving a written

request from the Bureau.

XVI 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents’ compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

71. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents must

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which must

be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce

documents.

72. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or

other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an interview. The

person interviewed may have counsel present.

2017-CFPB-0002     Document 1     Filed 01/03/2017     Page 27 of 31



   

28 

73. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

 
XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

74. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting. 

75. The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting may, in his/her discretion, modify 

any non-material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions 

of time and changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause 

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting must be in writing.  

XVIII 
Administrative Provisions 

 
76. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 77.     

77. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective 

Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future 
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enforcement actions against Respondents and their  affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Consent Order.  

78. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

79. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or five years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation 

of the Consent Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondents did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been 

filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, 

except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

80. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

81.  Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondents must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 
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written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

82. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever 

Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that court’s personal 

jurisdiction over Respondents. 

83. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

84. When a consumer is offered or provided a Credit-Related Product pursuant to the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681g or a state law regarding credit 

file security freezes, Respondents will follow any applicable requirements 

mandated by those laws in lieu of the requirements of Sections V and Section XIII 

of this Consent Order. 

85. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing Respondents, their Boards, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, 

 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Navient Corporation; Navient 
Solutions, Inc.; and Pioneer Credit 
Recovery, Inc., 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. ______________ 
 
 
            (Electronically Filed) 

 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION  
AND OTHER RELIEF 

 
Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this 

action against Navient Corporation, Navient Solutions, Inc. (Navient), and 

Pioneer Credit Recovery, Inc. (Pioneer) (collectively, Defendants) and 

alleges the following: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565; the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., and its 

implementing regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. part 1022; and the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et seq., based on 
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unlawful acts and practices in connection with Defendants’ servicing and 

collection of student loans. The Bureau seeks to obtain permanent 

injunctive relief, restitution, refunds, damages, civil money penalties, and 

other relief for Defendants’ violations of Federal consumer financial laws. 

2. Navient, formerly known as Sallie Mae, Inc., is the largest 

student loan servicer in the United States. Navient services the loans of 

more than 12 million borrowers, including over 6 million customer 

accounts under a contract with the U.S. Department of Education, and 

more than $300 billion in federal and private student loans. 

3. Navient’s principal responsibilities as a servicer include 

managing borrowers’ accounts; processing monthly payments; assisting 

borrowers to learn about, enroll in, and remain in alternative repayment 

plans; and communicating directly with borrowers about the repayment of 

their loans. 

4. Navient has failed to perform its core duties in the servicing of 

student loans, violating Federal consumer financial laws as well as the trust 

that borrowers placed in the company. Most federal student borrowers have 

a right under federal law to set their monthly student loan payment as a 

share of their income, an arrangement that can offer borrowers extended 
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payment relief and other significant benefits. Navient systematically 

deterred numerous borrowers from obtaining access to some or all of the 

benefits and protections associated with these plans. Despite assuring 

borrowers that it would help them find the right repayment option for their 

circumstances, Navient steered these borrowers experiencing financial 

hardship that was not short-term or temporary into costly payment relief 

designed for borrowers experiencing short-term financial problems, before 

or instead of affordable long-term repayment options that were more 

beneficial to them in light of their financial situation.  

5. For borrowers who did enroll in long-term repayment plans, 

Navient failed to disclose the annual deadline to renew those plans, 

misrepresented the consequences of non-renewal, and obscured its renewal 

notice to borrowers who were due for renewal. As a result, the affordable 

payment amount expired for hundreds of thousands of borrowers, resulting 

in an immediate increase in their monthly payment and other financial 

harm.  

6. Taken together, these practices prevented some of the most 

financially vulnerable borrowers from securing some or all of the benefits of 

plans that were intended to ease the burden of unaffordable student debt. 
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7. Navient’s servicing failures, however, were not just limited to 

enrolling and renewing borrowers in affordable repayment plans. Navient 

also misreported information to consumer reporting agencies about 

thousands of borrowers who were totally and permanently disabled, 

including veterans whose total and permanent disability was connected to 

their military service, by making it appear as if those borrowers had 

defaulted on their student loans when they had not, damaging their credit; 

misrepresented one of its requirements for borrowers to release their 

cosigner from their private student loan, thereby denying or delaying access 

to an important feature on many cosigned private loans that relieves a 

cosigner of responsibility for the loan once the borrower meets certain 

eligibility criteria; and repeated the same errors in processing federal and 

private student loan borrowers’ payments month after month, even after 

borrowers complained to Navient about those errors.  

8. Since at least July 2011, tens of thousands of borrowers and 

cosigners have filed complaints with Navient, the Bureau, other 

governmental and regulatory agencies, and other entities about the 

difficulties and obstacles they have faced in the repayment of their federal 

and private student loans serviced by Navient. 
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9. Pioneer is a large debt collector that primarily collects or has 

collected defaulted federal student loan debt on behalf of the U.S. 

Department of Education and several state-based loan guaranty agencies. 

10. The U.S. Department of Education and state-based guaranty 

agencies have collectively referred billions in defaulted student loan 

balances to Pioneer for collection. 

11. Much of Pioneer’s work relates to the federal loan rehabilitation 

program, which is a program that allows federal student loan borrowers 

who are in default to effectively “cure” one or more defaulted federal loans. 

12. In seeking to enroll consumers in the rehabilitation program, 

Pioneer systematically misled consumers about the effect of rehabilitation 

on the consumer’s credit report and overpromised the amount of collection 

fees that would be forgiven by enrolling in the program. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action 

because it is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by 

an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

14. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants are located, 
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reside, and/or do business in this district, and/or a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district. 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

15. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States 

charged with regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial 

products and services under Federal consumer financial laws, including the 

CFPA, the FCRA, and the FDCPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(12), (14); 5491(a); 

5531(a). The Bureau has independent litigating authority to enforce Federal 

consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a), (b); 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s(b)(1)(H); 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(b)(6). 

DEFENDANTS 

16. Formerly known as Sallie Mae, Inc., defendant Navient 

Solutions, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Navient Corporation, is a 

Delaware corporation. Navient Solutions, Inc. principally engages in 

servicing of federal and private student loans for more than 12 million 

borrowers. At all times material to this complaint, Navient Solutions, Inc. 

has offered or provided a “consumer financial product or service,” and 

therefore is and was a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 
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5481(6), (15)(A)(i). At all times material to this complaint, Navient 

Solutions, Inc. has been located and transacted business in this district. 

17. Defendant Pioneer Credit Recovery, Inc., a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Navient Corporation, is a Delaware corporation. Pioneer 

principally engages in debt collection activities related to outstanding and 

delinquent student loans on behalf of several owners of federal student 

loans. Pioneer is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

At all times material to this complaint, Pioneer has offered or provided a 

“consumer financial product or service,” and therefore is and was a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). At all 

times material to this complaint, Pioneer has transacted business in this 

district. 

18. Defendant Navient Corporation is a loan management, 

servicing, and asset recovery company and is a Delaware corporation. 

Navient Corporation is the direct or indirect owner of all of the stock of 

Navient Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer. At all times material to this complaint, 

Navient Corporation has been located and transacted business in this 

district, whether directly or through its subsidiaries. 

19. At all times material to this complaint, Navient Corporation is 
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and was a “related person” because it has been a “shareholder … or other 

person … who materially participates in the conduct of the affairs” of 

Navient Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer, which are covered persons. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(25)(C)(ii). Accordingly, at all times material to this complaint, 

Navient Corporation is “deemed to [be] a covered person for all purposes of 

Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B).  

20. There has been significant overlap between the corporate 

governance and management of Navient Corporation and Navient 

Solutions, Inc., as well as between Navient Corporation and Pioneer. 

Specifically, many of the directors and officers of Navient Solutions, Inc. 

have also been directors or officers of Navient Corporation, and many of the 

directors and officers of Pioneer are also directors or officers of Navient 

Corporation. For example, as of 2014, John Remondi served as President 

and Chief Executive Officer for both Navient Corporation and Navient 

Solutions, Inc.; John Kane served as Chief Operating Officer for both 

Navient Corporation and Navient Solutions, Inc.; Somsak Chivavibul 

served as Chief Financial Officer for both Navient Corporation and Navient 

Solutions, Inc.; Timothy Hynes served as Chief Risk Officer for both 

Navient Corporation and Navient Solutions, Inc.; and Stephen O’Connell 
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served as Senior Vice President and Treasurer for both Navient Corporation 

and Navient Solutions, Inc. Similarly, Jack Frazier, the current Director and 

former President of Pioneer, also serves as Senior Vice President for 

Navient Corporation, and Jeff Mersmann, the current President of Pioneer, 

also serves as Vice President of Operations for Navient Corporation. 

21. Following a corporate reorganization in 2014, Navient 

Corporation was the successor to SLM Corporation and Navient, LLC. As 

part of this reorganization, Navient Corporation assumed certain liabilities 

related to the servicing and collection activities of SLM Corporation, 

Navient, LLC, and their subsidiaries, including Pioneer. Among the 

liabilities assumed by Navient Corporation are all of the pre-reorganization 

servicing and collection conduct described in this Complaint. 

22. SLM Corporation was awarded the servicing contract with the 

U.S. Department of Education in 2009, and that contract continues to be in 

force to the present (subject to various modifications that the parties to that 

contract have executed). All documents related to that contract were signed 

in the name of SLM Corporation or, subsequently, Navient, LLC. 

Accordingly, as a result of the 2014 corporate reorganization, Navient 

Corporation is currently the entity that contracts with the U.S. Department 
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of Education for the servicing of federal student loans. 

23. In public statements, including annual 10-K filings with the 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Navient Corporation (including 

its predecessor SLM Corporation) has boasted about its capabilities with 

respect to student loan servicing and collection, including helping 

consumers navigate the path to financial success and select the appropriate 

payment plan for their circumstances. Navient Corporation has also 

indicated that it is responsible for overseeing the strategic direction and 

business goals of its subsidiaries. For instance, Navient Corporation’s 2015 

10-K filing includes the following statements: 

• “Navient [Corporation] is the nation’s leading loan 
management, servicing and asset recovery company, committed 
to helping customers navigate the path to financial success. 
Servicing more than $300 billion in education loans, Navient 
[Corporation] supports the educational and economic 
achievements of more than 12 million customers.” 
 

• “Navient [Corporation] services loans for more than 12 million 
… customers, including 6.3 million customers whose accounts 
are serviced under Navient [Corporation]’s contract with ED. 
We help our customers navigate the path to financial success 
through proactive outreach and emphasis on identifying the 
payment plan that best fits their individual budgets and 
financial goals.” 
 

• “The Navient [Corporation] board of directors and its standing 
committees oversee our strategic direction, including setting 
our risk management philosophy, tolerance and parameters; 
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and establishing procedures for assessing the risks our 
businesses face as well as the risk management practices our 
management team develops and implements.” 
 

• “Each business area within our organization is primarily 
responsible for managing its specific risks following processes 
and procedures developed in collaboration with our executive 
management team and internal risk management partners.” 
 

24. Navient Corporation also owns or leases the offices used by 

Navient Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer; has responsibility for the hiring of 

employees for Navient Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer; and manages all 

compliance auditing for Navient Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer. 

25. Navient Corporation consented to, has knowledge of, has 

materially participated in, and/or has controlled the activities of Navient 

Solutions, Inc. and Pioneer with respect to the conduct alleged in this 

Complaint. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Navient Solutions, Inc. 

Navient’s Steering of Borrowers Experiencing Long-Term 
Financial Hardship into Forbearance 
 

26. Upon first entering repayment, a federal student loan borrower 

is assigned to or selects a specific repayment plan. However, that borrower 

has the right to change his/her repayment plan assignment or selection at 
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any time, including if the borrower is experiencing financial hardship or 

distress. 

27. The U.S. Department of Education offers numerous repayment 

plans to eligible borrowers with federal student loans, which are designed 

to help borrowers manage their student loan debt and make monthly 

repayment of these loans more affordable. These repayment plans include 

several income-driven repayment plans, such as Income-Based Repayment 

(IBR) and Pay As You Earn Repayment (PAYE). 

28. Most federal student loans are eligible for at least one income-

driven repayment plan. 

29. The monthly amount that the borrower will pay under the 

income-driven repayment plans is set at an amount that is intended to be 

more affordable based on the borrower’s income and family size. 

30. Depending on the borrower’s income and family size, a 

borrower’s monthly payment may be as low as $0 per month when enrolled 

in an income-driven repayment plan.  

31. In addition to providing a more affordable monthly payment, 

most income-driven repayment plans offer several other benefits for federal 

student loan borrowers, especially borrowers experiencing long-term 
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financial hardship. For example, for borrowers with subsidized loans whose 

monthly payment amount does not fully cover accrued interest, the federal 

government will pay any remaining unpaid interest that accrues on those 

loans during the first three consecutive years of enrollment in the plan. This 

interest subsidy can be a significant benefit to such borrowers because they 

generally have no obligation to ever pay the remaining unpaid interest that 

accrues during those three years. Furthermore, because that unpaid 

interest is paid in full by the federal government, it is not added to the 

principal balance of the loan. When interest is not paid, it can be added to 

the principal balance of the loan; additional interest is then charged on the 

increased principal balance of the loan, which could significantly increase 

the total amount repaid over the life of the loan. Thus, the interest subsidy 

available to many borrowers enrolled in income-driven repayment plans 

can reduce these additional harmful effects, mitigating the financial strain 

on those borrowers. 

32. Another benefit available to borrowers who are enrolled in an 

income-driven repayment plan is forgiveness of the remaining balance of 

their federal loan, either after making 20-25 years of qualifying payments 

for most income-driven repayment plans or 10 years of qualifying payments 
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while working full time for certain public service employers. 

33. Federal student loans are generally also eligible for forbearance, 

which is a short-term, temporary postponement of payment. With 

forbearance, a borrower experiencing financial hardship or illness may be 

able to stop making payments or reduce his or her monthly payment for a 

defined period of time. 

34. Navient’s website states that forbearance is appropriate for 

borrowers who “have a problem making on-time payments due to a 

temporary financial difficulty.” The website also states: “Forbearance is 

intended to help you out in times of temporary need.”1 

35. Forbearance is typically not suitable for borrowers experiencing 

financial hardship or distress that is not temporary or short-term. 

Borrowers who enroll in forbearance face significant costs, which generally 

increase the longer the borrower is in forbearance. These include the 

accumulation of unpaid interest and the addition of that unpaid interest to 

the principal balance of the loan. In addition, in some cases, following a 

forbearance, a loan may be reamortized, where the monthly payments may 

                                                                 

 
1 Navient, Deferment and Forbearance, https://www.navient.com/loan-
customers/postponing-payments/deferment-and-forbearance/ (last visited Jan. 18, 
2017). 
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be recalculated, which can lead to an increase in the borrower’s monthly 

payment amount. As a result of these costs, long-term enrollment in 

forbearance can dramatically increase the total amount due each month 

after the forbearance period ends and over the repayment term for a 

borrower’s federal loans.   

36. Because income-driven repayment plans enable borrowers to 

avoid or reduce these costs associated with forbearance, for borrowers 

whose financial hardship is not temporary and short-term, enrolling in an 

income-driven repayment plan is usually a significantly better option than 

forbearance. 

37. The U.S. Department of Education has publicly encouraged 

borrowers to consult their federal student loan servicer to determine the 

best repayment option or alternative for that individual borrower. In 

several places on its website, the U.S. Department of Education has advised 

borrowers to contact their student loan servicer before applying for any 

alternative repayment plan or forbearance, with statements such as the 

following: “Work with your loan servicer to choose a federal student loan 
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repayment plan that’s best for you”;2 “Before you apply for an income-

driven repayment plan, contact your loan servicer if you have any 

questions. Your loan servicer will help you decide whether one of these 

plans is right for you”;3 and “Always contact your loan servicer immediately 

if you are having trouble making your student loan payment.”4 

38. Likewise, Navient, as a servicer of federal loans, has repeatedly 

encouraged borrowers experiencing financial hardship to contact Navient 

for assistance in evaluating the various alternative repayment options. For 

example, Navient’s website has included the following statements inviting 

borrowers to contact Navient for guidance in finding long-term repayment 

solutions:  

• “[I]f you’re having trouble, there are options for assistance, 
including income-driven repayment plans, deferment, 
forbearance, and solutions to help you avoid delinquency 
and prevent default …. We can work with you to help you get 
back on track, and are sometimes able to offer new or 
temporarily reduced payment schedules. Contact us at 800-

                                                                 

 
2 Federal Student Aid, U.S. Department of Education, Repayment Plans, 
https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/repay-loans/understand/plans (last visited Jan. 18, 2017). 
3 Federal Student Aid, U.S. Department of Education, Income-Driven Repayment 
Plans, https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/repay-loans/understand/plans/income-driven (last 
visited Jan. 18, 2017). 
4 Federal Student Aid, U.S. Department of Education, Deferment and Forbearance, 
https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/repay-loans/deferment-forbearance (last visited Jan. 18, 
2017). 
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722-1300 and let us help you make the right decision for 
your situation.”5  
 

• “If you’re experiencing problems making your loans 
payments, please contact us. Our representatives can help 
you by identifying options and solutions, so you can make 
the right decision for your situation.”6 

 
• “Navient is here to help. We’ve found that, 9 times out of 10, 

when we can talk to a struggling federal loan customer we 
can help him or her get on an affordable payment plan and 
avoid default.”7  

 
39. For many years, Navient’s website has included other, similar 

statements. For example, its website previously stated that it was 

“committed to giving you the information and tools you need to understand 

and evaluate your student loan payment options. We can help you find an 

option that fits your budget, simplifies payment, and minimizes your total 

interest cost.” (emphasis added). 

40. Nevertheless, since at least July 2011, despite publicly assuring 

borrowers that it will help them identify and enroll in an appropriate, 

                                                                 

 
5 Navient, If You’re Having Trouble, https://www.navient.com/loan-
customers/postponing-payments/if-you-are-having-trouble/ (last visited Jan. 18, 2017) 
(emphasis added). 
6 Navient, Avoiding Delinquency and Default, https://www.navient.com/loan-
customers/postponing-payments/avoiding-default/ (last visited Jan. 18, 2017) 
(emphasis added). 
7 Navient, 5 Habits of Successful Borrowers, https://www.navient.com/loan-
customers/getting-started/successful-student-loan-borrowers/ (last visited Jan. 18, 
2017) (emphasis added). 
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affordable repayment plan, Navient has routinely disregarded that 

commitment and instead steered borrowers experiencing long-term 

distress or hardship into forbearance. 

41. Navient’s compensation policies for its customer service 

representatives have incentivized them to push numerous borrowers to 

forbearance without adequately exploring income-driven repayment plans 

with those borrowers, and in some cases, without even mentioning income-

driven repayment plans at all.  

42. Because of the number and complexity of repayment options 

available for federal loans, a conversation about alternative repayment 

plans and the borrower’s financial situation is usually time-consuming.  

43. Navient, however, has compensated its customer service 

personnel, in part, based on average call time. As a result, engaging in 

lengthy and detailed conversations with borrowers about their particular 

financial situation and trying to determine the income-driven repayment 

plan that is most appropriate for each borrower would have been financially 

detrimental for those employees. 

44. Moreover, since a borrower is required to submit a paper or 

online application, and include certain income tax documentation with that 
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application, to enroll in an income-driven repayment plan, the process of 

enrolling a borrower in such plans sometimes requires multiple, lengthy 

conversations with the borrower. This is especially true considering that 

more than half of Navient borrowers who enroll in income-driven 

repayment plans for the first time report that they could not navigate the 

application process on their own. 

45. In addition to the paperwork required to enroll a borrower in an 

income-driven repayment plan, a borrower in such a plan must also 

complete an annual recertification form each year to document his/her 

current income and family size, which is then used to adjust the borrower’s 

payment amount. Processing this renewal paperwork further increases the 

employee time that Navient must devote to borrowers who enroll in an 

income-driven repayment plan. 

46. As the volume of income-driven repayment plan applications 

and renewals received by Navient increases, Navient also has to increase 

the size of its staff to review and process those forms, thereby increasing 

operating costs.  

47. In sum, counseling borrowers about and enrolling those 

borrowers in income-driven repayment plans is costly for Navient and its 
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employees. 

48. In contrast, enrollment in forbearance can often be completed 

over the phone, in a matter of minutes, and generally without the 

submission of any paperwork. 

49. As compared to the staff resources and time expenditure 

required to enroll and renew borrowers in income-driven repayment plans, 

enrolling borrowers in forbearance is substantially less expensive for 

Navient and is or was financially beneficial for its employees. Navient 

employees have routinely failed to invest the time and effort necessary to 

help financially distressed borrowers identify and enroll in affordable 

repayment plans most appropriate for their financial situation. 

50. Between January 2010 and March 2015, the number of 

borrowers that Navient enrolled in forbearance has generally exceeded the 

number of borrowers enrolled in income-driven repayment plans. For 

example, in December 2010, around 9% of borrowers with Federal Family 

Education Loan (FFEL) loans held and serviced by Navient were enrolled in 

voluntary forbearance, while less than 1% of borrowers with the same loan 

type were enrolled in IBR. Similarly, in December 2012, approximately 7% 

of Navient borrowers with FFEL loans held and serviced by Navient were 
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enrolled in voluntary forbearance, while just 2% of borrowers with the same 

loan type were enrolled in IBR. 

51. Navient representatives sometimes initially responded to 

borrowers’ inability to make a payment by placing them in voluntary 

forbearance without adequately advising them about available income-

driven repayment plans. This occurred even though it is likely that a large 

number of those borrowers would have qualified instead for a $0 payment 

in an income-driven repayment plan at that time. Indeed, over 50% of 

Navient borrowers who need payment relief, and meet the eligibility criteria 

for income-driven repayment plans, qualify for a $0 monthly payment.  

52. For example, between January 1, 2010 and March 31, 2015, 

nearly 25% of borrowers who ultimately enrolled in IBR with a $0 payment 

were enrolled in voluntary forbearance within the twelve-month period 

immediately preceding their enrollment in IBR. Similarly, during that same 

time period, nearly 16% of borrowers who ultimately enrolled in PAYE with 

a $0 payment were enrolled in voluntary forbearance within the twelve-

month period immediately preceding their enrollment in PAYE. The 

majority of these borrowers were enrolled in voluntary forbearance more 

than three months prior to their enrollment in the income-driven 
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repayment plan, which suggests that forbearance was not merely offered to 

these borrowers while their application in an income-driven repayment 

plan was pending. Because they were placed into forbearance before 

ultimately enrolling in an income-driven repayment plan with a $0 

payment, these borrowers had delayed access to the benefits of the income-

driven repayment plan. They were also subject to the negative 

consequences of forbearance, including the addition of interest to the 

principal balance of the loan, which they potentially could have avoided had 

they been enrolled in the income-driven repayment plan from the start. 

53. Navient also enrolled an immense number of borrowers in 

multiple consecutive forbearances, even though they had clearly 

demonstrated a long-term inability to repay their loans. For example, 

between January 1, 2010 and March 31, 2015, Navient enrolled over 1.5 

million borrowers in two or more consecutive forbearances totaling twelve 

months or longer. More than 470,000 of these borrowers were enrolled in 

three consecutive forbearances, and more than 520,000 of them were 

enrolled in four or more consecutive forbearances. For borrowers enrolled 

in three or more consecutive forbearances, each forbearance period lasted, 

on average, six months. Therefore, hundreds of thousands of consumers 
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were continuously enrolled in forbearance for a period of two or three 

years, or more. Regardless of why these borrowers did not enroll in an 

income-driven repayment plan from the start, their long-term inability to 

repay was increasingly clear as each forbearance period expired. Yet 

Navient representatives continued to enroll them in forbearance again and 

again, rather than an income-driven repayment plan that would have been 

beneficial for many of them. 

54. Enrollment in multiple consecutive forbearances imposed a 

staggering financial cost on this group of borrowers. At the conclusion of 

those forbearances, Navient had added nearly four billion dollars of unpaid 

interest to the principal balance of their loans. For many of these 

borrowers, had they been enrolled in an income-driven repayment plan, 

they would have avoided much or all of their additional charges because the 

government would have paid the unpaid interest on their subsidized loans 

in full during the first three years of consecutive enrollment. 

Navient’s Servicing Failures Relating to Renewal of Borrowers’ 
Enrollment in Income-Driven Repayment Plans 

 
55. A federal student loan borrower who is enrolled in an income-

driven repayment plan must certify his/her income and family size to 

Case 3:17-cv-00101-RDM   Document 1   Filed 01/18/17   Page 23 of 66



 

 

 

 

24 
   

qualify for an affordable payment amount that is based on that income and 

family size. This affordable payment amount applies for a period of twelve 

months. At the end of this twelve-month period, the affordable payment 

amount will expire unless the borrower renews his/her enrollment in the 

plan before the expiration date. To do so, the borrower must “recertify” 

his/her income and family size by submitting updated information, 

including documentation of income. The borrower must recertify income 

and family size information before the expiration of the twelve-month 

period each year in order to maintain the affordable payment amount each 

year. 

56. If the twelve-month period expires because the borrower has 

not timely recertified income and family size, several negative 

consequences are likely to occur. First, the borrower’s monthly payment 

amount may immediately increase from a low affordable amount to one 

that is typically in the hundreds or even thousands of dollars.  

57. Other significant consequences that will occur when the twelve-

month period expires without a timely recertification include (1) the 

addition of any unpaid, accrued interest to the principal balance of the 

loan; (2) for subsidized loans in the first three years of enrollment in an 
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income-driven repayment plan, the loss of an interest subsidy from the 

federal government for each month until the borrower renews his/her 

enrollment; and (3) for some borrowers who enroll in forbearance when the 

twelve-month period expires, delayed progress towards loan forgiveness 

because the borrower is no longer making qualifying payments that count 

towards loan forgiveness. These consequences are all irreversible. 

58. At the time of enrollment in the income-driven repayment plan, 

Navient has sent borrowers an “initial disclosure notice” which identified 

the beginning and end dates of the initial enrollment in the repayment 

plan. That notice has also advised consumers: “You’ll be notified in advance 

when your loan(s) is up for renewal for the [income-driven repayment] 

plan. At that time, you’ll be provided with a date to submit a new 

application.” However, the notice has not indicated any specific renewal 

deadline. 

59. The “initial disclosure notice” has also outlined certain 

consequences that might result if the borrower “chooses not to renew” or 

“requests to leave the plan,” including the recalculation of the borrower’s 

monthly payment amount and the addition of unpaid interest to the 

principal balance of the loan. This indicates that these consequences will 
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result only if the borrower either “chooses not to renew” or “requests to 

leave the plan.” The notice does not identify any consequences that might 

result if the borrower chooses to renew by submitting a renewal 

application, but the application is incorrect or incomplete in some respect 

or is not submitted in a timely manner. 

60. Since at least January 1, 2010, federal student loan servicers, 

including Navient, have been required to send at least one written notice 

concerning the annual renewal requirements to borrowers in advance of 

their renewal deadline.  

61. From at least January 1, 2010 until December 2012, Navient’s 

annual renewal notices for income-driven repayment plans sent through 

U.S. mail did not inform borrowers of the actual date by which they had to 

submit the renewal application, including documentation of income, to 

avoid expiration of the twelve-month period during which payment was set 

at an affordable amount based on the borrower’s income and family size.  

62. Instead, Navient’s pre-December 2012 notices stated vaguely 

that the borrower’s income-based repayment period would “expire in 

approximately 90 days” and that the “renewal process may take at least 30 

days.”  
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63. It is impossible to determine from these two statements the 

deadline by which a borrower must submit the required documentation and 

information in order to timely renew enrollment in the plan. First, the 

statement that the “renewal process may take at least 30 days” says nothing 

about how long the renewal process will actually take, or even the 

maximum number of days the renewal process could take.  Second, by 

saying that the plan would expire in “approximately 90 days,” Navient 

provided no date by which the borrower could count backwards to calculate 

the deadline – even if Navient had told the borrower how many days to 

count (which it did not). The notice also failed to advise borrowers of the 

likely consequences if they failed to timely submit their renewal 

application. 

64. The pre-December 2012 notices also failed to advise borrowers 

of the likely consequences of submitting incorrect or incomplete 

information. The notices encouraged borrowers to fill out the forms 

completely and warned borrowers that “by providing incorrect or 

incomplete information the [renewal] process will be delayed.” This falsely 

implied that the only consequence of providing incorrect or incomplete 

information was a “delay” in the renewal “process” – that while the renewal 
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process would be delayed by the submission of an incomplete and incorrect 

application for renewal, as long as the deficiencies were rectified, no other 

consequences would result. 

65. Borrowers who have submitted a renewal application have 

clearly chosen to renew their enrollment; their choice to renew was 

evidenced by their submission of the application, even if that application 

was incomplete or inaccurate in some respect. But the pre-December 2012 

notice said nothing to warn these borrowers that failing to submit complete 

and accurate information before the end of the twelve-month period would 

have essentially the same consequences as if the borrower chose not to 

renew their enrollment in the income-driven repayment plan at all, because 

the consequences of a decision not to renew that were outlined in the initial 

disclosure letter would still result. Those consequences included at least a 

temporary increase in the borrower’s monthly payment amount, the 

addition of any unpaid interest to the principal balance of the loan, and 

other financial consequences described above. Borrowers could not 

reasonably have been expected to interpret Navient’s reference to a mere 

processing delay to actually mean irreversible financial harm. 

66. For borrowers who have consented to receiving electronic 
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communications, Navient has sent electronic renewal notices instead of 

hard copy notices by mail. More than 75% of Navient’s federal student loan 

borrowers have consented to receiving electronic communications. 

67. Between at least mid-2010 and March 2015, these borrowers 

had to log in to Navient’s secure website with their user ID and password to 

view an electronic version of the renewal notice sent via U.S. mail to other 

borrowers. Navient, however, failed to adequately advise these borrowers of 

the availability of the electronic notice on its website. 

68. The only step that Navient took to advise these borrowers of the 

availability of the electronic notice on its website was to send them an email 

with a hyperlink to its website, where the renewal notice could be viewed 

after the borrower logged into his/her secure account. But neither the 

subject line of this email nor its contents provided any indication of the 

purpose of the notice. 

69. From at least January 1, 2010 through November 15, 2012, the 

subject line of the email simply read: “Your Sallie Mae Account 

Information.” Likewise, from at least November 16, 2012 through March 

18, 2015, the subject line of the email was: “New Document Ready to View.” 

70. The body of the email did not provide any greater detail. Until 
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mid-2015, the body of the email stated only that “a new education loan 

document is available. Please log in to your account to view it.” 

71. In stark contrast, during the same time period, other emails 

sent by Navient described the content or purpose of the referenced 

document. For example, the subject line of one such email was “Your Sallie 

Mae – Department of Education Statement is Available,” and the body of 

the email stated “Your monthly statement is now available. Please log in to 

your account at SallieMae.com to view and pay your bill.” Another email 

regarding loan terms had a subject line that read “Change in Loan Terms,” 

and the text of this email stated, “The payment term for your loan(s) has 

changed. Please log in to your account to view the document with your 

updated payment schedule.” 

72. Navient has tracked the number of borrowers who click on the 

hyperlink in the emails that Navient sends to them. Thus, Navient has 

known or should have known that many borrowers did not view the 

electronic renewal notices.  

73. Between at least July 2011 and March 2015, the percentage of 

borrowers who did not timely renew their enrollment in income-driven 

repayment plans regularly exceeded 60%. Those borrowers who did not 
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timely renew experienced the significant consequences of nonrenewal, 

including a payment jump and the addition of any accrued, unpaid interest 

to the principal balance of the loan.  

74. Navient has been aware that the majority of borrowers were 

failing to renew their enrollment in income-driven repayment plans. 

75. Beginning in or around March 2015, Navient made several 

enhancements to its email that provides access to the electronic renewal 

notice. It changed the subject line of the email to read “Your Payment Will 

Increase Soon!” and the text of the email now states: “[I]n order to keep 

your lower payment amount, it’s important that you apply soon to renew 

your repayment plan.” 

76. Since Navient made these enhancements to its electronic 

notices, the renewal rate has more than doubled.  

Navient’s Misreporting of Information to Consumer Reporting 
Agencies Regarding Loans Held by Disabled Borrowers 

 
77. As a servicer of student loans, Navient routinely furnishes 

information about its student loan accounts to consumer reporting 

agencies.  

78. The U.S. Department of Education allows borrowers who have a 
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total and permanent disability to have their federal loans discharged, 

relieving them of any obligation to pay the loans. These include loans held 

by veterans whom the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs has determined 

are unemployable because of disabilities connected to their military service. 

79. In 2006, the U.S. Department of Education provided guidance 

regarding appropriate credit reporting when a loan is discharged. That 

guidance instructs that, when a non-defaulted loan is discharged due to the 

total and permanent disability of the borrower, servicers should use only 

reporting code “05” and a payment rating code applicable to the status of 

the loan. Those instructions also indicate that the reporting code “AL” 

(signaling that the loan is being “assigned to the government”) is to be used 

only: (1) by schools holding Perkins loans, not by servicers, and (2) only 

when the loan is in a default status prior to being discharged due to the 

disability of the borrower.   

80. Consistent with the instructions from the U.S. Department of 

Education, the operative credit reporting guide, issued by the Consumer 

Data Industry Association in 2012, contains a section on “Total and 

Permanent Disability Discharge Procedures” for student loans. That section 

indicates that the reporting code “AL” is to be used only: (1) by schools 
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holding Perkins loans, not by servicers, and (2) only when the loan is in a 

default status prior to being discharged due to the disability of the 

borrower.   

81. From at least October 2012 until approximately June 2014, 

Navient used the “AL” reporting code to report a loan that had been 

discharged due to the borrower’s total and permanent disability, despite the 

fact that Navient is not an educational institution that holds Perkins loans, 

and that some of the borrowers who received a loan discharge due to a total 

and permanent disability had not defaulted.  

82. Navient’s furnishing of information regarding loans that had 

been discharged due to the borrower’s total and permanent disability was 

not accurate because there was a correct reporting code available to be used 

by servicers responsible for non-defaulted loans that were being discharged 

due to a borrower’s total and permanent disability. Navient’s misreporting 

made it appear as if borrowers who had not defaulted on their loans and 

whose loans were being discharged due to a total and permanent disability 

had actually defaulted on their loans. 

83. Navient used a reporting code for defaulted loans even though it 

knew that doing so was likely to cause a significant negative impact on the 
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credit report and associated credit score of totally and permanently 

disabled borrowers, and other serious harm. For example, Navient’s 

website warns: “Defaulting on your federal or private loans may result in 

serious consequences that might lead to a long lasting and harmful impact 

to you as the borrower or cosigner.”8 And Navient’s own debt collectors tell 

borrowers at risk of default that a default will severely impact their credit 

score. 

Navient’s Misrepresentations Relating to Cosigner Release 

84. A cosigner is generally necessary for a borrower to obtain a 

private student loan, or to obtain that loan with more favorable terms. 

85. Once a borrower enters repayment on his/her private student 

loan, he or she generally can apply to release the cosigner from the loan 

after meeting certain eligibility criteria. This option is generally available to 

most Navient borrowers with cosigned private student loans. 

86. Since at least January 2010, one of the eligibility criteria that 

Navient has required private student loan borrowers to meet before they 

can apply to release a cosigner is that the borrower must make a minimum 

                                                                 

 
8 Navient, Avoiding Delinquency and Default, https://www.navient.com/loan-
customers/postponing-payments/avoiding-default/ (last visited Jan. 18, 2017). 
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number of consecutive, on-time payments consisting of both principal and 

interest. Since January 21, 2014, Navient has required the borrower to 

“make 12 consecutive, on-time principal and interest payments” before 

applying for cosigner release. Prior to January 21, 2014, and depending on 

the applicable terms of the borrower’s loan, Navient required borrowers to 

make between 12 and 48 “consecutive, on-time principal and interest 

payments” before applying for cosigner release. Navient did not, however, 

specifically define for borrowers what it meant by “consecutive” or “on-

time” payments. 

87. A borrower in repayment will sometimes make a payment that 

is a multiple of the monthly payment amount due. For example, a borrower 

whose monthly payment amount due is $100 may choose to pay $200 or 

$300 instead of $100. 

88. When a borrower makes such a “multiplier overpayment,” 

Navient generally applies the payment to satisfy the borrower’s current 

monthly payment due, and then places the borrower in a “paid ahead” 

status for the subsequent months that have been satisfied by the excess 

payment. 

89. For each month that the borrower is in a “paid ahead” status on 
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his/her private student loan, Navient sends the borrower a bill indicating 

that the payment due for that month is $0 because the borrower is not 

required to make any payment that month in order to remain current on 

his/her loan. Thus, there is no “on-time principal and interest payment” 

that is even due that month.  

90. Until at least mid-2015, in determining whether a borrower 

made the minimum number of “consecutive, on-time principal and interest 

payments” for purposes of cosigner release, Navient treated the lack of 

payment by a borrower in response to a $0 bill as a failure to make a 

“consecutive, on-time principal and interest payment” that month. Navient 

reset the borrower’s progress towards the “consecutive, on-time principal 

and interest payments” requirement to zero months. 

91. For example, suppose a borrower’s monthly amount due is 

$100. If she paid exactly $100 each month from January through 

September 2014, Navient would have considered her to have made nine 

consecutive, on-time payments. Suppose she then submitted a $200 

payment in October 2014. Because that $200 payment would have been 

enough to cover the monthly amount due for both October and November 

2014, she would have received a $0 bill for November. Because no payment 
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was required by the $0 bill, she submitted no payment in November. Then, 

in December 2014, upon receiving the next bill that actually required a 

payment, she made an on-time monthly payment of $100. Because she did 

not submit a payment in November 2014, Navient would have reset her 

progress toward the consecutive, on-time principal and interest payment 

requirement for cosigner release. Navient would have treated this borrower 

as having made zero consecutive payments as of November.  

92. This is contrary to Navient’s statement to borrowers that they 

can apply for cosigner release if they make a certain number of 

“consecutive, on-time principal and interest payments.” The requirement is 

only that the “on-time principal and interest payments” must be 

consecutive – not that the “months” or “billing cycles” in which on-time 

principal and interest payments are made must be consecutive. The 

requirement does not even refer to months or billing cycles. 

93. When a borrower does not submit a payment in a particular 

month because he/she has received a $0 bill as a result of a previous 

multiplier overpayment, and then makes an on-time principal and interest 

payment the next time he/she receives a bill for more than $0, there is no 

break in eligible payments that he/she has made towards the on-time 
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principal and interest payment requirement. The borrower in the example 

above made eleven eligible payments in 2014, and they were consecutive 

because there was no “on-time principal and interest payment” she failed to 

make that year. Yet Navient would have reset her count to zero months in 

November 2014 because her payments were not made in consecutive 

months. 

94. Navient has thus misled borrowers by stating that they must 

make twelve “consecutive, on-time principal and interest payments” before 

applying for cosigner release. The actual requirement that Navient applied 

is that the borrower must submit a separate on-time payment in each of 

twelve consecutive months amounting to at least the regular principal and 

interest amount, even where the billing statement indicates that no 

payment is required. 

95. Navient failed to disclose this actual requirement. And nothing 

on Navient’s billing statement, its website, or any other consumer-facing 

document advised borrowers that making no payment in response to a $0 

bill could impact their eligibility for cosigner release. 

96. By resetting borrowers’ progress toward the “consecutive, on-

time principal and interest payments” requirement to zero months when 
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they submitted no payment in response to a $0 bill as a result of a previous 

multiplier overpayment, Navient denied or delayed cosigner release for 

borrowers who had already satisfied the requirement that Navient had 

disclosed or had made progress towards doing so, and who had met or 

would have been able to meet Navient’s other requirements for release. 

Navient’s Payment Processing Errors 

97. One of Navient’s primary responsibilities as a student loan 

servicer is to process payments made by borrowers and cosigners on their 

student loan accounts. 

98. Navient, however, does not have adequate processes and 

procedures in place to sufficiently address certain errors it makes in the 

processing of payments received from borrowers and cosigners or to 

prevent errors from recurring. 

99. A significant number of borrowers and cosigners do not submit 

payments through Navient’s online portal, but instead submit their 

payments by mailing a check or through an external bill payment system 

(such as a bill payment service operated by the bank where the borrower 

has a checking account). 

100. Since at least July 2011, many borrowers and cosigners, 
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primarily those who pay by mailing a check or through an external bill 

payment system, have complained that Navient misallocated or misapplied 

submitted payments. (Errors in the allocation of payments relate to how a 

payment is distributed across multiple loans. Errors in the application of 

payments relate to how a payment is applied to a specific loan or loans 

based on the terms of each loan’s promissory note; for example, the 

payment might be applied first to unpaid fees, then to unpaid interest, and 

then to unpaid principal.)  

101. By way of example, in some instances, Navient has misallocated 

payments intended and/or designated for a specific loan(s) among some or 

all of a borrower’s other loans. Sometimes, the payment was a lump sum 

payment intended to pay off a specific loan, but Navient allocated the 

payment to all of the loans in the borrower’s account, thereby not paying off 

the loan that the borrower intended to pay off. In other cases, Navient has 

disregarded borrower or cosigner instructions about how to divide a 

payment among loans, or incorrectly allocated payments made by cosigners 

to all of the loans in the borrower’s account instead of only the loans which 

they cosigned.  

102. Each year Navient receives thousands of complaints and 
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inquiries relating to payment misapplication or misallocation that are 

escalated beyond a first-level customer service representative.  

103. One source for payment processing errors appears to be the 

undisclosed payment allocation methodology used by Navient. Specifically, 

when a borrower has more than one loan serviced by Navient, Navient 

generally places that borrower’s loans in one or more billing groups. For 

borrowers who made a payment that varied from the exact amount owed on 

the loans in a billing group, Navient has used a default allocation 

methodology that was not disclosed on any billing statement, promissory 

note, or printed or online resource available to borrowers.  

104. In addition, the default allocation methodology varied based on 

whether the loan was federal or private, as well as whether the borrowed 

submitted an underpayment, overpayment, or an overpayment that was a 

multiple of the borrower’s monthly payment amount due.  

105. Because Navient did not make its default allocation 

methodologies clear or publicly available until at least late 2013, prior to 

that time borrowers and cosigners had no way of knowing in advance how 

Navient might allocate payments (unless they specifically requested the 

information and a representative provided accurate information).   
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106. While a borrower or cosigner could submit written instructions 

with a paper check as to how a payment should be processed, Navient’s 

mail reading equipment did not always properly detect the presence of such 

instructions. And even where the instructions were detected and acted 

upon by a Navient representative, the Navient representative did not always 

implement the instructions properly. 

107. Thus, borrowers who did not use Navient’s online portal to 

submit payments had to call if they discovered, as was sometimes the case, 

that their payment processing instructions had not been honored or had 

not been implemented properly.  

108. Errors made by Navient in the processing of payments received 

from borrowers and cosigners have resulted in borrowers and cosigners 

incurring improper late fees, increased interest charges, the furnishing of 

inaccurate negative information to consumer reporting agencies, and the 

loss of certain benefits. 

109. Many borrowers and cosigners have complained that a payment 

processing error was not an isolated event, but rather that the same 

payment processing error recurred time and again, even after they 

contacted Navient to correct the error. 
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110. While Navient might correct a specific error if a consumer 

contacts Navient to report it, if the error is not escalated beyond a first-level 

customer service representative, Navient does not necessarily identify and 

fix the underlying issue causing the error to prevent it from recurring. As a 

result, some consumers have suffered the same payment processing error 

in multiple months. 

111. Moreover, Navient does not categorize most non-escalated 

consumer inquiries about payment processing errors. When borrowers and 

cosigners with non-escalated consumer inquiries contact Navient about 

payment processing errors, Navient personnel generally record details 

about the error in a freeform, narrative style in notes in the consumer’s 

account, but those personnel are unable to use any codes or tags to 

categorize the inquiry or concern.  

112. Navient, thus, is unable to systematically search and/or 

aggregate these non-escalated inquiries. As a result, Navient has been 

unable to effectively understand many of the problems that consumers are 

experiencing with respect to payment processing and take action to prevent 

these problems from recurring or from impacting the same consumer again 

and again.  
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Pioneer Credit Recovery, Inc. 

The Federal Rehabilitation Program 

113. The federal loan rehabilitation program allows federal student 

loan borrowers to restore the student loans on which they have defaulted to 

active repayment and remove the default notation from their credit 

histories. 

114. Once a borrower enters the program, he/she is required to 

make nine on-time payments over the course of ten months. If the 

borrower successfully makes the nine payments and submits an 

application, the outstanding loan balance is transferred to a new servicer 

and the borrower is taken out of default status. 

115. The U.S. Department of Education has relied on Pioneer and 

other private collection agencies to accurately explain the terms and 

conditions of the rehabilitation program to borrowers and enroll them in 

the program where appropriate. 

116. Once Pioneer enrolls a borrower in the rehabilitation program, 

the company receives a percentage-based fee for every monthly 

rehabilitation payment made by that borrower. 

117. Once a borrower completes the nine payments and the 
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rehabilitation application, Pioneer receives a percentage fee based on the 

total amount of the defaulted loan balance “cured” through rehabilitation. 

Pioneer’s False Promises that Rehabilitation Would Remove All 
Adverse Information Regarding the Borrowers’ Loans from 
Their Credit Reports 

 
118. When a borrower is in a normal repayment status on her 

student loan, he/she has a related trade line on his/her credit report.  

119. If that borrower ceases making payments, eventually he/she 

will enter default status, at which point a new and separate default trade 

line will be added to his/her credit report. Hence, a borrower in default has 

two trade lines related to the student loan: one reflecting the late payments 

and delinquencies leading up to default, and another reflecting the default 

itself. 

120. Once a borrower completes the rehabilitation program and has 

the default cured, the owner of the loan removes the default trade line from 

the borrower’s credit report. However, the original trade line reflecting late 

payments and delinquencies prior to the default is not removed. 

121. The U.S. Department of Education instructs its debt collectors 

not to state or imply to borrowers that the adverse information reported by 

the original lender guaranty agency will be removed from the borrower’s 
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credit report as a result of rehabilitation: “Adverse information reported by 

the original lender will not be expunged or excluded from credit reports 

before the 7-year period that runs from the lender’s report of that default, 

even if the loan is rehabilitated.”   

122. On information and belief, despite this instruction, in calls with 

borrowers, Pioneer collectors routinely misrepresented the change that 

occurs on a borrower’s credit report after rehabilitation, by stating or 

suggesting that all adverse information relating to the defaulted loan, 

including any record of late payments and delinquencies, would be 

removed from the borrower’s credit report. Borrowers typically do not 

know that there are two trade lines for the defaulted loans, so unless that 

fact is clearly explained to the borrower, they would not reasonably 

understand that not all adverse information would be removed.  

123. The U.S. Department of Education, in 2015, announced its 

intention to end its contract with Pioneer in part because an audit, which 

included review of a sample of calls, indicated that Pioneer collectors 

misled consumers concerning the change that occurs on a borrower’s credit 

report after rehabilitation. 

124. On information and belief, the misrepresentations made in calls 
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with borrowers were also consistent with the training guides used by 

Pioneer which included the following talking points: “You have qualified for 

a rehabilitation program. What you will need to do is make a minimum of 9 

qualifying monthly payments. After all payments are made, a new lender 

will pay off the Department of Education for you. You will then in turn owe 

the new lender, which means you will no longer be in Federal Default. All of 

the collection fees will be removed at the time of the sale. Also it will be 

completely deleted from your credit report as though it never happened.” 

(emphasis added). 

125. In fact, after rehabilitation, these borrowers’ trade lines were 

not erased of all adverse information related to the student loan. The 

original trade line, reflecting a delinquency, remained on their credit 

reports. 

Pioneer’s False Promises Regarding Collection Fee Forgiveness 

126. When a federal student loan enters default, the U.S. 

Department of Education begins calculating collection fees at 24.34% of the 

principal amount due.   

127. The amount calculated becomes part of the overall balance 

owed to the federal government by the borrower. 
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128. Once a borrower completes the rehabilitation program, and the 

default is cured, any remaining collection fees are forgiven by the U.S. 

Department of Education. 

129. On information and belief, in calls with some borrowers, 

Pioneer collectors represented that all collection fees would be forgiven. 

130. On information and belief, other times, Pioneer represented to 

some borrowers that the amount of collection fees currently assessed to the 

account would be forgiven. 

131. In reality, since 20% of each rehabilitation payment made by a 

borrower goes towards collection fees, many borrowers have paid down a 

significant portion of their collection fees by the time they have completed 

the rehabilitation program. 

132. As a result, by the time the borrower has finished the 

rehabilitation program, the amount of collection fees remaining to be 

forgiven was less than initially promised. 

133. The U.S. Department of Education, in 2015, announced its 

intention to end its contract with Pioneer in part because an audit, which 

included review of a sample of calls, indicated that Pioneer collectors 

misled consumers concerning the amount of collection fees that would be 
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forgiven for borrowers who completed the rehabilitation program. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE  

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

134. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit a “covered person” 

from committing or engaging in any “unfair, deceptive or abusive act or 

practice” in connection with any transaction with a consumer for a 

consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a consumer 

financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). Defendants 

are “covered person[s]” within the meaning of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). 

135. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers, which is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers, and such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

136. An act or practice is deceptive if it misleads or is likely to 

mislead the consumer; the consumer’s interpretation of the act or practice 

is reasonable under the circumstances; and the misleading act or practice is 

material. 

137. An act or practice is abusive if it, among other things, takes 
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unreasonable advantage of the reasonable reliance by the consumer on a 

covered person to act in the interests of the consumer. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d). 

Count I 

Abusive Acts or Practices Related to Steering 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

138. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

139. Federal student loan borrowers relied on Navient to act in their 

interests in advising about options to address their financial situation, 

including helping borrowers experiencing financial hardship or distress 

select a suitable alternative repayment plan. That reliance was reasonable 

in part because both Navient and the U.S. Department of Education 

repeatedly encouraged borrowers to rely on their servicer to help them in 

this way. 

140. As described above, in numerous instances, Navient took 

unreasonable advantage of consumers’ reasonable reliance on Navient to 

act in their interests. Navient did not act in consumers’ interest because it 

steered borrowers experiencing long-term financial hardship to 

forbearance rather than adequately advising them about income-driven 
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repayment plans that would have been financially beneficial to those 

borrowers.  

141. This advantage obtained by Navient was unreasonable because 

Navient benefited from this conduct at the expense of the consumer. 

Enrolling borrowers into forbearance is quicker and less expensive to 

administer than other repayment plans, thus decreasing Navient’s 

operating costs. The advantage obtained by Navient was also unreasonable 

because Navient fostered the reliance that it then exploited at the expense 

of those consumers. 

142. Therefore, Navient’s acts and practices as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute abusive acts 

or practices in violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count II 

Unfair Acts or Practices Related to Steering 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

143. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

144. Navient’s acts and practice relating to steering of borrowers into 
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forbearance caused or was likely to cause substantial consumer injury. 

Navient steered hundreds of thousands of federal student loan borrowers 

experiencing long-term financial hardship into multiple consecutive 

forbearances that spanned years. Navient then added any interest that was 

unpaid during the forbearance period to the principal balance of these 

borrowers’ loans, thereby drastically increasing the total costs of these 

loans. 

145. This consumer injury was not reasonably avoidable because 

Navient steered borrowers into forbearance while providing no or 

inadequate information about alternative repayment plans so that 

borrowers could make an informed decision to select the repayment option 

that was most appropriate for their financial circumstances.   

146. The substantial consumer injury caused or likely caused by 

Navient’s steering of borrowers into forbearance was not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

147. Therefore, Navient’s acts and practices as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute unfair acts or 

practices in violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536(a)(1). 
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Count III 

Unfair Acts or Practices Related to Recertification 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

148. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

149. As described above, Navient failed to adequately notify 

borrowers who consented to receive electronic communications of the 

existence of the renewal notice because the email it sent to them that 

purportedly provided such notice included no information about the 

purpose or contents of the notice in the subject line or body of the email.  

150. These acts and practices caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers because numerous federal student loan 

borrowers’ affordable income-based payment in the income-driven 

repayment plan expired as a result of those acts or practices, causing them 

to suffer significant negative financial consequences, including an increased 

monthly payment, the addition of interest to the principal balance of the 

loan, and the partial loss of the interest subsidy provided by the federal 

government for eligible loans. Navient was aware that the majority of its 

federal student borrowers were failing to timely renew their enrollment in 
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income-driven repayment plans. 

151. These injuries were not reasonably avoidable. Among other 

things, Navient’s acts and practices relating to renewal of income-driven 

repayment plans created an unreasonable obstacle to the exercise of 

consumers’ decision-making with respect to renewal of income-driven 

recertification plans, including by obscuring access to the information 

necessary for consumers to take the actions necessary to avoid these 

injuries. 

152. The substantial consumer injury caused or likely caused by 

Navient’s acts and practices relating to renewal of income-driven 

repayment plans was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

153. Therefore, Navient’s acts and practices as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute unfair acts or 

practices in violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count IV 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to Recertification 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

Case 3:17-cv-00101-RDM   Document 1   Filed 01/18/17   Page 54 of 66



 

 

 

 

55 
   

154. The allegations in Paragraph 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

155. From at least July 2011 to December 2012, in numerous 

instances, Navient sent federal student loan borrowers a notice regarding 

renewal of income-driven repayment plans that stated that providing 

incomplete or inaccurate information in the renewal application would 

result in a “delay” in the renewal “process,” but Navient did not separately 

identify any consequences other than the processing delay. This statement 

made an implied representation, and created the false impression, that the 

only consequence of submitting a renewal application with incomplete or 

inaccurate information would be a processing delay and nothing more. 

156. In truth and in fact, submitting a renewal application with 

incomplete or inaccurate information was likely to result in several other 

consequences, which were more severe than a mere delay in processing the 

renewal. These include a significant increase in the borrower’s monthly 

payment amount, the addition of any unpaid interest to the principal 

balance of the loan, and the partial loss of the federal government’s interest 

subsidy for eligible loans.   

157. It was reasonable under the circumstances for consumers to 
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interpret Navient’s statement to mean that a processing delay was the only 

consequence of submitting incomplete or incorrect information. 

158. Navient’s representation was material and likely to mislead a 

reasonable federal student loan borrower. 

159. Therefore, Navient’s misrepresentations as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count V 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to  

Cosigner Release Requirements 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

160. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

161. As described above, in numerous instances, Navient 

represented to borrowers with cosigned loans that they could apply for 

cosigner release if the borrower made a certain minimum number of 

“consecutive, on-time principal and interest payments” and also met other 

eligibility criteria. 
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162. In truth and in fact, Navient did not allow certain borrowers 

who met this requirement to apply for cosigner release – those who 

submitted no additional payment in a month in which they received a $0 

bill because they had made a payment in a previous month that was a 

multiple of the monthly payment amount due.  

163. It was reasonable for consumers to interpret Navient’s express 

representation about the “consecutive, on-time principal and interest 

payments” requirement to mean that a borrower was only required to 

submit consecutive “on-time principal and interest payments,” and not that 

such payments must be made in consecutive months and even in months 

when no such payment was due. 

164. Navient’s misrepresentations were material and likely to 

mislead a reasonable consumer. 

165. Therefore, Navient’s misrepresentations as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count VI 

Unfair Acts or Practices Related to Payment Processing Errors 
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(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

166. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

167. As described above, in numerous instances, Navient made 

errors, sometimes month after month, in misallocating and misapplying 

payments made by consumers.  Moreover, Navient failed to implement 

adequate processes and procedures to prevent the same errors from 

recurring, or to prevent the same errors from impacting other consumers. 

168. These acts and practices caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers in the form of late fees, interest accrual, 

and negative credit reporting.  

169. These injuries were not reasonably avoidable because 

consumers had no control over errors, including repeat errors, that Navient 

made in the processing of their payment(s). 

170.  The substantial consumer injury caused or likely caused by 

Navient’s payment processing errors was not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 

171. Therefore, Navient’s acts and practices as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute unfair acts or 
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practices in violations of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count VII 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to  

Rehabilitation Credit Reporting 

(Against Pioneer and Navient Corporation) 

172. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

173. As described above, on information and belief, Pioneer 

represented to borrowers that completing a rehabilitation program would 

remove all adverse information regarding the student loan from their credit 

report.   

174. In truth and in fact, completing a rehabilitation program would 

not remove all adverse information regarding the student loan from the 

borrower’s credit report because the original trade line reflecting late 

payments and delinquencies prior to the default would remain. 

175. It was reasonable for consumers to interpret Pioneer’s express 

representations to mean what they say. 

176. Those misrepresentations were material to consumers in 
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choosing whether to participate in the rehabilitation program. 

177. Therefore, Pioneer’s misrepresentations as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

Count VIII 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to  

Rehabilitation Collection Costs 

(Against Pioneer and Navient Corporation) 

178. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 137 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

179. As described above, on information and belief, Pioneer 

represented to borrowers that all collection fees would be forgiven by the 

U.S. Department of Education upon completion of the rehabilitation 

program. On information and belief, Pioneer also represented to some 

borrowers that the amount of collection fees currently assessed to the 

account would be forgiven. 

180. In truth and in fact, the U.S. Department of Education would 

not forgive all collection fees or the amount of collection fees currently 
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assessed, upon completion of the rehabilitation program, because 

approximately 20% of each rehabilitation payment made by a borrower 

goes towards collection fees. The U.S. Department of Education would 

forgive only the amount of collection fees remaining after rehabilitation 

payments were applied. 

181. It was reasonable for consumers to interpret Pioneer’s express 

representations to mean what they say. 

182. Those misrepresentations were material to consumers in 

choosing whether to participate in the rehabilitation program. 

183. Therefore, Pioneer’s misrepresentations as set forth herein, 

together with or on behalf of Navient Corporation, constitute deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES 

ACT 

Count IX 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to  

Rehabilitation Credit Reporting 

(Against Pioneer and Navient Corporation) 
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184. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 133 and 173 to 176 are 

incorporated here by reference. 

185. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act prohibits debt collectors 

from using “any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in 

connection with the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. 

186. As described above, on information and belief, Pioneer made 

false, deceptive, and misleading representations to borrowers that 

completing the federal loan rehabilitation program would remove all 

adverse information regarding their loan from their credit report. 

187. Therefore, Pioneer, acting together with or on behalf of Navient 

Corporation, violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e, 1692e(10). 

Count X 

Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to  

Rehabilitation Collection Costs 

(Against Pioneer and Navient Corporation) 

188. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 133 and 179 to 182 are 

incorporated here by reference. 

189. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act prohibits debt collectors 
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from using “any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in 

connection with the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. 

190. As described above, on information and belief, Pioneer made 

false, deceptive, and misleading representations to borrowers that all of 

their collection fees related to the federal loan rehabilitation program 

would be forgiven by the U.S. Department of Education or that the exact 

amount of collection fees currently assessed to the account would be 

forgiven. 

191. Therefore, Pioneer, acting together with or on behalf of Navient 

Corporation, violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e, 1692e(10). 

VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION V 

Count XI 

Violations of Regulation V Related to Disabled Borrowers 

(Against Navient and Navient Corporation) 

192. The allegations in Paragraphs 1 to 133 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

193. Regulation V, the implementing regulation of the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act, 15 U.SC. §§ 1681, et seq., imposes certain requirements on 
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persons or entities that furnish consumer information to consumer 

reporting agencies for inclusion in consumer reports. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.40-

43. 

194. As a student loan servicer, Navient routinely furnished 

information about federal student loan borrowers’ performance on loans to 

one or more consumer reporting agencies for inclusion in a consumer 

report, and is therefore a “furnisher” under Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 

1022.41(c). 

195. Regulation V requires a furnisher to “establish and implement 

reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and 

integrity of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a 

consumer reporting agency.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

196. However, from at least October 2012 to approximately June 

2014, Navient failed to establish and implement reasonable written policies 

and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of information that it 

furnished regarding borrowers who had received a discharge on their 

federal loans due to a total and permanent disability.    

197. Therefore, Navient, acting together with or on behalf of Navient 

Corporation, violated Regulation V, 12 U.S. C. § 1022.42(a). 
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THE COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

198. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal 

or equitable relief with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial 

law, including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, 

recession or reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, 

restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and civil 

money penalties. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5565. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

199. WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future 

violations of the CFPA, FCRA, Regulation V, the FDCPA, or any other 

provision of federal consumer financial law, as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(14); 

b. Order Defendants to pay appropriate restitution to 

consumers harmed by their unlawful conduct; 

c. Order Defendants to institute appropriate injunctive 

relief; 

d. Order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenue against 

Defendants; 
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e. Impose civil money penalties against Defendants;  

f. Order the rescission or reformation of contracts where 

necessary to redress injury to consumers; 

g. Order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s cost incurred in 

connection with proceeding with this action; and 

h. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be 

just and proper.   

 
Dated: January 18, 2017  Respectfully submitted,   

      
 Anthony Alexis 

Enforcement Director 
 
David Rubenstein  
Deputy Enforcement Director  
 
Thomas Kim  
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director  
 
_/s/ Brandis Anderson_________ 
Brandis Anderson, CA 261325 
(Email: Brandis.Anderson@cfpb.gov)   
(Phone: 202-435-7548) 
Nicholas Jabbour, DC 500626 
(Email: Nicholas.Jabbour@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7508) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-9346 
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Prepared Remarks of CFPB Director Richard Cordray on the Navient Enforcement
Action Press Call

Washington, D.C.

By Richard Cordray – JAN 18, 2017

Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is filing a lawsuit against Navient (formerly
part of Sallie Mae), which is the nation’s largest servicer of both federal and private student
loans. From our extensive investigation of the matter, we found that Navient has
systematically and illegally failed borrowers at every stage of repayment. Among other
things, we found that Navient created obstacles to repayment by providing bad
information, processing payments incorrectly, and failing to act when borrowers
complained. The company also used shortcuts and deception to illegally cheat struggling
borrowers out of their rights to lower payments, which caused them to pay much more than
they had to for their loans. These unlawful practices have cost student loan borrowers
across the country both heartache and money. And we are working to make sure they do
not happen again.

Navient currently services the student loan accounts of more than 12 million borrowers,
over half of them under its contract with the Department of Education. Altogether, it
services more than $300 billion in federal and private student loans, which is more than
one-in-four borrowers in this country. Today’s lawsuit names as defendants Navient
Corporation, Navient Solutions, and Pioneer Credit Recovery, a unit of Navient that
specializes in collecting on defaulted loans.

Student loan servicers play a critical role for student loan borrowers because they bear
responsibility for managing the loans. They are the link between the borrower and the
owner of the loan, though in many cases they may own the loan themselves. They
communicate directly with borrowers, collect and apply payments, and can help work out
modifications to the loan terms. Importantly, in this marketplace, consumers cannot easily
take their business elsewhere. Instead, they are simply stuck with their student loan servicer,
whether they are being treated well or poorly.

At every stage of repayment on student loans, Navient has failed to follow the law and
caused borrowers needless anxiety and aggravation. Borrowers and the CFPB have reason
to expect better from the nation’s largest student loan servicer. As soon as borrowers are
required to start paying back their loans, they find that they must deal with their student
loan servicers. Servicers are supposed to follow instructions from the borrower about how
to allocate payments across what often are multiple student loans. We believe that Navient
repeatedly creates obstacles to repayment by misallocating or misapplying payments. The
company all too often fails to correct its errors unless a consumer stays vigilant, discovers
the problem, and contacts the company to insist that it be fixed.

Navient also illegally steers vulnerable borrowers toward options that may cost more. Since
2009, federal student loan borrowers facing financial hardship have had the right under
federal law to make student loan payments based on how much money they earn and their
family size. These are known as income-driven repayment plans. For borrowers who are
unemployed or have low incomes, these government-supported plans can offer as little as a
zero-dollar monthly payment. Since Congress first expanded access to these protections, a
wide range of federal regulators and agencies, including the Department of Education, the
Consumer Bureau, the Treasury Department, the FDIC, and the Department of Justice, have
repeatedly made it clear that we expect all student loan servicers to give consumers a fair
shot at repaying their loans. This includes helping consumers understand and enroll in
income-driven repayment plans, as well as other programs and benefits available to
consumers that can reduce their interest payments or lead to loan forgiveness.

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_authors=richard-cordray
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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But the CFPB found in its investigation, and now alleges in its lawsuit, that Navient all too
often fails to help consumers understand that they can peg their student loan payments to
their current income and household size. Instead, it often steers consumers toward a short-
term solution that allows borrowers to take a temporary break from making payments,
known as “forbearance.” With forbearance, borrowers can temporarily suspend making
monthly payments, but their debt continues to grow as the unpaid interest is added to the
loan. It is typically not suitable for borrowers who are facing long-term financial hardship.
And the longer a borrower is in forbearance, the more their loan balance increases.

For servicers, enrolling troubled borrowers in forbearance is generally easier to process
than an income-driven repayment plan. An income-driven repayment plan involves
paperwork and longer discussions. Forbearance can take just a few minutes and often
avoids the submission of any paperwork. Forbearance is thus a cheaper approach that saves
Navient money.

But while steering borrowers into forbearance might reduce operating costs and thus could
boost profits for Navient, it costs consumers real money. From January 2010 to March 2015,
the company added up to $4 billion – that is with a “B” – in extra interest charges to the
principal balances of loans that were repeatedly enrolled in forbearance. Over this period,
many affected borrowers contacted Navient multiple times for help, and Navient responded
by extending the length of their forbearance. At any point in this process, Navient could
have helped eligible borrowers get started instead on an income-driven repayment plan,
but Navient failed to do so.

We also found and now allege that for borrowers who successfully enrolled in an income-
driven repayment plan, Navient obscured the information that borrowers needed to
maintain their lower payments. These borrowers must certify their income and family size
annually, but Navient’s emails and annual renewal notices failed to adequately inform them
of critical deadlines or the consequences if they failed to act. We believe that Navient’s
failure to provide adequate notices contributed to borrowers not renewing their enrollment
on time, causing their affordable monthly payments to expire. When this happens, a
borrower’s monthly payment can jump by hundreds of dollars, the principal balance may
increase by thousands of dollars, and they may also forfeit other benefits, such as interest
subsidies and progress toward loan forgiveness.

We determined that even for borrowers whose loans had been discharged, Navient
continued to harm them. Specifically, we are talking about borrowers who are totally and
permanently disabled, including American military veterans who were disabled during their
military service. As you may be aware, student loan payments are reported to the credit
reporting companies. When borrowers default or run into trouble in repaying their loans,
reporting this information can damage their credit profile and prevent them from being
able to take out future loans. 

Federal student loan borrowers who are severely and permanently disabled have a right to
seek loan forgiveness under the federal discharge program for Total and Permanent
Disability. We found in our investigation and now allege that Navient misreported to the
credit reporting companies by using a reporting code for disabled borrowers that was
meant to be used only in cases of default. When loan defaults show up on a credit report, it
damages the borrower’s credit and can cause severe harm by preventing people from
buying a home, leasing a car, or even renting an apartment or passing a criminal
background check. Our country’s veterans and disabled borrowers deserve better.

What makes many of these illegal practices even more troubling is that our investigation
showed that poor treatment of student loan borrowers was institutionalized at every stage
of repayment at Navient. The company simply failed to invest the time and effort necessary
to help financially distressed borrowers. Shirking its responsibilities, Navient chose to
shortcut its obligations as a servicer in favor of making its job easier, quicker, and less costly.

Struggling borrowers have paid a heavy price for having their loans serviced by Navient. For
those who were steered into forbearance, they saw their debt increase. Navient failed to
adhere to its obligation to help borrowers navigate the numerous available options and
identify the repayment plans that best suited their individual circumstances.
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To remedy these wrongs, the Bureau is seeking redress for consumers who were harmed by
Navient’s illegal practices. We are also seeking to prohibit Navient from committing illegal
conduct in the future and thereby prevent new borrowers from being similarly harmed.

Student loans make up the nation’s second largest consumer debt market after mortgages.
Today we have over 44 million federal and private student loan borrowers, who collectively
owe about $1.4 trillion. There is growing evidence that a strain of this magnitude threatens
the economic security of vast numbers of young Americans, and growing numbers of older
Americans as well. Significant debt loads can have a domino effect on the major choices
people make in their lives: what job to take and whether to move, buy a home, or even get
married.

There is no doubt that breakdowns in student loan servicing are partly responsible for
borrowers, now totaling more than 8 million, who are currently estimated to be in default on
over $130 billion in student loans. The lawsuit we are filing today seeks to address some of
these breakdowns at Navient, with the goal of protecting consumers from harm caused by
the company’s violations of federal consumer financial laws.

And now I will turn it over to Attorney General Madigan and  Senior Counsel Smith. It is my
honor to be working alongside them on this matter. Together, their states have  been
leaders in standing up for student loan borrowers. Illinois and Washington are among our
toughest and most effective advocates for consumers, and their work on behalf of those
with student loans has inspired and informed our own mission at the CFPB. Thank you. 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers  to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Sues Nation's Largest Student Loan Company Navient for Failing Borrowers at
Every Stage of Repayment

Navient, Formerly Part of Sallie Mae, Illegally Cheated Borrowers Out of
Repayment Rights Through Shortcuts and Deception

JAN 18, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is suing the
nation’s largest servicer of both federal and private student loans for systematically and
illegally failing borrowers at every stage of repayment. For years, Navient, formerly part of
Sallie Mae, created obstacles to repayment by providing bad information, processing
payments incorrectly, and failing to act when borrowers complained. Through shortcuts and
deception, the company also illegally cheated many struggling borrowers out of their rights
to lower repayments, which caused them to pay much more than they had to for their loans.
The Bureau seeks to recover significant relief for the borrowers harmed by these illegal
servicing failures.

"For years, Navient failed consumers who counted on the company to help give them a fair
chance to pay back their student loans," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "At every
stage of repayment, Navient chose to shortcut and deceive consumers to save on operating
costs. Too many borrowers paid more for their loans because Navient illegally cheated
them and today's action seeks to hold them accountable."

Formerly part of Sallie Mae, Inc., Navient is the largest student loan servicer in the United
States. It services the loans of more than 12 million borrowers, including more than 6 million
accounts under its contract with the Department of Education. Altogether, it services more
than $300 billion in federal and private student loans. Named in today’s lawsuit are Navient
Corporation and two of its subsidiaries: Navient Solutions is a division responsible for loan
servicing operations; Pioneer Credit Recovery specializes in the collection of defaulted
student loans.

Servicers are a critical link between borrowers and lenders. They manage borrowers’
accounts, process monthly payments, and communicate directly with borrowers. When
facing unemployment or other financial hardship, borrowers rely on their student loan
servicer to help them enroll in alternative repayment plans or request a modification of loan
terms. A servicer is often different from the lender, and borrowers typically have no control
over which company is assigned to service their loans.

Starting in 2009, the vast majority of federal student loan borrowers gained a right to make
payments based on how much money they earn by enrolling in repayment arrangements
known as income-driven repayment plans. These plans are part of the federal government’s
effort to make student loans more affordable. For borrowers who meet certain income and
family-size criteria, these plans can offer monthly payments as low as zero dollars. Another
important benefit of income-driven repayment plans is that for the first three years after
enrollment, many consumers are entitled to have the federal government pay part of the
interest charges if they can’t keep up. All federal student loan borrowers enrolled in these
plans may be eligible for loan forgiveness after 20 or 25 years of monthly payments.

In today’s action, the Bureau alleges that Navient has failed to provide the most basic
functions of adequate student loan servicing at every stage of repayment for both private
and federal loans. Navient provided bad information in writing and over the phone,
processed payments incorrectly, and failed to act when borrowers complained about
problems. Critically, it systematically made it harder for borrowers to obtain the important
right to pay according to what they can afford. These illegal practices made paying back
student loans more difficult and costly for certain borrowers. Specifically, among the
allegations in today’s lawsuit, the Bureau charges that Navient:

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Fails to correctly apply or allocate borrower payments to their accounts: As soon as a
borrower begins to pay back their loans, student loan servicers are supposed to take a
borrower’s payment and follow instructions from the borrower about how to apply it
across their multiple loans. Navient repeatedly misapplies or misallocates payments —
often making the same error multiple times over many months. The company all too
often fails to correct its errors unless a consumer discovers the problem and contacts
the company. 

Steers struggling borrowers toward paying more than they have to on loans: When
borrowers run into trouble repaying their federal student loans, they have a right under
federal law to apply for repayment plans that allow for a lower monthly payment. But
the Bureau believes that Navient steers many borrowers into forbearance, an option
designed to let borrowers take a short break from making payments. But interest
continues to add up during forbearance. Certain consumers with subsidized loans end
up paying a heavy price because they could have potentially avoided those interest
charges. From January 2010 to March 2015, the company added up to $4 billion in
interest charges to the principal balances of borrowers who were enrolled in multiple,
consecutive forbearances. The Bureau believes that a large portion of these charges
could have been avoided had Navient followed the law.

Obscured information consumers needed to maintain their lower payments:
Borrowers who successfully enroll in an income-driven repayment plan need to recertify
their income and family size annually. But Navient’s emails and annual renewal notice
sent to borrowers failed to adequately inform them of critical deadlines or the
consequences if they failed to act. Navient also obscured its renewal notices in emails
sent to borrowers that did not adequately alert them about the need to renew. Many
borrowers did not renew their enrollment on time and they lost their affordable
monthly payments, which could have caused their monthly payments to jump by
hundreds or even thousands of dollars. When that happens, accrued interest is added
to the borrower’s principal balance, and these borrowers may have lost other
protections, including interest subsidies and progress toward loan forgiveness. 

Deceived private student loan borrowers about requirements to release their co-
signer from the loan: Navient told borrowers that they could apply for co-signer release
if they made a certain number of consecutive, on-time payments. Even though it
permits borrowers to prepay monthly installments in advance and tells customers who
do prepay that they can skip upcoming payments, when borrowers did so, Navient
reset the counter on the number of consecutive payments they made to zero. So
borrowers who tried to get ahead of their loans and prepay would have been denied
co-signer release and had to start over. 

Harmed the credit of disabled borrowers, including severely injured veterans: Student
loan payments are reported to credit reporting companies. Severely and permanently
disabled borrowers with federal student loans, including veterans whose disability is
connected to their military service, have a right to seek loan forgiveness under the
federal Total and Permanent Disability discharge program. Navient misreported to the
credit reporting companies that borrowers who had their loans discharged under this
program had defaulted on their loans when they had not. This potentially caused
damage to their credit reports.                                        

The Bureau also alleges that Navient, through its subsidiary Pioneer, made illegal
misrepresentations relating to the federal loan rehabilitation program available to defaulted
borrowers. Pioneer misrepresented the effect of completing the federal loan rehabilitation
program by falsely stating or implying that doing so would remove all adverse information
about the defaulted loan from the borrower’s credit report. Pioneer also misrepresented the
collection fees that would be forgiven upon completion of the program.

Today’s lawsuit alleges that Navient has been in violation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the Fair Debt
Collections Practices Act. The suit seeks redress for consumers harmed by Navient’s illegal
practices. The CFPB is also seeking to keep Navient from continuing the illegal conduct
described in the complaint, and to prevent new borrowers from being harmed.
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The complaint against Navient Corporation, Navient Solutions, and Pioneer Credit
Recovery is available
at: 

This action comes as the Bureau takes steps to ensure that all student loan borrowers have
access to adequate student loan servicing. In 2015, the Bureau released a report
outlining widespread servicing failures reported by both federal and private student loan
borrowers and also published a framework for student loan servicing reforms. As part of this
work, the Bureau has continually raised concerns around illegal student loan servicing
practices. The Bureau has called for market-wide reforms and prioritized taking action
against companies that engage in illegal servicing practices.

Student loans make up the nation’s second largest consumer debt market. Today there are
more than 44 million federal and private student loan borrowers and collectively these
consumers owe roughly $1.4 trillion. In a study last year, the CFPB found that more than 8
million borrowers are in default on more than $130 billion in student loans, a problem that
may be driven by breakdowns in student loan servicing. Students and their families can find
help on how to tackle their student debt on the CFPB’s website. Student loan borrowers
experiencing problems related to repaying student loans or debt collection can also submit
a complaint to the CFPB.

More information is available at consumerfinance.gov/students.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU,

Plaintiff,

v.

TCF NATIONAL BANK,

Defendant.

Case No. ______________

COMPLAINT

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau or Plaintiff) 

brings this action against TCF National Bank (“TCF” or “the Bank”) under 

Sections 1031(a), 1036(a)(1), 1054, and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”) (codified at 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1), 5564, and 5565); the Electronic Funds Transfer Act (“EFTA”) 

(codified at 15 U.S.C. § 1693 et seq.) and its implementing Regulation E 

(codified at 12 C.F.R. Part 1005); and alleges:

1. In late 2009, the Federal Reserve Board (the “Board”) 

amended Regulation E, 12 C.F.R., § 1005.17, to establish new overdraft 

protections for consumers. The new rule focused on overdraft fees arising 

from debit card and ATM transactions, as those fees had proven 

particularly painful for consumers. Under the Board’s new rule (“the Opt-

In Rule”), consumers could not be charged overdraft fees on those
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transactions unless they first affirmatively opted in to the Bank’s overdraft 

service.

2. The Opt-In Rule posed a serious threat to TCF, which depends 

on overdraft revenue to a greater degree than its competitors. Over $180

million in revenue was at stake.

3. To protect that revenue, TCF devised and then executed a

strategy to persuade its customers to opt in. The strategy had a number of 

elements, including: (a) incentivizing branch employees to sell Opt-In

aggressively; (b) using an uninformative script that failed to mention fees;

(c) structuring the Opt-In discussion in a way that interfered with 

consumers’ ability to consider disclosures that would inform their decision;

and (d) directing branch employees not to provide consumers with 

information that might discourage them from opting in.

4. TCF’s strategy worked. From the Opt-In Rule’s effective date 

through April 2014, the Bank persuaded approximately 66% of its 

customers to opt in to overdraft service for debit card and ATM 

transactions, and collected overdraft fees from hundreds of thousands of 

its customers.

5. This Opt-In rate was more than triple the average Opt-In rate 

at other banks.
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6. As explained in more detail below, TCF’s approach to selling 

the overdraft service was both abusive and deceptive in violation of 

§§ 1031(c) and 1036(a)(1)(B); it also violated Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1005.17, the implementing regulation of EFTA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action 

because it is brought under Federal consumer financial law (12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a)(1)), presents a federal question (28 U.S.C. § 1331), and is brought 

by an agency of the United States (28 U.S.C. § 1345). 

8. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 

(c), and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). The Bank maintains its principal place of 

business in this district, does business in this district, and part of the 

events giving rise to the claims took place in this district.

PLAINTIFF

9. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States

created by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is charged with 

enforcing Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564.

10. The CFPA is a Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(14). Under Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, it is unlawful for 

any covered person to offer or provide to a consumer any financial product 
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or service not in conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or to 

otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer 

financial law. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(A). It is also unlawful for any 

covered person to commit or engage in any unfair, deceptive or abusive 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).

11. The Bureau is authorized to commence civil actions in federal 

district court, in its own name, to address violations of Federal consumer 

financial laws, including violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(b).  

DEFENDANT

12. TCF is an insured depository institution with $21.1 billion in 

assets as of September 30, 2016. Therefore, TCF is an insured depository 

institution with assets greater than $10 billion within the meaning of 12 

U.S.C. § 5515(a).

13. “Deposit-taking activities” are a “financial product or service” 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(a)(iv).

14. When a “financial product or service” is “offered or provided 

for use by consumers primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, it is a “consumer financial product or service” within the 

meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A). 
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15. TCF engages in deposit-taking activities for use by consumers 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. Therefore, TCF is a

“covered” person as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).

16. TCF operates a network of approximately 360 retail branch 

offices in Minnesota, Wisconsin, Illinois, Michigan, Colorado, Arizona, and 

South Dakota.

THE OPT-IN RULE

17. As described above, the Opt-In Rule prohibits banks from 

charging overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit card transactions 

(“Covered Transactions”) unless the account-holder has previously opted 

in or consented to overdraft coverage for those transactions.

18. The Opt-In Rule is a Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(14). Under Section 1036 of the CFPA, it is unlawful for any covered 

person “to offer or provide to a consumer any financial product or service 

not in conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or otherwise 

commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer financial 

law.” 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). A violation of the Opt-In Rule is therefore a 

violation of Section 1036 of the CFPA.

19. Before the Opt-In Rule was in place, most banks had provided 

overdraft coverage for Covered Transactions as a standard feature on 
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checking accounts. Consumers did not have the option to choose whether 

to subscribe to the service. 

20. The Board found that state of affairs concerning, because, 

among other things, many consumers lack understanding of the product’s 

risks, costs, and conditions:

[M]any consumers may not be aware that they are able to 
overdraft at an ATM or POS [Point of Sale]. Debit cards have 
been promoted as budgeting tools, and a means for consumers 
to pay for goods and services without incurring additional 
debt. Additionally, the ability to overdraft at an ATM or POS is 
a relatively recent development. Consequently, consumers 
may unintentionally overdraw their account based on the 
erroneous belief that a transaction would be paid only if the 
consumer has sufficient funds in the account to cover it.

74 Fed. Reg. 220 at 59038 (Nov. 17, 2009).

21. Another risk the Board flagged was that the amount of the fee 

often far exceeded the transaction amount, such as, for example, where the 

consumer makes a $2 debit card purchase that overdraws the consumer’s 

account and incurs a $35 fee.

22. In short, banks were providing a service that posed substantial 

risks to consumers, without affording consumers the opportunity to 

decline it.

23. To address this situation, the Opt-In Rule required banks to 

obtain consumers’ affirmative consent or opt-in to overdraft coverage for 
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ATM and one-time debit card transactions (“Opt-In”). Only after obtaining 

that consent could banks charge fees for the overdraft service.

24. The Opt-In Rule became effective on July 1, 2010.

TCF’S RELIANCE ON OVERDRAFT REVENUE

25. Overdraft fees are an important source of revenue for many 

banks; but at TCF, they are central to the Bank’s business model. 

26. TCF’s reliance on overdraft fees owes in large part to the 

Bank’s limited portfolio of consumer banking products. Unlike many other 

banks its size, TCF does not generate substantial revenue from credit cards 

and home mortgage loans. Instead, TCF relies largely on the revenue it 

generates from its deposit base; and a substantial share of that revenue 

comes from fees.

27. TCF’s CEO at the time the Opt-In Rule went into effect was

particularly attuned to how important overdraft fees are to TCF’s success. 

He even named his boat the Overdraft.

TCF’S OPT-IN RATE

28. Given TCF’s dependence on overdraft fee revenue, the Opt-In 

Rule posed a serious threat to its business model. 

29. In late 2009, the Bank estimated that $182 million in annual 

fee revenue was “at risk due to Regulation E.”  
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30. To protect that revenue, TCF needed to get its customers to 

Opt In.

31. In that, the Bank proved effective. As of mid-2014, 

approximately 66% of all TCF checking account customers had opted in,

and hundreds of thousands of TCF customers had paid overdraft fees. This 

Opt-In rate was more than triple the average Opt-In rate at other banks.

32. TCF’s success relative to its peers in persuading its customers 

to Opt In appears to have been a matter of pride for the Bank. In the words 

of TCF’s then-CEO William Cooper:

Since implementation, we have seen a decline in overall fees 
and service charges, but this decline has been less significant 
than that of most of our competitors. Our success with Opt-In, 
as well as our implementation of new account maintenance 
fees, demonstrates our willingness and ability to meet 
regulatory challenges head-on.

33. In 2010, the Bank held several Opt-In celebrations to 

commemorate its success – one to celebrate 300,000 Opt-Ins, and a 

second to celebrate 500,000 Opt-Ins. Senior executives attended both 

celebrations.

TCF’S APPROACH TO SELLING OPT-IN

34. TCF’s high Opt-In rate was the result of a carefully 

orchestrated campaign to get its customers to Opt In. The key elements of 

that campaign are described below.
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Motivating Branch Employees

35. TCF relied largely on its branch employees to solicit Opt-Ins. 

Thus, it was the tellers and branch supervisors who served as front line 

troops in the Opt-In campaign.

36. To make sure those troops were motivated to make the sale, 

TCF offered them substantial financial incentives in 2010.

37. Under TCF’s incentive formula, branch managers could earn 

up to $7,000 depending on the number of Opt-Ins their branch achieved 

and branch size. Frontline employees were offered similar but smaller 

incentives.

38. According to a TCF Director, the incentives were meant to 

“achieve as high an Opt-In [rate] as possible.”

39. Beginning in early 2011, TCF phased out direct incentives.

40. However, at approximately that time, at least some of TCF’s 

region managers began requiring their employees to meet Opt-In specific 

performance goals. 

41. Under these goals, branch employees were generally required 

to maintain an Opt-In rate of 80% or higher for all new accounts they 

opened. Branch managers, in turn, were required to meet the requirement 

for all accounts opened at their branch.
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42. TCF’s corporate policy was that there should not be any 

adverse employment consequences associated with failing to attain any 

particular Opt-In rate.

43. Nevertheless, many employees were led to believe they could 

lose their job if they did not meet sales goals, of which Opt-In goals were 

one component.

44. Sales goals were taken very seriously at TCF, and they were 

often a source of great anxiety for employees. Consequences for failing to 

meet sales goals (of which Opt-In goals were one component) varied from 

state to state, but many employees generally understood they could be 

written up for falling short and that continued failure to meet a goal could 

ultimately result in termination.

45. At monthly meetings, it was common for region managers to 

single out any branch manager who was struggling to meet the Opt-In 

goals, which, according to some branch managers, often felt like an act of 

public shaming. Typically, the region manager would then lead a 

discussion of strategies that branch manager could use to improve his or 

her performance. 

46. When a customer opening a new account declined to Opt In, 

the responsible branch manager often received a call from his or her region 
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manager asking what the problem was. 

47. Another former employee testified that TCF placed her on 

“probation” soon after she started because she was only getting 

approximately 50% of the customers for whom she opened accounts to Opt 

In.

48. Opt-In goals were in effect in multiple branches in at least five 

of the states that TCF operated in (Minnesota, Michigan, Wisconsin, 

Colorado, and Illinois). In at least some of those states, the manager who 

had responsibility for overseeing all branches in the state participated 

personally in the effort to meet those goals. 

Crafting the Opt-In Pitch

49. Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, TCF began to develop 

its communications strategy for Opt-In. The goal was to develop a sales 

pitch that would maximize the number of TCF customers that opted in.

50. To that end, the Bank conducted several sessions of consumer 

testing, which the Bank referred to as the “Pilot Program.” 

51. A 2009 memorandum summarizing the Pilot Program’s 

findings included the following “Lessons Learned”:

“The Opt In Pilot was successful when we didn’t over-explain it. 
Worked with the Operations Manager as there was a tendency to 
provide too much detail.”
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“Keep it simple! When we used a basic, one sentence 
reference/explanation for Opt In, we were 99% successful….”

52. As explained below, these two “lessons learned” ultimately 

shaped TCF’s communications with its customers.

53. The Pilot Program also experimented with various approaches 

for integrating the Opt-In decision into the Bank’s account-opening 

process.

54. The Opt-In Rule requires depository institutions to provide 

consumers with a notice describing the institution’s overdraft service, 

including, among other things, an explanation of the consumer’s Opt-In

right and instructions for how to Opt In (“Notice”). 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1005.17(b)(1).

55. Based on consumer testing, the Bank learned that Opt-In rates 

varied dramatically depending on the proximity between the time 

consumers receive the notice and their opportunity to make the Opt-In 

election.

56. When customers could decide whether to Opt In while looking 

at the Notice, the “take rate” was 33%. But if the Bank had customers make 

their Opt-In election at another point in the process – when they were 

being asked to agree to other terms and conditions of the account – the 

“take rate” rose to 77%. 
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57. As described below, the Bank chose to implement the latter 

strategy.

TCF’s Opt-In Pitch to New Customers

58. Based in large part on the findings of the Pilot Program, TCF 

devised the pitch that its employees would use to present the Opt-In

decision to customers who were opening a new account (“New 

Customers”).

59. The first step in the presentation was to provide the New 

Customer with a copy of TCF’s version of the Notice. The employee

opening the account generally did not summarize or explain the Notice. 

Nor did the employee direct the customer to read the Notice. Instead, the 

employee simply said in substance: “This is the federally-prescribed notice 

describing our overdraft service.”

60. The New Customer was not given the opportunity to make the

Opt-In election at the time he or she received TCF’s Notice.

61. According to the testimony of former TCF employees, the vast 

majority of customers never looked at the Notice. Typically, the bank 

employee opening the account put the Notice into a folder with other 

documents and immediately moved on to the next step in the account-

opening process (which had nothing to do with overdraft service), and the 
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document never came to the consumer’s attention again.

62. One former branch manager described it this way:

It was very quick…. There wasn’t a big focus on it. It was this is 
one more a piece of paper I’m handing to you. If a customer 
did look, you'd be, oh, boy, they’re probably going to opt out 
after they have started reading. Most of the time, it was just 
one more piece of paper. You would lead into that quickly 
before the customer had an opportunity to read through it. It 
would just end up in their new account packet. I don’t think 
anybody looks at those once they get home.

63. After the Notice was set aside, the employee printed out a New 

Account Agreement and placed it in front of the consumer. 

64. The New Account Agreement contained a series of items the 

branch employee needed to review with the customer, and which the 

customer needed to initial. 

65. The first four items – Arbitration Agreement 

Acknowledgement; Fair Credit Reporting Act and Sharing of Information 

Acknowledgement; Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number; and 

Overdraft Fee Acknowledgement – were mandatory in the sense that the 

consumer opening the account was required to initial them. If the 

consumer refused to initial, the TCF employee would not let the consumer

open the account. 

66. TCF did not provide scripts for the employee to use while 

going over these first four items. Rather, at each section, the employee
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would typically direct the consumer to initial in order to acknowledge 

TCF’s policy.  

67. The Opt-In section of the New Account Agreement came 

immediately after the four mandatory sections. 

68. Unlike the previous sections, TCF did provide a script for Opt-

In (“New Account Script”). According to the New Account Script, 

employees were directed to present the Opt-In decision as follows:

This next section covers the Opt-In/Not Opt-In Election. By 
initialing here, you are allowing TCF to authorize and pay 
overdrafts on your ATM and everyday debit card transactions 
for this account. Please note that your decision does NOT 
affect any other transactions such as checks, ACH, or recurring 
debit card transactions.

69. This was the “basic, one sentence reference/explanation for 

Opt In” that was, according to the Pilot Program, the key to being “99% 

successful” in obtaining Opt-Ins.

70. The script’s brevity was one reason it was so effective: the 

explanation was so short that consumers tended not to pay attention to the

decision. One former branch manager explained this dynamic as follows:

You know, one of the things that kind of was said I know sometimes 
from regional management and above, was the concept of just not 
making a big deal about anything when you’re having the 
conversation, kind of try to stick to a very basic script, try not to get 
into explaining or talking too much because that would then scare 
the customer off. So basically, it was the concept of saying as little as 
possible and trying to get them to opt in. So I can see where that 
would definitely lead to people being a little unsure as to what they 
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are agreeing to.

71. The script was also effective because it left consumers with the 

impression that opting in was mandatory. Former employees testified that 

the script fit smoothly into the style and rhythm of the preceding sections 

of the new account process; and that as a result, many consumers assumed 

that Opt-In was yet another item they had to agree to in order to open their 

account. One former branch manager described this effect as follows:

Most of the Account Agreement is things they need to sign to 
continue the account opening process. We created an environment 
for them in which they trusted us and that we were friendly enough 
and that we were already pointing and initial or signing. At this point 
it is a different part of the Account Agreement process in which they 
don’t have to sign for this account to stay open for them. I think 
because I was reading a script to them and they had a trust in me 
they would just assume that if I wanted them to initial, it was 
something they had to.

72. Another former branch manager described the dynamic in this 

way:

When you’re opening an account, you know, you initial here, the 
customer’s so comfortable with you, things are flowing. You read 
that and the customer initials and there you go, it’s opted in. You 
know, there were your few and far between, you know, where 
customers understood that there had been a change in banking and 
that they had a choice. We didn’t reiterate a choice.

73. TCF’s strategy documents make clear that it was precisely this 

effect the Bank was hoping to achieve. The memorandum summarizing the 

Pilot Program findings put it this way: the objective was to “develop 
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scripting for Opt In similar to [the other terms New Customers had to 

initial] and create a more fluid conversation (vs. what occurs today)/basic, 

one sentence.” (emphasis added)

74. The New Account Script was also effective because of what it 

did not say. It characterizes opting in as a choice to allow the Bank to 

provide a benefit – paying the consumer’s overdrafts. But it is silent as to 

the attendant risks and costs. Among other things, it fails to mention that 

by initialing the Opt-In section, consumers would be giving the Bank 

permission to charge them overdraft fees from which they would otherwise 

be protected. In fact, the script did not even mention the word fees.

75. The TCF executive heading up TCF’s Opt-In initiative 

confirmed in testimony that the TCF script focused on the benefits of 

opting in while omitting any mention of the risks in order to maximize the 

number of Opt-Ins.

76. Although the Opt-In section of the New Account Agreement 

included a written disclosure, consumers rarely read these disclosures 

because they came at the end of the account-opening process, by which 

point (as the Pilot Program anticipated) consumers had already fallen into 

a rhythm of initialing the terms of the agreement and moving on.
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77. Former branch employees testified that they and their 

colleagues rarely if ever tried to supply consumers with additional

information.

78. Providing information beyond what was in the script was 

known internally as “over-explaining.” There was a general recognition 

that “over-explaining” would lead to lower Opt-In rates, and thereby 

jeopardize Opt-In goals and incentives.

79. The Pilot Program specifically identified “over-explaining” as 

an obstacle to meeting TCF’s Opt-In goals.

80. As a result, many employees avoided explanations to clarify 

the script, even when consumers appeared not to understand that (a) by 

initialing the Opt-In section, consumers were agreeing to be charged fees; 

or (b) consumers were not required to initial the Opt-In section in order to 

open an account.

81. The Director of all TCF branches in Michigan used the 

following language to explain how he was dealing with two branch 

managers who were not meeting their Opt-In numbers:

I have reviewed the Opt-In new reports and had LONG 
conversations with [two branch managers] regarding their 
Opt-In percentage and the way they present this to customers. 
In an effort to disclose everything, I believe both of them have 
been overexplaining this election. When I asked them what 
they say, it appears that Opt-In takes most of their account 
opening time. I spoke to them about answering customers’ 
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questions, but mainly sticking to the script with the account 
agreement. With the state averaging 78% and their branches 
(and themselves) at 58% or so, this is a big problem.

82. According to former employees, the majority of New 

Customers (several former employees estimated the number to be 80%) 

simply initialed the form after hearing the script without asking further 

questions. That meant they were opted in and therefore fair game for TCF’s 

overdraft fees.

83. Many former employees believed that thanks to TCF’s sales 

tactics, consumers often did not understand the decision they had made. 

One former branch manager, for example, testified that “I don't think [New 

Customers] understood that they -- that they were exposing [them]selves 

to additional fees or that they had the option to stop the additional fees.”

84. While most New Customers simply opted in after hearing the 

script, there were some who asked questions or indicated they were 

disinclined to Opt In. In those circumstances, TCF instructed branch 

employees to try to persuade the customers to Opt In. In TCF parlance, this 

was referred to as “overcoming objections.”

85. The most important tool for overcoming objections was 

hypotheticals. Typically, the hypotheticals described a situation where the 

customer would need to pay for something, but the transaction would be 
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declined unless the customer had opted in. Branch employees were 

encouraged to tailor the hypothetical for maximum emotional resonance. 

One former employee described the use of hypotheticals as follows:

The major strategy would be to present an example of how it 
benefited the customer. It tugged at your heart strings. It 
usually was related to an emergency situation in which you 
needed funds. Some of the examples I would use is, “We live in 
Minnesota too. It is cold outside. You are on the side of the 
road. You know your account has $50 in it. You know to get a 
service call it is going to cost you $80. You have to get it fixed. 
So you make that call. If you are opted in, we will pay it. You 
get an overdraft fee. If you don’t Opt-In, it declines you. You 
might get stuck on the side of the road,” kind of like scare 
tactics. You do the same thing with the grocery store. You have 
to get milk. It is an emergency situation. It was scare [tactics].

86. Former branch employees testified that employees never used 

hypotheticals that highlighted the risks of opting in. As a result, TCF 

customers never heard hypotheticals about being charged a $37 fee for a 

$4 purchase. Such hypotheticals fell into the category of “over-explaining,”

and were discouraged.

TCF’s Pitch to Existing Customers

87. TCF also had to devise strategies for presenting the Opt-In 

decision to customers who already had an account when the Opt-In Rule

became effective, but who, because of the law change, could not be charged 

fees unless TCF obtained affirmative consent (“Existing Customers”). 
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88. One of TCF’s most important means of obtaining Opt-Ins from 

Existing Customers was a telephone call campaign. TCF provided branch 

employees scripts to use on those calls, which varied in minor ways 

depending on the customer’s circumstances, but shared a basic structure.

89. In a typical call, the employees would begin by introducing 

herself. She would then say something like the following: “I am calling 

today regarding your TCF check card and some upcoming changes that 

would limit the usage of your card. Would you like your TCF Check Card to 

continue to work as it does today?”

90. Former employees testified that the majority of consumers 

answered “yes” to that question. TCF considered that “yes” as an indication 

that the customer wanted to Opt In. 

91. When customers did not answer “yes,” TCF employees were 

trained to use the same “overcoming objections” strategies discussed 

above, including the hypotheticals. 

92. Some of the call scripts included additional strategies as well. 

One script directed the TCF caller to tell the customer that not opting in 

“could cause you a real problem. In order for TCF to continue authorizing 

your transactions, you must consent or Opt-In to this service. We would 

definitely suggest you Opt In, to allow TCF the flexibility to approve your 
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card transactions.” 

93. Another script was to be used for customers who indicated 

they were not interested in Opting In:

I understand your concern, but typically we find that customers 
whose check card transactions are authorized when they [do] not 
have enough available funds do have sufficient funds when the 
transaction posts to the account.

94. If customers indicated they wanted their “account to continue 

to work as it does today,” the scripts called for the TCF caller to recite a 

short disclosure:

You will pay nothing extra for TCF’s Overdraft Service. 
However, you will be charged an overdraft fee – currently $35 
per item – if you overdraft your account. This includes 
overdrafts by check teller withdrawals, ATM and card 
transactions, ACH and other electronic transactions.

95. That disclosure describes TCF’s Overdraft Service as a whole, 

including how the service applies to checks and ACH transactions, even 

though such transactions were outside the scope of the Opt-In decision.  

96. After reading the disclosures, the TCF employee would ask the 

consumer to confirm his or her decision to Opt In. 

97. In all cases, consumers did not hear the disclosures until after 

they had already expressed their preference to have their card continue to 

work as it did at the time (which TCF chose to interpret as a decision to Opt 

In).
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98. On some scripts, the TCF employee only read the disclosure if 

the customer expressed interest in hearing it.

99. It was no accident that TCF presented the Opt-In choice in 

terms of whether the consumer wanted the account “to continue to work as 

it does today.” TCF understood that consumers generally prefer to avoid 

making changes to their accounts, since changes typically come with new 

risks or costs. As a result, consumers are generally inclined to keep their 

accounts as is. 

100. The TCF executive in charge of developing a strategy for 

presenting Opt-In to Existing Customers explained it this way:

We felt that the majority of customers would probably choose to opt 
in based on the fact it would not change the fundamental way that 
their account worked today. And that, any change that we’ve ever 
introduced to a customer on their account has typically been viewed 
negative. I’m not just talking about opt-in, I’m talking about 
anything. They want to know what it is, why it is, how is this going to 
impact me. So, when you use the word “change” it’s typically not 
something they snuggle up with, shall I say.

101. In fact, because of the Opt-In Rule, it was the consumers who 

chose to have their account “continue to work as it does today” who were 

taking on the new risk.

102. Former employees testified that Existing Customers 

experienced confusion similar to that of New Customers – namely, they did 

not understand that TCF could not charge them overdraft fees unless they 
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gave permission or that by opting in they were giving that permission. One 

former branch manager explained Existing Customers’ lack of 

understanding this way:

They figured the way they had been using their check card had 
been working for them in the past however long they had been 
using it. They did not know that they had the choice to opt out 
and that their card could be denied if they didn’t have the 
funds available…. [T]hey didn’t know what the alternative was. 
They didn’t know that really they had a choice. Many 
customers were like, yes, I’m fine with the way my card is 
working right now. Very few customers in response would say, 
“What other choice do I have?” That just wasn’t a topic that 
came up.

103. TCF pitched Opt-In to Existing Customers through a number 

of other communications channels as well. When, for example, Existing 

Customers came into the branch on other business, such as to make a 

deposit or get a bank check, tellers were instructed to bring up Opt-In. 

TCF’s communication strategy for those other channels more or less 

tracked the approach the Bank used in the call campaign.

104. TCF has charged overdraft fees to Existing Customers.

VIOLATIONS OF THE 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT

Count I 
Abusive Acts or Practices

105. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 104 by reference.
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106. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, 

or abusive” acts or practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

107. An act or practice is abusive if, among other things, it 

“materially interferes with the ability of a consumer to understand a term 

or condition of a consumer financial product or service.” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(d)(1).

108. Overdraft Service for ATM and one-time debit card 

transactions is a “consumer financial product or service” as that term is 

defined in § 1002(5) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5).

109. Overdraft Service for Covered Transactions is subject to, inter 

alia, the following terms and conditions:

a. Financial institutions cannot charge Overdraft Fees for 

Covered Transactions unless the consumer gives 

affirmative consent;

b. TCF considered the customer’s act of initialing the Opt-In 

section of the New Account Agreement to be “affirmative 

consent.”

c. When the consumer has Opted In, TCF pays Covered 

Transactions even when the consumer lacks sufficient 

available funds to cover them, and then charges an 
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Overdraft Fee.

d. TCF applied its standard Overdraft Fee to Covered 

Transactions, even when the amount of the purchase was 

far lower than the fee charged.  

110. TCF materially interfered with its New Customers’ ability to 

understand those terms and conditions by: 

a. Using an account-opening process that interfered with 

customers’ ability to read the Notice;

b. Using an account-opening process that interfered with 

customers’ ability to consider the contents of the Notice 

when they made their Opt-In decision;

c. Using an account opening process that effectively 

replaced the disclosures contained in the Notice with a

script that characterized Opt-In as a benefit without 

adequately disclosing other relevant terms and 

conditions, including fees; 

d. Presenting the Opt-In decision with a short, cursory 

explanation and as if it were one in a series of 

acknowledgements that consumers were required to 

make to open their account, which in numerous instances 
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led consumers to believe that opting in was mandatory;

e. Directing branch employees not to provide consumers 

with information that would correct their lack of 

understanding; 

f. Incentivizing branch employees, through both positive 

and negative incentives, to reach unreasonably aggressive 

sales targets; and

g. Training branch employees that, while they should not 

answer consumer questions or provide consumers with 

clarifying information, employees could emphasize the 

benefits of opting in with one-sided hypotheticals.

111. Therefore, TCF’s acts or practices, as described in Paragraph 

109, constitute abusive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a) & (d)(1), and 5536(a)(1)(B).

Count II

Deceptive Acts or Practices as to New Customers

112. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 104 by reference.

113. As described in paragraphs 58 through 86 above, TCF:

a. Used an account-opening process that discouraged 

CASE 0:17-cv-00166   Document 1   Filed 01/19/17   Page 27 of 31



28

consumers from reading the Notice;

b. Used an account-opening process that discouraged 

consumers from looking at or thinking about the Notice 

when they made their Opt-In decision;

c. Used an account-opening process that effectively replaced 

the disclosures contained in the Notice with a script that 

characterized Opt-In as a benefit and did not adequately 

disclose other relevant terms and conditions, including 

fees; and

d. Presented the Opt-In decision with a short, cursory 

explanation and as one in a series of acknowledgements 

that consumers had to make to open their account.

114. As a result, the net impression left by TCF’s process was that 

there was no cost to opting in.

115. In truth and in fact, by opting in consumers were exposing 

themselves to overdraft fees from which they would otherwise have been 

protected.

116. TCF’s process also created the net impression that initialing 

the Opt-In section of the New Account Agreement was mandatory. 

117. In truth and in fact, opting in was optional.
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118. Therefore, TCF’s representations and omissions as set forth in 

Paragraphs 112 through 116 are false and misleading, and constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) 

and 5536(a)(1)(B).

Count III

Violation of Regulation E as to Existing Customers

119. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 104 by reference.

120. Under the Opt-In Rule, a financial institution may not charge 

overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit card transactions unless it first 

provides a “reasonable opportunity” for consumers to affirmatively consent 

and “[o]btains the consumer's affirmative consent, or Opt-In, to the 

institution's payment of ATM or one-time debit card transactions[.]”   12 

C.F.R. § 1005.17(b)(ii) and (iii).

121. As described in paragraphs 87 through 104 above, TCF pitched 

overdraft service for Covered Transactions to Existing Customers by asking 

whether they wanted their account to “continue working as it does today.”

122. That framing of the decision turned Overdraft Service for 

Covered Transactions into the default position. To avoid that default, 

consumers had to choose to change the way their accounts worked.  In 
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effect, TCF changed the election from an Opt-In to an Opt-Out.

123. As a result, Existing Customers did not have a reasonable 

opportunity to consent nor did they affirmatively consent to the payment of 

their ATM and one-time debit card transactions in exchange for a fee.

124. When TCF charged those consumers overdraft fees on Covered 

Transactions, it was therefore without their affirmative consent, in 

violation of the Opt-In Rule, the EFTA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693, et seq., and 

§ 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court:

a. Permanently enjoin TCF from committing future violations 

of the CFPA and Regulation E;

b. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress

injury to consumers resulting from TCF’s violations of the 

CFPA and Regulation E, including, but not limited to, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of 

moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation 

for unjust enrichment, and payment of damages; 

c. Impose civil money penalties against TCF;

d. Award Plaintiff its costs in connection with prosecuting this 
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action; and

e. Award other and additional relief as the Court may 

determine to be just and proper.

Dated: January 19, 2017

Respectfully submitted,

ANTHONY ALEXIS
Enforcement Director

CARA PETERSEN
Deputy Enforcement Director 
For Litigation

JAMES T. SUGARMAN
Assistant Litigation Deputy

/s/ Owen P. Martikan
Owen P. Martikan
owen.martikan@cfpb.gov
ph: (415) 844-9790
Michael P. Favretto
michael.favretto@cfpb.gov
ph: (202) 435-7785
Jack Douglas Wilson
jack.wilson@cfpb.gov
ph: (202) 309-8044

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau
1700 G Street NW
Washington, DC 20552

CASE 0:17-cv-00166   Document 1   Filed 01/19/17   Page 31 of 31



4/26/2017 CFPB Sues TCF National Bank for Tricking Consumers Into Costly Overdraft Service | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-sues-tcf-national-bank-tricking-consumers-costly-overdraft-service/ 1/3

CFPB Sues TCF National Bank for Tricking Consumers Into Costly Overdraft Service

Bank Obscured Fees, Adopted Loose Definition of Consent to Preserve Overdraft
Revenue

JAN 19, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is suing TCF
National Bank for tricking consumers into costly overdraft services. Banks cannot charge
overdraft fees on one-time debit purchases and ATM withdrawals without a consumer’s
consent. The Bureau alleges that TCF designed its application process to obscure the fees
and make overdraft seem mandatory for new customers to open an account. The CFPB also
believes that TCF adopted a loose definition of consent for existing customers in order to
opt them into the service and pushed back on any customer who questioned the process.
Today’s lawsuit seeks redress for consumers, an injunction to prevent future violations, and a
civil money penalty.

“Today we are suing TCF for tricking consumers into costly overdraft services in order to
preserve its bottom line,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. " TCF bulldozed its way
through protections against automatic overdraft enrollment and then celebrated its unusual
sign-up success. With today’s action, we are standing up for consumers’ right to understand
and choose what services they receive.”

TCF National Bank, headquartered in Wayzata, Minn., operates approximately 360 retail
branches across Minnesota, Wisconsin, Illinois, Michigan, Colorado, Arizona, and South
Dakota. Among its various products, TCF offers checking accounts and charges about $35
every time a consumer overdrafts by spending or withdrawing more money than is
available.

With the advent and growth of debit cards, overdraft was transformed from an occasional
courtesy which banks extended to avoid bouncing checks, to a significant source of industry
revenues. In 2010, federal rules took effect that prohibited depository institutions from
charging overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit card transactions – such as swiping a
debit card at a store – unless consumers affirmatively opted in. If consumers don’t opt in,
banks may decline the transaction, but can’t charge a fee. The “opt-in” rule affected both
new accounts and existing accounts.

As described in the Bureau’s complaint, TCF relied on overdraft fee revenue to a greater
degree than most other banks its size and recognized early on that the opt-in rule could
negatively impact its business. In late 2009, it estimated that approximately $182 million in
annual revenue was “at risk” because of the opt-in rule. It began consumer testing that same
year. Through this testing, the bank determined that the less information it gave consumers
about opting in, the more likely consumers would opt in.

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that TCF’s strategy also consisted of bonuses to branch staff
who got consumers to sign on. For example, in 2010, branch managers at the larger
branches could earn up to $7,000 in bonuses for getting a high number of opt-ins on new
checking accounts. After the bank phased out the bonuses, certain regional managers
instituted opt-in goals for branch employees. Staff had to achieve extremely high opt-in
rates of 80 percent or higher for all new accounts. While the bank’s official policy was that an
employee could not be terminated for low opt-in rates, many employees still believed they
could lose their job if they did not meet their sales goals.

The Bureau alleges that the bank’s strategy worked and that by mid-2014, about 66 percent
of the bank’s customers had opted in, a rate more than triple that of other banks. According
to the Bureau’s complaint, the chief executive officer of the bank even named his boat the
“Overdraft.” TCF’s senior executives were so pleased with the bank’s effectiveness at
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convincing consumers to opt in that they had parties to celebrate reaching milestones, such
as getting 500,000 consumers to sign up.

Today’s lawsuit alleges that TCF was in violation of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Specifically, the CFPB alleges
that the bank:

Tricked new customers into believing optional overdraft was mandatory and obscured
fees: The bank determined through consumer testing that if new customers were asked
to opt in at the same time they were being asked to agree to other mandatory terms
and conditions of a new account, the opt-in rate more than doubled. So it placed the
opt-in decision immediately after a series of mandatory items the consumer had to
agree to in order open the account, rather than at the time they received the mandatory
notice about their opt-in rights. The bank then provided branch employees with scripts
that did not explain that opting in was optional or that it amounted to giving the bank
permission to authorize transactions that would result in fees. Most consumers fell into
the rhythm of initialing the terms of the agreement and signed on.

Adopted a loose definition of consent to opt in existing customers: TCF also ran a
campaign to get customers who already had an account to opt in. TCF branch
employees called those existing customers using a script the bank had provided.
Instead of asking consumers whether they wanted to have their overdrafts covered for a
$35 charge, staff was instructed to ask customers whether they wanted their “TCF
Check Card to continue to work as it does today?” Many consumers did not understand
that by choosing to have their debit card “continue to work as it does today,” they were
granting the bank permission to authorize transactions and charge them overdraft fees
that they would otherwise not have to pay.

Pushed back on consumers who challenged opting in by using emotionally charged
hypotheticals: TCF consistently instructed its staff not to “over explain” the terms and
conditions of its opt-in program. If new or existing consumers challenged or
questioned opting in, the bank instructed its staff to sell the product by suggesting a
hypothetical situation, such as an emergency with high stakes where they would
desperately need access to money.

The suit seeks redress for consumers, injunctive relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s
complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually violated the law.

A copy of the complaint is available at:

A CFPB consumer advisory on overdraft issues, first released in 2015, can be found
at: 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0004 

In the Matter of: 

CitiFinancial Servicing, LLC (DE), 
CitiFinancial Company (DE), 
CitiFinancial Services, Inc. (MN), and 
CitiFinancial, Inc. (WV). 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage 

servicing activities and credit reporting activities of CitiFinancial Servicing (Respondent, 

as defined below) regarding daily simple interest mortgages and has identified the 

following law violations: Respondent misrepresented to borrowers the impact of 

receiving a deferment, including that the additional interest accruing during the 

deferment period would become due immediately upon the next scheduled payment, in 

violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; (2) Respondent failed to treat requests for deferments 

as a request for a loss mitigation option, in violation of the Real Estate Settlement 

Procedures Act (RESPA) and Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; (3) Respondent failed to 

cancel borrowers’ optional insurance coverage in accordance with the terms of the 

borrowers’ promissory notes, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA; (4) 

Respondent failed to conduct reasonable investigations of direct consumer reporting 

disputes in violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-
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2(a)(8)(E), and section 1022.43 of Regulation V; (5) Respondent inaccurately reported 

settled in full accounts as “charged off” to Credit Reporting Companies, in violation of 

section 623(a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2); and (6) Respondent furnished 

adverse information within 60 days of receiving a Notice of Error regarding borrower 

payments subject to a Notice of Error, in violation of RESPA and Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1024.35. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 556, RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., and its 

implementing Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. Part 1024; FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., 

and its implementing Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. Part 1022. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated January [  ], 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to action. 
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III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumers” means borrowers whose mortgage was serviced by 

Respondent and who either (a) paid Credit Insurance premiums after 

Respondent should have cancelled their insurance pursuant to the terms 

of their promissory notes after July 21, 2011; or (b) had their Credit 

Insurance prematurely cancelled by Respondent before April 2015 

contrary to the terms of their promissory notes and submitted a Credit 

Insurance claim that was denied as a result of the cancellation of the 

Credit Insurance. 

b. “Board” means CitiFinancial Credit Company’s duly-elected and acting 

Board of Directors. 

c. “Clearly and Prominently” means: 

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must 

be of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary 

consumer to read and comprehend it, in print that contrasts with 

the background on which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in 

a volume and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear 

and comprehend it; 
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iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., 

television or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a 

form consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen 

for a duration sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); 

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the 

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and 

visual portions of the communication; and 

vi. In all instances, the Deferment disclosure must be presented before 

the consumer incurs any financial obligation, in an understandable 

language and syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent 

with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication 

with the consumer. 

d. “Credit Reporting Company” means, coterminous with the meaning of 

“consumer reporting agency” as defined in FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f), any 

person which, for monetary fees, dues, or on a cooperative nonprofit basis, 

regularly engages in whole or in part in the practice of assembling or 

evaluating consumer credit information or other information on 

consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties, 

and which uses any means or facility of interstate commerce for the 

purpose of preparing or furnishing consumer reports. 
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e. “Credit Insurance” means the optional credit life, credit disability, and 

credit involuntary unemployment insurance that Respondent offered to its 

borrowers in connection with their mortgage loans. 

f. “Deferment” means an extension by a period of one or more months of the 

monthly payment due date and/or the final payment date so that 

borrowers may remain contractually current by advancing the month-

paid-to date by the number of months deferred. 

g. “Direct Dispute” means a dispute submitted directly to a Furnisher by a 

consumer concerning the accuracy of any information contained in a 

consumer report and pertaining to an account or other relationship that 

the Furnisher has or had with the consumer. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(b). 

h. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

i. “Furnisher” means an entity that furnishes information relating to 

consumers to one or more Credit Reporting Companies for inclusion in a 

consumer report, as defined in 12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(c). 

j. “Notice of Error” means a notification of a servicing error, as described in 

12 C.F.R. § 1024.35(a) & (b). 

k. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

l. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 
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m. “Respondent” means the four entities that make up the CitiFinancial 

Servicing business, all of which are indirect subsidiaries of CitiFinancial 

Credit Company:  CitiFinancial Company (DE); CitiFinancial Services Inc. 

(MN); CitiFinancial Servicing LLC (DE); and CitiFinancial, Inc. (WV), and 

its successors and assigns. 

n. “Special Deferment” means a Deferment provided by Respondent under 

which the receiving borrower pays nothing at the time the Deferment is 

processed, interest continues to accrue during the Deferment period, and 

the borrower’s maturity date remains unchanged. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is comprised of entities that are incorporated in Delaware, 

Minnesota, and West Virginia, all of which are headquartered in O’Fallon, 

Missouri, and are direct subsidiaries of CitiFinancial Credit Company, which is an 

indirect subsidiary of Citigroup, Inc. 

5. Respondent originated and serviced residential daily simple interest (DSI) 

mortgage loans. Respondent is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) and 

a “servicer” under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b) because, among other things, it is 

responsible for servicing federally related mortgage loans as defined by 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1024.2(b). 
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6. Respondent is a “furnisher” under FCRA and Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1022.41(c), because it furnishes information relating to consumers to one or 

more Credit Reporting Companies for inclusion in a consumer report. 

7. Interest under the terms of a DSI loan, including the DSI mortgages Respondent 

originated and serviced, accrues daily based on the current outstanding principal 

balance. As a result, the amount of a borrower’s monthly payment applied to 

interest and principal depends on the number of days that elapsed since the 

borrower’s last posted payment date. 

8. Less interest accrues when DSI borrowers make their monthly payments before 

their scheduled due date (and within 30 days of their previous loan payment). 

Late or irregular payments may result in a greater (or the entire) portion of a 

borrower’s payment being applied to interest due. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Misrepresentations 
Regarding its Deferment Practices 

 

9. Since January 2014, Respondent provided over 20,000 Special Deferments to 

borrowers facing hardships as a form of short-term payment relief. 

10. For borrowers who received a Special Deferment (and therefore did not prepay 

any interest), the interest accruing during the Deferment period became due 

immediately upon a borrower’s next scheduled payment, rather than at the end of 

the borrower’s loan term. 

11. Respondent sent borrowers who applied for Deferments in certain states an 

authorization form informing them that “the repayment term of the loan will be 

extended.” Respondent sent all borrowers who it approved for a Deferment a 

confirmation letter with similar disclosures. 

2017-CFPB-0004     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 7 of 31



12. In its communications to borrowers, Respondent disclosed that “interest will 

continue to accrue” during the Deferment period, but Respondent did not 

disclose the amount of interest that would accrue during the Deferment period, 

when that interest would be due, or how a borrower’s next payment would be 

applied in relation to that accrued interest. Respondent also failed to disclose that 

a Special Deferment would significantly reduce the amount of principal reduction 

borrowers would achieve once they resumed making loan payments, resulting in 

borrowers paying more interest over the life of the loan. 

13. Respondent’s communications to borrowers that interest continued to accrue 

during the Deferment period and that borrowers’ repayment terms would be 

extended created the misimpression that the interest would not become due 

immediately upon a borrower’s next scheduled payment. In fact, Respondent’s 

Special Deferments did not extend the maturity date of borrowers’ loans, and the 

interest accruing during the Deferment period became due immediately upon a 

borrower’s next scheduled payment. 

14. Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1)(B) prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

15. As described in Paragraphs 9–13, in connection with servicing mortgage loans 

and providing Deferments to borrowers, Respondent represented expressly or 

impliedly that the deferred payment (including interest accrued during the 

Deferment period) would be added to the end of the borrower’s loan. 

16. In fact, the interest that accrued during borrowers’ Special Deferment period 

would become due immediately after the Deferment period ended. 
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17. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Loss Mitigation Practices in 
Violation of RESPA and Regulation X 

 

18. Respondent promoted Deferments to borrowers as a way to help mitigate a 

hardship. One of Respondent’s collection notices stated the following: “. . . we can 

explain all of the ways we can help you. For example, we may be able to 

customize a more convenient payment plan for you . . . defer late 

payments . . . or even adjust your monthly payment to a more affordable 

amount.” 

19. Under Regulation X, a loss mitigation option means an alternative to foreclosure 

offered by the owner or assignee of a mortgage loan that is made available 

through the servicer to the borrower. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.31. This includes 

“refinancing, trial or permanent modification, repayment of the amount owed 

over an extended period of time, forbearance of future payments, short-sale, 

[and] deed-in-lieu of foreclosure . . . .”  12 C.F.R. Pt. 1024, Supp. I, comment 31. 

20. The Deferments Respondent offered or provided were loss mitigation options 

under Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.31. 

21. Under Regulation X, a loss mitigation application means an oral or written 

request for a loss mitigation option that is accompanied by any information 

required by a servicer for the evaluation for a loss mitigation option. 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1024.31. 

22. Borrowers’ requests for Deferments were loss mitigation applications under 

Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.31. 
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23. If a servicer receives a loss mitigation application from a borrower regarding a 

mortgage loan secured by a property that is a borrower’s principal residence, the 

servicer must “exercise due reasonable diligence in obtaining documents and 

information to complete [the] loss mitigation application.” 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1024.41(b)(1). 

24. If a servicer receives a loss mitigation application 45 days or more before a 

foreclosure sale, the servicer also must, within five days (excluding legal public 

holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays) of receiving the loss mitigation application, 

provide a written notice acknowledging receipt and stating, among other things, 

if the loss mitigation application is incomplete, “the additional documents and 

information the borrower must submit” to complete his or her loss mitigation 

application. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2). 

25. However, Respondent did not consider requests for Deferments as applications 

for a loss mitigation option or exercise reasonable diligence in obtaining 

documents and information from borrowers seeking deferments necessary to 

complete a loss mitigation application. 

26. Specifically, when Respondent received requests for Deferments, Respondent 

failed to, as required under Regulation X: (1) exercise reasonable diligence in 

obtaining documents and information necessary to complete the application; (2) 

acknowledge receipt of borrowers’ loss mitigation applications; and (3) identify 

the documents and information borrowers needed to submit to complete their 

loss mitigation applications so they can be evaluated for all lost mitigation 

options. 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41(b)(1), 1024.41(b)(2). 
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27. Therefore, for conduct occurring on or after January 10, 2014, Respondent 

violated RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., and of its implementing Regulation X, 

12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41(b)(1), (b)(2)(i)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Misrepresentations 
Regarding Optional Credit Insurance Practices 

 

28. Prior to April 30, 2015, Respondent offered or provided Credit Insurance 

products to borrowers in connection with their mortgage loans at closing. 

29. Borrowers who purchased optional Credit Insurance products paid monthly 

premiums as part of their regular mortgage payment that borrowers sent to 

Respondent. If a borrower’s monthly payment was insufficient to cover the 

additional cost of the premium, Respondent advanced the necessary funds to the 

insurance provider for a temporary period of time. 

30. Respondent’s promissory note provided that borrowers’ optional Credit 

Insurance would terminate if past due premiums “equal or exceed four times the 

first month premium.” 

31. When applicable, the periodic statements Respondent sent to borrowers who 

purchased Credit Insurance contained the following statement: “If you do not 

remit past-due premiums on or before your next due date, your insurance 

coverage WILL TERMINATE as described in your loan contract.” 

32. However, Respondent failed to terminate the Credit Insurance in accordance 

with the terms of the note for many borrowers. Since July 2011, approximately 

7,800 borrowers paid at least $3.75 million to Respondent in premiums for 

Credit Insurance that should have been canceled under the terms of their 

promissory notes. 
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33. Before April 2015, Respondent improperly prematurely cancelled the Credit 

Insurance of certain borrowers contrary to the terms of their note. Twenty-five of 

those borrowers subsequently submitted an insurance claim that was denied 

because Respondent had improperly cancelled those borrowers’ Credit 

Insurance. The maximum total benefit those borrowers may have been eligible to 

receive was approximately $442,289. 

34. Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 

5536(a)(1)(B) prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices.  12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

35. As described in Paragraphs 28–33, Respondent expressly represented to 

borrowers in its promissory note and its periodic statements that the optional 

Credit Insurance would terminate if the sum of past due premiums equaled or 

exceeded four times the borrowers’ first month’s premium. 

36. In reality, Respondent failed to terminate borrowers’ Credit Insurance as 

represented, and thousands of borrowers continued to pay millions of dollars in 

Credit Insurance premiums after Respondent should have terminated their 

Credit Insurance under the terms of their promissory notes. 

37. In addition, contrary to the terms of the promissory note, Respondent 

prematurely canceled the Credit Insurance of certain borrowers. Twenty-five of 

those borrowers subsequently submitted an insurance claim that was denied 

because Respondent had improperly cancelled those borrowers’ Credit 

Insurance. 

38. Therefore, Respondent’s practice of continuing to charge borrowers for Credit 

Insurance premiums in violation of the express terms of their promissory notes 
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and prematurely cancelling borrowers’ Credit Insurance products constituted a 

deceptive act or practice, in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Respondent’s Direct Dispute and 
Furnishing Practices in Violation of FCRA and Regulation V 

 

39. Respondent failed to conduct a reasonable investigation of borrowers’ Direct 

Disputes and to complete a Direct Dispute investigation within 30 days of receipt. 

40. Respondent was aware that some number of accounts that had been settled in full 

had been incorrectly reported to Credit Reporting Companies as charged off with 

a balance due. Respondent received disputes from borrowers that accounts were 

incorrectly being reported as charged off when they had in fact settled, and 

Respondent’s system of record reflected these accounts as settled in full. Yet 

Respondent neither provided corrections to the Credit Reporting Companies to 

which it furnished the inaccurate information, nor ceased furnishing the 

information it had determined to be inaccurate. In fact, Respondent continued 

furnishing that inaccurate information. 

41. After receiving a Direct Dispute from a consumer, Regulation V requires 

Furnishers to conduct a reasonable investigation with respect to the disputed 

information and complete that investigation within 30 days. 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1022.43(e)(1) and (e)(3). 

42. As described in Paragraph 39, Respondent failed to conduct and complete a 

reasonable investigation of borrowers’ Direct Disputes within 30 days. 

43. Therefore, Respondent violated FCRA, 15 U.S.C § 1681s-2(a)(8)(E), and its 

implementing Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.43(e)(1) and (3). 
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44. The FCRA requires Furnishers to correct and update any information furnished 

to a Credit Reporting Company if it determines that the information is not 

complete or accurate. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2). 

45. As described in Paragraph 40, Respondent failed to correct and update incorrect 

information about consumer accounts that it had furnished to Credit Reporting 

Companies after determining that the furnished information was inaccurate. 

46. Therefore, Respondent’s furnishing practices violated the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681s-2(a)(2). 

Findings and Conclusions as to the Respondent’s Furnishing Practices in 
Violation of RESPA and Regulation X 

 

47. In certain instances from January 10, 2014 to May 31, 2014, Respondent 

furnished adverse information to a Credit Reporting Company regarding a 

payment that was the subject of a Notice of Error within 60 days of receiving such 

notice. 

48. Regulation X prohibits servicers from furnishing adverse information to Credit 

Reporting Companies regarding any payment that is the subject of a Notice of 

Error within 60 days after receipt of the Notice of Error. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.35(i)(1). 

49. As described in Paragraph 47, Respondent furnished adverse information 

regarding a payment that was the subject of a Notice of Error within 60 days of 

receiving such notice. 

50. Therefore, Respondent’s furnishing practices violated RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et 

seq., and section 1024.35(i)(1) of its implementing Regulation X. 
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V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

51. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1024.41(b)(1), 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B), and 1024.35(i)(1) of 

Regulation X and RESPA, sections 1022.43(e)(1) and (e)(3) of Regulation V, 

section 623(a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2), and sections 1031(a) 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and must take the 

following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent must Clearly and Prominently disclose in plain language on 

its Deferment authorization forms and Deferment confirmation letters 

that the interest accruing during the Deferment period becomes 

immediately due when the borrower resumes making payments; 

b. Respondent must Clearly and Prominently disclose in plain language on 

its Deferment authorization forms and Deferment confirmation letters all 

material terms of a deferment to DSI borrowers, including the effect of a 

Special Deferment on a borrower’s loan maturity date, the application 

between interest and principal when the borrower resumes making 

payments, and that the deferment may delay repayment of principal, 

resulting in additional interest accruing over the life of the loan; 

c. Respondent must treat requests for Deferments from borrowers as a loss 

mitigation application and a request for a loss mitigation option under 
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Regulation X, including by, as applicable: (1) exercising reasonable 

diligence in obtaining documents and information necessary to complete 

the borrowers’ application (2) acknowledging receipt of borrowers’ loss 

mitigation applications; (3) identifying the documents borrowers needed 

to submit to complete their loss mitigation applications; and (4) evaluating 

borrowers for all Loss Mitigation Options once their applications were 

complete, consistent with the other requirements of that regulation. 

d. Respondent, in connection with servicing DSI mortgages, may not report 

settled accounts as charged off to Credit Reporting Companies; 

e. Respondent, in connection with servicing DSI mortgages, may not furnish 

adverse information to a Credit Reporting Company regarding payments 

subject to a Notice of Error within 60 days of receiving such Notice of 

Error. 

f. Respondent, in connection with servicing DSI mortgages, must conduct 

reasonable investigations of Direct Disputes from borrowers within 30 

days of receiving the Direct Dispute, consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1022.43 of 

Regulation V. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s Deferment, Direct Dispute 

2017-CFPB-0004     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 16 of 31



and furnishing practices comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance 

Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order, 

including how Respondent will comply with 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41; 

b. Templates of all Deferment authorization forms and Deferment 

confirmation letters that Respondent currently sends to borrowers who 

have requested a Deferment; 

c. Templates of all new or revised Deferment authorization forms and 

Deferment confirmation letters Respondent seeks to send to borrowers to 

comply with the terms of this Consent Order; and 

d. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

53. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non- 

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, Respondent 

must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional 

Director within 30 days. 

54. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 
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55. Any proposed material changes to or deviations from the approved Compliance 

Plan must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of 

non-objection. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. The Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

57. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

58. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a relevant 

Committee thereof, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

2017-CFPB-0004     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 18 of 31



c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $4.4 million for the purpose of providing redress to 

Affected Consumers as required by this Section. Respondent may reduce this 

reserve or the deposit by the amount of any restitution Respondent made prior to 

the Effective Date that complies with the requirements of this Consent Order, for 

the purpose of providing redress to Affected Customers as required by this 

Section. 

60. If Respondent has made any restitution prior to the Effective Date of this Consent 

Order that complies with the requirements of this Consent Order, Respondent 

must provide appropriate proof of such restitution to the Regional Director 

concurrent with the Redress Plan required by Paragraph 61. 

61. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 

2017-CFPB-0004     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 19 of 31



make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 

30 days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. 

62. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes for providing redress covering all Affected Consumers; 

c. Include a description of the following: 

i. Methods used to compile a list of potential Affected Consumers; 

ii. Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer; 

iii. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

iv. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

63. The Redress Plan must, at a minimum, require Respondent to: 

a. For Affected Consumers who paid Credit Insurance premiums after 

Respondent should have cancelled their policy pursuant to the terms of 

their contracts, refund or credit the full amount of premiums paid by 

borrowers for Credit Insurance after their Insurance should have been 

cancelled, as well as any premiums that were incorrectly billed to Affected 

Consumers but not paid. 
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b. For Affected Consumers whose Credit Insurance was prematurely 

cancelled and who subsequently submitted a Credit Insurance claim that 

was denied, provide the maximum benefit each borrower may have been 

eligible to receive pursuant to each borrower’s policy. 

c. The Redress Plan may permit Respondent to reduce the redress amounts 

described in Paragraph 63 by any restitution, including debt forgiveness 

and loan credits, previously provided by Respondent, as described in 

Paragraph 60 of this Consent Order. 

64. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent’s internal audit 

department must review and assess compliance with the terms of the Redress 

Plan (Redress Review). 

65. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Affected Consumers, the 

amount of redress for each Affected Consumer; the procedures used to issue and 

track redress payments; and the work of any independent consultants that 

Respondent has used to assist with the implementation of, and review its 

execution of, the Redress Plan. 

66. The Redress Review must be completed and summarized in a written report 

(Redress Review Report), which must be completed within 60 days of completion 

of the Redress Review. Within 10 days of its completion, the Redress Review 

Report must be submitted to the Board and the Regional Director. 

67. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $4.4 million, within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 
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or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

$4.4 million. 

68. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds 

remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any 

remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no 

right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this Section. 

69. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $4.4 million to the Bureau. 

71. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 
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72. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

73. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

74. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

76. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

77. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

78. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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79. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

80. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, or relevant Committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XII unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

81. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 
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any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

82. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

83. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

84. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VIII above. 
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c. All consumer complaints from borrowers with DSI mortgages regarding

deferments (whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a

Service Provider), and any responses to those complaints or requests.

85. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 84 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

86. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 84 available to

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

87. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this LLC, 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0004 ,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Northeast Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10017; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov and any other email address as 

directed in writing by the Bureau:

Regional Director, Northeast Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10017 
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XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer.  

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

89. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

90. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these communications. 

91. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

92. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

93. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

94. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

95. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 96. 

96. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date.  The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent 

Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 
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any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

97. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

98. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body 

rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the 

dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent 

Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. This Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent 

that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

99. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

100. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with Section VIII to the 

extent Respondent has not fully complied with those provisions of this Consent 

Order. 
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101. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

102. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

103. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  2.3"4 day of January, 2017. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

W C,rta i, 

2017-CFPB-0004     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 31 of 31



4/26/2017 CFPB Orders Citi Subsidiaries to Pay $28.8 Million for Giving the Runaround to Borrowers Trying to Save Their Homes | Consumer Financial Protection…

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-orders-citi-subsidiaries-pay-288-million-giving-runaround-borrowers-trying-save-their-homes/ 1/4

CFPB Orders Citi Subsidiaries to Pay $28.8 Million for Giving the Runaround to
Borrowers Trying to Save Their Homes

Mortgage Servicers Kept Borrowers in the Dark About Options, Demanded
Excessive Paperwork

JAN 23, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took
separate actions against CitiFinancial Servicing and CitiMortgage, Inc. for giving the
runaround to struggling homeowners seeking options to save their homes. The mortgage
servicers kept borrowers in the dark about options to avoid foreclosure or burdened them
with excessive paperwork demands in applying for foreclosure relief. The CFPB is requiring
CitiMortgage to pay an estimated $17 million to compensate wronged consumers, and pay
a civil penalty of $3 million; and requiring CitiFinancial Services to refund approximately
$4.4 million to consumers, and pay a civil penalty of $4.4 million.

“Citi’s subsidiaries gave the runaround to borrowers who were already struggling with their
mortgage payments and trying to save their homes,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“Consumers were kept in the dark about their options or burdened with excessive
paperwork. This action will put money back in consumers’ pockets and make sure
borrowers can get help they need.”

CitiFinancial Servicing

CitiFinancial Servicing is made up of four entities incorporated in Delaware, Minnesota, and
West Virginia, and headquartered in O’Fallon, Mo. All are direct subsidiaries of CitiFinancial
Credit Company, and an indirect subsidiary of New York-based Citigroup, Inc. As a
mortgage servicer, CitiFinancial Servicing collects payments from borrowers for loans it
originates. It also handles customer service, collections, loan modifications, and
foreclosures.

CitiFinancial Servicing originates and services residential daily simple interest mortgage
loans. With these loans, the interest amount due is calculated on a day-to-day basis, unlike a
typical mortgage, where interest is calculated monthly. With a daily simple interest loan, the
consumer owes less interest and pays more toward principal when they make monthly
payments before the due date. But if payments are late or irregular, more of the consumer’s
payment goes to pay interest. Some consumers who notified CitiFinancial Servicing that
they faced a financial hardship were offered “deferments.” This postponed the consumer’s
next payment due date, and the consumer could still be considered current on payments.
But CitiFinancial Servicing did not treat a deferment as a request for foreclosure relief
options, also called loss mitigation options, as required by CFPB mortgage servicing rules.

CitiFinancial Servicing violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s
prohibition on deceptive acts or practices. Specifically, CitiFinancial Servicing:

Kept consumers in the dark about foreclosure relief options: When borrowers applied
to have their payments deferred, CitiFinancial Servicing failed to consider it as a
request for foreclosure relief options. As a result, borrowers may have missed out on
options that may have been more appropriate for them. Such requests for foreclosure
relief trigger protections required by CFPB mortgage servicing rules. The rules include
helping borrowers complete their applications and considering them for all available
foreclosure relief alternatives.

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Misled consumers about the impact of deferring payment due dates: Consumers were
kept in the dark about the true impact of postponing a payment due date. CitiFinancial
Servicing misled borrowers into thinking that if they deferred the payment, the
additional interest would be added to the end of the loan rather than become due
when the deferment ended. In fact, the deferred interest became due immediately. As
a result, more of the borrowers’ payment went to pay interest on the loan instead of
principal when they resumed making payments. This made it harder for borrowers to
pay down their loan principal.  

Charged consumers for credit insurance that should have been canceled: Some
borrowers bought CitiFinancial Servicing credit insurance, which is meant to cover the
loan if the borrower can’t make the payments. Borrowers paid the credit insurance
premium as part of their mortgage payment. Under its terms, CitiFinancial Servicing
was supposed to cancel the insurance if the borrower missed four or more monthly
payments. But between July 2011 and April 30, 2015, about 7,800 borrowers paid for
credit insurance that CitiFinancial Servicing should have canceled under those terms.
These payments were still directed to insurance premiums instead of unpaid interest,
making it harder for borrowers to pay down their loan principal.

Prematurely canceled credit insurance for some borrowers: CitiFinancial Servicing
prematurely canceled credit insurance for some consumers. Some of those borrowers
later had claims denied because CitiFinancial Servicing had improperly canceled their
insurance.

Sent inaccurate consumer information to credit reporting companies: CitiFinancial
Servicing incorrectly reported some settled accounts as being charged off. A charged-
off account is one the bank deems unlikely to be repaid, but may sell to a debt buyer.
At times, the servicer continued to send inaccurate information about these accounts to
credit reporting companies, and didn’t correct bad information it had already sent.

Failed to investigate consumer disputes: CitiFinancial did not investigate consumer
disputes about incorrect information sent to credit reporting companies within the
required time period. In some instances, they ignored a “notice of error” sent by
consumers, which should have stopped the servicer from sending negative information
to credit reporting companies for 60 days.

Under the consent order, CitiFinancial Servicing must:

Pay $4.4 million in restitution to consumers: CitiFinancial Services must pay $4.4
million to wronged consumers who were charged premiums on credit insurance after it
should be been canceled, or who were denied claims for insurance that was canceled
prematurely.

Clearly disclose conditions of deferments for loans: CitiFinancial Servicing must make
clear to consumers that interest accruing on daily simple interest loans during the
deferment period becomes immediately due when the borrower resumes making
payments. This means more of the borrowers’ loan payment will go toward paying
interest instead of principal. CitiFinancial Servicing must also treat a consumer’s request
for a deferment as a request for a loss mitigation option under the Bureau’s mortgage
servicing rules.

Stop supplying bad information to credit reporting companies: CitiFinancial Servicing
must stop reporting settled accounts as charged off to credit report companies, and
stop sending negative information to those companies within 60 days after receiving a
notice of error from a consumer. CitiFinancial Servicing must also investigate direct
disputes from borrowers within 30 days.

Pay a civil money penalty: CitiFinancial Servicing must pay $4.4 million to the CFPB
Civil Penalty Fund for illegal acts. 

The consent order against Citi Financial Services is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiFinancial-consent-
order.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiFinancial-consent-order.pdf
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CitiMortgage

CitiMortgage is incorporated in New York, headquartered in O’Fallon, Mo., and is a
subsidiary of Citibank, N.A. CitiMortgage is a mortgage servicer for Citibank and
government-sponsored entities such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. It also fields
consumer requests for foreclosure relief, such as repayment plans, loan modification, or
short sales.

Borrowers at risk of foreclosure or otherwise struggling with their mortgage payments can
apply to their servicer for foreclosure relief. In this process, the servicer requests
documentation of the borrower’s finances for evaluation. Under CFPB rules, if a borrower
does not submit all the required documentation with the initial application, servicers must
let the borrowers know what additional documents are required and keep copies of all
documents that are sent.

However, some borrowers who asked for assistance were sent a letter by CitiMortgage
demanding dozens of documents and forms that had no bearing on the application or that
the consumer had already provided. Many of these documents had nothing to do with a
borrower’s financial circumstances and were actually not needed to complete the
application. Letters sent to borrowers in 2014 requested documents with descriptions such
as “teacher contract,” and “Social Security award letter.” CitiMortgage sent such letters to
about 41,000 consumers.

In doing so, CitiMortgage violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, and the
Dodd-Frank Act’s prohibition against deceptive acts or practices. Under the terms of the
consent order, CitiMortgage must:

Pay $17 million to wronged consumers: CitiMortgage must pay $17 million to 
approximately 41,000 consumers who received improper letters from CitiMortgage.
CitiMortgage must identify affected consumers and mail each a bank check of the
amount owed, along with a restitution notification letter.

Clearly identify documents consumers need when applying for foreclosure relief: If it
does not get sufficient information from borrowers applying for foreclosure relief,
CitiMortgage must comply with the Bureau’s mortgage servicing rules. The company
must clearly identify specific documents or information needed from the borrower and
whether any information needs to be resubmitted. Or it must provide the forms that a
borrower must complete with the application, and describe any documents borrowers
have to submit.

Freeze any foreclosures related to the flawed application process and reach out to
harmed consumers: For consumers covered under the order who never received a
decision on their application, CitiMortgage must stop all foreclosure-related activity,
and reach out to these borrowers to determine if they want foreclosure relief options.

Pay a civil money penalty: CitiMortgage must pay $3 million to the CFPB Civil Penalty
Fund for illegal acts. 

The consent order reflects that CitiMortgage took affirmative steps to reach out to some
borrowers before it may have been required to by CFPB rules. While those borrowers also
would have benefited from more tailored and accurate notices, and the institution will
provide compliant notices to them going forward, those individuals were not included the
affected group of consumers in this settlement. This will avoid penalizing the institution for
making additional effort, which the Bureau encourages other institutions to make as well.  

The consent order against CitiMortgage is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiMortgage-consent-
order.pdf 

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiMortgage-consent-order.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0004 

In the Matter of: 

CitiFinancial Servicing LLC (DE), 
CitiFinancial Company (DE), 
CitiFinancial Services, Inc. (MN), 
and CitiFinancial, Inc. (WV). 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against CitiFinancial Servicing (Respondent), under 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563 and 5565, for its mortgage servicing and credit reporting activities with respect 

to daily simple interest mortgages in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; Section 

1024.41 of Regulation X and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA); The 

Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) and Section 1022.43 of Regulation V; Section 623 of 

FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2); and Section 1024.35 of Regulation X. 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 

In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 
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Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Consent Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and 

will be fully enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has 

been made by the Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the 

Bureau, about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may 

arise from the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 

6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order will 

be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 



2017-CFPB-0004 Document 2 Filed 01/23/2017 Page 3 of 5 

in any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its 

rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such as a 

non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of 

the Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms 

and conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5563, or 12 CFR Part 1081; 
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d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

CitiFinancial Servicing BY: 

Ari Men 
Managi Director, CitiFinancial Company 

/2.0 /2-o 

Date 
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Ari Mentz Date 
Managing Director, CitiFinancial Services, Inc. 
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Ari I41 n el Date 
Managing Director, CitiFinancial Servicing LLC 

Ari Mentzei--" Date 
Managing Director, CitiFinancial, Inc. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0005

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

CitiMortgage, Inc. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the mortgage 

servicing practices of CitiMortgage, Inc. (Respondent, as defined below) and has 

identified the following law violations: Respondent informed borrowers seeking loss 

mitigation that they were required to submit a substantial number of documents in 

order to complete their application, many of which were not applicable to borrowers’ 

specific financial circumstances and were not required to complete their loss mitigation 

application, in violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 

U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., Section 1024.41(b) of its implementing Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. 

Part 1024, and Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). In some cases, Respondent 

requested that borrowers submit documents for their loss mitigation applications that 

borrowers had previously submitted, also in violation of Regulation X and the CFPA. 

Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues 

this Consent Order (Consent Order).  
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., and its 

implementing Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. Part 1024.  

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order,” dated January [  ], 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented 

to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of 

fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish 

the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Affected Consumers” includes borrowers who were sent a Notice of

Incomplete Information (NOII) letter by Respondent between January 10,

2014, and December 4, 2014, after providing little or no income or

hardship information along with their initial loss mitigation application,

with the exception of borrowers who:

i. were current at the time they received CMI’s non-compliant (b)(2)

notice, who never submitted a document in response to CMI’s non-
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compliant (b)(2) notice, and who have remained current on their 

mortgage up to the Effective Date of the Consent Order; AND/OR 

ii. were current at the time they received CMI’s non-compliant (b)(2)

notice, who never submitted a document in response to CMI’s non-

compliant (b)(2) notice, and who never subsequently submitted

another loss mitigation application up to the Effective Date of the

Consent Order; AND/OR

iii. submitted a complete loss mitigation application after January 10,

2014, for which a decision was provided after January 10, 2014, and

who subsequently submitted another loss mitigation application, and

was sent CMI’s non-compliant (b)(2) notice.

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors.

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

d. “Loss mitigation application” means an oral or written request for a loss

mitigation option that is accompanied by any information required by a

servicer for evaluation for a loss mitigation option. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.31.

e. “Loss mitigation option” means an alternative to foreclosure offered by the

owner or assignee of a mortgage loan that is made available through the

servicer to the borrower, including a short-sale or a deed-in-lieu of

foreclosure. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.31; 12 C.F.R. Pt. 1024, Supp. I, comment 31

(Loss mitigation option)-1.

f. “NOII letter” means the Notice of Incomplete Information letter that

Respondent sent pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B)  to Affected

Consumers.
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g. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region 

for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

h. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

i. “Relevant Period” includes the period from January 10, 2014, to December 

4, 2014. 

j. “Respondent” means CitiMortgage, Inc., and its successors and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is incorporated in New York, headquartered in O’Fallon, 

Missouri, and is a subsidiary of Citibank, N.A. Respondent is a “covered person,” as that 

term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). Respondent is also a “service provider,” as that 

term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26), and a “servicer” under Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.2(b). 

5. During the Relevant Period, Respondent serviced residential mortgage 

loans on behalf of Citibank, N.A., government-sponsored entities, and various investors, 

including by handling loss mitigation activities and initiating foreclosure proceedings.    
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Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s NOII Letter 

6. When Respondent received an incomplete loss mitigation application 45 

days or more before a scheduled foreclosure sale, Respondent’s practice was to send 

borrowers a notice advising them of the additional documents and information 

necessary to complete their loss mitigation applications. 

7. During the Relevant Period, Respondent sent approximately 41,000 NOII 

letters to Affected Consumers. 

8. The NOII letters Respondent sent to Affected Consumers requested all 

documents that could potentially be relevant to loss mitigation applications generally. 

9. For a portion of the Relevant Period, from January 10, 2014, through 

August 19, 2014, the first page of Respondent’s NOII letter sent to Affected Consumers 

included the following directive in bold, capitalized text: “WE MUST HAVE THE 

DOCUMENTS LISTED BELOW TO PROCESS YOUR LOSS MITIGATION 

APPLICATION.” The NOII letter Respondent sent to Affected Consumers then listed 

dozens of documents and forms that may or may not have been applicable to a 

borrower’s loss mitigation application. 

10. The NOII letters Respondent sent to Affected Consumers did not specify 

which of the listed documents were actually necessary for a particular borrower to 

submit in order to complete his or her loss mitigation application. Respondent did not, 

in fact, need the Affected Consumers to submit all of the documents listed in the NOII 

letter in order to complete their loss mitigation application. 

11. For example, the NOII letter Respondent sent to Affected Consumers 

requested, among other things, the following documents: “Form 1065 (Partnership Tax 

Return) with all schedules”; “Form 1120S (S-Corporation Tax Return) with all 
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schedules”; “Social Security Award Letter”; “Trust Agreement”; “Broker’s Statements at 

Year-End”; “Teacher contract”; “Pension Statement”; and a “Most current year of Real 

estate tax bill for Rental.” 

12. Near the end of the NOII letter Respondent sent to some Affected 

Consumers, Respondent included the following statement in bolded text: “Remember, 

you must provide the necessary documentation to complete your 

application.” 

13. In some cases, the NOII letter Respondent sent to Affected Consumers 

also requested documents that borrowers had already submitted. 

14. In certain circumstances, Respondent’s representatives communicated 

with Affected Consumers via phone or email to inform them of the actual documents the 

borrowers needed to submit to complete their loss mitigation applications. However, 

Respondent also sent some of these same borrowers an additional letter requesting a 

large numbers of documents inapplicable to their circumstances, or documents that the 

borrowers had already submitted. 

15. Some Affected Consumers also received conflicting messages from 

Respondent’s representatives regarding the documents that they needed to submit to 

complete their loss mitigation applications, including that they had to submit 

documents previously submitted. Affected Consumers also complained about the lack of 

communication by Respondent’s representatives, and the assignment of multiple 

representatives during the loss mitigation application process. 

Violation of RESPA and Regulation X 

16. When a servicer receives an incomplete loss mitigation application 45 days 

or more before a scheduled foreclosure sale, Section 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) of Regulation X 
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requires the servicer, within five days of receiving the application, to provide a written 

notice “stat[ing] the additional documents and information the borrower must submit” 

to complete his or her loss mitigation application. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B).   

17. As described in Paragraphs 6–14, the NOII letter Respondent sent to

Affected Consumers did not state which documents and information those borrowers 

actually needed to submit to complete their loss mitigation applications. In some cases, 

the NOII letter Respondent sent to Affected Consumers requested documents that the 

borrowers had previously submitted.  

18. Therefore, Respondent violated RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., and

Section 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) of its implementing Regulation X. 

Violation of the CFPA 

19. Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and

5536(a)(1)(B) prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B).

20. As described in Paragraphs 6-14, in connection with servicing residential

mortgage loans, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that borrowers 

must submit all the documents listed in the NOII letter in order to complete their loss 

mitigation application and for Respondent to process that loss mitigation application. 

21. In fact, Respondent actually needed a much smaller universe of

documents to process borrowers’ loss mitigation applications and borrowers did not 

have to submit all of the documents listed in the NOII letter to complete their loss 

mitigation application. In some cases, Respondent also represented in its NOII letter 

that borrowers needed to submit documents that they had already provided.  
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22. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation 

of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

23. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate Section 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) of Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B), 

and Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), as 

follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. When Respondent does not possess information or documentation from 

borrowers who have submitted a loss mitigation application sufficient to know 

what specific information or documentation is necessary to complete a loss 

mitigation application, Respondent must send notices of incomplete loss 

mitigation applications that comply with 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) by: 

i. Explaining in plain language the purpose of any enclosed form that a 

borrower must complete in connection with his or her application, 

including a description of any documentation the form requires the 

borrower to submit; and 

ii. Enclosing any form that a borrower must complete with his or her 

application. 

b. When Respondent possesses more extensive information or documentation 

from borrowers who have submitted a loss mitigation application sufficient to 
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inform the borrower of what specific information or documentation is 

necessary to complete a loss mitigation application, Respondent must send 

notices of incomplete loss mitigation applications that comply with 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B) by: 

i. Clearly identifying any required documents that have not been 

submitted by the borrower; 

ii. Explaining in plain language the purpose of any enclosed form that a 

borrower must complete in connection with his or her application, 

including a description of any documentation the form requires the 

borrower to submit; 

iii. To the extent certain applicable income and financial documents are 

valid for a limited period of time, clearly identifying the length of time 

for which those specified documents are valid; and 

iv. Enclosing any form that a borrower must complete with his or her 

application. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with servicing residential home mortgages, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting: 

i. The documents and information borrowers are actually required to 

submit to complete their loss mitigation application;  

ii. The documents and information Respondent must have to process a 

borrower’s loss mitigation application; or 
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iii. That borrowers must submit documents to complete their loss 

mitigation application when the borrower has already submitted a 

current version of those documents. 

24. For Affected Consumers who did not receive a decision on their loss 

mitigation application, Respondent must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Place a hold on all foreclosure-related activity for the accounts of all Affected 

Consumers who are included in the outreach and review described in 

subsections (b) and (c) below; 

b. Make at least 4 attempts (using at least one attempt by first-class mail) to 

contact each Affected Consumer whose mortgage loan is still active, whose 

servicing rights are owned by Respondent, and who Respondent was servicing 

as of January 13, 2017, to determine his or her continued interest in loss 

mitigation options; and 

c. Review and evaluate loss mitigation applications submitted by Affected 

Consumers as a result of this outreach within 15 days of receipt of a complete 

loss mitigation application. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

25. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s practice of notifying borrowers 

who submit an incomplete loss mitigation application of the additional documents and 
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information necessary to complete their application complies with all applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The 

Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order;  

b. Templates of all notices that Respondent currently sends to borrowers 

who have submitted an incomplete loss mitigation application; 

c. Templates of all new or revised notices Respondent seeks to send to 

borrowers to comply with the terms of this Consent Order; and 

d. Specific timeframes and deadlines for the implementation of the steps 

described above. 

26. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must make 

the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to Regional Director within 30 days. 

27. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

28. If Respondent materially revises its notices to borrowers who submit an 

incomplete loss mitigation application within 5 years of the Regional Director’s 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must submit its 

revised notices to the Regional Director for review and non-objection.  
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VII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

29. The Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent 

Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

30. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial laws and this 

Consent Order. 

31. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a relevant 

Committee thereof, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section.  
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VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit 

into a segregated deposit account $17 million for the purpose of providing redress to 

Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

33. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Regional Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The Regional 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs 

Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days. After receiving 

notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

34. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes for providing redress covering all Affected Consumers; 

c. Include a description of the following:  

i. Methods used to compile a list of potential Affected Consumers; 

ii. Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer; 
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iii. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

iv. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

35. The Redress Plan must, at a minimum, require Respondent to provide 

$400 in redress to each Affected Consumer.   

36. The Redress Plan must describe the process for providing redress for 

Affected Consumers, and must include the following requirements: 

a. Respondent must mail a bank check to each Affected Consumer along with a 

Redress Notification Letter (as defined below); 

b. Respondent must send the bank check by United States Postal Service first-

class mail, address correction service requested, to the Affected Consumer’s 

last known address as maintained by the Respondent’s records; 

c. Respondent must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address for 

any Affected Consumer whose Redress Notification Letter and/or redress 

check is returned for any reason, using the National Change of Address 

System, and must promptly re-mail all returned letters and/or redress checks 

to current addresses, if any; and 

d. Processes for handling any unclaimed funds. 

37. With respect to redress paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan 

must include: 

a. The form of the letter (“Redress Notification Letter”) to be sent notifying 

Affected Consumers of the redress; and 

b. The form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The 

letter must include language explaining the manner in which the amount of 
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redress was calculated; and a statement that the provision of the refund 

payment is in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order. 

c. Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a “Redress 

Notification Letter” any materials other than the approved letters and redress 

checks, unless Respondent has obtained written confirmation from the 

Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such 

additional materials. 

38. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must 

submit a Redress Plan Report to the Regional Director, which must include 

Respondent’s Internal Audit department’s review and assessment of Respondent’s 

compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, including: 

a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected Consumers; 

b. The Redress Amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. The amount, status, and planned disposition of all unclaimed redress 

payments; and 

f. The work of independent consultants that Respondent has used, if any, to 

assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

39. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $17 million within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to 

the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference 

between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and $17 million. 
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40. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds 

remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining 

funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge 

any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

41. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.  

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $3 

million to the Bureau. 

43. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

44. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 
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45. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

46. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this 

action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a 

Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. 

Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and 

will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action.  

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 
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accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

48. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

49. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

50. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid.  

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

51. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 
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Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at 

least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development.   

52. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the 

Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board 

or a relevant committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

53. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of 

this Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

54. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 
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55. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

56. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 

years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VIII above. 

c. For each Affected Consumer: the consumer’s name, address, phone 

number, email address, and the date on which his or her loss mitigation 

application was submitted. 

57. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 56 for the 

duration of the Consent Order.  

58. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 56 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.  
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XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re CitiMortgage Inc., File No. 2017-

CFPB-0005,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Northeast Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10017

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Regional Director, Northeast Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10017

XV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

60. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau,

Respondent must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.  
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61. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these communications. 

62. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

63. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

64. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

65. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any 

such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  

XVII 

Administrative Provisions 

66. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise

prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 67. 
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67. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

68. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final

Consent Order issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

69. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5

years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation 

of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent 

Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the 

Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any 

provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated 

in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

2017-CFPB-0005     Document 1     Filed 01/23/2017     Page 23 of 25



70. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

71. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations

that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain 

the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with Paragraph 24 and 

Section VIII to the extent Respondent transfers or seeks to transfer its obligations under 

these provisions of this Consent Order. 

72. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau.

For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). 

In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

73. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the

complete agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and 

the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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74. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  284day of January, 2017. 

4,,,fiAL C
it-tsg4.44°Richard Cordray 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

25 
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CFPB Orders Citi Subsidiaries to Pay $28.8 Million for Giving the Runaround to
Borrowers Trying to Save Their Homes

Mortgage Servicers Kept Borrowers in the Dark About Options, Demanded
Excessive Paperwork

JAN 23, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took
separate actions against CitiFinancial Servicing and CitiMortgage, Inc. for giving the
runaround to struggling homeowners seeking options to save their homes. The mortgage
servicers kept borrowers in the dark about options to avoid foreclosure or burdened them
with excessive paperwork demands in applying for foreclosure relief. The CFPB is requiring
CitiMortgage to pay an estimated $17 million to compensate wronged consumers, and pay
a civil penalty of $3 million; and requiring CitiFinancial Services to refund approximately
$4.4 million to consumers, and pay a civil penalty of $4.4 million.

“Citi’s subsidiaries gave the runaround to borrowers who were already struggling with their
mortgage payments and trying to save their homes,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray.
“Consumers were kept in the dark about their options or burdened with excessive
paperwork. This action will put money back in consumers’ pockets and make sure
borrowers can get help they need.”

CitiFinancial Servicing

CitiFinancial Servicing is made up of four entities incorporated in Delaware, Minnesota, and
West Virginia, and headquartered in O’Fallon, Mo. All are direct subsidiaries of CitiFinancial
Credit Company, and an indirect subsidiary of New York-based Citigroup, Inc. As a
mortgage servicer, CitiFinancial Servicing collects payments from borrowers for loans it
originates. It also handles customer service, collections, loan modifications, and
foreclosures.

CitiFinancial Servicing originates and services residential daily simple interest mortgage
loans. With these loans, the interest amount due is calculated on a day-to-day basis, unlike a
typical mortgage, where interest is calculated monthly. With a daily simple interest loan, the
consumer owes less interest and pays more toward principal when they make monthly
payments before the due date. But if payments are late or irregular, more of the consumer’s
payment goes to pay interest. Some consumers who notified CitiFinancial Servicing that
they faced a financial hardship were offered “deferments.” This postponed the consumer’s
next payment due date, and the consumer could still be considered current on payments.
But CitiFinancial Servicing did not treat a deferment as a request for foreclosure relief
options, also called loss mitigation options, as required by CFPB mortgage servicing rules.

CitiFinancial Servicing violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s
prohibition on deceptive acts or practices. Specifically, CitiFinancial Servicing:

Kept consumers in the dark about foreclosure relief options: When borrowers applied
to have their payments deferred, CitiFinancial Servicing failed to consider it as a
request for foreclosure relief options. As a result, borrowers may have missed out on
options that may have been more appropriate for them. Such requests for foreclosure
relief trigger protections required by CFPB mortgage servicing rules. The rules include
helping borrowers complete their applications and considering them for all available
foreclosure relief alternatives.

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Misled consumers about the impact of deferring payment due dates: Consumers were
kept in the dark about the true impact of postponing a payment due date. CitiFinancial
Servicing misled borrowers into thinking that if they deferred the payment, the
additional interest would be added to the end of the loan rather than become due
when the deferment ended. In fact, the deferred interest became due immediately. As
a result, more of the borrowers’ payment went to pay interest on the loan instead of
principal when they resumed making payments. This made it harder for borrowers to
pay down their loan principal.  

Charged consumers for credit insurance that should have been canceled: Some
borrowers bought CitiFinancial Servicing credit insurance, which is meant to cover the
loan if the borrower can’t make the payments. Borrowers paid the credit insurance
premium as part of their mortgage payment. Under its terms, CitiFinancial Servicing
was supposed to cancel the insurance if the borrower missed four or more monthly
payments. But between July 2011 and April 30, 2015, about 7,800 borrowers paid for
credit insurance that CitiFinancial Servicing should have canceled under those terms.
These payments were still directed to insurance premiums instead of unpaid interest,
making it harder for borrowers to pay down their loan principal.

Prematurely canceled credit insurance for some borrowers: CitiFinancial Servicing
prematurely canceled credit insurance for some consumers. Some of those borrowers
later had claims denied because CitiFinancial Servicing had improperly canceled their
insurance.

Sent inaccurate consumer information to credit reporting companies: CitiFinancial
Servicing incorrectly reported some settled accounts as being charged off. A charged-
off account is one the bank deems unlikely to be repaid, but may sell to a debt buyer.
At times, the servicer continued to send inaccurate information about these accounts to
credit reporting companies, and didn’t correct bad information it had already sent.

Failed to investigate consumer disputes: CitiFinancial did not investigate consumer
disputes about incorrect information sent to credit reporting companies within the
required time period. In some instances, they ignored a “notice of error” sent by
consumers, which should have stopped the servicer from sending negative information
to credit reporting companies for 60 days.

Under the consent order, CitiFinancial Servicing must:

Pay $4.4 million in restitution to consumers: CitiFinancial Services must pay $4.4
million to wronged consumers who were charged premiums on credit insurance after it
should be been canceled, or who were denied claims for insurance that was canceled
prematurely.

Clearly disclose conditions of deferments for loans: CitiFinancial Servicing must make
clear to consumers that interest accruing on daily simple interest loans during the
deferment period becomes immediately due when the borrower resumes making
payments. This means more of the borrowers’ loan payment will go toward paying
interest instead of principal. CitiFinancial Servicing must also treat a consumer’s request
for a deferment as a request for a loss mitigation option under the Bureau’s mortgage
servicing rules.

Stop supplying bad information to credit reporting companies: CitiFinancial Servicing
must stop reporting settled accounts as charged off to credit report companies, and
stop sending negative information to those companies within 60 days after receiving a
notice of error from a consumer. CitiFinancial Servicing must also investigate direct
disputes from borrowers within 30 days.

Pay a civil money penalty: CitiFinancial Servicing must pay $4.4 million to the CFPB
Civil Penalty Fund for illegal acts. 

The consent order against Citi Financial Services is available at:
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiFinancial-consent-
order.pdf 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiFinancial-consent-order.pdf
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CitiMortgage

CitiMortgage is incorporated in New York, headquartered in O’Fallon, Mo., and is a
subsidiary of Citibank, N.A. CitiMortgage is a mortgage servicer for Citibank and
government-sponsored entities such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. It also fields
consumer requests for foreclosure relief, such as repayment plans, loan modification, or
short sales.

Borrowers at risk of foreclosure or otherwise struggling with their mortgage payments can
apply to their servicer for foreclosure relief. In this process, the servicer requests
documentation of the borrower’s finances for evaluation. Under CFPB rules, if a borrower
does not submit all the required documentation with the initial application, servicers must
let the borrowers know what additional documents are required and keep copies of all
documents that are sent.

However, some borrowers who asked for assistance were sent a letter by CitiMortgage
demanding dozens of documents and forms that had no bearing on the application or that
the consumer had already provided. Many of these documents had nothing to do with a
borrower’s financial circumstances and were actually not needed to complete the
application. Letters sent to borrowers in 2014 requested documents with descriptions such
as “teacher contract,” and “Social Security award letter.” CitiMortgage sent such letters to
about 41,000 consumers.

In doing so, CitiMortgage violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, and the
Dodd-Frank Act’s prohibition against deceptive acts or practices. Under the terms of the
consent order, CitiMortgage must:

Pay $17 million to wronged consumers: CitiMortgage must pay $17 million to 
approximately 41,000 consumers who received improper letters from CitiMortgage.
CitiMortgage must identify affected consumers and mail each a bank check of the
amount owed, along with a restitution notification letter.

Clearly identify documents consumers need when applying for foreclosure relief: If it
does not get sufficient information from borrowers applying for foreclosure relief,
CitiMortgage must comply with the Bureau’s mortgage servicing rules. The company
must clearly identify specific documents or information needed from the borrower and
whether any information needs to be resubmitted. Or it must provide the forms that a
borrower must complete with the application, and describe any documents borrowers
have to submit.

Freeze any foreclosures related to the flawed application process and reach out to
harmed consumers: For consumers covered under the order who never received a
decision on their application, CitiMortgage must stop all foreclosure-related activity,
and reach out to these borrowers to determine if they want foreclosure relief options.

Pay a civil money penalty: CitiMortgage must pay $3 million to the CFPB Civil Penalty
Fund for illegal acts. 

The consent order reflects that CitiMortgage took affirmative steps to reach out to some
borrowers before it may have been required to by CFPB rules. While those borrowers also
would have benefited from more tailored and accurate notices, and the institution will
provide compliant notices to them going forward, those individuals were not included the
affected group of consumers in this settlement. This will avoid penalizing the institution for
making additional effort, which the Bureau encourages other institutions to make as well.  

The consent order against CitiMortgage is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiMortgage-consent-
order.pdf 

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201701_cfpb_CitiMortgage-consent-order.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0005 

In the Matter of: 

CitiMortgage, Inc. 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO 

THE ISSUANCE OF A CONSENT 

ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against CitiMortgage, Inc. (Respondent), under 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563 and 5565, for its practice of sending an overly broad notice of incomplete 

information to borrowers seeking loss mitigation, in violation of Section 1024.41(b) of 

Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. Part 1024, and by representing that borrowers must submit 

inapplicable documents and information in order to process their loss mitigation 

applications, in violation Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1). 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 
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In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over 

Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order 

issued with the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and 

agrees that the Consent Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and 

will be fully enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. 

Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has been made by the 

Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, about any liability 

outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from the facts underlying this 

action or immunity from any such liability. 
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6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent 

Order will be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, 

in any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any subsequent 

civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its rights to any payment 

or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such as a non-dischargeability 

complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors in 

interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the 

Bureau Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5563, or 12 CFR Part 1081; 
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d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. 

CitiMortgage, Inc. BY: 

t p er Davi 
Preside t and CEO, CitiMortgage, Inc. 

76. /r7 
Date 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0010 

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

UniRush LLC and Mastercard 
International Incorporated 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the practices 

of UniRush LLC (UniRush) and the Mastercard Payment Transaction Services division 

of Mastercard International Incorporated (MPTS) and has identified the following law 

violations: UniRush and MPTS engaged in unfair acts or practices by failing to conduct 

adequate testing and preparation for the conversion of the RushCard prepaid card 

program onto the MPTS payment processing platform in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

Post-conversion, UniRush engaged in unfair acts or practices in its administration of 

RushCard accounts in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531, 5536. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the

Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Overview 

1. In 2014, UniRush selected MPTS as its new payment processor for the RushCard.

Services provided by MPTS include maintaining the system of record for the

RushCard accounts and authorizing/settling card transactions on the Visa

payment network on behalf of the card issuer. UniRush separately provides

services on its systems that, when functioning, allow cardholders to, among other

things, obtain direct ACH deposit of payroll and other funds to their cards, load

funds onto their cards at various retail locations, maintain savings “goal”

accounts, make bill payments and card to-card transfers, and obtain from

UniRush information about their card balances and transactions through the

cardholder website, mobile phone application, and customer service agents.

2. Respondents jointly scheduled the payment processor conversion for October 10-

12, 2015, after which MPTS would begin providing payment processing services.

At the time of the conversion, there were approximately 652,000 active RushCard

users, approximately 272,000 of whom received direct deposits of their pay

and/or government benefits on the RushCard.

3. MPTS and UniRush’s pre-conversion testing and preparation did not ensure that:

(1) the conversion of RushCard accounts onto the MPTS payment processing

platform would be completed within the specified timeframe for the conversion; 

(2) all RushCard accounts would be successfully transferred onto the MPTS

platform, resulting in many RushCard holders not being able to access funds 

stored on their RushCard after the conversion; (3) fees would be assessed and 

transaction approvals would occur consistent with UniRush’s program rules and 
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RushCard terms and conditions; (4) UniRush could handle increased demands on 

its customer service system after the conversion in the event of significant service 

disruptions, causing consumers to spend hours on hold or not be able to reach 

customer service, and (5) MPTS would convey accurate information about 

consumers’ balances to UniRush when it declined certain transactions. 

4. Post-conversion, UniRush’s administration of its prepaid card program resulted in

some consumers: (1) not timely receiving their direct deposits; (2) receiving

inaccurately inflated account balance information causing them to spend more

funds than available on their cards; (3) not having access to funds they attempted

to load onto their RushCards or that should have been available to them through

subaccounts associated with RushCards, and (4) having negative account balances

resulting from conversion failures that UniRush offset with subsequent deposits

without the consumers’ prior knowledge.

II 

Jurisdiction 

5. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565.

III 

Stipulation 

6. Each Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order,” dated January 30, 2017 (Stipulation), which are incorporated by

reference and are accepted by the Bureau. By these Stipulations, Respondents

have consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under
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sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over 

Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

7. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Active RushCard Account” means a RushCard account in an active status

with any recorded account activity (any data recorded for the account,

including but not limited to transactions and attempted transactions) within

the previous 90 days.

b. “Affected Consumers” means consumers with a RushCard account as of

October 11, 2015, with any recorded account activity (any data recorded for

the account, including but not limited to transactions and attempted

transactions) within the six months prior to and including October 11, 2015.

c. “Allocation Agreement” means the separate agreement between Respondents,

which sets forth each respective party’s allocable share of the amount of

consumer redress specified in Paragraphs 66 and 73, civil money penalty

specified in Paragraph 76, and administrative costs and expenses paid to

third parties in administering the cost of consumer redress.

d. “Board” means Respondent MPTS’s and Respondent UniRush’s respective

and duly-elected and acting Boards of Directors, or a respective committee

thereof.
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e. “Class Action Settlement Agreement” means the agreement settling the 

actions titled Fuentes, et al. v. UniRush, LLC, et al., Case No. 1:15-cv-08372 

(S.D.N.Y.); Huff v. UniRush, LLC et al., Case No. 2:15-cv- 02253 (E.D. Cal.); 

Peterkin v. UniRush, LLC, et al., Case No. 1: 15-cv-08573 (S.D.N.Y.); and 

Jones v. UniRush, LLC, et. al., Case No. 5:15-cv-05996 (E.D. Pa.). 

f. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

g. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

h. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section V of this Consent Order. 

i. “Respondents” means collectively UniRush LLC (UniRush) and Mastercard 

International Incorporated (“Mastercard”) and their successors and assigns.  

V 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

8. UniRush is a Delaware limited liability company headquartered in the greater 

Cincinnati area. Since 2003, UniRush has marketed and administered the 

RushCard brand of general purpose reloadable prepaid cards.   

9. Mastercard is a global financial services corporation incorporated in Delaware and 

headquartered in Purchase, New York. Mastercard Payment Transaction Services 
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(MPTS) is a division of Mastercard International Incorporated and is the current 

payment processor for the RushCard. 

10. UniRush is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) as a seller and provider

of “stored value or payment instruments.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(v). In its role as

program administrator, UniRush designs and controls the functions of RushCard

and is principally responsible for setting the terms and conditions of the stored

value provided to the consumer.

11. Mastercard is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) as a service provider

to UniRush. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).

12. Respondents spent 13 months jointly preparing to transfer RushCard accounts

from UniRush’s prior payment processing platform to the MPTS payment

processing platform during the October 10-12, 2015, payment processor

conversion.

13. Respondents committed acts or practices before, during, and after the payment

processor conversion that adversely impacted consumers.

Findings and Conclusions as to MPTS’s Unfair Acts or Practices Related to 
Pre-Conversion Testing for UniRush  

14. MPTS maintained several environments in which UniRush tested the payment

processing services provided by MPTS in the months prior to the conversion.

MPTS and UniRush conducted multiple mock tests in preparation for the actual

conversion of the account data onto the MPTS processing platform.

15. MPTS’s mock testing for the RushCard conversion did not accurately simulate the

conditions under which the payment processor conversion would take place,
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resulting in an inaccurate estimate of the amount of time required for the 

conversion.    

16. MPTS also denied UniRush’s request to conduct a full additional mock conversion

to validate and process a new data file that MPTS identified as necessary to

successfully convert UniRush without postponing the conversion. Rather, MPTS

merely confirmed the data was formatted properly without testing whether it

could upload the file to its processing platform.

17. MPTS’s inadequate mock testing for UniRush contributed to the actual RushCard

conversion taking longer than anticipated, which injured consumers. Consumers

were informed that the blackout period during the conversion—where RushCard

holders could neither access their funds nor transact with their cards—would last

from 3-8 a.m., but the blackout period lasted approximately 3.5 hours longer.

Approximately 20,824 consumers experienced declined transactions during this

extended blackout period.

18. Respondents ended the extended blackout period before all the files containing

RushCard account activity information (including recent transaction and balance

information) were loaded on MPTS’s processing platform, but only after

Mastercard agreed to cover any losses to UniRush caused by consumers who spent

more funds than they had available on their RushCards, a possibility resulting

from MPTS’s authorization of transactions without the most up to date account

balance information.

19. MPTS’s pre-conversion testing for the RushCard conversion contributed to certain

configuration errors with UniRush’s prepaid card program that resulted in: (1)

approximately 13,180 cardholders not being able to access their account
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information on UniRush’s consumer-facing applications from October 12-15, 

2015; (2) approximately 1,110 cardholders having their accounts incorrectly 

suspended  due to possible “fraud”; and (3) approximately $160,000 in monthly 

maintenance fees being improperly assessed on approximately 187,000 

RushCards during the night of the conversion, which MPTS identified and 

reversed the next day.   

20. Prior to the conversion, MPTS provided technical manuals to UniRush that 

indicated that MPTS would communicate to UniRush accurate account balance 

information with every transaction approval or denial. The UniRush applications 

that consumers used to check their balances were designed to reflect the most 

recent account balance information in MPTS’s communications. 

21. Prior to the conversion, MPTS did not conduct testing on the account balance 

information MPTS sent to UniRush when transactions were declined for security 

reasons (such as an invalid PIN or expired card). 

22. For a two-day period of time after the conversion, when MPTS declined 

transactions for security reasons (such as an invalid PIN or expired card) it 

inaccurately communicated an account balance of zero to UniRush.  

23. As a result, thousands of consumers could have seen information on UniRush’s 

consumer-facing applications that incorrectly indicated a $0 balance on their card 

and refrained from purchasing necessities and paying their bills until the 

inaccuracy was resolved. 

24. RushCard users had no control over MPTS’s testing for the conversion of their 

accounts from RushCard’s prior payment processor to MPTS or whether MPTS 
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provided accurate balance information to UniRush when it declined certain 

transactions. 

25. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if 

the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

26. As described in Paragraphs 14-24, MPTS’s acts or practices caused or were likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or 

outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.  

27. Therefore, MPTS’s pre-conversion testing conduct for the RushCard conversion 

constituted unfair acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536.  

 
Findings and Conclusions as to UniRush’s Unfair Acts or Practices Related 

to Pre-Conversion Testing and Preparation for the Conversion  
 

28. In preparation for the payment processor conversion, UniRush failed to ensure 

that all RushCard accounts would be accurately transferred onto MPTS’s payment 

processing platform. 

29. UniRush’s inadequate pre-conversion testing and preparation contributed to the 

improper deactivation of thousands of cards and the failure to transfer other cards 

onto MPTS’s processing platform. UniRush also did not ensure that consumers 

who had reported their cards lost or stolen prior to the conversion were issued 

new and functioning RushCards after the conversion.  
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30. As a result of UniRush’s failure to accurately transfer all RushCard accounts to

MPTS’s processing platform, thousands of RushCard users were unable to

transact or access funds stored on their cards for days or in some circumstances

weeks after the conversion.

31. UniRush failed to prepare a contingency plan that would enable it to scale its

customer service response to meet the increased demand on its customer service

system that resulted from the service disruptions it experienced following the

conversion. When the payment processor conversion did not unfold as expected,

demands of the UniRush customer service system reached levels for which

UniRush did not prepare. For example, call volumes to its customer service

system spiked up to six hundred percent higher than projected.

32. During and after the conversion, UniRush could not meet increased consumer

demand for trained customer service agents even after hiring additional agents. As

a result, in the midst of service disruptions some consumers waited on hold for

hours, often over the course of days, to speak to customer service agents, and

could not obtain critical information about the status of their funds and accounts

from UniRush’s customer service agents.

33. RushCard users had no control over UniRush’s pre-conversion process for

transferring accounts from its previous payment processor and creating a

contingency plan to scale its response for increased customer service resulting

from the service disruptions following the conversion.

34. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is
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likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if 

the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

35. As described in Paragraphs 28-33, UniRush’s acts or practices in preparing for the 

payment processor conversion caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition.  

36. Therefore, UniRush’s preparation for the payment processor conversion 

constituted an unfair act or practice in violation of sections 1031(c)(1) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to UniRush’s Unfair Administration of 
Cardholder Accounts After the Conversion 

 
37. In the two days after the payment processor conversion, October 13 and 14, 2015, 

UniRush did not credit approximately 45,540 direct deposits to consumers’ 

account balances in accordance with its pre-conversion representation that 

RushCard consumers would receive direct deposit of their paychecks or 

government benefits “up to two days sooner” than their official pay date.  

38. UniRush also either did not successfully process or improperly returned to the 

funding source (in most instances, employers or government agencies) 

approximately 925 direct deposits in the weeks following the payment processor 

conversion.  

39. Between October 15 and 19, 2015, UniRush erroneously double-posted over 

10,000 Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) deposits to consumers’ accounts. 

These double-posted deposits resulted in UniRush incorrectly inflating those 
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cardholders’ account balances. When UniRush rescinded the duplicate deposits on 

October 19, 2015, approximately 3,899 consumers—who had used their cards 

when the balance information UniRush provided overstated the amount of funds  

available—incurred negative balances. 

40. UniRush failed to apply ACH debit transactions initiated by consumers around the

time of the payment processor conversion to cardholder accounts for three weeks.

When UniRush finally processed those transactions on November 2, 2015, an

additional 4,644 cardholders—who had used their cards when the balance

information UniRush provided them overstated the amount of funds available—

incurred negative balances.

41. Without providing advance notice to consumers, UniRush used funds consumers

subsequently loaded onto their RushCards to offset these negative balances.

UniRush did not inform consumers they had incurred negative balances as a

result of the processing practices described in Paragraphs 39-40, or that it would

or had offset those negative balances with consumers’ subsequent deposits. These

offsets occurred over a period of many months following the October 2015

conversion.

42. For approximately two weeks after the conversion, UniRush did not process cash

loads that consumers made at retail locations. This service disruption prevented

consumers who attempted approximately 2,110 cash loads from accessing funds

they thought they had loaded onto their RushCards during this time period.

43. For approximately two weeks after the conversion, UniRush disabled the function

that allowed cardholders to transfer money from one card to another, impacting

approximately 2,980 consumers. This prevented consumers from accessing funds
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in dedicated “goal” accounts that can be accessed only through card-to-card 

transfers. 

44. UniRush’s administration of RushCard accounts after the conversion caused some 

consumers to lack access to (1) employer direct deposits and government benefits; 

(2) accurate balance information because of UniRush’s ACH processing practices; 

(3) funds loaded onto their RushCards because UniRush used those funds to offset 

negative balances resulting from UniRush’s ACH processing practices; (4) funds 

they had attempted to load onto their RushCards; and (5) funds stored in 

dedicated “goal” accounts. Many consumers could not pay their bills or make 

critical purchases because of the disruptions in RushCard functionality. 

45. RushCard users had no control over UniRush’s post-conversion administration of 

their accounts.  

46. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if 

the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers 

or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

47. As described in Paragraphs 37-45, UniRush’s acts and practices administering 

RushCard accounts after the payment processor conversion caused or were likely 

to cause substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or 

outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.  

48. Therefore, UniRush’s administration of RushCard accounts after the payment 

processor conversion constituted an unfair act or practice in violation of sections 

1031(c)(1) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

49. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as 

follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Mastercard must establish, implement, enhance, and maintain testing 

policies, procedures, and standards reasonably designed to, at a minimum: 

i. Ensure that, during and after conversions, MPTS’s processing 

platform and services provided by MPTS are in-line with 

expectations and outcomes agreed upon with MPTS’s customers; 

ii. Ensure that for each processing conversion to MPTS’s processing 

platform, MPTS has documented and established a test 

methodology and performed post-implementation reviews of 

MPTS’s processing platform and services provided by MPTS to its 

customer;  

iii. Prevent service or program disruptions likely to have an adverse 

impact on consumers during payment processor conversions or 

significant systems changes or upgrades to MPTS’s payment 

processing platform;  

iv. Produce post-conversion outcomes that correspond to expected 

results and outcomes outlined in MPTS’s product specifications and 
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verbal and written statements provided to its clients, assuming the 

accuracy of the client inputs;  

v. Ensure that MPTS’s testing environments accurately simulate the 

results and processing times for the transmission and uploading of 

all data files that will occur during actual conversions. Such 

simulation must include data file uploads, database reorganization, 

and any daily processing expected to occur on those files during the 

scheduled conversion; and 

vi. Validate all conversion data files for all new clients to ensure those 

files contain information in a format that is compatible with 

MPTS’s processing platform and enables MPTS to administer its 

clients’ prepaid card programs in accordance with program 

specifications. 

b. Mastercard must establish, implement, enhance, and maintain policies 

and procedures designed to ensure regular verification of real life settings 

with the configuration baseline allowing for compliance with the baseline 

and detection of deviations.  

50. UniRush must establish, implement, and maintain: 

a. An incident response program that includes at a minimum the following 

documented phases: 

i. A preparation phase that ensures that UniRush has an incident 

response plan prior to an incident; 

ii. A documented identification phase that verifies whether an incident 

has happened and details the incident;   
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iii. A containment phase that ensures that after an incident has been 

identified and confirmed, information from the incident handler is 

effectively shared with all relevant stakeholders, including those 

external to UniRush;   

iv. An eradication phase that ensures that after containment measures 

have been deployed, UniRush identifies the root cause of an 

incident and eradicates it; and      

v. A recovery phase that ensures affected systems or services are 

restored to the condition specified in the Service Delivery 

Objectives (SDO) or Business Continuity Plan (BCP). The 

procedures must require the documentation of the time constraint 

up to this recovery phase in the Recovery Time Objectives (RTO).   

b. A disaster recovery plan reasonably designed to ensure it can restore data 

in the event of a systems failure in a manner that minimizes program or 

service disruptions likely to have an adverse impact on consumers; 

c. A contingency plan reasonably designed to ensure that its customer service 

can respond within a reasonable time to increased consumer call or email 

volume in the event of a systems failure or program or service disruption 

that has the potential to have an adverse impact on consumers; and 

d. Policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure the dissemination 

of timely and accurate information, including but not limited to 

information about account access or balances, to consumers in the event of 

a systems failure or program or service disruption that has the potential to 

have an adverse impact on consumers. 
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51. UniRush must enhance and update, as necessary, its oversight and compliance 

management systems to promptly identify and correct potential systems errors 

and violations of Federal consumer financial laws, including any errors or 

violations committed by Respondent’s Service Providers and/or vendors 

responsible for customer service. These measures must include: 

a. Regular monitoring and supervision by UniRush of the service providers, 

vendors, affiliates, or other agents it engages in connection with its 

customer service activities, including on-site visits (with or without 

notice), document collection, interviews of service provider personnel, 

monitoring of consumer complaints, and oversight of curative actions 

and/or remediation undertaken by the service providers, vendors, 

affiliates, or other agents; and  

b. Establishment or enhancement of policies and procedures to timely 

investigate, respond to, and correct errors in response to complaints by 

consumers or violations, as well as identify trends that may indicate errors 

are systemic or otherwise affect significant numbers of consumers.  

Systems Audit and Improvements 

52. No more than 60 days after signing an agreement to complete any payment 

processor conversion, UniRush must retain a qualified, independent third-party 

professional acceptable to the Enforcement Director with specialized expertise in 

processor conversions or systems design, architecture, and capacity planning, to 

conduct an audit of the conversion preparation, implementation, and contingency 
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planning (Audit) using procedures and standards generally accepted in the 

payment processing industry. 

53. UniRush must provide results of its Audit to the Enforcement Director within 10 

days after the report of the Audit is delivered to UniRush, but no later than 120 

days prior to any conversion. 

54. Within 60 days of the delivery of the report of UniRush’s Audit identified in 

Paragraph 52, UniRush must submit to the Enforcement Director for review and 

non-objection a plan to correct deficiencies identified by the Audit and implement 

improvements to its systems architecture recommended by the third-party 

professional identified in Paragraph 52 (Audit Plan). 

55. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Audit Plan or direct UniRush to revise its Audit Plan. If the 

Enforcement Director directs UniRush to revise its Audit Plan, UniRush must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Audit Plan to the Enforcement Director 

within 30 days of the date of notification of the need for revisions and prior to any 

conversion. 

56. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Audit Plan, UniRush must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Audit Plan. 

VII 

Compliance Plan - Mastercard 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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57. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Mastercard must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that MPTS’s testing policies and procedures 

comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this 

Consent Order (MPTS Compliance Plan). The MPTS Compliance Plan must 

include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

58. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the MPTS Compliance Plan or direct MPTS to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Mastercard to revise the MPTS Compliance Plan, 

Mastercard must make the revisions and resubmit the MPTS Compliance Plan to 

the Enforcement Director within 45 days. 

59. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the MPTS Compliance Plan, Mastercard must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the MPTS Compliance Plan.  

VIII 

Compliance Plan - UniRush 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

60. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, UniRush must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 
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compliance plan designed to ensure that UniRush’s disaster recovery plan, 

customer service operations, policies and procedures to ensure timely and 

accurate communication with consumers, compliance management systems, and 

oversight of Service Providers comply with all applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (UniRush Compliance Plan). 

The UniRush Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

61. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the UniRush Compliance Plan or direct UniRush to revise it. If 

the Enforcement Director directs UniRush to revise the UniRush Compliance 

Plan, UniRush must make the revisions and resubmit the UniRush Compliance 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 45 days. 

62. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the UniRush Compliance Plan, UniRush must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the UniRush Compliance Plan. 

IX 

Role of the Board  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. The Board, or relevant Committee thereof, of each Respondent must review all 

submissions (including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) 
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required by this Consent Order from its respective entity prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

64. Although this Consent Order requires each Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the 

Board of each Respondent will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and 

sound management of its respective entity and for ensuring that the entity 

complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

65. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board of each Respondent to 

ensure adherence to, or perform, certain obligations of Respondent the Board 

must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 

X 

Order to Pay Redress   

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must reserve or deposit into 

segregated deposit accounts $10 million, for the purpose of providing redress to 

Affected Consumers as required by this Section. Respondents are jointly and 
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severally liable for this obligation. Respondents may set forth each party’s 

allocable share in the Allocation Agreement, but such agreement shall not be 

binding on the Bureau. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, UniRush, after 

consultation with Mastercard, must submit to the Enforcement Director for 

review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress 

consistent with this Consent Order (“Redress Plan”). The Enforcement Director 

will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

Plan or direct UniRush to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs UniRush to 

revise the Redress Plan, UniRush, after consultation with Mastercard, must make 

the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 

days. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, UniRush must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in 

the Redress Plan. 

67. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how UniRush will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes for providing redress covering all Affected Consumers; 

c. Include a description of the following:  

i. Methods used to compile a list of Affected Consumers; 

ii. Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer; 

iii. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

iv. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 
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68. The Redress Plan must, at a minimum, require Respondents to provide: 

a. $25 to each Affected Consumer who experienced a denied transaction 

during the extended blackout period on October 12, 2015; 

b. $150 to each Affected Consumer whose card was placed in a possible fraud 

status that prevented the Affected Consumer from transacting or accessing 

account funds as a result of an improper configuration on the MPTS 

payment processing platform; 

c. $100 to each Affected Consumer who received balance information in 

October 2015 incorrectly indicating that there were no funds in the 

Affected Consumer’s account; 

d. $100 to each Affected Consumer whose ACH deposits were not processed 

in the week after the payment processor conversion according to 

UniRush’s representation that RushCard users would receive direct 

deposit of their paychecks or government benefits “up to two days sooner” 

than their official pay date; 

e. $250 to each Affected Consumer whose ACH deposit was returned to the 

funding source, improperly loaded onto an expired or inactive card, or was 

unable to be successfully processed by UniRush in October 2015; 

f. $150 to each Affected Consumer that UniRush offset due to a negative 

account balance incurred because of rescission of a duplicate ACH deposit 

or delayed processing of an ACH debit transaction; 

g. $150 to each Affected Consumer who could not transact or access account 

funds because the account was not transferred onto the MPTS payment 
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processing platform or improperly transferred to the MPTS payment 

processing platform in a status that would not allow the card to function; 

h. $150 to each Affected Consumer who could not transact or access account 

funds because a lost or stolen card was not promptly replaced or the 

replacement card did not function after the payment processor conversion; 

i. $150 to each Affected Consumer who initiated a cash load that was not 

promptly posted to the account following the October 12, 2015, payment 

processing conversion; and  

j. $50 to each Affected Consumer whose card-to-card transfer(s) were not 

processed immediately following the October 12, 2015, payment 

processing conversion. 

69. The Redress Plan must describe the process for providing restitution for Affected 

Consumers, and must include the following requirements: 

a. For Affected Consumers with Active RushCard Accounts as of the date the 

Redress Plan is implemented, credit must be applied to the account  of 

each Affected Consumer and a Restitution Notification Letter must be 

mailed or sent via electronic communication to each Affected Consumer; 

b. For Affected Consumers who do not have Active RushCard Accounts as of 

the date the Redress Plan is implemented, a certified or bank check must 

be mailed to each Affected Consumer along with a Restitution Notification 

Letter; 

c.  The certified or bank check must be sent via United States Postal Service 

first-class mail, address correction service requested, to the Affected 

Consumer’s last known address as maintained by UniRush’s records; 
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d. Reasonable attempts must be made to obtain a current address for any 

Affected Consumer whose Redress Notification Letter and/or restitution 

check is returned for any reason, using the National Change of Address 

System, and must promptly re-mail all returned Restitution Notification 

Letters and/or restitution checks to current addresses, if any; and  

e. Processes for handling any unclaimed funds must be established. 

70. With respect to redress paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan must 

include: 

a. The form of the letter (“Redress Notification Letter”) to be sent notifying 

Affected Consumers of the redress. The letter must include language 

explaining the manner in which the amount of redress was calculated and 

a statement that the provision of the refund payment is in accordance with 

the terms of this Consent Order; and 

b. The form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter.  

71. The envelope containing a “Redress Notification Letter” must not include any 

materials other than the approved letters and redress checks, unless UniRush has 

obtained written confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau 

does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

72. Within 90 days of completing implementation of the Redress Plan, UniRush must 

submit a Redress Plan report to the Enforcement Director, which must include a 

review and assessment from an independent auditor agreed upon by the 

Respondents on UniRush’s compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, 

including: 
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a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected Consumers; 

b. The restitution amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. The amount, status, and planned disposition of all unclaimed redress 

payments; and 

f. The work of independent consultants that have been used, if any, to assist and 

review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

73. Respondents must provide all relief to consumers required by this Consent Order, 

regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount reserved or 

deposited into a segregated account under this Section. If the amount of such 

relief exceeds the amounts required in the segregated accounts, Respondents are 

jointly and severally liable for such excess. Respondents may set forth each party’s 

allocable share in the Allocation Agreement, but such agreement shall not be 

binding on the Bureau.  

74. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $10 million, within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondents must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 

or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

$10 million. Respondents’ obligation to make this payment to the Bureau is joint 

and several. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress 

to Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, 
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or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will 

deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. A Respondent 

will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives 

may take under this Section. 

75. Respondents may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right.

XI 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations

of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into account the

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil money penalty of

$3 million to the Bureau. Respondents are jointly and severally liable for this

obligation. Respondents may set forth each party’s allocable share in the

Allocation Agreement, but such agreement shall not be binding on the Bureau.

77. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with

the Bureau’s wiring instructions.

78. The civil money penalties paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12

U.S.C. § 5497(d).

79. Respondents must treat the civil money penalties paid under this Consent Order

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondents may not:
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this

Consent Order.

80. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that they are entitled to, nor may

they benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalties paid

in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants

such a Penalty Offset, Respondents must, within 30 days after entry of a final

order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the

Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an

additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money

penalty imposed in this action.

XII 

 Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

81. In the event of any default on Respondents’ obligations to make payments under

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of

payment, and will immediately become due and payable.
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82. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 

83. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, each Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its respective taxpayer identifying number, which may be 

used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising 

out of this Consent Order.  

84. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, any Respondent to the Consent Order that was party to 

the Related Consumer Action must notify the Enforcement Director of the final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate 

the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to 

consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XIII 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

85. Respondents to the Consent Order must notify the Bureau of any development 

that may affect their respective compliance obligations arising under this Consent 

Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or 

other action that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the 

creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts 

or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 
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insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in the Respondent’s 

name or address. The Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 

30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development.   

86. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

each Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

each Respondent’s respective Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XIV, unless previously submitted to the Bureau.  

XIV 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

87. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, each Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

88. For 5 years from the Effective Date, each Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XIII, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

2017-CFPB-0010     Document 1     Filed 02/01/2017     Page 30 of 36



31 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

89. Each Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures

comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this

Section.

XV 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

90. Each Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years

from the Effective Date, the following business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the

Bureau; and

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in

Section X above.

91. Each Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 90 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

92. Each Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 90 available

to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XVI 

Notices 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

93. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, each Respondent must

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating

to this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re UniRush LLC and

MasterCard International Incorporated, File No. 2017-CFPB-0010,” and send

them as described in subparagraphs (a) or (b). Each Respondent shall provide to

the other Respondent a copy of any notice such Respondent provides to the

Bureau and the Bureau shall provide a copy of a notice to a Respondent to the

other Respondent.

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov and any other email address as

directed in writing by the Bureau:

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement
1625 Eye Street, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20006

XVII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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94. Each Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section V.

Each Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and

testimony. Each Respondent must cause its officers, employees, representatives,

or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written notice,

or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate,

without the service of compulsory process.

XVIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents’ compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

95. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, each Respondent

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information,

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or

produce documents.

96. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with

Respondents, unless Respondents retain counsel related to these

communications.

97. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or

other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an interview. The

person interviewed may have counsel present.

98. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.
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99. For the duration of the Consent Order in whole or in part, Respondents agree to 

be subject to the Bureau’s supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent 

with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondents may not petition for termination of 

supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113.  

XIX 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

100. Any Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

101. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing.  

XX 

Administrative Provisions 

 
102. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 103. 

103. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 
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before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective 

Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future 

enforcement actions against Respondents and their affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and 

ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations 

of the Consent Order.  

104. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

105. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by any Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that any Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been 

filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, 

except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

106. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  
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107. Should any Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, that Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

108. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever 

Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that court's 

personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

109. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

110. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing the Respondents, their Boards, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 31Stay of 54.1(0,ry, 2017. 

Richard Cordray 
Director Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

36 
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CFPB Orders Mastercard and UniRush to Pay $13 Million for RushCard Breakdowns
That Cut Off Consumers' Access to Funds

Preventable Failures Left Tens of Thousands of Economically Vulnerable
Consumers Unable to Pay for Necessities

FEB 01, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took action against
Mastercard and UniRush for breakdowns that left tens of thousands of economically
vulnerable RushCard users unable to access their own money to pay for basic necessities. In
October 2015, a rash of preventable failures by Mastercard and UniRush meant that many
customers could not use their RushCard to get their paychecks and other direct deposits,
take out cash, make purchases, pay bills, or get accurate balance information. UniRush then
failed to provide customer service to many consumers who reached out for help during the
service breakdown. The CFPB has ordered Mastercard and UniRush to pay an estimated
$10 million in restitution to tens of thousands of harmed customers. The CFPB also fined
Mastercard and UniRush $3 million.

“Mastercard and UniRush’s failures cut off tens of thousands of vulnerable consumers from
their own money, and threw some into a personal financial crisis,” said CFPB Director
Richard Cordray. “The companies must set things right for consumers and make sure such
devastating service disruptions are not repeated.”

UniRush LLC is a Delaware corporation headquartered near Cincinnati, Ohio. It is the
program manager for RushCard, a reloadable prepaid debit card co-founded by
entrepreneur Russell Simmons, and oversees operations such as the cardholder website.
Mastercard International Inc. is a global financial services business incorporated in Delaware
and headquartered in Purchase, N.Y. One of its units, Mastercard Payment Transaction
Services, is the current payment processor for the RushCard.

RushCard is advertised as a way for consumers to get direct deposits on their card “up to
two days sooner.” These deposits include government benefits or payroll funds. In 2014,
UniRush picked Mastercard as its new payment processor. Mastercard and UniRush spent
13 months preparing to switch to Mastercard’s processing platform, which ultimately took
place Oct. 10-12, 2015. At the time of the switch, RushCard had about 650,000 active users,
of which about 270,000 received direct deposits on their RushCard.

Mastercard and UniRush’s actions before, during, and after the changeover harmed tens of
thousands of consumers. The CFPB received about 830 consumer complaints from
RushCard users in the weeks that followed the switch in payment processors. By
comparison, the CFPB received 147 complaints about prepaid cards from November 2014
to January 2015. As a result of its preventable failures, the CFPB found that Mastercard or
UniRush:

Denied consumers access to their own money: UniRush did not accurately transfer all
accounts to Mastercard. As a result, thousands of consumers could not access funds
stored on their cards for days, or in some circumstances, weeks. Because of
Mastercard’s actions, accounts of about 1,110 consumers were incorrectly suspended.
UniRush also delayed crediting cash deposits to consumers’ accounts and shut off
access to certain funds that consumers put aside for savings. UniRush did not issue a
working replacement card to consumers whose cards were lost or stolen during this
period. 

Botched the processing of deposits and payments: UniRush delayed processing direct
deposits for more than 45,000 consumers, and did not process or improperly returned
deposits of 2,000 others. As a result, consumers could not access their paychecks or
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government benefits. UniRush also erroneously double posted deposits and did not
promptly process electronic debit transactions, which falsely inflated those RushCard
holders’ account balances. As a result, thousands of consumers accidentally spent
more money than was loaded on their RushCard. With no advance notice to
consumers, UniRush used funds consumers subsequently loaded onto their RushCards
to offset negative balances caused by its processing errors.

Gave consumers inaccurate account information: Mastercard did not make sure it was
sending accurate information about consumers’ account balances to UniRush when it
declined to authorize certain transactions. As a result, some consumers received
incorrect information telling them their account balances were zero, when the
consumers actually had funds stored on their cards.

Failed to provide customer service to consumers impacted by the breakdowns:
UniRush did not have an adequate plan to step up its customer service response to
meet the increased demand caused by service disruptions. Even after hiring additional
personnel, UniRush failed to train customer service agents in time to meet the surge in
demand. As a result, some consumers who called customer service waited on hold for
hours and could not obtain critical information about the status of their funds and
accounts.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB is
authorized to take action against institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts
or practices, or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. The lack of
preparation and testing by Mastercard and UniRush, as well as multiple preventable failures,
adversely impacted consumers, including by denying them access to their own money.
Under the terms of the consent orders, Mastercard and UniRush must:

Pay an estimated $10 million in restitution to tens of thousands of harmed consumers:
Mastercard and UniRush must pay an estimated $10 million in restitution to tens of
thousands of customers who could not access their funds or who suffered other
problems created or worsened by the failures and subsequent actions. Under the terms
of the Bureau’s order, the amount each consumer will receive depends on the particular
failure the consumer experienced. UniRush will send funds to affected consumers. 

Draw up a plan to prevent future problems: Mastercard and UniRush must devise a
plan to prevent future service disruptions. The CFPB will monitor the companies for
compliance as they implement the plan. 

 Pay a $3 million civil penalty: Mastercard and UniRush must pay a civil money penalty
of $3 million to the CFPB Civil Penalty Fund. 

The consent order against Mastercard and UniRush is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201702_cfpb_UniRush-Mastercard-
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0010 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

In the matter of: 

UniRush LLC and Mastercard 
International Incorporated 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Mastercard International Incorporated 

(Respondent), under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its activities related to the 

conversion of the RushCard prepaid card program onto the payment processing 

platform of the Mastercard Payment Transaction Services division of Mastercard 

International Incorporated (MPTS) in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010's (CFPA) prohibition on unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

Respondent, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter, and 

without admitting or denying any wrongdoing, consents to the issuance of a Consent 

Order substantially in the form of the one to which this Stipulation and Consent to the 

Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), and which is incorporated by 

reference. 
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In consideration of the above premises, Respondent agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Consent 

2. Respondent agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Respondent agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with 

the consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees 

that the Consent Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance; and 

will be fully enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Respondent voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Respondent's potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices' 

described in Section V of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective 

Date. Respondent acknowledges that no promise or representation has been 

made by the Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, 

about any liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from 

the facts underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 
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6. Respondent agrees that the facts described in Section V of the Consent Order will 

be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, in 

any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its 

rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order, such as a 

non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Respondent agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Respondent, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to the Respondent of its terms and 

conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without 

limitation, under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings 

of fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended 

decision by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other 

procedural right available under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5563, or 12 CFR Part 1081; 
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d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent 

Order; 

e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its . 

agents or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any 

way to this enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising 

under common law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not 

limited to the Equal Access to Justice Act and the Small Business 

Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, 

Respondent agrees that Respondent is not the prevailing party in this 

action because the parties have reached a good faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may 

be construed to prevent any Bureau employee fromparticipating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding 

of fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this 

Stipulation or the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of 

the proceeding. • 
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Mastercard International Incorporated BY: 

Timothy Murphy Date 

General Counsel and Chief Franchise Officer, Mastercard International Incorporated 



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
and the People of the State of New York, 
by Eric T. Schneiderman, Attorney 
General for the State of New York, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 

v.  

RD Legal Funding, LLC, RD Legal 
Finance, LLC, RD Legal Funding 
Partners, LP, and Roni Dersovitz, 

 
 
 
Case No.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

    
   Defendants.  
 

 
COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) and the People 

of the State of New York (“State of New York”), allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendants are in the business of, among other things, offering to advance 

funds to consumers who are entitled to receive compensation under a settlement fund 

or judgment. 

2. Consumers who received advances from Defendants include police 

officers, firefighters, paramedics, and other first responders to the World Trade Center 

attack on September 11, 2001 and former National Football League (“NFL”) players 

suffering from brain injuries.  

3. These consumers, and others, are recipients of funds resulting from 

lawsuits or victim-compensation funds, such as the Zadroga Fund, established by the 
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James Zadroga 9/11 Health and Compensation Act of 2010, which allocated billions of 

dollars to assist first responders with mounting medical costs and lost income.  

4. Not all the money from these sources was immediately available to eligible 

consumers, even after their claims had been approved and they had been notified of the 

amounts of their awards.  

5. While consumers await payment of their awards, RD Legal Funding, LLC, 

RD Legal Finance, LLC, and RD Legal Funding Partners, LP (collectively, “RD”), under 

the direction of Roni Dersovitz (“Dersovitz”), swoop in with a “deal”—RD provides the 

consumers an up-front payment, which the consumers repay when they receive their 

awards. The total amount consumers must repay RD is considerably larger than the 

upfront sums given to them by RD, often by a multiple of two or more. 

6. Although RD mischaracterizes these transactions as “assignments,” they 

are in fact offers to extend credit or extensions of credit for purposes of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010. As a result of RD’s mischaracterizations, consumers 

are unable to compare the cost of RD’s products to alternatives. In addition to falsely 

marketing these transactions as “assignments,” RD falsely claims that it can expedite 

funding and “cut through red tape;” misrepresents when consumers will receive funds; 

and collects on contracts that are void under state laws or, in the alternative, that 

function as loans with interest rates that exceed state-law usury limits and on which no 

payment is due. RD’s misconduct thus costs consumers millions of dollars. 

7.  Under New York law, RD’s transactions are loans at usurious interest 

rates and thus void. To the extent the transactions are deemed assignments, they are 
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also void because, under New York law, they contravene public policy, constitute an 

unlawful sale or assignment of a personal injury claim, or both. 

8. The Bureau and the State of New York bring this action against Roni 

Dersovitz, RD Legal Funding, LLC, RD Legal Finance, LLC, and RD Legal Funding 

Partners, LP (collectively, “Defendants”) under § 1054 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 5564. The State of New York also brings 

this action under New York Executive Law § 63(12) and General Business Law (“GBL”) 

Article 22-A, §§ 349 and 350. RD engaged in deceptive and abusive acts and practices in 

connection with its offering or providing extensions of credit to consumers who have 

been awarded payouts from sources such as a statutory compensation fund or a 

settlement fund, but were awaiting payment from the claims administrator. See 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a). Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial 

assistance to RD in its deceptive and abusive acts and practices, in violation of the 

CFPA. See 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). Dersovitz directed and controlled RD’s operations and 

participated in its deceptive and unlawful practices. Dersovitz, therefore, is also liable 

for the state-law violations alleged herein. See N.Y. Exec. Law § 63(12); N.Y. Gen. Bus. 

Law §§ 349, 350. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because the 

action is brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 
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10. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the State of New York’s 

state-law claims because they are so related to the federal claims that they form part of 

the same case or controversy. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because the causes of 

action arise from Defendants’ conduct of business in this district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

12. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial amount of the 

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct at issue occurred within this district 

and Defendants conducted business in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)–(c); 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

13.  The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and provision of consumer-financial products and services under federal 

consumer-financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent litigating 

authority. See 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)–(b). 

14. The State of New York, by its Attorney General (“NYAG”), is authorized to 

take action to enjoin (i) repeated and persistent fraudulent and illegal conduct under 

N.Y. Executive Law § 63(12), (ii) deceptive business practices under N.Y. GBL § 349, and 

(iii) false advertising under N.Y. GBL § 350. The NYAG also is authorized to initiate civil 

actions in federal district court to enforce provisions of the CFPA. See 12 U.S.C.                 

§ 5552(a)(1). 

15. RD Legal Funding, LLC is a limited-liability company. Its principal place 

of business is at 45 Legion Drive, Cresskill, NJ 07626.  
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16. RD Legal Finance, LLC is a limited-liability company. Its principal place of 

business is at 45 Legion Drive, Cresskill, NJ 07626. 

17. RD Legal Funding Partners, LP is a limited partnership. Its principal place 

of business is at 45 Legion Drive, Cresskill, NJ 07626. 

18. Roni Dersovitz is the founder and owner of RD Legal Funding, LLC, RD 

Legal Finance, LLC, and RD Legal Funding Partners, LP. Dersovitz has substantial 

control over and involvement in the establishment of RD’s business policies and 

practices. In connection with the matters alleged, Roni Dersovitz transacted business in 

this district. 

19. As described below, RD offers consumers extensions of credit that purport 

to be assignments. But RD knows or recklessly disregards that these assignments are 

invalid and that these transactions, in reality, function as offers or extensions of credit. 

These transactions were therefore consumer-financial products or services under § 1002 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 5481(7), 5481(15)(A)(i). RD is therefore a “covered 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A).  

FACTS 

A. Background 

20. RD has marketed products consisting of cash advances to consumers who 

have been approved to receive compensation for injuries from, among other sources, the 

Zadroga Fund and the class-action lawsuit by retired NFL players. RD offers or provides 

extensions of credit to consumers entitled to awards from these sources. After the fund 

or settlement has received final approval and the consumer has received notice of the 
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amount of a forthcoming payment, RD enters into an agreement with the consumer that 

purports to take a security interest in the consumer’s award. 

21. Many consumers who are offered or extended credit by RD have severe 

injuries. 

22. Many consumers who have been approved for awards from the Zadroga 

Fund suffer from respiratory illnesses and cancers related to their exposure to dust and 

debris at the World Trade Center site. Many also report diagnoses of post-traumatic 

stress disorder, depression, anxiety disorder, and memory loss. 

23. Consumers who were plaintiffs in the NFL class-action lawsuit are former 

players who have been diagnosed with neurodegenerative diseases such as chronic 

traumatic encephalopathy (“CTE”), Alzheimer’s, or Parkinson’s disease. A settlement 

fund was approved by a court in 2015. 

24. Typically, RD enters into agreements with consumers to pay them a lump 

sum representing a fraction of the consumers’ awards, thereby ensuring that sufficient 

funds will be available to pay RD when the consumers receive their awards. In exchange, 

the consumers agree to repay a far larger amount than the amount advanced.  

25. For example, one consumer was awarded $65,000 from the Zadroga 

Fund. While she waited for her full payment from the Fund, RD advanced her $18,590. 

When her award payment from the Fund arrived six months later, she repaid $33,800 

to RD.  

26. Consumers are obligated, under RD’s contracts, to first pay RD any 

amounts received from the claims administrator until the amounts owed under RD’s 

contracts are satisfied. If the amounts owed under RD’s contracts are fully satisfied and 
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there is a balance remaining from the award payment, consumers are then entitled to 

keep the balance. 

27. Dersovitz has authority and responsibility to dictate all the terms of 

consumer contracts. Specifically, Dersovitz makes decisions on the terms of the offers or 

extensions of credit.  

28. RD does not disclose the costs of the transactions in a manner that allows 

consumers to reasonably compare the cost of RD’s product to the cost of similar 

products.  

29. Given the often short time from the advance of the funds to the payment of 

awards, RD’s transactions cost consumers amounts that are equivalent in some cases to 

rates over 250%.  

30. After they receive their award payments, consumers repay RD directly.  

31. RD’s contracts contain one of two types of repayment terms: (i) repayment 

of a lump sum that remains the same regardless of when the consumer receives her 

award and repays the amount advanced, or (ii) repayment of a lump sum that increases 

over time. With the latter option, the amount the consumer repays depends on when the 

consumer receives her award.  

32. The cost on a transaction under the first option may be particularly high 

for the consumer who receives proceeds shortly after signing an agreement with RD. For 

example, a severely disabled 9/11 first responder received his compensation-fund check 

three months after he borrowed $35,000 from RD; under the agreement, the first 

responder was required to repay $63,636. The additional payment of $28,636 to RD for 

the $35,000 advance over that brief period is equivalent to a rate over 250%.  
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33. The second repayment option involves a complicated rebate scheme, and 

is known as the “rebate” option. Under this option, the repayment amount increases 

each month by an amount determined by a pre-set, typically undisclosed rate. 

Moreover, RD does not clearly disclose the final repayment amount. A consumer must 

determine the final repayment amount on her own by subtracting the “rebate” amount, 

which changes each month and is set forth at the end of the contract, from the 

“property” amount normally listed at the beginning of the contract.  

B. RD knows or recklessly disregards that its purported “assignments” 
are invalid. 
 
34. RD knows or recklessly disregards that the purported assignments are 

prohibited and that it is impossible to structure the transactions as assignments. 

35. For example, the NFL settlement agreement approved by a court in the 

Eastern District of Pennsylvania and affirmed by the Third Circuit provides that an 

assignment or attempted assignment of a class member’s rights “will be void, invalid, of 

no force and effect and the Claims Administrator shall not recognize any such action.” 

Class Action Settlement Agreement, As Amended, § 30.1, Turner v. Nat’l Football 

League, No. 2:12-md-2323-AB, ECF No. 6481-1 (E.D. Pa. filed Feb. 13, 2015). 

36. Similarly, the statute creating the Zadroga Fund provides that “the Special 

Master shall authorize payment to [a] claimant of the amount determined with respect 

to the claimant,” and defines “claimant” as “an individual filing a claim for 

compensation under [the statute].” 49 U.S.C. § 40101, note. And the Zadroga Fund’s 

policies prohibit RD from receiving payment directly from the Fund. 

37. RD even addresses the likelihood that the assignments would be 

invalidated, providing in its contracts that if the assignment is invalid, it may, for 
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example, demand repayment “plus interest calculated at 19.562 percent per annum, or 

the maximum rate permitted by law.” RD also reserves the right to file a UCC financing 

statement if the agreement is characterized as a loan 

38. Despite its knowledge or reckless disregard that assignments are 

prohibited, RD falsely represents to consumers that its products are not an offer of 

credit but rather assignments of the consumers’ interests in their anticipated payments. 

39. For example, on its website, RD asserts that its “plaintiff funding is not a 

loan.”  

40. RD labels its contracts as “assignment and sale agreements.” Most of RD’s 

contracts with consumers do not disclose an interest rate for the transaction.  

41. Some of these contracts indicate explicitly that there is no “annual 

percentage fee” to disclose because “the transaction is a purchase and not a loan.” Some 

of RD’s contracts contain a disclosure section with a subsection labeled “annual 

percentage fee,” but that subsection is typically blank or labeled “Not Applicable.” 

42. Nor does RD otherwise disclose interest rates for its transactions to 

consumers. RD claims in communications with consumers that there is no applicable 

interest rate for its transactions. 

43. Because RD knows or recklessly disregards that the purported 

assignments are invalid, it functionally offers or provides a credit transaction in which 

consumers incur a debt and defer the right to repay. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(7). 

C. RD falsely claims to expedite funding and “cut through red tape.”  

44. RD advertises to consumers that it will work to expedite the process of 

obtaining the consumers’ award payments or settlement proceeds.  
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45. For example, on its webpage specifically devoted to the Zadroga Fund, RD 

tells 9/11 first responders that it is “dedicated to helping you obtain your Zadroga 

settlement funds as quickly as possible.” The page goes on to state that “[w]e pride 

ourselves on working closely with our clients and look forward to assisting those with 

Zadroga claims in obtaining accelerated access to their second payment.” Both RD and 

Dersovitz tell 9/11 first responders that they will “cut through the red tape on your 

behalf and provide you immediate access to your funds.” 

46. Dersovitz approves the contents of RD’s website. 

47. In reality, RD does not act—nor does RD have any ability to act—on behalf 

of consumers to influence the Zadroga Fund or its award-distribution timeline.  

48. By the time consumers enter into an agreement with RD, they have 

already completed the application process and received an award-notification letter 

from the Zadroga Fund. In fact, RD requires that these administrative steps be 

completed to qualify for an advance from RD. RD does not assist consumers in 

completing these steps, nor does it take or have the ability to take any additional steps to 

obtain payments from the Zadroga Fund more quickly than they would otherwise be 

made. 

D. RD misrepresents when consumers will receive funds. 

49. On its website, RD promises that consumers will receive funds “within 

several days” after RD receives the necessary documentation to complete the consumers’ 

transactions. In RD’s communications with consumers who submitted applications for 

the product, RD routinely told consumers that it would wire funds by a specific date. 
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50. In many instances, however, RD did not deliver the funds to the consumer 

by the promised date. Some consumers did not receive funds from RD until months 

after they were promised.  

51. Dersovitz has authority and responsibility to solicit funds from investors 

and determine when funds for consumers would arrive.  

E. RD collects where no payment is due. 

52. As set forth above, RD’s contracts include purported assignments that are 

void, unenforceable, and uncollectible. RD nonetheless collects on these contracts.  

53. In the alternative, RD’s contracts function as loans under state law. These 

loans have interest rates exceeding limits imposed by state usury laws. For example, 

under New York law, loans made to New York consumers are void, and thus no payment 

is due, if the interest rate exceeds 16%. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law §§ 5-501, 5-511. RD 

nonetheless collects on these loans. 

54. Dersovitz has authority and responsibility to determine whether RD 

should collect. Dersovitz himself made phone calls to at least one New York consumer to 

collect from that consumer.  

F. Facts Specific to Claims Asserted Only by the State of New York 

In support of the state-law claims asserted in Counts VI through XI, the State of 

New York further alleges as follows:  

55. Although RD characterizes its contracts as “sales and assignments,” the 

transactions are loans under New York law.  

56. Under New York law, an agreement constitutes a loan if, at the time the 

agreement is signed, it is virtually certain that there will be sufficient funds to repay the 
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amount advanced. Here it was virtually certain at the time that the agreements were 

signed that the federal government would have sufficient funds available to the pay the 

full amounts awarded by the Zadroga Fund to consumers, let alone the substantially 

lower amounts purportedly assigned or sold to RD. 

57. On many of their loans in New York, RD collected an effective interest rate 

ranging from 18% to over 250%. 

58. These interest rates exceed New York’s civil usury cap of 16% and criminal 

usury cap of 25%.  

59. Loans made to New York consumers in excess of New York’s usury laws 

are void, and thus no payment is due. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law §§ 5-501, 5-511. RD 

nonetheless collects on these loans. 

60. To the extent RD purported to structure these transactions as 

assignments, they violate New York’s prohibition on assignments of personal-injury 

claims and contravene public policy. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law §§ 13-101. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I—Deception under the CFPA 
Asserted by the Bureau and the State of New York 

61. The allegations in paragraphs 1-54 are incorporated by reference. 

62. Under the CFPA, an act or practice is deceptive if (i) there is a 

representation or omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances; and (ii) that information is material to consumers. 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

63. RD routinely misrepresents that it is entering into contracts with 

consumers for valid and enforceable assignments. 
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64. In fact, the assignments in RD’s contracts are not valid and enforceable, 

which RD knew or recklessly disregarded. 

65. RD’s misrepresentations are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

66. RD’s misrepresentations are material because they would influence the 

decisions of a consumer acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

67. RD therefore engaged in deceptive acts in connection with an offer or 

extension of credit in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

68. Dersovitz has significant responsibility for establishing RD’s policies and 

practices, and he has substantial control over RD’s operations. 

69. Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to RD, a 

covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count II—Abusiveness under the CFPA 
Asserted by the Bureau and the State of New York 

70. The allegations in paragraphs 1-54 are incorporated by reference. 

71. Under the CFPA, an act or practice is abusive if it (i) “materially interferes 

with the ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial 

product or service,” (ii) “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . a lack of understanding on 

the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the product or 

service,” or (iii) “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . the inability of the consumer to 

protect the interests of the consumer in selecting or using a consumer financial product 

or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d). 
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72. RD misrepresents that its contracts are for valid and enforceable 

assignments.  

73. Through this conduct, RD undermines consumers’ understanding of the 

offer of credit, and in particular prevents consumers from understanding the terms, 

costs, and conditions of RD’s offer of credit. RD’s conduct also prevents consumers from 

meaningfully evaluating the cost of RD’s offer of credit, from comparing the cost of the 

offer of credit to other alternatives that may be available to the consumers, and from 

determining whether RD’s offers of credit are in their interest. Because consumers are 

misled concerning the validity of significant terms of the transactions and the nature of 

the transactions, they are not able to protect their interests in entering into them. 

74. RD therefore materially interferes with consumers’ ability to understand 

terms and costs of RD’s offers of credit, takes unreasonable advantage of consumers’ 

lack of understanding of material costs or conditions of RD’s offers of credit, and takes 

unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability to protect their interests in the 

transactions. 

75. RD therefore engaged in abusive acts in connection with an offer or 

extension of credit in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(1), (2)(B); 12 U.S.C.         

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

76. Dersovitz has significant responsibility for establishing RD’s policies and 

practices, and he has substantial control over RD’s operations. 

77. Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to RD, a 

covered person engaged in abusive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(3). 
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Count III—Deception under the CFPA 
Asserted by the Bureau and the State of New York 

78. The allegations in paragraphs 1-54 are incorporated by reference. 

79. RD claims to provide a service that speeds up the disbursement of a 

consumer’s award and “cuts through red tape.” In fact, it does no such thing.  

80.  A reasonable consumer would likely be misled by RD’s false statement; 

consumers cannot be expected to know the internal administrative procedures of, for 

example, a victim-compensation fund administered by the United States government 

and to independently evaluate whether RD is, in fact, able to accelerate fund 

disbursement.  

81. RD’s claims regarding accelerating disbursement are material to 

consumers, especially, for example, consumers who are severely disabled and may have 

large medical costs.  

82. RD therefore engaged in deceptive acts in connection with an offer or 

extension of credit in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

83. Dersovitz has significant responsibility for establishing RD’s policies and 

practices, and he has substantial control over RD’s operations. 

84. Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to RD, a 

covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count IV—Deception under the CFPA 
Asserted by the Bureau and the State of New York 

85. The allegations in paragraphs 1-54 are incorporated by reference. 
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86. RD misrepresents to consumers when they would receive funds from RD, 

often promising consumers an earlier date of disbursement than the actual 

disbursement. In fact, on multiple occasions, RD did not deliver funds to consumers by 

the promised date. Many consumers experienced funding delays, some as long as 

several months. 

87. Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances would likely rely on 

RD’s representations regarding the date of funding and would likely be misled by RD’s 

false statements.  

88. RD’s misrepresentations are material because they go to the heart of 

consumers’ decisions about whether to use the credit product RD offers. Indeed, 

consumers considering transactions with RD almost by definition are those who find 

themselves with more immediate needs for cash than can be met by the payouts they are 

eventually due. When the lump sums RD offers will arrive plainly is material to these 

consumers’ decisions.  

89. RD therefore engaged in deceptive acts in connection with an offer or 

extension of credit in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

90. Dersovitz has significant responsibility for establishing RD’s policies and 

practices, and he has substantial control over RD’s operations. 

91. Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to RD, a 

covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count V—Deception under the CFPA 
Asserted by the Bureau and the State of New York 

92. The allegations in paragraphs 1-54 are incorporated by reference. 
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93. RD collects on contracts that are void under state laws or, in the 

alternative, that function as loans with interest rates that exceed usury limits under state 

laws, and on which no payment is due. 

94. Collecting on contracts that are void under state laws creates the false 

impression that the contracts are enforceable and that borrowers are obligated to repay. 

This false impression is material, and reasonable consumers would not have known that 

the contracts are void. 

95. In the alternative, collecting on loans in amounts that exceed applicable 

state usury limits, and on which no payment is due, creates the false impression that the 

borrowers are obligated to repay usurious rates. This false impression is material, and 

reasonable consumers would not have known that the any repayment obligation was 

void. 

96. RD therefore engaged in deceptive acts in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

97. Dersovitz has significant responsibility for establishing RD’s policies and 

practices, and he has substantial control over RD’s operations. 

98. Dersovitz knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to RD, a 

covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count VI—Violation of New York Civil Usury Laws 
Asserted by the State of New York 

99. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

Case 1:17-cv-00890   Document 1   Filed 02/07/17   Page 17 of 23



18 

 

100. New York Executive Law § 63(12) authorizes the NYAG to seek injunctive 

and other equitable relief and damages whenever an individual or entity engages in 

repeated or persistent illegal conduct. 

101. New York General Obligations Law § 5-501 makes it unlawful to collect 

interest on loans or forbearances that exceed the rate set forth in New York Banking Law 

§ 14-a. 

102. New York Banking Law § 14-a provides that the maximum interest for 

loans or forbearances in an amount less than $250,000 is 16%.  

103. Contracts that charge more than the maximum usury rate under New York 

General Obligations Law § 5-501 and Banking Law § 14-a are void. See N.Y. Gen. Oblig. 

Law § 5-511. 

104. In the course of making loans in New York and to New York consumers, 

Defendants repeatedly charged and collected interest far in excess of 16%, in violation of 

New York’s civil usury laws. See N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-501; Banking Law § 14-a. 

105. Defendants have therefore engaged in repeated and persistent illegal 

conduct in violation of New York Executive Law § 63(12). 

Count VII—Violation of New York Criminal Usury Laws 
Asserted by the State of New York 

 
106. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

107. New York Executive Law § 63(12) authorizes the NYAG to seek injunctive 

and other equitable relief and damages whenever an individual or entity engages in 

repeated or persistent illegal conduct. 

108. Pursuant to New York Penal Law §§ 190.40 and 190.42, it is illegal to 

knowingly charge, take, or receive any money or other property as interest on a loan or 
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forbearance at a rate exceeding 25% per annum. Contracts that exceed the criminal 

usury cap are void under New York General Obligations Law § 5-511. 

109. In the course of making loans in New York and to New York consumers, 

Defendants repeatedly charged and received interest far in excess of New York’s 

criminal usury laws. See N.Y. Penal Law §§ 190.40 and 190.42. 

110. Defendants have therefore engaged in repeated and persistent illegal 

conduct in violation of New York Executive Law § 63(12). 

Count VIII—Violation of New York General Obligations Law § 13-101 
Asserted by the State of New York 

 
111. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

112. New York Executive Law § 63(12) authorizes the NYAG to seek injunctive 

and other equitable relief and damages whenever an individual or entity engages in 

repeated or persistent illegal conduct. 

113. Pursuant to New York General Obligations Law § 13-101, it is unlawful to 

sell or assign claims or demands to recover for personal injuries. 

114. Assignments that contravene public policy are also unlawful. N.Y. Gen. 

Oblig. Law § 13-101(3). 

115. To the extent that the transactions at issue are deemed assignments, they 

constitute an unlawful assignment of individual claims to recover for personal injuries 

under New York General Obligations Law § 13-101. 

116. Such assignments also violate public policy by allowing Defendants to 

profit from funds intended to compensate victims of 9/11 and football injuries. 

117. By entering into such assignments, Defendants repeatedly violated New 

York General Obligations Law § 13-101. 
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118. Defendants have therefore engaged in repeated and persistent illegal 

conduct in violation of New York Executive Law § 63(12). 

Count IX—Violation of New York GBL § 349 
Asserted by the State of New York 

119. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

120. GBL § 349 authorizes the NYAG to bring an action for an injunction, 

restitution and civil penalties when any individual has engaged or is about to engage in 

deceptive practices in the State of New York. 

121. Defendants have engaged in deceptive acts and practices by conduct 

including but not limited to: i) misrepresenting that their products are a sale or 

assignment; ii) misrepresenting that individuals can assign their awards for personal 

injuries to Defendants; iii) failing to disclose the interest rate being charged; iv) 

misrepresenting that the agreements are enforceable when in fact they are void under 

New York law; and v) misrepresenting their ability to expedite the payment of awards 

and the date of disbursement of funds.  

122. Defendants have therefore engaged in deceptive acts and practices in 

violation of GBL § 349.  

Count X—Violation of New York GBL § 350  
Asserted by the State of New York 

 
123. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

124. GBL § 350 prohibits false advertising in the State of New York, and GBL § 

350-d authorizes the NYAG to obtain civil penalties for each false advertisement. 
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125. Defendants have engaged in false advertising by falsely advertising their 

agreements as a sale and not a loan and by falsely advertising their ability to expedite 

the payment of the awards. 

126. Defendants have therefore engaged in false advertising in violation of GBL 

§ 350. 

Count XI—New York Executive Law § 63(12) Fraud 
Asserted by the State of New York 

 
127. The allegations in paragraphs 1-60 are incorporated by reference. 

128. New York Executive Law § 63(12) authorizes the NYAG to seek injunctive 

and other equitable relief and damages whenever an individual or entity engages in 

repeated or persistent fraudulent conduct. 

129. Defendants have engaged in repeated and persistent fraudulent conduct 

including but not limited to: i) misrepresenting that their products are a sale or 

assignment; ii) misrepresenting that individuals can assign their awards for personal 

injuries to Defendants; iii) failing to disclose the interest rate being charged; iv) 

misrepresenting that the agreements are enforceable when in fact they are void under 

New York law; and v) misrepresenting their ability to expedite the payment of awards 

and the date of disbursement of funds. 

130. Defendants have therefore engaged in repeated and persistent fraud in 

violation of New York State’s Executive Law § 63(12). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs request that the Court: 

a. enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA and 

New York law;  
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b. declare null and void contracts that violate New York law; 

c. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants; 

d. order Defendants to pay redress to consumers; 

e. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues by Defendants; 

f. impose civil money penalties on Defendants under the CFPA; 

g. impose civil money penalties of $5,000 for each violation of Article 22-A 

pursuant to GBL § 350-d; 

h. order Defendants to pay the costs incurred in connection with prosecuting 

this action; and 

i. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
JOHN C. WELLS 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
s/Benjamin Z. Konop 
BENJAMIN Z. KONOP (OH 0073458) 
HAI BINH T. NGUYEN (CA 313503) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
Telephone (Konop): 202-435-7265 
Telephone (Nguyen): 202-435-7251 
Facsimile: 202-435-7722 
E-mail: Benjamin.konop@cfpb.gov 
E-mail: Haibinh.nguyen@cfpb.gov 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ERIC T. SCHNEIDERMAN 
Attorney General of the State of New York 
 
JANE M. AZIA (NY 1539600) 
Bureau Chief, Consumer Frauds and Protection 
Bureau 
MELVIN L. GOLDBERG (NY 1828284) 
Assistant Attorney General 
120 Broadway 
New York, N.Y. 10271 
Telephone (Azia): 212-416-8727 
Telephone (Goldberg): 212-416-8296 
Facsimile: 212-416-6003 
E-mail: Jane.Azia@ag.ny.gov 
E-mail: Melvin.Goldberg@ag.ny.gov 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
State of New York 
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CFPB and New York Attorney General Sue RD Legal for Scamming 9/11 Heroes Out
of Millions of Dollars in Compensation Funds

CFPB and NY Also Accuse Company of Deceiving National Football League
Concussion Victims

FEB 07, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) and the
New York Attorney General filed a lawsuit against RD Legal Funding, LLC, two related
entities, and Roni Dersovitz, the companies’ founder and owner, for allegedly scamming
9/11 heroes out of money intended to cover medical costs, lost income, and other critical
needs. RD Legal also allegedly conned National Football League (NFL) concussion victims.
The CFPB and New York Attorney General allege that the illegal scheme deceived 9/11 first
responders with cancer and other illnesses and football players with brain injuries out of
millions of dollars by luring them into costly advances on settlement payouts with lies about
the terms of the deals. In the suit filed in federal court, the CFPB and the New York Attorney
General seek to put an end to the company’s illegal practices, obtain relief for the victims,
and impose penalties.

“It is unconscionable that RD Legal scammed 9/11 heroes and NFL concussion victims out
of millions of dollars,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We allege that this company
and its owner lined their pockets with funds intended to cover medical care and other
critical expenses for people who are sick and sidelined. Our lawsuit seeks to end this illegal
scheme and get money back to those entitled to receive it.”

“The alleged actions by RD Legal – scamming 9/11 heroes and former NFL players
struggling with severe injuries—are simply shameful. RD Legal used deceptive tactics to
charge unlawfully high interest rates for advances on settlement and compensation funds,
allowing them to profit off the backs of these unsuspecting individuals,” said New York
Attorney General Eric Schneiderman. “My office will do all it can to end the fraudulent
practices employed by RD Legal, recoup the illegal amounts charged by this company – and
make these victims whole again.”

RD Legal, based in Cresskill, N.J., is a company that offers advances to consumers entitled
to payouts from victim compensation funds or lawsuit settlements. The company targeted
fund awardees including police, firefighters, paramedics, and others who were first
responders to the World Trade Center attack on September 11, 2001. Many of these first
responders suffer from cancers and other respiratory illnesses related to their exposure to
dust and debris at the attack site, post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and memory
loss. They were awarded money from the Zadroga Fund, established by Congress to assist
with needs including mounting medical costs and lost income because of their inability to
work. RD Legal also targeted former NFL players who have been diagnosed with
neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer’s and Parkinson’s disease and were entitled
to payments from the settlement in a class action lawsuit.

The CFPB and the New York Attorney General allege that RD Legal contacted these
consumers after they were awarded their money but before they received most of it. RD
Legal then swooped in with a “deal,” offering the victims an upfront payment of some of the
money they had not yet received which would be paid back when they received the
balance of the payout. Through confusing contracts, RD Legal misrepresented to
consumers their obligation to repay these expensive transactions, often collecting from the
consumer more than twice what RD Legal had advanced months earlier. Today’s lawsuit
alleges that RD Legal’s illegal actions cost victims, many of whom suffered long-term
physical or cognitive harm, millions of dollars.

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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The CFPB and the New York Attorney General allege that the defendants violated several
laws, including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s
prohibition on deceptive and abusive acts and practices. Specifically, the CFPB and New
York Attorney General allege that RD Legal:

Lured consumers into costly payouts by lying about the terms of the deal: Through
convoluted contracts, RD Legal misrepresented to consumers what they were being
offered. These misrepresentations deceived consumers, interfered with their
understanding of the terms, costs, and conditions of the transactions, and prevented
them from meaningfully evaluating what was being offered. The products were
expensive. For example, one consumer was awarded $65,000 from the Zadroga Fund.
While she waited for her payment from the fund, RD advanced her $18,000. When her
award payment from the fund arrived six months later, she had to repay $33,000 to RD
Legal – so she paid $15,000 to RD above and beyond the money RD Legal advanced to
her.

Lied about speeding up the processing of consumers’ claims: RD Legal lied to
consumers by claiming that it could “cut through red tape” to obtain their anticipated
payments from claims administrators faster than would otherwise be possible. In fact,
RD Legal had no authority or ability to change when victim compensation or settlement
payouts occurred.

Deceived consumers about when they would receive the money from RD Legal: RD
Legal misrepresented to consumers when they would receive money from the
company. On its website, the company promised that consumers would receive the
money within several days of entering into the contract, but some consumers did not
receive money until months after it was promised.

Illegally collected money from consumers: When consumers received their payouts
from their actual settlement funds, RD Legal attempted to recover its money from the
victims. But the complaint alleges that the costly transactions are not valid and
enforceable or they are void under New York law because they violated the state
interest rate cap. As a result, no payment is due and RD Legal had no right to collect.

The New York Attorney General also alleges additional violations of New York state law in
the complaint.

Named in today’s lawsuit are RD Legal Funding LLC, RD Legal Finance LLC, RD Legal
Funding Partners LP, and Roni Dersovitz. The lawsuit alleges that Dersovitz is the founder
and owner of all the entities, and that he substantially assisted RD Legal’s violations.
Through the lawsuit, the CFPB and the New York Attorney General are seeking to put an
end to the company’s illegal practices, obtain relief for the victims, and impose penalties.

The complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually violated the law.

The CFPB and New York Attorney General’s complaint can be found at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Topics:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201702_cfpb_RD-Legal-complaint.pdf 

CONSUMER FINANCE•

ENFORCEMENT•

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201702_cfpb_RD-Legal-complaint.pdf
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_topics=consumer-finance
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_topics=enforcement


4/26/2017 CFPB and New York Attorney General Sue RD Legal for Scamming 9/11 Heroes Out of Millions of Dollars in Compensation Funds | Consumer Financial…

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-and-new-york-attorney-general-sue-rd-legal-scamming-911-heroes-out-millions-dollars-compensa… 3/3

PRESS INFORMATION

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the
press office.

STAY INFORMED

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates.

Email address (required)

example@mail.com

The information you provide will permit the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to process your request or inquiry. See more.

Sign up

Subscribe to our RSS feed to get the latest content in your reader.

  Subscribe to RSS

FOIA

Plain Writing

Privacy

Website Privacy Policy & Legal Notices

Open Government

Accessibility

Office of Civil Rights

No FEAR Act Data

Tribal

Go to press resources page

Contact Us

Newsroom

Careers

CFPB Ombudsman

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/email-sign-privacy-act-statement/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/feed/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/foia-requests/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/plain-writing/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/privacy/website-privacy-policy/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/open-government/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/accessibility/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/office-civil-rights/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/office-civil-rights/no-fear-act/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/tribal/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/press-resources/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/contact-us/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/careers/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/cfpb-ombudsman/


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0012

In the Matter of:  CONSENT ORDER 

Experian Holdings, Inc., Experian 
Information Solutions, Inc., and 
ConsumerInfo.com, Inc., dba 
Experian Consumer Services 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the marketing 

practices of Experian Holdings, Inc., Experian Information Solutions, Inc. (EIS), and 

ConsumerInfo.com, Inc., dba Experian Consumer Services (ECS), (collectively, Experian 

or Respondents, as defined below) and has identified the following law violations: (1) 

Experian deceptively marketed credit scores to consumers by misrepresenting that the 

credit scores it offered and provided to consumers were the same credit scores lenders 

use to determine creditworthiness, in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; and (2) Experian placed advertisements for 

its products on web pages that consumers accessed through AnnualCreditReport.com 

before they obtained their free annual file disclosures, in violation of the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x, as implemented by Regulation V, 12 

C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563,

5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

 The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 1.

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s. 

II 

Stipulation 

Respondents have executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a2.

Consent Order,” dated March 21, 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents

admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents

and the subject matter of this action.

III 

Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:3.

a. “Board” means the duly-elected and acting Boards of Directors of the

Respondents.

b. “Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting” means the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial

Protection Bureau, or his/her delegate.
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c. “Clear and conspicuous” means “clearly and prominently” such that the 

required disclosure is difficult to miss (i.e., easily noticeable) and easily 

understandable by ordinary consumers, regardless of the method of 

communication, including in all the following ways:  

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for a reasonable 

consumer to read and comprehend, in print that contrasts with the 

background on which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume, speed, and cadence sufficient for a reasonable consumer to 

hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television 

or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form 

consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a 

duration sufficient for a reasonable consumer to read and comprehend 

it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

Internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); a 

disclosure is not clear and conspicuous if a consumer must take any 

action, such as clicking on a hyperlink or hovering over an icon, to see 

it;  
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v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the 

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and 

visual portions of the communication; 

vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, and use diction and syntax that is 

understandable to a reasonable consumer, in each language in which 

the representation that requires the disclosure appears; and 

vii. The disclosure must not be contradicted or mitigated by, or 

inconsistent with, anything else in the communication with the 

consumer.  

d. “Consumer Complaint” means any expression of dissatisfaction by a 

consumer. 

e. “Consumer Reporting Agency” or “CRA” means a “consumer reporting 

agency,” as defined in section 603(f) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

f. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

g. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

h. “Experian Credit-Related Product” means any product or service Experian 

offers or has offered for sale directly to consumers, including but not limited 

to credit scores, credit reports, credit monitoring, or identity theft insurance 

or protection. 

i. “Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agency” or “Nationwide CRA” refers to a 

“consumer reporting agency that compiles and maintains files on consumers 
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on a nationwide basis,” as defined in section 603(p) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1681a(p). 

j. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

k. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 through December 

31, 2014. 

l. “Respondents” means Experian Holdings, Inc., Experian Information 

Solutions, Inc., and ConsumerInfo.com, Inc., dba Experian Consumer 

Services, and their successors and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

 Experian Holdings, Inc. is a privately-held corporation with its principal office 4.

located in Costa Mesa, California.   

 Experian Information Solutions, Inc. (EIS) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 5.

Experian Holdings, Inc., with its principal office located in Costa Mesa, 

California. EIS is a Consumer Reporting Agency, a Nationwide Consumer 

Reporting Agency, and operates the website that consumers access through 

AnnualCreditReport.com to obtain their free annual file disclosures (i.e., credit 

report) from Experian. 

 ConsumerInfo.com, Inc., dba Experian Consumer Services (ECS), is a wholly-6.

owned subsidiary of Experian Holdings, Inc., with its principal office located in 
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Costa Mesa, California. ECS markets, advertises, sells, offers, and provides 

Experian Credit-Related Products. 

 Respondents are a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), 7.

(15)(A).  

 ECS is regularly engaged in marketing, advertising, selling, offering, and 8.

providing credit scores, consumer reports or “credit reports,” and various other 

Experian Credit-Related Products to consumers and to third parties.  

 During the Relevant Period, ECS marketed, advertised, sold, offered, and 9.

provided credit scores to consumers through a variety of online channels, 

including banner and display advertisements that appeared on third-party 

websites, direct emails to consumers, and advertisements on Experian websites, 

including Experian.com, FreeCreditScore.com, FreeCreditReport.com, and 

CreditReport.com. 

Findings and Conclusions as to  
Misrepresentations Relating to Credit Scores 

 Credit scores are numerical summaries designed to predict a consumer’s relative 10.

credit risk on a wide range of credit products. Many lenders and other 

commercial users rely on consumers’ credit scores when deciding whether to 

extend credit.  

 No single credit score or credit score model serves as the primary credit score for 11.

the marketplace. Lenders use a variety of credit scores, which vary by score 

provider, scoring model, and target industry.  

 In addition to the credit scores that are actually used by lenders, several 12.

companies have developed what are referred to as “educational credit scores” that 
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are rarely, if ever, used by lenders. As the name suggests, an “educational credit 

score” is intended for a consumer’s educational use.   

 Experian developed its own proprietary credit score model, referred to as the 13.

“PLUS Score,” which it also applied to information in consumer credit files to 

generate a credit score it offered or provided directly to consumers.   

 The PLUS Score is an “educational” credit score that is not used by lenders. 14.

Experian’s Marketing of Its Credit Score to Consumers 

 From at least 2012 through 2014, in numerous instances Experian marketed a 15.

PLUS Score to consumers by implicitly representing that the PLUS Score it 

offered or provided to consumers was the same score that lenders use to make 

credit decisions. 

 For example, an Experian ad stated: “Lenders review your credit information and 16.

so should you. Check your credit score to know what to expect – including what 

factors may be affecting your credit.” Another stated: “See the same type of 

information lenders see when assessing your credit . . . .” 

 In fact, the PLUS Scores that Experian offered or provided to consumers were 17.

“educational” and not the same credit scores that lenders and other commercial 

users obtained to evaluate consumers’ creditworthiness and make lending 

decisions. 

 Experian included a disclosure in its advertising for the PLUS Score, which 18.

stated: “Calculated on the PLUS Score model, your Experian Credit Score 

indicates your relative credit risk for educational purposes and is not the same 

score used by lenders.”  
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 This disclosure, however, was not always conspicuous and, in many instances, far 19.

removed from the claims the disclosure was intended to modify. 

 In numerous instances, there were significant and meaningful differences 20.

between the PLUS Scores that Experian offered or provided to consumers and the 

variety of credit scores used by lenders.   

 As a result, in these instances, the scores Experian offered or provided to 21.

consumers presented an inaccurate picture of how lenders, who used other scores 

and data providers, assessed consumer creditworthiness. 

 Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 22.

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

 As described in Paragraphs  4 through  21, in connection with the advertising, 23.

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of credit scores, in numerous 

instances, Experian represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, 

that the credit scores it marketed, offered, and provided to consumers were the 

same scores used by lenders or other commercial users for credit decisions.   

 In fact, the credit scores Experian marketed, offered, and provided to consumers 24.

were not the same scores used by lenders or other commercial users for credit 

decisions.  

 Thus, Experian’s representations, as described in Paragraphs  15 and  16, were 25.

false or misleading and constituted deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Placement of Advertisements of  
Experian Credit-Related Products on AnnualCreditReport.com 

 The FCRA imposes upon each Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agency an 26.

obligation to provide a free file disclosure (i.e., credit report) once every 12 

months to any consumer who requests it. 15 U.S.C. § 1681j. Regulation V, the 

FCRA’s implementing regulation, requires all Nationwide Consumer Reporting 

Agencies to operate a “centralized source” to enable consumers to obtain free 

annual file disclosures. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136. The centralized website for free 

annual file disclosures is AnnualCreditReport.com. 

 A consumer who seeks to obtain a file disclosure through 27.

AnnualCreditReport.com must first provide certain identifying information on 

that website, including his or her name, social security number, and current 

address. The consumer is then given a choice to obtain his or her file disclosure 

from one or more of the Nationwide Consumer Reporting Agencies, including 

EIS.   

 Until March 2, 2014, a consumer who chose to receive a file disclosure from 28.

Experian was directed to an Experian webpage that contained a link to a PDF 

version of the consumer’s EIS-generated file disclosure, as well as links to 

individual sections of the file disclosure. The webpage also contained a vertical 

banner advertisement for three ECS products: “ProtectMyID,” “Triple Alert 

Credit Monitoring,” and “Credit Score.” Consumers who clicked on the banner 

advertisement were directed to other Experian webpages where they could 

purchase Experian Credit-Related Products. 
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 In addition to banner advertisements, Experian also included six links or tabs 29.

stating things such as “Get Your Score” or “Know Your Rights” on the webpage 

containing the link to the consumer’s free file disclosure. Consumers who clicked 

on these links or tabs were directed to an Experian webpage offering credit score 

products.  

 Regulation V prohibits Consumer Reporting Agencies, including EIS, from 30.

advertising through the “centralized source” until “after the consumer has 

obtained his or her annual file disclosure.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). Where the 

request is made through the Internet, a consumer has “obtained” his or her 

disclosure when it is “delivered to the consumer.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1)(ii). 

 As described in Paragraphs  28 and  29, Experian advertised Experian Credit-31.

Related Products on AnnualCreditReport.com before consumers “obtained” their 

annual file disclosures. When consumers sought to order their free file 

disclosures from Experian, consumers were taken to a webpage that displayed a 

summary of their credit report and that included Experian’s advertisements. But 

nowhere on this webpage  could consumers actually see their full file disclosures.  

 Thus, Experian’s placement of advertisements on webpages consumers accessed 32.

through AnnualCreditReport.com before consumers obtained their free annual 

file disclosures violated Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). 
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ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

 Experian and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 33.

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and 

Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g), the implementing regulation of the FCRA, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., as follows, and must take the following affirmative 

actions: 

a. Experian, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 

sale, or performance of Experian Credit-Related Products, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. The nature of any credit score (e.g., that it is a credit score used by 

lenders when it is an educational credit score); and 

ii. Any material fact to consumers relating to credit scores, such as any 

material restrictions, limitations, or conditions of the product or 

service, or any material aspect of its performance, efficacy, nature, or 

central characteristics. 

b. Experian, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 
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sale, or performance of Experian Credit-Related Products, including through 

textual, oral, or audible communications, or communications disseminated 

through audible means or interactive media including, but not limited to, 

Internet advertisement, must take the following actions when offering or 

providing a PLUS Score or any other educational credit score to consumers: 

i. Clearly and conspicuously disclose the educational nature of the credit 

score offered in each communication containing the offer and, for 

Internet offers, on each landing page or email and on at least one page 

of the order process; 

ii. Ensure that the disclosure clearly and conspicuously discloses and 

substantially states the following: 

(a) The educational credit scores Experian offers to consumers are not 

the same scores  used by lenders or other commercial users for 

credit decisions; 

(b) There are various types of credit scores, and lenders use a different 

type of credit score to make lending decisions than the credit score 

being offered; and  

iii. For all written communications, and for Internet offers, on each 

landing page or email where an educational credit score is advertised , 

ensure that, in the first instance in which the disclosure appears, the 

disclosure contains a label in a font size double that of the disclosure 

that says: “What You Need to Know.” 
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c. Experian, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must take the following actions: 

i. Develop and implement comprehensive policies and procedures for 

improving communication with consumers regarding credit scores, 

including, but not limited to, communications about the educational 

nature of a credit score, including: 

(a) At least annually, collecting and reviewing key performance 

metrics, such as Consumer Complaints (both those it receives 

directly as well as those it receives through other channels, such as 

the CFPB and State Attorneys General Offices), for evidence of 

consumer confusion regarding credit scores it offers to consumers;  

(b) At least annually, collecting and reviewing empirical data regarding 

consumer perceptions of Experian’s advertising with regard to the 

nature of credit scores and the pricing structure of credit scores for 

evidence of consumer confusion regarding the credit scores it offers 

to consumers; and 

(c) At least annually, assessing advertisements to determine what 

modifications, if any, need to be made to the advertisements to 

improve consumer understanding of credit scores.  

d. Experian, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 

sale, or performance of Experian Credit-Related Products, may not place 
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advertisements on webpages consumers access through 

AnnualCreditReport.com to obtain their free annual file disclosure from 

Experian, such that the consumer sees the advertisement before he or she has 

obtained his or her file disclosure in accordance with Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 

1022.136(g). 

VI 

Compliance Plan  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Experian must submit to the Assistant 34.

Deputy for Consumer Reporting for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Experian’s advertising 

practices relating to credit scores and on webpages consumers access through 

AnnualCreditReport.com comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance 

Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order;  

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above; and  

c. A requirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years, 

or as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan 

remains current and effective. 

 The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting will have the discretion to make a 35.

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Experian to 

revise it. If the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting directs Experian to 
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revise the Compliance Plan, Experian must make the revisions and resubmit the 

Compliance Plan to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting within 30 days. 

 After receiving notification that the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 36.

has made a determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Experian 

must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 37.

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

 Although this Consent Order requires Experian to submit certain documents for 38.

review or non-objection by the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Experian and for ensuring that Experian complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

 In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 39.

to, or perform certain obligations of Experian, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Experian to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 
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c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 40.

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Experian must pay a civil money 

penalty of $3,000,000 to the Bureau. 

 Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Experian must pay the civil money penalty 41.

by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

 The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 42.

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

 Experian must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 43.

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Experian may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 
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 To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 44.

Consumer Action, Experian may not argue that it is entitled to, nor may Experian 

benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid 

in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants 

such a Penalty Offset, Experian must, within 30 days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty 

Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional 

civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty 

imposed in this action. 

IX 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 In the event of any default on Experian’s obligations to make payment under this 45.

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

 Experian must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 46.

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Experian. 

 Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Experian, unless it already has done so, must furnish to 47.

the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of 

collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order.  
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 Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 48.

Related Consumer Action, Experian must notify the Assistant Deputy for 

Consumer Reporting of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Experian paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or 

classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

X 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Experian must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 49.

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent 

Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against 

Experian; or a change in Experian’s name or address. Experian must provide this 

notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, but in any case no 

later than 14 days after the development.   

 Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Experian must designate at least one 50.

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Experian. 

 Experian must report any change in the information required to be submitted 51.

under Paragraph  49 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 
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 Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 52.

Experian must submit to the Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting an 

accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Experian has complied with 

this Consent Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Experian must deliver a copy of this 53.

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

 For 5 years from the Effective Date, Experian must deliver a copy of this Consent 54.

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who 

will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order 

before they assume their responsibilities.  

 Experian must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 55.

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 
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delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section.  

XII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 Experian must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from 56.

the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all Internet (website), direct email, and print advertisements, 

sufficient to demonstrate the experience of consumers on each materially 

different version of each advertisement, including all order flow pages on 

which Experian, whether acting directly or indirectly, advertises, promotes, 

markets, offers for sale, sells, or provides Experian Credit-Related Products or 

services, and any other marketing material, including, but not limited to, sales 

scripts and training materials relating to Experian Credit-Related Products, 

including any such materials used by a third party or affiliate on behalf of 

Experian; 

c. For each Internet (website), direct email, print advertisement, or other 

marketing material relating to Experian Credit-Related Products: 

i. To the extent such data is available, a record of the date(s) and 

locations or placements where the advertisement is publicly accessible; 

the number, type, and price of all Experian Credit-Related Products 
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purchased through the advertisement; and any and all modifications 

made to the advertisement, including to any disclosure(s) on the 

advertisement; and  

ii. A record of all consumer perception assessments or testing and all 

documents created pursuant to the requirements of Section V. 

d. To the extent such data is available, for each Internet (website) advertisement, 

the number of visits to, unique visitors, impressions of, and clicks on the 

advertisement and any associated landing and flow page(s); and the number 

of conversions, purchases of an Experian Credit-Related Product, and 

consumers acquired through the advertisement. 

e. For each Experian Credit-Related Product, accounting records showing the 

gross revenues generated by the Experian Credit-Related Product. 

f. All non-telephonic Consumer Complaints and refund requests (whether 

received directly or indirectly, such as through a third party) relating to any 

Experian Credit-Related Product, and any responses to those complaints or 

requests. 

 Respondents will retain telephonic communications with consumers in 57.

accordance with its standard document retention policy, as set forth in the 

Compliance Plan. 

 Experian must make the records identified in Paragraphs  56 and 57 available to 58.

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 
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XIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Experian must provide all 59.

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Experian Holdings, 

Inc., File No. 2017-CFPB-0012,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 
Office of Supervision 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting 
Office of Supervision 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006  

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Experian’s compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

Within 21 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Experian must60.

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce

documents.
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 Experian must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 61.

person affiliated with Experian who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil62.

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

Experian may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent63.

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting.

The Assistant Deputy for Consumer Reporting may, in his/her discretion, modify64.

any non-material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions

of time and changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Assistant Deputy for

Consumer Reporting must be in writing.

XXV 

Administrative Provisions 

The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the65.

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against

Experian, except as described in Paragraph 66.

The Bureau releases and discharges Experian from all potential liability for law66.

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices
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described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Experian and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order.  

  This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 67.

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

 This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or five years 68.

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Experian. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Experian did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 
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 Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 69.

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

Should Experian seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are70.

subject to this Consent Order, Experian must, as a condition of sale, obtain the

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable

provisions of this Consent Order.

The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any71.

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Experian wherever Experian

may be found and Experian may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction

over Experian.

This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete72.

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises,

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or

understandings.

Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be73.

construed as allowing Experian, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any

law, rule, or regulation.
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this day of March, 2017. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Fines Experian $3 Million for Deceiving Consumers in Marketing Credit
Scores

Credit Reporting Company Misstated How Credit Scores It Sold Were Used

MAR 23, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against Experian and its subsidiaries for deceiving consumers about the use of credit scores
it sold to consumers. Experian claimed the credit scores it marketed and provided to
consumers were used by lenders to make credit decisions. In fact, lenders did not use
Experian’s scores to make those decisions. The CFPB ordered Experian to truthfully
represent how its credit scores are used. Experian must also pay a civil penalty of $3 million.

“Experian deceived consumers over how the credit scores it marketed and sold were used
by lenders,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Consumers deserve and should expect
honest and accurate information about their credit scores, which are central to their
financial lives.”

Experian, based in Costa Mesa, Calif., is one of the nation’s three largest credit reporting
agencies. Experian markets, advertises, sells, offers, and provides credit scores, credit
reports, credit monitoring, and other related products to consumers and third parties.
Credit scores are numerical summaries designed to predict consumer payment behavior in
using credit. Many lenders and other commercial users consider these scores when
deciding whether to extend credit. No single credit score or credit scoring model is used by
every lender. In addition to the credit scores that are actually used by lenders, several
companies have developed so-called “educational credit scores,” which lenders rarely, if
ever, use. These scores are intended to inform consumers.

Experian developed its own proprietary credit scoring model, referred to as the “PLUS
Score,” which it applied to information in consumer credit files to generate a credit score it
offered directly to consumers. The PLUS Score is an “educational” credit score and is not
used by lenders for credit decisions. From at least 2012 through 2014, Experian violated the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act by deceiving consumers
about the use of the credit scores it sold. In its advertising, Experian falsely represented that
the credit scores it marketed and provided to consumers were the same scores lenders use
to make credit decisions. In fact, lenders did not use the scores Experian sold to consumers.
In some instances, there were significant differences between the PLUS Scores that Experian
provided to consumers and the various credit scores lenders actually use. As a result,
Experian’s credit scores in these instances presented an inaccurate picture of how lenders
assessed consumer creditworthiness.

Experian also violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which requires a credit reporting
company to provide a free credit report once every twelve months and to operate a central
source – AnnualCreditReport.com – where consumers can obtain their report. Until March
2014, consumers getting their report through Experian had to view Experian
advertisements before they got to the report. This violates the Fair Credit Reporting Act
prohibition of such advertising tactics.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB is
authorized to take action against institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts
or practices, or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the consent
order, Experian must:

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Pay a $3 million penalty: Experian must pay a civil money penalty of $3 million to the
Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

Truthfully represent the usefulness of credit scores it sells: Experian must inform
consumers about the nature of the scores it sells to consumers.

Put in place an effective compliance management system: Experian must develop and
implement a plan to make sure its advertising practices relating to credit scores and on
Internet webpages that consumers access through AnnualCreditReport.com comply
with federal consumer laws and the terms of the CFPB’s consent order.  

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order against Experian is available here:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0012 

STIPULATION AND CONSENT 
TO THE ISSUANCE OF 
A CONSENT ORDER 

In the matter of: 

Experian Holdings, Inc., Experian 
Information Solutions, Inc., and 
ConsumerInfo.com, Inc., dba 
Experian Consumer Services 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) intends to initiate an 

administrative proceeding against Experian Holdings, Inc., Experian Information 

Solutions, Inc., and Consumerinfo.com, Inc. (collectively, Experian or Respondents), 

under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, for its for its deceptive advertisements for credit 

scores in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act's (CFPA) prohibition on 

unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and for its 

violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x, as 

implemented by Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.136(g)(1). 

Experian, in the interest of compliance and resolution of the matter and without 

admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, consents to the 

issuance of a Consent Order substantially in the form of the one to which this 

Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order is attached (Consent Order), 

and which is incorporated by reference. 
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In consideration of the above premises, Experian agrees to the following: 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565 and section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s. 

Consent 

2. Experian agrees to the issuance of the Consent Order, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Experian 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Experian 

and the subject matter of this action. 

3. Experian agrees that the Consent Order will be deemed an "order issued with the 

consent of the person concerned" under 12 U.S.C. § 5563(b)(4), and agrees that 

the Consent Order will become a final order, effective upon issuance, and will be 

fully enforceable by the Bureau under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563(d)(1) and 5565. 

4. Experian voluntarily enters into this Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order. 

5. The Consent Order resolves only Experian's potential liability for law violations 

that the Bureau asserted or might have asserted based on the practices described 

in Section IV of the Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before 

the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. 

Experian acknowledges that no promise or representation has been made by the 

Bureau or any employee, agent, or representative of the Bureau, about any 

liability outside of this action that may have arisen or may arise from the facts 

underlying this action or immunity from any such liability. 
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6. Experian agrees that the facts described in Section IV of the Consent Order will 

be taken as true and be given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, in 

any proceeding before the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order, or in any 

subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce the Consent Order or its 

rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Consent Order. 

7. The terms and provisions of this Stipulation and the Consent Order will be 

binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors 

in interest. 

8. Experian agrees that the Bureau may present the Consent Order to the Bureau 

Director for signature and entry without further notice. 

Waivers 

9. Experian, by consenting to this Stipulation, waives: 

a. Any right to service of the Consent Order, and agrees that issuance of the 

Consent Order will constitute notice to Experian of its terms and conditions; 

b. Any objection to the jurisdiction of the Bureau, including, without limitation, 

under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563; 

c. The rights to all hearings under the statutory provisions under which the 

proceeding is to be or has been instituted; the filing of proposed findings of 

fact and conclusions of law; proceedings before, and a recommended decision 

by, a hearing officer; all post-hearing procedures; and any other procedural 

right available under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, or 12 CFR 

Part 1081; 

d. The right to seek any administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 
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e. Any claim for fees, costs or expenses against the Bureau, or any of its agents 

or employees, and any other governmental entity, related in any way to this 

enforcement matter or the Consent Order, whether arising under common 

law or under the terms of any statute, including, but not limited to the Equal 

Access to Justice Act and the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement 

Fairness Act of 1996; for these purposes, Experian agrees that Experian is not 

the prevailing party in this action because the parties have reached a good-

faith settlement; 

f. Any other right to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order; 

g. Such provisions of the Bureau's rules or other requirements of law as may be 

construed to prevent any Bureau employee from participating in the 

preparation of, or advising the Director as to, any order, opinion, finding of 

fact, or conclusion of law to be entered in connection with this Stipulation or 

the Consent Order; and 

h. Any right to claim bias or prejudgment by the Director based on the 

consideration of or discussions concerning settlement of all or any part of the 

proceeding. 

4 
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On January 24, 2017, the Office of the Comptroller of 
the Currency (the “OCC”) issued examination procedures to supplement its 2013 guidance Third-
Party Relationships: Risk Management Guidance.  The examination procedures establish expanded 
procedures for OCC examiners to employ when assessing a national bank’s or federal savings 
association’s (collectively, “bank’s”) risk management of third-party relationships.

Takeaways

• The procedures reflect the OCC’s continued interest in and monitoring of banks’ third-party 
relationships.

• As expected, the procedures incorporate most if not all of the elements of the OCC’s existing 
third-party relationship guidance into its examiner objectives. In some places the procedures are 
more detailed than the guidance in specifying bank practices that examiners should look for in 
making their determinations, particularly with respect to third-party lenders, risk ranking of 
third-party relationships, and internal control systems.  In addition, unlike the guidance, the 
procedures emphasize in several places the importance of determining whether a bank 
maintains a full inventory of its third-party relationships and has applied its risk management 
processes to them, thus suggesting that this aspect may have been found lacking during prior 
examinations.

• The OCC released the supplemental examination procedures four days after the White House 
released a Presidential Memorandum in which Reince Priebus, Chief of Staff, directed the 
heads of federal executive departments and agencies to cease issuing new regulations, subject to 
certain exceptions. The “regulatory freeze” applies to agency “guidance documents” as defined 
in Executive Order 13422.  Executive Order 13422 defines “guidance document” as “an agency 
statement of general applicability and future effect, other than a regulatory action, that sets forth 
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a policy on a statutory, regulatory, or technical issue or an interpretation of a statutory or 
regulatory issue.”  72 Fed. Reg. 2763 (Jan. 18, 2007).  To the extent that the OCC’s guidance 
constitutes a “guidance document,” the expanded examination procedures may conflict with the 
Memorandum.  However, due to the significant overlap between the guidance and the 
examination procedures, the practical effect of any withdrawal or nullification of the procedures 
would presumably be minimal.

Procedures

Specifically, the procedures are designed to assist examiners:

1. Tailor the examination of each bank commensurate with the level of risk and complexity of the 
bank’s third-party relationships;

2. Assess the quantity of the bank’s risk associated with its third-party relationships; and
3. Assess the quality of the bank’s risk management of third-party relationships involving critical 

activities and determine whether there is an effective risk management process throughout the 
life cycle of the third-party relationship.

1. Tailor the Examination

To tailor the scope of examination of a bank’s third-party risk management process, the OCC instructs 
examiners to seek input from the examiner-in-charge and complete the following:

• Review information related to the bank’s third-party risk management process requiring follow-
up by the examiner, such as supervisory strategy and examination scope, or previous 
examination reports, enforcement actions and MRAs;

• Discuss with bank management any material changes (actual or planned) in third-party 
relationships or the third-party risk management process;

• Obtain and review information related to all phases of the bank’s third-party risk management 
life cycle; and

• Review findings from other examination areas and identify issues relating to third-party risk 
management process, third-party relationships, or the products, processes, systems, and services 
supported by third parties.

2. Assess Quantity of Risk

To assess the quantity of risk associated with the bank’s third-party relationships, the OCC instructs 
examiners to determine the risk level associated with the use of third parties by analyzing the 
following factors:

• Whether the bank keeps a full inventory of third-party relationships and identifies key due 
diligence factors affecting the risk of and complexity of such relationships.

• Operational risk, compliance risk, reputation risk, and credit risk associated with the use of 
third parties, and due diligence and mitigating steps taken by the bank.

3. Assess Quality of Risk Management and Evaluate Life Cycle of Third-Party Relationships

To determine the effectiveness of the bank’s third-party relationship risk management, the OCC 
instructs examiners to consider the following:

• Policies 
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◦ Whether the bank’s board has adopted effective policies that are consistent with safe and 
sound banking practices and are appropriate to the size, nature, and scope of the bank’s 
third-party relationships.

◦ Whether such policies establish oversight and accountability over third parties that 
involve critical activities and are appropriately communicated to persons with 
supervisory responsibility.

• Processes 
◦ Whether the bank has procedures, programs and practices in place to manage the risk of 

its third-party relationships.
◦ Whether the processes incorporate all phases of the risk management life cycle (e., 

planning, due diligence and third-party selection, contract negotiations, ongoing 
monitoring, termination and contingency planning) for each third-party relationship, 
including maintaining and updating inventories and risk rankings of each such 
relationship.

• Personnel 
◦ To determine bank personnel’s ability to supervise third-party relationships in a safe and 

sound manner, the OCC instructs examiners to review board, management and staff 
processes to find whether the oversight and accountability requirements in the guidance 
are being implemented in an effective and satisfactory manner.

• Control Systems 
◦ The procedures introduce the term “control systems” that should be used by bank 

managers to measure performance, make decisions about risk, and assess the 
effectiveness of processes and personnel.

◦ The discussion of control systems in the procedures appears to clarify OCC expectations 
how ongoing monitoring of third-party relationships should be structured.

Conclusion

Upon finishing the review, examiners must determine, document, and communicate the examiner’s 
overall findings and conclusions in accordance with the OCC’s risk assessment system.

CFPB Third-Party Relationship Guidance

During the last quarter of 2016, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) also issued 
guidance regarding banks’ third-party relationships.  On October 26, 2016, the Bureau reissued its 
guidance regarding the Bureau’s supervision of service providers providing services to supervised 
financial institutions:  Compliance Bulletin and Policy Guidance; 2016-02, Service Providers.  This 
reissued guidance, formerly titled CFPB Bulletin 2012–03, Service Providers, clarifies “that the depth 
and formality of a supervised entity’s risk management program may vary depending upon the service 
being performed . . . and the performance of the service provider in carrying out its activities in 
compliance with Federal consumer financial laws and regulations.”

On April 13, 2012, the Bureau issued CFPB Bulletin 2012-03 to advise large insured depository 
institutions and certain types of ‘nonbank’ entities (e.g., a mortgage lender or mortgage servicer) 
about the Bureau’s expectations for oversight in connection with the use of service providers by such 
financial institutions.  In CFPB Bulletin 2012-03, the Bureau put financial institutions on notice that 
the Bureau expects “supervised banks and nonbanks to have an effective process for managing the 
risks of service provider relationships.”  The Bureau further stated that “supervised banks and 
nonbanks should take steps to ensure that their business arrangements with service providers do not 
present unwarranted risks to consumers”, including:
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• “conducting thorough due diligence to verify that the service provider understands and is 
capable of complying with Federal consumer financial law;

• requesting and reviewing the service provider’s policies, procedures, internal controls, and 
training materials to ensure that the service provider conducts appropriate training and oversight 
of employees or agents that have consumer contact or compliance responsibilities;

• including in the contract with the service provider clear expectations about compliance, as well 
as appropriate and enforceable consequences for violating any compliance-related 
responsibilities, including engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices;

• establishing internal controls and on-going monitoring to determine whether the service 
provider is complying with Federal consumer financial law; and

• taking prompt action to address fully any problems identified through the monitoring process, 
including terminating the relationship where appropriate.”

The Bureau’s updated guidance maintains its expectation that a supervised financial institution must 
have a risk-management program in place for its service providers.  However, the Bureau clarified 
that supervised banks and nonbanks have the flexibility to incorporate appropriate risk assessment in 
connection with establishing and administering such risk-management programs.  Specifically, the 
Bureau stated that:

The Bureau expects that the depth and formality of the entity’s risk management program for service 
providers may vary depending upon the service being performed—its size, scope, complexity, 
importance and potential for consumer harm—and the performance of the service provider in carrying 
out its activities in compliance with Federal consumer financial laws and regulations.  While due 
diligence does not provide a shield against liability for actions by the service provider, it could help 
reduce the risk that the service provider will commit violations for which the supervised bank or 
nonbank may be liable.

In our view, the Bureau’s reissued guidance providing a supervised entity with increased flexibility 
 better aligns the Bureau’s expectations for service provider oversight with the risk-based standards 
adopted by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (e.g., “The OCC expects a bank to have risk 
management processes that are commensurate with the level of risk and complexity of its third-party 
relationships and the bank’s organizational structures.”); Federal Reserve Board (e.g., “A financial 
institution’s service provider risk management program should be risk-focused and provide oversight 
and controls commensurate with the level of risk presented by the outsourcing arrangements in which 
the financial institution is engaged.”); and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (e.g., “Management 
should . . . ensure that appropriate procedures are in place, taking into account the complexity and risk 
potential for each of its third-party relationships. The precise use of a risk management process is 
dependent upon the nature of the third-party relationship, the scope and magnitude of the activity, and 
the risk identified.”).  Nevertheless, entities regulated by multiple banking agencies will still need to 
navigate the subtle differences of the risk-based standards adopted by such agencies.

Tags: OCC, risk management, third-party relationships

Payment Law Advisor

Page 4 of 5OCC Issues Third-Party Relationship Supplemental Examination Procedures | Payment L...

1/4/2019https://www.paymentlawadvisor.com/2017/04/05/occ-issues-third-party-relationship-supple...



Stay Connected

•
•
•
•

Copyright © 2019, Davis Wright Tremaine LLP. All Rights Reserved. Strategy, design, marketing & 
support by LexBlog

Page 5 of 5OCC Issues Third-Party Relationship Supplemental Examination Procedures | Payment L...

1/4/2019https://www.paymentlawadvisor.com/2017/04/05/occ-issues-third-party-relationship-supple...



1 
 

 
 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU, 

Plaintiff 

v. 

Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., 
L.P.A., 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 

COMPLAINT 

 
 
 
 
Electronically Filed 

 
COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), alleges the 

following against Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., L.P.A. (“Weltman”).  

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under Sections 807(3), 807(10), and 

814(b)(6) of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(3), 

(10), and 1692l(b)(6); and Sections 1031(a), 1036(a)(1), 1054, and 1055 of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), 5564, and 

5565.  

2. The Defendant engages in unlawful collection activities by 

misrepresenting the level of attorney involvement in demand letters and calls to 

consumers. 
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JURISDICTION AND LEGAL AUTHORITY 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345. 

4. Venue is proper in this District because the Defendant does business here 

and a substantial part of events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here. 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f); 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 

PARTIES 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States that is 

authorized to take enforcement action to address violations of Federal consumer 

financial law, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5511(c)(4), 5512(a), 5563, 5564, including the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., and the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

6. Respondent Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., L.P.A. (“Weltman” or “the 

Firm”) is a law firm, organized under the laws of Ohio that has offices in this district.  

7. Weltman regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, 

consumer debts, including debts from credit cards, installment loan contracts, mortgage 

loan deficiencies, and student loans. Weltman collects such debts on behalf of original 

creditors and debt buyers who purchase portfolios of defaulted consumer debt. 

8. Weltman is therefore a “debt collector” under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a(6), and it is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (6), 

(15)(A)(i), (15)(A)(x), because it collected debt related to credit extended to consumers. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

9. Since at least July 21, 2011, the Firm has regularly collected or attempted 

to collect debts on behalf of original creditors and debt buyers. 

10. These alleged debts included the following types of debt: credit card; 

installment loan contract; mortgage loan deficiency; and student loan. 

11. The alleged debts have been incurred by consumers primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes. 

12. When Weltman acquires the rights to collect on a new debt portfolio, the 

Firm’s representatives (which may or may not include an attorney) discuss the 

portfolio’s attributes with the creditor, including prior collection efforts and the age of 

the debts in the portfolio.  

13. As part of the initial intake process, Weltman attorneys may review a 

sample of individual accounts within a portfolio of debts from the creditor for whom 

Weltman is collecting the debt. But non-attorneys may perform this review.   

14. As part of its debt collection efforts, Weltman sends letters to consumers 

requesting payment (“demand letters”).  

15. If a consumer does not respond to an initial demand letter, then Weltman 

frequently sends a follow-up demand letter reiterating its request for payment or 

offering to settle the debt for a reduced amount.     

16. The vast majority of the time, Weltman generates these demand letters 

through an automated process. Specifically, consumer account information provided by 

Weltman’s clients is populated into a form letter template and printed by a third-party 

vendor.    
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17. Weltman’s demand letters are printed on the Firm’s letterhead, which 

states “WELTMAN, WEINBERG & REIS Co., LPA” at the top of the first page, and 

directly underneath the Firm’s name, “ATTORNEYS AT LAW.” In almost all versions of 

this template, the name of the Firm and the phrase “ATTORNEYS AT LAW” are in bold 

type.      

18. “Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., L.P.A.” appears in type-face in the 

signature line of nearly all of Weltman’s demand letter templates. 

19. Weltman’s form letters typically include a detachable payment remission 

slip indicating that payments should be sent to Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., L.P.A., 

and provide a mailing address.  

20. Since at least July 21, 2011, some of Weltman’s form letters have included 

the following language: “Failure to resolve this matter may result in continued collection 

efforts against you or possible legal action by the current creditor to reduce this claim to 

judgment.”  

21. Since at least July 21, 2011, Weltman’s form letters have also sometimes 

included the following language: “This law firm is a debt collector attempting to collect 

this debt for our client and any information obtained will be used for that purpose.”  

22. Since at least July 21, 2011, at times some form letters stated: “Please be 

advised that this law firm has been retained to collect the outstanding balance due and 

owing on this account.” 

23. When Weltman sends demand letters, Weltman attorneys generally have 

not reviewed a corresponding consumer’s individual account file to reach a professional 

judgment that sending the letter is appropriate because, for example, the information in 

the letter is accurate and the debt is due and owing.  

Case: 1:17-cv-00817  Doc #: 1  Filed:  04/17/17  4 of 10.  PageID #: 4



5 
 

24. In most cases, Weltman attorneys do not review any individual account 

information or any other aspects of a consumer’s file before Weltman sends a demand 

letter.   

25. None of the subject demand letters include any disclaimer notifying 

consumers that an attorney has not reviewed the consumer’s file or formed an 

independent professional judgment about the subject debt. 

26. Weltman’s demand letters misrepresent that attorneys at the firm have 

reviewed the consumer’s file and determined that the consumer owes the amount 

demanded, when in fact no such review has occurred.  

27. Rather, at the time a consumer receives a demand letter, Weltman is 

acting as a collection agency.  

28. Weltman has sent millions of demand letters to consumers since July 21, 

2011. Consumers have paid millions of dollars after Weltman sent a given demand letter 

but before Weltman filed any related collection lawsuit.   

29. In addition to sending demand letters, Weltman also attempts to collect 

debts through outbound telephone calls to consumers.  

30. These calls are generally handled by non-attorney collectors who are part 

of Weltman’s “Pre-Legal” Department.    

31. In addition, consumers sometimes call Weltman after receiving a demand 

letter from Weltman, and are routed to these collectors. During these inbound calls, the 

collectors similarly request payment on the consumer’s alleged debt.  

32. From at least July 21, 2011 through as late as July 2013, it was Weltman’s 

practice and policy to identify Weltman as a law firm during these collection calls. Some 

training materials and collection scripts instructed Weltman collectors to tell 

Case: 1:17-cv-00817  Doc #: 1  Filed:  04/17/17  5 of 10.  PageID #: 5



6 
 

consumers: “This law firm is a debt collector attempting to collect this debt for our client 

and any information will be used for that purpose.”   

33. Even after July 2013, at times collectors continued to refer to Weltman as 

a law firm during calls with consumers. Sample statements made to consumers by 

collection agents that referred to Weltman’s law firm status included that Weltman was 

the “largest collection law firm in the United States,” an account was forwarded to “the 

collections branch of our law firm,” and that the account has been “placed here with our 

law firm.” 

34. When such calls occurred, however, Weltman attorneys generally had not 

reviewed a corresponding consumer’s individual account file to reach a professional 

judgment regarding whether the consumer owed the debt.  

35. Consumers were typically not cautioned that an attorney had not reviewed 

their account information or formed an independent professional judgment about the 

subject debt. 

36. Weltman’s statements to consumers during collection calls implied that 

attorneys at the firm reviewed the consumer’s file and determined that the consumer 

owed the amount demanded, when in fact no such review had occurred.  

VIOLATIONS 

Count I  
 

(FDCPA) - Letters 
 

37. The allegations in paragraphs 1-28 are incorporated by reference. 

38. As described above, Weltman’s demand letters were sent on its law firm 

letterhead, which prominently features the name of the firm and the phrase 
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“ATTORNEYS AT LAW” at the top. The law firm was also the signatory of the letters. 

Furthermore, many demand letters have explicitly referred to Weltman as a “law firm.” 

39. The Firm thus misrepresented that the letters were from attorneys and 

that attorneys were meaningfully involved, when in most cases the attorneys were not 

meaningfully involved in preparing and sending the letters.  

40. This practice was material because it had the potential to influence 

consumers to pay an alleged debt when they would not have otherwise. 

41. The Firm’s acts and practices constituted violations of sections 807(3) and 

807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(3), (10).  

Count II  

CFPA - Letters 

42. The allegations in paragraphs 1-28 are incorporated by reference. 

43. Defendant’s FDCPA violations, as described in Count I, constitute 

violations of section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Count III 

CFPA (Deception) - Letters 

44. The allegations in paragraphs 1-28 are incorporated by reference. 

45. As described above, the demand letters sent to consumers by Weltman 

before a suit was filed represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 

that attorneys were meaningfully involved in preparing and deciding to send the 

demand letters.  

46. In fact, this was misleading to a reasonable consumer because demand 

letters sent by Weltman were prepared and sent without meaningful attorney 

involvement.   
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47. This practice was material because it had the potential to influence 

consumers to pay an alleged debt when they would have not otherwise. 

48. The Firm’s representations as set forth in paragraphs 17-22 therefore 

constituted deceptive acts and practices, in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

Count IV 

FDCPA – Telephone Communications 

49. The allegations in paragraphs 1-13 and 29-36 are incorporated by 

reference. 

50. Weltman routinely placed phone calls to consumers in an attempt to 

collect alleged debts from them, and also responded to phone inquiries from consumers 

regarding its debt collection efforts.  

51. Weltman’s collection agents frequently referred to Weltman as a law firm 

during these calls. But in most instances, attorneys had not actually reviewed the 

consumer’s file and formed an independent professional judgment that making the 

collection call was warranted or about whether the consumer owed the amount 

requested.   

52. The Firm thus misrepresented by implication that attorneys were 

meaningfully involved in the assessment of an alleged debt’s validity before a collection 

call took place.  

53. The Firm’s acts and practices constituted violations of sections 807(3) and 

807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(3), (10).  
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Count V 

CFPA - Telephone Communications 

54. The allegations in paragraphs 1-13 and 29-36 are incorporated by 

reference. 

55. Defendant’s FDCPA violations, as described in Count IV, constitute 

violations of section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

Count VI 

CFPA (Deception) – Telephone Communications 

56. The allegations in paragraphs 1-13 and 29-36 are incorporated by 

reference. 

57.  By referring to Weltman as a “law firm” during collection calls, 

Weltman collection agents implied that attorneys had formed an independent 

professional judgment that making the collection call was warranted or that the 

individual consumer owed the alleged debt. 

58. This was misleading to a reasonable consumer because Weltman attorneys 

generally had not evaluated individual accounts at the time of the collection calls. 

59. This practice was material because it had the potential to influence 

consumers to pay an alleged debt when they would have not otherwise. 

60. The Firm’s representations as set forth in paragraphs 29-36 constituted 

deceptive acts and practices, in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565 et seq., the Bureau requests an Order 

granting: 
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A. an injunction that permanently prohibits Weltman from committing future 

violations of the FDCPA and CFPA; 

B. restitution against Weltman to compensate consumers harmed by Weltman’s 

unlawful practices; 

C. disgorgement of ill-gotten revenue against Weltman, in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

D. civil money penalties against Weltman; 

E. recovery of costs in connection with prosecuting the instant action; and 

F. any other legal or equitable relief deemed just and proper. 

Dated: April 17, 2017 

      Respectfully submitted, 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
 
DEBORAH MORRIS 
Deputy Enforcement Director  
 
MICHAEL G. SALEMI 
Assistant Litigation Deputy  
 
/s/ Sarah Preis 
Sarah Preis 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-9318 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov 
Rebeccah Watson 
Phone: (202) 435-7895 
Email: rebeccah.watson@cfpb.gov 
 

      Enforcement Counsel     
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CFPB Files Suit Against Law Firm for Misrepresenting Attorney Involvement in
Collection of Millions of Debts

CFPB Alleges Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Deceived Consumers with Misleading
Calls and Letters

APR 17, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) filed a
lawsuit in a federal district court against the debt collection law firm Weltman, Weinberg &
Reis for falsely representing in millions of collection letters sent to consumers that attorneys
were involved in collecting the debt. The law firm made statements on collection calls and
sent collection letters creating the false impression that attorneys had meaningfully
reviewed the consumer’s file, when no such review has occurred. The CFPB is seeking to
stop the unlawful practices and recoup compensation for consumers who have been
harmed.

"Debt collectors who misrepresent that a lawyer was involved in reviewing a consumer’s
account are implying a level of authority and professional judgement that is just not true,"
said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "Weltman, Weinberg & Reis masked millions of debt
collection letters and phone calls with the professional standards associated with attorneys
when attorneys were, in fact, not involved. Such illegal behavior will not be allowed in the
debt collection market."

Weltman, Weinberg & Reis, based in Cleveland, Ohio, regularly collects debt related to
credit cards, installment loan contracts, mortgage loans, and student loans. It collects on
debts nationwide but only files collection lawsuits in seven states: Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky,
Michigan, New Jersey, Ohio, and Pennsylvania.

The CFPB alleges that the firm engaged in illegal debt collection practices. In form demand
letters and during collection calls to consumers, the firm implied that lawyers had reviewed
the veracity of a consumer’s debt. But typically, no attorney had reviewed any aspect of a
consumer’s individual debt or accounts. No attorney had assessed any consumer-specific
information. And no attorney had made any individual determination that the consumer
owed the debt, that a specific letter should be sent to the consumer, that a consumer
should receive a call, or that the account was a candidate for litigation.

The CFPB alleges that the company is violating the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Since at least July 21,
2011, the law firm has sent millions of demand letters to consumers. Specifically, the CFPB
alleges that the law firm:

Sent collection letters falsely implying they were from a lawyer: Weltman, Weinberg &
Reis sent letters on formal law firm letterhead with the phrase “Attorneys at Law” at the
top of the letter and stated the law firm’s name in the signature line. The letters also
included a payment coupon indicating that payment should be sent to the firm. Some
demand letters referred to possible “legal action” against consumers who did not make
payments. Despite these representations, the vast majority of the time, no attorneys
had reviewed consumer accounts or made any determination that the consumer owed
the debt, that a specific letter should be sent to the consumer, or that the account was a
candidate for litigation before these letters were sent. 

Called consumers and falsely implied a lawyer was involved: Weltman, Weinberg &
Reis’s debt collectors told consumers during collection calls that they were calling from
a law firm. Specifically, sometimes they told consumers that it was the “largest
collection law firm in the United States,” or that the debt had been placed with “the
collections branch of our law firm.” This implied that attorneys participated in the

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/


4/26/2017 CFPB Files Suit Against Law Firm for Misrepresenting Attorney Involvement in Collection of Millions of Debts | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-files-suit-against-law-firm-misrepresenting-attorney-involvement-collection-millions-debts/ 2/3

decision to make collection calls, but no attorney had reviewed consumer accounts
before debt collectors called consumers. 

The Bureau is seeking to stop the alleged unlawful practices of Weltman, Weinberg & Reis.
The Bureau has also requested that the court impose penalties on the company for its
conduct and require that compensation be paid to consumers who have been harmed.

The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually violated the
law.

The full text of the complaint can be found at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

WEST PALM BEACH DIVISION 
 

Case No. 9:17-CV-80495 

 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU,  
 Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
OCWEN FINANCIAL CORPORATION, 
 a Florida corporation, 
 
OCWEN MORTGAGE SERVICING, INC., 
 a U. S. Virgin Islands corporation, and 
 
OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, 
 a Delaware limited liability company, 
 
 Defendants. 

______________________________________________ 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

1. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) brings this action 

against Ocwen Financial Corporation, Ocwen Mortgage Servicing, Inc., and Ocwen Loan 

Servicing, LLC (collectively “Ocwen” or “Defendants”) under Sections 1054 and 1055 of 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565. 

Ocwen is one of the largest mortgage servicers in the United States. The Company 

specializes in servicing the loans of distressed borrowers. It committed numerous 

violations of Federal consumer financial laws that have harmed borrowers. Among other 

things, Ocwen has improperly calculated loan balances, misapplied borrower payments, 

failed to correctly process escrow and insurance payments, and failed to properly 

investigate and make corrections in response to consumer complaints. Ocwen has 
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compounded these failures by illegally foreclosing upon borrowers’ loans and selling 

loan servicing rights to servicers without fully disclosing or correcting errors in 

borrowers’ loan files.  

2. The Bureau brings this action against the Defendants under: (1) Sections 

1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; (2) Sections 807(2)(a), 807(10), 

and 808 of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(2)(a), 1692e(10), 

and 1692f (the “FDCPA”); (3) Sections 6 and 19 of the Real Estate Settlement 

Procedures Act (“RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 2605, 2617, and the regulations promulgated 

thereunder at Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. part 1024 (“Regulation X”); (4) Section 105(a) of 

the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1604(a), and the regulations promulgated 

thereunder at Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. part 1026 (“Regulation Z”); and (5) Section 3(b) of 

the Homeowners Protection Act of 1998, 12 U.S.C. § 4902(b) (the “HPA”). 

3. The Bureau brings this action to obtain permanent injunctive relief, 

restitution, refunds, disgorgement, damages, civil monetary penalties, and other relief 

for the Defendants’ violations of Federal consumer financial law. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 

1345. 

5. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. § 

5564(f) because Defendants are located in or do business in this district and part of the 

events giving rise to the claims took place in this district.  
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PLAINTIFF 

6. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal consumer 

financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564.  

7. The CFPA is a Federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). Under 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, it is unlawful for any covered person to commit or 

engage in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

8. The FDCPA, RESPA, TILA, and HPA are Federal consumer financial laws. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). Under Section 1036 of the CFPA, it is unlawful for any covered 

person “to offer or provide to a consumer any financial product or service not in 

conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or otherwise commit any act or 

omission in violation of a Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Violations of the FDCPA, RESPA, TILA, and HPA are therefore violations of Section 

1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

9. The Bureau is authorized to commence civil actions in federal district 

court, in its own name, to address violations of Federal consumer financial law, 

including violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a) and (b). 

DEFENDANTS 

10. Ocwen Financial Corporation (“OFC”) is a publicly-traded Florida 

corporation that maintains its principal place of business in West Palm Beach, Florida. 

At all times relevant to this complaint, OFC has done business in this District and 

throughout the United States.  
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11. Ocwen Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (“OMS”) is a United States Virgin Island 

corporation that maintains its principal place of business in the United States Virgin 

Islands. At all times relevant to this complaint, OMS has done business in this District 

and throughout the United States. 

12. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC (“OLS”) is a Delaware limited liability 

company that maintains its principal place of business in West Palm Beach, Florida. At 

all times relevant to this complaint, OLS has done business in this District and 

throughout the United States.  

13. OFC, through its subsidiaries, originates and services loans. OFC, OMS, 

and OLS (collectively “Ocwen”) engage in servicing activities relating to the loans by, 

among other things, processing borrower payments, administering loss mitigation 

processes, and managing foreclosures. Ocwen also acquires and collects upon 

borrowers’ mortgage debts that are in default. 

14. OFC, the parent and publicly-traded company, wholly owns all of the 

common stock of its primary operating subsidiary, OMS. OMS wholly owns the stock of 

another of OFC’s primary operating subsidiaries, OLS. All three entities share and have 

shared key executives, such as Ronald Faris, Timothy Hayes, Michael Bourque, and 

John Patrick Cox. All three entities, through OFC, file a consolidated financial statement 

with OFC’s public disclosures.   

15. OFC controls, directs, operates, and participates in mortgage servicing 

activities, including the daily cashiering, escrow, insurance, loss mitigation, foreclosure, 

call center, and consumer complaint operations for Ocwen’s loans. OFC enters into 

agreements for products and services that are necessary for Ocwen to service mortgage 

loans and collect debt. OFC has contracted for such products and services, including a 
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system of record and related technology services, for and on behalf of Ocwen’s affiliates, 

which include OMS and OLS. 

16. OMS is also engaged in servicing loans. OMS is licensed by numerous state 

regulators to service loans and collect mortgage debts. OMS has entered into 

agreements for products and services that are necessary for Ocwen to service mortgage 

loans and collect debt. OMS has contracted for such products and services, including a 

system of record and related technology services used by OLS and OFC. OLS also 

represented, in an August 23, 2016 Consent Order with the State of Washington 

Department of Financial Institutions, that OMS engages in the servicing or subservicing 

of OLS loans.  

17. OLS is also engaged in servicing loans. OLS is licensed by numerous state 

regulators to service loans and collect upon borrowers’ mortgage debts. OLS is also the 

owner of the mortgage servicing rights for the loans that Ocwen services. 

18. Under OFC’s and OMS’s direction, authority, and control, OLS has also 

engaged in the marketing and processing and transmitting of payments for credit 

monitoring products, financial advisory products, and other products that are added on 

to Ocwen borrowers’ accounts. 

19. OFC, OMS, and OLS are, and have been at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, “covered persons,” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), because 

they offer or provide a consumer financial product or service for use by consumers 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, or that is delivered, offered, or 

provided in connection with such a product or service by: servicing mortgage loans; 

collecting on consumers’ mortgage debts; and marketing and processing and 

transmitting payments for credit monitoring products, financial advisory products, and 

Case 9:17-cv-80495-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/20/2017   Page 5 of 93



6 
 

other products that are added on to the accounts of borrowers whose loans they service 

(“add-on products”). 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (iv), (vii), (viii), and (x).  

20. OFC is, and has been at all times relevant to this Complaint, a “related 

person” because, as described in Paragraph 14, it is the direct and indirect shareholder 

of all OMS and OLS stock, and is thus a “controlling shareholder” and “shareholder…or 

other person…who materially participates in the conduct of the affairs” of OMS and 

OLS, which are covered persons.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i) and (ii). OFC is thus 

“deemed to [be] a covered person for all purposes of any provision of Federal consumer 

financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). OMS is, and has been at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, a “related person” because, as described in Paragraph 14, it owns all of OLS’s 

stock and is thus a “controlling shareholder” and a “shareholder…or other person…who 

materially participates in the conduct of the affairs” of OLS, which is a covered person.  

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i) and (ii). OMS is thus “deemed to [be] a covered person for all 

purposes of any provision of Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

21. OFC and OMS are, and have been at all times relevant to this Complaint, 

service providers to OLS because, as described in Paragraphs 15 and 16, OFC and OMS 

have provided material services to OLS. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A). OFC and OMS have 

also controlled and participated in the design, operation, and maintenance of OLS’s 

mortgage servicing activities and marketing and processing and transmitting payments 

for add-on products. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A)(i). 

22. OLS, OMS, and OFC operate as a “common enterprise.” OLS, OMS, and 

OFC have conducted the business practices described below through interconnected 

companies that have common business functions, employees, and office locations. OFC 

and OMS control (either formally or informally) and operate OLS’s mortgage servicing 
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activities and marketing of and payment processing and transmitting payments for add-

on products. OFC and OMS also contract for critical mortgage servicing operations for 

and on behalf of OLS. OFC, OMS, and OLS also file consolidated financial statements 

and share employees and offices. Accordingly, an act by one entity constitutes an act by 

each entity comprising the “common enterprise,” and OFC, OMS, and OLS are each 

jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. 

23. As described in Paragraphs 14-18, OFC and OMS have directed and 

controlled OLS’s mortgage servicing activities and marketing of and payment processing 

and transmitting payments for add-on products, and authorized OLS to service Ocwen’s 

loans. Employees of OFC and OMS have knowledge of and control or have the ability to 

control the activities of OLS discussed herein. OFC and OMS, as OLS’s principals, are 

liable for the actions of their agent, OLS.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 BACKGROUND I.

 Company background. A.

24. William Erbey formed Ocwen in 1988. He served as the Company’s Chief 

Executive Officer until 2010. Ronald Faris succeeded Erbey and continues to serve as 

Ocwen’s Chief Executive Officer. 

25. Between 2010 and the first quarter of 2014, Ocwen’s residential servicing 

portfolio grew from 351,595 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of 

approximately $50 billion to 2,861,918 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance 

of approximately $465 billion. Ocwen’s largest acquisition during this time period was 

its 2013 purchase of Residential Capital, LLC’s (“Residential Capital”) servicing platform 

and its mortgage servicing rights to 1,740,000 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal 
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balance of approximate $183.1 billion. As of December 31, 2016, Ocwen serviced 

approximately 1,393,766 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of 

approximately $209 billion. Its loans are located in all fifty states and the District of 

Columbia. 

26. Borrowers do not choose their mortgage servicer and have no control over 

whether and how Ocwen services their loans. 

 Ocwen’s REALServicing System of Record. B.

27. Fundamental functions of a mortgage servicer include processing and 

applying borrower payments, communicating accurate payment information to 

borrowers, managing escrow accounts, and maintaining accurate loan balance 

information. 

28. Servicers also respond to borrower inquiries, handle loss mitigation 

requests, and initiate foreclosure proceedings, among other functions.   

29. To perform these tasks, servicers input loan and borrower information 

into electronic databases, often referred to as systems of record. Systems of record are 

essential to a servicer’s ability to service loans in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. If the information the servicer inputs into the system of record is 

inaccurate, or the system itself has deficiencies that produce inaccurate information 

even when the servicer inputs correct information, a servicer can make critical errors 

that harm borrowers.   

30. Ocwen has used and continues to use a proprietary system of record, 

REALServicing, and its related sub-systems (collectively “REALServicing”). 

31. In 2009, Ocwen spun off its internal technology department into a 

separate company, Altisource Portfolio Solutions (“Altisource”). As a result of this spin-
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off, Altisource owns and maintains the REALServicing platform. Ocwen has contracted 

with Altisource for technology services. In 2012 and 2013, while Erbey was the 

Chairman of the Boards of both Altisource and Ocwen, Ocwen extended this technology-

services contract through 2025. 

32. No other mortgage servicer uses REALServicing. 

II. OCWEN HAS SERVICED LOANS BASED ON INACCURATE AND 
INCOMPLETE BORROWER LOAN INFORMATION  

33. As set forth in greater detail below, Ocwen has serviced loans and collected 

upon debts based on inaccurate and incomplete borrower loan information. Ocwen has 

often input inaccurate and incomplete information, or failed to input accurate or 

complete information, about borrowers’ loans into its REALServicing system of record. 

Even when the information in REALServicing has been accurate, REALServicing has 

generated inaccurate information about borrowers’ loans due to system deficiencies. 

Because of these system deficiencies, Ocwen has had to rely upon manual processes and 

workarounds that have themselves resulted in errors in borrowers’ loan information.   

34. Ocwen’s use of inaccurate and incomplete information to collect mortgage, 

tax, and insurance payments, communicate with borrowers about loss mitigation issues, 

proceed with foreclosures, and when selling the servicing rights of borrowers’ loans to 

new servicers has resulted in significant harm to borrowers. 

 Ocwen loaded inaccurate and incomplete information into A.
REALServicing and serviced loans using this information.  

35. When Ocwen acquires servicing rights for loans, it moves, or “boards,” the 

records for those loans from the prior servicers’ systems of record onto REALServicing.   

36. As described in Paragraph 25, between 2010 and 2014, Ocwen acquired 

the rights to service millions of residential loans, including more than 1.7 million 
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Residential Capital loans. Ocwen inputted inaccurate and incomplete loan information 

and payment data from these acquisitions into REALServicing. 

 Ocwen boarded inaccurate and incomplete loan and payment data 1.
from prior servicers into REALServicing. 

37. In many instances, the systems of record that other servicers use contain 

data fields that are different from the data fields in REALServicing. To check whether it 

is correctly boarding loan data from the prior servicer’s systems onto REALServicing, 

Ocwen verifies critical loan data fields—such as interest rate, property type, and unpaid 

principal balance—by matching it with the information in the borrower’s loan 

documentation. If the information in REALServicing does not match what Ocwen finds 

in the documents, Ocwen is supposed to correct the error in REALServicing.  

38. To ensure the loan data it is using to service loans is complete and 

accurate, Ocwen seeks to complete this loan verification process within 60 days of 

boarding the loan onto REALServicing. Since 2014, however, Ocwen has not completed 

this process within 60 days. Instead, it has relied on unverified loan information for 

months—and often for more than a year—to service hundreds of thousands of loans.  

39. As of December 2013, Ocwen had a backlog of more than 400,000 

transferred loans that remained unverified. It did not finish verifying and making 

corrections to critical data fields for these loans until August 31, 2014. Due to this 

backlog, Ocwen also delayed verifying the 1.7 million Residential Capital loans it 

previously acquired in 2013, and which it moved from Residential Capital’s servicing 

platform and boarded onto REALServicing on a rolling basis beginning in early 2014. 

Ocwen did not even begin the verification process for the Residential Capital loans until 

September 1, 2014; at that time, Ocwen was servicing more than 1.1 million unverified 
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Residential Capital loans on REALServicing. By the end of 2014, when Ocwen 

completed boarding Residential Capital loans onto REALServicing, the verification 

backlog had grown to more than 1.3 million unverified Residential Capital loans. As of 

April 2016, Ocwen still had a backlog of more than 263,000 unverified Residential 

Capital loans.  

40. In November 2014, Ocwen determined that it was taking, on average, 261 

days to complete its verification process for each loan it boarded. In some cases, the 

verification process has taken more than a year, far beyond Ocwen’s expected 60-day 

time period. 

41. As of 2014, in addition to boarding loans with inaccurate loan information, 

Ocwen also boarded loans that contained payment history data that it had reason to 

believe was inaccurate or incomplete. Ocwen, for example, boarded incomplete or 

incorrect payment histories onto REALServicing, such as payment histories that include 

misapplied payments and transactions that occurred before the loan was even 

originated. 

42. As of 2014, Ocwen had also failed to verify whether the prior servicers’ 

corporate advances or fees for servicing-related expenses—such as attorneys’ fees, 

property inspection fees, property preservation fees, force-placed insurance charges, 

and foreclosure-related expenses—were valid and actually owed by borrowers. In many 

instances, Ocwen has charged borrowers for these charges and fees, even though neither 

Ocwen nor the prior servicer had invoices or other documents to support these charges 

and fees, and even though Ocwen was receiving disputes from borrowers claiming that 

these charges or fees were not owed.  
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43. For example, in December 2014, when Ocwen reviewed loans it had 

boarded the previous year, it determined that it was missing invoices or other 

documents to support $98 million in corporate advances that it had charged to 

borrowers. In June 2015, Ocwen also learned that it did not have documentation to 

support $58 million out of $85 million in corporate advances that it had charged to 

borrowers whose loans it transferred to new servicers. 

 As a result of Ocwen’s verification failures, Ocwen has serviced 2.
thousands of loans based on incorrect information. 

44. Because Ocwen failed to verify the accuracy and completeness of 

borrowers’ loan data during its expected 60-day time period after boarding, it has 

delayed correcting any loan data errors or incomplete loan information. As a result of 

the delay—in many instances, more than a year—Ocwen serviced a significant number of 

loans based on inaccurate loan information.  

45. According to Ocwen, which tracked the results of its verification of loans 

from 2014 through at least April 2016, a significant percentage of the loans it ultimately 

verified contained errors or incomplete information and required corrections. For 

example, in April 2014, Ocwen reported that 72 percent of the loans it verified that 

month contained errors or incomplete information and required corrections in 

REALServicing. In March 2016, 90 percent of the loans Ocwen verified contained errors 

or incomplete information that required corrections. 

46. As a result of the findings of its verification process, from September 2014 

until April 2016, Ocwen determined that it needed to make more than 870,000 

corrections in REALServicing, including, more than: 43,000 corrections to the 

maximum late fees a borrower could be charged (under state law); 31,000 corrections to 
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loans’ maturity dates; 27,000 corrections to loan terms; 24,000 corrections to loans’ 

first interest rate cap maximum; and 5,000 corrections to loans’ interest rates.  

47. Even when Ocwen completed its verification process and identified 

inaccuracies in loan data, in many instances, Ocwen has failed to accurately correct the 

errors in REALServicing. For example, in November 2014, Ocwen conducted an internal 

audit and found that its loan verification personnel were not properly correcting or 

updating the information in REALServicing in 63 percent of loans the audit team 

reviewed. The audit found that Ocwen personnel had failed to properly correct critical 

data fields such as loan maturity date, loan term, first payment date, balloon term, and 

first interest rate cap. 

48. In 2015, Ocwen’s outside consultant identified additional deficiencies in 

Ocwen’s loan boarding process, such as:  

• “High volume of loans error out of the automated process for unknown reasons 

requiring manual revision”; 

• “Limited available data fields cause various groups to use and reuse same fields 

for different information”; and 

• “Limited system functionality in place to accommodate SCRA [Servicemembers 

Civil Relief Act] requirements (e.g., unable to stop fees if fee was in place prior to 

customer becoming SCRA eligible).” 
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 Ocwen’s reliance on its deficient servicing platform, B.
REALServicing, has exacerbated its use of inaccurate loan 
information.  

 Ocwen and its outside consultant have concluded that 1.
REALServicing is failing. 

49. Ocwen’s own senior leadership has repeatedly recognized and 

acknowledged REALServicing’s failures. 

50. For example, in an internal communication in 2014 with Ocwen’s Chief 

Executive Officer, Ocwen’s Head of Servicing described Ocwen’s technology as:  

An absolute train wreck. I know there’s no shot in 
hell, but if I could change systems tomorrow I 
would. I can’t tell you the number of hours I and others 
spend on basic servicing technology blocking and tackling. 
I’m not talking about differentiators here. I’m talking about 
getting system to stay online, escrow analysis to work, letters 
to print, etc. It’s ridiculous. (Emphasis added.) 

51. Ocwen’s former Head of Servicing Compliance testified in May 2016 that 

she was “absolutely” concerned that Ocwen could not service loans on REALServicing in 

compliance with applicable laws when she worked at the company between 2014 and 

2015. She testified that she, other members of the Compliance Department, and the 

leaders of Servicing Operations, Loss Mitigation, and other Ocwen business units 

“frequently”  and “loudly” raised this concern. In determining the root cause of various 

issues, she explained, “the answer would almost always be REALServicing and 

the processes that we’re using, would be the answer we would get from the 

business . . . .  [It was a] commonality across all of [the business units] . . . . Everything 

in servicing, every department in servicing.” 

52. These senior leaders’ conclusions are not outliers. Between 2014 and 2016, 

Ocwen assessed REALServicing and also hired an outside consultant to do the same. 
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Both Ocwen and its consultant concluded that REALServicing lacks the basic system 

architecture and design necessary to properly service loans. 

53. Since 2014, Ocwen has also tracked its regulatory violations, risk areas, 

and other failures in spreadsheets named “Risk Convergence Reports.” Each regulatory 

violation, risk item, or failure identified in the report includes a description of the issue, 

the date Ocwen identified the issue, whether the issue is dependent on Altisource, the 

status of any technology fix or other operational remediation, and other information. 

54. Each item in the Risk Convergence Reports is assigned a risk rating, 

ranging from “R1” to “R5.” “R1” is the highest risk rating, which Ocwen defines as: 

“Potential adverse impact of over $5 million”; “Actual or high possibility for fraud, waste 

or abuse”; “Breach of company policy or procedures (frequent, repeat, or disregarding 

policy)”; “Noncompliance with the law or regulation”; or “Material errors or 

irregularities are a reasonable possibility.” 

55. According to Ocwen’s list of items in the Risk Convergence Report, the 

items often resulted from and have continued due to REALServicing failures or system 

limitations. When, for example, Ocwen conducted its first on-site audit of Altisource and 

REALServicing in 2014, Ocwen auditors concluded that, although 70 percent of the 

items contained within the Risk Convergence Report related to “technology projects and 

enhancements” that Altisource was responsible for, little progress was being made to 

resolve the items due to Altisource’s “lack of priority.”  

56. As of August 2015, Ocwen had catalogued 2,803 issues on its Risk 

Convergence Report. Of those 2,803 issues, Ocwen assigned the highest risk rating, 

“R1,” to more than 550 issues, many of which resulted from REALServicing’s 

deficiencies.   

Case 9:17-cv-80495-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/20/2017   Page 15 of 93



16 
 

57. In 2016, Ocwen’s Chief Information Officer and other personnel 

performed an architectural assessment of REALServicing, and reported, among other 

things, that REALServicing had “significant deficiencies represent[ing] significant risk 

and expense to Ocwen” and concluded that the “the most important dimensions of Core 

Technology” to REALServicing, such as performance and scalability, loan type support, 

risk exposure, and organizational capability, compare “unfavorably” to other mortgage 

platforms. 

 REALServicing’s deficiencies impact Ocwen’s ability to lawfully 2.
service loans. 

58. REALServicing suffers from fundamental system architecture and design 

flaws, including a lack of properly managed data, lack of automation, and lack of 

capacity. These flaws have adversely impacted the accuracy of the information that 

Ocwen uses to service loans–and, thus, Ocwen’s ability to service loans–in a number of 

ways.  

59. First, with respect to Ocwen’s data management, REALServicing requires 

the use of more than 10,000 comment codes and flags. Yet, Ocwen lacks a complete data 

dictionary defining its comment codes, flags, and data fields. As a result, Ocwen 

personnel do not share a common understanding of what these comment codes or flags 

mean or how Ocwen personnel should use them.  

60. Ocwen employees also do not understand how changes to certain codes 

impact other codes or work processes. Ocwen’s former Head of Compliance, who 

worked at Ocwen from August of 2013 until September of 2015, testified in May 2016 

that during his tenure at Ocwen he repeatedly requested information on the meaning 

and basic descriptive information of comment codes; how Ocwen’s business units used 
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them; and what downstream activities the codes trigger and what upstream activities 

trigger the codes. He further testified that “neither Ocwen nor Altisource could provide 

that information.” Further, he testified that Ocwen’s use of thousands of REALServicing 

comment codes was “antiquated” and that it was “inappropriate” that Ocwen did not 

have a data dictionary to define these codes and describe their impact on other 

activities. 

61. Second, REALServicing lacks the necessary automation and functionality 

to handle basic servicing operations. In 2015, an Ocwen consultant concluded that 

REALServicing had limited workflows and lacked  automation. As detailed in the next 

subsection and Section III, in certain areas, such as payment processing and escrow, this 

lack of automation has resulted in significant and excessive manual workarounds that 

have created errors in borrowers’ accounts. 

62. Third, REALServicing has lacked the capacity to process the large number 

of loans that Ocwen has acquired and, in part as a result, it has not been functional for 

lengthy periods of time. After Ocwen’s large 2013 and 2014 loan acquisitions, Ocwen’s 

personnel reported “high incidents of system unavailability.” For example, for the year 

of 2014, Ocwen’s officials reported that its loss mitigation system “was down 

approximately 17,000 work hours.” In internal communications in 2014, Ocwen’s Head 

of Loss Mitigation expressed exasperation about the unavailability of Ocwen’s loan 

modification systems: 

I am sorry guys, this has broken my back. Enough is 
enough on daily issues with these systems. We have 
lost more than 15 days of production of past 3 months … I 
need this system up every day and performing. It is clear 
by the issues over the past 3 months that there are 
not any controls on data and system quality. 
(Emphases added.) 
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63. Fourth, REALServicing suffers from various bugs, defects, and failures. 

For example, in 2014, due to programming errors and data not properly converting 

among REALServicing applications, Ocwen sent more than 1,800 borrowers permanent 

loan modification agreements that contained incorrect interest rate, principal payment, 

maturity date, and balloon payment information.   

 Ocwen has relied excessively on manual data entry and reports C.
to address REALServicing’s failures.  

64. Because of REALServicing’s failures and limitations, Ocwen has resorted 

to manual processes, which themselves have resulted in errors. Ocwen’s consultant 

reached the following conclusions—which Ocwen conceded were correct—after 

analyzing REALServicing and interviewing Ocwen business leaders: 

• “[Ocwen’s] lack of business process automation has resulted in excessive 

manual processes to address gaps”;  

• “Manual workarounds and reporting are widely used to compensate for 

insufficient system functionality to complete, track, or control processes”; and 

• “While appearing cost effective, manual controls pose significant risk in 

heightened compliance environment.” (Emphases in original.) 

65. Ocwen creates reports–typically referred to as “control reports”–to catch 

errors and mistakes or data that REALServicing cannot process due to a lack of 

automation and other system deficiencies, but these reports are of limited use for at 

least two reasons.  

66. First, as Ocwen’s former Head of Compliance testified, the reports are only 

effective to the extent that they are based on accurate and complete data. But Ocwen’s 

former Head of Servicing Compliance, who worked for Ocwen from April of 2014 until 
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August 2015, testified in May 2016 that REALServicing lacks the necessary data to 

generate effective control reports and detect problems. She explained, for example, that 

when generating a control report using a certain field in REALServicing, that field is 

“used about five different ways” so the report generates a “whole mish-mash of 

information” that does not help Ocwen personnel understand whether an exception or 

error occurred. 

67. Second, Ocwen’s manual workarounds and processes introduce the risk of 

human error. As Ocwen’s former Head of Compliance testified, the concern that such 

manual processes could result in human error is “one of the sort of classic reasons one 

automates a manual process.” Other former and current Ocwen business unit leaders 

have reiterated this point.   

68. For these reasons, Ocwen’s controls have been ineffective. As Ocwen’s 

former Head of Servicing Compliance testified: “[E]very business unit in the entire 

organization” lacked sufficient controls to prevent mistakes and to detect 

when mistakes occurred. 

 Ocwen’s use of inaccurate and incomplete information has D.
harmed borrowers. 

69. Ocwen’s use of inaccurate and incomplete information resulting from its 

boarding of inaccurate and incomplete information into REALServicing, 

REALServicing’s deficiencies, and Ocwen’s error-prone manual processes has caused or 

is likely to have caused borrowers substantial harm, and resulted in Ocwen 

communicating, orally and in writing, information to borrowers that it knew or had a 

reason to know was inaccurate. 
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70. Ocwen is aware of this substantial harm or likelihood of substantial harm. 

In 2015, Ocwen’s outside consultant conducted interviews with Ocwen business leaders. 

These leaders identified 67 failures—or “pain points”—representing “functional and/or 

technical deficiencies” that “stemm[ed] from systematic and manual processes,” 

including the following: 

• With respect to escrow: a “technical gap causing escrow analysis to be conducted 

incorrectly” and a “manual bankruptcy workaround for loans acquired already in 

bankruptcy, causes information to be deleted from history as new information is 

updated. This information should be disclosed to the borrower in order to 

calculated  escrow accurately”;  

• With respect to insurance disbursements: “no systematic controls exist in to 

prevent duplicate disbursements in REALServicing resulting in 6k -12k incidents 

per year. Personnel must manually remove necessary codes (e.g., paid in full, 

service released)”;  

• With respect to loan modification processes: “[u]pon review of a [loan 

modification] package, terms are found to be incorrect approximately 80% of the 

time (e.g., NPV miscalculation, final modification date incorrect)”;  

• With respect to foreclosure data: “[d]ata between REALResolution [the 

REALServicing application for foreclosures] and REALServicing is not always in 

sync due to lack of adequate system mapping”; and  

• With respect to the payment of borrower taxes: “[a]lthough tax assessment 

information is supposed to be used to project more accurate payments, 

REALServicing automatically uses last years billing amount, even if installments 

for the current year are different.” 
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71. More generally, Ocwen has serviced borrowers’ loans and communicated, 

orally and in writing, with borrowers using inaccurate and incomplete information, 

including information relating to borrowers’ loan terms, amounts received from and 

owed by borrowers, escrow amounts, insurance amounts, and/or loss mitigation and 

foreclosure information. As set forth above and below in Section III, because Ocwen has 

serviced loans based on inaccurate and incomplete information, it has, among other 

things, collected or attempted to collect inaccurate amounts from borrowers, failed to 

timely pay borrowers’ insurance policies, provided borrowers with loan modifications 

with inaccurate terms, and initiated wrongful foreclosure proceedings upon borrowers’ 

loans. 

72. Ocwen’s use of a deficient system of record that results in inaccurate and 

incomplete borrower loan information does not benefit consumers or competition. Such 

a system of record does not result in cost savings, enhanced customer service, or other 

benefit to consumers or competition. 

 OCWEN’S SERVICING FAILURES HAVE MANIFESTED III.
THEMSELVES IN AT LEAST EIGHT DISTINCT WAYS THAT HARM 
BORROWERS 

 Ocwen has mishandled borrowers’ payments. A.

73. Ocwen is required to correctly credit borrowers’ payments, including any 

overpayment or partial payments, consistent with the borrowers’ mortgage notes and 

applicable laws, including Regulation Z. 

74. Ocwen has routinely failed to send borrowers timely and accurate periodic 

statements, failed to timely and accurately credit and apply borrower payments, and 

failed to correct billing and payment errors.  
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75. Each day, Ocwen cashiering personnel manually enter, pull, and match 

entries in REALServicing for more than 45,000 borrower-related transactions, 

including 5,000 payment transactions and more than 40,000 disbursements. Ocwen 

internal business units requested that Ocwen automate REALServicing to process 

borrowers’ payments and disbursements for taxes and insurance. They explained that, 

“due to the volume[,]” there is an “immense need to automate this reconciliation” to 

ensure “no risk for data loss or corruption.”  

76. As Ocwen’s former Head of Compliance testified, Ocwen has a higher risk 

profile in the mortgage servicing industry due its heavy use of manual processes in its 

Cashiering Unit, which handles credits to (e.g., borrowers’ payments) and debits from 

(e.g., disbursements for taxes or insurances) a borrower’s loan balance. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under Regulation Z, Regulation X, the CFPA, 1.
and the FDCPA. 

77. Under Regulation Z, a servicer generally must provide a borrower with a 

periodic statement each month that details, among other things, the amount the 

borrower must pay that month, how the servicer will break down and apply the 

borrower’s monthly payment, all transaction activity since the last statement, and the 

amount of payments in a suspense or unapplied funds account. When a servicer receives 

a full periodic payment for a loan secured by the consumer’s principal residence, it must 

credit the payment as of the date the payment is received unless, among other 

exceptions, the delay in crediting does not result in a charge to the borrower or negative 

reporting to a consumer reporting agency.  

78. If the servicer receives a partial payment and holds it in a suspense or 

unapplied funds account, Ocwen must, after accumulating funds sufficient to cover a 
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periodic payment, treat such funds as a full periodic payment (e.g., an amount sufficient 

to cover principal, interest, and escrow, if applicable, for any given billing cycle). 

79. Under Regulation X, a servicer is also required to have policies and 

procedures reasonably designed to ensure, among other objectives, that the servicer is 

providing accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as required by applicable law, 

such as periodic statements required under Regulation Z. 

80. In addition to the requirements under Regulation Z and Regulation X, a 

servicer is prohibited from engaging in unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and practices 

related to payment crediting and debt collection activities under the CFPA and FDCPA. 

 Ocwen has failed to comply with Regulation Z, Regulation X, the 2.
CFPA, and the FDCPA. 

81. Ocwen has failed to comply with Regulation Z, Regulation X, the CFPA, 

and/or the FDCPA in at least six ways.  

82. First, in numerous instances, Ocwen has sent borrowers periodic 

statements that contain inaccurate information—such as the date when Ocwen received 

a borrower payment or the payment amount owed by a borrower—because of inaccurate 

information in REALServicing. In other instances, even when the information in 

REALServicing has been accurate, REALServicing’s deficiencies have resulted in Ocwen 

sending borrowers periodic statements with inaccurate information related to interest, 

late fees, escrow amounts, prepayment penalty statuses, payment amounts, deferred 

principal balance amounts, and payments that Ocwen should have credited but refused 

to credit and returned to borrowers. As demonstrated by Ocwen’s recurring inaccuracies 

in its periodic statements, Ocwen has also failed to maintain reasonably designed 
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policies and procedures to ensure that it is providing borrowers with accurate and 

timely periodic statements. 

83. Second, Ocwen has failed to properly credit full periodic payments that 

borrowers properly made to Ocwen as of the date of receipt, wrongly resulting in late 

fees, negative credit reporting, and inaccurate loan delinquencies.  

84. Since at least 2014, Ocwen has known that its lockbox vendor, which 

handled its intake of physical payments (e.g., checks) until 2016, was unable to 

accurately record the date when Ocwen received a borrower’s physical payment. As 

Ocwen detailed in its Risk Convergence Reports, this failure has resulted in “delayed 

payment posting, incorrect payment effective dating, late fees assessment, and negative 

credit reporting.”  

85. Ocwen has identified numerous other payment processing errors by its 

personnel and lockbox vendor, including: 

• Inconsistent processing of multiple payments (2 or more checks in one envelope) 

that “cause misapplication of physical payments by applying as an individual 

payment instead of combined multi-payment”;  

• Ocwen’s lockbox vendor’s failure to image correspondence received with 

payments, resulting in payments not being correctly identified “until a borrower 

claim is received. Ultimately, this results in delays in payment posting process, 

late fee assessment, and negative credit reporting;” and 

• Where borrower payments by wire are manually entered and converted by Ocwen 

personnel into REALServicing: “[s]ometimes the file conversion does not convert 

the data properly and the data needs to be reviewed, corrected and uploaded to 
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REALServicing by Cashiering” and “[e]rrors can occur during this manual 

process.” 

86. Even after switching lockbox vendors in 2016, Ocwen continued to identify 

payment processing mistakes. For example, in January of 2016, Ocwen found that 

“$8,420,208 in payments were received but not posted to customer’s accounts.” Ocwen 

concluded: “Management has identified that not applying received payments or loading 

payments multiple times has become a common occurrence.” 

87. Third, Ocwen has failed to timely credit payments from borrowers’ 

suspense accounts when the suspense amount has accumulated sufficient funds to cover 

a full periodic payment. Ocwen has allowed borrowers’ payments to languish in 

suspense accounts for several days, months, and even years. As a result of Ocwen’s 

failure to timely credit payments in suspense accounts, in certain instances, Ocwen has 

charged borrowers late fees and deemed borrowers to be delinquent.  

88. For example, a September 15, 2015 audit by investors of loans Ocwen 

serviced found that: “unapplied/suspense funds were not properly maintained,” and 

that, as of June 2015, more than 4,000 of the investor’s loans had suspense amounts 

“aged over 90 days up to 1,236 days” that totaled more than $2.6 million with amounts 

ranging to $0.01 to more than $27,000. The auditors also found that for the 

miscellaneous suspense account there were more than 2,000 investor loans “with 

amounts over 90 days and up to 680 days and that totaled over $1.9 million with 

amounts [in the suspense account] ranging from $0.01 to $267,475.64.” 

89. Fourth, Ocwen has misapplied borrowers’ payments and miscalculated 

borrowers’ loan balances and amounts due. Once Ocwen receives a payment from a 

borrower, the mortgage contract specifies how Ocwen must credit the payment (e.g., to 
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principal and interest first, then to any late and default fees). Ocwen has identified 

numerous instances where it has misapplied borrowers’ payments and miscalculated 

borrowers’ loan balances and amounts due. For example, in May 2016 Ocwen 

determined that, due to a failed attempt in 2014 to fix a REALServicing technology flaw, 

it was charging incorrect amounts to borrowers and was “not being compliant with the 

terms dictated in the note” which “directly impact  the monthly account statement sent 

to the borrowers.” 

90. Fifth, for borrowers in bankruptcy, Ocwen has failed to process and apply 

payments correctly in accordance with certain bankruptcy requirements. By 2016, 

Ocwen had concluded that REALServicing was broken in a number of ways that 

adversely affected borrowers whose loans were subject to bankruptcy protections, 

including that: 

• “When REALServicing makes a contractual payment using pre- or post-petition 

funds, the payment covers only the principal and interest component. Escrow is 

not paid. This is contrary to what a bankruptcy court expects. Payments should 

only be made for the full contractual amount, including the escrow (as calculated 

for the due date of the payment to be made);”                                     

• “There is no connection between the proof of claim as determined in 

Equator/REALResolution [the system Ocwen uses to process bankruptcy] and 

the pre-petition arrearage balances in REALServicing. The proof of claim figures 

need to become the REALServicing arrearage balances.” 

• “The process of converting a bankruptcy trustee payment to a payment batch is 

highly manual and, therefore, both inefficient and at risk of error. Ocwen receives 

funds from bankruptcy trustees that, generally, need to be applied to borrower 
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accounts as either pre-petition payments, post-petition payments, or bankruptcy 

interests. There are some cases where, due to loan status, funds from the trustee 

are not applied as payment, but are applied to miscellaneous suspense or other 

non-payment accounts. Ocwen receives funds from bankruptcy trustees in a 

single check that usually covers multiple accounts. Ocwen needs to apply the 

funds across the different loans.” 

91. Sixth, based on Ocwen’s above failures, Ocwen has communicated, orally 

and in writing, inaccurate information to borrowers about amounts due from borrowers, 

amounts received from borrowers, dates as to when Ocwen received borrowers’ 

payments, and borrower delinquency statuses. These representations are material to 

borrowers managing their mortgages and are likely to mislead borrowers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances. 

 Ocwen’s payment processing failures have caused significant 3.
borrower harm. 

92. Ocwen’s errors in crediting borrower payments and use of inaccurate 

payment information have significantly harmed borrowers. Ocwen has charged 

borrowers improper late fees; reported inaccurate, negative payment information to 

credit reporting agencies; subjected borrowers to collection calls based on inaccurate 

information; and wrongly threatened borrowers with foreclosure. This conduct has 

harmed borrowers financially and caused borrower frustration and emotional distress. 

93. Even when Ocwen has identified a payment error, in many instances it has 

not properly corrected the error. Pursuant to Ocwen’s policies and procedures, its 

Cashiering Department corrects identified errors through a “reversal request” or 
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correction to a borrower’s account. In many instances, however, Ocwen’s personnel 

have not made the reversal request in a timely or accurate manner. 

94. A March 30, 2016 internal audit found, for example, that Ocwen’s 

Cashiering Department lacked controls to ensure that reversal requests–approximately 

3,700 a month at that time—were timely and accurately processed. The auditors also 

found that, when Ocwen actually processed reversal requests, it processed requests in 

the sample incorrectly. 

95. Not surprisingly, given Ocwen’s significant problems crediting and 

applying borrower payments, a large number of borrowers have complained about 

Ocwen’s payment processing.  

96. From April 2015 to April 2016 alone, Ocwen received complaints from 

more than 68,000 borrowers related to its processing of payments. Ocwen determined it 

made numerous errors in the following categories: “Payments Not Applied Correctly”; 

“Funds Not Applied Correctly”;  “Reversal Requests”; “Late and NSF Fees”; “Payment 

Missing –Not Applied to Account”; “Chargeback Issue - Borrower Disputes Charged 

Back Item”; “Fee Assessed Improperly”; “Payment Not Processed Timely”; “ACH 

Drafted Incorrectly (Incorrect Date, Multiple Drafts, etc.)”; “Payoff Overage”; “ACH 

Payment – Chargeback”; and “Incorrect Data in the Account Statement.” 

97. The experience of one consumer trying to prepay her mortgage in April 

2016 is illustrative of Ocwen’s payment processing errors. According to the consumer, 

she sent Ocwen two checks—one for principal and interest, and one check for her escrow 

payment—on or around April 2, 2016 to prepay her May 2016 mortgage payment. Even 

though the borrower stated that she sent the checks in the same envelope, Ocwen 

records indicate that it received and processed the payments on different days. In 
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addition, when the borrower received her May 2016 mortgage statement, she reports 

that Ocwen had misapplied her April 2016 principal and interest payment into a 

suspense account. As a result, even though the borrower had sent Ocwen funds in 

advance to prepay her mortgage, the consumer reports that Ocwen changed her status 

to delinquent in May 2016, charged her late fees, and made disruptive and embarrassing 

collection calls to her at her home and work.  

98. Another borrower complained that Ocwen began rejecting her monthly 

payments in November of 2014, even though she had been making full payments 

pursuant to a September 2014 loan modification. The borrower states that when she 

contacted Ocwen, an Ocwen case manager told her that Ocwen’s systems had rejected 

the payment because the modified payment amount that Ocwen had recorded in its 

system was a few cents different than the modified monthly payment amount that 

Ocwen had told the borrower to pay in a letter approving her loan modification. After 

supposedly fixing this issue, the borrower reports that Ocwen then began misapplying 

her payments to the previous month (e.g., claiming the borrower made her January 

2015 payment in February 2015). As a result, the borrower began receiving delinquency 

notices and eventually a notice of default from Ocwen indicating that she had a past due 

balance of $2,446.66. The borrower reports that she made repeated attempts to get 

Ocwen to correct its mistakes, but as of October 2016, Ocwen had still not fixed them. 

According to the borrower, this ordeal has caused her a significant amount of stress and 

embarrassment: “It is very embarrassing to come home and see a notice on my door of 

an impending foreclosure especially when I have made and continue to make my 

mortgage payments to Ocwen.” 
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99. Another borrower complained that Ocwen sent him an inaccurate payoff 

quote that caused the borrower’s pending property sale to fall through. In a March 31, 

2016 letter, Ocwen sent the borrower a payoff statement with a payoff balance of 

$88,325.49. A few months later, on September 8, 2016 Ocwen sent the borrower 

another payoff statement that listed a payoff balance of $139,149.61—$50,000 more 

than the payoff quote Ocwen provided just a few months earlier. According to the 

borrower, he contacted Ocwen at least 15 times to dispute the payoff amount, but was 

not able to get Ocwen to address the matter until he submitted a complaint to the 

Bureau and the Texas Attorney General. In a letter dated September 28, 2016, Ocwen 

admitted that “the figures on the payoff statement sent on September 8, 2016 were 

incorrect.” In the letter, Ocwen stated that it had generated a new payoff statement with 

a corrected payoff amount of $84,569.90—more than $55,000 less than the payoff 

quote Ocwen provided to the borrower a few weeks earlier. Ocwen did not explain, 

though, how the error had occurred in the first place. According to the borrower, due to 

the payoff discrepancy, he had to delay the pending sale of the property and the sale fell 

through. He had to find another buyer for his property, which he later did.  

 Ocwen has botched borrowers’ escrow accounts. B.

100. Ocwen has also failed to perform basic tasks associated with managing 

borrowers’ escrow accounts. Specifically, due to systems failures, control lapses, and 

excessive reliance on manual processes, Ocwen has failed to conduct escrow analyses or 

accurate escrow analyses; failed to timely send borrowers accurate escrow statements; 

and failed to properly account for and apply borrower escrow shortage payments. 

101. As of April 2016, Ocwen managed escrow accounts for more than 78 

percent of the loans it services. In 2014, Ocwen hired consultants to review and report 
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upon its escrow practices. The resulting report identified more than three million 

“documented CFPB violations” during 2014, including Ocwen’s failure to: provide 

escrow statements or accurate escrow statements to borrowers; conduct escrow analyses 

or accurate escrow analyses; and accurately impose hazard and flood insurance. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under RESPA, the CFPA, and the FDCPA. 1.

102. RESPA and Regulation X generally require servicers to do the following for 

escrow accounts that they establish in connection with a federally related mortgage 

loan: (1) perform an annual escrow analysis to determine the monthly escrow account 

payments for the next computation year; (2) provide an annual statement reflecting the 

activity in the escrow account during the escrow account computation year and a 

projection of the activity in the account for the next year; (3) refund to the borrower any 

surplus disclosed in an escrow analysis or, if the surplus is less than $50, alternatively 

credit such surplus against future escrow payments; and (4) potentially seek repayment 

for any shortage (i.e., the amount by which a current escrow account balance falls short 

of the target balance at the time of an escrow analysis) disclosed in an escrow analysis.  

103. Under Regulation X, a servicer is also required to have policies and 

procedures reasonably designed to ensure, among other objectives, that the servicer is 

providing accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as required by applicable law, 

such as escrow statements required under Regulation X. 

104. In addition, the CFPA and FDCPA prohibit servicers from engaging in 

unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and practices related to escrow and debt collection 

activities. 
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 Ocwen has failed to comply with RESPA, the CFPA, and the 2.
FDCPA. 

105. Ocwen has failed to comply with RESPA, the CFPA, and/or the FDCPA in 

at least five ways.  

106. First, as of mid-2014, Ocwen had failed to conduct annual escrow analyses 

within the required time period for up to 230,000 delinquent borrowers and up to 

60,000 borrowers who had filed for bankruptcy, in violation of Regulation X.  

107. According to the Head of Ocwen’s Escrow Department, until at least July 

or August of 2014, Ocwen did not conduct these annual analyses for borrowers in 

delinquency.   

108. Ocwen’s failure to conduct escrow analyses for borrowers in delinquency 

also impacted the accuracy of its borrowers’ payoff and reinstatement quotes. Because 

REALServicing’s calculation of delinquent borrowers’ payoff and reinstatement quotes—

the amount they need to pay to respectively payoff or reinstate their loan to become 

current—depends in part on borrowers’ escrow balances, REALServicing miscalculated 

the payoff and reinstatement quotes for many of the loans for which Ocwen did not 

conduct an escrow analysis. Ocwen’s failure to conduct escrow analyses resulted in 

Ocwen providing up to 5,000 delinquent borrowers with inaccurate reinstatement 

quotes.  

109. In some instances, Ocwen failed to perform or timely perform escrow 

analyses during the pendency of a Chapter 13 bankruptcy. Further, Ocwen failed to 

service its loans in accordance with bankruptcy protections and has attempted to collect 

purported escrow shortages or arrears in violation of bankruptcy orders and rules.  
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110. In June 2016, Ocwen’s Head of Bankruptcy testified that more than 

22,000 borrowers in bankruptcy were impacted by Ocwen’s failure to conduct a timely 

escrow analysis and that Ocwen is currently attempting to remediate these borrowers. 

Ocwen’s consumer complaint data indicates that, for the year of April 2015 to April 

2016, at least 8,000 of these 22,000 impacted borrowers complained to Ocwen. 

111. In many instances, even when Ocwen has performed escrow analyses on 

borrowers’ accounts, Ocwen has either: (1) failed to send escrow statements to 

borrowers because of REALServicing system deficiencies; or (2) sent inaccurate escrow 

statements. Consequently, Ocwen has failed to maintain reasonably designed policies 

and procedures to ensure that borrowers receive timely and accurate escrow statements.   

112. As a result, in mid-2014, Ocwen performed escrow analyses for an 

estimated 10,000 to 20,000 borrowers but then failed to generate or timely send the 

required escrow statements to these borrowers within the required year.  

113. When Ocwen has sent escrow statements, in many instances, the escrow 

statements have contained inaccurate information pertaining to the borrowers’ account 

histories, escrow balances, and escrow payments. In September of 2014, Ocwen’s then 

Head of Servicing Compliance acknowledged this failure in internal e-mails: 

Escrow notices not compliant with RESPA, not sent 
timely or not sent at all are huge and are the 
foundation for all else. These are, by the way, the three 
biggest borrower communication issues across the board for 
Ocwen - required content not included, letter not sent, or 
letter not sent timely. This is estimated to impact 
800,000 borrowers or 52% of the Ocwen customer 
base. (Emphases added.)  

114. Third, Ocwen has failed to timely process escrow shortage payments—i.e., 

payments that borrowers made at Ocwen’s request to satisfy a shortage or deficiency in 
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their escrow accounts—that Ocwen needed to pay the borrowers’ insurance or tax 

disbursements, in violation of Regulation X.  

115. Since 2014, Ocwen’s personnel has manually entered a comment code in 

REALServicing when the borrower has paid an escrow shortage. As Ocwen’s auditors 

found in a March 30, 2016 audit, however, Ocwen did not have adequate controls over 

the entry of these comment codes and therefore Ocwen did not catch when its personnel 

failed to manually enter appropriate comment codes relating to escrow shortages. As 

Ocwen’s auditors found, this resulted in “the continued collection of escrow shortage 

amounts” that borrowers already paid. Specifically, Ocwen failed to timely process 

escrow shortage payments for what Ocwen estimates to be 5,000 to 10,000 borrowers.  

116. Fourth, in many instances, Ocwen has miscalculated borrowers’ escrow 

amounts or mistakenly imposed escrow requirements, resulting in Ocwen charging, 

collecting, or attempting to collect, through communications to borrowers, incorrect 

escrow amounts. 

117. Ocwen has miscalculated borrowers’ escrow amounts by mistakenly 

paying borrowers’ insurance premium charges twice; disbursing borrowers’ insurance 

premiums to the wrong insurance companies; creating escrow accounts even though 

borrowers were already paying their insurance premiums or taxes directly to their 

insurance companies or taxing authorities; and failing to account for escrow amounts or 

accurate escrow amounts in borrowers’ loan modification payment amounts (e.g., 

borrowers’ modified monthly mortgage payments), which borrowers learn of only after 

accepting the new modified amount.  
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118. In the bankruptcy context, Ocwen has also failed to generate accurate 

escrow amounts. In late 2014, the Head of Ocwen’s Escrow Department wrote in an 

email, which was forwarded to Ocwen’s Chief Executive Officer:  

I've stressed importance of getting the BK escrow 
balance issues fixed, but no confirmation of root 
cause or target correction date . . . . It's a system issue 
because a bucket that determines the amount of money that 
a customer sends for their monthly payment can change with 
no record of why on the system . . . . Please help get the 
importance across on this issue. If this is not fixed, I 
cannot recommend that we move to analyze BK for the 
portfolio. Even with a control report to catch them, there is 
still risk the balance will be wrong when you actually analyze 
the account. (Emphases added.)  

119. In late 2014, Ocwen’s then Head of Servicing also emailed Ocwen’s Chief 

Executive Officer and asked for additional consulting resources to handle Ocwen’s 

escrow deficiencies because, as Ocwen’s Head of Servicing Operations reported: “you 

are familiar with this issue - the BK escrow balance bucket is wrong and requires every 

BK loan to be manually reviewed and we can still have errors.” 

120. Fifth, as a result of Ocwen’s above failures, Ocwen has communicated, 

orally and in writing, inaccurate information to borrowers about escrow amounts, 

reinstatement amounts, and payoff amounts. These representations are material to 

borrowers managing their mortgages and are likely to mislead borrowers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances. 

 Ocwen’s escrow failures have caused significant borrower harm. 3.

121. Ocwen’s escrow errors have caused significant harm to borrowers, 

including the costs and emotional distress that borrowers suffer when attempting to get 

Ocwen to correct its mistakes.  
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122. This type of harm can disproportionately affect borrowers in bankruptcy.  

As Ocwen’s former Head of Servicing Compliance testified:  

If you have a borrower who is sixty days down or in BK 
[bankruptcy], if an analysis is done and they find that the 
escrow account is short and the payment has to go up by fifty 
bucks…..If you've got somebody that's sixty days down or in 
BK [bankruptcy] and all of a sudden, because of a shortage in 
the escrow account, their payment goes up by fifty bucks, 
that can make a big difference. So it can have a 
disproportionate impact because they're already on the ropes 
financially. 

123. From April 2015 to April 2016, Ocwen received more than 53,000 

complaints relating to its handling of escrow accounts. Ocwen determined it made 

numerous errors in the following categories: “Escrow Analysis Needed, Last Analysis 

Incorrect”; “Escrow Payment Change Inquiry”; “Escrow Info Incorrect or Not Set Up”; 

“Escrow Analysis Needed”; “Escrow Overage Not Received”; “Escrow Payment Change 

Dispute”; “Escrow Analysis Needed due to Payment”; “Negative Escrow Balance”; 

“Escrow Analysis Requested due to Refund”; and “Taxes Escrowed- Paid on Wrong 

Parcel.”   

124. One borrower contacted Ocwen multiple times to complain about an 

incorrect, inflated escrow deficiency. The borrower had previously filed for bankruptcy, 

and by a bankruptcy court order on June 1, 2015, his account was deemed current with 

an escrow deficiency of $530.67. Despite the court order, Ocwen continued to report an 

escrow deficiency of $8,468.03. The borrower complained repeatedly to Ocwen, but to 

no avail. In March 2016, the borrower filed a complaint against Ocwen with the Bureau 

and the Texas Attorney General. In a response letter dated June 3, 2016, Ocwen 

acknowledged that, per the June 1, 2015 court order, the borrower’s account should 

have been deemed current with an escrow shortage of only $530.67. Ocwen also 
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admitted that it had sent the borrower two escrow statements that reflected an 

“incorrect escrow account balance deficiency” and apologized for any “frustrations [the 

borrower had] incurred as a result of the error.” Ocwen agreed to make corrections to 

the borrower’s account, run a new escrow analysis, waive all fees and expenses that 

Ocwen had charged to the account, and amend any negatively reported credit 

information. 

125. The complaint submitted by another borrower typifies the myriad of  

payment processing, escrow, and insurance errors Ocwen makes, and how they can 

drive borrowers into foreclosure. The borrower complained about the following series of 

errors: 

• When the borrower entered into a loan modification in April of 2016, his 

principal balance increased by more than $161,000, but Ocwen was unable to 

explain why his balance increased by this amount;  

• Even though the borrower made his required monthly modification payments on 

time, Ocwen repeatedly failed to post his payments on time or at all; 

• Ocwen charged the borrower for flood insurance that the borrower did not need 

because his property was not in flood zone; and   

• Ocwen then erroneously attempted to foreclose on the borrower. 

126. In a letter dated February 10, 2017, Ocwen admitted to multiple errors in 

the process:  

• Ocwen explained that the increase in the borrower’s principal balance when his 

loan was modified was because the borrower had a negative escrow balance of 

$88,124.55 and $124,912.71 had been capitalized during modification. But Ocwen 

did not explain why the borrower’s principal balance had increased to $161,000.  
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• Ocwen admitted, though, that the negative escrow balance was wrong and based 

on erroneous charges it imposed on the borrower for lender-placed flood and 

hazard insurance: “When the modification was completed the calculations used 

Lenders Placed Flood Insurance and Lenders Placed Hazard Insurance for 

multiple years that were not necessarily due.”  

• As a result of these erroneous charges, Ocwen determined that the borrower 

actually had a positive escrow balance or surplus of $36,788.16 in his escrow 

account, not an negative escrow balance or deficiency of more than $88,000.   

127. In light of these errors, Ocwen stated that it would be “re-modifying the 

loans current terms accordingly” and would attempt to waive the foreclosure fees it had 

imposed on the borrowers’ account. On March 24, 2017, the foreclosure proceedings 

against the borrower were voluntarily dismissed. 

128. This borrower’s experience also illustrates the types of harm that Ocwen’s 

errors impose on borrowers. The borrower described the ordeal as follows: 

I spent one full day a week for the last three and a half years 
dealing with Ocwen, this includes calling the company 
mainly waiting on the phone on hold and talking to 
individuals at their call center . . .  and faxing and emailing. 
Recently I have spent a large amount of time and money 
dealing with the foreclosure proceedings. The costs and time 
included attorney fees and paying for my own counsel, which 
cost between $6,000 and $8,000, to respond to the Notice of 
Foreclosure, amongst other costs. 

 Ocwen has mishandled borrowers’ hazard insurance. C.

129. Ocwen has failed to make timely payments of borrowers’ hazard insurance 

premiums and serviced loans based on inaccurate insurance data that has led to 

wrongful insurance premium charges. 
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 Ocwen’s obligations under RESPA, the CFPA, and FDCPA. 1.

130. Under RESPA and Regulation X, if a borrower’s monthly payment 

includes a payment for hazard insurance, such as homeowner’s insurance, wind 

insurance, or other types of property-related insurance, then the servicer must generally 

make disbursements in a timely manner, on or before the deadline to avoid a penalty, as 

long as the borrower’s payment is not more than 30 days overdue. 

131. In addition, the CFPA and FDCPA prohibit servicers from engaging in 

unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and practices related to debt collection activities and 

in connection with mortgage servicing, including in the context of charges its imposes 

relating to borrowers’ insurance policies, such as flood insurance policies. 

 Ocwen has failed to comply with its RESPA, CFPA, and FDCPA 2.
obligations. 

132. Ocwen has failed to comply with RESPA, the CFPA, and FDCPA in at least 

three ways.  

133. First, in numerous instances since September 2014, Ocwen has failed to 

properly disburse borrowers’ payments to their hazard insurance companies. Due to 

syncing and updating failures between REALServicing and Ocwen’s insurance vendor’s 

system, Ocwen’s insurance vendor did not recognize that numerous Ocwen borrowers 

had escrow accounts and therefore failed to make disbursements to these borrowers’ 

insurance companies. In other instances, incorrect account data in REALServicing has 

resulted in Ocwen making incorrect disbursements for borrowers’ insurance policies. 

Ocwen, for example, made double payments (out of borrowers’ accounts) for the same 

insurance policy on approximately 3,275 accounts, disbursed premiums to wrong 
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payees, and failed to timely disburse funds to pay approximately 40,000 insurance 

premiums. 

134. Ocwen’s failures have resulted in the lapse of hazard insurance coverage 

for more than 10,000 borrowers. As of March 2015, more than: 

• 1,500 of these borrowers were able to reinstate their insurance policy, but had to 

pay a higher premium;  

• 3,000 of these borrowers received letters from Ocwen indicating that it was going 

to impose force-placed insurance on their loans because they lacked hazard 

insurance;  

• 500 of these borrowers had force-placed insurance imposed on their loans by 

Ocwen; and 

• 100 of these borrowers were foreclosed upon by Ocwen. 

135. For borrowers who were forced to pay a more expensive premium to 

reinstate or obtain new hazard insurance coverage, Ocwen’s insurance vendor ultimately 

agreed to provide a credit to the borrower to cover the increase in premium for at least 

three years.  

136.  Second, Ocwen’s use of inaccurate insurance data to service borrowers’ 

loans has led it to charge borrowers for insurance premiums for insurance policies that 

borrowers were not required to maintain. For example, Ocwen has repeatedly used 

inaccurate flood insurance data to service its loans. 

137. In early 2014, a large bank servicer who transferred the subservicing rights 

of its loans to Ocwen audited a sample of  loans where Ocwen had force-placed flood 

insurance policies on borrowers’ properties. For approximately half of the loans it 

tested, the large bank servicer found that Ocwen had imposed force-placed flood 
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insurance on borrowers’ homes, despite the fact that the large bank’s records indicated 

that the borrowers already had their own flood insurance policies in place. 

138. In late 2014, when Ocwen reviewed its escrow processes, it also found that 

it had “[i]nconsistent and/or incomplete flood determination data loaded for all loans 

on REALServicing” and that “[a]ccurate flood determination data is required to ensure 

appropriate tracking of flood insurance.”  

139. In early 2015, when Ocwen audited flood zone data among its various 

service providers, it found more than 3,000 loans for which the flood-zone-related data 

in REALServicing was inaccurate. In July of 2015, Ocwen’s auditors also concluded that 

Ocwen “lacks sufficient controls to ensure lender-placed flood insurance policies do not 

exceed regulatory required coverage amounts.” Ocwen’s auditors also reviewed a sample 

of 40 loans where the property was located in a flood zone and noted: “there were 

several loans where the lender-placed flood insurance policy amounts exceeded the 

required statutory or investor minimum coverage. Further, there were instances where 

gap insurance policies were created, even though the customer independently purchased 

sufficient flood coverage.” 

140. Third, based on Ocwen’s above insurance-related failures, Ocwen has 

communicated, orally and in writing, inaccurate information to borrowers about the 

amount or whether insurance premium charges are due from borrowers. These 

representations are material to borrowers managing their mortgages and are likely to 

mislead borrowers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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 Ocwen’s insurance failures have caused significant borrower 3.
harm. 

141. Ocwen’s insurance failures have caused substantial financial and 

emotional harm to borrowers. From April 2015 to April 2016, Ocwen received 

complaints from more than 19,000 borrowers related to its management of borrowers’ 

insurance policies. Ocwen found that it had made numerous errors relating to force-

placed insurance imposed on borrowers’ accounts, borrowers’ hazard insurance not 

being paid, and insurance refunds not being timely refunded or paid to borrowers. 

142. For example, one borrower complained to Ocwen that it had erroneously 

force-placed flood insurance on his property. According to the borrower, he had to take 

out a loan to pay the more than $4,300 cost of the flood insurance policy. In a May 3, 

2016 letter, Ocwen admitted that “[i]n review of the account, [the force-placed flood 

insurance policy] was due to an incorrect loan number provided by the insurance 

company.”  

143. Another borrower’s experience highlights the difficulty borrowers have 

had in getting Ocwen to correct its insurance errors, as well as the downstream effects 

these errors can have on borrowers’ escrow accounts and payments amounts. This 

borrower complained to Ocwen multiple times about her escrow payments, but was not 

able to resolve her complaints until she submitted a complaint through her state 

regulator. In a May 8, 2015 letter responding to the borrower and the state regulator, 

Ocwen admitted that it had made a “duplicative disbursement for windstorm  hazard 

insurance,” resulting in the borrower being overcharged for insurance. In addition, 

Ocwen conceded that the duplicate wind insurance payment had caused her escrow 
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balance to appear artificially low, which resulted in Ocwen incorrectly increasing the 

borrower’s monthly payment to account for the purported shortage.   

 Ocwen has mishandled borrowers’ private mortgage insurance. D.

144. Ocwen has also failed to timely cancel borrower’s private mortgage 

insurance (“PMI”). Borrowers are generally required to purchase PMI when they obtain 

a mortgage but have a down payment of less than 20 percent, or when they refinance 

their mortgage but have less than 20 percent equity in their property. 

145. Under HPA, servicers are required to automatically terminate a borrower’s 

requirement to pay PMI on the “termination date,” the date when the principal balance 

of the mortgage is first scheduled to reach 78 percent of the original value of the 

property or, if the borrower is not current as of the termination date, the first day of the 

first month beginning after the date that the borrower becomes current on the loan. 

146. Since 2014, Ocwen has failed to comply with the HPA by failing to timely 

terminate borrowers’ PMI after learning that the termination data contained in 

REALServicing was often unreliable or missing altogether. Ocwen ultimately 

overcharged borrowers approximately $1.2 million for PMI premiums, which Ocwen 

later refunded to borrowers.    

 Ocwen has unlawfully marketed and processed payments for E.
add-on products. 

147. Since at least 2011, Ocwen has been directly and materially involved in 

marketing and processing payments from consumers for at least 109 add-on products. 

These products include identity theft protection products, credit monitoring, and other 

financial advisory products or services. 
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 Ocwen’s role in marketing and processing payments for add-on 1.
products. 

148. Until it stopped marketing add-on products in 2013, Ocwen marketed 

add-on products to the borrowers whose loans it serviced. Among other things, Ocwen: 

assisted in the development of add-on product solicitations; reviewed and approved 

each add-on product solicitation; and identified the borrowers whom Ocwen and its 

add-on product vendor would target for a particular marketing campaign. 

 Ocwen has failed to comply with the CFPA by enrolling borrowers 2.
into add-on products through misleading solicitations. 

149. Ocwen has sent borrowers misleading solicitations to enroll them into 

add-on products.  

150. One solicitation was in the form of a voucher for $40 worth of gasoline. 

This solicitation did not clearly or conspicuously disclose that to actually redeem the 

voucher, the borrower had to enroll in the add-on product and remain in it for at least 

one year, during which time the borrower would be obligated to pay a monthly fee of 

$14.95 per month. The solicitation also did not clearly or conspicuously disclose that the 

borrower would receive the $40 in four separate $10 vouchers provided quarterly. This 

information was listed in small print on the second page of the solicitation, and not on 

the face of the enrollment voucher that the borrower signs and submits. 

151. Ocwen also sent a solicitation that appeared to be a check from Ocwen 

made out to the borrower. This check solicitation came in a “fold and tear” envelope and 

included a prominent Ocwen logo in the return address section of the envelope. The face 

of the check included a date, a check number, a routing number, and was made payable 

to the borrower. The solicitation only disclosed in small print directly above the check 
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amount, and in small print on the back of the check, that, by cashing the check, the 

borrower was agreeing to enroll in an add-on product.  

152. Ocwen has also enrolled borrowers into add-on products without proof of 

their affirmative consent. Ocwen did not require its add-on product vendors to provide 

proof that a borrower agreed to enroll in the add-on product before Ocwen began billing 

and collecting payments from the borrower for the add-on product. As a result, unless 

Ocwen specifically requested a copy of the call recording or other proof of enrollment, 

Ocwen did not know whether the borrower actually agreed to enroll in the add-on 

product. And if a borrower complained that he or she did not agree to enroll in the add-

on product, Ocwen has stated that: “Sometimes by not responding to [an add-on 

product] vendor, the vendor assumes you accepted the coverage.”   

153. In addition to its role in marketing and enrolling borrowers into add-on 

products through misleading solicitations, Ocwen processed payments, including billing 

and collecting payments, from these borrowers for these products. 

 Ocwen’s solicitation, enrollment, and payment processing 3.
practices for add-on products have caused significant borrower 
harm. 

154. Ocwen’s role in marketing and processing payments from borrowers for 

add-on products has resulted in significant financial harm to borrowers. In many 

instances, borrowers paid for add-on products that they were misled into enrolling in.  

155. Ocwen’s borrower complaint records reveal that numerous borrowers 

contacted Ocwen to complain that they never agreed to enroll in the add-on products. 

Borrowers also complained that, after questioning Ocwen about the add-on charges, 

they learned that Ocwen enrolled borrowers into such products after the borrowers 
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cashed vouchers or checks, even though borrowers were unaware that cashing such 

vouchers or checks would result in their enrollment in the add-on products. 

 Ocwen has failed to properly identify and communicate with F.
successors in interest. 

156. Between January 2014 and mid-2015, Ocwen failed to implement policies 

and procedures that were reasonably designed to meet the objective of Ocwen properly 

handling accounts for successors in interest to a deceased borrower (“successors”), 

particularly when successors were applying for loss mitigation assistance. As a result, 

Ocwen failed to properly recognize individuals as successors, denied loss mitigation 

assistance to, and, in some instances, ultimately conducted foreclosure sales upon the 

loans of successors who may have been eligible for a loan modification or other loss 

mitigation options. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under Regulation X. 1.

157. Under Regulation X, servicers are required to have policies and 

procedures that are reasonably designed to ensure upon notification of the death of a 

borrower the servicer can promptly identify and facilitate communication with a 

successor with respect to the property secured by the deceased borrower’s mortgage 

loan.  

158. When a borrower passes away, a successor to the borrower’s property 

interest may seek to communicate with a servicer about the deceased borrower’s 

mortgage loan. A successor may want information about the status of the mortgage loan 

obligation prior to assuming the mortgage. A successor may also apply for loss 

mitigation assistance prior to assuming the mortgage in order to determine whether the 

mortgage loan obligation is affordable for the successor.  
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 Ocwen has failed to comply with its obligations under Regulation 2.
X. 

159. Between January 2014 and mid-2015, appropriate Ocwen business units 

did not have policies and procedures to ensure that Ocwen handled successors in 

interest as required under Regulation X. As a result, when potential successors called 

Ocwen, its call center personnel did not provide clear and complete information and 

generally only requested death certificates, a last will and testament, and/or a probate 

order from potential successors, even though Ocwen has required additional 

documentation, such as a letter of testamentary or a letter of administration, to establish 

that an individual’s status as a successor.  

160. Ocwen has also lacked reasonably-designed policies and procedures to 

ensure that it promptly identified and facilitated communications with a successor 

about the appropriate steps and information required for a successor to assume a 

mortgage and obtain a loan modification. Prior to mid-2015, certain Ocwen business 

units, such as Loss Mitigation, had no policies and procedures relating to successors. 

Other business units did have policies and procedures, but they were deficient. As a 

result, when successors have contacted Ocwen to apply for loss mitigation assistance, 

Ocwen personnel have provided them with incomplete or inaccurate information about 

Ocwen’s specific requirements regarding the loss mitigation application and assumption 

process. 

 Ocwen’s failure to comply with its Regulation X obligations has 3.
caused significant harm to successors. 

161. Ocwen’s failure to maintain reasonably-designed policies and procedures 

has made it more difficult for, and in many instances actually prevented, successors 

from obtaining necessary information about the status of a deceased borrower’s 
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mortgage and potential loss mitigation options. Ocwen has estimated that, when it 

incorrectly denied loan modifications on the ground that there was no successor when 

Ocwen’s own records indicated that there was a successor, it has “harmed” at least 202 

borrowers and that there was “probable harm” to 195 borrowers. As of January 2016, 

Ocwen had also initiated foreclosure proceedings on at least 314 of the loans that it 

identified as potentially being impacted by its failures. 

162. For example, one potential successor complained that Ocwen had 

provided her with misinformation about the requirements for receiving a loan 

modification for her deceased mother-in-law’s property. According to the potential 

successor, when she contacted Ocwen to inform it that her mother-in-law had passed 

away and that she and her husband wanted to request loss mitigation assistance to keep 

the property, Ocwen told her that she and her husband would not need to assume the 

mortgage. According to the potential successor, Ocwen later informed her—after she had 

made all required payments under a trial modification—that if she wanted to receive a 

permanent modification, she and her husband would have to assume the mortgage. The 

potential successor also complained that Ocwen had wrongfully charged foreclosure fees 

to the account, even though Ocwen records showed it had placed a foreclosure hold on 

the account.  The potential successor complained to Ocwen, which directed the potential 

successor to its foreclosure firm, to explain the foreclosure fees. When the potential 

successor contacted Ocwen’s foreclosure firm about the foreclosure fees, however, she 

reports that the firm told her that it had not done any work because the foreclosure was 

on hold. 
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 Ocwen has failed to protect borrowers when it has made G.
servicing errors. 

163. Ocwen’s errors at every loan servicing stage have made it even more 

important that the company adequately investigate and respond to borrower complaints 

and notices of errors. These functions can act as a “safety net” to catch borrowers before 

they are further harmed by a servicer’s unlawful conduct. Here, too, Ocwen has failed 

borrowers. Since April 2015, Ocwen has received more than 580,000 complaints and 

written notices of error from more than 300,000 different borrowers.  

164. Since 2014, Ocwen has routinely failed to reasonably investigate, and, 

when appropriate, make corrections in response to borrower complaints and notices of 

errors. These failures have caused serious harm to consumers. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under Regulation X. 1.

165. Under Regulation X, servicers are required to have policies and 

procedures that are reasonably designed to ensure that Ocwen investigates, responds to, 

and, as appropriate, makes corrections in response to complaints by borrowers. Written 

borrower notices that are sent to an Ocwen-designated address and allege certain types 

of errors are considered a qualified written request and notice of error (collectively 

“NOE”) and entitle borrowers to additional protections under RESPA and Regulation X. 

For both complaints and written NOEs, servicers generally are required to conduct a 

reasonable investigation of the alleged error and, as appropriate, make corrections. 

 Ocwen has failed to comply with its obligations under Regulation 2.
X. 

166. Ocwen has failed to comply with the requirements of Regulation X in at 

least two ways. 
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167. First, Ocwen has failed to implement policies and procedures that are 

reasonably designed to meet the consumer complaint handling objectives to respond, 

investigate, and, where appropriate, correct errors.   

168. Per Ocwen’s policy, Ocwen call center personnel are supposed to escalate 

repeat complaints regarding the same issue to a supervisor or a designated call center 

employee, known as the borrower’s “Escalation Relationship Manager.” But, due to 

insufficient policies and procedures and an overreliance on rigid scripting, Ocwen call 

center personnel have failed to adequately resolve the complaint or escalate the call for 

investigation and correction of the error. As a result, borrowers have been forced to call 

Ocwen multiple times about the same complaint before the call center personnel 

escalate the matter for investigation and error correction.  

169. In April 2015, Ocwen implemented new policies and procedures to address 

the difficulty its call center personnel had in recognizing and escalating borrower 

complaints. These policies and procedures, however, were not reasonably designed to 

handle consumer complaints. For example, instead of requiring Ocwen to identify a 

complaint the first time a borrower calls in, the new policies and procedures place the 

burden on the borrower to complain multiple times–at least five times in nine days–

before Ocwen will automatically escalate their complaint for resolution to an Escalation 

Relationship Manager.  

170. As a result, many borrowers have been forced to call Ocwen multiple times 

before Ocwen investigated and corrected their error. For example, of the more than 

450,000 complaints that Ocwen processed from April 2015 through April 2016, 

approximately 68 percent involved borrowers who contacted Ocwen multiple times 

within a 15-day period; approximately 40 percent involved borrowers who contacted 
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Ocwen three or more times within a 15-day period; and approximately 17 percent  

involved borrowers who contacted Ocwen five or more times within a 15-day period.  

171. Ocwen’s policies and procedures have not been reasonably designed to 

ensure that its personnel conduct reasonable investigations of the alleged error in 

complaints. Ocwen’s policies and procedures, for instance, direct Ocwen personnel to 

rely on the information in REALServicing to investigate complaints. Thus, Ocwen’s 

ability to appropriately investigate complaints is largely dependent on the accuracy of 

the information contained within REALServicing. Further, Ocwen’s policies and 

procedures provide little to no guidance to personnel on how to document the step-by-

step basis for their conclusions regarding the validity of an alleged error. 

172. Ocwen’s policies and procedures also provide little or no guidance to 

personnel about how to correct errors. For example, Ocwen’s policies and procedures do 

not detail what factors personnel should consider when recommending remediation, 

including what types of harms and downstream impacts to borrowers they should 

consider. At best, Ocwen’s policies and procedures identify certain forms of remediation 

such as fee waivers and credit reporting corrections, but do not inform personnel when 

these or other forms of remediation are appropriate. Without such guidance, Ocwen 

personnel are left to their own discretion to determine whether an error has occurred, 

and, if so, how to correct the error. 

173. Second, as a result of Ocwen’s above policies and procedures, which also 

apply to NOEs, Ocwen has failed to conduct reasonable investigations and/or, where 

appropriate, make corrections of errors in borrowers’ complaints and NOEs. Among 

other things, Ocwen has relied on inaccurate data in REALServicing, and the Ocwen 

personnel who investigate borrowers’ complaints and NOEs are not required to cross-
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reference Ocwen’s known and documented systemic errors, such as the payment 

processing and application, escrow, and insurance errors, and thus do not consider that 

information in their investigations. Further, in responding to certain complaints and 

NOEs, Ocwen has simply parroted back the information in REALServicing, including 

details set forth in payment and escrow histories, without addressing the errors 

presented by borrowers.  

 Ocwen’s consumer complaint and NOE handling failures have 3.
caused significant borrower harm. 

174. Ocwen’s failure to properly investigate consumer complaints and NOEs 

and correct errors has caused significant consumer harm.  

175. Ocwen’s consumer complaint and NOE failures are illustrated by the  

experience of several borrowers, including those described in Paragraphs 97, 98, 99, 

124, 125, 126, 142, 143, 162, 211, and 212, who complained to Ocwen multiple times in 

order to try to get Ocwen to correct errors.  

176. One borrower repeatedly contacted Ocwen throughout 2014  to have 

Ocwen correct an error with her escrow account. When the borrower’s loan was 

transferred to Ocwen in August 2013, Ocwen set up an escrow account and incorrectly 

began making disbursements for property taxes and property insurance, even though 

the borrower had a tax deferment as part of a program for low income-seniors and paid 

her own property insurance. In July 2014, Ocwen sent the borrower a notice of default, 

which included an escrow balance of $3,841.92, late fees, and other fees and charges. 

After the borrower was unable to get Ocwen to resolve her dispute, she submitted, 

through AARP’s Legal Counsel for the Elderly, a Qualified Written Request and NOE 

regarding the escrow mistakes and the related errors. Ocwen’s response only contained 
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generic account information and did not correct the errors. It was only after the 

borrower’s counsel sent Ocwen another complaint to the Bureau in October 2014 that 

Ocwen responded, in a letter dated December 17, 2014, in which it stated it would 

remove the borrower’s escrow balance, waive late fees, and reduce the borrower’s 

payment amount to $302.43, which was the original and correct amount of the 

borrower’s payment. 

 Ocwen has engaged in unlawful foreclosure practices. H.

177. Ocwen has long touted its ability to service and modify distressed loans, 

claiming, “helping homeowners is what we do.” In fact, Ocwen has failed to accurately 

maintain foreclosure-related information necessary to ensure that it provides borrowers 

with required foreclosure protections. As a result of these and other failures, Ocwen has 

wrongfully initiated foreclosure proceedings and wrongfully conducted foreclosure 

sales. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under Regulation X and the CFPA. 1.

178. Regulation X provides borrowers with a variety of protections when they 

apply for a loan modification or other loss mitigation option, such as a short sale, in 

connection with a mortgage secured by their principal residence. Several of these 

protections are triggered once the borrower submits an oral or written application for a 

loss mitigation option. 

179. Under Regulation X, if a servicer receives a loss mitigation application 45 

days or more before a foreclosure sale, it must provide the borrower an 

acknowledgement letter within five days that states whether the application is 

“complete,” and, if it is not, what additional documents and information the borrower 

must submit to complete the application (“Acknowledgment Letter”). A loss mitigation 
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application is complete under Regulation X when the servicer has received all of the 

information it requires from a borrower to evaluate the borrower’s application for all 

available loss mitigation options (“Complete Application”). An application is facially 

complete under Regulation X if a borrower provides the information and documentation 

that the servicer requests in the Acknowledgment Letter or if no additional information 

is requested in the Acknowledgment Letter (“Facially Complete Application”). 

180. Regulation X also requires that, if a servicer receives a Complete 

Application more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale, it must evaluate the borrower 

for all available loss mitigation options and provide the borrower with a written notice 

within 30 days indicating, among other things, whether it will offer the borrower any 

loss mitigation options (“Evaluation Notice”).  

181. Regulation X also includes requirements relating to a servicer’s access to 

and ability to exchange information with its service providers. Regulation X generally 

requires a servicer to, among other things, have policies and procedures reasonably 

designed to ensure that the servicer is providing appropriate servicer personnel with 

access to accurate and current documents and information reflecting actions performed 

by its service providers, such as foreclosure attorneys responsible for handling Ocwen’s 

foreclosure proceedings. 

182. Regulation X also generally prohibits servicers from, among other things, 

commencing a first notice or filing of a foreclosure (“First Filing”), obtaining a 

foreclosure judgment, or conducting a foreclosure sale if: (1) the servicer discovers that 

additional information or corrections to a previously submitted document are required 

to complete a Facially Complete Application and the borrower has not had a reasonable 

opportunity to complete the application; (2) the servicer has timely received a Complete 
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Application but has not yet evaluated the application; (3) the time for the borrower to 

respond to a loss mitigation offer or to appeal a loan modification denial has not 

expired; or (4) the borrower is performing upon a loss mitigation agreement (e.g., a trial 

loan modification or short-term payment forbearance program).    

183. In addition, a servicer is prohibited from engaging in unfair, deceptive, 

and abusive acts and practices, including in the context of foreclosure activity, under the 

CFPA. 

 Ocwen’s deficient foreclosure policies and procedures violate 2.
Regulation X. 

184. Ocwen uses foreclosure attorneys to provide it with various foreclosure 

services, including commencing and completing foreclosures upon borrowers’ loans, 

and placing “foreclosure holds” on borrowers’ accounts to prevent the initiation of a 

foreclosure or obtain a stay or postponent of a foreclosure. Ocwen’s policies and 

procedures relating to its foreclosure attorneys are deficient, however, as they fail to 

ensure that Ocwen receives accurate and current information reflecting its foreclosure 

attorneys’ actions.  

185. From at least 2014 through at least April 2016, Ocwen has been aware that 

it has not received timely or accurate information from its foreclosure attorneys. For 

example, in 2014, Ocwen’s auditors found that one of Ocwen’s largest foreclosure law 

firms in Florida had failed to timely update Ocwen’s system with current foreclosure 

sale dates for 100 percent of the loan files tested. In response to this finding, the firm 

explained that it “continues for have periodic, on-going access issues within [Ocwen’s 

systems], which at times hinders our ability to comply with the several issues noted 

during the audit.” In another 2014 audit, Ocwen found that another of Ocwen’s Florida 
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foreclosure law firms had failed to upload documents to Ocwen’s system for 100 percent 

of the loan files tested. 

186. The deficiency of Ocwen’s policies and procedures was highlighted again 

in 2015 when Ocwen’s auditors found that its foreclosure law firms had failed to provide 

Ocwen with timely and accurate information. For example:  

• In a 2015 audit of one the Ocwen’s foreclosure law firms in Florida referenced in 

Paragraph 185, Ocwen found that the firm was still not accurately updating 

Ocwen’s system with the correct foreclosure milestone dates. Ocwen described 

the impact as follows: “When incorrect data is inputted into the system, Ocwen 

staff is unaware of the current status of the foreclosure proceedings” and presents 

“data integrity issues.” In response to the 2015 audit, the firm pointed out that 

transferred loans may contain incorrect dates, but stated that it could not update 

those loan files because there was a “hold” placed on transferred loans.  

• In another 2015 audit, Ocwen found that of one of its Oregon foreclosure firms 

had failed to timely upload documentation to Ocwen’s system for 80 percent of 

the loan files tested. The audit report listed the cause as “Some of the Firm 

personnel are not familiar with [Ocwen’s system] document upload.”  

• In another 2015 audit of one of its foreclosure firms in New Jersey, Ocwen found 

that the firm had failed to upload all documents to Ocwen’s systems for 60 

percent of the loan files tested “result[ing] in missing documentation [in Ocwen’s 

system] for SCRA [Servicemembers Civil Relief Act] and PACER checks.” The 

audit identified the reason for the failure as: “The Firm was unaware of the 

requirement for filed and or recorded documentation to be uploaded [to Ocwen’s 

system].” Ocwen’s auditors also described the impact of the failure: “Failure to 
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upload documents to [Ocwen’s system] affects the [ability of the] servicer to view 

and ensure all documents completed by the attorney were accurate.”  

187. The audit findings for these firms are not outliers. In March 2016, Ocwen 

conducted an internal audit of its foreclosure operations and found, for foreclosures 

initiated between July and December 2015, that: 

• “Foreclosure documents are not consistently uploaded on [Ocwen’s system] by 

attorney firms. In 15 (13%) of 120 foreclosure initiation events reviewed, 

documents were not uploaded to [Ocwen’s system] by external counsel.” 

• “Delays occur in uploading foreclosure related documents on [Ocwen’s system]. 

In 12 (30%) of 40 foreclosure initiation events reviewed, documents were 

uploaded to [Ocwen’s system] by external counsel between 3 and 11 days after 

event completion.” 

• “Publication dates updated in [Ocwen’s system] by external attorneys do not 

accurately reflect the event completion date. A review of 30 foreclosures with a 

‘Publication Completed’ event date updated in [Ocwen’s system] identified 18 

(60%) where documentation did not support the event completion date in 

[Ocwen’s system].” 

188. Key Ocwen personnel have also been aware that Ocwen’s foreclosure 

attorneys’ failure to provide accurate and current information has negatively impacted 

Ocwen’s ability to service loans. In December 2015, Ocwen’s Head of Loss Mitigation 

testified that he became aware earlier in 2015 that Ocwen’s systems had missing or 

inaccurate foreclosure sale dates. He explained that Ocwen Loss Mitigation employees 

rely on  theforeclosure sale date to, among other things, determine how many days to 

grant borrowers to return missing documents in connection with their loss mitigation 
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applications. He further testified that he reached out to Ocwen’s Head of Foreclosure to 

inform him that the Loss Mitigation department needed foreclosure sale dates in the 

system and asked him to work with Ocwen’s foreclosure attorneys to ensure that they 

input these dates into Ocwen’s system, but he was unaware of what actions, if any, 

Ocwen took to ensure that this actually occurred. 

189. In May 2016, Ocwen’s Head of Foreclosure also testified that he was aware 

that Ocwen’s foreclosure attorneys had not always provided Ocwen with timely and 

accurate foreclosure information. He further testified that: 

• Some of Ocwen’s attorney managers tested the accuracy of the data Ocwen’s 

foreclosure firms entered into Ocwen’s systems, but acknowledged that not all of 

Ocwen’s attorney managers follow this practice and that the practice was not 

required by Ocwen’s policies and procedures. 

• Ocwen’s system prevents foreclosure attorneys from making any changes to the 

foreclosure sale date when there is foreclosure hold on an account, and that 

Ocwen did not have a policy that required its foreclosure attorneys to contact 

Ocwen with any updated foreclosure sale date information (since they could not 

make changes in the system) when a foreclosure hold was in place.  

190. As a result of Ocwen’s policies and procedure deficiencies, Ocwen has 

initiated foreclosures, obtained foreclosure judgments, and conducted foreclosure sales 

on borrowers’ accounts in which Ocwen had placed a foreclosure hold. As of May 2016, 

Ocwen has maintained a daily report, which it calls the “Dual Tracking Report,” that 

tracks the date, identity of the borrower, and reasons why Ocwen initiated a foreclosure, 

obtained a foreclosure judgment, or conducted a foreclosure sale even though a 

borrower’s account had a foreclosure hold.  
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191. Below are two charts from one of Ocwen’s Dual Tracking Reports. The first 

chart catalogues instances where Ocwen initiated a foreclosure proceeding even though 

Ocwen had placed a foreclosure “hold” on the loan, a process known as “dual tracking.” 

The chart identifies the reason or root cause for each “[d]ual [t]rack violation,” such as 

“attorney proceeded while the file was on hold.” The chart shows that, by Ocwen’s own 

analysis, between November 2015 and April 2016, Ocwen attorneys initiated one 

hundred and twenty foreclosure proceedings when the subject loan was subject to a 

foreclosure hold. 

 
 

192. The second chart below indicates the reasons that borrowers’ accounts 

were subject to foreclosure holds. It shows that the vast majority of the foreclosure holds 

that Ocwen violated were in place because borrowers had submitted a completed loan 

modification package, and thus were potentially subject to Regulation X foreclosure 

protections.    
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 Ocwen initiated foreclosures and conducted foreclosure sales in 3.
violation of Regulation X and the CFPA. 

193. Ocwen has initiated First Filings, obtained foreclosure judgments, and 

conducted foreclosure sales in violation of Regulation X and the CFPA in at least five 

ways. 

194. First, Ocwen has inappropriately made at least one thousand foreclosure 

First Filings at the time that it was still evaluating Complete Applications it had 

previously and timely received from borrowers on or after January 10, 2014. 

195. Second, in numerous instances, Ocwen has inappropriately obtained 

foreclosure judgments and conducted foreclosure sales on the homes of borrowers who 

had a mortgage secured by their principal residence, had timely sent Ocwen a Complete 

Application more than 37 days before a pending foreclosure sale on or after January 10, 

2014, and: (1) were still waiting for Ocwen to evaluate their Complete Application; (2) 

still had time to accept loss mitigation options that Ocwen had offered to them; or (3) 

were performing upon loss mitigation agreements.  
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196. Third, in numerous instances, Ocwen has inappropriately conducted 

foreclosure sales on the homes of borrowers who had a mortgage secured by their 

principal residence and had timely sent Ocwen a Facially Complete Application more 

than 37 days before a pending foreclosure sale on or after January 10, 2014. After these 

borrowers submitted Facially Complete Applications, Ocwen determined it needed 

additional information. Ocwen sent these borrowers a letter requesting that they submit 

the additional information and gave the borrowers a deadline, usually 30 days, to 

submit that information, but then foreclosed on the borrowers before that deadline.  

197. Fourth, in numerous instances, Ocwen has inappropriately conducted 

foreclosure sales on the homes of borrowers before the deadline it provided these 

borrowers to submit missing documents. These borrowers had submitted incomplete 

applications for loss mitigation assistance. Ocwen sent the borrowers letters requesting 

that they submit the missing documents or information and gave the borrowers a 

deadline, but then foreclosed before that deadline. 

198. Ocwen’s Head of Loss Mitigation has conceded that foreclosing on 

borrowers before the deadlines it communicated to borrowers to submit additional or 

missing information is deceptive and confuses borrowers. These representations are 

material to borrowers and are likely to mislead borrowers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. These borrowers reasonably interpret Ocwen’s request for additional or 

missing information to evaluate the borrowers’ loss mitigation applications to mean that 

Ocwen will not foreclose on them before the expiration of the deadline Ocwen provided 

for submitting the additional or missing information.  

199. In an email with the subject “Sale Date before Missing Doc Expiration,” an 

official in Ocwen’s Loss Mitigation department wrote: 
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Please confirm if our missing letter states that if they don’t 
send a complete package we will go ahead with sale 
irrespective of the missing doc due date. To me that does 
not sound right, where we inform the borrower to 
send in documents by a date but go ahead with sale 
prior to expiration of that date. (Emphasis added.) 

The Head of Ocwen’s Loss Mitigation Department agreed, responding: 

If there is no denial on the current instance you 
should not be going to sale, period. Even though we 
have disclosure language around 37 days before FC and 7th 
day at midnight you will get hit with UDAP every 
single time you do not follow the rules above. You need to 
think like the customer which is without a denial you will 
still think you have time. (Emphases added) 

200. Fifth, Ocwen has inappropriately conducted foreclosure sales on the 

homes of borrowers who were performing upon agreements for loss mitigation options, 

such as a loan modification. The borrowers accepted and were performing upon the 

terms of the options—for example, by making trial payments according to the terms of a 

loan modification. Even though the borrowers had been doing everything they were 

supposed to do, Ocwen unilaterally breached the terms of its loss mitigation agreements 

with borrowers and foreclosed on their loans. 

 Ocwen’s foreclosure failures have caused significant borrower 4.
harm. 

201. Aside from the obvious harm to any borrower whose home is wrongfully 

foreclosed upon, Ocwen’s illegal foreclosure practices have also caused significant 

financial harm, emotional distress, negative credit reporting, and other harm to 

borrowers. 

 OCWEN HAS FAILED TO PROVIDE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE IV.
LOAN INFORMATION TO NEW SERVICERS 

202. Since 2015, Ocwen has sold hundreds of thousands of its rights to service 

borrowers’ loans, also referred to as mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), to new 
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mortgage servicers. Ocwen has failed, however, to provide complete and accurate 

borrower loan information to the new servicers or to notify new servicers of errors that 

are likely to impact the accuracy and completeness of the transferred borrower records. 

 Ocwen’s obligations under Regulation X. A.

203. Regulation X requires a transferor servicer to maintain policies and 

procedures reasonably designed to ensure that it can timely transfer all information and 

documents in its possession or control relating to the transferred loan to the new 

servicer in a form and manner that ensures the accuracy of the transferred information 

and documents and that enables the new servicer to comply with applicable laws and 

the terms of the new servicer’s obligations to the owner or assignee of the mortgage loan 

(“investor guidelines”). 

 Ocwen’s failure to comply with Regulation X. B.

204. Ocwen has failed to comply with Regulation X’s policy and procedure 

requirements relating to transfers in at least two ways. 

205. The first deficiency in Ocwen’s policies and procedures relates to the form 

and manner in which Ocwen has transferred borrower loan information to new 

servicers. As part of a loan transfer, Ocwen provides new servicers with raw loan-level 

borrower data, but does not provide adequate means to interpret that data. In 

particular, Ocwen’s policies and procedures do not require it to provide new servicers 

with a complete and accurate data dictionary that defines the more than 10,000 

comment codes and flags that Ocwen has used to service borrowers’ loans. Instead, 

Ocwen’s policy calls for the production of a more limited data dictionary that only 

includes the current definitions for the comment codes and flags, but omits the historic 

definitions of comment codes or flags whose use or meaning has changed over time. As a 
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result, new servicers have no way of knowing the meaning of the codes or flags in 

borrower account history or how they were used. 

206. Ocwen has also provided new servicers with summary reports for certain 

populations of borrowers, such as those in loss mitigation or foreclosure. But these 

reports omit critical information that the new servicer needs to provide borrowers with 

the protections to which they are entitled under applicable law, and Ocwen’s policies 

and procedures do not require it to provide this information to the new servicer. For 

example, prior to November 2015, Ocwen failed to provide information for the loans 

being transferred in a form that new servicers could understand whether borrowers had: 

• A foreclosure sale date close to the transfer date, which new servicers needed in 

order to avoid erroneously foreclosing on the borrower, who may have been 

entitled to protections under Regulation X or other applicable laws; and 

• Previously filed for bankruptcy and had obtained a discharge in that proceeding, 

which the new servicer would need to know in order to comply with applicable 

federal law and bankruptcy court orders.  

207. Second, Ocwen’s policies and procedures have failed to ensure that, prior 

to transferring loans to a new servicer, Ocwen has disclosed known inaccuracies 

and errors that may or have impacted the accuracy or completeness of the 

transferred borrower loan records and the new servicer’s ability to comply with 

applicable law and investor guidelines. Ocwen has not disclosed, for example, errors it 

tracks in its Risk Convergence Reports or audit findings that Ocwen knew or should 

have known impacted the accuracy or completeness of the loan information and the new 

servicer’s ability to comply with applicable law and investor guidelines.   
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208. Ocwen’s Head of Servicing Transfers testified, for example, that he was not 

aware if Ocwen had disclosed to new servicers that Ocwen had: 

• Incorrectly calculated certain borrowers’ reinstatement quotes, including those in 

demand letters and foreclosure affidavits;  

• Failed to credit payments made by up to 10,000 borrowers to satisfy their escrow 

shortages;  

• Failed to make payment changes relating to escrow changes for up to 22,000 

borrowers in bankruptcy; and 

• Initiated unlawful foreclosure proceedings upon borrowers, in violation of 

Regulation X. 

 Ocwen’s failure to transfer complete and accurate borrower C.
records has caused significant borrower harm. 

209. Ocwen’s failure to transfer complete and accurate borrower records and 

disclose known errors to new servicers impacts borrowers after their loans have been 

transferred to a new servicer.  

210. According to Ocwen’s records, from April 2015 to April 2016, Ocwen 

received more than 6,800 complaints from borrowers related to the transfer of their 

loans by Ocwen to a new servicer.  

211. For example, one borrower complained that his monthly payment amount 

increased by 47 percent when Ocwen failed to correct its escrow errors before 

transferring the borrower’s loan to a new servicer. In June 2014, Ocwen approved the 

borrower for a loan modification agreement that reduced his monthly payment to 

$1,639.07. Around November 2015, Ocwen transferred the borrower’s loan to a new 

servicer. In March 2016, the new servicer conducted an escrow analysis and determined 

Case 9:17-cv-80495-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/20/2017   Page 65 of 93



66 
 

that the borrower had an escrow shortage of $9,164.13, and that, as a result, the 

borrower’s payment would increase by $777.49, from $1,639.07 to $2,398.54. The 

borrower contacted Ocwen when the new servicer was unable to explain why the 

borrower had such a large escrow shortage. In a June 1, 2016 letter, Ocwen admitted 

that it had made an “error in its escrow application at the time of modification.” As a 

result, Ocwen only capitalized a portion of the borrower’s total escrow balance when it 

modified the borrower’s loan. To correct its error and unbeknownst to the borrower, 

Ocwen reduced the balance in the borrower’s escrow account two days before 

transferring the loan that left the borrower’s escrow account with a negative balance of 

$4,440.91. The borrower reports that he was eventually forced to retain an attorney, pay 

more than $5,000 in legal fees to ensure that Ocwen correct its error, and obtain a new 

repayment plan with the new servicer to cover the escrow shortage. 

212. Another borrower complained that Ocwen did not transfer complete 

information about his payments and loan modification to the new servicer. As a result, 

the new servicer refused to recognize the borrower’s loan modification and stated that 

the borrower owed more than $10,000 in past due payments. When the borrower 

complained to Ocwen, it admitted in a letter that the borrower had made his required 

modification payments but that Ocwen had failed to properly apply the funds. Ocwen 

also admitted that it had been attempting to correct its payment application error 

through a reversal request on the borrower’s account so it could reapply the borrowers’ 

payments, but had incorrectly processed the reversal request. And then before Ocwen 

could complete its second attempt at a reversal request to fix its error, Ocwen had 

transferred the loan to the new servicer. Instead of alerting the new servicer to its 

mistakes, Ocwen had simply transferred the borrower’s loan, leaving the $19,182.69 in 
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payments that the borrower had made pursuant to his loan modification agreement in a 

suspense account. 

 OCWEN HAS FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY REMEDIATE HARM TO V.
BORROWERS 

213. Ocwen is aware that its servicing failures have caused significant harm to 

borrowers and that these failures can have devastating consequences.  

214. Despite its awareness of the harm it has caused, Ocwen has had no 

consistent policy, procedure, or practice for providing borrower remediation, even when 

it has identified a systemic failure that could harm numerous borrowers. 

215. Ocwen has lacked a systematic process to track and analyze errors it learns 

of through borrower complaints or NOEs to determine whether other borrowers may 

have been harmed by the same errors. As a result, Ocwen has typically only corrected 

errors or provided remediation to those borrowers who have complained (assuming 

Ocwen recognizes the call as an actual complaint, investigates, and/or makes a 

correction) or submitted an NOE, but generally has not corrected the same or similar 

errors for other borrowers who did not complain. 

216. Ocwen also has not had policies or procedures requiring it to determine 

whether a risk item on its Risk Convergence Report has impacted or harmed borrowers, 

or whether borrower remediation is required, before it “closes” that risk item. 

217. Instead, Ocwen has focused on operational remediation to correct the 

error and prevent any future impact on borrowers. As a result, in many instances, 

Ocwen has failed to identify the borrower population that was impacted by a given risk 

item or to provide full remediation to that population. Instead, Ocwen generally 
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provides borrower remediation only when a borrower complains to Ocwen or when a 

court or regulator requires Ocwen to provide a borrower with relief. 

218. As Ocwen’s former Head of Servicing Compliance testified in May of 2016:  

The company didn't have a policy or a protocol [for borrower 
remediation]. And with all of the issues, you saw how many 
issues there were [on the Risk Convergence Report], there 
just wasn't an appetite to back up and create an approach to 
this. Would I have liked that to have happened, I would have 
loved it, but it did not happen and there wasn't an appetite 
for it. 

219. Ocwen’s “appetite” for borrower remediation appears to have been further 

diminished when the remediation could have a significant financial impact on Ocwen. 

For example, in one email, Ocwen personnel discussed Ocwen’s auditors’ findings that 

Ocwen lacked “processes to review and ensure compliance with state laws for negative 

amortization” relating to adjustable rate mortgages, and whether to review impacted 

loans and provide borrowers with remediation. After analyzing the potential $21 million 

in costs for Ocwen to remediate, Ocwen declined to do so due to the “substantial, 

negative financial impact and Legal confirmation that [Privileged material redacted] is 

sufficient justification to forego the lookback.” 

220. Ultimately, Ocwen’s former Head of Compliance conceded in testimony 

that Ocwen should remediate borrowers who were harmed by Ocwen’s errors and 

suffered potential harm. When asked if Ocwen did so, she conceded: “Could the 

company have done more? Absolutely.” 
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VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT  

221. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit covered persons from engaging “in any unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice.”  

222. Acts or practices are unfair under the CFPA if “the act or practice causes or 

is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which are not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers” and “such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

223. An act or practice is deceptive if it misleads or is likely to mislead the 

consumer; the consumer’s interpretation is reasonable under the circumstances; and the 

misleading act or practice is material. 

224. Section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), prohibits 

covered persons from committing any act or omission in violation of a Federal 

consumer financial law. 

225. Section 1002(14) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14), defines the FDCPA, 

RESPA, TILA, and HPA as Federal consumer financial laws.  

COUNT I 
Ocwen’s Use of Inaccurate and Incomplete Information to  

Service Loans is Unfair 
 

226. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

227. In numerous instances since January 2014, Ocwen has used inaccurate 

and incomplete information to service borrowers’ loans because it has input inaccurate 

and incomplete information about borrowers into its REALServicing system of record, 

REALServicing has generated inaccurate information about borrowers’ loans due to 
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system deficiencies, and/or Ocwen’s manual processes have themselves resulted in 

errors. This inaccurate and incomplete information relates to borrowers’: 

 Loan terms, including interest rate(s), balloon payments, and maturity a.

dates;  

 Amounts received from and owed by borrowers, including monthly b.

payments and the date Ocwen received the payments, unpaid fees, 

payoff amounts, and reinstatement amounts;  

 Escrow amounts, including borrowers’ escrow balances, disbursements c.

made on behalf of borrowers, and escrow shortages;  

 Insurance coverage, disbursements, and amounts due, including d.

premiums Ocwen charged to borrowers for hazard insurance, flood 

insurance, and purchase mortgage insurance; and/or 

 Loss mitigation and foreclosure information, including information e.

required of borrowers to complete loss mitigation applications, terms 

of loan modification agreements, and the dates of pending foreclosure 

sales. 

228. Ocwen’s use of inaccurate or incomplete information to service loans 

causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers, such as the unlawful 

commencement of foreclosures, unlawful foreclosure sales, improper handling of loss 

mitigation applications, misapplication of borrowers’ payments, collection and billing of 

inaccurate and incorrect amounts, imposition of inappropriate fees and charges, 

inaccurate delinquency statuses, inaccurate negative credit reporting, and/or emotional 

distress. 
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229. These injuries cannot be reasonably avoided by consumers, who do not 

choose their mortgage servicer, and are not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition.  

230. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraph 227 constitute unfair 

acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a) and (c) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT II 
Ocwen’s Deceptive Acts and Practices Regarding Loan Terms and Status 

 
231. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

232. In numerous instances since January 2014, in the course of servicing 

mortgage loans and collecting debts from consumers, Ocwen has represented to 

borrowers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that their loans have 

certain unpaid balances; monthly payments; delinquency statuses; unpaid fees; 

reinstatement amounts; escrow amounts due; payoff amounts due; insurance amounts 

due; and/or other amounts due.  

233. In truth and fact, in numerous instances the material representations set 

forth in the above-referenced Paragraph 232 were false, misleading, or were not 

substantiated at the time the representations were made, including but not limited to 

representations made where Ocwen had knowledge or reason to believe that: 

 The prior servicer data and records upon which it was relying were a.

inaccurate or missing but it had failed to obtain or review information 

substantiating the accuracy of the data prior to collecting or foreclosing 

on borrowers’ loans; 
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 Its system of record contained inaccurate information due to system b.

errors and limitations, manual entry errors, and incorrect information 

provided by service providers but it had failed to obtain or review 

information substantiating the accuracy of the data prior to collecting 

or foreclosing on borrowers’ loans; and/or 

 Consumers had disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or c.

accuracy of Ocwen’s information but it had failed to obtain or review 

information substantiating the accuracy of the information, or failed to 

consider the consumers’ disputes, prior to collecting or foreclosing on 

borrowers’ loans. 

234. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraphs 232-233 constitute 

deceptive acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT III 
Ocwen’s Unfair Foreclosure Practices 

 
235. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

236. In numerous instances since January 2014, in connection with servicing 

mortgage loans, Ocwen has unilaterally breached contracts with borrowers by 

foreclosing on their loans even though the borrowers were performing on agreements on 

loss mitigation options.  

237. Ocwen’s actions caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to 

borrowers that borrowers could not reasonably avoid themselves and that are not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to borrowers or to competition. 
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238. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraph 236 constitute unfair 

acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a) and (c) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT IV 
Ocwen’s Deceptive Foreclosure Communications 

 
239. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

240. In numerous instances since 2014, in connection with servicing mortgage 

loans, Ocwen misrepresented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that 

borrowers had a certain amount of time, typically 30 days, to submit additional 

information that Ocwen needed to complete and evaluate their loss mitigation 

applications and that borrowers would not be foreclosed on while that request was 

pending. 

241. In truth and in fact, while Ocwen’s requests for additional information it 

needed to complete and evaluate borrowers’ loss mitigation applications were pending, 

Ocwen would foreclose on the borrowers. 

242. The representations set forth in Paragraphs 240 were false or misleading 

and were material to borrowers’ decisions relating to their mortgages. 

243. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraphs 240-241 constitute 

deceptive acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT V 
Ocwen’s Unfair Billing and Processing of Payments for Add-On Products  

 
244. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

245. In numerous instances since July 2011, in connection with Ocwen’s 

servicing of a borrower’s mortgage loan, Ocwen enrolled consumers in add-on products 
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without their consent and then billed, collected, and processed payments from these 

consumers.  

246. Ocwen’s actions caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to 

borrowers that borrowers could not reasonably avoid themselves and that are not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to borrowers or to competition. 

247. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraph 245 constitute unfair 

acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a) and (c) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT VI 
Ocwen’s Deceptive Marketing of Add-On Products 

 
248. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

249. In numerous instances since July 2011, while marketing and soliciting 

borrowers to enroll in add-on products in connection with its servicing of mortgage 

loans, Ocwen has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that the 

borrower was receiving a cash voucher or  a refund check.   

250. In truth and in fact, Ocwen was soliciting the consumer to enroll in add-on 

products. In numerous instances, Ocwen failed to disclose, or disclose adequately, the 

material terms and conditions of the offer, including that in order to redeem the voucher 

or check the borrower had to enroll in an add-on product, which included a monthly fee. 

In numerous instances, Ocwen also failed to disclose or disclose adequately that in order 

to redeem the voucher, borrowers had to remain enrolled in the add-on product for at 

least a year and pay monthly fees, and that the borrowers would receive the value of the 

voucher in quarterly installments.  
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251. The representations set forth in Paragraphs 249-250, and Ocwen’s failure 

to disclose, or disclose adequately, the material terms and conditions of the offer, 

constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE TRUTH-IN-LENDING ACT 

252. TILA and its implementing regulation, Regulation Z, at 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.36(c)(1), prohibit certain acts and practices and contain certain requirements 

relating to payment processing in connection “with a consumer credit transaction 

secured by a consumer’s principal dwelling.” 

253. “Consumer credit” as defined by Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(12) 

means, “credit offered or extended to a consumer primarily for personal, family, or 

household purposes.”   

254. “Credit” as defined by Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(14) means “the 

right to defer payment of debt or to incur debt and defer its payment.” 

255. A “dwelling” as defined by Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(19), means 

a “residential structure that contains one to four units, whether or not that structure is 

attached to real property. The term includes an individual condominium unit, 

cooperative unit, mobile home, and trailer, if it is used as a residence.”  

256. Ocwen is the servicer of consumer credit secured by consumers’ principal 

dwellings where it services mortgages that have been extended to consumers primarily 

for personal, family, or household purposes and secure consumers’ principal residential 

structures that contains one to four units.  
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COUNT VII 
Ocwen’s Failure to Timely and Appropriately Credit Payments 

 
257. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

258. As of January 10, 2014, Regulation Z generally requires Ocwen, when it 

receives a full periodic payment, to credit the payment as of the date of receipt unless 

the failure to do so does not result in a charge to the borrower or negative reporting. 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.36(c)(1)(i). If Ocwen retains a partial payment, or a payment less than the 

full periodic payment, which it holds in a suspense or unapplied funds account, Ocwen 

must also, after an accumulation of sufficient funds to cover a periodic payment, treat 

such funds as a periodic payment. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(c)(1)(ii).   

259. Further, under Regulation Z, Ocwen must, subject to certain exceptions, 

provide borrowers with a monthly periodic statement or billing statement detailing 

information such as the amount due, how Ocwen will break down and apply monthly 

payments, all payments received since the last statement, the total of all payments 

received since the beginning of the current calendar year, all transaction activity since 

the last statement, and the amount of payments in a suspense or unapplied funds 

account. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.41(d).   

260. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has failed to timely 

and appropriately credit full periodic payments made by borrowers as of the date of 

receipt. 

261. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has failed to timely 

and appropriately credit borrowers’ payments it is holding in suspense accounts, where 

Ocwen, after an accumulation of sufficient funds to cover a periodic payment in 

Case 9:17-cv-80495-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/20/2017   Page 76 of 93



77 
 

borrowers’ suspense accounts, has failed to treat such funds as a periodic payment as of 

the date of receipt. 

262. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has failed to send 

borrowers periodic statements accurately detailing information such as the amount due, 

how Ocwen will break down and apply monthly payments, all payments received since 

the last statement, the total of all payments received since the beginning of the current 

calendar year, all transaction activity since the last statement, and the amount of 

payments in a suspense or unapplied funds account. 

263. The acts and practices described in Paragraphs 260-262 constitute 

violations of 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.36(c)(1)(i) and (ii), 1026.41(d), and  1036(a)(1)(A) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

264. Section 808 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, prohibits debt collectors, 

such as Ocwen, from engaging in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt 

to collect any debt.   

265. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors, 

such as Ocwen, from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means 

in connection with the collection of any debt. Section 807(2) prohibits the false 

representation of the character, amount, or legal status of the debt. Section 807(10) 

prohibits debt collectors from using any false representation or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer. 

266. The term “consumer” as defined in Section 803(3) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a(3), means “any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt.” 
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267. The term “debt” as defined in Section 803(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a(5), means “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay money 

arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance or services which 

are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” 

268. The term “debt collector” as defined by Section 803(6) of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(6) means, in relevant part, any person who “uses any instrumentality of 

interstate commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the 

collection of any debts” or who “regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly or 

indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another.” It does not include 

a person collecting debts owed to another to the extent the debts were not in default at 

the time that the person obtained them. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii). 

269. Ocwen acquires servicing rights to some mortgages that are in default at 

the time of transfer and proceeds to collect on those mortgages. With respect to those 

debts, Ocwen is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA because it regularly collects or 

attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or 

due another and its collection activities are covered by the FDCPA.  

COUNT VIII 
Ocwen’s Use of Inaccurate and Incomplete Information to  

Service Loans is Unfair 
 

270. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of  Paragraphs 1-220. 

271. In numerous instances since January 2014, Ocwen has used inaccurate 

and incomplete information, including incorrect data and incomplete or missing 

documentation, to service borrowers’ loans that were in default when Ocwen acquired 
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the rights to service such loans. This inaccurate and incomplete information relates to 

borrowers: 

 Loan terms, including interest rate(s), balloon payments, principals, a.

including deferred principals, and maturity dates;  

 Amounts received from and owed by borrowers, including monthly b.

payments and the date Ocwen received the payments, unpaid fees, 

payoff amounts, and reinstatement amounts;  

 Escrow amounts, including borrowers’ escrow balances, disbursements c.

made on behalf of borrowers, escrow surpluses, and escrow shortages;  

 Insurance coverage, disbursements, and amounts due, including d.

premiums Ocwen charged to borrowers for hazard insurance, flood 

insurance, and purchase mortgage insurance; and 

 Loss mitigation and foreclosure information, including information e.

required of borrowers to complete loss mitigation applications, terms 

of loan modification agreements, and the dates of pending foreclosure 

sales. 

272. Ocwen’s use of inaccurate or incomplete information to service loans 

causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers, such as the unlawful 

commencement of foreclosures, unlawful foreclosure sales, improper handling of loss 

mitigation applications, misapplication of borrowers’ payments, collection and billing of 

inaccurate and incorrect amounts, imposition of inappropriate late and other fees and 

charges, inaccurate delinquency statuses, inaccurate negative credit reporting, and/or 

emotional distress. 
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273. These injuries cannot be reasonably avoided by consumers, who do not 

choose their mortgage servicer, and are not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition.  

274. Ocwen’s acts and practices as described in Paragraph 271 constitute unfair 

acts and practices in violation of Section 808 of the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, and § 

1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

COUNT IX 
Ocwen’s Deceptive Debt Collection Practices 

 
275. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

276. In numerous instances since January 2014, Ocwen has represented to 

borrowers whose loans Ocwen acquired the servicing rights to when the loan was in 

default, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, in communications with 

borrowers, that their loans have certain unpaid balances; monthly payments; 

delinquency statuses; unpaid fees; reinstatement amounts; escrow amounts due; payoff 

amounts due; insurance amounts due; and other amounts due. 

277. In truth and fact, in numerous instances the material representations set 

forth in the above-referenced Paragraph 276 were false or misleading, or were not 

substantiated at the time the representations were made, including but not limited to 

representations made where Ocwen had knowledge or reason to believe that: 

 The prior servicer data and records upon which it was relying were a.

inaccurate or missing but it had failed to obtain or review information 

substantiating the accuracy of the data prior to collecting or foreclosing 

on borrowers’ loans; 
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 Its system of record contained inaccurate information due to system b.

errors and limitations, manual entry errors, and incorrect information 

provided by service providers but it had failed to obtain or review 

information substantiating the accuracy of the data prior to collecting 

or foreclosing on borrowers’ loans; and 

 Consumers had disputed, challenged, or questioned the validity or c.

accuracy of Ocwen’s information but it had failed to obtain or review 

information substantiating the accuracy of the information, or failed to 

consider the consumers’ disputes, prior to collecting or foreclosing on 

borrowers’ loans. 

278. The acts and practices described in Paragraphs 276-277 constitute 

violations of Sections 807(2) and (10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e(2)(A) and 

1692e(10) , and § 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE REAL SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 

279. RESPA and its implementing regulation, Regulation X, apply to “federally 

related mortgage loans,” including the servicing of those loans, the administration of 

their escrow accounts, error resolution procedures, force-placed insurance, general 

servicing policies and procedures, and loss mitigation procedures. 

280. RESPA and Regulation X apply to the conduct of “servicers.” Regulation X 

defines a servicer as a person “responsible for servicing of a federally related mortgage 

loan.” Under Regulation X, “servicing” means “receiving any scheduled periodic 

payments from a borrower pursuant to the terms of any federally related mortgage loan 

. . . and making the payments to the owner of the loan or other third parties of principal 

and interest and such other payments with respect to the amounts received from the 

Case 9:17-cv-80495-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/20/2017   Page 81 of 93



82 
 

borrower as may be required pursuant to the terms of the mortgage servicing loan 

documents or servicing contract.” 

281. Ocwen is a servicer under RESPA and Regulation X because it receives 

payments from borrowers pursuant to the terms of federally related mortgage loans and 

is responsible for, among other things, distributing the payments to investors who own 

the borrowers’ loans and, when borrowers’ loans include escrow accounts, to the 

borrowers’ taxing authorities or insurance companies.   

COUNT X 
Ocwen’s Escrow Violations 

 
282. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

283. As of January 10, 2014, Section 6(g) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(g) states 

that “[i]f the terms of any federally related mortgage loan require the borrower to make 

payments to the servicer of the loan for deposit into an escrow account for the purpose 

of assuring payment of taxes, insurance premiums, and other charges with respect to the 

property, the servicer shall make payments from the escrow account for such taxes, 

insurance premiums, and other charges in a timely manner as such payments become 

due.” 

284. The requirements of Section 6(g) are further explained in Regulation X, 12 

C.F.R. § 1024.17(k) and 34(a), which states “[i]f the terms of any federally related 

mortgage loan require the consumer to make payments to an escrow account, the 

servicer must pay the disbursements in a timely manner, that is, on or before the 

deadline to avoid a penalty.”   
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285. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has failed to pay 

borrowers’ hazard insurance premiums in a timely manner as the payments became 

due. 

286. Section 1024.17 of Regulation X requires Ocwen to:  

 Conduct annual escrow analyses for borrowers, 12 C.F.R. § a.

1024.17(c)(3) and (f)(1); 

 Provide borrowers with annual escrow statements within 30 days of b.

the completion of the escrow account computation year, 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.17(i); and  

 Only collect escrow shortages when a shortage, in fact, exists, 12 C.F.R. c.

§ 1024.17(f)(3). 

287. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has: 

 Failed to timely conduct annual escrow analyses for borrowers and, in a.

some instances, failed to conduct the escrow analyses altogether;  

 Failed to provide borrowers with escrow statements within 30 days of b.

the completion of the escrow account computation year and, in some 

instances, failed to provide the escrow statements at all; and 

 Collected escrow shortages that did not exist because it failed to timely c.

process borrowers’ escrow shortage payments. 

288. The acts and practices described in Paragraphs 285 and 287 constitute 

violations of Section 6(g) of RESPA and Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.17(k), 

1024.17(c)(3), 1024.17(i), 1024.17(f)(1) and (3), and 1024.34(a) , and § 1036(a)(1)(A) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 
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COUNT XI 
Ocwen’s Notice of Error Violations 

 
289. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

290. As of January 10, 2014, Section 6(e)(2) and (k)(1)(c) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 2605(e)(2) and (k)(1)(c), requires Ocwen to conduct an investigation of a qualified 

written request and make appropriate corrections to a consumer’s account. Regulation 

X further explains that a qualified written request that asserts an error relating to the 

servicing of a mortgage loan is a notice of error (“NOE”) and that a servicer generally 

must either: (1) correct the error or errors identified by the borrower and provide the 

borrower with a written notification regarding the correction; or (2) conduct a 

reasonable investigation of an alleged error and provide the borrower with a written 

notification that indicates that the servicer has determined no error occurred and 

provides additional required information. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.35(a) and (e)(1). 

291. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has failed to make 

appropriate corrections relating to NOEs when it finds errors in borrowers’ accounts, 

and has failed to conduct reasonable investigations of NOEs.  

292. The acts and practices described in Paragraph 291 constitute violations of 

Section 6(e)(2) and (k)(1)(c) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 2605(e)(2) and (k)(1)(c), and 

Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35(a) and 1024.35(e)(1) , and § 1036(a)(1)(A) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

COUNT XII 
Ocwen’s Servicing Policies and Procedures Violations 

 
293. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

294. As of January 10, 2014, pursuant to Regulation X, which was promulgated 

under Section 19(a) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2617(a), Ocwen must maintain policies and 
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procedures reasonably designed to ensure that it achieves the objectives set forth in 12 

C.F.R. § 1024.38(b). 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38(a). These objectives include:   

 Providing “accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as required by a.

[Subpart C of Regulation X] or other applicable law,” 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.38(b)(1)(i);   

 Investigating, responding to, and, as appropriate, making “corrections b.

in response to complaints asserted by a borrower,” 12 C.F.R. § 

1024.38(b)(1)(ii);   

 Upon notification of the death of a borrower, promptly identifying and c.

facilitating “communication with the successor in interest of the 

deceased borrower with respect to the property secured by the 

deceased borrower’s mortgage loan,” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38(b)(1)(vi); 

 Providing Ocwen’s personnel with access to “accurate and current d.

documents and information reflecting actions performed by service 

providers,” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38(b)(3)(i); and 

 Timely transferring all information and documents in Ocwen’s e.

possession or control relating to the transferred mortgage loans to a 

transferee or new servicer “in a form and manner that ensures the 

accuracy of the information and documents transferred” and enables 

the new servicer to comply with the new servicers’ obligations to the 

owner or assignee of the mortgage loan and applicable law, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1024.38(b)(4)(i).  

295. In numerous instances since January 10, 2014, Ocwen has: 
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 Failed to maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to a.

ensure that it sends borrowers accurate and timely escrow statements 

and periodic statements; 

 Failed to maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to b.

ensure that it is investigating, responding to, and, as appropriate, 

making corrections in response to complaints asserted by a borrower;   

 Failed to maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to c.

ensure that upon notification of the death of a borrower it promptly 

identifies and facilitates communication with successors, as evidenced 

by its failure to: 

i.  Promptly identify successors, which, in turn, impacted  

successors’ assumption of the deceased borrower’s loan and 

ability to obtain loss mitigation assistance; and 

ii. Communicate to potential and actual successors Ocwen’s 

requirements to confirm a person as a successor and obtain 

loss mitigation assistance; 

 Failed to maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to d.

provide appropriate Ocwen personnel with access to accurate and 

current documents and information reflecting actions performed by 

Ocwen’s foreclosure attorneys; and/or 

 Failed to maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to e.

ensure that it could transfer all information and documents in a form 

and manner that ensures new servicers have complete and accurate 
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information and are able to comply with applicable laws by failing, 

prior to a transfer, to: 

i. Transfer information in a form and manner that ensures new 

servicers have accurate borrower records and are able to 

comply with applicable laws; and 

ii. Disclose to new servicers known errors or failures that 

impact or likely impact the accuracy of transferred borrower 

records and a new servicer’s ability to comply with applicable 

laws. 

296. The acts and practices described in Paragraph 295 constitute violations of 

Sections 19(a) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2617(a) and Regulation X, §§ 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a), 

12 C.F.R. 1024.38(b)(1)(i), (ii), and (vi), 1024.38(b)(3)(i), and 1024.38(b)(4)(i), and § 

1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

COUNT XIII 
Ocwen’s Foreclosure Violations 

 
297. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

298. As of January 10, 2014, Regulation X, which the Bureau promulgated 

pursuant to Sections 6(j)(3), 6(k)(1)(C), 6(k)(1)(E) and 19(a) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

2605(j)(3), (k)(1)(C), and (k)(1)(E), and 12 U.S.C. § 2617(a), provides borrowers with a 

variety of protections during their loss mitigation application and foreclosure processes.  

299. Under Regulation X, if a servicer receives a loss mitigation application, 

which is an oral or written request for a loss mitigation option that is accompanied by 

any information required by a servicer for evaluation for a loss mitigation option (“Loss 
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Mitigation Application”), from borrowers whose mortgage is secured by their principal 

residence, certain protections are triggered. 

300. Under Regulation X, if a servicer receives a Loss Mitigation Application 45 

days or more before a foreclosure sale, it must send the borrower an acknowledgement 

letter within five days that indicates if the application is complete and, if it is not, states 

the additional documents and information that the borrower must submit to complete 

the application (“Acknowledgment Letter”). A Loss Mitigation Application is complete 

under Regulation X when the servicer has received all of the information it requires 

from a borrower to evaluate the borrower’s application for all available loss mitigation 

options (“Complete Application”). An application is facially complete under Regulation 

X if a borrower provides the information and documentation that the servicer requests 

in the Acknowledgment Letter or if no additional information is requested in the 

Acknowledgment Letter (“Facially Complete Application”). 

301. Regulation X also requires that, if a servicer receives a Complete 

Application more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale, it must evaluate the borrower 

for all available loss mitigation options and provide the borrower with a written notice 

within 30 days indicating, among other things, whether it will offer the borrower any 

loss mitigation options.  

302. Regulation X also generally prohibits servicers from, among other things, 

commencing a first notice of filing of a foreclosure (“First Filing”), obtaining a 

foreclosure judgment, or conducting a foreclosure sale if: (1) the servicer discovers that 

additional information or corrections to a previously submitted document are required 

to complete a Facially Complete Application and the borrower has not had a reasonable 

opportunity to complete the application; (2) the servicer has timely received a Complete 
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Application but has not yet evaluated the application; (3) the time for the borrower to 

respond to a loss mitigation offer or to appeal a loan modification denial has not 

expired; or (4) the borrower is performing upon a loss mitigation agreement (e.g., a trial 

loan modification or short-term payment forbearance program).    

303. On or after January 10, 2014, Ocwen received Loss Mitigation Applications 

from borrowers whose mortgages are secured by their principal residences.  

304. On or after January 10, 2014, Ocwen received Complete Applications from 

borrowers whose mortgages are secured by their principal residences. 

305. On or after January 10, 2014, Ocwen received Facially Complete 

Applications from borrowers whose mortgages are secured by their principal residences.  

306. In numerous instances, Ocwen has made First Filings even though Ocwen 

was still evaluating borrowers’ Complete Applications that it had received on or after 

January 10, 2014 and more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale. 

307. In numerous instances, Ocwen has obtained foreclosure judgments and/or 

conducted foreclosure sales upon the homes of borrowers from whom it received a 

Complete Application or Facially Complete Application on or after January 10, 2014 and 

more than 37 days before a foreclosure sale, and who: (1) were waiting for Ocwen to 

evaluate their Complete Application; (2) still had time to accept a loss mitigation offer; 

(3) were performing upon a loss mitigation agreement; or (4) had not been provided 

with a reasonable opportunity to provide Ocwen with missing information or corrected 

information required to complete a Facially Complete Application.  

308. The acts and practices described in Paragraphs 305-306 constitute 

violations of Sections 6(j)(3), 6(k)(1)(C), 6(k)(1)(E) and 19(a) of RESPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

2605(j)(3), (k)(1)(C), and (k)(1)(E), and 12 U.S.C. § 2617(a), and Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. 
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§§ 1024.41(b)(2)(i)(B), 1024.41(c)(1)(i) and (ii), 1024.41(f)(2), and 1024.41(g) , and § 

1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE HOMEOWNERS PROTECTION ACT 

309. Under the Homeowners Protection Act (HPA), servicers are required, 

under certain conditions, to automatically terminate a mortgagee’s requirement to pay 

private mortgage insurance on a certain date called the “termination date.” 12 U.S.C. § 

4902(b). 

310. A “servicer” as defined by the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(16), means a servicer 

as defined in RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(2). As referenced in Paragraphs 13, 16, and 17, 

Ocwen is a servicer.  

311. A “mortgagor” as defined by the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(11), means the 

“original borrower under a residential mortgage or his or her successors or assignees.”   

312. A “residential mortgage” as defined by the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(14), 

means a “mortgage loan, or other evidence of a security interest with respect to a single-

family dwelling that is the principal residence of the mortgagor.” 

313. “Private mortgage insurance” as defined by the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(10), 

means “mortgage insurance other than mortgage insurance made available under the 

National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1701, title 38, or title V of the Housing Act of 1949, 42 

U.S.C. 1471 et seq.” 

314. The “termination date” as defined by the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(18), 

means the date when: 

 With respect to a fixed rate mortgage, the date on which the  a.

principal balance of the mortgage, based solely on the initial 

amortization schedule for that mortgage, and irrespective of the 
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outstanding balance for that mortgage on that date, is first scheduled 

to reach 78 percent of the original value of the property securing the 

loan; and 

 With respect to an adjustable rate mortgage, the date on which the b.

principal balance of the mortgage, based solely on the amortization 

schedule then in effect for that mortgage, and irrespective of the 

outstanding balance for that mortgage on that date, is first scheduled 

to reach 78 percent of the original value of the property securing the 

loan. 

COUNT XIV 
Ocwen’s Violations of the HPA 

 
315. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1-220. 

316. Ocwen is the servicer for mortgagors or the original borrowers under a 

residential mortgage with respect to single-family dwellings that are their principal 

residences.   

317. In numerous instances since January 2014, Ocwen has failed to 

automatically terminate private mortgage insurance for borrowers who were current or 

became current on their mortgage as of their termination date. 

318. The acts and practices described in Paragraph 316 constitute violations of 

Section 4901(b) of the HPA, 12 U.S.C. § 4901(b) , and § 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, the Bureau, pursuant to Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5564 and 5565, and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests that the Court: 
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1. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA, 

FDCPA, RESPA, TILA, and HPA, and enter such other injunctive relief as 

appropriate, including ordering that, if any Defendant is found to be in material 

non-compliance with any injunction entered by the Court, the Defendant must 

claw back any non-salary bonuses or other compensation it has paid, or stock 

option it has granted, to any officer or director of the Defendant in connection 

with the time period during which the Defendant was not in compliance; 

2. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers, 

including, but not limited to, rescission or reform of contracts; refund of moneys; 

restitution; and payment of damages or other monetary relief; 

3. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to disgorge the Defendants of 

unlawful gains; 

4. Impose civil money penalties against the Defendants;  

5. Order the Defendants to pay costs and fees incurred in prosecuting this action; 

and 

6. Award additional relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Files Complaint and 

Proposed Settlement with Village 
Capital & Investment LLC

Company Deceived Veterans Regarding Benefits of 

Mortgage Refinancing Offers

DEC 06, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) has 

filed a complaint in federal court in the District of Nevada alleging a claim of 

deception against Village Capital & Investment LLC, a non-bank mortgage company 

headquartered in Henderson, Nev. The Bureau and Village Capital also filed a 

proposed stipulated final judgment and order to resolve the claim. Documents 

were filed on Tuesday, Dec. 4.

As described in the complaint and proposed order, the Bureau alleges that Village 

Capital violated the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 by misleading 

veterans regarding its Interest Rate Reduction Refinancing Loans—loans that allow 

veterans to refinance their mortgages at lower interest rates with a loan guaranteed 

by the Department of Veterans Affairs. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that Village 

Capital misled veterans by overstating the benefits of refinancing.

If entered by the court, the proposed order would require Village Capital to pay 

$268,869 in redress to consumers and a civil penalty of $260,000. The order would 

also prohibit Village Capital from misrepresenting the terms or benefits of 

mortgage refinancing.

The complaint is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_village-

capital_complaint_2018-12.pdf



The stipulated final judgment and order is available here . 

###

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 
                 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Golden Valley Lending, Inc., Silver Cloud 
Financial, Inc., Mountain Summit Financial, 
Inc., and Majestic Lake Financial, Inc.  
 

                 Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
)              Case No. 17-cv-3155 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

  
 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF  
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) alleges the following against 

Defendants Golden Valley Lending, Inc. (Golden Valley), Silver Cloud Financial, Inc. (Silver 

Cloud), Mountain Summit Financial, Inc. (Mountain Summit), and Majestic Lake Financial, Inc. 

(Majestic Lake). 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), and the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 

U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and its implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. part 1026, in 

connection with Defendants’ collection of void loans and its failure to disclose annual percentage 

rates as required by law.  

2. Defendants originate and collect on installment loans that are void in whole or in 

part under state law. Defendants’ collection on void loans is deceptive, unfair, and abusive. They 
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also violate the law by failing to disclose the applicable annual percentage rate for their loans 

when required to do so by law.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal question, 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.   

4. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here and Defendants do business here. 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b)(2); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 
 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States Government created by 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal consumer 

financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5511, 5564.  

6. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings in its own 

name and through its own attorneys to address violations of Federal consumer financial law, 

including violations of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), and violations of TILA and 

Regulation Z, id.; 15 U.S.C. § 1607(a)(6).  

7. All Defendants are companies that are owned and incorporated by the 

Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lake Indian Tribe (Habematolel Pomo Tribe or the Tribe), a 

federally recognized Indian tribe located in Upper Lake, California. 

8. The Tribe’s Rancheria is located in a rural part of California, and, at present, the 

Tribe has fewer than 300 enrolled members.  
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9. Approximately 33% of those members live in Lake County, where the Rancheria 

is located. 

10. Golden Valley lists its principal place of business as 635 E Highway 20, Upper 

Lake, California 95485.  

11. Golden Valley is an online installment loan company providing installment loans 

throughout the United States through its Internet website: www.GoldenValleyLending.com.  

12. Since at least October 2012, Golden Valley extended credit and collected on the 

extension of credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers residing in this District 

and throughout the United States.  

13. Golden Valley extends credit and services loans offered or provided for use by 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), 

and collects debt related to a consumer financial product or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), 

both of which are consumer financial products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(5)(A); therefore, Golden Valley is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(A).  

14. Golden Valley is also a “creditor” under the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation 

Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17). 

15. Silver Cloud lists its principal place of business as 635 E Highway 20, Upper 

Lake, California 95485.  

16. Silver Cloud is an online installment loan company providing installment loans 

throughout the United States through its Internet website: www.SilverCloudFinancial.com. 

17. In the past, Silver Cloud provided installment loans through a different Internet 

website, www.usamoneyshop.com, but that website is not currently active.  
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18. Since at least August 2012, Silver Cloud extended credit and collected on the 

extension of credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers residing in this District 

and throughout the United States.  

19. Silver Cloud extends credit and services loans offered or provided for use by 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), 

and collects debt related to a consumer financial product or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), 

both of which are consumer financial products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(5)(A); therefore, Silver Cloud is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(A).  

20. Silver Cloud is also a “creditor” under the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation 

Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17). 

21. Mountain Summit lists its principal place of business as 635 E Highway 20, 

Upper Lake, California 95485.  

22. Mountain Summit is an online installment loan company providing installment 

loans throughout the United States through its Internet website: 

www.MountainSummitFinancial.com.  

23. Since at least May 2014, Mountain Summit extended credit and collected on the 

extension of credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers residing in this District 

and throughout the United States.  

24. Mountain Summit extends credit and services loans offered or provided for use by 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), 

and collects debt related to a consumer financial product or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), 

both of which are consumer financial products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 
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§ 5481(5)(A); therefore, Mountain Summit is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(A).  

25. Mountain Summit is also a “creditor” under the Truth in Lending Act and 

Regulation Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17). 

26. Majestic Lake lists its mailing address as 635 E Highway 20, Upper Lake, 

California 95485.  

27. Majestic Lake is an online installment loan company providing installment loans 

throughout the United States through its Internet website: www.mlfinc.com.  

28. Since at least August 2015, Majestic Lake extended credit and collected on the 

extension of credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers residing in this district 

and throughout the United States.  

29. Majestic Lake extends credit and services loans offered or provided for use by 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), 

and collects debt related to a consumer financial product or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), 

both of which are consumer financial products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§  5481(5)(A); therefore, Majestic Lake is a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(A).  

30. Majestic Lake is also a “creditor” under the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation 

Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17). 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES 
 

31. Defendants extend high-cost, small-dollar installment loans over the Internet to 

consumers across the United States.  
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32. Golden Valley and Silver Cloud began originating and collecting on loans in 

2012.  

33. Mountain Summit began originating and collecting on loans in 2014.  

34. Majestic Lake began originating and collecting on loans in 2015. 

35. Defendants make, and collect on, a large volume of installment loans. 

36. For example, on a single day in October 2013, Golden Valley originated (or 

attempted to originate) approximately 235 individual loans of between $300 and $1,000.  

37. From August 2013 to December 2013, Silver Cloud and Golden Valley originated 

a total of approximately $27 million in loans and collected a total of approximately $44 million 

from consumers.  

38. Defendants use service providers to perform many functions relating to the 

lending operations. 

39. In 2013, the Tribe purchased a call center in Overland Park, Kansas that had 

previously been a contracted service provider for Golden Valley and Silver Cloud. The Tribe 

incorporated the call center in May 2013.  

40. The call center provides customer service for Defendants. 

41. Defendants employ a network of lead generators and lead aggregators to find 

potential borrowers.  

42. Since at least 2014, the Tribe has owned its own lead generator that generates 

leads for Defendants as well as other lenders. 

43. Lead generators assess each lead, make an underwriting recommendation, and 

provide that information to the call center to contact consumers and complete the underwriting 

process for Defendants.  
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44. At certain points during 2014, at least, the call center also coordinated leads for 

Silver Cloud loans. 

Defendants Originate High-Cost Loans Throughout the United States 
 
45. Defendants originate, service, and collect high-cost, small-dollar installment loans 

in nearly all fifty states.  

46. Consumers can borrow between $300 and $1,200 from Defendants. 

47. The standard repayment schedule for loans offered by each Defendant is 20 

payments over the course of 10 months, with one payment made every two weeks.  

48. For each installment payment, a consumer must pay a “service fee” (often $30 for 

every $100 of principal outstanding) and five percent of the original principal.   

49. As a result, Defendants offer loans with annual percentage rates of between 

approximately 440% and 950%.  

50. For an $800 loan, a typical loan contract requires the consumer to repay a total of 

approximately $3,320 over the course of ten months.   

51. The following excerpt is from a document prepared for an installment loan in the 

amount of $800 originated by Golden Valley in November 2014 and made to a resident of Joliet, 

Illinois: 
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Defendants Originate Loans Through Their Websites  
and Find Consumers Through Lead Generators 

 
52. While Defendants acquire consumers in many cases from lead generators, 

consumers can also apply for loans by going directly to Defendants’ websites 

(www.GoldenValleyLending.com, www.SilverCloudFinancial.com, 

www.MountainSummitFinancial.com, and www.mlfinc.com).  

53.  Defendants’ websites are highly interactive, allowing consumers to apply for, 

accept, and manage their loans online.  

54. In order to apply for a loan via any of Defendants’ websites, the consumer must 

first enter a series of personal information including: name, address, phone number, social 

security number, bank and employment information, and the desired principal value.  
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55. Each of Defendant’s websites indicates that the consumer “will be approved 

within moments” if she qualifies for a loan.  

56. Defendants have credit inquiries performed for some potential customers to 

determine whether to accept their loan applications.  

57. Between February 2013 and June 2016, Defendants had over 597,000 credit 

inquiries performed. 

58. During that same period, Defendants had over 36,000 credit inquiries performed 

on consumers who resided in Illinois.  

Defendants Do Not Disclose the Annual Percentage Rate of the Loans in Advertising  
or When Customer Service Representatives Answer Questions Over the Phone 

 
59.  Each of Defendants’ websites advertises the cost of installment loans and 

includes a rate of finance charge but does not disclose the annual percentage rates (APR). 

60. The “FAQ” section of each of the websites answers the question “How much does 

the consumer loan cost?” by stating “Our service fee is $30 per $100 loaned. This fee is charged 

every two weeks on your due dates, based upon the principal amount outstanding.” 

61. The “How it Works” section of each of the websites also describes the finance 

charge by stating: “Each installment payment will contain a service fee of $30 per hundred 

borrowed, which is charged every two weeks, and an amount equaling five percent of your initial 

principal loan.”  

62. Each of the following websites has failed to present the APR of a consumer’s loan 

when the websites discussed the cost of the loans: www.GoldenValleyLending.com, 

www.SilverCloudFinancial.com, www.MountainSummitFinancial.com, and www.mlfinc.com. 

63. Instead, these websites simply state in fine print, “Complete disclosure of APR, 

fees, and payment terms are set forth in the loan agreement.”  
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64. Golden Valley, at least, provides a loan agreement, and requests a borrower’s 

electronic signature, only after a consumer applies for and is approved to receive a loan.  

65. The websites listed above also display phone numbers that consumers may call to 

contact customer service representatives for Defendants. 

66. When the customer service representatives are asked about the cost of the 

installment loans, they have failed to state the APR for a prospective borrower’s loan or to 

provide a sample transaction.  

67. Instead, the agents’ oral disclosures generally describe the finance charge for each 

installment payment as a block rate of $30 per $100 of principal, a 30% finance charge, or the 

total amount the consumer would have to repay.  

Defendants Electronically Credit and Debit Consumers’ Bank Accounts 

68. Defendants employ non-tribally-affiliated banks to transfer funds to and from 

consumers in the United States, typically through Automated Clearing House (ACH) credit and 

debit entries.  

69. Defendants’ websites (www.GoldenValleyLending.com, 

www.SilverCloudFinancial.com, www.MountainSummitFinancial.com, and www.mlfinc.com) 

indicate that once a consumer is approved for a loan, the loan funds will be disbursed directly 

into the consumer’s checking account through an ACH transfer on the next business day, or 

potentially the same day at the consumer’s request.  

70. The websites further indicate the consumer may choose to receive funds by check.  

71. In practice, a customer service representative of Mountain Summit stated that 

consumers may receive funds by paper check only for a loan of $300, and consumers may repay 

the loan by sending paper checks only if they receive funds in the form of a paper check. 
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72. Even if a consumer is permitted to send a check, at one point in time, Golden 

Valley’s loan agreement stated that the lender could use the check to create an electronic fund 

transfer to allow the lender to withdraw the payment directly from the consumer’s bank account.  

73. Though it is not advertised on their websites, Golden Valley and Silver Cloud, at 

least, also disburse some loan funds through wire transfers that are deposited directly into 

consumers’ bank accounts.  

Defendants’ Operations Are Largely Conducted by Call Center Employees in Kansas 
 
74. For the first several years of their operation, at least, most of Golden Valley and 

Silver Cloud’s day-to-day operations were conducted in Kansas. 

75. The majority of the people who work on behalf of Defendants work in Kansas. 

76. As of 2012, Golden Valley and Silver Cloud had created no more than 15 jobs on 

the Tribe’s Rancheria.  

77. In fact, in 2012 or 2013, Golden Valley, Silver Cloud, and Mountain Summit 

admitted to a bank that they were organized in California but operated in Kansas. 

Silver Cloud, at Least, Sold Participation Interests in Its Loans to a Kansas Company 
 

78. Beginning in late 2013, Silver Cloud received some funding via a so-called 

Participation Agreement with RM Partners LLC (RM Partners). 

79. RM Partners is a limited liability company formed in Kansas.  

80. Under that Participation Agreement, RM Partners had the right to purchase up to a 

30% participation interest in Silver Cloud loans. 

81. The agreement entitled RM Partners to a share in the repayment of principal and 

interest collected on those loans after accounting for certain costs. 
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82. The agreement expressly contemplated Silver Cloud selling participation interests 

to other entities. 

83. The agreement required Silver Cloud to retain a 2.25% interest in the loans. 

84. An individual, Josh Landy (“Landy”), coordinated the process of obtaining 

signatures for the Participation Agreement from the Tribal chairperson and the managing 

member of RM Partners, Richard Moseley. Landy was involved in the operations of the call 

center in Kansas during at least 2013 and 2014.  

Silver Cloud and Golden Valley Received Funding From Other Companies that Were Not 
Initially Owned or Incorporated by the Tribe 

 
85.  Edison Creek, LLC (Edison Creek) and Nagus Enterprises, LLC (Nagus 

Enterprises) were limited liability companies created in Delaware in 2012. 

86. Cobalt Hills, LLC (Cobalt Hills) was a limited liability company created in 

Delaware in 2012. 

87. National Performance Agency, LLC (NPA) was a limited liability company 

created in Delaware in 2011 that operated in Kansas.  

88. In 2013, separate bank accounts held by Edison Creek, Nagus Enterprises, and 

Cobalt Hills listed Landy as a signatory.  

89. A bank account held by NPA listed Landy as a signatory. 

90. Between August and December 2013, RM Partners, Edison Creek, Nagus 

Enterprises, and Cobalt Hills collectively gave Silver Cloud and Golden Valley approximately 

$26.7 million. 

91. During that same period, Golden Valley and Silver Cloud paid those same four 

companies approximately $35.8 million. 
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92. During the same timeframe, Golden Valley and Silver Cloud distributed 

approximately $536,000 to accounts held by the Habematolel Pomo Tribe. 

93. On August 20, 2014, Edison Creek and Nagus Enterprises were merged together 

along with at least two other limited liability companies. On the same day, the surviving entity 

was merged into a corporation wholly owned and operated by the Tribe.  

94. On August 20, 2014, Cobalt Hills merged with NPA, and the surviving entity 

merged into a corporation wholly owned and operated by the Tribe. 

Defendants Claim that Tribal Law Applies to the Consumer Loan Agreements 
 

95. Defendants’ loan agreements have contained a Governing Law provision that 

declares that the loans are made and accepted on tribal lands, and pursuant to tribal law, 

regardless of the consumers’ home states.  

96. For example, a version of Golden Valley’s loan agreement executed in 2015 

included the following language: 

GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement is made and accepted in the sovereign 
territory of the Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lake, and shall be governed by 
applicable tribal law, including but not limited to the Habematolel Tribal 
Consumer Financial Services Regulatory Ordinance. You hereby agree that this 
governing law provision applies no matter where You reside at the time You 
request Your loan from Golden Valley Lending. Golden Valley Lending is 
regulated by the Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lake Tribal Consumer Financial 
Services Regulatory Commission. You may contact the Commission by mail at 
P.O. Box 516 Upper Lake CA 95485. 
 
97. On their websites, Defendants similarly claim that lending transactions and 

servicing are deemed to take place on the Habematolel Pomo Tribal lands, regardless of where 

the consumer “may be situated or access this site.” 
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98. Defendants have no storefront on tribal lands to originate loans in person, and 

very few – if any – consumers who accessed Defendants’ websites, applied for credit, and signed 

loan agreements did so on tribal lands. 

99. Many – if not most – consumers who accessed Defendants’ websites, applied for 

credit, and signed loan agreements did so in the states where they resided.  

100. In response to complaints against Golden Valley and Silver Cloud, the Attorneys 

General of several states sent letters to Defendants on behalf of individual consumers.  

101. Letters sent to Golden Valley or Silver Cloud from at least the State of 

Connecticut Department of Banking and New York Attorney General’s Office alleged that the 

loans described in consumers’ complaints appeared to violate the state usury caps and requested 

the lender to immediately cease collection efforts on the usurious loans. 

102. In written correspondence in 2013, 2014, and 2015, counsel for Golden Valley 

and Silver Cloud told the New York Attorney General’s Office that Golden Valley and Silver 

Cloud are not subject to state regulatory laws and are protected from suit by sovereign immunity. 

103. In written correspondence in 2014, counsel for Silver Cloud told the State of 

Connecticut Department of Banking that Silver Cloud operates under a license issued by the 

Tribe’s Consumer Financial Services Regulatory Commission.  

104. In August 2013, the New York Department of Financial Services issued a Cease 

and Desist letter to Golden Valley, directing it to stop extending unlicensed loans that violate 

New York state criminal and civil usury laws.  

105. After this notice was sent, Golden Valley continued collecting on loans extended 

to consumers residing in New York. 
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Defendants’ Collection Practices 
 

106. Once the loan is disbursed to the consumer, Defendants, either directly or through 

service providers, contact consumers by phone, e-mail, or letter restating or implying the 

consumers’ obligation to repay the loans.  

107. The “FAQ” section of Defendants websites also state that consumers may receive 

text messages “collecting on your account”. 

108. Golden Valley and Silver Cloud send letters to borrowers whose payments are 

past due stating that they “will recommend that your account be moved to collections to receive 

further attention” unless consumers pay the past due amount. 

109. Golden Valley, Silver Cloud, and Mountain Summit also send letters advising 

consumers that upon default and acceleration of the loan, each Defendant “may exercise all 

rights available to it under the Consumer Loan and Arbitration Agreement.”    

110. Consumers complain that Defendants, either directly or through service providers, 

attempted to collect debts by placing phone calls to consumers.  

STATE LAWS PROTECTING CONSUMERS  
WHO TAKE OUT SMALL DOLLAR LOANS 

 
111. Defendants have originated, serviced, and collected on loans that consumers are 

not obligated to pay, in whole or in part, based on state licensing regulations or usury caps that 

render non-compliant loans, such as those offered by Defendants, void ab initio. 

112. Defendants either took these actions directly or used service providers to take 

these actions on their behalf.  

113. Many states protect consumers from harmful practices associated with the 

origination, servicing, and collection of certain loans.   
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114. Such legal protections include restrictions upon the types of entities which may 

engage in these types of transactions, licensing requirements, and civil and criminal usury limits.   

115. In some states, loans that violate these laws are declared void, meaning that the 

lender has no legal right to collect, and the borrower is not obligated to pay, some or all of the 

principal or interest on the loan. 

Interest-Rate Caps 
 

116. The following states have enacted laws that render installment loans void if they 

exceed the usury limit: 

a. Arkansas, whose state constitution provides that all contracts with interest in 

excess of 17% “shall be void as to principal and interest. . . .” Ark. Const. 

amend. 89, §§ 3, 6(b); 

b. Connecticut, whose state statute voids loans under $5,000 made after July 1, 

2016 with interest rates in excess of “the maximum annual percentage rate for 

interest that is permitted with respect to the consumer credit extended under 

the Military Lending Act, 10 USC 987 et seq.,”  Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 36a-

558(c)(1), (d)(1); 

c. New Hampshire, which prohibits annual interest rates above 36% for loans of 

$10,000 or less, N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:1(XX), 399-A:16(I), and loans that 

do not comply with those restrictions are void, and the lender has no right to 

collect any principal, charges, or recompense, N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-

A:23(VIII); 

d. New York, which prohibits any person or corporation not licensed by the state 

of New York from “directly or indirectly charg[ing], tak[ing] or receiv[ing] 
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any interest . . . at a rate exceeding” annual interest of 16% on covered loans, 

N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-501; N.Y. Banking Law § 14-a(1), and loans that 

exceed the rate are void, N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-511; see also Szerdahelyi 

v. Harris, 490 N.E.2d 517, 522-23 (N.Y. 1986) (“[A] usurious transaction is 

void ab initio . . . .”);  

e. North Carolina, which imposes a cap on loans $25,000 and under, which is the 

greater of 16% or the latest published noncompetitive rate for U.S. Treasury 

bills with a six month maturity as of the fifteenth day of the month plus six 

percent (6%) rounded to the nearest one-half of one percent, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 

24-1.1(a)(1), (c), and loans $15,000 and under that violate those provisions are 

void, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any principal or 

charges. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-166(a), (d); and 

f. Since November 16, 2016, South Dakota, in which loans made by money 

lender licensees with an annual percentage rate above 36% are void and 

uncollectable, and any person evading the usury cap, including by offering 

loans through the internet or any electronic means, is subject to the same 

penalties as licensees. S.D. Codified Laws §§ 54-4-44, 54-4-44.1. 

117. Colorado prohibits annual interest above 12% on unpaid balances for loans other 

than supervised loans. Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-1-301(12), (15)(a); 5-2-201(1). For supervised loans, 

Colorado prohibits a supervised lender from receiving a finance charge exceeding the equivalent 

of the greater of either of the following: (a) the total of 36% on unpaid balances of $1,000 or 

less, 21% on unpaid balances between $1000.01 and $3,000, and 15% on unpaid balances greater 

than $3,000, or (b) 21% per year on unpaid balances. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-2-201(2). Consumers 
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are relieved of the obligation to pay any charge that exceeds these limits and are entitled to a 

refund from the lender or assignee for any excess amount that they paid. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-5-

201(2). 

118. These state usury statutes reflect the strong public policy interest in ensuring that 

consumers who lack negotiating power are protected from loans with excessive interest rates.  

119. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Arkansas, Connecticut, New 

Hampshire, New York, North Carolina, and South Dakota that charged interest at rates 

exceeding those allowed by the laws of the respective states and therefore, those loans are void. 

120. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Colorado that charged interest at 

rates exceeding those allowed by Colorado law and therefore, consumers were relieved of the 

obligation to pay charges in excess of the legal limits. 

Licensing Requirements 
 

121. The following states have implemented licensing regimes that include measures 

aimed at preventing and penalizing harmful consumer lending practices: Arizona, Colorado, 

Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, 

New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, and Ohio. The licensing regimes in these 

states reflect substantive consumer-protection concerns by, for instance: 

a. ensuring that licensees possess the requisite character, integrity, and 

experience (Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 6-603(F)(2); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-2-302(2); Ind. 

Code § 24-4.5-3-503(2); 209 Mass. Code Regs. 20.03(2); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 

53-168(a)(2); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-A:5(I); N.Y. Banking Law § 342); and 

b. ensuring compliance with loan-term and disclosure regulations by requiring 

compliance examinations and investigations by state regulators as well as 
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recordkeeping and annual reports (Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 6-607, 6-608(A), 6-

609(A)-(D); Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-2-304, 5-2-305; Ind. Code § 24-4.5-3-505; 

Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 140 §§ 97-99; N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:10, 399-A:11; 

N.Y. Banking Law §§ 348, 349; N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 53-184). 

122. These state licensing statutes reflect the strong public policy interest in ensuring 

that entities seeking to engage in the consumer-lending business are vetted and supervised by 

regulators for compliance with consumer protections and other laws. 

123. The following state laws render loans void if they are made without a license. If a 

covered loan is made without a license in the following states, the entity has no right to collect 

from consumers, or the consumers have no obligation to repay certain loan amounts: 

a. Arizona, which voids covered loans of $10,000 or less that are made or 

procured without a license, and the lender has no right to collect any principal, 

finance charges, or other fees in repayment of such loans, Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 

6-601(5)-(7), 6-602(B), 6-603(A), 6-613(B); 

b. Connecticut, which since June 19, 2015, voids loans of $15,000 or less and 

that charge interest in excess of 12%, when made without a license, Conn. 

Gen. Stat. Ann. § 36a-558(c); 

c. Illinois, which voids consumer-installment loans for principal amounts not 

exceeding $40,000 made after January 1, 2013, without a license and at 

interest rates higher than 99% APR for loans up to $1,500, and the person who 

made the loan shall have no right to collect, receive, or retain any principal, 

interest, or charges related to the loan, 205 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 670/1, 

670/17.2(a)(1), 670/20(d); 
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d. Indiana, which voids covered loans made without a license and the debtor has 

no obligation to pay either the principal or finance charges on such loans, Ind. 

Code §§ 24-4.5-5-202(2), 24-4.5-3-502(3); 

e. Kentucky, which voids covered loans if the interest rate exceeds the lawful 

rate—which is the lesser of 4% over the discount rate on ninety-day 

commercial paper at the Federal Reserve Bank or 19% for loans of $15,000 or 

less—and the loan is made without a license, and the lender has no right to 

collect any principal, charges, or recompense whatsoever on such loans, Ky. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 286.4-991(1), 286.4-420, 360.010(1);  

f. Massachusetts, which voids covered loans of $6,000 or less if interest and 

expenses on the loan exceed 12% a year and the loan is made or purchased 

without a license, and the lender or purchaser has no right to collect money in 

repayment of such loans, Mass. Gen. Law. Ch. 140, §§ 96, 110; 

g. Minnesota, which voids regulated loans made without a required license, and 

requires lenders of up to $100,000 to hold a license in order to issue loans in 

excess of 21.75% APR, or the total of 33% a year on the part of the unpaid 

balance up to $1,125 and 19% a year on the part of the unpaid balance above 

$1,125, Minn. Stat. Ann. §§ 56.01(a), 56.19, 56.131, 47.59 subdiv. 3(a);  

h. Montana, which requires lenders making consumer loans to hold a license, 

and loans made or collected by anyone other than a licensee or subject to an 

exemption are void, Mont. Code Ann. § 32-5-103(1), (4);  
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i. New Hampshire, which voids covered loans of $10,000 or less that are made 

without a license, and the lender has no right to collect such loans, N.H. Rev. 

Stat. §§ 399-A:1(XX), 399-A:2(I), 399-A:23 (VII); 

j. New Jersey, which voids consumer loans of $50,000 or less that are made 

without a license, and the lender has no right to collect or receive any 

principal, interest, or charges on such loans, unless the act was the result of 

good faith error, N.J. Rev. Stat. §§ 17:11C-2, 17-11C-3, 17-11C-33(b); 

k. New Mexico, which voids loans of $2,500 or less made by a person with no 

license, and the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any principal, 

interest, or charges whatsoever on such loans, N.M. Stat. § 58-15-3; 

l. New York, which voids personal loans of $25,000 or less that are made 

without a license and where the interest or other charge exceeds that permitted 

to a licensee, the lender has no right to collect such loans, N.Y. Banking Law 

§§ 340, 355;  

m. North Carolina, which voids covered loans of $15,000 or less that are made or 

secured for repayment without a license and in excess of the state’s general 

usury law, and any party in violation shall not collect, receive, or retain any 

principal or charges with respect to such loans, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-166(a), 

(d); and 

n. Ohio, which voids loans of $5,000 or less that are made without a license, and 

the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any principal, interest, or 

charges on such loans. Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 1321.02.  
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124. Colorado relieves the consumer’s obligation to pay finance charges to the lender 

or assignee where the lender or assignee has failed to obtain the requisite license. Colo. Rev. 

Stat. §§ 5-5-201(1), 5-2-301(1)(a), (b), 5-1-301(17). 

125. Defendants were not licensed to make loans in any of the states described in 

paragraphs 123-24. 

126. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Arizona, Connecticut, Illinois, 

Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New 

Mexico, New York, North Carolina, and Ohio, and those loans are void because of Defendants’ 

failure to acquire the required licenses. 

127. Defendants made loans to consumers residing in Colorado, and those consumers 

were relieved of the obligation to repay finance charges because of Defendants’ failure to acquire 

the required licenses. 

Summary of States in Which  
Defendants’ Loans Are Void in Whole or in Part 

 
128. Defendants’ loans were void in the following states based on state licensing law, 

state usury law, or both: Arizona, Arkansas, Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, 

Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, 

North Carolina, Ohio, and South Dakota. 

129. Colorado relieves consumers of the obligation to repay excess fees and finance 

charges for loans that exceed interest rates limits or are issued without a license. 

130. These states are hereinafter referred to as the “Subject States.” 

131. Either directly or through service providers, Defendants collected on loans made 

to consumers in the Subject States that were void or that consumers had a limited obligation to 

repay under applicable state law. 
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VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER 
FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

 
Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive Acts or Practices 

 
132. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1), 

prohibit a “covered person” or “service provider” from engaging in “any unfair, deceptive or 

abusive act or practice.” 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

133. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid themselves and that is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

134. An act or practice is abusive if, among other things, it takes unreasonable 

advantage of a consumer’s lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the 

product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

Count I 
 

Deception Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments which Consumers Did Not Owe 
(Against All Defendants) 

 
135. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134 of this 

Complaint. 

136. Through the actions set forth above, Defendants represented expressly or by 

implication that consumers residing in the Subject States had an obligation to repay loan amounts 

that in fact did not exist because the loans violated state licensing and/or usury laws that declared 

such loans void ab initio or limited consumers’ obligation to repay. 

137. Through the following actions, Defendants reinforced the misrepresentations that 

consumers were obligated to pay debts that were void or that consumers otherwise were not 

obligated fully to repay in the Subject States: 
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a. Sending demand letters for payment; 

b. Originating ACH debit entries from consumer bank accounts; and 

c. Contacting consumers by telephone to demand repayment. 

138. Defendants failed to disclose that they had no legal right to collect certain loan 

payments because the loans were void under state law. 

139. Defendants failed to disclose that consumers had no legal obligation to pay the 

loan amounts because they were void under state law. 

140. In numerous instances, consumers residing in Subject States were not under a 

legal obligation to repay the void amounts.  

141. Defendants’ misrepresentations were material and likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably. 

142. Defendants’ misrepresentations, actions, and omissions constitute deceptive acts 

in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II 
 

Unfairness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments which Consumers Did Not Owe 
(Against All Defendants) 

 
143. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134 of this 

Complaint. 

144. Defendants caused substantial injury by servicing, extracting payments for, and 

collecting on loans that laws in the Subject States rendered void or limited consumers’ obligation 

to repay. 

145. Consumers were unlikely to know that that Subject States’ usury laws and 

licensing requirements rendered Defendants’ loans void or limited consumers’ obligation to 
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repay, and thus consumers were unable to avoid paying illegal amounts to which Defendants 

were not entitled. 

146. The injuries sustained by consumers residing in the Subject States were not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

147. Defendants’ actions constitute unfair acts in violation of 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count III 
 

Abusiveness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments which Consumers Did Not Owe 
(Against All Defendants) 

 
148. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134 of this 

Complaint. 

149. The consumer’s legal obligation to repay is a material term, cost, and condition of 

a loan.  

150. Consumers residing in the Subject States likely were unaware that Defendants 

lacked the legal authority to collect the loans because the loans violated usury and licensing laws 

in those states.  

151. Defendants took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding 

regarding the voidness of the loans or the limited obligation to repay by collecting debts to which 

Defendants were not legally entitled.  

152. Defendants’ actions constitute abusive acts in violation of 12 U.S.C.  

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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VIOLATIONS OF THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT  
 

153. TILA and Regulation Z require certain disclosures in connection with advertising 

for extensions of credit and oral responses to any inquiry about the cost of credit. 15 U.S.C. § 

1661 et seq., 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.16, 1026.24, 1026.26.   

154. Defendants are “creditors” as defined under TILA and Regulation Z, because they 

regularly extend consumer credit requiring payment of a finance charge, that is payable by 

agreement in twenty installments, and the obligation is initially payable to them. 15 U.S.C. § 

1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17)(i), (v). 

155. Defendants’ consumer loan agreements do not contemplate repeated transactions, 

and therefore Defendants’ loans constitute closed-end credit. 12 C.F.R § 1026.2(a)(10), 

(a)(20)(i).  

156. Under TILA and Regulation Z, if an advertisement states a rate of finance charge 

for closed-end credit, it must state the rate as an annual percentage rate. 15 U.S.C. § 1664(c); 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.24(c). 

157. In an oral response to a consumer’s inquiry about the cost of closed-end credit, 

TILA requires creditors to state only the annual percentage rate, except that a simple annual rate 

or periodic rate may also be stated if it is applied to an unpaid balance. 15 U.S.C. § 1665a; 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.26(b). If the annual percentage rate cannot be determined in advance, the creditor 

must state the annual percentage rate for a sample transaction. 12 C.F.R. § 1026.26(b). 

Count IV  
 

Advertising the Rate of Finance Charge without Stating an Annual Percentage Rate  
(Against All Defendants) 

 
158. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134, 153-57 of 

this Complaint. 
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159. Defendants advertise their installment loan products on each of Defendants’ 

websites.  

160. These advertisements state that each installment payment includes a finance 

charge of $30 per every hundred dollars of principal.  

161. By disclosing the cost of consumer credit as a dollar amount on each of the 

websites, Defendants are disclosing a rate of finance charge.  

162. Nowhere on the websites do Defendants disclose the annual percentage rate 

(APR) for the installment loan product, which is typically between approximately 440% and 

950% APR. 

163. Defendants’ disclosure of a rate of finance charge but not the APR on the website 

advertisements for closed-end credit violated the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1664(c), and 

Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(c). 

Count V  
 

Oral Disclosure of the Cost of Credit without Stating an Annual Percentage Rate  
(Against All Defendants) 

 
164.  The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134, 153-57 of 

this Complaint. 

165. In numerous instances, in connection with the extension of credit to consumers, 

Defendants have responded to oral inquiries about their installment loan product.  

166. When asked about the cost of credit, Defendants’ representatives orally state that 

each installment payment includes a $30 finance charge per hundred dollars of principal.  

167. In these conversations, Defendants have not stated the annual percentage rate for 

its installment loan products or described the annual percentage rate for a sample installment 

loan transaction. 
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168.  By orally providing cost information other than the APR (or the APR for a 

sample transaction) in response to inquiries about the cost of closed-end credit, Defendants 

violated the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1665a, and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.26(b). 

Count VI 

Violation of the CFPA 
(Against all Defendants)  

 
169. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-134, 153-57 of 

this Complaint.  

170. The CFPA defines “enumerated consumer laws” to include the Truth in Lending 

Act. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(12)(O). Enumerated consumer laws are included in “Federal consumer 

financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

171. Under the CFPA, covered persons’ and service providers’ acts or omissions in 

violations of Federal consumer financial laws are considered violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(A). 

172. By virtue of their violations of TILA, Defendants have violated the CFPA. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

173. Wherefore, the CFPB, pursuant to Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s own equitable powers, request that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin the Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, TILA, or any other provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper; 

c. Award damages and other monetary relief against Defendants as the Court 

finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from the Defendants’ 
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violations of the CFPA, TILA, and Regulation Z, including but not limited to 

restitution and the refund of monies paid;  

d. Order disgorgement against Defendants of ill-gotten gains; 

e. Award civil monetary penalties;  

f. Award the costs of bringing this action; and 

g. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 
Dated:  April 27, 2017  Respectfully submitted, 
 
     Anthony Alexis (DC Bar # 384545) 
     Enforcement Director  
     Deborah Morris (Admitted to NY Bar) 
     Deputy Enforcement Director 
     Craig Cowie (DC Bar # 491707) 
     Assistant Litigation Deputy 
     
     _/s/ Mary Olson__________________ 
     Mary Olson (IL Bar # 6297334)  

(local counsel) 
Enforcement Attorney  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
230 S. Dearborn St., Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 

     Telephone: 312-610-8977 
Fax: 202-435-7722     
Email: Mary.Olson@cfpb.gov 

       
     Vanessa Buchko (DC Bar # 502578)   
     Gabriel S.H. Hopkins (NY Bar # 5242300)   

    Enforcement Attorneys 
     Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
     1700 G Street, NW 
     Washington, DC 20552 
     Telephone (Buchko): 202-435-9593 

Telephone (Hopkins): 202-435-7842 
     Fax: 202-435-7722 
     E-mail: Vanessa.Buchko@cfpb.gov 
     E-mail: Gabriel.Hopkins@cfpb.gov 
     Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues Four Online Lenders for Collecting on Debts
Consumers Did Not Legally Owe

Bureau Alleges Companies Deceived Consumers About Debt That Was Not
Legally Owed

APR 27, 2017

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against four online lenders – Golden Valley Lending, Inc., Silver Cloud Financial, Inc.,
Mountain Summit Financial, Inc., and Majestic Lake Financial, Inc. – for deceiving consumers
by collecting debt they were not legally owed. In a suit filed in federal court, the CFPB
alleges that the four lenders could not legally collect on these debts because the loans
were void under state laws governing interest rate caps or the licensing of lenders. The
CFPB alleges that the lenders made deceptive demands and illegally took money from
consumer bank accounts for debts that consumers did not legally owe. The CFPB seeks to
stop the unlawful practices, recoup relief for harmed consumers, and impose a penalty.

"We are suing four online lenders for collecting on debts that consumers did not legally
owe," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "We allege that these companies made
deceptive demands and illegally took money from people's bank accounts. We are seeking
to stop these violations and get relief for consumers."

Golden Valley Lending, Inc., Silver Cloud Financial, Inc., Mountain Summit Financial, Inc.,
and Majestic Lake Financial, Inc. are online installment loan companies in Upper Lake,
California. Since at least 2012, Golden Valley Lending and Silver Cloud Financial have
offered online loans of between $300 and $1,200 with annual interest rates ranging from
440 percent up to 950 percent. Mountain Summit Financial and Majestic Lake Financial
began offering similar loans more recently. 

The Bureau’s investigation showed that the high-cost loans violated licensing requirements
or interest-rate caps – or both – that made the loans void in whole or in part in at least 17
states: Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts,
Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina,
Ohio, and South Dakota. The Bureau alleges that the four lenders are collecting money that
consumers do not legally owe. The CFPB’s suit alleges that Golden Valley Lending, Silver
Cloud Financial, Mountain Summit Financial, and Majestic Lake Financial violated the Truth
in Lending Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The
specific allegations include:

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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 Deceiving consumers about loan payments that were not owed: The lenders pursued
consumers for payments even though the loans in question were void in whole or in
part under state law and payments could not be collected. The interest rates the
lenders charged were high enough to violate usury laws in some states where they did
business, and violation of these usury laws renders particular loans void. In addition, the
lenders did not obtain licenses to lend or collect in certain states, and the failure to
obtain those licenses renders particular loans void. The four lenders created the false
impression that they had a legal right to collect payments and that consumers had a
legal obligation to pay off the loans. 

Collecting loan payments which consumers did not owe: The four lenders made
electronic withdrawals from consumers’ bank accounts or called or sent letters to
consumers demanding payment for debts that consumers were under no legal
obligation to pay. 

Failing to disclose the real cost of credit: The lenders’ websites did not disclose the
annual percentage rates that apply to the loans. When contacted by prospective
borrowers, the lenders’ representatives also did not tell consumers the annual
percentage rate that would apply to the loans. 

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB is
authorized to take action against institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts
or practices, or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws like the Truth in
Lending Act. The CFPB is seeking monetary relief for consumers, civil money penalties, and
injunctive relief, including a prohibition on collecting on void loans, against Golden Valley
and the other lenders. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant
have actually violated the law.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court is available at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Topics:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201704_cfpb_Golden-Valley_Silver-
Cloud_Majestic-Lake_complaint.pdf 

PAYDAY LOANS•

SMALL-DOLLAR LENDING•

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201704_cfpb_Golden-Valley_Silver-Cloud_Majestic-Lake_complaint.pdf
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_topics=payday-loans
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter0_topics=small-dollar-lending
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SARAH PREIS, DC BAR # 997387 (PHV pending) 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
COLIN REARDON, NY Bar # 4945655 (PHV pending) 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
BENJAMIN CLARK, IL BAR # 6316861 (PHV pending) 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-9318, -9668, -7871 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Park View Law, Inc. (f.k.a. Prime Law Experts, 
Inc.), and Arthur Barens, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:17-cv-4721

COMPLAINT FOR 
PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND 
OTHER RELIEF 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), 

brings this action against Park View Law, Inc. (a.k.a. Park View Legal, a.k.a. 

Prime Law Experts, Inc.) and Arthur Barens under Sections 1031(a), 1036(a), and 

1054(a) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a), and 5564(a), and the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and 

Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108, and its 

implementing regulation, the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 

310, to obtain permanent injunctive relief, civil money penalties, and other 

appropriate relief in connection with Defendants’ offer and sale of credit repair 

services to consumers.     

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because 

a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims herein 

occurred in this District, and under 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f), because Defendants did 

business in this District. 
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PARTIES 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5491. The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal consumer financial laws.   

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564. The Bureau has independent litigating authority, 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it applies to 

persons subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d).  

5. Defendant Park View Law, Inc. (f.k.a. Prime Law Experts, Inc.) 

(“PVL”) was a registered California corporation with a place of business in Los 

Angeles, California.  

6. PVL offered or provided credit repair, which is a consumer financial 

product or service covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii),(ix), and 

therefore is a covered person within the meaning of the CFPA, id. § 5481(6). 

7. PVL is a seller, as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd), 

because, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, it arranged for others to 

provide goods or services to customers in exchange for consideration. 

8. Defendant Arthur Barens (“Barens”) is a California resident. 

9. Barens incorporated Prime Law Experts in December 2012, and 

amended the name to Park View Law in 2013.  Barens registered PVL as a credit 

repair company with the state of California, and served as PVL’s sole owner, 

officer, and employee.  
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10. From at least March 2013 until as late as June 29, 2015, Barens—as 

the sole owner and employee of PVL—engaged in the acts and practices of PVL 

set forth in this Complaint. 

11. Because of his status as a director, officer, or employee charged with 

managerial responsibility for PVL, and because of his status as the controlling 

shareholder of PVL who materially participated in its affairs, Barens was a “related 

person” deemed to be a “covered person” under the CFPA with respect to PVL.  12 

U.S.C. §§ 5481(25)(B), (C)(i), (ii). 

12. Barens was a “seller” within the meaning of the TSR because, in 

connection with a telemarketing transaction, he arranged for others to provide 

services to customers in exchange for consideration.  16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 

DEFENDANTS PROVIDED CREDIT REPAIR SERVICES THROUGH 

PARTNERSHIPS WITH PRIME AND PMH 

13. Defendants provided credit repair services to consumers through 

partnerships with two other companies: Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime 

Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime Credit Consultants) (“Prime”) and Prime 

Marketing Holdings, L.L.C. (“PMH”).   

14. In March 2013, Defendants entered into an agreement with Prime, 

which enabled Prime to offer, sell, and provide credit repair services using PVL’s 

name.   
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15. Defendants authorized Prime to provide credit repair services to 

consumers under PVL’s name and to execute contracts with consumers on PVL’s 

behalf. 

16. Defendants also authorized Prime to market credit repair services to 

consumers under PVL’s name.   

17. Barens, who served as PVL’s sole owner and employee, was aware of 

the contents of the telemarketing scripts that Prime’s telemarketers used in sales 

calls with consumers.     

18. As the sole owner and employee of PVL, Barens was responsible for 

Prime’s telemarketing, including representations contained in those scripts while 

marketing credit repair services to consumers under PVL’s name. 

19. Barens was aware of and authorized the types of fees that customers 

were charged for credit repair services and the timing of those fees.   

20. At times, Barens responded to consumer complaints about the credit 

repair services PVL and Prime offered. 

21. Defendants continued working with Prime until Prime sold its assets 

to PMH on September 30, 2014.   

22. From October 1, 2014 until as late as June 29, 2015, Defendants 

worked with PMH to offer and provide credit repair services pursuant to an 

agreement that operated similarly to PVL’s agreement with Prime. 
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23. Pursuant to that agreement, Defendants authorized PMH to market 

and provide credit repair services under PVL’s name, authorized PMH to execute 

contracts with consumers on PVL’s behalf, and responded to certain consumer 

complaints about their agreements with PVL. 

24. Barens was aware of the contents of the telemarketing scripts that 

PMH’s telemarketers used in sales calls with consumers. 

25. Defendants were responsible for representations contained in scripts 

that PMH’s telemarketers used while marketing credit repair services to consumers 

under PVL’s name.  

26. Defendants caused harm to consumers who paid fees for credit repair 

services offered under PVL’s name.   

DEFENDANTS PARTICIPATED IN THE CHARGING OF UNLAWFUL 

ADVANCE FEES  

27. Through partnerships with Prime and PMH, Defendants participated 

in the charging of unlawful advance fees.   

28. Defendants authorized Prime and PMH to market credit repair 

services under PVL’s name to consumers nationwide through telemarketing.  

29. Consumers who contracted with PVL through Prime and PMH 

included individuals who were seeking to obtain a mortgage, loan, refinancing or 

other extension of credit. 
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30. Defendants authorized Prime and PMH to request and receive 

payments for credit repair services under PVL’s name.   

31. Consumers were typically charged three types of fees in the first six 

months of service: (1) an initial consultation fee; (2) a one-time set-up fee; and (3) 

monthly fees.   

32. During sales calls with these consumers, telemarketers represented 

that a consultation regarding the consumer’s credit report was the first step in the 

credit repair process.   

33. Consumers paid an initial fee that was typically $59.95 for the 

consultation and for a copy of their credit report.   

34. If the consumer agreed to receive services beyond the consultation, 

the consumer’s contract with PVL required that the consumer pay a set-up fee that 

was typically hundreds of dollars. 

35. Beginning in the third month of service, consumers were charged 

monthly fees, which were typically $89.99 per month.   

36. During the service period, Prime or PMH mailed dispute letters to the 

credit reporting agencies, challenging much of the negative information in the 

consumers’ reports, even if that information was accurate and not obsolete.    

37. Consumers continued to receive charges for monthly fees until they 

affirmatively cancelled their contracts. 
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38. Defendants, Prime, and PMH typically did not obtain credit reports or 

credit scores while customers received services or after consumers completed 

services to determine whether negative items had been removed from consumers’ 

credit reports or whether consumers’ credit scores had increased. 

39. Barens, PVL’s sole owner and employee, was aware of and authorized 

Prime’s and PMH’s practices concerning the fees charged in PVL’s name. 

DEFENDANTS PARTICIPATED IN MAKING MISREPRESENTATIONS 

REGARDING THE EFFICACY OF CREDIT REPAIR SERVICES  

40. Defendants participated in the making of misrepresentations to 

consumers regarding the efficacy of the credit repair services offered and provided 

in PVL’s name. 

Removal of Negative Items   

41. With Defendants’ participation and authorization, Prime and PMH 

misrepresented their ability to remove negative items from consumers’ credit 

reports on PVL’s behalf by failing to make clear the limited circumstances in 

which they could do so.   

42. Pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act, a consumer reporting 

agency typically may not report negative items that are more than seven years old, 

or bankruptcies that are more than ten years old.  15 U.S.C. § 1681c. 
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43. A consumer reporting agency may continue reporting a disputed item 

unless after an investigation the disputed item is found to be inaccurate, 

incomplete, or cannot be verified. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5)(A). 

44. Following a reinvestigation, consumer reporting agencies only have to 

remove inaccurate, incomplete, or unverifiable information from consumers’ credit 

reports.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)(A), (5)(A). 

45. In numerous instances, Prime’s and PMH’s marketing created the net 

impression that credit repair services provided in PVL’s name would or likely 

would result in the removal of material negative entries on consumers’ credit 

reports, regardless of whether the negative entries were inaccurate or obsolete. 

46. Barens was aware of the representations made by Prime’s and PMH’s 

telemarketers to consumers when offering credit repair services under PVL’s 

name. 

47. Defendants were responsible for the representations made by Prime 

and PMH when offering credit repair services to consumers under PVL’s name.   

48. Defendants, Prime, and PMH lacked a reasonable basis for 

representing that their credit repair services could remove negative items when 

they did not have information indicating that such items were inaccurate or 

obsolete.   
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49. Because Defendants, Prime, and PMH typically did not track whether 

negative items were removed from consumers’ credit reports, they lacked a 

reasonable basis for representing without qualification that their services would or 

likely would result in the removal of negative items. 

Ability to Improve Consumers’ Credit Scores 

50. With Defendants’ participation and authorization, Prime and PMH 

misrepresented, explicitly and implicitly, PVL’s and their ability to increase 

consumers’ credit scores.   

51. Defendants authorized Prime and PMH to use telemarketers to market 

credit repair services under PVL’s name.   

52. In numerous instances, those telemarketers represented during sales 

calls that credit repair services offered in PVL’s name substantially raised 

customers’ credit scores, often stating that their customers’ scores increased by an 

average of 100 or more points.   

53. Barens was aware of the representations made by Prime’s and PMH’s 

telemarketers to consumers when offering credit repair services under PVL’s 

name. 

54. Defendants were responsible for representations made by Prime and 

PMH when offering credit repair services to consumers under PVL’s name. 
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55. Defendants, Prime, and PMH lacked a reasonable basis for 

representing that their credit repair services substantially raised its customers’ 

credit scores.   

56. Defendants, Prime, and PMH typically did not obtain or review 

consumers’ credit scores to determine whether their credit scores increased after 

using credit repair services.   

57. Because Defendants, Prime, and PMH did not actually measure the 

average credit score increase obtained by consumers who used their services, they 

lacked a reasonable basis for stating that their services increased credit scores by 

an average of 100 or more points. 

58. The representations that Defendants, Prime, and PMH’s services 

increased credit scores by an average of over 100 or more points were also false. 

DEFENDANTS PARTICIPATED IN MISREPRESENTATIONS 

REGARDING THE TERMS OF THE “GUARANTEE” IN ITS CONTRACT 

59. Defendants also participated in the making of misrepresentations 

regarding the terms of a money-back guarantee for the credit repair services they 

offered in partnership with Prime and PMH.   

60. Defendants authorized marketing that created the impression that if a 

consumer was not satisfied with PVL’s credit repair services, the consumer could 

obtain a refund.  
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61. But PVL’s sales contracts typically limited the guarantee to the 

removal of a minimum of one disputed item within 180 days of the execution of 

the sales contract. 

62. Defendants, Prime, and PMH construed the guarantee as meaning that 

so long as their credit repair services resulted in the removal of a single disputed 

item within six months, consumers could not obtain a refund, even if their credit 

scores did not improve.   

63. Defendants, Prime, and PMH also typically required customers to pay 

for a full six months of services to be eligible for the guarantee.  

64. The limitations of PVL’s refund policy were not clearly and 

conspicuously disclosed during sales calls and in PVL’s online marketing. 

65.   Barens was aware of complaints from customers who considered the 

marketing of its guarantee to be deceptive. 

DEFENDANTS PARTICIPATED IN MISREPRESENTATIONS 

REGARDING THE COST OF CREDIT REPAIR SERVICES  

66. In addition to an initial consultation fee and a one-time set-up fee, 

PVL’s contract required customers enrolled in credit repair services to pay monthly 

fees. 
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67. In numerous instances, Prime’s and PMH’s telemarketers failed to 

disclose to consumers during sales calls that they would be charged the monthly 

fee under PVL’s contract. 

68. Defendants were aware of and responsible for the misrepresentations 

made by Prime and PMH when offering credit repair services to consumers under 

PVL’s name.   

COUNT I 

Advance Fees in Violation of the TSR 

(PVL and Barens) 

69. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference.  

70. It is an abusive act or practice under the TSR for a seller to request or 

collect fees for credit repair services until the seller has provided the person with 

documentation in the form of a consumer report from a consumer reporting agency 

demonstrating that the promised results have been achieved, such report having 

been issued more than six months after the results were achieved.  

71. Because Defendants were each sellers, they violated the TSR by 

requesting and collecting fees for credit repair services before providing consumers 

with documentation in the form of a consumer report from a consumer reporting 

agency demonstrating that the promised results have been achieved, such report 
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having been issued more than six months after the results were achieved.  16 

C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2).  

COUNT II 

Misrepresentations about Material Aspects of the Efficacy of Services in 

Violation of the TSR  

(PVL and Barens) 

72. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference.  

73. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for sellers to 

misrepresent any material aspect of the efficacy of their services. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

74. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, that credit repair services offered under the PVL name would or 

likely would result in the removal of material negative entries on consumers’ credit 

reports regardless of whether the negative entries were inaccurate or obsolete. 

75. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication that credit repair services offered under the PVL name would or 

likely would result in a substantial increase to consumers’ credit scores.  
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76. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

77. Because Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for these 

representations, the representations were deceptive. 

78. Defendants’ representations were false.   

79. Because Defendants were each sellers, Defendants’ material 

misrepresentations about the efficacy of credit repair services offered under the 

PVL name violated the TSR.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

COUNT III 

Failure to Disclose Limitations on Guarantee in Violation of the TSR 

(PVL and Barens) 

80. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference. 

81. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller to fail to 

clearly and conspicuously disclose material terms and conditions in an advertised 

refund policy before a consumer consents to pay. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 

82. Defendants represented that credit repair services offered under the 

PVL name came with a money-back guarantee. 

83. Defendants failed to clearly and conspicuously disclose the limitations 

that PVL’s contracts place on this guarantee before consumers consented to pay.  
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84. Defendants misrepresented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, the terms of this guarantee.  

85. Because Defendants were each sellers, their failure to clearly and 

conspicuously disclose the material terms and conditions of PVL’s refund policy 

before a consumer consented to pay for goods or services violated the TSR.  16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 

COUNT IV 

Misrepresentations Regarding the Cost of Services in Violation of the TSR 

(PVL and Barens) 

86. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference. 

87. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller to 

misrepresent, directly or by implication, the total cost to purchase the goods and 

services that are the subject of the sales offer.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(i).  

88. Defendants have misrepresented the total cost of credit repair services 

offered under the PVL name.  

89. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

90. Because Defendants were each sellers, their misrepresentations about 

the total cost of the credit repair services violate the TSR.  16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(i). 
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COUNT V 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

(PVL and Barens) 

91. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference.  

92. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, that credit repair services offered under the PVL name will or 

likely will result in the removal of material negative entries on consumers’ credit 

reports regardless of whether the negative entries were inaccurate or obsolete. 

93. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication that credit repair services offered under the PVL name will or likely 

will result in a substantial increase to consumers’ credit scores.  

94. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

95. Because Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for these 

representations, the representations were deceptive. 

96. Defendants’ representations regarding the ability of credit repair 

services offered under the PVL name to remove negative entries on consumers’ 

credit reports and improve consumers’ credit scores were false.   
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97. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, made material misrepresentations regarding the terms of PVL’s 

guarantee. 

98.  Defendants’ marketing has created the net impression that consumers 

could obtain a full refund if they were not satisfied with the credit repair services 

offered under the PVL name. 

99. However, Defendants’ guarantee policy was limited to the removal of 

one “disputed” item with 180 days, and only applied if consumers agreed to pay 

for six months of services. 

100. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, made material misrepresentations regarding the costs of credit repair 

services offered under the PVL name. 

101. These representations regarding the efficacy of credit repair services 

offered under the PVL name, the terms of PVL’s guarantee, and the cost of credit 

repair services offered under the PVL name have been material and likely to 

mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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102. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as described herein have 

constituted deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT VI 

Assisting and Facilitating Deceptive and Abusive Practices 

in Violation of the TSR  

(PVL and Barens) 

103. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference.  

104. It is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and a violation of the 

TSR to provide substantial assistance or support to any seller or telemarketer when 

that person knows or consciously avoids knowing that the seller or telemarketer 

has engaged in any act or practice that violates § 310.3(a), (c), or (d), or § 310.4 of 

the TSR. 

105. Barens and PVL provided substantial assistance and support to Prime 

and PMH while knowing or consciously avoiding knowing that Prime and PMH 

were violating § 310.3(a) and § 310.4 of the TSR. 

106. Barens and PVL’s actions therefore constituted deceptive practices in 

violation of § 310.3(b) of the TSR. 
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COUNT VII 

Substantial Assistance in Violation of the CFPA 

(Barens) 

107. The allegations in paragraphs 1-68 are incorporated by reference.  

108. Prime and PMH are covered persons that committed deceptive acts 

and practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1). 

109. Barens knowingly and recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

Prime and PMH.  

110. Therefore, Barens provided substantial assistance to Prime and PMH 

in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

111. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

equitable relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, 

disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and monetary relief, 

including but not limited to civil money penalties, to prevent and remedy any 

violation of any provision of law enforced by the Bureau. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a); 

5565(a), (c).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

The Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565:  
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a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing further violations of 

the CFPA and the TSR and other provisions of Federal consumer financial law as 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

c. Award damages and other monetary relief against Defendants as the 

Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from Defendants’ 

violations of the CFPA and the TSR, including but not limited to rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment;  

d. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

e. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Dated: June 27, 2017      

Respectfully submitted, 

       Anthony Alexis  
Enforcement Director 
 
Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Craig Cowie 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 

        /s/ Sarah Preis          
Sarah Preis 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
Colin Reardon 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
Benjamin Clark 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-9318, -9668, -7871 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Park View Law (f.k.a. Prime Law 
Experts, Inc.) and Arthur Barens, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:17-cv-4721

[PROPOSED] STIPULATED FINAL 
JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced 

this civil action against Defendants Park View Law (f.k.a. Prime Law Experts, 

Inc.) and Arthur Barens (collectively, “Defendants”) on June 27, 2017, to obtain 

injunctive relief and disgorgement.  

The Complaint alleges violations of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1), and the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which 

implements the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act 

(“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108.     

Plaintiff and Defendants request that the Court enter this Stipulated Final 

Judgment and Order (“Order”). 
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FINDINGS 

1) This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of 

this action. 

2) Plaintiff and Defendants agree to entry of this Order to settle and 

resolve all matters in this dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint 

to the date this Order is entered. 

3) Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the Complaint, 

except as specifically stated in this Order.  For the purposes of this Order, 

Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over them 

and the subject matter of this action.   

4) Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge 

or contest the validity of this Order.  Defendants also waive any claim they may 

have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the 

prosecution of this action to the date of this Order.  Each party will bear its own 

costs and expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees. 

5) Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

6) The following definitions apply to this Order:   
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a) “Affected Consumers” includes any consumer who entered into 

a contract with Corporate Defendant for Credit Repair Services 

between March 13, 2013 and June 29, 2015. 

b) “Credit Repair Services” means any good or service that is 

represented to remove derogatory information from, or improve, a 

person’s credit history, credit record, or credit rating.      

c) “Defendants” means the Individual Defendant and the 

Corporate Defendant, individually and collectively.     

i) “Corporate Defendant” means Park View Law (f.k.a. 

Prime Law Experts, Inc.), and its successors and assigns. 

ii) “Individual Defendant” means Arthur Barens. 

d) “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is entered 

on the docket by this Court. 

e) “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the 

Office of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

or his/her delegate. 

f) “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on 

behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against a Defendant based on 
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substantially the same facts as described in this Order or the 

Complaint. 

ORDER 

 IT IS ORDERED that: 

I. Conduct Prohibition 

7) Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in the provision of Credit Repair Services.   

8) Defendants, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, are restrained for 5 years from: 

a) Advertising, marketing, promoting, providing, offering for sale, 

selling, assisting in the sale of, or administering Credit Repair 

Services; or 

b) Receiving any remuneration or other consideration from, 

holding any ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in 

any capacity for any person engaged in or assisting in advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling Credit Repair 

Services. 
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II. Customer Information 

9) Defendants, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly 

or indirectly, may not disclose, use, or benefit from customer information, 

including the name, address, telephone number, email address, social security 

number, other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a 

customer’s account (including a credit card, bank account, or other financial 

account), that Defendant obtained before the Effective Date in connection with the 

offering or sale of credit repair services.  However, customer information may be 

disclosed if requested by a government agency or required by law, regulation, or 

court order. 

III. Judgment for Equitable Monetary Relief 

10) Under § 1055(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a), by reason of the 

alleged violations described in the Complaint, a judgment of equitable monetary 

relief in the form of disgorgement is entered in favor of the Bureau and against 

Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $500,000. 

11) Within 14 days of the Effective Date, Defendants are ordered to pay 

$250,000 of the disgorgement amount to the Bureau in the form of a wire transfer 

to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Defendants are ordered to pay 
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the remaining $250,000 of the disgorgement amount to the Bureau in the form of a 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions. The payments shall be deposited in the United States 

Treasury as disgorgement.     

12) With regard to any equitable monetary relief that Defendants pay 

pursuant to this Section, if Defendants receive, directly or indirectly, any 

reimbursement or indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made pursuant to any insurance policy, or if Defendants secure a tax 

deduction or tax credit with regard to any federal, state, or local tax, Defendants 

shall: (a) immediately notify the Enforcement Director in writing, and (b) within 

10 days of receiving such funds or monetary benefit, Defendants shall transfer to 

the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring 

instructions, the full amount of such funds or monetary benefit. 

IV. Additional Monetary Provisions 

13) In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligation to make 

payment under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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14) Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the 

funds paid or to be paid under this Order to the fullest extent permitted by law and 

no part of the funds may be returned to Defendants. 

15) Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants must furnish to the Bureau their 

taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

16) Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Defendants paid or are 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers 

to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

V. Reporting Requirements 

17) Defendants must notify the Bureau of any development that may 

affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, 

any change in structure of Corporate Defendant, including a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in 
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Defendants’ name or address.  Defendants must provide this notice, if practicable, 

at least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after 

the development.   

18) Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must: 

a) Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, 

and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with Defendants; 

b) Identify all businesses for which any Defendant is the  

owner, or that a Defendant directly or indirectly controls, by all of 

their names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and 

Internet addresses; 

c) Describe the activities of each such business, including the 

products and services offered, and the means of advertising, 

marketing, and sales; 

d) Identify Individual Defendant’s telephone numbers and all 

email, Internet, physical, and postal addresses, including all 

residences; and 

e) Describe in detail Individual Defendant’s involvement in any 

business that provides Credit Repair Services or which Individual 
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Defendant wholly or partially owns, including Defendant’s title, role, 

responsibilities, participation, authority, control, and ownership. 

19) For 5 years from the Effective Date, the Defendants must report any 

change in the information required to be submitted under ¶ 17 at least 30 days 

before the change or as soon as practicable after the learning about the change, 

whichever is sooner. 

20) Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the 

Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report, which, at a minimum: 

a) Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants 

have complied with this Order; and  

b) Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

§ VI, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VI. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

21) For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a copy 

of this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred 

to in ¶ 17, and any future board members and executive officers before they 

assume their responsibilities.   

22) Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 
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the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

VII. Recordkeeping 

23) Defendants must create or, if already created, must retain for at least 5 

years from the Effective Date all documents and records necessary to demonstrate 

full compliance with each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

24) Defendants must retain the documents related to the compliance 

report described in ¶ 23 for at least 5 years. 

25) Defendants must make the documents identified in ¶ 23 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

VIII. Notices 

26) Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to 

this Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Prime Credit Consultants, Matter 

No. 2013-0946-02” and send them either: 

a) By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 
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1625 Eye St., N.W. 

Washington, DC 20006 

b) By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously 

by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street, N.W.  

Washington, DC 20552 

IX. Compliance Monitoring 

27) Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Defendants must submit compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

28) Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Defendants who have agreed to such an 

interview regarding the subject matter or compliance of this Order.  The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

29) Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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X. Retention of Jurisdiction 

30) The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

31) Notwithstanding the provisions of ¶ 30, any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written agreement of 

the parties and without further Court approval.  Additionally, details related to 

administration of §§ V through X of this Order may be modified by written 

agreement of the parties and without further Court approval.  Any other 

modifications to this Order may be made only upon approval of the Court, upon 

motion by any party. 

XI. Release 

32) The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential 

liability for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date.  The 

Bureau may use the practices alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement 

actions against Defendants or their affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate 

the amount of any penalty.  This release does not preclude or affect any right of the 
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Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with this Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

Consented and agreed to: 

FOR THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU: 

ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 

DEBORAH MORRIS 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

CRAIG COWIE 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 

SARAH PREIS 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
COLIN REARDON 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
BENJAMIN CLARK 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: 202-435-9318, -9668, -7871 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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PAUL HASTING. LP 

SAC 
D.C. umber 493507 
LAUREN KELLY GREENBACKER 
D.C. Bar Number 1029794 
875 15th Street NW 
Washington DC 20005 
Phone: (202) 551-1700 
geraldsachs@paulhastings.com 

Attorneys for Defendants 
Park View Law (f.k.a. Prime Law Experts, Inc.) and Arthur Barens 
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SARAH PREIS, DC BAR # 997387 (PHV pending) 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
COLIN REARDON, NY Bar # 4945655 (PHV pending) 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
BENJAMIN CLARK, IL BAR # 6316861 (PHV pending) 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-9318, -9668, -7871 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Commercial Credit Consultants (d.b.a. Accurise); 
IMC Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. Imperial Meridian 
Capital L.L.C., Imperial Capital, and IMCA 
Capital L.L.C); Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime 
Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime Credit 
Consultants); Blake Johnson; and Eric Schlegel, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:17-cv-4720

COMPLAINT FOR 
PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND 
OTHER RELIEF 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), 

brings this action against Commercial Credit Consultants (d.b.a. Accurise); IMC 

Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. Imperial Meridian Capital L.L.C., Imperial Capital, and 

IMCA Capital L.L.C); Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. 

Prime Credit Consultants); Blake Johnson; and Eric Schlegel (collectively, 

“Defendants”) under Sections 1031(a), 1036(a), and 1054(a) of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), and 

5564(a), and the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act 

(“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108, and its implementing regulation, 

the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 310, to obtain permanent 

injunctive relief, civil money penalties, and other appropriate relief in connection 

with Defendants’ offer and sale of credit repair services to consumers.     

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because 

all Defendants reside in this District, under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because a 
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substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred 

in this District, and under 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f), because Defendants are located in 

and do business in this District. 

PLAINTIFF 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5491. The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal consumer financial laws. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564. The Bureau has independent litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it applies to persons 

subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d).  

DEFENDANTS 

Corporate Defendants 

5. Commercial Credit Consultants (d.b.a. Accurise) (“CCC”) is a 

Wyoming corporation with a principal place of business in Los Angeles, 

California.  

6. From August 1, 2009, until the summer of 2012, CCC offered or 

provided credit repair services to consumers.      

7. IMC Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. Imperial Meridian Capital L.L.C., Imperial 

Capital, and IMCA Capital L.L.C) (“IMC”) is a California corporation with a 

principal place of business in Los Angeles, California.   
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8. IMC offered or provided credit repair services to consumers from 

approximately January 2012 until the summer of 2012.   

9. Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime 

Credit Consultants) (“Prime”) is a California corporation with a principal place of 

business in Los Angeles, California. 

10. From approximately July 2012 until September 30, 2014, Prime 

offered or provided credit repair services to consumers. 

11. In March 2013, Prime entered into an agreement with Park View Law, 

Inc. (a.k.a Park View Legal, a.k.a. Prime Law Experts, Inc.) (“PVL”), a California 

corporation that offered or provided credit repair services to consumers. 

12. Pursuant to the agreement between PVL and Prime, Prime handled 

marketing and performed credit repair services for consumers who entered into 

agreements with PVL. 

13. This agreement enabled Prime to offer credit repair services using 

PVL’s name.  

14. CCC and Prime’s assets were sold to a third party on October 1, 2014.   

15. CCC, IMC, and Prime each offered or provided credit repair, which is 

a consumer financial product or service covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(viii),(ix), and therefore are covered persons within the meaning of 

the CFPA, id. § 5481(6). 
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16. CCC, IMC, and Prime were each a seller, as defined by the TSR, 16 

C.F.R. § 310.2(dd), because, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, they 

provided, offered to provide, or arranged for others to provide goods or services to 

customers in exchange for consideration. 

17. CCC, IMC, and Prime were each a telemarketer, as defined by the 

TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(ff), because, in connection with telemarketing, they 

initiated or received telephone calls to or from customers. 

18. Between August 1, 2009 and September 30, 2014, Corporate 

Defendants charged approximately 71,000 consumers at least $31,000,000 in fees. 

19. Corporate Defendants returned a portion of these fees to consumers 

through either refunds or chargebacks, including at least $850,000 between 

January 2012 and September 2014. 

Individual Defendants 

20. Blake Johnson (“Johnson”) is a resident of Los Angeles, California. 

21. Johnson formed CCC in 2009, and was its majority owner. 

22. Johnson is the founder and chairman of IMC, and owns a majority 

interest in IMC.   

23. Johnson formed Prime in July 2012, and was its majority owner. 

24. Johnson engaged in the acts and practices of CCC, IMC, and Prime 

set forth in this Complaint.   

Case 2:17-cv-04720   Document 1   Filed 06/27/17   Page 5 of 21   Page ID #:5



 

6 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

 

25. Because of his status as a director, officer, or employee charged with 

managerial responsibility for CCC, IMC, and Prime, and because of his status as 

the controlling shareholder of CCC, IMC, and Prime who materially participated in 

the conduct of those entities’ affairs, Johnson was a “related person” deemed to be 

a “covered person” under the CFPA with respect to each of those entities.  12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B), (C)(i), (ii). 

26. Eric Schlegel (“Schlegel”) is a resident of Laguna Niguel, California.   

27. Schlegel was the president of CCC and also a minority shareholder in 

CCC. 

28. Schlegel was the president of Prime and is a minority shareholder in 

Prime.  

29. Schlegel engaged in the acts and practices of CCC and Prime set forth 

in this Complaint. 

30. Because of his status as director, officer, or employee charged with 

managerial responsibility for CCC and Prime, and because of his status as a 

shareholder of CCC and Prime who materially participated in the conduct of those 

entities’ affairs, Schlegel is a “related person” deemed to be a “covered person” 

under the CFPA with respect to each of those entities.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(25)(B), 

(C)(i), (ii). 
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31. Johnson and Schlegel were each “sellers” within the meaning of the 

TSR because, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, they each provided, 

offered to provide, or arranged for others to provide services to customers in 

exchange for consideration.  16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 

DEFENDANTS CHARGED UNLAWFUL ADVANCE FEES 

32. Defendants marketed credit repair services to consumers nationwide 

through telemarketing. 

33. Corporate Defendants’ customers included individuals who were 

seeking to obtain a mortgage, loan, refinancing or other extension of credit when 

they first communicated with Defendants. 

34. Corporate Defendants requested and received payment for credit 

repair services represented to remove derogatory information from, or to improve, 

consumers’ credit histories, credit records, or credit ratings. 

35. Corporate Defendants typically charged consumers three types of fees 

in the first six months of service: (1) an initial consultation fee; (2) a one-time set-

up fee; and (3) monthly fees.   

36. During sales calls with consumers, Corporate Defendants represented 

that a consultation regarding the consumer’s credit report was the first step in the 

credit repair process.   
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37. Corporate Defendants charged an initial fee that was typically $59.95 

for the consultation and for a copy of the consumer’s credit report.   

38. During the consultation, an analyst purportedly reviewed and 

discussed the credit report with the consumer and identified how Corporate 

Defendants could help the consumer increase his or her credit score. 

39. If the consumer agreed to receive services beyond the consultation, 

Corporate Defendants charged the consumer a one-time set-up fee that was 

typically hundreds of dollars. 

40. Consumers sometimes paid the set-up fee in in multiple payments 

over the first two months of service. 

41. Beginning in the third month of service, Corporate Defendants 

charged monthly fees, which were typically $89.99 per month.   

42. During the service period, Corporate Defendants mailed dispute 

letters to the credit reporting agencies, challenging much of the negative 

information in the consumers’ reports, even if that information was accurate and 

not obsolete.    

43. Corporate Defendants continued to charge monthly fees until 

consumers affirmatively cancelled their contracts. 

44. Corporate Defendants typically did not obtain credit reports or credit 

scores while customers received services or after consumers completed services to 
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determine whether negative items had been removed from consumers’ credit 

reports or whether consumers’ credit scores had increased. 

45. Johnson and Schlegel developed the fee structure and contracts that 

CCC and Prime used, and had final decision-making authority over the fees those 

entities charged.   

46. Johnson also developed the fee structure and contracts that IMC used, 

and had final decision-making authority over the fees that it charged.   

DEFENDANTS MISREPRESENTED THE EFFICACY OF THEIR 

SERVICES 

47. Defendants have misrepresented the efficacy of their services, 

including their ability to remove negative items and to increase consumers’ credit 

scores. 

Removal of Negative Items 

48. Defendants misrepresented their ability to remove negative items from 

consumers’ credit reports by failing to make clear the limited circumstances in 

which they could do so.    

49. Pursuant to the FCRA, a consumer reporting agency typically may not 

report negative items that are more than seven years old, or bankruptcies that are 

more than ten years old.  15 U.S.C. § 1681c. 
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50. A consumer reporting agency may continue reporting a disputed item 

unless after an investigation the disputed item is found to be inaccurate, 

incomplete, or cannot be verified. 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5)(A). 

51. Following a reinvestigation, consumer reporting agencies only have to 

remove inaccurate, incomplete, or unverifiable information from consumers’ credit 

reports.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)(A),(5)(A). 

52. In numerous instances, Defendants’ marketing created the net 

impression that their credit repair services would or likely would result in the 

removal of material negative entries on consumers’ credit reports, regardless of 

whether the negative entries were inaccurate or obsolete.    

53. Defendants did not make clear in sales calls or in online marketing 

that consumer reporting agencies only have to remove negative items from 

consumers’ credit reports in limited circumstances. 

54. Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for representing that they could 

remove negative items when they did not have information indicating that such 

items were inaccurate or obsolete. 

55. Because Defendants typically did not track whether negative items 

were removed from consumers’ credit reports, they lacked a reasonable basis for 

representing without qualification that their services would or likely would result 

in the removal of negative items.     
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Ability to Improve Consumers’ Credit Scores 

56. Defendants misrepresented, explicitly and implicitly, their ability to 

increase consumers’ credit scores. 

57. In numerous instances, Corporate Defendants represented during sales 

calls that Defendants’ credit repair services substantially raised their customers’ 

credit scores, often stating that their customers’ scores increased by an average of 

100 or more points.   

58. Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for representing that their credit 

repair services substantially raised their customers’ credit scores.   

59. Corporate Defendants typically did not obtain or review consumers’ 

credit scores to determine whether their credit scores increased after using 

Defendants’ credit repair services.   

60. Because Defendants did not actually measure the average credit score 

increase obtained by consumers who used their services, Corporate Defendants 

lacked a reasonable basis for their statement that they increased credit scores by an 

average of 100 or more points. 

61. Corporate Defendants’ representations that their services increased 

credit scores by an average of over 100 or more points were also false. 

62. CCC and Prime’s websites have also included alleged testimonials or 

descriptions of individual results.  Such testimonials or descriptions state that the 
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consumer’s scores increased significantly or that certain negative items were 

removed as a result of Defendants’ services. 

63. Those testimonials implied that the results were typical of what 

consumers would generally achieve when using Defendants’ services.   

64. CCC and Prime lacked a reasonable basis for representing that those 

testimonials reflected what consumers would generally achieve when using 

Defendants’ services.  

DEFENDANTS MISREPRESENTED AND FAILED TO CLEARLY AND 

CONSPICUOUSLY DISCLOSE THE TERMS OF THEIR “GUARANTEE” 

65. Defendants represented that they offered a money-back guarantee.  

66. Corporate Defendants’ marketing created the impression that if a 

consumer was not satisfied with their credit repair services, then the consumer 

could obtain a refund.  

67. But Corporate Defendants’ sales contracts typically limited the 

guarantee to the removal of a minimum of one disputed item within 180 days of 

the execution of the sales contract. 

68. Defendants construed the guarantee as meaning that so long as 

Defendants’ credit repair services resulted in the removal of a single disputed item 

within six months, consumers could not obtain a refund, even if their credit scores 

did not improve.   
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69. Corporate Defendants also typically required customers to pay for a 

full six months of services to be eligible for the guarantee.   

70. Corporate Defendants did not clearly and conspicuously disclose the 

limitations of their refund policy during sales calls or in their online marketing.   

71. Corporate Defendants typically did not provide consumers with a 

copy of the sales contract until after the consumer had provided payment 

information for the initial consultation fee. 

72. Johnson and Schlegel were aware of complaints from customers who 

considered Corporate Defendants’ marketing of the guarantee to be deceptive.   

DEFENDANTS MISREPRESENTED THE COST OF THEIR SERVICES 

73. In addition to an initial consultation fee and a one-time set-up fee, 

Defendants charged customers who enrolled in credit repair services monthly fees. 

74. In numerous instances, Corporate Defendants failed to disclose to 

consumers during sales calls that they would be charged a monthly fee.   

COUNT I 

Advance Fees in Violation of the TSR 

(All Defendants) 

75. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference.  

76. It is an abusive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to request or collect fees for credit repair services until the seller has 

Case 2:17-cv-04720   Document 1   Filed 06/27/17   Page 13 of 21   Page ID #:13



 

14 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

 

provided the person with documentation in the form of a consumer report from a 

consumer reporting agency demonstrating that the promised results have been 

achieved, such report having been issued more than six months after the results 

were achieved.  

77. Because Defendants were each telemarketers, sellers, or both, 

Defendants violated the TSR by requesting and collecting fees for credit repair 

services before providing consumers with documentation in the form of a 

consumer report from a consumer reporting agency demonstrating that the 

promised results have been achieved, such report having been issued more than six 

months after the results were achieved.  16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2).  

COUNT II 

Misrepresentations about Material Aspects of the Efficacy of Their Services in 

Violation of the TSR  

(All Defendants) 

78. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference.  

79. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to misrepresent any material aspect of the efficacy of their services. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

80. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 
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by implication, that their actions will or likely will result in the removal of material 

negative entries on consumers’ credit reports regardless of whether the negative 

entries were inaccurate or obsolete. 

81. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication that their actions will or likely will result in a substantial increase to 

consumers’ credit scores.  

82. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

83. Because Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for these 

representations, the representations were deceptive. 

84. Defendants’ representations were false.   

85. Because Defendants were each telemarketers, sellers, or both, 

Defendants’ material misrepresentations about the efficacy of their services 

violated the TSR.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

COUNT III 

Failure to Disclose Limitations on Guarantee in Violation of the TSR 

(All Defendants) 

86. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference. 
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87. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to fail to clearly and conspicuously disclose material terms and 

conditions in an advertised refund policy before a consumer consents to pay. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 

88. Defendants represented that their services came with a money-back 

guarantee. 

89. Defendants failed to clearly and conspicuously disclose the limitations 

that their contracts place on this guarantee before consumers consented to pay.  

90. Defendants misrepresented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, the terms of this guarantee.  

91. Because Defendants were each telemarketers, sellers, or both, 

Defendants’ failure to clearly and conspicuously disclose the material terms and 

conditions of their refund policy before a consumer consented to pay for goods or 

services violated the TSR.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 

COUNT IV 

Misrepresentations Regarding the Cost of Services in Violation of the TSR 

(All Defendants) 

92. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference. 

93. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to misrepresent, directly or by implication, the total cost to purchase 
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the goods and services that are the subject of the sales offer.  16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(i).  

94. Defendants have misrepresented the total cost of their credit repair 

services.  

95. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

96. Because Defendants were each telemarketers, sellers, or both, 

Defendants’ misrepresentations about the total cost of the credit repair services 

violate the TSR.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(i). 

COUNT V 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

(All Defendants) 

97. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference.  

98. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, that their actions will or likely will result in the removal of material 

negative entries on consumers’ credit reports regardless of whether the negative 

entries were inaccurate or obsolete. 

99. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or 
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by implication that their actions will or likely will result in a substantial increase to 

consumers’ credit scores.  

100. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

101. Because Defendants lacked a reasonable basis for these 

representations, the representations were deceptive. 

102. Defendants’ representations regarding their ability to remove negative 

entries on consumers’ credit reports and improve consumers’ credit scores were 

false.   

103. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, made material misrepresentations regarding the terms of their 

guarantee. 

104.  Defendants’ marketing has created the net impression that consumers 

could obtain a full refund if they were not satisfied with Defendants’ services. 

105. However, Defendants’ guarantee policy was limited to the removal of 

one “disputed” item within 180 days, and only applied if consumers agreed to pay 

for six months of services. 

106. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, Defendants, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 
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implication, made material misrepresentations regarding the costs of their credit 

repair services.  

107. These representations regarding the efficacy of Defendants’ services, 

the terms of their guarantee, and the cost of their services have been material and 

likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

108. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as described herein have 

constituted deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

COUNT VI 

Substantial Assistance in Violation of the CFPA 

(Johnson and Schlegel) 

109. The allegations in paragraphs 1-74 are incorporated by reference.  

110. CCC, IMC, and Prime are covered persons that committed deceptive 

acts and practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1). 

111. Johnson knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

CCC, IMC, and Prime in their violations of the CFPA.  

112. Therefore, Johnson provided substantial assistance to CCC, IMC, and 

Prime, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

113. Schlegel knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

CCC, IMC, and Prime in their violations of the CFPA.  
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114. Therefore, Schlegel provided substantial assistance to CCC, IMC, and 

Prime, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

115. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

equitable relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, 

disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and monetary relief, 

including but not limited to civil money penalties, to prevent and remedy any 

violation of any provision of law enforced by the Bureau. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a); 

5565(a), (c).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

The Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565:  

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing further violations of 

the CFPA and the TSR and other provisions of Federal consumer financial law as 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

c. Award damages and other monetary relief against Defendants as the 

Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from Defendants’ 

violations of the CFPA and the TSR, including but not limited to rescission or 
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reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment;  

d. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

e. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 

Dated: June 27, 2017      

Respectfully submitted, 

       Anthony Alexis  
Enforcement Director 
 
Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Craig Cowie 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 

        /s/ Sarah Preis      
Sarah Preis 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
Colin Reardon 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
Benjamin Clark 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Phone: (202) 435-9318, -9668, -7871 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Commercial Credit Consultants (d.b.a. 
Accurise); IMC Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. 
Imperial Meridian Capital L.L.C., 
Imperial Capital, and IMCA Capital 
L.L.C.); Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a.
Prime Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime
Credit Consultants); Blake Johnson;
and Eric Schlegel,

Defendants. 

Case No.  2:17-cv-4720

[PROPOSED] STIPULATED FINAL 
JUDGMENT AND ORDER 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced 

this civil action against Defendants Commercial Credit Consultants (d.b.a. 

Accurise); IMC Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. Imperial Meridian Capital L.L.C., Imperial 

Capital, and IMCA Capital L.L.C); Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime Marketing, 

L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime Credit Consultants); Blake Johnson; and Eric Schlegel

(collectively, “Defendants”) on June 27, 2017, to obtain injunctive relief and civil 

money penalties.  

The Complaint alleges violations of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 
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5536(a)(1), and the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which 

implements the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act 

(“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108.     

Plaintiff and Defendants request that the Court enter this Stipulated Final 

Judgment and Order (“Order”). 

FINDINGS 

1) This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of 

this action. 

2) Plaintiff and Defendants agree to entry of this Order to settle and 

resolve all matters in this dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint 

to the date this Order is entered. 

3) Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the Complaint, 

except as specifically stated in this Order.  For the purposes of this Order, 

Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over them 

and the subject matter of this action.   

4) Between August 1, 2009 and September 30, 2014, Defendants 

charged consumers for credit repair services, and returned a portion of these fees to 

consumers through either refunds or chargebacks.  Defendants caused harm in the 

amount of the total fees consumers paid, less any refunds they received. 
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5) Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge 

or contest the validity of this Order.  Defendants also waive any claim they may 

have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the 

prosecution of this action to the date of this Order.  Each party will bear its own 

costs and expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees. 

6) Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

7) The following definitions apply to this Order:   

a) “Affected Consumers” includes any consumer who paid fees to 

Defendants for Credit Repair Services from August 1, 2009 to 

September 30, 2014. 

b) “Credit Repair Services” means any good or service that is 

represented to remove derogatory information from, or improve, a 

person’s credit history, credit record, or credit rating.      

c) “Defendants” means all of the Individual Defendants and the 

Corporate Defendants, individually, collectively, or in any 

combination.     

i) “Corporate Defendants” means Commercial Credit 

Consultants (d.b.a. Accurise); IMC Capital L.L.C. (a.k.a. 
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Imperial Meridian Capital L.L.C., Imperial Capital, and IMCA 

Capital L.L.C); and Prime Credit, L.L.C. (a.k.a. Prime 

Marketing, L.L.C.; d.b.a. Prime Credit Consultant), and their 

successors and assigns. 

ii) “Individual Defendants” means Blake Johnson and Eric 

Schlegel. 

d) “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is entered 

on the docket by this Court. 

e) “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the 

Office of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

or his/her delegate. 

f) “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on 

behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against Defendant based on 

substantially the same facts as described in this Order or the 

Complaint. 
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ORDER 

 IT IS ORDERED that: 

I. Conduct Prohibition 

8) Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in the provision of Credit Repair Services.   

9) Defendants, and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are 

restrained for 5 years from: 

a) Advertising, marketing, promoting, providing, offering for sale, 

selling, assisting in the sale of, or administering Credit Repair 

Services; or 

b) Receiving any remuneration or other consideration from, 

holding any ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in 

any capacity for any person engaged in or assisting in advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or selling Credit Repair 

Services. 
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II. Customer Information 

10) Defendants, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly 

or indirectly, may not disclose, use, or benefit from customer information, 

including the name, address, telephone number, email address, social security 

number, other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a 

customer’s account (including a credit card, bank account, or other financial 

account), that Defendant obtained before the Effective Date in connection with the 

offering or sale of credit repair services.  However, customer information may be 

disclosed if requested by a government agency or required by law, regulation, or 

court order. 

III. Civil Money Penalties 

11) Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

alleged violations of law described in the Complaint, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), a judgment for a civil money penalty is entered 

in favor of the Bureau and against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount 

of $1,530,000. 

12) Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the civil 

money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 
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13) The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

14) Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Defendants may not: 

a) Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any 

other tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b) Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment 

made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money 

penalty paid under this Order. 

15) To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any 

Related Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that Defendants are entitled 

to, nor may Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action or because of any payment that the Bureau 

makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (“Penalty Offset”).  If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Defendants must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 
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the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury.  Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the 

civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

IV. Additional Monetary Provisions 

16) In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligation to make 

payment under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

17) Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the 

funds paid or to be paid under this Order to the fullest extent permitted by law and 

no part of the funds may be returned to Defendants. 

18) Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants must furnish to the Bureau their 

taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order. 

19) Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Defendants paid or are 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers 

to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 
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V. Reporting Requirements 

20) Defendants must notify the Bureau of any development that may 

affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, 

any change in structure of any Corporate Defendant, including a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in 

Defendants’ name or address.  Defendants must provide this notice, if practicable, 

at least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after 

the development.   

21) Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must: 

a) Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, 

and postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with Defendants; 

b) Identify all businesses for which any Defendant is the  

owner, or that a Defendant directly or indirectly controls, by all of 

their names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and 

Internet addresses; 
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c) Describe the activities of each such business, including the 

products and services offered, and the means of advertising, 

marketing, and sales; 

d) Identify Individual Defendants’ telephone numbers and all 

email, Internet, physical, and postal addresses, including all 

residences; and 

e) Describe in detail Individual Defendants’ involvement in any 

business for which they perform services in any capacity or which 

they wholly or partially own, including Defendant’s title, role, 

responsibilities, participation, authority, control, and ownership. 

22) For 5 years from the Effective Date, the Defendants must report any 

change in the information required to be submitted under ¶ 20 at least 30 days 

before the change or as soon as practicable after learning about the change, 

whichever is sooner. 

23) Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the 

Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report, which, at a minimum: 

a) Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants 

have complied with this Order; and  
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b) Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

§ VI, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VI. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

24) Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Corporate Defendants must 

deliver a copy of this Order to each entity’s executive officers.   

25) For 5 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a copy 

of this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred 

to in ¶ 20, and any future board members and executive officers before they 

assume their responsibilities.   

26) Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

VII. Recordkeeping 

27) Defendants must create or, if already created, must retain for at least 5 

years from the Effective Date all documents and records necessary to demonstrate 

full compliance with each provision of this Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

28) Defendants must retain the documents related to the compliance 

report described in ¶ 27 for at least 5 years. 
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29) Defendants must make the documents identified in ¶ 27 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

VIII. Notices 

30) Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to 

this Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Prime Credit Consultants, Matter 

No. 2013-0946-02” and send them either: 

a) By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 

1625 Eye St., N.W. 

Washington, DC 20006 

b) By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously 

by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street, N.W.  

Washington, DC 20552 
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IX. Cooperation with the Bureau 

31) Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the 

identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected 

Consumer.  Defendants must provide such information in their or their agents’ 

possession or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

X. Compliance Monitoring 

32) Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Defendants must submit compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

33) Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Defendants who have agreed to such an 

interview regarding the subject matter or compliance of this Order.  The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

34) Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XI. Retention of Jurisdiction 

35) The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

Case 2:17-cv-04720   Document 3-1   Filed 06/27/17   Page 13 of 16   Page ID #:42



 

14 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

36) Notwithstanding the provisions of ¶ 35, any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written agreement of 

the parties and without further Court approval.  Additionally, details related to 

administration of §§ V through X of this Order may be modified by written 

agreement of the parties and without further Court approval.  Any other 

modifications to this Order may be made only upon approval of the Court, upon 

motion by any party. 

XII. Release 

37) The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential 

liability for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices alleged in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date.  The 

Bureau may use the practices alleged in the Complaint in future enforcement 

actions against Defendants or their affiliates to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate 

the amount of any penalty.  This release does not preclude or affect any right of the 

Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with this Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 
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Dated: 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

Consented and agreed to: 

FOR THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU: 

Anthony Alexis 
Enforcement Director 

Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

Craig Cowie 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 

Sarah Preis 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9318) 
Colin Reardon 
(Email: colin.reardon@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9668) 
Benjamin Clark 
(Email: benjamin.clark@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7871) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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RI HARD L. SCHEFF 
(Email: rscheff@mm .com) 
(Telephone: 215-772-7502) 
DAVID F. HERMAN 
(Email: dherman@mmwr.com) 
(Telephone: 215-772-7620) 
Montgomery McCracken Walker & Rhoads LLP 
123 South Broad Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19109 
Fax: (215) 731-3922 

GILLIAN L. WADE 
(Email: gwade@mjfwlaw.com) 
(Telephone: 310-396-9600) 
Milstein Jackson Fairchild & Wade LLP 
10250 Constellation Blvd., 14th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 
Fax: (310) 396-9625 
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CFPB Takes Actions Against Credit 

Repair Companies for Charging Illegal 

Fees and Misleading Consumers

Companies and Individuals to Pay More Than $2 Million in 

Penalties and Relinquished Funds

JUN 27, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

filed two complaints and proposed final judgments in federal court against four 

California-based credit repair companies and three individuals for misleading 

consumers and charging illegal fees. The Bureau alleges that the companies not 

only charged illegal advance fees for credit repair services, but also misrepresented 

their ability to repair consumers’ credit scores. Under a proposed final judgment, 

Prime Credit, LLC, IMC Capital, LLC, Commercial Credit Consultants, Blake 

Johnson, and Eric Schlegel would pay a civil money penalty of more than $1.5 

million. Under a second proposed final judgment, Park View Law, known formerly as 

Prime Law Experts, Inc., and its owner Arthur Barens would pay $500,000 in 

relinquished funds to the U.S. Treasury.

“Today, the Bureau is taking action against companies that charged illegal fees and 

misled consumers about their ability to fix their credit,” said CFPB Director Richard 

Cordray. “We will remain vigilant about protecting consumers from companies that 

mislead them to turn a dishonest profit.”

Commercial Credit Consultants is a Wyoming corporation with a principal place of 

business in Los Angeles, Calif., that has also operated under the name Accurise. It 

offered and sold credit repair services to consumers from the summer of 2009 until 

the summer of 2012. Prime Credit, also known as Prime Marketing, LLC and Prime 

Credit Consultants, is a Los Angeles-based company that offered similar credit 

repair services from the summer of 2012 through the fall of 2014. IMC Capital is a 



Los Angeles-based company that provided credit repair services in 2012.  Johnson 

was the founder and majority owner of Commercial Credit Consultants, Prime 

Credit, and IMC Capital, while Schlegel was the president and a minority 

shareholder of Commercial Credit Consultants and Prime Credit. 

Arthur Barens owned Prime Credit’s business partner, Park View Law, based in Los 

Angeles. From March 2013 through September 2014, Prime Credit marketed and 

sold credit repair services to consumers using Park View Law’s name, and provided 

credit repair services to consumers who entered into contracts with Park View Law. 

Park View Law continued to offer and provide credit repair services through a 

similar arrangement until as late as June 2015. 

In complaints filed with the proposed final judgments, the CFPB alleges that the 

defendants made misleading, unsubstantiated claims that they could remove 

virtually any negative information from consumers’ credit reports and could boost 

consumers’ credit scores by significant amounts. The companies attracted 

thousands of customers through sales calls and their websites, at times targeting 

consumers who had recently sought to obtain a mortgage, loan, refinancing, or 

other extension of credit. The CFPB alleges that the companies charged these 

consumers millions of dollars in illegal advance fees for their services. The Bureau 

alleges that these practices violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act and the Telemarketing Sales Rule. Specifically, the CFPB 

alleges that the defendants:

◾ Charged illegal advance fees: Federal law bars telemarketers and certain 

companies from requesting or collecting fees for credit repair services until 

certain conditions are met about the delivery of those services. The companies 

charged a variety of fees for their services before demonstrating that the 

promised results had been achieved as required by law. Specifically, the 

companies charged consumers fees for an initial consultation to review a 

consumer’s credit report. The company also charged set-up fees totaling 

hundreds of dollars and monthly fees that often equaled $89.99 per month.

◾ Failed to disclose limits on “money-back guarantees”: The companies offered a 

money-back guarantee for certain services. However, they failed to disclose that 

the guarantee had significant limits, including that the consumer must pay for at 

least six months of the service to be eligible for the guarantee.

◾ Misled consumers about the benefits of their services: The companies 

misrepresented that their credit repair services would result in the removal of 

negative entries on consumers’ credit reports. The companies also 

misrepresented to customers that their credit repair services would, or likely 



would, result in a substantial increase to consumers’ credit scores. The companies 

lacked a reasonable basis for making these claims.

In addition to paying the amounts contained in the proposed final judgments, all 

defendants would be prohibited from doing business within the credit repair 

industry for five years and permanently prohibited from violating the Dodd-Frank 

Act or the Telemarketing Sales Rule. They have been filed with the U.S. District 

Court for the Central District of California, and they are only effective if approved by 

the presiding judge.

In September 2016, the CFPB filed a lawsuit alleging similar violations of federal law 

against Prime Marketing Holdings, a credit repair company that partnered with Park 

View Law from September 2014 to June 2015.  That litigation is ongoing. 

The Bureau also issued a consumer advisory  in September 2016 to alert 

consumers about companies that engage in potentially misleading credit repair 

services.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court against Prime Credit, IMC 

Capital, Commercial Credit Consultants, Blake Johnson, and Eric Schlegel can be 

found at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201706_cfpb_Johnson-

Complaint.pdf

A copy of the proposed final judgement filed in federal district court against Prime 

Credit, IMC Capital, Commercial Credit Consultants, Blake Johnson, and Eric 

Schlegel can be found at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201706_cfpb_Johnson-Proposed-

Stipulated-Final-Judgment-and-Order.pdf

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court against Park View Law and 

Arthur Barens can be found at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201706_cfpb_Barens-Complaint.pdf

A copy of the proposed final judgement filed in federal district court against Park 

View Law and Arthur Barens can be found at:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201706_cfpb_Barens-Proposed-

Stipulated-Final-Judgment-and-Order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 



fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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CFPB Takes Action Against Aequitas 

Capital Management for Aiding 

Corinthian Colleges' Predatory 
Lending Scheme

Bureau’s Proposed Settlement Seeks $183.3 million in Relief 

for 41,000 Harmed Student Borrowers

AUG 17, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today filed a 

complaint and proposed settlement against Aequitas Capital Management, Inc. and 

related entities, for aiding the Corinthian Colleges’ predatory lending scheme. The 

CFPB alleges that Aequitas enabled Corinthian to make high-cost private loans to 

Corinthian students so that it would seem as if the school was making enough 

outside revenue to meet the requirements for receiving federal student aid dollars. 

The risky loans saddled students with high-priced debt that both Aequitas and 

Corinthian knew students could not afford. Under the CFPB’s proposed settlement, 

if approved, about 41,000 Corinthian students could be eligible for approximately 

$183.3 million in loan forgiveness and reduction. In collaboration with the CFPB, 

several state attorneys general have also reached proposed settlements with 

Aequitas.

“Tens of thousands of Corinthian students were harmed by the predatory lending 

scheme funded by Aequitas, turning dreams of higher education into a nightmare,” 

said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s action marks another step by the 

Bureau to bring justice and relief to the borrowers still saddled with expensive 

student loan debt. We will continue to address the illegal lending practices of for-

profit colleges and those who enable them.”



Aequitas Capital Management, Inc. and related entities are based in Lake Oswego, 

Ore. Aequitas was a private equity firm that purchased or funded about $230 

million in Corinthian Colleges’ private loans, branded by the school as “Genesis 

loans.” On March 10, 2016, the Securities and Exchange Commission took action 

against Aequitas, alleging they had defrauded more than 1,500 investors. A 

receiver was appointed to wind down Aequitas and distribute its remaining assets.

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that Aequitas violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 

Reform and Consumer Protection Act’s prohibitions against abusive acts and 

practices by funding and supporting Corinthian’s predatory Genesis loan program. 

Specifically, the Bureau alleges that Aequitas and Corinthian plotted to make it 

seem as if the school was getting outside revenue in the form of the Genesis loans, 

when in reality Corinthian was paying Aequitas to support the loan program. 

Corinthian and Aequitas engaged in this charade to satisfy Corinthian’s obligations 

under the 90/10 rule, a federal law requiring for-profit schools to obtain at least 10 

percent of their revenue from other sources in order to get federal loan dollars.

Knowing that its students could not generally afford the additional 10 percent 

charge, Corinthian created the Genesis loan program to cover it. Corinthian 

enlisted Aequitas to purchase the existing Genesis loans, or originate new Genesis 

loans, so that they could be counted as a private source of revenue under the 90/10 

rule. The Bureau charges that both Corinthian and Aequitas knew most Corinthian 

student borrowers would default on these loans. Under the scheme, the defaults 

would not affect Aequitas because Corinthian was committed to buying back all 

delinquent loans.

Enforcement Action

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 

institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices 

or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the proposed 

settlement, if approved by the U.S. District Court in Oregon, Aequitas and related 

entities would be required to:   

◾ Forgive Genesis loans in connection with certain closed schools: Aequitas would 

forgive all outstanding balances on Genesis loans for borrowers who meet 

certain eligibility requirements. Eligible borrowers are those who did not 

complete their coursework or graduate and were enrolled at schools Corinthian 

announced in April 2015 would be closed; those who withdrew from those 

schools on or after June 1, 2014; and those who did not complete their 



coursework or graduate and were enrolled at the schools Corinthian sold to 

Zenith Education Group that subsequently closed. 

◾ Forgive Genesis loans in default: Aequitas would forgive all outstanding balances 

for any Genesis loans it owns that were 270 days or more past due as of March 

31, 2017. 

◾ Reduce all other Genesis loans by more than half: On all other Genesis loans it 

owns, Aequitas would reduce the principal amount owed as of March 31, 2017 by 

55 percent, and would forgive any accrued and unpaid interest, fees, and 

charges that were 30 or more days past due as of March 31, 2017. Borrowers 

could opt to have their monthly payments lowered after the remaining loan 

balance is reduced by 55 percent. Borrowers would receive a notice of this 

option, along with an explanation of the costs and benefits of this option versus 

maintaining their previous monthly payment amount.

If the proposed settlement is approved by the court, eligible borrowers will be 

notified within 90 days after approval. To ensure that they receive this notice, all 

borrowers should make sure their loan servicer has their current address.

A copy of the CFPB’s complaint can be found at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201708_cfpb_aequitas-

complaint.pdf

A copy of the proposed settlement can be found at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201708_cfpb_aequitas-proposed-

settlement.pdf

This action is among a series of steps the CFPB has taken to help consumers who 

were harmed by the predatory lending scheme by Corinthian Colleges. In 

September 2014, the CFPB sued Corinthian Colleges, Inc. for tricking tens of 

thousands of students into taking out private Genesis loans to cover expensive 

tuition costs by advertising bogus job prospects and career services. In 2015, 

Corinthian filed for bankruptcy and was liquidated. The Bureau subsequently 

obtained a $530 million default judgment against Corinthian, which could not pay 

the judgment because it had dissolved and its limited assets had already been 

distributed in its bankruptcy case. The CFPB has continued to pursue relief for 

consumers harmed by Corinthian’s unlawful conduct. The proposed settlement is 

the latest step in that effort.

Other borrowers who were preyed upon by Corinthian have had loan balances 

reduced as a result of the Bureau’s efforts. The Educational Credit Management 

Corporation (ECMC), a company that provides support for the administration of the 

Federal Family Education Loan Program, worked with the Department of Education 



in November 2014 to acquire a substantial number of Everest and WyoTech 

campuses, formerly owned by Corinthian. ECMC agreed not to operate a private 

student loan program for seven years and agreed to a series of new consumer 

protections. In February 2015, the CFPB announced that, through an action with 

ECMC, it had secured $480 million in forgiveness for these Genesis loan borrowers.

The proposed settlement submitted today is not a finding or ruling that the 

company has actually violated the law. It has been filed with the U.S. District Court 

for the District of Oregon, and is only effective if it is approved by the presiding 

judge.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the 

content, please contact the press office. 

Go to press resources page 

Topics: STUDENT LOANS • ENFORCEMENT • DECEPTIVE PRACTICES •

STUDENTS • CONSUMER COMPLAINTS •



STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. 

We will update you on new 

newsroom updates. 

Email address 

example@mail.com

The information you provide will 

permit the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau to process your 

request or inquiry. See more.

Sign up

Subscribe to our RSS feed to get the latest content in your reader. 

 Subscribe to RSS 

Contact Us Newsroom Careers Industry Whistleblowers 

CFPB Ombudsman 



FOIA 

Plain Writing 

Privacy 

Website Privacy Policy & 

Legal Notices 

Open Government 

Administrative 

Adjudication 

Accessibility 

Office of Civil Rights 

No FEAR Act Data 

Tribal 

USA.gov 

Office of 

Inspector 

General 

An official website of the United States government 



 

  

 
 

COMPLAINT  1 
 

Anthony M. Alexis, DC Bar 384545 
Enforcement Director 
David Rubenstein, DC Bar 458770 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
Cynthia Gooen Lesser, NY Bar 2578045   
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director        
Rina Tucker Harris, DC Bar 444550 
Senior Litigation Counsel  
rina.harris@cfpb.gov 
Mary K. Warren, NY Bar 2557684 
Enforcement Attorney 
mary.warren@cfpb.gov  
Jessica Rank Divine, NY Bar 4544573 
Enforcement Attorney 
jessica.divine@cfpb.gov  
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-9196 
    Attorneys for Plaintiff  

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
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Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), alleges the 

following against Aequitas Capital Management Inc., Aequitas Management LLC, 

Aequitas Holdings LLC, Aequitas Commercial Finance LLC, Campus Student Funding 

LLC, CSF Leverage I LLC, Aequitas Income Opportunity Fund, Aequitas Income 

Protection Fund (“Aequitas”):  

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action against Aequitas for its abusive acts and 

practices in connection with private loans made to students at Corinthian Colleges, Inc. 

(“Corinthian”), which were funded or purchased by Aequitas. By funding these private 

loans, Aequitas enabled Corinthian to present a façade of compliance with federal laws 

requiring that a certain portion of a for-profit school’s revenue come from sources other 

than federal student aid.  At the same time, Aequitas’s funding of the private loans 

facilitated by Corinthian caused injury to Corinthian students by saddling them with 

what both Aequitas and Corinthian knew was high-priced debt with a high likelihood of 

default, which students had no way of knowing was only for a sham tuition charge solely 

to gain access to Title IV funds.  Aequitas has collected, and continues to collect, on 

these loans.   

2. Until 2014, Corinthian was one of the largest for-profit,  

post-secondary education companies in the United States, boasting more than 100 

school campuses. Corinthian offered career-oriented programs which were marketed to 

potential students as a way to obtain jobs in their fields of study, including health care, 

business, criminal justice, and information technology. Crucial to persuading students 

to sign up for these programs and attend were Corinthian’s deceptive promises of strong 

job placement and life-long career services. 
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3. Corinthian was a public company that derived nearly all of its revenue 

from federal student aid – mostly loans -- taken out by its students under Title IV of the 

Higher Education Act of 1965 (“Title IV”). To qualify for Title IV funds, the federal 

government required that schools like Corinthian obtain a portion of their revenue – 10 

percent during the period relevant to this action -- from outside sources besides Title IV 

funds. This is known as the “90/10 rule.” Corinthian complied with the 90/10 rule by 

raising its tuition beyond what Title IV loans would cover, so that students were forced 

to finance a portion of the tuition from another source.  Knowing that its generally low-

income students could not afford to pay this amount out of pocket, Corinthian 

established a private loan program, known as the “Genesis Loan Program,” available 

only to its students.  Corinthian devised the Genesis Loan Program and presented it to 

Aequitas as a means of attracting Aequitas’s investment in it. The Genesis Loan Program 

was expensive. It featured interest rates as high as 18% and significant origination fees. 

4. Under a 2012 change to the 90/10 rule, however, such a loan program 

could no longer be financed by the school in order to qualify as an outside source of 

revenue for the purposes of obtaining Title IV funding. So, starting in 2011, Corinthian 

made an arrangement with Aequitas in which Aequitas purchased existing student loan 

portfolios and began funding or purchasing new Genesis Loans originated by depository 

institutions. Such an arrangement made it appear as if Corinthian were not funding the 

loans. Yet, central to the arrangement was an agreement by Corinthian to purchase all 

the Genesis Loans that became delinquent more than 90 days, essentially shifting the 

risk of the program from Aequitas back to Corinthian.  

5. Aequitas knew that the underlying tuition charge that the Genesis loans 

funded, as well as the Genesis Loans themselves, was intended to provide no economic 
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benefit to Corinthian except access to Title IV funds. Default rates in the Genesis Loan 

Program were historically high – between 50 and 70 percent. Thus, the Genesis Loan 

Program essentially functioned as a loss leader for Corinthian, regardless of the 

outcomes for student borrowers.   

6. Aequitas was a necessary player in this scheme, which enriched Aequitas 

with performing loans at high interest rates and enabled Corinthian to continue in 

existence by keeping Title IV revenue flowing.   

7. Corinthian students, however, were never told that the portion of tuition 

funded by the Genesis Loans, as well as the loans themselves, were a sham to get access 

to federal funds. Indeed, Corinthian students were the ones left holding the bag, often 

with expensive debt that many would not be able to repay. 

8. Corinthian’s deceptive scheme has ended in disaster. In September 2014, 

the Bureau filed a complaint against Corinthian for, among other things, engaging in 

deceptive acts and practices in connection with the Genesis Loan Program by inducing 

its students to take out loans by means of misrepresentations regarding the school’s job 

placement rates and career services programs.  

9. In February 2015, amid governmental enforcement actions concerning its 

allegedly unlawful practices in marketing its educational and job placement support and 

in connection with the Genesis Loan Program, Corinthian sold more than 50 campuses.  

10. In April 2015, the U.S. Department of Education found that Corinthian 

had misrepresented job placement rates to students at certain Corinthian schools, and 

fined the company $30 million. In May 2015, Corinthian then closed its remaining 

campuses and filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection.   
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11. In October 2015, a federal court entered a default judgment in favor of the 

Bureau in another  case against Corinthian for violations of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act, including for unfair and deceptive acts and practices in connection with 

the Genesis Loan Program.  

12. In November 2015, the U.S. Department of Education found that 

Corinthian, in hundreds of programs at 20 Everest and WyoTech campuses in California 

and Florida, misled students about their job prospects after graduation. 

13.   In March 2016, the U.S. Department of Education also found that  

Corinthian misled students attending Everest and WyoTech campuses in 20 states about 

their job prospects after graduation.  These campuses were located in Massachusetts, 

California, Illinois, Texas, Georgia, Pennsylvania, Florida, Washington, Virginia, Ohio, 

West Virginia, Michigan, Minnesota, Nevada, Missouri, Indiana, Wisconsin, Oregon, 

New York, Utah, Maryland, New Jersey and Wyoming.  

14. As of March 31, 2017, Aequitas held a portfolio of these student loans with 

an unpaid balance of approximately $190.5 million, including approximately 46,327 

loans made to approximately 41,290 individual borrowers.  Aequitas continues to collect 

payments on performing loans.   

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

15. The Bureau brings this action under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054, 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a), 5564, and 5565, for Aequitas’s violations, from July 21, 2011 through 

the present, of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, which prohibit abusive acts 

and practices. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

16. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345. 

17. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants are located, reside, and 

are doing business in Lake Oswego, Oregon.  28 U.S.C. § 1391(b); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).  

18.    Assignment to the Portland Division of this Court is proper because a  

substantial part of the events or omissions that gave rise to claims alleged in this 

Complaint occurred in Lake Oswego, Oregon in Clackamas County.  L.R. 3-2(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

19. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services 

under federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent 

litigating authority to commence civil actions to enforce federal consumer financial 

laws, including the CFPA.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b); 5481(14). 

 

DEFENDANTS 

Aequitas Entities 

20.   Aequitas Capital Management Inc. (“Aequitas Capital”) is an Oregon  

corporation formed  in 1993 with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, Oregon. 

Aequitas Capital is the manager of ACF.  As the manager of ACF, Aequitas Capital is 

responsible for the overall operations of ACF, including the management of ACF’s loan 

and investment portfolio. 

Case 3:17-cv-01278-MO    Document 1    Filed 08/17/17    Page 6 of 30



 

  

 
 

COMPLAINT  7 
 

21. Aequitas Management LLC (“Aequitas Management”) is an Oregon limited 

liability company with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, Oregon. Aequitas 

Management owns 84% and exercises exclusive control over Aequitas Holdings, the sole 

owner and member of ACF and the sole shareholder of Aequitas Capital.   

22. Aequitas Holdings LLC (“Aequitas Holdings”) is an Oregon limited 

liability company with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, Oregon. Aequitas 

Holdings is the sole owner and member of ACF and the sole shareholder of Aequitas 

Capital.  

23. Aequitas Commercial Finance LLC (“ACF”) is an Oregon limited liability 

company with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, Oregon. ACF is the sole 

owner and member of at least seven subsidiaries that engage in the business of 

acquiring or investing in portfolios of trade receivables in the healthcare, education, 

transportation, and consumer credit sectors. ACF also holds ownership stakes in the 

Aequitas Funds and a number of other Aequitas-affiliated companies. ACF also has 

directly held or currently holds title to Genesis student loan promissory notes and/or 

the right to collect and receive existing and future principal and interest payments. 

24. Campus Student Funding LLC (“CSF”), formerly known as AFSG LLC, is 

an Oregon limited liability company with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, 

Oregon.  CSF is owned by ACF and was created by Aequitas as a special-purpose entity 

for purchasing student loans.  CSF originally purchased all Genesis Loan notes sold to 

Aequitas entities, whether directly from Corinthian, the loan servicer, or the issuing 

bank.  CSF was the seller of the notes pursuant to Corinthian’s commitment to purchase 

delinquent loans from Aequitas.  Thus, CSF has held or currently holds title to Genesis 

student loan promissory notes.     
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25. CSF Leverage I, LLC (“CSF Leverage”) was on Oregon limited liability 

company with a principal place of business in Lake Oswego, Oregon. CSF Leverage was 

owned by ACF and at one time held Genesis student loan promissory notes. CSF 

Leverage merged into CSF and no longer exists as a separate entity. 

26. The Aequitas Funds are various funds owned by the Aequitas entities 

described above. Aequitas Income Opportunity Fund is owned by ACF and holds, or has 

held, the right to collect and receive Genesis student loan receivables. Aequitas Income 

Protection Fund is owned by ACF and CSF and holds, or has held, the right to collect 

and receive Genesis student loan receivables. CSF Leverage I LLC f.k.a ASFG Leverage I  

LLC is, upon information and belief, owned by ACF and CSF and  has held the right to 

collect and receive Genesis student loan receivables.    

Common Enterprise 

27. At all times material to this complaint, Aequitas has operated as a 

common enterprise while engaging in the violations of Federal consumer financial law 

set forth herein.  Aequitas has conducted the business practices described herein 

through then interrelated network of companies described above that have common 

business functions, employees, and office locations.   

28. Aequitas has also shared operations and proceeds of the relevant activities 

associated with the allegations in this complaint.  For example, even though CSF 

initially purchased the Genesis Loans, the loans were sold to various other Aequitas 

funds or entities, including Aequitas Income Opportunity Fund, Aequitas Income 

Protection Fund, CSF Leverage Fund I, or ACF. Because Aequitas has operated as a 

common enterprise, each of the Aequitas entities is jointly and severally liable for the 

acts and practices described below. 
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Receivership of Aequitas 

29. Corinthian’s repurchase of the delinquent Genesis loans was an important 

source of revenue for Aequitas. Corinthian’s failure, and the cessation of the loan 

repurchases, caused Aequitas significant distress. Early in 2016, the lack of that revenue 

coupled with, among other things, alleged improprieties by Aequitas management, led 

the company to curtail operations. 

30.  On March 10, 2016, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 

brought an action in this court, alleging violations of the securities laws, including a 

scheme to defraud and misuse investor funds.   Pursuant to the SEC’s request, the court 

on April 14, 2016 appointed a receiver to wind down the companies and distribute the 

remaining assets.  The receiver is not a party to this action.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 
31. In 2011, Aequitas became involved in private student lending by 

purchasing private student loans from Corinthian and participating in the operation of 

Corinthian’s Genesis Loan Program.   

32. At that time, Corinthian was one of the largest for-profit, post-secondary 

education companies in the United States. With more than 100 school campuses, 

Corinthian operated schools under the following names:  Everest College, Everest 

Institute, Everest University Online, Everest University, Everest College Phoenix, Heald 

College, and WyoTech.  Corinthian offered career-oriented programs that were 

marketed to potential students as a way to obtain jobs in their fields of study, including 

health care, business, criminal justice, mechanical, and information technology. 
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33. Most students attending Corinthian’s schools were low-income and/or the 

first in their families to seek an education beyond a high school diploma. Many 

Corinthian students struggled economically.  For example, a 2011 Corinthian survey of 

campus operations indicated that over 57% of Corinthian’s student population had a 

household income of $19,000 or less, and 35% of Corinthian’s student population had a 

household income of less than $10,000.  

34. The great majority of students attending Corinthian’s schools could not 

afford to pay the school’s tuition out-of-pocket.  Students needed financial aid – mostly 

loans from either the federal government under Title IV or private sources – to pay 

Corinthian’s tuition and fees. This was well known to Corinthian. 

Corinthian Induced Students to Take Out Loans With Deceptive 
Representations About Job Placement Statistics and Career Services 
Offerings 

35. Corinthian needed to convince students that paying its tuition, and taking 

on substantial debt to do so, would be a worthwhile investment in their future.  

Therefore, Corinthian deployed a series of misrepresentations about the likely 

employment outcomes for Corinthian students and the services Corinthian would 

provide to help them find jobs. 

36. Corinthian portrayed its educational programs as a way for students to 

secure better-quality careers.  For example, in promoting Heald College, Corinthian 

advertised, “[y]our education might mean the difference between a rewarding career or 

just another job.” Similarly, Everest Colleges, Universities, and Institutes advertised on 

its websites that it provided students “[a] better career, a better life, a better way to get 

there.”    
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Misrepresentations Concerning Job Placement Statistics 

37.   Corinthian presented job placement rates that were misleading to  

consumers in several ways. For example, Corinthian represented to prospective and 

current students that its education would offer a “career,” not “just another job,” but in 

calculating and disseminating alleged job placement rates for graduates, Corinthian 

included jobs that lasted for just one day. 

38. In addition, Corinthian presented to students and prospective students 

falsified and overstated job placement rates.  Corinthian deliberately overstated the 

number of jobs that students obtained, undercounted the pool of “employable” 

graduates, thereby increasing the percentage of employed graduates out of all the 

“employable graduates”, and engaged in a practice of paying employers to hire its 

graduates temporarily in order to inflate its job placement statistics. 

39.  One way Corinthian inflated its job placement statistics was by counting a 

person as having been placed who only got a temporary assignment for a day with a 

promise of a second day of work. Corinthian could count that person within its 

employment statistics even if that person only worked for just one day. 

40. Corinthian took this deception one step farther by paying employers to 

hire its graduates for brief periods so that Corinthian could improve its job placement 

statistics. 

Misrepresentations Concerning Career Services 

41. To convince students that they would achieve career success by taking out 

loans to pay for a Corinthian education, Corinthian also misrepresented the availability 

and the utility of its career services. 
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42. Corinthian falsely promised prospective students that they would receive 

career assistance while enrolled, and lifetime career assistance after graduation. 

Corinthian promoted “career-focused education” and career services that were available 

“whenever you need help finding a job, or want some advice on improving your resume 

or interviewing skills.” Corinthian further promoted that it “not only help[s] you find a 

job after you graduate, we help you find a job any time you need one, throughout your 

career… From graduation to retirement, we’ll help you advance your career whenever 

you need it.” Corinthian emphasized its nationwide network of employers. 

43. The actual services provided were limited, such as providing postings 

already publicly available from services like Craigslist. 

44. Moreover, after graduates obtained initial placements, Corinthian refused 

to provide any further assistance to them. This was particularly significant for students 

who received only temporary placements. 

The “90/10” Rule  

45. Corinthian engaged in these deceptions because it wanted to convince 

students to take out the loans and use whatever aid they could to pay its tuition. Nearly 

all of its revenue was derived from Title IV federal student loans, which were 

Corinthian’s “life blood,” without which the school could not continue to operate.  In its 

Annual Report Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013, filed with the SEC, Corinthian reported 

that its operations in the United States derived 84.8% of net revenue from Title IV aid 

programs.   

46. A for-profit company that owns a school receiving federal student aid 

funds is subject to the “90/10 rule,” 34 C.F.R. § 668.14(b)(16). Under this rule, a for-

profit college must not receive more than 90% of its net revenue from Title IV aid.  A 
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minimum of 10% of such an entity’s revenue must come from non-Title IV aid, such as 

state aid, ordinary tuition payments from students, or private student loans.  Schools 

that do not comply with the “90/10” rule risk losing their eligibility to participate in 

federal student aid programs; for Corinthian, this would have meant losing the source of 

nearly 90 percent of its revenue.  

47.  In order to appear to satisfy the 90/10 rule, Corinthian made sure that the 

cost of attending its schools was high enough that students would not be able to pay 

solely through using Title IV aid. In September 2011, Corinthian’s CEO distributed a 

presentation to his executive team, describing efforts by Corinthian to meet the 

requirements of the 90/10 rule by instituting “above market price increases to create 

‘funding gaps.’” 

48.  Corinthian knew, however, that few of its students would be unable to pay 

the “funding gap” out of pocket, and thus most would require additional loans for this 

purpose. Thus, by increasing tuition, Corinthian caused students, who otherwise would 

have been able to pay for the entire cost of tuition through Title IV aid, to take out 

private student loans. Regardless of whether students were able to repay the private 

student loans, Corinthian would profit from the increased availability of Title IV monies. 

The private student loans filling this “funding gap” essentially would function as a loss 

leader for Corinthian. 

Corinthian Implemented the Genesis Loan Program to Fill the “Funding 
Gap” That Corinthian Created 

49. Before 2008, third-party providers of private education loans offered 

Corinthian students the opportunity to apply for loans to fund their educational 

expenses. 
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50. In or about January 2008, as a result of the economic downturn, these 

third-party lenders ceased making private student loans available to students at high 

risk of default due to poor credit profiles or low income. Therefore, these sources of 

funding became unavailable to Corinthian students.  

51. In order to continue the flow of the needed “10 percent” of funds from 

non-Title IV sources, Corinthian launched its own institutional loan program – the 

Genesis Loan Program – which it developed together with a third-party entity 

(“Company A”) already engaged in financing and servicing “funding gap” loans for other 

educational institutions. 

52. Beginning in approximately March 2008, Corinthian actively marketed, 

promoted, and offered Genesis Loans to its prospective and current students to pay 

tuition and fees that were not covered by federal aid or other sources. Corinthian’s 

financial aid staff promoted the loan program by introducing it to prospective and 

current students, and by encouraging them to apply for Genesis Loans to pay for tuition 

and fees that were not covered by federal financial aid. 

53. The interest rates for Genesis Loans were typically substantially higher 

than the interest rate for federal loans. In 2011, the Genesis Loan interest rate was as 

high as 18% with an origination fee of 6%.  Meanwhile, the interest rate for federal 

student loans during this time period was 3.4% to 6.8% with an origination fee of 1%.   

54. Under the Genesis Loan Program, nearly all student borrowers were 

required to make monthly loan payments while attending school. The most common 

payment plan was called “Plan A,” which required a monthly loan payment while the 

student was attending school. The interest began accruing after the student left school.  
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55. Under the original Genesis Loan Program, pursuant to written 

agreements, Corinthian marketed the loan and a partner bank acted as the originator for 

each Genesis loan, disbursing the loan funds to Corinthian after each student’s loan 

application was approved. Shortly after a student’s loan funds were disbursed to 

Corinthian on the student’s behalf, Company A purchased the loans from the bank. 

Corinthian then paid a “discount fee” to Company A equal to 50% of the face value of the 

loans that Company A purchased from the bank. 

56. Under the agreement with Company A, typically within two weeks after 

Company A purchased the loans from the bank, Corinthian purchased all of the loans 

from Company A. Corinthian paid Company A the face value of the loans minus any 

discount fee that it had already paid and Company A operated as the servicer of the 

loans.  

57. Accordingly, from in or about 2008 through approximately July 2011, 

Corinthian would own all Genesis loans that its students took out within a period of 

approximately two weeks after the loan funds were disbursed. 

58. In 2011, the third-party lenders who had previously been extending private 

loans to the small portion of Corinthian’s students who were considered prime 

borrowers ceased lending to Corinthian students altogether.  As a result, the Genesis 

Loan Program then became effectively the only available source of private financing to 

Corinthian students.       

High Default Rates on the Genesis Loans  

59. Although Corinthian engaged in aggressive collection efforts, the default 

rate on Genesis Loans was consistently extremely high. Corinthian charged off a Genesis 

Loan when the student borrower was more than 270 days delinquent in making 
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required loan payments.  Using the period in which Corinthian would classify a Genesis 

loan as more than 270 days delinquent and calculating the default rate based upon the 

number of student loans, the default rate on Genesis Loans was typically greater than 

50% for all loans more than two years old, and above 60% for all loans more than three 

years old. 

60. Corinthian knew of the high default rates for its Genesis Loans, and at all 

times during operation of the Genesis Loan Program, Corinthian anticipated that the 

default rates would remain at these high levels.  As the Genesis Loan Program was 

simply a tool to achieve compliance with the 90-10 rule, Corinthian was willing to take 

the losses resulting from the high level of defaults for the greater reward of keeping Title 

IV revenue flowing to the school. 

61. Moreover, Corinthian knew the characteristics of students who were most 

likely to default. Corinthian required that “Schools should gather information to discern 

who is defaulting and why … Internal data includes key information such as high school 

attended, program of study, demographics, grades, etc.”. 

The 90/10 Rule Changes and Aequitas Sees a Business Opportunity By 
Helping Corinthian Continue To Qualify For Federal Funds 
 

62. Effective July 1, 2012, the 90/10 rule was changed to eliminate 

institutional loans like the Genesis Loans from counting toward the private revenue 

required to maintain Title IV eligibility.  With third-party private lenders no longer 

making loans available to its students by that time, Corinthian had to find another 

source of funding for the “10%.” 

63. Corinthian determined that as long as it moved the Genesis Loans “off its 

books,” it could still count the revenue from the Genesis Loan Program toward the 10%.  
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Well before the rule change became effective, Corinthian sought a third party to 

purchase the loans after origination.   

64. Aequitas’s involvement in the Corinthian private loan program formally 

began in June 2011, when CSF entered into an agreement to pay approximately $24 

million to purchase a portfolio of existing Corinthian student loans with a face value of 

$30,576,549 on a non-recourse basis.   

65. Aequitas understood from the outset, that Corinthian’s business model, 

indeed its very existence, depended on its satisfaction of the 90/10 Rule as a condition 

of obtaining federal funds.  In July 2011, in its Deal Summary and Underwriting Report 

for Student Receivable Portfolio Purchase from Corinthian Aequitas explained 

Corinthian’s challenges complying the 90/10 rule and how Aequitas could alleviate this 

compliance problem:     

Corinthian . . . has been under regulatory pressure to stay 
compliant with the 90/10 economics. . . Thus, an 
opportunity presented itself to alleviate the regulatory 
pressure for Corinthian by acquiring their existing student 
loans, as well as to enter into a longer forward flow 
relationship to purchase more recently originated student 
loans. Corinthian needs to get their student loans off their 
balance sheet and to stop originating student loans. 

 

66. As the relationship between Aequitas and Corinthian progressed, Aequitas 

reported internally statements by Corinthian that it was “[m]anaging to 90/10, not 

under” and that federal loans were Corinthian’s “life blood.”   

67. Aequitas further understood that Corinthian raised its tuition not to make 

additional money but rather to create the obligation for additional “10 %” in revenues  

that would give it access to the needed Title IV funds.   Aequitas told its investors that 

that “increasing tuition is the simplest way a school can mitigate risk from the 90/10 
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Rule.”  Indeed, Corinthian even told Aequitas that the 90/10 Rule had “required” 

Corinthian to raise tuition.  Aequitas knew that the additional tuition charge, as well as 

the Genesis Loans that funded them, were a sham to get federal funds. 

68. In September 2011, CSF agreed to pay approximately $10 million to 

purchase another portfolio of existing loans with a face value of $16,792,381 on a 

recourse basis, meaning that if the loans became more than [90] days past due, 

Corinthian would purchase the loans back from CSF.     

69. Pleased with the money it was making for itself and its investors on the 

student loan portfolio, Aequitas sought to “deepen” its relationship with Corinthian.  In 

September 2011, CSF entered into an agreement with Corinthian to create a “forward 

flow” program, called “Corinthian 1.0.”  Pursuant to that agreement, CSF purchased 

Genesis loans at a 40% discount on the face value of each purchased loan, and 

Corinthian also committed to purchase all loans back from CSF that were more than 90 

days past due.  CSF agreed that each month it would purchase approximately $15 

million in face value of loans shortly after origination on a full recourse basis.  The loans 

would be originated by a bank and immediately purchased after origination by Aequitas.  

Under the forward flow agreements, Aequitas had the right to purchase loans but not 

the obligation, and could terminate its relationship upon 14 days’ notice to Corinthian.   

70. In April 2012, Aequitas sent Corinthian a list of points for discussion.  The 

list included allegations made by others about the for-profit education industry 

generally and Corinthian specifically, including  that for-profit schools “game” the 90/10 

regulations by inflating tuition costs and creating a funding gap, despite knowing that 

most of the private loans provided would not perform.  Yet Aequitas continued to 

participate in and seek profit from the Genesis Loan Program scheme. 
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71. Indeed, Aequitas regularly monitored the status of the various, multiplying 

state and federal government investigations and litigation concerning Corinthian’s 

student lending practices, marketing to students, and job placement data post-

graduation.   Knowledge of these investigations and litigation did not deter Aequitas 

from continuing to seek profit from the Genesis Loan Program scheme. 

72. In July 2012, Aequitas and Corinthian discussed additional ways for 

Corinthian to maximize its Title IV revenue.  In its internal notes of the meeting, 

Aequitas noted Corinthian’s plans to shift more students enrolled in on-line course 

programs from part-time to full-time status, because “part time online students don’t 

need gap financing” and “shifting students from part-time to full-time will create gap 

financing needs.” 

73. Aequitas understood that Corinthian was “highly focused on maximizing 

starts to generate Title IV revenue flow” and that Corinthian’s “quality bar [was] low.”  

74. On August 14, 2012, an Aequitas executive observed that “[i]t appears as if 

the for profits are spending an inordinate amount of money to put anyone (qualified or 

unqualified) into a seat on their campus.”  

75. In September 2012, the parties launched the “Corinthian 2.0” program, 

which was a continuation of the original forward flow program, with slightly different 

terms.   

Aequitas Saw Corinthian Students As Easy Prey and Knew That 
Corinthian Exercised Undue Influence Over Them 

76. At a meeting with Corinthian executives in Santa Ana, California in June 

2012, Aequitas noted that Corinthian described its competition for students as “the 
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couch, inertia, and gangs” and that its students were “looking to get a life, looking for a 

mother figure and father figure.”   

77. In a January 2013 marketing presentation to Aequitas, Corinthian 

described its prospective student population as individuals who have “low self-esteem” 

and “[f]ew people in their lives who care about them”; who are “isolated,” “stuck, unable 

to see and plan well for future”; and “impatient, [and] want quick solutions.”  

78. Aequitas knew that Corinthian brokered the Genesis Loans to its students 

by arranging for the loans and serving as the students’ single point of contact in doing 

so.   

79. Aequitas knew that Corinthian was advising students regarding the loans 

offered through the Genesis Loan scheme and that Corinthian was actively engaged in 

promoting Genesis Loans. 

Aequitas Knew that Corinthian Students Were Being Harmed by High 
Default Rates but Sought Only to Mitigate Its Own Exposure to the 
Defaults 

80. Aequitas understood that default rates on the Genesis Loan Program were  

high.  In March 2012, an Aequitas employee noted that Corinthian continued making 

institutional loans, despite the high default rates that resulted in Corinthian writing 

many of the loans off, “presumably because the loans lure students to its schools and 

give[] it access to federal student aid dollars.”  In other words, Aequitas understood the 

Genesis Loan Program was intended to be a loss leader for Corinthian. 

81. Aequitas understood that Corinthian expected students would, more often 

than not, be unable to repay their Genesis Loans.  In conducting diligence, Aequitas 

noted that “[d]espite the dismal performance of [the Genesis] loans, Corinthian 
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executives told investors in summer 2011 that they planned to double the volume of 

private loans made through the institutional loan program . . . .”   

82. The same Aequitas employee noted “with defaults this high, how can we 

defend our practices?”   

83. Indeed, despite the fact that Aequitas knew that the tuition charge funded 

by the Genesis Loans, as well as the Program itself, was merely a ploy to obtain access to 

federal funds, Aequitas disregarded the high default rates on these sham loans. 

84.  Aequitas understood the harmful impact of student loan defaults on 

students. For example, Aequitas learned that private student loans like the Genesis 

Loans were difficult to discharge in bankruptcy, “making them more onerous than 

credit-card debt or subprime mortgages.”   

85. Aequitas was well aware that, in 2008, when Corinthian began its loan 

program, the default rates for these loans were between 50% and 70%.  

86. Aequitas’s initial models in 2011 predicted a 45% default rate.  In October 

2012, Aequitas revised its models upon a finding that default rates were in the mid-50% 

range.  Aequitas estimated that it could cover the cost of investor funds if the cumulative 

default rate reached 63% even if Corinthian defaulted on its obligations to purchase the 

loans.    

87. In December 2012, Aequitas’s Underwriting Report recommended 

Aequitas continue purchasing Corinthian’s loans, despite an expected default rate of 

57% for the loans purchased as part of the 2.0 forward flow agreement with Corinthian.  

88. In October 2013, Aequitas concluded that the loans purchased in June 

2011 had a default rate of 63%. Aequitas estimated that the default rate for the full term 

of these loans would be 66%.  Moreover, Aequitas determined a default rate of 50.9% for 
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loans in the Corinthian 1.0 program and an estimated default rate of 61% for the full 

term of the loans. 

89. Aequitas understood Corinthian was not concerned about the high default 

rates because, from Corinthian’s perspective, the purpose of the Genesis Loan Program 

was to receive Title IV funds and avoid 90/10 Rule compliance problems.   

90. For Aequitas, the high default rates were simply an investment risk to be 

mitigated. As long as the loans performed within Aequitas’s projections and Corinthian 

assumed the risk of purchasing delinquent and defaulted loans, Aequitas made money 

on the loans.  Corinthian was willing to assume that risk because the pretense of a third 

party funding the Genesis Loan Program allowed the school to stay in compliance with 

the 90/10 rule. 

91. Despite its knowledge of the high default rates and the effect of defaults on 

students, Aequitas continued funding the Genesis Loan Program.  Aequitas continued to 

seek out ways in which it could work more closely with and fund more loans for 

Corinthian, ultimately agreeing to do so several times via renewed funding agreements.   

92. In the meantime, Corinthian students who defaulted on Genesis Loans 

suffered harmful consequences including negative credit reporting, along with  

consequences that flow from that. Negative items on a credit report like defaults can 

result in difficulty in renting an apartment, denial of employment, ineligibility for other 

forms of financing, or eligibility only on less favorable terms than would otherwise have 

been available. 

93. In addition, Corinthian students were and are harmed by Aequitas’s 

continued collection of payments on loans that carried interest rates as  high as 18% and 

origination fees as high as 6%. 
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Aequitas Was Aware of and Disregarded Increasing Scrutiny of 
Corinthian’s Business Practices 

94. Aequitas was aware of allegations of wrongdoing by Corinthian and 

ignored numerous red flags regarding Corinthian’s deceptive acts and practices. 

95. In a 2011 Deal Summary and Underwriting Report to investors concerning 

Aequitas’s purchase of a portfolio of loans in 2011, Aequitas summarized the numerous 

lawsuits against Corinthian.   

96. For example, the summary noted that Corinthian was facing three qui tam 

false claims actions alleging violations of the Higher Education Act regarding the 

manner in which admissions personnel were compensated.   

97. The summary also observed that Corinthian had experienced an 

“unprecedented increase” in putative class action lawsuits brought by former students in 

the second, third, and fourth quarters of the 2011 fiscal year.  Aequitas explained that 

Corinthian “believes these lawsuits are largely the result of negative publicity” and noted 

that binding arbitration clauses required nearly all of the students to resolve their cases 

through individual arbitration.      

98. Aequitas was aware that in 2012, Corinthian was being investigated by 

state attorneys general for Florida, California, Massachusetts, Illinois, New York, and 

Oregon for alleged wrongdoing including misrepresentations regarding job placement 

and career prospects. 

99. In 2012, Aequitas was aware of the Bureau’s investigation into 

Corinthian’s practices.   

100. Aequitas was also aware that in October 2013, the State of California sued 

Corinthian, alleging “false and predatory advertising, intentional misrepresentations to 
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students, securities fraud and unlawful use of military seals in advertisements.”  

According to the California complaint, Corinthian’s “predatory marketing efforts 

specifically target[ed] vulnerable, low-income job seekers and single parents who have 

annual incomes near the federal poverty line.”   

101. Aequitas’s periodic written internal memoranda about its business 

relationship with Corinthian indicate Aequitas failed to perform any meaningful due 

diligence concerning Corinthian’s marketing and representations to its students.  

Instead, Aequitas took at face value Corinthian’s assertions that the lawsuits and 

investigations were without merit or easily disposed of. 

Despite The Many Red Flags, Aequitas Continued Its Partnership With 
Corinthian and Its Expansion Efforts For the “EducationPlus” Loan 
Program  

102. In June 2012, at Aequitas’s request, the agreement between Corinthian 

and Aequitas was amended to include a provision that barred Corinthian from 

endorsing any tuition loan program other than Aequitas’s.   

103. In a December 2012 internal report, Aequitas noted “we enjoy regular 

interactions with Corinthian’s CEO and CFO, allowing us to increasingly become a 

strategic partner to Corinthian.”   

104. In or about 2013, Corinthian and Aequitas renamed the Genesis Loan 

Program the “EducationPlus” loan program. The EducationPlus loan program resulted 

in lower interest rates being offered to Corinthian students, but was the functional 

equivalent of the Genesis Loan Program and Aequitas’s and Corinthian’s respective roles 

did not change. Corinthian management and staff often referred to the EducationPlus 

loan program as the Genesis Loan Program. (References in this Complaint to the 

Genesis Loan Program and Genesis Loans include EducationPlus loans.) 
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105. Aequitas began marketing the EducationPlus program to other for-profit 

schools as a “turnkey solution” to provide funding for their institutional loan programs. 

Aequitas did this because it saw the scheme it was running with Corinthian as a profit 

center, disregarding the fact that it was a sham that harmed the student borrowers who 

were caught up in it.   

Only When Aequitas Deemed the Forward Flow Program too Risky to 
Aequitas Did It Cease Funding Loans  

106. In January 2014, Aequitas exercised its option to withdraw from the loan  

program and stop purchasing Genesis Loans originated through  Corinthian.   

107. Aequitas management made the decision based on “increased operational 

risk at Corinthian” and “headline risk to Aequitas.” Aequitas was concerned that state 

and federal investigations of Corinthian could ultimately affect the underlying value of 

the Genesis Loans they were funding.   

108. However, from February 2014 through May 2014, Aequitas and Corinthian 

continued to discuss additional opportunities to continue working together, which 

Aequitas said would require additional insulation from defaults and other risk in the 

loan portfolios.   

109. In May 2014, Corinthian stopped honoring its obligation to purchase all 

loans from CSF that were more than 90 days past due.   
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COUNT I 

AEQUITAS VIOLATED THE CFPA’S PROHIBITION ON ABUSIVE ACTS AND 
PRACTICES BY FUNDING AND SUPPORTING THE GENESIS LOAN 

PROGRAM 
 

110. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 109 are incorporated here by 

reference. 

111. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), makes it 

unlawful for a covered person to engage “in any unfair deceptive, or abusive act or 

practice.”  An act or practice is abusive under the CFPA if it “takes unreasonable 

advantage of . . . the inability of the consumer to protect the interests of the consumer in 

selecting or using a consumer financial product or service. . . . ”  12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(d)(2)(B).    

112. The Genesis Loans sold by Corinthian to its students and funded by 

Aequitas were consumer financial products.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i).  

113. Aequitas is a “covered person”” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) 

because it acquired or purchased consumer loans, the Genesis Loans.   

114. From at least September 2011 until February 2014, Aequitas and 

Corinthian engaged in a complex scheme designed to maximize the flow of Title IV 

federal loan dollars to Corinthian and satisfy its obligations under the “90/10 Rule.”     

115. Under the “90/10 Rule,” Corinthian was barred from receiving more than 

90% of its revenue from Title IV federal student aid.  At first, Corinthian sought to 

satisfy the “10 %” by charging additional tuition, above what federal aid could cover, to 

ensure that a “10 %” would be forthcoming. Knowing that its students could not 

generally afford the “10 %” additional charge out of pocket, however, Corinthian created 
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and funded the Genesis Loan Program to cover that, acquiring the Genesis Loans within 

days of their origination by a bank.  

116. As of July 1, 2012, private student loans originated and owned by an 

institution of higher education, such as the first version of Genesis Loan Program, would 

no longer count toward the 10% of private revenue required for a school to maintain 

eligible to receive Title IV funds.  As a result of this change to the 90/10 Rule, 

Corinthian sought a third party to immediately purchase the loans after origination, 

thereby keeping the loans off Corinthian’s books so that they could be counted as a 

private source of revenue for purposes of the 90/10 Rule.    

117. Aequitas agreed to take on that role in the scheme, which permitted 

Corinthian to continue offering Genesis Loans to students, despite no longer being able 

to hold those loans on its books, and without increasing its non-Title IV sources of 

revenue from other sources.   

118. Aequitas knew that Corinthian sought no economic benefit from the 

Genesis Loan Program or the tuition payments it was intended to fund except for 

Corinthian’s access to the Title IV program. Aequitas knew that the additional tuition 

was charged by Corinthian simply to create revenue that would satisfy the “10 %” 

required to obtain federal funds. Aequitas knew that the high projected default rate of 

the program meant that Corinthian, which was bound to buy all delinquent Genesis 

Loans from Aequitas, would not actually realize that “10 %” because the cost of buying 

back non-performing loans and maintaining the program would absorb any such 

revenue. 

119. In short, Aequitas knew that the Genesis Loan Program, and the tuition 

charge it funded for Corinthian student-borrowers, was a sham. 
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120. Aequitas participated in the loan programs in order to earn the profit from 

the performing loans it expected to keep.  

121. Aequitas knew but disregarded the harm to Corinthian student borrowers 

caused by this scheme.  While Aequitas made what appeared to be an easy profit, with 

Corinthian buying back delinquent loans, student borrowers would have to pay high-

interest, high origination fee loans back for illusory tuition that Corinthian never 

expected to recoup. Aequitas knew but disregarded the fact that most Corinthian 

student borrowers would default on these loans and would suffer the consequences of 

such defaults.  

122. Student borrowers were not able to protect their interests in selecting or 

using the Genesis Loans because they could not have known or understood that 

Corinthian and Aequitas were using the Genesis Loans, and the tuition charge they 

funded, as a loss leader and a ruse designed to generate Title IV federal loan revenue for 

Corinthian, and because most borrowers did not have other options to pay for 

Corinthian’s artificially-inflated tuition.      

123. Aequitas took unreasonable advantage of student borrowers’ inability to 

protect their interests in selecting or using the Genesis Loans by funding, supporting, 

and maintaining its purchase of Corinthian student loan portfolios and by participating 

in the Genesis Loan Program through the “forward flow” agreements with Corinthian, 

all while continuing to reap significant profits from the scheme.   

124. Corinthian students, the great majority of whom had few financial 

resources to begin with, were and are harmed by Aequitas’s continued collection of 

unaffordable payments on loans that carried interest rates as high as 18% and 
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origination fees as high as 6%, which translates to thousands of dollars for each student 

over the life of the loan. 

125. Many Corinthian students were and are harmed by defaults on their 

student loans, which exacerbate their financial distress, are difficult to discharge in 

bankruptcy, and will detrimentally affect their credit ratings for years. 

126. Therefore, Aequitas violated the CFPA’s prohibition on abusive practices, 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, the Bureau, pursuant to Sections 1054 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s power to grant legal or equitable relief, 

requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Aequitas from committing future violations of the CFPA; 

b. declare that Aequitas engaged in abusive conduct when it funded and 

implemented the Genesis Loan Program in order for Corinthian to carry out 

the 90/10 scheme.    

c. permanently enjoin Aequitas from collecting loan payments from the affected 

borrowers; 

d. order Aequitas to pay restitution to consumers harmed by its unlawful 

conduct; 

e. order Aequitas to pay damages to consumers harmed by its unlawful conduct; 

f. order Aequitas to disgorge all ill-gotten profits; 

g. order the rescission of all Genesis Loans originated or funded by Aequitas or 
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its subsidiaries since July 21, 2011;  

h. enjoin Aequitas from making further investments in student loan products; 

i. impose civil money penalties against Aequitas; 

j. order Aequitas to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with bringing 

this action; and  

k. award such other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just 

and proper. 

Dated:   August 17, 2017                  Respectfully submitted, 

     Anthony M. Alexis, DC Bar 384545  
Enforcement Director 

 
David Rubenstein, DC Bar 458770 
Deputy Enforcement Director 

 
Cynthia Gooen Lesser, NY Bar 2578045  
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

             
             
       /s/ Rina Tucker Harris ___________             
      Rina Tucker Harris, DC Bar 444550 

Mary K. Warren, NY Bar 2557684 
Jessica Rank Divine, NY Bar 4544573 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU        
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 The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action 

on August 17, 2017 to obtain consumer redress, injunctive relief, and other relief, from 

the Defendants.  The Complaint alleges violations of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1) in 

connection with  Defendants’  funding, purchasing, and maintaining loans made to 

students at Corinthian Colleges, Inc. (Corinthian).   Specifically, the Complaint alleges 

Defendants funded and maintained the private student loan program offered to 

Corinthian students as part of a scheme to allow Corinthian to present a façade of 

compliance with federal laws requiring that a certain portion of a for-profit school’s 

revenue come from sources other than federal student aid.  The Complaint also alleges 

that Defendants profited from this scheme, and in doing so, took unreasonable 

advantage of Corinthian’s student borrowers who were unaware of the scheme 

associated with this loan program, and therefore were unable to protect their interests 

in taking out such loans. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission commenced the Receivership Action in 

this Court on March 10, 2016 to, among other things, obtain injunctive relief against 

Defendants for violation of certain federal securities laws, and place Defendants and 

certain other related parties in receivership for purposes of orderly liquidation.  The 

Court entered a preliminary injunction against Defendants on March 14, 2016, and by 

Order dated April 14, 2016 (Receivership Order) appointed the Receiver for Defendants 

and certain other related parties.  Pursuant to the Receivership Order, the Receiver has 

the power and authority to enter into this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (Order) 

and to perform certain duties set forth in this Order during the pendency of the 

Receivership. 

Case 3:17-cv-01278-MO    Document 2-1    Filed 08/17/17    Page 2 of 23



 
 

 [PROPOSED] STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT  AND ORDER - 3 

The parties, by and through respective counsel, have requested the Court to enter 

this Order to resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the 

Complaint.  

I. FINDINGS  

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action.  

2. The parties agree to entry of this Order to settle and resolve all matters in dispute 

arising from the conduct of Defendants alleged in the Complaint.  

3. The Bureau makes no allegations against the Receiver, but only against 

Defendants.  The Receiver is obligated under this Order for the sole purpose of acting on 

behalf of the Defendants to grant certain monetary relief from the assets of the 

Receivership and to perform certain obligations to the Bureau set forth in this Order. 

Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegation in the Complaint, except that for 

purposes of this Order, Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s 

jurisdiction over Defendants and the subject matter of this action. 

4. The loan reductions, discharges and cancellations described in this judgment are 

based on alleged infirmities that relate back to the original sale of educational services 

by Corinthian and are for the purpose of correcting these alleged unlawful business 

practices by the Defendants, including alleged unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and 

practices.  

5.  Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the validity 

of this Order.  Defendants also waive any claims that they may have under the Equal 

Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action to the 
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date of this Order. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including, without 

limitation, attorneys’ fees.  

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest.  

II. DEFINITIONS 

7. “Affected Consumers” means all consumers who were Borrowers of Aequitas 

Genesis Loans and have remaining unpaid amounts on such loans as of the Record 

Date. 

8. “Active Aequitas Genesis Loans” means, as of the Record Date, all Aequitas 

Genesis Loans, with the exception of Defaulted Genesis Loans and Aequitas Closed 

School Loans.  

9. “Defendants” means Aequitas Capital Management Inc., Aequitas Management 

LLC, Aequitas Holdings LLC, Aequitas Commercial Finance LLC, Campus Student 

Funding LLC, CSF Leverage I LLC, Aequitas Income Opportunity Fund, and Aequitas 

Income Protection Fund, as named in the Complaint.    

10.  “Aequitas Genesis Loan” means any private student loan referred to in the 

Complaint as either a Genesis loan or EducationPlus loan, which was made to a 

Borrower to pay for tuition, cost of living expenses and/or fees to attend a Corinthian 

school, and which as of the Record Date still has an outstanding balance on the books 

and records of Defendants in the possession of the Receiver (or on the books and 

records of servicers of said loans).    

11. “Borrower” means a consumer who was a borrower of an Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, and his/her/its successors or assigns.   

12. “Closed School Loan ” means an Aequitas Genesis Loan to a Borrower who did 

not graduate or complete his/her course work and who (a) attended one of the 
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Corinthian schools that Corinthian announced on April 27, 2015 would be closed (listed 

on Schedule 1 to this Order) and was either attending such school when it closed or 

withdrew from such school on or after June 1, 2014,  or (b) attended one of the 

Corinthian schools sold to Zenith (listed on  Schedule 2 to this Order) and whose loan is 

included on a list agreed upon between the Receiver and the Bureau prior to the filing of 

the Complaint.  

13. “Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan” means an Aequitas Genesis Loan that is 270 

days or more past due, charged off, or cancelled as of the Record Date.  

14.  “Current Payment Amount” is the monthly payment amount designated for 

each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan in order to keep the account current and non-

delinquent. 

15.  “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is entered on the docket.  

16.  “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegate. 

17.  “Re-Amortization Payment Amount” is a new payment amount per month for 

each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, calculated based on the principal reduction provided 

for in paragraph 32 as of the Effective Date such that the Active Aequitas Genesis Loan 

will be fully paid if the Re-Amortization Payment Amount is paid by the Borrower each 

month on time, by the end of that loan’s actual or, in the case of loans that have ever 

been in or are currently in a forbearance plan, estimated remaining term.     

18.  “Receiver” means Ronald Greenspan, receiver of Aequitas, named as such in the 

Receivership Order, or any other receiver that is appointed by a superseding order in the 

same litigation.   
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19.  “Receivership Action” means the matter of SEC v. Aequitas Management, LLC, 

et al., No. 3:16-cv-438(PK) (D. Or.). 

20. “Receivership Order” means the Order Appointing Receiver, ECF No. 156, SEC v. 

Aequitas Management, LLC, et al., No. 3:16-cv-438(PK) (D. Or. Apr. 14, 2016). 

21.  “Record Date” means March 31, 2017.  

22. “Retained Personnel” means the agents of the Receiver, as defined by the 

Receivership Order. 

III. ORDER 

A. CONDUCT PROVISIONS  
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows:  

23.   Defendants and their respective officers, agents, servants, employees and 

attorneys, who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, including by 

engaging in abusive acts or practices in connection with lending to students of for-profit 

schools.  

24.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, shall obtain the following reports from servicers currently servicing the 

Aequitas Genesis Loans, with data as of the Record Date. Upon obtaining such reports, 

the Defendants or the Receiver on behalf of the Defendants shall provide copies of them 

to the Bureau. The following reports are to be obtained, to the extent the specified loan-

level data are available: 

a. a report of all Aequitas Genesis Loans including for each such Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any other amount due 

and owing as of the Record Date on such Aequitas Genesis Loan, the associated 
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Borrower’s name, a unique identifying number, and most currently available 

postal address, phone number, and email address. 

b. a report of all Active Aequitas Genesis Loans including for each such 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any 

other amount due and owing as of the Record Date on such Active Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the associated Borrower’s name, a unique identifying number, and 

most currently available postal address, phone number, and email address.  

c. a report of all Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loans, including for each such 

Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any 

other amount due and owing as of the Record Date on such Defaulted Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the associated Borrower’s name, a unique identifying number, and 

most currently available postal address, phone number, and email address. 

d. a report of all Closed School Loans, including for each such Closed School 

Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any other amount due and 

owing as of the Record Date on such Closed School Loan,  the associated 

Borrower’s name, a unique identifying number, and most currently available 

postal address, phone number, and email address. 

25.   For each Closed School Loan,  Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf of  

Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of the Effective Date from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Closed School 

Loan; however, Defendants will not be regarded as in violation of this Order if 

they send out routine statements or notices that could be considered collection 

activity within 20 days after the Effective Date; 
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b. Accepting any future payment on any such Closed School Loan, including 

any future payment made in connection with any statement or notice permitted 

by subparagraph (a), provided, however, that in the event that such a payment is 

discovered to be accepted and processed, Defendants, or the Receiver acting on 

Defendants’ behalf, will return the payment to the Borrower within a reasonable 

time; and 

c. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Closed School Loan. 

26.   For each Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on 

behalf of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of the Effective Date 

from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Defaulted 

Aequitas Genesis Loan; however, Defendants will not be regarded as in violation 

of this Order if they send out routine statements or notices that could be 

considered collection activity within 20 days after the Effective Date; 

b. Accepting any future payment on any such Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, including any future payment made in connection with any statement or 

notice permitted by subparagraph (a), provided, however, that in the event that 

such a payment is discovered to be accepted and processed, Defendants,  or the 

Receiver acting on Defendants’  behalf, will return the payment to the Borrower 

within a reasonable time; and 

c. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan. 

27.  For each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf 

of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of  the Effective Date from: 
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a. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, unless: 

i. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, ensure that 

the principal amount of each such loan sold, transferred or assigned 

reflects the reduction required in paragraph 32; 

ii. Within five business days of reaching an agreement in principle to 

sell, transfer or assign any Active Aequitas Genesis Loans, in which the 

terms have been agreed upon by the parties but the Receiver has not yet 

sought the authority of the Receivership Court to make such a sale, 

transfer, or assignment, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must provide the Bureau: 

1. notice of  the fact that such agreement in principle has been 

reached; 

2. the name of the proposed purchaser, transferee or assignee; 

3. the list of Active Aequitas Genesis loans to be sold, 

transferred or assigned; and 

4. the proposed written agreement memorializing the terms of 

the proposed sale, transfer, or assignment; 

iii. Within five business days prior to filing a motion seeking court 

approval for any such sale, transfer or assignment of Active Aequitas 

Genesis Loans,  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must 

provide the Bureau: 

1. notice of its intention to file any such motion; and 
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2. the proposed motion papers, including any attachments 

thereto;  

iv. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, ensure that 

the final agreement memorializing any such sale, transfer or assignment of 

any Active Aequitas Genesis Loans contains a provision requiring the 

purchaser, transferee or assignee to adopt or abide by the terms and 

provisions of this Order requiring ongoing performance for the Bureau; 

b. Any motion seeking approval for any such sale, transfer or assignment of 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loans shall (1) contain a request to the Court that the 

terms of this Order requiring ongoing performance for the Bureau shall be 

enforceable against the purchaser, transferee or assignee; and (2) not seek to sell, 

transfer or assign such loans free and clear of rights, claims or defenses of any 

borrower, co-borrower or guarantor on any such Loan. 

28.   For each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf 

of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of  60 days after the Effective 

Date from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan that seeks an amount in principal greater than the amount 

identified in paragraph 32, including by: 

i.  calculating interest or fees based on a principal amount greater 

than the amount identified in paragraph 32, however, in the event interest 

or fees have been calculated on a principal amount greater than the 

amount identified in paragraph 32, the excess amounts that have been 

paid by the Borrower will be applied to the Borrower’s principal balance 
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unless the Borrower seeks a refund of such improperly charged amounts, 

in which case the Borrower will be supplied a refund; and 

ii. representing to the Borrower of any such Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan that the principal amount owed is greater than the amount identified 

in paragraph 32. 

29.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of  

Defendants, must request that  and use commercially reasonable efforts to follow up 

with any servicer that furnished trade line information for Aequitas Genesis Loans to 

credit reporting agencies to furnish deletion codes to said credit reporting agencies to 

delete such information from subject Borrowers’ credit reports. For Borrowers of Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loans who perform under such Loans after the Effective Date, 

Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, may direct the servicer to report 

such performance to credit reporting agencies in accordance with applicable law. For 

any Borrowers who become or continue to be delinquent or in default after the Effective 

Date,  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, may direct the servicer to 

report such Borrowers’ status to credit reporting agencies in accordance with applicable 

law; however, any such reporting shall reflect the balance as modified by this Order.   

30.   Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall direct any person or 

entity collecting on Active Aequitas Genesis Loans to fully comply with all applicable 

requirements of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et 

seq., in any such collection.  
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B. REDRESS AND REMEDIATION 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

31.   Within 60 days after the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of  

Defendants, will discharge and cancel all amounts shown as owed in the report provided 

to the Bureau under paragraph 24, including principal, interest, fees or any other 

amounts, in connection with: 

a. all Closed School Loans; and 

b. all Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loans.  

32.   Within 60 days after the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, shall reduce the principal amount owed as of the Record Date on each 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, as identified in the report provided to the Bureau under 

paragraph 24, by 55% and discharge and cancel such principal and any accrued and 

unpaid interest, fees and charges that are 30 or more days past due as of the Record 

Date. 

33.   Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall use commercially 

reasonable efforts to obtain guidance from the Internal Revenue Service indicating that 

the Receiver is not required to make federal tax filings (including sending 1099 forms to 

Borrowers) as a result of the debt relief provided in this Order, prior to the time such 

forms would be required to be sent. If the Receiver, in consultation with his counsel, is 

satisfied that such guidance is reliable, the Receiver shall not make applicable federal 

tax filings and shall not send Borrowers 1099 forms. 

34. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide each  

Borrower of a Closed School Loan and each Borrower of a Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan with the following notice within 90 days of the Effective Date. Nothing else but 
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such notice shall be sent in combination with the mailing of this notice and such mailing 

will be sent to the most recently available postal address as contained on the servicer’s 

system of record. The notice shall contain the following information: 

a. The outstanding amount that had been owed under each Aequitas Genesis 

Loan as of the Record Date by such Borrower; 

b. The fact that each such amount has been reduced, discharged and 

canceled in full and such Borrower no longer owes any amounts under his or her 

Aequitas Genesis Loan; 

c. The fact that the cancellation of the amounts owed for each such Aequitas 

Genesis Loan is pursuant to this Order; 

d. The fact that the Borrower will not be subjected to any new debt-collection 

or credit-reporting activities related to each such Aequitas Genesis Loan;  

e. Any such reduction, discharge or cancellation of principal may result in tax 

liabilities of the borrower to the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing 

authorities;  

f. No amounts that were due and owing and were paid prior to the Record 

Date will be returned to the Borrower.  

35.  Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of  

Defendants, must provide each Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan written 

notice as described in paragraph 37 of his/her option to either continue paying the 

Current Payment Amount on the lowered principal balance or elect to have the loan re-

amortized using the lowered principal balance and remaining term of the subject loan, 

which will result in a Re-Amortization Payment Amount. No such notice is required to a 

Borrower and no Re-Amortization Payment Amount will be available to a Borrower, 
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however, if such Borrower’s Current Payment Amount before re-amortization is less 

than $20; in any event, a Borrower’s Re-Amortization Payment Amount will not be less 

than $20.  

36. Each Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan will have 90 days from the 

mailing date of such notice to make his/her election by completing the notice and 

returning it to Defendants, the Receiver (on behalf of Defendants) or the applicable 

servicer.  If the Borrower does not make such an election, he or she will be required to 

pay the Current Payment Amount and the loan will not be re-amortized.  For Borrowers 

as to whom Defendants, the Receiver on behalf of Defendants or the applicable servicer 

timely have received affirmative notice of election of the Re-Amortization Payment 

Amount, within 30 days following the expiration of the 90 day election period, 

Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, will re-amortize loans and adjust 

the monthly payment amount for all future unbilled and un-accrued loan payments to 

the Re-Amortization Payment Amount.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan which already has been amended or modified pursuant to a 

forbearance plan to provide a Borrower with a monthly payment that is less than the 

applicable Re-Amortization Payment Amount and the Borrower has elected to accept the 

re-amortization option, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall not be 

required to adjust the monthly payment until the end of the applicable forbearance 

period. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, will adjust the monthly 

payment to a Re-Amortization Payment Amount based on the principal balance of the 

Borrower’s loan at the end of the applicable forbearance period.   

37.  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide each 

Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan with the following notice pursuant to 
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paragraph 35. Nothing else but such notice shall be sent in combination with the 

mailing of this notice and such mailing will be sent to the most recently available postal 

address as contained on the servicer’s system of record. The notice shall contain the 

following information: 

a. Identification information that associates the loan to the Borrower;  

b. The amount of principal owed as of  the Record Date of each Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan associated with such Borrower; 

c. The amount of principal owed for each such Active Aequitas Genesis Loan 

after the reduction required in paragraph 32 has been applied;  

d. A statement notifying the Borrower that the principal has been reduced by 

55% pursuant to this Order; 

e. A Re-Amortization Payment Amount option whereby the Borrower has 90 

days from the mailing date of such notice to inform the servicer of his or her 

election to opt-in and have his or her  loan re-amortized with the minimum 

monthly payment modified from the Current Payment Amount to a Re-

Amortization Payment Amount; 

f. The fact that if the Borrower does not make such an election by the 

required date, the Current Payment Amount will continue as the amount due on 

his or her loan each month; 

g. The fact that replacing the Current Payment Amount with the Re-

Amortization Payment Amount may reduce the amount such Borrower pays each 

month but will cost the Borrower more over the life of the loan than if he or she 

continued with the Current Payment Amount; 
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h. The fact that a Borrower’s election will not waive any rights, claims or 

defenses that the Borrower and any co-borrower or guarantor may have with 

respect to the loan.   

i. The fact that continuing to pay the Current Payment Amount (or more) 

each month will result in full satisfaction of his or her loan before the payment 

term has expired, and will cost the Borrower less overall than if he or she elected 

to use the Re-amortization Payment Amount; 

j. The following specific information individualized for each Borrower on an 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan: 

i. The estimated total amount of principal and interest the Borrower 

will pay if the Borrower pays each current Payment Amount as scheduled, 

as well as the estimated date of pay-off of the Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan under these circumstances; 

ii. The estimated total amount of principal and interest that the 

Borrower will pay if the Borrower elects his or her option to pay the Re-

Amortization Payment Amount and pays such Re-Amortization Payment 

Amount as scheduled, as well as the estimated date of pay-off of the Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan under these circumstances;  

k. Any reduction, discharge or cancellation of principal may result in tax 

liabilities of the borrower to the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing 

authorities; 

l. A statement notifying the Borrower that, if the Borrower desires, the 

Borrower at any time may make payments larger than the Re-Amortization 
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Payment Amount, which if the loan is current would result in a shorter payoff 

period and interest savings; and   

m. A statement notifying Borrowers on forbearance plans of their alternative 

payment options as set forth in paragraph 36.  

n. A statement notifying Borrowers that the relief described does not waive 

or extinguish any rights, claims or defenses that the Borrower, any co-borrower 

and/or guarantor may have with respect to his or her loan. 

38.  A proposed form of the notices required by paragraph 34 and 35 shall be  

provided to the Enforcement Director for his non-objection within 30 days of the 

Effective Date. 

39.  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall include no materials 

other than the notices provided in paragraphs 34 and 35 in any envelope containing 

such notices, unless Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, have obtained 

written confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to 

the inclusion of such materials.  

C. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

40.   Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership Receiver on behalf of  

Defendants, shall notify the Bureau  of any development that may affect their 

obligations arising under this Order, including, but not limited to, the replacement of 

the Receiver or the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against 

Defendants.  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide this 

notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after learning 

about the development, whichever is sooner.  
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41.   Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress report, which, at a 

minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants, or the 

Receiver on behalf of  Defendants, as applicable, have complied with this Order; 

and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section D, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

42.  Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, in carrying out the 

provisions of this Order, are permitted to make such adjustments to loan balance 

amounts, accrual of interest and Borrower payment amounts and process refunds to 

Borrowers (including providing Borrower refunds or reimbursements not expressly 

required by this Order) as may be necessary to assure compliance with this Order, but in 

any event in a manner that is fair and transparent to Borrowers subject to such 

adjustments and in a manner that is otherwise in compliance with this Order. 

D. ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

43.   Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must deliver a copy of this Order to each employee or agent of the Receiver 

who or which is, as of the Effective Date, employed or retained by the Receiver and who 

or which has responsibilities that extend beyond the Effective Date related to the subject 

matter of this Order.  
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44.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Receiver shall provide a signed and  

dated statement to the Bureau of the Receiver’s compliance with paragraph 43, and shall 

provide a signed and dated statement from the servicer, or any other third-party service 

provider tasked with carrying out responsibilities under this Order, acknowledging 

receipt of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et. seq.. 

E. RECORDKEEPING 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

45.   Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must maintain for 3 years 

from the Effective Date or the duration of the Receivership, whichever is lesser, all 

documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with this Order, 

including all submissions to the Bureau. 

46.    Aequitas, or the Receiver on Aequitas’s behalf, must make the documents 

identified in paragraph 45 available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

F. NOTICES 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

47.    Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants, or the Receiver 

on behalf of  Defendants, must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or 

other documents relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line CFPB v. Aequitas 

Management, LLC, 17-cv-1278 (D. Or.) and send them either  

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street NW 

Washington, DC 20552; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street NW 

Washington, DC 20552 

G. COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

48.  Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, will cooperate fully with the Bureau as necessary to achieve the goals and 

carry out the requirements of this Order.  

49.  Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, will cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and the 

location of, and the relief provided pursuant to this Order for each Affected Consumer, 

from the information within Defendants’ or the Receiver’s possession and control or a 

servicer’s system of record.   

H. MODIFICATIONS TO NON-MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  
 

50.  Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 53 (section K), any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written agreement of the 
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parties (or, as applicable, the Receiver) and without further Court approval.  

Additionally, details related to the administration of Sections C through G of this Order 

may be modified by written agreement of the parties (or, as applicable, the Receiver) 

and without further Court approval. Any other modifications to this Order may be made 

only upon approval of the Court, upon motion by any party. 

I. RELEASE 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 

51.  The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the 

practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions against Defendants, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any 

penalty.  This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine 

and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Order. 

J. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY UNDER RECEIVERSHIP ORDER 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

 

52.  Notwithstanding any other terms, conditions or provisions of this Order, 

pursuant to  the Receivership Order, the Receiver and the Retained Personnel are 

entitled to rely on all outstanding rules of law and the orders of the Receivership Court 

and shall not be liable to any person or party (including, without limitation, the Bureau)  
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for their own good faith compliance with this Order. Pursuant to  the Receivership 

Order, in no event shall the Receiver or Retained Personnel be liable to any person or 

party (including, without limitation, the Bureau)  for their good faith compliance with 

their duties and responsibilities as Receiver or Retained Personnel, nor shall the 

Receiver or Retained Personnel be liable to anyone for any actions taken or omitted by 

them except upon a finding by the Receivership Court that they acted or failed to act as a 

result of malfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence, or in reckless disregard of their duties. 

K. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. This Court retains jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction,  

modification, and enforcement of this Order.   

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated this ___ day of ____, 2017.  

 

_________________________ 
United States District Judge 
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Corinthian Closed School OPEID List (Per the Department of Education Listing) Corinthian
OPEID School Name Location Street Address City State School #

809000 Everest College Everest College 2215 Mission Road Alhambra CA 180
1110700 Everest College Everest College 511 North  Brookhurst Street Anaheim CA 171
1112300 Everest College Everest College 1045 Wt Redondo Beach Blvd Gardena CA 186
3072300 Everest College Everest College 1460 S. Milliken Ave Ontario CA 245
449400 Everest College Everest College 217 E. Club Center Drive, Ste A San Bernardino CA 182
449401 Everest College ‐ Santa Ana Everest College ‐ Santa Ana 500 West Santa Ana Boulevard Santa Ana CA 172
449402 Everest College ‐ Ontario Everest College ‐ Ontario 1819 South Excise Avenue Ontario CA 564
481100 Everest Institute Everest Institute 1630 Portland Avenue Rochester NY 692
1110900 Everest College Everest College 18040 Sherman Way Reseda CA 173
2295000 Everest College Everest College 10400 North 25th Avenue Phoenix AZ 575, 975
2295002 Everest College Everest College 5416 East Baseline Mesa AZ 576
3195400 Everest College Everest College 1231 Cabrillo Avenue Torrance CA 155
723400 Heald College Heald College 875 Howard Street San Francisco CA 11101
723401 Heald College ‐ Honolulu Heald College ‐ Honolulu 1500 Kapliolani Boulevard Honolulu HI 11136
723402 Heald College Heald College 6035 Northeast 78th Court Portland OR 11138
723403 Heald College ‐ Kaneoche MCB Heald College ‐ Kaneoche MCB Bldg 220, 5th St. Marine Corps Kaneohe HI Unable to Identify
723404 Heald College ‐ Concord Heald College ‐ Concord 5130 Commercial Circle Concord CA 11103, 11199
723405 Heald College ‐ Milpitas Heald College ‐ Milpitas 341 Great Mall Parkway Milpitas CA 11105
723406 Heald College ‐ Hayward Heald College ‐ Hayward 25500 Industrial Boulevard Hayward CA 11104
723407 Heald College ‐ Modesto Heald College ‐ Modesto 5260 Pirrone Court Salida CA 11115
723408 Heald College ‐ Roseville Heald College ‐ Roseville Seven Sierra Gate Plaza Roseville CA 11156
723409 Heald College ‐ Salinas Heald College ‐ Salinas 1450 North Main Street Salinas CA 11109
723410 Heald College ‐ Stockton Heald College ‐ Stockton 1605 East March Lane Stockton CA 11114
723411 Heald College ‐ Rancho Cordova Heald College ‐ Rancho Cordova 2910 Prospect Park Drive Rancho Cordova CA 11111
723412 Heald College ‐ Fresno Heald College ‐ Fresno 255 West Bullard Fresno CA 11112
723413 Heald College ‐ Fresno Satellite Heald College ‐ Fresno Satellite 255 East River Park Circle Fresno CA 11112
719000 WyoTech WyoTech 200 Whitney Place Fremont CA 412
1287300 WyoTech WyoTech 2161 Technology Place Long Beach CA 274
1287301 WyoTech WyoTech 3000 S Robertson BLVD #300 Los Angeles CA Unable to Identify
1287302 WyoTech WyoTech 12801 Crossroads Pkwy South City of Industry CA Unable to Identify

Corinthian
Zenith Closed School OPEID List "Zenith"
OPEID SCHOOL NAME                                                       LOCATION                                                      ADDRESS                                                      CITY           STATE School #

2100401 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ KALAMAZOO                                         5177 WEST MAIN STREET                                                 KALAMAZOO                 MI         347
982809 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ CHELSEA                                          70 EVERETT AVENUE                                                     CHELSEA                   MA         315
2300105 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ EARTH CITY                                         3420 RIDER TRAIL SOUTH                                                EARTH CITY                MO         377
2617507 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ BENSALEM                        3050 TILLMAN DRIVE                                                    BENSALEM                  PA         Unable to Identify
2100402 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ EVEREST COLLEGE                                  8585 BROADWAY SUITE 200                                               MERRILLVILLE              IN         349
2100400 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    1750 WOODWORTH STREET NORTHEAST                                       GRAND RAPIDS              MI         345
2298501 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ FORT WORTH                                         5237 NORTH RIVERSIDE DRIVE SUITE 200                                   FORT WORTH                TX         613
149911 EVEREST UNIVERSITY                                                   EVEREST UNIVERSITY ‐ EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ MERRIONETTE PARK              11560 SOUTH KEDZIE AVENUE                                             MERRIONETTE PARK          IL         344
2298500 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      3280 WEST 3500 SOUTH                                                  SALT LAKE CITY            UT         572
450301 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐  MCLEAN                                            8620 WESTWOOD CENTER DRIVE                                            VIENNA                    VA         626
1185802 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ BURR RIDGE                                         6880 NORTH FRONTAGE ROAD SUITE 400                                     BURR RIDGE                IL         343
1185800 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      9811 WOODS DRIVE SUITE 200                                            SKOKIE                    IL         341
1185803 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ MELROSE PARK                                       1101 WEST NORTH AVENUE SUITE 1                                        MELROSE PARK              IL         Unable to Identify
982810 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ EVEREST COLLEGE‐ BEDFORD PARK                     7414 SOUTH CICERO AVENUE                                               BEDFORD PARK              IL         Unable to Identify
709100 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    100 FORBES AVENUE KOSSMAN BUILDING SUITE 1200                          PITTSBURGH                PA         656
450701 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE‐ EVEREST COLLEGE AURORA                               14280 EAST JEWELL AVENUE SUITE 100                                    AURORA                    CO         509
982806 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE ‐ JONESBORO                                        6431 TARA BOULEVARD                                                   JONESBORO                 GA         353
2606200 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      981 POWELL AVENUE SW SUITE 200                                        RENTON                    WA         116
982801 EVEREST INSTITUTE                                                    EVEREST INSTITUTE‐ DEARBORN                                          23400 MICHIGAN AVENUE SUITE 200                                        DEARBORN                  MI         337
907901 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      STONEMILL CENTER SUITE 130 120 NORTHEAST 136TH AVENUE                  VANCOUVER                 WA         548
907900 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      600 SW 10TH AVENUE SUITE 400                                          PORTLAND                  OR         547
2617509 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      NORTHGATE MERIDIAN BUILDING 2111 NORTH NORTHGATE WAY  SUITE 300         SEATTLE                   WA         390
2300106 EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      EVEREST COLLEGE                                                      155 WASHINGTON AVENUE SUITE 200                                        BREMERTON                 WA         397
149908 EVEREST UNIVERSITY                                                   EVEREST UNIVERSITY ‐ LAKELAND                                         995 EAST MEMORIAL BOULEVARD                                           LAKELAND                  FL         765
149912 EVEREST UNIVERSITY                                                   EVEREST UNIVERSITY ‐ EVEREST COLLEGE ‐ KANSAS CITY                    1740 WEST 92ND STREET                                                 KANSAS CITY               MO         320
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) commenced this civil action 

on August 17, 2017 to obtain consumer redress, injunctive relief, and other relief, from 

the Defendants. The Complaint alleges violations of§§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1) in 

connection with Defendants' funding, purchasing, and maintaining loans made to 

students at Corinthian Colleges, Inc. (Corinthian). Specifically, the Complaint alleges 

Defendants funded and maintained the private student loan program offered to . 

Corinthian students as part of a scheme to allow Corinthian to present a fa<;ade of 

compliance with federal laws requiring that a certain portion of a for-profit school's 

revenue come from sources other than federal student aid. The Complaint also alleges 

that Defendants profited from this scheme, and in doing so, took unreasonable 

advantage of Corinthian's student borrowers who were unaware of the scheme 

associated with this loan program, and therefore were unable to protect their interests 

in taking out such loans. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission commenced the Receivership Action in 

this Court on March 10, 2016 to, among other things, obtain injunctive relief against 

Defendants for violation of certain federal securities laws, and place Defendants and 

certain other related parties in receivership for purposes of orderly liquidation. The 

Court entered a preliminary injunction against Defendants on March 14, 2016, and by 

Order dated April 14, 2016 (Receivership Order) appointed the Receiver for Defendants 

and certain other related parties. Pursuant to the Receivership Order, the Receiver has 

the power and authority to enter into this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (Order) 

and to perform certain duties set forth in this Order during the pendency of the 

Receivership. 
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The parties, by and through respective counsel, have requested the Court to enter 

this Order to resolve all matters in dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the 

Complaint. 

I. FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action. 

2. The parties agree to entry of this Order to settle and resolve all matters in dispute 

arising from the conduct of Defendants alleged in the Complaint. 

3. The Bureau makes no allegations against the Receiver, but only against 

Defendants. The Receiver is obligated under this Order for the sole purpose of acting on 

behalf of the Defendants to grant certain monetary relief from the assets of the 

Receivership and to perform certain obligations to the Bureau set forth in this Order. 

Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegation in the Complaint, except that for 

purposes of this Order, Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Comt's 

jurisdiction over Defendants and the subject matter of this action. 

4. The loan reductions, discharges and cancellations described in this judgment are 

based on alleged infirmities that relate back to the original sale of educational services 

by Corinthian and are for the purpose of correcting these alleged unlawful business 

practices by the Defendants, including alleged unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts and 

practices. 

5. Defendants waive service under Rule 4( d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest the validity 

of this Order. Defendants also waive any claims that they may have under the Equal 

Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action to the 
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date of this Or.der. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including, without 

limitation, attorneys' fees. 

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

II. DEFINITIONS 

7. "Affected Consumers" means all consumers who were Borrowers of Aequitas 

Genesis Loans and have remaining unpaid amounts on such loans as of the Record 

Date. 

8. "Active Aequitas Genesis Loans" means, as of the Record Date, all Aequitas 

Genesis Loans, with the exception of Defaulted Genesis Loans and Aequitas Closed 

School Loans. 

9. "Defendants" means Aequitas Capital Management Inc., Aequitas Management 

LLC, Aequitas Holdings LLC, Aequitas Commercial Finance LLC, Campus Student 

Funding LLC, CSF Leverage I LLC, Aequitas Income Opportunity Fund, and Aequitas 

Income Protection Fund, as named in the Complaint. 

10. "Aequitas Genesis Loan" means any private student loan referred to in the 

Complaint as either a Genesis loan or EducationPlus loan, which was made to a 

Borrower to pay for tuition, cost of living expenses and/ or fees to attend a Corinthian 

school, and which as of the Record Date still has an outstanding balance on the books 

and records of Defendants in the possession of the Receiver (or on the books and 

records of servicers of said loans). 

11. "Borrower" means a consumer who was a borrower of an Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, and his/her/its successors or assigns. 

12. "Closed School Loan" means an Aequitas Genesis Loan to a Borrower who did 

not graduate or complete his/her course work and who (a) attended one of the 
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Corinthian schools that Corinthian announced on April 27, 2015 would be closed (listed 

on Schedule 1 to this Order) and was either attending such school when it closed or 

withdrew from such school on or after June 1, 2014, or (b) attended one of the 

Corinthian schools sold to Zenith (listed on Schedule 2 to this Order) and whose loan is 

included on a list agreed upon between the Receiver and the Bureau prior to the filing of 

the Complaint. 

13. "Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan" means an Aequitas Genesis Loan that is 270 

days or more past due, charged off, or cancelled as of the Record Date. 

14. "Current Payment Amount" is the monthly payment amount designated for 

each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan in order to keep the account current and non

delinquent. 

15. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Order is entered on the docket. 

16. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her delegate. 

17. "Re-Amortization Payment Amount" is a new payment amount per month for 

each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, calculated based on the principal reduction provided 

for in paragraph 32 as of the Effective Date such that the Active Aequitas Genesis Loan 

will be fully paid if the Re-Amortization Payment Amount is paid by the Borrower each 

month on time, by the end of that loan's actual or, in the case of loans that have ever 

been in or are currently in a forbearance plan, estimated remaining term. 

18. "Receiver" means Ronald Greenspan, receiver of Aequitas, named as such in the 

Receivership Order, or any other receiver that is appointed by a superseding order in the 

same litigation. 

[FR®Fe'JBEB] STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER- 5 

Case 3:17-cv-01278-PK    Document 8    Filed 09/01/17    Page 5 of 23



19. "Receivership Action" means the matter of SEC v. Aequitas Management, LLC, 

et al., No. 3:16-cv-438(PK) (D. Or.). 

20. "Receivership Order" means the Order Appointing Receiver, ECF No. 156, SEC v. 

Aequitas IVfanagement, LLC, et al., No. 3:16-cv-438(PK) (D. Or. Apr. 14, 2016). 

21. "Record Date" means March 31, 2017. 

22. "Retained Personnel" means the agents of the Receiver, as defined by the 

Receivership Order. 

III. ORDER 

A. CONDUCT PROVISIONS 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows: 

23. Defendants and their respective officers, agents, servants, employees and 

attorneys, who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate§§ 1031and1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, including by 

engaging in abusive acts or practices in connection with lending to students of for-profit 

schools. 

24. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, shall obtain the following reports from servicers currently servicing the 

Aequitas Genesis Loans, with data as of the Record Date. Upon obtaining such reports, 

the Defendants or the Receiver on behalf of the Defendants shall provide copies of them 

to the Bureau. The following reports are to be obtained, to the extent the specified loan

level data are available: 

a. a report of all Aequitas Genesis Loans including for each such Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any other amount due 

and owing as of the Record Date on such Aequitas Genesis Loan, the associated 
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Borrower's name, a unique identifying number, and most currently available 

postal address, phone number, and email address. 

b. a report of all Active Aequitas Genesis Loans including for each such 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any 

other amount due and owing as of the Record Date on such Active Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the associated Borrower's name, a unique identifying number, and 

most currently available postal address, phone number, and email address. 

c. a report of all Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loans, including for each such 

Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any 

other amount due and owing as of the Record Date on such Defaulted Aequitas 

Genesis Loan, the associated Borrower's name, a unique identifying number, and 

most currently available postal address, phone number, and email address. 

d. a report of all Closed School Loans, including for each such Closed School 

Loan, the amount of principal, interest, fees, and any other amount due and 

owing as of the Record Date on such Closed School Loan, the associated 

Borrower's name, a unique identifying number, and most currently available 

postal address, phone number, and email address. 

25. For each Closed School Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of the Effective Date from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Closed School 

Loan; however, Defendants will not be regarded as in violation of this Order if 

they send out routine statements or notices that could be considered collection 

activity within 20 days after the Effective Date; 
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b. Accepting any future payment on any such Closed School Loan, including 

any future payment made in connection with any statement or notice permitted 

by subparagraph (a), provided, however, that in the event that such a payment is 

discovered to be accepted and processed, Defendants, or the Receiver acting on 

Defendants' behalf, will return the payment to the Borrower within a reasonable 

time; and 

c. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Closed School Loan. 

26. For each Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on · 

behalf of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of the Effective Date 

from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Defaulted 

Aequitas Genesis Loan; however, Defendants will not be regarded as in violation 

of this Order if they send out routine statements or notices that could be 

considered collection activity within 20 days after the Effective Date; 

b. Accepting any future payment on any such Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, including any future payment made in connection with any statement or 

notice permitted by subparagraph (a), provided, however, that in the event that 

such a payment is discovered to be accepted and processed, Defendants, or the 

Receiver acting on Defendants' behalf, will return the payment to the Borrower 

within a reasonable time; and 

c. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan. 

27. For each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf 

of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of the Effective Date from: 
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a. Reselling, transferring, or assigning any such Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan, unless: 

i. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, ensure that 

the principal amount of each such loan sold, transferred or assigned 

reflects the reduction required in paragraph 32; 

ii. Within five business days of reaching an agreement in principle to 

sell, transfer or assign any Active Aequitas Genesis Loans, in which the 

terms have been agreed upon by the parties but the Receiver has not yet 

sought the authority of the Receivership Court to make such a sale, 

transfer, or assignment, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must provide the Bureau: 

1. notice of the fact that such agreement in principle has been 

reached; 

2. the name of the proposed purchaser, transferee or assignee; 

3. the list of Active Aequitas Genesis loans to be sold, 

transferred or assigned; and 

4. the proposed written agreement memorializing the terms of 

the proposed sale, transfer, or assignment; 

iii. Within five business days prior to filing a motion seeking court 

approval for any such sale, transfer or assignment of Active Aequitas 

Genesis Loans, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must 

provide the Bureau: 

1. notice of its intention to file any such motion; and 
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2. the proposed motion papers, including any attachments 

thereto; 

iv. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, ensure that 

the final agreement memorializing any such sale, transfer or assignment of 

any Active Aequitas Genesis Loans contains a provision requiring the 

purchaser, transferee or assignee to adopt or abide by the terms and 

provisions of this Order requiring ongoing performance for the Bureau; 

b. Any motion seeking approval for any such sale, transfer or assignment of 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loans shall (1) contain a request to the Court that the 

terms of this Order requiring ongoing performance for the Bureau shall be 

enforceable against the purchaser, transferee or assignee; and (2) not seek to sell, 

transfer or assign such loans free and clear of rights, claims or defenses of any 

borrower, co-borrower or guarantor on any such Loan. 

28. For each Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, Defendants, and the Receiver on behalf 

of Defendants, are permanently restrained and enjoined as of 60 days after the Effective 

Date from: 

a. Engaging in any collection activity with respect to each such Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan that seeks an amount in principal greater than the amount 

identified in paragraph 32, including by: 

i. calculating interest or fees based on a principal amount greater 

than the amount identified in paragraph 32, however, in the event interest 

or fees have been calculated on a principal amount greater than the 

amount identified in paragraph 32, the excess amounts that have been 

paid by the Borrower will be applied to the Borrower's principal balance 
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unless the Borrower seeks a refund of such improperly charged amounts, 

in which case the Borrower will be supplied a refund; and 

ii. representing to the Borrower of any such Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan that the principal amount owed is greater than the amount identified 

in paragraph 32. 

29. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must request that and use commercially reasonable efforts to follow up 

with any servicer that furnished trade line information for Aequitas Genesis Loans to 

credit reporting agencies to furnish deletion codes to said credit reporting agencies to 

delete such information from subject Borrowers' credit reports. For Borrowers of Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loans who perform under such Loans after the Effective Date, 

Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, may direct the servicer to report 

such performance to credit reporting agencies in accordance with applicable law. For 

any Borrowers who become or continue to be delinquent or in default after the Effective 

Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, may direct the servicer to 

report such Borrowers' status to credit reporting agencies in accordance with applicable 

law; however, any such reporting shall reflect the balance as modified by this Order. 

30. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall direct any person or 

entity collecting on Active Aequitas Genesis Loans to fully comply with all applicable 

requirements of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692 et 

seq., in any such collection. 
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B. REDRESS AND REMEDIATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

31. Within 60 days after the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, will discharge and cancel all amounts shown as owed in the report provided 

to the Bureau under paragraph 24, including principal, interest, fees or any other 

amounts, in connection with: 

a. all Closed School Loans; and 

b. all Defaulted Aequitas Genesis Loans. 

32. Within 60 days after the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, shall reduce the principal amount owed as of the Record Date on each 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan, as identified in the report provided to the Bureau under 

paragraph 24, by 55% and discharge and cancel such principal and any accrued and 

unpaid interest, fees and charges that are 30 or more days past due as of the Record 

Date. 

33. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall use commercially 

reasonable efforts to obtain guidance from the Internal Revenue Service indicating that 

the Receiver is not required to make federal tax filings (including sending 1099 forms to 

Borrowers) as a result of the debt relief provided in this Order, prior to the time such 

forms would be required to be sent. If the Receiver, in consultation with his counsel, is 

satisfied that such guidance is reliable, the Receiver shall not make applicable federal 

tax filings and shall not send Borrowers 1099 forms. 

34. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide each 

Borrower of a Closed School Loan and each Borrower of a Defaulted Aequitas Genesis 

Loan with the following notice within 90 days of the Effective Date. Nothing else but 
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such notice shall be sent in combination with the mailing of this notice and such mailing 

will be sent to the most recently available postal address as contained on the servicer' s 

system of record. The notice shall contain the following information: 

a. The outstanding amount that had been owed under each Aequitas Genesis 

Loan as of the Record Date by such Borrower; 

b. The fact that each such amount has been reduced, discharged and 

canceled in full and such Borrower no longer owes any amounts under his or her 

Aequitas Genesis Loan; 

c. The fact that the cancellation of the amounts owed for each such Aequitas 

Genesis Loan is pursuant to this Order; 

d. The fact that the Borrower will not be subjected to any new debt-collection 

or credit-reporting activities related to each such Aequitas Genesis Loan; 

e. Any such reduction, discharge or cancellation of principal may result in tax 

liabilities of the borrower to the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing 

authorities; 

f. No amounts that were due and owing and were paid prior to the Record 

Date will be returned to the Borrower. 

35. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must provide each Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan written 

notice as described in paragraph 37 of his/her option to either continue paying the 

Current Payment Amount on the lowered principal balance or elect to have the loan re

amortized using the lowered principal balance and remaining term of the subject loan, 

which will result in a Re-Amortization Payment Amount. No such notice is required to a 

Borrower and no Re-Amortization Payment Amount will be available to a Borrower, 
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however, if such Borrower's Current Payment Amount before re-amortization is less 

than $20; in any event, a Borrower's Re-Amortization Payment Amount will not be less 

than $20. 

36. Each Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan will have 90 days from the 

mailing date of such notice to make his/her election by completing the notice and 

returning it to Defendants, the Receiver (on behalf of Defendants) or the applicable 

servicer. If the Borrower does not make such an election, he or she will be required to 

pay the Current Payment Amount and the loan will not be re-amortized. For Borrowers 

as to whom Defendants, the Receiver on behalf of Defendants or the applicable servicer 

timely have received affirmative notice of election of the Re-Amortization Payment 

Amount, within 30 days following the expiration of the 90 day election period, 

Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, will re-amortize loans and adjust 

the monthly payment amount for all future unbilled and un-accrued loan payments to 

the Re-Amortization Payment Amount. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan which already has been amended or modified pursuant to a 

forbearance plan to provide a Borrower with a monthly payment that is less than the 

applicable Re-Amortization Payment Amount and the Borrower has elected to accept the 

re-am01tization option, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall not be 

required to adjust the monthly payment until the end of the applicable forbearance 

period. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, will adjust the monthly 

payment to a Re-Amortization Payment Amount based on the principal balance of the 

Borrower's loan at the end of the applicable forbearance period. 

37. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide each 

Borrower of an Active Aequitas Genesis Loan with the following notice pursuant to 
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paragraph 35. Nothing else but such notice shall be sent in combination with the 

mailing of this notice and such mailing will be sent to the most recently available postal 

address as contained on the servicer's system of record. The notice shall contain the 

following information: 

a. Identification information that associates the loan to the Borrower; 

b. The amount of principal owed as of the Record Date of each Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan associated with such Borrower; 

c. The amount of principal owed for each such Active Aequitas Genesis Loan 

after the reduction required in paragraph 32 has been applied; 

d. A statement notifying the Borrower that the principal has been reduced by 

55% pursuant to this Order; 

e. A Re-Amortization Payment Amount option whereby the Borrower has 90 

days from the mailing date of such notice to inform the servicer of his or her 

election to opt-in and have his or her loan re-amortized with the minimum 

monthly payment modified from the Current Payment Amount to a Re

Amortization Payment Amount; 

f. The fact that if the Borrower does not make such an election by the 

required date, the Current Payment Amount will continue as the amount due on 

his or her loan each month; 

g. The fact that replacing the Current Payment Amount with the Re

Amortization Payment Amount may reduce the amount such Borrower pays each 

month but will cost the Borrower more over the life of the loan than if he or she 

continued with the Current Payment Amount; 

1J1It&OSED] STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER- 15 

Case 3:17-cv-01278-PK    Document 8    Filed 09/01/17    Page 15 of 23



h. The fact that a Borrower's election will not waive any rights, claims or 

defenses that the Borrower and any co-borrower or guarantor may have with 

respect to the loan. 

i. The fact that continuing to pay the Current Payment Amount (or more) 

each month will result in full satisfaction of his or her loan before the payment 

term has expired, and will cost the Borrower less overall than if he or she elected 

to use the Re-amortization Payment Amount; 

j. The following specific information individualized for each Borrower on an 

Active Aequitas Genesis Loan: 

i. The estimated total amount of principal and interest the Borrower 

will pay if the Borrower pays each current Payment Amount as scheduled, 

as well as the estimated date of pay-off of the Active Aequitas Genesis 

Loan under these circumstances; 

ii. The estimated total amount of principal and interest that the 

Borrower will pay if the Borrower elects his or her option to pay the Re

Amortization Payment Amount and pays such Re-Amortization Payment 

Amount as scheduled, as well as the estimated date of pay-off of the Active 

Aequitas Genesis Loan under these circumstances; 

k. Any reduction, discharge or cancellation of principal may result in tax 

liabilities of the borrower to the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing 

authorities; 

1. A statement notifying the Borrower that, if the Borrower desires, the 

Borrower at any time may make payments larger than the Re-Amortization 
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Payment Amount, which if the loan is current would result in a shorter payoff 

period and interest savings; and 

m. A statement notifying Borrowers on forbearance plans of their alternative 

payment options as set forth in paragraph 36. 

n. A statement notifying Borrowers that the relief described does not waive 

or extinguish any rights, claims or defenses that the Borrower, any co-borrower 

and/ or guarantor may have with respect to his or her loan. 

38. A proposed form of the notices required by paragraph 34 and 35 shall be 

provided to the Enforcement Director for his non-objection within 30 days of the 

Effective Date. 

39. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, shall include no materials 

other than the notices provided in paragraphs 34 and 35 in any envelope containing 

such notices, unless Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, have obtained 

written confirmation from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to 

the inclusion of such materials. 

C. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, shall notify the Bureau of any development that may affect their 

obligations arising under this Order, including, but not limited to, the replacement of 

the Receiver or the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against 

Defendants. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must provide this 

notice at least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after learning 

about the development, whichever is sooner. 
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41. Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress report, which, at a 

mm1mum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants, or the 

Receiver on behalf of Defendants, as applicable, have complied with this Order; 

and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section D, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

42. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, in carrying out the 

provisions of this Order, are permitted to make such adjustments to loan balance 

amounts, accrual of interest and Borrower payment amounts and process refunds to 

Borrowers (including providing Borrower refunds or reimbursements not expressly 

required by this Order) as may be necessary to assure compliance with this Order, but in 

any event in a manner that is fair and transparent to Borrowers subject to such 

adjustments and in a manner that is otherwise in compliance with this Order. 

D. ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, must deliver a copy of this Order to each employee or agent of the Receiver 

who or which is, as of the Effective Date, employed or retained by the Receiver and who 

or which has responsibilities that extend beyond the Effective Date related to the subject 

matter of this Order. 
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44. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Receiver shall provide a signed and 

dated statement to the Bureau of the Receiver's compliance with paragraph 43, and shall 

provide a signed and dated statement from the servicer, or any other third-party service 

provider tasked with canying out responsibilities under this Order, acknowledging 

receipt of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-SignAct, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et. seq .. 

E. RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. Defendants, or the Receiver on behalf of Defendants, must maintain for 3 years 

from the Effective Date or the duration of the Receivership, whichever is lesser, all 

documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with this Order, 

including all submissions to the Bureau. 

46. Aequitas, or the Receiver onAequitas's behalf, must make the documents 

identified in paragraph 45 available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

F. NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants, or the Receiver 

on behalf of Defendants, must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or 

other documents relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line CFPB v. Aequitas 

Management, LLC, 17-cv-1278 (D. Or.) and send them either 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street NW 

Washington, DC 20552; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street NW 

Washington, DC 20552 

G. COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, will cooperate fully with the Bureau as necessary to achieve the goals and 

carry out the requirements of this Order. 

49. Defendants, or during the pendency of the Receivership the Receiver on behalf of 

Defendants, will cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and the 

location of, and the relief provided pursuant to this Order for each Affected Consumer, 

from the information within Defendants' or the Receiver's possession and control or a 

servicer's system of record. 

H. MODIFICATIONS TO NON-MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 53 (section K), any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written agreement of the 
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parties (or, as applicable, the Receiver) and without further Court approval. 

Additionally, details related to the administration of Sections C through G of this Order 

may be modified by written agreement of the parties (or, as applicable, the Receiver) 

and without further Court approval. Any other modifications to this Order may be made 

only upon approval of the Court, upon motion by any party. 

I. RELEASE 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the 

practices described in this Order in future enforcement actions against Defendants, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any 

penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine 

and ensure compliance with the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the 

Order. 

J. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY UNDER RECEIVERSHIP ORDER 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Notwithstanding any other terms, conditions or provisions of this Order, 

pursuant to the Receivership Order, the Receiver and the Retained Personnel are 

entitled to rely on all outstanding rules of law and the orders of the Receivership Court 

and shall not be liable to any person or party (including, without limitation, the Bureau) 
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for their own good faith compliance with this Order. Pursuant to the Receivership 

Order, in no event shall the Receiver or Retained Personnel be liable to any person or 

party (including, without limitation, the Bureau) for their good faith compliance with 

their duties and responsibilities as Receiver or Retained Personnel, nor shall the 

Receiver or Retained Personnel be liable to anyone for any actions taken or omitted by 

them except upon a finding by the Receivership Court that they acted or failed to act as a 

result of malfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence, or in reckless disregard of their duties. 

K. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. This Court retains jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated this J_ day of~' 2017. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0017 

In the Matter of: 

ZERO PARALLEL, LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the Lead 

Aggregation practices (as defined below) of Zero Parallel, LLC (Respondent, as defined 

below) and has identified the following law violations: Respondent conveyed the 

personal information of consumers interested in payday and installment loans to 

lenders and other recipients, which resulted in, or was likely to result in, loans that are 

void in whole or in part under the laws of the consumer's state of residence provided in 

the consumer's loan documents based on state-licensing requirements or interest-rate 

limits, in violation of §§ 1031(d) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 5536(a)(1)(B). Under §§ 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated August 31, 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying 

any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits 

the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and 

the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

b. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegate. 

c. "Lead" is a consumer's personal information received, transmitted, or 

otherwise used in connection with a consumer-financial product or service. 
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d. "Lead Aggregators" are Persons that obtain Leads and convey that 

information to other Persons. "Lead Aggregation" is the practice of acting as a 

Lead Aggregator. 

e. "Lead Generators" are Persons that obtain Leads and transmit the Leads to 

Lead Aggregators or other Persons. "Lead Generation" is the practice of 

acting as a Lead Generator. 

f. "Person" means an individual, partnership, company, corporation, 

association (incorporated or unincorporated), trust, estate, cooperative 

organization, or other entity. 

g. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

h. "Relevant Period" includes the period from July 1, 2014, to the Effective Date. 

i. "Respondent" means Zero Parallel, LLC, and its successors and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Zero Parallel, LLC is a California limited-liability company with its principal 

place of business at 505 N. Brand Blvd., Glendale, CA 91203. Zero Parallel is in 

the business of receiving Leads from Lead Generators and selling the Leads to 

small-dollar and installment lenders and to remarketing companies. 

3 
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5. The lenders to which Zero Parallel sells Leads are "covered persons" under the 

CFPA—they extend credit for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i). 

6. Zero Parallel provides a material service to covered persons in connection with 

the offering or provision by the covered persons of a consumer financial 

product or service. Zero Parallel is a "service provider" to covered persons 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A). 

7. During the Relevant Period, Zero Parallel's business practice was to accept 

Leads in every U.S. state except New York, West Virginia, Arkansas, and 

Vermont, and sell Leads in any state for which a purchaser requested them, 

other than the four excluded states. 

8. Zero Parallel received Leads from Lead Generators. 

9. Zero Parallel also hosted and controlled certain websites from which it received 

Leads, acting as its own Lead Generator in those instances. 

10. Zero Parallel sold the Leads it received from Lead Generators and its own 

websites to purchasers with whom it had entered Lead-sale agreements. 

ii. Zero Parallel's network of Lead purchasers included online small-dollar or 

installment lenders and remarketing companies. 

12. Lenders to which Zero Parallel sold Leads extend credit in the form of small-

dollar or installment loans for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes, with an expectation that the principal, interest, and fees 

will be collected from consumers. 

13. Remarketing companies buy consumer information to market products other 

than the loans for which consumers applied. 
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Findings and Conclusions 

14. Many states protect consumers from harmful practices associated with the 

origination, servicing, and collection of certain loans. 

15. Such legal protections include restrictions upon the types of entities that may 

engage in these types of transactions, licensing requirements, and civil and 

criminal usury limits. 

16. In some states, loans that violate these laws are declared void, meaning that the 

lender has no legal right to collect, and the borrower is not obligated to pay, 

some or all of the principal or interest on the loan. 

17. Zero Parallel knew the consumer's state of residence for each Lead it sold, and 

Zero Parallel regularly sold Leads for consumers located in states where the 

resulting loan was void or the lender had no legal right to collect the principal, 

interest, or fees from the consumer based on state-licensing requirements or 

interest-rate limits. 

18. A consumer who submits his or her information on a Lead Generator's 

webpage is immediately redirected from that page to a lender's webpage. This 

automated process takes just seconds, and the consumer is not informed that 

his or her information has been filtered through Zero Parallel or sold by Zero 

Parallel. 

19. Zero Parallel sets the order in which purchasers have the opportunity to 

purchase a given Lead. The higher the price the purchaser is willing to pay, the 

more likely they are to have the opportunity to purchase the Lead. 
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20. Zero Parallel knows in advance of its sales the identity of each purchaser in its 

network and whether they are likely to abide by state laws governing their 

loans. 

21. Zero Parallel knows or has reason to believe that the Leads it sells are likely to 

result in loans with interest rates that exceed state usury limits or otherwise fail 

to comply with laws of the state where the consumer is located. 

22. Section 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

23. An act or practice is abusive if it "takes unreasonable advantage of . . . a lack of 

understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or 

conditions of a product or service." 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

24. Zero Parallel's sale of Leads resulting in, or likely to result in, loans that are 

void in whole or in pait under the laws of the consumer's state of residence 

based on state-licensing requirements or interest-rate limits takes 

unreasonable advantage of a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer 

of the material risks, costs, and conditions of the loans. 

25. Zero Parallel engaged in abusive acts and practices in violation of 

§§ 1o36(a)(1)(B) and 1031(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 5531(d). 
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ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

26. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate §§ 1031(d) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 5536(a)(1)(B), and must take the following affirmative actions 

in connection with Lead Generation or Lead Aggregation: 

a. undertake reasonable efforts to ensure that Leads conveyed to recipients do 

not result in consumer loans that are void in whole or in part under the laws 

of the consumer's state of residence provided in the consumer's loan 

documents based on state-licensing requirements or interest-rate limits; 

b. obtain and preserve information about any end user of its Leads sufficient to 

ensure compliance with this paragraph (No. 26), including but not limited to 

copies of all licenses required by each state in which the recipient does 

business where the absence of such a license would render a loan void in 

whole or in part under the laws of that state; 

c. create and implement a process for reviewing loans resulting from Leads 

conveyed by Respondent to reasonably ensure compliance with this 

paragraph (No. 26) and with federal and state privacy laws; 

d. establish a policy that prohibits lenders to which it conveys Leads, directly or 

indirectly, from making consumer loans that are void in whole or in part 

under the laws of the consumer's state of residence provided in the 
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consumer's loan documents based on state-licensing requirements or 

interest-rate limits; 

e. refrain from conveying Leads where Respondent knows or reasonably believes 

that the Leads are likely to result in consumer loans that are void in whole or 

in part under the laws of the consumer's state of residence provided in the 

consumer's loan documents based on state-licensing requirements or 

interest-rate limits; and 

f. within 3o days of the Effective Date, complete all steps necessary to register 

for the Bureau's Company Portal, including providing the information 

required at www.consumerfinance.gov/company-sign up and in the Bureau's 

Company Portal Boarding Form (OMB No. 3170-0054). Respondent, in 

connection with responding to consumer complaints and inquiries, whether 

acting directly or indirectly, is subject to and may not violate § 1034(b) and (c) 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5534(b), (c). 

For purposes of this paragraph (No. 26) and its subparts, no Person may take 

into consideration any contention that state or federal law is inapplicable, or that 

lenders are not subject to state or federal law, because of lender sovereignty or a 

lender's foreign, offshore, or tribal status or affiliation, or because of choice of 

foreign or tribal law. 

VI 

Order to Pay a Civil Money Penally 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

27. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 
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factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$100,000 to the Bureau. 

28. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

29. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d)• 

30. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

31. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment and will immediately become due and payable. 

32. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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33. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer-identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order. 

34. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

35. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any payment that the 

Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 3o days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

10 
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VII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

36. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 3o days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

37. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal 

address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with 

Respondent; 

b. identify all businesses of which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. describe the activities of each such business, including the products and 

services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 
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38. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under paragraph 36 at least 3o days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

39. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a 

minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section VIII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

VIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to its executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

41. For 3 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VII, any future executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

12 
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who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent 

Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

42. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section. 

IX 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, all documents and records necessary to demonstrate 

full compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all 

submissions to the BUreau. 

44. Respondent must retain the documents identified in paragraph 43 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

45. Respondent must make the documents identified in paragraph 43 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

X 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

13 
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Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Zero Parallel, LLC, File 

No. 2017-CFPB-0017," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XI 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent's officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 

days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

14 
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XII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

48. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

49. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondent, unless Respondent retains counsel related to these 

communications. 

5o. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

51. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

52. For the duration of the Consent Order in whole or in part, Respondent agrees 

to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. 

Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondent may not petition for 

termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

15 
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XIII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

54. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-

material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of 

time and changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good 

cause justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement 

Director must be in writing. 

XIV 

Administrative Provisions 

55. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in paragraph 56. 

56. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section TV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

16 
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violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

57. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or 

the United States. 

58. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

59. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

60. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

17 
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61. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found, and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

62. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

63. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

52V4'.IT IS SO ORDERED, this  Sll'Iday of Ai st°, 2017. 

CeA914041 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Zero 

Parallel for Steering Consumers 

Toward Bad Deals

Bureau Orders Zero Parallel and Its Owner to Pay $350,000 

and Stop Their Abusive Practices

SEP 06, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

took action against an online lead aggregator for steering consumers toward 

lenders who offered illegal or unlicensed loans that were void in the consumer’s 

state. Zero Parallel, LLC sold consumers’ payday and installment loan applications 

to lenders it knew were likely to make void loans that the lenders had no legal right 

to collect. The CFPB also submitted a proposed order in a separate case that would 

resolve a pending lawsuit against Zero Parallel’s owner, Davit Gasparyan, for 

engaging in similarly illegal conduct at his prior company, T3Leads. The CFPB 

ordered Zero Parallel to end its illegal conduct and pay a $100,000 penalty. The 

proposed order against Gasparyan would prohibit him from engaging in the same 

abusive practice and require him to pay a $250,000 penalty.

"Zero Parallel steered consumers toward payday and installment loans that were a 

bad deal," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "We’re ordering Zero Parallel and 

its owner Davit Gasparyan to pay $350,000 and to stop these illegal abusive 

practices."

Zero Parallel, a lead aggregator, is based in Glendale, Calif. Lead aggregators buy 

consumer information—called leads—from lead generators who operate websites 

that market payday and installment loans. Lead aggregators sell those leads to 

purchasers, typically payday or installment lenders. Consumers who applied for 

loans through Zero Parallel’s network had no control over which lenders received 



their applications. Zero Parallel regularly sold leads for consumers located in states 

where the resulting loan was void.

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB 

can take action against institutions or individuals engaged in or substantially 

assisting unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate 

federal consumer financial laws. The CFPB found that Zero Parallel committed an 

abusive practice by selling loan applications to lenders in a manner that prevented 

consumers from understanding the risks, costs, or conditions of the loans they were 

offered, and the order entered today puts a stop to it. Specifically, the CFPB’s 

consent order requires Zero Parallel to:

◾ Ensure loans resulting from applications it sells are not void: Zero Parallel must

undertake reasonable efforts to ensure that loan applications it sells do not result 

in consumer loans that are void under the laws of the consumer’s state of 

residence.

◾ Pay a $100,000 civil money penalty: Zero Parallel must pay $100,000 to the 

Consumer Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

Davit Gasparyan is Zero Parallel’s president and primary owner. The CFPB 

previously sued Gasparyan over his involvement with another lead aggregator, 

T3Leads. In that case, the CFPB today submitted a proposed order, which, if 

approved, would resolve its lawsuit against Gasparyan. If entered by the court, the 

proposed order against Gasparyan for his T3Leads-related actions would require 

him and others under his direction to:

◾ Ensure loans resulting from applications he sells are not void: Gasparyan must

undertake reasonable efforts, including verifying required licenses for his 

purchasers, to ensure that loan applications he sells do not result in consumer 

loans that are void under the laws of the consumer’s state of residence. 

◾ Ensure that lead generators do not deceive consumers: Gasparyan must not 

solicit or receive loan applications through any means that uses misleading, 

inaccurate, or false statements. Furthermore, he must review the content of lead 

generators’ advertising before receiving loan applications to ensure that it does 

not contain misleading, inaccurate, or false statements and that the lead 

generators disclose to consumers how their loan applications will be conveyed to 

others.

◾ Pay a $250,000 civil money penalty: Gasparyan must pay $250,000 to the 

Consumer Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.



The full text of the CFPB’s consent order entered against Zero Parallel is available 

at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_zero-parallel-

llc_consent-order.pdf

A copy of the proposed order with respect to Gasparyan is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_gasparyan_proposed-

stipulated-final-judgment.pdf

A copy of the complaint previously filed against Gasparyan is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201607_cfpb_gasparyan_first-

amended-complaint.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 

 

 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU 

 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
THE NATIONAL COLLEGIATE MASTER 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2003-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2004-1; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2004-2; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2005-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2005-2; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2005-3; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2006-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2006-2; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2006-3; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2006-4; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2007-1; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2007-2; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2007-3; and NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2007-4, 
Delaware Statutory Trusts, 

 
Defendants. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Case No. ______________ 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 
 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), brings 
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this action against the fifteen (15) National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts 

(“Defendants,” or “NCSLTs”, or “the Trusts”) under sections 1031(a), 1036(a), and 

1054(a) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a), 5564(a), to obtain permanent injunctive relief, restitution, refunds, 

disgorgement, damages, civil money penalties, and other appropriate relief for 

Defendants’ violations of Federal consumer financial law in connection with Defendants’ 

servicing and collection of private student loan debt. 

2. The Bureau has reviewed the debt collection and litigation practices of the 

fifteen (15) Delaware statutory trusts referred to as the National Collegiate Student Loan 

Trusts, which are the National Collegiate Master Student Loan Trust, NCSLT 2003-1, 

NCSLT 2004-1, NCSLT 2004-2, NCSLT 2005-1, NCSLT 2005-2, NCSLT 2005-3, NCSLT 

2006-1, NCSLT 2006-2, NCSLT 2006-3, NCSLT 2006-4, NCSLT 2007-1, NCSLT 2007-

2, NCSLT 2007-3, and NCSLT 2007-4), as performed by Defendants’ Servicers and 

Subservicers (as defined below) pursuant to the various servicing agreements between 

Defendants and each such Servicer or agreements between a Servicer and a Subservicer.   

3. To collect on defaulted private student loans, Defendants’ Servicers filed 

collections lawsuits on behalf of Defendants in state courts across the country. In 

support of these lawsuits, Subservicers on behalf of Defendants executed and filed 

affidavits that falsely claimed personal knowledge of the account records and the 

consumer’s debt and, in many cases, personal knowledge of the chain of assignments 

establishing ownership of the loans. In addition, Defendants’ Servicers on behalf of 

Defendants filed at least 2,000 collections lawsuits without the documentation 

necessary to prove Trust ownership of the loans or on debt that was time-barred. 

Finally, notaries for Defendants’ Servicers notarized more than 25,000 affidavits even 
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though they did not witness the affiants’ signatures. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1345. 

5. Venue is proper in this District because Defendants are located and do 

business in this District. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

6. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent 

litigating authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws, including the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5564(a)–(b). 

DEFENDANTS 

7. Defendants are any and all of the fifteen (15) Delaware statutory trusts 

referred to as the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts (“NCSLTs” or “the Trusts,” 

which are the National Collegiate Master Student Loan Trust, NCSLT 2003-1, NCSLT 

2004-1, NCSLT 2004-2, NCSLT 2005-1, NCSLT 2005-2, NCSLT 2005-3, NCSLT 2006-

1, NCSLT 2006-2, NCSLT 2006-3, NCSLT 2006-4, NCSLT 2007-1, NCSLT 2007-2, 

NCSLT 2007-3, and NCSLT 2007-4) and their successors and assigns. 

8. Defendants are “covered person[s]” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) because 

they engaged in “servicing loans, including acquiring, purchasing selling [or] brokering” 

and in the collection of debt. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (x). 
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DEFENDANTS’ UNLAWFUL ACTS OR PRACTICES 

9. The NCSLTs comprise fifteen (15) Delaware statutory trusts created 

between 2001 and 2007.  

10. The basic purpose of each Trust is to acquire a pool of private student 

loans, execute the indentures and issue notes secured by the pools of student loans, 

enter into the so-called trust-related agreements, and provide for the administration of 

the Trusts and the servicing and collection of student loans. 

11. Each Trust is an Owner-directed Delaware statutory trust formed under 

the laws of Delaware. 

12. Defendants do not have employees, and all actions relating to the 

administration of the Trusts, servicing of the student loans, and collecting debt are 

carried out by Defendants’ Servicers.  

13. Defendants’ Servicers are any Servicer, Primary Servicer, Subservicer, 

Special Servicer, Administrator, and any other individual or entity acting on behalf of 

the Trusts with respect to the servicing and collection of the student loans owned by the 

Trusts, whether retained directly by Defendants or retained by an individual or entity 

acting on behalf of Defendants. 

14. Each Servicer is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) because it 

engaged in “servicing loans, including acquiring, purchasing, selling, [or] brokering” 

and in “collecting debt.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (x). 

15. Each Servicer acted as an agent of the Trusts.  

16. Since November 1, 2014, Defendants’ Subservicer has been Transworld 

Systems, Inc. 
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17. The Trusts hold more than 800,000 private student loans sold by 

originating lenders to the Trusts. 

18. Debt-collection activities on behalf of Defendants are carried out by 

Defendants’ Servicers, including the Special Servicer and the Subservicers. 

19. Defendants’ Servicers and other entities executed, notarized, and filed 

deceptive affidavits on behalf of Defendants. 

20. Defendants’ Servicers and other entities, on behalf of Defendants, filed 

collections lawsuits lacking documentation needed to prove ownership of the loans. 

21. In 2009, Defendants entered into a special servicing agreement with the 

Special Servicer in order to provide for the servicing, collection, and litigation of 

delinquent and defaulted loans.  This agreement required the Special Servicer to hire 

Subservicers and enter into and adhere to the Default Prevention and Collection 

Services Agreement of March 1, 2009, as amended.   

22. In 2012, upon the resignation of the Special Servicer and pursuant to the 

terms of the special servicing agreement, the Back-Up Special Servicer assumed the role 

of Special Servicer. 

23. In 2012, the Special Servicer amended the Default Prevention and 

Collection Services Agreement of March 1, 2009 in order to expand the role of the 

Subservicer to Defendants with respect to the collection and enforcement of the student 

loans owned by Defendants.  

FALSE AND MISLEADING AFFIDAVITS AND TESTIMONY 

24. In connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt from 

consumers, between November 1, 2012 and April 25, 2016, Subservicers, acting through 

Case 1:17-cv-01323-UNA   Document 1   Filed 09/18/17   Page 5 of 16 PageID #: 5



6 

Defendants’ Special Servicer and acting on behalf of Defendants, initiated 94,046 

collections lawsuits in courts across the country.  

25. In support of the collections lawsuits, Subservicers acting on behalf of 

Defendants submitted affidavits and documents in support of Defendants’ claims that 

consumers owed debts to Defendants.  

26. Affiants on behalf of Defendants executed, notarized, and caused to be 

filed affidavits—often attaching exhibits—in Defendants’ collections lawsuits. 

27. In these affidavits, the affiants swore that they had personal knowledge of 

the education loan records evidencing the debt.  

28. In fact, in numerous instances, affiants lacked personal knowledge of the 

education loan records evidencing the debt when they executed the affidavits. 

29. The affiants also swore in the affidavits that they were authorized and 

competent to testify about the consumers’ debts through review of and “personal 

knowledge” of the business records, including electronic data, in their possession.  

30. In fact, in numerous instances, affiants lacked personal knowledge of the 

business records, including the electronic data, showing that consumers owed debts to 

the Defendants.  

31. Affiants were instructed to review data on a computer screen to verify 

information in the affidavits about the debts. Affiants, however, did not know the source 

of the data on that screen, how the data was obtained or maintained, whether it was 

accurate, or whether those data meant that the debt was in fact owed to Defendants. 

32. Each affiant also swore that he or she had “personal knowledge of the 

record management practices and procedures of Plaintiff [the Trust] and the practices 

and procedures Plaintiff requires of its loan servicers and other agents.”  
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33. In fact, affiants lacked personal knowledge of the record management 

practices and procedures of Defendants and the practices and procedures of Defendants’ 

agents.   

34. In many affidavits, the affiants also swore, “I have reviewed the chain of 

title records as business records” regarding the relevant account.  

35. In fact, in numerous instances, affiants did not review the chain of 

assignment records prior to executing the affidavits. In some cases, affiants reviewed 

only “chain of title” records that had been found online. In fact, at least one of 

Defendants’ Servicers instructed affiants that they did not need to review the chain of 

assignment records before executing affidavits that represented that the affiant had 

reviewed those records. 

36. In fact, affiants did not have access to deposit and sale agreements—the 

last link in the chain of assignment transferring loans into the Trust—until May 30, 

2014.  

37. In many affidavits, the affiants asserted that they had personal knowledge 

that the loans were transferred, sold, and assigned to the Trusts on dates certain.  

38. In fact, affiants lacked personal knowledge of the chain of assignment 

records necessary to prove that the relevant Trust owned the subject loan.  

39. In some instances, when affiants complained to management that they did 

not have personal knowledge of certain representations made in the affidavits, 

Defendants’ Servicers instructed the affiants to continue signing the affidavits. In some 

instances, affiants felt “bullied” by management and followed the instructions for fear of 

losing their jobs. 
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40. On numerous occasions, to address a backlog of affidavits, employees of 

Defendants’ Servicers such as interns and mailroom clerks were instructed to execute 

affidavits.  

41. On numerous occasions, between November 1, 2012 and September 1, 

2013, the Servicers filed stale affidavits that had earlier been executed by a previous 

Servicer. Contrary to the statements in the affidavits, the affiants in question were no 

longer “authorized to testify” in the matter and no longer had access or knowledge of the 

consumer’s account records or debt.  

42. Affiants also later provided live testimony in court, purportedly based on 

personal knowledge, similar to the statements made in the affidavits as described in 

Paragraphs 27–38. 

IMPROPERLY NOTARIZED AFFIDAVITS 

43. Between November 1, 2012 and August 3, 2014, in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect debt from consumers, Defendants’ Servicers acting on 

behalf of Defendants filed at least 11,412 affidavits in collections lawsuits. 

44. Between November 1, 2012 and August 3, 2014, Defendants’ Servicers 

acting on behalf of Defendants improperly notarized virtually every affidavit executed 

and filed. 

45. Affiants executed the affidavits on their own outside the presence of the 

notary. 

46. Affiants placed executed affidavits in a specified location. 

47. Defendants’ Servicers’ notaries later notarized stacks of previously signed 

affidavits all at once at their desks. 
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48. Contrary to the representations in the affidavits, affiants did not 

personally appear before notaries.  

49. Contrary to the representations in the affidavits, notaries did not place the 

affiants under oath or witness their signatures.  

50. On numerous occasions, notaries notarized affidavits executed by affiants 

on a prior date. At least one of Defendants’ Servicers instructed notaries to ensure that 

the notarization date matched the date of execution, even if that meant backdating the 

notarization date. 

51. In many cases, the notaries did in fact back date their notarization of the 

affidavits. 

FILING LAWSUITS WITHOUT THE INTENT OR ABILITY 
TO PROVE THE CLAIMS, IF CONTESTED 

 
52. Defendants filed at least 1,214 collections lawsuits against consumers even 

though the documentation needed to prove they owned the loans was missing. Through 

these lawsuits, the Defendants obtained approximately $21,768,807 in judgments 

against consumers. 

53. In these lawsuits, documentation of a complete chain of assignment 

evidencing that the subject loan was transferred to the Defendants was missing. 

54. In addition, the Defendants filed at least 812 collections lawsuits where the 

documentation did not support Trusts’ ownership of the loans. The chain of assignment 

documentation shows that these loans were allegedly transferred to Defendants before 

they were in fact disbursed to consumers. 

55. In at least 208 other collections lawsuits, the promissory note to prove 

that a debt was owed did not exist or cannot be located.  
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56. For each collections lawsuit described in Paragraphs 52–55, Defendants 

could not prove that a debt was owed to Defendants, if contested. 

57. Defendants knew, or their processes should have uncovered, that these 

chain of assignment documents were missing or flawed, yet Defendants continued to file 

collections lawsuits.  

COLLECTION OF TIME-BARRED DEBT 

58. In at least 486 collections lawsuits, in connection with collecting or 

attempting to collect debt from consumers, Defendants filed a collections lawsuit 

outside the applicable statute of limitations.  

THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

59. The CFPA provides that it is unlawful for any covered person “to offer or 

provide to a consumer any financial product or service not in conformity with Federal 

consumer financial law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a 

Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). The CFPA grants the Bureau 

authority to commence a civil action against any person who violates a Federal 

consumer financial law, such as the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

60. The CFPA prohibits a covered person from committing or engaging in any 

“unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice” in connection with any transaction with a 

consumer for a consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a consumer 

financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

61. Servicing loans and collecting debt are “consumer financial products or 

services” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), (x). 
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DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES 

COUNT I 

False and Misleading Affidavits and Testimony 

62. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1–61 by reference. 

63. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that affiants or witnesses in court had personal knowledge of the education 

loan records evidencing the debt.  

64. In fact, in numerous instances, affiants and witnesses lacked personal 

knowledge of the education loan records evidencing the debt when they executed the 

affidavits. 

65. In numerous instances, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that affiants and witnesses had personal 

knowledge of the record management practices and procedures of the Trust and the 

practices and procedures the Trust requires of its loan servicers and other agents.  

66. In fact, affiants and witnesses lacked personal knowledge of the record 

management practices and procedures of the Trusts and the practices and procedures of 

Trusts’ agents. 

67. In numerous instances, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that affiants and witnesses had reviewed the 

chain of title records and asserted that they had personal knowledge that the loans were 

transferred, sold, and assigned to the Trust on dates certain.  

68. In fact, on numerous occasions, affiants and witnesses had not reviewed 

the chain of title records and lacked personal knowledge that the loans were transferred, 
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sold and assigned to the Trust.  

69. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraphs 63–68 are material 

and likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

70. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraph 63–68 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT II 

Improperly Notarized Affidavits 

71. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1–61 by reference. 

72. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that the affidavits submitted in support of its collections lawsuits were 

properly sworn and executed before a notary. 

73. In fact, in numerous instances, the affidavits were unsworn and executed 

outside the presence of a notary.  

74. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraphs 72–73 are material 

and likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

75. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraph 72–73 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT III 

Filing Lawsuits without the Intent or Ability to Prove the Claims, if 
Contested 

 
76. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1–61 by reference. 

77. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 
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implication, that collections lawsuits were supported by valid and reliable legal 

documentation needed to obtain judgment. 

78. In fact, in numerous lawsuits, documentation of a complete chain of 

assignment evidencing that the subject loan was transferred to Defendants was missing. 

79. In fact, in numerous lawsuits, a promissory note proving the existence of 

the debt was missing.  

80. In fact, in numerous lawsuits, the Trusts could not prove their claims, if 

contested.  

81. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraphs 77–80 are material 

and likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

82. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraph 77–80 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT IV 

Collection of Time-Barred Debt 

83. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1–61 by reference. 

84. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that the Trusts had a legal right to obtain judgment through its collections 

lawsuits. 

85. In fact, in numerous instances, the statute of limitations on these loans 

had expired. 

86. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraphs 84–85 are material 

and likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 
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87. Defendants’ representations set forth in Paragraph 84–85 constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

UNFAIR PRACTICES 

COUNT V 

Filing Lawsuits without the Intent or Ability to Prove the Claims, if 
Contested 

 
88. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in Paragraphs 1–61 by reference. 

89. Under section 1031 of the CFPA, an act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers, and such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

90. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt through collections lawsuits, Defendants filed collections lawsuits without 

the intent or ability to prove the claims, if contested.  

91. Defendants’ acts or practices have caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers, estimated to be at least $3.5 million in payments made 

in connection with these lawsuits. 

92. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the harm, and the harm was not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

93. Defendants’ acts or practices set forth in Paragraph 90–92 constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

94. Consumers have suffered or were likely to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly 
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enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

95. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable 

relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, payments of damages or other monetary relief, 

limits on the activities or functions of Defendants, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(a). In addition, the CFPB may recover its costs in connection with the action, if it 

is the prevailing party. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(b). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

96. Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA; 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

c. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, including, 

but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of 

moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust 

enrichment, and payment of damages or other monetary relief;  

d. Award the Bureau civil money penalties; and 

e. Award the Bureau the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Dated: September 18, 2017 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
 
Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director  

 
/s/ Carolyn Hahn                         _ 
Carolyn Hahn 
(E-mail: Carolyn.Hahn@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7250 
Edward Keefe 
(E-mail: Edward.Keefe@cfpb.gov)   
(Phone: 202-435-9198) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-9198 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
Email: Carolyn.Hahn@cfpb.gov 
 
For the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 

 
  

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau,  

                         Plaintiff, 

                         v. 

      

  
THE NATIONAL COLLEGIATE MASTER 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2003-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2004-1; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2004-2; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2005-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2005-2; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2005-3; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2006-1; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2006-2; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2006-3; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2006-4; NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2007-1; 
NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT 
LOAN TRUST 2007-2; NATIONAL 
COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUST 
2007-3; and NATIONAL COLLEGIATE 
STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2007-4, 
Delaware Statutory Trusts, 

                         Defendants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        Case No.  
 

 
 

         
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

[PROPOSED] CONSENT JUDGMENT 
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Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), commenced this 

civil action against fifteen (15) Delaware statutory trusts referred to as the National 

Collegiate Student Loan Trusts (“NCSLTs” or “the Trusts”), which are the National 

Collegiate Master Student Loan Trust, NCSLT 2003-1, NCSLT 2004-1, NCSLT 2004-2, 

NCSLT 2005-1, NCSLT 2005-2, NCSLT 2005-3, NCSLT 2006-1, NCSLT 2006-2, NCSLT 

2006-3, NCSLT 2006-4, NCSLT 2007-1, NCSLT 2007-2, NCSLT 2007-3, and NCSLT 

2007-4 on September 14, 2017, to obtain injunctive relief, damages and other monetary 

relief, and civil money penalties.  

The Complaint alleges violations of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1).  

Plaintiff and Defendants request that the Court enter this Consent Judgment. The 

parties have agreed to resolve this case without further litigation. The Defendants waive 

service, answering the Complaint, and consent to the entry of this Consent Judgment 

against them by this Court, the terms of which are set forth herein. 

FINDINGS 

 
1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action.  

2. Plaintiff and Defendants agree to entry of this Order to settle and resolve all 

matters in this dispute arising from the conduct alleged in the Complaint to 

the date this Order is entered. 

3. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the Complaint, except 

as specifically stated in this Order. For the purposes of this Order, 
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Defendants admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction 

over them and the subject matter of this action. 

4. Since at least November 1, 2012, in order to collect on defaulted private 

student loans, Defendants’ Servicers filed Collections Lawsuits on behalf of 

Defendants in state courts across the country. In support of these lawsuits, 

Subservicers on behalf of Defendants executed and filed affidavits that 

falsely claimed personal knowledge of the account records and the 

consumer’s debt, and in many cases, personal knowledge of the chain of 

assignments establishing ownership of the loans. In addition, Defendants’ 

Servicers on behalf of Defendants filed more than 2,000 debt collections 

lawsuits without the documentation necessary to prove Trust ownership of 

the loans or on debt that was time-barred. Finally, notaries for Defendants’ 

Servicers notarized over 25,000 affidavits even though they did not witness 

the affiants’ signatures. 

5. Defendants waive any rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge 

or contest the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any claim it may 

have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the 

prosecution of this action to the date of this Order. Each party will bear its 

own costs and expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees. 

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
7. The following definitions apply to this Order: 
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a. “Administration Agreements” means the agreements by and among 

each of the Trusts and the Administrator dated November 1, 2001 

(Master Trust); December 11, 2003 (NCSLT 2003-1); September 10, 

2004 (NCSLT 2004-1); October 28, 2004 (NCSLT 2004-2); 

February 23, 2005 (NCSLT 2005-1); June 9, 2005 (NCSLT 2005-

2); October 12, 2005 (NCSLT 2005-3); March 9, 2006 (NCSLT 

2006-1); June 9, 2006 (NCSLT 2006-2); June 8, 2006 (NCSLT 

2006-3); December 7, 2006 (NCSLT 2006-4); March 8, 2007 

(NCSLT 2007-1); June 14, 2007 (NCSLT 2007-2); September 20, 

2007 (NCSLT 2007-3); and September 20, 2007 (NCSLT 2007-4). 

b.  “Administrator” means the Administrator, as defined in the Trust 

Indenture, providing certain duties of the Trusts pursuant to the 

Administration Agreements. 

c. “Affected Consumers” includes Consumers who are or were subject 

to a Collections Lawsuit filed by Defendants’ agents on behalf of 

Defendants on or after November 1, 2012 to collect a Debt where (a) 

the documentation necessary to prove the existence of the Debt 

does not exist or cannot be located by Defendants; (b) the 

documentation necessary to prove Trust ownership of the Debt 

does not exist or cannot be located by Defendants; or (c) the lawsuit 

was time-barred. 

d. “Affiant” means any signatory to an Affidavit, other than one 

signing solely as a notary or witness to the act of signing, signing in 

his or her capacity as an employee or agent of Defendants, 

Case 1:17-cv-01323-UNA   Document 3-1   Filed 09/18/17   Page 4 of 40 PageID #: 26



5 
 
 

including employees or agents of Defendants’ Servicers or 

Subservicers. 

e. “Affidavit” means any sworn statement filed with a court in 

connection with litigation to collect on a Debt. 

f. “Board” means the registered owner of a majority of the beneficial 

interest in each of the Trusts. 

g. “Clearly and Prominently” means 

i. as to written information: written in a type size and location 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend 

it and disclosed in a manner that would be easily 

recognizable and understandable in language and syntax to 

an ordinary consumer; if the information is contained in a 

multi-page print document, the disclosure appears on the 

first page. 

ii. as to information presented orally: spoken and disclosed in a 

volume, cadence, and syntax sufficient for an ordinary 

consumer to hear and comprehend. 

h. “Collections Lawsuits” means attempts by Defendants’ Servicers on 

behalf of Defendants (or a third party acting on their behalf for an 

account owned or alleged to be owned by Defendants) through 

judicial processes in the United States of America, to collect or 

establish a Consumer’s liability for a Debt. 

i. “Consumer” means any natural person obligated or allegedly 

obligated to pay any Debt. 
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j. “Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation of a Consumer to 

pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services that are the subject of the 

transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to 

judgment. 

k. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered on 

the docket by the Court. 

l. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his or her delegate. 

m. “Primary Servicer” means the Servicer servicing student loans for 

Defendants under the Amended and Restated Private Student Loan 

Servicing Agreement dated September 28, 2006. 

n. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf 

of one or more Consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against Defendants based on 

substantially the same facts as described in the Complaint. 

o. “Relevant Period” includes the period from November 1, 2012 to the 

Effective Date. 

p. “Defendants” means any or all of the fifteen (15) Delaware statutory 

trusts referred to as the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts 

(“NCSLTs” or “the Trusts,” which are the National Collegiate 

Master Student Loan Trust, NCSLT 2003-1, NCSLT 2004-1, NCSLT 
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2004-2, NCSLT 2005-1, NCSLT 2005-2, NCSLT 2005-3, NCSLT 

2006-1, NCSLT 2006-2, NCSLT 2006-3, NCSLT 2006-4, NCSLT 

2007-1, NCSLT 2007-2, NCSLT 2007-3, and NCSLT 2007-4) and 

their successors and assigns. 

q. “Servicer” (or “Trusts’ Servicer”) means any Servicer, Primary 

Servicer, Subservicer, Special Servicer, Administrator, and any 

other individual or entity acting on behalf of Defendants with 

respect to the servicing of the student loans owned by Defendants, 

whether retained directly by Defendants or retained by an 

individual or entity acting on behalf of Defendants.  

r. “Servicing Agreement” means any Servicing Agreement that meets 

the definition of Servicing Agreement in each Trust’s Indenture. 

s. “Special Servicer” means the Servicer providing services to the 

Trusts with respect to defaulted and delinquent student loans under 

the Special Servicing Agreements dated March 1, 2009 and May 1, 

2009 (the “Special Servicing Agreements”). 

t. “Subservicer” means any service provider that was retained by, and 

contracted with, directly or indirectly, the Special Servicer, as an 

agent of the Special Servicer, to provide services, including default 

prevention, and collection services, including but not limited to 

litigation, with respect to the servicing of the student loans owned 

by Defendants.   

u. “The Trust Agreements” are the Trust Agreements creating each of 

the Trusts. 
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ORDER 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

I. Conduct Requirements  

8. Defendants must provide all Defendants’ Servicers that are engaged in the 

servicing or collection of Debts with actual notice of this Order within 

thirty (30) days of the Effective Date. 

9. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Order, including but not limited to all of 

Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and 

must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Defendants shall take all actions necessary to comply with the terms 

of the Order, including but not limited to ensuring that all of 

Defendants’ Servicers acting as Defendants’ agents comply with the 

terms of the Order.  

b. Defendants must require that any of Defendants’ Servicers or other 

agents retained by Defendants in connection with servicing or 

collection of student loans (1) agree to abide by the terms and 

conditions of the Order and (2) require any agents that Defendants’ 

Servicers hire in connection with servicing or collection of student 

loans to abide by the terms and conditions of the Order. 

c. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Order, including but not 

limited to all of Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting directly or 
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indirectly, may not initiate a Collections Lawsuit to collect Debt 

unless they possess: 

i. the documentation necessary to prove that a Trust owns the 

loan, including but not limited to, documentation reflecting 

the complete chain of assignment from the Debt’s originator 

to the specific Trust claiming ownership; and  

ii. a document signed by the Consumer, such as a promissory 

note, evidencing the agreement to pay the loan forming the 

basis of the Debt.  

d. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Order, including but not 

limited to all of Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not initiate a Collections Lawsuit to collect on a loan 

for which the applicable statute of limitations has expired. 

e. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Order, including but not 

limited to all of Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not collect any Debt through Collections Lawsuits 

that Defendants or their agents have any reason to believe may be 

unenforceable. 

f. Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or participation 

with any of them, who receive actual notice of this Order, including 

but not limited to all of Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting 
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directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited, in 

connection with the collection of a Debt, from submitting any 

Affidavit: 

i. containing an inaccurate statement; 

ii. in which the Affiant represents, expressly or by implication, 

that the Affiant is familiar with or has personal knowledge of 

the Consumer’s education loan records or the maintenance 

of those records when that is not the case;  

iii. in which the Affiant represents, expressly or by implication, 

that the Affiant has personal knowledge of the Consumer’s 

Debt when that is not the case;  

iv. in which the Affiant represents, expressly or by implication, 

that the Affiant has personal knowledge of the loan’s chain of 

assignment or ownership when that is not the case;  

v. in which the Affiant represents, expressly or by implication, 

that the Affiant has personal knowledge of the documents 

relating to the loan’s chain of assignment or ownership when 

that is not the case;  

vi. representing, expressly or by implication, that the Affidavit 

has been properly notarized if the Affidavit was not executed 

in the presence of a notary or if the notarization was 

otherwise not compliant with applicable notary laws; or  

vii. in which the Affiant represents, expressly or by implication, 

that any documents or records concerning the Debt that 
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forms the basis of the Collections Lawsuit have been 

reviewed by the Affiant when that is not the case.  

10. Defendants are permanently restrained and prohibited from reselling Debt 

that is time-barred or for which Defendants lack the necessary 

documentation required by Paragraph 9(c) without obtaining the written 

agreement of the purchaser to comply with this Order. 

11. Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, including but not limited to all of 

Defendants’ Servicers, whether acting directly or indirectly, are 

permanently restrained and prohibited from, in connection with the 

collection of a Debt, providing any testimony in a Collections Lawsuit that 

contains any misrepresentations, including false statements that the 

witness:  

a. is familiar with or has personal knowledge of the Consumer’s 

education loan records or the maintenance of those records;  

b. has personal knowledge of the Consumer’s Debt;  

c. has personal knowledge of the loan’s chain of assignment or 

ownership; or  

d. has personal knowledge of the documents relating to the loan’s 

chain of assignment or ownership. 

12. If Defendants determine that any of their agents, including but not limited 

to all of Defendants’ Servicers, are on behalf of Defendants engaging in any 

conduct prohibited by this Order, including but not limited to Paragraphs 
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9 and 11 of this Order, Defendants promptly will take the necessary steps 

to ensure that their agents cease any and all practices that violate this 

Order.  

13. Within thirty (30) days of making any determination described in 

Paragraph 12, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director a 

report detailing (1) the practices that violate the Order, (2) the specific 

agents engaged in the practices in question, and (3) a plan to ensure that 

the practices cease and to remediate any harm resulting from the 

practices. 

14. With regard to pending Collections Lawsuits in which Defendants, through 

actions taken by Defendants’ Servicers acting on behalf of Defendants, 

have filed an Affidavit that contains any misrepresentations—including 

but not limited to false statements that the Affiant (1) is familiar with or 

has personal knowledge of the Consumer’s education loan records or the 

maintenance of those records, (2) has personal knowledge of the 

Consumer’s indebtedness, (3) has personal knowledge of the loan’s chain 

of assignment or ownership, (4) has personal knowledge about the 

maintenance of documents relating to the loan’s chain of assignment or 

ownership, or (5) has attached as an exhibit a true and correct copy of a 

document—Defendants must either withdraw the pending Collections 

Lawsuit or ensure that the Affidavit is withdrawn. Defendants must 

instruct their attorneys, Defendants’ Servicers, and their agents to either 

withdraw the pending Collections Lawsuit or notify the court of the 

following in writing while simultaneously providing the court with a copy 
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of the Order entered into between the Bureau and Defendants: “Plaintiff 

withdraws the affidavit of [insert name of affiant] pursuant to an Order 

entered into by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the 

National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts.” 

15. With regard to concluded Collections Lawsuits in which Defendants, 

through actions of Defendants’ Servicers acting on behalf of Defendants, 

filed with a court or in arbitration an Affidavit that contained any 

misrepresentations—including but not limited to false statements that the 

Affiant (1) is familiar with or has personal knowledge of the Consumer’s 

education loan records or the maintenance of those records, (2) has 

personal knowledge of the Consumer’s indebtedness, (3) has personal 

knowledge of the loan’s chain of assignment or ownership, (4) has 

personal knowledge about the maintenance of documents relating to the 

loan’s chain of assignment or ownership, or (5) has attached as an exhibit 

a true and correct copy of a document—Defendants must instruct their 

attorneys, the Defendants’ Servicers, and their agents to cease post-

judgment enforcement activities and will seek, and will instruct their 

agents to seek, to remove, withdraw, or terminate any active wage 

garnishment, bank levies, and similar means of enforcing those judgments 

or settlements as well as cease accepting settlement payments related to 

any such concluded Collections Lawsuits. 

16. With regard to servicing of Debt owned by Defendants, Defendants shall 

within ten (10) days of the Effective Date (1) direct the Primary Servicer to 

cease transferring any Debt to the Special Servicer and any Subservicer and 
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instead retain possession of the Debt pending approval and implementation 

of the Compliance Plan provided for in Section III; (2) direct the Special 

Servicer and any Subservicer to suspend further collection efforts on all 

Debt owned by Defendants pending approval and implementation of the 

Compliance Plan provided for in Section III; (3) direct the Special Servicer 

and any Special Servicer agent to discontinue making outbound call 

attempts, sending collection letters, providing negative reports to any of 

consumer reporting agencies the credit bureaus, or other efforts as may be 

instructed by Defendants and are necessary to effectuate compliance with 

this Order; (4) direct the Primary Servicer to instruct the Special Servicer 

and all Subservicers to return to the Primary Servicer all student loans in 

their portfolio owned by Defendants that are completed and the subject of 

each monthly Compliance Audit Report described in Paragraph 20; and (5) 

direct Defendants’ Servicers  to take any other appropriate actions 

necessary to effectuate compliance with this Order as instructed by the 

Defendants. 

17. Defendants shall direct (1) the Primary Servicer and Special Servicer to 

remit all payments from Consumers to an escrow account as designated by 

Defendants pursuant to Paragraph 18; (2) the Subservicer to remit funds to 

the Special Servicer and the Special Servicer to remit those payments to the 

escrow account as designated by Defendants pursuant to Paragraph 18; and 

(3) the Primary Servicer and Special Servicer to provide an itemized report 

to the Defendants identifying the payments remitted at the loan level in a 

format approved by the Defendants.  
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18. Nothing in this Order shall prohibit Defendants or their Servicers from 

accepting payments from Consumers made in the regular course on Debt 

that is not subject to a Collections Lawsuit. All such payments shall be held 

in escrow until the requirements of Paragraphs 9(c)(1) and (2) are satisfied 

and Defendants have determined that sufficient loan documentation exists 

to either retain the payment or refund the amount paid as to be provided 

for in the Compliance Plan of Section III. Defendants may use funds from 

the escrow to carry out Trust operations, including payments to 

noteholders sufficient to avoid events of default under the Indenture 

Trust, auditors, consultants, accountants, legal counsel, and other 

necessary professionals. 

II. Compliance Audit 

19. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, Defendants must secure and 

retain one or more qualified, independent consultants or auditors with 

specialized experience in the servicing of student loans, and acceptable to 

the Enforcement Director, to conduct an independent audit of all of the 

servicing and collecting conducted by Defendants’ Servicers on student 

loans owned by Defendants from inception of each of the Trusts to the 

present, using procedures and standards generally acceptable to the 

student loan–servicing industry. The purposes of the Compliance Audit 

must be to determine, at a minimum: 

a. For each and every student loan, whether Defendants, or their 

agents (including Defendants’ Servicers), have or ever had in their 

possession sufficient loan documentation, including signed 
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promissory notes and documentation reflecting the complete chain 

of assignment since the loan’s origination, to support the claim that 

a Debt is currently owed to a Trust, including but not limited to, 

assignments from the Debt’s originator to the Trust claiming 

ownership and any subsequent assignments by the Trust to a 

student loan guarantor (such as The Education Resources Institute 

or its successors);  

b. Whether certain loans owned by Defendants are no longer legally 

enforceable because the applicable statute of limitations has 

expired; 

c. Whether Collections Lawsuits have been filed on any loans for 

which sufficient documentation, including signed promissory notes 

and documentation reflecting the complete chain of assignment 

from the Debt’s originator to the Collections Lawsuit’s named 

plaintiff, is not in the possession of the Collections Lawsuit’s named 

plaintiff, or a Defendants’ Servicer acting on behalf of the named 

plaintiff, to prove the existence of the Debt owed to the Trust in 

question, or where the applicable statute of limitations has expired; 

d. Whether judgments were obtained in Collections Lawsuits 

described in Paragraph 19(c), the identity of Consumers from whom 

the Defendants obtained payments in response to those Collections 

Lawsuits, and the specific amounts collected from these 

Consumers; 
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e. Whether any student loans were disbursed to the Consumers after 

the loans allegedly were transferred to the Defendants; 

f. Whether any of Defendants’ agents, including but not limited to any 

of Defendants’ Servicers, have failed to comply with any Federal 

consumer financial law or any of the Servicers’ Servicing 

Guidelines; and 

g. Whether any of Defendants’ agents, including but not limited to any 

of Defendants’ Servicers, are or have engaged in any practices on 

behalf of Defendants after the Effective Date that violate this Order. 

20. Within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the Effective Date and each 

thirty (30) days thereafter until finished, the independent consultant(s) 

must provide a written report to Defendants detailing the findings of the 

audit (the “Compliance Audit Reports”). The Compliance Audit Report 

with respect to additional Affected Consumers shall be completed within 

one hundred and eighty (180) days of the Effective Date, and the 

remainder of the Compliance Audit Reports within three hundred and 

sixty (360) days of the Effective Date. The Compliance Audit Report shall 

include the auditors’ findings, conclusions, and a description of its 

methodology.   

21. Defendants must provide the Compliance Audit Reports to the 

Enforcement Director within fourteen (14) days of receipt by Defendants. 

22. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the final Compliance Audit Report 

identified in Paragraph 20, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement 

Case 1:17-cv-01323-UNA   Document 3-1   Filed 09/18/17   Page 17 of 40 PageID #: 39



18 
 
 

Director for review and non-objection an amendment to the Compliance 

Plan (“Amended Compliance Plan”) described in Section III to: 

a. ensure the withdrawal and dismissal without prejudice of any 

pending Collections Lawsuits identified in Paragraph 19(c); 

b. ensure that Defendants and their agents, including but not limited 

to any of Defendants’ Servicers, will not take any steps to initiate 

collections or furnish negative reports to consumer reporting 

agencies, on loans identified in Paragraph 19(a), or accept payments 

on any defaulted Debts, unless and until Defendants first verify the 

existence of the documentation referenced in that subparagraph in 

order to prove the existence of the Debt and the identity of the 

current owner; 

c.  ensure that Defendants and their agents, including but not limited 

to any of Defendants’ Servicers, will not take any steps to collect 

Debts by any means on any loans identified in Paragraph 19(b) 

without Clearly and Prominently disclosing to the Consumer as 

follows: 

i. For those time-barred debts that generally cannot be 

included in a consumer report under the provisions of the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), but 

can be collected through other means pursuant to applicable 

state law, Defendants will instruct their agents to include the 

following statement: “The law limits how long you can be 

sued on a debt and how long a debt can appear on your 
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credit report. Due to the age of this debt, we will not sue you 

for it or report payment or non-payment of it to a credit 

bureau.” 

ii. For those time-barred debts that can be collected through 

other means pursuant to applicable state law, and may be 

included in a consumer report under the provisions of FCRA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a), Defendants will instruct their agents to 

include the following statement: “The law limits how long 

you can be sued on a debt. Because of the age of your debt, 

we will not sue you for it.” 

23. Defendants and their agents are prohibited from making any 

representation or statement, or from taking any other action that 

interferes with, detracts from, contradicts, or otherwise undermines the 

disclosures required in Paragraph 22.  

24. Defendants will be deemed to have complied with the disclosure 

requirements of Paragraph 22 if Defendants or their agents makes a 

disclosure to Consumers in a specific jurisdiction that (1) is required by the 

laws or regulations of that jurisdiction, (2) complies with those laws or 

regulations, and (3) is substantially similar to the disclosure required by 

Paragraph 22. 

25. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Amended Compliance Plan or to 

direct the Defendants to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs the 

Defendants to revise the Amended Compliance Plan, Defendants must 
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make the requested revisions and resubmit the Amended Compliance Plan 

to the Enforcement Director within thirty (30) days. 

26. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Amended Compliance Plan, 

Defendants must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Amended Compliance Plan. 

27. Within thirty (30) days of receiving notification that the Enforcement 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Amended 

Compliance Plan, Defendants will provide the Amended Compliance Plan 

and the Compliance Audit Reports to Transworld Systems, Inc. (“TSI”), or, 

if applicable, to the Defendants’ successor Special Servicer or Subservicer.  

III. Compliance Plan 

28. Within one hundred and twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, 

Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director for review and 

determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan 

designed to ensure that Defendants and Defendants’ Servicers acting on 

their behalf comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws 

and the terms of this Order (“Compliance Plan”). The Compliance Plan 

must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order 

including operations meetings with the Primary Servicer;  

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above; and 
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c. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to ensure 

that any agents acting on behalf of the Defendants do not engage in 

practices in violation of this Order. These policies and procedures 

must include: 

i. Detailed steps for addressing each action required of the 

Defendants or their agents, including but not limited to the 

Defendants’ Servicers, by this Order; 

ii. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to 

prevent violations of Federal consumer financial laws and 

associated risks of harm to Consumers including regular 

operations meetings with and audits of each Servicer and 

establishment of procedures to respond to exception 

requests; 

iii. An effective employee training program required for all of 

the agents’ employees, including but not limited to Affiants, 

whose duties include reviewing, drafting, preparing, 

processing, verification, execution or notarization of 

Affidavits that includes regular, specific, comprehensive 

training in Federal consumer financial laws commensurate 

with individual job functions and duties; 

iv. Implementation of reasonable and appropriate written 

policies and procedures to ensure the proper notarization 

processes for Affidavits, including that notaries place the 

Affiants under oath and witness their signatures;   
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v. Implementation of reasonable and appropriate written 

policies and procedures to ensure that Affiants verify the 

accuracy of each statement made in an Affidavit before 

executing the Affidavit; and 

vi. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to 

ensure that any law firms engaged by any agent to collect 

Debt does not violate any Federal consumer financial laws, 

which must include, at a minimum: 

(1) the law firm’s duty to maintain adequate internal 

controls to ensure compliance with Federal consumer 

financial laws; 

(2) the law firm’s duty to provide adequate training on 

compliance with all applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the agent’s policies and procedures 

related to Collections Lawsuits; 

(3) the agent’s authority to conduct periodic onsite 

reviews of the law firm’s controls, performance, and 

information systems related to Collections Lawsuits; 

and 

(4) periodic review by the agent of the law firm’s controls, 

performance, and information systems related to 

Collections Lawsuits. 

29. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct 
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Defendants to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs Defendants to 

revise the Compliance Plan, Defendants must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director within thirty 

(30) days. 

30. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or any 

amendments thereto, Defendants must implement and adhere to the 

steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan.  

IV. Role of the Board 

31. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, 

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Order prior to 

submission to the Bureau.  

32. Although this Order requires Defendants to submit certain documents for 

the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board of 

Defendants will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound 

management of Defendants and for ensuring that Defendants comply with 

Federal consumer financial law and this Order. 

33. In each instance that this Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to 

or perform certain obligations of Defendants, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Defendants to fully 

comply with the Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by Defendants’ Servicers to the Board on 

the status of compliance obligations; and 
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c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board 

directives related to this Section. 

V. Order to Pay Redress 

34. Within ten (10) days of the Effective Date, the Defendants must reserve or 

deposit into a segregated deposit account $3,500,000, for the purpose of 

providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section.  

35. Within one-hundred and twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, the 

Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director for review and non-

objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress to the   

previously identified Affected Consumers consistent with this Order 

(“Redress Plan”). The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to 

make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct 

Defendants to revise it. If the Enforcement Director directs Defendants to 

revise the Redress Plan, Defendants must make the revisions and resubmit 

the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within thirty (30) days. 

After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Defendants must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

36. The Redress Plan must apply to all Affected Consumers and: 

a. Specify how Defendants will identify all Affected Consumers; 
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b. Provide processes for providing redress covering all Affected 

Consumers including providing redress for: 

i. Affected Consumers where the documentation necessary to 

prove the existence of the Debt did not exist or cannot be 

located by Defendants; 

ii. Affected Consumers where the documentation necessary to 

prove Trust ownership of the Debt did not exist or cannot be 

located by Defendants; and 

iii. Affected Consumers who were subject to a Collections 

Lawsuit outside the applicable statute of limitations. 

c. Include a description of the following:  

i. Methods used to compile a list of potential Affected 

Consumers; 

ii. Methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid 

to each Affected Consumer; 

iii. Procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

iv. Procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress 

Plan. 

37. The Redress Plan, at a minimum, must provide full restitution of all 

amounts collected since the initiation of the Collections Lawsuit filed 

against them from: 

a. The approximately 2,700 Affected Consumers identified prior to the 

Effective Date, who paid approximately $3,500,000; and 
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b. The Affected Consumers identified by the Compliance Audit in 

Section II.  

38. The Redress Plan must describe the process for providing redress for 

Affected Consumers and must include the following requirements: 

a. A timetable for providing restitution to Affected Consumers 

identified in Paragraph 37(a) and (b) that provides restitution to 

each group of Affected Consumers as soon as practicable; 

b. Defendants must mail a bank check to each Affected Consumer 

along with a Redress Notification Letter (as defined below); 

c. Defendants must send the bank check by United States Postal 

Service first-class mail, address correction service requested, to the 

Affected Consumer’s last known address as maintained by 

Defendants’ records; 

d. Defendants must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current 

address for any Affected Consumer whose Redress Notification 

Letter or redress check is returned for any reason, using the National 

Change of Address System, and must promptly re-mail all returned 

letters and redress checks to current addresses, if any; and 

e. Processes for handling any unclaimed funds. 

39. With respect to redress paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan 

must include: 

a. The form of the letter (“Redress Notification Letter”) to be sent 

notifying Affected Consumers of the redress, which must include 

language explaining the manner in which the amount of redress 

Case 1:17-cv-01323-UNA   Document 3-1   Filed 09/18/17   Page 26 of 40 PageID #: 48



27 
 
 

was calculated and a statement that the provision of the refund 

payment is in accordance with the terms of this Order; and 

b. The form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification 

Letter.  

40. Defendants must not include in any envelope containing a “Redress 

Notification Letter” any materials other than the approved letters and 

redress checks, unless Defendants have obtained written confirmation 

from the Enforcement Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of such additional materials. 

41. Within ninety (90) days of completion of the Redress Plan, Defendants 

must submit a report (“Redress Plan Report”) to the Enforcement 

Director, which must include a review and assessment from an 

independent auditor agreed upon by Defendants and the Enforcement 

Director, on Defendants’ compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, 

including: 

a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers; 

b. The redress amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 

e. The amount, status, and planned disposition of all unclaimed 

redress payments; and 
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f. A description of the work of independent consultants that 

Defendants have used, if any, to assist and review their execution of 

the Redress Plan. 

42. Defendants must submit an Amended Redress Plan within thirty (30) days 

of the completion of the Compliance Audit with respect to additional 

Affected Consumers required by Section II that incorporates the results of 

that Audit. The amended Redress Plan must contemplate providing full 

restitution to all additional Affected Consumers identified in the 

Compliance Audit within 120 days of submission of the Amended Redress 

Plan.   

43. Defendants must provide all of the relief to Consumers required by the 

Order, regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the amount 

reserved or deposited into a segregated account in this Section.  

44. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $3,500,000, within thirty (30) days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, Defendants must pay to the Bureau, by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress 

provided to Affected Consumers and $3,500,000. 

45. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, 

the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as 
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disgorgement. Defendants will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

46. Defendants may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer’s waiving any 

right. 

47. With regard to the Debt that has yet to be collected from Affected 

Consumers for whom Defendants and their agents do not possess or 

cannot locate the documentation necessary to prove the existence of the 

Debt or Defendants’ ownership of the Debt, Defendants must within one 

hundred and twenty (120) days of the Effective Date—and for Affected 

Consumers identified in the Compliance Audit Reports, within thirty (30) 

days of the completion of the Compliance Audit Reports—instruct that 

their agents within 90 days: 

a. Withdraw, dismiss, or terminate all pending Collections Lawsuits 

filed against Affected Consumers; 

b. Release or move to vacate all judgments obtained during the 

Relevant Time Period in connection with these Collections 

Lawsuits; 

c. Cease post-judgment enforcement activities and seek to remove, 

withdraw, or terminate its active wage garnishment, bank levies, 

and similar means of enforcing those judgments or settlements as 

well as cease accepting settlement payments related to any 

Collections Lawsuits;  
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d. Refrain from (i) representing to a Consumer or any other person 

that Defendants are or were owed a Debt, (ii) taking any steps to 

collect or to seek to collect the Debt in question, (iii) furnishing 

reports on the Debt in question, except as otherwise required by 

this Order; and  

e. Request that the consumer reporting agencies correct any affected 

collection account or tradeline, which may include amending, 

deleting, or suppressing the incorrect account or tradeline. 

48. With regard to time-barred Debt that has yet to be collected from Affected 

Consumers, Defendants and their agents will not take any steps to collect 

Debts by any means without Clearly and Prominently disclosing to the 

consumer: 

a. For those time-barred debts that generally cannot be included in a 

consumer report under the provisions of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681c(a), but can be collected through other means pursuant to 

applicable state law, Defendants will instruct their agents to include 

the following statement: “The law limits how long you can be sued 

on a debt and how long a debt can appear on your credit report. 

Due to the age of this debt, we will not sue you for it or report 

payment or non-payment of it to a credit bureau.” 

b. For those time-barred debts that can be collected through other 

means pursuant to applicable state law, and may be included in a 

consumer report under the provisions of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681c(a), Defendants will instruct their agents to include the 
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following statement: “The law limits how long you can be sued on a 

debt. Because of the age of your debt, we will not sue you for it.” 

49. Defendants and their agents are prohibited from making any 

representation or statement, or from taking any other action that 

interferes with, detracts from, contradicts, or otherwise undermines the 

disclosures required in Paragraph 48. 

50. Defendants will be deemed to have complied with the disclosure 

requirements of Paragraph 48 if Defendants or their agents make a 

disclosure to Consumers in a specific jurisdiction that (1) is required by the 

laws or regulations of that jurisdiction, (2) complies with those laws or 

regulations, and (3) is substantially similar to the disclosure required by 

Paragraph 48.  

VI. Order to Pay Disgorgement 

51. Defendants shall pay $7,800,000 as disgorgement for the proceeds they 

received from the unlawful practices related to the filing of Collections 

Lawsuits during the Relevant Period.  

52. Within ten (10) days of the Effective Date, Defendants shall pay the above 

amount in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or such agent as the 

Bureau may direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be 

provided by counsel for the CFPB. The Bureau will then transfer the 

payment to the United States Treasury as disgorgement. 

53. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 
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will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default 

to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

VII. Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty 

54. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in the Complaint, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), the Defendants must pay a civil money 

penalty of $7,800,000 to the Bureau. 

55. Within ten (10) days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the civil 

money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

56. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

57. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Defendants may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil 

money penalty paid under this Order. 

58. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that Defendants are entitled 
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to, nor may Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer 

Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action or because of 

any payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (“Penalty 

Offset”). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Defendants must, within thirty (30) days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Enforcement Director, and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not 

be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

VIII. Additional Monetary Provisions 

59. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default 

to the date of payment and will immediately become due and payable. 

60. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be 

returned to Defendants. 

61. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants, unless they already have done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may 

be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount 

arising out of this Order.  

62. Within thirty (30) days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the 
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Enforcement Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement 

in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, 

that Defendants paid or is required to pay to Consumers and describe the 

Consumers or classes of Consumers to whom that redress has been or will 

be paid. 

IX. Reporting Requirements 
 

63. Defendants must notify the Enforcement Director of any development that 

may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but 

not limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that 

would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or 

dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or 

practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in Defendants’ name or 

address. Defendants must provide this notice, if practicable, at least thirty 

(30) days before the development but in any case no later than fourteen 

(14) days after the development.   

64. Within one hundred and twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, and again 

one year after the Effective Date, Defendants must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress report 

(“Compliance Report”) that has been approved by the Board, which, at a 

minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have 

complied with this Order; and  
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b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section X, unless previously submitted to the Enforcement Director.  

X. Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 
 

65. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a 

copy of this Order to each of their board members or owners as well as to 

any managers, employees, Servicers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 

66. For five (5) years from the Effective Date, Defendants must deliver a copy 

of this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future board members, executive officers, or 

owners, as well as to any managers, employees, Servicers, or other agents 

and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject 

matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

67. Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures 

comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001–31, 

within thirty (30) days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this 

Order under this Section. 

XI. Recordkeeping 

68. Defendants must create, or if already created, must retain for at least five 

(5) years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Order, including all 

submissions to the Bureau. 
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b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, 

described in Section V.  

69. Defendants must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 68 for the 

duration of the Order.  

70. Defendants must make the documents identified in Paragraph 68 available 

to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.  

XII. Notices 
 

71. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Enforcement Director, 

Defendants must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or 

other documents relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line, “In 

re [name of Respondent], File No. Year-CFPB-    ,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

 
b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIII. Cooperation with the Bureau 

72. Defendants must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the 

Complaint. Defendants must provide truthful and complete information, 
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evidence, and testimony, and Defendants must cause their officers, 

employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, 

hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may 

reasonably request upon five (5) days’ written notice, or other reasonable 

notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the 

service of compulsory process.  

XIV. Compliance Monitoring 
 

73. Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Defendants must submit additional Compliance Reports or other 

requested information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; 

provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

74. Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Defendants who has agreed to 

such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

75. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory 

process. 

XV. Retention of Jurisdiction 

76. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

77. Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 76, any time limits for 

performance fixed by this Order may be extended by mutual written 

agreement of the parties and without further Court approval. Additionally, 

details related to administration of §§ IX through XIV of this Order may be 
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modified by written agreement of the parties and without further Court 

approval. Any other modifications to this Order may be made only upon 

approval of the Court, upon motion by any party. 

XVI. Administrative Provisions 

78. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in the Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Order 

in future enforcement actions against Defendants and their affiliates, 

including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or 

affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with 

the Order or to seek penalties for any violations of the Order.  

79. Should Defendants seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations 

that are subject to this Order, Defendants must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with 

all applicable provisions of this Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED.  

 
Dated:       ___________________________ 
       UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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Consented and agreed to: 
 
 
FOR THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU: 
 
 

ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
 
Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director  

 
/s/ Carolyn Hahn                         _ 
Carolyn Hahn 
(E-mail: Carolyn.Hahn@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-7250 
Edward Keefe 
(E-mail: Edward.Keefe@cfpb.gov)   
(Phone: 202-435-9198) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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FOR THE NATIONAL COLLEGIATE STUDENT LOAN TRUSTS  
 
Defendants National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts 
Waive service and answer of the Complaint and 
Consent to entry of this Consent Judgment.        
   
 

/s/ Daniel M. Silver                               
Daniel M. Silver (#4758) 
MCCARTER & ENGLISH, LLP  
Renaissance Centre 
405 North King Street, 8th Floor 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
(302) 984-6300 
dsilver@mccarter.com 
 
 
/s/ James A. Kosch                      
JAMES A. KOSCH 
(E-mail: jkosch@mccarter.com) 
(Telephone: 973-639-2028) 
MCCARTER & ENGLISH, LLP 

  Four Gateway Center  
  100 Mulberry St. 
  Newark, NJ 07102 
Fax (973) 297-3964 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING File 

2017-CFPB-0018 

In the Matter of: 

TRANSWORLD SYSTEMS, INC. 

CONSENT ORDER 

I. 

Overview 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collections litigation practices of the Attorney Network business unit of Transworld 

Systems, Inc. ("TSI") ("Respondent"), the agent and Service Provider for fifteen (15) 

Delaware statutory trusts referred to as the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts 

("NCSLTs", or "the Trusts", which are the National Collegiate Master Student Loan 

Trust, NCSLT 2003-1, NCSLT 2004-1, NCSLT 2004-2, NCSLT 2005-1, NCSLT 2005-2, 

NCSLT 2005-3, NCSLT 2006-1, NCSLT 2006-2, NCSLT 2006-3, NCSLT 2006-4, 

NCSLT 2007-1, NCSLT 2007-2, NCSLT 2007-3, and NCSLT 2007-4), and has identified 

violations of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

of 2010 (CFPA). Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the 

Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

To collect on defaulted private student loans, Law Firms engaged by 

Respondent's Attorney Network business unit filed debt Collections Lawsuits in state 
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courts across the country on behalf of the Trusts. In support of many of these lawsuits, 

Respondent executed affidavits that falsely claimed personal knowledge of the account 

records and the consumer's debt, and, in many cases, personal knowledge of the chain of 

assignments establishing ownership of the loans. In addition, since November 1, 2014, 

Law Firms hired by ReSpondent filed hundreds of debt Collections Lawsuits without the 

documentation necessary to prove Trust ownership of the loans. 

II 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

III 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated September 14, 2017 (Stipulation), which is 

incorporated by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this 

Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 

Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or 

conclusions oflaW, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to 

establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter 

of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

2 
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3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affiant" means any signatory to an Affidavit, signing in his or her capacity as 

an employee or agent of Respondent, but excluding one signing solely as a 

notary or witness to the act of signing. 

b. "Affidavit" means any sworn statement filed with a court in connection with a 

Collections Lawsuit. 

c. "Board" means TSI's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

d. "Clearly and Prominently" means: 

i. as to written information: written in a type size and location sufficient 

for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it, and disclosed in 

a manner that would be easily recognizable and understandable in 

language and syntax to an ordinary consumer; if the information is 

contained in a multi-page print document, the disclosure appears on 

the first page. 

ii, as to information presented orally: spoken and disclosed in a volume, 

cadence, :and syntax sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and 

comprehend. 

e. "Collections. Lawsuits" means attempts by a Law Firm engaged by 

Respondent's Attorney Network business unit, for an account owned or 

alleged to be owned by a Trust, through judicial processes in the United States 

of America, to collect or establish a Consumer's liability for a Debt. 

f. "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 

any Debt. 

3 
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g. "Debt" means any obligation or alleged obligation of a Consumer to pay 

money arising out of 'a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, 

or services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes, whether or not such obligation has been 

reduced to judgment. 

h. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

i. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

j. "Law Firm" means a law firm engaged by Respondent's Attorney Network 

business unit to collect student loan Debt on behalf of the National Collegiate 

Student Loan 'Trusts. 

k. "Regional Director" meats:the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the ConSuinef Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his/her delegate. 

"Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcenient action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section V of this Consent Order. 

m. "Relevant Period" includes the period from November 1, 2014 to April 25, 

2016. 

n. "Respondent" means TransWorld SystOnis, Inc., and its successors and 

assigns. 

4 
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o. "Service Providers" means any service provider, as defined in section 

1002(26) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481, that provides or provided services 

with respect to the servicing of the student loans owned by a NCSLT. 

V. 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. The National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts ("NCSLTs" or "the Trusts") 

comprise fifteen (15) Delaware statutory trusts created between 2001 and 

2007. The basic purpose of each Trust is to acquire a pool of student loans, 

enter into the so-called trust-related agreements, and provide for the 

administration of the Trusts and the servicing of student loans. 

5. The Trusts do not have any employees and all actions taken by the Trusts in 

connection with loan servicing and collecting Debt are carried out by third 

parties. 

6. Debt-collection activities on behalf of the Trusts are carried out by the 

successor special servicer's sub-servicer pursuant to servicing agreements 

with the successor special servicer. 

7. Sub-servicers that executed and notarized the deceptive affidavits did so as 

Service Providers and agents of the Trusts. 

8. Law Firms that filed lawsuits on behalf of the Trusts did so as Service 

Providers and agents of the Trusts. 

5 
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9. Respondent Transworld Systems, Inc. (TSI) is incorporated under the laws 

of the State of California and maintains a principal place of business in Ft. 

Washington, Pennsylvania. 

10. TSI maintains an office in Peachtree Corners, Georgia, where its employees 

execute and notarize affidavits for Collections Lawsuits brought on behalf of 

the Trusts. 

11. A national network of Law Firms engaged by Respondent file and prosecute 

Collections Lawsuits on behalf of the Trusts in courts across the country. 

TSI has operated as the successor sub-servicer to the successor special 

servicer of the Trusts since November 1, 2014. 

13. TSI is a "covered person" under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) because it is engaged in 

the collection of debt and is a Service Provider. 12 U.S.C. § 5483.(15)(A)(x);

(26). 

14. TSI is an agent and Service Provider of the Trusts. 

FALSE AND MISLEADING AFFIDAVITS AND TESTIMONY 

15. In connection with collecting or attempting to collect Debt from Consumers, 

between November 1, 2014 and April 25, 2016, Law Firms hired by 

Respondent on behalf of the Trusts initiated 37,689 CollectiOns Lawsuits in 

courts across the country on behalf of the Trusts. 

16. In support of the Collections Lawsuits; Law Firms submitted Affidavits 

executed by Respondent and documents in support of the Trusts' claims 

that Consumers owed Debts to a Trust. 

17. Respondent executed and notarized Affidavits—often with attached 

exhibits—that were used by Law Firms in many of the Collections Lawsuits 

6 
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brought on behalf of the Trusts between November 1, 2014 and April 25, 

2016. 

18. In these Affidavits, the AffiantS swore that they had personal knowledge of 

the education loan records evidencing the Debt. In fact, in numerous 

instances, Affiants lacked personal knowledge of the education loan records 

evidencing the Debt when they executed the Affidavits. 

19. The Affiants also asserted that they were authorized and competent to 

testify about the Consumers' Debts through review of and "personal 

knowledge" of the business records, including electronic data in their 

possession. In fact, in certain instances, Affiants lacked personal knowledge 

of the business records, including the electronic data, showing that 

Consumers owed Debts to the Trusts. Affiants were instructed to review 

certain data on a computer screen as part of an effort to verify some 

information in the Affidavits about the Debts. Affiants, however, did not 

always know the source of the data on that screen, how the data was 

obtained or maintained, whether it was accurate, or whether that data 

meant that the Debt was in fact owed to the Trusts. 

20. Each Affiant also swore that he/she had "personal knowledge of the record 

management practices and procedures of Plaintiff [the Trust] and the 

practices and procedures Plaintiff requires of its loan servicers and other 

agents." In fact, certain Affiants lacked personal knowledge of the record 

management practices and procedures of the Trusts and the practices and 

procedures the Trusts required of its loan servicers and other agents. 

7 
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21. In many Affidavits, the Affiants also stated that "I have reviewed the chain 

of title records as business records" regarding the relevant account. In some 

cases, Affiants did not posseSs the chain of title records but reviewed "chain 

of title" records that Were found online on a government portal maintained 

by the Securities and Exchange Commission. In numerous instances, 

Affiants did not review the chain of title records prior to executing the 

Affidavits: 

22. In certain Affidavits, the Affiants asserted that they had personal knowledge 

that the loans were transferred, sold, and assigned to the plaintiff Trusts on 

dates certain: In fact, in numerous instances, Affiants lacked personal 

knowledge of the chain of assignment records necessary to prove that the 

;relevant Trust owned the subject loans. 

28 In SomeinstanceS, certain Affiants complained to supervisors that they did 

not have personal knowledge of the representations made in the Affidavits. 

These affiants continued to execute Affidavits, however, for fear of losing 

their jobs. 

24. Affiants also provided live testimony in court, purportedly based on 

personal knowledge, similar to the statements made in the Affidavits as 

described in Paragraphs: 18-22. 

FILING LAWSUITS WITHOUT THE INTENT OR ABILITY TO 
PROVE THE CLAIMS, IF CONTESTED 

25. From November 1, 2014 to April 25, 2016, on behalf of the Trusts, Law 

Firms filed numerous Collections Lawsuits against Consumers even though 

8 
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the complete documentation needed to prove that the Trusts owned the 

loans did not exist. 

26. In these lawsuits, documentation of a complete chain of assignment 

evidencing that the subject loan was transferred to and owned by the Trust 

was lacking. 

27. In addition, Law Firms hired by Respondent on behalf of the Trusts filed 

numerous Collections Lawsuits where the loans in question were disbursed 

to the Consumers after the loans allegedly were transferred to the Trusts 

according to the chain of assignment documents. 

28. On numerous occasions, Law Firms hired by Respondent filed Collections 

Lawsuits even though the promissory note to prove that a Debt was owed 

did not exist. 

29. For each Collections Lawsuit described in Paragraphs 25-28, Law Firms 

hired by Respondent could not prove that a Debt was owed to the Trusts; if 

contested. 

Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act 

30. Covered persons are prohibited from engaging "in any unfair, deceptive; or 

abusive act or practice" in violation of the CFPA. 12 §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

31. An act or practice. is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 

representation or omission that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

32. An act or practice:is unfair if "(A) the act or practice causes or is likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by 

9 
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consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition." 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(C)(1). 

FALSE AND MISLEADING COLLECTION AFFIDAVITS AND TESTIMONY 

33. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers Respondent executed Affidavits that were 

used by Law Firms with many of the Collections Lawsuits filed by Law 

Firms on behalf of the Trusts in courts across the country, and in live 

testimony, Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that: 

a. Affiants had personal knowledge of the account records and the Debt; 

b. Affiants had personal knowledge of the chain of assignment records 

evidenCing Trust ownership of the subject loan; and 

c. Affiants had personal knowledge of the record management practices 

and procedures of the Trusts and all prior servicers. 

34. In fact, as described in Paragraphs 18 to 24, in numerous instances, these 

representations were either false or the Affiant did not have a basis for 

making the representation. 

35. The representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's Choice or conduct regarding how to respond to a Collections 

Lawsuit and are likely to mislead a Consumer acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

10 
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36. Thus, representations by Respondent, as described in Paragraphs 18-24, 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

FILING LAWSUITS WITHOUT THE INTENT OR ABILITY TO PROVE 
THE CLAIMS, IF CONTESTED 

37. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect Debt from Consumers, Respondent, acting through the Law Firms 

hired by Respondent on behalf of the Trusts, represented, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that it could be proven in the 

Collections Lawsuits that the Trusts owned the loans in question and that 

the Consumers in question owed Debts to the Trusts, if contested. 

38. In fact, in numerous instances, Respondent lacked the complete chain of 

assignment documentation needed to prove Trust ownership of the subject 

loans and the promissory note needed to prove the existence of certain 

loans. 

39. The representations are material because they are likely to affect a 

Consumer's choice or conduct regarding how to respond to a lawsuit and 

are likely to mislead a Consumer acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

40. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraphs 25-29, 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1o31(a) and 

1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

41. In addition, Respondent's acts and practices, caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injuries to consumers. 

11 
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42. The injuries to consumers included, but were not limited to, all payments 

made, including garnishments of wages and bank accounts, to settle Debts 

not enforceable. 

43. The injuries to consumers were not reasonably avoidable by consumers and 

were not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition. 

44. Thus, Respondent's conduct, as described in Paragraph 25-29, constitutes 

unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(c) and 1036(a)(1)(B ) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C, §§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

45. Respondent and its officers, Service Providers, agents, servants, employees, 

and attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, may not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent shall take all actions necessary to comply with the terms of 

the Consent Order. 

b. Respondent must require that any Law Firm it retains in connection 

with the collection of student loans owned by the Trusts agree to abide 

by the terms and conditions of the Consent Order. 

c. Within ninety (9o) days of the Effective Date, Respondent must 

identify all Collections Lawsuits that were filed between November 

12 
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2014 and the Effective Date and that are missing the documentation 

described in subsection (f)(i)and (ii) of this Paragraph. 

d. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, Respondent must 

identify all Collections Lawsuits that were filed seeking Debt outside 

the statute of limitations and provide this infOrmatiOn to the successor 

special servicer or any other Service Provider of the Trusts. 

e. Within one-hundred twenty (120) days of the Effective Date, 

Respondent must provide to the successor special servicer and to the 

Bureau for each Consumer named in the suits identified in Paragraph 

45c and 45d: the Consumer's name, all available contact information 

for the Consumer (including information in the possession of the 

attorneys who filed the suit), and the: total amount of all payments 

made by the Consumer on or after the date on which the suit was filed. 

f. Respondent and its officers, agents, Service Providers, servants, 

employees, and attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, may not initiate a Collections 

Lawsuit to collect Debt unless Respondent possesses: 

i. the documentation necessary to prove that a Trust owns the loan, 

including but not limited to, documentation reflecting the complete 

chain of assignment from the Debt's originator to the specific Trust 

claiming ownership; and 

ii. a document signed by the Consumer, such as a promiSsory note, 

evidencing the agreement to pay the loan forming the basis of the 

Debt. 

13 
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g. Respondent and its officers, agents; Service Providers, servants, 

employees, and attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, may not cause Law Firms hired by 

Respondent on behalf of the Trusts to initiate a Collections Lawsuit to 

collect on a loan for which the applicable statute of limitations has 

expired. 

h. Respondent shall establish written policies requiring Law Firms to 

confirm that the applicable statute of limitations has not expired at the 

time of the filing of the Collections Lawsuit; 

i. Respondent shall require Law Firms to provide a quarterly report to 

Respondent that includes, for each Collections Lawsuit, any data 

relevant to determining the applicable statute of limitations, such as 

date of lawsuit, date of default, and date of last payment, as well as 

identifies any lawsuits in which a consumer alleges in his pleadings 

that the lawsuit was filed outside the statute of limitations. 

j. Respondent shall not collect any Debt through a Collections Lawsuit 

that Respondent knows or learns was filed outside the statute of 

limitations, and if any such cases are pending, Respondent shall seek 

the immediate withdrawal or dismissal of the lawsuit. 

k. Respondent and its officers, agents, Service Providers, servants, 

employees, and attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, may not cause Law Firms hired by 

Respondent on behalf of the Trusts to collect any Debt through 

14 
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Collections Lawsuits that Respondent or its agents have any reason to 

believe may be unenforceable. 

1. Respondent, its officers, agents, Service Providers, servants, 

employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and prohibited from, in connection with the collection of a 

Debt, executing any Affidavit containing any misrepresentations, 

including false statements that: 

i. the Affiant is familiar with or has personal knowledge of the 

Consumer's education loan records or the maintenance of those 

records; 

ii. the Affiant has persona] knowledge of the Consumer's debt; 

iii. the Affiant has persona] knowledge of the loan's chain of 

assignMent or ownership; 

iv. the Affiant has personal knowledge of the documents relating to 

the loan's chain of assignment or ownership; 

v. the Affidavit has been properly notarized if the Affidavit was not 

executed in the presence of a notary or if the notarization was 

otherwise not compliant with applicable notary laws; or 

vi. certain documents or records concerning the Debt forming the 

basis of the Collections Lawsuit have been reviewed by the Affiant. 

46. Respondent, its officers, agents, Service Providers, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any 

15 



2017-CFPB-0018 Document 1 Filed 09/18/2017 Page 16 of 32 

of them, who receive actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and prohibited from, in 

connection with the collection of a Debt, providing any testimony that 

contains any misrepresentations, including false statements that the 

witness: 

a. is familiar with or has personal knowledge of the Consumer's education 

loan records or the maintenance of those records; 

b. has personal knowledge of the Consumer's debt; 

c. has personal knowledge of the loan's chain of assignment or 

ownership; or 

d. has personal knowledge of the documents relating to the loan's chain of 

assignMent or ownership. 

47. Tf Respondent deterrnines that it engages in any conduct prohibited by this 

Order, including but not limited to Paragraphs 45-46 of this Order, 

Respondent promptly will take the necessary steps to ensure that it ceases 

any and all practices that violate this Order. 

48. Within ten (10) days of making the determination described in Paragraph 

47 Respondent must submit to the Regional Director a report detailing (a) 

the practices that violate the Order, (b) the specific agents engaged in the 

practices in queStion, and (c) a plan to ensure that the practices cease and to 

remediate any harm resulting from the practices. 

49. With regard to pending Collections Lawsuits filed by a Law Firm in which 

Respondent executed an Affidavit that was filed in support of the pending 

Collection Lawsuit and that contains any misrepresentations—including but 

16 
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not limited to false statements that the Affiant: (1) is familiar with or has 

personal knowledge Of the Consumer's education loan records or the 

maintenance of those records, (2) has personal knowledge of the 

consumer's indebtedness, (3) has personal knowledge of the loan's chain of 

assignment or ownership, (4) has personal knowledge about the 

maintenance of documents relating to the loan's chain of assignment or 

ownership, or (5) has attached as an exhibit a true and correct copy of a 

document—Respondent shall take the steps necessary, including getting 

permission from the successor special servicer, to direct Law Firms acting 

on behalf of the Trusts to withdraw such Affidavit unless the Trusts dismiss 

the suit in which the Affidavit was filed. Respondent shall take the steps 

necessary, including getting permission from the successor special servicer, 

to direct Law Firms acting on behalf of the Trusts to notify the court of the 

following in writing and must also simultaneously provide the court with a 

copy of the Consent Order entered into between the Bureau and the 

Respondent: "Plaintiff withdraws the affidavit of [insert name of Affiant] 

pursuant to Consent Order entered into by the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau and Transworld Systems, Inc." 

50. With regard to Collections Lawsuits that were filed in which Respondent 

executed an Affidavit that was filed with a court or in arbitration, and a 

judgment was entered, that contained any misrepresentations—including 

but not limited to false statements that the Affiant: (1) is familiar with or has 

personal knowledge of the Consumer's education loan records or the 

maintenance of those records, (2) has personal knoWledge of the 
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Consumer's indebtedness, (3) has personal knowledge of the loan's chain of 

assignment or ownership, (4) has personal knowledge about the 

maintenance of documents relating to the loan's chain of assignment or 

ownership, or (5) has attached as an exhibit a true and correct copy of a 

document—Respondent must instruct the Law Firms to cease post-

judgment enforcement activities and Respondent will take the steps 

necessary, including getting permission from the successor special servicer, 

to instruct the Law Firms acting on behalf of the Trusts to seek to remove, 

withdraw, or terminate any active Wage garnishment, bank levies, and 

similar means of enforcing those judgments or settlements as well as cease 

accepting settlement payments related to any such Collections Lawsuits. 

51. Respondents must, cooperate in all respects:With any directive from the 

successor special servicer acting on behalf of the Trusts to: 

a. Make certain disclosures in connection with the collection of Debt 

owned by the Trusts; 

b. Withdraw any Affidavit or Collection Lawsuit; or 

c. Provide loan information or documents to the successor special 

servicer, including but not limited to, information and documentS 

related to: 

i. Whether certain loans owned by the Trusts are no longer legally 

enforceable because the applicable statute of limitations has 

expired; 

ii. Whether Collections Lawsuits have been filed on any loans where 

sufficient documentation, including signed promissory notes and 
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documentation reflecting the complete chain of assignment from 

the Debt's originator to the Collection Lawsuit's named plaintiff, is 

not in the possession, custody or control of the Collection Lawsuit's 

named plaintiff to prove the existence of the Debt owed to the 

named plaintiff, or where the applicable statute of limitations has 

expired; and 

iii. Whether judgments were obtained in Collections Lawsuits 

described in Paragraph 51(c)(ii) and the identity of Consumers from 

whom the Trusts obtained payments in response to those 

Collections Lawsuits, and the specific amounts collected from these 

Consumers. 

VII 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Within ninety (9o) days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to 

the Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

compliance plan designed to ensure that the Attorney Network business 

unit of Respondent complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial 

laws with respect to Collections Lawsuits and the terms of this Consent 

Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a 

minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order; 
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b. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to prevent 

violations of Federal consumer financial laws and associated risks of 

harm to Consumers With respect to Collections Lawsuits; 

c. An effective employee training program required for all employees with 

any:involvement in Collections Lawsuits, including but not limited to 

Affiants, whose duties include reviewing, executing, preparing, 

processing, verifying, or notarizing of Affidavits that includes regular, 

specific, comprehensive training in Federal consumer financial laws 

commensurate with individual job functions and duties; 

d. Implementation of reasonable and appropriate written policies and 

procedures to ensure the proper notarization processes for Affidavits, 

including. hat notaries place the Affiants under oath and.witness their 

signatures; 

e. IMplementation of reasonable and appropriate written policies and 

procedures to ensure that Affiants verify the accuracy of each 

statement made in an Affidavit before executing the Affidavit; 

f. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to ensure 

that any Law Firms engaged by Respondent to collect Debt do not 

violate any Federal consumer financial laws, which must include at a 

Minimum: 

i. the Law Firm's duty to maintain adequate internal controls to 

ensure compliance with Federal consumer financial laws; 

ii. the Law Firm's duty to provide adequate training on compliance 

with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 
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Respondent's policies and procedures related to Collections 

Lawsuits; 

iii. Respondent's authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews of the 

Law Firm's controls, performance, and information systems related 

to Collections Lawsuits; and 

iv. periodic review by Respondent of the Law Firm's controls, 

performance, and information systems related to Collections 

Lawsuits; and 

g. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

53. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a, determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If 

the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan;

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to 

the Regional Director within thirty (30) days. 

54. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or any amendments 

thereto, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance 

Plan: 

VIII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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55. Respondent's Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, 

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to 

submission to the Bureau. 

56. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review:or non-objection by the Regional Director, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound 

management of Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies 

with Federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

57. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully 

comply with the Consent Order; 

b, Require:timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board 

directives related to this Section. 

Ix 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

58. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking 
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into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a 

civil money penalty of $2.5 million to the Bureau. 

59. Within ten (io) days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay $1.5 

million of the civil money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the 

Bureau's agent in compliance with the Bureau's wiring instructions. The 

remainder of the civil money penalty shall be paid in one installment within 

sixty (60) days of the Effective Date. 

60. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

61. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of 

how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert; or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment 

made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money 

penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

62. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled 

to, nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action 

because of the civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any 
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payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty 

Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Respondent must, within thirty (30) days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the 

Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered 

an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the 

civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to Make payment 

under this Consent Order'; interest, cOMputed .under 28. U.S.C. 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and 

payable. 

64. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be 

returned to Respondent. 

65. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising 

out of this Consent Order. 

24 



2017-CFPB-0018 Document 1 Filed 09/18/2017 Page 25 of 32 

66. Within thirty (30) days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the 

Regional Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Respondent paid or is required to pay to Consumers and describe the 

Consumers or classes of Consumers to whom that redress has been or will 

be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that 

would result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or 

dissolution of a subsidiary, Went, or affiliate that engages in any acts or 

practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency prOceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent's name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if 

practicable, at least thirty (3o) days before the development, but in any case 

no later than fourteen (14) days after the development. 

68. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date,.and again one year after the 

Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an 
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accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has 

been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section XII unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

69. Within thirty (3o) days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a 

copy of this Consent Order to each of its board members as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

7o. For five (5) years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of 

this Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in 

structure referred to in Section XI, any future board members or executive 

officers, as well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other 

agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities. 

71. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic 

26 



2017-CFPB-0018 Document 1 Filed 09/18/2017 Page 27 of 32 

signatures comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 7001-7031, within thirty (3o) days of delivery, from all persons receiving 

a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

72. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least five 

(5) years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance 

with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to 

the Bureau. 

73. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 72 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

74. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 72 available 

to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents 

relating to this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re 

Transworld Systems, Inc., File No. Year-CFPB- 0018," and send them 

either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 
27 
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Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017] 

or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by 

email to EnforcementLCompliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation. related to or associated with the conduct described in Section 

V. Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, 

and testimony and Respondent must cause its officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, 

trials, and any other proceedings that the BUreau may reasonably request 

upon ten (10) days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places 

and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process. 

xw

Compliance Monitoring 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

77. Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a Written request from the Bureau, 

Respondent must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn 

testimony; or produce documents. 

78. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee 

or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

79. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory 

process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

80. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

ConSent Order (e:g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by Submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

81. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause 

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the. Regional Director 

must be in writing. 
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XVIII 

Acbtinistrative Provisions 

82. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 83. 

83. The BUreau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in 

this Consent Order in future -enforcement actions against Respondent and 

its affiliates, including, without liinitation, to establish a pattern or practice 

of violations or the continuation Of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the 

Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

84. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under section 1053 of the C.FPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and 

expressly does not form; and may not be construed to form, a contract 

binding the Bureau or the United States. 

85. This Consent Order will terminate five (5) years from the Effective Date or 

five (5) years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action 

alleging any violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is 

dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not 
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violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is 

either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will 

terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will 

remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that 

any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

86. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based 

on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

87. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations 

that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of 

sale, obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply 

with all applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

88. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For 

any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties alloWed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C, § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to 

enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 

Respondent wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not 

contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

89. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 
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90. 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any priOr oral or written 

communications; discussions., understandings. 

Nothing jri this Consent Ordet or the accompanying tipulationin.ayb.e 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, offiteit, or employees to 

ViOlate zhy rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 11_1(tiay of Septetnber, 201:7. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Constither Financial 'Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Takes Action Against National 

Collegiate Student Loan Trusts, 

Transworld Systems for Illegal Student 
Loan Debt Collection Lawsuits

All 800,000 Loans Will Be Independently Audited, 

Companies Will Pay at Least $21.6 Million and Stop Suing for 
Invalid or Unverified Debts

SEP 18, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau today took action 

against the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts and their debt collector, 

Transworld Systems, Inc., for illegal student loan debt collection lawsuits. 

Consumers were sued for private student loan debt that the companies couldn’t 

prove was owed or was too old to sue over. These lawsuits relied on the filing of 

false or misleading legal documents. The proposed judgment requires an 

independent audit of all 800,000 student loans in the National Collegiate Student 

Loan Trusts’ portfolio. It prohibits the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts, and 

any company they hire, from attempting to collect, reporting negative credit 

information, or filing lawsuits on any loan the audit shows is unverified or invalid. In 

addition, it requires the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts to pay at least 

$19.1 million, which includes initial redress to harmed consumers, relinquished 

funds to the Treasury, and a civil money penalty. Under a separate consent order, 

Transworld Systems, Inc. is ordered to pay a $2.5 million civil money penalty. 

“The National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts and their debt collector sued 

consumers for student loans they couldn’t prove were owed and filed false and 

misleading affidavits in courts across the country,” said CFPB Director Richard 

Cordray. “We’re ordering them to pay at least $21.6 million, stopping them from 



filing illegal lawsuits, and requiring the trusts to thoroughly audit their loan 

portfolios to identify any other consumers who were harmed.”

The National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts are 15 Delaware statutory trusts that 

own more than 800,000 private student loans. Between 2001 and 2007, the trusts 

purchased and securitized the loans, and then sold notes secured by the loans to 

investors. The trusts have no employees but instead use service providers to 

interact with consumers about their loans. Transworld Systems, Inc. is a nationwide 

debt collector incorporated in California, with a principal place of business in Ft. 

Washington, Pennsylvania. Transworld Systems employees complete, sign, and 

notarize sworn legal documents for collections lawsuits brought on behalf of the 

trusts. Transworld Systems hires a national network of law firms to file and prosecute 

collections lawsuits on behalf of the trusts in courts across the country.

The complaint against the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts and the Bureau’s 

consent order regarding Transworld Systems include allegations and findings that 

the companies violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Financial 

Protection Act by filing false affidavits and for pursuing collections lawsuits they 

could not have won, if contested. Specifically, the companies:  

◾ Sued consumers for debts the trusts could not prove were owed: In order to sue 

to collect debts, the person or company filing suit must be able to prove that the 

consumer owed the debt and that they own the loan that is being collected. The 

companies participated in illegal litigation practices when suing consumers 

without the necessary documentation required to sue. Over 2,000 collections 

lawsuits were filed on behalf of the trusts in violation of consumer financial 

protection laws that prevent consumers from having to pay debts they do not 

legally owe. In these lawsuits, the trusts do not have or cannot find the 

documentation necessary to prove either that they own the loans or that the 

consumer owed the debt. In some of these cases, the document the consumer 

signed promising to pay back the loan is missing. Nonetheless, the trusts filed 

suit against consumers to collect the debts.

◾ Filed false and misleading affidavits: In many of the collections lawsuits, false and 

misleading affidavits were filed. To be valid, these affidavits must be signed by a 

witness with personal knowledge of the consumers’ account records and the 

debt. In numerous instances, affiants claimed personal knowledge of the student 

loan debt they did not have.

The Bureau also alleged that the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts filed at 

least 486 collections lawsuits after the applicable statute of limitations on the debt 

collection had expired. Additionally, the complaint alleged that, in numerous 



instances, many of the affidavits filed were improperly notarized because they were 

not sworn or signed in the presence of the notary. 

Enforcement action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the Bureau has the authority to take action against 

institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices 

or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the 

proposed final judgment and consent order, the Bureau is requiring the companies 

to:

◾ Conduct a thorough audit of the 800,000 student loans in its portfolio: The 

proposed final judgment requires the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts to 

hire an independent auditor acceptable to the Bureau to audit their student loan 

accounts. If the audit identifies any additional student loans for which the trusts 

lack the documentation needed to prove the consumer owed the debt, the 

National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts will cease all collections on those loans.

◾ Pay at least $3.5 million in restitution: Under the proposed final judgment, the 

National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts is ordered to pay at least $3.5 million in 

restitution to more than 2,000 harmed consumers who made payments after 

being sued by the trusts on a loan where documentation was missing or the 

statute of limitations had expired. Furthermore, under the proposed final 

judgment, the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts is required to provide 

restitution to additional consumers identified through the independent audit. 

Consumers who believe they were harmed do not need to take any action at this 

time. If they are eligible for restitution, the company will contact them directly. 

Consumers who are unsatisfied with the response or have other complaints about 

these practices can submit a complaint with the Bureau.

◾ Stop filing collections lawsuits on debt that can no longer legally be sued over:

Statutes of limitation limit the amount of time an individual or company can go 

after someone in court for a debt that is allegedly owed. Under the terms of the 

proposed final judgment and the consent order, the companies are prohibited 

from tying consumers up in litigation after the expiration of the applicable statute 

of limitations.

◾ Stop attempting to collect, reporting negative credit information, and suing 

consumers for debt without proper documentation: Under the terms of the 

proposed final judgment and the consent order, the companies are prohibited 



not only from suing without documentation, but also from collecting and 

reporting negative credit information without documentation.

◾ Stop filing false or improperly notarized legal documents: Under the terms of the 

proposed final judgment and the consent order, the companies are prohibited 

from filing false or misleading legal documents and are required to ensure all 

documents that require notarization are properly notarized. 

◾ Pay $7.8 million in disgorgement: Under the terms of the proposed final 

judgment, the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts must relinquish $7.8 

million to the U.S. Treasury.

◾ Pay a $7.8 million civil money penalty: : Under the terms of the proposed final 

judgment, the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts must pay $7.8 million to 

the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund.

◾ Pay a $2.5 million civil money penalty: Transworld Systems must pay $2.5 million 

to the Bureau’s Civil Penalty Fund under the consent order.

The proposed judgment against the National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts has 

been filed with the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware, and it is effective 

only if approved by the presiding judge. The consent order is effective immediately.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court against the National Collegiate 

Student Loan Trusts is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_national-collegiate-

student-loan-trusts_complaint.pdf

A copy of the proposed final judgment filed in federal district court against the 

National Collegiate Student Loan Trusts is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_national-collegiate-

student-loan-trusts_proposed-consent-judgment.pdf

A copy of the consent order entered today against Transworld Systems, Inc. is 

available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_transworld-

systems_consent-order.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau,

Plaintiff,

v. 

Top Notch Funding II, LLC, Rory 
Donadio, and John “Gene” Cavalli, 

Case No.

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. The Bureau brings this action against Top Notch Funding II, LLC, Rory 

Donadio, and John “Gene” Cavalli under § 1054 of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (“CFPA”) to address deceptive practices in connection with their offering 

credit to consumers who have been awarded payouts from a settlement or a statutory-

compensation fund, but who are awaiting payment from the defendant in the underlying 

suit or the claims administrator.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction because this action is “brought 

under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 

1345.
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3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because the causes of 

action arise from Defendants’ conduct of business in this district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).

4. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants do business in this 

district. Id.

PARTIES

5. The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and providing of consumer-financial products and services under “Federal 

consumer financial laws,” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a), including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

The Bureau has independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b).

6. Top Notch Funding II, LLC, is a limited-liability company. Its principal 

place of business is at 450 Bloomfield Ave., 2nd Floor, Verona, NJ 07044.

7. Donadio is the owner and CEO of Top Notch. He has substantial control 

over and involvement in the establishment of Top Notch’s business policies and 

practices.

8. Cavalli worked with Donadio to provide marketing services for Top Notch, 

and to broker loans for its customers. His principal place of business is at 201 East 87th 

Street, Suite 17K, New York, NY 10128.

9. Donadio authorized Cavalli to provide marketing services and to run a 

website for Top Notch.

10. As described below, Defendants offer loans to consumers that are to be 

repaid from settlement proceeds or statutory-compensation funds once the consumers 

receive payouts from those sources. These are offers to extend credit to consumers for 
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purposes of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010. Defendants therefore offer 

or provide consumer-financial products or services under § 1002 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(5), 5481(15)(A)(i) and Defendants are therefore “covered persons” under § 1002

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). Additionally, given his status as an officer or managerial 

employee, Donadio is a “related person” to Top Notch under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§5481(25), and is therefore a “covered person.”

FACTS

A. Background

11. Defendants purport to offer loans to consumers who have been awarded 

payouts from a settlement or a statutory-compensation fund, but who are awaiting 

payment from the defendant in the underlying suit or the claims administrator.

12. Donadio is Top Notch’s owner and CEO. He is responsible for all of its 

decisions and operations. 

13. Donadio authorized Cavalli to recruit consumers on Top Notch’s behalf, 

including through websites and on social media. Cavalli did so by offering consumers 

loans on websites that he owned and operated, but that were presented as websites of 

the company, Top Notch. Cavalli also recruited customers for Top Notch through phone 

calls and social media.

14. Cavalli operated a number of websites, including 

topnotchlawsuitloans.com, to recruit consumers. The websites marketed loans to 

consumers entitled to payouts from legal settlements or victim-compensation funds. 

These consumers included former NFL players entitled to payments from the 

concussion settlement with the league, consumers entitled to payments under 
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settlements related to the Deepwater Horizon disaster, and 9/11 first responders entitled 

to payouts from the Zadroga Fund, established by Congress through the James Zadroga 

9/11 Health and Compensation Act 0f 2010.

15. Cavalli also created videos touting Top Notch’s loan offers. These videos 

were hosted on YouTube and were shared with consumers through social-media 

accounts controlled by Cavalli.

16. Many of the consumers to whom Defendants offered loans have severe 

injuries, including neurological disorders.

17. Defendants offered loans to consumers who are beneficiaries of 

settlements or funds after the settlements or funds had been finally approved, including 

through final judgment in the case of settlements, and after the consumers had been 

formally approved to receive payment.

18. Defendants offered to provide consumers advances equal to a small 

portion of their expected payouts, with a larger amount to be repaid once the consumers

received full payment of their awards. 

19. Although Defendants held out Top Notch as the “Direct Lender” – i.e., the 

entity that would make the loans— Top Notch did not actually make loans. Rather, it 

acted only as a broker of transactions executed and funded by other entities.

20. When consumers expressed interest in a loan offer, Cavalli, Donadio, or 

both followed up with the consumer to provide more information, sign him up as a 

customer of Top Notch, and to broker a transaction from a third party. 

21. In the instances in which Top Notch successfully brokered a transaction, 

Donadio and Cavalli typically split the commission.
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22. Defendants stated in their marketing materials that they provided “loans.” 

In fact, Defendants did not intend to directly provide to consumers either a loan or an 

assignment.

23. The annual percentage rate (“APR”) is a measure of the cost of credit, 

expressed as a yearly rate.

24. Defendants represented in their marketing materials and in other 

communications with consumers that they offered loans with “2% APR,” and a “1%” 

interest rate.

25. In reality, the transactions brokered by Defendants (but provided by 

others) were in all cases more expensive for the consumers than a 2% APR or 1% 

interest rate loan would have been.

26. Defendants also represented in their marketing materials and in other 

communications with consumers that consumers could receive transaction proceeds in

as little as 1 hour.

27. In reality, consumers would not, and could not, receive funds that quickly. 

Indeed, when Defendants successfully brokered a transaction, it often took weeks for the 

consumer to receive the proceeds.

28. Top Notch’s website claimed that Top Notch had offices in all 50 states, 

and that it had a staff of accounting, financial, and legal professionals.

29. In actuality, Top Notch had no offices and employed no accounting, 

financial, or legal professionals. Defendants simply copied these statements from the 

websites of other companies in the industry.
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30. Top Notch’s website, which Defendants operated and from which they 

benefitted, contained statements indicating that Top Notch was a direct lender, 

including explicit statements that it was a lender, as well as claims that it had an 

underwriting department that approved loan applications.

31. Donadio also directly represented to consumers that Top Notch was a

direct lender.

32. In reality, Top Notch was not a lender and did not have an underwriting 

department. Consumers who dealt with Defendants to obtain an advance on their 

settlement proceeds were obligated to enter into a contract with a third party on terms

that Defendants did not control or have knowledge of.

CAUSE OF ACTION—DECEPTION UNDER THE CFPA

33. Under the CFPA, a practice is deceptive if (1) there is a representation or 

omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances; and (2) that information is material to consumers. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B).

34. Defendants represented Top Notch as a direct lender—that is, an entity 

that would provide loans to consumers.

35. In fact, Top Notch did not provide loans to consumers; rather, it brokered 

transactions, connecting consumers with third parties and charging a commission for its 

service.

36. Defendants’ misrepresentations that Top Notch was a direct lender are 

material because that misrepresentation would influence a consumer acting reasonably 

in deciding whether to deal with Top Notch at all. After consumers interact with Top 
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Notch, they must enter into separate contractual agreements with third parties to obtain 

their funds, and they must do so on terms that Top Notch does not control.

37. Defendants represented in numerous instances that the APR or interest 

rates on the loans it offered were as little as 1-2%.

38. In fact, the transactions consumers actually received from third parties

were far more expensive than a loan with an APR or interest rate of 1-2% would have 

been. 

39. Defendants’ misrepresentations about the APR and interest rate are

material because the APR and interest rate are central characteristics of a loan that 

consumers use to evaluate the costs of the transaction, and to compare those costs to 

potential alternatives. 

40. Defendants represented in Top Notch’s marketing materials that it was a

business with offices in all 50 states and that it employed accounting, financial, and legal 

professionals. 

41. In fact, Top Notch had only two employees, one of whom was Donadio, 

and its website and social-media marketing were conducted primarily by Cavalli. Top 

Notch did not have offices, and did not employ any professional staff.

42. Defendants’ misrepresentations regarding the scope of their business and 

its professional staff are material because they would influence a consumer acting 

reasonably in deciding whether to do business with Top Notch and Defendants.

43. Defendants represented in their marketing materials that consumers could 

receive cash proceeds from Top Notch’s loans within as little as one hour.
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44. In fact, there was no reasonable prospect that consumers would or could 

receive funds that fast through a transaction brokered by Defendants.

45. Theses misrepresentations were material. A reasonable consumer might 

well consider when he or she would receive funds in determining whether to pursue or

use the credit product Defendants offered. 

46. Indeed, consumers considering transactions with Defendants were those 

with more immediate needs for cash than could be met by the payouts they were

eventually due. 

47. Defendants therefore engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in violation 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF

Plaintiff requests that the Court:

a. enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA;

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants;

c. order Defendants to pay redress to consumers;

d. offer disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues by Defendants;

e. impose civil money penalties on Defendants under the CFPA;

f. order Defendants to pay the costs incurred in connection with prosecuting 

this action; and

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

ANTHONY ALEXIS
Enforcement Director
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH
Deputy Enforcement Director
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JOHN C. WELLS
Assistant Litigation Deputy

s/Benjamin Konop
BENJAMIN KONOP (Ohio Bar No. 0073458)
Enforcement Attorney
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20552
Telephone: 202-435-7265
Facsimile: 202-435-7722
e-mail: Benjamin.konop@cfpb.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
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CFPB Takes Action Against Top Notch 

Funding for Lying in Loan Offers to NFL 

Players, Deepwater Horizon Victims, 
and 9/11 First Responders

Proposed Order Would Shutter Post-Settlement Funding 

Business, End Deceptive Business Practices, and Impose 
Penalties

SEP 19, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took 

action today against Top Notch Funding and two individuals associated with the 

company for lying in loan offerings to consumers who were awaiting payment from 

settlements in legal cases or from victim-compensation funds. These consumers 

included former National Football League (NFL) players suffering from neurological 

disorders, victims of the Deepwater Horizon oil-rig disaster, and 9/11 first 

responders. In a complaint and proposed consent order filed in federal court, the 

CFPB is seeking to prevent Top Notch, its owner Rory Donadio, and his business 

associate John “Gene” Cavalli from offering or providing such products in the 

future, and to require them to pay $70,000 in civil money penalties to the CFPB’s 

Civil Penalty Fund. The proposed penalties take into account the defendants’ 

inability to pay more.

“It is reprehensible that Top Notch and its owner sought to scam NFL concussion 

victims, 9/11 heroes, and others to turn a quick profit,” said CFPB Director Richard 

Cordray. “We allege that this company, its owner, and its associate misled 

vulnerable consumers by lying about the terms of the deals they offered.  Our 

proposed order seeks to knock these parties out of this business altogether, and 

impose penalties on them.”



Top Notch, owned and operated by Donadio, is a company headquartered in 

Verona, New Jersey that marketed loans to consumers. Cavalli is Donadio’s 

business associate, and is based in New York. Top Notch marketed to consumers 

who were entitled to payments from legal settlements or victim-compensation 

funds. These consumers included former NFL players who are entitled to receive 

money from a settlement with the National Football League for injuries suffered 

while playing professional football, individuals who were harmed by the Deepwater 

Horizon oil-rig accident and are entitled to payouts from settlements related to that 

incident, and first responders injured as a result of  the Sept. 11, 2001 World Trade 

Center attack who were entitled to payments from the Zadroga Fund established by 

Congress.

The CFPB alleges that the company, through Donadio and Cavalli, offered loans to 

these settlement-fund and victim-compensation-fund recipients while lying about 

the cost of the loans in the long run, among other important facts. The CFPB’s 

complaint, filed in federal court in the Southern District of New York, alleges that in 

marketing the loans, Top Notch, Donadio, and Cavalli engaged in deceptive acts 

and practices, in violation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 

Protection Act. Specifically, the CFPB alleges that Top Notch, Donadio, and Cavalli: 

◾ Deceived consumers into thinking that Top Notch was a lender: Top Notch 

represented to consumers that it was a lender that could provide loans. In fact, 

Top Notch merely served as a broker for others, taking a commission when a 

consumer’s transaction was completed.

◾ Lied about the cost of loans: Top Notch told consumers that they could obtain 

loans with a low “2% Annual Percentage Rate” or “1% interest rate.” But every 

loan that Top Notch brokered was significantly more expensive for consumers. A 

typical loan that Top Notch brokered carried a rate greater than 20 percent.

◾ Lied about how quickly they could receive funds: Top Notch told consumers 

they could receive funds almost immediately—in many cases in as little as an hour. 

But when Top Notch did successfully broker a loan, it always took 

longer—typically weeks—for consumers to receive their funds.

◾ Lied about the size and resources of the company: Top Notch represented to 

consumers that the company had attorneys and accountants on staff and offices 

in all 50 states. In fact, the company had no offices and no attorneys or 

accountants on its staff.



Enforcement action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB 

has the authority to take action against institutions and individuals violating 

consumer financial laws, including engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices. The CFPB’s order, if approved by the court, would require:

◾ Top Notch, Donadio, and Cavalli to stop offering these types of loans: If 

approved by the court, the consent order would prohibit Top Notch, Donadio, 

and Cavalli from offering or providing loans or advances to consumers awaiting 

payments from settlements or victim-compensation funds in the future.

◾ Top Notch, Donadio, and Cavalli to pay $70,000: The consent order would 

require Top Notch and its owner Rory Donadio to jointly pay a $60,000 civil 

penalty to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund, and Cavalli to pay $10,000 to the CFPB’s 

Civil Penalty Fund. These penalties take into account defendants’ inability to pay 

more.

A copy of the proposed consent order filed in federal district court is available 

at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_top-

notch_proposed-consent-order.pdf

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_top-

notch_complaint.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Baltimore Division 
 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC 
11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite M 
Baltimore, Maryland 21220 
(Baltimore County), 
  
Financial Document Assistance 
Administration, Inc. 
11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite M 
Baltimore, Maryland 21220  
(Baltimore County), 
 
Clear Solutions, Inc. 
11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite M 
Baltimore, Maryland 21220 
(Baltimore County),  
 
Robert Pantoulis 
9904 Harford Road 
Parkville, Maryland 21234 
(Baltimore County), 
  
David Piccione 
1825 Ellinwood Road 
Baltimore, Maryland 21237 
(Baltimore County),  
 
and  
 
Vincent Piccione 
1825 Ellinwood Road 
Baltimore, Maryland 21237 
(Baltimore County),  
 
Defendants.          
    

 
             
              Complaint for a Civil Case 
 
              Case No.                                     
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action under the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564 

& 5565, and the Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, which implements 

the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C §§ 6101-

6108. The Bureau alleges as follows. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Targeting financially vulnerable consumers, Defendants promised to 

eliminate consumers’ unsecured debts and improve their credit scores, primarily by 

using the debt-verification process set forth in the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(FDCPA). But Defendants’ so-called “debt validation” programs were merely debt-

management programs that misled consumers about the results that could be achieved 

under the FDCPA’s debt-verification process. Accompanied by false claims of 

government affiliation, Defendants promised that they would eliminate consumers’ 

debts and improve their credit scores in exchange for thousands of dollars in advance 

fees. Defendants encouraged consumers to pay these fees by maxing out their credit 

cards. In the end, Defendants’ programs increased consumers’ debts, hurt their credit 

scores, and, in some instances, exposed them to creditors’ lawsuits.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345.  

3. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants are located, reside, and 

do business in this district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 
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THE PARTIES 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer-financial products and services under 

“Federal consumer financial law,” including the CFPA and the TSR. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5481(14), 5491(a), 5511, 5531(a); 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d). The Bureau has independent 

litigating authority to enforce these laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a), (b); 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d). 

5. Defendant Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC (Federal Debt) is a 

Maryland corporation headquartered at 11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite M, Baltimore, 

MD 21220. Incorporated on or about January 14, 2016, Federal Debt provides, or 

purports to provide, advice and assistance to consumers to eliminate all or a portion of 

their unsecured debts and improve their credit scores. These services are “financial 

advisory services” provided to consumers primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, including to assist consumers with debt management, and they are consumer-

financial products or services under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(viii)(II). 

Federal Debt is, therefore, a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Federal Debt also is a “seller” and “telemarketer” engaged in “telemarketing” and the 

provision of “debt relief service[s]” under the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(o), (dd), (ff), (gg). 

6. Defendant Financial Document Assistance Administration, Inc. (Financial 

Document) is a Maryland corporation headquartered at 11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite 

M, Baltimore, MD 21220. Incorporated on or about February 23, 2017, Financial 

Document provides, or purports to provide, advice and assistance to consumers to 

eliminate all or a portion of their unsecured debts and improve their credit scores. These 

services are “financial advisory services” provided to consumers primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes, including to assist consumers with debt management, 

and they are consumer-financial products or services under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 
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§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(viii)(II). Financial Document is, therefore, a “covered person” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). Federal Document also is a “seller” and “telemarketer” 

engaged in “telemarketing” and the provision of “debt relief service[s]” under the TSR. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.2(o), (dd), (ff), (gg). 

7. While Federal Debt and Financial Document remain distinct active 

entities, for all practical purposes, Federal Debt started to operate as Financial 

Document in early 2017. 

8. Defendant Clear Solutions, Inc. (Clear Solutions) is a Maryland 

corporation headquartered at 11615 Crossroads Circle, Suite M, Baltimore, MD 21220. 

Incorporated on or about March 28, 2014, Clear Solutions is under the common control 

of the same principals who own and control Federal Debt and Financial Document. 

Clear Solutions is therefore an “affiliate” of both Federal Debt and Financial Document. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(1). Additionally, because Clear Solutions processed consumer payments 

for and provided other services, such as maintaining bank accounts, to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document, Clear Solutions is a “service provider” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26), thereby making it a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(B).  

9. Defendant Vincent Piccione is or was an owner of Federal Debt, Financial 

Document, and Clear Solutions, either in his individual capacity or as the sole owner of 

the holding company Zeus Holding, LLC. At all material times, Vincent Piccione 

managed, formulated, directed, designed, controlled or had the authority to control, and 

materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of Federal Debt and Financial 

Document. He was the president of Federal Debt and Financial Document and was 

charged with managerial responsibility for the companies. He also developed their 

marketing materials, oversaw their marketing activities, identified consumers to solicit, 
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and exercised final decision-making authority over Federal Debt and Financial 

Document. Vincent Piccione is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA and a 

“covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B) & (C)(i)-(ii). 

10. Defendant David Piccione is or was an owner of Federal Debt, Financial 

Document, and Clear Solutions until about June 2017, either in his individual capacity 

or as the sole owner of the holding company Federal Debt Relief, LLC. At all material 

times before about June 28, 2017, David Piccione managed, formulated, directed, 

designed, controlled or had the authority to control, and materially participated in the 

conduct of the affairs of Federal Debt and Financial Document. David Piccione was the 

telemarketing-sales floor manager of Federal Debt and Financial Document and was 

charged with managerial responsibility for the companies’ telemarketing sales. He also 

ensured that their personnel followed telemarketing-sales scripts, and he participated in 

the development of the companies’ marketing materials. David Piccione is therefore a 

“related person” under the CFPA and a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(25)(B) & (C)(i)-(ii).  

11. Defendant Robert Pantoulis is or was an owner of Federal Debt, Financial 

Document, and Clear Solutions, either in his individual capacity or as the sole owner of 

the holding company Nickobob, LLC. At all material times, Robert Pantoulis managed, 

formulated, directed, designed, controlled or had the authority to control, and 

materially participated in the conduct of the affairs of Federal Debt and Financial 

Document. He was the director of client services of Federal Debt and Financial 

Document with managerial responsibility for their debt-management programs. Robert 

Pantoulis is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA and a “covered person” under 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). 
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12. Federal Debt, Financial Document, and Clear Solutions operate and have 

operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the unlawful acts and practices 

alleged herein. Federal Debt and Financial Document conducted the business practices 

described below as interrelated companies that have common ownership, officers, 

managers, employees, office location, and mailing addresses. Clear Solutions is integral 

to the operation of Federal Debt and Financial Document, was advertised as Federal 

Debt’s and Financial Document’s parent company, and, on information and belief, Clear 

Solutions conducted business only with Federal Debt and Financial Document. The 

three companies share common ownership and officers as well as an office location and 

mailing address. Because Federal Debt, Financial Document, and Clear Solutions have 

operated as a common enterprise, each of them is jointly and severally liable for the acts 

and practices alleged below. Individual Defendants David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, 

and Robert Pantoulis formulated, directed, designed, controlled, had the authority to 

control, and materially participated in the acts and practices of the corporate 

Defendants that constitute the common enterprise. 

FACTS 

Defendants’ Debt-Relief Services 

13. Since about January 14, 2016, Federal Debt and Financial Document have 

marketed themselves as debt-management companies, offering debt-relief and credit-

repair services under the guise of providing so-called debt-validation services. Federal 

Debt and Financial Document have each operated under the name FDAA. 

14. Federal Debt and Financial Document have claimed, through their so-

called debt-validation programs, that they ensure that consumers receive a portion of 

the fines and restitution the Bureau obtains in enforcement actions against banks and 

credit-card issuers in the form of credit-card-debt reduction. Federal Debt and Financial 
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Document, however, do not have and never have had any involvement in providing 

relief or restitution that was obtained by the Bureau for consumers. 

15. Touting their programs as being approved by the Federal Trade 

Commission (FTC), Federal Debt and Financial Document told consumers that they and 

their agents “are authorized to review, consult, and prepare consumer protection 

documents on your behalf.” Federal Debt and Financial Document are not and never 

have been affiliated with, endorsed by, or sponsored by the Bureau or the FTC to 

provide any relief to consumers, including reducing credit-card debt. 

16. Federal Debt and Financial Document have claimed that their debt-

management programs were the most beneficial debt-relief options available because 

they would reduce consumers’ principal debts by “at least 60%” and improve 

consumers’ credit scores within the first year.  

17. In exchange for an upfront fee of about $12,000 or installment payments 

totaling as much as $19,000, Federal Debt and Financial Document claimed they would 

achieve a 60% reduction in principal debt and improve credit scores through the 

following process: 

a. Federal Debt or Financial Document would instruct all consumers to 

stop making payments on the debts they enrolled in the program.  

b. When a third-party collector or service provider would contact a 

consumer about an enrolled debt, Federal Debt or Financial Document 

would respond on the consumer’s behalf with a “Notice and Demand 

for Verification of Debt” (NDVD).  

c. The NDVD was not tailored to the consumer’s dispute or to the facts 

surrounding the consumer’s debt; rather, the same boilerplate NDVD 
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was sent to any third-party collector or service provider that contacted 

an enrolled consumer.  

d. If, within 30 days, the debt collector or service provider failed to 

answer all of the questions or failed to submit all of the requested 

documents in the NDVD, Federal Debt or Financial Document would 

send the debt collector or service provider a “Notice of Insufficient 

Response” (NOI) stating that they had not complied with the NDVD.  

e. If Federal Debt or Financial Document did not receive what it 

considered to be a sufficient response by the 15th day after sending the 

NOI, it would deem the debt invalid and produce a “commercial 

record” stating that the debt balance had been reduced to zero.  

f. Federal Debt or Financial Document would then offer consumers 

“credit restoration as part of the program” that purported to improve 

consumers’ credit scores.  

Defendants’ Marketing and Advertising 
of Their Debt-Relief and Credit-Repair Services 

 
18. Federal Debt and Financial Document purchased consumer information 

from national list brokers, selecting consumers who were using at least 85% of the 

available credit on their credit cards, with at least $30,000 in debt on those cards, and 

who were current but had a recent delinquency. Federal Debt and Financial Document 

focused on individuals who were in financial distress. 

19. Federal Debt and Financial Document primarily relied on callbacks from 

direct mailers, voicemail drops, and avatar calls to attract consumers.  
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20. Voicemail drops are prerecorded messages directed to consumers’ cell-

phone voicemails that may not cause the cell phone to ring before delivering the 

prerecorded voicemail.  

21. Avatar calls are calls made to consumers’ phones that play a prerecorded 

message when consumers answer. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s 

prerecorded message advised consumers to press 1 to speak with a “Federal Debt 

Specialist.” 

22. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s voicemail drops and avatar calls 

stated that the consumer had credit cards involved in “class-action lawsuits” in which 

settlements of over $200 billion in fines and restitution had been reached. To verify the 

consumer’s eligibility to receive a portion of the fines and restitution or a reduction of 

his or her credit-card debt, the consumer was instructed to contact Federal Debt or 

Financial Document. 

23. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s direct mailers were designed to 

look like an official government notice. 

24. Specifically, the direct mailer referred to itself as a “regulatory 

notification,” listed an “entitlement amount,” and assigned the consumer a “case 

number.” 

25. While aspects of the direct mailers changed over time (e.g., the name 

changed from Federal Debt to Financial Document, the mailing address changed, and 

typographical errors were fixed), the design and substance of the direct mailer did not 

change throughout the relevant period. Below is a representation of the configuration of 

the top portion of the direct mailer. 
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26. The body of the direct mailer stated, among other things, “[s]ince the 

CFPB[’s] creation Bank of America, Citibank, JP Morgan Chase, Capital One Financial, 

American Express, Discover Financial Services and other financial institutions have 

been charged fine[s] and restitution to consumers of over $200 billion dollars for 

financial malfeasance and credit card misconduct,” and that “[b]ased on these relevant 

findings within the regulatory provisions the FDAA has established” its program. 

Federal Debt’s direct mailer referred to its program as “the Federal Debt Assistance 

Program herein with referred to as FDAP,” and Financial Document’s direct mailer 

referred to its program as “the Financial Document Assistance Program herein with 

referred to as FDAP.” 

27. The direct mailer also advised the recipient that Federal Debt or Financial 

Document “has reviewed your credit card records and determined you may be entitled 

to reduce your credit card debt of [amount of debt] to the amount of [about 40% of the 

amount of debt]. You have been issued an FDAP case number located in the upper right 

of this regulatory notification. To register for FDAP call 877-777-7845 and receive your 

[about 60% of the amount of debt] dollars in credit card reduction.”  
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28. The seal used on the companies’ letterheads and as the watermark on their 

direct mailers (images on the left below) shared several similarities with the Great Seal 

of the United States (image on the right below). Both display: 

a. an eagle in the center of the seal holding a ribbon in its mouth and an olive 

branch and arrows in its talons; 

b. a shield in the center of the eagle with a solid color band above 13 vertical 

stripes; and 

c. a constellation of 13 stars above the eagle’s head.  

 

29. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s direct mailer was sent in an 

orange envelope that included the seal described above and a Washington D.C. return 

address, although Federal Debt and Financial Document only operated from Maryland 

addresses. The envelope also was labeled with an official-looking “WARNING,” 

complete with a citation to the United States Code, threatening a fine or imprisonment 

for tampering with the letter. 

30. The following is an example of the envelope used by Federal Debt and 

Financial Document to solicit consumers: 
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Defendants’ Misrepresentations 
about Debt Elimination and Credit Repair 

 
31. Consumers who contacted Federal Debt and Financial Document spoke 

with a self-proclaimed “federal debt specialist” or “debt specialist.” 

32. When speaking to consumers, Federal Debt and Financial Document 

required their personnel to follow scripts to market services, answer consumers’ 

questions, and enroll consumers in the debt-management program. 

33. Federal Debt and Financial Document ensured that telemarketing 

personnel were, in fact, following the scripts through quality-control measures, thereby 

maintaining control over their telemarketers’ interactions with consumers.  

34. Telemarketing scripts directed personnel to begin the first call with each 

consumer by describing actions brought by the Bureau against banks and credit-card 

issuers.  

35. Telemarketing scripts stated, “Now, today I will be going over how the 

program works and what we do specifically to ensure that you receive a portion of these 

fines and restitution that these banks are forfeiting, in the form of credit card reduction. 

We do so by using the Debt Validation program. Debt Validation is an FTC approved 
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process and our organization and our agents are authorized to review, consult, and 

prepare consumer protection documents on your behalf.” 

36. If a consumer asked, “Is this a government program?” telemarketing 

scripts directed personnel to respond, “Regulations outlined in the 2009 Credit Card Act 

and 2010 Dodd Frank Consumer Protection Act allowed for the creation of the Federal 

Debt Assistance Association.” 

37. Telemarketing scripts directed personnel to claim that the offered program 

was “more beneficial than the other relief programs that exist” because it would reduce 

consumers’ principal-debt balances “by at least 60%.”  

38. Telemarketing scripts directed personnel to claim that the Federal Debt or 

Financial Document debt-management programs would only take one to two years and 

would leave the consumer with an improved credit score “potentially allowing you to 

receive the best rates on the market.” 

39. Federal Debt and Financial Document personnel would then gather the 

consumer’s personal information in order to obtain a copy of the consumer’s credit 

report and, with the consumer, go through each account on the report to verify the 

account information. 

40. Among the information that Federal Debt and Financial Document 

personnel verified was whether the consumer’s debts were credit-card debts, the current 

balances on the accounts, the interest rates on the accounts, and the monthly payments.  

41. Based on the account information, Federal Debt and Financial Document 

personnel would select which unsecured debts, typically credit-card debts, to enroll in 

the debt-management program. 

42. After obtaining all of the required account information, Federal Debt and 

Financial Document personnel explained how the debt-management program would 
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work and instructed the consumer that the first step was to “voluntarily stop making 

payments.”  

43. If the consumer asked why he or she should “stop making payments,” 

Federal Debt and Financial Document scripts directed personnel to respond that “you 

discontinuing monthly payments is the first step in disputing the validity of the debt. 

Quite frankly this is what the banks are looking for. Let me give you a little insight on 

the bank[’]s position. Once[] you voluntarily cease making payments to the creditor, 

they will be able to recoup the remaining balance on every account you enroll in our 

program. This is done by filing a Lender’s Risk policy claim. Th[is] is an insurance policy 

that the bank has on every single credit card account [that] allows them to recoup the 

total amount on the defaulted balance. Next, the bank charges off the account allowing 

them to write it off on their taxes. Customer Name, the banks are [not] done yet they 

continue to profit by selling off the account to a third party debt collection company. 

These immediate gains are astronomical. So, Customer Name, I am sure you can 

understand now why from a benefit analysis it really makes no sense for the bank to 

validate the debt.” 

44. Federal Debt and Financial Document scripts directed personnel to 

explain that they must wait until “the debt is sold off to a debt collector or another 3rd 

party servicer” to send the NDVD, and to inform consumers that if in the collector’s 

response to the NDVD, “one question or document is missing, then at that point the 

creditor/debt collector is in violation of the law.” 

45. Federal Debt and Financial Document scripts directed personnel to advise 

consumers about the purported legal basis of the debt-management programs when the 

debt collector or service provider did not respond to the NDVD to Federal Debt’s or 

Financial Document’s satisfaction. 
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46. Specifically, scripts stated, “The law specifically states SILENCE IS 

AQUIESCENCE which means essentially they are indirectly acknowledging violations 

have been committed. At this point the debt becomes invalid, uncollectable, and in 

conclusion the debt must be expunged from your credit report.”  

47. Federal Debt and Financial Document scripts further directed personnel 

to state that after the debt collector or service provider failed to respond to their 

satisfaction, “By law they are legally responsible to report to all 3 credit bureau[s] 

leaving no negative reflections on your credit report.” 

48. In response to a consumer asking about establishing new lines of credit, 

Federal Debt and Financial Document scripts directed personnel to respond, “we offer 

credit restoration as part of the program . . . which will assist in increasing your credit 

score well beyond where it was when you started this program.” 

49. In response to a consumer asking whether the bank could sue the 

consumer after the debt is deemed by Federal Debt or Financial Document to be invalid, 

scripts directed personnel to respond, “No, once the debt has been proven invalid we 

produce a commercial record indicating the balances have been reduced to zero, and 

based upon this record it is removed in its entirety from your credit report.” 

50. At no point before enrollment did Federal Debt or Financial Document 

advise consumers that they could be subject to lawsuits or incur additional fees or 

interest as a result of ceasing to make payments on their debts.  

51. At no point before enrollment did Federal Debt or Financial Document 

advise consumers that their programs would not eliminate debt as a matter of law. 

52. At no point before enrollment did Federal Debt or Financial Document 

inform consumers that for debt collectors subject to the FDCPA, where the debt has 
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been timely disputed, the debt collector must “cease collection of the debt” only until the 

debt collector obtains verification of the debt. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b).  

53. At no point did Federal Debt or Financial Document provide their credit-

restoration programs to consumers. 

Defendants’ Enrollment Process and Advance-Fee Collection 

54. Federal Debt and Financial Document required consumers to pay a fee of 

about $12,000 to enroll in their programs, which they required consumers to pay as an 

upfront fee or through an installment plan.  

55. If a consumer was unable to pay the entire $12,000 at enrollment, Federal 

Debt and Financial Document offered payment plans that included a down payment and 

monthly installments until the entire cost of the program was paid; such installment 

plans could total as much as $19,000. 

56. Federal Debt and Financial Document encouraged potential customers to 

make the largest down payment possible. 

57. From about April 1, 2016, to February 14, 2017, the companies’ scripts 

instructed personnel to state, “I can see that you have __________ available on 

__________ card and __________ available on __________ card. My suggestion 

is to make the largest down payment possible because we are enrolling these credit 

cards into the program and you are voluntarily ceasing making payments as of today on 

these cards. So in essence there is no out of pocket expense. And of course that will 

shorten your term of monthly payments.” 

58. If there was an outstanding balance after the down payment, Federal Debt 

and Financial Document offered consumers the ability to automatically debit monthly 

payments from the consumer’s checking or savings account until the balance was paid.  
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59. Before Federal Debt and Financial Document performed any work or 

prepared any letters on the consumer’s behalf, they required both a down payment and 

a signed contract from the consumer. 

60. Federal Debt and Financial Document have requested and received 

millions of dollars from hundreds of consumers seeking debt-relief and credit-repair 

services.  

COUNT I 
(Abusive Advance Fees for Debt-Relief Services Under the TSR) 

 
61. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

62. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to request or 

receive payment of any fee or consideration for any debt-relief service until and unless: 

a. the seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or 

otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other such valid 

contractual agreement executed by the customer; 

b. the customer has made at least one payment pursuant to that 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other valid 

contractual agreement between the customer and the creditor or debt 

collector; and 

c. to the extent that debts enrolled in a service are renegotiated, settled, 

reduced, or otherwise altered individually, the fee or consideration 

either (1) bears the same proportional relationship to the total fee for 

renegotiating, settling, reducing, or altering the terms of the entire debt 

balance as the individual debt amount bears to the entire debt amount; 

or (2) is a percentage of the amount saved as a result of the 
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renegotiation, settlement, reduction, or alteration. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.4(a)(5)(i). 

63. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing its debt-relief 

services, Federal Debt and Financial Document requested and received payment of a fee 

or consideration for a debt-relief service: 

a. before renegotiating, settling, reducing, or otherwise altering the terms 

of at least one debt pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt-

management plan, or other such valid contractual agreement executed 

by the customer; or   

b. where the fee or consideration (1) did not bear the same proportional 

relationship to the total fee for renegotiating, settling, reducing, or 

altering the terms of the entire debt balance as the individual debt 

amount bears to the entire debt amount, and (2) was not a percentage 

of the amount saved as a result of the renegotiation, settlement, 

reduction, or alteration. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i). 

64. Federal Debt and Financial Document engaged in abusive telemarketing 

acts or practices in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(5)(i). 

65. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 
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COUNT II 
(Abusive Advance Fees for Credit-Repair Services under the TSR) 

 
66. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

67. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to request or 

receive payment of any fee or consideration for goods or services represented to remove 

derogatory information from, or improve, a person’s credit history, credit record, or 

credit rating until and unless: 

a. the time frame in which the seller has represented all of the goods or 

services will be provided to that person has expired; and  

b. the seller has provided the person with documentation in the form of a 

consumer report from a consumer-reporting agency demonstrating 

that the promised results have been achieved, such report having been 

issued more than six months after the results were achieved. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.4(a)(2). 

68. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing its credit-repair 

services, Federal Debt and Financial Document requested and received payment of a fee 

or consideration for a credit-repair service before: (a) the time frame in which they 

represented all of the goods or services would be provided to the consumer expired; and 

(b) they provided the consumer with documentation in the form of a consumer report 

from a consumer-reporting agency demonstrating that the promised results were 

achieved, with the report having been issued more than six months after the results 

were achieved. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). 

69. Federal Debt and Financial Document engaged in abusive telemarketing 

acts or practices in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). 
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70. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

COUNT III 
(Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices Related to Material Aspects of 

 Debt-Relief and Credit-Repair Services under the TSR) 
 

71. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

72. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, 

directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material aspect of the 

performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of goods or services that are the 

subject of a sales offer. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

73. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing their debt-relief 

services and credit-repair services, Federal Debt and Financial Document 

misrepresented the following material aspects of their programs: 

a. their debt-relief programs would eliminate consumers’ principal 

balances by at least 60%; 

b. their debt-relief programs would leave consumers’ creditors without 

recourse on the debts when Federal Debt or Financial Document 

deemed the debts invalid; and  

c. their credit-restoration programs would increase consumers’ credit 

scores to higher than when the consumers enrolled.  

74. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s programs did not eliminate 

principal debt balances as a matter of law. 
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75. Consumers’ creditors, therefore, may be able to take legal action against 

enrolled consumers.  

76. The originating creditor of an enrolled consumer’s debt could have a basis 

to sue the consumer to collect the debt even after the consumer has completed Federal 

Debt’s or Financial Document’s program and Federal Debt or Financial Document has 

deemed the debt “invalid.”  

77. Federal Debt and Financial Document did not track the amount of 

consumers’ debts that their programs eliminated and, therefore, lacked a reasonable 

basis for claiming that they could eliminate debt.  

78. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s credit-restoration programs 

were never provided to any consumers, and they, therefore, lacked a reasonable basis for 

claiming they could improve consumers’ credit scores. 

79. Federal Debt and Financial Document, therefore, engaged in deceptive 

telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

80. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

COUNT IV 
(Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices 

Related to Material Aspects of Debt-Relief Services under the TSR) 
 

81. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

82. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, 

directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material aspect of any 

debt-relief service, including but not limited to the amount of money or the percentage 
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of the debt amount that a customer may save by using such service, and the effect of the 

service on collection efforts of the customer’s creditors or debt collectors. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(x). 

83. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing its debt-relief 

services, Federal Debt and Financial Document misrepresented the following material 

aspects of their programs: 

a. their programs would eliminate consumers’ principal balances by at 

least 60%; and 

b. their programs would leave consumers’ creditors without recourse on 

the debts when Federal Debt or Financial Document deemed the debts 

invalid. 

84. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s programs did not eliminate 

principal debt balances as a matter of law.  

85. Consumers’ creditors, therefore, may be able to take legal action against 

consumers on enrolled debts.  

86. The originating creditor of an enrolled consumer’s debt could have a basis 

to sue the consumer to collect the debt even after the consumer has completed the 

program and Federal Debt or Financial Document has deemed the debt “invalid.”  

87. Federal Debt and Financial Document did not track the amount of 

consumers’ debts that their programs eliminated and, therefore, lacked a reasonable 

basis for claiming that they could eliminate debt.  

88. Federal Debt and Financial Document, therefore, engaged in deceptive 

telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(x). 

89. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Case 1:17-cv-02997-GLR   Document 1   Filed 10/12/17   Page 22 of 28



23 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

COUNT V 
(Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices 

Related to Failing to Make Disclosures under the TSR) 
 

90. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

91. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer, in the sale of a 

debt-relief service that relies upon or results in the customer’s failure to make timely 

payments to creditors or debt collectors, to not clearly and conspicuously disclose before 

the consumer consents to pay, that the use of the debt-relief service: (1) may result in 

the customer being subject to collections or sued by creditors or debt collectors, and (2) 

may increase the amount of money the customer owes due to the accrual of fees and 

interest. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(C). 

92. In connection with telemarketing its debt-relief services, Federal Debt and 

Financial Document instructed consumers to stop making payments on the debts they 

enrolled in their programs, but they failed to disclose that not making payments may 

result in consumers being sued by creditors or debt collectors and may increase the 

amount of money consumers owe due to the accrual of fees and interest. 

93. Federal Debt and Financial Document, therefore, engaged in deceptive 

telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(C). 

94. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 
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COUNT VI 
(Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices 

Related to Affiliation with the Federal Government under the TSR) 
 

95. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

96. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer to misrepresent, 

directly or by implication, in the sale of goods or services, a seller’s or telemarketer’s 

affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, any government entity. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(vii). 

97. In connection with telemarketing its debt-relief services, Federal Debt and 

Financial Document represented that they were affiliated with, or were endorsed or 

sponsored by, the Federal government, specifically the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau and the FTC. 

98. Federal Debt and Financial Document are not, and never have been, 

affiliated with, endorsed by, or sponsored by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

the FTC, or any other state or federal-government agency.  

99. Federal Debt and Financial Document, therefore, engaged in deceptive 

telemarketing acts or practices in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii).  

100. Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis 

violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to Federal Debt and 

Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing that Federal Debt 

and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that violated the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

COUNT VII 
(Deceptive Acts or Practices Related to Material Aspects of 

Debt-Relief and Credit-Repair Services under the CFPA) 
 

101. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 
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102. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

their services, Federal Debt and Financial Document misrepresented that: 

a. their programs would eliminate consumers’ principal balances by at 

least 60%; 

b. their programs would leave consumers’ creditors without recourse on 

the debts when Federal Debt or Financial Document deemed the debts 

invalid; and  

c. their credit-restoration programs would increase consumers’ credit 

scores to be higher than when the consumers enrolled in their 

programs. 

103. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s programs did not eliminate 

principal debt balances as a matter of law.  

104. The originating creditor of an enrolled consumer’s debt could have a basis 

to sue the consumer to collect the debt even after the consumer completed the program 

and Federal Debt or Financial Document deemed the debt “invalid.”  

105. Federal Debt and Financial Document did not track the amount of 

consumers’ debts that their programs eliminated and, therefore, lacked a reasonable 

basis for claiming that their programs could eliminate debt.  

106. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s credit-restoration programs 

were never provided to any of its consumers, and Federal Debt and Financial Document, 

therefore, lacked a reasonable basis for claiming that their programs could improve 

consumers’ credit scores. 

107. These misrepresentations are material and likely to mislead a reasonable 

consumer. 

Case 1:17-cv-02997-GLR   Document 1   Filed 10/12/17   Page 25 of 28



26 

108. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s misrepresentations as set forth 

herein constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1). 

109. Defendants David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis each 

committed or engaged in deceptive acts or practices in connection with the offering of a 

consumer-financial product or service by directly contributing to the development, 

review, and approval of materials containing the aforementioned misrepresentations. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536.  

110. Defendants Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert 

Pantoulis violated the CFPA by knowingly or recklessly providing substantial assistance 

to Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(3). 

COUNT VIII 
(Deceptive Act or Practice Related to Affiliation 
with the Federal Government under the CFPA) 

 
111. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 60 are incorporated here by reference. 

112. In connection with the offering or provision of its services, Federal Debt 

and Financial Document represented, expressly or by implication, the net impression 

that Federal Debt and Financial Document are or were affiliated with, endorsed by, or 

sponsored by the Federal government, specifically by the Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau and the FTC.  

113. Federal Debt and Financial Document are not, and never have been, 

affiliated with, endorsed by, or sponsored by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

the FTC, or any other state or federal-government agency.  

114. This misrepresentation of government affiliation, endorsement, or 

sponsorship is material and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. 
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115. Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s misrepresentations constitute 

deceptive acts and practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). 

116. Defendants David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis each 

committed or engaged in deceptive acts or practices in connection with the offering of a 

consumer-financial product or service by directly contributing to the development, 

review, and approval of materials containing the aforementioned misrepresentations. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536.  

117. Defendants Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert 

Pantoulis violated the CFPA by knowingly or recklessly providing substantial assistance 

to Federal Debt’s and Financial Document’s deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(3). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565: 

a. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer injury 

during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility of 

effective final relief; 

b. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

TSR and the CFPA; 

c. order Defendants to pay redress to consumers harmed by their unlawful 

conduct; 

d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants; 

e. impose civil money penalties against Defendants; 

f. order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with 

proceeding with this action; and 
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g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 
Dated: October 12, 2017 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
KARA MILLER 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
__/s/____________________________ 
 
Mary Olson (District of Maryland Bar No. 
807644; Illinois Bar No. 6297334) 
Carmen L. Christopher (District of Maryland 
Bar No. 92566; California Bar No. 231508) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
230 S. Dearborn St., Suite 1590 
Chicago, IL 60604 
Telephone (Olson): 312-610-8977 
Telephone (Christopher): 312-610-8961 
Fax: 312-610-8971 
Mary.Olson@cfpb.gov 
Carmen.Christopher@cfpb.gov 
 
and 
 
Stephanie Duff-O’Bryan (Texas Bar No. 
24087448; NY Bar No. 5026224)* 
Enforcement Attorney 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone (Duff-O’Bryan): 202-435-9358 
Fax: 202-435-7722 
Stephanie.Duff-OBryan@cfpb.gov 
 
Attorneys for the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau 
 
* Special appearance for federal government 
attorney application is pending 
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CFPB Sues Debt-Relief Companies 

Illegally Posing As Federal Government

Bureau Alleges that Three Companies and Their Owners 

Charged Illegal Advance Fees, Lied About Debt-Relief 
Results

OCT 12, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

filed suit in federal court against two companies operating under the name “FDAA,” 

a service provider, and their owners for falsely presenting FDAA as being affiliated 

with the federal government. The CFPB also alleges that FDAA’s so-called “debt 

validation” programs violated the law by falsely promising to eliminate consumers’ 

debts and improve their credit scores in exchange for thousands of dollars in 

advance fees. The CFPB’s lawsuit seeks to end these deceptive practices, obtain 

redress for harmed consumers, and impose civil money penalties.

“FDAA and its owners lied to financially vulnerable consumers to line their pockets 

with cash,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Today’s lawsuit seeks to stop these 

deceptive practices, impose civil money penalties, and return to cheated consumers 

the fees they paid to these companies.”

Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC and Financial Document Assistance 

Administration, Inc., both operating as FDAA, are headquartered in Baltimore, 

Maryland. FDAA claims to provide advice and assistance to consumers to eliminate 

all or a portion of their debts and improve their credit scores. Clear Solutions, Inc., 

also headquartered in Baltimore, processed consumer payments for the FDAA 

companies and provided other services.

Vincent Piccione, David Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis own or owned the FDAA 

companies and Clear Solutions. Vincent Piccione was the president of and 

managed the FDAA companies, with responsibility for their marketing materials and 



solicitation of consumers. David Piccione was the telemarketing sales floor manager 

of the FDAA companies, managed the telemarketing sales of the companies, and 

participated in the development of the companies’ marketing materials. Robert 

Pantoulis was the director of client services of the FDAA companies and was 

responsible for their debt-management programs.

The CFPB’s lawsuit alleges that the companies lied about having an affiliation with 

the federal government to lure financially vulnerable consumers into paying 

thousands of dollars in illegal advance fees. The CFPB alleges that the FDAA 

companies falsely promised consumers debt relief and credit repair through so-

called “debt validation” programs that involved contacting creditors to dispute 

debts.  Under federal law, when a debt has been timely disputed, the debt collector 

must cease collection until it can obtain verification of the debt. But the FDAA 

companies falsely claimed to consumers that the money owed would be eliminated 

or reduced if the creditor did not respond to the FDAA companies’ satisfaction. 

These practices violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 

Protection Act and the Telemarketing Sales Rule. Specifically, the CFPB alleges that 

the companies and their owners engaged in the following illegal practices:

◾ Deceiving consumers about an affiliation with the federal government: The 

FDAA companies marketed themselves through direct mailers that were 

designed to look like an official government notice. The mailers stated that they 

were a “regulatory notification” with a case number and “entitlement amount.” 

The mailers and envelopes included a seal similar to the Great Seal of the United 

States. FDAA’s direct mailers and telemarketing scripts deceptively 

misrepresented an affiliation with the federal government. In letters sent to 

consumers, FDAA would falsely claim they can assist consumers in retrieving 

restitution from CFPB enforcement actions in the form of credit-card debt 

reduction.

◾ Deceiving consumers about the companies’ debt-relief and credit-repair 

services abilities: FDAA lied about the results that could be achieved. The 

companies falsely advertised that they would eliminate or reduce consumers’ 

principal balances by at least 60 percent, that creditors would be unable to 

collect the debts, and that the programs would increase consumers’ credit 

scores.

◾ Failing to make proper disclosures about not paying debts: FDAA instructed 

consumers to stop making payments on the debts enrolled in their program. 

However, they failed to disclose that not making payments may result in the 

consumer being sued by creditors or debt collectors and may increase the 

amount of money the consumer owes due to the accrual of fees and interest.



◾ Taking illegal advance fees for debt-relief and credit-repair services: Federal law 

prohibits the collection of fees before a credit-repair or debt-relief company 

achieves certain results. FDAA charged and received payment of fees for debt-

relief services before altering the terms of consumers’ debts. The companies also 

charged and received fees for credit-repair services without achieving the 

promised results.

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 

institutions and individuals violating consumer financial protection laws, including 

engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. The complaint against 

Federal Debt Assistance Association, Financial Document Assistance 

Administration, Clear Solutions, Vincent Piccione, David Piccione, and Robert 

Pantoulis seeks monetary relief, injunctive relief, and civil money penalties. The 

CFPB’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the companies or individuals have 

actually violated the law.

A copy of the complaint is available here: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201710_cfpb_FDAA-complaint.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the 

content, please contact the press office. 

Go to press resources page 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Freedom Debt Relief, LLC and 
Andrew Housser, 
 

Defendants. 

 
 
 
Case No. 3:17-cv-6484 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) files this Complaint 

against Freedom Debt Relief, LLC (“Freedom”) and Andrew Housser 

(collectively, “Defendants”) and alleges as follows: 

Introduction 

1. The Bureau brings this action under the Telemarketing and 

Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 6102(c), 6105(d) (2012); the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310 

(1995) (revised 2010); and §§ 1031, 1036(a), 1054, and 1055 of the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565 

(2012), in connection with the marketing and sale of debt-settlement or debt-

relief services. 

Jurisdiction 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it 

is brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the 

United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

Venue 

3. Venue is proper in this district because Freedom and Housser are 

located, reside, and do business here. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).  

Intradistrict Assignment 

4. Under the Local Rules of Practice in Civil Proceedings before the 

United States District Court for the Northern District of California, this action 

arises in the county of San Mateo because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred there. See Civil L.R. 3-2(c). This 

action should therefore be assigned to the San Francisco Division or the Oakland 

Division of this Court. See Civil L.R. 3-2(d). 
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Parties 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). It has independent litigating authority and may 

secure appropriate relief for violations of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), and 

the TSR, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c), 6105(d). 

6. Freedom, a Delaware corporation, maintains its principal place of 

business at 1875 S. Grant St., Suite 400, San Mateo, CA 94402. Freedom offers and 

provides “financial advisory services,” including debt-settlement services, to 

consumers owing unsecured debts to creditors. Those activities are “consumer 

financial services or products” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A), 

(15)(A)(viii)(II). Freedom is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6). Additionally, in connection with a campaign to use telephones 

to make interstate phone calls to consumers and to use advertisements to solicit 

calls from consumers to induce them to purchase its services, wherein Freedom 

offers to renegotiate, settle, or in any way alter the terms of payment or other 

terms of the debt between a person and one or more unsecured creditors or debt 

collectors, Freedom initiates and receives telephone calls from consumers. Thus, 

Freedom is a “telemarketer” offering a “debt relief service” under the TSR. 16 

C.F.R. § 310.2(o), (ff).  

7. Andrew Housser is the co-founder and co-CEO of Freedom. At all 

times material to this Complaint, Housser has exercised substantial control over 

and involvement in the establishment of Freedom’s business policies and 

practices described in the Complaint. At all times material to this Complaint, 

Housser has exercised managerial responsibility for Freedom and has materially 

participated in the conduct of its affairs. Housser is therefore a “related person.” 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii). Because Housser is a “related person,” he is 

deemed a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B).  
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Factual Background 

8. Freedom is a consumer-debt-settlement company. Established in 

2002, Freedom claims that it has successfully negotiated and settled consumer 

debts in excess of $7 billion for over 300,000 consumers who have enrolled in its 

debt-settlement program.  

9. Freedom required consumers enrolled in its debt-settlement program 

to deposit funds into dedicated accounts with an FDIC-insured bank. Freedom 

claimed that once there were sufficient funds in those accounts to make 

settlement offers to consumers’ creditors, Freedom would negotiate with the 

creditors to persuade them to accept less than the amounts actually owed. 

10. Freedom instructed its customers who had been making payments to 

their creditors to withhold any further payments and to change their billing 

addresses with their creditors to Freedom’s Arizona address, 4940 South 

Wendler Drive, Tempe, AZ 85828. 

11. Freedom would approve consumers for enrollment in its debt-

settlement program even if they were not delinquent on any debts at the time of 

enrollment. Freedom did not independently verify hardship claims or require 

consumers to provide supporting documentation for hardship claims as part of 

its underwriting efforts. 

12. When a debt enrolled in its debt-settlement program was settled or a 

creditor ceased attempts to collect the debt (in the absence of a settlement), 

Freedom would charge consumers fees that typically ranged between 18% and 

25% of the enrolled debt amount.  

Freedom’s Enrollment of Consumers and Lack of Disclosure 

13. Freedom’s employees received phone calls from prospective 

customers and initiated phone calls to prospective customers across the United 

States to persuade them to enroll in its debt-settlement program. 
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14. Before consumers enrolled in Freedom’s program, Freedom pulled 

credit reports of prospective customers. Freedom used the credit reports to 

confirm in its telephone discussions with prospective customers the identities of 

their creditors, the amounts owed to each creditor, the underlying nature of the 

debt owed to each creditor, and the payment status for each debt.  

15. Freedom’s underwriting department prepared a “Schedule of 

Creditors and Debt” listing each consumer’s creditors and the amounts owed to 

those creditors. The Schedule of Creditors and Debt was submitted to 

prospective customers for review and execution, and it became “Exhibit A” of 

the Debt Resolution Agreement that consumers entered into with Freedom for 

debt-settlement services.  

16. While Freedom’s Debt Resolution Agreement explained that 

consumers could withdraw from the program and terminate the agreement, it 

did not notify consumers that if they withdrew from the program, they would 

receive all funds in their accounts, minus any fees that Freedom had already 

earned.  

Freedom’s Knowledge That Certain Creditors Would Not Negotiate 

17. Freedom has long known that certain creditors have policies against 

negotiating with debt-settlement companies such as Freedom.  

18. For example, in late 2011, KPIX-TV (“CBS 5”), a local San Francisco 

television station, aired a story about two Freedom customers who complained 

about Freedom’s inability to settle debts they owed to Chase. Chase confirmed to 

CBS 5 that it “does not work with debt-settlement companies.” So as early as 

2011, Freedom had notice that Chase would not negotiate as a matter of 

corporate policy.  

19. Freedom has actively sought to reverse creditors’ policies against 

negotiating with debt-settlement companies. For years, it has maintained a team 

dedicated to meeting with creditors that have frequently refused to negotiate 
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with Freedom to persuade them to change their policies. On occasion, Housser 

accompanied this “creditor development team” on its meetings. And for years, 

Housser has been briefed every two weeks and has met frequently with the 

“creditor development team” to learn about its efforts to persuade creditors to 

negotiate with Freedom.  

20. In 2015, Freedom requested an in-person meeting with American 

Express. Freedom representatives met with American Express representatives in 

the summer of 2015 in an effort to have American Express reverse its policy 

against negotiating with debt-settlement companies. Freedom did not succeed, 

and American Express’s policy remained unchanged.  

21. In 2016, Freedom requested an in-person meeting with Chase. 

Freedom representatives met with Chase representatives in the summer of 2016 

in an effort to have Chase reverse its policy against negotiating with debt-

settlement companies. Freedom did not succeed, and Chase’s policy remained 

unchanged.  

22. Freedom has held multiple in-person meetings with Discover since 

2015—including in October 2015, April 2016, and March 2017—in an effort to 

have Discover reverse its policy against negotiating with debt-settlement 

companies. Freedom’s efforts have been unsuccessful; Discover’s policy has 

remained unchanged.  

Freedom’s False Claims That All Creditors Would Negotiate 

23. Despite knowing that certain creditors would not negotiate with it, 

Freedom told consumers that it could negotiate all of their debts.   

24. In company scripts, Freedom instructed employees in pre-enrollment 

telephone calls to mention its “professional Negotiations Division of 200 

negotiators” and to tell consumers that Freedom would “negotiate directly with 

[their] creditors to settle [their] debt for less than” what was owed. In marketing 

materials, Freedom touted its “negotiating power.” Freedom did not tell 
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consumers that there might be certain creditors with which it would be unable to 

“negotiate directly.” 

25. Since 2014, Section 2 of Freedom’s Debt Resolution Agreement 

consistently represented to consumers that Freedom would be “negotiating 

settlements.” Section 2 further represented that “each Creditor listed on Exhibit 

A will work with us to negotiate a settlement of your Debts.” Exhibit A of the 

Debt Resolution Agreement, the “Schedule of Creditors and Debt,” listed all 

debts a consumer enrolled in Freedom’s program and the creditors associated 

with those debts. 

26. Freedom made this representation even when the creditors listed on 

the Schedule of Creditors and Debt included Chase, American Express, Discover, 

Macy’s, Synchrony Bank, or other creditors either known to Freedom to have 

policies against working with debt-settlement companies or with track records of 

repeatedly refusing to negotiate with Freedom. 

27. Since at least 2013, when creditors refused to negotiate with Freedom, 

Freedom would tell some consumers to negotiate with their creditors directly 

and would give these consumers instructions on how to negotiate a settlement 

on their own. When consumers acting on their own were able to negotiate a 

settlement with their creditors, Freedom still charged consumers its fee, usually 

in the thousands of dollars per enrolled debt—even when Freedom had not 

directly negotiated with the creditors (or, in some cases, even communicated 

with the creditors).  
Freedom’s Instruction to Consumers to Deceive Creditors 

28. As part of the instructions given to consumers for negotiating 

settlements on their own, Freedom told consumers to expressly mislead their 

creditors when asked directly about their enrollment in a debt-settlement 

program. Freedom’s instructions to consumers stated: “If they ask you if you are 

enrolled into our program, let them know that as it pertains to this account, you 
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are looking to resolve it on your own.” Freedom directed consumers to make this 

representation to a creditor when the consumers were in fact enrolled in 

Freedom’s program to settle that creditor account.   

29. Freedom instructed consumers to represent to creditors that the 

source of settlement funds was from family, friends, tax refunds, or the sale of a 

vehicle. But this was not true; in fact, the funds came either from Freedom’s 

affiliated loan program or the funds consumers deposited in the dedicated 

account set up upon their enrollment in Freedom’s debt-settlement program. 

30. Freedom did not disclose to consumers during the enrollment 

process that Freedom might instruct them to mislead their creditors in the event 

those creditors refused to negotiate with Freedom.  

Freedom’s Deception of Consumers about Chargeable Events 

31. Since 2014, Section 2 of Freedom’s Debt Resolution Agreement stated, 

“We will not charge any fee for our services until we successfully resolve a debt 

for you and you have made a payment toward the settlement of that debt.” This 

is consistent with Freedom’s pre-enrollment telephone scripts, where Freedom 

instructed its employees to tell consumers that “NO FEES ARE ACCEPTED 

UNTIL WE SETTLE A DEBT and then only for the debt that was settled!” 

32. Contrary to this assertion, Freedom charged consumers its fee even 

when Freedom had not successfully settled consumers’ debts.  

33. For example, Freedom charged its fee when it had not directly 

negotiated with the creditors—or even communicated with the creditors—

because the consumers had negotiated a binding settlement on their own.  

34. Similarly, Freedom charged its fee when a creditor, in the absence of 

a binding settlement, stopped collecting from a consumer, sometimes following a 

charge-off. But these consumers could still be subject to collection efforts, and 

their credit reports could continue to reflect an unpaid or delinquent debt in the 

trade line for that creditor.  
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35. Freedom did not disclose to consumers that it would charge 

consumers its fee in such scenarios.  

Housser’s Substantial Involvement in Freedom’s Practices 

36. Housser has the authority and responsibility to approve Freedom’s 

policies and practices.  

37. Housser has the authority and responsibility to approve the content 

of the Debt Resolution Agreements. 

38. Housser’s name and signature appear on all Debt Resolution 

Agreements with consumers.  

39. Housser knew that the statement included in all Debt Resolution 

Agreements that creditors would work with Freedom to negotiate settlements 

was not always true with respect to certain creditors. Housser knew that certain 

creditors had policies against negotiating with debt-settlement companies. 

Housser knew that Freedom was often unable to negotiate with creditors who 

had such policies. 

40. Housser knew that the statement included in all Debt Resolution 

Agreements that consumers would only be charged if Freedom negotiated a 

settlement and consumers made payments toward those settlements was not 

true. Housser knew that Freedom would charge consumers in other undisclosed 

scenarios.  

41. Housser approved Freedom’s practice of coaching consumers when 

creditors would not negotiate with Freedom and approved charging consumers 

if they later settled their debts with creditors.   

Count I 

Defendants’ Violations of the CFPA 

(Deceiving Consumers Regarding Creditors’ Willingness to Negotiate with Freedom) 

42. The Bureau re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-41. 
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43. In connection with marketing its services, Freedom touted its 

“negotiating power” and has represented to consumers that its negotiators 

would “negotiate directly” with their creditors. In many instances, there was a 

significant chance that Freedom would be unable to negotiate directly with 

certain creditors having policies against negotiating with debt-settlement 

companies. Freedom has known of these creditors’ policies and of the significant 

chance that it would be unable to negotiate directly with those creditors, and 

Freedom has not notified consumers of these facts. 

44. Freedom has represented to consumers in its customized Debt 

Resolution Agreements that it believed all creditors, including creditors with 

which Freedom was often unable to negotiate, would work with Freedom to 

negotiate a settlement of debts. 

45.  Freedom’s statements have created the false net impression that 

Freedom itself would be able to negotiate directly with all creditors, including 

those that had policies against negotiating with debt-settlement companies. 

46. Freedom’s statements were false or misleading, were material to 

consumers’ decisions to enroll in Freedom’s debt-settlement program, and 

constituted deceptive acts and practices, in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

47. Housser has had significant responsibility for establishing Freedom’s 

policies and practices, and he has had substantial control over Freedom’s 

operations, including the content of its Debt Resolution Agreements.  

48. Housser directly contributed to the development, review, and 

approval of materials containing the aforementioned deceptive statements. 

49. Housser’s name and signature appeared on materials containing the 

aforementioned deceptive statements.   
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50. Housser has committed or engaged in deceptive acts or practices in 

connection with the offering of a consumer-financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

51. Housser knowingly or recklessly has provided substantial assistance 

to Freedom, a covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count II 

Defendants’ Violations of the CFPA 

(Deceiving Consumers Regarding Charges) 

52. The Bureau re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-41. 

53. Freedom has represented to consumers that it would not charge any 

fee for its services until it settled a debt and consumers have made a settlement 

payment to the creditor. In fact, Freedom has charged consumers its fee in cases 

where it did not settle the consumer’s debt and the consumer did not make a 

settlement payment.   

54. Freedom’s statements concerning the circumstances when consumers 

would be charged fees were false or misleading, were material to consumers’ 

decisions to enroll in Freedom’s debt-settlement program, and constituted 

deceptive acts and practices, in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

55. Housser has had significant responsibility for establishing Freedom’s 

policies and practices, and he has had substantial control over Freedom’s 

operations, including the content of its Debt Resolution Agreements. 

56. Housser directly contributed to the development, review, and 

approval of materials containing the aforementioned deceptive statements. 

57. Housser’s name and signature appeared on materials containing the 

aforementioned deceptive statements.   
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58. Housser has committed or engaged in deceptive acts or practices in 

connection with the offering of a consumer-financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

59. Housser has knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance 

to Freedom, a covered person engaged in deceptive acts and practices, in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count III 

Defendants’ Violations of the CFPA 

(Abusively Requiring Consumers to Negotiate on their Own) 

60. The Bureau re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-41. 

61. When Freedom has been unable to negotiate with creditors, Freedom 

has told some consumers to negotiate with their creditors directly and has given 

them instructions on how to negotiate settlements on their own. 

62. Freedom’s instructions to these consumers included directions to 

mislead their creditors by concealing the fact of their enrollment in Freedom’s 

debt-settlement program and misrepresenting the source of the funds available 

for settlement.  

63. Freedom did not disclose to consumers before they enrolled in its 

program that they might be required to negotiate with creditors on their own, 

including by deceiving their creditors, in order to settle their debts. Freedom also 

did not disclose to consumers before they enrolled in its program that Freedom 

charged consumers its fee, usually in the thousands of dollars per enrolled debt, 

even when consumers themselves—not Freedom—negotiated the debt 

settlements.  

64. Freedom repeatedly has represented to consumers that Freedom 

would be able to negotiate with their creditors—including the specific creditors 

referenced in consumers’ customized Debt Resolution Agreements—and did not 

ensure that consumers understood that certain creditors might not negotiate with 
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Freedom. Accordingly, many of these consumers did not understand that a 

material condition of Freedom’s debt-settlement program would be having to 

negotiate with creditors themselves. 

65. Freedom took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of 

understanding by, with full knowledge of its own misrepresentations and failure 

to correct them, enrolling consumers in its debt-settlement program who 

reasonably might have chosen not to enroll if they understood that they might 

have to negotiate with creditors themselves. 

66. Freedom’s practice of enrolling consumers in its debt-settlement 

program under these circumstances took unreasonable advantage of the 

consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or conditions of 

enrolling in Freedom’s debt-settlement program, and it is abusive in violation of 

§§ 1031(d)(2)(A) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

67. Housser has had significant responsibility for establishing Freedom’s 

policies and practices, and he has had substantial control over Freedom’s 

operations, including the content of its Debt Resolution Agreements and the 

guidance offered to consumers regarding negotiating with their creditors. 

68. Housser directly contributed to the development, review, and 

approval of Freedom’s Debt Resolution Agreements and the guidance they offer 

to consumers. 

69. Housser’s name and signature appeared on the Debt Resolution 

Agreements.  

70. Housser has committed or engaged in abusive acts or practices in 

connection with the offering of a consumer-financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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71. Housser has knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance 

to Freedom, a covered person engaged in abusive acts and practices, in violation 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count IV 

Defendants’ Violations of the TSR and the CFPA 

(Failure to Clearly and Conspicuously Disclose Consumers’ Rights to Funds) 

72. The Bureau re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-41. 

73. It is a violation of the TSR for any seller or telemarketer in connection 

with the sale of any debt-relief service requiring customers to place funds in an 

account at an insured financial institution to fail to disclose truthfully, in a clear 

and conspicuous manner before customers consent to pay for those services, that 

customers own the funds held in the accounts, that customers may withdraw 

from the debt-relief service at any time without penalty, and that, if customers 

withdraw, they must receive all funds in the accounts other than funds earned by 

the debt-relief service. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(D). 

74. Freedom has requested or required its customers to place funds in an 

account at an insured financial institution.  

75. Freedom did not clearly and conspicuously disclose that if a 

customer withdrew, the customer must receive all funds in the account, other 

than funds earned by Freedom. 

76. The Bureau is authorized to enforce the Telemarketing Act with 

respect to the offering or provision of a consumer financial product or service 

subject to the CFPA. 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d).  

77. Freedom’s failure to disclose in a clear and conspicuous manner that 

consumers would receive all funds in the account was a deceptive act or practice 

in telemarketing, in violation of the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(D). 
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78. In addition, Freedom’s violation of the TSR is treated as a violation of 

a rule under § 1031 of the CFPA. 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c). Freedom therefore has also 

violated the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

79. Housser directly contributed to the development, review, and 

approval of Freedom’s Debt Resolution Agreements, and Housser’s name and 

signature appeared on the Debt Resolution Agreements.  

80. Housser knew or consciously avoided knowing that Freedom failed 

to clearly and conspicuously disclose that consumers must receive all funds in 

the account other than fees earned by Freedom upon withdrawal, in violation of 

the TSR. 

81. Housser’s conduct has violated the TSR’s ban on assisting and 

facilitating others’ violations of that rule. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

82. Housser’s violation of the TSR is treated as a violation of a rule under 

§ 1031 of the CFPA. 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c). Housser has therefore violated 

§ 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

83. Housser has knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance 

to Freedom’s violation of the TSR. Housser has therefore violated § 1036(a)(3) of 

the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).  

Demand for Relief 

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of 

the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6102(c), 6105(d); the TSR, 16 

C.F.R. pt. 310; and §§ 1031, 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a), and any other provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” 

as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper; 
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c. order Defendants to pay redress to consumers harmed by its 

unlawful conduct; 

d. order Defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten gains; 

e. impose on Defendants civil money penalties;  

f. award costs against Defendants; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

   
Dated: November 8, 2017 Respectfully Submitted, 

Anthony Alexis (DC Bar No. 384545) 
Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich (FL Bar No. 51561)  
Deputy Enforcement Director  
Kara Miller (VA Bar No. 47821) 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
s/ Maxwell S. Peltz 
Maxwell S. Peltz (CA Bar No. 183662) 
Patricia H. Hensler (FL Bar No. 102303) 
Lawrence D. Brown (TX Bar No. 24040586) 
Hai Binh Nguyen (CA Bar No. 313503) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone (Peltz): 415-633-1328 
Telephone (Hensler): 202-435-7829 
Telephone (Brown): 202-435-7116 
Telephone (Nguyen): 202-435-7251 
Fax: 202-435-7722 
Email: maxwell.peltz@cfpb.gov 
Email: patricia.hensler@cfpb.gov 
Email: lawrence.brown@cfpb.gov 
Email: haibinh.nguyen@cfpb.gov 
 
Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues Freedom Debt Relief For 

Misleading Consumers About Its Debt-

Settlement Services

Company Deceives Consumers About Its Negotiating Power, 

the Reach of Its Services, Its Fees, and Consumers’ Rights to 
Their Own Funds

NOV 08, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

filed a lawsuit against Freedom Debt Relief, the nation’s largest debt-settlement 

services provider, and its co-CEO Andrew Housser for deceiving consumers. The 

CFPB alleges that Freedom charges consumers without settling their debts as 

promised, makes customers negotiate their own settlements, misleads them about 

its fees and the reach of its services, and fails to inform them of their rights to funds 

they deposited with the company. The CFPB is seeking compensation for harmed 

consumers, civil penalties, and an injunction against Freedom and Housser to halt 

their unlawful conduct.

“Freedom took advantage of vulnerable consumers who turned to the company for 

help getting out of debt,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Freedom deceived 

consumers about its clout with creditors that it knows do not negotiate with debt-

settlement companies, made some customers negotiate on their own, and misled 

consumers about its fees and their accounts. Today’s lawsuit seeks to stop the 

deception and get compensation for consumers Freedom cheated.”

Freedom Debt Relief, part of Freedom Financial Network and based in San Mateo, 

California, is the largest debt-settlement services provider in the United States. 

Andrew Housser is the company’s co-CEO and co-founder. Freedom claims that it 

has successfully negotiated and settled more than $7 billion in debts for more than 

300,000 consumers. Through telemarketing contacts with prospective customers, 



Freedom learns who their creditors are, the amounts owed to each, and the nature 

of the debts. Freedom requires customers enrolled in its debt-settlement program 

to deposit money into dedicated accounts with an FDIC-insured bank. Freedom 

tells consumers that when the accounts have sufficient funds to make settlement 

offers, Freedom will negotiate with consumers’ creditors to persuade them to 

accept less than the actual amounts owed. When a debt is settled, Freedom 

charges consumers fees that range between 18 percent and 25 percent of the 

amount of debt the consumer owed on the day they signed up for the program. 

The agreement Freedom offers to consumers claims that, in general, all creditors 

will negotiate with Freedom. Yet Freedom knows that some creditors refuse to 

negotiate with debt-settlement companies. In these instances, Freedom sometimes 

“coaches” consumers instead of dealing with creditors directly. Freedom also tells 

consumers it will charge a fee only when it negotiates a debt settlement and 

consumers make a payment. But Freedom charges its full fee even when creditors 

simply stop collections without a settlement and when consumers negotiate 

settlements on their own. The company also fails to clearly disclose consumers’ 

rights to their account funds when they withdraw from the program. These practices 

violate the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule. According to the CFPB’s complaint, Freedom:

◾ Misleads consumers about creditors’ willingness to negotiate: Freedom markets 

its “negotiating power,” but Freedom knows that certain major creditors have 

policies against negotiating with debt-settlement companies. Freedom does not 

make clear to consumers that they may need to handle the negotiations with 

those creditors themselves.

◾ Deceives consumers about the extent of its services: Freedom leads consumers 

to believe that the company’s experienced negotiators will deal directly with their 

creditors. But after they enroll with Freedom and deposit funds into an account, 

some consumers learn that Freedom offers only guidance or “coaching” on how 

to negotiate settlements on their own.

◾ Deceives consumers about its fees: Freedom falsely claims that it charges 

consumers only when it negotiates a settlement of a debt and consumers make a 

payment under the terms of the settlement. In fact, Freedom charges consumers 

its full fee even when creditors simply stop collection efforts in the absence of a 

negotiated settlement and consumer payment and when it takes no action on a 

consumer’s account.

◾ Fails to disclose consumers’ rights to funds: Freedom does not clearly and 

conspicuously inform consumers that they are entitled to get back the funds in 

their accounts if they leave the debt-settlement program.



Andrew Housser co-founded and continues to exercise managerial responsibility 

for Freedom. Housser has the authority and responsibility to approve Freedom’s 

policies and practices and to approve the content of the debt-resolution 

agreements that consumers sign with Freedom and on which his name and 

signature appear. Housser knows certain creditors will not negotiate with Freedom, 

but its debt-resolution agreements claim that all creditors are willing to work with 

the company. Housser also knows that Freedom charges consumers even if it 

doesn’t negotiate settlements with creditors. Yet he allows its agreements to assure 

consumers they will be charged only if there’s a settlement and consumers make a 

payment. The CFPB alleges that Housser has violated the Dodd-Frank Act and the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule.

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against 

institutions and individuals violating consumer financial protection laws, including 

engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. The complaint against 

Freedom Debt Relief and Andrew Housser seeks monetary relief, injunctive relief, 

and civil money penalties. The CFPB’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the 

company or individual has actually violated the law.

The complaint is available here: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_freedom-debt-relief-

llc_complaint_112017.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MONTANA 
GREAT FALLS DIVISION 

 
 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Think Finance, LLC, formerly known 
as Think Finance, Inc., 
  

Defendant. 

 
 
 
Case No. ________________ 
 
COMPLAINT  
 
 

 
 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) alleges the following 

against Defendant Think Finance, LLC, formerly known as Think Finance, Inc.  
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Think Finance has overseen, directed, or administered the origination 

of and collection of loans that are void in whole or in part under state law.  

2. Defendant’s participation in the collection of void loans is deceptive, 

unfair, and abusive.  

3. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

4. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C § 1345.  

5. Venue is proper in this district because Defendant does business here. 

12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

 
PARTIES 

 
6. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States 

Government created by the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is charged 

with enforcing Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564.  

7. The Bureau is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings 

in its own name and through its own attorneys to address violations of Federal 
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consumer financial law, including violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)–

(b).  

8. Defendant is a privately held company that lists its principal place of 

business as 5080 Spectrum Drive, Suite 700 West, Addison, Texas 75001. 

9. Defendant, according to its website, “provides software technology, 

analytics, and marketing services to financial clients in the consumer lending 

industry.”  

10. Defendant owns (directly or indirectly) and controls several entities, 

through which Defendant operates its internet lending business including: Think 

Finance SPV, LLC, Financial U, LLC, TC Loan Service, LLC, Tailwind 

Marketing, LLC, TC Administrative Services, LLC, and TC Decision Sciences, 

LLC (collectively “the subsidiaries”). 

11. The subsidiaries have no assets, bank accounts, locations, activities or 

employees separate from Defendant. The subsidiaries conduct no business without 

the involvement and control of Defendant. Defendant is responsible for the 

subsidiaries’ financial obligations, and Defendant is the financial beneficiary of the 

subsidiaries’ operations. Defendant is responsible for performing all of the 

subsidiaries’ contractual obligations, making all their business decisions, and 

conducting all their operations.  
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12. Since 2011, Defendant has extended credit and collected on the 

extension of credit in the form of online installment loans and online lines of credit 

to consumers residing in this District and throughout the United States. 

13. Defendant extends credit and services loans offered or provided for 

use by consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(i), and collects debt related to a consumer financial product or 

service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), both of which are consumer financial 

products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A); Defendant is 

therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A).  

14. From 2011 through at least 2015, Defendant has performed critical 

functions for three separate lending businesses owned by Native American Tribes: 

(1) Great Plains Lending, LLC (Great Plains); (2) MobiLoans, LLC (MobiLoans); 

and (3) Plain Green, LLC (Plain Green) (collectively, the Tribal lenders). 

Defendant is therefore a “service provider” under CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

15. Great Plains is owned by the Otoe-Missouria Tribe in Oklahoma. 

Great Plains also offered installment loans from $1,000 to $3,000 with effective 

annual interest rates of 118% to 448%. Great Plains stopped making loans to new 

customers on or about the end of 2016, and it stopped extending new loans to prior 

customers as of March 31, 2017.  
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16. MobiLoans is owned by the Tunica Biloxi Tribe in Louisiana. 

MobiLoans offers a line of credit product with effective annual interest rates of 

15% to more than 200%.  

17. Plain Green is owned by the Chippewa Cree Tribe of the Rocky Boy’s 

Indian Reservation in Montana. Plain Green offers installment loans from $500 to 

$3,000 with effective annual interest rates of 150% to 375%. Plain Green 

terminated its relationship with Defendant effective June 1, 2016.  

18. Defendant provided material services to Great Plains and MobiLoans 

in connection with extending credit and collecting on the extension of credit in the 

form of online installment loans and online lines of credit to consumers residing in 

this District and throughout the United States. 

19. Defendant provided material services to Plain Green, which is located 

in this District, in connection with extending credit and collecting on the extension 

of credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers residing throughout 

the United States. 

20. Defendant substantially assisted Great Plains and MobiLoans in 

connection with extending credit and collecting on the extension of credit in the 

form of online installment loans and online lines of credit to consumers residing in 

this District and throughout the United States. 
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21. Defendant substantially assisted Plain Green, which is located in this 

District, in connection with extending credit and collecting on the extension of 

credit in the form of online installment loans to consumers throughout the United 

States. 

22. Defendant continues to provide material services and substantial 

assistance to Great Plains and MobiLoans in collecting on the extension of credit in 

the form of online installment loans and online lines of credit to consumers 

residing in this District and throughout the United States. 

23. The Tribal lenders extend credit and service loans offered or provided 

for use by consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i), and collect debt related to a consumer financial product 

or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), both of which are consumer financial 

products or services covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A); Great Plains, 

MobiLoans, and Plain Green are therefore “covered person[s]” under the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A).  

24. Under Defendant’s direction and supervision, Capital Management 

Services L.P. (CMS), Yessio, LLC (Yessio), and others collect on void loans and 

extensions of credit held by the Tribal lenders. 

25. From at least 2011 through the present, Defendant provided a material 

service to CMS and Yessio in connection with collecting on the extension of credit 
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in the form of online installment loans and online lines of credit to consumers 

residing in this District and throughout the United States. 

26. From at least 2011 through the present, Defendant substantially 

assisted CMS and Yessio and others in connection with collecting on the extension 

of credit in the form of online installment loans and online lines of credit to 

consumers residing in this District and throughout the United States. 

27. CMS, Yessio, and others collect debt related to a consumer financial 

product or service, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(x), which is a consumer financial 

product or service covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A); CMS and Yessio 

are therefore “covered person[s]” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A).  

DEFENDANT’S BUSINESS PRACTICES 
 

28. The Tribal lenders began originating and collecting on loans in 2011. 

29. Beginning in 2011, the Tribal lenders and Defendant provided high-

cost, small-dollar installment loans and lines of credit over the internet to 

consumers across the United States. 

30. From 2011 through the present, Defendant has provided many critical 

functions for Great Plains and MobiLoans, including marketing, advertising, 

hosting websites, routing customer calls, training customer service agents to handle 

customer calls, monitoring Great Plains and MobiLoans employees, providing and 

maintaining a loan servicing platform, providing and maintaining loan origination 
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software, identifying third party collection agencies, and facilitating the sale of 

delinquent accounts.  

31. From 2011 through mid-2016, Defendant provided many critical 

functions for Plain Green, including marketing, advertising, hosting websites, 

routing customer calls, training customer service agents to handle customer calls 

(including in-person training on the Chippewa Cree reservation), monitoring Plain 

Green employees, providing and maintaining a loan servicing platform, providing 

and maintaining loan origination software, identifying third party collection 

agencies, and facilitating the sale of delinquent accounts. 

32. During the periods referenced in Paragraphs 30 and 31, when a loan 

was funded, the Tribal lenders paid Tailwind Marketing, LLC (a Defendant-owned 

entity) $100 for marketing services and paid TC Decision Sciences, LLC (a 

Defendant-owned entity) $150 for use of the underwriting and servicing platform.  

33. Defendant managed the collection activities of CMS and Yessio.  

34. Defendant drafted and administered the contracts between the Tribal 

lenders and CMS and Yessio. 

35. Defendant drafted call scripts and monitored collection calls made by 

CMS and Yessio. 
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36. Defendant monitored collection rates of CMS and Yessio and 

managed the transfer of delinquent accounts from the Tribal lenders to CMS and 

Yessio.  

Defendant Controlled the Tribal Lenders and Ran the Businesses 

37. As part of the marketing services provided to the Tribal lenders, 

Defendant analyzed information received/purchased from a credit reporting agency 

and then, with the permission of the Tribal lenders, sent loan solicitations via U.S. 

Mail to consumers that matched pre-determined criteria. 

38. Defendant’s marketing practices ensured that the same consumer did 

not receive a solicitation from more than one Tribal lender, thus minimizing or 

eliminating competition between the Tribal lenders. 

39. After identifying a pool of prospective customers, Defendant decided 

which Tribal lender’s solicitation it would send to individual consumers.  

40. In order to apply for a loan, consumers would visit a website hosted 

by Defendant and enter a series of personal information including: name, address, 

phone number, social security number, and bank and employment information.  

41. All loans were originated online, through websites hosted and 

maintained by Defendant in Texas.  

42. Once a consumer applied for a loan, Defendant’s computer system 

used an algorithm to assign a risk score to the applicant. The Tribal lenders 
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approved the risk score threshold below which all applicants were rejected and 

approved the data points used in the algorithm, but Defendant refused to share the 

algorithm with them. 

43. Other than approving the data points and the threshold for the 

algorithm, the Tribal lenders did not make decisions on which loans to fund, and 

which applications to reject. 

Defendant Holds Most of the Financial Risk and  
Receives Most of the Profit from the Lending Businesses 

 
44. The Tribal lending businesses were largely funded by GPLS, an 

investment fund. Although there are other investors in GPLS, Defendant 

substantially invests in and is responsible for the operations of the fund. One of the 

Tribal lenders, Plain Green, also obtained funding from at least two other 

investment sources, and Defendant was responsible for overseeing those 

investments as well. 

45. The Tribal lenders nominally provided consumers with loan funds, 

and two days later GPLS generally bought a 90–99% participation interest in the 

loans, leaving the remaining interest to the Tribal lenders.  

46. GPLS also paid each of the Tribal lenders a service fee of 

approximately 4% of the gross revenue of the loan portfolios. 

47. Until December 2015, GPLS also reimbursed all of the Tribal lenders’ 

expenses, including employee salaries, vendor fees, and the fees referenced in 
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Paragraph 32 that Defendant charged for its marketing activities and underwriting 

and servicing platforms. 

48. GPLS receives an 18% return on its investment, which is guaranteed 

by Defendant. 

49. After paying the 18% return to GPLS, the Tribal lenders’ expenses, 

and the Tribal lenders’ revenue share, Defendant retains the remainder of the 

revenue from the lending businesses. Since Defendant is a substantial investor in 

GPLS, Defendant also receives a substantial portion of the return paid to GPLS. 

50. Defendant holds most of the financial risk and receives most of the 

profit from the lending businesses. 

51. In October 2015, Plain Green terminated its business relationship with 

Defendant. 

Defendant and the Tribal Lenders Claim that  
Tribal Law Applies to the Consumer Loan Agreements 

 
52. At least some of the loan agreements drafted by Defendant for the 

Tribal lenders contain a choice-of-law provision that declares that the loans are 

made and accepted on tribal lands, and pursuant to tribal law, regardless of the 

consumers’ home states or relationship to the tribal lands.  

53. For example, a version of MobiLoans’s loan agreement included the 

following language: 
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This Agreement is governed by the laws of the Tunica-Biloxi Tribe of 
Louisiana, the Indian Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution 
and other applicable federal law. We do not have a presence in Louisiana 
or any other State of the United States of America. Neither this 
Agreement nor the Lender is subject to the laws of any State of the 
United States.  

 
54. Consumers who accessed the Tribal lenders’ websites, applied for 

credit, and signed loan agreements did so from their states of residence.  

55. The Tribal lenders have no storefronts on tribal lands to originate 

loans in person; consumers applied for loans over the internet. 

56. None of the Tribal lenders offered loans in the states where their tribal 

lands were located: MobiLoans did not offer loans in Louisiana, Great Plains did 

not offer loans in Oklahoma, and Plain Green did not offer loans in Montana. 

Defendant Electronically Credited and Debits Consumers’ Bank Accounts 
 

57. Defendant, on behalf of the Tribal lenders, uses non-tribally-affiliated 

banks to transfer funds to and from consumers in the United States, typically 

through Automated Clearing House (ACH) credit and debit entries. 

58. When consumers were approved for loans, the computer system 

created by Defendant dispersed funds directly into the consumers’ checking 

accounts, generally through ACH transfers. 

59. When consumer loan accounts became past-due, Defendant generally 

transferred servicing of the accounts to CMS and Yessio. 
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60. When consumer loan accounts became 60-days past-due, Defendant 

generally sold the loans to a debt collector. 

Defendant Told Consumers that the Loans Were Valid 
 

61. At numerous points during the loan origination and collection 

processes, Defendant told consumers, either explicitly or impliedly, that the loans 

were valid.  

62. Once each loan was disbursed to a consumer, the computer system 

created by Defendant communicated directly with the consumer via e-mail or letter 

and told the consumer, either explicitly or impliedly, that payments were due and 

that the loan was not subject to the consumer’s state’s laws.  

63. The computer system created by Defendant also collected funds from 

consumers’ accounts and sent consumers automated e-mails reminding them to 

make payments. 

64. If the computer system collected funds electronically, such as through 

ACH transfers or credit/debit cards, then the system automatically deposited the 

funds into accounts controlled by Defendant. 

65. Until the end of 2015, Defendant was responsible for communicating 

with consumers by sending written responses to consumer complaints, including 

complaints regarding the legality of the loans. 
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66. The written responses to consumer complaints sent by Defendant to 

consumers suggested or implied that the loans were valid.  

Defendant Knew that the Loans Were Void  
 

67. Since 2011, despite the loan agreement’s claim that state law did not 

apply to the loans, Defendant has actually maintained lists of states into which the 

Tribal lenders would not lend. Defendant’s underwriting software would 

automatically deny a loan application for a consumer who lived in a state on one of 

these “no-state” lists. 

68. Montana was never on the “no-state” list for Great Plains or 

MobiLoans. 

69. Defendant decided which states would be on the “no-state” lists; the 

Tribal lenders never told Defendant not to lend in a state. 

70. Defendant told one of the Tribal lenders that Defendant might have 

liability if state Attorneys General claimed that the loans were illegal. 

71. In 2013, Defendant’s then-CEO declared that the Tribal lending 

model was “extremely vulnerable.”  

72. Neither Defendant nor any Tribal lender sued a consumer for failing 

to pay on a loan. Instead, Defendant generally closed consumers’ accounts 

(without demanding repayment) when consumers complained that the loans 

violated state law. 
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73. In May 2014, Defendant spun off all of its direct lending products to a 

new company, wholly independent of the Tribal lending products.  

STATE LAWS PROTECTING CONSUMERS  
WHO TAKE OUT SMALL DOLLAR LOANS 

 
74. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio have originated, 

serviced, and collected on loans that consumers are not obligated to pay, in whole 

or in part, based on state licensing regulations or usury caps that render non-

compliant loans, such as those offered by Defendant and the Tribal lenders, void 

ab initio. 

75. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio either took these 

actions directly or used service providers to take these actions on their behalf.  

76. Many states protect consumers from harmful practices associated with 

the origination, servicing, and collection of certain loans. 

77. Such legal protections include restrictions on the types of entities that 

may engage in these types of transactions, licensing requirements, and civil and 

criminal usury limits. 

78. In some states, loans that violate these laws are declared void, 

meaning that the lender has no legal right to collect, and the borrower is not 

obligated to pay, some or all of the principal or interest on the loan. 
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Interest-Rate Caps 
 

79. The following states have enacted laws that render installment loans 

void if they exceed the usury limit: 

a. Arkansas, whose state constitution provides that all contracts with 

interest in excess of 17% “shall be void as to principal and 

interest,” Ark. Const. amend. 89, §§ 3, 6(b). 

b. Connecticut, whose state statute voids loans under $5,000 made 

after July 1, 2016 with interest rates in excess of the “interest that 

is permitted with respect to the consumer credit extended under the 

Military Lending Act,” Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 36a-558(c)(1), 

(d)(1) (which is 36%, see 10 U.S.C. § 987). 

c. New Hampshire, which prohibits annual interest rates above 36% 

for loans of $10,000 or less. N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:1(XX), 399-

A:16(I). Loans that do not comply with those restrictions are void, 

and the lender has no right to collect any principal, charges, or 

recompense. N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-A:23(VIII). 

d. New York, which prohibits any person or corporation not licensed 

by the state from “directly or indirectly charg[ing], tak[ing] or 

receiv[ing] any interest . . . at a rate exceeding” annual interest of 

16% on covered loans. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-501; N.Y. 
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Banking Law § 14-a(1). Loans that exceed the rate are void. N.Y. 

Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-511; see also Szerdahelyi v. Harris, 490 

N.E.2d 517, 522–23 (N.Y. 1986) (“[A] usurious transaction is void 

ab initio . . . .”).  

e. North Carolina imposes a cap on loans $25,000 and under that is 

the greater of 16% or the latest published noncompetitive rate for 

U.S. Treasury bills with a six month maturity as of the fifteenth 

day of the month plus 6% rounded to the nearest one-half of one 

percent. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 24-1.1(a)(1), (c). Loans $15,000 and 

under that violate those provisions are void, and the lender has no 

right to collect, receive, or retain any principal or charges. N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 53-166(a), (d). 

f. Since November 16, 2016, South Dakota, in which loans made by 

money lender licensees with an annual percentage rate above 36% 

are void and uncollectable; any person evading the usury cap, 

including by offering loans through the internet or any electronic 

means, is subject to the same penalties as licensees. S.D. Codified 

Laws §§ 54-4-44, 54-4-44.1. 

80. Colorado prohibits annual interest above 12% on unpaid balances for 

loans other than supervised loans. Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-1-301(12), (15)(a) (47); 5-
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2-201(1). For supervised loans, Colorado prohibits a supervised lender from 

receiving a finance charge exceeding the equivalent of the greater of either of the 

following: (a) the total of 36% on unpaid balances of $1,000 or less, 21% on 

unpaid balances between $1000.01 and $3,000, and 15% on unpaid balances 

greater than $3,000, and (b) 21% per year on unpaid balances. Id. § 5-2-201(2). 

Unless a person has been issued a state license or is a depository institution, it may 

not make or take assignment of and undertake direct collection of payments from 

supervised loans. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 5-3-101(1). Consumers are relieved of the 

obligation to pay any charge that exceeds these limits and are entitled to a refund 

from the lender or assignee for any excess amount that they paid. Id. § 5-5-201(2). 

81. These state usury statutes reflect the strong public policy interest in 

ensuring that consumers who lack negotiating power are protected from loans with 

excessive interest rates.  

82. Defendant and the Tribal lenders made and then, directly and through 

CMS and Yessio, collected on loans to consumers in Arkansas, Connecticut, New 

Hampshire, New York, North Carolina, and South Dakota that charged interest at 

rates exceeding those allowed by the laws of the respective states, and those loans 

are therefore void. 

83. Defendant and the Tribal lenders made and then, directly and through 

CMS and Yessio, collected on loans to consumers in Colorado that charged interest 
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at rates exceeding those allowed by Colorado law, and consumers were therefore 

relieved of the obligation to pay charges in excess of the legal limits. 

Licensing Requirements 
 

84. The following states have implemented licensing regimes that include 

measures aimed at preventing and penalizing harmful consumer lending practices: 

Arizona, Colorado, Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, 

Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, 

North Carolina, and Ohio. The licensing regimes in these states reflect substantive 

consumer-protection concerns by, for instance: 

a. ensuring that licensees possess the requisite character, integrity, 

and experience (Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 6-603(F)(2); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

5-2-302(2); Ind. Code § 24-4.5-3-503(2); 209 Mass. Code Regs. 

20.03(2); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-168(a)(2); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 399-

A:5(I); N.Y. Banking Law § 342); and 

b. ensuring compliance with loan-term and disclosure regulations by 

requiring compliance examinations and investigations by state 

regulators as well as recordkeeping and annual reports (Ariz. Rev. 

Stat. §§ 6-607, 6-608(A), 6-609(A)-(D); Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-2-

304, 5-2-305; Ind. Code § 24-4.5-3-505; Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 140, 
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§§ 97–99; N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:10, 399-A:11; N.Y. Banking 

Law §§ 348, 349; N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-184). 

85. These state licensing statutes reflect the strong public policy interest 

in ensuring that entities seeking to engage in the consumer-lending business are 

vetted and supervised by regulators for compliance with consumer-protection and 

other laws. 

86. Many state laws render payday loans void if they are made without a 

license. If a covered loan is made without a license in the following states, the 

entity has no right to collect from consumers, or the consumers have no obligation 

to repay, certain loan amounts: 

a. Arizona, which voids covered loans of $10,000 or less that are 

made or procured without a license, and the lender has no right to 

collect any principal, finance charges, or other fees in repayment of 

such loans, Ariz. Rev. Stat. §§ 6-601(5)–(7), 6-602(B), 6-603(A), 

6-613(B); 

b. Connecticut, which, since June 19, 2015, voids loans of $15,000 or 

less that charge interest in excess of 12%, when made without a 

license, Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 36a-558(c); 

c. Illinois, which voids consumer-installment loans for principal 

amounts not exceeding $40,000 made after January 1, 2013, 
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without a license and at interest rates higher than 99% APR for 

loans up to $1,500; the person who made the loan shall have no 

right to collect, receive, or retain any principal, interest, or charges 

related to the loan, 205 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 670/1, 670/17.2(a)(1), 

670/20(d); 

d. Indiana, which voids covered loans made without a license; the 

debtor has no obligation to pay either the principal or finance 

charges on such loans, Ind. Code §§ 24-4.5-3-502(3), 24-4.5-5-

202(2); 

e. Kentucky, which voids covered loans if the interest rate exceeds 

the lawful rate—which is the lesser of 4% over the discount rate on 

ninety-day commercial paper at the Federal Reserve Bank or 19% 

for loans of $15,000 or less—and the loan is made without a 

license; the lender has no right to collect any principal, charges, or 

recompense whatsoever on such loans, Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 

286.4-420, 286.4-991(1), 360.010(1);  

f. Massachusetts, which voids covered loans of $6,000 or less if 

interest and expenses on the loan exceed 12% and the loan is made 

or purchased without a license; the lender or purchaser has no right 
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to collect money in repayment of such loans, Mass. Gen. Laws Ch. 

140, §§ 96, 110; 

g. Minnesota, which voids regulated loans made without a required 

license and requires lenders of up to $100,000 to hold a license in 

order to issue loans with interest in excess of 21.75% APR, or the 

total of 33% on the part of the unpaid balance up to $1,125 and 

19% a year on the part of the unpaid balance above $1,125, Minn. 

Stat. Ann. §§ 47.59 subdiv. 3(a), 56.01(a), 56.19, 56.131;  

h. Montana, which requires lenders making consumer loans to hold a 

license; loans made or collected by anyone other than a licensee or 

entity subject to an exemption are void, Mont. Code Ann. § 32-5-

103(1), (4);  

i. New Hampshire, which voids covered loans of $10,000 or less that 

are made without a license; the lender has no right to collect such 

loans, N.H. Rev. Stat. §§ 399-A:1(XX), 399-A:2(I), 399-A:23 

(VII); 

j. New Jersey, which voids consumer loans of $50,000 or less that 

are made without a license; the lender has no right to collect or 

receive any principal, interest, or charges on such loans, unless the 
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act was the result of good-faith error, N.J. Rev. Stat. §§ 17:11C-2, 

17-11C-3, 17-11C-33(b); 

k. New Mexico, which voids loans of $2,500 or less made by a 

person with no license; the lender has no right to collect, receive, 

or retain any principal, interest, or charges whatsoever on such 

loans, N.M. Stat. § 58-15-3; 

l. New York, which voids personal loans of $25,000 or less that are 

made without a license and where the interest or other charge 

exceeds that permitted to a licensee; the lender has no right to 

collect such loans, N.Y. Banking Law §§ 340, 355;  

m. North Carolina, which voids covered loans of $15,000 or less that 

are made or secured for repayment without a license and in excess 

of the state’s general usury law; any party in violation shall not 

collect, receive, or retain any principal or charges with respect to 

such loans, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 53-166(a), (d); and 

n. Ohio, which voids loans of $5,000 or less that are made without a 

license; the lender has no right to collect, receive, or retain any 

principal, interest, or charges on such loans, Ohio Rev. Code Ann. 

§ 1321.02.  
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87. Colorado relieves the consumer’s obligation to pay finance charges to 

the lender or assignee where the lender or assignee has failed to obtain the requisite 

license. Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 5-1-301(17), 5-2-301(1)(a)–(b), 5-5-201(1). 

88. Neither Defendant nor any Tribal lender was licensed to make loans 

in any of these states. 

89. Defendant and Tribal lenders made and then, directly and through 

CMS and Yessio, collected on loans to consumers residing in Arizona, 

Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, 

New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, and Ohio, 

and those loans are void because of Defendant’s and the Tribal lenders’ failure to 

acquire the required licenses. 

90. Defendant and the Tribal lenders made and then, directly and through 

CMS and Yessio, collected on loans to consumers residing in Colorado, and those 

consumers were relieved of the obligation to repay finance charges because of 

Defendant’s and the Tribal lenders’ failure to acquire the required licenses. 

Summary of States in Which  
Defendant’s and the Tribal Lenders’ Loans Are Void in Whole or in Part 

 
91. Loans originated by Defendant and the Tribal lenders were void in the 

following states based on state licensing law, state usury law, or both: Arizona, 

Arkansas, Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, 
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Montana, New Hampshire, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, and 

South Dakota. 

92. Colorado relieves consumers of the obligation to repay excess fees 

and finance charges for loans that exceed interest rates limits or are issued without 

a license. 

93. The states listed in Paragraphs 91 and 92 are hereinafter referred to as 

the “Subject States.” 

94. Either directly or through service providers, Defendant, the Tribal 

lenders, CMS, and Yessio collected on loans made to consumers in the Subject 

States that those states’ laws voided or limited a consumer’s obligation to repay. 

95. From November 1, 2013 through June 1, 2015, Defendant lent at least 

$35.2 million to consumers in the Subject States through loans ostensibly offered 

by Great Plains and Plain Green. During the same time period, Defendant collected 

at least $31.7 million in principal and $25.5 million in interest and fees on those 

loans. 

96. From November 1, 2013 through July 26, 2017, Defendant lent at 

least $13.9 million to consumers in the Subject States through lines of credit 

ostensibly offered by MobiLoans. During the same time period, Defendant 

collected at least $13.9 million in principal and collected at least $14.7 million in 

interest and fees on those lines of credit.  
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VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER 
FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

 
Unfair, Deceptive, and Abusive Acts or Practices 

 
97. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit a “covered person” or 

“service provider” from engaging in “any unfair, deceptive or abusive act or 

practice.” 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

98. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid themselves and that is 

not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5531(c). 

99. An act or practice is abusive if, among other things, it takes 

unreasonable advantage of a consumer’s lack of understanding of the material 

risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

Count I 
 

Deception Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments  
that Consumers Did Not Owe 

 
100. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–99 

of this Complaint. 

101. Through the actions set forth above, Defendant and the Tribal lenders 

represented expressly or impliedly that consumers residing in the Subject States 

had an obligation to repay loan amounts that in fact did not exist, in whole or in 
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part, because the loans violated state licensing or usury laws that declared such 

loans or loan amounts void ab initio. 

102. Through the following actions, Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, 

and Yessio reinforced the misrepresentations that consumers were obligated to pay 

debts that were void, in whole or in part, in the Subject States: 

a. Sending demand letters for payment; 

b. Originating ACH debit entries from consumer bank accounts; and 

c. Contacting consumers by telephone to demand repayment. 

103. In numerous instances, consumers residing in Subject States were not 

under a legal obligation to repay the void amounts.  

104. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio failed to disclose that 

they had no legal right to collect certain loan payments because the loans were 

void, in whole or in part, under state law. 

105. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio failed to disclose that 

consumers had no legal obligation to pay the loan amounts because they were void, 

in whole or in part, under state law. 

106. The misrepresentations in Paragraphs 101, 102, 104, and 105 were 

material and likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably. 

107. The misrepresentations, actions, and omissions of Defendant 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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108. The misrepresentations, actions, and omissions of the Tribal lenders, 

CMS, and Yessio constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II 
 

Unfairness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments  
that Consumers Did Not Owe 

 
109. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–99 

of this Complaint. 

110. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio caused substantial 

injury by servicing, extracting payments for, and collecting on loans that laws in 

the Subject States rendered void or limited consumers’ obligation to repay. 

111. Consumers were unlikely to know that that Subject States’ usury laws 

or licensing requirements rendered the loans void or limited consumers’ obligation 

to repay, and thus consumers were unable to avoid paying illegal amounts to which 

Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio were not entitled. 

112. The injuries sustained by consumers residing in the Subject States 

were not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

113. The actions of Defendant constitute unfair acts or practices in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

114. The actions of the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio constitute unfair 

acts or practices in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Case 4:17-cv-00127-BMM   Document 1   Filed 11/15/17   Page 28 of 32



29 
 

Count III 
 

Abusiveness Relating to the Collection of Loan Payments  
that Consumers Did Not Owe 

 
115. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–99 

of this Complaint. 

116. The consumer’s legal obligation to repay is a material risk, cost, or 

condition of a loan.  

117. Consumers residing in the Subject States likely were unaware that 

Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio lacked the legal authority to 

collect the loans, in whole or in part, because the loans violated usury or licensing 

laws in those states.  

118. Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio took unreasonable 

advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding regarding the voidness of the loans 

by collecting amounts to which Defendant, the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio 

were not legally entitled, in whole or in part.  

119. The actions of Defendant constitute abusive acts or practices in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

120. The actions of the Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio constitute abusive 

acts or practices in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Count IV 
 

Substantially Assisting the Tribal Lenders, CMS, and Yessio 
 

121. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–99 

of this Complaint. 

122. The Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio described in Paragraphs 14–27 

are “covered person[s]” engaged “in offering or providing a consumer financial 

product or service” because they extend, service, and collect on consumer loans. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(i), (15)(A)(x). 

123. The Tribal lenders, CMS, and Yessio committed deceptive, unfair, 

and abusive acts or practices by demanding payment for and collecting debts that 

were void or that consumers were not required to repay. 

124. These deceptive, unfair, and abusive acts or practices violated 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B).  

125. Defendant provided substantial assistance to the Tribal lenders, CMS, 

and Yessio in the commission of these deceptive, unfair, and abusive acts by 

overseeing, directing, or administering the origination of and collection of loan 

amounts that were void, in whole or in part. 

126. Defendant acted knowingly or recklessly in providing this substantial 

assistance. 
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127. Defendant’s actions constituted violations of section 1036(a)(3) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §5536(a)(3). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

128. Wherefore, the Bureau, pursuant to sections 1054 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and the Court’s own equitable powers, 

requests that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations 

of the CFPA or any other provision of “Federal consumer financial 

law,” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just 

and proper; 

c. Award damages and other monetary relief against Defendant as the 

Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from 

Defendant’s violations of the CFPA, including but not limited to 

restitution and the refund of monies paid;  

d. Order disgorgement of Defendant’s ill-gotten gains; 

e. Award civil money penalties;  

f. Award the costs of bringing this action; and 

g. Award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 
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Dated: November 15, 2017  Respectfully submitted, 
 
      Kristen A. Donoghue 
      Enforcement Director 
 
      Deborah Morris 
      Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
      Craig Cowie 
      Assistant Litigation Deputy 
       
      /s/ Vanessa Buchko          

Vanessa Buchko 
Benjamin Vaughn 

      Enforcement Attorneys 
      Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
      1700 G Street, NW 
      Washington, DC 20552 

Telephone (Buchko): 202-435-9593 
Telephone (Vaughn): 202-435-7964 

      Fax: 202-435-7722 
      E-mail: Vanessa.Buchko@cfpb.gov  

E-mail: Benjamin.Vaughn@cfpb.gov 
      Attorneys for Consumer Financial  

Protection Bureau 
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CFPB Sues Think Finance For 

Collecting On Debts That Consumers 

Did Not Legally Owe

Bureau Alleges That Think Finance Deceived Consumers Into 

Paying Debts That Were Not Valid

NOV 15, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

filed suit against Think Finance for its role in deceiving consumers into repaying 

loans that were not legally owed. In a suit filed in federal court, the CFPB alleges 

that Think Finance illegally collects on loans that are void under state laws 

governing interest rate caps or the licensing of lenders. The Bureau alleges that 

Think Finance made deceptive demands and illegally took money from consumers’ 

bank accounts for debts that were not legally owed. The CFPB seeks to recoup 

relief for harmed consumers and impose a penalty.

"We are suing Think Finance for deceiving consumers into repaying loans they did 

not legally owe," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "Think Finance wrongly took 

money from people's bank accounts, so we are seeking relief for consumers and a 

civil money penalty."

Think Finance, based in Addison, Texas, is an online provider of software 

technology, analytics, loan servicing, and marketing services. Think Finance, 

working with other companies, offered and serviced lines of credit and installment 

loans over the internet to consumers throughout the United States. In its complaint, 

the Bureau alleges that Think Finance violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 

and Consumer Protection Act by deceiving consumers and collecting on loans that 

were either partially or completely void under the laws of 17 states, including 

Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, 

Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, 



New York, North Carolina, Ohio, and South Dakota. Specifically, the Bureau alleges 

that Think Finance:

◾ Deceived consumers about loan payments that were not owed: Many states have 

laws that nullify loans and other types of credit if interest rates exceed what the 

state allows, or if a lender is not properly licensed to conduct business in the 

state. Lenders and servicers cannot collect on debt that is legally void. Think 

Finance pursued consumers for payments even though the loans in question 

were void in whole or in part under state law and payments could not be 

collected. The interest rates the lenders charged were high enough to violate 

usury laws in some states where they did business, and violation of these usury 

laws renders particular loans void. In addition, the lenders did not obtain licenses 

to lend or collect in certain states, and the failure to obtain those licenses renders 

particular loans void. Despite this, Think Finance misrepresented that consumers, 

in fact, owed money on the loans.

◾ Collected loan payments that consumers did not owe: Think Finance made 

electronic withdrawals from consumers’ bank accounts or called or sent letters to 

consumers demanding payment for debts that they were under no legal 

obligation to pay.

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB is authorized to take action against institutions 

that engage in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, or that provide 

substantial assistance to other entities that do so. The CFPB is seeking monetary 

relief for consumers, civil money penalties, and injunctive relief, including a 

prohibition on Think Finance’s collecting on void loans. The Bureau’s complaint is 

not a finding or ruling that the defendant has actually violated the law.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_think-

finance_complaint_112017.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Topics: DEBT COLLECTION • PAYDAY LOANS • ENFORCEMENT •
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB-0020 

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

CONDUENT BUSINESS SERVICES, LLC. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the acts and 

practices of Conduent Business Services, LLC, which formerly conducted business as 

Xerox Business Services, LLC (Respondent, as defined below), relating to the furnishing 

of consumer information to consumer reporting agencies and has identified the 

following law violation: Respondent has operated and maintained loan-servicing 

software that has contributed to the furnishing of inaccurate consumer information to 

consumer reporting agencies in violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under Sections 

1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Overview 

1. Respondent operates and customizes a third-party software application for five

auto lenders that automates many of the processes needed to service auto 

loans. Among other things, the software provides information about consumers 

2017-CFPB-0020     Document 1     Filed 11/20/2017     Page 1 of 29



2 

and their auto loans to a number of nationwide consumer reporting agencies 

(CRAs). However, the software is plagued with defects that have caused the five 

auto lenders to furnish inaccurate information about how consumers are 

performing on their loans. The defects are widespread: in 2016, the consumer 

reports for more than one million of the auto lenders’ customers contained one 

or more errors. 

2. Although Respondent is not solely responsible for causing the defects in the

software, Respondent contributed to the defects in two ways. First, it utilized a 

version of software for the lenders’ furnishing systems that was incapable of 

accurate furnishing. And second, it failed to notify the lenders when it learned 

of the existence of defects in the software despite being uniquely situated to 

identify the defects. 

II 

Jurisdiction 

3. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

III 

Stipulation 

4. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent

Order,” dated November 17, 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the 
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findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the 

subject matter of this action.  

IV 

Definitions 

5. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Client” means all entities that currently contract with Respondent for use of

the Loan-Servicing Software, and all entities that enter into contract(s) with

Respondent for use of the Loan-Servicing Software within 5 years of the

Effective Date.

b. “Consumer Reporting Agency” or “CRA” means any consumer reporting

agency that regularly engages in whole or in part in the practice of assembling

or evaluating consumer credit information or other information on

consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties,

and which uses any means or facility of interstate commerce for the purpose

of preparing or furnishing consumer reports, as defined in Section 603(f) of

the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

d. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her

delegate.

e. “Furnishing Defect” means any aspect of Respondent’s Loan-Servicing

Software that results in or has the potential to result in a Furnishing

Inaccuracy, including, but not limited to, any failure by the Loan-Servicing
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Software to accurately translate borrower or account information through use 

of the standard industry-accepted format (i.e., Metro 2) before furnishing 

such information to the CRAs. 

f. “Furnishing Inaccuracy” means any information about a borrower or an 

account that is furnished to the CRAs by the Loan-Servicing Software that 

does not reflect accurate and complete borrower or account information. 

g. “Lenders” means the five auto lenders that have contracted with Respondent 

for use of the Loan-Servicing Software, including DriveTime Automotive 

Group, Inc., and First Investors Financial Services Group, Inc.  

h. “Loan-Servicing Software” or “Software” means the application program 

Respondent offers, provides, operates, maintains, and customizes for auto 

lenders, which automates many of the processes needed to service a loan, 

including the monthly generation and transmission of Metro 2 Output Files to 

the CRAs. 

i. “Metro 2” or “Metro 2 Format” means the standard format for the electronic 

furnishing of consumer information developed by the Consumer Data 

Industry Association (CDIA), which is intended to ensure information is 

furnished to the CRAs in a uniform manner so that it accurately reflects 

information about the borrower and activity on the borrower’s account. 

j. “Metro 2 Output File” means the electronic set of data transmitted monthly to 

the CRAs that contains consumer report information or other account 

information, including information relating to the credit history of 

consumers, expected to be used by lenders and others in connection with 
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decisions regarding the offering or provision of a consumer financial product 

or service. 

k. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as

described in Section V of this Consent Order.

l. “Respondent” means Conduent Business Services, LLC, which formerly

conducted business as Xerox Business Services, LLC, and its successors and

assigns.

m. “Software Developer” or “Developer” means the company that originally

wrote the Source Code for the Loan-Servicing Software.

n. “Source Code” means the set of programming instructions and statements

that controls how the Loan-Servicing Software functions.

V 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

6. Respondent operates and maintains information technology products and

services, including the Loan-Servicing Software. Until January of 2017, 

Respondent conducted business as Xerox Business Services, LLC. As of 

January 2017, Respondent conducts business as Conduent Business Services, 

LLC, which is a limited liability company organized under the laws of Delaware 

with a principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.    

7. Respondent operates and maintains the Loan-Servicing Software for five auto

lenders (Lenders), including DriveTime Automotive Group, Inc., and First 
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Investors Financial Services Group, Inc. The Loan-Servicing Software serves as 

the repository of information associated with a consumer loan and automates 

many of the processes needed to service the loan. One such automated process 

is the monthly generation and transmission of Metro 2 Output Files to the 

Consumer Reporting Agencies (CRAs).   

8. Respondent is therefore a “service provider” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. §

5481(26) because Respondent provides material services to the Lenders, 

including the operation and maintenance of the Loan-Servicing Software at the 

Lenders’ request and approval. The Lenders are covered persons engaged in the 

consumer financial product or service of auto-loan servicing. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Unfair Acts and Practices 

9. Respondent has operated and maintained the Loan-Servicing Software in a

manner that has predictably contributed to the transmission of inaccurate and 

incomplete consumer information to the CRAs. 

10. In particular, Respondent’s Loan-Servicing Software has generated and

transmitted Metro 2 Output Files to the CRAs containing inaccurate and 

incomplete information relating to the following data points that the CRAs use 

to generate consumer reports: the date of first delinquency; the frequency of 

payments due; actual payment amount; scheduled monthly payment amount; 

amount past due; amount charged to loss when a loan is charged-off; account 

status; 24-month payment history profile; payment rating; Equal Credit 

Opportunity Act code; the date of account information; the date the account 

was closed; the date of the consumer’s last payment; transaction type; current 
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balance; special comment codes; and numerous data points related to 

associated consumers on the account.  

11. Combined, over one million of the more-than 6.4 million consumer accounts for 

which Respondent transmitted information to the CRAs in 2016 contained one 

or more errors. 

Respondent Contributed to the Furnishing Inaccuracies by Using a 
Version of Source Code for the Loan-Servicing Software that Was 

Incapable of Generating Accurate Output Files 
 

12. Respondent contributed to the Furnishing Inaccuracies by using a version of 

Source Code for the Loan-Servicing Software that was incapable of accurate 

furnishing. 

13. The Source Code for the Loan-Servicing Software was originally created by an 

independent Software Developer. Respondent acquired the rights from the 

Developer to use, distribute, and modify the Source Code in any manner of 

Respondent’s choosing. The Lenders have contracted to use the Loan-Servicing 

Software exclusively through Respondent, and Respondent has customized the 

Loan-Servicing Software for each of the Lenders by modifying the Source Code 

obtained from the Developer. 

14. Pursuant to their contracts with Respondent, when a Lender wants to modify or 

customize any aspect of the Loan-Servicing Software it uses, Respondent alone 

writes modifications to the Source Code to effectuate the Lender’s request. 

Respondent and the Lender then perform validation testing to ensure the 

modified Source Code fulfills the Lender’s specifications.  

15. Between 2004 and 2010, one such modification Respondent performed was to 

convert three of the five Lenders to a version of the Loan-Servicing Software 
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that would furnish consumer information in the Metro 2 Format. The Metro 2 

Format is the standard industry format for the electronic furnishing of 

consumer information that is intended to ensure information is furnished to 

the CRAs in a uniform manner so that it accurately reflects information about 

the borrower and activity on the borrower’s account.  

16. Prior to the Metro 2 conversions, these Lenders used a version of the Loan-

Servicing Software that furnished consumer information in the Metro Format 

(hereinafter, Metro 1 Format), which was the standard industry format for 

furnishing information to the CRAs that preceded the Metro 2 Format.  

17. Respondent performed the Metro 2 conversions for the three Lenders in 2004,

2006, and 2010. Respondent did not perform Metro 2 conversions for two of 

the Lenders because those Lenders became clients of Respondent’s in 2012 and 

2013 and began furnishing in Metro 2 at that time. 

18. To perform the conversions, Respondent used a version of Source Code it had

obtained from the Software Developer in 2004. This version of Source Code 

had been originally designed by the Developer to furnish in Metro 1, but was 

modified by the Developer in an attempt to build in the functionality for Metro 

2 furnishing. 

19. This version of Source Code was never included in any official software release

by the Developer because the Developer concluded that this version was

incapable of accurate Metro 2 furnishing. It reached this conclusion after 

determining that Metro 2 functionality could not be written into a version of 

Source Code designed to furnish in Metro 1 because the significant differences 
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between Metro 1 and Metro 2 required a ground-up redesign of the Loan-

Servicing Software.   

20. As a result, the Developer abandoned the unreleased version of Source Code it

had given to Respondent and instead released a ground-up redesign of the 

Loan-Servicing Software in 2005, which included, for the first time, the 

functionality for Metro 2 furnishing. 

21. Under its licensing agreement with the Developer, Respondent was entitled t0

obtain, and make available to the Lenders, the Metro 2-compatible Source Code 

when it was released by the Developer in 2005. Respondent, however, did not 

inform the Lenders about the significant differences between the unreleased 

version of Code it received in 2004 and the Metro 2-compatible Code released 

by the Developer in 2005. Respondent, with the Lenders’ approval, used the 

unreleased version of Source Code to perform the conversions instead of the 

Metro 2-compatible Code released in 2005.  

22. Respondent’s use of the unreleased version of Source Code was a contributing

cause of the Loan-Servicing Software’s transmission of inaccurate information 

to the CRAs after each of the conversions. Furnishing Inaccuracies were a 

predictable consequence of Respondent’s use of the unreleased version of 

Source Code for the Loan-Servicing Software because that version was never 

officially supported or warrantied by the Software Developer.  
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Respondent Contributed to the Furnishing Inaccuracies by Failing to 
Inform the Lenders About Defects in the Software 

 
23. Respondent also contributed to the Furnishing Inaccuracies by failing to notify 

all the Lenders when it learned of the existence of Furnishing Inaccuracies or 

Furnishing Defects.  

24. For example, one of the Lenders notified Respondent in late 2011 that the Loan-

Servicing Software was incorrectly furnishing the date on which a consumer 

first becomes thirty days delinquent on his or her loan, which is known as the 

“date of first delinquency” or “DOFD.” This date is important because, among 

other things, the CRAs use DOFD to determine when they must cease reporting 

a delinquency, as required by the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681c.  

25. In late 2011, the impacted Lender ordered Respondent to fix the Software so that 

this particular DOFD problem, which related to consumers who had filed for 

bankruptcy, would no longer occur. The Lender asked Respondent to fix the 

same problem three more times between late 2012 and September 2014, but 

Respondent did not fix the problem for the Lender until late 2014. 

26. Even though Respondent was aware of the DOFD problem since 2011, and it 

finally fixed the problem for one Lender in late 2014, Respondent has not 

notified the other Lenders of the defect or its fix, even though they have 

experienced the same problem. 

27. Another example of Respondent’s failure to notify the Lenders of known defects 

with the Loan-Servicing Software involved the Software’s inability to 

distinguish, in the account status field, between a vehicle that is voluntarily 

surrendered by a consumer and one that has been involuntarily repossessed. 
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Respondent learned in September 2012 that the Source Code for the Loan-

Servicing Software did not distinguish between voluntary surrenders and 

involuntary repossessions. As a result, consumers who voluntarily surrendered 

their vehicles were incorrectly reported as having their vehicles repossessed. 

28. Despite learning of this defect, Respondent never notified the Lenders that the 

Source Code for the Software reported all voluntary surrenders as involuntary 

repossessions. Instead, Respondent only fixed the defect when each Lender 

raised the issue with Respondent.  

29. Moreover, on numerous occasions, the Software Developer advised Respondent 

that it needed to upgrade the Loan-Servicing Software for accurate furnishing. 

For example, in February 2012, the Developer informed Respondent that a 

number of DOFD Furnishing Inaccuracies were due to the failure to upgrade 

the Software to a newer version. Despite learning this, Respondent did not 

notify the Lenders that they should upgrade to a newer version of the software 

package because the unreleased version caused inaccurate consumer 

information to be furnished to the CRAs. As a result, a number of the DOFD 

Furnishing Inaccuracies needlessly persisted for years.  

30. Thus, the Furnishing Inaccuracies were a predictable consequence of 

Respondent’s use of the unreleased version of Source Code for the Loan-

Servicing Software and Respondent’s failure to inform the Lenders about the 

Software’s defects.  

31. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 
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and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

32. As set forth in Paragraphs 6 through 30, Respondent has operated and 

maintained Loan-Servicing Software that contributed to the transmission of 

inaccurate consumer information to the CRAs.  

33. Respondent’s acts and practices as set forth in Paragraphs 6 through 30 cause or 

are likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that is not reasonably 

avoidable by consumers and that is not outweighed by countervailing benefits 

to consumers or competition.  

34. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 

5531(c)(l). 

ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

35. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and 

must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, notify the Lenders of the existence of all 

Furnishing Inaccuracies identified in this Consent Order.      

b. Pursuant to Section VII, develop and implement reasonable policies, 

procedures, processes, and controls sufficient to notify Respondent’s Clients 
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of any potential or actual issues regarding the accuracy and integrity of 

information provided to the CRAs, which (at a minimum):  

i. Require Respondent’s Clients to, on an ongoing basis, alert 

Respondent to actual or potential Furnishing Inaccuracies that the 

Client determines may be the result of a Furnishing Defect in the Loan-

Servicing Software, and that the Client may discover through its 

communications with consumers or the CRAs. 

ii. Ensure that Respondent notifies all Clients of actual or potential 

Furnishing Inaccuracies reported to Respondent through the process 

described in Paragraph 35(b)(i) above. Such notification shall occur 

routinely and within a reasonable period of time not to exceed thirty 

days from when Respondent receives a report of an actual or potential 

Furnishing Inaccuracy.  

iii.  Ensure that Respondent identifies and communicates to all Clients all 

systems updates, software releases, and any other system 

documentation or communication from the Software Developer 

relating to the generation and transmission of Metro 2 Output Files, 

routinely and within a reasonable period of time not to exceed thirty 

days from receipt of the documentation or communication from the 

Software Developer.  

iv. Require Respondent to present to each Client, within thirty days of 

each new release of Source Code from the Software Developer, an 

explanation of the differences between the version of Software 

Respondent currently operates for the Client and the newest version 
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released. At each presentation, Respondent shall reiterate its 

contractual obligation to upgrade its Clients to the most recent version 

of Software available from the Developer free of charge.  

c. Pursuant to Section VII, devote staffing, facilities, resources, and systems, 

appropriate to the nature, size, complexity, and scope of Respondent’s role in 

providing consumer information to the CRAs, sufficient to satisfy 

Respondent’s obligations under this Order. 

d. Pursuant to Section VII, identify all Furnishing Inaccuracies not otherwise 

identified in Paragraph 35(a) and notify each Client in writing of the nature of 

the Furnishing Inaccuracy. Such notification shall occur routinely and within 

a reasonable period of time not to exceed thirty days from when Respondent 

identifies any Furnishing Inaccuracy. 

e. Pursuant to Section VII, and routinely and within a reasonable period of time 

not to exceed thirty days from when a Client notifies Respondent of the 

existence of any potential or actual Furnishing Inaccuracy that the Client 

determines may be the result of a Furnishing Defect in the Client’s Software, 

identify all Furnishing Defects and determine resolutions to each Furnishing 

Defect identified. For each Defect identified, provide a written and oral 

explanation to the impacted Client of the nature of the Furnishing Defect and 

how the proposed resolution will resolve the Defect. Within a reasonable 

period of time not to exceed forty-five days from when the impacted Client 

provides final approval to implement the proposed resolution, implement the 

proposed resolution to the Furnishing Defect.  
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VII 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

36. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall submit to the Enforcement

Director the names and curriculum vitae of one or more independent 

consultants with specialized expertise in Metro 2 furnishing, including, but not 

limited to, expertise in analyzing technical aspects of loan-servicing software to 

ensure the software accurately and completely furnishes consumer information 

to the CRAs. The Enforcement Director shall have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection and shall make such determination within 10 

days, or direct Respondent to select one or more different independent 

consultants. If the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to select one or 

more different independent consultants, Respondent shall do so within 15 days, 

and submit the names and curriculum vitae of the newly-identified 

independent consultant(s) to the Enforcement Director, who may then make a 

determination of non-objection within 5 days.  

37. Within 15 days of the Enforcement Director’s determination of non-objection,

Respondent shall engage the independent consultant (Independent Consultant) 

to review and assess Respondent’s practices. Within 45 days of retaining the 

Independent Consultant, the Independent Consultant must, at a minimum:  

a. Determine whether Respondent’s policies, practices, and procedures relating

to the generation and transmission of monthly Metro 2 Output Files to the

CRAs, including all policies, practices, and procedures relating to any

technical aspect of the Loan-Servicing Software, are appropriate to the nature,
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size, complexity, and scope of Respondent’s role in providing consumer 

information to the CRAs;  

b. Determine whether Respondent’s staffing, facilities, resources, and systems

are appropriate to the nature, size, complexity, and scope of Respondent’s role

in providing consumer information to the CRAs;

c. Identify all Furnishing Defects and Furnishing Inaccuracies, and determine

resolutions to each Furnishing Defect by reviewing and assessing, at a

minimum:

i. All Metro 2 Output Files that Respondent transmitted to the CRAs

within 30 days of the Effective Date, after removal of any personally

identifiable information of consumers contained in the Metro 2 Output

Files;

ii. The Source Code and data dictionary for all technical aspects of every

version of Loan-Servicing Software that Respondent operates as of the

Effective Date, and that relate to the Software’s ability to generate and

transmit Metro 2 Output Files; and

iii. Anything else within Respondent’s possession or control that the

Independent Consultant deems necessary to identify and resolve all

Furnishing Defects.

38. Within 90 days of retaining the Independent Consultant, the Independent

Consultant must prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review 

and assessment (“Consultant Report”), and provide the Consultant Report to 

Respondent. The Consultant Report shall include written recommendations for 

any changes and improvements to Respondent’s policies, practices, procedures, 
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staffing, facilities, resources, and/or systems regarding the accuracy and 

integrity of information provided to the CRAs that the Independent Consultant 

deems appropriate considering the nature, size, complexity, and scope of 

Respondent’s furnishing activities.   

39. Within 90 days of receiving the Consultant Report, and based on the 

Independent Consultant’s recommendations, Respondent must develop a 

comprehensive compliance plan (Compliance Plan). At a minimum, the 

Compliance Plan must: 

a. Describe the specific measures Respondent will take to comply with each of 

the conduct provisions in Section VI, including specific and reasonable 

timeframes and deadlines for complying with each of the conduct provisions 

when Respondent  identifies a Furnishing Inaccuracy or Furnishing Defect;  

b. Contain any additional policies and procedures necessary to ensure 

compliance with sections 1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA based on 

the recommendations set forth in the Consultant Report; and 

c. Contain specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

40. To the extent Respondent does not incorporate all of the recommendations of the 

Independent Consultant into the Compliance Plan, Respondent shall specify 

which recommendations the Compliance Plan does not adopt, the reason why 

such recommendations have not been adopted, and how excluding such 

recommendations affects Respondent’s compliance with sections 1036(a)(1)(B) 

and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA.   
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41. Within 90 days of receiving the Consultant Report, Respondent must submit the 

Consultant Report and the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director. 

42. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

43. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan.  

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violation 

of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$1.1 million to the Bureau. 

45. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

46. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 
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47. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

48. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any payment that the 

Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

49. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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50. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

51. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying number, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order.  

52. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or are 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

53. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address(es). 
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Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

54. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal 

address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate 

with Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and 

services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

55. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 53 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

56. At one year after the date of notification of the Enforcement Director’s  

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 

submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress 

report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order, including (at a minimum) a description 

of: 

a. Each Furnishing Defect and Furnishing Inaccuracy Respondent has 

identified since the Effective Date;  

b. How and when Respondent identified the Defect or Inaccuracy; 
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c. Which of Respondent’s Clients are impacted by the Defect or 

Inaccuracy;  

d. Respondent’s proposed resolution for the Defect;  

e. How and when Respondent resolved the Defect on behalf of each 

impacted Client;  

f. How each impacted Client addressed the Furnishing Inaccuracy, 

including whether the Client furnished accurate and complete 

information for all consumer accounts affected by any known 

Furnishing Inaccuracy, or requested that all CRAs to whom 

Respondent provided the information delete the associated 

tradeline due to the unavailability of accurate and complete 

information; and  

g. The date by which each impacted Client addressed the Furnishing 

Inaccuracy.   

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XI, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

57. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its executive officers; to any managers, employees, 

Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order; and to the 

board members and/or executive officers of any current or future Client of 
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Respondent’s that has utilized or will utilize the Loan-Servicing Software within 

five years of the Effective Date. 

58. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

59. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section.  

XI 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

60. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Independent Consultant’s review 

and Compliance Plan, described in Section VII above. 

c. A log that describes in detail: 
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i. Each Furnishing Defect and Furnishing Inaccuracy Respondent has 

identified since the Effective Date;  

ii. How and when Respondent identified the Defect or Inaccuracy; 

iii. Which of Respondent’s Clients are impacted by the Defect or 

Inaccuracy;  

iv. Respondent’s proposed resolution for the Defect;  

v. How and when Respondent resolved the Defect on behalf of each 

impacted Client;  

vi. How each impacted Client addressed the Furnishing Inaccuracy, 

including whether the Client furnished accurate and complete 

information for all consumer accounts affected by any known 

Furnishing Inaccuracy, or requested that all CRAs to whom 

Respondent provided the information delete the associated tradeline 

due to the unavailability of accurate and complete information; and  

vii. The date by which each impacted Client addressed the Furnishing 

Inaccuracy. 

d.   All documents and records pertaining to information contained in the log 

described in Paragraph 60(c). 

61. Respondent must make the records and documents identified in Paragraph 60 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XII 

Notices 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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62. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, reports, or other documents relating 

to this Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Conduent 

Business Services, LLC, File No. Year-CFPB-0020,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1990 K Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section V. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must further cause Respondent’s officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 
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days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

64. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

65. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

66. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

68. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 
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changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be 

in writing.  

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

 
69. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 70. 

70. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

71.     This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 
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72. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

73. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

74. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale,

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all

applicable provisions of this Consent Order.

75. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s

personal jurisdiction over Respondent.
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76. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

77. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, or its Board, officers, or employees, to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this l.J_th day of November, 2017. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

29 
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CFPB Fines Xerox Business Services 

$1.1 Million for Incorrect Consumer 

Information Sent to Credit Reporting 
Agencies

Company Failed to Inform Auto Lenders That Defects in its 

Software Led to Inaccuracies

NOV 20, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

took action against Xerox Business Services, LLC, now called Conduent Business 

Services, for software errors that led to incorrect consumer information about more 

than one million borrowers being sent to credit reporting agencies. The company 

also failed to notify all of its auto lender clients about known flaws in its software that 

led to the errors. Today’s consent order requires Xerox to pay a $1.1 million civil 

penalty, explain its mistakes to its lender clients, and fix its faulty software.

"Xerox provided flawed software that resulted in incorrect or incomplete credit 

reporting information on more than a million borrowers," said CFPB Director 

Richard Cordray. "The company compounded the problem by keeping lenders in 

the dark about the defects. Mistakes on credit reports can greatly harm consumers, 

so we are ordering Xerox to fix its flawed systems."

Xerox Business Services, based in Dallas, Texas, operated and customized a third-

party software application for five auto lenders. The software automatically 

generated and transmitted information about borrowers’ auto loans to consumer 

reporting agencies. Lenders use information furnished to the consumer reporting 

agencies when considering whether to issue a loan and on what terms, so it is 

essential the information is accurate. Mistakes on credit reports like those caused by 

Xerox can lead to consumers being denied credit, or not qualifying for lower 



interest rates or other favorable credit terms. Errors on credit reports can also 

impact a consumer’s ability to qualify for employment, insurance, and rental 

opportunities.

Widespread defects in the loan-servicing software that Xerox used led lenders to 

report inaccurate information about consumers’ performance on their loans. In 

2016, its reports for more than one million of the auto lenders’ 6.4 million customer 

accounts had one or more errors. Xerox had acquired the rights to this software 

from its creator, an independent software developer. When lenders asked for 

certain features, Xerox would modify the software’s source code. Between 2004 and 

2010, one modification was supposed to enable three of Xerox’s clients to provide 

consumer data in the Metro 2 Format. Metro 2 is the standard industry format used 

for furnishing this information in a uniform way to credit reporting agencies. 

However, Xerox’s modifications were based on a flawed, unreleased version of 

Metro 2 source code that led to the reporting of incorrect consumer information. 

This violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 

According to the consent order, Xerox:

◾ Provided flawed software that led to incorrect information being sent to credit 

reporting companies: Xerox’s use of flawed, unreleased loan-servicing software 

resulted in the transmission of inaccurate and incomplete information to credit 

reporting agencies. Missing or incorrect information included the date of 

borrowers’ first delinquent payment; actual payment amounts; scheduled 

monthly payment amount; amount past due; amount charged to loss when a loan 

is charged-off; account status, and other payment and account information.

◾ Failed to inform lenders about defects in its software: Xerox did not notify all of 

its client lenders about the errors even after learning that the software it used 

resulted in the transmission of inaccurate information. Xerox’s clients told the 

company about faulty data being sent to credit reporting agencies, and ordered 

it to fix specific errors. But Xerox did not notify its other lender clients about the 

problems. Xerox also failed to pass along information it learned from the 

software’s developer about upgrades needed to prevent mistakes. As a result, for 

years Xerox’s clients persisted in transmitting inaccurate and incomplete 

information about borrowers and their accounts to the credit reporting agencies.

Enforcement action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB 

is authorized to take action against institutions engaged in unfair, deceptive, or 



abusive acts or practices, or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. 

Under today’s consent order, Xerox must:

◾ Explain the errors to its clients, and act to prevent future mistakes: Xerox has to 

describe the errors caused by its flawed software to its client auto lenders, inform 

lenders of any future potential or actual errors within 30 days of its discovery, and 

explain the correct use of the software to its clients each time the coding is 

revised.

◾ Give the CFPB a compliance plan: Xerox must give the CFPB a plan showing that 

it will identify and fix all defects in its software, and ensure that the software will 

report accurate information to credit reporting agencies.

◾ Pay a $1.1 million penalty: Xerox must pay a penalty of $1.1 million to the CFPB 

Civil Penalty Fund.

The consent order is available here: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_conduent-business-

services_consent-order_112017.pdf

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2017-CFPB- 0021 

In the Matter of: 

CITIBANK, N .A. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain 

student-loan-servicing activities of Citibank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below) and 

has identified the following law violations: (1) deceptive acts or practices relating to 

Respondent's providing borrowers with information that was likely to mislead them into 

incorrectly believing that they had not paid interest on their student loan that was 

eligible for deduction as a tax benefit, in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a); 

(2) unfair acts or practices relating to Respondent providing borrowers misleading 

information regarding the student loan interest borrowers paid, in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B); (3) 

deceptive acts or practices relating to Respondent's misrepresentation to student loan 

borrowers of the minimum amount the borrowers were required to pay, in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a); (4) unfair 

acts or practices relating to Respondent's erroneous termination of borrowers' in-school 

l 
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deferments, resulting in late fees and student loan interest capitalizations, which would 

not have accrued or would have accrued later but for the errors, in violation of Sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a); and (5) violation of 

Sections 615(a)(2)(A)-(B) and 615(a)(3)(A)-(B) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1681m(a)(2)(A)-(B) and 1681m(a)(3)(A)-(B), in Respondent's failure to 

provide borrowers with all required adverse action information after Respondent denied 

the borrowers' application for the release of a co-signor due to the borrowers' credit 

score or credit report. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, and section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1681s. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated November 21, 2017 (Stipulation), which is incorporated 

by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

2 

2017-CFPB-0021     Document 1     Filed 11/21/2017     Page 2 of 38



3 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Affected Consumers” means the Minimum Payment Consumers, the Late

Fee Consumers, and the Loan Interest Capitalization Consumers whose

private student loans are currently owned by the Respondent.

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors.

c. “Clearly and prominently” means:

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary

consumer to read and comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the

background on which it appears;

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a

volume and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and

comprehend it; and

iii. In communications made through interactive media such as the

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i);

2017-CFPB-0021     Document 1     Filed 11/21/2017     Page 3 of 38



4 

iv. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and

visual portions of the communication.

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

e. “FCRA Consumers” means consumers whose application to release a co-

signor from a student loan was denied by Respondent and was sent an

adverse action notification letter that was deficient and not in compliance

with the FCRA.

f. “Late Fee Consumers” means consumers whose private student loan in-

school deferments were erroneously terminated resulting in charged late fees

on their private student loan accounts by Respondent and then received a

subsequent back-dated, in-school deferment for the same private student

loan.

g. “Loan Interest Capitalization Consumers” means consumers whose private

student loan in-school deferments were erroneously terminated resulting in

the student loan interest being capitalized and then received a subsequent

back-dated, in-school deferment for the same private student loan.

h. “Minimum Payment Consumers” means mixed status borrowers who

received an account statement from Respondent with an overstated

minimum-payment-due amount and did not make their monthly student loan

payments using an auto-pay method.

i. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or

his/her delegate.
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j. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

k. “Respondent” means Citibank, N.A., and its successors and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national bank headquartered in Sioux Falls, SD. As of June 30, 

2017, Respondent had $1.4 trillion in total assets. 

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than 

$10,000,000,000 within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

6. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

7. In a series of transactions beginning in late 2010, Respondent’s affiliate sold a 

considerable portion of its student loan accounts but still owned and serviced 

approximately 253,000 private education loans valued at approximately $2.3 

billion and Federal Family Education Loan Program loans valued at 

approximately $2 million. 

8. From 2006 to 2013, Respondent, its affiliate, or its service providers serviced 

the student loans that Respondent or its affiliate owned. 

9. Among other things, Respondent or its affiliate provided borrowers with 

periodic account statements reflecting the payment due, supplied year-end tax 

information regarding student-loan interest that borrowers paid, processed co-
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signer release applications, and granted and maintained payment deferments 

on student loans. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Misleading Tax Information 

10. The Internal Revenue Code (“the Code”) permits some student loan borrowers

to claim a deduction on their federal income tax returns for certain interest

payments made on their student loans. This deduction is up to $2,500

annually, depending on income, for each individual borrower. See generally 26

U.S.C. § 221.

11. Borrowers are eligible for this deduction if the interest was paid on “qualified

education loans,” i.e. loans used to pay for the cost of attending an eligible

educational institution. See 26 U.S.C. §221(a), (d).

12. To meet this requirement, borrowers who receive loans from certain private

sources—including all loans originated by Respondent relevant to this action—

must certify that the loans will be used solely to pay the cost of attending an

eligible educational institution. Borrowers can complete this certification by

submitting a copy of IRS Form W-9S to their lenders. See 26 C.F.R. § 1.6050S-

3(e)(2).

13. Although borrowers can claim a deduction on any amount of interest payments

on qualified education loans (hereinafter “qualified interest”) up to $2,500, IRS

regulations impose a reporting requirement on lenders for those borrowers

who pay at least $600 of qualified interest in a calendar year. For those

borrowers, lenders must file Form 1098-E with the IRS indicating the amount

of qualified interest the borrower paid in that calendar year. The lender must
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also provide the borrowers with this information. See 26 C.F.R. § 1.6050S-3(a)-

(d). Lenders typically do so by sending borrowers a copy of Form 1098-E. 

14. From 2006 to 2013, it was Respondent’s or its affiliate’s practice to not provide 

Form 1098-Es to any borrower, even if he or she had paid more than $600 in 

qualified interest, unless the borrower first completed and filed a Form W-9S. 

15. From 2006 to 2013, it was Respondent’s or its affiliate’s practice to not send 

any borrower a notice alerting them to the fact that they did not have a Form 

W9-S on file. 

16. From 2006 to 2013, it was Respondent’s or its affiliate’s practice to not provide 

any borrower with unsolicited notice of how much student loan interest the 

borrower had paid in a calendar year unless the borrower filed a Form W-9S by 

a December 15 deadline imposed by Respondent. 

17. From 2010 to 2012, Respondent or its affiliate did not receive a Form W-9S 

from approximately 640,692 borrowers who had made student loan interest 

payments. This represented roughly 85% of all borrowers who made student 

loan interest payments to Respondent or its affiliate in that time period.  

18. From 2006 to 2013, Respondent or its affiliate also included language in 

certain account statements provided to borrowers directing the borrower to a 

webpage on the online portal that would purportedly show the borrower how 

much qualified interest he or she had paid. For example, in the March 2012 

account statement mailed to borrowers, the following language appeared: 

ATTENTION STUDENT LOAN BORROWERS 
We want to inform you that Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
regulations require lenders to inform borrowers of qualified interest 
paid on qualified student loans when such interest exceeds $600 
annually. If your total qualified interest paid in 2011 did not reach 
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this minimum amount, you will not receive a Form 1098E in the 
mail from us. 
 
The amount of qualified interest paid on your qualified student 
loans in 2011 is available online. You can access this information 
through your online account. Visit studentloan.com and sign on to 
your online account. From the Manage Your Account page, select 
the “Qualified Interest” link. 

 
19. The link Respondent or its affiliate directed the borrower to in the quoted 

language in paragraph 18 took the borrower to a page purporting to be the 

borrower’s “Qualified Interest statement.” The page displayed the following 

language: 

Qualified Interest 

This is the private student loan interest [you] paid to The 
Student Loan Corporation in [tax year]:   $[____] 

 
20. When a borrower who visited this Qualified Interest statement webpage had 

not filed a Form W-9S, it was Respondent’s or its affiliate’s practice to display 

“$0.00” in the space displaying the amount of qualified interest the borrower 

had paid, no matter how much potential qualified interest the borrower had, in 

fact, paid. 

21. The qualified interest statement webpage did not explain that “$0.00” would be 

displayed unless the borrower had filed a Form W-9S with Respondent. 

22. On a separate FAQ page of the website, the following language was displayed: 

Q: “Can I retrieve my qualified interest online to fill out my tax forms?” 

A: “Yes. Log in to [webpage] and select Qualified Interest from the left 

navigation menu under Your Statement section. Be sure you have 

submitted your W-9S form or this field may not be populated.” 
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23. From 2006 to 2013, neither the FAQ page nor any other webpage on the 

Respondent website indicated that failure to file a Form W-9S would cause 

“$0.00” to be displayed on the qualified interest statement webpage. 

24. From 2006 to 2013, Respondent or its affiliate included language in certain 

monthly paper account statements sent to borrowers identifying some features 

of the qualified interest tax deduction and its eligibility requirements. 

25. From 2006 t0 2011, Respondent or its affiliate included the following notice in 

account statements sent to borrowers in October and November: 

ATTENTION PRIVATE LOAN CUSTOMERS 
If you paid $600 or more in interest on a qualified student loan(s) during [year], you may be eligible for a tax 
deduction! If you haven't already, complete a W-9S form (from a tax advisor, local library, or at the IRS website, 
www.irs.gov) and mail it to us at the address on the back of this statement by December 15 to receive your 
1098E form. Federal Stafford, PLUS and Consolidation Loan borrowers who paid $600 or more of interest will 
automatically receive a 1098E form in the mail. 
 

26. From 2009 to 2012, Respondent or its affiliate included the following notice in 

account statements sent to borrowers in January, February, and March: 

ATTENTION STUDENT LOAN BORROWERS: 
We want to inform you that Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations require lenders to inform borrowers of 
qualified interest paid on qualified student loans when such Interest exceeds $600 annually. If your total 
qualified interest paid in [year] did not reach this minimum amount, you will not receive a Form 1098-E in the 
mail from us. 
 

27. In 2012, Respondent or its affiliate updated its October and November account 

statement notices sent to borrowers to read as follows: 

IMPORTANT TAX MESSAGE 
If you pay $600 or more in qualified student loan Interest during 2012, you may be eligible for a tax deduction. 
To calculate the amount you may be eligible to deduct, please refer to the information we will provide to you on 
Form 1098-E in early 2013. 
 
To receive your Form 1098-E we must have a completed Form W-9S on file from you. If you have not already 
done so this year or in a previous year, please complete Form W-9S and mail it to us at the address on the back 
of this statement by December 15, 2012. You can get a Form W-9S from www.irs.gov, your tax advisor or the 
library. 
 

28. In 2013, Respondent or its affiliate updated its January, February, and March 

account statement notices sent to borrowers to read as follows: 

IMPORTANT TAX MESSAGE 
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A Form 1098·E will be mailed to you in January 2013 if you paid $600 or more in qualified student loan interest 
last year and you sent us a completed Form W·9S by December 15, 2012. Form 1098-E will be sent from The 
Student Loan Corporation. 
 
Always consult a tax advisor for tax advice. Your tax advisor and the IRS website at www.irs.gov are sources for 
tax information. 
 

29. The four versions of explanatory text quoted in paragraphs 25-28 were printed 

in a smaller font than other information in the account statements, and 

appeared either on the bottom of the first page of the statement, or on a 

separate page. 

30. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

31. As described in paragraphs 20-29, in connection with the servicing of student 

loans, in numerous instances, Respondent or its affiliate has represented, 

expressly or impliedly that borrowers had not paid qualified interest or that the 

borrowers were not eligible for a qualified interest tax deduction. 

32. Respondent or its affiliate failed to disclose or disclose adequately to borrowers 

important information regarding eligibility for a tax benefit as a result of the 

borrowers’ payment of interest on their student loans. Respondent’s failure to 

disclose this fact, in light of the representations made, was, and is, a deceptive 

act or practice. 

33. In fact, borrowers had paid interest that was eligible for deduction as a tax 

benefit. 

34. Consequently, borrowers did not seek this tax benefit, even though they may 

have been able to benefit from it. 
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35. Therefore, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

36. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or 

is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable 

and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). Respondent’s acts and 

practices described in paragraph 32 caused substantial injury to consumers 

that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit 

to consumers or to competition. 

37. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 

5531(c)(l).  

Findings and Conclusions as to Unfairly Failing to Refund Erroneously 

Assessed Interest Capitalization and Late Fees 

38. Under the promissory notes governing Respondent’s student loans, borrowers 

were obligated to make monthly installment payments on or before scheduled 

dates. 

39. When a borrower failed to make a monthly payment within a given period of 

time after the monthly due date—usually 10 days—Respondent assessed a late 

fee against the borrower until January 2015, when Respondent stopped 

charging late fees. 
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40. The promissory notes also provided that during each period, interest would be 

charged on the loan’s principal at a defined rate. That interest became a part of 

the required payment to be made on each payment due date. 

41. Borrowers could request arrangements that exempted them from their monthly 

loan repayment obligations for specified periods of time. A variety of 

circumstances could form the basis for one of these arrangements, classified as 

either deferments, forbearances, or grace periods (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as “deferments”). 

42. Under the terms of deferment agreements, Respondent suspended monthly 

payment obligations for an agreed upon period of time. Because deferments 

temporarily lifted monthly payment obligations, the assessment of late fees was 

also suspended during that period of time. 

43. Under the terms of deferment agreements, interest on loan principal still 

accrued during the deferment period. Though they were not obligated to make 

any payments during the deferment periods, borrowers had the option to make 

payments on the accruing interest during that deferment period. If the 

borrower elected not to pay the accruing interest during the deferment period, 

the unpaid interest would be capitalized into the principal of the loan when the 

deferment period ended. 

44. The promissory notes for Respondent’s student loans included an immediate 

and automatic deferment that began at the initiation of the loan and lasted 

until six months after the date that the borrower graduated or ceased to be 

enrolled at least part-time in an approved school. These deferments were 

known as “in-school deferments”. 
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45. In addition to considering enrollment information borrowers provided, 

Respondent engaged with a third-party enrollment reporting company to 

provide information regarding borrowers’ enrollment status.  

46. Each month, Respondent communicated with the third-party entity to confirm 

the enrollment status of borrowers in the third-party entity’s database. 

47. When the third-party entity indicated that a borrower had ceased to be 

enrolled, it was Respondent’s practice to confirm this information with the 

third-party entity but not to contact the borrower for confirmation. 

48. If the third-party entity confirmed the de-enrollment, Respondent 

automatically terminated any relevant in-school deferments and placed the 

loans into repayment. 

49. Per Respondent’s policies and the deferment agreements, after an in-school 

deferment’s termination, Respondent automatically capitalized any unpaid 

interest accrued during the deferment period. 

50. Per Respondent’s policies, at the time of an in-school deferment’s termination, 

Respondent began tracking the monthly payment due dates for each loan now 

in repayment, and assessing late fees for non-payment by the applicable late fee 

dates. 

51. There were instances when the third-party entity communicated incorrect 

information to Respondent about borrowers’ enrollment, for example, that a 

borrower was no longer enrolled full-time even though the borrower was still 

enrolled. 

52. Respondent learned about these errors in different ways, including self-

correction by the third-party entity or notification from the borrower. 
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53. If Respondent discovered or was notified of an erroneous de-enrollment event, 

it was Respondent’s policy and practice to require the borrower to apply for a 

new in-school deferment. If approved, this in-school deferment would be 

applied retroactively such that its start date would be the date immediately 

after the erroneous termination date of the original in-school deferment. 

54. In instances where a borrower’s in-school deferment was erroneously 

terminated, Respondent assessed one or more late fees for late or unpaid 

monthly payments during the period that would have been covered by the 

deferment but for the third-party error.  

55. Respondent’s practice was to not automatically waive or refund erroneously 

charged late fees. 

56. Generally, if a borrower disputed an erroneous late fee, Respondent’s policies 

allowed for a one-time discretionary “courtesy” waiver of one late fee. 

57. Respondent did not waive or refund all erroneous late fees to borrowers. 

58. In instances where a borrower’s in-school deferment was erroneously 

terminated, Respondent automatically capitalized accrued interest that would 

have been covered by the in-school deferment but for the third-party error. 

59. Respondent’s practice was to not refund the amount of interest added to the 

principal of the student loan due to erroneous capitalizations. 

60. In certain instances, Respondent erroneously terminated borrowers’ in-school 

deferments, resulting in (i) late fees, which would not have accrued but for the 

third-party errors, and (ii) premature student loan interest capitalizations, 

which would have accrued at a later date but for the third-party errors. 
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61. In fact, Respondent did not refund erroneous interest capitalization or all 

erroneously charged late fees to more than 20,000 borrowers relating to in-

school deferments.  

62. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes 

or is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably 

avoidable, and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

63. Respondent’s acts and practices described in paragraphs 60-61 caused 

substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or 

outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

64. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 

5531(c)(l). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Monthly Account Statements Including 
Deceptive Statements About Required Payments 

 
65. For borrowers who had multiple student loans serviced by Respondent, some of 

the loans could be in repayment status, while other loans could be in deferment 

status (hereinafter “mixed status borrowers”). 

66. While loans were in deferment, no payment was required, though borrowers 

had the option to make payments on those loans. 

67. For mixed status borrowers with student loans exiting their grace status and 

entering repayment, Respondent overstated the minimum amount due on the 

mixed status borrowers’ online and paper account statements. 
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68. The minimum payment amount Respondent presented on those statements 

included (1) the actual minimum amount due on loans in or approaching 

repayment and (2) interest accrued on loans that were still in deferment and 

thus not required to be paid. Respondent’s inclusion of interest accrued on 

loans still in deferment led to substantial overstatements of the minimum 

payment due in many cases. 

69. From January 2010 to August 2013, Respondent sent mixed status borrowers a 

monthly account statement that overstated the minimum amount due.  

70. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

71. As described in paragraphs 65-69 above, in connection with servicing the 

student loans Respondent represented, expressly or impliedly, that mixed 

status borrowers’ minimum payment due included interest payments on loans 

in deferment status. 

72. In fact, student loan borrowers had no obligation to make interest payments on 

loans in deferment status. As a result, the actual amount owed by mixed status 

borrowers under the terms of their loans was often less than Respondent’s 

account statements reflected. Thus Respondent’s representations as described 

in paragraphs 65-69 constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a).  

Findings and Conclusions as to Deficient Adverse Action Letters 

73. The FCRA requires users of consumer credit reports to provide certain 

information to consumers if they experience an adverse action as a result of 

information in those reports. 
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74. If a consumer experiences an adverse action due to his or her numerical credit 

score, the user of that credit score must provide the consumer with notice that 

includes: (1) the numerical credit score used, (2) the range of possible 

numerical credit scores under the model used to generate the consumer’s score, 

(3) generally up to four key factors that adversely affected the consumer’s credit 

score, (4) the date on which the credit score was created, and (5) the name of 

the person or entity that generated the credit score. See 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681m(a)(2)(A)-(B) (incorporating by reference 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(f)(1)). 

75. The entity that uses information in a consumer report, including a score, must 

additionally provide notice to the borrower that includes: (1) the telephone 

number of the consumer reporting agency (including a toll-free telephone 

number established by the agency if the agency compiles and maintains files on 

consumers on a nationwide basis), and (2) a statement that the consumer 

reporting agency did not make the decision to take the adverse action and is 

unable to provide the consumer the specific reasons why the adverse action was 

taken. See 15 U.S.C. § 1681m(a)(3)(A)-(B). 

76. Many consumers apply for student loans from Respondent with a co-signor to 

help guarantee the loan. 

77. Many consumers later request that these co-signors be released for some or all 

of their student loans with Respondent. 

78. When Respondent received an application from a student loan borrower to 

release a co-signor and place the student loan in the borrower’s name only, a 

Respondent underwriter would access the borrower’s credit report and score.  
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79. If the borrower’s credit score was below a certain threshold, Respondent denied 

the application for co-signor release. 

80. If a borrower’s credit score was above that threshold, Respondent’s underwriter 

might deny the co-signor release application on the basis of other information 

contained in the borrower’s credit report. 

81. If Respondent denied a co-signor release application, Respondent generated an 

adverse action notice to inform the borrower of the denial. 

82. Respondent’s denial of an application to release a co-signor from a loan is an 

adverse action under the FCRA. See 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(k)(1)(A). 

83. From 2011 to 2014, Respondent sent notices of denial of a co-signor release to 

more than 300 borrowers that did not contain the borrowers’ credit scores, the 

phone number of the credit reporting agency that generated the credit report, 

or disclosure language confirming that the credit reporting agency did not 

make the decline decision. 

84. Respondent failed to provide borrowers who were denied a release of a student 

loan co-signor due to their credit score or credit report with all of the 

information the FCRA requires. 

85. Therefore, Respondent acts and omissions set forth in paragraphs 83-84 

constitute a violation of Sections 615(a)(2)(A)-(B) and 615(a)(3)(A)-(B) of the 

FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681m(a)(2)(A)-(B) and 1681m(a)(3)(A)-(B). 
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ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

86. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate, Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 

5536, as follows: 

a. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, is permanently restrained 

from: 

i. Sending to private student loan borrowers adverse action notices of the 

denial of a co-signor application, where the denial was based on 

information in the borrower’s credit score and/or credit report, that do 

not contain the borrowers’ credit scores, the phone number of the 

credit reporting agency that generated the credit report, or disclosure 

language confirming that the credit reporting agency did not make the 

decline decision; and 

ii. Failing to comply with the requirements of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 

et seq., including the notice and information requirements in 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1681m(a)(2)(A)-(B) and 1681m(a)(3)(A)-(B), with respect to adverse 

actions. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the servicing of private student loans, may not 
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misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, to 

consumers: 

i. the minimum periodic payment owed by consumers; 

ii. the separate identity and amount of any optional periodic interest 

payments; 

iii. the amount of interest paid by consumers in a given time period; or 

iv. any other material fact concerning the servicing of their student loans. 

c. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with 

servicing the private student loans must take the following affirmative 

actions: 

i. send student loan borrowers without IRS W-9S forms on file with 

Respondent a blank W-9S form or other form used by the IRS that is a 

substitute for or replaces the W-9S (hereinafter “W-9S”) to complete 

and provide a system for borrowers to submit W-9S forms 

electronically; 

ii. explain in a letter accompanying the blank W-9S form that the 

Respondent requires the borrower to submit the W-9S form before 

Respondent will issue them a Form 1098-E specifying the amount of 

student-loan interest they paid; 

iii. clearly and prominently disclose on its website, account statements, 

and other notices to student loan borrowers that borrowers must 

complete and provide Respondent with a W-9S form before 

Respondent will issue the borrower a Form 1098-E; and  
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iv. submit, within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date, Respondent’s 

proposed website, account statement, or other notice to student loan 

borrowers about Respondent’s W-9S form requirement to the Regional 

Director for approval. 

d. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the 

servicing of private student loans must implement a policy and procedure to 

reverse interest capitalized and/or late fees charged, and refund late fees paid 

by private student loan borrowers when: 

i. relying on enrollment reporting data from third party entities to 

process in-school deferments; and 

ii. Respondent discovers or is notified that the capitalized interest or late 

fees resulted from erroneous enrollment reporting or deferment 

processing. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

87. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s private student-loan-

servicing activities comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws 

and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan 

must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 
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b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of those steps. 

88. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days. 

89. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

90. The Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

91. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

92. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a 

relevant committee thereof, must: 
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a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

93. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $3.75 million (Payment 

Floor), for the purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers as required 

by this Section. 

94. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the 

Regional Director within 30 days. After receiving notification that the Regional 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the 
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Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

95. The Redress Plan must describe the process for providing redress for Affected 

Consumers, and must include the following requirements: 

a. Respondent or its service provider must issue an account credit to each 

Affected Consumer whose student loan account is still being serviced by 

Respondent and mail a Redress Notification Letter (as defined below); 

b. Respondent or its service provider must mail a bank check to each Affected 

Consumer whose student loan account is no longer being served by 

Respondent along with a Redress Notification Letter;  

c. Respondent or its service provider must send the bank check and/or Redress 

Notification Letter by United States Postal Service first-class mail, address 

correction service requested, to the Affected Consumer’s last known address 

as maintained by the Respondent’s records; 

d. Respondent or its service provider must make reasonable attempts to obtain a 

current address for any Affected Consumer whose Redress Notification Letter 

and/or redress check is returned for any reason, using the National Change 

Address System, and must promptly re-mail all returned letters and/or 

redress checks to current addresses, if any; and 

e. Processes for handling any unclaimed funds. 

96. With respect to redress paid to Affected Consumers, the Redress Plan must 

include: 

a. The form letter (“Redress Notification Letter”) to be sent notifying Affected 

Consumers of the redress; and 
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b. The form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The 

letter must include language explaining the manner in which the amount of 

redress was calculated; and a statement that the provision of the refund 

payment is in accordance with the terms of the Consent Order. 

c. Respondent or its service provider must not include in any envelope 

containing a Redress Notification Letter any materials other than the 

approved letters and redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained written 

confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to 

the inclusion of such additional materials. 

97. The Redress Plan must contain the following elements for the Affected 

Consumer classes for the time periods set forth below: 

a. Minimum Payment Consumers: 

i. For the time period from July 21, 2011 through August 2013, 

identify the Minimum Payment Consumers who paid Respondent 

more than the actual minimum monthly payment due and the 

amount of the overpayment(s); and 

ii. Require Respondent or its service provider to issue an account 

credit equal to the total amount of the overpayment(s) (the 

Minimum Payment Account Credit). If the Respondent is no longer 

servicing the Minimum Payment Consumer’s student loans, 

Respondent will send that consumer a redress check in an amount 

equal to the Minimum Payment Account Credit and will use the 

procedures set forth in paragraphs 95 and 96. 

b. Loan Interest Capitalization Consumers: 
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i. Identify the Loan Interest Capitalization Consumers who paid 

Respondent additional interest-on-interest (i.e., interest-on-

interest that accrued after a premature interest capitalization event) 

for the time period from July 21, 2011 through February 2015 who 

received back-dated in-school deferments with retroactive start 

dates in or after July 21, 2011; and 

ii. Require Respondent or its service provider to issue an account 

credit of $47.00 to each Loan Interest Capitalization Consumer 

(Capitalization Account Credit). If the Respondent is no longer 

servicing the Loan Interest Capitalization Consumer's student 

loans, Respondent will send that consumer a redress check in an 

amount equal to the Capitalization Account Credit and will use the 

procedures set forth in paragraphs 95 and 96. 

c. Late Fees Consumers: 

i. For the time period from July 21, 2011 through January 2015, 

identify the Late Fees Consumers who paid Respondent late fees as 

a result of Respondent’s placement of in-school deferments into 

repayment and then subsequently restoring the student loan to a 

back-dated, in-school deferment; and 

ii. Require Respondent to issue an account credit equal to the amount 

of paid late fees (Late Fees Account Credit). If the Respondent is no 

longer servicing the Late Fees Consumer's student loans, 

Respondent will send that consumer a redress check in an amount 
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equal to the Late Fees Account Credit and will use the procedures 

set forth in paragraphs 95 and 96.  

d. FCRA Consumers: 

i. For the time period from July 21, 2011 through July 2014, identify 

the FCRA Consumers whose application to release a co-signor from 

a student loan was denied by Respondent and was sent an adverse 

action notification letter that was deficient and not in compliance 

with the FCRA; and 

ii. Require Respondent to issue an account credit equal to $250 to 

each FCRA Consumer (FCRA Account Credit). If the Respondent is 

no longer servicing the FCRA Consumer's student loans, 

Respondent will send that consumer a redress check in an amount 

equal to the FCRA Account Credit and will use the procedures set 

forth in paragraphs 95 and 96. 

98. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must submit 

a Redress Plan Report to the Regional Director, which must include 

Respondent’s Internal Audit department’s review and assessment of 

Respondent’s compliance with the terms of the Redress Plan, including: 

a. The methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers; 

b. The Redress Amount for each Affected Consumer; 

c. The total number of Affected Consumers per Affected Consumer class; 

d. The procedures used to issue and track redress payments; 
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e. The amount, status, and planned disposition of all unclaimed redress 

payments, and 

f. The work of independent consultants that Respondent has used, if any, to 

assist and review its execution of the Redress Plan. 

99. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than the Payment Floor, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers and the Payment Floor. 

100. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Section. 

101. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 
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IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

102. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $2.75 million to the Bureau. 

103. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

104. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

105. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

106. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, 

nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 
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monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any payment that the 

Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If the court in any 

Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, 

within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

107. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

108. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

109. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  
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110. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

111. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

112. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 
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a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

113. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

114. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

115. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section.  
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XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

116. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years

from the Effective Date, the following business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the

Bureau.

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in

Section VIII above.

117. Respondent must retain the documents identified in paragraph 116 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

118. Respondent must make the documents identified in paragraph 115 available to

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

119. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Citibank, N.A., File No.

2017-CFPB-0021,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1990 K Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Regional Director, Bureau Northeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement  
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552. 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

120. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer.

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau.

121. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV.

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent’s officers, employees,

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials,
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and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 

days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the 

Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

122. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.  

123. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

124. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

125. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

2017-CFPB-0021     Document 1     Filed 11/21/2017     Page 35 of 38



36 
 

126. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing.  

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

 
127. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in paragraph 134. 

128. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 

as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

129. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

2017-CFPB-0021     Document 1     Filed 11/21/2017     Page 36 of 38



37 
 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

130. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or 

the relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any 

provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not 

appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though 

the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and 

enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 

Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in 

writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

131. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

132. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

133. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 
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personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

134. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

135. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 2.J*° day of November, 2017. 

~~ Richard Cord~ 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

38 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Citibank 

For Student Loan Servicing Failures 

That Harmed Borrowers

Company Deceived Borrowers About Tax Benefits, 

Incorrectly Charged Late Fees and Interest, Sent Misleading 
Monthly Bills and Incomplete Notices

NOV 21, 2017 

WASHINGTON, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today 

took action against Citibank, N.A. for student loan servicing failures that harmed 

borrowers. Citibank misled borrowers into believing that they were not eligible for a 

valuable tax deduction on interest paid on certain student loans. The company also 

incorrectly charged late fees and added interest to the student loan balances of 

borrowers who were still in school and eligible to defer their loan payments. 

Citibank also misled consumers about how much they had to pay in their monthly 

bills and failed to disclose required information after denying borrowers’ requests 

to release loan cosigners. The Bureau is ordering Citibank to end these illegal 

servicing practices, and to pay $3.75 million in redress to consumers and a $2.75 

million civil money penalty.

“Citibank’s servicing failures made it more costly and confusing for borrowers trying 

to pay back their student loans,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are 

ordering Citibank to fix its servicing problems and provide redress to borrowers 

who were harmed.”

Citibank, based in Sioux Falls, South Dakota, is one of the world’s largest banks with 

over $1.4 trillion in assets. Citibank provides a variety of products to consumers, 

including credit cards, mortgages, personal loans, and lines of credit. For years, 

Citibank made private student loans to consumers and also serviced these loans. As 

a loan servicer, Citibank manages and collects payments, and provides customer 



service for borrowers. They are also responsible for providing borrowers with 

accurate periodic account statements and supplying year-end tax information. The 

servicer also keeps track of the borrower’s in-school enrollment status and is 

responsible for granting and maintaining deferments when appropriate. 

For the student loan accounts that Citibank was servicing, the Bureau found that 

Citibank misrepresented important information on borrowers’ eligibility for a 

valuable tax deduction, failed to refund interest and late fees it erroneously 

charged, overstated monthly minimum payment amounts in monthly bills, and sent 

faulty notices after denying borrowers’ requests to release a loan cosigner. 

Specifically, the Bureau found that Citibank:

◾ Misled borrowers about their tax-deduction benefits: Federal law allows some 

borrowers to deduct up to $2,500 in student loan interest paid on “qualified 

education loans” annually. On its website and periodic account statements, 

Citibank made statements that suggested borrowers had not paid qualified 

interest, or that the borrowers were not eligible for the qualified interest tax 

deduction. Consequently, borrowers did not seek this tax benefit, even though 

they may have been able to benefit from it.

◾ Incorrectly charged late fees and interest on loan balances to students still in 

school: Current students are eligible for in-school deferments, which postpone 

repayment until six months after they are no longer enrolled in school. Citibank 

erroneously canceled in-school deferments for certain borrowers based on 

inaccurate information about their enrollment status. In doing so, Citibank 

charged late fees when the borrowers did not make payments, even though 

payments should not have been due. Citibank also erroneously added interest to 

the loan principal, and failed to refund late fees and erroneously charged interest 

after discovering that in-school deferments had been terminated in error.

◾ Overstated the minimum monthly payment due on account statements: Citibank 

serviced some loans for “mixed-status borrowers,” who had multiple student 

loans with Citibank, some of which were in repayment status, while other loans 

were in deferment status. While loans were in deferment, no payment was 

required, though borrowers had the option to make payments on those loans. 

For mixed-status borrowers with student loans in or approaching repayment, 

Citibank overstated the minimum amount due on the mixed-status account 

statements.

◾ Failed to disclose required information after refusing to release a cosigner: Many 

consumers applied for student loans from Citibank with a cosigner to help 

guarantee the loan. Some of these borrowers later requested that these 

cosigners be released for some or all of their student loans with Citibank. When 

Citibank received an application from a student loan borrower to release a 



cosigner and place the loan in the borrower’s name only, Citibank would make a 

determination based on information in the borrower’s credit report and score. 

When Citibank denied a cosigner release application, it failed to provide the 

borrower with all of the information required under the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the 

Bureau has the authority to take action against institutions violating consumer 

financial laws, including engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. 

The CFPB’s order requires Citibank to:

◾ Refund $3.75 million to harmed consumers: The Bureau’s order requires Citibank 

to pay $3.75 million in restitution to harmed consumers who were charged 

erroneous interest or late fees, paid an overstated minimum monthly payment, or 

received inadequate notices as a result of Citibank’s faulty servicing.

◾ Make changes to their servicing practices: The Bureau’s order requires Citibank 

to provide accurate information regarding student loan interest paid, implement 

a policy to reverse erroneously assessed interest or late fees, and to provide 

borrowers who were denied a cosigner release with their credit scores, the 

phone number of the credit reporting agency that generated the credit report, 

and disclosure language confirming that the credit reporting agency did not 

make the decline decision.

◾ Pay a $2.75 million fine: The Bureau’s order requires Citibank to pay a $2.75 

million penalty to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund.

A copy of the Bureau’s consent order is available at: 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_citibank-n.a._consent-

order_112017.pdf

The CFPB previously addressed many of these issues in a related 2015 enforcement 

action against Discover for servicing practices related to the loans it acquired from 

Citibank beginning in late 2010. Today’s enforcement action applies to the private 

student loans that Citibank retained, and continued to service, after that period.

Earlier this year the Bureau issued a consumer advisory warning student loan 

borrowers to watch out for similar servicing errors driven by faulty information 

about whether a borrower was enrolled in school. This advisory highlighted 

complaints from consumers about surprise late fees and other charges driven by 

inaccurate college enrollment information. 



The Bureau’s consumer advisory is available at: 

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/blog/consumer-advisory-bad-

information-about-your-college-enrollment-status-can-cost-you/

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and 

fairly enforcing those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control 

over their economic lives. For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION  
BUREAU, Case No. 1:17-cv-7114-GHW 

Plaintiff, 

v.

TOP NOTCH FUNDING II, LLC , RORY  
DONADIO, AND JAMES “GENE” CAVALLI,  

Defendants. 

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”) commenced this civil action 

against Defendants on September 19, 2017, to obtain injunctive and other relief. 

The Complaint alleges deceptive acts and practices in violation of § 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

The Bureau and Defendants Rory Donadio, James “Gene” Cavalli, and Top Notch Funding 

II, LLC, have requested that the Court enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order (“Order”). 

Introduction 

1. The Bureau and Defendants consent that this Court has jurisdiction over the parties

and the subject matter of this action. 

2. The Bureau and Defendants agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of

any issue of fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in this dispute arising from the conduct 

alleged in the Complaint to the date this Order is entered. 

3. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the Complaint, except as

specifically stated in this Order.  
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4. Defendants waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge or contest 

the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any claim they may have under the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action to the date of this Order. 

Each party will bear its own costs and expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees. 

5.  The Bureau and Defendants waive findings of fact and conclusions of law. 

Definitions 
 

6. The following definitions apply to this Order: 

a. “Complaint” means the Complaint filed in this action. 

b. “Defendants” means Donadio, Cavalli, and Top Notch Funding II, LLC, or 

any of them individually or together. 

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered on the 

docket. 

d.  “Post-Settlement Litigation Funding” means advancing funds to consumers 

who are awaiting payment from settled litigation. 

e.    “Victim Compensation Fund Funding” means advancing funds to 

consumers who are awaiting payment from a governmentally created victim-compensation 

fund. 

f. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought against 

Defendants based on substantially the same facts as described in this Order or the 

Complaint.  

Order 

I. Conduct Prohibition 

7. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice 
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of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate  

§§ 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

8. Defendants shall be permanently banned from any participation, whether direct or 

indirect, in Post-Settlement Litigation Funding and Victim Compensation Fund Funding, including 

but not limited to offering, brokering, or providing credit or advances of funds to consumers entitled 

to payments from settlements or victim-compensation funds that forbid assignments of proceeds. 

II. Monetary Provisions 

9. Defendant Cavalli must pay a civil money penalty of $12,500 by wire transfer to the 

Bureau or the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions within 30 days of 

the Effective Date.  

10.  Defendants Donadio and Top Notch Funding II, LLC, jointly and severally, must 

pay a civil money penalty of $62,500 by wire transfer to the Bureau or the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. Of this amount, Defendants Donadio and Top 

Notch Funding II, LLC, must pay $20,000 within 30 days of the Effective Date and the remaining 

$42,500 within 120 days of the Effective Date. 

11. The penalties imposed in this Order take into account Defendants’ limited financial 

resources, which is a mitigating factor under § 1055(c)(3)(A) of the CFPA.  

12. Defendants must treat the civil money penalties paid under this Order as penalties 

paid to the government for all purposes. Defendants may not: 

a. claim, assert or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or  

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with 

regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Order. 
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III. Additional Monetary Provisions 

13. In the event of any default on Defendants’ obligations to make payments under this 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on any outstanding 

amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment and will immediately become due 

and payable. 

14. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid under 

this Order to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Defendants.  

15. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Defendants must notify the Enforcement Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, 

that Defendants paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

IV. Reporting Requirements 

16. Defendants must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in Defendants’ name or address. 

Defendants must provide this notice, if practicable, before the development, but in any event no 

later than 14 days after the development. 

17. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, each Defendant shall notify the Bureau of 

Defendant’s: (a) current residence, postal address, email address, and telephone number; and (b) 

current role in any business activity, including any business for which they provide services, whether 

as an employee, officer, or otherwise, and any entity in which Defendant has any ownership interest, 

identifying for each its name, physical address, and internet address. 
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18. For 2 years from the Effective Date, each Defendant shall notify the Bureau of (a) 

any change in name, including aliases or fictitious names; (b) any change in residence, postal address, 

email address, or telephone number; or (c) any change in title or role in any business activity, 

including any business for which Defendant provides services, whether as an employee, officer, or 

any otherwise, and (d) any entity in which Defendant has any ownership interest, identifying for each 

its name, physical address, and internet address. 

V. Notices 
 

19. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, respectively, Defendants must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Order in 

writing, with the subject line, “In re Top Notch Funding II, LLC” and send them to the following 

address: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTN: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G St., NW 
Washington, D.C. 20552 

 
b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTN: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G St., NW 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
 

VI. Cooperation with the Bureau  
 

20. Defendants must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the Complaint. Defendants must 
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provide to the Bureau truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. Defendants must 

appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may 

reasonably request upon 5 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times 

as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

VII. Compliance Monitoring 

21. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendants must 

submit compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made under penalty of 

perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

22. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process under 

12 C.F.R. § 1080.6. 

VIII. Administrative Provisions 

23. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Defendants, except 

as described in Paragraph 24. 

24. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in the 

Complaint, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows 

about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in the Complaint 

in future enforcement actions against Defendants, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau 

to determine and ensure compliance with this Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of this 

Order. 

25. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and will be based on 
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calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

26. Should Defendants seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations that are 

subject to this Order, Defendants must, as a condition of sale, obtain the written agreement of the 

transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable provisions of this Order. 

27. This Order contains the complete agreement between the parties. The parties have 

made no promises, representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Order. This 

Order supersedes any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

28. Nothing in this Order may be construed as allowing Defendants or their officers or 

employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IX. Retention of Jurisdiction 

29. The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 
  
Dated: January 30, 2018 
New York, New York    ____________________________________ 
       GREGORY H. WOODS    

           United States District Judge 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2018-BCFP-0001 

In the Matter of: CONSENT ORDER 

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) has reviewed aspects of 

the following conduct of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below): (1) 

charging fees for rate-lock extensions in connection with residential-mortgage lending; 

and (2) force-placing collateral-protection insurance (Force-Placed Insurance, as 

defined below) on consumers’ vehicles for auto loans that it originated or acquired. The 

Bureau has identified the following violations of law: (1) Respondent unfairly failed to 

follow the mortgage-interest-rate-lock process it explained to some prospective 

borrowers; and (2) Respondent operated its Force-Placed Insurance program in an 

unfair manner. The Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order) under authority 

granted by §§ 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

Respondent has previously identified and reported to the Bureau certain 

information about the deficiencies described in this Consent Order. Respondent has 

discontinued the practices that led to the deficiencies, including, as of September 30, 

2016, the placement of Force-Placed Insurance, as defined below. Further, Respondent 
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has begun voluntarily providing remediation to consumers to address certain of the 

deficiencies cited in this Consent Order. 

I. 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II. 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated April 19, 2018 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and 

is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the 

issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings 

of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary 

to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of 

this action. 

III. 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumers” means Rate-Lock Affected Consumers and Force- 

Placed Insurance Affected Consumers. 

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

d. “Federal Consumer Financial Law” has the same meaning as in 12 U.S.C. 
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§ 5481(14). 

e. “Force-Placed Insurance” means collateral-protection insurance 

purchased by Respondent for consumers’ vehicles serving as collateral for 

auto loans and financed by adding the cost of the collateral-protection 

insurance to the balances on consumers’ auto loans. 

f. “Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers” means any consumer who 

was subjected to any of the Force-Placed Insurance Specified Acts and 

Practices during the Force-Placed Insurance Relevant Period. 

g. “Force-Placed Insurance Relevant Period” means October 15, 2005, 

through September 30, 2016. 

h. “Force-Placed Insurance Specified Acts and Practices” means charging 

borrowers for Force-Placed Insurance when Respondent knew or should 

have known that it had ineffective processes that were likely to result in 

Respondent’s unnecessarily placing or maintaining Force-Placed 

Insurance, either for the entire term of the policy or for a portion of the 

term of the policy.  

i. “Non-Objection” means written notification to Respondent that the 

Bureau does not object to a proposal by Respondent for a course of action. 

With respect to any Non-Objection required by this Consent Order, the 

Regional Director’s Non-Objection will apply only to issues or actions 

related to compliance with Federal Consumer Financial Law. 

j. “OCC Order” means the Consent Order issued by the Office of the 

Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) in the administrative adjudication 

styled In the Matter of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., No. AA-EC-2018-16, 
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issued on or about April 20, 2018. 

k. “Plans” means the Compliance Risk Management Plan required under 

Paragraph 42, the Staffing Assessment and Program required under 

Paragraph 44, the Internal Audit’s Compliance Program required under 

Paragraph 45, the Remediation Program required under Paragraphs 49–

51, the Consumer Remediation Plans defined in Paragraph 51(a), the Rate-

Lock Remediation Plan required under Paragraph 55, and the Force- 

Placed Insurance Remediation Plan required under Paragraph 56. 

l. “Rate-Lock Affected Consumers” means any prospective borrower who, 

during the Rate-Lock Relevant Period, was charged a fee for extending an 

interest-rate-lock period for a residential-mortgage loan when the fee 

should have been absorbed by Respondent under its established policy.  

m. “Rate-Lock Relevant Period” means September 16, 2013, through 

February 28, 2017. 

n. “Rate-Lock Specified Acts and Practices” means charging prospective 

borrowers a fee for extending an interest-rate-lock period when the fee 

should have been absorbed by Respondent under its established policy and 

in a manner inconsistent with how it explained the rate-lock process to 

prospective borrowers. 

o. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 

or his or her delegate. 

p. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

2018-BCFP-0001     Document 1     Filed 04/20/2018     Page 4 of 35



5 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

q. “Respondent” means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., its subsidiaries, and its

successors and assigns.

r. “Specified Acts and Practices” means any of the Rate-Lock Specified Acts

and Practices and Force-Placed Insurance Specified Acts and Practices, as

each is defined in this Consent Order.

IV. 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national bank headquartered in Sioux Falls, South Dakota.

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10

billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a).

6. Respondent is the largest originator of residential-mortgage loans in the United

States. Additionally, Respondent originates, purchases, and services consumer

loans secured by automobiles. Thus, Respondent is a “covered person” as that

term is defined by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).

A. 

Mortgage-Interest-Rate-Lock Policies and Practices 

7. During the Rate-Lock Relevant Period, it was Respondent’s policy that when a

mortgage loan did not close within its initial interest-rate-lock period and the

primary cause of the delay was attributable to Respondent, if the borrower chose

to extend the interest-rate-lock period, the extension fee was to be charged to

Respondent, and not the borrower. But, in certain instances, Respondent
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inappropriately charged borrowers rate-lock-extension fees that should have 

been absorbed by Respondent. 

8. Respondent offers prospective borrowers the ability to “lock in” a fixed interest 

rate for a certain “rate-lock” period while their mortgage-loan application is 

pending. Rate locks allow consumers to avoid the effects of interest-rate 

fluctuations during their rate-lock period. 

9. If an interest rate is not locked, a “floating” rate that fluctuates according to 

market conditions applies, and the interest rate is set before the loan is funded. 

10. Respondent trains its loan officers to explain to prospective borrowers that if it 

appears that a loan cannot be processed and closed within the initial rate-lock 

period, then, for a fee (Extension Fee), the rate-lock-period may be extended (by, 

for example, an additional 15 or 30 days). 

11. Respondent also offers borrowers the option to pay an up-front fee that will 

extend the standard rate-lock period to 90 days (Extended Rate Lock). At the 

time of submitting an application, consumers may choose this option to protect 

against delayed closings. The up-front Extended Rate Lock option is typically less 

expensive than paying multiple Extension Fees when the loan does not close in 

time and the borrower wishes to maintain the lock. 

12. Mortgage loans may fail to close within the initial rate-lock period for many 

reasons, including delays caused by unforeseen property issues, delays in 

requesting or receiving necessary information, and delays caused by 

Respondent’s internal processing. 

13. In May 2012, in response to processing delays, Respondent stopped charging any 

Extension Fees to borrowers. Instead, Respondent extended rate-lock periods 
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without charging borrowers a fee. 

14. In September 2013, Respondent enacted a new nationwide policy under which

borrowers would pay the Extension Fee in certain circumstances.

15. Respondent’s September 2013 policy change provided that if a rate-lock

extension was made necessary by borrower-caused delays, or by certain delays

related to the property itself, the borrower could be charged an Extension Fee; if

there were lender-caused delays, however, Respondent would extend the rate-

lock period without charging borrowers a fee, as it had done since May 2012.

16. Rate-lock choices may materially affect how much it costs consumers to get a

loan. Respondent expected its loan officers to explain to prospective borrowers all

of the available rate-lock options, to help borrowers select the option best suited

to their needs, and to clearly explain its rate-lock process to prospective

borrowers.

17. During the Rate-Lock Relevant Period, Respondent trained its loan officers to

inform prospective borrowers that they would be responsible for paying

Extension Fees under circumstances where the delay was caused by the borrower

or related to the property itself, including when the borrower does not timely

return necessary documentation, the borrower disputes a low appraisal,

previously undisclosed liens are uncovered, sellers or builders delay the process,

the sale is not timely approved by a condo project or co-op board, or the

borrower’s credit score changes.

18. Within days of rolling out the new policy, Respondent acknowledged in internal

communications that its guidelines for its loan officers were inadequate.

Respondent instructed employees that Extension Fees would be charged based
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on the factor primarily responsible for the delay, without further guidance as to 

what that meant. 

19. Almost three years after a 2013 internal audit first identified the risks for

consumer harm relating to improperly assessed Extension Fees, an October 2016

internal audit found that Respondent inconsistently applied its policy and

charged borrowers Extension Fees in situations where Respondent was

responsible for the delay in the loan’s closing.

20. Following an internal investigation and loan reviews, Respondent determined

that its Extension Fee policy was not consistently applied and that, during the

Rate-Lock Relevant Period, Respondent inappropriately charged certain

borrowers rate-lock-extension fees that should have been absorbed by

Respondent under its policy.

21. Effective March 1, 2017, Respondent substantially changed its Extension Fee

practices to address the inconsistent allocation of Extension Fees.

Unfair Acts and Practices Relating to 
Interest-Rate Locks, in Violation of the CFPA 

22. An unfair act or practice is one that causes or is likely to cause substantial injury

to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c).

23. During the Rate-Lock Relevant Period, Respondent’s loan officers were

instructed to explain Respondent’s rate-lock process to borrowers. In fact,

Respondent sometimes charged borrowers Extension Fees in situations where

Respondent should have absorbed the fees.

24. Respondent’s conduct caused and was likely to cause substantial injury to
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consumers.  

25. This injury was not reasonably avoidable by consumers and was not outweighed 

by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

26. Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices during the Rate-Lock Relevant 

Period, in violation of §§ 1031(c) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

B. 

Force-Placed Automobile Insurance Practices 

27. Typically, when Respondent’s borrowers obtained an auto-secured loan, the 

borrower signed an agreement that required the borrower to maintain insurance 

that would cover physical damage to the vehicle, which served as collateral for the 

loan. Respondent used a vendor to monitor borrowers’ insurance coverage. If a 

borrower did not procure or maintain physical-damage insurance for the vehicle, 

Respondent could protect its interest in the collateral by acquiring Force-Placed 

Insurance on the borrower’s behalf and charging the borrower for the insurance 

premium paid, in whole or in part, by Respondent to the insurer, plus interest.  

28. If Respondent’s vendor was unable to verify that borrowers maintained the 

required insurance for their vehicles through policy information it obtained 

directly from insurance companies and from other data aggregators, the vendor 

was required to communicate with the borrower multiple times before Force-

Placed Insurance was acquired. Under Respondent’s contract with its vendor, the 

vendor was required to send written notices to the borrower, as well as attempt to 

call the borrower and the borrower’s previous insurance agent or insurance 

carrier to request evidence of insurance. If, following this outreach, the vendor 
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was unable to obtain evidence of the required insurance, Respondent caused 

Force-Placed Insurance to be issued to the borrowers. 

29. Since 2005, Respondent forcibly placed insurance for the vehicles of about 2 

million borrowers who secured auto loans with the bank. According to 

Respondent’s own analyses, it forcibly placed duplicative or unnecessary 

insurance on hundreds of thousands of those borrowers’ vehicles. In addition, for 

some borrowers, after appropriately placing Force-Placed Insurance policies, 

Respondent improperly maintained Force-Placed Insurance policies on the 

borrowers’ accounts after the borrowers had obtained adequate insurance on 

their vehicles and after adequate proof of insurance had been provided. If 

borrowers failed to pay the amounts Respondent charged them for the Force-

Placed Insurance, they faced additional fees and, in some instances, experienced 

delinquency, loan default, and even repossession. 

30. If the borrower provided evidence that insurance coverage had been in effect, 

Respondent had a process to cancel the Force-Placed Insurance and to refund 

premiums. But Respondent did not sufficiently monitor its vendor and internal 

processes, resulting in control and execution weaknesses, such as within the 

insurance-verification and cancellation processes and the protocols for 

processing refunds. Additionally, Respondent failed to provide data and 

information to its vendor that could have allowed its vendor to more effectively 

execute its obligations to Respondent and borrowers. Finally, Respondent did not 

maintain a process to evaluate whether fees should have been refunded and failed 

to appropriately address and assess customer complaints.  

31. Through quarterly reports from its vendor and its own daily reports, Respondent 
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was aware of high rates of Force-Placed Insurance cancellations, and Respondent 

received briefings on the root causes of the cancellations. The high rates of 

cancellation were also apparent within Respondent’s own system of record 

because it processed the refunds when a Force-Placed Insurance policy was 

canceled, and it reported that refund information back to the vendor. 

32. The vendor regularly presented to Respondent’s management on the Force- 

Placed Insurance program’s performance. These presentations included 

cancellation rates of Force-Placed Insurance for borrowers who never had a lapse 

in required insurance coverage, known as “flat cancels,” and borrowers who had 

the required insurance for part of the Force-Placed Insurance policy term, known 

as “partial cancels.” 

33. Respondent was informed by its vendor that, since 2005, roughly 28% of 

Respondent’s Force-Placed Insurance policies were canceled because they were 

duplicative of insurance maintained by borrowers for the entire term of the 

Force-Placed Insurance policy. The number of cancellations should have raised 

concerns that Respondent’s and its vendor’s processes for determining insurance 

coverage before and after placement of Force-Placed Insurance were insufficient.  

34. From 2011 to 2016, Respondent caused hundreds of thousands of consumers to 

be charged substantial premiums—typically just over $1,000 a policy—for 

unnecessary or duplicative Force-Placed Insurance. Although Respondent caused 

the premiums to be refunded after receiving proof of adequate insurance during 

the coverage period, the refunds covered all of the interest charged for only flat 

cancels. And, in many cases, Respondent did not refund other fees or related 

charges, such as repossession fees, late fees, deferral fees, and NSF fees. 
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35. From 2011 to 2016, Respondent acknowledges that for at least 27,000 customers, 

the additional costs of the Force-Placed Insurance could have contributed to a 

default that resulted in the repossession of their vehicle. 

Unfair Acts and Practices Relating to 
Force-Placed Insurance, in Violation of the CFPA 

 
36. An unfair act or practice is one that causes or is likely to cause substantial injury 

to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

37. Respondent’s conduct caused or was likely to cause substantial injuries to 

consumers because it required them to pay for Force-Placed Insurance premiums 

and interest that they should not have owed, to incur fees, and, in some instances, 

to be subject to defaults on their auto loans and repossession of their vehicles. 

38. These injuries were not reasonably avoidable by consumers and were not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

39. From July 21, 2011, through September 30, 2016, Respondent engaged in unfair 

acts or practices, in violation of §§ 1031(c) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V. 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

40. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

engage in any Specified Acts and Practices. 
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VI. 

Compliance Committee 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. As set forth in Article II, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, the Board shall appoint and 

maintain an active Compliance Committee of at least 3 members, of which a 

majority shall be directors who are not employees or officers of Respondent or 

any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. The Compliance Committee shall be 

responsible for monitoring and overseeing Respondent’s compliance with the 

provisions of this Consent Order. The Compliance Committee shall meet 

quarterly and maintain minutes of its meetings at which compliance with this 

Consent Order is discussed. 

VII. 

Compliance Risk Management and Internal Audit 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. Consistent with the requirements of Article IV, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, within 60 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection an acceptable enterprise-wide 

Compliance Risk Management Plan (Compliance Risk Management Plan) 

containing a complete description of the actions that are necessary and 

appropriate to achieve compliance with Article IV of the OCC Order. The 

Compliance Risk Management Plan should also be designed to ensure that 

Respondent’s acts and practices comply with Federal Consumer Financial Law 

and the terms of this Consent Order. In addition to the requirements set forth in 

Article IV, ¶ 2, of the OCC Order, the Compliance Risk Management Plan must be 
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commensurate with the size, complexity, and risks of Respondent’s operations 

and include, at a minimum: 

a. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies and 

procedures that ensure oversight and commitment to an effective 

compliance management system; 

b. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies and 

procedures that are designed to ensure comprehension, identification, and 

management of consumer-related risks arising from Respondent’s 

products, services, and activities; 

c. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies and 

procedures that are designed to ensure self-identification and timely self- 

reporting to the Bureau of violations and potential violations of Federal 

Consumer Financial Law as Respondent identifies such issues and develop 

an appropriate Consumer Remediation Plan, as defined in Paragraph 

51(a); 

d. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies and 

procedures designed to ensure effective third-party vendor oversight; 

e. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies and 

procedures designed to ensure Respondent’s consumer complaint 

resolution process is responsive and effective; 

f. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain policies, procedures, 

and other applicable employee guidance to address the acts and practices 

that are the subject of this Consent Order; 

g. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain employee training to 
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address the acts and practices that are the subject of this Consent Order; 

h. detailed steps to develop, implement, and maintain monitoring, testing, 

and other compliance oversight controls to address the acts and practices  

that are the subject of this Consent Order; and 

i. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above or discussed in the Compliance Risk Management Plan, 

consistent with the deadlines set forth in this Consent Order. 

43. After receiving notice that the Regional Director has made a determination of 

Non-Objection to the Compliance Risk Management Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Risk Management Plan. 

44. Consistent with the requirements of Article V, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, within 60 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection a Staffing Assessment and Program 

(Staffing Assessment) for Respondent’s Compliance Risk Management Program 

that will provide for the allocation of adequate resources. At a minimum, the 

Staffing Assessment must satisfy the requirements set forth in Article V, ¶ 1, of 

the OCC Order. As required by Article V, ¶¶ 2–3, of the OCC Order, the 

Compliance Committee must ensure that management corrects any deficiencies 

identified by the Staffing Assessment and implements any plans or 

recommendations resulting from the Staffing Assessment. Thereafter, the 

Compliance Committee must ensure that Respondent, at a minimum, annually 

evaluates the skills and expertise of the independent Compliance Risk 

Management Program’s staff to determine if there are any material deficiencies 
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in skills or expertise and develop a plan to address any identified gaps or 

deficiencies. 

45. Consistent with the requirements of Article VI, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, within 60 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection a plan to enhance Internal Audit’s 

program with respect to compliance (Internal Audit’s Compliance Program). The 

Regional Director’s Non-Objection will apply only to issues or actions related to 

compliance with Federal Consumer Financial Law. In addition to the 

requirements set forth in Article VI, ¶ 1, the Internal Audit’s Compliance Program 

must, at a minimum, provide for a compliance audit of Respondent’s acts and 

practices related to the Specified Acts and Practices to ensure compliance with 

Federal Consumer Financial Law and the terms of this Consent Order. 

VIII. 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. The Board (or a Committee of the Board, which may include the Compliance 

Committee) must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order before submission to 

the Bureau. 

47. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or determination of Non-Objection by the Regional Director, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal Consumer 

Financial Law and this Consent Order, including successful execution of the 
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Plans. The Board shall ensure that Respondent has processes, personnel, and 

control systems to ensure implementation of and adherence to the plans, 

programs, policies, and procedures required by this Consent Order. 

48. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations and actions directed by the Board to be taken 

under this Consent Order; 

c. follow up on non-compliance with such actions in a timely and appropriate 

manner; and 

d. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this section. 

IX. 

Remediation Program and Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Consistent with the requirements of Article VII, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, within 120 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection a comprehensive written plan to 

develop and implement a program for remediation activities conducted by 

Respondent (Remediation Program). The Regional Director’s Non-Objection will 

apply only to issues or actions related to compliance with Federal Consumer 
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Financial Law. 

50. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of Non-Objection to the Remediation Program, Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the definitions, steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Remediation Program. 

51. In addition to the requirements set forth in Article VII, ¶ 2, of the OCC Order, the 

Remediation Program must include, at a minimum: 

a. a requirement for the development of remediation plans (Consumer 

Remediation Plans) for consumers that Respondent identifies as incurring 

an economic or other cognizable harm based on (1) a violation of Federal 

Consumer Financial Law or (2) a potential violation that Respondent 

elects to include in the Remediation Program; Respondent’s development 

of a Consumer Remediation Plan will not be deemed an admission that a 

violation has occurred; 

b. a definition of Consumer Remediation Plans that may include minimum 

thresholds for the number of customers affected, amounts involved, or 

other factors before remediation of a violation or potential violation of 

Federal Consumer Financial Law is deemed to be a Consumer 

Remediation Plan subject to the processes set forth in this paragraph; with 

respect to litigated settlements, Respondent will independently evaluate 

whether a Consumer Remediation Plan is required; 

c. policies and procedures for conducting a root-cause analysis of any 

violations of Federal Consumer Financial Law identified by Respondent or 

any acts or practices for which Respondent has developed a Consumer 
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Remediation Plan; 

d. policies and procedures for analyzing: (1) the severity of any economic or 

other cognizable harm to consumers resulting from any violations of 

Federal Consumer Financial Law or any acts or practices for which 

Respondent has developed a Consumer Remediation Plan; (2) the 

duration of time over which the violations of Federal Consumer Financial 

Law occurred or any acts or practices for which Respondent has developed 

a Consumer Remediation Plan; and (3) the pervasiveness of the violations 

of Federal Consumer Financial Law or any acts or practices for which 

Respondent has developed a Consumer Remediation Plan; 

e. no conditioning of the payment of any redress to any consumer on that 

consumer’s waiving any right, except that the Remediation Program may 

include procedures and standards for waivers in litigated settlements, 

settlements involving parties represented by counsel, settlements with any 

other governmental regulatory or enforcement agency, or in other 

circumstances acceptable to the Regional Director; and 

f. reporting procedures for the monthly reporting of any anticipated or 

ongoing Consumer Remediation Plans developed by Respondent 

(Remediation Reports) that, at a minimum: (1) meet the requirements set 

forth in Article VII, ¶ 2(d); (2) identify the type and amount of consumer 

remediation and other relief provided to consumers; and (3) provide for 

the provision of each Remediation Report to the Compliance Committee 

and Regional Director within 10 days of its completion. 

52. Consistent with Article VIII, ¶ 1, of the OCC Order, in connection with any 
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Consumer Remediation Plan that has been submitted to the Regional Director 

under Paragraphs 53, 55, or 56 and has received Non-Objection from the 

Regional Director, an independent unit, third party, or Internal Audit, shall 

prepare a report validating that Respondent’s implementation of the Consumer 

Remediation Plan complies with the requirements of Respondent’s Remediation 

Program (Remediation Review Report). Upon notification in writing by the 

Regional Director, the Bureau may require Respondent to engage an independent 

third party to validate that Respondent’s implementation of a Consumer 

Remediation Plan complies with the requirements of Respondent’s Remediation 

Program, and prepare a Remediation Review Report. Each Remediation Review 

Report should meet the requirements set forth in Article VIII, ¶ 2. Within 10 days 

of its completion, each Remediation Review Report shall be submitted to the 

Compliance Committee and the Regional Director. 

53. Consistent with Article VIII, ¶ 4, of the OCC Order, the Regional Director may 

require submission for a determination of Non-Objection a validated Consumer 

Remediation Plan (as defined in Paragraph 51(a)) that meets the following 

criteria: 

a. the number of customers or customer accounts likely to require 

remediation exceeds 50,000; or 

b. the anticipated amount of the total remediation to be paid, refunded, or 

remitted to customers exceeds $10 million. 

54. Consistent with Article VIII, ¶ 5, of the OCC Order, Respondent, at least 30 days 

(or as soon as practicable per the terms of the controlling legal document) before 

the implementation of any Consumer Remediation Plan pursuant to a legal 
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judgment, court order, or negotiated settlement of any legal proceeding as 

specified in the Remediation Program that relates to a violation or a potential 

violation of Federal Consumer Financial Law must provide the Regional Director 

the proposed Consumer Remediation Plan. 

55. Consistent with the requirements of Article VIII, ¶ 6, of the OCC Order, within 60 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection a comprehensive remediation plan to 

address the findings set forth in this Consent Order with respect to Rate-Lock 

Specified Acts and Practices and to provide redress to all persons who paid rate-

lock-extension fees and who claim to be Rate-Lock Affected Consumers (Rate-

Lock Remediation Plan). The Rate-Lock Remediation Plan must, at a minimum: 

a. provide for completion of such remediation, including internal audit 

validation, within 180 days of the Regional Director’s Non-Objection; and  

b. not condition the payment of any redress on the claimant’s waiving any 

right. 

56. Consistent with the requirements of Article VIII, ¶ 6, of the OCC Order, within 60 

days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of Non-Objection a comprehensive remediation plan to 

address the findings set forth in this Consent Order with respect to Force-Placed 

Insurance Specified Acts and Practices and to provide redress to Force-Placed 

Insurance Affected Consumers (Force-Placed Insurance Remediation Plan). The 

Force-Placed Insurance Remediation Plan must, at a minimum: 

a. identify all Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers, as well as the 

types and amounts of economic or other cognizable harm suffered by 
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Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers as a result of the Force-

Placed Insurance Specified Acts and Practices, and state the means by 

which Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers have been identified; 

b. describe the methodology for effectively identifying Force-Placed 

Insurance Affected Consumers; 

c. describe the methodology for determining the appropriate type of redress 

for economic or other cognizable harm caused by the Force-Placed 

Insurance Specified Acts and Practices; 

d. describe the process for providing redress to Force-Placed Affected 

Consumers and identifying the dollar amount of redress for each category 

of Affected Consumers; 

e. describe procedures by which Respondent will notify Force-Placed 

Insurance Affected Consumers who were subject to any of the Force- 

Placed Insurance Specified Acts and Practices described in Paragraph 3(h) 

of this Consent Order, including the form of the notification such 

consumers will receive; 

f. describe how Respondent will locate Force-Placed Insurance Affected 

Consumers for the provision of all forms of redress, the steps Respondent 

will take with respect to Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers 

whose mail has been returned to Respondent as undeliverable, including 

the reasonable steps to obtain a current address using standard address-

search methodologies, and the steps Respondent will take with respect to 

redress payments that are not cashed after a reasonable period of time; 

g. provide the form of the letter or notice and the envelope that will be sent 
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to such Force-Placed Insurance Affected Consumers notifying them of the 

redress; 

h. provide for completion of such remediation, including internal audit 

validation, within 180 days of the Regional Director’s Non-Objection; and 

i. not condition the payment of any redress to any Force-Placed Insurance 

Affected Consumers under this Consent Order on Force-Placed Insurance 

Affected Consumers’ waiving any right. 

57. In the interest of expediting relief to affected consumers, Respondent may 

proceed with providing remediation to consumers under any Consumer 

Remediation Plan, whether or not it has been submitted for, or received, a 

determination of Non-Objection. The Bureau, before providing Non-Objection 

for any Consumer Remediation Plan, may require Respondent to provide 

additional remediation to consumers and to remediate other consumers, 

consistent with requirements of Federal Consumer Financial Law. 

58. Respondent shall not be considered to be in compliance with Paragraphs 52–57, 

and Paragraphs 52–57 remain effective, until such time that the Regional 

Director has determined that Respondent has complied with Section XII and 

Paragraphs 41–51. 

X. 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 
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$1 billion to the Bureau. Under 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(4), the amount Respondent 

must pay will be remitted by $500 million upon Respondent’s satisfaction of its 

obligation to pay that amount in penalties to the OCC for related conduct. 

60. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions. 

61. The civil money penalty will be deposited in the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau 

as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

62. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

63. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit from, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action or because of any payment that the Bureau 

makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days 
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of entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

XI. 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

64. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment and will immediately become due and payable. 

65. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

66. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer-identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

67. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 
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XII. 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days of the development. 

69. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 45 days of the end of 

each calendar quarter, the Compliance Committee shall submit a written 

progress report (Compliance Report) to the Board that, at a minimum: 

a. lists each applicable paragraph and subparagraph of the Consent Order 

and describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with each such paragraph and subparagraph of the Consent 

Order and the results and status of those actions; 

b. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with the Plans; and 

c. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XIII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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70. The Board shall approve and forward a copy of the Compliance Report, with any 

additional comments by the Board, to the Regional Director within 15 days of the 

first Board meeting following receipt of such report, unless additional time is 

granted by the Regional Director through a determination of Non-Objection. 

71. Consistent with the requirements of Article III, ¶ 5, of the OCC Order, within 120 

days of receipt of the Regional Director’s determination of Non-Objection to the 

Plans, Respondent’s Internal Audit department shall complete an assessment of 

Respondent’s progress toward implementing the Plans (other than Consumer 

Remediation Plans, as defined in Paragraph 51(a)). In addition, upon the 

Regional Director’s written request, Respondent’s Internal Audit will complete 

the same such assessment within 45 days of the end of every calendar quarter 

thereafter until the completion of the Plans. The findings shall be memorialized 

in writing and, within 30 days of completing the assessment, Internal Audit shall 

provide its written findings to the Compliance Committee and the Regional 

Director. Upon notification in writing by the Regional Director, the Bureau may 

require Respondent to engage an independent third party to reassess 

Respondent’s progress toward implementing the Plans (other than Consumer 

Remediation Plans, as defined in Paragraph 51(a)). The independent third party’s 

findings must be memorialized in writing and, within 30 days of completing the 

assessment, the independent third party must provide its written findings to the 

Compliance Committee and the Regional Director. 
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XIII. 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, sworn under 

penalty of perjury. 

73. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

74. Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order and accompanying 

Compliance and Redress plans to any business entity resulting from any change 

in structure referred to in Section XII, any future board members and executive 

officers, as well as to any managers, employees, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

75. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001–7006, within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

section. 

2018-BCFP-0001     Document 1     Filed 04/20/2018     Page 28 of 35



29  

XIV. 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for the duration of this 

Consent Order, the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Plans required in this Consent 

Order; and 

c. to the extent they are relevant to this Consent Order, copies of all sales 

scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, and other marketing 

materials, including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of 

Respondent. 

77. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 76 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

78. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 76 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XV. 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 
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File No. 2018-BCFP-0001,” and send them by overnight courier or first-class mail 

to the below addresses and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Regional Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
West Region 
301 Howard Street, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington DC 20552. 

XVI. 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

80. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer.

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau.

81. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV.

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent’s officers, employees,

representatives, and agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials,

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 days’

written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau

may designate, without the service of compulsory process.

2018-BCFP-0001     Document 1     Filed 04/20/2018     Page 30 of 35



31  

XVII. 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

83. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

84. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVIII. 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

86. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines that good cause 

justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must 

be in writing. 
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XIX. 

Administrative and Other Provisions 

87. With respect to any determination of Non-Objection required in this Consent 

Order, if the Regional Director objects to any proposed, or lack of proposed, 

action by Respondent, the Regional Director shall direct Respondent to make 

such revisions, and Respondent shall make the revisions and resubmit the 

proposed action within 14 days. Upon notification to Respondent of any 

determination of Non-Objection required by this Consent Order, Respondent 

must implement the course of action within 30 days unless otherwise specified, 

and the Board shall ensure that Respondent executes and thereafter adheres to 

the course of action. During the term of this Consent Order, Respondent shall 

revise the required plans, programs, policies, and procedures as necessary to 

incorporate new, or changes to, applicable legal requirements and supervisory 

guidelines. Respondent cannot make any changes to the course of action without 

obtaining a determination of Non-Objection from the Regional Director. 

88. The Plans required under this Consent Order must contain a complete 

description of the actions necessary to achieve compliance with their stated 

requirements in this Consent Order and the components of each Plan shall be 

completed within the timeframes set forth in this Consent Order. 

89. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 90. 

90. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the acts and 
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practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such acts 

and practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau expressly reserves its right to take 

future supervisory and enforcement actions, in it is discretion and as appropriate, 

and to assess a civil money penalty (bound by statutory maximum penalty 

amounts) in the future based on other violations of law and practices even though 

they may be addressed by required remedial actions in this Consent Order. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future 

enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without 

limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a 

pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This 

release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and 

ensure compliance with the Consent Order or to seek penalties for any violations 

of the Consent Order. 

91. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

92. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent 

that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

93. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

94. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 
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subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

95. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent 

may be found, and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction 

over Respondent. 

96. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

97. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 
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98. Except as expressly stated herein, to the extent that a specific action by 

Respondent is required both by this Consent Order and by the OCC Order, action 

by Respondent that satisfies a requirement of the OCC Order will satisfy that 

same requirement under this Consent Order. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 20th day of April, 2018. 

Mick Mui aney, Acting Director 
Bureau o Consumer Financial Protection 

35 
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WASHINGTON—The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) today assessed a $500 million civil money penalty against Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A., and ordered the bank to make restitution to customers harmed by its unsafe or unsound practices, and develop and implement an 
effective enterprise-wide compliance risk management program.

The OCC’s action was closely coordinated with an action by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection and made possible through the 
collaborative approach taken by the bureau. Separately, the bureau assessed a $1 billion penalty against the bank and credited the amount 
collected by the OCC toward the satisfaction of its fine.

The OCC took these actions given the severity of the deficiencies and violations of law, the financial harm to consumers, and the bank’s failure to 
correct the deficiencies and violations in a timely manner. The OCC found deficiencies in the bank’s enterprise-wide compliance risk management 
program that constituted reckless, unsafe, or unsound practices and resulted in violations of the unfair practices prong of Section 5 of the Federal 
Trade Commission (FTC) Act. In addition, the agency found the bank violated the FTC Act and engaged in unsafe and unsound practices relating 
to improper placement and maintenance of collateral protection insurance policies on auto loan accounts and improper fees associated with 
interest rate lock extensions. These practices resulted in consumer harm which the OCC has directed the bank to remediate.

The $500 million civil money penalty reflects a number of factors, including the bank’s failure to develop and implement an effective enterprise risk 
management program to detect and prevent the unsafe or unsound practices, and the scope and duration of the practices. The OCC penalty will 
be paid to the U.S. Treasury. The OCC also reserves the right to take additional supervisory action, including imposing business restrictions and 
making changes to executive officers or members of the bank’s board of directors.

The order also modifies restrictions placed on the bank in November 2016 relating to the approval of severance payments to employees and the 
appointment of senior executive officers or board members. The original restrictions related to severance payments applied to all employees, 
which unnecessarily delayed severance payments to employees who were not responsible for the bank’s deficiencies or violations. This order 
maintains restrictions on the approval of severance payments to senior and executive officers and the appointment of senior executive officers or 
board members.

Related Links

• Consent Order for the Assessment of a Civil Money Penalty (PDF)

• Cease and Desist Order (PDF)

# # # 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Announces Settlement With 

Wells Fargo For Auto-Loan 
Administration and Mortgage Practices
APR 20, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) 

announced a settlement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. in a coordinated action with 

the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC). As described in the consent 

order, the Bureau found that Wells Fargo violated the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act (CFPA) in the way it administered a mandatory insurance program 

related to its auto loans. The Bureau also found that Wells Fargo violated the CFPA 

in how it charged certain borrowers for mortgage interest rate-lock extensions. 

Under the terms of the consent orders, Wells Fargo will remediate harmed 

consumers and undertake certain activities related to its risk management and 

compliance management. The Bureau assessed a $1 billion penalty against the 

bank and credited the $500 million penalty collected by the OCC toward the 

satisfaction of its fine.

"I am especially pleased that we were able to work closely and effectively with our 

colleagues at the OCC, and I appreciate the key role they played in the 

negotiations," said Bureau Acting Director Mick Mulvaney. "As to the terms of the 

settlement: we have said all along that we will enforce the law. That is what we did 

here."

The Bureau’s Wells Fargo consent order is available 

at: https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_wells-fargo-bank-

na_consent-order_2018-04.pdf

The OCC’s Wells Fargo consent order is available at: https://www.occ.gov/news-

issuances/news-releases/2018/nr-occ-2018-41.html



### 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Baltimore Division 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC, 
et al., 

Defendants. 

Case No. 1:17-cv-02997-GLR 

DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND ORDER AGAINST DEFENDANTS FEDERAL 
DEBT ASSISTANCE ASSOCIATION, LLC, FINANCIAL DOCUMENT 
ASSISTANCE ADMINISTRATION, INC., CLEAR SOLUTIONS, INC., 

ROBERT PANTOULIS, DAVID PICCIONE, AND VINCENT PICCIONE 

Plaintiff, the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau), filed a 

Complaint on October 12, 2017, against Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC, 

Financial Document Assistance Administration, Inc., Clear Solutions, Inc., Vincent 

Piccione, David Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis (collectively, Defendants) to obtain 

permanent injunctions, restitution, disgorgement, other equitable relief, and civil 

money penalties under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 

U.S.C. § 5565. The Complaint alleges that Defendants violated the CFPA and the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, in connection with the marketing and 

sale of debt-relief services and credit-repair services. 

Upon consideration of the Complaint, the Bureau's Motion for Default Judgment 

against Defendants and its supporting memorandum and exhibits, and the record in this 

matter, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Bureau's Motion is GRANTED and, under 
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 55(b)(2), DEFAULT JUDGMENT shall be ENTERED 

AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS. 

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED as 

follows: 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action. See 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1); 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345. 

2. Venue is proper in this district under 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f) because 

Defendants are located, reside, and do business in this district. 

3. 

Complaint. 

4. 

Defendants were each properly served with a Summons and the 

Defendants failed to answer or otherwise defend this action. 

5. The Clerk of the Court properly entered default against Defendants 

Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC (Federal Debt), Financial Document 

Assistance Administration, Inc. (Financial Document), Clear Solutions, Inc. (Clear 

Solutions), Robert Pantoulis, and David Piccione on January 16, 2018 (ECF No. 14), and 

against Vincent Piccione on March 15, 2018 (ECF No. 17). 

6. The Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted under the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, which implements the 

Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (Telemarketing Act), 15 

U.S.0 §§ 6101-6108. 

7. The relief provided in this Order is appropriate and available under § 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565, and the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c). 

2 
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8. Because of their defaults, Defendants are deemed to have admitted the 

well-pleaded facts of the Complaint, and the allegations are taken as true. See Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 8. 

9. Federal Debt and Financial Document are "covered persons" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). Federal Debt and Financial Document are also "sellers" and 

"telemarketers" engaged in "telemarketing" and the provision of "debt relief service[s]" 

under the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(0), (dd), (ff), (gg). 

10. Clear Solutions is an "affiliate" of both Federal Debt and Financial 

Document and a "service provider" under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(1), (26), and 

therefore it is a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(B). 

11. To conduct the acts and practices described in the Complaint, Federal 

Debt, Financial Document, and Clear Solutions operated as a common enterprise with 

the three interrelated companies sharing officers and office space, operating under the 

common control of Vincent Piccione, David Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis, and failing 

to function as distinct, arm's-length entities. Therefore, each of the Defendant 

companies is jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged in the 

Complaint. 

12. Defendants David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis (the 

Principals) are "related persons" and "covered persons" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(25)(B) & 

Defendants violated the CFPA and TSR 

13. In connection with telemarketing debt-relief services, Federal Debt and 

Financial Document violated the TSR because they requested and received payments (a) 

before they had renegotiated, settled, reduced, or altered the terms of at least one debt 

pursuant to a bona fide agreement or plan with the creditor or debt collector, (b) before 

3 

Case 1:17-cv-02997-GLR   Document 22   Filed 05/22/18   Page 3 of 16



Case 1:17-cv-02997-GLR Document 21-6 Filed 05/07/18 Page 4 of 16 

the customer had made at least one payment pursuant to that agreement or plan, and 

(c) in which the fee was not proportional to or a percentage of the amount saved. 16 

C.F.R. § 31o.4(a)(5)(i)• 

14. In connection with telemarketing credit-repair services, Federal Debt and 

Financial Document violated the TSR because they requested and received fees before 

(a) the promised timeframe for providing the services had expired and (b) the seller had 

provided a consumer credit report demonstrating that the promised results had been 

achieved and the report was issued more than six months after the results were 

achieved. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). 

15. In connection with telemarketing their debt-relief services and credit-

repair services, Federal Debt and Financial Document violated the TSR because they 

mispresented that they would reduce consumers' principal balances by at least 6o%, 

leave consumers' creditors without recourse on the debts, and increase consumers' 

credit scores. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). These representations were false, misleading, 

and unsubstantiated. 

16. In connection with telemarketing their debt-relief services, Federal Debt 

and Financial Document violated specific provisions of the TSR governing debt-relief 

services because they mispresented that they would reduce consumers' principal 

balances by at least 6o% and leave consumers' creditors without recourse on the debts. 

16 C.F.R. § 31o.3(a)(2)(x). These representations were false, misleading, and 

unsubstantiated. 

17. In connection with telemarketing their debt-relief and credit-repair 

services, Federal Debt and Financial Document violated the TSR because they instructed 

consumers to stop making payments on the debts enrolled in its program but never 
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disclosed that doing so may lead to the consumer being sued or to an increase in the 

amount owed. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(viii)(C). 

18. In connection with telemarketing their debt-relief and credit-repair 

services, Federal Debt and Financial Document violated the TSR because they 

misrepresented their affiliation with, endorsement by, or sponsorship by the Federal 

government, specifically the Bureau and the Federal Trade Commission. 

19. For each TSR violation committed by Federal Debt and Financial 

Document set forth above, Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent Piccione, and 

Robert Pantoulis also violated the TSR by providing substantial assistance or support to 

Federal Debt and Financial Document while they knew or consciously avoided knowing 

that Federal Debt and Financial Document had engaged in an act or practice that 

violated the TSR. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(b). 

20. Federal Debt and Financial Document violated the CFPA's prohibition of 

deceptive acts or practices by mispresenting that they would reduce consumers' 

principal balances by at least 6o%, leave consumers' creditors without recourse on the 

debts, and increase consumers' credit scores. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536. These 

representations, which were false, misleading, and unsubstantiated, were material and 

likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

21. Federal Debt and Financial Document violated the CFPA's prohibition of 

deceptive acts or practices by misrepresenting an affiliation with, endorsement by, or 

sponsorship by the Federal government, specifically the Bureau and the Federal Trade 

Commission. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536. These representations were false, material, and 

likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

22. For each CFPA violation committed by Federal Debt and Financial 

Document set forth above, Defendants Clear Solutions, David Piccione, Vincent 
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Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis violated the CFPA by knowingly or recklessly providing 

substantial assistance to Federal Debt's and Financial Document's deceptive acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). The Principals also each violated the CFPA by directly 

contributing to the development, review, and approval of materials containing the 

misrepresentations. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536. 

23. Given the Complaint's well-pleaded allegations and Defendants' failure to 

answer or defend, the Court enters a default judgment against Defendants for violations 

of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.3 (a)(i)(viii)(C), (a)(2)(iii), (vii), (x), and 310.4(a)(2), 

(a)(5)(i), and for violations of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

24. Each of the Defendants is jointly and severally liable for each of the 

violations alleged in the Complaint. 

Remedies 

25. The CFPA empowers this Court to order injunctive and other relief, 

restitution, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. § 5565. 

26. The Bureau established through competent evidence that the financial 

harm to consumers from Defendants' violations was at least $4,972,389.31, which is the 

amount paid to Defendants by consumers. 

27. Absent a permanent injunction, there is a reasonable likelihood that 

Defendants will continue to engage in the unlawful conduct alleged in the Complaint or 

similar misconduct. Defendants' unlawful conduct as alleged in the Complaint justifies 

permanent injunctive relief. 

28. The Bureau is entitled to an Order imposing permanent injunctive relief, 

requiring Defendants to make restitution of $4,972,389.31, and requiring Defendants to 

pay a civil money penalty in the amount of $16 million. 
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29. The Court exercises its discretion to order injunctive and monetary relief, 

without holding an evidentiary hearing. 

30. This action and the relief awarded herein are in addition to, and not in lieu 

of, other remedies as may be provided at law, including both civil and criminal 

remedies. 

31. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 

DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

32. "Affected Consumer" means any person who paid any money to 

Defendants to enroll or participate in Defendants' debt-management program, 

including the Debt-Relief or Credit-Repair Services offered by Defendants. 

33. 

34. 

assigns. 

35. 

"Bureau" means the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection. 

"Clear Solutions" means Clear Solutions, Inc., and its successors and 

"Credit-Repair Service" means any good or service represented to 

remove derogatory information from or to improve a consumer's credit history, credit 

record, or credit rating. 

36. "Debt-Relief Service" means any program or service represented, 

directly or by implication, to renegotiate, settle, or in any way alter the terms of payment 

or other terms of the debt between a person and one or more unsecured creditors or 

debt collectors, including, but not limited to, a reduction in the balance, interest rate, or 

fees owed by a consumer to an unsecured creditor or debt collector. 

37. "Defendants" means Federal Debt, Financial Document, Clear 

Solutions, Vincent Piccione, David Piccione, and Robert Pantoulis. 
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38. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Order is entered on the 

docket. 

39. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, or his or her delegate. 

40. "Federal Debt" means Federal Debt Assistance Association, LLC, and its 

successors and assigns. 

41. "Financial Advisory Services" means services (other than services 

relating to securities provided by a person regulated by the Securities Exchange 

Commission or a person regulated by a State securities commission, but only to the 

extent that such person acts in a regulated capacity) to consumers on individual 

financial matters or relating to proprietary financial products or services (other than by 

publishing any bona fide newspaper, news magazine, or business or financial 

publication of general and regular circulation, including publishing market data, news, 

or data analytics or investment information or recommendations that are not tailored to 

the individual needs of a particular consumer), including providing credit counseling to 

any consumer or providing services to assist a consumer with debt management or debt 

settlement, modifying the terms of any extension of credit, or avoiding foreclosure. 

42. "Financial Document" means Financial Document Assistance 

Administration, Inc., and its successors and assigns. 

43. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Federal Debt, Financial Document, Clear Solutions, Vincent Piccione, 

David Piccione, or Robert Pantoulis based on substantially the same facts as described 

as in the Complaint. 

44. "Relevant Period" means January 14, 2016, through the Effective Date. 
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ORDER 

I. 

Permanent Ban on Telemarketing 
Debt-Relief and Credit-Repair Products or Services 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

45. Defendants and their, officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them who 

have actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained from the following: 

a. participating in telemarketing or assisting others engaged in 

telemarketing any Financial Advisory Service, Debt-Relief Service, or 

Credit-Repair Service; 

b. advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, selling, providing, 

collecting any fees for, or assisting in the sale of any Financial Advisory 

Service, Debt-Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service; 

c. assisting any person advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale, 

selling, providing, or collecting any fees for any Financial Advisory 

Service, Debt-Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service; and 

d. receiving any remuneration or other consideration from, holding any 

ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in any capacity 

for any person engaged in or assisting in advertising, marketing, 

promoting, offering for sale, selling, providing, collecting any fees for, or 

assisting in the sale of any Financial Advisory Service, Debt-Relief 

Service, or Credit-Repair Service. 
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46. Defendants and their officers, directors, agents, and employees, and 

attorneys, whether acting directly or indirectly, must immediately cease and desist 

assessing and collecting any fees from any consumer for any Financial Advisory Service, 

Debt-Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service, including any existing or future 

agreements for such services. 

II. 

Prohibition on Deceptive Practices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Defendants and their officers, directors, agents, servants, and employees, 

and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with any of them, 

who receive actual notice of this Order whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, providing, 

collecting any fees for, or assisting in the sale of any Financial Advisory Service, Debt-

Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service, or any other consumer financial product or 

service, may not misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or 

impliedly: 

a. the ability to remove derogatory information from, or improve, a 

consumer's credit history, credit record, or credit rating; 

b. the ability to renegotiate, settle, reduce, or otherwise alter the terms of at 

least one debt; 

c. any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central 

characteristics of the service; 

d. the legal effect of the service on a consumer's debt or a creditor's ability to 

take action, including legal action, against a consumer to collect on the 

debt; 
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e. the requirements imposed upon creditors or collectors to comply with the 

law; 

f. the amount of money that a consumer will save or the amount of debt 

reduction that a consumer will experience using such service; 

g. any material restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, or 

use the service; and 

h. the affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, any government 

entity. 

48. In addition, Defendants, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, sale, providing, 

collecting any fees for, or assisting in the sale of any Financial Advisory Service, Debt-

Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service, or any other consumer financial product or 

service, are hereby permanently restrained and enjoined from making any 

representation or assisting others in making any representation, expressly or by 

implication, about the benefits, performance, or efficacy of any Financial Advisory 

Service, unless, at the time such representation is made, they possess and rely upon 

competent and reliable evidence that substantiates that the representation is true. 

III. 

Prohibited Use of Customer Information 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

49. Defendants and their officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys, those persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive 

actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not disclose, use, 

or benefit from customer information obtained by Defendants before the Effective Date, 

including the name, address, telephone number, email address, social security number, 
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financial information, other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a 

customer's account (including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account). 

Customer information may be disclosed if requested by a government agency or 

required by law, regulation, or court order. 

50. Defendants and their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and 

all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual 

notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile transmission, email, or otherwise, 

whether acting directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, 

are hereby permanently restrained and enjoined from attempting to collect, collecting, 

selling, or assigning, or otherwise transferring any right to collect payment from any 

consumer who purchased or agreed to purchase any Financial Advisory Service, Debt-

Relief Service, or Credit-Repair Service from Defendants. 

IV. 

Order to Pay Redress and a Civil Money Penalty 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the Bureau 

and against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $4,972,389.31 for the 

purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers. The monetary judgment set forth 

in this Section is immediately due and payable to the Bureau upon entry of this Order 

and is enforceable against any asset owned by, on behalf of, for the benefit of, or in trust 

by or for any of the Defendants. 

52. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in the Complaint and continuing to the entry• of this Order, 

and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), judgment for a civil penalty 

is entered against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $16 million. 
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V. 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. The monetary judgment set forth in Section W: 

a. is immediately due and payable to the Bureau upon entry of this Default 

Judgment and Order; and 

b. is enforceable against any asset owned by, on behalf of, for the benefit of, 

or in trust by or for any of the Defendants. 

54. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid under this Order to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds 

may be returned to Defendants. 

55. Any financial or brokerage institution, escrow agent, title company, 

commodity trading company, business entity, or person, whether located within the 

United States or outside the United States, that holds, controls or maintains accounts or 

assets of, on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any of the Defendants shall turn over such 

account or asset to the Bureau or its designated agent within ten (10) business days of 

receiving notice of this Order by any means, including but not limited to via facsimile or 

email. Any such funds must be paid to the Bureau by wire transfer to the Bureau or to 

the Bureau's agent and according to the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

56. Any funds received by the Bureau for redress under this Order will be 

deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent 

according to applicable statutes and regulations to be used to provide redress to Affected 

Consumers for the fees they paid to Defendants and for any attendant expenses for the 

administration of any such redress. 
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57. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers 

is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after 

redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the United States 

Treasury as disgorgement. Defendants will have no rights to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 

58. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

59. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Defendants may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order. 

60. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that Defendants are entitled to, nor may 

Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in any Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this 

action or because of any payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund 

(Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Defendants must, within 3o days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty 

Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. 
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Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

61. The civil money penalty imposed by this Order represents a civil penalty 

owed to the United States Government, is not compensation for actual pecuniary loss, 

and, thus, as to each defaulting Defendant, it is not subject to discharge under the 

Bankruptcy Code under 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7). 

62. In the event of any default on Defendants' obligations to make payment 

under this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

63. The facts alleged in the Bureau's Complaint will be taken as true and be 

given collateral estoppel effect, without further proof, in any proceeding based on the 

entry of the Order, or in any subsequent civil litigation by the Bureau to enforce this 

Order or its rights to any payment or monetary judgment under the Order, such as a 

non-dischargeability complaint in any bankruptcy case. 

64. The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements necessary to 

sustain an action by the Bureau under § 523(a)(2)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 

§ 523(a)(2)(A), and this Order will have collateral estoppel effect for such purposes. 

VI. 

Service and Retention of Jurisdiction 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. This Order may be served upon Defendants by certified mail, by the 

United States Marshal, the Clerk of the Court, or any representative or agent of the 

Bureau through personal service or alternative service approved by this Court by order 

on January 11, 2018. 
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66. The Court will retain jurisdiction of the matter for purposes of 

construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

67. The Clerk is DIRECTED to CLOSE this case. 

It is SO ORDERED. 

DATED thiseeisiiday of, , 2018. 

5 
George L. Russell, III 
United States District Judge 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 2018-BCFP-0002 

In the Matter of: 

Security Group, Inc., 
Security Finance Corporation of 
Spartanburg, Professional Financial Services 
Corp., et al. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection ("Bureau") has reviewed the 

installment lending, collection, and furnishing practices of Security Group, Inc., its 

wholly owned subsidiaries Security Finance Corporation of Spartanburg and 

Professional Financial Services Corp., and their respective Operating Entities 

(collectively, "Respondents" as defined below). The Bureau has identified violations of 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 

and the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681X, and its 

implementing regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1022. Under§§ 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order ("Consent 

Order"). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, and § 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1). 
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated June 5, 2018 ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject 

matter of this Consent Order. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Board" means the duly elected and acting Boards of Security Group, Inc., 

Security Finance Corporation of Spartanburg, Professional Financial Services 

Corp. and the Operating Entities. 

b. "Consumer Reporting Agency" or "CRA" refers to a Consumer Reporting 

Agency as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

c. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

d. "Enforcement Director" means the Bureau's Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement, or his or her delegee. 

e. "Operating Entities" means the wholly owned subsidiaries of Security Finance 

Corporation of Spartanburg and Professional Financial Services Corp., as well 

as any similar entities created in the future, that are licensed pursuant to state 

2 
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law and operate consumer finance businesses in one or more states.1 

f. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against any one of the Respondents based on substantially the same 

facts as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

g. "Relevant Period" means the period from July 21, 2011 to the Effective Date. 

h. "Respondents" means Security Group, Inc., Security Finance Corporation of 

Spartanburg, Professional Financial Services Corp., each Operating Entity, 

and their successors and assigns. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Security Group, Inc. ("SGI"), is a South Carolina corporation that owns all the 

issued and outstanding stock in various subsidiaries including Security Finance 

Corporation of Spartanburg and Professional Financial Services Corp. 

5. Security Finance Corporation of Spartanburg ("SFCS"), a wholly owned subsidiary 

1 The Operating Entities currently are Security Finance Corporation of Alabama, 
Security Finance Corporation of South Carolina , Security Finance Corporation of Utah, 
Security Finance Corporation of Wisconsin, Security Finance of Georgia, LLC, Security 
Finance of Idaho, LLC, Security Finance of Louisiana, LLC, Security Finance of 
Missouri, LLC, Security Finance of New Mexico, LLC, Security Finance of Oklahoma, 
LLC, Security Finance of Texas, LP, Security Finance Company of Tennessee, SFC of 
Illinois, LLC, SFC of Nevada, LLC, Professional Financial Services of Alabama, LLC, 
Professional Financial Services of Florida, LLC, Professional Financial Services of 
Georgia, LLC, Professional Financial Services of Indiana, LLC, Professional Financial 
Services of Kentucky, LLC, Professional Financial Services of North Carolina, LLC, 
Professional Financial Services of Ohio, LLC, Professional Financial Services of South 
Carolina, LLC, Professional Financial Services of Tennessee, LLC, Professional Financial 
Services of Texas, LLC, and Professional Financial Services of Virginia, LLC. 
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of Respondent SGI, is a South Carolina corporation that owns all of the issued and 

outstanding stock or other interests in various SFCS Operating Entities. The 

primary business of its Operating Entities is making consumer loans. SFCS 

provides administrative services for its Operating Entities and the Operating 

Entities of PFS. 

6. The Operating Entities of SFCS use, or have used in the past the following trade 

names: A&A Finance, Apex Finance, Bond Finance, Canyon Finance, Continental 

Credit, Continental Loans, Friendly Finance, Heritage Credit, Hometown Finance, 

Key Loan and Finance, Lake Park Finance, Longhorn Finance, Maverick Finance, 

Merit Finance, Money Tree Finance, Patriot Loan Company, Port City Finance, 

Security Finance, Sunbelt Credit, Time Finance, and Zia Finance. 

7. Professional Financial Services Corp. ("PFS"), a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Respondent SGI, is a South Carolina corporation that is the sole member of various 

PFS Operating Entities. The primary business of its Operating Entities is the 

purchase of retail installment sales contracts from automobile dealers. Four of the 

PFS Operating Entities also make consumer loans. The PFS Operating Entities 

service and collect on the contracts they purchase and the loans they make. PFS 

also operates under a variety of trades names of which Professional Financial 

Services is the most recognizable. 

8. In total, Respondents own and operate approximately 900 locations in the 

following states: Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Idaho, Indiana, Kentucky, 

Louisiana, Missouri, New Mexico, Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, South 

Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Wisconsin. 

9. Respondents originate, provide, purchase, service, and collect on high-cost, short-
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term, secured and unsecured loans, including installment loans offered to 

consumers primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. These are 

"consumer financial product[s] or service[s]" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(5), (15)(A)(i), (15)(A)(x). 

10. Respondents are covered persons and, as applicable, related persons under the 

CFPA because they are in the business of making consumer loans and collecting 

debt related to such loans. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), (25)(B)-(C). 

11. Respondents are also "persons" under the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(b). 

12. Respondents regularly furnish information relating to consumers to CRAs for 

inclusion in consumer reports and are therefore "furnishers" under Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(c). 

13. Respondents have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in unlawful 

conduct, including unfair or deceptive acts or practices and other violations of law 

described in this Consent Order. 

14. Respondents are jointly and severally liable for the described unlawful acts and 

practices because they have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in 

unlawful conduct. 

UNFAIR ACTS OR PRACTICES 

15. The CFPA prohibits covered persons from engaging in "unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive" acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is 

unfair if it causes or is likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not 

reasonably avoidable and if the substantial injury is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

5 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Respondents' Unfair In-Person Collection 
Visits to Consumers' Homes and Places of Employment 

16. Until at least December 2015, in numerous instances, Respondents visited 

consumers' homes and places of employment, as well as the homes of their 

neighbors, to collect or attempt to collect delinquent debt. Respondents continued 

to visit consumers' homes until at least October 2016. In some instances, 

Respondents also visited consumers in other public places to collect or attempt to 

collect debt. 

17. Between 2011 and 2016, Respondents conducted or attempted more than 12 

million of these in-person visits to more than 1.3 million consumers. 

18. Respondents did not inform consumers who applied for loans that Respondents 

had a policy or practice of conducting in-person collection visits. 

19. In numerous instances, in the course of attempting to collect debt from consumers 

in person, Respondents disclosed or risked disclosing consumers' delinquency to 

third parties, disrupted consumers' workplaces and jeopardized their employment, 

and humiliated and harassed consumers. For example, Respondents: 

a. discussed debts with consumers and took payments from consumers 

where third parties could see or overhear, such as on a doorstep within 

earshot of neighbors, on a speakerphone in public, in the middle of a 

grocery store, through drive-thru windows at fast food restaurants, in line 

at a big-box retailer, and in other public locations; 

b. handed field cards to third parties, including consumers' young children, 

for delivery to consumers; 

c. threatened consumers with jail, shoved them, or physically blocked a 
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consumer from leaving private property; 

d. visited consumers' places of employment even when Respondents knew or 

should have known that the consumers were not allowed to have personal 

visitors there; 

e. visited consumers' places of employment even when the consumers or the 

consumers' employers or co-workers had informed Respondents that the 

consumers could not be contacted at work or that future visits would 

endanger the consumers' employment; 

f. visited consumers' homes or places of employment multiple times, and 

without permission from the consumers, in a manner that was likely to 

reveal that they were collecting a debt, including by visiting more than 10 

times in a month; 

g. visited the homes of consumers' neighbors and left field cards with their 

neighbors; 

h. told third parties, while asking about the consumer, that they were from 

"Security Finance"; and 
• 

i. directly informed third parties during field visits of consumers' 

delinquency. 

20. Respondents' acts or practices have caused and were likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury, including humiliation, inconvenience, and reputational damage 

ranging from unwanted attention to disclosure of their delinquent debt to 

disciplinary action and other negative employment consequences. 

21. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the harm because they did not know 

whether, when, or how these in-person visits might occur and could not control 

7 
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Respondents' use of this collection tactic. In numerous instances, Respondents 

continued to conduct in-person visits even after consumers or their employers or 

neighbors asked Respondents to stop. Thus, consumers could not prevent 

Respondents' employees from revealing information about their past-due debts to 

third parties or from continuing to make workplace visits. 

22. The substantial injury resulting from the in-person visits outweighs any 

countervailing benefits. Respondents have many other ways to collect debt that do 

not reveal the delinquency of the consumer's debt or otherwise harm consumers. 

Any marginal benefit in the form of more recoveries is outweighed by the 

substantial injury to consumers. 

23. Respondents' acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 15-22 thus constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondents' Unfair 
Collection Calls to Work 

24. During the Relevant Period, as part of their loan application process, Respondents 

required consumers to list their home and work telephone numbers. 

25. Until at least December 2015, Respondents routinely called consumers at work in 

an attempt to collect debts. Sometimes Respondents called consumers on shared 

phone lines and in the process, spoke with consumers' co-workers or employers. In 

doing so, in numerous instances, Respondents disclosed or risked disclosing the 

existence of consumer's delinquent debts. 

26. In numerous instances Respondents called consumers at work, sometimes multiple 

times, after being told that consumers were not allowed to receive calls at work and 

8 
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that future calls could endanger their employment. 

27. Respondents have acknowledged that their employees repeatedly failed to heed 

and properly record consumers' and third parties' requests to cease contact and 

that personnel were unaware of and could not access cease-contact requests logged 

by employees in other stores. These failures resulted in repeated unlawful calls to 

consumers and third parties. 

28. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

Respondents called consumers at work when (a) Respondents knew or should have 

known that such calls were prohibited or (b) Respondents knew or should have 

known that the consumers, their colleagues, or employers had previously requested 

that the calls to work cease. 

29. Respondents' repeated calls to consumers' workplaces have caused and were likely 

to cause consumers substantial injury, including humiliation, inconvenience, and 

reputational damage ranging from unwanted attention to disclosure of their 

delinquent debt to disciplinary action and other negative employment 

consequences. 

30. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the harm because they did not know 

whether, when, or how these calls might occur and had no control over 

Respondents' use of this collection tactic. In numerous instances, Respondents 

continued to call consumers at work even after consumers or their employers asked 

Respondents to stop. 

31. The substantial injury resulting from the calls outweighs any countervailing 

benefits. Respondents have many other ways to collect debt that do not disrupt 

consumers' workplaces or otherwise harm consumers. Any marginal benefit in the 
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form of more recoveries by Respondents is outweighed by the substantial injury to 

consumers. 

32. Respondents' acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 24-31 thus constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondents' Unfair Calls to Third Parties 

33. During the Relevant Period, as part of their loan application process, Respondents 

required consumers to provide the names and contact information for multiple 

references. 

34. Respondents also conducted searches using online databases to obtain additional 

contact information for consumers or other third parties that Respondents 

believed might be somehow related to consumers. 

35. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

Respondents, often without the prior consent of consumers, called third parties 

including consumers' credit references, supervisors, landlords, family members, 

and suspected family members (a) in a manner that disclosed or risked disclosing 

the existence of delinquent debt to third parties or (b) when Respondents knew or 

should have known that the consumers or the third parties had previously 

requested that the calls cease. 

36. Respondents have acknowledged that their employees repeatedly failed to heed 

and properly record consumers' and third parties' requests to cease contact and 

that their personnel were unaware of and could not access cease-contact requests 

logged by employees in other stores. These failures resulted in repeated calls to 

consumers and third parties after such cease contact requests had been made 
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37. Respondents' acts or practices have caused and were likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury, including humiliation, inconvenience, and reputational damage. 

38. Consumers could not reasonably avoid the harm because they did not know 

whether, when, or how these calls might occur and had no control over 

Respondents' use of this collection tactic. In numerous instances, Respondents 

continued to call consumers' references, suspected family members, and other 

third parties even after consumers or the third parties asked Respondents to stop. 

39. The substantial injury resulting from the calls outweighs any countervailing 

benefits. Respondents have many other ways to collect debt that do not reveal or 

risk revealing the delinquency of the consumer's debt or otherwise harm 

consumers. Any marginal benefit in the form of more recoveries by Respondents is 

outweighed by the substantial injury to consumers. 

40. Respondents' acts and practices set forth in Paragraphs 33-39 thus constitute 

unfair acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FCRA AND REGULATION V 

41. Section 1022.42(a) of Regulation V requires a furnisher of information to "establish 

and implement reasonable written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy 

and integrity of the information relating to consumers that it furnishes to a 

consumer reporting agency." 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a) (the "Furnisher Rule"). 

42. Section 623(a)(2) of the FCRA requires a person who "regularly and in the ordinary 

course of business" furnishes information to a credit reporting agency about its 

"transactions or experiences with any consumer," and who has "furnished 

information that the person determines is not complete or accurate" to promptly 

I I 
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provide any corrections or additional information necessary to make the 

information provided to the CRA complete and accurate. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2). 

43. Section 623(a)(5)(A) of the FCRA requires that a person who furnishes information 

to a CRA regarding a "delinquent account being placed for collection" must notify 

the agency of the date the delinquency commenced. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(5)(A). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondents' Failure to Establish and 
Implement Reasonable Credit Reporting Policies and Procedures 

44. Since at least 2011, Respondents have regularly furnished consumer information to 

the national CRAs for inclusion in consumers' credit reports. On a monthly basis, 

Respondents furnished information- including the consumer's loan balance, 

whether payments were timely or late, and whether the consumer had disputed the 

debt in some way-for approximately 1 million consumer accounts. 

45. Respondents received as many as 18,000 credit reporting disputes in a month

either directly from consumers or indirectly from the CRAs. 

46. In response to these disputes, Respondents were required to investigate and, as 

applicable, update or correct consumer information to the CRAs. Respondents did 

so using the industry's online automated system ("e-OSCAR"). 

47. To properly furnish on a monthly basis and to use e-OSCAR to update and correct 

credit information, Respondents had to turn their consumer account records, such 

as information about loans and payment histories, into industry-standard codes 

using a guide called Metro 2 ("Metro 2 Guide"). 

48. Respondents built their own credit furnishing system using the Metro 2 Guide to 

convert the information in their own loan-sales database to the Metro 2 format for 

monthly furnishing. 
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49. From the inception of Respondents' furnishing operation until at least 2015, 

Respondents had no written policies or procedures related to credit reporting. 

50. Respondents also failed to establish and implement any reasonable policies and 

procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the consumer information 

Respondents furnished to CRAs. For example, there were no policies and 

procedures addressing standard data reporting formats or standards about 

transmission to CRAs; maintaining records for a reasonable amount of time; 

internal controls; or deleting, updating, or correcting information in Respondents' 

records. 

51. Further, Respondents' policies and procedures did not address how to code 

properly customer account information or responses to consumer disputes using 

the Metro 2 Guide and did not ensure that their monthly furnishing system was 

coordinated with their consumer dispute furnishing practices. 

52. From at least 2011 until August 2016, Respondents routinely furnished 

information about their customers' performance on loans to one or more CRAs. 

53. Respondents therefore violated the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondents' Failure to Update and Correct 
Inaccurate Credit Reporting and Failure to Furnish the Date of First 

Delinquency 

54. On numerous occasions until August 2016, affecting thousands of consumers, 

Respondents furnished information that Respondents had determined was 

inaccurate based on the information that Respondents maintained in the loan

sales database or based on other information, such as information provided by 

consumers as part of a credit reporting dispute or information provided by CRAs. 

55. Respondents made multiple furnishing errors and incorrectly reported information 
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on a monthly basis for thousands of consumers. Respondents' furnishing errors 

were systemic and pervasive. 

56. When Respondents determined they needed to make updates or corrections to the 

consumer information they had furnished, Respondents were often slow to make 

necessary updates and changes. Certain systemic changes took longer than one 

year to update and correct, resulting in inaccuracies remaining on consumers' 

credit reports for longer periods. 

57. For example, Respondents often re-furnished the same information that they had 

already determined was inaccurate after having updated or corrected consumer 

information in responding to a consumer credit reporting dispute. This was 

because, for years, Respondents' monthly furnishing system was not coordinated 

with Respondents' process for responding to consumer disputes through e-OSCAR. 

Respondents determined that this was a systemic error but still took more than a 

year to correct this systemic problem. 

58. As a result of Respondents' failure to coordinate their internal furnishing practices, 

consumer information that had been corrected (in responding to a consumer 

dispute) was overwritten with incorrect information (as part of the monthly 

furnishing process), resulting in consumer credit reports that contained 

. . 
maccurac1es. 

59. Respondents' problematic furnishing practices affected tens of thousands of 

consumers. The following inaccuracies in Respondents' furnishing system were the 

most pervasive: 
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a. inaccuracies in the date of first delinquency; 

b. inaccuracies in declining balances for charged off accounts; 

c. inaccuracies in account payment histories; and 

d. inflated and inaccurate high-credit limits. 

60. Respondents continued to furnish inaccurate information until August 2016. 

61. In August 2016, Respondents suspended all monthly furnishing to the CRAs after 

determining that their furnishing system contained multiple systemic errors. 

Respondents resumed furnishing to CRAs beginning in December 2017. 

62. As a result, Respondents failed to promptly update thousands of consumer 

accounts to reflect subsequent account activity including payments and 

settlements. 

63. Consumers complained to the Bureau that information that Respondents 

inaccurately furnished and failed to promptly update or correct lowered their credit 

scores and hampered their ability to obtain credit and make purchases. 

64. For the reasons described in Paragraphs 54 through 63, Respondents have failed to 

promptly update and correct information that they determined was inaccurate or 

incomplete in violation of § 623(a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2). 

65. Respondents, due to the systemic programming error described in Paragraph 

59.a), failed to report the date of first delinquency for at least 4,600 accounts. 

66. Respondents thus violated§ 623(a)(5)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-

2(a)(5)(A). 
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ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

67. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate§§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, and must take 

the affirmative actions set forth in this section: 

a. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, are restrained from: 

i. Making in-person visits to a consumer's home, neighbors' homes, the 

consumer's place of employment, or any public place in connection 

with collecting or attempting to collect debt; 

ii. Placing a call to any third party about a consumer's account after the 

third party has notified Respondents, orally or in writing, that the 

person wishes Respondents to cease further communication with the 

person; 

iii. Placing a call to a consumer's workplace if Respondents know, or have 

reason to know, that such calls are inconvenient to the consumer or 

prohibited by the employer; and 

iv. Except as permitted by state law, disclosing the existence of a 

consumer's delinquent debt to any third party in connection with 

collecting or attempting to collect a debt from the consumer, unless the 

consumer, after default, provided his or her voluntary, affirmative, and 
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specific written permission on an opt-in basis for the third-party 

communication. An inadvertent disclosure will not be a violation of 

this paragraph. 

Nothing in this Cons~nt Order shall be read as an exception to this Paragraph. 

68. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, and whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x, and its implementing 

regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1022, and must take the affirmative actions 

set forth in this section: 

a. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, in consultation with an independent 

consultant with specialized experience in consumer-information 

furnishing, Respondents will implement and maintain reasonable written 

policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the 

information that they furnish to Consumer Reporting Agencies. In so 

doing, Respondents must consider the guidelines in Appendix E of the 

Furnisher Rule and incorporate them where appropriate. Respondents 

must review their policies and procedures at least yearly, and periodically 

update them, as necessary, to ensure their continued effectiveness. 

b. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents will complete a review of 

all information they furnished to the CRAs from July 21, 2011 to the 

Effective Date and request that all CRAs to which they furnished, correct or 

update any inaccurate or incomplete information in accordance with 15 

U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2). For accounts on which Respondents furnished that 

are reported by the CRAs, where Respondents cannot furnish a correction 
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or update, Respondents will request that all CRAs to which they furnished 

delete the account. Respondents will not thereafter furnish the inaccurate 

or incomplete information. 

c. Within go days of the Effective Date, Respondents will arrange means by 

which consumers whose accounts Respondents determine require 

updating, correction or deletion as set forth in Subparagraph 68(b) 

provided that the consumers are no longer eligible to receive a free credit 

report via annualcreditreport.com, may obtain a credit report free of 

charge from one of the CRAs to which Respondents furnish information. 

Respondents will ensure the option to obtain the free credit report is 

available to such consumers for 180 days after they receive the notice 

specified in Paragraph 68(d). 

d. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents will notify each of their 

customers affected by inaccurate information furnished to the CRAs 

through August 2016 (and identified using the process set forth in 

Subparagraph 68(b)) of at least the following: 

1. Since at least 2011, Respondents (using their relevant trade name) 

have been providing outdated or inaccurate information about some 

of their customers to the CRAs and failing to update or correct such 

information after determining the inaccuracies; 

ii. As a result of those failures, Respondents are the subject of an 

Enforcement Action by the Bureau; 

m. There may be inaccuracies on consumers' credit reports; 

iv. That consumers may obtain a credit report free of charge so long as 
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they apply for such report within 180 days of receiving the notice, 

and the means for doing so; and 

v. The process consumers may use to dispute incomplete or inaccurate 

information in their credit report. 

e. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents will update their policies 

and procedures to include a specific process for identifying when they have 

furnished information that is inaccurate or requires updating to any CRA 

("Furnishing Audit Program"). At a minimum, the policies and procedures 

for the Furnishing Audit Program will require that Respondents: (i) 

examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for furnishing 

inaccuracies on a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for 

selection and testing; and (ii) monitor and evaluate disputes they receive 

from the CRAs and their customers for indications of systemic 

inaccuracies; and 

f. Respondents will fully implement the Furnishing Audit Program within 90 

days of the Effective Date. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the Enforcement 

Director, for review and determination of non-objection, a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondents' credit reporting and 

collection of installment loans comply with applicable Federal consumer financial 

law and the terms of this Consent Order ("Compliance Plan"). The Compliance 
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Plan wi11, at a minimum: 

a. Include detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order; 

b. Require that Respondents regularly monitor their records of incoming and 

outgoing consumer telephone cans to ensure compliance with applicable 

federal consumer financial laws; 

c. Require that Respondents implement an effective method of logging requests 

by consumers and third parties not to be contacted about a particular 

consumer's account and ensuring that those requests are honored; 

d. Require ongoing education and training in applicable federal and state 

consumer protection laws and the applicable terms of this Consent Order for 

all appropriate employees, with training tailored to each individual's job 

duties or other role within the company. Respondents will document their 

training program and will review and update their training program at least 

annually to ensure that it provides appropriate individuals with the most 

relevant information; 

e. Require a consumer complaint monitoring process, including the 

maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic complaints, 

formal or informal, received by Respondents and the resolution of the 

complaints and inquiries; 

f. Include a draft notice and describe in the detail the method of notification 

that Respondents intend to use to satisfy the requirements of Paragraph 68.d; 

g. Require that the Compliance Plan be updated at least semi-annually-or as 

required by changes in laws or regulations, or changes in Respondents' 
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business strategies or activities-to ensure that the Compliance Plan remains 

current and effective; and 

h. Include specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

70. Within 90 days of the Respondents' submission of a comprehensive Compliance 

Plan, the Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondents to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondents to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondents must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

71. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondents must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. The Board, or a committee thereof, must review all submissions required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

73. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondents to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondents and for ensuring that Respondents comply with applicable federal 

and state consumer protection laws and this Consent Order. 
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74. In each instance in which this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to or perform certain obligations of Respondents, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply 

with this Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non

compliance with any failure to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations 

oflaw described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil money penalty of 

$5 million to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

76. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with 

the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

77. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by§ 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

78. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 
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ultimately uses those funds, Respondents may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

79. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled to, 

nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action ("Penalty Offset"). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondents must, within 30 days 

of entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau and pay the 

amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the 

civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

IX 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

80. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

81. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 
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the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 

82. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they have already done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

83. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

X 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited 

to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent 

Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against 

Respondents; or a change in any Respondent's name or address. Respondents 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 
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85. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondents must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report ("Compliance Report") that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: Lists each applicable paragraph and subparagraph of 

the Order and describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have 

complied with each such paragraph and subparagraph of the Consent Order; 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied 

with the Compliance Plan; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

86. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

87. For 5years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of this 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

88. To the extent that Respondents are required to provide a copy of this Consent 
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Order to any person pursuant to Section XI of this Consent Order, Respondents 

must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of this 

Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001-7006, within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XII 

Record.keeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

89. Respondents must create, or if already created, must retain for the duration of the 

Consent Order, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all scripts, training materials, and manuals related to the credit 

reporting or collection of Respondents loans. 

90. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraph 89 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

91. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Security Group, Inc., et al., 
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File No. 2018-BCFP-0002," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to: 

or; 

Kristen A. Donoghue 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Kristen A. Donoghue 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1990 K Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

92. Respondents must provide all relevant non-privileged information in their or their 

agents' possession or control within 30 days of receiving a written request from the 

Bureau. 

xv 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents' compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

93. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information related to 

the requirements of this Consent Order, which must be made under penalty of 
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perjury; provide sworn testimony related to requirements of this consent order and 

Respondents compliance with those requirements; or produce documents related 

to requirements of this consent order and Respondents' compliance with those 

requirements. 

94. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview about the 

requirements of this Consent Order and Respondents' compliance with those 

requirements any employee or other person affiliated with Respondents who has 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

95. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

96. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

97. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing. 

XVII 

Administrative Provisions 

98. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 
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Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 99. 

99. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent that such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondents and their affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any 

penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with this Consent Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of this Consent Order. 

100. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

101. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date. This Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent 

that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, 

or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

102. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

103. Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations that 
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are subject to this Consent Order, Respondents must, as a condition of sale, obtain 

the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

104. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents may be 

found and Respondents may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over 

Respondents. 

105. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

106. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing the Respondents, their Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this /J,,'aay of June, 2018. 

Mick Mulvaney 
Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Settles With Security Group, 

Inc.

Company Engaged In Improper Debt Collection and Credit 

Furnishing Practices

JUN 13, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) 

announced a settlement with Security Group Inc., a South Carolina corporation, and 

its subsidiaries, Security Finance Corporation of Spartanburg and Professional 

Financial Services Corp.

As described in the consent order, the Bureau found that the Security Group 

entities violated the Consumer Financial Protection Act by making improper in-

person and telephonic collection attempts on consumer installment loans and retail 

sales installment contracts. The Bureau found that these improper attempts 

included physically preventing consumers from leaving their homes and visiting and 

calling consumers’ places of work while knowing that those contacts could 

endanger the consumers’ employment. The Bureau also found that the Security 

Group entities violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act by regularly furnishing 

inaccurate and incomplete information about consumers to credit reporting 

agencies.

Under the terms of the consent order, Security Group and its subsidiaries are 

barred from certain collection practices, and must correct certain inaccurate 

information about consumers they furnished to credit reporting agencies, and pay a 

$5 million civil money penalty.

The consent order is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_security-group-inc_consent-

order_2018-06.pdf
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

  CONSENT ORDER 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2018-BCFP- 0004

In the Matter of: 

National Credit Adjusters, LLC and 
Bradley Hochstein 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collection and debt sales acts and practices of National Credit Adjusters, LLC (NCA) and 

Bradley Hochstein (Hochstein) (collectively Respondents, as defined below) and has 

identified the following law violations: Respondents engaged in unfair and deceptive 

acts and practices in the collection and sale of consumer debt in violation of sections 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), and provided substantial assistance to the unfair and 

deceptive acts and practices of others in violation of section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). NCA also engaged in unfair and deceptive acts and practices in 

violation of sections 807, 807(2)(A), 807(4-5), 807(7), 807(10), and 808(1) of the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692f. Under sections 1053 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order).  

2018-BCFP-0004     Document 1     Filed 07/13/2018     Page 1 of 37



 

2 
 

I 

Overview 

1. NCA is a privately-held limited-liability company headquartered in 

Hutchinson, Kansas that buys, sells, and collects consumer debts. 

2. Between the start of the Relevant Period and at least October 2016, Bradley 

Hochstein was NCA’s CEO, a member of NCA’s Board, and a part-owner of 

NCA. 

3. NCA and Hochstein used a network of debt collection companies that collected 

on NCA’s consumer debt on NCA’s behalf.  

4. Some of those companies engaged in unlawful debt collection acts and 

practices that harmed consumers. Those companies include Delray Capital 

LLC; First Capital Recovery, Inc.; Lionstone Holdings Group LLC; Brookshaw 

Management LLC; and Clear Credit Services, LLC (aka Clear Credit Solutions) 

(collectively, the “Agencies”). 

5. The Agencies represented to consumers that the consumers owed more than 

they were legally required to pay. 

6. The Agencies threatened consumers and their family members with legal 

actions including lawsuits, visits from process servers, and arrest, when neither 

NCA nor the Agencies intended or had the legal authority to take those actions. 

NCA and Hochstein continued placing debt with the Agencies for collection 

with knowledge or reckless disregard of the Agencies’ illegal and harmful 

consumer debt collection practices.  

7. From 2011 through late November 2015, NCA, under Hochstein’s direction, 

sold consumer debt portfolios with a face value of more than $700 million to 
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Delray Capital LLC and its affiliated companies, including Northern Resolution 

Group and Enhanced Acquisitions (collectively “Delray”), with knowledge or 

reckless disregard of Delray’s illegal and harmful consumer debt collection 

practices.  

8. Respondents’ illegal debt-collection acts and practices violate the Consumer

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), and

NCA’s illegal debt-collection acts and practices also violate the Fair Debt

Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, §1692f.

II 

Jurisdiction 

9. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565 as well as under section 814(b) of the

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(b).

III 

Stipulation 

10. NCA and Hochstein have each executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the

Issuance of a Consent Order,” (dated July 2, 2018 and July 5, 2018,

respectively) (Stipulations), which are incorporated by reference and are

accepted by the Bureau. By these Stipulations, Respondents have consented to

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit facts
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necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents and the 

subject matter of this action. 

IV 

Definitions 

11. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Accounts” means consumer debt accounts. 

b. “Agency” or “Agencies” means Delray Capital LLC; First Capital Recovery, 

Inc.; Lionstone Holdings Group LLC; Brookshaw Management LLC; and 

Clear Credit Services, LLC (aka Clear Credit Solutions). 

c. “Board” means the duly-elected and acting Board of Directors of Fourth 

Avenue Holdings, NCA’s sole owner. 

d. “Debt” means, coterminous with the meaning of “debt” as defined in the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), any obligation or alleged obligation of a 

Consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction 

are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, whether or not 

such obligation has been reduced to judgment.  

e. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 
 
f. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Bureau, or her delegate. 

g. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against any Respondent based on substantially the same 

facts as described in Section V of this Consent Order. 
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h. “Relevant Period” includes the period from January 1, 2011 to December 

31, 2016. Unless otherwise specified, all conduct described in this Consent 

Order occurred during the Relevant Period. 

i. “Respondents” mean National Credit Adjusters and its parents and 

subsidiaries and their successors and assigns, and Bradley Hochstein. 

V 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

12. NCA acquires, purchases, and sells payday loans and other extensions of credit.  

13. NCA collects debts related to consumer financial products and services, 

including debts related to payday loans and other extensions of credit.  

14. NCA uses the instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails in a 

business the principal purpose of which is the collection of debts.  

15. NCA collects debts on behalf of other entities. 

16. NCA used Agencies and its own employees to collect debt. 

17. NCA is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), 

(15)(A)(i), (x) and a “debt collector” under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

18. Between at least January 1, 2011 and October 2016, Hochstein had managerial 

responsibility for NCA, including the direction and oversight of the Agencies’ 

collection activities on NCA’s Accounts. Hochstein materially participated in 

the conduct and the affairs of NCA and the Agencies. Hochstein is therefore a 

“related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i). Because 
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Hochstein is a “related person,” he is a “covered person” for purposes of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B).  

19. Until the end of 2016, Respondents used the Agencies to collect on NCA’s 

Account on NCA’s behalf. 

20. From 2011 through the end of 2016, approximately 80,000 consumers made 

payments to the Agencies on debt owned by NCA. 

21. From 2011 through the end of 2016, NCA collected approximately $40 million 

from consumers through the Agencies on debt owned by NCA.   

22. From 2011 through late November 2015, NCA, under Hochstein’s direction, 

sold tens of millions of dollars in consumer debt to Delray. 

23. From 2011 through late November 2015, NCA grossed nearly $20 million from 

selling consumer debt to Delray. 

24. While collecting debt on NCA’s behalf, the Agencies made misrepresentations 

to consumers by inflating the amount actually owed on their accounts.  

25. The Agencies threatened consumers and their family members with legal 

actions including lawsuits, visits from process servers, and arrest when neither 

NCA nor the Agencies intended or had the legal authority to take those actions. 

26. Respondents knew of this conduct by the Agencies, or recklessly disregarded 

this conduct, but continued placing debt with the Agencies for collection. 

27. NCA’s Collection Service Agreements (CSAs) with the Agencies provided NCA 

with broad authority to access and review nearly every aspect of an Agency’s 

collection business. The CSAs also obligated the Agencies to follow applicable 

state and federal collection law. 
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28. During periodic onsite reviews at the Agencies, NCA’s compliance team 

reviewed policies and procedures, evaluated the effectiveness of the compliance 

management systems, interviewed managers and collectors, reviewed call 

recordings, and assessed the Agencies’ licensure status.  

29. NCA’s compliance personnel recommended terminating the Agencies because 

of the Agencies’ illegal collection acts and practices, but Respondents continued 

placing accounts with the Agencies. 

30. From 2011 through late November 2015, NCA, under Hochstein’s direction, 

also sold debt to Delray, which engaged in similar illegal and consumer 

harming conduct, while Respondents knew of, or recklessly disregarded, 

Delray’s illegal and harmful consumer debt collection practices. 

31. In addition to placing Accounts with the Agencies and selling debt to Delray, 

Respondents provided other critical assistance to the Agencies’ debt collection 

operations, which included: 

a. Drafting or helping draft and implement policies and procedures to create 

the false impression in original creditors that the Agencies complied with 

Federal consumer financial laws;    

b. Convincing original creditors to approve NCA’s business practices, 

including the practice of placing Accounts with Agencies or selling debt to 

Delray;  

c. Defending the Agencies when original creditors raised concerns about the 

their collection practices;  

d. Preventing NCA’s compliance personnel from conducting appropriate and 

effective reviews of the Agencies; and 
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e. Refusing to implement corrective recommendations made by NCA’s 

compliance personnel. 

32. The Agencies kept a portion of the debt they successfully collected on and 

remitted a portion of the collections to NCA.  

33. Hochstein determined which Agencies NCA would place debt with, which 

Agency relationships NCA would terminate, which accounts the Agencies 

would collect on, and the terms under which the Agencies would collect.  

34. Respondents assented to and authorized the Agencies to collect debt on NCA’s 

behalf. Respondents were aware of, but did not prevent, the conduct of the 

Agencies. Respondents continued to refer Accounts to the Agencies, even after 

learning the Agencies frequently inflated account amounts, threatened to take 

various legal actions NCA did not have the intention or legal authority to take, 

and ignored NCA’s compliance department.  

35. The Agencies collected debt with the authority to represent NCA. Respondents 

instructed the Agencies to inform consumers that the Agencies were collecting 

the debt on behalf of NCA and that NCA was the owner of the debt.  

36. Respondents had the ability to control the Agencies’ debt collection practices, 

with respect to collections on NCA’s Accounts, and regularly exerted such 

control. NCA directed the Agencies to participate in site visits by NCA’s 

compliance team, provided instructions on collection conduct, set collection 

benchmarks, shuffled accounts between the Agencies based on performance, 

directed the agencies to hire or fire employees, and withdrew Accounts from 

the Agencies for financial performance—not misconduct—reasons.  
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Unfair Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA – Inflation of 
Account Amounts by The Agencies 

 
37. As described in Paragraphs 24 and 33-36, Respondents—through the 

Agencies—frequently inflated consumer Account amounts.  

38. As described in Paragraphs 18, 30, and 33, Hochstein had managerial 

responsibility for NCA and controlled NCA’s relationship with the Agencies. 

39. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

40. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid and that is not outweighed 

by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

41. By inflating the amounts owed on the debts they collected, or attempted to 

collect, Respondents caused and were likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers because those representations caused consumers to make payments 

based on inaccurate information about the amount owed on their accounts. 

42. Consumers could not reasonably avoid this injury because they often did not 

have access to the documentation indicating how much they actually owed. 

Moreover, consumers had no control over where Respondents placed NCA’s 

accounts and had no ability to select a different company. 

43. The substantial injury caused by consumers paying sums they do not owe, and 

making payments based on inaccurate information about the amount owed, is 

not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  
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44. Thus, the conduct of Respondents described in Paragraphs 12-36 constitutes 

unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

Deceptive Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA - Inflation of 
Account Amounts and False Threats To Take Legal Action by The 

Agencies 
 

45. As described in Paragraphs 24 and 33-36, Respondents—through the 

Agencies—frequently—and falsely—told consumers that their Account amounts 

were higher than they actually were. 

46. As described in Paragraphs 25 and 33-36, Respondents—through the 

Agencies—threatened consumers with legal action that Respondents had no 

intention and no authority to take, and falsely told consumers that they were a 

law enforcement official or legal representative.  

47. These false and misleading misrepresentations were material to a reasonable 

consumer’s repayment conduct, including how to prioritize competing financial 

commitments or whether to pay more than is actually owed. 

48. As described in Paragraphs 18, 30, and 33, Hochstein had managerial 

responsibility for NCA and controlled NCA’s relationship with the Agencies.  

49. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “deceptive” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

50. Thus, the conduct of Respondents described in Paragraphs 12-36 constitutes 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  
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Deceptive Acts and Practices in Violation of the FDCPA - Inflation of 
Account Amounts and Threat to Take Legal Action by The Agencies 

 
51. In collecting and attempting to collect on consumer debt on NCA’s behalf the 

Agencies frequently:  

a. Threatened consumers with arrest, imprisonment, or other legal actions 

they had no intention or authority to take; 

b. Falsely accused consumers of committing crimes by not paying the 

Accounts;  

c. Falsely told consumers that their Account amounts were higher than they 

actually were because the Agencies added additional fees, charges, and 

sums that were not permitted under the relevant contracts or state law; 

and 

d. Impersonated law-enforcement officials, court officials, attorneys, 

paralegals, or other entities. 

52. The representations in Paragraphs 2-25 and 51 are false and misleading, and 

thus NCA—through the Agencies—committed deceptive acts and practices in 

violation of section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, (2)(A), (4-5), (7), and 

(10).  

Unfair Acts and Practices in Violation of the FDCPA – Inflation of  
Account Amounts 

 
53. As described in Paragraphs 24 and 33-36, NCA—through the Agencies—

frequently inflated Account amounts, without authority from underlying 

consumer contracts or relevant state law, and then collected, or attempted to 

collect, the inflated amounts. 
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54. Section 808(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1), prohibits a debt collector 

from collecting “any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or expense 

incidental to the principal obligation) unless such amount is expressly 

authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” 

55. Thus, NCA engaged in unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to 

collect on debt in violation of section 808(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).  

Deceptive and Unfair Collection Activities under the CFPA 

56. Section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA provides that is “unlawful for . . . any 

covered person or service provider . . . to offer or provide to a consumer any 

financial product or service not in conformity with Federal consumer financial 

law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal 

consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

57. The CFPA defines “enumerated consumer laws” to include the Fair Debt 

Collections Practices Act. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(12)(H).  

58. By virtue of its violations of the FDCPA, as described in Paragraphs 51-57, NCA 

violated the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

Providing Substantial Assistance to The Agencies’ Deceptive and Unfair 
Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA  

59. The Agencies are “covered persons” engaged “in offering or providing a 

consumer financial product or service” because they collected debt related to 

extensions of credit. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

60. The Agencies engage in unfair and deceptive acts or practices when collecting 

on the Accounts after inflating account amounts and by threatening legal 
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actions they had no intention or authority to take in violation of sections 1031 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

61. Respondents provided substantial assistance to the Agencies’ unfair and 

deceptive acts and practices by: 

a. Continuing to place Accounts with the Agencies after the NCA’s own 

compliance personnel recommended terminating the Agencies for 

repeated violations of federal consumer financial law;   

b. Drafting or helping draft and implement policies and procedures to create 

the false impression that the Agencies complied with Federal consumer 

financial laws;  

c. Convincing original creditors, such as payday lenders, to consent to 

placing accounts with the Agencies despite Respondents’ knowledge, or 

reckless disregard, of the Agencies’ violations of Federal consumer 

financial law;  

d. Undermining and inhibiting NCA’s compliance personnel from conducting 

appropriate and effective reviews of the Agencies; and 

e. Ignoring requests from NCA’s compliance personnel to terminate NCA’s 

relationship with the Agencies. 

62. Respondents’ continued use of the Agencies despite the Agencies’ violations 

was knowing or reckless 

63. Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3), makes it unlawful for 

“any person to knowingly or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a 

covered person or service provider” engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 

practices. Under this Section, “the provider of such substantial assistance shall 

2018-BCFP-0004     Document 1     Filed 07/13/2018     Page 13 of 37



 

14 
 

be deemed to be in violation of section 1031 to the same extent as the person to 

whom such assistance is provided.” 

64. Thus, Respondents’ actions constituted violations of section 1036(a)(3) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).   

Unfair Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA - Directing a Network of 
Agencies Who Conduct Illegal Collection Practices 

 
65. Respondents placed Accounts with Agencies that frequently engaged in 

unlawful, consumer-harming collection practices to collect on, and attempt to 

collect on, consumer debt. 

66. Even after Respondents learned that the Agencies frequently inflated consumer 

debt amounts without authority under law, falsely threatened legal action, or 

engaged in other unlawful conduct, Respondents continued to place Accounts 

with the Agencies for collection and continued to accept revenue from the 

Agencies. 

67. The Agencies collected approximately $40 million from approximately 80,000 

consumers.  

68. By placing consumer debt with the Agencies, Respondents caused consumers 

substantial injury and were likely to cause consumers substantial injury. 

69. Consumers could not reasonably avoid such injury because consumers often 

lacked access to the documentation indicating how much they actually owed 

and were unlikely to know that the Agencies did not have the authority or 

intent to follow through on false claims of legal action. Moreover, consumers 

had no control over where NCA placed their accounts and had no ability to 

select a different agency.  
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70. The substantial injury caused by placing consumer debt with Agencies that 

charged consumers sums they did not owe, or made false threats of legal action, 

is not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  

71. Thus, Respondents’ actions as described in Paragraphs 12-36 constituted unfair 

acts and practices in violation of §§ 1031(c)(1) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Providing Substantial Assistance to Delray’s Deceptive and Unfair Acts and 
Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

 
72. From 2011 through late November 2015, NCA, under Hochstein’s direction and 

control, sold tens of millions of dollars in debt to Delray. 

73. Delray is a “covered person” engaged “in offering or providing a consumer 

financial product or service” because it collected debt related to extensions of 

credit. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(x). 

74. Delray engages in unfair and deceptive acts or practices when collecting on the 

Accounts by inflating account amounts and threatening legal actions it had no 

intention or authority to take in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

75. Respondents provided substantial assistance to Delray’s unfair and deceptive 

acts and practices by: 

a. Continuing to sell debt to Delray after identifying repeated violations of 

federal consumer financial law;   

b. Drafting or helping draft and implement compliance policies and 

procedures to create the false impression with original creditors that 

Delray complied with Federal consumer financial laws;  
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c. Convincing original creditors to approve of Respondents’ sale of debt to 

Delray, while also undermining and inhibiting NCA’s compliance team 

from conducting appropriate and effective reviews of Delray; and 

d. Declining to exercise contractual rights to rescind sales after identifying 

Delray’s illegal debt collection practices. 

76. Respondents’ continued sale of debt to Delray despite knowledge of Delray’s 

violations was knowing or reckless. 

77. Section 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3), makes it unlawful for 

“any person to knowingly or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a 

covered person or service provider” engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 

practices. Under this section, “the provider of such substantial assistance shall 

be deemed to be in violation of section 1031 to the same extent as the person to 

whom such assistance is provided.” 

78. Thus, Respondents’ actions constituted violations of section 1036(a)(3) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).   

ORDER 

VI 

Conduct Provisions 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

79. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 
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indirectly, in connection with the collection of debt may not misrepresent, or 

assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

a. The amount of the debt owed; or 

b. That they intend to take certain actions that they do not intend to take, or 

do not have the ability to take, such as: 

i. Filing lawsuits against consumers or family members;  

ii. Sending process servers or law enforcement to consumers’ homes 

or the homes of their family members;  

iii. Arresting consumers or family members; 

iv. Imposing jail time against consumers or family members;  

v. Garnishing wages of consumers or family members; and 

vi. Misrepresenting any other fact material to consumers concerning 

the collection of any debt, including any false threat of legal action, 

the impersonation of law enforcement officials or court officials, or 

other misrepresentations regarding the consequences of paying or 

not paying a debt.  

80. Hochstein, whether acting directly or indirectly, is permanently restrained 

from acting as an officer, director, employee, agent or advisor of, or otherwise 

providing management, advice, direction or consultation to, any individual or 

business that collects, buys, or sells consumer debt.  
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VII 

Compliance Plans  

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

81. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, NCA must submit to the Enforcement 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that NCA’s collection of debt and sale of 

debt complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the 

terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must 

include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order;  

b. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures designed to ensure that 

any agents engaged by NCA to collect Debt do not violate any Federal 

consumer financial law in the collection of that Debt, which must include, 

at a minimum: 

i. the agent’s duty to maintain adequate internal controls to ensure 

compliance with Federal consumer financial laws; 

ii. the agent’s duty to provide adequate training on compliance with all 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the agent’s policies 

and procedures related to the collection of Debt; 

iii. NCA’s authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews of the agent’s 

controls, performance, and information systems related to the 

collection of Debt;  
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iv. NCA’s authority to rescind placement of accounts from agents at 

NCA’s discretion;  

c. Comprehensive, written policies and procedures for use by NCA to 

reasonably determine that any companies that buy NCA’s accounts comply 

with obligations under Federal consumer financial laws at the time it 

purchases Accounts from NCA, which must include, at a minimum:  

i. a requirement that the buyer have adequate policies and procedures 

in place that address compliance with Federal consumer financial 

laws; and 

ii. NCA’s authority to repurchase accounts from buyers upon NCA’s 

determination that repurchase is necessary to fulfill any compliance 

or other regulatory obligation; and 

d. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

82. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct NCA to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs NCA to revise the Compliance Plan, NCA must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement 

Director within 30 days. 

83. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, NCA must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined 

in the Compliance Plan.  
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VIII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

85. Although this Consent Order requires the NCA to submit certain documents for 

the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of NCA and for 

ensuring that NCA complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

86. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or perform certain obligations of NCA , the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for NCA to fully comply with the 

Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section.  

  

2018-BCFP-0004     Document 1     Filed 07/13/2018     Page 20 of 37



 

21 
 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

 
87. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), a judgment for civil money 

penalties is entered in favor of the Bureau and against NCA in the amount of $3 

million dollars. However, full payment of this civil money penalty will be 

suspended upon satisfaction of the obligations in Paragraphs 88-89, and 94-95, 

and will be subject to Section X, Effect of Misrepresentation or Omission 

Regarding Financial Condition.  

88. NCA is ordered to pay $500,000 toward the civil money penalty provided for in 

Paragraph 87. 

89. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, NCA must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions, $400,000, and must make four subsequent payments to 

the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and 

according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions of, $25,000, every thirty days 

thereafter for 120 days, in full satisfaction of the civil money penalty as ordered 

in Paragraph 88 of this Section.  

90. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section V of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), a judgment for civil money 
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penalties is entered in favor of the Bureau and against Hochstein in the amount 

of $3 million dollars. However, full payment of this civil money penalty will be 

suspended upon satisfaction of the obligations in Paragraphs 91-92, 94-95, and 

will be subject to Section X, Effect of Misrepresentation or Omission Regarding 

Financial Condition.  

91. Hochstein is ordered to pay $300,000 toward the civil money penalty provided 

for in Paragraph 90. 

92. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Hochstein must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions, $100,000, and must make two subsequent payments to the 

Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according 

to the Bureau’s wiring instructions of, $100,000, every 90 days thereafter for 

180 days, in full satisfaction of the civil money penalty as ordered in Paragraph 

91 of this Section.  

93. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

94. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, each Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including reimbursement or indemnification from any 
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other Respondent, but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order. 

95. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled 

to, nor may Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in a Related Consumer Action 

because of the civil money penalty paid in this action or because of any 

payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund (Penalty Offset). If 

the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Respondents must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the 

Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to 

the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil 

money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty 

imposed in this action.  

X 

Effect of Misrepresentation or Omission Regarding Financial Condition  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

96. The Bureau’s agreement to issue this Consent Order is expressly premised on 

the truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of Respondents’ financial 

statements and supporting documents, as a whole, submitted to the Bureau, 

which Respondents assert are truthful, accurate, and complete, as a whole, and 

which include: 
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a. For Hochstein: 

i. The Financial Statement of Individual Defendant, signed by 

Hochstein and dated April 28, 2017;  

ii. The Memorandum of Supplemental Responses to the Financial 

Statement of Individual Defendant, signed by Hochstein and dated 

May 10, 2017; 

iii. The Financial Statement of Individual Defendant, signed by 

Hochstein and dated April 29, 2018;  

iv. The Memorandum of Supplemental Responses to the Financial 

Statement of Individual Defendant, signed by Hochstein and dated 

May 10, 2018; 

v. The Memorandum of Amended Supplemental Responses to the 

Financial Statement of Individual Defendant, signed by Hochstein 

and dated May 14, 2018, including a spreadsheet submitted to the 

Bureau May 14, 2018; 

vi. Hochstein’s 2014 Federal income tax filing;  

vii. Hochstein’s 2015 Federal income tax filing; 

viii. Hochstein’s 2016 Federal income tax filing; and 

ix. The representation that as of the effective date of this Consent 

Order, Hochstein has not filed a Federal tax return for 2017. 

b. For NCA: 

i. The Financial Statement of Corporate Defendant, signed by NCA’s  

CEO Lee Tyler Rempel and dated July 10, 2017;  
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ii. NCA’s Reviewed Financial Statements for 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 

2016, and 2017;  

iii. The state and Federal tax filings for NCA and for NCA’s parent 

company Fourth Avenue Holdings for 2010, 2011, 2012, 2014, 2015, 

and 2016; and  

iv. The updated item 20 to NCA’s July 10, 2017 Financial Statement of 

Corporate Defendant, provided to the Bureau on May 11, 2018. 

97. If the Bureau determines that NCA has failed to disclose any material asset or 

that any of its financial statements, considered as a whole, contain any material 

misrepresentation or omission, including materially misstating the value of any 

asset, then the suspension of the monetary judgment entered against NCA in 

Section IX will be terminated, and the Bureau can seek to enforce in any 

Federal district court for a district in which NCA is located or resides or is 

doing business as immediately due and payable the full judgment entered 

against NCA in Section IX of this Consent Order, Three Million dollars ($3 

million) less any amounts paid by NCA under Section IX of the Consent Order. 

After the reinstatement of the monetary judgment under this Section, the 

Bureau will be entitled to interest on the judgment, computed from the date of 

entry of this Consent Order, at the rate prescribed by 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, on any outstanding amounts not paid.  

98. If the Bureau determines that Hochstein has failed to disclose any material 

asset or that any of his financial statements, considered as a whole, contain any 

material misrepresentation or omission, including materially misstating the 

value of any asset, then the suspension of the monetary judgment entered 

2018-BCFP-0004     Document 1     Filed 07/13/2018     Page 25 of 37



 

26 
 

against Hochstein in Section IX will be terminated, and the Bureau can seek to 

enforce in any Federal district court for a district in which Hochstein is located 

or resides or is doing business as immediately due and payable the full 

judgment entered against Hochstein in Section IX of this Consent Order, Three 

Million dollars ($3 million) less any amounts paid by Hochstein under Section 

IX of the Consent Order. After the reinstatement of the monetary judgment 

under this Section, the Bureau will be entitled to interest on the judgment, 

computed from the date of entry of this Consent Order, at the rate prescribed 

by 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, on any outstanding amounts not paid.  

XI 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

99. In the event of any default on either of Respondents’ obligations to make 

payment under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, 

as amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of 

default to the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

100. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid 

to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned 

to Respondents. 

101. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they already have done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  
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102. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid 

or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of 

consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XII 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

103. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondents; or a change in Respondents’ names or addresses. 

Respondents must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

104. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must: 

a. Each designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and 

postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with Respondents; 
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b. Each identify all businesses for which Respondents are the majority 

owner, or that Respondents directly or indirectly control, by all of their 

names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet 

addresses; 

c. Each describe the activities of each such business, including the products 

and services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales; 

and 

d. Each describe in detail Respondents’ involvement in any business for 

which it performs services in any capacity or which it wholly or partially 

owns, including each Respondent’s title, role, responsibilities, 

participation, authority, control, and ownership. 

105. Respondents must report any change in the information required to be 

submitted under Paragraph 103 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

106. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, and again two years after the Effective Date, Respondents must each 

submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance progress 

report (Compliance Report) that for NCA has been approved by the Board, 

which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have 

complied with this Consent Order; 

b. For NCA, describes in detail the manner and form in which it has complied 

with the Compliance Plan; and 
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c. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XIII (Order Distribution and Acknowledgement), unless previously 

submitted to the Bureau. 

107. Hochstein must provide the Bureau with all personal Federal income tax 

returns, as well as all Federal tax returns for any businesses, companies, 

corporations, trusts, or like ventures under his ownership or control or 

operated for his benefit, for tax years 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019, as filed, 

within 10 days of filing with the IRS, as well as provide the Bureau with any 

amendments or changes to those filings. Hochstein must also provide the 

Bureau with completed financial disclosures, in a form designated by the 

Bureau, one year from the Effective Date and two years from the Effective Date, 

sworn under penalty of perjury.   

XIII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

108.  Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Consent Order, 

sworn under penalty of perjury.  

109. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, NCA must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Agencies, debt buyers or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order, and Hochstein must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to any 
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business for which he is the majority owner or which he directly or indirectly 

controls. 

110. For 5 years from the Effective Date, NCA must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in Section XII, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Agencies, debt buyers or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities, and Hochstein 

must deliver a copy of this Consent Order to any business for which he becomes 

the majority owner or over which he assumes direct or indirect control after the 

Effective Date.  

111. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section.  

XIV 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

112. Respondents must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records for any business for 

which Respondents are a majority owner or which they directly or indirectly 

control, where such business provides a consumer financial product or service 
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or is a service provider to a business that provides a consumer financial product 

or service: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. Copies of all consumer complaints, or complaints from other sources 

regarding the conduct of Respondents, or any individual or entity working 

on Respondents’ behalf, as well as any documents and records related to 

those complaints; 

c. Records showing, for each employee providing debt collection services, 

that person’s: name; telephone number; email, physical, and postal 

address; job title or position; dates of service; and, if applicable, the reason 

for termination; and 

d. Records showing, for each service provider providing services, including 

any third-party agency collecting debt on behalf of Respondents, the name 

of a point of contact, and that person’s telephone number; email, physical, 

and postal address; job title or position; dates of service; and, if applicable, 

the reason for termination. 

113. Respondents must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 112 for at least 

5 years.  

114. Respondents must make the documents identified in Paragraph 112 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.  

  

2018-BCFP-0004     Document 1     Filed 07/13/2018     Page 31 of 37



32 

XV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

115. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re National Credit Adjusters 

and Bradley Hochstein, File No. 2018-BCFP- 0004  ,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Director for Enforcement

Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement

1700 G Street, N.W.

Washington D.C. 20552; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Director for Enforcement

Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement

1700 G Street, N.W.

Washington D.C. 20552 

XVI 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

116. Respondents must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section V.

Respondents must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and

testimony. Hochstein must appear and NCA must cause NCA’s officers,
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employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, 

hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably 

request upon 10 days written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places 

and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory 

process.  

XVII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondents’ compliance with 

this Consent Order, including the financial representations upon which part of the 

judgment was suspended: 

117. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents 

must submit additional compliance reports containing the information 

specified in Paragraph 106 or other requested information, related to the 

requirements of this Consent Order, which must be made under penalty of 

perjury; provide sworn testimony related to requirements of this consent order 

and Respondents compliance with those requirements; or produce documents 

related to requirements of this consent order and Respondents compliance 

with those requirements.  

118. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondents, unless Respondents retain counsel related to these 

communications.  
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119. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

120. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

121. For the duration of the Consent Order in whole or in part, NCA agrees to be 

subject to the Bureau’s supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514, where 

jurisdiction would otherwise be lacking. Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, 

NCA may not petition for termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 

1091.113.  

XVIII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

122. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

123. The Enforcement Director may, in her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing.  
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XIX 

Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

124. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 125 below. 

125. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section V of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred during the Relevant Period and the Bureau knows about 

them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in 

this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondents and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent 

Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

126. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

127. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date.  The 

Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to 
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the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. This Paragraph does not apply to the permanent injunctive relief as to 

Hochstein described in Section VI, Paragraph 80. 

128. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

129. Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Respondents must, as a condition of sale, 

obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

130. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents 

wherever Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that 

court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

131. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulations contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulations. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulations supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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132. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulations may be 

construed as allowing Hochstein or NCA, its Board, officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this ~ day of July, 2018 . 

. '.I_------
Mic ulvaney 
Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 

37 
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Bureau Settles With National Credit 

Adjusters, LLC and Bradley Hochstein
JUL 13, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) 

announced a settlement with National Credit Adjusters, LLC (NCA), a privately-held 

company headquartered in Hutchinson, Kansas, and its former CEO and part-

owner, Bradley Hochstein.

As described in the consent order, the Bureau found that NCA and Hochstein used 

a network of debt collection companies to collect consumer debt on NCA’s behalf. 

Some of those companies engaged in frequent unlawful debt collection acts and 

practices that harmed consumers, including by representing that consumers owed 

more than they were legally required to pay, or threatening consumers and their 

family members with lawsuits, visits from process servers, and arrest, when neither 

NCA nor the collection companies intended or had the legal authority to take those 

actions. NCA and Hochstein continued placing debt with those companies for 

collection with knowledge or reckless disregard of the companies’ illegal consumer 

debt collection practices. NCA and Hochstein also sold millions in consumer debt to 

one of those companies with knowledge or reckless disregard of the company’s 

illegal consumer debt collection practices.

The Bureau found that NCA and Hochstein violated the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 and that NCA violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

Under the terms of the consent order, NCA and Hochstein are barred from certain 

collection practices and Hochstein is permanently barred from working in any 

business that collects, buys, or sells consumer debt. The order imposes a judgment 

for civil money penalties of $3 million against NCA and $3 million against 

Hochstein. As explained in the order, full payment of those amounts is suspended 

subject to NCA paying a $500,000 civil money penalty and Hochstein paying a 

$300,000 civil money penalty. 



The consent order is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_national-credit-

adjusters_consent-order_2018-07.pdf

###

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2018-BCFP-0005 

In the Matter of: 

Triton Management Group, Inc., 
TMS Group, Inc. d/b/a Always Money, 
EFS, Inc. d/b/a Quik Pawn Shop, and 
Three Rivers Investment, Inc. d/b/a 
Always Money 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (“Bureau”) has reviewed the 

lending practices of the storefront lenders “Always Money” and “Quik Pawn,” operated 

by Triton Management Group, Inc., TMS Group, Inc., EFS, Inc., and Three Rivers 

Investment, Inc. (collectively, “Triton” or “Respondents”) and has identified violations 

of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(1)(B), the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601–1667f (“TILA”), and TILA’s 

implementing regulation, Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1026. Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (“Consent 

Order”). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, and § 108 of the Truth in Lending Act, 12 U.S.C.

§ 1607.

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order,” dated July 11, 2018 (“Stipulation”), which is incorporated by

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of

the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts

necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject

matter of this action.

III 
Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

3. “Affected Consumers” means all Mississippi consumers who, from January 1,

2013 through May 15, 2015, received an auto title pledge that contained a 10-

month payment schedule with a finance charge disclosure reflecting only a 30-

day single-payment transaction or a similarly inaccurate finance charge.

4. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.
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5. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for the 

Office of Supervision for the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, or his or 

her delegee. 

6. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondents based on substantially the same facts as described in 

Section IV of this Consent Order. 

7. “Respondents” means Triton Management Group, Inc., TMS Group, Inc., EFS, 

Inc., and Three Rivers Investment, Inc., their retail lending operating entities, 

Always Money and Quik Pawn Shop, and their operating subsidiaries, parents, 

and respective successors and assigns. 

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 

The Bureau finds the following: 

8. Respondents are financial services companies headquartered in Montgomery, 

Alabama. 

9. Respondents own and operate approximately 100 retail lending outlets that 

operate under the names Always Money and Quik Pawn Shop in Alabama, 

Mississippi, and South Carolina. 

10. Respondents, through the operating entities, provide, service, and collect on 

high-cost, short-term, secured and unsecured loans, including payday, title 

pledge, and installment loans offered to consumers primarily for personal, 
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family, or household purposes. These are “consumer financial product[s] or 

service[s]” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (15)(A)(i). 

11. Respondents are covered persons under the CFPA because they make consumer 

loans. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(i). 

12. Respondents EFS, Inc. d/b/a Quik Pawn Shop, TMS Group, Inc. d/b/a Always 

Money, and Three Rivers Investment, Inc. d/b/a Always Money are “creditor[s]” 

under TILA and Regulation Z because they regularly extend credit for personal, 

family, or household purposes, which credit is subject to a finance charge and is 

initially payable to them. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(17). 

13. Respondents have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in unlawful 

conduct, including the deceptive acts or practices and other violations of law 

described in this Consent Order. 

14. Because Respondents have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is 

jointly and severally liable for the acts or practices described in this Consent 

Order. 

15. Since at least 2011, Respondents have marketed and sold installment, title 

pledge, pawn, and payday loans to consumers in Alabama, Mississippi, and South 

Carolina. 

Misrepresenting the Finance Charges for Mississippi Auto Loans 

 

16. Respondents offer auto title pledges to consumers in their six Mississippi stores.  

17. Under Mississippi law, auto title pledges must be structured as a single payment 

transaction with a 30-day maturity date.  
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18. Mississippi law further permits the parties to agree in writing to subsequent 

extensions at 30-day intervals if the lender reduces the principal amount used to 

calculate the service charge or interest by at least ten percent of the original 

amount at each 30-day extension. The full principal amount itself is still owed, 

but the amount on which the service charge or interest is assessed must be 

reduced.  

19. Since at least January 1, 2013 until May 15, 2015, Respondents offered 

Mississippi auto title pledges as a purportedly single-payment transaction with a 

30-day maturity date.  

20. Respondents’ auto title pledge agreement included a disclosure of the amount 

financed and the finance charges for the single-payment transaction.  

21. At the same time that Respondents provided auto-title loan agreements to 

consumers for signature, Respondents provided a 10-month payment schedule to 

sign as well.  

22. The 10-month schedule was the presumptive payment schedule for consumers. 

23. At the top of the payment schedule, the consumer’s original loan amount and 

finance charge is listed. The finance charge at the top of the payment schedule is 

the finance charge for a 30-day single-payment transaction.  

24. Below the disclosed finance charge is a 10-month payment schedule with three 

columns.  

25. The “Payment” column shows ten equal payments.  

26. The “Required Principal” amount in the next column shows ten percent of the 

original amount financed.  
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27. The meaning of the term “Required Principal” is not explained in the disclosure.  

28. The third column shows the “Principal” amount decreasing throughout the 10-

month period.  

29. If the consumer paid the ten equal payments reflected on the payment schedule, 

the consumer would pay materially higher finance charges than the finance 

charge that appears on the documents.  

30. Respondents did not disclose the actual finance charges required under the 10-

month payment schedule, nor did Respondents disclose the actual principal and 

interest amounts for each payment. 

31. For example, if Respondents made a $2,500 loan, Respondents’ loan agreement 

and TILA disclosure would list $625 as the finance charge and the “Total of 

Payments” as $3,125. At the same time the consumer would sign that agreement, 

the consumer would sign the separate payment schedule. The consumer’s “Orig 

Fees” of $625 and “Orig Payoff” of $3,125 also appear at the top of this 

agreement. The payment schedule provided would then state:  

Payment Required Principal  Principal Due Date 
$593.75  $250   $2,531.25 May 15, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $2,500 June 14, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $2,406.25 July 14, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $2,250.00 August 13, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $2,031.25 September 12, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $1,750  October 12, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $1,406.25 November 11, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $1,000 December 11, 2014 
$593.75  $250   $531.25 January 10, 2015 
$593.75  $250   0  February 9, 2015 
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32. The consumer’s total payment according to this payment schedule would be 

$5,937.50, which is more than the $3,125 in total payments disclosed at the top 

of the schedule. 

33. Similarly, instead of paying $625 in finance charges as disclosed, the consumer 

would pay $3,437.50 in finance charges. 

34. These actual, higher amounts are not disclosed clearly anywhere on the 

documents.  

35. Triton provided the loan agreement containing the inaccurate charges and the 

10-month payment schedule to all its Mississippi title-loan consumers.  

36. Consumers signed the loan agreement and payment schedule together. 

37. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B).  

38. As described in Paragraphs 8 to 37, since at least January 1, 2013 until May 15, 

2015, when originating auto title pledges in Mississippi, Respondents 

misrepresented the finance charge consumers would incur for the loan.  

39. Respondents’ representations set forth above are material because they relate to 

the cost of the loan and would therefore likely affect the consumer’s conduct or 

decision regarding the loan. 

40. Respondents’ representations are likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. Consumers acting reasonably likely would not 

understand that the finance charge disclosed in the loan agreement does not 

actually correspond to their loan payment terms.  In practice, Respondents 

2018-BCFP-0005     Document 1     Filed 07/19/2018     Page 7 of 22



8 

 

provided no additional oral or written disclosures explaining the payment 

schedule. 

41. Respondents’ representations set forth above constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Understating the Finance Charges Under TILA – Mississippi Auto Title 
Pledge Loans 

 

42. Regulation Z implements TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601–1667f, and is intended, among 

other things, “to promote the informed use of consumer credit by requiring 

disclosures about its terms and cost.” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.1(b).  

43. Disclosures required by Regulation Z must be made “clearly and conspicuously” 

in writing and must reflect “the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.” 

12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17(a)(1), (c)(1).  

44. Among other things, a creditor must disclose the “finance charge” in a closed-end 

credit transaction pursuant to TILA and Regulation Z. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1631(b), 

1638(a)(3); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d). 

45. Regulation Z defines “finance charge” as “the cost of consumer credit as a dollar 

amount.” The finance charge “includes any charge payable directly or indirectly 

by the consumer and imposed directly or indirectly by the creditor as an incident 

to or a condition of the extension of credit.” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.4(a). 

46. Respondent TMS Group, Inc. is a creditor as defined under TILA and Regulation 

Z, because it regularly extends consumer credit requiring payment of a finance 

charge and the obligations are initially payable to it. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g); 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1026.2(a)(17)(i). 
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47. The auto-title pledges offered by Respondent TMS Group, Inc. in Mississippi 

constitute closed-end credit. 12 C.F.R § 1026.2(a)(10). 

48. Since at least 2013 until May 15, 2015, Respondent TMS Group, Inc.’s loan 

agreement disclosed a finance charge that corresponded with a 30-day single-

payment loan. However, Respondent TMS Group, Inc. contemporaneously had 

consumers sign a 10-month payment schedule. The finance charges for the 10-

month payment term were materially higher than the disclosed finance charge. 

49. By understating the finance charges for its auto title pledges in Mississippi, 

Respondent TMS Group, Inc. failed to disclose a finance charge that reflected the 

terms of the legal obligation between the parties to a credit transaction in 

violation of TILA and Regulation Z. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1631(b), 1638(a)(3); 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 1026.17(c)(1), 1026.18(d). 

Failing to Disclose the Annual Percentage Rate for Loans in Advertisements 

 

50. Regulation Z requires that advertisements for closed-end credit contain certain 

disclosures when any one of four triggering terms is present. 15 U.S.C. § 1664(d); 

12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(d). Regulation Z further requires that these disclosures be 

made “clearly and conspicuously.” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(b). 

51. The terms that trigger additional disclosures are: (i) the amount or percentage of 

any down payment; (ii) the number of payments or period of repayment; (iii) the 

amount of any payment; and (iv) the amount of any finance charge. 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1664(d); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(d)(1).  

52. If any of the trigger terms is present, Regulation Z and TILA require that the 

advertisement also state, as applicable: (i) the amount or percentage of the down 
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payment; (ii) the terms of repayment, which reflect the repayment obligations 

over the full term of the loan, including any balloon payment; and (iii) the 

“annual percentage rate,” using that term, and, if the rate may be increased after 

consummation, that fact. 15 U.S.C. § 1664(d); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(d)(2).  

53. Respondents EFS, Inc. and TMS Group, Inc. used three in-store advertisements 

that displayed the payment amount for certain payday and auto title pledges but 

failed to disclose the annual percentage rate as required. 

54. The advertisements were on display to consumers at two Mississippi retail stores 

and one Alabama retail store. The advertisements were visible to consumers who 

entered the lobby of each store. At least one of the advertisements was in a frame 

prominently displayed on the front counter. 

55. In the three advertisements discussed above, Respondents EFS, Inc. and TMS 

Group, Inc. advertised closed-end credit and provided the amount of the required 

payments, but they failed to disclose the annual percentage rate. These 

advertisements violated Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.24(d), and TILA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1664(d) of TILA. 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

56. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are 

prohibited from: 
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a. Using or disclosing payment schedules for title pledges or loans that 

contradict or obscure the actual finance charge or other terms of the 

obligation between the parties; 

b. In connection with marketing or offering consumer credit, misrepresenting, 

or assisting others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. The fees charged for loan extensions; 

ii. The finance charge for loans; 

iii. The annual percentage rate for loans; 0r 

iv. Any other terms or conditions for credit. 

57. Nothing in Paragraph 56 shall prohibit or restrict Respondents from providing 

accurate information to consumers about their rights of renewal, extension, or 

refinancing under state law, provided that Respondents do so in a manner that is 

consistent with this Order. 

VI 
Role of the Board 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

58. The Board, or a committee thereof, must review all submissions required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

59. Although this Consent Order requires Respondents to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondents and 

for ensuring that Respondents comply with Federal consumer financial law and 

this Consent Order. 

2018-BCFP-0005     Document 1     Filed 07/19/2018     Page 11 of 22



12 

 

60. In each instance in which this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to or perform certain obligations of Respondents, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

VI 
Order to Pay Redress  

 

61. A judgment for equitable monetary relief is entered in favor of the Bureau and 

against Respondents in the amount of $1,522,298, representing the total interest 

payments made directly or indirectly by Affected Consumers to Respondents that 

exceed the amount of the finance charges stated in the required TILA disclosure 

box in the Mississippi auto title pledge agreements those consumers received 

(“Total Excess Finance Charge Amount”); however, full payment of the Total 

Excess Finance Charge Amount will be suspended upon satisfaction of the 

obligations in Paragraphs 62–63, and subject to Section VII of this Consent 

Order.  

62. Based on financial statements and supporting documentation that Respondents 

submitted to the Bureau and Respondents’ demonstrated inability to pay the 

Total Excess Finance Charge Amount, Respondents are ordered to pay $500,000 
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toward the Total Excess Finance Charge Amount provided for in Paragraph 61. 

This payment shall be made in accordance with the terms of Paragraph 63.  

63. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, Respondents shall pay to the 

Bureau, in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau, and in accordance with 

wiring instructions provided by counsel for the Bureau, $500,000, as required by 

this Section, for the purpose of providing redress to the Affected Consumers. 

64. The Bureau or its agent will administer redress to the Affected Consumers, as 

reflected in information provided by Respondents to the Bureau. Affected 

Consumers are expected to number approximately 1,309, representing 

approximately 2,136 loans. 

65. Any funds received by the Bureau in satisfaction of this judgment will be 

deposited into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or to the Bureau’s 

agent according to applicable statutes and regulations to be used for redress for 

injured consumers, including, but not limited to, refund of moneys, restitution, 

damages or other monetary relief, and for any attendant expenses for the 

administration of any such redress.  

66. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that redress to consumers is 

wholly or partially impracticable or if funds remain after redress is completed, 

the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the 

Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 
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VII 
Effect of Misrepresentation or Omission Regarding Financial Condition 

  
67. The Bureau’s agreement to issue this Consent Order is expressly premised on the 

truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of Respondents’ 2014–2017 financial 

statements, and additional supporting documents, including those submitted to 

the Bureau in May and June 2018, all of which Respondents assert are truthful, 

accurate, and complete.  

68. If the Bureau in its sole discretion determines that Respondents have failed to 

disclose any material asset or that any of their financial statements contain any 

material misrepresentation or omission, including materially misstating the value 

of any asset, then the suspension of the Total Excess Finance Charge Amount 

ordered in Section VI will be terminated, and the Bureau can seek to enforce in a 

United States district court or in any court of competent jurisdiction of a state in 

a district in which the defendant is located or resides or is doing business, as 

immediately due and payable the Total Excess Finance Charge Amount ordered 

in Section VI of this Consent Order, $1,522,298, less any amounts paid under 

Section VI of this Consent Order. 

69. After the reinstatement of the Total Excess Finance Charge Amount ordered 

under this Section, the Bureau will be entitled to interest on the judgment, 

computed from the date of entry of this Consent Order, at the rate prescribed by 

28 U.S.C. § 1961 on any outstanding amounts not paid.  
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VIII 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), including Respondents’ lack of financial 

resources, Respondents must pay a civil money penalty of one dollar to the 

Bureau. 

71. Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil 

money penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in 

compliance with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

72. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(d). 

IX 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

73. In the event of any default on Respondents’ obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, will accrue on any 

outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

74. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondents. 
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75. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they have already done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order.  

76. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 

X 
Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

77. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondents; or a change in Respondents’ name or address. Respondents 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.  
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78. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must submit to the Regional 

Director an accurate written compliance progress report (“Compliance Report”) 

that has been approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Lists each applicable paragraph and subparagraph of the Order and describes 

in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied with each 

such paragraph and subparagraph of the Consent Order; 

b. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied 

with this Consent Order; and  

79. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau 

XI 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

80. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of their Board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

81. For five years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future Board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 
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representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

82. Respondents must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of

a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001–7006, within 45 days of

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this

Section.

XII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

83. Respondents must create or, if already created, must retain for at least five years

from the Effective Date the following business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

84. Respondents must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 83 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

XIII 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondents must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Triton Management Group, 

Inc., et al., File No. 2018-BCFP-0005,” and send them by overnight courier or
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first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

 James Carley  
 Regional Director, Southeast Region 
 Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
 1700 G Street, N.W. 
 Washington D.C. 20552. 

 

XIV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

 

86. Respondents must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondents must provide such information in their or their agents’ possession 

or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XV 
Compliance Monitoring 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

87. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondents must 

submit requested information related to the requirements of this Consent Order, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony related 

to the requirements of this Consent Order; or produce documents related to the 

requirements of this Consent Order and Respondents’ compliance with those 

requirements.  

88. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Respondents, unless Respondents retain counsel related to these 

communications.  
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89. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview about the subject 

and requirements of this Consent Order and Respondents’ compliance with those 

requirements any employee or other person affiliated with Respondents who has 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

90. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

91. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

92. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing.  

XVII 
Administrative Provisions 

 

93. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 94. 
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94. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondents and their affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order.  

95. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

96. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date. This 

Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the 

extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

97. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

98. Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of its title pledge 

operations in Mississippi that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondents 
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must, as a condition of sale, obtain the written agreement of the transferee or 

assignee to comply with all applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

99. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents 

may be found and Respondents may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction 

over Respondents. 

100. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

101. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondents, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

*** 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 11tt- day of July, 2018. 

Mick ulvaney 
Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 

22 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Settles with Triton 

Management Group

Triton Did Not Properly Disclose Terms and Conditions of 

Certain Loan Products, and Failed to Disclose Finance 
Charges in Advertisements 

JUL 19, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) today 

announced a settlement with Triton Management Group, Inc., a small-dollar lender 

that operates in Alabama, Mississippi, and South Carolina under several names 

including "Always Money" and "Quik Pawn Shop."

As described in the consent order, the Bureau found that Triton violated the Dodd-

Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the disclosure 

requirements of the Truth in Lending Act by failing to properly disclose finance 

charges associated with their auto title loans in Mississippi. The Bureau also found 

that Triton used advertisements that failed to disclose the annual percentage rate 

and other information required by the Truth in Lending Act.

Under the terms of the consent order, Triton and its subsidiaries are barred from 

misrepresenting the costs and other terms of their loans and must return unlawful 

fees paid by consumers. The order enters a judgment of $1,522,298 against Triton, 

which represents the undisclosed finance charges consumers paid on their Triton 

loans. As explained in the order, full payment of this amount is suspended subject 

to Triton’s paying $500,000 to affected consumers.

The consent order filed today is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_triton-management-

group_consent-order_2018-07.pdf
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ALANNA B. CARBIS (CA Bar No. 264066) 
alanna.carbis@cfpb.gov 
LEANNE HARTMANN (CA Bar No. 264787) 
leanne.hartmann@cfpb.gov 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (415) 645-6615 
Fax: (415) 844-9788  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION, 

 
Plaintiff, 
v. 

FUTURE INCOME PAYMENTS, LLC; FIP, 
LLC; CASH FLOW INVESTMENT PARTNERS 
LLC; PENSION ADVANCE LLC; 
BUYSELLANNUITY INC.; CASH FLOW 
INVESTMENT PARTNERS EAST LLC; CASH 
FLOW INVESTMENT PARTNERS MIDEAST 
LLC; LUMPSUM PENSION ADVANCE 
ATLANTIC LLC; LUMPSUM PENSION 
ADVANCE SOUTHEAST LLC; LUMPSUM 
SETTLEMENT WEST LLC; PAS CALIFORNIA 
LLC; PAS GREAT LAKES LLC; PAS 
NORTHEAST LLC; PAS SOUTHWEST LLC; 
PENSION ADVANCE CAROLINAS LLC; 
PENSION ADVANCE MIDWEST LLC; 
PENSION LOANS SOUTH LLC; SCOTT 
KOHN; and DOES 1-100, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No.  
 
COMPLAINT FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF THE 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT OF 
2010 AND THE TRUTH IN 
LENDING ACT 
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The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) brings this action against 

Future Income Payments, LLC (formerly known as Pensions, Annuities, and Settlements, 

LLC); FIP, LLC; Cash Flow Investment Partners LLC; Pension Advance LLC; 

BuySellAnnuity Inc.; Cash Flow Investment Partners East LLC; Cash Flow Investment 

Partners MidEast LLC; Lumpsum Pension Advance Atlantic LLC; Lumpsum Pension 

Advance Southeast LLC; Lumpsum Settlement West LLC; PAS California LLC; PAS 

Great Lakes LLC; PAS Northeast LLC; PAS Southwest LLC; Pension Advance 

Carolinas LLC; Pension Advance Midwest LLC; Pension Loans South LLC; Scott Kohn; 

and Does 1-100, under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, and 5565, and the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 

U.S.C. § 1638(a)-(b), and alleges as follows. 

Introduction 

1. Defendant Scott Kohn, through the above-named companies and others 

unknown to the Bureau (together, “Defendants”), offers consumers lump-sum payments 

in exchange for which the consumers authorize Defendants to periodically debit the 

accounts in which the consumers deposit their pensions or other future income streams. 

2. Defendants represent to consumers, among other things, that these lump-sum 

payments are not “loans,” that there is no applicable interest rate, and that the cost of the 

lump-sum advance is less than that of potential alternative sources of funds, such as 

credit cards. 

3. In fact, Defendants’ product is a loan and is more costly than alternative 

financial products to which Defendants draw comparisons. Defendants misrepresent 

material aspects of their product. Defendants thus engage in deceptive acts and practices 

as well as other violations of “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1). 

4. Numerous state and local regulators and agencies also have concluded that 

Defendants’ product is a loan for purposes of applicable state laws. These agencies 

include the California Department of Business Oversight; the Los Angeles City 
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Attorney’s Office; the Minnesota Attorney General; the Colorado Attorney General; the 

Massachusetts Attorney General; the North Carolina Attorney General; the Iowa 

Attorney General; the Virginia Attorney General; the Oregon Attorney General; the 

Oregon Department of Consumer and Business Services; the Illinois Attorney General; 

the Illinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation; the Maryland Attorney 

General; the Maryland Commissioner of  Financial Regulation; the Pennsylvania 

Department of Banking and Securities; the New York State Department of Financial 

Services; and the State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions. 

5. Defendants’ product lures in vulnerable consumers, including senior 

citizens, disabled military veterans, and their spouses, who are in need of immediate cash.  

6. The Bureau brings this suit to secure injunctive relief, other monetary and 

equitable relief, and civil money penalties. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1); presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331; and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345. 

8. Venue is proper because Defendants are located or reside or do business in 

this district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

9. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and providing of consumer-financial products and services under 

“Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau is authorized to 

initiate civil actions in federal district court, by its own attorneys, to address violations of 

“Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b). 

10. Future Income Payments, LLC, previously known as “Pension, Annuities 

and Settlements, LLC,” was formed in April 2011 and is a limited-liability Delaware 
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company that has conducted business from 18300 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 410, 

Irvine, California 92612. Scott Kohn is or was the President, Secretary, and Treasurer of 

Future Income Payments. Future Income Payments transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and nationwide, extending consumer credit and servicing consumer loans. 

Future Income Payments is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(5), (6)(A), 15(A)(i). 

11. FIP, LLC, is a Nevada limited-liability company, formed in 2016, that has 

conducted business from 2505 Anthem Village Drive, #E-578, Henderson, Nevada 

89052. FIP, LLC, has two managing members, one of which is Cash Flow Outsourcing 

Services, Inc., based in the Philippines. Scott Kohn is the President of Cash Flow 

Outsourcing Services, Inc. FIP, LLC, transacts business nationwide, extending consumer 

credit and servicing consumer loans. FIP, LLC, is therefore a “covered person” under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (6)(A), 15(A)(i). 

12. Cash Flow Investment Partners LLC (www.lumpsum-settlement.com); 

Pension Advance LLC (www.pensionadvances.com and www.lumpsum-

pensionloans.com); and BuySellAnnuity Inc. (buysellannuity.com), are or were limited-

liability Delaware Companies that have operated out of 18300 Von Karman Avenue, 

Suite 410, Irvine, California 92612. They are or were marketing affiliates for Future 

Income Payments that are or were solely managed by Scott Kohn. They market or 

marketed the credit products that Future Income Payments provides and collect or 

collected the personal and financial information from consumers who express or 

expressed interest in the products.  

13. These marketing affiliates are “covered persons” under the CFPA because 

they offer or have offered loans to consumers. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (6)(A), 15(A)(i). 

They are also covered persons because they are under common control with and therefore 

affiliates of Future Income Payments and provide or have provided a material service to 
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Future Income Payments with respect to its extensions of consumer credit. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(1), (6)(B), 26(A).  

14. The following Nevada limited-liability companies work or worked with 

Future Income Payments and are or were solely managed by Scott Kohn: Cash Flow 

Investment Partners East LLC; Cash Flow Investment Partners MidEast LLC; Lumpsum 

Pension Advance Atlantic LLC; Lumpsum Pension Advance Southeast LLC; Lumpsum 

Settlement West LLC; PAS California LLC; PAS Great Lakes LLC; PAS Northeast 

LLC; PAS Southwest LLC; Pension Advance Carolinas LLC; Pension Advance Midwest 

LLC; and Pension Loans South LLC. These companies have conducted business from 

2505 Anthem Village Drive, #E-578, Henderson, Nevada 89052. They purport to acquire 

or purported to acquire income streams from consumers entitled to payments from 

pensions, annuities, legal settlements, or other similar sources. After subjecting 

consumers to an underwriting process, Future Income Payments provides lump sums to 

consumers in exchange for the consumers’ promises to direct future payments, including 

fees, in equal installments for a set term to the aforementioned companies or to Future 

Income Payments.  

15. The companies named in paragraph 14 are “covered persons” under the 

CFPA because they service consumer loans, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(6)(A), 15(A)(i). They are 

also “covered persons” because they are under common control with and therefore 

affiliates of Future Income Payments and provide or have provided a material service to 

Future Income Payments with respect to its extensions of consumer credit. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(6)(B), 26(A).  

16. Scott Kohn is or was the President, Secretary, and Treasurer of Future 

Income Payments, and has, or had, managerial authority for that entity. In addition, Kohn 

is or was the sole manager of Cash Flow Investment Partners LLC; Pension Advance 

LLC; BuySellAnnuity Inc.; Cash Flow Investment Partners East LLC; Cash Flow 

Investment Partners MidEast LLC; Lumpsum Pension Advance Atlantic LLC; Lumpsum 
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Pension Advance Southeast LLC; Lumpsum Settlement West LLC; PAS California LLC; 

PAS Great Lakes LLC; PAS Northeast LLC; PAS Southwest LLC; Pension Advance 

Carolinas LLC; Pension Advance Midwest LLC; and, Pension Loans South LLC. Kohn 

has managerial responsibility for all of the Defendant entities. Under the CFPA, Kohn is 

therefore a “related person” to these entities. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i). Because Kohn 

is a “related person,” he is deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B).  

17. The true names and capacities of the Defendants sued herein as Does 1 

through 100, inclusive, are unknown to the Bureau. The Bureau therefore sues these 

Defendants by such fictitious names. When the true names and capacities of these 

Defendants have been ascertained, the Bureau will seek leave to amend this Complaint to 

insert the true names and capacities of the fictitiously-named Defendants. The Bureau 

believes, and therefore alleges, that these Defendants participated in, and in some part are 

responsible for, the illegal acts alleged herein. Each reference in this Complaint to 

Defendants is also a reference to all Defendants sued as Does. 

18. Defendants Future Income Payments; FIP, LLC; Cash Flow Investment 

Partners LLC; Pension Advance LLC; BuySellAnnuity Inc.; Cash Flow Investment 

Partners East LLC; Cash Flow Investment Partners MidEast LLC; Lumpsum Pension 

Advance Atlantic LLC; Lumpsum Pension Advance Southeast LLC; Lumpsum 

Settlement West LLC; PAS California LLC; PAS Great Lakes LLC; PAS Northeast 

LLC; PAS Southwest LLC; Pension Advance Carolinas LLC; Pension Advance Midwest 

LLC; Pension Loans South LLC; and, Does 1-100 (collectively, FIP) operate or operated 

as a common enterprise while engaging in the unlawful acts and practices alleged in the 

Complaint. FIP conducts or has conducted the business practices described below as 

interrelated companies that have or had a common manager and overlapping office 

locations. Because these Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them 

is jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Individual 
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Defendant Kohn has or had managerial responsibility for the corporate Defendants that 

comprise the common enterprise. 

Factual Background 

A. Defendants’ Scheme 

19. The corporate Defendants are affiliated entities, led by individual Defendant 

Scott Kohn, that purport to purchase, through lump-sum payments, portions of 

consumers’ future pension or other income streams at a discount. 

20. FIP operates through a web of interconnected companies. The corporate 

Defendants operate interchangeably, often using each other’s names and addresses. 

21. According to Defendant FIP, LLC’s website, futureincomepayments.com, 

FIP is “America’s largest pension cash flow originator with over $150 Million in 

completed transactions.”  

22. Through advertisements, cold-calling, and email campaigns, FIP lures in 

vulnerable consumers in need of cash. FIP claims that the product it offers is useful for 

“[p]ay[ing]-off high-interest credit cards and debts[.]” Many military veterans, retirees, 

and their spouses have contracted with FIP. 

23. FIP operates or has operated websites, including 

futureincomepayments.com, buysellannuity.com, pensionpurchasing.com, lumpsum-

pensionloans.com, and lumpsum-settlement.com, to market and sell its product. Once a 

consumer contacts FIP, FIP’s representatives apply significant pressure to consumers to 

quickly sign a contract. 

B. FIP’s Product, Fees, and Representations to Consumers 

24. Since at least 2011, under various corporate names, FIP has marketed its 

product to consumers as the purchase and sale of a portion of the consumer’s future 

pension or other income stream at a “discount” in exchange for an immediate lump-sum 

cash payment.  
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25. Consumers who contract with FIP are required to execute an agreement 

entitled “Purchase and Sale Agreement,” or some variation thereof. These agreements 

purport to effect the sale of consumers’ pensions or other future income streams to FIP. 

26. Under FIP’s contracts, consumers receive lump sums, ranging from $100 to 

at least $60,000, and are subsequently obligated to repay a larger total amount through a 

series of monthly payments, which they make when they receive their disability, pension, 

or other payments. Consumers make these payments over a prescribed period, typically 

48, 60, or 120 months.  

27. Many of the income streams that FIP contracts for are not legally assignable. 

See, e.g., 29 U.S.C. § 1056(d); 38 U.S.C. § 5301. 

28. Consumers who contract with FIP are required to agree to make automatic 

recurring payments from their bank accounts to FIP as a condition of receiving the money 

FIP provides.  

29. In addition to its “Purchase and Sale Agreement,” FIP requires consumers 

who contract with FIP to execute an “Authorization for Automatic Payment (Electronic 

Funds Transfer/EFT)” or equivalent document providing that they authorize FIP and their 

bank to initiate recurring debit entries as payment for the sale of an asset.  

30. FIP does, in fact, exercise its right under these agreements to debit the 

amount of payments due from consumers from consumers’ bank accounts. 

31. In addition to the “discount” consumers are required to pay in exchange for 

the lump sum, FIP often subtracts fees, such as a $300 “one-time setup fee” from the 

lump sum, as well as a monthly “management fee” for the duration of the agreement.  

32. Some consumers are also required to take out life-insurance policies and 

name FIP or a third-party future income-stream buyer (investor) as the beneficiary, to 

protect FIP in the event the consumer dies.  

33. Consumers who fail to make a timely payment are charged a late fee of 1.5% 

of the delinquent payment. This amount accrues monthly, based on the total amount of 
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the delinquent payment, including any late payment fee from a previous month. 

Consumers are also charged an additional $25-$35 for any form of payment returned to 

FIP for non-sufficient funds, and some consumers may be charged for costs FIP incurs to 

collect the delinquent amount. 

34. FIP operates throughout the United States, and has offered or provided its 

product to thousands of vulnerable consumers across the nation. 

35. FIP repeatedly emphasizes to consumers online and in certain documents 

that its product is “a purchase and not a loan.” FIP’s contracts with consumers contain 

some variation of the title “Purchase and Sale Agreement” and, with slight variations, 

expressly assert that the “agreement is not a loan or other financing transaction, and 

neither Seller [of the future income stream] nor FIP intend this agreement to be regarded 

as a loan or other financing instrument.”  

36. Some of FIP’s contracts also state that if “a court ever finds that the sale of 

the Purchased Asset was ineffective or that this Agreement created a loan rather than an 

absolute sale of the Purchased Asset, then this Agreement will serve as a security 

agreement under the Uniform Commercial Code or similar law of the state in which 

Seller resides.” 

37. On Defendant FIP, LLC’s website, buysellannuity.com, there is a page 

dedicated to pensions. This Pension Payments page refers to FIP’s team of “retirement 

loan professionals,” who can help consumers “[s]implify the end-to-end process” by 

working with a “knowledgeable” team that specializes “in annuity buyout, individual 

retirement loans, and pension payment advances.” 

38. FIP also engages in underwriting and the collection of extensive 

information, guarantees, and documents before providing lump-sum payments to 

consumers. For example, FIP requires consumers to submit a variety of documents, 

including a benefits letter from the institution providing the income stream, a photo 

identification, personal or corporate tax returns if the consumer is self-employed, a W-9 
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form, and, if applicable, bank statements, proof of life insurance with death-benefit 

amount, a notarized spousal-consent form, a notarized agreement from the consumer’s 

spouse that among other things requires the consumer’s spouse to guarantee all of the 

consumer’s obligations to the “buyer” of the future income stream, and an employment-

verification form. 

39. FIP claims that there is no interest rate associated with its product. Rather, 

FIP asserts, the difference between the lump sum consumers receive and the total amount 

they are required to pay represents a “discount.” But what FIP calls a discount is in 

actuality a form of interest the consumer pays over the term of the agreement. FIP 

transactions cost consumers amounts that are equivalent to rates of up to 183%, and 

potentially more. 

40. FIP’s representatives also have led consumers to believe they can repay the 

lump-sum payment early and without penalty. In fact, many FIP contracts provide that 

the lump-sum payment cannot be prepaid. In many instances when consumers have been 

allowed to repay their loans early, they have been penalized.  

41. Certain versions of FIP’s contracts include clauses that bind the consumers’ 

heirs, executors, administrators, successors, or assigns, require consumers to abide by the 

contract even if the consumer files for bankruptcy, and provide that if a consumer 

materially breaches the agreement all remaining and unpaid future periodic payments 

shall be immediately due and payable.  

42. Under TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g), and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.2(a)(17)(i)(2018), FIP is a creditor because it regularly extends consumer credit that 

is subject to a finance charge or is payable by a written agreement in more than four 

installments—and the obligation is initially payable to FIP.  

43. FIP does not provide consumers the closed-end-credit disclosures required 

by TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.1 et seq., such 

as disclosures of the “finance charge” and “annual percentage rate.” FIP seeks to avoid 
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the requirements to provide such disclosures, which apply to closed-end-credit 

transactions, by labeling its transactions as “sales” rather than loans. In fact, however, 

FIP’s transactions involve extensions of closed-end credit under TILA and Regulation Z. 

44. FIP offers and provides the income streams from consumers to third-party 

investors, usually as 60- or 120-month cash flow payments, providing interest rates 

between 6% and 12% for their investment.  

45.  FIP presents investors with offers of cash-flow payments from specific 

consumers, providing on the offer sheet, among other information, the name of the 

consumer, the asset issuer, information about the cash flow, and the amount required to 

“purchase” that cash flow. It is from these “investments” that FIP raises the funds to 

provide contracting consumers with lump-sum payments. FIP solicits investors online 

and also receives referrals from financial advisors. 

C. The Corporate Defendants’ Common Enterprise 

46. The collection of Defendant-companies operated by Scott Kohn does not 

operate at arm’s length but rather functions as a common enterprise.  

47. The entities share physical addresses, website URLs, and webpages, and 

Kohn manages them all.  

48. As described above, each of the corporate Defendants plays a role in the 

common enterprise. Several of the Defendant-entities are marketing affiliates of Future 

Income Payments. See ¶ 12. These entities, as well as FIP, LLC, and Future Income 

Payments, provide or provided marketing services for the scheme as a whole. Other 

entities acquire or acquired income streams derived from various pensions, annuities, 

settlements, or like inflows, which are or were then serviced by Future Income Payments. 

See ¶ 14. Among a variety of administrative and other services that Future Income 

Payments provides or has provided to those entities that acquire or acquired income 

streams, it maintains and collects income-stream payments. This involves but is not 
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limited to sending statements and collecting payments from third parties, as well as 

initiating collection activity against those who fail to remit payments. 

49. The corporate Defendants’ actions and omissions as set forth herein include 

the actions and omissions of each Defendant-entity acting jointly and severally.  

Count I 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

Against All Defendants 

50. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-49 of this 

Complaint. 

51. An act or practice is deceptive if it involves a material misrepresentation or 

omission that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

52. In marketing the loans in question, FIP routinely represents that the product: 

a. is not a loan; 

b. does not have an interest rate associated with it; and 

c. is comparable to or cheaper than credit-card debt.  

53. In fact, FIP’s product is a loan, and what FIP claims is a “discount” is a form 

of interest associated with its product. In addition, FIP charges consumers the equivalent 

of rates up to 183%, and potentially more, which is far in excess of a high-interest credit 

card. 

54. These material representations are false and misleading. Denying that FIP’s 

product is a loan, that any interest rate applies, and that the cost of the loan is more than 

the cost of credit-card debt are material misrepresentations because they mischaracterize 

the nature of the product and render a reasonable consumer unable to compare the cost of 

the product with other potential sources of credit. 

55. Therefore, Defendants have engaged in deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Count II 

Violations of TILA 

Against All Corporate Defendants 

56. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-49 of this 

Complaint. 

57. TILA and Regulation Z require that certain disclosures be provided to a 

consumer before consummation of a closed-end credit transaction. 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)-

(b); 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17(a)-(b)(2015), 1026.18(2015). 

58. Among the required disclosures in a closed-end credit transaction are the 

finance charge and APR. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1602(v), 1638(a)(3)-(4); 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d)-

(e). 

59. The finance charge is generally “the cost of consumer credit as a dollar 

amount” and “includes any charge payable directly or indirectly by the consumer and 

imposed directly or indirectly by the creditor as an incident to or a condition of the 

extension of credit.” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.4(a)(2011); see also 15 U.S.C. § 1605(a). 

60. Regulation Z requires that a creditor in a closed-end credit transaction 

disclose the finance charge, “using that term, with a brief description such as ‘the dollar 

amount the credit will cost you.’” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(d). 

61. The APR is “a measure of the cost of credit, expressed as a yearly rate.” 12 

C.F.R. § 1026.22(a)(1)(2015); see also 15 U.S.C. § 1606(a). 

62. Regulation Z requires that a creditor in a closed-end credit transaction 

disclose the APR, “using that term, with a brief description such as ‘the cost of your 

credit as a yearly rate.’” 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(e). 

63. FIP provides consumers closed-end installment loans, which are subject to 

finance charges and for which an APR is required to be calculated and disclosed, but does 

not provide the disclosures required by TILA and Regulation Z. FIP therefore violated 

TILA and Regulation Z. 
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Count III 

Violations of the CFPA 

Against All Corporate Defendants 

64. FIP’s violations of TILA and Regulation Z alleged in Count II constitute 

violations of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

1. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer injury 

during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility of effective 

final relief; 

2. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as defined by 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

3. grant additional injunctive relief as may be just and proper; 

4. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants;  

5. order Defendants to pay redress to harmed consumers;   

6. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues from Defendants;  

7. impose civil money penalties against Defendants;  

8. order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s costs and fees incurred in connection 

with prosecuting this action;  

9. appoint a receiver to assess the various claims of consumers and non-party 

investors; and 

10. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

 
 
Dated: September 13, 2018 Respectfully submitted, 
 

Kristen A. Donoghue (DC Bar # 456707) 
Enforcement Director 
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Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich (FL Bar #51561)   
Deputy Enforcement Director  

 
__/s/Alanna B. Carbis________________ 
Alanna B. Carbis (CA Bar No. 264066) 
 Email: alanna.carbis@cfpb.gov 
 Telephone: (415) 645-6615 
Leanne E. Hartmann (CA Bar No. 264787) 
 Email: leanne.hartmann@cfpb.gov 
 Telephone: (415) 844-9787 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Facsimile: (312) 610-8971 
 

Attorneys for the Bureau of Consumer 
Financial Protection 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Files Suit Against Future 

Income Payments LLC, Scott Kohn, and 
Related Entities
SEP 13, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (BCFP) has 

filed a complaint against Future Income Payments, LLC (FIP), Scott Kohn, and the 

following related entities: FIP, LLC; BuySellAnnuity Inc.; Cash Flow Investment 

Partners LLC; Pension Advance LLC; Cash Flow Investment Partners East LLC; Cash 

Flow Investment Partners MidEast LLC; Lumpsum Pension Advance Atlantic LLC; 

Lumpsum Pension Advance Southeast LLC; Lumpsum Settlement West LLC; PAS 

California, LLC; PAS Great Lakes, LLC; PAS Northeast LLC; PAS Southwest LLC; 

Pension Advance Carolinas LLC; Pension Advance Midwest LLC; and Pension Loans 

South LLC.

The lawsuit, filed in federal district court in the Central District of California, alleges 

that the defendants violated the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010, 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), by representing to consumers that their pension-advance 

products were not loans, were not subject to interest rates, and were comparable in 

cost to, or cheaper than, credit card debt when, in actuality, the pension-advance 

products were loans, and were subject to interest rates that were substantially 

higher than credit card interest rates. The Bureau also alleges that the defendants 

violated the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)-(b), by failing to 

disclose a measure of the cost of credit, expressed as a yearly rate.

FIP is headquartered in Irvine, California, and does business throughout the United 

States.

A copy of the complaint filed in federal district court in the Central District of 

California is available at: 



https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_future-income-

payments_complaint_2018-09.pdf

###

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the 

content, please contact the press office. 

Go to press resources page 

Topics: PAYDAY LOANS • ENFORCEMENT •



STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. 

We will update you on new 

newsroom updates. 

Email address 

example@mail.com

The information you provide will 

permit the Consumer Financial 

Protection Bureau to process your 

request or inquiry. See more.

Sign up

Subscribe to our RSS feed to get the latest content in your reader. 

 Subscribe to RSS 

Contact Us Newsroom Careers Industry Whistleblowers 

CFPB Ombudsman 



FOIA 

Plain Writing 

Privacy 

Website Privacy Policy & 

Legal Notices 

Open Government 

Administrative 

Adjudication 

Accessibility 

Office of Civil Rights 

No FEAR Act Data 

Tribal 

USA.gov 

Office of 

Inspector 

General 

An official website of the United States government 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BUREAUOFCONSUMERFINANCIALPROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2018-BCFP-0006

In the Matter of: 

Bluestem Brands, Inc.; Bluestem 
Enterprises, Inc.; and Bluestem 
Sales, Inc., also doing business as 
Fingerhut and Gettington.com 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) has reviewed the debt

collection and debt-sales acts and practices of Bluestem Brands, Inc.; Bluestem 

Enterprises, Inc.; and Bluestem Sales, Inc., also doing business as Fingerhut and 

Gettington.com (collectively, Bluestem or Respondents, as defined below), relating to 

consumer debts sold to debt buyers, and has identified the following law violations: 

Bluestem engaged in unfair acts and practices by substantially delaying forwarding post

sale payments made by consumers to Bluestem. 

U oder §§ 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

l
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I. Overview 

1. Bluestem, an online retailer that operates through several brands, including 

Fingerhut and Gettington.com, generally sells products, mostly through 

revolving-credit accounts and installment-credit accounts issued through its 

third-party partner bank, and sells charged-off accounts to third-party debt 

buyers. Some consumers continued to make payments on their defaulted 

accounts directly to Bluestem after their accounts had been sold. Where it 

received such direct payments, due to operational errors, Bluestem 

substantially delayed sending some of these consumers' payments to the third

party debt buyers. This practice was likely to subject consumers to misleading 

debt-collection efforts and inaccurate credit reporting, and is unfair under the 

CFPA. 

II. Jurisdiction 

2. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U .S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

III. Stipulation 

3. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order," dated September 27, 2018 (Stipulation), which is incorporated 

by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents 

have consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondents admit the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction 

over Respondents and the subject matter of this action. 
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IV. Definitions 

4. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Board" means Respondents' duly-elected and acting Boards of Directors. 

b. "Direct Pay" means a payment made by or on behalf of a consumer to 

Bluestem after Bluestem has sold the consumer's account to a third party. 

c. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

d. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, or his or her 

delegate. 

e. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers, or an enforcement action by another governmental agency, 

brought against one or more of the Respondents based on substantially the 

same facts as described in § V of this Consent Order. 

f. "Respondents" or "Bluestem" means Bluestem Brands, Inc.; Bluestem 

Enterprises, Inc.; and Bluestem Sales, Inc., also doing business as Fingerhut 

and Gettington.com; and their successors and assigns. 

V. Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

5. Bluestem Brands, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business in Eden Prairie, Minnesota. 

6. Bluestem Enterprises, Inc., a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Bluestem 

Brands, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in 

Eden Prairie, Minnesota. 
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7. Bluestem Sales, Inc., a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Bluestem Brands, 

Inc., is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Eden 

Prairie, Minnesota. 

8. Bluestem Brands, Inc., Bluestem Enterprises, Inc., and Bluestem Sales, Inc., 

operating together, purchase, service, collect on, and furnish consumer-report 

information on loans that are primarily used by consumers for personal, family, 

or household purposes. The entities are therefore "covered persons" under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), (6), (15)(A)(i), (ix), and (x). 

9. Bluestem partners with a third-party bank to sell Bluestem merchandise on 

closed-end or open-end revolving credit. Generally, the bank originates the 

loans and sells the receivables to Bluestem within a few days. Once Bluestem 

purchases the receivables, it services the debts itself and sells the receivables to 

a third party. 

10. When consumers default on their Bluestem accounts, the accounts are charged 

off and sold to third-party debt buyers. Bluestem does not take affirmative 

steps to notify consumers when their accounts are sold or to inform consumers 

of the new owners of their debts. 

11. Bluestem continued to accept payments from consumers after it had sold their 

accounts to debt buyers. Bluestem refers to payments on sold debts as "direct 

pays." 

12. Bluestem substantially delayed forwarding some Direct Pays and information 

about those Direct Pays to debt buyers. 

13. For example, since 2013 there have been over 3,500 instances where the delay 

was over 365 days. Between 2013 and August 2016, Bluestem received more 
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than 18,000 Direct Pays-totaling more than $1 million- that it delayed 

forwarding for at least 31 days. 

14. Most of the delayed Direct Pays referenced in Paragraphs 12 and 13 resulted 

from a conversion of Bluestem's accounts receivable system in March 2014 or 

other technical system issues that resulted in direct pays made on certain debt

sale files not being timely forwarded to debt buyers. 

15. By substantially delaying forwarding some Direct Pays and information about 

those Direct Pays, Bluestem prevented debt buyers from timely updating 

account balances. 

16. As a result, debt buyers were likely to subject consumers to misleading and, in 

situations where consumers have completely paid off their account, completely 

unnecessary debt-collection efforts. 

17. Any misleading collection efforts were likely to cause consumers to make 

payments based on debt buyers' misstatements about the amounts owed on 

consumers' accounts, including in situations where consumers had completely 

paid off their accounts. 

18. Bluestem's conduct was also likely to cause some debt buyers to furnish 

inaccurate information to consumer-reporting agencies. 

19. Consumers have no control over Bluestem's processes for identifying, tracking, 

and forwarding Direct Pays. Bluestem's contracts with debt buyers require 

Bluestem to forward Direct Pays within 30 days of receipt. 

20. Once Bluestem accepts a payment from a consumer, the consumer loses access 

to that money, which prevents the consumer from paying that money to the 

current debt owner. 
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21. Consumers have no reason to anticipate that Bluestem will accept their 

payments but then hold the payments for months or years before forwarding 

them. And so consumers have no reason to anticipate the inaccurate debt 

collection or consumer reporting that could result. 

Violation of the CFPA 

22. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair" acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 

U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

23. Bluestem's substantial delay in forwarding consumers' Direct Pays or 

informing debt buyers about the Direct Pays was unfair. 

24. Consumers were likely to suffer substantial injury because Bluestem's practice 

precluded debt buyers from timely updating account balances. As a result, 

consumers were likely to be subjected to misleading and, in situations where 

consumers have completely paid off their account, completely unnecessary 

debt-collection efforts; consumers were likely to make payments based on debt 

buyers' misstatements about the amounts owed on consumers' accounts, 

including in situations where consumers have completely paid off their 

accounts; and some debt buyers were likely to furnish inaccurate information 

to consumer-reporting agencies. 

25. This injury is not reasonably avoidable because Bluestem does not inform 

consumers when it has sold their accounts; consumers have no control over 

Bluestem's processes for identifying, tracking, or forwarding Direct Pays; once 
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Bluestem accepts a Direct Pay, the consumer loses the ability to send that 

money to the current debt owner; and consumers have no reason to anticipate 

that Bluestem will accept but not timely forward their payments. 

26. This injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

competition. 

27. Therefore, Bluestem has engaged in unfair acts or practices that violate §§ 

1031(c)(1) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c)(1), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

VI. Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

28. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Bluestem shall update, as necessary, its 

processes, systems, and controls to ensure that: 

a. Bluestem timely identifies and forwards Direct Pays to the appropriate debt 

buyers; 

b. Bluestem has in place policies and procedures reasonably designed to (i) 

prevent accepting Direct Pays by phone on sold accounts, and (ii) inform any 

consumer who tries to make a Direct Pay by phone that the consumer's 

account has been sold, and provide the name and contact information (at a 

minimum, phone number and address) of the appropriate debt buyer; 

c. Bluestem has in place policies and procedures reasonably designed to (i) 

prevent accepting Direct Pays through any of Bluestem's websites, and (ii) 

ensure that when a consumer whose account has been sold seeks to make a 

payment through any of Bluestem's websites, the website will inform the 
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consumer that the consumer's account has been sold and provide the name 

and contact information (at a minimum, phone number and address) of the 

debt buyer that purchased the consumer's account; and 

d. Bluestem has in place policies and procedures reasonably designed to provide 

the notice described below to a consumer whose account has been sold and 

for whom, after the account has been sold, Bluestem has received a payment 

by check. Bluestem's policies and procedures shall also be reasonably 

designed to provide the notice within 12 business days of receiving the 

payment and to include in the notice, at a minimum: 

1. a statement that the consumer's account has been sold; 

ii. the name and contact information (at a minimum, phone number and 

address) of the debt buyer; 

iii. a description of the methods by which consumers can obtain account 

information from Bluestem; and 

iv. a statement that the notice is not a bill and the consumer should not 

send payment to Bluestem. 

29. Consistent with its current practices, when Bluestem sells an account to a debt 

buyer after the Effective Date, Bluestem shall continue to provide the debt 

buyer, at the time of sale, with at least the following information and 

documentation for each account sold: 

a. the effective credit agreement that obligates the consumer to pay the debt 

sold; and 

b. copies of the last 12 monthly account statements or, if the account was open 

for less than 12 months, all monthly account statements. 
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30. Consistent with its current practices, after the Effective Date, Bluestem shall 

not sell accounts for which Bluestem is unable to provide the information and 

documentation required in Paragraph 29. 

VII. Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

31. Within 30 Days of the Effective Date, Bluestem must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Bluestem's Direct Pay 

practices comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the 

terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must 

include, at a minimum: 

a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. exemplars of the notices required under Paragraph 28; and 

c. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

32. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Bluestem to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Bluestem to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Bluestem must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 30 days. 

33. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Bluestem must 

implement and adhere to the steps, timeframes, and deadlines outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 
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VIII. Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

34. The Board, or a committee thereof, must review all submissions required by 

this Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

35. Although this Consent Order requires Bluestem to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will 

have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Bluestem 

and for ensuring that Bluestem complies with Federal consumer financial law 

and this Consent Order. 

36. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to or perform certain obligations of Bluestem, the Board, or a 

committee thereof, must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Bluestem to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board, or a committee 

thereof, on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance or any failures to comply with Board directives related to 

this Section. 

IX. Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

37. Under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in § V of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors 
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in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Bluestem must pay a civil money penalty of 

$200,000 to the Bureau. 

38. Within ten days of the Effective Date, Bluestem must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

39. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by§ 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

40. Bluestem must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Bluestem may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

41. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Bluestem may not argue that Bluestem is entitled to, nor 

may Bluestem benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the 

civil money penalty paid in this action. If the court in any Related Consumer 

Action offsets or otherwise reduces the amount of compensatory monetary 

remedies imposed against Bluestem based on the civil money penalty paid in 

this action or based on any payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil 
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Penalty Fund, Bluestem must, within 30 days after entry of a final order 

granting such offset or reduction, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the 

offset or reduction to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered 

an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil 

money penalty imposed in this action. 

X. Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

42. In the event of any default on Bluestem's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

43. Bluestem must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Bluestem. 

44. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Bluestem, unless it has already done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer-identifying number, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

45. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Bluestem must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Bluestem paid or is required to 

pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom 

that redress has been or will be paid. 
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XI. Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

46. Bluestem must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against any Respondent; or a change in any Respondent's names or addresses. 

Bluestem must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

47. Within seven days of the Effective Date, Respondents must each designate at 

least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of 

contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with the Respondents. 

48. Bluestem must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 47 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

49. Within 120 days ofBiuestem's receiving notice of the Enforcement Director's 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again 245 days later, Bluestem must 

submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance-progress 

report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board, or a 

committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 
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a. lists each applicable paragraph and subparagraph of the Order and describes 

in detail the manner and form in which Bluestem has complied with each such 

paragraph and subparagraph of the Consent Order; 

b. describes in detail the manner and form in which Bluestem has complied with 

the Compliance Plan; and 

c. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under§ XII, unless 

previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII. Order Distribution and Aclmowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Bluestem must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

51. For five years from the Effective Date, Bluestem must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in § XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

the Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

52. Bluestem must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

14 

2018-BCFP-0006     Document 1     Filed 10/04/2018     Page 14 of 19



delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII. Record.keeping

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Bluestem must create, or if already created, must retain for the duration of the

Consent Order, all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including information

about Direct Pays provided to Debt Buyers, the notices required by Paragraph

28, and all submissions to the Bureau.

54. Bluestem must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 53 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

55. Bluestem must make the documents identified in Paragraph 53 available to the

Bureau upon the Bureau's request.

XIV. Notices

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Bluestem must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Bluestem Brands, Inc., 

File No. 2018-BCFP-0006," and send them by overnight courier or first-class 

mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
AITENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
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XV. Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Bluestem's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

57. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Bluestem must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested non-privileged 

information, related to requirements of this Consent Order, which must be 

made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony related to 

requirements of this Consent Order and Bluestem's compliance with those 

requirements; or produce non-privileged documents related to requirements of 

this Consent Order and Bluestem's compliance with those requirements. 

58. Bluestem must permit Bureau representatives to interview about the 

requirements of this Consent Order and Bluestem's compliance with those 

requirements any employee or other person affiliated with Bluestem who has 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

59. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands ·under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI. Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

60. Bluestem may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

61. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non

material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of 
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time and changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good 

cause justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement 

Director must be in writing. 

XVII. Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Bluestem, except as described in Paragraph 63. 

63. The Bureau releases and discharges Bluestem from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in § V of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective 

Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in 

future enforcement actions against Bluestem, including, without limitation, to 

establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or 

practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release 

does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 

compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of 

the Consent Order. 

64. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under§ 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or 

the United States. 
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65. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date. The 

Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to 

the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, 

suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated 

agent. 

66. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

67. Should Bluestem seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations that 

are subject to this Consent Order, Bluestem must, as a condition of sale, obtain 

the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

68. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever 

Respondents may be found and Respondents may not contest that court's 

personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

69. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 
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accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

70. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, their Boards. officers, or employees to 

violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

I)""" 
IT IS SO ORDERED, this _,,,_ day of October, 201 

'/ 
Mick ulvaney 
Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Settles With Bluestem

Companies Substantially Delayed Transfers of Customers’ 

Payments to Debt Buyers

OCT 04, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) and 

Bluestem Brands, Inc.; Bluestem Enterprises, Inc.; and Bluestem Sales, Inc. (the 

Bluestem companies), have filed an administrative consent order resolving the 

Bureau’s allegations that after consumers made payments to the Bluestem 

companies on debts that the companies had already sold, the Bluestem companies 

substantially delayed sending those payments to the third-party debt buyers.

In the consent order, the Bureau found that the Bluestem companies violated the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 by unfairly delaying the transfer of 

payments that customers had made to the Bluestem companies on charged-off 

accounts to the third-party debt buyers who had purchased those accounts. The 

Bureau found that between 2013 and 2016, Bluestem delayed forwarding 

payments for more than 31 days in 18,000 instances; in 3,500 of those instances, 

Bluestem delayed forwarding payments for more than a year. These delays likely 

subjected customers to misleading collection activity, including collection activity 

on accounts that they had completely paid off.

The consent order filed today requires the Bluestem companies to improve their 

processes to timely identify and forward customer payments on accounts that they 

have sold to third-party debt buyers. The companies must also improve their 

processes to prevent consumers from making payments by phone or on the 

companies’ websites on sold accounts. And they must notify customers who do 

make payments to the Bluestem companies, for example by mailed check, on sold 

accounts that their accounts have been sold. The Bluestem companies will also pay 

a civil money penalty of $200,000.



The Bluestem companies are headquartered in Eden Prairie, Minnesota, and do 

business throughout the United States under the names Fingerhut and 

Gettington.com.

A copy of the consent order filed today is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_bluestem-brands-inc_consent-

order_2018-10.pdf

###

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2018-BCFP-0007

In the Matter of: 

CASH EXPRESS, LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection ("Bureau") has reviewed the debt

collection and check-cashing practices of Cash Express, LLC ("Cash Express" or "Respondent") 

and has identified violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 ("CFPA"), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(l)(B). Under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, 

the Bureau issues this Consent Order. 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

I. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ I 053 and I 055 of the CFPA, 12 

u.s.c. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order," 

dated October 12, 2018 ("Stipulation"), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted 

by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this 

Consent Order by the Bureau under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, and without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over 

Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumer" means any consumer who, between January I, 2013 and the 

Effective Date, made a payment or payments to Respondent within 90 days after 

receipt of a collection letter seeking to collect Time-Barred Debt (as defined below). 

b. "Managers" means the managers of Respondent's limited liability company. 

c. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on 

the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be of a type size and 
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location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on which it 

appears; 

11. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio 

or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a volume and cadence 

sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form consistent with 

subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a duration sufficient for an 

ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, 

online services, and software, the disclosure must be unavoidable and 

presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); 

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the disclosure 

must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and visual portions of the 

communication; and 

vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer incurs 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used 

in any communication with the consumer. 

d. "Consumer Reporting Agency" or "CRA" refers to a consumer reporting agency as 

defined by 15 U .S.C. § 1681 a( f). 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 
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f. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for the 

Office of Supervision Examinations for the Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection, or his or her delegate. Communications to the Regional Director should 

be made via email to Karyn Mysliwiec, Assistant Regional Director, Southeast 

Region (karyn.mysliwiec@cfpb.gov). 

g. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought against 

Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section IV of this 

Consent Order. 

h. "Relevant Period" includes the period from January I, 2013 to the Effective Date. 

1. "Respondent" means Cash Express and its successors and assigns. 

j. "Set-off' is Respondent's act or practice of subtracting and retaining proceeds from a 

check presented by a consumer during a check-cashing transaction in order to pay a 

debt the consumer owes Respondent, from an unrelated transaction, such as from a 

prior loan. 

k. "Time-Barred Debt" means debt as to which the applicable statute of limitations had 

elapsed. 
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IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Cash Express is a Tennessee limited liability company with a principal place of business in 

Cookeville, Tennessee. Respondent offers, provides, and collects on loans to consumers, 

including high-cost, short-term loans, such as payday and title loans. It also offers and 

provides check-cashing services to consumers. 

5. First Cash Express, LLC was an affiliate of Cash Express, LLC and operated in Alabama 

through April I, 2016. First Cash Express, LLC engaged in the conduct set forth in this 

Consent Order. 

6. Respondent owns and operates approximately 328 retail lending outlets and offers loans and 

check cashing services to consumers in four states: Tennessee (since 1998), Kentucky (since 

1999), Alabama (since 2005), and Mississippi (since 2012). 

7. The loans and check-cashing services that Respondent provides are "consumer financial 

product[s] or service[s)" under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), ( I 5)(A)(i), (I S)(A)(x). 

8. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Threats to Sue on Time-Barred Debt 

9. When consumers defaulted on loans they owed to Respondent, Respondent mailed a series 

of collections letters to those consumers. Some of the consumers to whom Respondent 

mailed these letters were consumers with Time-Barred Debt-debts that were past the 

relevant statute of limitations. 

10. Until April 2016, Cash Express employees mailed over 19,000 collection letters to 11,315 

consumers who owed Time-Barred Debt. 

11. The vast majority of these 19,000 collection letters threatened, directly or implicitly, to take 
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legal action against the consumers in court if the consumers did not pay their past due 

amount. 

12. In many instances, Respondent's letters attached draft court documents and provided 

deadlines by which consumers had to respond to avoid the potential filing of a lawsuit on 

the debt. 

13. In fact, at the time these collection letters were sent, the relevant states' limitations periods 

for enforcing such debts in court had expired. 

14. Cash Express only rarely brought suit against consumers over Time-Barred Debt. 

Specifically, during the Relevant Period, Cash Express sued only 5 consumers out of more 

than I I ,000 to whom it sent letters attempting to collect on Time-Barred Debt. In contrast, 

Cash Express sued consumers on non-Time-Barred Debt far more frequently- in thousands 

of instances annually. 

15. Through its collection letters, Respondent represented to consumers with Time-Barred Debt, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that if the consumers did not make a 

payment, Respondent would take action against them. 

16. In fact, it was not Respondent's practice to file lawsuits against consumers with Time

Barred Debt to collect past-due amounts. 

17. These representations were material to consumers with Time-Barred Debt because they 

would reasonably affect their decisions, specifically by encouraging them to pay their debts 

to Cash Express in an effort to avoid being sued. More than 150 consumers with Time

Barred Debt who received the letters threatening legal action subsequently made payments 

to Respondent within 90 days of receiving the letter. These payments totaled approximately 

$32,0 I 2.33. Cash Express provided refunds to consumers of approximately $19,000 in 
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September 20 l 7, for payments made within 30 days of receipt of a letter to recover Time

Barred Debt. 

18. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraphs 9- 14, constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of§§ I 031 (a) and I 036(a)(I )(8) of the CFPA, J 2 U.S.C. §§ 

5531 (a), 5536(a)( I )(8). 

19. Respondent ceased mailing collection letters to consumers with Time-Barred Debt in April 

2016. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Representations that Respondent Furnishes 
Information to Consumer Reporting Agencies 

20. Until at least September 2015, in consumer loan applications, privacy policy disclosures, 

collection letters, and loan agreements, Respondent represented that Respondent may furnish 

information about borrowers to CRAs. 

21. For example, Cash Express's loan application contained bolded language stating, "Notice of 

Furnishing Negative Information," informing applicants that "We may report information 

about your account to credit bureaus. Late payments, missed payments, or other defaults on 

your account may be reflected in your credit report." The application also contained a 

provision titled "Credit Inquiries and Reporting Authorization," stating, "You authorize us to 

obtain information from any third-party database agencies and companies, for credit 

evaluation purposes, and you also authorize the reporting of this credit application and credit 

history to any and all of these credit bureaus and other reporting agencies and companies." 

The privacy policy disclosure addendum to the application also stated that Cash Express may 

share information with credit bureaus. Finally, many of Cash Express's collection letters 

contained an endnote indicating that Cash Express may furnish consumers' information to 

CRAs, stating: "We may report information about your account to credit 
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bureaus. Late payments, missed payments, or other defaults on your account may be 

reflected in your credit report." 

22. In fact, Respondent did not furnish information to CRAs during the Relevant Period. 

23. Respondent's statements were likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances into believing that Respondent would report consumers' late payments to 

CRAs. The representations were material to consumers because such reporting can 

negatively affect consumers' ability to obtain credit and may also affect the ability of 

consumers to obtain insurance, employment, or housing. As a result, such representations 

may cause consumers to pay debts to Respondent to avoid negative credit reporting. 

24. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraphs 20-22, constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of§§ l 031 (a) and I 036(a)( I )(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 (a), 5536(a)( 1 )(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Abusive Exercise of Set-Off 

25. Until at least February 2016, whenever consumers visited Respondent's stores for check-

cashing services, Respondent instructed employees to determine whether the consumers 

owed money to Respondent, for example from a previous loan. If consumers did owe money 

from previous loans, Respondent's employees were required to exercise Set-off, by keeping 

some or all of the check proceeds to satisfy consumers' outstanding debt. 

26. Respondent's application and deferred presentment and signature agreements contained 

disclosures that Respondent may exercise Set-off. Consumers signed an acknowledgment in 

Respondent's application that they had received these disclosures. However, Respondent 

instructed employees not to disclose, at any time during the check-cashing transaction, that 

Cash Express would deduct any previously owed amounts from the consumer's check 

proceeds. In some cases, Set-off occurred months or years after the consumer acknowledged 
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receipt of Respondent's Set-off disclosures. 

27. A training document for one of the Respondent's regions reflecting Respondent's policy 

stated, "First of all, don't tell the customer, I see you owe a debt from years ago and when I 

cash this check I have to take out what you owe because they will leave and not cash the 

check with you!" 

28. The training document also instructed employees not to leave the check in a place where it 

could be retrieved by the consumer, stating, for example, "Make sure that you don't leave 

the check on the counter where the customer can get it back." 

29. After Respondent subtracted the amount owed from the check proceeds and posted the 

payment to the previous loan, the employee then provided two receipts, one for the payment 

on the debt and one for the check and explained what had occurred. 

30. At least one Cash Express employee was verbally reprimanded when it was discovered she 

had informed a consumer about an imminent Set-off. 

31. Some consumers became very upset when they realized that Respondent exercised Set-off 

against the proceeds of their checks. 

32. Once the consumer provided the check to the employee, Respondent's procedures 

perpetuated the consumer's lack of understanding of the risks, costs, and conditions of the 

transaction until the transaction was complete. 

33. Check-cashing consumers may not have selected Respondent to cash their checks if they 

had been informed at the point of the check-cashing transaction of the possibility of Set-off. 

34. Respondent's practice was dependent on consumers lacking the understanding that 

Respondent would use check proceeds to satisfy consumers' debts from unrelated 

transactions. 

9 

2018-BCFP-0007     Document 1     Filed 10/24/2018     Page 9 of 24



35. Respondent took unreasonable advantage of the consumers' lack of understanding that 

Respondent would withhold a portion, or the entire amount, of the checks the consumers 

intended to cash. Respondent capitalized on this misunderstanding by making sure that 

employees physically kept the check away from the consumer until the transactions (the 

check-cashing transaction and the debt-payment transaction) were complete. This practice 

nullified Respondent's Set-off disclosures. Accordingly, the manner in which Respondent 

conducted Set-off effectively denied consumers the ability to make informed decisions, and 

weigh the risks, costs, and conditions of the service when deciding whether to cash their 

check with Respondent. 

36. In their exercise of Set-off, Respondent took unreasonable advantage of the lack of 

understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the 

product or service. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 (d)(2)(A), 5536(a)( l )(8). 

37. Respondent ceased practicing Set-off in January 2016. 

38. Respondent's acts and practices, as described in Paragraphs 25-31, thus constitute abusive 

acts and practices in violation of§§ 1031 (d)(2)(A) and 1036(a)( I )(8) of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 (d)(2)(A), 5536(a)( l )(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under§§ t 053 and t 055 of the CFPA, that: 

39. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual ' 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not deduct debt 

payments from consumers' checks tendered for cashing unless, at the time of the check 
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cashing transaction, Respondent clearly and prominently disclose to the consumer the 

request for a debt payment and the consumer affirmatively consents to the debt payment in 

writing before the transaction is completed. 

40. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with the 

offering of loans or the collection of any debt, may not misrepresent, or assist others in 

misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

a. That Respondent does or may furnish information to Consumer Reporting Agencies 

unless it actually does regularly furnish; and 

b. That Respondent intends or is likely to take legal action or file a lawsuit to collect 

debt from a consumer when that debt is past the applicable statute of limitations. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for review and determination of non

objection, a comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's offering 

of loans, debt collection, and check-cashing complies with all applicable laws the Bureau 

enforces and the terms of this Consent Order ("Compliance Plan"). The Compliance Plan 

will, at a minimum: 

a. Include detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 

b. Include specific time frames and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

42. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to 
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the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs 

the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days. 

43. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non

objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Managers 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. The Managers, or an appropriate committee thereof, must review all submissions required 

by this Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau. 

45. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Managers will have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for ensuring that 

Respondent comply with Federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

46. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Managers to ensure adherence to or 

perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Managers, or an appropriate committee 

thereof, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with this 

Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Managers on the status of compliance 

obligations; and 
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c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non

compliance with any failures to comply with Managers directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Within IO days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a segregated 

deposit account $32,012.33, for the purpose of providing redress to Affected Consumers as 

required by this Section. For any refund previously made, Respondent must provide the 

Bureau with documentation reflecting the refund. Should the total amount of redress be less 

than $32,012.33 under an approved Redress Plan due to a refund previously made, 

Respondent may release such excess funds from the segregated deposit account. 

48. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director for 

review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress consistent 

with this Consent Order ("Redress Plan"). The Regional Director will have the discretion to 

make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to 

revise it. If the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent 

must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 15 

days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of 

non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

49. The Redress Plan will, at a minimum: 
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a. Provide that Respondent will pay all costs of administering redress as required by this 

Section. 

b. Include a detailed description of the methodology used to determine the population of 

Affected Consumers and the appropriate redress for each Affected Consumer and of 

the procedures to issue and track redress payments. 

c. Include the forms of the letters ("Notification Letters") to be sent notifying 

consumers of the redress described in Paragraph 48, the form of the envelope that 

will contain the Notification Letters, and a description of the process of sending the 

Notification Letters to consumers, which must include the following: 

i. Respondent must send the Notification Letters by United States Postal 

Service first-class mail, address correction service requested, to the 

consumer's last address as maintained in Respondent's records. 

ii. Respondent must mail a redress check with the Notification Letter and 

include language explaining how the amount of the redress payment to the 

consumer was calculated; a statement that the provision of the redress 

payment is in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order; and a 

statement that accepting the redress payment will not subject the consumer 

to any new debt collection or credit reporting activities for that debt. 

iii. Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a Notification 

Letter any materials other than the approved letter, required notices, and, if 

applicable, redress checks. 

d. Require Respondent to make reasonable attempts to obtain a current address for any 

consumer whose Notification Letter is returned for any reason, using at least the 
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National Change of Address System, and to promptly re-mail all returned letters to 

current addresses. [fa redress check for any consumer is returned to Respondent after 

such second mailing or a current mailing address cannot be identified using the 

National Change of Address System or other means, Respondent must retain the 

redress amount of such consumer for a period of 180 days from the date the check 

was originally mailed, during which period such amount may be claimed by such 

consumer upon appropriate proof of identity. 

e. After completing the Redress Plan, if the total amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $32,0 I 2.33, then, within 30 days of completion of the Redress 

Plan, Respondent must pay by wire transfer to the Bureau or the Bureau's agent, and 

according to the Bureau's wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of 

redress provided to Affected Consumers and $32,012.33. 

f. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress is 

wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after 

the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in 

the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any 

actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

g. Respondent must not condition any redress to any consumer under this Consent 

Order on that person's agreement to any condition, such as the waiver of any right. 

IS 

2018-BCFP-0007     Document 1     Filed 10/24/2018     Page 15 of 24



IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Under§ I 055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of law 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 

U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $200,000 to the Bureau. 

5 I. Within IO days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the Bureau's wiring 

instructions. 

52. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil Penalty 

Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

53. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a penalty 

paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those 

funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

54. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer Action, 

Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent benefit by, 

any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the Related 

Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action. If the court in any 
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Related Consumer Action offsets or otherwise reduces the amount of compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed against Respondent based on the civil money penalty paid in 

this action or based on any payment that the Bureau makes from the Civil Penalty Fund, 

Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting such offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the offset or reduction to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

55. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under this Consent 

Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, will accrue on any outstanding amounts 

not paid from the date of default to the date of payment and will immediately become due 

and payable. 

56. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the fullest 

extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent. 

57. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting and 

reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

58. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of 
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redress, if any, that Respondent paid or are required to pay to consumers and describe the 

consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a successor 

company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any 

acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. 

Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case, no later than 14 days after the development. 

60. Within 90 days of receiving notice of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again one 

year after receiving notice of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 

submit to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance progress report 

("Compliance Report") that has been approved by the Managers, which, at a minimum: 

a. Lists each applicable paragraph and subparagraph of the Order and describes in 

detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with each such 

paragraph and subparagraph of this Consent Order; 

b. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

the Redress Plan; and 
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c. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

61. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to each of its Managers and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

service providers, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of this Consent Order. 

62. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent Order 

to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in Section XI, any 

future Managers members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, 

service providers, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related 

to the subject matter of this Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

63. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy of 

this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the requirements of 

the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001- 7006, within 30 days of delivery, from all persons 

receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XIII 

Record keeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

64. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for the duration of this Consent 

Order, the following business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in Section

VIII above.

65. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 63 available to the Bureau

upon the Bureau's request.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

XIV 

Notices 

66. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent Order 

in writing, with the subject line, "In re Cash Express, Inc., File No. 2018-BCFP-0007," and 

send them by overnight courier or first-class mail to the below address and 

contemporaneously by email to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

James Carley 
Regional Director, Southeast Region 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

xv 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and location of,

and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. Respondent must provide
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such information in their or their agents' possession or control within 14 days of receiving a 

written request from the Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

68. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional Compliance Reports or other requested non-privileged information, related to 

requirements of this Consent Order, which must be made under penalty of perjury; 

provide sworn testimony related to requirements of this Consent Order and 

Respondent's compliance with those requirements; or produce non-privileged 

documents related to requirements of this Consent Order and Respondent' s compliance 

with those requirements. 

69. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview about the requirements of 

this Consent Order and Respondent's compliance with those requirements any employee 

or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

70. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § I 080.6 or other compulsory process. 
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XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

71. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent Order 

(e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by submitting a 

written request to the Regional Director. 

72. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material requirements of 

this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

73. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or 

any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, except as 

described in Paragraph 75. 

74. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law violations 

that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in Section IV of 

this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective Date and the 

Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices 

described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. 

This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure 
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compliance with this Consent Order, or to seek penalties for any violations of this Consent 

Order. 

75. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order issued 

under§ I 053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, and may not be 

construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

76. Duration of the Order: This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date. 

The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the 

extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or 

terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

77. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted. 

78. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are subject to 

this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the written agreement of 

the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

79. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any violation of 

this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil money penalties 

allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In connection with any attempt 

by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve 

Respondent wherever Respondent may be found, and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

80. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties other 

than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This 
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Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written 

communications, discussions, or understandings. 

81. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, their Managers, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

~ 
IT IS SO ORDERED, this»- day of October 2018. 

~ 
ulvaney 

Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 

24 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Settles with Cash Express

Cash Express Made Misleading Representations to 

Consumers and Improperly Seized Money From Check-
Cashing Transactions

OCT 24, 2018 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) today 

announced a settlement with Cash Express, LLC, a small-dollar lender based in 

Cookeville, Tenn., that offers high-cost, short-term loans, such as payday and title 

loans, as well as check-cashing services. Cash Express owns and operates 

approximately 328 retail lending outlets in four states: Tennessee, Kentucky, 

Alabama, and Mississippi. 

As described in the consent order, the Bureau found that Cash Express violated the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA) by deceptively threatening in collection 

letters that it would take legal action against consumers, even though the debts 

were past the date for suing on legal claims, and it was not Cash Express’s practice 

to file lawsuits against these consumers. The Bureau also found that Cash Express 

violated the CFPA by misrepresenting that it might report negative credit 

information to consumer reporting agencies for late or missed payments, when the 

company did not actually report this information.

The Bureau also found that Cash Express violated the CFPA by abusively 

withholding funds during check-cashing transactions to satisfy outstanding amounts 

on prior loans, without disclosing this practice to the consumer during the initiation 

of the transaction.

Under the terms of the consent order, Cash Express and its subsidiaries are barred 

from automatically taking money from check-cashing transactions unless certain 

conditions are met. Cash Express is further barred from making misrepresentations 



about its consumer reporting activities and its intention or likelihood of filing suit to 

collect a debt.

The order requires Cash Express to pay approximately $32,000 in restitution to 

consumers, and pay a $200,000 civil money penalty.

A copy of the consent order is available at: 

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_cash-express-llc_consent-

order_2018-10.pdf

###

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the 

content, please contact the press office. 

Go to press resources page 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BUREAU OF CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2018-BCFP-0008 

In the Matter of:   CONSENT ORDER 

SANTANDER CONSUMER USA INC. 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) has reviewed certain 

lending and marketing practices of Santander Consumer USA Inc. (Respondent, as 

defined below) and has identified the following law violations: (1) Respondent engaged 

in deceptive acts or practices in marketing its S-GUARD GAP add-on product, in 

violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; and (2) Respondent misrepresented to consumers the 

impact of receiving a loan extension, including by obscuring that the additional interest 

accrued during the extension period would be paid before any payments to principal 

when the consumer resumed making payments, in violation of sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order.
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I 

Jurisdiction 

 
1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565.  

II 

Stipulation 

 
2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a 

Consent Order,” dated November 5, 2018, (Stipulation), which is incorporated 

by reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction 

over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 
 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumer” means a GAP Consumer who continued to have an 

outstanding balance on his or her auto loan after the application of S-GUARD 

GAP proceeds because, at the time of purchase, the amount of the consumer’s 

loan exceeded 125% of the vehicle’s value. 

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. “Clearly and Prominently” means:  
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i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary 

consumer to read and comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the 

background on which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume and cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and 

comprehend it; 

iii. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); 

and 

iv. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, in an understandable language and 

syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in 

mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication with the 

consumer. 

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

e. “Extension” means an extension of the maturity date on a consumer’s auto 

loan, through which Respondent modifies the consumer’s loan status from 

“delinquent” to “current,” and restarts the time period that would otherwise 

be running toward default. 
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f. “Extension Consumer” means a consumer who entered into an Extension 

with Respondent.  

g. “Extension Relevant Period” includes the period from July 21, 2011 to the 

date of this Consent Order. 

h. “GAP Consumer” means a consumer who purchased S-GUARD GAP. 

i. “GAP Relevant Period” includes the period from April 1, 2012 to June 1, 2017. 

j. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, or 

his or her delegate. 

k. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

l. “Respondent” means Santander Consumer USA Inc., including when doing 

business as Chrysler Capital or RoadLoans.com, and its successors and 

assigns. 

m. “S-GUARD GAP” means the optional financial product that Respondent 

offered to consumers in connection with auto loans, which purported to “fill 

the gap” between the primary insurance payout and the outstanding amount 

of the auto loan in the event that the vehicle is a total loss, and any similar 

guaranteed-asset-protection product offered by Respondent under any name. 
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IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a non-depository consumer financial services company 

headquartered in Dallas, Texas.  

5. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Misrepresentations 
Regarding S-GUARD GAP 

6. During the GAP Relevant Period, Respondent marketed S-GUARD GAP as a 

means to cover the “gap” between a consumer’s primary auto insurance payout 

and the consumer’s outstanding auto loan balance in the event that a consumer 

suffered a total loss of his or her vehicle. 

7. Respondent marketed S-GUARD GAP through telemarketing, print, and 

electronic media. 

8. Respondent used the following language to market S-GUARD GAP: “Today 

comprehensive and liability insurance combined still don’t provide true full 

coverage. You have to fill the GAP.”  

9. Respondent also used the following language to market S-GUARD GAP: “Your 

auto insurance may be inadequate to protect you financially in case of a total 

loss through accident or theft. If your loan balance is greater than the current 

cash value of your car, GAP (Guaranteed Asset Protection) can be a great way to 

protect you. Your insurance payout could end here. GAP takes care of the rest.” 

10. Respondent’s S-GUARD GAP was actually subject to a loan-to-value (LTV) 

limitation of 125%. If, at the time of purchase, the consumer’s loan exceeded 

125% of the vehicle’s value—a value determined by the smallest of three 
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potential values—Respondent would exclude that difference from any S-

GUARD GAP proceeds. 

11. In those situations, Respondent’s S-GUARD GAP may not cover the consumer’s 

outstanding auto loan balance in the event that a consumer suffered a total loss 

of his or her vehicle and the consumer’s primary auto insurance was 

insufficient to cover the entire outstanding loan balance. 

12. Respondent did not inform GAP Consumers at any time whether the LTV 

limitation applied to them. 

13. Beginning at least April 1, 2012, Respondent sold S-GUARD GAP to 

approximately 44,180 consumers with LTVs above 125% at the time of the 

vehicle purchase. 

14. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

15. As described in Paragraphs 6 through 13, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sale of S-GUARD GAP, in numerous 

instances, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that S-GUARD 

GAP would provide “true full coverage” by waiving the full amount left 

outstanding on a consumer’s loan after the primary auto insurance policy paid 

out. 

16. In fact, S-GUARD GAP was subject to an LTV limitation of 125%. As a result, 

consumers who purchased S-GUARD GAP for a loan that had an LTV greater 

than 125% would not receive the “true full coverage” Respondent advertised.  
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17. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 15, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Misrepresentations 
Regarding Extensions 

18. During the Extension Relevant Period, Respondent offered Extensions through 

outbound telephone calls to consumers who had missed at least one payment 

on their auto loans. These outbound telephone calls were conducted by 

customer call representatives, whom Respondent directed to adhere to scripts 

that Respondent developed. 

19. Respondent’s scripts directed customer call representatives explaining the 

terms of Extensions to consumers to tell consumers that the loan maturity date 

would be extended and that “interest would continue to accrue.” 

20. Respondent’s scripts further instructed call representatives that an Extension 

“mov[es] one or more monthly payments to the end of the loan.” Respondent’s 

customer call representatives then told consumers that the missed payments 

would be “moved to the end of the loan.” 

21. In Respondent’s written Deferment and Extension Agreements provided to 

certain consumers, Respondent stated that it will “extend the maturity date of 

[the consumer’s] Contract for the same number of months” as the months that 

Respondent extended the loan. In fact, the Extension Consumers would have to 

continue to pay back their loans beyond the number of months extended due to 

the interest accrued on the principal during the extension period. 
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22. Respondent’s customer call representatives did not disclose how principal and 

interest would be allocated in payments following the extension period. 

Respondent’s customer call representatives told consumers that payments, 

once resumed at the end of the extension period, would remain the same as 

before. 

23. Respondent’s scripts for offering Extensions stated that “interest would 

continue to accrue,” but Respondent failed to explain to consumers when that 

interest would be paid or that the interest accrued during the extension period 

would have to be paid off in full before the consumer would be able to pay down 

any principal, resulting in slower principal reduction and more interest paid, 

even if the consumer made timely payments, over the life of the loan. 

24. Respondent’s customer call representatives did not disclose to Extension 

Consumers before enrollment the additional amount of interest that consumers 

would have to pay over the life of the loan by entering into Extensions. 

25. Respondent’s call representatives told consumers that interest continued to 

accrue during the Extension and that the loan maturity date would be 

extended, which likely created the misimpression that the interest would not be 

paid immediately upon a consumer’s next scheduled payment. In fact, the next 

payment the consumer made would first be applied to the interest accrued on 

the unpaid amount financed from the date Respondent last received a payment 

from the consumer. 

26. During the Extension Relevant Period, Respondent has enrolled consumers 

into more than 2.3 million Extensions.  
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27. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).  

28. As described in Paragraphs 18 through 26, in connection with the advertising, 

marketing, promoting, or offering of Extensions, in numerous instances, 

Respondent represented expressly or impliedly that the extended payment 

(including interest accrued during the extension period) would be added to the 

end of the consumer’s loan, and that the repayment period would be extended 

for the same number of months for which the Extension Consumers entered 

into an Extension. 

29. In fact, the interest that accrued during a consumer’s Extension would be paid 

immediately after the Extension ended upon a consumer’s next scheduled 

payment, and Extension Consumers would have to continue to repay their 

loans for a greater number of months than the duration of the extension period. 

30. Thus, Respondent’s representations, as described in Paragraph 28, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B).  

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

31. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 
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sale, or performance of any consumer financial product or service, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

a. The benefits available to consumers through S-GUARD GAP; 

b. The limitations associated with S-GUARD GAP; 

c. The manner in which Extensions affect the payments otherwise due during 

the extension period to the end of the loan; 

d. The effects of entering into an Extension on the allocation of principal and 

interest for loan payments following the extension period; or 

e. Any other fact material to consumers concerning Extensions and S-GUARD 

GAP, such as: the total costs, and any restrictions, limitations, or conditions 

32. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Clearly and Prominently disclose during enrollment calls, on its Extension 

authorization forms, and on Extension confirmation letters the following 

material terms of an Extension: the effect of an Extension on a consumer’s 

loan maturity date, the application of payments between interest and 

principal when the consumer resumes making payments, that the interest 

accrued during the extension period will be paid before any payments to 

principal when the consumer resumes making payments, and that the 

Extension may delay repayment of principal, resulting in additional interest 

accruing over the life of the loan than if the consumer had not entered the 

Extension. Respondent shall not be required to disclose the additional 
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amount of interest that a consumer would have to pay over the life of the loan 

by entering into the Extension; 

b. Clearly and Prominently disclose in writing the material terms of S-GUARD 

GAP before the consumer agrees to enroll, including any LTV limitations and 

whether any LTV limitation applies to the consumer; and 

c. For consumers who purchased or enrolled in S-GUARD GAP during the GAP 

Relevant Period, Respondent must cease applying any limitation associated 

with the consumer’s LTV ratio to S-GUARD GAP claims.  

VI 

Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

33. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s marketing, offering and 

providing of Extensions and S-GUARD GAP comply with the CFPA’s 

prohibition on deceptive acts or practices, and the terms of this Consent Order 

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order;  

b. Templates of all new or revised forms and marketing materials for S-GUARD 

GAP that Respondent seeks to send to consumers to comply with the terms of 

this Consent Order; 

c. Templates of all new or revised Extension authorization forms and Extension 

confirmation letters that Respondent seeks to send to consumers to comply 

with the terms of this Consent Order; 
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d. Detailed steps to enhance and strengthen Respondent’s compliance 

management systems relating to the marketing, offering and providing of S-

GUARD GAP and Extensions; 

e. Detailed steps to enhance and strengthen Respondent’s training and oversight 

of all agents, employees, and service providers involved in marketing, 

offering, and providing S-GUARD GAP and in offering Extensions to ensure 

that the terms of S-GUARD GAP and of Extensions are communicated Clearly 

and Prominently to consumers; and 

f. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

34. To the extent Respondent no longer offers or provides S-GUARD GAP and/or 

Extensions, Respondent is not required to submit a Compliance Plan regarding 

such product or service; provided, however, that if Respondent elects to again 

offer the product or service while this Consent Order is in effect, it must submit 

to the Regional Director notice of its intention to do so at least 30 days prior to 

offering or providing that product or service.  

35. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 15 days. 

36. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 
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implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

37. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, the Board (or a relevant committee 

thereof) must approve a written unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or practices 

risk management program (Risk Management Program) for any consumer 

financial products or services related to auto loan origination or servicing 

offered by Respondent or through service providers, to prevent violations of 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 

38. Respondent’s internal audit department must conduct an annual assessment of 

Respondent’s compliance with the Risk Management Program and the findings 

must be memorialized in writing. Within 10 days of completing each 

assessment, Respondent’s internal audit department must provide its written 

findings to Respondent’s Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 

39. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must develop training 

materials sufficient to implement the Risk Management Program, and 

incorporate the new training materials into the existing annual compliance 

training for appropriate employees. 

40. The Board must ensure that there is oversight of the Risk Management 

Program required by this Section by Respondent’s senior risk managers and 

senior management. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. The Board (or a relevant committee thereof) must review all submissions 

(including plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this 

Consent Order prior to submission to the Bureau.  

42. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent 

and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial 

law and this Consent Order. 

43. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to, or to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with this Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 
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VIII 

Order to Pay Restitution 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $1,980,873, for the purpose of providing restitution 

paid by check as described in paragraph 46 to Affected Consumers as required 

by this Section.  

45. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing restitution consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make 

the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 15 

days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

46. The Redress Plan must: 

a. Require Respondent to provide restitution to the approximately 3,493 

accounts of Affected Consumers, estimated to be $1,980,873 in payments by 

check and $7,312,953 in statement credits, as follows: 

a. For each Affected Consumer with a closed or open account with a zero 

balance who paid off his or her balance(s) after a total loss, a certified 
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or bank check to each Affected Consumer equal to the total amount the 

Affected Consumer paid to Respondent after the total loss, estimated to 

be $1,356,841; 

b. For each Affected Consumer with a closed or open account with an 

outstanding balance (where Respondent has not charged off such 

Affected Consumer’s account), and who made partial payments 

towards his or her balance(s) after a total loss, (a) a certified or bank 

check to the Affected Consumer equal to the total amount the Affected 

Consumer paid to Respondent after the total loss, estimated to be 

$216,091, and (b) a statement credit reducing any outstanding balance 

to zero, estimated to be $1,267,935 in statement credits. For each 

Affected Consumer’s account that Respondent has sold, Respondent 

must take steps to reacquire the account and apply a statement credit 

reducing the balance to zero; if Respondent is unable to reacquire the 

account, Respondent must provide restitution as provided in the 

Redress Plan; 

c. For each Affected Consumer with a closed or open account (where 

Respondent has charged off such Affected Consumer’s account), (a) a 

certified or bank check to the Affected Consumer equal to the total 

amount paid by the Affected Consumer on the account after the date of 

the total loss, estimated to be $407,941, and (b) a statement credit 

reducing any outstanding balance to zero, estimated to be $6,045,018 

in statement credits. For each Affected Consumer’s account that 

Respondent has sold, Respondent must take steps to reacquire the 
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account and apply a statement credit reducing the balance to zero; if 

Respondent is unable to reacquire the account, Respondent must 

provide restitution as provided in the Redress Plan; and 

d. For all Affected Consumers, Respondent shall correct any information 

furnished to any consumer reporting agency to show the Affected 

Consumer’s account as paid in full or closed with zero balance as of the 

date of Respondent’s S-GUARD GAP payment. 

b. Specify that Respondent must attempt to acquire from securitization trusts 

each Affected Consumer’s account for purposes of applying statement credits, 

and that in the event that Respondent is unable to acquire an account, 

Respondent must provide $100 in the form of a certified or bank check to the 

Affected Consumer in lieu of a statement credit. 

c. Describe the methodology used to determine the population of Affected 

Consumers; 

d. Describe the processes for issuing, delivering, and tracking payments to all 

Affected Consumers, including processes for handling any unclaimed funds; 

e. Describe the process for applying statement credits to reduce outstanding 

balances; 

f. Describe the process for reacquiring accounts sold or transferred to third 

parties, applying statement credits to reduce outstanding balances on those 

reacquired accounts, and the process for providing compensation in lieu of 

restitution to any Affected Consumers whose accounts Respondent is unable 

to reacquire; 

g. Describe the process for providing restitution for accounts in bankruptcy; 
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h. Describe the process for correcting information furnished to consumer 

reporting agencies consistent with Paragraph 46(a)(iv), including how 

Respondent will correct trade lines for accounts subsequently sold or 

transferred to third-parties; 

i. Describe the procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan;  

j. Include the form of the letter (Notification Letter) to be sent notifying 

Affected Consumers of the restitution, which must include language 

explaining the manner in which the amount of restitution was calculated and 

a statement that the provision of the payment or statement credit is in 

accordance with the terms of this Consent Order;  

k. Include the form of the envelope that will contain the Notification Letter; 

l. Provide that Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letter and check, 

unless Respondent has obtained written confirmation from the Regional 

Director that the Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such additional 

materials; and 

m. Provide that Respondent must make reasonable attempts to obtain a current 

address for any Affected Consumer whose Notification Letter is returned for 

any reason, using the National Change of Address System, and requiring 

Respondent to promptly re-mail all returned letters to current addresses, if 

any. 

47. Respondent may not condition the payment of any restitution to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer’s waiving any 

right. 
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48. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of restitution provided by 

check to Affected Consumers is less than $1,980,873, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire 

transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of restitution provided 

by check to Affected Consumers and $1,980,873. 

49. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to 

Affected Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that 

additional redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise 

inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress is completed, the 

Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. 

Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its 

representatives may take under this Section. 

50. Within 90 days of the completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must submit 

to the Regional Director a report tracking Respondent’s efforts to execute the 

Redress Plan, including identifying: 

a. the population of Affected Consumers; 

b. the amount and method of restitution to each Affected Consumer; 

c. the status and amount of balances for Affected Consumers, including for 

accounts Respondent reacquired from third parties; 

d. the status of payments or statement credits to each Affected Consumer; and 

e. the amount and planned disposition of all unclaimed payments.  
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IX 

Order to Pay a Civil Money Penalty 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil 

money penalty of $2,500,000 to the Bureau. 

52. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

53. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

54. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 
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X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

55. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, 

will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the 

date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

56. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

57. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for 

purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of 

this Consent Order.  

58. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 
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XI 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

59. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to 

this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

60. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, or a relevant committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and  

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of this 

Consent Order. 

63. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI, to any future Board members and executive officers, 

as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of 

this Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities.  

64. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 

days of delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under 

this Section.  
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XIII 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

65. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VIII above; 

c. Copies of all sales scripts, training materials, advertisements, websites, and 

other marketing materials relating to the subject of this Consent Order, 

including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of Respondent; 

d. Documents sufficient to demonstrate the experience of consumers on each 

materially different version of each website on which Respondent, whether 

acting directly or through any sole proprietorship, partnership, limited 

liability company, corporation, subsidiary, branch, division, affiliate, or other 

entity, advertises, promotes, markets, offers for sale, sells, or provides 

Extensions or S-GUARD GAP; and 

e. For each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment in S-

GUARD GAP, to the extent the information is within Respondent’s custody or 

control as of the Effective Date or Respondent obtains the information under 

Paragraph 46(m): the consumer’s name, address, phone number, and email 

address; amount paid; and the date on which S-GUARD GAP was purchased. 
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66. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 65 for the

duration of the Consent Order.

67. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 65 available to

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide 

all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Santander Consumer 

USA Inc., 2018-BCFP-0008,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Northeast Region  
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection  
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017; with an additional copy to 

Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20552; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov and any other email address as directed

in writing by the Bureau:

Regional Director, Northeast Region  
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection  
140 East 45th Street, 4th Floor 
New York, NY 10017; with an additional copy to 

Director for Enforcement 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
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1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20552.  

 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

69. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

70. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must: submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

related to requirements of this Consent Order, which must be made under 

penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony related to requirements of this 

Consent Order and Respondent’s compliance with those requirements; or 

produce documents related to requirements of this consent order and 

Respondent’s compliance with those requirements.  

71. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview about the 

requirements of this Consent Order and Respondent’s compliance with those 
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requirements any employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has 

agreed to such an interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

72. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

74. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, grant reasonable 

extensions of time or otherwise modify non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order if he or she determines good cause justifies the modification. 

Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

 
75. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 76. 

76. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the 

practices described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such 

practices occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them 
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as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this 

Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its 

affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect 

any right of the Bureau to ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

77. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the 

Bureau or the United States. 

78. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date. The Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent 

that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

79. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

80. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or substantially all of its 

operations that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a 

condition of sale, obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to 

comply with all applicable provisions of this Consent Order, with respect to any 

operations that may be transferred or assigned. 

81. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 
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of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this 

Consent Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent 

wherever Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that 

court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

82. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent 

Order and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the 

accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, 

discussions, or understandings. 

83. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  II  day of November, 2918. 

Mick ¶Mulvaney 
Acting Director 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 

29 
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Bureau of Consumer Financial 

Protection Settles with Santander 

Consumer USA Inc.

Company Did Not Properly Disclose Terms and Conditions 

of Its Auto Loan Add-On Product and Auto Loan Extensions

NOV 20, 2018 

Washington, D.C. — Today the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) 

announced a settlement with Santander Consumer USA Inc., a consumer financial 

services company based in Dallas, Texas.

As described in the consent order, the Bureau found that Santander violated the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 by not properly describing the benefits 

and limitations of its S-GUARD GAP product, which it offered as an add-on to its 

auto loan products. Santander also failed to properly disclose the impact on 

consumers of obtaining a loan extension, including by not clearly and prominently 

disclosing that the additional interest accrued during the extension period would 

be paid before any payments to principal when the consumer resumed making 

payments.

Under the terms of the consent order, Santander must, among other provisions, 

provide approximately $9.29 million in restitution to certain consumers who 

purchased the add-on product, clearly and prominently disclose the terms of its 

loan extensions and the add-on product, and pay a $2.5 million civil money penalty.

The consent order is available at:

https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/bcfp_santander-consumer-

usa_consent-order_2018-11.pdf

###



The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection is a 21st century agency that helps 

consumer finance markets work by regularly identifying and addressing outdated, 

unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations, by making rules more effective, by 

consistently enforcing federal consumer financial law, and by empowering 

consumers to take more control over their economic lives. For more information, 

visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Village Capital & Investment LLC,  

Defendant. 

Case Number 
 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

  
 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) brings this action against 

Village Capital & Investment LLC (Village Capital or the Company) under the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 5565, and 

alleges as follows.   

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a federal 
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question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 

1345. 

2. Venue is proper because the Company resides and transacts business in this 

district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

3. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent litigating authority and is 

authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court to secure appropriate relief for 

violations of “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

4. Village Capital is a non-bank mortgage company headquartered in Henderson, 

Nevada. At all times material to this Complaint, the Company transacted business in this 

district and elsewhere. The Company extends credit to consumers and is therefore a “covered 

person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)-(7), (15)(A)(i). 

Factual Background 

5. Village Capital offers a product known as an Interest Rate Reduction 

Refinancing Loan (IRRRL), which allows veterans, with a loan guaranteed by the 

Department of Veterans Affairs, to refinance their mortgages at lower interest rates.  

6. The Company has roughly 100 employees and ten branches in ten states, 

including San Antonio, Texas. Its loan portfolio consists of about 28,000 mortgages. 

7. Village Capital markets its products to potential customers primarily through 

phone calls and direct mail.  
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8. The Company’s loan officers are responsible for taking calls from potential 

customers and talking customers through the loan process, from filling out the application 

through closing.  

9. In March 2017, Village Capital hired a team of loan officers to staff a new 

office in San Antonio, Texas, with the primary responsibility of generating loans through in-

home visits to veterans. 

10. Between March 2017 and August 2018, the San Antonio office employed five 

loan officers responsible for in-home sales presentations to veterans to induce them to 

refinance their loans with the Company.  

11. The San Antonio office primarily received leads for potential consumers from 

the Company’s corporate office.  

12. Loan officers were provided with preset in-home appointments with veterans, 

a computer, a PowerPoint presentation, an Excel spreadsheet, a corresponding laminated 

worksheet, and a script for use at the in-home sales presentations.  

13. Village Capital’s San Antonio office designed the Excel spreadsheets for the 

loan officers to generate the financial data illustrating the supposed benefits of refinancing. 

The corresponding worksheet was the consumer-facing document designed to show the 

consumer the benefits of refinancing.   

14. Loan officers were instructed to go over the PowerPoint presentation with the 

consumer, introducing Village Capital and its loan products. After the presentation, loan 

officers were to ask the consumers for their current mortgage documents and begin the sales 

pitch using the laminated worksheet.  
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15. Loan officers were instructed to fold the worksheet in half; the top of the 

worksheet states “Here’s what most banks don’t want you to know. . . .” Loan officers were 

instructed to write the consumers’ current mortgage details (e.g., interest rate, taxes, 

insurance, total house payment) on the worksheet and to read consumers the language printed 

on the worksheet, stating, “I want to show you a benefit that is going to put you and your 

family in a much better financial situation. The Veterans Administration designed a benefit 

which was approved by the U.S. Congress to Honor Americas Veterans. Let me show you 

how it works. . . .”  

16. Loan officers were trained to then flip the worksheet and begin using the 

Excel spreadsheet to “compare apples to apples” the consumer’s current loan and the 

refinanced loan.  

17. Using the consumers’ current mortgage details, loan officers would then enter 

those numbers into the Excel spreadsheet and walk consumers through a comparison of their 

current mortgage and the new mortgage at 38 months, 4 years, 5 years, and 20 years. The 

bottom of the worksheet states “Obviously, our worst case scenario is MUCH BETTER than 

your best case scenario, isn’t it?”  

18. Loan officers were trained to flip the worksheet again to the last page and 

write the numbers derived from the Excel spreadsheet onto the worksheet with a dry erase 

marker. The loan officers would then use the worksheet to go over the “immediate benefits” 

of the program, including the “total monthly benefit” and the fees.  

19. After the presentation, loan officers would wipe the laminated worksheet 

clean so that it could be used for the next presentation. 
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20. The formulas in the Excel spreadsheets loan officers used during in-home 

presentations to calculate the “apples to apples” comparison between consumers’ mortgages 

and the IRRRL were flawed. Because the flawed formulas produced inaccurate results, the 

figures used in the worksheets and quoted to consumers were misleading.  

21. Specifically, the Excel spreadsheets, and therefore the worksheets presented to 

consumers, were deceptive because they misrepresented the cost savings to the consumer of 

the refinanced loan by: (1) inflating the future amount of principal owed under the existing 

mortgage by underestimating the proportion of the consumer’s existing monthly payment 

that is applied to principal; (2) underestimating the future amount of the refinanced 

mortgage’s monthly payments by overestimating the loan’s term; and (3) overestimating the 

total monthly benefit of the loan after the first month.   

Count I 

Deceptive Acts or Practices, in Violation of the CFPA 

22. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 

23. An act or practice is deceptive if it involves a material misrepresentation or 

omission that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

24. Information that is material to consumers is information that is important and 

is likely to affect a consumer’s choice of, or conduct regarding, the product or service.  

25. During in-home presentations, Village Capital’s loan officers misrepresented 

the benefit to the consumer of refinancing. This information is material and would likely 

affect a consumer’s decision to refinance with Village Capital.  

26. Therefore, Village Capital engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court: 

1. permanently enjoin Village Capital from committing future violations of the CFPA, 

or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(14);   

2. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper; 

3. award damages or other monetary relief against Village Capital; 

4. order Village Capital to pay redress to consumers harmed by its unlawful conduct;  

5. order Village Capital to disgorge all ill-gotten gains;  

6. impose on Village Capital a civil money penalty; 

7. order Village Capital to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with 

prosecuting this action; and 

8. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

    Respectfully submitted, 

Kristen A. Donoghue 
Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich  
Deputy Enforcement Director  
Kara K. Miller  
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
/s/Benjamin Konop       
Benjamin Konop (OH Bar # 0073458) 
 Telephone: (202) 435-7265 
 E-mail: benjamin.konop@cfpb.gov 
 
Kristina D. Betts (AZ Bar # 024859) 
 Telephone: (312) 610-8962 
 E-mail: kristina.betts@cfpb.gov 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, NW 
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Washington, DC 20552 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Bureau of Consumer Financial 
Protection 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case 2:18-cv-02304   Document 1   Filed 12/04/18   Page 7 of 8



 

 

8 
 

Certificate of Service 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on December 4, 2018, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Complaint on the following counsel for Defendant via electronic mail:  

 
 

David Shirk 
LotsteinLegal, PLLC 
5185 MacArthur Blvd, NW, Suite 800 
Washington, DC 20016-3341 
Phone: (202) 400.3870 
Email: shirk@lotsteinlegal.com 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
/s/Benjamin Konop   
Benjamin Konop                      
Attorney for Plaintiff  
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection  
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CFPB Takes Action Against Reverse Mortgage Companies for Deceptive 
Advertising 

Three Companies Cited For Falsely Claiming Consumers Could Not Lose Their 
Homes 

DEC 07, 2016 

WASHINGTON, D.C. - Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
against three reverse mortgage companies for deceptive advertisements, including 
claiming that consumers could not lose their homes. The CFPB is ordering American 
Advisors Group, Reverse Mortgage Solutions, and Aegean Financial to cease deceptive 
advertising practices, implement systems to ensure they are complying with all laws, and 
pay penalties. 

"These companies tricked consumers into believing they could not lose their homes with a 
reverse mortgage," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "All mortgage brokers and lenders 
need to abide by federal advertising disclosure requirements in promoting their products." 

A reverse mortgage is a special type of home loan that allows homeowners who are 62 or 
older to access the equity they have built up in their homes and defer payment of the loan 
until they pass away, sell, or move out. The loan proceeds are generally provided to the 
borrowers as lump-sum payments, monthly payments, or as lines of credit. Homeowners 
remain responsible for payment of taxes, insurance and home maintenance, among other 
obligations. 

The Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in mortgage 
advertising. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
prohibits institutions from engaging in deceptive acts or practices, including with regard to 
advertising of consumer financial products or services. 

American Advisors Group 

American Advisors Group, headquartered in Orange, Calif., is licensed in 49 states and the 
District of Columbia. It is the largest reverse mortgage lender in the United States. The 
company ran television advertisements almost daily and disseminated its information kit to 
approximately 1 million consumers. The information kit included a DVD and several 
brochures with information about reverse mortgage products. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 American Advisors 
Group's advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that 
they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company also 
falsely told potential customers that they would have no monthly payments and that with a 
reverse mortgage they would be able to pay off all debts. In fact, consumers with a reverse 
mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with 
the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making 
homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. Moreover, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $400,000. 

A copy of the American Advisors Group consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AmericanAdvisorsGroup-

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-reverse-mortgage-companies-deceptive-advertising/ 1/4 
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consentorder.pdf 

Reverse Mortgage Solutions 

Reverse Mortgage Solutions, headquartered in Houston, Texas, is licensed to conduct 
business in 48 states. The company marketed its product through various media, including 
television, radio, print, direct mail, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 Reverse Mortgage 
Solutions' advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and 
that they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company 
also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a reverse 
mortgage and that they would "always retain ownership" and "can't be forced to leave." In 
fact, consumers with a reverse mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their 
home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, 
paying property taxes, making homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property 
maintenance. 

The CFPB also alleges that the company misrepresented that heirs would inherit the home, 
without disclosing any conditions of the inheritance. In fact, heirs frequently are not able to 
keep the home after the death of a consumer with a reverse mortgage. Heirs are only 
allowed to retain ownership of the home after the consumer's death if they either repay the 
reverse mortgage or pay 95 percent of the assessed value of the home. 

The company also created a false sense of urgency to buy the reverse mortgage product 
and misrepresented that time limits constrained the availability of a reverse mortgage. For 
example, one call script required representatives to tell potential customers that if they 
didn't call back by close of business, they would "turn your file down and you will miss out 
on a tremendous money-saving opportunity." In fact, it was not a limited time offer. Lastly, 
the company misrepresented that a reverse mortgage could "eliminate debt." In fact, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $325,000. 

A copy of the Reverse Mortgage Solutions consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_ReverseMortgageSolutions-
consentorder.pdf1=1 

Aegean Financial 

Aegean Financial, headquartered in El Segundo, Calif., is licensed to conduct business in 
California, Louisiana, Oregon, Texas, and Washington. The company also operates under 
multiple names in the jurisdictions in which it is licensed. Under the name Jubilados 
Financial, the company advertises reverse mortgages to Spanish-speaking consumers in 
California. Under the name Reverse Mortgage Professionals, the company advertises 
reverse mortgages in California, Oregon, Washington, and Texas. Aegean Financial markets 
its product across various media, including print, direct mail, radio, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since 2012, Aegean Financial's 
advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that they 
would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The reverse mortgage 
broker also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a 
reverse mortgage and claimed that consumers would not be subject to costs associated 
with refinancing a reverse mortgage. In fact, consumers who refinance reverse mortgages 
do incur costs, including credit report fees, flood certification fees, title insurance costs, 
appraisal costs, and other closing costs. And consumers with a reverse mortgage still have 
payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. 
These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making homeowner's 
insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-reverse-mortgage-companies-deceptive-advertising/ 2/4 
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The CFPB also alleges that the company falsely affiliated itself with the government in its 
Spanish-language advertisements. For example, one advertisement said, "if you are 62 
years old or older and you own a house, we have good news for you; you qualify for a 
reverse mortgage from the United States Housing Department." In fact, although the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development provides insurance for the most popular 
type of reverse mortgage, a reverse mortgage is not a government benefit or a loan from 
the government. Nor is the product endorsed or sponsored by the government. The 
disclosures associated with Aegean Financial's advertisements were in small type or rapidly 
recited at the end of commercials. The CFPB also alleges that the company failed to keep 
records of its advertisements as required by law. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company cannot imply affiliation with the 
government, must make clear and prominent disclosures in its reverse mortgage 
advertisements, implement a system to ensure it is following all laws, and maintain 
complete and accurate records. It will also pay a civil penalty of $65,000. 

A copy of the Aegean Financial consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AegeanFinancial-
consentorder.pdf ❑+ 

The CFPB has long warned of the dangers associated with misleading and deceptive 
reverse mortgage advertising given the complexity of the product and the consumers to 
whom the product is offered. For example, in a June 2012 Report to Congress on Reverse 
Mortgages, the CFPB stated that "[l]aise and misleading advertising poses a serious risk to 
consumers." The CFPB also published a June 2015 study, and accompanying advisory 
warning, reaffirming the risk to consumers as a result of deceptive and misleading reverse 
mortgage advertising. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov. 

Topics: 

• ENFORCEMENT 

• REVERSE MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGE ORIGINATION 

.- -

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the 
press office. 

Go to press resources page 

STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0026 

In the Matter of: 

AMERICAN ADVISORS GROUP 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

advertising practices of American Advisors Group (Respondent, as defined below). 

Through these advertising practices, Respondent creates consumer interest in reverse 

mortgage credit products. The Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) 

Respondent created and disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements for 

reverse mortgage credit products in violation of the Mortgage Acts and Practices—

Advertising Rule (MAP Rule or Regulation N), 12 C.F.R. Part 1014; and (2) Respondent 

created and disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements for reverse 

mortgage credit products in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) & 5536(a)(1)(B). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 and section 626 the Omnibus Appropriations 

Act of 2009, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1638 note. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated December 1, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying the findings 

of fact and conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary 

to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of 

this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Advertiscmcnt" means any written or oral statement, illustration, or 

depiction, whether in English or any other language, that is designed to effect 

a sale or create interest in purchasing goods or services, whether it appears on 

or in a label, package, package insert, radio, television, cable television, 

brochure, newspaper, magazine, pamphlet, leaflet, circular, mailer, book 
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insert, free standing insert, letter, catalogue, poster, chart, billboard, public 

transit card, point of purchase display, film, slide, audio program transmitted 

over a telephone system, telemarketing script, on-hold script, upsell script, 

training materials provided to telemarketing firms, program-length 

commercial ("infomercial"), the internet, cellular network, or any other 

medium. Promotional materials and items and Web pages are included in the 

term advertisement. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Bureau" means Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

d. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for consumers to 

whom the communication is targeted, including older Americans, to 

read and comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on 

which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume and cadence sufficient for consumers to whom the 

communication is targeted, including older Americans, to hear and 

comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television 

or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form 

consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a 
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duration sufficient for consumers to whom the communication is 

targeted, including older Americans, to read and comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); and 

v. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, in an understandable language and 

syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in 

mitigation of, the disclosures used in any communication with the 

consumer. 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

f. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

g. "Person" means any individual, group, unincorporated association, limited or 

general partnership, corporation, or other business entity. 

h. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

i. "Relevant Time Period" includes the period from January 1, 2012 to the 

Effective Date. 
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j. "Respondent" means American Advisors Group (AAG), and any of its 

divisions, trade names or "doing business as" entities, and its successors and 

assigns. 

k. "Reverse Mortgage Credit Product" or "reverse mortgage" means a type of 

home loan offered or extended to homeowners who are generally 62 years or 

older that allows the homeowner to borrow money against the value of his or 

her home. This definition includes Home Equity Conversion Mortgages 

(HECMs) and HECMs for Purchase. 

L "Service Provider" means any person or entity that provides a material service 

to Respondent in connection with the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national reverse mortgage lender licensed in 49 states and the 

District of Columbia, and headquartered in California. 

5. Respondent is an offeror and provider of "mortgage credit product[sj" as defined 

by the MAP Rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

6. Respondent is a "person" under the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, because it is a 

corporation. 

7. Respondent is a "covered person" under the CFPA because it is a corporation that 

engages in offering and providing residential mortgage loans, which are 

"consumer financial products or services" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 

(6), (15)(A)(i), (19). 
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8. Respondent was founded in 2004 and is the largest reverse mortgage lender in 

the United States. Respondent originates and services reverse mortgages. 

9. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent created and disseminated 

advertisements designed to generate sales or create interest in reverse mortgages. 

Respondent actively marketed reverse mortgages through various media, 

including television, radio, print, direct mail, and the internet. 

10. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent ran television ads on close to a 

daily basis. Respondent's customers heard about AAG through its television 

advertising campaigns. 

11. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent's television ads reached millions of 

consumers and coincided with Respondent's emergence as the largest market 

participant in the reverse mortgage origination industry. 

12. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent also advertised and sent 

approximately one million consumers an "information kit," which included a 

DVD featuring former United States Senator Fred Thompson and several 

associated brochures with information about its reverse mortgage products. 

13. Respondent's advertisements are commercial communications about mortgage 

credit products as those terms are defined by the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, 

and relate to the offering of a consumer financial product or service as defined by 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Risk of 
Losing Home and the Right to Remain in the Home 

14. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements 

stating that a consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home and has 

the right to stay in the home for the remainder of his life. 
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15. For example, one of Respondent's television ads stated that consumers with 

reverse mortgages "always retain complete ownership of their home." 

16. Similarly, two of the versions of the information kit DVD included the following 

colloquy: "Can I lose my home?" "No you cannot lose your home." 

17. Additionally, Respondent's advertisements stated that a consumer with a reverse 

mortgage can "live in [the] home for the rest of [his] life" or can live in the house 

"for as long as [he] wishes." 

18. Respondent's advertisements did not contain disclaimers or qualifying 

statements that were sufficiently clear and prominent to correct the 

misrepresentation. 

19. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . 

. misrepresentations about . . . [t]he potential for default under the mortgage 

credit product, including but not limited to misrepresentations concerning the 

circumstances under which the consumer could default for nonpayment of taxes, 

insurance, or maintenance, or for failure to meet other obligations; . . . [and t]he 

right of the consumer to reside in the dwelling that is the subject of the mortgage 

credit product, or the duration of such right, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations concerning how long or under what conditions a consumer 

with a reverse mortgage can stay in the dwelling." 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(1) & (p). 

20. As described in Paragraphs 14-18, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the potential for default under a reverse mortgage 
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credit product and consumers' rights to remain in a property by misrepresenting 

that a consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home or has the right to 

stay in the home for the remainder of his life. 

21. In truth and in fact, a consumer with a reverse mortgage can default and lose his 

home if he fails to comply with the loan terms, which include, among other terms, 

paying property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and for property maintenance. 

The right to remain in the home is contingent on complying with the loan terms. 

22. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(1) and 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(p) and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Payments 

23. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent's advertisements slated that 

consumers would have "no monthly payments" if they took out a reverse 

mortgage. Many of these advertisements also contained statements in close 

proximity that a reverse mortgage provides "tax-free" cash. 

24. For example, one of Respondent's call scripts contained the statement: a reverse 

mortgage "allows seniors to convert the equity locked in their homes into tax-free 

income without any monthly payments." 

25. Similarly, several of Respondent's television ads began with the statement: "some 

people have told me reverse mortgages sound too good to be true, I mean you get 

cash out of your home, no monthly payments, and still own your home, there's 

gotta be a catch . . . well there isn't." 
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26. Respondent's advertisements either: (i) did not include any disclosure 

concerning the ongoing financial obligations of consumers with reverse 

mortgages, including property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and property 

maintenance; or (ii) contained disclosures that were neither clear nor prominent. 

27. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he terms, amounts, payments, or other 

requirements relating to taxes or insurance associated with the mortgage credit 

product . . . [and t]he existence, number, amount, or timing of any minimum or 

required payments, including but not limited to misrepresentations about any 

payments or that no payments are required in a reverse mortgage or other 

mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(e) & (k). 

28. As described in Paragraphs 23-26, Respondent made material 

misrepresentations in commercial communications to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, regarding the existence, number, amount, 

or timing of payments for a reverse mortgage credit product or the requirements 

related to taxes or insurance in commercial communications by misrepresenting 

that there are "no monthly payments" with a reverse mortgage. 

29. In truth and in fact, a reverse mortgagor must continue to make payments related 

to the home, such as payments for property taxes, insurance and home 

maintenance, in order to retain it. 

3o. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(e) and 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(k) and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and 
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constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B)• 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Debt 
Elimination 

31. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent's advertisements promoted 

reverse mortgages as a way to eliminate debt. For example, some of Respondent's 

ads contained testimonial statements that a consumer is "now debt free" or 

"completely out of debt" after obtaining a reverse mortgage. 

32. Similarly, Respondent's webpage contained the statement "[w]ith a reverse 

mortgage your parents are able to . . . pay off all debts." 

33. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . 

. misrepresentations about . . . [t]he effectiveness of the mortgage credit product 

in helping the consumer resolve difficulties in paying debts, including but not 

limited to misrepresentations that any mortgage credit product can reduce, 

eliminate, or restructure debt or result in a waiver or forgiveness, in whole or in 

part, of the consumer's existing obligation with any person." 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(m). 

34. As described in Paragraphs 31-32, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the effectiveness of a reverse mortgage credit product 

to eliminate debt by misrepresenting that a reverse mortgage can eliminate all of 

a consumer's debt. 
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35. In truth and in fact, a reverse mortgage cannot eliminate all of a consumer's debt; 

a reverse mortgage is itself a debt and, as a result, cannot be used to eliminate all 

of a consumer's debt. 

36. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(m) and Respondent's 

representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

37. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, 

or Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. Part 1014, as follows and must take the following 

affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or 

performance of any consumer financial product or service, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. That a consumer will have "no payments" or "no monthly payments" if 

he takes out a reverse mortgage; 

ii. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home; 
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iii. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage has the right to stay in the 

home for the remainder of his life; 

iv. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage is completely out of debt; 

v. That a reverse mortgage eliminates a consumer's debt; 

vi. That a reverse mortgage is a free government benefit or a loan from the 

government, rather than a loan from a private company; 

vii. That a homeowner has no ongoing financial obligations after obtaining 

a reverse mortgage; 

viii. That property taxes or insurance payments are not required with a 

reverse mortgage; 

ix. That there are no risks associated with a reverse mortgage; or 

x. Any other fact material to consumers concerning any consumer 

financial product or service, such as: the total costs; any material 

restrictions, limitations, or conditions; or any material aspect of its 

performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics. 

b. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that consumers with reverse mortgages can stay in the 

home or that consumers with reverse mortgages do not have monthly 

mortgage payments, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose 

that consumers with reverse mortgages must pay property taxes, 

homeowner's insurance, and costs associated with home maintenance. 

c. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that a consumers with reverse mortgages can stay in 

the home, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that the 
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right to remain in the home is contingent on complying with reverse mortgage 

loan terms or that it is possible to lose the home after obtaining a reverse 

mortgage. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

38. Within 60 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's 

advertising of reverse mortgage credit products complies with the terms of this 

Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a 

minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. A comprehensive advertising compliance policy and procedure for evaluating 

all advertisements for compliance with the MAP Rule and the CFPA before 

publication. The policy must at minimum include: 

i. A process for reviewing each advertisement for compliance with the MAP 

Rule and the CFPA before publication; 

ii. A requirement that each review is documented, including when the review 

occurred and who conducted the review; and 

iii. A requirement that the Respondent review scripts for all telemarketing 

calls conducted by the Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with 

them; 
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c. A process for reviewing all existing advertisements currently in circulation for 

compliance with the MAP Rule and the CFPA; 

d. An explanation of Respondent's consumer compliance organizational and 

reporting structure; 

e. Written descriptions of the job duties of all employees with duties under the 

advertising compliance policy. The written description shall include over 

whom each employee has authority and to whom each employee reports; 

f. A requirement that the Respondent allocate resources to compliance that are 

commensurate with the Respondent's size, complexity, and business 

operations to ensure that the Respondent implements adequate compliance 

programs including appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced 

personnel; 

g. A requirement that the Respondent provides mandatory ongoing education 

and training in Federal consumer financial laws and the prohibitions and 

requirements of this Consent Order for all affected officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys; the training must be appropriate for each 

individual's responsibilities and duties; training activities must be 

documented and the training programs reviewed and updated at least 

annually to ensure that appropriate personnel are provided with the most 

relevant and pertinent information; all new employees of the Respondent or 

the Respondent's agent must complete this training before communicating 

with any consumer about a reverse mortgage credit product; 
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h. A requirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years, 

or as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan 

remains current and effective; 

i. A plan requiring timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with the Compliance Plan; and 

j. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

39. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 3o days. 

40. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

41. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

42. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the 
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Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

43. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $400,000 to the Bureau. 

45. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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46. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

47. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds; Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

48. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in any Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 3o days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

49. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 
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accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

50. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

51. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying number(s), which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

52. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in 

any Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director 

of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 
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against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

54. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal 

address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with 

Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; and 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and 

services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

55. Within go days after the Enforcement Director makes his determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, and again one year after that date, Respondent 

must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

56. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members, and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers and Service Providers (as defined hereinabove), including any 

third party marketers, advertisers, or call centers acting on Respondent's behalf, 

or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Consent Order. 

57. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future hoard members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers and Service Providers (as defined hereinabove), 

including any third party marketers, advertisers, or call centers acting on 

Respondent's behalf, or other agents and representatives who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

58. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 
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XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; and 

other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent. 

6o. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 59 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

61. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 59 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re American Advisors Group, 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0026," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement Compliancepcfpb.gov: 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause its officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other 

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 15 days written notice, 

or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process. 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

64. Within 28 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 
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must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

65. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

66. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § io80.6 or other compulsory process. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

68. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing. 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

69. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 7o. 
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70. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 

71. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CITA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

72. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 
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amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

73. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

74. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

75. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

76. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

77. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this [51tii day. f December, 2016. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consmper Financial; rotection Bureau 
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c__ • Consumer Financial 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Reverse Mortgage Companies for Deceptive 
Advertising 

Three Companies Cited For Falsely Claiming Consumers Could Not Lose Their 
Homes 

DEC 07, 2016 

WASHINGTON, D.C. - Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
against three reverse mortgage companies for deceptive advertisements, including 
claiming that consumers could not lose their homes. The CFPB is ordering American 
Advisors Group, Reverse Mortgage Solutions, and Aegean Financial to cease deceptive 
advertising practices, implement systems to ensure they are complying with all laws, and 
pay penalties. 

"These companies tricked consumers into believing they could not lose their homes with a 
reverse mortgage," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "All mortgage brokers and lenders 
need to abide by federal advertising disclosure requirements in promoting their products." 

A reverse mortgage is a special type of home loan that allows homeowners who are 62 or 
older to access the equity they have built up in their homes and defer payment of the loan 
until they pass away, sell, or move out. The loan proceeds are generally provided to the 
borrowers as lump-sum payments, monthly payments, or as lines of credit. Homeowners 
remain responsible for payment of taxes, insurance and home maintenance, among other 
obligations. 

The Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in mortgage 
advertising. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
prohibits institutions from engaging in deceptive acts or practices, including with regard to 
advertising of consumer financial products or services. 

American Advisors Group 

American Advisors Group, headquartered in Orange, Calif., is licensed in 49 states and the 
District of Columbia. It is the largest reverse mortgage lender in the United States. The 
company ran television advertisements almost daily and disseminated its information kit to 
approximately 1 million consumers. The information kit included a DVD and several 
brochures with information about reverse mortgage products. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 American Advisors 
Group's advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that 
they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company also 
falsely told potential customers that they would have no monthly payments and that with a 
reverse mortgage they would be able to pay off all debts. In fact, consumers with a reverse 
mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with 
the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making 
homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. Moreover, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $400,000. 

A copy of the American Advisors Group consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AmericanAdvisorsGroup-

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-reverse-mortgage-companies-deceptive-advertising/ 1/4 



12/19/2016 CFPB Takes Action Against Reverse Mortgage Companies for Deceptive Advertising I Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

consentorder.pdf 

Reverse Mortgage Solutions 

Reverse Mortgage Solutions, headquartered in Houston, Texas, is licensed to conduct 
business in 48 states. The company marketed its product through various media, including 
television, radio, print, direct mail, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 Reverse Mortgage 
Solutions' advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and 
that they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company 
also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a reverse 
mortgage and that they would "always retain ownership" and "can't be forced to leave." In 
fact, consumers with a reverse mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their 
home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, 
paying property taxes, making homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property 
maintenance. 

The CFPB also alleges that the company misrepresented that heirs would inherit the home, 
without disclosing any conditions of the inheritance. In fact, heirs frequently are not able to 
keep the home after the death of a consumer with a reverse mortgage. Heirs are only 
allowed to retain ownership of the home after the consumer's death if they either repay the 
reverse mortgage or pay 95 percent of the assessed value of the home. 

The company also created a false sense of urgency to buy the reverse mortgage product 
and misrepresented that time limits constrained the availability of a reverse mortgage. For 
example, one call script required representatives to tell potential customers that if they 
didn't call back by close of business, they would "turn your file down and you will miss out 
on a tremendous money-saving opportunity." In fact, it was not a limited time offer. Lastly, 
the company misrepresented that a reverse mortgage could "eliminate debt." In fact, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $325,000. 

A copy of the Reverse Mortgage Solutions consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_ReverseMortgageSolutions-
consentorder.pdf1=1 

Aegean Financial 

Aegean Financial, headquartered in El Segundo, Calif., is licensed to conduct business in 
California, Louisiana, Oregon, Texas, and Washington. The company also operates under 
multiple names in the jurisdictions in which it is licensed. Under the name Jubilados 
Financial, the company advertises reverse mortgages to Spanish-speaking consumers in 
California. Under the name Reverse Mortgage Professionals, the company advertises 
reverse mortgages in California, Oregon, Washington, and Texas. Aegean Financial markets 
its product across various media, including print, direct mail, radio, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since 2012, Aegean Financial's 
advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that they 
would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The reverse mortgage 
broker also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a 
reverse mortgage and claimed that consumers would not be subject to costs associated 
with refinancing a reverse mortgage. In fact, consumers who refinance reverse mortgages 
do incur costs, including credit report fees, flood certification fees, title insurance costs, 
appraisal costs, and other closing costs. And consumers with a reverse mortgage still have 
payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. 
These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making homeowner's 
insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-reverse-mortgage-companies-deceptive-advertising/ 2/4 
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The CFPB also alleges that the company falsely affiliated itself with the government in its 
Spanish-language advertisements. For example, one advertisement said, "if you are 62 
years old or older and you own a house, we have good news for you; you qualify for a 
reverse mortgage from the United States Housing Department." In fact, although the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development provides insurance for the most popular 
type of reverse mortgage, a reverse mortgage is not a government benefit or a loan from 
the government. Nor is the product endorsed or sponsored by the government. The 
disclosures associated with Aegean Financial's advertisements were in small type or rapidly 
recited at the end of commercials. The CFPB also alleges that the company failed to keep 
records of its advertisements as required by law. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company cannot imply affiliation with the 
government, must make clear and prominent disclosures in its reverse mortgage 
advertisements, implement a system to ensure it is following all laws, and maintain 
complete and accurate records. It will also pay a civil penalty of $65,000. 

A copy of the Aegean Financial consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AegeanFinancial-
consentorder.pdf ❑+ 

The CFPB has long warned of the dangers associated with misleading and deceptive 
reverse mortgage advertising given the complexity of the product and the consumers to 
whom the product is offered. For example, in a June 2012 Report to Congress on Reverse 
Mortgages, the CFPB stated that "[l]aise and misleading advertising poses a serious risk to 
consumers." The CFPB also published a June 2015 study, and accompanying advisory 
warning, reaffirming the risk to consumers as a result of deceptive and misleading reverse 
mortgage advertising. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov. 

Topics: 

• ENFORCEMENT 

• REVERSE MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGE ORIGINATION 

.- -

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the 
press office. 

Go to press resources page 

STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0027 

In the Matter of: 

REVERSE MORTGAGE SOLUTIONS, INC. 

d/b/a 

Security 1 Lending 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

advertising practices of Reverse Mortgage Solutions, Inc. (Respondent, as defined 

below), through which Respondent creates consumer interest in reverse mortgage credit 

products. The Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) Respondent created 

and disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements for reverse mortgage credit 

products in violation of the Mortgage Acts and Practices —Advertising Rule (MAP Rule 

or Regulation N), 12 C.F.R. Part 1014; and (2) Respondent created and disseminated 

deceptive and misleading advertisements for reverse mortgage credit products in 

violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) 

& 5536(a)(1)(B). Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, 

the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 and section 626 the Omnibus Appropriations 

Act of 2009, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA,15 U.S.C. 

§ 1638 note. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated November 30, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. Without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of facts or conclusions of law, Respondent admits the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the 

subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Advertisement" means any written or oral statement, illustration, or 

depiction, whether in English or any other language, that is designed to effect 

a sale or create interest in purchasing goods or services, whether it appears on 

or in a label, package, package insert, radio, television, cable television, 

brochure, newspaper, magazine, pamphlet, leaflet, circular, mailer, book 



2016-CFPB-0027 Document 1 Filed 12/07/2016 Page 3 of 27 

insert, free standing insert, letter, catalogue, poster, chart, billboard, public 

transit card, point of purchase display, film, slide, audio program transmitted 

over a telephone system, telemarketing script, on-hold script, upsell script, 

training materials provided to telemarketing firms, program-length 

commercial ("infomercial"), the internet, cellular network, or any other 

medium. Promotional materials and items and Web pages are included in the 

term advertisement. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Bureau" means Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

d. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for consumers eligible 

for a reverse mortgage credit product to read and comprehend it, in 

print that contrasts with the background on which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume and cadence sufficient for consumers eligible for a reverse 

mortgage credit product to hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television 

or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form 

consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a 

duration sufficient for consumers eligible for a reverse mortgage credit 

product to read and comprehend it; 
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iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); and 

v. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, in an understandable language and 

syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in 

mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication with the 

consumer. 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

f. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

g. "Person" means any individual, group, unincorporated association, limited or 

general partnership, corporation, or other business entity. 

h. "Reverse Mortgage Credit Product" or "reverse mortgage" means a type of 

home loan offered or extended to homeowners 62 years or older that allows 

the homeowner to borrow money against the value of his or her home. This 

definition includes Home Equity Conversion Mortgages (HECM) and HECMs 

for Purchase. 

i. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 
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j. "Relevant Time Period" includes the period from January 1, 2012 to the 

Effective Date. 

k. "Respondent" means Reverse Mortgage Solutions, Inc. (RMS) and any of its 

divisions, trade names or "doing business as" entities, including but not 

limited to Security 1 Lending (SiL), and its successors and assigns. 

1. "Service provider" means any person that provides a material service to 

Respondent in connection with the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a Federal Housing Administration ("FHA")-approved reverse 

mortgage lender licensed in 48 states and headquartered in Texas. Respondent 

also maintains corporate offices in California and North Carolina. 

5. Respondent is an offeror and provider of "mortgage credit product[s]" as defined 

by the MAP Rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

6. Respondent is a "person" under the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, because it is a 

corporation. 

7. Respondent is a "covered person" under the CFPA because it is a corporation that 

engages in offering and providing residential mortgage loans, which are 

"consumer financial products or services" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 

(6), (15)(21)(i), (19). 

8. Respondent was founded in 2007 and specializes in the origination and servicing 

of reverse mortgage credit products. 
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9. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent created and disseminated 

advertisements designed to generate sales or interest in reverse mortgage credit 

products. 

lo. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent actively marketed reverse 

mortgage credit products through various media, including television, radio, 

print, direct mail, and the Internet. 

11. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements 

under the names RMS and SiL. 

12. The advertisements are commercial communications about mortgage credit 

products as those terms are defined by the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, and 

relate to the offering of a consumer financial product or service as defined by the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i)• 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Payments 

13. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements 

which contained statements expressly stating or implying that consumers with 

reverse mortgages would not be responsible for payments during the course of the 

loan. These statements appeared across many forms of media, including print ads 

and the Internet, and were also included in scripts used in calls to consumers. 

14. For example, an RMS call script that was used from 2012 until at least August 

2015, contained the statement: 

"[t]he best thing is, you never have to make a payment for as long as you 
live in your home . . . I can show you how to use a government-insured 
program that allows you to save money, get cash, and live payment-free as 
long as you live in your home." 
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15. Similarly, an RMS print advertisement promoted that "no repayment is required 

until the home is no longer the principal residence." 

16. In addition, the S 1L website advertised reverse mortgages as a way "to eliminate 

monthly payments permanently" and as "a risk-free way of being able to access 

home equity without creating monthly payments and without requiring money to 

be paid back during a person's lifetime. Instead of making payments the cash flow 

is reversed and the senior receives payments from the bank." 

17. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he terms, amounts, payments, or other 

requirements relating to taxes or insurance associated with the mortgage credit 

product . . . [and t]he existence, number, amount, or timing of any minimum or 

required payments, including but not limited to misrepresentations about any 

payments or that no payments are required in a reverse mortgage or other 

mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(e) & (k). 

18. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

19. As described in Paragraphs 13-16, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the existence, number, amount, or timing of payments 

for a reverse mortgage credit product or the requirements related to taxes or 

insurance by misrepresenting that there are "no payments" or "no monthly 

payments" with a reverse mortgage. 
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20. Respondent's advertisements either (i) did not include any disclosure concerning 

the ongoing financial obligations of consumers with reverse mortgages, including 

paying property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and for property maintenance 

associated with the reverse mortgage credit product; or (ii) included inadequate 

disclosures in fine print or not directly linked to the misrepresentation concerning 

payments. 

21. In truth and in fact, consumers with reverse mortgages must continue to make 

payments concerning the home, such as payments for property taxes, insurance, 

and home maintenance, in order to retain it. 

22. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(e) and 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(k) 

and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Risk of 
Losing Home and the Right to Remain in the Home 

23. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements 

stating that consumers with reverse mortgages cannot lose their homes and have 

the right to stay in their homes for the remainder of their life. 

24. These statements generally included the following assertions: a consumer with a 

reverse mortgage will "always retain ownership"; can "remain in your home as 

long as you wish"; or "can't be forced to leave." 

25. For example, the SiL website included the statement that "[y]our home will 

always remain your home. You may leave it to whomever you wish." 
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26. Similarly, an RMS brochure included the statement "you retain title to your home 

and can't be forced to leave." This same brochure reinforces the misleading 

impression by including a testimonial that states, "even if my mother exhausts all 

the money, she still can stay in her home for as long as she needs to." 

27. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he potential for default under the mortgage credit 

product, including but not limited to misrepresentations concerning the 

circumstances under which the consumer could default for nonpayment of taxes, 

insurance, or maintenance, or for failure to meet other obligations; . . . [and t]he 

right of the consumer to reside in the dwelling that is the subject of the mortgage 

credit product, or the duration of such right, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations concerning how long or under what conditions a consumer 

with a reverse mortgage can stay in the dwelling." 12 C.F.R. § § 1014.3(1) & (p). 

28. As described in Paragraphs 23-26, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the potential for default under a reverse mortgage credit 

product and consumers' right to remain in a property by misrepresenting that a 

consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home and has the right to stay 

in the home for the remainder of his life. 

29. In truth and in fact, a consumer with a reverse mortgage can default and lose the 

home if he fails to comply with the loan terms, which include, among other terms, 
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paying property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and for property maintenance. 

The right to remain in the home is contingent on complying with the loan terms. 

30. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(1) and 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(p) 

and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Debt 
Elimination 

31. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated advertisements that 

promoted reverse mortgages as a way to eliminate debt. 

32. In a direct mail campaign targeting tens of thousands of consumers whose 

forward mortgages were being serviced by Respondent's affiliate Green Tree 

Servicing, Respondent advertised that reverse mortgages could "eliminate debt." 

33. Regulation N prohibits misrepresentations about "[tihe effectiveness of the 

mortgage credit product in helping the consumer resolve difficulties in paying 

debts, including but not limited to misrepresentations that any mortgage credit 

product can reduce, eliminate, or restructure debt or result in a waiver or 

forgiveness, in whole or in part, of the consumer's existing obligation with any 

person." 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(m). 

34. As described in Paragraphs 31-32, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, that a reverse mortgage eliminates all of a consumer's debt. 
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35. In truth and in fact, a reverse mortgage does not eliminate all of a consumer's 

debt; a reverse mortgage is a debt and, as a result, cannot be used to eliminate all 

of a consumer's debt. 

36. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(m) and Respondent's 

representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Heirs' 
Ability to Inherit the Home 

37. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondents advertisements stated that heirs 

of consumers with reverse mortgages would inherit the home. These statements 

implied that heirs would get to keep the mortgaged property after the consumer's 

death. 

38. One of the reasons consumers state that they are reluctant to obtain a reverse 

mortgage is that they want to leave their home to their children as an inheritance. 

39. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3. 

40. As described in Paragraph 37, Respondent made material misrepresentations in 

commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, regarding the terms of a reverse mortgage by misrepresenting that 

heirs will get to keep the home after the death of a consumer with a reverse 

mortgage. 
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41. In truth and in fact, heirs frequently are not able to keep the home after the death 

of a consumer with a reverse mortgage. Heirs are only able to retain ownership of 

the home after the consumer's death if they either repay the reverse mortgage or 

pay ninety-five percent of the assessed value of the home. 

42. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3 and Respondent's 

representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Artificial 
Time Limits 

43. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent developed and utilized customer 

service call scripts that inaccurately depicted consumers' ability to obtain reverse 

mortgages as time limited. 

44. For example, one call script required call representatives to state that Respondent 

"cannot keep this opportunity open forever. There must be a time limit because I 

have hundreds of families looking for cash to help provide for their needs." 

45. Another call script instructed call representatives to state that if the consumer did 

not call back by close of business, Respondent would "turn your file down and you 

will miss-out on a tremendous money-saving opportunity." 

46. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3. 

47. As described in Paragraphs 43-45, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 
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by implication, regarding the terms of a reverse mortgage by misrepresenting that 

the consumer's ability to obtain a reverse mortgage was time limited. 

48. In truth and in fact, there is no relevant time limit on a consumer's ability to 

obtain a reverse mortgage. 

49. Therefore, Respondent has violated 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3 and Respondent's 

representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

5o. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, 

may not violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, 

or Regulation N, 12 C.F.R. Part 1014, as follows and must take the following 

affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or 

performance of any consumer financial product or service, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. That there are no payments or no monthly payments with a reverse 

mortgage; 

ii. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home; 
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iii. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage has the right to stay in the 

home for the remainder of his life; 

iv. That a homeowner has no ongoing financial obligations after obtaining a 

reverse mortgage; 

v. That property taxes or insurance payments are not required with a 

reverse mortgage; 

vi. That a reverse mortgage eliminates all of a consumer's debt; 

vii. That the heirs of a consumer with a reverse mortgage will inherit the 

mortgaged property upon the consumer's death; 

viii. That there are time or volume restrictions on the availability of reverse 

mortgages for eligible consumers; 

ix. That there are no risks associated with a reverse mortgage; or 

x. Any other fact material to consumers concerning any consumer financial 

product or service, such as: the total costs; any material restrictions, 

limitations, or conditions; or any material aspect of its performance, 

efficacy, nature, or central characteristics. 

b. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that consumers with reverse mortgages can stay in the 

home or that consumers with reverse mortgages do not have monthly mortgage 

payments, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that 

consumers with reverse mortgages must pay property taxes, homeowner's 

insurance, and costs associated with home maintenance. 

c. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that a consumers with reverse mortgages can stay in the 

home, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that the right to 

remain in the home is contingent on complying with reverse mortgage loan 

terms or that it is possible to lose the home after obtaining a reverse mortgage. 
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d. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that the heirs of consumers with reverse mortgages can 

inherit the home, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that 

the heirs will not inherit the home free and clear of any liens, and will only be 

able to retain ownership of the home after the consumer's death if they either 

repay the reverse mortgage or pay ninety-five percent of the assessed value of 

the home. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's advertising 

of reverse mortgage credit products complies with all applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). 

The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. A comprehensive advertising compliance policy and procedure for evaluating all 

advertisements for compliance with the MAP Rule and the CFPA before 

publication. The policy must at minimum include: 

i. A process for reviewing each advertisement for compliance with the MAP 

Rule and the CFPA before publication; 

ii. A requirement that each review is documented, including when the 

review occurred and who conducted the review; and 
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iii. A requirement that the Respondent create and review scripts for all 

telemarketing calls conducted by the Respondent and its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them; 

c. A process for reviewing all existing advertisements currently in circulation for 

compliance with the MAP Rule and the CFPA; 

d. An explanation of Respondent's consumer compliance organizational and 

reporting structure; 

e. Written descriptions of the job duties of all employees with duties under the 

advertising compliance policy. The written description shall include over whom 

each employee has authority and to whom each employee reports; 

f. A requirement that the Respondent proVides mandatory ongoing education and 

training in Federal consumer financial laws and the prohibitions and 

requirements of this Consent Order for all affected officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys; the training must be appropriate for each individual's 

responsibilities and duties; training activities must be documented and the 

training programs reviewed and updated at least annually to ensure that 

appropriate personnel are provided with the most relevant and pertinent 

information; all new employees of the Respondent or the Respondent's agent 

must complete this training before communicating with any consumer about a 

reverse mortgage credit product; 

g. A requirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years, or 

as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan 

remains current and effective; 
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h. A plan requiring timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with the Compliance Plan; and 

i. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above, as well as a recitation of the resources and staffing Respondent will 

allocate to execution of the terms of the Compliance Plan. 

52. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 3o days. 

53. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

55. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the 

Board will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 
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Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

56. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with the 

Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations 

of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$325,000 to the Bureau. 

58. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with 

the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

59. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d)-
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6o. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

61. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 3o days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

62. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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63. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

64. Under 31 U.S.C. § 77o1, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying number(s), which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

65. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 
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must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 3o days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

67. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address 

as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with 

Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and services 

offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

68. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

69. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members, executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, servants, agents, Service Providers, or other 
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representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order. 

70. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, servants, agents, Service Providers, or other 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

71. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

72. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from 

the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; and 

other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third 

party on behalf of Respondent. 

73. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 72 for the 
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duration of the Consent Order. 

74. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 72 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Reverse Mortgage 

Solutions, Inc., File No. 2016-CFPB-0027," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement Compliance p cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
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XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section W. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause its officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other 

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written notice, 

or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process. 

XTV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

77. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

78. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 
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79. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

80. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

81. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing. 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

82. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 83. 

83. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 
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in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Consent Order. 

84. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

85. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

86. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

87. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 
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written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

88. The provisions of this Consent. Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum: amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section lo55(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In'connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Re8pondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

89. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this. Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

90. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this [c]th day of December, 2016. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

27 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Reverse Mortgage Companies for Deceptive 
Advertising 

Three Companies Cited For Falsely Claiming Consumers Could Not Lose Their 
Homes 

DEC 07, 2016 

WASHINGTON, D.C. - Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
against three reverse mortgage companies for deceptive advertisements, including 
claiming that consumers could not lose their homes. The CFPB is ordering American 
Advisors Group, Reverse Mortgage Solutions, and Aegean Financial to cease deceptive 
advertising practices, implement systems to ensure they are complying with all laws, and 
pay penalties. 

"These companies tricked consumers into believing they could not lose their homes with a 
reverse mortgage," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "All mortgage brokers and lenders 
need to abide by federal advertising disclosure requirements in promoting their products." 

A reverse mortgage is a special type of home loan that allows homeowners who are 62 or 
older to access the equity they have built up in their homes and defer payment of the loan 
until they pass away, sell, or move out. The loan proceeds are generally provided to the 
borrowers as lump-sum payments, monthly payments, or as lines of credit. Homeowners 
remain responsible for payment of taxes, insurance and home maintenance, among other 
obligations. 

The Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule prohibits misleading claims in mortgage 
advertising. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
prohibits institutions from engaging in deceptive acts or practices, including with regard to 
advertising of consumer financial products or services. 

American Advisors Group 

American Advisors Group, headquartered in Orange, Calif., is licensed in 49 states and the 
District of Columbia. It is the largest reverse mortgage lender in the United States. The 
company ran television advertisements almost daily and disseminated its information kit to 
approximately 1 million consumers. The information kit included a DVD and several 
brochures with information about reverse mortgage products. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 American Advisors 
Group's advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that 
they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company also 
falsely told potential customers that they would have no monthly payments and that with a 
reverse mortgage they would be able to pay off all debts. In fact, consumers with a reverse 
mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with 
the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making 
homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. Moreover, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $400,000. 

A copy of the American Advisors Group consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AmericanAdvisorsGroup-

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-reverse-mortgage-companies-deceptive-advertising/ 1/4 
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Reverse Mortgage Solutions 

Reverse Mortgage Solutions, headquartered in Houston, Texas, is licensed to conduct 
business in 48 states. The company marketed its product through various media, including 
television, radio, print, direct mail, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since January 2012 Reverse Mortgage 
Solutions' advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and 
that they would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The company 
also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a reverse 
mortgage and that they would "always retain ownership" and "can't be forced to leave." In 
fact, consumers with a reverse mortgage still have payments and can default and lose their 
home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. These terms require, among other things, 
paying property taxes, making homeowner's insurance payments, and paying for property 
maintenance. 

The CFPB also alleges that the company misrepresented that heirs would inherit the home, 
without disclosing any conditions of the inheritance. In fact, heirs frequently are not able to 
keep the home after the death of a consumer with a reverse mortgage. Heirs are only 
allowed to retain ownership of the home after the consumer's death if they either repay the 
reverse mortgage or pay 95 percent of the assessed value of the home. 

The company also created a false sense of urgency to buy the reverse mortgage product 
and misrepresented that time limits constrained the availability of a reverse mortgage. For 
example, one call script required representatives to tell potential customers that if they 
didn't call back by close of business, they would "turn your file down and you will miss out 
on a tremendous money-saving opportunity." In fact, it was not a limited time offer. Lastly, 
the company misrepresented that a reverse mortgage could "eliminate debt." In fact, a 
reverse mortgage is a debt and therefore cannot be used to eliminate all of a consumer's 
debt. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company must make clear and prominent 
disclosures in its reverse mortgage advertisements and implement a system to ensure it is 
following all laws. It will also pay a civil penalty of $325,000. 

A copy of the Reverse Mortgage Solutions consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_ReverseMortgageSolutions-
consentorder.pdf1=1 

Aegean Financial 

Aegean Financial, headquartered in El Segundo, Calif., is licensed to conduct business in 
California, Louisiana, Oregon, Texas, and Washington. The company also operates under 
multiple names in the jurisdictions in which it is licensed. Under the name Jubilados 
Financial, the company advertises reverse mortgages to Spanish-speaking consumers in 
California. Under the name Reverse Mortgage Professionals, the company advertises 
reverse mortgages in California, Oregon, Washington, and Texas. Aegean Financial markets 
its product across various media, including print, direct mail, radio, and the Internet. 

Through its investigation, the CFPB found that since 2012, Aegean Financial's 
advertisements misrepresented that consumers could not lose their home and that they 
would have the right to stay in their home for the rest of their lives. The reverse mortgage 
broker also falsely told potential customers that they would have no payments with a 
reverse mortgage and claimed that consumers would not be subject to costs associated 
with refinancing a reverse mortgage. In fact, consumers who refinance reverse mortgages 
do incur costs, including credit report fees, flood certification fees, title insurance costs, 
appraisal costs, and other closing costs. And consumers with a reverse mortgage still have 
payments and can default and lose their home if they fail to comply with the loan terms. 
These terms require, among other things, paying property taxes, making homeowner's 
insurance payments, and paying for property maintenance. 
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The CFPB also alleges that the company falsely affiliated itself with the government in its 
Spanish-language advertisements. For example, one advertisement said, "if you are 62 
years old or older and you own a house, we have good news for you; you qualify for a 
reverse mortgage from the United States Housing Department." In fact, although the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development provides insurance for the most popular 
type of reverse mortgage, a reverse mortgage is not a government benefit or a loan from 
the government. Nor is the product endorsed or sponsored by the government. The 
disclosures associated with Aegean Financial's advertisements were in small type or rapidly 
recited at the end of commercials. The CFPB also alleges that the company failed to keep 
records of its advertisements as required by law. 

Under the terms of today's consent order, the company cannot imply affiliation with the 
government, must make clear and prominent disclosures in its reverse mortgage 
advertisements, implement a system to ensure it is following all laws, and maintain 
complete and accurate records. It will also pay a civil penalty of $65,000. 

A copy of the Aegean Financial consent order can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201612_cfpb_AegeanFinancial-
consentorder.pdf ❑+ 

The CFPB has long warned of the dangers associated with misleading and deceptive 
reverse mortgage advertising given the complexity of the product and the consumers to 
whom the product is offered. For example, in a June 2012 Report to Congress on Reverse 
Mortgages, the CFPB stated that "[l]aise and misleading advertising poses a serious risk to 
consumers." The CFPB also published a June 2015 study, and accompanying advisory 
warning, reaffirming the risk to consumers as a result of deceptive and misleading reverse 
mortgage advertising. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov. 

Topics: 

• ENFORCEMENT 

• REVERSE MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGES 

• MORTGAGE ORIGINATION 

.- -

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the 
press office. 

Go to press resources page 

STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB- 0028 

In the Matter of: 

MONEYTREE, INC. 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain 

lending, marketing, and debt-collection practices of Moneytree, Inc. (Respondent). The 

Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) deceptive acts and practices 

relating to online advertisements about the cost of Respondent's tax-refund check-

cashing services, in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA); (2) deceptive acts and practices relating to collection 

letters containing false representations about Respondent's ability to repossess vehicles 

of consumers with delinquent unsecured installment loans, in violation of §§ 1031(a) 

and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA; and (3) violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act 

(EFTA), 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and its implementing regulation, Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 

1005.10(b), for failing to obtain written authorization for preauthorized electronic-fund 

transfers (EFT). Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the 

Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated December 15, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the 

facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the 

subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means the Collection Letter Consumers, the Tax-

Refund Check-Cashing Consumers, and the Washington Payment Plan 

Consumers. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 
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d. "Collection Letter Consumers" means installment-loan consumers who 

were delinquent on their unsecured loans and received a letter or letters 

from Respondent stating that Respondent might repossess their vehicles. 

e. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the West Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his delegate. 

f. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

g. "Respondent" means Moneytree, Inc. and its successors and assigns. 

h. "Tax-Refund Check-Cashing Consumers" means the consumers who 

cashed a tax-refund check at one of Respondent's locations, while 

Respondent ran an online advertising campaign that promised to cash tax-

refund checks for "1.99." 

i. "Washington Payment Plan Consumers" refers to those consumers who 

signed payment plan agreements with Respondent in January 2015 that 

designated EFT as the payment method but did not contain EFT 

preauthorization language. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a financial-services company headquartered in Seattle, 

Washington. It offers and provides a wide range of financial products and 
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services, including payday loans and check-cashing, out of roughly 100 locations 

spread throughout California, Colorado, Idaho, Nevada, and Washington. 

5. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6) 

and is subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 12 U.S.C. § 5514. 

6. The Bureau has conducted multiple examinations of Respondent's lending, 

marketing, and collections activities. In each exam, the Bureau has identified 

significant compliance-management-system weaknesses that heighten the risk 

that violations will occur. At the times of the violations described in this order, 

the company had not adequately addressed these issues. 

Tax Refund Advertisement 

7. From on or about February 3, 2015 through March 12, 2015, Respondent ran an 

online advertising campaign that promised to cash consumers' tax-refund checks 

for "1,99" in some instances and "1.99%" in other instances (Tax Refund 

Advertisement). Consumers were required to visit one of Respondent's branches 

to take advantage of the offer. 

8. Respondent ran roughly 28 variations of the Tax Refund Advertisement. 

Fourteen of those variations omitted a percent sign, while fourteen contained a 

percent sign. 

9. The actual fee Respondent charged for its tax-refund check-cashing service was 

1.99% of the tax refund, not $1.99. The omission of the percent sign in some of 

the advertisements was due to an error that occurred in preparing the 

advertisement that was not identified and corrected through Respondent's CMS. 

10. Price figures with two decimal points used in advertisements for goods and 

services typically refer to dollar amounts. Indeed, at least one of Respondent's 
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competitors advertises a similar service, advertising flat fees as low as $3.00. A 

reasonable consumer viewing a variation of the Tax Refund Advertisement 

without a percent sign could assume that the price referred to a flat fee. 

11. At least one of Respondent's customers called Respondent to inquire about 

cashing a check for $1.99. 

12. On or around March 12, 2015, Respondent stopped running the Tax Refund 

Advertisement with the "1.99" price. 

13. During the time the Tax Refund Advertisement ran, it appeared 30,792 times on 

a search results page or another online site as a result of a tax-related keyword 

search, and it received 857 user clicks. 

14. Respondent cashed 5,328 tax-refund checks during the period that the Tax 

Refund Advertisement ran. 

15. As described above, in connection with promoting its tax-refund check-cashing 

service, Respondent, by advertising the fee for the service as "1.99," represented, 

expressly or impliedly, that it would cash a consumer's tax-refund check for a flat 

fee of $1.99. 

16. In fact, Respondent charged significantly more for this service — 1.99% of the tax 

refund, not $1.99. 

17. This representation was material to consumers' determinations about seeking to 

cash their tax-refund checks at one of Respondent's stores. 

18. Respondent's misleading representations constitute deceptive acts or practices 

that violate §§ 1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Installment-Loan Collection Letters 

19. Respondent's weak CMS affected its debt-collection activities, as well. Beginning 

on or about November 2014 through March 2015, Respondent sent collection 

letters to 490 unsecured-installment-loan consumers who were delinquent on 

their unsecured loans (Collection Letters). 

20. The Collection Letters falsely referred to the consumers' loans as "Title Loan[s]." 

Although the consumers had not pledged their vehicles as collateral for the 

unsecured installment loans they received, the Collection Letters threatened that 

Respondent would review the consumers' accounts for repossession. 

21. Specifically, the Collection Letters asserted that the consumers' "Title Loan" 

payments were "past due" and that the consumers' accounts would be reviewed 

for repossession if they failed to make their past-due payment or missed another 

payment. 

22. Although the Collection Letters mischaracterized these unsecured loans as title 

loans, other information provided about the loans, including the amount of the 

most recent missed payment and the total amount owed, was correct. 

23. Consumers were likely to believe Respondent's representation that their vehicles 

could be repossessed for non-payment of their unsecured loans, particularly 

given the accuracy of other key financial information in the Collection Letters. 

24. Some of Respondent's customers received more than one Collection Letter 

indicating that their account would be reviewed for repossession. 

25. At least 151 of Respondent's customers who received a Collection Letter made a 

payment or payments towards their delinquent loan between November 2014 

and March 2015. 
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26. In early March 2015, Respondent learned of the errors in the Collection Letters. 

27. On or around March 31, 2015, Respondent sent each consumer who received a 

Collection Letter a notice explaining that the Collection Letters "referencing a 

title loan from Moneytree" had been "produced in error and should be 

disregarded." 

28. In connection with attempting to collect debts owed by unsecured installment-

loan borrowers, Respondent represented, expressly or impliedly, that it could 

repossess those consumers' vehicles unless they made certain overdue payments 

on their unsecured installment loans. 

29. In fact, Respondent had no right or ability to repossess the consumers' vehicles 

because the consumers had not pledged their vehicles as collateral for their 

installment loans. 

3o. These misrepresentations were material to consumers' determinations about 

making the payments Respondent demanded. 

31. Respondent's representations constitute deceptive acts or practices that violate §§ 

1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Failure to Obtain Written Authorization 

32. Respondent issues payday loans in Washington and has loan-repayment options 

available for Washington borrowers who cannot repay their loans in full on the 

due date. 

33. To establish a payment plan, Washington borrowers must execute a payment-

plan agreement with Respondent that sets forth the terms of repayment 

(Washington Payment Plan Agreement). Respondent offers two versions of the 
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Washington Payment Plan Agreement — one that governs cash repayments (Cash 

Agreement) and one for repayments made electronically (ACH Agreement). 

34. In January 2015, Respondent revised the ACH Agreement and failed to include 

language authorizing EFTs. 

35. From on or about January 13, 2015 through January 19, 2015, at least 729 

Washington residents entered into one or more ACH payment plans through 

ACH Agreements that did not contain EFT-preauthorization language. At least 

753 ACH Agreements that did not contain EFT-preauthorization language were 

executed. 

36. Respondent processed ACH debits from dozens of Washington consumers who 

had signed ACH Agreements that did not contain EFT-preauthorization 

language. Respondent has since refunded those payments. 

37. Under Regulation E, 12 CFR § 1005.10(b), "{p]rcaulhorized electronic fund 

transfers from a consumer's account may be authorized only by a writing signed 

or similarly authenticated by the consumer." 

38. Respondent's failure to obtain the required preauthorization before processing 

ACH debits from consumer accounts violated EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

39. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 
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violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, or § 907(a) of 

EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Regulation E, 12 CFR 1005.10(b), as follows: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, sale, offer or 

provision of any check-cashing service, may not misrepresent, or assist 

others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, the terms or conditions, 

including any costs, fees or charges, of any check-cashing service. 

b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the servicing or collection of any loan, may 

not misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or 

impliedly, that they have the right: 

i. to repossess, seize, foreclose, or otherwise obtain any asset of the 

consumer for nonpayment of the debt if the consumer has not 

pledged such asset as collateral for the loan; or 

ii. to take any other action with respect to the debt that Respondent is 

not legally entitled to take. 

c. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the collection of any payment or debt, may 

not withdraw funds from a consumer's bank account without written or 

similarly authenticated EFT preauthorization by the consumer. 
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VI 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order before submission to 

the Bureau. 

41. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

42. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related 

to this Section. 
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VII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

43. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $255,016.45 for the purpose 

of providing redress to the Affected Consumers under this Order. This represents 

the minimum amount of redress Respondent must provide to the Affected 

Consumers. 

44. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The Regional 

Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan Or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs 

Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 3o days. After 

receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of 

non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to 

the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress 

Plan. 

45. The Redress Plan must contain the following elements for the Affected Consumer 

classes set forth below: 

a. Tax-Refund Check-Cashing Consumers: Refund the 1.99% fee paid by all 

Tax-Refund Check-Cashing Consumers, minus $1.99 for each cashed-check 

fee; 
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b. Collection Letter Consumers: Refund all payments made by the Collection 

Letter Consumers between the time Respondent sent the Collection Letter 

to the Collection Letter Consumers to the time the explanatory letter was 

sent to the Collection Letter Consumers acknowledging that the Collection 

Letter was erroneous; and, 

c. Washington Payment Plan Consumers: Reimburse any fees assessed by 

Washington Payment Plan Consumers' banks for EFT payments withdrawn 

while ACH Agreements without EFT-preauthorization language were in 

place. 

46. The Redress Plan must include (1) the form of the letter (Redress Notification 

Letter) to be sent notifying the Affected Consumers of the redress; and (2) the 

form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The letter 

must explain how the redress amount was calculated and that the provision of the 

refund payment is in accordance with the terms of this Order. Respondent must 

not include in any envelope containing a Redress Notification Letter any 

materials other than the approved letter and redress check, unless Respondent 

has obtained written confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau 

does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials. 

47. The Redress Plan must also include a description of the: 

a. methods used to identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. methods used to calculate the amount of redress to be paid to each 

Affected Consumer as required herein; 

c. procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected Consumers; 

d. procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan; 
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e. process for providing restitution for Affected Consumers, which must 

include: 

i. Respondent mailing a check to any Affected Consumer along with a 

Redress Notification Letter; 

ii. Respondent sending the check by United States Postal Service first-

class mail, address correction service requested, to the Affected 

Consumer's last address as maintained by Respondent's records; 

iii. Respondent using best efforts to obtain a current address for any 

Affected Consumer whose Redress Notification Letter and 

restitution check is returned for any reason, using the National 

Change of Address System, and promptly re-mailing all returned 

letters and restitution checks to current addresses. If the check for 

any Affected Consumer is returned to Respondent after such second 

mailing by Respondent, or if a current mailing address cannot be 

identified using National Change of Address System, Respondent 

must retain the restitution amount of such Affected Consumer for a 

period of 36o days from the date the restitution check was 

originally mailed, during which period such amount may be 

claimed by such Affected Consumer upon appropriate proof of 

identity. 

48. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to 

Affected Consumers is less than $255,016.45, within 3o days of the completion of 

the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the 

Bureau or to the Bureau's agent, and according to the Bureau's wiring 
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instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers and $255,016.45-

49. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress to Affected 

Consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, any 

funds not used for such equitable relief will be deposited in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the 

Bureau or its representatives may take under this paragraph. 

50. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Order on that consumer waiving any right. 

51. Within 90 days of completing the Redress Plan, Respondent will submit to the 

Regional Director for review a report detailing how it identified accounts for 

redress and paid redress on those identified accounts. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

52. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$250,000 to the Bureau. 

53. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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54. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

55. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

56. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 3o days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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IX 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

58. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

59. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporling on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

60. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 
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X 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

61. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

62. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and on a quarterly basis after the Effective 

Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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63. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

64. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

65. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply will 

the requirements of the Fi- Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 
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and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a 

third party on behalf of Respondent. 

c. copies of all collection notices and loan terms and conditions, including 

payment plan agreements. 

67. Respondent must retain the documents identified in ¶ 66 for the duration of the 

Consent Order. 

68. Respondent must make the documents identified in ¶ 66 available to the Bureau 

upon the Bureau's request. 

XIII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Moneytree, File No. 2016-

CFPB- 0028," and send them either: 

a. by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, Bureau West Region 
301 Howard Street, 12th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105; or 

b. by first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to: 

WestRegion p cfpb.gov 
Regional Director, Bureau West Region 
301 Howard Street, 12th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105. 
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XIV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

7o. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

71. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce! 

documents. 

72. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

73. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § i080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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74. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

75. The Regional Director may, in his discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVII 

Administrative Provisions 

76. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in 1177. 

77. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 
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78. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

79. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

80. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

81. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

82. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 
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federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent 

may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction 

over Respondent. 

83. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

84. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this 15th day of December, 2016, 

leta,040 
Richard Cordray lgi"
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bnrean 
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CFPB Takes Action Against Moneytree for Deceptive Advertising and Collection 
Practices 
Bureau Orders Financial Services Company to Pay $255,000 to Consumers 

DEC 16, 2016 

Washington, D.C. - Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action 
against Moneytree, Inc., a financial services company that offers payday loans and check-
cashing services, for misleading consumers with deceptive online advertisements and 
collections letters. The company also made unauthorized electronic transfers from 
consumers' bank accounts. The CFPB has ordered the company to cease its illegal conduct, 
provide $255,000 in refunds to consumers, and pay a civil penalty of $250,000. 

"Consumers deserve honesty and transparency from the financial institutions they rely on," 
said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "Moneytree's practices meant consumers were making 
decisions based on false and deceptive information, and today's action will give the 
company's customers the redress they are owed." 

Moneytree, Inc., is a financial services company based in Seattle, Wash. It offers payday 
loans, check-cashing, and other services to consumers. The CFPB has conducted multiple 
supervisory examinations of Moneytree's lending, marketing, and collections activities and 
has identified significant weaknesses in the company's compliance-management system in 
each of them. The CFPB found in today's order that the company had failed to address 
those weaknesses and deceived consumers about the price of check-cashing services, 
made false threats of vehicle repossession when collecting overdue unsecured loans, and 
withdrew funds from consumers' accounts without written authorization. Specifically, the 
CFPB found that Moneytree: 

■ Used deceptive online ads: In early 2015, Moneytree ran advertisements online 
offering to cash consumers' tax refund checks for "1.99." The actual fee for the service 
was 1.99 percent of the amount of the check cashed, rather than $1.99, as the 
company's advertisements implied. Consumers were required to visit one of 
Moneytree's physical branches to take advantage of the advertisement's offer, which 
appeared online tens of thousands of times. 

■ Deceptively told consumers their vehicles could be repossessed: From late 2014 
through early 2015, Moneytree mailed letters to hundreds of consumers indicating that 
their vehicles could be repossessed if they did not make past-due payments on their 
installment loans. But none of these consumers had loans secured by their vehicles, 
and Moneytree had no right or ability to repossess them. 

■ Withdrew money from consumers' accounts without authorization: Moneytree failed, 
in over 700 instances, to obtain preauthorization from consumers for withdrawals from 
their bank accounts, in violation of federal law. 

Enforcement Action 

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has 
authority to take action against institutions or individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or 
abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate federal consumer financial laws. Under 
the terms of the CFPB order released today, Moneytree is required to: 

■ Pay $255,000 in redress to victims: The company will pay a total of about $255,000 to 
consumers who paid more than Moneytree advertised for its check-cashing service; 
who received one or more of its deceptive collection letters; or whose financial 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-takes-action-against-moneytree-deceptive-advertising-and-collection-practices/ 1/3 
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institutions charged them fees when Moneytree withdrew electronic fund payments 
without proper authorization. 

• Cease its illegal practices: Moneytree must end its deceptive practices and obtain 
authorization for any electronic-fund transfers. 

• Pay a civil penalty of $250,000: Moneytree will pay $250,000 to the CFPB's Civil 
Penalty Fund. 

The full text of today's order is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201 61 2_cfpb_Moneytree-consentorder.pdf 
0 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov Er. 

Topics: 

• FAIR LENDING 

• ENFORCEMENT 

• CIVIL PENALTY FUND 

• SMALL-DOLLAR LENDING 

• PAYDAY LOANS 

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the 
press office. 

Go to press resources page 

STAY INFORMED 

Subscribe to our email newsletter. We will update you on new newsroom updates. 

Email address (required) 

example@mail.com 

The information you provide will permit the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to process your request or inquiry. See more. 

Sign up 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
RICHARD F. MOSELEY, SR.; RICHARD F. 
MOSELEY, JR.; CHRISTOPHER J. 
RANDAZZO; SSM GROUP, LLC; CMG 
GROUP, LLC; DJR GROUP, LLC; BCD 
GROUP, LLC; HYDRA FINANCIAL LIMITED 
FUND I; HYDRA FINANCIAL LIMITED 
FUND II; HYDRA FINANCIAL LIMITED 
FUND III; HYDRA FINANCIAL LIMITED 
FUND IV; PCMO SERVICES, LLC; PCKS 
SERVICES, LLC; PIGGYCASH ONLINE 
HOLDINGS, LLC; CLS SERVICES, INC.; FSR 
SERVICES, INC.; SJ PARTNERS, LLC; 
RIVER ELK SERVICES, LLC; OSL 
MARKETING, INC., a/k/a OSL GROUP, 
INC.; ROCKY OAK SERVICES, LLC; RM 
PARTNERS, LLC; PDC VENTURES, LLC; 
and CORVUS COMPANY, LLC, 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
 

 
CASE NO. ____________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 

 Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) alleges the following 

against Richard F. Moseley, Sr.; Richard F. Moseley, Jr.; Christopher J. Randazzo; SSM Group, 

LLC; CMG Group, LLC; DJR Group, LLC; BCD Group, LLC; Hydra Financial Limited Fund I; 

Hydra Financial Limited Fund II; Hydra Financial Limited Fund III; Hydra Financial Limited 

Fund IV; PCMO Services, LLC; PCKS Services, LLC; Piggycash Online Holdings, LLC; CLS 

Services, Inc.; FSR Services, Inc.; SJ Partners, LLC; River Elk Services, LLC; OSL Marketing, 
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Inc., a/k/a OSL Group, Inc.; Rocky Oak Services, LLC; RM Partners, LLC; PDC Ventures, LLC; 

and Corvus Company, LLC (Defendants): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendants, operating through a maze of interrelated companies, use consumer 

financial information they purchase from third parties to originate online payday loans without 

consumers’ consent.  Defendants deposit the payday loans into consumers’ bank accounts 

without their authorization, and then use misrepresentations and false documents to further 

convince these consumers that they agreed to these phony online payday loans. Defendants 

then use these purported loans as a basis to make repeated, unauthorized withdrawals from 

consumers’ bank accounts. In some cases, Defendants have bilked consumers out of thousands 

of dollars in “finance charges” for a $200 or $300 loan that the consumer never agreed to.  

2. The Bureau brings this action under the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a); the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666j; and the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693-1693r. 

This action seeks temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief; rescission or 

reformation of contracts; restitution, the refund of monies paid, and disgorgement of ill-gotten 

monies; the appointment of a receiver; other equitable relief; and civil money penalties for 

Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, TILA and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 

1026, and EFTA and its implementing Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. Part 1005.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1); presents a federal question, 28 

U.S.C. § 1331; and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 
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4. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because the causes of action 

arise from Defendants’ transacting business in this District or have caused injury in this 

District through acts or omissions occurring outside of this District. 

5. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here and Defendants do business here. 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(2); 12 U.S.C.  5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

6. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under Federal 

consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent litigating authority 

to enforce the CFPA.  12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a) and (b). Unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA are prohibited. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1). The 

Bureau is authorized to take appropriate enforcement action to address violations of Federal 

consumer financial law.  See 12 U.S.C. §§ 5511(c)(4); 5512(a); 5564(a).   

DEFENDANTS 

7. Defendant Richard F. Moseley, Sr. is an individual who, acting alone or in 

concert with others, and through his interrelated companies described below, has engaged in 

an unlawful payday lending scheme designed to obtain unauthorized access to consumers’ 

bank accounts and deceive consumers concerning the true terms  of their payday loans. 

Defendant Moseley, Sr.’s businesses include all of the corporate defendants listed below. At all 

times material to this complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Defendant Moseley, Sr. 

has directly participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint. At all times 

material to this complaint, Moseley, Sr. transacts or has transacted business in the Western 

District of Missouri.  
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8. Defendant Richard F. Moseley, Jr. is an individual who, acting alone or in 

concert with others, and through his interrelated companies described below, has engaged in 

an unlawful payday lending scheme designed to obtain unauthorized access to consumers’ 

bank accounts and deceive consumers concerning the true terms  of their payday loans. 

Defendant Moseley, Jr.’s businesses include Defendants SSM Group, CMG Group, DJR Group, 

BCD Group, PiggyCash Online Holdings, PCMO Services, PCKS Services, PDC Ventures, SJ 

Partners, River Elk Services, Rocky Oak Services, and RM Partners. At all times material to this 

complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Defendant Moseley, Jr. has directly 

participated in the acts and practices set forth in this complaint. At all times material to this 

complaint, Moseley, Jr. transacts or has transacted business in the Western District of 

Missouri.  

9. Defendant Christopher J. Randazzo an individual who, acting alone or in 

concert with others, and through his interrelated companies described below, has engaged in 

an unlawful payday lending scheme designed to obtain unauthorized access to consumers’ 

bank accounts and deceive consumers concerning the true terms  of their payday loans. 

Defendant Randazzo’s businesses include Defendants Hydra Financial Limited Fund I, Hydra 

Financial Limited Fund II, Hydra Financial Limited Fund III, Hydra Financial Limited Fund 

IV, River Elk Services, and Rocky Oak Services. At all times material to this complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, Defendant Randazzo has directly participated in the acts and 

practices set forth in this complaint. At all times material to this complaint, Randazzo transacts 

or has transacted business in the Western District of Missouri. 

10. Defendant SSM Group, LLC is a limited liability company organized under the 

laws of the Commonwealth of St. Kitts & Nevis and has its principal place of business at 2 E. 

Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by 
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Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. SSM Group transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and throughout the United States. At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, SSM Group has originated and serviced online payday loans 

throughout the United States. 

11. Defendant CMG Group, LLC is a limited liability company organized under the 

laws of the Commonwealth of St. Kitts & Nevis and has its principal place of business at 2 E. 

Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by 

Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. CMG Group transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and throughout the United States.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, CMG Group has originated and serviced online payday loans 

throughout the United States. 

12. Defendant DJR Group, LLC is a limited liability company organized under the 

laws of the Commonwealth of St. Kitts & Nevis and has its principal place of business at 2 E. 

Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by 

Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. DJR Group transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and throughout the United States.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, DJR Group has originated and serviced online payday loans 

throughout the United States. 

13. Defendant BCD Group, LLC is a limited liability company organized under the 

laws of the Commonwealth of St. Kitts & Nevis and has its principal place of business at 2 E. 

Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by 

Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. BCD Group transacts or has transacted business in 

this district and throughout the United States.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting 
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alone or in concert with others, BCD Group has originated and serviced online payday loans 

throughout the United States. 

14. Defendant Hydra Financial Limited Fund I (Hydra I) is organized as a 

limited company under the laws of the Commonwealth of New Zealand and has its principal 

place of business at Level 5, 22 The Terrace, Wellington, 6011, New Zealand. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Randazzo. Hydra I transacts or 

has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.  At all times material 

to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Hydra I has originated and serviced 

online payday loans throughout the United States.  

15. Defendant Hydra Financial Limited Fund II (Hydra II) is organized as a 

limited company under the laws of the Commonwealth of New Zealand and has its principal 

place of business at Level 5, 22 The Terrace, Wellington, 6011, New Zealand. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Randazzo. Hydra II transacts 

or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.  At all times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Hydra II has originated and 

serviced online payday loans throughout the United States.  

16. Defendant Hydra Financial Limited Fund III (Hydra III) is organized as a 

limited company under the laws of the Commonwealth of New Zealand and has its principal 

place of business at Level 5, 22 The Terrace, Wellington, 6011, New Zealand. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Randazzo. Hydra III transacts 

or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.  At all times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Hydra III has originated 

and serviced online payday loans throughout the United States.  
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17. Defendant Hydra Financial Limited Fund IV (Hydra IV) is organized as a 

limited company under the laws of the Commonwealth of New Zealand and had its principal 

place of business at Level 5, 22 The Terrace, Wellington, 6011, New Zealand. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Randazzo. Hydra IV transacts 

or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.  At all times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Hydra IV has originated 

and serviced online payday loans throughout the United States.  

18. Defendant PCMO Services, LLC is a Missouri limited liability company and 

has its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The 

company is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. The 

company transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

19. Defendant PCKS Services, LLC is a Kansas limited liability company and has 

its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company 

is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. The company 

transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

20. Defendant Piggycash Online Holdings, LLC is a Kansas limited liability 

company and has its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 

64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, 

Jr. The company transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the 

United States. 

21. Defendant CLS Services, Inc. is a Missouri corporation and has no known 

physical address. It maintains P.O. Box 7082 in Kansas City, MO 64113. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendant Moseley, Sr. The company transacts or has 

transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 
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22. Defendant FSR Services, Inc. is incorporated in both Kansas and Missouri and 

has its principal place of business at 3901 W. 56th St., Fairway, KS 66205. The company is 

owned, directed, or controlled by Defendant Moseley, Sr. The company transacts or has 

transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

23. Defendant SJ Partners, LLC is a Missouri limited liability company and has its 

principal place of business at 438 W. 56th St., Kansas City, MO 64113. The company is owned, 

directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. The company transacts or 

has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

24. Defendant River Elk Services, LLC is a Missouri limited liability company 

with no known physical address. It maintains P.O. Box 7082 in Kansas City, MO 64113. The 

company is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr., Moseley, Jr., and 

Randazzo. The company transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout 

the United States. 

25. Defendant OSL Marketing, Inc. (a/k/a OSL Group, Inc.) is a Missouri 

corporation and has its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 

64114. The company is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendant Moseley, Sr. The company 

transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

26. Defendant Rocky Oak Services, LLC is a Kansas limited liability company and 

has its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The 

company is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr., Moseley, Jr., and 

Randazzo. The company transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout 

the United States. 

27. Defendant RM Partners, LLC is a Kansas limited liability company and has its 

principal place of business at 3901 W. 56th St., Fairway, KS 66205. The company is owned, 
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directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. The company transacts or 

has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

28. Defendant PDC Ventures, LLC is a Missouri limited liability company and has 

its principal place of business at 2 E. Gregory Boulevard, Kansas City, MO 64114. The company 

is owned, directed, or controlled by Defendants Moseley, Sr. and Moseley, Jr. The company 

transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

29. Defendant Corvus Company, LLC is a limited liability company organized 

under the laws of the Commonwealth of St. Kitts & Nevis and has no known physical address. 

It maintains P.O. Box 7082 in Kansas City, MO 64113. The company is owned, directed, or 

controlled by Defendant Moseley, Sr. The company transacts or has transacted business in this 

district and throughout the United States. 

COMMON ENTERPRISE 

30. Defendants SSM Group, LLC; CMG Group, LLC; DJR Group, LLC; BCD Group, 

LLC; Hydra Financial Limited Fund I; Hydra Financial Limited Fund II; Hydra Financial 

Limited Fund III; Hydra Financial Limited Fund IV; PCMO Services, LLC; PCKS Services, 

LLC; Piggycash Online Holdings, LLC;  CLS Services, Inc.; FSR Services, Inc.; SJ Partners, 

LLC; River Elk Services, LLC; OSL Marketing, Inc. a/k/a OSL Group, Inc.; Rocky Oak Services, 

LLC; RM Partners, LLC; PDC Ventures, LLC; and Corvus Company, LLC (collectively, 

Corporate Defendants) operate as a common enterprise through an interrelated network of 

companies that share common control, addresses, and office space; commingle funds; and 

interact with consumers, payment processors, and other third parties from common locations. 

Because these Corporate Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is 

jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Defendants Moseley, Sr., 

Moseley, Jr., and Randazzo have formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, 
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or participated in the acts and practices of the Corporate Defendants that constitute the 

common enterprise.  

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

31. Since at least 2011, Defendants have purported to be in the business of 

originating and servicing online “payday loans” across the country. “Payday loans” are high-

cost, short-term, unsecured loans, often made to consumers to provide funds in anticipation of 

an upcoming paycheck.   

32. Many consumers have not consented to or authorized Defendants’ purported 

payday loans.  

33. Defendants purchase consumers’ sensitive personal and financial information 

from online lead generators or data brokers, and use that information to deposit payday loans 

into consumers’ bank accounts without their consent. Defendants then make repeated 

unauthorized withdrawals of the purported “finance charges” for these loans from consumers’ 

accounts. Often, consumers must close their bank accounts to put an end to these unauthorized 

withdrawals. 

34. For a typical consumer, Defendants’ scheme works like this:  First, they deposit 

$200 to $300 into the consumer’s checking accounts. Then they withdraw a $60 to $90 

“finance charge” from the consumer’s account every two weeks indefinitely. Finally, when a 

consumer (or the consumer’s bank or credit union) contacts Defendants to inquire about the 

charges, Defendants use bogus documentation to justify the unauthorized transactions.  

Defendants Obtain Unauthorized Access to Consumers’ Bank Accounts 

35. Consumers often seek online loans through websites controlled and operated by 

third-party “lead generators.” Consumers must enter sensitive personal and financial 

information, including social security and checking account numbers, into the website to apply 
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for the loan. Lead generators then auction off consumers’ sensitive personal and financial 

information to firms who make the loans or to intermediary data brokers, who then re-sell the 

leads to lenders.  

36. In numerous instances, Defendants have purchased consumer leads from lead 

generators or data brokers, and then deposited purported payday loans into these consumers’ 

bank accounts.   

37. In numerous instances, consumers did not authorize these loans or authorize 

these deposits. 

38. Some consumers report that after submitting their application on a lead-

generator website, they received a denial notification or obtained a loan from a different 

lender. Nevertheless, they received a deposit into their account from Defendants without ever 

having seen or consented to any loan terms.  

39. Other consumers complain that they never actually completed a loan application 

online or had not applied for a loan near the time of the unauthorized deposit, but still received 

unauthorized funds from Defendants.   

40. Then, in numerous instances, Defendants have made withdrawals from 

consumers’ accounts every two weeks for the purported finance charge for the loan. 

41. In numerous instances, consumers did not authorize these withdrawals.   

42. Consumers attempt to contact Defendants to complain about the unauthorized 

loans and have them reversed but are unable to reach Defendants.  

43. When consumers are actually able to contact Defendants to complain about the 

unauthorized loans and have them reversed, Defendants respond by providing them with 

copies of bogus loan applications, electronic transfer authorizations, or other loan documents 

that purport to establish earlier consent to the loan.  
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44. When consumers report to their bank that Defendants’ deposits and withdrawals 

are unauthorized, the bank will contact Defendants to verify the transaction. Defendants, 

directly or through their payment processors, often misrepresent to these institutions that 

consumers authorized the debits.  

45. Then, when banks demand additional proof of consumer authorization, 

Defendants bolster their deception by providing, or causing others to provide, the banks with 

copies of the same bogus applications, electronic transfer applications, or other loan 

documents that purport to establish earlier consent to the loan. 

46. As a result, in numerous instances, consumers’ banks deny their requests to 

reverse Defendants’ unauthorized deposits or withdrawals. 

47. Defendants often continue to make withdrawals until consumers can obtain a 

stop-payment hold or close their accounts. As a result, some consumers may end up paying 

hundreds or even thousands of dollars for loans they never authorized. 

48. Even when consumers successfully close their deposit accounts, in numerous 

instances Defendants sell or assign the bogus debt to third-party debt brokers or debt 

collectors. 

49. By selling or assigning these debts, Defendants represent to third-party debt 

brokers or debt collectors that these consumers authorized the loans. In fact, in numerous 

instances these consumers had not authorized the loans and there is no legitimate basis for the 

debt. 

Defendants Misrepresent the Terms of the Loans 

50. Consumers typically receive loans from Defendants without having seen the loan 

terms—such as the finance charge, annual percentage rate, total of payments, and payment 

schedule—or without having consented to the transaction at all.  For these consumers, 

Case 4:14-cv-00789-DW   Document 3   Filed 09/08/14   Page 12 of 25



  

 

 

13 
   

Defendants do not provide required disclosures before consummating the loan transaction and 

depositing the principal into consumers’ bank accounts.   

51. But, in some instances, consumers may receive Defendants’ loan terms in 

advance and consent to the payday loan.  Even where consumers did consent to Defendants’ 

loans, however, Defendants misrepresent their price terms and repayment obligations.   

52. In particular, Defendants represent to consumers that the total payment for 

satisfying the payday loan is the sum of the principal borrowed plus a one-time stated finance 

charge.  

53. In reality, Defendants assess and collect bi-weekly finance charges from 

consumers indefinitely and do not apply those payments towards reducing loan principal. 

54. Defendants’ “Loan Note and Disclosure” (Loan Disclosure) says that the 

consumer’s “Total of Payments” will be “[t]he amount you will have paid after you have 

made the scheduled payment,” and constitutes the sum of a stated “FINANCE CHARGE” 

and the “Amount Financed.” It also provides the purported “ANNUAL PERCENTAGE 

RATE” (APR) for the loan. This information appears in bold and prominent text in a box set 

apart from the rest of the text of the Loan Disclosure. 

55. Then, in smaller and less conspicuous text, there are additional disclosures that 

contradict these terms. The purported disclosure provides that the disclosed payment schedule 

only applies when you “decline* the option of refinancing.” Then, further down in this small 

text, it explains that, “*To decline the option of refinancing you must sign the Account 

Summary page and fax it back to the office at least three business days before your loan is due.”   

56. This inadequate disclosure is demonstrated in the following excerpt from one of 

Defendants’ loan notes for a $300 loan with a $90 finance charge and 995.45% APR: 
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57. In some instances, Defendants also send consumers an “Account Summary” with 

information about the loan. Defendants represent that the “Pay Off Amount Due” is a one-time 

payment of the principal plus one finance charge (for example, $390) and that the consumer 

has authorized Defendants “to debit the payoff amount due $390.00 from your account named 

above on your current due date.” 

58. In fact, Defendants withdraw only a finance charge on the due date – and will 

continue to withdraw a finance charge indefinitely unless consumers take affirmative action to 

stop the automatic renewal of the loan.  

59. For example, instead of paying $390 for a $300 loan, some consumers have paid 

Defendants more than $1,000 in bi-weekly debits before finally managing to cut off access to 

their bank accounts. 

60. Defendants do not adequately disclose the terms of the loan as actually 

structured, i.e., that it contemplates consumers will pay bi-weekly finance charges indefinitely, 

without any of those payments reducing the principal balance of their loan.   
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61. As a result, in numerous instances, Defendants extract significantly higher 

payments from consumers than they represent in the prominent terms of their Loan 

Disclosures or in other written or oral communications to consumers.   

Defendants’ Loans Require Pre-Authorized Electronic Transfers 
 

62. Consumers typically receive loans from Defendants without having consented to 

the transaction. As a result, Defendants do not obtain these consumers’ written authorization 

to initiate electronic fund transfers from their depository accounts and do not provide 

consumers with copies of these authorizations. 

63. But, in some instances, consumers may consent to Defendants’ transactions.  

Even where consumers consent, however, Defendants unlawfully condition the extension of 

credit on pre-authorized electronic fund transfers (EFTs) from the consumers’ bank accounts. 

These preauthorized EFTs are for a series of recurring debits from consumers’ accounts every 

two weeks. 

64. For example, the ACH authorization in some of Defendants’ loan agreements 

provides that the consumer authorizes Defendants “to initiate one or more ACH debit entries … 

for the payments that come due each pay period and/or each due date concerning every 

refinance, with regard to the loan for which you are applying.” 

65. The ACH authorization in some of Defendants’ other loan agreements provides 

that the consumer authorizes Defendants “to initiate an ACH debit entry to your Bank Account: 

(a) for the Total of Payments plus any accrued fees on the Payment Due Date, or on any 

subsequent Renewal Payment Due Date, if you do not contact us and select Payment in Full . . 

. .”  
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ROLE OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT RICHARD F. MOSELEY, SR. 

66. Defendant Richard F. Moseley, Sr. is a primary participant in the affairs of the 

interrelated maze of entities through which Defendants carry out the unlawful lending 

activities described in this complaint. Moseley, Sr. is owner, principal, managing member, and 

registered agent of Defendants SSM Group, CMG Group, DJR Group, BCD Group, PCMO 

Services, PCKS Services, Piggycash Online Holdings, CLS Services, FSR Services, PDC 

Ventures, RM Partners, SJ Partners, River Elk Services, OSL Marketing, Rocky Oak Services, 

and Corvus Company, and is involved in the operations of Hydra Financial Limited Funds I-IV. 

In his roles as owner, principal, managing member, and registered agent for these companies, 

Moseley, Sr., acting alone or in concert with others, has formulated, directed, controlled, had 

the authority to control, or participated in these companies’ unlawful lending operations. 

Moseley, Sr. has access to all of the businesses’ bank accounts, and directs the flow of monies 

between these bank accounts.  

 ROLE OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT RICHARD F. MOSELEY, JR. 

67. Defendant Richard F. Moseley, Jr. is also a primary participant in the affairs of 

the interrelated maze of entities through which Defendants carry out the unlawful lending 

activities described in this complaint.  He is the owner and principal of Defendants SSM 

Group, CMG Group, DJR Group, BCD Group, Piggy Cash Online Holdings, PDC Ventures, SJ 

Partners, River Elk Services, Rocky Oak Services, and RM Partners. In his roles as owner and 

principal for these companies, Moseley, Jr., acting alone or in concert with others, has 

formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in these 

companies’ unlawful lending operations. Moseley, Jr has access to all of the businesses’ bank 

accounts, and directs the flow of monies between these bank accounts.  
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ROLE OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER J. RANDAZZO 

68. Defendant Christopher J. Randazzo is also a primary participant in the affairs of 

the interrelated maze of entities through which Defendants carry out the unlawful lending 

activities described in this complaint.  He is the principal and senior manager of Defendants 

Hydra Financial Limited Funds I-IV. In his roles as principal and senior manager for these 

companies, Randazzo, acting alone or in concert with others, has formulated, directed, 

controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in these companies’ unlawful lending 

operations. Randazzo is also registered agent for Defendants River Elk Services and Rocky Oak 

Services.     

THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT 

69. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B), 

prohibit covered persons from engaging “in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.”  

70. Section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA provides that it is “unlawful for any covered 

person to offer or provide to a consumer any financial product or service not in conformity 

with Federal consumer law, or otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal 

consumer financial law.”  Section 1054(a) of the CFPA grants the Bureau authority to 

commence a civil action against any person who violates a Federal consumer financial law.  The 

CFPA is a Federal consumer financial law.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

71. The corporate Defendants are “covered person[s]” within the meaning of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

72. Defendants Richard F. Moseley, Sr., Richard F. Moseley, Jr., and Christopher J. 

Randazzo are “covered person[s]” in their capacity as “related person[s]” who are deemed 

covered persons as “director[s], officer[s], [or] employee[s] charged within managerial 
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responsibility for, or controlling shareholder of, or agent for, such covered person.” 12 U.S.C.  § 

5481(25). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 

COUNT I 

Misrepresentations That Consumers Authorized the Loans and are  
Bound by their Terms 

 
73. In numerous instances, in connection with the origination and servicing of 

purported payday loans, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that consumers authorized the payday loan or authorized Defendants to make 

withdrawals from their bank accounts, and therefore were obligated to pay the finance charges 

associated with the purported loan. 

74. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made the 

representations set forth in Paragraph 70 of this Complaint, consumers had not authorized the 

payday loans, had not authorized Defendants to make withdrawals from their bank accounts, 

and therefore were not obligated to pay the finance charges associated with the purported 

loans. 

75. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 70 of this 

Complaint are false and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT II 

Misrepresentations about Loan Terms  

76. In numerous instances, in connection with origination and servicing of purported 

payday loans, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 
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that a consumer’s total of payments will be equal to the amount financed plus a stated finance 

charge. 

77. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made the 

representations set forth in Paragraph 73 of this Complaint, the consumer’s total of payments 

has been greater than the amount financed plus the stated finance charge.  

78. Therefore, Defendants’ representations as set forth in Paragraph 73 of this 

Complaint are false and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of 

Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT III 

Unfair Billing Practices  

79. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair” acts or practices.  

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury, which is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 

80. In numerous instances, in connection with the origination and servicing of 

purported payday loans, Defendants have caused consumers’ bank accounts to be debited 

without the consumers’ express, informed consent.   

81. Defendants’ actions cause or are likely to cause substantial injury to consumers 

that consumers cannot reasonably avoid and that is not outweighed by countervailing benefits 

to consumers or competition. 

82. Therefore, Defendants’ acts or practices as set forth in Paragraph 77 of this 

Complaint are unfair and violate Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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VIOLATIONS OF TILA AND REGULATION Z 

83. Under TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666j, and its implementing Regulation Z, 12 

C.F.R. § 1026, creditors who extend “closed-end credit,” as defined in 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2(a)(10), 

must comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of TILA and Regulation Z, including, but 

not limited to, Sections 1026.17 and 1026.18 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17 and 1026.18.   

84. “Creditor” means a person who regularly extends consumer credit that is subject 

to a finance charge or is payable by written agreement in more than four installments (not 

including a down payment), and to whom the obligation is initially payable, either on the face 

of the note or contract, or by agreement when there is no contract.  12 C.F.R. § 1026.2 (a)(17).  

Defendants are creditors under TILA and Regulation Z because they extend consumer credit 

subject to a finance charge and the obligation is initially payable to them. 

85.  “Closed-end credit” means consumer credit other than open-end credit, and 

“[o]pen-end credit” is defined as “consumer credit extended by a creditor under a plan in 

which: (i) the creditor reasonably contemplates repeated transactions; (ii) the creditor may 

impose a finance charge from time to time on an outstanding unpaid balance; and (iii) the 

amount of credit that may be extended to the consumer during the term of the plan (up to any 

limit set by the creditor) is generally made available to the extent that any outstanding balance 

is repaid.”  12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.2(a)(10) and (a)(20).  Defendants extend closed-end credit (as 

opposed to open-end credit) to consumers under TILA and Regulation Z because the loans do 

not meet all three criteria for open-end credit. 

86. Sections 121(a) and 128(b)(1) of TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1631(a) and 1638(b), and 

Sections 1026.17(a) and (b) and Section 1026.18 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17(a) and 

(b) and 1026.18, require creditors of closed-end consumer credit transactions to disclose, 

before the credit is extended, among other things, the following about the loan:  finance 
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charge; annual percentage rate; number, amount, and due dates or period of payments 

scheduled to repay the total of payments (i.e., the “scheduled payment(s)”); and total of 

payments.  These disclosures must reflect the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.  

12 C.F.R. § 1026.17(c).    

COUNT IV 

Inaccurate Loan Term Disclosures 

87. In numerous instances Defendants have violated the requirements of TILA and 

Regulation Z by not disclosing in writing before extending credit the following information in a 

manner reflecting the terms of the legal obligation between the parties: 

  a.  the finance charge; 

  b. the annual percentage rate; 

  c. the payment schedule; and 

  d. the total of payments. 

88. Therefore, Defendants’ practices as described in Paragraph 84 of this Complaint 

constitute violations of Sections 121 and 128 of TILA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1631, 1638, and Sections 

1026.17 and 1026.18 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.17 and 1026.18. 

VIOLATIONS OF EFTA AND REGULATION E 

89. Section 907(a) of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), provides that a “preauthorized 

electronic fund transfer from a consumer’s account may be authorized by the consumer only in 

writing, and a copy of such authorization shall be provided to the consumer when made.”   

90. Section 1005.10(b) of Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b), provides that 

“[p]reauthorized electronic fund transfers from a consumer’s account may be authorized only 

by a writing signed or similarly authenticated by the consumer.  The person that obtains the 

authorization shall provide a copy to the consumer.” 
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91. The Official Interpretation of Regulation E, Section 1005.10(b), 12 C.F.R. Part 

1005 Supp. I at ¶ 10(b), cmt. 5, provides that “[t]he authorization process should evidence the 

consumer’s identity and assent to the authorization.” 

92. Defendants are “persons” as this term is defined in Section 1005.2(j) of 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(j). 

93. Section 913(1) of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k(1), provides that no person may 

condition the extension of credit to a consumer on such consumer’s repayment by means of 

preauthorized electronic fund transfers. 

94. Section 1005.10(e)(1) of Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(e)(1), provides that 

“[n]o financial institution or other person may condition an extension of credit to a consumer 

on the consumer’s repayment by preauthorized electronic fund transfers, except for credit 

extended under an overdraft credit plan or extended to maintain a specified minimum balance 

in the consumer’s account.”  

95. The Official Interpretation of Regulation E, Section 1005.10(e)(1), 12 C.F.R § 

1005.10(e)(1)-1, Supp. I, provides that creditors may not require repayment of loans by 

electronic means on a preauthorized recurring basis.  

COUNT V 

Not Obtaining Authorization for Electronic Fund Transfers 
 

96. In numerous instances Defendants have debited consumers’ bank accounts on a 

recurring basis without: 

 a. obtaining a written authorization signed or similarly authenticated from 

consumers for preauthorized electronic fund transfers from the accounts; 

or 
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 b. providing to the consumers a copy of a written authorization signed or 

similarly authenticated by the consumers for preauthorized electronic 

fund transfers from the consumers’ accounts. 

97. Therefore, Defendants’ practices as set forth in Paragraph 93 of this Complaint 

constitute violations of Section 907(a) of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a), and Section 1005.10(b) of 

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(b). 

COUNT VI 

Conditioning Credit on Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers  

 
98. In numerous instances, in connection with the origination of payday loans with 

consumers, Defendants have conditioned the extension of credit on recurring preauthorized 

electronic fund transfers. 

99. Therefore, Defendants’ practices as set forth in Paragraph 95 of this Complaint 

constitute violations of Section 913(1) of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k(1), and Section 1005.10(e)(1) 

of Regulation E, 12 C.F.R § 1005.10(e)(1). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

100.  Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result 

of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, TILA and its implementing Regulation Z, and EFTA and 

its implementing Regulation E. Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of these 

unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief from this Court, Defendants are likely to 

continue to injure consumers, reap ill-gotten gains, and harm the public. 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

101. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable relief 

with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, including, without limitation, 
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permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of 

moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and civil 

money penalties. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a) and 5565(a).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 The Bureau requests that the Court: 

 A. Award preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be necessary to avert the 

likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility 

of effective final relief, including but not limited to, temporary and preliminary injunctions, an 

order freezing assets, immediate access to business premises, and appointment of a receiver; 

 B. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the CFPA; 

TILA and its implementing Regulation Z; and EFTA and its implementing Regulation E; 

 C. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper; 

 D. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, TILA and its implementing Regulation Z, 

and EFTA and its implementing Regulation E, including but not limited to, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-

gotten gains; 

 E. Award civil money penalties against Defendants; and 

 F. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Dated: September 8, 2014 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  

  
       ANTHONY ALEXIS     
       Acting Enforcement Director 
 

CARA PETERSEN  
Acting Deputy Enforcement Director For 
Litigation 
 
    /s/ John Thompson        
John Thompson 
E-mail: john.thompson@cfpb.gov 
Phone: 202-435-7270 
Laura Schneider 
E-mail: laura.schneider@cfpb.gov 
Phone: 202-435-7311 
Michael Favretto 
E-mail: michael.favretto@cfpb.gov 
Phone: 202-435-7785 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 

 
 And 
 
 Local Counsel 
 TAMMY DICKINSON 
 United States Attorney 
 

    /s/  Thomas Larson                         
Thomas M. Larson, Bar No. 21957 

 Assistant United States Attorney 
 Charles Evans Whittaker Courthouse 
 400 East Ninth Street, Room 5510 
 Kansas City, MO 64106 
 Phone: 816-426-3130 
 Facsimile: 816-426-3165 
       E-mail: tom.larson@usdoj.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION 
BUREAU, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
RICHARD F. MOSELEY, SR., et al., 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
 

 
CASE NO. ____________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
DECLARATION OF JOHN THOMPSON UNDER FEDERAL RULE OF CIVIL 

PROCEDURE 65(b) IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S EX PARTE 
APPLICATION FOR A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER WITH ASSET 

FREEZE, APPOINTMENT OF  A RECEIVER,AND OTHER EQUITABLE 
RELIEF AND ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE WHY A PRELIMINARY 

INJUNCTION SHOULD NOT ISSUE AND EX PARTE MOTION TO 
TEMPORARILY SEAL ENTIRE FILE AND DOCKET 

 
(FILED UNDER SEAL) 

I, JOHN THOMPSON, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney employed by and representing Plaintiff, the Consumer 

Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau), in this case. I am licensed to practice law and am 

an attorney in good standing in the state of New Mexico. I am appearing in this matter 

under Local Rule 83.5(n).  My business address is Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau, 1700 G Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20552. The following statements are 

within my personal knowledge, and if called as a witness, I will testify consistent with 

this declaration. 

2. Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65(b)(1), the Bureau is applying for 

an ex parte Temporary Restraining Order with Asset Freeze, Appointment of a Receiver 
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and Other Equitable Relief and Order to Show Cause why a Preliminary Injunction 

Should Not Issue (TRO Application). The Bureau is also applying ex parte to 

temporarily seal the entire file and docket. Along with these applications, under Rule 

65(b)(1), the Bureau is also applying for an order waiving the requirement to notify the 

opposing parties of the TRO Application. 

3. The Bureau has not attempted to provide notice to the Defendants, nor 

should notice be required, for the reasons set forth in this declaration. The necessity for 

this emergency hearing was not caused by the Bureau’s lack of diligence, but rather has 

been brought about by the circumstances of this case. 

4. The evidence set forth in the Bureau’s Suggestions in Support of its TRO 

Application (TRO Suggestions) and in the accompanying declarations and exhibits 

shows that Defendants have engaged in a concerted course of deceptive and fraudulent 

conduct in connection with the origination and servicing of online payday loans, in 

violation of:  (a) the Consumer Financial Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 

5564, and 5565; (b) the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and its 

implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. Part 1026; and (c) the Electronic Fund Transfer 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693 et seq., and its implementing Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. Part 1005.  

5. There is good cause to believe that the Court’s ability to provide effective 

final relief to consumers will be irreparably compromised if this matter is not sealed. 

There is good cause to believe that the same harm would occur if the Defendants receive 

advance notice of the Bureau’s ex parte TRO Application (or other papers) before the 

Court can enter an Order on the Bureau’s Application. Specific facts to support this 

conclusion are laid out below.  
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6. Defendants’ actions strongly suggest that they will hide assets and destroy 

evidence if given notice of this action before the Court can enter an Order. See TRO 

Suggestions, Section V.D.  

7. Defendants use a multi-layered array of corporate shells and interrelated 

companies to facilitate the movement of ill-gotten gains, obfuscate their true corporate 

identity, and otherwise shield themselves from regulatory scrutiny or legal 

accountability for their unlawful scheme. See TRO Suggestions, Sections III., V.B.   

8. Defendants’ online payday lending scheme is carried out through three 

principals – Richard F. Moseley, Sr., Richard F. Moseley, Jr., and Christopher J. 

Randazzo (Individual Defendants) – who own, operate, or control a series of multi-

generational, interrelated corporate entities (Corporate Defendants). See TRO 

Suggestions, Section III.  The Corporate Defendants can be further sub-divided into two 

groups: (1) the three generations of entities that purportedly make loans to consumers 

(Lending Companies); and (2) the holding companies to which one or more lending 

entities have transferred significant sums of money and which serve as intermediaries 

and distribution channels for ill-gotten gains extracted from consumers (Holding 

Companies). These entities are owned, operated, or controlled by the Individual 

Defendants. See TRO Suggestions, Section III.  Significantly, the first generation of 

Lending Companies are incorporated in Nevis, while the second generation of Lending 

Companies are incorporated in New Zealand.  (PX 1, Thomas Decl. ¶¶ 6-10). 

9. As described in more detail the Plaintiff’s TRO Suggestions, Defendants’ 

financial habits demonstrate their ability to immediately dissipate and hide assets if 

given notice of this action.  Defendants’ bank accounts are a financial labyrinth and 

money flows between them freely and in large sums. (See Id., Charts 1-2). In addition to 
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creating an opaque array of companies to carry out their scheme, bank records indicate 

that Defendants have at least 28 separate accounts in at least 2 different banks. (Id. ¶¶ 

40-42).  In the course of this scheme, Defendants routinely funneled millions of dollars 

among and between accounts held by the various Corporate Defendants as well as those 

held by the Individual Defendants.  For example, bank account records reveal that in 

one four-month period in 2013, the Lending Companies and Holding Companies 

transferred approximately $12 million among their accounts in over 200 separate 

transactions. (Id. ¶ 45, Chart 1, Exs.84-100).   

10. Furthermore, the Individual Defendants have taken over $5.8 million 

from the Lending Companies over the last four years.  (Id. ¶ 45). 

11. Defendants’ financial tactics demonstrate the ease and regularity with 

which they move funds, and their ability to dissipate and hide assets if given notice of 

this action.  Significantly, as of August 31, 2014, Defendants held close to $10.6 million 

in cash at various US Bank accounts, $10.2 million of which were held in three Holding 

Company accounts, FSR, CLS, and SJ Partners. (Id. ¶ 51). Indeed, because of 

Defendants’ ties to Nevis and New Zealand, Defendants are likely to move this money 

offshore upon notice of this action. 

12. Moreover, as discussed below, Defendants have a history of evading state 

authorities and disregarding court orders.  Despite attention from multiple state law 

enforcement authorities and over 1,000 consumer complaints, Defendants have 

continued their payday lending scheme in violation of Federal consumer financial laws.  

13. On February 1, 2011, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of 

Banking, issued an Order, Docket No. 11-0019 (ENF-C&D), against OSL Marketing, Inc., 

SSM Group, LLC, CMG Group, LLC, DJR Group, LLC, and Richard F. Moseley, Sr. The 
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Pennsylvania Department of Banking ordered the subjects to immediately cease and 

desist from “negotiating and making non-mortgage loans or advances of money on 

credit in the amount of $25,000 or less to Pennsylvania residents and charging interest 

and fees in excess of 6% until licensed by the Department to do such business,” “pay a 

fine to the Department in an amount of no less than $50,000,” and other remedies as 

set forth therein. (Id. ¶ 27, Ex. 45). Despite being served with the Order, the Hydra 

Group continued to offer “non-mortgage loans . . . in the amount of $25,000 or less to 

Pennsylvania resides and charging interest and fees in excess of 6%” without proper 

licensure in contravention of the Order.  (PX 2, Yan Decl., Att. 1 at 43, Att. 2 at 4).     

14. On February 21, 2012, the State of New Hampshire Banking Department 

issued a Notice of Order to Cease and Desist, Case No. 10-419, against SSM Group, LLC, 

that enjoined SSM Group from continuing to engage in “[u]nlicensed payday or small 

loan activity” and “charging additional fees on a loan.” SSM Group also received an 

administrative fine. (PX 1, Thomas Decl., ¶ 28, Ex. 46).      

15. On April 3, 2013, the State of Idaho, Department of Finance, Consumer 

Finance Bureau, issued an Amended Order to Cease and Desist, Docket No. 2012-6-12, 

against Hydra Financial Limited Fund I also d/b/a Hydra Financial Limited Fund II, 

Hydra Financial Limited Fund III, and Hydra Financial Limited Fund IV. The 

Respondent Hydra Financial was found to be in violation of Idaho Code governing 

unlicensed payday lending and ordered to immediately cease and desist from “acts, 

practices, or omissions which constitute a violation . . . including specifically from 

engaging in making payday loans or other similar loans in Idaho without the license 

required by the Act.” (Id. ¶ 29, Ex. 47).   
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16. The Hydra Group sought to evade the reach of Idaho’s licensure 

requirements in at least two ways. First, a contact address listed for the “Hydra Fund” 

on a website purported to be affiliated with that entity was, in fact, owned by a 

legitimate business enterprise unaffiliated with the Hydra Group. (Id., Ex. 47 at 65, 82-

84). Second, upon notification that it was the subject of an investigation by the Idaho 

Department of Finance, the Hydra Group wrote the Department a letter in which it 

stated that Idaho’s “licensing requirement either does not apply or Hydra would be 

exempt.” (Id., Ex. 47 at 173-174). 

17.   On May 3, 2013, the State of Illinois, Department of Financial & 

Professional Regulation, Division of Financial Institutions, issued a Cease and Desist 

Order, No. 13 CC 339, against Hydra Fund. The Department of Financial & Professional 

Regulation found that the Hydra Fund violated the Payday Loan Reform Act and the 

Consumer Installment Loan Act by making loans to Illinois consumers “without first 

applying for, and obtaining the required license from the Department” and ordered the 

Hydra Fund to immediately cease and desist. (Id., ¶ 30, Ex. 48). Again, the Hydra Group 

continued to engage in unlicensed payday lending in Illinois in contravention of the 

Order. (PX 2, Yan Decl. Att. 1 at 46, 48).    

18. Defendants’ dishonest and fraudulent behavior demonstrates a likelihood 

that they will dissipate or conceal assets or destroy or conceal evidence of their 

fraudulent conduct if they are given advance notice of Plaintiff’s request for temporary 

relief. 

19. In federal courts, an ex parte TRO is appropriate to serve the “underlying 

purpose of preserving the status quo and preventing irreparable harm.”  Granny Goose 

Foods, Inc. v. Brotherhood of Teamsters & Auto Truck Drivers Local No. 70, 415 U.S. 
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423, 439 (1974).   In this circuit, it is appropriate for district courts to issue ex parte 

TROs where there is a likelihood of asset transfer and dissipation and destruction of 

business records. See, e.g., CFTC v. Steele, Civil Action No. 4:13CV001900 RWS, 2013 

WL 5913792, at *1-*2 (E.D. Mo. Sept. 25, 2013) (granting ex parte TRO finding good 

cause to believe the defendants were likely to dissipate or transfer assets and destroy 

business records, and to preserve the status quo, protect public customers from loss and 

damage, and enable the plaintiff federal agency to fulfill its statutory duties); FTC v. 

Kruchten, 2001 WL 34134694, at *1 (D. Minn. May 10, 2001) (granting ex parte TRO 

based on threat to Court’s ability to grant effective final relief for consumers due to 

possible “sale, transfer, assignment, or other disposition or concealment by Defendants 

of their assets or records”).  

20. Indeed, federal courts, in this circuit and in others, have frequently 

granted ex parte TROs in other federal law enforcement actions: 

• FTC v. Grant Search, Inc., No. 2:02-cv-04174-NKL (W.D. Mo. Aug. 15, 

2002) (granting ex parte motion to seal and ex parte TRO with asset freeze and 

expedited discovery);  

• FTC v. Neiswonger, No. 4:96-cv-02225-SNLJ (E.D. Mo. July 17, 2006) 

(granting ex parte motion to seal filings and granting TRO with asset freeze, temporary 

receiver, and expedited discovery);  

• FTC v. Kruchten, No. 01-523 ADM/RLE (D. Minn. Mar. 26, 2001) 

(granting ex parte motion to seal filings and granting ex parte TRO with asset freeze, 

temporary receiver, and expedited discovery); 
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• CFPB v. Harper, No. 9:14-cv-80931-JIC (S.D. Fla. July 16, 2014) (granting 

ex parte motion to seal filings and granting TRO with asset freeze and temporary 

receiver);  

• CFPB v. Jalan, No. 8:12-cv-02088-AG-AN (C.D. Cal. Dec. 4, 2012) 

(granting ex parte motion to seal and ex parte TRO with asset freeze, temporary 

receiver, and expedited discovery);  

• CFPB v. Gordon, No. 2:12-cv-06147-RSWL-MRW (C.D. Cal. July 18, 2012) 

(granting ex parte motion to seal and ex parte TRO with asset freeze, temporary 

receiver, and expedited discovery);  

21. In addition to seeking temporary injunctive relief on an ex parte basis, 

Plaintiff also seeks to file this case under seal until five (5) days after the TRO is issued, 

or until all Defendants have been served, whichever occurs first.  Absent the seal order, 

it is likely that Defendants may learn of the action before they are served with a TRO.  

Thus the seal order is necessary to prevent the likely dissipation or concealment of 

assets and destruction of documents by Defendants.  Plaintiff offers the following 

reasons for the seal order:  

a. As a new federal agency, the Bureau is under intense media scrutiny.  We 

anticipate that any Bureau court filings will attract media attention. Indeed, some 

websites track and publicize every enforcement action that the Bureau takes.  See 

www.cfpb-lawblog.com; www.cfpbmonitor.com.  Additionally, news reporters check 

district court filings for matters of interest, and certain of Defendants’ known associates 

in the payday lending business have already been reported on by the media. (PX 1, 

Thomas Decl., ¶49, Ex. 114). If the file in this matter is not sealed, the fact that the 

Bureau has filed this action may therefore come to the attention of, and be published in, 
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a newspaper or on the internet, and Defendants may learn of the issuance of the 

requested TRO before they have been served. 

b. New case filings also may come to the attention of a docket monitoring 

service.  In June 1999, FTC attorneys filed an ex parte application for a TRO on behalf of 

the FTC in FTC v. Wazzu Corp., CV99-13114-FMC (CWx) (C.D. Cal. 1999).  When the 

FTC arrived at the defendants’ business premises to serve the TRO, the defendants said 

they had previously learned from a monitoring service to which their attorney 

subscribed that the FTC had filed a case against them.  This was later confirmed when 

the FTC attorneys spoke to the employee of the monitoring service who had discovered 

the FTC’s lawsuit.  The monitoring service would not have learned of the FTC’s action at 

the time of the filing if that case had been temporarily sealed.  Therefore, Plaintiff 

submits that it is in the public interest to order sealed all papers filed in this case for a 

limited period of time until service of the ex parte temporary restraining order can be 

effected.  

22. Based on the foregoing, there is good cause to believe that immediate and 

irreparable damage to the Plaintiff’s ability to obtain effective final relief for consumers, 

including monetary redress or restitution, is likely to occur unless the Plaintiff’s TRO 

Application is heard and any TRO is issued without notice to Defendants and unless the 

file in this matter is sealed until five (5) days after the TRO is issued or until all 

Defendants have been served, whichever occurs first. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed this 8th of September, 2014. 

          
/s/ John Thompson        
John Thompson  
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Counsel for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
E-mail: john.thompson@cfpb.gov 
Phone: 202-435-7270 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, TAMPA DIVISION 

 
 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
and Office of the Attorney General, State 
of Florida, Department of Legal Affairs, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 

College Education Services LLC, Marcia 
Elena Vargas, and Frank Liz, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. ________________ 
 
 
 
 

 

STIPULATED FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION, CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES, AND OTHER RELIEF 

 
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) and the Office of the 

Attorney General, State of Florida, Department of Legal Affairs (Attorney General of 

Florida) commenced this civil action on December 11, 2014, to obtain injunctive 

relief, civil money penalties, and other relief from College Education Services LLC, 

Marcia Elena Vargas, and Frank Liz. The Complaint alleges violations of the 

Telemarketing Sales Rule (TSR), 16 C.F.R. pt. 310, deceptive and abusive acts in 

violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), and violations of the Florida 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (FDUTPA), Chapter 501, Part II, Florida 

Statutes (2013), in connection with Defendants’ marketing and sale of student-loan 

debt-relief services. The Parties, by and through respective counsel, have requested 
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that the Court enter this Stipulated Final Judgment and Order for Permanent 

Injunction, Civil Money Penalties, and Other Relief (Order).  

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

action. 

2. Venue is proper as to all parties in this District and Division. 

3. The Parties agree to entry of this Order, without adjudication of any issue of 

fact or law, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the 

conduct alleged in the Complaint. 

4. Defendants neither admit nor deny any allegations in the complaint, except as 

specifically stated in this Order. For the purposes of this Order, Defendants 

admit the facts necessary to establish the Court’s jurisdiction over them and 

the subject matter of this action. 

5. Defendants waive service under Rule 4(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and waive all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise challenge 

or contest the validity of this Order. Defendants also waive any claim they 

may have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning 

the prosecution of this action. Each Party will bear its own costs and expenses, 

including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, except as otherwise provided in 

Section IV.A of this Order. 

6. Entry of this Order is in the public interest. 
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DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to this Order: 

1. “Affected Consumers” includes any consumer who paid an Advance Fee to 

CES. 

2. “Advance Fee” means any fee or consideration requested or received by an 

entity, whether directly or indirectly, that occurs before: 

a. That entity has renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered the 

terms of at least one debt pursuant to a settlement agreement, debt-

management plan, or other such valid contractual agreement executed 

by the consumer; 

b. the consumer has made at least one payment pursuant to that 

settlement agreement, debt-management plan, or other valid 

contractual agreement between the consumer and the creditor or debt 

collector; and 

c. to the extent that debts enrolled in a service provided by the entity are 

renegotiated, settled, reduced, or otherwise altered individually, the fee 

or consideration either (1) bears the same proportional relationship to 

the total fee for renegotiating, settling, reducing, or altering the terms 

of the entire debt balance as the individual debt amount bears to the 

entire debt amount; or (2) is a percentage of the amount saved as a 

result of the renegotiation, settlement, reduction, or alteration.  
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3. “CES” means College Education Services LLC, its predecessor College 

Defaulted Student Loan LLC, and its successors and assigns.  

4. “Consumer financial product or service” has the same meaning set forth in the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

5. “Corporate Defendant” means CES. 

6. “Debt-Relief Service” means any program or service represented, expressly or 

impliedly, to (1) assist a consumer with debt management or debt settlement, 

(2) modify the terms of any extension of credit, or (3) renegotiate, settle, or in 

any way alter the terms of payment or any other terms of a debt between a 

consumer and one or more creditors or debt collectors. 

7. “Defendants” means the Corporate Defendant and the Individual Defendants, 

individually, collectively, or in any combination.  

8. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is issued.  

9. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

delegee. 

10. “Individual Defendant(s)” means, individually or collectively, Marcia Elena 

Vargas, also known as Marcia Vargas, Elena Vargas, Elena Marcia Vargas, or 

Marcia Elena Vargas Liz; and Frank Liz, also known as Frank C. Liz or 

Francisco Cabrera Liz. 

11. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 
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brought against Defendants based on substantially the same facts as alleged in 

the Complaint. 

ORDER 

I. 
BAN ON DEBT-RELIEF SERVICES 

IT IS ORDERED that Defendants are permanently restrained and enjoined 

from (1) offering, marketing, selling, or providing any Debt-Relief Service, whether 

directly or indirectly, (2) assisting any person offering, marketing, selling, or 

providing any Debt-Relief Service, including by consulting, brokering, planning, 

investing, or advising, and (3) receiving any monies or consideration from, holding 

any ownership interest in, providing services to, or working in any capacity for any 

person engaged in or assisting in the offering, marketing, selling, or providing of any 

Debt-Relief Service. 

II. 
CONDUCT PROHIBITIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in connection with offering, marketing, 

selling, or providing any consumer financial product or service, Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in active 

concert or participation with them who have actual notice of this Order, whether 

acting directly or indirectly or by assisting others, are permanently enjoined and  
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restrained from misrepresenting any material aspect of the product or service, 

including but not limited to: 

A. The benefits that a consumer will receive from the product or service; 

B. The time required to achieve benefits from the product or service; or 

C. The total costs or any other material term, restriction, limitation or 

condition of the product or service. 

III. 
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

A. Defendants, jointly and severally, must pay a civil money penalty of $25,000 

to the Bureau. 

B. Within 14 days of the Effective Date, Defendants must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

C. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

D. Defendants must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Defendants may not: 

1. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 
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2. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment 

made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money 

penalty paid under this Order. 

E. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Defendants may not argue that they are entitled to, nor 

may Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty 

paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer 

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Defendants must, within 30 days after 

entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not 

be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the 

amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

F. The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements necessary to sustain 

an action by the Bureau under Section 523(a)(2)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, 

U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A). For such purposes, this Order will have collateral 

estoppel effect against Individual Defendants, even in an Individual 

Defendant’s capacity as debtor-in-possession.  

G. The civil penalty imposed by the Order represents a civil penalty owed to the 

United States Government, is not compensation for actual pecuniary loss, 
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and, thus, as to Individual Defendant, it is not subject to discharge under the 

Bankruptcy Code under 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7). 

IV. 
RELIEF PURSUANT TO THE FDUTPA 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

A. Defendants, jointly and severally, must pay the Attorney General of Florida 

$15,000 for investigative and attorney’s fees incurred as well as a civil penalty 

of $10,000. Collection of the foregoing amounts by the Attorney General of 

Florida is deferred.  

B. The Attorney General of Florida’s agreement to this Order and the deferment 

of payment of the judgment is expressly premised upon the truthfulness, 

accuracy, and completeness of Defendants’ sworn financial statements and 

related supplemental documents submitted to the Attorney General of Florida 

and to the Bureau. 

C. The Attorney General of Florida reserves the right to collect payment as to any 

Defendant if, upon motion by the Attorney General of Florida, the Court finds 

that the Defendant failed to disclose any material asset, materially misstated 

the value of any asset, or made any other material misstatement or omission 

in the financial representations identified in Section IV.B.   

V. 
CUSTOMER INFORMATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their officers, agents, 

servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons who are in active concert or 
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participation with any of them, who have actual notice of this Order, whether acting 

directly or indirectly, may not disclose, use, or benefit from consumer information, 

including the name, address, telephone number, email address, social security 

number, other identifying information, or any data that enables access to a 

consumer’s account (including a credit card, bank account, other financial account, 

or the National Student Loan Data System), that Defendants obtained in connection 

with CES’s debt-relief services. However, information about a particular consumer 

may be disclosed: a) to the Bureau; b) to another government agency; or c) as 

required by law, regulation, or court order. 

VI. 
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

A. For 10 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must notify the Bureau of 

any development that may affect compliance obligations arising under this 

Order, including but not limited to a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or 

other action that would result in the emergence of a successor company; the 

creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any 

acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against any Defendant; or a change in any 

Defendant’s name or address. Each Defendant must provide this notice at 

least 30 days before the development or as soon as practicable after the 

learning about the development, whichever is sooner. 

B. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, each Defendant must: 



10 
 

1. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and 

postal address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to 

communicate with the Defendant; 

2. Identify all businesses for which any Defendant is the majority owner, 

or that any Defendant directly or indirectly controls, by all of those 

businesses’ names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and 

Internet addresses; 

3. Describe the activities of each business identified in (b), including the 

products and services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, 

and sales;  

4. Identify the Individual Defendants’ telephone numbers and all email, 

Internet, physical, and postal addresses, including all residences; and 

5. Describe in detail the Individual Defendants’ involvement in any 

business for which either performs services in any capacity or which 

either wholly or partially owns, including the relevant Individual 

Defendant’s title, role, responsibilities, participation, authority, 

control, and ownership. 

C. For 10 years from the Effective Date, Defendants must report any change in 

the information required to be submitted under Section VI.B at least 30 days 

before the change or as soon as practicable after learning about the change, 

whichever is sooner. 
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D. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate 

written compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a 

minimum: 

1. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have 

complied with this Order; and  

2. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section VII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

E. After the one-year period, and continuing for 10 years from the Effective Date, 

Defendants must submit to the Enforcement Director additional Compliance 

Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

VII. 
ORDER DISTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

A. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, each Defendant must submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order, sworn 

under penalty of perjury. 

B. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, each Defendant, for any business for 

which the Defendant is the majority owner or directly or indirectly controls, 

must deliver a copy of this Order to each of its board members and executive 

officers, as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other 

agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the subject 

matter of this Order. 
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C. For 5 years from the Effective Date, each Defendant, for any business for 

which the Defendant is a  majority owner or directly or indirectly controls, 

must deliver a copy of this Order to any business entity resulting from any 

change in structure referred to in Section VI, any future board members and 

executive officers, as well as to any managers, employees, service providers, or 

other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

D. Defendants must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt 

of a copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

VIII. 
RECORDKEEPING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

A. Each Defendant must create, for at least 5 years from the Effective Date, all 

documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Order, including for any business in which either Individual 

Defendant is a majority owner or directly or indirectly controls, as well as all 

submissions to the Bureau.  

B. Defendants must retain the documents identified in Section VIII.A for at least 

5 years. 

C. Defendants must make the documents identified in Section VIII.A available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.  
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IX. 
NOTICES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, unless otherwise directed in writing by 

the Bureau, Defendants must provide all submissions, requests, communications, or 

other documents relating to this Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re 

College Education Services LLC, No. 2013-0623-02,” and send them either: 

A. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) and contemporaneously by 

email, as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 I Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov; or  

 
B. By first class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to: 

 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTN:  Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20552 
 
Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov. 
 

X. 
COOPERATION WITH THE BUREAU 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

A. Defendants must preserve consumer records and cooperate fully to help the 

Bureau determine the identity and location of, and the amount of injury 

sustained by, each Affected Consumer. Defendants must make available or 
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turn over to the Bureau such information in their or their agents’ possession 

or control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

B. Defendants must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in the 

Complaint. Defendants must provide truthful and complete information, 

evidence, and testimony. The Individual Defendants must appear and the 

Corporate Defendant must cause the its officers, employees, representatives, 

or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other 

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written 

notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may 

designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XI. 
COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Defendants’ compliance with 

this Order,  

A. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendants 

must submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.  

B. For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with any 

Defendant, unless that Defendant retains counsel related to these 

communications. 
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C. Defendants must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Defendants who has agreed to such an interview. 

The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

D. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 and other compulsory process. 

XII. 
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 

The Court will retain jurisdiction of this matter for purposes of construction, 

modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 
 
DATED this ___ day of ______________, 2014. 

 

 
_________________________________ 
United States District Court Judge 
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KARA K. MILLER, VA Bar #47821 
Email: kara.miller@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: (202) 435-7825 
LEANNE E. HARTMANN, CA Bar #264787 
Email: leanne.hartmann@cfpb.gov 
Telephone: (415) 844-9787 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 

 
Case No. 2:16-cv-2725 
 
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF 
THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT OF 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Introduction 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) brings this action 

against Davit Gasparyan, a/k/a David Gasparyan, (Defendant or Gasparyan) under 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(3), 

5564, 5565. Gasparyan co-founded D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads (T3), a 

lead aggregator that sells consumer-loan applications as “leads” to small-dollar 

Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau,  
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Davit Gasparyan, a/k/a David 
Gasparyan, 
 

Defendant. 
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lenders and other purchasers. T3 failed to vet or monitor its lead generators and 

lead purchasers, exposing consumers to the risk of having their information 

purchased by actors who would use it for illegal purposes. T3 allowed its lead 

generators to attract consumers with misleading statements and took unreasonable 

advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or 

conditions of the loan products for which they applied. T3’s conduct was unfair 

and abusive, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1). Gasparyan 

knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to T3 in its unfair and 

abusive acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant because the 

causes of action arose from the Defendant’s conduct of business in this District, 

and the Defendant resides here. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

3. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial part of the acts or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here, and the Defendant transacted 
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business in this district and resides in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

Parties 

4. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged 

with regulating the offering and providing of consumer-financial products and 

services under “Federal consumer financial laws.” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The 

Bureau is authorized to initiate civil actions in federal district court, by its own 

attorneys, to address violations of “Federal consumer financial law.” 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(a)-(b). 

5. Gasparyan is a co-founder of T3 and was the Chief Financial Officer 

from the company’s founding in 2005 until 2009 and the Chief Marketing Officer 

from the company’s founding through July 2014. Gasparyan had managerial 

responsibility for T3 and materially participated in the conduct of its affairs. 

Gasparyan resides in this District and, in connection with the matters alleged, 

transacted business here.  

Factual Background 

6. D and D Marketing, Inc., d/b/a T3Leads, is a California S-Corporation 

with its principal place of business at 4000 West Alameda Avenue, Suite 200, 

Burbank, California, 91436. T3 is in the business of receiving consumer-loan 
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applications from lead generators and selling the applications as leads to small-

dollar lenders.  

7. Gasparyan co-founded T3 in 2005 and claims to own 50% of the 

company.  

8. Gasparyan served as Chief Financial Officer from the company’s 

founding in 2005 until 2009 and as Chief Marketing Officer from the company’s 

founding through July 2014. 

9. Gasparyan had substantial control over and involvement in the 

establishment of T3’s business policies and practices. 

10. T3 has a network of lead generators from which it receives 

applications and a network of purchasers to which it sells those applications. T3 

sometimes acted as its own lead generator, accepting applications directly from 

consumers.  

11. T3 does not share the identities of its lead generators with its 

purchasers, and T3 does not share the identities of its purchasers with its lead 

generators.  

12. Lead generators operate websites that advertise loans and through 

which consumers submit loan applications. Lead generators transfer the 

applications to T3, and T3 sells the applications to purchasers in its network. 
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13. The purchasers include online small-dollar lenders, as well as data 

managers, data brokers, and remarketing companies.  

14. Lenders to which T3 sells applications extend credit in the form of 

small-dollar loans for use by consumers for personal, family, or household 

purposes, with an expectation that the principal, interest, and fees will be collected 

from consumers. 

15. Data managers are intermediaries for lenders that outsource their lead-

purchasing activities, and data brokers are lead aggregators that have their own 

networks of purchasers to which they sell applications after they purchase them 

from T3. T3 does not know the end purchasers of the applications it sells to data 

managers or data brokers. Remarketing companies buy consumer information to 

send marketing materials to consumers for products other than the loans for which 

consumers applied.  

16. To filter and sell applications to purchasers, T3 uses a “ping tree,” 

which sets the order in which purchasers have the opportunity to purchase a given 

application from T3. The position of each purchaser in the ping tree is determined 

primarily by the price the purchaser is willing to pay T3 for that application; the 

higher the price, the better the purchaser’s position in the ping tree.  

17. Gasparyan shared responsibility for deciding the position of each 

purchaser in the ping tree and designed T3’s systems to filter and sell applications 
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in the manner most profitable to T3, without regard for the practices of lead 

generators or purchasers.  

18. A consumer who submits a loan application on a lead generator’s 

webpage is immediately redirected from that page to a lender’s webpage. This 

automated process takes just seconds, and the consumer is not informed that the 

loan application has been filtered through T3 or sold by T3.   

19. T3 does not continuously monitor lead generator websites to check for 

misleading or inaccurate statements to consumers.  

20. T3 regularly accepts applications from lead generators whose websites 

include misrepresentations that are likely to mislead consumers into believing that 

lenders to which they will be directed have been evaluated and meet certain 

standards, such as following rules and practices set by industry associations and 

government agencies or offering reasonable rates. 

21. T3 also accepts applications from lead generators who have 

incorrectly represented that they are themselves lenders and lead generators who 

have falsely suggested that they would help consumers find the best rates or lowest 

fees or that they would review consumers’ applications to match them with the 

most appropriate lenders. 

22. Despite the representations to consumers by some of them, T3’s lead 

generators typically do not provide loans directly to consumers, do not select the 
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lenders that will see a consumer’s application, and have no involvement in 

determining or knowledge of the specific terms of the loan a consumer receives 

after T3 sells the application. Indeed, lead generators forward applications to T3 

without regard for how the consumers’ information will be used. 

23. T3 does not require its purchasers to provide T3 with the precise loan 

terms that consumers will be offered, and T3 makes no attempt to match 

consumers with the best loan for their needs, as consumers are led to believe by 

some lead generators.  

24. T3 has reason to believe or knows that the applications it sells are 

likely to result in loans with interest rates that exceed state usury limits or 

otherwise fail to comply with laws of the state where the consumer is located. T3 

knows in advance of its sales the application parameters each of its purchasers will 

accept, and T3 knows the identity of each purchaser. T3 sells to these purchasers 

based on its own financial interests, without regard to representations to and 

expectations of consumers.    

25.  T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the 

ultimate purchasers of T3’s applications. T3 therefore does not know the identity 

of all lenders that obtain consumer applications through its lead-purchaser network. 

26. T3 does not vet or monitor the purchasers in its network for 

compliance with applicable laws. 
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27. Many of T3’s lenders are entities organized by Indian tribes, known as 

tribal lenders, or organized under the laws of foreign jurisdictions, known as 

offshore lenders. These lenders typically claim immunity from state regulation, do 

not comply with the laws of the states where the consumers to which they make 

loans are located, and do not concede that they are subject to jurisdiction in a 

forum convenient to the consumer. T3 fails to provide accurate information to 

consumers about the purchasers in T3’s network.  

28. Tribal lenders and offshore lenders typically charge higher interest 

rates than lenders adhering to state laws. Because they charge higher interest rates, 

these lenders generally are willing to pay more for applications and thus rank at the 

top of the T3 ping tree. 

29. Many of the tribal lenders among T3’s purchasers offer contracts 

providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and providing an 

exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process. 

30. Certain entities operating or purporting to operate in the small-dollar-

loan industry have engaged in a variety of fraudulent schemes involving 

applications purchased from lead aggregators. T3 knew or should have known of 

such fraudulent actors in the small-dollar-loan industry and the risk of illegal actors 

purchasing its applications. 
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31. In 2013, T3 requested information regarding whether its purchasers 

complied with the laws of the states where they made loans. Many of its purchasers 

failed to respond to this request, but T3 continued to do business with them.  

32. Purchasers provide regular feedback to T3 regarding the quality of the 

purchased applications, including the number of applications that result in loans 

and reasons why some did not result in loans. T3 uses this information to evaluate 

its lead generators and refine its processing to optimize “conversion,” or the rate at 

which applications result in loans. This optimization is conducted for T3’s 

benefit—to sell more applications.  

33. T3 controls the information shared between its lead generators and its 

purchasers, allowing lead generators to claim ignorance of the terms of the loans 

offered to consumers and allowing purchasers to claim ignorance of the methods 

used to attract consumers. T3’s process allows some purchasers to receive 

applications that they have been prohibited from soliciting directly. 

Count I 
Substantial Assistance in T3’s Unfair Acts and Practices 

 
34. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 of 

this Complaint.  

35. The lenders to which T3 sells applications are “covered persons” 

under the CFPA—they extend credit for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i).  
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36. T3 provides a material service to covered persons in connection with 

the offering or provision by the covered persons of a consumer-financial product or 

service. T3 is a “service provider” to covered persons under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A). 

37. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause substantial 

injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers and is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C.  

§ 5531(c)(1). 

38. T3’s lead generators make statements to consumers regarding the 

lenders that will receive the consumers’ information and the loans those lenders 

will offer.  

39. T3 knows or should know of the lead generators’ statements and that 

they are often false and misleading.  

40. T3 does not vet or monitor its purchasers for illegal activity.  

41. T3 does not require data managers or data brokers to disclose the end 

purchasers of applications.  

42. Consumers are not notified that T3 is involved with processing their 

loan applications and cannot reasonably investigate or assess the reliability of the 

lenders to which their applications are ultimately sold.  

43. T3’s conduct is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers. 

Case 2:16-cv-02725   Document 1   Filed 04/21/16   Page 10 of 14   Page ID #:10



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7  

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28  

 

11 
 

44. The potential benefit of obtaining a loan is not outweighed by the 

likelihood of injury from T3’s failure to vet and monitor its purchasers. 

45. T3’s conduct constitutes an unfair act or practice under 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(c)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

46. Gasparyan had significant responsibility for establishing T3’s policies 

and practices, and, throughout his employment at T3, he had substantial control 

over T3 operations. 

47.  Gasparyan knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in violation of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Count II 
Substantial Assistance in T3’s Abusive Acts and Practices 

 
48. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 of 

this Complaint.  

49. The lenders to which T3 sells applications are “covered persons” 

under the CFPA—they extend credit for use by consumers for personal, family, or 

household purposes. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(i).  

50. T3 provides a material service to covered persons in connection with 

the offering or provision by the covered persons of a consumer financial product or 

service. T3 is a “service provider” to covered persons under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(26)(A). 
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51. An act or practice is abusive if it “takes unreasonable advantage of . . . 

a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer of the material risks, costs, or 

conditions of the product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

52. Contrary to representations by lead generators, consumers are likely to 

be steered, through T3’s ping tree, to lenders offering less-favorable terms than 

may otherwise be available to them. In particular, consumers are likely to be 

steered to lenders that charge higher interest rates than lenders that comply with 

state laws, that do not adhere to state usury limits, or that claim immunity from 

state regulation and jurisdiction. Consumers also are likely to be steered to lenders 

that offer contracts providing for the application of tribal law to the contract and 

providing an exclusive tribal dispute-resolution process.  

53. The possibility of being matched by T3 with a lender that offers less-

favorable terms than may otherwise be available is not disclosed to consumers by 

lead generators or T3. Only after consumers are filtered through the T3 ping tree 

and redirected from a lead generator’s page to a lender’s e-signature page can 

consumers find the offered terms and links to lengthy disclosures where lenders 

reveal material terms such as their tribal affiliation and claimed immunity.  

54. The inaccurate statements by T3’s lead generators decrease the 

likelihood that consumers will read the lengthy disclosures on a lender’s webpage. 
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55. The cost of a loan relative to what other lenders might offer, the law 

governing a loan contract, including whether the lender complies with laws of the 

consumer’s state, and the available forum for raising disputes with the lender or in 

which the consumer might be sued by the lender are material risks, costs, or 

conditions.  

56. T3 knows or should know of lead generators’ representations to 

consumers. T3 knows or should know that its process results in many, if not most, 

applications being steered to lenders that make loans to consumers that do not 

comport with express or implied representations made on lead-generator websites. 

57. T3’s conduct takes advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of 

the material risks, costs, or conditions of the products for which they apply and 

constitutes an abusive act or practice under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

58. Gasparyan had significant responsibility for establishing T3’s policies 

and practices, and, throughout his employment at T3, he had substantial control 

over T3’s operations. 

59.  Gasparyan knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to 

T3, a service provider engaged in unfair acts and practices, in violation of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 
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Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, the Plaintiff requests that the Court: 

1. award injunctive relief as may be necessary to prevent consumer 

injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility of effective 

final relief; 

2. permanently enjoin Defendant from committing future violations of 

the CFPA or any provision of “Federal consumer financial law,” as defined by 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

3. grant additional injunctive relief as may be just and proper; 

4. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendant; 

5. order Defendant to pay redress to harmed consumers; 

6. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues from Defendant; 

7. impose civil money penalties against Defendant; 

8. order Defendant to pay Plaintiff’s costs and fees incurred in 

connection with prosecuting this action; and 

9. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and 

proper. 

Dated: April 21, 2016    Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Leanne E. Hartmann 
Leanne E. Hartmann (CA Bar #264787) 
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PUBLIC NOTICE
Federal Communications Commission
445 12th St., S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20554

News Media Information 202 / 418-0500
Internet: http://www.fcc.gov

TTY: 1-888-835-5322

DA 12-2063
Release Date:  December 26, 2012

WIRELINE COMPETITION BUREAU APPROVES THE COMPLIANCE PLANS OF 
AIRVOICE WIRELESS, AMERIMEX COMMUNICATIONS, BLUE JAY WIRELESS, 

MILLENNIUM 2000, NEXUS COMMUNICATIONS, PLATINUMTEL COMMUNICATIONS, 
SAGE TELECOM, TELRITE AND TELSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS

WC Docket Nos. 09-197 and 11-42

The Wireline Competition Bureau (Bureau) approves the compliance plans of nine carriers: 
AirVoice Wireless, LLC (AirVoice); AmeriMex Communications Corp. (AmeriMex); Blue Jay Wireless, 
LLC (Blue Jay); Millennium 2000, Inc. (Millennium 2000); Nexus Communications, Inc. (Nexus);  
PlatinumTel Communications, LLC (PlatinumTel); Sage Telecom, Inc. (Sage); Telrite Corporation 
(Telrite); and Telscape Communications, Inc. d/b/a Telscape Wireless (Telscape).  The compliance plans 
were filed pursuant to the Lifeline Reform Order as a condition of obtaining forbearance from the 
facilities requirement of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (the Act), for the provision of 
Lifeline service.1

The Act provides that in order to be designated as an eligible telecommunications carrier (ETC) 
for the purpose of universal service support, a carrier must “offer the services that are supported by 
Federal universal service support mechanisms . . . either using its own facilities or a combination of its 
own facilities and resale of another carrier’s services . . . .”2 The Commission amended its rules to define 
voice telephony as the supported service and removed directory assistance and operator services, among 
other things, from the list of supported services.3 As a result of these amendments, many Lifeline-only 
ETCs that previously met the facilities requirement by providing operator services, directory assistance or 
other previously supported services no longer meet the facilities requirement of the Act.4 In the Lifeline 
Reform Order, the Commission found that a grant of blanket forbearance of the facilities requirement, 

  
1 See Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization et al, WC Docket No.11-42 et al., Report and Order and 
Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 27 FCC Rcd 6656, 6816-17, paras. 379-380 (2012) (Lifeline Reform 
Order). A list of the compliance plans approved through this Public Notice can be found in the Appendix to this 
Public Notice.
2 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1)(A).
3 See Lifeline Reform Order, 27 FCC Rcd at 6678, para. 47; see also 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a).
4 See Lifeline Reform Order, 27 FCC Rcd at 6812, para. 366, App. A; Connect America Fund et al, WC Docket 10-
90, Order on Reconsideration, 26 FCC Rcd 17633, 17634-35, para. 4 (2011) (USF/ICC Transformation Order on 
Reconsideration).  Some ETCs have included language in their compliance plans indicating that they have facilities 
or plan to acquire facilities in the future.  See, e.g., Blanket Forbearance Compliance Plan, WC Docket Nos. 09-197 
and 11-42, Q Link Wireless, LLC’s Third Amended Compliance Plan at 4 n. 2 (filed July 30, 2012).  To the extent 
ETCs seek to avail themselves of the conditional forbearance relief established in the Lifeline Reform Order, we 
presume they lack facilities to provide the supported service under sections 54.101 and 54.401 of the Commission’s 
rules.  See 47 C.F.R. §§ 54.101 and 54.401.  Such ETCs must comply with the compliance plan approved herein in 
each state or territory where they are designated as an ETC, regardless of their claim of facilities for other purposes, 
such as eligibility for state universal service funding.
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subject to certain public safety and compliance obligations, is appropriate for carriers seeking to provide 
Lifeline-only service.5 Therefore, in the Lifeline Reform Order, the Commission conditionally granted 
forbearance from the Act’s facilities requirement to all telecommunications carriers seeking Lifeline-only 
ETC designation, subject to the following conditions: (1) compliance with certain 911 and enhanced 911 
public safety requirements; and (2) Bureau approval of a compliance plan providing specific information 
regarding the carrier and its service offerings and outlining the measures the carrier will take to 
implement the obligations contained in the Order.6

The Bureau has reviewed the nine plans listed in the Appendix for compliance with the 
conditions of the Lifeline Reform Order and now approves those nine compliance plans.7

Filings, including the Compliance Plans identified in the Appendix, and comments are available 
for public inspection and copying during regular business hours at the FCC Reference Information 
Center, Portals II, 445 12th Street, S.W., Room CY-A257, Washington, D.C. 20554.  They may also be 
purchased from the Commission’s duplicating contractor, Best Copy and Printing, Inc., Portals II, 445 
12th Street, S.W., Room CY-B402, Washington, D.C. 20554, telephone: (202) 488-5300, fax: (202) 448-
5563, or via email www.bcpiweb.com. 

People with Disabilities:  To request materials in accessible formats for people with disabilities 
(Braille, large print, electronic files, audio format), send an email to fcc504@fcc.gov or call the 
Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau at (202) 418-7400 or TTY (202) 418-0484.

For further information, please contact Michelle Schaefer, Telecommunications Access Policy 
Division, Wireline Competition Bureau at (202) 418-7400 or TTY (202) 418-0484.

- FCC -

  
5 See Lifeline Reform Order, 27 FCC Rcd at 6813-6817, paras. 368-381.
6 See id., 27 FCC Rcd at 6814, 6819, paras. 373, 389.  Subsequently, the Bureau provided guidance for carriers 
submitting compliance plans pursuant to the Lifeline Reform Order.  Wireline Competition Bureau Provides 
Guidance for the Submission of Compliance Plans Pursuant to the Lifeline Reform Order, WC Docket Nos. 09-197 
and 11-42, Public Notice, 27 FCC Rcd 2186 (Wireline Comp. Bur. 2012).
7 The Commission has not acted on any pending ETC petitions filed by these carriers, and this Public Notice only 
approves the compliance plans of the carriers listed above.  While these compliance plans contain information on 
each carrier’s Lifeline offering, we leave it to the designating authority to determine whether or not the carrier’s 
Lifeline offerings are sufficient to serve consumers.  See Lifeline Reform Order, 27 FCC Rcd at 6679-80, 6818-19, 
paras. 50, 387.



3

APPENDIX

Petitioner Compliance Plans
As Captioned by Petitioner

Date of Filing Docket 
Numbers

AirVoice Wireless, LLC AirVoice Wireless, LLC’s Amended 
Compliance Plan 

December 7, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

AmeriMex 
Communications Corp.

AmeriMex Communications Corp. 
Revised Compliance Plan

December 6, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Blue Jay Wireless, LLC Blue Jay Wireless, LLC Compliance 
Plan

December 19, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Millennium 2000 Inc. Amended Compliance Plan of 
Millennium 2000 Inc.

December 18, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Nexus Communications, 
Inc.

Third Amended Compliance Plan of 
Nexus Communications, Inc.

December 6, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

PlatinumTel 
Communications, LLC

PlatinumTel Communications LLC’s 
Revised Compliance Plan 

December 19, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Sage Telecom, Inc. Revised Compliance Plan of Sage 
Telecom, Inc.

December 19, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Telrite Corporation Telrite Corporation Compliance Plan December 19, 
2012

09-197; 11-42

Telscape 
Communications Inc. 
d/b/a Telscape Wireless

Revised Compliance Plan of Telscape 
Communications, Inc.

December 19, 
2012

09-197; 11-42
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 
_______________________________________      

) 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION and  ) 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ) 
BUREAU,      )  Civil Action No. 15-cv-02064 

    ) Judge ________________ 
  Plaintiffs,       ) 

) 
v.     )    

)  
GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC, a Delaware  ) 
limited liability company,    ) 

) 
Defendant.          )  

                                                                             ) 
 

STIPULATED ORDER FOR PERMANENT  
INJUNCTION AND MONETARY JUDGMENT 

 
Plaintiffs, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”) and the Consumer 

Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), have filed their Complaint for a permanent 

injunction and other relief in this matter.  The Commission brought this action pursuant 

to Sections 5(a) and 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 45(a) and 53(b).  The Bureau brought this action pursuant to Sections 1031(a), 

1036(a)(1), and 1054 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1), and 5564, and sought civil penalties pursuant to Section 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c).  Defendant Green Tree Servicing LLC 



Page 2 of 65 
 

(“Defendant” or “Green Tree”) waived service of the summons and the Complaint.  The 

Commission, Bureau, and the Defendant stipulate to entry of this Order for Permanent 

Injunction and Monetary Judgment (“Order”).  

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED as follows: 

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter. 

2. The Complaint alleges a claim upon which relief may be granted under 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a); Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1); the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p; the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x; and Section 6 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 

U.S.C. § 2605, and its implementing regulation, Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. part 1024 

(formerly codified at 24 C.F.R. part 3500) (collectively “RESPA”). 

3. For purposes of this settlement, Defendant neither admits nor denies any of 

the allegations in the Complaint, except as specifically stated in this Order.  Only for 

purposes of this action, Defendant admits the facts necessary to establish jurisdiction. 

4. All parties waive all rights to appeal or otherwise challenge or contest the 

validity of this Order.  Defendant further waives and releases any claim it may have 

against the Commission or the Bureau, and their employees, representatives, or agents. 

5. Defendant waives any claim that it may have under the Equal Access to 
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Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, concerning the prosecution of this action through the date 

of this Order, and agrees to bear its own costs and attorney fees.   

6. The Plaintiffs and Defendant, by and through their counsel, have agreed 

that entry of this Order resolves all matters in dispute between them arising from the facts 

and circumstances alleged in the Complaint in this action that have taken place as of the 

Effective Date, except that the Bureau specifically reserves and does not release any 

liability arising under any provision of the Bureau’s rules relating to mortgage servicing 

(12 C.F.R. § 1024.30, et seq.) as of January 10, 2014. 

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

1. “Collecting on past-due debt(s)” means recovering or attempting to recover, 

directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due, for which 

consumers are currently in default, as default is defined in the loan agreement or 

applicable document creating the debt obligation. 

2. “Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer to pay 

money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services 

which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household 

purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.   

3.  “Defendant” means Defendant Green Tree Servicing LLC, and its 

successors and assigns.  For purposes of this definition, an “assign” means a person who 
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purchases all or substantially all of the assets of Green Tree Servicing LLC or of Green 

Tree Servicing LLC’s division(s) or major business unit(s) that are engaged as a primary 

business in customer-facing servicing of residential mortgage loans. 

4. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Order is entered. 

5. “Grace period” means the period between the date when a loan payment is 

due and the date when Green Tree is permitted to assess a late fee under the related loan 

documents.    

6. “In-process loan modification” means a trial or permanent loan 

modification offered by a servicer that was either accepted by the borrower or for which 

the time for the borrower to accept the offer has not expired and the offer has not been 

rejected, but is not finalized as a permanent modification before servicing rights on the 

loan are transferred to another entity.  It includes trial modifications in which the prior 

servicer agreed to modify the loan payment terms unless Defendant has clear written 

evidence that the borrower has failed to perform under the trial loan modification terms.  

It also includes modifications in which the consumer completed making the trial 

payments before the loan was transferred to Defendant, but the permanent modification 

was not input into the prior servicer’s system before the transfer. 

7.  “Investigation” means objectively evaluating the circumstances and 

considering information, including an assessment of the relevance, reliability, accuracy, 

integrity, and completeness of such information, to determine whether a consumer owes a 
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debt in the amount asserted or to assess a borrower’s notice of error or qualified written 

request.  The information Defendant shall assess in an investigation, where applicable to 

the dispute, shall include but not be limited to: 

(a) the information that Defendant received from the credit originator or 

any prior servicer or owner of the debt, such as: (i) the consumer’s 

credit application, (ii) the credit contract between the consumer and 

the credit originator, (iii) documents with the current or former 

name, address, and telephone number of the consumer, (iv) 

documents with the consumer’s account number, in whole or in part, 

and periodic billing statements, (v) payment/transaction history, (vi) 

documents with the date and outstanding balance, and (vii) servicing 

notes;  

(b) the information that Defendant received from data aggregators, data 

brokers, consumer reporting agencies, skip tracers, and other third 

parties, such as: (i) documents with the current or former name, 

address, and telephone number of the consumer, (ii) documents with 

consumer report information, including credit scores and updates to 

the information in consumer reports, and (iii) the scoring of the debt 

through the use of a predictive model;  

(c) the information that Defendant created or maintained in collecting 
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on the debt, such as servicing notes and payment history from the 

immediately preceding two years; and  

(d) the information the Defendant received from the consumer denying, 

disputing, or challenging the claim that the consumer owes the debt 

or the amount of the debt, such as:  (i) documents with the 

consumer’s current or former name, address, and telephone number, 

(ii) receipts or other evidence of payment from the credit originator 

or any prior servicer or owner of the debt, or a debt collector, (iii) 

canceled checks, bank account statements, credit card statements, 

and other documents evidencing payment, and (iv) a consumer 

dispute relating to the disputed amount. 

8. “Involuntary transfer” means a transfer when the transferor servicer is in 

breach of, or default under, its servicing agreement for loss mitigation related-servicing 

performance deficiencies, or is in receivership, and is required to transfer servicing to 

another servicer in thirty (30) days or less by an unaffiliated investor, or a court or 

regulator with jurisdiction. 

9. “Loss mitigation” means modified payment arrangements, trial, permanent 

and in-process loan modifications, forbearance plans, short sales, deed-in-lieu agreements 

and any other non-foreclosure home retention or non-retention option offered by the 

owner or assignee of a mortgage loan that is made available to the consumer through a 
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prior servicer or Defendant. 

10.  “Portfolio” means a group of loans for which the mortgage servicing rights 

are transferred to or from Defendant pursuant to a single contract for the sale or transfer 

of mortgage servicing rights. 

11. “Related consumer action” means a private action by or on behalf of  

one or more consumers, or enforcement action by another governmental agency, entity, 

or representative, brought against Defendant based on substantially the same conduct or 

issues as alleged in the Complaint. 

12. “Servicing” means collecting, receiving and applying payments made on a 

consumer’s account pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement, such as payments of 

principal, interest, taxes, and fees; administering loan accounts; receiving and processing 

data and documentation for loan accounts transferred from prior servicers; making loan-

related communications; responding to borrower notices asserting an error and qualified 

written requests; providing periodic billing statements to consumers; maintaining records 

of the status of consumers’ loan accounts; providing information to and resolving 

disputes with consumers regarding loan accounts; disbursing payments from consumers’ 

escrow accounts; providing loss mitigation, including but not limited to loan 

modifications and short sales; pursuing foreclosure; repossessing property; filing 

bankruptcy claims; calculating deficiency judgments; using consumer reports and 

furnishing information to consumer reporting agencies; and collecting or assessing fees in 
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relation to any of the foregoing. 

13. “Transfer,” as it appears in Sections IV, V, and VII of this Order, means the 

transfer of mortgage servicing rights, or of servicing responsibilities, including through 

subservicing or whole loan servicing arrangements. 

I. ORDER FOR EQUITABLE MONETARY RELIEF 
 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

A. Judgment is entered in favor of the Commission and the Bureau against 

Defendant in the amount of Forty Eight Million Dollars ($48,000,000) total as follows: 

1. Eighteen Million Dollars ($18,000,000) for alleged violations of the 

FTC Act, CFPA, and FDCPA with respect to Defendant’s alleged 

misrepresentations relating to payment methods that entail a 

convenience fee. 

2. Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000) for alleged violations of the 

FTC Act, CFPA, FDCPA, and RESPA with respect to Defendant’s 

conduct relating to short sales and in-process loan modifications, 

including Defendant’s alleged failure to timely respond to qualified 

written requests relating to in-process loan modifications and with 

respect to Defendant’s alleged misrepresentations about the time it 

will take to review short sale requests. 

B. Within ten (10) days of entry of this order, Defendant is ordered to pay to 
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the Bureau $48,000,000 dollars in full satisfaction of the judgment in favor of the 

Commission and the Bureau as set forth in Paragraphs A.1 and  A.2 of this Section.  Such 

payment shall be made by wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may 

direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 

Bureau. 

C. All money paid to the Bureau pursuant to this Section shall be deposited 

into a fund or funds administered by the Bureau or its agent in accordance with 

applicable statutes and regulations to be used for consumer redress, including but not 

limited to refund of moneys, restitution, or other monetary relief, and for any attendant 

expenses for the administration of such redress.   

D. If the Bureau, in consultation with the Commission, decides that redress to 

consumers is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate or funds remain 

after redress is completed, the Bureau may apply any remaining money for such other 

relief (including consumer information remedies) as it determines to be reasonably 

related to Defendant’s practices alleged in the Complaint.  Any funds not used for such 

relief are to be deposited to the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement.  Defendant has no right to 

challenge any actions the Bureau, the Commission, or their representatives may take 

pursuant to this Paragraph. 

E. Redress provided by Defendant shall not limit consumers’ rights in any 

way or prevent Defendant from asserting in a related consumer action that a consumer 
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should not recover for any amounts paid under this Order. 

F. In light of the monetary relief to be paid to the Bureau, and to avoid double 

payment, the FTC is subrogating its claim for equitable monetary relief to the Bureau’s 

claim.   

II. ORDER TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES 
 

A. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

alleged violations of law in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors set forth in 

12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Defendant shall pay a civil money penalty of Fifteen Million 

Dollars ($15,000,000) to the Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

B. Within ten days of the Effective Date, Defendant shall pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may 

direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 

Bureau. 

C. The civil money penalty paid under this Order shall be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

D. Defendant shall treat the civil money penalty as a penalty paid to the 

government for all purposes.  Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately uses those funds, 

Defendant shall not: 
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1. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction or tax credit with regard 

to any federal, state, or local tax for any civil money penalty that 

Defendant pays under this Order; or 

2. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to 

payment made pursuant to any insurance policy, with regard to any 

civil money penalty that Defendant pays under this Order. 

E. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any related 

consumer action, Defendant shall not argue that Defendant is entitled to, nor shall 

Defendant benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the 

related consumer action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (“Penalty 

Offset”).  If the court in any related consumer action grants such a Penalty Offset, 

Defendant shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, 

notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury.  Such a 

payment shall not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed 

to change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action.  

F. In light of the monetary relief to be paid to the Bureau, and to avoid double 

payment, the FTC is subrogating its claim for civil penalties to the Bureau’s claim.   

III. ADDITIONAL MONETARY PROVISIONS 
 

A. In the event of any default on Defendant’s obligations to make payment 
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under this Order, interest, computed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, shall 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and shall immediately become due and payable. 

B. Defendant relinquishes all dominion, control, and all legal and equitable 

right, title, and interest to the funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part 

of the funds shall be returned to Defendant.  

C. The facts alleged in the Complaint will be taken as true, without further 

proof, in any subsequent civil litigation by or on behalf of the Commission or Bureau in a 

proceeding to enforce its rights to any payment or monetary judgment pursuant to this 

Order. 

D. The facts alleged in the Complaint establish all elements necessary to 

sustain an action by the Commission or Bureau pursuant to Section 523(a)(2)(A) of the 

Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A), and this Order will have collateral estoppel 

effect for such purposes. 

E. Defendant acknowledges that its Taxpayer Identification Number, which 

Defendant previously submitted to the Commission or Bureau, may be used for collecting 

and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order, in accordance with 31 

U.S.C. § 7701. 

F. For a period of three (3) years from the Effective Date, within thirty (30) 

days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a related consumer 
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action, Defendant shall notify the Bureau Enforcement Director of the final judgment, 

consent order, or settlement in writing.  That notification shall indicate the amount of 

redress, if any, that Defendant paid or is required to pay to consumers and should 

describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be 

paid. 

IV. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNSUBSTANTIATED CLAIMS 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from:  

A. Making any representation, expressly or by implication, that a consumer’s 

account has unpaid balances, payment due dates, interest rates, monthly payment 

amounts, delinquency statuses, unpaid fees, or other amounts due, unless, at the time of 

making the representation, Defendant can substantiate such a representation, including 

but not limited to situations in which: 

1. Defendant knows or reasonably should know that a consumer, at the 

time the consumer’s loan was transferred to Defendant, was 

performing or previously completed performance under a trial or 

permanent loan modification with the prior servicer of the loan but 

Defendant continues to attempt collection from the consumer under 
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the original, unmodified mortgage loan terms.  Defendant reasonably 

should know that a consumer was performing or previously 

completed performance under a trial or permanent loan modification 

with a prior servicer once Defendant receives any information from 

the prior servicer, the consumer, or any other source substantiating 

that the consumer was performing or previously completed 

performance under a trial or permanent loan modification; or 

2. Defendant knows or reasonably should know that the information for 

the account is facially unreliable, materially inaccurate, or missing 

material information, but Defendant continues to attempt collection 

on the account without commencing and completing an investigation 

regarding the account.  

3. Nothing in this provision shall be interpreted to preclude Defendant 

from accurately representing for informational purposes contractual 

amounts that remain due and owing until a permanent loan 

modification has been finalized, provided that such representation 

does not mislead a consumer regarding the amounts due under the 

modification. 

B. Failing, after a consumer orally denies, disputes, or challenges Defendant’s 

claim that the consumer owes a debt or owes a debt in the amount asserted to: (i) provide 
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the consumer orally and contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the dispute 

in writing; and (ii) within 14 days of the consumer disputing Defendant’s claim, provide 

the consumer clear and conspicuous written instructions on how to submit the dispute in 

writing; and 

C. Failing, after a consumer denies, disputes, or challenges, in  

writing, the Defendant’s claim that the consumer owes the debt or owes the debt in the 

amount asserted, to: 

1. Within fourteen (14) days after the denial, dispute, or challenge, or 

when the debt is next reported to a consumer reporting agency, if 

earlier, report the debt as disputed; and 

2. Promptly after the denial, dispute, or challenge: 

a. Cease collection of any disputed amount, inform the 

consumer that it has ceased collection of the disputed amount, 

and, where the decision is within Defendant’s control, not 

transfer servicing to any person or entity other than the 

creditor to whom the debt is owed, until the Defendant 

satisfies its obligations to conduct an investigation and 

respond as set forth in Paragraphs (b) and (c) below or obtains 

an agreement from the transferee servicer to conduct such an 
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investigation and respond as set forth in Paragraphs (b) and 

(c) below;   

b. Commence and complete, within thirty (30) days after a 

consumer denies, disputes, or challenges Defendant’s claim 

that a consumer owes the debt or that he or she owes the debt 

in the amount asserted, an investigation of the denial, dispute, 

or challenge, unless the consumer provides information that is 

relevant to the investigation during the 30-day time period, in 

which case the investigation may be extended for no more 

than fifteen (15) additional days.  Provided that Defendant 

shall not be required to investigate any denial, dispute, or 

challenge if it reasonably determines that the denial, dispute, 

or challenge is frivolous or irrelevant.  A dispute qualifies as 

frivolous or irrelevant if the Defendant does not have 

sufficient information to investigate and the consumer does 

not provide the necessary information when asked, or if 

Defendant has previously complied with its obligation to 

investigate and respond and the consumer does not provide to 

Defendant or Defendant does not otherwise acquire or obtain 

information, data, or documentation that was not considered 
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in any prior investigation.  Defendant shall notify the 

consumer within five (5) business days of Defendant’s 

determination if the denial, dispute, or challenge is not 

investigated under this proviso; and 

c. If Defendant reasonably concludes after its investigation:  

i. That the consumer owes the debt in the amount 

asserted, Defendant, within ten (10) days of reaching 

its conclusion, shall provide verification of the debt to 

the consumer, inform the consumer of its conclusion, 

and provide the basis for it, after which it may resume 

collection of the previously-disputed amount.  If the 

consumer continues to dispute the debt, nothing in this 

order supersedes the requirement of § 623(a)(3) of the 

FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)3, that Defendant 

convey the dispute when furnishing information on the 

debt to any consumer reporting agency. 

ii. That the consumer does not owe the debt or the debt 

cannot be verified, Defendant shall, within five (5) 

days of reaching its conclusion: (a) inform the 

consumer of its conclusion and the basis for it; (b) 
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request that each consumer reporting agency to which 

Defendant had reported the debt or caused the debt to 

be reported, delete the item from the consumer’s credit 

reporting file; (c) cease collection; and (d) where the 

decision is within Defendant’s control, not transfer 

servicing to any person or entity other than the creditor 

to whom the debt is allegedly owed. 

iii. That the consumer does owe the debt but not in the 

amount that Defendant asserted, Defendant shall, 

within five (5) days of reaching its conclusion: (a) 

inform the consumer of its conclusion and the basis for 

it; and (b) provide to each consumer reporting agency 

to which the debt has been reported any correction to 

the reported information that is necessary to make the 

information provided by Defendant accurate, after 

which it may continue collection.   

Provided that, if the consumer initiates contact with Defendant by any means, 

Defendant may respond to the consumer prior to the completion of the investigation.   

Provided further that the limitations on transfer in Subsections IV.C.2.a and 

IV.C.2.c.ii shall not apply when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform 
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servicing who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer. 

Provided further that, nothing in this Section IV prohibits Defendant from 

requiring consumers who deny, dispute, or challenge a debt on the grounds of fraud or 

identity theft to do so in writing, so long as Defendant clearly and conspicuously 

discloses these requirements.  Once Defendant receives an identity theft report, the 

requirements of § 623(a)(6)(B) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(6)(B), apply. 

V. DATA INTEGRITY REQUIREMENT 
 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, in connection with loan servicing 

and collection activities, shall, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the 

date of entry of this Order, establish and maintain a comprehensive data integrity 

program (“Program”) reasonably designed to ensure the accuracy, integrity, and 

completeness of the data and other information about accounts that Defendant services, 

collects, or sells, including any accounts acquired by or transferred to Defendant.  The 

Program, the content and implementation of which must be fully documented in writing, 

shall contain administrative, technical, and physical safeguards appropriate to the nature, 

size, complexity, and scope of Defendant’s loan servicing activities, and shall include: 

A. The designation of an employee or employees to oversee the Program; 

B. The maintenance of sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to 

perform the Program requirements in a timely and legal manner; 
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C. The identification of material internal and external risks to the accuracy, 

integrity, and completeness of loan servicing data that could result in material errors to 

consumers’ accounts and assessment of the sufficiency of any safeguards in place to 

control these risks.  At a minimum, this risk assessment shall consider risks in each 

relevant area of operation, including, but not limited to (1) employee training and 

management, (2) information systems, including network and software design, servicing 

transfer protocols, information processing, storage, transmission, and disposal, and (3) 

prevention, detection, and response to any systems failure; 

D. The completion of due diligence prior to receiving transferred mortgage 

servicing rights.  Specifically, prior to receiving the transfer of mortgage servicing rights, 

Defendant shall conduct due diligence to understand and implement steps necessary to 

resolve issues with the type of loan level information and documentation in the 

transferor’s possession and control, the transferor’s ability to transfer the information 

electronically, in images, or only in paper records, material gaps in the transferor’s 

records, and Defendant’s ability to promptly process the information to be provided by 

the transferor, and otherwise ensure that Defendant will be able to comply with its 

servicing obligations with respect to every loan transferred.  Defendant shall seek 

assurance that the transferor will transfer all material loan level information in its 

possession or control at or before the time of transfer. 
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E. The testing, identification, and correction of material errors in the following 

data fields in Defendant’s servicing systems of record: monthly payment amount, 

principal balance, interest rate, loan term, escrow account balance, suspense account 

balance, delinquency status, loss mitigation status, and foreclosure status (collectively, 

the “Tested Data Fields”).   

1. Portfolios Tested and Timing for Testing Portfolios. 

a. Testing of Portfolios Transferred After the Effective Date of 

this Order.  In addition to the requirements in Section VII.A.3 

relating to loans in loss mitigation, within twenty (20) days 

after the transfer of any portfolio transferred after the 

Effective Date of this Order, or within twenty (20) days after 

the establishment of the Program, whichever is later, 

Defendant shall conduct a “Data File Review.”  A Data File 

Review shall mean testing to examine the completeness and 

accuracy of loan information and to identify material errors.  

This shall include comparing the Tested Data Fields in 

Defendant’s servicing systems of record as of the loan 

transfer cutoff date for material errors against the electronic 

data and the loan-level documents provided by the transferor 
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servicer from which Defendant acquired the servicing rights 

to the portfolio.   

b. Previously Acquired Portfolios.  To the extent that Defendant 

is, as of the Effective Date, servicing mortgage loans in 

portfolios at risk for widespread or systemic errors in the 

Tested Data Fields, for which portfolios Defendant acquired 

the servicing rights after January 1, 2010, Defendant shall 

perform a Data File Review within 15 days after the 

establishment of the Program.  A portfolio is at risk for 

widespread or systemic errors if it exhibits any of the 

following factors:  (1) the portfolio was an involuntary 

transfer, (2) the portfolio transferred under an agreement 

containing a disclaimer as to the availability of loan account 

level information and documents, (3) the portfolio transferred 

from a servicer or owner that Defendant has learned 

previously provided materially inaccurate information for 

more than 5% of the portfolio or had missing material 

information for more than 5% of the portfolio, (4) Defendant 

has other information about the portfolio’s prior owner or 

servicer and its methods of doing business that suggests that 
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more than 5% of the portfolio contains material errors or 

materially incomplete information, or (5) after onboarding, 

consumers have disputed in writing the accuracy of the 

information in accounts amounting to more than 2% of a 

portfolio serviced by Defendant. 

2. Percentage of Each Portfolio to be Tested.   

a. All Data File Reviews, as prescribed in Subsection V.E.1, and 

On-Going Testing, as prescribed in Subsection V.E.4, shall be 

statistically valid and based on an appropriate sampling 

methodology, such that the results from the sample can be 

reliably extrapolated to the loan portfolio as a whole, and 

shall include both random and risk-based selection criteria. 

b. If a Data File Review performed pursuant to Section V.E.1. of 

this Order reveals a material error rate of more than 5% with 

respect to any Tested Data Field(s) in a portfolio, Defendant 

shall, within thirty (30) days, complete a Data File Review of 

such field(s) for all loans in the portfolio.  In the event that 

the full-portfolio Data File Review described in this section 

reveals a material error rate exceeding 5% of all loans in the 

portfolio with respect to any of the field(s) tested under this 
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subsection, Defendant shall perform a Data File Review of 

such field(s) for the entire portfolio every six months until the 

material error rate falls below 5%.   

3. Correction of Errors.  Upon completion of any Data File Review, 

Defendant shall correct and remediate any individual account errors 

identified by the Defendant, including promptly refunding or 

reversing any overcharges and stopping foreclosure where 

appropriate. 

4. Ongoing Testing.  Within 180 days of the Effective Date, and every 

six months thereafter, Defendant shall identify any portfolios 

serviced by Defendant for which, in the immediately preceding six 

months, consumers representing more than 2% of the relevant 

portfolio have disputed in writing the accuracy of the information in 

the Tested Data Fields.  In the event any such portfolios exist, 

Defendant shall determine whether there exist any systemic issues 

giving rise to the disputes about errors in the accuracy of the Tested 

Data Fields in the portfolio and, if any errors are found, Defendant 

shall develop and implement a plan to correct the errors.  Provided 

that, when a consumer orally denies, disputes, or challenges the 

accuracy of the information contained in a Tested Data Field, 
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Defendant shall (i) provide the consumer orally and 

contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the dispute in 

writing; and (ii) within 14 days of the consumer disputing 

Defendant’s claim, provide the consumer clear and conspicuous 

written instructions on how to submit the dispute in writing.   

Provided that the requirements of this Subsection V.E shall not apply to transfers 

when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform servicing who do not perform 

the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer. 

F. The design and implementation of reasonable safeguards to control the 

risks identified through risk assessment, and regular auditing or testing or monitoring of 

the effectiveness of the safeguards’ key controls, system, and procedures; 

 G. The regular auditing, testing, or monitoring of the effectiveness of the 

Program using statistically valid samples, such that the samples include both random and 

risk-based selection criteria and the results from the samples can be reliably extrapolated 

to the Program as a whole; and 

H. The evaluation and adjustment of the Program in light of the results of the 

required auditing, testing, or monitoring, and any material changes to Defendant’s 

operations or business arrangements that may significantly impact the Program, or any 

other circumstances that Defendant knows or has reason to know may have a material 

impact on the integrity, accuracy, and completeness of Defendant’s loan servicing 
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process, or data and other information about accounts that Defendant services, collects, or 

sells. 

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section V and the 

requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on 

servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the 

Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing 

Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the 

entry of this Order such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section V without 

violating these requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the 

Commission and the Bureau that it intends to comply with the requirements to the extent 

necessary to eliminate the conflict. 

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to Defendant which 

results in a delay in the transferor’s transfer of relevant information or a volume of errors 

in the transferor’s data that prevents Defendant from being able to comply with the time 

limits in this Section, Defendant shall submit a written plan to the Bureau and the 

Commission within ten (10) days after the date of the transfer identifying the cause of the 

delay and setting forth the specific steps it is taking, the resources it is devoting, and 

Defendant’s expected timeline for complying with the requirements of this Section.  If 

such plan is not objected to by the Bureau or the Commission within ten (10) days of 

submission of the plan, Defendant must proceed to implement the plan.  If the Bureau or 



Page 27 of 65 
 

the Commission objects to the plan within ten (10) days of submission, Defendant will 

make reasonable efforts to amend the plan to address any objection.  Defendant shall not 

take more than 120 days from the date of the transfer to satisfy the requirements of this 

Section. 

VI. ASSESSMENT 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Defendant shall, within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the 

implementation of the Data Integrity Program required by Section V of this Order, and 

biennially thereafter for eight (8) years after entry of this Order, obtain an assessment and 

report (“Assessment”) from a qualified, objective, independent, third-party professional, 

the identity of which is agreed to by a representative of the Commission and a 

representative of the Bureau, that, using procedures and standards generally accepted in 

the profession: 

1. Sets forth the specific data integrity program that Defendant has 

implemented and maintained during the reporting period; 

2. Explains how the data integrity program is appropriate to 

Defendant’s size and complexity, and the nature and scope of 

Defendant’s activities; 

3. Explains how the data integrity program meets or exceeds the 

protections required by Section V of this Order; and 
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4. Certifies that to the best of the certifier’s knowledge and belief the 

data integrity program is operating with sufficient effectiveness to 

provide reasonable assurance of the material accuracy, integrity, and 

completeness of Defendant’s records. 

B. Defendant shall provide a copy of the first Assessment to the Commission 

within ten (10) days after the Assessment is delivered to Defendant.  Defendant shall, 

within thirty (30) days of a request, provide the Commission with a copy of all plans, 

reports, studies, reviews, audits, audit trails, policies, training materials, and assessments, 

whether prepared by or on behalf of Defendant, relied upon to prepare such Assessment.  

All subsequent biennial Assessments shall be retained by Defendant and a copy provided 

to the Commission within thirty (30) days of request.  The Commission will provide to 

the Bureau a copy of all Assessments and any other materials produced pursuant to this 

Section VI of this Order. 

VII. INJUNCTION RELATING TO MORTGAGE SERVICING 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from: 

Limitations on the Transfer of Servicing for Loans in Loss Mitigation 

A. Transferring or acquiring servicing for loans in loss mitigation or with a 
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loss mitigation application pending, regardless of whether Defendant is the transferor or 

transferee, unless: 

1. The transferor or transferee identifies by loan number the following 

categories of loans at least thirty (30) days prior to transfer, and 

updates such information at least five (5) days prior to transfer:  

a. Loans in any stage of pending loss mitigation, including but 

not limited to in-process loan modifications; 

b. Loans approved or converted to a permanent loss mitigation 

outcome within sixty (60) days of transfer; and 

c. Loans denied loss mitigation within sixty (60) days of 

transfer; 

2. The transferor agrees to make all reasonable efforts to provide the 

transferee all the following information in its possession or control, 

prior to transfer or at a minimum, agrees to provide this information 

by the date of the transfer: all account-level documents and data 

relating to loss mitigation, including a copy of the mortgage note, 

periodic billing statements for the two years prior to the service 

transfer, payment history for the two years prior to the service 

transfer, escrow and suspense account information, loss mitigation 

applications, loss mitigation notices, documentation and information 
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received from the borrower for purposes of evaluating the borrower 

for loss mitigation, any net present value or other analysis by a 

servicer in connection with a borrower’s application for loss 

mitigation, loss mitigation agreements, any written communications 

or notes of oral communications with the borrower about the loss 

mitigation, and any other information needed to administer any 

pending loss mitigation applications or in-process 

loan modifications; and 

3. The contract for the transfer includes the following requirements: 

a. The transferee will engage in quality control work to validate  

that the loss mitigation data matches the images and paper 

documents received, make reasonable efforts to identify 

missing loss mitigation data, documentation, or information 

and request missing information from the transferor within 

fifteen (15) days of transfer; and 

b. Within ten (10) days of a request from the transferee, the 

transferor will provide missing or incomplete loss mitigation 

data, documentation, or information in its possession or 

control; 

4. The contract for the transfer also includes the following 
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requirements: 

a. The transferee will honor loss mitigation agreements entered 

into by the prior servicer, including but not limited to in-

process loan modifications; 

b. The transferee will continue processing pending loss 

mitigation requests received in the transfer; and 

c. Within thirty (30) days of transfer, the transferee will finish 

reviewing and resolve any loss mitigation request that was 

pending within sixty (60) days of transfer for which the 

transferee or buyer lacks clear written evidence that such 

request was denied, and provide the consumer an opportunity 

to provide any necessary missing information. 

Provided, however, that the requirements of Subsections VII.A.1, 2, and 3 shall 

not  apply to transfers when the transfer is between owners of the right to perform 

servicing who do not perform the servicing and there is no change in the subservicer. 

Short Sales 
 

B.  Failing to send consumers written confirmation within five business days of 

receipt of a short sale application.  If the short sale application is incomplete, Defendant 

must include in this written confirmation a list of any missing documents required to 

complete the short sale application; and 
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C. Failing to complete an evaluation of the short sale application and 

communicate a decision to the consumer prior to the date of a foreclosure sale (provided 

that Defendant receives the completed short sale application more than 14 days before the 

foreclosure sale) or within thirty (30) days after receipt of a complete short sale 

application, whichever is earlier, except that Defendant may have an additional fifteen 

(15) days to communicate its decision to the borrower when waiting to receive required 

information from third parties, provided Defendant promptly updates the borrower with 

the reason for this delay in writing. 

Other Loss Mitigation Requirements 
 

D. Failing, within ninety (90) days after entry of this Order, to make  

Defendant’s loss mitigation application available to consumers at no cost by, at a 

minimum, making it publicly available and readily accessible on Defendant’s website and 

providing it upon request to consumers.  The application shall identify all required 

documentation and information necessary to complete a loss mitigation application; 

E. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to  

maintain sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to handle loss mitigation 

requests in a timely and legal manner;  

F. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to  

implement and maintain a centralized document management system for tracking and 

storing incoming loss mitigation documents, including those submitted by consumers, 
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staffed with sufficient personnel that are adequately trained to prevent significant 

backlogs and lost documents; 

G. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to  

implement and maintain an online portal linked to Defendant’s primary servicing system 

where consumers can check, at no cost, the status of their loss mitigation requests.  The 

portal must, among other things: 

1. Enable consumers to submit documents electronically; 

2. Provide an electronic receipt for any documents submitted; and 

3. Update the status of pending loss mitigation requests at least every 

10 business days; 

H. Failing, within ninety (90) days after the date of entry of this Order, to take 

reasonable steps to ensure that personnel assigned to consumers pursuant to the Bureau’s 

rules relating to continuity of contact (12 C.F.R. § 1024.40): 

1. Refer and transfer consumers to a loss mitigation or other 

appropriate supervisor upon request; 

2. Have access to individuals able to stop foreclosure proceedings 

when necessary to comply with this Order and other applicable 

requirements; and 

3. Are not subject to compensation arrangements that encourage 

collection over loss mitigation activity.  
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Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section VII and the 

requirements of federal, state, or local laws or the standard provisions imposed on 

servicers by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the 

Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing 

Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the 

entry of this Order such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section VII without 

violating these requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the 

Commission and the Bureau that it intends to comply with the requirements to the extent 

necessary to eliminate the conflict. 

Provided further that, in the event of an involuntary transfer to Defendant which 

results in a delay of the transferor’s transfer of relevant information and prevents 

Defendant from being able to comply with the time limits in Section VII.A, Defendant 

shall submit a written plan to the Bureau and the Commission, within ten (10) days after 

the date of the transfer, identifying the cause of the delay and setting forth the specific 

steps it is taking, the resources it is devoting, and Defendant’s expected timeline for 

complying with the requirements of Section VII.A.  If such plan is not objected to by the 

Bureau or the Commission within ten (10) days of submission of the plan, Defendant 

must proceed to implement the plan.  If the Bureau or the Commission objects to the plan 

within ten (10) days of submission, Defendant will make reasonable efforts to amend the 

plan to address any objection.  In no event shall Defendants fail to honor loss mitigation 
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agreements entered into by the prior servicer, fail to continue processing pending loss 

mitigation requests received in the transfer, or take more than 60 days from the date of 

the transfer to satisfy the requirements of Section VII.A. 

VIII.   HOME PRESERVATION REQUIREMENT 
  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant shall, no later than sixty (60) days 

after the date of entry of this Order, establish and implement a home preservation plan 

(“Plan”) to identify and review Affected Consumers for loss mitigation options, provide 

for the solicitation and fast-track evaluation of loss mitigation applications, and stop 

pending foreclosure sales for such consumers to the extent necessary to permit the 

consumers to be solicited and considered for loss mitigation.  The Plan shall remain in 

effect for a period of five (5) years from the Effective Date.  Affected Consumers are 

consumers with first- or second-lien residential loans that were transferred to Defendant 

between January 1, 2010 and November 2014 and as of the Effective Date (1) are 45 or 

more days delinquent or have been referred to foreclosure, but are more than 37 days 

before a foreclosure sale, or (2) are serviced by Defendant and become eligible for 

referral to foreclosure at any point from the Effective Date until five years from the 

Effective Date, provided that Defendant still services the loan at that time.   

A. Convert In-Process Loan Modifications to Permanent Modifications.  

Defendant shall promptly send a permanent modification agreement to Affected 

Consumers with In-Process Loan Modifications that were fully underwritten prior to the 
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trial period and received all necessary investor approvals but for which the consumer did 

not previously enter a permanent modification agreement.  Such consumers shall be 

converted to a permanent modification upon execution of the permanent modification 

documents, consistent with applicable program and investor guidelines.  

B. Solicitation and Fast-Track Evaluation of Loss Mitigation Applications. 

For all Affected Consumers not accounted for in Paragraph A above, Defendant must:  

1. Engage in consumer outreach to obtain complete loss mitigation 

applications by: (i) Telephone and mail outreach to contact 

consumers and collect documents; (ii) For incomplete loss 

mitigation applications, a telephone and mail campaign to notify 

consumers of the additional documents and information needed to 

make the loss mitigation application complete; and (iii) Translation 

services when requested by a consumer or if Defendant has reason to 

believe that the consumer is not proficient in English.  

2. Promptly evaluate consumers for all loss mitigation options 

available under applicable investor guidelines, including by: (i) 

Providing a dedicated team of underwriters; (ii) Reviewing complete 

loss mitigation applications within 20 days of receipt; and (iii) 

Clearly identifying the terms of any loss mitigation offer (such as 

interest rate, amortization term, and balloon payments) and 
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identifying the modified principal balance. 

C. Stop Pending Foreclosures.  If necessary to permit Defendant to complete 

the actions described in Paragraphs A and B above before a foreclosure 

sale, Defendant shall take all available measures to postpone any 

foreclosure sale scheduled to occur and to prevent the entry of a foreclosure 

judgment or the entry of an order for foreclosure sale in connection with a 

foreclosure initiated with respect to the loan under consideration for loss 

mitigation during the pendency of the actions required in Paragraphs A and 

B above. 

D. Defendant may resume foreclosure sales for Affected Consumers under any 

of the following conditions:  

1. Despite Defendant’s reasonable efforts, including taking all steps 

described in Paragraph B, the consumer (i) has not responded to 

Defendant’s outreach effort within 30 days of Defendant’s most 

recent attempt to contact the consumer under Section VIII.B, or (ii) 

the consumer has responded to Defendant’s outreach efforts but has 

not provided Defendant with all materials necessary to permit 

Defendant to evaluate the consumer for loss mitigation options, 

notwithstanding Defendant’s attempts to obtain such material 

pursuant to Section VIII.B.1.ii, or (iii) does not execute a loss 
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mitigation offer prior to or at the expiration of the offer;  

2. The consumer states in writing that he or she does not want to be 

considered for a loss mitigation option; or  

3. Defendant has evaluated the consumer’s complete loss mitigation 

application for all available loss mitigation options, and (i) 

Defendant has determined the consumer does not qualify for any 

loss mitigation option and the time for appeal has expired or the 

appeal has been denied, or (ii) the consumer has rejected an offer of 

loss mitigation. 

E.   The requirements of this subsection VIII shall not apply to any loan (1) for 

which Defendant does not own the right to service or sub-service as of the Effective 

Date; or (2) that is not subject to foreclosure or collection activity because it has been 

charged off. 

Provided that, in the event of a conflict between this Section VIII and the 

requirements of federal, state, or local laws, the standard provisions imposed on servicers 

by the Department of Treasury, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, the Federal 

Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, the Rural Housing 

Administration, and any other similar organization that may come into existence after the 

entry of this Order, the National Mortgage Settlement, or applicable investor guidelines 

such that Defendant cannot comply with this Section VIII without violating these 
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requirements, Defendant shall document such conflicts and notify the Commission and 

the Bureau that it intends to comply with these requirements to the extent possible. 

Provided further that, nothing in this Section VIII shall be interpreted to (1) limit 

or restrict in any way the protections provided to borrowers under the Bureau’s rules 

relating to loss mitigation (12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.41, et seq.), or to (2) require Defendant to 

communicate with a borrower in a manner otherwise prohibited by applicable law, 

including bankruptcy law or the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act or any similar 

debt-collection-related state law.  To the extent any provision of this Section VIII is in 

conflict with any provision of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 shall apply. 

IX. INJUNCTION AGAINST FALSE OR MISLEADING  
REPRESENTATIONS 

  
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from: 

A. Making any material misrepresentation or assisting others in making any 

material misrepresentation, expressly or by implication, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations:      

1. That consumers’ loans have certain unpaid balances, payment due 

dates, interest rates, monthly payment amounts, delinquency 
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statuses, and unpaid fees or other amounts due;  

2. That consumers must make payments under the original, unmodified 

loan terms when a consumer has an in-process loan modification or 

other loss mitigation agreement from the prior servicer; 

3.  That consumers have to make a payment on their loans before 

Defendant will consider them for a loan modification;  

4. That Defendant will review and respond to consumers’ requests to 

be considered for a short sale in a set time period; 

5. The existence and length of any “grace period” in consumers’    

promissory notes; and 

6. That a payment method that entails a convenience fee is the only 

payment method available or only payment method that consumers 

can use to make timely payments. 

7. Nothing in this provision shall be interpreted to preclude Defendant 

from accurately representing for informational purposes contractual 

amounts that remain due and owing until a permanent loan 

modification has been finalized, provided that such representation 

does not mislead a consumer regarding the amounts due under the 

modification. 

B. Failing, in communications between Defendant and consumers about 
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Speedpay or other payment methods that involve a convenience fee, to disclose to 

consumers truthfully, clearly and prominently, and before the consumers agree to pay 

through Speedpay or any other payment method that entails a convenience fee: 

1. That consumers will be charged a convenience fee; and  

2. The existence of other payment methods that do not entail a 

convenience fee. 

X. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNAUTHORIZED WITHDRAWALS  
 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from causing payments to be taken from consumers’ bank 

accounts without having previously obtained consumers’ consent for any and all such 

payments. 

XI. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL COLLECTION PRACTICES 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection 

with collecting on past-due debt, are permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

A. When communicating with any person other than the consumer for the 
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purpose of acquiring location information about the consumer: 

1. Stating that a consumer owes a debt;  

2. Communicating more than once with any such person unless the 

person requests that the Defendant communicate with him or her 

again or Defendant has a reasonable belief that the person’s denial of 

knowledge of the consumer or the consumer’s location in response 

to Defendant’s first location communication was erroneous or 

incomplete and the person now has correct or complete location 

information; 

3. Failing to create records documenting that any such person informs 

Defendant, either orally or in writing, that the consumer that 

Defendant is trying to contact cannot be reached at that telephone 

number or the person does not have location information about the 

consumer that Defendant is trying to reach, and failing to maintain 

these records for at least five years from the date of last contact with 

the consumer; and 

4. Failing to create records documenting that Defendant had a 

reasonable belief that a person’s statement that the consumer 

Defendant is trying to contact cannot be reached at that telephone 

number, or that the person does not have location information about 
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the consumer, was erroneous, incomplete, or out of date, before 

calling that telephone number again, and failing to maintain these 

records for at least five years from the date of last contact with the 

consumer.    Provided that, for purposes of this Section XI.A, to 

have a “reasonable belief” that a person’s earlier statements were 

erroneous or incomplete and that such person now has correct or 

complete location information, Defendant must have: (1) conducted 

a thorough review of all applicable records, documents, and database 

entries for the consumer Defendant is trying to reach to search for 

any notations that indicate that the consumer cannot be reached at 

that telephone number or that the person does not have location 

information about the consumer Defendant is trying to reach; and (2) 

obtained and considered additional information or evidence beyond 

the information or evidence previously relied upon by Defendant in 

attempting to contact the consumer Defendant is trying to reach, and 

such additional information or evidence substantiates Defendant’s 

belief that the person’s earlier statements were erroneous or 

incomplete and that such person now has correct or complete 

location information;  

B. Communicating, except when seeking to acquire location information in 
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compliance with Section 804 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692b, with any person other 

than the consumer, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the 

creditor, the attorney of the creditor, the attorney of the debt collector, the consumer’s 

spouse, the consumer’s parent (if the consumer is a minor), the consumer’s guardian, the 

consumer’s executor, the consumer’s administrator, or the consumer’s attorney, in 

connection with collecting on past-due debt, unless Defendant has the prior consent of the 

consumer given directly to Defendant or the express permission of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, or Defendant can show that such communication is reasonably necessary to 

effectuate a post-judgment judicial remedy; 

C. With regard to the time and place of communications: 

1. Communicating with a consumer in connection with collecting on 

past-due debt at any unusual time or place or a time or place known 

or which should be known to be inconvenient to the consumer.  This 

includes communicating with a consumer before 8 a.m. or after 9 

p.m. at the consumer’s location, as evidenced by the consumer’s zip 

code and the area code of the consumer’s telephone number, unless 

the Defendant has knowledge that such hours are convenient for the 

consumer.  This also includes communicating with a consumer at a 

particular time or place after anyone at the telephone number has 

informed Defendant, either orally or in writing, that it is 
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inconvenient for the consumer to receive calls at that particular time 

or place;  

2. Communicating with the consumer at the consumer’s place of 

employment if the Defendant knows or has reason to know that the 

consumer’s employer prohibits the consumer from receiving such 

communication; and 

3. Failing to create and maintain (for at least five years from the date of 

last contact with the consumer) records documenting that a 

consumer has informed Defendant, either orally or in writing, that it 

is inconvenient for the consumer to receive calls at a particular time 

or place, or that the consumer is prohibited from receiving calls from 

Defendant at the consumer’s place of employment; 

D. Engaging in conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, 

or abuse a person, including, but not limited to: (1) the use of obscene or profane 

language or language the natural consequence of which is to abuse the hearer or reader; 

or (2) causing a telephone to ring, or engaging a person in telephone conversation, 

repeatedly or continuously with the intent to annoy, abuse, or harass the person at the 

called number.  Provided that, for purposes of this Section XI.D, there shall exist a 

rebuttable presumption of an intent to annoy, harass, or abuse if Defendant places more 

than one call to any person about a debt after that person has notified Defendant in 
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writing that the person refuses to pay such debt or that the person wishes Defendant to 

cease further communication with the person; except that Defendant may communicate to 

advise the person that further debt collection efforts are being terminated, that Defendant 

may invoke specified remedies which are ordinarily invoked by debt collectors and 

creditors, or, where applicable, that Defendant intends to invoke a specified remedy.  

Provided further that, after a borrower has sent Defendant a notification pursuant to 

FDCPA section 805(c) nothing in this Section XI.D shall prevent Defendant from 

providing the written notice required by 12 C.F.R. § 1024.39(b) if loss mitigation options 

are available.  Provided further that, when a consumer orally requests that Defendant 

cease further communication regarding a debt, Defendant shall (i) provide the consumer 

orally and contemporaneously with instructions for submitting the request in writing; and 

(ii) within 14 days of the consumer orally requesting that Defendant cease further 

communication, provide the consumer clear and conspicuous written instructions on how 

to submit the request in writing; 

E. Using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means, 

including but not limited to falsely representing, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication: (1) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or (2) that nonpayment 

of a debt will result in the arrest or imprisonment of consumers or the seizure, 

garnishment, attachment, or sale of the consumers’ property or wages, when in fact such 

action is not lawful or Defendant does not intend to take such action;  
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F. Using any unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect 

any debt, including but not limited to collecting any amount unless such amount is 

expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law; and 

G. Violating any provision of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment A), including, 

but not limited to: (1) Sections 804(2)-(3), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692b(2)-(3); (2) Section 805(a), 

15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a); (3) Section 805(b), 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b); (4) Section 806, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692d; (5) Section 807, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e; and (6) Section 808, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692f.  

XII. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL CONSUMER  
REPORTING PRACTICES 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from: 

A. Furnishing information relating to any consumer to a consumer reporting 

agency, notwithstanding any alternative compliance methods that may be generally 

available under Section 623(a)(1)(C) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(C), if: 

1. Defendant knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the 

information is inaccurate; or 
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2. Defendant has been notified by the consumer, at the address 

specified by Defendant for such notices, that specific information is 

inaccurate, and the information is, in fact, inaccurate;  

B. Upon determining that the information Defendant furnished to a consumer 

reporting agency about a consumer is not complete and accurate: 

1. Failing to promptly notify the consumer reporting agency that 

Defendant has determined the information is not complete and 

accurate; 

2. Failing to provide to the consumer reporting agency any corrections 

to that information, or any additional information, that is necessary 

to make the information provided by the Defendant to the agency 

complete and accurate; and  

3. Furnishing to the agency thereafter any of the information that 

remains incomplete or inaccurate; 

C. If the completeness or accuracy of any information about a consumer 

furnished by Defendant to any consumer reporting agency is disputed to Defendant by a 

consumer or Defendant is notified by a consumer reporting agency under 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681i(a)(2) that a consumer has disputed information furnished by Defendant, 

furnishing the information to any consumer reporting agency without notice that such 

information is disputed by the consumer; and 
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D. Violating any provision of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1681-1681x (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment B), including, but not 

limited to: (1) Section 623(a)(1), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1); (2) Section 623(a)(2), 15 

U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2); and (3) Section 623(a)(3), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(3), in 

connection with furnishing information about a consumer to a consumer reporting 

agency. 

XIII. INJUNCTION AGAINST UNLAWFUL REAL ESTATE  
SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection 

with the servicing of any loan, are permanently restrained and enjoined from: 

A. Failing to timely acknowledge receipt of, and respond to, consumers’ 

qualified written requests; 

B. Failing to protect any consumer’s credit rating by providing adverse 

information to a consumer reporting agency regarding any payment that is the subject of 

a notice of error or qualified written request for sixty (60) days after receipt of the 

qualified written request; 

C. Failing to make timely payments from consumers’ escrow accounts for 

casualty insurance, property taxes, and other charges with respect to the property, when 
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the loan is escrowed for such amounts; and 

D. Violating the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2605 (a 

copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment C), or its implementing Regulation X, 12 

C.F.R. §§ 1024.35 and 1024.17(k) (a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment D). 

XIV. COMPLIANCE WITH EXISTING LAW 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that nothing in this Order affects Defendant’s 

obligation to comply with applicable law, implementing regulations, including but not 

limited to all applicable provisions of the FDCPA, FCRA, provisions of the accuracy and 

integrity requirements of the Furnisher Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42 and Appendix A, 

RESPA, and the Bureau’s rules relating to mortgage servicing (12 C.F.R. § 1024.30, et 

seq.). 

XV. CONSUMER INFORMATION 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant, Defendant’s officers, agents, and 

employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of them, who 

receive actual notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently 

restrained and enjoined from failing to provide sufficient consumer information to enable 

the Bureau to efficiently administer consumer redress.  If a representative of the Bureau 

requests in writing any information related to redress, Defendant must provide it, in the 

form prescribed by the Bureau, within 21 days. 



Page 51 of 65 
 

XVI. NOTICE REQUIREMENTS 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. For a period of 5 years from the date of entry of this Order, Defendant, 

whether acting directly or indirectly, shall on a quarterly basis make the following 

disclosure in writing indicating clearly and conspicuously  to consumers with past-due 

debts serviced by Defendant: 

Federal and state law prohibit certain methods of debt 
collection, and require that we treat you fairly.  

 
If you have a complaint about the way we are collecting this 
debt, please write to our CONTACT CENTER, [current 
physical address], email us at [current email address], or call 
us toll-free at [current phone number] between 9:00 A.M. and 
5:00 P.M. Central Time Monday - Friday. 
 
The Federal Trade Commission and the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau enforce the Fair Debt Collection Practices 
Act.  If you have a complaint about the way we are collecting 
your debt, please contact the FTC or the CFPB.  You can 
reach the FTC online at www.ftc.gov/complaint; by phone at 
1-877- FTC-HELP; or by mail at 600 Pennsylvania Ave., 
NW, Washington, DC 20580.  You can reach the CFPB 
online at www.consumerfinance.gov/complaint; by phone at 
1-855-411-2372; or by mail at Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau P.O. Box 4503, Iowa City, Iowa 52244. 
 
 

The above disclosure shall be given in the language(s) that appear in such 

communications sent to consumers.  Defendant shall be responsible for sending the 

initial, quarterly written notice in accordance with the requirement in this Section XVI.A 
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thirty (30) days after entry of this Order, or, for loans acquired after entry of this Order, 

within thirty (30) days of acquisition.   

B. Defendant shall be deemed to have complied with the notice requirement of 

Section XVI.A of this Order if Defendant provides a notice in a specific federal, state, 

county, or city jurisdiction that (1) is required by the laws or regulations of that 

jurisdiction, (2) complies with those laws or regulations, and (3) is substantially similar to 

the notice required in Section XVI.A, above. 

C. Defendant, whether acting directly or indirectly, shall provide a written 

(electronic or paper) copy of the following notice to all officers, agents, and employees 

having responsibility with respect to collecting on past-due debts, within thirty (30) days 

of the date of entry of this Order, and to each employee hired for a period of five (5) 

years after that date, no later than the time the employee assumes responsibility with 

respect to the collecting on past-due debts, and shall secure from each such person, within 

forty-five (45) days of delivery, a signed and dated statement acknowledging that he or 

she has read the notice. 

 
Debt collectors must comply with the federal Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act, which limits our activities in trying 
to collect money from consumers. 

 
Section 804 of the Act says that, when contacting someone to 
acquire location information about the consumer, you may 
not state that the consumer owes a debt.  You also may not 
contact this person more than once unless the person asks you 
to or unless you reasonably believe the person’s earlier 
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response was wrong or incomplete and that the person now 
has correct or complete location information to provide to 
you. 

 
Section 805 of the Act says that, in connection with collecting 
on past-due debts, you may not communicate with any person 
other than the consumer for a purpose other than to obtain 
location information about the consumer.  This means that 
you may not reveal the existence of a debt to anyone other 
than:  (1) the person who allegedly owes the debt; (2) the 
consumer’s spouse, parent (if the consumer is a minor), 
guardian, executor, or administrator; or (3) the consumer’s 
attorney, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted 
by law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor, or Green 
Tree’s attorneys.  

 
Section 805 of the Act also says that you may not 
communicate with a consumer in connection with collecting 
on past-due debts: (1) at any unusual time or place or a time 
or place known or which should be known to be inconvenient 
to the consumer; or (2) at the consumer’s place of 
employment if you know or have reason to know that the 
employer prohibits the consumer from receiving such 
communication. 
 
If a consumer notifies you either orally or in writing that the 
consumer refuses to pay a debt or that the consumer wishes us 
to cease further communication with the consumer, you shall 
not communicate further with the consumer with respect to 
such debt, except: (1) to advise the consumer that our further 
efforts are being terminated; (2) to notify the consumer that 
we or the owner of the loan may invoke specified remedies 
which are ordinarily invoked by debt collectors or creditors; 
(3) where applicable, to notify the consumer that we or the 
owner of the loan intends to invoke a specified remedy; or (4) 
to place one additional call to confirm that the consumer is 
not interested in loss mitigation. 

 
Section 806 of the Act states that you may not harass, 
oppress, or abuse any person in connection with collecting on 
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past-due debts.  Among other things, this includes calling 
someone repeatedly or continuously to annoy, abuse, or 
harass the person, and using obscene or profane language, or 
language that is likely to abuse the person. 

 
Section 807 of the Act prohibits the use of any false 
representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to 
collect any debt or to obtain information about a consumer.  

 
Individual debt collectors are liable for their violations of the 
Act, and may be required to pay penalties if they violate it. 

 

Provided that, for purposes of compliance with Section XVI.C of this Order, the 

signature required for the employee’s statement that he or she has read the notice may be 

in the form of an electronic signature. 

XVII. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS OF ORDER  
AND RELEVANT STATUTES 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant obtain acknowledgments of receipt 

of this Order and of the FDCPA, the FCRA, and RESPA, in their current codification or 

as they may hereafter be amended: 

A. Defendant, within seven (7) days of entry of this Order, must submit to the 

Commission and the Bureau an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order sworn under 

penalty of perjury. 

B. For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must deliver a copy 

of this Order and the FDCPA (attached hereto as Attachment A) to:  (1) all principals, 

officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and 
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representatives who participate in collecting on past-due debts; and (3) any business 

entity resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this 

Order.  Delivery must occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current 

personnel.  To all others, delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities.  

In addition, if the FDCPA is amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order, 

Defendant must deliver an amended copy of the FDCPA to current personnel who 

participate in collecting on past-due debts within thirty (30) days after it is amended. 

C. For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant, must deliver a copy 

of this Order and the FCRA (attached hereto as Attachment B) to:  (1) all principals, 

officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and 

representatives who participate in furnishing or reporting information relating to any 

consumer to any consumer reporting agency; and (3) any business entity resulting from 

any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this Order.  Delivery must 

occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current personnel.  To all others, 

delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities.  In addition, if the FCRA is 

amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must deliver an 

amended copy of the FCRA to current personnel who participate in furnishing or 

reporting information relating to consumers to any consumer reporting agency within 

thirty (30) days after it is amended. 

D. For five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant, must deliver a copy 
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of this Order and RESPA (attached hereto as Attachment C) to:  (1) all principals, 

officers, directors, and LLC managers and members; (2) all employees, agents, and 

representatives who participate in paying property taxes, receiving or responding to 

notices of error or qualified written requests, or furnishing or reporting information 

relating to any consumer to any consumer reporting agency; and (3) any business entity 

resulting from any change in structure as set forth in the Section XVIII of this Order.  

Delivery must occur within seven (7) days of entry of this Order for current personnel.  

To all others, delivery must occur before they assume their responsibilities.  In addition, 

if RESPA is amended within five (5) years after entry of this Order, Defendant must 

deliver an amended copy of RESPA to current personnel who participate in paying 

property taxes, receiving or responding to notices of error or qualified written requests, or 

furnishing or reporting information relating to any consumer reporting agency within 

thirty (30) days after it is amended. 

E. From each individual or entity to which Defendant delivered a copy of this 

Order, Defendant must obtain, within thirty (30) days, a signed and dated 

acknowledgment of receipt of this Order and of any additional materials received 

pursuant to this Section of the Order, including copies of the FDCPA, FCRA, or RESPA. 

XVIII. COMPLIANCE REPORTING 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant make timely submissions to the 

Commission: 
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A. One (1) year after entry of this Order, Defendant must submit a compliance 

report to the Commission, sworn under penalty of perjury:   

1. Defendant must:  (a) identify the primary physical, postal, and email 

address and telephone number, as designated points of contact, 

which representatives of the Commission and Bureau may use to 

communicate with Defendant; (b) identify all of Defendant’s 

businesses by all of their names, telephone numbers, and physical, 

postal, email, and Internet addresses; (c) describe the activities of 

each business, including the goods and services offered, the means 

of advertising, marketing, and sales, and the involvement of any 

other Defendant; (d) describe in detail whether and how Defendant 

is in compliance with each Section of this Order; and (e) provide a 

copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to this 

Order, unless previously submitted to the Commission. 

B.   For fifteen (15) years following entry of this Order, Defendant must submit 

a compliance notice to the Commission, sworn under penalty of perjury, within 14 days 

of any change in the following: (1) any designated point of contact; or (2) the structure of 

Defendant or any entity that Defendant has any ownership interest in or directly or 

indirectly controls that may affect compliance obligations arising under this Order, 

including:  creation, merger, sale, or dissolution of the entity or any subsidiary, parent, or 
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affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order.  The Commission will 

provide a copy of such notice to the Bureau. 

C. Defendant must submit to the Commission notice of the filing of any 

bankruptcy petition, insolvency proceeding, or any similar proceeding by or against such 

Defendant within fourteen (14) days of its filing.  The Commission will provide a copy of 

such notice to the Bureau. 

D. Any submission to the Commission required by this Order to be sworn 

under penalty of perjury must be true and accurate and comply with 28 U.S.C. § 1746, 

such as by concluding:  “I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United 

States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on:_____” and 

supplying the date, signatory’s full name, title (if applicable), and signature. 

E. Unless otherwise directed by a Commission representative in writing, all 

submissions to the Commission pursuant to this Order must be emailed to 

DEbrief@ftc.gov or sent by overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to:  Associate 

Director for Enforcement, Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Commission, 

600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, DC  20580.  The subject line must begin: 

Federal Trade Commission and Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Green Tree 

Servicing LLC, No. XXXX. 

F. Unless otherwise directed by a Bureau representative in writing, all 

submissions to the Bureau pursuant to this Order must be emailed to 
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Compliance@cfpb.gov or sent by the U.S. Postal Service to:  Assistant Director for 

Enforcement, Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, ATTENTION: Office of 

Enforcement 1700 G Street, NW, Washington D.C. 20552.  For overnight courier send 

to: Assistant Director for Enforcement, Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 1625 I Street, 4th Floor, NW, Washington, D.C. 

20006. The subject line must begin:  In re Green Tree Servicing, LLC, File No. XXXX 

2014-CFPB-Docket # XXXX. 

XIX. RECORDKEEPING 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant must create certain records for 

fifteen (15) years after entry of the Order, and retain each such record for 5 years, unless 

otherwise indicated.  Specifically, Defendant must create and retain the following 

records: 

A. Accounting records maintained in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles in effect from time to time in the United States of America, 

including records showing the revenues from all goods or services sold, all costs incurred 

in generating those revenues, and the resulting net profit or loss; 

B. Personnel records showing, for each person providing services, whether as 

an employee or otherwise, that person’s:  name, addresses, and telephone numbers; job 

title or position; dates of service; and, if applicable, the reason for termination; 

C. Consumer files containing the names, last known addresses and phone 
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numbers as of the date Defendant ceased servicing activity, dollar amounts of debt owed, 

when Defendant serviced the loan, records of Defendant’s collection activity, and 

amounts collected by Defendant; 

D. For every consumer complaint to Defendant, whether received directly, 

indirectly, or through a third party, records that include: 

1. Any complaint and the date received, and the nature of the complaint 

as reflected in any notes, logs, or memoranda, including a 

description of the conduct alleged; and 

2. The basis of the complaint, including the names of any collectors, 

customer service representatives, or supervisors complained about; 

the nature of any research conducted concerning the validity of any 

complaint; all documents relating to the disposition of the complaint, 

including records of all contacts with the consumer; Defendant’s 

response to the complaint and the response date; whether the 

complaint was resolved; the date of resolution; and any action taken 

to correct the conduct complained about. 

E. Copies of all scripts and other training materials related to the collection of 

debts; 

F. To the extent permitted by state law, tape recordings of the complete 

telephone conversation for at least ninety (90) percent of all telephone calls between 
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Defendant and anyone it contacts in collecting on past-due debts, provided that 

Defendant must commence making such recordings no later than three (3) months after 

the date of this Order and must maintain these recordings for two (2) years after they are 

made;  

G. To the extent permitted by state law, tape recordings of the complete 

telephone conversation for at least ninety (90) percent of all calls in which consumers 

consent to payment using Speedpay or any other payment method initiated by Defendant 

in which a convenience fee is charged, provided that Defendant must commence making 

such recordings no later than three (3) months after the date of this Order and must 

maintain these recordings for two (2) years after they are made; and 

H. All records and documents necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, including procedures for responding to consumer 

complaints, documents related to investigations of consumer complaints, all required 

acknowledgments, notices, and all submissions to the Commission or Bureau.   

XX. COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring Defendant’s 

compliance with this Order: 

A. Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from a 

representative of the Commission or Bureau, Defendant must: submit additional 

compliance reports or other requested information, which must be sworn under penalty of 
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perjury; appear for depositions; and produce documents, for inspection and copying.  The 

Commission and Bureau are also authorized to obtain discovery, without further leave of 

court, using any of the procedures prescribed by Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 29, 30 

(including telephonic depositions), 31, 33, 34, 36, 45, and 69, provided that, Defendant, 

after attempting to resolve a dispute without court action and for good cause shown, may 

file a motion with this Court seeking an order for one or more of the protections set forth 

in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 26(c). 

B. For matters concerning this Order, the Commission and Bureau are 

authorized to communicate directly with Defendant.  Defendant must permit 

representatives of the Commission or Bureau to interview any employee or other person 

affiliated with Defendant who has agreed to such an interview.  The person interviewed 

may have counsel present. 

C. The Commission and Bureau may use all other lawful means, including 

posing, through their respective representatives, as consumers, suppliers, or other 

individuals or entities, to Defendant or any individual or entity affiliated with Defendant, 

without the necessity of identification or prior notice.  Nothing in this Order limits the 

Commission’s or Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process, pursuant to Sections 9 and 

20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 49, 57b-1, or Section 1052 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5562.   
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 Provided that, consistent with the Memorandum of Understanding between the 

Commission and the Bureau, Plaintiffs shall endeavor to coordinate enforcement of their 

rights under this Order to minimize duplication of efforts and burden on Defendant.   

XXI. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court retains jurisdiction of this matter 

for purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

 

SO ORDERED this ____ day of _______________, 2015. 

 
 
 
                                                                   
  UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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implementing regulation, Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. part 1022, and, more 
specifically, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42. 

Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues 

this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under (a) sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565; and (b) section 621 of the FCRA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1681s. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondents have executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance 

of a Consent Order," dated December 15, 2015 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondents have 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 

and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any 

of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondents admit the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondents and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" means the following: (i) the consumers with respect to 
whom UAC furnished to CRAs consumer information that UAC knew or had 
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reasonable cause to believe was inaccurate, as described further herein; and (ii) 
the consumers with respect to whom CarHop did not furnish to CRAs, or 
ensure that UAC furnished to CRAs, certain positive consumer information, as 
described further herein. 

b. "Boards" means Respondents' duly elected and acting Boards of Directors. 

c. "CarHop" means Interstate Auto Group, Inc., doing business as "CarHop," and 
its subsidiaries, successors, and assigns. 

d. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

e. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Bureau's Office of 
Enforcement, or his/her delegate. 

f. "Inaccurate Information" means consumer information that UAC knew or had 
reasonable cause to believe was inaccurate and that UAC furnished to one or 
more CRAs. 

g. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by, or on behalf of, one or 
more consumers, or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 
brought against CarHop and/or UAC based on substantially the same facts as 
described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

h. "Respondents" means both CarHop and UAC, individually or collectively. 

i. "Service Provider" has the same meaning set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26)(A). 

j. "UAC" means Universal Acceptance Corporation and its subsidiaries, 
successors, and assigns. 

IIT 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

Jurisdiction and General 

4. CarHop is a "buy-here, pay-here" motor vehicle dealer headquartered in 

Minnesota, with approximately 5o retail locations in approximately 15 states. 
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5. CarHop engaged, and continues to engage, in the marketing and retail 

sale of used cars, trucks, and vans. It sells vehicles primarily to customers with 

nonexistent or poor credit histories. 

6. CarHop finances the vehicles that it sells through UAC, a related finance 

company. 

7. Under sections 1oo2(5)(A) and (15)(A)(i) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(5)(A), (15)(A)(i), as a person that extended credit for automobile purchases, 

CarHop engaged in offering and providing consumer financial products and services 

to consumers for personal, family, or household purposes. Therefore, under section 

10o2(6)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6)(A), CarHop is a "covered person." 

8. Under section 1029(b)(2) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5519(b)(2), the 

Bureau has enforcement authority over CarHop because it operates a line of business 

that involves the extension of retail credit directly to consumers, and the contract 

governing that extension of credit is not routinely assigned to an unaffiliated third 

party finance source. 

9. UAC, headquartered in Minnesota, is the assignee of the retail 

installment contracts that CarHop originates for its retail sales of used cars, trucks, 

and vans, and it engaged, and continues to engage, in the servicing of the loans 

associated with those contracts. 

10. UAC engaged, and continues to engage, in the furnishing of information 

relating to consumers to CRAs for inclusion in consumer reports. Therefore, under 

Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.41(c), UAC is a "furnisher." The furnished information 

includes account and other credit information about the purchasers and borrowers 

under the CarHop contracts and loans. 
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ii. CarHop and UAC are subsidiaries of CH & F Holdings, LLC. 

Findings and Conclusions about UAC's Inaccurate Furnishing of Information in 
Violation of the FCRA 

UAC's consumer information furnishing practices generally 

12. UAC furnished customer account information to CRAs using the Consumer 

Data Industry Association's Metro 2 format and reporting codes system published in the 

2008 Credit Reporting Resource Guide (CRRG). The CRRG is the consumer-information 

reporting industry's standard electronic format for furnishing information to CRAs. 

13. UAC furnished customer account information to CRAs on a monthly basis, and 

it provided multiple items of information as part of each customer's account trade line each 

month. UAC used a programmed automated process that purported to convert the 

information in its own database to the Metro 2 format for furnishing. 

14. On numerous occasions affecting tens, hundreds, or thousands of customers 

(depending on the category of furnished information), UAC furnished customer information 

to CRAs that UAC knew or had reasonable cause to believe was inaccurate based on its 

customers' performance, information in the CarHop and UAC database, or other 

information. UAC made multiple furnishing errors for multiple customers, and for many 

customers, UAC repeatedly and on a monthly basis furnished the same erroneous 

information for the same customers. UAC inaccurately furnished a considerable amount of 

consumer information, including, but not necessarily limited to, 28 different categories of 

information, and it inaccurately furnished information for more than 84,00o customers. 

15. Overall, UAC's inaccurate furnishing described herein began in or before 

January 2009 and continued through September 2013, with the exact starting and ending 

5 

2015-CFPB-0032     Document 1     Filed 12/17/2015     Page 5 of 27



months within that period varying depending on the particular category of furnished 

information. 

16. At no time before October 1, 2013, did CarHop or UAC specify to their 

customers an address to which they could send notices that information UAC 

furnished to CRAs was inaccurate. 

17. The information that UAC inaccurately furnished was almost entirely 

information that had the potential to harm these customers by, for example, lowering 

their credit scores, hampering their abilities to obtain credit and make purchases, and 

hurting job-application prospects. 

18. UAC's furnishing inaccuracies were widespread and systemic. 

UAC's furnishing inaccuracies associated with its 72-hour money-back guarantee and 
return policy 

19. CarHop offered a 72-hour money-back guarantee and return policy. 

According to contract terms, CarHop customers had the right to voluntarily return 

their vehicles within 72 hours of purchase for a full refund without any penalties or 

additional obligations. 

20. For many customers who, under the money-back guarantee and return 

policy, returned their vehicles within 72 hours of purchase, UAC inaccurately 

furnished at least six different categories of consumer information affecting at least 

hundreds of customers. Those categories included the following: 

(a) inaccurately furnishing information that the vehicle was repossessed and that 
there may be a balance due; 

(b) inaccurately furnishing a current balance other than zero; 
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(c) inaccurately furnishing that the account was paid in full or settled for less than 
the full balance; 

(d) inaccurately furnishing an account status as a paid or closed account with a zero 
balance, in the months after the vehicle's return and after the initial month of 
furnishing that status; 

(e) inaccurately furnishing an original charge-off amount other than zero; and 

(f) inaccurately furnishing accounts as having an unpaid balance reported as a loss 
or charge-off. 

UAC's furnishing inaccuracies associated with disputes resolved with notices of satisfaction 
of debt proposals 

21. UAC often resolved disputes with customers by having the customer return the 

vehicle and by UAC issuing to the customer a Notice of Satisfaction of Debt Proposal (NSD). 

22. Through an NSD, UAC documented that a customer had no further obligations 

under the contract and that UAC had settled the customer's account. By the terms of an NSD, 

UAC acknowledged having gained possession of the vehicle, proposed to release the customer 

from further liability, and treated the NSD as having been agreed to by the customer unless 

the customer objected. 

23. For disputes resolved with NSDs, UAC inaccurately furnished at least 10 

different categories of consumer information, which affected thousands of customers. 

24. For thousands of customers, after one or more months of timely payments, for 

the month in which the customer thereafter voluntarily returned the vehicle under an NSD or 

UAC's agreement to issue an NSD, UAC: (a) inaccurately furnished that the vehicle was 

repossessed and that there may be a balance due; (b) inaccurately furnished a current 

balance other than zero; and (c) inaccurately furnished an amount past due other than zero. 
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25. For thousands of customers, in the month after a vehicle return under 

an NSD or UAC's agreement to issue an NSD, or at any time thereafter, UAC: (a) 

inaccurately furnished the account as having an unpaid balance reported as a loss or 

charge-off; and (b) inaccurately furnished an original charge-off amount other than 

zero. 

26. For hundreds of customers, for the month in which the customer 

voluntarily returned a vehicle under an NSD or UAC's agreement to issue an NSD, 

without the customer being behind in payments, UAC: (a) by an incorrect use of the 

code field for the FCRA compliance date of first delinquency, inaccurately furnished 

information that the customer was delinquent in that month or an earlier month; and 

(b) inaccurately continued to furnish that incorrect delinquency information each 

month for the months or years that followed. 

27. For hundreds of customers, for the months or years that followed the 

month in which the customer voluntarily returned a vehicle under an NSD or UAC's 

agreement to issue an NSD, without the customer being behind in payments, UAC: 

(a) inaccurately furnished on a monthly basis a current balance in the same amount 

other than zero; and (b) inaccurately furnished on a monthly basis the amount past 

due in continuously increasing amounts, or in the same final amount, each month. 

28. For hundreds of customers, for the months or years that followed the 

vehicle return under an NSD or UAC's agreement to issue an NSD, UAC inaccurately 

furnished on a monthly basis the payment history profile as a charge-off. 
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Additional UAC furnishing inaccuracies 

29. UAC inaccurately furnished at least eight additional categories of consumer 

information involving tens of thousands of customers, as follows: 

(a) UAC failed to distinguish between a customer's voluntary surrender of a vehicle 
and UAC's active repossession or purposeful recovery of a vehicle, incorrectly 
furnishing voluntary surrenders in a manner that reported that the vehicle was 
repossessed and that there may be a balance due; 

(b) UAC inaccurately furnished that there was no payment history available in the 
given month, when there was indeed payment history available for that month; 

(c) after having furnished information for customer accounts' first 24 months, UAC 
failed to update customers' payment history profiles, and, as a result, beginning 
in the accounts' 25th month and continuing for months and years thereafter, 
UAC furnished inaccurate information in several respects; 

(d) by UAC furnishing the current month's account status rather than the previous 
month's account status in a segment of the payment history profile, UAC failed 
to furnish an accurate payment history profile each month, both for that month 
and then monthly for the months or years thereafter; 

(e) UAC failed to accurately furnish information in the code field for FCRA 
compliance date of first delinquency and thereby incorrectly furnished 
customers as being delinquent or late on a payment when they were not; 

(f) UAC inaccurately continued to furnish on a monthly basis information relating 
to accounts that it had, through an online system, closed or deleted; 

(g) UAC furnished corrections through an online system without also updating and 
matching the corrected information in UAC's customer account database, which 
led UAC to furnish different and incorrect information when it did subsequent 
monthly furnishing; and 

(h) UAC inaccurately furnished accounts as having an unpaid balance reported as a 
loss or charge-off, where there was an unwinding of the original transaction and 
the financing of a different vehicle. 

30. UAC inaccurately furnished at least four more categories of consumer 

information, and inaccurately furnished information for dozens of customers with whom 
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UAC entered into verbal settlement agreements and who later disputed UAC's related 

information-furnishing, as follows: 

(a) UAC inaccurately furnished these accounts as having an unpaid balance 
reported as a loss or charge-off; 

(b) UAC inaccurately furnished these accounts as having an original charge-off 
amount other than zero; 

(c) UAC inaccurately furnished for these accounts on a monthly basis a current 
balance in the same amount other than zero; and 

(d) UAC inaccurately furnished for these accounts on a monthly basis an amount 
past due in continuously increasing amounts or in the same final amount each 
month. 

UAC's violations of the FCRA 

31. Under section 623(a)(1) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1), unless a 

person clearly and conspicuously specifies to a consumer an address to which the 

consumer can send notice that information the person furnished to a CRA is 

inaccurate, a person shall not furnish any information relating to a consumer to any 

CRA if the person knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the information is 

inaccurate. 

32. From January 2009 through September 2013, as described above, UAC 

furnished to CRAs consumer information that it knew or had reasonable cause to 

believe was inaccurate based on, for example, the underlying facts of consumers' 

performance or other conduct, or on the information in Respondents' database. 

33. From January 2009 through September 2013, Respondents did not 

clearly and conspicuously specify to consumers an address for receipt of notices that 

10 

2015-CFPB-0032     Document 1     Filed 12/17/2015     Page 10 of 27



furnished information was inaccurate, as such notice is described in section 623(a)(1)(C) of 

the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(C). 

34. Thus, UAC violated section 623(a)(1)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-

2(a)(1)(A). 

Findings and Conclusions about CarHop's Deceptive Acts and Practices in 
Violation of the CFPA 

35. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B), prohibits 

deceptive acts or practices. An act or practice is deceptive if it involves a material 

representation, omission, or practice that is likely to mislead a consumer acting reasonably in 

the circumstances. 

36. As part of its marketing and sales practices, CarHop represented in writing to 

consumers that it reports "good credit" to CRAB, and it emphasized to consumers its part in 

helping consumers build and maintain good credit. 

37. Despite these representations, from January 2009 to the Effective Date, 

CarHop did not furnish, or ensure that UAC furnished, certain positive consumer 

information — including information that would support "good credit" — for tens of 

thousands of customers, as follows: (a) CarHop, through UAC, failed to furnish a variety of 

types of positive payment history profile information; and (b) UAC deleted previously 

furnished positive information, in an attempt to undo furnishing errors or for other reasons, 

effectively causing accurate positive information to no longer be furnished. 

38. Consumers who considered purchasing a vehicle from CarHop frequently did 

so because they suffered from poor credit scores and other financial challenges. 

39. CarHop's misrepresentations were material and likely to mislead reasonable 

consumers. 
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40. Thus, CarHop engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(13). 

Findings and Conclusions about UAC's Failure to Establish and Implement 
Reasonable and Appropriate Written Furnishing Policies and Procedures 
in Violation of Regulation V's Furnisher Rule 

41. Regulation V, Subpart E, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.40-.43, also known as the 

"Furnisher Rule," applies to persons or entities that furnish consumer information to 

CRAs for inclusion in consumer reports. 12 C.F.R. § 1022.40-41. 

42. Under 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a), the Furnisher Rule requires that each 

furnisher establish and implement reasonable written policies and procedures 

regarding the accuracy and integrity of the consumer information that it furnishes to 

CRAs. The policies and procedures must be appropriate to the nature, size, 

complexity, and scope of each furnisher's activities. 

43. Under 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(b), the Furnisher Rule requires that in 

developing the required policies and procedures, each furnisher consider the 

guidelines in Appendix E of Regulation V and incorporate those guidelines that are 

appropriate. 

44. Through August 4, 2013, UAC did not establish and implement any 

written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the consumer 

information it furnished to CRAs. 

45. The absence of such policies and procedures through August 4, 2013 

constituted a significant systemic deficiency that increased the risk of, and likely 

contributed to, the numerous furnishing errors, failures, and problems described 

above. 
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46. Thus, in failing to establish and implement the required policies and 

procedures, UAC violated Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42. 

47. On August 5, 2013, UAC adopted the UAC Fair Credit Reporting Act Policy and 

Procedures (UAC Policy). 

48. The UAC Policy does not constitute reasonable written policies and procedures 

regarding the accuracy and integrity of the consumer information that UAC furnishes to 

CRAs, and it is not appropriate to the nature, size, complexity, and scope of UAC's activities. 

49. The UAC Policy does not appropriately incorporate the elements in Section III 

of Appendix E to Regulation V, including, but not limited to: having an appropriate system 

for furnishing information; maintaining records; having internal controls; conducting 

training; correcting records; and describing investigation methods. The UAC Policy does not 

address Respondents' consumer information database or UAC's use of the Metro 2 reporting 

system, and the UAC Policy lacks implementation specifics. 

50. The UAC Policy's failures and inadequacies constitute a significant and 

continuing systemic deficiency that increased the risk of, and likely will contribute to, 

continued UAC furnishing errors and violations. 

51. Thus, in failing to establish and implement the required policies and 

procedures even through adoption of the UAC Policy, UAC violated Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 

1022.42. 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 

5565, that: 
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52. Respondents and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, may not violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that 

their Service Providers and other agents do not violate, the following: section 

623(a)(1)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)(A); sections 1031(a) and 

1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B); and Regulation V, 12 

C.F.R. § 1022.42. 

53. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, 

or sale of any consumer financial product or service, may not misrepresent, or assist 

others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, that they will report "good credit" 

to CRAs or that they will otherwise furnish positive consumer information to CRAs, 

including information that would support "good credit." 

54. Respondents, and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and 

attorneys who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, in consultation with an independent 
consultant with specialized experience in consumer-information furnishing, 
develop and implement written consumer-information furnishing policies and 
procedures that comply with the Furnisher Rule and that are designed to ensure 
accurate consumer-information furnishing; 

b. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, identify all systemic consumer-information 
corrections and customer-specific consumer-information corrections that 
Respondents made as of the Effective Date, including, without limitation, 
corrections relating to Inaccurate Information, and as part of that identification, 
include relevant data from Respondents' database, current disputes data, other 
computer-based data, and affidavits from officers and employees with 
applicable authority and knowledge; 

14 

2015-CFPB-0032     Document 1     Filed 12/17/2015     Page 14 of 27



c. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, identify all Inaccurate Information that has 
not been corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as required by the FCRA. 
Within 6o days of the Effective Date, UAC must notify the CRAs of the 
inaccuracies, and either: (1) provide to the CRAs the correct information, or (2) 
delete the inaccurate information from the associated trade line if accurate 
information is not available. Thereafter, UAC must permanently block the 
refurnishing of the inaccurate information. 

d. Within 3o days of the Effective Date and until such time as Respondents resolve 
all causes of Inaccurate Information, cease and desist from making any 
representation to consumers regarding the accuracy or integrity of information 
UAC furnishes to CRAs; 

e. Arrange for any Affected Consumers who have already obtained their free 
annual credit report from the applicable CRA to obtain a free credit report from 
one or more of the CRAs to which UAC furnished inaccurate information about 
that consumer. Respondents must ensure that the option to obtain a free credit 
report is available to such consumers for 180 days after the consumers receive 
the notice specified in the next subparagraph. 

f. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, prominently post for 90 days on 
Respondents' websites used by consumers to access information about their 
accounts, and send to each Affected Consumer to all home addresses associated 
with each consumer's accounts (including home and personal email addresses) a 
notice (Notice) approved by the Enforcement Director advising of, at a 
minimum, the following: 

i. Respondents have provided inaccurate information about some of their 
customers to CRAs; 

ii. Respondents have failed to furnish to CRAs, or to ensure that UAC furnished 
to CRAs, certain positive consumer information; 

iii. As a result of those inaccuracies and failures, Respondents are the subject of a 
Bureau Consent Order; 

iv. The remedial measures that Respondents have taken and will be taking. 

v. The inaccuracies and failures may have had an adverse effect on the Affected 
Consumers' credit; 

vi. Consumers have a statutory right to receive a free credit report annually from 
each of the nationwide consumer reporting agencies; 

vii. The process for obtaining a free credit report; 

15 

2015-CFPB-0032     Document 1     Filed 12/17/2015     Page 15 of 27



viii. To the extent that the Affected Consumers obtained a free credit report during 
the preceding 12 months, Respondents will inform such consumers of the 
means by which a free credit report can be obtained as long as they apply for 
such report within i8o days of receiving a Notice; and 

ix. The process consumers may use to dispute inaccuracies in their credit report. 

g. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, in consultation with an independent 
consultant with specialized experience in consumer-information furnishing, 
update their written policies and procedures to include a specific process for 
identifying Inaccurate Information (Audit Program). At a minimum, the policies 
and procedures for the Audit Program must require that Respondents: (1) 
examine a randomly selected sample of accounts for furnishing inaccuracies on 
a monthly basis using industry-accepted standards for selection and testing; (2) 
monitor and evaluate disputes it receives from the CRAs and its customers for 
indications of Inaccurate Information; and (3) cease furnishing information for 
all consumer accounts potentially affected by Inaccurate Information until such 
time as the Inaccurate Information is corrected, modified, deleted, or blocked as 
required by the FCRA; 

h. Implement the Audit Program within 6o days of the Effective Date; 

i. For Inaccurate Information that UAC has reason to believe it furnished or may 
have furnished to a CRA, provide, within 6o days of the Effective Date, the 
corrected information to the CRA, or request that the CRA delete the Inaccurate 
Information from the Affected Consumer's file and permanently block the 
refurnishing of such information; and 

Within 30 days of the Effective Date, create new training materials designed to 
ensure accurate consumer-information furnishing, and train staff to comply 
with the terms of those materials and of the Consent Order. 

VI 

Independent Consultant's Report and Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

55. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondents must secure and 

retain one or more independent consultants with specialized experience in consumer-

information furnishing, and who are acceptable to the Enforcement Director, to 

conduct an independent review of UAC's consumer-information furnishing policies, 

procedures, practices, and systems. The review must include specific assessments of 
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UAC's consumer-information furnishing policies, procedures, practices, and systems; specific 

recommendations for improving the quality of UAC's consumer-information furnishing 

policies, procedures, practices, and systems; and specific recommendations for improving the 

reliability and accuracy of UAC's consumer-information furnishing. The purposes of the 

review must include advising Respondents of the independent consultant's opinion about 

whether UAC has the consumer-information furnishing policies, procedures, practices, and 

systems necessary to ensure that UAC will furnish accurate consumer account information 

and that UAC will correct Inaccurate Information. 

56. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, the independent consultant(s) must 

prepare a written report detailing the findings of the review (Independent Consultant 

Report), and provide the Independent Consultant Report to the Boards. 

57. Within 20 days of receiving the Independent Consultant Report, the Boards 

must: 

a. Develop a plan (Compliance Plan) to: (i) correct any deficiencies identified; (ii) 
implement any recommendations or explain in writing the reasons that a particular 
recommendation is not being implemented; and (iii) state the specific procedures 
that Respondents will follow upon discovering inaccuracies in furnished consumer 
information; and 

b. Submit the Independent Consultant Report and the Compliance Plan to the 
Enforcement Director. 

58. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or to direct Respondents to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Respondents to revise the Compliance Plan, the Boards must 

make the requested revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Enforcement Director 

within 20 days. 
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59. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondents must 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Boards 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

6o. The Boards must review all submissions (including plans, reports, 

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order before 

submission to the Bureau. 

61. Although this Consent Order requires Respondents to submit certain 

documents for review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Boards will 

have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondents 

and for ensuring that Respondents comply with Federal consumer financial law and 

this Consent Order. 

62. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Boards to ensure 

adherence to, or undertake to perform, certain obligations of Respondents, the 

Boards must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondents to fully comply with 
the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Boards on the status of 
compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-
compliance with any failures to comply with the Boards' directives related to 
this section. 
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IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in section 1055(c)(3), 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondents must pay a civil money 

penalty of six million four hundred sixty-five thousand dollars ($6,465,000) to the Bureau. 

64. Within 20 days of the Effective Date, Respondents must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

65. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

66. Respondents must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order 

as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau ultimately 

uses those funds, Respondents may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any 
civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 
source, including, but not limited to, payment made under any insurance policy, with 
regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

67. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondents may not argue that Respondents are entitled to, nor may 

Respondents benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this 
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action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a 

Penalty Offset, Respondents must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting 

the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the 

U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money 

penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 

68. In the event of any default on Respondents' obligations to make 

payment under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as 

amended, will accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to 

the date of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

69. Respondents must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the 

funds paid to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be 

returned to Respondents. 

70. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondents, unless they have already done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

71. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondents must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That 

notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondents paid or are 

required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 
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COMPLIANCE PROVISIONS 

X 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Respondents must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including, but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or 

insolvency proceeding by or against Respondents; or a change in Respondents' name or 

address. Respondents must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the 

development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

73. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective 

Date, Respondents must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written compliance 

progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Boards, which, at a 

minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondents have complied with 
this Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XI, unless 
previously submitted to the Bureau. 

74. After the one-year period, Respondents must submit to the Enforcement 

Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request from 

the Bureau. 
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XI 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

75. Within 3o days of the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy 

of this Consent Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

76. For five years from the Effective Date, Respondents must deliver a copy 

of this Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as well as 

to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order 

before they assume their responsibilities. 

77. Within 3o days of delivery, Respondents must secure a signed and 

dated statement from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

section, acknowledging receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any 

electronic signatures comply with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

7001 et seq. 

XII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

78. Respondents must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 

five years from the Effective Date, the following business records: 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

82. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, 

Respondents must submit additional compliance reports or other requested 

information, which must be made or submitted under penalty of perjury; provide 

sworn testimony; or produce documents. 

83. Respondents must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondents who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

84. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

85. For the duration of this Consent Order, in whole or in part, 

Respondents agree to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under section 

1024 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5514. Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, Respondents 

may not petition for termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 
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XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

86. Respondents may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) 

by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

87. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any such 

modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent 

the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondents, except as described in Paragraph 89. 

89. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondents from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described in 

Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the Effective 

Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau may use the 

practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions against Respondents 

and their affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of 

violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount 
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of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Consent Order. 

90. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or 

the United States. 

91. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or 

five years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondents. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondents did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, 

then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The 

Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the 

extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

92. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

93. Should Respondents seek to transfer or assign all or part of their 

operations that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondents must, as a condition 

of sale, obtain the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all 

applicable provisions of this Consent Order. 

94. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. 

For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum 
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amount of civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondents wherever Respondents may be 

found and Respondents may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondents. 

95. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or 

warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral 

or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

96. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, the Boards, or the Respondents' officers or 

employees to violate any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this  /614 day of  D6c40.441,  , 2015. 

C44144,Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

CDNSUMERFINANOALPROTECTION ) 
BUREAU, ) 
1700 G Street NW ) 
Washington, DC 20552 ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) OVIL ACTION NO. 

) 
� ) 

) 
NATIONAL CDRRECTIVE GROUP, INC., ) 
a Delaware cotporation, also d/b/a ) 
CorrectiveSolutions, ) 

910 Calle Negocio, San demente, CA 92673 ) 
) 

AMERICAN JUSTICE SOLUTIONS, INC., ) 
a Delaware cotporation, also d/b/a ) 
CorrectiveSolutions, ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San demente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
VICTIM SERVICES, INC. ) 
a Delaware cotporation, ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San demente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
and ) 

) 
MATS JONSSON, individually and as a ) 
principal of National Corrective Group, Inc., ) 
American Justice Solutions, Inc., and Victim ) 
Services, Inc., ) 

910 Calle Negocio, San demente, CA 92673 ) 
) 

Defendants. ) 
_______________________ ) 

Complaint for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief 



Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) for its complaint 

against Defendants National Corrective Group, Inc., doing business as 

CorrectiveSolutions (NCG); American Justice Solutions, Inc., doing business as 

CorrectiveSolutions (AJS); Victim Services, Inc., (VSI); and Mats Jonsson Oonsson), 

alleges as follows: 

1. The Bureau brings this action under Sections 1031(a), 1036(a), 1054, and 

1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S. C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a), and 5565, and Sections 807 and 809 of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (FDCP A), 15 U.S.C §§ 1692e and 1692g, to obtain 

permanent injunctive relief, restitution, disgorgement, civil money penalties, and other 

relief for violations of the CFPA and FDCP A by NCG, AJS, VSI, and Jonsson 

(collectively, Defendants). Unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or practices in violation 

of the CFPA are prohibited. 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1). The FDCPA 

prohibits, among other things, the use of any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. 15 U.S.C § 

1692e. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C § 5565(a)(1), presents a 
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federal question, 28 U.S.C § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 

28 u.s.c § 1345. 

3. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial amount of the 

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct constituting violations of Federal 

consumer financial law occurred within this district. 28 U.S.C §§ 1391(b) and (c), and 

12 u.s.c § 5564(f). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. The Bureau is an agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C § 5491(a). It has 

independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce the CFP A and the 

FDa> A 12 U.S.C § 5564(a)-(b). 

DEFENDANTS 

5. Defendant National Corrective Group, Inc., which also does business as 

CorrectiveSolutions, is a for-profit cmporation, incorporated in the state of Delaware 

with a principal place of business in San Clemente, California. It is a private debt 

collection company that, until June 2014, specialized in administering bad check 

diversion programs on behalf of state and local prosecutors' offices and collecting 

dishonored check debt from consumers on behalf of retail merchants. It does 

business in the states of Maryland, Colorado, California, Florida, Michigan, New 

Mexico, Nevada, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, and Pennsylvania, among others. 
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6. Defendant American Justice Solutions, Inc., which also does business as 

CorrectiveSolutions, is a for-profit corporation, incorporated in the state of Delaware 

with a principal place of business in San demente, G:tlifomia. It is a private company 

that assumed the business operations of National Corrective Group, Inc. in June 

2014. 

7. Defendant Victim Services, Inc. is a for-profit corporation, incorporated 

in the state of Delaware with a principal place of business in San demente, G:tlifomia. 

It is a private company that acquired the assets and assumed the business operations 

of National Corrective Group, Inc., in June 2014. 

8. Defendant Mats Jonsson is N(X;'s Chief Executive Officer and 

previously its Chief Operating Officer. He has managerial responsibility for N(X; and 

materially participated in the conduct of its affairs, including its collection of bad 

checks. He currently owns and manages the business of American Justice Solutions 

and Victim Services, Inc. Jonsson is therefore a "related person" under the CFP A. 12 

u.s.c § 5481(25)(Q(�-(ii). 

9. At all times related to the violations alleged herein, Jonsson individually 

and in concert with others, formulated, directed, controlled, and participated in the 

acts and practices of Ncx;, AJS, and VSI (collectively, the Companies), including the 

acts and practices set forth in this complaint. 
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10. Defendants are "debt collectors" within the meaning of the FDCPA. 15 

U.S.C § 1692a(6). 

11. At all times material to this complaint, Defendants have provided and 

offered a consumer financial product or service as defined by the CFP A 12 U.S.C §§ 

5481(5), 5481(15)(A)(v�, 5481(15)(A)(vill)(II), and 5481(15)(A)(x). Accordingly, the 

Defendants are "covered persons" within the meaning of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C § 

5481(6). 

FACTS 

12. NCG was incorporated on AprilS, 2009 in order to acquire the bad 

check collection business of American Corrective Counseling Services Inc. (ACCS). 

At that time, ACCS was a defendant in a class-action lawsuit brought by and on behalf 

of individuals who had received letters from ACCS that deceptively threatened 

possible criminal prosecution if they did not pay debts associated with dishonored 

checks. ACCS filed for bankruptcy in January 2009 and was allowed to sell its 

business, including its contracts with state and local prosecutors' offices (DAs) to 

administer bad check diversion programs, to NCG. 

13. AJS and VSI were incorporated on May 12, 2014, in order to acquire the 

assets and business of NCG. AJS and VSI are wholly owned by Defendant Jonsson. 

14. Historically, bad check diversion programs have been operated by debt 

collectors that entered into contracts with DAs to collect dishonored checks received 
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from local merchants. The diversion programs consist of three parts: (1) full 

restitution to the victim merchant; (2) payment of administrative and program fees; 

and (3) completion of a financial accountability class. While private diversion 

programs can be an efficient way for DAs to delegate operation of administrative 

support services for such programs, the companies operating the programs, such as 

the Cbmpanies, must comply with the law in doing so, including operating in 

compliance with the FDQJ A In 2006, Cbngress amended the FDQJ A to exclude 

check diversion companies from the definition of "debt collector," but only if certain 

specific conditions apply. Cbmpanies operating check diversion programs must 

ensure that they meet the conditions for FDQJA exemption or, if they do not, must 

comply with the FDQJ A in all respects. 

15. The instant matter arises because Defendants, in administering diversion 

programs, engaged in deceptive conduct by sending notices and letters to consumers 

on D A letterheads and by creating the false impression that consumers may be 

prosecuted for writing bad checks unless they: enroll in the diversion program; pay 

the debts and administrative fees in question; and enroll in a financial education class, 

for which Defendants charge an additional fee (typically $130 to $190). The manner in 

which Defendants administer the diversion programs does not meet the FDQJ A: s 

statutory requirements for the check diversion programs exemption. Thus, 

Defendants are debt collectors under the FDQJA and must comply with all of the 
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FDCP A's provisions. As set forth herein, Defendants are in widespread violation of 

. the FDCP A and CFP A 

A. Background 

16. Since at least April2009, when NCG acquired the assets and took over 

the business operations of ACG, until June 2014, when AJS and VSI purchased 

NCG's assets and took over its operations, NCG was one of the largest providers of 

pre-charge bad check diversion programs in the United States. AJS and VSI have 

replaced NCG's position as one of the largest pre-charge bad check diversion 

programs and have continued those operations from June 2014 to the present. 

17. Defendants have marketed and promoted their services to DAs and to 

merchants and have provided the DAs with standard diversion program contracts that 

include screening criteria, in some cases modified or amended by the DA. 

18. When a merchant who participates in one of the Companies' diversion 

programs receives a check that is subsequently dishonored, the merchant can file a 

bounced check report directly with the Companies. 

19. In most cases, the Companies review a merchant's report to 

independently determine whether the consumer committed a bad check violation 

under the applicable state penal law as set forth in the screening criteria. The 

Companies then decide whether the consumer is eligible to participate in the diversion 

program. 
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20. In determining whether a consumer is eligible to participate in the 

diversion program, the Companies do not consult the DA, the DA's office, or any 

criminal backgrolUld databases. 

21. In order to successfully complete the diversion program, consumers 

must pay the Companies the amolUlt of the alleged bad check (which amollllt is 

ultimately sent by the Companies to the complaining merchant) and an administration 

fee. 

22. In addition, the Companies require consumers to enroll in, pay an 

additional fee for, and complete a financial accolUltability class before the company 

will certify that the consumer has successfully completed the diversion program. The 

fee for the class ranges from $130 to $190 depending on the jurisdiction in which the 

class is held. 

23. The entire additional fee consumers payfor the financial accolUltability 

class is retained by the Companies. 

24. If an alleged bad check writer does not successfully complete the 

diversion program, the Companies decide whether the file should be forwarded to the 

DA's office for possible criminal prosecution, based on prosecution criteria that are 

generally stricter than the screening criteria. 

25. Only a small percentage of the files that originally meet the screening 

criteria for the diversion program are forwarded to the DA's office to be reviewed for 
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criminal prosecution. In the jurisdictions where Defendants operate diversion 

programs, few, if any, of the files that meet the prosecution criteria result in the filing 

of a criminal charge. 

B. The Initial Collection Letters 

26. Since at least July 21, 2011, Defendants have sent out initial collection 

letters on DA letterhead- often bearing a facsimile of the DA's signature - to 

consumers that Defendants determined met the diversion program intake criteria. An 

example of NeG's initial collection letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. Since June 

2014 AJS and VSI have continued to send such letters, which are essentially 

unchanged from NCG's letters. 

27. The collection letters on DA letterhead do not disclose the identity of 

one of the Companies as the sender of the letters, but merely include a brief reference, 

in small type in a box at the bottom of the page, to "a third party administrator." 

28. In addition, statements in the letters refer to the DA, "this office," or 

"my office," and do not indicate that the letters are from one of the Companies, and 

do not disclose that a DA has not reviewed the bad check allegations against that 

consumer. Specifically, the letters state: 

a. "My office has established a Bad Check Restitution Program." 
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b. "If you choose to participate in the Bad Check Restitution Program, 

and if you successfully complete the program's two steps outlined 

above, my office will consider this matter resolved." 

29. The initial collection letters contain the heading in bold capital letters, 

"OFFIOAL NOTICE - IMMEDIATE ATTENTION REQUIRED." They also 

state that the consumer has been accused of violating a penal statute and can enter a 

"pre-charge program" to avoid "the possibility of further action against the accused 

by the District Attorney." Specifically, the initial collection letters state: 

a. "You have been accused of violating" a specific state statute; 

b. A "conviction under this statute is punishable by ... imprisonment 

and/ or a fine;" 

c. "The Bad Check Restitution Program ... is a pre-charge program 

designed to allow people accused of having violated the above 

referenced statute to avoid the possibility of further action against the 

accused by the District Attorney's office." 

30. Less than one percent of the consumers that receive the initial collection 

letter meet the criteria for criminal prosecution or are ultimately referred to the DA's 

office to be reviewed for possible criminal prosecution. 

31. Defendants sent these letters to consumers knowing that the possibility 

of actual prosecution is extremely remote. 
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32. The initial collection letter does not disclose that one of the Companies 

is attempting to collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for that 

purpose, as required by section 807(11) of the FDCI' A. 15 U.S.C § 1692e(11). 

33. Neither the initial collection letter, nor any communication sent within 

five days of the initial collection letter, provide the statements regarding a consumer's 

right to validate the debt required by section 809 of the FDCI' A. 15 U.S.C § 1629g. 

C. Second Collection Letters 

34. Since at least July 21,2011, Defendants have sent a second warning letter 

on DA letterhead to consumers who either did not reply to the initial letter or did not 

successfully complete the diversion program. An example of NCG's second warning 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. Since June 2014 AJS and VSI have continued to 

send such letters, essentially unchanged from NCG's letters. The second warning 

letters make the following statements: 

a. "Our records indicate that you have failed to respond or fully comply 

with the [DA's] Official Notice." 

35. "Successful completion of the program requires that you comply with all 

of the Bad Check Restitution Program requirements including full restitution, all fees 

and attendance of the Financial Accountability class." 

36. The Companies send these second warning letters before the consumer's 

file has been forwarded to the DA to be considered for criminal prosecution, and 
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indeed, it sends these letters at a time when it has not been detennined whether the 

consumer's file will be forwarded to the DA to be considered for criminal 

prosecution. 

37. The second warning letters on DA letterhead do not disclose the identity 

of one of the Companies as the sender of the letters. 

38. Defendants are aware that less than one percent of those consumers to 

whom they mail the second warning letters will ultimately be referred to the D A's 

office for possible criminal prosecution. 

D. Subsequent Letters and Second Screening 

39. Since at least July21, 2011, Defendants have sent subsequent warning 

letters on D A letterhead to consumers who either did not reply to the second warning 

letters or did not successfully complete the diversion program. In a final attempt to 

collect the consumer's debt and have the consumer enroll in the diversion program, 

Defendants sent letters on DA letterhead containing the heading in bold capital 

letters, "CASE FORWARDED FOR POTENTIAL CRIMINAL PROSECUTION." 

An example of NCG's final warning letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. Since June 

2014 AJS and VSI have continued to send such letters, essentially unchanged from 

NCG's letters. The final warning letters make the following statements: 
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a. "Your case has been reviewed and forwarded to the [DA] for 

consideration of prosecution . . . due to your failure to complete the 

requirements of the Bad Check Restitution Program." 

b. "Your immediate response may be able to cease this action." 

c. "Successful completion of the program requires that you comply with 

all of the Bad Check Restitution Program requirements including full 

restitution, all fees and attendance of the Financial Accountability 

class." 

40. The final warning letters on DA letterhead do not disclose the identity of 

one of the Companies as the sender of the letters. 

41. Defendants are aware that less than one percent of those consumers to 

whom it mails the final warning letters will ultimately be referred to the DA's office 

for possible criminal prosecution and that few, if any, are ever prosecuted. 

E. Defendant Jonsson's Role 

42. Jonsson is ultimately responsible for the operation of the Companies 

and the actions taken by their employees in the administration of the diversion 

programs. Jonsson reviewed and approved, or allowed the continued use of, the 

Companies' collection letters. He oversees all aspects of the diversion program, 

including the intake process and the determination of which consumers are referred 

to the DAs for possible criminal prosecution. 
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F. State and Federal Statutes Concerning Bad Check Diversion 

Programs 

43. Under the penal laws of California, F lorida, Minnesota, Nevada, Oregon, 

and Illinois, states where the Companies have contracts to administer diversion 

programs, DAs may contract with a private entity to administer their diversion 

programs; however, these state laws explicitly state that the DAs must use screening 

criteria, which are also set forth in those laws, to decide which consumers are 

appropriate for enrollment in diversion programs. 

44. In administering diversion programs, the Companies have determined 

which specific consumers are appropriate for enrollment, thereby exercising 

independent prosecutorial discretion. 

45. In administering diversion programs, the Companies have determined· 

which specific consumers are appropriate for enrollment without using the screening 

criteria mandated by state law, there by administering the diversion programs contrary 

to the penal laws in the states where they operate. 

46. Section818 of the FDCFA, 15 U.S.C § 1692p, provides that private 

entities operating pretrial bad check diversion programs are not "debt collectors" 

under the FDCF A if the entity, in the course of performing its duties, among other 

things, complies with state penal laws, does not exercise independent prosecutorial 

discretion, contacts consumers only after aDA has determined that the consumer is 
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appropriate for the diversion program, and includes certain clear and conspicuous 

statements in its initial written communications with consumers. 

47. In administering diversion programs, Defendants failed to comply with 

state penal laws, exercised independent prosecutorial discretion, contacted consumers 

before a D A had determined that the consumer was appropriate for the diversion 

program, and failed to include in their initial written communications with consumers 

the clear and conspicuous statements required by the FDCP A's statutory exception 

for certain bad check diversion programs operated by private entities. Therefore, 

Defendants fail to meet the statutory exception criteria of section 818 of the FDCP A, 

15 U.S.C § 1692p, and each Defendant is a "debt collector" under the FDCP A and is 

bound by its provisions. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT AND 

FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

48. Sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531 and 

5536(a)(1)(B), prohibit covered persons from engaging "in any unfair, deceptive, or 

abusive act or practice." 

49. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors 

from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt. Section 807(3) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(3), 

specifically prohibits the false representation or implication that any individual is an 
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attorney or that the communication is from an attorney. Section 807(4) of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(4), specifically prohibits the representation or implication 

that nonpayment of any debt will result in the arrest or imprisonment of any person 

unless such action is lawful and the debt collector or creditor intends to take such 

action. Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(5), specifically prohibits the 

threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be 

taken. Section 807(9) of the FDCP A, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(9), prohibits the use or 

distribution of anywritten communication which simulates or is falsely represented to 

be a document authorized, issued, or approved by any official or agency of any State, 

or which creates a false impression as to its source, authorization, or approval. Section 

807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(10), prohibits using false representations or 

deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information 

concerning a consumer. Section 807(11) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692e(11), 

prohibits the failure to disclose in the initial written communication with the 

consumer that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any 

information obtained will be used for that purpose. Section 807(14) of the FDCP A, 

15 U.S.C § 1692e(14), prohibits using any business, company, or organization name 

other than the true name of the debt collector's business, company, or organization. 

Section 809(a) of the FDCP A, 15 U.S.C § 1692g(a), requires a debt collector in its 
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initial communication or within five days thereafter to send the consumer a written 

notice containing statements regarding a consumer's right to validate the debt. 

DEFENDANTS FALSELY REPRESENTED THAT COMMUNICATIONS 
WERE FROM AN ATTORNEY 

50. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 
> 

51. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants have represented to consumers, expressly 

or by implication, that communications sent to the consumers are from an attorney. 

52. In fact, in numerous instances, Defendants' communications sent to 

consumers are not from an attorney. 

COUNT 1- VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 

53. The representations set forth in Paragraph 51 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1031 (a) and 1036 (a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT 2- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

54. The acts and practices alleged in Paragraph 51 constitute violations of 

Sections 807, 807(3), and 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C §§ 1692e, 1692e(3), and 

1692e(10). 

DEFENDANTS FALSELY REPRESENTED THAT NONPAYMENT OF A 
DEBT COULD RESULT IN AN ARREST OR IMPRISONMENT 

55. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 
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56. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants have represented to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that nonpayment of a debt will result in arrest 

or nnpnsonment. 

57. In fact, Defendants could not lawfully cause a consumer to be arrested 

or imprisoned, and Defendants did not intend to take such action. 

COUNT 3- VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 

58. The representations set forth in paragraph 56 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT 4- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

59. The acts and practices alleged in paragraph 56 constitute violations of 

Sections 807, 807(4), and 807(10) of the FDCJ' A, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(4), and 

1692e(10). 

DEFENDANTS FALSELY THREATENED TO TAKE ACTION THAT 
CANNOT BE LEGALLY TAKEN OR IS NOT INTENDED TO BE 

TAKEN 

60. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

61. In numerous instances, in connection with the collection or attempt to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that legal action would be taken against the consumer. 
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62. In fact, in numerous instances, Defendants could not legally take legal 

action and did not intend to take such action against consumers. 

COUNT 5- VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 

63. The representations set forth in paragraph 61 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT 6- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

64. The acts and practices alleged in paragraph 61 constitute violations of 

Sections 807, 807(5) and 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C §§ 1692e, 1692e(5), 

1692e(10). 

DEFENDANTS USED OR DISTRIBUTED WRITTEN 
COMMUNICATIONS THAT SIMULATED OR WERE FALSELY 

REPRESENTED TO BE DOCUMENTS ISSUED FROM A STATE 
OFFICIAL OR AGENCY 

65. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

66. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants represented to consumers, directly or 

indirectly, expressly or by implication, that written communications distributed to 

consumers were issued from an official or agency of a State. 

67. In fact, in numerous instances, Defendants' written communications to 

consumers were not issued from an official or agency of a State. 
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COUNT 7- VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 

68. The representations set forth in paragraph 66 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFP A, 12 U.S. C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

COUNT 8- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

69. The acts and practices alleged in paragraph 66 constitute violations of 

Sections 807, 807(9), and 807(10) of the FDCJ' A, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(9), and 

1692e(10). 

DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO DISCLOSE THAT NCG, AJS, OR VSI 
ARE DEBT COLLECTORS ATTEMPTING TO COLLECT A DEBT AND 

THE INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT 
PURPOSE 

70. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

71. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants have failed to disclose in the initial written 

communication with the consumer that Defendants are debt collectors attempting to 

collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for that purpose, and 

have failed to disclose in subsequent communications that the communication is from 

a debt collector. 

COUNT 9- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

72. The acts and practices alleged in paragraph 71 constitute violations of 

Sections 807(11) of the FDCJ' A, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). 
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DEFENDANTS FALSELY USED THE NAME OF AN ORGANIZATION 
OTHER THAN ITS TRUE NAME 

73. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

74. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants used a business, company, or organization 

name other than its true name. 

75. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, Defendants used the names 

of the District or State's Attorney in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers. 

COUNT 10- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

76. The acts and practices alleged in Paragraph 74 constitute a violation of 

Section 807(14) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(14). 

DEFENDANTS' COMMUNICATIONS OMITTED WRITTEN NOTICE 
CONTAINING STATEMENTS REGARDING A CONSUMER'S RIGHT 

TO VALIDATE THE DEBT 

77. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

78. In numerous instances, in connection with collecting or attempting to 

collect debt from consumers, Defendants have failed to provide consumers in the 

initial communication or five days thereafter, proper notice under the FDCP A, 

including: 
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a. Unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, 

disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will 

be assumed to be valid by the debt collector, and 

b. If the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within the thllty-

day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt 

collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment 

against the consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will 

be mailed to the consumer by the debt collector. 

COUNT 11- VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA 

79. The acts and practices alleged in paragraph 78 constitute violations of 

Section 809(a), of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C § 1692g(a). 

DEFENDANTS MISLED CONSUMERS INTO ENTERING INTO A 
DIVERSION PROGRAM THAT REQUIRED THEM TO PAY FOR AND 

COMPLETE A FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY CLASS 

80. The Bureau incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1-47 by reference. 

81. In numerous instances, Defendants have represented to consumers, 

directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that the consumers had to enroll in 

and pay for a financial accountability class as part of the diversion program in order to 

avoid criminal prosecution. 

82. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances, consumers did not have to 

enroll in and pay for a financial accountability class to avoid criminal prosecution. 
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COUNT 12- VIOLATION OF THE CFPA 

83. The representations set forth in paragraph 81 are false or misleading and 

constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 1031(a) and 1036(a) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

84. Omsumers have suffered or are likely to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants' violations of the FDCP A and CFPA In addition, Defendants 

have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

85. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

equitable relief including, without limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, 

disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, monetary relief, and civil 

money penalties, to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law 

enforced by the Bureau. 12 U.S.C § 5565. 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

The Bureau requests that the Court award: 

A A permanent injunction to prevent and restrain future violations; 

B. Disgorgement of money, in an amount to be determined at trial; 
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C. Restitution of an amount to be determined at trial to compensate 

consumers; 

D. Civil money penalties; 

E. Recovery of costs in connection with prosecuting the instant 

action; and 

F. Any other legal or equitable relief deemed appropriate. 

Dated: March 30, 2015 

Respectfully submitted, 

ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 

Cara Petersen 
Acting Deputy Enjim¥Jment Dirertor 

Sarah J. Auchterlonie 
Assistant Deputy Enforcement Director 

Is/ Zol D. Rainey 
Zol D. Rainey, Bar No. 803105 
Senior Litigation Counsel 
James Meade, Bar No. 803044 
Enforcement Attornry 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 

Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-9483 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
Email: zol.rainey@cfpb.gov 

For the Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ) 
BUREAU, ) 
1700 G Street NW ) 
Washington, DC 20552 ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) 
NATIONAL CORRECTIVE GROUP, INC., ) 
a Delaware corporation , ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San Clemente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
AMERICAN JUSTICE SOLUTIONS, INC., ) 
a Delaware corporation, also d/b/a ) 
CorrectiveSolutions, ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San Clemente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
VICTIM SERVICES, INC. ) 
a Delaware corporation, ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San Clemente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
and ) 

) 
MATS JONSSON, individually and as an officer ) 
of National Corrective Group, Inc., and a ) 
principal and officer of American Justice ) 
Solutions, Inc., and Victim ) 
Services, Inc., ) 
910 Calle Negocio, San Clemente, CA 92673 ) 

) 
Defendants. ) 

) 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 

Stipulated Final Judgment and Consent Order 

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "Bureau"), has filed its 

Complaint for a permanent injunction and other relief in this matter (the "Action"). The 

Bureau brought this Action against Defendants National Corrective Group, Inc. (NCG); 
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American Justice Solutions, Inc., doing business as CorrectiveSolutions (AJS); Victim 

Services, Inc. , (VSI); and Mats Jonsson (Jonsson) to enforce provisions of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. ("FDCPA") and the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481 et seq. ("CFPA"). NCG, AJS, VSI, and Jonsson waived 

service of the Summons and Complaint. The Bureau, NCG, AJS, VSI, and Jonsson 

stipulate to entry of this Order to resolve all matters in dispute in this action between 

them. 

The parties having requested the Court to enter this Order, it is therefore 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED as follows: 

FINDINGS 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over the Bureau's claims 

because they are brought under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), 

present a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and are brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

2. Venue is proper in this district because Defendants are located in and do 

business in this district, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(h) and (c), and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

3. The Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted under 

sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1), and 

under sections 807 and 809 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e and 1692g. The relief 

provided in this Order is appropriate and available pursuant to sections 1054 and 1055 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564 and 5565, and section 814 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

16921. 

4· The Bureau and Defendants stipulate and agree to entry of this Order, 

without trial or final adjudication of any issue of fact or law, and without any admission 

of liability or wrongdoing, to settle and resolve all matters in dispute arising from the 

conduct of the Defendants alleged in the Complaint to the date of entry of this Order. 

5· All parties waive all rights to appeal or otherwise challenge or contest the 

validity of this Order. Defendants further waive and release any claim they may have 

against the Bureau, and its employees, representatives, or agents. 

6. Defendants waive any claim that they may have under the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, as amended by Pub L. 104-121, 100 Stat. 847, 863-64 
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(1996), and further waive any right to attorneys' fees that may arise under said provision 

of law. 

DEFINITIONS 

7· For purposes of this Order, the following definitions shall apply: 

a. "affected consumer" means any consumer who paid financial 

accountability class fees, directly or indirectly, to Defendants during the relevant 

time period in relation to a bad check violation. 

b. "bad check violation" means a violation of the applicable State 

criminal law relating to the writing of dishonored checks; 

c. "check" means a draft, payable in United States dollars, on demand 

and drawn on or payable through or at an office of a depository institution, 

whether or not negotiable, that is handled for forward collection or return, 

including a substitute check and a traveler's check, but not including a noncash 

item; 

d. "collection" means any procedure or action pursued by Defendants 

to obtain payments related to a debt and/or restitution; 

e. "communication" means the conveying of information regarding a 

debt and/or restitution to any person through any medium; 

f. "consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly 

obligated to pay any debt and/or restitution; 

g. "Defendants" means National Corrective Group, Inc., doing 

business as CorrectiveSolutions; American Justice Solutions, Inc., doing business 

as CorrectiveSolutions; Victim Services, Inc.; Mats Jonsson, and their successors 

and assigns; 

h. "District Attorney" or "DA" means a State or district attorney-the 

chief elected or appointed prosecuting attorney in a district, county (as defined in 

section 2 of title 1, United States Code), municipality, or comparable jurisdiction, 

including State attorneys general who act as chief elected or appointed 

prosecuting attorneys in a district, county (as so defined), municipality or 

comparable jurisdiction, who may be referred to by a variety of titles such as 

district attorneys, prosecuting attorneys, commonwealth's attorneys, solicitors, 

county attorneys, and state's attorneys, and who are responsible for the 
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prosecution of State crimes and violations of jurisdiction-specific local 

ordinances; 

1. "debt and/or restitution" means any obligation or alleged obligation 

of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, including the amount of 

any fees associated with a pre-trial bad check diversion program; 

J. "pre-trial bad check diversion program" means any pre-charge pre-

trial bad check diversion programs for alleged bad check offenders operated by 

Defendants. 

l. "Enforcement Director" shall mean the Assistant Director of the 

Office of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

dele gee. 

m. "effective date" means the date on which the Order is entered. 

n. "person" means an individual, partnership, company, corporation, 

association (incorporated or unincorporated), trust, estate, cooperative 

organization, or other entity. 

o. "related consumer action" means a private action by or on behalf of 

one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against any of the Defendants based on substantially the same 

facts as alleged in the Complaint filed in this Action. 

p. "relevant time period" means the period from July 21, 2011 through 

March 15, 2015. 

ORDER 

Compliance with all applicable laws 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

8. Defendants, and all of their officers, and employees who have actual 

notice of this Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are hereby permanently 

restrained and enjoined from violating the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692 et seq. ("FDCPA") and the Consumer Financial Protection Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5481 et 

seq. ("CFPA") and, without limiting the scope of the foregoing: 
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a. Defendants shall not engage in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive 

acts or practices in connection with the collection of any debt and/ or restitution; 

b. Defendants shall not engage in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive 

acts or practices in connection with the operation of a pre-trial bad check 

diversion program, financial accountability classes, or any other class associated 

with the collection of any debt and/ or restitution; 

c. Defendants shall not represent to consumers, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that they are a District Attorney, including through 

the use of a letterhead or facsimile signature of a District Attorney, through the 

Defendants' manner of answering telephone calls from consumers, or otherwise; 

provided, however, that Defendants may reference the District Attorney in 

communications with consumers if they clearly and conspicuously state that 

Defendants are a private company administering the pre-trial bad check 

diversion program on behalf of the District Attorney; 

d. Defendants shall clearly and conspicuously inform consumers in all 

communications that the communication is from the applicable Defendant; 

e. Defendants shall not operate or administer a pre-trial bad check 

diversion program, contact consumers about a pre-trial bad check diversion 

program, or represent to a consumer, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that they are eligible for a pre-trial bad check diversion program, 

unless Defendants have received from the District Attorney or an employee of the 

district attorney authorized to make such a determination a written verification 

that: 

1. the District Attorney or an employee of the district attorney 

authorized to make such a determination has performed a review of a bad 

check violation and determined that probable cause of a bad check 

violation under State penal law exists with regard to that consumer; 

n. the District Attorney or an employee of the district attorney 

authorized to make such a determination has determined that contact with 

the alleged offender for purposes of participation in the diversion program 

is appropriate; 
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m. the District Attorney or an employee of the district attorney 

authorized to make such a determination has determined that the alleged 

offender has failed to pay the bad check after demand for payment, 

pursuant to State law, was made for payment of the check amount; and 

IV. the District Attorney has met all applicable state law 

prerequisites for including a bad check violation in the diversion program, 

including conducting criminal background checks, where required by state 

law; 

f. Defendants shall not operate or administer a pre-trial bad check 

diversion program unless they are operating under the direction, supervision, 

and control of a District Attorney; 

g. Defendants shall not represent to consumers, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that consumers may be subject to legal action, 

including criminal prosecution except that Defendants may accurately restate or 

cite applicable state penal bad check laws; 

h. Defendants shall not represent to consumers, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, that nonpayment of a debt will result in consumers' 

arrest or imprisonment; 

1. Defendants shall not, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, refer to legal action, criminal charges, criminal prosecution, fines, 

arrest, or imprisonment, in headers, titles, bold font, or all-capital letters in any 

communication with a consumer; 

J. Defendants shall include as part of an initial communication with 

any consumer the clear and conspicuous statement: The District Attorney's Office 

has reviewed a summary of the allegations and has determined that you are 

eligible for the Program. The District Attorney's Office has not decided whether 

you should be charged with a crime. That decision will be made by that Office at a 

future date and may depend on many factors. Those factors could include: (1) the 

amount of the check; (2) whether there is evidence and the weight of the evidence 

that you knowingly wrote a bad check; (3) your criminal record; and (4) the 

individual facts and circumstances of your case. Many cases are never 

prosecuted; 
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k. In any communication to consumers about a diversion program, 

Defendants shall clearly and conspicuously disclose: the original amount of the 

bad check and each fee, including administrative, returned item, and program 

fees; 

l. In any communication to consumers about a diversion program, 

Defendants shall clearly and conspicuously inform consumers that participation 

in the diversion program is voluntary; and 

m. Defendants shall include as part of an initial communication with 

any consumer a clear and conspicuous statement as required by section 

818(a)(2)(C)(v) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692p(a)(2)(C)(v), that: 

1. the alleged offender may dispute the validity of any bad 

check violation; 

n. where the alleged offender knows, or has reasonable cause to 

believe, that the alleged bad check violation is the result of theft or forgery 

of the check, identity theft, or other fraud that is not the result of the 

conduct of the alleged offender, the alleged offender may file a crime 

report with the appropriate law enforcement agency; and 

m. if the alleged offender notifies the private entity or the 

district attorney in writing, not later than 30 days after being contacted for 

the first time pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692p(a)(2)(C)(iv), that there is a 

dispute pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692p(a), before further restitution efforts 

are pursued, the district attorney or an employee of the district attorney 

authorized to make such a determination makes a determination that 

there is probable cause to believe that a crime has been committed. 

9. Defendants shall not, if acting as debt collectors under section 803(6) of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6): 

a. fail to disclose in the initial written communication with the consumer that 

Defendants are debt collectors attempting to collect a debt and that any 

information obtained will be used for that purpose, or fail to disclose in 

subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt collector; 

b. fail to provide consumers in the initial communication or five days 

thereafter, proper notice under the FDCPA, including: 
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1. that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, 

disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be 

assumed to be valid by the debt collector; and 

n. that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing within the 

thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the 

debt collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment 

against the consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be 

mailed to the consumer by the debt collector. 

Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

10. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law alleged in the Complaint, and taking into account the factors set forth 

in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Defendants shall pay a civil money penalty of $50,000 to the 

Bureau, as directed by the Bureau and as set forth herein. 

11. Within 10 days of the effective date, Defendants shall pay the civil money 

penalty in the form of a wire transfer to the Bureau or to such agent as the Bureau may 

direct, and in accordance with wiring instructions to be provided by counsel for the 

Bureau. 

12. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau in accordance with section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

13. Defendants shall treat the civil money penalty paid under this Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Defendants shall not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment made 

under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under 

this Order. 

14. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty, in any related 

consumer action, Defendants shall not argue that Defendants are entitled to, nor shall 
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Defendants benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the 

related consumer action, because of the civil money penalty paid in this action ("penalty 

offset"). If the court in any related consumer action grants such a penalty offset, 

Defendants shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the penalty offset, 

notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the penalty offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a 

payment shall not be deemed an additional civil money penalty and shall not be deemed 

to change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

15. In the event of any default on Defendants' obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

16. Defendants must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Defendants. 

17. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Defendants, unless they already have done so, 

must furnish to the Bureau their taxpayer identification numbers, which may be used 

for purposes of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this 

Consent Order. 

18. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, any Defendant subject or party to such 

judgment, order, or settlement must notify the Enforcement Director of the final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the 

amount of redress, if any, that the Defendant paid or is required to pay to consumers 

and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or 

will be paid. 

19. Under section 604(a)(I) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 1681 

b(a)( 1), any consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report concerning any 

Defendant to the Bureau, which may be used for purposes of collecting and reporting on 

any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 
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Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

20. Within 30 days of the effective date, Defendants shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that their operation of pre-trial bad check diversion 

programs complies with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of 

this Order ("Compliance Plan"). The Compliance Plan shall include, at a minimum, 

detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Order, and specific timeframes 

and deadlines for implementation of those actions. 

21. The Enforcement Director shall have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Defendants to 

revise it. In the event that the Enforcement Director directs the Defendants to revise the 

Compliance Plan, the Defendants shall make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance 

Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 days. 

22. Upon notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Defendants shall implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes set forth in the 

Compliance Plan. 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

23. Defendants shall notify the Bureau of any change that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to, a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the filing of any bankruptcy 

or insolvency proceeding by or against Defendants; or a change in the name or address 

of Defendants . 

24. Within go days of the effective date, and again one year after the effective 

date, Defendants shall submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report which has been approved by Defendants' officers, which, at 

a minimum, describes in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have 

complied with this Order. 
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25. After the one-year period, Defendants shall submit to the Enforcement 

Director additional Compliance Reports within 14 days of receiving a written request 

from the Bureau. 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

26. Defendants must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity 

and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each affected consumer. Each 

Defendant must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or control 

within 14 days of receiving a vvritten request from the Bureau. 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

27. Within seven days of the effective date, Defendants shall submit to the 

Enforcement Director an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order, sworn under penalty 

of perjury. 

28. Within 30 days of the effective date, Defendants shall deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of their board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities related to the 

subject matter of the Order. 

29. For five years from the effective date, Defendants shall deliver a copy of 

this Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure, as set forth in 

Paragraph 22, and to any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

30. Defendants shall secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Order, with any electronic signatures complying with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S. C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from 

all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

31. Defendants shall create, for at least five years from the effective date, and 

then retain, for at least five years, and make available to the Bureau upon request, the 

following business records: 
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a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Order; and 

b. copies of all template letters to consumers; call scripts; training 

materials; websites; and other template communications with consumers; and 

including any such materials used by a third party on behalf of Defendants as 

they relate to pre-trial diversion program as defined in Paragraph 7(i). 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

32. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Defendants must 

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re National Corrective Group, File 

No. 2012-0403-02," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1625 Eye Street, N.W. 

Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_ Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 

1700 G Street, N.W. 

Washington D.C. 20552 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purpose of monitoring Defendants' 

compliance with this Order: 

33. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Defendants 

shall: submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which shall 
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be made under penalty of perjury; appear for depositions; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 

34. The Bureau is also authorized to obtain discovery, without leave of court, 

using any of the procedures prescribed by the Bureau's Rules of Practice for 

Adjudication Proceedings, 12 C.F.R. Part 1081, or the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

35· For purposes of this Section, the Bureau may communicate directly with 

Defendants, unless Defendants retain counsel in connection with such communications. 

36. Defendants shall permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee 

or other person affiliated with Defendants who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

37. The Bureau may use all other lawful means, including posing, through its 

representatives, as consumers, suppliers, or other individuals or entities, to Defendants 

or any individual or entity affiliated with Defendant, without the necessity of 

identification or prior notice. 

38. Defendants agree to be subject to the Bureau's supervisory authority under 

12 U.S.C. § 5514 for 3 years from the effective date. Consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1091.111, 

Defendants shall not petition for termination of supervision under 12 C.F.R. § 1091.113. 

39. Nothing in this Order shall limit the Bureau's lawful use of compulsory 

process, under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or any other applicable provision. 

Administrative Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

40. Except for "Released Claims", as defined below, the provisions of this 

Order shall not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau from taldng any other action 

against Defendants and their successors and assigns. 

41. Calculation of time limitations shall run from the effective date and shall 

be based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

42. This Order contains the complete agreement between the parties. No 

promises, representations, or warranties other than those set forth in this Order have 

been made by any of the parties. This Order supersedes all prior communications, 

discussions, or understandings, if any, of the parties, whether oral or in writing. 

43. Nothing in this Order shall be construed as allowing Defendants to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

13 



Scope of Consent Order 

44. The Bureau releases and discharges Defendants and their respective 

officers, directors, shareholders, successors, and assigns, from all potential liability for 

any cause of action or claim that has been or might have been asserted by the Bureau 

based on the practices alleged in the Complaint to the extent such practices or conduct 

are known to the Bureau prior to the effective date (collectively "Released Claims"). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the practices alleged in this Order may be utilized by the 

Bureau in future enforcement actions against Defendants and their affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of 

a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release 

shall not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance 

with the terms and provisions of the Order, or to seek penalties for any violations 

thereof. 

Retention of Jurisdiction 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court retains jurisdiction of this matter for 

purposes of construction, modification, and enforcement of this Order. 

SO ORDERED this __ day of ________ , 2015. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CONSENT TO ENTRY OF THIS ORDER 
On behalf of Plaintiff Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

Anthony Alexis 
Director for Enforcement 

Cara Petersen 
Acting Deputy Director for Enforcement 

Sarah Auchterlonie 
Assistant Deputy Director for Enforcement 

Zol . Rainey, Bar No. 803105 
Senior Litigation Counsel 

James Meade, Bar No. 803044 
Enforcement Attorney 

/ 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202)435-9483 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7722 
Email: zol.rainey@cfpb.gov 

DATED /1Au tv 1,-J , 2015. 
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On behalf of Defendant National Corrective Group, Inc. 
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CEO 
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CEO 
American Justice Solutions, Inc. 
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T� 
President 
Victim Services, Inc. 

March 17, 2015 

On behalf of Defendant Mats Jonsson 

Mats Jonsson 
Individual 

March 17, 2015 
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CONSUMER ADVISORY  |  MARCH 2015

Protect your retirement pension 

A pension advance is a loan or cash 
advance in exchange for all or part 
of your pension. 

Many pension advance companies charge 
consumers high interest rates and fees. These costs 
can really add up. Pension advances can quickly 
strip away pension income. 

If you are considering a pension advance, follow 
these dos and don’ts:

 � Don’t give anyone access or 
control over your monthly pension 
payments. 
Pension advance lenders sometimes arrange 
for monthly payments to be automatically 
deposited in a newly created bank account and 
then debited to pay back the loan, fees and 
interest charges. This allows the company to 
withdraw payments and fees directly from your 
account.

 	 If you’re asked to sign up for life 
insurance with the pension advance 
company as your beneficiary, be 
cautious.
Pension advance companies sometimes 
require consumers to sign up for life insurance 
with the company as the consumer’s 
beneficiary. You could end up footing the bill 
for the insurance. 

 � Don’t be fooled by patriotic-
sounding names, logos or claims  
of government-backing. 
Some companies try to trick consumers into 
thinking that their pension advance loan is 
endorsed by a federal or state government 
agency. Don’t fall for this.

 	 Do look at other options. 
If you’re turning to pension advances because 
you’re having financial difficulties, consider 
getting financial coaching or counseling 
from a professional. Many non-profit credit 
counseling agencies charge sliding-scale fees 
so consumers who need help can afford their 
services.

BALANCE

PENSION



Learn more at consumerfinance.gov. 2 of 2Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau

We’d like to hear from you.
We want to hear about your experiences with 
pension advances, good and bad. You can share 
your story at: consumerfinance.gov/your-story.

Contact us 

 Online 
 consumerfinance.gov/older-americans

 By email 
 olderamericans@cfpb.gov

  Submit a complaint

 Online 
 consumerfinance.gov/complaint

 By phone  
 855-411-CFPB (2372);  
 TTY/TDD 855-729-CFPB (2372);  
 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. Eastern Time, 
 Monday-Friday

  By fax 
855-237-2392

  By mail 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
P.O. Box 4503 
Iowa City, Iowa 52244
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Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Global Financial Support, Inc., 
d/b/a Student Financial Resource 
Center, d/b/a College Financial 
Advisory; and  
 
Armond Aria a/k/a Armond Amir Aria, 
individually, and as owner and CEO of 
Global Financial Support, Inc.; 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. ________________ 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER 
RELIEF 
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The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “Bureau”) alleges the following 

against Global Financial Support, Inc. d/b/a Student Financial Resource Center and 

College Financial Advisory (“Global Financial Support, Inc.”) and Armond Aria or 

Armond Amir Aria (“Armond Aria”) (together, “Defendants”): 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action under Sections 1031(a), 1036(a)(1)(B), 1054, 

and 1055 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”); 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B), 5564(a), and 5565 based on Defendants’ violations of the CFPA 

in connection with the offering, marketing, sale, and provision of student financial aid 

advisory services, and under Section 1016 of Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. §1016.4(a), based 

on Defendants’ failure to provide a required notice.   

2. Defendants, from at least January 2011 until the present (“Relevant Period”), 

have run a deceptive scheme to persuade consumers to pay a fee to apply for student 

financial aid assistance.  In reality, Defendants do not provide these consumers with the 

promised student financial aid assistance.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because the action 

is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 

U.S.C. § 1345.  

4. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and 12 

U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

5. Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, is an independent 

agency of the United States charged with regulating the offering and provision of 

consumer financial products and services under federal consumer financial laws. 12 
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U.S.C. § 5491(a).  The Bureau has independent litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a) 

and (b), and is charged with enforcement of federal consumer financial laws including the 

Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFPA”).  12 U.S.C. §5511.  The CFPA prohibits 

any covered person from engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices.  12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536. 

Defendants 

Global Financial Support, Inc. 

6. Defendant Global Financial Support, Inc. is a California corporation.   

Global Financial Support, Inc. conducts business as College Financial Advisory and 

Student Financial Resource Center.    

7. Defendant Global Financial Support, Inc. claims its physical business 

address is 3268 Governor Drive, Suite F, PMB 144, San Diego, CA 92122 and 

consumers applying for financial aid assistance from College Financial Advisory or 

Student Financial Resource are directed to send their checks to 3268 Governor Drive, 

Suite #144, San Diego, CA 92122.  The address, however, is a PostalAnnex+ store and 

not a business address. 

8. Global Financial Support, Inc. is a “covered person” under the CFPA 

because it offers and provides “financial advisory services,” as that term is used in 

section 1002(15)(A)(viii) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(viii). 

9. During the relevant period, Global Financial Support, Inc. transacts or has 

transacted business in the Southern District of California.  

Armond Aria 

10. Defendant Armond Aria is the owner and registered agent of Global 

Financial Support, Inc., the President of College Financial Advisory, and the CEO of 

Student Financial Resource Center.   

11. Mr. Aria founded Global Financial Support, Inc. in or around February 

2005.  
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12. In March 2005, Mr. Aria created and registered the fictitious business name 

College Financial Advisory. 

13. In September 2011, Mr. Aria created and registered the fictitious business 

name Student Financial Resource Center.  

14. Mr. Aria is a signatory on the bank accounts for Global Financial Support, 

Inc. d/b/a Student Financial Resource Center and for Global Financial Support, Inc. d/b/a 

College Financial Advisory. 

15. Mr. Aria has primary access to mailbox #144 at the PostalAnnex+ store 

located at 3268 Governor Drive, San Diego, CA 92122, the address listed for Global 

Financial Support, Inc.    

16. Mr. Aria is the point of contact for Global Financial Support, Inc.’s business 

relationships with the mailing services that print, fold, and stamp letters sent to 

consumers. 

17. Mr. Aria is the point of contact for Global Financial Support, Inc.’s business 

relationships with a phone answering service that accepts calls from consumers on behalf 

of College Financial Advisory and/or Student Financial Resource Center.   

18. During the relevant period, acting alone or in concert with others, Mr. Aria 

has formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of Global 

Financial Support, Inc., including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint.   

19. Mr. Aria is a “related person” pursuant to the CFPA because he is the 

director and/or officer of Global Financial Support, Inc., and materially participates in the 

affairs of Global Financial Support, Inc.  12 U.S.C. § 5481(25) (C).   

20. Mr. Aria is deemed a “covered person” pursuant to the CFPA because he is a 

“related person.”  12 U.S.C. § 5481(25) (B).  

21. During the relevant period, Mr. Aria transacts or has transacted business in 

the Southern District of California. 
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BACKGROUND 
A. Defendants’ Business 

 
22. During the relevant period, Defendants, under the names College Financial 

Advisory and Student Financial Resource Center, have run a deceptive scheme to 

persuade high school seniors, enrolled college students, and their families to pay 

Defendants a fee to participate in a student financial aid “program.”  As part of this 

program, Defendants promise to match students with targeted financial aid opportunities 

and apply for financial aid for students. 

23. Through the use of an official-looking seal, artificial filing deadlines, 

references to students’ universities, a “Student Aid Profile Form,” and a strategically 

worded letter, Defendants exploit consumers’ unfamiliarity, anxiety, and confusion about 

the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (“FAFSA”) and the student financial aid 

process generally. 

B. FAFSA and Student Financial Aid 

24. The FAFSA is a universal loan application form provided by the Office of 

Federal Student Aid at the United States Department of Education.  For no charge, 

students and their families may apply for financial aid by filling out the FAFSA and 

returning it to the Office of Federal Student Aid. 

25.  Students who are entering college or already enrolled in college are 

encouraged by their universities to fill out the FAFSA and participate, to the extent 

possible, in these financial aid programs.  Many schools require students to fill out a 

FAFSA to apply for the schools’ own financial aid programs.  

26.  Students and their families eagerly anticipate the opportunity to apply for 

student aid through the FAFSA, but are often uninformed, anxious, and confused about 

the financial aid application process.  
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C. Defendants’ Letters 

27.  During the relevant period, Defendants have sent letters from College 

Financial Advisory and/or Student Financial Resource Center to graduating high school 

seniors, enrolled college students, and their families, offering a “program” through which 

Defendants will target, individually match, and apply for student financial aid on behalf 

of students and their families.  

28.  Defendants identify these consumers by purchasing lists of student 

information from online vendors.  These vendors sell information, such as a student’s 

name, mailing address, year in school, and school name.   

29.  Defendants have sent millions of letters to consumers nationwide since 

January 2011. 

30.  Defendants’ letters and accompanying envelopes feature a seal and 

watermark that employ iconic images found predominantly on seals and watermarks used 

by government agencies.  College Financial Advisory’s round seal and watermark 

include a torch, flying eagles, a graduation cap, and olive branches. See Attachment A. 

Similarly, Student Financial Resource Center’s round seal and watermark include an 

eagle, a Greek column, a book, and leaves.  See Attachment B and C.      

31.  At the top of each letter, Defendants prominently display a bold print box 

that includes a “filing deadline,” and a “filing status.”  The “filing deadline” varies 

depending on when the Defendants send the letters to consumers.  The “filing status” 

always reads “pending.”  

32.  On each letter, in large bold print in a box at the center of the page, 

Defendants prominently display a 9-digit “student profile” number and the name of the 

student’s university in a manner that gives the impression that this letter is endorsed or 

sanctioned by the student’s university. If the student is a senior in high school, the 

“College Attending” section typically states, “Open-all colleges.” 
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33.  The letters then instruct students or their families to fill out and return an 

application – called a “Student Aid Profile Form”  – along with the “refundable 

processing fee” to proceed with the student aid “program” and “apply for the maximum 

merit and need-based financial aid programs.”  The “Student Aid Profile Form” looks 

visually similar to the FAFSA and uses similar terms.     

34.  The fee has varied from $59 to $78, depending on the year. 

35.  On the Student Aid Profile Form, Defendants promise to “review” and 

“assess” borrowers’ applications and “strive to provide as many targeted financial aid 

opportunities as possible to each and every student, regardless of his/her financial status 

or academic performance.” 

36.  The Student Aid Profile Form demands private, personal information from 

students, including date of birth, ethnicity, and even their parents’ employers and 

addresses, purportedly for use by Defendants to assist them in qualifying students for 

student financial aid programs.  Defendants provide instructions on how to fill out the 

form, including a specific instruction to sign and date the form. 

37.  Defendants’ letters warn that the “College Financial Advisory Processing 

Center Department must receive all completed Student Aid Profile Forms no later than 

[the filing deadline]” and that “late Student Aid Profile Forms will be accepted for 

students with special circumstances.”  

38.  Sometimes Defendants’ solicitations state that late applications will incur a 

20% processing fee.  

39.  Defendants state that “the entire processing fee will be returned within ten 

(10) business days to all students who do not qualify or do not receive financial aid 

funding.” 

40.  Defendants’ letters represent that consumers will lose their opportunity to 

obtain student financial aid unless they submit the Student Aid Profile Form and pay the 

fee to Defendants by a specified date. 
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41.  Based on the representations and promises made in these letters, consumers 

send in the Student Aid Profile Form and associated fee to enroll in Defendants’ program. 

42. Defendants do not provide a clear and conspicuous notice that accurately 

reflects its privacy policies and practices to consumers.  

D. The Website, Phone Number, and Business Expenses 

43.  Along with the letters, Defendants’ scheme utilizes two websites – 

www.collegefinadv.org and www.studentctr.org – with .ORG as its generic top-level 

domain. 

44.  .ORG domains are commonly known to indicate that the organization 

associated with the web address is a non-profit, NGO, charitable organization, or interest 

group and not a for-profit organization.   

45.  The main pages of these two websites display virtually no content, but 

prompt consumers to input a “Student Profile Number” in order to enter the site and view 

content.  Without entering a Student Profile Number, consumers cannot access the 

information on the website.  This number is on the letters mailed to students and their 

families. 

46.  Defendants’ website urges students and their families to enroll in the student 

aid program, promising that Student Financial Resource Center “saves students valuable 

time by conducting precise general research to match student's qualifications and 

background to available free merit and need-based financial aid programs.” 

47.  Although consumers are instructed that they must input their individual 9-

digit number in order to access the content on the website, there is no individualized 

content on the website.  Some random 9-digit numbers such as 999-999-999 unlock the 

content hidden behind the main page, displaying the same information that a specific 

code would yield.  The website provides instructions for downloading and filling out the 

Student Aid Profile Form. 
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48.  Defendants do not maintain a business phone number.  Defendants claim 

consumers can use a toll-free phone number to reach the “College Financial Advisory 

Student Aid Information Center.”  Consumers’ calls to this number, as well as to the 

phone number provided for the Student Financial Resource Center, are not directed to 

Defendants.  Rather, consumers’ calls are directed to a third-party answering service 

where an unaffiliated person answers the call, disclaims any association with the 

Defendants, and purportedly forwards any message along to the Defendants. 

49.  Defendants’ claim to have a physical business location at 3268 Governor 

Drive in San Diego, referred to in Defendants’ mailers as the “Processing Center 

Department.”  However, this address is a mailbox at a PostalAnnex+ store near 

Defendant Aria’s home, which Defendant Aria uses to collect consumer payments.  

50.  Defendants’ other purported location, 777 Campus Commons Road in 

Sacramento, is a virtual office that forwards mail to the P.O. Box at 3268 Governor 

Drive. 

E. Defendants’ Unlawful Practices 
 

51.  Defendants do not provide the services offered in their letters and on their 

website. 

52.  Defendants’ “program” is not a program at all. Defendants do not “process” 

or “assess” student applications and they do not “target” and “apply” for student financial 

aid on behalf of consumers. 

53.  Defendants do not “conduct [] extensive searches.” 

54.  Defendants do not “match each student’s qualifications and background” to 

student financial aid opportunities. 

55.  Defendants do not “provide as many targeted financial aid opportunities as 

possible to each and every student.” 
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56.  Defendants do not “apply for the maximum merit and need-based financial 

aid programs” for students. 

57.  Defendants do not fulfill their promise that “the entire processing fee will be 

returned within ten (10) business days to all students who do not qualify or do not receive 

financial aid funding.” 

58.  Many consumers receive absolutely nothing in exchange for sending in their 

Student Aid Profile Form and fee. 

59.  Defendants promise consumers financial aid advice that is individualized or 

targeted, but actually send nothing or merely a generic booklet that is not tailored to the 

consumers’ circumstances. 

60.  Defendants’ “program” deadline does not correspond to any real deadline 

associated with any particular financial aid opportunity. The “filing deadline” 

prominently displayed on Defendants’ letters is an arbitrary date that serves only to give 

the letters an artificial sense of urgency. 

61.  The overall appearance and wording of the envelope, letter, and form the 

Defendants send to consumers give consumers the net impression that Defendants are 

affiliated with the federal government, including the United States Department of 

Education, or a college or university. 

62.  Defendants have obtained at least $4.7 million in fees from at least 76,000 

consumers during the Relevant Period. 

APPLICABLE LAW 
 

63.  The Bureau is charged with enforcement of federal consumer financial laws, 

including the Consumer Financial Protection Act (“CFPA”).  

64. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits covered persons from 

committing deceptive acts or practices.  12 U.S.C. §5536(a)(1)(B). 
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65. Regulation P is a federal consumer financial law pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5481(14). 

66.  Regulation P requires “a covered person” to provide consumers with whom 

the covered person has “customer relationships” with a clear and conspicuous initial 

privacy notice upon commencement of a customer relationship.  12 C.F.R. §1016.4(a).   

67.  Regulation P defines a “customer relationship” as a “continuing 

relationship” between a consumer and company that provides one or more “financial 

products or services” to the consumer that are to be used primarily for personal, family, 

or household purposes.  12 C.F.R. 1016.3(j)(1). 

68. Section 1016.3(j) of Regulation P defines a “continuing relationship” as one 

in which the consumer “obtains financial, investment, or economic advisory services . . . 

for a fee.”  12 C.F.R. §1016.3(j)(3)(i)(G). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE CFPA 
 

COUNTS I – IV: DEFENDANTS USED DECEPTIVE STATEMENTS TO 
INDUCE CONSUMERS INTO PAYING A FEE FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES IT 

DID NOT PROVIDE IN VIOLATION OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION ACT. 

 
69.  Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 – 85 and incorporates them herein by 

reference.  

70.  In numerous instances, in connection with the offering, marketing, sale, or 

provision of financial advisory services, Defendants represent, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication:  

71.  Count One: That in exchange for sending Defendants an 

application and paying Defendants a fee, consumers are applying for student 

financial aid or Defendants will apply to student financial aid programs on 

consumers’ behalf; 
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72.  In truth and in fact, by sending Defendants an application and 

paying Defendants a fee, consumers are not applying for student financial 

aid and Defendants do not apply for student financial aid programs on 

consumers’ behalf. 

73.  Count Two: That Defendants will conduct extensive searches 

to target or match consumers with particular student financial aid 

opportunities; 

74.  In truth and in fact, Defendants do not conduct extensive 

searches to target or match consumers with particular student financial aid 

opportunities. 

75.  Count Three: That unless consumers send Defendants an 

application and pay Defendants a fee by a specified deadline, consumers will 

lose their opportunity to receive student financial aid; 

76. In truth and in fact, if consumers do not send Defendants an 

application and pay Defendants a fee by the specified deadline, they will not 

lose their opportunity to receive student financial aid because the deadline 

Defendants provide does not correspond to any real deadline associated with 

any particular financial aid opportunity. 

77.  Count Four: That Defendants are affiliated with the federal 

government, including the United States Department of Education, or a 

college or university; 

78.  In truth and in fact, Defendants are not, and never have been, 

affiliated with federal government, including the United States Department 

of Education, or a college or university.  

79.  Defendants’ acts or practices in Counts One through Four are likely to 

mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.   



  

 

  

 

 

-13- 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

80.  Defendants’ representations as set forth in the Counts One through Four 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) 

of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT FIVE: DEFENDANTS FAILED TO PROVIDE A REQUIRED NOTICE 
IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION P 

 
81.  Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1-85 and incorporates them herein by 

reference.  

82.  Defendants are covered persons subject to the jurisdiction of the Bureau.  12 

U.S.C. §§5481(6)(A) & (15)(A)(viii).   

83.  Defendants establish customer relationships because they establish a 

continuing relationship between a consumer and company and provide financial products 

or services to consumers primarily used for personal, family or household purposes.  12 

C.F.R. §1016.3(j)(1).     

84.  Defendants establish a continuing relationship with consumers when they 

accept a fee for “financial, investment, or economic advisory services.”  12 C.F.R. 

§1016.4(c)(3)(i)(C). 

85.  In numerous instances, in connection with the offering, marketing, sale, or 

provision of financial advisory services, Defendants failed to provide customers with a 

clear and conspicuous initial privacy notice upon commencement of a customer 

relationship required by Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. §1016.4(a). 

86.  A violation of Regulation P violates Section 1036 of the CFPA because 

Section 1036 of the CFPA renders unlawful any act or omission in violation of a Federal 

consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1), and Regulation P is a Federal consumer 

financial law.  12 U.S.C. §5481(14). 

87.  Therefore, Defendants’ acts or practices described in Count Five violate the 

CFPA. 
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CONSUMER INJURY 
 

88.   Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA and Regulation P.  In addition, Defendants 

have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.  Absent 

injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap 

unjust enrichment, and harm the public.   

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 
 

89.   The CFPA empowers this Court to grant appropriate legal or equitable relief 

with respect to violations of Federal consumer financial law, including, without 

limitation, permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts, the 

refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, 

and civil money penalties.  12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(2).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

90.  Wherefore, the Bureau requests that the Court:  

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§5531, 5536, and Regulation P, 12 C.F.R. §1016.4(a); 

b. Award Plaintiff such injunctive and ancillary relief as may be necessary to 

enjoin Defendants from harming consumers through the advertisement, 

marketing, promotion, offering for sale or selling of any consumer financial 

product or service, including, but not limited to, any student financial aid 

assistance program; 

c. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA and 

Regulation P, including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of 

contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 
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compensation for unjust enrichment, and payment of damages or other 

monetary relief; 

e. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 

f. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief the Court determines to be just and proper. 

 

Dated: October 29, 2015 

 

 Respectfully submitted,  
    
 ANTHONY ALEXIS 
 Enforcement Director 
 
 CARA PETERSEN  
 Deputy Enforcement Director 
 for Litigation 
 

 _/s/ Nina Schichor__________________ 

        
       NINA H. SCHICHOR, MD Barred  
       (Maryland does not use Bar Numbers) 

(E-mail: nina.schichor@cfpb.gov) 
          (Phone: 202-435-9770) 

 LAURA SCHNEIDER, NY Bar # 2715449 
    (E-mail: laura.schneider@cfpb.gov) 
 (Phone: 202-435-7311) 

1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 

 Fax: (202) 435-7722 
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Filing Deadline: April 30, 2011 
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STUDENT PROFILE NUMBER', 

COLLEGE ATTENDING2: 

FILING STATUS': 

132-014981 

NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY 

PENDING 

It is time to apply for all available 2011-2012 financial aid programs to help pay for your college education expenses. 
Students who did not qualify for federal student aid (Pell Grants, FSEOG, or Work-Study) or need additional financial aid 
assistance should submit applications to other existing financial aid programs. 

Students can receive federal, state, local, national merit, and need-based financial aid assistance regardless of 
their academic performance or family's income level. These funds are not student loans, and they do not have to be 
repaid. The money can be used to pay for tuition, room and board, fees, books, computers, and transportation. 

Submit the enclosed Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) to pLFroceed with the 2011-2012 College Financial Advisory 
(CFA) student aid program and apply for the maximum merit and need-based financial aid programs. 

The College Financial Advisory Processing Center Department (CFA-PCD) must receive all completed Student 
Aid Profile Forms no later than April 30, 2011. Fill out the form, enclose the refundable processing fee, and 
mail both in the pre-addressed envelope. The entire processing fee will be returned within ten (10) business 
days to all students who do not qualify or do not receive financial aid funding. 

Parents can also complete and sign the enclosed form with accurate student information. Late Student Aid Profile 
Forms will be accepted for students with special circumstances; however, not all financial aid funds will be 
available. Prepare to apply early because most financial aid programs have strict deadlines and limited funding. 

For more information, contact the College Financial Advisory Student Aid Information Center (CFA-SAIC) at 1-888-
4-APLY-NOW (1-888-427-5966). You can also visit our website at www.collegefinadv.org or email us at 
info@collegefinadv.org with any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Cindy Warwick 
College Financial Advisory Director 
2011-2012 Academic Year Financial Aid Programs 
CW/fa 

Internal number assigned by College Financial Advisory (not a SSN) This Program is sponsored by College Financial Advisory organization 3 College Financial Advisory's internal tiling status - for more information see reverse side 
CFA-I.TR: FN-AD-I I 2A.1 SPIV: 132-014981 

College Attending 2, NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY 



COLLEGE FINANCIAL ADVISORYTM 

Student Aid Profile Form 
2011 - 2012 School Year 

INSTRUCTIONS: 

1. Please type or print clearly. Fill out both sides of the student aid profile form. 

2. Mark an "X" in the box that best describes you for each section. 
3. Note the CFA processing deadline date. 

4. Return this form with your refundable CFA processing fee of fifty-nine dollars in the enclosed envelope. 
Make checks payable to College Financial Advisory. If the return envelope is misplaced, use a regular 
envelope and mail to: College Financial Advisory, Attention: Processing Center, 3268 Governor Drive, 
Suite 144, San Diego, California 92122. 

5. Make sure to sign and date the student aid profile form. 

FN 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

0 1 0 9 1 1 0 3 - 3 0 0 
DR 

FD 

SECTION I: PERSONAL 

1. Last Name 

I I I I I I I I 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

INFORMATION 

2. First Name 

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 

3. MI 

4. Permanent Mailing Address: Number and Street (Include Apt. Number) 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
5. City 

1 I 1 1  1 1 1 1 1 1 I I H I I 

6. State 

I 

7. Zip Code 

I I I 
8. Student Profile Number (Located on the CFA 
Letter) or leave blank 

9. Date of Birth (MM/DD/YYYY) 

I / 

10. Area Code 

( 

Telephone Number 

11. E: Mail Address or leave blank 

I I I I I I 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 
12. What Is Your State Of Legal Residence? I 13. Marital Status as of Today? ❑ Single ❑ Married 14. Sex: ❑ Male ❑ Female 

SECTION II: EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION 

1. School Currently Attending: 2. Expected Enrollment Status: 

ID Full Time ❑ Part Time El Transfer 

3. Educational Goals, Highest Degree You Are Considering: 

E] Associate ❑ Bachelors Ei Masters LI Ph. D. 

4. Grade Point Average (4.0 = A) 

High School College 

5. Type of College You Are Attending or Planning To Attend? 6. Majors or Careers You Are Considering: 

❑ Two-Year College 1. 

Ei Four-Year College 2. 

El Trade/Technical School 3. 

SECTION III: BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

1. How Do You Describe Your Ethnic/Racial Background? 

El African American LI Asian, Vietnamese or Indochinese 

El Pacific Islander LI White, Caucasian 

CI Hispanic ❑ Native American 

LI Other (Specify) 

COPYRIGHT © 2011-2012, COLLEGE FINANCIAL ADVISORY (CFA) 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

PAGE 1 For Help - www.collegefinadv,org 



STUDENT FINANCIAL RESOURCE CENTER" 
studentetr.org • email : info@studentctr. org • 1 -888 -730 -APPLY 

Fi l ing S 

OR PARENTS OF 

1.11.111111111-111.111111111111.1111.11111111-11.9.1.11.1111111.,

Student Profile Number: 

0 

u s Filing Deadline: 

9I-May 

I is time for students to apply fo the 2014-2015 financial aid programs to help them pay for their college 
education. Students who did not qualify to receive federal student aid (Pell Grants, FSEOG, or Work-Study) or 
students who need additional financial aid funding should apply to other existing free financial aid programs. 

Students can receive federal, non-federal, state, local, national merit, and need-based financial aid 
assistance regardless of their academic performance or family's income level. Students can use the money 
they receive to pay for tuition, room and board, fees, books, computers and transportation. 

Submit the enclosed Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) to proceed with the 2014-2015 Student Financial 
Resource Center (SFRC) program and apply for the maximum merit and need-based financial aid programs. 
The funds from these financial aid programs are not student loans and do not have to be repaid later. 

The SFRC Processing Division (SFRC-PD) must receive all completed Student Aid Profile Forms no later 
than May 31 2014. Fill out the SFRC form, enclose the refundable processing fee, and mail both in the 
pre-addressed envelope. The entire processing fee will be returned to all students who do not qualify or do 
not receive financial aid money. 

Parents can also fill out and sign the enclosed SFRC form with accurate student information. Late SFRC 
forms will be accepted for students with special circumstances; however, not all financial aid funds will be 
available. Apply early because most financial aid programs have strict deadlines with limited funding. Do not 
borrow money until you have applied to all of the free federal and non-federal financial aid programs 
available to you. 

For more information, contact the SFRC nationwide message call center at 1-888-730-APPLY (1-888-730-
2775). Students can also visit our website at www.studentctr.org or email us at info@studentctr.org with any 
questions. 

Student Financial Resource Center 
SFRC— Processing Division 
2014-2015 Academic Year Financial Aid Programs 
Enclosure (1) - Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) 
CW/fa 

I Internal numbassiskied Studcni Financial Rcsourececnicr(not a SSN)• 'This Program is sponsord by SIticlal Pirrer¢isl Rewllme Cenre organizarion.'SUWonl Pilmncial Rc s 

Qum: Nl MG 

iformalion sec Incise side 

SPN: 230.027664 



S TUDENT F I NANC I A L RE SOURCE CENTE Ir 

The cost of education continues to rise annually, and middle-income families often find themselves caught between "a rock and a 
hard place." Such families are not wealthy enough to cover all of the costs on their own, but do not have low enough incomes to 
qualify for need-based aid. Fortunately: there is more diverse financial. aid amailphletodamthan ever before, to help offset these 
rising costs. You can receive financial aid even if you are not a straight-A ,student or a top athlete. In fact, most students and 
Parents are unaware of the Vast number of civic, private and state grants, Merit seholarshipsiarid fello8vships that .are avaifablb' 
each year. Financial aid is accessible to millions of American families_ Yet, too many students are under the impression that they 
cannot receive financial aid that does not require repayment, so they do not bother applying at all. Remember, financial aid is the 
key to paying for your college education, and understanding the entire college financial aid process is vital. Do not borrow money 
to pay for your college education until you have fully exhausted all of the free money opportunities first. Borrowing money should 

be your last alternative. The more you know about the college preparation and financial aid process, the more financial aid motley 

you will receive. Financial aid typically goes to those who know the most about the financial aid system, so it is important to 

understand all of your financial aid options when it comes to paying for college. 

SFRC - CONTACT INFORMATION 

Call the SERCli nationwide toll-free phonic number at 1-888-730-2775 between 9:00 A.M. - 4:00 E.M. EST, Monday through Friday. All initial nationwide 
' toll=frce phone calls are transferred to a local SERC's live operator message call center. Provide your contact information, along with the Student Profile 
I Manlier (SPN) listed'on your SFRC letter, and an aPprOpriaie'SFRC representative will call you back promptly. You may also visit our website at 

1 www.studentettorg or email us at info@studentetvorg. 

INSTRUCTIONS TO FILL OUT THE ENCLOSED STUDENT AID PROFILE -FORM (SAPF) 

1. Print clearly in CAPITAL letters and skip a box between words. 

2. Mark an "X" in the box that best describes you Er each section. 

3. The refundable SFRC processing fee of sixty-five dollars must be enclosed. 
All Student Aid Profile Forms (SAPF) without payment will automatically 
be rejected. Make cheeks payable to: Student Financial Resource Center 
(SPEC). 

SECTION I: PERSONAL INFORMATION 

Last Name - Write in your last name 

First Name - Write in your first name 

MI - Write in your middle initial 

4. Permanent Mailing Address - Write in your mailing 
address 

5. City - Write in your city 

6. State - Write in your state 

7. Zip Code - Write in your zip code 
Student Profile Number - Write in your Student Profile 
Number (located on the SFRC letter) or leave blank 

9. Date of Birth - Write in your birthday M 
MM/DD/YYYY format 

10. Area Code & Telephone Number - Write in your area 
code and telephone number 

l I. E-mail Address - Write in your c-mail address 

12. What is Your State of Legal Residence? - Write in your 
state of legal residence 

13. Marital Status as of Today? - Mark your marital status 
as of today 

14. Sex - Mark your sex (male or female) 

SECTION II: EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION 

School Currently Attending -- Write in the name of the 
school you are currently attending. If you are planning 
to change your school, write in the school name that 
you will be attending. 

2. Expected Enrollment Status - Select Full-time, Part-
time or Transfer 

3. Educational Goals, Highest Degree You Are Considering 
-- Select Associate, Bachelors, Masters, P h. D., or M.D. 

4, Grade Point Average (4.0 - A) - Write in your most 
recent semester grade point average. You do not have to 
write in your high school GPA 

5. Type of College You Are Attending or Planning to 
Attend? - Select Two-year (community college), Four-
year college (universities), or Trade/Technical School 

6. Majors or Careers You Are Considering - Write up to 
three majors or careers 

If the return envelope is misplaced, use a regular envelope and 
mail to: Shtdent Financial Resource Center (SFRC). Attention: 
Processing Center Division, 3268 Governor Drive Suite 144. San 
Diego. CA 92122. 

5 Note the Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC) filing 
deadline date. 

6. Make sure to sign and date the Student Aid Profile Form(SAP18). 

SECTION BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

1 Ethnic/Racial Background - Select the appropriate box 

2. Clubs Write up to 4 club memberships, organization 
involvement or leave blank 

3. Sports Write up to 3 sports in which you have the 
interest and ability to participate on an intercollegiate 
level 

4. Hobbies - Write up to 3 hobbies, talents, or special 
skills 

5. Military If you served in the military, select the appropriate 
branch or the N/A box 

6. Work Experience - Write up to 4 volunteer or employment 
experiences 

SECTION IV: PARENTS INFORMATION. 

I. Father's Occupation - Write in your father's occupation 
or mark Unknown 

2. Name of Employer Write in the name of your father's 
employer 

3. Mother's Occupation Write in your mother's occupation 
or mark Unknown 

4. Name of Employer -- Write in the name of your mother's 
employer 

5. Military - If your parents served in the military, select the 
appropriate branch or select the N/A box 

6. Highest education level your father completed -Select Middle 
school, High school, College, or Unknown 

7. Highest education level your mother completed -Select Middle 
school, High school, College, or Unknown 

FOOTNOTES 

rnal nine-digit number created and assigned by the i 
Student Financial Resource Center organization (this is not a social 1 
security number). 

= Student Financial Resource Center has directly sent this letter to students 
and it is not affiliated with any educational institutions or 
government agencies. 
Student Financial Resource Center's internal filing status code. The initial 1.
and default filing status code is "Pending". 

' TI 



"ft cim s ° 4L,L t STUDENT FINANCIAL RESOURCE CENTER" 
Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) 

2014 - 2015 Academic School Year 

INSTRUCTIONS: 

1. Print clearly in CAPITAL letters and skip a box between words. 
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

2. Mark an "X" in the box that best describes you for each section'. 
FN 0 9 0 5 1 4 1 5 - 3 0 0 

3. The refundable SFRC processing fee of sixty-five dollars must be enclosed. All Student Aid Profile Forms 
without payment will automatically be rejected. Make checks payable to: Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC) DR 

CD 
4. If the return envelope is misplaced, use a regular envelope and mail to: 

UP Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC), Attention: Processing Center Division, 
3268 Governor Drive Suite 144, San Diego, CA 92122. CFI 

S. Note the Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC) filing deadline date. 

6. Make sure to sign and date the Student Aid Profile Form(SAPF). 

SECTION I: PERSONAL INFORMATION 

1. Last Name 2. First Name 3. MI 

4. Permanent Mailing Address: Numband Street (Include Apt. Number) 

5. City 6. State 7. Zip Code 

8. Student Profi e Numbe(Located on the SFRC 
Letter) or leave blank 

9. Date of Birth (MaNTIDNYYY) 10 Area Code Telephone Number 

11 E-Mail Address or leave blank 

12. What Is Your State Of Legal R sidence? 13 Marital Status a of Today? Single ❑ Married 14. Sex: ❑ Male ❑ Femaleil 

SECTION!!: EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION 

1. School Currently Attending: 2. Expected Enrollment Status: 

❑ Full Time ❑ Part Time ❑ Transfer 

3. Educational Goals, Highest Degree You Are Considering: 

❑ Associate ❑Bachelors ❑Masters ❑ Ph.D. ❑ M.D. 

4. Grade Point image (4.0 = A) 

High School College 

5. Type of College You Are Attending or Planning To Attend? 6. Majors or Careers You Are Considering: 

1. • Two-Year College 

n Four-Year College 

❑ Trade/Technical School 

2 

3. 

SECTION III: BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

1. How Do You Describe Your Ethnic/Racial Background? 

❑ African American ❑ Asian, Vietnamese or Indochinese 

EI Pacific Islander ❑White, Caucasian 

❑ Hispanic ❑ Native American 

111 Other (Specify) 

COPYRIGHT 2014-2015, STUDENT FINANCIAL RESOURCE CENTER (SFRC) 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 
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SECTION III: BACKGROUND INFORMATION (continued) 

2. CLUBS: List club memberships or involvement in any organization or affiliations. Include school, civic, community service, fraternal and religious organizations. 

3. SPORTS: List sport(s) in which you have the interest and ability to participate 
on an intercollegiate level. 

4. HOBBIES: List your hobbies, talents, or special skills. 

❑ Army ❑ Coast Guard ❑ Marines ❑ Navy ❑ N/A 5. If you have served in the military, check the appropriate branch: El Air Force 

6. WORK EXPERIENCE: List volunteer or employment experience. 

SECTION IV: 

1. Father's Occupation: 

PARENTS 

❑ Unknown 

INFORMATION 

2. Name of Employer: ❑ Unknown 

3. Mother's Occupation: ❑ Unknown 4. Name of Employer: ❑ Unknown 

5. If your parents served in the military, check the appropriate branch: ❑Air Force ❑ Army ❑ Coast Guard ❑ Marines ❑ Navy ❑ Unknown 

6, Highest Education Level Your Father Completed: 

❑ Middle School ❑ High School ❑ College ❑ Unknown 

7. Highest Education Level Your Mother Completed: 

❑ Unknown 111 Middle School ❑ High School ❑ College 

SECTION V: REFUNDABLE SFRC PROCESSING FEE $65 Late or missing fee $78 

The refundable SFRC processing fee of sixty-five dollars must be enclosed, All Student Aid Profile Forms (SAPF) without payment will automatically be rejected and 
a 20% service charge will be appended to the processing fee. Make checks payable to: Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC). 

❑ Personal Check ❑ Cashier Check ❑ Money Order 

StC.110A VP GER I MCA 1 JUN OF THE S I UDEN/ FINANCIAL RENO() RCP CEA TER (SFRC) PROGRAM 

I certify that all of the information on this form is true and complete to the best of my knowledge. SFRC will strive to provide as many targeted financial aid 
opportunities as possible to each and every student, regardless of his/her financial status or academic performance. These financial aid funds are not loans and they do 
not have to be repaid, however, SFRC is unable to guarantee results and has no input into the decision to which applicants will be selected to receive financial aid 
funds and it is not affiliated with any educational institutions, government agencies or funding sources. Most foundations and organizations have a limited amount of 
funding each year and in the event that funding is not received, the applicant can apply for a full refund within ninety days of receiving the financial aid package. A 
full refund of the SFRC processing fee will be issued within ten working days. 

x 
Preparer's Signature [ Student or Parent ] 

DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE 

MONTH DAY YEAR 

ADM IN I S T R AT I V E USE ONLY 

PILE No. 1001# 81113 DTS DTR 

0'9 0 5 1 4 1 5 - 3 0 O 

COPYRIGHT 0 2014.2015, STUDENT FINANCIAL RESOURCE CENTER (SFRC) 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 
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STUDENT FINANCIAL RESOURCE CENTER" 
www. studentct r .org • cmai l 

OR PARENTS OF 

472 / 0114212 

Student Prof i le Numbor': 

884-034029 

info@studenictr .org • 1 -888 -730 -APPLY 

Fi l ing Status': 

Pending 
Fi l ing Deadl ine: 

Co l l ege At t en d i ng=: 
OPEN - ALL COLLEGES 

April 30, 2015 

It is time for students to apply for the 2015-2016 financial aid programs to help them pay for their college 
education. Students who did not qualify to receive federal student aid (Pell Grants, FSEOG, or Work-Study) or 
students who need additional financial aid funding should apply to other existing free financial aid programs. 

Students can receive federal, non-federal, state, local, national merit, and need-based financial aid 
assistance regardless of their academic performance or family's income level. Students can use the money 
they receive to pay for tuition, room and board, fees, books, computers and transportation. 

Submit the enclosed Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) to proceed with the 2015-2016 Student Financial 
Resource Center (SFRC) program and apply for the maximum merit and need-based financial aid programs. 
The funds from these financial aid programs are not student loans and do not have to be repaid later. 

The SFRC Processing Division (SFRC-PD) must receive all completed Student Aid Profile Forms no later than 
April 30, 2015. Fill out the SFRC form, enclose the refundable processing fee, and mail both in the 
pre-addressed envelope. The entire processing fee will be returned to all students who do not qualify or do 
not receive financial aid money. 

Parents can also fill out and sign the enclosed SFRC form with accurate student information. Late SFRC 
forms will be accepted for students with special circumstances; however, not all financial aid funds will be 
available. Apply early because most financial aid programs have strict deadlines with limited funding. Do not 
borrow money until you have applied to all of the free federal and non-federal financial aid programs 
available to you. 

For more information, contact the SFRC nationwide message call center at 1-888-730-APPLY 
(1-888-730-2775). Students can also visit our website at www.studentctr.org or email us at info@studentctr.org 
with any questions. 

Student Financial Resource Center 
SFRC — Processing Division 
2015-2016 Academic Year Financial Aid Programs 
Enclosure (1) - Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF) 
CW/fa 

Infernal number assigned by Student Finmcial Resat= Cc*, (not a SA.')• 'This Program is spnimact by Simla* Froncial Raourre Qrs. egariaion • f Sorckra Flamer:II Rasura Covers inicmal lilinggem • for mom infomurionscc mimic irk 
JASMINE SANJURJO 884-034029 
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S TUDENT P I N 1. N C I A L R E SOU R t E C E N T 1-• k• 

The Studeut Financial Resource Center (SFRC) is an independent organization ee.voted to helping students apply for and receive the best 

available free merit and need-based financial aid. SERC conducts extensive searches to match student's qualifications and background to 

key federal, state, local, and private financial aid programs that are both merit and need-based. SFRC provides students with a 

comprehensive SFRC financial aid guidebook that explains all of the basics of financial aid and offers valuable tips, practical strategies, 

and clear guidelines for applying to SFRC's specifically selected free merit and need-based financial aid programs. Studies have shown 

that a large number of students do not apply for all of the free merit and need-based financial aid programs available to them. SFRC can 

increase students' chances of obtaining, free merit and need-based financial aid programs. You can take advantage of our specialized 
timesaving services or you can simply invest your own time to find and apply to the numerous free financial aid programs that are readily 

available to you. Do *NCI' rernow money to pay for your college education moil yen hnYe fully exhausted all of the free money 
opportunities that are rie • . !:;cod luck, and best wishes for your successful education.' '•urel 

SFRC - CONTACT I NFORMATION 

Call the SERC's nationwide toll-free phone nut:, -r 30-27 ii between 9M0 A.M. - Alf v;llionwide 

toll-free phone calls are transferral to a local live operator messaee call center. Provide yore inform:Men.. ,.inag with the Student Profile 

Number (SPN) listed on your SFRC letter, and an appropriate SFRC representative will call you back promptly. You may al our website. at 

www.studentemorg or email us at inlefe,Trudentetr.org. 

SFR( P ‘CKAGE DELIVERY I NFORMATION 

Once your refundable processing fee is endorsed, the SFRC' Processing Division will require approximately tour to six 14-61 weeks to process your certified 

Student Aid Profile Form (SAPF). For mote information, pleatie visit the SFRC website fintfr:fiwww•sludtrtnetr•ora under the "'Target Delivery Dates" 

link, to deleindue your package's tame( delivery date. 

INSTRUCTIO 's 1 t) I' l l I. OCT THE ENCLOSED STUDENT All) PROFILE FORM (SAPF) 

I. Print clearly in CAPITAL letters and skip a boss. between wards. 

2. Mark an "X" in the box. that best desctihcs you tbr each section. 

3. The refundable SFRC processing fee of sixty-five dollars must be 
enclosed. All Student Aid Profile Forms (SAPF) without payment 
will automatically be rejected. Make checks payable to: Student 
Financial Resource Center (SFRC). 

ti l( 1 10\ I : PERSONAL INFORMATION 

I. Last Name - Write in you.

 First Name Write in your first name 

3. MI - Write in your middle initial 

4. Permanent Aktdrc5s - Write in your mailing address 

5. City - Write in your city 

6. State - Write in your state 

i. Zip code - in. your ,ode
8. Student Profile Number Write in your Student Profile 

Number (located cur the SFRC letter) or leave blank 

9. Date of Birth - Write in your birthday in NIM/Dl)/YYYV formal 

10. An:4 Code & Phone. Write in your area code and plume!! 

11. Addross Write its your e-mail address 

12. What is Your State of Legal Residence? - Write it, your 
state of bagel. residence 

13. Marital Status as of Today? Mark your marital status as of today 

14. Sex - Mark your sex (male or female) 

SECTION I I : EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION 

I. School Currently Attending 'svril s; i., the name of the 

If the return envelope is misplaced, use a regular envelope and 
mail to: Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC), Attention: 
Processing Center Division, 3268 Ciovemor Dove Suite 144, San 
Diego, CA 92122. 

5. Note the Student Financial Resource Center (SFRC) tiling 
deadline date. 

0. Make sure to sign and date the Student Aid Profile Ferm(SAPF). 

3. 

SECTION III: BACKCROl ND INFORMATION 

c/ft . . and - Select the appropriate box 
nibs - W rite up to 4 club memberships, organization 

involvement or leave blank 

Sports - Write up to 3 sports in which you have the 
interest and ability to participate on an intercollegiate 
level 

4. Work Experience - Write up to 4 volunteer or employment 
ex 

SECTION IV: PARENTS INFORMATION 

I. Fat a Occupation - Write in your father's occupation 
or ma; is Unknown 
Name of Employer - Write in the name or yout father's 
employer 

3. Mother's Occupation - Write in your mother':: occupation 
or mark Unknown. 

4. Name of Employer - Write in the tunic of your mother's 
employer 

5. Military -- If your parents served in the military, select the 
approntiee branch n' sdfort 'On: 79"A 1)0),

school you are currently attendin. If you are planning 
to change your school, write in the school name that 
you will be attending. F 0 0 T N 0 E S 

2. Expect:xi Enrollment Status - Select Fu/Vdme, Part- time or Traasnz 
' This is an internal itine-digit number er:•ated and assigned by the 

3. Educational Goals, Highest Degree You Are Considering Student financial R.erionnix Center organization (ibis is not a social 
Select Associate. bachelors, Masters, Ph.D., or M.D. security number). 

4. Grade Point Average (4.0 A) - Write in your recent semester grade 
point average. You do not have to write. in you; high school GPA ' Student Financial Resource Center has directly sent this letter to students 

and it is not affiliated with any educational instinatioos or 
5. Type of College You Are Attending or Planning to government agencies. 

Attend*? -- Select Two-year (community college), Four-
year college (universities), or Trade/Technical School Saident Financial Resource Center's internal Rug status code. Mid& 

{ 6. Majors or Careers You Ate Considering-'Write up to 3 majors or careers nod. default filing status code is "Pending". 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA

EASTERN DIVISION

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau,

Plaintiff,

v.

Intercept Corporation, d/b/a 
InterceptEFT,

Bryan Smith, individually, and as owner 
and president of Intercept Corporation,

Craig Dresser, individually, and as owner 
and CEO of Intercept Corporation

                         Defendants.

CIVIL ACTION 

No. ________________

COMPLAINT

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau or Plaintiff) brings this 

action against Intercept Corporation, d/b/a InterceptEFT (Intercept), Bryan Smith 

(Smith), and Craig Dresser (Dresser) (collectively, Defendants) and alleges as follows:

Introduction

1. Intercept is a third-party payment processor that has systematically enabled its 

clients to withdraw millions of dollars’ worth of unauthorized or otherwise illegal 

charges from consumers’ bank accounts. 

2. Defendants have processed transactions for many clients when they knew or 

consciously avoided knowing that many of the transactions initiated by those companies 

were fraudulent or illegal. For years, Defendants have ignored numerous red flags about 

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 1 of 26
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the transactions they were processing, including repeated consumer complaints, 

warnings about potential fraud or illegality raised by banks involved in the transactions, 

unusually high return rates, and state and federal law enforcement actions against their 

clients. Defendants have performed only perfunctory due diligence regarding the 

legitimacy and legality of their clients’ underlying transactions and have ignored indicia 

of fraud or illegality revealed through even their minimal due diligence. By providing 

these clients with access to the banking system and the means to extract money from 

consumers’ bank accounts, Defendants have played a critical role in this unlawful 

conduct. 

3. The Bureau brings this action based on Defendants’ violations of Sections 

1031(a), 1036(a), and 1054(a) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), and 5564(a), in connection with their 

processing of credit and debit transactions for clients.

Jurisdiction and Venue

4. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under Federal consumer financial law, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1); presents a federal 

question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331; and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 

1345. 

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because the causes of 

action arose from Defendants’ conduct of business in this District, and Smith and 

Dresser reside here. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f).

6. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f) because 

Defendants do business in this District and reside here and the events or omissions 

giving rise to this Complaint substantially took place in this District.

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 2 of 26
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Parties

Plaintiff

7. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer financial products or services under 

Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has independent 

litigating authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(14), 

5564(a) and (b).

Defendants

Intercept Corporation

8. Intercept is a privately held S-corporation, incorporated in North Dakota, with its 

principal place of business in Fargo, North Dakota. Intercept is a third-party payment 

processor that processes electronic funds transfers through the Automated Clearing 

House (ACH) network on behalf of its clients. 

9. Intercept is a covered person under the CFPA because it provides payments or 

other financial data processing products or services to consumers by technological 

means, including through a payments system or network used for processing payments 

data. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(vii).

10. Intercept is also a service provider to covered persons, such as payday lenders, 

debt collectors, and auto title lenders, because it processes transactions relating to 

consumer financial products or services. 12 U.S.C. §§5481(26)(A)(ii).   

11. At all times material to this Complaint, Intercept transacts or has transacted 

business in this district and nationwide.

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 3 of 26
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Bryan Smith

12. Defendant Smith is the founder of Intercept and at all times material to this 

Complaint, Smith has been the president of Intercept. He is also a 50% shareholder in 

Intercept. 

13. As president of Intercept, Smith is involved in many different aspects of 

Intercept’s operations, such as client management, bank relationships, operations, and 

product development.

14. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, 

Smith has formulated, directed, controlled, participated, or otherwise engaged in the 

acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

15. Smith has been a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility at Intercept. Smith has also materially participated in the conduct of 

Intercept’s affairs, including the development and approval of the practices complained 

of herein.

16. Given his status as president of Intercept and material participation in Intercept’s 

operation, Smith is a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). Because of 

his status as a “related person” under the CFPA, Smith is a “covered person” under the 

CFPA. Id. 

17. Smith is also a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(vii) and 

26(A), because he is engaged in providing payments or other financial data processing 

products or services to consumers by technological means, including through a 

payments system or network used for processing payments data. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(15)(A)(vii).

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 4 of 26
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18. At all times material to this Complaint, Smith has transacted business in this 

district. Additionally, Smith resides in North Dakota. 

Craig Dresser 

19. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendant Dresser has been the CEO of 

Intercept. He is also a 50% shareholder in Intercept. 

20. As CEO, Dresser is involved in many different aspects of Intercept’s operation, 

such as client management, bank relationship management, operations, and finances.

21. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, 

Dresser has formulated, directed, controlled, participated, or otherwise engaged in the 

acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

22. Dresser has been a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility at Intercept. Dresser has also materially participated in the conduct of 

Intercept’s affairs, including the development and approval of the practices complained 

of herein.

23. Given his status as CEO of Intercept, Dresser is a “related person” under the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25). Because of his status as a “related person” under the CFPA, 

Dresser is a “covered person” under the CFPA. Id. 

24. Dresser is also a “covered person” under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(15)(A)(vii)

and 26(A), because he is engaged in providing payments or other financial data 

processing products or services to consumers by technological means, including through 

a payments system or network used for processing payments data. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(15)(A)(vii).

25. At all times material to this Complaint, Dresser has transacted business in this 

district. Additionally, Dresser resides in North Dakota. 

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 5 of 26
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Factual Background

26. As a third-party payment processor, Intercept provides its clients with access to 

banks to debit and credit funds electronically from consumers’ bank accounts, using 

what is known as the ACH system. Intercept’s clients have included consumer lenders 

such as payday lenders, auto title lenders, sales finance companies, and debt collectors, 

among others.

27. The ACH system is an electronic payments network used to process financial 

transactions, such as credits or debits (deposits or withdrawals), instead of using paper 

checks. 

28. The ACH system can be used to transfer funds related to a variety of financial 

transactions, such as bill payments or loan advances.  

29. Businesses and individuals use third-party payment processors, such as 

Intercept, when they are unable to establish their own relationships with banking 

institutions or because it is administratively convenient for them.

30. In the ACH system, the businesses and individuals that are Intercept’s clients are 

known as “Originators.” 

31. Originators send requests to Intercept to either credit or debit an individual’s or 

business’s bank account. 

32. Intercept conveys that request to its own bank, known as the “Originating 

Depository Financial Institution” (ODFI). 

33. The ODFI then sends the credit or debit request to an ACH Operator. 

34. The ACH Operator transmits the request to the recipient’s bank, known as the 

“Receiving Depository Financial Institution” (RDFI). 

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 6 of 26
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35. The RDFI then either credits the recipient’s account, or in the case of a debit 

transaction, deducts the amount and sends the money back to Intercept through the 

ODFI. 

36. Intercept then remits the debit amount back to its client and charges the client a

variety of fees for its services.

37. In a typical transaction that Intercept undertakes on behalf of a lender or debt 

collector, the client instructs Intercept to withdraw loan repayments from a borrower’s

bank account, directing Intercept on which bank to contact, the payment schedule to 

use, and the amount to withdraw. Intercept instructs its bank to contact the borrower’s 

bank to withdraw the money. The borrower’s bank debits the account and remits it to 

Intercept’s bank, and Intercept then transfers the money to its client.

38. Industry rules and guidelines emphasize the responsibility of all ACH 

participants, including third party payment processors like Intercept, to monitor 

merchant return rates and other suspicious activity to detect and prevent fraud in the 

ACH network.

39. Defendants, however, have processed payments for many clients even in the face 

of numerous indicators that those clients were engaged in fraudulent or illegal 

transactions.  Even though they knew or should have known of this illegal behavior, 

Defendants continued to process for these companies anyway. Defendants have ignored 

red flags, including concerns from ODFIs about the lawfulness of the transactions 

Intercept was processing, complaints from consumers, high return rates, and law 

enforcement actions against its clients. Intercept’s due diligence procedures when 

signing up clients have also been perfunctory, and it has ignored indicia of problems 

that were revealed through even its minimal due diligence.

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 7 of 26
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Defendants have failed to heed warnings from banks and consumers.

40. Defendants have ignored warnings from ODFIs and consumers that some of 

Intercept’s clients’ business activities were likely illegal or that debits were not 

authorized by consumers. 

41. Intercept’s ODFIs have expressed concerns to Intercept, Smith, and Dresser

about potential indicia of fraud by certain of Intercept’s clients, such as high return 

rates, discrepancies between the dates and amounts debited from consumers’ accounts 

compared to what the consumer had authorized, changes in lender names from the 

initial loan agreements with the consumer, and missing telephone scripts for ACH 

transactions authorized by phone. 

42. For example, an ODFI complained to Defendants that one of its clients, an auto 

title lender, which was debiting varying amounts from consumers’ accounts multiple 

times, did not have the contractual right or proper consumer authorization to do so, 

stating that it was “not ok [for the] merchant to us[e] the ACH to ‘sneak’ attack a 

consumer’s account, [as] it will only draw regulatory attention.”

43. On numerous occasions, Smith and Dresser have been personally involved in 

responding to Intercept ODFIs when those banks expressed concerns about certain 

Intercept clients or transactions, including concerns about high transaction volumes, 

high return rates, loans being made to consumers in states where those loans were 

illegal, or complaints from consumers that they had not authorized withdrawals.  

44. If an ODFI raised concerns or terminated its relationship with Intercept, Smith 

and Dresser would find a new ODFI to process on behalf of Intercept for the same 

clients.  As a result, Intercept had relationships with eight different ODFIs between 

2008 and 2014, sometimes processing through three different ODFIs at the same time.

Case 3:16-cv-00144-ARS   Document 1   Filed 06/06/16   Page 8 of 26
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45. For example, in at least once instance, Intercept entered into a short-term or trial 

period with an ODFI to process a limited number of transactions through the bank, and 

then, instead, ran millions of dollars of ACH transactions through the bank, generating 

high volumes of returns in disputed transactions.  

46. The ODFI was initially reluctant to do business with Intercept due to Intercept’s 

projected transaction volume and historical return rates for certain clients.

Defendant Dresser responded to these concerns by urging the bank to continue 

processing for a trial period, stating that what made Intercept successful was its 

willingness to do business with companies that others would not, including companies 

that were not considered “clean business.”

47. The ODFI continued to express concerns about the number of returns generated 

by Intercept’s ACH transactions, which exceeded the terms of their trial period, stating 

that the bank was receiving thousands of returns per day. The bank further warned 

Defendants that the return percentages were so high they could trigger an audit.

48. Defendants did not investigate these concerns or re-evaluate their relationships 

with these clients. Instead, Dresser responded to the ODFI’s concerns with assurances 

that Intercept was working to transition the same clients to another group of ODFIs.

49. The bank later terminated its relationship with Intercept in part because of these 

high return rates. Yet, Defendants still did not investigate these concerns or re-evaluate 

their relationships with these clients; instead, they found a new ODFI to help them 

process these transactions.

50. Consumers have also complained about Defendants’ processing activities. 

51. One of Intercept’s ODFIs received over 600 calls from consumers between June 
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and August 2012 complaining about Intercept’s withdrawals from their personal 

accounts. 

52. At another ODFI, consumers disputed that they had authorized withdrawals on 

over 1,800 transactions initiated by Intercept between 2011 and 2014. These ODFIs 

brought these issues to Defendants’ attention, but Intercept, Smith, and Dresser failed 

to conduct any meaningful investigation, or take any meaningful action, in response.

53. For example, in May 2013, consumers residing in Georgia—a jurisdiction with 

strict regulations that effectively ban payday lending—disputed debits initiated by 

Defendants on behalf of short-term small dollar lenders at least 87 times. These 

complaints should have caused Defendants to investigate further, especially since 

Defendants had already learned in 2012 that one of their clients was ordered by the 

State of Georgia to cease and desist its payday lending activities. Defendants 

nevertheless failed to take any action to investigate or address the consumer disputes, 

including inquiring whether the relevant loans were illegal under Georgia law.

54. Similarly, in May 2013, 346 Arkansas consumers complained to an ODFI about 

Intercept’s consumer loan debits. Defendants took no action in response to this red flag. 

Again, if they had, they might have learned that consumer lending is strictly regulated in 

Arkansas such that some or all of the debits they were processing for the lenders that 

were the subjects of these complaints were illegal.

55. Despite all of these warning signs from ODFIs and consumers, Defendants 

continued payment processing for these clients without investigation or consequence. 

56. Unlike Defendants, consumers lacked access to warning signs about Intercept’s 

clients, such as  concerns expressed by ODFIs and other consumers.
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Defendants have failed to adequately monitor and respond to high return 
rates.

57. Defendants have also ignored the enormously high rates at which consumers and 

consumers’ banks refused Intercept clients’ attempts to withdraw payments.

58. Many of the transactions Intercept processed on behalf of various lender and 

debt collector clients generated unusually high return rates.

59. Transactions may be returned for a variety of reasons. For instance, a transaction 

may be returned due to insufficient funds in a consumer’s account, invalid or closed 

accounts, or when a consumer explicitly rejects the transaction because he or she did 

not authorize it (known as “unauthorized” returns).

60. A high number of returns, whether unauthorized or otherwise, for any particular

client can be indicative of illegal or fraudulent activity surrounding the underlying 

transaction.  

61. NACHA, the trade association governing the use of the ACH system, establishes 

standards regarding return rates. 

62. NACHA assigns a code for each type of return and tracks the percentage of 

transactions returned for each code, as well as the percentage of all returned 

transactions for merchants, processors, and ODFIs using the ACH system—known as 

the “overall” return rate. High rates of return for certain individual return categories, 

such as “unauthorized” or “insufficient funds,” as well as high “overall” return rates, are 

important indicators of potential fraud, deception, or illegality underlying a transaction.

63. The NACHA rules and guidelines emphasize the responsibility of all ACH 

participants to monitor merchant return rates and other suspicious activity to detect 

and prevent fraud in the ACH network.
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64. For example, until September 2015, NACHA prohibited merchants from using 

the ACH system if they generated returns categorized as “unauthorized” in excess of 1%.

NACHA recently reduced the “unauthorized” returns limit from 1% to 0.5%, and set a 

limit on overall returns of 15%. 

65. Many of Intercept’s clients’ unauthorized returns have generally hovered just at 

or below 1%, but only because Intercept created a program called “Xcelerated Returns”

that stopped certain withdrawal attempts before they reached the ACH system, thereby 

shielding their clients from scrutiny for excessive return rates. 

66. Xcelerated Returns is a fee-based service that compares any new ACH 

transactions initiated by Intercept’s clients with a database of transactions previously 

returned as “unauthorized.” 

67. If a consumer’s account number matches the account number of a transaction 

previously returned as unauthorized, Intercept will prevent the transaction from being 

processed through the ACH network, if so instructed by the client. 

68. Intercept then tracks what the client’s unauthorized return rate would have been 

had the Xcelerated Returns program not identified the transaction and Intercept not 

prevented the transaction from occurring. 

69. Many times, the unauthorized return rate would have exceeded 1%, but for the 

Xcelerated Returns program. 

70. For example, one Intercept client generated unauthorized returns of just below or 

slightly over 1% in 2011 and 2012, respectively. But, without the Xcelerated Returns 

program, this client’s true unauthorized return rate would have been 4.3% and 2.47% 

during this time period. Thus, Defendants knew that this client was attempting to 

process an unusually high rate of unauthorized transactions.
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71. Defendants did not take any appreciable steps to investigate or terminate their 

relationship with clients like this with high unauthorized return rates. In fact, Intercept 

used Xcelerated Returns to shield problem clients from excessive return rates so that it 

could continue processing for those clients and earning fees.

72. If a client’s true unauthorized return rate was over 1%, Intercept would simply

request that the client reduce the rate during an annual review process, and increase the 

client’s reserve amount deposited with Intercept. The increased reserve would protect 

Defendants from potential losses but would do nothing to protect consumers from 

fraud, theft, or other illegal conduct.

73. This request would be repeated the following year if the client had not reduced its 

return rate.

74. Defendants also have failed to investigate or terminate relationships with clients 

in response to high overall return rates. 

75. Returned transactions that are the result of a lack of consumer authorization 

often are characterized by consumers as reasons other than “unauthorized.” For 

example, an unauthorized debit can be returned by the consumer’s bank if the 

consumer’s bank account has insufficient funds, if the bank account is closed or does not 

exist, or if the bank account number is invalid. 

76. In 2012, the average overall return rate for the payment processing industry was 

1.5%.

77. During the same time period, many of Intercept’s clients generated annual 

overall return rates of 20% to 40%, over twenty times the industry average. On a 

monthly basis, some Intercept clients even experienced return rates as high as 70% to 

80%. 
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78. During this same time period, Intercept itself generated overall return rates as 

high as 21% for all of its payment processing activities combined—well in excess of 

industry averages of 1.5%. 

79. At one ODFI, Intercept’s return activity represented from a quarter to over a 

third of all the return activity for all of that ODFI’s clients in 2011 and 2012.

80. Defendants, however, did little to address or respond to Intercept’s above-

average return rate or the high overall or unauthorized rates of its clients other than to 

limit Intercept’s exposure by increasing clients’ reserve requirements.  

81. Despite these warning signs, Defendants continued to process for clients with 

high rates of return without further inquiry or investigation. In fact, because Defendants

charged higher fees for returned transactions, these returns represented a substantial 

source of income for Defendants.

82. Unlike Defendants, consumers lacked knowledge of Intercept’s clients’ unusually 

high return rates and Defendants’ efforts to shield their problem clients from scrutiny.

Defendants have ignored law enforcement activity relating to its clients.

83. Defendants have ignored red flags, such as government law enforcement activity 

relating to its clients, failed to take action in response to learning about state and federal 

law enforcement actions against its clients, and continued to process for these clients 

despite this knowledge. 

84. For example, Defendants learned in the spring of 2012 that the FTC had filed a 

lawsuit against Scott Tucker (Tucker), AMG Services, Inc., and other related individuals 

and entities (collectively AMG) for unlawfully withdrawing undisclosed and inflated fees

from consumers’ accounts, unlawfully conditioning payday loans on recurring access to 

consumers’ bank accounts so AMG could automatically initiate withdrawals, and then 
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engaging in illegal practices to collect on these loans, such as threatening consumers 

with lawsuits, arrest, and imprisonment. The FTC’s lawsuit also alleged that AMG

operated under a sham ownership structure, purporting to be owned and controlled by

Native American tribes, in an effort to evade state and federal law.

85. The FTC alleged that AMG misrepresented the total payments that AMG would 

withdraw to satisfy a loan, telling consumers that their payments would be withdrawn 

when the loan was due, when, in reality, AMG would initiate multiple withdrawals on 

multiple occasions and assess a new finance charge every time. According to documents 

filed by the FTC, AMG’s illegal tactics had generated more than 7,500 complaints to law 

enforcement authorities over the previous five years. 

86. Defendants knew about this lawsuit in the spring of 2012. Tucker even personally 

provided court filings directly to Defendant Smith and other Intercept employees as 

early as July 2012. 

87. But although Defendants processed withdrawals described in the FTC suit for 

AMG, and knew AMG had been experiencing extremely high return rates, they took no 

meaningful steps to look into this client’s business practices after the FTC filed suit. 

They similarly failed to investigate these red flags after the court entered a preliminary 

injunction against AMG in December 2012. That order, among other things, barred 

AMG from making false claims about what it was withdrawing from consumers’ 

accounts and when those withdrawals would occur.

88. In fact, Defendants Smith and Dresser were on notice of AMG’s efforts to evade 

the law through the pretense of tribal ownership as early as 2011. For example, in 

September 2011, Dresser, Smith, and Intercept’s Vice-President of Risk Management 

discussed a 2011 CBS investigative report on AMG’s lending practices, including its use 
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of tribal affiliations to evade state laws against payday lending. The Vice-President of 

Risk Management wrote to Smith and Dresser, “I figured it was probably just a matter of 

time. You can run, but you can’t hide. Trying to take shelter behind a tribe, in my 

opinion, was just kind of a band-aid and wouldn’t provide a long-term solution.” Mr. 

Smith responded, “True. The article isn’t totally accurate. In the end [the consumer] 

borrowed 400 and paid 495.” (Emphases added).
89. Notwithstanding this fact, Defendants continued to process for AMG and even 

submitted multiple ACH application requests to banks, identifying tribal entities as the 

owners of the AMG companies. 

90. Defendants were also aware of various state law enforcement actions involving 

their clients. 

91. For example, in 2012, Intercept learned that one of its clients was the subject of a 

cease and desist order from the State of Georgia regarding its consumer lending 

activities.

92. In response to learning about the cease and desist order, Intercept’s Vice 

President of Risk Management wrote, “[s]eems as though the more information we ask 

for, the more information we receive that I would prefer not knowing!!! Thus, the old 

saying be careful what you ask for!’”

93. Despite its knowledge of the order, Defendants continued to process for this 

client without taking any meaningful steps to investigate the company’s activities or 

prevent it from processing ACH transactions to Georgia consumers through Intercept. 

94. At the same time, the client continued to experience astronomically high monthly 

return rates ranging from 40% to 80%. Yet, Defendant still did not investigate the 

client’s business activities or re-examine their relationship with the client. 
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95. The State of Maine issued cease and desist orders to at least two other Intercept 

clients in 2011 and 2012. These publically-issued orders required the clients to 

immediately stop payday lending in Maine until properly licensed, to reimburse Maine 

consumers for any fees or interest collected, and to pay the cost of the investigation.

96. Notwithstanding these orders, Defendants did not look into these companies’ 

activities or prevent these clients’ transactions with Maine consumers from being 

processed. 

97. Moreover, despite these cease and desist orders, Defendants did not change 

Intercept’s due diligence procedures generally to inquire about whether clients’ lending 

activities were lawful in the states where Intercept processed ACH transactions on their 

behalf.  

Defendants have failed to investigate red flags during the application 
process.

98. Defendants have ignored red flags apparent during the client application process 

that should have caused it to conduct further investigation or perform enhanced due 

diligence prior to accepting a client for processing.

99. Intercept’s application process was perfunctory. Rarely did it probe deeper in 

response to any information learned as part of the application process. 

100. For example, as part of its application process, Intercept would search a 

prospective client’s name on a variety of internet databases. 

101. Troubling information Defendants learned from these sources frequently did not

stop them from processing for those clients. For example, when Defendants learned 

about the FTC enforcement action against Tucker and AMG, they did not reassess their

relationship with this client or investigate the activities of these entities further.
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102. Similarly, although Intercept’s procedure is to review Better Business Bureau

(BBB) ratings and complaints, such reviews rarely if ever triggered further investigation 

into the reasons or sources of the complaints or poor ratings. 

103. For example, many of Intercept’s payday lending clients received an “F” rating 

from the BBB. In response to concern expressed by one of its ODFIs about poor BBB 

ratings, Intercept’s Vice-President of Risk Management responded “My first thought 

about the BBB is that isn’t every payday lender rated an F? I don’t think this is unusual.” 

Yet Defendants’ standard practice was to not investigate or follow-up with clients when 

faced with evidence of poor BBB ratings to determine whether these clients were, in fact, 

engaged in illegal behavior. 

104. Intercept asked for basic information about the types of goods and services its 

clients provided to consumers, but did not request information designed to elicit 

whether such goods or services were lawful. 

105. Intercept did not require copies of a merchant’s policies and procedures to ensure 

compliance with federal and state laws and regulations. Intercept would not ask for a 

description of loan terms, fees charged to consumers, a list of the web addresses used by 

the lender or lead generator, or whether a consumer lender possessed the requisite state 

lending licenses. This type of information would have alerted Intercept to possible 

fraudulent or illegal activity by its clients. 

106. Despite the presence of numerous red flags about its clients, Intercept did not 

begin to alter its application process to seek additional information until late 2012.

107. For example, prior to 2012, Intercept did not ask about the states in which its 

consumer lender clients did business, whether lending on the offered terms was allowed 

in those states, or whether they possessed the requisite state lending licenses in those 
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states, even when the client provided loan agreements that included triple or quadruple 

digit APRs. And even when Intercept did begin collecting more information during its 

application process, in numerous instances, it ignored indicia of illegality in those 

materials. 

108. If Intercept’s due diligence revealed that a lender was unlicensed, that should 

have been a red flag that prompted further inquiry. 

109. But Intercept’s policy was to not take further steps even though it was 

simultaneously on notice of complaints about unlicensed and unlawful lending and 

other problems with its current clients from ODFIs, consumers, and law enforcement. 

110. In fact, red flags discovered during the application process and yearly review 

process seemed to have next to no impact on Intercept’s business decisions at all.

111. Instead, Intercept’s decision to accept a new client, or continue processing for an 

existing client, was based entirely on a “risk assessment” known as the “5 Star-Risk 

Level Rating.”

112. The sole stated purpose of this underwriting exercise was to assist Intercept in 

determining a client’s ability to pay in the event of a loss. 

113. Intercept did not include in its 5 Star-Risk Level Rating indicators of fraud or 

illegal activity such as consumer disputes, poor BBB ratings, state or federal law 

enforcement actions, high return rates, rates of requests for proofs of authorization, or 

the failure to supply satisfactory information in the company’s application. Intercept 

would frequently assign high ratings to clients with high returns, “F” ratings from the 

BBB, or who were subject to law enforcement activity related to their underlying 

business. For example, Intercept assigned a rating of 4 out of 5 stars to a company,
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whose unauthorized return rate was over 1%, noting that “the reserve is way more than 

sufficient.”

Role of Individual Defendant Smith

114. In his role as president of Intercept, Smith has also individually engaged in unfair 

acts and practices by actively ignoring numerous red flags related to Intercept’s payment 

processing activities and substantially assisting Intercept in its commission of unfair 

acts and practices by continuing to process ACH transactions in the face of indicia of 

fraud and illegality on the part of numerous clients. 

115. Smith has been materially involved in Intercept’s day-to-day business operations

and client and banking relationships, and has been aware of the numerous red flags 

raised by Intercept’s clients’ business activities, including high return rates, warning 

from banks, consumer complaints, and law enforcement actions.  In response, Smith did 

not meaningfully investigate or re-evaluate the relationships with these clients, but 

rather actively ignored this information, tried to allay the banks’ concerns, and when 

that did not work, entered into new ODFI arrangements so that Intercept could 

continue processing payments for these clients.

116. Smith has received personal financial gain from the illegal practices discussed 

herein. As a 50% shareholder in Intercept, Smith has received millions of dollars in 

distributions from the revenue generated by Intercept’s payment processing activities. 
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Role of Individual Defendant Dresser

117. In his role as CEO of Intercept, Dresser has also individually engaged in unfair 

acts and practices by actively ignoring numerous red flags related to Intercept’s payment 

processing activities and substantially assisting Intercept in its commission of unfair 

acts and practices by continuing to process ACH transactions in the face of indicia of 

fraud and illegality on the part of numerous clients. 

118. Dresser has been materially involved in Intercept’s day-to-day business 

operations, client and banking relationships and has been directly aware of and on 

notice of the numerous red flags raised by Intercept’s clients’ business activities, 

including high return rates, warning from banks, consumer complaints, and law 

enforcement actions.  In response, Dresser did not meaningfully investigate or re-

evaluate the relationships with these clients, but rather actively ignored this 

information, tried to allay the banks’ concerns, and when that did not work, entered into 

new ODFI arrangements so that Intercept could continue processing payments for these 

clients.  
119. Dresser has received personal financial gain from the illegal practices discussed 

herein. As a 50% shareholder in Intercept, Dresser has received millions of dollars in 

distributions from the revenue generated by Intercept’s payment processing activities. 

Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act

120. The CFPA prohibits covered persons or service providers from engaging “in any 

unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice.” 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or 

practice is unfair if the act or practice causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers, which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers, and such substantial injury 
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is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(c).

121. Section 1054(a) of the CFPA grants the Bureau authority to commence a civil 

action against any person who violates a federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 

5554(a). The CFPA is a federal consumer financial law. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14).

122. Under the CFPA, a “related person” is deemed to mean a covered person. A 

related person is:

(i) any director, officer, or employee charged with managerial responsibility for, 

or controlling shareholder of, or agent for, such covered person; (ii) any 

shareholder, consultant, joint venture partner, or other person, as determined by 

the Bureau (by rule or on a case-by-case basis) who materially participates in the 

conduct of the affairs of such covered person; and (iii) any independent 

contractor (including any attorney, appraiser, or accountant) who knowingly or 

recklessly participates in any . . . violation of any provision of law or regulation . .

. or breach of a fiduciary duty. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25).

123. The CFPA defines a “service provider” as “any person that provides a material 

service to a covered person in connection with the offering or provision by such covered 

person of a consumer financial product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26).

124. The CFPA further makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly or recklessly 

provide substantial assistance to a covered person or service provider engaged in unfair, 

deceptive, or abusive acts or practices; the provider of substantial assistance is deemed 

in violation of the law to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is 

provided. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3).
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125. Defendants are “covered person[s],” “related person[s],” and/or “service 

provider[s]” within the meaning of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (25), (26).

Count I – Unfair Acts and Practices in Violation of the CFPA
(Intercept Corporation, Bryan Smith, and Craig Dresser)

126. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1

through 125 of this Complaint.

127. In numerous instances, Defendants ignored warnings from industry, consumers, 

and law enforcement that their clients were engaged in illegal or fraudulent activities

and failed to conduct reasonable due diligence to detect the unlawful conduct. 

128. Defendants’ acts and practices in processing transactions to consumers’ bank 

accounts as described above caused, or were likely to cause, substantial injury to 

consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers and was not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

129. Defendants’ acts and practices, therefore, constitute unfair acts or practices in 

violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a) and (c)(1), and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II – Substantial Assistance in Intercept’s Unfair Acts and Practices
(Bryan Smith and Craig Dresser)

130. The Bureau incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 125 of this Complaint.

131. Under the CFPA, it is unlawful for any person to “knowingly or recklessly provide 

substantial assistance to a covered person or service provider in violation of the 

provisions of section 1031, or any rule or order issued thereunder.” 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(3).

132. Defendant Smith and Defendant Dresser have provided substantial assistance to 

Defendant Intercept’s unlawful conduct by establishing, directing, and managing 
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Intercept’s operations, including managing client and banking relationships, and 

exercising substantial control over Intercept’s operations on a day-to-day basis. 

133. Smith and Dresser knowingly or recklessly have provided this substantial 

assistance by continuing to maintain relationships with, and process transactions for, 

clients when they knew about warnings from industry, consumers, and law enforcement 

that the clients were engaged in fraud or illegal activity, knew about the risk of harm to

consumers, or knew facts that made the risk of harm obvious.  

134. Therefore, Defendant Defendants Smith and Dresser knowingly or recklessly 

provided substantial assistance to Intercept, a covered person and service provider 

engaged in unfair acts and practices, in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(3). 

Consumer Harm

135. Defendants have caused consumers substantial monetary loss by debiting money 

from consumers’ bank accounts on behalf of clients engaged in unlawful practices.

136. In addition to these debits, consumers have also incurred or were likely to incur 

other costs, such as the costs associated with closing accounts, paying overdraft fees, 

covering bounced checks, opening new accounts, and ordering new checks.

137. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result 

of Defendants’ violations of the CFPA. Consumers could not have reasonably avoided 

this injury.

138. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful 

acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue 

to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public.
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This Court’s Power to Grant Relief

139. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or equitable relief 

including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of moneys paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment, payments of damages or other monetary relief, 

limits on the activities or functions of Defendants, and civil money penalties. 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(a), (c). In addition, the Bureau may recover its costs in connection with the action, 

if it is the prevailing party. 12 U.S.C. § 5565(b).

Prayer for Relief

The Bureau requests that the Court: 

a. Permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§5531 and 5536; 

b. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, 

including, but not limited to, refund of moneys paid, restitution, 

disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and payment of 

damages;

c. Grant such other injunctive relief as appropriate; 

d. Impose civil money penalties against the Defendants; 

e. Order Defendants to pay Plaintiff’s costs and fees incurred in 

connection with prosecuting this action; and
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f. Award additional relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: June 6, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

ANTHONY ALEXIS
Enforcement Director

CARA PETERSEN
Deputy Enforcement Director For 
Litigation

JAMES T. SUGARMAN
Assistant Litigation Deputy

Jenelle Dennis
Enforcement Attorney
1700 G Street NW
Washington, DC 20552
202-435-9118
jenelle.dennis@cfpb.gov

/s/ Kirsten Ivey-Colson_____       
Kirsten Ivey-Colson
Enforcement Attorney
1700 G Street NW
Washington, DC 20552
202-435-7354
kirsten.ivey-colson@cfpb.gov

Richa Shyam Dasgupta
Enforcement Attorney
1700 G Street NW
Washington, DC 20552
202-435-7549
richa.dasgupta@cfpb.gov
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0012

In the Matter of:      CONSENT ORDER 

SANTANDER BANK, N.A. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the overdraft 

practices of Santander Bank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below) and has identified the 

following law violations: (1) Respondent failed to obtain an affirmative “opt-in” from certain of 

its customers before charging them overdraft fees in connection with ATM and one-time debit 

card transactions, in violation of Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, the implementing 

regulation of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693, et seq. (EFTA) and (2) 

Respondent, through its vendor, misled consumers about (a) the fees associated with opting in 

to overdraft service for ATM and one-time debit card transactions, (b) the consequences of not 

opting in to overdraft service for ATM and one-time debit card transactions, (c) the nature of 

the sales calls seeking consumers’ consent to opt in to overdraft services for ATM and one-time 

debit card transactions, and (d) the type of transactions covered by the overdraft service in 

violation of 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order 

(Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA,

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 and Section 1693o(a)(5) of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act,

15 U.S.C. § 1693o(a)(5).

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent

Order,” dated July 11, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance

of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or

conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the

Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action.

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Account” means a demand deposit (checking) or other consumer asset account

established primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, as described in

Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(b)(1).

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors.

c. “Covered Overdraft Fees” refers to Overdraft Fees assessed on ATM or one-time

debit card transactions during the Relevant Period.
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d. “Covered Transactions” refers to ATM or one-time debit card transactions during the

Relevant Period.

e. “Customer Service Representative” or “CSR” means a customer service

representative employed by the Respondent’s vendor to conduct consumer calls for

the Opt-in Call Campaigns.

f. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

g. “Opt-In” means the consumer’s affirmative consent to be charged a fee for Overdraft

Service for ATM and/or one-time debit card transactions, as described in Regulation

E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(b)(1)(iii).

h. “Opt-in Call Campaign” refers to any of the telemarketing campaigns conducted by a

vendor on behalf of the Respondent to enroll consumers into the Sovereign (later

Santander) Account Protector.

i. “Opt-In Rule” means Regulation E’s prohibition against “assess[ing] a fee or charge

on a consumer’s account for paying an ATM or one-time debit card transaction

pursuant to the institution’s overdraft service [without] [o]btain[ing] the consumer’s

affirmative consent, or opt-in, to the institution’s payment of ATM or one-time debit

card transactions . . . .” 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(b).

j. “Overdraft Fee” means a fee Respondent assessed pursuant to its Overdraft Service.

k. “Overdraft Service,” with respect to an Account, shall have the same definition

provided by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17: “a service under which a financial institution

assesses a fee or charge on a consumer’s account held by the institution for paying a

transaction (including a check or other item) when the consumer has insufficient or

unavailable funds in the account.”
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l. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the Northeast Region for

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or

his/her delegate.

m. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described

in Section IV of this Consent Order.

n. “Relevant Period” includes the period from July 1, 2010 to the Effective Date.

o. “Respondent” means Santander Bank, N.A., previously known as Sovereign Bank,

and its successors and assigns.

p. “Service Provider” or “vendor” shall have the same definition provided by 12

U.S.C. § 5481(26):“any person that provides a material service to a covered

person in connection with the offering or provision by such covered person of a

consumer financial product or service, including a person that: (i) participates in

designing, operating, or maintaining the consumer financial product or service;

or (ii) processes transactions relating to the consumer financial product or

service (other than unknowingly or incidentally transmitting or processing

financial data in a manner that such data is undifferentiated from other types of

data of the same form as the person transmits or processes).” This term “does

not include a person solely by virtue of such person offering or providing to a

covered person— (i) a support service of a type provided to businesses generally

or a similar ministerial service; or (ii) time or space for an advertisement for a

consumer financial product or service through print, newspaper, or electronic

media.”
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IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national bank with its main office in Wilmington, Delaware. As of

September 30, 2015, Respondent had $89.4 billion in assets and $58.5 billion in total

domestic deposits. Respondent operates a network of nearly 700 retail branch offices

and more than 2300 ATMs in Connecticut, Delaware, Massachusetts, New Hampshire,

New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island.

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 billion

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a).

6. In 2009, Banco Santander S.A. completed its purchase of Sovereign Bank and officially

rebranded the Bank as Santander in October of 2013.

7. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).

8. Respondent is also a “bank … that directly ... holds an account belonging to a consumer”

and is therefore a “financial institution” as defined by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.2(i).

The Opt-In Rule 

9. Prior to the implementation of the Opt-In Rule, many financial institutions—including

Respondent—provided Overdraft Service for ATM and one-time debit transactions (in

addition to other transactions such as checks and recurring transfers) as a standard

feature of their Accounts. Providing Overdraft Service for those transactions allowed

consumers to complete one-time debit card purchases and ATM withdrawals that would

likely otherwise have been declined because of insufficient or unavailable funds.

However, that service came with a price: financial institutions, including Respondent,

generally charged consumers a fee when the service was used.
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10. The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) found

that state of affairs concerning because, among other things, many consumers lacked

understanding of the service’s risks, costs, and conditions. In particular, the Federal 

Reserve Board noted that many consumers did not understand they could be charged 

overdraft fees for using their debit card. As a result, “consumers may unintentionally 

overdraw their account based on the erroneous belief that a transaction would be paid 

only if the consumer has sufficient funds in the account to cover it.” 74 Fed. Reg. 59033 

at 59039 (Nov. 17, 2009).  

11. To address this, the Federal Reserve Board amended Regulation E by adopting the Opt-

In Rule, which requires financial institutions to obtain consumers’ affirmative consent

or opt-in to Overdraft Service for Covered Transactions before assessing overdraft fees

on such transactions. Only after obtaining that consent can financial institutions charge

Overdraft Fees on Covered Transactions.

12. The Rule also requires financial institutions to disclose any Overdraft Fees they will

charge based on Covered Transactions. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(d)(2).

13. The Opt-In Rule had a mandatory compliance date of July 1, 2010 for new accounts and

August 15, 2010 for existing accounts. 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(c).

Respondent’s Response to the Opt-In Rule 

14. Respondent determined that the Opt-In Rule could have a significant negative impact

on its fee revenues.

15. To protect its fee revenue, Respondent needed to persuade its customers to opt in.

16. Respondent renamed its Overdraft Service on Covered Transactions the Sovereign (later

Santander) Account Protector (“SAP”).
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17. Respondent charged consumers who opted into the SAP $35 for each overdraft on a

Covered Transaction and a $5 fee per consecutive day the account was overdrawn if the

overdraft remained unpaid for more than five business days. Later, Respondent changed

the terms to $35 for each overdraft and an additional, one-time $35 fee on the sixth

business day if the account was still overdrawn.

18. Respondent’s customers could opt in to SAP through a variety of channels, including at

the branches, online, by mail, and over the phone.

19. To increase enrollment in SAP, Respondent launched a series of vigorous telemarketing

campaigns, the Opt-in Call Campaigns.

20. Respondent hired a third-party vendor to conduct the Opt-in Call Campaigns. The

vendor marketed the SAP on both outbound and inbound calls.

21. Respondent paid the vendor a base amount for each employee hour. Additionally, as an

incentive to enroll more consumers, Respondent paid the vendor a variable premium of

up to approximately $9 per hour if the vendor hit specified sales targets.

22. The vendor, in turn, incentivized its CSRs to make sales by establishing sales quotas and

requiring a certain number of sales per hour.

23. In numerous instances, the vendor’s CSRs who failed to achieve the required number of

sales per hour were sent home early and were not paid for the remainder of the day.

24. The vendor also terminated certain CSRs who continued to miss its sales goals.

25. Respondent created or approved scripts to be used by the CSRs who conducted the calls

for the Opt-in Call Campaigns.

26. During a pilot test in 2010, Respondent learned that CSRs were being overly aggressive,

making sales without the consumer’s consent, and not following the script. Respondent

also received complaints from consumers who incurred unauthorized overdraft fees.
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27. In response, Respondent temporarily halted the Opt-in Call Campaign for a few days

and conducted further training with the CSRs. Respondent also listened to the

enrollment calls that corresponded with the consumer complaints and noted that either

the consumer did not opt in during the call or inaccurate fee information was provided.

28. But, as the Opt-in Call Campaigns proceeded over the next several years, CSRs

continued to deviate from the script and provide consumers with incomplete,

inaccurate, or misleading information to persuade the consumers to enroll in the SAP.

29. Nevertheless, Respondent continued to use this same vendor to conduct the Opt-in Call

Campaigns on its behalf until 2014, while continuing to include financial incentives in

the vendor’s contract tied to the number of consumers the vendor enrolled in SAP, 

neglecting to properly monitor the vendor, and failing to detect widespread problems 

in the Opt-in Call Campaigns. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Violations of the Opt-In Rule’s Affirmative 
Consent Requirement 

30. In numerous instances during the Opt-in Call Campaigns, CSRs enrolled consumers in

the SAP without their consent.

31. In numerous instances, the CSRs did not ask the consumers if they wanted to opt-in.

Instead, the CSRs gave consumers a brief description of the product and then had the

consumers verify the last four digits of their social security numbers, which was the

standard enrollment confirmation practice.

32. For example, the following exchange between a CSR and a consumer resulted in a

consumer being enrolled:

CSR: We have noticed that you have not enrolled in Santander Account Protector
service. This is a free service that allows us to apply our standard overdraft practices for
ATM and debit card transactions. So generally, this means that we may pay ATM and
one time debit card purchases, even if they overdraw your account, and charge you
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overdraft fees. And if you are not enrolled, we typically will decline to pay these 
transactions for you. So, you know, basically it’s a free service and, uh, we would like to 
send you out Account Protector package for your account ending in . . . . . Would that be 
OK? 
Consumer: Sure. 
CSR: OK, and what is your, uh, can you verify nothing but the last four digits of your 
social we have on file for you? 

33. In other instances, the consumers explicitly stated that they did not want to enroll in the

SAP at that time but requested information about the product. In response, the CSRs

enrolled the consumers without their consent or knowledge and told them that they

would receive information about the SAP in less than 10 business days.

34. For example, the following exchange between a CSR and a consumer resulted in a

consumer being enrolled:

Consumer: OK but that this doesn’t mean that I’m enrolling or anything right now,
right?
CSR: Yeah, no, we’re just um
Consumer: You’re just going to send me the information?
CSR: Yeah, we’re going to, yeah we’re going to send you – um – the information and like
I said you can opt out, um, you know, you know at any time by calling that 1-877-768-
2265…

35. The Opt-In Rule prohibits financial institutions from assessing a “fee or charge on a

consumer’s account for paying an ATM or one-time debit card transaction pursuant to

the institution’s overdraft service unless the institution … obtains the consumer’s

affirmative consent, or opt-in, to the institution’s payment of ATM or onetime debit card

transactions[.]” 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17(b)(1)(iii).

36. As described above, Respondent enrolled consumers into overdraft services for Covered

Transactions without first obtaining their affirmative consent.

37. When Respondent charged those consumers overdraft fees on Covered Transactions, it

was in violation of the Opt-In Rule, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693,

et seq., and § 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C § 5536(a)(1)(A).
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Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Acts or Practices Regarding Misleading 
Consumers about the Fees Associated with Opting into the SAP  

38. CSRs made misrepresentations regarding the fees the consumer would pay if the

consumer opted into the SAP.

39. In numerous calls, CSRs stated that the SAP is a free service. Often these CSRs would

later only state the fees associated with using the service in a “legal disclosure,” which

was generally read at the end of the call, often quickly, after the consumer consented to

enrollment.

40. In numerous calls, CSRs reinforced the impression that the SAP is free by telling

consumers “This is not a sales call.”

41. However, the CSRs were selling Santander’s overdraft service to consumers, and

consumers would ultimately be charged fees for using that service. In fact, Santander’s

own internal documents characterize these transactions as “sales.”

42. During numerous calls, CSRs failed to inform consumers that, in addition to the initial

$35 fee, Respondent would charge consumers an additional $35 fee on the sixth

business day of any remaining unpaid balance.

43. During numerous calls, CSRs directly stated or implied that the initial $35 fee was the

only fee charged for an overdraft.

44. For example, a CSR answered a consumer’s question about whether there is a cost for

the SAP as follows:

CSR: There is no monthly or annual fee and even after you do over, um, overdraw your
account, and then there’s – that’s the only time there’s a fee of $35 and even if it takes
you a while to pay it up, it’s only that $35 that you’ll ever have to pay. There’s no other
fees after that.

45. During numerous calls, CSRs directly stated or implied that the only charge was a $35

fee on the sixth business day.
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46. For example, a CSR responded to a consumer’s statement that he or she did not want to

pay $35 as follows:

CSR: Well, you won't have to pay [the $35 fee] ma’am unless you overdraft your account
and that is still not due until the sixth business day.

47. During numerous other calls, CSRs directly stated or implied that Santander would not

charge any overdraft fees at all if consumers repaid the overdraft within five business

days.

48. For example, a CSR made the following statement to a consumer who later agreed to opt

in:

CSR: There is no monthly or annual fee to have this service and you would only incur
the fee if you ever overdraw your account. Would this be something you’d be interested
in having? Basically, if you need to overdraw your account, you can. There’s a $35
transaction fee on the sixth business day. If you pay it back within six business days, we
don’t charge you anything.

49. In reality, Respondent charged consumers $35 for each overdraft and, after five

consecutive business days of unpaid balance, an additional $35.

50. In numerous instances, CSRs directly stated or implied that overdraft services provide a

benefit in emergency situations and that non-emergency charges would not result in

overdraft fees. In reality, consumers could incur overdraft fees regardless of whether the

transaction was for an emergency or non-emergency situation.

51. As described above, in connection with offering or providing consumer financial

products or services, Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by

implication, that consumers who enrolled in the SAP:

a. would not have to pay for the service;

b. would only be charged one $35 fee, either at the time of the overdraft or on the sixth

day after the overdraft;
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c. would not be charged an overdraft fee at all if the overdraft was repaid within five

business days; and

d. would only be charged an overdraft fee if the consumer was in an emergency

situation.

52. In truth and in fact:

a. consumers incurred fees by using Santander’s overdraft service;

b. consumers could be charged two $35 fees for an overdraft, one at the time of the

overdraft and a second on the sixth business day after the overdraft if the account was

still overdrawn;

c. consumers were charged an overdraft fee at the time of the overdraft regardless of

whether they repaid it within five business days; and

d. consumers were charged an overdraft fee regardless of whether the transaction

involved an emergency situation.

53. Therefore, Respondent’s representations described above are false and misleading, and

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and

5536(a)(1)(B).

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Acts or Practices Regarding Misleading 
Consumers about the Consequences of Not Opting into the SAP  

54. CSRs made misrepresentations about the consequences of not opting in to the SAP:

a. In numerous calls, CSRs told consumers that they would be charged overdraft fees on

Covered Transactions even if they did not enroll in the SAP.

b. In numerous calls, CSRs told consumers that they would be subject to daily

transaction and transfer fees in addition to the overdraft fees. CSRs further implied

that these additional fees did not apply to consumers enrolled in the SAP.
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55. For example, one CSR made the following statement to a consumer who later agreed to

opt in:

CSR: Now if you are not reenrolled or enrolled into the SAP what’s going to happen 
is you’re going to get hit with fees, I mean, all over the place from individually $35 
overdraft fee, um, transaction and also maybe transfer fees may apply… 

56. To the contrary, declining the SAP did not expose consumers to any additional fees.

57. In connection with offering or providing consumer financial products or services,

Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that

consumers would be charged overdraft on Covered Transactions and certain additional

fees even if they did not opt in to Santander’s overdraft services.

58. In truth and in fact, consumers would not be charged overdraft fees on Covered

Transactions or the additional fees if they did not opt-in to Santander’s overdraft

services.

59. Therefore, Respondent’s representations, as set forth above, are false and misleading,

and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a)

and 5536(a)(1)(B).

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Acts or Practices Regarding Misleading 
Consumers about the Nature of the Call  

60. CSRs made misrepresentations about the purpose of the call.

61. In numerous calls, CSRs told consumers “This is not a sales call.”

62. However, Santander’s internal documents characterize these transactions as “sales.” The

CSRs were selling Santander’s overdraft service to consumers, and consumers would

ultimately be charged fees for using that service.

63. In numerous calls, CSRs told consumers that the reason for the call was the

Respondent’s name change from Sovereign to Santander, leading consumers to believe
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the reason they needed to opt in to the SAP was the name change. In fact, the 

Respondent needed to get these consumers to opt in because the new consumer 

protections under the Opt-In Rule mandated that it do so. 

64. For example, one CSR made the following statement: 

CSR: The reason for my call today is because, um, a lot of our customers were enrolled 
in the account protector whenever the bank was Sovereign and now that we’ve switched 
the name to Santander we just wanted to call the customers and make sure they wanted 
to be enrolled before we actually enrolled them. 

65. In numerous calls, CSRs told consumers that the reason for the call was to reenroll the 

consumers into the SAP when these consumers had not previously been enrolled in the 

SAP.  

66. In connection with offering or providing consumer financial products or services, 

Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that:  

a. Santander was not trying to sell anything to consumers;  

b. Santander was inquiring about consumers’ opt-in status because the bank changed its 

name from Sovereign to Santander; and 

c. Santander was attempting to reenroll the consumers in the SAP.  

67. In truth and in fact: 

a. Santander was selling its overdraft service, the SAP, to consumers, and consumers 

would be charged fees for using that service; 

b. Santander was trying to market its overdraft service, the SAP, to consumers because 

the consumers were not currently opted in, and the fact that the bank had changed its 

name was irrelevant; and 

c. the consumers had not previously opted in to Santander’s overdraft service and thus 

the call was not to reenroll the consumers in the SAP. 
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68. Therefore, Respondent’s representations, as set forth above, are false and misleading, 

and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) 

and 5536(a)(1)(B).  

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Acts or Practices Regarding 
Transactions Covered by the SAP 

69. In numerous calls, such as in the examples below, CSRs misrepresented the type of 

transactions that were covered by the SAP. CSRs repeatedly told consumers that the 

SAP also covered checks. However, the SAP was limited to Covered Transactions. 

70. For example, a CSR had the following exchange with a consumer: 

Consumer: What about, what about my checks? I write checks a lot. What about 
that? 
CSR: The checks are included too. Because they say, if we charge – we would 
charge you that overdraft fee of $35 for any transaction that is including checks. 
So if you would have a check that you forgot about that went through, that’s 
another good example because if you have a check that came through, instead of 
sending that check back to whoever you wrote it for, we’re going to go ahead and 
pay the check. We’re going to charge you the overdraft fee but instead of sending 
it back to whoever you wrote that check to and you having two charges because 
probably the bank is going to charge you too and whoever you wrote that check to 
is going to charge you. So now the bank is going to pay that for you and you’re 
just going to owe them and not two different people. 

71. CSRs also told consumers that other non-Covered Transactions, such as bill pay, were 

covered by the SAP, as seen in the following exchange: 

Consumer: Now does that also include the bill pay, like if I have a scheduled bill 
pay to go through on a specific date? 
CSR: Yes sir. Any type of transaction on your account. 
Consumer: OK. Great. 

72. Respondent automatically provided overdraft services for checks and bill pay and could 

not lawfully condition the payment of checks or bill pay overdrafts on consumers 

affirmatively consenting to the SAP. 
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73. In connection with offering or providing consumer financial products or services,

Respondent represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that

overdrafts for checks and bill-pay transactions would be covered by Santander’s

overdraft service, the SAP.

74. In truth and in fact, the SAP only covers overdrafts from ATM and one-time debit card

transactions, not from checks and bill-pay transactions.

75. Therefore, Respondent’s representations as set forth above are false and misleading,

and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a)

and 5536(a)(1)(B).

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

76. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have actual

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate the

Opt-In Rule or sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, and

must take the following affirmative actions:

a. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must ensure

that Respondent’s presentation of the Opt-In election to consumers satisfies the

requirements of Regulation E.
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b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly:

i. the terms and conditions of Overdraft Service for Covered Transactions;

ii. the categories of transactions covered by Overdraft Service;

iii. the risks and costs associated with Opting In;

iv. the risks and costs associated with not Opting In;

v. the fees associated with Opting In;

vi. the nature of any sales or enrollment call for Overdraft Service; or

vii. any other term material to the Opt-In election.

c. Within 90 days after receipt of the non-objection described in subparagraph ii below,

Respondent shall provide all consumers who, based on a full review by Respondent of

its records, were enrolled in the SAP through the Opt-in Call Campaigns an

opportunity to validate their opt-in decisions (Validation). In order to validate an opt-

in decision, Respondent must obtain the consumers’ affirmative consent to

Respondent’s payment of Covered Transactions. No later than 90 days after receipt of

the non-objection described in subparagraph ii below, Respondent must cease

charging Covered Overdraft Fees on all Accounts for which Validation is required but

has not been obtained, unless the consumer affirmatively contacts Respondent to

Opt-In. Validation shall be subject to the following requirements:

i. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive plan

for obtaining Validation from consumers (Validation Process). The plan must

include the communication channels and methods the Bank proposes using to
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complete the Validation Process as well as any scripts, internal guidance for 

communicating with consumers, letters, or direct marketing materials to be 

used in the Validation Process. At a minimum, the Validation Process shall 

include (a) a balanced presentation of the risks and benefits of Overdraft 

Service for Covered Transactions; and (b) an explanation of how the consumer’s 

Overdraft Service will change in the event the consumer declines to validate his 

or her opt-in decision. Respondent shall not use a Service Provider to 

communicate with consumers as part of the Validation Process. Mailing a 

document that was written and approved by the Respondent shall not be 

considered communication with consumers under this section.   

ii. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Validation Process or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Validation Process, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Validation Process to 

the Regional Director within 15 days. 

iii. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Validation Process, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and 

timeframes outlined in the Validation Process.   

d. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, is prohibited from using a Service 

Provider to engage in any outbound telemarketing of Overdraft Services for Covered 

Transactions to consumers. Nothing in this Order shall be read as an exception to this 

Paragraph. 
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e. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not (i) 

require its employees to generate a specific number of opt-ins; (ii) cause any 

employee to suffer adverse consequences for failing to satisfy any such requirement; 

or (iii) provide employees financial incentives in connection with opt-ins. 

f. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must develop a new or revised 

written policy governing vendor management for Service Providers engaged in 

telemarketing of consumer financial products or services. After receiving the Regional 

Director’s determination of non-objection described in Section VI, the Respondent 

shall implement this new or revised vendor management policy according the 

timelines and deadlines set forth in the Compliance Plan. The policy shall require, at a 

minimum: 

i. An analysis to be conducted by Respondent, prior to Respondent entering into 

a contract with a Service Provider relating to the offering or providing of a 

consumer financial product or service via telemarketing, of the ability of the 

Service Provider to perform telemarketing of the product or service in 

compliance with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

Respondent’s policies and procedures. 

ii. For new and renewed contracts to perform telemarketing of consumer 

financial products or services, a written contract between Respondent and the 

Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities of each party, especially: 
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a) the Service Provider’s specific performance responsibilities and duty to

maintain adequate internal controls over telemarketing of the

consumer financial product or service;

b) the Service Provider’s responsibilities and duty to provide adequate

training on applicable Federal consumer financial laws and

Respondent’s policies and procedures to all Service Provider employees

or agents engaged in telemarketing of the consumer financial product

or service;

c) granting Respondent the authority to conduct periodic onsite reviews

of the Service Provider’s controls, performance, and information

systems as they relate to telemarketing of the consumer financial

product or service; this authority must permit Respondent or a third

party agent of the Respondent, who is not affiliated with the

contracting Service Provider, to conduct unannounced live auditing of

calls made for Santander by Service Providers performing outbound

telemarketing of consumer financial products or services; and

d) Respondent’s right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the contract,

including the terms required by this Paragraph or applicable provision

of this Order.

iii. Periodic onsite reviews by Respondent or a third party agent of the

Respondent, who is not affiliated with the contracting Service Provider, of the

controls, performance, and information systems of any Service Provider

providing outbound telemarketing of consumer financial products or services.
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iv. Auditing of the Service Provider’s telemarketing sales calls, including but not 

limited to unannounced live listening of sales calls and randomly reviewing a 

representative number of the recently recorded sales calls. 

v. A written comprehensive assessment, to be conducted on an annual basis, of 

the unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or practices (“UDAAP”) risk for existing, 

new, and recently modified consumer financial products or services as to 

which Service Providers engage in telemarketing, including, but not limited to 

the UDAAP risk of the governance control, marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and fulfillment of services for existing or new such consumer 

financial products or services, including the UDAAP risk of marketing and 

sales practices. 

vi. The development and implementation of written policies and procedures to 

effectively manage, detect, and mitigate, on an ongoing basis, the risks 

identified in the written assessment required by the preceding subparagraph v. 

vii. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and reporting 

any violation of Federal consumer financial laws or Respondent’s policies and 

procedures relating to consumer financial products or services by Service 

Providers’ employees or agents engaging in telemarketing, in a timely manner, 

to a specified executive risk or compliance manager at Respondent. The 

manager to whom such reports are made must be independent of the unit 

overseeing the sale and marketing of the consumer financial product or service 

at issue. 

viii. Comprehensive written policies and procedures for the development of 

training materials relating to identifying and addressing violations of Federal 
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consumer financial laws relating to telemarketing by Service Providers of 

consumer financial products or services that will be incorporated into the 

existing annual compliance training for appropriate employees. 

ix. Written policies and procedures to ensure that the appropriate employees and

departments within Respondent have the requisite authority and status within

Respondent so that appropriate reviews of consumer financial products or

services marketed or sold by Service Providers via telemarketing may occur

and deficiencies are identified and properly remedied.

g. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must develop a new or revised

written policy governing the management of consumer complaints. After receiving

the Regional Director’s determination of non-objection described in Section VI, the

Respondent shall implement this new or revised policy governing the management of

consumer complaints according the timelines and deadlines set forth in the

Compliance Plan. The policy shall require Service Providers marketing Overdraft

Services for Covered Transactions to provide any consumer complaints they receive to

Santander, and shall require, at a minimum:

i. the maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic

complaints from consumers, formal or informal, received by Respondent and

its Service Providers and the resolution of the complaints, and

ii. the designation of appropriate personnel as responsible for overseeing the

consumer complaint management program, which will include: (a) writing and

revising policies and procedures as necessary, (b) reviewing all consumer

complaints, including those regarding Service Providers, (c) analyzing

consumer complaint data to determine if there exist any patterns of complaints

2016-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 07/14/2016     Page22 of 33



caused by common policies, procedures, individuals, or Service Providers, and 

(d) if so, making recommendations to eliminate or reduce the number of

complaints. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director

for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan

designed to ensure that Respondent’s presentation of the Opt-In election complies with

all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order

(Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by Section V of this Consent Order;

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described above.

78. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection

to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director

directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must make the

revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 30 days.

79. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the

steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan.

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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80. The Board or a committee thereof must review all submissions (including plans, reports,

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission

to the Bureau.

81. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain documents for

the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the ultimate

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for ensuring that

Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order.

82. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or

perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board or a committee thereof must:

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with the

Consent Order;

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of compliance

obligations; and

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with Board directives related to this Section.

VIII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

83. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in

12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $10 million to the

Bureau.

2016-CFPB-0012     Document 1     Filed 07/14/2016     Page24 of 33



84. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions.  

85. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

86. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any 

civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with 

regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

87. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent 

benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary remedies imposed in 

the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action 

(Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty 

Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty 

Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. 

Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not 

change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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88. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and

will immediately become due and payable.

89. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent.

90. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting

and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.

91. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the

amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and

describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will

be paid.

IX 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

92. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution,

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in
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Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at 

least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development.   

93. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date,

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written compliance

progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the Board or a

committee thereof, which, at a minimum:

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with this

Order; and

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section X, unless

previously submitted to the Bureau.

X 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

94. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers or

Service Providers who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent

Order and employees or agents whose responsibilities include managing, overseeing, or

negotiating contracts with Service Providers engaged in telemarketing.

95. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in

Section IX, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any

managers, or Service Providers who will have responsibilities related to the subject

matter of the Consent Order and employees or agents whose responsibilities include
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managing, overseeing, or negotiating contracts with Service Providers engaged in 

telemarketing before they assume their responsibilities.  

96. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy

of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of delivery, from

all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.

XI 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

97. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from the

Effective Date, the following business records:

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau.

b. Copies of all telemarketing calls; sales scripts; training materials; advertisements;

websites; and other marketing materials relating to the Opt-In Rule.

c. All written records of consumer complaints and refund requests, and any responses

to those complaints or requests, that are recorded and tracked by Respondent in

accordance with Respondent’s policies, whether received directly or indirectly, that

relate to overdraft fees charged on Covered Transactions.

98. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 97 available to the Bureau

upon the Bureau’s request.

XII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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99. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent

Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Santander Bank, N.A., File No. 2016-

CFPB-0012,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov:

Regional Director, CFPB Northeast Region 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, NY 10017 

XIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

100. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any investigation

related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. Respondent must

provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony. Respondent must

cause its officers, employees, representatives, or agents to appear for interviews,

discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably

request upon 5 days’ written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times

as the Bureau may designate, without the service of compulsory process.

XIV 

Compliance Monitoring 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

101. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

102. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

103. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

104. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

105. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any 

such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  

XVI 

Administrative Provisions 
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106. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 

or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent, 

except as described in Paragraph 107. 

107. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described 

in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 

may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions 

against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern 

or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of 

the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek 

penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

108. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order 

issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

109. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from the 

most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of the Consent 

Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant adjudicative body rules 

that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent Order, and the dismissal 

or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the Consent Order will 

terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent Order will remain 

effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any provisions of this 
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Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the 

Bureau or its designated agent. 

110. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted.  

111. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are subject 

to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the written 

agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable provisions of this 

Consent Order. 

112. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil 

money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

113. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. 

This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or 

written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

114. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this 13th day of July, 2016. 

1 A/k144,.0-
a4-611/Richard Cordray 

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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Consumer Financii 
Protection Bureau 

.64 Press Release 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Orders Santander 
Bank to Pay $10 Million Fine for Illegal Overdraft Practices 

Bank Deceptively Marketed Its Overdraft Service to Consumers, Violated "Opt-in" Rule 

JUL 14, 2016 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) has ordered 
Santander Bank, N.A. to pay a $10 million fine for illegal overdraft service practices. 
Santander's telemarketing vendor deceptively marketed the overdraft service and signed 
certain bank customers up for the service without their consent. In addition to paying the 
civil money penalty to the CFPB, Santander Bank must go back and give consumers the 
opportunity to provide their affirmative consent to overdraft service, not use a vendor to 
telemarket its overdraft service, and it must increase oversight of vendors it uses to 
telemarket consumer financial products or services. 

"Santander tricked consumers into signing up for an overdraft service they didn't want and 
charged them fees," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "Santander's telemarketer used 
deceptive sales pitches to mislead customers into enrolling in overdraft service. We will put 
a stop to any such unlawful practices that harm consumers." 

Santander is a national bank based in Wilmington, Del. Santander Bank operates a network 
of nearly 700 retail branch offices in Connecticut, Delaware, Massachusetts, New 
Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island. Santander offers 
overdraft service with its checking accounts. An overdraft can occur when consumers spend 
or withdraw more money from their checking accounts than is available. 

From 2010 to 2014, Santander marketed and enrolled consumers in its "Account Protector" 
overdraft service for ATM and one-time debit card transactions, and charged consumers 
$35 per overdraft. Santander used a telemarketer to call consumers to persuade them to 
opt in to the overdraft service and rewarded the telemarketer with a higher hourly rate when 
it hit specified sales targets. 

In 2010, federal rules took effect prohibiting banks and credit unions from charging 
overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit card transactions unless consumers affirmatively 
opt in. If consumers don't opt in, banks may decline the transactions because of insufficient 
or unavailable funds, and can't charge an overdraft fee. 
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The Bureau found that Santander marketed its overdraft service deceptively during 
telemarketing calls and enrolled consumers in overdraft service without their consent in 
violation of the opt-in rule. For example, during numerous telemarketing calls, call 
representatives did not ask the consumers if they wanted to opt in but enrolled them 
anyway. The Bureau found Santander Bank's illegal and improper practices included: 

■ Signing consumers up for overdraft service without their consent: In some instances, 
Santander's telemarketer briefly described Account Protector to consumers, then asked 
for the last four digits of their Social Security numbers, and enrolled them without their 
consent. In other instances, consumers said they did not want to enroll but requested 
information about the overdraft service, but the telemarketer enrolled them anyway. 
When Santander charged those consumers overdraft fees on ATM and one-time debit 
card transactions, it violated the opt-in rule. 

■ Deceiving consumers that overdraft service was free: Call representatives led 
consumers to believe that Account Protector was free, when in fact it could potentially 
cost them hundreds of dollars in fees. Some call representatives falsely suggested that 
consumers would not be charged a fee if they brought their account current within five 
business days of an overdraft. Other representatives implied that consumers would be 
charged fees only for emergency transactions, and that non-emergency purchases 
would not result in fees. 

■ Deceiving consumers about the fees they would face if they did not opt in: In some 
instances, call representatives told consumers the bank would charge overdraft fees on 
ATM and one-time debit card transactions regardless of whether they signed up for 
Account Protector. In fact, Santander could not charge those fees without the 
consumer's consent. Some representatives even told consumers that they risked being 
charged additional fees if they did not sign up for Account Protector, when in fact the 
opposite was true. 

■ Falsely claiming the call was not a sales pitch: Call representatives falsely told 
consumers that "this is not a sales call" and that the reason for the call was that the bank 
had recently changed its name. In fact, the purpose of the call was to sell Account 
Protector, and Santander's name change was irrelevant. 

■ Failing to stop its telemarketer's deceptive tactics: Santander offered the telemarketer 
financial incentives to hit certain sales targets. Santander then failed to identify and stop 
the deceptive and other improper tactics that its telemarketer used to achieve those 
sales targets. 

Enforcement Action 

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has 
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
practices, or other violations of federal consumer financial law. Santander Bank violated the 
Electronic Fund Transfer Act and the Dodd-Frank Act. The CFPB's order requires that 
Santander Bank: 
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■ Validate all opt-ins associated with the telemarketer: Santander will contact all 
consumers who were enrolled in Account Protector through the bank's telemarketer, 
and ask them whether they wish to be opted in. Santander will not be able to charge 
those consumers overdraft fees unless they affirmatively consent to opting in. 

■ Not use a vendor to telemarket overdraft service: Santander is prohibited from using a 
vendor to conduct outbound telemarketing of overdraft service to consumers. 
Santander also may not require its employees to generate a target number of opt-ins or 
provide its employees with financial incentives in connection with opt-ins. 

■ Increase oversight of all third-party telemarketers: Santander will develop and 
implement a new or revised policy governing vendor management for service 
providers engaged in telemarketing of consumer financial products or services. 

■ Pay a $10 million penalty: Santander will make a $10 million penalty payment to the 
CFPB's Civil Penalty Fund. 

The full text of the CFPB's consent order is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/20160714_cfpb_Consent_Order.pdf 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.

Topics: 

. ENFORCEMENT 

• CIVIL PENALTY FUND 
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office. 
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STAY INFORMED 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0013 

In the Matter of:    CONSENT ORDER 

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed certain student loan 

servicing practices of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below) and has 

identified the following law violations: (1) unfair and deceptive practices related to payment 

allocation in violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; (2) unfair practices related to payment aggregation in 

violation of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; (3) unlawful practices 

related to payment aggregation in violation of Section 623 of the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

(FCRA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2), and Section 1022.42 of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 1022.42(a); 

and (4) unfair practices related to the assessment of late fees in violation of Sections 1031 and 

1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 

12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, and under Section 621 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1)(H).  

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order,” dated August 18, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is 

accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance 

of this Consent Order by the Bureau under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or 

conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. “Affected Consumers” means, collectively, the Grace Period Affected Consumers, 

Payment Aggregation Affected Consumers, and Payment Allocation Affected 

Consumers as defined herein. 

b. “Board” means the duly-elected and acting Board of Directors of Wells Fargo Bank, 

N.A. 

c. “Clearly and prominently” means:  
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i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words displayed on 

the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be of a type size and 

location sufficiently noticeable for an ordinary consumer to read and 

comprehend it, in print that contrasts with the background on which it 

appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means (e.g., radio 

or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a volume and 

cadence sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or 

streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form consistent with 

subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a duration sufficient for an 

ordinary consumer to read and comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the internet, 

online services, and software, the disclosure must be unavoidable and 

presented in a form consistent with subsection (i);  

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the 

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and visual 

portions of the communication; and 

vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer incurs 

any financial obligation, in an understandable language and syntax, and with 

nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in mitigation of the disclosures used 

in any communication with the consumer. 

d. “EFS” means the Respondent’s Education Financial Services line of business. 

e. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 
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f. “Eligible Payment” means a payment on a student loan account that is sufficient to 

satisfy the scheduled payment amount due for a billing cycle. 

g. “Grace Period” means the allotted time period following the monthly payment due 

date, as defined under the terms of the loan’s promissory note, during which a 

consumer who is past due on the loan will not incur a late fee if the consumer pays 

the past due amount within that allotted time period. 

h. “Grouped Account” means a student loan account serviced by Respondent 

containing two or more student loans with the same monthly due date in repayment 

status, for which the consumer receives a single billing statement. 

i. “Grace Period Affected Consumers” means any consumer who incurred a late fee 

that was not refunded or waived on a student loan despite making a payment 

sufficient to bring the account current within the Grace Period at any time between 

January 1, 2010 and May 31, 2013. 

j. “Overpayment” means a payment towards a student loan account that is more than 

the total amount due for that billing cycle, except when such payment is an exact 

multiple of the consumer’s regular monthly payment amount. 

k. “Partial Payment” means a payment towards a student loan account that is less than 

the scheduled payment amount due for that billing cycle.   

l. “Payment Aggregation Affected Consumers” means any consumer who between 

February 17, 2010 and December 11, 2011 incurred a late fee that was never refunded 

or waived and/or for whom Respondent furnished credit information to consumer 

reporting agencies that was never corrected or updated despite either: (i) making 

multiple Partial Payments within a single billing cycle that, when or if combined, 

constituted or would have constituted an Eligible Payment for the consumer’s 
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student loan account; or (ii) making Overpayments and Partial Payments over 

multiple billing cycles that, when combined, constituted an Eligible Payment for the 

consumer’s student loan account.  

m. “Payment Allocation Affected Consumers” means any consumer with a Grouped 

Account who at any time between January 1, 2010 and August 31, 2012, (i) made one 

or more Partial Payments toward the Grouped Account; (ii) whose payment(s) was 

sufficient to constitute an Eligible Payment, inclusive of any amount in arrears, for 

at least one loan in the Grouped Account; (iii) did not designate how such Partial 

Payments should be allocated among the loans in the Grouped Account; and (iv) was 

charged more than one late fee. 

n. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the West Region for the Office 

of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her delegate. 

o. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one or more 

consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency brought 

against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as described in Section IV 

of this Consent Order. 

p. “Respondent” means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and its successors and assigns. 

q. “Service Provider” shall have the meaning set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

r. "Student Loan File" means (i) a schedule of all transactions credited or debited to 

the student loan account; (ii) a copy of the consumer credit agreement evidencing 

the student loan; (iii) any notes created by Respondent personnel reflecting 

communications with the borrower about the servicing of the student loan account; 

(iv) copies of all written communications with the borrower about the servicing of 
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the student loan account; and (v) the data fields in Respondent's electronic student 

loan servicing system relating to the borrower’s student loan accounts. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent, which is a national bank headquartered in Sioux Falls, South Dakota, is an 

insured depository institution with assets greater than $10,000,000 within the meaning 

of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

5. Respondent is the second-largest private student lender in the United States. EFS is a 

division of Respondent that bears responsibility for Respondent’s student lending 

operations. Currently serving approximately 1.3 million consumers in all 50 states, EFS 

both originates and services private student loans.  

6. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Payment Allocation Practices 

7. Prior to 1999, Respondent required consumers to send each payment toward their 

private student loans with a separate payment coupon for each loan. In 1999, however, 

to consolidate the monthly billing process, Respondent began generally grouping 

together consumers’ student loans serviced on one of its proprietary servicing platforms 

when they had the same monthly due date. From 1999 through at least the date of this 

Consent Order, Respondent provided consumers a monthly billing statement which 

grouped all qualifying loans and therefore included a single payment coupon for all the 

loans in the Grouped Account.  
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8. The first page of Respondent’s grouped billing statement disclosed the aggregate 

“current payment due” for all the loans in the consumer’s Grouped Account.   

9. On the second page of the billing statement, Respondent provided consumers a “loan 

detail sheet” that separately identified each loan in the Grouped Account and displayed 

the “payment amount” for each loan.  

10. Pursuant to consumers’ loan agreements, Respondent could assess late fees on 

consumers who did not make their full monthly payment, inclusive of any amount in 

arrears. Even though Respondent combined loans in the grouped billing account and 

disclosed a single “current payment due” each month, it charged late fees at the 

individual loan level because each loan remained a separate debt obligation subject to its 

loan agreement.  

11. Each of a consumer’s loans was assigned to one of six possible late fee structures, 

depending on a consumer’s initial loan agreement. Four of the six late fee structures 

charged consumers a late fee amounting to the greater of 5% of the monthly payment 

amount charged or a minimum late fee (ranging up to $28); the other two late fees 

structures imposed either a flat fee or a percentage fee that amounted to the lesser of 5% 

or $5. In November 2011, Respondent established a maximum monthly late fee per loan 

of $28 for student loans that previously did not have a late fee limit. 

12. Respondent accepted Partial Payments and applied such payments to consumers’ 

accounts; however Respondent provided limited information about the potential 

consequences of making a Partial Payment. Prior to November 2011, the billing 

statement provided the following disclaimer to consumers related to Partial Payments: 
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“A partial payment (an amount less than your Current Payment Amount) will not 

advance your next payment due date.”  

13. Beginning in or around November 2011, Respondent modified the first page of its billing 

statement to make the following disclaimer about Partial Payments: “Paying less than 

what’s due? The minimum required payments must be received in full each month, in 

order to advance your next payment due date and protect your good credit.” 

14. Neither of these disclaimers stated that consumers could advance the next payment due 

date for any loan in their Grouped Account by making an Eligible Payment for that loan 

and directing Respondent to allocate the payment to that loan. 

15. Moreover, Respondent did not disclose its methodology for allocating Partial Payments 

among loans in a Grouped Account.  

16. Beginning at least January 1, 2010 through August 31, 2012, in the absence of consumer 

instructions, Respondent allocated Partial Payments across all loans in a Grouped 

Account as follows: 

a. Payment was first allocated proportionally to any delinquent loans in the billing 

group to bring those loans as current as possible;  

b. If the loans for a consumer were all current, then payment was allocated 

proportionally (based off the scheduled monthly payment amount) across the loans. 

17. Respondent used the payment allocation methodology described in the preceding 

Paragraph for all consumers who did not designate the manner in which their Partial 

Payment should be allocated among the loans in their Grouped Account, even when 

consumers made a Partial Payment that was sufficient to satisfy at least one of the loans 

in the Grouped Account. As a result, Respondent’s allocation of a Partial Payment 

proportionally to all loans in the account sometimes caused consumers’ payments to 
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satisfy fewer, if any, of the loan amounts due in the account than if the Partial Payment 

had been allocated in a manner that satisfied as many of the loan amounts as possible.  

18. Respondent assessed a late fee for each loan where the consumer failed to satisfy the 

monthly payment due, including any amount in arrears, and reported the loan as 

delinquent to the consumer reporting agencies if it were more than 30 days delinquent 

at the end of the month. 

19. As noted above in Paragraph 15, none of Respondent’s promissory notes, loan 

disclosures, billing statements, or printed, electronic, or online resources available to 

consumers or cosigners disclosed the payment allocation methodology used by 

Respondent when a consumer made a Partial Payment.   

20. Moreover, Respondent did not disclose to consumers that they were entitled to direct 

payment to any of the individual loans in the account on the billing statement, loan 

detail sheet, or otherwise.  

Unfair Acts and Practices 

21. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits unfair acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

22. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it (a) causes or is likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury; (b) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (c) 

such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

23. Respondent’s failure to disclose its payment allocation methodology to consumers and 

the ability to provide payment instructions on how to allocate payments, while 

allocating Partial Payments towards Grouped Accounts in a manner that maximized late 

fees incurred by many consumers, caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 
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consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by countervailing benefits 

to consumers or to competition. 

24. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c)(1). 

Deceptive Acts and Practices 

25. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits deceptive acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

26. An act or practice is considered “deceptive” under the CFPA if it (a) misleads or is likely 

to mislead the consumer; (b) the consumer’s interpretation of the act or practice is 

reasonable under the circumstances; and (c) the misleading act or practice is material. 

27. As described in Paragraphs 12 and 13, Respondent represented, on its billing 

statements, that a consumer’s student loans would not be advanced if the consumer 

made a Partial Payment for the consumer’s Grouped Account.   

28. In reality, if a consumer made a Partial Payment that was sufficient to cover at least one 

of the loans in the consumer’s Grouped Account, and directed Respondent to allocate 

that payment to that loan, then Respondent would advance the next payment due for 

that loan, and would also not assess a late fee, provided that the applicable payment also 

covered any amount in arrears. Respondent’s failure to disclose these facts, in light of 

the representations made, was material and likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. 

29. Thus, Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Payment Aggregation 

Practices 

30. As described earlier, Respondent accepted consumers’ Partial Payments and applied 

such payments to their student loan account.  

31. Respondent also accepted consumers’ Overpayments and applied such payments to 

their student loan account. 

32. Until June 2000, Respondent automatically aggregated multiple Partial Payments made 

within the same billing cycle. If those Partial Payments, when combined, totaled an 

Eligible Payment for the applicable billing cycle, Respondent updated the consumer’s 

account to reflect receipt of an Eligible Payment and advanced the due date for the 

applicable loan(s). 

33. Until June 2000, Respondent also automatically aggregated Overpayments and Partial 

Payments made in prior billing cycles with subsequent Partial Payments. If the 

combined Overpayments and Partial Payments totaled an Eligible Payment for the 

applicable billing cycle, Respondent updated the consumer’s account to reflect receipt of 

an Eligible Payment and advanced the due date for the applicable loan(s). 

34. On June 22, 2000, in view of operational and customer service considerations, 

Respondent discontinued automatically aggregating payments, and began combining 

payments through a manual process.  

35. Between June 2000 and November 2011, Respondent’s principal method of manually 

aggregating payments was through the review of a daily log of Partial Payments and 

Overpayments. Specifically, Respondent generated a daily partial pay report, which was 

intended to capture student loan accounts that were delinquent and for which a Partial 

Payment was received during the current billing cycle. Respondent’s practice was to 
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combine such Partial Payments with other Partial Payments made within the same 

billing cycle, or with prior Overpayments and Partial Payments, that when combined, 

potentially constituted an Eligible Payment. When the aggregated payments summed to 

at least 95% of the monthly amount due, Respondent’s practice was to combine the 

payments, update the consumer’s account to reflect receipt of an Eligible Payment, and 

advance the due date for the applicable loan(s).  

36. In order for an account to appear on the daily partial pay report, however, certain 

conditions had to be met; and in certain cases, the system failed to include consumers 

who had made a series of intra-billing cycle Partial Payments, the sum of which totaled 

an Eligible Payment. As a result, some consumers made multiple Partial Payments 

within the same billing cycle that, when combined, constituted an Eligible Payment, yet 

still incurred  improper late fees and were reported as delinquent (if more than 30 days 

past due at the end of the month) to the consumer reporting agencies.  

37. Although Respondent’s billing statements disclosed that a Partial Payment would not 

advance the consumer’s next payment due date, this disclosure did not specify that an 

Eligible Payment had to be submitted as one single payment. 

38. Between at least February 17, 2010 and December 11, 2011, Respondent did not always 

timely or properly combine payments for student loan accounts that appeared on the 

daily partial pay report. 

39. While Respondent was required by internal policies and procedures to review the partial 

pay report on a daily basis, this requirement was not regularly achieved. In fact, while 

the median time it took to evaluate the partial pay report was five business days, in some 

instances Respondent took more than 20 business days to review the report, combine 
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the payments, update the consumer’s student loan account to reflect receipt of an 

Eligible Payment, and advance the due date for applicable loan(s). 

40. Due to the manual nature of the partial pay report procedures, in some instances, 

Respondent made errors in reviewing and processing accounts that appeared on the 

daily partial pay report. 

41. As a result, some consumers made multiple Partial Payments within the same billing 

cycle, or multiple Partial Payments and Overpayments over multiple billing cycles, that, 

when combined, constituted an Eligible Payment, yet incurred improper late fees that 

should have been subsequently waived and/or were reported as delinquent to the 

consumer reporting agencies and such reporting should have been updated at the time 

such Partial Payments were combined. 

42. During that same time period, Respondent lacked any procedure to update or correct 

inaccurate information furnished to consumer reporting agencies about consumers who 

had made payments that matched the scenario described in Paragraph 41. 

43. As a result, once Respondent reviewed the report, combined the payments, and updated 

the consumer’s student loan account to reflect receipt of an Eligible Payment, the Bank 

failed to also update or correct the information it had previously furnished to consumer 

reporting agencies about consumers described in Paragraph 41. 

Unfair Acts and Practices 

44. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits unfair acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

45. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it (a) causes or is likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury; (b) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (c) 
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such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

46. Respondent’s failure to aggregate multiple Partial Payments submitted by consumers 

within the same billing cycle, where the payments, if aggregated, would have satisfied 

the total amount due for that loan’s billing cycle, and its failure to refund or waive any 

resulting improper late fees assessed, caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers. The injury was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by countervailing 

benefits to consumers or to competition. 

47. Similarly, Respondent’s failure to update or correct inaccurate credit reports for 

consumers who submitted multiple Partial Payments and Overpayments that, when 

they were aggregated in accordance with Respondent’s internal policies and procedures, 

constituted an Eligible Payment, and whose student loan accounts, as a result of such 

aggregation, reflected receipt of an Eligible Payment, also caused or was likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

48. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c)(1). 

Failure to Correct Inaccurate Credit Reporting 

49. Section 1681s-2(a)(2)(A)-(B) of the FCRA requires a person who “regularly and in the 

ordinary course of business” furnishes information to a consumer reporting agency 

about its “transactions or experiences with any consumer” to promptly notify the 

consumer reporting agency that the person has furnished information that it has 

determined is not complete or accurate, and to provide any corrections or additional 
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information necessary to make the information provided by the person to the consumer 

reporting agency complete and accurate. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2)(A)-(B).  

50. Respondent reported to consumer reporting agencies that certain consumers were 

delinquent on their loans when, in fact, the consumers had satisfied their obligations 

through multiple Partial Payments before the end of their Grace Period and within the 

same billing cycle on their loans that Respondent did not aggregate or timely aggregate 

in accordance with its internal policies and procedures.  

51. Respondent also reported to consumer reporting agencies that consumers were 

delinquent on their loans when, in fact, pursuant to Respondent’s payment aggregation 

policies and procedures, the consumers had satisfied their obligations through a 

combination of prior Overpayments and subsequent Partial Payments over multiple 

billing cycles that Respondent failed to timely aggregate in accordance with such 

internal policies and procedures. 

52. Thereafter, Respondent failed to promptly revise or provide additional information to 

the consumer reporting agencies after updating the consumer’s student loan account to 

reflect that the consumer had submitted an Eligible Payment. 

53. Thus, Respondent violated section 623(a)(2)(A)-(B) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C . § 1681s-

2(a)(2)(A)-(B). 

Failure to Establish Written Furnishing Policies and Procedures 

54. Section 1022.42(a) of Regulation V requires a furnisher of information to the consumer 

reporting agencies to “establish and implement reasonable written policies and 

procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the information relating to 

consumers that it furnishes to a consumer reporting agency.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 
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The policies and procedures “must be appropriate to the nature, size, complexity, and 

scope of each furnisher's activities.” 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

55. A “furnisher” is an entity that “furnishes information relating to consumers to one or 

more consumer reporting agencies for inclusion in a consumer report.” 12 C.F.R. § 

1022.41(c). 

56. As a student loan servicer, Respondent routinely furnished information about 

consumers’ performance on loans to one or more consumer reporting agencies, but 

failed to establish and implement reasonable written policies and procedures that would 

ensure the updating of prior reporting with respect to Partial Payments made within the 

same billing cycle, or Partial Payments made with prior Overpayments and Partial 

Payments across multiple billing cycles, that if aggregated pursuant to Respondent’s 

payment aggregation policies and procedures would have constituted an Eligible 

Payment. 

57. Thus, Respondent violated Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 

 Findings and Conclusions as to Respondent’s Late Fee Assessment Practices 

58. Promissory notes for student loans serviced by Respondent generally provide for a 

Grace Period, during which time a consumer who is past due on a student loan will not 

incur a late fee so long as the payment is made during the allotted period of time. The 

Grace Period generally ranges from 10 to 16 days, and is set forth in the relevant 

promissory note. 

59. Until at least May 31, 2013, Respondent generated a daily late fee monitoring report 

which was intended to capture student loan accounts where a late fee was assessed with 

respect to a payment made with an effective date within the Grace Period. Respondent’s 

payment processors used the daily late fee monitoring report to identify accounts where 
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it assessed the consumer an improper fee under this scenario and to manually remove 

such fees from those accounts.  

60. Between at least January 1, 2010 and May 31, 2013, however, a system coding error 

caused the daily late fee monitoring report to omit student loan accounts for consumers 

who made an Eligible Payment, inclusive of any amount in arrears, on the last day of 

their applicable Grace Period. This system coding error was brought to the Bureau’s 

attention by Respondent. 

61. Respondent assessed late fees on the accounts of consumers affected by this system 

coding error even though the consumer made an Eligible Payment within his or her 

Grace Period. Those fees were not subsequently waived or refunded by Respondent. As a 

consequence, some consumers paid late fees that were not owed by the consumer. 

Unfair Acts and Practices 

62. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits unfair acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(B).  

63. An act or practice is unfair under the CFPA if it (a) causes or is likely to cause consumers 

substantial injury; (b) such injury is not reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (c) 

such injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 

12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

64. Respondent’s above-described assessment of late fees for consumers who made an 

Eligible Payment inclusive of arrears on the last day of the Grace Period for their student 

loan(s) caused substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.  

65. Thus, Respondent engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of sections 

1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B) and 5531(c)(1). 

2016-CFPB-0013     Document 1     Filed 08/22/2016     Page 17 of 34



ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

Order to Cease and Desist and to Take Other Affirmative Action 

 IT IS ORDERED, under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

66. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, and employees who have actual notice of 

this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate Sections 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536; Section 623 of the Fair Credit Reporting 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2); and Section 1022.42 of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. 

1022.42(a), as follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Pursuant to the timetable set forth in the Compliance Plan required by this Consent 

Order: 

i. Adopt and implement reasonable written policies and procedures concerning 

the accuracy and integrity of information concerning student loan accounts 

that Respondent furnishes to consumer reporting agencies. 

ii. On or with all Repayment Schedules provided to a consumer before billing 

statements are sent on a grouping of a consumer's loans: 

a. A statement that Respondent will accept Partial Payments; 

b. An explanation of how Partial Payments will be allocated to any or all 

of the loans in the Grouped Account in the absence of consumer 

instruction, along with illustrative examples and a description of the 

potential consequences; and 
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c. A statement that the consumer may direct payments to any of the loans 

in the consumer’s Grouped Account, with clear instructions on how to 

do so, along with illustrative examples and a description of the 

potential consequences. 

iii. On or with all billing statements provided to a consumer during the time 

period that a loan is in repayment and on applicable borrower-facing web 

pages: 

a. Clearly and prominently disclose the basic principles of Respondent’s 

payment application and allocation methodologies, including with 

respect to Partial Payments; 

b. Provide a statement that a consumer can direct payments to any of the 

loans in the consumer’s Grouped Account, along with instructions on 

how to do so and a description of the potential consequences. 

b. Pursuant to the timetable set forth in the Compliance Plan required by this Consent 

Order: 

i. Submit changes to remove any negative student loan information that has 

been furnished inaccurately or incompletely to a consumer reporting agency 

about Payment Aggregation Affected Consumers.  

ii. For each Payment Aggregation Affected Consumer, send a notice to such 

consumer notifying them of at least the following: 

a. Respondent may have provided inaccurate information about the 

consumer to a consumer reporting agency; 

b. As a result of those inaccuracies, Respondent is the subject of a 

Consent Order by the Bureau; 
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c. The inaccuracies, prior to correction, may have had an adverse effect 

on the consumer’s credit; and 

d. That Respondent recently submitted to the major credit bureaus a 

request to replace all potentially affected reporting instances on the 

consumer’s credit reports with a “D” code, which is defined as “No 

payment history available this month.” 

c. Respondent represents that since at least August 31, 2012, it has, and will continue 

to do, the following: 

i. Allow all consumers to direct payments to any of the loans in the consumer’s 

Grouped Account. 

ii. Unless otherwise directed by a consumer to allocate a Partial Payment in a 

specific manner, allocate Partial Payments for consumers with a Grouped 

Account where all loans are current in a manner so as to maximize the 

number of loans within the Grouped Account on which a full payment can be 

made. 

iii. Comply with all practicable consumer and cosigner instructions related to 

allocation of payments pertaining to a Grouped Account. 

d. Respondent represents that since at least December 11, 2011, it has, and will 

continue to promptly apply and aggregate Partial Payments made within a single 

billing cycle, and to the extent such Partial Payments constitute an Eligible Payment, 

advance the due date. 

e. Respondent represents that since at least June 1, 2013, it has not assessed late fees in 

the manner described in Paragraph 61, and will continue not to so assess such fees 

for an Eligible Payment made during the Grace Period, when the relevant promissory 
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note provides for a Grace Period, provided such Eligible Payment also satisfies any 

amount in arrears.  

VI 

Compliance Plan  

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:   

67. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director 

for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive compliance plan 

designed to ensure that Respondent’s student loan payment aggregation, payment 

allocation, and grace period late fee practices comply with all applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The 

Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum:  

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; and 

b. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described above. 

68. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-objection 

to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director 

directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must make the 

revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional Director within 45 days. 

69. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the 

steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Compliance Plan. 
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VII 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

70. The Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, must review all submissions (including 

plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior 

to submission to the Bureau.  

71. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents for the 

review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the ultimate 

responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for ensuring that 

Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this Consent Order. 

72. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence to, or 

perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a relevant Committee thereof, 

must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with the 

Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of compliance 

obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress  

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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73. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $410,000, for the amount of 

consumer injury caused by the practices described in Section IV, for the purpose of 

providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. At a minimum, 

redress will consist of: 

a. A full refund of all late fees in excess of one late fee per billing cycle paid by Payment 

Allocation Affected Consumers between January 1, 2010 and August 31, 2012 related 

to Respondent’s unlawful payment allocation practices, as well as interest on those 

late fees between the date the unlawful late fees were assessed and the date of this 

Consent Order. 

b. A full refund of all late fees paid by Payment Aggregation Affected Consumers 

between February 17, 2010 and December 11, 2011 related to Respondent’s unlawful 

payment aggregation practices, as well as interest on those late fees between the date 

the unlawful late fees were assessed and the date of this Consent Order. 

c. A full refund of all late fees paid by Grace Period Affected Consumers between 

January 1, 2010 and May 31, 2013 related to Respondent’s unlawful late fee 

assessment practices, as well as interest on those late fees between the date the 

unlawful late fees were assessed and the date of this Consent Order. 

74. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director 

for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for providing redress 

consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The Regional Director will have the 

discretion to make a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct 

Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to 
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the Regional Director within 45 days. After receiving notification that the Regional 

Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent 

must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. 

75. The Redress Plan must: 

a. Detail the manner and form in which redress will be provided to Affected 

Consumers; 

b. Detail how Respondent will make reasonable attempts to locate Affected Consumers 

for payment of redress, as well as an action plan to follow-up with consumers whose 

redress payments are returned as undeliverable and/or not cashed within a 

prescribed time period; 

c. Include the proposed text of letters that must be sent to Affected Consumers 

regarding the redress payment. Respondent must submit the proposed text of the 

letters to the Regional Director for review and non-objection. Upon receipt of non-

objection from the Regional Director, Respondent  will mail the letters by United 

States Postal Service First-Class Mail, address correction service requested pursuant 

to the timetable set forth in the Redress Plan. No other materials, other than the 

redress payment, shall be mailed with the letters; and 

d. Describe the steps Respondent will take to assess when the redress process is 

complete. 

76. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers (inclusive of any funds escheated in accordance with state law) is less than 

$410,000, within 30 days of the completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent must pay 

to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to 
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the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the difference between the amount of redress provided 

to Affected Consumers and $410,000. 

77. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress is 

wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after the 

additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. 

Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that 

the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

78. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected Consumer 

under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

79. Under Section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law related to Respondent’s payment aggregation practices described in Section IV of 

this Consent Order, and taking into account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), 

Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $3,600,000 to the Bureau. 

80. Within 15 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money penalty by 

wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the Bureau’s 

wiring instructions.  

81. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by Section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 
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82. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for any 

civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including but not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, with 

regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

83. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related Consumer 

Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent 

benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies imposed in the Related 

Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). 

If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent 

must, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the 

Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment 

will not be considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount 

of the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under this 

Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 
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any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of payment, and 

will immediately become due and payable. 

85. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to the 

fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to Respondent. 

86. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish to the 

Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes of collecting 

and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

87. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final 

judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the 

amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and 

describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will 

be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

88. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect compliance 

obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to, a dissolution, 

assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence of a 

successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that 

engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at 
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least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development.  

89. Within 30 days after the end of each quarter ending September 30, 2016, December 31, 

2016, and March 31, 2017 and at least once annually thereafter for the duration of this 

Consent Order, Respondent shall submit a separate written progress report (Consent 

Order and Compliance Plan Tracking Report (collectively called the “Tracking Report”)) 

to the Regional Director. The Tracking Report shall, at a minimum: 

a. Separately list each corrective action required by this Consent Order, and the 

Compliance Plan; 

b. Identify the required and anticipated completion date for each corrective action; 

c. Discuss the current status of each corrective action, including the action(s) taken or 

to be taken to comply with each corrective action; and 

d. For those items that require Respondent to perform a review or develop policies and 

procedures, include a summary of the results of such reviews and the status of such 

policies and procedures. 

XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that,  

90. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers 

and employees who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order, plus those Service Providers or other agents and representatives who 

have a role in carrying out the requirements of this Consent Order. 
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91. For the duration of the Consent Order, Respondent must deliver a copy of this Consent 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any managers 

and employees who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order, plus those Service Providers, or other agents and representatives who 

will have a role in carrying out the requirements of this Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities.  

92. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a copy 

of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 7001 et seq., within 45 days of delivery, 

from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

93. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for the duration of the 

Consent Order, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in Section VIII 

above. 

c. All unique copies of billing statements and disclosures that describe Respondent’s 

payment application and allocation methodologies, including with respect to partial 

payments, delinquencies, credit reporting, and late-fee assessment. 
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d. All records relating to the payment histories of the Payment Aggregation Affected 

Consumers between February 17, 2010 and December 11, 2011. 

e. For each individual Affected Consumer, records showing the consumer’s name, 

address, phone number, and email address (if available), as well as each individual 

Affected Consumer’s Student Loan File. 

f. Copies of all written policies and procedures concerning the accuracy and integrity of 

consumer student loan information furnished to consumer reporting agencies. 

94. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 93 for at least 5 years. 

95. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 93 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

96. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this Consent 

Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., File No. 2016-

CFPB-0013,” and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director, Bureau West Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
301 Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
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Washington, D.C. 20006; or 
 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov: 

 
Regional Director, Bureau West Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
301 Howard Street 
Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 
 

XV 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

97. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and location 

of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. Respondent must 

provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or control within 14 days of 

receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

XVI 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with this 

Consent Order: 
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98. Within 21 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must submit 

additional compliance reports or other requested information, which must be made 

under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce documents.  

99. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or other 

person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The person 

interviewed may have counsel present. 

100. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil investigative 

demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

101. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this Consent 

Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting requirements) by 

submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

102. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to 

reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the modification. Any 

such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  

XVIII 

Administrative Provisions 

103. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, 

or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent.  
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104. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices described 

in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred before the 

Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The Bureau 

may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement actions 

against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a pattern 

or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to 

calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of 

the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek 

penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

105. All pending motions are hereby denied as moot. 

106. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent Order 

issued under Section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not form, 

and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the United States. 

107. This Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable, except to the extent that, and 

until such time as, any provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, 

waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

108. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on calendar 

days, unless otherwise noted.  

109. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are subject 

to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the written 

agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable provisions of this 

Consent Order.  
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110. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of civil 

money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFP Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

in. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete agreement 

between the parties. The parties have made no promises, representations, or warranties 

other than what is contained in this Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation. 

This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation supersede any prior oral or 

written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

112. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed as 

allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this-7,0' day of August, 2016. 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

34 
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cfpb Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau 

.64 Press Release 

CFPB Takes Action Against Wells Fargo for Illegal Student 
Loan Servicing Practices 

Wells Fargo to Pay $3.6 Million Penalty to the Bureau 

AUG 22, 2016 

Washington, D.C. - The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action 
against Wells Fargo Bank for illegal private student loan servicing practices that increased 
costs and unfairly penalized certain student loan borrowers. The Bureau identified 
breakdowns throughout Wells Fargo's servicing process including failing to provide 
important payment information to consumers, charging consumers illegal fees, and failing 
to update inaccurate credit report information. The CFPB's order requires Wells Fargo to 
improve its consumer billing and student loan payment processing practices. The company 
must also provide $410,000 in relief to borrowers and pay a $3.6 million civil penalty to the 
CFPB. 

"Wells Fargo hit borrowers with illegal fees and deprived others of critical information 
needed to effectively manage their student loan accounts," said CFPB Director Richard 
Cordray. "Consumers should be able to rely on their servicer to process and credit 
payments correctly and to provide accurate and timely information and we will continue our 
work to improve the student loan servicing market." 

The CFPB's order can be found at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201 6-
CFPB-0013Wells_Fargo_Bank_N.A.--_Consent_Order.pdf ID 

Wells Fargo is a national bank headquartered in Sioux Falls, S.D. Education Financial 
Services is a division of Wells Fargo that is responsible for the bank's student lending 
operations. Education Financial Services both originates and services private student loans, 
and currently serves approximately 1.3 million consumers in all 50 states. 

Student loans make up the nation's second largest consumer debt market. Today there are 
more than 40 million federal and private student loan borrowers and collectively these 
consumers owe roughly $1.3 trillion. Last year, the CFPB found that more than 8 million 
borrowers are in default on more than $110 billion in student loans, a problem that may be 
driven by breakdowns in student loan servicing. Private student loans comprise 
approximately $100 billion of all outstanding student loans. While private student loans are 
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a small portion of the overall market, the Bureau found that they are generally used by 
borrowers with high levels of debt who also have federal loans. 

According to the CFPB's order, Wells Fargo failed to provide the level of student loan 
servicing that borrowers are entitled to under the law. Because of the breakdowns 
throughout Wells Fargo's servicing process, thousands of student loan borrowers 
encountered problems with their loans or received misinformation about their payment 
options. The CFPB found that the company violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act's prohibitions against unfair and deceptive acts and practices, as 
well as the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Specifically, the CFPB found that the company: 

■ Impaired consumers' ability to minimize costs and fees: Wells Fargo processed 
payments in a way that maximized fees for many consumers. Specifically, if a borrower 
made a payment that was not enough to cover the total amount due for all loans in an 
account, the bank divided that payment across the loans in a way that maximized late 
fees rather than satisfying payments for some of the loans. The bank failed to 
adequately disclose to consumers how it allocated payments across multiple loans, and 
that consumers have the ability to provide instructions for how to allocate payments to 
the loans in their account. As a result, consumers were unable to effectively manage 
their student loan accounts and minimize costs and fees. 

■ Misrepresented the value of making partial payments: Wells Fargo's billing statements 
made misrepresentations to borrowers that could have led to an increase in the cost of 
the loan. The bank incorrectly told borrowers that paying less than the full amount due 
in a billing cycle would not satisfy any obligation on an account. In reality, for accounts 
with multiple loans, partial payments may satisfy at least one loan payment in an 
account. This misinformation could have deterred borrowers from making partial 
payments that would have satisfied at least one of the loans in their account, allowing 
them to avoid certain late fees or delinquency. 

■ Charged illegal late fees: Wells Fargo illegally charged certain consumers late fees 
even though the consumers had made timely payments. Specifically, the bank charged 
illegal late fees to certain consumers who made payments on the last day of their grace 
periods. It also charged illegal late fees to certain students who elected to pay their 
monthly amount due through multiple partial payments instead of one single payment. 

■ Failed to update and correct inaccurate information reported to credit reporting 
companies: Wells Fargo failed to update and correct inaccurate, negative information 
reported to credit reporting companies about certain borrowers who made partial 
payments or overpayments. These errors could damage a consumer's ability to access 
credit or make borrowing more expensive. 

Enforcement Action 

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against institutions 
engaging in unfair or deceptive practices. Among the terms of the consent order filed 
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today, Wells Fargo must: 

■ Pay $410,000 in consumer refunds: Wells Fargo must provide at least $410,000 to 
compensate consumers for illegal late fees. This includes refunding illegal fees due to 
the bank's failure to disclose its payment allocation practices across multiple loans 
within a borrower's account as well as the bank's failure to inform consumers that they 
could instruct the bank to allocate payments in a different way. This also includes 
refunding illegal fees charged because of the bank's failure to combine partial 
payments made in the same billing cycle, and fees improperly charged when 
borrowers made a payment on the last day of the grace period. 

■ Improve student loan servicing practices: Wells Fargo must allocate partial payments 
made by a borrower in a manner that satisfies the amount due for as many of the loans 
as possible, unless the borrower directs otherwise. This can help reduce the number of 
delinquent loans in an account as well as the number of late fees. Last month, the 
Department of Education, in consultation with the CFPB, released new  policy guidance 
Eli calling for federal student loan servicers to implement a similar standard for handling 
partial payments. 

■ Improve consumer billing disclosures: Wells Fargo must provide consumers with 
enhanced disclosures with their billing statements. The disclosures must explain how 
the bank applies and allocates payments and how borrowers can direct payments to 
any of the loans in their student loan account. 

■ Correct errors on credit reports: Wells Fargo must remove any negative student loan 
information that has been inaccurately or incompletely provided to a consumer 
reporting company. 

■ Pay $3.6 million civil penalty: Wells Fargo will pay $3.6 million to the CFPB's Civil 
Penalty Fund. 

The consent order can be found at: http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/2016-
CFPB-0013Wells_Fargo_Bank_N.A.--_Consent_Order.pdf ID 

This order comes as the Bureau takes steps to ensure that all student loan borrowers have 
access to adequate student loan servicing. Last year, the Bureau released a report outlining 
widespread servicing failures reported by both federal and private student loan borrowers 
and published a framework for student loan servicing reforms. As part of this work, the 
Bureau has continually raised concerns around, as well as taken enforcement and 
supervisory actions against, illegal student loan servicing practices related to the handling 
of partial payments. Building on this, earlier this year, the Bureau called for market-wide 
reforms and announced that it was prioritizing taking action against companies that engage 
in illegal servicing practices. Today's action is an important part of this ongoing work. 

Students and their families can find help on how to tackle their student debt on the CFPB's
website. 

### 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0014 

In the Matter of: CONSENT ORDER 

First National Bank of Omaha 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the marketing, 

sales, and administration of credit card add-on products by First National Bank of 

Omaha (Respondent, as defined below) and has identified unfair and deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of sections 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). Under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent 

Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565.
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II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent

Order,” dated August 16, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any findings

of fact or violations of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to

establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over it and the subject matter of this action.

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Add-On Product” means any consumer financial products or services, as

defined by section 1002(5) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), that

Respondent marketed or offered to Cardholders as an optional add-on

product to Respondent’s credit cards and that were supplementary to the

credit provided by the credit cards, and includes Respondent’s Credit

Monitoring and Debt Cancellation Products.

b. “Affected Consumer” means any person that is an Affected Debt

Cancellation Customer or an Affected Credit Monitoring Customer.

c. “Affected Credit Monitoring Customer” means any Cardholder that

enrolled in Respondent’s Credit Monitoring Products in or after December

1997 and was “Unprocessable.”
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d. “Affected Debt Cancellation Customer” means any Cardholder that either

enrolled in Respondent’s Debt Cancellation Products between January 1,

2010 and October 2012 through inbound or outbound telemarketing and

did not opt in for continued enrollment in response to a communication

from Respondent in June 2013, or who submitted a claim for benefits that

was denied between January 2010 and August 2012.

e. “Affinion” means Affinion Group, including its subsidiary, Trilegiant

Corporation.

f. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of Directors.

g. “Cardholder” means any person who opened a credit card account issued

by Respondent.

h. “Credit Monitoring Products” means Add-On Products that offer credit

monitoring or credit report retrieval services, including “PrivacyGuard”

and “IdentitySecure.”

i. “Debt Cancellation Products” means Add-On Products that provide credits

to a Cardholder’s account if the Cardholder’s income is interrupted for

covered reasons or if the Cardholder experienced certain covered events,

including Respondent’s Secure Credit and Payment Protection Products,

among others.

j. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is issued.

k. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the West Region for

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or

the Regional Director’s delegate.
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l. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order.

m. “Respondent” means First National Bank of Omaha, and its successors

and assigns.

n. “Service Provider” means any service provider, as defined in Section

1002(26) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481, that provides or provided a

material service to Respondent in connection with the offering or

provision by Respondent of a consumer financial product or service.

o. “Unprocessable” means the status of a Cardholder who, at a given time,

was billed for a Credit Monitoring Product but who, for any reason did not

receive full credit monitoring or credit report retrieval features of the

Credit Monitoring Product.

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national bank headquartered in Omaha, Nebraska. As of March

31, 2016, Respondent had approximately $18.4 billion in total assets.

5. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10

billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a).

6. Respondent is a “covered person” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).

7. From at least 2002 until August 2013, Respondent marketed, sold, or

administered a proprietary Debt Cancellation Product, Secure Credit, to its
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Cardholders. Respondent also marketed, sold, or administered the proprietary 

Debt Cancellation Product, Payment Protection, to its Cardholders from 

approximately 2009 until August 2013.   

8. Respondent marketed that its Debt Cancellation Products would “credit a

monthly payment to the Cardholder’s account balance” if a consumer

experienced a covered event, such as involuntary unemployment, accidental

death, disability, or hospitalization.

9. Cardholders enrolled in Respondent’s Debt Cancellation Products were charged a

monthly fee, often 0.89% of the balance (i.e., $0.89/$100) as of the Cardholder’s

statement closing date, to their First National Bank of Omaha-issued credit card.

10. Secure Credit and Payment Protection were similar, except that Payment

Protection did not include benefits for unemployment or family leave and

Respondent marketed Payment Protection primarily to “senior” and “retired”

Cardholders.

11. From approximately December 1997 until September 2012, Respondent

marketed and sold the Credit Monitoring Product PrivacyGuard. Respondent also

marketed and sold the Credit Monitoring Product IdentitySecure from

approximately September 2008 until September 2012. PrivacyGuard and

IdentitySecure were administered by Respondent’s Service Provider, Affinion.

12. Respondent represented that these products would provide Cardholders with

access to credit reports, monitor Cardholders’ credit, and assist with credit repair

and financial loss in the case of identity theft.

13. Respondent used three primary telemarketing channels to sell these Add-On

Products: (a) inbound telemarketing to Cardholders who called to activate a new

2016-CFPB-0014     Document 1     Filed 08/25/2016     Page 5 of 41



credit card; (b) inbound telemarketing to Cardholders who called Respondent for 

customer service; and (c) 0utbound telemarketing to existing Cardholders. 

14. For the Debt Cancellation Products, Respondent ceased outbound telemarketing 

in April 2012 and inbound telemarketing and direct mail marketing in October 

2012. 

15. For Debt Cancellation Products and Credit Monitoring Products, Respondent 

often drafted the scripts, trained employees and Service Providers, and 

monitored the marketing of these Add-On Products by in-house representatives 

as well as Service Provider representatives. 

16. For the Debt Cancellation Products, Respondent and its Service Providers 

designed the product, managed fulfillment, determined eligibility, and 

administered benefits to Cardholders. 

17. For the Credit Monitoring Products, Respondent marketed and sold the products 

to its Cardholders through inbound telemarketing, but left the administration of 

the product primarily to Affinion. 

18. Respondent ceased telemarketing the Credit Monitoring Products in September 

2012. 

19. Respondent engaged in deceptive acts or practices to enroll its Cardholders into 

its Debt Cancellation Products, unfairly obstructed Cardholders from obtaining 

benefits from Debt Cancellation Products, or unfairly billed Cardholders for 

Credit Monitoring Products. 

20. Respondent’s compliance monitoring, Service Provider management, and quality 

assurance resulted in ineffective oversight, which failed to prevent, identify, or 

correct these unfair or deceptive acts or practices. 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations in Soliciting 
Cardholders to Purchase Debt Cancellation Products 

21. From at least January 2010 until approximately October 2012, during inbound

and outbound telemarketing calls, Respondent engaged in various deceptive acts

or practices when enrolling some Cardholders into its Debt Cancellation

Products.

22. During credit card activation calls, Respondent and its Service Providers began a

sales pitch for the Debt Cancellation Products on by stating “while your card is

activating …” or similar language before they started the sales pitch, implying

that Cardholders had to stay on the line to listen to a sales pitch for the Debt

Cancellation Products while the Cardholders’ cards were activating.

23. In reality, the activation process was nearly instantaneous and Cardholders were

not obliged to listen to Respondent’s solicitations to complete activation of their

credit cards.

24. During inbound and outbound telemarketing calls, Respondent and its Service

Providers frequently misrepresented the nature of the solicitation, including by

representing, expressly or impliedly:

a. that Respondent was notifying Cardholders of “an important account

feature;” and

b. that Respondent was offering the Debt Cancellation Product “as our way of

saying thanks.”

25. In reality, Respondent was soliciting Cardholders to purchase an optional

product for which Cardholders would be charged a monthly fee.
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26. During inbound and outbound telemarketing calls, Respondent and its Service

Providers enrolled some Cardholders in Debt Cancellation Products without

adequately informing the Cardholders that they were purchasing the product,

including by:

a. representing, expressly or impliedly, that Cardholders were being sent the

product “welcome kit” so the Cardholders could review the product

conditions and exclusions; and

b. obtaining Cardholders’ purported consent to purchase the product by

telling Cardholders that to “verify … approval to enroll” Cardholders in the

product, that the Cardholders needed to provide their city of birth and

then construing the Cardholders’ confirmation of their city of birth as

consent to purchase the product.

27. In reality, Cardholders who agreed to receive information about the product and

who verified their city of birth were purportedly consenting to purchase the

product, at which point Respondent would enroll the Cardholder.

28. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).

29. As described in paragraphs 21-27, in connection with the advertising, marketing,

promotion, offer or sale of Debt Cancellation Products, Respondent

misrepresented the activation process and the existence of a purchase transaction

to which Cardholders were purportedly “consenting.”

30. Therefore, Respondent’s representations, as described in paragraphs 21-27,

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).
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Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations of the Terms, 
Conditions, and Benefits of the Debt Cancellation Products 

31. From at least January 2010 until approximately October 2012, during inbound

and outbound telemarketing calls, Respondent and its Service Providers

frequently misrepresented the Debt Cancellation Products’ terms, exclusions, and

benefits, including by:

a. failing to inform Cardholders or correct confusion on the part of some

Cardholders who had disclosed information suggesting they would be

ineligible for one or more of the product benefits that those Cardholders

would be ineligible for one or more of the product benefits;

b. representing, expressly or impliedly, that Cardholders were “eligible” for

the product without information that allowed Respondent to determine

whether the Cardholder was actually eligible for the product’s benefits;

and

c. misrepresenting the limitations of the product benefits.

32. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B).

33. As described in paragraph 31, in connection with the marketing and sales of its

Debt Cancellation Products, Respondent misrepresented, expressly or impliedly,

the terms, exclusions, and benefits of those products.

34. Therefore, Respondent’s representations or omissions described in paragraph 31

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B).
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Findings and Conclusions as to Misrepresentations of the Ease of 
Cancelling the Debt Cancellation Products 

 
35. From at least January 2010 until approximately October 2012, during inbound 

and outbound telemarketing calls, Respondent and its Service Providers 

misrepresented that it allowed Cardholders to cancel Debt Cancellation Products 

“anytime,” “immediately,” and with “no questions asked.” 

36. Respondent and its Service Providers also told Cardholders who wanted to review 

product terms before enrolling that they did not need the terms in writing first 

because they could cancel with no charge within the first 30 days. 

37. In fact, cancelling Respondent’s Debt Cancellation Products was not easy. 

Respondent’s customer service representatives often rebutted Cardholders’ 

requests to cancel several times before agreeing to cancel the Cardholders’ 

enrollment. 

38. Respondent had a sales incentive plan that awarded Respondent’s customer 

service representatives additional compensation for a “save,” which occurred 

when the customer service representative kept a Cardholder enrolled after 

attempting to cancel. Respondent referred to this incentive as a “save bounty.” 

39. For example, Respondent instructed its customer service representatives to rebut 

Cardholders’ requests to cancel and to employ assumptive statements (e.g., “Let’s 

keep your account protected, ok?”) in an attempt to keep the Cardholder enrolled 

in the product. Thus, consumers wishing to cancel were often unable to do so 

unless they were willing to demand cancellation multiple times in succession. 

40. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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41. As described in the paragraphs 35-39, in connection with the marketing, sales, 

and administration of its Debt Cancellation Products, Respondent 

misrepresented, expressly or impliedly, the ease of cancellation for those 

products. 

42. Therefore, Respondent’s representations described in paragraphs 35-39 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions for Unfairly Obstructing Consumers from 
Obtaining Benefits of the Debt Cancellation Products 

 
43. From at least January 1, 2010 until approximately August 2012, Respondent 

administered the Debt Cancellation Products in such a way that it prevented the 

vast majority of Cardholders from obtaining several of the promised benefits. 

Respondent used many different restrictions, eligibility requirements, exclusions, 

and administrative hurdles, which collectively caused the widespread denial of 

benefits to Cardholders. 

44. Respondent employed eligibility requirements that denied many benefits to 

Cardholders who were employed fewer than 30 hours per week or who were self-

employed. Prior to August 2012, if Cardholders failed to provide evidence of full-

time employment, Cardholders were ineligible for unemployment benefits as well 

as disability, hospitalization, and family leave benefits. 

45. Respondent employed numerous exclusions to deny benefits to Cardholders for 

otherwise covered events. For example, Respondent denied benefits for “pre-

existing conditions,” which Respondent defined to include any condition that was 

diagnosed or occurred for up to six months after enrollment. Respondent’s Debt 
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Cancellation Products variously excluded illness or disability caused by 

pregnancy, childbirth, alcohol, drug use, or self-infliction. And Respondent 

denied benefits for losses and for unemployment occurring in the first three 

months of enrollment; nearly fifteen percent of completed benefit requests were 

denied because the loss occurred in the first 90 days. As a result, some 

Cardholders sought benefits from Respondent after suffering a loss, only to learn 

that they were disqualified due to one of the many exclusions. 

46. Respondent employed onerous administrative requirements to deny benefits to 

Cardholders. For example, Cardholders were not eligible for unemployment 

benefits if they became unemployed within 90 days after enrolling in the product. 

Before applying, Cardholders had to have been continuously out of work for 30 

days, but they must have called Respondent to request the application for their 

benefits within 45 days of their first day of unemployment. Therefore, those 

Cardholders had a 15-day window to apply for benefits–between the 30th and 

45th day of continuous unemployment. 

47. Respondent also denied benefits when the Cardholder returned an application 

more than 45 days after the date of loss; for illness or disability, the Cardholder 

failed to send in “continuation forms” that included monthly signed verifications 

from their hospital or treating physician; for unemployment, the Cardholder 

failed to send in “continuation forms” that included monthly proof that the 

Cardholder was receiving unemployment benefits; or, for the accidental death 

benefit, failed to obtain a death certificate that expressly stated “accidental death” 

as the cause of death. Failure to comply with any step within the proper time 

could—and did—result in denials. 
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48. Respondent did not disclose many of these exclusions and requirements to 

consumers prior to their enrollment. In addition, in many cases, Respondent 

affirmatively told Cardholders they were “eligible” for the products at the outset. 

49. As a result of these exclusions and requirements, Respondent regularly denied 

benefits to consumers who requested them. For example, during 2011 only 9% of 

Cardholders who initiated a claim for benefits succeeded in obtaining benefits. 

50. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

51. The acts or practices described in paragraphs 43-49 caused or were likely to 

cause substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or not 

outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

52. Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 1031 and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

 
Findings and Conclusions for Unfairly Billing Consumers 

for Credit Monitoring Products 
 

53. From approximately December 1997 until September 2012, Respondent 

marketed and sold the Credit Monitoring Product PrivacyGuard. Respondent also 

marketed and sold the Credit Monitoring Product IdentitySecure from 

approximately September 2008 until September 2012. PrivacyGuard and 

IdentitySecure were administered by Respondent’s Service Provider, Affinion, 

and purported to provide consumers with copies of their credit reports and 

ongoing monitoring of their credit reports for potential identity theft or fraud. 
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54. Respondent and its Service Providers marketed and sold these Credit Monitoring 

Products to Cardholders and referred Cardholders to Affinion for administration 

of the Credit Monitoring Products. 

55. To provide the credit monitoring and credit report retrieval services, the Fair 

Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b, required a “permissible purpose” to 

obtain a Cardholder’s credit information from the credit reporting companies. 

Among other reasons, a credit reporting company may release a credit report in 

accordance with a consumer’s “written instructions[.]” 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(2). 

56. Before Respondent or its Service Provider could access the Cardholders’ credit 

information and provide credit monitoring services to Cardholders enrolled in 

PrivacyGuard and IdentitySecure, Respondent or its Service Providers were 

required to obtain sufficient written authorization and personal verification 

information from the Cardholders. 

57. In most cases, Cardholders did not receive these services because some time 

passed before a Cardholder’s authorization was obtained, or a Cardholder’s 

authorization was never obtained. In other instances, Cardholders provided their 

authorization, but one or more credit reporting companies could not process the 

authorization if they were unable to match the Cardholder’s identification 

information with the credit reporting company’s own records. 

58. In these circumstances, Cardholders were billed the full fee for Credit Monitoring 

Products even when they were not receiving the credit monitoring or credit 

report retrieval benefits of the product. 

59. Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit “unfair, deceptive, or abusive” acts 

or practices. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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60. The acts or practices described in paragraphs 53-58 caused or were likely to cause 

substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable or outweighed 

by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

61. Therefore, Respondent engaged in unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 

1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 
V 

Conduct Provisions 

 

 IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

62. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate, including by taking reasonable measures to ensure that its Service 

Providers, affiliates, and other agents do not violate, sections 1031 and 1036 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, regarding the marketing, sales, and 

administration of Add-On Products. 

63. Respondent must correct all violations of law, as described in this Consent Order, 

and must maintain procedures to prevent their recurrence. 

64. Respondent, whether acting directly or indirectly, is prohibited from the 

marketing, sale, or administration of Add-On Products, or referring Cardholders 

to Service Providers who offer Add-On Products, without first securing a 

determination of non-objection from the Regional Director, as follows: 

a. Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an Add-On Product 

Compliance Plan, as described in Section VI of this Consent Order; 
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b. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Add-On Product Compliance Plan or direct the 

Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs the Respondent to 

revise the Add-On Product Compliance Plan, Respondent must make the 

revisions and resubmit the Add-On Product Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director. 

c. Respondent may market, sell, or administer Add-On Products, or refer 

Cardholders to third-parties who offer Add-On Products, only after 

receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Add-On Product Compliance Plan and only after 

adhering to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Add-On Product Compliance Plan and this Consent Order. 

VI 

Add-On Product Compliance Plan 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan must be a comprehensive compliance plan 

designed to ensure that Respondent’s marketing, sales, and administration of 

Add-On products comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

the terms of this Consent Order. Any Add-On Product Compliance Plan must: 

a. Include appropriate safeguards designed to ensure that Respondent and 

its officers, servants, employees, attorneys, Service Providers, affiliates, or 

other agents refrain from engaging in violations of Federal consumer 
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financial laws in the marketing, sale, servicing (including member 

retention), billing, fulfillment, and administration of Add-On Products; 

b. Include a plan for informing prospective and current Add-On Product 

customers of all fees, costs, expenses, charges, and billing arrangements 

associated with Add-On Products; 

c. Include a plan for informing prospective and current Add-On Product 

customers of material conditions, benefits, and restrictions related to the 

Add-On Products, including how Respondent will inform prospective Add-

On Product customers who disclose conditions that may make them 

ineligible for certain benefits (e.g., current disability or unemployment) of 

the restrictions and conditions relating to those conditions; 

d. Include a plan for ensuring that Respondent does not enroll prospective 

customers in Add-On Products over the telephone who have not given 

express informed consent to purchase the Add-On Product; 

e. Include a plan for ensuring that current and prospective customers are 

billed for Credit Monitoring Products only when they receive all of the 

purchased credit monitoring or credit report retrieval benefits of the 

product; 

f. Require the development and implementation of written policies and 

procedures to effectively manage, detect, and mitigate, on an on-going 

basis, the risks identified in the written assessment required in paragraph 

78; 

g. Include comprehensive written policies and procedures for identifying and 

reporting any violation of Federal consumer financial laws or 
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Respondent’s policies and procedures relating to Add-On Products by 

Respondent’s employees or Service Providers’ employees or agents, in a 

timely manner, to a specified executive risk or compliance manager at 

Respondent. The manager to whom such reports are made must be 

independent of the unit overseeing the sale and marketing of Add-On 

Products; 

h. Require the development of training materials relating to identifying and 

addressing violations of Federal consumer financial laws relating to Add-

On Products that will be incorporated into the existing annual compliance 

training for appropriate employees;  

i. Include written policies and procedures to ensure that the appropriate 

employees and Respondent’s departments have the requisite authority and 

status within Respondent so that appropriate reviews of Add-On Products 

marketed or sold by Respondent or through Service Providers may occur 

and deficiencies are identified and properly remedied; and 

j. Include specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above. 

66. Any proposed material changes to or deviations from the approved Add-On 

Products Compliance Plan must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director 

for determination of non-objection. 

67. Respondent’s internal audit department must periodically conduct an assessment 

of Respondent’s compliance with any approved Add-On Products Compliance 

Plan. Such assessments must occur within 120 days after Respondent’s receipt of 

a determination of non-objection to the Add-On Products Compliance Plan, and 
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periodically but at least annually thereafter, and the finding must be 

memorialized in writing. Within 30 days of completing each assessment, the 

internal audit department must provide its written finding to the Board and 

Regional Director. 

VII 

Compliance Committee and Compliance Plan 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, the Board must appoint a Compliance 

Committee of at least 3 members. The majority of the Compliance Committee will 

be comprised of outside directors. The Board must provide in writing to the 

Regional Director the name of each member of the Compliance Committee and, if 

there is a change of membership to the Compliance Committee, the Board must 

submit the name of any new member in writing to the Regional Director.  

69. The Compliance Committee will be responsible for monitoring and coordinating 

the Respondent’s adherence to the provisions of this Consent Order. The 

Compliance Committee must meet at least every two months, and must maintain 

minutes of its meetings. 

70. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, and thereafter within 30 days after the end 

of each quarter, the Compliance Committee must submit a Compliance Plan to 

the Board, which details the actions taken to comply with this Consent Order, and 

the results and status of those actions. The Compliance Plan must also, at a 

minimum, include:  

a. detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

and 
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b. specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of those steps. 

71. Within 10 days of receiving the initial Compliance Plan, the Board must submit a 

copy of the Compliance Plan, with any additional comments by the Board, to the 

Regional Director for review and determination of non-objection. 

72. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Regional Director within 15 days. 

73. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

74. Any proposed material changes to or deviations from the approved Compliance 

Plan must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for determination of 

non-objection. 

VIII 

Service Provider Monitoring 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

75. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit its written policy 

governing the management of Service Providers with respect to the offering or 

provision of consumer financial products and services (“Service Provider 

Management Policy”) to the Regional Director for determination of non-

objection. At a minimum, the Service Provider Management Policy must require: 
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a. an analysis, to be conducted by Respondent prior to Respondent entering 

into a contract with the Service Provider, of the ability of the Service 

Provider to perform the marketing, sales, delivery, servicing, and/or 

fulfillment of services for the consumer financial products or services in 

compliance with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

Respondent’s policies and procedures. 

b. for new and renewed contracts, a written contract between Respondent 

and the Service Provider, which sets forth the responsibilities of each 

party. At a minimum, the contract will set forth: 

i. the Service Provider’s specific performance responsibilities and 

duty to maintain adequate internal controls over the marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for the 

consumer financial products or services; 

ii. the Service Provider’s responsibilities and duty to provide adequate 

training on applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

Respondent’s policies and procedures to all Service Provider 

employees or agents engaged in the marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and fulfillment of services for the consumer financial 

products or services; 

iii. a grant to Respondent of the authority to conduct periodic onsite 

reviews of the Service Provider’s controls, performance, and 

information systems as they relate to the marketing, sales, delivery, 

servicing, and fulfillment of services for the consumer financial 

products or services; and 
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iv. Respondent’s right to terminate the contract if the Service Provider 

materially fails to comply with the terms specified in the contract, 

including the terms required by this paragraph.  

c. periodic onsite review by Respondent of the Service Provider’s controls, 

performance, and information systems. 

76. Upon receipt of a determination of non-objection to the Service Provider 

Management Policy submitted pursuant to Paragraph 75 of this Consent Order, 

the Board must ensure that Respondent adheres to the Service Provider 

Management Policy. Any proposed changes to or deviations from the approved 

Service Provider Management Policy affecting the oversight of Service Providers 

described in this Consent Order must be submitted in writing to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection. 

77. Respondent’s internal audit department must periodically conduct an assessment 

of Respondent’s application of its Service Provider Management Policy to Service 

Providers, including the practices described in Paragraph 75 of this Consent 

Order. An assessment must occur within 180 days after Respondent’s receipt of a 

determination of non-objection to the Service Provider Management Policy, and 

periodically thereafter but at least annually thereafter, and the findings must be 

memorialized in writing. Within 30 days of completing each assessment, 

Respondent’s internal audit department must provide its written findings to the 

Audit Committee and the Regional Director. 
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IX 

UDAAP Risk Management Program 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

78. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must develop a written 

enterprise-wide Unfair, Deceptive, and Abusive Acts or Practices (“UDAAP”) risk 

management program (“Risk Management Program”) for any consumer financial 

products or services offered by Respondent or through Service Providers, to 

prevent violations of Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 

79. The Board must approve and cause Respondent to submit this Risk Management 

Program to the Regional Director for determination of non-objection. At a 

minimum, the Risk Management Program must require:  

a. A written comprehensive assessment, to be conducted on an annual basis, 

of the UDAAP risk for these consumer financial products or services and 

for changes to these consumer financial products or services, including, 

but not limited to the UDAAP risk of the governance, control, marketing, 

sales, delivery, servicing, and fulfillment of services for new consumer 

financial products or services and existing consumer financial products or 

services, including the UDAAP risk of marketing and sales practices.  

b. The development and implementation of written policies and procedures 

to effectively manage, prevent, detect, mitigate, and report, on an on-going 

basis, the risks identified in the written assessment required by this 

paragraph. 

c. Comprehensive written procedures for providing appropriate training on 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws and Respondent’s policies and 
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procedures, including but not limited to unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts 

or practices, to appropriate employees and Service Provider call agents. 

d. Written policies and procedures to ensure that risk management, internal 

audit, and corporate compliance programs have the requisite authority 

and status so that appropriate reviews of products marketed or sold by the 

Respondent or through Service Providers may occur and deficiencies are 

identified and properly remedied.  

80. Upon receipt of a determination of non-objection to the Risk Management 

Program submitted under paragraph 78 of this Consent Order, the Board must 

ensure that Respondent implements and adheres to the Risk Management 

Program. Any proposed changes to or deviations from the approved Risk 

Management Program must be submitted in writing to the Regional Director for 

review and determination of non-objection.  

81. Respondent’s internal audit department must periodically conduct an assessment 

of Respondent’s compliance with the Risk Management Program. Such 

assessments must occur within 180 days after Respondent’s receipt of a 

determination of non-objection to the Risk Management Program, and 

periodically, but at least annually thereafter, and the findings must be 

memorialized in writing. Within 10 days of completing each assessment, 

Respondent’s internal audit department must provide its written findings to the 

Respondent’s Audit Committee and the Regional Director.  

82. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must develop training 

materials relating to identifying and responding to unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
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acts or practices and incorporate the new training materials into the existing 

annual compliance training for appropriate employees.  

83. The Board must ensure that there is oversight of the Risk Management Program 

required by this Section by Respondent’s senior risk managers and senior 

management. 

X 

Role of the Board 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

84. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau.  

85. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial laws and this Consent Order. 

86. With the prior non-objection of the Regional Director, the Board may delegate 

certain of the approval or reporting obligations included herein to the 

Compliance Committee. 

87. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board or the Compliance 

Committee to ensure adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, 

the Board, directly or through the Compliance Committee, must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 
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b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with any failure to comply with Board directives related to 

this Section. 

XI 

Order to Pay Redress 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account an amount not less than $27,750,000for the purpose 

of providing redress to approximately 257,000 Affected Consumers as required 

by this Section. This Section must not be construed to require Respondent to 

provide restitution payments to Affected Credit Monitoring Customers 

duplicative of payments provided pursuant to the order issued by the Comptroller 

of the Currency against Respondent in August 2016. 

89. Within 120 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 

make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 

30 days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, the Respondent must 
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implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Redress Plan. 

90. The Redress Plan will apply to all Affected Consumers and must:  

a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Affected Consumers; 

b. Provide processes covering all Affected Consumers regardless of their 

current credit card account status with Respondent: 

i. for closed or open accounts with a balance, Respondent must 

provide a credit posted to the account; where the redress provided 

is greater than the balance and the Respondent delivered a 

statement credit reducing the balance down to zero, Respondent 

must send to the Affected Consumer a certified or bank check in the 

amount of the excess; 

ii. for closed or open accounts with a zero balance, Respondent must 

send a certified or bank check to the Affected Consumer; 

iii. for any charged-off account, Respondent must issue redress 

consistent with the requirements for closed accounts in paragraph 

90(b)(i). Where a credit would be issued that is greater than the 

existing charged-off balance, Respondent must mail to the Affected 

Consumer a certified or Bank check in the amount of the excess. 

Any letter, as described in paragraph 91 below, sent with regard to a 

charged-off account, must notify the Affected Consumer of the 

credit decreasing the charged-off balance as well as any additional 

money the Affected Consumer is receiving; and 
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iv. with respect to any bankruptcy, estate, or accounts in litigation 

Respondent must make a refund in accordance with applicable law 

and as set forth in the Redress Plan. 

c. Describe the method used to calculate redress to be paid to each Affected 

Consumer as required by this Consent Order; 

d. Describe the procedures for issuance and tracking of redress to Affected 

Consumers; and 

e. Describe the procedures for monitoring compliance with the Redress Plan. 

91. The Redress Plan must include the form of the letter to be sent notifying Affected 

Consumers of the redress and the form of the envelope that will contain the 

letter. The letter must include language explaining how the amount of redress 

was calculated, an explanation of the use of a credit or check as applicable, and a 

statement that the refund payment is being provided in compliance with the 

terms of this Consent Order. Respondent may not include in any envelope 

containing the notification letter any materials other than the approved letter, 

and when appropriate, redress checks, unless Respondent has obtained written 

confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to the 

inclusion of the additional materials. 

92. Respondent must make reasonable attempts to locate Affected Consumers whose 

notification letter or check is returned for any reason, including performing a 

standard address search using the National Change of Address System. 

Respondent must re-mail any returned letters or checks to corrected addresses 

within 90 days of receiving a return. Any unclaimed funds must be disposed of in 

compliance with the Redress Plan and this Consent Order. 
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93. The Redress Plan must require Respondent to provide the following amounts to 

each Affected Debt Cancellation Customer, less any fees refunded, benefits paid, 

and related charges previously provided: 

i. If enrolled fewer than 12 months, all Debt Cancellation Product fees 

paid by the Affected Debt Cancellation Customer, and any finance 

charges, late fees, and over-limit fees associated with the product 

fees; or 

ii. If enrolled for 12 months or longer, 12 months of Debt Cancellation 

Product fees (based on the average monthly fee paid by the 

customer over the entire course of their membership), and any 

finance charges, late fees, and over-limit fees associated with the 

product fees; and 

iii. If the Affected Debt Cancellation Customer submitted a claim for 

benefits that was denied, all Debt Cancellation Product Fees, and 

any finance charges, late fees, and over-limit fees associated with 

the product fees. 

94. The Redress Plan must require Respondent to provide the following amounts to 

each Affected Credit Monitoring Customer: 

a. All Credit Monitoring Product fees paid by the Affected Credit Monitoring 

Customer during any period in which the Affected Credit Monitoring 

Customer was Unprocessable, and any finance charges, late fees, and over-

limit fees associated with the product fees, minus any amounts already 

refunded pursuant to the Stipulated and Final Judgment and Order in 
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Consumer Financial Protection Bureau v. Affinion Group Holdings, Inc., 

et al., Case No. 15-cv-01005 (D. Conn. July 1, 2015).  

95. As Respondent complies with this Consent Order, Respondent must update or 

correct any information furnished to any consumer reporting company about the 

Cardholder’s account that is, or becomes, inaccurate. 

96. Within 90 days from completion of the Redress Plan, Respondent’s internal audit 

department must review and assess compliance with the terms of the Redress 

Plan (Redress Review). 

97. The Redress Review must include an assessment of the Redress Plan and the 

methodology used to determine the population of Affected Consumers, the 

amount of redress for each Affected Consumer; the procedures used to issue and 

track redress payments; the procedures used for reporting and requesting the 

reporting of updated balances to the credit reporting agencies; and the work of 

any independent consultants that Respondent has used to assist with the 

implementation of, and review its execution of, the Redress Plan. 

98. The Redress Review must be completed and summarized in a written report 

(Redress Review Report), which must be completed within 60 days of completion 

of the Redress Review. Within 10 days of its completion, the Redress Review 

Report must be submitted to the Board and the Regional Director. 

99. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $26,000,000, within 30 days of the completion of the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 

or to the Bureau’s agent, and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 
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difference between the amount of redress provided to Affected Consumers and 

$26,000,000. 

100. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional 

redress is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds 

remain after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any 

remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no 

right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this Section. 

101. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 

XII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

102. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $4,500,000 to the Bureau. 

103. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  
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104. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

105. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

106. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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XIII 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

107. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

108. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

109. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order.  

110. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 
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XIV 

Reporting Requirements 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

111. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development.   

112. As described in section VII of this Consent Order, Respondent must submit an 

Action Plan to the Regional Director within 120 days of the Effective Date, and 

quarterly progress reports thereafter, that have been approved by the Board, 

which, at a minimum:  

a. Include the information required under Section VII of this Consent Order;  

b. Attach a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XV, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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XV 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

113. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

114. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XIV, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

115. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 
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VI 

Recordkeeping 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that  

116. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Program, described 

in Section XI above. 

c. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 

and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a 

Service Provider on behalf of Respondent. 

d. For each individual Affected Consumer and his or her enrollment in the 

Add-On Product: the consumer’s name, address, phone number, email 

address; amount paid, quantity of product purchased, description of the 

product purchased, the date on which the product was purchased, a copy 

of any promotional or welcome materials provided, and, if applicable, the 

date and reason consumer left the program. 

e. All consumer complaints and refund requests regarding Add-On Products 

(whether received directly or indirectly, such as through a Service 

Provider), and any responses to those complaints or requests. 

117. Respondent must retain the documents identified in paragraph 116 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 
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118. Respondent must make the documents identified in paragraph 116 available to

the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XVII 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

119. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re First National Bank of

Omaha, File No. 2016-CFPB-0014,” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Regional Director, Bureau West Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
301 Howard Street, Suite 1200
San Francisco, CA 94105; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov and any other email address as

directed in writing by the Bureau:

Regional Director, Bureau West Region
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
301 Howard Street, Suite 1200
San Francisco, CA 94105

XVIII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

120. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer.
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Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau.  

XIX 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

121. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce

documents.

122. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The

person interviewed may have counsel present.

123. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process.

XX 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

124. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director.

125. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and
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changes to reporting requirements) if the Regional Director determines good 

cause justifies the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director 

must be in writing. 

XXI 

Administrative Provisions 

126. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against

Respondent, except as described in paragraph 127.

127. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including,

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties

for any violations of the Consent Order.

128. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau

or the United States.
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129. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its

designated agent.

130. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.

131. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable

provisions of this Consent Order.

132. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal

jurisdiction over Respondent.

2016-CFPB-0014     Document 1     Filed 08/25/2016     Page 40 of 41



133. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

134. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 2414iday of August, 2016. 

?RA/v/44) C°1' 4 47 

Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

41 
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cfpb Consumer Financii 
Protection Bureau 

.64 Press Release 

CFPB Orders First National Bank of Omaha to Pay $32.25 
Million for Illegal Credit Card Practices 

Deceptive Marketing and Illegal Billing of Add-On Products Harmed Hundreds of 
Thousands of Consumers 

AUG 25, 2016 

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) has ordered First 
National Bank of Omaha to provide $27.75 million in relief to roughly 257,000 consumers 
harmed by illegal practices with credit card add-on products. The bank used deceptive 
marketing to lure consumers into debt cancellation add-on products and it charged 
consumers for credit monitoring services they did not receive. First National Bank of Omaha 
will also pay a $4.5 million civil money penalty to the CFPB. 

"First National Bank of Omaha violated the trust of its customers by illegally signing them up 
for credit card add-on products," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "The CFPB's track 
record, and this result today, shows strong and consistent action against credit card 
companies that dupe consumers into buying a product they do not want." 

First National Bank of Omaha is headquartered in Omaha, Neb. As of March 31, 2016, the 
bank had approximately $18.4 billion in total assets. From 2002 until at least 2012, the bank 
offered add-on debt cancellation products with its credit card, including "Secure Credit" 
and "Payment Protection." The bank promoted these products as providing a monthly 
payment to the cardholder's account in the event of certain hardships like involuntary 
unemployment, hospitalization, or disability. Cardholders were charged a monthly fee. The 
bank also offered credit monitoring products, including "Privacy Guard" and 
"IdentitySecure" to monitor a cardholder's credit for potential identity theft or fraud and to 
provide consumers with copies of their credit reports. 

Today's order covers the bank's unfair billing practices from 1997 to 2012, and the bank's 
deceptive enrollment practices from 2010 to 2012, when the practices stopped after a 
CFPB supervisory exam. The Bureau found the bank deceptively marketed the debt 
cancellation add-on products to consumers and it found illegal billing for credit monitoring 
services that consumers did not receive. Specifically, the bank: 

■ Disguised the fact that it was selling consumers a product: The bank forced consumers 
to listen to their sales pitches about debt cancellation products by implying that they 
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had to stay on the phone while their cards were activating. In reality, the card activation 
process was nearly instantaneous and consumers did not have to stay on the line and 
listen to the pitch to have their cards activated. 

■ Distracted consumers into making a purchase: The bank led some consumers to 
believe they would not have to pay for the debt cancellation products. For example, the 
bank confirmed enrollment by asking for the consumer's city of birth, not by asking if 
the consumer wanted the product. In other cases, the bank did not make it clear that 
consumers were making a purchase. For example, they made it seem like they were 
receiving a benefit, updating their accounts, or that the consumer was merely agreeing 
to receive more information about the product. 

■ Failed to disclose consumers' ineligibility: When marketing the debt cancellation 
products, the bank told some consumers they were eligible for the product even when 
the consumers had disclosed information suggesting they would be ineligible for some 
product benefits, such as that they were retired, self-employed or employed for less 
than 30 hours a week. 

■ Hindered consumers from obtaining debt cancellation product benefits: The bank 
maintained strict eligibility standards and administrative requirements that prevented 
the vast majority of consumers from obtaining several of the promised debt 
cancellation benefits. For example, the bank would not cover consumers if they had 
pre-existing health conditions, but the bank defined pre-existing as any condition 
diagnosed or appearing for up to six months after consumers enrolled. 

■ Made cancellation of debt cancellation products difficult: The bank marketed its debt 
cancellation products as easy to cancel but instructed its customer representatives to 
make cancellation difficult. It had a sales incentive plan that awarded its customer 
service representatives money for a "save," which occurred when the representative 
kept a consumer enrolled after attempting to cancel. Consumers were often unable to 
cancel unless they were willing to demand cancellation multiple times in succession. 

■ Billed for credit monitoring services not provided: In many cases, cardholders did not 
receive the credit monitoring services for which they paid because the bank did not 
properly process their authorization. In other cases, some of the credit reporting 
companies did not process the authorizations because they could not match the 
cardholder's information to their files. 

Enforcement Action 

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has 
the authority to take action against institutions engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive 
practices. The CFPB's order requires that First National Bank of Omaha: 

■ Repay $27.75 million to affected consumers: First National Bank of Omaha must 
provide an estimated $27.75 million in refunds and additional relief to approximately 
257,000 customers subjected to deceptive marketing or unfair practices. 
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■ End unfair billing and other illegal practices: Consumers will no longer be billed for 
products if they are not receiving the promised benefits. First National Bank of Omaha 
will also be prohibited from marketing any debt cancellation or credit monitoring add-
on products until it submits a compliance plan to the CFPB. First National Bank of 
Omaha will review and, if necessary, improve its policies to ensure that it does not 
commit unlawful acts in the future. 

■ Pay a $4.5 million penalty: First National Bank of Omaha will make a $4.5 million 
penalty payment to the CFPB's Civil Penalty Fund D. 

This enforcement action is the result of the CFPB's investigation into First National Bank of 
Omaha credit card add-on products conducted in coordination with the Office of the 
Comptroller of the Currency (OCC). The OCC is separately ordering restitution and a $3 
million civil money penalty for the unfair billing practices. This is the eighth action the 
Bureau has taken in coordination with another regulator to address illegal practices with 
respect to credit card add-on products and the 12th action the Bureau has taken in total to 
address these practices. 

The full text of the CFPB's Consent Order is available at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/082016_cfpb_FNBOconsentorder.pdf D 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov El'. 

Topics: 

• DECEPTIVE PRACTICES 

• ENFORCEMENT 

• CREDIT CARDS 

• ADD-ON PRODUCTS 

PRESS INFORMATION 

If you want to republish the article or have questions about the content, please contact the press 
office. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

2016-CFPB-0015 

In the Matter of:  CONSENT ORDER 

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the sales 

practices of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Respondent, as defined below) and determined 

that it has engaged in the following acts and practices: (1) opened unauthorized deposit 

accounts for existing customers and transferred funds to those accounts from their 

owners’ other accounts, all without their customers’ knowledge or consent; (2) 

submitted applications for credit cards in consumers’ names using consumers’ 

information without their knowledge or consent; (3) enrolled consumers in online-

banking services that they did not request; and (4) ordered and activated debit cards 

using consumers’ information without their knowledge or consent. The Bureau has 

concluded that such acts violate §§ 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). Under §§ 1053 and 

1055 of CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent 

Order). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order” (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference and is accepted by the 

Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to the issuance of this Consent 

Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, 

without admitting or denying the findings of facts and conclusions of law, except that 

Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over 

Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Affected Consumers” means any consumer subjected to any of

the Improper Sales Practices. 

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly-elected and acting Board of

Directors. 

c. “California Enforcement Action” means the lawsuit styled

People v. Wells Fargo & Co., et al., Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BC580778, 

filed by the Office of the Los Angeles City Attorney. 

d. “Community Bank Regional Bank Branch Network” means

the Respondent’s retail-branch operations within Respondent’s Regional Bank group. 
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e. “Effective Date” means the date on which this Order is issued.

f. “Improper Sales Practices” means any of the following in the

Community Bank Regional Bank Branch Network: 

(1) opening any account without the consumer’s consent;

(2) transferring funds between a consumer’s accounts without

the consumer’s consent;

(3) applying for any credit card without the consumer’s consent;

(4) issuing any debit card without the consumer’s consent; and

(5) enrolling any consumer in online-banking services without

the consumer’s consent.

g. “Los Angeles City Attorney” means the Office of the Los Angeles

City Attorney. 

h. “Regional Director” means the Regional Director for the West

Region for the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his/her delegate. 

i. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on

behalf of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by a governmental agency 

other than the California Enforcement Action, brought against Respondent based on 

substantially the same facts as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

j. “Relevant Period” includes the period from January 1, 2011, to

the Effective Date. 

k. “Respondent” means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and its successors

and assigns. 
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IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 
The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a national bank headquartered in Sioux Falls, South 

Dakota. Respondent is an insured depository institution with assets greater than $10 

billion within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

5. Respondent is a “covered person” under 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. During the Relevant Period, Respondent offered a broad array of 

consumer financial products and services, including mortgages, savings and checking 

accounts, credit cards, debit and ATM cards, and online-banking services.  

7. Respondent sought to distinguish itself in the marketplace as a leader in 

“cross-selling” banking products and services to its existing customers. 

8. Respondent set sales goals and implemented sales incentives, including an 

incentive-compensation program, in part to increase the number of banking products 

and services that its employees sold to its customers.  

9. Thousands of Respondent’s employees engaged in Improper Sales 

Practices to satisfy sales goals and earn financial rewards under Respondent’s incentive-

compensation program. During the Relevant Period, Respondent terminated roughly 

5,300 employees for engaging in Improper Sales Practices.  

10. Respondent’s employees engaged in “simulated funding.” To qualify for 

incentives that rewarded bankers for opening new accounts that were funded shortly 

after opening, Respondent’s employees opened deposit accounts without consumers’ 

knowledge or consent and then transferred funds from consumers’ authorized accounts 
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to temporarily fund the unauthorized accounts in a manner sufficient for the employee 

to obtain credit under the incentive-compensation program.  

11. Respondent’s employees submitted applications for and obtained credit

cards for consumers without the consumers’ knowledge or consent. 

12. Respondent’s employees used email addresses not belonging to consumers

to enroll consumers in online-banking services without their knowledge or consent. 

13. Respondent’s employees requested debit cards and created personal

identification numbers (PINs) to activate them without the consumer’s knowledge or 

consent.  

14. During the Relevant Period, Respondent’s employees opened hundreds of

thousands of unauthorized deposit accounts and applied for tens of thousands of credit 

cards for consumers without consumers’ knowledge or consent. 

15. Respondent has performed an analysis to assess the scope of Improper

Sales Practices that occurred between May 2011 and July 2015, including the number of 

potential instances of such practices.  

Findings and Conclusions as to  
Unauthorized Deposit Accounts & Simulated Funding 

16. Respondent’s analysis concluded that its employees opened 1,534,280

deposit accounts that may not have been authorized and that may have been funded 

through simulated funding, or transferring funds from consumers’ existing accounts 

without their knowledge or consent. That analysis determined that roughly 85,000 of 

those accounts incurred about $2 million in fees, which Respondent is in the process of 

refunding. The fees included overdraft fees on linked accounts the consumers already 
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had, monthly service fees imposed for failure to keep a minimum balance in the 

unauthorized account, and other fees. 

17. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair” acts or practices. 12

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

18. By opening unauthorized deposit accounts and engaging in acts of

simulated funding, Respondent caused and was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers that was not reasonably avoidable, because it occurred without consumers’ 

knowledge, and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition.  

19. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “abusive” acts or practices. 12

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it materially interferes with the 

ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product 

or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(1). Additionally, an act or practice is abusive if it takes 

unreasonable advantage of the inability of the consumer to protect his or her interests in 

selecting or using a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

20. Respondent’s acts of opening unauthorized deposit accounts and engaging

in simulated funding materially interfered with the ability of consumers to understand a 

term or condition of a consumer financial product or service, as they had no or limited 

knowledge of those terms and conditions, including associated fees. 

21. Additionally, Respondent’s acts of opening unauthorized deposit accounts

and engaging in simulated funding took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability 
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to protect their interests in selecting or using consumer financial products or services, 

including interests in having an account opened only after affirmative agreement, 

protecting themselves from security and other risks, and avoiding associated fees.  

22. Therefore, Respondent engaged in “unfair” and “abusive” acts or practices 

that violate §§ 1031(c)(1), (d)(1), (d)(2)(B), and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(c)(1), (d)(1), (d)(2)(B), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Unauthorized Credit Cards 

23. Respondent’s analysis concluded that its employees submitted 

applications for 565,443 credit-card accounts that may not have been authorized by 

using consumers’ information without their knowledge or consent. That analysis 

determined that roughly 14,000 of those accounts incurred $403,145 in fees, which 

Respondent is in the process of refunding. Fees incurred by consumers on such accounts 

included annual fees and overdraft-protection fees, as well as associated finance or 

interest charges and other late fees. 

24. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c)(1). 

25. By applying for and opening credit-card accounts using consumers’ 

information without their knowledge or consent, Respondent caused and was likely to 

cause substantial injury that was not reasonably avoidable, because it occurred without 

consumers’ knowledge, and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or competition. 
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26. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “abusive” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it materially interferes with the 

ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product 

or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(1). Additionally, an act or practice is abusive if it takes 

unreasonable advantage of the consumer’s inability to protect his or her interests in 

selecting or using a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

27. Respondent’s acts of opening credit-card accounts using consumers’ 

information without their knowledge or consent materially interfered with the ability of 

consumers to understand a term or condition of a consumer financial product or 

service, as they had no or limited knowledge of those terms and conditions, including 

associated fees. 

28. Additionally, Respondent’s acts of opening credit-card accounts using 

consumers’ information without their knowledge or consent took unreasonable 

advantage of the consumers’ inability to protect their interests in selecting or using a 

consumer financial product or service.  

29. Therefore, Respondent engaged in “unfair” and “abusive” acts or practices 

that violate §§ 1031(c)(1), (d)(1), (d)(2)(B), and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(c)(1), (d)(1), (d)(2)(B), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to  
Unauthorized Enrollment into Online-Banking Services 

 
30. During the Relevant Period, Respondent’s employees used email addresses 

not belonging to consumers to enroll consumers in online-banking services without 

their knowledge or consent.  
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31. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “abusive” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it takes unreasonable advantage of 

the consumer’s inability to protect his or her interests in selecting or using a consumer 

financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

32. Respondent’s acts of enrolling consumers in online-banking services 

without their knowledge or consent took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ 

inability to protect their interests in selecting or using a consumer financial product or 

service, including interests in having these products or services activated only after 

affirmative agreement and protecting themselves from security and other risks.  

33. Therefore, Respondent engaged in “abusive” acts or practices that violate 

§§ 1031(d)(2)(B) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(B), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions  
as to Unauthorized Debit Cards 

 
34. During the relevant period, Respondent’s employees requested debit cards 

and created PINs to activate them without consumers’ knowledge or consent.  

35. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “abusive” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is abusive if it takes unreasonable advantage of 

the consumer’s inability to protect his or her interests in selecting or using a consumer 

financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(B). 

36. Respondent’s acts of issuing debit cards to consumers without their 

knowledge or consent took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ inability to protect 

their interests in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(d)(2)(B). 
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37. Therefore, Respondent engaged in “abusive” acts that violate §§ 

1031(d)(2)(B) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(B), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

38. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may 

not violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, by engaging in 

Improper Sales Practices.  

VI 
Independent Consultant’s Report and Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

39. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must select an

independent consultant with specialized experience in consumer-finance-compliance 

issues to conduct an independent review of Respondent’s sales practices within the 

Community Bank Regional Bank Branch Network related to deposit accounts, credit-

card accounts, unsecured lines of credit, and related products and services (Independent 

Consultant’s Review). Respondent must submit the name of the independent consultant 

to the Regional Director for non-objection. Upon receipt of non-objection from the 

Regional Director, the Bank must retain the independent consultant. The Independent 

Consultant’s Review must assess whether Respondent’s current policies and procedures 

are reasonably designed to ensure that Respondent’s sales practices comply with all 

applicable Federal consumer financial laws as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14), and that 

Respondent’s employees do not engage in Improper Sales Practices. 
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40. The Independent Consultant’s Review must include but will not be limited

to: 

a. whether Respondent’s employees are required to undergo training

reasonably designed to prevent Improper Sales Practices and other sales-integrity 

violations; whether such training is adequate, complete, and timely updated, provided 

when employees join Respondent, and repeated at sufficient recurring intervals during 

their employment to reinforce such training; whether training records are complete, 

accurate and adequate; and whether employees are informed of an obligation to report 

all sales-integrity issues internally through an “ethics hotline” or similar mechanism; 

b. whether Respondent’s monitoring policies and procedures ensure

that Respondent monitors employees’ sales practices proactively, and that Respondent 

devotes sufficient personnel and resources to monitor those practices appropriately;  

c. whether Respondent has adequate policies and procedures for (i)

receiving, retaining, and addressing consumer inquiries or complaints; (ii) receiving, 

retaining, and addressing employee allegations of Improper Sales Practices or any other 

allegations of sales-integrity violations; (iii) tracking and addressing indicators of 

potential Improper Sales Practices or any other sales-integrity violations; and (iv) 

identifying and remediating consumers for Improper Sales Practices or other sales-

integrity violations identified after the Effective Date, as well as for correcting any 

related systemic issues identified after the Effective Date; 

d. whether Respondent’s policies and procedures related to sales of

deposit accounts, credit cards, unsecured lines of credit, and related products and 

services are reasonably designed to ensure consumer consent is obtained before any 

such product is sold or issued to a consumer. The Independent Consultant’s Review 
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must include, but not be limited to, whether Respondent has adequate policies and 

procedures for capturing and retaining consumer signatures and other evidence of 

consent for such products and services, for providing a grace period before assessing 

fees on any deposit account, and for closing accounts in which there is no customer-

initiated activity during the grace period without assessing fees; and 

e. whether Respondent’s performance-management and sales goals

for its employees are consistent with the objective of preventing Improper Sales 

Practices and other sales-integrity violations.  

41. Within 180 days of the retention of the independent consultant, the

independent consultant must prepare a written report (Independent Consultant’s 

Report) detailing the findings of the review and provide the Independent Consultant’s 

Report to the Board or a committee thereof. 

42. Within 90 days of receiving the Independent Consultant’s Report, the

Board or a committee thereof must: 

a. In consultation with the independent consultant, develop a plan

(Compliance Plan) to: (i) correct any deficiencies identified, and (ii) implement any 

recommendations or explain in writing why a particular recommendation is not being 

implemented; and 

b. submit the Independent Consultant’s Report and the Compliance

Plan to the Regional Director. 

43. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, make a determination

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the Board or a 

committee thereof must make the requested revisions to the Compliance Plan, have the 
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independent consultant review the revised Compliance Plan for adequacy, accuracy, 

effectiveness, and completeness, and resubmit the revised Compliance Plan and the 

independent consultant’s review of the revised Compliance Plan to the Regional 

Director within 60 days of the date that the Regional Director directs the Company to 

revise the Compliance Plan. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, consult 

with the Los Angeles City Attorney in arriving at a determination of non-objection to the 

Compliance Plan or direction to Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan. 

44. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan and have the independent consultant review and assess compliance 

with the Compliance Plan and validate that the Compliance Plan has been properly 

executed; the results of such review should be submitted to the Regional Director within 

30 days after completion. 

VII 
Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

45. The Board or a committee thereof must review all submissions (including

plans, reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order 

before submission to the Bureau.  

46. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have 

the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

2016-CFPB-0015     Document 1     Filed 09/08/2016     Page 13 of 26



ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

47. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board or a

committee thereof to ensure adherence to, or perform certain obligations of 

Respondent, the Board or a committee thereof must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully

comply with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board or a

committee thereof on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any

material non-compliance with any failures to comply with directives from the Board or a 

committee thereof related to this Section. 

VIII 
Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

48. Respondent has retained the services of an independent third-party

consulting firm (which is not the independent consultant referred to in Section VI) to 

identify consumers who have incurred fees or other charges as a result of Improper 

Sales Practices. 

49. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit

into a segregated deposit account an amount not less than $5 million, for the purpose of 

providing redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

50. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the

Regional Director for review and non-objection the comprehensive written plan for 
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providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The Regional 

Director may, in his or her discretion, make a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional Director directs 

Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make the revisions and 

resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 45 days. After receiving 

notification that the Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection to the 

Redress Plan, Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, 

deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

51. The Redress Plan must:

a. identify all Affected Consumers, except insofar as it is impracticable

to do so, as well as the types and amounts of any fees or charges incurred by Affected 

Consumers as a result of the Improper Sales Practices, and state the means by which 

Affected Consumers have been identified and by which the fees or charges they incurred 

have been calculated; 

b. describe procedures by which Respondent will notify Affected

Consumers who were subject to any of the Improper Sales Practices described in 

paragraph 3.f of this Order, including the form of the notification such consumers will 

receive; 

c. describe the process for providing redress to Affected Consumers

and identify the dollar amount of redress for each category of Affected Consumers; 

d. detail how Respondent will locate Affected Consumers for payment

of redress, and the steps Respondent will take with respect to consumers whose redress 

payments are returned as undeliverable or not cashed within a prescribed time period; 
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e. state the manner in which redress will be provided to each such

Affected Consumer, and the form of redress; and 

f. provide the form of the letter or notice that will be sent to such

Affected Consumers notifying them of the redress. 

52. Within 120 days after completing the Redress Plan, Respondent’s Internal

Audit department must review and assess compliance with the terms of the Redress 

Plan (Redress Plan Review) and validate that the Redress Plan has been properly 

executed. 

53. Within 30 days after completion of the Redress Plan Review, Respondent

must prepare and submit to the Regional Director a report summarizing the results of 

the Redress Plan Review.  

54. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to

Affected Consumers is less than $5 million, Respondent may recoup any remaining 

funds up to the amount Respondent paid to Affected Consumers before the submission 

of the Redress Plan as redress for fees or charges those Affected Consumers incurred as 

a result of the Improper Sales Practices. Respondent must, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau or to 

the Bureau’s agent and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, any remaining 

funds not recouped by Respondent under this paragraph. 

55. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to

Affected Consumers. Upon receiving a written request from Respondent, the Bureau 

may provide Respondent with information concerning additional redress. If the Bureau 

determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress is wholly or partially 

impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after the additional redress 
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is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in the U.S. Treasury as 

disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or 

its representatives may take under this Section. 

56. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected

Consumer under this Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any right. 

IX 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $100 

million to the Bureau. 

58. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance with the 

Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

59. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

60. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 
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b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

61. To preserve the deterrent effect of any civil money penalty in the California

Enforcement Action or any Related Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that 

Respondent is entitled to, nor may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any 

compensatory monetary remedies imposed in the California Enforcement Action or any 

Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid in this action (Penalty 

Offset). If the court in the California Enforcement Action or any Related Consumer 

Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a 

final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the 

Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional 

civil money penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed 

in this action. 

X 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

62. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

63. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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64. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order.  

65. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or

settlement in the California Enforcement Action or any Related Consumer Action, 

Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in writing. That notification must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that 

Respondent paid or is required to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or 

classes of consumers to whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

66. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 

of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at 

least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development.  

67. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least

one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 
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68. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be

submitted under Paragraph 67 at least 30 days before the change or as soon as 

practicable after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

69. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again at least semi-annually until

the actions under this Consent Order have been completed, Respondent must submit to 

the Regional Director an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance 

Report) that has been approved by the Board or a committee thereof, which, at a 

minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has

complied with this Order; 

b. separately lists each corrective action required by this Consent

Order, the Compliance Plan, and the Redress Plan; 

c. Describes the current status of each corrective action taken and the

required, actual, and anticipated completion date for each corrective action; and 

d. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under

Section XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

70. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of

this Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 
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71. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will have responsibilities 

related to the subject matter of this Consent Order before they assume their 

responsibilities.  

72. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section.  

XIII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

73. Respondent must create or, if already created, retain for at least 5 years

from the Effective Date the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan,

described in Section VIII above. 

74. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 73 for the

duration of the Consent Order. 

75. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 73

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau’s request. 
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XIV 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

76. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., File No. 

2016-CFPB-0015,” and send them as follows:  

a. via email to WestRegion@cfpb.gov; and

b. via overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) as follows:

Regional Director, CFPB West Region, 301 Howard Street, 12th Floor, San 

Francisco, CA 94105. 

XV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the

identity and location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or control 

within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

78. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and testimony 

and Respondent must cause Respondent’s officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other proceedings 

that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written notice, or other reasonable 
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notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, without the service of 

compulsory process. 

XVI 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent’s compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

79. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau,

Respondent must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents.  

80. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

81. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of civil

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVII 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

83. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-

material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines that good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing.  
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XVIII 
Administrative Provisions 

84. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise

prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 85. 

85. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 

Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order.  

86. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final

Consent Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

87. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5

years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation 

of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent 

Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the 
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Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any 

provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated 

in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

88. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

89. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations

that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain 

the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

90. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau.

For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may seek to impose the maximum 

amount of civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be 

found and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction over 

Respondent. 

91. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the

complete agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and 

the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 
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92. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this day of September, 2016. 

7244A1,0 CCOL A^p 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

26 
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  Press Release

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Fines Wells Fargo $100 Million for
Widespread Illegal Practice of Secretly Opening Unauthorized Accounts

Bank Incentives to Boost Sales Figures Spurred Employees to Secretly Open Deposit and Credit Card Accounts

SEP 08, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. — Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) fined Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A. $100 million for the widespread illegal practice of secretly opening
unauthorized deposit and credit card accounts. Spurred by sales targets and compensation
incentives, employees boosted sales figures by covertly opening accounts and funding
them by transferring funds from consumers’ authorized accounts without their knowledge
or consent, often racking up fees or other charges. According to the bank’s own analysis,
employees opened more than two million deposit and credit card accounts that may not
have been authorized by consumers. Wells Fargo will pay full restitution to all victims and a
$100 million fine to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. The bank will also pay an additional $35
million penalty to the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and another $50 million to
the City and County of Los Angeles.

“Wells Fargo employees secretly opened unauthorized accounts to hit sales targets and
receive bonuses,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Because of the severity of these
violations, Wells Fargo is paying the largest penalty the CFPB has ever imposed. Today’s
action should serve notice to the entire industry that financial incentive programs, if not
monitored carefully, carry serious risks that can have serious legal consequences.” 

The full text of the CFPB’s Consent Order can be found at:

Wells Fargo, headquartered in Sioux Falls, S.D., is one of the biggest banks in the country
and offers many consumer financial products and services, including savings and checking
accounts, credit cards, debit and ATM cards, and online-banking services. In recent years,
the bank has sought to distinguish itself in the marketplace as a leader in “cross selling”
these products and services to existing customers who did not already have them. When
cross selling is based on efforts to generate more business from existing customers based
on strong customer satisfaction and excellent customer service, it is a common and
accepted business practice. But here the bank had compensation incentive programs for its
employees that encouraged them to sign up existing clients for deposit accounts, credit
cards, debit cards, and online banking, and the bank failed to monitor the implementation
of these programs with adequate care.

According to today’s enforcement action, thousands of Wells Fargo employees illegally
enrolled consumers in these products and services without their knowledge or consent in
order to obtain financial compensation for meeting sales targets. The Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act prohibits unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts
and practices. Wells Fargo’s violations include:

Opening deposit accounts and transferring funds without authorization: According to
the bank’s own analysis, employees opened roughly 1.5 million deposit accounts that
may not have been authorized by consumers. Employees then transferred funds from
consumers’ authorized accounts to temporarily fund the new, unauthorized accounts.
This widespread practice gave the employees credit for opening the new accounts,
allowing them to earn additional compensation and to meet the bank’s sales goals.
Consumers, in turn, were sometimes harmed because the bank charged them for
insufficient funds or overdraft fees because the money was not in their original
accounts. 

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_WFBconsentorder.pdf 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_WFBconsentorder.pdf
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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Applying for credit card accounts without authorization: According to the bank’s own
analysis, Wells Fargo employees applied for roughly 565,000 credit card accounts that
may not have been authorized by consumers. On those unauthorized credit cards,
many consumers incurred annual fees, as well as associated finance or interest charges
and other fees. 

Issuing and activating debit cards without authorization: Wells Fargo employees
requested and issued debit cards without consumers’ knowledge or consent, going so
far as to create PINs without telling consumers. 

Creating phony email addresses to enroll consumers in online-banking services: Wells
Fargo employees created phony email addresses not belonging to consumers to enroll
them in online-banking services without their knowledge or consent.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has the
authority to take action against institutions violating consumer financial laws, including
engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Today’s order goes back to Jan.
1, 2011. Among the things the CFPB’s order requires of Wells Fargo:

Pay full refunds to consumers: Wells Fargo must refund all affected consumers the sum
of all monthly maintenance fees, nonsufficient fund fees, overdraft charges, and other
fees they paid because of the creation of the unauthorized accounts. These refunds are
expected to total at least $2.5 million. Consumers are not required to take any action to
get refunds to which they are entitled. 

Ensure proper sales practices: Wells Fargo must hire an independent consultant to
conduct a thorough review of its procedures. Recommendations may include requiring
employees to undergo ethical-sales training and reviewing the bank’s performance
measurements and sales goals to make sure they are consistent with preventing
improper sales practices. 

Pay a $100 million fine: Wells Fargo will pay a $100 million penalty to the CFPB’s Civil
Penalty Fund. Today’s penalty is the largest the CFPB has imposed to date.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0016 

In the Matter of:   CONSENT ORDER 

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC. 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

institutional-lending practices of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (Respondent, as defined 

below) and has identified the following law violations.  Respondent engaged in deceptive 

acts and practices with respect to the amounts of students’ monthly payments due under 

Respondent’s Institutional Loan program. This conduct violated the prohibition on 

deceptive conduct in the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565,

the Bureau issues this Consent Order. 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565.

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent

Order” (Stipulation), dated September 7, 2016, which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings 

of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary 

to establish the Bureau’s jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of 

this action.

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order:

a. “Anticipated Total Direct Cost” means the estimated cost of tuition, fees,

books, supplies, and equipment to complete a Program of Study.

b. “Board” means Respondent’s duly elected and acting Board of Directors.

c. “Cost of Attendance” means cost of attendance as defined in § 472 of the

Federal Higher Education Act of 1965, 20 U.S.C. § 108711, or as that

statute may be amended.

d. “Effective Date” means the date on which the Consent Order is entered.
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e. “Electronic Financial Impact Platform” means an interactive, internet-

based program developed by the Bureau that produces a personalized 

disclosure for a Student of the financial impact of pursuing a particular 

Program of Study and incurring a specific amount of debt. The platform 

permits Students to input and adjust fields to customize the resulting 

disclosure, including but not limited to the fields that pertain to sources of 

funding (i.e., scholarships, grants, student contributions, federal loans, 

and private loans) and post-graduation expenses. Further, the platform 

generates a customized disclosure for the Student based on information 

provided by Respondent that shows estimates of (a) the Student’s 

Anticipated Total Direct Cost in pursuing the Program of Study, (b) the 

Student’s Cost of Attendance, including each component thereof, (c) the 

Student’s total debt at the time of repayment and the corresponding 

monthly loan payments over a term of years based on current interest-rate 

information, (d) the Student’s income if he or she successfully graduates 

from the Program of Study, and (e) the Student’s post-graduation 

expenses, including personal financial obligations such as rent or 

mortgage payments, car payments, childcare expenses, and utilities. The 

Electronic Financial Impact Platform also provides information about the 

Program of Study. In addition, the Electronic Financial Impact Platform 

contains information regarding basic borrowing and budgeting guidelines, 

as well as links to other financial and shopping-for-college resources.   

f. “Eligible Student” means any Student who incurred Institutional Loan 

Debt. 

2016-CFPB-0016     Document 1     Filed 09/12/2016     Page 3 of 21



g. “Enforcement Director” means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or her 

designee. 

h. “Institutional Loans” means loans offered directly by Respondent to 

Students. 

i. “Institutional Loan Debt” means any obligation or alleged obligation of a 

Student to pay money to Respondent as a result of an Institutional Loan.  

j. “Program of Study”  means a series of courses, seminar, or other 

educational program offered at a school operated by Respondent, for 

which Respondent charges tuition, fees, or both, which is designed to lead 

toward a degree, certificate, diploma, or other indication of completion, 

and which (a) is eligible for Title IV funding, (b) involves more than 25 

contact hours in a credit-bearing course, (c) is designed to make a Student 

eligible to sit for any state or national certification or licensing 

examination, or (d) is designed to prepare a Student for another series of 

courses, seminar, or other educational program that is eligible for Title IV 

funding. 

k. “Related Consumer Action” means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 

agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

included in this Order.   

l. “Relevant Period” means the period from January 2009 to the date of this 

Order. 
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m. “Respondent” means Bridgepoint Education, Inc., which does business 

through its subsidiaries Ashford University and the University of the 

Rockies, and its successors and assigns. 

n. “Student” means any natural person being recruited for enrollment, or 

who is or was enrolled, in Ashford University or the University of the 

Rockies.  

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

 
The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a publicly traded for-profit corporation that does business through 

its subsidiaries Ashford University and the University of the Rockies, two for-

profit colleges that have enrolled hundreds of thousands of Students over the past 

several years.  

5. Respondent is a “covered person,” as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. From 2009 until recently, Respondent operated an in-house institutional-lending 

program. 

7. A Student who took out an Institutional Loan at Respondent’s schools typically 

met with a financial-aid advisor.  

8. Respondent’s representatives typically provided Students with information about 

the Institutional Loans. The representatives in many instances made oral 

statements to Students about the potential costs of the loans, including that 

Students normally paid off Institutional Loans from Respondent with $25 

monthly payments.       
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9. During the Relevant Period, thousands of Students borrowed a total of roughly 

$23,544,184 through Respondent’s Institutional Loan program, and Respondent 

collected roughly $4,973,102 in principal and interest from these loans. 

Approximately $18,571,082 in Institutional Loan Debt remains outstanding. 

10. As described above, in connection with the oral marketing and promotion of 

Respondent’s Institutional Loans, in numerous instances Respondent, expressly 

or impliedly, made oral statements to Students about the potential costs of the 

loans, including that Students could pay off Institutional Loans with monthly 

payments of as little as $25.  

11. In fact, in many instances typical payments on Institutional Loans were greater 

than $25.  Respondent’s statements induced Students to take out Institutional 

Loans.  Thus, Respondent’s representations, described above, constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions  

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

12. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536, including by 

making false, deceptive, or misleading statements regarding actual or typical 

monthly payments Students are obligated to make in connection with 

Institutional Loans. 
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13. Within 15 days after the Bureau makes the Electronic Financial Impact Platform 

available to Respondent for Students’ use, Respondent must require all Students, 

before enrolling in a Program of Study, to generate a personalized disclosure 

using the Bureau’s Electronic Financial Impact Platform. Students who are 

ineligible for federal student aid or who are not borrowing funds to finance their 

education are exempted from this requirement.  

14. Respondent must undertake reasonable efforts, upon request by the Bureau, to 

examine and test any preliminary versions of the Electronic Financial Impact 

Platform that the Bureau presents to Respondent and to cooperate with the 

Bureau in implementing the platform. 

15. The Bureau agrees to confer with Respondent prior to delivery of the Electronic 

Financial Impact Platform or before making any material modifications to the 

Electronic Financial Impact Platform, and to consider any recommendations that 

Respondent makes regarding the Electronic Financial Impact Platform.   

16. For each Institutional Loan Debt, Respondent is permanently restrained and 

enjoined from: 

a. furnishing information about the Institutional Loan Debt to third parties, 

including consumer-reporting agencies, except that Respondent may 

furnish such information as necessary to remove tradelines placed with 

any consumer-reporting agency about any Institutional Loan Debt, as 

required under the Redress Plan described in Section VIII, below; 

b. engaging in any collection activity with respect to the Institutional Loan 

Debt; 
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c. accepting any future payment on the Institutional Loan Debt, provided 

however, that in the event a payment is discovered to be accepted and 

processed in error, Respondent may return the payment to the payor 

within a reasonable time; and 

d. reselling, transferring, or assigning the Institutional Loan Debt. 

VI 
Compliance Plan 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

17. Within 90 days from the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent’s lending 

practices comply with the terms of this Consent Order. The Compliance Plan 

must include, at a minimum, detailed steps for addressing each action required 

by this Order and specific timeframes and deadlines for implementing the steps 

described above. 

18. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. In the 

event that the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance 

Plan, Respondent must revise and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 45 days. 

19. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

in the Compliance Plan.  
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VII 
Role of the Board 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

20. The Board, or a Committee thereof, must review all submissions (including plans, 

reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order 

before they are submitted to the Bureau.  

21. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board has the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with this Consent Order. 

22. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or undertake to perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board, or a 

Committee thereof, must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any  failures to 

comply with Board directives related to this Section.  

VIII 
Order to Pay Redress 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

23. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated account an amount not less than $4,973,102 million, which represents 

the approximate amount of payments, including principal and interest, collected 
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by Respondent on Institutional Loans, for the purpose of providing redress to 

Eligible Students.  

24. Within 45 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written 

plan for providing redress consistent with this Order (Redress Plan). The 

Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent 

must revise and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Enforcement Director within 15 

days. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes in the 

Redress Plan. 

25. The Redress Plan must require Respondent to: 

a. provide to each Eligible Student that paid Institutional Loan Debt in whole 

or in part a cash refund of all amounts paid in connection with the 

Institutional Loan Debt; 

b. withdraw, dismiss, forgive, or cancel all outstanding Institutional Loan 

Debt; and 

c. remove all tradelines placed with any consumer-reporting agency about 

any Institutional Loan Debt. 

26. The Redress Plan must include (1) a description of the process by which all 

Eligible Students will be notified of the redress; (2) a description of the means by 

which Eligible Students will be located, and the steps Respondent will take with 
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respect to consumers whose redress payments are returned as undeliverable or 

not cashed within a prescribed period (3) the form of the letter or letters (Redress 

Notification Letter) to be sent notifying Eligible Students of the redress; and (4) 

the form of the envelope that will contain the Redress Notification Letter. The 

Redress Notification Letter must explain how the redress amount was calculated; 

that the cancellation of Institutional Loan Debt is in accordance with the terms of 

this Order; and that the consumer will not be subjected to any new debt-

collection or credit-reporting activities related to the Institutional Loan Debt. 

Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a Redress Notification 

Letter any materials other than the approved letters and redress checks, unless 

Respondent has obtained written confirmation from the Enforcement Director 

that the Bureau does not object to the inclusion of such additional materials.  

27. After completing the Redress Plan, if the amount of redress provided to Affected 

Consumers is less than $4,973,102, Respondent must, within 30 days of the 

completion of the Redress Plan, pay to the Bureau, by wire transfer to the Bureau 

or to the Bureau’s agent and according to the Bureau’s wiring instructions, the 

difference between the amount of redress provided to Eligible Students, and 

$4,973,102. 

28. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Eligible 

Students. If the Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress 

is wholly or partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain 

after the additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining 

funds in the United States Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no 
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right to challenge any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take 

under this Section. 

29. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Eligible 

Student under this Order on that Eligible Student waiving any right. 

IX 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

30. Based on the factors set forth in § 1055(c)(3) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), 

a judgment for a civil money penalty is hereby entered in favor of the Bureau and 

against Respondent in the amount of $8,000,000. 

31. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau’s agent in compliance 

with the Bureau’s wiring instructions.  

32. The civil money penalty paid under this Order will be deposited in the Civil 

Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

33. Respondent must treat, for all purposes, the civil money penalty paid under this 

Order as a penalty paid to the government. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 
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insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Order. 

34. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that it is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any monetary remedies 

imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty paid 

in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants 

such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final 

order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the 

Penalty Offset to the United States Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

X 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

35. In the event of any default on Respondent’s obligations to make payment under 

this Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will accrue on 

any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

36. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 
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37. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer-identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Order.  

38. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required 

to pay to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to 

whom that redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 
Reporting Requirements 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

39. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the 

emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, 

parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Order; the 

filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a 

change in Respondent’s name or address. Respondent must provide this notice at 

least 30 days before the development if practicable, but in any case no later than 

14 days after the development. 

40. Within seven days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. Respondent must 
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also designate someone, providing a name, email, and physical address, who will 

accept service of process for Respondent. 

41. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 40 at least 30 days before the change if practicable, but in any 

case no later than 14 days after the development. 

42. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, or a Committee thereof, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Order; and  

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XII, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

43. After the one-year period, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 

additional Compliance Reports within 30 days of receiving a written request from 

the Bureau. 

XII 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

44. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order. 
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45. For five years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to in 

Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, or other agents and representatives who will have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Order before they assume 

their responsibilities. 

46. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with the 

requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Order under this Section. 

XIII 
Recordkeeping 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Respondent must preserve and create, for at least five years from the Effective 

Date, the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Order, as well as all submissions to the Bureau.     

b. all documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VIII. 

c. copies of all advertisements; websites; sales scripts; training materials; 

other marketing materials, including materials offered or provided to 

students regarding admissions that relate in any way to institutional 

lending. 
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48. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 47 for at least five

years.

49. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 47 available to the

Bureau upon the Bureau’s request.

XIV 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Order in writing, with the subject line, “In re Bridgepoint Education, Inc., Case 

No. 2016-CFPB-0016” and send them either:

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1625 Eye Street N.W.
ATTN: Office of Enforcement
Washington, DC 20006; or

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement_Compliance@cfpb.gov

Assistant Director for Enforcement
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
1700 G Street, N.W.
ATTN: Office of Enforcement
Washington D.C. 20552. 

XV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

51. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Eligible Student.
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Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents’ possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 

52. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in this Order. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause Respondent’s officers, employees, 

representatives, or agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, 

and any other proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 10 days 

written notice, or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau 

may designate, without the service of compulsory process. 

XVI 
Compliance Monitoring 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

53. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional compliance reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents.  

54. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

55. Nothing in this Order will limit the Bureau’s lawful use of compulsory process, 

under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or otherwise. 
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XVII 
Administrative Provisions 

 
56. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 57. 

57. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order.  

58. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

59. This Consent Order will terminate five years from the Effective Date or five years 

from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any 

violation of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the 

relevant adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of 
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the Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld 

on appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

60. Calculation of time limitations run from the Effective Date and are based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted.  

61. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

62. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent 

may be found and Respondent may not contest that court’s personal jurisdiction 

over Respondent. 

63. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 
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Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

64. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate 

any law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 1th day of September, 2016. 

2&6440 etppal 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

21 
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  Press Release

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Takes Action Against Bridgepoint Education,
Inc. for Illegal Student Lending Practices

CFPB Orders Full Relief and Refunds for All Private Loans Made by the School

SEP 12, 2016

Washington, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against for-profit college chain Bridgepoint Education, Inc. for deceiving students into
taking out private student loans that cost more than advertised. The Bureau is ordering
Bridgepoint to discharge all outstanding private loans the institution made to its students
and to refund loan payments already made by borrowers. Loan forgiveness and refunds will
total over $23.5 million in automatic consumer relief. Bridgepoint must also pay an $8
million civil penalty to the Bureau.

"Bridgepoint deceived its students into taking out loans that cost more than advertised, and
so we are ordering full relief of all loans made by the school,” said CFPB Director Richard
Cordray. “Together with our state partners, we will continue to be vigilant in rooting out
illegal practices facing student borrowers in the for-profit space.”

The CFPB’s order can be found at:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_BridgepointConsentOrder.pdf

Bridgepoint Education, Inc. is a for-profit, post-secondary education company based in San
Diego, Calif. that does business as Ashford University and the University of the Rockies.
Over the past several years, the two for-profit colleges have enrolled hundreds of thousands
of students, most of whom take courses online.

According to the CFPB order, from 2009 until recently, Bridgepoint offered private student
loans to its students to help cover the cost of tuition. The Bureau found that the school
deceived its students about the total cost of the loans by telling students the wrong monthly
repayment amount. As a result, students at Bridgepoint were deceived into taking out loans
without knowing the true cost, and were obligated to make payments greater than what
they were promised. Specifically, the CFPB found that Bridgepoint told students that
borrowers normally paid off loans made by the school with monthly payments of as little as
$25, an amount that was not realistic.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has the
authority to take action against institutions violating consumer financial laws, including
engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. To address these violations, the
CFPB’s consent order requires Bridgepoint to:

Provide $23.5 million in relief and refunds to consumers: Bridgepoint must refund all
payments made by students toward private student loans taken out from the school,
including principal and interest, a total of about $5 million. Bridgepoint must also
discharge all outstanding debt for its institutional student loans, a total of
approximately $18.5 million. Student borrowers eligible for relief are not required to
take any action. 

Make the cost of college clear with mandatory financial aid shopping tool:
Bridgepoint must require all entering students, and current students who start different

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_BridgepointConsentOrder.pdf
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programs, to use a newly created financial aid disclosure tool when they borrow money
to pay for school. Students will use the new tool to access personalized financial aid
offer information as well as information about graduation and loan default rates,
potential salaries for their programs, and post-graduation budgeting. Bridgepoint must
require that students use the tool to access this important information before enrolling.
The school will be responsible for generating a personalized interactive disclosure for
each student. An example of what students will see when they access the tool is
available here. 

Halt illegal practices: Bridgepoint is prohibited from making false, deceptive, or
misleading statements regarding actual or typical monthly payments students are
obligated to make in connection with its private student loan program.

Remove negative loan information from borrowers’ credit reports: Bridgepoint must
remove from borrowers’ credit reports any negative information about outstanding
private student loan debt owed to the school. Bridgepoint must also stop reporting
information to debt collectors and credit reporting companies about private student
loan debt unless it is necessary to remove negative information on a consumer credit
report. 

Pay an $8 million penalty: Bridgepoint must pay an $8 million penalty payment to the
CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The CFPB’s investigation was assisted by the California Attorney General and the
Department of Education.

The CFPB estimates that there is approximately $1.3 trillion in outstanding student loan
debt, with more than 8 million Americans in default on more than $110 billion in balances.
Students and their families can find help on how to tackle their student debt on the CFPB’s
website. The new financial aid shopping tool Bridgepoint Education, Inc. must provide to
students was developed by the CFPB and builds on the agency’s Paying for College tools
that aim to help consumers find the student loan option that best fits their needs.

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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R. GABRIEL D. O’MALLEY, MA BAR #651432 
(Email: gabriel.o’malley@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9747) 
SARAH PREIS, DC BAR # 997387  
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9318) 
PATRICK GUSHUE, PA Bar #306966  
(Email: patrick.gushue@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9671) 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7329 
 
KENT KAWAKAMI, CA Bar # 149803 – Local Counsel 
(Email: Kent.Kawakami@usdoj.gov) 
(Phone: 213-894-4858) 
United States Attorney’s Office 
Central District of California - Civil Division 
300 North Los Angeles Street, Room 7516 
Los Angeles, CA 90012 
Fax: (213) 894-2380 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, 

 
Plaintiff, 
 
v. 

 
Prime Marketing Holdings, LLC, 
(d.b.a. Park View Credit, National 
Credit Advisors, and Credit Experts) 
 

Defendant. 

 
 
 
Case No. 16-cv-7111 
 
 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF 
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Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), alleges the 

following against Prime Marketing Holdings, LLC (“PMH”). 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  The Bureau brings this action under Sections 1031(a), 1036(a), and 

1054(a) of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a), 5564(a); and the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and 

Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108, and its 

implementing regulation, the Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 

310, in connection with Defendant’s offer and sale of credit repair services. 

2. Defendant engages in an ongoing, unlawful credit repair business that 

harms consumers nationwide by charging consumers unlawful advance fees and 

misrepresenting both the costs and the benefits of its services.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

“brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents 

a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345.  

4. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because 

Defendant resides in this District, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because a substantial 

part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred in this 
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District, and under 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f), because Defendant is located in and does 

business in this District. 

PARTIES 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5491. The Bureau is charged with enforcing Federal consumer financial laws. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5564. The Bureau has independent litigating authority, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5564(a)-(b), including the authority to enforce the TSR as it applies to persons 

subject to the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(d).  

6. PMH is a Delaware company organized in 2014 that has a place of 

business at 15350 Sherman Way, #255, Van Nuys, CA.  

7. Beginning on or about October 1, 2014, PMH offered and provided 

credit repair services to consumers.  

8. PMH purchased the assets of several credit repair companies on 

September 30, 2014.  

9. On or about September 29, 2014, PMH entered into an agreement 

with a company that was registered as a credit services organization (“CSO”) with 

the California Department of Justice. 

10. A California attorney was the sole owner, officer, and employee of 

that CSO. 
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11. Pursuant to the agreement, PMH handled marketing and performed all 

credit repair services for consumers who entered into contracts with the CSO. 

12. This agreement enabled PMH to offer credit repair services using the 

CSO’s name.  

13. This agreement was terminated on or about June 29, 2015. 

14. As early as November 2015, PMH began doing business in the name 

Park View Credit.  

15. As early as November 2015, PMH began doing business in the name 

National Credit Advisors.  

16. As early as November 2015, PMH began doing business in the name 

Credit Experts.  

17.  PMH offered or provided credit repair to consumers, which is a 

consumer financial product or service covered by the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(15)(A)(viii), (ix), and it therefore is a covered person within the meaning of 

the CFPA, id. § 5481(6). 

18. PMH is a seller, as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd), 

because, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, it provides, offers to 

provide, or arranges for others to provide goods or services to customers in 

exchange for consideration. 
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19. PMH is a telemarketer, as defined by the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(ff), 

because, in connection with telemarketing, it initiates or receives telephone calls to 

or from customers. 

THE CREDIT REPAIR OPERATION 

20. PMH has offered, sold and provided credit repair services to 

consumers beginning on or about October 1, 2014.  

21. PMH has offered, sold and provided credit repair services using 

several different names, including, but not limited to, Park View Credit, National 

Credit Advisors, and Credit Experts. 

22. PMH’s customers include individuals who were seeking to obtain a 

mortgage, loan, refinancing, or other extension of credit when they were first 

contacted by PMH.  

23. PMH often has called consumers shortly after the consumers have 

inquired about a loan on a lending website. 

24. Other consumers have called PMH after seeing information online 

about its credit repair services. 

PMH Charged Unlawful Advance Fees 

25. PMH requested and received payment for services represented to 

remove derogatory information from, or to improve, consumers’ credit histories, 

credit records, or credit ratings. 
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26. During the initial sales call, PMH told some consumers that they must 

pay an initial fee in order to proceed with the consultation. 

27. PMH told some consumers that this initial fee was allegedly for a 

credit report. 

28. PMH has represented that this consultation is the first step in the 

credit repair process. 

29. PMH has marketed this consultation as “free.” 

30. Typically, PMH has charged a fee in connection with this 

consultation. 

31. At times, PMH has claimed that the initial fee is for a special credit 

report or “lender report.”  

32. At times, PMH has refused to provide consumers with a copy of the 

contract until after they have paid the initial fee. 

33. During the initial consultation, an analyst purportedly reviews and 

discusses the credit report with the consumer and identifies how PMH can help the 

consumer increase his or her credit score.    

34. If consumers agree to continue the services during the consultation 

call, PMH directs them to sign a lengthy online contract. 
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35. At times, consumers have not been provided an opportunity to read 

through the contract and have been hurried through the signature process by a 

salesperson working on behalf of PMH.  

36. Consumers who elect to continue services after the initial consultation 

are charged additional monthly fees.  

37. At times, PMH has charged a monthly fee of $89.99. 

38. PMH continues to charge the monthly fee until consumers 

affirmatively cancel their contracts. 

39. At times, PMH has charged a separate set-up fee of several hundred 

dollars for the first two months, and then charged the monthly fee in later months.  

40. PMH requests and collects the initial fee, the set-up fee, and many of 

the monthly fees from consumers before it has provided them with documentation 

in the form of a consumer report from a consumer reporting agency demonstrating 

that the promised results have been achieved, such report having been issued more 

than six months after the results were achieved. 

PMH Misrepresented the Efficacy of its Services 

41. PMH misrepresented the efficacy of its services.  

42. PMH has misrepresented to consumers that it could remove virtually 

any negative information from a consumer’s credit report. 
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43. PMH has misrepresented its ability to get certain items removed from 

individual consumers’ credit reports. 

44. PMH did not have a reasonable basis for representing that it could 

remove virtually any negative information from a consumer’s credit report. 

45. At times, PMH did not have a reasonable basis for representing that it 

could get certain items removed from individual consumers’ credit reports.    

46. PMH has represented in phone calls with consumers that it 

substantially raises its customers’ credit scores, often stating that it raises scores by 

an average of more than 100 points. 

47. PMH has also represented that it can raise consumers’ individual 

credit scores by a significant—and specific—amount. 

48. PMH does not have a reasonable basis for representing that it raises 

scores by an average of over 100 points. 

49. PMH does not have a reasonable basis for stating that it can raise an 

individual’s score by a specific amount. 

PMH Misrepresented the Terms of Its “Guarantee” 

50. PMH has represented that it offers a money-back guarantee.  

51. PMH has failed to disclose that there are significant limitations on this 

guarantee. 
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52. For example, PMH’s sales contracts typically limited this guarantee to 

the removal of “a minimum of one (1) Disputed item within one hundred and 

eighty days (180) of the execution of this Agreement.” 

53. At times, PMH has represented, directly or indirectly, that the 

guarantee applies to increases in a consumer’s credit score. 

54. During sales calls, PMH has also typically failed to explain that 

consumers would have to pay for at least six months of services in order to even be 

eligible for the money-back guarantee.  

55. Consumers often encountered difficulty in obtaining refunds from 

PMH.  

PMH Misrepresented the Cost of Its Services 

56. PMH misrepresented the cost of its services to consumers. 

57. For example, at times, PMH has failed to disclose to consumers 

during sales calls that they would be charged a monthly fee.   

58. As another example, PMH has at times represented that additional 

monthly fees would be charged only if the consumer affirmatively elected to 

continue services beyond 60 days.   

59. Consumers did not need to specifically elect to continue services 

beyond 60 days, and PMH instead charged them the monthly fee automatically.  
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COUNT I 

Advance Fees in Violation of the TSR 

60. The allegations in paragraphs 1-59 are incorporated by reference.  

61. It is an abusive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to request or collect fees for credit repair services until the seller has 

provided the person with documentation in the form of a consumer report from a 

consumer reporting agency demonstrating that the promised results have been 

achieved, such report having been issued more than six months after the results 

were achieved.  

62. Because PMH is a telemarketer, seller, or both, PMH’s request for and 

collection of fees for credit repair services before providing consumers with 

documentation in the form of a consumer report from a consumer reporting agency 

demonstrating that the promised results have been achieved, such report having 

been issued more than six months after the results were achieved, violates the TSR. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2).  

COUNT II 

Misrepresentations about Material Aspects of the Efficacy of Its Services in 

Violation of the TSR 

63. The allegations in paragraphs 1-59 are incorporated by reference.  
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64. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to misrepresent any material aspect of the efficacy of their services. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 

65. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, PMH has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that its actions will or likely will result in a substantial increase to 

consumers’ credit scores.  

66. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, PMH has represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, that its actions will or likely will result in the removal of material 

negative entries on consumers’ credit reports. 

67. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

68. PMH has lacked a reasonable basis for making these claims. 

69. Because PMH is a telemarketer, seller, or both, PMH’s material 

misrepresentations about the efficacy of its services violates the TSR. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.3(a)(2)(iii). 
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COUNT III 

Failure to Disclose Limitations on Guarantee 

in Violation of the TSR 

70. The allegations in paragraphs 1-59 are incorporated by reference. 

71. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to fail to disclose material terms and conditions in an advertised 

refund policy. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 

72. PMH has represented that its services come with a money-back 

guarantee. 

73. PMH has failed to disclose the limitations that its contracts place on 

this guarantee.  

74. PMH has misrepresented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, the terms of this guarantee.  

75. Because PMH is a telemarketer, seller, or both, PMH’s failure to 

clearly and conspicuously disclose the material terms and conditions of its refund 

policy before a consumer consents to pay for goods or services violates the TSR. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii). 
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COUNT IV 

Misrepresentations Regarding the Cost of Services in  

Violation of the TSR 

76. The allegations in paragraphs 1-59 are incorporated by reference. 

77. It is a deceptive act or practice under the TSR for a seller or 

telemarketer to misrepresent, directly or by implication, the total cost to purchase 

the goods and services that are subject of the sales offer. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(i).  

78. PMH has misrepresented the total cost of its credit repair services.  

79. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

80. Because PMH is a telemarketer, seller, or both, PMH’s 

misrepresentations about the total cost of the credit repair services violate the TSR. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(i). 

COUNT V 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFPA 

81. The allegations in paragraphs 1-59 are incorporated by reference.  

82. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, PMH has, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 

made material misrepresentations regarding the efficacy of its credit repair 

services.  
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83. For example, PMH has misrepresented that its credit repair services 

will or likely will result in the removal of material negative entries on consumers’ 

credit reports. 

84. For example, PMH has misrepresented that its credit repair services 

will or likely will result in a substantial increase to consumers’ credit scores.  

85. PMH lacked a reasonable basis for making these claims.  

86. In numerous instances, in connection with the offering or provision of 

credit repair services, PMH misrepresented the costs of its credit repair services.  

87. These representations have been material and likely to mislead 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances.  

88. Therefore, PMH’s representations as described herein were false and 

misleading, and have constituted deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

89. The CFPA empowers this Court to grant any appropriate legal or 

equitable relief including, without limitation, a permanent or temporary injunction, 

rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, 

disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment, and monetary relief, 

including but not limited to civil money penalties, to prevent and remedy any 

Case 2:16-cv-07111   Document 1   Filed 09/22/16   Page 14 of 16   Page ID #:14



  

 

15 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

violation of any provision of law enforced by the Bureau. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5538(a); 

5565(a), (c).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

The Bureau requests that the Court, as permitted by 12 U.S.C. § 5565:  

a. Permanently enjoin Defendant from committing further violations of 

the CFPA and the TSR and other provisions of Federal consumer financial law as 

defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

b. Grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and 

proper; 

c. Award damages and other monetary relief against Defendant as the 

Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from Defendant’s 

violations of the CFPA and the TSR, including but not limited to rescission or 

reformation of contracts, the refund of monies paid, restitution, disgorgement or 

compensation for unjust enrichment;  

d. Award Plaintiff civil money penalties; and 
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e. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other 

and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: September 22, 2016      

Respectfully submitted, 

       Anthony Alexis  
Enforcement Director 
 
Deborah Morris 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
 
Craig Cowie 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 

                 /s/ R. Gabriel D. O’Malley  
R. Gabriel D. O’Malley 
(Email: gabriel.o’malley@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9747) 
Sarah Preis 
(Email: sarah.preis@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9318) 
Patrick Gushue  
(Email: patrick.gushue@cfpb.gov) 
(Phone: 202-435-9671) 
1700 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Fax: (202) 435-7722 

 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Sues Credit Repair Company for Misleading Consumers and Charging Illegal
Fees

CFPB Alerts Consumers About Potentially Misleading Credit Repair Services

SEP 23, 2016

Washington, D.C. – The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) filed a lawsuit in
federal district court yesterday against the credit repair company Prime Marketing Holdings,
LLC, which allegedly charged consumers a series of illegal advance fees as well as
misrepresented the cost and effectiveness of its services. The CFPB is seeking to halt the
company’s harmful conduct and to obtain relief for consumers, including refunds of fees
paid to the defendant. The Bureau is also releasing a consumer advisory today with tips for
consumers who are working to improve their credit history or who are dealing with credit
repair services.

“We are taking action against Prime Marketing Holdings for luring consumers with
misleading claims about its ability to repair credit files and then charging illegal fees,” said
CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “We are also alerting consumers to watch out for
problematic credit repair practices. All consumers have a right to a free annual credit report
and to dispute inaccurate information. This is a key step to building and maintaining good
credit.”

Prime Marketing Holdings is a credit repair company that is incorporated in Delaware with
an office in Van Nuys, Calif. Prime Marketing Holdings has operated under various names
including Park View Credit, National Credit Advisors, and Credit Experts. Since 2014, Prime
Marketing Holdings has marketed, offered, and provided credit repair services to
consumers across the country.

Some credit repair services promise to improve consumers’ credit scores by challenging
items on their credit reports, regardless of whether the information is accurate. According to
the CFPB complaint, Prime Marketing Holdings lured consumers with misleading,
unsubstantiated claims that it could remove virtually any negative information from their
credit reports and could boost credit scores by significant amounts. The company attracted
customers through its website and sales calls, at times targeting consumers who had
recently sought to obtain a mortgage, loan, refinancing, or other extension of credit. The
company would then charge consumers a variety of illegal advance fees for its services.

The Bureau’s complaint alleges that the company violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Financial Protection Act’s prohibition on deceptive acts and
practices in the marketing and promotion of its services. The company also allegedly
violated the Telemarketing Sales Rule by charging illegal advance fees and making
deceptive statements. Specifically, the complaint alleges that the defendant:

Charged illegal advance fees: Federal law bars telemarketers and certain companies
from requesting or collecting fees for credit repair services until certain conditions are
met around the delivery of services. Prime Marketing Holdings, however, charged a
variety of fees for its services before demonstrating that the promised results had been
achieved as required by law. Specifically, the company charged consumers initial fees
that it at times claimed were required to obtain special credit reports for consumers.
The company also charged set-up fees totaling hundreds of dollars and monthly fees
that often equaled $89.99 per month. 

Misled consumers about the costs of their services: In some cases, Prime Marketing
Holdings failed to disclose to consumers during sales calls that they would be charged
a monthly fee. At other times, the company represented that a monthly fee would be

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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charged only if the consumer affirmatively elected to continue services beyond 60 days.
In reality, those consumers were charged the monthly fee automatically. 

Failed to disclose limits on “money-back guarantee”: Prime Marketing Holdings
represented that it offered a money-back guarantee for certain services. The company
failed to disclose that the guarantee has significant limits, including that the consumer
must pay for at least six months of the service to be eligible for the guarantee. 

Misled consumers about the benefits of their services: Prime Marketing Holdings
misrepresented that its credit repair services would, or likely would, result in the
removal of negative entries on consumers’ credit reports. The company also
misrepresented to customers that its credit repair services would, or likely would, result
in a substantial increase to consumers’ credit scores. The company lacked a reasonable
basis for making these claims. 

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB can take action against institutions or individuals
engaged in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise violate federal
consumer financial laws. The complaint filed yesterday seeks monetary relief, injunctive
relief, and penalties. The Bureau’s complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendant has
actually violated the law.

The lawsuit filed yesterday is available at:

Consumer Advisory

Today, the CFPB is releasing an advisory to alert consumers about potentially misleading
credit repair services. The consumer advisory outlines consumers’ rights and warns them of
potentially harmful practices to look out for. As part of the consumer advisory, the Bureau is
highlighting that consumers do not have to pay anyone to help correct inaccurate
information in their credit reports. The advisory outlines consumers’ right to obtain a free
credit report from each of the largest three credit reporting companies every year and the
steps consumers can take on their own if they need to dispute inaccurate information on
their reports.

According to the advisory, consumers should:

Be wary of promised credit score increases or guaranteed results: It takes time to
repair a credit file. Consumers should be wary if a company claims it can get rid of the
negative credit information in a credit report in a short period of time -- even if that
information is accurate and current -- or if it promises a specific increase in credit score,
or guarantees results. 

Watch out for credit repair companies that demand upfront payments: A simple rule
for consumers to follow is “don’t pay up front.” Under federal law, credit repair
companies can’t require you to pay until they’ve completed the services they’ve
promised. In addition, some companies that use telemarketing may not request or
receive fees until they have provided you with a credit report generated more than six
months after the promised results that shows the results. 

Check credit reports regularly: Consumers can obtain a free copy of their credit report
at . Consumers are entitled to receive a free credit
report from each nationwide credit reporting company once every 12 months. 

Dispute inaccurate information on credit reports: Consumers can take steps on their
own to repair their credit record. Consumers can dispute errors on their credit reports
by contacting Equifax, Experian and TransUnion directly. More information is available
at: http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/314/how-do-i-dispute-an-error-on-my-
credit-report.html 

The consumer advisory is available at: 

Consumers having an issue with a credit repair company can submit a complaint to the
CFPB by:

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_PrimeMarketingHoldings_Complaint.pdf


www.AnnualCreditReport.com 



http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_ConsumerAdvisory.pdf 

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/1249/it-possible-remove-accurate-negative-information-my-credit-report.html
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/314/how-do-i-dispute-an-error-on-my-credit-report.html
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/092016_cfpb_PrimeMarketingHoldings_Complaint.pdf
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Go online at  

Call the toll-free phone number at 1-855-411-CFPB (2372) or TTY/TDD phone number
at 1-855-729-CFPB (2372) 

Fax the CFPB at 1-855-237-2392 

Mail a letter to: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, P.O. Box 4503, Iowa City, Iowa
52244

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0022

In the Matter of: 

TMX Finance LLC 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the lending 

and debt-collection practices of TMX Finance LLC (Respondent, as defined below) and 

has identified unfair and abusive practices in Respondent's lending and debt-collection 

practices in violation of§§ 1031 and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the Consumer Financial Protection 

Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). Under§§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565. 

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a

Consent Order," dated September 23, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented 

to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 
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CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of the findings of fact 

or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts necessary to establish the 

Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Board" means Respondent's duly elected and acting Board of 

Managers. 

b. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is 

issued. 

c. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office 

of Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his or 

her delegate. 

d. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf 

of one or more consumers or an enforcement action by another 

governmental agency brought against Respondent based on substantially 

the same facts as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

e. "Relevant Period" means the period from July 21, 2011, to the 

Effective Date. 

f. "Respondent" means TMX Finance LLC, its TitleMax, TitleBucks, 

and InstaLoan operating subsidiaries, parents, and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

IV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 
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4. Respondent is headquartered in Savannah, Georgia. 

5. Respondent is a specialty-finance company that originates and services 

automobile-title loans through its affiliates operating out of approximately 1300 

brick-and-mortar storefronts located in 18 states. 

6. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined in 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(6)(A). 

7. Throughout the Relevant Period, Respondent marketed and sold 

automobile-title-secured pawns, pledges, and loans to consumers across the country. 

Findings and Conclusions 
as to Abusive Practices in Alabama, Georgia, and Tennessee 

8. Respondent offers 30-day title pawns in Alabama and Georgia and title 

pledges in Tennessee under the brands TitleMax and TitleBucks. 

9. The 30-day pawns and pledges are made under each state's unique 

statutory framework. 

10. In all three states, a consumer pawns or pledges the title to his or her car 

in exchange for a 3o-day loan, pawn, or pledge. Consumers pay a pawnshop charge, the 

equivalent of interest, or, for Tennessee, a customary fee for the use of proceeds over the 

transaction term. 

11. In all three states, the finance charge is based on declining tiers according 

to the amount financed. 

12. In Alabama and Georgia, consumers can borrow as little as $100 and up to 

$10,000, depending on the appraised value of the vehicle used as collateral. 
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13. Respondent requires consumers in Alabama and Georgia to pay a monthly 

pawnshop charge equal to 9.99% to 24.99% of the principal at origination and every 

month for which the pawn transaction is renewed or extended. 

14. Consumers can borrow up to $2,500 in Tennessee and are required to pay 

a finance charge comprised of interest of 2% per month and a monthly customary fee of 

10.99% to 21.99% of the amount financed. 

15. All three states provide consumers with the right to renew or extend their 

transaction by paying the finance charge at the end of each 30-day term. 

16. In Georgia and Alabama, state law allows a consumer to pay the pawnshop 

charge only, the pawnshop charge plus a portion of the principal, or the pawnshop 

charge plus the entire principal balance at the end of each 30-day transaction period. 

17. In Tennessee, state law allows a consumer to pay the accrued finance 

charge only, the finance charge plus a portion of the principal, or the finance charge plus 

the entire principal balance at the end of each 3o-day transaction period. 

18. In Tennessee, state law requires a portion of the principal to be repaid on 

all renewals beginning with the third renewal. 

19. If a consumer does not repay at least the accrued finance charge by the 

deadline set forth in the contract, Respondent may repossess the consumer's car in 

accordance with state law requirements for repossession. 

20. Consumers in all three states apply for a 3o-day pawn or pledge in person 

at a TitleMax or TitleBucks storefront. 

21. To qualify for the pawn or pledge, the consumer must bring in a lien-free 

vehicle that the consumer wishes to use as collateral and the title to that vehicle. 
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22. A store employee appraises the vehicle while the consumer fills out a credit 

application. 

23. For most of the Relevant Period, the credit application required that the 

consumer provide contact information for the consumer's employer, if applicable, and a 

number of personal references. 

24. After conducting the vehicle appraisal, the store employee informs the 

consumer how much the vehicle is worth and how much money the consumer is eligible 

to borrow. 

25. After informing the consumer how much he or she is eligible to borrow for 

the 3o-day transaction, the store employee, as part of the sales pitch, asks the consumer 

over how many months he or she would like to repay the transaction (the requested 

payback period) or how much the consumer would like to pay each month (the target 

monthly payment). This "monthly option" requires consumers to renew or extend the 

transaction each month and to pay more than the required minimum payment to reduce 

the principal over time. 

26. After the consumer identifies his or her requested payback period or target 

monthly payment, the store employee shows the consumer a multi-month Voluntary 

Payback Guide (the "Payback Guide") and adjusts the length based on the consumer's 

requested payback period or target monthly payment. 

27. The Payback Guide is similar to an installment-loan amortization 

schedule, showing multi-month payments that reduce the principal balance to $o at the 

end of the period. 

28. The system default term for the Payback Guide is 12 months, but it can be 

adjusted to as short as 2 months or as long as 24 months, depending on how much the 
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consumer wants to pay each month and how quickly the consumer wants to pay off the 

transaction. 

29. Employees are trained to use the Payback Guide to focus consumers' 

attention on the amount of the potential monthly payment, and the sales pitch does not 

include any discussion of the total cost of the transaction if the consumer were to extend 

it over a set period. 

30. The Payback Guide does not disclose the total cost of the transaction — or 

total amount in finance charges — that the consumer would pay if he or she chose to 

renew or extend it multiple times, but it does show the finance charge and principal paid 

at each 30-day period in order to have the transaction amortize over the consumer's 

selected term. The transaction agreement the consumer receives is only for a 3o-day 

transaction and sets forth the finance charges and cost of only the 3o-day transaction. 

31. The Payback Guide and sales pitch materially interfere with the 

consumer's ability to understand that the consumer is receiving a 3o-day transaction, 

that the Payback Guide is not an actual repayment plan, that the terms of the 3o-day 

transaction are not affected by the Payback Guide, and that renewing the transaction 

over an extended period would substantially affect the overall cost of the transaction. 

32. The Payback Guide and sales pitch also materially interfere with a 

consumer's ability to understand that the longer the consumer takes to pay off the 

transaction, the more expensive the transaction will be, or to understand how much 

more expensive the transaction will be if paid off over a longer period, and they 

materially interfere with the consumer's ability to make an informed judgment about 

whether to pay off the transaction over a longer period. 
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33. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

34. As described in Paragraphs 25-32, in connection with the making of title 

pawns and pledges, Respondent's sales pitch and use of the Payback Guide has 

materially interfered with consumers' understanding of the terms and cost of its credit 

products. 

35. Respondent's sales pitch and use of the Payback Guide, as described in 

Paragraphs 25-32, constitute an abusive act or practice that violates §§ 1031(d)(1) and 

1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(1), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Unfair Debt-Collection Practices 

36. From at least 2011 until December 2015, if a consumer failed to make a 

timely payment and did not respond to communications from store employees, 

Respondent's policies allowed employees to conduct "in-person visits" to the consumer's 

home and to the consumer's references, and employees did conduct such visits. 

37. From at least 2011 until August 2015, if a consumer failed to make a timely 

payment and did not respond to communications from store employees, Respondent's 

policies also allowed employees to conduct "in-person visits" to the consumer's place of 

employment, and employees did conduct such visits. 

38. Respondent's employees conducted in-person visits to consumers' homes, 

to consumers' references, and to consumers' places of employment in all states in which 

it operates. 

39. Respondent's written policies authorized employees to conduct in-person 

visits to a consumer's home to locate a consumer and communicate with the consumer 

about his or her debt if a consumer's payment was at least three days late and the 
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consumer had not committed to making a payment. Respondent's policies also 

authorized employees to conduct in-person visits to a consumer's place of employment 

if a consumer's payment was at least ii days late and the consumer could not be reached 

by telephone and was not present during the in-person visit to this consumer's home. 

40. Employees were also authorized to conduct in-person visits to a 

consumer's references as a last resort before repossession if a consumer could not be 

reached by telephone, did not respond to communications from store employees, and 

the consumer's payment was at least ii days late. 

41. During in-person visits, Respondent's employees disclosed the existence of 

consumers' past-due debts to third parties, including neighbors, roommates, family 

members, supervisors, and co-workers. 

42. Contrary to Respondent's written policies, Respondent's employees 

conducted in-person visits to consumers' places of employment, even after being 

informed by a consumer or a consumer's supervisor that the consumer was not 

permitted to have visitors and that Respondent should cease such visits. 

43. In-person visits to a place of employment put consumers at risk of losing 

their employment or of being disciplined by their employers. 

44. As a result of in-person visits, consumers suffered or were likely to suffer 

substantial injury. 

45. Section 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" 

acts or practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause consumers substantial injury that is not reasonably avoidable and if the 

substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 
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46. Respondent's disclosure of the existence of consumers' debts to third 

parties caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that was not 

reasonably avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to 

competition. Respondent's in-person visits to consumers' places of employment when 

employees knew or should have known that personal visitors were not permitted caused 

or were likely to have caused substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably 

avoidable or outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or to competition. 

47. Respondent's practice of making in-person visits to collect debts 

constitutes an unfair act or practice that violates §§ 1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(c)(1) of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 5531(c)(1). 

ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

48. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, is 

permanently restrained from: 

a. Making in-person visits to a consumer's home or place of 

employment in connection with collecting or attempting to collect debt, 

except for: 

i. in-person visits to a consumer's home or place of 

employment solely for the purpose of locating and repossessing 

vehicles; and 
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ii. in-person visits for which the consumer, after default, 

provides his or her voluntary, affirmative, and specific written 

permission on an opt-in basis; 

b. contacting or communicating with any person or entity in relation 

to the consumer's account, other than the consumer, except for: 

i. communications to acquire location information for the 

consumer in compliance with 15 U.S.C. § 1692c and any regulations 

promulgated under 15 U.S.C. § 16921(d); 

ii. communications that comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b) and 

any regulations promulgated under 15 U.S.C. § 16921(d); and 

iii. communications made with the prior express consent of the 

consumer; 

c. disclosing the existence of the consumer's debt to any person other 

than the consumer, including references, landlords, or supervisors, in 

connection with collecting or attempting to collect a debt, except with the 

prior express consent of the consumer; 

d. using a Payback Guide or other substantially similar document; 

e. in connection with the sale, origination, renewal, or extension of 

any consumer-financial product or service, expressly or impliedly: 

i. misrepresenting the terms, length, or cost of the product; or 

ii. encouraging consumers to take longer to pay than the term 

of the original loan, pledge, or pawn. 

Nothing in this Paragraph 48(e) shall prohibit or restrict Respondent from 

providing (orally or in writing) accurate information to consumers about 
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their rights of renewal, extension, or refinancing under state law or policy, 

provided that Respondent does so in a manner that is consistent with this 

Order. 

49. Respondent must take reasonable measures to ensure that its service 

providers, affiliates, and other agents comply with this Section. 

VI 
Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

50. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's sales practices and Respondent's 

debt-collection practices comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and 

the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must, at a 

minimum: 

a. Detail steps for addressing each action required by this Consent 

Order; 

b. Ensure scripts and training materials do not encourage consumers 

to take longer to pay than the term of the original loan, pledge, or pawn; 

c. Ensure scripts and training materials do not refer to a Payback 

Guide and do not permit store employees to initiate conversations with 

consumers about (i) how much the consumer would like to pay each 

month or (ii) over how many months he or she would like to repay the 

transaction; 
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d. Require ongoing education and training in applicable federal and 

state consumer-protection laws regarding the terms of this Consent Order 

for all appropriate employees. Respondent shall document its training 

program and review and update its training program at least annually to 

ensure that it provides appropriate individuals with the most relevant 

information; 

e. Require a consumer-complaint-monitoring process, including the 

maintenance of adequate records of all written, oral, or electronic 

complaints or inquiries, formal or informal, received by Respondent and 

the resolution of the complaints and inquiries; and 

f. Include specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of 

the steps described above. 

51. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise 

it. If the Enforcement Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 3o days. 

52. After receiving notice that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

WI 
Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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53. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, 

programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order before submission 

to the Bureau. 

54. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Enforcement Director, the Board will 

have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and 

for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer-financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

55. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure 

adherence to or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully 

comply with the Consent Order; 

b. require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status 

of compliance obligations; and 

c. require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any 

material non-compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

VIII 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

56. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account 

the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of $9 

million to the Bureau. 
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57. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with the 

Bureau's wiring instructions. 

58. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in 

the Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5497(01). 

59. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent 

Order as a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the 

Bureau ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other 

tax benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or 

indemnification from any source, including but not limited to payment 

made under any insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty 

paid under this Consent Order. 

6o. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor may 

Respondent benefit from, any offset or reduction of any compensatory monetary 

remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil money penalty 

paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related Consumer Action grants 

such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days after entry of a final order 

granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset 

to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be considered an additional civil money 
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penalty and will not change the amount of the civil money penalty imposed in this 

action. 

61. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment 

under this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date of 

payment and will immediately become due and payable. 

62. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds 

paid to the fullest extent permitted by law, and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

63. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must 

furnish to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent Order. 

64. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or 

settlement in a Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement 

Director of the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification 

must indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that redress 

has been or will be paid. 

IX 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

65. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not limited to a 

dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would result in the emergence 
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of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a subsidiary, parent, or affiliate 

that engages in any acts or practices subject to this Consent Order; the filing of any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or against Respondent; or a change in 

Respondent's name or address. Respondent must provide this notice, if practicable, at 

least 30 days before the development, but in any case no later than 14 days after the 

development. 

66. Within 90 days of the non-objection of the Compliance Plan, and again 

one year after the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director 

an accurate written compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been 

approved by the Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under 

Section X, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

X 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

67. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of 

this Consent Order to each of its Board members and executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who have 

responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

68. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure referred to 

in Section IX, any future Board members and executive officers, as well as to any 
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managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives who will 

have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order before they 

assume their responsibilities. 

69. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging 

receipt of a copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply 

with the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 45 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this Section. 

XI 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

7o. Respondent must create or, if already created, must retain for at least 5 

years from the Effective Date the following business records: 

a. all documents and records necessary to demonstrate full 

compliance with each provision of this Consent Order, including all 

submissions to the Bureau and relevant sales scripts and training 

materials (including training materials used by a third party on behalf of 

Respondent); and 

b. all consumer complaints (whether received directly or indirectly, 

such as through a third party) related to the Payback Guide, in-person 

visits, or this Consent Order, and any responses to those complaints. 

71. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 7o for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

72. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 70 

available to the Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 
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XII 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Unless othervdse directed in ·writing by the Bureau, Respondent must

provide all submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re TMX Finance LLC, File No. 

2016-CFPB-0022," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows:

Anthony Alexis 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to and contemporaneously by email to:

Anthony Alexis 
Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

Enforcement Compliance@cfpb.gov 

XIII 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

74. Within 30 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau,

Respondent must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested 

information, which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 
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75. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any 

employee or other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an 

interview. The person interviewed may have counsel present. 

76. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

77. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

78. The Enforcement Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-

material requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in writing. 

XV 
Administrative Provisions 

79. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise 

prevent the Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action 

against Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 80. 

80. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability 

for law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices occurred 

before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the Effective Date. The 
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Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order in future enforcement 

actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, without limitation, to establish a 

pattern or practice of violations or the continuation of a pattern or practice of violations 

or to calculate the amount of any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any 

right of the Bureau to determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to 

seek penalties for any violations of the Consent Order. 

81. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final 

Consent Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

82. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 

years from the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation 

of the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the Consent 

Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on appeal, then the 

Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never been filed. The Consent 

Order will remain effective and enforceable until such time, except to the extent that any 

provisions of this Consent Order have been amended, suspended, waived, or terminated 

in writing by the Bureau or its designated agent. 

83. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be 

based on calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

84. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations 

that are subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain 
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the written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

85. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau.

For any violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount 

of civil money penalties allowed under§ 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in federal 

district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent may be found 

and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction over Respondent. 

86. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the

complete agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order and 

the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation 

supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or understandings. 

87. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees to violate any law, 

rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 11,� day of September, 2016.

Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Fines Titlemax Parent Company $9 Million for Luring Consumers Into More
Costly Loans

Lender Also Illegally Exposed Borrowers’ Debt Information to Employers, Friends, and Family 

SEP 26, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. — The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today took action
against TitleMax parent company TMX Finance LLC for luring consumers into costly loan
renewals by presenting them with misleading information about the deals’ terms and costs.
The lender also used unfair debt collection tactics that illegally exposed information about
debts to borrowers’ employers, friends, and family. The Bureau ordered TMX Finance to
stop its unlawful practices and pay a $9 million penalty.

“TMX Finance lured consumers into more expensive loans with information that hid the true
costs of the deal,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "They then followed up with intrusive
visits to homes and workplaces that put consumers’ personal information at risk. Today we
are making it clear that these actions were unacceptable and illegal.”

TMX Finance, which is based in Savannah, Ga., is one of the country’s largest auto title
lenders, with more than 1,300 storefronts in 18 states. TMX Finance offers title and personal
loans through a host of state subsidiaries under the names TitleMax, TitleBucks, and
InstaLoan. Single-payment auto title loans are usually due in 30 days, with some carrying an
annual percentage rate of up to 300 percent. To qualify for the loan, a consumer must bring
in a lien-free vehicle and its title as collateral.

The CFPB found that store employees, as part of their sales pitch for the 30-day loans,
offered consumers a “monthly option” for making loan payments. They then offered
consumers a “Voluntary Payback Guide” that showed how to repay the loan with smaller
payments over a longer time period. But the guide and sales pitch did not explain the true
cost of the loan if the consumer renewed it multiple times. TMX Finance employees also
unlawfully exposed sensitive personal information during “field visits” to consumers’ homes,
references, and places of employment in attempts to collect debt. Today’s order addresses
a period from July 21, 2011 to the present. Specifically, the Bureau found that TMX Finance:

Presented consumers with misleading information about loan terms: TMX Finance
employees asked consumers how much they wanted to pay each month or how long
they wanted to take to pay off the 30-day loan. The guide and sales pitch distracted
consumers from the fact that repeatedly renewing the loan, as encouraged by TMX
Finance employees, would dramatically increase the loan’s cost. The guide does not
calculate fees or the total cost to consumers of repeatedly renewing the loan instead of
repaying it in 30 days. This makes it difficult, if not impossible, for a consumer to
compare costs for renewing the loan over a given period, 

Exposed information about consumers’ debts to co-workers, neighbors, and family
members: Some TMX Finance employees revealed information about consumers’ past-
due debt while visiting consumers’ homes, references, or places of employment. TMX
Finance also made in-person debt collection attempts despite knowing that visitors
were not permitted at the consumer’s workplace. Such visits can damage consumers’
reputations, interfere with their ability to do their jobs, and trigger disciplinary action or
firing. 

Enforcement Action

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
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Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB has the
authority to take action against institutions violating consumer financial laws, including
engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices. Under the order, TMX Finance is
required to:

Stop abusive loan-repayment policies: TMX Finance cannot use any payback guide or
similar document and cannot misrepresent the terms, length, or cost of the loan. It also
cannot encourage consumers to take longer to pay than the term of the original loan. 

Stop intrusive visits to consumers’ homes or workplaces: TMX Finance cannot make in-
person visits to the homes of consumers or their workplaces to collect payments. To
make sure the company follows through, TMX Finance must submit a compliance plan
for the Bureau’s approval within 60 days of the order. 

Pay a $9 million penalty: TMX Finance will pay a penalty of $9 million to the CFPB’s
Civil Penalty Fund. 

A copy of the CFPB’s order against TMX Finance is at:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit www.consumerfinance.gov.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0023 

In the Matter of: 

Flurish, Inc., d/b/a LendUp CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the marketing 

and lending practices of Flurish, Inc., d/b/a LendUp (Respondent), and has identified 

the following violations of law: (1) deceptive practices related to marketing and 

advertising, in violation of §§ 1031 and 1036 of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 

2010 (CFPA), 12 U,S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536; (2) unfair and deceptive practices related to 

extension and default fees, in violation of §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531 and 5536; (3) failure to establish policies and procedures regarding the accuracy 

and integrity of the information furnished to consumer reporting agencies, in violation 

of Regulation V, 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a) and § 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(1)(A); and (4) inaccurate credit disclosures in loan contracts and failure to 

include APR disclosures in advertisements, in violation of the Truth in Lending Act 

(TILA), 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R § 1026.18(d)(2), 

1026.22(a)(1)-(2), and 1026.24(d)(1) & (2). Under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 
Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, FCRA, 12 U.S.C. § 1681s(b)(1)(H), and TILA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1607(a)(6). 

II 
Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated September 26, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under §§ 1053 and 

1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563, 5565, without admitting or denying any of 

the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 
Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affected Consumers" includes: 

i. consumers who were charged expedited-funding fees, from May 

2013 to March 2016, and who received finance-charge disclosures 

that did not include the portion of that fee that LendUp retained; 

ii. consumers who received incorrect APR disclosures for loans issued 

between September 2012 and January 2015; 
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consumers who, from March 2012 to February 2015, were charged 

extension fees in California, Mississippi, and Tennessee in 

connection with loans where the contract stated there were no such 

fees; 

iv. consumers who were charged undisclosed default fees in 

connection with debt collections from November 2012 to December 

2014; 

v. consumers who, according to the company's website disclosures 

and advertisements, were eligible to have credit information 

reported to nationwide consumer-reporting agencies for Platinum-

level and Prime-level loans before Respondent furnished 

information to nationwide consumer reporting agencies, from 

October 2012 to February 2014; and 

vi. non-California consumers who, between February 2014 to June 

2016, were eligible to access Platinum-level or Prime-level loans, 

when those products were not available in their states. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Effective Date" means the date on which the Consent Order is issued. 

d. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the West Region of 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his or her delegate. 

e. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one 

or more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental 
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agency brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts 

as described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

f. "Respondent" means Flurish, Inc., doing business as LendUp, and its 

successors and assigns. 

TV 
Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a California corporation that is headquartered in San Francisco, 

California. Respondent is an online lender that offers single-payment loans and 

installment loans in 24 states. 

5. These offerings are "consumer financial services or products" under the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. § 5481(5)(A), (15)(A)(i). Respondent is therefore a "covered person" under 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

6. Approximately 50,176 Affected Consumers require redress of about $1,830,000. 

Respondent's Loan-Program Marketing 

7. Respondent marketed its loan program with claims that it would build 

consumers' credit, build consumers' credit scores, furnish information regularly 

to consumer reporting agencies, and offer consumers access to "more money at 

better rates for longer periods of time" than other options available to them. 

8. Respondent also advertised that consumers could obtain financial stability by 

taking out its payday loans, repaying them on time, and completing financial-

education courses, which would allow them to take out additional payday or 

installment loans through Respondent with more favorable terms. Respondent 

referred to this prospect as the ability to move up the "LendUp Ladder." 

4 
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9. Respondent advertised four levels of loans for consumers: Silver, Gold, Platinum, 

and Prime. At each loan level, Respondent claimed that consumers could 

potentially borrow larger amounts of money at lower interest rates or repay over 

a longer period. Its website stated: "As you earn more points, you ascend in status 

from Silver, to Gold, to Platinum, to Prime." 

10. Borrowers of Respondent's Platinum-level and Prime-level loans were eligible to 

have their credit information and payment history furnished to nationwide 

consumer reporting agencies (NCRAs). Borrowers of Respondent's Silver-level 

and Gold-level loans were not. 

11. Respondent's Platinum-level and Prime-level loans also offered more favorable 

terms than Silver-level and Gold-level loans, including lower interest rates and 

the ability to pay back the loans over a longer period. 

12. Many of the benefits Respondent advertised as available to consumers who 

moved up the LendUp Ladder were, in fact, not available. Although it advertised 

all of its loans nationwide, from 2012 until 2015, Respondent did not offer any 

loans at the Platinum or Prime levels outside of California. In many states, 

Respondent still does not offer such loans. And at least until February 2014, 

Respondent did not furnish any information, about any loans, to NCRAs. 

Extension and Default Fees 

13. Respondent offered Silver-level, single-payment borrowers the option to select a 

loan-maturity—i.e., payment—date. Borrowers could select a date as late as the 

law in their state allows, or an earlier date. 

5 
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14. If a borrower chose a date earlier than the latest available date, Respondent gave 

the borrower a "discount" on the fee it charged at origination. The discount was 

pro-rated for the number of days that the borrower chose to pay "early." 

15. After the borrower selected the repayment date and the loan agreement was 

electronically signed, Respondent allowed the borrower to extend the due date 

for loan repayment, up to the maximum term allowed under state law. 

16. From March 2012 to February 2015, for borrowers who extended their 

repayment dates, Respondent reversed the discount it applied at origination. The 

reversal, like the discount, was pro-rated for each day beyond the original due 

date that the borrower elected to extend the date. 

17. Respondent did not disclose to borrowers at the time they signed their loan 

agreements that a discount would be reversed if they subsequently extended their 

repayment date or if they ultimately defaulted on the loan. 

18. From March 2012 through at least February 2015, Respondent's loan contracts in 

California, Mississippi, and Tennessee expressly stated that Respondent did not 

charge extension fees to extend payment due dates. 

19. In addition, when Silver-level borrowers defaulted, Respondent added the 

amount of the discount reversal to the amount that it sent to collections. 

Respondent did not disclose this fact to the consumers at any time. 

Credit Reporting Policies and Procedures 

20. In February 2014, Respondent began furnishing information to NCRAs for its 

Platinum- and Prime-level borrowers in states where those levels were available. 

It furnished information on a monthly basis beginning in July 2014. 

6 
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21. From its inception until April 2015, however, Respondent had no written policies 

or procedures related to credit reporting. 

Expedited Funding Fees and Inaccurate APRs 

22. Respondent offers an optional expedited-funding service through third-party 

payment processors. The service allows consumers to obtain their loan proceeds 

sooner than they would otherwise be able to. Instant, debit-card, and same-day 

funding options are available. 

23. If a consumer opts for expedited funding, Respondent charges an expedited-

funding fee (EFF), which varies depending on the particular funding service 

available to and selected by the consumer. 

24. The expedited-funding services Respondent offers are provided by third parties. 

Respondent charges fees to borrowers for the services and pays the third parties 

for providing them. 

25. From May 2013 to March 2016, Respondent retained a portion of the EFFs it 

charged. 

26. Respondent did not include the retained portion of the EFFs in the finance 

charge it disclosed or in the annual percentage rate (APR) calculations for loans 

subject to expedited-funding from May 2013 to March 2016. As a result, 

Respondent understated the finance charge and APR for those loans. 

27. In addition, from at least September 2012 to at least January 2015, due to a faulty 

APR-calculation tool, Respondent miscalculated the APR for certain other 

installment loans, understating the rates it disclosed to consumers. These 

miscalculations affected the rates provided to California borrowers who obtained 

installment loans during this period. 

7 
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28. During this period, Respondent did not take reasonable steps to verify the 

accuracy of the tool before using it or otherwise to ensure accurate APR 

calculations, including monitoring or testing APRs before or after consummation. 

Advertisements with Triggering Terms 

29. Respondent used online banner advertisements appearing on Facebook and with 

Internet search results that included statutory triggering terms, but Respondent 

failed to disclose in those advertisements the APR and whether the rate could be 

increased after consummation. 

3o. Specifically, banner advertisements used by Respondent until at least 2015 

included "slider bars" that allowed a consumer to view various loan amounts and 

repayment terms (in number of days). These advertisements did not contain APR 

disclosures. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Marketing. Praclices in 
Violation of the CFPA 

31. By advertising the LendUp Ladder, credit-building loans, and the opportunity for 

consumers to improve their credit scores through use of Respondent's loans, 

Respondent represented that those benefits were available to consumers who 

borrowed from Respondent. 

32. In fact, between February 2012, when Respondent was founded, and February 

2014, Respondent did not offer loans that would he reported to NCRAs, other 

than to borrowers in California, and did not actually furnish credit or payment 

information to NCRAs for loans that were eligible. The benefits Respondent 

advertised therefore were not available to its customers. 

8 
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33. Respondent's misrepresentations were likely to mislead consumers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances to borrow from Respondent, and constitute 

deceptive acts or practices under the CFPA. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Practices Related to 
Extension Fees in Violation of the CFPA 

34. Between March 2012 and February 2015, Respondent stated in loan agreements 

that it used in California, Mississippi, and Tennessee that it did not charge fees to 

consumers for extending their loan-repayment dates. 

35. In fact, during the same period, where consumers extended their loan-repayment 

dates, Respondent reversed a "discount" it had previously applied for each day a 

consumer's loan-repayment date was extended. Respondent's reversal of the 

discount operated as an extension fee for consumers. 

36. Respondent's misrepresentations in its loan agreements regarding its extension 

fees constitute deceptive acts or practices. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Unfair Practices Related to Default 
Fees in Violation of the CFPA 

37. Respondent charged undisclosed fees to consumers in default. Consumers were 

not aware of the extension fees that would be added to their loans upon default 

and thus could not factor those fees into their decision-making about whether to 

take the loan in the first place or whether to budget differently in order not to 

default on the loan. Respondent's practice caused or was likely to cause 

substantial harm to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers 

and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 

38. Respondent's practice of charging unauthorized and undisclosed fees to 

consumers in default was unfair. 

9 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Lack of Written Credit Reporting 
Policies and Procedures in Violation of FCRA and Regulation V 

39. Respondent was a furnisher under the FCRA and subject to Regulation V 

beginning in or around February 2014. 

40. By failing to have any written policies or procedures regarding the accuracy and 

integrity of the information relating to consumers that it furnished until at least 

April 2015, Respondent violated the FCRA and Regulation V. 12 C.F.R. § 

1022.42(a). 

41. Respondent's violations of the FCRA and Regulation V also constitute violations 

of § 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Understated Finance Charges in 
Violation of TILA and Regulation Z 

42. From May 2013 until March 2016, Respondent failed to include the portion of the 

expedited-funding fees that it retained, resulting in inaccurate finance-charge 

disclosures in violation of TILA and Regulation Z. 15 U.S.C. § 1605; 12 C.F.R. § 

1026.18(d)(2). 

43. Respondent's violations of TILA and Regulation Z constitute violations of § 1036 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Inaccurate APR Disclosures in 
Violation of TILA and Regulation Z 

44. On many loans issued in California between September 2012 and January 2015, 

Respondcnt disclosed an inaccurate, understated APR. 

45. In most of these instances, the APR disclosure was understated by more than 

.125 % .

10 
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46. From September 2012 to January 2015, for certain California loans, Respondent 

disclosed inaccurate APRs in violation of Regulation Z. 12 C.F.R. §§ 1026.18(e) 

and 1026.22(a)(1) & (2). 

47. Respondent's violations of TILA and Regulation Z constitute violations of § 1036 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Practices Related to TILA 
Disclosures in Violation of the CFPA 

48. Respondent misrepresented loan terms to consumers by failing to disclose the 

retained portion of EFFs as part of the finance charge and understating the APR 

disclosure. 

49. Respondent's disclosures of inaccurate finance charges and APRs constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of § 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Failure to Disclose APR and Other 
Information in Advertisements with Triggering Terms in Violation of 

TILA and Regulation Z 

50. Respondent used triggering terms in online advertisements appearing on 

Facebook and with Internet search results but failed to disclose in those 

advertisements (a) the APR, using that term, and (b) whether the rate could be 

increased after consummation. 

51. Respondent therefore violated TILA and Regulation Z. 12 C.F.R. §1026.24(d)(1) 

(2). 

52. Respondent's violations of TILA and Regulation Z constitute violations of § 1036 

of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

11 
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ORDER 

V 
Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under §§ 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

53. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate §§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, Regulation V, 

12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a), TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq.,. and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 1026.18(d) & (e), 1026.22(a)(1) & (2) and 1026.24(d)(1) & (2), or any other 

provision of "Federal consumer financial law," as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14) 

and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether actin& directly or 

indirectly, in connection with marketing and offering consumer credit, 

may not misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or 

impliedly: 

The benefits of borrowing from Respondent, including access to 

and availability of loan products and credit reporting opportunities; 

ii. The fees charged for loan extensions; 

iii. The fees charged upon loan default; 

iv. The finance charge for loans; 

v. The APR for loans; or 

vi Any other fact material to consumers. 

12 
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b. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys 

who have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or 

indirectly, in connection with marketing or offering consumer credit must: 

i. Regularly review all of its marketing materials and website content, 

including advertisements, to ensure Respondent is not misleading 

consumers; 

ii. Conduct thorough due diligence of its service providers to ensure 

that any marketing or advertising done through service providers is 

not misleading to consumers; 

iii. Regularly review compliance with Federal consumer-financial laws, 

including, specifically, those laws that govern loan disclosures; 

iv. Include the correct finance charge and APR in its disclosures; and 

v. Regularly test APR calculations and disclosures to consumers to 

ensure compliance with TILA and Regulation Z. 

VI 
Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

54. The Board must review all submissions (including plans, reports, programs, 

policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior to submission to 

the Bureau. 

55. Although this Consent Order requires the Respondent to submit certain 

documents for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board 

will have the ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of 

Respondent and for ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer 

financial law and this Consent Order. 

13 
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56. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board to ensure adherence 

to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply 

with the Consent Order; 

b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board on the status of 

compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with Board directives related to this Section. 

VII 
Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

57. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account at least $1,830,000 for the purpose of providing 

redress to Affected Consumers as required by this Section. 

58. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan describing 

any redress that may have been paid by Respondent and addressing the 

remaining redress that is outstanding consistent with this Consent Order 

(Redress Plan). The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan or direct the Respondent to 

revise it. If the Regional Director directs the Respondent to revise the Redress 

Plan, the Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to 

the Regional Director within 15 days. After receiving notification that the 

Regional Director has made a determination of non-objection to the Redress 

14 
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Plan, the Respondent must implement and adhere to the steps, 

recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the Redress Plan. 

59. The Redress Plan must: 

a. Specify how Respondent has identified all Affected Consumers; 

b. Describe how Respondent has calculated the amount of redress paid or to 

be paid to Affected Consumers in each category; 

c. Identify the Affected Consumers in each category and, for each: (1) provide 

the total redress required to compensate the consumer for the practices 

described in this Consent Order; (2) state any refund provided by 

Respondent to the consumer before the Effective Date for the practices 

described in this Consent Order; and (3) state the remaining redress owed 

to the consumer (Remaining Redress); 

d. State the total amount refunded by Respondent before the Effective Date 

to all consumers affected by the practices described in this Consent Order 

(Total Refunds), and the form in which those refunds were made; and 

e. Provide the form in which the Remaining Redress will be provided to 

Affected Consumers. 

60. Within 30 days of receipt of non-objection to the Redress Plan, if the sum of the 

Total Refunds and Remaining Redress under the Redress Plan is less than 

$1,830,000, Respondent must pay the difference by wire transfer to the Bureau or 

to the Bureau's agent, according to the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

61. The Bureau may use these remaining funds to pay additional redress to Affected 

Consumers. Upon receiving a written request from Respondent, the Bureau may 

provide Respondent with information concerning additional redress. If the 

15 
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Bureau determines, in its sole discretion, that additional redress is wholly or 

partially impracticable or otherwise inappropriate, or if funds remain after the 

additional redress is completed, the Bureau will deposit any remaining funds in 

the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement. Respondent will have no right to challenge 

any actions that the Bureau or its representatives may take under this Section. 

62. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Affected 

Consumer under this Consent Order on that Affected Consumer waiving any 

right. 

VIII 
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

63. Under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations of 

law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(0(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$1,800,000 to the Bureau. 

64. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

65. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by § 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5497(d). 

66. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 
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a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax 

benefit for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification 

from any source, including but not limited to payment made under any 

insurance policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this 

Consent Order. 

67. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 30 days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 

IX 
Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 
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69. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

70. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

71. Within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

X 
Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

72. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation, or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 
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must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

73. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal 

address as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate 

with Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; and 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and 

services offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

74. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has 

complied with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section 

XI, unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 

XI 
Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

75. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 
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any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

76. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section X, any future board members and executive officers, as well 

as to any managers, employees, service providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

77. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 30 days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XII 
Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

78. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this,Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau. 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VII above. 

c. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; 
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and other marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a 

third party on behalf of Respondent. 

79. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 78 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

80. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 78 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XIII 
Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

81. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Flurish, Inc. dba LendUp, 

2016-CFPB-0023," and send them as follows: 

a. via email to WestRegionPcfpb.gov; and 

b. via overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Regional Director 
CFPB West Region 
301 Howard Street, 12th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94105. 

XIV 
Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

82. Respondent must cooperate fully to help the Bureau determine the identity and 

location of, and the amount of injury sustained by, each Affected Consumer. 

Respondent must provide such information in its or its agents' possession or 

control within 14 days of receiving a written request from the Bureau. 
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83. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause its officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other 

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 5 days written notice, 

or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process. 

XV 
Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

84. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional COMpliance:.:ReportS or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

85. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

86. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use. of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 
Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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87. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

88. The Regional Director may, in his or her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he or she determines good cause justifies 

the modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in 

writing. 

XVII 
Administrative Provisions 

89. Except as set forth in the following paragraph, the provisions of this Consent 

Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the Bureau, or any other 

governmental agency, from taking any other action against Respondent. 

90. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them, as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 
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91. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under § 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does not 

form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

92. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in, writing by ale Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

93. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

94. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 
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95. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under § 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c). In 

connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent Order in 

federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever Respondent 

may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal jurisdiction 

over Respondent. 

96. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

97. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing the Respondents, their officers, or employees to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 27th day of September, 2016. 

2244Ana CotA406 
Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Orders LendUp to Pay $3.63 Million for Failing to Deliver Promised Benefits

Online Lender Did Not Help Consumers Build Credit or Access Cheaper Loans, As It Claimed

SEP 27, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action
against online lender Flurish, Inc., doing business as LendUp, for failing to deliver the
promised benefits of its products. The CFPB found that the company did not give
consumers the opportunity to build credit and provide access to cheaper loans, as it
claimed to consumers it would. The Bureau has ordered the company to provide more than
50,000 consumers with approximately $1.83 million in refunds. The company will also pay a
civil penalty of $1.8 million.

“LendUp pitched itself as a consumer-friendly, tech-savvy alternative to traditional payday
loans, but it did not pay enough attention to the consumer financial laws,” said CFPB
Director Richard Cordray. “The CFPB supports innovation in the fintech space, but start-ups
are just like established companies in that they must treat consumers fairly and comply with
the law.”

Flurish, Inc., doing business as LendUp, is an online lending company based in San
Francisco, Calif. that offers single-payment loans and installment loans in 24 states. The
company began marketing its loans in 2012 as a way for consumers to build credit and
improve credit scores, and it offered consumers who participated in the program the ability
to progress to loans with more favorable terms, including lower rates and longer repayment
periods, over time. The company advertised this opportunity as the ability to move up the
“LendUp Ladder.”

According to today’s enforcement action, LendUp did not deliver on its promises. Some of
its product offerings weren’t available to consumers where they were advertised. In
addition, for a time, the company did not properly furnish information to the credit
reporting companies, denying consumers the promised opportunity to improve their
creditworthiness. LendUp’s conduct violated multiple federal consumer financial protection
laws, including the Truth in Lending Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act. Specifically, the CFPB found that the company:

Misled consumers about graduating to lower-priced loans: Many of the benefits the
company advertised as available to consumers who moved up the LendUp Ladder
were not actually available. Despite the fact that LendUp advertised all of its loans
nationwide, loans at the higher levels were not available outside of California for most
of the company’s existence. Therefore, borrowers outside of California were not eligible
to move up the “LendUp Ladder” and obtain lower-priced loans and other benefits. 

Hid the true cost of credit: LendUp gave some consumers inaccurate information about
the true cost of the loans offered. The company used banner ads on Facebook and
other Internet search results that included “slider bars” allowing consumers to view
various loan amounts and repayment terms, but it did not disclose the annual
percentage rate as required by law. 

Reversed pricing without consumer knowledge: With one particular loan product,
borrowers had the option to select an earlier repayment date. Borrowers who selected
an earlier repayment date received a discount on the origination fee. But if a borrower
later extended the repayment date, the company would reverse the discount given at
origination. The company did not disclose this and, in three states, the company’s loan
agreement specifically stated that it would not charge any fees to extend the

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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repayment period. In addition, if a borrower defaulted, any discount received at
origination was reversed and added to the amount sent to collections. 

Understated the annual percentage rate: LendUp offered services that allowed
consumers, for a fee, to obtain their loan proceeds more quickly. The company passed
along the fee to a third party, but LendUp also retained a portion of the fee from loans
made between May 2013 and March 2016. In many instances, these retained fees
should have been included in the annual percentage rate calculation; because they
were not, the company inaccurately disclosed the finance charges.  

Failed to report credit information: Although the company began making loans in
2012 and advertised its loans as credit building opportunities, the company did not
furnish any information about any loans to credit reporting companies until at least
February 2014. Before April 2015, LendUp also failed to have any written policies and
procedures about the accuracy and integrity of information furnished to consumer
reporting agencies.

Enforcement Action

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has authority to take action against institutions or
individuals engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices or that otherwise
violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the CFPB order released today,
LendUp is required to:

Provide approximately $1.83 million in redress to victims: The company is ordered to
pay about $1.83 million to over 50,000 consumers. Consumers are not required to take
any action. The company will contact consumers in the coming months about their
refunds. 

End deceptive loan practices: LendUp must stop misrepresenting the benefits of
borrowing from the company, including what loan products are available to consumers
and whether the loans will be reported to credit reporting companies. The company
must also stop mispresenting what fees are charged, and it must include the correct
finance charge and annual percentage rate in its disclosures. 

End unlawful advertisements: The company must regularly review all of its marketing
material to ensure it is not misleading consumers. 

Ensure accuracy of pricing: The company must regularly test annual percentage rate
calculations and disclosures to ensure it complies with the Truth in Lending Act. 

Pay a $1.8 million civil penalty: LendUp will pay $1.8 million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty
Fund.

The full text of the CFPB’s consent order is available at:

The CFPB investigation was conducted in coordination with the California Department of
Business Oversight, which today announced a separate settlement with LendUp:

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers  to take more control over their economic lives.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0024 

In the Matter of: 

NAVY FEDERAL CREDIT UNION 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the debt 

collection activities of Navy Federal Credit Union (Respondent, as defined below) and 

has identified the following law violations. First, Respondent violated the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA) by making deceptive representations to 

consumers in connection with its debt collection activities about its intention to take 

legal action against delinquent debtors, its intention to contact consumers' military 

chains of command about consumers' debts, and the effect of delinquency or repayment 

on consumers' credit ratings. Second, Respondent violated the CFPA by unfairly 

restricting consumers' electronic account access—blocking debit cards, ATM usage, and 

online account functions—when the consumers had an overdrawn deposit account or 

delinquent credit account. Under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 

and 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 
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I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated October 7, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by reference 

and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has consented to 

the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 1053 and 1055 of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or denying any of the 

findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent admits the facts 

necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject 

matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Affiliate" means any person that controls, is controlled by, or is under 

common control with Respondent. 

b. "Board" means Respondent's duly-elected and acting Board of Directors. 

c. "Commanding Officer Threat Letter" means a letter described in Paragraphs 

29-31 and sent by Respondent to a consumer during the Relevant Period. 
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d. "Deceptive Debt Collection Letter" means a letter described in Paragraphs 14-

18, 29-31, and 39-42, and sent by Respondent to a consumer during the 

Relevant Period. 

e. "Effective Date" means the date on which this Consent Order is issued. 

f. "Regional Director" means the Regional Director for the Southeast Region for 

the Office of Supervision for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or 

his/her delegate. 

g. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

h. "Relevant Period" includes the period from January 1, 2013, to the date of this 

Consent Order. 

i. "Respondent" means Navy Federal Credit Union and its successors and 

assigns. 

j. "Redress Eligible Consumer" means a consumer who: 

i. Made a Redressable Payment to Respondent; or 

ii. Received a Commanding Officer Threat Letter during the Relevant 

Period. 

k. "Redressable Payment" means a payment to Respondent on a consumer debt 

made within 6o days of the date of a Deceptive Debt Collection Letter during 

the Relevant Period, with the following limitations: 
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i. Redressable Payment does not include a payment where Respondent 

can demonstrate that the letter was undeliverable and no Deceptive 

Debt Collection Letter was received by the consumer; 

ii. Redressable Payment does not include a payment by an automobile 

insurance company or dealer; 

iii. Redressable Payment does not include a payment made as a result of a 

Navy Federal Credit Union refinance or consolidation loan that was 

applied for or initiated before the date of the Deceptive Debt Collection 

Letter; and 

iv. For any other payment made by a financial institution that 

extinguished the consumer's debt, as with a refinance or consolidation 

loan, Respondent may cap the Redressable Payment at $1,00o. 

1. "Service Provider" has the same meaning as set forth in section 1002(26) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(26). 

117 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a federal credit union with its principal place of business in 

Vienna, Virginia. 

5. As of December 31, 2015, Respondent had $73,286,800,000 in assets. 

6. Respondent is an insured credit union with assets greater than $1o,000,000,000 

within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5515(a). 

7. Respondent is a "covered person" as that term is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 



2016-CFPB-0024 Document 1 Filed 10/11/2016 Page 5 of 33 

8. At all times relevant to this Consent Order, Respondent offered and provided a 

wide range of consumer financial products and services, including accepting 

deposits and maintaining deposit accounts, extending credit, servicing loans, and 

collecting debt related to consumer financial products and services. 

9. Membership in Navy Federal Credit Union is limited to people who are or have 

been United States military servicemembers, Department of Defense civilian 

employees or contractors, U.S. government employees assigned to Department of 

Defense installations, and their immediate family members. 

Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Debt Collection Letters 

10. Respondent generally handles its debt collection activities using Navy Federal 

Credit Union employees up to the point of litigation. Its primary collection 

activities are telephone calls and letters to delinquent and overdrawn members. 

ii. From at least January 1, 2013, until after Respondent learned of this 

investigation, Respondent's compliance controls and employee training 

regarding debt collection communications were inadequate. 

12. Respondent made deceptive representations to hundreds of thousands of 

consumers in the course of attempting to collect on consumer debts. 

13. Among Respondent's many debt collection letter templates in use at various 

times since at least January 1, 2013, several contained material representations 

that were likely to mislead reasonable consumers, including the following: 
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Letters Threatening Legal Action 

14. In several letter templates, Respondent made representations threatening legal 

action against the consumer because of the consumer's delinquency on a Navy 

Federal Credit Union account. 

15. Some letters stated that legal action had "been recommended." 

16. Some letters stated that if the consumer failed to make a payment, Respondent 

would "have no alternative but to recommend [the account] for legal action." 

17. Many of the letters threatened garnishment of wages—a remedy generally 

unavailable to Respondent without a court judgment against the consumer. 

18. Between January 2013 and July 2015, Respondent sent letters to approximately 

193,000 consumers creating the net impression that Respondent intended to sue 

the consumers if they failed to remit payment as instructed in the letter. 

19. The reality, however, was that Respondent seldom recommended or took legal 

action against its members. 

20. During the same period that these letters were sent to about 193,000 consumers, 

Respondent filed fewer than 5,000 debt collection lawsuits against its members. 

21. In a sample of 239 accounts involving consumers who did not communicate with 

or remit funds as demanded by Respondent in a problematic letter, Respondent 

filed just eight debt collection lawsuits. 

22. Respondent's process for evaluating accounts for potential legal action was not 

sufficiently connected to or coordinated with the separate process for 

determining when to send letters to consumers threatening legal action. 

23. Rather than engage in any account-specific review prior to sending such a letter, 

Respondent treated all charged-off accounts "recommended for litigation" for 
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purposes of sending collection letters threatening legal action. Despite that 

blanket treatment, a very small subset of those accounts would actually be 

recommended for litigation if the delinquency remained uncured. 

24. Because of the disconnect between Respondent's narrow litigation practice and 

its broad letter campaign, the message to consumers—pay or be sued—was 

inaccurate about 97% of the time, even among consumers who did not make a 

payment in response to the letter. 

25. Section io36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

26. As described in Paragraphs 14 through 18, in connection with its debt collection 

activities, Respondent has represented in collection letters, expressly or 

impliedly, that it intended to take legal action against consumers. 

27. In fact, in most cases, at the time Respondent made the representations, the 

threatened legal action was not intended. 

28. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 26, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Letters Threatening to Contact Servicemembers' Commanding Officers 

29. One of Respondent's debt collection letters threatened to contact consumers' 

military commanding officers about their delinquencies if consumers did not 

promptly make a payment. 

3o. The letter stated: "[Y]our continued failure to forward the requested funds will 

leave us no alternative but to forward the Certificate of Compliance covering your 
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loan to your commanding officer to request assistance in communicating with 

you." 

31. This letter was sent to approximately 115 consumers, but there is no evidence that 

Respondent contacted the commanding officers of any of those recipients, even 

those who failed to comply with the demand to forward funds to Respondent. 

32. Thus, the threat to contact consumers' commanding officers was false. 

33. If Respondent had intended to carry out its threats to contact delinquent 

consumers' commanding officers, Respondent lacked consumers' consent to do 

so. 

34. The provision in Respondent's account agreements that purported to give 

Respondent the right to disclose servicemembers' debts to their military 

commands was not consented to by consumers because the contract clause was 

buried in fine print, non-negotiable, and not bargained for by consumers. 

35. Section 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

36. As described in Paragraphs 29 through 31, in connection with its debt collection 

activities, Respondent has represented in collection letters, expressly or 

impliedly, that it was authorized and intended to contact consumers' 

commanding officers about the debts Respondent was attempting to collect. 

37. In fact, at the time Respondent made the representations, Respondent was not 

authorized and did not intend to contact the consumers' military chains of 

command about the debts Respondent was attempting to collect. 
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38. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 36, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(3). 

Letters Containing Misrepresentations about Credit Ratings 

39. Respondent's debt collection letters also contained misrepresentations regarding 

the credit consequences of falling behind on a Navy Federal Credit Union loan. 

40. Some letters sent to consumers informed them: "You will find it difficult, if not 

impossible, to obtain additional credit because of your present unsatisfactory 

credit rating with Respondent." 

41. Other letters stated that the recipient consumer could "repair[]" his or her 

"credit" or "credit reputation" by calling Respondent. 

42. Respondent sent the letters to about 68,000 consumers between January 2013 

and July 2015. 

43. Despite the letters' express representations about consumers' credit reputations 

and the unavailability of credit, Respondent did not review or analyze the 

recipients' particular credit situations before sending the letters. 

44. Respondent had no basis to assert, as it did in the letters, that the recipients of 

the letters would necessarily find it difficult or impossible to obtain additional 

credit, or that the consumers' credit reputation would be repaired if they 

contacted Respondent. 

45. Respondent's representations about the impact of the delinquency or repayment 

were inaccurate for many consumers. 

46. Some letters also misleadingly implied that Respondent issued a credit "rating"—

as a credit reporting company would—or was offering credit "repair" services. In 
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fact, Respondent was merely a furnisher to credit reporting companies, and it 

was inaccurate for Respondent to imply that it could, itself, raise or lower 

consumers' credit ratings or improve consumers' access to credit. 

47. Section 1o36(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

48. As described in Paragraphs 39 through 42, in connection with its debt collection 

activities, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that Respondent 

offered credit repair services; that Respondent issued a credit rating; that a 

consumer's decision to settle or repay a debt would result in repairing or 

improving the consumer's credit history; and that a consumer's delinquency or 

default on a Navy Federal Credit Union debt would make it difficult or impossible 

for the consumer to obtain additional credit. 

49. In fact, at the time Respondent. made the representations, Respondent did not 

offer credit repair services; Respondent did not issue credit ratings; and 

Respondent had no basis to assert that a particular consumer's decision to settle 

or repay a debt would result in repairing or improving the consumer's credit 

history or that a consumer's delinquency or default on a Navy Federal Credit 

Union debt would make it difficult or impossible for the consumer to obtain 

additional credit from other creditors. 

5o. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 48, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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Findings and Conclusions as to Deceptive Debt Collection 
Communications over the Telephone 

51. Since at least January 1, 2013, Respondent's collections personnel have made 

statements that were likely to mislead consumers over the telephone, including 

the following: 

52. On numerous occasions, Respondent's collections personnel threatened legal 

action or wage garnishment as a consequence of delinquency or default even 

though Respondent, in the overwhelming majority of cases, did not take such 

action, even when consumers failed to comply with the demand to forward funds 

to Respondent. 

53. In addition, during some calls Respondent's collections personnel threatened to 

contact a consumer's military command concerning a delinquent debt even 

though there is no evidence that Respondent made such contacts. 

54. The threats Respondent made over the telephone were likely to mislead 

reasonable consumers. At the time of the phone calls, Respondent had no 

intention to file suit, garnish wages, or contact consumers' military employers 

about the debt. 

55. Threats of litigation, wage garnishment, and disclosures to consumers' military 

employers were not covered in Respondent's training materials and internal 

policies and procedures. Between January 1, 2013 and at least June 1, 2015, 

Respondent's quality control procedures did not address threats of litigation, 

wage garnishment, and disclosures to consumers' military employers. 

56. Some training manuals instructed collections personnel to obtain the consumer's 

commanding officer's contact information as alternative contact information for 
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the consumer. That instruction was not paired with sufficient guidance about not 

disclosing debts to third parties and not making threats Respondent could not 

legally take or did not intend to take. 

57. Respondent lacks documentation that any employees were disciplined, 

reprimanded, or subject to additional training for disclosing debts to third parties 

or making threats Respondent could not legally take or did not intend to take. 

58. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

59. As described in Paragraphs 51 through 53, in connection with its debt collection 

activities, Respondent has represented, expressly or impliedly, that it intended to 

file suit, garnish wages, or contact consumers' military employers about the debt. 

6o. In fact, at the time of the representations, the threatened actions were not 

intended or were actions Respondenl was not authorized to pursue. 

61. Thus, Respondent's representations, as described in Paragraph 59, constitute 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) and 1o36(a)(1)(B) of 

the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions as to Unfair 
Electronic Account Access Restrictions 

62. Respondent had a practice of freezing consumers' electronic account access and 

disabling certain electronic services after consumers became delinquent on a 

Navy Federal Credit Union credit account. 

63. The account restrictions were applied at the member level, meaning that a 

delinquency or overdraft on one account would trigger a freeze of the consumer's 
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electronic account access and certain electronic services for all of the consumer's 

Navy Federal Credit Union accounts. 

64. The account restrictions included disabling the consumer's debit or ATM card 

and all functions at ATMs. 

65. The account restrictions also prevented the consumer from accessing online or 

mobile web platforms to check account balances, transfer funds, or make online 

payments—except payments to the delinquent or overdrawn account. 

66. The account_ restrictions also prevented the consumer from adding a travel alert 

to the consumer's accounts through mobile platforms. 

67. The account restrictions also prevented consumers from having Social Security 

Administration verification requests processed, impeding consumers' ability to 

have their eligibility determined for certain Social Security benefits. 

68. The timing of the restrictions depended on the risk level assigned to the account, 

with some electronic access freezes taking effect after just a few days of 

delinquency. Since January 1, 2013, about 36,000 consumers had their accounts 

restricted after being delinquent for 1-5 days; about 480,000 consumers had 

their accounts restricted after being delinquent 6-16 days; and about 180,000 

consumers had their accounts restricted after being delinquent 17 or more days. 

69. Respondent did not provide adequate notice to consumers of an impending 

electronic freeze. 

70. In most cases, consumers could not regain their electronic services until after 

they settled their debt or made arrangements with Respondent. 

71. Until mid-2015, Respondent did not make an exception for accounts containing 

protected federal benefits, such as Social Security Income and veterans' benefits. 
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Those funds, like all other funds, could not be transferred online or accessed 

through a bank card or ATM machine while the electronic restrictions were in 

place. 

72. In June and July 2015, during the Bureau's investigation of this issue, 

Respondent stopped imposing these electronic access restrictions on delinquent 

members. 

73. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices." 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if "(A) the act or 

practice causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not 

reasonably avoidable by consumers; and (B) such substantial injury is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition." 12 U.S.C. § 

5531(c)(1). 

74. As described in Paragraphs 62 through 71, from at least January 1, 2013 until it 

ended the practice in mid-2015, Respondent unfairly restricted consumers' 

electronic account access and electronic account services, on all of the consumers' 

accounts, when the consumers were delinquent on a Navy Federal Credit Union 

credit account. 

75. Respondent's acts and practices caused or were likely to cause substantial 

injuries to consumers. 

76. The injuries to consumers included, but were not limited to: 

a. Interfering with consumers' ability to make purchases or withdrawals using 

their debit or ATM cards; 

b. Interfering with consumers' ability to make deposits through ATMs; 
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c. Preventing consumers from managing their accounts online or through 

ATMs; and 

d. Preventing consumers from initiating electronic transfers or payments from 

or between their Navy Federal Credit Union accounts. 

77. The injuries to consumers were not reasonably avoidable because Respondent's 

policies and practices regarding electronic access and service restrictions were 

not adequately disclosed to consumers when they opened their deposit accounts, 

when they opened their credit accounts, or before they became delinquent on a 

credit account. 

78. The injuries to consumers were not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

79. Thus, Respondent's electronic account access restriction activities, as described 

in Paragraph 74, constitute unfair acts or practices in violation of sections 1031(a) 

and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) and 5536(a)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 

5565, that: 

80. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not 

violate sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, as 

follows: 
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a. Cease and desist from making any deceptive representations in any debt 

collection communication to a consumer, whether by telephone, letter, or 

other means, including any misleading, false, or unsubstantiated threats to 

contact a consumer's commanding officer, threats to initiate legal action or 

wage garnishment, or misrepresentations regarding the credit consequences 

of falling behind on a Navy Federal Credit Union loan. 

b. Cease and desist from engaging in any unfair act or practice involving 

restricting a consumer's electronic account access when the consumer is 

delinquent or overdrawn on any Navy Federal Credit Union account. 

81. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with servicing or collecting any consumer debt, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, 

Respondent's legal authority or intention to: 

a. Take legal action against a consumer; 

b. Garnish a consumer's wages; 

c. Contact a consumer's commanding officer or military employer concerning 

the consumer's debt; or 

d. Disclose a consumer's debt to a third party. 

82. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who 

have actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in 

connection with servicing or collecting any consumer debt, may not 

misrepresent, or assist others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly, 
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a. That a consumer can repair his or her credit reputation by contacting 

Respondent about a debt; 

b. That Respondent issues a credit rating; 

c. That a consumer's decision to settle or repay a debt will result in repairing or 

improving the consumer's credit history; or 

d. That a consumer's delinquency or default on a Navy Federal Credit Union 

debt will make it difficult or impossible for the consumer to obtain additional 

credit from oiler creditors. 

83. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, must 

take the following additional affirmative actions: 

a. Remove from Respondent's consumer-facing disclosures and agreements any 

reference to contacting employers, including military employers, about 

consumers' debts; 

b. Maintain Respondent's current policy of not imposing the electronic account 

restrictions described in Paragraphs 62 through 71, or any similar restrictions 

at the member level, when the consumer is delinquent or overdrawn on any 

Navy Federal Credit Union account. 

84. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys who have 

actual notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are 

permanently restrained from recollecting any amount of debt that was collected 

from a consumer within 6o days of the date of a Deceptive Debt Collection Letter. 
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VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

85. Within go days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and determination of non-objection a comprehensive 

compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's policies and practices 

regarding consumer debt collection communications and electronic account 

restrictions comply with all applicable Federal consumer financial laws and the 

terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). The Compliance Plan must 

include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. An explanation of Respondent's compliance management systems related to 

consumer debt collection, including the organizational and reporting 

structure of any related staff or management positions; 

c. A requirement that Respondent adopt or maintain written policies and 

procedures covering its policies and practices regarding consumer debt 

collection communications and electronic account restrictions that address 

compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws in a manner 

designed to prevent violations and to detect and prevent associated risks of 

harm to consumers; 

d. A requirement that Respondent provide regular education and training in 

Federal consumer financial laws for all appropriate employees and affiliated 

individuals involved with consumer debt collection communications and 
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electronic account restrictions, with training tailored to each individual's 

responsibilities and duties; 

e. A requirement that training activities be documented and training programs 

reviewed and updated at least annually to ensure that appropriate personnel 

are provided with relevant and pertinent information; 

f. A requirement that Respondent adopt and implement or maintain 

appropriate procedures for monitoring Respondent's consumer debt 

collection communications and electronic account restrictions and taking 

corrective action where appropriate to ensure compliance with applicable 

Federal consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order; 

g. A requirement that Respondent conduct annual compliance audits, with 

reports to the Board or an appropriate Board committee and all appropriate 

compliance and business unit managers, to ensure that its policies and 

practices regarding consumer debt collection communications and electronic 

account restrictions are in compliance with applicable Federal consumer 

financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order and it is appropriately 

educating, training, supervising, and monitoring its collections personnel and 

collections activities and taking timely corrective action where appropriate; 

and 

h. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

86. The Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Compliance Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the 

Regional Director directs Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, Respondent 
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must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the Regional 

Director within 3o days. 

87. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a determination 

of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, Respondent must implement and 

adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in the 

Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Role of the Board 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

88. The Board or a committee thereof must review all submissions (including plans, 

reports, programs, policies, and procedures) required by this Consent Order prior 

to submission to the Bureau. 

89. Although this Consent Order requires Respondent to submit certain documents 

for the review or non-objection by the Regional Director, the Board will have the 

ultimate responsibility for proper and sound management of Respondent and for 

ensuring that Respondent complies with Federal consumer financial law and this 

Consent Order. 

9o. In each instance that this Consent Order requires the Board or a committee 

thereof to ensure adherence to, or perform certain obligations of Respondent, the 

Board must: 

a. Authorize whatever actions are necessary for Respondent to fully comply with 

the Consent Order; 
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b. Require timely reporting by management to the Board or a committee thereof 

on the status of compliance obligations; and 

c. Require timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material non-

compliance with any failures to comply with Board directives related to this 

Section. 

VIII 

Order to Pay Redress 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

91. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must reserve or deposit into a 

segregated deposit account $23,000,000, for the purpose of providing redress to 

Redress Eligible Consumers as required by this Section. 

92. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the Regional 

Director for review and non-objection a comprehensive written plan for 

providing redress consistent with this Consent Order (Redress Plan). The 

Regional Director will have the discretion to make a determination of non-

objection to the Redress Plan or direct Respondent to revise it. If the Regional 

Director directs Respondent to revise the Redress Plan, Respondent must make 

the revisions and resubmit the Redress Plan to the Regional Director within 3o 

days. After receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Redress Plan, Respondent must implement 

and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes outlined in 

the Redress Plan. 

93. The Redress Plan must: 
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a. Specify how Respondent will identify all Redress Eligible Consumers who will 

receive redress under this Consent Order; 

b. Require Respondent to compensate each Redress Eligible Consumer in the 

amount of that consumer's Redressable Payment; 

c. For any consumer who received a Commanding Officer Threat Letter and who 

is not eligible to receive at least $1,000 in compensation under Paragraph 

93(b), require Respondent to provide additional compensation such that each 

consumer who received a Commanding Officer Threat Letter receives at least 

$1,000 in compensation; 

d. Provide that redress payments to Redress Eligible Consumers will be made as 

follows: 

i. For any Redress Eligible Consumer who has an available Navy 

Federal Credit Union deposit account al the time of the redress 

payment, Respondent will make the redress payment via a credit to 

consumer's Navy Federal Credit Union deposit account. At least 

seven days before the credit, Respondent will mail the consumer a 

letter notifying the consumer of the forthcoming redress payment 

("Redress Notification Letter"); 

ii. For any Redress Eligible Consumer who does not have an available 

Navy Federal Credit Union deposit account at the time of the 

redress payment, Respondent will make the redress payment via 

certified or bank check, sent by mail, accompanied by a Redress 

Notification Letter; 
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e. Provide an exemplar of the Redress Notification Letter and envelope. The 

letter must explain how the amount of redress was calculated; how redress 

will be provided; the date when redress will be provided; that the provision of 

the redress payment is in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order; 

and that the provision of the redress payment does not create a debt or 

increase any existing debts the consumer may otherwise owe to Respondent. 

The Redress Notification Letter must alert consumers that the provision of 

the redress payment does not prevent Respondent from engaging in lawful 

collection activities as to other debt(s) the consumer may owe to the credit 

union. Respondent must not include in any envelope containing a Redress 

Notification Letter any materials other than the approved letters and redress 

checks (where applicable), unless Respondent has obtained written 

confirmation from the Regional Director that the Bureau does not object to 

the inclusion of such additional materials; 

f. Provide the process for mailing Redress Notification Letters and redress 

checks (where applicable), obtaining a current address for all Redress Eligible 

Consumers, tracking any returned letters and redress checks, and re-mailing 

any returned letters and redress checks; 

g. Require Respondent to promptly update any information furnished to a credit 

reporting agency regarding a consumer account affected by this Consent 

Order; 

h. Require reporting to the Board or a relevant committee thereof and Regional 

Director on the status and progress of the Redress Plan on a monthly basis 

until completed; 
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i. Specify the timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps 

described above; 

j. Provide that nothing in the Redress Plan creates any new collection, credit 

reporting, or litigation rights on behalf of Respondent; and 

k. Provide that Respondent will pay all costs of administering redress as 

required by this Section. 

94. Respondent must provide all relief to Redress Eligible Consumers required by 

this Consent Order, regardless of whether the total of such relief exceeds the 

amount reserved or deposited into a segregated account under Paragraph 91. 

95. Respondent may not condition the payment of any redress to any Redress 

Eligible Consumer under this Consent Order on that consumer waiving any right. 

IX 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

96. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the 

violations of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into 

account the factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money 

penalty of $5,500,000 to the Bureau. 

97. Within io days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance 

with the Bureau's wiring instructions. 
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98. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

99. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as 

a penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit 

for any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from 

any source, including, but not limited to, payment made under any insurance 

policy, with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

100. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 3o days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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X 

Additional Monetary Provisions 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

lot In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

102. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

103. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying numbers, which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

104. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Regional Director of the 

final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

XI 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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105. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including, but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 

result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or Affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 30 days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

106. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must designate at least one 

telephone number and email, physical, and postal address as points of contact, 

which the Bureau may use to communicate with Respondent. 

107. Respondent must report any change in the information required to be submitted 

under Paragraph 106 at least 3o days before the change or as soon as practicable 

after the learning about the change, whichever is sooner. 

108. Within go days after receiving notification that the Regional Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, and again one year 

thereafter, Respondent must submit to the Regional Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report) that has been approved by the 

Board, which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied 

with this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section XII, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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XII 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

109. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its board members and executive officers, as well as to 

any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

no. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section XI, any future board members and executive officers, as 

well as to any managers, employees, Service Providers, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

111. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the &Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

XIII 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

112. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years 

from the Effective Date, the following business records: 
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a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with 

each provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the 

Bureau; 

b. All documents and records pertaining to the Redress Plan, described in 

Section VIII above; and 

c. Copies of all consumer debt collection letter templates; telephone scripts; 

policies and procedures; training materials; monitoring procedures, results, 

and reports; records of corrective actions; and audit reports. 

113. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 112 available to 

the Bureau upon the Bureau's request, within 14 days of such a request. 

XIV 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

114. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Navy Federal Credit Union, 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0024," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to the below address and 

contemporaneously by email to Enforcement CompliancePcfpb.gov: 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 4th Floor 
Washington, DC 20006; or 
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b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email 

to Enforcement Compliancepcfpb.gov: 

James Carley 
Regional Director, Bureau Southeast Region 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20552 
Attn: 1625 Eye Street, N.W. 

XV 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with this 

Consent Order: 

115. Within 14 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent must 

submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, which 

must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or produce 

documents. 

116. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

117. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § 1080.6 or other compulsory process. 

XVI 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 
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118. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Regional Director. 

119. The Regional Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Regional Director must be in writing. 

XVII 

Administrative Provisions 

120. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 121. 

121. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for 

law violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its Affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties 

for any violations of the Consent Order. 
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122. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly 

does not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau 

or the United States. 

123. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 

124. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

125. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

126. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 
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Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

127. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have, made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

128. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be 

construed as allowing Respondent, its Board, officers, or employees: to violate any 

law, rule, or regulation. 

IT IS SO ORDERED, this ath day of October, 2016. 

c va,Richard Cordray 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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  Press Release

CFPB Orders Navy Federal Credit Union to Pay $28.5 Million for Improper Debt
Collection Actions

Credit Union Used False Threats to Collect Debts and Placed Unfair Restrictions on Account Access

OCT 11, 2016

WASHINGTON, D.C. – Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) took action
against Navy Federal Credit Union for making false threats about debt collection to its
members, which include active-duty military, retired servicemembers, and their families.
The credit union also unfairly restricted account access when members had a delinquent
loan. Navy Federal Credit Union is correcting its debt collection practices and will pay
roughly $23 million in redress to victims along with a civil money penalty of $5.5 million.

“Navy Federal Credit Union misled its members about its debt collection practices and froze
consumers out from their own accounts,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “Financial
institutions have a right to collect money that is due to them, but they must comply with
federal laws as they do so.”

Navy Federal Credit Union is a federal credit union based in Vienna, Va. As a credit union, it
offers a wide range of consumer financial products and services, including deposit accounts
and loans. Membership in the credit union is limited to consumers who are, or have been,
U.S. military servicemembers, Department of Defense civilian employees or contractors,
government employees assigned to Department of Defense installations, and their
immediate family members. It is the largest credit union in the country, with more than $73
billion in assets as of December 2015.

The CFPB investigation found that Navy Federal Credit Union deceived consumers to get
them to pay delinquent accounts. The credit union falsely threatened severe actions when,
in fact, it seldom took such actions or did not have authorization to take them. The credit
union also cut off members’ electronic access to their accounts and bank cards if they did
not pay overdue loans. Hundreds of thousands of consumers were affected by these
practices, which occurred between January 2013 and July 2015. The practices violated the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Specifically, the CFPB found
that Navy Federal Credit Union:

Falsely threatened legal action and wage garnishment: The credit union sent letters to
members threatening to take legal action unless they made a payment. But in reality, it
seldom took any such actions. The CFPB found that the credit union’s message to
consumers of “pay or be sued” was inaccurate about 97 percent of the time, even
among consumers who did not make a payment in response to the letters. The credit
union’s representatives also called members with similar verbal threats of legal action.
And the credit union threatened to garnish wages when it had no intention or authority
to do so. 

Falsely threatened to contact commanding officers to pressure servicemembers to
repay: The credit union sent letters to dozens of servicemembers threatening that the
credit union would contact their commanding officers if they did not promptly make a
payment. The credit union’s representatives also communicated these threats by
telephone. For members of the military, consumer credit problems can result in
disciplinary proceedings or lead to revocation of a security clearance. The credit union
was not authorized and did not intend to contact the servicemembers’ chains of
command about the debts it was attempting to collect. 

Misrepresented credit consequences of falling behind on a loan: The credit union sent
about 68,000 letters to members misrepresenting the credit consequences of falling

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/?filter_categories=press-release
http://www.consumerfinance.gov/
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behind on a Navy Federal Credit Union loan. Many of the letters said that consumers
would find it “difficult, if not impossible” to obtain additional credit because they were
behind on their loan. But the credit union had no basis for that claim, as it did not
review consumer credit files before sending the letters. The credit union also
misrepresented its influence on a consumer’s credit rating, implying that it could raise
or lower the rating or affect a consumer’s access to credit. As a furnisher, the credit
union could supply information to the credit reporting companies but it could not
determine a consumer’s credit score. 

Illegally froze members’ access to their accounts: The credit union froze electronic
account access and disabled electronic services for about 700,000 accounts after
consumers became delinquent on a Navy Federal Credit Union credit product. This
meant delinquency on a loan could shut down a consumer’s debit card, ATM, and
online access to the consumer’s checking account. The only account actions consumers
could take online would be to make payments on delinquent or overdrawn accounts. 

Enforcement Action

Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB has the authority to take action against
institutions or individuals engaging in unfair or deceptive acts or practices or that otherwise
violate federal consumer financial laws. Under the terms of the order, Navy Federal Credit
Union is required to:

Pay victims $23 million: The credit union is required to pay roughly $23 million in
compensation to consumers who received threatening letters. Most will be eligible for
redress if they received one of the deceptive debt collection letters and they made a
payment to the credit union within 60 days of that letter. In addition, all consumers who
received the letter threatening to contact their commanding officer will receive at least
$1,000 in compensation. The credit union will contact consumers who are eligible for
compensation. 

Correct debt collection practices: The credit union must create a comprehensive plan
to address how it communicates with its members about overdue debt. This includes
refraining from any misleading, false, or unsubstantiated threats to contact a
consumer’s commanding officer, threats to initiate legal action, or misrepresentations
about the credit consequences of falling behind on a Navy Federal Credit Union loan.

Ensure consumer account access: Navy Federal Credit Union cannot block its members
from accessing all their accounts if they are delinquent on one or more accounts. The
credit union must implement proper procedures for electronic account restrictions. 

Pay a $5.5 million civil money penalty: Navy Federal Credit Union is required to pay a
penalty of $5.5 million to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty Fund. 

The Navy Federal Credit Union consent order can be found at:

The CFPB advises all servicemembers to know their rights when a debt collector calls. They
should know that a debt collector can't tell their chain of command that they owe a debt,
threaten them with prosecution under the Uniform Code of Military Justice, or threaten to
revoke their security clearance. More information, including how to access sample letters to
respond to a debt collector, is available at: 

###

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives.
For more information, visit .
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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
and the People of the State of New York, 
by Eric T. Schneiderman, Attorney 
General for the State of New York, 

  Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Douglas MacKinnon, Mark Gray, 
Northern Resolution Group, LLC, 
Enhanced Acquisitions, LLC, 
and Delray Capital, LLC, 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 

COMPLAINT 

  The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) and the People of the State 

of New York bring this action against Defendants Douglas MacKinnon, Mark Gray, 

Northern Resolution Group, LLC (NRG), Enhanced Acquisitions, LLC (Enhanced),  

and Delray Capital, LLC (Delray) and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This case involves a massive, illegal debt-collection scheme designed,

implemented, and run by Douglas MacKinnon and his close associate, Mark Gray. 

2. MacKinnon and Gray created a network of interrelated companies

to purchase defaulted consumer-debt portfolios for pennies on the dollar and then 

collect on them illegally.  
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3. MacKinnon established NRG and Enhanced, and Gray and MacKinnon 

created Delray, to purchase tens of millions of dollars’ worth of defaulted consumer 

debt.  

4. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray routinely added $200 to each debt they 

acquired, regardless of whether the underlying contracts or applicable law permitted it.  

5. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray then either collected the inflated debts 

themselves or sent them for collection to dozens of debt-collection shops MacKinnon 

controlled. Delray also collected on debt as a third-party agency.  

6. Enhanced and Delray have engaged in a host of illegal acts in collecting 

these inflated debts. Among other things, Enhanced and Delray have impersonated 

law-enforcement officials, court officials, and others; and threatened consumers with 

arrest or legal action the firms had no intention of taking.  

7. MacKinnon and Gray have profited handsomely from this scheme, which 

has raked in tens of millions of dollars from millions of consumers nationwide. 

8.  Defendants’ illegal debt-collection practices violate the Consumer 

Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a), the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, N.Y. Executive Law 

63(12), and N.Y. General Business Law §§ 349 and 601. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is 

brought under “Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), presents a 

federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 

28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

10. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over New York’s state-law claims 

because they are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case 

or controversy. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

11. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here and Defendants do business here. 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

12. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States charged with 

regulating the offering and provision of consumer-financial products and services 

under Federal consumer financial laws. 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a). The Bureau has 

independent litigating authority to enforce Federal consumer financial laws, including 

the CFPA and the FDCPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5564(a)-(b); 5481(12), (14). 

13. The State of New York is one of the 50 sovereign states of the United 

States. The State of New York, by its Attorney General, is authorized to take action to 

enjoin (i) repeated and persistent fraudulent and illegal business conduct under 
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NewYork Executive Law § 63(12), (ii) deceptive business practices under NewYork 

General Business Law § 349, and (iii) illegal debt-collection practices under NewYork 

General Business Law § 602, and to obtain legal, equitable, or other appropriate relief 

for such violations. 

14. NRG is a Delaware limited-liability company with its principal place of 

business at 7288 Shawnee Road, North Tonawanda, New York, 14120. As a 

significant part of its business, NRG collects debts related to consumerfinancial 

products and services, including payday loans. Those activities are “consumer 

financial products and services” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 15(A)(x). NRG 

is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  

15. Enhanced is a New York limited-liability company with its principal place 

of business at 3840 East Robinson Road, Suite 353, Amherst, New York 14228. As a 

significant part of its business, Enhanced collects debts related to consumer-financial 

products and services, including payday loans. Those activities are “consumer 

financial products and services” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 15(A)(x). 

Enhanced is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6). 

16. Delray is an Ohio limited-liability corporation that conducts a substantial 

amount of business from its offices at 26 North Webster Street, Tonawanda, New 

York 14120. As a significant part of its business, Delray collects debts related to 

consumer-financial products and services, including payday loans. Those activities are 
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“consumer financial products and services” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5), 

15(A)(x). Delray is therefore a “covered person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(6).  

17. MacKinnon is the managing member and owner of NRG, the managing 

member of Enhanced, and the director of operations for Delray. He has managerial 

responsibility for NRG, Enhanced, and Delray, and has materially participated in the 

conduct of their affairs. MacKinnon is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i), (ii). Because MacKinnon is a “related person,” he is 

deemed a “covered person” for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

18. Mark Gray is the managing member and owner of Delray. He has 

managerial responsibility for Delray and has materially participated in the conduct of 

its affairs. Gray is therefore a “related person” under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(25)(C)(i), (ii). Because Gray is a “related person,” he is deemed a “covered” 

person for purposes of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

FACTS 
 

19. At least since 2009, MacKinnon and Gray have used three companies to 

purchase defaulted consumer debt for pennies on the dollar: NRG, Enhanced, and 

Delray. 
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20. MacKinnon established NRG in 2009. NRG purchased millions of dollars’ 

worth of defaulted consumer debt, reported the debts to consumer-reporting 

agencies, and collected some of those debts directly. 

21.  In or around January 2014, NRG changed its name to Enhanced, but the 

company’s business and practices continued unchanged. Like NRG, Enhanced 

purchased and collected on millions of dollars of defaulted consumer debt and 

reported the debts to consumer-reporting agencies. MacKinnon and Gray determined 

the debt portfolios NRG and Enhanced would purchase and negotiated the 

acquisitions.  

22.  In 2012, MacKinnon and Gray learned that a debt seller from which NRG 

and Enhanced purchased payday-loan debt would no longer sell to or place debt with 

companies that did not purportedly have collection policies and procedures in place 

that complied with the FDCPA. NRG and Enhanced did not have such policies and 

procedures in place. 

23. Hoping to continue purchasing or collecting on debt from this debt-seller, 

MacKinnon and Gray, in 2012, created Delray to acquire millions of dollars’ worth of 

payday-loan debts from the debt-seller and also to collect on debt for third parties.  

24. Gray was Delray’s owner and managing member. MacKinnon provided the 

financing for Delray’s operations as well as employees and office space for the 

company.  
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25. Delray’s written collection policies and procedures were little more than

“window dressing”; they did not reflect Delray’s actual practices. Nonetheless, Delray 

continued to acquire debt from the debt seller, and to collect on debt for third parties. 

26. Like NRG and Enhanced, Delray not only acquired defaulted debts, but it

also collected some of those debts. In addition, Delray collected debts purchased by 

NRG and Enhanced. 

27. MacKinnon set up a network of at least 60 debt-collection firms (the

MacKinnon Collection Shops) to collect on the debt portfolios that NRG, Enhanced, 

and Delray purchased.  

28. On paper, the MacKinnon Collection Shops are purportedly independent

companies, owned and operated by others. In reality, MacKinnon controlled each of 

them. MacKinnon selected the managers and routinely provided them with office 

space, furniture, phone services, collection software, call-spoofing programs, and, 

occasionally, funds for payroll. MacKinnon also developed and monitored the 

collection practices of these firms, setting performance targets and collection 

strategies. A list of known MacKinnon Collection Shops is attached as Exhibit A. 

29. At MacKinnon’s direction, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray have added $200

to each portfolio debt they acquired, regardless of whether applicable state law or the 

underlying consumer contract permitted such fees or charges. Indeed, the companies 

added this sum even though some of the purchase agreements under which they 
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acquired the debt expressly prohibited them from imposing any additional fees or 

charges.  

30. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray uploaded each portfolio debt – with the 

inflated amounts – into a database used by collection agents seeking to collect on the 

debts. 

31. When collecting on the debts directly, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray tried to 

collect the face amounts of the debts as well as the additional $200 the companies 

tacked onto them. And the debts farmed out to the MacKinnon Collection Shops for 

collection likewise have the extra $200 tacked on to them. 

32. Delray and Enhanced have routinely engaged in a wide range of deceptive 

collection tactics to extract as much money as possible from consumers. 

33. Those tactics include: 

a. impersonating law-enforcement officials, government agencies, and 

court officers; 

b. threatening arrest or legal action the collectors have no intention of 

taking;  

c. using call-spoofing technologies to make it appear that collectors are 

calling from government agencies; and 

d. further inflating the amounts owed by tacking on additional 

unauthorized fees and charges to the debts. 
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34. For example, in late 2013, an Enhanced collection agent called a

consumer posing as someone from the “Los Angeles County Courts.” The collection 

agent said the consumer would be “arrested” for “check fraud” and advised that she 

“did not have the time to get a lawyer” because she would be arrested at her home or 

work the next day if she did not pay. The collection agent continued to barrage the 

consumer and her relatives with calls, claiming to be a government official who could 

arrest the consumer for non-payment of the debt. 

35. In another example, a consumer received multiple calls in May 2014 from

collection agents claiming lawsuits had been filed against her. The collectors sent the 

consumers emails purporting to be from a court. They also repeatedly contacted the 

consumer at work and contacted her relatives about the debt. The consumer later 

learned that the collectors were actually calling from Enhanced and were Enhanced 

collection agents. 

36. Delray collectors also routinely deceived consumers about prosecutions

being initiated against them. Delray’s scripts direct collectors to tell consumers the 

following: “You need to be aware of multiple fraud charges being filed against you in 

___ County. It is imperative I speak with you to debrief you on your case and retain a 

statement in your defense. Failure to respond will result in you forfeiting your right to 

settle this case on a voluntary basis and it will be forwarded out for prosecution.” 
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37. Enhanced and Delray never referred a case for “prosecution” or even filed 

a debt-collection lawsuit against a consumer. 

38.  An August 2014 audit of Delray conducted by a debt-seller from whom 

the company both acquired debt and did third-party collection highlighted the 

rampant misconduct Delray collectors engaged in. Among other things, the audit 

found that Delray collectors (a) threatened “pending court action, garnishment,” and 

suits for fraud or breach of contract; (b) falsely claimed to be “a paralegal”; (c) gave 

“false and misleading information”; (d) “inflated the current placed balance, at times 

quoting a balance exceeding 600% of the debt amount”; (e) failed to give required 

notice letters to consumers upon initial contact; and (f) failed to provide consumers 

with “mini-Miranda” warnings and disclose that calls were being recorded. 

39. At the time of the audit, Gray was the managing member of Delray and 

oversaw its operations. MacKinnon and Gray were aware of the audit, and Delray’s 

illegal collection practices continued, including after MacKinnon later became head of 

Delray’s operations. 

40. Enhanced and Delray have received numerous complaints and inquiries 

from consumers, government agencies, and consumer organizations about their 

collection practices. In many instances where they received an inquiry from a 

government agency or the Better Business Bureau about a consumer complaint, the 
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companies blamed an outside agency for the misconduct. MacKinnon and Gray were 

aware of these complaints and inquiries.  

41. At all times material to this complaint, MacKinnon was the owner and 

managing member of NRG and the manager of Enhanced. MacKinnon determined 

which debt portfolios the firms purchased and which firm collected those debts. He 

managed each firm’s employees and developed, directed, and monitored their 

collection policies and practices. MacKinnon caused NRG and Enhanced to add the 

extra $200 described above to each debt the firms purchased. 

42. At all times material to this complaint, Gray was the owner and managing 

member of Delray. Along with MacKinnon, Gray determined which debt portfolios 

Delray purchased, negotiated the purchase agreements, developed the firm’s 

collection practices, and directed and monitored Delray’s collection activities. Gray 

also received and handled complaints made about Delray to one of the firms from 

which Delray acquired debts.  

43. In addition, at all times material to this complaint, MacKinnon has 

provided financing for Delray’s debt purchases, provided employees and office space 

for the company, and served as Delray’s head of operations. MacKinnon, along with 

Gray, also caused Delray to add $200 to each debt it acquired. 

44. Through consumer complaints, government investigations, lawsuits, and 

debt-buyer audits, as well as his control, direction, and monitoring of the firms’ 
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collection activities, MacKinnon knew or should have known of the illegal debt-

collection practices engaged in by NRG, Enhanced, and Delray. MacKinnon did not 

stop or prevent these acts, despite having the authority and control to do so. Instead, 

MacKinnon directed and encouraged these illegal acts by NRG, Enhanced, and 

Delray. 

45. In fact, beginning in January 2015, in part due to these consumer 

complaints, government investigations, lawsuits, and debt-buyer audits, MacKinnon 

and Gray began operating Delray using additional corporate names, including Sullivan 

Asset Management, Solidus, and Clear Credit Solutions. The company engaged inthe 

same illegal debt-collection practices when operating under these names.  

46. Through consumer complaints, government investigations, lawsuits, and 

debt-buyer audits, as well as his control, direction, and monitoring of the firms’ 

collection activities, Gray knew or should have known of Delray’s illegal debt-

collection practices. Despite having the authority and control to do so, Gray did not 

stop or prevent these acts. Like MacKinnon, Gray directed and encouraged these 

illegal practices.  

47. The reason for this is clear: MacKinnon and Gray have profited 

significantly from these illegal debt-collection tactics. A substantial portion of the 

proceeds from the illegal debt-collection scheme – which amounted to tens of 

millions of dollars annually – have been funneled back to MacKinnon, his relatives, 

Case 1:16-cv-00880   Document 1   Filed 11/02/16   Page 12 of 28



13 

 

and Gray through payments to NRG, Enhanced, and sham companies that 

MacKinnon, Gray, and MacKinnon’s relatives controlled. 

COUNT I 
Unfairness Under the CFPA Relating to the Collection of, and Attempts to Collect, Inflated Debts 

– by Plaintiffs Against All Defendants 
 

48. The Bureau and the State of New York reallege and incorporate by 

reference paragraphs 1-47. 

49. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits “unfair” acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause 

consumers substantial injury, which is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed 

by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition. See 12 U.S.C. § 5531(c). 

50. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray routinely added $200 to each debt they 

purchased, even though the underlying consumer contracts or relevant state law did 

not permit it. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray sought to collect these inflated debts 

directly or indirectly through the MacKinnon Collection Shops. 

51. By inflating the amounts owed on the debts they purchased, collected, or 

attempted to collect, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray caused and were likely to cause 

consumers to suffer substantial injury. Consumers, unaware that sums unauthorized 

by contract or relevant law had been added to the amounts NRG, Enhanced, Delray 

and the MacKinnon Collection Shops (directly or indirectly through the MacKinnon 
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Collection Shops) claimed they owed, were likely to, and often did, pay sums they did 

not owe. 

52. Consumers could not reasonably avoid this injury, as they were unlikely to 

know that the sums owed had been inflated or that the additional fees and charges 

were not permitted under the relevant contract or state law. 

53. The substantial injury caused by charging consumers sums they do not owe 

is not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  

54. Therefore, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray have engaged in “unfair” acts and 

practices under §§ 1036(a)(1)(B) and 1031(a) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5536(a)(1)(B), 

5531(c)(l). 

55. MacKinnon and Gray knew or should have known that NRG, Enhanced, 

and Delray were inflating the amounts consumers owed on acquired debts and 

attempting to collect, or have others collect, on them. MacKinnon and Gray, 

however, took no steps to stop or prevent these wrongful acts, even though they had 

authority to do so. In addition, MacKinnon and Gray engaged in the wrongful 

practices by, for example, setting the policy of adding $200 to each debt.  

56. MacKinnon and Gray are therefore liable for these violations of the CFPA.  
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COUNT II 
Deception Under the CFPA Relating to Collection of, and Attempts to Collect, Inflated Debts – by 

Plaintiffs Against All Defendants 
 

57. The Bureau and the State of New York reallege and incorporate by 

reference paragraphs 1-47.  

58. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits deceptive acts or practices. 12 

U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). An act or practice is deceptive if it involves a material 

misrepresentation that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer acting reasonably 

under the circumstances.  

59. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray routinely added $200 to each debt they 

purchased, even though the underlying consumer contracts or relevant state law did 

not permit it. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray sought to collect these inflated debts 

directly or indirectly through the MacKinnon Collection Shops.  

60. In seeking to collect those inflated amounts, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray 

thus falsely represented to consumers, both expressly and impliedly, that consumers 

owed sums they did not in fact owe and were not obligated to pay and that the 

companies had a legal right to collect such sums from consumers.  

61. These false and misleading misrepresentations were material and likely to 

mislead consumers acting reasonably into paying sums they did not owe and were not 

obligated to pay.  
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62. Accordingly, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray’s collections and attempts to 

collect, directly or indirectly, debts inflated by unauthorized fees and charges 

constituted deceptive acts and practices under §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

63. MacKinnon and Gray knew or should have known that NRG, Enhanced, 

and Delray were inflating the amounts consumers owed on acquired debts and 

attempting to collect on them. MacKinnon and Gray, however, took no steps to stop 

or prevent these wrongful acts, even though they had authority to do so. In addition, 

MacKinnon and Gray engaged in this practice by, for example, setting the policy of 

adding $200 to each debt. 

64. MacKinnon and Gray are therefore liable for these violations of the CFPA.  

COUNT III 
Deception Under the CFPA Related to Threats and Impersonation – by Plaintiffs Against 

Enhanced, Delray, MacKinnon, and Gray 
 

65.  The Bureau and the State of New York reallege and incorporate by 

reference paragraphs 1-47.  

66. An act or practice is deceptive under the CFPA if it involves a material 

misrepresentation that misleads, or is likely to mislead, a consumer acting reasonably 

under the circumstances. 

67. In collecting and attempting to collect debts from consumers, Enhanced 

and Delray collectors routinely: 
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a. threatened consumers with arrest, imprisonment, or other legal action

they had no intention of taking; and

b. impersonated law-enforcement officials, court officials, and other

entities.

68. These false representations were material and likely to mislead consumers

acting reasonably under the circumstances to pay sums they may not have owed, in 

whole or in part, or to give greater priority to those debts over others. To avoid the 

threat of criminal prosecution, prison, or lawsuits, consumers were likely to pay 

amounts demanded by collectors posing as law-enforcement officials or threatening 

legal action they did not intend to pursue, or could not pursue, regardless of whether 

the consumers owed the amounts or whether they had more pressing obligations to 

pay.  

69. As a result, Enhanced and Delray’s misrepresentations were deceptive acts

and practices under §§ 1031(a) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 

5536(a)(1)(B). 

70. MacKinnon and Gray knew or should have known that Enhanced and

Delray were engaging in these deceptive and misleading acts in collecting and 

attempting to collect debts but took no steps to stop or prevent them, even though 

they had authority to do so. In addition, MacKinnon and Gray engaged in this 
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practice by, for example, setting, approving and directing the firms’ unlawful 

collection policies and activities.  

71. MacKinnon and Gray are therefore liable for these violations of the CFPA.

COUNT IV 
False or Misleading Misrepresentations Under the FDCPA – 

by the Bureau Against All Defendants 

72. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-47.

73. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray are each “debt collectors” under the FDCPA.

15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

74. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors

from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt. 

75. Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A), specifically

prohibits debt collectors from making false representations of the character, amount, 

or legal status of any debt. 

76. Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), further prohibits

debt collectors from using false representations or deceptive means to collect or 

attempt to collect any debt. 

77. In collecting and attempting to collect debts from consumers, NRG,

Enhanced, and Delray represented, directly or indirectly, and expressly or impliedly, 

that consumers owed those debts in the amounts demanded. 
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78. In fact, NRG, Enhanced, and Delray routinely inflated the amounts owed 

by adding unauthorized charges, fees, and other sums to the debts. 

79. These representations by NRG, Enhanced, and Delray were false and 

misleading and constitute deceptive practices under § 807 of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e, 1692e(2)(A) & 1692e(10). 

80. MacKinnon is extensively involved in the debt-collection activities of 

NRG, Enhanced, and Delray. He determines the debt portfolios they buy; manages 

their debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors their collection activities. In 

addition, he set and approved their collection policies and practices and directed their 

unlawful collection activities, including their practice of adding $200 to each debt the 

firms acquired. As such, MacKinnon is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is 

liable for NRG, Enhanced, and Delray’s violations of the statute.  

81. Gray is also extensively involved in Delray’s debt-collection activities. 

Along with MacKinnon, he determines the debt portfolios Delray buys; manages the 

company’s debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors collection activities. In 

addition, he set and approved Delray’s collection policies and practices and directed 

its unlawful collection activities, including its practice of adding $200 to each debt 

Delray acquired. As such, Gray is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is liable 

for Delray’s violations of the statute. 
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COUNT V 
Unfair Collection Activities Under the FDCPA – by the Bureau Against All Defendants 

 
82. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-47. 

83. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray are “debt collectors” under the FDCPA. 15 

U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

84. Section 808(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1), bars the collection of 

any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the principal 

obligation) unless such amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the 

debt or permitted by law.  

85. NRG, Enhanced, and Delray routinely added $200 to each debt they 

purchased, even though the underlying consumer contracts or relevant state law did 

not permit it, and then collected or attempted to collect the inflated amount. 

86. These were unfair acts under § 808(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).  

87. MacKinnon is extensively involved in the debt-collection activities of 

NRG, Enhanced, and Delray. He determines the debt portfolios they buy; manages 

their debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors their collection activities. In 

addition, he set and approved their collection policies and practices and directed their 

unlawful collection activities, including their practice of adding $200 to each debt the 

firms acquired. As such, MacKinnon is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is 

liable for NRG, Enhanced, and Delray’s violations of the statute. 
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88. Gray is also extensively involved in Delray’s debt-collection activities. 

Along with MacKinnon, he determines the debt portfolios Delray buys; manages the 

company’s debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors collection activities. In 

addition, he set and approved Delray’s collection policies and practices and directed 

its unlawful collection activities, including its practice of adding $200 to each debt 

Delray acquired. As such, Gray is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is liable 

for Delray’s violations of the statute. 

COUNT VI 
False and Misleading Representations Under the FDCPA – by the Bureau Against Enhanced, 

Delray, MacKinnon, and Gray 
 

89. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-47. 

90. Enhanced and Delray are “debt collectors” under the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C.  

§ 1692a(6). 

91. Section 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, prohibits debt collectors 

from using any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt. 

92. Section 807(1) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(1), specifically prohibits 

collectors from falsely representing or implying that they are affiliated with the United 

States or any state.  

93. Section 807(4) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4), further bars collectors 

from falsely representing or implying that non-payment of a debt will result in the 
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arrest or imprisonment of any person unless such action is lawful and the debt 

collector intends to take such action. 

94. Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5), expressly prohibits 

debt collectors from threatening to take any action that cannot legally be taken or is 

not intended to be taken. 

95. Section 807(7) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(7), in turn, prohibits debt 

collectors from falsely representing or implying that the consumer committed a crime 

or other conduct in order to disgrace the consumer. 

96. Section 807(10) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), bars debt collectors 

from using false representations or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect 

any debt. 

97. Section 807(14) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(14), further prohibits 

debt collectors from using any name other than the true name of the debt collector’s 

business, company, or organization in collecting debts.  

98. In collecting and attempting to collect debts from consumers, Enhanced 

and Delray collectors routinely: 

a. threaten consumers with arrest, imprisonment, or other legal action 

they had no intention of taking; 

b. falsely accuse consumers of having committed crimes by not paying 

their debts; 
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c. inflate the amounts allegedly owed by consumers even though the 

additional fees, charges, and sums added were not permitted under 

the relevant contracts or state law; and 

d. impersonate law-enforcement officials, court officials, and other 

entities.  

99. Enhanced and Delray’s representations to consumers are false and 

misleading and constitute deceptive practices under § 807 of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e, 1692e(1), (4)-(5), (7), (10), (14). 

100. MacKinnon is extensively involved in the debt-collection activities of 

Enhanced and Delray. He determines the debt portfolios they buy; manages their 

debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors their collection activities. In addition, 

he set and approved their collection policies and practices and directed their unlawful 

collection activities, including their practice of adding $200 to each debt the firms 

acquired. As such, MacKinnon is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is liable 

for Enhanced and Delray’s violations of the statute.  

101. Gray is also extensively involved in Delray’s debt-collection activities. 

Along with MacKinnon, he determines the debt portfolios Delray buys; manages the 

company’s debt-collection staff; and oversees and monitors collection activities. In 

addition, he set and approved Delray’s collection policies and practices and directed 

its unlawful collection activities, including its practice of adding $200 to each debt 
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Delray acquired. As such, Gray is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and is liable 

for Delray’s violations of the statute.  

COUNT VII 
Violations of the CFPA Arising from FDCPA Violations –  

by the Bureau Against All Defendants 
 

102. The Bureau realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-47. 

103.  Section 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA provides that is “unlawful for . . . 

any covered person or service provider . . . to offer or provide to a consumer any 

financial product or service not in conformity with Federal consumer financial law, or 

otherwise commit any act or omission in violation of a Federal consumer financial 

law.” 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A). 

104. Because NRG, Enhanced, Delray, MacKinnon, and Gray are “covered 

persons” who violated the FDCPA, they also violated § 1036(a)(1)(A) of the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(A).  

COUNT VIII  
Repeated Fraudulent or Illegal Acts – by the State of New York 

Against All Defendants 
 

105. The State of New York realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-47. 

106. New York Executive Law § 63(12) empowers the Attorney General to 

seek restitution and injunctive relief when any person or business entity has engaged 

Case 1:16-cv-00880   Document 1   Filed 11/02/16   Page 24 of 28



25 

 

in repeated fraudulent or illegal acts or otherwise demonstrates persistent fraud or 

illegality in the carrying on, conducting, or transaction of business. 

107. Defendants have engaged in repeated fraudulent or illegal acts or 

otherwise demonstrated persistent fraud or illegality in the carrying on, conducting, or 

transaction of their debt-collection businesses for purposes of Executive Law § 

63(12). 

COUNT IX  
Deceptive Acts or Practices – by the State of New York Against All Defendants 

108. The State of New York realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-47. 

109. New York General Business Law § 349 provides that “[d]eceptive acts 

or practices in the conduct of any business […] in this state are hereby declared 

unlawful.” 

110. In numerous instances, Defendants have violated New York General 

Business Law § 349 by engaging in deceptive acts or practices in connection with 

conducting their debt collection businesses. 

COUNT X  
Violation of New York State Debt Collection Law – by the State of New York Against All 

Defendants 
 

111. The State of New York realleges and incorporates by reference 

paragraphs 1-47. 
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112. New York General Business Law § 601 sets forth a list of prohibited 

debt collection practices, including: 

a. simulating in any manner a law-enforcement officer, or a 

representative of any governmental agency of the state of New 

York or any of its political subdivisions,N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 

601(1); 

b. knowingly collecting, attempting to collect, or asserting a right to 

any collection fee, attorney’s fee, court cost or expense unless 

such charges are justly due and legally chargeable against the 

debtor,N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 601(2); 

c. threatening any action which the debt collector in the usual course 

of its business does not in fact take, N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 601(7);  

d. claiming or attempting or threatening to enforce a right with 

knowledge or reason to know that the right does not exist (N.Y. 

Gen. Bus. Law § 601(8)); and 

e. using a communication which simulates in any manner legal or 

judicial process or which gives the appearance of being 

authorized, issued, or approved by a government, governmental 

agency, or attorney-at-law when it is not. N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 

601(9). 
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113. In numerous instances, Defendants have violated New York General

Business Law § 601 by engaging in prohibited debt-collection practices under that 

statute.  

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Plaintiffs request that the Court:  

1. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the

CFPA, the FDCPA, N.Y. General Business Law Articles 22-A and 29-H, and N.Y. 

Executive Law § 63(12); 

2. award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the CFPA, the FDCPA, New 

York General Business Law Articles 22-A and 29-H, and New York Executive Law § 

63(12), including but not limited to rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, 

and the refund of monies paid; 

3. pursuant to New York General Business Law § 350-d, impose a civil

penalty of $5,000 for each violation of New York General Business Law Article 22-A; 

4. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem to be just and

proper; 

5. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues against Defendants;

6. as authorized under the CFPA, impose civil money penalties against

Defendants; 
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7. order Defendants to pay Plaintiffs’ costs in connection with this action; and 

8. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.  

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dated: November 2, 2016 Anthony Alexis 

Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
John C. Wells 
Assistant Litigation Deputy  
 
s/Stefanie Isser Goldblatt 
Stefanie Isser Goldblatt 
Jade A. Burns 

 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (212) 328-7011 
Facsimile: (212) 328-7050 
Email: stefanie.goldblatt@cfpb.gov  
Attorneys for Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

 
Eric T. Schneiderman 
Attorney General of the State of New York 

  
s/James M. Morrissey 
James M. Morrissey 
Assistant Attorney General 
350 Main Street, Suite 300A 
Buffalo, NY 14202 
Telephone: (716) 853-8471 
Email: james.morrissey@ny.ag.gov 
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Collection Shops 

1. ACB Asset 
2. ADR Arbitration Services 
3. ADR LLC 
4. Albright Consultants 
5. Allied Retention Services 
6. Altamonte Springs 
7. American Asset Recovery Group 
8. American Capital  
9. Arbitration of Peterson and Schwartz LLC  
10. ARS LLC, fka Retention Services LLC 
11. Asset & Arbitration Group LLC 
12. Assurance Asset Management 
13. Blue Circle Asset 
14. Buhanen & Cohen & Associates 
15. Bums & Hoffman  
16. Cambridge Huxley & Associates  
17. Capital Resolution Services 
18. Capital Resource Consultants LLC 
19. Check and Credit Solutions  
20. Cornerstone Mediation 
21. Credit First Recovery 
22. Delaware Solutions 
23. Direct Mediation Services 
24. EAG 
25. Eisenburg Roth and Associates 
26. Empire Mediation 
27. Executive Acquisition Group LLC 
28. Executive Summary Services  
29. Featured Mediation 
30. Fidelity Asset Recovery INC 
31. FNAS 
32. Focus Gold 
33. Goldstein, Weinberg & Associates 
34. Gordon, Cappolli & Associates 
35. Harbor Front Acquisitions 
36. Hartford Management Group  
37. Integrity Management Group 
38. JAB Arbitration 
39. Joshua Tree Funding LLC 
40. JTF Management 
41. Kaden Asset Group  
42. Kauffman, Burstein & Associates  
43. Law Offices of Scott Wheat 
44. Leading Edge Solutions 
45. Lockhart Mediation Services 
46. Mariner & Associates 

Case 1:16-cv-00880   Document 1-1   Filed 11/02/16   Page 2 of 3



47. Mariner & Associates/ Northpointe
48. Mediated Credit Solutions
49. Midway Mediation Services Group
50. Mile High Mediation
51. Morgan Mediation Group LLC
52. National Credit Works
53. Nationwide Intermediary Services
54. Nationwide Processing
55. NCW Ridge Lea
56. Neiman, Rona & Associates
57. New Beginnings
58. Northeast Capital
59. Northeast Credit Solutions
60. Northeast Receivables Management
61. Onsite Collection Bureau LLC
62. Paramount Solution Services
63. Peak Recovery/Peak Resolution
64. PR Associates LLC
65. Premier Mediation Solutions LLC
66. RPG
67. S Brookfield Consulting
68. Shapiro & Price
69. Siegel Bennett & Associates
70. Simon Eichler & Associates
71. Solidus
72. Southern Capital Arbitrations
73. Southpoint Management Group
74. Spielman, Weiss & Associates
75. Spotlight Resolution
76. Stein & Witzen Receivables
77. Sun Resolution
78. The Cambridge Group
79. Thomas Bella & Associates
80. TS Holdings
81. UAG
82. United Skye Portfolio Recovery
83. Viking Holding Group
84. WHL Enterprises
85. William Isaro & Associates
86. Zimmerman Young & Associates
87. Zittermann, Bosh & Associates
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• Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau 

CFPB and New York Attorney General File Lawsuit Against Illegal Nationwide Debt 
Collection Scheme 
Alleges Network of Sham Collections Companies Harass, Threaten, and Deceive 
Millions of Consumers 

NOV 02, 2016 

Washington, D.C. - Today the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), in partnership 
with the New York Attorney General, filed a lawsuit in a federal district court against the 
leaders of a massive debt collection scheme based out of Buffalo, N.Y. The lawsuit alleges 
Douglas MacKinnon and Mark Gray operate a network of companies that harass, threaten, 
and deceive millions of consumers across the nation into paying inflated debts or amounts 
they may not owe. The Bureau is seeking to shut down this illegal operation and to obtain 
compensation for victims and a civil penalty against the companies and partners. 

"Our lawsuit asserts that millions of consumers were harassed, threatened, and deceived as 
part of a massive scheme to collect inflated debts," said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. 
"Today we are taking action against the ringleaders of this operation so they can no longer 
prey upon vulnerable consumers. We are pleased to be working in partnership with New 
York Attorney General Schneiderman to hold these companies accountable." 

"Living with debt is difficult enough as it is, without the added stress of being harassed and 
threatened by debt collectors," Attorney General Schneiderman said. "These collection 
shops inflated debts of their victims. This suit sends the message that debt collectors that 
employ abusive tactics will be held accountable." 

The CFPB and the New York Attorney General allege that Northern Resolution Group LLC, 
Enhanced Acquisitions LLC, and Delray Capital LLC are interrelated collections companies 
based in Buffalo, N.Y. Together, the companies have purchased millions of dollars' worth of 
consumer debt and collected some of those debts directly. The companies were created, 
operated, and are overseen by Douglas MacKinnon and Mark Gray. 

The complaint alleges that since at least 2009, Northern Resolution Group, Enhanced 
Acquisitions, and Delray Capital, operating under the supervision of MacKinnon and Gray, 
have served as the lynchpin of a massive collections scheme. The operation routinely 
inflates consumer debts and relies on illegal tactics to extract as much money as possible 
from consumers for debts. MacKinnon also set up a network of at least 60 additional fly-by-
night debt-collection firms to collect on the large debt portfolios purchased by Northern 
Resolution Group, Enhanced Acquisitions, and Delray Capital. This elaborate network also 
served as "window dressing," or a workaround, when other debt sellers would no longer do 
business with the defendants. 

The CFPB alleges that the defendants violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. The 
CFPB and the New York Attorney General also allege that the defendants violated the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which prohibits unfair and 
deceptive acts or practices in the consumer financial marketplace. Specifically, the CFPB 
and the New York Attorney General allege that MacKinnon, Gray, and their network of debt 
collection companies: 

■ Inflated consumer debts and misrepresented amounts consumers owed: The 
defendants misrepresented to consumers that they owed sums they did not owe, were 
not obligated to pay, or that the companies did not have a legal right to collect. 
Specifically, Northern Resolution Group, Enhanced Acquisitions, and Delray Capital 
illegally added $200 to each consumer debt account they acquired, regardless of 
whether applicable state law or the underlying contract between the consumer and the 
original issuer permitted such fees or charges. In some cases, the scheme further 
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inflated the amounts owed by tacking on additional unauthorized fees and charges to 
the debts. At times, some collectors quoted consumers balances that exceeded 600 
percent of the debt amount. 

■ Falsely threatened legal action: The companies falsely threatened consumer with legal 
action that the collectors had no intention of taking. In reality, they never referred a case 
for prosecution. In some cases the companies falsely accused consumers of 
committing crimes. Further, the companies lied to some consumers, claiming that they 
would be arrested to pressure them to pay debts. In one case, the companies 
instructed a consumer that she did not even have time to get a lawyer because she 
would be arrested the next day. These deceptive practices could also have affected the 
relative priority consumers gave to competing financial commitments. 

■ Impersonated law-enforcement officials, government agencies, and court officers: The 
companies faked calls and emails to make it appear the communications were coming 
from government or court officials. The companies used call-spoofing technologies to 
make it appear that collectors were calling from government agencies. The collection 
agents would barrage consumers and relatives with calls, claiming to be a government 
official who could arrest the consumer for non-payment of the debt. The companies 
also used emails to pretend they were contacting consumers and their family from a 
court. 

The complaint also alleges repeated fraudulent acts and deceptive acts or practices in 
violation of New York law, as well as violations of New York state debt-collection law. 

According to the complaint, MacKinnon and Gray have known about, directed, and 
encouraged these illegal collections practices and have profited significantly—amounting to 
tens of millions of dollars annually. These illegal profits have been funneled back to 
MacKinnon, his relatives, and Gray through payments to various sham companies that 
MacKinnon, Gray, and MacKinnon's relatives controlled. 

Through this lawsuit, the Bureau seeks to stop the alleged unlawful practices of MacKinnon, 
Gray, Northern Resolution Group LLC, Enhanced Acquisitions LLC, and Delray Capital LLC. 
The Bureau has also requested that the court impose penalties on the company and its 
partners for their conduct and require that compensation be paid to consumers who have 
been harmed. The CFPB's complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have 
actually violated the law. 

The full text of the complaint can be found at: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/112016_cfpb_NorthernResolutionGroupComplaint.pdf 
ll

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

BALTIMORE DIVISION 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION BUREAU 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 

   Plaintiff, 

v.  

ACCESS FUNDING, LLC 
6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
ACCESS HOLDING, LLC 
6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
RELIANCE FUNDING, LLC 
6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
LEE JUNDANIAN 
6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
RAFFI BOGHOSIAN 
6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
MICHAEL BORKOWSKI 
7105 Ridgewood Avenue 
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815 
Montgomery County 
 
and 
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CHARLES SMITH 
4505 Custis Drive 
Rockville, Maryland 20853 
Montgomery County 
 
   Defendants. 

 
 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“Bureau”), alleges as 

follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Bureau brings this action against Access Funding, LLC, Access 

Holding, LLC, Reliance Funding, LLC, Lee Jundanian, Raffi Boghosian, Michael 

Borkowski, and Charles Smith, (collectively, “Defendants”) to address Defendants’ 

unfair, abusive, and deceptive practices related to Access Funding’s purchase of 

structured settlements, in violation of the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 

(“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because the 

action is “brought under Federal consumer financial law,” 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(1), 

presents a federal question, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United 

States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because the causes of 

action arise from Defendants’ conduct of business in this district, and Defendants reside 

here. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 
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4. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial amount of the 

transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct at issue occurred within this 

district, Defendants all conducted business in this district, and Defendants resided in 

this district during the relevant period. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c); 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

PARTIES 

5.  The Bureau is an agency of the United States charged with regulating the 

offering and providing of consumer-financial products and services under “Federal 

consumer financial laws,” 12 U.S.C. § 5491(a), including the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

The Bureau has independent litigating authority, including the authority to enforce the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b). 

6. Access Funding is a limited-liability company that operated in all 50 

states. Its principal place of business is at 6900 Wisconsin Ave, Suite 700, Chevy Chase, 

Maryland. From December 2012 through November 2015, Access Funding purchased 

payment streams from structured-settlement holders, a practice referred to as 

“structured-settlement factoring.” Access Funding conducted business under two alter-

ego names, Assoc LLC, and En Cor LLC. 

7. As described below, Access Funding provided advances to consumers that 

were to be repaid through a deduction from the proceeds of structured-settlement 

transfers once those transactions were completed. These advances were extensions of 

credit to consumers, and therefore consumer-financial products or services, under 

§ 1002 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 5481(15)(A)(i). Access Funding is therefore a 

“covered person” under § 1002 the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6).  
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8. Access Holding is a limited-liability company organized under the laws of 

Delaware and headquartered at 6900 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700, Chevy Chase, 

Maryland. Access Holding is the sole and managing member of Access Funding and is 

legally responsible for the liabilities of Access Funding. 

9. Reliance Funding is a limited-liability company engaged in structured-

settlement factoring and is the successor company to Access Funding. Reliance 

Funding’s principal place of business is at 6900 Wisconsin Ave, Suite 700, Chevy Chase, 

Maryland. On October 17, 2015, after being notified of the Bureau’s investigation 

through service of a Civil Investigative Demand, Access Funding, through its affiliate 

Access Holding, sold its assets to Reliance Funding. Reliance Funding is a successor in 

interest to Access Funding.  

10. Lee Jundanian served as CEO of Access Funding from February 2013 to 

May 2014. After May 2014, Jundanian was an advisor to Access Funding. Jundanian has 

an ownership interest in Access Funding and helped develop Access Funding’s business 

model and manage its business. Under the CFPA, Jundanian is a “related person” to 

Access Funding because he was a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility for the company and a shareholder who materially participated in the 

conduct of its affairs. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i), (ii). As a result, he is a “covered person” 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

11. Raffi Boghosian has served as COO of Access Funding since May 2014, 

with responsibilities including managing marketing and sales activities. Boghosian has 

an ownership interest in Access Funding and helped develop Access Funding’s business 

model and manage its business. Under the CFPA, Boghosian is a “related person” to 
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Access Funding because he was a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility for the company and a shareholder who materially participated in the 

conduct of its affairs. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i), (ii). As a result, he is a “covered person” 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

12. Michael Borkowski has served as CEO of Access Funding since May 2014. 

Before May 2014, he served as CFO and COO of Access Funding. Borkowski has an 

ownership interest in Access Funding and helped develop Access Funding’s business 

model and manage its business. Under the CFPA, Borkowski is a “related person” to 

Access Funding because he was a director, officer, or employee charged with managerial 

responsibility for the company and a shareholder who materially participated in the 

conduct of its affairs. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i),(ii). As a result, he is a “covered person” 

under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). 

13. Charles Smith is a Maryland-based attorney who provided purportedly 

independent professional advice for almost all Maryland consumers who made 

structured-settlement transfers to Access Funding. Under the CFPA, Smith is a “covered 

person” because he provided “financial advisory services” in the form of advice to 

consumers regarding these transactions 12 U.S.C. § 5481(6), (15)(A)(viii).  

FACTS 

14. Defendants Lee Jundanian, Raffi Boghosian, and Michael Borkowski 

(together with Access Funding and Access Holding, the “Access Funding Defendants”) 

founded Access Funding on or around December 1, 2012. 

15. As CEO and part owner of Access Funding, Jundanian was responsible for 

managing all operations of the company.  
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16. As COO and part owner of Access Funding, Boghosian was responsible for 

managing Access Funding’s marketing and sales activities. 

17. As CFO, COO, and, after May 2014, CEO of Access Funding, Borkowski 

was responsible for managing all operations of the company. 

18. From its founding through November 2015, Access Funding’s principal 

business was to acquire future structured-settlement-payment streams and transfer 

those payment streams to third-party investors.  

19. Structured settlements are established by legal judgments or settlements 

of tort claims to provide recipients with an arrangement for periodic payment of 

damages for personal injuries. Structured settlements are often used to ensure the 

financial well-being of victims who have suffered long-term physical or cognitive harm.  

20. Structured-settlement-factoring companies like Access Funding offer 

recipients of structured settlements the opportunity to transfer a portion of their future 

payment streams in exchange for a discounted immediate lump sum.  

21. Forty-nine states have enacted Structured Settlement Protection Acts 

(SSPAs) that set forth requirements for structured-settlement transfers.  

22. Under state SSPAs and federal tax law, 26 U.S.C. § 5891, a structured-

settlement-factoring company that wishes to purchase all or a portion of a structured 

settlement from a structured-settlement holder and avoid certain taxes must, among 

other things, petition for and receive court approval for the sale.  

23. Access Funding searched court records for approved transfers to identify 

consumers who had previously transferred a portion of their structured settlements. 
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24. Access Funding also searched court records for pending filings by other 

structured-settlement-factoring companies and contacted the consumers involved 

before the courts approved the transfers to attempt to convince the consumers to back 

out of the pending transfers and enter transactions with Access Funding instead.  

25. Access Funding continued to pressure structured-settlement holders to 

enter additional transactions with it until all of their remaining expected payments were 

transferred. 

26. Access Funding conducted aggressive outreach to structured-settlement 

holders by phone and through targeted direct mail. 

27. Consumers received a steeply discounted lump sum in return for signing 

away their future payment streams. The lump sums Access Funding provided 

consumers typically represented only about 30% of the present value of those future 

payments. 

28. Many of the consumers from whom Access Funding purchased 

settlements were lead-poisoning victims with cognitive impairments. Structured 

settlements had been deemed to be the most appropriate settlements for these 

individuals. The Access Funding Defendants were aware of these facts.    

29. Many SSPAs, including Maryland’s, require the court to find that the 

consumer has consulted with an independent professional advisor (“IPA”) before it can 

approve a structured-settlement transfer. 

30. In order to finalize transfers of structured settlements, Jundanian, 

Boghosian, and Borkowski each had responsibility for ensuring that Access Funding’s 

transferors had consulted an IPA in states where the SSPA required it. 
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31. Access Funding conducted approximately 70% of its transfers in 

Maryland. The company sought court approval for about 200 transfers in Maryland 

from 2013 to 2015, of which at least 158 have been approved.  

32. During the relevant period, Maryland’s SSPA required that an IPA advise 

on the financial, legal, and tax implications of a transfer. Md. Cts. & Jud. Proc.                

§§ 5-1102(b)(3) (2000). 

33. Access Funding steered Maryland consumers to a single individual, 

Charles Smith, who acted as the IPA for almost all of its Maryland transactions.  

34. Smith had both personal and professional ties to the Access Funding 

Defendants. Smith was paid directly by Access Funding for his purported IPA services. 

35. Jundanian, Boghosian, and Borkowski were aware that nearly all of Access 

Funding’s Maryland customers were steered to Smith, that Smith had ties to the Access 

Funding Defendants, and that Smith was compensated directly by Access Funding for 

his purported services. 

36. Access Funding sent emails to Smith telling him when and at which phone 

number to contact consumers, conducted three-way calls with consumers and Smith, 

and couriered to consumers prepaid cell phones that Smith used to contact the 

consumers. Access Funding took these steps to ensure the calls with Smith were 

completed.  

37. Smith’s phone calls with consumers lasted just a few minutes, during 

which time he recited the terms of the contract offered by Access Funding and asked 

whether the consumers understood them. In some instances, Access Funding 

salespeople were on these calls along with Smith and a consumer. 
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38. Smith provided to Access Funding a substantially similar letter for every 

consumer to whom he purported to provide IPA services stating that the consumer had 

received “independent professional advice.” Access Funding then submitted the IPA 

letters to the court for approval of the transfer.  

39. Access Funding paid Smith $200 for each IPA letter he provided.  

40. Access Funding often had consumers sign statements indicating that they 

had received IPA services before the consumers had spoken to Smith.   

41. Access Funding provided advances to many consumers, both in Maryland 

and elsewhere, while the consumers waited to complete their paperwork and finalize 

their transfers. These advances often consisted of $500 for signing a contract, $1000 

when a court date was set, and another $1000 when a judge approved the sale. 

42. Jundanian, Boghosian, and Borkowski each participated in establishing 

Access Funding’s policies related to advances, including the terms of the advances and 

how they were presented to consumers, and dictated when Access Funding would issue 

advances to consumers.  

43. Access Funding’s advance agreements stated that consumers were 

required to cooperate fully with the company in obtaining court approval for the 

contemplated transfer and that consumers would be liable for the advance if the 

transaction was not completed.  

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I  
(Against Smith) 

Unfair Acts and Practices Under the CFPA 
 

44. The allegations in paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated by reference. 
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45. Under § 1031(c) of the CFPA, an act or practice is unfair if it causes or is 

likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by 

consumers, and such substantial injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

46. Smith held himself out as an “independent professional advisor,” and by 

purporting to provide IPA services for purposes of the structured-settlement 

transactions, was therefore obligated to explain the financial, legal, and tax implications 

of the transfers consumers made to Access Funding.  

47. Smith did not tell consumers about his relationship with Access Funding. 

He provided virtually no advice to these consumers, and did not take the consumers’ 

personal circumstances, including other debt obligations, into consideration. Smith was 

compensated directly by Access Funding for his services. 

48. Smith’s conduct caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers because he did not actually provide “independent” professional advice and 

did not disclose his lack of independence to consumers. Consumers who otherwise could 

have availed themselves of truly independent advice, which might have dissuaded them 

from moving forward with transactions that were not in their best interests or permitted 

them to evaluate alternatives, were not aware that the advice they were receiving was 

not independent.  

49. The injury to consumers was not reasonably avoidable by consumers 

because Smith failed to disclose that the advice he purported to give was not 

independent.  
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50. The injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

to competition. 

51. Smith therefore engaged in unfair acts or practices, in violation of §§ 1031 

and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count II  
(Against Smith) 

Deceptive Acts and Practices Under the CFPA 
 

52. The allegations in paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated by reference. 

53. Under the CFPA, a practice is deceptive if (1) there is a representation or 

omission of information that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances; and (2) that information is material to consumers. 12 U.S.C.                    

§§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

54. Smith represented to consumers that he provided “independent” 

professional advice. Smith knew that the Maryland SSPA required independent 

professional advice before a transaction could be approved, and that consumers signed 

affidavits for Access Funding stating “I have been advised to seek independent 

professional advice in connection with the transfer. I have received independent 

professional advice and desire to go forward with the transaction.”  

55. In fact, Smith misrepresented his independence from Access Funding. He 

had personal and professional ties to the Access Funding Defendants and was paid 

directly by Access Funding. Smith’s lack of independence was material to consumers, 

who, had they known Smith was not independent, likely would have known that his 

advice was insufficient to move forward with the transaction. Consumers were 
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reasonable in believing that the person purporting to provide independent professional 

advice to them was independent.  

56. Smith therefore engaged in deceptive acts or practices, in violation of        

§§ 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count III  
(Against Smith)  

Abusive Acts and Practices Under the CFPA 
 

57. The allegations in paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated by reference. 

58. Under § 1031(d)(2)(C) of the CFPA, a practice is abusive if it takes 

unreasonable advantage of “the reasonable reliance by the consumer on a covered 

person to act in the interests of the consumer.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(C).   

59. Under § 1031(d)(2)(A) of the CFPA, a practice is abusive if it takes 

unreasonable advantage of “a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer of the 

material risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service.” 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

60. Consumers were told they needed independent advice and were directed 

by Access Funding to Smith for IPA services. Smith held himself out as providing 

independent professional advice on the implications of consumers’ contemplated 

transfers. Consumers reasonably relied on Smith to provide independent professional 

advice that took their best interests into account.  

61. Smith was not independent; rather, he had personal and professional ties 

to the Access Funding Defendants. Smith did not seek out or consider information about 

the consumers’ best interests; rather, he advised consumers without having any 

information about the consumers’ financial situations. Smith was paid by Access 

Funding for the IPA services he provided to Access Funding consumers. 
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62. Consumers did not understand that Smith was not providing independent 

professional advice or that he did not take their individual circumstances or interests 

into account. They also did not understand that their interests would likely be better 

served by a truly independent advisor.  

63. The cursory interactions Smith had with consumers implied to consumers 

that they did not need to understand anything else about the transfers they were 

contemplating. 

64. Smith took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ reliance on him to act 

in their best interests, in violation of §§ 1031(d)(2)(C) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 

U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(c), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

65. Smith took unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding 

of the material risks, costs, and conditions of the advice he purported to provide about 

structured-settlement transfers, in violation of §§ 1031(d)(2)(A) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Count IV  
(Against the Access Funding Defendants)  

Substantial Assistance to Smith’s Unfair, Deceptive, and Abusive Acts 
 

66. The allegations in paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated by reference. 

67. It is unlawful to knowingly or recklessly provide substantial assistance to a 

covered person in violation of the provisions of § 1031 of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 

5536(a)(3). 

68. Access Funding referred nearly all of its Maryland consumers to Smith for 

IPA services, ensured Smith could contact the consumers, had consumers sign letters 
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saying they had received IPA services before they had spoken with Smith, and paid 

Smith directly for his services. 

69. Access Funding knew or should have known that Smith engaged in only 

cursory communications with these consumers and did not provide truly independent 

professional advice, including by failing to consider consumers’ individual 

circumstances. Access Funding knew or should have known that Smith’s 

representations that the consumers he advised had received independent professional 

advice were inaccurate. 

70. As CEO and part owner of Access Funding, Jundanian was responsible for 

managing the operations of the company, including ensuring that structured-settlement 

transferors received independent professional advice in states where the SSPA required 

it so that Access Funding could seek court approval of the transactions.  

71. As COO and part owner of Access Funding, Boghosian was responsible for 

marketing and sales activities, which involved ensuring that structured-settlement 

transferors received independent professional advice in states where the SSPA required 

it so that Access Funding could seek court approval of the transactions.  

72. As CEO, CFO, and COO and part owner of Access Funding, Borkowski was 

responsible for managing the operations of the company, including ensuring that 

structured-settlement transferors received independent professional advice in states 

where the SSPA required it so that Access Funding could seek court approval of the 

transactions.  

73. Jundanian, Boghosian, and Borkowski were aware that Access Funding 

referred nearly all of its Maryland consumers to Smith for IPA services, that Smith had 
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personal relationships with individuals at Access Funding, that Smith was paid directly 

by Access Funding for providing purported IPA services, and that Smith could be relied 

on to provide IPA letters when asked. 

74. The Access Funding Defendants therefore knowingly or recklessly 

provided substantial assistance to Smith’s unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts or 

practices, in violation of §§ 1031 and 1036(a)(3) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 

5536(a)(3). 

Count VI  
(Against the Access Funding Defendants)  

Abusive Acts and Practices Related to Advances to Consumers 
 

75. The allegations in paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated by reference. 

76. Under § 1031(d)(2)(A) of the CFPA , a practice is abusive if it takes 

unreasonable advantage of consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, 

or conditions of a financial product or service. 12 U.S.C. § 5531(d)(2)(A). 

77. As the Access Funding Defendants knew, Access Funding’s consumers 

frequently had an immediate need for cash, and the company’s practice was to 

encourage consumers to take advances to meet those needs. 

78. The Access Funding Defendants represented to the consumers who 

received advanced, including in the advance agreement Access Funding used, that 

consumers would be bound to complete the transactions and liable to repay the advance 

amounts if they did not complete the transaction. 

79. Consumers who could not otherwise repay the advances were told that 

they were obligated to go forward with the transfer even if they realized it was not in 

their best interest. 
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80. Consumers did not understand the risks or conditions of the advances, 

including that the advances did not bind them to complete the transactions.   

81. The Access Funding Defendants therefore took unreasonable advantage of 

consumers’ lack of understanding of the material risks, costs, or conditions of the 

advance loans, in violation of §§ 1031(d)(2)(A) and 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. 

§§ 5531(d)(2)(A), 5536(a)(1)(B).   

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiff requests that the Court: 

a. permanently enjoin Defendants from participating in the structured-

settlement industry in any way; 

b. award damages or other monetary relief against Defendants; 

c. order Defendants to pay redress to consumers; 

d. order disgorgement of ill-gotten revenues by Defendants; 

e. impose civil money penalties on Defendants under the CFPA; 

f. order Defendants to pay the Bureau’s costs incurred in connection with 

prosecuting this action; and 

g. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 

ANTHONY ALEXIS 
Enforcement Director 
JEFFREY PAUL EHRLICH 
Deputy Enforcement Director 
JOHN C. WELLS 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 
 
s/Meghan Sherman Cater 
MEGHAN SHERMAN CATER (Fed. Bar No 806212, 
NY Bar No. 4473120) 
CHRISTINA COLL (CA Bar No. 0073458) 
Enforcement Attorneys 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20552 
Telephone (Sherman Cater): 202-435-9165 
Telephone (Coll): 202-435-7843 
Facsimile: 202-435-7722 
e-mail: meghan.sherman@cfpb.gov 
e-mail: christina.coll@cfpb.gov 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
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Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau 

CFPB Sues Access Funding for Scamming Lead-Paint Poisoning Victims Out of 
Settlement Money 

Bureau Alleges Company Took Advantage of Consumers with Cognitive 
Impairments 

NOV 21, 2016 

Washington, D.C. - The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) today filed a 
complaint in federal district court against Access Funding, LLC for an illegal scheme in 
which victims of lead-paint poisoning and others were deceived into signing away future 
settlement payments in exchange for a significantly lower lump-sum payout. The CFPB 
alleges that Access Funding steered victims to receive "independent advice" from a sham 
advisor, an attorney who was actually paid directly by the company and indicated to 
consumers that the transactions required little scrutiny. In its suit, the CFPB seeks to put an 
end to the company's unlawful practices, obtain relief for the harmed consumers, and 
impose penalties. 

"Many of these struggling consumers were victimized first by toxic lead, and second by a 
company that saw them as little more than income streams to be courted and harvested," 
said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. "The Consumer Bureau is fighting to help vulnerable 
consumers who were swindled out of their settlements, and to prevent future abuses." 

Access Funding is a structured-settlement-factoring company based in Chevy Chase, Md., 
that operated nationwide. The CFPB's lawsuit names Access Funding and a successor 
company, Reliance Funding. The lawsuit also names four individuals: Michael Borkowski, 
CEO of Access Funding; Raffi Boghosian, Chief Operating Officer of Access Funding; Lee 
Jundanian, CEO of Access Funding from February 2013 to May 2014; and Charles Smith, a 
Maryland-based attorney who purportedly provided advice for almost all Maryland 
consumers who did business with Access Funding. 

Structured settlements establish periodic payments of damages for personal injury, often to 
ensure the well-being of individuals who have suffered long-term physical or cognitive 
harm. Structured-settlement companies purchase payment streams from settlement 
recipients in exchange for an immediate lump sum that is usually significantly lower than the 
long-term payout. Forty-nine states have enacted structured-settlement-protection laws 
that, among other things, require court approval for the transfer of a settlement. Many 
states, including Maryland, require that a consumer have consulted with an independent 
professional advisor before the court will approve a sale. 

The CFPB alleges that Access Funding was aware that many of the consumers it targeted 
had significant cognitive impairments from lead poisoning. According to the Environmental 
Protection Agency, children six years old and younger are most susceptible to the effects of 
lead paint poisoning. Even low levels of lead in the blood of children can result in harms 
including behavior and learning problems, lower IQ, slowed growth, and hearing problems. 

Access Funding conducted approximately 70 percent of its settlement transfers in 
Maryland; the company sought court approval for approximately 200 transfers in Maryland 
from 2013 to 2015, of which at least 158 have been approved. Consumers received a 
steeply discounted lump sum in return for signing away their future payment streams. The 
lump sums Access Funding provided consumers typically represented only about 30 
percent of the present value of those future payments. 

The CFPB's complaint alleges that the defendants violated the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act's prohibition on unfair, deceptive, and abusive acts 
and practices. Specifically, the CFPB alleges the defendants: 
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■ Steered consumers to a sham advisor: The CFPB alleges that Access Funding steered 
Maryland consumers to a single attorney, Charles Smith, who purported to act as the 
"independent professional advisor" for almost all of its Maryland transactions. The 
complaint alleges that Smith represented to consumers that he was providing 
independent advice, but in fact he provided virtually no advice to consumers, and was 
paid directly by Access Funding. 

■ Exploited consumers' confusion to keep deals on track: Access Funding also allegedly 
offered cash advances to consumers who were awaiting approval of structured-
settlement transfers. The company falsely represented to those consumers that they 
were obligated to proceed with the transactions after receiving the advances, even if 
the consumer realized it was not in their best interest. These consumers included many 
with cognitive impairments. The CFPB alleges that the advances did not bind 
consumers to complete the transactions, and the company and other defendants took 
advantage of consumers' lack of understanding of that fact. 

The CFPB's complaint is not a finding or ruling that the defendants have actually violated 
the law. 

The CFPB's complaint can be found here: 
http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201611_cfpb Access_Funding_Complaint_filed.pdf 
ll

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that helps consumer 
finance markets work by making rules more effective, by consistently and fairly enforcing 
those rules, and by empowering consumers to take more control over their economic lives. 
For more information, visit consumerfinance.gov. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 2016-CFPB-0025 

In the Matter of: 

AEGEAN FINANCIAL 

d/b/a 

Aegean Financial, Inc., Reverse 
Mortgage Professionals, Jubilados 
Financial, Newport Lending Reverse 
Mortgage, Promise Land Lending, 
Reverse Financial Group, and Reverse 
Mortgage Information Center 

CONSENT ORDER 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) has reviewed the 

advertising practices of Aegean Financial (Respondent, as defined below), through 

which Respondent creates consumer interest in reverse mortgage credit products. The 

Bureau has identified the following law violations: (1) Respondent created and 

disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements—in English and Spanish—for 

reverse mortgage credit products in violation of the Mortgage Acts and Practices — 

Advertising Rule (MAP Rule or Regulation N), 12 C.F.R. Part 1014; (2) Respondent 

created and disseminated deceptive and misleading advertisements—in English and 

Spanish— for reverse mortgage credit products in violation of the Consumer Financial 

Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a) & 5536(a)(1)(B); and (3) 

Respondent failed to retain copies of all materially different advertisements for a period 
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of twenty-four months from the last date that the advertisements were disseminated in 

violation of the MAP Rule. Under Sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5563, 5565, the Bureau issues this Consent Order (Consent Order). 

I 

Jurisdiction 

1. The Bureau has jurisdiction over this matter under sections 1053 and 1055 of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565 and section 626 the Omnibus Appropriations 

Act of 2009, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, as amended by section 1097 of the CFPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1638 note. 

II 

Stipulation 

2. Respondent has executed a "Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent 

Order," dated November 25, 2016 (Stipulation), which is incorporated by 

reference and is accepted by the Bureau. By this Stipulation, Respondent has 

consented to the issuance of this Consent Order by the Bureau under sections 

1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 and 5565, without admitting or 

denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of law, except that Respondent 

admits the facts necessary to establish the Bureau's jurisdiction over Respondent 

and the subject matter of this action. 

III 

Definitions 

3. The following definitions apply to this Consent Order: 

a. "Advertisement" means any written or oral statement, illustration, or 

depiction, whether in English or any other language, that is designed to effect 
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a sale or create interest in purchasing goods or services, whether it appears on 

or in a label, package, package insert, radio, television, cable television, 

brochure, newspaper, magazine, pamphlet, leaflet, circular, mailer, book 

insert, free standing insert, letter, catalogue, poster, chart, billboard, public 

transit card, point of purchase display, film, slide, audio program transmitted 

over a telephone system, telemarketing script, on-hold script, upsell script, 

training materials provided to telemarketing firms, program-length 

commercial ("infomercial"), the internet, cellular network, or any other 

medium. Promotional materials and items and Web pages are included in the 

term advertisement. 

b. "Bureau" means Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 

c. "Clearly and prominently" means: 

i. In textual communications (e.g., printed publications or words 

displayed on the screen of an electronic device), the disclosure must be 

of a type size and location sufficiently noticeable for consumers eligible 

for a reverse mortgage credit product to read and comprehend it, in 

print that contrasts with the background on which it appears; 

ii. In communications disseminated orally or through audible means 

(e.g., radio or streaming audio), the disclosure must be delivered in a 

volume and cadence sufficient for consumers eligible for a reverse 

mortgage credit product to hear and comprehend it; 

iii. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television 

or streaming video), the disclosure must be in writing in a form 

consistent with subsection (i), and must appear on the screen for a 
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duration sufficient for consumers eligible for a reverse mortgage credit 

product to read and comprehend it; 

iv. In communications made through interactive media such as the 

internet, online services, and software, the disclosure must be 

unavoidable and presented in a form consistent with subsection (i); 

v. In communications that contain both audio and visual portions, the 

disclosure must be presented simultaneously in both the audio and 

visual portions of the communication; and 

vi. In all instances, the disclosure must be presented before the consumer 

incurs any financial obligation, in an understandable language and 

syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in 

mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication with the 

consumer. 

d. "Effective Date" means the date on 'which the Consent Order is issued. 

e. "Enforcement Director" means the Assistant Director of the Office of 

Enforcement for the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or his/her 

delegate. 

f. "Person" means any individual, group, unincorporated association, limited or 

general partnership, corporation, or other business entity. 

g. "Reverse Mortgage Credit Product" or "reverse mortgage" means a type of 

home loan offered or extended to homeowners 62 years or older that allows 

the homeowner to borrow money against the value of his or her home. This 

definition includes Home Equity Conversion Mortgages. 
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h. "Related Consumer Action" means a private action by or on behalf of one or 

more consumers or an enforcement action by another governmental agency 

brought against Respondent based on substantially the same facts as 

described in Section IV of this Consent Order. 

i. "Relevant Time Period" includes the period from January 1, 2012 to the 

Effective Date. 

j. "Respondent" means Aegean Financial and any of its trade names or "doing 

business as" entities, including but not limited to Aegean Financial, Inc., 

Reverse Mortgage Professionals, Jubilados Financial, Newport Lending 

Reverse Mortgage, Promise Land Lending, Reverse Financial Group, or 

Reverse Mortgage Information Center, and its successors and assigns. 

k. "Service provider" means any person that provides a material service to 

Respondent in connection with the subject matter of this Consent Order. 

IV 

Bureau Findings and Conclusions 

The Bureau finds the following: 

4. Respondent is a mortgage broker headquartered in El Segundo, CA. 

5. Respondent is licensed as either a mortgage broker or lender in California, 

Louisiana, Oregon, Texas, and Washington. 

6. Respondent is an offeror and provider of "mortgage credit product[s]" as defined 

by the MAP Rule. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2. 

7. Respondent is a "person" under the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, because it is a 

corporation. 
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8. Respondent is a "covered person" under the CFPA because it is a corporation that 

engages in offering and providing residential mortgage loans, which are 

"consumer financial products or services" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), 

(6), (15)(A)(i), (19). 

9. Respondent was founded in 2004 and engages in the origination and refinancing 

of reverse mortgage credit products. 

10. Since at least November 2005, Respondent has also conducted its reverse 

mortgage credit product business under the name Reverse Mortgage 

Professionals. Reverse Mortgage Professionals operates in California, Oregon, 

Washington and Texas. 

11. Since at least September 2012, Respondent has also conducted its reverse 

mortgage credit product business under the name Jubilados Financial. Jubilados 

Financial operates in California. Respondent created the Jubilados Financial 

trade name to market its reverse mortgage offerings to Spanish-speaking 

consumers and disseminates advertisements in Spanish. 

12. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent created and disseminated 

advertisements designed to generate sales or create interest in reverse mortgage 

credit products. 

13. Respondent placed these advertisements across various media, including print, 

direct mail, radio and the Internet. 

14. The advertisements are commercial communications about mortgage credit 

products as those terms are defined by the MAP Rule, 12 C.F.R. § 1014.2, and 

relate to the offering of a consumer financial product or service as defined by the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5481(5), (15)(A)(i)• 
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Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Payments 

15. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated print, radio and 

Internet advertisements under the names Reverse Mortgage Professionals and 

Jubilados Financial that stated consumers with reverse mortgages will make "no 

monthly payments" for the duration of the reverse mortgage. 

16. Similarly, Respondent's webpage stated that "[y]ou will have no payments while 

you are in your home . . . As long as you stay in your current home, you do not 

have to make any payments." 

17. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he terms, amounts, payments, or other 

requirements relating to taxes or insurance associated with the mortgage credit 

product . . . [and t]he existence, number, amount, or timing of any minimum or 

required payments, including but not limited to misrepresentations about any 

payments or that no payments are required in a reverse mortgage or other 

mortgage credit product." 12 C.F.R. §§ 1014.3(e) & (k). 

18. Section 1036(a)(1)(B) of the CFPA prohibits "unfair, deceptive, or abusive" acts or 

practices. 12 U.S.C. § 5536(a)(1)(B). 

19. As described in Paragraphs 15-16, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the existence, number, amount, or timing of payments 

for a reverse mortgage credit product or the requirements related to taxes or 
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insurance by misrepresenting that there are "no payments" or "no monthly 

payments" with a reverse mortgage. 

20. The statements were made without including any information regarding ongoing 

financial obligations of consumers with reverse mortgages, including paying 

property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and for property maintenance associated 

with the reverse mortgage credit product. 

21. In truth and in fact, consumers with reverse mortgages must continue to make 

payments concerning the home, such as payments for property taxes, insurance, 

and home maintenance, in order to retain it. 

22. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(e) and 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(k) and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Costs 

23. Respondent offers refinancing of reverse mortgages. 

24. Using the name Aegean Financial, Respondent disseminated advertisements 

promoting reverse mortgage refinancing at "no cost to [the consumer]." 

25. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he existence, nature, or amount of fees or costs to 

the consumer associated with the mortgage credit product, including but not 

limited to misrepresentations tht no fees are charged." 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(c). 
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26. As described in Paragraphs 23-24, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, regarding the existence, nature, or amount of fees or costs 

associated with a reverse mortgage credit product by misrepresenting that 

consumers will not incur costs to refinance a reverse mortgage. 

27. In truth and in fact, consumers who refinance a reverse mortgage credit product 

do incur costs, including credit report fees, flood certification fees, title insurance 

costs, appraisal costs, and other closing costs. 

28. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(c) and Respondent's 

representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive acts or 

practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning Risk of 
Losing Home and the Right to Remain in the Home 

29. During the Relevant Time Period, Respondent disseminated multiple print, radio 

and Internet advertisements under the trade names Reverse Mortgage 

Professionals and Jubilados Financial that contain statements that consumers 

with reverse mortgages can "live in your home for the rest of your life," "stay in 

your home forever," and "will never ever be forced from your home." 

3o. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he potential for default under the mortgage credit 

product, including but not limited to misrepresentations concerning the 

circumstances under which the consumer could default for nonpayment of taxes, 

insurance, or maintenance, or for failure to meet other obligations; . . . [and t]he 
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right of the consumer to reside in the dwelling that is the subject of the mortgage 

credit product, or the duration of such right, including but not limited to 

misrepresentations concerning how long or under what conditions a consumer 

with a reverse mortgage can stay in the dwelling." 12 C.F.R. § § 1014.3(1) & (p). 

31. As described in Paragraph 29, Respondent made material misrepresentations in 

commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by 

implication, regarding the potential for default under a reverse mortgage credit 

product and consumers' right to remain in a property by misrepresenting that a 

consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home and has the right to stay 

in the home for the remainder of his life. 

32. In truth and in fact, a consumer with a reverse mortgage can default and lose the 

home if he fails to comply with the loan terms, which include, among other terms, 

paying property taxes, homeowner's insurance, and for property maintenance. 

The right to remain in the home is contingent on complying with the loan terms. 

33. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(1) and 12 C.F.R. § 

1014.3(p) and Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and 

constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 

5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B)• 

Findings and Conclusions about Misrepresentations Concerning 
Government Affiliation 

34. Under the trade name Jubilados Financial, Respondent disseminated both radio 

and print advertisements in Spanish that contained the following statement: 

"Pero si tiene 62 afios o mas y es duefio de casa, le tenemos una buena noticia, 

usted califica para una hipoteca reversible del departamento de vivienda de los 

Estados Unidos." 
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35. The English translation of this statement is: "if you are 62 years old or older and 

you own a house, we have good news for you; you qualify for a reverse mortgage 

from the United States Housing Department." 

36. These statements are misleading. Although the Department of Housing and 

Urban Development does provide insurance for the most popular type of reverse 

mortgage, a reverse mortgage is not a government benefit or a loan from the 

government. Nor is the product endorsed or sponsored by the government. 

37. Respondent's advertisements contain a Spanish language disclosure that 

translates in English to "[r] everse mortgages are created by Jubilados Financial," 

but the disclosure is neither clear nor prominent. In print, the disclosure is in 

small type at the bottom of the advertisement and is not tied directly to the 

misrepresentations. On the radio, the disclosure is rapidly recited at the end of the 

advertisement and is likewise not tied directly to the misrepresentations. The 

disclosure also does not clarify that the reverse mortgage credit product is neither 

a government benefit nor a loan offered to the consumer directly from the federal 

government. 

38. Regulation N prohibits any person from making "any material 

misrepresentations, expressly or by implication, in any commercial 

communication, regarding any term of any mortgage credit product, including . . . 

misrepresentations about . . . [t]he association of the mortgage credit product or 

any provider of such product with any other person or program, including but not 

limited to misrepresentations that...[t]he product is or relates to a government 

benefit, or is endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with any government or other 

program..." 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2). 
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39. As described in Paragraphs 34-37, Respondent made material misrepresentations 

in commercial communications to consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or 

by implication, that a reverse mortgage is a government benefit, a loan from the 

government, or that the reverse mortgage credit product is endorsed, sponsored 

by, or affiliated with the government by misrepresenting that a reverse mortgage 

was from the United States government or the "United States Housing 

Department." 

40. In truth and in fact, a reverse mortgage is not a government benefit or a loan from 

the government, nor is the product endorsed, sponsored by, or affiliated with the 

United States government. 

41. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1014.3(n)(2) and 

Respondent's representations are false and misleading, and constitute deceptive 

acts or practices in violation of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(1)(B). 

Findings and Conclusions about Recordkeeping Failures 

42. Respondent does not have records of each and every materially different 

commercial communication that it used in the past two years. 

43. Regulation N requires persons subject to the rule to retain records related to 

commercial communication regarding any term of any mortgage credit product 

for twenty-four months after the last date that the communication was 

disseminated. 12 C.F.R. § 1014.5. 

44. As is described in Paragraph 42, Respondent failed to maintain copies of all 

materially different advertisements relating to any term of a reverse mortgage 

credit product that it disseminated for a period of twenty-four months. 

45. Therefore, Respondent is in violation of 12 C.F.R. §1014.5(b). 
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ORDER 

V 

Conduct Provisions 

IT IS ORDERED, under sections 1053 and 1055 of the CFPA, that: 

46. Respondent and its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other 

persons in active concert or participation with Respondent, who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, may not violate 

sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536, or Regulation N, 

12 C.F.R. Part 1014, as follows and must take the following affirmative actions: 

a. Respondent, and its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other 

Persons in active concert or participation with Respondent, who have actual 

notice of this Consent Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection 

with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or performance of 

any consumer financial product or service, may not misrepresent, or assist 

others in misrepresenting, expressly or impliedly: 

i. That there are no payments or no monthly payments with a reverse 

mortgage; 

ii. That consumers will not incur costs, fees, or expenses, to refinance or 

obtain a reverse mortgage; 

iii. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage cannot lose his home; 

iv. That a consumer with a reverse mortgage has the right to stay in the home 

for the remainder of his life; 

v. That a reverse mortgage is a government benefit, a loan from the 

government, or that the reverse mortgage credit product is endorsed, or 

sponsored by the government; 
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vi. That a homeowner has no ongoing financial obligations after obtaining a 

reverse mortgage; 

vii. That property taxes or insurance payments are not required with a reverse 

mortgage; 

viii. That there are no risks associated with a reverse mortgage; or 

ix. Any other fact material to consumers concerning any consumer financial 

product or service, such as: the total costs; any material restrictions, 

limitations, or conditions; or any material aspect of its performance, 

efficacy, nature, or central characteristics. 

b. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that consumers with reverse Mortgages can stay in the 

home or that consumers with reverse mortgages do not have monthly mortgage 

payments, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that 

consumers with reverse mortgages must pay property taxes, homeowner's 

insurance, and costs associated with home maintenance. 

c. In any advertisement in which Respondent represents, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or impliedly, that a consumers with reverse mortgages can stay in the 

home, Respondent must also clearly and prominently disclose that the right to 

remain in the home is contingent on complying with reverse mortgage loan 

terms or that it is possible to lose the home after obtaining a reverse mortgage. 

VI 

Compliance Plan 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

47. Within 6o days of the Effective Date, Respondent must submit to the 

Enforcement Director for review and determination of non-objection a 

comprehensive compliance plan designed to ensure that Respondent's advertising 
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of reverse mortgage credit products complies with all applicable Federal 

consumer financial laws and the terms of this Consent Order (Compliance Plan). 

The Compliance Plan must include, at a minimum: 

a. Detailed steps for addressing each action required by this Consent Order; 

b. A comprehensive advertising compliance policy and procedure for evaluating all 

advertisements for compliance with the MAP Rule and the CFPA before 

publication. The policy must at minimum include: 

i. A process for reviewing each advertisement for compliance with the MAP 

Rule and the CFPA before publication; 

ii. A requirement that each review is documented, including when the review 

occurred and who .conducted the review; and 

iii. A requirement that the Respondent create and review scripts for all 

telemarketing calls conducted by the Respondent and its officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with them; 

c. Development of a compliance management policy designed to detect and prevent 

violations of law; 

d. An explanation of Respondent's consumer compliance organizational and 

reporting structure; 

e. Written descriptions of the job duties of all employees with duties under the 

advertising compliance policy. The written description shall include over whom 

each employee has authority and to whom each employee reports; 

f. A requirement that the Respondent allocate resources to compliance that are 

commensurate with the Respondent's size, complexity, and business operations 
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to ensure that the Respondent implements adequate compliance programs 

including appropriate staffing levels with qualified and experienced personnel; 

g. A requirement that the Respondent provides mandatory ongoing education and 

training in Federal consumer financial laws and the prohibitions and 

requirements of this Consent Order for all affected officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys; the training must be appropriate for each individual's 

responsibilities and duties; training activities must be documented and the 

training programs reviewed and updated at least annually to ensure that 

appropriate personnel are provided with the most relevant and pertinent 

information; all new employees of the Respondent or the Respondent's agent 

must complete this training before communicating with any consumer about a 

reverse mortgage credit product; 

11. A req uirement that the Compliance Plan be updated at least every two years, or 

as required by changes in laws or regulations, so that the Compliance Plan 

remains current and effective; 

i. An advertisement retention policy, which at minimum must include: 

i. A requirement that all materially different advertisements, as well as sales 

scripts, training materials, and marketing materials, regarding any term 

of any reverse mortgage credit product, be stored in a central location 

accessible to personnel responsible for compliance; 

ii. A requirement that all material changes to any website operated by the 

Respondent be documented; and 
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iii. A requirement that dissemination information, including but not limited 

where, when and for how long each advertisement was disseminated, is 

documented; 

j. A plan requiring timely and appropriate corrective action to remedy any material 

non-compliance with the Compliance Plan; and 

k. Specific timeframes and deadlines for implementation of the steps described 

above. 

48. The Enforcement Director will have the discretion to make a determination of 

non-objection to the Compliance Plan or direct the Respondent to revise it. If the 

Enforcement Director directs the Respondent to revise the Compliance Plan, the 

Respondent must make the revisions and resubmit the Compliance Plan to the 

Enforcement Director within 3o days. 

49. After receiving notification that the Enforcement Director has made a 

determination of non-objection to the Compliance Plan, the Respondent must 

implement and adhere to the steps, recommendations, deadlines, and timeframes 

outlined in the Compliance Plan. 

VII 

Order to Pay Civil Money Penalties 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

5o. Under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c), by reason of the violations 

of law described in Section IV of this Consent Order, and taking into account the 

factors in 12 U.S.C. § 5565(c)(3), Respondent must pay a civil money penalty of 

$65,000 to the Bureau. 
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51. Within 10 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must pay the civil money 

penalty by wire transfer to the Bureau or to the Bureau's agent in compliance with 

the Bureau's wiring instructions. 

52. The civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order will be deposited in the 

Civil Penalty Fund of the Bureau as required by section 1017(d) of the CFPA, 12 

U.S.C. § 5497(d). 

53. Respondent must treat the civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order as a 

penalty paid to the government for all purposes. Regardless of how the Bureau 

ultimately uses those funds, Respondent may not: 

a. Claim, assert, or apply for a tax deduction, tax credit, or any other tax benefit for 

any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order; or 

b. Seek or accept, directly or indirectly, reimbursement or indemnification from any 

source, including hut not limited to payment made under any insurance policy, 

with regard to any civil money penalty paid under this Consent Order. 

54. To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil money penalty in any Related 

Consumer Action, Respondent may not argue that Respondent is entitled to, nor 

may Respondent benefit by, any offset or reduction of any compensatory 

monetary remedies imposed in the Related Consumer Action because of the civil 

money penalty paid in this action (Penalty Offset). If the court in any Related 

Consumer Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondent must, within 3o days 

after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Bureau, and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the U.S. Treasury. Such a payment will not be 

considered an additional civil money penalty and will not change the amount of 

the civil money penalty imposed in this action. 
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55. In the event of any default on Respondent's obligations to make payment under 

this Consent Order, interest, computed under 28 U.S.C. § 1961, as amended, will 

accrue on any outstanding amounts not paid from the date of default to the date 

of payment, and will immediately become due and payable. 

56. Respondent must relinquish all dominion, control, and title to the funds paid to 

the fullest extent permitted by law and no part of the funds may be returned to 

Respondent. 

57. Under 31 U.S.C. § 7701, Respondent, unless it already has done so, must furnish 

to the Bureau its taxpayer identifying number(s), which may be used for purposes 

of collecting and reporting on any delinquent amount arising out of this Consent 

Order. 

58. Within 3o days of the entry of a final judgment, consent order, or settlement in a 

Related Consumer Action, Respondent must notify the Enforcement Director of 

the final judgment, consent order, or settlement in writing. That notification must 

indicate the amount of redress, if any, that Respondent paid or is required to pay 

to consumers and describe the consumers or classes of consumers to whom that 

redress has been or will be paid. 

VIII 

Reporting Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

59. Respondent must notify the Bureau of any development that may affect 

compliance obligations arising under this Consent Order, including but not 

limited to, a dissolution, assignment, sale, merger, or other action that would 
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result in the emergence of a successor company; the creation or dissolution of a 

subsidiary, parent, or affiliate that engages in any acts or practices subject to this 

Consent Order; the filing of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by or 

against Respondent; or a change in Respondent's name or address. Respondent 

must provide this notice, if practicable, at least 3o days before the development, 

but in any case no later than 14 days after the development. 

60. Within 7 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must: 

a. Designate at least one telephone number and email, physical, and postal address 

as points of contact, which the Bureau may use to communicate with 

Respondent; 

b. Identify all businesses for which Respondent is the majority owner, or that 

Respondent directly or indirectly controls, by all of their names, telephone 

numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses; and 

c. Describe the activities of each such business, including the products and services 

offered, and the means of advertising, marketing, and sales. 

61. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, and again one year after the Effective Date, 

Respondent must submit to the Enforcement Director an accurate written 

compliance progress report (Compliance Report), which, at a minimum: 

a. Describes in detail the manner and form in which Respondent has complied with 

this Consent Order; and 

b. Attaches a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained under Section IX, 

unless previously submitted to the Bureau. 
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IX 

Order Distribution and Acknowledgment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, 

62. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to each of its executive officers, as well as to any managers, 

employees, Service Providers, including any third-party marketers, advertisers or 

call centers acting on Respondent's behalf, or other agents and representatives 

who have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the Consent Order. 

63. For 5 years from the Effective Date, Respondent must deliver a copy of this 

Consent Order to any business entity resulting from any change in structure 

referred to in Section VIII, any future executive officers, as well as to any 

managers, employees, Service Providers, including any third-party marketers, 

advertisers or call centers acting on Respondent's behalf, or other agents and 

representatives who will have responsibilities related to the subject matter of the 

Consent Order before they assume their responsibilities. 

64. Respondent must secure a signed and dated statement acknowledging receipt of a 

copy of this Consent Order, ensuring that any electronic signatures comply with 

the requirements of the E-Sign Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq., within 3o days of 

delivery, from all persons receiving a copy of this Consent Order under this 

Section. 

X 

Recordkeeping 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 

65. Respondent must create, or if already created, must retain for at least 5 years from 
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the Effective Date, the following business records: 

a. All documents and records necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each 

provision of this Consent Order, including all submissions to the Bureau. 

b. Copies of all sales scripts; training materials; advertisements; websites; and other 

marketing materials; and including any such materials used by a third party on 

behalf of Respondent. 

66. Respondent must retain the documents identified in Paragraph 65 for the 

duration of the Consent Order. 

67. Respondent must make the documents identified in Paragraph 65 available to the 

Bureau upon the Bureau's request. 

XI 

Notices 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

68. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Bureau, Respondent must provide all 

submissions, requests, communications, or other documents relating to this 

Consent Order in writing, with the subject line, "In re Aegean Financial, File No. 

2016-CFPB-0025," and send them either: 

a. By overnight courier (not the U.S. Postal Service), as follows: 

Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1625 Eye Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20006; or 

b. By first-class mail to the below address and contemporaneously by email to 

Enforcement Compliancepcfpb.gov: 
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Assistant Director for Enforcement 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
ATTENTION: Office of Enforcement 
1700 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20552 

XII 

Cooperation with the Bureau 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

69. Respondent must cooperate fully with the Bureau in this matter and in any 

investigation related to or associated with the conduct described in Section IV. 

Respondent must provide truthful and complete information, evidence, and 

testimony. Respondent must cause its officers, employees, representatives, or 

agents to appear for interviews, discovery, hearings, trials, and any other 

proceedings that the Bureau may reasonably request upon 15 days written notice, 

or other reasonable notice, at such places and times as the Bureau may designate, 

without the service of compulsory process. 

XIII 

Compliance Monitoring 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to monitor Respondent's compliance with 

this Consent Order: 

70. Within 28 days of receipt of a written request from the Bureau, Respondent 

must submit additional Compliance Reports or other requested information, 

which must be made under penalty of perjury; provide sworn testimony; or 

produce documents. 
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71. Respondent must permit Bureau representatives to interview any employee or 

other person affiliated with Respondent who has agreed to such an interview. The 

person interviewed may have counsel present. 

72. Nothing in this Consent Order will limit the Bureau's lawful use of civil 

investigative demands under 12 C.F.R. § io80.6 or other compulsory process. 

XIV 

Modifications to Non-Material Requirements 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

73. Respondent may seek a modification to non-material requirements of this 

Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and changes to reporting 

requirements) by submitting a written request to the Enforcement Director. 

74. The Enforcement Director may, in his/her discretion, modify any non-material 

requirements of this Consent Order (e.g., reasonable extensions of time and 

changes to reporting requirements) if he/she determines good cause justifies the 

modification. Any such modification by the Enforcement Director must be in 

writing. 

XV 

Administrative Provisions 

75. The provisions of this Consent Order do not bar, estop, or otherwise prevent the 

Bureau, or any other governmental agency, from taking any other action against 

Respondent, except as described in Paragraph 76. 

76. The Bureau releases and discharges Respondent from all potential liability for law 

violations that the Bureau has or might have asserted based on the practices 
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described in Section W of this Consent Order, to the extent such practices 

occurred before the Effective Date and the Bureau knows about them as of the 

Effective Date. The Bureau may use the practices described in this Consent Order 

in future enforcement actions against Respondent and its affiliates, including, 

without limitation, to establish a pattern or practice of violations or the 

continuation of a pattern or practice of violations or to calculate the amount of 

any penalty. This release does not preclude or affect any right of the Bureau to 

determine and ensure compliance with the Consent Order, or to seek penalties for 

any violations of the Consent Order. 

77. This Consent Order is intended to be, and will be construed as, a final Consent 

Order issued under section 1053 of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5563, and expressly does 

not form, and may not be construed to form, a contract binding the Bureau or the 

United States. 

78. This Consent Order will terminate 5 years from the Effective Date or 5 years from 

the most recent date that the Bureau initiates an action alleging any violation of 

the Consent Order by Respondent. If such action is dismissed or the relevant 

adjudicative body rules that Respondent did not violate any provision of the 

Consent Order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld on 

appeal, then the Consent Order will terminate as though the action had never 

been filed. The Consent Order will remain effective and enforceable until such 

time, except to the extent that any provisions of this Consent Order have been 

amended, suspended, waived, or terminated in writing by the Bureau or its 

designated agent. 
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79. Calculation of time limitations will run from the Effective Date and be based on 

calendar days, unless otherwise noted. 

80. Should Respondent seek to transfer or assign all or part of its operations that are 

subject to this Consent Order, Respondent must, as a condition of sale, obtain the 

written agreement of the transferee or assignee to comply with all applicable 

provisions of this Consent Order. 

81. The provisions of this Consent Order will be enforceable by the Bureau. For any 

violation of this Consent Order, the Bureau may impose the maximum amount of 

civil money penalties allowed under section 1055(c) of the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 

5565(c). In connection with any attempt by the Bureau to enforce this Consent 

Order in federal district court, the Bureau may serve Respondent wherever 

Respondent may be found and Respondent may not contest that court's personal 

jurisdiction over Respondent. 

82. This Consent Order and the accompanying Stipulation contain the complete 

agreement between the parties. The parties have made no promises, 

representations, or warranties other than what is contained in this Consent Order 

and the accompanying Stipulation. This Consent Order and the accompanying 

Stipulation supersede any prior oral or written communications, discussions, or 

understandings. 

83. Nothing in this Consent Order or the accompanying Stipulation may be construed 

as allowing the Respondent, officers, or employees to violate any law, rule, or 

regulation. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this [c]th day of December, 2016. 

Richard Cordf361: 61141? 
Director 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 

27 
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	1. At the time the modification is offered, the borrower is at least 30 days delinquent or otherwise qualifies as being at imminent risk of default due to his or her financial situation;
	2. The borrower’s pre-modification LTV is greater than 100%;
	3. The borrower’s post-modification principal and interest payment is at least 10% lower than the pre-modification payment;
	4. The borrower’s post-modification payment is at or below a debt-to-income ratio (“DTI”) of 31%, (or an affordability measurement consistent with HAMP guidelines), or in the case of a non-owner occupied property, an appropriate measure of affordabili...
	5. The borrower’s payments under the modified terms are current as of 90 days following the implementation of the modification; and
	6. The borrower’s post-modification LTV is no greater than 120%, which may be determined in accordance with HAMP PRA.
	Provided, however, that Ocwen will only receive credit for a principal reduction that is achieved through a deferral of principal instead of immediate forgiveness if the modification meets criteria 1 through 5 above, and:
	7. The borrower’s post-modification LTV, as calculated at the time of offer, is no greater than 95%; and
	8. The modification’s terms entitle the borrower to forgiveness of the entire amount of deferred principal over a period of no more than three years, with at least 1/3 of the deferred principal forgiven annually, so long as the borrower remains curren...

	B. Other Requirements
	9. Ocwen shall not, in the ordinary course, require a borrower to waive or release legal claims and defenses as a condition of approval for a loan modification under these Consumer Relief Requirements.  However, nothing herein shall preclude Ocwen fro...
	10. Ocwen shall be entitled to receive credits towards its $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment for modifications it undertakes pursuant to the Consumer Relief Requirements described above on or after November 3, 2013.
	11. If Ocwen fails to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment as set    forth in these Consumer Relief Requirements within three years of the date the Consent Judgment is entered, Ocwen shall pay a cash penalty in an amount equal to the unmet c...
	12. In the event there is a material change in market conditions that Ocwen can demonstrate makes it unable to meet the $2 billion Consumer Relief commitment notwithstanding its good faith efforts to do so, the parties commit to engage in good faith d...
	13. Ocwen agrees that it will not implement any of the Consumer Relief Requirements described herein through policies that are intended to (a) disfavor a specific geography within or among states that are a party to the Consent Judgment or (b) discrim...
	14. Satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements by Ocwen in accordance with this Agreement in connection with any residential mortgage loan is expressly subject to, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, as applicable, the terms and provisi...
	15. Ocwen shall not receive any credit under the Consumer Relief Requirements for any federal or state incentive payments received by Ocwen for modifications made under federal or proprietary programs.
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	A. Implementation Timeline.  Ocwen (hereinafter “Servicer”) anticipates that it will phase in the implementation of the Servicing Standards, using a grid approach that prioritizes implementation based upon: (i) the importance of the Servicing Standard...
	B. Monitoring Committee.  A committee comprising of representatives of the state Attorneys General, State Mortgage Regulators and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) shall monitor Servicer’s compliance with this Consent Judgment (the “Mo...
	C.  Monitor
	1. Pursuant to an agreement of the parties, Joseph A. Smith Jr. is appointed to the position of Monitor under the Consent Judgment.  If the Monitor is at any time unable to complete his or her duties under the Consent Judgment, Servicer and the Monito...
	2. Such Monitor shall be highly competent and highly respected, with a reputation that will garner public confidence in his or her ability to perform the tasks required under this Consent Judgment.  The Monitor shall have the right to employ an accoun...
	3. The Monitor and Professionals shall not have any prior relationships with the Parties that would undermine public confidence in the objectivity of their work and, subject to Section C.3(e), below, shall not have any conflicts of interest with any P...
	(a) The Monitor and Professionals will disclose, and will make a reasonable inquiry to discover, any known current or prior relationships to, or conflicts with, any Party, any Party’s holding company, any subsidiaries of the Party or its holding compa...
	(b) The Monitor and Professionals shall make a reasonable inquiry to determine whether there are any facts that a reasonable individual would consider likely to create a conflict of interest for the Monitor or Professionals.  The Monitor and Professio...
	(c) The duty to disclose a conflict of interest or relationship pursuant to this Section C.3 shall remain ongoing throughout the course of the Monitor’s and Professionals’ work in connection with this Consent Judgment.
	(d) All Professionals shall comply with all applicable standards of professional conduct, including ethics rules and rules pertaining to conflicts of interest.
	(e) To the extent permitted under prevailing professional standards, a Professional’s conflict of interest may be waived by written agreement of the Monitor and Servicer.
	(f) Servicer or the Monitoring Committee may move the Court for an order disqualifying any Professionals on the grounds that such Professional has a conflict of interest that has inhibited or could inhibit the Professional’s ability to act in good fai...

	4. The Monitor must agree not to be retained by any Party, or its successors or assigns, for a period of two years after the conclusion of the terms of the engagement.  Any Professionals who work on the engagement must agree not to work on behalf of S...
	5. It shall be the responsibility of the Monitor to determine whether Servicer is in compliance with the Servicing Standards and whether Servicer has satisfied the Consumer Relief Requirements, in accordance with the authorities provided herein, and t...
	6. The manner in which the Monitor will carry out his or her compliance responsibilities under this Consent Judgment and, where applicable, the methodologies to be utilized shall be set forth in a work plan agreed upon by Servicer and the Monitor, and...
	7. Servicer will designate an internal quality control group that is independent from the line of business whose performance is being measured (the “Internal Review Group”) to perform compliance reviews each calendar quarter (“Quarter”) in accordance ...
	8. The Internal Review Group shall have the appropriate authority, privileges, and knowledge to effectively implement and conduct the reviews and metric assessments contemplated herein and under the terms and conditions of the Work Plan.
	9. The Internal Review Group shall have personnel skilled at evaluating and validating processes, decisions, and documentation utilized through the implementation of the Servicing Standards.  The Internal Review Group may include non-employee consulta...
	10. The qualifications and performance of the Internal Review Group will be subject to ongoing review by the Monitor.  Servicer will appropriately remediate the reasonable concerns of the Monitor as to the qualifications or performance of the Internal...
	11. Servicer’s compliance with the Servicing Standards shall be assessed via metrics identified and defined in Schedule D-1 hereto, as supplemented by and consistent with the metrics provided in the National Mortgage Settlement 2012 Consent Judgment a...
	12. Servicer and the Monitor shall reach agreement on the terms of the Work Plan within 90 days of the entry of the Consent Judgment, which time can be extended for good cause by agreement of Servicer and the Monitor.  If such Work Plan is not objecte...
	13. The Work Plan may be modified from time to time by agreement of the Monitor and Servicer.  If such amendment to the Work Plan is not objected to by the Monitoring Committee within 20 days, the Monitor shall proceed to implement the amendment to th...
	14. The following general principles shall provide a framework for the formulation of the Work Plan:
	(a) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and agreed procedures that will be used by the Internal Review Group to perform the test work and compute the Metrics for each Quarter.
	(c) The Work Plan will set forth the testing methods and procedures that the Monitor will use to assess Servicer’s reporting on its compliance with the Consumer Relief Requirements of this Consent Judgment.
	(d) The Work Plan will set forth the methodology and procedures the Monitor will utilize to review the testing work performed by the Internal Review Group.
	(e) The Compliance Reviews and the Satisfaction Review may include a variety of audit techniques that are based on an appropriate sampling process and random and risk-based selection criteria, as appropriate and as set forth in the Work Plan.
	(f) In formulating, implementing, and amending the Work Plan, Servicer and the Monitor may consider any relevant information relating to patterns in complaints by borrowers, issues or deficiencies reported to the Monitor with respect to the Servicing ...
	(g) The Work Plan should ensure that Compliance Reviews are commensurate with the size, complexity, and risk associated with the Servicing Standard being evaluated by the Metric.
	(h) Following implementation of the Work Plan, Servicer shall be required to compile each Metric beginning in the first full Quarter after the period for implementing the Servicing Standards associated with the Metric, or any extension approved by the...

	15. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall provide the Monitor with its regularly prepared business reports analyzing Executive Office servicing complaints (or the equivalent); ...
	16. So that the Monitor may determine whether Servicer is in compliance with the Servicing Standards, Servicer shall notify the Monitor promptly if Servicer becomes aware of reliable information indicating Servicer is engaged in a significant pattern ...
	17. Servicer shall provide the Monitor with access to all work papers prepared by the Internal Review Group in connection with determining compliance with the Metrics or satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements in accordance with the Work Plan.
	18. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is reasonably likely to cause harm to...
	19. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may request information from Servicer in additio...
	20. Where reasonably necessary in fulfilling the Monitor’s responsibilities under the Work Plan to assess compliance with the Metrics or the satisfaction of the Consumer Relief Requirements, the Monitor may interview Servicer’s employees and agents, p...
	21. Where the Monitor reasonably determines that the Internal Review Group’s work cannot be relied upon or that the Internal Review Group did not correctly implement the Work Plan in some material respect, the Monitor may direct that the work on the M...
	22. If the Monitor becomes aware of facts or information that lead the Monitor to reasonably conclude that Servicer may be engaged in a pattern of noncompliance with a material term of the Servicing Standards that is reasonably likely to cause harm to...
	23. If Monitor proposes an additional Metric and associated Threshold Error Rate pursuant to Section C.22, above, Monitor, the Monitoring Committee, and Servicer shall agree on amendments to Schedule D-1 to include the additional Metrics and Threshold...
	24. Any additional Metric proposed by the Monitor pursuant to the processes in Sections C.22 or C.23 and relating to provision VIII.B.1 of the Servicing Standards shall be limited to Servicer’s performance of its obligations to comply with (1) the fed...

	D.       Reporting
	1. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will report the results of its Compliance Reviews for that Quarter (the “Quarterly Report”).  The Quarterly Report shall include:  (i) the Metrics for that Quarter; (ii) Servicer’s progress toward meeting...
	2. Following the end of each Quarter, Servicer will transmit to each state a report (the “State Report”) including general statistical data on Servicer’s servicing performance, such as aggregate and state-specific information regarding the number of b...
	3. The Monitor shall report on Servicer’s compliance with this Consent Judgment in periodic reports setting forth his or her findings (the “Monitor Reports”).  The first three Monitor Reports will each cover two Quarterly Reports.  If the first three ...
	4. Prior to issuing any Monitor Report, the Monitor shall confer with Servicer and the Monitoring Committee regarding its preliminary findings and the reasons for those findings.  Servicer shall have the right to submit written comments to the Monitor...
	5. The Monitor Report shall: (i) describe the work performed by the Monitor and any findings made by the Monitor during the relevant period, (ii) list the Metrics and Threshold Error Rates, (iii) list the Metrics, if any, where the Threshold Error Rat...
	6. Upon the satisfaction of any category of payment obligation under this Consent Judgment, Servicer, at its discretion, may request that the Monitor certify that Servicer has discharged such obligation.  Provided that the Monitor is satisfied that Se...
	7. Within 120 days of entry of this Consent Judgment, the Monitor shall, in consultation with the Monitoring Committee and Servicer, prepare and present to Monitoring Committee and Servicer an annual budget providing its reasonable best estimate of al...

	E.       Potential Violations and Right to Cure
	1. A “Potential Violation” of this Consent Judgment occurs if the Servicer has exceeded the Threshold Error Rate set for a Metric in a given Quarter.  In the event of a Potential Violation, Servicer shall meet and confer with the Monitoring Committee ...
	2. Servicer shall have a right to cure any Potential Violation.
	3. Subject to Section E.4, a Potential Violation is cured if (a) a corrective action plan approved by the Monitor (the “Corrective Action Plan”) is determined by the Monitor to have been satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms thereof; a...
	4. If after Servicer cures a Potential Violation pursuant to the previous section, another violation occurs with respect to the same Metric, then the second Potential Violation shall immediately constitute an uncured violation for purposes of Section ...
	5. In addition to the Servicer’s obligation to cure a Potential Violation through the Corrective Action Plan, Servicer must remediate any material harm to particular borrowers identified through work conducted under the Work Plan.  In the event that a...
	6. In the event a Potential Violation is cured as provided in Sections E.3, above, then no Party shall have any remedy under the Consent Judgment (other than the remedies in Section E.5) with respect to such Potential Violation.

	F.       Confidentiality
	1. These provisions shall govern the use and disclosure of any and all information designated as “CONFIDENTIAL,” as set forth below, in documents (including email), magnetic media, or other tangible things provided by the Servicer to the Monitor in th...
	2. The Monitor may, at his discretion, provide to the Monitoring Committee or to a participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB any documents or information received from the Servicer related to a Potential Violation or related to the re...
	3. The Servicer shall designate as “CONFIDENTIAL” that information, document or portion of a document or other tangible thing provided by the Servicer to the Monitor, the Monitoring Committee or to any participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or...
	4. Except as provided by these provisions, all information designated as “CONFIDENTIAL” shall not be shown, disclosed or distributed to any person or entity other than those authorized by these provisions.  Participating states, State Mortgage Regulat...
	5. This agreement shall not prevent or in any way limit the ability of a participating state, State Mortgage Regulator, or the CFPB to comply with any subpoena, Congressional demand for documents or information, court order, request under the Right to...

	G. Dispute Resolution Procedures.  Servicer, the Monitor, and the Monitoring Committee will engage in good faith efforts to reach agreement on the proper resolution of any dispute concerning any issue arising under the Consent Judgment, including any ...
	H. Consumer Complaints.  Nothing in this Consent Judgment shall be deemed to interfere with existing consumer complaint resolution processes, and the Parties are free to bring consumer complaints to the attention of Servicer for resolution outside the...
	I. Enforcement
	1. Consent Judgment.  This Consent Judgment shall be filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia and shall be enforceable therein.  Servicer and the Releasing Parties shall waive their rights to seek judicial review or otherwise chal...
	2. Enforcing Authorities.  Servicer’s obligations under this Consent Judgment shall be enforceable in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia or in the state court of any State Party that brings an action to enforce the Judgment.  An enfo...
	3. Enforcement Action.  In the event of an action to enforce the obligations of Servicer and to seek remedies for an uncured Potential Violation for which Servicer’s time to cure has expired, the sole relief available in such an action will be:
	(a) Equitable Relief.  An order directing non-monetary equitable relief, including injunctive relief, directing specific performance under the terms of this Consent Judgment, or other non-monetary corrective action.
	(b) Civil Penalties.  The Court or state court may award as civil penalties an amount not more than $1 million per uncured Potential Violation; or, in the event of a second uncured Potential Violation of Metrics 1.a, 1.b, or 2.a (i.e., a Servicer fail...
	(c) Any penalty or payment owed by Servicer pursuant to the Consent Judgment shall be paid to the clerk of the Court or state court or as otherwise agreed by the Monitor and the Servicer and distributed by the Monitor as follows:
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